


v«~~:;:,>; ,,,

^librar^

IN THE CUSTODY OF THE
BOSTON PUBLIC LIBRARY.

SHELF N°

^ADAMS

^
./







"ZWZT,

Complete Collection
O F

STATE-TRIALS,
AND

PRO GEE
UPON

I G H-TR EASON,
AND OTHER

rimes and Misdemeanours;
FROM THE

! L \jy

~"

T O THE

EIGNof KING GEORGE II.

The Second Volume.

With two Alphabetical Tables to the Whole.

TZ^Third Edition, ^Additions.

L O N D O Ns

Printed in the Year M.dcc.xlii.



-d
ADAMSlt.1.4

Digitized by the Internet Archive

in 2012

http://archive.org/details/completecollecti02emly



g III
. ^SKH^WiPP1

The feveral TR I A LS, &V. contained in the

Second Volume.

XLV.
\f^MZ§j-IE Trial of James Da^r

of Hamilton, and Earl of
Cambridge, for High-

- Treaibn. Page i

fjgsgsmlwSi XLVI.

1 649. The Trial ofLieut. Col. John Lilburne,

for High-Treafon. J 9

The Examination of the fury who tried

Lieut. Col. John Lilburne, taken be-

fore the Council of State, 8

1

XLVII.

1651. The Trial of Mr. Chriftopher Love,

for High-Treafon. 83

XLVIII.

The Trial of Mr. John Gibbons, for

High-Treafon. 183

XLIX.

1653. The Cafe ofCapt. John Strearer, on an

H abeas-Corpus. 1 9 5
L.

1654. The Trial of John Gerhard, Peter

Vowel, and Somerfec Fox, for
High-Treafon. 2 1

2

LI.

The Proceedings of the Commiffioners

of Berks, for ejecting fcandalous

and inefficient Minifters, again/I

John Pordage of Bradfield. 217
LII.

1655. The Trial of Col. John Penruddock

for High-Treafon. 259
LIII.

1656. Proceedings in the Houfe of Commons
,

againji James Nayler, for Blafphe-

my, and other Mifdemeanors. 265
The Speech of the Lord Commiffioner

Whitlock thereupon, never before

bublifoed. 271
LIV.

/S

1658. The Trial of Sir Henry Slingsby, Kt.

for High-Treafon. 277
LV.

"
The Trial of Dr. John Hewet, for
High-Treafon. 281

LVI.
The Trial of John Mordant, Efq;for

High-Treafon. 292
LVII.

1660. The Trials of twenty nine Regicides,

for High-Treafon. 302

1661.

1662.

1663.

1664.

1663.

1667,

1668

LVIII.

Proceedings in Scotland agdinfi Ar-

chibald Marquis of Argyle, for

High-Treafon. 417
LIX.

The Trial of Sir Henry Vane, Kt.for

H igh-Treafon. 43 5
LX.

The Trial of John Crook, Ifaac Grey,

and John Bolton, Quakers, Jor re-

fufing to take the Oaths of Allegi-

ance and Supremacy. 463
LXI.

The Trial of John James, for High-
Treafon. 470

LXII.
The Trial of Thomas Tonge, George

Phillips, Francis Srubbs, James
Hind, John Sellers, and Nathaniel

Gibbs, for High-Treafon. 478
LXIII.

The Trial of Mary Moders, alias

Stcdman, fti/edtheGermanFrinceis,

for Bigamy. 498
LXIV.

The Trials of Col. James Turner, John
Turner, &c. for Felony and Bur-
glary. 502

LXV.
The Trials of John Twyn, Printer,

for High-Treafon ; of Thomas
Brewfter Bookfeller, Simon Dover
Printer, Nathan Brooks Bookbinder,

for Miidemeanors. 528
LXVI.

The Trial of Benjamin Keach, for a

Libel. 550
LXVIT.

Proceedings in Parliament againji

Edward Earl of Clarendon, Lord
High Chancellor of England, for
High-Treafon, and other High
Crimes and Mifdemeanors. 5^4

LXV1II.
The Trials of Peter MefTenger, Ri-

chard Beafley, William Green,

Thomas Appletree, Edward Cot-

ton, Edward Bedle, Richard Lati-

mer, John Sharplefs, Thomas Li-

merick, and others, for High-
Treafon. 585

LXIX.



A Catalogue of the Trials.

lxix.
1668. TheTrial of Robert Hawkins, Clerk,

Minijler o/Chilton,/or Felony. 595
LXX.

1670. The Trial o/MVm . Penn and Wm
.

Mead,/or # Tumultuous Affembly.

610
LXXI.

1677. Proceedings in the Cafe of Anthony
Earl of Shaftesbury, at the King's-

Bench. 616

LXXII.
The Trial ofJames Mitchell, for at-

tempting to murder ABp. Sharp.

623
LXXIII.

1678. The Tr/tf/ o/ThilipEtfr/o/Tembroke,

for the Murder of Nathaniel Cony.

641

LXXIV.
The Trialof William Staley, Goldfmith,

for High-Treafon. 656
LXXV.

The Trial of Edward Coleman for

High-Treafon. 660
LXXVI.

The Trial of William Ireland, Thomas
Pickering, and John Grove, for

High-Treafon. 696
LXXVII.

The Trial of the Lord Cornwallis/cr

the Murder of Robert Clerk. 725
LXXVIII.

Proceedings in Parliament again/l

Thomas Earl of Danby, for High-
Treafon, &c. 73

1

LXXIX.
The Trial of Green, Berry and Hill,

for the Murder of Sir Edmundbury
Godfrey, 760

LXXX.
The Trial o/"Sam. Atkins at the King's-

Bench, for being Acceffary to the

Murder of Sir Edmundbury God-
frey. 792

LXXXI.
1679. The Trial ofDavid Lewis, J'efuity

pre-

tended Bijhop of Landaff, at Mon-
mouth,^?- High-Treafon. 801

LXXXII.
The Trial of Nathaniel Reading, Efg;

for a Trefpafs and Mifdemeanor.

806

LXXXI1I.
1679. T&e Trial of Thomas Whitebread,

Willam Harcourt, John Fenwick,

John Gavan, Anthony Turner,

Jejuits, for High-Treafon. 819

LXXXIV.
The Trial of Richard Langhorne

Efq; for High-Treafon. 878

LXXXV.
The Trial of Sir George Wakeman,

Bar. William Marfhal, William
Rumley, andJamesCorker, Monks,

for High-Treafon. 917

LXXXVI.
The Trial of Charles Kerne at Here-

ford, for High-Treafon, being a
Romim Priefl. 961

LXXXVII.
The Trial of Andrew Brommich at

Stafford, a Romim Priefl. 965

LXXXVIII.
The TriaiHf William Atkins at Staf-

ford, for High-Treafon. 968

LXXXIX.
The Trialof Thomas Knox andJohn

Lane, for a Mifdemeanor. 970

XC.
The Trial of Lionel Anderfon, Wil-

liam Ruflel, Charles Parris, Henry
Starkey, James Corker, William

Marfhal, and Alexander Lumfden,
with the Arraignment of Jofeph
Kemifh, all Romim Priefls. 993

XCI.
The Trial of John Tasborough and
Ann Price,jftr Subornation of Per-

jury. 1017
XCII.

The Trial of Benj. Harris, Bookfeller,

for caujing to be printed andfbld^

a Libel, intituled, An Appeal from

the Country to the City, &c. 1037

XCIII.

The Trial of Francis Smith, BookfeU

ler, for publijhing a Libel. 1040

XCIV.
The Trial of Jane Curtis,for publijh-

ing thefaid Libel. 1042

A Complete



A Complete

COLLECT
O F

TRIAL
XLV.

The Trial of J ames Duke of Hamilton *
5 andEarl

of Cambridge, before the High Court of Jufiicey

for High-Treafon, Feb. 9. 1648. 1 Car. II.

R. STEEL and Mr. Cook,

the Counfel for the People

of England, did exhibit on
the Ninth of February, be-

ing Friday, the following

Charge

:

That the Earl of Cam-
bridge, about the igth of July

laft, traitoroufly invaded this Nation in a hojiile

manner , and levied War to ajfift the King againft

the Kingdom and People of England, and had com-

mittedfundry Murders, Outrages, Rapines, Wafles,

and Spoils, upon the faid People ; and particularly

about the loth of Auguft, near Prefton, did make
JVar^ join Battle, and fight againfl the Forces of
the Parliament, and therein did murder and kill

Colonel Thornley and others.

To this the Duke put in the Declinatour and
fpecial Plea following, intending at laft to anfwer
the Charge, if the Plea was not fufficient : having
firft told the Court, he was better known by an-

other Name than the Earl of Cambridge. His
Plea confifled of three Heads : Firft, He pleaded

this his undertaking that Employment was by
Command of the Parliament, and Supreme Au-
thority of the Kingdom of Scotland, for fuch

Ends as he conceived were good and juftifiable,

* Dr. Burnet'/ Memoirs of the Duhis of Hamilton, p. 385

Vol. ir.

and in"no way derogatory to the Peace and Hap-
pinefs of thefe Dominions : That he did earneft-

ly endeavour to decline it, but that not being ac-

cepted of, he could not difobey their Commands
without incurring the fevereft Cenfures. Second-

ly, That he was born in Scotland before the Na-
turalization of his Father in England, therefore

he conceived himfelf an Alien, and not triable

in England. Thirdly, That he had rendered him-
felf Prifoner upon Capitulation and Articles with

thofe who had Major- General Lambert's Com-
mifiion ; and that by thefe he was firft a Prifon-

er of War j next, his Life and the Safety of
his Perfon was fecured to him by the Articles,

which were figned by the Commiflioners of
both fides, before he was their Prifoner, and
that they could faften neither a Breach nor Non-
performance on him. Upon this the Counfel of

the People caufed the Acl: of his Father's Natu-
ralization to be read, and fpake a little to aggra-

vate and fet out his Facl : but he defired a con-

venient time to procure Papers, WitnefTes, and
other Evidences material to his Plea, which he

faid was feldom denied to any in that condition ;

and it was well known to many there, how that

fince the begining of this Parliament many
Weeks were granted to an Eminent Man upon
his Trial, (by whom he meant the Earl of Straf-

ford, who had time allowed him to fend to ire-

&e. Clar. Hift. Vol. 3.

B
p. 204—209.

land.)
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land.) The Court adjourned to the next day,

without giving him any fatisfaSory Anfwer.

But the Duke's Carriage and Difcourfe that day

gained much on all the Spectators, being fo fe-

rene and calm, that his very Enemies did applaud

it.

Saturday the ioth, in the Evening, his Grace

was again brought to the Bar, and he defired

Counfel, which was granted ; and it was referred

to him, whether the Court or himfelf mould

name them : which he then paffed over, and

without much fpeaking on either fide, the Court

adjourned; notice being given him, that he

muft appear again on Tuefday the 13th. But no

Order being iffued forth for Counfel, fome Coun-

fel who were dealt with did decline the Employ-

ment.

Tuefday the 13th, his Grace being brought

again to the Bar, defired a longer time, fince

notwithstanding ferious means had been ufed, no

Lawyer would be his Counfel without the

Court's Orders. This was granted
Serjeant

j^y ^ * prefic]ent after fome Expo-
Lradihavv. „ J

, . , 1 • ^ » xt
ftulation, and upon his Grace's No-

mination, Mr. Chute, Mr. Hales, Mr. Parfons,

and Dr. Walker, were affigned him for Counfel,

to have free Accefs to him, in the prefence and

hearing of fome of his Keepers, and to be rea-

dy againft Thurfday following to maintain his

Plea: upon which the Court adjourned till the

15th.

Thurfday the 15th, his Grace being again

brought before the Court, declared that their Or-

der being offered to his Counfel, they all found

themfelves unable to plead for him, or to do what
was otherwife fitting, and fo had refufed to come
and fpeak with him at St. James's. The Court

objected the time they had already granted, and

alledged this was a mere Delay : but his Grace
protefted it was true, and offered one of his Ser-

vants to atteft it. Dri Walker in Court declared,

he would not be of his Counfel, by reafon of

his Employment under the- Parliament. His
Grace defired a convenient time, as was ufual in

the like Cafes, not only in refpect of his Law-
yers, but that he might fend to Scotland, and
other remote Places, for Witneffes and Evidences

neceffary for his Defence ; fince no Prejudice could

come by that Delay, and this was denied to none
in Trial for Life, and had been granted to Mac-
Guire and Mac-Hun, two Iri/hmen. But for

his Counfel, the Court ordained, that any of the

fix he fhould name might be authorized to advife

with him in private, and to fpeak in Court in

the Matter of Law arifing out of the Fact of the

Plea, after the Matter of Fact was handled, which
his Grace was to maintain next Saturday. And
for the Time he craved, they faid, he looked on
the unreafonable Time was granted to Strafford

and Canterbury, thofe grand Offenders, with
whom he had been too familiar, as Precedents

;

but thofe were Precedents without a Precedent,

and none were to expect the like at this time,

efpecially fince there were now fo many Prifoners

to be try'd.

Saturday the 17th, his Grace was brought to
the Court with fome Witneffes, his Counfel being
near, but not prefent ; and in order to the Parts

of his Plea, he firft produced Duplicates of the

Commiffion, and Orders from the Parliament of
Scotland and Committee of Eftates there. The
Court demanded Evidence for both. His Grace
anfwered, Were Time granted, he would not

only fufficiently prove thefe, but many other

Points belonging to his Juftifkation. But the

Court anfwered, That unlefs they were prefent-

ly attefted viva voce, they would not fuffer them
to be read. Whereupon his Grace defired thae

his Servant Mr. Lewis might be examined, whofe
Teftimony was accepted, and the Papers he pro-
duced were received for Evidences, and read.

Next, the Declaration containing the Ends of
the Engagement was read, and being proved by
the fame .Witnefs, was left in Court with the
former Papers. Then the Court upon his Grace's
defire produced the original Articles of Capitula-
tion, which were read ; and Mr. Cole proved he
faw them delivered to his Grace about Nine
in the Morning, before the Lord Gray came
in.

The Lord Gray depofed, That two feveral

Summons, which were fent by him to his Grace
to yield upon Mercy, were both anfwered nega-
tively in refpect of the Ceffation and Treaty ;

That by a Letter from Cromwell, dated Warring-
ton, Auguft 20. he was enjoined to purfue the Sco-

tijb Forces with all vigour ; That he had recei-

ved Letters from the Stafford/hire Gentlemen with
whom the Ceffation begun, intimating that they

had condefcended to it, on purpofe to gain a
few days time to ftrengthen themfelves, in re-

gard the Scots were fo numerous: and that he
difpatched away Wayte and Peters that Morning
in ' which the Treaty ended, to protefl againft

it.

Peters was next examined, and anfwered, That
going that Morning to protefl, by Order from
the Lord Gray, he came accidentally to the Duke
where he found the Hoftages in his Chamber,
and asked if he was willing to be the Lord Grafs
Prifoner, who anfwered, he could not, in regard

of the Treaty ; but if he were afterwards to be

difpofed of, he had rather be his Lordfhip's Pri-

foner than any other's, being of his Acquain-

tance : That he had feen the Summons, and the

negative Anfwer to them ; That this was about

five in the Morning; and that Wayte and he

went a part of the way towards the Place of

Treaty, where he heard the Articles were conclu-

ded.

Lilburn was next examined, who depofed*

That the Articles were figned by himfelf, and
the other Treaties, about Five in the Morning*
and were to be ratified by the Duke aud Lam-
bert ; and that his own Meaning of preferving

the Duke's Life (he knew not how the reft

meant) was only to prefervc him from the Vio-
lence of the Soldiers, and not from the Juftics

of the Parliament. At this Peters rofe up, ex-

preffing great diflike of Lilburn'*, Glofs, faying,

That much Tendernefs was to be ufed where the

Life of fo eminent a Perfon was concerned r

That he had feen many Articles of War, but

never had heard of fuch Ambiguity ; and that it

was clear by thofe Articles the Duke held his

Life fecured, as well from the Parliament as the

Soldiers ; and wifhed to God, that if their Com-
miffioners had meant otherwife, it had been fo ex-
preffed in the Articles, it being mofl neceffary that

Articles in a Concernment of Life fhould be plain

and
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and certain. The Prefident anfwered,- You fay

well for the future, but it is now too late.

His Grace refumed what had been faid, and

fpoke much on the Articles for weakning Lil-

burn's Glofs.

Next the Governour and Marfhal of Windfor

were examined about his Efcape from Windfor-

Caftle. The Governour depofed, That the Duke
faid to him he needed not fear his Efcape, he

would be a true Prifoner, and not go away though

the Gates were opened. The Marfhal faid, he

only heard this from the Governour.

The Duke expreffed a deep Refentment of this

Injury done him by the Governour, who wounded

his Honour fo much, which he valued above all

earthly things •, and did mew how unlike it was,

that any fuch thing was either demanded or

granted, fince that is only done for a little more

Liberty, whereas he was all the while kept under

ftrict Guards ; nor had he the liberty of walking

in the Park, but was always guarded by two

Keepers, the one lying all night in the Room
next him, and the other every night locking the

Door, and carrying the Key with him : That
the Governour's Teftimony in this matter was

not to be received, he being a Party, and now in

hazard for his Negligence, for he was told that

if he efcaped, he mould die for it ; adding, that

if he were not a Prifoner, he would defire Right

of the Governour for that Scandal cad on him,

and chufe no other Place for it but Weftminfter-

Hall. But to all this the Governour made no

Reply ; only the Prefident faid, that though he

could not blame the Earl of Cambridge for what
he faid, yet for all that the Governour was not to

be difcredited.

After this, the Duke fpake a little to all the

three Branches of his Plea, referving the fuller

enlarging upon them to his Counfel. He infilled

mod on the Articles, which he doubted not

were fufficient to protect, him : he defired them
to confider, how facred Articles of War were
reputed in all Places, and among all Nations, and
how inviolably they were kept, all Princes and
States being moft careful to obferve them, not
only to Strangers, but to Subjects ; having great

regard to Articles, though only for Quarter,
much more when there was a Capitulation for

Life : adding the following Instances. Elijba the

Prophet would not fuffer the King of Ifrael to kill

the Syrian Captains, faying, Wouldft thou finite

thofe whom thou haft taken captive with thy Sword
and thy Bow ? The Blood oiAbner lay on Joab's
head, who killed one that had the King's Safe-

Conduct. The Gibeonites alfo, though they ufed

Jofhua deceitfully, yet were preferved according
to the Articles given them ; and not only Saul's

Houfe, but the whole Land fuffered for the Vio-
lation of them. That Prince Robert and the
Lord Cottington, tho excepted from Life or Par-
don by Act of Parliament, were notwithstanding
that, upon the Articles of the Rendition of
Oxford, permitted to go beyond Sea, and never
queftioned for Life : and the like Juftice was
done the Earl of Briflel and the Lord Paulet,
upon the Articles of the Surrender of Exeter, tho
both were excepted from Pardon : And that the
Lord Fairfax and the Officers of the Army were
moft careful to fee Articles always kept, in which
they judged their Honour deeply concerned, and
had often written to the Parliament to that end ;

therefore he did not doubt the like Juftice would
Vol. II.

be done him. By this time it was late, and the

Prefident appointed Monday next for the Duke
to iinifh his Plea in Matter of Fact, ordering his

Counfel to be in the Court, for their better infor-

mation ; and fo they adjourned.

Monday the 19th, the Duke and his Counfel

were brought to the Bar. Colonel Wayte was

examined, who depofed, That the Duke rendred

himfelf to be the Lord Grafs Prifoner, and de-

fire Wayte to protect him from the Multitude,

who thereupon left a Guard at his going away.

But during his Depofition, Peters faid, He lyes, he

lyes ! And Peters, Spencer, and other Officers who
were with Wayte at Utoxeter, being examined, did

totally falfify his Depofition. Divers were alfo

that day examined about the Place of the Duke's

Birth, who all fwore, they heard it always faid

that he was born at Hamilton, and that it was

not a thing to be doubted of. Others were exa-

mined about the figning of the Articles, who
all witneffed, that they were figned long before

the Lord Gray came : and Major Blackmore

deponed, That the Duke's being the Lord Grafs
Prifoner, was by an Agreement betwixt him and

Lambert, whofe Occafions preffed him to go fud-

denly Northward.
• After this the Duke fpake a little, to fhew how
little weight was to be laid on Wayte1

's Tefti-

mony, which was fo evidently difproved. Next,

his Counfel asked the Court's Directions how
they fhould proceed ; and the Court anfwered,

That after the Matter of Fact was handled, they

might plead in Law upon all the Parts of the

Plea : and they told the Duke, by the next Wed-
nefday to finifh his Evidence.

He defired a Warrant for bringing fome Gen-
tlemen, then Prifoners in Whitehall, who were his

material Witneffes : but the Court adjourned, and

promifed to confider of that Motion in the Painted

Chamber ; yet they granted it not.

Wednefday the 21ft, the Court fat, and the

Duke was brought to the Bar. Some were inter-

rogated about the Time of his Birth, to prove

him Poft-natus : but it was not proved, one Per-

fon only fwearing, that he heard him fay he was

fome Years younger than the King. Evidence

was alfo brought of his Conjunction with

Langdale, which they accounted Treafon ; yet

even that was not clearly proved, tho it was
much laboured. Some Letters of his to Langdale

had been taken, and were brought into Court:

but as the Letters proved no Conjunction, fo ic

did not appear that they were his Letters ; oaly

Peters afferted they were like his Hand. Then a

Vote of the two Houfes was read, repealing a for-

mer Vote of fetting an hundred thoufand Pounds
Sterling upon him for Ranfom ; and Proof was

brought, that notwithstanding Articles were given,

yet fome had been forced to take the Negative

Oath ; and thereby they ftudied to evince, that

the Parliament did not hold themfelves bound to

ftand to Articles.

After this, his Grace refumed the Subftance of

all thofe Evidences, and fhewed that it was not

proved he was a Poft-natus, nor that he joined

with Sir Marmaduke Langdale, who neither re-

ceived Orders nor the Word from him, but

marched and quartered apart ; and that tho he

had done otherwife, it could not be criminal in

him ? fince he had no Orders to the contrary

B 2 iron;
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from the Parliament of Scotland, but was com-
manded by them to join with all who would con-

cur with him for profecuting the Ends of the En-
gagement, of which Sir Marmaduke approving,

he had no reafon to refufe Concurrence with him ;

neither could this be made Treafon by the Law
of England: of all which it feem'd the Parlia-

ment was once well-fatisfied, fince by a Vote they

had fined him in an hundred thoufand Pound
Sterling, as the Price of his Liberty ; by which it

appeared they look'd not on him as a Tray tor,

but as an Enemy who had Life granted him by

Articles.

Upon this, the Court adjourned till Thurfday
the i2d, and hisCounfel were appointed to plead,

and he was to clofe his Evidence. The Duke was

brought to the Bar, and by divers Witnefles it

was proved, that there was no Rendition made
to the Lord Gray, but a plain Refufal •, and that

the Treaty was ended, the Articles figned,and

Lambert come up, before the Lord Gray came
thither. There was alfo produced an Order of

Parliament, made four Years before, That no
Quarter mould be given to any of the Irijh in

Arms, which inferred that others might have

them ; and another Order was read of the 14th

of July laft, declaring all the Scots who entred

England Enemies, and all the Englijh and Irifto

who afiifted them Traytors ; and with this he
clofed his Evidence. And fince he was not to

be fuifered to fpeak any more, he enlarged on
all the Parts of his Plea, and fpake at length as

follows.

That he was fent by the Kingdom of Scotland,

which was a free Kingdom, and independent, on
England ; That he having had his Birth, Honour,
and Fortune there, was bound to give obedience

to their Orders ; That for himfelf he had lived

much out of Bufinefs, and was feldom in publick

Truft in that Kingdom, nor very defirous of any ;

but that being commanded to undertake the

Charge of General, for Ends which he conceived
lawful, and no way contrary to the Peace or In-

tereft of England, he was obliged to follow their

Orders : and that by fome Papers emitted by the

Parliament of England againft that Expedition,
they declared they look'd on it as a National
Breach, whereby Scotland had violated their

Leagues and Treaties with them, fo that it was
no private Aft of his : That the entring of the
Scotijh Army into England, Anno 1640, was ac-

counted no Invafion nor Treafon, but on the

contrary was acceptable to this Kingdom, which
gave a brotherly Afliftance for it ; and that the
late unfortunate Army was defigned fully for as

good Ends, and would have fo been look'd on
had it profpered. And for his joining with Sir
Marmaduke Langdale, he anfwered it as was be-
fore let down. Therefore he being taken Prifo-
ner in fuch a War, he conceived it without a
Precedent that he fhould be tried for his Life,
for ferving his native Kingdom in an open War.
As for his being an Alien, he referred that to his

Counfel, but faid it was undeniable he was born
in Scotland, nor was he proved a Poft-natus ; he
was alfo born before his Father's Naturalization,
and fo not included in it, and his own Natura-
lization had been in agitation in the beginning of
this Parliament : That his fitting in Parliament
did not conclude him an EngUJh Earl, for if
queftioned, he might probably have been expel-

s Duke nilton 1 Car. IL

led out of the Houfe of Peers, as his Countryman;

Mr. Walter Stuart was out of the Houfe of

Commons; and that his being an Earl did not

naturalize him, that being the King's fingle Acty

whereas Naturalization was only by Act of Par-

liament. As for the Articles, it was clear, that

Lambert being a General Officer, commiffionated

by Parliament, was impowered to capitulate both

by the Parliament and by Cromwell, the Lord
Gray having no Authority from the Parliament,

but only from Cromwell's Letter : That he be-

came the Lord Gray's Prifoneronly by La?nbert\

Order, and that he made no Surrender till the

Articles were figned and delivered : That tho the

Lord Gray had protefted againft it, (and yet only

an Intention to do it was proved) he was not

concerned in it, nor bound to take notice of it,

Lambert being the Parliament's Officer, and fent

. againft him by them. That Articles were to be

expounded by their plain Meaning, and not by
any mental Referves pretended by the Commif-
fioners : That by the firft Article, he was a Pri-

foner of War, and that it was feldom known that

the Life of any fuch was taken ; and that by the

fecond Article, Life and Safety of Perfon were

exprefly fecured without any exception : That if

Articles were now violated, it would make the

Sequel of the Wars, if any more followed, a

downright Butchery, fince none would any more
truft to a Capitulation ; which Mifchief he pray'd

God to avert. That his Efcape out of Prifon

was no Breach, he being only bound by the Ar-
ticles to deliver himfelf Prifoner, which he did,

but not to continue fo. And he concluded, That
he was confident, had he no better Plea, his Ar-
ticles were fufficient, according to the Laws of
all Nations, to preferve his Life.

Then the Prefident asked him, if he had any
thing to fay as he was Earl of Cambridge ? Where-
upon he and his Counfel moved, That if what he

had faid and proved was not fatisfactory foi the

Averment of his Plea, he might anfwer the

Charge exhibited, which he had not yet done.

But to this, neither the Court nor their Counfel

would yield, tho they gave no reafon for it,

fave only that it implied a Defire of Delay : but

the reafon, as was faid, was, That they knew?

had they yielded to that, the Charge had been

overthrown, fince the Law of England does not

admit that to be Treafon which they charged

on him, that he had afiifted the King againft the

Kingdom and People by levying War. Then
the Court told his Counfel, that Saturday was the

longeft time they allowed them for performing

their part : but the Counfel anfwered, That it

was impoflible for them to undertake it, and

difcharge their Confciences to their Client, having

fo fhort a time allowed them ; there being a ne-

ceffity of fearching divers Records for Precedents,

which required a competent time, as had been

allowed in former Cafes. But the Court refufed

to promife it, only they faid they would take it

into their confideration. The Counfel infifted,.

and faid plainly, they declined the Employment
on thofe Terms, and would be forced to de-

clare it.

Monday the 26th, the other two Officers that

had figned the Capitulation for the Duke and his

Troops, who had been fent for a great way off,,

were examined, who agreed with the former

Witnefles in Matters of Fact, and alfo with

. . Lilburrix
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Lilburn, that by figning the Articles, they only

meant the Duke fhould be preferved from the Vio-

lence of the Soldiers, and not from the Juftice

of the Parliament, Then the Counfel began to

plead, and all four fpoke on the feveral Heads of

the Plea. Mr. Heron fpoke curforily and ele-

gantly, but not very materially : Mr. Parfons, a

young Man, fpoke boldly, and to good purpofe:

Mr. Chute the Civilian fpoke learnedly and home:

and Mr. Hales (fince the much-renowned Lord

Chief Juftice of the King*'s-Bench) elaborately

and at length. The Heads of their Arguments

follow.

The Duke being, as was granted, a born Scotch-

man, his Tye of Obligation and Subjection to

that Kingdom was indifpenfable and indiflbluble

;

fo that his late Employment could not be refufed

when laid on him by the Authority of that King-

dom, no more than a Native of England, living

in it, can difobey the Commands of this Parlia-

ment: whereas any Subjection the Duke owed

the Parliament of England was only acquired,

and difpenfabie. That fince no Man can be a

Subject of two Kingdoms, whatever Tye lay on

him to the Kingdom of England, it was not to

be put in competition with what he owed Scot-

land; it being a Maxim in Law, That major

Relatio trahit adfe minorem, and that Jus Originis

memo mutare poteft : That there was an Allegiance

due to the King, and another to the Kingdom,

and no Treafon could be without a Breach of

Faith and Allegiance due to them againft whom
it was committed, for thefe Kingdoms were two

diftind Kingdoms ; and tho the Allegiance due

to the King was the fame in both Kingdoms, yet

that due to the Kingdoms was diftinct : nor was

the actual Adminiftration of the Kingdoms in

the King's Perfon, when the Duke got his Em-
ployment. Therefore as his Allegiance to the

Kingdom of Scotland was antienter and ftronger

than any Tye that lay on him in England, fo

what he did by their Order might well make him
an Enemy to this Kingdom, but could not infer

Treafon. Yet all this of the Allegiance due to the

Kingdom was founded on no Common or Statute

Law, as Mr. Hales himfelf confejfed afterwards :

hut he urged this well againft thofe who ajferted it,

it being the univerfally received Maxim at that time.

That whether he was a Poft-natus or Ante-

Tiatus, did not appear ; but tho he were, it did

not vary the Cafe, nor his Obligation to the

Place of his Nativity : and fo tho he were Poft-

natus, or accounted a Denizen by his Father's

Naturalization, his Offence could not be Trea-

fon, but Hoftility at moft ; and by that fup-

pofed Hoftility, he could only lofe his Privilege

of a Denizen, but could not be made a Traytor,

there being no Precedent where ever any Man
was attainted of Treafon for a hoftile Invafion,

and it was queftionable if this Offence could a-

mount to that. Nor could any Cafe be alledged,

where one born in another Independent Kingdom,
acting by a Commiffion from that Kingdom, and
refiding there when he received his Commiffion,
and raifing the Body of his Army in that King-
dom, and coming into this in an open hoftile

manner, was ever judged guilty of Treafon.

Naturalization was intended to be a Benefit, and
not a Snare ; fo that one might well lofe it, but

was not to be punifhed for it. And fo when
France and England were under one Sovereign,

divers of both Nations were naturalized in the

other ; yet when Hoftility broke out betwixt

them, many fo naturalized fought on the fide of

their native Kingdom, for which none were put

to death, tho divers were taken Prifoners. And
in Edward the Third's time, tho he claimed

France as his by his Right ; yet when the Con-
ftable of France invaded England, and was taken

Prifoner, he was not tried, nor put to death, but

fent back to France, as being a Native of that

Kingdom. And when David Bruce King of

Scotland invaded this Kingdom, and was taken

.

Prifoner, great Endeavours were ufed to find a

legal Ground for his Trial, he being Earl of

Huntingdon in England ; but this Plea was waved,

for it was found that it could not be done juftly,

that being but a lefs Degree of Honour, tho

King Edward claimed a kind of Homage from
the Crown of Scotland. That if the Duke were

on that account put to death, it might prove of

fad confequence, in cafe there was War any more
betwixt the Kingdoms ; fince moft of the pre-

fent Generation were Poft-nati, and all would be

fo quickly : and yet if the Lord Fairfax, who
was both a Poft-natus and had his Honour in

Scotland, were commanded to lead an Army thi-

ther, and being taken were put to death, it

would be thought hard meafure. For the Duke's

Father's Naturalization, it was true, by the Sta-

tute of the 25th of Edw. 3. provifion was made,

that Children born without the Kingdom, whofe

Parents were then in the King's Allegiance,

fhould be Denizens : but the Duke was born be-

fore his Father's Naturalization, which can never

reach him, none but the Iffue after his Father's

Naturalization being included within it ; and

the word Heres in the Act is only a word of

Limitation, and not of Creation : nor did his

making ufe of the Affiftance of fome Engliftj

Forces, make him a Traytor. It is true, if an

Englifhman conduct a foreign Army, or if a

Foreigner come of his own head, or in a rebel-

lious way, to affift an Englifh Rebellion, it will

amount to Treafon : for the Act of fuch an Alien

is denominated from the Crime of thofe he affifts

here, where he owed a local Obedience, which

was the Cafe of Shirley the Frenchman, and of

Lopez. But if an Alien come with a foreign

Force, tho he make ufe of Englifh Auxiliaries,

that only infers a Hoftility, but no Treafon ; and

was the Cafe of the Lord Harris a Scotchman,

15 Eliz. and of Pcrkin Warbeck, both having

Englifh Help : and tho Warbeck was put to death,

it was by no Civil Judicatory, but only by the

Will of Henry the Seventh, who erected a Court-

Martial for that purpofe. The prefent Cafe was

yet clearer, where the Alien had Authority from

his native Kingdom, and was commanded by

them to make ufe of Englifh Help : fo that tho

Langdale's affifting the Duke did make himfelf a

Traytor, yet the Duke's accepting of it only in-

fers an Act of Hoftility. And whereas it was

objected, That the Parliament had already by

their Act which conftituted this Court for his

Trial, declared him a Traytor ; it was not to

be difputed what the Parliament had power to

do, but no Parliament had ever done the like be-

fore : and the Meaning of the Act muft be, that

he fhould be tried whether guilty of Treafon or

not, fince if tire Parliament have already declared

him a Traytor, further Trial was needlefs. And
it was clear, the Parliament by their Act in July

Jaft, which declared all the Sects who entered Eng-
land
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land Enemies, confidered not the Diftin&ion of

Poft-nati, nor judged that inferred Treafon, fince

moft of them all were Poft-nati ; That many of

the Officers of that Army, who had been taken

Prifoners, tho clearly Poft-nati, were ranfomed,

others banifhed, others ftill in Prifon -, why then

Jhould the Imputation of Treafon be faftned on

the Duke, when the reft were ufed only as Ene-

mies r

And for the Articles, they made it appear,

they were the Publick Faith of the Kingdom,

when given by Perfons publickly authorized,

upon the obferving of which inviolably, depended

the whole Intercourfe of all Nations, and their

mutual Confidence, which is founded on all

States being bound by the A£ts of their Publick

Minifters : That this was not a pure Rendition,

but a Paction concluded upon Deliberation,

wherein the Parliament loft nothing, but on the

contrary were Gainers : That the Parliament had

ratified this upon the matter, by voting a hun-

dred thoufand Pounds Sterling Fine, to be the

Price of the Duke's Liberty : That the fecret

Senfe the Treaters pretended, was not to be con-

fidered, fince all Compacls are to be underftood

according to the clear Meaning of the Words,

and the univerfal Senfe of Mankind, who look

on Articles wherein Life is granted, as a fuffi-

cient Security, not only from the Soldiers, but

from the Civil Powers ; and that thefe Treaters,

when the Articles were agreed, fhould have

made known their fecret Meaning, otherwife it

was not to be regarded. And it was a moft

dangerous Precedent to admit of collateral Aver-

ments of fecret Meanings againft exprefs Words,

much more in a Cafe of Life, and yet much

more in Military Agreements, wherein the Con-

cernments of Armies and Nations were included,

and which concerned the Honour and Security

of all Soldiers. And for this divers Precedents

were cited. The Argument ended thus : That

as the Court confided of Gentlemen, and Law-
yers, and of martial Men ; fo the Plea confifting

of three Branches, was the more proper for their

Cognizance, a part of it being drawn from

the Law of England, another part from the Civil

Law, and a third part from the Martial Law :

And if the Plea in any of the three Branches was

made good (and they doubted not but it would

be found lb in them all) the Court would be fatis-

fied, there was Reafon and Juftice for preferving

the Duke's Life.

The Court adjourned till Friday the fecond

Day of March, and the Duke being again brought
to the Bar, the Counfel for the People pleaded,

but fo poorly, that all who heard them were

afhamed : But they had one Advantage, that

neither the Duke nor his Counfel were allowed

to fpeak after them, nor to difcover their imper-

tinent Allegations, which made the Duke's
Counfel obviate all they could imagine they

might fay, though they faid a great deal fo far

out of the way of Reafon, that none could have

thought of it -, and yet it was fo weak, that it

needed neither be obviated, nor replied to.

Yet at the end of every Branch of their Plead-
ing, I fhall add the Anfwers againft them, as

they are fet down in fome Notes taken by the

Duke's Counfel.

They begun with Alienage, and ftudied to

make it appear, that though he was a Scotchman

born, yet he was no Alien, having enjoyed all

the Privileges an Engliflman was capable of, as-

being a Peer, a Privy - Counfellor, pofleffing.

Lands and Inheritances, and marrying in England.

But Naturalization cannot be but by Acl of Par-
liament, and not by the King's Jingle Deed ; much

lefts by thofte Privileges oft which any Stranger might

participate.

Next they urged his Father's Naturalization,,

and fince his Name was not in that Acl, as was
in other Acts of Naturalization, that proved

him to be no Alien, otherwife his Name had

been put in. From that it rather appeared he was
an Alien, Jince others found it necejftary to inftert

their Childrens Names ; which his Father not do-

ing, proves the Son an Alien ftill.

They alfo urged his being Poft-natus, which

muft be held true, fince he brought no Evidence

to the contrary ; and it being fo, his Tie of

Subjection was as great in England as in Scotland t

That Allegiance was only due to the King, and
not to the Kingdom ; That there was a King
when he entred into England, and that thougb
he was fecluded from the Government, yet all

Writs were iffued in his Name ; fo that this Ex-
pedition was a Breach of the Allegiance he owed
the King. 'This was the oddeft Part of all their

Plea, fince his Charge was, That he ajftifted the

King againft the Kingdom ; and now they did plead

he owed no Allegiance to the Kingdom, but to the

King, whom they had fto lately murdered ; the

Duke's coming with his Army being only to relieve

him from the barbarous Ufage he had met with.

They alfo urged at large, That an Eriglijhman'9

Children, in what place of the World foever

they were born, were Denizens of England, and
cited many Precedents. But the Mif-application

of them was grofts and palpable, thofe being of Per-

fons who were Englifhmen before their Children

were born ; whereas the Duke's Father was natu-

ralized after he was born ; fo that he could not com-

municate that Privilege to him., which he did indeed

tranftmit to his Children born after his Naturaliza-

tion.

Next, they pleaded, That the Parliament of

Scotland had no power to commiffionate him to

enter into England ; and that if fome of them
were there, they ought likewife to fuffer for it 5-

and it was fit he fuffered for his Mafters who had
employed him : That it was pity the King had

not fuffered fooner. They alfo produced many-

Precedents of Strangers being condemned a3

guilty of Treafon, for Treafons committed in

England ; as the Queen of Scots, Lopez, Perkin

Warbeck, the Lord Harris, Shirley the French-

man, and the Spanijh Ambaffador. All this was
obviated in. the former Argument, where Diftintlion

was made betwixt fecret Pratlices, and an open In-

vafion with a foreign Force. They added, That:

Scotland belonged to the Crown of'England, and
fo was to be look'd on as fome of the Counties of

England. But Scotland had no Subjetlion to the

Crown, but only to the King of England, whom
they had murdered, and fto they had no Power to

judge any Scotchman.

As for the Articles, they pleaded it was not

in the power of the Army to abfolve any from
the Juftice of the Parliament, which being above
them, was not tied to their Articles ; and
therefore, though they confeffed the Word3
ought to have been lefs ambiguous, yet they

faid, the Expofiuon of thofe who figned them
was
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was to be admitted, fince every Man was to be

the Expounder of his own Words ; and pleaded

fome Precedents about the Expofition ot ambi-

guous Words. But the Words here were plain and

not ambiguous, only a treacherous Equivocation was

invented to break them.

Cook, by a ftrange Subtilty, faid, The Articles

only fecured his Life during Imprifonment ; fo

that his breaking of Prifon, and being retaken,

put an end to the Obligation of the Articles.

Though he broke not Prifon, but went^out at Boor

and Gate, which was no Crime.

blamed. I never held that Law of Ina the

Saxon King to be warrantable Divinity ; Servus

fi quid opens patrdrit Die Dominico ex pracepto

Domini fid, liber ejlo, if the Precept it felf were
unjuft.

Now for the Action in queftion, wherein this

Earl v/as engaged ; it is not defended by his own
Counfel, the Difpute being only de modo, whether
he be to be puniihed as an Enemy, or as a
Traytor ; though if this Argument held, he
were neither way to be punifhed : and therefore

certainly the Neceffity of his Obedience is no Mi-

Mr. Steel,

tigation for his Crime ; and if it ihould, Empfon
Attorney-General en behalf of and Dudley, with all their monopolizing Succef-

thi Commonwealth.

My Lord,

H E Counfel for the Earl of Cambridge have

framed their Arguments upon the Fact, as

they conceived it proved •, and alfo by admittance

of the contrary in fome Points. I fhall ufe the

fame Method ; firft arguing from the Fact, as I

conceive it ftated by the Proofs produced •, and

then by admittance of the contrary, that though

the Fact mould be as they would have it, that

yet the Law will fall out to be againft them.

The Charge being read to the Prifoner, he

hath thereunto put in his Plea, confifting of

three parts •, the Truth and Validity whereof

hath been denied on the behalf of the Common-
wealth.

Firft, The firft part of his Plea was, That he

was imployed by the Parliament of the Kingdom

of Scotland, not to invade this Kingdom, but for

the Ends declared by them. The Improvement

made of this part of the Plea, is, That the Earl

was but a Servant in this Expedition, and under

the Authority and Command of another, and tied

under Oaths and Penalties to give Obedience •, if

he had difobeyed, he had been liable to Punifh-

ment ; therefore it were hard for him to be pu-

nifhed for obeying alfo : That he hath not ex-

ceeded his Couimiffion : Befides, the Parliament

fors, had been unjuftly cenfured, who always have
had Patents and Commiffions from Authority to

plead : And fo alfo all that Catalogue of former
Traytors, who have hatched their Treafons and
Defigns againft this State in foreign Parts, and
have ever had the Pope or foreign Princes to

put a Stamp of Authority and Command upon
them, muft by this Argument be in fome meafure
juftified.

It was never expected from any under Com-
mand, to write himfelf more a Servant than ufque
ad aras, thofe being the Hercules*^ Pillars whereon
a Non plus ultra is written ; and therefore who-
ever exceeds thole Bounds, he will find it to be
at his Peril.

Secondly, The fecond Difference is, where the

Inftrument is inanimatum, and where an active

living Inftrument : Of the firft it is truly faid,

Infirumenti nulla vis, all being therein attributed

to the principal Efficient, but otherwife of the

other. From hence the Statute of 1, 2 Phil, and
Mary, c. to. did juftly repeal the Statute of

3$ H. 8. c. 20. which had punifhed a Man for

Treafon, though he became non compos Mentis
before the Execution. And no lefs juftly did

2f Ed. 3. de Proditionibus, by the Word ^Ima-
gination'] alter in the like Point that Law which
was in ufe till then, concerning fuch a Perfon's

committing the Act of Treafon, fuch an one be-

of England in their Declaration of the 1 7th of ing no better than quafi inanimatus. But who can

February laft, lay the Blame of this Invafion upon

the Parliament of Scotland : And laftly, That the

Earl's Cafe is not unlike that of an Ambaflador,

who is not to be blamed for acting againft a

State, if he have it in Mandatis, as in the Cafe

of the Bifhop of Rofs, in the Reign of Queen

Elizabeth.

By endeavouring to give Satisfaction to all

which, I fhall difpatch what I have to fay upon

this firft part of the Plea.

I fhall admit it proved, That he had that Com-
miffion and Authority mentioned ; and alfo, that

the Rule is generally true, That a Man is not to

be punifhed for an Act which he doth by the Ne-
ceffity of Obedience, becaufe he hath not folutum

Arbiirium, which is required to denominate Ac-
tions either blame-worthy or excufable : but I

fhall eafily prove, that this Rule is capable of

Reftriction, both by the Rules of Law and Rea-

fon -, and if we obferve the Diftinctions aright,

which determine this Queftion, we fhall ftill find

the Earl of Cambridge within that part which ren-

ders him inexcufable.

Firft, The firft Difference is, where the Action

is lawful, and where unlawful, which is command-
ed : If it be lawful, a fuperior Command may
difpence with fome Circumftances ; but if un-

lawful, the Servant obeying, is not the lefs to be

affirm this Earl to be other than an active and
vigorous Inftrument ? non modo vivit, fed in Se-

naium venit, being a chief Member of that Par-
liament, under whofe Command he would fhelter

himfelf; and by that Means he is a Mafter ra-

ther than a Servant, and fo met with by that

Declaration of the Parliament of this Kingdom,
of which he would have made an Argument for

himfelf.

Thirdly, Where there is Necejftas culpabilis y

the Law will not excufe, as it will where there is

no Crime in contracting the Neceffity. Thofe
who in former times gave Victuals and Provifiori

to Sir John Oldcaflle, were not punifhed as Tray-
tors, becaufe they did it (fay our Records) pro

timore Mortis, cj? recejfefunt quam citb potuerunt,

3 Inft. 10. And upon this Reafon fcems that

Opinion of Tremayle to be grounded in 21 H. 7.

39. That a Servant may juftify the killing of

another, to fave his Matter's Life, if he cannot

otherwife efcape.

But if one being drunk commits a Crime,

though he hath not properly and immediately

the free Exercife of his Will, yet the Law re-

putes him voluntarius Damon ; and he is not at

all the lefs excufable by our Law, 1 Inf. 2.47.

4 li. Beverley's Cafe : and by the Philofophei's

Rule, fuch a one doth igmrans, not per ignoran-

tiam
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tiam agere ; and is therein fo far from being ex-

cufed, that he is therefore to be doubly punifhed.

Now to affume, that whereby the Earl's Coun-

fel would excufe him, viz. his Oath and Com-

miffion, renders him the lefs excufable ; becaufe

both are ftrong Arguments of a free and full

Confent : for who can imagine them of Scotland

to be fuch mean Statifts, as to think that Oath

equally obliging, which was compulfive to the

lame, if freely taken ; or that that General fhould

be trufted with a Commiffion over all their

Forces both by Sea and Land, as his Commiffion

runs, whofe Heart as well as Hand had not im-

braced it ? And truly, they that have heard his

Letters read to Sir Marmadnke Langdale, wherein

he prays for the Increafe of the Diffractions at

London, and for his Friends at Colchefter, would

not judge him an unwilling Inftrument,x but one

exceeding, rather than falling fhort in executing

his Commiffion.

Laftly, Neceffity of Obedience may excufe in

privatis, but never in publicis. If a Feme- covert,

together with her Husband, commit an Act

which in another would amount to Felony, yet

in her it mall not, becaufe fub pteftate viri,

27 Aff. p. 40. but otherwife the Law is in point

of Treafon ; and fo is the Judgment of my Lord

Verulam ; Nee valet Privilegimn (faith he) contra

Rempublicam, And as to the Cafe of an Ambaf-

fador urged on the other fide, and in particular

of the Bifhop of Rofs in the Days of Queen E-

lizabeth ; I anfwer, Firft, The Privileges of thofe

who are entertained as Ambaffadors, are very

great, and not to be made Precedents, or affumed

by any other ; whence Proregis Dedecus redundat

in Regan : and therefore before 25 Ed. 3. it was

Treafon to kill an Ambaffador, 22 Aff. p. 49.

And from hence might arife that Privilege

Ihewed to the Bifhop of Rofs. Secondly, It

appears rather to be an Act of Grace than of

Juftice, that the Bifhop was freed, becaufe he

was fet at liberty after a long Imprifonment

;

which if not liable to the Cenfure of the Law, he

fhould not at all in Juftice have endured. Alfo

by the Judgment of my Lord Bacon, cited by

the learned Doctor on the other fide, in point

of Confpiracy againft the State, even an Am-
baflador is not privileged ; yet of this Bifhop

learned Camden faith in his Eliz. Fuit libcratus,

qui Rebellions clam faces fubjecerat. All which

were Arguments of Grace, and therefore that

Cafe will be no Precedent for this, wherein alfo

Confpiraeies and Correfpondencies with many of

this Nation have been proved, and are otherwife

notorious.

And for that inevitable Labyrinth, out of

which the Earl of Cambridge cannot extricate

himfelf, but that whether obey or not obey, he

is under a Mifchief, he may for that thank him-

felf •, volenti non fit injuria : this is like the

Plague of an erroneous Confcience, which whe-

ther obeyed or not, proves a Tormentor to its

Subject.

Secondly, The fecond Part of the Earl's Plea

is, That he is no Englifhman, notwithftanding

the Naturalization of his Father ; which, in

effect, is as much as to fay, and fo it hath been

infilled on, he is by Birth a Scotfman% and by
oonfequence an Alien to, and not triable as a

Traytor by the Laws of England. Concerning
the handling of which Queftion, it being that

whereupon the Validity of the other two doth, in

my Judgment, principally depend ; I fhall firft

anfwer the material Objections which I conceive

made by the Counfel on the other fide, before I

offer any thing pofitively to affert the Invalidity

of this part of the Plea.

Obj. It hath been faid, 'The Proof is not clear

for the Earl of Cambridge'; being a Poft-natus ;

viz. one bom after King James'.? Accefs to the

Crown of England ; and that being but a non

liquet in favorem vite, the moft favourable Con-

firuclion is to be taken for the Prifoner.

Anfw. Firft, I deny that the Proof amounts
to no more in this Particular than a non liquet ;

for there is one pofitive Witnefs that fpeaks di-

rectly to the Earl's Birth after King James's, com-
ing to the Crown of England : another fpeaks to

the Earl's own Confeffion, being about two or

three and forty years of Age, which fpeaks him
born fince that time ; and a third fpeaks to the

common Report of his being born fince : and
if the Proof were but femiplena probatio, yet as

Braclon faith, that amounts to a Prefumption ;

and, faith he, Prefumptioni ftabitur donee probetur

in contrarium, efpecially when the Earl himfelf,

who fhould have proved the contrary for the

making good his Plea, hath offered nothing

againft it ; and being asked, never abfolutely

denied it.

Secondly, I do agree, that what the Jewifh
Expofitors obferve in the Expofition of their

Laws, which founded in favour, is to be obferved

in our Law, in thofe things which we ufually fay

the Law favours ; viz. Favores funt ampliandi ;

and that ftrict Expofitions are
t
only for penal

Rules, according to that of the Civilians, Confti-

tutio penalis non excedit Cafum : yet we fhall find,

that where the Penalty of a penal Law is againft

one or few Perfons, and the Benefit redounds to

the Generality, in that cafe even a penal Statute

fhall be taken largely againft the Offender 5 fo

the Rule is put, Plow. Com. 36. Plat's Cafe,

where it is refolved, though the Statute of 1 R. 2.

c. 12. give an Action of Efcape againft the

Guardian of the Fleet, yet for the Reafon above-

faid, it is, though a penal Law, by a benign
Interpretation, to extend to the Sheriff of Lon-
don : and in like manner, if there were any La-
titude in Cafes of Treafon and Murder (as there

is not) yet to extend it on the behalf of the

Prifoners, might prove to many thoufands cru-

delis Mifericordia.

Thirdly, Add to this, that the Law of England
is fo tender of the publick "Weal, that though iri

other Cafes it may feem to infift too much upon
Formalities, yet herein it will difpenfe fometimes
with its moft certain Rules. Hence it is, that

if one pafs over another's Land without his Con-
fent, to fetch a Falcon, or the like, he may be

punifhed as a Trefpaffer •, but not fo* if to hunt
or kill a Fox or an Otter (which Inftances I

fuppofe not unfuitable to the Prifoner ) becaufe

thefe are Creatures contra bonum Publicum ; which
Reafon the Book gives of the Law in that Cafe,

12 H. 8. 10. For the fame reafon' no Man fhall

be punifhed as a Trefpaffer for erecting Bulwarks
on another's Land, Dyer 36. Maleverer's Cafe.

And hence certainly was the reafon of that an-
cient Law, That capital Offenders, who had
tranfgreffed againft the Law, had Lup'tna Capita,

and might therefore by the Juftice of Lex talionis9
arte perire fua \ wherein the Law followed

Nature Qrdinem : The Rules of Nature are moft

conftanr,
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conftant, yet for the Prefervation of the whole,

it will fometimes contradict itfelf; as to pre-

vent a Vacuum, and the like, what an Inverfion

do we fee of Nature's moft conftant and ordi-

nary Rules? Do not they then in this pove

fomewhat unnatural, imbrace a Cloud inftead of

Subftance, that fear not to omit the weightieft

things of the Law, rather than in Cafes of in-

vincible Neceffity, difpenfe with fome Formali-

ties ?

Obj. But though the Earl of Cambridge were

a Pott-natus, yet he is quafi Ligeus acquifitus

unto England ; and if fo, as his Allegiance began

with an Act of the Nation, fo it might determine by

an Atl of the fame Power, to wit,- by Command

from the Parliament of Scotland.

Anfw. Firft, The Strength of this Objection,

if admitted, would, as I conceive, by a new in-

vented Diftinttion, overthrow the learned and

folemn Refolution of all the Judges.and Chancel-

lor of England, 6 Jac. in Calvin's Cafe, where-

in all Allegiances that the Wits of Men could

imagine, are enumerated, and they are but four,

viz. Ligeantia naturalis, acquifita, localis, and le-

Refolution of Calvin's cafe anfwers all the Suppo-
fitions of any future contingencies, and pofitively

refolves, That this Allegiance cannot poffibly be
loft by any Matter ex poft fatlo, no, not by
Difference of Defcents and Governments, 7 Li.

27. And what is agreed to be inherent to a natu-

ral born Englijhman, belongs alfo to a Poftnatus,

Non poteft -patriam in qua natus eft exuere, nee Li-

geantia? Debitum ejurare, 1 Inft. 129.

Thirdly, And for the Inconfiftencies of Alle-

giances that the Objection feems to infinuate, in

the Cafe of competition between the Kingdoms,
Bratlon hath met with that Suppofal long fince,

Li. de Accep. 427. fpeaking of one that is adfi-
dem utriufque Regis, fi contingant guerram accidere

inter Regna ; putting the cafe of one born in France,

and indenized in England, Remaneat perfonaliter

cum eo cui Ligeantiam fecerit, & facia t fervitium
debitum ei cum quo non fteterit in perfona.

Obj. Though the Earl of Cambridge were a
Poft-natus, yet, as this Cafe is, it makes him not

to differ from an Alien, becaufe the Kingdoms of
England and Scotland were at the lime of this ln-

vafion divided, and there were then feveral Admini-

galis : and by the Judgment of that Cafe, Robert firations of their Powers ; from whence a double

Calvin, Son and Heir to James Lord Calvin of

Colcrofs in Scotland, born three Years after King

James's Accefs to the Crown (as alfo all other fo

born) were adjudged Subjects of this Kingdom of

England, Ligeantia naturali, by the beft and

higheft Allegiance, without any quafi at all, in

the fame kind, and to all Intents and Purpofes

that any natural-born Englifhman was.

Secondly, The Objection feems to me not only

tobeagainftthe Judgmentof this Cafe, butagainft

Reafon alfo: For what Acquifition is there by

the Party, or what contributes he to it, whether

he be born in this or that Time or Place? The
Conceit that there is any Act of the Party's in

this (as there mutt be to make a Quafi Ligeus ac-

quifitus) feems to favour of the Pythagorean Me-

tempfucofis, or that Opinion of Plato, who held a

Pre-exiftence of Souls, which after came into the

Bodies, tanquam in ergaftula.

Obj . It is inconfiftent to have two natural Alle-

giances to two feveral Kingdoms, as it is impoffible to

have two Futhers ; in which Cafe major relatio tra-

het ad fe minorem : And in that Cafe the Earl is

rather to be reputed a Subjetl of Scotland, where he

was born, than of England.

Anfw. Firft, It is indeed inconfiftent that the

fame Perfon fhould in two feveral Kingdoms have

two original Allegiances, in a phyfical Acceptati-

on, to wit, to be fo born : Yet by conftruction

of Law, he that is born in Scotland may have an

Allegiance to England, equivalent with the other.

Thus Calvin by the Refolution of that Cafe was

Scotus patria, and Anglus privilegio.

And thus, without any contradiction, it was

ever held for Law, That the Natives of Gafcoign

and Aquitain, and thofe other countries which

were geographically out of England, were yet in

conftruction of Law equally Denizens and Sub-

jects of England with thofe born here •, in regard

of one Allegiance and Protection wherein they

were equally involved, 27 Aff. Pla. 48.

Secondly, No Allegiance which gains the Name
of Alta £s? Naturalis Ligeantia, can by the com-
mon Law of England be diverted, though other-

wife it may be by the civil Laws, there being no

Magis & Minus that it is capable of, which the

Objection would fuppofe. And the truth is, the
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Allegiance is to be confidered, Regis & Regni.
Anjw. Firft, If we look upon the judicial

powers of the Kingdoms in a legal confideration,

even at the Time mentioned in the Objection,

befides the Union of the Kingdoms made by force

of 1 Jac. cap. 1. we fhall find as ftrong ftipula-

tions and engagements by Treaties, confirmed by
Parliament and otherwise, betwixt the Nations,
as were poffibly to be made ; none of which were
repealed at the time jf this Expedition : And fa

far from that, that the Earl himfelf hath often

at the Bar profeffed, That neither his Com-
ing or Commiffion were againfr. the Parliament

or Kingdom of England. How then were the

Powers of thefe Nations fo legally and judicial-

ly different?

Secondly, The Union of the Laws and Go-
vernments of thefe Nations was a Thing defired

and endeavoured by fome, as may appear by the

latter part of the Statute of 4 Jac. cap. 1. but

it was not effected. Therefore the Difrinction

of the Kingdoms was taken into confideration in

Calvin's cafe, where [Regno] was one of the

Nomina operativa, and granted, That though the

Kingdoms, Laws, and Nobilities of the Nati-

ons of England and Scotland were feveral and di-

ftinct, yet the Allegiance of all born in either

Nation after the Union was one and the fame.

And the Pleading of that Cafe ( which beft de-

notes the Law) demonftrates this, That fuch Di-
ftinction of the Kingdoms was under confiderati-

on : For the Pleading was, That Calvin was
born extra Ligeantiam Regni Regis Anglice, and
infra Ligeantiam Regni Regis Scotia?. And the

learned Chancellor of that Time faith, in his Pofl-

nati, that the Judgment was, That neither Calvin^

nor any other Poft-nati, were Aliens to the King
or Kingdom of England.

Thirdly, It is agreed on the other fide, That
there was always one Ligeantia Regis: And there-

fore, even thence, I do infer that there was alfo

one Ligeantia Regni ; becaufe that Allegiance

which was due to the King, was certainly due to

him in his politick Capacity, though not to that

only, or divided in the Subject from his natural

Capacity. However, it may be faid nevcrthe-

lefs, as it is in Calvin's cafe, (by a Community
C of
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of" Properties) that it was due to the natural ca-

pacity alio, \yiz. is it ought ever to be accom-

panied with the politick; thence it was butjuft

in the Parliament, notwithftanding the King's

perfonal command and oppofition againft them,

yet to permit the taking of the Oath of Alle-

giance, and not to aboliih it till after his Death,

it being ad Legem Legatio ; yet the perfon was

fo neceffary, that without it, it had been ridicu-

Jous to adminifter it in the Form it was, in which

cdStmajus dignum trahit adfe minus. And hence

it was that capital crimes committed in one

King's time, might be proceeded againft after

the Death of that King, 3 Ed. 3 Fitz. Reattach.

18.
' & Bro. Cor. 178. If the King had pur-

chafed Land to him and his Heirs, tho' the Word
[Succefors,] the Word of his politick capacity,

had not been mentioned, yet he was feized there-

of injure Corona, 43 Ed. 3. 20. And if Land

had been given to the King and another, and

their Heirs, they had for the fame reafon been

Tenants in Common, and not Joint-Tenants,

Co?n. 239. for the fame reafon. And though

many of thofe Perfons who have been Kings have

often oppreffed, inftead of preferving their Sub-

je£ts, yet ftill that which Bratlon hath faid upon

the fame Ground remains true of the Regal pow-

er, Non aliud Rex poteft, quam quod de jure po-

teft, his Office ftill being ex Officio, as 2 Littl.

Co. IVtfeman's Cafe, faith ; and Fitz. Nat Brev.

113. out of the Regifter, to provide for the pre-

fervation of his people. And if any other con-

ftruction fhould be made, then it mult have fol-

lowed in the King's perfonal Abfence, Minori-

ty, or Difability, the Kingdom muft either have

been but weakly, or not at all governed. From
all which it may be inferred, That the Obliga-

tion and Allegiance which was owing to the

King, did include that which fano fenfu was the

Kingdom's alfo.

It remains now that fomewhat be fpoken for

the further invalidating of this part of the Plea •,

wherein I fhall,

Firft prove, That one born in Scotland, after

the Union of the Crowns, cannot be to any pur-

pofe confidered as an Alien to England.

Secondly, That though the Earl of Cam-
bridge had been born before the Union, yet he

had not been an Alien to England, partly from

a national Consideration, but more principally

from perfonal Confiderations ; viz. 1. By reafon

of his local Allegiance both in Scotland and Eng-

land, z. Ligeantia acquifita ; and that by the

Naturalization of his Father, or his own Deni-

zation.

Thirdly, That though he had been an Alien,

yet as this Cafe is upon the proofs, he will prove

triable for Treafon by the Laws of this King-

dom.
Before I fpeak of any of thefe, I might touch

upon that part which layeth Murder to the

Charge of this Earl j it having been fully proved

that feveral Perfons by name, amongft many
others, were flain and murdered by the Scotijh

Army. And to make him punifhable for this

Crime there is no need of Denization ; it be-

ing an Offence in itfelf againft the Law of

God and Nations, and no Truft requifite to be

an Ingredient to it, as is required in Treafon.

Hence we find Rape punifhable in England,

committed by a Scot, 13 Eliz. Dyer 304. and
Murder done by the Lord Zanchar, of the fame

Nation, 9 Co. 116. where we find him indicted

by the Name of Robert Creightan, Efq; Which
together with the exprefs Authority of 11 Ed. 3.
Fitz. Brev. 47 3. are, by the way, fufficient War-
rants for our charging the Prifoner by the Name
of James Earl of Cambridge, without mention-
ing his Dukedom, as he hath often intimated we
fhould have done.

And if the Earl fhould fay he killed not thefe

perfons himfelf, his Counfel can foon tell him
that's not material, the Law being, That if di-

vers Perfons come to do an unlawful Acl, and
one commit a Murder or Treafon, it is fo in all.

1 Mar. Dyer 38. 13 H. 4. 13. 9. Ed. 2. Fitz.

Cor. 433. But the truth is, I fhall not rely upon
this, being not willing fo high an Offence fhould
pafs under any other Name than that of Treafon :

Therefore I pafs to thofe afore-mentioned Consi-
derations, which will evince his Crime to be no
lefs than Treafon.

1. As to the firft of thefe, there being fo

much faid in the Argument of Calvin's Cafe,

I fhall omit the citing of any thing particularly

from thence, and felect fomething from the Sta-

tutes made fhortly after the Union. It is agreed

by all Hiftorians that thefe two Kingdoms were
antiently but one, Divifos orbe Britannos, &
fubdutla Britannia mundo. Thence it is obferva-

ble, that in the Preface of 1 Jac. cap. 1. by the

Accefs of the King of Scotland to this Kingdom,
the Parliament fpeaking of the Union, correct

themfelves in thefe Words, Or rather a Re-uni-

ting of thefe two Nations, {thougb antiently but

one.) If fo, this Re-union amounted to no lefs

than (as it were,) a national Remitter of the an-

tient Union.

For the Settlement of this Union, Commiffi-
oners were chofen to compofe fome Differences

betwixt the Nations, and to confider what was
fit and neceffary to be done for the Common-
weal of both Kingdoms, 1 Jac cap. 2. Thefe
Commiffioners confult long about it ; and be-

caufe they could not perfect it within the Time
prefixed, an Act paffeth for longer Time, 3 Jac.

cap. 3.

At length the Work is finiflied by the Sta-

tute of 4 Jac. cap. 1. By which all Statutes

that exprefs or imply any ftrangenefs of the one

Nation to the other are repealed. And more-
over, it doth enact and fay, That if there had
appeared any other Statutes of this Realm of Eng-
land, wherein any thing is ordained, enabled, and

eftablifhed, exprefly and by name againft the Scotifh

as Enemies, or Scotland as an Enemy-Country to

the King of this Realm, or the State of the fame

;

wefhould, forfo much of them as concerneth Scotifh

Men or Scotland, have utterly abrogated and anul-

led thefame, feeing all Enmity and Hoftility of for-

mer Times between the two Kingdoms and People is

now happily taken away. So the Statute. After

which it feems as ftrange, that any born in Scot-

land after and during the Continuance of that

Onion, fhould make themfelves ftrangers to

England ; as if natural-born . Englifhmen fhould

have made the fame Allegation.

In the aforefaid Statute of 4 Jac, 1. there is a

Claufe, That no Scotifhman coming into England

to profecute the Law againft any Englifhman of-

fending in Scotland, is to be arrefted here, ex-

cept for Treafon and Murder. And in the latter

end of the Act, amongft other Things, it is en-

acted, That if any Engliih.many/fowft/ commit Trea-

. fon
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[on or other Crimes in Scotland, and come into

England, he Jhall not upon his Apprchenfion here he

Jent into Scodand, to have his trial there, but be

tried where he is taken. But the Statute of

7 Jac. cap. 1 . which was the Year after the Refo-

lution in Calvin's Cafe, repealed that Claufe of

4. Jac. 1, laft mentioned, as to all Offences but

Treafon, leaving the Offenders in that kind to be

tried in the Kingdom where they were apprehended.

And though the Statute fpeak only of Eng-

UJh, yet the like Aft was to pafs in Scotland,

in cafe any of that Nation committed Treafon

here ; elfe neither was to be binding to the Na-

tions.

2. In the next place, fomewhat may be faid

from a national Confideration, to prove the Earl

no Alien here, though born before the Union :

Not that my purpofe is to endeavour the Revi-

val of that antient Homage done formerly by

that Kingdom to this •, it is not worth the men-

tioning, in comparifon of that Love and thofe

Engagements which have been betwixt us : Gens

una fumma was heretofore faid of us, and, if it

may be, I wifh fie fimus in cevum. But becaufe

fomewhat hath been on the other fide cited from

the Stories of Bruce and Baliol, in the Days of

Edward I. and for that I find both Law and Hi-

ftory afford fome Matter for this Argument, I

hold it my Duty not to be altogether filent in

what paf[ed in thofe Times, and fince. I will

not infill upon thofe feveral Appeals made by

Magdolphus, and others of the Scotijh Nation, to

Edward I. contra cufiodes Scotia, and againft the

Kings of Scotland themfelves : All Arguments of

Allegiance then acknowledged from that King-

dom to this.

But to inftance in fome Precedents nearer to

this in queftion, Symon Fryfel, in 34 Ed. I. Anno

1306, a Native of Scotland, came in an hoftile

manner from that Kingdom to invade this ; and

being apprehended here, he was condemned as a

Traitor. The Words of Mat. Weft. 456, con-

cerning him are, That he was a turri Londinenfi

per plateas diftraclus, ut proditor.

In the fame Year otEdzvard I. William Watts,

the Commander in chief of the Scotijh Forces,

and a Native of that Nation alfo, as the Prifo-

ner was, came into this Kingdom •, and being

apprehended, was, faith Walfingham, fol. 61.

Londonias ufque diiclus £s? judicialiter condemnatus,

trahitur, fufpenditur, & ultimo decollatur ; though

he pleaded, as our Hiftorians tell us, what this

Earl doth, That he was a Subject of Scotland, and

not of this Kingdom, and therefore ought not to

be tried here for Treafon. In 42 Ed. 3. cap. 3.

in the Lord Beaumont's Cafe, when it was replied

that the Party, objected againft to be an Alien,

vi2Lsa.Scotfman, the Plea is no longer infifted upon.

A Protection quia profeclurus lies not into a

Country that is within the Allegiance and Pro-

teftion of England, 7 H. 4. cap. 14. Yet we fhall

find the only Reafon given wherefore it was gran-

ted into Scotland, was becaufe of the Wars that

were then betwixt the Nations •, 7 Ed. 4. c. 27.
After the ceafing of which Wars, it may be col-

lected by the Book, a Proteftion would have lien

no more thither, than it would have lien into

Wales or Ireland.

In 13 cj? 14 Eliz. Dyer 304. one was arraign-

ed for a Rape. At the Return of the Venire Fa-
cias to try him, he pleaded that he was a Scotf-
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man, and defired a Medietate Lingua, which.

Manner of Trial is granted to Aliens by the Sta-

tutes of 27 & 28 Ed. 3. But by the Judgment
of the Judges of both Benches it was denied him,

for this reafon, amongft others, Becaufe, faith the

Book, a Scot/man was never here reputed for an

Alien, but rather a Subjeft.

Obj. Whereas it hath been faid, This was be-

caufe the Statutes of 27 fc? 28 Ed. 3. were made
when Scot/men were generally reputed Subjefts to

this Kingdom :

Anfw. I anfwer, ift, That the Book gives no
fuch Reafon. 2dly, To affirm this, is to fuppofe

the Judges, by fuch a foreign Conceit, to go a-

gainft the exprefs Provifion of two Afts of Par-

liament, and the conftant practice in purfuance

thereof.

In the fame Year of 13 Eliz. in the Cafe of the

Duke of Norfolk, the Evidence of the Bifliop of

Rofs, a Scot/man, was offered againft the Duke by
the Counfel for the Commonwealth ; which the

Duke oppofed from the Judgment of Braclon,

That a Foreigner's Teftimony was not in that

Cafe to be received. But Cataline, Chief Juftice,

though he fays nothing to Braclon's Opinion
touching Exterorum Teftimonium, yet he gives the

Rule of the Court, That the Teftimony was to

be received. Camden's Eliz. 214.

After this Time alfo the Queen of Scots was
tried in this Kingdom, though not upon the Sta-

tute of 25 Ed. 3. yet upon the Statute of 27 Eliz.

cap. 2. then in force. And though in the Pro-
ceedings of that Bufinefs Commiffioners of both
Nations met, and that the Scots Commiffioners

did proteft, that though they did join with our
Commiffioners, yet they did thereby make no
Acknowledgment that they were other than a Fo-
reign Nation to this ; yet the EngliJIrmen protef-

ted againft that Proteftation, as we find in the

Hiftory of that Queen.

3dly, But to pafs from this national to a more
perfonal Confideration, and from thence (though

he were an Ante-natus) to prove the Ear] liable

to Punifhment for Treafon againft this State, and
that by a local Allegiance both in Scotland and
England : Wherein it muft be granted as a Prin-

ciple, and cannot be denied, but that if an Alien

come into this Nation, and there abide and com-
mit that Aft which would always be Treafon

in an Engli/h Subjtrft, it is by the Law Treafon

in him during that Abode, becaufe he oweth Lo-
calem Ligeantiam, and the Indictment againft him
fhall fay contra Ligeanticz fue debitum, 7 li. Cal-

vin's Cafe. Thus in 36 Eliz. the Portugals here

in England join in an Aft of Treafon with Doftor
Lopez ; and it was adjudged Treafon in all.

Thus this Earl, tho he had been born before

the Union, yet he lived in Scotland after the

Union, and at the very Time of this Invafion,

whereby he became a Subjeft, at leaft Locali Li-

geantia.

So in England alfo, not only by his former Re-
fidence here, which he will fay perhaps was a-

voided by his Removal hence, but by his late

coming in, he became Ligeus here Locali Ligean-

tia, becaufe he came from a Kingdom then, by
his own Confeffion, in Amity with this. This
was the Cafe of Shirley, a Frenchman, 4 Mar.
who came from France, then in Amity with Eng-
land ; and being taken levying War in an ho-

ftile manner, was indicted and executed asaTrai-
C 2 tor,
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tor, Dyer 144. And as the Book puts it, 7 Li,

Calvin's Cafe, if he had had IfTue here, that If-

fue fhould have inherited.

4thly> In the next place, I fhall prove the Earl

of Cambridge (though he had been an Ante-natus)

to be a Subject of England Ligeantia acquif.ta^ and

that by the Naturalization of his Father, or by his

own Denization. But, Firft, as to the Naturali-

zation of his Father :

1. The Act of Parliament hath been read and

proved, whereby the Father of this Earl, by the

Name of James Marquifs of Hamilton, Earl of

Cambridge, in 2 1 Jac. was naturalized to be to all

intents and purpofes a Subject of this Nation,

as if he had been here born ; with a further

Claufe, That his Meirs might inherit and pur-

chafe any Lands, Tenements, &c. By which Act
it clearly appears that this Earl is naturalized al-

io : For, 1 ft, though in the Cafe of a Deni-

zation there may need the Word Heirs to extend

it to them, becaufe it goes as it is limited, it

may be for Life, in Tail, or upon Condition,

9 Ed. 4. cap. 7. yet it is repugnant to fuppofe

that in point of a Naturalization, becaufe he that

is born in England, as by Relation this makes him,

without any other ExprefTions, conveys the Right
to his Heirs. Hence Naturalization is never

temporanea, though data, 1 Inft. 129. 2dly,

Here are not wanting Words neither, that reach

to the Heirs, if neceffary ; for the Act is, That
his Heirs may inherit and purchafe, &c. And
in purfuance hereof it is notorious that this Earl

hath done both. But we fhall find that often-

times no more goes to exprefs a Naturalization

than this ; no other Expreffion is ufed to import

the Privilege of being Englijh, to them that are

born of Englijh Parents beyond-Sea, but only

that they may have, and freely bear the Inheri-

tance within the fame Allegiance as other Inheri-

tors, 25 Ed, 3. De natis ultra Mare. And in

3 H. 6. cap. 55. Hall and his Wife brought a

Writ of Trover : The Tenant pleaded that the

Feme was an Alien. The Demandants reply,

That the Feme, in the Time of Henry IV. was
enabled by Act of Parliament to purchafe Lands
and Tenements, &c. With which Reply the De-
fendant's Counfel refted fatisfied, as if the Repli-

cation exprefTed it fufficiently that fhe was natura-

lized •, and thereupon demanded View.

Obj. But it hath been objected, That this Atl
can have no other Epjetl than if the now Earl's Fa-
ther had been born in England : And though he

were a native Englifhman, yet having Ijjue, this

Earl, by a native Scotfwoman in Scotland, the

Ijfue thereby remains an Alien, though his Father

were naturalized or born in England.

/Infw. 1. I fhall eafily grant both that this Earl

was fo born in Scotland, and that the Naturaliza-

tion amounts to no more than if the old Earl had
been born in England ; but do deny the Inference

drawn from thence, That therefore the now Earl

muft be an Alien : For though in former Times
fome Controverfy hath been touching this Quefti-

on, viz. Whether the IfTue of an Englijhman, go-

ing out of the Kingdom, born of an Alien Wo-
man, fhall be a Subject of England, or no ; yet

I take the Law to be clear at this day, that fuch

IfTue is a Subject of England.

By the Common Law, if Father and Mother,
both Englijh, have IfTue beyond-Sea, that IfTue

is Englijh, 1 R. 3. 4. the Statute of 25 Ed. 3.
Be natis ultra mare, being declarative of the Com-

mon Law, 42 Ed. 3. cap. 10. And if the Rea-

Ton and Practice of the Law be examined, we
fhall find it to be the fame, where the Father only

is Englijh, for theTe Reafons

:

Firft, Becaufe at this day any Perfon may go
from this Kingdom to another without Licence,

tho he be neither Nobleman, Merchant, or Sol-

dier, except fome Reftraint by a Ne exeat Reg-
num, Proclamation, or other Act of State be a-

gainft him. So is it refolved, 12 &? 13 Eliz.

Dyer 296. And though all, except Perfons fo

qualified, were reftrained by 5 R. 2. cap. 2, yet

that Statute is repealed by the Statute of 4 Jac.
cap. 1. made principally in reference to Scotland,

Therefore however the Law may be as to fuch

as go when prohibited, or who ftay beyond-Sea
when commanded to return ; yet as to all others,

at this day, and always as to Noblemen, as the

Father of this Earl was, upon whom no Reftraint

was ever put by Common or Statute Law, cer-

tainly the Law is otherwife, efpecially when the

Removal is to a Country in Amity, as Scotland

was.

Secondly, Partus fequitur femen, by the Com-
mon Law : Therefore, in 4 Ed. 4. 25. Statham

Villen. 9. if a Freeman marry a Nief, and have

IfTue, that IfTue is free ; but otherwife, if the

Man had been Villain, and the Woman free.

Thirdly, The Woman Alien by the Marriage

is indenized, and the IfTue then muft needs par-

take of the privilege. And it appears by 26 Ed.
1. Rot. Pari. 1. that when Edmond

y the Brother

of Edward I. who married the Queen of Na-
varre, died, all the Judges refolved fhe fhould

be indowed. And what though fhe fhould not,

as in other Cafes it hath been doubted, yet that

hinders not, but during Coverture fhe was inde-

nized, and that's enough to indenize the IfTue.

If a Nief marry a Freeman, it is and hath been

a Doubt, whether this be a perpetual Infran-

chifement to the Woman after the Death of her

Baron : But it never was doubted but that both

herfelf, during Coverture, and her IfTue ever

after, were infranchifed. .Lit. Seel. 187. 1 In-

fit. 136.

And for exprefs Authority in the Point in

hand, befides the antient Authority of Abridg.

JJJ. 2,9. tit. Bajlard. 7. and Bro. Denizen 21. it

was the Judgment of all the Judges of England,

2 Ca. in the Dutchy-Chamber, betwixt the King
and Eaton, ufually called Stephenfon's Cafe, the

Record whereof is ready to be produced ; where

Judge Telverton and Harvey, then Judges Affif-

tant to that Court, declared it to be their Judg-
ments, as alfo of all the other Judges, That the

two Sons of Stephen/on, born beyond- Sea upon
the Body of an Alien, were Denizens.

ObjetJ. I obferved but one Book cited for main-

tenance of the contrary Opinion, and that was

26 Hen. 6, where indeed it is 22 H. 6. 38.

Anfw. Which Authority is againft, not for

that Opinion for which it is cited: for in an A-
ftion there brought, the Defendant pleads that

the Plaintiff's Anceftor, in the time of Hen. 4.

went beyond- Sea without Licence, and there had

IfTue the Plaintiff. Upon this Plea, Arderne

the Plaintiff's Counfel demurs ; but faith the

Book, Prijot the Defendant's Counfel durft not

demur.

Secondly, If the Book were as it is fuppofed,

yet it makes nothing againft the Law at this

day ; becaufe by the Book it appears, that the

Plain-
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Plaintiff's Anceftor went beyond Sea in the time

of H. 4. without Licence ; which being after R.2.

there was a Reftraint upon him, except by Li-

cence, or qualified as that Statute of R. 2. re-

quires : which Reftraint is now abrogated, as is

before faid ; and the Inhabitants of England, as is

fuitable to all Iflanders, may travel at pleafure,

except efpecially forbidden : and fo whatever the

Law was then, it's otherwife now ; Mutata ra-

tione Legis, mutatur hex.

Objett. What if the prefent Earl did himfelf

endeavour, or, as he faith was advifed, notwith-

ftanding the Naturalization of his Father, to pro-

cure himfelf to be naturalized, or indenized.

Anfw. Yet that could be but in majorem caute-

lam ; as fome Savings have been inferted into

Acts of Parliament themfelves, not for Necefiity,

but for Satisfaction of the Lay-Gents, as our

Books exprefs it, 1 It. Coo. 24. Plow. Com. 379.
upon the Statute of 5 Ed. 6. And even in that

Cafe of Stephenfon, tho the Judges Affiftants de-

livered what was their own Opinions and of the

reft of the Judges ; yet if making the party a

Denizen would end the Controverfy, they did

advife it.

5thly, Befides this Purchafe of his Father's,

the Earl hath himfelf contributed to his own
Denization, not fo much by inheriting his Fa-

ther's Dignity, and purchafing and enjoying him-

felf Lands in England, that being rather an Evi-

dence of what he formerly was, than making him

what he was not before ; but by the Writ of

Summons fent to this Earl himfelf, 15 Car. The
Record whereof hath been read, commanding him
ex fide & ligeantia feta to appear in Parliament as

a Peer of this Realm, who accordingly did ap-

pear, and acled in this Parliament, being chofen

of feveral Committees in the Lords Houfe, to

confider of many things of great Concernment,

fome whereof were for the Strength of the Na-
tion, as hath been fully proved by the Records

of the Lords Houfe. All which Actions are fo

inconfiftent with his being an Alien, and would be

fuch a Solecifm in State to admit an Alien to be

inverted amongft others with a judicial power,

that rather than it fhould be admitted, all this

laid together will (I conceive) amount to, at leaft

a Denization.

I will not fay, that the granting of every Of-
fice, or the being employed in any Tranfaction

which concerns the Law or Government of the

Kingdom, will make an Alien a Denizen ; the

Books of Ed. 4. 1. and 14 H. 4. 19. forbid me
to fay fo : but it's another thing to have a judicial

power in Parliament, and to fit by vertue of fuch

Summons in the Parliament of England. The
Lord Delaware was difabled to fit in the Houfe
of Peers during his Life ; but he dying, and a

Writ of Summons coming to his Son, he was
by vertue thereof enabled not only to fit, but to

enjoy that place which his Anceftors formerly had
done, 11 It. Coo. 1. And in 39 Ed. 3. 29. Vm-
frevil Earl of Angus ought to be named Earl in

the Writ againft him, becaufe by that Name he
was fummoned to the Parliament ; and for not

naming him fo, the Writ abated. A Denization
is a kind of a National Manumiffion : now as

there is in Law an exprefs Infranchifement of a
Villain, and an Infranchifement in Law, Lit.

feci. 205. fo it may be faid of Denizations. And
amongft other Manumiffions by Act in Law, I

find in Britton, fo], 79, & 82. if a Villain were
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made a Knight, this did make him free ratione

dignitatis, and did not make the conferring of

that Dignity to be a void Act, parallel whereunto

is the Cafe in hand.

Sixthly, The laft thing I fhall infift upon,

touching this fecond part of the plea, is to make
it appear, that tho the Earl had been born before

the Union, and an Alien, that yet there are o-

ther Circumftances in this Cafe yet remaining,

which will clearly make this Act of his to a-

mount to no lefs than Treafon, viz. his coming
from a Kingdom in Amity with this, and his

marching in hither with Englijh Traitors. That
he marched in and held Correfpondency with Sir

Marmaduke Langdale and his Son, and with Sir

Thomas Glenbam, and divers others, hath been

fully proved ; and that that Kingdom was then

in Amity with this, befides the National Trea-

ties and Engagements unrepealed, it appears as

well by the Earl's own Confeffions at the Bar, as by
the Words of the Scotijh Declaration made upon
this Expedition, read at the Earl's own Requeft ;

which, whatever it be, doth yet conclude this

Earl and all his party from alledging the contrary

for their advantage, it having been often reitera-

ted by him ; and alfo therein faid, That this Ex-
pedition was neither againft the Parliament nor

People of England : befides, that it is no flight

matter to make Nations in Amity to become open
Enemies in a legal Conftrudion, which we are

now upon, as appears by the Book of 19 Ed,

4. 6.

Now that thefe Circumftances will make this

Act reach to Treafon, appears by thefe Authori-

ties of Law. In the Days of Queen Mary, France

and England were in Amity ; Shirley, a French

Native, during that Amity, joins himfelf with

fome Englijh Traitors : Shirley is apprehended,

and indicted as a Traitor, contra ligeantia fit*

debitum, 4 Mar. Dyer 144. which is confirmed

for good Law likewife, 7 li. in Calvin's Cafe,

by all the Judges : with which agrees Brook.

Treafon 32. and Grampian's Jurifdiction of Courts

71. and Mr. Juftice Dallifon'% Reports, 3, 4 Mar.
All which Authorities agree in this difference,

That if Alien Enemies join with Englijh Rebels,

and be apprehended, the Aliens fhall be tried by
Martial Law, or ranfom'd ; but if Alien Amies
fo join, it's Treafon in all. And 'tis obfervable

that the Cafe is put cauteloufly in H. 4. and fo a-

bridged by Broo. Treafon 1. That where Alien

Enemies join with Englijh, the Aliens fhall be

tried by Martial Law, and the Englijh as Trai-

tors.

Objecl. The Objection hath been made, and

fo far it feems the Law is agreed, That if Aliens

fight under the Banner of Englijh, that this may
be Treafon in all ; but not if the Englijh fight

under the Command of Aliens, which is alledged

to be the Cafe in hand.

Anfw. 1. I cannot fafely admit that which the

Objection takes for granted, that the Englijh were

the Auxiliaries, and the Scots the principals in this

Act, when I find it in the proof offered by the

Earl himfelf, that he came in by the Invitation

of their Friends in England, and when I remem-
ber what was defigned and produced in the South

of England before and at the fame time with this

Expedition.

z. But admit it to be otherwife, yet if this

Difference were material, then it fhould follow

likewife, That if Alien Enemies did fight under

an
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an Englijh Command, it fhould be Treafon in all,

but it is not fo.

3. The Law makes no fuch Difference, nay,

the very Objection feems to be made and anfwer-

ed, 4 Mar. Dyer 144. for the Book faith, that

tho Shirley were an Alien, yet hoc non refert tem-

pore pads inter Anglos & Gallos ; the weight is

Jaid upon tempus pads only.

4. The true Reafon of the Law in one Cafe is

the fame in both ; which I conceive to be from

the Deteftation of confpiring with an inward

fecret Enemy, and from the Truft the Law re-

pofeth in fuch as are of a Country in Amity.

There is no Treafon, but where there is a Truft :

hence anciently Treafon, in its genuine and origi-

nal Acceptation, was only and properly amongft

Allies and Friends, who mutually did repofe Con-

fidence in each other, as may be feen in the

Mirror, fcl. 30, & 201. And that a greater

Truft was placed in Aliens Amies, than in others,

appears in that our Law allows not only Traffick

and Commerce with them, but alfo allows them

to be to fome purpofes Denizens ; namely, as to

the bringing perfonal Actions •, which if they

bring, it fhall not be allowed to plead that the

Plaintiffs are Aliens : 19 Ed. 4. 6. &c 6 H. 8.

Dyer 2.

ObjetJ. But the Earl hath objected, That upon

the Scotijh Forces coming in under his Command,

they of that Nation were by the Houfe of Com-

mons voted Enemies, and thofe of this Kingdom

who adhered to them, Traitors.

Anfw. 1. The Words of that Vote feem to be

exclufive of the Prifoner, mentioning only thofe

under his Command.
2. Tho every Enemy, in the legal Significa-

tion of the Word, be not a Traitor, yet every

Traitor is an Enemy •, and therefore if now he

be proved a Traitor, he may be well enough an

Enemy within that Vote. The prefent Charge

againft him is a Charge of High Treafon, yet

the Conclufion doth not improperly pray Judg-

ment againft him both as a Traitor and publick

Enemy.
3. Take the Words in the ftricteft fenfe, and

the Vote only names thofe of the Scotijh Nation

Enemies, but thofe of this Kingdom Traitors.

Now the labour hath been, and 1 fuppofe it clear

that the Earl himfelf is of this Nation, and fo a

Traitor by that Vote, from which he would de-

rive an Argument for himfelf.

4. If yet any other Conftruction fhould be

made, Leges pofleriores priores abrogant ; he is, by

the Act whereby this Court now fits, ordered to

be tried for Treafon in the fame kind as the reft,

who are now under queftion : and if his Fact be

Treafon, it will eafily follow by an Argument of

a denominatis, that he is a Traitor.

The third Part of the Earl of Cambridge's Plea

is, That he is a Prifoner of War, and rendered

upon Articles, and that thofe Capitulations were

made before his Rendition with Major-General

Lambert's Commiffioners.

That there were Articles, and he a Prifoner of

War, I fhall agree to be proved •, as alfo that

one of thofe Articles was, That he fhould have

Quarter, and have his Life affured : and it muft

be agreed on the other hand, That the Lord Gray,

who had equal Authority, protefted from the firft

againft that Treaty, and after took him Prifoner

before any AfTent thereunto. But whether, by

the proof, the Earl were not a Prifoner before

figning the Articles •, and whether before the

Articles were to have any effect, the fame
were not to be ratified by the Commanders in

chief, is fubmitted to Judgment upon the Evi-
dence. That therefore I may do the Prifoner

right in this point, which he feems to make his

ftrongeft Afylum, I fhall admit that there were
fuch Articles, and wave the relying upon the o-

ther Circumftances, which may not feem fo clear

in proof.

Neverthelefs I fhall briefly fhew my Reafons,

wherefore I apprehend no Security from the Stroke

of Civil Juftice belongs to the Prifoner by this

Refuge ; for as to the Military, is not the Con-
tention.

Firft, if thefe Articles be of avail againft the

Civil Power of the State, they muft in effect a-

mount to a Pardon or Difcharge of Treafon •, (for

this point doth take the laft point by admittance,

viz. that the Fact is Treafon.) Now tho the Mi-
litary Power may exempt a Prifoner of War from
the Execution of the Sword, and of their own
power ; yet it is not in their power, nor do they

afiume or ever challenged fuch a power, as to ex-

empt Delinquents and Traitors from the Execu-
tion of the Magiftrate ; for the bringing of

whom to condign punifhment, the Soldier was
at firft armed, and the War principally begun :

and if it fhould be in the power of one Soldier,

it would pari rations be in the power of all, as

well to fpare all as one ; and if to grant a par-

don of Life, then likewife for their Livelihoods.

And fo the End of the War, and the Satisfac-

tion promifed, would be in the power of the Ser-

vants of the State to fruftrate ; not that the Ar-
ticles have no effect, for he was by them freed

from the immediate Execution of the Sword.
Secondly, The pardoning of Treafon is a power

fo infeparable to the Supreme Power, that by the

Authorities of Law it is not communicable to any
other : in 5 Ed. 4. 123. it's made a great doubt,

and fo laid to be 1 Bro. Treafon 22. Mercy and
Juftice being not transferable. 7 li. Co. in the

Cafe of penal Statutes, 9 Ed. 4. 2. & 20 H. 7.

6. It's true indeed, there was a time when fome
had gotten this power into their hands, but by
the Statute of 27 H. 8. cap. 24. this power was
refumed into the Supreme Power, and there it

hath fince lodged. And however we difpute not

what the Parliament may do by exprefs Words,
as they have done in many Acts and Tenders of
Indemnity ; yet without fuch Expreffions, not by
any implicit power, nor ex officio can any juftly af-

fume it.

Thirdly, By the Rules of Law no Officer or

Minifter of State can give away or difpenfe with

the Intereft of the Commonwealth. If a Cufto-

mer, who is an Officer of State, take a Bond in

his own name for the Importation of Bullion, he

cannot difcharge this Bond ; 4. Ed. 4. 4. & 12.

The King was the fupreme Officer of the Com-
monwealth, yet if an Indictment of Nufance
had been preferred againft one in his name, it

had not been in his power to have difcharged this

Offence ; 3 Ed. 3. Fitz. Jjf. 445. Nor could

he for the fame reafon by any Non-objlante dif-

penfe with the penalty of any Statute which did

concern the Intereft of the Commonwealth, 12

Jac. Sir Arthur Ingram's Cafe, and H. 36 Eliz.

betwixt Hammond and Griffith, in an Information

upon a penal Statute, the Informer died, yec

the King's Attorney might proceed. The Dif-

ference
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ference I apprehend to be, as to the point in

hand, betwixt one triable by Martial Law merely,

as an Alien Enemy is ; for fuch a one being tri-

able by the Sword, if taken, may be difcharged

by that Power, tho in that cafe I totally exclude

not the Legiflative Power : But for a Traitor,

originally and legally only triable by the munici-

pal Laws of a State, to be abfolutely difcharged

by a fubordinate Power, without the concurrence

or confirmation of the Magiftrate, will ever be

ftrange to me, till I find that Rule overthrown of

JSlil dat quod habet, which can never be in a juft

and moral Senfe.

Fourthly, However the Words found, the In-

tention and true Meaning of the parties was not

to free thofe that were concerned from Juftice, if

the State required it ; and Intentions are the beft

Rules for conftruction in thefe cafes. That it

was intended only in this Treaty to free the Pri-

foner from the prefent Execution of the Sword
by Martial Law, and no otherwife, hath been

fworn by two of thofe Gentlemen that were
Commiffioners under Major- General Lambert,

who have fworn their own Intentions. Words,
faith Bratlon, are but Vefiimenta Rerum, as the

Body and outward Form ; the true Meaning and
Intention of Parties is the Life and Soul of every

Contract ; as for Senfus literalis, it hath been (

I

have obferved ) via regia, but it hath not proved

unto that Side via tuta. However Words found,

the Expofition muft be fecundum fuhjeclam Mate-
ria™. In 41 E. 3. 6. if one having divers Fa-
culties hath an Annuity granted to him pro con-

cilio impenfo, theWords are general, but it fhall be

conftrued for Counfel in that Art which was
intended. And as Brudnel faith, in 14 H. 8. 2.

Contracts fhall be expounded according to the

Intents of thofe that did contract. Cicero faith,

fpeaking de Juftitia, as a Judge, not as an Ad-
vocate, fol. 24. to cavil with Words againft the

Mind of the parties, eft Calumnia quadam & ma-
litiofa juris Interpretatio ; in which place he puts

a Cafe upon a Treaty, as ours is, of one who had
made a Truce for one hundred and thirty Days
with his Enemy, and taking Advantage of the

Letter, fell upon his Enemy in the Night, al-

ledging the Truce was only for Days, which
the Orator derides as mere Injuftice. And no
otherwife may the literal conftruction, contended
for, be in the prefent Cafe, except the Letter

muft be obferved or not obferved, as it proves
advantageous or difadvantageous to the Prifoner.

Befides, it is ufual in Law, that by Averments
the intentions of parties take place, where the

Letter would not fo decide the Queftion ; as

5 Ik Coo. 68. and 21 R. 2. Fitz. Devif. 27.
Nor do I fee, how in the penning thofe Articles

any other Expreffions could well have been.
If provifion had been made, that the Prifoner

fhould have been exempted from the power of
Civil Juftice, that had been void ; and if it had
been expreffed, that nothing was by thofe Ar-
ticles intended to exempt him from Civil Juftice,

that had alfo implied a power in them, if they
had feen caufe, to have given an abfolute Dif-
charge from the Magiftrate ; which had been
equally by conftruction derogatory to the Civil

Power.

Fifthly, If the Earl had ever been de faclo

pardoned, yet he may feem to have loft the Be-
nefit thereof by his Efcape made after a fpecial

promife to the Governour with whom he was
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Prifoner. The Civil Law, as Fortefcue obferves,,

cap. 46. Libertinum ingratum in priftinam redigit

Servitutem ; and our Law faith, If one hath

committed a capital Crime, and, being pardoned

after, do but break the Peace, he forfeits the

Benefit of the Pardon : 3 H. 7. 7. as Bartue did

the Benefit of his Licence to travel, by his Re-
fort to the Fugitives, 2 Eliz. Dy. 176. And I

conceive no Difference, whether the Condition

be expreffed or implied ; which I infer noi to

make the Efcape Treafon, being not fo charged^

and the Statutes of 2 H. 6. and 14 Eliz. being

expired concerning that ; but only for this pur-

pofe it is enforced, that he who rendred himfelf

up a Prifoner of War, and had for that confide-

ration Quarter granted him, and yet after breaks

that which was on his part to be performed, hath

thereby deprived himfelf of that Privilege which

otherwife he might have enjoy 'd.

Obj. If now the Prifoner fhall be queftioned for

his Life, who by the Rendition of himfelf had

Quarter given him for it, how is the confederation

made good which did induce him to furrender ?

Befides, there if he had died (as the Earl him-

felf faid) he had preferved hisEftate, and avoided

the confequences of Attainder.

Anfw. It is ftrange that it fhould be thought

no privilege to have fo much time to die, in cafe

there were certainty of it, above a Death by mi-

litary Execution, which ufually is fudden, and

fine firepitu Judicit.

2. Is it no privilege above an immediate Death

by the Sword, to have a fair judicial proceeding

by a charge againft him, putting in his own
Plea thereunto, the Matter of Fact by Witneffes

and other Evidence proved on both Sides, and

Counfel affigned him of his own choice to argue

his own caufe in point of Law, and himfelf to

be heard as much as he could fpeak in his own
Defence ?

3. And the Danger feems by this manner of

Trial not greater than before ; for he that dies a

Traitor in furore belli, becaufe himfelf is the caufe

why formalities of legal proceedings againft him
cannot be obferved, by the antient Law forfeited

his Eftate, and remained attainted notwithftand-

ing. Plowd. Com. 262. Fitz. Dower. 106. where,

in a Writ of Dower, the Demandant was bar-

red, for that her Husband went into Scotland,

and joining himfelf with the Enemies, died in

Enmity.

Objeel. As to the Examples of Jcfljua with the

Gibeonites, and of the Prophet Elifha forbidding

the King of Ifrael to finite thofe whom he had
taken captive with his Sword and Bow.

Anfw. I anfwer, As to the firft, viz. that of

Jo/hua with the Gibeonites, God forbid but that as

that, fo all other Leagues and Treaties fhould

be kept fo far, as to bind that Power that made
them, and who can rationally expect more ? Now
Jofhua was the Succeffor of Mofes, and a Magif-
trate as well as Commander. Befides, it is faid

the Princes of the Congregation fwore unto them

;

and, had thefe circumftances been incident to this

cafe, the Difpute had been ended.

1. As to the other Inftance, the Men of Syria

had a perfonal Quarrel againft Elifha ; and there-

fore none being interefted but the Prophet, it

might well become his piety to be their Inter-

ceffor.

2. For any thing appears, the Prophet only

fpeaks againft their being fmitten with the Sword
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of War, which, if it had been drawn in cold

Blood, might have been the Blood of War in

Peace ; but not againft the Sword of Civil Juf-

tice.

3. Thefe Enemies were taken in the midft of

Samaria, incruente pralio ; and therefore Bread

and Water might well be fet before them, that

they might eat, and go to their Matters : but

there hath been in this cafe much Blood drawn,

and Mifchief done ; for the avenging and fatis-

fadion whereof, Juftice cries to them that bear

not the Sword in vain.

And now ( my Lord ) tho I might have de-

manded Judgment for want of the Prifoner's mak-
ing good his own plea, which he ought to have

done before I had faid any thing to the contrary;

the plea of being an Alien lying on his part to

prove that pleads it : 9 Ed. 4. 12. & Dy. 300.

and the plea of a Pardon being a confeflion of

the Fact, if not made out, proves fatal and final

alfo to the party, Stanf. Cor. 150. Yet never-

thelefs, for that the Prifoner hath not been con-

lined herein to the ftridt Formalities of the Law,
I have alfo, on the Behalf of the Common-
wealth, taken the privilege of fpeaking thus much
for afTerting the Invalidity of his plea. And
therefore, upon the whole Matter, having now
faid what hath prevailed with my Judgment to

offer in this cafe, I humbly fubmit the fame to

the judgment and confideration of this Honour-

able Court.

The Court adjourned to Tuefday, being the

fixth of March ; and then the Duke was brought

to the Bar, and the Judges fate in Scarlet. They
rejected the Duke's plea in all its branches, and

found him guilty of the charge whereof he was

indicted. But before Sentence, Brad/haw the

prefident refumed all, and fpoke long for aggra-

vating of every particular, juftifying every thing

the Counfel had pleaded, as if it had been all

both good Law and good Reafon. Then he

caufed to be read the Earl of Effex's Commifilon,

to fhew how little power was given him : (But

fpoke nothing of Fairfax or Lambert their Commif-

jions, which had been more pertinent, but the reafon

was they were ampler ; and yet the Parliament had

never refufed to ratify any Articles Effex gave.) He
confefTed the Duke's Articles were fuller than

any others, therefore he would infift the more to

invalidate them. He faid, It was true, if there

had been a War proclaimed, and profecuted be-

twixt a foreign Nation and Enemy and England^

then by the Law of Nations, to which their

Law was confonant, Articles figned by the Com-
miffioners of both parties fhould have been kept

inviolable : but the Prifoner was no Enemy, for

when the ordinary courfe of Juftice was obftruct-

ed by the late King's prevailing party, fo that

neither Conftables nor Sheriffs, nor other Civil

Officers, could lay hold on fuch Delinquents as

he was, or bring them to punifhment, the Par-

liament was forced to raife an Army, commifiio-

nating their Generals to bring fuch to condign

punifhment. This being the end and fubftance

of their Commiffion, it was not in their power,

who were but the Sword of Juftice in the Par-

liament's Hand, to give Articles for fecuring any
from the Juftice of the Parliament, fince it was
never intended their Acts fhould limit that power
that gave Bounds to them. He added alfo, That
the Court was fully fatisfied, that the Duke was

naturalized. At laft Sentence was given againft

him, That his Headfhould befever*d from his Body
on Friday next, being the ninth Infant : yet it was
remitted to the Parliament's confideration, what
Mercy fhould be fhew'd to him ; and fo the

Duke was carried back.

The reft of that Day, and the next Day, the
Duke was earneftly follicited to preferve himfelf
by making Difcoveries. And Mr. Peters, who
appeared concerned for him during his Trial, did
now infinuate himfelf on him to draw fomewhat
from him : but all was in vain, there being no
choice to be made betwixt a glorious Death and
an infamous Life.

On the eighth of that Month, it being put
to the Vote of the Houfe, whether he fhould
be reprieved or not, it was carried in the Ne-
gative.

And he was executed the ninth of March 1 64.4.

THE Night before his Execution, the Duke,
the Earl of Norwich, the Lord Capel, and

Sir John Owen (who had all received Sentence of
Death) were brought into one Room : Having
fpent great part of that Night in taking leave of
their Friends, and in their Devotions. The next
day the Duke made the following Speech to his

Friends, that attended him, which his Brother
publifhed from the Original he fent him.

1 know you that are here to be true and faith-

ful to me, I will therefore, in your hearing, fay

fomewhat in order to myfelf and to my prefent

condition, and give you alfo this Copy of it

;

which, after I am gone, may, perhaps, be thought
neceffary to be publifhed as the laft Teftimony of
my Loyalty to my King, for whom 1 now die,

and of my Affection to my Country, for the

purfuance of whofe pious and loyal Commands I
am now to fuffer.

That my Religion hath always been, and ftill

is Orthodox, I am confident no Man doubts : I

fhall not therefore need to fay much to that par-

ticular, only that I am of the true Reformed Pro-
teftant Religion, as it is profejfed in the Church of
Scotland.

I take God to Witnefs, that 1 have been con-
ftantly a loyal and faithful Subject and Servant to

his late Majefty, in fpite of all Malice and Ca-
lumny : I have had the Honour, fince my Child-

hood, to attend and be near him till now of late

;

and during all that time, I obferved in him as

eminent Virtues, and as little Vice as in any Man
I ever knew ; and I dare fay, he never harboured
Thought of countenancing Popery in any of his

Dominions, otherwife than was allowed by the

Laws of England, and that among all his Sub-
jects there could not be found a better Proteftant

than himfelf, and furely alfo he was free from
having any Intent to exercife any Tyranny, or
abfolute power over his Subjects, and that he hath

been fo unfortunate, I rather impute the caufe of
it to the Sins of his people, than to his own : For
my own part, I do proteft never to have fwerved
from that true Allegiance which was due to him,
and that hath conftantly been paid (to my com-
fort I fpeak it) to his Progenitors by my Ancef-
tors, for many Ages, without Spot or Difhonour ;

and I hope fhall be ftill, by my Succeffors, to

his pofterity.

I do heartily wifh well to, and pray for his

Royal Iffue, and fhall die a true and loyal Sub-
ject to his eldeft Son Charles II. the unqueftion-

able
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able King by Right of all his Father's Kingdoms.

J hope, though I do not live to fee it, that God's

Juflice and Goodnefs will in his own time efta-

blifh him on the Throne of his Father, which I

doubt not fome of you will fee come to pafs ; and

I am confident till then, and fo long as Men
deeply plunged in Guilt and Self-Intereft ufurp

Power and Government, thefe Kingdoms will fall

fhort either of Peace, or any other permanent

Happinefs.

1 fpeak from my juft Affection to the Royal

Race, and much Compaffion to his Majefty's Sub-

jects ; but not from any Malice, Anger, or de-

fire of Revenge againft any, for what I have, or

am to fuffer, for I forgive all Men.

It is well known what Calumnies and Afperfi-

ons have been thrown upon me by Men of feveral

Parties and Intereits, not excepting thofe who
would feem to carry much Affection to his late

Majefty, as if I had expreffed Differvice or Dif-

loyalty to him ; the which, how malicious and

groundlefs they were, I appeal to God, who, with

my own Confcience, clearly beareth Witnefs of

my Innocency therein, and I fhall beg Mercy from

him to whom I am now to give an account of all

my Thoughts and Actions, as I have ftill had a

faithful and loyal Heart to my Mafter.

It hath been a general Complaint, that I per-

fuaded his Majefty to pafs the Act of continuing

this Parliament. I difpute not whether the doing

of it at that time might have been reputed good

or bad, but furely it was not I that did perfuade

it; neither did I at all deal with his Majefty for

his Confent to the Bill of Attainder for taking

away the Life of the Earl of Sirafford, whofe great

Parts and Affections, it is known, I highly valued:

Yet fome have been pleafed to attribute to me the

Caafe of that Conceffion •, but were his Majefty

now living, I am confident he would publickly

clear me in both thefe, as he hath been pleafed

many times in private formerly to do.

And truly 1 am not confcious to myfelf, (tho'

I have been for many Years a Privy- Counfellor to

him) of ever giving him any Advice that tended

to other Ends (as 1 conceived) than the Good and
Peace of his Majefty and his Dominions.

It hath been rumoured, iince my laft Imprifon-

ment, that I fhould confefs myfelf to be the

greateft Inftrument under his Majefty (by making
ufe of his Scotlfo Great Seal) for authorizing the

War in Ireland; a Report fo falfe and fimple,

as, in my Opinion, judicious and honeft Men will

not believe it. And truly, as I am free from ha-

ving Hand therein in any manner of way, fo I

am of nothing more confident, than that his Ma-
jefty was alfo abfolutely free thereof, and that he

was not in any cafe a Caufer or Countenancer of
thofe Ir'ijh Troubles.

I have been often examined touching Perfons

of feveral Qualities within this Kingdom, that,

as is fuppofed, did invite into England the late

Army from Scotland, or promifed Afliftance af-

ter their coming •, and of late much Perfuafion

hath been ufed with me to that Purpofe, as that

upon my Difcovery thereof depended the only

Means of my Prefervation. I will not fay that

I had any thing to reveal, which would have been
fatisfactory ; but this I defire you to atteft to the

"World, that I have not accufed, or faid any
thing that may reflect on any Man of what De-
gree foever, within the King's Dominions : And
indeed it was fo contrary to my Confcience, and
Vol, II.

fo derogatory to my Honour, that if I had been
able, yet fhould I never have prejudiced any in

that Nature, though it had been to fave me an
hundred Lives.

Touching that foul and fenfelefs Slander, that

I betrayed the Army under my Conduct, the

Care and Pains I then took to prevent the lofs of
it, and the near Approach of my fuffering for it,

will, I fuppofe, abundantly contradict this Afper-

fion. I was fatisfied with the Juftnefs and Ne-
ceflity of that Engagement upon the Grounds of
the Declaration of the Parliament of Scotland, fear-

ing then the fad Confufions which have fince fol-

lowed here both in Church and State, and parti-

cularly the fatal Fall of my Mafter, to the Pre-

fervation of whofe Perfon I was by Obligation and
natural Affections as paffionately tied, as I could

be by Duty and Allegiance.

And now I confefs I am void of all Rancour or

Difpleafure againft any, tho' I am within few
Hours to die, adjudged by a lawlefs and arbitrary

Court of purpofe erected, as is faid, to deftroy

my Mafter, and fome of his Servants, and for

a great Part compofed of Men mechanick and
unfit to be Judges ; my Death being decreed right

or wrong, as is reported, before ever the Trial

begun. And though my Death is no lefs than

Murder, yet I forgive all, and pray to God to do
it, and, that my Blood be not laid to their

Charge, or to fome powerful and eminent Mens,
who, as is thought, upon fome finiftrous Ends,
have many Months fince contrived my Deftructi-

on, which now is ready to take effect. And tho'

I have anfwer'd to that Court in regard of the

Juftnefs of my Defence, which I thought would
have weighed with them : Yet I never thought,

nor do 1 acknowledge any Jurifdiction, or lawful

Authority in the fame, notwithftanding I do with

all chriftian Humility fubmit to the Punifhment,

which for my other perfonal Sins the Lord hath

juftly brought upon me. I fhould have fpoken

more, yet would not have faid fo much, but for

fear left either my Memory might flip it on the

Scaffold, or that the Rudenefs of fome People,

by Noife or otherwife, might have interrupted me
fpeaking on this Subject. So I thank God I am
well prepared. God blefs you, remember me to

all my Friends. I know I have been a great Sin-

ner, yet thro' Faith I have an AfTurance that

God will forgive me, and have Mercy upon me,
thro' the alone Suffering and Interceffion of Je^
fus Chrift my Saviour. Amen.

About nine a-clock the Officers called to the

Prifoners to prepare to go, and they were carried

in Sedans, ftrongly guarded, to Sir Robert Cottofi's

Houfe: When they came to Sir Robert Cotton's*

three or four Officers came from Cromwell, defi-

ring the Duke to make fome Difcoveries, who
fhould not only be preferved, but be made a grean

Man ; but he refufed, as he had formerly done on

thofe Occafions, and faid, if he had as many Lives,

as Hairs on his Head, he would lay them all down,

rather than redeem them by fo bafe a Means. Then
they all went to Prayers, and they had fome ex-

cellent Preachers waiting on them, and praying

with them. Some Wine was brought them, and

they all drank one to another, and embrac'd and

kifs'd each other with much Tendernefs. The
Duke was firft led to the Scaffold, and on the

way other Officers came from Cromwell, renew-

ing the former Offers, if he would make Difco-

veries, but he rejected them with Scorn,

D Whea
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When the Duke came to the Scaffold, percei-

ving greater Silence than he expected, tho' he had

irefolved to make no publick Speech, yet being

invited by the Attention he obferved, he fpoke

to the People ; but as he had not premeditated

it, no Copy remains but what was printed

from the Notes of the Hearers, and therefore

Dr. Burnet fays he only gives us the Heads of if j

as follows,

He addreffed himfelf to the Sheriff, and told

him, he judg'd it not very neceffary for him to fpeak

much, his Voice was fo weak and low, that few of

the Crowd that look'd on would hear him ; nor

was he ever fo much in love with fpeaking, or with

any thing he had to fay, that he took much De-

jight in it : Yet fince this was his laft, he being

by the Divine Providence of Almighty God
brought juftly to that End for his Sins, he would

(peak a little to the Sheriff, for his Voice could not

reach others. He was now to fuffer as a Traitor

to the Kingdom of England, a Country which he

had ever lov'd equally with his own, not having

intended any general Prejudice to it, or to any par-

ticular Perfon in it: His late Actings were the

Commands of his own Country, which he could

not difobey. It is true, it had pleafed God fo to

difpofe of the Army under his Command, that it

was ruin'd, and he for being cloathed with a

Commifiion to be General, flood now ready to

die. He would not repent what he had pleaded

for his own Defence, God was juft ; nor would
he fay any thing of his Sentence, but that he did

willingly fubmit to God's Providence, acknow-
ledging that on many Accounts he deferved Pu-
nifhment in this Life, as well as in the next, for

he confefs'd himfelf a great Sinner : yet for his

Comfort he knew there was a God in Heaven, who
was very merciful, and that his Redeemer did fit

at his Right Hand, and he was confident that he

was mediating for him at that very Inftant, being

hopeful, thro' his all-fufficient Merits, to be par-

doned all his Sins, andio be received into his Mer-
cy, trufting only to the free Grace of God thro'

Jefus Ghrift. He declared he had never been taint-

ed in the Religion profefs*d and eftablifh'd in the

Land, in which he had been bred from his Infan-

cy : It was not this or that Mode or Fancy of Re-
ligion that was to be built on, but one that was
right and fure, and came from God.

Here obfervingfome were taking Notes, hefaid he

did not expetl that, or he had digefled what he had
faid into a letter Method: But defired that what he

had faid might not be publi/h'd to his Difadvantage,

fince he had not intended to fpeak any thing when he

came to that Place. Then he went on andfaid, Many
dreadful Afperfionshad been caft on him, as if his

Intentions had not been fuch as he pretended ; but

he thank'd God he was unjuftly blam'd : That for

the King he had ever lov'd him, both as he was
his King and Mafter, with whom he had been
bred many Years, and had been his Domeftick-
Servant, and that there was nothing the Parlia-

ment of Scotland declared for the King, that was
not really intended by himfelf ; and as he hazard-
ed his Life for him one Way, fo he now was to

lole it another ; and that his Defign of Leading
in the Army to England was really that which
was pubiifiVd in theDeclaration, in fo far as con-
cern'd the King: He was not then to fpeak of
the reft of the Declaration, which had many
other Particulars in it ; and for what he faid of
his Duty to the King, there was no Reafon to

fufpe<5b him of Flattery, or any other End in faying

it (God having now difpofed of his Majefty) but

tho' he could gain nothing by it, yet he owed the

freeing himfelf of that Calumny to Truth, by
which all Men fhall gain for ever. There had
been many Difcourfes founded on a Part of the

Scotifh Declaration, which mentioned an Invitation

to come to England, upon which he had been
much labour'd for difcovering the Inviters ; but
he had and did ftill remit himfelf to the Declara-

tion without any other Anfwer. He was ever

willing to ferve this Nation in any thing was in

his power, which was known to many worthy
Perfons in it ; and he would ftill have continued

in thofe Refolutions, hadthofe, in whofe Hands
the Power was then, thought fit to have preferv'd

his Life. But fince he was thenceforth to be of
no more ufe, all he could do, was to wifh the

Kingdom Happinefs and Peace, and to pray that

his Blood might be the laft fhould be fhed:
And tho

5
perhaps he had fome Reluctance within

himfelf at the Suffering for this Fact, yet he free-

ly forgave all Men, and carried no Rancour with
him to the Grave; but did fubmit to the Will of
him who created Heaven and Earth, and himfelf,

a poor finful Creature then fpeaking before him

:

He conceived it could contribute to no End for

him to fpeak of State Bufinefs, of the Govern-
ment of the Kingdom, or things of that Nature ;

his own Inclinations had been ftill for Peace. He
was never an ill Inftrument betwixt the King and
his People, nor had he acted to the Prejudice of
the Parliament. And as he had not meddled
much in thofe Wars, fo he was never wanting i»

his Prayers to Almighty God for his King's Hap-
pinefs, and he earneftly prayed God to direct his

Majefty ( who then i signed) that he might do what
fhould tend to his Glory, and the Peace and Hap-
pinefs of the Kingdoms. He faid he was of the

eftablifhed Religion, which he had profeffed in his

own Country where he was born and bred , but

for particular Opinions he was not rigid, he
knew many godly Men had Scruples about divers

things, wherein he had never concerned himfelf j

nor did Difference of Opinion (which was never

more than at this Time) move him. His own
was clear. He prayed the Lord to forgive him
his Sins, as he freely forgave even thofe againft

whom he had the'greateft Grounds of Animofity,

remembring that Prayer, Forgive us our Trefpajfes

as we forgive them that trefpafs againfi us.

He discovered a great Compofure by his Looks
and Manner of Expreflion ; and when he was de^

fired to change the Pofture he flood in, fince the

Sun fhin'd full in his Face : He anfwer'd prefently,

no, it would not burn it ; and he hop'd to fee a
brighter Sun than that very fpeedily.

After the Duke had done fpeaking, he call'd

for the Executioner, and defired to know how he
fhould fit his Body for the Blow, and told him his

Servants would give him Satisfaction. Then he

called to his Servants, and commanded them to

remember him kindly to divers of his Friends in

England, particularly to his Mother-in-law, the

Countefs of Denbeigh, to whom he had ever paid

a filial Refpect, and to the old Countefs of Devon-

fhire: He bid them tell her fhe would no more
queftion his Loyalty (which fhe had done fome-

times in Raillery) fince he was now to teal it

with his Blood : Then he kneeled down and pray-

ed, after which Dr. Sibbald entertained him with

fome pious Difcourfes ; then the Duke prayed a

fhorc
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fhort Prayer himfelf, and with a chearful Coun-

tenance embrac'd the Doctor, and faid, Truly I

llefis God I do not fear, 1 have an Afifiurance that is

grounded here (laying his Hand on his Heart,) that

gives me more true Joy than ever 1 had. 1 pafs out

of a miferable World, to go to an eternal and glo-

rious Kingdom ; and tho' J have been a moft finful

Creature, yet I know God's Mercy is infinite ; and

1 blefs my God Igo withJo clear a Confidence, that

I know not the Man 1 have perfionally injured. Then
embracing his Servants, he faid to every one of

them, Ton have been very faithfiul to me, the Lord

blefis you. He turn'd next to the Executioner,

and after he had obferv'd how he fhould lay his

Body, he told him he was to fay a fhort Prayer

to his God while he lay all along, and Ihould

give a Sign by ftretching out his right Hand,

and then he was to do his Duty -, whom he fireely

forgave, ' as he did all the World. And then he
ftretched himfelf on the Ground, and having

plac'd his Head right, he lay a little while pray-

ing with great Appearance of Devotion, and
then gave the Sign : Upon which the Execu-
tioner, at one Blow, fever'd his Head from his

Body , which was receiv'd in a Crimfon TafFety

Scarf by two of his Servants, kneeling by him,
and was together with his Body, immediately

put in a Coffin, which was ready on the Scaf-

fold, and from thence convey'd to a Houfe in

the Meufie, from whence it was, according to

the Orders he had given, fent down by Sea to

Scotland, and inter'd in the Burial-place of his

Family.
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XLVI. The Trial of Lieutenant-Colonel John Lilburne*,
at the Guild-Hail of London, for High-Treafon, the

2^th, 25th, and 26th of October 1649. l ^ar - H-

HE Commiffioners Names of the

extraordinary Commiffion of Oyer

and Terminer, for the Trial of

Lieutenant- Colonel John Lilburne,

follow.

Thomas Andrews, Lord-Mayor.

Richard Keble, Lord Commiffioner.

Philip Jermin, Juftice of the Upper Bench.

Tho. Gates, Baron.

John Pule/Ion, Juftice of the Common- Pleas.

Francis Ihorp, Baron and Member.
Rob. Nicolas, Member,? J uftices of the Upper
Richard Aske, S Bench.

Peter Warburton, Juftice of the Common-Pleas.

Alexander Rigby, Baron ; but abfent.

Sir Thomas Fowler.

Sir Henry Holeroft.

Sir William Row.
Sir Richard Saltonftall.

Sir Richard Sprignall.

Sir John Woolifton.

Sir William Roberts.

John Green, >

John Clark, L Serjeants at Law.
John Parker, 3

Willi%m Steel, Recorder.

John Fowke,

iThomas Foote,

John Kendrick,

Thomas Cullum,

Simon Edmonds, \ Aldermen.
Samuel Avery,

John Dethicke,

Rob. Titchburn,

John Hayes,

Henry Proby, Common Serjeant.

Thomas Brigandine.

Nathaniel Snape.

Edward Rich.

Owen Roe.

Tobias Lifile.

Aufilin Wingfield.
Richard Downton.
Daniel Taylor.

William Wibend.

Silvanus Taylor.

At the Guild-Hall of London, the 24th of
O&ober 1649, being Thurfday, at the
Trial of Lieut. Col John Lilburne.

OYes made; all Perfons that were adjourned
to the Court, requir'd to make their Ap-

pearance.

The Lieutenant of the Tower of London, Col.
Francis Weft, called to bring forth his Prifoner"
according to the Precept.

Whereupon Col. Weft, Lieutenant of the
Tower, brought up the Prifoner out of the Irijh
Chamber, where he had been fome time before
the fitting of the Court, and was guarded by the
faid Lieutenant, and a fpecial Guard of Soldiers
befides. And being brought to the Bar, the
Sheriffs of London were directed to take the Pri-
foner into their Cuftody.

Silence commanded.

Cryer. John Lilburne hold up thy Hand.
Lieutenant-Col. Lilburne direded himfelf to

Mr. Keble, one of the Keepers of the Great:
Seal, as the Prefident of the Court, and faid to
this purpofe: Sir, will it pleafe you to hear me?

* See Clar. Hill. Vol. Ill, p. 390. The Note, fubjoined to this Trial were inferted in thefirft Edition of it.
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and if fo, by your favour thus. All the Privi-

lege for my part that I fhall crave this _day at

your Hands, is no more but that which is pro-

perly and fingly the Liberty of every free-born

Englifhman, viz. The Benefit of the Laws and

Liberties thereof, which by my Birth- right and

Inheritance is due unto me; the which I have

fought for as well as others have done, with a

fingle and upright Heart ; And if I cannot have

and enjoy this, I mail leave this Teftimony be-

hind me, That I died for the Laws and Liber-

ties of this Nation ; and upon this Score I fland,

and if I perifh I perifh. And if the Fact that I

have done, cannot be juftified by the Law of Eng-

land, let me perifh. I mention none of this for

the gaining of Mercy, or by way of Merit j no,

I fcorn it: for Mercy I crave from none, but

from the hands of my God alone, with whom
I hope, and am affured one day to reft ; whom
I have fet before my Eyes, and fo walked, as

believing I am always in his Prefence, in whofe

Power my Confidence is fixed, whom I take

and own to be my Stay, my Staff, my Strength

and Support, and in whom- 1 reft as the Life of

my Life, and whom I hope to meet with Joy,
when this fading and uncertain Life fhall have

an end, to live with him in Glory and Bleffed-

nefs for evermore. And therefore, becaufe I

would not willingly trouble you with many
Words, to caufe you to fpend your time imper-

tinently ; therefore, Sir, irr reference to the

Court I fhall crave but fo much Liberty from

you as was given to Paul when he pleaded

for his Life before the Heathen Roman Judges,

which was free Liberty of Speech to fpeak for

himfelf ; the which I now humbly crave as my
Right, not only by the Law of God and Man,
but alfo by the Law and Light of Nature. And
I fhall do it with that Refpect, Reafon and

Judgment, that doth become a Man that knows
what it is to plead for his Life. I hope God hath

given me Ability to be Mafter of my own Paf-

fion, and endow'd me with that Reafon, that

will dictate unto me what is for my own good
and benefit.

I have feveral times been Arraigned for my Life

already. I was once arraigned before the Houfe
of Peers for (flicking clofe to the Liberties and
Privileges of this Nation, and thofe that flood

for them) being one of thofe two or three Men,
that firft drew their Swords in Weftminfter-Hall

againft Col. Lunsford and fome Scores of his Af-
fociates. At that time, it was fuppofed, they in-

tended to cut the Throats of the chiefeft Men
then fitting in the Houfe of Commons : I fay,

for this, and other Things of the like nature, I

was arraigned by the King's fpecial Command
and Order, the firft of May 1641. I mention
it to this end, that when I came before the

Houfe of Peers, where was about three or four-

fcore Lords then fitting at the beginning of the

Parliament, (who then were fuppofed the moft
arbitrary of any Power in England) yet I had
from them free Liberty of Speech, to fpeak for

my Life at their Bar, without check or con-
troul, in the beft manner all thofe Abilities God
had given me would enable me. And when I

was at Oxford, I was again arraigned as a Trai-
tor before the Lord Chief Juftice Heath, for le-

vying War at the Command of the then Parlia-

ment againft the Perfon of the King: And when
I came before him in the Guild-Hall of Oxford,

he told me (there being prefent with him, as his

Fellow-Judge, Mr. Gardiner, fometimes Recor-
der of the City of London, now Sir Thomas Gar-
diner, and others that fat by a fpecial Commif-
fion of Oyer and Terminer from the King ; the

which Commiffion I did not fo well then under-

fland, as I hope I do now:) And my Lord Chief
Juftice Heath flood up, and in the face of all the

Court, and in the face of all the Country pre-

fent there, told me ; Capt. Lilburne, you are

brought here before us for High-Treafon, for

levying War in OxfordfJAre againft your Sove-
reign Lord and King ; and tho you be now in a

Garifon, and were taken in Arms in open Hos-
tility againft the King, (yea Sir, and I muft
now tell you in fuch Hoftility, that we were
but about 700 Men at Brentford, that withftood

the King's whole Army in the Field above five

hours together, and fought it out to the very

Sword's Point, and to the Butt-end of the Muf-
ket ; and thereby hindered the King from his

then poffefling the Parliament's Train of Artil-

lery, and by confequence the City of London, in

which very Act I was taken a Prifoner, without

Articles or Capitulation, and was by the King
and his Party then look'd upon as one of the

activeft Men againft them in the whole Com-
pany,) yet fiiid Judge Heathy we will not take

advantage of that, to try you by the Rules of
arbitrary Martial Laws, or any other arbitrary

Ways ; but we will try you by the Rules of the

good old Laws of England: and whatfoever Pri-

vilege in your Trial the Laws of England will

afford you, claim it as your Birth-right and In-

heritance, and you fhall enjoy it with as much
Freedom and Willingnefs, as if you were in

Weftminfter-Hall, to be try'd amongft your own
Party. And this we will do for that end, that

fo at London your Friends fliall not have any juft

caufe to fay, we murdered you with Cruelty, or

denied you the Benefit of the Law, in taking

away our Life by the Rules of our own Wills.

Nay, further fa id he, Capt. Lilburne, it is true

I am a Judge, made by my Sovereign Lord the

King, according to his Right by *

Law, and fo in a fpecial manner Set the 27 of

am his Servant and Counfellor, and Ha. 8. <?. 24.

am to act for his Good, Benefit,

and Advantage : And yet notwithftanding, it is

by the known Laws of this Land my Duty to

be indifferent and free from Partiality betwixt

my Mafter and you the Prifoner, and I am fpe-

cially bound unto it alfo by my Oath. And
therefore you fhall have the utmolt Privileges of
the Law of England, which is a Law of Mercy,
and not of Rigour, and hath the Life of a

Man in tendereft and higheft f Efti-

mation : And therefore it is the t See the zd

Duty of a Judge by Law, to be of **< 7^M
Counfel with the Prifoner, in things r^T?, jV «tl'
wherein by his Ignorance he falls 591?&>part 3'.

fhort of making ufe of the Benefit f«l- 34-

of the Law, efpecially when he is

upon the Trial of his Life. Yea, and to ex-

hort him to anfwer without fear, if he per-

ceive him daunted or amazed at the Prefence of

the Court. Yea it is my Duty to carry myfelf

with all Fairnefs and Evennefs of Hand towards

you ; and wherein that there fhall feem any Mif-

takes to appear, in Circumftances or Formali-

ties, to rectify you: For its my Duty to help

you, and not to ufe any boifterous or rough

Lan-
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Language to you in the Icaft, to put you in fear,

or any ways prevent the Freedom of your De-

fence ; and according to the Laws of England

this is my Duty, and this is the Law. And ac-

cordingly he gave me liberty to plead to the Er-

rors of my Indictment, before I ever pleaded

Not Guilty •, yea, and alfo became willing to af-

fign me what Counfel I pleafed to nominate,

freely to come to Prifon to me, and to confult

and advife with me, and help me in point of

Law. This laft he did immediately upon my
pleading to the Indictment before any Fact was

proved : all which is confonant to the declared

Judgment of Sir Edward Cooke, that great Ora-

cle of the Laws of England, whofe
* Which Or- Books are published by fpecial *

dtrs are dated Orders and Authority of Parlia-
M7'w6^' ment for good Law, who in his
and I une 3, .

,

o
. ..

1642. You third Part of his Inptutes, chap.

may at large of High Treafon, fol. 29, 34. com-
read at the left parecJ w J th fo] # 137, 2 20, affertS
end of his In- r

flit, part 2.
mciame.

_

Truly, Sir, I being now come

before you to anfwer for my Life, and being no

profeffed Lawyer, may through my own Igno-

rance of the praclick Part of the Law, eipeci-

ally in the Formalities, Niceties, and Punctilio's

thereof, run myfelf with over-much Haftinefs in

Snares and Dangers, that I fliall not eafily get

out of. And therefore being all of a fudden bid

to hold up my Hand at the Bar, I cannot chufe

but a little demur upon it, and yet with all re-

ipecl to you, to declare my Defireablenefs to keep

within the Bounds of Reafon, Moderation and

Difcretion, and fo to carry my felf as it cloth

become a Man, that knows what it is to anfwer

for his Life.

And therefore in the fir ft Place, I have fome-

thincr to fay to the Court about the firft Funda-

mental Liberty of an Englijhman in order to his

Trial •, which is, That by the Laws of this Land

all Courts of Juftice always ought to be free and

open for all forts of peaceable People to fee, be-

hold and hear, and have free Accefs unto ; and

no Man whatlbever ought to be tried in Holes or

Corners, or in any Place, where the Gates are

Ihut and barr'd, and guarded with armed Men :

And yet, Sir, as I came in, I found the Gates

Ihut and guarded, which is contrary both to Law
, and Juftice.

Sir, the Laws of England, and the Privileges

thereof, are my Inheritance and Birth-right

:

And, Sir, I muft acquaint you, that I was fome-

times fummoned before a Committee of Parlia-

ment, where Mr. Corbet and feveral ethers have

had the Chair ; and there i flood upon my Right

by the Laws of England, and refufed to proceed

with the faid Committee, till by fpecial Order

they caufed their Doors to be wide thrown open,

that the People might have free and uninterrup-

ted Accefs to hear, fee and confider of what

rhey faid to me ; although I think the Pretence

that I am now brought before you for, be the

very fame in Subftance, that 1 was convened

before Mr. Corbel for, which was about Books

:

and I am fure there I did argue the cafe with

him and the reft of the Committee, foundly out

in Law ; proving that they were bound in Law
and Juftice freely to open their Doors, for. the

free Accefs of all forts and kinds of Auditors :

And I did refufe (as of RightJ to proceed with

them, till by fpecial Order they did open their

Doors. For no Trial in fuch Cafes ought to
be in any place, unlefs it be publick, open
and free ; and therefore if you pleafe that I
may enjoy that legal Right and Privilege which
was granted" unto me by Mr. Miles Corbet, and
the reft of that Committee, ("when I was brought
before them in the like Cafe that now I am
brought before you) which Privilege I know to
be my Right by the Law of England ; i fhall$

as it becomes an underftanding Englijhman fwho
in his Actions hates Deeds of Darknefs, Holes
or Corners) go on to a Trial. But if I be de-
nied this undoubted Privilege, I fhall rather die
here than proceed any further. And therefore

forefeeing this beforehand, and being willing to

provide againft all Jealoufies of my Efcape, the

Fear of which I fuppofe might be objected a-
gainft me as a Ground to deny me this my legal

Right ; and therefore before hand I have °iven
my Engagement to the Lieutenant of the Tower,
that I will be a faithful and true Prifoner to

him.

And I hope the Gentleman hath fo much Ex-
perience of my Faithfulnefs to my Word, that he
doth not in the leaft queftion or fcruple it ; I

am fure he hath often fo declared to me that he
doth not.

Nay, I have not only engaged to be a true

Prifoner in the Tower to him, but I have alfo

folemnly engaged to him, that I will come ci-

villy and peaceably with him, and that I will go
civilly and peaceably back with him again : And
that if any Tumult or Uproar mall arife in the

Croud, of which I lofe him, and he me ; or in

cafe I fhould be any ways by Force and Power
refcued from him, 1 have alfo faithfully engaged
to him, that I will come again to him fby the

Affiftance of God) as foon as ever I can get a-

way from that Force or Refcue. And all this I

entreated him to acquaint you with, that all Jea-
loufies and Difputes might be avoided.

Judge Keble. Mr. Lilburne, look behind you,

and fee whether the Door ftands open or no.

L. Col. Lil. Well then, Sir, 1 am fatished as

to that. But then in the next place, I have read

the Petition of Right, 1 have read Magna Charta,

and abundance of Laws made in Confirmation of
it •, and I have alfo read the A5t that abolijbeth the

Star-Chamber, which was made in the Year 1 641,
which laft recited Act exprefly confirms thofe

Statutes that were made in Edward the Third's

Time, which declares all Acts, Laws and Sta-

tutes that were made againft Magna Charta, to

be null and void in Law, and holden for Error.

In the reading of which Laws I do not find a

fpecial Commiffion of Oyer and 'Terminer to be

legal and warrantable. I befeech you, Sir, do
not miftake me ; for I put a vaft difference be-

twixt an ordinary and common CommiiTion of

Oyer and Terminer for holding ordinary and com-
mon Aflizes and Seffions, and betwixt an extraor-

dinary and fpecial Commiffion of Oyer and Ter-

miner to try an individual Perfon or Perfons, for

a pretended extraordinary Crime. The Laws I

laft recited, and the Fundamental or Effential

Bafis of Freedom therein contained, knows no
fuch Names or Commiffions of fpecial Oyer and

Terminer.

And thofe Statutes in Edward the Firft, and
Edward the Third's Time, that do erect

thofe fpecial and extraordinary Commiffions,

and warrant the Ufage of them, are merely

irra-
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irrational (a) Innovations upon our indubitable

Rights contained in Magna Charta, and mere

Court and Prerogative- Devices to deftroy the

bed of Men, by extraordinary Courts appointed

to prejudge Proceedings that mould manfully

{land in the way of the Prince, or any of his

great Favourites •, for fure I am from the Peti-

tion of Right, no Ground or Foundation from any

extraordinary or fpecial Commifllon of Oyer and

Terminer, upon any pretended, fpecial, or great

Occafion, cannot be founded ; but rather the ab-

folute quite contrary, as to me clearly appears by

the very plain Letter of that mod excellent Law.
And therefore fuch a fpecial Commiflion upon

any pretended fpecial Occafion, being exprefly

againft our indubitable Rights contained in

Magna Cbarta, and the Petition of Right, viz.

That no Englifoman mail be fubjected to any

other Trial, but the ordinary, univerfal and

common Trials at ordinary Aflizes, Seffions or

Goal -Deliveries, and not in the lead to be tried

by extraordinary and fpecial prejudged, packed,

over-awing CommifTions of Oyer and Terminer ;

and therefore all fuch extraordinary and dange-

rous Trials are abfolutely abolifhed, by the late

excellent Acts that confirm the Petition of Right,

and all and every the Claufes therein contained,

and abolifiieth the Star-Chamber, both made Anno

1641.

And, Sir, with your favour, the then Parlia-

ments that made the lafl cited Laws, were fo far

from countenancing my fpecial Ccmmiflions of

Oyer and Terminer, upon any fpecial or pretended

great Occafions whatlbever that I can read of,

that I rather find and read the Parliaments Pro-

ceedings in the Year 1641, an extreme Out-cry

of the Houfe of Commons againft fpecial Com-
mifTions of Oyer and Terminer, with a great deal

of Bitternefs and Vehemency, as may fully and

clearly be read in that excellent Argument of

Mr. Hyde, April 1641, printed and publifhed in

a Book, called Speeches and Paffages of Parliament,

p. 409, to 417, which I have here at the Bar to

produce ; which Mr. Hyde was then the fpecial

and appointed Mouth of the Houfe of Commons
before the Lords, who unto them in conformity

to his CommifTion from the then Houfe of Com-
mons, complains to the Houfe of Lords extremely

of a fpecial CommifTion of Oyer and Terminer that

was exercifed in the five Northern Counties of
England ; and earneftly, in the name of the

Houfe of Commons, craves the fpecial Affiftance

of the Houfe of Lords to pluck up that Court
by the very Roots, founded upon a fpecial Com-
miflion of Oyer and Terminer, being fo illegal and
unjuft in the very Foundation of it, as it is in-

confiftent with the People's Liberties, and as that

which deftroyed and difinherited all the People
that were tried, both of their Birth-right and
Inheritance, viz. their Liberties and Freedoms
contained in Magna Charta. And this, Sir, was
the declared and avowed Judgment and Opinion
of the Houfe of Commons in April 1641, in

their primitive Purity and Non-defilement, when
they acted bravely and gallantly for the univerfal

Liberties and Freedom of this Nation (and not

Self-intereft) when they were in the Virginity of

their Glory and Splendor, as he there fully and
moft excellently declares ; and yet he there gives

an extraordinary Reafon for the original Erection

of that Court founded upon a fpecial Commiflion
of Oyer and Terminer, as can be rendred.

The original Reafon or Occafion of which,

he there declares to be thus : That by reafon of
the Suppreflion of the Abbies in the 27th of
Henry the Eighth's Time, in the North of Eng-
land (through Difcontent thereat) there did arife

from the faid 27th Year to the 30th no fewer

than fix grand Infurrections, moft of them under

the Command of fome eminent Man of thofc

Countries ; which Infurrections and Rebellions

occafioned the levying of great Armies, which
had like to have let the whole Kingdom in an
univerfal Flame : for the fupprefling and prevent-

ing of which in future Times, King Henry VIII.

caufed a fpecial Court to be erected, by a fpecial

CommifTion of Oyer and Terminer ; which Court
alfo continued in Edward the Sixth's Time,
Queen Mary's, and firft and fecond of King
James : The Bafis of which Commiflion was
founded upon thofe forementioned innovating

Statutes made in Edward the Second's and Ed-
ward the Third's (b) Time : Which fpecial Com-
miflion of Oyer and Terminer was feveral times

renewed by the late King Charles, as in the fifth,

eighth and thirteenth Year of his Reign. And
the faid Mr. Hyde there in his Argument or

Speech, which I have here in Print, names feve-

ral of the Prefidents of that illegal Court of
fpecial Commiflion of Oyer and Terminer : And
he there alfo declares in what an extraordinary

manner, and upon what an extraordinary Occa-
fion it was granted ; which was fo great, as that

a greater could not be imagined : and yet not-

withftanding he declares, that this extraordinary

Commiflion, which being granted to fupprefs

and quiet thofe many extraordinary Infurrections

and Rebellions, which do not admit of fo long

Delay as Times of ordinary Trial, in Times of
Peace, when the ordinary, legal and common
Courts of Juftice are open and free, will do,

when Peace and Quiet is in the Nation, as now
it is •, and yet for all that, he condemns it for

illegal.

And therefore, Sir, admit my Actions in their

Tendency to be as dangerous and heinous as any

of my Adverfaries can imagine or declare them

to be ; yet they are but in the Afhes, but in the

Hearth, they are not broke out into vifible and

violent hoftile Actions. And therefore I fay, if

fpecial Commiflions of Oyer and Terminer, granted

in fuch fpecial and tranfcendent Cafes as thofe in

Henry the Eighth's Time, were illegal ; much
more muft a fpecial Commiflion of Oyer and Ter-

miner granted to try me barely for Words, or at

moft for pretended Writings or Books, at fuch

a time when there is no burning Flame of Infur-

rections or Rebellions in the Kingdom, but all

in vifible Peace, and all the ordinary Courts of

Juftice open : and I and my Friends have often

(a) And excellent to this purpofe is Lieutenant-ColonelLilbarne's Argument, in hisfecond Edition of his Pidture of the Counfel of
State, p. 8. againft the Ereclion of extraordinary Courts, which thusfolloweth : He granting that the Parliament hath Power to

erea a Court of Juftice to adminifter the Law, provided that the Judges conftft of Perfons that are not Members of Parliament ;

and provided the Power they give them be univerfal ; that is to fay, to adminifter the Law to all the People ^England indefi-
nitely, who are all equally born free alike, and not to two or three particular Perfons folely; the laft ofwhichfor them to do is

U"JUA and altogether out of their Power, &c. Which Argument or Reafon is moft notably illuftrated and inlarged :n the fecond
Edition of the Legal Fundamental Liberties of England, revived of the 2th of June, 1649. p. 72.

(b) Which were Weftminfter, thefecond being the 1 3 of Ed. 1 . c. 29. and 2 Ed. 3. c. 2. and 34 Ed. 3 . c. 1

.

fought
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fought to enjoy the benefit of the Law in a legal

Trial, from firfl to lafl, but could never enjoy

it in the leaft meafure, although many Aflizes and

Seffions have paffed over my head fince my firfl

commitment, now feven Months ago; at the

firfl of which, in the county where my pre-

tended crime was committed, I ought by Law
and Juflice either to be tried or acquitted. So

that, Sir, by what I have already faid, you may
fee the Judgment and Opinion of the Houfe of

Commons upon fpecial Commiffions of Oyer and

Terminer, in their firfl purity, when as a full

Houfe, there being conflantiy 400 or 500 of

them fitting in the Houfe, as the deputed and

chofen Truflees of the people of England, whofe

Opinion was to damm them, and pluck them

up by the Roots, as unjufl and illegal in their

original Institution, which they have accordingly

done, and declared to the whole Nation in the

Acl that abolifhed the Star-Chamber ; where that

Court fpoken againfc by Mr. Hyde, is totally

damned and plucked up by the Roots. So

that now in Law I cannot fee how fpecial com-

miflions of Oyer and Terminer can be legal at this

prefent, admit the power never fo juffc from

whom it comes ; but abundantly much more,

feeing there is no actual Wars, nor popular In-

furrections : which, if lately there had been any,

and yet were overcome, there is no pretence or

ground by the good old Laws of England, for

any extraordinary proceedings againfl any Man,
although he had been in Arms againfl you, but

he ought to have the benefit of the ordinary,

accuflomed and common Trials at the common
Law, as clearly appears by the exprefs Words of

the Petition of Right (c). But I was never in any

hoflile manner againfl thofe that are the prefent

Governors of the Nation, but have been under

their command in feveral Battles in the Nation,

and have hazarded my Life for them, and never

yet in the kafl changed my original or firfl prin-

ciples ; nor never was engaged in the leafl in any

Hoftility againfl them, but have always, fince I

five Years ago gave over my command, lived

in peace and quietnefs in mine own Houfe and

Abode : and was the fame day at the Houfe of

Commons door that their Votes paffed againfl

me, declaring me in general (which in Law fig-

nifies nothing) to be a Traitor ; and fpake with

a Gentleman that is now a Judge amongft your

ielves (viz. Mr. Rigby) at the Houfe-door, who,
in fome Great Ones Names, proffered me large

Matters, if I would do as I fhould be directed

by them. After this, I went home to mine own
Houfe in Scuthwark, where I flayed in peace and

quietnefs, well enough knowing the Votes that

that day paffed againfl me, without either parti-

cular Accufation or Accufer, or any fuch thing

;

where 1 flayed, whenas I might eafily have

efcaped the Hands of mine Enemies, and been

gone : but having the fweet peace of a good
confeience within me, which did affure me that

I had done nothing that was againfl the Welfare
of the Nation of England in general, nor againfl

the Welfare of any one particular Man in Eng-
land, but really wifh'd it well, and all itsWeil-

wifhers

:

I fay that, notwithflanding my certain Know-

T"1
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ledge of all that at the Houfe had paffed againfl

me ; and although I alfo knew that the further

Defign againfl me, which was, That the Council

of State (as they are called) would take me away
thereupon with armed Force the next morning ;

yet notwithflanding all this, I flirred not out of
my Houfe, but remained there till about five o'

clock the next morning ; at which time 200 or

300 armed Horfe and Foot (without fo much
as one civil or magiflerial Officer with them)
came by Force of Arms, and haled me out of
bed from my Wife and Children, not according

to the Law of England, as is exprefly provided

in two feveral Statutes, viz, the firfl of Edw 6.

chap. 12. and the 5th and 6th of Edw. 6. c. 11.

By which Rules of the Law, and no other, they

ought to have proceeded againfl me from firfl

to Jail ; and I am fure they both exprefly pro-

vide, That if any Man be aceufed of Treafon,

that he ffiall be aceufed firfl to one of the King's

Counfel, or to one of the King's Juflices of Af-
fize, or elfe to one of the King's Juflices of the

peace being of the Quorum, or to two Juflices

of the peace within che Shire where the fame
Offence or Orfences fhall happen to be done or

committed (d).

But contrary to thefe and other wholfom and
good Laws (although there hath been an eight

Years War in England, pretendedly, for the pre-

fervation of the Laws and Liberties of England,

yet, I fay, contrary to the exprefs Tenor of thefe

Laws, as alfo of the Petition of Right, yea., and
alfo of the exprefs letter of that excellent Law
that abolifhed the Star-Chamber this Parliament)
was I by Force of Arms (that never fortified my
Houfe againfl the prefent Power, nor ever dis-

puted any of their Summons, though fent by the

meanefl Man that ever appertained to them ;

and who, if they had fent their Warrant for ma
by a Child, I would have gone to them) I was
fetch'd out of my bed in Terror and Affright-

ment, and to the Subverfion of the Laws and
Liberties of England, and led through Londo/t-

Streets with Hundreds of armed Men (like an
Algier- Captive) to their Main-Guard at Paul's,

where a mighty Guard flaid for the further con-

dueling me by Force of Arms to White- hall'.

Now, Sir, if I had committed Treafon, I ought
not to have been apprehended and proceeded

againfl by armed and mercenary Soldiers, but

by civil and magiflerial Officers, and no other;

according to thofe excellent privileges that the

Parliament themfeives in the Year 1641, in their

own Book of Declarations, p. 36, 37, 76, 77. did

claim for thofe fix Members, viz. the Lord Kim-
bolton, Mr. Pym, Mr. Hollis, Mr. Stroud, Sir

Arthur Hajlerig, and Mr. Hampden ; I fay and
aver, I ought to have had the prcceft of the

Law of England, due procefs of Law according

to the forementioned Statutes and Precedents

;

for I never forcibly refifled or contended with

the Parliament ; and therefore ought to have

had my Warrant ferved upon me by a Confb.ble,

or the like civil Officer ; and upon no pretence

whatfoever, ought I to have been forced out of

my Bed and Floufe by mercenary armed Officers

and Soldiers. But, Sir, coming to White-hall,

I was there alfo kept by armed Men, contrary

(c) Of 'which Judgment Sir Edward Coke is pofti<vcly, in part 2. Inflit. f. 48. and part 3. f. 52. in Tho. Earl of Lan
cafter'j Cafe, which is fingular well worth the reading. See alfo part 1. Jnftit. f. 13. a.

(d) See alfo to this purpofe, part 3. of Coke's Inliit. ch. Kigh-Treafon, f, 26, 27, 28. and part I Pari. Declar. in th
\^ate nf thp T.ni-A TTirrmnlrnn trti/t thp fintp M/w/^rt n n*A 7 C\ _ *7^i_ -. 1 _Cafe of the Lord Kiraboltcn and the five Members, p. 38, 39, 76, 77.

the

to
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to all Law and Juftice ; and by armed Men
againft Law, I was by Force carried before a

Company of Gentlemen fitting at Derby- Houfe,

that look'd upon themfelves as authorized by the

Parliament to be a Committee or Council of

State, (who by the Law I am fure in any kind

had nothing at all to do with me in cafes of pre-

tended Treafons) where I was brought before

Mr. John Bradjhaw, fometimes a Counfellor for

my felf before the Houfe of Lords, againft my
unjuft Star-Chamber judges ; who there in my
behalf, Feb. 1645, did urge againft the Lords of

the Star-Chamber, as the higheft crimes againft

the liberties of the People that could be, as be-

ing illegal, arbitrary and tyrannical, that the

Lords in Star-Chamber fhould cenfure me to be

whipp'd, pillory'd, &c. for no other caufe but

for refufing to anfwer their Interrogatories a-

gainft my felf. And when I was brought before

the faid Council of State, I faw no Accufer, no

Prolecutor, no Accufation, no Charge nor In-

dictment ; but all the crime that there was laid

unto my charge, was Mr. Brad/haw's very feri-

oufiy examining me to Queftions againft my felf:

although 1 am confident he could not forget, that

himf< 11 and Mr. John Cook were my Counfellors

in February, 1645, at the Bar of the Houfe of

Lords, where he did moft vehemently aggravate,

and with Deteftations condemn the Lords of the

Star-Chamber's unjuft and wicked dealing with

Englifh Freemen, in cenfuring them for their re-

fufing to anfwer to Queftions concerning them-

felves ; and yet notwithftanding walked with his

dealing with me in the very fteps that formerly

he had bitterly condemn'd in the Star-Chamber-

Lords ; yea, and there for refufing to anfwer his

Queftions, ( for any thing he declared to me to

the contrary) committed me to prifon for Trea-

fon in general. And you know very well, better

than I do, that by your- own Law, Generals in

Law fignify nothing.

Judge Jermin. Mr. Lilburne^ you very much
abufe and wrong your felf, for you very well

know Mr. Bradjhaw is now denominated by

another Name, namely, Lord Prefident to the

Council of State of England ; and it would well

become you in your condition fo to have ftiled

him.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. And although no crime

in Law (which ought to be particularly expref-

fed) was laid unto my charge ; yet when I was

firft imprifoned, there were thoufands of my
Friends ( Well- withers to the Freedoms of Eng-

land, and to the common caufe in which they

had been engaged in for thefe eight Years toge-

ther) both old and young, both Matters of Fa-
milies, young Men and Apprentices, and abun-

dance of others of the Feminine Sex too, with

abundance of cordial honeft Men in feveral coun-

tries, joined in feveral rational and fair petitions,

and delivered them to the Houfe in the behalf of
myfelf, and my three Fellow-prifoners ; in which
they moft eameftly intreated them, that they

would not prejudge us before we were heard, and
knew our Accufers and Accufarions, but rather

that they would releafe us, and take off their

prejudging Votes againft us, which they had
caufed to be proclaimed in all the publick places

of the Nation againft us, and let us have a fair

and legal Trial, according to the Laws of Eng-
land, and according to the undeniable privileges

of the due procefs of the Law from firft to laft j

and they would put in any Security that they*

would require of them, that we fhould be forth-

coming at all times to anfwer whatfoever in Law
could be laid to our charge. Unto all which pe-

titions, which were very many, they could get no-

manner of fatisfying Anfwer, but Slights, Abufes.

and Scorns.

But befides this, Gentlemen, that you may
fee that I am rational, and that you may fee that

I have an innocent and quiet confcience withia

me, that does not accufe me, nor terrify me*
therefore I muft acquaint you, that I again and
again proffered my chiefeft Adverfaries, and fent

often to them, being earneftly defirous to chufe

two Members of the Houfe of Commons, and
let them chufe two more, whom they pleafe y,

and I would with all my Heart freely refer all

manner of difference betwixt them and me, tcv

the final determination and judgment of four

of their Fellow-Members : but all this would do
no good, and yet they would not in the leaft let.

me underftand what was the Thing they defired

of me; but, by their power and will,. I had

my pockets and chamber fearch'd to find out

Advantages againft me ; and alfo lock'd up clofe

Prifoner, with Centinels Night and Day fet at

my door, and denied theaccefs and fight of
my Wife and Children for fome certain time ;,

and for about twenty Weeks together in the

Heat of Summer, kept clofe prifoner, and denied

the liberty of the prifon, and my Eftate with'

a ftrong Hand taken away from me, without

any pretence f_or due procefs) of Law, to the

Value of almoft three thoufand Pounds, that was
legally and juftly vefted in me, and in my poffef-

fion. But being I will avoid (at this time efpeci-

ally) provocations as much as I can, I will name
no perfon by whofe power and will it hath been

done, although he be notorioufiy known ; but

the Gentleman that took it away by his pleafure,,

without all Rules of Law or Juftice, told my
Father to this purpofe, That I was a Traitor*

and under the Parliament's Difpleafure ; and
therefore he would fecure it from me, although.

I were not in the leaft convicted of any Crime,

neither in Law then, or for many months after

had I the leaft pretence of Crime laid unto my;

charge. And although my own Eftate by Force,,

againft Law, was taken from me, yet was I alfo

denied in my clofe Imprifonment that legal Al-

lowance that fhould have kept me alive ; for in

all this miferable condition I never yet received

a penny of my legal Allowance, but was pofi-

tively denied that Teftimony and legal Right

that the late King conftantly allowed to all the

Members of the Parliament that were commit-

ted in the third of his Reign, and feveral other

times; unto whom for their Diet he allowed

three, four and five Pounds a Week, according;

to their Quality, although they had great and.

large Eftates peaceably in their poffefiion. And
one of them that is now beyond the Seas, a

Colonel, I have forgot his Name, f but it was
Colonel Long ) confeffed in the Lieutenant of the

Power's own chamber, the laft Year, that the

King was fo bountiful to him and the reft of

his Fellow-prifoners, that he let them enjoy the

Allowance of about four or five Pounds a Week
for ;Diet; and that while he was Prifoner in

the Tower, he fpent the King about 1500/. for

his own particular felf in provifion. But, not-

withftanding I was denied all this, and to fill up
the.
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the height of the infufferable provocations put

upon me, abundance of my own and antient Ac-
quaintance were let upon me to calumniate, be-

ipatter and reproach me ; yea, and to endeavour

to become Inftruments to take away my Life,

fome of them confeffihg they were underhand fet

on by fome Parliament- Men : All whofe bafeand

wicked Petitions, Papers and Books preferred and

published againft me, were hugged and embraced ;

altho, for my own part, I do not know of any

Min in this World that can juftly tax me with a-

ny Action, or maintaining any principles or Te-

nets, but what doth become a Man that doth be-

lieve all that is contained in the Law and the Go-
ipel, and does believe the Refurreclion of the

Dead, and Life eternal ; nay, that does believe

that I myfelf fhall rife and go to the Lord of

Glory. Yet notwithftanding all thefe unparal-

leled provocations put upon me, efpecially by
divers of my old Acquaintance, whom I had

upon all Occafions faithfully ierved, but never

wronged, injured nor provoked, (being inftiga-

t
ted (as they themfelves confefs in fome of their

own Congregations) by Parliament-Men fo to

do.

Truly, Sirs, I appeal to your own Judgments,
and to your Confciences, and to all the people

that hear me this Day, whether all thefe provoca-

tions laid upon a poor Man, which is but Duft

and Afhes, as well as other Men, be not too in-

fupportable a Burden, and too much for the Cau-
fers of them to take advantage of the Fruits pro-

duced by them, to deftroy me, and take away my
Life.

And therefore, Sir, in the firft place, I fhall

humbly crave that Favour and Right, feeing I

am brought before you by a piece of parch-

ment that truly 1 could not read, neither could he

do it that mewed me, (I mean the Lieutenant of

the Tower ;) for admit that if I did well under-

fland Latin, as indeed I do not, only fome ordi-

nary Words, yet it was in fuch an unufual ftrange

Hand that I could not read it. And therefore be-

ing I am brought before you implicitly, and not

as I conceive an Englijhman ought to be, who
ought to fee and read the Authority, by vertue of
which he is convened before any Power. It's

true, I know fome of you, Gentlemen, that I

fee fit before me, yet not many of you ; and
truly I have nothing but a piece of unlegible

Parchment, which cannot fatisfy my Underftand-
ing of the Legalnefs of my Convention before

you : but being I am not able to difpute that

Power that compulfively brought me, but here I

am ; and therefore in order to the declaring ofmy
felf to be a true Englijhman, I moft humbly crave
(and that I think is confonant to Reafon, and I

hope to Law too) that I may fee, and hear read
the Commiffion, by vertue of which you fit here*

this Day, and convene my Perfon before you,
that fo I may compare it to the Law ; and con-
fider whether or no, that by my pleading before

you by vertue of it, I do not betray my Liber-
ties. And therefore I humbly crave that you
would let me hear your Commiffion read ; for

this Court is no ordinary and common Affizes,

Seffions, or , Goal-Delivery, the only proper
Courts for trying me for all criminal Faults

;

yea, and thofe alfo ought to fit where the Crimes
are committed : and 1 was imprifoncd for a pre-
tended Crime, pretended to be committed in the
County of Surrey, where by the Common Law

Vol. II.

of England, and exprefs Statutes, I ought to be

tried therefore, and no where elfe.

And therefore being brought in an extraordi-

nary manner to fuch an extraordinary Place as

this, which is no ordinary Affizes or Seffions, no

nor yet in mine own County ; therefore I again

humbly defire that you will be pleafed to let me
fee and hear your extraordinary Commiffion, that

fo I may confider whether the Extent or Latitude

of the Commiffion be confonant, or no, to the

Petition of Right, and other the good old Laws
of England. For thofe that now fit at Weftmin-

fter, exercifing the fupreme Power, by two fpe-

cial Declarations, the one dated the 9th of Fe-

bruary laft, and the other the feventeenth of
March laft, have pofitively declared, and called

God to witnefs, That they will maintain, pre-

ferve, and defend that excellenteft of Laws, the

Petition of Right, as in the feventh Page of the

laft Declaration they call it ; and that the Peo-

ple of England fhall enjoy all the Benefit therein

contained, whether to Life, Liberty, or Eftate,

with all Things incident thereunto. And there-

fore I humbly beg and crave that Favour from
you, that feeing to me you appear to be fent in an
extraordinary manner, not according to the ordina-

ry Cuftoms of the Laws ofEngland, that you will be

pleafed to let me hear your Commiffion read,

that fo I may confider the Confonancy thereof

to the Petition of Right, and other the good
old Laws of England : and after the reading

of it, I hope I fhall return you an Anfwer as

doth become a rational and ingenious Man t

Who though he hath Right to all the Privileges

of the Laws of England, and hath read all the

declared and plain Laws of England, that are to

me the Fundamentals of all, yet the practick Part

of the Law, which are in other Tongues be-

fides the Engli/h, I cannot read, know, nor
underftand. And in the Petition of Right, and
other the good old fundamental Laws of Eng-
land, I can find no Foundation or Bottom for

fuch an extroordinary Court, as this before my
Eyes feems to be : And therefore I again make
it my moft humble Suit to hear your Commif-
fion read.

Judge Kehle. Mr. Lilbume, you are fully heard.

Mr. Prideaux Attorney-General. My Lord, the

Prifoner at the Bar, nor none elfe, have caufe to

complain that he hath wanted your patience in

being fully heard. My Lord, that which at the

beginning of his Arraignment you expected from
him, which was to hold up his Hand, he de-

nied ; and upon his Denial defired Liberty of
Speech to fpeak, and he hath enjoyed it. But,

my Lord, how pertinent his Difcourfe is to what
was propofed to him, the Court, and all that

hear him, will judge. My Lord, I am not here

to juftify the Actings of thofe that here he hath

complained againft ; but they are a Court, they,

are a Council, and my Thoughts are (and fo

ought his to be) honourable of them ; and what
they have done, my Lord, towards him, in order-

ing this Court to try him, is but Juftice. My
Lord, there is no fpecial Commiffion of Oyer and
'Terminer, but a general Commiffion : and upon
that general Commiffion here is a fpecial Prefent-

ment of Mr. Lilburne here at the Bar : The gene-

ral Commiffion is according to the Law of the

Land ; and upon that fpecial Prefentment it is

expected he may be proceeded againft according

to Law. And for your Commiffion, my Lord,

£ that.
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that hath beeen read and publifhed to the Court

before Mr. Lilburne came to the Court, and the

Court is fatisfied with it, that it- is in the ordinary

way ; and I hope the Judgment you will give,

will declare it to be according to the Law, in the

ordinary way. And as for the Commiffion it felf,

in the Form of it, it is not a Tittle varied from

the ordinary accuftomed Form. But, my^Lord,

the Petition of Right, Magna Charia, the Sta-

tutes, and all Declarations that have been fpo-

ken of, they are all confirmed in this, and all do

confirm it ; for in that ordinary Tract, that hath

been praclifed in this Nation for five hundred

Years, is Mr. Lilburne now to be tried, and that

by the good old Laws of England, Mr. Lilburne**

Birth-right, and every Man's elfe, he has his

Trial •, the beginning of which hath been Mr.

Lilburne's, Freientment, which is already found

by the Grand Inqueft, who are Men of Integri-

ty, Men of Ability, Men of Knowledge. My
Lord, he is now come to his Trial, not in an

extraordinary way, but by a Jury of good and

legal Men of the Neighbourhood ; by Men that

do know, my Lord, and underftand what is Fact,

what is (a) Law, and to do Juftice indifferently

between both.

And, my Lord, I do know, and publifh. to all

that now hear me, that the Commiffion for Trial

of Mr. Lilburne this Day, for thofe Differences

that are between the State and Mr.. Lilburne, is

free in Law from all thofe Exceptions that he is

pleafed to put upon it, and is unqueftionably le-

gal, and ufed for thefe many hundred Years toge-

ther. And as for Mr. Lilburne's declaring the

Fact, for which he was originally imprifoned,

for to be committed in Surrey,, and therefore

there in Law he ought to be tried, and not here in

London, being another County ; as for Mr. Lil-

hurne'z Crimes committed in Surrey, his own
Confcience beft knows what they are : But Mr.

Lilburne, at moft, can but yet guefs at what

we intend to try him here for, or lay unto his

Charge.

But, my Lord, if Mr. Lilburne will pleafe to

put himfelf upon his Trial according to Law,

my Lord, I hope the Court, and all that hears

and fees their Proceedings, will receive full Satis-

faction in the Legality and Fairnefs of their Pro-

ceedings againft him, and himfelf the Benefit of

Juftice and Law.
Lieutenant-Colonel Lilburne. Sir, by your fa-

vour, in two Words, I ftiall not be tedious, I now
perceive who is my Accufer and Profecutor, the

Gentleman that is a very unequal one j for he is

one of the Creators (being a Member of the

Houfe) of you that fit here this Day to be my
Judges ; and therefore an over-awing and unfit

Accufer or Profecutor.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, I pray you hear me a
Word ; for now you fpeak not rationally nor

difcreetly : You have had a fair Refpect and

Hearing. What you fpeak of Liberties and

Laws, we come here to maintain them for all,

and for you too : And we alfo come for to vin-

dicate our Actions. And as for that you fpeak of

in reference to the Commiffion, I muft let you

know the Commiffion is warrantable by the

Laws of England for this five hundred Years,

nay, and before five hundred Years in fubftance.

The fecond Thing that you fpeak to, is, That

you were apprehended in flich an hoftile manner,,

understanding by Law you fhould have been

taken in an ordinary way, by an ordinary Offi-

cer. But, Mr. Lilburne, in all Apprehenfions of
Traitors, Felons, and Murderers, is not the

Power of the County to be raifed, and the
Sheriff is to call and take what Power he-

pleafeth.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your favour, Sir, not
unlefs I refill; which I did not. And befides,,

there was no Sheriff, nor no other Civil Officer,,

at my Apprehenfion.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, fpare yourfelf : It is

as they are informed of the Danger of the Man -

9

they may do it before ever they fee him. The
next Thing you are upon, is, The Wrong and
Jnjuftice that you received by the Proceedings in

the Star-Chamber againft you. You fee the

Proceedings there have been queftioned, and you
juftified : If there be any thing elfe that hath
been by others in the North, or elfewhere acted,

there is no Man here that will juftify them in

their Evil. But for a private Man, as you are,

to tell us- of them here, and to come and tell

us to our Faces that we are created and conftituted

by the Attorney -General, we wiJl not fuffer it,

nor further hear of it. And therefore, Mr. Lil-

burne, although you have fpoken fair Words,
(and happily more than your Friends expected

from you) I muft tell you that Words are but

Words ; and it were well that you would do as

well and as rationally as becomes a rational Man,
as you have declared you will.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. With your favour, but
one Word more.

Judge Jermin. Mr. Lilburne, pray fpareaWord,
and hear the Court : This Court fits here by law-

ful Authority, and that is from the Parliament,

that are the fupreme Authority of England ; fo

that our Power is not derived from thofe that

have no rightful Authority to conftitute us, but

our Power is from the publick Authority of Eng-
land, which is now by an admirable Act of
God's Providence, lately, but truly revived and
fettled by God upon them. By that Authority
this Court doth now fit ; and you are brought
here before them that are moft of us Judges of
the Law, and we are fworn to do you and every

Man Juftice and Right, according as his Caufe
requires, according to Law, Judgment, Equity,
and Reafon. And it was faid truly, that which
my Brother Heath (who now is dead) did fay,

It's the Duty of the Judges to be of Counfel

with the Prifoner at the Bar before him, and to

do that which they are fworn to do : And that

you ftiall have. And accordingly you have re-

ceived more Favour than ever I heard of a Pri-

soner that ever was accufed of Treafon in my Life
ever had. And as for the Commiffion, I muft
tell you it is ufual to have Commiffions of Oyer
and Terminer, and that even in Term- time, for

high Offences, and fuch as tend to the Deftruc-

tion of the Nation, as Ovirbury\ did, and thofe

that tend to capital Treafon, whereof you are

now accufed, by a Grand-Jury of London, that

are Freemen of London, Citizens, able Men,
Men of Religion, Men of Eftate, Men of Con-
fcience, Men of Quality : Thefe are your Accu-
fers -, who have found you, upon their Oaths,,

guilty of Treafon, and cry out to us the Judges

(a) Mark that <well ; for Judge Jermin called it a damnable DaSrine, •when Mr. Lilburne declared the Jury were Jua
sfLaw as well as of Fail.

for.
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for Juftice againft you : And it is they, not we,

that proceed againft you. And as for our Com-
miffion, it is according to the good old Laws of

the Land, founded upon the Statute made in

Edward the Firfl's Time, called Wejlminfter the

Second. That Statute authorizeth Commiffions :

According to that Commiffion we fit by here

this Day. And Edward the Firft was a wife and

a good Prince, and c<5nfented to the People, to

let them have fuch Commiffions as ours we fit

by is, which the People had fought ftoutly for

in the Barons Wars in his Father's Time, and

alfo in his ; for he himfelf was taken Prifoner at

Lewes, in the County of Sujfex. And being a

wife Prince, he knew that the Love of the Peo-

ple was. not more to be got than by wholfome

and fife Laws, that every Man's Life, and every

Man's Eftate, and every Man's Liberty, might

be preferved by, and not be fubjecl to any arbi-

trary Will or Power ; but that the fober, and

difcreet, and wife Laws of the Kingdom, which

our Anceftors won by their Swords, might be

their Protectors. A fpecial one of which was

this Statute of Wejlminfter the Second, made in

Edward the Firfl's Time : By vertue of which

Statute is this Commiffion directed to the Juflices

of the one Bench and the other ; and they be all

here this Day, but only thofe that of neceffity

muft attend at Wejlminfter, only to preferve the

Term. Now you are come to anfwer to that

Charge, which hath been the greateft Oppofition

to the Settlement of Government that can be ;

I mean the Settlement of the fupreme Authority

of the Nation in the Commons now affembledin

Parliament, not newiy erected, but revived into

the Right Place and Hands ; for it is the Law
of England revived, that the fupreme Authority

is in the (a) Commons affembled in the Parlia-

ment of England : For fo it was in the Saxons

Time, and the Romans Time, and in all Times (b)

it hath been as it is now ; which will fufficiently

juftify our prefent Proceedings againft you. And
therefore, I fay, for the Commiffion itfelf, it is

in general for the Trial of all Treafons whatfo-

ever. But the Grand Inqueft have found out no
other Traitor, that they may accufe, but Ma-
iler John Lilburne, who is now here at the Bar.

But it is not a bare Accufation, but it is the fo-

lemn Verdict of almofl a double Jury that hath

appeared upon the Roll ; and upon their Oaths do
conceive thofe Crimes of Treafon that are laid a-

gainft you, to be of fo dangerous confequence a-

gainfl the State and Commonwealth, that they

do call for Juftice againft you as a Traitor alrea-

dy found guilty. And therefore I do require you,
as you are an EngUJhman, and a rational Man, that

you do conform yourfelf, and tell us plainly what
you will do, as in reference to the putting your
felf upon your Trial by the Law, and hear with
patience thofe Offences of Treafon that are laid to

your Charge.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. May it pleafe you, Sir,

by your favour, I Hull not now trouble you with
many Words.

Ld Keble. You go improperly to work.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. That Gentleman, I do
not know his Name, (pointing to Judge Jer-
min :) You were pleafed to fay, That I have had
more Favour than ever you have heard of any
before ever had, in the like Cafe. But, Sir, by
your favour, I fhall tell you of fome that in the

like Cafe have had as much, if not more •, and
that was Tbrogmorton, in Queen Mary's Time,
who was impeached of higher Treafon than now
I am •, and that in the Days of the commonly
accounted bloodied and cruelleft Prince that this

many hundred of Years hath reigned in England;
And yet, Sir, I am fure in this very Place, and
that by fpecial Commiffion of Oyer and Terminer

;

who was accufed for being one of the chiefeft Con-
federates with Wyat, in his Kenti/h Rebellion ;

which Wyat marched with an Army againft the

Queen to London ; For which actual War or

Rebellion, * Tbrogmorton was in this „, _
i j T-' • j Trial V.

place arraigned as a Traitor, and
enjoyed as much, if not more Favour, than I

have now enjoyed, altho his then Judges and
Profecutor were bent to take away (c) his Life,

right or v/rong. And therefore, Sir, by your
favour, it is no extraordinary Favour that you have
afforded me ; it is but only my Right by Law
and Juftice, and common Equity. But, Sir, I

fhall be fhort, and put my Bufinefs to a plain If-

fue, which is this i

I have here at the Bar given in many ftrong

Arguments againft the Validity and Legality of a
fpecial Commiffion of Oyer and Terminer, and
fuppofmg that to be fuch an one by virtue of
which you fit, and intend to try me for my
Life ; and therefore I have humbly defired (as in

Reafon, and I think in Law, I may juftly do) to

hear your Commiffion read ; but you have pofi-

tively denied me that. And therefore I defire

all my Friends, and all the People that hear me
this Day, to bear witnefs, and take notice,

that you, contrary to Reafon and common Equi-
ty, denied me to let me hear read your Commif-
fion, by vertue of which you go about to take a-

way my Life ; which I cannot chufe but defire

them to take notice, I declare to be very hard
Meafure.

But, Sir, to fave my felf from your forelaid

Snares and defired Advantage againft me, I will

come a little clofer to the Bufinefs. You demand
I fhould hold up my Hand at the Bar ; and I know
not what it means, neither what in Law it figni-

fies. It's true, I have read the moft part of the

Laws that are in Englifh, which I take to be the

Foundation of all our legal Englijlo Privileges ;

and in them I cannot find any thing that doth

clearly declare unto me the full Signification or

Meaning of a Man's holding up his Hand at

the Bar. Therefore if you pleafe but to explain

what the Meaning and Signification of holding up
the Hand at the Bar, is, I fhall ferioufly confider

of it, and, I hope, return you a rational and

difcreet Anfwer : For truly in thofe Laws
which are in the Englifh Tongue that 1 have

(a) But by his Favour, never before prailifed nor ufed without both King and Lords ; a Precedent of which he is defired tQ

Jhcw andproduce out ofam of his LawBoo&s.
(b) But there was before the Conqueft neither Inns of Court, Lawyers, nor Term- Judges in England, but only twelve good

and legal Men, chofen in each Hundred, finally to decide all Controverfies : Which lafied till William the Conqueror Jubdued that

excellent Confiitution, and inftead thereof introduced by his Will and Sword ('contrary to his filemn Oath, three feveral times ta-

ken) the intolerable Bondage of Weilminfter-Hall, or Term-Judges, and their Outlandijh or Norman Law-Practice in the French

Tongue ; as all the Englifh Chro?iicles unrverfally and truly declare.

(c) Whofe remarkable and excellent Defenceyou may at large read in Holingfhed'j Chronicle in the Life ofQueen Mary, which
Difcourfe is excellently well worth the fpeedi Reprinting, efpecially feeing Men are made Traitors for Words ; which Cruelty Queers

Mary abhorred, as may clearly be read in that excellent Statute of hers, made in the firft Year of her Reign, Chap. I,

Vol. II. E 2 read
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read, although I find mention made of hold-

ing up the Hand, yet I cannot find much of

the full Signification of it, only I find it to be of

a large Extent. And as for thofe Laws, or ra-

ther the praclick Part of the Law, that are in

French and Latin, I cannot read them, and there-

fore much lefs underftand them. In which regard,

for me to hold up my Hand at the Bar before I

underftand the true Signification of it in Law,

(which tells me it is in itfelf a ticklifh Thing)

were for me to throw away my own Life upon a

Punctilio or Nicety that I am ignorant of 5

and therefore, truly, I think I fhould be a very

Fool, in my own Ignorance to run that Dan-

ger. And therefore, Sir, I humbly defire the

clear Explanation of the Meaning of it in Law,

and after that I fhall give you a fair and rational

Anfwer.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you fhall fee we will

deal very rationally with you, (and not infnare

you in the leaft manner) if that be all. The
holding up of your Hand, we will tell you what

it means and fignifies in Law : The calling

the Party to hold up his Hand at the Bar, is no

more but for the fpecial notice that the Party is

the Man inquired for, or called on ; and there-

fore if you be Mr. John Lilburne, and be the

Man that we charge, do but fay that you are the

Man, and that you are there, and it fhall fuf-

fice.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I am John Lilburne, Son

of Mr. Richard Lilburne

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, what you have to fay

we will hear prefently •, only take notice that we
will take your acknowledging of your Name to

be fufficient, if you will fay that you are the

Man. You are called by your Name, you have

come and anfwered to your Name, in order to

your anfwering the Charge to be read againft

you •, do but this, and it fhall fuffice without

holding up your Hand. Therefore let us have

no more Difcourfe as to that.

Judge Jermin. Mr. Lilburne, pray fpare me a

Word •, for you have been heard with patience.

You have defired to have the Right of the Law
of England •, and yet you do queftion a funda-

mental Thing, that hath been always ufed in cafe

of criminal pffences. By the Law of England,

that you defire to have the Meaning of it, is but

juft ; but you muft know that the Law of Eng-

land is the Law of God -, and if there be any

thing in the Law of England, but what was by

admirable Conftitution and Reafon, we would not

meddle with it. But I pray know this, that the

Law of England is no written Law : It is the Law
that hath been maintained by our Anceftors, by
the tried Rules of Reafon, and the prime Laws
of Nature ; for it does not depend upon Statutes,

or written and declared (a) Words or Lines. And
this is our Laws, that have been maintained by
our Anceftors, and is fubordinate to the Law and
Will of God : Therefore I fay again, the Law
of England is pure primitive Reafon, uncorrupted

and unpolluted by Human Humours, or hu-

man corruptions, Wits, or Wills : That's the

Law of England. There be two Reafons why
holding up the Hand hath been ufed always :

Firft, for notice that thofe that are called for ca-

pital and criminal Offences, that they hold up
their Hands, is to declare that they are the Men.
My Lord hath given you this one Reafon al-

ready ; which, I fay, is, that he be notified by
holding up the Hand to all the Beholders, and
thofe that be prefent, and hear him that he
is the Man. But befides this, there is more in

it i that's thus : A pure innocent Hand does fet

forth a clear unfpotted Heart ; that fo the Heart
and Hand together might betoken Innocency.

And therefore hold up your Hand, that there-

by you may declare you have a pure innocent

Heart. If you refufe to do this, you do will-

fully deprive yourfelf of the Benefit of one of

the main Proceedings and Cuftoms of the Laws
of England. Now for this, do what you think

fit.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Well, then, Sir, (apply-

ing himfelf to Mr. Keble, as the Prefident of the

Court) I take your Explanation of it, and lay

hold of that.

Ld Keble. You muft anfwer pofitively, Sir,

for you have had Advice enough, yea, good Ad-
vice if you embrace it, it is good Advice to you ;

but the Court doth not expect an Anfwer from
you to what hath been already faid to you, but

they expect that without any more Difpute you
apply yourfelf to anfwer according to that which

you are advifed unto. Do it if you will, and if

you will but anfwer to it fo as hath been declared

unto you, it fhall fuffice ; but fo far you muft go
to this, as to declare whether you be the Man or

no before you go away. And therefore difpute

it no more, left you deprive yourfelf of the Bene-

fit of the Law.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Well then, Sir, accor-

ding to your own Explanation, I fay my Name
is John Lilburne, Son to Mr. Richard Lilburne of

the County of Durham, a Freeman of the City

of London, and fometimes Lieutenant-Colonel in

the Parliament's Army : And if you will not be-

lieve that I am the Man, my Guardian the Lieu-

tenant of the Tower there (pointing to him) will

aver that I am.
Ld Keble, So then you are the Man.
Judge Jermin. Ask him again : Hearken, Mr.

Lilburne, hearken what he fays, and ufe that

Moderation, and Temper, and Difcretion that

you have promifed.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. One word more, and I

fhall have done ; and that is by the Law of Eng-
land 1 [But being interrupted, he cried out\

With your favour, Sir, I will come to the main
thing ; I hope you do not go about to circum-

vent me, therefore hear me, I befeech you.

Ld Keble. Hear the Court, Mr. Lilburne, there

fhall be nothing of Circumvention or Interrup-

tion : but as you have profeffed to be a rational

and underftanding Man in Words, let your Deeds

fo declare you.

(a) But faith Mr. Hyde, in hisforementioned Argument, againft the Northern fpecial Commiffton of'Oyer and Terminer, fag.
411, Mifera fervituseft, ubijus eft vagum aut incognitum ; that is tofay, It is a miferahle Servitude where the Law is uncer-
tain or unknown. And the veryfamefaith that great Oracle of the Law, Sir Edward Coke, in the Proem to the third Part ofhis
Jnflitutes, and in thefourth Part, fol. 3 3 2, and in federal Places befides. But the People may eafily fee hereby, that thefe prefent
Judges drive to have no other Law in being in England, but what is in their own and their Mafters Breafts j (that fo by pre-
tence of Law they may give away all the Liberties and Properties of the People of the Nation, as their Brother Judges did lately
to the King, in the cafe of Ship Monty.) And then woe, and woe t» the People, to be brought back again to that Faith, That
Ignorance is the Mother of Devotion or Obedience.

Lieut.
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Lieut. Col. Liiburne. Sir, I befeech you do not

furprizc mc with Punctilio's or Niceties, which

are hard things for me to iofe my Life upon. I

tell you again, my Name is John Liiburne, Son

to Mr. Richard Liiburne.

Ld Keble. Talk not of Punctilio's with us,

nor talk not of Judges made by the Laws, you

fhall not want Law : but if you talk of Pun-

ctilio's here in this Room, we will flop that

Language.

Lieut. Col. Liiburne. Truly, Sir, I am upon

my Life, and fhall my Ignorance of the Forma-

lities of the Law in the praclick part thereof de-

ftroy me ? God forbid ! Therefore give me but

leave to fpeak for my Life, or elfe knock me on

the Head, and murder me where I ftand, which

is more righteous and juft than to do it by pre-

tence of Juflice. Sir, I know that Mr. Brad-

JJjciw himfelf, Prefident of the High Court of

Juflice, as it was called, gave Duke Hamilton (a

hofiile Enemy) leave to fpeak to the Punctilio's of

the Law •, yea, and to my Knowledge again and

again made an Engagement unto him and the

reft tried with him, that the Court nor he

would not, by vertue of their Ignorance of the

Niceties or Formalities of the Law, take ad-

vantage againfl them to deflroy them 5 but did de-

clare again and again, that all advantages of For-

malities fhould be totally laid afide, and not in

the leafl made ufe of againfl them to their Pre-

judice. And I hope you will grant me, that have

often been in Arms for you, but never againfl you,

as much Favour and Privilege as was granted to

Duke Hamilton, never of your Party, but a Ge-
neral of a numerous Army againfl you.

Ld Keble. Take it as you will, we have had

patience with you, and you mufl and fhall have

patience with us : we will pafs over all that is

by-pafl, but take heed by your furly CrofTnefs you

give not advantage in the face of the Court, to

pafs fentencc againfl you, without any further

Proceedings, or Proof of your Actions, but what

our own Eyes fee. The Ceremony is for your

advantage more than you are aware of: but if

you confefs yourfelf to be Mr. John Liiburne, we
have done as to that.

Judge Jermin. Mr. Liiburne, at the beginning

you talked of Moderation, and that you would
carry yourfelf with Rationality, which methinks

in your Actions you fall fhort of; for you have

faid, that Mr. Attorney- General was a very un-

equal Profecutor of you, becaufe you fay he was
the {a) Creator of your Commiffion. Pray hear

me, I heard you ; and do not think to put Af-
fronts upon us undeferved. And as for that Man
that you call Mr. Bradjhaw, I tell you again he

is Lord Prefident of the Council of State of the

Commonwealth of England ; and vhy you fhould

fo much neglect him, doth not fo much favour of
Rationality and Moderation, as you pretend your

felf to be pofTefTed with.

Ld Keble. Come, will you read the Indict-

ment ?

Mr. Broughton reads. Hold up your Hand, John
Liiburne, and hearken to your Charge.

Thou ftandeft inditled of High Treafon by the

Name of John Liiburne, late of London Gent.

29
for that thou as afalfe Traitor, not having the Fear

of God before thy eyes, but being fir red up and mo-
ved by the Inftigation of the Devil, &c. as it fol-

loweth verbatim, in the fecond Day's Proceedings,

to which the Reader is referred.

Mr. Broughton. What fay 'ft thou, John Lii-

burne, art thou guilty of this Treafon whereof
thou ftandeft indicted, or not guilty ?

Lieut. Col. Liiburne. Gentlemen, I require the
Favour that I may be heard, and I fhall defire no-
thing but that which may ftand with Reafon and
Juflice.

Ld Keble. Mr. Liiburne, we fhall deal with you
according to Reafon and Juflice, and after fuch
a manner as you yourfelf fhall judge rational and
right.

Lieut. Col. Liiburne. Gentlemen, I fhall fpeak
but a few words ; I befeech you hear me, for it is

upon my Life.

Ld Keble. You fay you will deal rationally in

thofe ways ; that is to be expected from you the
firft in Reafon, is to anfwer, and plead ; and
before you fo do, you cannot be heard.

Lieut. Col Liiburne. Give me leave to fpeak,
and I fhall not fpeak fix Lines : (which with much
ftruggling being granted, Mr. Liiburne went on
and laid to this effect) Then Sir, thus, By the

Laws of England I am not to anfwer to Quefli-

ons againfl or concerning myfelf.

Ld Keble. You fhall not be compelled.
Another Judge. Mr. Liiburne, is this to anfwer

againfl yourfelf, to fay you are not guilty? By the

Laws of the Land you are to plead to your Charge,
and it is no accufing of yourfelf to fay Guilty, or
Not Guilty.

Lieut. Col. Liiburne. Sir, by your favour

Judge Keble. To anfwer that you are Not guil-

ty, is no great matter, nor definite in Law.
Lieut. Col. Liiburne. By the Law of England I

am to be tried by a Rule, but I do not know,
by the Rules of Law, what Benefit, in reference

to my Exception againfl the Illegality of my
Indictment, I may deprive myfelf of in cafe I

fhould anfwer before I except.

\A Keble. The Law is plain, that you are po-

fitively to anfwer Guilty or not Guilty, which
you pkafe.

Lieut. Col. Liiburne. Sir, by the Petition of
Right, I am not to anfwer to any Queflions con-

cerning myfelf ; therefore I humbly intreat you to

afford me the Privileges of the Laws of Eng-
land, and I will return a pofitive Anfwer to it

;

if you will but pleafe to allow me but Counfel, that

I may confult with them, for I am ignorant of

the Formalities of Law in the practick Part of
it, although I here declare I own the good old

Laws of England, and a legal Jury of twelve

Men, yea, and a Trial by a Jury of legal Men.
And I do humbly crave, Sir, a Copy of the In-

dictment, or fo much of it as I may ground my
Jrlea upon it ; and reafonable Time to confult

with my Counfel, altho' it be but eight or nine

days.

Ld Keble. You fpeak well, but you mufl do

well, it is that we come for: the Rationablenefs

of it is this, that you fhould fhortly anfwer, Sir,

to that Quellion, and in a rational legal way.

[a) Mr. Liiburne here endeavoured to /peak, andpew the Judge his Miftake; for he did not fay that Mr. Prideaux was the

Creator of the Commiffion, but that he was one of the Creators of all the Judges, and thereby was Judge of his Judges, and in

that regard he was no competent Accufer or Profecutor : But they would notfuffer him to fpeak, but cried out, Hear the Court;

which thing aljo theyfrequently did afterwards.

When
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When you have anfwered it, you fliallhave liber-

ty to make your Defence, to maintain that you

fay ; but this that we now fpeak of, is a thing in

your own Bread, in your own Knowledge, whe-

ther you be guilty bf this that is laid to your

charge or no : And if you be clear, you cannot

wrong yourfelf nor your Confcience ; lor in fay-

ing Not Guilty, you know better what you fay

than any other doth.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I am ignorant of the

Formalities of the Law, having no Books in Eng-

lijh wherein I can read them ; and as for other

Tongues, 1 under-ftand none: and therefore for

you to take away my Life for my Ignorance,

when the practick Part of the Law, or the For-

malities thereof, is lock'd up in ftrange Language,

that it is impoffible for me to read or understand,..

is extreme hard.

It is true, in thofe Englijh plain Laws which I

have read, I find fomething fpoken of it; but

muft aver, that I find there is a great deal of Ni-

cety and Danger in locking a Man up to fingle

Formalities, in anfwering Guilty or Not Guilty :.

And therefore I befeech you to affign me Counfel,

to inform my Ignorance, and give me but leave

to confult with my Counfel, and I will return you

an Anfwer according to your defire, without any

Demur, as foon as it is poffible for me to know
what grounds I go upon.

Mr. Brcughton. John Lilburne, what fay 'ft thou,

art thou Guilty of the Treafon laid unto thy

charge, or art thou not Guilty ?'

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. But under favour thus, for

you- to come to enfnare and entrap me with un-

known Niceties and Formalities that are locked

up in the French and Latin Tongue, and cannot be

read in Englijh Books, they being not expreffed

in any Law of the Kingdom, publifhed in our

own Englijh Tongue : it is not fair t
J lay accord-

ing to the Law of England, plainly in Englijh

expreffed in the Petition of Right, and other the

good old Statute Laws of the Land. Therefore

1 again humbly defire to have Counfel affigned to

me, to confult with, what thefe Formalities in

Law fignify ; fo that I may not throw away my
Life ignorantly upon Forms.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, we cannot grant you
that Favour, it is not confident to the Law, what-
foever you fay to the contrary.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I hope you will not go
about to enfnare me, and take away my Life for

Punctilio's.

Another Judge. Well then, you will not plead?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Yes, if I may be allowed

that which I conceive to be my Birth- right and
Privilege, to confult with Counfel •> or that you
pleafe to make the fame Engagement to me that

Mr. Bradjhaw, as the Prefident of the High
Court of Juftice, made to Duke Hamilton ; which
was, that the Court would take no advantage at

all of his Ignorance in the Niceties and Forma-
lities of the Law in his Pleading: let me but
enjoy this Engagement from you, and I will

plead.

Ld Keble. You fhall have that which is accord-
ing to the Law; therefore, Mr. Lilburne, I ad-
vife you for to plead, and you fhall have fair

play, and no advantage taken againft you by your
Ignorance of the Formality of the Law.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Well then, Sir, upon
that Engagement, and becaufe I fee you are fo

pofitive in the thing- —this is my Anfwer j

That I am not guilty of any of the Treafons m
Manner and Form, as they are there laid down
in that Indictment,

(
pointing to it.) And there-

fore now, Sir, having pleaded, I crave the Li-

berty of England, that you will affign me Coun-
fel.

Mr. Broughton. By whom wilt thou be tried ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By the known Laws of
England, and a legal Jury of my Equals, consti-

tuted according to Law.
Mr. Broughton. By whom wilt thou be tried ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By the known Laws of

England; I mean, by the Liberties and Privile-

ges of the Laws of England, and a Jury of my
Equals legally chofen. And now, Sir, I again,

defire Counfel to be affigned me, to confult with

in point of Law,, that fo I may not deftroy my-
felf through my Ignorance. This is but the

fame Privilege that was granted at Oxford unto

me, and the reft of my Fellow-Prifoners arraign-

ed with me.

One of the Clerks. You muft fay, by God and
your Country ; that's the Form of the Law.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Why muft I fay foB

Another Judge. This is the Form and Law of
the Land: Will you plead,. Mr. Lilburne^ accord-

ing to the Laws of England?.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Truly I »never read it,

Sir, in the Laws of England,, what it is to plead

in this Nature.

Ld Keble. You fay you will be tried by the

Laws of the Land, then it is by the Country,,

and fo you may plead, and do yourfelf no harm ;

for by the Country is meant a Jury of your E*-

quah.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I am doubtful ofmy
Ignorance in the Laws, yet I will return you aa
Anfwer, you making good your already engaged
Promifes, that you will take no Advantage againft

me, if through my Ignorance,, and your Impor-
tunity, I plead in any Form, that in ftrictnefs of
Acceptation may deprive me of any real Benefit

the Law will afford me.

Judge Thorp. Mr. Lilburne, you will be tried

by the Law, and by the Rules thereof: when yoa
fay fo, you do really declare it to be by your.

Country. So that the true Signification of being

tried by the Law, is the fame thing in fubftancc

with being tried by the Rules of the Law.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Then I hope my anfwer

is clear and fair, Sir.

Judge Jermin. The Formality is fhortly this,,

to be tried by God and your Country •, no more-

is meant by it than thus, by God, as God is every

where prefent, yea in all Courts of Juftice, and
fits and knows all things that are acted,, faid,. and

done: The other Part of it,, by your Country,

that is, by your Country or Neighbourhood

;

the Country is called Patria, becaufe your Neigh-

bour and your Equals, which you are willing to

put yourfelf upon the Trial of. By force of that

word, the Country, a Jury of the Neighbour-

hood for Trial of you are fummoned. Now da
what you will.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, under your favour

thus z then in the negative I fay God is not lo-

cally or corporally here prefent to try me, o?

pafs upon me ; but affirmative, I return this An-
fwer, That I defire to be tried in the prefence of

that God, that by his omnipotent Power is pre-

fent every where, and beholds all the Actions

that are done upon the Earth, and fees and
knows,
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knows whether any of your Hearts be pofleffed

with a premeditated Malice againft me, or whe-

ther any of you come with fo much Forethought

of Malice againft me, as that in your Hearts you

intend to do the utmoft you can, right or wrong,

to deftroy me : and before this all- feeing God I

defire to be tried, and by my Country, that is to

•fay, by a Jury of my Equals, according to the

good old Laws of the Land.

Juftice Thorp. You have fpoken very well.

Ld Keble. You have done like an Englijhman

fo far as you have gone ; and I do affure, that

in any Formality (as you exprefs or call them)

there fhall be no Advantage againft you, if you

miftake in them. Now what you have the next

to think upon, is your Jury of your Countrymen,

or Neighbours of your Equals ; and I promife

you we will take care of that, that they fhall be

good and lawful Men of England.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I thank you, Sir, but

under your Favour thus : Your Indictment is ex-

treme Jong, and of abundance of particulars, it is

impoffible that my Memory, or any one Man's

in England, can contain it, or carry it in our

Heads ; and therefore that I may make my De-

fence fo as becomes a rational Englijhman, I ear-

neftly intreat you, that now you will be pleafed

to give me a Copy of my Indictment, or fo much
of it, as you expect a Plea from me upon, and

an Anfwer unto, and Counfel affigned me, and

Time to debate with my Counfel, and Subpoenas

for Witneffes.

Ld Keble. For Counfel, you need none, Mr.

Lilburne ; for that Not Guilty which you have

pleaded, is that which lies in your own breaft,

which refts in your own Counfel, and you know
how it is, and can beft plead that yourfelf

:

Counfel lies in Matter of Law, not of Fact.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Under Favour I defire

Counfel for Matter of Law, and not for Matter

of Fact. My Indictment I believe in Law, is all

Matter of Law, and I have fomething to fay to

it in Law.
Ld Keble. If Matter of Law do arife upon

the proof of the Fact, you fhall know it, and

then fhall have Counfel affigned to you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I myfelf have before

this been upon fome Trials, and never before

this was denied counfel, no, nor fo much as ever

difputed whether I mould have it or no. I alfo

was at a great part of the Earl of Strafford's Trial,

who was fuppofed a moft notorious Traitor ; and
yet, if my Obfervation and Memory do not ex-

ceedingly fail me, he had Counfel affigned him
at his firft defire, and they were continually with
but him, not only at the Bar when he was there,

alfo had continual and freeAccefs to himinPrifon.

Befides, Sir, I being accufed of Treafon in

fuch an extraordinary manner, and being but an
ordinary Man myfelf; no eminent experienced

Lawyer dare well meddle with myBufinefs, no, nor
fo much as beftow a Vifit upon me, but he runs

a Hazard of being undone. And truly my fi-

liate is in an extraordinary manner taken from
me, fo that I have not Money to fend MefTen-

gers up and down privately to their Chambers

:

and therefore that 1 may be freely and allowedly

able, without danger of Ruin to any Man that

fhall advife me, I fhall humbly crave as my Right
by Law, and I am fure by common Equity and
Juftice, that I may have Counfel and Solicitors

alfo affigned me.

Ld. Keble. Mr. Lilburne, fpeak rationally for

yourfelf; when there comes a Matter of Law,
that you are able to fay, This is for Matter of
Law, arifing from Matter of Fact, that hath

been proved or endeavoured to be proved, when
you come beyond that, you fhall have it as wil-

lingly as you can defire : and withal, this that

you fay concerning your Memory, which you
fay is not able to carry away, or contain the

particulars of this Indictment ; the Indictment,

fo much as will charge your Memory, will be
very fhort : for it is the publifhing of thofe

Books charged upon you in the Indictment, that

will be the Matter which will ftick, and that

Matter will be very fhort, which we muft prove
againft you, which is only Matter of Fact, and
not of Law. And therefore for Fact of Treafon

you can be allowed no Counfel, but muft plead

it yourfelf.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, under Favour, you
expect from me Impoffibilities ; for, feeing I have
been feven months in prifon for nothing, and
could not in the leaft know perfectly what would
be laid to my charge, nor after what manner I

fhould be proceeded againft, (confidering all pro-

ceedings againft me hitherto have been fo

abfolutely arbitrary, that it was impoffible for me
in Law exactly to come provided : ) and there-

fore feeing I am now here, and you'pretend to pro-

ceed with me according to the due courfe of Law,
and feeing the Form of the Proceedings in this

manner with me is not exprefly and exactly de-

clared in Print in Englijh, which Tongue only I

can read and underftand ; and feeing by the Law,
which is in Englijh, which I have read, and
clearly underftand, that there are a great many
Snares, and a great many Niceties in the prac-

tick, that are formal proceedings of the Law ;

and feeing I know not certainly, whether if I

proceed to Matter of Proof, before in Law I

make my Exceptions againft your Indictment,

as to Matter, Time, and Place, I be not in Law
deprived of that Benefit, which I principally aim
at for the prefervation of my Life ; therefore I

befeech and moft earneftly intreat you, to affign

me Counfel to confult with, before I be too far

infnared : and, if you will not do it, and give

me fome reafonable Time to prepare my Plea

and Defence, then order me to be knock'd on
the Head immediately in the place where I (land,

without any further Trial ; for I muft needs be

deftroyed, if you deny me all the means of my
prefervation.

Judge Jermin. Mr. Lilburne, it were reafon-

able to give you Satisfaction, if you would re-

ceive it. You fay you were prefent at my Lord
of Strafford's Trial, and you fay he had Counfel

affigned him, not only to ftand by him at the

Bar, but to repair to Prifon to inftruct and ad-

vife : but that was not a Trial in fuch a Way as

this is ; it was a Trial by Way of Impeachment

before the Peers affembled in Parliament, and

his Attainder was made up into an Aft of Parlia-

ment ; but that is not a Trial at the Common
Law per Pares, which is that which yourfelf

have defired, a Trial by lawful Men, according

to the liberties of the Laws of England. After

your Anfwer to your firft Qiieftion, that is to

fay, whether you be guilty or not guilty of the

Things whereof you are accufed, no Counfel in

the World can follow, till the Fad be proved,

and Matter of Law do arife thereupon. So that

the
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the firft thing that muft be done, the Matter of

Faci muft be proved againft you ; and then, if it

fhall appear thereupon to the Court, that Matter

of Law doth arife, and you do expect Counfel,

we muft and will perform it; the Court are of

your Counfel fo far a9 to Fact. And then in that

cafe, that Law arife thereupon, you may, and

ought to have other Counfel affigned ; and do not

you doubt but the Court will be as careful of

you, as you can be of yourfelf, and allow you

more Favour, it may be, than your Friends do
expect.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Under your Favour, and

by your good-liking, I was once arraigned at

Oxford for my Life, upon the Matter of Treafon,

for levying War in Oxfordjhire againft the King,

as their Indictment then faid ; and my Arraign-

ment was by virtue of a Commiffion of Oyer and

Terminer, that was (and in Law I am fure of it)

as legal and as juft as yours is : and my Lord

Chief Juftice Heath, the chief Commiffioner or

Prefident, who was in the Eye of the Law as le-

gal a Judge as any of you, and yet he-
Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, we do remember it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you give me
Leave to fpeak for myfelf, and to go on, for my
Life lies upon it.

Ld Keble. Hear me one Word, and you fhall

have two. This that you did fpeak but even now,

do not think that we have fuch bad Memories, as

that we have already forgot it; your Life is by

Law as dear as our Lives, and our Souls are at

ftake if we do you any Wrong.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I wifh you may be fen-

fible of that, Sir.

Judge Jermin. Mr. Lilburne, you need not to

fay fo, our Souls are upon it, and we are to ftand

or fall by Juftice and Righteoufnefs as well as

yourfelf is.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I fay, my Lord Heath,

and the Court at Oxford proffered me Counfel

before any one Witnefs was produced to my
Face, or any Matter of Fact came to the proof;

yea, and gave me liberty to make my Excep-

tions to the Inefficiency of the Indictment, which

was very fhort in comparifon of yours. I crave

the fame privilege from you (the Nation's pre-

tended Friends) that I found at Oxford amongft

its declared pretended Enemies, againft whom in

feveral Battles I had fought. And I hope you

that pretend to be the Prefervators of the Liber-

ties of England, will not be more cruel and un-

righteous than the declared Deftroyers of them.

If you will not allow me Counfel as I had there,

I have no more to fay to you, you may murder
me if you pleafe.

Judge Jermin. You were pleafed to mention

fome precedents of thofe that have been accufed

of High-Treafon, that have had Counfel affigned

to them ; and for one you mention that of my
Lord Strafford, whofe Trial I told you was Par-

liamentary before the Houfe of Peers, upon the

Impeachment of the Commons of England in

Parliament affembled, and fo it went on in a

Parliamentary Way : This proceeding is in an

ordinary courfe of the ordinary quondam Court of

Juftice, according to the Common Law. Now
for my Lord of Strafford, give me leave to ob-

ferve this ; he had no Counfel affigned him until

fuch time as Queftions of the Law did arife,

which required Counfel, and then he had Counfel

affigned him, but not before ; for that my Lord

doth not fay, that you fhall have no Counfel, but
that you fhall have that which the Law allows.

And, as for that which you fpeak of Counfel at

Oxford, it could not be. But when, upon the

proof of Matter of Fact, it appears to the Court

that there is any Queftion or Matter of Law a-

rifing upon the Fact ; and when it doth fo ap-

pear unto us, then you fhall have Counfel for

chat. But ( I befeech you) hear me on : You
are now come before us, according to the Com-
mon Law, to be tried by your Country ; there is

now nothing in queftion, but whether that Mat-
ter, that Thing, thofe Words contained in the

Indictment read to you, be true, yea or no ; that

is, whether they be done or no : For we will not

give Counfel to plead to the Matter of Fact con-

tained in your own Books, which you remember
very well.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Thofe Books fuppofed

mine : pray let me have fair play, and not be
wound and fcrew'd up into Hazards and Snares.

Ld Keble. If they be not yours upon good
grounds proved before you, you are in no dan-
ger ; and if upon the proofs of the Words and
Deeds done, there do appear Matter of Law,
you muft and fhall have Counfel : ftay till that

be done. In the mean time the Court will take

care that a Jury fhall be returned, of honeft and
fufficient legal Men to judge of the proofs.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. There was arraigned

with me at Oxford Colonel Fivers of Banbury
now alive, and Captain Catesby who is dead : I
will bring Colonel Fivers to depofe here upon
his Oath, That my Lord Heath, and the reft of
the Commiffioners of Oyer and Terminer, proffered,

me Counfel, and allowed me and him Counfel
before ever fo much as any Witneffes were pro-
duced, to prove the leaft Matter of Fact. And
if you will not be fo juft towards me as the Ca-
valiers were, and allow me Counfel as they did,

I have no more to fay, but refolve upon this

fcore to ftand, and here to die upon the prin-

ciples of an Englijhman. If you will not be fo

juft as the Cavaliers were, with whom you and
the Parliament fet us together by the ears to fight

with, pretendedly for their Injuftice, let God
and ail righteous Men judge betwixt you and
me.

Judge Nichols. If you will not be led by the

proceedings of Law, it will be worfc for you ;

and you are to know this is not Oxford.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, by what better Rules

of the Law can I be led by, than thofe that I

have before my Eyes ? I am fure, at Oxford, as

my Right by Law, I was, before any Fact was
proved, proffered Counfel by my Judges, which
were my Lord Heath, and Mr. Gardiner, now
Sir Thomas Gardiner, who is now in London : if

you pleafe, I will produce him to this Bar, to

juftify it upon his Oath, That the Lord Chief

Juftice Heath in his prefence proffered me Coun-
fel upon my Arraignment for Treafon there, as

my Right by the privileges of the Laws of Eng-
land, before the Fact came to be proved ; yea,

and alfo give me liberty to affign the Errors of

my Indictment. He is now in London, and I

will produce him here at this Bar ( if you pleafe)

to juftify what 1 fay, if you will give me Time»
and enable me with Ability to fummon him in.

Judge Nichols. Mr. Lilburne, whether Mr.Gar-
diner will juftify it or no, it is nothing to us j

for we are not to walk by Oxford precedents, but

by
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by the Rules of the Law : and the Law will af-

ford you no Counfel, but in Points of Law a-

rifing upon Proof of the Fact (a).

L. Col. Lilb. Under favour thus : I conceive

the Precedents at Oxford, fo far as they are righ-

teous, are fit for your Imitation ; and whether it

be a righteous thing for you, when I am tried for

Treafon before you, to be more cruel towards

me, who have fought for you, than the Cavaliers

at Oxford in the like cafe were, againft whom I

fought : And I muft tell you, I further conceived

it the molt Unequal and unjuft thing in the

World for me to have to do, upon the Trial of

rriy Life, with all the Judges of the Land (who

are all engaged Men) that have had above fix

Months time to beat their Brains together, with

the Affiftance of divers of my Adverfaries, who
are Parliament-Men, that were the Creators of

their Power, and for one of them to be my Pro-

fecutor •, and in this fo extraordinary cafe, for

me to be denied to confult with Counfel ; I tell

you, Sir, it is moft unjuft, and the mod unrigh-

teous thing, in my Apprehenfion, that I ever heard

of, or faw in all my Life. O Lord ! was there

ever fuch a Pack of unjuft and unrighteous Judges

in the World ? Sir, in plain Englifh, let me
tell you, if I had thought you would have bound

me up to a fingle Plea, and not have given me
in my Plea the juft Latitude of Law, Equi-

ty, and Reafon, but hold me thus clofe to your

fingle Formalities, contrary to your Promifes, I

would rather have died in this very Court before

I would have pleaded one Word unto you ; for

now you go about, by my own Ignorance and

Folly, to make myfelf guilty of taking away
my own Life; and therefore unlefs you will per-

mit me Counfel, upon this Lock I am refolved to

die.

Ld Keble. This is not the rational way you faid

you would go in.

L. Col. Lilb. Sir, my Life is before you, you

may murder me, and take away my Blood, if

you pleafe.

Ld Keble. I will not be out-voiced by you, our

Lives and our Souls are upon it, therefore you

fhall have Equity and Juftice ; yea, fuch as you

defire your felf : but you are now going to fly

into Extravagancies and Heats, which will mani-

feft the Rancour of the Diftemper'dnefs and Inve-

nom'dnefs of Spirit which is within you. And
befides, if we fhould enter into it, we might

aggravate your Crimes by your own Words
at the Bar. Take heed of it, that you give

not advantage againft your felf to your own
Ruin.

L. Col. Lilb. Sir, I am in no Heats, I am but

with Earneftnefs pleading for my life, when you
deny me all the juft Means of my Prefervation,

which is my Right and Due by your own Law.
Judge Thorp. Mr. Lilburne, I defire to correct

a Miftake of yours in the Law : You were plea-

fed to condemn it as unjuft, for the Attorney-

General's fpeaking with me when your Indict-

ment was a reading ; you are to know, he is the

Profecutor for the State here againft you, and he

muft confer with us upon feveral Occafions, and
we with him, and this is Law.

L. Col. Lilb. Not upon the Bench, Sir, by
your favour, unlefs it be openly, audibly and a-

vowedly, and not in any clandeftine and whifpering

way : And by your favour, for all you are a Judge,,

this is Law, or elfe Sir Edward Coke, in his (b) 3d
Part Inft. cap. High Treafon, or Petty-Treafon*

hath publifhed Falfhoods, and the Parliament hath

licenfed them ; for their Stamp in a fpecial man-
ner is to that Book.

Judge Thorp. Sir Edward Coke is Law, and he
fays, The Attorney -General, or any other Profe-

cutor may fpeak with us in open Court, to inform
us about the Bufinefs before us in open Court.

L. Col. Lilb. Not in hugger-mugger, private-

ly or whifperingly.

Judge Thorp. I tell you, Sir, the Attorney-

General may talk with any in the Court, by Law*
as he did with me.

L. Col. Lilb. I tell you, Sir, it is unjuft, and
not warrantable by Law, for him to talk with the

Court, or any of the Judges thereof, in my ab-
fence, or in hugger-mugger, or by private Whif-
perings.

Ld Keble. No, Sir, it is no hugger-mugger
for hirh to do as he did ; fpare your Words, and
burft not out into Paffion ; for thereby you will

declare yourfelf to be within the compafs of
your Indictment, without any further

1

proof;
Look to it, that you behave yourfelf accord-,

ing to the Bounds of Reafon and Law, and
hear me ; for we muft caufe the Jury to be re-

turned.

L. Col. Lilb. Sir, under favour, I crave but
one Word more, hear me out. I know very
Well, and I read it in your own Law-Books, fuch

a Prerogative as that in cafes of Treafon no
Counfel fhall plead againft the King, hath been
fometime challenged to be the King's Right by
Law ; but, let me tell vou, it was an ufurped
Prerogative of the late King, with all other ar-

bitrary Prerogatives and unjuft Tjfurpations upon
the People's Rights and Freedoms, which has

been pretended to be taken away with him. And,
Sir* can it be juft to allow me Counfel to help

me to plead for my Eftate, the lefTer : and to

deny me the Help of Counfel to enable me to

plead for my Life, the greater? Nay, Sir, can it

be juft in you Judges, to take up , feven Years
time in ending iome Suits of Law for a little

Money or Land, and deny me a few Days to

confider what to plead for my Life ? Sir, all

thefe Pretences of yours, were but all the Prero-

gatives of the King^s Will, to deftroy the

poor ignorant and harmlefs People by, which
undoubtedly died with him ; or elfe only the

Name or Title is gone with him, but not the

Power or hurtful Tyranny or Prerogative in the

leaft. Therefote feeing all fuch pretended and
hurtful Prerogatives are pretended to be taken

away with the King, by thofe that took away
his Life, I earneftly defire I may be affigned

Counfel to confult with, knowing now efpecially

no pretence why I fhould be denied that Benefit:

and privilege of the Law, of the juft and equi-

table Law of England, having put my felf up-
on a Trial according to the privileges thereof,

And it was declared to me at Oxford, upon the

[a) What a lying Judge is this Mr. Nichols ! wbenas he himfelf with Mr. John Maynard the Lawver, was ajjignld by the
Prejident, Lord ChiefBaron Wilde, to he of the Counfel ivith Major Rolfe upon his Defire ; and that before ever the Grand Jury
found his Indiclment of Treafon, as is fully declared in the next Day's following Plea of Mr. Lilburne.

(b) Whofe Words there, fol. 29, 30. are fo plain and exprefs to prove what Mr. Lilburne faid to be good Law, as nothing
in the World can be plainer. See alfo to the fame turpofe, the fecond Part Inflit. fol. 49, 103, 104.
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Trial of my Life there, after I was taken Prifon-

er fighting againft the King and his Party, even

almoft to Handy-gripes, and to the Sword-point,

and to the But-end of our Muskets, being in

Perfon one of that little Number that for many
Hours together at Brentford fought with the

King's whole Army, where in the manner, with-

out any Articles or compofition, I was taken a

Prifoner, and immediately thereupon arraigned

at Oxford ; where, notwithstanding all this, it

was declared to me by Judge Heath to be my
Right, by the Law of England, to have coun-

fel affigned me to help me in point of Law, and

I had it granted. I confefs he is my beft Au-

thority that I have, and I am fure he was a

Judge of the Law, or elfe I had never pleaded

to him ; and he was upon his Oath to do Juftice

and Right ; and he was an able and underftanding

Lawyer, and yet did allow me (an hoftile Ene-

my) counfel to help me, as my Right by Law,
before ever any Proof to matter of Fact was pro-

duced : And I beg but the fame legal Privilege

from you, from whom I have more caufe to ex-

pect it.

Ld Kcble. Were you there indicted for Treafbn ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Yes that I was, and for

the higheft of Treafons, by the letter of the Law,
for actual levying War againft the King.

Judge thorp. And yet, for all that, you know
it, was no Treafon, and fo did he too ; for you

know that you had committed no Treafon at all

in obeying the Parliament's Command : for what

you have done, was done by the Parliament's fpe-

cial Authority and Command : and you had your

Commiffion to juftify you in your hoftileActions:

and he knew it well enough your Act was no

Treafon, though he did offer you counfel, or elfe

he durft not allow you counfel.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I had nothing to juftify

me in that Act, but the equitable Senfe of the

Law, the letter of it being point-blank againft

me, and on the Cavaliers Side, by which if they

had prevailed, they might have hang'd both you

and me for levying War againft the King, not-

withstanding our Parliament - commiffions : and

this I know, Sir, you know to be Law in the

letter or punctilio's of it.

Judge Thorp. It was no Treafon in you, and

he that affigned you counfel, knew it was no

Treafon ; and this Arraignment of you was as

illegal as his affigning you counfel.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, by your Favour he

was a Judge of the Law by legal Authority, be-

ing made by the King, in whom, by Law, that

Power was invefted ; and he looked upon him-

felf as a legal Judge, and fo did I too : and as

a legal Judge he arraigned me for doing that

Act, that by the exprcfs letter of the Law was
Treafon ; and as a legal and honeft Judge, ac-

cording to his Duty in Law, he allowed me
counfel.

Judge Jermin. For that matter that you talk

of, they knew it was no Treafon, and therefore

gave you more Privileges than was their Right

by Law, very well knowing, that whatfoever

was done to any of you that did fight for the

Laws, Religion and Liberties of their Country,

there might be the like done to others that were

Prifoners in the Parliament's Power : and this

was the Truth of it, and you know it very well

;

and therefore it is nothing to us, nor in Law his

Willingnefs.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Upon my letters, after

the firft day of my Trial, that Declaration of
Lex Talionis was made, as clearly appears by the
Words and Date of it now in Print, which the

Reader may perufe in the firft part of the Parlia-

ment's Declarations, p. 802, 803.

Judge Thorp. I wouder they did not proceed in

the profecution of the Indictment, and find you
guilty of Treafon, and fo to Execution.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Under your Favour, thus

;

I appeared at the Bar, I pleaded to my Indictment;

Not Guilty, I made Exceptions againft my In-
dictment ; and myfelf, and the two other Gen*
tlemen arraigned with me, had counfel affigned

us as our Right by Law : and the Judges moft
fairly and rationally further told us, Becaufe we.

will not furprize you, we will give you aWeek's
time to confider (with what counfel you pleafe

in Oxford to chufe to come to you ) what to

plead for your Lives ;_ and whatfoever other Pri-

vileges you can claim by the Liberties of the

Law of England, you fhall enjoy them to the

utmoft. Upon which Promife I fpoke in open
court to the Judge, fhewing him the Irons up-
on my Hands, in which I was arraigned, and
told him ; My Lord, by the Laws of England,
no Prifoner for any crime whatfoever, that be-
haves himfelf civilly and peaceably in his Impri-
fonment, ought to be put in Irons, or to any
other Pain or Torment before he be legally con-
victed ; and therefore I defire, as my Right by
Law, that my Irons may be taken off. And I

faid further, My Lord, I am fhut up a clofe Pri-

foner in my chamber, denied the ufe of Pen,
Ink and Paper, which is contrary unto Law,
efpecially in the Time of my Trial. Why, fays

he, you fhall be releafed from your Irons, from
your clofe Imprifonment, and have the ufe of
Pen, Ink and Paper : And Capt. Lilburne, I tell

you, you fhall enjoy whatfoever other Privilege

you can challenge as your Right by Law ; for

the Law of England is a Law of Mercy, and I

hope we fhall appear juftjudges of it : And there-

fore you fhall freely have either Lawyer, or whom
you will in Oxford, to come unto you to help

you and advife you. And, fays he, becaufe you
fhall fee that Law and Juftice is of the King's
fide againft the Parliament, and becaufe they

fhall have no caufe to calumniate us at Weft-,

minfter, and to fay we are unrighteous and un-~

juft Judges, that furprize you, and thereby go
about to murder you, the Court is freely willing

to give you a Week's Time, to confider with

your Counfel in the mean time what this Day
Sevennight to plead for your Life. In which
time, being freed of my Irons, and of my clofe

Imprifonment, and enjoying Pen, Ink, and Pa-
per at my Pleafure, by fpecial Order from the

other two Gentlemen, I writ a letter to my
Wife, and in it inclofed another to your

Speaker, and another to young Sir Henry
Vane, then my familiar Acquaintance ; all which

I fent in Poft-hafte away to my Wife by the

Hands of Capt. Primrofe's Wife, which Capt.

Primrofe was Prifoner there ; and his Wife, who
brought up the letter to my Wife, is now in

London. Which letter my Wife delivered to

the Speaker, &c. and by her importunate Solli-

citation procured the Declaration of Lex Talio-

the Subftance of which, in a letter fromms
Mr. Speaker, my Wife brought down to Ox-

fordt and delivered to the Lord Heath's own
Hands
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Hands upon the Sunday after the firft Day of

our Arraignment. And the third Day before we

were to appear again, my Wife arrived at Ox-

ford with the Speaker's Letter, which fhe deli-

vered to Judge Heath himfelf: Which Letter

taking notice of our Trial, threaten'd them with

Lex Talionis, to do the like to their Prifoners

that they did to us, or any of us. And they

having many of their great eminent Men Prifo-

ners in the Tower, and in Warwick- CdSftz, aad

other Places, did induce them to flop all further

Profecution of Colonel Fivers, Captain Catesby,

and my felf. And if it had not been for this

threatning Letter, in all likelihood we had all

three been condemned by a Commiffion of Oyer

and Terminer, and executed : For my Wife did

hear Judge Heath fay to fome of his Afibciates,

at the reading of the Letter, That as for all the

threatning part of it, as to his particular felf, I

value it not; but faid he, we muft be tender

of the Lives of the Lords and Gentlemen that

ferve the King, and are in the Cuftody of thofe

at Wejiminfter. And that Claufe of Lex Talionis

put a flop to our Proceedings, and further Trials

at Law.
Ld Keble. It was well for you, by your Story

that you do tell, that you had fo fair Play : You

fhall have with us, who are upon our Lives and

Oaths, as much as the Law will afford you, and

fo much as our Judgments and Confciences can

lead us to, without doing Injuftice and granting

more than the Laws of England will afford.

What was done there, is nothing to us here;

for we are not to walk by their Precedent, but
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foner arraigned at the Baf; and fo we ought,

and fhall permit you other Counfel, if Matter of
Law, upon the Proof of the Fact, do arife : But
for any other Counfel, to be affigned you before

that appear, is not by Law warranted : We fhall

tread the Rules of Juflice. And we fhall do
Wrong to the whole Commonwealth, if we
fhould allow you Counfel before Matter of Law
doth arife from the Proof of the Fad ; and to
allow Counfel in any other Cafe, the Court com-
mits Injuftice.

Ld Keble. And this, Mr. Lilburne, I will pro-
mife you, that when there comes Matter in Law,
let it be a Lawyer, or your felf, he fhall fpeak in

your behalf; but before he cannot.

Lieu. Col. Lilburne. Sir, the whole Indict-

ment, under favour, is 'Matter of Law; and the

great Queftion that will arife (admit the Fact
fhould be true, and admit it fhould be granted)

is, Whether the Words be Treafon in Law, yea
or no ? And alfo it is Matter of Law in the In-

dictment, whether the Matter in the Indictment
be rightly alledged as to Matter, Time, and
Place. And it is Matter of Law in the Indict-

ment, where there are divers feveral pretended

Treafons committed in divers and feveral Coun-
ties, put into one and the fame Indictment, be
legal, yea or no ?

Ld Keble. Upon Proof of the Matter of Fact,

you fhall hear and know whether Matter of
Law will arife; and till the Words be proved,
we cannot fay whether that be the Law that you
fuppofe.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Truly, Sir, you promifed

by our own Judgments, according to the Rules me a fair Trial, and that you would not take ad
_ r . l_ _ T _ .,. A «^1 lioca 'dp i-knp for in it Tnrsr rm nfi n*£»e r\r mt? Tn-nAf^n^o In t-Ue* T «.»»'« T? *-.-»-> -1

of the Law. And here 'tis thus far juft, That

upon the Proof of Matter of Fact, if Law do

arife, you are to have Counfel; if not, you are

to have none. By your Allegation, you fay you

had Counfel affigned you before any Matter of Fact

came to be proved, when as a Judge of the Law
he could not but do it ; but if he did, it is no-

thing to us, we cannot do it. Yet we have in

this Place proceeded legally hitherto with you;

and when that Matter of Law doth arife from the

Fact, as you had Counfel there affigned you, fo

fhall you have here ; and you fhall have fair

Dealing, and fair Play, according to Law, which

is abfolutely as I tell you.

Lieut: Col. Lilburne. Sir, by your favour, I

crave but one Word more; and that is this:

Here is a Gentleman that is a By-ftander, a Friend

of mine, and my Sollicitor, who by Law, as

well as any By-ftander, may (a) fpeak for the

Prifoner at the Bar, in cafe he perceive Things

urged againft him contrary to Law ; and there-

fore I defire he may fpeak two or three Words.

[Mr. Sprat beginning to fpeak.]

Ld Keble. Spare your felf; when your Time
comes, you fhall fpeak.

Mr. Sprat. He asked leave for me firft. And,

Sir, it is eafy to prove the whole Indictment to

be matter of Law.
Judge Jermin. What impudent Fellow is that,

that dare be fo bold as to fpeak in the Court

without being called ? Mr. Lilburne, by your own
Words you fay you were told at Oxford, That

by Law you were to have Counfel ; that is as

true, that the Court is of Counfel for the Pri-

vantages of my Ignorance in the Law's F rma-
lities: But the Lord deliver me, and all true-

hearted Englijhmen, from fuch unjuft and un-
righteous Proceedings as I find at your Hands,
who go about, I now clearly fee, by my Igno-
rance, in holding me to a fingle and naked Plea,

which is purely as bad, if not worfe, than all

the Prerogatives ; and for the worft and groffeft

of his Prerogatives, in a more rigorous manner
than they were ufed in his Lite-time, to be thus

prefs'd upon me at this Day, after he hath loft

his Life for pretended Tyranny and Injuftice,

Liberty and Freedom in publick Declarations

declared to the Kingdom : I fay, if there be Juf-
tice and Equity in -this, I have loft my Under-
ftanding; and the good Lord God of Heaven
deliver me from all fuch Jufticiaries.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you have been ar-

raigned before us for High Treafon, and we
bid you forbear thofe Terms of yours long ago

;

fpeak that you do rationally, and you fhall have

fair and chriftian Anfwers and Replies, as ever

any Man had at a Bar ; and go on, you fhall

have it ftill, if you will be fair and rational, and
not break out into Extravagancies and Bitternefs

of Spirit.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. For my part, Sir, I muft
look upon my felf as a loft and dead Man if I

have not Counfel to help my Ignorance, to pitch

upon thofe Things that tend to my Prefervation.

And therefore if you will not affign me Counfel

to advife and confult with, I am refolved to go
no further, tho I die for it; and my innocent

Blood be upon your Heads.

(a) Coke, in bis Inftit. 3. par. cap. Petty-Treafon, fol. 29. is exprefs in this Particular: So he is in cap. 63. being his Cap.

Of Counfel learned in Pleas of the Crown, fol, 137.

Vol. II, F 2 Juftice
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Juftice Jermin. You have alledged part of the

Law of England for your own Advantage; but

every one that fays fo, does not prove it to be

fo. You have faid you will be tried by the Laws
of England; and yet againft the Laws of England

you have utterly refufed, in that you would not

hold up your Hand, which I do not know any

Englijhman that ever refufed fo to do, but your

felf. You have been told by the Court what the

Law of England is ; and yet you will not be fa-

tisfied. We are upon our Oaths, and therefore

will difcharge our Confciences, and that in a

more eminent manner than my Brother Heath did,

altho we do not deny you Liberty to fpeak for

your felf. But now you would have Counfel

affigned before any Matter of Law doth appear

upon the Proof of the Fact, which
* Sc. Whit. we cannot do j for it were to do In-
mem ' 433 ' juftice, * and to do againft the Law,
which the Court cannot juftify.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, under favour, whe-

ther or no I have tranfgrefs'd the Law, I will not

judge: But I am fure the Law, in the Equity

and Intention of it, would have all Trials to be

equal, and not prejudicial. My Profecutors have

had time enough to confult with Counfel of all

forts and kinds to deftroy me, yea, and with

your felves ; and I have not had any time at all,

not knowing in the lead what you would charge

upon me, and therefore could provide no De-

fence for that which I knew not what it would

be. And if by the Law of England I cannot have

Counfel, then upon your own Grant, which is,

Thar, the Laws of God are the Laws of England,

I defire to have the Privilege of the Law of God,

which you your felf faid is the Law of England;

and I am fure the Law of God is, That you

fhould do as you would be done to. Now it can-

not be according to the Law of God, for my
Adverfaries to have the Helps of all manner of

Counfels, by Snares, Tricks, and Provocations,

to take away my Life, and for me to be denied

the Benefit to confult with any to preferve my
innocent Life againft potent Malice.

Ld Keble. You fay well : The Law of God is

the Law of England ; and you have heard no Law
elfe but what is confonant to the Law of Rea-

fon, which is the beft Law of God ; and here

is none elfe urged againft you.

Another Judge. The Laws of God, the Laws
of Reafon, and the Laws of the Land, are all

joined in the Laws that you iliall be tried by.

Juftice Jermin. The Qyeftion is but this, Whe-
ther the Law of God, and the Law of Reafon, and

Law of Man, may be confonant to each other ?

And whether the Court or John Lilburne fhall

be Judges thereof? That is the Queftion.

Ld Keble. And that which you faid, Mr. At-
torney hath had fo much Time againft you, and
Opportunity to confult with all manner of
(Counfel to deftroy you, your fecret Actions,

though they are now come to publick View,
are fo heinous, as that they do require time to

put them into the moft fure way of Trial ; we
have proved the Clandeftinenefs of them : You
did this in fecret ; now it is come to the Face of

the World. Now this being Matter of Fact, no

Matter of Law can appear till Proof pafs upon
it. You have had Times to complot your trea-

fonable venomous Books, which fhall be proved

upon you ; and till this be done, there is no
Matter of Law to be looked at. This is the

Law of God : When a Man hath done fuch trea-

fonable Things, he fhall anfwer directly and
pofitively whether he be guilty of them or no

;

and if he anfwer Not guilty, and they be not

fully proved againft him, there needs no more
to be faid.

Juftice 'Thorp. Mr. Lilburne there fell fome
Words from you even now, wherein you think

you have this Hardfhip put upon you, when you
fay the Judges and your Profecutors have had fix

Months time to meet together, and confult to-

gether how to deftroy you. Firft, I would not

have you to believe, nor the reft that hear it,

that that is true that you fay •, for I fpeak it for

my own particular, that I never faw your In-

dictment till this time that I came here , and yet

you fay we have had fix Months together to frame

it. Thefe are your Words : This was not right-

ly done of you ; for it is not true. I fpeak in my
own particular.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I am fure the Subftance

of it you might fee many Months ago; and
though all you Judges have not at one time met
about it, yet the greateft part of you have, that

commonly carry the Domination of the whole

;

and at Serjeants-Inn, with Mr. Attorney- General,

the moft of the Judges of England have had feve-

ral Meetings, fix, five, and four Months ago : for

I have had Friends there that have feen it, and
who have inquired into the Caufe of fuch folemn

Meetings, and your own Servants have told them
it hath been about me and my Trial.

Juftice Thorp. I fpeak as for my own particu-

lar, that I never was there, and that I never faw
your Indictment till this time.

Juftice Jermin. Why, Mr. Lilburne, might we
not have fuch Meetings as thofe, your Bufinefs

being a Matter of this Importance, as this is,

through the Heinoufnefs of your Offence? and
that it might be fo grounded as the Warrant of
the Law is, the Judges did meet : And they

ought to meet {a) to confider of it, that nothing

fhould be done againft you, or any Man elfe,

contrary to the Law. But yet, for my part, my
Dwelling is out of London^ I heard not of it fo

foon as you fpeak of; but after I came to Town,
I confefs I heard of it, and have been prefent

about fome Debates about it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Only this I fay, If by
your Prerogative you will deftroy me as Nebu-
chadnezzar did endeavour to deftroy Daniel by
his Prerogative, I am as willing to die, as he

was to be thrown into the Lions Den : And if

you will not allow me Counfel, to confult with

what Plea to make for my Life, I have no more
to fay. Sir, it is but a vain Thing to fpend any

more Words.
Ld Keble. Thefe are but Words and Flourifhes,

Sir, that you are fo willing and ready to die, as

you declare you are : But if you be, it is better

for you. And alfo it is well you have not to do.

with Judges that would be auftere upon youj

(a) But Coke, in his Chapter of Petty Treafon, in 3 Par. Inft. fol. 29, exprefly faith, and to the end, That the Trialmay he

the more indifferent, feeing the Safety of the Prifoner conjiftetb in the Indifferency of the Court, the Judges ought not to deliver their

Opinions before-hand of any criminal Cafe that may come before them judicially. And he there cites Humphrey Stratford'* Cafe,
that Jrch-Traytor, in which Huffey, Chief Juftice, befought Henry VII. not to demand of them their Opinions beforehand. And
in 4 Par. Inflit. cap. High Court of Parliament, fol. 27- hefullyJkevjs the Evil of asking Judges Opinions before band.

for
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for you to term us to be Men that come hither

to deftroy you as Nebuchadnezzar went about to

do Daniel : You may judge of what is within

you ; but of us, what is within us, you cannot

judge. You fhall have Juftice here in the Face

of the Country, and of all that hear us : Thefe

fhall be Judges of our Proceedings towards you.

Take heed, Mr. Lilburne, this Language is but

the Sparks of that venomous Heat that is within

you; and they may burft out to prove you guilty

before us, and in our prefcnce, of that you are

charged with, without any further Proof or Pro-

ceedings •, for you may do it, you may do it where

you ftand: And therefore be advifed, and take

heed what you fay.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I have caff, up my
Account, and I know what it can coft me: I

blefs God I have learned to die, having always

carried my Life in my Hand, ready to lay it down
for above this twelve Years together, having lived

in the Favour and Bofom of God •, and I blefs

his Name, I can as freely die as live.

Ld Keble. You fhall not now lay it down, if

you do not deftroy nor caft away the Common-
wealth ; but if you go about to deftroy the Com-
monwealth, the Commonwealth will fpue you up,

and deftroy you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I defire nothing but Coun-

fel, and a little Time to confult with them, and

to produce my Witneffes, and a Copy of my In-

dictment: If not, I am willing to die as the Ob-
ject of your Indignation and Malice, do your Will

and Pleafure.

Ld. Keble. We are willing to die too.

Mr. Attorney. What is agreeable to the Law
of England, the conftant fettled Practice of trying

Prifoners, will not be denied Mr. Lilburne : But

as for that Privilege that was granted him at Ox-

ford, is no Tie in Law to us ; neither was it

ever heard of in England that any, that did un-

derftand the Law, did ever, as Mr. Lilburne now
defires, allow Counfel to a Prifoner for fuch an

Act as this is, or had the Copy of the Indict-*

ment. It fhall not be denied Mr. Lilburne, which

is his Right by Law, in its due Place ; but to

make new Precedents and new Laws, which, my
Lord, when done by fuch a Bench as this is,

moft of the Judges in England being prefent,

runs to all criminal Cafes whatfoever, whether

in Treafon, Murder, or other Felonies: It is

true Mr. Lilburne is now only concerned in it

;

but if granted to him, it would be a Precedent to

all future Times •, by means of which there

would never be an end of Trials in criminal

Cafes. And it is a wonderful ftrange Thing to

me, that when the Prifoner hath pleaded the ufual

way, you proceed not immediately to Trial. It

is true Mr. Lilburne hath pleaded his own Igno-

rance, and therefore defires longer Time: But,

my Lord, to make a Precedent of this Nature,
that never was known by the Laws of England,
is very dangerous, very perilous. My Lord, the

Thing that I prefs is not in relation to Time, but
in relation to the publick Juftice ; for the fame
Reafon it is granted him, it ought not to be de-

nied to any Man that asketh it neither for Trea-
fon or Felony. And of wha,t evil Confequences
it would be, I leave your Lordfhip and the Court
to judge.

My Lords, I do humbly defire that Mr. Lil-

burne may be dealt with all legal, juft, and fair

Proceedings from the Court. My Lord, I do
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defire accordingly that Proceedings may for the

Commonwealth be fo too ; and that Mr. Lilburne

may be without Delay, according to Law, pro-

ceeded againft for his notorious Treafons.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, with your favour, I

fhall crave but one Word : This Gentleman de-

clares unto you what an evil Precedent it would
be to give me a little Time to confult with

Counfel, to frame a Plea for my Life •, and yet

that Judge was pleafed to fay the Law of Eng-
land is founded upon the Law of God, and the

Laws of Reafon unfpotted, uncorrupted, or un-
defiled. I am fure the Law of God, and the

Law of uncorrupted Reafon, is to do as you
would be done to, and not to lay Snares for your
Neighbour's Life: I am fure the Law of God
would have all Trials indifferent, and no Man's
Life furprized or taken away by Niceties or

Formalities, tho' never fo notorioufly accufed.

And, Sir, for Mr. Prideaux, and others of you,
fo often to call me notorious Traitor, as you do ;

I tell you, Sir, you reproach me: For though I

am never fo notorioufly accufed, yet in the Eye
of the Law of England I am an innocent Man,
yea, as innocent as any of thofe who call me
Traitor, till fuch Time as I be legally convicted

of the Fact or Crime laid unto my Charge > and"

therefore, Sir, I befeech you, ceafe your calum-
niating of me, for you thereby deal not fairly

nor legally with me. And, Sir, I confidently

hope I fhall appear in the Eye of the Law, in

the Eyes of you, and in the Eyes of all Men
that hear me this Day, an innocent, a juft, and a

true Englijhman, that really loves the Welfare of
his native Country, if I may have fair Play, and
the Scope of the Law. And therefore, Sir, ble-

mifh me not in the Ears of the Auditors, till the

Law, and a Conviction by it, do blemifh me : for

I tell you 1 am in the Eye of the Law as inno-

cent as any of yourfelves, till I be juftly convict-

ed. And therefore I pray ceafe the calling of me
Traitor in this manner.

Ld Keble. What need we any more, when we
are of your Opinion? We wifh you may come
as clearly off as you fay you hope to do.

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, and that it may be

fo declared, and that the World may know whe-
ther Mr. Lilburne be an innocent Man, or no,

I pray put it to the final iffue, and let the Law
judge.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Under favour, for me
to be denied Law, which I conceive is done unto

me when I am denied Counfd, and to put the

Niceties and Formalities of the Law upon me,
the Signification of which are writ in fuch Lan-
guage and Tongues as I cannot read, much lefs

underftand ; and would you deftroy me for the

not knowing of that which it is impoffible for

me to know ? Sir, I befeech you be not fo ex-

treme towards me. That Gentleman faith the

Law of God is the Law of England; and in

would have no Snares laid to take away a Man's

Life: I pray let me have the Benefit of that.

Mr. Attorney. Once you had ; and it is but

juft you fhould ; and I am fure it will be granted

unto you.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you fay well ; the

Prifoner doth not know the Law ; you do not,

and many others do not: But I tell you again,

you know fo much of the Law as is iuitable to

this Plea; you yourfelf know whether your

Confcience accufe you guilty of the Fact laid

unto
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unto your Charge, or not. For our parts, we

fay no more than one and twenty Men upon their

Oaths have informed us, upon fufficient Tefti-

mo.ny of Witneffes, that what they had faid we

fhould further inform ourfelves of, before your

Life be taken away ; yea, fuch is the Law of

England, the tendered Law in the World of a

Man's Life. I fay again, that no fuch Trial for

Life is to be found in the World, as in England.

In any Place but in England, a Man's Life may
be taken away upon two or three Witneffes; but

in England two or three Witneffes do not do it:

For there are two Juries befides, and you have

four and twenty Men returned ; you have one

and twenty Men upon their Oaths and Confci-

ences that have found you guilty : And yet when

you have done that, it is not enough by the Law
of England, but you are alfo to have twelve ra-

tional underftanding Men of your Neighbours to

hear all over again, and to pafs upon your Life.

This is not ufed in any Law in the World but

in England, which hath the righteoufeft and mer-

cifullefl Law in the World : And this we fit here

to maintain, and let all the World know it, that

according to the Rules thereof we have proceeded

againfl you.

Judge Michel. Mr. Lilburne, you were fpeak-

ing of the Laws being in other Tongues •, thofe

that we try you by are in Englijh, and we pro-

ceed in Englijh againfl you ; and therefore you

have no caufe to complain of that.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your Speeches you
feem to bind me up to a fingle Plea : Truly I

conceive that is not equitable by the Law of God,

and the Laws of Reafon. No Man's Life is to

be deflroyed by Niceties and Formalities; yet

contrary to your folemn Promifes, you take all

Advantage againfl me by them, and make my
Ignorance in the ticklifh Formalities of the Law
to be the Means of my own Deflruclion : altho'

before I pleaded you engaged unto me you would

take no Advantage by my Ignorance in your For-

malities, and my Miflakes in them mould be no

Difadvantage unto me ; and yet now I have plead-

ed, you feem to hold me clofe to a fingle Plea.

Truly, Sir, I think that is not jufl nor fair fo

to break your Promifes, and by fair Words to

fmooth me on into Nets and Snares, and to make
ufe of my Willingnefs to be tried by the Law
of England to drill me on to my own Deflrucli-

on. Truly, Sir, had I ever thought or believed

1 fhould have been denied Counfel, I would have

died before ever I would in any Manner have

pleaded to your Charge, or have yielded to your

fmooth Infinuations.

Juflice Jermin. Thofe Men that know the

Laws of England, know well that it taketh away
no Man's Life but upon clean Proof, and upon
manifefl Contempts of the Law. The Law is,

Whofoever fhall go fuch a way in a Court as

evidently gives affront to the Law, that fuch

one takes away his own Life. The Facts that

you are charged with, if they had taken effect,

would have taken away the innocent Lives of
many : Therefore you are now before us charged

with the Fact ; and every Man's Confcience

knows whether he committed the Thing charged

upon him or no; and your felf does know
whether you be guilty of that you are accufed

of, or no. But the Court mufl not fpend any
further time ; for Mr. Attorney-General hath
returned the Writ of Venire facias> for the call-

ing or fummoning of a Jury of Life and
Death.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you fay you well
underfland your felf : You knew of your com-
ing, and you knew of the Fact that you have
committed.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Truly, Sir, fix Months
ago I heard much of my Trial ; and I longed
for it, but could not have it, but was flill kept
in Prifon, and abundance of Provocations put
upon me, to make me cry out of my Oppref-
fions ; and then to hang me therefore, by a Law
made after my pretended Crime was committed,
is not jufl. And truly, Sir, I heard but by un-
certain common Fame of my Trial now. Some
Parliament Men told my Wife and Friends that

my chiefefl Crime was correfponding with the
Prince ; and to defend my felf againfl that, I
fitted my felf, never dreaming that only Books
fhould be laid to my Charge, and therefore I
could not as to that come prepared : And there-

fore do humbly defire Counfel, a Copy of my
Indictment, and Time to bring in my Wit-
neffes.

Ld Keble. Hear what is faid to you : For your
Witneffes, you mould have brought them with
you ; we will give you leave to fend for them

:

We will give you time to do, to confider with

yourfelf what to fay for your felf, you fhall,

till to-morrow Seven a-clock.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, fome of my Wit-
neffes live an hundred or eighty Miles off; and
yet I mufl bring them to-morrow Morning: How
is that poffible ? And therefore I defire Time to

bring them in, and alfo Subpcena's ; for fome of
them are Parliament Men, and fome of them
Officers of the Army, and they will not come
in without Compulfion.

Ld Keble. That's the Time we will give you
longer ; you knew of your coming long ago, and
therefore ought to have come provided.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I befeech you give

me a convenient Time, eight or ten Days, that

fo I may get them together; for how could I

be provided before-hand for any thing, but for

that which I was at the firfl imprifoned for, no-
thing of which is now laid to my Charge? Could
I divine upon what you would proceed againfl

me? But, Sir, I have that within me, I blefs

God, that will be a Portion of Comfort with
me, to carry me through all your Malice and
Injuflice.

Ld Keble. Never talk of that which is within

you ; God is in us, as well as in you : Never
make a flourifh of what is in you ; for the Fear
of God is before our Eyes as well as yours, and
what we do, we fhall have comfort in, in that it

is according to the Laws of England, the Rules of
which we are fworn to obferve, and every Man
will do righteous things as well as you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Pray will you give but
eight days Time then ?

Ld Keble. We will give you no more ; you
ought to have brought them with you, you knew
of it long ago ; and the Court cannot, nor will

not wait upon you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your Favour, Sir,

thus ; then let me have a little time to confult

with Counfel.

Ld Keble. I tell you that if the Matter be pro-

ved, there needs no Counfel.

Lieut.
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Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I fliall not much in-

fill upon that, but the Queftion is, Whether the

Matter be Treafon in Law or no, and whether

in Law it be rightly expreffed in the Indictment,

as to time and place, with other circumftances

thereunto belonging? And I queftion the legality

of the Indictment, and that ought in Law to be

difputed, before the Matter of Fad come to be

fpoken to.

Ld Keble. Sir, you faid at firft, you would

fpeak as a rational and moderate Man, and yet

you will not be anfwered. If Matter of Law
do arife out of your Fact, that we have told you

again and again, you mail have Counfel and

Time.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, by your Favour, it

may be too late to defire Counfel after the Fact

is proved. And befides, having legal Exceptions

againft the Indictment, why mould you run me
upon the Hazard of my Life, by ticklifh Nice-

ties and Formalities ; and as my Profecutor Mr.

Prideaux faith [But being interrupted,

crfd out'] Sir, I befeech you, do but hear

me.
Ld Keble. Your Diftemper will break out

,

your Heart is fo full of boiling Malice and Ve-

nom, you cannot contain yourfelf.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Mr. Prideaux is pleafed to

urge, that the granting of me my Defire in refe-

rence to Counfel, will be fo inconvenient a pre-

cedent, as will deftroy the Commonwealth: there-

fore to avoid the danger of fuch a deftroying pre-

cedent, as he is pleafed to call it, I defire to have

fome time affigned to me to get my Witneffes to-

gether, and then I mail, I doubt not, but con-

vincingly ihew you the Hazard and deftroying

Mifchief of that defperate precedent in denying

Men liberty to confult with Counfel, when they

are upon Trials for their lives. For my own
judgment, my own confcience doth tell me, that

it is my undoubted Right by the Law of England,

by the Law of God, and the Law of Reafon ;

and if it be totally denied me, I can but die :

and upon that fcore, by the affiftance of God, I

am refolved to die.

Ld Keble. You fpeak greatWords of your own
Judgment, your own Confcience, your own Zeal,

and the like : and I tell you, our Confciences,

and our Religion, and our Zeal, and our Righ-
teoufnefs, I hope mail appear as much as yours :

You would make yourfelf Judge in your own
Caufe, which you are not, and fo make Cyphers

of us v but all your high Words of Confcience

and Righteoufnefs is but a Flourifh, to make the

People believe or be apprehenfive as tho' we had
none, you had all : but you mall know, here we
fit with as much Tendernefs. and Integrity as you
ftand there, and to do that uprightly which is ac-

cording to Law and Juftice.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I mail not in the leaft

make any comparifons, neither do I in that par-

ticular •, I only fpeak of my own particular, in

reference unto that God in whom I have believed,

and in whom I enjoy Content, Peace, and Quiet-

nefs of Mind : and yet for my part. I fhall rather

die than willingly go any further, except I have
Counfel firft.

Ld Keble. Well, Mr. Lilburne, the Court is

very tender not to take up any of your time ; you
have heard what was declared to you there, that

Mr. Attorney hath made Procefs againft you re-

turnable To-morrow at feven of the clock, and

therefore to fpend more time will be but your
lofs and damage. The Sheriffs of London are

to take care to return the Jury To-morrow-
Morning, and therefore the Court doth adjour a
till feven a-clock To - morrow in the Morning;
and in the mean time they do commit the Pri-

foner at the Bar to the Lieutenant of the tower
again.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I did not hear you
the firft Words.
Ld Keble. You fhall not be denied to hear it

again, the Court defires to be good Husbands of
Time for you ; we could have fate long enough
to have trifled away your Time that you may
fpend in your Meditations, and take your Friends

Advice ; do not ftand upon and deftroy yourfelf

by Words.

Juft. Jermin. Mr.Lilburne, all that are here are

to take Notice of it, that the Prifoner at the Bar
hath had more Favour already, than ever any
Prifoner in England in the like cafe ever had i

for by the Laws of England, in the Matter of
Treafon, whereof you are indicted, you ought
to have been tried prefently, immediately : But
becaufe all the World fhall know with what
Candor and Juftice the Court do proceed a-

gainft you, you have till To-morrow- Morning %

which is the Court's extraordinary Favour, and
the Doors are wide open, that all the World may
know it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I can ihew one hun-
dred Precedents to the contrary in your own
Books, to difprove what you fay.

Ld Keble. Adjourn the Court.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I humbly thank you for

what Favour I have already received,

The Court adjourned till the next Mornings
and the Prifoner remanded to the Tower.

Guild-Hall, Oct. 26, 1649, being Friday,

At the Trial ofLieut. Col. John Lilburne,

the Second Day.

THE Prifoner being brought to the Bar,

fpake as followeth : Sir, 1 pray hear me a

Word or two.

Ld. Keble. Mr. Lilburne, I am afraid fomething
troubles you ; I will have no-body
ftand there *, let all come out but *, Uat ™as

,

in

t. 1, the Bar, <vihert
°ne]VIan - bhBrotherCoL

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Here's none Rob. Lilburne,

but my Brother and my Sollicitor. his Solicitor

Ld Keble. Sir, your Brother mail ^?^nd

not ftand by you there; I will on- %'
rZnds fiLd.

Jy have one hold your Papers and

Books, and the reft not to trouble you : where-

fore the reft are to come out.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I beg of you but one

Word, tho I do not know any Reafon why of

myfelf I fhould not have the Privilege of the

Law, as well as any Man in England; yet be-

fides what Yefterday I alledged for myfelf, for to

have Counfel affigned, yet To-day give meteave.

to mention an unquestionable precedent for my
purpofe, and that is Major Rolfe, who being an

Officer in the Army, and being lately indicted far-

High -Treafon (before the Lord Chief Baron

Wilde, that now is at Hampjhire Affizes) for con-

fpiring to poifon and piftol the late King, which

by Law was the higheft of Treafons, did

con-
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conceive himfelf, in regard of his Ignorance, un-

able to defend himfelf fingly againft his Enemies

Defign, which was to take away his Life

:

whereupon he becomes an humble Suitor to the

Lord Chief Baron Wilde* that he might have

Counfel afligned him \ and the Court, before

ever the Grand Jury received any Teftimony

againft him to find the Bill, afligned him Coun-

feJ, who as I underftand were one Mr. Nichols,

now a Judge of this Bench, and fitting there ;

and Mr. Maynard of the Temple : they were both

afligned his counfel, and from Mr. Maynard
himfelf I have it, yea, from his own Mouth •,

who being afligned his counfel, they came into

the court, where the Grand Jury was called be-

fore the Judge. Mr. Maynard, and Mr. Nichols,

now a Judge here, had liberty there to be in the

open court, where the Witnefles, before the In-

dictment was found, were called, and in open

court were fworn, and in open court gave in their

Evidence before the Grand Jury •, Major Rolfe's

Counfel being by in open court, to hear all the

Evidence that was given againft Major Rolfe,

who in his Indictment was indicted for two mat-

ters of Fact •, the firft was, That he had decla-

red that in fuch a month, and at fuch a place,

he had an intent to piftol the late King, which

by the letter of the Law of 2£ Edw. 3. chap. 2.

was Treafon. Then there was another charge,

That fuch a Day he had fo faid or declared to

poifon him, in the prefence of fuch a one ; and

they were both put into one Indictment. Where-
upon Mr. Maynard being afligned by the Lord
Chief Baron Wilde, that now is, to be of coun-

fel for Rolfe in the fame cafe (but with abun-

dance of more Advantage to him, than I am now
in) Mr. Maynard was then of counfel to the Pri-

foner, and had liberty to hear what the Witnef-

les fwore againft him, and to make his beft Ad-
vantage of it, and that in open court, before the

Indictment was found by the Grand Inqueft ; and

altho there were two exprefs Witnefles againft

him, yet but one of them fwore to one Thing,

and another to another. Mr. Maynard being one

that knew the Law better than Major Rolfe did

himfelf, he apply'd the two Statutes of Ed-
ward VI. viz. the 1 Edw. 6. chap. iz. and 5 &c 6

Edw. 6. chap. 11. to Rolfe's cafe; which Statutes

do exprefly declare, That no man ought to be

convicted of Treafon, but by two fufficient Wit-
nefles upon plain and clear Evidence to each Fact

of Treafon : which Evidence, as Sir Edward Coke

fays in the Third Part of his Inftitutes, ought to

be as clear as the Sun at Noon-day, and not upon
one fingle Witnefs, and upon conjectural pre-

fumptions, or inferences, or ftrains of Wit. Now,
Sir, I am an Englijhman as well as Major Rolfe,

and I have been an Officer in the Parliament-

Army as well as he, and there fought for them as

heartily as ever he did in his life, and he was
accufed for the higheft of Englijh Treafons. And
therefore I humbly crave, that in regard there

are many particular Errors in the Indictment, as

to matter, time, and place, that therefore in

reference to the Illegality of the Indictment, ac-

cording to this precedent by one of your own
Fellow-Judges, that you would, according to

my Birth- Right declared in Major Rolfe's cafe,

afilgn me counfel as he had, to help my
Ignorance, that fo I may not be deftroyed

by Surprizal, and illegal and unjuft Preroga-
tives.

Ld Keble. You fee with what a great deal of
Favour, inftead of a few Words, we have heard
you many •, this is a Privilege : but this that you
fay upon it, it may be it was done ; but that we
do, fhall be according to that you and we fhall

find to be according to the Laws of the land,

and our Confcience, and the Privilege of the Sub-
ject : that they did before the Grand Jury, and
the Witnefles, the Witnefles are here fworn in

court in prefence of the Grand Jury, fo far we
go with them ; that of Mr. Maynard and Mr.
Juftice Nichols being afligned counfel, for what
caufe it was then they beft know, it is nothing
that doth now concern us, though the Treafon
was againft thofe Laws that then were in be-
ing •, we muft come to Proof, it may be he con-
ferred his Fact ; if you will do fo too, it alters the

cafe.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. No, Sir, he never con-

feffed it, for if he had, he had been found guilty j

but he was faved merely by the Skill and Hone-
fty of his Counfel Mr. Maynard, and his Indict-

ment null'd and evaded before ever the Grand
Jury found it, and that upon this Point of Law,
becaufe by the two Statutes of Edward VI.
there ought to be two plain and clear Witnefles

to every part of Treafon ; and tho Rolfe was
accufed by two Witnefles, yet there were two
Facts, and but one Witnefs to the proof of each

of them.

Ld Keble. When you come to Trial, if we fee

there be need of counfel, the court will be inftead

of counfel to you ; nay the court, if they fee any
matter of Law for counfel, tho you do not ask

it, they will give you it. And therefore fet your

Heart at Reft, for if there be any thing rational

in Law that we can fpy out, as well as your coun-

fel, we will help you in it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sweet Sir, I crave but

one Word more ; I am upon my Life, and if you
deny me what the Law affords me, and that

which hath been granted to be Law by Cavalier-

Judges, yea, and by your Fellow-Judges, who
are now in Power at this Day ; the Lord deliver

me from ftanding in need of you to be my Coun-
fellors.

Ld Keble.We are upon our Lives too, as well

as you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. No, by your Favour, not

in fo imminent a manner as I am.
Ld Keble. We are upon our Lives and our

Souls to all Eternity.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I befeech you hear

me one Word.
Ld Keble. I will hear no more.

Mr. Prideaux. My Lord, I defire the Court

would proceed, and not prolong Time, feeing

he has pleaded Not Guilty, and confefled fome-

thing.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. No, Sir, you do me
Wrong, and abufe me : I never confeffed any
thing, neither did I plead Not Guilty ; for my
Plea was conditional, grounded upon your Pro-

mifes, not to take any Advantage of my Igno-

rance in your Formalities.

Ld Keble. Go on ; be filent, Mr. Lilburne.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. If you take away my Life

without affording me the Benefit of the Law, my
innocent Blood be upon your Heads.

Ld Keble. Sir, thefe pafllonate Words will do
you no Good, you had better forbear them.

Lieut. Col, Lilburne. Pray hear me then.

Ld Keble.
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Ld. Keble. Do you fay that we do offer to take

away your Lite, Sir? if we do take it away

contrary to Law, we are liable to anfwer for it

:

but we fhall judge what you have done. [The

Lieutenant-Colonelpreffing to fpeak, was not fuffered,

hut bid be /dent.} Sir, I advife you, Sir, fpare

yourfelf with Patience, and hear the Court.

Juftice Jermin. Be quiet, Sir.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you, Sir, let

me hear but the Grand Jury fpeak ; for I under-

ftand from fome of themfelves, they never found

me guilty of Treafon, but do conceive them-

felves wronged by fome Words Yefterday, that

parTed from fome of the Judges : I pray let me
hear them fpeak.

Ld. Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you faid you would

be rational, you would be moderate ; you do

breakout; you will do yourfelr' more Hurt than

any here can do you : you muft be filent and hear

the Court, we can lofe no more Time to hear

you. Cryer, call the Jury.

Cryer. The Jury called

—

[And Mr. Lilburne

earnejlly prejfed to be beard, but could not.~\ Cryer.

Miles Petty, William Wormwell.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I befeech you let

me but fee thefe Gentlemens Faces.

Ld Keble. You mailer Sprat, you muft not

talk to the Prifoner •, you may ftand and hold the

Books : you did offend Yefterday, but you fhall

not do lb To-day, for you fhall not ftand near

the Prifoner to talk to him.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. My Lord, the Law fays

a Stander-by may fpeak in the Prifoner's Behalf

at the Bar, much more whifper to him ; but ef-

pccially if he be his Solicitor.

Cryer. 'John Sherman, T'homas Dainty, Ralph

Ely, Edmund Keyzer, Edward Perkins, Ralph

Packman, Francis IVoodall, William Commins,

Henry Hanfon, Roger Jenkenfon, Jofias Hamond,
Richard Allen, Richard Nevill, John Mayo, Henry
Jooley, Arthur Due, Roger Sears.

Clerk. You good Men of the City of London,

appear. Stephen Ives, John Sherman, Ralph Ely,

Roger Jenkenfon, Jofias Hamond, Richard Allen,

Richard Nevill, Roger Sears, John Mayo, Nicho-

las Murren.

Clerk. You Prifoner at the Bar, thefe good
Men that are here prefented before the Court, are

to be of your Jury of Life and Death ; if there-

fore you will challenge them, or any of them,
you muft challenge them before they go to be
fworn, and then you fhall be heard.

Cryer. Every Man that can inform my Lords
the Juftices, and the Attorney- General of this

Commonwealth, againft Mafter John Lilburne

Prifoner at the Bar, of any Treafon or Felony
committed by him, let them come forth, and
they fhall be heard, for the Prifoner ftands upon
his Deliverance; and all others bound to give
their Attendance here upon pain of Forfeiture of
your Recognizance, are to come in.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, 1 befeech you give
me leave to fpeak.

Ld Keble. You cannot be heard.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Truly, Sir, I muft then

make my Proteft againft your unjuft and bloody
Proceedings with me, before all this People;
and defire them to take notice, that yefterday I

pleaded to my Bill conditionally, that no advan-
tage fhould be taken againft me for my Igno-
rance in your Formalities, and you promifed me
you would not.
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Ld Keble, We give you too much time ; you

will fpeak words that will undo you: is this your

Reafon ? You fhall talk in your legal time, and

take your legal Exceptions, we will hear you till

midnight.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Then it will be too late,

Sir.

Juftice Jermin. You have given a great Slan-

der, and that doth not become a Man of your

Profeffion ; you fpeak very black words.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you, do but

hear me one Word ; I do not know the Faces

of two of the Men that were read unto me,
I hope you will give me time to confider of,

them.

Ld Keble. No, Sir, you ought not to have it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Will you let me have
fome Friends by me that are Citizens of London,

that know them, to give me information of their

Qualities aud Conditions? for without this, truly

you may as well hang me without a Trial, as to

bring me here to a Trial and deny me all my
legal Privileges to fave myfelf by.

Ld Keble. If you be your own Judge, you
will judge fo ; go on.

[Mr. Sprat, or Col. Robert Lilburne, whifpers

to the Prifoner to challenge one of the Jury,
which the Judge excepted againft.]

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, by your favour, any
Man that is a By-ftander may help the Prifoner,

by the Law of England.

Ld Keble. It cannot be granted : and that Fel-

low come out there, with the white Cap, pull

him out.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. You go not according to

your own Law in dealing thus with me.

Juftice Jermin. Your words were never a

Slander, nor never will be ; hold your peace.

Cryer, go on.

Cryer. Stephen Blyth, look upon the Prifoner.

Abraham Seal, John King, Nicholas Murren,
(Thomas Dariel) [the Prifoner excepted againft

him] Edward Perkins, Francis Peak.

Juftice Jermin. Was he recorded and Sworn
before he fpake, or no ?

Cryer. No, my Lord.

Juftice Jermin. Then let him continue, if he

be right recorded.

Cryer. The Oath was not given quite out.

Juftice Jermin. Then he hath challenged in

time ; let him have all the lawful Favour that

may be afforded him by Law.
William Co?nmins fworn, Simon Weedon fworn.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. He's an honeft Man, and
looks with an honeft Face, let him go.

Henry Tooley fworn, Arthur Due excepted

againft.

Ld Keble. Take away Mr. Due, let him ftand

a little by.

Henry Hanfon put by, being fick ; one that

could not hear, excepted againft ; John Sher-

man, Ralph Head^ Roger Jenkenfon, Jofias

Hamond, Richard Allen, John Mayo, Roger Sears,

Henry Hanfon excepted againft, Edmond Keyfer

fworn.

The Jury called.

Clerk. Twelve good Men and true, ftand to-

gether, and hear your Evidence.

Juftice Jermin. Cryer of the Court, let the

Jury ftand fix of the one fide, and fix of the

other.

G Clerk.
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Clerk, i. Mies Petty,

2. Stephen Ives,

3 . John King,

4. Nicholas Murren,

5. 'Thomas Dainty,

6. Edmond Keyzer,

7. Ed. Perkins,

8. i^/^& Packman,

9. William Commins,

1 o. SzVtzptz Weedon,

1 1

.

Henry Tooley,

12. Abraham Smith.

Of the Jury, fix live about Smithfield, one in

Gofling-fireet, two in Cheapfide, two in 2fr<wd-

7?ratf, and in one Friday-fireet.

Juftice Jermin. It's well done.

Cryer. The Lords the Juftices do ftraitly charge

and command all manner of Perfons to keep fi-

lence, while the Prifoner is in Trial.

Mr. Broughton, John Lilburne, hold up thy

Hand.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. As I did yefterday, I ac-

knowledge myfelf to be John Lilburne Freeman

of London, Son to Mr. Richard Lilburne, of the

County of Durham, and fome time Lieutenant-

Colonel in the Parliament-Army.

Juftice Jermin. You refufe to hold up your

Hand ; and tho' you break the Law of England,

the Court will not break it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I do what the Court de-

clares is my Right and Duty to do ; I do no

more than declare my Name be fo as it is.

Ld Keble. Read the Indictment.

Mr. Broughton reads. Hold up thy Hand,

in an Epifile to the private Soldiers of the Arm\\
efpecially all thofe that figned thefolemn Engagement
at Newmarket-Heath, the fifth of June 1647.
but more efpecially the private Soldiers of the Ge~
neraVs Regiment of Horfe, that helped to plunder
and deflroythe Honefi and true-hearted Engliihmen,
traitoroufly defeated at Burford, the fifteenth of
May 1649. And alfo by another fcandalous,

poifonous, and traitorous Book, intitled, The le-

galfundamental Liberties of the People c/" England,
revived, afferled, and vindicated, didft publifh
that the Government aforefaid is tyrannical,

ufurped, and unlawful ; and that the Commons
affembled in Parliament are not the Supreme Au-
thority of this Nation. And further that thou
the faid John Lilburne, as a falfe Traitor, God
before thine Eyes not having, but being moved
and led by the Inftigation of :he Devil, endea-
vouring, and malicioufly intending to fubvert
the Government aforefaid, as is aforefaid, well
and happily eftablifhed ; thou the faid John Lil-

burne, afterwards (that is to fay) the aforefaid

firft Day of Oclober, {a) in the Year of our
Lord 1649 aforefaid, and divers other Days and
Times, as well before as after, at London afore-

faid, that is to fay, in the Parifh and Ward
aforefaid, at London aforefaid, malicioufly, ad-
vifedly, and traitoroufly didft plot, contrive, and
endeavour to ftir up, and to raife Force againft

John Lilburne ; thou ftandeft here indicted of the aforefaid Government, and for the Subverting

High Treafon by the Name of John Lilburne, and Alteration of the faid Government, and

late of London Gentleman, for that thou, as a thofe wicked, malicious, and traitorous Advife-

falfe Traitor, not having the Fear of God before ments to put in execution, &c. And thou the

thine Eyes, but being ftirred and moved up by faid John Lilburne afterwards, that is to fay, the

the Inftigation of the Devil, didft endeavour not aforefaid firft Day of Otlober in the Year of our

only to difturb the Peace and Tranquillity of Lord 1649 aforefaid, and divers Days and Times
this Nation, but alfo the Government thereof as well before as after, at London aforefaid-, that

to fubvert, now eftablifhed without King or

Houfe of Lords, in the way of a Common-
wealth, and a Free-State, and happily eftablifhed ;

and the Commons in Parliament affembled,

being the Supreme Authority of this Nation of

England, to difgrace, and into Hatred, bafe Efteem,

Infamy and Scandal, with all the good, true,

is to fay, in the Parifh and Ward aforefaid, of thy
depraved Mind, and moft wicked Imagination,

in and by the aforefaid fcandalous, poifonous,

and traitorous Book, intitled, An Impeachment of
High Treafon againft Oliver Cromwell, and his

Son-in-Law Henry Ireton Efqs ; late Members of
the late forcibly dijfolved Houfe of Commons 5 pre-

and honeft Perfons of England, to bring. That fented to publick View by Lieutenant-Colonel John
is to fay, that thou the faid John Lilburne, on Lilburne, clofe Prifoner in the Tower of London,
the firft Day of Oclober in the Year of our Lord for his real, true, and zealous Affeclion to the Li
1 649, and in divers other Days and Times, both

before and after, in the Parifh ofMary the Arches,

in the Ward of Cheap, London, aforefaid, of thy

wicked and devil ifh Mind and Imagination, falf-

ly, malicioufly, advifedly, and traitoroufly, as a

falfe Traitor, by writing and imprinting, and

openly declaring, that is to fay, by a certain

fcandalous, poifonous, and traitorous Writing in

Paper, intitled, A falva Libertate ; and by an-

other fcandalous, poifonous, and traitorous Book,
intitled, An Impeachment of High Treafon againft

Oliver Cromwell, and his Son-in-Law Henry
Ireton Efqs ; late Members of the late forcibly dij-

folved Houfe of Commons ; prefented to publick View

by Lieutenant-Colonel John Lilburne, clofe Pri-

foner in the Tower of London, for his real, true,

and zealous Affeclions to the Liberties of this Na-
tion : And by another fcandalous, poifonous, and

traitorous Book, imprinted, and intitled, An
Outcry of the Young-men and Apprentices of London,
or an Inquifition after the loft fundamental Laws
and Liberties of England, direcled Aug. 29. 1649.

* This Pafage
if in p. 5

.

berties of his native Country: falfly, malicioufly,

advifedly, and traitoroufly, didft publickly de-
clare, amongft other things in the faid Book,
thefe falfe, fcandalous, malicious, and traitorous

Words following ; ' But my true Friends, (mean-
ing the Friends of the faid John Lilburne) ' I

(meaning the aforefaid John Lilburne) * fhall here
* take upon * me the Boldnefs,
' confidering the great Diffractions
' of the prefent Times, to give a
' little further Advice to our Friends aforefaid,
* from whofe Company or Society, or from
' fome of them, hath been begun and iffued out
c the moft tranfeendent, clear, rational and juft
* things, for the Peoples Liberties and Free-
c doms, that the forefaid John Lilburne hath
* feen or read in this Nation, as your notable
1 and excellent Petition of May the 20th, 1647.
* burnt by the Hands of the common Hangman,
* recorded in my Book called Rafh Oaths unwar-
< rantable, pag. 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35. with
' divers Petitions of that nature, and the Petition

{a) Note that M>-. Lilburne twrj- imprifoned by the Council of State as a Traitor, the z2th of March, 1649. and they there
tame, and after arraign him as a Traitor, for Ailions done above five Months after, 'waving all the pretended Crimesfor which
they firji imprifoned him.,

'Of
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« of the igth of January J ^48 - recor(fcd »n the

< following Difcourfe, /»*£. 45' 46 » 47' 4& and

« the Mafculine Petition of the nth of Septem-

« her 1648. fo much owned by Petitions out of

* feveral Counties •, yea, and by the Officers of

* the Army's large Remonftrance from St. Al-

* bans, the 16th of November 1648. pag. 6y, 68,

« 69. The Subftance of all which, 1 (thou the

forefaid John Lilburne meaning) ' conceive is

« contained in the printed Sheet of Paper, figned

« by my Fellow-Prifoners, Mr. William Walvin,

« Mr. Richard Overton, and Mr. Thomas Prince,

« and'myfelf, dated the ill of May 1649. and

« intitled, The Agreement of the Free People of

4 England.' Which falfe, fcandalous, and trai-

torous Book, called, The Agreement of the People

of England, tends to the Alteration and Subver-

fion of the Government aforefaid. ' The Prin-

« ciples of the aforefaid Agreement, I (meaning

yourfelf the faid John Lilburne) '. hope and defire

« you (the Friends of the aforefaid John Lilburne

meaning) ' will make the final Centre, and un-

« wavering Standard of all your Defires, Ha-
* zards and Endeavours, as to the future Settle-

« ment of the Peace and Government of this dif-

* treffed, wafted, and divided Nation : the firm

« eftabliihing of the Principles therein contained,

« beino- that only which will really and in good

« earned marry and knit that Intereft, whatever

4
it be, that dwells upon them, unto the diftreffed

« or oppreffed Commons of this Nation.

* But the Principles of the forefaid Agreement
* being fo deteftable and abomina-

* Thefe Lines < ble to the prefent * ruling Men,
are in p. 7. « as that which they know will put

« a full End to their Tyranny and Ufurpation,

* and really eafe and free the People from Oppref-

« fion and Bondage ; that it is fomething dange-

« rous to thofe that go about the Promotion of it

;

« yet I mail advife and exhort you, (meaning

4 the Friends of him the aforefaid John Lilburne)

« vigoroufly to lay all Fear afide, and to fet on

« foot the Promotion of it (meaning the faid A-
* greement) ' in the fame Method we took for

« the Promotion of the forefaid Petition of the

« oth of January 1647. laid down in the follow-

« ing Difcourfe, pag. 23, 24, 25. and to write to

« all your Friends in all the Counties of England,

* to chufe out from amongft themfelves, and fend

« up fome Agents to you (two at lead for each

« County, with Money in their Pockets, to bear

* their Charges J to confider with your called and

« chofen Agents, of fome effectual Courfe fpeedi-

* ly to be taken for the fettling of the Principles

* thereof (meaning the aforefaid falfe Agreement,

devifed by yourfelf the aforefaid John Lilburne)

4 and to fet up the promoting of (the forefaid

feigned Agreement meaning,) ' as that only which

* in an earthly Government can make you (the a-

forefaid Friends of the faid John Lilburne) ' hap-

* pier •, at leaft, to know one another's Minds, in

* owning and approving the Principles of the

forefaid falfe
4 Agreement, that fo it may become

* to you (meaning the forefaid Friends of the fore-

faid John Lilburne) ' and all your Friends, your

* Centre, Standard, and Banner, to flock toge-

* ther to, in time of thofe foreign innovations,

4 and domeftick Infurrettions, that are like fpee-

* dily to bring Miferies enough upon this poor

* diftreffed Nation, (the aforefaid Nation of Eng-

land again meaning) ' and unanimoufly refolve

* and engage one to another, neither to fide with,

* or fight for, the Chimera's, Fooleries, and Pride

Vol. II.

* of the prefent Men in Power, (the aforefaid

Parliament of England meaning) ' nor for the
' Prince's Will, nor any other bafe Intereft what-*
4 foever : the which if you (the aforefaid Friends

of the faid John Lilburne meaning) fhould fight

* for, it would be but an abfolute Murder of
4 your Brethren and Countrymen you know not
' wherefore, unlefs he or they will come up to
4 thofe juft, righteous, and equitable Principles
' therein contained, and give rational and good
4 Security for the conftanc adhering thereunto.

4 And upon fuch Terms, I do not fee but you
' may juftifiably, before God or Man, join with
' the Prince himfelf ; yea, I am fure, a thoufand-
4 times more juftly, than the prefent Ruling Men
4 (upon a large and ferious Debate,) joined with
' Owen Roe O-Neale, the grand bloody Rebel in

* Ireland ; who, if we muff, have a King, I

(meaning he the aforefaid John Lilburne) ' for
4 my part I had rather have the Prince (meaning
Charles Stuart, Son to the late King) ' than any
4 Man in the World, becaufe of his large Pre-
4 tence of Right, which if he come not in by
4 Conqueft, by the hands of Foreigners, (the bare
4 attempting of which may apparently hazard
4 him the Lofs of all at once) by gluing together
4 the now divided People, to join as one Man
4 againft him ; but by the hands of Englifhmen,
4 by Contract upon the Premifes aforefaid,
4 ("which is eafy to be done) the People will eafi-
4

ly fee, that prefently thereupon they will enjoy
4 this tranfcendent Benefit, (he being at peace with
4 all Foreign Nations, and having no regal pre-
4 tended Competitor, viz. The immediately dif-
4 banding of all Armies and Garifons, faving
4 the old Cinque-Ports : and fo thofe three grand
4 Plagues of the People will ceafe, viz. Free-
4 Quarters, Taxations, and Excife ; by mrans of
4 which, the People may once again really fay,
4 They enjoy fomething they can in good earneft
4 call their own. Whereas for the prefent Army
4 to fet up the pretended falfe Saint Oliver, (or
4 any other) as their elected King, there will be
4 nothing thereby from the beginning of the Chap-
4

ter to the End thereof, but Wars, and the cut-
4 ting of Throats, year after year ; yea, and the
4 abfolute keeping up of a perpetual and ever-

' lafting Army, under which the People are ab-
4 folute and perfect Slaves and Vaffals, as by wo-
4 ful and lamentable Experience they now fee they
4 perfectly are ; which Slavery and abfolute Bon-
4 dage is like daily to increafe, under the prefent
4 tyrannical and arbitrary new-erected robbing
4 Government. And therefore rouze up your
4 Spirits before it be too late, to a vigorous pro-
4 motion, and fettling of the principles of the
4 forefaid Agreement, as the only abfolute and
' perfect Means to carry you off all your Mala-
4 dies and Diftempers.'

Here Lieutenant-Colonel Lilburne, in the firfl

Day's reading the Indictment, taking notice of the

Judge Thorp and Mr. Prideaux to whifper toge-

ther, cry'd out, and faid to this effect

:

L. Col. Lilb. Hold a while, hold a while, let

there be no Difcourfe but openly ; for my Adver-

faries or Profecutors whifpering with the Judges,

is contrary to the Law of England, and extremely

foul and difhoneft play : and therefore I pray let

me have no more of that Injuftice.

Mr. Attorney. It is nothing concerning you (let

me give him Satisfaction) it is nothing concerning

you, Mr. Lilburne.

G 2 L. Col.
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L. Col. Lilb. By your favour, Mr. Prideaux,

that is more than I do know ; but whether it be

or not, by the exprefs law of England, it ought

not to be ; therefore I pray let me have no more
of it.

Mr. Broughton. And further, thou the faid John

Lilburne ftand'ft indicted, for that thou the afore-

faid firft Day of OElober, in the Year of our Lord
1 649, and divers Days and Times, as well be-

fore as after, in London aforefaid, and in the Pa-

rim and Ward aforefaid, didft malicioufly, advi-

fedly and traitoroufly publilh another falfe, poi-

fonous, traitorous and fcandalous Book, intitled,

An Outcry of the Young Men and Apprentices of

London, or an Inquifition after the laft Fundamen-

tal Laws and Liberties of England : having thefe

traitorous and fcandalous Words (amongft other

things) following ; that is to fay, We (meaning

the Young Men and Apprentices of London)

confidering what is before premifed,
* Which are necejfitated and compelled to do the

utmofl we can for our own Prefer-

vations: and for the Prefervation of

the Land of our Nativity, and never, by popular

Petitions, addrefs our felves to the Men fitting at

Weftminfter any more, or to take any more notice

of them, than as of fo many Tyrants and Ufurp'

ers ; and for the time to come to hinder (as much
and as far as our poor defpifed Intereft will extend

to) all other whatfoever from fubfcribing or prefent-

ing any more popular Petitions to them ; and only

now as our laft Refuge, mightily to cry out to each

other, of our intolerable Opprejfwns, in Letters and

Remonftrances figned in the behalf, and by the Ap-
pointment of all the reft, byfome of theftouteft and

Jliffeft among us, that we hope will never apoftatize,

but be able by the Strength of God to lay down their

very Lives for the maintaining of that which they

fet their Hands to. And further, That thou the

aforefaid John Lilburne afterwards, that is to fay,

the aforefaid firft Day of Otlober, in the Year of

our Lord 164.9, and divers other Days and Times,

as well before as after, not being an Officer or

Soldier, or Member of the Army aforefaid, at

London aforefaid, in the Parifh and Ward afore-

faid, as a falfe Traitor, did malicioufly, advifed-

ly, and traitoroufly endeavour to ftir up a dange-

rous, mutinous and traitorous Diftemper, Mutiny
and Rebellion in the Army, now under the Com-
mand of Thomas Lord Fairfax, and didft endea-

vour to draw Thomas Lewis, John Skinner, and

John Toppe from their Obedience to their fuperior

Officers, &c. and further, didft deliver unto the

three Soldiers before-named, the faid Book, in-

titled, An Out-cry of the Young Men and Appren-

tices of London ; having thefe Words following

contained in them : " Surely all Senfe and Com-
' puncfr'on of Confcience is not totally departed
* from you ; hear us therefore in the earneft
4 Bowels of Love and Kindnefs, we intreat and
* befeech you with Patience, and do not abufe us
* for complaining and crying out, for the Knife
* hath been very long at the very Throats of our
* Liberties and Freedoms ; and our Burdens are

* too great and many for us, we are not able

' to bear them, and contain our felves ; our Op-
' preffions are even ready to make us defpair
4 (or forthwith to fly to the prime Laws ofNa-
* ture, viz. the next violent Remedy at hand,
* light where it will, or upon whom it will)

* they are become as devouring Fire in our Bo-
' foms, ready to burn us up, rendring us defpe-

rate and carelefs of our Lives, prizing thofe

that are already dead, above thofe that are yet

alive, who are rid of that Pain and Torment
that we do and muft endure, by fenfible feeing

and beholding, not only the dying, but the

daily Burial of our native Liberties and Free-

doms, that we care not what becomes of us,

feeing that we are put into that original State

of Chaos and Confufion, wherein luft is be-

come a law ; Envy and Malice are become
laws, and the ftrongeft Sword rules and go-
verns all by Will and Pleafure ; all our antient

Boundaries and land-marks are pulled up by
the Roots, and all the Ties and Bonds of hu-

man Society in our Englijh Horizon totally de-

ftroyed and extirpated. Alas for Pity ! we had
rather die than live this life of a languifhing

Death, in which our Mafters poffefs nothing

(to buy themfelves or us Bread to keep us alive)

that they can call their own ; therefore it's

no boot to ferve out our Times, and continue

at our drudging and toiling Trades, whilft

thefe Oppreffions, Cruelties and Inhumanities

are upon us, and the reft of the People, ex-

pofing thereby the Nation, not only to do-

meftick Broils, Wars, and Bloodfheds, (where-

in we are fure our Bodies muft be the prin-

cipal Buts) but to foreign Invafions by France,

Spaint Denmark, Swethland, &c. as was well

obferved by an endeared and faithful Friend

of the forementioned late treacheroufly defeat-

ed Party at Burford, in their Book of the 20th

of Auguft 1 649, intitled, The Levellers vindi-

cated, or the Cafe of the Twelve Troops truly

ftated, pag. 11, and it. which we cannot but

ferioufly recommend with them, to your feri-

ous Perufal and Judgment, and defire to know
of you (but efpecially the private Soldiers of

the Gen. Regiment of Horfe, who we under-

ftand had a hand in feizing upon, and plun-

dering our true Friends at Burford, whether you
do own the abominable and palpable treache-

rous Dealings of your General and Lieute-

nant- General Cromwell, and their perfidious

Officers with them or no ? (that fo we may not

condemn the Innocent with the Guilty, and

may know our Friends from our Foes :) as

alfo to tell us, Whether you do approve of

the total Defection of your Army, under

which it now lieth, from their Faith and fal'l'n

Engagement made at Newmarket-Heath, the

5th of June 164.J, not one of thofe righteous

Ends, in behalf of the Parliament and Peo-

ple, on which your Vow was made, being yet

fulfilled or obtained ; but on the contrary (as

we have before- rehearfed) a whole Flood-gate

of Tyrannies are let in upon us, and over-

whelm us ; and whether you [the aforefaid

private Soldiers meaning'] juftify all thofe Ac-
tions done in the name of the Army, upon

your Account, and under the Pretence of

that Engagement, fince the Engagement itfelf

was broken, and your Council of Adjutators

diffolved ? And whether you will hold up
your Swords to maintain the total Diffolution of

the People's choiceft Intereft of Freedom, viz.

frequent and fucceffive Parliaments, by an A-
greement of the People, or obftrucl: the annual

Succeflion ? Whether you do allow of the

late fhedding the Blood of War in time of

Peace, to the Subverfion of 411 our Laws
and Liberties ? And whether you do counte-

* nance
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« nance the Extirpation of the Fundamental

« Freedoms of this Commonwealth, as the Re-

«. vocation and Nullity of the great Charter of
« England, the Petition of Right, &c. ? And whe-
« ther you do affent to the Erection of Arbitrary

'Prerogative Courts, that have or fhall over-

« rule, or make void our antient Way of Trials

* in criminal cafes by a Jury of Twelve Men of

* the Neighbourhood ? And whether you will

' aflift or join in the forcible Obftruction of this

* martial and tyrannical Rule over us ? Alfo whe-
' ther you will fight againft and deftroy thofe

* our Friends that fhall endeavour the compo-
« fure of our Differences, together with the

' procurement of our Freedoms, and Settlement

' of our Peace (your Plenty and Profperity) ac-

* cording as it was offered by the four Gentlemen
' Prifoners in the Tower of London, upon the

* firft Day of May 1649, as a Peace-offering to

' the Nation, by the Agreement of the People.

* [the aforefaid feignedAgreement meaning'] Laftly,

' We [the afore/aid Young Men and Apprentices of
* London meaning] earneftly befeech you [the

' aforefaid private Soldiers again meaning] to ac-

* quaint us, whether from your Hands, to your
' Power, we may expect any Help or Afiiftance

* in this our miferable, diftreffed condition, to

* the Removal of thofe Iron Bonds and Yokes
' of Oppreffion [the aforefaid Government in way
* of a Commonwealth and Council of State mean-
' ing~] that have thus enforced us to complain,
* and addrefs our felves thus to your confidera-

' tion ; for we [the aforefaid Young Men and Ap-
' prentices again meaning] cannot chufe but ac-

* quaint you [the aforefaid private Soldiers again

' meaning] that we are ferioufly refolved, through
' the Strength and Afiiftance of God, with all

* the Interefl we have in the World, to adhere
' to the righteous Things contained in our
4 treacheroufly defeated forementioned Friends
* Vindication, [the aforefaid traitorous Book, in-

* titled, The Levellers Vindicated, or the Cafe
' of the Twelve Troops truly flated, again mean-
« ing.']

And further, thou the faid John Lilburne, as a

falfe Traitor, by moft wicked traitorous Con-
fpiracies, Defigns and Endeavours of thine afore-

faid, afterwards, that is to fay, the aforefaid firft

Day of October, in the Year of our Lord 1649,
abovefaid, and divers other Days and Times, as

well before as after, didft in the Parifh and Ward
of London aforefaid, in and by the aforefaid fcan-

dalous, poifonous and traitorous Book, intitled,

An Impeachment of High-Treafon againft Oliver

Cromwell, and his Son-in-law Henry Ireton, &c.
moft falfly, malicioufly and traitoroufly publifh,

and openly declare, amongft other Things, in the

faid Book, thefe following fcandalous, treache-

rous, tumultuous and traitorous Claufes and
Words following ; that is to fay, * But I [mean-
* ing thy felf the faid John Lilburne] and many
' other Perfons [meaning the aforefaid Friends]
* intreat you ferioufly to confider that I cannot
* advife you to make Addreffes to him [mean-
1 ing the aforefaid Thomas Lord Fairfax, Cap-
* tain-General] as the General of the Nation's
' Forces [the Forces of this Nation of England
c meaning] for he [the aforefaid Captain- General
* meaning] is no General, but is merely a great
* Tyrant [meaning the aforefaid Captain-General]
' ftanding by the Power of his own Will, and
' a ftrong Sword borne up by his Vaffals, Slaves

45
and Creatures [the Soldiers of the Army afore-

faid meaning'] having no Commiffion to be Ge-
neral, either from the Law or the Parliament,

nor from the prime Laws of Nature and Rea-
fon. For Firft, when he was made General by
both Houfes of Parliament, it was exprefs-

ly againft the letter of the Laws. And Se-
condly, when he refufed to disband, &c. he
hath rebelled againft his Parliament -commif-
fion, and thereby deftroyed and annihilated it,

&c,

[The Reader is defired to take Notice, That in

the Indictment itfelf there was a great many
other Things than in this is exprefled ; as par-

ticularly divers Paffages out of a Book, called

Mr. Lilburne''s, intitled, The Legal Fundamen-
tal Liberties of England revived, &c. as alfo

out of another Book, intitled, A Preparative

to an Hue and Cry after Sir Arthur Haflerig,

&c. as alfo out of The Agreement of the Peo-

ple, of'the firft of'May 1649. with feveral other

remarkable Things in Matter and Form, that

were more neglected to be taken than the

Pleadings •, becaufe it was not fuppofed, but

the Indictment ( being a Record ) a true copy
of it might eafily be had ; confidering that by
Law all Records ought freely to be ufed by
any Freeman of England, and copies of them
denied to none that defire to take them : But
that Privilege being in this caufe already dis-

puted and denied ; in which regard, the Reader

muft at prefent accept of the beft imperfect

Notes that the Publifher could pick up.] But
to go on.

And further, That thou the faid John Lilburne,

as a falfe Traitor, all and fingular the claufes and

Englifh Words abovefaid, and many other traito-

rous, poifonous and malicious Expreffions in and

by the aforefaid Writings, and by the aforefaid

feveral Books, as aforefaid recorded, and by thee

the aforefaid John Lilburne publifhed, and openly

declared in the feveral Books foas aforefaid print-

ed, and by the aforefaid Writings, and by thee

the aforefaid John Lilburne, in Manner and

Form aforefaid, publifhed, and openly divulged

and declared divers other fcandalous, malicious,

tumultuous and treacherous claufes and words

in the faid Books contained, falfly, malicioufly,

advifedly and traitoroufly, haft publifhed and
openly declared, to the Intent to ftir up, and
raife Forces againft the Government aforefaid,

in the way of a Commonwealth, and free State

as aforefaid eftablifhed ; and for the fuppreffing

and Alteration of the faid Government, and to

ftir up Mutiny in the Army aforefaid; and

alfo to withdraw the faid John Tooke, Thomas

Lewis and John Skinner, and many other Sol-

diers, from their Obedience to their fuperior

Officers and Commanders, and to fet them in

Mutiny and Rebellion againft the publick Peace,

and to manifeft contempt of the Laws of this

Commonwealth and free State, and againft the

Form of the Statutes in this cafe made and pro-

vided.

The Indictment being reading, and the Noife

of the People in the Hall great, the Prifoner

faid he could not hear, and had fome few lines

before read over to him.

L. Col.
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Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Pray hold your Peace,

Gentlemen ; I befeech you be quiet, [/peaking to

the People.]

Ld Keble. Quiet yourfelf, we will quiet them

for you.

Broughton. Which Country are you? fo that

you are to find whether he is guilty or no, he

having already pleaded, Not Guilty. If you find

that he is guilty of any the High Treafons laid

to his charge, then you are to enquire what Goods,

Lands or Chattels he flood poffefied of, when he

committed the faid High Treafons ; but if you

find Not Guilty, you fhall then enquire whether

he did not fly for it ; and if he did not fly for it,

then you are to fay fo and no more : therefore

hearken to your Evidence.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. May it pleafe Your Ho-
nour.

Cryer. If any Man can give any Evidence to

my Lords, the Juftices of Oyer and Terminer, a-

gainfl Mr. John Lilburne, let him come in, and

he fhall be heard.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I defire to be heard to

fpeak two or three Words. I humbly defire the

Favour to fpeak two or three Words. I humbly
defire the Favour to be heard two Words.
Ld Keble. It is not a fit time •, you fhall be

heard in your due time : but hear what the Wit-

nefTes fay firft.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I conceive I am much
wronged, in faying that I pleaded Not Guilty,

for I pleaded no fuch Plea ; I appeal to the Court,

and to all that heard me, whether I pleaded any

fuch Plea : for before I pleaded, the Court be-

came engaged to me, to take no Advantage of

my Ignorance of the Formalities of the Law ; and

promifed to give me as much Privilege as my
Lord Duke of Hamilton and others enjoyed be-

fore the Court of Juftice.

Ld Keble. We know all this.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, by your Favour, I

pleaded conditionally, and now I make my ab-

solute Plea to the Indictment, which is this ;

That I except againft the Matter and Form of

it, Matter, Time and Place, and humbly crave

Counfel to affign and plead to the Errors there-

of.

Ld Keble. You muft hear us, we hear you ;

a Word is a great deal ; thefe Things we have

taken perfect Notice of, the Court is not ignorant

of them ; therefore they need not fo fuddenly be

repeated to us again ; you need not repeat thefe

Things, for I tell you again, they are all frefh

in our Memories, and that we have done we muff,

maintain, or we have done nothing.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Truly it is requifite for

me to fay, that I am wronged, I had no fuch

fingle Plea ; I plead a Plea at large to the Errors

of the Indictment ; and firft now crave liberty of
the Law of England to have Time and Counfel

affigned me.

Ld Keble. You fhall have the Laws of England,

although you refufe to own them in not holding

up your Hand ; for the holding up of the Hand
hath been ufed as a part of the Law of England

thefe five hundred Years. Go on.

M h
My Lord, the Prifoner at the Bar

Counfel that ftands indicted as a Traitor, for that

•was an Af- he contriving, and malicioufly in-

fiftant to Mr. tending not only to diflurb the pub-
lick Peace, but alfo to bring the Go-

vernment of the Nation, happily fettled in a free

State or Commonwealth, without a King, or
an Houfe of Lords, and the Commons in Par-
liament affembled to bring in Difgrace and Con-
tempt amongft all good Men ; he did the firft of
this Inftant Oclober, and divers times before and
fince in this City, falfly and malicioufly, advifed-
ly and traitoroufly, by writing, printing and open-
ly declaring, in and by one Paper of his, called

A Salva Libertate, and by divers other Papers and
Books, whereof one he calls, An Impeach?nexit of
High Treafon againfi Oliver Cromwell and his Son-
in-law Henry Ireton ; and another Book of his,

intitled, An Out-cry of the Toung Men and Ap-
prentices of London, directed to all the private

Soldiers of the Army, &c. A third, A Prepara-
tive to an Hue and Cry after Sir Arthur Haflerig i

and a fourth, The Legal Fundamental Liberties of
the People of England revived : That he did in

thefe Books publifh, That the faid Government
is tyrannical, ufurped and unlawful ; and that the

Commons in Parliament affembled are not the

Supreme Authority of this Nation. He ftands

further indicted, That he, as a falfe Traitor, did
malicioufly, advifedly and traitoroufly, plot and
contrive to raife Force againft the prefent Go-
vernment, and for the Subverfion and Alteration

of it; and for the fulfilling of his moft malicious

and traitorous Defigns, he did, in and by the faid

traitorous Books, falfly, malicioufly and advifed-

ly, utter and declare feveral moft falfe and fcan-

dalous, malicious and traitorous Words and
Writings, that in the Indictment are particularly

named and exprefied. And thirdly, That as a
Traitor, not being an Officer, nor a Soldier, or
a Member of the Army under the Command of
the now Lord General Fairfax, he did moft ma-
licioufly and traitoroufly endeavour to withdraw
certain Soldiers of that Army from their Obe-
dience to their fuperior Officers, which are par-

ticularly named in the Indictment : And that

for the full Accomplifhment of his Contrivan-

ces and Endeavours, he did malicioufly, advifed-

ly and traitoroufly, publifh and deliver the poi-

fonous Book, called An Impeachment ; and in

particular directed by the Title of the Book, to

all the People of England, being for that end
publifhed by him to publick View : In which
Book are contained moft falfe and fcandalous,

malicious, mutinous and traitorous Expreflions,

as in the Indictment are fet forth. And further,

That in the faid Book, which he called An Im-
peachment, That the prefent Government is ty-

rannical and ufurped ; and that the Commons of
England in Parliament affembled, are not the

Supreme Authority. And he further ftands in-

dicted, and the Jury further finds and prefents,

that by all thefe and other Expreflions written

by him, and publifhed by him in written Papers

and printed Books, he hath falfly, malicioufly

and traitoroufly ftirred up Strife on purpofe, and
to the intent, to ftir up and raife Force againft

the prefent Government, fettled in the way of a
Commonwealth and free State, without King and
Lords, on purpofe it to fubvert and deftroy. And
further, he hath alfo moft traitoroufly endeavour-

ed to withdraw the private Soldiers from their O-
bedience and Subjection to their fuperior Officers:

And all this in manifeft contempt of the Laws
of this Commonwealth, in that Behalf made
and provided, and to the Hazard of the Over-
throw and utter Subverfion of the faid Govern-

ment.

To
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To this Indictment the Gentleman hath pleaded

Not Guilty, and hath put himfelf upon his Coun-

try ; and if we can prove this againit his Plea, it

is at an I flue.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I deny that, Sir, I ne-

ver pleaded any fuch Angle Plea as Not Guilty :

And you Gentlemen of the Jury, I befeech you

take notice he extremely wrongs me in faying fo ;

for my Plea was a conditional Jrlea, and as a Plea

at large.

Mr. Attorney. My Lord and you Gentlemen

of the Jury, you have heard the Indictment read

unto you, and you have heard it opened unto

you ; and you have heard what Mr. Lilburne

fays, That he did not plead Not Guilty : And I

hope he is afhamed of his Plea now he hears the

Indictment opened unto him. My Lord, in this

Indictment there are contained thefe feveral Grand

Treafons.

The firft is, That he hath advifedly, traito-

roufly and malicioufly publifhed, That the Go-
vernment that is now eftablifhed, by way of a

free State or Commonwealth, without either King
or Houfe of Lords, is tyrannical, ufurped and

unlawful. And further, That the prefent Parli-

ament now affembled, are not the Supreme Au-
thority of the Nation.

The fecond is, That he hath plotted, contri-

ved and endeavoured to ftir up, and raife Forces

againft the prefent Government, and for the Sub-

verfion and Alteration of the fame.

The third is this that relates to the Army

;

you have heard what his Expreffions have been,

and they have been read unto you, concerning

them and the reft, That he, not being an Of-
ficer, or Soldier, or Member of the prefent Ar-

my, hath offered to ftir up Mutiny in the Army,
and to withdraw the Soldiers from their Obedi-

ence and Subjection to their fuperior Officers,

and thereby to ftir them up to Mutiny and Dif-

content.

Thefe are the main Parts and Subftance of what
I intend to charge him with in the Evidence, to

prove that which was contained in the Indict-

ment. My Lord, you have heard, in what hath

been read but of the Indictment, what Expreffi-

ons they are ; thofe that are traitorous to the

Publick, and have been fo declared, fo judged,

£o executed, thefe are here Mr. Zi/£z/m?'s engaged

true Friends : The Parliament, the Government,
the Authority of both Parliament and Army,
they are Tyrants, Ufurpers, Mercenaries, Jani-

faries, Murtherers, Traitors, Handing by their

own Power and Swords, and over- ruling all by
their Wills: Thefe are the Expreffions that he

ufed. My Lords, I (hall not trouble you with

any thing of Aggravation ; for, my Lord, I do
conceive, that the reading of the Books them-
felves aggravates every thing againft him ; and
I think there is no Englifhtnan (as Mr. Lilburne

fo often ftiles himfelf to be) will own fuch Words
or Acts as thefe are.

And truly my Lord, if I had read the Books,
and not known the Perfon, I fhould not have
thought he had been either a Chriftian, or a

Gentleman, or a civil Man, to have given fuch

bafe and bitter Language ; but my Lords, and
you of the Jury, 1 ftiall hold you no longer, the

Evidence being fo plain, and the Matter fo foul,

that it will not admit overmuch, or ftand in

need of any Difoute ; and to make it plain and
clear to your Judgments and Confciences, there

are Witnefles in the Court evidently to prove eve-
ry thing that will ftand in need to be proved for

the Indictment.

My Lords, the Words are malicioufly, advi-
fedly, and traitoroufly : I fhall not catch at Words,
but, as himfelf fays, what he prints is of mature
and deliberate Consideration ; and fuch are his

Books in print, that himfelf hath either printed,
or caufed to be publifhed.

The firft that he is charged withal, is that

which is called An Outcry : It hath a very dange-
rous Title, and in the Direction efpecially to the
Soldiers of the Army ; but efpecially to the pri-

vate Solders of the General's Regiment of Horfe,
that helped to plunder the true-hearted Engliflo-

men, traitoroufly defeated at Barford ; fo that the

Rebels at Burford were Mr. Lilburneh dear
Friends. My Lords, it hath not only a dange-
rous Title, but was publifhed at a dangerous
Time, yea, and for a dangerous End, which was
to ftir up the great Mutiny that was in the City
of Oxford. My Lord, for the Proof of this we
fhall offer this, That Mr. Lilburne himfelf was
Captain Jones's Affociate in the publifhing that

Book : For Mr. Lilburne and this Captain Jones
brought this Book to the Prefs to be printed. We
fhall offer unto you where he hath publifhed it

to Soldiers of the Army to engage them in

a Mutiny and Difcontent againft their fuperior

Officers. Therefore in the firft place call Thomas
Newcombe.

Thomas Newcombe fworn.

Juftice Jermin. Before you fpeak look upon
the Prifoner firft, whether you know him, or
not.

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, if you pleafe, he
may take the Book in his Hand, and fee whe-
ther he printed it, and when he printed it, and
who brought it to the Prefs.

Mr. Newcombe. I printed of this Book only the
laft Sheet, not knowing where the former Part of
it was done ; which Book was brought to me by-

Lieut. Col. Lilburne and Capt. Jones, which
Capt. Jones did agree with me in the Price: I

was ftop'd in the Proceedings in it. I fay that

Capt. Jones, together with Lieut. Col. Lilburne,

did bring it to me, and that Capt. Jones did a-

gree with me in the Price ; but I was taken be-

fore I did perfect it : But Capt. Jones did indent

with me for the Price. But this I muft fay,

Lieut. Col. Lilburne came alone with the Copy ;

and afterwards at Night he came again, and had
a Proof of it ; and that he was prefent when it

was corrected.

Mr. Attorney. And when the firft Sheet was
printed, then they came at Night again, and ex-

amined the Proof with Captain Jones and his Cor-
rector ?

Ld Keble. And he brought the Copy of the

whole Draught of the Book unto you ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, by your Favour, if

Mr. Prideaux have done with the Witnefs, I

crave my Right by Law to ask him fome Que-
ftions. In the firft place, I defire he may be

asked, Whether I was either Reader of the

original Copy, or the Overlooker of the printed

Proof?

Mr. Newcombe. You had a printed Sheet of it,

and that was all.

Lieut.
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Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I defire to know whether

I was either the Reader of that he printed, or the

Looker upon the written Copy ?

Mr. Newcombe. You looked upon the Sheet

that was printed, Captain Jones read the Manu-
fcript.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Ask him the Queftion

thus, Whether was I the Corrector of the Thing

printed, or the Looker on upon the printed Copy ?

And whether, or no, he can fwear that printed

Sheet, that he fays I had, was corrected and re-

vifed, and was a true and perfect Sheet, accord-

ing to the Original ?

Mr. Newcombe. It was a Copy of the Sheet be-

fore it was corrected or revifed.

Mr. Attorney. And Mr. Jones did read the

Original, . and Lieut. Col. Lilburne corrected the

Copy.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Under favour, you are

miftaken : He fays, that I caft my Eye upon the

Copy ; but doth not in the lead fay, that I cor-

rected it. And therefore, Sir, you do abufe me,

in going about to make him fay more than his

own Confcience tells him is Truth.

Ld Keble. While the Examination was, he faith

you read the Proof.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, he fays no fuch

Thing, by your favour.

Ld Keble. Mr. Newcombe, was not Mr. Lil-

burne there the fecond time at Night, and did he

not look upon the Copy ?

Mr. Newcombe. That he did, my Lord: But,

my Lord, I {hall, tell you the Manner of our

Trade in this particular. The Manner is, That

after we have fet a Form of the Letter, we make

a Proof of it, which Proof we have a Corrector

does read : My Corrector he had one, being he

corrected it, and Capt. Jones look'd upon the

Manufcript. And Lieut. Col. Lilburne) had a

Copy of the fame Sheet uncorrected -, but he did

not correct it, nor read to the Corrector. There

was two pulled off-, the Corrector had one, and

Mr. Lilburne had the other ; and Captain Jones

looked upon the Manufcript, and read it to the

Corrector.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. He has declared unto you,

That he was taken printing the Thing before it

was perfected : I defire to know whether I was

at his Houfe to give any further Directions at all

after it was taken.

Mr. Attorney. That is no Thanks neither to

you nor him.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I pray let him anfwer

the Thing: Let me have fair Play above board.

Sir, I befeech you let me hold him clofe to the

Queftion. He fays he was taken before the Sheet

was perfected : Truly I think they are his very

Words.
Mr. Newcombe. I faid in my Examination that

it was a Proof of that printed which you had.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I defire again to know
this of him, whether before he had printed or

perfected that Sheet he had doing, he was not ta-

ken, and both the Forms ?

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you muft defire us to

ask him the Queftion ; and not you to demand it

of yourfelf.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. 1 (hall, Sir.

Mr. Newcombe. It was before the Forms were
taken.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I ask you, whether be-

fore the Things were compleat and perfect, your

Forms were not both taken, and your Perfon

feized upon ?

Mr. Newcombe. There were only fome few

Copies printed, and then I was feized upon, and
the Forms taken away before I had perfected the

Sheet. But this, I fay, He did not indent with
me for the Price ; neither had I the Copy from
Mr. Lilburne's Hands, but from Captain Jones's

Hands.

Juftice Jermin. You fay that he had one Proof,

and Jones another : When was this you fpeak of?

Give us the Time as near as you can.

Mr. Newcombe. I cannot juftly fay the Time ;

but as I remember, it was about feven or eight

Weeks fince.

Mr. Attorney. Stand you afide -, and call John
Tooke, John Skinner, Thomas Lewis, John Haw-
kins, and John Merriman, WitnefTes (worn.

Mr. Attorney. John Tooke, do you declare now
your Knowledge. That which 1 call him for, is

to this Purpofe, that Mr. I'ooke being a Soldier of

the Army, one of them mentioned in the Indict-

ment, Mr. Lilburne delivered him one of the

Outcries, on purpofe to draw him from his Obe-
dience to his fuperior Officers.

Ld Keble. Shew him the Book.

Mr. Tooke. I have feen the Book ; but I had
not the Book in my Hand before.

Mr. Attorney. Tell what you know; that is

all we ask you.

Mr. Tooke. About feven Weeks ago, being at

Dinner with Thomas Lewis and John Smith, all

Soldiers, after Dinner we met with Lieut. Col.

Lilburne in Ivy-Lane ; and Thomas Lewis know-
ing of him, took acquaintance of him.

Juftice Jermin. All Soldiers under my Lord
General Fairfax ?

Mr. Tooke. Yes, Sir.

Juftice Jermin. Go on.

Mr. Tooke. Mr. Lilburne asked me to go and
drink a Cup of Beer: We did fo. And fo when
we went in, he asked whether we had feen fuch

a Book as the Apprentices Outcry ? And Mr. Lewis
anfwered, That he had feen it in a Man's Hand.
Then Lieut. Col. Lilburne faid he had one in his

Pocket, that was given him •, and if he pleafed

to accept of it, he would give it him. So told

him he had thought to buy one of them, for

. he heard they were fold in the City ; but he
would accept of his. So Mr. Lilburne delivered

it to Mr. Lewis.

Mr. Attorney. What did Mafter Lilburne fay

further unto you ?

Mr. Tooke. He faid, That you Soldiers keep
us all in Slavery.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you, let me
ask him one Queftion.

Mr. Tooke. There was fome to be fold ; but I

forgot the Place.

Mr. Attorney. Did he name a Place and Perfon

to you, where you might have fome of them ?

Mr. Tooke. He did name a Place, but I have
forgot it, where there were more Books to be

fold.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I befeech you let me
ask you one Queftion ——

—

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, for your Direction,

you muft make your Queftion to us, and require

us to ask him the Queftion ; and then if your
Queftion be fair, it lhall not be denied you.

Lieut.
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Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Then thus: Whatfoever

this Gentleman fays of meeting him in Ivy-Lane,

and defiring him to go to drink with me, yet I

defire you to ask him, whether I did take Notice

or Cognizance of any of them firft ? or whether

they did fpeak to me before, before ever I faid any,

thing to them ?

Ld Keble. To what end do you ask this ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Becaufe in your Indict-

ment I am charged that I went among the Soldiers

to feduce them from their Obedience to their fu-

perior Officers ; when I have made it my En-

deavour to fhun them as much as I can, and not

to come nigh the Place where I know they are,

if I can avoid it ; no, although I meet with them,

not to difcourfe with any of them, unlefs they be-

gin firft.

Ld Keble. I tell you this, which may dire<5t

you afterwards: Whofoever began to difcourfe

firft, if you did give them the Book afterwards,

it is all one.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. But, (hall pleafe" you, I

am upon my Life ; and by Law I ought not to be

denied to ask the Witneffes that fwear againft me
any Qyeftion that I pleafe, that I myfelf judge
pertinent for my Advantage.

Mr. Attorney. Call Thomas Lewis.

Thomas Lewis. And it mail pleafe you* I am
upon my Oath to fpeak the Truth ; and I fhall

defire by the Help of God fo to do, and no
more. One Day, which I conceive to my Re-
membrance, was the 6th Day of September laft,

we being upon a Guard at Paul's, went to an

Houfe to refrefh ourfelves ; and when I came
forth I met with Lieut. Col. John Lilburne,

whom I had formerly known, and fometimes

vifited in his Imprifonment, and whom 1 was
very glad to fee, having a little before heard as

though fome fudden Accident or Mifchancehad
befallen him •, and I did ask of him how he did.

He faid unto me he was well : And fo with that

fays he, What are you upon the Guard ? To my
beft Remembrance this was his Expreffion ; yet

fee whether it was he, or another that faid it.

As I take it thefe were his Words: Says he, I

have almoft forgotten you. Sir, I was known
to you formerly, having fometimes been with
you in the Tower. Says he, Will vou go drink?
If you pleafe we will : And fo upon that we
went to a Place called the Red-Crofs in Newgate-
Market. And there we fitting down to drink,

having not much Difcourfe for the prefent, we
fitting ftill, he asked me at length, Have you
heard of a Book called the Outcry of the Appren-
tices? Sir, faid I, I have heard of it, and have
a longing defire to buy one of them to read it

;

and my Reafon why I faid fo was, becaufe I did
underftand it was to be fold at the Exchange 5

there I intended to go and get one of them. Says
he I had one given to me ; and if you will, I

will give it unto you. So I received the Book
with Thankfulnefs ; and further expreffing, which
was fomething mean, it would fave me a Penny
in buying of it. And I further entreated him,
if he could direct me where I might buy fome
more of them. I have a Friend, fays he, in fuch
a Place ; if you would go to him, and tell him
that I am here, I mould think my felf beholden
to you. Now the Place's Name was Martin's*
Lane, but the Man's Name, whither I went, I

have forgot, and the Man too : I never heard of
the Man before nor fincc ; fo I told Mr. Lil-
V O L. II.

burne. Now he faid to me, peradventure where
you find that Man, you may have fome more of
the Books. Now thefe were the Words, to my
beft Remembrance and Knowledge, as I defire to

fpeak with a pure Confcience.

Mr. Attorney. Mr* Lilburne gave you one of
thole Books ?

Mr. Lewis. Yes, Sir ; and I put it into my
Pocket, and when I had done, Mr.—— he will

deliver him—

—

Whether there was any Books or Paffages betwixc

them ? And upon which he told him, Yes j

there is a Book that Mr. Lewis has, that has fuch

a Title.

Mr. Attorney. What did you with the Book ?

Mr. Lewis. I delivered it to the Lieutenant.

Mr. Attorney. The fame Book that you re-

ceived from Mr. Lilburne, you delivered to the

Lieutenant,

Mr. Attorney. What did Lieutenant Colonel
Lilburne fay to you concerning your Pay ? Did
not he ask you^ iSc.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I pray, Sir, do not di-

rect him what to fay, but leave him to his own
Confcience and Memory, and make him not for

fear to fwear more than his own Confcience freely

tells him is true.

Mr Lewis. The Difcourfe was thus: Says he,

You Soldiers (to my beft Remembrance) are the

Men that keep us all in Slavery. Now what to

conceive of that Expreffion, I muft leave that

unto you. And as concerning our Pay, he asked
us, How is your Pay ? Thefe were the Words, or

to that effect. But there was Money come for us*

and ready to be delivered out unto us.

Mr. Attorney. Call John Skinner: He was one
of thofe that was in Company, and can fpeak to

it.

Mr. Skinner. To my beft Remembrance, and
it fhall pleafe you, it was the Beginning of Sep-
tember, I cannot juftly tell what Day, that I met
with Mr. Lilburne in Ivy-Lane, near unto Paul's 5

and meeting with him, 1 was going towards the

Guard, and fo was Mr. Lewis with me, being
walking forth of the Lane, havirg been refrefh-

ing our felves. And near the end of the Lane
we met Lieutenant Colonel Lilburne, which
Lieutenant Colonel Mr. Lewis very well knew 5

and knowing of him, asked him how he did, and
how it went on with him, in regard he had heard

before he was in Prifon; fo I did not take any
heed what he faid further. Neither do 1 know
whether Mr. Lewis asked Mr. Lilburne to go
with him to drink, or Mr. Lilburne asked himj
but to the Red-Crofs in Newgate- Market we went
to drink. And Mr. Lilburne did ask Mr. Lewis

whether or no he had feen the Book which was
called the Apprentices Outcry. Mr Lewis anfwer-

ed him, that he had not feen the Book, (as I re-

member) but he had heard of that Book that it

was forth, and he did intend to buy one of

them, in regard they were publickly fold abroad.

Says Mr. Lilburne, I have fuch a Book in my
Pocket, which was given me even now , and I

will give it you if you will.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I pray let me hear two

or three Lines before.

Mr. Skinner. Whereupon you anfwered, and

faid, I have the Book in my Pocket, and it was

given me, and I will give it you. And Mr. Lewis

received it ; and that was all. And prefently I

went away.
H Mr,
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Jury, that it is
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You hear, Gentlemen of the

the fame Book that he received

from' the Hands of Lieut. Col. John Lilburne.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. My Lord, I befeech you

hear me before the Witneffes go: And he that

was fworn before, I defire to ask him this Quefti-

on Whether or no that this is the very Book that

is mentioned in the Indidment? And whether or

no they have examined the Words of it with the

Indictment. '".
: ,

Mr. Prideaux. You need not; that mail be

proved prefently. Mr. Skinner, That Book which

Mr. Lilburne gave you, what did you with

it? T .

Mr. Skinner. It was delivered unto my Lieute-

nant, who ftands there.

Lieut. It was delivered unto my Captain upon

the Guard. .

Capt. Merriman took the Book into his Hand,

and faid, this individual Book, figned in feveral

Places by me, I delivered to Mr. Froft, Secretary

to the Council of State ; and Mr. Froft caufed

me to fign it in feveral Places, whereby it could

not be miftaken ; and that is the very individu-

al Book.
Mr. Prideaux. My Lords and you Gentlemen

©f the Jury, we have thus far gone in the Evi-

dence ; That Mr. Lilburne brought the laft Sheet

of it to the Prefs the firft. Time he came with

Capt. Jones ; and he came the fecond Time with

him to examine it, that is, he had a printed Co-

that was then printing, to be printed, and

the Corrector for the Prefs, reading the

Original Copy : So far is he privy to the print-

ing of the Book. In the next place, three Wit-

neffes (Soldiers of the Army) fwear he gave

them one of thofe Books, and one of them gave

it to his Lieutenant, and the Lieutenant to the

Captain •, and the Captain fwears this individual

Book is that which Mafter Lilburne gave into

the Hands of Mr. Lewis. What can be more

plain than this? 1 pray you judge. For here is

plain Teftimony of Mr. Lilbume's delivering

this Outcry to the three Soldiers, and one of them

to his Lieutenant, and his Lieutenant to his Cap-

tain, and his Captain to Mr. Frofi, with Marks

upon it : So this is by confequence proved unto

you, this is the individual Book that Mr. Lil-

burne, Prifoner at the Bar, gave to the three Sol-

diers ; and which is to be made ufe of when you

have occafion upon the Evidence, to read it as

now it is in the Court with you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your Favour, I have

had no Anfwer to the Queftion, that I humbly

craved an Anfwer to ; which is, Whetherthe Sol-

diers are pofitively able to fwear that this is the

individual Book which they fay, they had from

my Hands ? And whether they are able to fwear

that this individual Book is a true and exact Copy,

without Addition or Subfcription, of that Origi-

nal Manufcript that the Printer faith Capt. Jones

delivered to his Hands, which, he faith, 1 had

an uncorrected Sheet of.

Mr. Prideaux. We fhall clear that to you when

we come to make ufe of it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you, Gentlemen

of the Jury, to take notice of my Queftion, and

what I am denied.

Mr. Prideaux. The next Thing that is charged

upon him is a Paper written and entitled, A Sal-

va &? Libertate. My Lord, I fhall open the

Thing to you, being directed (my Lord) for the

Profecution of Mr. Lilburne. And having Things

of a very high Concernment that are charged a-

gainft him, I did by Word of Mouth fend to

have him come to me ; which I underftood he

did decline, becaufe the Lieutenant had no War-
rant. The Lieutenant of the fewer was pleafed

to acquaint me with it ; and I there upon direct-

ed my Warrant to the Lieutenant to bring him
before me. And Mr. Lilburne, &c.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. My * Lord, * This was the

and pleafe your Honours, thus ; If firft or fecond

we be upon Matter of Fact, let us

come to it : Let us have no Intro-

duction to teach the Witneffes what

to fay, what beyond their own Con-

fciences dictate unto them.

Mr. Prideaux. I fhall go no further in it; let

the Lieutenant of the Tower fpeak himfelf.

Time that

Mr. Lilburne'.?

Tongue flipped

the calling him
Lord.

py»
was

The Lieutenant of the Tower fworn.

Mr. Prideaux. Lieutenant of the Tower, you
are queftioned about the Salva Libertate that

Mr. Lilburne delivered unto you : Have you the

Original ?

Lieut. Tower. Yes, Sir, I have.

Mr. Prideaux. How came you by it ?

Lieut. Tower. I fhall be fhort in what I fay,

becaufe I will not trouble the Court.

]
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Let me hear you then.

\ Lieut. Tower. Being abroad, there was a Mef-
fage left with my Servants, That I fhould bring

up Lieutenant- Colonel Lilburne to Mr. Attorney's

Chamber in the Temple ; and when I came in, I

had notice of it. I did then fend to Lieutenant-

Colonel John Lilburne, to let him know what
Command I had received from the Attorney-Ge-
neral, the next Day to carry up Lieutenant-

Colonel John Lilburne to the Attorney-Gene-

ral's Chamber. But Lieutenant- Colonel Lilburne

not well underftanding whether I had a written

Warrant, or no ; but before he came at home he

recalled himfelf, and came back, and defired the

Sight of my Warrant. I told you before I had
no Warrant, but by Word of Mouth. Why,
fays he, do you think I will go upon a verbal

Warrant? Saith he, I will not go unlefs you
force me. But the next Day Mr. Attorney-Ge-
neral was acquainted that he refufed to come with-

out a Warrant. When the Warrant was made,
I met with Lieutenant-Colonel Lilburne about

Ten of the Clock in the Tower, who entreated me
to let him fee it. I fhewed it him, he read it,

he defired a Copy of it, takes it ; which when
he had, he went from me, and about two Hours
after he came to me, about one of the Clock, and
faid, I pray receive this from me, for (fays he)

I do intend not to own the Authority and Power
of that Gentleman that fent me the Warrant,
Whereupon I told him, I would fhew this fame
to the Attorney- General : Why, fays he, I give

you it to that Purpofe. When the Time came,

Lieut. Col. Lilburne did go along with me in an
orderly civil way : I had no body but my Man,
for I told him, I will take no body but my Man,
if you will engage yourfelf to me that you will

return peaceably : which he did, and fo we went
very orderly to Mr. Attorney's Chamber ; which
is all for that I can fay.

Mr. Attorney. If you pleafe that the Lieutenant

may upon his Oath declare, whether that be the

true Original he had from Mr. Lilbume's own
Hands or no ?

Lieut.
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Lieut. Tower. It was never out of my Cuftody

fince he gave it me.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you do acknowledge

it to be your own Hand-writing ; fhew it him.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I am too old with fuch

fimple Ginns to be catch'd •, I will call mine Eyes

upon none of your Papers, neither fhall I an-

fwer to any Queftions that concern my felf : I

have learned more Law out of the Petition of

Right, and Chrift pleading before Pilate, than

fo.

Mr. Attorney. Would you had learnt more Go-

fpel.

Judge Jermin. You may anfwer a Queftion

whether it be true or falfe ; and confefs, and glo-

rify God.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I havefaid, Sir; prove

it : I am not to be catch'd with fuch Fooleries.

Ld Keble. You fee the Man, and the Quality of

the Man ; this is the Paper that he delivered into

his.own Hand, and that is fufficient, as well as

if it was of his own Hand-writing.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Good Sir, your verbal

Bench-Law is far fhort of your written Text in

your own Law-Books.

Judge Jermin. Put it into the Court.

Ld Keble. Your writing or not writing is

nothing •, you delivered the Book.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I defire to know in

•what Place, whereabouts in the Tower of London,

the Lieutenant of the Tower faith he received this

Paper.

Ld Keble. Let him name the Place where it was

delivered.

Lieut. Tower. The Place was at the Steps, at

the Bottom of the narrow Paffage at my Garden-

end, in the Cart-way where the Carriages come

up.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Whether is that Place in

the Liberties of London, or is it Part of the Coun-

ty of Middle/ex ?

Lieut. Tower. The Tower is in

* But U is * London, fome part of it, and fome
fure that Place

t jn Mjjjlefex ; but Unto which

l^TZ ^ce that Part of the Tower be-

filwi in Sir longs, I am not able certainly to

Tho Overbu- fay, but it hath commonly been re-

rfs Cafe See
pu(;ed m Middlefex.

ITU Ho. Mr. Attorney. My Lord, you

chap. India- may fee the Valiantnefs of this

ment. Champion for the People's Liber-

ties, that will not own his own
Hand ; altho I muff, defire you Gentlemen of the

Jury to obferve that Mr. Lilburne implicitly con-

fefleth it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I deny nothing : and
what now can be proved mine, I have a Life to

down for the J unification of it, but prove it

firft.

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, the next thing to

prove the Charge againft him is a very high one,

it is flyled Mr. Lilburne's, and his Name is to it :

it is intitled, An Impeachment of High Treafon a-

gainft Oliver Cromwell, and his Son-in-Law Hen-
ry Ireton, Efqs; late Members of the late forcibly

diffohed Houfe of Commons, prefented to publick

View by Lieutenant-Colonel John Lilburne, clofe

Prifoner in the Tower of London. My Lord, I

doubt he will not own it ; but yet, my Lord,
he may be asked the Queftion.

Lieu. Col. Lilburne. I fhall deny nothing I

do : And yet I have read the Petition of Right,
Vol. II.

Sir, that teacheth me to anfwer to no Queftion9.

againft or concerning myfelf, and I have read of

the fame to be practifed by Chrift and his Apo-
ftles. -

Mr. Attorney. You will not own it, the Book
you have read ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne, You may make your Ad-
vantage of it.

Mr. Attorney. We fhall prove it, call Wit-
neffes.

Thomas Daffern, Richard Lander Marfhal, Ma-
jor Hawkfworth, Governour of Warwick-
Cajlle ; all fworn.

Mr. Attorney. Mr. Daffern, if you pleafe he

may be asked where he met Mr. Lilburne, the

Time when, what Book was given him, and to

what purpofe it was given him.

Mr. Daffern. Why, it was upon the 12th of

Auguft laft. Having been in Southwark, I met
with Lieutenant-Colonel Lilburne upon the Bridge,

I went back with him to his Houfe at Winchefler-

houfe in Southwark : He had leave to vifit his Fa-
mily at that time, being very fick, and I Cold him
I was going into Warwickjhire the next Day ; and
he having heard that Colonel Ayres was then re-

moved from Oxford to Warwick-Caftle, he gave
me a Book to carry to him, and I delivered it to

him at Warwick-Caftle.

Mr. Attorney. The Book that he gave you, you
gave to the Governour : Did you fee any more of
them ?

Mr. Daffern. I never faW any of them but

that, which was both the firft and the laft I have
feen of them.

Mr. Attorney. Lander the Marfhal was prefenE

at that Time, was he not ?

Mr. Lander. That I was, and I had it from
him, and I delivered the Book to Major Hawkf-
worth the Governour.

Mr. Attorney. Major Hawkfworth, what did

you do with the Book ?

Major Hawkfworth. I fent it to Colonel Pure'

foy, in a Paper fealed with three or four Seals,

Mr. Attorney. Call Colonel Purefoy.

[ Col. Purefoy fworn. J

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I hear not one Words
Under favour but one Word, I crave but one
Word, I have an Exception. Firft, Col. Pure*

foy is one of thofe that call themfelves the Keepers
of the Liberties of England ; and for committing
Crimes againft them I am indicted, and he is one
of them, and therefore a Party, and in that refpedt

in Law he can be no Witnefs againft me. It would
have been very hard for the King to have been a
Witnefs againft that Man that was indicted for

committing Crimes againft him ; fuch a thing in

all his Reign was never known.
Col. Purefoy. I received this Book, fealed in a

Letter, from the Governour of Warwick-Caftle,

Major Hawkfworth ; I know his Ha.nd, and I

know the Day he fent me this very individual

Book, and my Hand is at it, and the Gover-
nour who fent it up to me, which I declare to be
the very individual Book that I received from
him.

Mr. Attorney. Mr. Lilburne, you aremiftaken j

Col. Purefoy is a Member of Parliament, he is

none of the Keepers of the Liberties of Eng-
H 2. land,
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land. But why will you put us to all this trouble

'to prove your Books, feeing your Hand is to

them ? My Lord, I had thought the great Cham-

pion ofEngland would not be afham'd to own his

own Hand.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I have anfwered once for

all : I am upon Chrift's Terms, when Pilate ask-

ed him whether he was the Son of God, and ad-

jured him to tell him whether he was or no ; he

replied, Thoufayft it: fo fay I, Thou Mr. Pri-

deaux fayft it, they are my Books : but prove it,

and when that is done, I have a Life to lay down
tojuftify whatever can be proved mine.

Judge Jermin. But Chrift faid afterwards, lam
the Son of God : confefs, Mr. Lilburne, and give

Glory to God.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I thank you, Sir, for your

good Law, but I can teach myfelf better.

Mr. Attorney. Here Mr. Lilburne makes a

Book, which was given to the Hands of Mr. Daf-

fern by Mr. Lilburne himfelf ; Mr. Daffern he

fwears that the fame Book he gave to Col. Ayres ;

Mr. Lander the Marfhal of the Garifon of War-
wick fwears that the fame Book Daffern gave to

Col. Ayres, he had from him, and gave to Major

Hawk/worth the Governour ; the Governour

fwore, that that Book he received from the Mar-

fhal, he fent fealed up in a Letter to Mr. Purefoy

;

who alfo fwears, that that fame Book he fet his

Hand to it to know it again by, and that the in-

dividual Book that is now given into your Hands,

is the fame Book that was delivered to him : the

Title is, An Impeachment of High Treafon againft

Oliver Cromwell Efa;

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I wonder you are not

afhamed fo far to prefs the Teftimony beyond that

they themfelves fwear. Mr. Daffern doth not

name the Book at all that was given to him, nei-

ther doth he fwear it to be mine ; and therefore,

Sir, you abufe yourfelf, the Court, the Witnefs,

and me too.

Mr. Attorney. Matter Lilburne, I have done

you Right in it, and no Wrong at all ; for Col.

Purefoy doth name it. The next is a very dange-

rous Book of his, called, A Preparative to the

Hue and Cry after Sir Arthur Haflerig. Mr. Lieu-

tenant of the Tower, you are upon your Oath, I

pray you fpeak your Knowledge to that.

Lieut, of Tower. My Lord, it is true, Lieut.

Colonel Lilburne gave me in the Tower fuch a

Book ; but I cannot fay, whether that be the

fame Book that he delivered to me, or no : I

have fuch a Book alfo at home, but I am notable

to fay that is the very Book he gave me ; and
whether this be the fame Book, I know not.

Mr. Prideaux. Call Mr. Nutleigh zndMx.Rad-
tiey.

\_ Matter Nutleigh fworn. ]

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I pray let the Witneffes

ttand here, the Jury fay they cannot hear them.

£ Edward Radney called and fworn. ]

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I pray you, let me know
what thefe Gentlemen are j I do not know them,

(a) But Mr. Lilburne hath been heard to profefs, he faw not thefe Gentlemen in the Chamber that he dlfcourfed with Mr . Pri-

deaux in, altho' he looked divers times about him.
(b) That is an errant Lye ; for divers that heard the Word}, aver them to be thus : It is my Book, and I will own it ; andfa

it might bei altho
1

he had bought it.

U) So is an Ox a Man buys 'with his money, it is his own ; and fo is a Gold Ring htfinds, after he hathfound it, it is bis own

:

endyet it dsth notfollow, that the Owner either begot (be Ox, sr made the Gold Ring.
own

neither can I remember at prefent that ever I faw
them before.

Ld Keble. You fee they look like Men of Qua-
lity. .

Mr. Prideaux. They are my Servants, Mr.
Lilburne.

Mr. Nutleigh. My Lord, and {a) pleafe your

Lordfhip, the 14th of September laft, the Prifo-

ner at the Bar, Lieut. Colonel John Lilburne, be-

ing before Mr. Attorney-General, and I being by
in the Chamber, I did fee him deliver this Book to

Matter Attorney- Genera], this fpecifical Book •,

and he did own it, and called himfelf the Author
of it, fave only the Erratas of the Printer.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. The laft Claufe, I befeech

you, Sir ; the Jury defires to hear the laft

Claufe.

Mr. Nutleigh. My Lord, he (b) faid he was
the Author of that Book, the Erratas of the Prin-

ter excepted.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Let him be asked this

Queftion, Whether in that Expreffion, faving the

Erratas of the Printer, there did not follow thefe

Words, which are many ? I defire to know whe-

ther there were not fuch Words or no ?

Mr. Radney. I was. prefent, my Lord, when
the Prifoner at the Bar prefented this Book to Mr.
Attorney, and owned it, faving the Erratas of the

Printer.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne, Were there no more
Words ?

Mr. Radney. Not to my Remembrance. [And

fo faid they both.']

Lieut. Tower. My Lord, I was prefent at the

fame time, when Lieut. Colonel Lilburne did pre-

fent a Book to Mr. Attorney-General, with fuch

a Title as this : And truly if I be not much mi-

ftaken, there was ufed by him thefe Words,
which are many. Thus it was in the whole : fays

he, Here is a Book which is mine, which I will own,

the Erratas or Errors of the Printer excepted^

which are many ; and if I miftake not very much,
thofe are the very Words Matter Lilburns

faid.

Mr. Attorney. My Lords, and you Gentlemen

of the Jury, you fee that here are three Wit-
neffes, and they do all agree in this, that Matter

Lilburne, the Prifoner at the Bar, did deliver this

Book to me, owning it as his (c) own: the Er-

rors or Erratas of the Printer only excepted.

And as for that Claufe, which are many, only the

Lieutenant of the Tower fwears to that fingly ;

and therefore I defire it may remain in Court, as

that individual Book that they faw Matter Lil-

burne give me. But, my Lord, there is another

Book in the Indiclment, in titled, The legal fun-

damental Liberty of the People of England revived

and afferted : or, An Epiftle written the Eighth of

June 1649, by Lieutenant-Colonel John Lilburne,

to Mr. William Lenthall, Speaker to the Remain-

der of thofe few Knights, Citizens, and Burgejfes,

that Colonel Thomas Pride at his late Purge thought

convenient to leave fitting at Weftminfter. My
Lords, for this Book it owns Matter %Lilburne, if

he will own it, it hath his Name to it: But I

have my Leffon from him ; my Lord, he wilt
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own nothing, he will publifh enough, but, my
Lord, he will not own it when he comes to be

queftioned for it •, that is not the true Principle of

a true Chriftian, nor an Englifhman, nor a Gentle-

man.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I deny nothing, by your

Favour.

Mr. Attorney. And confefs as little. My Lord,

for this you have two Books in proof before you
•,

The Preparative to the Hue and Cry, and the Sal-

va Libertate owns thefe very individual Books :

for the Preparative to the Hue and Cry, in the

marginal Note at the fecond Page, owns and a-

vows this Book, called, The Legal Fundamental,

&c. to be Mafter LUburne's. And Mafter Lil-

burne himfelf did own the Preparative to the Hue
and Cry before three Witneffes to be his 5 and

therefore the Salva Lihertate, Mr. Lieutenant of

the Tower hath fworn that he received it from

his own Hands. My Lords, as for this Book the

Salva, which he does not acknowledge, we mall

read the Words in the Indictment, although it had

been as ingenuous for Mafter Lilburne to have

confefs 'd it, as for us to have prov'd it : and for

the proof of it, read the Title.

Clerk. The Title read : A Preparative to an

Hue and Cry after Sir Arthur HaQerig, a late

Member of the forcibly dijfolved Houfe of Commons ;

and now the prefent Wicked, Bloody, and Tyrannical

Governor of Newcaftle upon Tyne.

Mr. Prideaux. Read the marginal Note in

Page 2.

Clerk. Page 2. in the Margin :
4 That thofe

* Men that now fit at Weftminfter are no Parlia-
4 ment, either upon the Principles of Law or

' Reafon : fee my Argument and Reafons there-
c fore, in my fecond Edition of my Book of the
6 8th of June 164.9, intitled, The Legal Funda-
' mental Liberties of the People of England revived
4 and afferted, pag. 48, 49, to 63 .'

Mr. Attorney. This Book huh Mr. Lilburne''^

Name to it, and here in this his Hue and Cry he

owns it, and the third Page in the Margin hath

it again.

Clerk. Page 3. ' Perufe carefully, I intreat
4 you, the Quotations in the 6th and 8th Pages
' of my forementioned Impeachment of High
' Treafon againft Cromwell : as alfo of the 12th
* and 15th Pages of the fecond Edition of my
' forementioned Book, dated the 8th of June,
4

1649, intitled, The Legal Fundamental Liberties,
4 &c.'

Mr. Attorney. Read the fourth in the Body of
the Book.

Clerk. Page 4. ' At which Trial, by Strength
' of Arguments, I forced the Judges openly to
4 confefs, that Generals were nothing in Law:
* fee alfo the fecond Edition of my Book of the
4 8th of June, 1649, intitled, The Legal Fun-
4 damental Liberties of the People of England re-
4 vived, afferted, and vindicated, pag. 49.'

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Let him fpeak whether

it be 29 or 49.
Clerk. Forty-nine, (but there is not fo many

Pages in the Book.)

Mr. /Attorney. My Lord, here is a Salva Ll-

berlate
9 which is his own Book, tho he will not

own it. My Lord, I had thought the great

Champion of England for the People's Liberties,

would never have been fo unworthy, as not to

have owned his own Hand : but read in the 24th
Page of the Salva in his own written Hand*

53
Clerk. Page 24. * I have by almoft eight

4 Years dear-bought Experience found the Inte-
' reft of fome of my forementioned Judges to be
* too ftrong for me to grapple with,

* and the only * Caufe, to my Ap- * ^" ™as
c prehenfion, that all this while b'°"ght

,

in
,

, \ r i A , • by head and
4 keeps me from my own. And in jbouldert.
1 the Margin he faith ;

' See alfo the
' fecond Edition of my forementioned Book, in-

* titled, The Legal Fundamental Liberties of the
4 People of England revived, &c.

Mr. Attorney. Now, my Lord, there is the

Salva Libertate that was given from his own
Hand that owns it 5 I mean this Book, called,

The Legal Fundamental Liberties, &c.

Mr. Attorney. Read the Title of it.

Clerk. A Salva Libertate fent to Col. Francis

Weft, Lieutenant of the Tower of London, on

Friday the 14th of September, 1649, by Lieut »

Col. John Lilburne.

Mr. Prideaux. Read where it is marked.
Clerk. ' But if you would produce unto me a

* written Warrant which hath fome more Face of
legal Magiftracy in it than verbal Commands,
and according to my Right and Privilege lee

me read it •, I would go with you either by
Land or Water as you pleafe, becaufe I was in

no capacity to refill you : altho I then told you
I judg'd a Paper-Warrant (altho in Words ne-

ver fo formal ) coming from any pretended

Power, or Authority in England now vifible,

to be altogether illegal ; becaufe the intruding

Genera], Fairfax, and his Forces, had broke

and annihilated all the formal and legal Ma-
giftracy of England, yea the very Parliamenc

itfelf; and by his Will and Sword (abfolute

Conqueror like) had moft tyrannically erected*

kt up, and impofed upon the free .People of
this Nation, a Juncto, or Mock-Power fitting

at Wejlminfler, whom he and his Aflbciates call

a Parliament ; who, like fo many armed Thieves

and Robbers upon the High-way^ affume a

Power by their own Will, moft traitoroufly to

do what they like.'

Mr. Attorney. That's not the Place, look to-

wards the latter End.
Clerk. Then here it is:

e Sure I cannot chufe
' but acquaint you, that I have long fince drawn
4 and publifhed my Plea againft the prefent Pow-
4

er, in my fecond Edition of my Book of the 8th
' of June 1649, intitled, The Legal Fundamental
4 Liberties of the People of England revived, af-
* ferted, and vindicated ; which you may in an
4 efpecial manner read in the 43d, 44th, 45th, to
4 the 49th Page : which by the Strength of the
4 Lord God Omnipotent, my large experienced
4 Help in Time of Need, 1 will feal with the
' laft Drop of my Blood.'

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, for the Book called

The Legal Fundamental Liberties of England, his

Name is to the Book ; but I fhall not put much
Weight upon that : But in others of his Books,
as in his Prepapative to an Hue and Cry, which
he owns, and which is proved he owns by three

Witnefies, in feveral places of that Book he
owns this as his Book, viz. The Legal Fundamental
Liberties of England revived, &c. he calls in

mine, and his forementioned Book : and in his Sal"

•va Libertate he owns it again, gives it the very

Date, and the very Title that is in this Book.
My Lords, we have done with this. My Lords

ff

now I fhall go on to makeufe of its and to fhew
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my Lord out of thefe Books his Words and Lan-
guage, to make good the Charge that hath been

read in the Indictment againft Mr. Lilbume. My
Lords, if you pleafe, for that I fhall begin firft

in reading to the Jury the very Aft itfelf, which

makes the Fact to be Treafon.

My Lord, for that, here is the A£t that doth

declare the Commonwealth for the future to be-

come hereafter a Free State ; and the other de-

claring that Fact to beTreafon, that fhall fay it is

Tyrannical or Unlawful. Thefe are general Acts

which need not be prov'd •, but if the Prifoner

does defire it, we fhall prove it.

Clerk. Die Luna, 14 May, 1649. Ordered

by the Commons affembled in Parliament.

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. Hold, Sir ! prove your

Aft firft, whether it be an Aft of Parliament.

Mr. Attorney. My Lords, I fhall not ftruggle

with Mr. Lilbume in plain Terms ; but I thought

when Afts were publifhed, the Courts of Juftice

were bound in Duty to take Notice of them : but

if it be fo he will have it proved, we will, altho

it be but a flender Cavil, for this is one of the

publifhed Copies.

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. But under your Favour,

Mr. Prideaux, as there may be Counterfeit Mo-
ney (which we fee there is every Day) fo there

may be Counterfeit Statutes too ; and this may be

one for any thing I know, therefore I defire it

may be prov'd to be a true Statute or Aft of Par-

liament.

Mr. Nutleigh. This is a true Copy of the Aft

of Parliament, which I examined with the Re-

cord.

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. The Record f Where is

that to be found ?

Mr. Nutleigh. At Wefiminfler, with the Clerk

of the Parliament.

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. Is this Gentleman able to

depofe it to be a true Law in all the parts of it ?

For by the Laws of England* the People are not

to take any Notice of Afts made, but by a Par-

liament ; neither are they to take Notice of thofe

Afts that are not proclaimed. Sir, I befeech you
let me know where the Record and Rolls are,

and where he examined this, and whether he is

able to fwear whether they have been proclaim-

ed in every Hundred and Market-Town, accord-

ing to the old, and not yet repealed: Law of Eng-

Ld Kcble. At Wejlminfter, he tells you,

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. I befeech you, where at

Wejlminfter ?

Ld Keble. The Clerks of the Parliament are

known to the City of London here, you know it

well enough.

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. That is no Anfwer to my
Queftions : I pray let me have fair Play

; for it

is a Queftion to me, whether the Books of the

Clerk of the Houfe of Commons be a (a) Record
in Law or no.

Ld Keble. Read, Clerk.

Clerk. An Atl of the 14th of May 1 649, de-

claring what Offences Jhall be adjudged Treafon.

HEREAS the Parliament hath abo-

lifhed. the Kingly Office in England and
* Ireland, and in the Dominions and Territories

* thereunto belonging, and hath refolved and de-
' clared that the People fhall for the future be

governed by its own Reprefentatives, or Na-
tional Meetings in Council, chofen and in-

trufted by them for that Purpofe ; hath fettled

that Government in the Way of a Common-
wealth and Free State, without King or Houfe
of Lords : Be it therefore enacted by this pre-

fers Parliament, and by the Authority of the

fame, That if any Perfon fhall malicioufly or
advifedly publifh, by writing, printing, or o-

penly declaring, That the faid Government is

Tyrannical, Ufurped, or Unlawful ; or that the

Commons in Parliament affembled are not the

Supreme Authority of this Nation ; or fhall

plot, contrive, or endeavour to ftir up or raife

Force againft the prefent Government, or for

the Subverfion or Alteration of the fame, and
fhall declare the fame by any open Deed : That
then every fuch Offence fhall be taken, deem-
ed, and adjudged by the Authority of this

prefent Parliament to be High Treafon. And
whereas the Keepers of the Liberty of Eng-
land, and the Council of State conftituted, and
to be from Time to Time conftituted by Au-
thority of Parliament, are to be, under the faid

Reprefentatives in Parliament, intrufted for the
Maintenance of the faid Government with fe-

veral Powers and Authorities, limited, given*

and appointed unto them by the Parliament :

Be it Jikewife enacted by the Authority afore-

faid, That if any Perfon fhall malicioufly and
advifedly plot, or endeavour the Subverfion of
the faid Keepers of the Liberty of England, or
the Council of State, and the fame fhall de-
clare by any open Deed; or fhall move any
Perfon or Perfons for the doing thereof, or ftir

up the People to rife againft them, or either

of them there, or either of their Authorities j

that then every fuch Offence and Offences fhall

be taken, deemed, and declared to be High.
Treafon.
6 And whereas the Parliament, for their jufl

and lawful Defence, have raifed and levied the

Army and Forces under the Command of Tho-

mas Lord Fairfax, and are at prefent neceffi-

tated, by reafbn of the manifold Diffractions

within this Commonwealth, and Invafions

threatned from Abroad, to continue the fame ',

which under God muft be the inflrumental

Means of preferving the well-affefted People
of this Nation in Peace and Safety : Be it

further enacted by the Authority aforefaid,

That if any Perfon, not being an Officer, Sol-

dier, or Member of the Army, fhall plot,

contrive, or endeavour to ftir up any Mutiny
in the faid Army, or withdraw any Soldiers or
Officers from their Obedience to their fuperi-

or Officers, or from the prefent Government,
as aforefaid ; or fhall procure, invite, aid, or
affift any Foreigners or Strangers to invade
England or Ireland ; or fhall adhere to any
Forces raifed by the Enemies of the Parlia-

ment, or Commonwealth, or Keepers of the

Liberties of England ; or if any Perfon fhall

counterfeit the Great Seal of England (for the

time being) ufed and appointed by Authority of
Parliament : That then every fuch Offence

and Offences fhall be taken, deemed, and de-

clared by the Authority of this Parliament, to

be High Treafon ; and every fuch Perfon fhall

fuffer Pain of Death, and fhall forfeit unto the

(a) And well might he : for Mackwel, in. his Manner of paffing of Statutes, in his Preface thereunto, faith, That th*

Commons had no Journals at all before Edward the Sixth's Time.

' Keepers
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* Keepers of the Liberty of England, to and for '

* the ufe of the Commonwealth, all and fingular

* his and their Lands, Tenements and Heredi-

* taments, Goods and Chattels, as in cafe of High-
' Treafon hath been ufed by the Laws and Statutes

* of this Land, to be forfeit and loft. Provided
' always, That no Perfons mall be indifted and
* arraigned for any of the Offences mentioned in

* this Aft, unlefs fuch Offenders fhall be in-

' difted or profecuted for the fame within one
* Year after the Offence committed.

Mr. Prideaux. Read the other Statute.

Clerk. Tuefday, 17 July 1649. Ordered by the

Commons ajfembled in Parliament^ That this AEl

he forthwith -printed and piiblijhed. Hen. Scobell,

Cler. Pari.

An ASi declaring what Offences flail be

adjudged treafon.

HERE AS the Parliament hath abo-

lifhed the Kingly Office in England and
' Ireland, and in the Dominions and Territories

* thereunto belonging ; and having refolved and
* declared, that the People ill all for the future

* be governed by its own Reprefentatives, or
* National Meetings in Council, chofen and en-

* trufted by them for that purpofe, hath fettled

* the Government, by way of a Commonwealth,
' and Free State, without King or Houfe of
* Lords: Be it enafted by this prefent Parlia-

* ment, and by the Authority of the fame, That
* if any Perfon fhall malicioufly or advifedly pub-
' lifh by writing, printing, or openly declaring,

* That the faid Government is tyrannical, ufurp-

' ed or unlawful •, or that the Commons in Par-
' liament affembled, are not the Supreme Au-
* thority of this Nation ; or fhall plot, contrive

* or endeavour to ftir up, or raife Force againft

* the prefent Government, or for the Subverfion
* or Alteration of the fame, and fhall declare the

* fame by any open Deed ; that then every fuch
* Offence fhall be taken, deemed and^ adjudged
' by Authority of this Parliament, to be High-
* Treafon. And whereas the Keepers of the Li-
' berties of England, and the Council of State,

' conftituted and to be from time to time con-
* ftituted by Authority of Parliament, are to

* be, under the faid Reprefentatives in Parlia-

* ment, entrufted for the Maintenance of the

* faid Government with feveral Powers and Au-
* thorities limited, given and appointed unto
* them by the Parliament : Be it likewife enaft-
* ed by the Authority aforefaid, That if any
* Perfon fhall malicioufly and advifedly plot

* or endeavour the Subverfion of the faid

* Keepers of the Liberties of England, or the

* Council of State, and the fame fhall declare
c by any open Deed, or fhall move any Perfon
4 or Perfons for the doing thereof, or ftir up the
* People to rife againft them, or either of them,
' their, or either of their Authorities, that then
' every fuch Offence and Offences fhall be taken,
* deemed and declared to be High-Treafon. And
c whereas the Parliament, for their juft and law-
' ful Defence, hath raifed and levied the Army
* and Forces now under the Command of Tho-
' mas Lord Fairfax, and are at prefent neceffi-

' tated by reafon of the manifold Diftraftions
* within this Commonwealth, and Invafions
* threatned from abroad, to continue the fame,

which, under God, muft be the inftrumental

Means of preferving the well-affefted People
of this Nation, in Peace and Safety: Be it

further enafted by the Authority aforefaid,

That if any Perfon, not being an Officer, Sol-

dier or Member of the Army, fhall plot, con-

trive or endeavour to ftir up any Mutiny in

the faid Army, or withdraw any Soldiers or
Officers from their Obedience to their fupe-

rior Officers, or from the prefent Government,
as aforefaid ; or fhall procure, invite, aid or
affift any Foreigners or ftrangers to invade

England or Ireland, or fhall adhere to any For-
ces raifed by the Enemies of the Parliament,

or Commonwealth, or Keepers of the Liberty

of England: or if any Perfon fhall counterfeit

the Great Seal of England, for the time being,

ufed and appointed by Authority of Parlia-

ment : that then every fuch Offence and Of-
fences fhall be taken, deemed and declared by
Authority of this Parliament to be High-Trea-
fon ; and every fuch Perfon fhall fuffer Pains

of Death, and a!fo forfeit unto the Keepers of

the Liberty of England, to and for the Ufe of
the Commonwealth, all and fingu'ar his and
their Lands, Tenements and Hereditaments,

Goods and Chattels, as in cafe of Pligh-Trea-

fon hath been ufed by the Laws and Statutes

of this Land, to be forfeit and loft. Provided
always, That no Perfons fhall be indifted and
arraigned for any the Offences mentioned in

this Aft, unlefs fuch Offenders fhall be indifted

and profecuted for the fame within one Year
after the Offence committed. And be it fur-

ther enafted by the Authority aforefaid, That
if any Perfon fhall counterfeit the Money of
this Commonwealth, or fhall bring any falfe

Money into this Land, counterfeit, or other

like to the Money of this Commonwealth,
knowing the Money to be falfe, to merchan-

dife or make Payment in Deceit of the People

of this Nation-, or if any Perfon fhall hereafter

falfly forge, and counterfeit any fuch kind of

Coin of Gold or Silver as is not the proper

Coin of this Commonwealth, and is or fhall

be current within this Nation, by Confent

of the Parliament, or fuch as fhall be by them
authorized thereunto -, or fhall bring from the

Parts beyond the Seas into this Commonwealth,
or into any the Dominions of the fame, any

fuch falfe and counterfeit Coin of Money, be-

ing current within the fame, as is abovefaid,

knowing the fame Money to be falfe and coun-

terfeit, to the intent to utter or make pay-

ment with the fame, within this Common-
wealth, by Merchandife or otherwife ; or if

any Perfon fhall impair, diminifh, falfify, clip,

wafh, round or file, fcale or lighten, for wicked

Lucre or Gain-fake, any the proper Monies

or Coins of this Commonwealth, or the Do-
minions thereof, or of the Monies or Coins

of any other Realm, allowed and fuffered to

be current within this Commonwealth or the

Dominions thereof: that then all and every

fuch Offences above-mentioned, fhall be, and

are hereby deemed and adjudged High-Trea-

fon -, and the Offenders therein, their Coun-

fellors, Procurers, Aiders and Abettors^ being

convifted according to the Laws of this Na-
tion, of any of the faid Offences, fhall be

deemed and adjudged Traitors againft this

Commonwealth, and fhall fuffer and have fuch
* Pains
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6 Pains of Death and Forfeitures, as in cafe of

* High-Treafon is ufed and ordained. Provided

« always, and be it enacted by the Authority afore-

« faid, That this Act touching the Monies and

« Coins aforefaid, or any thing therein contained,

* nor any Attainder of any Perfon for the fame,

4 fhall in any wife extend, or be judged to make
« any Corruption of Blood to any the Heir or

« Heirs of any fuch Offender, or to make the

« Wife of any fuch Offender to lofe or forfeit her

« Dower of or in any Lands, Tenements or He-
« reditaments, or her Title, Action or Intereft in

* the fame.*

Mr. Attorney. My Lords, and you Gentlemen

of the Jury, you have heard thefe Laws read unto

you: The Claufes that we are to make out in

Clerk. Title-page. * Before a legal Magiftra-

cy, when there fhall be one in England, which
1 .now in the leaf! there is not*

Mr. Attorney. Seefol. i.

Clerk. Page i.
6
I have fully, both by Lav?

: and Reafon, undeniably and unanfwerably pro-
s ved, that the prcfent Juncto fitting at Weftmin-
' fler, are no Parliament at all in any Senfe, either
1 upon the Principles of Law or Reafon, but are
' a Company of ufurping Tyrants and Deftroyers
* of your Laws, Liberties, Freedoms and Pro-
' prieties, fitting by vertue of the Power and
1 Conqueft of the Sword.'

Mr. Attorney. Read the Title-page of the fame
Book.

Clerk. An Impeachment of High-Treafon againfi
Oliver Cromwell, and his Son-in-law Henry Ire-

Proof againft Mr. Lilburne, are thefe ; That if ton, Efquires, Members of the late forcibly diffolved

any Perfon fhall malicioufly or advifedly publifh

by writing,, printing, or openly declaring that the

faid Government is tyrannical, ufurped or unlaw-

ful ; or that the Commons in Parliament affembled

are not the Supreme Authority of this Nation,

are Traitors: Thefe we fhall join together with

his Books. My Lord, you are here in Court,

and have received the Proofs againfi him, and

we fhall now make it out, that he hath done

Houfe of Commons ; prefented to publick view, by
Lieutenant-Colonel John Lilburne, clofe Prifoner
in the Tower of London, for his real, true and
•zealous Affetlions to the Liberties of his native Coun-
try. In which following Difcourfe or Impeach-
ment he engageth, upon his Life, either upon
the Principles of Law (by way of Indictment, the
only and alone legal way of all Trials in England)
or upon the Principles of Parliaments antient Fro-

what this Statute forbids, out of his own Books ceedings, or upon the Principles of Reafon, (by

that have come from himfelf, as the Author of Pretence of which alone they lately took away the

them. My Lord, we fhall begin with that

Charge againft him, in declaring the Govern-

ment to be tyrannical, ufurped and unla *ful

;

and for that end, fee his bnpeachment of Lieute-

nant General Cromwell, &c. p. 8.

Juftice Jermin. Mr. Lilburne, doth your Paper

of the 17th of May agree with that which was

read, or no?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. No, Sir; I conceive, Sir,

you ask'd me whether this Act I have in my
Hand, do agree with that which was read ?

Juftice Jermin. Yes, Sir, I do.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. It does not.

Juftice Jermin. Then you will make ufe of it

by and by.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I, Sir
5
intend fo, if you

will let me.

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, the firft is, That

Mr. Lilburne hath declared the prefent Govern-

ment to be tyrannical, ufurped and unlawful : and

that in ipfiffimis verbis, that he hath fo declared,

in a very high way, in the very Words: So his

Book, entitled, An bnpeachment of High-Treafon

againfi Oliver Cromwell, and his Son-in-law

Henry Ireton, &c. Read/c/. 8.

Clerk. Fol. 8. ' Yea, and the abfolute keeping
* up of a perpetual and everlafting Army, un-
* der which the People are abfolute and perfect

' Slaves and Vaffals, as by woful and lamentable

< Experience they now fee they perfectly are ;

* which Slavery and abfolute Bondage is like

c daily to increafe under the prefent tyrannical

' and arbitrary, new erected, robbing Govern-
6 ment.'

Mr. Attorney. And fo, my Lord, it is here

(Expreffed to be a tyrannical and arbitrary Govern-

ment, which are exprefly within the Words of

the Law ; for they are a tyrannical Government.

My Lords, we fhall not ftick here with him,
but you fhall fee the whole Courfe of all his

Pen's Writing hath been to this Purpofe : That
goes very far, my Lord ; fee the Title-page of
the lafl Book.

King's Life) before a legal Magiftracy, when there

fhall be one again in England, which now in the
leaft there is not.

Mr. Attorney. Indeed, my Lord, and you of
the Jury, Mr. Lilburne is a very great Rooter.,

not a Leveller, but a Rooter to root out the
Laws of England by the Roots.

J- '—
. There is not"

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your favour, Mr. Vri-

deaux, I knew the time when others faid it as

well of you ; and it is not long fince you were
penn'd down in a black Bill, to my Knowledge,
asunfavoury Salt, with many others, to be thrown
out of the Houfe of Commons. I pray, Sir,

whether were thofe Rooters that went about to

root up that Houfe by force of Arms, or Mr.
Prideaux and others to give them caufe, at leaft

in their Apprehenfions?

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, a legal Magiftracy in

E?igland as now, he faith, in the leaft there is not

:

if there be no Magiftracy, I will conclude, there

is no Propriety left in this Nation ; but Mr. Lil-

burne faith, there is no Magiftracy ; and if fo,

then no Propriety.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. It would be a very ftrange

Argument that you would infer; I wifh you and
I were to difpute that in point of Law for our
Lives, that to deny a Magiftracy legally confti-

tuted, according to the Formalities of the Law,
does not deftroy Propriety. For indeed, Sir,

Propriety is an Antecedent to Magiftracy, and is

firft in being before it. But, Sir, to end the

Difpute, he that owns the Law of England (as

I do) that diftinguifheth meum and tuum, can

never be a Deftroyer of Propriety : I wifh your
Practice were as confonant to Propriety as my
Principles.

Mr. Attorney. Read
Mark.

Clerk. ' Now, I fay, confidering that which
e

is before declared, I cannot upon any terms in

' the world, either with Safety, Juftice or Con-
* fcience, as things ftand with me at prefent, give

! my

the fecond Page at the



8 my Confer.t, but hinder (as much as I am able)

4
all Addreffes from me, or any other that fhall

* own theufurping Tyrants as a Parliament, efpe-

* daily by Petition, which was aCourfe (faith the

K pretended Parliament Solicitor againft the King,
4 in his Cafe fated, page 14.) which God's People
4 did not take with Rehoboam ; for they never

* petitioned him (although he was their lawful Su-

* preme MagiftrateJ but advifed him ; he refufmg

* their Counfel, and hearkening to young and
c wicked Counfellors, they cry out, io thy

* tents, O Ifrael ! and made quick and fhort Work
4 of it.'

Mr. Prideaux. My Lord, here are Words again

to make good as aforefaid, that the Parliament

are ufurping Tyrants. Read alfo page 28.

Clerk. Read on page 2B. in the Margin of the

faid Book. ' And if thofe very things fhould be

* judged Treafon, as they are, and were in the

* Earl of Strafford, I wonder what fhould be-
4 come of all our prefent Juncto at Weflminfter,
4 and their new thing called a Council of State?

* Undoubtedly the rnofl if not all of them, muft
4 go to tyburn or towerhill, there by a Halter or
* Ax, to receive their juft Deferts. Amen.

Mr. Attorney There is an Amen pronounced to

us, let him have it that deferves it: But go on.

Read the nth Page of his Book called, the Ap-
prentices Out- cry

Clerk reads page n. ' We fay, confidering

* what is before premifed, we are necefficated and
' compelled to do the utmoft we can for our
' own Prefervation, and the Prefervation of the

* Land of our Nativity, and never by popular
* Petitions, &c. addrefs our felves to the Men
4 fitting at Weftminfter any more, or to take any
* more notice of them* than as of fo many Ty-
* rants and Ufurpers ; and for time to come to
c hinder fas much and as far as our poor defpi-

* fed Interefi will extend to) all others whatfoever
' from fubferibing, or presenting any more po-
* pular Petitions to them ; and only now as our
* laft Paper-Refuge, mightily cry out to each
* other, of our intolerable Oppreffions, in Let-
* ters and Remonftrances figned in the behalf,

* and by the appointment of all the reft, by fome
4 of the ftouteft and ftiffeft among us, that we
* hope will never apoftatize, but be able, thro'

' the Strength of God, to lay down their very
* Lives for the maintaining of that which they fet

* their Hands to.'

Mr. Attorney. Read page 2.

Clerk reads on page 2. ' But even our Parlia-

liament (the very Marrow and Soul of all the

People's native Rights J put down, and the

Name and Power thereof tranfmitted to a pick'd
Party of your forcible felecting, and fuch as your
Officers four Lords and Riders) have often and
frequently ftyled no better than a mock Parlia-

ment, a Shadow of a Parliament, a feeming
Authority, or the like, pretending the Conti-
nuance thereof, but till a new and equal Re-
prefentative by mutual Agreement of the free

People of England, could be elected •, although
now for Subferviency to their Exaltation and
Kingfhip, they prorogue and perpetuate the

fame, in the Name, and under Colour thereof,

introducing a Privy Council, or, as they call

it a Council of State, of Superintendency and
Suppreffion to all future Parliaments for ever,

erecting a martial Government, by Blood and
Violence impulfed upon us.
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Mr. Attorney. Read page 3. at the Mark,

Clerk. Page 3. ' Trade is decayed and fledj

4 Mifery, Poverty, Calamity, Confufion, yea

* and Beggary grown fo fore and fo extreme upon
* the People, as the like never was in England^,

' under the rnofl: tyrannical of all our Kings that

' were before thefe in prefent power, fince the

' Days of the Conqueror himfelf: no Captivity,

* no Bondage, no Oppreffion like unto this ; no
* Sorrow and Mifery like unto ours, of being

' enflaved, undone and deftroyed by our large

' pretended Friends.'

Mr. Attorney. Read page 4.

Clerk. Page 4. ' And yet nothing but the
4 groundlefs Wills and Humours of thofe afore-

' mentioned Men of Blood rageth and ruleth over

* us: and is this all the Return and Fruit that
4 People are to expect from your Hands?

'

Mr. Attorney. Take this Preparative to an Hue
and Cry after Sir Arthur Haflerig, and read

page 2.

Clerk reads on. * The Preparative to an Hue
4 and Cry after Sir Arthur Haflerig, at page 2.

' in the Margin : That thofe Men that now fit at

* Weftminfter, are no Parliament, either upon the
4 Principles of Law or Reafon.

Mr. Attorney.."^Read page 3.

Clerk. Page 3.
4 They promife to amend, and

4 to proceed according to the Form of the Law,
4 as fully appears in their laft fore-mentioned
4 Declaration, and feveral others ; as particular-
4

ly the prefent Declaration of this prefent
4 Juncto againft Kingfhip, dated the 17th of
4 March, 1648.

Mr. Attorney. Read page 4.

Clerk. Page 4.
4 But the faid Sir Arthur Haflerig^

4 &c. more arbitrarily, and more treacheroufly
4 than Strafford, having no pretence of Regal,
4 Legal, or Parliamentary Commiffions or Autho-
4

rity, no not fo much as from the prefent No-
4 thing, or illegal Juncto, or the prefent illegal
4 Thing called the Council of State, Mr. Johnjor-
4 dan now Member. 1

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, he doth declare who
he means by Juncto ; Mr. Jordan, a Member of

the prefent Juncto, the pretended Houfe of Com-
mons. In the third place, for the Proof of this

firft Particular, I fhall produce his Book, entitled,

the Legal and Fundamental Liberties of England
revived, &c. Read page 41.

Clerk reads Page 41.* But, Sir, I fay, no won-
4 der, all the things foregoing rightly confider-
4 ed, they do own you now (as thomas Pride
4 hath made you) for the Supreme Authority of
4 the Nation j although before they would nei-
4 ther fubmit to King nor Parliament, fwhen it

4 was a thoufand times more unqueftionable, both
4 in Law and Reafon, than now you are) but
4 fought againft both King and Parliament, their
4 Setters up, conquered them, repelled them,
4 fubdued them, and broke them both ; and fo
4 pulled up by the Roots all the legal and vifible
4 Magiftracy and Authority in the Nation, and
4 thereby left none but them felves, who ftand in
4 parallel to none (as they have managed their
4 bufinefs) but to a Company of Murtherers,
4 Thieves and Robbers, who may jultiy be dif-
4 poffeffed by the firft Force that are able to do
4

it ; no pretended Authority that they of them-
4 felves, and by their Swords can fet up, having
4 in the Sight of either God or Man, either in

' Law or Reafon, any more juft Authority in

i 4 them,



58 46. The Trial of Col. John Lilfaurne 1 Car. II.

4 them, than fo many Algier Pirates and Robbers
* upon the Sea have.'

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. You read as I take it, a

fecond Edition ; whether is that a fecond Edition

or no?

Mr. Attorney. No, no, it is not fo in the In-

dictment ; it is no fecond Edition, but the firfl.

Read pag. 56.

Clerk. Pag. 56. ' To which I anfwer ; Firft,

' That that Company of Men at Weflminfler, that
4 gave Commiffion to the High Court of Juftice to

* try and behead the King, were no more a Par-
4 liament by Law, or a Reprefentative of the

* People, by the Rules of Juftice and Reafon,
* than fuch a Company of Men are a Parliament,
4 or Reprefentative of the People, that a Com-
4 pany of armed Thieves chufe and Ctt apart to
4 try, judge, condemn, hang or behead any Man
4 that they pleafe, or can prevail over by the
4 Power of the Sword to bring before them by
4 force of Arms, to have their Lives taken away
4 upon pretence of Juftice, grounded upon Rules
' merely flowing from their Wills and Swords.'

Mr. Attorney. Read the Title-page.

Clerk. The Legal Fundamental Liberties of the

People of England- revived, offerted and vindica-

ted; or an Epifile written the eighth of June 1649,
by Lieutenant-Colonel John Lilburne, [Arbitrary

and Arifibcratical Prifoner in the Tower of London)
to Mr. Will. Lenthall Speaker to the Remainder

of thofe few Knights, Citizens and Burgeffes, that

Col. Thomas Pride at his late Purge thought con-

venient to- leave fitting at Weftminfter, (as mofi

fit for his and his Mafters Defigns, to ferve their

ambitious and tyrannical Ends, to deflroy the good

eld Laws, Liberties and Cujloms of England,

the Badges of our Freedom, as the Declaration a-

gainfi the King of the ijtb of March 1648. pag.

23. calls them., and by force of Arms to rob the People

of their Lives, EJlates and Properties, and fibjetl

them to perfeci Vaffalage and Slavery, as he clearly

evinceth in his prefent Cafe, &c. they have done)

and who (in truth no otherwife than pretendedly)

fiyle themfelves the Parliament of England.

Mr. Atorney. Read pag. 2.

Clerk. c
Sir, for Diftinclion-fake, 1 will yet

' ftyle you Mr. Speaker, although it be but to

* Col. Pride's Junfto,. or Parliament fitting at
4 Weflminfler, (not the Nation's, for they never
4 gave him Authority to iffue out Writs to elect or
' conftitu^e a Parliament for them;) and a little

* below, in the fame fecond Page, I accufed
* Oliver Cromwell for a wilful Murtherer, and
4 defire you there to acquaint your Houfe there-
4 with, (who then had fome little Hand of a
* Parliament-ftamp upon it.')

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 28.

Clerk. Page 28. The like of which Tyranny
4 the King never did in his Reign ; and yet by
4

St. Oliver's means loft his Plead for a Tyrant.
4 But the Thing that I principally drive at here,
4

is to declare that Oliver and his Parliament,
* now at Weflminfler, (for the Nation's it is not)
4 having plucked up the Houfe of Lords by the
4 Roots.'

Page. 44. ' So that if it be Treafon to call this
4 a a Mock-
* Parliament, yea, and to fay

« And if this be true, for true it (a) is,

« then there is neither legal Juftice, nor Juftice

t of Peace in England.'

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 37.
Clerk. Page 37. * For if they ever had intended

4 an Agreement, why do they let their own lie

4 dormant in the pretended Parliament ever
4 fince they prefentect it ? feeing it is obvious to
' every knowing Eye, that from the Day they
4 prelented it, to this Hour, they have had as

' much Power over their own Parliament, now
4 fitting, as any School-Mafter in England, had
4 over his Boys.'

Clerk. Page 45. ' For your Intereft and the
' King's, both being Interefts of Truft, as your
4 Declarations do plentifully and plainly declare

;

4 but efpecially your prefent Junclo's late Decla-
4 ration againft the late beheaded King, and
4 Kingly Government.
Mr. Attorney, Read Page 58.

Clerk. Page 58. ' And let the prefent Genera-
4 tion of fwaying Men, that under pretence of
' Good, Kindnefs, and Friendship, have deftroy-
4 ed and trod under foot all the Liberties of the
4 Nation, and will not let us have a new Parli-
' ament j but fet up by the Sword their own in-
4 fufferable, infupportable, tyrannical Tyranny.*

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I pray, Sir, are all thefe

Quotations in the Indictment verbatim ? I do not
remember that I heard them there.

Mr. Attorney. No, we do not offer any Book
but what is charged in the Indictment: For we
do fay, That he publifhed thofe Things among
other Claufes and Things in thofe Books. So
that we bring in no Book that is not contained

in the Indictment. Read Page 64.

Clerk. Page 64. ' That fo they might rule* di-

rect, and counfel their Mock Parliament.

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 68.

Clerk. Page 68. 4 That that High Court of
4 Juftice was altogether unlawful, in cafe thofe
4 that had fet it up had been an unqueftionable
c Reprefentative of the People, or a legal Par-
4 liament: neither of which they are, not in the
4

leaft ; but, as they have managed their Bufi-
4 nefs in oppofing all their primitive declared
4 Ends, are a Pack of traitorous, felf-feeking9
4 tyrannical Men, Ufurpers of the Name and
' Power of a Parliament.'

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 72.

Clerk. Page 72.
4 Then with much more Con-

4 fidence, fay I, This that now fits is no Par-
4 liament ; and fo by confequence the High Court:
4 of Juftice no Court of Juftice at all.'

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, that which we mall
offer you next, is the Salvo- Libertate, which the

Lieutenant of the Tower had from Mr. Lilburne

himfelf. Read at the Mark.
Clerk,

-f- A Salva Libertate: Altho' I then.
4 told you I judged a Paper Warrant, (altho' in
4 Words never fo formal) coming from any pre-
4 tended Power [or Authority in England, now
4 vifible, to be altogether illegal; becaufe the
4 intruding General Fairfax and his Forces had
' broke and annihilated all the formal and legal
4 Magiftracy of England, yea the very Parlia-
4 ment it felf ; and by his Will and Sword (ab-
4 folute Conqueror like) had moft tyrannically
4 erected, and fet up, and impofed upon the
4 free People of this Nation a Junclo or Mock-
4 Power, fitting at Weflminfler, whom he and
4 his Aflbciates call a Parliament; who, like fo
4 many armed Thieves and Robbers upon the
' Highway, affume a Power, by their own

(a) Thefe Words are not in Page 44, but are in the Book it/elf.

Wills,
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* Wills, mofl traitoroufly to do what they like,

* yea, and to fill the Land with their mock and

« pretended magistrates, amongft the Number
1 of which is the pretended Attorney-General :

4 in perfect Oppofition of whom, to the utmoft

* of my might, power, and Strength, I am re-

' folved, by God's gracious Affiftance, to fpend

* my Blood, and all that in this World is dear

* unto me, fuppofing him not really and fubftan-

* daily worthy the Name of an Englifh Freeman,

* that in fome meafure, in this Particular, is not

* of my mind.'

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, in the Cafe of this

Charge, what Mr. Lilburne is pleafed to fay con-

cerning me, I (hall fay no more but only this : I

mall not do fo by him; I (hall not fpend my
Blood againft him. You fee what he faith,

That the prefent Government is tyrannical,

ufurped, and unlawful ; that the Commons of

England in Parliament affembled are not the Su-

preme Authority, but a JunEto, a mock Power,

a mock Parliament, a Company of Traitor?,

that rule merely by the Dictates of their own

Will. I could alledge more of his Books unto

you, which have Words in them very notorious,

and very publick. He doth in exprefs Words

fay, That the Government is arbitrary, tyranni-

cal, and a new-erected, ruining, enSlaving, rob-

bing Government : To Style them Tyrants,

Ufurpers, Traitors, parallel to none but mur-

derers, Robbers, Thieves : No Parliament at all,

but 'Thomas Pride's Juntlo, and School-Boys,

Deftroyers of the Laws and Liberties of the Na-

tion, the prefent Juntlo, (Chimeras, Fooleries,

and the like.) All thefe Expreffions, and many
more, which I am forry I have occafion to re-

peat to you ; that fo much Dirt fhould be

thrown into the Face of any magistrates of Eng-

land : My Lords, thefe are now the beft which

do rule. My Lords, I hope you, and the Gen-

tlemen of the Jury, will take notice of it, as to

be very clear, pregnant, evident Proof, that

Mr. LUburne hath thus published, and thus faid.

And befides this, you fee what he does go to :

He denies all (a) magistracy. So that now we
are all alike, a Chaos, a Confufion : And this he

hath brought us to, or would have endeavoured

it. My Lords, I Shall not aggravate; and if I did

fay no more, it were enough. But I come to the

fecond general Head of the Charge ; which" is,

That he hath plotted and contrived to levy or

raife Forces to fubvert and overthrow the prefent

eftablifhed Government, in the way of a free

State or Commonwealth. My Lords, if I Should

fay nothing more to the Jury, this that hath

been already read is evident Proof of that : For

certainly thofe that Shall fay that the Governors be

Tyrants, that the Parliament is tyrannical, that

thay are men of Blood, Destroyers of Laws and

Liberties ; this cannot be of any other ufe but to

raife Force againSt them, for Subverting and de-

stroying of them, as he himfelf faith, as So many
Weafels or (b) Polecats; efpecially if you consi-

der to whom thefe Words were declared, to the

Army in general, efpecially to the General's Re-
giment of Horfe, that helped to plunder and de-

ftroy Mr. Lilburne*s true Friends, defeated at

Burfdrd; and fome of which were moft juStly, as

Traitors, executed.

My Lords, if I would fay nothing more to the

Jury but this, there is Sull and pregnant proof al-

ready : But yet, my Lord, further to Shew the

malice of Mr. Lilbume's Heart, and that he did

intend to raife Force, to incite and invite them to

help him to fubvert and deStroy the Parliament :

And for the proof of this, read the fifth Page of
his Impeachment of High Treafon againft Oliver

Cromwell.

Clerk reads Page 5. ' But, my true Friends, I
* (hall here take upon me the Boldnefs (in regard
1 of the great Distractions of the prefent Times)
1 to give a little further Advice to you, from
' whofe Company or Society (or from fome of
* themj hath begun and iffued out the moft tran-
' fcendent, clear, rational, and juft Things for
' the People's Liberties and Freedoms, that I
* have feen or read in this Nation, as your nota-
* ble Petition of May 20, 1647, burnt by the
« Hands of the Common Hangman, recorded in
' my Book, called, Rafb Oaths unwarrantable,
' page 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35 . with divers
1 other Petitions of that Nature ; and the Peti-
1 tion of the 19th of Jan. 164.7, recorded in the
« following Difcourfe, page 45, 46, 47, 48, &c.
' and the mafculine Petition of the nth of Sept.
' 1648, fo much owned by Petitions out of feve-
« ral Counties, yea, and by the Officers of the
* Army's large Remonstrance, from St. Albans^
6 of the 1 6th ofNovember 1648, page 67, 68, 69.
* The Substance of all which, 1 conceive, is

* contained in the printed Sheet of Paper figned
* by my Fellow- Prifoners, Mr. William JValwyn^
* Mr. Thomas Prince, and Mr. Richard Overton,
' and myfelf, dated the ift of May, 164.9, and
' intitled, An Agreement of the Free People of
* England, &c. The principles of which I hope
* and defire you will make the final Centre and
' unwavering Standard of all your Defires, Ha-
* zards, and Endeavours, as to the future Settle

-

* ment of the Peace and Government of this di-
* ftracted, wafted, and divided Nation ; the firm
* establishing of the principles therein contained,
* being that only which will really and in good
* earneft marry and knit that Interest, whatever
* it be, that dwells upon them, unto the dittref-

« fed and oppreSfed Commons or People of this
' Nation. Yea, the fettling of which principles
' is that that will thereby make it evident and
' apparent unto all understanding people in the
' World, that the real and hearty Good and
' Welfare of this Nation hath cordially, and in
' good earneft, been that that their Souls have
« hunted for, and thirtted after, in all the late

« bloody Civil Wars and Contests; all theCon-
4 tefts of the King's party, for his Will and
« prerogative, beiog merely felfifh, and fo none
' of the people's Interest ; and the Conteft of the
' Presbyterians, for their make-bate, dividing,
* hypocritical Covenant, no better in the leaft ;
1 and the prefent Conteft of the prefent diffemb-
* ling Intereft of Independents, for the people's
' Liberties in general fread the following Dif-
« courfe, page 27, 28, 19.) merely no more
* but Self in the higheft, and to fet up the

(z) That's falfe : He doth no fuch Thing ; hut at moft faith, The Army hath dejiroyed all the legal Magifracy'of the Nation •

and they are the Men that thereby are the real Levellers and Rooters.

(b) In calling Tyrants tVeafels and Polecats, he hath faid no more hut what he hath learned out o/"Saint John'j own Aroument
of Law agair.ji the Earl of Stiaffoid i at •which you have no taufe ti be angry, becaufe they are the Ifords of one ofjour own
Brother Lawyers.

Vol. II. la «
fa\fe
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* falfe Saint and moft defperate Apoftate, Mur-
* derer, and Traitor, Oliver Cromwell, by a pre-
* tended Election of his mercenary Soldiers, un-
* der the falfe Name of the Godly Intereft, to

* be King of England, &c. (that being now too
* apparently all the intended Liberties of the

* People that ever he fought for in his Life ;)

* that fo he might rule and govern them by his

* Will and Pleafure, and fo deftroy and evafia-

* lize their Lives and Properties to his Lufts :

* Which is the higheft Treafon that ever was
* committed or acted in this Nation in any Senfe
* or Kind ; either, 1. In the Eye of the Law :

* Op, 2. In the Eye of the ancient (but yet too
* much arbitrary) Proceedings of Parliament :

* Or, 3. In the Eye of their own late declared

* Principles of Reafon (by pretence of which, and
* by no Rules of Law in the leaft, they took
* away the late King's Head :) Which, if there

* were any Law or Juftice in England to be had)
4 or any Magiftrates left to execute it fas in the

* leaft there is notj &c.

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 7.

Clerk. Page 7. * But the Principles of the fore-

* faid Agreement being fo deteftable and abomi-
* nable to the prefent ruling Men, as that which
* they know will put a full End to their Tyranny
' and Ufurpation, and really eafe and free the

* People from Opprefiion and Bondage, that it

4
is fomething dangerous to thofe that go about

* the promotion of it ; yet I fhall advife and ex-
4 hort you vigoroufly to lay all Fear afide, and
* to fet on foot the promotion of it, in the fame
4 method we took for the promotion of the fore-

* faid Petition of January 19, 1649, laid down
4 in the following Difcourfe, Page 23, 24, 25.
4 and write to your Friends in every County of
4 England, to chufe out from among themfelves,
4 and fend up fome Agents to you (two at leaft

* from each County, with money in their Pockets
4 to bear their Charges) to confider with your
4 culled and chofen Agents of fome effectual
4 Courfe, fpeedily to be taken, for the fettling

4 the principles thereof (as that only which in an
4 Earthly Government can make you happy, or
4

at leaft to know one another's minds in own-
* ing and approving the principles thereof :) that
4 fo it may become to you and your Friends your
4 Centre, Standard, and Banner, to flock toge-
4 ther tOj in the time of thefe foreign Invafions
4 and domeftick Infurrections, that are like fpee-

* dily to bring mifery enough upon this poor
* and diftrefled Nation ; and unanirnoufly refolve

* and engage one to another, neither to fide with
* or fight for the Chimeras^ Fooleries, and Pride
4 of the prefent men in power, nor for the
4 Prince's Will, or any other bafe Intereft what-
4 fbever (the which if you fhould fight for, it

4 would be but an abfolute murdering of your
4 Brethren and Countrymen, you know not
* wherefore) unlefs he or they will come up to

* thofe juft, righteous, and equitable principles

4 therein contained) and give rational and good
4 Security for the conftant adhering thereunto.

* And upon fuch Terms, I do not fee but you
* mayjuftifiably, before God or Man, join with
4 the Prince himfelf ; yea, I am fure a thoufand

< times more juftly than the prefent ruling men
* (upon a large and ferious Debate) joined with
4 Owen Roe O-Neale, the grand bloody Rebel in

4 Ireland : Who, if we muft have King, I, for
s my part, had rather have the Prince than any

* man in the World, becaufe of his large pre-
* tence of Right ; which, if he come not in by
' Conqueft, by the Hand of Foreigners, (the
4 bare attempting of which may apparently ha-
* zard him the Lofs of all at once, by gluing to-

' gether the now-divided People, to join as one
4 man againft him) but by the Hands of' Englijh-

' men, by Contract upon the principles aforefaid

* (which is eafy to be done,) the people will ea-

* fily fee that prefently thereupon they will enjoy
4 this tranfcendent Benefit) he being at peace with
* all foreign Nations, and having no regal pre-
* tended Competitor) viz. The immediate Dif-
* banding all Armies and Garifons, faving the
' Old Cinque-Ports ; and fo thofe three grand
4 plagues of the people will ceafe, viz. Free-
1 Quarter, Taxations, and Excife : By means of
* which the people may once again really fay they
1 enjoy fomething they can in good earneft call
4 their own. Whereas, for the prefent Army to
' fet up the falfe pretended Saint Oliver (or any
4 other) as their elected King, there will be no-
* thing thereby, from the beginning of the Chap-
' ter to the end thereof, but Wars, and the cut-
' ting of Throats Year after Year, yea, and the
' abfolute keeping up of a perpetual and ever-
4 lafting Army, under which the people are ab-
* folute and perfect Slaves and Vaflals, as by wo-
* ful Experience they now fee they perfectly

* are: Which Slavery and abfolute Bondage is
4 daily like to increafe under the prefent tyran-
4

nical and arbitrary new-erected robbing Go-
1 vernment.*

Mr. Attorney. He hath blown the Trumpet,
for all that will to come in : He hath fet up his

Centre ; he would have it to be a Standard for

all his Friends to flock to him. And to make
them the more quick in betaking them to their

Arms, he hath falfly and malicioufly there faid,

That the Parliament had joined with Owen Roe
O-Neak ; which, I can alfure all that hear me
this Day, the Parliament always detefted, abo-

minated, difavowed, and declared againft, and
never had any Thoughts that way. My Lord,

the falfe Imputations of his laid upon the Par-

liament, are almoft numberlefs. But, in the

fecond place, I come to that pretty Bauble,

that's of his own making, the Agreement of the

People, dated at the Tower the ift of May 1649,
and fhall defire your Lordfhips to judge whether

this Agreement of the people, which he made,

and his Friends then in the Tower, and intitled,

The Agreement of the People, as figned by them,

for they called it An Agreement of the Free Peeple

<?/England, ftrikes not at the very Root of all Go-
vernment.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Pray, Sir, look whether

it be licenfed, or no, according to the Law of

the Nation ; and if it be licenfed by publick Au-
thority, how comes it to be Treafon? That's

very ftrange

!

Mr. Attorney. It is fo.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Pray, Sir, go, and que*

ftion the Licenfer then.

Mr. Attorney. We muft queftion the Author ;

the Licenfer will not excufe it. Read Page 2.

Clerk reads Page 2. * This Agreement being
4 the ultimate End and full Scope of our Defires
4 and Intentions concerning the Government of
' this Nation.* And a little below :

* After the
' long and tedious profecution of a moft unna-
' tural, cruel, home-bred War, occafioned by

' Divi-
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1 Divifions and Diftempers amongft ourfelves

;

* and thofe Diftempers arifing from the Uncer-
' tainty of our Government, and the Exercife of
* an unlimited or arbitrary Power by fuch as

* have been trufted with Supreme and Subordi-
* nate Authority, whereby Multitudes of Grie-
* vances and intolerable Oppreffions have been
* brought upon us : And finding, after eight
r Years Experience and Expectation, all Endea-
* vours hitherto ufed, or Remedies hitherto ap-

* plied, to have increafed, rather than diminifh-

' ed our Diffractions ; and that if not fpeedily

' prevented, our falling again into Factions and
* Divifions will not only deprive us of the Be-
* nefit of all thofe wonderful Victories God hath
* vouchfafed againft fuch as fought our Bon-
* dage, but expofe us firft to Poverty and Mi-
* fery, and then to be deftroyed by foreign Ene-
* mies.'

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 3.

Clerk. Page 3. ' Agree to afcertain our Go-
* vernment, to abolifh all arbitrary Power, and fet

' Bounds and Limits both to our Supreme and all

* Subordinate Authority, and remove all known
* Grievances ; and accordingly do declare and
* publifh to all the World that we are agreed as

* followeth. Page ibid. That the Supreme Au-
* thority of England, and the Territories there-

* with incorporate, mail be and refide hencefor-

* ward in a Reprefentative of the People

,

1 confuting of Four Flundred Perfons, but no
* more.'

Mr. Attorney. The Manner of the Choice of

whom, &c. they leave to this Parliament. Read
a little below.

Clerk. * All Things concerning the Diftribu-

* tion of the faid Four Hundred Members pro-
* portionable to the refpective Parts of the Na-
* tion, the feveral Places for Election, the man-
* ner of giving and taking of Voices, with all

* Circumftances of like Nature, tending to the

' compleating and equal Proceedings in Elec-
* tions, as alfo their Salary, is referred to be
* fettled by this prefent Parliament, in fuch fort

' as the next Reprefentative may be in a cer-

* tain Capacity to meet with Safety at the
* Time herein expreffed •, and fuch Circumftances
* to be made more perfect by future Reprefenta-
* tives.

* We agree that this prefent Parliament fhall

* end the firft Wednefday in Auguft next, 1 649,
* thenceforward to be of no Power or Authority;
* and in the mean time fhall order and direct the
* Election of a new and equal Reprefentative, ac-

' cording to the Intent of this our Agreement

;

* and fo as the next Reprefentative may meet
* and fit in Power and Authority, as an effectual

' Reprefentative, upon the Day following, name-
* ly, the firft Tburfday of the fame Auguft,
« 1649.

Page ibid. * We agree, if the prefent Parlia-
' ment fhall omit to order fuch Election or Meet-
* ing of a new Reprefentative, or fhall by any
' means be hindered from performance of that
* Truft, that in fuch Cafe we fhall for the next
* Reprefentative proceed in electing thereof in

* thofe Places, and according to that Manner and
' Number formerly accuftomed in the Choice of
* Knights and Burgefies ; obferving only the Ex^
* ceptions of fuch Perfons from being Electors or
* Elected, as are mentioned before in the firft,

* third, and fourth Heads of this Agreement : it

' being moft unreafonable, that we fiSould either

* be kept from new frequent and fucceflive Repre-
' fentatives, or that the Supreme Authority
* fhould fall into the Hands of fuch as have ma-
' nifefted Difaffection to our common Freedom,
' and endeavoured the Bondage of the Nation.
* And for preferving the Supreme Authority from
8 falling into the Hands of any whom the People
' have not or fhall not chufe, we are refolved and
* agreed ('God willing) that a new Reprefentative
* fhall upon the firft Tburfday in Auguft next
* aforefaid : the ordering and difpofing of them-
* felves, as to the Choice of a Speaker, and the

' like Circumftances, is hereby left to their Dif-
' cretion ; but are in the Extent and Exercife of
* Power, to follow the Direction and Rules of
' this Agreement : and are hereby authorized
* and required, according to their befl Judgments,
* to fet Rules for future equal Diftnbution and
* Election of Members, as is herein intended

* and enjoined to be done, by the prefent Par°
* liament.'

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 8.

Clerk. Page 8. ' And all Laws made, or that

fhall be made, contrary to any part of this A=
' greement, are hereby made null and void.'

Mr. Attorney. My Lords, here by this Agree-

ment of the People, that Mr. Lilburne hath pub-
lifhed to the World , in which, my Lord , he

hath defigned how many the Supreme Authority

fhall confift of, the Time when the Parliament

fhall diffolve, as alfo the Time when his own Par-

liament fhall meet ; this Parliament to be diffolved

the firft Wednefday in Auguft 1 649, all Laws con-

trary to this to be null and void : and in it you
fhall find fome Expreffions of Treafon in the

Height, that whofoever fhall do contrary to it,

fhall be moft feverely punifhed. In the next

Book before this, it is defired by him, that this

Agreement of the People may be the Centre, the

Banner, and Standard of all his Friends, and that

they go on vigoroufly with it ; which is, my Lord,

to diffolve this Parliament, and to put on this

new one of Mr. Lilburne's appointing. This we
conceive, which is of Mr. Lilburne's appointing,

would ( if effected) be an abfolute Subverfion of

this in being ; and this is High Treafon. My
Lord, we fhall go on with more yet, and that is

with his Outcry. My Lord, if you pleafe to fee

the Title, and fee to whom it is directed, what

was intended to be done with it: it is intitled,

An Outcry of the Young Men and Apprentices of Lon-
don, diretled Aug. 29, 1649, in an Epiftle to the

Private Soldiery of the Army, efpedaily all thofe

that figned the Solemn Engagement at Newmarket-
Heath, the $lb of June, 1647, but more efpecially

to the private Soldiers of the General,'s Regiment of

Horfe, that helped to plunder and deftroy the honeft

and true-hearted Englifhmen, traitoroufty defeated

at Burford, the 1 gth of May, 1649. A good

Encouragement ! they were traitoroufty defeated

at Burford ; but we are Rebels and Traitors, and

ourArmyMurderers and Butchers, for giving fome

of thofe declared Traitors their due Deferts. But

that you may fee his Tendency by this Book, read

Page 1 1

.

Clerk. Page ir. ' We fay, confidering what is

' before premifed, we are neceffitated and com-
* pelled to do the utmoft we can for our own
' Prefervation, and for the Prefervation of the
4 Land of our Nativity, and never (by popular

* Petitions) addrefs ourfelves to the Men fitting

'at
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* at IWeJlminjler any more, or to take any more
4 Notice of them than of fo many Tyrants and
4

CJfurpers, and for time to come to hinder (as

' much and as far as our poor defpifed Interefl

* will extend to) all others whatfoever from fub-

* fcribing or prefenting any more popular Peti-

* tions to them. And only now, as our laft Pa-
* per- Refuge, mightily cry out to each other of
* our intolerable Oppeflions, in Letters and Re-
' monftrances, figned in the Behalf, and by the

' Appointment of all the reft, by fome of the

' flouted and ftiffeft amongft us, that we hope will

' never apoftatize, but be able through the
*" Strength of God to lay down their Lives for

' the maintaining of that which they fet their

4 Hands to. You our Fellow- Countrymen (the

* private Soldiers of the Army) alone being the

* inftrumental Authors of your own Slavery and
* ours ; therefore as there is any Bowels of Men
4

in you, any Love to your native Country, Kin-
* dred, Friends or Relations, any Spark of Con-
4 fcience in you, any Hopes of Glory or Immor-
4
tality in you, or any Pity, Mercy or Compaf-

' fion, to an enflaved, undone, perifhing, and
' dying People ; O help, help, fave and redeem
c us from total VafTalage and Slavery, and be no
* more like Brute-btrafts, to fight againft us or

* our Friends, your loving and dear Brethren af-

4 ter the Flefh, to your own VafTalage as well as

* ours.

* And as an affured Pledge of your future Cor-

* dialnefs to us, (and the true and real Liberties

* of the Land of your Nativity) we befeech and
* beg of you (but efpecially thofe amongft you
* that fubfcribed the Solemn Engagement at New-
« market-Heath, the 5th of June, 1 647,) fpeedi-

* ly to chufe out amongft yourfelves two of the

* ableft and conftanteft faithful Men amongft you
* in each Troop and Company, now at laft ( by
* correfponding each with other, and with your

* honeft Friends in the Nation ) to confider of

* fome effectual Courfe (beyond all Pretences and

' Cheats) to accomplifh the real End of all your

' Engagements and Fightings, viz. the fettling

« of the Liberties and Freedom of the People ;

' which can never permanently be done, but up-

* on the fure Foundation of a popular Agree-
* ment : who (viz. the People) in Juftice, Gra-
4 titude, and common Equity, cannot chufe but

* voluntarily and largely make better Provifion

* for your future Subfiftence (by the Payment of
* your Arrears) than ever your Officers or this

* pretended Parliament intends, or you can ra-

4 tionally expect from them : witnefs their cut-

* ting off three parts of your Arrears in four, for

* Free-quarter , and then neceflitating abundance
' of your Fellow- Soldiers (now cafhier'd, &c.)
1 to fell theirDebentures at two Shillings Six-pence,
4 three Shillings, and at moft four Shillings per
4 lib*

Mr. Attorney. See, my Lord, here we are fty-

Jed Tyrants, Ufurpers, introducing Government-

Oppreffions of the People ; and Mr. Lilburne is

refolved with his Friends to join together, and to

lay down their very Lives for this. This, I think,

is a Trumpet blown aloud for all the difcontented

People in the Nation to flock together, to root

up and deftroy this Parliament, and fo the pre-

fent Government. But read alfo the fame Book,

fag. 9.

Clerk. Pag 9.
4 For the effectual Promotion

of which faid Agreement, we are neceffitoufly

compelled to refolve in clofe Union to join our-

felves, our Commiffioners (chofen for that End)
in Council, with our forefaid Burford Friends,

or their Commiffioners ; and to refolve to run
all Hazards to methodize all our honeft Fellow-

Prentices, in all the Wards of London, and the

Out-parifhes, to chufe out their Agents to join

with us or ours, to write exhortative Epiftles to

all the honeft-hearted Freemen of England, in

all the particular Counties thereof, to erect feve-

ral Councils amongft themfelves ; out of which
we fhall defire (and exhort them) to chufe A-
gents or Commiffioners (impowered and intruft-

ed by them) fpeedily to meet us, and the Agents
of all our (and the Agreement of the People)

Adherents atLondon, refolvedly to confider of a
fpeedy and effectual method and way how to

promote the Election of a new and equal Re-
prefentative, or Parliament, by the Agreement
of the free People : Seeing thofe Men that now
fit at Weftminfter, and pretendedly ftyle them-
felves the Parliament of England, and who are

as they fay (altho moft falflyj in the Declaration

for a Free State, dated March \ 7, \6\%,pag. 27.
intrufted and authorized by the Confent of all

the People of England, whofe Reprefentatives

they are ; make it their chiefeft and principal-

leftWork, continually to part and fhare amongft
themfelves all the great, rich, and profitableft

Places of the Nation ; as alfo the Nation's pub-
lick Treafure and Lands ; and will not eafe our

intolerable Oppreffions, no not fo much as of late

receive our popular Petitions, having upon
Thurfday laft, Aug. 23, 1649, rejected that moft
excellent of Petitions ready at their Door to be

prefented to them by divers honeft Men (our

true-hearted Neighbours of Surrey) the true

Copy of which, for the Worth of it, altho it

be at large already printed in Friday-Occurren-

ces, and the Tuejday-Moderate, we defire here to

infert.'

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, this is a loud one!

Whom does he join us withal, but only with

thofe very Men that juftly fuffered Death, many
of them, for it ? My Lord, now it's refolved that

thefeMen fhall be clofely joined with them ; and

what to do ? ftill to promote The Agreement of
the People, that which Mr. Lilburne hath hatch-

ed, and that muft be the Baby that thofe de-

clared open Traitors and Rebels, that Mr. Lil-

burne will join with, muft nourifh up. My Lord,

we fhall go on further to fhew, what Mr. Lil-

burne drives at ; which is not much differing

from us, for he would have a Free State : but,

my Lord, this that is now in being, it doth,

not go in Mr. Lilburne's Way, and therefore

it muft be overthrown by Force and Arms, that

fo Way may be made for his new (a) Common-
wealth. We fhall go further on, my Lord, and

in the next place quote his Book, intitled, The
Legal Fundamental Liberties of the People of Eng-
land revived, aj/erted

t
and vindicated, &c. Read

Page 5J.

(a) And yet a feiv Days before his trial, feveral principal leading Members of the Houfe and Council of State, told his

Wife, and feveral others of his Friends, That Mr. Lilburne -was twned Cavalier, and had joined with the Prince, and

they had ftveral Letters under his own Hand to prove it.

Clerk.
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Clerk reads page 57.

l And the prefent Setters

4 up of this tyrannical oew Commonwealth, con-

* fidering thtir many Oaths, Covenants, Promi-
'«

fes, Declarations, and Remonftrances to the

*. contrary, (with the higheft Promifes and Pre-

' tences of Good for the People and their decla-

* red Liberties, that ever was made by Men J

« are the moll perjured, perfidious, falfc, Faith

« and Truft-breakers, and Tyrants, that ever li-

« ved in the World ; and ought by all rational

* and honeft Men to be the moft detefted and ab-
4 horred of all Men that ever breathed, by how
* much the more under pretence of Friendfhip and
* Brotherly-Kindnefs they have done all the mif-

« chief they have done, in deilroying our Laws
* and Liberties.'

Mr. Attorney, My Lord, and you Gentlemen

of the Jury, you fee Mr. LUbume hath been

pleafed very often to give the Name of Tyrants

to the Parliament : [ would give no other In-

stance, nor fhew no other Example but Mr. LU-

bume himfelF, to difprove himfelf; and with

much Confidence affirm it, that never State had

before, (neither King nor State) finee the Foun-

dations of it, fo much Enmity, nor have en-

dured with fo much Patience any Man whatfo-

ever, as they have done Mr. LUbume ; who
notwithftanding all his traitorous Provocations,

and traitorous Dcfigns, undertaken againft them,

is yet alivt at this Day, and now hath fair Play

to plead for his Life* I would take him for his

own Confuter, and fee by all that has been done

by him, and fee if he could make good his Act-

ings, and make good the Parliament's dealing

with him therefore, can be demonftrated by him

to prove them Tyrants. My Lord, I can hard-

ly forbear, to fee and hear his dangerous and de-

fperate Expreffions, to invite all People for to take

up Arms againft the Parliament, to cut their

Throats like Pole-cats and Weafels. My Lords,

here to ftyle them the moft perfidious, perjured,

falfe, Faith and Truft-breakers, and Tyrants, that

ever lived in the World ; and to be the moft ab-

horred and detefted of all the People, above all

Men that ever breathed : O infufferable, and the

higheft of Treafons!

Lieut. Col. LUbume. Sir, all the Wit of all the

Lawyers in England could never bring it within

the compafs of Pligh-Treafon, by the old and

juft Laws of this Nation, that abhors to opprefs

Men contrary to Law ; and then if they feem but

to cry out of their Oppreffions, to make them
Traitors for Words.

Mr. Attorney. I am confident the leaft Lawyer
in England would have brought this within the

Statute of Treafon of the 25 Ed. 3. chap. 2. My
Lords, you fhall fee there is none efcaped ; the

Parliament with him are Tyrants, Traitors, and

Ufurpers •, and therefore he ftirs up the People to

deftroy them. But in the third place, you fhall

fee what Titles he gives to my Lord General Fair-

fax ^ and his chief Officers; that, my Lord, he

that reads! the Books, and doth not know the

Perfons, he would think that they were Mon-
fters, and not Men ; altho' they are fo famous

and glorious, that all the World hath rung of

them to their Praife. But, faith he, never was

there more glorious Declarations made by Men
than by them, and yet never performed any of

them. Nay, he doth not only call them alfo

Covenant and Engagement-Breakers, but he calls

the Lord General Tyrant, Murtherer, and what

.-Treafon. 63
not; and the Officers, perfidious Officers. My
Lords, what I obferved in the la ft Claufe of the

Act, is, That whofoever goes about to draw
the Soldiers from their Obedience to their fuperior

Officers, or from their Obedience to the prefent

Government, that is High Treafon : and this

likewile we fhall find him guilty of, in his Legal

Fundamental Liberties of England afferted and
vindicated; it is in the firftfideof the Epiftle that

in the firft place I pitch upon, read it.

Clerk. Page i. of the Epiftle. ' I pofitively

* accufe Mr. Oliver Cromwell for a wilful Mur-
1 therer, /and defire you to acquaint your Houfe
* therewith ) for murdering Mr. Richard Arnold
* near Ware*
Mr. Attorney. Which Man, my Lord, was

condemned for a Mutineer by a Council of War,
where the Lord Lieutenant of Ireland was but

one Member ; and the Parliament gave him, and
the reft of that Council Thanks, for (hooting that

mutinous Soldier to death : and yet Mr. LUbume
calls him Murtherer therefore, and this is laid to

my Lord Lieutenant's charge for his part.

Lieut. Col, LUbume. Doth not the Petition of
Right abfolutely condemn all fuch Acts in time
of Peace, when the Courts of Juftice are open ?

And the Judgment of the Earl of Strafford doth
abundantly condemn it, who loft his Life for a
Traitor, for doing the very fame Aft in kind and
likenefs, at that time, when he in the eye of the

Law was as legal a General, as the General was
that condemned that Man.
Mr. Attorney. My Lords*——

—

Lieut. Col. LUbume. I pray, Sir, hear me out i

and fure I am, the Declarations of all the Pow-
ers extant in England ever fince, have been to

maintain the Petition of Right inviolably ; yea,

even thofe that are now in prefent Power : and
if the Petition of Right be true, to fhoot Sol-

diers, as Arnold was, is abfolute Murder. Nay,
further, if the Judgment of the Parliament upon
the Earl of Strafford for fuch an Aft be legal,

then all thofe that had a hand in fhooting that

Soldier, are Traitors, and ought to die for it, as

well as Strafford.

Clerk reads on the fecond fide of the Epiftle.
1 Of all which Crimes and Charges, and all your
' others againft the King, contained in your
' forefaid Declaration, I know not three of them
* but Cromwell and his Confederates, in your
* pretended Houfe and Army, are as guilty of
' the like in kind, tho' under a new Name and
' Notion, as the King was of the forementionedj
' if not more guilty.'

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 35.
Clerk. Page 35. ' But alas poor Fools! we were

' merely cheated and cozened, it being the prin-

' cipal Unhappinefs to fome of us, as to the
1 Flefh, to have our Eyes wide open, to fee

' things long before moft honeft Men come to

' have their Eyes open. And this is that which
1 turns to our fmart and reproach, and that which
' we Commiffioners feared at the firft, viz. That
4 no Tye, Promifes, nor Engagements were
' ftrong enough to the grand Jugglers and Lea-
' ders of the Army, was now made clearly ma-
' nifeft; for when it came to the Council, there

' came the General, Cromwell, and the whole
* Gang of Creature- Colonels^ and other Offi-

' cers, and fpent many days in taking it all in
1 pieces, and there Ireton (hewed himfelf an ab-

' folute King, if not an Emperor ; againft whofe
' Will



64 4& The Trial of Col. John Lilburnc 1 Car. II.

' Will no Man mud difpute. And then Shut-

* tlecock, Roe their Scout, Okey, and Major Bar-
1 Ion (where Sir Hardrefs Waller fat Prefident

)

' begun in their open Council to quarrel with us,

' by giving fome of us bafe and unworthy Lan-
1 guage ; which procured them from me a (harp

' Retortment of their own Bafenefs and Unwor-
4 thinefs into their Teeth, and a Challenge from
4 myfelf into the Field. Befides, feeing they

* were like to fight with us in the Room in

' their own Garifon, which when Sir Hardrefs
i Waller in my Ear reproved me for it, I jufti-

' fied it, and gave it him again, for fufiering

* us to be fo affronted. And within a little time
4 after, I took my leave of them for a pack of

' difiembling juggling Knaves: amongft whom
' in Confutation ever thereafter 1 fhould fcorn

* to come, (as I told fome of them ;) for there

* was neither Faith, Truth, nor common Ho-
e nefty among them. And fo away I went to

s thole that chofe and intrufted me, and gave

* publickly and effectually ( at a kt Meeting ap-

*i pointed on purpofe) to divers of them, an ex-
c act Account how they had dealt with us, and
* cozened and deceived us ; and fo abfolutely

* difcharged myfelf from meddling or making
* any more with fo perfidious a Generation of

* Men, as the Great-ones of the Army were

;

4 but efpecially the cunningeft of Machiavelians,

* Commiffary Henry Ireton*

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 37. at the Mark.

Clerk. Page 37.
4 Which the General and his

' Council knew well enough : and I dare fafely

* fay it upon my Confcie.ice, that an Agreement
« of the People, upon Foundations of juft Free-

* dom, gone through with, is a thing the Ge-
' neral, and the chiefefl of his Council, as much
* hate, as they do Honefty, Juftice, and Righ-
« teoufnefs, which they long fince abandoned

;

)

* againft which, in their own Spirits, they are

' abfolutely refolved CI do verily believe) to

* fpend their Heart-Blood, and not to leave a

* Man breathing in Engli/h Air, (if poffibly they

* can) that throughly and refolutely profecutes

* It j a new and juft Parliament being more dread-

* ful to them, than the great day of Judgment,
' fo much fpoken of in Scripture. And altho'

* they have beheaded the King, yet I am confi-

« dently perfuaded, their Enmity is fuch at the

' People's Liberties, that they would fooner run

* the hazard of fetting the Prince in, to reign

« in his Father's ftead, than further really a juft

* Agreement, or endeavour a new Parliament

* righty conftituted.'

Mr. Attorney. Read Page 38.

Clerk. Page 38. * Whenas alas! it is as vifible

« as the Sun when it fhineth in its Glory and
* Splendor, that Korah, Dathan, and Abiram,
* of old, were never fuch Rebels againft Au-
* thority, as the General and his Council are

;

* nor the Anabaptifts at Munfter, with John of
6 Leyden, and Buperdullwn, were never more
4 Contemners of Authority 5 nor Jack Straw,
c nor Wat Tyler; nor all thofe famous Men, men-
1 tioned with a black Pen in our Hiftories, and
4 called Rebels and Traitors, can never be put in

* any Scale of equal Balance, for all manner of
* Rebellions and Treafons againft all forts and
4 kinds of Magistracy, with the General and his

* Council.

Mr. Attorney. See, my Lord, and you Gen-

tlemen of the Jury, you fee Mr. Lilburne gives

the General and his Officers' as bad Titles, as he

can give the worft of Rebels and Traitors, or the

worft of Men. But we go on to his Outcry ;

read the Title of it.

Clerk. An Outcry of the Young-men and Appren-
tices of London, page 8. where it is thus: ' Sure
' all Senfe and Compunction of Confcience is not
' totally departed from you.'

Mr. Attorney. If it pleafe you, my Lord, be-

caufe the Jury may obferve it, the Book is direct-

ed to the Soldiers of the Army* and that is an
Outcry, &c. Now read Page 8.

Clerk. Page 8. ' Sure all Senfe and Compunction
of Confcience is not totally departed from you :

hear us therefore, in the yearning Bowels of
Love and Kindnefs we entreat and befeech you,

with Patience, and do not abufe us for com-
plaining and crying out; for the Knife hath

been very long at the Throats of our Liberties

and Freedoms, and our Burdens are too great

and too many for us, we are not able to bear

them, and contain ourfelves ; our Oppreflions

are even ready to make us defpair, or forth-

with to fly to the prime Laws of Nature, viz.

the next violent Remedy at hand, light where
it will, or upon whom it will. They are be-

come as devouring Fire to our Bones ready to

burn us up, rend ring us defperate and carelefs

of our Lives, prizing thofe that are already

dead above thofe that are yet living, who are

rid of that Pain and Torment that we do and
muft endure, by fenfibly feeing and beholding

not only the dying, but the daily Burial of our

native Liberties and Freedoms ; that we care

not what becomes of us, feeing that we are

put into that original State, or Chaos of Con-
fufion, wherein Luft is become a Law, Envy
and Malice are become Laws, and the ftrongelt

Sword rules and governs all by Will and PJea-

fure ; all our antient Boundaries and Land-
marks are pull'd up by the Roots, and all the

Ties and Bonds of human Society in our Ett-

glijh Horizon totally deftroyed and extirpated.

Alas for pity ! we had rather die, than live in this

Life of languishing Death, in which our Ma-
tters poffefs nothing (to buy themfelves or us

Bread, to keep us alive ) that they can call their

own. Therefore it is no boot for us to ferve

out our Times, and continue at our drudging
Trades, while thefe Oppreflions, Cruelties,

and Inhumanities are upon us, and the reft of

the People ; expofing thereby not only the

Nation to domeftick Broils, Wars and Blood-

fheds, ( wherein we are fure our Bodies muft
be the principal Butts ) but to foreign Invafi-

ons, by France, Spain, Denmark, Sweedland,

&c. as was well obferved by our endeared and
faithful Friends, of the forementioned late

treacheroufly defeated Party at Burford, in

their Book of the 20th of Auguft, 164.9. en-

titled, The Levellers vindicated, or, the Cafe of
their twelve Troops truly fated, Pages 11, 12.

which we cannot but ferioufly recommend
( with them ) to your ferious Perufal and Judg-
ment; and defire to know of you (but efpe-

cially the private Soldiers of the General's Regi-

ment of Horfe, which we underftand had a
hand in feizing upon and plundering our true

Friends at Burford) whether you do own the

abominable and treacherous Dealings of your
General and Lieutenant-General Cromwell, and
their perfidious Officers with them, or no, that

' fo



1649 0- H. y&r High-Treafon.
« fo we may not condemn the Innocent with the

1 Guilty, Be.

Mr. Attorney. Read page 1 1

.

Clerk. Page 11. * You our Fellow- Country-

men (the private Soldiers of the Army) alone,

being the inftrumental Authors of your own
Slavery and ours ; therefore as there is any

Bowels of Men in you, any Love to your na-

tive Country, Kindred, Friends, or Relations,

any Sparks of Confcience in you, any Hopes of

Glory or Immortality in you, or any Pity,

Mercy or Compaffion to an enflaved, undone,

dying, perifhing People : O help, help, fave

and redeem us from total Vaffalage and Slave-

ry, and be no more like brute Beads, to fight

againfl us or our Friends, l$c.

' And as an allured pledge of your future Cor-

dialnefs to us, (and the true and real Liberties

of the Land of your Nativity) we befeech and

beg of you, (but efpecially thofe amongft you,

that fubferibed the folemn Engagement at New-
market, the 5th of June 1647,) fpeedily to

chufe out from amongft yourfelves two of the

ableft and conftanteft faithful Men amongft

you, in each Troop and Company, now at

laft (by correfponding each with other, and

with your honeft Friends in the Nation) to

confider of fome effectual Courfe (beyond all

Pretences and Cheats^ to accomplifh the real

End of all your Engagements and Fightings,

viz. the fettling the Liberties and Freedoms of

the People ; which can never be permanently

done, but upon the fure Foundation of a po-

pular Agreement : who (viz. the People,) in

Juftice, Gratitude, and common Equity, cannot

chufe but voluntarily and largely make bet-

ter provifion for your future Subsidence, than

ever your Officers, or this pretended Parlia-

ment intends, &V.

Mr. Attorney. Read the Title of his Impeach-

ment.

Clerk. An Impeachment of High Treafon againfi

Oliver Cromwell, &V.
Mr. Attorney. Read page 2.

Clerk. Page 2. * But I fhall rather defire and
advife you, by Letter, like yourfelves, to ad-

drefs yourfelves to the Lord Fairfax, by the

Sword of whom and his Soldiers I am now
in prifon for my Honefty and Innocency, and
nothing elfe, and demand my Liberty of him.

If he refufe, print it, and do as God and Rea-
fon fhall direct you ; for it was his and his Sol-

diers Force, that fetch'd me out of my Bed the

28th of March 1649, without all fhadow of
Law or Juftice, and againft the Tenour of all

their own Declarations, the particular Pages of
which you may read in the following Letter to

Mr. Holland, page 5. and by Force of Arms
carried me to Whitehall, and then to Derby-

houfe, before a Company of Men that in Law
had no more power to commit my Body to

Prifon, than fo many Thieves and Robbers up-
pon Shuters-Hill have: who by the Rules of
their own Wills (as in the fecond Edition of the

Picture of them, I have fully declared) fent me
by Force of Arms to the 'Tower, for all my
fhort Eternity in this World.
But I intreat you ferioufly to confider, that I

cannot advife you to make Addrefs to him as

the General of the Nation's Forces -, for he is

no luch thing, but is merely a great Tyrant,
(landing by the power of his own Will, and
Vol. II.

* a ftrong Sword, borne by his Vaffals, Slaves
' and Creatures ; having no Commiffion to
4 be General, either from Law, the Parliament,
* or from the prime Laws of Nature and
* Reafon.'

Mr. Attorney. Read An Outcry of the Young-

men and Apprentices, page 3.

Clerk. Page 3. 'Your Heart feems to us as

' obdurate as the flinty Rock ; as favage and in-

* human, as if the Flefh and Blood, the Bones
* and Marrow of the People were become your
« Meat.*

Mr. Attorney. Stay, Mr. Broughton : The Jury
will take notice, that this is directed to the Soldi-

ers of the General's Regiment ; this fpeaks to

them.

Clerk reads on. Direcled Aug. 29, 1649, in

an Epifile to the private Soldiers of the Army, efpe-

cially all thofe that figned the folemn Engagement at

Newmarket- Heath, the fifth of June, 1649, but

more efpecially to the private Soldiers of the General's

Regiment of Horfe.

Mr. Attorney. Now read page 3.

Clerk. Page 3. ' Your Hearts feem to us as ob-

durate as the flinty Rock ; as favage and inhu-

man, as if the Flefh and Blood, the Bones and
Marrow of the People were become your
meat, as already it is in effect ; and inftead

of Encouragement and Support to our true

Friends and real Believers, (at leaft in faith-

ful Defire and Endeavour) as fhall ftand in the

gap betwixt our Deftroyers and us, all ways
and means are ufed to impoverifh, deftroy, and
fupprefs them ; and in them to break and vaf-

falage the Spirits of all the Englifh, which in

all Ages have had the preheminencies of other

Nations, that there may noc be fo much of
Gallantry or Courage left amongft the People,

that one amongft them fhall dare to affert or

maintain their Freedom.' And a little below,
If any do but murmur and complain, pre-

fently their Houfes, as with Furies, are befet

with armed mercenary Janizaries, Guards, and
Centinels fet upon their Doors and Paffages.'

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, and you Gentlemen
of the Jury, you hear what fluff this of Mr.
Lilburne's is ; yea, fuch fluff as that it would
make any man loath to hear it. The laft Claufe

of the Act is, ' If any Perfon not being an Offi-
' cer, Soldier, or Member of the Army, fhall

* plot, contrive or endeavour to ftir up any mu-
* tinies in tfie Army, or to withdraw any Qffi-
* cers or Soldiers from their Obedience to their

' fuperior Officers, or to the prefent Govern-
' ment ; it is High Treafon.' You have here

the feveral Books read to you, and the Calum-
niation laid upon the chiefeft of them, to ftir the

reft up to mutinies againft them -, but they are

very well known, and therefore nothing that

Mr. Lilburne can fay will ftick upon them, to
' their prejudice. But, my Lord, you fee here,

and you of the Jury, how he appeals from the

Officers to the Soldiers, interrogates to know
what they could do, and whether they will ac-

knowledge they will own them, and not fight a-

gainft them, and what Aid and Affiftance they

will give to him and his Friends againft their

own General, and the reft of their fuperior Of-

ficers. You fee alfo what he calls that noble

General, that all the World doth honour, and
his Fame rings through the World ; and yet he
calls him a grand Tyrant, (landing by the power

K of
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of his own Will, and a Strong Sword, a De-

ftroyer of the Parliament, of the Laws and Li-

berties of England. You fee what he calls the

common Soldiers ; Furies and mercenary Janiza-

ries, which none but Turks have. You have heard

the feveral Charges proved unto you, for my
part I .think it as clear as Noon-day. We have

not raifed any advantage upon any flipping

Words that have flipt from him, which we might

have done ; and I could have urged fome more

Witneffes, to have proved his Books published

by him to publick View, tho when he comes

in the face of the publick Court of Juftice, he

will not own them, which fhews his Defign to

be the more dangerous. He will write, print,

publifh, befpatter, and reproach ; yea, and

raife Tumults and Rebellion in a clandestine

way : but if we chance to queftion him there-

fore, he will not own it ; you fee we have been

fain to fetch it out of the Fire, and yet this is

one of England's and its Liberties valiant Cham-
pions.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. You have done no more

to me, than the Scribes and Pharifees did to Je-

fus Chrift ; and in my dealing with you, I have

but walked in the Steps of my Lord and Matter

Jefus Chrift and his Apoftles. For I am fure of

it, Jefus Chrift, in his pilgrimage on Earth,

freely, openly, and publickly taught and declared

himfelf to be the Son of God, the Meffias or

Saviour of the World that was prophefy'd of

;

and yet when he came amongft the Scribes and

Pharifees, and Pilate the Roman Governour, who
by Questions went about to infnare him, he con-

fefTeth nothing, but faith, I fpake openly to the

World, I ever taught in the Synagogues and in

the Temple, whither the Jews always refort,

and in fecret have I faid nothing ; why askeft

thou me ? Ask them which heard me what I

I have faid unto them : Behold, they know what

I have faid. And when Pilate adjured him to

anfwer him whether he was fuch a one or no,

Well, faith he, thou fayeft it: So fay I, Thou,
Mr. Prideaux, fayeft it, they are my Books, but

prove it.

Mr. Attorney. But I think here are enough,

and too many : And therefore, Gentlemen of the

Jury, if you refpect the Government of the Par-

liament, the Honour of the Council of State, the

Honour of the Nation, or of the Army, or the

Prefervation of the Law of the Nation, you can-

not fay but that the Prifoner is guilty of fuch

Crimes and Treafons as he is now accufed of, and

accordingly find him fo : For it cannot be fup-

pofed that you will lay him in a fingle Balance a-

gainft the Honour of all the Powers in the Nati-

on, and alfo the Peace thereof.

Foreman. We defire the Act of Treafons to

make ufe of.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you hear me a

few Words : They defire to have it along with

them. Sir, with your favour, I fhall humbly
crave Liberty to fpeak a few Words : I fhall

keep me clofe to that which is my Right and my
Duty, and that is to the matter of Law in my
Indictment. There are many Things put into

the Indictment by the Testimonies of Witneffes

now fworn, that are pretended to be acted in fe-

veral Counties. Whether that be according to

Law, or no, I do not know whether you will

judge it fo, or no ; but fure I am, if either thofe

exprefs Statutes that I have already cited to the

Jury, or the third Part of Coke's In/litutes, be

Law, I ought not to be tried for Treafon but

by a Jury of the next Neighbourhood, in the

felf-fame County the Fact is pretended to be
committed in. And therefore it is very queftio-

nable to me whether my Indictment be legal, for

that it chargeth me with Facts of Treafon com-
mitted in three feveral Counties •, and that being
matter of Law, I defire Counfel to argue that

point in the firft place. There are alfo a great

many other Exceptions I have to make againft

the Illegality of the Indictment ; and having par-
ticularized one, I humbly crave that which is

my Right by Law, that I may have Counfel af-

figned unto me. You have faid you will do
what fhall become ingenuous and understanding
Men and juft Judges in it ; and therefore I crave
leave, according to my undoubted Right, to

have Counfel affigned to plead in matter of Law
to the Infufficiency of the Indictment, and parti-

cularly to that point I have nominated. There
are alfo a great many Things arife out of the
matter of Fact that will be Points of Law like-

wife, and fome of them appear to be fo. There
were never two clear and pofitive Witneffes to

one Fact fworn againft me ; but to moft of the

particular Treafons there is but one a-piece -, and
I cannot yield that to be legal, but queftioftable

in Law, which I defire Counfel to difpute. I

know not of any of all the Books fixed upon
me, but the Outcry, that hath two plain Wit-
neffes to it j and yet it is not fworn that I

am the Author ef it. The State of the firft

is this : That I was at the Printers before the

Copy was taken away ; and that I gave one
of thofe Books to a Soldier. To fum up the

Notes of the matter of Fact that thereon hath

been endeavoured to be proved, is too hard a
Task to be done by me immediately ; and
therefore I conceive it but juft for you to af-

fign me Counfel, to agree with the Counfel a-

gainft me what are the points of Fact upon the

proof, from which the points of Law are to be
deducted. And whatever you, that call your
felves my Judges, may think of this, yet I

hope and verily believe that thefe my honeft

Fellow-Citizens, that are the Gentlemen of my
Jury, who have (thereby) as men, the Iffues of
my Life and Death in their hands, will think it

but a juft and rational motion and requeft ; and
therefore, before them again, I defire to have
Counfel affigned, to plead in Law to the Errors

of the Indictment, and alfo to the Law arifing

upon the Fact. This, with a larger privilege,

was granted by one of your own Brother Judges
to Major Rolfe laft Year, as his Right by Law,
and I do again appeal to Mr. Juftice Nichols,

then one of Rolfe's Counfel, for the Truth of

this. I pray fpeak, Sir •, is it not true ? [But
the Judge fitting as if he had neither Life nor
Soul, Mr. Lilburne further faid :] I hope, Sir, it

doth not enter into your Thoughts prefently to

put me to an undigested extemporary Anfwer to

fo large an Indictment as that is that hath been

read againft me, that it is impoffible for any
man's Brain, if it were as big as the biggeft ma-
gazine in London, to carry it in his Head : And,
Sir, I hope you do not conceive, that my me-
mory is of a greater Largenefs than the greateft

magazine in this City. You engaged unto me,
when I pleaded firft to my Indictment, that you
would not take Exceptions or Advantage againft

me
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me for my Ignorance in the Formalities of the

Law : I defire you to make good your Promife

now unto me, and affign me Counf.1 to help my
Ignorance that fo the CounfeJ againft me and my
Counfel may agree, as I have feen it done here-

tofore in the Cafe of Duke Hamilton, upon the

Points of Fact, from which Law is to be deduct-

ed. And if you pleafe to grant me this legal and

equitable Favour 1 fhall think my felf very much

obliged unto you : Without which Juftice, I can-

not conceive upon what Ground it can be compre-

hended I can go on •, for my Time and Strength

now it is fo far fpent, that I conceive you can-

not think my Body is made of Steel to (land

here four or five Hours together, fpending my
Spirits, to anfwer fo many as I have to deal

with, and be able, after all this, to ftand to re-

turn »an Anfwer to above five Hours Charge, and

that upon Life, when it feems you will fuffer me

to mend no Blots. I hope you do not lie upon

the Catch, to weary and tire me out, by putting

more upon me than a Horfe is able to endure %

and then go about to hang me, becaufe I, thro'

Tirednefs, want bodily Strength and Abilities to

make and pronounce my Defence.

Sir, to my Apprehenfion, there does arife upon

the Matter of Fact divers Difputes in Law : I

befeech you therefore allow me my Right in

Law, by affigning me Counfel to help me where

I am ignorant, and you fhall fee I fhall do that

which fhall become an ingenuous and rational

Man, and I will put my felf clearly upon the

Trial of the Country, or my Jury, according to

the Law.
Ld Keble. Lilburne, this that you have heard,

and that we have patiently fat to hear, and pre-

pared a Stool for you to have fat upon, to have

given you that Liberty that nobody mould in-

terrupt you more than us ; you have heard the

fair Courfe that hath been taken in it. The
Books, the Charges upon the Matter, they are

but three, they are not hard for your Memory.
The Particulars of thole we do not expect that

the Jury fhould remember them. The Books

are here -, they have of them : But amongft

them there are many more. But free your felf

from the Matter of Fact, if you can, and thefe

Books: And when you have freed yourfelf from

the Matter of Fact charged upon you, and then

make it appear that from the Matter of Fact Law
arifes; and then, if you can, when the Matter

of Fact is clear, and Law doth arife, you fhall

have Counfel, and you fhall have no Defect in

us to interrupt you, but to help you in what we
may properly know as our Right to do. But

if you do not firft clear and make out this, which

is the IfTue upon the Point, to anfwer the Mat-
ter of Fact, we cannot allow you any Counfel.

The Thing that is to be difputed cannot poffi-

bly be much on your fide -, it will be but very

fhort : For it is not poflible, I fay, to be much
in Time, or Confufion of your Memory, to give

an Anfwer to this particular Matter of Fact:

The firft is the publifhing of thofe Books, and

the owning of them •, and the next is the Books
of themfelves. But this muft be firft cleared,

before you can have any Counfel affigned you at

all.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I muftconfefs it is a very

hard Task for me to conteft with the prefent

Power, whofe Agents have free Liberty to fay

againft me what they pleafe j and I am denied,

Vol. II.

and that upon my Life, all the Privileges of art

Englifhman, and with your Infinuations and greaG

Words drawn on by my fgnorarce to enlnare

my felf: and notwithflanding all your Promifes
to take no advantage againft me for my Ignorance
in the Formalities of the Law, yet are the Pun-
ctilio's and Niceties thereof more urged againft

me, than they have been againft hoftile Ene-
mies. And yet for my Part, no Man can tax

me for being in Hoftility at any time againft

them in prefent Power •, and yet upon my Life
I am denied that which I had from thofe, as

my Right by Law, againft whom I have been
in Arms, and fought againft in the Field : yea,

and that which, in a higher Nature than I defire,

hath been acknowledged juft and legal by feme
of your own Brother Judges but the laft Year,
which they have granted to fome of my own
Countrymen, Freemen of England, but this laft

Year, in a higher nature by many degrees than
1 plead for. There is Judge Nichols, that I un-
derftand was one of Major Rolfe's Counfel : And
I underftand from Mr. Maynard' s own Mouth,
that he and Mr. Maynard were, by Baron Wylds

affigned of Rolfe's Counfel, in Cafe of the higheft

Treafon that the Law of England ever knew,
and that before the Grand Inqueft found the In-

dictment ; and that Mr..Maynard, &c. had Li-
berty, as Major Rolfe's Counfel, by Baron Wyld's
Order, to ftand in the Court, not only to hear

the WitnefTes fworn, but alfo to hear the Words
or their Teftimony, then caufed by the Judge
to be given in open Court. And there being
but two WitnefTes to two Facts contained in the

Indictment, Mr. Maynard, upon the Allegation

of the two Statutes of Edward the Sixth, than

requires two \ WitnefTes to the Proof of every

Fact of Treafon, and that to be plain and clear,

overthrew Rolfe's Indictment in Law, that it was
never found ; and fo laved the poor Man's Life,

who, in likelihood, had perifhed, had it not

been for the Ability and Integrity of his Coun-
feJ. And all this Mr. Juftice Nichols knows is

very true, and that I have told you nothing
about it but what is juft. It is true, I have read
part of the plain Law of England, that is in

Englijh ( but I am ignorant of that part of your
Law, which is three times fo much as that which
is in Englifj ; and that Law, or the practick Part

of the Law is in French and Latin, which I have
truly told you I can neither read nor under-

ftand : Therefore I humbly crave my Privilege

and undoubted Right by the Law of England

\

(which in a higher nature was granted to Ma-
jor Rolfe, as his unqueftionable Right) to have
Counfel affigned me, to help me in thofe Things
1 am ignorant of, I mean the Formalities and
Bottom of the Law. I befeech you, Sirs, do
not put me upon Extremities, and upon extra-

ordinary Things, but confider among yourfelves

that righteous Rule of Jefus Chrift, and of the

Scripture, To do as you would be done to ; and do
not put Impoffibilities upon me, by over-ruling by
your Power all my juft Claims and Pleas in Law,
and require more of me than I am capable to

perform. And therefore 1 befeech you, as you
would approve yourfelves to be as righteous

Judges before the Eye of that God that fees

your Heart, and knows whether malicious and
Fore-thoughts of Malice harbours therein againft

me his faithful Servant ; do not cunningly and

defignedly deftroy me for my Ignorance in the

K 2 effential
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efiential or circumflantial Matter or Form of that

huge Indictment, that has fo much Matter of

Law in it as it hath, and to take away my Life

by denying me that which is the unqueftionable

legal Right of the Freemen of England; the

which if you will but allow me, I do not doubt

but to come off clearly and freely.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, you are now at a full

Point, and this you have faid now, you have faid

often, and we have heard it ; and that which you

fay now, we have anfwered before.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, it's your own Law >

Sir Edward Cooke declares I ought to

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, I (hall add this more to

it, that you at this Time have here fuch a Court,

which never any of your Condition ever had in

England, fo many grave Judges of the Law.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Truly I had rather have

had an ordinary one ; Sir, I mean a legal and

ordinary Aflize or Seffions.

Ld Keble. But this you have, and this is to

take off, or prevent that which you would do

now, if there had been one Judge and no more

;

and if you had not had this great Prefence of the

Court, you would have been malepert, and have

out-talked them, but you cannot do fo here.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Truly, Sir, I am not

daunted at the Multitude of my Judges, neither

at the glittering of your Scarlet Robes, nor the

Majefty of your Prefence, and harfh auftere De-

portment towards me, I blefs my good God for

it, who gives me Courage and Boldnefs.

Ld Keble. That your Trial is fo publick, as

your Offence is, for this End, that all Men may
take notice, that you have fair Play : and there-

fore according to Law, you ought to make your

Cafe, in Matter of Fact, clear ; for that I muft

tell you again, and once is as good as if I had

told you a thoufand times over, unlefs you can

clearly do that, you fay nothing to it. If you

will take that for clear Proof that hath been al-

ledged againft you, you may fhorten your-felf

;

but otherwife make that Defence that you judge

molt fufficient todifprove the Facl: for till that

time, you are clear gone in Law, and no Counfel

muft or can be affigned you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I have been a great

while yefterday pleading my Right by Law for

Counfel, and now I have fxood many Hours to

hear your Proofs to the Indictment. I hope you

will not be fo cruel to put me to a prefent Anfwer,

when bodily Strength is fpent.

Ld Keble. We know it as well as yourfelf

you were here, and flood divers Hours yefterday,

and to-day you have done the like ; but we came
before you, and ftand after you.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, will you put a Man
to more than a Horfe is put to, or is able to go
through with? The righteous Man is merciful,

even to a very Beaft.

Ld Keble. We have been as long as you have.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. But, under favour, you

have fat.

Ld Keble. You had that Liberty too ; difpute

no more, we muft go on.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I defire but a Week's
time to return you an Anfwer to your large In-

dictment ; and if not fo long, then give me leave

but till to-morrow Morning to confider of my
Anfwer. I am upon my Life.

Ld Keble, No, you muft difpatch it now.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne, Then give me leave but

to withdraw into any private Room for an Hour
to recollect my Thoughts, perufe my Notes, and
refrefh my Spirits. [And hereabouts Judge Jer<>

min did whifper the Lord Keble in the Ear ; and
prefently faid Judge Jermin, It's againft the Law
to allow you any more time, the Jury ftand here

charged, the Evidence is given, you muft im-
mediately go on, or yield that for Truth which
hath been proved againft you.]

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Well then, if it muft be
fo, that you will have my Blood right or wrong

;

and if I fhall not have one Hour's time to refrefh

me, after my Strength is fpent, and to confider

of that which hath been alledged againft me,
then I appeal [which he uttered with a mighty

Voice] to the righteous God of Heaven and Earth
againft you, where I am fure I fhall be heard,

and find Accefs ; and the Lord God Omnipotent,
and a mighty Judge betwixt you and me, re-

quire and requite my Blood upon the Heads of
you and your Pofterity, to the third and fourth

Generation. [Immediately after the uttering of
which the Scaffold fell down which was on the

left Hand, which occafioned a great Noife and
fome Confufion by Reafon of the People's tum-
bling ; but Silence being made, the Prifoner was
bufy at his Papers and Books, being invited by
Sheriff Pack to come out of the Bar, for fear he
fhould have fallen with the reft, and fo he might
have loft his Prifoner.]

Ld Keble. How came the Prifoner there ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I went not thither of
my own accord, but by Mr. Sheriff's Invitation ;

and if I am in a place where I ought not to be,

blame Mr. Sheriff, and not me.
Ld Keble. Difpatch, Sir.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, if you will be fo

cruel as not to give me leave to withdraw to eafe

and refrefti my Body, I pray you let me do it

in the Court. Officer, I entreat you to help me
to a Chamber-pot. [Whilft it was fetching,

Mr. Lilburne followeth his Papers and Books
clofe ; and when the Pot came, he made water,

and gave it to the Foreman.]
Ld Keble. Proceed, Mr. Lilburne. [But he

preffed for a little Refpite, which was granted
him with much ado, as alfo a Chair to fit down
upon ; but within a very little Space the Lord Keble

faid,]

Ld Keble. The Court cannot flay for you,
proceed on to anfwer.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Good Sir, would you
have me to anfwer to Impoflibilities, will you
not give me Breath ? If you thirft after my Blood,
and nothing elfe will fatisfy you, take it prefent-

ly, without any more to do. [But the Prifoner
ftruggled out a little Refpite.]

Ld Keble. The Court can ftay no longer, take
away his Chair, for I cannot fee the Bar, and
plead what you have to fay, for it grows very
late.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Well, feeing I muft to

it, the Will of God be done. [But his Brother
being next to him, was heard to prefs him to

paufe a little more:] No, Brother, faith he, my
Work is done ; I will warrant you, by the Help
of God, I will knock the Nail upon the Head.
And fo he went into the Bar, and fet the Chair
before him, and laid his Law Books open upon
them, in order, as he intended, to ufe them

;

and being ready, faid, Sir, I humbly crave the

Favour, fince it is my hard Lot and Fortune, at

' leaft
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leaft in my own Apprehenflon, to have fo much

hard Meafure and Injuftice as I have, to know
-whether or no you will permit me, after that I

have pleaded to a Matter of Fact, according to

the Law of England, that has been allowed to the

higheft Traitors, in all the Books that I have

read of, that I may fpeak in my own behalf unto

the Jury, my Countrymen, upon whofe Confci-

ences, Integrity and Honefty, my Life, and the

Lives and Liberties of the honeft Men of this Na-

tion, now lies ; who are in Law Judges of Law
as well as Fact, and you only the Pronouncers of

their Sentence, Will and Mind : I fay, I defire

to know, when I have pleaded to Matter of Fad:,

whether you will be pleafed to give me leave to

fpeak to them a few Words befides.

Ld Keble. Mafter Lilburne, quietly exprefs your

felf, and you do well ; the Jury are Judges of

Matter of Fact altogether, and Judge Coke fays

fo : But I tell you the Opinion of the Court, they

are not Judges of Matter of Law.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. The Jury by Law are

not only Judges of Fact, but of Law alfo ; and

you that call yourfelves Judges of the Law, are

no more but Norman Intruders ; and in deed and

in truth, if the Jury pleafe, are no more but Cy-
phers, to pronounce their Verdict.

Judge Jermin. Was there ever fuch a damna-

ble Blafphemous Herefy as this is, to call the

Judges of the Law, Cyphers ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I intreat you give

me leave to read the Words of the Law then ;

for to the Jury I apply, as my Judges, both in the

Law and Fact.

Ld Keble. We will not deny a Tittle of the

Law.
Judge Jermin. Let all the Hearers know, the

Jury ought to take notice of it, That the Judges

that are fworn, that are Twelve in Number, they

have ever been the Judges of the Law, from the

firft time that ever we can read or hear that *the

Law was truly expreffed in England ; and the

Jury are only Judges, whether fuch a thing were

done or no, they are only Judges of Matter of

Fact.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I deny it ; here's your

own Law to difprove you ; and therefore let me
but .read it. It is a hard Cafe when a Man is

upon the Trial of his Life, that you will not fuffer

him to read the Law to the Jury, for his own
Defence ; I am fure you have caufed to be read

at large thofe Laws that make againft me.

Ld Keble. But I fhall pronounce to clear the

Righteoufnefs of that Law, whatfoever others will

pretend againft it that know it not.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, under favour, I fhall

not trouble myfelf with any thing, but what is

pertinent to my prefent purpofe. Here is the firft

Part of Coke's lnjlitutes, it is owned by all the

Lawyers that I know, or ever heard of in England,

for good Law.
Ld Keble. If you can convince us, that Matter

of Law does concern the Jury, you fay fome-

thing.

.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I have been fhuffled

too much out of my Liberties already, give me
leave to read but the Law to the Jury ; I will

make ufe of nothing now to them, but your

own Words ; and when I have done, I will leave

myfelf to them, and the Guidance of God upon
their Confcience. And having the Book open in

his Hand, he faid, In the firft Part of Coke's ln-

jlitutes, Seel. 366. fol. 226, 227, 228, in his Ex-
position of Plowden, hath thefe Words.
Ld Keble. Have we dealt fo fairly with you

all this while ? Pray be confident, thofe that are

Quotations there, are not for your purpofe ; but I

thought how good a Lawyer you were, for to (et

Coke's Commentaries upon Plowden, when there is

no fuch Book or Commentary. Go to your Mat-
ter of Fact, which is clear •, but for this, let it

fall down, and fpare your felf, and trouble your
felf no more with Coke; he has no Commentary
upon Plowden. [But Mafter Lilburne preffed to

fpeak.]

Judge Jermin. Hold, Sir.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. What, will not you allow

me Liberty to read your Law ? O unrighteous

and bloody Judges ! /
Judge Jerminr^By the Fancy of your own

Mind you would puzzle the Jury ; we know the

Book a little better than you do ; there is no fuch

Book as Coke's Commentary upon Plowden.

Ld Keble. Sir, you fhall not read it.

Judge Jermin. You cannot be fuffered to read

the Law ; you have broached an erroneous Opi-
nion, That the Jury are the Judges of die Law,
which is enough (a) to deftroy all the Law in the

Land ; there was never fuch damnable Herefy
broached in this Nation before.

The Crier cries out, Hear the Court.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Do your pleafure, then

here I'll die : Jury, take notice of their Injuftice 5

but feeing they will not hear me, I will appeal

to you, and fay, It is an eafy matter for an abler

Man than I am, in fo many Interruptions as I

meet with, to miftake Plowden for Littleton ; I

am fure here are Coke's Commentaries upon Little*

ton, * and thefe be his Words ; In this * ,

6g
Cafe the Recognitors of the AJfize may

fay and render to the Juflices their Verdicl at large

upon the whole Matter. Which I am fure is good
Law, forafmuch as we fee it continually done in

all Actions of Trefpafs or Affault, where the Ju-
ry doth not only judge of the Validity of the

Proof of the Fact, but alfo of the Law, by af-

figning what Damages they think is juft.

Ld Keble. I am fure you are in an errour, in a
grofs one, as poffibly a Man can be in ; this is fo

grofs, that I thought it could not have come from
Mafter Lilburne, that profeffeth himfelf to be a

rational and knowing Man.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. And in another place he

faith, ' For as well as the Jurors may have Cog-
' nizance of the Leafe, they alfo may have Cog-
* nizance of the Condition.' And further there

Coke faith, ' Here it is to be obferved, That a
' fpecial Verdict, or at large, may be given in

' any Action, and upon any Iffue, be the Iffue
1 General or Special.' And in Section 368,,

Littleton hath thefe Words j *. Alfo in fuch Cafe,
' where the Inqueft may give their Verdict at

* large, if they will take upon them the Know-
' ledge of the Law, upon the Matter they may
' give their Verdict generally.' Coke's Words
upon it are fully to the fame purpofe, who faith

' Although the Jury, if they will take upon them
(as Littleton here faith) ' the Knowledge of the

(a) Yes, but there <vias at Reading, -when Colonel Martin, after they were/worn, caufed all the Jury before the Judges fit-
ting upon the Bench, to put on their Hats, as their Right ; being they were then the chief Judges in the Court, and the other infe*

riour to thim.

* Law-,
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* Law, may give a general Verdict.' I am fure

this is pertinent to my purpofe, and now I have

done, Sir.

Ld Keble. You have fpent a little time, but you

have done yourfelf no good ; I thought you

had underftood the Law better than I fee you

do.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Now, Sir, as to Matter

of Fa<5t, according to your own defire, feeing

you have broke your Prornife, and will al-

low me no Counfel, but lye at catch with me,

I lhall come to it without any Preamble. The
Statute of i Edward 6. chap. 12. (I defire the

Jury may take notice of the Statutes) and the

5th and 6th ofEdward the Sixth, chap. 1 1. here's

the Statute-Book, which doth exprefly declare,

That no Man fhall be condemned for Treafon,

Petty-Treafon, or any fuch like Crime, but by

the Evidence and clear proof of two legal and

fufficient Witneffes. Sir Edward Coke in his third

Part of Inftitutes, Chap, of High -Treafon, is abfo-

lutely of the fame opinion, fol. 12. In this

Branch, fays he, four Things are to be obferved.

Firfi, this Word (probablement) provably ; that is,

upon direcl and manifeft Proof, not upon conjectural

Preemptions, or Inferences, or Strains of Wit, but

upon good andfufficient Proofoftwo Witneffes. And
this is fol. 12. And herein the Adverb (provable-

ment) provably, hath a great Force, and figni-

fieth a direct and plain proof.

And, fecondly, this Word (attaint; necejfarily im-

plieth, That he be proceeded with, and attainted, ac-

cording to the due Courfe and Proceedings of Law,
and not by abfolute Power, or by other Means, as in

former times it hath been ufed.

And fol. 24. chap. Petty-Treafon, he faith, //

hath been holden, That upon the Trial of Mifprifion

of Treafon, there mujl be two lawful Witneffes, as

well upon the Trial as the Indiclment ; as it was re-

folved by the Juftices in the Lord Lumlefs Cafe,

Hill. 14 Eliz. reported by the Lord Dyer under

his own Hand ; and in the Margin he hath this

Note upon it, That this is the Iaft Refolution of the

Judges upon it. And a little below, in the fame

fol. and fol. 25. he faith, Therefore upon the Indicl-

ment, which is in manner of an Accufation, by the

Statutes of 1 Edward 6. cap. \z. and 5 and 6 Ed-
ward 6. cap. 1 1 . two lawful Witneffes are requi-

fite. And in fol. 240. he hath the fame, his

Words are thefe ; Attainders of Treafon, &c.
ought to be upon plain and direct Evidence, (as be-

fore is faid) for if the Parly be executed, Reftitu-

tion may be had of his Lands, but never can be had

of his Life. Now I have done, Sir.

Ld Keble. I hope the Jury hath feen the Evi-

dence fo plain, and fo fully, that it doth confirm

them to do their Duty, and to find the Prifoner

guilty of what is charged upon him.

' Judge Jermin. This that you have faid, makes
much for the Jury.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. We lhall fee that by and

by ; but I fhall proceed on to anfwer your proof

to the Indiclment, and that in the fame Method
that your Witneffes fwore. And therefore, Sir,

in the firft place, to the firft, which is Thomas

Newcombe the Printer ; he fwears in thefe Words,
That I was prefent with Captain Jones, from

whofe Hands he fays he received the laft Sheet

of the Book, called The Outcry of the Toung-?nen

and Apprentices of London : But he fays, Captain

Jones agreed with him for the printing of it, and

not I ; for in that Particular he doth not in the

leaft accufe me, neither doth he in the leaft ac-

cufe me in any manner in the world of being

the Author of it •, and that I did any more at his

Houfe, but take away a fingle Sheet of it before

it was corrected ; which, fays he, I brought away
with me. In anfwer to whofe Teftimony I re-

turn this ; and I earneftly entreat you, Gentle-

men of the Jury, to obferve it well ; and there-

fore, in the firft place, he is but a fingle Tefti-

mony to this. But, fecondly, I anfwer, That
he confeffes moreover, that before he had com-
pleated that Sheet that he received from Captain

Jones, he was taken ; and not only he, but his

Forms alfo were taken from him. So that by his

own Confefilon, that Copy that was brought by
Captain Jones, when I was prefent with him,
proved abortive, it was never wrought ; for he
fays, it was taken before he had perfected it

;

and to my knowledge they had it in their poffef-

fion. So that it clearly appears, it was never

perfectly wrought off, and therefore the Books
were never perfected : therefore I hope that it

will not be Treafon in me, being a Freeman of
England, to walk the Streets with my Friend,

and to go into a Houfe with him where he hath

bufinefs to do ; admit it to be a Printing-houfe,

where he intends to have a Sheet of Paper prin-

ted : his Affairs, Bufinefs, or Actions are no-

thing to me, neither are they now in the leaft

laid to my charge ; and if they were, as they are

not, yet that Sheet mifcarried, and was taken be-

fore it was perfected. So that truly, Sir, you
may go feek the Printer of it ; for you fee that

mifcarried that Captain Jones delivered to the

Printer in my Company ; and that Sheet which
he faith I had away, was an uncorrected one,

which could ferve me for no ether Ufe, but wafte

Paper, and cannot be adjudged to be a true Copy
of that which was contained in the Indictment ;

neither doth he or any other fwear, that at the

Printer's they fee, or know where was done the

Title of that Outcry contained in the Indictment.

So that for any thing the Jury knows, the firft

Part of that Book hath no Dependance upon the

Sheet that was fpoiled, and not brought to matu-
rity in Mafter Newcombe's Hands, as he himfelf

upon his Oath declares. So that truly, Sir, in

Law Mafter Newcombe's Teftimony proves no-

thing at all againft me, as to that Book menti-

oned and contained in the Indictment : And
therefore, you Gentlemen of the Jury, my Life is

in your hands, I befeech you take notice, That
in all his Teftimony, there was not one word that

he declared, to accufe me to be the Author of that

Book, or that my Name was to it ; for you fhall

find the Names of Ten that own it, fo that I

think his Teftimony is gone, and is not worth a

Straw.

In the next place, there were three Soldiers,

viz. John Tooke, Thomas Lewis, and John Skinner,

that fwear againft me : The Subftance of all their

Teftimonies centers in one ; and John Tooke in

the firft place faith, about feven Weeks ago he
met with Lieut. Colonel John Lilburne in Ivy-

Lane, where Lewis knowing of him, gave him a

Salute •, and they being glad to fee him that he
was well in health, and the like, out of Friend-

ship went to drink a Cup of Beer together at the

Red-Crofs in Nezvgate-market, where he faw a
Book, called The Apprentices Outcry, given unto
Mafter Lewis, and he heard thefe Words uttered

by Lieutenant Colonel Lilburne, Tou Soldiers are

thofe
'
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thofe that keep us in Slavery. The fecond Wit-

nef, being Thomas Lewis, faith, That the fixth

of December or September', for fo was his Words,

he met me in Ivy-Lane, and took Acquaintance

of me, asked me how 1 did, and I thank'd him:

and he further declares, That he was very much
refrefh'd to fee me, that I was well, and in

Health, and was glad to fee that thofe Things that

were given out or me by common Fame (that I

was kill'd or dead ) that they were not true.

Therefore he being my old Acquaintance, as he

faith, we went to drink a Cup or Beer together •»

and fays he (as he remembers) Lieut. Col. Lil-

burne asked him if he had feen a Book call'd The

apprentices Outcry, and he faid No, he had not

feen it, but he had heard of it, and was think-

ing to go and buy one of them, for that he long-

ed to read it, and heard it was publickly fold :

and fays he, Lieut. Col. Lilburne faid he had one

which was given him, and if he pleafed he would

give it me, which he thankfully received ; and

afterwards we ftaid a little time to drink a Cup
of Beer, and had fome Difcourfe. But he doth

fix no Evil upon me, that fell from me in that

Difcourfe, neither doth he fay, that I did ftir

him up to Mutiny, or to make Divifion in the

Army ; only he faith, I told him that if he went

to fuch a Man, whofe -Name he hath forgot, it

is poffible he might, buy fome more of them,

for they were publickly fold all over the City*

So that you Gentlemen of the Jury may take

Notice, that he declares the Things by common
Fame were publickly fold, and one of them he

fays was given to me, and I gave it to him.

Truly I hope the Jury hath more Confcience in

them, than to go about to take away my Life

for giving away a fingle Sheet and a half of Pa-

per, that no Man fwears I was the Author of,

or the Caufer of it to be printed and publifhed :

but the mod that can be fix'd upon me, is, That
I had one of them given me, and I gave it to a'

Soldier, my familiar Friend, who had a great

Defire to fee it, and was going to buy one of
them, being publick up and down London at that

time, which is all that he doth charge upon me ;

only he fays further, that there was a little Dif-

courfe : but his Teftimony doth not reach to ac-

cufe me of any evil or malicious Counfel given

them, or any Aggravations of Spirit, as tho I

did incenfe him or them againft their Officers or

Fellow-Soldiers, thereby to ftir them up to Mu-
tiny and Rebellion. For truly I have made it

my Work, for to be as fparing in my Difcourfe

as could be, in the Company of any belonging
to the Army ; yea, and to fhun coming nigh
the place, if I can avoid it, where they are.

And he faith, I had no aggravating Spirit with-

in me, nor uttered any Provocations to make
them rife in Mutiny againft their Officers; and
there is none of them all that does in the leaft

fix that Book upon me, to be mine, as the Au-
thor of it.

Only he faith further, That upon his declaring

he longed to fee the Book , that Lieut. Col.

Lilburne told him that fuch a Man, whofe Name
he hath forgot, might poffibly fell them fome
of them, if they had a mind to them, or to get

fome of them : and truly I do not believe that

Treafon.

Further he fays, all the worft Difcourfe I had
with them, was, that I asked them a Queftion,
which was, When they had any Pay ? and they

told me* they had not had any Pay in five Weeks

:

and that was the worft of all. There proceeded

from me no aggravating Expreffions upon it, or

mutinous Provocations. But truly that this Dif-

courfe fhould come within the Compafs of Trea-

fon, to ask my old Acquaintance a Queftion, that

had oftentimes vifited me when I was the Lords
Prifoner in the Tower, or to drink a Cup of

Beer with him, or give a Sheet and a half of

Paper that was publickly fold •, truly I hope there

will be no righteous jury in the World that will

give a Judgment againft me for Treafon there-

fore ; no, I hope for more righteous Juftice

from a Jury of Citizens of London, whom I

hope to find Men of Confciences and Judgment,
yea, of fuch righteous Judgment, as that they

will abhor to go about to take away my Life*

and my Blood, and lay the Blemifh and Stain of

Treafon upon me and my Pofterity for ever, upon
fuch a Thing as this is. And this is all, and the

utmoft of all, that the Evidence doth witnefs a-

gainft me.

Then in the third place there was John Skinner^

who was the third ; and he fays the fame in Ef-

fect, and no more : and therefore I need not go
upon that any further, but fhall leave it I hope

to the enlivened Confciences of my Jury, my Fel-

low-Citizens of London.

In the next place, the fecond Thing laid to

my Charge, is the Salva Libertate, delivered to

the Lieutenant of the Tower, as he fiys. Now
truly the Lieutenant of the Tower is but a fingle

Witnefs to this, and the Law faith pofitively

there fhall be two Legal Witneffes, to prove

every Fact of Treafon, whofe Teftimony or Evi-

dence ought to be as clear and evident as the Sun

at Noon-day, without any conjectural Preemp-
tions or Inferences, or Strains of Wit : and tru-

ly the Lieutenant is but a fingle Witnefs at mod,
I fhould be loth to reproach or befpatter the

Man, yet I muft fay this, being upon my Life,

that he is not only a fingle Witnefs, but a Gen-

tleman in whofe Cuftody I was Prifoner contrary

to Law •, who kept me Prifoner in Times by-paft,

above twelve Months together at the Ploufe of

Lords illegal Command, contrary unto Law and

Juftice : for which, above a Year fince, I did

commence at the Common Law an Action of

four or fiveThoufand Pound againft him, as I

did alfo againft Col. Tichburn, that I have feen

upon this Bench, fitting as one of my Judges j

which I think is not equal, nor juft, nor legal,

that he with whom I have a Suit of four or five

Thoufand Pound depending, when thereby my
profeffed Adverfary, fhould be one of my Judges:

and therefore I defire he may be commanded off

the Bench, and withdraw, as being my profefled

Adverfary, and therefore in Law uncapable to be

my Judge. And truly having the fame Action

depending ftill againft the prefent Lieutenant of

the Tower, before the Judges of the King''s-Bench,

for his detaining me in Prifon above a Year to-

gether, contrary to Law •, he is thereby in the Eye

of the Law my profeffed Adverfary, and there-

fore in Law cannot be admitted as a competent

Witnefs againft me, upon my Life. Yet the Lieu-

tenant of the Tower doth not in the leaft fwear

that the Hand is mine, or that he did fee me
write it ; but only he faith, that I did deliver

fuch a Paper to him : but he is but a fingle Wit-

nefs, and fo I fay by the Law of the Land not

-valid or good, but his Teftimony is clearly gone
and
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and wiped off, as alfo all Things that do de-

pend thereupon. There are befides five or fix

Witnefles produced to feveral Charges ; but the

Law exprefly faith, that there muft be two

plain and clear Witnefles to every particular

Charge, or Fad of Treafon, that muft take a-

way my Life, and this is your own Law : and

therefore he is but a fingle one, and therefore

invalid, and altogether not fatisfaclory or bind-

ing. And then befide, which is confiderable,

truly I think the Tower of London, in the place

where he faith I gave him thofe Papers, is not

within the Jurifdiction of the City of London ;

and how I mould come to be arraigned by a Ju-

ry of my Fellow-Citizens here in London there-

fore, againft whom I muft confefs that for my
part 1 have nothing for their Honefty and Inte-

grity to object, I know not : for I know not the

Faces of any two of them, and therefore impof-

fible for me to fay any thing againft them. I

fay, I know not how by a London Jury I can

be tried for a Fact fixed upon me to be commit-

ted in Middlefex ? I befeech you, Gentlemen of

the Jury, mifiake me not ; for I have nothing

to accufe you of; and I hope you will be fo con-

fcientious and tender in the Trial of me for my
Life, that you will put your Cafe as my Cafe,

and do by me as you would be done unto by me,

if you were in my Cafe and Condition ; and the

righteous God of Heaven and Earth direct you

fo to do. And therefore the Lieutenant of the

Tower being but a fingle Witnefs at moll, and in

Law not a competent one neither, being my pro-

feffed Adverfary, that hath moft illegally kept me
in Prifon, for which I have commenced long fince

my Action at Law for my legal Reparations a-

gainft him; 1 fay, therefore in the Eye of the

Law his Teftimony flicks not, and I hope, in

the righteous Opinion of the Jury, can do me no

Harm : and if fo his Teftimony be invalid, then

the Salva Libertate cannot reach me, to do me
any Hurt ; but it and all thofe my pretended

Books called by my Name, are all wafh'd away
and gone, and my Adverfaries muft go feek new
Authors for them, or at leaft procure new and

better Teftimony to prove them mine ; for that

which they have produced hitherto is worth no-

thing.

Then the next is Thomas Daffern ; and he fays,

that the Twelfth of Auguft 1 649, he met with

Lieut. Col. Lilburne upon the Bridge, as he was
going home to vifit his fick and diftrefled Fami-
ly, and he went back with him to his Houfe in

Southwark, at Winchefter-boufe, which I am fure

is not in London ; and therefore at Guild-Hall in

London, by a London Jury, in Law cannot be try 'd

:

for he pofidvely faith, That at Winchefter-boufe

in Soutbwark, which is in the County of Surrey,

Lieut. Col. John Jfdburne gave him a Book to

carry to Col. AyresJ a Prifoner at Warwick-Caftle ;

but he does give in no Teftimony at all that it is

mine, or that that Book was Lieut. Colonel Lil-

burne's Book, of his making or penning ; but a

Book he gave him, and that is all he fays ; which
is no more but that he received a Book at Win-
chefter- houfe in Soutbwark, from the Hands of

Lieut. Col. Lilburne, to carry to Col. Ayres, now
a Prifoner at Warwick-Caftle. Now truly he is

but a fingle Teftimony, and he fwears nothing

particularly as to me; and befides, what he fwears

is to a Fact done in another County, and there-

fore his Teftimony is notjvorth a Straw j it's

gone, it's invalid in Law, it fignifies nothing, it

is not fo good as a Spider's Web. By vertue of

which, the Marfhal's Teftimony, and the Gover-
nou^s of Warwick-Caftle^ as alfo Col. Purefoy's,

need no other Anfwer from me, but to pity them
for the long Journey they have made to no pur-

pofe.

The next thing charged upon me, is the Pre-

parative to an Hue and Cry after Sir Arthur Hafle-

rig ; to which the Lieutenant of the Tower fays,

that Lieut. Col. John Lilburne gave him one of

thofe Books in the Tower, which truly I am con-

fident is in Middlefex : and truly I conceive, un-

der favour, it will be a point difputable in Law,
that I fhould be tried for my Life in this place,

admit there were a thoufand Witnefles to make
it good that the Lieutenant of the Tower had one

of them from me, either in the place he former-

ly named, or at his own Houfe ; for that Fact

was done in the Tower, that is out of the County
of London, and fo not triable by a Jury of Citi-

zens of London. But he further faith, whether

the Book that he now has, be the fame that he re-

ceived from the Hands of Lieut. Col. Lilburne,

that he is not able to depofe.

Then the reft of the Witnefles that do depofe

againft me in relation to the Hue and Cry, are

James Nutleigb and Edward Radney, both of them
Mr. Prideaux's Servants : and the moft that they

fay, is, That when I was before their Matter,

upon the 24th of September 1649, at his Cham-
ber in the Temple, to be examined by him, they

fay they faw me deliver A Preparative to an Hue
and Cry after Sir Arthur Haflelrig, to their Ma-
iler's Hands, and tell him that was mine, and I

would own it, favingthe Printer's Erratas ; which,

fays the Lieutenant of the Tower upon his Oath, I

exprefled to be many.
In anfwer to which, I fay, I do not know

whether the Temple be within the Liberties of

London or no ; and if it be not, I know no

Ground in Law, wherefore a London Jury fhould

try me here. But more fully I fay, for any thing

the Jury knows, or for any thing the Witnefles

fwear, the Printer's Erratas, which are many,
are all and every of thofe Claufes that Offence or

Exceptions are taken againft ; for not one of

thofe Claufes which you except againft, are not

proved not to be the Printer's Erratas : and there-

fore there is no Validity or Weight in thofe Te-

ftimonies alfo, for they do not prove in the leaft

that any fix Lines of the Book is mine, all of

them fay that I owned no more of the Book
than was free from the Printer's Erratas. And
the Lieutenant of the Tower fwears that the Claufe

was added, Wbicb are many : And therefore you

the Gentlemen of the Jury, I appeal to your Con-

fciences, and to your Judgments, and the Lord
fet it home to your Underftandings, that you

may not be guilty of the Blood of an innocent

Man, by Partiality, Fear, or Affrightment of

Spirit ; for in Law, Equity, and Juftice, all their

Three Teftimonies put together have no Validi-

ty, no Strength, nor Force in them : and fo

much for that.

The next thing fixed upon me, is The Legal

Fundamental Liberties of the People of England
revived, afferted, and vindicated; and truly all that

is brought to prove The Legal Fundamental Li-

berties of England to be mine, is but merely the

Relations that are in the forementioned Books : for

I do not remember (nay, I am fure of it) that

there
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there is fo much as a fingle Teftimony that does

give in any Evidence againft me that it is mine

;

and therefore I can anfwer to that nothing more

than what I have faid already. The Teftimo-

nies all being invalid, at leaft in the Eye of the

Law •, and therefore that's gone too, and blown

away as Chaff before the Wind.

Laftly, For the Agreement of the People, truly

that is dated the firft of May 1649. And truly,

for ought I know, and I am fure of it too, it is

before the Date of any of thofe Acts upon which

I am indicted for my Life ; and therefore not

within the Compafs of it. For Paul that great

Apoftle faid ; and he that fpoke by the Spirit

of God that dwelt within him, and to whom it

was given in an extraordinary manner, that fo he

might thereby be enabled to write the infallible

Truths of God, faid, Where there is no Law,
there can be no Tranfgrejfion. But that Agreement

was in being, and publickly abroad with a legal

Imprimatur to it, before any of the Acts, upon

which I am arraigned, had a Being ; And there-

fore, admit it fhould be granted to be mine, yet it

can be no Tranfgreffion, or any thing prejudicial

in the Eye of the Law unto me. But befides,

there is not any Teftimony at all, that fo much as

lays it to my Charge to be mine ; and therefore

it pinches me not, nor does any of all the reft of

your Charges. And befides all that I have already

faid in my own behalf, to fhew in Law the Inva-

lidity and Infufficiency of all the Teftimony you

have produced againft me, I add this by way of

Addition to it, That there hath not been lb much
as one fingle Witnefs or Teftimony to prove that

the Books laid to my Charge are rightly and truly

dated, and not poft-dated ; which if any of them,

or all of them fhould be, admit the Proofs were

fufficient in Law, yet unlefs the Days of them be

firmly proved to be exactly according to the ori-

ginal Copies, and not poft-dated, for any thing

the Jury knows, they might be made and writ

before ever the Acts, they are faid to tranfgrefs,

had a Being. And therefore if there were fo

many Teftimonies in Law to prove the Books
mine, (which there is not in the leaft) yet, I fay,

admit there had been a thoufand Witneffes to the

Proof of every one of thofe Books, yet notwith-

ftanding in the Eye of the Law, I leave it to

the Confciences of my Jury, whether I be not free

in that Particular, feeing there is none fwears

punctually and pofitively to the Dates of them.
But to put all out of danger, as I deny no-

thing, fo in that Particular, I do not own a

Jot, a Line, a Word, a Syllable of any one of

them. Now, Sir, having done fo far as I have,

and clearly difcovered to the Jury, and all that

hear me this Day, that all the Proofs alledged

againft me, do not flick, in the leaft, any Guilt

upon me, truly I have clearly anfwered and in-

validated all the verbal Proofs, according to the
clear Letter and true Intention of the Law. I

have no more to fay to all the Evidences that

have been read in Books againft me. I leave it

to the Confciences of my Jury, believing them to

be a Generation of iVIen that believe in God the

Father, and believe they fhall have a Portion in

the Refurrection of the Dead, and ftand before

the Tribunal of the Lord Almighty, to give an
Account unto him, the Lord of Life and Glory,
and the Judge of all the Earth, of all their Ac-
tions done in the Flefh : I leave it to their Judg-
ments and Confciences, to judge righteoufly be-
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tween me and my Adverfaries ; and the Lord of

Life and Glory, to judge right between me and

you, that in all thofe Things in your long Scrowl

you pretend me guilty of, I hope I have fo

clearly and fully anfwered all and every of your

Proofs, that not any one thing flicks. And to

their Confciences I cafl it ; hoping that they do
look upon themfelves as Handing in the prefence

of him that fees their Hearts, and knows now
whether there be any Malice in them towards

me, or no , which, for my part, I do not be-

lieve there is ; for I profefs, I know no wrong
. I have particularly done them as Men, or gene-

rally as Englijhmen. My Confcience is free and
clear as in the Sight of God, and, I hope, of

all unbiaffed Men. And, to my Knowledge, I

never faw the Faces of any two of them before

this Day ; and therefore, entirely as an Englifh-

man, that loves and honours the good old Laws
of England', and earneftly defires, and endeavours,

and ftruggles, for the prefervation of Juftice and
jufl Magiftracy, which I wifh with all my Soul

may be preferved ; and therefore having fullered

much for the prefervation of the common and

jufl Liberties of England, to their Confciences

and to their Judgments I leave both this Matter,

and the conftant Series of all my Actions in

this my Pilgrimage and Vale of Tears here be-

low.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilbume.

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. Your Pleafure, Sir ?

Ld Kcble. Nothing, Sir, but this : Our Con-
fciences are before God, as well as yours ; and
therefore you need not fpeak thus.

Lieut. Col. Lilbume. Sir, I have only two or

three Words more, which I have fpoken to you :

But thefe Men, that are my Jury and Judges, in

whofe hands only are the Iffues of my Life, have

not as yet heard them. I pray you, give me
liberty, according to your promife, to go on
without Interruption. You Gentlemen of the

Jury, I have many material Things to produce

Witneffes unto for my Juftification •, but no
Time in the leaft will be allowed me, as you fee,

to produce them, which I ought by Law to have

had ; efpecially confidering 1 have been lock'd up
fo long clofe Prifoner, and have nothing for

which I was firft imprifoned laid unto my Charge,

and have fo high, potent, and mighty Adverfa-

ries as I have ; and truly every Man is fhy of
me, for fear he may come into trouble for com-
ing near me. And therefore, I have but two or

three Words more to fpeak to the Jury, I befeech

you, let me freely go on.

Ld Keble. Make them thirty to your Defence,

and you may fpeak them.

YJzut.Co\. Lilbume. I fhall, by God's Affiftance ;

I fhall keep clofe to my Defence. Now, Gentle-

men of the Jury, I think I have fufficiently

pleaded for myfelf at this prefent ; and that to

clear up fully unto your Judgments, and to your

Underftandings, that by the Law of England
there is not fo much as any one Fact proved a-

gainft me -, for the Law is exprefs, that to every

particular Fact of Treafon there muft be two
fufficient Witneffes, not by Conftructions, or the

like : Upon which Score and Plea that Gentle-

man, Mafter Nichols, that fits there as a Judge,
and Mafter John Maynard, faved Major Rolfe's

Life, being to be arraigned for the higheft of

Englijh Treafon before Baron Wyld. Now, Gen-
tlemen, if, notwithftanding what I have faid,

L any



74 4& *The Trial of Col John Lilburne i Car. II.

any Thing fhall yet flick upon your Spirits, I

fhaJl intreat you to confider the Intention of the

Law of England : It is repeated feveral times in

Sir Edward Coke's Inftitutes ; it is a Maxim in

the Law, I have it here in the third Part of his

Injlitutes, fol. 6. Et a5ius nonfacit reum, nifi. mem
fit rea. Sir, if you pleafe to do me the Favour

but to englijh it, and explain it for the Jury ? For

tho I underftand the Subftance of it, yet I am not

exactly able to englijh the Latin, but only to un-

derftand the Senfe of it. I conceive the Senfe of

it is this, It is not the Aft, but the Intention of

the Mind, that declares the Guilt. But therefore as

in reference unto that, I fhall fay no more but

only this to them, That the conftant Series of all

my Actions, from my Youth hitherto, havema-

nifefted, that I have, with an affectionate and

companionate Englijh Spirit within me, that hath

put me forth for many Years together really to

endeavour the Profperity and Good of the Land
of my Nativity, and not its Mifchief and Deftruc-

tion ; and that hithertoward, in all my Contefts,

I have had the Law, and the declared publick

Juftice of the Nation to my fide, having never

done any mifchief to my Country, unlefs it be a

mifchief to oppofe great Men's Wills. I have

now been feven Months in Prifon, I know not

wherefore, although originally I was committed

to Prifon pretendedly for Treafon : And both the

Ads upon which now I am indicted, have been

made long fince my firfb Commitment. There is

not any one Syllable of all thofe Things for

which I originally in general, without Accufer or

Profecutor, was voted a Traitor by the prefent

Power ; and for which I was proclaimed a Trai-

tor throughout all the Market and great Towns
in England fix Months ago. There is not now,

I fay, any one of thofe Things laid to my Charge.

But truly I have been laid into Prifon for nothing,

as by this Day's Work clearly appears, by the

Men in prefent Power. Unto divers of whom I

have often fent, to know what it is they require

at my hands ; and have alfo from time to time

declared my ready Willingnefs to compofe and

end all Differences that concern me, having

proffered again and again to refer my felf unto

the final Determination of four of their own
Members, finally to end and determine all Diffe-

rences betwixt them and me ; whereof I was

willing that Judge Rigby fhould be one of them :

A Gentleman (though now a JudgeJ I have

found very honeft and faithful, and to whom I

have been much obliged for many hearty Favours

I have from time to time received from him. I

fay, I have fent to him and Colonel Martin, and

abundance of Members befides, from time to

time ; to fome of whom I have written, with

fome of whom I have fpoken. I fay, I have

fent many Meffages with the earnefteft Defire in

the World, That if I had offended any Man in

the Houfe, that if he would be pleafed fairly and

friendly to refer it to the final Judgment and

Determination of four Members of their own
Houfe, I would ftand to it. And let all the

World judge whether, or no, this Propofition

was not fuitable to a Chriftian, and fuitable to

an honeft Man ; yea, to a Man that judged him

felf in the ftricteft Scrutiny of his own Confcience

to be free and innocent in his own Soul, and in

his own Confcience, from all Guilt, Crimes, or

Treafons ; or elfe, if I had not, I would not

have put myfelf upon the Judgment of thofe that

were engaged in Intereft and Self-prefervation a»

gainft me : And yet for the Things that they im-
prifoned me for as a Traitor in general, which
1 hear nothing of this Day, which is wonderful

ftrange Law and Proceedings to my Underftand-

ing. But befides, Sir, under favour, I have not

only done this, but I have yet Thoufands of my
Friends, I will undertake I could produce Ten
thoufand of old and young, Males and Females,
Citizens and Countrymen, Men of Honefty and
Integrity, that have in the common Caufe al-

ways adhered to the Freedoms of the Nation,

that have petitioned the Parliament feveral times,

yea, from time to time, with abundance of ratio-

nal and fair Petitions, and truly ftated mv Cafe
to them, and acquainted them with my Condi-
tion, and with the reft of my Fellow-Prifoners,

and earneftly begged and intreated of them, that

they would not be hafty in condemning and de-

ftroying me before they had heard me, and af-

forded me a legal Trial, from firft to laft, ac-

cording to the due Forms and Procefs of the

Law of England. And yet for all this, till I

came before you, I never faw Accufer or Profe-

cutor, nor Indictment or Charge, nor nothing
in all the Earth, legally to demonftrate me fo

much as a fuppofed Offender. And yet for all

this, no Satisfaction in the world would be re-

ceived ; notwithftanding in one Petition they de-

filing that they would be pleafed, feeing they

were incenfed againft us, and that they had ta-

ken Indignation againft us, they did not defire

to juftify us in any thing we had done •, but in

regard, to their own Knowledge, we had been all

four faithful, zealous, and ferviceable Inftru-

ments in the common Caufe of the Nation : In
which, to the hazard of my Life an hundred
times over, I have engaged for them, with my
Sword in my hand, with as much Refolution,

and as much Faithfulnefs, as any Man on Earth
ever ferved a Generation of Men ; having never

betray'd my Truft, or ever given any fufpicion

in the leaft, that I would, or ever fo much as

flagger'd in my Principles, nor ever fo much as

difputed any Commands, though never fo de-

fperate, that were laid upon me ; no, nor ever

turned my Back in the Field of their Enemies in

any of their Services, fo long as 'twas poffible

for a Man that had any Brains left him to ftand ;

but was one of thofe feven hundred Men at Brent-

Jord, (myfelf being there a Volunteer, without a-

ny particular Command) that with dint of Sword
flood it out againft the whole Body of the King's

numerous Army for many Hours together, and
never ftirred off the Ground till both Horfe and
Foot had, as it were, encompafTed us round, and
till we came to a Readinefs to beat out one ano-

J

ther's Brains with the But-end of our Muf-
quets : where I was taken a Prifoner, and led

captive in a moft barbarous and difgraceful man-
ner to Oxford, where I fuffered abundance of

unexpreflible Hardfhips, and underwent the

Shock, and rid the Storm, as ftoutly as any Man
there, although I believe I was as much courted by
Meffages from the King himfelf, as any or all the

Parliament-Men that were there myFellow-Prifo-

ners ; for there I have had no lefs than four Earls

and Lords in one Day fent unto me by him, to

draw me over to them : But I blefs God,
that kept me upright and entire unto my In-

tegrity and Principles, and fuffered me not to

turn my Back upon them. But, Sir, notwith-

ftanding
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ftanding all this, (I fay) our Friends defired of

the Parliament that they would be pleafed to take

fufficient Security, according to the Law, for

our forth-coming at all times, to anfwer fuch

Things as mould be laid to our Charge : But their

Petitions were contemned, themfelves flighted

and abufed, and by no means could get any fatis-

factory Anfwers to them. Sir, I fpeak here to

you, and to my Fellow- Citizens the Jury, as in

the fight and prefence of God, that knows I lye

not : And if you find me to be in a Lye, in the

lead, in what I have faid, then never credit Man
of my Profeffion again for my fake. Truly, Sir,

I fay, they defired them that we might be re-

leafed from our Imprifonment, putting in Secu-

rity to anfwer whatfoever legally could be charged

upon us •, only they craved we might have the

fame legal Privileges that they demanded at the

hands of the King, when he impeached the

Lord Kimbolton and the five Members of High-

Treafon ; which Privileges are eafily and plainly

to be read in their own firft Primitive Declara-

tions, pag. 38, 39, &? j6, yy. Now abundance

of the Free People of this Nation, in my be-

half, having craved the fame Privileges that were

demanded for the Lord Kimbolton, and in the

behalf of the five Members, and the like, all that

they defired was no more but the fame Privileges

that they craved for them ; which was, That I

might have the) due Procefs of the Law, from

firft to laft ; and I and my Accufers come Face

to Face at the beginning before an ordinary Ma-
giftrate ; and if they had any thing to lay to

my Charge, that they would legally, according

to Law, proceed with me. But, I fay, none of

thefe would be granted, altho' themfelves in fe-

veral of their Declarations have declared all thefe

Things to be the common^Right of all or any

of the People of England, as well as Parliament

Men. Yet notwithftanding all this, they con-

tinued in their incenfed Condition againft me,

and would come to no legal nor fair Iflue with

me ; nor let me in the lead know what was the

end or thing they required of me, or what was

the thing that would fatisfy for the Extenuation

of their Indignation againft me ; but contrari-

wife dealt harder and harder with me ; in laying

new and frefh infupportable Burthens and Provo-

cations upon me : For, after all this, they canfed

me to be lock'd up clofe Prifoncr in the Heat of

Summer, fet Sentinels Night and Day at my
Door, denied me the Accefs of my Wife and
little Babes •, for a certain Seafon neither Wife
nor child could fo much as fet their Feet within

the Gates of the Tower to fee me, or comfort me
in my Diftrefs.

Ld Keble. Mr. Lilburne, is this your Defence ?

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you, as either

the Law, or Fear of God, Confcience or com-
mon Honefty dwells within you, let me have a

little fair Play to go on to fpeak for my Life

without Interruption; I (hall not trouble you
long, for I have almoft done.

Ld Keble. When your Matter of Fact is to

defend your felf, and to anfwer the Proof upon
that ; and that is it we are to hear, and not to

hear you tell the Story of all your Life: and
then if we fhould reply to thefe particular things,

they will be fuch as mod of them will vanifh,

and do you no Service, but take up a great deal

of time. Do not tell us a Story, but go on to

finifti the Matter of Fait.
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Lieut. Col. Lilburne. It has been your Favour

to give me leave to tell it over to you, I pray

give me leave to declare it to my Jury, who have

not heard it before ; and it is very material to

my Prefervation, and my Life lies upon it:

therefore do not deal with me as Proctors, and
engaged Men, with thofe that thirft for my
Blood ; and laying afide that Evennefs of Hand
betwixt both Parties, that ought to be in all juft

and righteous Judges.

Ld Keble. 'Tis nothing to this ; if it be any
thing in the World to do you good, in the way
of your Courfe of Defence, you fhould have it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Well, if you will let me
go on no further to make my Defence, I cannot

over-rule you, though you over-rule me ; my
Blood be upon your Heads, and the Lord God
of Heaven and Earth reward you for all your

blood-thirfly Cruelty towards me his innoncent

Servant this Day ; and fo I have done w ith it

:

and what I have faid, 1 have done with it, and
leave it to the Jury, earneftly begging and in-

treating them to take notice of your cruel and

unjuft dealing with me, in denying me all the

Privileges of an Englijhman, when I am upon
my Life.

Ld Keble, What is material, you (hall not be

debarred in it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. O Lord, Sir! What
ftrange Judges are you, that you will neither al-

low me Counfel to help me to plead, nor fuffer

me my felf to fpeak for my own Life? Is this

your Law and Juftice, Sir? I have no more to

fay but this, feeing you ftraighten me ; although

you faid you would hear me till midnight. I

hope I have made it evident to all rational Men,
that all or any part of the Teftimony given in

againft me, does not in the exact Eye of the

Law, in the leaft touch me, although I have

been moft unjuftly imprifoned, and moft barba-

roufly ufed, and tyrannized over ; yea, and my
Eftate by Will and Power taken from me , that

fhould have kept me and mine alive, and the

legal and cuftomary Allowance of the 'Tower de-

nied me to this Day. And although I have ufed

all chriftian and fair Means to compofe my Dif-

ferences with my Adverfaries, yet nothing would

ferve their turns, but I muft have Oppreffion

upon Oppreffion laid upon me, enough to break

the Back of a Horfe ; and then if 1 cry out of

my Opprefiions in any kind, I muft have new
Treafon-Snares made to catch me, many Months
after their Oppreffions were firft laid upon me,

that if I fo much as whimper or fpeak in the

leaft of their unjuft dealing with me, I muft die

therefore as a Traitor. O miferable Servitude!

and miferable Bondage, in the firft Year of Eng-

land's Freedom! I have now no more to fay un-

to you, but only this ; your own Law tells me,

Sir Edward Coke fpeaks it three or four times

over in his 3d Part of Infiitutes, That it is the

Law of England, that any By-ftander may fpeak

in the Prifoner's behalf, if he fee any thing

urged againft him contrary to Law, or do appre-

hend he falls fhort of urging any material thing

that may ferve for his Defence and Prefervation.

Here's your own Law for it, Sir; Coke is full

and pregnant to this purpofe in his id Part of

Infiitutes, fol. 29, 34, 37. But this hath feveral

times been denied me in the Cafe of Mr. Sprat,

my Sollicitor; and now I demand it again, as my
Right by Law, that he may fpeak a few Words

L 2 for
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for me, according to his often Defire, both

to me and the Court. I have almoft done, Sir,

only once again I claim that as my Right which

you have promifed, That I mould have Counfel

to Matter of Law ; and if you give me but your

own Promife, which is my undoubted Right by

your own Law, I fear not my Life : But if you

again fhall deny both thefe legal Privileges, I

ihall defire my Jury to take notice, that I aver

you rob me of the Benefit of the Law, and go

about to murther me, without and againft Law

:

and therefore as a free-born Englijhman, and as a

true Chriftian that now Hands in the Sight and

Prefence of God, with an upright Heart and

Confcience, and with a chearful Countenance,

caft my Life, and the Lives of all the honeft

Freemen of England, into the Hands of God,

and his gracious Protection, and into the Care

and Confcience of my honeft Jury and Fellow-

Citizens; who I again declare by the Law of

England, are the Confervators and fole Judges of

my Life, having inherent in them alone the ju-

dicial Power of the Law, as well as Fact : you

Judges that fit there being no more, if they

pleafe, but Cyphers to pronounce the Sentence,

or their Clerks to fay Amen to them ; being at

the beft in your Original, but the Norman Con-

queror's Intruders. And therefore, you Gentle-

men of the Jury, are my fole Judges, the Keepers

of my Life, at whofe hands the Lord will re-

quire my Blood, in cafe you leave any part of

my Indictment to the cruel and bloody Men.

And therefore I defire you to know your Power,

and confider your Duty, both to God, to Me,
to your own Selves, and to your Country : And
the gracious affifting Spirit, and Prefence of the

Lord God Omnipotent, the Governour of Hea-

ven and Earth, and all things therein contained,

go along with you, give counfel and direct you,

to do that which is juft, and for his Glory.

[The People with a loud Voice cried, Amen,

Amen, and gave an extraordinary great Hum,
which made the Judges look fomething unto-

wardly about them, and caufed Major-General

Skippon to fend for three more frefh Companies

of Foot-Soldiers.]

Mr. Attorney. Gentlemen of the Jury, you

have heard the Evidence in behalf of the State

;

you have heard the Infinuations of the Prifoner

upon them, as calling you his Fellow-Citizens,

and the like: He hath faid, and fpoken ; we
have proved, and it is in your Confciences to

believe Proof, before Saying. The Prifoner be-

gun to cite you two Acts of Parliament; the

one in the ift of Edward the Sixth, and the

other 5th and 6th of Edward the Sixth ; and by

thofe two Acts he would fignify to you, that you

mould have two plain and evident Witneffes to

every particular Fact : yet he did forget to cite

another Statute made in the firft and fecond

Years of Philip and Mary, that overthrows and

annihilates thofe two Statutes that would have

two plain Witness to every Fact of Treafon;

and in all Cafes of Treafon will have them freed,

according to the common Courfe of Law, the

Common Law for the Trial of them. If that

muff, be material, or if that flick with you, that

you cannot determine it, my Lords the Judges

will direct you in it, and in all other Points of

Law, But certainly that Exception was a little

Vain too ; for we did not infift with one particu-

lar Witnefs in nothing at all: for that of New-
comb, the Prifoner did not repeat fully what he
faid ; for I remember he faid this, That Mr. Lil-

burne and Captain Jones came together, and
brought the Copy of the laft Sheet that was to

be printed: if one come with him, and the

other delivered it to the Printer, they are both
equally guilty alike. They came again the fame
Day at Night, and when the firft Sheet was
printed, to be fure it was true and right, Mr.
Lilburne did take the pains to take one of the

Copies into his Hand, and corrected it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your favour, Sir, he
urg'd no fuch thing : by your favour, Sir, they

are the exprefs "Words of the Teftimony, to the

quite contrary ; and I wonder, Mr. Prideaux
9

you are not afhamed to aver fuch notorious Falf-

hoods, as you do, in the open Face of the Court,

before thoufands of Witneffes ; for Newcomb faid

no fuch thing, as you falfly affirm; neither is

there any fuch Statute in Queen Mary's time that

doth abolifh thofe two Statutes of Edward the

Sixth, that I infill upon for two Witneffes: name
your Statute if you can, here's the Statute-Book,

let the Jury hear it read, do not abufe them with

your impudent Falfhoods.

Mr. Attorney. Well, Sir, I leave it to the

Judgment of the Jury, Sir. My Lord, as for all

the reft, and particularly for that of the Salva

Libertate, it is true, there is but one Witnefs,

which is fufficient enough by the fore-mentioned

Act of Queen Mary: but, my Lord, it is under
Mr. Lilburne's own Hand, he will not deny it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your favour, there is

no Man fo fwears, in the leaft, that it is my
Hand : Jefus Chrift denied none of his Accufa-

tion ; yet when they went about to enfnare him
by Queftions, he anfwered Pilate, &c. tfhoufayeft

fo ; go to thofe that heard me, they know what I
faid ; why ask you me ? Sir, I befeech you pro-

duce your Act of Parliament in Queen Mary's
time, to prove, in Cafes of Treafon, there ought
to be but a fingle Witnefs.

Mr. Attorney. Do not interrupt me, Mr. Lil-

burne.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I pray you then do not

urge that which is not right nor true, but no-
toriouflly falfe ; for if you perfevere in't, I will

interrupt you, and tell you of it to the purpofe.

Juftice Jermin. Though you do recite many
things, yet I muft tell you, the Law of the Land
faith, The Counfel for the Commonwealth muft
be heard.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I befeech you then let

there be no more added to the Teftimony, than

Right and Truth ; for my Life lyes upon it, and
I muft and will declare the Bafenefs and the

Falfenefs of it.

Mr. Attorney. I would not do the tenth part

of the Hair of your Head wrong ; but being

intruded, Lmall do my Duty, and difcharge my
Confcience in my Place, which is fully and
plainly to open that unto them, which in my
Confcience I think is right and juft.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I do repeat it thus, as in

my Confcience, that he did fay, when the Copy
was firft brought, Capt. Jones gave him the

Copy, and Captain Jones did agree with him for

the printing of it ; and Capt. Jones did read the

Original to his Corrector, which Corrector amend-
ed the Printer's Faults, and that I had an uncor-

rected
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rected Sheet away ; and that his Forms were ta-

ken before he had perfected that.

Mr. Attorney. And xMr. Lilburne came the fe-

cond Time.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Will you fpend all day

in vain Repetitions? You would not give one

leave to breathe, nor freely to fpeak Truth, with-

out Interruption, although you were laying load

upon me for five Hours together: I pray, Sir,

do not now go about to tire the Jury with te-

dious Repetitions, nor to fophifticate or adulte-

rate their Understandings with your Falfhoods

and Untruths.

Juftice Jermin. Mr. Lilburne, the Law of the

Land is, That the Counfel for the State mult
fpeak laft.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, your Law is ac-

cording to the Law of God, you faid ; and that

Law 1 am fure, will have no Man to bear falfe

wimefs : Why doth Mr. Prideaux tell the Jury
fuch Falfhoods as he doth, and takes up fix times

more time to take away my Life, than you or he

will allow me to defend it ?

Mr. Attorney. For the Saiva, that it was de-

livered in the Tower, which is not in London, I

hear not one witnefs to prove that.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. That is a disputable Point

in Law, whether it be in London or Middle/ex.

Mr. Attorney. And then, my Lord, as for the

Agreement of the People, Mr. Lilburne fays, it

was dated the ift of May, 1649, and it was be-

fore the Act was made that is dated May, 164.9,

and it is before the Law was made in July 1649.
We do not queftion him for that \ but when he
comes to bring in thofe Books in Augufi laft then

he does new publifh that Agreement of the People

:

He incites them to fet it up as their Center, Stand-
ard and Banner.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Let me not thus be
abufed ; that Book never was fixed upon me, I

was never taxed to be the Author of it, or fo

much as the Difperfer of one of them ; what
Bafenefs is this in you, Mr. Prideaux, thus falfly

to ufe me ?

Ld Keble. He does you no wrong, but all the

fair Play that can be ; he doth fix that Agreement
no otherwife upon you, than by your Books it is.

Mr. Attorney I do acknowledge the Agreement

of the People that you are charged with, is dated

the ift of May, 1649, and that the Evidence
may allow this ; as alfo, that that Agreement of
the People that was then publifhed, and which
you in your Books did own, was and is figned

by Mr. Waliuin, Mr. Prince, and Mr. Overton,
your Fellow- Prifoners, as well as yourfelf.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. There is no Book yet

proved mine ; and if that Agreement were mine,
yet it is dated before both your Ads, and was in

print before they had a Being ; and therefore in

the Eye of your own Law, can be no Tranf-
grefllon; and you yourfelf do not fo much as

accufe me for publifhing or difperfing one of them,
fince your Acts were publickly declared.

Mr. Attorney. That which you owned and
figned, Mr. Lilburne.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. By your favour, Sir, I

never owned or figned any Book that is proved
againft me yet; and no Book in the Eye of the

Law can be accounted mine, until it be legally

proved mine, or voluntarily confeffed to be mine
by myfelf.

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, that is owned to be

fo printed. When hemuffc come and incite the

People, and ftir them up from thofe Particulars

therein contained, to infift with Particular as

the diffolving of the Parliament, the having of

a new, and fuch other Particulars therein con-

tained ; and that this Agreement fhall be the Cen-
ter, the Banner, and the waved Standard, unto

which they fhall flock, and to fend Agents into

feveral Countries to put this into Execution;

Now, my Lords, for this Book it is not doubt-

ed but that there are two Witneffes that the*

Preparative to the Hue and Cry was owned by
Mr. Lilburne to be his own, the Erratas of the

Printer only excepted ; and that the Lieutenant

of the Tower likewife joins in it. My Lords,
I think there was not a Claufe read to you out

of it, but what is full and home to the Purpofe :

and as for the Out-cry, the Printer's Teftimony is

compleat. And The legalfundamental Liberties is

owned by him in his Impeachment of High-Trcafon

againfl Lieut. Gen. Cromwell, and his Son-in-law

Commijfary Ireton 5 and he doth there alfo fuf-

ficiently own the Agreement of the firft of May:
And, my Lords, I do not know there was any
thing that was offered here in that Book, but

was firft proved in the Court. We do not offer

any thing of Error that was paft, to take Mr*
Lilburne upon any Speeches that fell from him
unawares, although he hath fufficiently done it i

but in much fpeaking there wants not Offences

it falls out here in this. Mr Lilburne hath been

very ftee in his Writing, in his fpeaking, in his

printing, and it now rifeth in Judgment againft

him, and the Law muft now give him his due 1

which you, my Lords, are fole Judges of* and
from whom the Jury and the Prifoner both
muft receive it, for all that which Mr. Lilburne

hath faid to the contrary. And the Jury anfwers

to the Matter of Fact, and they are upon their

Oaths fworn to do the things that are juft and
right. My Lords, I fhall leave the Evidence
to them, with this Note or Obfervation upon it,

That notwithftanding all Mr. Lilburne hath

flourifhed and faid; I will not fay as he hath

done, and feek by gloffing Speeches or Infinu-

ations to wind into the Affections of the Jury,
as he cunningly and fmoothly hath done, by call-

ing them his Fellow-Citizens, and the like. You
Gentlemen of the Jury, you are to anfwer now
according to your own Confciences, betwixt

God and you ; your Oath is, That you are not

to refpect Favour or Affection, nor to meddle
with him upon any refpect, than in Juftice, and
as it is already clearly witneffed and proved
before you. My Lords, you have heard the

feveral Charges he is accufed upon, you have
heard a great deal of foul Matter and Dirt* that

is fit for nothing but to be caft upon the ground,

and returns to Mr. Lilburne again ; for truly

when he cafts it upon the pureft Marble or Brafsj

it falls off again : God be thanked that it returns

to Mr. Lilburne, the right Owner. The Pri-

foner hath caft thefe Accufations and thefe Ble-

mifhes upon others, but now they are upon the

ground they will fall off, and do retort and re-

turn upon his own Face : He hath taken a great

deal of Pains to dig deep for Miftakes, nay, for

notorious and grofs Calumniations; had he the

Ingenuity to remember the Words of the Scrip-

ture, That the Pit he hath diggedfor others, he is

fallen into himfelf, he would have fome Remorfe
of Confcience in him : but all the Mifchiefs and

all
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all the Evils that can be thought upon, which he

imagined to heap upon others, is now moll juft-

ly fallen upon himfelf. It is faid of thofe Flies

whofe Matter is Corruption, they always light

upon fore Places, upon galled Backs, upon Car-

rion •, other Birds, when they fly upon fair Mea-

dows, will not touch thefe. Certainly the Par-

liament of England, the Army, all the Officers

of it, ( whofe Fame, both as Parliament and

Army, all Men know in an extraordinary man-

ner ) are now put in a Balance againft Mr. Lil-

burne : but for the Army and the Officers of it,

no Man can fay but they have been faithful and

true to their Truft, gallant and courageous, and

extreme fuccefsful to the Peace and Happinefs of

this Nation ; and God is pleafed at this inftant

to own them, and blefs them in a miraculous

manner.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. And yet notwithftand-

ing, did not you help to vote them Traitors once ?

I am fure I was in a Chamber in Whitehall laft

Year, when their Commiffioners (now Members
of your Houfe) put your Name down in their

black Bill for a Malignant: but it feems you

have recanted your Errors, and engaged to be a

good acquiefcing Creature, or elfe you had not

been here this Day in the Condition you are in.

But for all their Faithfulnefs, &c. Have they not

rebelled twice againft their Creators, Lords and

Matters ?

Mr. Attorney. Never Army hath done greater

Things, and yet they have not efcaped Mr. Lil-

burne'% Tongue and Pen ; they have not efcaped

it, my Lords, but he hath lafhed them to the

purpofe. I fhall be as good as my Word, not

to aggravate the Offences, for they are fo vile,

they aggravate themfelves enough; and there-

fore I leave it thus, the naked Truth, and the

Worth of it, as the Books themfelves have of-

fered themfelves. But I fhall fay thus much
more, the Honour of the Parliament of Eng-

land, all the Magiftracy therein, the Honour of

the Government, the Honour and Renown of the

Army, that hath done fuch great and wonder-

ful Things, is now at Stake againft Mr. Lil-

burne ; and there being a Law publifhed, that did

give warning : and Mr. Lilburne had been tried

for his Life fooner, upon my Knowledge ; I fay,

Mr. Lilburne had been fooner tried, and fooner

condemned and executed, if the Law had been

fooner made and publifhed. But as he faith

right well, Where there is no L^aw, there is no

Tranfgreffion; and therefore there being a Law
againft which he hath offended, he muft fmart

for it.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I am fure I was imprifon-

ed moft unjuftly, without any the leaft Shadow
or Colour in Law, many Months before your Acts

were made, and extremely oppreffed ; and now
you go about to hang me as a Traitor, for at

moft but crying out of your Oppreffion. O un-

righteous Men ! the Lord in Mercy look upon

me, and deliver me and every honeft Man from

you, the vileft of Men.

Mr. Attorney. And that Law was publifhed

and proclaimed in this City, by means of which,

Mr. Lilburne and others had timely notice that

they fhould not do fuch Things as are there for-

bidden ; it is alfo told them the penalties of it,

which are thofe that are due for the higheft

High-Treafon : and yet notwithftanding you fee

with what Boldnefs, with what Confidence, in

defpight of all Law and Authority, thefe Books
have been made and publifhed by Mr. Lilburne.

And whereas he is pleafed to fay many Times,
that many Men have petitioned for him to the

Parliament, he will not affirm to you that ever he
petitioned himfelf; but in all his Difcourfe here,

he calls them the prefent Men in Power, the Gen-
tlemen at Weftminfter : nay, my Lord, he hath
not fo much as owned the Power of the Court
fince he came before you, but hath often called

you Cyphers, and the like.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. That is no Treafon,
Sir: they intitle themfelves the prefent Power ;

and would you hang me for not giving them a
better Style, than they themfelves give to them-
felves ? I think the Style of prefent Power ox pre-

fent Government , is a very fit Style for them.
Mr. Attorney. My Lord, I have told you long,

it is the Jury that are Judges upon the Fact ; and
to you I muft appeal for Law, if you do believe

the Evidence is plain and full againft him, for

which he ftands indicted : and fo God direct all

your Judgments, I have done.

Lieut. Col. [Lilburne. Sir, by your favour, I

fhall defire to addrefs myfelf in one Word to you ;

which is, to defire that the Jury may read the
firft Chapter of Queen Mary, in the Statute-

Book, and the laft Claufe of the Chapter of
the thirteenth of Elizabeth; where they fhall

clearly fee, efpecially in the Statute of Queen
Mary, that they abhorred and detefted the ma-
king of Words or Writing to be Treafon, which
is fuch a Bondage and Snare, that no Man knows
how to fay or do, or behave himfelf, as is excel-

lently declared by the Statute of Hen. 4. v. z. I

have done, Sir.

Ld Keble. Gentlemen, you of the Jury, you
are fworn; you are Men of Confcience, Gra-
vity and Underftanding : To tell you of the Du-
ties of your Place, that have gone through it fo

often, is a vain Thing. The Sacrednefs of an
Oath, which a Man muft not tranfgrefs in the

leaft, not to fave the World ; you have gone fo

often through it, and underftand it, that I need
fay no more. The Charge you have heard, and
the Proofs ; but for Proof fingle, or double, or

treble, as fome of them do amount unto a Wit-
nefs in this, yea, that doth double another Man's
Witnefs ; if I fwear this Thing, and another

fwear the fame, a third the fame, that is doubled
upon all their Teftimonies. Mr. Lilburne hath

cited two Statutes of Edward the Sixth, to prove
there muft be two Witneffes; but I mult tell

him, were there but one to each Fact, it were
enough in Law : for as for that which was cited

of King Edward the Sixth, you have had it fully

anfwered by a latter Law of Queen Mary, which
doth over-rule that, and alfo enacts that the Com-
mon Law of England fhall be the Rule, by which
all Treafons fhall be try'd ; which reacheth to

this Cafe too, that there need no more but one
Witnefs, and this is Law: and therefore, Gen-
tlemen of the Jury, that muft not ftick with you,
That which you have heard, to concern you
of the Truth of the Matters, is this, You are

not bound affirmatively to have two Witneffes,

but in that one Witnefs with the Circumftances

concurs, that is fufficient: That which fhould

prevail with you, is to confider the Strength of
the Accufation, which refts in the Books, and
doth confift of three Heads, which are laid down
in the Books themfelves ; which doth in the firft

place



G.H. for Hfgh-Treafon.

place fo firmly exprefs, and fo Far vilify the Par-

liament and State, as it is now eflablifhed in

England ; the fecond doth look unto the Coun-

fels and Incitations of him for the ftirring up of

Tumults, Commotions, and Wars in this Nati-

on ; and the third, are the Things cited in his

Books to that end and purpofe, to divide the

Army, and then the other will take the better

effect. Thefe are the three main Charges, and

thefe the Books that come from him do fo plainly

teftify : that the Books are proved to be his, you

are fit Judges of; but it clearly appears by thofe

his Books, that thefe things were in his inten-

tion.

For that he fays, it is Mens that does make a

Man guilty, the Mind, that is intended as' it is

eXpreis d : AUus nonfacit reum, nifi Mem fit rea.

Now that Mind is rea, when there is Faith

publifhed •, but I tell you this, thefe Books being

admitted true, I fay that never Man that acted

the higheft of Treafons, as he hath done, hath

had fo much Liberty as he hath had : and as I

faid before, never Man of his Condition, nor any

Condition in England, that was indicted in fuch

a Cafe, ever had a Trial in fuch a Court, in fuch

an Auditory, fuch a Prefence as he had.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. The more's my Sor-

row.

Ld Keble. The more's your Sorrow indeed

!

You have good Caufe to be forrowful indeed for

this Aft of yours thus declared : if your Intenti-

ons had taken effect, your Plot was the greateft

that ever England faw, for it ftruck at no lefs

than the Subverfion of this Commonwealth, of

this State, to have laid and put us all in Blood ;

your Plot was fuch, that never fuch was feen in

the World before to proceed from a private Man
as you are ; therefore it muft needs be heavy up-

on your Confcience. Therefore, my Matters of
the Jury, look into your Confcience, and fee

what that faith unto you, which he ftands fo

much upon : The WitnelTes Teftimonies are now
plain and good in Law, in this Caufe they are

multiply'd •, I do not know in one Particular that

there is a Teftimony fingle, but it is aggravated

with many Circumftances: therefore let not that

trouble you, you are the proper Judges of the

Matter of Fact, being of the Country •, and if

you have fully apprehended the dangerous things

plotted in thofe Books of Mr. LUburne's, you
will clearly find that never was the like Treafon

hatch'd in England. And fo in God's Name, as

the Prifoner doth lead to your Confidences, fo go
and do.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I defire your Favour, that

there may be a Courfe taken, that neither my
Profecutors, nor any belonging to them, may
have Accefs unto the Jury ' till they have
done.

Juftice Jermin. You Gentlemen of the Jury, I

did expect it, it was expected by the Court, that

fome Matter of Law, or fome Queftion of Law,
might arife upon the Evidence ; which, if it had,

it was the Duty of the Court to have cleared it

:

but there does not appear, and therefore there is

an End, as to the Difpute of the Law.
Fore-man. We are no Lawyers indeed, my

Lord.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. I have begged it, and
you have promifed it, that I fhould have Li-
bety to plead in Law to the Illegalities of the In-

dictment; but you have deny'd me that legal

Right : yea, you will not permit my Solicitor

to fpeak a few Words for me. 1 dare undertake,

there was never fuch a Trial upon Englijh Ground
as this hath been ; where a Man hath been deny'd
all the legal Rights of an Englijhman, as I have
been. You Gentlemen of the Jury, who now
are my fole Judges, I pray you take Notice of
it.

Juftice Jermin. There never was any fuch Kind
of Abufe offered to a Court as you have given*

nor never was fuch Language ufed to any Court
of Juflice before, that 1 did hear of, as you have
given : and certainly the Behaviour at the Bar
doth fet forth what the Humours and Character

of the Man is ; for in this Cafe, if any fuch dan^
gerous thing of acting of Commotion or Mutiny-

in the Army or in the Nation fhould have fol-

low'd, it had been too late then to have thought
of the Remedy. Therefore the Wifdom of th£

Parliament hath declared, That whofoever mail
by writing, printing, or by openly declaring,

publifh that the prefent Government of England
is Ufurped or Tyrannical, it is Treafon. There
is the Fact, upon which all the Evidence does
depend ; and you are to judge, whether in all

thofe Books there be not by Mr. Lilburne a trai-

torous Fact committed ; and how clearly this

does appear unto you, with all Circumftances

thereunto belonging, I leave you to judge : and
how fhort his pretended Replies are to be feen,

or invalidate the Strength of the WitnefTes, I

alfo leave you to judge. I fay, I might eafily

fhew you, how fhort his pretended Anfwers ate

of real Satisfaction, but I leave it to your Judg-
ments.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, my Anfwers are real

Anfwers, not pretended ones, as you are pleafed

to call them.

Juftice Jermin. But in this Bufmefs the Evi-
dences are fufficient to make a Man guilty of

Treafon ; for here was not fimply a pailionate

Act, or inconfiderate Speech, but what he hath

done, he hath done deliberately and advifedly,

which is fufficient to make him, or any Man
that fo doth, guilty of Treafon. All this that was

publifhed was in Augufl, the Act is in July pre-

ceding. Now it is very true, and I will Englijh

it for Mr. Lilburne, AEius non facit reum, nifi

Mens rea : The Act of a Man does not make
him guilty, unlefs his mind be guilty. But I

pray, how fhall any Man know the Guilt of a

Man's mind, but by thofe polluting and poi-

fonous Words that come out of his mouth ? that's

the mind. What I hear a Man fay, I may law-

fully fay he thinks : and it is a Rule in Law, that

the outward Acts do fbew forth inward Intenti-

ons : that very Rule I will not fpeak it in Latin,

becaufe I fpeak to one that does fay he does not

underftand Latin, otherwife I could fpeak more
Latin. Now here is the matter, whether or no,

upon the whole Evidence that you have heard,

there does not appear fufficient matter to make
this Prifoner guilty, not of rafh, but of advifed

and deliberate Treafon ; and as plainly of plot-

ting and contriving to raife Mutiny and Sedition

in the Army, thereby totally to fubvert and de-

ftroy the prefent Government : and truly, I have

not heard more of '-kill has been ufed, and more

Attempts made, than I think you have heard,

and do remember. I doubt not, but as you
will take care of the Life of a Man, that

you muft not take away the Life of an Innocents
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fo will you be as careful of your own Souls, and

the publick Safety : and that's all that I defire,

and i pray God to direct you for the Deft.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. If you will not let me

have Counfel, let my Solicitor fpeak Matter of

Law for me.

Juftice Jermin. Mr. Attorney, you muft take

fome care to fupprefs this, he will not be anfwer-

ed by us. I pray demand Juftice of the Court a-

gainft him.

Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Well, Sir, then I have

done.

[The Foreman defires the Act for Treafon, and

one of the Jury defired to drink a Cup ofSack, for

they had fat long, and how much longer the De-

bate of the Bufinefs might laft, he knew not ; and

therefore defired, that they might have amongft

them a Quart of Sack to refrefh them.]

Juftice Jermin. Gentlemen of the Jury, I know

for my part in ordinary Juries that they have been

permitted to drink before they v/ent from the Bar ;

but in cafe of Felony or Treafon, I never fo much

as heard it fo, or fo much as asked for ; and there-

fore you cannot have it.

[But one of the Judges moved they might have

Juftice Jermin. I may not give leave to have

my Confcience to err ; I dare not. And thus if

the reft of the Judges be of opinion, you fhall

have a Light if you pleafe, the Fellow that

keeps you fhall help you to it ; but for Sack, you

can have none, and therefore withdraw about your

Work.
Lieut. Col. Lilburne. Sir, I underftand, the

Officer that is to keep their Door hath declared

fomething of Bitteraefs of Spirit againft me ; I

defire therefore he may have fome indifferent Man
joined with him, to fee I have fair Play ; which

was granted, and he fworn.

The Jury go forth about Five a-Clock, the

Court adjourned till Six a-Clock, and the Court

commands the Lieutenant of the Tower and the

Sheriffs to carry the Prifoner into the Irijh Cham-
ber, which they did. The Prifoner ftays about

three Quarters of an Hour, and the Jury being

come into the Court again, the Prifoner was fent

for ; and after the Crier had caufed Silence, the

Jury's Names were called, viz.

1. Miles Petty , 7. Edmond Keyfar,

2. Stephen lies, 8. Edward Perkins,

3. Abraham Smith, 9. Ralph Packman,

4. John King, 10. William Commens,

5. Nicholas Murren, n. Simon Werdon,

6. Thomas Dainty, 12. Henry Tooley.

Clerk. Are you agreed of your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fpeak for you ?

Jury. Our Foreman.
Cryer. John Lilburne^ hold up thy Hand. What

fay you, (look upon the Prifoner) is he guilty of
the Treafons charged upon him, or any of them,

or not guilty ?

Foreman. Not guilty of all of them.

Clerk. Nor of all the Treafons, or any of
them that are laid to his Charge.

Foreman. Not of all, nor of any one of them.
Clerk. Did he fly for the fame

:

Fore-man. No.
[Which No being pronounced with a loud

Voice, immediately the whole Multitude of Peo-
ple in the Hall, for Joy of the Prifoner's Ac-

quittal, gave fuch a loud and unanimous Shout, 1

as is believed was never heard in Guild- Hall,

which lafted for about half an hour without in-

termiffion ; which made the Judges for fear turn

pale, and hang down their Heads ; but the Prifo-

ner flood filent at the Bar, rather more fad in his

Countenance than he was before. But Silence be-

ing made:]
Clerk. Then hearken to your Verdict, the

Court hath heard it : You fay, that John Lil-

burne is not guilty of all the Treafons laid unto

his charge, nor of any one of them, and fo you
fay all, and that he did not fly for it ?

Jury. Yes, we do fo.

Clerk. Gentlemen of the Grand Inqueft, the

Court doth difcharge you. And you Gentlemen
of Life and Death, the Court doth difcharge you
alfo. Lieutenant of the T'ower, you are to carry

your Prifoner to the Tower again, and Major-
General Skippon is to guard you ; and all whom
you defire, are to aflift you.

The Prifoner withdraws, and the Court ad-

journed till Wednefday following.

Extraordinary were the Acclamations for the

Prifoner's Deliverance, as the like hath not been
feen in England; which Acclamations and loud
rejoicing Expreffions, went quite through the

Streets with him to the very Gates of the Tower,
and for joy the People caufed that night abun-
dance of Bonfires to be made all up and down
the Streets. And yet for all his Acquittal by the

Law, his Adverfaries kept him afterwards fo

long in Prifon, that the People wondred, and be-

gan to grumble that he was not difcharged ; and
divers of his Friends went to the Judges, the Par-

liament, and Council of State, by whofe Impor-
tunities, by the feafonable Help of the Lord Gray
of Grooby, Colonel Ludlow, Mr. Robinfon, and
Colonel Martin, his Difcharge was procured, a

Copy of which thus followeth.

J HE RE AS Lieutenant-Colonel John Lil-

burne hath been committed Prifoner to the

Tower, upon fufpicion of High-Treafon, in order

to his Trial at Law ; which Trial he

hath received, and is thereby * acquit- _

*' The Jury

ted: Thefe are therefore to willand re- J,
uft

.

1&
v
d
r

J

?„
/•j.j r . it tlleir Verdict

quire you, upon fight hereof, to dif- by the Coim .

charge and fet at liberty the faid Lieu- cil of State.

tenant-Colonel John Lilburne from
his Imprifonment ; for which this Jhall be your

fufficient Warrant.

Given at the Council of State, at Whitehall,

this 8th Day of November 164$.

To the Lieutenant of

the Tower of'Lon-

don, or to his De-

puty.

Signed in the Name and
by the Order of the

Council of State, ap-

pointed by Authority

of Parliament.

John Bradfhaw, Prefident.

Lilburne was afterwards, January 20, 1651,

hanifhed by the Parliament, and went away on Ja-
nuary z8, but returned the \\th June 1653. for

which he was tried at the Old Baily, upon the late

Acl for his Banifhment, the zoth Auguft following,

[See Vol. VII. State Trials, pag. 354.] but was
acquitted by the Jury, for which they were examined

before the Council of State ; which Examination

here follows,

The
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7#£ Examination of the Jury who iryd and acquitted Lieutenant-Colonel

John Lilburne, at the Sejfions-Houfe in the Old-Baily, upo7i Saturday the

20th ofAuguft, i 653. Taken before the Council of State the 2%dofthefame
Month, inpurfuance of an Order of Parliame?jt of the.

21ft.

~\HOMAS GREE NE, of Snow-Bilk

Tallow-Chandler, Foreman of the Jury,

being asked what the Grounds and Rea-

fons were that moved him to find the faid Lieu-

tenant-Colonel John Lilburne not guilty upon the

Indictment preferred againft him at the Seffions-

Houfe in the Old-Baily, faith, * That he did,

* difcharge his Confcience in what he then did,

* and that he will give no other Anfwer to any
' Queftions which mall be asked him upon that

4 matter.

And being in particular demanded of him, whe-

ther he conceived it not fufficiently proved, that

the Act whereupon he was indicted was an Act

of Parliament ; whether he was not fatisfied that

the Copy of the Act produced, was a true Copy

of the Aft itfelf, or that the John Lilburne at the

Bar was the John Lilburne mentioned in the Act

;

and what other Thing it was, which moved the

Jury to find as afore- faid: theExaminant anfwer-

ed, ' That he will give no other Anfwer, than

* as abovefaid, and defired that he might be no
1 further prefs'd therein.'

And being further ask'd, why he would not

give an Account of the Grounds and Reafons of
their Verdict, he faid, ' He would not do it, for

* Reafons beft known to himfelf.'

Ichael Rayner, of Friday-Street, Leather-

Seller : He faith, That he was one of the

Jury that tried Lieutenant-Colonel John Lilburne,

upon Saturday the 20th inftant •, and that he was
fummoned to ferve the Jury upon Wednefday
was fevennight, and did conftantly attend in

Court, and upon the Service, until the Trial

was over ; and that he was not follicited by John
Lilburne, nor any other on his behalf. And the

Queftions mentioned in the foregoing Examina-
tion being asked him, he anfwered, ' That he
* was fatisfied in the Verdict he gave in that
1 Cafe ; and that he fhould give no other Anfwer
* thereto.'

And being further prefs'd therein, he defired

that a Day's Time might be given unto him, to

confider of it, and he mould give Satisfaction to

the aibreCtid Queftions.

He was further asked who advifed him to

make this anfwer to the Council: W hereunto

lie anfwered, ' That the Jury were all of that
' Mind ; and that they agreed to give this

* Anfwer at a Meeting they had all together at

* the Windmill-Tavern in Coleman- Street this

' Morning ; which Meeting they had upon Oc-
* cafion of the Order of Parliament for examin-
' ing this Bufinefs : And that he had notice to
' come to this Meeting by one or two of his
4 Partners, whofe Names (he faith) he doth not
* well know.'
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And being further demanded of him, Whether
Mr. Scobell, Clerk of the Parliament, did not

give Evidence that Lieut. Col. John Lilburne at

the Bar was the very Lilburne againft whom the

Act was made? He faid he did give that Evi-
dence ; and that he did believe he faid true; and
that the Copy of the Act of Parliament produced
was a true Copy : But faith, ' That he and the
' reft of the Jury took themfelves to be Judges
' of Matter of Law, as well as Matter of Fact 5

' although he confeffed that the Bench did fay
' that they were only Judges of the Fact.'

He further faid, He was very unwilling to be
of the Jury.

THomas Tunman, of Cow-Lane, Salter, ano-

ther of Lieutenant- Colonel John Lilburne'

s

Jury, who faith that the Verdict was Not guilty.

And being asked the Queftions in the firft Exami-
nation, he faith, * That he was fworn to find ac-
' cording to the Iffue and Evidence, and that he
* did find according to his Confcience ; and pofi-
* tively refufed to give any other Anfwer : And
' did deny that the Jury, aforefaid, had agreed
' together to give one and the fame Anfwer to
* the Council, or that they had met together this

' Morning, or at any other Time fince Saturday-
' night laft, until they came to the Council.'

And being asked in particular whether the faid

Jury did not meet together this Morning at the

Windmill-Tavern in Coleman- Street, he pofitively

anfwered they did not.

E Manuel Hunt, of St, Sepulchres ; who faith,

He was one of John Lilburne's Jury, upon
his Trial on Saturday laft ; and that the Jury found
him not guilty : But his Memory being fhort,

doth not well remember the Iffue.

He being asked whether it was not proved
that the Prifoner was the John Lilburne mention-

ed in the Act, faith, * He was not fatisfied that
' it was fo proved ; and that there are many John
' Lilburne''s ; and that John Lilburne was indicted

* of Felony, which he did believe he was not
c guilty of; and that what was found was done
' by the Confent of all, and did fatisfy their Con-
' fciences therein ; and refufed to give any other
' Anfwer than as afore-faid.'

And it being demanded of him whether the

Jury had not met together, to agree of the

Anfwer they were to give to the Council, he

anfwered, ' They met together the Night of
' the Trial to drink a Pint of Wine; and that

* they met not fince until this Day.' And being

asked what Time ofthe Day, he anfwered, ' Five
' of them met here.' But being asked particu-

larly whether they met not at the IVindmili-

Tavern in Coleman-Street this Morning, he did

M acknow»
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acknowledge they did, and that Mr. Tunman in par-

ticular was there: But refufed to declare who gave

him notice of this Meeting.

J
Ames Stephens, of the Old-Baily, Haberdamer,

who faith, That he was one of Lieutenant-

Colonel John Lilburne's Jury •, and that having

confidered of the Matter whereof he was indict-

ed, they found him not guilty. And being ask-

ed the Queftions in the firft Examination, he ac-

knowledged, ' That he was fatisfied that the

* Prifoner was the John Lilburne mentioned in

4 the Act •, nor did he yet queftion the Validity

' of the Act : But the Jury having weighed all

* which was faid, and conceiving themfelves

* (notwithstanding what was faid by the Council

* and Bench to the contrary ) to be Judges of

« Law as well as of Fact, they found him not

* guilty.'

He acknowledged that all the Jury met this

Morning at the Windmill-Tavern in Coleman-Street,

to confider what Anfwer to give to the Council

;

and that the Foreman of the Jury fpoke to him to

be there, telling him he had heard there was an

Order of Parliament for fummoning them before

the Council: And further faith, That Tunman

was at that Meeting.

Ichard Tomlins, of St. Sepulchres, Book-Bind-

.. „ er, who faith, he was one of Lieutenant-

Colonel John Lilburne's Jury •, and that the Jury

found him not guilty. And being asked what

was the Point in Iffue, he defired to be excufed

in that, faying,
4 What he can tell, is one thing;

* but to accufe himfelf, is another thing.' It be-

ing further demanded of him, whether he was

fatisfied that the Prifoner was the John Lilburne

mentioned in the Acl, he faid he was not. And
being asked what made him think fo, he anfwer-

ed, 'He was not bound to give any account of
4 what hedidinthatBufinefs, but to God himfelf.'

William Hitchcock, of Watling-Street, Wool-

len-Draper •, who faith he was of Lieu-

tenant-Colonel John Lilburne's Jury, and that the

Jury found him not Guilty. He being asked the

Queftions exprefled in the Foreman's Examinati-

on, he anfwered, ' He had difcharged his Con-
* fcience in what he had done; and defireth the

4 Council not to ask him any Queftions, for he
4 can give no other Anfwer, and is refolved to

4 give no other Anfwer.

And being asked concerning the Meeting of

the Jury, to agree of an Anfwer to be given to

the Council, he firft denied that they had any

other Meeting than what they had the fame

Night his Trial was. But being asked particu-

larly if they met not at the Windmill-Tavern in

Coleman- Street this Morning, he acknowledged

they did ;
4 But denied he heard of any Order of

* Parliament for fending for the Jury ; nor did
* they meet upon the Bufinefs of John Lilburne,

* or that they did at the Meeting fpeak of it : but
* only met to drink a Pint of Wine, as they had
* agreed to do the fame Night they gave up their

4 Verdict.'

THomas Ever/hot, of Watling-Street, "Wool-
len-Draper; who faith he was one of John

Lilburne's Jury, and that they found him not

guilty : But denied to give any Anfwer to any
further Queftions, faying, « He was fatisfied in

* his own Confcience in what he did.' And be-

ing asked whether the Jury did not meet this

Morning, to agree of an Anfwer to be given to

the Council, denied that they did, or that they

met at all fince the Night of the Trial, until

they met as the Council. %

The Perfons following were examined the

zqth of Augufl, 1653, in the Morning.

THomas Smith, of Cornhill, Haberdafher of

Small-Wares : He faith he was of John Lil-

burne's Jury, and found him not guilty. But re-

fufed to anfwer to any other Queftions; fay-

ing, ' He was called to ferve his Country in this
4 Particular ; and that he had done it according
4 to the beft of his Underftanding : Acknowledg-
4 eth the Meeting of the Jury at the Windmill Ta-
4 vern yefterday Morning.'

Gilbert Gayne, ofDunftan's in the "Weft, Gro-
cer : He faith he was one of John Lilburne's

Jury, and found him not guilty. And he being

asked what the Iflue was, he acknowledged that

he was indicted for Felony, for coming into

England. But faith, 4 That the Jury did find
4 as they did, becaufe they took themfelves to
4 be Judges of the Law, as well as of the Fact

:

4 And that although the Court did declare they
4 were Judges of the Fact only, yet the Jury
4 were otherwife perfuaded from what they heard
4 out of the Law-Books.' He confeffeth he

himfelf did at firft differ from the Jury, but was
convinced by their Reafons. He confeffed the

Meeting of the Jury.

GRiffith Owen, of Bijhopfgate Ward, Brewer:

He acknowledgeth he was of Lieutenant-

Colonel John Lilburne's Jury, and that they found

him not guilty, * Becaufe he was not fatisfied
4 that the Prifoner was the John Lilburne men-
4 tioncd in the Act ; and that he had never feen
4 John Lilburne before that Day, nor was he
4 follicited in his behalf by any Perfon.' He
acknowledgeth the Jury met yefterday Morning
at the Windmill-Tavern ; but made no Agreement
what Anfwer to make the Council.

n*
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XLVII. The Trial of Mr. Christopher Love *, before

the High Court of Juftice for High Treafon 5 the 20th

of June, 1 65

1

5 3 Car. II.

i]HE Court being fet, and called over,

the Lieutenant of the Tower was
9 commanded to bring forth his Pri-

foner : And Mafter Love was brought

jMs^l® to the Bar. After the reading of di-

vers late Acts of Parliament concerning Treafon,

Mafter Prideaux, the Attorney- General for the

Commonwealth, fpake as followeth :

Attorney-Gen. My Lord, you have heard feve-

ral Acts of Parliament read, and the Offences

therein mentioned. My Lord, 1 have here a Charge
againft Mr. Love, the Prifoner at the Bar •, and

I humbly defire that it may be read. And you

may pleafe to take his Anfwer to it, whether by
Confeffion, or otherwife.

TThe Clerk is commanded to read the Charge.]

The Clerk. A Charge of High-Treafon,

and other High Crimes and Offences,

exhibited to the High Court of Juftice

by Edmond Prideaux, Attorney-General

for the Commonwealth of England, for

and on the behalf of the Keepers of the

Liberties of England, by Authority of
Parliament, againft Chrijtopher Love, late

of London, Clerk ; by him preferred and

commenced againft the faid Chrijlopher

Love.

That is to fay,

THAT he the faid Chriftopher Love, as a

falfe Traitor and Enemy of this Common-
wealth and Free State of England, and out of
a traitorous and wicked Defign to ftir up a new
and bloody War, and to raife Infurretlions, Sediti-

ons and Rebellions within this Nation, did infeve-

ral Days and Times, that is to fay, in the Tears of
cur Lord 1648, 1649, 1650, 1651, ,2/ London,
and at divers other Places within this Common-
wealth of England, and elfewhere, [together with

William Drake, late of London, Mercer , Henry
Jermin, to<? <?/" London, Efq; Henry Piercy, late

of London, Efq; John Gibbons, late of London,
Gentleman ; Edward Mafley, late of London,

Efq; Richard Graves, late of London, Efq\ Sy-
Jas Titus, late of London, Gentleman ; James
Bunce, late of London, Alderman y and other

their Accomplices, yet unknown) traitoroufly and ma-
licioufly combine, confederate, and complot, contrive,

and endeavour to ftir and raife up Forces againfi

the prefent Government of this Nation, fince the

fame huth been fettled in a Commonwealth and Free

State, without a King and Houfe of Lords, andfor
the Subverfion and Alteration of thefame.

And the better to carry on and accomplifh their

faid traitorous and wicked Defign, he the faid Chri-
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flopher Love, together with the faid William
Drake, Henry Jermin, Henry Piercy, Richard
Graves, Edward Maffey, John Gibbons, Sylas

Titus, James Bunce, and others, (Jince the Death
of Charles Stuart, late King of England, who, for
his notorious Treafons, and other Tyrannies and
Murders, by him cotnmitted in the late unnatural
and cruel Wars, was by Authority, derivedfrom
Parliament, jufily condemned to Death and executed)

feveral Days and Times, in the refpetlive Tears a-

forefaid, at London aforefaid, and at fundry other

Places of this Commonwealth, and fince this Nation
was fettled in the way of a Commonwealth or Free
State, as aforefaid, did traitoroufly and malicioufly

declare, publifh andpromote Charles Stuart, the cl-

deft Son of the late King of England, to be King of
England {meaning this Commonwealth) without
the Confent of the People in Parliament, firfi had
and fignified by Authority and Ordinances to that

purpofe.

And further, to carry on and accompliJJj their faid
traitorous and wicked Defign, he the faid Chrifto-
pher Love, on feveral Days and Times in the re-

fpeBive Tears aforefaid, at London aforefaid, and
in divers others Places within this Commonwealth of
England, and elfewhere, together with the faid
William Drake, Henry Jermin, Henry Piercy,

Richard Graves, Edward Maffey, John Gibbons,
Sylas Titus, James Bunce, and other their Ac*
complices, as aforefaid, did traitoroufly and malici-

oufly invite, aid, and ajfift the Scots, being Foreign-

ers and Strangers, to invade this Commonwealth of
England, and adhered to the Forces of the Enemy,
raifed againfi the Parliament a7id Commonwealth a

-

forefaid, and Keepers of the Liberties ofEngland a-

forefaid.

Andfurther, to carry on and accomplifh the faid
traitorous and wicked Defign, he the faid Chrifto-
pher Love, divers Days and Times between the

29th Day of March 1650, and the \ft Day of
June 1651, at London, and other Places, as a-

forefaid, did traitoroufly and malicioufly give, hold,

ufe, and maintain Correfpondence and Intelligence by

Letters, Meffages, Inftrutlions, and ether Ways,
prejudicial to this Commonwealth, with the faid

Charles Stuart, Son of the late King, and with the

late Queen, his Mother, and with the faid Hen-
ry Jermin, Henry Piercy, and divers other Per-

Jons, being of Counfel, and abiding with Charles
Stuart.

And further, to carry on and accomplifh the faid
traitorous and wicked Defign, he thefaid Chriftopher
Love, feveral Days and Times in the refpetlive

Tears aforefaid, at London aforefaid, and divers

Places within the Commonwealth of'England, and
elfewhere, as aforefaid, did traitoroufly and malici-

oufly ufe, hold, and maintain Correfpondence and
Intelligence with divers Perfons of the Scotifh Na-

M 2 tion ;
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lion ; that is to fay, with the Earls of Argyle,

Lowdon, Lothian, and Belcarras, and with one

Bayley Gent, and divers other Perfons of the Scotifh

and other Nations, whom he the faid Chriftopher

Love well knew to adhere to thefaid Scotifh Nation

in this f¥ar againft the Parliament and Common'
wealth of England.

And further, he the faid Chriftopher Love,

•within the 'Times, and at the Places before mentio-

ned, did traitoroufly and malicioufly abet, aff.ft,

countenance, and encourage both *fo Scotifh Nation,

and divers other Perfons, adhering to them in this

War againft the Parliament ; and did fend and

convey, or caufe te be fent and conveyed, Money>
,

Arms, Ammunition, and other Supplies, to Scot-

land, and other Places, and to the faid Titus,

Maffey, and others in Confederacy againft this Na-
tion, without fpecial Leave and Licence from the

Parliament of England, or Council of State, or

the Captain-General of the Parliament's Forces

Andfurther, to carry on and accomplifh thefaid

traitorous and wicked Praclice and Defign, he the

faid Chriftopher Love, within the Times, and at

the Places before mentioned, did traitoroufly and vo-

luntarily relieve the faid Sylas Titus, Edward
Maffey, Colonel Bamfield, and one Maf >n, late of

London Gent, and one Sterks, late of London,

Gent, who then were, and yet are under the Power

of the Scotifh Nation, and in Arms againft the

Parliament and Commonwealth of England, with

Moneys, Arms, and Ammunition. All which Trea-

fons, and traitorous and wicked PracJices and De-

Jigns of him the faid Chriftopher Love, were and

are to the apparent Hazard of the publick Peace of

this Commonwealth and Free State, Parliament and

People of England, and to the manifeft Breach,

Contempt and Violation of the Laws of the Land,

and contrary to the Form of divers Statutes and

Atls of Parliament in fuch Cafe made and provided.

And Mafter Attorney-General (by Proteftation,

faving to himfelf in the behalf of the Keepers of the

Liberties of England, to exhibit any other Charge

againft the faid Chriftopher Love, and to reply to

the Aiijwer he fhall make to the Premifes) doth for

the faid Treafons, on the behalf of the Keepers of

the Liberties of England, impeach the faid Chrifto-

pher Love as a Traitor and publick Enemy to this

Commonwealth and Free State of England : And
doth pray that he may be put to anfwer all and fin-

gular the Premifes ; that fuch Proceedings, Trial,

Examination, Judgment, and Execution, may be

thereupon had againft him, as fhall be agreeable to

Juftice.

The Clerk. Chriftopher Love, youftand charged

on the behalf of the Keepers of the Liberties of Eng-
land, by Authority of Parliament, of High Treafon,

and other high Crimes and Offences againft the Par-

liament and People of England : This High Court

therefore requires you to give a pofitive and diretl

Anfwer, whether you are guilty or not guilty of the

Crimes and Treafons laid toyour Charge.

Mr. Love. My Lord, before I plead, I humbly
crave leave to exprefs myfelf in a few Words to

this Court •, and afterwards to make humble Pro-

pofals of what I defire in order to this Trial. In

the lirft place, being I am this Day called to a

great and weighty Work, in the Entrance to it

I do earneftly beg the Prayers of all them that

have an Intereft in God, that he would carry me
through this whole Trial with fuch Gravity,

Godlinefs, and Meeknefs of Wifdom, as becomes

a Profeffor and Preacher of the Gofpel •, and that

he would keep me in this Hour of Temptation
rather from Sin than from Suffering. Sir, I am
this Day made a Spectacle to God, Angels, and
Men ; fingled out horn among my Brethren to

be the Objeft of fome Men's Indignation and In-

fultation. By my appearing in this Place, I am
made a Grief to many that are Godly, and a

Laughing-ftock to the Wicked. [Here he

was interrupted by the Court.]
* Lord Prefident of the Court. Mr. * Mr j, ,

.

Love, how long time do you intend to

take up ?

Mr. Love. I will be brief, Sir.

Ld Prefident. We have been calling upon God
to direct us and you, and all good People, that

juftice may be done ; and you would glorify God
rather than Man, if you would confefs, knowing
what was done in that great Sin of Achan ; there

was great Pains taken, and the whole Nation was
fain to be examined, and their Houfes divided,

and at laft when it came to Achan, you know
what Jofhua faid to him, Confefs and tell the

Truth, and glorify God. This is that, that if you
refpect God before Man, you may now clear

yourfelf, and fet forth his Glory upon Earth ;

and your next Work is to plead Guilty or Not
Guilty. For we fee that thofe Ways you go,
would take up Time, and we have taken all into

our Thoughts before-hand.

Mr. Love. I do not defire to protract Time,
but I would not lie under a Prejudice.

Ld Prefident. When you go out of your Way,
we muft help you ; and know, if any be under a

Prejudice here, their prejudging is rather in mer-
cy than in prejudice to you.

Mr. Love. I hope you will not be more fevere

to a Minifter, than you were to Lieut. Col. John
Lilburne. When you were at the Court at Guild-

Hall, at the Trial of Lilburne, you gave him the

Liberty of two Hours to plead, before he pleaded

Guilty or Not Guilty.

Ld Prefident. To a Minifter! you fay well : but
I tell you, we do more to a Chriftian than to a Mi-
nifter; and weareallChriftians, and your Miniftry

is but an Office ; and therefore what Mr. Lilburne

had, it was the Favour of the Court then : but

Time is fpent, and pray do not you follow that

now.
Mr. Love. Whereas your Lordfhip is pleafed

to urge the Cafe of Achan to me, if my Cafe were
the fame as Achats was, I fhould do as Achan
did, confefs and give Glory to God ; but Ashan's

was a peculiar and extraordinary Cafe, and there-

fore I pray it may not be laid to me. God was
the Informer and Difcoverer, and God did by Lot
difcover Achan to be the Man.
Ld Prefident. Will you plead.

Mr. Love. I defire Liberty to fpeak a Word.
I had not diverted my Difcourfe, but upon your
Lordfhip's Words.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I hope he will be fa
ingenuous as not to be long,

Ld Prefident. Take this in your way, Mr. Lover
God is at prefent here, as he was in the Cafe of
Achan. Go on.

Mr. Love. Sir, by my appearing in this Place,

I am made a Grief to many that are Godly, and
a Laughing-ftock to the Wicked, and a Gazing-
ftock to all •, yet, bleffed be God, nor a Terror
to myfelf. Sir, I am, as Jeremiah was, born a
Man of Strife and Contention : Not actively, I

ftrive
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flriveand contend with none ; but paffively, ma-

ny ftrive and contend with me. Yet I trull God
will make me, as he did Jeremiah, an Iron Pillar

and brazen Wall againft thofe that do oppofe me,

that I fhall not be difmayed at their Faces, left I

be confounded before them. Strong Suggeftions

againft me are generally received •, and great Op-
poikion ftrongly maintained : And in this Condi-

tion no Man dares ftand by me : But God ftands

by me, and ftrengthens me. [Here he was in-

terrupted again.]

Ld Prefident. Sir, come to the Bufinefs in

hand.

Mr. Love. I befeech you, Sir, fpare me: You
gave Mr. Lilburne more time.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, when he fhall come

with fuch Speeches that are nothing to the Bufi-

nefs in hand! My Lord, he inftances in Lilburne'

s

Cafe : You know that Debate ; it was in relation

to a Narration.

Mr. Love. Sir, it was the Narration of his Do-
ings and Sufferings, that he might not be mifre-

prefented to the Court.

Attorn. Gen. You know you are a Minifter :

And if it be your purpofe to fpin out Time, to

think to ingratiate yourfelf to the People, it will

not do. My Lord, this is a Court of Juftice,

that proceeds according to the eftablifh'd Laws,

and Laws that have been read to him. Mr.
Love is a Minifter, and had he applied himfelf

to God, as he might have done, he need not

have been brought hither, if he had not gone

that way he did. But, my Lord, I deftre he

may go on to the Charge, and give his Anfwer
to it. My Lord, before we have done, we fhall

have many Occafions of Difcourfe between him
and I.

Mr. Love. I befeech your Lordfbip allow me
that Favour that you allow to every one you try,

that I may not ftand under Mifreprefentations to

you, who are my Judges.

Ld Prefident. Are not we of as much Credit as

you? And are not we judged Minifters as well as

you, and more than you ? And I tell you, that

which you require, we have already done, and
wifh you as much Happinefs as to our Brother :

And for you to fpend Time about that which is

nothing to the Bufinefs, it muft not be fuffered.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let the conftant known
Laws of the Commonwealth of England be ob-
ferved, as well as other Laws ; of which that is

one, That he ought not to fpeak any thing till

he hath pleaded Guilty, or Not Guilty. My
Lord, I defire to take my Courfe. 1 do not
make Speeches againft him, to mifreprefent him
to you, otherwife than he ftands charged. And,
my Lord, I would not have him to clear himfelf

till he come to the Trial, whether he be not ac-

cufedjuftly. It is not my Nature, but the Duty
of my Place, and the Duty of his Place, as a
Prifoner, is to plead, and to put himfelf upon
Trial. That being done, there will be occafion

enough for him to plead his own Innocency.
My Lord, to take up two Hours Time in

talking of that which is not material, mould
not be.

Mr. Love I infift upon that Liberty that Mr.
Lilburne had.

Ld Prefident. He did plead firft.

Mr. Love. No, my Lord, he did not plead
firft : and I have much to move before I plead.
Ld Prefident. You can fay nothing till you

plead.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I defire not much Time.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let the Time now in-

filled on be what Time it will, Mr. Love will

have Time to fpeak for himfelf ; and it is fo far

from being to the Point, that it is trifling: And
this rather makes him feem guilty, than it gives

him any Acquittance.

Mr. Love. Prove me guilty firft, Sir. Sir, do

not prejudge me.

[Then Command was given to read his Ar-
raignment.]

The Clerk. Chriftopher Love, you ftand char'

ged, on the behalf of the Keepers of the Liberties

of England, by Authority of Parliament, of High

Treafon, and other High Crimes and Offences, a-

gainfl the Parliament and People 0/England : This

High Court therefore requires you to give a pofitive

and diretl Aiftwer, whether you are Guilty or Not
Guilty^ of the Crimes and Treafons laid to your

Charge.

Mr. Love. I refufe not to plead •, but I befeech

you give me leave to fpeak before I anfwer.

rMr. Love having a Paper in his Hand, the

Judge faid :]

Ld Prefident. How many Leaves is it ?

Mr Love. But two or three -, and il this Court

be more ftrict and fevere to me, than that was to

Mr. Lilburne, I cannot help it. What I fhall

fay, fhall be fomething in general ; and I befeech

you give me leave to fpeak to it.

Attorn. Gen. Sir, not before you plead.

Mr. Love. Yet I have this Liberty, that when
Matter of Law arifeth in the Indictment, to make
a Motion, and to move for Counfcl, and to fhew

the Illegality of it : And though I confefi I am
extremely ignorant of the Law, yet I under-

ftand that after I have pleaded, I am not capable

of Counfel.

Ld Prefident. You aremiftaken, Mr. Love.

Mr. Love. I fuppofe lam notmiftaken: For

in the third Part of Judge Coke's Lnftitutes I find

it thus: ' The Prifoner, when he pleads Not
4 Guilty, whereby he denies the Fact, after the

' Plea of Not Guilty, can have no Counfel ;

' but if he have any matter of Law to plead be-

' fore, he may urge it.'

Ld Prefident. He pleads he is ignorant of the

Law, and yet can make ufe of it.

Mr. Love. I am to plead for my Life : And I

am to ufe Scripture, Law, and any other lawful

Means to fave my Life. Paul did plead the. Ro-

man Law.
Ld Prefident. Some of us know as much of

Paul and Scripture as you do.

Mr. Love. Sir, I make noComparifons. [Then

Mr. Love reads out of Judge Coke's lnftitutes :

' The fafeft way for the Party indicted, is to

* plead upon his Arraignment the fpecial matter

* for the Overthrow of the Indictment.'] And
this muft be done before I plead. [' And to

4 require Counfel for the pleading thereof, which
4 ought to be granted ; and to require a Copy of

' fo much of the Indictment, which is neceffary

' for framing his Plea, which ought to be gran-

* ted. And thefe Laws ought to be conftrued

' favourably ; for that the Indictment is common -

' ly found in the Abfence of the Party.'

Ld Prefident. But your Indictment is in your:

Prefence. You are out of your way.

Mr. 'Love. Sir, you bring me out of my way.
Ld Prefident.
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LdPrefident. Your Indictment is not yet found:

There is nothing done behind your Back, only the

reading of this ; but that is nothing but a written

Parchment till you plead unto it.

Mr. Love. I have fomcthing to except againfl

the Legality of this I ndictment.

Ld Preftdent. Go on then.

Mr. Love. Sir, the firft motion I fhall make
'is for Counfel, to advife in matters of Law relat-

ing to this Trial : And as I do gather from hear-

ing the Indictment, there are feveral matters of

Law that do arife, in which I defire to have

Counfel affigned me. And the firfl is, Whe-
ther the A ct, by which this Court is conftituted,

of the 26th of March 1650, that forbids receiv-

ing or fending Letters or MefTages to or from Eng-

land or Ireland, do enable you to receive a Charge

againfl me concerning Letters to or from Scot-

land, Scotland not being mentioned in that Act by

which you are conftituted. Therefore feeing this

is matter of Law, I defire I might have Counfel

to advife with about it.

Attorn. Gen. Mr. Love then doth admit that he

hath received and fent Letters to Scotland.

Mr. Love. I admit nothing, Sir ; you charge

me with it, but I do not grant it.

Attorn. Gen. Then you will give us leave to

prove it. If he will admit that he hath fent and

received Letters from Scotland, and fo demur that

it is not in your power, I will join with him.

But, my Lord, there was a particular Act read,

that doth relate particularly to Scotland •, and that

this Court hath Cognizance of that Act, was read

beforehand •, but Mr. Love did not obferve what

was read to him. And it is fo far in favour of

Juftice to him, that you read in the Laws and

Claufes upon which he flands impeached ; and

that there is a Law againfl fending to Scotland.

But, my Lord, thefe Debates are lingring of

Time; if a Man will demand Counfel, headmts

the Fact, that the Fact is true ; but being true, he

ought not to be condemned upon it ; if fo, I will

join with him ; but if he plead Not Guilty, I mail

be ready to prove it.

Mr. Love. I befeech you, Sir, I do apprehend

there is another matter of Law arifeth, and that

is from the Act of the z6th of March 1 650,

there is a Prohibition of fending Letters or Mef-

fages to any in Arms againfl the Parliament ;

now I am charged with fending and writing in

Letters to Scotland; now it doth not appear to

me that Scotland was in Arms againfl the Parlia-

ment of England, but for their own Prefervation.

Therefore I defire Counfel in this, Whether I

that am accufed of writing and fending into Scot-

land, am therefore accufed of writing and fending

to thofe who are in Arms againfl the Parliament

of England; or whether they were in Arms for

the Prefervation of Scotland, or in oppofnion to

the Parliament of England.

Attorn. Gen. If you will admit ftill, that you

have fent or received from Scotland, then I rea-

dily grant it.

Mr. Love. I will admit of nothing ; I havefo

•much of a Chriftian in me, that I will deny no-

thing that is proved to be true ; and fo much of

an Englifoman, that I will admit of nothing that

is feemingly criminal.

Ld Preftdent. You are a Chriftian, and you

are here in the Prefence of God, as Achan was.

Mr. Love. If it be proved againfl me.

Ld Preftdent. Then your Denial of it will be

a high TranfgrefTion againfl God.

Mr. Love. I could urge the Caufe of Jefus

Chrift, who, when he was accufed before a Judi-

catory, anfwered not a word.

Ld Preftdent. You are out.

Mr. Love. When Chrift was accufed in a ci-

vil Bufinefs to be a mover of Sedition (as now
1 am) they asked him whether he was King of

the Jews ? and he anfwered them not a Word.
But this is that I doubt, whether there be not

matters of Law arifing from the Charge read

againfl me, and that in refpect of the time of the

Act of the 26th of March 163:0, which gives

power to you to determine feveral Crimes, and
to proceed to the Trial of the Offender. And,
Sir, it is alfo to me doubtful, whether this be
not matter of Law, viz. Whether this Trial

ought not to be by a Jury of Twelve of the

Neighbourhood, or whether in any different way
from it. And 1 doubt it upon this ground, yousr

Lordfnip having given me this hint , for I was
prefent at the Trial of Mr. Lilburne, and the For-

mality of the Law tied him to plead to this,

That he muft be tried by God and his Coun-
try. He refufed it, and your Lordfhip urged
it upon him, that he might fafely plead it by
God r becaufe God was in all Judicatories -, and
by his Country, becaufe, faid you, by Country
is meant the Jury of a man's Equals. And this

is a Trial according to the Law of the Land.
Now if you have declared that in Guild-Hall,

I befeech your Lordfhip inform me, whether a
different way from this of a Jury of the Neigh-
bourhood be according to Law in Wefiminfler-

Hall ?

Ld Preftdent. You fhall be informed: That
was a Trial ~i:y the Law, as it then flood ; thefe

now are all upon Acts of Parliament, and Laws
of the Land, that are of as high a nature as they:

Thofe are antient Laws, and thefe are Statutes

lately made, and of an extraordinary nature, and
were made to meet with fuch Perfons as you 3

that have done fuch things as you have done.

And now for your Neighbourhood, I hope you
have twenty or forty Neighbours that are within

the Equity of the Law.
Mr. Love. If they be a Jury, I have power to

except againfl 35 of them.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, he pretends Mr. Lil-

burne\ Trial ; but when you come to hear the

Evidence, you fhall hear what he was doing then:

he was preparing himfelf then in his Bufinefs ; he

thought his Time might come ; and I am informed,

that fince he hath been in the Tower, Lilburne:

hath been his Counfel.

Mr. Love. Mr. Prideaux, Sir, you are no God
to know my Thoughts.

Attorn. Gen. I did fay this from his own Ex-
preflion ; he was a diligent Obferver there, that

he might know what was done there, that fo he

might prepare himfelf.

Mr. Love. Sir, you did declare this after the

Change and Abolition of a King and Houfe of

Lords, That a Trial by a Jury of Twelve of the

Neighbourhood was according to Law ; and you

urged Mafler Lilburne with this, That he might

plead, and do no harm unto himfelf. And
not only fo, but the Houfe alfo declared, That
fince the Change of Government, they would
never alter that way of Trial : and upon the

ninth of February 1648, they did declare, That
though they thought fit to abolifh the King-

ly Office and the Houfe of Lords, yet they

refolved
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refolved they would flill retain and preferve the

Fundamental Laws of the Nation, for and con-

cerning the Prefervation of the Liberties, Lives,

and Eftates of the People. Now, Sir, they de-

claring they would never alter this way of Trial,

and you declaring this way of Trial by Juries to

be according to the Fundamental Laws of the

Land, I befeech you give me the Reafon why it

is denied to me.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, it is very unufual for

a Prifoner to debate with the Court ; here he is

to be controlled : let him know he is a Prifoner

upon the Trial of his Life, before that Court

that hath been impowered by the Parliament ;

they who did never bind their own Hands. I

mud fay, my Lord, they cannot bind their own
Hands ; and it is this Trial that they have

thought fit to give him. And for his excepting

againft 35, then you will hardly be a Court left.

My Lord, I think, if he look upon the Court,

he will find no Enemies here, knowing them to

be of his Neighbourhood, and mod of them of

London, and, I think, he known to them, and

they to him, the mod of them. But, my Lord,
thefe Difputes are not allowed to others ; and

the Gentleman will (I hope) have fo much Mo-
defty at laft, that he will think he hath faid a

little too much to the Court ; and I think it is

not good to provoke too far. And, my Lord,

he hath faid much, and you have given him fair

Anfwers, and thofe that are clear and undeniable.

But if he fpeak of the Jurifdiction of the Court,

and that he will not plead, let him fpeak in

plain Englijh, and he fhall hear me in plain

Engli/h.

Mr. Love. Although I am not fatisfied as to

the Foundation and Original of this Court, yet

I refufe not a Trial, hoping that Tendernefs of
Confcience will appear in you, and Clearnefs in

me, and Weaknefs of Proof againft me. Upon
this 1 do not refufe a Trial, but I will plead, if

I may have that which the Law allows me.
And according to my weak Meafure and Un-
skilfulnefs in the Law, upon the Charge read a-

gainft me, I do apprehend there may be fome
things objected againft the Legality of the In-

dictment, and many things to take it off, both
for matter of Time and Form, and other things,

by a Lawyer. Therefore I entreat I may have
Counfel to be with me, both in my Chamber,
and here in the Court ; and then I will plead.

Attorn. Gen. I am not here to make a Bargain ;

but this I will fay to him, He hath had fo much
Tendernefs and Refpe<5t, as few Men more. He
hath had notice of his Trial above a Fortnight ;

and, my Lord, he hath not been denied Coun-
fel.

Mr. Love. I could do nothing in order to my
Trial, becaufe I have fent for Counfel, and they

would not come near me, becaufe they were not

afiigned by this Court •, and my Studies being a-

nother way, and being unskilful in the Law,
therefore I could do nothing in Preparation to my
Trial. Therefore I pray do not deftroy me in a

hurry ; the more fair the Trial is, the more juft

you will be, and I the more guilty, if it be pro-

ved againft me.
Attorn. Gen. I appeal to Mafter Love, whe-

ther or no it was not denied to Lilburne ; and
there is none that hears him, but fees he hath

prepared himfelf, and perufed feveral Acts where-
upon he is impeached. But thefe are Difcourfes,

my Lord, which if he will put too nigh upon the

Court, that we fhould difpute, we cannot force

Words from him.

Mr. Love. Mr. Prideanx is pleafed to urge
Mr. Lilburne, but I have more matter of Law
arifing from the Charge than he had ; and have
not that Trial by way of a Jury as he had ; and
there are many things in the Charge faid to be
done before the Act of the 29th of March, 1650,
which gives you Cognizance only of things done
from that time ; fo that many things there are,

in which Counfel would advife me : therefore I

befeech you deny me not that Right and juft

Favour.

Ld Prefident. You do not breathe the fame Air
and the fame Breath, for it comes from you both
Yea and Nay : for you fay you are ignorant, and
yet will not be informed by any thing that can be
faid ; and fo your Ignorance is wilful. But in

this Cafe, I am fure, what Law foever you can
plead, yet there be fome Acts and Matters you
have denied.

Mr. Love. I have urged matter of Law arifing

out of the Charge, from the 29th ofMarch 1650.
There was no Act then, that 1 know of, that did
prohibit the fending of Letters or Meffages to or

from Scotland ; and I am indicted for Leiters or

Meffages fent to, and received from Scotland, be-

fore that time.

Attorn. Gen. I would fain give you fatisfaction

;

do not caft away yourfelf. My Lord, we do ufe

in Law to lay it fo for the Fact, we cannot tell

what the Proof will be j whether the Proof will

be within thefe three Months or ten Months ; and
it is laid in relation to other Offences.

Mr. Love. I have here the Letters of feveral

Counfellors, and they return to me their Denial

;

if I could have got their Counfel, I would ; and
yet if 1 had it, I could not tell what they fhould

have advifed me in, not having a Copy of my
Charge.

Ld Pref}dent. If you had defired a Copy of
your Charge, you might have had it. You
muft know you are before thofe that have Law
and Confcience, and that are bound to be of
Counfel for you, and that is the Court ; and it

is their Duty to fee that whatfoever the Law of
England allows you to have, that that you fhould
have : but you muft have it in a due and proper

Time and Manner of Law appointed. You are

not now for the prefent where Lilburne was, nor
before fuch a Court •, he was before a Com-
miffion of Oyer and Terminer, who are to pro-

ceed according to thofe Laws, and upon that

the Commiffion directs j and that is by that

which the known and fundamental Laws of Eng-
land direct unto ; but this is not in all Parti-

culars the like ; the Jury there hath a large La-
titude, who proceed by way of Grand Jury and
Petty-Jury, which are both included in this

Court ; fo that in all things the Proceedings up-
on that, are not as upon this. But thus far the

Proceedings are alike ; you have your Charge,

and you are to plead to it, for that is the firft

thing to be done ; there is nothing can anfwer

your Charge, but whether you be Guilty or

Not Guilty : If you plead Not Guilty, then the

Evidence will be called ; and if then any mat-

ter of Law arifeth upon the Evidence, it is the

ufual Courfe to affign you Counfel, and to be

Counfel for you, and to tell you it is Law to

have Counfel \ but for you to demand Counfel,

and
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and firft to have Gounfel afligned you, it is a-

gainft that Form and Legality that the Law of

England appoints ; for till you put yourfelf up-

on Trial, we cannot allow you Counfel to the

Trial ; fo that you muft plead, and it is our duty

to tell you fo. And it is the Duty of this Court

to be as careful when you have put yourfelf upon
Trial, that all the Benefit of the Law may be af-

forded you > therefore you need not fear it, for

if any of thefe Things arife, you now fear, upon
the Evidence, then will be your Time and our

Time to (land upon this you now do, touching

matter of Law ; but in the mean time, in truth

that which we are to tell you, and which we are

bound in Juftice and Confcience to let you know,

is this, Th it you are out of your way : and there-

fore do not deftroy yourfelf : for if you refufe to

plead, there is nothing then but a plain downright

Judgment.
Mr. Love. In ordinary Courts of Judicature the

Judges do counfel for the Prifoner ; but you are

here Judges not only in matter of Law, but of

matter of Fad: alfo ; and therefore I cannot ad-

vife with you : For fhould I confefs any thing,

then it arifeth out of my own mouth, and you will

condemn me upon it. Seeing therefore both lie

in you, both matter of Law and matter of Fact,

I befeech you afford me Counfel, and let me have

a Copy of my Charge, and Solicitors, that they

may be here with me in Court, and then I (hall

willingly plead.

Attorn. Gen. This cannot be done, nor ever

was done, to have Counfel afligned, until upon

matter of Fact fomething did appear ; and for

the Copy of the Charge, it was never demanded,

1 think, before; and it is in vain for us to fpeak,

if the Gentleman do refufe to plead : I ihall then

prefs you for Juftice.

Mr. Love. I do not refufe to plead : but yet I

fhould be guilty of my own Blood, mould I not

plead for thatjuft and neceflary means for thepre-

fervation of my Life : Through my Ignorance I

may run myfelf into hazard and danger, there-

fore I befeech you deny me not thatjuft Favour.

A Lawyer; a Member of the Court. Mr. Lovet

you are not prodigal, you fay, of your Blood ;

nor are we, I hope, prodigal of your Blood ; we
are to anfwer for all ; therefore I pray let me beg

thus much of you. If you plead Not Guilty to

the Charge, then there is a Proceeding to be by

Mafter Attorney, to prove you guilty of it ; and

if by any Evidence that he fhall produce, or in

any thing that Ihall fall out from yourfelf in An-
fwer to the Evidence, there fhall arife matter of

Law, truft us, I pray you, we do promife you

that we will give you the Benefit of the Law in

it •, and when there comes matter of Law to be

decided, which we are perfuaded is matter of

Law, then you fhall have Counfel afligned you ;

but there is no Counfel to be allowed till the

Prifoner defire it, and fhew matter of Law, for

which he defires it.

Another Lawyer of the Court. The main thing

you ftand upon, Mr. Love, is this, That there

is no mention made in any Act, that this Court

can take cognizance of fending to, or receiving

from Scotland; but therein you are miftaken ;

for the bufinefs of holding Correfpondency with

Scotland, is in exprefs Words appointed to be un-

der the Jurifdiction of this Court ; therefore I

think you are utterly miftaken in that. Then,
Sir, for Counfel, if there comes any thing in

the world that is legal, and is a fit thing Counfel
fhould be heard in, I think I may promife it, we
will not make ourfelves fo far guilty of your
Blood, as to deny you that Juftice that belongs

to any Man ; for it is your juft Right to have it,

and we cannot deny it, when a Point of Law a-

rifeth. And you do not urge matter of Law,
only you queftion the Jurifdiction of the Court,

and we muft over-rule you in that ; for we are not

to difpute the Power of the Court : For if the

Parliament give us Jurifdiction, and by a fpecial

Act appoints, That the Bufinefs of holding Cor-
refpondency with Scotland fhould be within the

Cognizance of this Court, we muft obey, and not
difpute.

Mr. Love. I fuppofe, Sir, a Man may demur
concerning the Jurifdiction of a Court to one
Point : as if he be accufed for Treafon at the Com-
mon Pleas, he may demur to the Jurifdiction of
that Court in that : fo, Sir, I apprehend there

are fome things read againft me in the Charge, of
which this Court cannot take Cognizance, for

that they are faid to be done before the Act for

the conftituting of this Court came forth ; fo that

I may demur to the Jurifdiction of the Court in

that Particular.

Ld Prefident. For you to anticipate your Evi-
dence before we come to it! we do not tie you to

the Charge, but to the Proof; and we muft ap-

ply our felvesto the Proof, and not to the Charge.

Attorn. Gen. And for the Bufinefs of Scotland,

which troubles him much, it is exprefTed in this

very Act, That the fame Offences are to be in-

quired, tried and judged by the High Court of
Juftice, in fuch manner and form, as other Of-
fences arc to be tried, in exprefs Terms.

Mr. Love. But there is no time mentioned 5

for there are two Acts, wherein if the Prifoner be
not indicted within a Year, then the Fact fhall

not be profecuted. Therefore I muft demur to

the Charge, as not legal in matter of Form.
There are two Acts declaring what Offences fhall

be Treafon, wherein it is faid in thofe two Acts,

That if the Party be not indicted within a Year,

he fhall not be indicted at all. Now the In-

dictment that is againft me, looks back to

Things that are pretended to have been done
by me in 1648, and 1649, and fo according to

thofe two Acts I am not to be queftioned for

them, it being above a Year before I was in-

dicted.

Ld Prefident. Howjis it poflible that this comes
to be an Exception until you hear the Evidence ?

If you hear the Evidence, .and do find that the

Witnefs do fpeak to this not within the Time of

the Limitation, then is your Exception proper ;

but no Counfel can divine what time they can

give Evidence for.

Mr. Love. Sir, I am now to look to the Charge
of Treafon read againft me, and not to the Evi-

dence ; and in the Charge I am indicted for thofe

things, for which I apprehend I ought not to be

indicted. For according to thofe two Acts, I

ought not to have been indicted for things pre-

tended to have been done by me fo long ago

:

and this I apprehend to be matter of Law. And
for theWitneffes, let them fpeak to what Time
they will, yet this I am fure, they cannot prove

that I was indicted within a Year for thofe things

that are charged upon me to be done in 1648,
and 1649, for that were to prove an Impof-

fibility : So that it appears to me, I am in-

dicted
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dided forthofe things for which I ought not to be

indided.

Ld Prefident. It may be fo ; and if fo, thofe

things will fall off of themfelves ; there may be

fome things true, and fome things not true ; and

the Counfel may fail in proof of fome of them,

and you may clear yourfelf : yet this cannot be

before the pleading. When you come to plead,

if the Matter be not proved againft you, and with-

in the time limited, it will fall off of itfelf with-

out any Words at all •, and all this time is loft to

all this Auditory, and no Counfel can give you

Advice in this.

Mr. Love. I ftill fay, I do not refufe to plead,

but if you would afford me Counfel, 1 mould

think my Life in a great deal lefs danger. For I

do not know, whether I may not, by the Advice

of Counfel, confefs fome part of the Indictment

;

whether I may not demur in Law upon fome

parr, or a great part of the Indictment, which

I have done already : as that I am charged for

Treafon for thofe things that are not within

your Cognizance or Power, as I apprehend, and

things done before your Ads ; and for fuch

things, that if I had done them, I rauft have

been indided for them within a Year, or elfe

not at all : and thefe I deem legal Excep-

tions.

A Member of the Court. My Lord, he is very

ignorant of the Law ; for the Fad muft be put

in queftion before matter of Law can arife •, for if

the Fad be one way, then the Law falls out

that way ; if the Fad be falfe, then another way.

Now if Mr. Love brings in any of thefe Excep-

tions for matter of Fad upon Proof, whether he

fent Letters into Scotland, or in fuch a time,

whether that be any Offence, that will all arife

after the matter of Fad proves true or falfe : But

before that, under favour, none can fpeak to any

thing againft an Indidment, unlefs he fpeak a-

gainft the Jurifdidion of the Court. And then

for other matters they are faved unto him. And
you will, I fuppofe, admit of Counfel in matter

of Law •, but his Defire cannot be granted unto

him until he plead, and until the matter of Fad
be fome way determined.

Mr. Love. I befeech you acquaint me then

with the meaning of thefe Words in Judge Coke's

Inftitutes, The Prifoner at the Bar may have Coun-

fel to overthrow the Indictment/. It muft be ei°

ther to overthrow a Part of the Indidment, or to

help the Plea, either to plead Not guilty in part,

or to demur in part. Let me hear then, I befeech

you, what is the meaning of thofe Words, That
the Prifoner at the Bar may have Counfel to over-

throw the Indictment. I cannot overthrow the In-

didment when I plead ; for then Witnefs comes
in againft me.

Attorn. Gen. He may overthrow the Indidment
by the Witnefs ; and I believe he is convinced,

that the Court hath Jurifdidion in as full and ex-

prefs Terms as Law and Authority can give

them. And for the next, I may fay, your Lord-
fhip and the Court did never allow a Counfel to

pick holes and find faults. But if he objed that

to you that is juft and probable, and that which
is dubious and doubtful, and fit to be debated in

Law, affign him Counfel. You have heard all

his particular Exceptions, and gf en your Judg-
ment upon them all. But I hope he doth not
here exped to have Ledures of Law read him,
and to make him undcrftand them. But as to
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thofe particular Exceptions that he hath made to

you, 1 think fome Satisfadion is given, and that

every Man is fatisfied, and that there is no Co-

lour of Doubt there, for matter of Fad, and the

Times that he infifts upon. For the Ad direc-

ting what Offences are Treafon, and not to be

arraigned unlefs they be profecuted within a

Year, I muft tell him, the Impeachment is laid

from 1648 to t6fi. Yet, my Lord, I fhall

make it appear, that the Indidment doth look

backward to fome Offences, and forward to o-

thers. It is laid firft in general : he committed

fuch and fuch Treafons and Offences in fuch and
fuch Years. And I fhall come with the Evi-

dence, and apply them to fuch Times that are

within your power, and in which the Law makes
them Offences : and this is to be debated then,

and not to be once fpoken of now. My Lord, I

fhall begin from 1648, and run on with him, that

he hath continued in a treafonable Difpofition,

and in treafonable Plottings, to the time he was

laid up, and fince ; and will juftify all : and
therefore it behoves him to infift upon it. And
I will make it appear, that he was one of the

firft that ever did appear againft this Common-
wealth in plotting ; and he did continue fo un-

til the time of his Reftraint, and after that

time.

Mr. Love. Sir, you are no Witnefs % if you be

i Witnefs, come and fwear.

Attorn. Gen. I will ufe you with all the Duty
of my Place ; and if you give me not occafion,

1 fhall not do otherwife.

Mr. Love. I fhall give you no occafion.

Ld Prefident. This will make all that hear him
to think that this is the very beft of his Cafe ; as

we know it is.

Mr. Love. Sir, although I do not come here

to have the Law expounded to me, yet I do come
here to have the Benefit of the Law ; and if the

Law allows me this Benefit (I being unskilful)

that if I can find in the Charge matter of Law
arifing, then to have Counfel to advife me, and
to overthrow the Indidment *, Why fhould I be

denied this Benefit ? And I do not yet, accord-

ing to my Underftanding, fee that you afford me
the Benefit of the Law, you not granting me
Counfel to advife me to overthrow the Indid-

ment.

One of the Court. Mr. Love, if it were pofli-

ble, I defire you might have fatisfadion, for this

that you defire is very juft ; and when it comes

to its proper time, then you fhall have it ; but

do not, by diforderly demanding of it out of your

time, lofe the Benefit you might have of it, when
it comes to your time. That which you itand

upon, and call Law, is not matter of Law; nor

can you call it Law, till you hear what the Fad
is. For can any Man judge what is matter of

Law, till he know the matter of Fad ? as it

hath been told you well, that the Law arifeth

out of the Fad ; fo that if you will anticipate

the Evidence, and the Proof of the Fad, by

urging this matter of Law which you did hear

read in the Charge, you will do yourfelf wrong,

and you are miftaken in it ; for there is no mat-

ter of Law appears there, for it is barely, thus

you have done. And if you fay this is Law, you

exclude all the Witneffes. Whether you have

done it or no, we cannot tell ; and if you have

done it, whether contrary to Law or no, we
cannot tell, becaufe we muft apply the Witnefs

N t©
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to the A&s of Parliament that authorize us to

lit here : And if we find that the Doubt grows

upon what the Witnefies fay, and upon what the

Law faith, then doth matter of Law arife, and

then it is time for you to fay, it appears not by

this Witnefs that it is within the Aft. I do

the rather fpeak this, becaufe we do extremely

defire you fhould receive Satisfaction •, for I

would not have any here have any thing put

upon him, that may not appear juft and accord-

ing to Law ; and none can ever fay that a Man
had Counfel affigned him before he pleaded

here.

Ld Prefident. It is now the Seffions at New-
gate, and there may be many Prifoners ; and if

every Prifoner fhould take the liberty to plead

matter of Law, and fay, I am no Lawyer, let

me have Counfel affigned me, and I will anfwer

;

when fhould we have any Man anfwer? when
would Men be executed for robbing, and flealing,

and killing ?

Mr. Love. That Court is different from this

;

you here are Judges both ofLaw and Fad:, there

the Judges are Judges of Law, and the Jury of

matter of Fact. But, Sir, fatisfy me in this ; if

there be any thing in Law before pleading to

overthrow the Indictment, (as I perceive by

Judge Coke there is, and to which I have re-

ceived no fatisfactory Anfwer) let me have that

legal Benefit to overthrow the Charge. 1 have

faid what 1 can ; but if I had Counfel here, they

could fay a hundred times more.

Ld Prefident. You have heard no body but

yourfelf, for whatfoever hath been told you by

the Court and your Friends about you, hath not

been hearkned unto. We have fpent thus much
time, and People are weak, and if you will

plead, do. Read his Charge once again \ and I

tell you the next is Judgment.

The Clerk. Chriftopher Love, you ftand charged

m the behalfof the Keepers of the Liberties of Eng-

land, by Authority of Parliament, of High-Trea-

fon, and of other high Crimes and Offences againji

the Parliament and People of England ; this High

Court therefore requires you to give a pofitive and

direcl Anfwer, -whether you are Guilty or Not

Guilty of the Crimes and Treafons laid to your charge.

Mr. Love. I am not fatisfied but that matter

of Law doth arife from this Charge ; and I do

earneftly prefs I may have Counfel, and then I

will plead.

Attorn. Gen. I do as earneftly prefs, that you

would as pofitively fay, that you cannot allow

him Counfel till he hath pleaded.

Mr. Love. I now fee Mr. Attorney's Words
to be true. When he came to me totheTower, and

examined me, the 16th of this Month, he faid,

That feeing I would not acknowledge (as he call-

ed theny my Treafons, I was judged peremptory

and obflinate. And I remember he faid thefe

Words to me; Mr. Love, though you are too

hard for me in the pulpit, yet J will be too hard for

you at the Bar. And truly now I find it fo ; and

it is an eafy matter for a Lawyer, armed with

Law and Power, to be too hard for a poor naked

Scholar, that hath neither Law nor Power.

Ld Prefident. Doth this do any good to you ?

If it were fo that you are too hard for him,

(for you are too hard for every Man in the

Pulpit) yet you fometimes are fo out, and in that

you are controulable. If Mafter Attorney be too

hard for you here, let him be too hard for you ;

but it is the Court that are to deal with you
here : we will not do it becaufe of his Saying, but

you muft think that the Court will be led by their

Evidence, and not by Mr. Attorney.

Mr. Love. You gave this Favour to Mafter

Lilburne, and I do not deny to plead : but I

am not prodigal of my Blood, therefore I crave

Counfel.

Ld Prefident. I do not know what to fay more
to give you fatisfadlion, than what I have faid.

You fay you do not deny to plead, and yet you
do not plead ; you fay Mr. Attorney is too ftrong

for you, but you know it is not he, but the Evi-

dence may be too ftrong for you. And do not

you think that you have fuch Judges as will let

you receive any prejudice ? Mr. Love, you are a
Minifter, I pray fhew forth the Spirit of a Mi-
nifter of Jefus Chrift ; carry yourfelf fo, as that

you may not either wrong yourfelf or the Court.

I would have you behave yourfelf without recri-

minating. You fpeak of Mr. Attorney, as if

he could be too hard for you, as if we were all

of his fide, be it right or wrong : know that

we are Men of Confidence, and have Souls to

fave as well as you.

Mr. Love. The Charge is long, and I never

heard of it before, nor knew of it before.

One of the Court. We give you our Faith and
Credit, that if any matter of Law arifeth, we
will not make ourfelves guilty of your Blood,

but we will allow you Counfel : yourfelf hath

read a Book in the Court, that fhews the Court

cannot allow you Counfel till you plead.

Ld Prefident. Did you ever confult with the

Lieutenant of the Tower ? What, will youcaft

away yourfelf?

Col. Weft, Lieut, of the Tower. I could, my
Lord, advife him no more than what I knew, and
that was the time of your fitting.

Mr. Love. I hope you will not in a hurry

fpill my Blood.

Lieut, of Tower. Since Saturday was feven-

night he was not reftrained.

Ld Prefident. Your Profeffion goes much in

Profeffion ; but when it is abufed, it is the higheft

Tranfgreffion •, you would evade things with

mental Refervations, and fay and unfay at the

Bar, as high as any Jefuit can do.

Mr. Love. I will not lye for my Life ; you
may fay what you pleafe, and do what you
pleafe, I fpeak before God and this Audience.

Ld Prefident. Mr. Love, know that we are here

in as facred a pofture as you are in the higheft

Place of your Calling ; and if we do not know-

that God is here prefent, we are the miferableft

Creatures in the World ; and therefore if your

Office and ours do not make us know that we
are in the Prefence of God and Jefus Chrift, it

will be but ill for us ; and yet you hurry out,

that it fhould be fuch a terrible thing in you, more
than in us. You have fpoken many Words as a

Shadow in the Airr there is nothing material in

them, but the Strength of your Will againft the

Judgment of the Court.

Mr. Love. If I do plead to the Charge, I do
allow the Matter and Form of the Charge to be

legal. I defire to have Counfel to come to my
Chamber 5 I do not fay, to come to this Place,

but to have liberty for them to come to my
Chamber.

Mr.
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Mr. Steele, Recorder of London. I did not

think to have fpoken, nor have J ufually fpoken

this Court, yet I will fpeak a Word out ofin

Tendernefs to yourfelf. You have very often

infifted upon it, that you ihould have Counfel

affigned before you plead, that is it you plead

for : truly the Courie of Law is this, That if

the Prifoner charged at the Bar, before he plead

fhall demand Counfel, he muft of Neceflity put

in fome fpecial Plea before the Time he can de-

mand Counfel. The Court doth not inforce

you to plead Guilty or Not Guilty to the Mat-

ter of Fact; but they fay, of Neceffity you

muft plead. If you put in a fpecial Plea, and

tell them that it is a fpecial Plea, and defire

Counfel upon it, they will confider it: but till

you can declare what that fpecial Plea is, for

there is a general Plea, and a fpecial Flea ; the

general Plea is Not Guilty, the fpecial Plea is in

ibme Particulars. Now for you to alledge nei-

ther the fpecial Flea nor the general Plea, it is

impoffible that Counfel can be affigned you.

And whereas you fay you are concluded if you

plead, and cannot object againft the Indictment

afterwards; no, Sir, 1 tell you in the Name of

a Chriftian, and one that knows a little of the

Law, that all the Objections you have againft

the Indictment, the Formality of it, and thofe

Things you fpeak of, as that of your Fact not

being committed in fuch a Time that the Act

holds out, that the High-Court hath no relation

to try you for Scotland ; all thefe will be faved to

you, if they arife upon Matter of Fact from the

Evidence. True, if you make an Objection

againft the Jurifdiction of the Court, that hath

no relation either to the fpecial Plea, or general

Plea, it cannot be. It is impoffible an Objecti-

on fhould be received againft the Effence of the

Court, there is none can poffibly over-rule that

for you but themfelves ; it is fuch a Thing, that

no Counfel can be affigned you as to that, be-

caufe it ftrikes at the very being of the Court.

Now therefore I befeech you in the Name of a

Chriftian, that you will not do yourfelf that pre-

judice ; for Nature teacheth every Man to pre-

ferve himlelf by all juft ways and means : and I

do believe that in this Bufinefs you have appre-

hended it for your Prefervation, and that you

are loth to do any Thing that tends to your de-

ftruction ; but you may fatisfy your Confcience,

in that you have done what you can. And when
•you have pleaded, and ufed all the Arguments
you can, and have heard the Judgment of the

Court in it, you may fatisfy your Confcience,

that in the Words of honeft Men ( unlefs it be the

Jurifdiction of the Court, though you have tacit-

ly fpoken there) you fhall have that Right and

Ji-rivilege which the Law allows you. I confefs,

1 never fpake here before, and it is a Rule amongft

us, that none but the Prefident fhould fpeak •,

and we have done more to you, than to the

greateft Perfon that ever fpake here, becaufe we
think fome Neceffity lies upon us towards you,

(in regard of your Calling and the Worth that

hath appeared in you) to direct you what you
have to do.

Mr. Love. Sir, a Man may demur touching

the Jurifdiction of any Court, if he can fhewany
thing in the Indictment that the Court cannot

take cognizance of, which he is charged with •,

tho' he do not demur fimply as to their Jurif-

diction in general, \et as to that Particular he
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may demur : as a Man may demur in Chancery,

when a Caufe is only triable at the Common
Law.
Ld Prefident. You muft know, that he that

fpeaks againft the Jurifdiction of the Court,

fpeaks againft the Jurifdiction of the Parliament

of England.

Mr. Steele, Recorder of London. Mr. Love, to

help your Underftanding, I did not fay that

Mr. Love did exprefly fpeak againft the Power of

the Court, as if they had no Power to try him

;

but this he feemed to fay, That what he hath offer-

ed againft the Jurifdiction of the Court, in any
thing he is queftioned for, if he have not Coun-
fel for it before, he cannot have it afterwards.

Now if the Queftion you offer be a mixed
Doubt, for your Objection is mixed •, for you
fay, the Court hath no Power to try the Facts

whereof you are indicted : now is it poffible the

Court can judge of that, or know there is Matter

of Law arifeth out of it, till the Fact appear

out of the Mouths of the Witneffes? It may be

the Fact will not be proved, then there will be

no Matter of Law arifing ; if the Fact be pro-

ved that it was done at fuch a Time, before the

Act was made, when that appears to them, the

Court then will ftrike it off, you fhall not need

Counfel, then we fhall not regard it: if upon the

Fact any other Doubt arifeth in relation to Scot-

land, (for it muft be from two Witneffes, your

Doubting being mixed with Matter of Fact) we
fhall then be able to judge of it.

Mr. Love. Sir, if any Crime be laid to my
charge, that ought not to be laid, and that this

Court can take no cognizance of, I fhould have

Counfel in it.

Ld Prefident. We have fpoken more to you
than became us, perchance, and that from Ten-
dernefs to you; and if nothing can give you fatis-

faction, but over and over with the fame things

again, we can but fpeak our Confciences, and
leave it to yourfelf.

Mr. Love. I do declare I do fubmit to the Tri-

al, and am willing to do it ; but it behoves me
to ufe all juft Means for the Prefervation of my
Life : if you will give me but a Day's Time to

confult with Counfel.

Ld Prefident. That is in your Learning fuffi-

cient to fay, you will do it, and yet do not do
it ; becaufe I fay I will fubmit, therefore I do
fubmit ; this is no Obedience at all. I know no
fuch Logick as this; it is fubmitting, that muft

do it; you will fubmit, but you will not act:

pray, Mr. Love, be fo charitable as to take us to

be Chriftians.

Mr. Love. What Prejudice, Sir, can it be to

this Court, being I have not fpoken with any

Lawyer, to give me but a Day's Time ? I will

defire no more.

Attorn. Gen. I would fain know, why may not

the next Prifoner fay, You have done fo in

Mr. Low's Cafe?

Mr. Love. You have accepted of fpecial Pleas,

you did it in the Cafe of Sir John Stowel; and

if I thro' my Ignorance in Law cannot urge the

Strength of Law, and a fpecial Plea, as otherwife

I might do, I befeech you let me not be prejudi-

ced by it.

Ld Prefident. Sir John Stowel infifted upon fpe-

cial Matter he had to plead, and that was, the

Articles of Exeter ; but he did firft plead to the

Charge, Not Guilty: yet we gave him that

N 2/ benefit;
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benefit •, and he had that which did laft a great

Debate of this Court, and fo did Hamilton, and

divers others: we will do no otherwife with you

than with them.

Mr. Love. If you now deny me my fpecial

Plea, I cannot help it ; which is this, That the

writing or fending Letters ( if it could be proved

againft me) into Scotland, doth not come within

your Act; and that it is only for England and

Ireland that are mentioned therein.

Ld Prefident. If there be a fpecial Plea where-

in there is no Difficulty, then we give no Coun-

fel ; but a fpecial Plea muft have fomething that

is dubious in the Judgment of the Court : but

for this, that in the Letter of the Law every

School-Boy underftands, the Judge will not al-

low you Counfel in a trivial Matter ; we have

gone over and over with you again, and this is

like other Difcourfes with you : but certainly ne-

ver was the like feen, that a Court was fo trifled

with.

Mr. Love. This is my humble Motion, allow

me but Counfel to-morrow, that they may ap-

pear here.

Ld Prefident. You may have Counfel to-mor-

row, as the Cafe fhall be.

Mr. Love. Shall I have the Copy of the

Charge ?

Ld Prefident. You fhall have what is fit, you
fhall have nothing denied you when it comes to

you to have it, you fhall have that Refpeft ; I

do it not to flatter you: but refufe to plead at

your Peril.

Mr. Love. Will you give me but this Favour,

that I may have but an Hour or two's Time to

confult with a Lawyer?
Ld Prefident. I do not know but that this that

is done, mnft be done for all that come to the

Bar.

Attorn. Gen. I had thought there would have

appeared in him that calls himfelf a Minifter of

the Gofpel, more Meeknefs and Obedience to

Authority, not out-facing Authority; and it is

not well-done of him. My Lord, I humbly
beg, that having had thus much of your Pa-
tience, and Perfuafion by Arguments, and all

Means ufed to him, and nothing will prevail

;

that, my Lord, you will now be pleafed to give

your Judgment according to the Rules that the

Law appoints you, upon him that refufeth to

plead.

Mr. Love. I do not refufe to plead.

Ld Prefident. Doth a Man of your Learning

fay, you do not refufe?

Mr. Love. A Man may demur to his Charge,

and yet not refufe to plead ; and the Court may
grant me a Day's Time, if they pleafe ; for f

come here unarmed and unprepared.

Attorn. Gen. His Demur is to Matter of Fact.

Ld Prefident. Will you put that upon Law,
for Law, which is not Law ? And by your put-

ting yourfelf upon that, you confefs the whole
Charge.

Attorn. Gen. I defire one Favour, my Lord,

which is of Juftice to him ;. which is, that you
would be pleafed to command your Clerk to read

that Act that fays, If any Per/on before you re-

fufe to plead, he may bear the Sentence of the Law
upon him.

Ld Prefident. Clerk, read the Act.

[The Clerk reads that Part of the Aft about

refufing to plead.]

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, we defire his final Sen^

tence.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I defire but the Favour

of a Day's Time to confult with Lawyers.

[The Lord Prefident confults a while with

the Court.]

Ld Prefident. I now do deliver it from all of
the Court, and all of them are of that Mind>
and now plead, or you fhall have Judgment.
Mr. Love. But if I plead, I defire I may have

Counfel to hear the Witnefles.

Ld Prefident. We will not make a Precedent j

for it will be faid, it was Mafter Lilburne's Cafe,

and Mafter Love's Cafe.

Mr. Love. Will you promife me, that I fhall

have Counfel to hear the Witnefs ?

Ld Prefident. We will promife you Juftice.

Read the Sentence.

[The Clerk goes to read the Sentence.]

Mr. Love. Not Guilty.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, we do fay in the Be-
half of the Commonwealth, he is guilty of the
Crimes and Treafons laid to his Charge. And,
my Lord, you now perceive, that when you
have been long troubled, you fee he comes very
hardly to it ; an innocent Man would not have
made fo much ado, and knowing his Innocency,
would not have had fo much Capitulation and
Trifling with a Court of Juftice. My Lord, for
thefe Crimes you are pleafed to obferve they are
of feveral Natures, and of long Continuance.
And now, my Lord, for the State of the Evi-
dence, it is commended to the Charge of another
Gentleman, that is, Mafter Sollicitor- General of
the Commonwealth, to open to you the State

of the Faft, by which he ftands here Impeached
and Accufed, the Nature of it, and how it mould
have been carried on, the Series of Time, the
Perfbns with whom he complied, how plotted

and contrived to undermine this Commonwealth,
even to the Foundations of it. My Lord, when
that is opened, I will then produce the Evidence
to make it good againft him.

Mr. Sollicitor-Gen. My Lord, Mr. Zcwurgetb
much for himfelf, but he doth not tell you what*
For my Part, I never faw his Face till now ; but
his own Carriage, if that do not do him Wrong,
none will. He fays, he is fingled out from all the

reft of his Brethren, I fuppofe he means thofe

that are his Fellow- Confpirators: the Reafon of
that is, beeaufe he was the firft, he had a Hand
in the firft Action and laft Aftion ; fo that from
the Beginning to the End he was the principal

Man, both by Counfel, Friends, Purfe, and En-
couragement : and that is the Reafon he might
juftly be fingled out to be firft in thePunifhment,
beeaufe he was firft in the Fact. He fays, God
in Achan's Cafe wrought the Difcovery. My
Lord, I think the Court will think, that God
was the great Difcoverer of this great Treafon ;

for through the whole Series of it, it was prefs'd

and carried on with as much Caution and Secre-

cy as the Wit of Man could contrive ; and no-
thing but the Goodnefs of the God of Lights,

the Father of Lights, could have brought this

to light, who difcovers the Secrets of all Hearts,

and hidden things of Darknefs ; he hath difco-

vered this. My Lord, the Nature of the Trea-
fon, it is not One or Ten Treafons, but it is a
Myftery of Treafons, woven together during the

Space;
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Space of two Years, under the Notion of Re-

liaion. Many of them that were the Confpira-

tors giving out, that they were a Party diltincl:

and feparate, and fo they did behave themfelves

like a Party feparate from the reft of the Com-

monwealth. Firft, This Party did affume to

themfelves Sovereign Power, and did exercife it

divers Ways ; they did take upon them to fend

iWents abroad to treat with foreign Princes and

States, Enemies to this Commonwealth, and to

give Commiffion to that purpofe, and to give

Inftrudlions to that purpofe; they did demean

themfelves in this Point, as if this Party had been

a Free State. My Lord, the very firft of their

Rife was that in February 1648. When the Scots

had declared for the King, then they fend imme-

diately to their Brethren here, thefe Confpira-

tors, to let them know that they intended to

make Addreffes to the new King very fpeedily,

and that there were Propofuions drawing to that

Purpofe ; and did defire a firm Compliance with

them, promifing them faithfully (and how they

kept it, we fhall hear) as their Brethren of Scot-

land, that their Intereft fhould be provided for

as their own: and the Covenant, that was the

Ground of all. When they had thus promifed,

they believed their Brethren, and thereupon

went about the Work, and eftablifhed a Council

at Dowgate, and there they met, and plotted and

contrived how in the firft place to make an A-

greement between the King and the Scots, to

the Intent that when they were agreed, they

mi^ht come with united Forces to invade this

Commonwealth. They were plotting and con-

triving this about Midjummer 1649. They were

taken notice of abroad to be confiderable Men •,

and the King of Scots, as they called him, thought

fit to fend an Agent to them, to treat with

them, which was one Mafon, my Lord Piercy's

Man; his Errand here, was to reconcile both

Parties, the Royal and Presbyterian Party, and

to make them both fubfervient to do his Work.

My Lord, he treated with the Countefs of Car-

lip, William Drake, and divers others, Citizens

of London, and this was with the Privity of the

Minifters. My Lord, he had Commiffion from

the King to allure thefe Confpirators, that if

they could procure the Scots to fend more mo-

derate Propofitions than they had formerly fent

("for the Treaty was broken off before, the Pro-

pofitions were then immoderate) that they mould

be fatisfied. Thereupon they were fo confident

of themfelves, and fo bold (and in this Mafter

Love had a principal Hand) that without any

more ado he frames a Letter to Scotland, to ad-

vife them, and to perfwade them by all means to

fend more moderate Propofitions. The Scots re-

turn them this Anfwer, That they faw no Caufe

to fend more moderate Propofitions; but they

defiring a good Succefs of the Treaty, they

mould fend beforehand to the King, to prepare

and move him to comply with the Propofitions

when they came. Thereupon they were as rea-

dy, whereas they fent with the one Hand to the

Scots, fo with the other Hand to the King. They
framed a Letter to the King, and I will exprefs

it in their own Language ; this was the Sub-

itance of their Letter : Firft, they let the Prince

know, that there was a confiderable Party in

•England fenfible of their Sufferings there (they

made themfelves fo confiderable ;) and by and by

you fhall fee what became of that. Firft, The
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King did underftand them to be fo confiderable.

Secondly, They were bound in Confcience and
Loyalty, to the utmoft to help him to his juit

Rights, if he were once engaged with them by
taking the Covenant, &V. and profecuting the

Ends of it. Thirdly, That there was no Way
to do this, but by clofing with his Subjects of
Scotland. Fourthly, that being done, all the

Presbyterians were bound to affift him. And
this which they did, muft be fent away before

Commiffioners come, to prepare the King to

give them good Entertainment. With this Let-
ter there was a Letter fent to the late Queen, to

defire her by all means to work the King to a
Compliance with the Scots. And there was a
Letter fent to my Lord Piercy and Jermin to that

Purpofe; taking Notice that the Queen, my
Lord Piercy, and Jermin, were their very good
Friends, and ready for this Conjunction : Where-
of they took fpecial Notice, and did approve
of it as a Thing very acceptable, and which
ihould be remember'd in due time. My Lord,,

this Letter was fent; and afterwards Mafon he,

brings the Anfwer from the King, and Queen,
and Piercy, all agreeing to this Work, That the

Scots, if they came with Propofitions, Ihould be
complied withal. But Piercy and Jermin writ
further, and did advife them, to the Intent the

King might not fall back again, that they would
fend a meet Perfon to be prefent about the King
when the Commiffioners came, that fo he might
fee fair Play. And thereupon Titus was fent a-

way, to be an Agent there for them at this Trea-

ty : And this Treaty was at Jerfey. But this

Treaty took not effect, as was defired ; Where-
upon they refolved upon another Treaty of Breda.
But at the Treaty at Breda the King advifed in

his Letter (which I fhall read) in the latter end of
the Letter that they would fend Commiffioners

then to treat with him. My Lord, the Letter

was written by the King back again to the Mi-
nifters : Firft, The King in the Letter took no-

tice of the Minifters Non-compliance with the

prefent Power, and of their Loyalty and good
Affection to him ; and that if God reftored him,
he would requite them. Secondly, He promi-

fed all fatisfaction to the Scots. Thirdly, Made
large Promifes of high Favours, particularly to

the Minifters. Fourthly, Wiffied them to fend

Commiffioners fufficicntly inftructed, to treat at

Breda. Now, my Lord, in the Diary that came
along with this (for there was a Diary of all Ti-

tus*& Negotiations) in that Diary it did appear,

that the King was very much fatisfied with the

Correfpondent's Application to him ; and that

that fhould be a main Argument to him to fatis-

fy the Scots. So, my Lord, if they had not thus

moderated and perfwaded the King that they

were a very confiderable Party, he would never,

in all Probability, have clofed with the Scots,

but have thought them very inconfiderable. But
when he was informed that if he clofed with the

Scots, he fhould have a confiderable Party in En-
gland, that made him think the Scots were worth

clofing with. My Lord, Titus, in his Negotia-

tion at Jerfey, did allure the King, That the Mi-
nifters were averfe to the prefent Government
both in Pulpit and in Print ; and that they were
well affected to ferve him and the Nation ; and
that the Nation was ready to efpoufe his Quar-
rel, if he did join with the Scots. This he did

alfure him in the behalf of the Minifters. And
to
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to fhew how they did own this, they did like

this AlTurance ib well, that they lend him ano-

ther Letter; and they did likewife fend him a

Letter of Thanks for his good Service he had

done, in poffefiing the King how confiderable

they were. My Lord, after this Bufincfs of

Jerfey, when Titus had done his good Service

there, he was coming home to make his Rela-

tion ', but hearing by the way that the Council

of State had intercepted fome Letters, he durft

•not come farther than Calais : And from thence

he fends a Letter, to let them know all this ; and

withal, that he had fomething to communicate

to thefe Confpirators, that was not fit to be com-
municated by Letter ; and therefore defired that

fome meet Perfon might be fent to Calais. There-

upon this Letter being read in Mr. Love's Study,

(fo fecretly was it carried) there it was agreed

that Major Alford fhould be the Man that fhould

go to Titus, and fhould receive all this Account
from him. Whereupon Alford he went away
to Titus prefently, and there he did fpeak to

him ; and Titus did acquaint him with all thefe

Proceedings ; and withal, they did advife that a

Commifiion fhould be fent in the latter part of

the Letter. So that now they had no more to

do, but, fince their Hopes failed them at Jerfey,

to have an Eye to the Treaty at Breda, where

they defired to fend Commiffioners. My Lord,

this Letter, to be prefented at Breda, was ma-
naged at Mr. Love's Houfe. Colonel Majfey,

Colonel Graves, Titus, &c. thefe were the Par-

ties. There were Letters fent to them to act

accordingly : And Titus fent Letters to the King
and Queen, and Piercy. And again, my Lord,

for the Commifiion, it was as tranfcendent a

Boldnefs as ever was done by private Men : The
Commifiion was corrected by Mr. Love; for it

was rough-drawn by William Drake, which was
the Englijh Agent here. But Mr. Love, in his

Study, and Doctor Drake, did help to correct

it. The Subftance of the Commifiion was this

:

* We, the Presbyterian Party in England, do
' authorize you Francis Lord Willoughby of Par-
* ham, Edward Maffey, James Bunce, Richard
' Graves, and Sylas Titus, to treat on our be-

* half, and the reft of our Brethren the Presby-
* terians of England, with the King ; and to

* afiift our Brethren the Scots Commiffioners in

' their Treaty with the King, and to do accord-
' ing to the Inftructions annexed. 5 My Lord,

here be the Heads of the Inftructions ; That
the Commiffioners fhould ufe all Arguments they

could to move the King to give the Scots Satis-

faction, and to take the Covenant ; and parti-

cularly to inform him of the Condition of
Affairs, and how Things flood in England at

that time, all which then cried out for an Agree-

ment with the Scots ; giving them full Power of

all Things ; and what fhould be concluded by
them the Commiffioners, fhould be confirmed by
the Confederates. I think, my Lord, here was
a very large Commifiion ; whatfoever they

thought fit, they were willing to comply with

and make good. My Lord, at Mr. Love's Houfe,

at the fame time it was moved, (according to a

Letter from my Lord Piercy to William Drake)

that a good Sum of Money might be fent the

King, as a great Means to difpofe the King to

an Agreement with the Scots. But they did not

think fit to be cozened of their Money ; but if

this Conjunction did follow, then to raife Mo-

ney considerably. And they went on fo far, as

to debate how to raife this great Sum of Money
for this pious Work, as you fhall hear by and

by, under what Notion when propounded.

Thofe Men agreed that the beft Way was, That
the Minifters fhould have feveral Correfpondents ;

and that they fhould propound the lending of

ten, twenty, thirty, forty, or fifty Pounds, for

a charitable Ufe: But you muft not ask what
this charitable Ufe is for. And this charitable

Ufe, What would it have been ? If God had not

blefs'd the Battle at Dunbar, we fhould have

feen it. My Lord, a little before the Battle at

Dunbar, when they had Letters from Maffey, or

Bailey, or fomebody, they then began to under-

ftand their Brethren better than before: For he

did inform them, That notwithftanding what was
pretended, yet for all that, there was no Englifb

imployed, nor was the King crowned. This did

difturb the Minds of the Confpirators very much j

infomuch that they did expoftulate with a large

Letter, written by Mr. Love and Dr. Drake,
written in a Table-Book in Sack, and fent there.

They did expoftulate with them, becaufe the

Presbyterian Party, which was the over-ruling

Party, were grown fo confident of carrying all

before them, that they did neither crown the

King; nor mind the Englijh. They did blame
them for this, feeing this going upon a fingle

Intereft, and upon one Party alone, which they

did call Godly, would not do well. And, my
Lord, it proved fo indeed : They carried it on
upon this till the Battle at Dunbar came, and
then they began to be of another Mind. After

that Battle, there was a Letter from the Com-
miffioners of Eftates, preffing for Arms and
Ammunition -, and Letters from Maffey and Titus

for Money to be fent. My Lord, thefe good-
natured Men, notwithftanding they had been fo

handfomely dealt withal when their Brethren

were in Power, yet for all that, fo fierce and
eager were they to carry on this great Defign,

which God knows what it would have come to,

they notwithftanding, upon Mr. Love's Propo-

rtion, ( for he was the Man who did propound
it ) agreed to fend five hundred Pounds prefently

to Maffey. My Lord, this Money was raifed,

and Subfcriptions taken by Mr. Love himfelf at

his own Table. And this is proved by one
who brought his ten Pounds : He brought it to

Mr. Love, and would truft no body elfe with it.

And this was fent away prefently by Captain

Maffey. My Lord, there was a large Letter fent

alfo with the Money, wherein was good Coun-
fel ; for befides the Money, he did write to ad-

vife his Brethren, that it would be notable Ser-

vice to endeavour after Union. The Letter

was fent ; and that large Letter, inviting to

Union, had been delivered to the Afiembly ;

and that would help to quafh the difienting Par-

ty in Scotland, who had made the King a Pri-

foner. But now the State and Church were all

agreed: And this was the Fruit of Mr. Love's,

Letter. And if they had not been fo united,

they could have done no Harm. This Letter

came fo feafonably, that they conceived it very

confiderable. They prefiing to Union very much,
by this means did quafh the difienting Brethren ;

and by that means they came to be as now they

are. My Lord, about Chriftmas laft there came
a Letter from Maffey, which gave an Account
of crowning their King, and of great Prepara-

tions,
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tions to take the Field ; and that the Correfpon-

dents here fhould beware of unfeafonable Ri-

fing ; and that they were moil afraid that thefe

Perfons would rife too foon, and fpoil all.

My Lord, in Anfwer to this Letter, they write

back again to Majfey, to advife him, on the

other fide, to take heed that he came not into

England but well provided, and not to depend

much upon the Afliftance here in England : They
were afraid he was too weak, as he was afraid

they were too forward. My Lord, after Cook

was apprehended, then the Correfpondents met

no more at publick meetings ; and yet they re-

ceived Letters from Drake, Mafey, Bunce, and

the reft, (whereof Mr. Love was ftill made ac-

quainted, as a principal Man) that told them of

the hopeful Condition of the Scotch Army, that

they intended to engage in England ; advifing

the Party here not to be too forward. This

was the fecond Advice. And fee the Reafon of

it : For if Mr. Love fat at the Helm, as he did,

all the Meetings being at his Houfe, after Drake

went away, he ftill itating the Queftion, drew

thefe Letters, and corrected them. And if he

were fuch a main Stickler, truly there was very

great Reafon for his Advice. My Lord, about

the middle of March laft Colonel Bamfield' s Man
brings an Anfwer to the Meffage in the Table-

Book, written in Sack, containing four or five

Sheets of Paper. Upon this Packet there was

nothing written but the Letter L. to deliver to

one of the Confpirators. And feeing nothing

but the Letter L. written, he carried it to Mr.
Love, and Mr. Love did own it as fent to him.

And that was the large Narrative of the State

of Affairs in Scotland, after the Fight at Dunbar,

how Things flood there. My Lord, with this

Narrative was fent alfo a Letter from Mr. Bailey,

by Order from the General Affembly : They did

order Mr. Bailey (which was the Scotch Corre-

fpondent there) to write a large Letter. And
there was another Letter from my Lords of Ar-

gyle, Lowdon, and Lothian, &c. It is worth

your obferving what this Letter was that came
from thefe Men : Firft, Thanks for the good
Affections of Mr. Love and the reft of the Con-

fpirators. Secondly, Encouragement to perfe-

vere -, and to credit BamfieWs Negotiation for

Money. Thirdly, Promifes to repay all, what-

ever they mould lend. But when and by whom
this Payment fhould be made, the Letter will

^ tell you •, and that is, when God fhall blefs their

Endeavours in procuring a Free Parliament in

England. So the Parliament in England muft

pay all the Scotch Debts, that thefe Confpirators

fhall lend. Truly, I think it will be a very free

Parliament indeed, when it comes fo free out of

the People's Purfes. My Lord, Mr. Love and

others gave Bamfield's Man, that brought this

Narrative, out of their own Purfes ten Pounds,
and fent a Bill of Exchange of thirty Pounds to

Bamfield. By one Witnefs it will be exprefly

proved, that ten Pounds of this Money came
out of Mr. Love's Purfe. My Lord, William

Drake's laft Letter did inform that Majfey would
break into England as foon as there was Grafs for

his Horfes : and therefore he fent to have a good
Bank of Money provided in readinefs ; and that

they fhould think of timing a Party ; and that

they fhould neither rife too foon nor too late,

but juft when Majfey came in. This Mr. Love
told Major Adams. My Lord, now we come

9?
fo near to the Time, as that one of thefe Confpi-

rators is apprehended by the Council of State :

When he had been in Reftraint three Days, he

fent to Mr. Love, and Mr. Love came to him.

But he had been at a kind of Faft ; for they did

keep Fafts once a Fortnight, at leaft, and Pray-

ers for the good Succefs of this Defign : That
God would blefs this wonderful Treafon, which
was for the making, by the Scotch Army, an ut-

ter Subverfion of this Commonwealth, and the

free, and noble, and magnanimous People of
England fhould be made Vaffals and Contribu-

tarics to the Scotch Nation. This was the De-
fign ; and for this Defign the Minifters failed

and prayed : But it is plain God did abhor fuch

Things. And, my Lord, Mafter Love took up-

on him to fpeak to the Perfon under Reftraint ;

* Take heed, faith he, what you do, left you
* wrong yourfelf or others.' And faid, * It is

' true, Titus's Man hath broken up Papers ; but
* we are all well enough : But give notice to the
' reft of the Confederates, that they may not be
* furprized : But be you not troubled, becaufe
* we have prayed for you this Day.' And they

implored the God of Truth, that nothing of all

this fhould come to light, but that we fhould

be in the dark ftill in generals. My Lord, this

is the true State of the Evidence, as near as I

can prefent it, with a frail Memory : And, my
Lord, I have opened nothing but Generals

;

your Lordfhip and the Court will judge it ; and
Mafter Love will have the lefs to do to anfwer.

But it appears by this, that there hath been fuch

a Practice, fuch a Series of Treafon, Treafon up-
on Treafon, that one Act of Parliament is not

enough to contain it ; but all thofe Acts of Par-

liament read, every one of them make him a

Traitor. And, my Lord, I am forry I have
taken up fo much of your Time, efpecially when
you have fpent fo much Time before. If your

Lordfhip therefore will be pleafed to have the

Patience to hear the Witneffes, we fhall prove

more than I have yet opened.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, this was an early

Treafon that began betimes tocrufh the Common-
wealth in its Infancy •, and, my Lord, Mafter

Love being fingled out for Juftice, you will anon
obferve there was Angular Caufe for it ; and if

he had had his Defert, it had been long before

now : but States can play fometimes with Trea-

fons, and not take- a time till they fee fit. My
Lord, this Treafon, as I have opened it to you,

began in the Year 1648. The King of Scots, fo

called, but take notice, that the fame Nation

and Perfons that proclaimed him King of Scot-

land, proclaimed him King of England alfo at the

fame Time in the fame N ation : and thofe Per-

fons that proclaimed this Perfon King of Scot-

land, the fame proclaimed him King of England.

My Lord, you have heard fome of the Confpi-

rators, named Titus and Drake, active men both

of them : Thefe Men have been fo ingenuous,

that they have fled for their Treafons ; notwith-

ftanding this Gentleman, a Minifter of the Go-
fpel, he doth not do fo : they have confeffed

their Offences, and are fled for them •, they dare

not appear, they have fo much Guilt within

them that prompts them to keep away -, but

this Gentleman hath not fo much. My Lord,

Drake was fo active, and it was carried on with

fo much fecrecy, and fo much (as they thought,)

of Caution, that Mafter Drake writing, as

that
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that Gentleman next Mr. Love doth, in Short- eight or ten Pounds in his Purfe, to carry him
hand, he burnt his Papers, and burnt all where

any thing was to be feen ; fo that no Originals

are to be feen. My Lord, in this cafe it hath

been opened unto you what Tranfactions

Mr. Love had with Scotland, and you have been

pleafed to obferve it was a tender Point, that

Mr. Love did enter Difcourfe with the Scotch

away. My Lord, I believe he knows this

:

And I am forry that that Gentleman, that hath

gone along with us in much of this War, that

he mould at laft fo much betray his own Difcre-

tion, as rather to truft a reconciled Enemy, than

to be true to his own Friends. I fay, he trufts

a reconciled Enemy, and a weak Enemy ; and
Nation, Mr. Love was very much troubled at it, that he will think, and will know, that they

and he may fee juft Caufe to be troubled at it

And will you give me leave, there hath been

Blood and Treafure fpent, as was told you by

Mr. Sollicitor. 1 am afraid I might too juftly

fay by that Gentleman, and thofe he did feduce,

that they have been too much the Caufe of this

might betray him ; as juftly may be done, when
Men fo caft themfelves upon the Party of the

King, and Queen, and Piercy, and Jermin. It

is no great Policy nor Difcretion to have fo many
of Counfel : They fay Three keeps Counfel r

but this Gentleman hath now Twenty, Thirty,

Blood, even that Gentleman that Hands at the. Forty, in Scotland, France, and Holland, and A
Bar, that mould be a Man of Peace, and not of

Blood. My Lord, I may juftly fay, That that

Gentleman hath been too much the Caufe of thefe

late Engagements between thefe two Nations,

and making himfelf a Party. And it is a fad

thing when Parties appear againft a State. My
Lord, I am too much afraid, whatever God
pleafes to work upon him, that it fhould touch

his Confcience that he fhould be inftrumental in

fuch a Work. But I verily believe, had there

not been Actings from hence, there had not

been fo much Forwardnefs in the King's Party

to the Scots. My Lord, I will mind that Gen-

tleman of what is faid of the Fifth of Novem-

gitations between them, and frequent Intercour-

fes. My Lord, I fhall now call the Witneffes
out to you, which when Mr. Love doth fee,

himfelf will fay are honeft Men, and to be be-

lieved.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I befeech you, let me
fpeak a Word.

dttorn. Gen. My Lord, he hath heard his-

Charge in particular ; and thofe Things which,
if he be ingenuous to himfelf and his own Con-
fcience, he cannot but know we fhall prove

them : And before we prove them, I defire to

hear whether, or no, he will confefs them.

Mr. Love. 1 hope this Court will not hearken

her •, I am forry for it, that it fhould be faid of to the Infinuations of Inftruments of State, who
our Minifters, wbofe Faith is Faction, whofe Re-

ligion is Rebellion. It is faid fo of the Rotnifh Mi-
nifters, I hope it will not be faid Co of the Eng-

lijh, That their Faith is Faction ; and that they

pray for Strife, and faft for Strife. My Lord,

for thefe Men, Drake and Titus, they are gone, as

I faid ; and they did confefs themfelves lb much
guilty, as that they have fled for it : and Mr.

are well rewarded for their eager Profecution of
Men in fuch a Condition as I am in : it is an
eafy matter, through Flourifhes of Law, and
Strains of Wit, to ftir up the minds of my Judges
againft me.

Ld Prefident. You have heard the Matter o-

pened to you, which you cannot in any chriftian

or godly Confcience or Underftanding but ac-

Love doth know (I am forry to fee him in that knowledge, that fuch Secrets as thefe you were pri-

Gefture) that he was converfant with them all,

and doth know (I believe) that we can prove

it •, and when he hears the Men named, he will

fay fo too. Truly, my Lord, I have nothing to

fay againft the Perfon of the Man, but againft his

Vices and Faults •, and nothing to his Function,

and nothing to thofe whom he pretends fo boldly

to reprefent, that is the Presb/terian Party. We
do all know there are many honeft, precious,

and godly men, that have received no Difcoun-

tenance from the State -, nor this Gentleman, that

mould give him any Countenance or Encourage-

ment to oppofe the State. But it is fomewhat
a bold thing, for a particular man to be the

Head of a Party, and they to engage as repre-

vy to, and came to your hand : You cannot, be-

fore God and Man, do better than to confefs

thefe, which you know, by the urging of them
upon you, are come to our knowledge.

Mr. Love. Will you give me leave to exprels

my felf as to thefe Things which I am now
charged with? I do declare and proteft, in the

Prefence of God and this great Aflembly, that I

never wrote any Letter, either to the King of

Scots, or to the Queen his Mother, or to the

Church or State of Scotland in the general, or

to any particular Perfon of the Scotifh Nation,

fince the Wars began between England and Scot-

land, to this day. I do declare alfo, in the Pre-

fence of the fame God, I never received any
fenting a confiderable Party, to engage to fend Letters, written to me, either from the King of
Commiffioners to agree upon Inftructions : This

is very bold. But, my L^rd, God be thank-

ed, many of thofe that were feduced at firft,

were wife, and did come in before the laft ; and

did not ftrut it out, my Lord, with States and

Juftice, as that man hath done before now, and

at prefent, even out-facing Juftice, and boldly, I

fay, wiping his Lips: He hath done no Offence.

My Lord, they were fo bold with Scotland, that

there was a known Agent there maintained and

kept between Scotland and them : And I will

tell him the Gentleman's Name ; his Name
was Mr. Sterks. And, my Lord, when he

went away, the Act requiring thofe of the

Scotifh Nation to be gone, that Gentleman did

fupply him with Money himfelf, and others gave

Scotland, or Queen his Mother, or from the

Church or State of Scotland in general, or from
any particular Perfon of the Scotifh Nation, fince

the Wars began between the two Nations, to

this day. I declare and proteft likewife, in the

Prefence of the fame God, I never collected, or

gave, or lent one Penny of money either to fend

into Scotland, or into any Foreign Part, to the

King, or Queen his Mother, or to the Church
or State of Scotland in general, or to any parti-

cular Perfon of the Scotifh Nation, fince the

Wars began to this very day. And as to thefe

Particulars, I have faid it often, I am as innocent

and as harmlefs as the leaft Child : And if you
will take the aggravating of thefe Circumftances

againft me, and will proceed upon Aggravations

of
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of the Crimes againft me, I hope God will help

me with more Peace of Confcience to undergo the

Cenfure, than you fhall have to inflict it. And
as for that Gentleman, that made that great Rela-

tion to you of the Treaty of Jerfey ; for my part,

I am as great a Stranger to all thofe Tranfactions

as any here : I never faw the Face of Titus ; nor

did I ever fend to him, or receive any thing from

him.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, we fhall call the Wit-

neffes.

[Captain Potter is called into the Court.]

Mr. Love. I except and proteft againft this

Witnefs ; for he hath been already examined in

private, and hath made his Confeflion there ; and

that is equivalent to a Conviction : And I hope

the Court, in Juftice, will not admit of this Man
for a Witnefs.

Ld Prefident. You fhall have Juftice as well as

ever any Jefuit had.

Attorn. Gen. You fee now what Mr. Love

drives at, and you will find his Jefuitical Evafions.

And, my Lord, let him be asked, whether ever

this Man was before this Court, or any Commit-

tee of this Court •, and I think in Juftice you ought

to examine WitnefTes before-hand. But it is clear

and evident that this Man hath been a Party with

him. I do humbly conceive it is fo clear and evi-

dent, that rather I fhould except againft the Wit-

nefs, as an incompetent Witnefs, than Mr. Love,

becaufe he hath been a Party with him : But I de-

fire he may be a competent Witnefs, and one in

whom there is more Ingenuity than there is in Mr.

Love.

Mr. Love. Sir, before he fwears, I befeech you

ask him this Queftion, Whether he hath not been

threatned with Death, if he would not witnefs a-

gainft me?
Ld Prefident. You cannot over-rule us with

your Befeechings and Befeechings ; it will not do

it : Your Over-importunity fhall not prevail with

us.

Mr. Love. Let God prevail with you : Though
he may be Legalis Tefiis before Conviction, yet he

cannot be fo alter Conviction.

The Clerk. The Evidence you Jhall give, between

the Keepers of the Liberties of England and the Pri-

foner at the Bar, fhall be the Truth, the whole Truth,

and nothing but the Truth. So help you God.

[He is fworn.]

Ld Prefident. Now look upon the God of

Truth, and fpeak the Truth.

Capt. Potter. I fhall fpeak the Truth.

Attorn. Gen. That Gentleman was pleafed to

truft others, as I faid, even reconciled Enemies,

and fell from his Friends. I do grant that this

Gentleman hath confeffed : And if every honeft

Man confefs his Fault, that is no Offence •, for

an honeft Man queftioned for a Fact, to confefs

the Truth thereof : I have not heard that that is

no good Law. And I do fay, that before ever

this Man came to be examined, we did know it

all ; and perchance from thofe that this Gentle-

man thought fitter to truft than us. But we did

fo know it before, that every Circumftance was
opened by us •, and we did convince this Gentle-

man and others, tho' not Mr. Love. But Mr.
Love faith he muft not accufe himfelf, he muft not

anfwer •, but this Gentleman did moreingenuoufly.

I do affirm that he was queftioned to every Par-
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ticular, before he anfwered: And we do know
that the State hath long Hands and Ears. Now,
my Lord, if youpleafe, ask Mr. Potter what he

knows of this Bufinefs, of fending to and re-

ceiving from Scotland.

Ld Prefident. You are upon your Oath, and
in the Prelence of God, than whom there is no
higher upon the Earth, that is in the Seat of Ju-
ftice, and without relation (as Mr. Love faith)

to the Parties : Therefore tell the Truth of your
Knowledge in the Tranfaction of this treacherous

Treafon, that hath been now above two Years
in the Paffages, between the Presbyterian

Party.

Attorn. Gen. No, my Lord, we will not own
that upon them : There are fome that do ftyle

themfelves fo, the Presbyterian Party, that are

confcientious Perfons, and pious and godly Men •,

and I fhould do them wrong, fhould I lay it up-
on them : But that which \ do, is againft thofe

that do undertake to ftyle themfelves the Heads of
them.

Ld Prefident. Begin then with that which con-

cerns Mr. Drake's Agency.
Captain Potter. I have taken an Oath to fpeak

the whole Truth in this Bufinefs -, but that is the

Truth I know. I defire I may not be prefled to

Things that I have only heard.

Attorn. Gen. You muft, and from whom you
heard them.

Capt. Potter. I was examined feveral times,

and had a wide Latitude there ; and then I was to

fpeak to every Truth as I thought and heard : But
now 1 have taken an Oath to fpeak the Truth be-

tween the State and this Gentleman. And 1 be-

feech you that I may be held clofe to thofe

Things, and I will give you the fulleft and
faireft Account I can. What I faid before, was
in order to the Difcovery of the Thing, much
of which I had by hear-fay from others ; and in

that I may miftake in Perfons, Places, and Times.
What I have done myfelf, and what I know
this Gentleman hath done, that may be put to me
fully.

Mr. Love. The Witnefs muft fo fpeak, That

iue have feen and heard, that do we teftify.

Attorn. Gen. Your Doctrine will not pafs here.

Mr. Love. It is Scripture, Sir ; and it behoves

me to fpeak, for I am upon my Life.

Attorn. Gen. Mr. Potter, fpeak what you know,
and from whom •, and I defire there may be no
Gloffes put there by thofe who, I am fure, cannot

do it. i ask you firft of the Proceedings, and
fending to Scotland, and back again to England ;

and what you know of it, and from whom.
Capt. Potter. My Lord, the Committee that

examined me knows I was not privy to the firft

Tranfaction : I did fay indeed fomething of it

by hear-fay -, and I did likewife fay that Mr. Drake
told it me. But I may err in that Particular ;

poffibly Mr. Drake did not tell me fo ; for, as I

apprehend, I faid I did think it did put a Necef-

fity upon the King to agree with the Scots ; and

then having feen fome Papers, and conferred

with that Relation others have made, 1 collected

the Truth of them, as far as I did know. But

now I am upon my Oath •, let me therefore

come to the Matter : I fpake then many Things
as I heard, which I cannot affirm upon my
Oath.

Ld Prefident. We muft judge of what you
have heard.

O Capt.
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Capt. Potter. My Lord* I cannot be certain

of that.

Attorn. Gen. That is receded from. But what

do you know of Mafon's coming over here ?

Capt. Potter. I know nothing of Mafon: I faw

him but once ; and at that time there paft nothing

between us of publick Concernment, as I remem-

ber.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Anfwer that was re-

turned to that which Mafon did bring ?

Captain Potter. That I can fpeak nothing to of

my own Knowledge : I heard he was come hi-

ther ; and was here to fee the Tempers of Men,

and to fee how Things were like to go.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him from whom
he came.

Capt. Potter. It was faid he came from my
Lord Piercy. But thefe Things are fo remote

from me, that I can fay nothing to them of my
own Knowledge.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let him fpeak what he

knows about reconciling the Presbyterian Par-

ties.

Capt. Potter. I think others can fpeak more

clofe to that ; I can fay nothing but by hear-fay :

I heard that Mafon did endeavour here to find

how the Affections of the People flood •, and whe-

ther there was a Neceffity that the King mould

comply with the Scots, or with the Cavaliering

Party ; and that he found a Neceffity of comply-

ing with the Scots.

Ld Prefident. What Affiftance fhould he have

from hence?

Capt. Potter. I know no more of Mafon than

this.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him if there were

not fome Letters returned by Mafon, in anfwer to

what he brought ?

Capt. Potter. Not that I know of.

Ld Prefident. Did you hear of it ?

Capt. Potter. I think I did hear of it : But I

cannot tell by whom ; I think by William

Drake.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether he

knows of any Petition fent to the King of Scots.

Capt. Potter. I do not know of any ; but have

heard fo.

Ld Prefident. By whom did you hear fo ?

Capt. Potter. By William Drake.

Ld Prefident. Who did Drake fay did carry the

Petition ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. Do you know of any Anfwer re-

turned from Piercy and Jermin ?

Capt. Potter. I know nothing at all of thefe

Things.

Ld Prefident. Were not you invited to the

Meeting ?

Capt. Potter. Yes, I was.

Attorn. Gen. What did he tell you?
Capt. Potter. Nothing at all : We had no-

thing but common Difcourfe there.

. Attorn. Gen. Who was there ?

Capt. Potter. There was William Drake, Ma-
jor Alford ; and I think Mafon and Titus were

there.

Ld Prefident. Do you remember any more ?

Capt. Potter. 1 do not remember ; nor can I

certainly fay they were there.

Ld Prefident. Were not you preffed or moved
to go to Jerfey ?

Capt. Potter. Not that I know of.

Ld Prefident. Did not Titus offer to go ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot well tell : But at that

time, or fome other, he either was fpoken to go,
or offered to go.

Ld Prefident. How long ago ?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, I cannot fpeak this

of my own knowledge ; but I have heard fay, 1

think, a month after the time.

Ld Prefident. Had he any money to bear his

Charges ?

Capt. Potter. I know of none.

Attorn. Gen. Well, what Meetings afterwards

was there in Mr. Love's Study ?

Capt. Potter. I have been at Mr. Love's feve-

ral times.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether he
was not prefent in Mr. Love's Study, when a
Letter was there read from Titus ; and who was
prefent there : and what were the Debates upon
it •, and what was the Contents of the Letter ;

and whether it was not for fome to come to Calais

to him.

Capt. Potter. The Letter I well remember : I

cannot fay it was Mr. Love's Study ; nor can I

fay it was in his Houfe : I do not know Mr. Love
was prefent. The Letter, I have feen it, or

heard of it : It did defire fome to come to Calais

about the Treaty : And I remember well that Ma-
jor Alford told me he did go to him.

Ld Prefident. What was the Contents of the

Letter ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot well remember that I

have feen it : But I have either feen it or heard of
it; I cannot tell which.

Ld Prefident. You mufl be true to the State,

and fpeak the Truth.

Capt. Potter. My Lord, I would be true to

the State, and to the Gentleman at the Bar too-.

And, my Lord, I can fay no more to it : I ei-

ther faw it, or heard of it, I cannot tell which. I

am upon my Oath, my Lord : The Letter did de-

fire fome body to come to Calais to him

.

Attorn. Gen. Was not this Meeting in Mr. Love's

Study ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay it was in his Houfe

:

I rather think it was not.

Ld Prefident. Was he prefent ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay he was prefent ; I

think he was not prefent : I think Mr. Alford was

fent to the Tavern.

[The Papers of Captain Potter's Examinations

were here produced by the Attorney-General, and

by the Clerk read to him.]

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, thefe were his Exami-
nations.

Capt. Potter. I intreat this may be remember'd,

(which I premifed at firft) I had a Latitude then,

that I have not now : I am now upon my Oath,

and defire to be true to my own Confcience, and

to the State, and to this Gentleman. I have

made (it is true) fuch a Confeffion as this is ;

and I believe the greatefl Part of it to be true,

according to the Latitude I fpake it in : But

now I am upon my Oath, and now I am to fpeak

knowingly. The Subftance of the Thing is

true ; I believe that he was fent, and fent upon

fuch Things. So much I do verily believe to be

true, upon my Oath ; but of the Places I cannot

fpeak.

Attorn. Gen. Alford did go to Calais, and re-

turn : And how many Days was it between his

going
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going and returning? And where did he give an

Account of what he did receive from Titus at

Calais ?

Capt. Potter. It is a hard Matter for me to

fpeak to the Time : I think about a Week. And
for the Relation he made when he came back,

as I take it, I met him at the King's- Head in Wal-

broke upon his Landing; whether he made the

Relation to me there, or afterwards at Mr. Love's ;

whether I heard of the Meeting, or whether I

was at the Meeting, I cannot fay. I am fure

he himfelf made me the Relation •, but whe-

ther there, or any other where, I cannot make

out.

Attorn. Gen. Upon your Oath, did not Major

Alford make return of the Anfwer in Mailer

Love's Study ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay it > but I think it

was there.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mafter Love prefent?

Capt. Potter. I think he was prefent; and I

think it was in his Houfe: I am fure Major Al-

ford made me a particular Relation between him

and I.

Attorn. Gen. Was Sterks, the Scotch Agent there,

or no?
Capt. Potter. I cannot fay he was.

Ld Prefident. Was it read in Mafter Love's

Study ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay I was there.

[ His Examination was again read to him. ]

Attorn. Gen. What was the Subftance of the

King's Letter ?

Capt. Potter. It is fo much out of my Memo-
ry, that I fcarce remember there was a Letter ; it

is fo much out of my Mind.

[More of his Examination was read to him.]

Ld Prefident. What do you remember of this

now ? Is this true?

Capt. Potter. I remember I have heard as much;
and I believe it is true.

Ld Prefident. Have you not heard the Letter

read?

Capt. Potter. I do not know there was a

Letter fent ; nOr do I know there was a Letter

read. I defire to fpeak the Truth : J had a La-
titude then, that I have not now ; I had then

fuch an Information fhewed me, and I fpake to

it fo far as I thought it was true. Thefe Papers

you fhew me, as my Examination, were not of

my framing.

The Clerk. Look upon them : Is not this your

Hand ?

Capt. Potter. I know it is my Hand ?

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I did go to the 'tower

to him, and was with him, and did examine
him. My Lord, here be thofe that will prove

it, that himfelf did confefs, and faid it was true:

And he took time himfelf to inform himfelf, and

had ( as he faid) other Mens Examinations and
Informations by ; and he did add and amend,
and gave it under his Hand. This is the Truth,
after feveral Examinations. And he had Papers

by him, and did correct them himfelf, and
brought them under his own Hand written by
himfelf, thefe very Things. And, my Lord, ask

him whether he did not write thefe Things firft

with his own Hand, and bring them to the Com-
mittee of Examinations.
Ld Prefident, Whether did you not bring in
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your own Examinations, and what you could

inform, written by your own Hand ?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, that is my Hand ; and
what is there I muft own as mine. But I hope
you will let me diftinguifh between what I deli-

vered then as I heard it and thought, and what
I deliver pofitive y. I do fay it is true now, as

I have heard.

Ld Prefident. Why did you not fay of Hear-
fay then, as well as now ?

Attorn. Gen. Upon the Oath you have taken,

whether do you not know this of your own Know-
ledge ?

Capt. Potter. Upon the Oath I have taken

(and I defire to fpeak it in God's Prefence) I do
not remember that I faw the Letter from the

King, or heard the Letter read, or the Copy ;

nor can I fay Alford told me fo much, though I

think he did, yet I do not know he did.

Mr. Love. I defire you would take notice

whether this be fair, that Mr. Attorney fhould

help the Witnefs, by putting things into his

Mouth ?

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I can help the Witnefs
by asking him Queftions.

Capt. Potter. My Lord, no Man fhall fo far

tamper with me, as to make me fay an Untruth.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, pray ask him whether

he did not write thefe Papers, moft of them,
with his own Hand.

Capt. Potter. True ; but to open to the Com-
mittee the ground of this Bufinefs : But I did
not expect to fwear to every one of thefe Par-
ticulars.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether after

this Return was made there was not a Meeting,
and lnftructions made about the Commifiion to be
fent to Breda.

Capt. Potter. My Lord, to that, I have heard
fo much ; but I cannot fpeak it pofitively. I

faw no Commifiion, nor lnftructions: I heard

there was both. I do not know by whom I have
heard it ; I think by William Drake.

Ld Prefident. Were you not at Mr. Love's
Houfe when they were drawn up, and Mr. Love
corrected them?

Capt. Potter. I never faw the lnftructions.

Mr. Love. Nor I neither.

Ld Prefident. Did you not hear fo ?

Capt. Potter. I did.

Ld Prefident. To whom to be directed ?

Capt. Potter. To Captain Titus.

Ld Prefident. And to who elfe?

Capt. Potter. The Commifiions and Inftructi-

ons were to be directed to my Lord Willoughby of
Parham, Colonel Graves, Major-General Majfey,
Captain Titus, and Alderman Bunce.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether he
hath not heard Mr. Love tell him fo.

Capt. Potter. Never in my Life.

Ld Prefident. Were you not then prefent at his

Houfe ?

Capt. Potter. I know not that I was ; nor can
I remember.

[ His Examination was again read.]

Attorn. Gen. Whether were you not at Mr.
Love's Houfe ? And was there not a Letter agreed

upon to Mafifey, and Bailey, and Titus ?

Capt. Potter. I have been feveral Times at

Mr. Love's Houfe.

O 2 Ld



i oo 47 . Ihe Trial of Chriftopher Love g Car. II.

Ld Prefident. Whether were you not at

Mr. Love's Houfe with thefeCorrefpondents?

Capt. Potter. I have been feveral Times at his

Houfe with them ; and I have been oftner there

upon other Occafions.

Ld Prefident. Name them.

Capt. Potter. I mean with Mr. Love, and

Mr. Jack/on, and Mr. Robin/on, and Major Alford,

and Mr. Drake, and Mr. Gibbons.

Ld Prefident. What was then agreed upon

about Letters when you were at Mr. Love's

Houfe?
Capt. Potter. I have a very bad Memory, I

cannot fpeak to Time, and Places, and Perfons ;

fuch Letters I have heard of were written, I

profefs I can fpeak no more knowingly. I ne-

ver had a hand in any one Letter, but fuch Letters

I have heard of.

Ld Prefident. Upon what Account did you

meet at Mr. Love's Houfe ?

Capt. Potter. I met there fometimes upon a

friendly Account, fometimes upon a chriftian Ac-
count, and fometimes to hear News, and fome-

times to tell News.
Ld Prefident. Where did you meet with thefe

Perfons, William Drake, and thefe fo often men-

tioned ?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, there was a Corre-

fpondency in point of News.
Ld Prefident. Between whom?
Capt. Potter. Between Captain Titus there, and

William Drake here ; and he would tell us many
times News there.

Ld Prefident. Do you know Titus was employ-

ed as an Agent hence ?

Capt. Potter. I think he was.

Ld Prefident. Had he Money collected ?

Capt. Potter. I do not know of one Penny I

lent him, and I never contributed to him.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether him-

felf did not, upon an Occafion, contribute ten

Pounds, and bring it into Mr. Love's Parlour ?

Capt. Potter. I confefs that.

Attorn, Gen. For a Table-book that was writ-

ten in Sack, do you know of any fuch thing?

Capt. Potter. I do, my Lord ; I went to Wil-

liam Drake in his Retirement, and he was writing

out of his Papers fome Letters in a Table-book,
which he told me was in Sack, as I take it.

Ld Prefident. Why did he write them in

Sack?

Capt. Potter. I take it, becaufe it fhould not be
difcovered.

. Ld Prefident. Do you not know to whom the

Letters written in Sack were lent ?

Capt. Potter. I know not ; but he told me to

Bailey and Titus.

. Ld Prefident. Where was Bailey and Titus then?

Capt. Potter. I know not where Titus was, but
I think Bailey was in Scotland.

i
Ld Prefident. After Drake was gone, where

were your Meetings ufually ?

Capt. Potter. Many times at Mr. Love's Houfe.
Ld Prefident. When you did meet there, what

did you meet upon ? Was it not to receive Mef-
fages from Titus, and Maffey, and Bunce, and Bai-
ley, and to return Anfwers ?

Capt. Potter. We had fometimes Letters read

there, but from whom they came, or to whom,
I believe few can tell, I cannot tell ; fomething

of News we have heard, of Affairs j that was the

Occafion of my coming fometimes.

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love never tell you the

Occafions of thofe Meetings, and prefs you to

lend Money to furnifh Maffey and Titus.

Capt. Potter. I can fay nothing to that.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you to the private

Fafts?

Capt. Potter. There were private Fafts.

Attorn. Gen. What ! for a Bleffing upon the
Treaty at Breda ?

Capt. Potter. There were Fafts kept, but I

never underftood they were for any other End
but for the Sins of, and Judgments upon the
Nations ; and for the moft part there have been
hundreds of Men and Women there.

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love often officiate

there ?

Capt. Potter. He hath preached and prayed.
Ld Prefident. Did any pray for a Bleffing upon

the Treaty ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay fo.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you to thofe Letters
that came hither after the Fight at Dunbar?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, after the Fight at
Dunbar, there came Letters from Bailey, and Ti-
tus, and Maffey.

Ld Prefident. And where were thefe publifh-
ed?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, I can fay no more

;

I have heard of thefe Letters too.

Ld Prefident. Were not you prefent at Mr.Love's
Houfe when they were read, or made known
there ?

Capt. Potter. Poffibly I was ; I cannot fay I

heard the Letters read there. I did hear Letters

by a private Hand occafionally afterwards.

Attorn. Gen. By the Oath you have taken, were
you not prefent at Mr. Love's Houfe, when thofe

aforefaid Letters from Titus, and Bailey, and
Maffey, were publifhed and read ?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, I cannot fay I was
there, and I dare not fay I was not ; it is a Year
ago: I believe I was there feveral Times when
feveral Letters were read, and it may be when
thofe were read.

Ld Prefident. Whether was there not five

Pounds given to a Meffenger that brought them ?

Capt. Potter. I have heard there was, but I
do not know it ?

Ld Prefident. Did you contribute any thing to-

wards it?

Capt. Potter. I think I did contribute ten Shil-

lings.

Ld Prefident. Who contributed befides your
felf?

Capt. Potter. I know not.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not at Mr. Love's a
Promife of Arms or Letters?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay fo ?

Attorn. Gen. What can you fay ?

Capt. Potter. I have heard there was.

Attorn. Gen. By whom have you heard it ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay by whom, or who
told me fo, either Mr. Alford, or Adams, or Far,
or fome of thofe Men that ufed to meet there

;

for it was common, when I was not there, for

fome or other to meet with me.

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love contribute to the

Meffenger ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay he did.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I do not ask him one

Queftion, but what himfelf hath confefs'd.

Capt.
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Capt. Totter. I do remember fuch Letters I

have heard did come, but never faw thofe Let-

ters ; I do likewife remember I heard there were

five Pounds gathered for the Meffenger, and I

do believe I contributed ten Shillings towards it.

Attorn. Gen. Who elfe gave befide your felf,

and who received it?

Capt. Potter. 1 profefs I know not.

Attorn. Gen. Whether was there not a Decla-

ration to the Church of Scotland then publifhed ?

Capt. Potter. The Declaration, I know no-

thing of it ; you remembred me of it at the Com-

mittee, when I was firft examined, but I knew

nothing of it.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether the

State and Church did not write for Arms and

Ammunition at that time after the Fight.

Capt. Potter. My Lord, I have heard fo much,

but cannot fpeak pofitively or particularly to it

;

I have heard of fuch Letters, but cannot tell by

whom •, I faw them not.

Attorn. Gen. To whom were they directed ?

Attorn. Gen. Were they not read?

Capt. Potter. They were all read.

Attorn. Gen. He confeffeth further, he paid

ten Pounds: To whom were the Letters di-

rected ?

Capt. Potter. The Letters had no Direction

at all upon them, I believe.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him, whether
there was not a Sum of four or five hundred
Pounds agreed to be raifed.

Capt. Potter. The Advice that was given to

that, was, That we fhould do nothing in it, and
we did nothing in it more than I tell you ; I

carried thofe Letters to them, and had Difcourfe

of them, and refolved to do nothing in them.

Attorn. Gen. Why did you carry them to

Mr. Love's?

Capt. Potter. I went for Advice what I fhould

do wich them.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, pray ask him concern-

ing the four or five hundred Pounds, and for

what; and whether this Difcourfe was at Mr,

Capt. Potter. I never heard who wrote them, Love's Houfe. Whether there was not a Propo

nor to whom they were directed

Attorn. Gen. Was there not one Letter with

L. upon it?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, about the Letter L.

I did receive thofe Letters my felf, there was an

L. written upon them : My Lord, thefe Letters

came from Bamfield out of Scotland. There was

in thefe Letters a large Narrative of the Affairs

of Scotland, from Dunbar-Fight to the time of

the Date of them, which I think was about

Chriftmas : This is a thing 1 know better than

(I am afraid I give offence by faying, I think,

and I heard, and that I cannot fpeak pofitively ;

but of this 1 can fpeak pofitively ) Bamfield gave

an Account therein of a Narrative of two Sheets

of Paper, and I and another or two opened

them •, and I carried thefe Letters to Mr. Love's j

there was one or two more with me, Mr. Ja-

quel, and I think Mr. Drake, I cannot well tell.

There was a Narrative of the Scotch Affairs and

a Letter from namelefs Perfons, which we fup-

pofe to be from Mr. Bailey and from my Lords

of Argyle, and Lowdon, and Lothian, and others,

whofe Names I do not remember. Thefe Let-

ters wrote for ten thoufand Pounds for buying

of Arms, and hiring of Shipping. Thefe Letters

we difliked, and we diffented from them, and

agreed to give a negative Anfwer ; but we
thought fit, for our own Safety, to raife fome

Money for the Meffenger and Bamfield, to which

I contributed ten Pounds. I carried all thefe

Letters to Mr. Love's ; one or two were opened,

I think we opened them •, the Narrative and my
Lord of Argyle's Letter I opened, before I un-

derftood what they were.

Attorn. Gen. Why did you carry them to

Mr. Love's?

Capt. Potter. There was a great deal of News
in them : there was a Letter L. and I did in my
Examination fay, I conceived it was to Mr. Love,

but now upon my Oath, I do not remember very

well, and I do not think it was to Mr. Love. I

do confefs I carried thefe Letters to Mr. Love's^

I and Mr. Jaquel; thefe Letters were opened,

but whether Mr. Love opened them, or I, or

the other, I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. With whom did you leave them?
Capt. Potter. I brought them away, all of

them.

fition for raifing four or five hundred Pounds, and
for whom this was to be raifed, and where to be

raifed, and by what Means.

Capt Potter. I heard there was, I do not know
the Place where ; to this I contributed ten Pounds,

I brought it one Evening to Mr. Love's Houfe3

and there I left it.

Attorn. Gen. Where was this Money agreed to

be raifed?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fpeak to that.

Attorn. Gen. Who took the Subfcriptions ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fpeak to that neither*

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr Love contribute ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay he did.

Attorn. Gen. Was it in his Houfe ?

Capt. Potter. I do not know that I fubferibed

at all, 1 do not think there were any Subfcripcions j

I am fure I never fubferibed my Name.
Attorn. Gen. When you came into Mr. Love's

Parlour, and left the ten Pounds, did you not

give him a twitch by the Hand ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay fo. [His Exami-
nation was again read.]

Ld Prefident. Is this true?

Capt. Potter. The Subftance of it is true.

Ld. Prefident. Of your own knowledge?

Capt. Potter. Of my own knowledge that I

left fo much Money.

[The Clerk reads more of his Examination.}

Capt. Potter. This is a Section I never worded,

or phrafed my felf; I have heard as much as

this comes to, but cannot fpeak it knowingly.

Attorn. Gen. Did you not write this your

felf?

Capt. Potter. I believe not, I cannot pofitively

fay that Mr. Love either drew up the Letter, or

received the Letter.

Attorn. Gen. You fay he received the Lettctf

from your own Hands.
Capt. Potter. But not the Letter from Titus

and Bailey.

Attorn. Gen. Do you know of a way of Cor*

refpondency laid at Kendal, or no?

Capt. Potter, I heard there was fuch a Cor*

refpondency.

Attorn. Gen. By whom ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay by whom.
Attorn*
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Attorn. Gen. Do you know that Groves was

fent to look for Letters there?

Capt. Potter. Yes.

Ld Prefident. Did Mr. Love know of it?

Capt."Potter. I cannot fay he did.

Attorn. Gen. What had Groves for his pains

for going?

Capt. Potter. Ten Pounds.

Attorn. Gen. From whom ?

Capt. Potter. I paid it.

Attorn. Gen. Did you receive any of it again ?

Capt. Potter. I did receive fome of it, I re-

ceived two \os. by feveral Perfons.

Attorn. Gen. From whom ?

Capt. Potter. From Gibbons, and Alford, and

Far.

Attorn. Gen. Not from Mr. Love ?

Capt. Potter. I do not know 1 ever had a Far-

thing from him in my Life.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether there

were not Letters returned to Bamfield again, and

by whom?
Capt. Potter. My Lord, I did receive a Letter

that 1 fuppofe was to Bamfield.

Ld Prefident. From whom did you receive it?

Capt. Potter. It was left in my Shop.

Ld Prefident. By whom ?

Capt. Potter. I cannot fay by whom.
Ld Prefident. Whom do you conceive it came

from?

Capt. Potter. I think from Mr. Love or

Dr. Drake.

Attorn. Gen. Do you conceive fo ? My Lord,

ask him whether Mr. Love or Dr. Drake was not

appointed to draw the Letter.

Capt. Potter. When we were together, there

was a negative Anfwer refolved upon; and this

Anfwer, to the bed of my Remembrance, was

agreed to be drawn up by Mr. Love and Dr. Drake:

but I received this Letter.

Attorn. Gen. And who received the thirty

Pounds?
Capt. Potter. I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. But you fent the Letter ?

Capt. Potter. I did.

Attorn. Gen. Ask him whether he did not fend

for Mr. Love, and what Difcourfe pafs'd between

them, fince he was in Prifon.

Capt. Potter. I did fend for Mr. Love, and he

did come to me ; and I defired his Counfel, as a

Minifter, and I told him upon what fcore I was

questioned •, then I was quefiioned upon Mr. Cook

only, and he gave me Encouragement only as a

Friend and Minifter of the Gofpel ought to do.

Attorn. Gen. What was that?

Capt, Potter. He wifh'd me to make a chrifti-

an Ufe of my Afflictions, and gave me fome other

Instructions ; we had an Hour's Difcourfe, and

it was all to this purpofe : He wifh'd me to make
a chriftian Ufe of my Reftraint, and to labour to

get chriftian Wifdom and Fortitude.

Ld Prefident. What did he fay more to you ?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, no more pafs'd between

us ; and I gave him an Account ofw hat Queftions

I was examined upon in Cook's Bufinefs.

Ld Prefident. Did you give him an Account ?

Capt. Potter. I have faid (a, and he didadvife

me to Prudence, and Forticude, and Courage.

Attorn. Gen. Did he never advife you to be

courageous, and that unlefs you difcover'd one

another, you were fafe enough?

Capt. Potter. My Lord, my Keeper was with

me, and we had no fuch Difcourfe.

Attorn. Gen. Did he not wifh you to be filent?

Capt. Potter. Either then or fince he did tell me
there was a Letter came from Mr. Drake, that

told him, Titus's Man had taken fome Letters

from Titus; but he could not conceive how it

could concern me.
Attorn. Gen. But did he difcover nothing, and

wifh you to be prudent for yourfelf, and them ?

Capt. Potter. He did not then ?

Attorn. Gen. When then?

Capt. Potter. I faw him once fince ; and he
told me of Bamfield's Man.

Attorn. Gen. How came it about Mr. Love
fpake with you ?

Capt. Potter. I did prevail with my Keeper to

go with me to Dinner, and to take a Glafs of
Wine, and then I provided for Mr. Love's com-
ing to me ?

Attorn. Gen. What hath Mrs. Love faid unto
you?

Capt. Potter. I faw her ever and anon.

Attorn. Gen. What hath fhe faid to you?
Capt. Potter. She hath wifhed me, with Tears,

to have a care of her Husband, and not to difco-

ver any thing; I think fhe hath.

Attorn. Gen. Did not Mr. Love fay then, That
he had been at a Faft, where you were remem-
bred ?

Capt. Potter. He did fo.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I confefs I was with
this Man in the Tower, as I am bound to do by
my Place, to examine him \ he had made his

Examination before I came thither, and I

brought it with me. My Lord, I did ask him
Queftions, he did anfwer me upon Knowledge;
he did confefs the Truth, but told them, Mr. At-
torney-General was pleafed to help him to

Particulars, and bring them to his Remem-
brance.

Capt. Potter. I profefs, if it had been to fave

my Life, I could not affirm them ; but you put-

ting me in mind of it, I did know of it.

Attorn. Gen. At the Committee of Examinati-
ons, then he had more Particulars told him, and
he did confefs he did know them all; and he
may give you an Account, whether he did not
give an Account under his own Hand ? My Lord,
I am not abufed, but the Council of State, and
the Parliament are abufed; and if this Man fhould

do this Wrong to Mr. Love, and inform the

Court and Council, and the Man be brought upon
his Life, becaufe he hath affirmed it ; and that

feveral Times before feveral Committees; this

Man mult not efcape unpunifhed, if for no other

Fauk but this, to accufe a Man before Autho-
rity, and when he comes to his Oath, to deny
every word of it. Captain FiJJoer will witnefs,

that he did bring all under his own Hand, and
upon my Credit, he did fpeak as fully as we
did open, and much more fully: and I anfwer-

ed upon hear-fay, How do you know it? And
he faid, He did know it, he did remember it,

and he put it down pofitively ; and that when
Mr. Drake went away, all the Meetings were
at Mr. Love's Houfe, and Mr. Love did ftill de-

clare the Occafion of the Meetings, and the Let-

ters were opened by him, and the Difcourfe upon
them ; and every Word he faid upon his own
Knowledge.

Capt.



1651. H. C. J. for High-
Captain Potter. I do confefs again, that before

Captain Fi/her and Mr.Attorney did prompt me

—

Attorn. fJen. Prompt you, Sir

!

Capt. Potter. Before he did remember me of

them, I had forgot them, as if 1 had never heard

them ; but it is one thing to remember a thing

as I have heard, and as i conceive to be true,

and another thing to fwear to it pofitively : and

the Paper allowed me this Latitude j fome of it

I have heard, the reft I believe, and fome I

know ; and upon this account I believe it is all

true.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, 'tis poffible I might

wifh him to exprefs what he did know himfelf,

and what he did know by relation of others, and

fo did fct it down, and he did it fully and clearly ;

and after all this, brought it in again, written with

his own Hand, to the Council of State, My
Lord, if you pleafe, Captain Fifher may go for

the Original under his own Hands.

Clerk. The Original cannot be found.

Mr. Love. Here is nothing at all that concerns

me about the Bufinefs of Titus in Jerfey, and a-

bout the Letter from Titus, and the Copy of the

Letter from the King; he tells you he doth not

know it was in my Lloufe ; he tells you it was but

a Copy, not the Original.

Captain Potter withdraws.

[Major Alford called into the Court, and takes

his Oath.]

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let him declare what

he knows, either by himfelf or others, and of his

Employment at Calais : make the whole Narrative

as much as you can remember.
• Major Alford. My Lord, I was one Morning
wifh'd to go with William Drake to the Swan
at Dowgate, hearing there was a Gentleman

lately come from the Prince, where I mould
hear all the News from beyond the Seas ; when
I came there, it was one Captain Titus, one

whom I had never feen before •, and he gave a

Relation of the good Difpofition of the Prince,

and how inclinable he was to take the Covenant,

and to caft off the Cavaliering Party, and thofe

about him, if there were an Opportunity to

make it known, that there was a confiderable

Party in England that would flick clofe to the

Ends of the Covenant. Upon that, Sir, my felf,

and fome others that were there, did think we
were bound in Duty, and in relation to the Co-
venant, to prefs the Ends of the Covenant, for

the Prince to take it, and to profecute the Ends
of it. And for that Captain Titus faid, If we
would appoint another Meeting, he would draw
up fomething by way of Atteftation or Petition

to the Prince for that purpofe. My Lord, we
did meet at the Bear in Breadflreet, and there he

did draw forth fomething that he had framed to

that purpofe, and he read it ; and afterwards

(not at that time) it was agreed upon to be fent

over to the Prince. The Subftance of it was to

prefs the Prince to apply himfelf to take the Co-
venant, and to profecute the Ends of it, and to

caft off all his Cavaliering Party about him,
which had brought fo much mifchief to his Fa-
ther, and would do the like to him. This Cap-
tain Titus drew up, and this, I believe was fent

over, for Titus undertook to fend it over. I did

ask how the Prince mould be made to believe,

that this coming from an inconfiderable Party, as

we were, fhould come under the notion of the

103
Presbyterian Party of England, for it went under
that notion ? He faid, he fhould undertake that

by the means of my Lord Piercy. And the Pe-
tition that was agreed upon, he did fend over, I

believe ; for I did not carry it to the Poft-houfe.,

but he did undertake to do it. Afterwards he
went over himfelf, and when he was over, he had
Information that there was notice of his being
here, and of the Bufinefs he was upon ; and,

therefore he writ over to William Drake, (as Mr,
Drake told mej that he did defire fome of us that

knew of the Bufinefs, fhould be fent over to

him, to receive that Account from him which
he had in the Bufinefs. So Mr. Drake did per-

fuade me to go over to Calais ; and having fome
Bufinefs of my own, I did go over to Calais. I

went from my Houfe on the Friday Night, and
I was back again on the Tuelday following -, and
he did give me an Account of that Tranfaftion :

The Subftance of it was this : It was about his

own Troubles he had undergone there by the Ca-
valiering Party, in managing that Bufinefs. He
had likewife been imprifoned, and they told him,
They would try him as a Spy ; and that they
urged hard againft him, and that he was in that

Condition till my Lord Liberton, the Scotch Cbm-
miffioner, came over •, and by this means he had
Accefs to, and Favour with the Prince : And
that was the Subftance of all. He faid, the King
was averfe to the Covenant* not of himfelf, but

by reafon of thofe Counfels that were about him.
And this was the Subftance of that Account he
gave me of his Tranfaftion there at Jerfey, in re-

ference to the Bufinefs he went upon : And this

he gave me in Writing, which I brought over
to deliver to Mr. Drake, for it was directed to

him, which I did deliver. Afterwards Mafter
Drake carried them to Mafter Love's Houfe,
where they were read. And that is all as to that

Bufinefs.

Then afterwards there was a Commiffion, they

called it a Commiffion, it was agreed upon among
us, to be fent over to my Lord IVUloughby of
Parham and Majfey, and I think Graves and Ti-

tus, that they fhould agitate and aft for us at

Breda, and to advife with the Scotch Commiffio-
ners that were there, in behalf of the Presbyte-

rian Party here in England ; and that is all in re-

lation to that. Afterwards Mr. Drake read to me
the Copy of a Letter in Charafters, which he had
written himfelf in his own Back-fhop, which he
told me fhould be fent to the Queen, which was
to perfuade her to perfuade the King, as he came
that way, to clofe with the Scots ; for that was the

likelieft way to make good his own Intereft ; but
that was at Mr. Drake's Houfe only between him
and I. Afterwards Mr. Drake told me he had
disburfed Money about receiving of Letters, and
receiving of News, and did wifh me that I would
let him have Ten Pounds, and faid he would
fpeak to fome others of his Acquaintance to do
the like ; and if he could get up a confiderable

Sum, I fhould have Part back again ; for he

faid the Charge was too great for him to un-

dertake : and I do think he had Ten Pounds of

me for that. After Dunbar- Fight, there was I

and fome others at Mr. Love's in his great lower

Room; where was a Letter read, that was faid

to be from Major- General Majfey, that gave an

Account of the Bufinefs of Dunbar ; and alio

did write for Arms, I know not how many
Thoufands ; and to that purpofe, that, they might

be
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be provided by the way of Holland. But upon

that, all that were there did fay 1 heard no

jMan fpeak of providing Arms or any fuch thing.

He writ in his Letter, that for his own Necefll-

ties, and Captain Titus that was there, that a Mo-
tion might be made for providing fome Money to

fend over for their Supply : and it was then faid,

We were fo inconfiderable, and fo few, that the

Sum fpoken of could not be done ; and therefore

it was moved, that every one fhould do by himfelf

and Friends what he could. This was the Sub-

ilance of that.

Attorn. Gen. I believe, my Lord, he hath dealt

ingenuoufly with you. This in the general : I

pray you ask him, what he knows concerning any

Letters that fhould have been fent at the beginning

of the Change of this Government, to Scotland

from any Part of England ?

Major Alford. For that I know nothing, but

heard Mr. Drake fay, That he had Correfpondency

with fome in Scotland ; and I have heard ufe one

Mr. Bailey's Name ; and he had a Cypher which

they writ by.

Attorn. Gen. For the Swan at Dowgate, he gave

relation of that ; but who was prefent then ?

Major Alford. Truly, my Lord, it is fo long

fince, that 1 cannot politively tell ; but I am fure

I can remember there was Mr. Huntington, and

William Brake, and Lieutenant-Colonel Bains ;

and I cannot tell, my Lord, I think there was one

Mr. Hall.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Gibbons there or not ?

Major Alford. Truly, my Lord, I cannot telJ

whether he was there at that time or no.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, he fays Titus at that

time did give relation of the Prince and his Par-

ty : Can you remember what that Relation was ?

And do you know whether this was not afterward

communicated, and to whom ?

Major Alford. I have given you the Subftance

of it ; but for communicating of it, I knew it

Irom none but only from thofe there.

Attorn. Gen. Titus took time to draw it up ?

Major Alford. He did fo ; and at the next

Meeting at Breadftreet, there were the fame Men
again •, and 1 think at the fame time there was

Col. Barton.

Attorn. Gen. Was there no mention then, (when

it was propounded to you to be a confiderable

Party) was it not faid the Miniilers were to be

acquainted with it ?

Major Alford. It was asked Titus, how the King
mould be poffeffed that this came from the Pref-

byterian Parry in England, becaufe it was agreed

upon that there fhould be no Names ufed to it ? He
laid there needed none, but only the Engage-

ments of the Minifters in it.

Attorn. Gen. What Minifters ?

Major Alford. Truly he did not fpeak a word
of any Man that I know of.

Attorn. Gen. Was it not then propounded, that

Titus fhould be fent to the Scotch King before

Commiffioners came to him, to have a Correfpon-

dency fettled between him and fome others here ?

Major Alford. I cannot fay at that time, but

afterwards. Whether at that time or any other,

I cannot tell •, but one time Titus faid, he had

learned from my Lord Piercy, which had haftned

him over, that this Bufinefs was of that Concern-

ment, that they did undertake it fhould be there

before the Scotch Commiffioners did come. And
thereupon Titus (as William Drake told me, for

this was not at the Meeting,) was perfuaded to un-

dertake to go about that Bufinefs.

Attorn. Gen. Whether was there not fome Di-
rections given for a Letter to be written to the

Queen, to prepare the Articles with the Scots ?

Major Alford. I cannot fay any thing but what
William Drake told me privately between him and
I, as to that purpofe, a Letter to the Queen.

Attorn. Gen. What was that ?

Major Alford. I did tell yourLordfhip.
Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether he

was not at Supper with Titus.

Major Alford. No, my Lord, I was not there

when he offered himfelf to go, as I know of.

Attorn. Gen. What Money had Titus to bear
his Charges ?

Major Alford. Thirty Pounds.
Attorn. Gen. From whom ?

Major Alford. From William Drake fingly.

Ld Prefident. Did not Drake gather it up a-

i I

my

gain ?

Major Alford. My Lord, I cannot tell

know nothing of any Man, but what I did
felf.

Attorn. Gen. We are now fpeaking of the
Meeting at Mr. Love's Houfe, and of Titus's

Letter being read, and he fent. Let him give a
particular Relation of that again. I make bold
to ask him Queftions to help his Memory.

Major Alford. The Letter that was read of
Titus, was not at Mr. Love's Houfe, as I know of,

but Mr. Drake's (for all things came to him, and
we knew nothing but only from him, for the Cor-
refpondency was fettled between William Drake
and Captain Titus) nor at any publick Meet-
ing that 1 know of, but what Drake told
me.

Ld Prefident. But you were at Mr. Love's
Houfe, you faid but now.

Major Alford. I was, but not upon this ac-
count, it was after I had been over ; for I do
not know that ever I was at Mr. Love's Houfe,
or ever fpake with him, till I went over : if I
have, I have forgot that ever I fpake in my Life
to Mr. Love about it, till after 1 came from Ca-
lais ; and then I did bring over a Relation, and
gave an Account of it concerning Titus's Tranf-
aclions.

Ld Prefident. That Account you gave at Mr.
Love's Houfe.

Major Alford. No, my Lord, I gave it to
William Drake, for it was directed to him ; and
it was three or four Days after that we met at

Mr. Love's Houfe, where Mr. Drake read the
thing.

Ld Prefident. At what time was it ?

Major Alford. At the time when the Scotch
King was at Jerfey.

Attorn. Gen. Whether did you bring from Ti-

tus a Copy of a Letter from the King ?

Major Alford. That I forgot •, but Titus did
fhew me a Letter, at leaft-wife he faid fo, that he
had it from the King, that he fent to this Presby-
terian Party. And, my Lord, he did copy out
the Letter, and the Copy he gave me, which I
did bring over.

Ld Prefident. To whom did you deliver it ?

Major Alford. I delivered it to William Drake,
I gave it Mr. Drake himfelf, and I think at his
own Houfe •, I think it was the fame, and that
it was read at Mr. Love's Houfe. The Subftance
of it was this, as he told me, That he took in

good



i<55i. H.C.J. for High-Treafon.

good part the Petition or Application that was

made to him ; and if ever God did reftorc him,

and that he was in a Condition, then he mould

think of it.

Ld Prefident. What did he fpeak of a Non-

compliance with the prefent Government, and by

whom?
Major Alford. I do not remember a Word of

that.
.

Attorn. Gen. What faid he concerning the Scots,

and what he would do for the Minifters, if God

restored him?
Major Alford. I cannot tell any fuch Paffage,

nor do I remember the Particulars of it.

Ld Prefident. The Letter was then read, you

fay?

Major Alford. I fuppofe it was the fame that I

gave to Mr. Drake, but I cannot fay it was the

fame, becaufe it was not in my Cuftody.

Attorn. Gen. Did not you propofe to fend Fifty

Pounds to Titus ?

Major Alford. For that, I heard fay that there

was Fifty Pounds fent to him, but whether it

were or no, I know nothing of it, nor did con-

tribute to it, nor knew nothing of it.

Attorn. Gen. Did not you make a Narrative

youdelf of what you received by word of mouth

from Titus?

Major Alford. It is very like I did fpeak of it

to this Purpofe I tell you of, I do not know par-

ticularly what 1 faid.

Attorn. Gen. Did you not receive an Account

from Titus ofhis Tranfaction at Jerfey?

Major Alford. I did.

Attorn. Gen. Did you not give an Account of

that you received from him ?

Major Alford. He gave it me in writing, and

I delivered it to Mr. Drake.

Attorn Gen. But when you met at Mr. Love's

Houfe afterwards, did you not make fome Nar-

rative of what you received from him by word

of mouth?
Major Alford. I had it not by word of mouth,

but only by the Delivery of Papers to me, which

he could not bring over with Safety.

Ld Prefident. Were thofe Papers read at that

Meeting ?

Major Alford. I tell you, my Lord, I delivered

them to Mr. Drake, and Drake did read fome

Papers, and I believe they were the fame, but I

cannot fay they were the fame, for they were out

of my Cuftody.

Attorn, Gen. Who then were there prefent ?

Major Alford. There was Mr. Love, Dr. Drake,

Mr. Cafe, Major Adams, Mr. Gibbons, and Cap-

tain Far. Truly I cannot particularly tell.

Attorn. Gen. This was given him at Mr. Love's

Houfe, and Mr. Love prefent. My Lord, I

pray you ask him whether Titus's Meflage was

not well approved of, and the Letter of Thanks
to be returned, and the Hundred Pounds in

Money.
Major Alford. I do not remember any of thefe

Things you fpeak of now.

Attorn. Gen. What do you remember was faid

concerning him there?

Major Alford. I do not know what was faid

;

I do not know what any Man could fay to them
which were Papers from him : I do not remem-

ber any Particulars, it is fo long ago ; I believe

now it is two Years ago.

Attorn. Gen. Do you not remember that this

Vol. II.

was one PafTage in the King's Letter, that the

King wifh'd them to fend Commiflioners to

Breda ?

Major Alford. I do not remember that.

Attorn. Gen. But was there not a Commiflion
at Mr. Love's Houfe agreed upon to be fent?

Major Alford. That there was.

Attorn. Gen. What was to be the Effect of that

Commiffion ?

Major Alford. It was to advife thofe Men to

join with the Scotch Commiflioners, to take Ad-
vice with them, and to accept the Presbyterian

Party with the King, in relation to the firft Pe-
tition that was fent.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mafter Love there?

Major Alford. Mr. Love was there ; but I do
not know what Mr. Love or any Man did direct

in it.

Attorn. Gen. Who did correct thofe Instru-

ctions ?

Major Alford. I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. Who was agreed to prepare the

Commiflion ?

Major Alford. I do not know, for I believe it

was prepared when it came there ; I heard that

which we call a Commiflion read there, but who
prepared it, or acted in it, I do noi know.

Attorn. Gen. Did Gibbons bring it ?

Major Alford. Who brought it, I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. Who were the Commiflioners ?

Major Alford. As I remember, my Lord Wil-

loughby of Parbam, and Majfey, and Alderman

Bunce; and whether Titus and Graves, I cannot

tell.

Attorn. Gen. Was this in Mr. Love's Study, or

in another Place?

Major Alford. It was in Mr. Love's Study.

Attorn. Gen. Was the rough Draught corrected

by any Body or no ?

Major Alford. I cannot tell whether it was or

no, nor can I remember any more Particulars of

it than what I have given you.

Attorn. Gen. What do you know concerning

any Instructions to give Power to the Commiflio-

ners what to do?
Major Alford. At the fame time there was

agreed upon fome Instructions for them to walk

by, which was the Subftance of the Petition

which had been formerly fent; that is, it preft

the King to take the Covenant, and to profecute

the Ends of the Covenant.

Attorn. Gen. Who carried the Commiflion and

Instructions ?

Major Alford. One Mafon.
Attorn. Gen. Who was that Mafon?
Major Alford. I did not know him, but I have

heard fay he did belong to my Lord Piercy.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not at that time fome

Letters propounded to be written to the Queen,

and Jermin, and to what Purpofe ?

Major Alford. I cannot tell that any of thefe

Things were propounded there, but Mr. Drake

had told me, and read to me in Characters fome

that he had writ thither.

Attorn. Gen. And was it fent ?

Major Alford. I cannot tell, for it was privately

between him and I.

Attorn. Gen. When this Commiflion was thus

brought into Mr. Love's Study, was there not a

Question propounded, What Warrant have we
to fend Commiflioners, and by what Authority,

and what was the Refolution upon it?

P Major
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Major Alford. Well, it may be, but I do not

remember it.

Attorn. Gen. Do you remember who went with

Mafon, when he carry'd away this?

Major Alford. None went with him but I, and

Mr. Gibbons did carry the Papers two or three

Days after that we had them from Mr. Drake,

which was thisCommiflion we fpeakof, to Graves-

end, to Ma/on ; for he was at Grave/end before,

and there delivered it to him.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Effect of thefe In-

ftrudlions ?

Major Alford. The Subftance of them was, ac-

cording to the firft Commiffion, to prefs them to

ufe all their Endeavour to advife, and take Ad-
vice with the Scotch Commiflioners how to prefs

the King to take the Covenant, and to join with

the honeft Party, the Church-Party in Scotland

;

that was the Subftance of it.

Attorn. Gen. Did he not write to you to fend

Money to the King ?

Major Alford. I heard Mr. Drake once fay,

there was a Letter from my Lord Piercy to that

Purpofe, but Captain Titus himfelf wrote a-

gainft it.

Attorn. Gen. What Courfe or Way was pro-

pounded to raife Money ?

Major Alford. I know of nothing propounded

that way : it was not agreed for me at that Meeting

to go down, but Mr. Drake fuddenly went down,
and Mr. Drake alone fpake to me.

Attorn. Gen. But ne told you it was the firft

Advice of fome others?

Major Alford. Truly, I do not remember that

he did tell me fo: there was a Commiflion and

Inftruftions read at Mr. Love's, but whether a-

greed upon there or no, I know not.

Attorn. Gen. What know you fince Dunbar
Fight ?

Major Alford. For that, we met at Mr. Love's

Houfe, in his lower Room, and there was a

Letter that was faid came from Majfey, wherein

he gave an Account of that Bufinefs, how many
Men were loft ; and that he did write for Arms to

be fent, and in his Letter did propofe a way, as I

remember, to be done by the way of Holland:

I cannot tell the particular Number of Arms he

writ for, but for Arms : and alfo did fpeak fortie-

th ing in it concerning his own and Titus's Ne-
cefllty, they being there Strangers.

Attorn. Gen. There was a Propofition made, of

raifing fome Money for Supply of their Necef-

fities ?

Major Alford. It was not to purchafe Money,
or Arms, and any fuch Thing, but only a Pro-

pofition made for fupplying thofe Gentlemen's

Perfonal Neceflities.

Attorn. Gen. And how was that to be done ?

Major Alford. It was to be done among our-

felves, to raife fome Money ; there was Five

Hundred Pounds fpoken of, but it was impofli-

ble for us to do that, for us that were inconfi-

derable Men, being Men of mean Eftates and
Fortunes, and fo it was brought down to a lefs

Sum.
Attorn. Gen. What was that Sum ?

Major Alford. Either Two or Three Hundred
Pounds, I cannot tell which.

Attorn. Gen. How was that to be raifed ?

Major Alford. It was to be raifed among our-

felves.

Attorn, Gen. And did you fubfcribe then pre-

fently ?

Major Alford. No, I did not.

Attorn. Gen. Who did ?

Major Alford. I cannot tell that any did ; for

I then faid, that I did not know that either my-
felf, or any there, was engaged by Promife to

do any thing for any, only for Captain Titus,

for he alone was there upon our Intereft, and
therefore I faid, for that I would contribute Ten
Pounds.

Attorn. Gen. How much did Mr. Love con-

tribute ?

Major Alford. I do not know of any particu-

lar Sum.
Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love prefs you to con-

tribute, or move any to do it ?

Major Alford. Truly Mr. Love did move to

Contribution of Money, for the Purpofe we fpeak

of, for the Supply of Titus.

Attorn. Gen. When was Titus there?

Major Alford. I cannot tell.

Ld Prefident. Did Mr. Love move it ?

Major Alford. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Love. Was I the firft that did move it ?

Major Alford. Truly I cannot tell that.

Attorn. Gen. Was it at that Time that the Let-
ters were read ?

Major Alford. It was at that Time.
Ld Prefident. And was Mr. Love there then?
Major alford. Yes, it was at that Time.
Attorn. Gen. Do you remember of any De-

claration of the Kirk and State read at that

Time ?

Major Alford. No indeed, I do not.

Ld Prefident. You did fay, that the Letter did
mention for Arms?

Major Alford. But we did all, every one of us

difavow that, but only the Supply of their par-

ticular Occafions.

Attorn. Gen. Was there no Motion then made
for a Letter to be written to the Church of Scotland,

to prefs them to Union and Moderation ?

Major Alford. Not that I know of.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not a Motion of fend-

ing Fifty Pounds to Colonel Graves ? And what
fucceeded upon it ?

Major Alford. I do not know of any Particu-

lar, but only of the Sum to be raifed in refpect

of Titus.

Attorn. Gen. How fhould your Three Hundred
Pounds be difpofed of ?

Major Alford. That I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. For whom was it to be raifed ?

Major Alford. I told the Court that it was pro-

pofed for Majfey, and for Titus.

Attorn. Gen. Did you pay your Money?
Major A.Iford. No, I did not pay it, for I

went out of Town prefently : I did promife Ten
Pounds, and Ten Pounds I paid, but I cannot

tell to whom I paid it, I believe it was paid by
my Man.

Attorn. Gen. Did he bring it to you upon Ac-
count as paid ?

Major Alford. I believe he did.

Attorn. Gen. What do you know more?
Major Alford. Truly, nothing more.

Attorn. Gen. What do you know of any Corre-

fpondency fettled at Kendal?

Major Alford. Nothing at all.

Attorn. Gen. This was fince Dunbar Fight. Do
you know of any Letters that came from the

Kirk, or Lowdsn, or Argyle, or any of thofe ?

Major Alford. No, I know nothing of that.

Mr. Love.



1651. H.C.J. for High-Treafon.

Mr. Love. You confefs you went to Calais, and

brought the Copy of a Letter from Titus : Did 1

fend you to Titus ?

Major Alford. No, I do not fay you did.

Mr. Love, it is alledged by this Gentleman,

that it was fent out of my Houfe: Did I write

any Letter by you when you went into Holland?

And upon your coming home, you fay the Copy

of a Letter was read at my Houfe : VV ill you

fwear I was in the Room at the Time when the

Letter was read ? I was in my Houfe, but did not

I go often out and in? Sir, I do fpeak this, be-

cauie fome at the Committee faid I went in and

out often : Do you fwear that I heard the Letter

read in my Houfe?

Major Alford. Mr. Love, it was read in your

Study ; but that you were there when the Letter

was read, I cannot tell.

Mr. Love. He fays, he cannot tell that I heard

the Letter read.

Major Alford. I cannot tell whether you might

go out.

Mr. Love. How long ago was this Letter ?

Major Alford. I think, it was at that Time the

King was at Jerfey, I cannot remember the Month,

J think about two Years ago.

Mr. Love. Was the Letter fent to me, or was

it received by me ?

Major Alford. I did not fay it was. I gave

the Paper I brought over from Titus to William

Drake ; and fome two or three Days after, when

we did meet at your Houfe, Mr. Drake read

thofe Papers, for he told me they were the fame,

but i cannot tell they were the fame.

Mr. Love. I defire he may be asked, whether

1 did give my Confent to the fending the pretend-

ed Commifiion he fpeaks of ?

Major Alford. Truly, there was not any Man's

particular Affent asked, that I know of.

Ld Prefident. Was it not agreed in the general,

that it mould be fent over?

Mr. Love. I pray ask him this Queftion, did

not I difTent from fending the Commiifion?

Major Aiford. I do not remember it.

Mr. Love. For the Bufinefs of Money, he faith

there was Two or Three Hundred Pounds raifed

:

Do you affirm I raifed a Penny ?

Major Alford. I did not fay it was raifed, but

I fay it was there propounded to be raifed.

Ld Prefident. This he did fay, there was a Pro-

pofal for the doing of it, and you did perfuade

the doing of it; and he left Ten Pounds with

his Man afterwards.

Mr. Love. Ask him whether there was not a

Letter at that Time read, that Majfey was with-

drawn at that Time in Difcontent from the

Court ?

Major Alford. I do not remember that Par-

ticular.

Mr. Love. Ask him whether the Money was
fent to buy Arms, or raife Forces, or only to fup-

ply his Wants, he not having a Livelihood.

Major Alford. It was not for Arms, but it

was for Majfey and Titus, to fupply their Necef-

fities.

Mr. Love. But he proves not that I lent any.

Major Alford. I do not fay you did.

Attorn Gen Obferve, Sir, there was a Letter

for Arms at Mr. Love's Houfe, read there, and

Mr. Love did propound Three Hundred Pounds
.to be raifed, and prefs'd the doing of it accor-

dingly. Major Aiford did likewife lend Ten
Vol. II.

I07
Pounds ; you may believe there hath been tamper-

ing with this Witnefs too. My Lord, ask Major

Alford whether there was not a Letter brought to

him by his Sifter.

Major Alford. My Lord, after I had Liber-

ty for my Wife to come to me, fhe did give me
a Paper, which I knew was my Sitter's Hand -,

if I law the Thing, 1 could tell, but it did mif-

carry.

Capt. Fifher. My Lord, the Meffenger is here

in the Court that did take the Letter, of which
this is the true Copy Word for Word.

[Major Alford withdraws, and Major Hunting-

ton is called into the Court, and is fworn.j

Ld Prefident. What do you know about
Mr. Love's Houfe, about the Commifiion, and
Captain Titus ?

Major Huntington. My Lord, I can fay, that

about March, 1648, I met with Major Alford,

and he told me that Titus was in Town, and ask-

ed me if I knew him, and I told him Ay ; and
asked him where he was. He faid he was new-
ly come from beyond Sea, from the Fry, there

being Alderman Bunce. I asked him where he
was •, he faid little to me ; but he faid he was
to meet him the next Day at the Swan at Dow-
gate; that there was to be fome Citizens in order

to thofe Gentlemen beyond the Seas, to fpeak

with him there. I did meet, and the Citizens

there, were Col. Barton, Col. Vaughan, Captain

Majfey, Lieut. Col. Bains, and 1 think Hollis his

Man, I am not certain of it ; but Captain Far
was there. The Bufinefs at that Time, was only

Commendations from their Friends there ; and
to tell them that he was commended to their

Acquaintance. And afterwards, he grew into

very high Praifes of the Prince, and that he had
the Knowledge of it from a Scotch Lord, 1 know
not his Name. After this, He told them the

Prince was running very unhandfom Courfes,

and they had very great Hopes his own Inclina-

tions did not lead him to it, but it was the ma-
lignant Party about him, that had a Frevalency

over him there, as over his Father here ; but he

did rather incline to join with the Irifh Rebels,

and did believe he would incline that Way, un-

lefs he could get fomething from hence, to di-

vert him from it : whereupon he did hope they

would all fet themfelves that Way, and that he

would get Letters from Perfons of Honour
( whom I know not) that fhould perfuade him
into a good Belief of the Sects, and to take the

Covenant. After this, there was a Meeting a-

gain, I think fourteen Days after, at the IVhite-

Hart in Breadftreet, and there I met too. Jn

the Time that I was there, I did underfland there

had been a Meeting or two before, in order to

the Bufinefs; and Captain Titus did declare, he

had now again Letters from Perfons of Honour,
to fend to my Lord Piercy, and did hope they

would fet fomething a-foot amongft themfelves

of the like Confequence : for Majfey, Bunce,

and Graves could fee no Way under the Heavens

but for the King to take the Covenant, and join

with the Scots, and to engage the covenanting Par-

ty here. And to that Purpofe, he draws forth

a Paper that did purport that they were bound

in Honour and Jufbice, and Confcience, and I

think Loyalty, to maintain him in his juft

Rights, if he would go and join with the co-

P 2 venanting
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venanting Party in Scotland ; and that he had no

other way under God but that: which if he did,

they took themfelvts bound in Conference to

help him to his juft Rights. Upon this, Lieut.

Col. Bains makes objection to it, and faid, it

was a Malignant Bufinefs, and did fear there was

no good Defign in the thing ; and thereupon

they did break up. I cannot tell whether it

was fent or no, for they were afraid he would

betray the Bufinefs.

After that, I was told by Major Alford, that

Bains told them he was very forry he fhould

meddle in that Bufinefs, and that they would

never profper that had any thing to do with him,

for that the Sins of him and his Father were lb

great: whereupon they were very wary, and

afraid he would difcover the Bufinefs. And he,

I think, knew no further. After this, I did

underftand this Letter was fent to the Prince,,

and I was told fo by Major Alford, that it was

fent in the name of the fecluded Members, and

Minifters, and Citizens, and Soldiery, and No-
blemen ; I remember it fetch'd a great compafs.

Whereupon when the Prince faw this Letter,

and had it from my Lord Piercy, he ftormed at

it, and fa id, Who are thefe Noblemen, and the

rjft? What ean they do for me? Can they raife

me Ten Thoufand Men ? Whereupon there was

nothing done, but Titus retired himfelf to his

Mother's Houfe, and there lived about three

quarters of a year, and came to Town after, and

did follicit his own Bufinefs. A little after this,.

I heard (upon the Bufinefs of the Scots) that

there was another Letter fent, that did begin the

thing again, and now the Prince had confidered

of the thing, and fent over the Letter, and I

heard, that it was to the Minifters of London.

I did not fee the Letter, bun alford and Drake

told me it was fo. After this Titus was fent

away, and that with a Sum of Money, as I

heard ; who lent the Money, I cannot tell, and

what Sum I know not: but prefently after this,

I coming to Town out of the Weft in March

1649, in the beginning of March, the day of my
coming to London,, after I had been here one or

two days at moft, I met with Hollis's Man in

Flect-ftreet, I do not know his Name ; he met

me, and I asked him, what News ? He told me,

he wonder'd that I was a Stranger, and asked

him what News: Saith he, If you come to

Mr. Love'% Houfe, you fball hear News. What
is your Bufinefs there, faid I ? He faid, it was

to pray together, and to hear the News. I

went about Nine of the Clock, and Prayer was

over, and the News a great part was over : but

after I did come there, that I did hear was this;

William Drake pulled a Paper out of his Pocket,

that I underftood he had put into his pocket, or

withdrawn, becaufe of a Stranger, and after-

wards he took it out again. The Subftance of

the Paper was to this purpofe, as I remember,

it was in Characters, and pulled out of his pocket,

and by him read :
' In the name of the Com-

1 rniffioners commiffionating the Lord Willoughby
4 of Parham, Major-General Maffey, Colonel
' Graves, Captain Titus, and Alderman Bunce,
1

in order to the Treaty, in the behalf of the

* well-affected Party in England; and thefe to

* join with the Scotch Commiffioners, according

* to fuch Inftruclions that fhould be therewith

* inclofed.' And fomebody asked him, What
power have we to give fuch a Commiffion? It

was anfwered again by William Drake, That we
have the King's Command for it, and we have
likewife the Authority of fome prudent Parlia-

ment-Men, whom we look upon (faith he) beyond
the power of them that now fit. Whereupon
Mr. Love replies, Come, come, let it go ; And
after that, I knew nothing.

Attorn. Gen. Repeat that again.

Huntington. When the Queftion was asked.
What power have we to fend or give Commif-
fion ? faith Drake, We have the Command of
the King to do it; befides, we have the Authority
of fecluded Members. Whereupon Mr. Love re-

plied, Come, come, let it go.

Mr. Love. Pray ask him this one Queftion,
Were there no Speeches between William Drake's
Wards, and thefe Words he pretends were
mine? • •

Huntington. I remember none.

[Huntington withdraws, Lieut. Col. Bains is

call'd into the Court, and is fworn.]

Ld Prefident. Speak what you know of this

Bufinefs.

Bains. My Lord, concerning any thing that

came from Scotland, I never knew any thing,

nor did I ever hear any thing. For Dowgate, I
was at two Meetings at Dowgate: At the firft

Meeting there was a Perfon that I did not know,
which at the fecond Meeting I was told was
Captain Titus ; and he at that Meeting (where

there was nine, or ten, or more, or thereabouts)

he did propofc fomething to be done, in order to

the reftoring or preferring the Presbyterian Inte-

reft, by way of Application to the King, as he
called him, and did advife it to be by way of
Petition, and that he conceived to be the only

way to preferve the Presbyterian Intereft in Eng-
land ; and that way would be the way to affure

him, he had a confiderable Party in England.

And he did ufe many Arguments, as a Duty
lying upon us by our Covenant, to apply our-

felves to him, and he offered to draw up a

Draught of a Petition againft the next Meeting
to that purpofe: And he faid, it was neceffary

fomething fhould be done by fome Parliament-

Men, and fome Minifters, and fome Citizens,

that were leading Men, Men that thereby he

might be affured that he had a Party, and that

confiderable. At the next Meeting, which was
fuddenly after, he did produce a Paper, which,

as I remember, was in Short-hand ; a Petition,

which was to the Purpofe I have hinted. There

were feveral Debates, whether it fhould be figned

or not figned, and myfelf and two more dis-

liked it ; and before he read the Paper, he began

to commend the Good-nature of the King, what

good Affections he had ; and likewife did fay*

there was a neceffity fomething fhould be done to

the Queen, and Jcrmin, and Piercy, who, he

faid, were our Friends, that they fhould ftir him
up to comply with the Scotch Commiffioners.

And upon this, there was myfelf, and two more
there prefent, (I hope it fat upon them as upon
myfelt) difliked the Bufinefs; and from that time,

for my own part, I never heard any thing. The
Heads of the Petition I cannot fuddenly remem-
ber. This Paper carries the Sum and Subftance

of the Bufinefs.

[The Clerk fhews him a Paper, which he had

formerly given in.]}

Bains.
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Bains. This Paper, if it be not interlined fince,

it was of my own dictating, and writ with my
own Hand. [He looks upon the Paper.] I fee

no alterarion made at all.

Ld Pre/idem. And this you deliver upon Oath?

Bains. Yes, upon my Oath, to the beft of my
remembrance. And as to the I'rifoner, I can

fay nothing.

[Bains withdraws. Major Adams is called into

the Court and fworn.j

Ld Prcfident. Declare your Knowledge in this

Bufinefs.

Adams. Touching Alderman Bunce and Mafon,

I know fomethiug by relation touching the Cor-

refpondency with them.

Ld Prefident. Tell the manner of it.

Adams. I conceive it was carried on by

Mr. Drake, that is now abfent » and in Scotland,

by one Bailey.

Attorn. Gen. What do you know of Mafon,

and of Letters fent by him ?

Adams. Mafon I do know, and I do know he

did receive Letters.

Ld Prefident. From whom ?

Adams. He faid, from my Lord Piercy.

Attorn. Gen. To whom were thofe Letters com-

municated here?

Adams. They were communicated to Mr. Drake,

and by Mr. Drake to myfelf, and Mr. Alford,

and Capt. Potter, and Capt. Far.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Low privy to it?

Adams. I cannot fay that, my Lord.

Attorn. Gen. Were there not Letters fent to

Scotland to them, and back again hither, about

fending moderate Propofitions to the King ?

Adams. There was fuch Letters.

Ld Prefulent. Who writ them ?

Adams. That I cannot tell.

Ld Prefident. Llad Mr. Love a hand in them ?

Adams. I cannot fay he had : I cannot prove a

Negative, 1 cannot fay he had not.

Attorn, Gen. What know you of the Petition

fent to the King ?

Adams. I know nothing of it, only, I was

told of it.

Ld Prefident. Who told you of it?

Adams. I cannot, my Lord, fix it upon any

particular Man, but I believe I was told of it by

Alford, or Far, or Bains : for I was not there at

that time.

Ld Prefident. What do you know about the

Meeting at the Swan at Dowgate ?

Adams. My Lord, I was not there.

Attorn. Gen. Then, my Lord, he may tell you

what he doth know.

Adams. My Lord, upon our meeting in fome
place or other, I cannot tell where, I cannot tell

the time, nor the place, but either at the Swan
in Fijh-ftreet, or at the Swan at Dowgate, or in

Cateatcn-ftreet : in one of thefe three places, I can-

not punctually remember.

Attorn. Gen. Who was at that Meeting?
Adams. Mr. William Drake, Captain Titus,

Major Alford, Captain Far, Captain Potter, and

myfelf; and I do not know how many more,

or whether any more or no.

Ld Prefident. What pafs'd there?

Adams. It was there agreed, that Captain Ti-

tus fhould go over to Jerfey.

Attorn. Gen. What was he employed about ?

Adams. The End of his going was to endea-

vour to work an Agreement between the King
and Scots, according to the Covenant ; that was

the End that was propounded. And in order to

his going, we did agree to furnifh him with Mo-
ney for the prefent, and made fome kind of Pro-

mife to maintain him while he was out.

Attorn. Gen, What Money was he furnifhed

with ?

Adams. I cannot be punctual in that, but about

a Hundred Pounds.

Attorn. Gen. Who fhould pay it ?

Adams. I paid Twenty Pounds of it, but I

cannot tell who paid the reft.

Attorn. Gen. To whom did you pay it ?

Adams. To Mr. Drake.
Attorn Gen. My Lord, ask him whether when

this was fent to Jerfey, was there not a Return
made ?

Ld Prefident. Well, go on: There was your
Twenty Pounds gone?

Adams. This is the Subftance of what I can
fay of his going.

Attorn. Gen. Was this Twenty Pounds that

you laid out of your own, or did you collect it

of fome of the reft, or did you gather any of it

again ?

Adams. T cannot fay that I did.

Ld Prejident. Did you not?

yjdams. My Lord, I tell you the Truth, I do
not know whether I did or no ; for I remember,
it was determined that we fhould gather it at that

Meeting.

Attorn. Gen. Did not Mr. Love know of the

Collection ?

Adams. I cannot fay he did ; it may be he
might, but 1 dare not fay upon my Oath, that he
knew of it.

Attorn. Gen. Ask him what Return Titus made,
what Anfwer, and what Account he gave.

Adams. Major Alford went to Calais to meet
Titus, and Titus did fend Word that the Council
of State heard of his being there, and thereupon

defired that fomebody might be fent ever to him ;

for he had fomething to communicate, which he

could not well do by writing, and thereupon

Mr. Alford was fent.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him where the

Letter was read.

Adams. The Letter that Titus fent, was read by
Mr. William Drake.

Attorn. Gen. Where?
Adams. At his Houfe, as I think, for I cannot

certainly remember. 1 did not fay upon my Exa-
mination, that it was read any where.

Attorn. Gen. Whether were not you moved to

go?
Adams. There was fome Motion to that end, I

think in Mr. Love's Chamber.
Ld Prefident. Who moved it, and where ?

Adams. Who moved it, I cannot tell ; it was
moved, I think, in Mr. Love's, Chamber.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Love there ?

Adams. He was there ?

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love move it?

Adams. I cannot lay he did.

Ld Prefident. He will not fay it.

Adams. I cannot fay it, upon my Oath.
Attorn. Gen. My Lord, fo much he faith, That

it was moved in Mr. Love's Chamber: then he
may give you an Account of Mr. Alford'% Returrt,

and where, the Account was given.

Adams.
*
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Adams. The Return of Mr. Alford's Account

was given at Mr. Love's Houfe.

Ld Prefident. What was it ?

Adams. The Return he made in general was

by a Narrative, and a Copy of a Letter from the

King: there was with the Narrative that which

was faid to be the Copy of a Letter from the King.

Ld Prefident. What was the Subilance of that

Letter ?

Adams. The Contents of the Letter, as I re-

member, was, Firft, he exprefs'd a great deal of

Affection to the Miniftry of England in general,

and promifed great Favour when he was in a con-

dition to do it, and defired them to continue fted-

faft in the way they were in.

Attorn. Gen. Was this Letter publifhed at

Mr. Love's Study ?

Adams. It was read.

Ld Prefident. Was Mr. Love there?

Adams. Truly, to be pofitive that Mr. Love

was there, I dare not fay •, but Mr. Love was there

at that Meeting, either at the beginning or end-

ing ; but whether the Letter was read at Mr.'[Love's

Houfe, I dare not fwear. The Narrative from

Titus was a very long one, and very well drawn,

I cannot give an account of it now : the whole

of it was after this manner •, To give an account

to us of all the Tranfactions that had happened fince

his going out of England, he did give an account

of his Ufage by the Cavalier Party, that was a-

gainft the King's Agreement with the Scots, be-

caufe there was fome did incline to his Agree-

ment with them, and there was another Party was

much againft it ; and he gave a very large account

of that. After that, he went on defcribing his

Difpofition and Condition.

Attorn. Gen. This was the Subftance of the

reft. Was there not fome Propofitions for giving

of Thanks to Titus, for his fo well managing his

Affairs there ?

Adams. There was a Motion made by fome-

body.

Ld Prefident. Who made the Motion ?

Adams. I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. Was not a Hundred Pounds more

to be fent agreed upon there ?

Adams. I think fo.

Attorn. Gen. There was more Money contribu-

ted : Who agreed to lend any ?

Adams. Sir, to that Queftion, I cannot fay who
propounded it: but that there was Money fent.

Ld Prefident. Who contributed ?

Adams. 1 did my fhare.

Ld Prefident. How much was that?

Adams. As I remember, Ten Pounds ?

Attorn. Gen. To whom did you pay it, and

where did you pay it?

[Then they fhew'd him his Examination.]

Ld Prefident. Come, look upon it, and be well

advifed.

\Adams looks upon his Examination.]

Adams. I paid it to Mr. Drake, at his Father's

Shop in Cheapfide.

Attorn. Gen. Next about the Commiffion and

Inftructions to be fent, what do you know of

that ? When this Letter was read from the King,

and publifh'd in Mr. Love's Study, whether was
there not a Commiffion agreed upon, to give In-

ftructions to treat with the King at Breda ?

Adams. There was a Motion made at Mr. Love's

Houfe, that there mould be a Commiffi-

on and Inftructions drawn and fent. The Mo-

tion was made at Mr. Love's Houfe ; they were
there fpoken of.

Ld Prefident. By whom ? Who did the Dia-
logue run between ? Did Mr. Love do it ?

Adams. Truly, for my part, I did not then
take fuch fpecial Notice, that I dare at this time
upon my Oath deliver any thing pofitively againft

any particular Man ; but generally all fpake fome-
thing, as I remember.

Attorn. Gen. Was there any Debate to mend the
Inftructions ?

Adams. Truly, Sir, not as I remember.
Attorn. Gen. Did not Mr. Gibbons bring the

rough Draught of the Commiffion ?

Adams. Truly, I think he did •, as I remember
he did. I have fpoken of the Commiffion and
Inftructions that were debated then and there; and
that many of thefe Perfons, here mentioned, were
there : But that fome of them mentioned might
not be there then, is very likely.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Love there?

Adams. That he was there fome part of this

time, I am very confident.

Ld Prefident. Was it in his Study ?

Adams. It was.

Attorn. Gen. Was there a Commiffion agreed
upon to be fent ?

Adams. For the Word Agreed, I cannot tell

what to fay to it : Agreed holds forth as if a Vote
pafied.

Ld Prefident. Was there not a general Con-
fent?

Adams. Being upon my Oath, I defire to be
cautious ; for 1 muft be tender in fpeaking the
Truth in this Cafe ; and I do not know what to
make of the Word Agreed.

Ld Prefident. Was it approved of?
Adams. To my Underftanding, the Thing was

thus: That at fuch Meetings as thefe we were
not abfolutely formal, as if we had been efta-

blifhed by a Court of Juftice to act thus ; and
that there ftiould be Prefaces, and fuch Things,
or fuch Methods obferved, as that any Man un-
dertook to make a Preface either at the Begin-
ning or Conclufion; but it was fpoken to by
many Perfons, and by every Perfon fpoken to:

And in this Senfe it was agreed.

Attorn. Gen. Were there not Inftructions agreed

upon ; and all this in Mr. Love's Study?
Adams. It was fo ?

Ld Prefident. Were they not read there ?

Adams. I think they were.

Ld Prefident. Who read them ?

Adams. I cannot tell who read them •, but they
were read: And I think Mr. Drake read
them.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Contents of the

Commiffion ?

Adams. The Contents or the Subftance of the

Commiffion was to this effect : [This he reads out
of his Examination.]

« We, the Presbyterians of England, do au-
' thorize you the Lord Willougbby of Parham,
* Edward Maffey, Richard Graves^ Sylas Titus,
' and James Bunce, to affift our Brethren the
* Scotch Commiffioners in their Treaty with the
' King, according to the Inftructions annexed.'

I darejiot fwear it in thefe Words; but to

this purpofe it was. The Subftance of the In-

ftructions were to ufe all the Arguments they

could, to move the King to give the Scotch Sa-

tisfaction, and to take the Covenant: Such Ar-
guments
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guments were mentioned as the then Condition of

Affairs beft afforded, particularly how Things

flood in England at that time ; which did all of

them cry out for an Agreement, and gave them

full Power as to all Things •, and what fhould be

concluded by them, mould be confirmed by

thefe here. But I cannot fay fo •, but what Words

were, were to this purpofe, faving this Conclufi-

on, That what was concluded fhould be confirm-

ed here : I do not remember that.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not fome Debate by

what Warrant they fhould aft in this Commiffion

and Inftructions ?

Adam& There were fome fuch Words at the

Meeting.

Ld Prefident. What did Mr. Love fay ?

Adams. I cannot remember what Mr. Love did

fay ; or whether he faid any thing, or nothing at

that time: But that there were fuch Words faid, I

have faid •, but by whom, I cannot fix it upon

any particular Perfon.

Attorn. Gen. Was it not debated by what War-

rant they fhould derive Power to themfelves to

fend this Commiffion ?

Adams. There was fuch Language; but by

whom I cannot fay ; I think by William Drake.

It was becaufe the King had writ this Letter,

wherein he defired there fhould be fuch Inftrudti-

ons. There was fomething fpoken of the feclu-

ded Members; but by whom, I do not know.

There was a Propofition whether the Authority

fhould be taken from the fecluded Members, or

from fome other.

Attorn. Gen. Did not Mr. Love then fay, Come,

let it go on ?

Adams. I dare not fay fo.

Attorn. Gen. Was it not propounded at the

Meeting to write to the Queen, and to Jermin

and Piercy, for them to mediate with the King

to agree with the Scots ?

[Adams's Examination was here again read.]

Adams. My Lord, fo much of this as I think

to be true, I fhall own.
Attorn. Gen. Was not a Letter writ from

Piercy, that a confiderable Sum of Money was

fit to be fent to the King ? And what Anfwer
was given ? Was it not to be done till the King
and the Scots fhould agree, and then to raife the

Money ?

Adams. That there was fuch a Letter writ, I

muft needs acknowledge.

Attorn. Gen. Where was it read ? At Mr. Love's

Houfe?
Adams. No certainly : I only faw it in Mafon's

own Hands ; and I remember he fhewed it me.
Attorn. Gen Next, ask him whether there

was not a Letter written about Auguft laft to

fome here, that Majfey had Back-Friends in Scot-

land, r mplaining he could not be promoted there.

Adams. I did underftand there was fuch a Let-

ter ; but by what way, I do not know.
Attorn. Gen. Was not the Letter communica-

ted at Mr. Love's Houfe? And were not you
prefent when this Letter was read at Mr. Love's

Houfe, wherein Majfey complained he had Back-
Friends in Scotland?

Adams. No certainly: That Letter was not,

to my Remembrance, read there. I heard of
fuch a Letter, but faw it not.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether he
was not appointed to draw up fome Letters.

Adams. There were fome I fhould have had a

hand in drawing.

Attorn. Gen. Who were appointed with you?

Adams. As I remember, Captain Potter, Cap-

tain Majfey, and Mr. Gibbons.

Attorn. Gen. But was there no Meeting upon

it ? Was Mr. Love named ?

Adams. Mr. Love was not named.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not one Sterks, a Scotch

Agent here, that kept Intelligence from Scot-

land ?

Adams. I know there was fuch a one, we took

to be an Agent here.

Ld Prefident. Did he meet at your Meetings ?

Adams. Yes, he did meet fometimes.

Attorn. Gen. Was he at Mr. Love's Houfe at

any time ?

Adams. That he was.

Attorn. Gen. When the Act came forth for

banifhing the Scots, was there not a Collection for

his Charges? And were not you at Mr. Love's

Houfe when it was agreed to ?

Adams. I was not.

Attorn. Gen Did you contribute Money ?

Adams. I did contribute ten or twelve Shillings

;

I cannot tell which.

Attorn. Gen. What Difcourfe upon Dunbar
Fight was there from this Perfon that is already

fpoken of?

Adams. This is the Thing: if you pleafe to

help my Memory ; for there are fo many Parti-

culars in this Correfpondency, that I cannot tell

whereabouts it is I am to fpeak to ; I am very

uncertain whereabouts it is I am to fpeak to.

Ld Prefident. Speak the Certainty as it was in

your Breaft.

Adams. My Lord, if it be doubtful to me,
how can I be certain, and charge it upon my
Memory ?

Ld Prefident. Speak the Truth.

Adams. I will fpeak the Truth.

Ld Prefident. Do fo then.

[Here again Adams looks upon his Exami-
nation.]

Adams. There is fome of it I did fet down, that

I dare not own upon my Oath : I then did deliver

it fo, when I fet it down.
Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love know that this

Scotchman was the Scotch Agent ? Did you not

take notice that Mr. Love took notice of him ?

Adams. I do think he did; as far as I under-

ftand, he did.

Attorn. Gen. Did not Mr. Love generally tell

you the Caufe of the Meetings?

Adams. No, Sir.

Attorn. Gen. Did you not hear Mr. Love fay

that this Sterks was the Scotch Agent ?

Adams. I never heard Mr. Love fay fo ; but

I knew this, that by our ufual Meetings Mr. Love
did underftand him, as I did, to be the Scotch

Agent.

Attorn. Gen. How often did you meet at Mr.
Love's Houfe.

Adams. I cannot tell : It may be feven, or eight,

or ten Times : An uncertain Time.
Attorn. Gen. He was at Mr. Love's Study ?

Adams. Whether fo many Times, I know not.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him whether it

was not at Mr. Love's Study, when Money was
propounded to be raifed for Majfey and 'Titus.

Ld Prefident. Was that in Mr, Love's Study ?

Adams.



ii2 47- The Trial of Chriftopher Love g Car. II.

Mams. I cannot tell whether it was in his

Study, or in the Lower Room : I am apt to be-

lieve it was in the Lower Room.
Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Love there?

Adams. Certainly he was there.

Ld Prefident. What was the Contents of the

Letter ?

Adams. The Contents of the Letter I cannot

remember.

Attorn. Gen. Whether did it not declare the

Poverty of his Condition ? And was it not after

Dunbar Fight ?

Adams. Yes, it was.

Attorn. Gen. Was this Letter from Maffey read

at Matter Love's Houfe ? Was this for Money ?

Adams. It was.

Ld Prefident. Was it agreed for Money to be

raifed ?

Adams. If you take the Word Agreed as I for-

merly propounded, it was fo.

Attorn. Gen. How was the Money to be raifed,

and in what manner ?

Adams. It was by thofe that were privy to the

Contribution.

Attorn. Gen. Was not Mr. Love there? And
did not he write down the Sums that were to be

contributed ?

Adams. This I mutt needs fay, That Matter

Love had Papers in his Hand, and he did write

fomething ; but I did not fee what he did write :

And every Man did write that was there.

Attorn. Gen. Did not you conceive fo, That
Matter Love fummed up every Man's Sum ? Did
he put the Letter of their Names before them,

when he writ the Sums ?

Adams. I cannot fay that.

Attorn. Gen. Was not there a Letter penned by
Matter Love and Doctor Drake?

Adams. To that Queftion, I mutt: fay there

was a Letter ; but I cannot deliver it upon my
Oath that it was penn'd by Matter Love or

Doctor Drake : But it was taken to be fo ; and

I thought it was fo.

Attorn. Gen. To whom was that Letter direct-

ed ?

Adams. I cannot tell to whom,
Attorn. Gen. To whom was it declared to be

directed ? To whom was it declared to be writ-

ten ?

Adams. To the General Affembly and Kirk
of Scotland.

Ld Prefident. Was this at Mr. Love's Houfe
too?

Adams. It was fo.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Love prefent, and did

approve of it ?

Adams. Mr. Love was prefent at fome time of

this Meeting. The Reafon why I thought it

to be of Matter Love's or Doctor Drake's draw-

ing, was nothing but merely the Language of it,

it being in order to promote the Ends of the Co-
venant •, and all the whole Language was couch-

ed to that purpofe ; and taking notice of the want

of Refpect to Maffey and the Englijb, and of

their being beaten.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, this is very high : For
he tells you this Letter was approved of, and di-

rected to be fent ; and this was after Dunbar Fight,

after we were engaged in Blood.

[Here Adams read out of his Examination, as

followeth : ]
Adams, There was alfo a large Letter, in the

nature of a Declaration, penn'd by Matter Love
and Dr. Drake, and approved of by moft of the
Presbyterian Party, Minifters, and others, and
directed to the General Affembly and Kirk of
Scotland, fubferibed by none: Which contained
the Subftance of what was declared by litus and
Maffey; but durft not promife any great Sums
of Money till they appeared more confiderable,

and grew nearer Action. The Bufinefs required
higher Spirits than was for the prefent ; and the
Bufinefs required a confiderable Sum: But to

leave no Means unattempted when the Bufinefs

was feafible. [So far he reads.]

Attorn. Gen. Major Adams is now #pon his

Oath to tell you.

Adams. My Lord, as well as I remember, it

did put forth much after this fort : But I cannot
fwear it in thefe Words ; but that is the Sub-
ftance of it.

Attorn. Gen. Was not this agreed and declared

at Mr. Love's Houfe, that fuch a Letter fhould
be written to the Honourable Commitee, and to
the Kirk ?

Adams. I anfwer that, after the fame manner
as all other Things are agreed at fuch Meetings
as this is: But 1 have no ground, and do not
know why I fhould fay Matter Love and Doctor
Drake penn'd it.

\

Attorn. Gen. Ask him for the Subftance of the
Letter ; whether it were not as he hath told you

;

and whether he did not fay they could not pro-
mife a confiderable Sum of Money.

Adams. Certainly, either in that Letter, of
fome other, there was fome fuch Exprefiions.

Ld Prefident. Well, it was about that Time,
and in that Letter, or in fome other Letter, and
at Mr. Love's Houfe.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him if there was
not an Agent come from Scotland', and a way laid

at Kendal for a Correfpondency between thefe

Gentlemen here and fome of Scotland ; and whe-
ther one Groves was not fent thither.

Adams. That was fomething obfeure: That
there was fuch a Thing, I do verily believe, be-

caufe it went amongft us for a Truth ; but how
to make it out for a Truth, upon my Oath I

cannot tell.

Ld Prefident. Did Mr. Love know of it?

Adams. I do not know.
Attorn. Gen. Ask him what he knows con-

cerning Colonel Bamfield's Man coming hither.

Adams. Concerning that, I know nothing:

But I confefs I had fome Item that at that time
there was fomething found. And this is all I

can fay to that ; I cannot guefs the Time.
Attorn. Gen. Was it after the Fight at Dunbar?
Adams. Yes, that it was.

Attorn. Gen. Were the Meetings at Mr. Love's

Houfe?
Adams. I cannot fay all : But all that I know

of were.

Attorn. Gen. Ask whether upon the large Let-
ter Maffey did not write that Things were well

fettled in Scotland.

Adams. Many of thefe Things were under-

ftood fo, and taken for granted amongft us j but

I can fay no otherwife : I thought it to be fo j

but I know not.

Attorn. Gen. Were you not prefent at Mr. Love's

Houfe, when thefe Letters were read, that they

were in a hopeful Condition ?

Adams, I cannot fay fo. U
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Ld Prefident. What can you fay ?

Adams. As before, That it went for a Truth

amongft us : And that is as much as I can fay to it.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not a large Letter in-

viting your Friends to Union ?

Adams. I underftand the other Letter to be this

you propound to me now.

Attorn. Gen. Now we fpeak of a Letter from

Alderman Bunce, and others.

Adams. I cannot fpeak particularly to that -,
for

I did not fee them ; but they were told me by one

or other of thofe that were of the Correfpondency

:

And this is all I can fay.

Ld Prefident. What is the Truth? Do you

conceive it is fo ?

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, we mail not trouble him

with that. My Lord, ask him one Queftion

more: What did Mr. Love tell you, that if the

Presbyterians got the upper hand again ?

Adams. Thofe words, I think, did but amount

to this, That if the Presbyterians were in Arms

again, by the Bleffing of God, the Cavaliering

Party might be prevented from getting the day.

Ld Prefident. Who do you mean by the Cor-

refpondents ?

Adams. By Correfpondents I mean Alford, Potter,

Far, &c.

Ld. Prefident. Was not Mr. Love one of them ?

Adams. I took him to be fo, my Lord.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I pray ask him, whether

any of thefe pretended or fuppofed Letters were

ever received by me, any one of them, or that I

writ one of them, or mended one of them.

Adams. I cannot fay that ever I faw him do

any fuch Thing ; nor did I ever fee him write

any.

Ld Prefident. But you faw the Letters there ?

Adatns. That I have laid.

Mr. Love. Ask him whether I gave my Con-

fent to the fending away of this he calls a Com-
mifTion and Inftrudions, about the time of the

Treaty at Breda.

Adams. No, I will not fwear that ; and upon

my Oath I cannot.

Ld Prefident. Will you not? I will prefs you

to nothing. You faid even now, you did not

know he did fend them away, but you did fay

he was privy to them, and to the Debates of

them. Did he declare any Diffent ?

Adams. I cannot fay that.

Mr. Love. Will you ask him this Queftion ?

Whether he read the Letters that he pretends

were fent into England or Scotland, or whether

he heard them read ?

Ld Prefident. That he fwears.

Adums. I did not fwear that thefe were the Con-

tents of them exadlly : 1 was there when thefe

Letters were read.

Mr. Love. He only heard them read.

Ld Prefident. If there were half a fcore that

had Correfpondency, and received Letters, and

come together, and one of the moft confiding

Men read them ; will any Man fay that he will

not believe thefe were right read ? Such a Hear-

fay as this, is fuch a Hear-fay as you may take

notice of.

Mr. Love. But let him prove how it was a

Correfpondency on my part.

Adams. I did not fay that Mr. Love was one

of the Correfpondents ; 1 deny that I faid fo : I

faid I conceived him to be fo ; but that is not

that he was fo.

Vol. II.

Ld Prefident. They did debate together, and
met together, and received Inftruclions ; and
therefore he may very aptly conceive he was a

Correfpondent.

Mr. Love. Doth he fwear that I affented ?

Adams. I did not fwear fo.

Mr. Love. He faith Money was fent to titus

;

pray ask him whether by Agents I employed.
Adams. I cannot fay fo.

Mr. Love. Here is no Proof at all that ever I

received Letter, or writ or fent any Letter.

Pray ask him if I knew before they came to my
Houfe, that they would bring fuch Letters with
them. Do you fwear that i was prefent in the

Room at the time that the Letters after the De-
feat at Dunbar were fent, wherein there was, as

you fay, a Promife of Afiiftance?

Adams. You were there fome part of the-

while.

Mr. Love. Ask him whether he was not
threaten'd with Death in cafe he would not, and
promifed Favour in cafe he would, bring in Evi-
dence againft me.

Adams. I cannot fay I was threaten'd with
Death to that end.

Mr. Love. I fhall bring a Witnefs that fhall

prove from his own Mouth, that he hath con-
fefs'd, If he did not bring in Evidence againft
me, he fhould be hanged.

Adams. It is true, Percival did come to me,
and I did fay to him, That upon Examination, I

did fay, if I were not ingenuous, I was threaten'd
to be hanged.

Attorn. Gen. When a Man Is a Traitor, and
doth confefs he deferves Mercy.

Mr. Love. Ask him whether he hath not re-

ceived Money to give in this Information againft

me.

Adams. I have not.

Mr. Love. Did not fome Meffenger come to

you, fome Months ago, from fome Members of
the Council of State, and told you you were
poor, and fhould be ruined if you did not con-
fefs it? He had three Meffengers fent unto him
from the Council of State, or fome of them,
that told him, If he would not confefs, he fhould
be ruined.

Attcm. Gen. Did you receive Money, or were
there Promifes made to you, to teltify againft

Mr. Love?
Adams. Upon my Oath I did not.

Mr. Love. Hath he never come to Mr. Scot's

Chamber? Did he not come a Month before I

was committed, being brought there by Major
Cobbet? And whether he hath not received Mo-
ney from Major Cobbet? I defire that Major Cob-
bet may be called upon his Oath, to know whether
he hath not given him Money to bring in Infor-
mation againft me : For he hath taken notice of
all Fafts, and of all Things done, and hath
brought all to Mr. Scot. I know, by Informa-
tion, that this Adams is a hired Witnefs. Sir, this

Man is a 'Tobiah and a Sanballat : Some Men have
hired this Man againft me. I defire Major Cobbet

may be called.

Ld Prefident. He did, and might do it: But
did he it to tcftify againft Mr. Love? I hope a

State, that watches the Nation, may watch for the

Safety of a Nation.

[Mr. Cobbet, a Major of the Army, is called

into the Court, and is fworn ]

Q_ Mr.
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Mr. Love. Pray ask him whether he hath not

at any time, within this three Months, given

any Money to Major Adams, to acquaint Mr. Scot,

or the Council of State, with this Dcfign, as 'tis

called.

Major Cobbet. My Lord, I muft and do deny

that which this Gentleman doth aver: And truly

I wonder at his Boldnefs, in the Prefence of this

Honourable Court. I do know Major Adpms,

and have known him a long while •, and commi-
ferating him, as being a Prifoner, 1 lent him ten

Pounds ; but for no confederation that he fhould

betray Mr. Love, or any Man. I paid the Mo-
ney to his Wife.

Mr. Love. He paid it, he faith •, how then did

he lend it? And he paid it to his Wife: That
was to cover the Bribery. But did not you dis-

cover to this Man, if he would reveal it to

Mr. Scot, what Recompence he fhould have of

him? Did not you, walking in the Fields with

him, defire him to reveal what he knew ; and

promifed him if he did, he fhould be a Man pre-

ferred ?

Major Cobbet. I have been acquainted with

Major Adams this four or five Years, and met
with him in the behalf of the Presbyters, un-

derftanding there was fomething was driven on
dangerous to the Commonwealth •, and I thought

I was bound in Duty to requite them, if it were
poffible, for their Pains of Difcovery. And I

laboured with him that he would deal fo honeft-

ly with himfelf and the Commonwealth ; as to

let the Commonwealth know what he did know
of this Defign. Accordingly he gave me fome
notice ; and I faid to him, Major Adams, if I

find you ingenuous, if there be any thing that I

can do for you, I fhall be ready to ferve you by
Night and by Day.

Mr. Love. It appears then that the ten Pounds
was not lent to Major Adams, but was paid him
for his Difcovery: So that 'tis clear he is a

hired Witnefs. And have you not brought him
to Mr. Scot's Chamber with Promifes of Pre-

ferment ?

[No Anfwer to that Queftion.]

[The Lieutenant of the Tower is commanded
to withdraw his Prifoner ; and the Court

adjourns till to-morrow.]

Thefecond Days Proceedings, July the 2 \ft,

1651.

TH E Court being fat, Colonel Weft, Lieute-

nant of the Tower, was commanded to bring

forth his Prifoner ; and Mr. Love was brought

to the Bar.

Mailer Jaquel was called into the Court, and
the Clerk tendered him his Oath ; and Mr. Jaquel
fpake to the Court to this purpofe

:

That there were many Oaths abroad, and he

could not tell what to fay to them ; and he de-

fired to be excufed. The Lord Prefident told

him that he could not be excufed. Mr. Jaquel

faid he was a Prifoner, accufed of the fame Of-

fences that Mr. Love was accufed of; and that

he conceived he was not a competent Witnefs

againfl him. The Court again prefs'd him to

take his Oath, Mr. Jaquel faid that he durft not

in Confcience fwear againfl Mr. Love ; and there-

fore defired it might not be prefs'd upon him.

The Court ftill perfifted in it, that he muff take

his Oath, and witnefs what he knew. He an-
fwered, he would fpeak the Truth of what he
knew, as well as if he was under an Oath. The
Court told him that that could not be; for if he
did not fwear, what he fhould fay could not be
received as any thing in matter of Evidence.
Mr. Jaquel flill perfifted in his Refufal. When
the Court faw he could not be otherwife pre-
vailed with, they fined him five hundred Pounds
for refufing to fwear. And Mr. Jaquel, after he
was withdrawn out of the Court, was called in

again, and prefs'd to take his Oath; and was
told that the Court had fined him five hundred
Pounds for refufing to fwear ; and again asked
him whether he would fwear. Mr. Jaquel then,

when the Oath was read to him, did not fwear
in that manner as the other WitnefTes did, but
only put his Hand to his Buttons. And when
Mr. Love asked him whether he was under an
Oath, he anfwered that he was as good as under
an Oath. But the Court not being iatisfied with
that Anfwer, prefs'd him further ; and then he did
fay he was fworn, and was under Oath.

Ld Prefident. Declare now what you know of
this Bu±;;:efs.

Mr. Jaquel. My Lord, for the Paper I wag
examined about, as for knowing Titus, I never
faw him in my Life but one quarter of an Hour
in a private Houfe, and I knew nothing of his

Bufinefs any where. For the other, Alford com-
ing over wiih Letters, I was at Mr. Love's Houfe,
and when I was there, there were feveral Men
there.

Attorn. Gen. In what part of Mr. Love's Houfe?
Jaquel. I conceive in his Chamber ; for I went

up to feveral that were there, whofe Names I
can pofitively fay, for two or three of them,
though I cannot remember the other abfolutely,

though I conceive moft I have named in my Ex-
amination were there; Capt. Potter was there,

and Doctor Brake and Major Alford, and
Mr. Love was there fometimes, though divers
times he went out, fome coming to fpeak with
him.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not a Copy of a Letter*

faid to be fent from the King, read there?

Jaquel. I remember no fuch thing.

Attorn. Gen. Was there not a Narrative?

Jaquel. Yes, from Titus, wherein he declared

the King's Inclinations to make peace with the

Scots, but that his wicked Counfel about him did
hinder it.

Attorn. Gen. Was not this of what Titus had
related from Jerfey, the Narrative of what had
pafs'd between him and the King there?

Jaquel. I think it was.

Attorn. Gen. Was not Major Alford fent to re-

ceive an Account from him at Calais?

Jaquel. William Drake did tell me fo afttr-

wards.

Attorn. Gen. Did Major Alford deliver no Ac-
count there ?

Jaquel. I think it was Major Alford read the

Narrative.

Attorn. Gen. Did he make no relation by word
of Mouth?

Jaquel. Truly I cannot remember.

Attorn. Gen. You cannot remember it was
read ?

Jaquel. Yes, I am fure it was read, and at

Mr. Love's Houfe.

Attorn.



1 65 1. H.C.J. for High-Treafoa 115

Attorn. Gen. And he was prefent fometimes?

Jaquel. Yes, fometimes.

Attorn. Gen. What Money was there agreed

upon to be provided for Titus ?

Jaquel. I know of none : it was moved by

Captain Potter, that there might be forty Pounds,

but I know of none, nor was it agreed by

Mr. Love, Mr. Drake, ormyfelf, that we fhould

lay down any at all.

Attorn. Gen. Did you not meet with William

Drake, and defire to go along with him to fee Titus ?

Jaquel. I did fo, but I think Drake defired it

:

I met him in Newgate-Market, and, faith he,

I am going to fee Titus, go along with me. I

faid I never faw him, nor did I know him : Says

he, You mail not flay at all. Whereupon he

went and found him in a Cheefemonger's Hotife

in Newgate-Market.

Attorn. Gen. What Difcourfe had you ?

Jaquel. He faid he was newly come out of

Holland, and he had been with the King, and

he was a Man of excellent Parts for his Years

;

and that he was inclinable to what was good, but

that he had fuch defperate evil Counfel about

him ; and that he did much pity him, and that

his Clergy efpecially was wicked : and he pro-

pounded nothing to us, nor did I ever fee his

Face afterwards; and this is about two Years and

a half ago. And for any other Meetings at the

Swan-Tavern, or for any Agents, I never met

him, or faw him.

Attorn. Gen. Do you not remember at any

Meeting, that there was Money propounded for

Captain Titus, or for Alford's being fent over to

Calais ? Speak what you know of that, and by

whom it was told you.

Jaquel. Major Alford himfelf told me he was

to meet his Son, and he went over upon that

fcore •, but after he was gone, William Drake told

me he was gone to fee or meet Captain Titus, I

am not certain of the Words : and when he did

come again, which was the next time I heard of

him, then William Drake comes to me, and defired

me to go along with him, for I think he went

up and down to every Man.
Attorn^ Gen. You think then that William Drake

was the prime Man.
Jaquel. Yes, he was the Actor and Agent

that moved all.

Attorn. Gen. When Alford returned, he defired

you to go with him ?

Jaquel. To Mr. Love's Houfe.

Attorn. Gen. What was done at Mr. Love's

Houfe?
Jaquel. There were fome Papers read, which

Alford, as I take it, read, or William Drake, I

am not certain which ; but read it was of a re-

lation," that Titus *came out of Jerfey, and had
feen the King there, and the Scotch Commiffio-
ners ; and that the King had a great Inclination

to agree with the Scotch Commiffioners, and that

he was a Man of excellent Inclinations and Parts,

and had a great Defire to agree ; but his Coun*
fel, and wicked Crew about him, would not let

him : and he faid, as I remember, That the King
was a kind of a Prifoner with them there, and
faid, his Counfel did hinder him, or elfe, if he
were from them, he would agree with the Scotch

Commiffioners.

Attorn. Gen. You fay this Paper was read, this

Narrative was read in Mr. Love's Houfe j was not
Mr. Love prefent?

Vol. II.

Jaquel. I am not able to fay he was : when I

came in, I remember he was not in the Room s

and he was there two or three times while I was
there, but he was feveral times called out.

Attorn. Gen. Do not you know there Was
an Agreement of a Letter written back to Ti-

tus?

Jaquel. I can remember no fuch things but I

think William Drake told me fo, as I remember,
but that was two Years ago, 1 do verily believe

by what I conceived, was of his writing.

LdPrefident. I could wifh that Mens Confid-

ences could not be fcrupled to believe fo much
of a Minifter, more than of a Magistrate j 1 hold

it pernicious Doctrine for any Man to think he is

bound more to obey the Minifter than the Ma-
gi ftrate : 1 ask you then before the Magiftrate here,

who was prefent at that Meeting ?

Jaquel. William Drake, I am fure, and Major
Alford was there, and Captain Potter, and feve-

ral others, as I remember, Mailer Jenkins.

Attorn. Gen, This was in Mr. Love's Houfe,
was it not in his Study ?

Jaquel. I cannot tell that. I fay as I conceive,

that Mafler Jenkins and Matter Cafe were there,

but pofitively I cannot fay it ; and Mr. Jackfon

and Mr. Nalton, I think.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you of Mr. Watfon?

Jaquel. I think he was there.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you of Mr, Herring ?

Jaquel. I think he was.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you of Mr. Cauton ?

Jaquel. In truth I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you of Mr. Robinfon?

Jaquel. I think he was.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you of Mr. Drake?
Jaquel. Yes.

Attorn. Gen. Was Colonel Vaughan there ?

Jaquel. Yes, I conceive he was there.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Jackfon there ?

Jaquel. Yes.

Attorn. Gen. Were Captain Tar and Captain

Potter there?

Jaquel. I believe fo.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Gibbons there?

Jaquel. I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen. What fay you of Mr. Sterks ?

Jaquel. No, Sir, I do not know it.

Attorn. Gen. Did you not know him to be the

Scotch Agent? Was he not taken among you to

be an Agent from Scotland?

Jaquel. Yes, he was a Scotchman.

Attorn. Gen. And for Contribution of Moneya

what Money did you pay, and to whom?
Jaquel. Two five Pounds to Mr. Drake.

Attorn. Gen. For what Ufe?

Jaquel. For charitable Ufes.

Attorn. Gen. Then he asked it of you fo, or

for that purpofe •, but afterwards, what did you
learn it was employed about ?

Jaquel. Sir, he did not tell me how he did em-
ploy this Money ; but afterwards I heard him fay,

that he had fent Titus Money.
Attorn. Gen. What did you contribute to Sterks's,

going into Scotland?

Jaquel. Ten Shillings.

Attorn Gen. And who elfe did contribute, tha£

was there? And how much was the Sum that

was collected ?

Jaquel. I cannot tell.

Attorn. Gen, How much do you guefs, or

have heard ?

Q_2 JaqusL
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Jaquel. Four or five Pounds I think.

Attorn. Gen. Ask him, who gave the Scotch-

men Money?
Jaquel. Truly, • I did give feveral Scotchmen

Money, both to poor Minifters, and others that

were banifhed by the Aft, becaufe I knew they

were very poor, and knew not how to get away ;

and I did it out of Charity towards them.

Ld Prefident. Becaufe the State had an ill Opi-

nion of them, therefore you had a good Opinion

of them.

Jaquel. There was one Minifter that had twelve

Children that was banifhed.

Attorn. Gen. Were you at any Meetings at

Mr. Love's after Dunbar Fight ?

Jaquel. No, not I.

Attorn. Gen. At what Fafts were you at ? And
who officiated at thofe Fafts ?

Jaquel. I was at Major Adams's and Colonel

Barton's.

Attorn. Gen. Who did exercife at thofe Fafts ?

Was Mr. Love, Mr. Jenkins, Mr. Cafe, any of

them?

Jaquel. I believe they were, I conceive fo, I

profefs I cannot remember ; I believe Mr. Jen-

kins was there.

Attorn. Gen. Was not Mr. Love one of them ?

Jaquel. Yes, he was.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Occafion of thofe

Fafts?

Jaquel. I know no particular Occafion, but

for the Good of the two Nations.

Attorn. Gen. How do you know they were

for the Good of the two Nations ? Was it not

for an Agreement between the King and the

Scots ?

Jaquel. I confefs it was for the Good of both

Nations, as both Nations are the Church of God,

and do both profefs themfelves Proteftants, and

of one Religion ; and I conceived it was my Du-
ty to pray for the Good of them both.

Attorn. Gen. But was there not fome Expreffi-

ons for a Bleffing upon the Treaty at Breda?

Jaquel. I cannot remember fuch Exprefiions ;

for in fuch Duties I defire to have my Heart lift-

ed up unto God : And, my Lord, it is a great

while ago.

Ld Prefident. Will you fay your Heart is lifted

up unto God, when your Underftanding is in your

Heels?

Jaquel. My Lord, I do not remember one
Paflage in Prayer a Week after.

Attorn. Gen. That is in ordinary Meetings,

but this is for both Nations : but by what did you
know that this was for the Good of both Na-
tions, and why was it pretended to be for the

Good of both? And, my Lord, why they fhould

not meet before, but juft at that time, and at a

private Faft ?

Jaquel. I think, that fince the Nations of Eng-
land and Scotland were at odds, I have been at

twenty Fafts.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, ask him, Whether he

were not late with Potter, and did not meet with

him about Letters from Bamfield, and whither

they went to read them ?

Jaquel. This was about February or March
laft, he told me he received Letters, and defired

me to go along with him to Mr. Love's, and
after Dr. Drake came in, and then thefe Let-

ters were read i and I profefs I know not from
whence they came, nor the Manj and fo did

Mr. Love declare, That he never faw, nor knew,
nor heard of Bamfield before.

Attorn. Gen. Did he not make mention of Par-

ties in Scotland, That one Party was for the King,
and another for the King and Kirk, and a third

neither for King nor Kirk ?

Jaquel. Yes.

Attorn. Gen. But who were thofe he named,
that were Men for the King ?

Jaquel. I think Hamilton, and his Party.

Attorn. Gen. And who for the King and Kirk ?

Jaquel. Argyle and Lefley.

Attorn. Gen. And who neither for King nor
Kirk?

Jaquel. Straughan and Car.

Attorn. Gen. What did he tell you of the young
King's efcaping?

Jaquel. Something there was in that, but he was
fetch'd back again.

Attorn. Gen. What faid he of Argyle ?

Jaquel. Nothing at all, as I remember.
Attorn. Gen. Was there not an Expreffion,

That they were now agreed to receive in the whole
Nation, unlefs it were thofe that were notorioufly

fcandalous and excommunicated?

Jaquel. I believe there was.

Attorn. Gen. Did it not mention five thoufand
Pounds for providing of Shipping?

Jaquel. Yes, in the Narrative or Letter,

whether there related at that time, I know not.

Attorn. Gen. And what mention was there made,
who were fit to command in England, if that Par-

ty fhould come from thence into England?
Jaquel. I conceive there were three Noblemen.
Attorn. Gen. Name them.

Jaquel. My Lord of Suffolk, my Lord of
Warwick, and my Lord of Manchefter, or either

of them.

Attorn. Gen. That was propounded by Bamfield,

but I hope thofe Lords were more noble than to

do any fuch thing. Was there not another Let-
ter that came with that of Bamfield's, fent by my
Lord Argyle, and it was only, That there fhould

be an Approbation of him ? And was this Let-

ter likewife read at the fame Time, and at the fame
Place?

Jaquel. Yes, my Lord.

Attorn. Gen. What was then propounded for

Money to be raifed for Bamfield?

Jaquel. Truly, Captain Potter did make men-
tion for forty Pounds to be raifed, ten Pounds
for Colonel Bamfield's Man, and thirty Pounds
for Bamfield himfelf: but that Bufinefs at the

reading was wholly declined, and abfolutely re-

filled by all, to aft any thing in that relation in

which it was fent over. Whereupon Captain Pot-

ter did move, That if nothing .were done in that,

whether it were not convenient to fend the Mef-
fenger fomething to bear his Charges : fays he,

If you will pay the Meffenger ten Pounds, and
fend Bamfield thirty Pounds, I will give the Mef-
fenger the ten Pounds. But there was no Agree-

ment, nor Conclufion I know of, no Bill of Ex-
change was fent, but Captain Potter faid he would
lay down ten Pounds.

Attorn. Gen. But no body fpake againft Cap-
tain Potter's laying down of ten Pounds ; and it

was propounded to you to lend ten Pounds, and

you laid, you would confider of it : But did Pot-

ter lend it ?

Jaquel. I cannot tell that, my Lord, he faid

he would do it.

Attorn,
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Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let now Mafter Jaquel

tell you what was the Caufe why they did refufe

to do any thing in the Letter about five thoufand

Pounds ; what was the Caufe upon the Debate

between you at Mr. Love's Houfe, why you did

refufe to do any thing about the five thoufand

Pounds?

Jaquel. The Debate was foon over, for we
abfolutely refufed it, we would not meddle in it,

not liking the bufinefs ; it was a Trouble, 1 am
confident, to them that heard it read.

Attorn. Gen. You do not remember that ever

any body did acquaint the Magiftrate with the

Defign in working from Scotland?

Jaquel. No, not I.

Attorn. Gen. Did not fome fay, that Bamfield

was a Malignant ?

Jaquel. I cannot tell, but I never heard of him

before.

Attorn. Gen. Were you not told he was a Ca-

valier, and of the King's fide, and that that was

the true Reafon why they would not truft him ?

Jaquel. I do not remember any fuch thing.

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love agree for ten Founds

for Bamfield's Man, and thirty Pounds for Bam-

field?

Jaquel. No, I cannot fay fo.

Attorn. Gen. Did not Major Alford tell you,

upon his Return from Calais, That he was fent

thither to take an account from thence ?

Jaquel. He did not, but William Drake did

tell me that he was gone to Calais to fpeak with

Captain Titus.

Attorn. Gen. And to take an account of the

Tranfadtion of Jerfey.

Jaquel. Truly, Sir, I cannot fay that; but

William Drake told me he was gone thither to

fpeak with Titus : and this is above two Years ago

that William Drake told me fo.

Attorn. Gen. To what end ?

Jaquel. To tell and hear News.
Attorn. Gen. What did he do more ?

Jaquel. I profefs in the Prefenceof God, I can-

not tell, Sir, I befeech you ; for in the Paper,

I told you before, there were fomeCircumftances,

and fomething that I cannot fay ; but it was to

this purpofe, To fpeak with Titus, to hear the

News from Jerfey ; but I cannot fay certainly

that Word.
Attorn. Gen. We do not prefs you to the

Word, but to the EfFedfc of it : My Lord, I

think Mr. Jaquel hath given an account already,

that this Relation was at Mr. Love's Houfe.

Mr. Jaquel, let me bring one thing to your Re-
membrance, if it be true : At your Meeting at

Mr. Love's Houfe upon this bufinefs of Bamfield's

Narrative, you fay, thirty Pounds was moved to be

fent to Bamfield, and ten Pounds to his Man.
Jaquel. Yes, by Captain Potter.

Attorn. Gen. And when it was then faid, it

was thought fit by Mr. Love, Mr. Drake, and
Captain Potter, that it fhould be fo done

;

whether did you not all agree it mould be fo

done ?

Jaquel. No, there was no Agreement, but it

was thought convenient, or to that purpofe.

Attorn. Gen. It was thought convenient by all

the Company prefent ?

Jaquel. Truly, Sir, there was not much re-

gard taken in that bufinefs, nor was there much
done •, for we did not ftay long, but there were
fuch Words.

Attorn. Gen. But by all prefent?

Jaquel. Yes, there were fuch Words.
Attorn. Gen. Whether were not fome Friends

at Dinner at Dowgate, and was not Mafon there ?

Jaquel. My Lord, there was a Gentleman there,

I cannot fay who he was, nor did I fee him be-

fore or fince.

Attorn. Gen. Who did they tell you he was?
Did they not tell you Mafon?

Jaquel. 1 profefs I cannot remember that, nor
can 1 tell, but I conceive it was fo.

Attorn. Gen. In your Examination you fay ic

was Mafon?
Jaquel. I faid, I conceived fo.

Attorn. Gen. Why did you believe fo?

Jaquel. I cannot tell, but as I remember,
William Drake told me fo.

Attorn. Gen. Whether when BamfieWs Letter

came, and the Letters from my Lord of Argyle,

Lowdon, and others came, was there not a Let-

ter from Bailey?

Jaquel. I do not remember, my Lord.
Attorn. Gen. Nor from the General Affembly?
Jaquel. I do not remember any fuch thing.

Attorn. Gen. Bethink your felf, you are upon
your Oath, whether he that brought the Letters

from Bamfield, did not bring Letters from Bailey,

and from the General Affembly ?

Jaquel. I cannot remember there was any fuch

thing fpoken of there.

Attorn. Gen. Was there no Expreflion of Let-

ters of Thanks for the good Affection of the

Presbyterian Party here, and Encouragement to

perfevere ?

Jaquel. I do not remember any fuch thing.

Attorn. Gen. Were there no Promifes, that

when they by their Endeavours fhould get a free

Parliament in England, that they would reimburfe

all that was laid out ?

Jaquel. I do remember no fuch thing.

Mr. Love. I would ask him fome Queftions

;

and the firft is, Whether he hath fpoken this as

a mere Relation, or whether he owns all this he

hath fpoken, as under an Oath ?

Attorn. Gen. We are paft that, my Lord, he

did fay, he was under an Oath.

Mr. Love. If he fay fo, I am concluded.

[Mr. Jaquel made no Anfwer to this.]

Ld Prefident. You have asked two Queftions ;

in a few Words : For the firft, Whether he fpake

it under an Oath? You know that time was
fpent to declare it before he began : if you ask of
his own knowledge, you miftook it •, for he faith

fomething he hath by Relation, and fome that

he knows. This he hath taken notice of, what

fhould we further examine over the fame thing ;

for he faith fome of his own Knowledge, fome

by Relation from particular Parties, and fome
from Parties he calls not now to mind ; and it

was declared by the Court, that he was a Witnefs,

and the Court accepted him.

Mr. Love. I defire yourLordfhip to ask him this

Queftion, Whether the fuppofed Narrative that he

fpeaks of, that Alford faid he brought over, and

read at my Houfe, was read at my Houfe ; or

only by Alford, and fo brought over as News ?

Jaquel. In truth, my Lord, I cannot tell that.

Mr. Love. He fpeaks of Sterks a Scotchman ; I

defire your Lordfhip to know whether he knows,

or can affirm by the Oath you fay he hath taken,

that he was a Scotch Agent.

[No Anfwer to that Queftion,]

Mr.
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Mr. Love. Sir, ask him this Queftion ; he men-
tions a Faft at Major Adams's* or Col. Barton's

and that for the Good of both Nations, becaufe

he thought they were the Church of God ; whe-

ther there was any Intimation in that Meeting,

that it was under this Notion, for the Good of

both Nations ; whether that Meeting was for the

Scotch Nation to invade the Englijh Nation ?

[No Anfwer to that Queftion.]

Mr. Love. He faid (if I have taken him rightly,

and if not, I defire your Notaries to inform me
better) that Mr. Love did not agree to fuch a

Sum as Forty Pounds, and afterwards he faid,

that all there faid it was convenient ; Now I would

ask how thefe two can agree together ?

Ld Prefident. You are right ; for the thing of

Agreement he difclaimed totally.

Mr. Love. Then I did not agree to it.

Ld Prefident. No, nor any elfe.

Mr. Love. But afterwards he fays, that they

did conceive it was convenient, now I pray ask

him, how he knew that I thought it was con-

venient?

Jaquel. I cannot fay any thing that Mr. Love
did fay it was convenient; but it was not dif-

fented from nor fpoken againft by any, as I re-

member.

[Mr. Jaquel withdraws. Col. Barton is called

into the Court, and is fworn.]

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let Colonel Barton tell

you what he knows of the Meeting at the Swan
at Dowgate.

Col. Barton. My Lord, I was there a little

while after the Death of the late King. I was

going into Cannon-Street* and met with William

Drake-* he defired me to go with him to the

Swan at Dowgate. I told him I had a little

Bufinefs in Cannon-Street, and I would be there

by and by. I (laid about half an hour about my
Bufinefs, and went then to the Swan at Dow-
gate* and there was to my bed remembrance (for

pofitively I cannot fay) William Drake* and one

a Stranger, Major Huntington* and Lieut. Col.

Bairn* and there was one Capt. Titus* as was faid,

and Major Alford* and I do not remember who
elfe were there. My Lord, at that time truly I

was under a Defect in my Hearing, and fincc

that I have loft an Ear, through a huge Heat,

and Cold taken. But, my Lord, I not coming
but to the middle of the Difcourfe, they had, and

not perfectly hearing, could not well judge of

their Difcourfe: But afterwards I asked William

Drake* what the Intent of the Meeting was?

He told me, that their Intentions were to make
fome AddrefTes or Applications (fome fuch word
it was) unto the Prince, to take him off from
his malignant or evil Counfel about him, and to

put him upon fuch as would be honefter and
better Counfellors. And this is the Subftance of

what I then underftood from William Drake.

My Lord, I think two or three days afterwards,

I know not which, there was a Meeting again

at the White-Hart in Bafing-lane-end at the

corner of Bread-Street. There were, I think,

moft of them that I have named at the firft

Meeting : I am fure William Drake was there,

and Captain Titus* and Lieut. Col. Bains* and

Major Huntington* I cannot tell whether Mr.
Alford was there or no, but thefe I am fure were

there. I did not come to the beginning of that

Meeting neither, the Paper had been read before

I came in, to my beft remembrance : but I asked
William Drake what was the meaning of that

Meeting ? He told me, it was to the fame effect

that they fpake of before ; and they had Thoughts
to fend fomebody over to the Prince, to per-

fuade him from that Condition. A while after

I met with Lieut. Col. Bains* and truly I did
ask him more fully of the Circumftances of that

Meeting: he told me fomething, that they in-

tended to make ufe of my Lord Piercy and Jermin*
and thofe about the Prince, which he difliked.

Truly, my Lord, it troubled me extremely, to

think that they mould make ufe of fuch ill In-
ftruments to perfuade the King, and I faid, I

thought it was not well. And the next time I

faid to William Drake* you have not done well,

for it is not a Chriftian Way we take, to make
ufe of fuch Men as thefe to perfuade with the

King ; for do you think that my Lord Piercy and
Jermin* and thofe Men, will ever perfuade the

King to leave themfelves, and their own Coun-
fels ? So he put me off, and from that time he
was a little more fhy of me. Afterwards he did

fecretly and cunningly get from me Ten Pounds,
and came under a pretence to fupply a Friend in

neceffity ; and I faid to him, you have Money
of your own. Says he, I have not fo much as I

muft needs fupply him with ; and he could not

do it of himfelf, for fear it mould be mifs'd. My
Lord, I asked him what Friend it was. Nay,
faith he, you cannot know that, and you cannot

have it till he is in a Condition. To tell you
truly, he had been a good Cuftomer to me, both

for himfelf and Friends, and I was loth to deny
him it, fuppofing I fhould have it again. I after-

wards did not, to my knowledge, meddle or

make at any Meeting; I was never at any of
thofe Meetings after the Bufinefs at Bafing-lane,

becaufe I difliked them; but afterwards I did

fuppofe that this Ten Pounds was for Captain

Titus* for I did put it to him, and faid, I am
afraid you did furnifh Titus with that Ten Pounds.

What then, faid he? Then I fhall require it

again of you. So he put me off and run out of
the Land. My Lord, for any other Meetings,

Tranfa&ions, or Knowledge of any other thing

from the time of the Meeting in Bafing-lane* I

know none. For the Prifoner at the Bar truly

I do not remember, and I am confident I was
never at his Houfe in my life, nor changed one

word with him.

Attorn. Gen. Did you meet with Titus in Fket-

ftreet ?

Barton. I did, my Lord, and I asked him
whether the King that was dead, (for I knew
he was much about the King, becaufe I had
heard it;) and I asked him, 1 fay, whether the

King was a Man of thofe Parts he was reported

to be. Titus told me, not only of his Parts, but

Virtues. Truly I fufpected then, that Titus was
not the Man he feem'd to be, and I feared he

was a Cavalier in his Heart ; and truly that did

occafion me, with the diflike of others, to leave

their Company.
Attorn. Gen. There were fometimes private

Fafts at your Houfe ; what was the Occafion of

them, and who fpoke to you for them ?

Barton. My Lord, I do not remember the Party

that fpake to me, I am not certain whether it

were Mafter Vicars* but cannot pofitively fay

it, or whether it were by Sir Matthew Brand,
or
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or by whom they defired to meet ; they met in a

Room at my Houfe, to humble themfelves before

the Lord : and I cannot fay any thing of the Fait,

becaufe I had Cuftomers, and I did think 1 was

bound to ferve my Calling ; and I was not there

above half an hour, and it was up and down, off

and on." There were divers Minifters, who did

gxercife at that time.

Attorn. Gen. Who did exercife at that time?

Barton. 1 was, not there much of the time, but

I think Mr. Jenkins, and to my beft remembrance}

Mr. Love was there ; there was Mr. Tate the Par*

liament-Man, to my beft remembrance: I think

Mr. Jaqiiel was there, and there was Sir Matthew

Brand.

Attorn. Gen, What other Minifters were

there ?

Barton. I think Mr. Cafe, and to my bed re-

membrance Mr. Robinfon ; but I am not certain.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Occafion of your

Fafts, and at your Houfe?

Barton. I knew no Occafion, becaufe I was not

there ; but 1 have heard a Servant of my Houfe,

who was there, give this Relation. Mr. Jenkins

began in this manner; O Lord, thou knowejt we

are not met to put up Complaints againji any, but

to humble ourfelv^s before the, and to fray that

the Sins of the Land may be pardoned. But I do

not remember there was any Word, but for the

pardoning the Sins of the Nation.

Attorn. Gen. Was there no Sins named in par-

up
and I cannot fay, he was more acquainted with

Mr. Love than any other Minifter.

ticular?

Barton

Attorn.

[Captain Far is called into Court,

fworn.]

and

My Lord, I do not remember.

Gen. My Lord, ask him whether any

body hath been with him, to call for any Money

for any Parties beyond Sea \ for Maffey, or any

others.

Barton. I (hall give you a true Narrative of

that. I underftood, my Lord, that after the

Prifoners that were taken at Dunbar were come

down the River, there were divers Citizens,

both Men and Women, that came to fee them,

and made a Relation of their Mifery to be fuch,

as I have not heard ; and there was one among

the reft, that faid there was a piece of Meat

reached down among the Prifoners, and two or

three catching at it, it fell down among the

Dung, and they took it up, and eat it. There

were divers did move for a Contribution to

them, and it was a pretty while before I did

contribute any thing: there was Captain Far

with me, and defired me to give him fome

Money, and he did not propofe the Ule ; but to

my beft remembrance, it was either for chari-

table Ufes, or for fome in mifery. Now I was

loth to ask him for whafe charitable Ufe, becaufe

I did not defire to be known to give fuch a Sum
of Money to the Scotch Prifoners. 1 had a little

Money which I had devoted to charitable Ufes

irj my own purpofe: When the Parliament grant-

ed my Petition for re-imburung the Money I lent,

I did promife Fifty Pounds to charitable Ufes •,

and this, I confefs, I did intend for the Scotch

Prifoners, but was loth to ask him, becaufe I

would not be thought charitable to your Enemies ;

but did it not under that relation.

Attorn. Gen. Mr. Jaquel, you know William

Drake and Mr. Love very well, do you not know
that Mr. Drake and Mr. Love were very familiar-

ly acquainted?

Jaqyel, I tnuft needs fay, Mr, Drake would

be acquainted with all the Minifters in London

;

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let him acquaint you
with what paffed at the White- Hart in Bread-
Jlreet.

Capt. Far. I defire the Benefit of my Papers.

Attorn. Gen. At whofe requeft did you come to

the White-Hart in Breadftreet, and when was it ?

Far. By William Drake.

Attorn Gen. Was that the firft time you were
acquainted with any thing of this nature, for

carrying on and profecuting of an Order, to the

furtherance of an Agreement between the Scots

and the King ? What do you know of that, at

what time was the Meeting ?

Far. It was about two Years fince.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Difcourfe at that

Meeting?

Far. It was the drawing up of fome Heads of
a Letter, which might be fen t to Scotland.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Effect of it?

Far It was to this effect, to the beft of my
Memory ; for it is fo long fince

[Here Captain Far was at a ftand, whether
through Infirmity of Speech (for he feemed
to be flow of Speech) orotherwife, I can-

not fay ; and he, or the Attorney- General
for him, made great Ufe of the Papers of
his Examination.]

Attorn. Gen. To defire them, the better to

bring them to an Agreement, that there might be

moderate .Propofitions.

Far. It was to moderate their Defires in the

Agreement between the King and the Scots.

Attorn. Gen. What to do ?

Far. That they might abate of their Demands,
Attorn Gen. Of their former Demands, that

they might be the more like to agree ; was it

not fo ?

Far. Yes, my Lord.

Attorn. Gen. Was it not propounded likewife,

that fome fhould be fent to the King, to perfuade

him to give Satisfaction to the Scots ?

Far. it was propounded by Titus^ but not ap-

proved of.

Attorn. Gen. But did you not agree to fend to

the Scots that you did agree to, and were there

not Heads which Titus, or Drake, did undertake

to write, and afterwards were drawn up ?

Far. I faw no Letters.

Attorn. Gen. But did not Drake tell you he

had fent them to Matter Bailey in Scotland?

[Captain Far being at a ftand, the Attorney-

General asketh him again
:]

Attorn. Gen. Did not William Drake tell you,

a Letter was fent accordingly into Scotland?

Far. Yes, he did tell me he had fent Letters.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let him give your

Lordfhip an account before the Treaty at Jerfey,

where Drake met with him, and what he pro-

pounded to him, whether to fend to Jerfey, and
what Perfons, and upon what Meffage ?

Far. Mr. Drake did fay, that Captain Titus did

fay, It was requifite for one to be at the Treaty

at Jerfey ; and I had it from Drake, that Titus

did undertake to go himftif thither.

Attorn.
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Attorn. Gen. What was his Employment to be

there, and what Money was to be raifed for him ?

Did he tell you he wanted Money?
Far. After Mr. Drake defired I would help

him to Ten Pounds, and Titus was in want of

Money to relieve his Neceffities: and upon this

Requeft I did leave Ten Pounds in Mr. Drake's

Warehoufe.

Attorn. Gen. Was Drake prefent?

Far. I think he was. 1 was promifed it again,

but never received it.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, let him inform, after

this Negotiation of Titus was ended ztjerfey, whe-

ther there was not a Letter written by Titus, and

whether this was not read in the prefence of

Mr. Love, and fome others, and whether at

Niv. Love's or no?

Ld Prefident. Upon the ending of the Treaty

at Jcrfey. and Breda, were you not prefent at

Mr. Love's Houfe, when it was fignified from

Titus, that it was not convenient for him to

come into England, becaufe he thought he was

difcovered to the Council of State, and defired

fomebody to be fent to Calais, to take an Ac-

count there of his Negotiation ?

Far. Yes, my Lord, I was there?

Attorn. Gen. Where, at Mr. Love's Houfe ?

Far. Yes.

Attorn. Gen. In what part of his Houfe, whe-

ther in his Chamber or Study ?

Far. In his Study, as I remember.

Attorn. Gen. Was the Letter read there, and

who read it ?

Far. William Drake read it.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Subftance of the

Letter, as you remember ?

Far. It was for fending one over to Calais.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Love prefent when this

Letter was read ?

Far. Yes fure, he was prefent.

Attorn. Gen. Was it agreed that one mould be

fent to Calais, to take an account of it ?

Far. It was defired, and I was propounded to

Attorn. Gen. Who named you to go ?

Far. Mr. Drake.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Occafion that Ma-
jor Alford did go ?

Far. It was his Son's being there, that was

gone from him.

Attorn. Gen. But then it was agreed that Al-

ford fhould go? When Alford did return from

Calais again, and there was an Account given of

his Employment, where was this Account given ?

and where were thofe Papers read, that did give

the Account ?

Far. It was given at Mr. Love's ; but I can-

not fay he was prefent at that, for he was abfent

fometimes ; I cannot be pofitive to fay he was

prefent : I do conceive he was prefent, but cannot

pofitively fay it.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Subftance of the

Account given by Alford or Drake, or who read

it?

Far. It was a Narrative that he had been at

Calais, and what Entertainment he had.

Attorn. Gen. Was there a Copy of a Letter

brought thither, written from the King to the

Presbyterian Party ?

Far. I cannot fay he brought it.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Subftance of the

Letter?

Far. To fend Commiffioners to the Treaty at

Attorn. Gen. What elfe was in the Letter?

Did not the King of Scots declare in the Let-

ter, that he would give Satisfaction to the Scots,

and in order thereunto he defired Commifiio-

ners ?

Far. It is fo long fince, that I cannot remem-
ber it.

Attorn. Gen. I ask you, whether it were not

to this effect, to declare that he was willing to

give Satisfaction to the Scots, and to that end de-

fired the Presbyterian Party to fend Commiffioners

to Breda ?

Mr. Love. This is grofs Darknefs, for you to

dictate Words to him, and then to fay, Was it

not thus, or to this effect ? and fo to put into the

mouths of the Witneffes what you would have

them fay.

Attorn. Gen. When you go in Darknefs, it is

grofs Treafon.

Mr. Love. Eight Witneffes have not proved
that I either writ Letter, or received Letter, or

lent Money.
Attorn. Gen. What was the Effect of the Let-

ter?

Far. It is fo long fince, that I cannot fpeak

particularly •, but it was to fend Commiffioners.

Attorn. Gen. The Copy of the Letter that came
from the King by Major Alford}

Far. I do no fay fo, Sir.

Ld Prefident. Such a Letter as they conceived

to be brought from him, as they read.

Attorn. Gen. What was that?

Far. That he had been with Titus, and did

bring the Narrative from him, or to that effect.

Attorn. Gen. Was it not to be communica-
ted ?

Far. Yes, it was {o.

Ld Prefident. What was the Narrative read

from Titus ? Who were prefent at this Meeting ?

Far There were feveral there, but I cannot

pofitively remember any.

Attorn. Gen. Was Mr. Love there?

Far. I cannot fay he was.

Ld Prefident. Was Dr. Drake there ?

Far. 1 cannot fay pofitively, that he hath been

at any Meetings.

Ld Prefident. When you were at this Meeting,

and Major Alford returned this at Mr. Love's

Houfe, was Dr. Drake there?

Far. I cannot fay it.

Ld Prefident. Was Mr. Jenkins there ?

Far. I cannot fay it.

Ld Prefident. How many were there ?

Far. About Ten or Twelve.
Attorn. Gen. Ask him whether this Meeting,

when this Letter came from the King, advifing

to fend Commiffioners to treat with the King at

Breda ; whether was there not a Commiffion
named, and Perfons named to treat ?

Far. William Drake read Papers, but it was
not agreed upon by the Company, becaufe pri-

vate Perfons could not give Commiffions.
Ld Prefident. Was it not debated at that Meet-

ing for a Commiffion to be fent accordingly ?

Far. William Drake read Papers there, that

was in the Nature of a Commiffion ; but it was
not agreed upon by the Company, becaufe pri-

vate Perfons could not do fuch a thing.

Ld Prefident. Was it not in order to the
Treaty ?

Far.
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Far. It was to advife with them about the

Treaty.

Attorn Gen. Was it not read in the prefence of

the Company ?

Far. The CommifTions and Inftruclions were

read in the prefence of the Company, but they

were not agreed upon.

Attorn. Gen. Was it not in the name of the

Presbyterian Party in England ?

Far. As I do remember, the Commiffion was

in the name of the Presbyterian Party, for I did

but only hear it read.

Mr. Love. Let him fpeak viva voce.

Far. To the beft of my Remembrance, it was

for the Presbyterian Party, but pofitively 1 can-

not fay fo : My Lord, 'tis two Years fince, and

as near as I can remember, it was fo.

Ld Preftdent. The Commiinon, you fay, was

not agreed to, but the Letter and Inftru&ions were?

Far. William Brake did undertake to draw them

up.

Ld Preftdent. Were they drawn up and fent ?

Far. I am not able to fay they were?

Ld Preftdent. Who were to be the Commif-

fioners ?

Far. My Lord Willoughby of Parham, Alder-

man Bunce, Major - General Maffey, Colonel

Graves, and Captain Titus.

Attorn. Gen. What were they to do ?

Far. To advife, but not to treat in the behalf

of the Presbyterian Party.

Ld Preftdent. Not in the behalf of the Pres-

byterian Party?

Far. No.
Attorn. Gen. Was there not an Agreement of

Letters to be fent to the Queen, and no Propofals

that way ?

Far. No, my Lord.

Ld Preftdent. What was the Subftance of that

Letter read ?

Far. It was, as I remember, to have the

Queen perfuade the King to give Satisfaction to

the Scots in their juft Demands.
Attorn. Gen. Was it not moved then to be de-

bated what Power they had to fend a Commif-
fion, and by what Authority they fhould do it,

and by whom was it fpoken ?

Far. It was demanded, what Authority had

private Men to fend CommhTioners?
Attorn. Gen. Did not you go afterwards with

fome over into Southwark?
Far. Yes.

Attorn. Gen. Where did you go ?

Far. I went with Major Alford, and with Al-
derman Bunce his Son, and I went to Gravefend.

Attorn. Gen. What other Company was there ?

Far. No body elfe, nor had 1 gone, but at the

requeft of Mailer Alford.

Attorn. Gen. Did you know that Mafon went ?

Far. There was no fuch Man went along with

us.

Attorn. Gen. Did no body tell you that Mafon
went with the Inftruclions agreed upon ?

Far. There was a Gentleman we met with at

Gravefend, that I conceive to be that Mafon.
Attorn. Gen. Did he carry the Inftruclions?

Far. I cannot tell.

Ld Preftdent. Did nobody tell you fo?

Far. Not as I remember, I did not fee any
delivered to him.

Ld Preftdent. Do you believe he carried them,
cut of thefe Circumftances you heard ?

Vol.11.

Far. Yes, I believe he did •, 1 am upon my
Oath, and to fay pofitively, I cannot.

Attorn. Gen. Were there not Letters left at your

Houfe, and for whom, and what did you with

them ?

Far. There was at my Brother's Houfe Let-

ters left, but they were returned.

Attorn. Gen. But for whom were thofe Letters?

Far. They were directed to William Drake by
Titus.

Attorn. Gen. Were you at Colonel Barton's

Houfe at the Fall ?

Far. I was.

Attorn. Gen. Who officiated there? Was Mr.
Love one of them ?

Far. I cannot fay pofitively, 1 believe Mr. Love
did.

Ld Preftdent. Do you believe Mr. Love was
one of them?

Far. I conceive he was one of them, and
Mr. Robinfbn.

Attorn. Gen. Did he not pray for a Bleffing upon
the Treaty between the King and the Scots ?

Far. That was done, but I cannot fay it

was by Mr. Love; but thefe Words were faid

there.

Attorn. Gen. Were you at a Meeting at Mr.
Love's, after the Fight at Dunbar, a remarkable

Time to this Nation ?

Far. I was there, but came in late.

Attorn. Gen. Were you there, when a Letter

was read from Maffey?
Far. I did not hear it read.

Ld Preftdent. What do you know of it ?

Far. There was fuch a Letter came, to aflift the

King with Money and Arms ; but it was not

agreed upon.

Ld Preftdent. Do you fwear fuch a Letter

came ?

Far. I cannot fwear pofitively.

Ld Preftdent. Did the Gentleman tell you fo?

Far. He did tell me fo.

Ld Preftdent. The Letter did write likewife

for Arms and Ammunition, did it not?

Far. Yes, and for Money.
Ld Preftdent. Did not Mr. Love tell you, they

could not do it ?

Far. I did underftand it was Mr. Love.

Attorn. Gen. Did not Mr. Love tell you, they

agreed to raife a Sum of Money for Maffey, and
Titus, and Graves, or fome of them ?

Far. Yes, he did.

Attorn. Gen. What was the Sum of Money,
and for whom was it agreed upon? did Mr. Love
tell you fo ?

Far. I fay, Mr. Love did tell me it was agreed

upon for the fending of fome Money, whe-
ther 250 or 300/. I cannot fay pofitively; and

it was to relieve Maffey and Titus in their Ne-
ceffities.

Attorn Gen. Did not Mr. Love move you to

contribute to this ? and what did you contri-

bute ?

Far. Mr. Love asked me, and I did promife

Five Pounds, and brought Five Pounds, and laid

it down upon his Table.

Attorn. Gen. Who was in the Room then?

Far. There were feveral.

Ld Preftdent. Do you know none of them ?

Attorn. Gen. Mr. Love faith, he hath neither

writ, received, nor fent; but he doth not fay,

he did not mend Letters.

R Far,,
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Far. I brought Five Pounds in a Paper, and

laid it upon his Table.

Ld Prefulent. And was he in the Room ?

Far. Yes, my Lord, but 1 cannot fay any elfe

was.

Attorn. Gen. I could tell you who there were

more; Mr. Cafe was there too: My Lord, ask

him if it were not agreed between them, that it

fhould be fo brought.

Far. As I did understand, it was fo ; it was fo

For my Particular, but I cannot fay it of others.

Attorn. Gen. Did not Mr. Love fpeak to you
to that purpofe, to bring it in that way ?

Far. I cannot fay he bid me lay it down.
Ld Prefident. What was the Manner of Mr.

Love's requiring of you, or notifying of it to you,

and the Manner of your Purfuit of that ?

[Here Captain Far was at a ftand, and made
no Anfwer.J

Attorn. Gen. I will make it very fhort : Whe-
ther this were not done that there might be no
Difcovery of it?

Far. It was done to that effect, that there

fhould be no Difcovery of it : 1 did it under

that Notion.

Ld Prefident. And do you not think Mr. Love
conceived it under that Notion ?

Far. I cannot fay he did.

Attorn. Gen. Were you not fpoken to by Cap-
tain Maffey, to fpeak to Colonel Barton to lend

Money ?

Far. 1 did fpeak to him.

Ld Prefident. What was that?

Far. Ten Pounds, as I conceived ; for I re-

ceived it from him in a Paper.

Attorn. Gen. To whorn did you deliver it?

Far. To Captain Maffey, Maffefs Brother,

my Lord.

Ld Prefident. You received it from Colonel

Barton. Captain Maffey bid you fpeak to Colo-

nel Barton for a Sum of Money ; and he gave it

to you ; and you gave it to Captain Maffey.

Attorn. Gen. Was the Money, as you concei-

ved, returned to Maffey and Titus?

Far. I cannot fay it was.

Ld Prefident. Do you believe it was defired to

be raifed to that purpofe ? And do you think it

was done according to that purpofe?

Far. I do not know.

Attorn. Gen. Whether do you conceive that

this Money, you thus brought to Captain Maffey,

was not for Maffey and Titus ?

Far. I do conceive it was.

Attorn. Gen. And was not Mr. Love common-
ly at your Meetings ? And whether, after Drake

went away, the Meetings were not at his Houfe ?

Far. I met with Mr. Love often at his own
Houfe.

Attorn. Gen. This Money was taken up under

the Notion of a charitable Ufe ?

Far. I do conceive it was given them under

that Notion.

Mr. Love. Sir, he gave you a large Account

of the Negotiation with Titus ; pray ask him if

I were privy to it.

Far. I cannot fay fo?

Ld Prefident. Do you believe it ?

Mr. Love. You fay the Copy of the King's

Letter
(
you fuppofe ) that was brought over by

Alford, was read at my Houfe ; whether did I

hear the Letter read in my Houfe?

Far. I cannot fay you did.

Ld Prefident. Was not Mr. Love, when the
Letter was communicated, fometimes in the Room,
going and coming?

Far. I cannot fay. when it was read ; but I fay
he was there during fome part of the Communi-
cation ; but I cannot fay he was there at the read-
ing of the Letter.

Attorn. Gen. Thefe are good Queflions, my
Lord.

Mr. Love. The Court will judge of that.

Ld Prefident. But do you not conceive that he
underftood the Contents of it?

Far. I do conceive fo.

Mr. Love. But he doth not fay it was fo. He
faid there was a Narrative read from Titus, I
defire your Lordfhip to ask him whether I was
prefent whilft the Narrative was read, yea or
no.

Far. I cannot fay any thing to that ; I cannot
fwear he was there.

Mr. Love. Ask him whether I did not go of-
ten out of the Room.

Far. I did obferve, that when Mr. Love hath
been there, he hath been often called away, and
hath been abfent; and therefore I cannot fay
fuch a thing was done when Mr. Love was
there.

Attorn. Gen. He hath before proved it upon
Oath, that he was there fometimes.

Mr. Love. But look before, and he faid he
could not fay I was prefent when it was read.

Attorn. Gen. This Narrative, whether was it a
Copy written by Alford, as News brought over,

or the Copy written by Titus himfelf?

Far. Alford faid it was a Narrative from Titus.

Mr. Love. Pray ask him whether I did fend

Alford over, yea, or no ; or agreed to the fend-

ing of him over.

Far. I think he did not ; but he was fent by
William Drake.

Mr. Love. My Lord, whether was he not pri-

vy to it ? He told you Titus's Letter was writ

before Alford went.

Far. But it was not agreed upon.

Attorn. Gen. Titus's Letter, that he writ, that

fome might come to him, to receive an Account
of him, was read at Mafter Love's Houfe.

Mr. Love. I move this Qucftion, becaufe Al-

ford, who was the Man fent, confefled that Wil-
liam Drake fent him. He pretended there was a

Commiffion read in my Houfe; I defire to know
when, or at what Time; whether before the

29th of March, 1650?
Far. I am not able to fpeak to the Time ; it

is about two Year fince, or fomething under.

Mr. Love. I defire, Sir, to ask him this Que-
ftion, Whether the rude Draught, written by

William Drake, or the original Copy, was fent

away ?

Far. There was only a rude Draught that

Drake read ; and then afterwards Drake was to

draw it up.

Mr. Love. Ask him whether I gave my Con-

fent to the fending away of this Commiffion.

Far. I cannot fay Mr. Love was there when it

was fent away.

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love make any Prote-

ffation againft it.

Far. It was agreed by all that the Commiffion

could not. be fent,

Mr. Love.
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Mr. Love. Ask him whether I did not declare

in the Company, when there was fuch Speech of

commiffionating, that it was an high A& of

Prefumption for private Perfons to commiffionate

any, and a notorious Falfhood to fay it was an

Act of the Presbyterians •, and whether did not

I declare my felf againft fending the Commif-

fion.

Far. I did fay it was agreed upon by all, that

we could not fend the Commiflion.

Mr. Love. I can prove, if I may have the Wit-

neffes indemnified, that I declared againft any

Commiflion.

Ld Prefident. Mr. Love hath declared then he

knew of the Commiflion.

Mr. Love. 1 acknowledge the difavowing of

any Commiflion ; 1 gave my Reafons for it.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I hope you will re-

member what the Prifoner fays.

Mr. Love. I do not own any thing about con-

curring with any Commiflion, but only difavow-

ing ofit. After Dunbar Fight, he faith, he came

lace •, and he cannot tell whether the Letter was

read at my Houfe, only he fays I told him fo :

And whether was that the Letter, or a Copy of

it?

Far. I cannot fay that.

Mr. Love. The mod that I have done, is but

to receive News ; and I hope 1 (hall not die

for that ? Was this Letter of Maffey written to

me?
Far. I have faid already I cannot fay fo.

Mr. Love. I would be glad to be freed in

Court.

Ld Prefident. You are a very free Man in-

deed.

Mr. Love. He fpeaks of a Sum of two Hun-

dred and Fifty Pounds, or three hundred Pounds,

fent to Majfey and Titus ; pray ask him whether I

did agree that it fhould be fent.

Ld Prefident. Did he difagree ?

Far. I faid it was agreed to ; but by whom, I

cannot fay.

Attorn. Gen. Did Mr. Love at that time difa-

gree ?

Far. I cannot fay he did.

Mr. Love. Did I move Captain Far, or fay,

Captain Far, will you contribute Five Pounds to

Maffey or Titus, or any Money ?

Far. You asked me the Queftion, what I

would do.

Mr. Love. But for Maffey and Titus ?

Far. I did conceive it was for Majfey and Ti-

tus.

Mr. Love. He fays he laid it in my Houfe ;

and he fo far juftifies me, that he cannot fay I re-

ceived it ; and God is my Witnefs, I never did

fee it in my Life. If another Man agrees to re-

ceive Money in my Houfe, I hope the Court

will not judge me for it.

Ld Prefident. It is an eafy matter for you to

take it, and convert it to another Ufe.

Far. I do conceive that Captain Maffey had the

ij Money.
Mr. Love. Now you clear me : Another Man

brings the Money, and I do not order him to

bring it; and another receives it, and not I.

T Captain Far withdraws. ]

Attorn. Gen. Now, my Lord, we fhall conclude

in a very fhort word, with a Minifter to a Mi-
nifter.

Vol. II.

[ MaRer Jackfon the Minifter is called into the

Court.]

Mr. Jackfon. Sir, I dare not fwear.

Ld Prefident. Dare you teftify the Truth when
God calls you to it ? For God will appear in no
other Vifion than in the Power of Magiftracy.

Mr. Jackfon.

Man's Life.

Ld Prefident

Magiftrate ?

Mr. Jackfon.

I dare not fpeak againft this

Dare you fpeak the Truth before

That that I fay, is this : That I

look upon this Man as a Man very precious in

God's Sight ; and, my Lord, I fear I fhould have

an Hell in my Confcience unto my Dying-Day,
if I fhould fpeak anything that fhould be circum-

ftantially prejudicial to his Life : And in regard

of thefe Terrors of the Lord upon me, I dare not

fpeak.

Attorn. Gen. I think all the Jefuits in all the

Colleges have not more defperate Evafions or Shifts

from the Purpofe than thefe Men have. My Lord,

you now fee what a defperate Combination here is,

that Men being before Authority, and in the Face

of Magiftracy, in fuch a Court as this is, fo emi-

nent in the Prefence of it, and fo authorized as

this is ; that Men fhould dare to dally as they

do ; and that Minifters fhould fay they dare not

fpeak the Truth : not when Treafon is hatched

and contrived, they dare not fpeak the Truth ;

that this Man fhould be more precious, though a

Traitor, than the Commonwealth, which fhould

be preferved. I hope we fhall root thefe Opini-

ons out, or fome of the Parties that hold them ;

that I will fay.

Ld Prefident. Mafter Jackfon, you are one of

the Parties in thefe Meetings, you have been at

their Meetings ; and we require nothing of you

but to fpeak the Truth. St. Auftin will tell you,

That to conceal a Truth, or tell a Lye, you had

better let the World fall about your Ears. You
are required nothing but to fpeak the Truth ;

and will you fay this Truth will be a Torment
to your Soul ? Are you a ProfefTor of Jefus

Chrift, a Minifter of God? The great Errand

you are fent hither about, is to fpeak the Truth
from him. Therefore lay your Hand upon your

Heart, and do as becomes you as a Chriftian, and

as a rational Man, and as one that will tell

Truth •, for by the Truth the World ftands.

We are all no better than favage Men, if we
have not Judgment to tell Truth one to ano-

ther.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, fuppofe Mr. Love
fhould kill one of thefe Men (that do hear the

Debate) in the Prefence of Mr. Jackfon, and he

fhould be called to give Evidence, and refufe it

;

he may take away any Man's Life. Perfonal

Refpecls fhould be fet afide, when we come to

Judgment. You fee, my Lord, the Perfon of

this Man, how it is preferred by this Man. That
which is the Truth, you are required to fpeak, and

nothing elfe.

Ld Prefident. Have you any Oath or Promife

among your Combiners to be fecret in this bufi-

nefs ?

Mr. Jackfon. Never in my Life, mv Lord.

Ld Prefident. Will you take your Oath ?

Mr. Jackfon. I dare not, my Lord.

Ld Prefident. What is your Reafon?

Mr. Jackfon. I have told you, my Lord, and

I will tell you it again ; I am a Man of a.

R a troubled
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troubled Spirit, and I dare not do any thing that

fhould caufe a Hell in my Confcience to my Dy-

ing-day.

Ld Prefident. Do you look to die ?

Mr. Jack/on. Yes, my Lord.

Ld Prefident. And do you expect to live again ?

Mr. Jack/on. I truft in Jefus Chrift I fhall live

again.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I defire your Clerk

may be commanded to give him his Oath, and he

required to take it.

[ The Clerk tenders him the Oath. J

Ld Prefident. Will you take this Oath or

not ?

Mr. Jack/on. No, my Lord.

Ld Prefident. Then I think you are the Men
that were fpoken of before, Jefuits and Priefts :

They fay you are none , but you are their Brethren.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, thefe go beyond Je-

fuits : i The Jefuits will fwear with a Refervation,

and thefe will not fwear at all. This Man muft

be proceeded accordingly with ; for if this be al-

lowed, I conceive there will be no Juftice in Eng-

land. And in refpecl: of the Quality of his Per-

fon, Function, and Gravity, by fo much is it a

more pernicious Example, and it aggravates the

Thing every way.

Ld Prefident. Let it be known here, that it

may be difperfed abroad ; and I think there are

fotvje of moft Counties of England. And this Air

is gone forth -, this very Plot is fecretly fpread with

fome chief Minifters throughout all England.

Attorn. Gen. This Right they have done to ma-
ny of them, that I believe it will make a more fe-

vere Inquifition into thefe Perfons, than otherwife

there would be : It is not Blood that is look'd af-

ter, but Confeffion and Contrition. I am glad

that thofe that are not Clergymen do come in, and
the Clergy will not confefs at all.

[ The Court confults a while. J

Ld Prefident. Mafter Jack/on, for your refufing

to fwear, the Court fineth you five hundred

Pounds, and Imprisonment during the Pleafure of
the Court.

\_ The Keeper of the Fleet is called upon, and
commanded to take him in Cuftody.j

Mr. Love. My Lord, I have fome Motions
humbly to make to this Court. The firft is, to

intreat your Lordfhip, and the reft of the Mem-
bers of this Court, that if I have let fall any Ex-
preffions thro* Inconfideratenefs, or for want of
Skill in the Law, that have been an Offence ei-

ther to your Lordfhip, or to any, I befeech you,

if I have fpoken any derogating Expreffions, or

made any unfeafonable Motions, that you would
impute it to my Ignorance.

Ld Prefident. None of them fhall hurt you.

Mr. Love. Then I intreat this Favour, That I

may. have Counfel affigned me, and Sollicitorshere

in Court, and in my Chamber at the Tower•, and
a Copy of my Charge, and convenient Time, as

the nature of the Bufinefs requires, my Charge be-

ing long, and I have not read a Word of it, nor
the Depofuions ; that I may have, I fay, Counfel
affigned me, and convenient Time to bring in my
Aniwer. And I am confident, through the good
Hand of God upon me, I fhall clear my felf of all

the Treafons charged upon me, and of all their

Aggravations, through Strains of Wit and Quil-
lets of Law by lnftruments of State: I am confi-

dent I fhall clear my Innocency, that I fhall not
ftand a Traitor before you.

Ld Prefident. They being lnftruments of State,

are lnftruments of God appointed by the State.

For your Time, you have all this Afternoon.
Are you not ready ?

Mr. Love. I was yefterday nine Hours lock'd

up in that clofe Room and in this Place ; and I

could not read one Word laft Night, not out of
Trouble of Mind, but through Wearinefs, being
kept fo many Hours in the Court.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, he hath had a Fort-
night's Notice of his Trial to prepare for it. My
Lord, we have been two Days ; and by the Courfe
of Proceedings, if the Gentleman had had his Trial

by a Jury, both muft have been difpatched in one
Day. We are appointed to go on to hear his De-
fence now, or elfe on Monday.

Mr. Love. I defire a convenient Time to bring
in my Witnefies, to make it appear how the Wit-
neffes againft me contradict themfelves. I have
not yet read the Depofuions of one Man, and I
cannot read the Depofuions by Monday ; and to-

morrow is a Day that fome Time of it fhould be
fpent in other Employments.
Ld Prefident. To do Juftice, you muft run out

of the Church ; and though you were at your
Prayers, you muft forfake Praying and Sabbaths
to do Juftice. Sir, this is of a higher nature than
all your Preaching and Praying.

[ The Court confults a while together. ]

Ld Prefident. The Court all agree to give you
till Wednefday Eight o'clock in the Morning.

Mr. Love. I defire that 1 may have Counfel
here, and in my Chamber.
Ld Prefident. You have fhewed nothing thefe

two Days that raifes any Doubt in Matter of Law.
Mr. Love. There arc fome things in my Charge

that I doubt this Court cannot take Cognizance of;
fomething in thofe Ads, and fomething in refpect

of the Time. It is Matter of Law, whether the

Act fpeaking of fending or receiving Letters or
MefTages. And here are eight WitnefTes com&in,
and never a Man proves that I received Letter, or
fent Letter, or lent any Money. And this I con-
ceive is Matter of Law, whether the A&s reach

being prefent only where other Men lay down
Money.
Ld Prefident. You have had Counfel.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I have had none.

Attorn. Gen. For Counfel you are to fend him
none, my Lord : He hath his Liberty ; he hath
Recourfe for all the People of England to come to

him.

Mr. Love. Counfel have refufed to come to me;
I have their Letters about me.

[ Here he reads the Letters of fome Coun-
fellors, which they fent to him to the

Tower, declaring they could not come to

him, unlefs they were affigned by the

Court.
]

Attorn. Gen. All that we can fay to you, is,

that Counfel may come to you, if they will.

[ Mafter Love is commanded away ; and the

Court adjourns till Wednefday.]
The
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"The Third Days "Proceedings, July the

2$th, 165 1.

TH E Court is fet ; and Mr. Love is com-

manded to the Bar.

Attorn. Gen. Mr. Love, this is the Day the

Court hath given you (according to your Defire)

to make your Defence ; and they are ready to

hear it.

Ld Prefident. And I hope thofe Directions that

have been given, have been obferved, that any

Perfons of what Quality foever, either Lawyers

or others, that came to you, have had in a fair

way Accefs unto you ; and that you have been de-

barred nothing that the Court gave Order for.

If there have been any Impediments, we will do

our bell to have them taken away

.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I have nothing more

at prefent againft him : You have heard that

whereof he (lands accufed, and the Evidence

produced to prove it. And, my Lord, I hope

they be fufficient to convince the Gentleman that

there is Proof againft him for thefe Facts and

treafonable Defigns, whereof he (lands accufed.

This Day is appointed for his Defence, if he

thinks fit to make it. But if God hath other-

wife wrought upon his Heart, and that he him-

felf is convinced that the Charge againft him is

proved to be true •, to me it will be the bell way

of his Prefervation. But what way foever he

thinks fit to take I fhall be ready to go along

with him in it: And fo, my Lord, I expect

what he fhall fay.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I (hall not trouble your

Lordfhip and the Court, to bring in at prefent

any WknefTes to teftify any thing that might in-

validate that Teftimony that fome have brought

in againft me ; I love not to protract Time : But

I fnould betray my own Innocency, (hould I

by my Silence lie under all that Charge and Ob-
loquy which is caft upon me. And therefore I

deem it my Duty, wherein I can, and as far as

I am able, to exprefs myfelf before your Lord-
fhip and the Court. And therefore I humbly
crave leave of your Lordfhip, and this Court,

that I may make my Defence for my Life before

you.

Although I am denied Counfel to plead for

me in this Court, which is fo juft and neceffary

a Means for the Prefervation of my Life, yet

my Comfort is that of the Pfalmifl, My Defence

is of God, which faveth the Upright in Heart, and
pleadeth the Caufe of his Servant againfi him that

puffeth at him.

My Lord, you have granted me that Favour
which the Romans did to Paul, that he might
anfwer for himfeJf, concerning the Crimes laid

againft him.

In making my Defence, I (hall humbly crave

leave to proceed in this Method : To fpeak
fomething, Firft, concerning the Charge: Se-

condly, concerning the WknefTes, and their

Teftimony : Thirdly, fomething concerning my
felf: And then, Laftly, fome Things humbly to

propofe to your Lordfhip and the Court, con-
cerning my Charge. Mr. Attorney. General
hath exhibited a Charge againft me, confifting

of two Parts ; of High-Treafon, and of other

High Crimes and Offences. As touching the

* 25
firft, comparing the Acts which the State hath,

made with the Actions which my felf have done,

I know not any.perfonal Act of mine (proved

againft me) that renders me guilty, as to Trea-
fon, by any publick Act of your Lordfhips. And
therefore 1 pleaded the general I flue, Not guilty,

as to that.

As to the fecond, my Counfel having a general

Licence to come to me, and fince having been
with me, they have acquainted me that Pre-
fence with, or Silence at what my Accufers have
done, this renders me culpable by .your Acts

;

and therefore, as to that, 1 fhall humbly commit
my felf to your Juftice and Mercy.

Concerning, Sir, the Charge laid againft me,
I can fafely and truly fay I am charged with many
Things which I ought not, being pretended to

be done before the Act was publiihed which con-

ftitutes this Court. I am charged likewife therein

with many Things that I knew not, and with
other Things that I did not; and therefore dare

not in Confcience lie under the Obloquy of the

whole Charge. I do therefore in general declare

and proteft againft what is mentioned in the

Charge, touching the raifing of Infurrections, Se-

ditions, and Rebellions. I may fay in that re-

gard as Jeremy did, I defire not that woful Day,
God he knows.

To the other Particulars, to wit, the Confede-
ration with Jennin, Piercy, and others, in foreign

Parts, to raife Forces, I anfwer, I diflike the

very Mention of their Names, or any Concur-
rence with them in any Practice of fuch a na-

ture, who are Perfons whole Principles are fo

contrarient to Religion and Liberty.

As touching the other Particulars, to wit, a
Correfpondence with the Son of the late King,
the Queen, Jermin, and Piercy, and others men-
tioned in the Charge ; I do declare before you,

That I never received Letter from, nor fent

Letter to any of them ; nor had I any Corre-

fpondence with them.

There are other Things in the Charge, to

which all the Depofitions of the WknefTes do
not in the leaft come up : And fhould I by my
Silence render my felf obnoxious to the whole,

you might judge me to be guilty of that which
indeed I am not guilty of.

I obferve in reading the Charge, that there

are many Things in it which the Witneffes do
not in the leaft fpeak unto: For, firft, none of
them fwear that ever I writ Letter to the King,
or to the Queen his Mother, or to Jermin,
Piercy, or any other Perfon named in the Charge,
or to any Perfon of the Scotijh Nation, fince the

Troubles began.

Again, none of the WknefTes fwear that ever

I either defired, or perfuaded, or directed any
Perfon to write any Letter to any Perfons whole
Names are mentioned in the Charge, or to any
Perfon in or of the Scoti/h Nation : Nor do any
of them fwear that ever any Letter was written

in my Houfe ; but that only Letters fuppofcd to

be come from or fent to the Scots were read

there ; which I do not deny. Again, none of
them fwear that ever I did fo much as read a

Letter in my Houfe, or other where, that was
pretended to come from the Scots, or pretended

to be fent into Scotland. Further, none fwear

that ever I gave my exprefs and particular A (Tent

to the fending away of any Letter. And none

fwear that ever I collected one Penny of Money
either
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either for the King, or the Scots, or any Perfon

in Scotland. That which is affirmed by one

Teftimony, to wit, by Alford, that I moved for

Money, I mall anfwer when I come to it. A-
gain, none of the WitnefTes prove that ever I

invited any Perfon, or foreign Forces, to invade

the Nations of England and Ireland -, which yet

is laid exprefly to my Charge, in the Charge read

againft me. None likewife prove that ever I

plotted, contrived, or endeavoured to raife

Forces, Tumults, or Infurrections within this

Nation againft the prefent Government. None
fwear that I was a Correfpondent. Indeed ddams
in his Teftimony had thefe Words, ( which

both the Notary and myfelf took J That he

took me to be a Correfpondent. But -when I had

your Lordfhip's and the Court's Leave to put

this Queftion to him, Whether upon Oath he

would affirm I was one? his Anfwer was, That
he could not pofuively fay I was fo; but he

faid, He did conceive I was a Correfpondent •,

but did not fay I was fo. So that, Sir, as to

thefe Particulars, there are none of the eight

WitnefTes ( neither the feven that have been

fworn, nor yet Mafter Jaquel, whom I do not

take to be under an Oath ) that do charge any of

thefe Particulars upon me.

I have a Word alfo to fpeak concerning the

WitnefTes who are my Accufers ; and 1 might

fay there is an Incompetency in them, as to their

Number. There are many Particulars fworn a-

gainft me, to which but one Witnefs hath fworn

to one Fact ; and this I fhall humbly offer to

your Lordfhip's and the Court's Confederation.

I might alledge alfo an Incompetency as to

their Quality: They are not only Perfons ac-

cufed of Treafon, and fo are not to be believed,

but they have made an open Confeffion of that

which is Treafon by your Act, and fo are nor.

legates Tejles. They have done that by an open

Confeffion, which, as I am informed, is equiva-

lent to a Conviction : They have confeffed fend-

ing of Letters, receiving of Letters, and lending

of Money ; but they have proved none of thefe

Things againft me. Now they having both

given it under their Hands, and alfo publickly

declared that they have done thefe Things, I

cannot judge them competent WitnefTes againft

me : But this I muft leave to the Court's Confi-

deration.

Sir, concerning the Incompetency of their

Number, to that wherein two WitnefTes do con-

cur, I am concluded ; and wherein they have

teftified any Thing true, I would not deny it for

all the World ; and wherein they agree in their

Teftimony in a Truth, therein I will be candid,

and ingenuous to acknowledge it.

My Lord, tho' the Charge be long, and my
Time but fhort, and the Depofitions many Sheets

of Paper, (and truly I could hardly read them over

till late laft night) yet through the good Hand of

God upon me, I fhall labour to make as plain

and clear a Defence as God fhall enable me.

Sir, in reading over the Charge, I obferve,

that thofe things which feem moft criminal againft

me, are fworn to but by fingle Teftimony ; and

I will mention, with your Lordfhip's leave, a

few Particulars.

Firft, Touching the Letters faid to be from

Titus, the Effecl of it being, as was faid, to

defire fome to come over to Calais, that he

might give them Information touching Affairs at

Jerfey ; none but Far fwears that this Letter

was read in my Houfe. The other WitnefTes,

fome lay, it was read in one place, and fome ia

another : Alford, I remember, he fays he heard

it from William Drake ; and Adams fays, it was
read in William Drake's Houfe: but none but

Far fwears, it was read in my Houfe. There is

likewife none but Far fwears, that Major Alford

was defired in my Houfe to go to Calais to litus ;

neither Jaquel, nor Potter, nor Alford, nor
Adams, nor any of the reft lay this to my
Charge: it is only Far that lays this to my
Charge, and he doth it moft untruly, which I

will make out unto you by an undeniable Demon-
ftration.

Fie fays, that at a Meeting at my Houfe the

Company did defire Major Jlford to go to Calais.

Now if your Lordfhip obferves Alford's Tefti-

mony, he tells you upon Oath, that he was
never in my Houfe till after he came from Ca-
lais, nor ever fpake with me in my life till after

he came from Calais, therefore could not be de-
fired in my Houfe to go to Calais. So that,

Sir, I will not lay it upon the Badnefs of Fur's

Confcience, but upon the Badnefs of his Me-
mory. I do not think he is fuch an Atheift, to

fwear falfly deliberately ; but being asked fo

many Queftions as he was, for he was ask'd four-

fcore and eighteen Queftions by Mr. Attorney,

and fome of the Court, he might eafily fay he
knew not what.

And 1 faw the Man was confounded, and it was
hinted to him what to fay, by the help of the Pa-
pers, and Examinations taken from him in pri-

vate, and fhewed to him in publick : fo that,

Sir, I faw the Man under a Temptation. I was
loth to mention this then, tho' I knew his Tefti-

mony herein to be falfe, becaufe I would not an-

ticipate my laft Anfwer.

A third Particular charged upon me by one
Witnefs only, is a Copy of a Letter (not the

Original, none fwears that) that Alfurd received

from Titus; and he told him, it was a Copy of
a Letter from the King. Now Far he fwears

that the Subftance of the Letter was to defire

Commiffioners to be fent over to Breda, at the

Treaty there: now Alford, who pretended to

receive this Letter from Titus, being asked the

Queftion, he fwears that there was no fuch

thing in the Letter, that he knew of. Now
truly, if any did know the Contents of that

Copy of a Letter, it muft be Alford, who
brought it over: I befeech your Lordfhip there-

fore to confider it, and tho' the Charge againft

me be very high, and my Condition very low,

and the Oppofition againft me very great ; yet I

hope I am in the hands of merciful and juft

Men, and that wherein you fee but fingle Tefti-

monies, that therein you would be very tender

in proceeding to a Sentence againft me upon thofe

Teftimonies.

Again, in the next place, I obferve a fingle

Teftimony only in another Bufinefs, and that is

Major Alford. None but he, of all the Wit-
nefTes did fwear that it was agreed upon among
us, That is, at my Houfe, That a Commiffion
and Inftructions ffiould be fent over to the Lord
Willougloby of Parbam, Maffey, Titus, and Al-
derman Bunce ; none, I fay, but Alford fwore this.

Adams indeed fwore, that there was a Motion

;

that this fhould be ; and Huntington fwore this,

that Mr. Love fhould fay, Come, come, let ic

goj
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o-o; (to which I fhall anfwer, when I come to

it.) But Far faid exprefly, three times in Court,

being upon Oath alio, That all the Company

were againft fending away the Coinmiffion. And
Alford he only fwears, That the CommifTion was

agreed upon.

I hope your Lordfhip and the Court will judge

which of thefe to believe ; and for Alford's affirm-

ing that it was agreed upon among us, I am fure,

i'fi he had any Confcience, he could not fay that

I agreed to it. I will not deny ( now Witneffes

have proved it) but that I was prefent. But

I did exprefs myfelf againft the Commiflion and

inftruftions, as being an Ad of high Preempti-

on, for private Pcrfons to fend Commiffions

and Inftruftions ; and as being an Aft of noto-

rious Falfhood, that it fhould run in the name

of the Presbyterian Party, when none did know
any thing of it, that I know of, but only thofe

that were then in the Room. And I befcech

your Lordfhip and the Court to confider, that

this is not only a fingle Teftimony, but that it

is faid to be done in the Year 1649, a great while

ago, my Lord. And fo the Bufinefs of Titus, if

it had been true, was done fome time before

that : fo that, Sir, it being done before the Aft

of the 26th of March 1650, which conftitutes

this Court, herein I hope it will not be deemed

criminal, if I had agreed to and approved of

the CommifTion, which I never did. Another

Particular, to which I obferve there is but a

fingle Teftimony, which is Alford a\(o ; he fwore,

that at a Meeting at my Houfe, I moved for

Contribution of Money to Titus ; none fwore

this but only he. Adams fwore, I took Pen and

Ink in my Hand, but he knows not what I writ.

Others fwore, That I was fometimes prefent at

the Meeting 5 but none but Alford fwore, that I

moved at a Meeting for Contribution of Money.

Now, Sir, as to that it is but a fingle Tefti-

mony ; and if it were true, I do not deem it

comes under the Aft, becaufe the Aft (of which

I was ignorant till the day I heard it here in

Court) of the 2d of Augufl 1650, that Aft doth

adjudge this to be Treafon, to wit, The fending,

or caufing to be fent, Money, Horfes, or Arms,

into Scotland. Now, Sir, if it had been true,

which this Witnefs depofeth, That I at a Meet-

ing did move for Money, yet he proves not

againft me, that ever 1 received or fent away a

Penny ; and if I had moved it, that had neither

been a fending away of Money into Scotland, nor

a caufing of Money to be fent away: and fo

brings me not, as to Treafon, under your Aft.

Another thing, unto which only a particular

Witnefs fwore, to wit, Far, is, That I moved
him particularly to contribute Money. He
chargeth not this at a Meeting, as Alford doth ;

for he fays, he came in late, but faith that it

was a perfonal Motion to him alone: And he

doth not fay, that I moved him for Money for

Majfey and Titus, but that 1 only asked him this

Queftion, Captain Far, what will you do? And
it your Lordfhip confider it, and that your No-
taries have taken right, you fhall find that to be

his Anfwer, which I fhall anlwer when I come
to it And thereupon he confeffes, he brought

five Pounds to my Houfe, but he doth not tell

you that I received it •, and God is my Witnefs,

I never faw it, nor received it, nor did I give

any directions about it. But as Far was going
out of the Court, he named Captain Majfey, the
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Perfon which he thought received the Money 5

for which he was rebuked by fome that were
by him, that fo the greater Odium might he

upon me: as if becaufe the Money being brought

to my Houfe, I muft needs therefore receive

it. His Name, as I am informed, that rebu-

ked him for declaring who received it, is Cap-
tain BifJjop: fo that they would infmuate into

your Breafts, who are my Judges, (who I hope
will be confeientiousj That it was I that received

the Money, when the Witnefs meant honeft-

ly, that another received it. But if I had received

it, or moved for it, yet he is but a fingle

Teftimony to that Particular. Again, in reading

the Depoiitions, I take notice that there is on-

ly a fingle Teftimony to thofe words ; (upon
the reading, reading [ cannot fay, for I never

read it; upon the hearing fome Papers read,

fuppofed to be a Commiffion) that Huntington

fwore, that I fhould fay, Come, come, let it go.

Thofe were his words ; but the other who were

there prefent, two or three of them being ask'd,

whether they heard me fpeak fuch words, they

all of them denied that they heard any fuch

words. Now truly this Huntington is a Man
whofe Face I never faw before that day, norfince,

till 1 faw him here in Court : and if I had known
that a Bufinefs of any dangerous nature had been

come to my Houfe, which I did not, ( for I

knew no more of it, than any here prefent, be-

fore Drake took the Papers out of his Pocket,

which Huntington confeffes were written in Cha-
racters, and read by Drake) I fhould have been

accounted a very indifcreet Man, to fpeak any
fuch words in the prefence of a Man whofe Face
I never faw before. And for thofe words that I

fhould fay, Come, come, let it go ; I hope your
Lordfhip and the Court will be fatisfied, that I

never fpake any fuch word, as to the Commif-
fion and Inftruftions ; for then I fhould have
contradicted my felf in one breath: for at the

fame time I had fpoke againft it.

Again, I obferve in the Depofitions, none but

Adams affirms that there was a Letter, which,

fays he, was declared to be diretled to the General

Affemblyof Scotland. He doth not fwear it was
directed to the General Afiembly, but that it

was declared to be fo, and fo fwears by Hear-fay.

None but he, I fay, affirms upon Oath, That
at my Floufe there was a Letter read, which was
declared to be direfted to the General Affembly.

And he fays further, He thought this Letter was
penned by M after Love or Dr. Drake: But I be-

seech your Lordfhip and the Court to confider

by what reafon he did conceive this ; and I hope
your Lordfhip will diftinguifh between a pofkive

Affertion, and a conjectural Suppofition. For
being ask'd, why he conceived fo ? / conceive fo,

fays he, becaufe of the Language of it : as if he

that never faw any Letter of mine, to know
that poor and low Style I write in, fhould con-

ceive that either I, or that other Gentleman
named, fhould pen that Letter, merely becaufe

of the Language of it, it being, (he faid) in

order to promote the Ends of the Covenant I

hope the Court will judge of the Infufficiency

of this Evidence ; and were it never fo clear,

yet as to that Particular, it is but one Tefti-

mony.
Again, none but Adams fware concerning a

large Letter, that, for my part, 1 never knew
of, till the day he affirmed it here in Court. A

large
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large Letter, he fays, in the nature of a Declara-

tion, penn'd, as he thought, by Matter Low or

Dr. Drake, wherein it ifhould be faid, That they

could not fend Money till the Scots did appear

more confiderable, and grew nearer to Action

:

Yet he confefTes he had no ground to fay Mafter

Love penn'd it. And indeed he had not. Bur,

Sir, as for this Letter, though I durft not for a

World deny any thing which I know to be true ;

yet God is my Record, to my knowledge, I ne-

ver fo much as heard any mention of it. And
as for thefe words he fpeaks of to be in the Let-

ter, I know nothing at all of them ; nor did I

ever hear them, as 1 know of, till I heard him

affirm them here in Court.

But if it had been fo, yet he is but a fingle

Teftimony, and I befeech your Lordfhip to con-

fider, that he fays it was to this effect, or this

was the Subftance of it : Now I hope fo many
grave Judges and Lawyers that fit upon my Life,

and fo many confeientious Men, will be tender of

a Man's Blood, when a Man mall come in with

Evidence, and fhall fhew neither my Hand, nor

the Letter, nor the Original, neither Copy, nor

Tranfcript, nor any thing but the vain Rovings

of a Man's Memory in things fpoken or done

fo long ago ; and that a Man fhall come in againft

a Man's Life, and fhall only fay, that this was

the Sum or Subftance of it, or it was to this

effect. And I being a Divine, I fhall not fpeak

as to Matter of Law, that this is inefficient

Teftimony ; but as a Scholar, and one that ftudies

the Scriptures, I fhall obferve one memorable

Inftance that pleads my Juftification in this Par-

ticular, and they are the words of Chrift ; Chrift

faid, Deftroy ye this Temple, and in three Days I
will raife it up, John ii. 19. Now the Scripture

in Mark fays, There arofe certain, end bare falfe

witnefs againft Chrift, faying, We heard him Jay, I
will deftroy this Temple, &c. Mark xiv. 57, 58.

I befeech your Lordfhip to confider, that in

this Teftimony of the falfe Witneffes againft

Chrift, there is only the Variation of a Word,

and the Addition of a Letter ; there is the Ad-

dition of a Letter /, and the Alteration of the

word ye for will (there's all) for Chrift did not

fay I will deftroy, but, deftroy ye ; and yet the

Scripture takes notice of it, that this Addition

of a Letter, and Alteration of a Word, brought

his Accufers under a falfe Teftimony, though

they fpake according to their Intention ; for they

did verily believe he fpake of the Temple : for

they faid, Forty Years was it in building. So

that I befeech you be tender in Matters of

Blood. 1 know you who are skilful in the Law
do know, that the Proof of Treafon muft be as

clear as the Sun, Probationes oportent effe luce cla-

rions. Now when a Man fhall come againft a

Man's Life, and cannot fhew any Letter that

ever he wrote, or that ever he did receive, but

fhall only fwear it was to this effect, or to this

purpofe, or I believe this was the Subftance of

if, 1 hope you are fo wife and confeientious, that

you will pafs no Judgment upon this conjectural

Evidence.

Another Particular, to which only one Wit-

nefs teftifies, and that is Adams ; he fwears that

I fhould fay, That if the Presbyterians were in

Arms, by the Bleffing of God, Malignants might

be prevented from getting the day. Truly, I do

not know what Crime is in thefe words, but as

they may be wrefted. But, Sir, I do remember

that this Adams hath often come to my Houfe j

he laid feven or eight times, he might have faid

feven and twenty times •, for he hath come
fometimes once or twice a Week to my Houfe,
to tempt me (as 1 now perceive) and hath offered

me Money ; and would ask me whether 1 knew
any thing for a publick Ufe that might require

Money, And though I never fufpected him, yeE

fo free am 1 from maintaining Correfpondency,

or from having Intelligence, or contributing of
Money to maintain a War, that I never received

one Penny of him in my Life, though I have
been moved to it by him : But I remember, of
late efpecially, about a quarter of a Year before

I was in Prifon, he would come once or twice

a Week to my Houfe, and he pretended that he
was wrought upon by me, and that I had turned

him from his malignant principles ; for he was
very violent for Hamilton's Invafion of England,
which I was, and to this day am againft; and I

did labour to poffefs him what a mifchievous
Dcfign that was : and fo he pretended to be
turned to my Principles, and upon this got fome
room in my Affections. But thefe words were
not above a fortnight before I was committed to

Prifon : and I remembet the Occafion of them
was this ;. I was bewailing the great Alienation

and Difference that there was between the Pres-

byterian and Independent Party (though I da
not love names of Diftinction ) and indeed thus

1 faid, that if the godly Party,, that were now
difunited and disjoined, both of the diffenting

and Presbyterian Way, were in Arms, there

were no Hopes that ever the Malignants fhould

get the Day. And God is my Record, I fpake
nothing to him but to this purpofe. And thus,

through the good Hand of God upon me, I

have fpoken to what I obferve in reading] the

Depofitions, wherein I find but fingle Teftimo-
nies againft me.

I fhall now crave leave (which is the main of
my Work) to run over the Depofitions as briefly

as I can ; for I fhall not trouble you with large

Speeches : but being the Depofitions were large*

and the Witneffes many, your Lordfhip and the

Court (I hope) will bear with me with the more
Patience, if I fpeak more largely in it. It is my
Duty to fpeak for myfelf, and it is for my Life.

The firft Witnefs that appear'd in Court againft

me, was Henry Potter. As to his Teftimo-
ny, there are many Particulars which he was.

ask'd about me, to which he fpake butconjec-

turally ; as he thought, and as he- believed, and as>

he conceived. And when Papers by Mr. Attor-

ney-General of his Examination were tendred to

him, he anfwered,, That then he had a Latitude-

tofpeak more than he durft ajjirm upon Oath. And
upon this I fhall humbly crave leave that I may
make this Motion to you, That you would notr
in paffing Judgment upon me, hearken to any
private Examinations, which are extrajudicial,

to be brought in Court againft me -, for moft of
the Witneffes had their private Examinations
fhewed them in Court, and were read to them,
and they did not fpeak in their Relations of

what they knew, but what they conceived ; and
when they could not tell what to fay, then their

Examinations were produced to direct them : and
I hope your Lordfhip and the Court will take

notice of this. And herein I cannot but ac-

knowledge the Juftice of this Court in this Par-
ticular, That you would not receive private

Exami-
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Examinations till they came Face to Face, that I

might anfwer to the Crimes laid againft me.

But as to his Teftimony, I fhall not run over

things that touch me not, I mull not flatter my
fell' to pafs over things that concern me : For I

know it will be looked upon with more prying

Eyes than mine are. There are only two things

in his Teftimony that concern me: He fpeaks

not of any Meetings at my Houfe that he knows

of ; he fpeaks not of any Money that ever I lent

him or gave him, though there was a narrow

and exact Examination of him in thofe Particu-

lars. But two things concern me in his Depofi-

tion ; the one is, That he received a Letter with

a great L. upon it, from one Colonel Bamfield,

which was a Narrative of the Affairs of Scot-

land ; which Letter, with two more inclofed,

from my Lord of Argyle, Lowdon, and Lothian,

he faid, he brought them to Mr. Love's : and

herein I might take notice, that he forgot him-

felf a little, for he might have faid, that he

brought them firft to Mr. Jaquel's ; for Jaquel
did affirm in Court, that Potter brought the Let-

ters to him, and fpake to him to come to me.

The Subftance of the Letters from the Earl of

jlrgyle and the reft, he fays, were to move for

Ten Thoufand Pounds ; and (as 1 remember) Ja-

quel fays, for Five Thoufand Pounds : But Pot-

ter himfelf acquits me in this matter ; for he

doth not fwear the Letter was to me, nor could

he fwear it juftly ; nay, he fwears he did not

think it was to me. And as for this Bamfield,

he is a Man whofe Face I never faw to this Day

:

and he fwears, (and indeed he had been injurious

if he had not told you thus) that when he came
into Mr. Love's Houfe, he faid,

Mr Love, / have News to /hew

you. And unlefs things be aggra-

vated againft: me, by the Insinua-

tions of Men, and by rigid Infe-

rences and Collections, this will be

the worft charged upon me, That
there were feveral Meetings at my
Houfe, and feveral Letters read

there, which I do not deny. But, Sir, he con-

feffes that he faid [Mr. Love, I have news to

Jhew you ;] and that he opened fome of the Let-

ters, and that fome were not opened when he

brought them : But neither he nor Jaauel fwears,

that I opened them ; and he tells you, That he

carried away the Letters with him. And he

fwears further, That both my felf, and all that

were there prefent, did manifeft an utter Diflike

and Deteftation of thofe Letters. But herein I

know what will be laid to my Charge ; it will

be faid, Why did not Mr. Love reveal them ?

Truly, in this I do ingenuoufly fay, That 1 did

conceive by reading of the Act that conftitutes

this Court, That thofe only were bound to re-

veal, that did receive them -, and not that I was
bound to reveal that which another Man recei-

ved. But herein I am better informed by my
Counfel, and they tell me, That Prefence with,

or Silence at what others do, makes it a criminal

Fact in me, if the Matter of the Letter be cri-

minal and treafonable by your Acts •, and there-

fore in this, that I did not difcover them, I fhall

humbly beg your Favour.

The next Thing in Potter's Teftimony that

toucheth me, is, he fwears that he heard of a

Propofition for raifing of 400/. for Titus and
Maffey \ but he varies from the others : Alford
Vol. II.

This Pajfage
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faid, 2 or 300/. and Far faid 2fo or 300 /. and

Potter faith, 400/. But he faith he was not

prefent, whan the Propofition was made, and

therefore he cannot fpeak as to that. But yet

faith he, / brought Ten Pounds to Mr. Love'*

Houfe, and there left it ; (five or fix Perfons more
being in the Room.) Mr. Attorney-General was

pleaied to ask him, Whether he did not give

me a twitch by the Hand or Cloke, when he

brought it ? Potter, I remember, denies that he

did fo; and I do not remember that ever he did

it, nor do I remember that ever he laid a Penny

of Money down in my Houfe: And I tell it

you in the Prefence of God, I never faw it, nor

received it to this very Day. But, Sir, if he had
given me a twitch, which is intended as an Ag-
gravation againft me, I hope a Judicatory will

not proceed upon fo filent a thing as that is

:

Though Solomon fays, There is a Teaching ivith

the Fingers, Prov. 6. 13. yet that is fo filent a

thing, that a Court of Judicatory cannot take

notice of it, unlefs it be manifeft and apparent

by fome Act. And therefore feeing he doth not

affirm that I faw the Money laid down, or that

I received the Money, or directed or ordered

him to come to my Houfe with any Money, I

hope you will not Jay that to my Charge. And
thus I have done as to that Particular.

There is only one thing more in order to the

Letters he was examined about. He was ask'd

what Anfwer was returned to thofe Letters that

he received from Bamfield, and the Earl of Ar-
gyle and the reft, that he fhewed Mr. Love? To
that" he gave this Account, That a Letter was

left at his Shop, which he thought, he faid,

came from Mr. Love, or Doctor Drake. Now,
Sir, for my part, 1 declare in the prefence of

God, That I never in all my Life, either wrote

or fent, or left a Letter at his Shop : And al-

though I am not to plead another Man's Caufe,

yet 1 believe that godly Minifter he mentions

will clear himfelf alfo; but I muft only fpeak to

my own Defence. For my part, I never in my
Life fent a Letter to his Shop, written to thofe

Perfons : and he only fwears, that he thought the

Letter left in his Shop came from me or Doctor

Drake: But how could he know from whom it

came,, or what was the Matter of it? And if

it had come from either of us, which he did not

affirm, yet he doth not fay he opened the Let-

ter, and io could not tell the Contents of it, that

it was an Anfwer to the fuppofed Letter he

fhewed me. I have only one thing to obferve

in his whole Teftimony, and that is, That he

confeffes, until he had a fight of other Mens
Examinations in private, to wit, of Alford's and

Adams's, the things did not come to his Remem-
brance, or Words to that Effect he hath in his De-
pofitions ; and that there were fome things to

which he could not fpeak exactly, till he firft faw

fome Informations; and that Mr. Attorney- Ge-
neral did fhew him fome Informations, and that

did bring things to his Remembrance ; and that

before Capt. Fijher and Mr. Attorney did prompt
him, and remember him, he had forgot. So
that, Sir, 1 befeech you confider, whether this

be a clear and a good Teftimony in 1 aw, That
when a Man hath forgot a thing done fo long

ago, he fhall through the Examinations of others

have his Memory rubb'd up, and then fhall

come here in a publick Court to teftify this againft

a Man's Life.

S The
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The next Witnefs is Major Alford, he gives

you a large Relation about lending Titm to Jer~

fey, and of i oo /. given him for his Journey,

and of Letters to the Queen, and Jermin and

Piercy. My Lord, I am as ignorant of all thefe

things as the Child unborn, and did never know
that 'Titus was gone or fent to Jerfey, by any

Perfon, till a long time after I heard he was

there, and till I heard of his Name in the Diur*

nals, that he was an Agent for fome Presbyte-

rians ; till then, God is my Record, I knew no-

thing of that : and I need not fpeak to this, but

becaufe this was part of my Charge, and brought

into the Court, many may imagine, as if I were

guilty upon the whole matter. But that which

concerns me, is this ; he affirms that the Com-
miffion and fnftru&ions were agreed upon at my
Houfe, to fend to fome Perfons, to wit, my
Lord Willoughby of Parham, Majfey, Titus, and

Alderman Bunce, to treat at Breda ; and this to

be in the behalf of the Presbyterian Party.

Now, Sir, I lhall humbly crave leave to offer,

wherein this Teftimony is not only difagreeing

with the Teftimony of others of the Witnefles,

but even to his own Teftimony alfo. For here

he fays, it was agreed upon at Mailer Love's

Houfe ; and in three Leaves after, he fays, it is

true, there was a Commiffion and Inftrudlions

read at Mr. Love's Houfe ; but whether they

were agreed upon there or no, faith he, I know
not. 1 do not fay he hath a bad Confcience,

but fure I am he hath a bad Memory. He dif-

agrees with the Witnefles alfo ; for Far did ex-

prcfly affirm upon Oath, That all the Company
was againft fending them away ; and therefore

for Alford to fay it was agreed upon among us,

in that 1 am fure he doth not fpeak truly. Ano-
ther thing which Alford lays to my Charge, is

about a Letter, which after Dunbar-Flght fhould

come from Majfey, wherein he Ihould write for

Money, and for Arms, by the way of Holland;

and he fwears this Letter was read in my Houfe,

and fays, That upon th? reading of it, I did

move for the Contribution of Money to be rai-

fed for the Supply of Titus. Now before I an-

fwer to that, though I am not in a Condition to

retort, yet I fliall humbly crave leave, with-

out Offence to Mr. Attorney- General, to intreat

the Court to take notice of this one thing :

Mailer Attorney-General, when the Witnefs

had fpake thefe Words, did pray your Lordlhip

and the Court to obferve, that Maffey wrote for

Arms, and Mr. Love moved for Money •, as if

he would infinuate to the Court, That he wri-

ting for Arms, and I moving for Money, that

my moving for Money was to buy Arms. Now
Alford upon Oath did declare, That every Man
there was againft Arms, and he only faid, That

the Motion for Money, was to fupply the per-

fonal Neceffities of Majfey and Titus, who were

in want. So that I intreat you to confider it,

that that Infmuation of Mr. Attorney-General

might not be aggravated againft me, and that a

bad Inference might not be drawn from it; as

if he writing for Arms, and I moving for Mo-
ney, that that Money Ihould be to buy Arms ;

which is contrary to Major Alford's Oath. A-

gain, another Infmuation of Mr. Attorney- Ge-

neral is this ; He prayed your Lordlhip and the

Court to confider, That I moved for 300 /. now
this is contrary to Alfotd's Oath; for Alford hath

thefe words, Mr. Love did move for the Contribu-

tion of Money, but then was no Sum fpoken of.
Now when he lhall affirm that there was only
a Motion for Money, but no Sum fpoken of,
lhall this be laid to my Charge, as if I moved
for 300 /. ? Therefore I intreat you, that thofe
Infinuations and Aggravations of Mr. Attorney-
General may not be laid upon me ; and that ye
would take no notice of any private Examina-
tions, nor yet of any Aggravations of thofe
who are Inftruments of State, but upon the plain
Depofition of the Witnefles, and according to
their Teftimony and your Confciences I mull
Hand or fall. Alford faid further, That after
he came from Titus, he gave an account of a
Narrative, and of a Copy of a Letter from the
King of Scots. What he might bring I know
not; and if he did, I never defired him, either to
go to Calais ; or to come to my Houfe : For I
never fpake with him as I remember, till after he
came from Calais ; nor till the time, he fays, the
Letter and Narrative was read in my Houfe.
Now, Sir, he only fays it was a Copy of a
Letter (not the Original) That Titus (faith he)
didfhew me a Copy of a Letter, at leaftwife, which
he faid wasfrom the King to the Presbyterian Par-
ty. So that this which is the foundation of the
reft of the Teftimony, is only this, 1 hat the
Copy of the Letter was read at my Houfe, and
that it was a Copy of the King's Letter] This
he affirms only upon Hear-fay ; for he fays, Titus
told him fo : But who can fwear, either that Ti-
tus had the original Letter, or that this was a
true Copy? Nay, might it not be a fictitious
thing, either of Titus or of this Man, as may
well be fufpecTed? So that they that reenv?
Letters, if that be Treafon, and thofe that write
LetD-rs and fend Money, if they be Traitors ;
yet they have proved none of thele againft me,
and yet i only am arraigned, and they in hope of
Favour.

Again, I defire the Court to take notice,
though Captain Far fays there was this Claufe in
the Cop of the Lttter from the King, to fend
Commijfioners to B;eda; (and yet he overthrew his
Oath afterwards ; for he lavs, 't is fo lo; g ago,
that

! cannot remember it': but I lhall fpeak to
that when I come to it) yet Alfo* d, that brought
this Letter, affirms, That he did not know it

was to defire Commiflioners to be lent ; and if
it had been fo, i Ihould never have done it, and
never did it. At that time I was in my Study,
I do not deny it; but when Brake read the
Commiffion, I did declare my Difhke of it, and
Deteftation againft it ; and fo did (as Far affirm-
ed) either moll or all the Company : nd if any
fuch thing were fent, God is my Record, I did
neither know of the writing of it, (other than
in Characters) nor of the contriving of it, nor
yet of the fending of it away, till i heard Al-
ford confefs in the Court, that he carried this
Commiffion to Gravefend to one Mafon, a .'"an
whofe Name I never heard of before I was in
Trouble. And if I had written and confented
to it, yet it was in the year 16^9, as Major
Huntington fwore, and therefore was before the
time that your KQl could take hold of me, if I
had concurred to it, which I never did. i:gain,
he infilled upon it, That I moved for a Con-
tribution. Now herein I befeech your Lord-
lhip, that I may offer thefe two things.

Firft, This is but the fingle Teftimony of one
Man, and bv the Law of God, and of the Land,
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a Man mufl not die, but under the Teftimony of

Two or Three Witneffes: in the old Teftament,

Deut. 9. and 15. One Witnefs Jhall not rife up

againft a Man for any Iniquity, or for any Sin in

any Sin that hefinneth. At the Mouth of Two Wit*

neffes, or at the Mouth of Three Witneffes, Jhall

the matter be ejlablijhed. And left this might be

thought to be a Judicial Law pertaining only to

the Jewifh State, it is therefore quoted four times

in the New Teftament ; by Chrift, in Matth. 18.

by Paul, in 2 Cor. 13. and in two other Places,

as noting it to be a Law of Moral Equity,

That no Man's Life mould be taken away but by

exprefs and clear Teftimony of Two fufficient

Witneffes. Now in this that may feem moft to

pinch upon me, that I mould move for Money,
there is but one Witnefs •, and it is, as I am in-

formed, contrary to the Laws of the Land, and

the Statute of the ift of Edward the Sixth, which

provideth, That no Man fhall be indicted, ar-

raigned, and convicted for Treafon, but by two

lawful and fufficient Witneffes: and therefore I

befeech your Lordfhip and the Court, that you

would be tender in thofe things, wherein you find

but one Witnefs fpeaking.

The other thing that I fhall fay to this Point,

about moving for Money, is, That I humbly
conceive the Act doth forbid relieving Perfons in

Arms ; but now no Perfon can be relieved by a

bare Motion : it is not the Motion, but the hav-

ing the Money moved for, before the Perfon

in Arms can be faid to be relieved; and if it

were true, yet it is not proved, That thofe

Perfons were then in Arms. The other Act of

the Second of Auguft, I conceive, gives me Re-

lief, if I had moved for Money ; for it judges

thofe only to be guilty of Treafon, that fhall

either fend, or caufe to be fent, Money, Horfe,

Arms and Ammunition into Scotland. Now,
Sir, if I had in a Meeting moved for Money,
yet he tells you not how much 1 moved for ; for

ought he knows it might be but for Six-pence,

for he cannot fwear to it : and I hope, when the

Sum is not fpoken of you will be very tender.

Yet this comes no: under your Act, either to be

a fending of Money into Scotland, or a caufing

of it to be fent, which is not the lead fattened

upon me. When I ask'd him (though he fwore

I moved for Money) whether I contributed any

Money my felf? to that he anfwered, he could

not fay I did, nor could any of the Eight Wit-
neffes that came againft me. And thus I have

done as to his Teftimony.

The third Witnefs is Major Huntington ; and
he affirms, That in the Year 1 649, one ask'd

him to go to my Houfe, and told him there were

fome there at Prayer, and that he might there

hear fome News ; and that he fpake upon hear-

fay : But then he fpake upon Oath, And when I
came there, Prayer was done. Now for a Man to

be fo pofitive in the firft Entrance of his Tefti-

mony, as to fay Prayer was done, when he could

not know that there was any Prayer there at all ;

(for when he came, it feems there was no Prayer ;

and how then could he know there was any
Prayer there at that time ?) this at the very firft

Entrance of his Evidence, I fuppofe, might be

a juft Ground to fufpect his whole Teftimony.
But as for the Man, I knew him not, I never
faw him, as I faid, before that Time, nor fince,

till I faw him here in Court. This Man affirms,

That William Drake read in Characters, that

Vol. 11.

which he called a Commiffion, and faid, Tnac
he had a Command from the King to fend this

Commiffion away ; which, God is my Record,
I never heard, nor ever knew of it : and Alford

that brought over the Letter, in which Far
fwore thole words were, he himfelf denies it.

But that which concerns me in Huntingdon's Te-
ftnnony, is this, he affirms, That when the

Commiffion was read by Drake, I mould fay,

Come, come, let it go. Now, Sir, I ask'd him
this Queftion, Let it go, what doth that refer

to ? Says Huntington, kt the Papers go. Now
truly 1 am not fo bad a Grammarian as to fpeak
of Papers, let it go, and not to fay, let them go.

And if I had fpoke of Papers, as he fays I did,

I muft either be guilty of Nonfenfe, or elfe he
of Falfhood •, I believe he of both. But as for

thofe words, Come, come, let it go ; he doth not

affirm that 1 faid, Come, let it go away, but !et

it go ; and that may be a word of diflike : And
if I did fay fo, yet it was not of the Commif-
fion, God is my Record ; for he came not till

Nine of the Clock at Night, as himfelf fays:

and before he came, I had declared my felf a-

gainft fending away the Commiffion and Infle-

ctions, as being an Act of too high a Nature lor

private Men, and of notorious Falfhood, to fay

it was in the Name of the Presbyterian Party,

when it was not. And the other Men that were

here in Court upon Oath, and that were then

prefent, as Adams and Alford, did confcls upon
Examination, That they heard no fuch words irom
mc.
The next Teftimony is Mafter Adams; and he

relates a Story of a Correlpondtncy between Wil-

liam Drake and one Mafon; and being ask'd, Was
Mafter Love privy to this Correfpondency ? he

did fo far clear me, that he could not fay it, nor

was I privy to it. Being ask'd again, Was Ma-
fter Love privy to thefe Letters of fending mo-
derate Propofitions to the King? That he like-

wife clears me in, he cannot lay it : And I can

fay, that I am fo far from Moderation in their

Senfe, that Moderation in their Senfe I deem
downright Malignity ; which I was and ftill am
utterly againft. He was ask'd likewife, Did
Mafter Love know of collecting a Hundred
Pounds for Titus ? To that he anfwered, Thar,

hedurft not upon Oath fay that Mr. Love was
privy to this Collection ; and he doth not fay,

that it was agreed in my Houfe to fend away the

Commiffion, but fiys, it was moved in my Houfe:
for he fays, / cannot fay, it was agreed upon, for
there was no Vote pafd. Thefe were his Words ;

and he contradicts Alford and Far in three Places

of his Teftimony. He overthrows Aford's De-
pofition. He affirms that the Copy of the Let-

ter from the King was to fhew what great Affec-

tion he bare to the Miniftry of England; and
promifed great Favour when he was in a Con-
dition to do it, and defired them to ftand ftedfaft

in the Way they were in. And he faith he dare

not fwear that this Letter was read in my Houfe

;

but he thinks it was. Now, as to this Letter

likewife, I defire the fame Favour from you,

that when the Letter doth not appear, neither

the Original, nor the individual Copy, that you
would be tender of pafilng any Judgment upon
me upon the vain Rovings of a Man's Memory ;

and of a Man's Memory too, that is engaged to

prof-cute my Life to fave his own, as moft of

the Witneffes are that came in againft me. He
S 2 faith
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faith there was a Motion made in my Houfe,

that a Commiffion and Inftruftions fhould be

drawn up, to fend to my Lord Willoughby of

Parham, and the reft in Holland ; but he fays,

But by whom I cannot fay : and fays he, There

ivas no Debate, as I remember, to mend the Inftruc-

iions; though the Attorney- General did lay it

upon me, as if I had corrected and amended

them, when I did neither read them, no, nor fo

much as touch them in my Life. The Subftance

of the Commiffion, he tells you, was to authorize

the Lord Willoughby of Parham, Majfey, Graves,

and others to affift their Brethren of the Scotifh

Nation in their Treaty. Now to this there is a

manifeft Contradiction in another Man's Tefti-

mony : For Captain Far fwears that the Com-
miffion he fpeaks of was not to treat, but only,

as private Perfons to advife that the King might

agree with the Scots upon the Intereft of Reli-

gion, and the Terms of the Covenant ; that he

might not be drawn away by the high-flown

Cavaliers and Malignants. So that Far over-

throws this Teftimony of Adams. Adams fays it

was to treat ; and Far fays it was not to treat,

but to advife. But be it the one, or be it the

other, I deteft both ; I had no hand in, and

gave no Affent unto it, but manifefted my Dif-

fent to the whole. He being likewife asked (for

I am ftill upon Adams % Teftimony) whether at

a Meeting it was not propounded at my Houfe

to write to the Queen, and to Jermin and Piercy,

to mediate with the King to agree with the

Scots: To this he anfwered, No. And truly

he might very well anfwer fo ; for I am fure I

did never in all my Life hear of a Motion fo

much as of a Letter to be writ to any of thefe

three Perfons, to the Queen, Piercy, or Jermin

;

and fhould have lothed and abhorred the very

Thought of it ; and fhould think that Caufe the

worfe, wherein thefe Perfons were engaged.

Being asked whether there was not a Letter

from Piercy, that writ for Money to be fent to

the King ; and whether the Anfwer given was,

That they fhould ftay till the King and Scots

were agreed, and then to fend Money ; Adams

in this did me this Right : He confeffed he faw

fuch a Letter writ ; but (fays he) I only faw it

in the Flands of one Mafon : a Man, who, for my
part, I never knew nor heard of till I was in

Trouble. And being asked whether this Letter

from Piercy was read in M after Love's Houfe,

he faid, Certainly no. Being again asked whe*

ther about Auguft there was not a Letter written

from Majfey, wherein he faid he had back-friends

in Scotland, and complained that he was not

promoted there, and whether that Letter was

communicated at Mr. Low's Houfe: Jnthisalfo

he did me right •, for he anfwered, No certainly,

that Letter was not, to the bejl of my Remembrance,

read there : I heard vf fuch a Letter, but faw it

not. Then being asked whether one Sterks was

not a Scotch Agent •, and whether he did not u;e

to come to my Houfe : To which he gives this

Anfwer, We took him to be a Scotch Agent, and

he met fometimes at Mafter Love'j Houfe. Now,
Sir, as to that, he fuppofed that he was an

Acent, but doth not fwear that he was fo, much lefs

that I knew him to be fo. Nay, I can fwear,

upon the beft Information I have had both from

his own Mouth, and the Mouths of others, that he

was no Agent ; for he lived in England fourteen

Years, and had not been in Scotland in fourteen

Years.

And I heard himfelf fay fo when he went away
upon the Aft : And I asked him, Are you itn-

ployed by the Church or State of Scotland ? And
he told me, No, he was not. It is in your
Breafts whether you will believe me, or no.
And likewife Mr. Blair, when he was here in

London, did affirm to me that he was a poor
honeft Man ; and that he was no way imployed
as an Inftrument of State. I know nothing of
the Man's Agency : Be he Agent or not, I never
fent Letter or Meffage by him, nor received any
from him in all my Life. But I fee it is laid

heavy upon me in my Charge, that I contributed
Money to him ; but no Man in his Depofitions
did prove that I ever gave him a Penny. Adams
being asked whether M after Love did not write
down the Sums of Money that was to be contri-

buted to Majfey, in this he doth me right alfo,

for he faith, Mafter Love had a Paper in his

Hand, but I did not fee what he wrote : and there-

fore to that I need not anfwer. Being further

ask'd, Did not Mafter Love put the firft Letter
of their Names before the Sums which others
wrote ; he anfwered, He could not fay fo.

Being ask'd further, Was there not a Letter
penn'd by Mafter Love and Doctor Brake ? this

Anfwer he gives, There was a Letter, but (fays he)

I cannot deliver it upon my Oath that it was penned
by them ; but I thought it wasfo. He could not
tell to whom this Letter was directed, but faid,

// was declared to be diretled to the General Affembly

of Scotland. Now, as I obferved in the Begin-
ning, this is only the fingle Teftimony of one
Man. And, indeed, it was the firft Queftion
(as 1 remember) that was asked me, that was of
moment, when I was examined by the Com-
mittee, whether I did not pen this Letter. I did
declare to them in the Prefence of God, That 1
neither penn'd that, nor any other, to any Perfon of
the Scotifh Nation, fince the Wars began: And this

I declare in the Prefence of the fame God, ftill

to be a Truth. Being ask'd further, Was Mafter
Love prefent at fome time of this Meeting? he
anfwer'd I was: And the Reafon why he
thought that we might pen it, was becaufe of
the Language of it. Mr. Attorney-General
upon this (1 remember) ufes this Expreffion, My
Lord, this is very high ', after we were engaged in

Blood, that a Letter fhould be fent. But to this

I fay, there is only a fingle Teftimony that fuch

a Letter was writ ; and whether it was fent or
no, he doth not prove : nor doth he prove that

I writ it : And I declare to you that I never

writ it. As touching this Letter, which Mr.
Attorney-General is pleafed to infift upon fo

much, Adams being asked whether it was agreed

upon that this Letter fhould be fent, he gave
this Anfwer, // was after the fame manner that

other Things were agreed upon ; but there was no

Vote pafs'd : And therefore he cannot prove my
particular and exprefs Affent to the fending of
the Letter, or any other Letter whatfoever.

And here to take off the Jealoufy of a Corre-

fpondency, which in the clofe, through the Grace
of God, 1 fhall clear to you ; but to take it off

now a little, before I come to it: If there had
been a Correfpondency maintained, would it

have been imaginable that from the time of the

Fight at Dunbar, which I think is ten Months
fince, to this time, that there fhould be no Let-
ter that any Man can fay, nor that I did certainly

know of, that either was written, or conveyed,

or
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or debated upon to be written, from that time and Lothian, and Eelcmras^ and another front

to this very day, to any of the Scotifb Nation ? one Matter Bailey, if I remember right. Now
And yet all this tends to aggravate Matters a- Sir, as to thefe Letters, I do not deny but that

gainft me, and all the Burden is laid upon my
weak Shoulders. Other Men that have heavy

Loads have laid them upon my Back, to lighten

them from off themfelves. Touching this Let-

ter, he faith, This was the Subfiance of it, or it

was to this efifeff, or purpofe. And again. I infill

upon it to befeech your Lordfhip and the Court,

they brought them to my Houfc ; nay, I do ac-

knowledge thofe two Men did bring thofe Let-

ters to my Houfe, at leaftwife which they faid

were fuch : But whether they were the Originals

or Copies, I know not ; for I never read nor

kept the Letters, but they carried away the Let-
ters with them. And Captain Potter faid, Ma-

to take heed what \ou do. It concerns you jler Love, I have News to fijew you ; at that very

more than me: It concerns my Life only •, but time when Mr. Jaquel and he came to fhewthem

it concerns your Honours, and Lives, and Souls, at my Houfe. This Witnefs, I cannot call him

and all, that upon an uncertain Evidence you do fo, but this Informer faith, that being asked what

not fpill a Man's Blood. The Man never read was done upon the hearing of thofe Letters, he

the Letter, only he heard it read ; and then he

brings into that and other Letters, This is the

Sumo" it, or it was to this effect. And though

this Man hath done me Injury in fome Particu-

lars, yet in others he hath done me Right : For

being asked, Did Mailer Love write Letters, or

receive any, or mend thofe Inftruclions ? he only

fwears he faw the Letters ; but cannot fay I did

read them. Being asked whether I did give my
Conlent to the fending away of that Letter after

Dunbar-Fight, which is fo much infilled upon,

and fo greatly aggravated, he did thus far right

me ; he faid, / will not fwear he did give his Con-

fent, B:ing asked Whether I was a Correfpon-

dent, he faid he took me to be a Correfpondent

:

And upon thefe Words I had leave to ask him

this Q^eftion, Whether he knew I was a Cor-

refpondent ? To this he faid, That Letters were

heard by me ; but, faid he, / cannot /wear that

he was a Correfpondent : I did conceiveMafter Love

to be a Correfpondent ; but I did not fay fo : dnd I

dare not [wear that he was a Correfpondent. So

that herein likewife there is nothing but his

humbly Conceivings, and his Suppofhions ; ac-

cording to which I hope you will not pafs any

Cenfure upon me. And thus I have done with

Adams's Tellimony.

The fifth Tellimony is that of Jaquel, which

I do here again in Court except againll as no le-

gal Witnefs; for he did declare he could not

in Confciencc take an Oath againll me. He did

well nigh half an Hour declare he couid, not

fwear, but that he would make a Narrative or Re-
lation of what was true. I did intrcat your Lord-

fhips leave to put it to him whether he was
under an Oath, or no ? and he faid, twice at

leaft, 1 am as good as under an Oath. If any Per-

fon, good or bad, come under an Oath, I mult

Hand or fall by his Tellimony ; and, according

to God's Ordinance, an Oath is to decide all

Controverfies : But the Man declared he was

not under an Oath, and went out of the Court,

and was fined five hundred Pound : And when
afterwards he was called into the Court again,

he did only put his Hand upon his Buttons on
his Breall. So that this was not any taking of

an Oath •, but fearing his Fine, he did it, though
with much feeming Regret of Confcience ; and I

am informed this Day that he denies that he

was under an Oath. And if fo, then 1 have no-

thing to fay to his Tellimony ; and fo fliall not

fpeak to it, but only as to a bare Relation and
naked Information. There is nothing that doth

concern me in his Tellimony, but only a Con-
currence with Potter. Potter and he coming to

my Houfe with fome Letters, (as he faith) one
from Bamfield, another from Argyle, Lowdon

faid Potter read the Letters ; but that there was
no Agreement upon it, but an utter Difiike in

all that heard them about the Contents of them.

And he hath thefe Words further, It was, fays

he, a Trouble, I am confident, to them that heard

and read the Matter of thofe Letters. But being

asked, Did Mailer Love agree to the giving

of forty Pound to Bamfield and his Man ? To
that Queftion he anfwers thus : He faid there

was no Agreement-, but it was thought conve-

nient by all. Upon this I craved leave of your

Lordfhip to ask him this Queftion, How he

knew my Thoughts, that I thought it conveni-

ent ? To which he gave this Anfwer ; 1 cannot

fay any thing, that Majler Love did fay it was
convenient. So that therein, though he might

prefume upon a Man's Thoughts to know them,

yet he mull only judge my Thoughts by my
Words, as the Tongue and Heart agree ; for

he is not a God : But he doth not fay that I faid

it was convenient. Nor did either of them prove

that ever I gave a Penny either to Bamfield or his

Man.
The lafl Witnefs that came in againfl me, is

Captain Far. And, indeed, I do not know what
to make of his Tellimony : I will not call it a

Prompting, that will be thought too bad a Word \

but certainly it was fuch a Tellimony that I never

heard produced in any Court in my Life : For
MailerAttorney General, and fome others here, did

ask him ninety eight Quellions. So that the Man
fpake nothing deliberately, but fpake by reading

out of his private Examinations, which is extra-

judicial to be brought in Court, where the Wit-

neffes are to fpeak viva voce. There was, I

fay, fo many Quellions (befides thofe I had leave

to ask him) propounded to him, during the

time he was upon his Oath. And the Man
was of a dull Spirit, and flow of Speech ;

and I did perceive him to be fo poffefied with

Fear, and that he knew not v/hat he faid : For

he hath manifell Contradictions in his Tellimo-

ny, which I believe all the Court will fee, and

therein concur with me, when they come to hear

them. The firfl. Word I heard him fay in Court

was this, To defire the Benefit of his Papers. It

feems he did fufpeel the Badnefs of his iVSemorv,

that he mult have his Papers to help him, (and

Papers written by another) before he would de-

pole in Court againll me for my Life.

Being asked whether upon the ending of the

Treaty of Jerfiy there was not a Letter came
from Titus, to defire fomebocly to come to Calais

;

and whether that Letter was read at any Houfe ,

and whether at my Houfe /llford vws defired to

go ; he affirms he was, (which none elfe did) and

which is a molt notorious Falfhood. I have no

Rancour
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Rancour in my Heart againft htm ; the Lord

knows I have prayed for all thofe that perfecute

me •, and my Heart cleaves to them in Love and

Pity. I do not tax the Badnefs of his Confci-

ence, I think he dares not be fo vile ; but I do

tax his Memory in Things done fo long ago.

And afterwards he fays he could not remember

ought, (tho* he did pretend to remember) becaufe

they were done fo long ago ; yet before he did

affirm them. Now to demonftrate this, that he

fays in this Claufe, to be falfe, that Alford was

defired in my Houfe to go, Alford himfelf fays

he was never at my Houfe till he came from

Calais* which is certainly true : And therefore

Alford could not at my Houfe be defired to go

to Calais. When there was an Account given of

Alford's Return from Calais, then I know he was

there, though I never fpake with him before

that time, as I remember ; nor was he ever with-

in my Doors till after his Return. But fays Far,

I cannot fay Majler Love was prefent while Al-

ford'.f Return was there read ; for fometimes he

was abfent.

Then further, being asked what was the Sub-

ftance of that Copy of the Letter from the King
that Alford brought from Titusr he anfwered, That

she Sum of it was this, that the King of Scots did

declare he would give Satisfaction to the Scots ;

and in order thereunto, he defired Commiffioners

to be fent over to Breda. Thefe are the Words
of his Teftimony. Now, Sir, this is but the

fingle Teftimony of one Man ; and it is contrary

to the Teftimony of that very Man that brought

over this Letter : And if any Man knew the

Subftance of the Copy of the Letter pretended

to be from the King, it muft be Alford, that

brought it over : Certainly none could know it

better than he. And therefore for this Man to

be fo ftrangely befides himfelf, and to forget

himfelf fo, as to fay this is the Sum of the Let-

ter, when he that brought it faith the contrary,

and did not know that this was the Sum of ir,

this may feem ftrange ; and I hope you will

judge of the Weaknefs of this Teftimony. Be-

ing asked whether he did not conceive this to be

the Copy of the King's Letter, he did me right

in that ; for he faid he could not tell whether it

was the Copy, but that Alford told him he

brought over a Copy of the King's Letter. And
Mr. Attorney-General was pleafed to aggravate

this of Captain Far againft me : Says he, The
King fent over for Commiffioners to treat ; and

accordingly at Mr. Love's Houfe it was agreed

upon that Commiffioners fhould be fent, and

there were Perfons named. To this I fay, That,

God is my Record, I never in all my Life heard

(as I remember) of any Letter from the King to

that end, that Commiffioners ffiould be fent over.

And Far doth me right herein ; for in anfwer to

that Queftion, Was your Commiffioners agreed

upon ? he three times anfwers negatively. I do

not perceive that he remembers himfelf fo well

in all his Teftimony, as in that Particular.

Being asked whether the Commiffion was agreed

upon, he faid it was not agreed upon by the

Company. And herein he did me more right

than any Man ; for he gave my Reafon, For
(fays he) the Reafon given was, Becaufe private

Perfons could not give a Commiffion. And though

he hath done me more wrong than any Man,
yet herein he hath done me more right than any

Man. Being further asked, Was it rot debated

to fend a Commiffion over ? Drake, he faid, read
a Paper in the nature of a Commiffion ; but it was
not agreed upon by the Company, becaufe private

Perfons could do no fuch thing. And a third time
he fays, The Commiffion and InftruElions were read
in a Company at Mr. Love'i Houfe \ (that he
affirms, and that I do not deny) but not agreed

upon. And further he faid, He did conceive, to

the beft of his Remembrance, it was in the

Name of the Presbyterian Party of England: But
(fays he) I cannot pofitively fay it was fo ; for I
did but only hear it read. Then your Lordfhip
a*ked him this Queftion, Did you fay that the

Commiffion was not agreed upon, but that the

Inftrudtions were ? To this Captain Far faid,,

That William Drake undertook to draw up the

Commiffion and Inftruc-tions ; but yet, fays he*

/ cannot fay that they were either drawn up, or

fent. Again, he fays further, (and herein he
doth me more right than Adams or Alford dothj

Adams, he fays it was not agreed upon ; yet he
faith thus, There was a Commiffion read for to

treat ; and fo fays Alford : But this Man fays

direttly, That this fuppofed Commiffion was
not to treat in the behalf of the Presbyterian

Party. And it had been a Folly for private Men
to afTume fueh a vain Title to themfclves. So-

that he fays direcftlv, upon yourLordfhip's Que-
ftion to him, that rt was not to treat, but to ad-

vife the Scotch Commiffioners, and the Minifters

efpecially, to agree with the King upon the

lntereft of Religion, and Terms of the Covenant.

But being asked, Was it not in the behalf of the

Presbyterian Party ? he anfwered, No. Being
further asked, Was there not an Agreement at

Mr. Love's Houfe for a Letter to be fent to the

Queen ? Herein alfo this Man doth me right j

he faid, No, my Lord. And yet he contradicts

himfelf likewife ; for being asked in the next

Queftion what was the Subftance of that Letter

to the Queen, he anfwered, The Subftance of the

Letter to the Queen was, That me fhould per-

fuade the King to give Satisfaction to the

Scots in their juft Demands. Now, either he

muft hear of this Letter fomewhere elfe, or elfe

frame a Fiction to himfelf, that this was the

Matter of the Letter, when there was no fuch

Letter in rerum natura. The next Thing he
charges me with, is, That I fhould fay it was
agreed that Money fhould be raifed for Maffiey

and Titus ; and he names the Sum, he thinks

250, or 300 /. and that I thereupon fhould par-

ticularly move him with this Queftion, Captain

Far, what will you do ? Now, I befeech your

Lordfhip and the Court to confider that he doth

not fwear that I faid we were agreed, but it was,

agreed ; and that might be the Act of other Men,
and not mine. And in another Place he faid,

they agreed ; but he doth not fay that 1 faid we
agreed, to include my felf : But to that, That I

fhould move him, and fay, Captain Far, what
will you do? Truly this is but a general Queftion.

And he himfelf did me thus far right : When [

had leave from the Court to propound this

Queftion to him, Captain Far, did I move you,

or fay to you, What Money willyou give for Maffey

or Titus ? he anfwered, He did conceive it was

for that \Jfe. So that he proves not againft me,
that I moved for Money for Maffey or Titus ; but

only that I fhould fay, Captain Far, what will ycu

do ? And if you obferve the Words of the Tefti-

mony, they are thefe exactly. He tells vcu that

he
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he brought Five Pounds ; for there is all that e-

ver I am charged with. I am not charged with

lending a Penny ; but only that Fifteen Pounds

was brought to my Houfe •, Ten Pounds by Pot-

ter, and Five Pounds by this Man. And he af-

firms that he left this Five Pounds at my Houfe.

And herein I perceive a Contradiction in the

Man ; and therefore it is hard to determine when

he fpeaks true, or when he fpeaks faife. Thefe

are his very Words ; Mr. Love (fays he) asked

me what I would do ; and I did lay down Five

Pounds upon Mr. Love'j Table, when feveral Per-

fons were in the Room. And being asked, Did

Mr. Love, receive this Money ? he faid he could

not tell ; but was loth to tell who he thought re-

ceived it. But in his laft Word, fave one, that

he fpake in Court (which made much for my Ad-
vantage) he faid, he thought I did not receive it

;

and God is my Record, I did not : But he faid

another Man did, and named Captain Maffey.

But the Contradiction I obferve is this : He tells

you he laid down Five Pounds, when feveral

Perfons were in the Room ; and in the next

Qucftion but one being asked, Was Mr. Love in

the Room ? Yes, my Lord^ fays he ; but I cannot

fay any body elfe was there. So that therein the

Man evidently contradicts himfelf. And it ap-

pears he was under a very great Fear, artd even

confounded by the many Queftions propounded

to him. I asked him further, Did I bid you lay

it down ? Says he, I cannot fay that you bid me
lay down the Money. Being asked, Was this way
of laying down of Money to prevent Difcovery ?

he faid he did it under that Notion. But being

asked by me, Did I bidyou lay it down under that

Notion ? he anfwered, he would not fay I did.

So that I neither directly nor indirectly did bid

him bring Money to my Houfe, or lay it down
when it was brought there : But other Perfons

were in the Room -, and he conceives whatPerfon

took it away. Therefore I befeech you make a

candid and fair Interpretation of what I have faid

or done.

Being asked about the Copy of the King's

Letter, that Alford fays he brought over from
Titus, whether I was in the Room whilft it was
read, he faid, I cannot fay that he was there when it

was read ; but he was there duringfome part of the

Comtnunication. But fays he, I cannot fay he was
there at the reading of the Letter ; nor can I fay
he was prefent whilft the Narrative was read. He
obferved I was often called away, and wasabfent-,

and fays he, I cannot fay there was any fuch thing

done by Mr. Love. And I asked him this Que-
ftion, Did Ifend, or agree to fend Major Alford

to Calais ? He anfwers, He thinks I did not. And
herein he falfifieth his former Teftimony ; for he

faid Major Alford was defired in my Houfe to go
to Calais -, and yet Alford fwore he never was in

my Houfe till after he came from thence. But
herein he doth me right too, (though with Con-
tradiction to himfelf :) He faid it was agreed at

my Houfe that Alford mould go ; and yet now he

fays he thinks I did not agree to the fending of
Alford.

Being asked further, whether I did give Con-
fent to che fending away the Commiffion, he an-

fwered, / cannot fay Mr. Love was there when it

wasfent away. And truly I may fay, who brought
it away, or who drew it up, and what was done
in it, I cannot tell. There might be a thoufand
Treafons in it, for ou^ht I know ; for I did nei-

ther own the reading of it, nor the fending of it,

but did utterly protefl againfl both. Being again

asked, whether I agreed to the fending of it away,
he anfwered, It was agreed upon by all, that

we could not fend the Commiffion away. When I

asked him, Did I Jay to you, Captain Far, Will
you contribute Five Pounds for Maffey and Tiais ?

he gave this Anfwer, (fays he) You ashed me what
I would do; fo that I conceived it was for Maffey
and Titus. And he affirms he laid this Five
Pounds down in my Houfe ; but did not fay that

I received it. And in the Prefence of God I

fpeak it, I never faw it, nor received it in all my
Life.

And thus with much Acknowledgment, and
bleffing God, and thanking your Lordfhip and
the Court, you have given me leave to take a brief

Survey through the Depofitions of the Witneffes,

tho' they have been very large, and the Charge a-

gainft me very high.

Now having fpoken to the Depofitions (before I

fhall crave leave to fpeak fomething concerning

my felf, and make humble Propofals to this

Court) I fhall add but one Word, and it is this :

I was loth, before I faw Witneffes Face to Face,

to confefs any thing ; 1 deemed it againfl Nature
for any to confefs againfl himfelf, unlefs he could

be fure his Confefiion fhould not prejudice him.

And I might have been guilty of my own Blood,

if 1 had confeffed; for then, did the Matter con-

feffed amount to Treafon by your Law, my Life

would be at 1 our Mercy, and you might hang me
upon mine own ConfefTion. And upon that

ground I went refolved to the Committee ; and
thro' the Grace of God I refolved not there to

confefs a Word nor Tittle, till I heard what Proof
was brought in againfl me. And now I do in-

genuoufly acknowledge that there were feveral

Meetings at my Houfe ; that thefe Perfons met
there ; and that this Commiffion was read there,

but I did utterly diflike it, and diffent from it.

And that I was prefent at the reading or Letters,

either at the beginning, or end, or fome part of

them, I do acknowledge : And this 1 fay, that I

was ignorant of the Danger that now I fee I am
in. The Act of the 2d of Auguft, 1650, doth

make it Treafon to hold any Correfpondency, or

to fend Letters, tho' but in a way of Commerce,
into Scotland, let the Matter of them be what it

will. Now herein my Counfel acquaints me
with my Danger, That I being fometimes pre-

fent when Letters were read in my Houfe, am
guilty of a Concealment ; and as to that, I do
humbly lay my felf at your Feet and Mercy.
But as to Treafon, I do not know any perfonal

Act of mine proved againfl me, that brings me
under any Act of yours. And thus having brief-

ly fpoken concerning the Charge in general, and
concerning my Accufers, and having briefly fur-

veyed their Teftimony, I fhall humbly crave leave

to fpeak fomething concerning my felf, and I fhall

be very brief in it.

Concerning my felf, it is needful I fhould

fpeak a Word : I would not ftand under Mif-

reprefentations, to feem to be what I am not.

I am prefented unto fome as if I were a Ma-
lignant, an Apoflate from my firft Principles, a

Mover of Sedition, and what not, but what I

am. Wherefore I am conftrained to fpeak a

Word in my own Vindication, and I fhall make
the Apoftle's Apology, I ain become a Fool in glo-

rying ; but ye have compelled me. I count it never

lawful
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lawful for a Man's own Mouth to praife him,

till another Man's Mouth accufes him ; and then

he may without Vanity be his own Vindicator.

V/hat I fhall fay of my felf, the Lord knows it

is not voluntarily, out of an affected Oftentation,

but by Compulsion, for a neeeffary and clear

Manifeflation of my Principles and Practices,

now fufpected. As touching Malignity, I hate

both Name and Thing : And, as Cardinal Far-

nefus faid of himfelf profanely, That if he knew
any Part of him infected with Lutheranifm, he

would cut it off, and caft it into the Fire ; that

I can fay truly, That if I knew any Part of me
infected with Malignity, I would cut it off with

the Pruning-hook of Mortification, and by an

ingenuous Retraction before you all this Day.

God is my Witnefs, I never drove a malignant

Defign, I never carried on a malignant Intereft :

I deteft both. I ftill retain my old Covenanting

Principles, from which, through the Grace of

God, I will never depart for any Terror or Per-

fuafion whatfoever. When I look upon all the

Vows, and Covenants, and Declarations, and

Proteftations of both Houfes of Parliament, I do
find a Suitablenefs between my Judgment and

them, and am not confcious to my felf of any

thing that I have done in oppofition or contra-

diction thereunto: And therefore I may fay as

Jeremy did, when he was accufed, in the like

Cafe, of making Defection to a contrary Party,

Jer. 37. 13, 14. Irijah faid to Jeremiah, Thou

fallejl away to the Chaldeans. Thenfaid Jeremiah,

It is falfe, Ifall not away to the Chaldeans. So,

if it be charged upon me that I am fallen from

my firft Principles, or that I am fallen to Ma-
lignity, I fay to any that fhall fo accufe me,

it is falfe, I fall not away to Malignity ; I do re-

tain as great a Keennefs, and fhall whilft I live,

and as ftrong an Oppofition againft a malignant

Intereft, whether in Scotland, or in England, or

in any Part of the World, againft the Nation

where I live, and have to this Day, as ever I

did in former Times. I am no Incendiary or e-

vil Inftrument, to divide the Nations one from

another: God knows the Grief of my Heart

hath been for the Divifions, and the Defire of

my Soul hath been for the Union of both the

Nations. And if I had as many Lives as I have

Hairs on my Head, or as much Blood in my Veins

as there is Water in the Sea, I could count it all

well fpent to quench the Burning that our Sins

have kindled between the two Nations. I have

all along engaged my Eftate and Life in the

Parliament's Quarrel againft the Forces raifed by

the King : My appearing in their Caufe was not

from any Aim at Profit, but out of a Perfuafion

of Confidence and Senfe of Duty. I may fpeak

it, as Paid doth it of himfelf, I was in Labours

more than they all. I fpeak it without Vanity ; I

was, according to my obfcure Station and mean
Condition, in doing and giving in the Parlia-

ment's Quarrel, more than many. Many gave

out of their Abundance ; but I out of my Want:
And as Ghrift fpake to the Widow who gave

two Mites, That Jhe gave more than they all ;

for (he gave all that /he had^ even all her Living :

So did I ; though I gave my Mite, yet I gave

my All. And I did not only deem it my Duty
to preach for the Lawfulnefs of a Defenfive

War, but (unlefs my Books and wearing Appa-
rel) I contributed all that I had in the World :

And that was no fmall Sum, considering the

Meannefs of my Condition. And I have at

this Day a great Sum due to me from the State,

which is ftill kept from me, and now my Life

endeavoured to be taken from me. And yet for

all this, I repent not of what I have done ; tho'

I could from my Soul wifh that the Ends of that

juft War had been better accomplifhed : Then
fhould we have been happy, and united among
our felves, and honoured among the Nations
round about us. I am fo far (I fay) from re-

penting of what I have done, both by doing and
contributing, and fuffering in the Parliament's

Quarrel, that were it to do again upon the fame
unqueftionable Authority, for the lame declared

Ends, and againft the fame malignant Perfons, I

fhould manifeft as much Readinefs of Mind
to engage according to my Meafure, as ever I

did.

And thus I have declared myfelf touching my
Principles in thefe Particulars ; I fhall now crave

leave to exprefs my felf a little touching my Suf-

ferings ; and then to make but a few humble
Propofals, and fo caft my Life into God's Hands
and yours. Touching my Sufferings, I may fay

that my whole Life hath been a Time of Af-
fliction, either of Body or Mind : God fees my
Heart to be a tough and knotty Piece, that it

needs fo many Blows to break it. I may fay with

the Pfalmijl, I have been affiitled from my Toutb

up, and from my Youth up have I met with Op-
pofition : From the Prelates, being perfecuted

by them meerly for Confcience-fake. it is near

twenty Years fince I was cited to the Bifhops

Courts : I have been often troubled for hearing

of Sermons, and difcharging other Exercifes of
Religion, which were an Offence in thofe Days.
When I was a Scholar in Oxon, and Mafter of
Arts, (I do not fpeak it out of vain Oftentation,

but merely to reprefent unto you, that what I

was I am, and what I am I was) I was the firft

Scholar I know of, or ever heard of in Oxon*

who did publickly refufe in the Congregation-

Houfe to fubferibe unto thofe Impofitions or Ca-
nons impofed by the Archbifhop, touching the

Prelates and Common -Prayer ; and for which,

though they would not deny me my Degree,

yet I was expelled the Congregation-Houfe, ne-

ver to fit as a Member among them. When I

came firft to London, which was about twelveYears
fince, I was oppofed by the Bifhop of London ;

and though I was called as a Lecturer to Ann Al-

derfgate, yet it was near three Years before I

could faften upon any Lecture. After this, a-

bout the Year 1640, or 164 1, I was imprifoned

in Newcaftle, merely for expreffing my felf a-

gainft the Errors of the Service-Book, and was
removed from Prifon there, by a Habeas Corpus*

to this Place ; and in this Court of King's-Bench

I was acquitted. After this, about the beginning

of the W ars between the late King and the Par-

liament, I was the firft Minifter that I know of

in England, who was accufed for preaching of
Treafon and Rebellion, merely for maintaining in

a Sermon, in Kent, at Tenderden, the Lawfulnefs

of a Defenfive War, at the firft Breaking-out

and Irruption of our Troubles ; but was then

publickly acquitted in a Court there, and reco-

vered Cofts and Damages of my Accufer. Af-
ter this I had a little Breathing-time, whilft. the

two Houfes of Parliament were in Power -, only

I was once complained againft by the King's

Commifiioners at Uxbridge, for preaching a Ser-

mon
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mon there. I did not know that I fhould preach

there till thePfalm was lung ; and did only preach

a Sermon which I had preached the Day before at

Windfor-Caftle. I was, I fay, complained of by

the King's Commiffioners to the Houfe, for that

Sermon ; but within three Weeks I was acquit-

ted and difcharged by Order of the Houfe of

Commons. That Sermon is much fpoken of,

becaufe it is fo little feen, it is fo obfcure a Piece ;

and many imagine as if the Keennefs of my Af-

fection was blunted from what it was in that Ser-

mon. But I declare unto you, that I come up

to this Day to every Tittle of that Ser-

mon. I hear it is lately printed ; and if it be

printed according to the firft Copy, I will own

every Line of it, as that to which my Heart and

Judgment concurs to this very Day. After all

this, fince the late Change of Government, I

have been three times in Trouble : I was once

committed to Cuftody by, and twice cited be-

fore the Committee of Plunder'd Minifters ; but

there was no fufficient Proof againft me, and fo I

was difcharged.

But now Jaft of all, this great and laft Trial

and Trouble is come upon me. I have been kept

feveral Weeks in clofe Prifon, and now I am ar-

raigned for my Life ; herein is my great Com-
fort, even that which was the Apoftle's, 2 Cor.

1. 10. God thai hath delivered me, he doth deliver

me, in whom I truft that he will yet deliver me :

And that that fhall be made good to me, Job 5.

19. He Jhall deliver thee in fix Troubles, yea in

/even there Jhall no Evil touch thee. As Cato, he

was accufed thirty two times by the unkind State

whom he faithfully ferved, and yet after thirty

two times Accufation, his Innocency and Upright-

nefs brought him off. Why fhould not I be

confident in my God, who have had a Life-time of

Experience of his Care and Love towards me ?

It is not the Danger of my Life troubles me ;

I am a fickly Man, and I know a Difeafe

will ere-long kill me, whatever you do with me :

but this grieves me more, That I fhould fuffer

from their Hands, for whom I have done and

fuffered fo much in my obfcure Station, and

according to my weak meafure. Had it been

an Enemy had dealt thus by me, and made
fuch an eager Profecution of me, and fuch high

Aggravations of that which in the Simplicity of

my Heart I have done, it had not been fo much ;

and as I told the Committee when I was exami-

ned by them (who charged me with Jefuitifm

and Non-Ingenuity, becaufe I would not confefs

againft my felf and others) that though 1 ho-

noured them as private Gentlemen, and fhould

acquaint them with what my felf had done, when
it fhould not be a Snare to me ; but when they

i fhall apprehend me by a Warrant for Treafon,
1 and examine me in order to a Trial for my Life,

1 in no Judicature in the World will I confefs a

j

Word, till I firft hear what will come in againft

! me. Now, as I told them then, I never wrote
' Letter, nor received Letter, nor fent or lent Mo-
1 ney to any Perfon of the Scotifh Nation. Now

that I fhould meet with this hard meafure, to

have the moft rigid and fevere Interpretation put

upon all my Actions, to be look'd upon with fo

jealous (I might fay with a worferjEye, that have

in my meafure ventured my All in the fame Quar-
rel that you were engaged in, and lifted up my
Hands in the fame Covenant, that have took
fweet Counfel together, and walk'd in Fellow-
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fhip one with another : that from thefe I fhould

have fuch hard meafure, this, this troubles me
greatly. Had I been fo dealt withal at the Juncto
at Oxon, I fhould not have been fo troubled at it %

but to be dealt fo with at Weftminfler, this is that

at which I ftand amazed : yet, bleffed be God, I

am not afraid ; my Confcience doth not tell me
of any perfonal Act of mine proved againft me,
that brings me under any of your Laws as to

Treafon.

And thus having exprelTed my felf concerning

my Charge, and the Witnefies, and my felf ; 1

fhall now in the clofe of all fay (whatever tor-

tured Collections or Inferences are drawn from my
Practices, and however Lawyers may aggravate

thofe things that in part have been proved a-

gainft me) yet I do declare in the Prefence

of God, that whatever I have done, in the Sim-
plicity and Integrity of my Heart I have done it

;

and did deem it to be confonant and agreeable

both to my Confcience, and to the Proteftations

and Covenant I have taken : and I have done
nothing out of Animofity, or from a Spirit of Re-
venge. And thus I have done concerning my
felf.

I have only a few humble Propofals to make
to your Lordfhip and the Court, and then I fhall

leave all to God's Determination and yours. To
you that are my Judges, I humbly crave this of
you, and I do it upon your Lordfhip's Words
the firft Day of my Appearance here. When
you were pleafed to deny me Counfel, you faid

you would be Counfel for me : and I befeech you
be fo, for you are Judges both of Matter of Law
and Matter of Fact. I may make ufe of that

Paffage, Prov. %i. 8. Solomon fays there, That

Rulers miift open their Mouths for the Dumb, in

the Caufe of all fuch as are appointed for Dejiru-

tlion. Truly, my Lord, I am as a dumb Man
before you ; dumb in Matters of Law, I cannot

plead one Word for my felf : I befeech you, be

as Solomon's Rulers were, and open your Mouths
for him that is appointed to Deftruction ; you
who are my Judges, be my Advocates, my Life

lies in your hands. And then 1 befeech you let

me make this humble Motion to you, That you
would not count any thing that 1 have done to

be out of Animofity or Stoutnefs of Spirit:

Truly, nothing but Confcience could carry me
through all my Sufferings ; I could not leave

fuch dear Relations that God hath given me,
and fuch a loving People, and comfortable

Livelihood, as any Minifter hath within the

Walls of London : nothing but Conviction of
Confcience can carry me another way •, and
till Confcience be fully fatisfied, I cannot ftir one
Step.

The next thing I beg, is, to befeech your
Lordfhip and the Court to put a candid and fair

Interpretation upon all that I have done, or that

by Witnefs you have heard ; that it was no ma-
lignant Defign, tho' I do not own the Manage-
ment of any Defign : I never writ Letter nor

fent Letter to any of the Scotifh Nation ; yet

thus far I own the thing, that it was agreeable to

my Judgment and Confcience. For I thought

the Intereft of God and Religion, and the Good
of the Nation, would be more advanced if the

King went into Scotland upon Covenant-Terms,

than if he fhould fall into the hands of the Irifh

Rebels, or offer this Nation to the Turk or Spa-

niardy or any other to come in and make a Prey
T of
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of it. I did judge it would be a Foundation laid

of great Troubles and Blood, if he were not re-

ceived by that Nation. And tho' I did not, and

do not in the leaft own either the Commiflion or

Inftructions, or the Way of Management of that

Bufinefs ; yet I confefs the Agreement between the

King and Scots I defired, and deemed it my duty

upon this ground, one Claufe of the Covenant be-

ing, to feek the Union and Good of both Nati-

ons ; and thofe who endeavour the contrary, are

declared by the Covenant to be Incendiaries, Ma-
lignants, and evil Inftruments, who not only di-

vide the Kingdoms one from another, but divide

the King from the People. Now they declar-

ing him to be their King, according to my ap-

prehenfion I thought it agreeable to my Cove-

nant, to pray and defire, as a private Man, and

no more, for an Agreement between the King
and them, upon thofe Terms confiftent with the

Safety of Religion, and the Terms of the Cove-

nant.

And thus I have opened my Heart to you

:

The favourable Interpretation I humbly beg of

you, is this ; That things might not be taken in

the worft Senfe : Non eft reus, nifi mens fit rea ;

he is not guilty, unlefs the Mind be guilty •, I

heard your Lordfhip fay fo at Guild-Hall, as I re-

member.
The Lord knows in the Uprightnefs of my

Heart I have done what I have done. It is a

Maxim in the Law, (I have read it in Divinity-

Books) Ampliandi funt favores, 13 in pcenis benig-

nior interpretatio facienda : Favours are to be am-
plified and enlarged by Magiftrates ; but in Pu-
nishments the moft benign and favourable Inter-

pretations muft be made. Now of my Actions

the harfheft Interpretations are made : I have a

Charge laid againft me, which I deem (and as my
Counfel tells me) to be rather a Flourifh, in Law,
than Reality of Matter.

I flood amazed when I heard the Charge againft

me, I thought it had rather been againft fome o-

ther Man than againft me. As if I mould fend to

the Queen, Piercy and Jermin ! herein I did ra-

ther venture my Life upon a Trial, than to lie under

all that Obloquy which that Charge did lay upon
me. Therefore I again befeech you, put a fair

and candid Interpretation upon what is proved a-

gainft me.

I remember a Phrafe, Summum Jus eftfamma
Injuria ; To be over-juft, is to be injurious. Be
not over-righteous, may refer to Courts of Judicato-

ry. Herein I acknowledge, that my not revealing

what my Accufers have done, this layeth me un-

der the Fault of a Concealment, for which I lay

my felf at your Feet.

The next humble Requeft I have to make, is

this, To intreat your Lordfhip and the Court, that

you would not hearken to any politick Suggeftions

that may be laid before you : I know under what
difadvantage I lie, that am the firft Minifter in

England try'd for Treafon, in a bufinefs of this

nature, and what a prejudice this is to me, to

make an Example upon.

The firft Suggeftion that I humbly intreat you
would not hearken to, is, That it will not be for

the Honour and Intereft of the State, if I be not

condemned. Truly, it is for the Honour of the

State for you to do Juftice : if you have found,

that I ever writ Letter, or fent or received Letter,

or lent Money ; if in thefe regards you have found

me within your Acts, fpare me not : but if

I have been only prefent at the reading of Let-
ters, and have been filent at what others have
done ; therein I lay my felf at your mercy, to
fhew me favour. It was a Suggeftion to Pilate^

If thou fpareft that Man, thou art no Friend U
Ccefar ; and fo if you do not condemn me, you
are no Friends to thofe who commiffionate you :

but be Friends to your felves and Families, and
take heed that you bring not guiltlefs Blood up-
on you.

And here (and fo I fhall have done) in the Clofe
of all, I do acknowledge, that in many Particu-
lars, as touching not revealing (I fay not as to
perfonal Actings, nor do any prove it againft me)
I do fall within your Acts, as to the Cenfureof a
Concealment ; and herein I humbly beg your
Mercy. And however I may be judged to be a
Man of a turbulent and unquiet Spirit, yet thofe
that know me in my Relations, will not fay fo of
me ; and my People, over whom God hath call-

ed me (1 think) will fay, I am a Man who de-
fireth to live quietly in the Land. But however
my Spirit and Principles are queftioned, yet I re-

folve by the Grace of God to lead for the future a
quiet and peaceable Life, in all Godlinefs and Ho-
nefty.

I have but one word more to clofe all I have
to fay for my felf, (Tor I have made no Plea in

Law ; in thofe matters I am as a dumb Man,
and cannot open my mouth,) and 'tis this : The
Charge and Depofitions lie before you, and I will

but lay this before you alfo, That if fo be my
Fact fhould deferve Death, which I believe it

doth not, and I hope you cannot find me under
your own Acts as to Treafon -, yet if you docen-
fure me rather upon a political Intereft, than
from the Merit of the Fact, the Scripture ac-
counts not that Juftice, but Murder. Jehu put to
death Ahab's Sons, and that by the Command of
God ; but he did it upon a political Intereft, to
eftablifh himfelf in his new-gotten Government

:

and when God reckons for this, he fays, I will
avenge the Blood of Jezreel upon the Houfe ofJehu.
To do any thing upon a political Intereft, tho'

the Fact may deferve Death, the Scripture counts
this Murder, not Juftice.

And I befeech you, let me fuggeft one thing to

you, though I am a Worm, and no Man, and de-
ferve not to be regarded amongft the Children of
Men ; yet what I have done and fuffered, let it

be a little thought on by you : And let me urge
that of Abiathar the Prieft, he did an Act that was
not juftifiable, and faith Solomon, Thou art worthy

of Death ; but I will not at this time put thee to

death, becaufe thou barefl the Ark of the Lord God
before David my Father^ and becaufe thou haft been,

afflicled in all wherein my Father was afflicled. I
leave it to your own Confciences to make Applica-
tion. Many things elfe might be fuggefted a-
gainft me, and all to exafperate and exulcerate

your Minds againft me, to make you with lefs re-

gret of Confcience to pafs a doleful Sentence up-
on me j which I hope you cannot, and for the

fear of the Lord you dare not : but if you fhould,
(and fo I have done) I will fay to you as Jere-
miah did to the Rulers of Ifrael ; As for me, be-

hold I am in your hands, do with me as feemeth
good and 7neet unto you : but know ye for certain,

that if ye put me to death, ye fhall furely bring in-

nocent Blood uponyourfelves. But I will fay as the

Apoftle did, / hope better things of you t tho' I thus

fpeak.

And
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And thus I commit my felf, and my All, unto

God, and to your Judgments and Confcienccs.

Mr. Attorney-General' s Reply to

Mr. Lovc'j Defence.

Attorn. Gen. \/T% Lord, you have heard him
JlVjL fay much, and it had been

much better for him if he had laid lefs. My Lord,

when Men go out of the way of their own Call-

ing, they very often err -, and truly I may attri-

bute much of Mr. Love's Confidence to his Ig-

norance ; my Lord, to his Ignorance of the

Law : and when Men meddle beyond their own
Bounds, they do tranfgrefs. Mr. Love hath made

you a continued Speech ; my Lord, I do find

the old Proverb commonly true, In multitude of

Words there wanteth not Evil. And mould I fay

nothing againft Mr. Love, my Lord, he hath faid

enough againft himfelf, in that that he hath now
repeated, even to his own Condemnation, in that

which he acknowledgeth, my Lord, (I cannot

fay ingenuoufly, tho' himfelf hath faid fo) to be

rather a Mifprifion of Treafon and a Conceal-

ment. My Lord, Acts of Concealment are not

fo long continued, they have not fo long conti-

nuance: And, my Lord, you very well know
(for the Satisfaction of the Gentleman at prefent,

and fome elfe that hear me) that he that hears a

Treafon, (for I do now go out a little in his

own way) he that hears a Treafon, muft not look

back before he go to the Magiftrate and reveal it,

and if he be at the Plough, he muft leave his

Plough ; if this Gentleman were in his Pulpit, he

muft leave his preaching : he that knows a Trea-

fon, muft go prefently and reveal it; there muft

be no Repetition of Treafon, my Lord : Mr. Love,

my Lord, will be miftaken in that. But truly,

my Lord, I was very forry, confidering the Con-
dition Mr. Love now ftands in, to hear thofe Ex-
preffions from him that he hath made to you

in relation to the paft and prefent Authority :

my Lord, I am not willing to repeat them,

Mr. Love muft hear of it another time. Truly,

my Lord, here is little of Ingenuity (all Men
will believe) in this Gentleman, that hath now
laid it for a Principle to himfelf, and all that

fhall hear him, (and I think it not to be fo chri-

flian, fo ingenuous) not to confefs any thing any

time ; but that is Ingenuity, that what is proved,

that he will confefs •, and that is a high Piece of

Ingenuity, that thofe things that are proved, he

will ingenuoufly acknowledge : I, my Lord, do
not take that to be Ingenuity, neither in my
Law, nor I believe in his Divinity will it be.

My Lord, there hath been a great deal of Care

and Pains taken by Mr. Love to take in pieces

the Evidence-, I fhall not undertake now to join

them together, but in convenient time I fhall, I

doubt not, for the Satisfaction of the Court and
their Judgments, who, 1 muft fay, have been

threatned by the Gentleman ; and, my Lord, I

hope for the Conviction of himfelf. My Lord,
he knows there are fhrewd Pieces againft him
that he hath acknowledged, but he would take

them off one by one •, but when they are put to-

gether, they will not be fingle Evidence, nor
fingle Teftimony, nor fingle Pacts, but a conti-

nued Reiteration and Repetition of Treafon, a

continued and Series of Time. My Lord, you
are pleafed to obferve, that he himfelf doth ap-
pear from 1648 to 1651, fo that in 1648, 1649,
Vol. II.

1650, and 1 65 1, in all thefe Years, my Lord,
there hath been this conftant Repetition and tranf-

acting of Treafon.

My Lord, I learn from him, and 'tis very true

—

It is not good dallying with holy Things, nor is

it with States and Commonwealths, it is very bad
dallying with them ; thofe that flutter there, will

burn their Wings at laft ; and it is not Quirks
of Wit, nor Strains of Senfe or Nonfenfe, will,

my Lord, clear thefe Things ; it will not do it,

my Lord. My Lord, he hath defired you will

not hearken to private Examinations-, my Lord,
I have faid fo too, and there hath none been of-

fered to you, but that which hath been publick,

and viva voce ; all have been fo. But furely,

my Lord, 1 could wifh this Gentleman, and
all others of his Profeffion, would meddle in their

own Sphere, and not to walk out of that, to

come and teach Courts what they fhould do, to

teach the Magiftrate what is his Duty. My
Lord, I do hardly think it belongs to them
ever in the Pulpit to do thofe things : but to tell

us we muft not examine before- hand, and ask
Queftions in private ; my Lord, we cannot
then be prepared for Felons and Treafons. And,
my Lord, I fay this Confidence is much from
his Ignorance -, for thefe things are very fami-

liar, and muft be continued to be done : fo that

thefe things are not well broached by him, and
I do think he will fay at laft, he underftands

not himfelf ; and thofe, I hope, that hear, my
Lord, will fay, I do not ufe it : For, my Lord,
I muft fay, it muft be otherwife in all well-

governed Commonwealths. My Lord, he hath

not denied, but acknowledged Meetings at his

Houfe more than once, twice or thrice : and tru-

ly, I did expect from this Gentleman that he
would not have continued thofe fearful Impreca-
tions of calling God to witnefs, that he did never

write Letter, nor fend Letter, nor lend Money.
I had thought he would not have gone upon
thefe Equivocations : Did he never move other

Men to write ? Did he never move others to

lend Money ? It is not to fay, this and this

I have not done ; but I had thought he would
have cleared himfelf totally of any Guilt that

way, either in relation to receiving, or hearing

Letters read -, or lending or receiving Money, or

moving for Money. My Lord, to put it upon
a particular Cafe, this will not blind the Eyes
of Juftice, but you will be able to fee it. He
is pleafed to fay, my Lord, he will not lay it to

the Badnefs of the WitnefTes Confciences, but to

the Badnefs of their Memories. My Lord, I

hope in the Conclufion their Memories will ap-

pear to be right, and fomebody's Confcience elfe

to be bad. And, my Lord, for to hear this faid

by this Gentleman that is a Minifter of the Gofpel,

that it is a Crime for thefe Men to acknowledge
their Offences, this is ftrange : I had thought

the firft Step to Repentance had been Confef-

fion ; and that it had been no Offence for any
Man living that hath committed a Fault, or

that thought he had committed a Fault, to ac-

knowledge it. In my Law and Divinity I

thought it fo, and I have not learned otherwife

;

and fhall this Gentleman take Exceptions, be-

caufe thefe Gentlemen who have thought they

have done amifs, have acknowledged their Er-

rors, and have craved Mercy ? My Lord, I muft

fay thus, if any deferve Mercy, it is thofe that

do acknowledge their Offences , and erave

T 2 Mercy,
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Mercy, and arc forry for them , and not thofe

that are obftinate, and bid defiance to Juftice :

Prove what you can, I will confefs nothing ;

that is not fo confcientious or chriftian a way.

And for the Witneffes, I do wonder that Mr.

Love, of any Man, mould find fault with them ;

I cannot fay they have taken fweet Counfel toge-

ther, but I fhrewdly fufpect they have taken very

bad Counfel together : thefe Gentlemen are of his

own Choice, and of his own Companions, and

thofe that were converfant with him ; and if you

pleafe to obferve, at every Word, Will. Drake ;

methinks that is a Word of Familiarity. But,

my Lord, for thefe, they were his Companions,

and whether I might fay more, his Houfhold-

Friends or Guefts, but fure they were in his

Houfe very often, and were private with him,

and in his Chamber and Study ; and to cover all

thefe Actions, and thefe treafonable Practices,

and Letters and Defigns, here they rauft come

to hear News, and this muft cover it all : They
come for nothing but News, and our Contributi-

ons muft be for charitable Ufes ; but you muft

not ask why or wherefore we lend Money, but it

is for charitable Ufes : Neither God nor Man will

be blinded in thefe things ; and if thefe Fig-

leaves be fewn together, it will neither cover

Nakednefs nor Treafon. My Lord, Mr. Love

hath faid, (and in that given Judgment againft

himfelf) that either to treat or advife with the

King of Scots in Scotland, he detefts them both.

My Lord, if he be guilty of both, then, I hope,

he doth deteft and renounce himfelf, and then I

think he hath laid your Judgment fomewhat, his

own having paft firft, yours will eafily follow.

My Lord, he confeffes, That for this Act of the

2.d of Auguft, 1 650, he was ignorant of it, and

of the Danger of it. My Lord, he very well

knows that Ignorance is no Excufe ; the Act is

a publick Act, and hath been long printed, now
ten Months fince, himfelf faith •, And yet me-

thinks I cannot reconcile that, (that he that goes

to make others differ) that he knew not of this

Act, and yet Sterks, the Scotch Agent, was ba-

nifh'd upon this Act, and there was a Contribu-

tion for him for his going away : The fame Act
that doth the one, doth the other. My Lord, he

hath been pleafed to cite a Saying of Cardinal

Fame[us, 'that if he knew any part of him infetled

with Lutheranifm, he would cut it off, and throw

it into the Fire : And fo can he fpeak truly of

himfelf, he would do, if he knew any thing of

Malignancy by himfelf. My Lord, the Que-
ftion between him and us, is, What is Malig-
nancy ? I doubt we differ in that ; I doubt his

Senfe of Malignancy ; I am fure by fome Words I

fhrewdly guefs at, that I count that Malignity,

and I hope all this Court, and all that hear me,
count that Malignity, that I doubt his Judgment
leads him not to it, fo I doubt we differ upon that.

My Lord, he hath faid, he was never an Incen-

diary, or evil Inftrument ; I wifh there were not

Caufe for you to think otherwife : but furely the

Gentleman hath made large Imprecations, and
hath fpoken much for himfelf ; but I believe he

knows there is fo much Juftice here, that he ex-

perts not to be believed in what he fays. If it

were enough to accufe, who fhould be innocent ?

And if it were enough to deny, who fhould be

guilty ? He doth not expect to be believed for

his Word certainly ; for now he knows he ftands

in another Capacity ; and as things are alledged

and proved on both fides, fo he is to be be-

lieved, and no otherwife* My Lord, he hath

been pleafed to reflect upon my felf in many
Particulars ; yea, and the Court knows in what
a Capacity I ftand here, as a Servant to the

State to do my Duty faithfully, and I muft do
it i and yet I muft fay, it doth not become me
to prompt Witneffes •, that Word, my Lord, was
not well fpoken. He is pleafed to fay in the

Commendation of himfelf, that he hath a Place

in London where he hath a very good Congrega-
tion, and a very good Competency of Mainte-
nance ; and I heartily wifh he had thought fo

really, and had kept himfelf fingly to that. I

do not think he will fay, that in the Duty of his

Place, as a Minifter of the Word, to preach,

to inftruct, to exhort, rebuke, reprove his Peo-
ple, or any under his Charge, that ever the State

did interpofe or meddle with him, neither the Par-

liament nor the Commonwealth : Then for

God's Love, my Lord, why fhould this Man in-

terpofe or meddle with the State ? Had you
not enough to do in your own Calling ? Had you
not Charge enough lying upon you, but muft you
be going abroad, and put your Sickle into ano-
ther Man's Harveft ? I will fay the State did

never trouble the Gentleman in his Duty ; he
did go on with as much Peace and Quietnefs as

himfelf could defire, we interrupted not him ;

let him reflect upon himfelf, and whether others

have dealt fo kindly with him ; when had he that

Liberty that now he hath had ? You may be

pleafed to obferve, himfelf fays, twelve Years a-

go he could not in three Years in London get an
Admiffion to be a Lecturer ; and when he fpoke

in the Congregation-houfe at Oxford, he was ex-

pulfed there ; he hath had no fuch meafure here.

Doth Kindnefs provoke him to thefe things ?

Thofe that fin againft Kindnefs, are the higheft

Tranfgreffors. What Provocation hath this Gen-
tleman had in his Miniftry, that he could not

follow that, and have let the Parliament and
State alone ? Doth he not receive Breath here to

live, and his Livelihood to fuftain himfelf and
his Relations ? Why fhould you interpofe to

difquiet yourfelf and the Commonwealth, when
they did not provoke you ? And let all judge
whether this fhould not convince you ; and let

me fay thus much, That you have dealt foolifh-

ly, and have gone beyond your Bounds, and
have not kept within your Limits, in what you
have done in thefe things that you have acknow-
ledged.

My Lord, I fpeak this, that thofe may hear

now that may not hear the other ; for that which
Mr. Love hath faid, we muft have fome time to

recollect, and to fpeak in the Vindication of the

Proceedings of the State againft this Gentleman,

which, though I think it needs not much, in re-

fpect of the Court that hath heard him fay fo

much, and confefs fo much as he hath done ;

yet for the Lenity of the State, that hath moved
them to take care of their own Prefervation :

And I would not do it, but that he hath flood

upon all Terms of Defiance with Juftice and
Majefty ; and you have heard from a Fellow-

Minifter what he did the laft day, and the Prin-

ciples he urgeth this day, which, let me repeat

again, there will be no living in Society, if

thefe things be let alone. My Lord, it is much
infinuated by him, that his Blood will be upon

you and the Court 5 I would he had thought

upon
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upon Blood before thefe things had been fo tranf-

acted by himfelf : I am afraid (between God and

his own Confcience be it, and thofe that have had

Correfpondency with him) that much of this

Blood that hath been fpilt in Scotland, hath been

made by their means : You hear him fay, That

what was defired by them (and in order to what

it was) was, That the King of Scots might join

-with the Scotijh Nation, and not go to Ireland,

that was his Confcience. I do not know his

Confcience led him to meddle with thofe things,

to meddle with State-Affairs : But, my Lord, if

it be fo, and this hath been brought on by them,

that one hath encouraged the King to join with

the Scots, and the other hath encouraged the Scots

to join with the King by hopes of Parties here,

which he himfelf acknowledged! now, was un-

dertook in the Name of a Presbyterian Party ;

though I think, and do believe it, for very ma-

ny honeft Presbyterians, that they would fpit

in his Face, if he mould fay it of them : But

I fay thefe Doings have occafioned the fhedding

of much Blood, and a great deal of Variance be-

tween the two Nations, and the Lord knows
when it will end. But, my Lord, as he con-

cluded for himfelf, you will be pleafed, my
Lord, to give me leave (though not in that

way of Conjuration as he hath doneJ to fay for

the State, I fhall not prevent your Judgments ;

but it is better that one Man, than a State, fhould

perifh. And if this Man be guilty of the

Treafons proved againft him, I believe him-

felf will judge, he had better perifh, and fuf-

fer Death, than the State fhould perifh. All

thefe Actings of his have been Underminings of

the State clean through, carried on very clofely

and covertly in Difguifes, and not difcovered :

but he that dances in a Net, will be catched

tripping at laft. My Lord, before you give

your Judgment, you will confider that Juftice to

the Commonwealth- —
So, my Lord, I have added what my bad Me-

mory (I hope not bad Confcience) hath repeated

to me, as might give fome Anfwer to what he

hath faid : But fince he hath been pleafed to take

fuch pains to run through all and every one of
the Evidence fo exactly, and hath had three

Days given him for it •, my Lord, I fhall ask but

one for my felf, and for thofe that are the Counfel
for the Commonwealth. My Lord, this is all I

fhall fay at prefent to you, and fhall fay no more
till next meeting.

[Judge Keble, the Lord Prefident, fpeaks after

the Attorney- General ; the very beginning
of his Speech was not heard, he beginning
very foftly.]

Ld Prefident. But again in this Point, for the

Presbyterian Government, if it be rectified,

doubtlefs it tends to the Peace of this Nation, and
all Places, but not with a Scotch Limitation. I de-
ny that ; nor limited by a Scotch Covenant.
The next thing is this ; becaufe you often fall

upon Distinctions of the Law, and that you are
ignorant of the Law, the more to blame you that
profefs the Learning of the Law of God ; for
there is no Law in England, but is as really and
truly the Law of God as any Scripture-Phrafe
that is by confequence from the very Texts of
Scripture : for there are very many Confequences
reafoncd out of the Texts of Scripture ; fo is the

Law of England the very Confequence of the ve-
ry Decalogue it felf: and whatfoever is not con-
fonant to Scripture in the Law of England, is

not the Law of England, the very Books and
Learning of the Law : whatfoever is not confo=

nant to the Law of God in Scripture, or to right

Reafon, which is maintained by Scripture ; what-
foever is in England, be it Acts 01 Parliament,

Cuftoms, or any judicial Acts of the Court* it is

not the Law of England, but the Error of the
Party, which did pronounce it ; and you or any
Man elfeat Bar may fo plead it. And therefore to

profefs you are knowing in the Laws of God, and
yet to be ignorant of the Laws of England, when
yet the Laws of England be fo purely the Laws of
God, as no Law in the World more practical at

this day, for you to be ignorant of thtm, is not
to your Commendation, nor to any of your Pro-
feffion.

Then, Sir, for your going on in thefe ways i

The Court with Patience hath heard you, I thinks
two Hours, or thereabouts, and you have done
nothing but anticipated the Court : What ! do
you think they have not Understandings, and
Judgments and Confciences ? They would have
done it, they would have examined thefe Witnef-
fes precifely, and would have compared them, but
you have taken up all this time by way of Anti-
cipation ; and in a Rhetorical Way to do it ! Let
me tell you, that Orators among the Heathens
have been the greater! Incendiaries ; and thofe

Orators in Chriftendom that do not fet their Judg-
ments upon right ends, they are the moft un-
worthy Men in Chriftendom : for there are no
Hcrefies, Murders, traitorous or treafonable Prac-
tices and Attemptings, and all the higheft Wicked-
neffes that ever were committed in Chriftendom
whatfoever, or in this Nation in particular, but
they have had fome of that Profeffion that have
called themfelves Minifters of Jefus Chnft, as the

Jefuits of Jefus, and the Priefts of thofe ; and
all thefe Things and high Actings have ftill had
fome Tincture of your Coat in them. Therefore
it is not your Office can excufe you •, your Of-
fice is facred, as other Chriftian Offices are, and
you are no more Divines by your Office ; but
you are to remember, and you muft know, that

Chriftian Juftice that you teach in the Pulpit, to

act it in the Court, is of a higher nature than

Preaching is : And therefore in this, that you
fhould advance your Profeffion beyond the Judi-
catories of this Land, know, that Judgment and
Juftice is the higheft Religion in the Worlda

both in Chriftendom and out of it. And this,

Sir, we would have you know, That Lawyers
Doctrine tends to this, and I hope hereafter

you will be more obedient, and better verfed

to know thefe Grounds of the Laws of England,

by which now you are called here. I fhall fay

no more, but take Advice of the Court aboue

you,

[The Court adjourns, and Mr. Love £is com-
manded away.J

The Fourth Days Proceeding, June 27, 1651,,

Mr. Hall, the fir ft Counfel for the Common*
wealth.

Mr. Hall. Y Lord, thePrifoner at the Bar*

Mr, Love, ftands impeach'd be-

fore
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fore your Lordfhip of High-Treafon, which Im- to contrive a Way that they might agree the King

peachment hath been read before your Lordfhip and the Scotijh Nation ; that was the end of their

and the Court. My Lord, by that he ftands Meeting at that time

charged with High-Treafon, with feveral Of-

fences of High-Treafon ; That he in the Years

1648, 1649, 1650, and 1 651, with William

Brake, Henry Jermin, Henry Piercy, John Gib-

bons, Edward Majfey, Sylas Titus, and others his

Accomplices, did traitoroufly, wickedly and ma

My Lord, within a few Days after that, they

met again, all thefe feveral Perfons, at the White-
Hart in Breadjlreet, and to the fame purpofe

;

and at length it was refolved to make their Ad-
dreffes to the Queen, and to Piercy and Jermin,
(firft it was to the King himfelf) for a Compliance

licioufly confederate, plot, and endeavour to ftir between the King and the Scots : Letters were fent

up a new and bloody War in this Nation, and to accordingly, and feveral Meetings, and feveral

fubvert the Government now eftablifhed, without

a King and Houfe of Lords.

My Lord, That in the fame Years, fince the

Death of the late King, he did, with other his

Accomplices, endeavour to promote Charles

Stuart to be King of England, contrary
_
to an

Act of Parliament before that time made in this

Nation. .

My Lord, That in the fame Years he and his

Accomplices did traitoroufly and malicioufly aid

and affift the Nation of Scotland, to the end that

they might invade this Commonwealth •, and hath

Returns of Meffages were had of them. My
Lord, at length it was refolved, That they fhould
fend Meffengers to the King at Jerfey, and agreed

upon one Titus ; and they raifed Money and gave
it to Titus to undertake the Journey. My Lord,
Titus accordingly went in the Month of May,
1649, and returned in Augujl following. After
he had done his Negotiation there, he returned

to Calais : but being afraid this wicked Plot was
difcovered, by reafon of Letters that were in-

tercepted, he durft not come into England; but
fent Letters to defire fome Correfpondents might

adhered to the Forces raifed by the Enemies of be fent to Calais. My Lord, all this time I

this Commonwealth. do not find that the Proof discovers the Prifo-

My Lord, That in the fame time, between the ner at the Bar to be any Adlor, or prefent at

Month of March and the firft of June, this prefent any Meeting hitherto : But when thefe Letters

Month, he hath traitoroufly and malicioufly held came from Titus, then the Letters were brought

snd maintained Correfoondency and Intelligence to Mr. Love's Houfe ; which is the firft

time I find him by Proof to be prefent. The
Letters were read in his Houfe, and in his Study,

and maintained Correfpondency and InteJiigi

by Letters, Meffages, Inftrudtions, and otherwife,

with the Enemies of this Commonwealth, and

to the Prejudice of this Nation ; and in particu-

lar with Charles Stuart and the late Queen his

Mother, and with Jermin and Piercy, and o-

as fome of the Witneffes fay that were there

prefent ; and it was then agreed, my Lord, That
Alford fhould go to Calais to Titus. My Lord,

ther Perfons of Counfel abiding with Charles accordingly he went, and there Titus did commu-

Stuart. nicate unto him the Affairs that paffed at Jerfey.

My Lord, That he hath likewife held Corre- Within four or five Days after, Alford returns

fpondency and Intelligence with the Scotijh Nati- again, and where fhould the Meeting be but at

on, prejudicial to this Commonwealth, and to the Mr. Love's Houfe again, where Mr. Love and.

end they might invade and bring a bloody War divers of the Accomplices were in his Houfe : a

upon this Nation. Letter from the King was read, the Diary, the

My Lord, Thefe Treafons and traitorous and Narrative from Titus likewife was read there ;

wicked Practices of the Prifoner at the Bar, were and there was the Confultation what fhould be

and are to the apparent Hazard of the publick done, and what further Courfe they fhould take

Peace of this Commonwealth, and Free-State, and to join the King and the Scots together. My
the Parliament and People of England -, and in Lord, afterward they did agree that there fhould

Contempt and Violation of the Laws of the Land, be fome fent to treat with the King at Breda ;

and contrary to feveral Acts of Parliament in fuch the Inftrudtions were drawn in Mr. Love's Houfe,

Cafes made and provided. (I think one Witnefs fays fo) and Mr. Love pre-

My Lord, There have been feveral Witneffes fent ; Money was raifed, and Mr. Love himfelf

and Proofs of thefe particular Charges againft the

Prifoner: And, my Lord, I do conceive that there

hath been fuch Proof made, that in your Lord-

fhip's Judgment he will appear to be guilty of all

thefe particular Actings. But, my Lord, I will

not enter upon the Proof, only make a fummary

Relation of the Beginning and Continuance of this

Plot and Defign.

My Lord, This Plot did begin very fuddenly

after it pleafed God to take away the chiefEnemy

of this Nation. The King died m January 1648,

and this Plot began in February, the very next

Month following: and in the fame Month, my
Lord, the Scotch Nation did proclaim Charles Stuart

Kino- of Scotland ; and they did not flop there,

but proclaimed him likewife King of England ;

and then, my Lord, this Plot began here. For

in the Month of February, the next Month after

the King died, the Meeting was at the Swan at

Dowgate, where were feveral of the Correfpon-

dents at that time ; as Drake, Huntington, Titus,

and others : and the end of that Meeting was

did fpeak to one of the Witneffes to raife Money,
which was Far : Far accordingly did bring in.

Five Pounds, and laid it down upon Mr. Love's,

Table, Mr. Love being prefent then In the-

Room.
My Lord, I fhall not trouble you with the

Relation of more Particulars ; but, my Lord, I

conceive that Mr. Love doth upon thefe Proofs

ftand guilty of endeavouring to promote the

King to be King of England : For, my Lord,
what fhould be the end of uniting the King and
the Scots together, after that the Scots had pro-

claimed Charles Stuart King of England, but that

they might come in a warlike manner to invade

this Nation, and fet up his Authority as King a-

mong us ?

My Lord, I conceive (I fhall fubmit to your

Lordfhip's Judgment) that he is guilty of Intelli-

gence from a profeffed Enemy. The Intelligence

is, my Lord, That divers Letters were fent, and
thefe Letters were read in his Prefence, as him-

felf doth confefs he was at the reading of divers

Letters*
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Letters, and did not confent to them ; and there-

upon makes it as it were but Mifprifion of Trea-

fon. My Lord, I conceive that this is apparent-

ly Treafon : For if Letters were fent to one Per-

fon, and did occasionally come into another Man's

hand, and he conceal them, being not fent to him,

there peradventure it is but Mifprifion of Treafon.

But when there are fent to thefe particular Perfons

Letters from the King and Scots, and divers Per-

fons in Hoftility againft the Commonwealth of

England, and received by the Confederates in Ma-
fterLove's Houfe,and there were read and debated,

though they did not agree to fome Particulars, yet

they are Actors : They are «in the very In-

telligence it felf ; and did likewife return feveral

Letters.

My Lord, this Intelligence was with the Sco-

tijh Nation ; which truly, my Lord, I do con-

ceive hardly an Englifhman, that had the Blood of

an Englifhman running in his Veins, would join in

Confederacy with that Nation, of all the Nations

of the World, againft this Commonwealth ; a

Nation that hath been known (and I am fure the

Prifoner at the Bar is well read in the Hiftoriesand

Stories of this Nation) to have been a conftant

Enemy to this Nation in all Ages through the

Memory of all Hiftories ; and, my Lord, of late,

not three Years fmce, came and invaded this Na-
tion with a puiffant Army, which it pleafed God
to deliver us from : And this the Prifoner

could not be ignorant of, that we had lately a

Fight with them ax. Dunbar ; that Hoftility could

not be unknown unto the Prifoner at the Bar

neither. And yet for all that, to confederate

with a Nation that were fuch conftant Enemies

to us ; my Lord, I could not conceive it had

been in the Heart of an Englijhman, much lefs

in a Minifter and Preacher of the Gofpel among
us.

My Lord, there are fome particular Charges

upon him, more than upon any of the reft : after

Drake fled away, being doubtful that his fecret

traitorous Plot would be difcovered, Mr. Low top-

plied his Room ; all the Meetings, and Confede-

racies, and Letters, and Agitations in this Bufinefs,

were conftant] y at Mr. Love's Houfe, himfelf be-

ing prefent. And, my Lord, Money, as I faid

before, by Mr. Love himfelf defired to be raifed

for the furthering of this Defign ; and feveral

Sums of Money were raifed. I fhall trouble your
Lordfhip with no further Relation, but leave it to

the Proof that was made before your Lordfhip and
the Court,

Sir Thomos Witherington, the fecond Counfel

for the Commonwealth.

Sir Tho. Witherington. My Lord, Mr. Love's

Defence which he made for himfelf, as he did it

for his Life, fo he took a great deal of pains in

it, and was very accurate in the Defence he made,
especially in the Witneffes. My Lord, I fhall

not take upon me (for it is not my Charge at this

time) to reply unto the whole Defence that Mr.
Love made.

My Lord, that I fhall fay fhall be in two
Particulars, for Mr. Love divided that which he
faid into four Parts ; the fir ft concerning the

Charge ; the fecond concerning the Witneffes

and Teftimony ; the third concerning himfelf ;

and the fourth concerning fome Propofals to the

Court.

My Lord, I fhall only meddle with that which
is concerning the Witneffes ; and fecondly,, to

fome part of that he faid concerning himfelf : I

fhall only reply as to thefe two, and the reft I

fhall leave to Mr. Attorney-General, that better

knows what is for the Advantage of the Common-
wealth.

My Lord, I fhall begin concerning the Witnef-
fes, to clear them, (for now we are in our Reply
for the Commonwealth.) Mr. Love, who did

profefs a very great deal of Ignorance in the Laws
of the Land, yet he did infmuate fomething tha£

implied fome Knowledge of them, in that, my
Lord, he took fome Exceptions to the Witneffes,

My Lord, I take it, that thefe Exceptions

were :

1. That the Witneffes were not probi Tejles &?

legales. And,
2. That they were Participes criminis : And

that indeed is included in the other.

My Lord, Fir ft, I fhall fpeak to this, That
the Witneffes produced againft him, are legales.

lefles : They are competent Witneffes, and fuf-

ficient Witneffes, without Exception againft

them. I fhall firft fpeak to that they are Tejles.

legales : For Mr. Love did object, That they

themfelves confeffed themfelves to be guilty of the

fame Crimes ; and fo their Confeffion is upon the

Matter a Conviction » and fo they are convic-

ted of the Crimes in which they are Witneffes

againft him ; and fo are not competent Witnef-

fes.

My Lord, I fhall clear this : Under favour, I

take it they are very clear and good Witneffes?

notwithstanding the Exceptions. And, my Lord,

this I take to be a very plain Cafe ; the Cafe

which is in our Common Law : The Cafe is

—

-

which proves it fully ; for if a Man be accufed

of High-Treafon, indicted of High-Treafon, and
will confefs the Indictment, and become an Ap-
prover, yet he may be a Witnefs againft all thefe

Parties guilty of the fame Treafons with himfelf;

he is Particeps criminis with them, and they with

him: And yet this Man thus becoming an Ap-
prover, will at Common Law be a Witnefs, and

a legal and good Witnefs againft them.

My Lord, I fhall a little open that, becaufe it

clears the Cafe. My Lord, an Approver can

only approve, it is true ; that is, when a Man is

indicted of High-Treafon, and other his Accom-
plices with him, and he upon the Indictment

fays it is true ; and then defires he may have
fomething affigned to him, and then he accufes

fuch and fuch Perfons of the fame Crimes : In this

Cafe this Man, after he hath confeffed the In-

dictment, and takes his corporal Oath to reveal

all Treafons he knows in the Indictment^ (for he

can accufe no furtherj after this done, he fhall

be a Witnefs ; he is a Witnefs againft thofe with

whom he is Particeps criminis : Nay, my Lord,
it is of Merit and Juftice that he fhall have this

Reward, he fhall be pardoned his Life. Now„
that I prove to you, becaufe that fhews the Rea-

fon, that even the Man, after Indictment and
Confeffion, yet bein,g an Approver, fhall be
an Accufer of his Brethren, thofe that were

Particeps criminis with him, and a good Witnefs,,

And the Reafon of that goes to this Cafe in hand

:

For although thefe Men had a hand in the

fame Plot and Defign with him, and have con-

feffed, and did confefs it upon Evidence, that

they were there prefent, and did many Things,,

yes
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yet I take it they are clear, competent, and good

Witneffes, and that is no Objection againft them,

that they are Participes criminis. My Lord, if the

Law were otherwile, it were impoffible to prove

many Offences ; for many Offences cannot be

proved, but by fome Men that had a hand in

them. In an ordinary Cafe, an Action of Tref-

pafs and falfe Imprifonment, if three Men are

guilty of it, it is an ufual thing in Courts of Ju-
ftice to admit one of them a Witnefs. True,

they are not Parties in the Action, and fo may be

Witneffes: For thefe Things may be fo fecretly

done otherwife, that their Treafons could never be

revealed to recover againft the Prifoner.

There is a Cafe, 1 think, in all our Know-
ledge : It is the Cafe of the Earl of Caftlehaven.

He was accufed of a very grievous Fact : The
Witneffes which came againft him, were one or

two Footmen, that were Participes criminis in the

very fame Fact ; and thefe Men, by the Opi-

nion of the Judges, were competent Witneffes.

My Lord, he was arraigned, indicted, and con-

victed, and fuffered Death : Nay, it is very true,

that one of thefe Perfons was afterwards hanged

for the fame Offence. So that, I think, under

favour, as to that, I take it that they are clear

and good Witneffes, notwithftanding that Objec-

tion.

The next Objection is, That they were not

probi Teftes. Truly for that, my Lord, I muft

appeal to your Judgment in it, whether thefe

Men be not probi Teftes, &? honefti too : For in

cafe of an Approver, as I mentioned before, that

Man that accufes his Brethren upon the fame

Treafon, it is faid, that of Merit and Juftice the

King ought to grant him his Pardon ; lor they

that difcover the Traitors againft the Common-
wealth, thefe certainly are probi Teftes, and good
Commonwealths-men. And fo I take it, that

this is no Objection againft them in that, but as

before they were legales Teftes, fo they are probi

Teftes. My Lord, I mention thefe Things, to

fhew that the Witneffes for the Commonwealth are

good and competent in this Cafe.

The next Objection touching thefe Witneffes,

is, That though they be admitted for good Wit-

neffes, yet there is not to any one Fact two Wit-

neffes. There is not any one of the moft ri-

minal Parts of the Charge proved by two Wit-
neffes.- And fo as before they were incompetent

in regard of the Quality and Participancy of their

Crimes, fo now he would make them incompe-

tent for want of Number.
My Lord, I fhall firft agree to the Ground of

this Objection : For truly, my Lord, I take it,

that it is by the common and antient Law of

England, that in Cafes of Treafon there muft be

two Witneffes ; and it is by a Law more antient

than that, that is, by the Law of God. But,

my Lord, it is true, the Law of this Land is

explained by feveral Statutes, the Statute of the

bn. Y? r of Edward the Sixth, and the fifth

Year, and the fecond Year of Philip and Mary.

My Lord, I take it, upon all thefe Statutes ; the

one Statute fays, To accufe another, there muft

be two Witneffes : I take it, the Accufer and

Witnefs are all one ; that is, the fame that in

one Statute is called a Witnefs, in another is

called an Accufer. But there muft be two

:

That is the Objection. But then give me leave

to confider this Cafe, and to confider how thofe

two Witneffes fhall be. My Lord, I fay, under

favour, that in a Cafe that confifts of a compli-
cated Fact, that is, the Reiteration of many
Actions, my Lord, I conceive none of thefe

Laws are to be intended, that for every of the
particular Facts there ftiould be two Witneffes :

That cannot be the Intention of any of thefe

Laws, that in every particular Fact, that is to

fay, whether Mr. Love was prefent at the read-
ing of the Letters \ if you have one Witnefs to
that, another for the writing of them, another
to the fending of them ; though thefe three Wit-
neffes fpeak to feveral Parts of the Bufinefs, yet
they are a concurrent Teftimony, for all agree
to the Fact. I well remember, my Lord, a
Cafe in the Star-Chamber, againft B. ofLiecefter-

ftjire : 1 think there was an Information againft
him for Bribery, and extorting of Fees. The
Matter came in the Conclufion, that one Man
proved a Bribe, and another Man proved a Bribe :

One proved a Bribe of forty Pounds, and another a
Bribe of forty Pounds ; but there were feveral

Witneffes to feveral Bribes. The Queftion now
was, Whether he took Bribes, or no ? And thefe
tending to the fame general Charge, it was the
Opinion of all the Judges that he did extort
and take Bribes. The one Witnefs fpake to one
Bribe, and another to another ; and in that Cafe,
as two Witneffes made good a Charge againft an
Offender : Yet in that Cafe it was taken, that
where Witneffes, though they fpeak not in every
Particular, yet all tending to the fame general
Charge of Bribery, thefe were taken for plural
Witneffes, and that was a good Conviction. That
was the Opinion of the Judges then. I mention
this Cafe only for an Inftance to exprefs my felf

in this : For Mr. Love cannot expect, that to
every particular Thing laid to his Charge two
Witneffes fhould be produced. But, my Lord,
when one Witnefs proves this Thing he hath
done, this Letter hath he written, and another
that another Thing he hath done, which all

tend to the Treafon ; now thefe are more Wit-
neffes, and two or three Witneffes of the fame
I hing, tho' not to the fame individual Thing, it

is So that upon the Matter they are concur-
rent Witneffes in this complicated Fact, though
not concurrent in this or that Circumftance ; for %
that is impoffible almoft in any Action to be
done.

But then Mr. Love did further enlarge this Ob-
jection, which was out of a Saying he had, That
in cafe of Treafon, Probationes oporknt ejfe luce

clariores , The Proof muft be as clear as the Sun.
Truly, my Lord, it is very hard that Works of
Darknefs fhould need fo much Light for Difeo-
very, and that fo clear a Proof fhould be necef-

fary when the Things are done in Darknefs and Se-
crecy. My Lord, I think, under favour, though
in this Particular we have our Witnefs, as I take
it, to fpeak very plainly and clearly j for it is

their own Faults if they do not, for they were
prefent at the Meetings, at the Confultations and
Debates : But yet I do obferve, that in this Cafe
Things were carried on in a very fecret manner.
For I do obferve, firft, at thefe Meetings, all of
them were done under a Difguife, every thing
acted in this Bufinefs. I obferve it upon Evi-
dence, firft, That the very Meetings themfelves,

they go under the Title of Prayer and Falling ;

for fo Huntington told you, He was fpoke to go
to Prayer at Mr Love's Houfe. The Contribu-
tions made for raifing of Money, for fending of

Meffages-
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Meffages and Difpatches, was under the Difguife

of Charitable Ufes. So that here was Darknefs

all along. And then for the Letters, there were

no Names fubfcribed to them : All were done

without Names, only the Letter L. was upon one.

And the Place, truly I muft fay, that was ob-

fcure too : For what Man would have thought

that the Place of Meeting mould have been at

Mr. Loves Houfe? A Man that hath been fo

much for, and fhewed fo great an Affection to the

Parliament, as he faid himfelf in Subftance. A
Man would fooner have thought to have found

this Treafon in any Cellar in London, than in Mr
;

Love's Houfe. For the Inftructions, for the Di-

rections and Difpatches, fome were fent in Table-

Books, written in Sack in a Table-Book : But,

my Lord, I am afraid, in the Conclufion, the Let-

ters will be written in Blood. But, my Lord,

this I do obferve, that through thefe Difficulties,

though we pafs'd through our Evidence, yet your

Lordfhip heard how plain the Proof was in moft

Particulars.

My Lord, I fhall fay no more as to thefe Wit-

neffes, becaufe the other Part of anfwering the

Witneffes belongs to the Attorney-General ; for

Mafter Love went over all the particular Wit-

neffes.

My Lord, I fhall only fay one Thing, and that

is this, concerning Mr. Love himfelf; and it is

only concerning this Point. My Lord, Mr. Love
himfelf did fay, He would be ingenuous fo far as

he took himfelf to be guilty. But, my Lord,

I know your Lordfhip and the Court obferves

that that Ingenuity did fellow the Proof that

was for the Commonwealth. My Lord, he con-

feffes he was prefent at them ; he was filent after

all thefe Meetings and Debates : I mean the

Meetings after they began at his own Houfe ; for

I fpeak not of them that were at Dowgate, for

there is no Proof that he was there. My Lord,
this he confeffes •, and this he fays is Mifprifion of

Treafon. Truly, my Lord, 1 muft be bold to

differ from him in that Particular : I take it

that that he confeffes is High-Treafon. I fhall

fpeak a little to Mifprifion of Treafon, and fo

conclude.

My Lord, Mifprifion of Treafon is when a
Man hath notice of a Thing that is Treafon, and
he conceals it. Now, my Lord, under favour,

the Concealment muft not be long ; it muft not
fleep long with him. My Lord, I remember an
Axiom an Author hath in our Law, and that is

Bratlon : He hath a Difcourfe of Mifprifion of
Treafon ; he hath it in Latin — Says he, He
that knows a Treafon, he mufi not ftay in one Place
a Day and a Night, but he muft go on ; he mufi go
toward the Magi/irate. Nay (fays he) though he

have moft urgent Bufinefs, yet he mufi fet it afide,

and go on, and muft not flay in any Place, till he hath
revealed it. Nay (he fays further) he ought not to

look back till he hath given Information to the Ma-
giftrate. The Man that doth not after this man-
ner forthwith reveal it, this only is Mifprifion of
Treafon. But confidering this Cafe of Mr. Love's
now confeffing the Fact, he takes it to be Mif-
prifion of Treafon •, but I take it to be Treafon
itfelf. My Lord, 1 mall obferve what Mr. Love
did : He was at thefe Meetings ; thefe Meetings
were continued for divers Days and Months.
My Lord, was there any Difcovery made by
Mr. Love ? Was there any Revelation of his to
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any Magiftrate ? Did he tell it to any Man %

Nay, did he confefs it upon his Examination,

when examined ? Nay, did he not deny it when
he came to the Bar before your Lordfhip? Can
this be faid to be Mifprifion of Treafon, that a

Man fhould hold fo long in Treafon, and not re-

veal it ? My Lord, as every Treafon includes a
Mifprifion of Treafon in it ; fo I conclude that

Mifprifion of Treafon may grow up to Treafon
itfelf Now when a Man fhall fo long fleep up-
on it, and be violent in it, and not reveal it, I

take this Mifprifion of Treafon grows up into

Treafon itfelf.

My Lord, I fhall fay no more of that, but I

fhall conclude ; becaufe the other part lies upon
Mr Attorney-General, who is better able to doit.
Only one thing I fhall take notice of to your
Lordfhip, and I am troubled at it ; and that is,

That as he faith, that he that hath been fo much
for the Parliament, with whom he hath gone a-

long, and took fweet Counfel together, and hath
been active for, and paflive with, thro' all the

Paffages of the late Wars ; that he fhould fuffer

from them, this, he fays, ftuck very much upon
him. But, my Lord, for him that hath been fo

much for the Parliament, fo familiar with their

Proceedings, that hath been fo active for them,
and hath fuffered fo much for, them ; my Lord,
for him to kick the Heel againft the Parliament

;

for him, after all this, now even in the Infancy of
this Commonwealth, that this Child fhould be
deftroyed, and by one with whom we have took
fweet Counfel together : And by one, I may fay

this, that tho' he had no hand in making this

Commonwealth, yet I dare fay he had in the Pre-

parations to it •, for himfelf all along hath gone
with the Parliament : So that, my Lord, 1 take

this to be an Objection againft him. But, my
Lord, I fhall fay no more in it, but refer the other

Part to Mr. Attorney-General.

Mr. Attorney-General, the third Counfel for the

Commonwealth.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I am forry Mr. Love
hath given me the occafion of this Meeting, and
of my fpeaking at prefent ; I could much rather

have wifhed to have been filent : But now I am
drawn hither, I am forced to it. Mr. Love, my
Lord, in the beginning of his Trial, did defire

God fo to affift him, that he might go through

it with Gravity, Meeknefs, and Wifdom, as be-

came a Minifter of the Gofpel. I wifh that God
had heard his Prayers, that he had fo gone
through it. What he hath done, the Court hath

obferved.

My Lord, in that Part I have to do, I do
heartily defire I might do it with Faithfulnefs to

you, and the Duty of the Place I ought to dis-

charge, and to the Court.

My Lord, the Work that this Day lies upon
me, is to reply fomewhat to what was faid by
Mr. Love in his own Defence, and to make a
faithful Repetition to the Court, and to do the

Witneffes and the Prifoner Right j to repeat that,

and that only, that hath been faid ; and in that,

that I may do no Wrong to mif-lead the Court,

and offer nothing to the Prejudice of the Wit-
neffes, nor to the Prifoner. And truly, my Lord,

I fhall not (in his own Words) have any tortured

Collections, nor any Inferences, nor Strains of

U Wit;
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Wit: He hath fhewed his Oratory in his De- befides thofe mentioned before, and the laft con-
fence ; my Lord, I fhall fhew the Simplicity of cerning the Scots : That was but lately, which
Law in the Reply

My Lord, the Charge hath been repeated to

you ; and for that infilled upon by Mr. Love for

the WitnefTes and Teftimony, you have had An-
fwer : I fhall not trouble you ; there hath been

Pains taken in it. My Lord, I think all Men
were fatisfied that it was clear enough ; yet to

Mr. Love fays he was ignorant of; but he was
not ignorant to do fomewhat againfl it. My
Lord, thefe are the Laws that Mr.-Love is im-
peach'd upon.

The next thing that I have to do, is (and in

that I humbly beg your Favour, that as I am
now to do Juftice, if I may fo fay, to the Court,

make it more clear, Mr. Love, my Lord, infift- and to be faidiful to my Truft, and the Duty im-
pofed upon me) to repeat the Evidence right un-
to you ; and in that, as the Gentleman, the Pri-

foner at the Bar, hath had diat Favour from you
to have a Notary by him, to take all that was
faid of all Parties ; fo, my Lord, by your Fa-
vour we have had fome here to help our Memo-
ries: With whom I have conferred; and by the

Help of their Notes and our Memories, my
Lord, we think we have faithfully tranfcribed

that which was faid by the WitnefTes. And, my

ed upon one Thing more, and that is upon Point

of Time, and the Point of the Jurisdiction of the

Court, which (by your favour) I fhall firft be-

gin with.

He ftands charged, he fays, for Crimes done

in 1648, 1649, 1650, and 1651. And thofe

Crimes, he fays, were before this Court was, or

had a Being ; and fo had not Power to take Cog-
nizance of them.

That, myLord, I fhall endeavour to clear to you,

and I think in much Clearnefs ; clearer than the Lord, I humbly crave Favour, as not now being
Light, as he will have his Evidence. He ftands a private Examination to be read, but a publick

charged (I fay) pofitively, my Lord, with no Teftimony in the Prefence of Mr. Love himfelf

Crime before a Law was emitted, that did give an and the Court: I hope it is not private now, but
Inhibition, and was publifhed and known. He I may ufe Notes to do him right, and may read
Hands charged with no Crime before the Law was thofe Things that they teftified upon their Oath
publifhed, that did declare what the Crime was,

and gave notice to beware.

My Lord, that that was firft, was the Law
that was made the Thirtieth of January, 1648,
that doth declare, (and upon that Law I fhall

fetch the Foundation and/ Rife of this Treafon)

That whoever fhall proclaim, declare, publifh,

or any way promote Charles Stuart, or any other

Perfon, to be King or chief Magiftrate of Eng-
land or Ireland, without Confent in Parliament,

fhall be adjudged a Traitor, and fhall fuffer Pains

of Death as a Traitor. Here was this Law pub-

Jifhed, and notice given what every Man fhould

here.

In the firft Place, my Lord, I fhall, according.

to my belt Judgment do him no wrong. For
the firft, I fhall acknowledge it was but a Hear-
fay, and that from Brake, of Letters fent from
Scotland to the Presbyterian Party in England, to

let them know what had been done of pro-

claiming the King there, and that care fhould

be taken for their Intereft. This I do acknow-
ledge was but a Hear- fay ; but that which fol-

lowed not long after that time, my Lord, was
pofitive ; and there (my Lord) I fhall begin the

Rife of this. And thus, as hath been obferved

truft to, and, I may fay, my Lord, Obedience by my Fellows, that are Counfel here, though
expected. Againfl this Law hath Mr. Love
tranfgrefied, and, under favour, in a very high

meafure; fo that, my Lord, I charge him upon
this Law, and fince this Law was made ; and to

this Law there is no Limitation of Time for

Men to be queftioned for it : And for this Law,
it is in exprefs terms given in Commiflion to this

Court to take Cognizance of it : So that, I think,

this is a little clear to him.

My Lord, the next is a Law publifhed in July,

1649, that is entitled, An AH declaring what Of-
fences faille Treafon: Thar, I think, he is not

ignorant of, though he pretended to be ignorant

of another. My Lord, that Law likewife,

though it was before this Court was erected,

yet this Court hath, by exprefs Words of the

Commiflion, Power to take Cognizance of it.

And this Court, in thefe Things, is not like o-

ther Judicatories, that when Offences are corn-

there was not acting, nor Prefence nor know-
ing, yet (my Lord) under a fecond, it will ap-
pear he was confenting and approving, and fo

guilty of the firft Fact. My Lord, there was a
Meeting at Dowgate : I fuppofe you remember
it full well ; it hath been feveral times repeated ,

to you by feveral Perfons ; and Titus the Par-
ty now beyond the Seas, and Drake, and other

Traitors fled, were prime Sticklers for this,

and moved others to come in, and to be there

prefent, and hear what was the Defign. As I

did crave your Lordfhip's Favour, fo I fhall,

that I may not (as he fays) truft to a fickle nor
roving Memory, that I may be faithful, to read

to you that I have taken, and what was faid by
them. I fuppofe Mr. Love hath by him one that

can controul me, if I do not right.

I begin with this Meeting at Dowgate, and
continued at the White-Hart in Eread-fireet : Al~

mitted, the State takes care to appoint Courts ford gave you this Evidence, That one Morning be

and Judges to judge thofe Offences. Let it be

no Offence to. Mr. Love, if this Court were e-

rected efpecially to try him. But the Law was

not made efpecially to punifti him ; for the Law
was made before, and the Offence committed be-

fore : and fo, I think, in all England the Offences

are committed before the Judges go their Circuits,

and have their Commiflions.

My Lord, the next is the Law that confti-

tutes this Court, and fays in what Particulars this

Court hath Power to take notice of Offences,

was wifhed by Drake to go to the Swan at Dow-
gate : When he came there, there was on£ Titus

who gave relation of the good Difpqfition of the

Prince, and how inclinable he was to take the Co-

venant, and to caft off the Cavaliering Party, and
thofe about him, if there were opportunity found%
how to make him know there was a confiderablePar-
ty in England that wouldflick clofe to the Ends of
the Covenant ; and upon that, we that were there

did think we were bound in Duty, in relation to the

Covenant, to prefs the Prince to take it, and to pro-

fecute
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fecute the Ends of it. And for that Titus faid, if

we would appoint another Meeting, he would draw

up fomething in way of Application of the Presbyte-

rian Party to that purpofe.

We afterwards met at the Bear in Bread-ftreet,

and there he drewforth fomething he had framed to

that purpofe, and read it, and it was agreed to befent

over to the Prince ; the Subftance of it was. to prefs

the Prince to apply himfelf to take the Covenant,

and to profecute the Ends of it, and to caft off all

the Cavaliers and that Party about him, which had

broughtfo much Mifchief to his Father, and would do

likewife to him : And this (I believe) was fent over,

for Titus undertook tofend it over. We asked him,

how the Prince could be made to believe that this com-

ing from fo inconfiderable a Party as we were,fhould

come under the Notion of the Presbyterian Party of

England ? He [aid he would undertake it by means

of my Lord Piercy. And, my Lord, I think

you do remember there was one Mafan, Ser-

vant of Piercy, that was fent over hither, fo te-

ftified by fome, to reconcile the Royal and Pref-

byterian Party. This Mafon, my Lord, was

Piercy's Servant, fo teftified here by divers. My
Lord, here is now the Foundation : Drake is he

that moves Alford •, and Titus, I may fuppofe,

the Mover of Drake ; and both of them fled as

Traitors.

My Lord, if they were Traitors, and this is

Treafon ; then whoever had a hand in carrying

on thir Defign, himfelf is a Traitor, and this Ac-

tion is Treafon. My Lord, this is the Teftimony

of Alford.

My Lord, there is another Witnefs, and that is

Lieut. Col. Bains, who I think was prefentonly at

this Meeting, and had enough of it, and did leave

it ; and yet was prefent at this, and gave in Evi-

dence of what was there propofed. I think he

was prefent at no other Meeting, he was fatisfied

this was too much ; his Teftimony, as I take it,

was this, for I fhall read it, that I may do no wrong
to no Party: Bains laid, It was alfo propofed by

Titus, that fomething fhould be done, in order to

reftoring the Presbyterian Interefl, by Application

to the Prince, and to affure him, that he had a

confiderable Party in England, which looked upon

it as a Duty, and lying upon all of them by the

Covenant. And that it was neceffary fomewhat
fhould be done by fome Parliament-Men, Minifrers,

and Citizens, that were leading atlive Men, that

he might have an Affurance that fomewhat would

be done for him ; and fomewhat to the Queen,

Jermin and Piercy, whom he faid were their

Friends. This, my Lord, was that which

Titus faid at this Meeting ; and teftified by
Bains.

My Lord, there is another, Colonel Barton,

who was produced as an Evidence. My Lord,
I think that he fpoke not much more than to

this, and gave offhere. My Lord, his Teftimo-

ny was this •, for I do conceive, under favour,

we have taken the very precife Words fpoken by
them ; and, my Lord, fo as fpoken and taken, fo

written, and fo, my Lord, read to you. Bar-
ton, my Lord, faid, That Drake would have him
to be a MefTenger •, and to that purpofe there were
feveral Meetings at the Swan and White-Hart.
This was what Barton teftified.

My Lord, then there was Major Huntington,

which was at this Meeting, and one more at Mr.
Love's Houfe, which he full well remembers. My
Lord, Huntington fays this, That about March
Vol. II.
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told him that Titus was in Town, and that he

was newly come from beyond the Seas from
their Friends, Maffey, Bunce, Graves, and others ;

and that Titus was to meet the next Pay at Dow-
gate, where he fell into high Praifes of the

Prince, and told them that though he was taking

unhandfome Courfes, yet thev had great hopes
his Inclinations were otherwife. Titus faid fur-

ther, he feared his inclining to the Irijh, unlefs

fomething fhould be gotten from his Friends here

to divert him ; that you remember was Mr.
Love's Charity too, as you will hear anon. Ti*

tus propofed to get Letters from Perfons of Ho-
nour, to perfuade him to a good Opinion of the

Scots, to take the Covenant, and to join with
them.

Afterward they met at the White-Hart in Bread*
jlreet, where Titus declared that he fhould gain
thefe Letters, and hoped to kt fomething a foot to

the fame effect •, and there faid, they were confi-

dent they could fee noway under Heaven for him
elfe, but by taking the Covenant, and engaging
the Scots againft England : To which purpofe he
drew forth a Paper, purporting that they were
bound in Honefty, Confcience, and Loyalty, to

maintain and help him to his juft Rights, if he
would go along and join with the Covenanting
Party in England and Scotland.

My Lord, this is that now that hath paft in

Proof by Evidence concerning this firft Meeting
at the Swan at Dowgate, which I do humbly con-

ceive was the Rife and Foundation of what fol-

lows afterward. And this, my Lord, if true, I

fuppofe no Man will fay, but that was Treafon
that was tranfacled there. I do not fay, my Lord,
that Mr. Love was prefent at it, nor, as yet, can

I fay, knowing of it ; but what follows after, my
Lord, will bring him in danger.

My Lord, here, you have heard, was this

Meeting, and what was propounded to be done
here, and how aclive Titus was, and that he was
to go (you have heard by the Teftimony) to

Piercy ; and it is not doubted by any but he did

go thither ; it is not doubted by any but he was
fent, and did go thither. To that purpofe I

fhall now read you two WitnefTes more, which I

have caufed to be tranferibed too, in the Words
as fpoken by them, as I do conceive, that is,

Adams and Far : That there was Money agreed

upon, to fend Titus to Piercy ; that there was
Money collected, and that they themfelves did

contribute. Adams he exprefTeth it thus : That

upon a Meeting, the Place and Time I remember not,

where I think were prefent Drake, Titus, Alford,

and my Jelf, and I cannot tell how many more ; it

was agreed that Titusfhould go to Piercy : the End
of his going was to promote an Agreement between

the King and the Scots, according to the Covenant ;

(and, my Lord, you fhall hear in due time what

that Covenant is, that Mr. Love hath faid in his

late Defence.) In order to his going, we did agree

to furnifh him with Moneyfor the prefent, and made

fome kind of Promife to keep him while he was out

:

about an hundred Pounds was furnifhed ; for my
part, I paid twenty Pounds of it. This is A-
dams.

The next is Far : He fays, He did underftand

by Drake, that Titus, who was here requefled as

one to be prefent at the Treaty ofJerky, which Ti-

tus did undertake to go thither : he undertook to go

himfelf. That after he was gone, Drake dejired

U 2 Far
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Far to let him have Ten Pounds, faying, Titus was

in want, and upon this I lent him Ten Pounds: the

Letter was read at Mr. Love'i Houfe when he came

from Calais. So, my Lord, here is now, under

favour, his Proof before you of this Meeting at

Dowgate, at the Swan there, finifhed in Bread-

Jlreet, carried over unto Jerfey, Titus the tVleffen-

ger furnifhed with Money by a Party from hence you

in this Errand, as we told you. My Lord, all

this while I do not hear of Mr. Love ; if he

were, my Lord, he was like the Mole under

ground •, but however, my Lord, Mr. Love hath

carried himfelf (as fome have faid) like a Rat a-

mong Joint-Stools, a Man can fee him, but can-

not hit him. But, my Lord, I doubt he will

appear to be too bufy in what follows, and that

He had a hand in it at firft.

My Lord, the next to go on with is this, in Mr. Love's Houfe.

time •, That when Titus finihYd his Work in Jer- The next is Adams

fey, he was then to give an account to his Mailers

that employed him, and upon his Return he was

to do it faithfully, as he thought. But being in-

formed, that the State had vigilant Eyes, and they

difcovered him what he had been doing there, and

not differ, nor is it denied ; I am fure Mr. Love

acknowledged it in his laft Defence, becaufe pro-

ved by four, therefore confeffed, my Lord, that

this Narrative, the Copy of this Letter was read

his Houfe •, and for that I have the Tefti-

rnony of Adams, Alford,Jaquel, and Far ; which,,

if it be your Fleafure, I fhall humbly read unto

The firft is Major John Alford ; Having re~

ceived at Calais a Narrative in writing of Titus'i

Tranfatlions in Jerfey, / brought thefa?ne to Drake,

to whom it was directed. Now it appears to whom
the Direction was. And he brought it to Mr. Love*i

Houfe, where it was read ; afterwards there was a,

Commiffion fo called. But, my Lord, ifyou pleafe,

that is for this in the firft place, That this Narra-
tive brought from Titus by Alford, was read at

But Alford^w*/^ ta Calais*

did at his Return give an Account of the State of
Things at Mr. Love'j Houfe, which Account was.

the Narrative from Titus, and the Copy of the

Letter /aid to be the King's Letter : The Contents

whereof I remember was as followeth, The King ex-

having notice from fome of his ftedlaft Friends prejfed a great deal of AffecTion to the Miniftry in

I in England, and promifed them great Fa~
voursr when he was in a condition, and dejiredihem

here of it, he thought it was not fafe for him to

come in Perfon, fo that his guilty Confcience

kept him off. But then he did defire that he might

give an account by the hand of fome others, by

Their Memories •, and for that purpofe wrote a Let-

ter, to whom I cannot tell, 1 think to Drake

:

the Letter was written, and under favour, my
Lord, this Letter from Titus was read in Mr.

Love's Houfe, to have one fent to him i and

to continue fledfafi in the way they were in ; which

Letter was read and publijhed in Mr. Love's Study,

and Mr. L.ove was there fome times of the reading.

At the fame time a Motion was made, of giving

thanks to Titus for his well managing Affairs there^

and at the fame time the Commiffion and Inftrutliom

were. So that here is another Teftimony, that

there
~

it "was propounded for fome to be fent, this was done at Mr. lew's Houfe ; the Narra-

Adams was propounded for him to go ; Far

propounded for him to go : but not them, but

Alford was agreed to go, and did accept of it j

but not that he was there, my Lord. My Lord,

for this I fhall crave the fame Favour from you,

to read Adams and Far, as to that Particular

tive, fays this Gentleman, and the Copy of the

King's Letter.

My Lord, the next I fhall read unto you, is

Mr. John Jaquel : After Alford'^ coming home, I
was at Mr. LoveV Houfe, where was Potter,

Drake,, and Alford ; and Mr. Love was there

This is Major Adams ; It was moved in Mr. fome times r though divers times fomebody came /a

Love' J Houfe, Mr. Love being there prefent, that fpeak with hm^ and called him, and he went to

1 Jhould go to Calais to meet Titus ; but Alford

going thither, did at his Return give an account of

the State of things at Mr. Love'j Houfe. My
Lord, that I read him for, is for that part, that

it was moved in Mr. Love's, Chamber, Mr. Love

being then prefent : That IJhoidd go to Calais to

-meet Titus ; it was moved, that Adams ihould

fpeak with them. A Narrative from Titus was
there read by. Alford or Drake, wherein zvas declared

the King's Inclination to make peace with the Scots,

but his wicked Council kindred him. I think it was a
Narrative of what had pajfed between the King and

Titus at Jerfey. This is that that Jaquel fays.

The next, my Lord, is Far. Alford being re-

eo- my Lord, this I read to fhow Mr. Love was turned, he gave an Account of his Employment

privy to this before the Meffenger was fent. My
Lord, the next is Captain Ralph Far : I was in

Mr. Love'j Houfe in his Study, wherein (in Mr.

Love's, Study) a Letter was read from Titus, de-

firing one might befent to him to Calais •, and there-

upon it was moved that I Jhould go, but afterwards

it was agreed that Alford fhould go, who went ac-

cordingly. That Ls now as to that Particular, that

before any Man was fent unto Calais, it was

made known in Mr. Love's Houfe, and fome

propounded for to go, and at laft another did

go -, this, my Lord, I offer to you, as that

which will not be controverted by Mr. Love,

for I have read you two Witneffes to it. The

next, my Lord, is, in which (I think) we do

not differ •, but that when Alford had been at Ca-

lais, and had taken the account that Titus gave

him, the Copy of the Letter which he faid was

at Mr. Love's. Lloufe ; a Copy of a Letter was
there read, from the King to the Presbyterian

Party in England : The Subftance was to fend

Commiffioners to the Treaty at Breda* The
Narrative brought from Titus was communica-
ted at Mr. Love's Houfe, where were prefent

ten or twelve Perfons. So, my Lord, you have

heard thefe four Witneffes, what they have faid

concerning this : Now you. fhall give me leave

to make Application of this to the former, 1

fhall crave your Favour to go thorough this r

There follows more at Mr. Love's Houfe, this is

not ended yet. My Lord, after this, there was
fomewhat propounded to be done upon this Nar-
rative and a Letter from the King; fomewhat;

was propounded at this Meeting : My Lord,
then there was (as I know the Court remembers)

Speech of a Commiffion that was fomewhat con-

from the King to the Presbyterian Party here, the troverted. There was Speech of a Comn-.iffi.on,

Narrative of all the Tranfaftions and Proceedings and a Commiffion read •, Mr. Love ingenu-

to Jerfey : that upon his Return, I think we do oufly acknowledged!, and it was proved, and
he



he declared his diffenting from it, and that he was

apainft it, becaufe as private Perfons they had no

Power to do any fuch thing. Hut, my Lord,

that there was a Commiffion read there, brought

bv Drake (I do not fay that this proves that Mr.

Love corrected it ;) that there were Inftructions

and Letters read tor to befentover, I think, is

not denied : But, my Lord, for that, if you

pleafe, I {hall read you the Witnefs. The firft

is Alford : Afterwards there was a Commiffion, fo

called, agreed among us, fent over to the Lord

Willoughby of Parham, Mafi'ey, Graves, and Ti-

tus, at Breda, to advife with the Scotch Commijfio-

ners there, in behalf of the Presbyterian Party in

England. This Commiffion was read in Mr. Love'i

Study, and at the fame time Infirutlions for the

Commifftoners to walk by, were agreed on to befent ;

which Commiffion and'JnjlruBions were the Subjiance

of the Petition formerly fent, to prefs the King to

take the Covenant, and to profecute the Ends of it.

This Petition^ was (I conceive) what was formerly

agreed upon at Dowgate ; which Commiffion and

Inftructions one Mafon, the Lord Piercy's Man,

carried over. This is Alfrd's Teftimony as to

this. And being asked by Mr. Love, Did not I

diffentfrom fending the Commiffion and Infirutlions ?

he fiys this, It was agreed in the general, that the

Commiffion and Infirutlionsfhould befent, Mr. Love

being then prefent. All prcftnt arc Principals, my
Lord.

My Lord, in the next place is Major Hunting-

ton's Teftimony •, and the firft is this, That at

Mr. Love'j Houfe in the beginning of March 1649,

Ifound Drake and others, and there was read a Pa-

per in the nature of a Commiffion, commiffi'inating

my Lord Willoughby of Parham, Graves, Titus,

Maffey and Bunce, to treat in the behalf of the well-

affecled Party of England, and to join with the

Scotch Commiffioners, according to fuch Infirutlions

asfhould be therein inclofed. And this Que/Hon be-

ing asked, What Power have we togive or fend fuch

a Commiffion ? Drake an/zvered, V/e have the King's

Command for it, and the Authority of fame fecluded

Parliament- Men ; for I look upon them beyond the

Power that is now Jitling. Whereupon Mr. Love
replied, Come, come, let it go. You have heard

Huntington's Teftimony, and Mr. Love's Para-

phrafe upon thofe Words.
The next is Adams : At the fame time a Com-

miffion and Infirutlions were fpoken of at Mr. Love'j

Houfe to be drawn up and fent : As I remember

Mr. Gibbons brought the rough Draught. Lam-very

confident that Mafter Love was there fome part of

this time, and it was in his Study where this was ge-

nerally confented unto. 'The Infirutlions were there

agreed alfo, and read by Drake, as I remember.

Sterks, the Scotifh//^yz£, met with us fometimes at

Mafter Love'i Houfe. This is what was teftified

by Adams. There is another to this, and that is

Captain Far. William Drake read there a Paper

of the Nature of a Commiffion, which was not agreed

to by the Company, becaufe private Perfons had no

Authority to give Commiffion. The Commiffion was
in the Name of the Presbyterian Party. A Letter

and Infirutlions was then agreed upon ; the Com-

mijfioners were to be the Lord Willoughby of Par-

ham, Bunce, Maffey and Titus, who were to move

in the behalf of the Presbyterians. Papers then were

read, to have been fent to the Queen, to perfuade the

King to give Satisfaction to the Scots ; but they were

not affented to.

My Lord, I have done with this that concerns

for Hish-Treafon. 1

this Meeting ; and now I mall apply that which
I intended, and fpoke of before. The Defign

you heard, that, my Lord, was at the Swan at

Dowgate, was treafonable enough in Confcience,

high enough ; a Party employed to agitate! And
though we do not find M r. Love to have been

knowing or privy to it at firft, yet, my Lord, if

there be a Treafon hatched and defigned, a Par-

ty fent in it, and any fubfequent Act of any other

Party that fhall come into this, and approve of
it, and join in it in what way foever, this Man,
my Lord, is guilty of the firft Tranfaction of
Treafon. So that though Mafter Love did fo walk
under ground, that we cannot bring him in to

be knowing at firft, yet I bring him approving
at laft : And, my Lord, tho' here be his firft ap-

pearing, it is enough, and too timely. And, my
Lord, Titus departing, and an Account given of
a!!, and, for ought appears, not to be proved by
me, nor by any for the Commonwealth, whether
Mafter Love did approve or not, or how far

he went in it. But he was prefent, and at the

Debates and Difcourfings about it, and Actings
in it. My Lord, this is far from Mifprifion of
Treafon ; for Mifprifion of Treafon is a bare fi-

lent Act that carries nothing of Difcourfe nor
Debate with it ; it is a fimple Act of Omiffion*

But when Treafons are hatched and are defigned,

and others fhall come and treat, and debate, and
difcourfe upon carrying them on ; my Lord, by
the fubfequent Act he hath approved of all that

pafs'd before, and made himfelf Party to it. Here
is an Account given by Titus of what had pafTecf

there -, this is brought into Mafter Love's Houfe,
there are Debates concerning a Commiffion •,

whether they took the King for the Authority^

or the King wrote of it, it doth not much move
me. A Copy of a Letter from the King was
read there, let them take it among themfelves as

they pleafe. Here was a Commiffion debated,

and Mafter Love acknowledged he debated a-

gainft it. My Lord, under favour, if he had
declared an utter Diflike, and (as he himfelf fays)

a Deteftation and Abomination again ft it; bat he

goes on, though not in that Particular, yet in a-

nother, and he i3 guilty of all. In Treafon there

are no Acceffaries, all prefent are Principals.

The Crime of Treafon is beyond the crying

Blood of Murder ; one is but private, the other

is publick : fo as, my Lord, though Mr. Love
acknowledged!, that he fo far owned the Nar-
rative from Titus, and the Proceedings there, the

reading of it, but did diffent from the Commif-
fion, and did fpeak againft it, and at prefent I

fhall take it fo too 5 yet for the Instructions

fent, and for the Commiffion named, you have
had four Witneffes named to you. My Lord,
Diffent will not ferve his Turn -, and yet to that

there is not a Pretence of a Diffent from, the In-

ftructions, and what was fent, and that is a Con-
fent and Concurrence, and that is an Approba-
tion of all precedent Actions, and makes himfelf

a Party in it, and that is by one Witnefs : And,
my Lord, you have heard by Mafter Serjeant

Witherington, that to every Circumftance there

needs not two Witneffes, but to the Defign there

muft be two : And Adams himfelf fays, it was

propounded to have given Titus Money, as you
fhall hear by and by •, and Far tells you, That
there was going on fo far in it, that a Paper

was read for Letters to be fent to the Queen,

to move her to perfuade the King, but that

was
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was not affented to ; but it was moved among
them.

My Lord, the next thing I fhall take, as near

as I can, was when this was done, and this Trans-

action paffed over, and the Inftruclions fent, that

were agreed upon for Commiffioners at Breda,

then begins the Troubles in Ireland. You have

heard of a Paper- book fent, written in Sack, and

returned a Year afteru that comes next. There
was fent over from Col. Bamfield (Mr. Love fays

he knew not the Face of the ManJ but he lik'd

his Employment it feems, that would be privy to

fuch Proceeding from a Man he knew not.

There came a Servant over, I take it from Bam-
field, and that was about Chriftmas laft, that is

the time expreffed after Dunbar Fight. My
Lord, this was brought, the Letter was deli-

vered to Potter, and their Superfcription was

fingly with the Letter L. which I may fay, may
be better applied to Mafter Love, than to any

other, all Circumftances confidered ; yet I fhall

not conclude from it, but though he fays he had

no Letters directed to him, I fhall fay as truly,

that they were directed to him, as much as

to any Man elfe, and a little more ; for Ma-
fter Love was very unfortunate that thefe

Letters fhould be brought to him, read in his

Houfe, the Tranfaclions there, and Mr. Love

to have no hand in it, this is hardly to be be-

lieved.

My Lord, in the next place are thefe Letters

that came from Bamfield j if it pleafe you, for that

I fhall read Potter. I received Letters out of Scot-

land from Bamfield, with the Letter L. upon itt

•wherein was a large Narrative of the affairs of

Scotland, from Dunbar Fight, to the time of the

Date of them, which (L think) was about Chrift-

mas. / carried thofe Letters to Mr. Love'i, where

was one or two more with us, Jaquel, and, I think,

Dr. Drake ; we three, I am Jure of it. There

were Letters from a namelefs Perfon, whom wefup-

pofed to be Mafter Bailey ; and a Letter from ??iy

Lords o/"Argyle, Lothian, andl^ov/don. Thefe Let-

ters wrote for Ten thoufand Pounds for buying of

Arms, and hiring of Shipping ; andfor Five thoufand

Men to be landed in England. Thefe Letters were

difliked and dijfentedfrom \ aud it was agreed togive

a negative Anfwer : And we thoughtfit (for our own

Safety) to raife fome Money for the Meffenger and

Bamfield : The Sum agreed on was Forty Pounds,

to which I contributed Ten Pounds. I carried the

Letter to Mr. Love'i to take Advice upon it. Mr.
Love, and I, and Jaquel, read thofe Letters that

were opened, and thofe that were not opened, we did

open and read, and difcourfe on them ; and upon Ad-

vice refolved to do nothing in it : Neither did they re>

veal it. And then being demanded, Whether at

Mr. Love's Houfe there was not a Difcourfe for

raifing 4 or 500 /. ? he anfwered, There was. Be-

ing demanded, Whether Letters were not return'd

to Bamfield, with the Money fent him ? He an-

fwered, A Letter was left at my Shop, and I ap-

prehended it camefrom Mafter Love, or Mr. Drake.

And Jaquel being demanded, Whether Mr. Love

and Mr. Drake were not appointed to draw up

the Letter ? He anfwered, Tes, they were. And
that is Potter's Teftimony.

The next mention is, That Jaquel was prefent

there, here is fure of it, Mafter Love himfelf and

Jaquel. This is Jaquel's Teftimony: Jit a Meet-

ing at Mr. Love'i Houfe, Mafter Love being pre-

fent, it was thought fit that Forty Pounds fhould be

raifedfor Bamfield. A Letter was readfrom Bam-
field at Mafter Love'i Houfe, Mafter Love being

prefent : Mr Love declared, he never faw, or knew
Bamfield. The Letter wasfor Five thoufand Pounds
to hire Shipping. And another Letterfrom my Lords
of Argyle, Lothian, and others, at the fame time
andplace were read, to induce the Confederates togive
credit to Bamfield. Potter moved, That Ten Pounds
might be given to the Meffenger that brought the Let-
ter, and Thirty Pounds to Bamfield ; which was
confidered of, and nothingfaid againft it: There was
no Agreement, but it was thought convenient by all

then prefent. Upon this Mr. Love ask'd Mr. Ja-
quel z. Queftion, and he faid, I cannot fay that Mr.
Lovtfaid, it was convenient, but it was not dijfented

from, or fpoken againft by any.

My Lord, I fuppofe this is a faithful Relation
of what the Witneffes faid. My Lord, you have
heard of this, and the time when it was, that
BamfieWs Servant was fent, and Letters brought
from Scotland, giving an Account of Proceedings
there : Letters from Argyle, Lothian, Lowdon, and
Belcarris, to give credit to what Bamfield fhould
relate : Money provided, though not the Sum,
nor the Means thofe Letters did hint to them i

perchance their Purfes could not reach that ; but
ibfar as they could go, they would: they would
reward him that brought it, and him that fent it

;

and thereupon 40 /. was provided, ten Pounds for
the Meffenger, and thirty Pounds for Bamfield. Tn
this Repetition I think I have not wronged Mr.
Love. \
The next is the Letter that came from Maffey

and Titus, who were then in Scotland ; and in
what Condition, I think every Man knows, in
what Condition they are there: though by the
way I fhould be forry to repeat that which Mr.
Love did fay the firft Day, That it did not appear
to him, that the Scots were in Arms againft the
Parliament of England, but in Arms for their
own Prefervation ; and therefore did defireCoun-
fel. Here was one of his Reafons why he defired
Counfel to be informed, to advife him whe-
ther they were in Arms for their own Preferva-
tion, or in oppofition to the Parliament of Eng-
land. This was that Mr. Love was pleafed to
fay the firft Day. My Lord, this of Maffey and
Titus gives them Account likewife of the Affairs
in Scotland after Dunbar Fight too. If you
pleafe, my Lord, I will read you three Wit-
neffes to that, and that neither doth Mr. Love
deny, but that thefe Letters were read at his
Houfe.

This is Major John Alford's. After Dunbar
Fight we met at Mr. Love'i Houfe in his lower
Room, where a Letter from Maffey was read, which
gave an Account of the Fight there ; wherein he alfo
wrote for Arms, mentioning his own and TitusV
Necejfities. Thereupon a Propofition was made for
raifing of Monies for the fupplying of their Necejfi-
ties ; and Five hundred Pounds being propounded,
it was brought down to Two or Three hundred
Pounds to be raifed among our felves. Mr. Love
did then move for Contribution- Money to that pur-

pofe ; and I thereupon promifed Ten Pounds, which
my Man paid. This, my Lord, is the Tefti-
mony which Alford gives as to this concerning
Maffey.

The next is Adams. When the Money was pro-
pounded to be raifedfor Mzttey and Titus, certainly

Mr. Love was then prefent ; [and this after the
Fight at Dunbar} and the Money was agreed to be

rat ea
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raifed by thofe that were privy to the Correfpondency.

Mr. Love had then a Paper in his Hand, and did

write fomething, IJaw not what he did write ; and

fo every Man that was there did write what he

would lend > I conceive Mr. Love fummed up every

Man's Sum. Maffey '.f Letter was for Arms, and

the Money propounded was for Titus and Mafley ;

for Titus, becaufe he was fent by us \ and Mr. Love

was there. This, my Lord, is Adams'% Tefti-

mony ; and though he did not know what

Mr. Love writ, yet he knew what Mr. Love

moved.

My Lord, here is another, and that is Captain

Far, which I fhall make bold to read to the

Court likewife, concerning the fame Action. Af-

ter Dunbar Fight L came fomewhat late to a Meet-

ing at Mr. Love'j Houfe, where Mr. Love told

me a Letter was come from Mafley, to afftft the

King with Money and Arms ; but it was not agreed

that any Money or Arms could be fent. And I un-

derjlood from Mr. Love, they- could not do it. Mr.
Love then likewife told me, they agreed to raife a

Sum of Money for Titus, Mafley and Graves, to be

ftftt to relieve them in their Neceffty : which Sum,

wbei&er it was 250 1. or 300 i. I cannot poftiively

fay ; but Mr. Love moved me to contribute. I told

him I would give him Five Founds, which I brought

wrapp'd up in a Paper, and laid it down on Mr.
Love'j Table, Mr. Love and feveral others being

in the Room; it was fo done, that there might be no

Difcovery. And Mr. Love asking him fome Que-

ftions upon this, Whether it was done fo by Mr.

Love, or no ? he did not know that ; but it was

done fo by himfelf, that there might be no Dif-

covery. My Lord, Mr. Love did not difagree :

Far being crofs-examin'd by Mr. Love, did not

fay, that Mr. Love did difagree to the fending the

Money to Maffey and Titus. So I have done with

that Particular likewife, the receiving Letters from

Maffey, and of the Account from Scotland, and the

Fight there.

That which Adams faith, Mr. Love having re-

plied unto it, concerning a Letter writ to the Ge-
neral Affembly and Kirk of Scotland ; and in that,

my Lord, he is pretty pofitive. Adams's Tefti-

mony is ; There was a Letter written to the General

Affembly and Kirk of Scotland, at Mr. Love'5

Houfe, Mr. Love was fometimes prefent at this

Meeting : which Letter was taken to be penn'd by

Mr. Love and Mr. Drake ; and I thought it to be

fo, becaufe of the Language of it : and that after

Drake efcaped, all the Meetings I know of, were at

his Houfe ; [and fo, my Lord, fay fome others.]

Being examined, he fays, I faw Letters which

were read in Mr. Love'i Houfe, Mr. Love was:

prefent and privy to the debating of them, and did

not declare any Dijfent.

My Lord, I have now done with thefe Parti-

culars •, you have feen Mr. Love at the End,
though you found him not at the Beginning : it

is not good to come at the ending of the Quar-
rel. Bur, my Lord, under favour, by the Laws
and Rules of Juftice, if any ill thing be contri-

ved and plotted, and afterwards any other Per-

fbn fhall come into the Contrivance of it, and
carry it on ; my Lord, I think I fhall not need to

fay much in it, but he is culpable and guilty of

the whole, from the firft to laft. And that Mr.
Love fhould be but a mere Spectator, a mere con-

cealed Perfon, it is very hard to be believed by
any that are rational Mm : for after that once Ti-

tus had done his Errand at Jerfey, and gives his

Account here, my Lord, That his Tranfactions,

and the fubfequent Employment, all that we know
of, are all tranfacled, and carried on in Mr. Love's

Houfe, in Mr. Love's Study, in Mr. Love's P re-

fence : It was not one or two, or three times,

which had been enough, and very well had in

been for Mr. Love, if he had done as Baines did,

or as Barton did ; they, when they heard (though

they were too much for them, my Lord, to con-

ceal, as they have done, yet did confefs it when
required) they left off when they heard of it,

they would go no further in it, they knew the

Danger of it. Mr Love, my Lord, as you
will hear anon, by what himfelf hath propofed,

what Judgment and Confcience Jed him to carry

on this ; it was a Confcience of his own cove-

nanting Intereft and Principles for the Scots

and Religion, that led him on to carry on this

Defign.

My Lord, I have done with this, that is, the

Evidence againft him; for Application to it,

you have heard the feveral Laws read before the

Charge opened : that Man is guilty of High-Trea-
fon, and is a Traitor by the Laws of the Land
now, that doth any way promote, declare, or

publifh Charles Stuart to be King of England.

My Lord, you have heard the Evidence, what
Titus hath plotted, what Drake hath carried on,
what Mr. Love hath approved of, and how far

he hath confented and joined in the Defign. My
Lord, I fhall fay it again, if Titus and Drake be
Traitors, as their own guilty Confciences have
made themfelves judge themfelves fo : he that

flies, conleffeth the Fact ; my Lord, they are

fled. My Lord, if they be Traitors, Mr. Love
muft be the fame with them ; for Mr. Love was
carrying on, and hath agreed, and concurred,

and approved of carrying on the Defign that Ti-

tus and Drake have acted : Confenters and Agents
are to have the fame Punifhments ; in Treafon
there are no Acceffaries. My Lord , the next

Point is this ; the next Act is that of the 17th of

January, 164.9. Having given you the Evi-

dence, you will give me leave now fhortly to

repeat the Law. The firft is, for promoting
Charles Stuart, &c. That if any Perfon fhall

malicioufly and advifedly plot, contrive and en-

deavour to ftir up, or raife Forces againft this

prefent Parliament, and for the Subverfion of the

fame, and fhall declare it by any open Deed,
&c.

My Lord, Mr. Love is pleafed to exprefs him-
felf, That none can accufe him, nor none have
fworn againft him, that he hath raifed any Sedi-

tions, any Infurrection,< any Rebellions ; my
Lord, I cannot fay it fully, whether he be guilty

of that, or no: but this I will fay (the Judgment
I fhall leave to the Court upon the Evidence

heard J if Mr. Love be guilty of any thing mov-
ing or tending towards the -railing of Forces, Se-

ditions or Rebellions) though the thing be not

done, yet, my Lord, it is Treafon ; thofe Prac-

tices, thofe Purpofes are Treafon by the Law,
though they never come to Act. We fhall not

look, I hope, to fee a Rebellion raifed before we
fhall fay it is Treafon, and endeavour againft it

;

but for that, how far he is guilty upon the E-
vidence of being inftrumental of the War in

Scotland, and to have endeavoured to have a

Party got in England, my Lord, I fhall leave it

to your Judgment, upon the Evidence you have

heard.

My
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My Lord, there is likewife another in the fame

Law : If any Perfon procure, invite, agree, aid,

or affift any Foreigner or Stranger to invade Eng-

land or Ireland, or adhere to any Forces raifed by

the Enemies of the Parliament or Commonwealth,

Or Keepers of the Liberties of England ; this is

High-Treafon. For this you have heard the

Evidence what Mr. Love hath done towards this •,

flill upon the fame foot of Account it is Treafon,

though but propofed and intended, though not

acted. Then there is another Claufe upon the

Law that Mr, Love hath infilled upon, of confti-

tuting this Court. But for thofe former I have

faid, and you fhall give me leave to repeat it a-

gain, That thefe Laws offended againft, though

in time before this Court was conftituted, yet this

Court hath, in exprefs Words, Commiffion and

Authority given them by the Parliament, to take

cognizance of all Facts and Offences done after

that Law, though done before your Commiffion ;

and that, my Lord, is not to be doubted, to be a

very good and legal Authority. And yet for this

the Law that conftitutes this Court, of the 26th

of March 1650, That no Perfon after the 29th

of March 1650, fhall give or hold any Intelli-

gence by Letters, Meffages, or otherwife, with

Charles Stuart, James Stuart, or the late Queen
their Mother, or the Council abiding with any

of them, prejudicial to the Commonwealth , or

with any that fhall be in Arms againft the Parlia-

ment of England, or fhall bring or fend in Eng-

land, Ireland, or any Dominions of this Com-
monwealth, Letters,. Meffages or Inflructions,

tending to raife Insurrections, or a new War
within this Nation, and fhall not forthwith re-

veal the fame to the Speaker of the Parliament,

or to the Council of State, or two Members
thereof,, or to two Juftices of Peace, fhall be

guilty of, &c. That is a Claufe in the Law
that conftitutes this Court. And no Perfon

fhall voluntarily relieve any Perfon in Arms,
or that fhall be in Arms againft the Parliament,

with any Money, Victuals, or Ammunition on
pain of Death, or other corporal Punifhment.

And whofoever fhall voluntarily take up Arms
againft the Parliament, and fhall encourage others

to do fo, fhall die without Mercy.

Thefe, my Lords are Claufes contained in the

Act that conftitutes this Court ; and I read the

Law before the Charge : and now, my Lord, I

have repeated the Evidence faithfully, now let

it be confidered how far the Evidence goes with

them. There are three Acts of Parliament, I

fuppofe Mr. Love knew not of the next ; for he

fays, he knew not of that of the 2d of Auguft ;

but it was publifh'd folemnly at the Exchange , and
at Weftminfter-Hall : but Ignorance cannot excufe

him, that no Man will pretend. This, my Lord,
is in relation to Scotland ; it was made in Auguft.

The Battle at Dunbar, I cannot well tell whether

it was in September or Oclober ; in September this

Correfpondency from Bamjield, Argyle, Lowdon,
and Lothian, Belcarris, Majfey, and the reft, were

all fince Dunbar Fight ; that is clear, they were
fince that time : The Words of the Law are

thefe ; ' Whoever, after the 5th of Auguft,
* fhall ufe, hold or maintain any Correfpondency
* or Intelligence with any of the Scotch Nation
' refiding in Scotland^ without Licence from the
e Parliament, or with any other Perfon or Per-
* fons of the Scotijh or any other Nation, whom
* they know to adhere to the Scotijh Nation againft

* the Parliament ; or fhall abet, affift, counte-
' nance, or encourage the Scotijh Nation, or any
' other Perfon adhering to them in their War a-
4

gainft the Parliament and Commonwealth of
' England, or fhall fend, or caufe to be fent and
4 conveyed any Money, Horfe, Arms, Ammu-
4

nition, or any other Furniture of Plate, Goods,
' Merchandife, or any Supply whatfoever, to
4 the Scots, or to any Port or Place thereof, or
4

in their Power, or in Confederacy againft this
4 Nation, thefe Facts are High-Treafon by this

* Law.' And the High Court of Juftice is to

take cognizance of the Contents by exprefs

Provifion of that Law.
My Lord, I fhall not need to repeat the Evi-

dence again •, but upon thefe, my Lord, I muft
leave him to your Juftice and Judgment to do
what in your Confciences you think is juft upon
thefe Laws, and what Mr. Love hath done in

Tranfgreffion againft them.

My Lord, Mr. Love was pleafed, at the be-

ginning of his Trial, to make fome deep Prote-

ftations ; I think he did move all honeft Men
that heard him : and truly I die? think, and did

hope that they were not made with any relation

to Equivocation, or mental Refervation, but to a
pofitive Denial of any Facts of Treafon, or
looking that way ; that it had been made in that

Senfe, that he had been clearly not guilty of any
thing. But, my Lord, having looked upon
them, and caufed them to be tranferibed to me,
I do find that they are fomewhat cautious, and
perchance they may be true, my Lord, in the

Senfe fpoken by Mr. Love ; but whether true

in the Senfe they fhould have been fpoken by a
Chriftian in a publick Affembly, that I fhall not

judge. His firft Proteftation was, in the pre-

fence of God and this Affembly, ' That I ne-
' ver wrote any Letter to the King, or to the
4 Church, nor to the Queen, or Church and
* State of Scotland in general, or to any particu-
4

lar Perfon of the Scotch Nation, fince theWar
4 began to this very day.'

My Lord, this may be true, but whether any

Letter hath been fent from the King, or from

the Scotijh Nation, or others, or by Majfey, or •

the reft, that fhall be believed as the Evidence

is.

Mr. Love. It is in my fecond Proteftation.

Attorn. Gen. 4 Again (faith he) I do likewife
4 declare in the prefence of the fame God, I ne-
4 ver received Letter written to me from the King,
4 or from the Queen his Mother, or from the
4 Church or State of Scotland in general, or
4 any particular Perfon of the Scotijh Nation
4 fince the War began. I proteft and declare
4 likewife in the prefence of the fame God, I
4 never collected, gave or lent Penny of Mo-
' ney either to fend into Scotland, or any foreign
4 Parts, either to the King of Scots, or to the
4 Queen his Mother, or to the Church or State
4 of Scotland in general, or to any particular Per-
4 fon of the Scotijh Nation, fince the Wars be-
4 gan.' But that Mr. Love did not move others

to contribute, we have not a word of that.

Truly, I did think it when he fpokeit? But it

feems thefe Affeverations were ftudied to evade,

and that he would fpeak true, but not the whole

Truth. I have given them but a touch •, thefe

may be true, my Lord, but, under favour, there

is fomething elfe that is as true, and goes almoft

as near as this.

My
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My Lord, Mr. Love the laft day had your Pa- Confederacy with others to undermine the State,

tience and Juftice to make a large Defence, and where he did live peaceably and quietly, where

he was very large in it ; and though he did beat none interrupted him : He had a free Liberty,

us down that are the Counfel for the Publick, as much as a King in this Commonwealth :

that we mould not ufe Oratory, nor Flourifhes, Truly, that Mr. Love mould do this, it is (I

nor Querks of Law, nor Niceties, in which I think) an Aggravation ; and not an Aggravation

fhall be guided by him, and fhall not do it} yet upon the Court or State, that they mould pro-

he is pleafed fully to make ufe of all Infinuations fecute where a Man is profecuting them. What

to the Court to trip up every VVitnefs upon Nice- he hath done, my Lord, you have heard ; what

ties, upon Not-expreffion, u pon Non-fenfe, and

fuch, my Lord, which I fhall not follow him in

:

for I fhall deal as Truth ought to deal, in pure

Nakednefs and Simplicity, and not ufe any Ora-

tory, but to fct the Matter of Fact before you,

and leave it unto the Court, who are the Judges

between the Commonwealth and himfelf for

Life and Death. But, my Lord, you fhall give

me leave to touch upon fome few things in the

late Defence of his •, it was divided into four

Parts.

The firft, the Charge ; the fecond, the Wit-

neffes and Teftimony, both in one : The Wit-

neffes for the Perfons, the Teftimony for the

Fact. The third, concerning himfelf ; the fourth,

his Offences have been, and who gave the Caufe ;

That a Minifter fhould do this ; one that had a

Calling otherwhere, and better to employ him-

felf, than to meddle with States and fecular Af-

fairs : And thefe Things to be done in Mr. Love's

Houfe, and in his Study, where he fhould have

been ftudying better Things. My Lord, next

he fays, / could not leave fuch Relations as I have,

nor fuch a loving People and competent Living, as

any Minifler hath within London, only Confcicnce

carried me another way ; and till Conscience be fa-

tisfiedy I cannot ftir one jot. My Lord, this his

Confcience, I do not know what it hath to do
in Government, or what Mr. Love's Confcience

had to do in thefe Affairs : He had a Calling of

fome Propofals to the Court : which truly, my his own to ufe ; and fhould I go out of my Cal

Lord, might better have been termed rather ling, and meddle with other Men, I humbly

Threatnings than Propofals. conceive I were a Bufy-body. Mr. Low had a

My Lord, for the Charge, you have heard it Calling enough for any one Man to employ him-

hath been gone through, and the Evidence con- felf in ; and, methinks, when he fays he had

cerning it. Concerning the Witneffes, my Lord, fuch a Relation to a loving People, a Compe-

I have read unto you (for I do take it upon my tency of Livelihood, that he fhould not apply

Confcience) what I knew, and nothing but what himfelf to return to them, but to wander abroad

:

was true : I have not varied, that 1 know of, a And when we once wander, it is hard coming in

Syllable ; and I think I ought not to do it ; the again, till perchance we are fetch'd in again with

Duty of my Place requires it not from me. the Whip. But, my Lord, Mr. Love had other

My Lord, concerning himfelf, he is pleafed to Relations, of Wife and Children, which he

fay fomething, and much of his Merit : But, my might have look'd upon alfo, and taken care of

Lord, it is a Grief to this Court, to my felf, and

all that are Well-wifhers to the Publick, that any

Man that hath been a Friend to the Parliament,

that hath gone along with them, acted for them,

fuffered for them, done as he hath done, that this

Man fhould be called to publick Juftice: I hope,

my Lord, all that hear me bear witnefs, that I

think, my Lord, we are all fenfible of it.

But, my Lord, look upon who hath been the

Caufe of it ; let that be look'd into, and every

Man will be fatisfied in his own Judgment and

Confcience, whether Mr. Love were provoked,

or no, or whether he hath not provoked the

State to bring him to be thus exemplary in

Juftice. Mr. Love fays, my Lord, (I fhall defire

to make ufe of the Paper) / confefs it is not fo much

them.

In the laft place, he is pleafed to fay, (and

that I believe hath carried on his Defign) the

Covenant-Intereft. You have heard what Titus

did, what Drake did, and what the reft did ;

that all this, it was upon the Covenant ; and

the Covenant is urged, I am fure, to Things
the Parliament hath forbid. Mr. Love is plea-

fed to declare himfelf ftill to retain his old

Principles, from which (by the Grace of God)
he will not be taken off by any Terror. My
Lord, you will hear by and by what the Co-
venant he fuppofes leads him to : And, my
Lord, I fhall take it afunder, and bring it next,

if you pleafe, that is, the Covenant-Intereft.

Says Mr. Love, Though I own not the way of

the Danger of my Life , I am a fickly Man, and I managing any Papers, I neither writ them, ncr

know a Difeafe will ere -long kill me, whatfoever fent them, yet thus far J own the Thing ; I con-

you do with me : But this grieves me more, That I fefs it was agreeable to my Judgment and Confci-

fhould fuffer from your Hands, for whom I have

done and fuffered fo much in my obfeure Station, and

according to my weak Meafure. Had I beenfo dealt

with at Oxford, at the ]un&o there ! But to be fo

dealt withal in Weftminfter-Hall, this troubles

me. And, my Lord, it doth trouble me to deal

fo with him. My Lord, whether may we or him-

felf take up this Complaint ? Had the State been

thus ufed by a Cavalier, by a profeffed open Ene-

my, it had not been fo much Trouble to us

;

you would have come to Juftice upon a little

more Defire than now : But that Mr. Love, a

Minifter, a Minifter of the Gofpel, a Man that

hath preached for us, prayed for us, acted with

us, gone along with us ; that he fhould go to

undermine us, that he fhould be joined, or in

Vol. II.

enee, and I thought the Intereft of Godlinefs would

be more promoted if the King went into Scotland up-

on Covenant-Terms ; it would be more for the Good

of the Nation.

Mr. Love. No, Sir, thofe are not my Words :

I faid, Than to fall in with the Irifh Rebels, or to

offer this Kingdom to the Spaniard. I thought a

greater Foundation of Trouble would be laid, if

this Reception were not laid by that Nation.

And the Covenant hath a Claufe in it, That we
are to feek the Good and Union of both Nati-

ons •, and they are judged to be Incendiaries and
Malignants that net only divide the King from
his People, but the Kingdoms one from ano-

ther.

X Now
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Now they declaring him to be their King, of Threatning in them : For (fays he) if you cen
according to my Apprehenfion, I thought it a

greeable to my Covenant to pray and defire, as a

private Man, and no more, that there might be

an Agreement upon thofe Terms, confifting with

Religion and the Terms of the Covenant.

Attorn. Gen. But had you gone on as a private

Man, Mr. Love, we had not ftir'd you now.
My Lord, this is plain of it felf what Intereft

this Covenant- Intereft is, Till the King and the

People in the two Nations, &c. Truly, my Lord,

fare rather upon a political Intereft, than of theMe-
rit of the Fatly the Scripture counts it not Juftice
hut Murder. Truly, my Lord, I think Juftice
is a political Intereft, the Prefervation of the Ge-
neral : But furely I do not think the Perfon will
come in judgment before you, but the Merit of
his Facl ; and as yet I may fay, I fuppofe the
Treafons he hath committed, if thofe find him
guilty, if the Court finds him guilty of thofe
Facts laid to his Charge, and if you are fatisfied

Mr. Isve is pleafed to exprefs himfelf fomewhat in your Judgments that they are proved my Lord
obliquely againft: the prefent Government : He it is Juftice, not Murder ; and it is Juftice that
faith, my Lord, When 1 look upon all the Vows, which political Intereft requires of you, that Tu-
Covenants, Declarations, Proteftations, of both ftice be done upon the Prifoner. And he is

Houfes of Parliament, I find a Suitablenefs between pleafed to fay in his laft Defence, That he denied
my Judgment and them, and am not confcious to the Commiffion to be fent, and entitling the Pref-
my felf'of'any thing I have done in Oppofition or Con- byterian Party to it: and he hath acknowledged
tradition thereunto ; I repent not of whatfoever I it had been very high Preemption if they ftiould
have done ; though I could v/ifh the Ends of that have done it, and a notorious Falfhood. And in

juft War had been belter acco?nplifhed : Then fhould

we have been happy, and united among our felves,

and honoured among the Nations round about us. I
am fofar from repenting of what I have done, both

by doing, and contributing, and fuffering in the Par-

liament's Quarrel, that were it to be done again up-

on the fame unqueftionable Authority, for the fame
declared Ends, and againft the fame malignant Per-

fons, Ifhould manifeft as much Readinefs ofMind to

engage, according to my meafure.

After this, where he had mentioned his Trou-

bles at Oxford, when a Scholar there ; and at made me a little to enquire after it : It was'preach

that I join with him } and whether he hath not
done fo, my Lord, that I fhall leave to you.
That the Presbyterian Name was made ufe oL*
you have had many concurrent Evidences ; and
Mr. Love was prefent when thefe Thino-s were
mentioned : And if it be a Fault, which him*
felf hath acknowledged, it is Right done to the
Presbyterian Party, who, I am fure, will not
own him in it.

My Lord, but a Word more : This laft Day
he was pleafed to mention his * Sermon ; which

London, when he came to a Lecture here ; at

Newcaftle, when he fpake for the Parliament there

;

and in Kent, when he fpake againft the King

there ; when thefe were over, after this he had a

little Breathing, whilft the two Houfes of Parlia-

ment were in power. This Gentleman was trou-

bled in the Time of the King, in the! imeofthe

Bifhops, in the Time of thefe Wars, for being

for the Parliament : But I appeal to his own Con-

science and Judgment, whether ever he was trou-

bled or difturbed by this Parliament, or by this

Government of the Commonwealth, whether he

had not as free and as full Liberty to preach the

Gofpel, to inftrucT: others, and to fave Souls, as

his Heart could wifh ; and I defire to know whe-

ther ever the Parliament did interpofe with him,

till he did interpofe with us. He went out of

his Way, my Lord : He was quiet and fafe, in

as much Security as any of us ; and, my Lord,

even thofe that were the Watchmen for the Safety

of this Commonwealth, did watch and take as

much Care even for his Prefervation, as for any

one of ours : And thus he hath requited them.

My Lord, I will repeat it : I appeal to his own

ed at Uxbridge, (my Lord, I had the Honour to
be at the Treaty) which hath been fo much fpoken
of; and truly I wonder this Gentleman did not re-
member what he faid then. If you pleafe, my
Lord, I fhall put vou in mind of fnmo Paffi,_

ges

put you in mind of fome Pafla-
I have the Sermon here.

[Mr. Attorney- General reads out of the Book,
which he .faid was Mr. Love's Sermon.]

/ have ever thought that too much Mercy towards
Malignants hath made more Delinquents than ever
Juftice hath done. Mercy fhould not weigh down
Juftice ; (my Lord, thefe are good Inftru&ions.)
In God they are both equal; whyfhould it not be fo
in. Man ? Pity to the Bad, hath proved Cruelty to
the Good: The fparing of Offenders hath made ma-
ny w.orfe ; few or none better. (And, my Lord,
we know it.) To them that havefhewed no Mercyy
let Judgment befhewed without Mercy ; Much Guik
contrasted ; much innocent Bloodfpilt ; which either

muft be avenged on us, or by us. My Lord, that
is one of his Claufes ; and here is another : 2.
The Lord heah a Land by cutting off thofe diftem*.

Confcience, and to any of his Friends here, whe- pered Members that endanger the health of a Land.
ther ever, till his Judgment and Confcience did

interpofe in State- Affairs, to difpofe of Kingdoms

and Commonwealths, whether ever he were in the

kaft interrupted.

My Lord, he fays himfelf, when he came to

be a Lecturer in London, the Bifhop would not

admit of him in three Years ; yet, my Lord, he

is admitted here three Years, and none hath in-

terrupted him. And your felf fay, you have a

competent Livelihood, and a People very loving

to you ; and you might have fo continued, if you

would.

My Lord, his Propofals to the Court, I do fay,

were hardly fair Propofals ; for they had a little

* Clar. Hift.

(Here is good Do&rine, my Lord.j // was the
Lard troubled Achan, and cut him off, becaufe he
troubled Ifrael. Oh, that, in this our State-Phyfi-
cians would refemble God, to cut off thofe from the
Land, who have diftempered it ; • (I fuppofe he
meant, or fhall da.) That, my Lord, was his O-
pinion then. And thofe who lie under the Guilt of
much innocent. Blood are not meet Perfons to be at
peace with, till all the Guilt of Blood be expiated
either by the Sword of the Law, or the Law of the
Sword ; and a Peace can never be fafe nor juft till

then. What Mr. Love hath endeavoured fince,

my Lord, I fhall fay nothing. And I have but
one Word more, and it is this ; my Lord, he

v 1

faysVol. 2. p. 445.
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fays it is not likely to have a Peace with fuch

Men as thefe, the Malignant Party, while they

continue thus. We can as foon make Fire and

Water agree, yea, I bad almoft faid Heaven and

Hell, as their Spirits and ours ; jor either they muft

grow better or we worfie, before we can agree. My
Lord, I think there is little hope of their grow-

ing better ; and, my Lord, we have not grown
worfe.

My Lord, I {hall trouble you no further: I

fhall ufe nothing of Aggravation •, but as Juftice

is blinded, fo let the Evidence appear to you in

pure Nakednefs.

My Lord, you have heard the Evidence (as I

humbly conceive) in the fame Language, in the

fame Habit, in the fame Words, as fpoken by

the WitnefTes: And, my Lord, having heard

thofe, and the Laws, and the.Charge againft him,

upon the whole I fhall humbly leave him to Hand

or fall by your Juftice an^i Judgment.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I humbly crave leave to

fpeak but one Word : Mr. Attorney- General

hath replied to my Defence, as to the Matter of

Fact. Concerning his Reply I fhall not infill

upon it •, yet I fhall humbly crave leave to infift

upon two Particulars.

Attorn. Gen. If I have given any new Evi-

dence, Mr. Love ought to be heard: But, my
Lord, I have declined it. And for thofe PafTages

in his Sermon, I do not urge one Word of Evi-

dence againft him ; and for the reft, they are his

own Words, which he hath faid the laft Day ;

And I have brought nothing new before you.

And if the Sermon preached at Uxbridge fhould

be an Occafion, I fhall caft it afide.

Mr. Love. 1 humbly conceive there are new
Suggeftions expreffed in Court by thofe worthy
Gentlemen» whofe Names I know not, nor their

Employments neither. But as to thofe I fhall

humbly crave leave in a Word or two ; and then,

as to the whole Matter of the Depofitions, I

fhall humbly offer fome Matter of Law, arifing

upon the whole Matter given in.

Attorn. Gen. I fhall crave leave too, my Lord,
and leave it to you : For any Suggeftions, they

are but Suggeftions, as Mr. Love fays himfelf;

and that is nothing for the Evidence. Mr. Love,

my Lord, had the laft Day, and I fhould have
this. Had he faid he had any thing to fay, or if

he had had any thing more, he might have faid

it; I did wait if he would have faid any thing:

But, my Lord, then the whole was clos'd, and
no new Evidence. I did not anfwer all the Sug-
geftions of Mr. Love the laft Day : His Evidence
and Depofitions will conclude the Court, that it

is not Suggeftions and Infinuations •, the Court are

above thefe. When the Evidence is clos'd for

the Commonwealth, let it be concluded there

:

If they offer any new Evidence, Mr. Love may
have Liberty to anfwer.

Mr. Love. Though I dare not tax Mr. Attor-
ney-General for difcharging his Duty in his

Place ; yet for the Prefervation of my own Life,

I muft not be wanting to my felf, if your Lord-
fhip and the Court will give leave •, and that is

humbly to befeech your Lordfhip to take notice

that Mr. Attorney- General, in the Relation cf
the Matter of Fad in the Depofitions, is pleafed
to raife the Correfpondency fas he is pleafed to

call itj as high as Jerfey ; and fo makes me to be
Particeps criminis, that I fhould bejudged by you
upon the whole Matter. Now Alford upon
Vol. II.
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Oath did declare, That Drake and Vitus held Cor-
refpondency ; and that the Minifters knew nothing

of it.

Attorn. Gen. I do not fay you did.

Mr. Love. Therefore 1 befeech you I may not

be judged upon that Matter : and then I befeech

your Lordfhip to obferve that Mr. Attorney- Ge-
neral is pleafed to fay he would not infift upon
Inferences, nor Strains of Wit; but truly I have

difcerned both.

Ld Prefident. You totally err from the Way
you ought to walk in, and take upon you to

judge others. The Court will confider whether

he hath offered any thing or not : We have No-
taries, and fo have you. You fpent the laft Day
only in making Comments and Collections •, yet

that you might have fome Liberty of Difcourfe,

we fat here patiently two Hours; and did hear

that which we ought not, r.or you ought to have
fpoken. And now you are entring the fame way
of Inferences and Collections, as though we did

not fit here to take notice of what was done,

but we muft receive the laft Word from you and
your Comment. If you had new Matter the

laft Time, you might have been heard : We ex-

pected you would have brought new WitnefTes ;

but they were in the fame Crime with yourfelf

;

and you would rather betray your felf than them,

and God and the Truth than them. But we
will be as careful of any Comments as you •

your felf can be. And 1 think that we have
fo much Piety and Charity, that we fit here

with as good Affections of Juftice and Piety, as

are in your own Breaft. This Book was not gi-

ven as Evidence againft you ; and all that is in

your Comments, we fhall underftand it.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I have only one Motion :

I have fome Matters in Law to offer to your
Lordfhip, to confider by way of Exception to

the Charge, and alfo to the Depofitions of the

WitnefTes. I have a Paper that I humbly defire

might be read in Court as Matter in Law, arifing

from the Charge, and from the Depofitions of
the WitnefTes.

Attorn. Gen. Why did you not this before ?

Mr. Love. I am ignorant of the Cuftoms of

the Court.

Ld Prefident. I believe you have wronged

your own Breaft in many Things you have faid ;

and you have faid you have been ignorant in

many Things that you have known very well

:

It is not good to dally. You will be ignorant

at one time, and at another time more knowing
than others.

Mr. Love. I befeech your Lordfhip, it is a

new Suggeftion of the Attorney- General, That
Concealment of Treafon ior a Tract of Time is

Treafon.

Ld Prefident. There is no new Words of Sug-

geftion : If Mr. Attorney hath not fpoken it,

nor read it according to the Truth we will exa-

mine it.

Mr. Love. Pie hath done it with difadvantage

to me.

Ld Prefident. If we have, he fhall not do it

with difadvantage to us ; for we will be as in-

different as your own Breaft : Therefore be not

you a Commentator of that. We underftand fo

well as God enlightens ; for whether he hath

done it with advantage or difadvantage, that is

our part to confider.

X 2 Mr.
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Mr. Love. I defire to have Counfel upon this

Matter of Law arifmg from the Evidence, That

Concealment of Trealbn, by your Acts, fuppofe

it be for Continuance or Tract of Time, yet by

the Law it is not Treafon. And my Counfel in-

forms me, That the Act of the 26th of March,

that conftitutes this Court, gave you Power to

inquire into Treafon, but could not take Cogni-

zance of Mifprifion of Treafon till there was a

fubfequent Act Therefore I defire this Favour,

That feeing it is fo much fuggefted in Court,

and feeing the WitnefTes none can prove a perfo-

nal Act of mine, to bring me under your Law,
as to Treafon, I defire my Counfel to clear this,

That Concealment of Treafon, though for never

fo long a Tract of Time, is not Treafon by the

Law of the Land.
Attorn. Gen. I will out Mr. Love of that Scru-

ple: He is not charged for Mifprifion of Treafon,

tho
5

I could have done it ; but that I infift upon,

is flat Treafon. It is true, Sir Thomas Wither-

ington was pleafed to exprefs it in the way of Ar-
gument, That Concealment of Treafon long,

comes to be Treafon : But here are Acts, and I

infift upon the Evidence ; and the Court will

judge, for they have heard the Evidence.

Mr. Love. I btfeech your Lordfhip that the

Paper might be read, the Exceptions that I have

againft the Indictment, and the Matters of Law
arifing from the Evidence.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, truly I profefs, I hope

I am not in my Nature cruel, that I fhould do
Injury to Mr. Love : But, my Lord, I cannot fa-

vour him, to do Injury to the Law of the Na-
tion. My Lord, he hath one by him that hath

taken every Word of the Charge.

Mr. Love. 1 did plead upon your Lordfhip's

Promife that I fhould have a fair and indifferent

Hearing ; and if Matter of Law did arife from

Matter of Fact, which could not, you faid,

be known till the WitnefTes were depofed, I had

your Lordfhip's Promife, and I think the Court's,

that I fhould have Counfel to plead to Matter of

Law.
Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I think here is no Le-

giflative Power in this Court to change Laws.

My Lord, I appeal to all here, whether the Evi-

dence we gave were not clofed upon Saturday,

and all the Depofitions ; whether Mr. Love did

not take Care and Pains to make his own De-
fence, as to Matter of Fact, and fpent fo many
Hours on Wednefday laft. My Lord, he had

all before that ; if he had Matter of Law, it was
more proper to move then : But when he hath

gone fo far, and we have clofed all, do but con-

fider the Confequence, that when this is done, and

all the Evidences heard, then to come with Mat-

ter of Law.
Ld Prefident. Mr. Love, that you have faid

hitherto, is nothing but of the fame Nature of

that you faid the laft Day ; and the Court will

take it into Confideration, and judge of it

:

But if you have any thing in your Paper that is

fo included upon the Evidence; for I tell you

the Evidence was ended the laft Day, and your

Reply ; and if you had any thing, you fhould

have offered it the laft Day. Here hath been

nothing new offered concerning you, but as it

is ufual for the Counfel for the State to ftate the

Matter of Fact to the Court •, for they have the

laft Word: But you had fully ended befores and

fhall we go out of the Way for you, more than

for a whole Generation which the Law runs

unto? I do not know how to do it: You had
this Paper in your Pocket; you might have

pulled it out ; and you have had Time in a nearer

degree to it : Yet the Court is willing, if you
can out of your Paper, by Advice of Counfel,

fhortly read what you infift upon for Matter of

Law, they will hear it, if fuch Exceptions

are not of your own, but by the Advice of

Counfel.

[Mr. Love gives in his Exceptions.]

Exceptions taken by Chriftopher Love,
Clerk, to the Charge of High-Treafons

and other high Crimes and Offences, ex-

hibited to the High Court of Juflice

againft him by Edmond Prideaux, Efqi
Attorney-General for the Commonwealth

of England.

[Thefe Exceptions are not here printed, for

that they come in more properly afterwards ;

being again in Subftance given into the

Court, and figned by Mr. Love's, Counfel,

and the Subftance of them then debated in

Court by Mr. Hale, a Counfel for Mr.
Love.]

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, you have now fome
Fruits of the Notary. By the Law of England,

h; that is impeached of High-Treafon, is not to

have the Copy of the Indictment : It is faid the

Court are Judges for the Prifoner, and Counfel

for him. To you all Things be fubftantially

charged. That there is a fubltantial Charge, the

Evidence makes out. But this Precedent being

admitted, and the former of Lilhurne'% cited, I

fhall have little Encouragement to go on with

any Charge of Indictments.

Ld Prefident. Though it be more than the

Law permits, yet the Court will take Confidera-

tion of it.

Attorn. Gen. He did read his Papers: I think

it is more than ever was heard of in any Court ,

in the World. But to take his Papers in by
your Clerk ; I hope this is no Replication to the

Charge : I hope he anfwers not that way ; then

we fhall difpute that way again. If he gives Pa-

pers, I may ; and, as AmbafTadors, treat by Pa-

pers.

Ld Prefident. Mr. Lovey we have gone out of

our Way for you : And whatever hath been fug*

gefted by the Counfel this Day is nothing, unlefs

they had offered new Matter ; and they have offer-

ed none ; and therefore it is againft any Law that

was ever yet practifed in England. You were

concluded before, though haply the neglecting of

it might have been a Prejudice to you : Yet you
have offered a Paper, which the Court will take

as a Paper to confider of.

[The Court adjourns into the Painted Chamber:

And upon their Return, the Lord Prefident

fpeaks.]

Ld Prefident. Mr. Love, our long Abfence

upon this account may feem to you and others,

that we have had fomething of great difficulty

among us, which we have confidered of. That

which
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which hath been upon your Papers laft offered,

in which you have fet down the Farts of the

Charge, and the Statutes, and your Exceptions

;

thefe we have confidered of. But to thefe, though

you do affirm it here to us, that it is by Advice

of. your Counfel, yet it is not under your Counfel's

Hand, nor your own, which in order it fliould

be. We have confidered of them ; and our exa-

mining of them (hath taken up a great deal of

this. Time we have been abfent. We find that

there may haply be fome Miftakes in your Notes:

Therefore it is refolved, though there feem not

much Difficulty to us, yet you mall have Counfel,

thus doing, That they fhall fen it down under

their Hands, what Matter of Law they will argue

to, and bring it under their Hands, upon Tuef-

day next at Eight o' Clock to this Place, or to

che Painted Chamber.

Mr. Love. Shall the Counfel have only bare

Liberty, or will the Court affign them me?
Ld Prtfidant. If you defire it, and name them,

they fha.ll be affigned you.

Mr. Love. I defire Mr. Maynard, Mr. Hale,

Mr. Waller, and Mr. Archer,

[The Clerk was called upon to read the

Order]

Clerk. ' Friday, the 27 th of June, 1651. Or-
* dered by the High Court of Juftice, That if the
' Prifoner's Counfel fhall under their Hands affign

* any Matters of Law, fit to be argued and pre-

* fented to this Court, on Tuefday next at Eight
* o' clock in the Morning, this Court will take

* the fame into further Confederation.'

Mr. Love. I would know whether they are af-

figned to plead here in Court, or to bring a Paper

under their Hands.
Ld. Prefident. If they will, under their Hands,

fet down what they wiil ftand to for Law, it fhall

be confidered, and they fhall plead.

Mr. Love, I humbly thank your Lordfhip's

Favour, and the Favour of the Court.

[Mr. Love is commanded away. The Court
adjourns.]

The Fifth Days Proceedings, July the ifl,

1651.

THESE Exceptions following, figned by
Mr. Love's Counfel, were delivered this

Morning by Mr. Love's Solicitor into the Court,
fitting in the Painted Chamber.

Exceptions to the Charge of High-Treafon,

and other High Crimes and Offences, ex-

hibited to the High Court of Juflice, by

Edmond Prideaux Efq; Attorney-General

for the Commonwealth of England, againfl

Chriftopher Love, Clerk; and Matter of
Law, humbly prefented to the [aid High
Court, according to the Direction of an
Order heremit annexed.

[For this Order, fee above.]

Firft, np H E Charge is, * That Chriftopher

JL * Love, as a falfe Traitor and Enemy

1 S7
4

to the Commonwealth of England, and out of
' a traitorous and wicked Defign to ftir up a new
4 and bloody War, and to raife Infurrections,

* Sedition, and Rebellion within this Nation, in
4

feveral Dajs and Times, that is to fay, in the
4 Years of our Lord God 1648, 1649, 1650,
1

1 65 1, at London, and in divers other Places
4 within this Commonwealth of England, and
4 elfewhere, together with William Drake, and
4 divers other Perfons , did traitoroufly combine,
4
confederate, and complot together, to ilir and

4 raife Forces againft the prefent Government of
4 this Nation, fince the fame hath been fettled in
4 a Commonwealth and Free State, wichout a
4 King and Houfe of Lords, and for the Subver-
1 fion and Alteration of the fame.'

The Act of the 17th of July, 164.9, is, That
if any Perfon fhall maliciouily or advifedly plot,

contrive, or endeavour to raife Forces againft the

prefent Government, or for the Subverfion or

Alteration of the fame, and fhall declare the fame
by open Deed, that every fuch Offence fhall be

Treafon.

Exception 1. The Words Malicicujly or Advifedly

are left out of the Charge.

2. That the Words of the Act are omitted,

which are, Plot, Contrive, or Endeavour.

3. It is not Treafon within the Act to plot,

contrive, or endeavour to ftir up or raife Forces

againfl the prefent Government, or for the Sub-
verfion or Alteration of the fame, unlefs the fame
be declared by fome open Deed. But the Charge
is, * That Chriftopher Love did combine, confe-
4 derate, and complot to ftir and raife up Forces
4 againft the prefent Government, &c? And it

is not charg'd that he the faid Chriftopher Love did

declare the fame by any open Deed.

Secondly, Whereas the faid Chriftopher Love is

by the faid Articles charged, 4 That for the Sub-
4 verfion and Alteration of the fame, and to carry
4 on the faid traitorous Defign, that he did trai-

4 toroufly and malicioufly declare, publifh, and
4 promote the eldeft Son of the late King to be
' King of England, (meaning this Commonwealth^)
4 without the Confent of the People in Parliament
4

fir ft had, and fignified by Authority or Ordi-
4 nance to that purpofe.'

The Act of the 30th of January, 1648, is

That no Perfon do prefume to proclaim, publifh,

or any way promote Charles Stuart, Son of the

late King Charles, commonly called the Prince

of Wales, or any other Perfon, to be King or

Chief Magiftrate of England, by colour of Inhe-

ritance, Succeffion, Election, or any other Claim
whatfoever.

Exception. It is not exprefly charged that the

fame was done after the faid Act made ; neither

doth the Charge purfue the Words or Intent of

the Act.

Thirdly, The Charge is,
4 That toaccomplifh

4 the faid traitorous and wicked Defign, the faid

' Chriftopher Love, on feveral Days and Times
4

in the Years aforefaid, at London, is.c. together
4 with William Drake, and other Perfons, did
4 traitoroufly and malicioufly invite, aid, and
* affift the Scots, being Strangers, to invade this

4 Commonwealth of England, and hath adhered
* to the Forces of the Enemies, raifed againft the
4 Parliament.'

The
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The Ad of the 17th of July, i6^g, is, That
if any Perfon fhall procure, invite, aid or afiift

any Foreigners or Strangers to invade England or

Ireland, or fhall adhere to any Forces raifed by

the Enemies of the Parliament or Commonwealth,
or Keepers of the Liberties of England, every fuch

Offence fhall be taken to be Treafon.

Exception 1. That it is not alledged in his Charge

who in particular were the Strangers that were

invited to invade England.

2. That it is not alledged that at the Times
of the Invitement, Aid, and Affiftance, laid in

the Charge, the Scots were Strangers.

3. That it is not alledged particularly in the

Charge, to the Forces of what Enemies, raifed

againft the Parliament, Chriftopher Love did ad-

here.

4. It chargeth the Prifoner for a treafonable

Affiftance in fome Years that were before the faid

Aft of the 17th of July, 1649, was made.

5. To advance the faid traitorous and wicked
Defign, is uncertain to what Defign it fhall have

reference, feveral Charges of Treafon being before

exprefled.

Fourthly, The Charge is, ' That Chriftopher

* Love, divers Days and Times between the 29th
* of March, 1 650, and the firft Day of June,
'

1 65 1, at London &c. did traitoroufly and raa-
'

licioufly give, hold, ufe, and maintain Corre-
* fpondency and Intelligence by Letters, Mef-
4 iages, Inftruftions, or othewife, prejudicial to

* this Commonwealth, with Charles Stuart, Son
< of the late King, with the late Queen his Mother,
' and with Llenry Jermin, Henry Piercy, and di-

* vers other Perfons, being of Counfel, and abiding
1 with Charles Stuart.'

By the Aft of the z6th of March, 1650, the

Matters charged herein are only prohibited, but

are not made Treafon.

Exception 1. That this Charge is miflaid, be-

ing charged to be done traitoroufly.

2. The Charge is uncertain, being alledged in

the Disjunctive (or otherwife) and fhews not in

what other manner.

Fifthly, The Charge is, ' That Chriftopher

* Love, within the Times and at the Places
' aforefaid, did traitoroufly and malicioufly ufe,

* hold and maintain Correfpondency and Intel-
' ligence with divers Perfons of the Scoti/h Na-
* tion ; that is to fay, with the Earl of Argyle,
' and others of the Scoti/h Nation, and with

* divers other Perfons of other Nations, whom
* Chriftopher Love well knew to adhere to the

* faid Scoti/h Nation in the War againft the

* Parliament.'

The Aft of the 2d of Auguft, 1 650, is, That
all and every Perfon that fhall ufe, hold or main-

tain any Correfpondency or Intelligence with

any Perfon or Perfons of the Scoti/h Nation, re-

fusing in Scotland, without the Licence of the

Parliament, the Council of State, or the Lord
General ; or with any Perfon or Perfons of the

Scoti/h, or any other Nation, whom they fhall

know to adhere to the Scoti/h Nation in this War
againft the Parliament.

Except. 1. That it is not laid, that the Perfons

of the Scoti/h Nation mentioned in the Charge

were refiding in Scotland, nor exprefly alledged

that they did adhere.

2, That it is not aver'd, that fuch Correfpon-

dency was holden without the Licence of Par-
liament, Council of State, or the Lord General,

nor in what War the Correfpondencc or Intelli-

gence was held.

3. It is not laid, with what particular Perfons

of any other Nation adhering to the Scoti/h Nation,
Correfpondency or Intelligence was holden, nor
of what Nations.

4. This Correfpondency and Intelligence is not
laid to be after the fifth of Auguft 1650, men-
tioned in the faid Aft of the 2d of Auguft 1650,
but refers to a time preceding that Aft.

Sixthly, The Charge is, * That Chriftopher
' Love, within the Times and at the Places be-
' fore-mentioned, did traitoroufly and malicioufly
' abet, affilt, countenance and encourage both
* the Scoti/h Nation, and divers other Perfons
' adhering to them in this War againft the Par-
' liament: And did fend and convey, or caufc
' to be fent and conveyed, Moneys, Arms, Am-
6 munition, and other Supplies to Scotland and
* other places, and to the faid Titus, &c. in
* Confederacy againft this Nation, without Li-
* cence of the Parliament of England, or Council
e of State, or General of the Army.'
The Aft of the 2d of Auguft, 1650, is, That

no Perfon that fhall abet, afiift, countenance or
encourage the Scoti/h Nation, or any other Per-
fon

_
or Perfons adhering to them in their War

againft the Parliament and Commonwealth of
England; or fhall go or fend, or caufe to be
fent, &c. any Money, Horfe, Arms, Ammu-
nition, or other Supplies into Scotland, &c. or
to any Perfon under their Power, or in Confede-
racy with them againft this Nation, without the
Licence of the Parliament of England, Council
of State appointed by their Authority, and of the

Captain - General of the Parliament's Forces as

aforefaid.

Except. 1 . That there are no particular Perfons
named, who were abetted, affifted, countenanced,
or encouraged, neither of the Scoti/h Nation, nor
of any other Perfons adhering to them.

2

.

In the Charge, the fending of Money, &c.
is not laid to be done without the Licence of the

Parliament Of England, or of the Council of State,

or General of the Army.
The words of the Aft are, * Without the

4 Licence of the Parliament of England, or
' Council of State appointed by their Authority,
' or of the Captain-General of the Parliament's
' Forces.'

3. The Time to which this refers, is between
the 29th of March 16go, and the ift of June
1 65 1 ; and fo it takes in the time between the

29th of March 1650, and the id of Auguft 1650,
which is before the making of the Aft.

Seventhly, The Charge is, ' That the faid
' Chriftopher Love, at the Times and Places before
' mentioned, did traitoroufly and voluntarily re-
' Jieve the faid Sylas Titus, and one Sterks a
' Scotclman, which then were and yet are, under
' the power of the Scoti/h Nation, and in Arms
* againft the Parliament of England, with Moneys,
" Arms and Ammunition.'

By the Aft of the 26th of March 1650, the
Matters charged herein are only prohibited, but
not made Treafon.

Except. 1. That this Charge is miflaid, being
charged to be done traitoroufly.

2. It,
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2. It is laid to be at the Times before mentio-

ned, whereas there are feveral Times before men-
tioned ; io as it is uncertain to which of thofe

Times this Charge relates.

3. And of thefe Times, fundry of them are

laid to be in feveral Years before the making of

the Act upon which this Charge is grounded.

Allegations by Chriftopher Love, touching

the Matten and ¥roof upon the Charge.

TH O' I do not conceive any fufficient Proof

is made of the Charges againft me, yet I

fhall be ready to make it appear upon Proof :

That one of the principal Witneffes hach depo-

fed againft me upon Promife of Reward, and up-

on Menace of Punifhment.

That one hath received extraordinary Rewards

For his depofing.

That divers of the Witneffes againft me have

been by their own Confeffion detected of contri-

buting of Supplies and Affiftance, fending and re-

ceiving Letters contrary to the late Acts.

That no two lawful Witneffes produced prove

any one Treafonable Act.

That no Witnefs doth depofe farther than

Concealment, or Mifprifion of Treafon at the

moft.

Chriftopher Love.

AS this Cafe is ftated, we conceive thefe Que-
ftions may arifc :

i. Whether in this Cafe thefe be lawful and

fufficient Witneffes, as by Law is required ?

2. Whether here be two lawful Witneffes ?

3. Whether any Concealment of Treafon be

Treafon within the late Acts ?

We have not feen any Authentical Copies of

the Charge or Evidence ; but upon the Copies we
have feen, we humbly conceive fit to tender thefe

Matters and Exceptions to the Confideration of

this High-Court. And we fhall be ready to fpeak

to them, or any of them, or to any other Mat-
ters arifing upon the Cafe, as we fhall receive fur-

ther Directions.

Matthew Hale.

John Archer.

Thomas Waller.

After the Court had received the precedent Ex-
ceptions, and were fat in Weftminfter-Hall,

Mr. Love was commanded to the Bar.

When Mr. Love appeared at the Bar, he defired

the Court that his Counfel might be heard to thefe

Exceptions. And when Mr. Archer and Mr.
Waller , who were of his Counfel, appeared in

Court, the Court demanded of them, whether

they were of Mr. Love's Counfel ? they anfwered,

they did underftand they were affigned to be of
his Counfel by the Court. Then the Attorney-

General demanded of them, whether or no they

had fubfcribed the Engagement ? they anfwered,

they had not done it ; and fpake further to this

purpofe, That they were by the Court affigned to

be of Mr. Love's Counfel, and were fent for into

the Court, and in obedience thereunto they had
appeared, and were ready to fpeak, if they might
be heard. It was demanded of them by the

Court, whether or no they would fubfcribe the

159
the Engagement ? they anfwered, That they de-
fired time to confider of it ; and fo withdrew.

After they had withdrawn, Mr. Love moved
the Court that Mr. Hale, another of his Counfel,
might be fent for.

[Upon the coming in of Mr. Hale
y the Lord

Prefident faid ;]

Ld Prefident. You come as Counfel for Mr.
Love ; the Gentlemen that were here, are brought
into an Incapacity of doing him fervice that way j

we asked them whether they have engaged : we
doubt not you, but tell you the Reafon why we
did it.

Mr. Hale. My Lord, I have done it.

Ld Prefident. Therefore you are affigned.

Mr. Hale. I had very late notice of this Bufi-
nefs, it was Saturday Night late before I had no-
tice of it, and the next day was not a day to think
of thofe things. Yeftcrday was Monday, and the
moft part of that day I fpent in looking over
thofe things that had been, I think, prefented to
your Lordfhip and the Court •, we did not know
what Command your Lordfhip would put upon
us, whether you would admit us to fpeak, and to

what you would admit us to fpeak, and when you
would admit us to fpeak. It is impoffible, (my
Lord) I muft deal plainly, I profefs it is impof-
fible for me, in a Bufinefs of this great confequence,
to undertake to fpeak any thing for the prtfenr,

till fuch time as I know your Lordfhips Direc-
tions ; and this was that we acquainted this Gen-
tleman with, as foon as ever I law him, and the
firft time that ever I faw him, which was but
this day.

Attorn. Gen. I think that Mr. Hale hath put
fomewhat under his Hand.

Mr. Hale. We have done fo.

Attorn. Gen. Nay, you muft ftand fingle, the

other two are fet afide, it muft be you only ; I

fuppofe Mr. Hale knows what he is to fpeak to.

Mr. Hale. Truly we know what we are to

fpeak to •, but to fpeak upon fuch a Bufinefs on
fuch a fudden, when we did not know what Di-
rections the Court would give, that I could not
undertake, and I think Mr. Attorney-General
will not prefs it upon us, it were a hard cafe if

hefhould.

Attorn. Gen. Mr. Hale knows as well as any
Man what is to be done in thefe Cafes, none bet-

ter than himfelf ; the Court ufeth not to affign

Counfel to pick Flaws, but thofe that are juft

Exceptions : and the Court is doubtful too, how
they will allow Counfel to debate them, and ftand

to the Judgment of the Court. I fuppofe he
comes to fpeak to that that the Party hath al-

ledged.

Mr. Hale. It is true, we do fo : but Mr. At-
torney-General knows likewife,that when Matters

of Law are affigned, that there is fome reafonable

time, we expect not long, but fome reafonable trme
is affigned alfo for the Parties to prepare them-
felves ; for truly otherwife I fnould not do that

Duty I owe to the Court and my Client, if I

fhould fpeak ex improvifo^ in fuch a manner as I

have done ; for the firft time I faw any thing of
it, was on Saturday Night, between Eight and
Nine of the Clock.

Ld Prefident. Tho' that was the firft Sight of
this Paper, as it is now let down, it was not the.

firft
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firft notice you had to be of his Counfel, but

himfelf hath declared it here long ago, that the

former Paper was by your Advice.

Mr. Hale. No, my Lord, if he did fo, I will

plead Not Guilty.

Ld Prefident. I will not fay your Name, but

when he gave us in his Paper before this, the laft

Day, you laid it was the Advice of your Coun-

fel.

Mr, Love. Not Mr. Hale.

Ld Prefident. Then haply we fhali eafe you a

great deal : that that is under your Hand, is very

fhort, and we fhall eafe you of fome of that too ;

and you know that upon all Affignments in the

Upper Bench and Common Law, when they firft

open it, they fhow fome Caufes upon which they

will argue it •, and when you have had time al-

ready, now fhew fomething that may be worthy

of it, and we will confider of it.

Attorn. Gen. Before he fpeak, my Lord, I de-

fire that he will give it under his Hand pofitively,

not Queries, but pofitive, that this in his Judg-

ment he thinks fit to be Matter of Law, and to

be argued.

Mr. Hale. My Lord, we think that thefe

things arefuch.

Ld Prefident. Then you muft upon the firft

fight open it fo far, that it may be your Judg-

ment.

Attorn. Gen. But not fufFer it to be debated

unlefs you think it doubtful.

Mr. Hale. We are here affigned Counfel for

him, and if your Lordfhip will pleafe to give us

that Time that may be convenient for us to do

our Duty for him ; if not, we fhall do but your

Lordfhip wrong, and our Client wrong if we
Jhould fpeak.

Ld Prefident. You may have fome convenient

time, but you muft open it now, that we may
judge_what time is proportionable ; if you will

not open it, that this is the Point you will argue

upon, we can fay nothing.

Mr. Hale. Then the reading of that which we
have exhibited to the Court, will be as much as

poffibly I fhall be able to do at this time, for we
have had no Copy of the Charge.

Ld Prefident. Nor muft have.

Mr. Hale. And we have taken a Copy at ran-

dom, according as it hath been offered to us by

thofe that have taken Notes, and we have prefen-

ted upon thofe Notes, and we have applied our-

felves to Mr. Attorney for a Copy of the Charge,

and he conceived that it was not fit for him to do

it without Direction of the Court ; but for a Copy

of the Charge, when Exceptions are taken, it is

ufual to have it granted : and for us to fpeak

and fpend your Lordfhip's time upon Matters

that are contained in a Charge, whereof, for my
own part, I never heard, and which is ufual

upon Exceptions offered to be granted, it would

be very

Ld Prefident. It is an excellent thing to fpeak

to Men of Underftanding : Did you ever know an

Indictment in this nature, a Copy of it delivered

upon the Prifoner's Prayer?

Mr. Hale. Yes, I have known it very often.

Ld Prefident. He fhall, as his Memory ferves.

him, fpeak to the Subftance -, but to have a

Copy of the Charge, I take it, you have not

known.
Mr. Hale. Thus far I have known it. I have

been commanded to be of Counfel with Perfons

that have been impeached of Treafon by the Par-

liament i I know that the Archbifhop of Can-

terbury, when he was impeached of Treafon, had
a Copy of his Charge, that I know he had : I

know this is the ufual Courfe, that if a Perfon

takes Exceptions to a Matter contained in an In-

dictment, though it is true he fhall not have the

Copy of the whole Indictment, yet he fhall have

a Copy of fo much whereupon his Exception

grows ; that hath been done, and will not be

denied: but for the other matter, I know that

in the Archbifhop of Canterbury's Cafe there

was a Copy of the whole Charge granted, and the

like was done in the Cafe of the Lord Straf-

ford.

Attorn. Gen. I fhall give that Anfwer a little

more than I did : Parliamentary Proceedings are

no Rule for other Courts to walk by ; befides,

my Lord, you fit here upon a known publifhed

Law, and the Offence charged is againft thofe

Laws. I believe Mr. Hale well remembers, that

both my Lord of Strafford's Cafe, and the Arch-
bifhop of Canterbury's Cafe, were both of them
for many feveral Facts feveral times a long time

committed ; which feveral Facts being judged
by Parliament, were judged to be Treafon not

againft any fettled pofitive Law : And for Straf-

ford's Cafe, you know how the Judgment at

laft was given by Act ofParliament, King, Lords,

and Commons. And for the Archbifhop of Can-
terbury's Cafe, you know what the feveral Com-
plaints againft him were, many of them not Trea-

fon, but fo many of them together, that in Par-

liament they thought fit to judge him guilty of
Treafon •, but thofe Privileges are not to be pa-

rallels, he knows very well it was not againft:

fuch and fuch a Law, to make thofe Offences

Treafon. Having given thus much Favour, I

may fay to the Prifoner, that he may by Memory
exhibit his Exceptions, he hath done it ; if you
judge that thofe Exceptions are worth the debat-

ing, be worthy of it, you may (as Mr. Hale faith)

give Directions for fo much to be given him, o-

therwife (for my part) I did never give it unto

any ; but thofe that have been in my place before,

did never give it but by immediate Warrant from
the King, or the Parliament now, but for fo.

much as the Court thinks fit, for fo much as

concerns the Exceptions.

Sir -Tho. Witherington. For that that Mr. Hale ob»

jects to the Indictment, it ftands with a great deal

of Juftice ; for if a Prifoner lays hold or part of
an Indictment, and fays there is a Miftake in it,

there is reafon it fhould be fo, becaufe the Court

muft judge it whether it be fo or not, therefore

there is neceffity of it that there fhould be a Co-

py of fo much ; but I think he never knew that

all the Indictment was, but that part, and that is

of rieceffity for the Court, that they may fee whe-
ther the Exceptions accord with the Indidtment,

or no : If there be any Exception to an Indict-

ment, if that Exception remains not as a Doubt
or Queftion, there fhall be no Copy of fo much
of the Indictment given. If he fhall raife a

Doubt that there is any Doubt in Law, or any

Queftion and Variance between the Acts and the

Charge, if he fhall raife any fuch Doubt, then I

think according to the old Law he may have that

Part of the Charge ; but we defire he may raife

fome Doubt to the Court.

Mr. Hale. My Lord, we have raifed the Doubts^

and we are ready to deliver in thofe that we con-

ceive
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ceive to be Exceptions to the Charge ; if we be

over-ruled in them, we have no more to fay : but

if your Lordfhip, upon the View of thefe things

we have offered, think them worthy to be fpoken

to before your Lordfhip, then furely that is agree-

able with that very Rule which the Council of the

State is pleafed to ftate ; that is, that in cafe we
alledge that which the Court fhall think fit for us

to debate before them, that then we may have that

whereby it may appear whether we debate upon

that which is, or is not.

Attorn. Gen. Mr. Hale faith he hath given

them in, but I have feen none of them, my
Lord.

Ld Prefident. Whether their Memory be perfect

or imperfect, that we fhall help you withal •, and

then I will tell you what you were beft do, for

Time goes away : we will, before you take it,

take the feveral Statutes and the Charge, and your

Exceptions, and compare them all together be-

fore you, and you fhall except to every one as you

Attorn. Gen. I defire the Exceptions may fland

as they are.

Ld Prefident. Ay, but he fhall fee whether

there be any material Variance between the No-
tary and the Charge.

Attorn. Gen. That Notary was upon favour too,

Mr. Love will acknowledge it.

Mr. Love. I do with all Thankfulnefs acknow-

ledge it, my Lord.

Attorn. Gen. I defire it may be no Precedent for

After-Times.

The Clerk. If you pleafe, read your Excep-

tions.

Mr. Hale. My Lord, we begin with the firfl,

and thefe are the Exceptions : We take it, that the

Charge is grounded upon the Act of the 1 7th of

July 1 649, and we take fome Exceptions to that

firfl part of the Charge •, that is, concerning what
Offences fhall be adjudged Treafon.

Ld Prefident. Read your Exceptions, and then

you fhall hear the Charge.

Mr. Hale. Our Exceptions are thefe ; firfl,

That whereas the Words of the Act are, * That
* if any Perfon fhall malicioufly and advifedly
* plot, contrive, or endeavour to flir up, or raife

* Forces againfl the prefent Government, or
* for the Subverfion or Alteration of it ; ' that

the Words malicioufly or advifedly are left out of
the Charge, which we conceive are material

Words.
Attorn. Gen. Read.
Mr. Barnard the Clerk. That he the faid Chrl-

flopher Love, as a falfe Traitor and Enemy to this

Commonwealth and Free State of England, and out

of a traitorous and wicked Defign to flir up a new
and bloody War, and to raife Infurreclions, Seditions,

and Rebellions within this Nation, didfeveral Days
and Times in the feveral Tears of our Lord 1640,
1 649, 1 650, 1 65 1, at London, and in divers other

Places within this Commonwealth of England, and
elfewhere; together with William Drake late of
London Mercer, Henry Jermin late of London
Efquire, Henry Piercy late of London Efquire,

Richard Graves late of London Efquire, Edward
MafTey late of London Efquire, John Gibbon late

of London Gentleman, &c. and other their Com-
plices yet unknown, did traitoroufly and malicioufly

combine and confederate themfelves together, and
plot, contrive, and endeavour.

Attom. Gen. What fay you, Mr. Hale ?

Vol. II.

Mr. Hale. Now we find what the Inconvenience

is, of coming to put in our Exceptions, when we
have not a clear Copy of the Charge ; and that

was the Caufe why we did fubjoin this, that in

cafe any Miflake arife by miflake of the Copies,

that we may amend : it is true, we find malicioufly

is in.

Attorn. Gen. Traitoroufly will be enough.

Mr. Hale. I think not. That is over ; for if it

be malicioufly alledged, that is over. Then the

next Thing we except to, is, he traitoroufly com-

bined, confederated, and complotted together : it is

true, there is Plot in it, but there wants the Words
contrive and endeavour ; but that is not the prin-

cipal matter we fland upon.

The Clerk. They are in.

Mr. Hale. Then that is anfwered too. The
next Exception that we take to the Charge, is,

That the Act upon which this part of the Charge
is grounded, fays, that he mull manifefl it by an
Overt-Act, by an open Deed : now we fay, there

is (as we conceive) nothing charged upon him in

purfuance of this Act, that is, there is no overt or

open Deed laid in the Charge ; for the Words of

the Act are fo, That if any Man fhall malicioufly

plot, contrive, and endeavour to flir up, or raife

Forces againfl the prefent Government, andfhall de-

clare the fame by open Deed, that then every fuch

Offence fhall be Treafon.

Attorn. Gen. If Mr. Hale hath read the Copy
of the Charge as it was taken, I think he finds di-

vers of them in the Charge of open Acts.

Mr. Hale. The Bufinefs is not, whether there

be open Deeds, but whether they are applied

to this Act, or be Subflantive Charges of them-
felves.

Attorn. Gen. I would ask him whether that open
Act muft be in the Indictment, or in the Evi-
dence ?

Mr. Hale. In the Indictment : it mull be ex-

prefly laid in the Indictment, or elfe it is no good
Indictment.

Attorn. Gen. But for that, that we may not dif-

pute upon thofe Things, my Lord, there are the

feveral Charges againfl the feveral Acts ; there

are feveral open Acts that are laid in the Indict-

ment, and ( I think) if he look upon it, he will

find that they are laid to every one of them, and
relate and refer to every one of them.

Sir Tho. Witherington. There is writing of Let-

ters, contributing of Money, and receiving of
MefTages.

Mr. Hale. That will appear by the fubfequent

parts of the Charge.

Ld Prefident.The fubfequent parts of the Charge
will make that appear, for if he did lend Money,
&c. if they be really there, we fhall hear it by
and by.

Mr. Hale. I take it, that the Law is very plain,

that the Act mufl be mentioned in the Indict-

ment.

Attorn. Gen. But we will not debate that

when we are exprefs in the thing ; we are not

fo tied to Form, as to pin them to every Word
of it.

The Clerk. Andfurther to carry on and accom-

plifh thefaid wicked Praclice andDefign, he thefaid

Chriflopher Love, divers Days and Times between

the zgth of March 1650, and the ift of June in

the Tear of our Lord 1651, at London, and other

Places as aforefaid, did traitoroufly and malicioufly

give, hold, ufe and maintain Correfpondency and In-

Y telligence
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ttlligeme by Letters^ Mef[age$> InftruBions, and o-

tberivife.

Ld Prefident. Thefe are open Acts.

Mr. Hale. Then favour us in this : we take it

that between this, and the firft Charge, there

comes a particular Charge, that relates to Charles

Stuart, that is intervenient between the firft

Charge and this that is now read, or elfe we
are mifinformed by the Prifoner ; and if there

be fo, then we think our Exceptions will take

place.

Sir Tho. Witherington. It is all contained in one

Indictment, and then that that explains the O-
vert-Act follows afterwards, as a diftinct thing

in the Indictment ; and fo it was in my Lord
Cobham's Cafe in that Indictment, and in myLord
of Efex's Cafe.

Ld Prefident. He may make Overtures.

Mr. Hale. We confefs it ; but we fuppofe it

very certain, that both as this Act is penn'd, and

as the Act of is penn'd, which are much
at one as to the manner of penning them, there

is of necefiity an Overt-Act to be laid, to make
good that general Charge : that, we conceive,

will be plain ; and that is admitted and agreed

by the Lord Coke in his Collections of the Pleas

of the Crown, fol. 12, 13, where he faith, 'The
' Indictment of the Earl of Somerfett in the Time
4 of Edward VI. and all other of the like Form,
* were againft Law : ' Becaufe he faid, that he

did not follow the Words of the Act, and that

he did it per apertum fatlum, and fhews not what

that open Deed was ; that was not a good In-

dictment, for the Fact muft be fet forth in the

Indictment ; that muft be done. Then the Que-
ftion is, Whether this be fo done here or no ?

We conceive by this Charge it is not fo done

here, upon this ground ; we fay, there follows

after this a particular Charge concerning his Pro-

motion of Charles Stuart ; and then fubfequent

to that, there follows this that the Court hath

now read. We fay, that in this Cafe here is not

a Charge of an Overt-Act, neither by the one
nor by the other ; there is not a Charge by the

former, becaufe that is a diftinct Treafon, made
diftinctly treafonable by another Act : and there-

fore that which is made a diftinct Charge of

Treafon by another Act, fhall not be an Overt-

Act within the former ; that is one thing we fay.

And another thing we fay is this, That in this

Cafe, the Second, that is that which the Court

hath been pleafed to direct to be read H us con-

cerning his holding Correfpondence, chat fhall

not be an Overt-Act relating to the fi;ft Charge ;

for it is an uncertain Relation : for there be two
Defigns mentioned before, the one is a Defign

contained in the firft Charge, the other a De-
fign contained in the fecond Charge, for the

promoting of Charles Stuart ; and we fay, the

third fhall not be coupled up to the former, be-

caufe it is a diftinct Charge of Treafon in itfelf,

and becaufe it is uncertain to which it relates :

for it refers not more to the firft Charge
than to the fecond concerning the promoting

of Charles Stuart, that is called the Prince of

Wales.

Ld Prefident. For this I take it for the pre-

fent, that the Charge is founded upon four Sta-

tutes ; if he lay the Offence againft the firft, fe-

cond, third, and fourth, and he fhall come and
conclude it without relation to any Particular of

thefe Treafons, he did thus and thus by Letters

/

and Correfpondencies, that will relate to them
every one, tho' it comes but in the Conclufion 5

and tho' the Statutes be various, yet the Indict-
ment is but one, and he may put in this of the
Overtures in one place fuffkiently, to be a fuffi-

cient Overture to every one : and therefore tho' to
one of them there fhould be no Overture in it at
all, but valet ut valere poteft, it will hang upon
fo much, as it will bear an Overt-Act, and then
you will not deny but that thofe Words are O-
vertures.

Mr. Hale. It is true, they are fo ; but yet ftill

we conceive this third, which we call the third
Charge, that is concerning holding Correfpon-
dence, the third or fourth, I cannot tell which
it is, but it is one of them ; we fay, that that
is not an Overt-Act applied to the firft Charge.
When we come to the Subftance of that Charge
as it ftands by itfelf, then our Exceptions will

rife upon it, as it ftands fingly by itfelf; but we
conceive that fhall not be a fupplemental Charge
to make good that firft Charge, that is concern-
ing endeavouring to fubvert the State as it ftands
eftablifhed, it fhall not be ufed as an Overt-Act
to make good the firft Charge. When we com©
to that particular Charge, that is concerning the
maintaining of Correfpondence, whether it be
a good Subftantive Charge of itfelf, then we fhall

offer our Exceptions to that ; but in the mean
while we are but upon Debate of the firft,

whether the firft containeth fuch a Charge, as

by the Act of the 17th of July, 1649, is re-

quired.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, we are heard before
you concerning it 5 Mr. Hale will find, that af-

ter all thefe Laws are repeated, and after all his

Offences againft thofe Laws are repeated, it is

concluded that all are againft the feveral Acts of
Parliament in fuch Cafes made and provided. If
Mr. Hale will fingle them, the Impeachment
doth not, but relates to all of them ; and, I think,

that in this way of Impeachment, we are not ti-

ed to thofe very nice and ftrict formal Rules up-
on Indictments : but if Subftance doth appear,

it doth appear to you, my Lord, that in Sub-
ftance the Acts are purfued, and that upon the

whole Impeachments there are, even this that is
-

required, the Expreffion of an open Deed, an
Overt-Act; thofe are laid, and it will be ac-

knowledged by Mr. Hale, that they are in them-
felves fufficient, being thus exprefs'd and conclu-

ded, that thofe feveral Practices, and Defigns,

and Treafons, are againft the Form of the feve-

ral Statutes in that Cafe made and provided, not

in relation to the 17th of July, nor the 2d of
Augujl, but to all of them. And I believe that

all of" thefe Facts, all of this Treafon, all of this

Defign, whether with the Scotch Nation, or

Members of the Scotch Nation, or thofe adhering

to the Scotch Nation, had all but one Founda-
tion, the Subverfion of this prefent Government,
that was the Foundation and Treafon of the

Whole, that was it that was intended : for to

bring one in, and not to caft out the other,

would have done no Good ; but upon the whole,
that was the Treafon. And upon all thefe Cir-

cumftances and open Deeds and Defigns, the Sum,
though it be a Treafon to hold Correfpondence,

though it be a Treafon to promote Charles Stuart,

though it be a Treafon to do other Things ; yet

the Treafon is in this, the Scotch Nation to come
in with intent to fubvert the Government, Charles

Stuart
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Stuart to be made King to fubvert the Govern-

ment. So that the grand Work, at heart, at root,

was the Subverfion of the prefent Government

;

and as for that, I wifh heartily, for Mr. Love's

fake, there were not fo many open Deeds expreft

by him.

Sir Tho. Witherington. Mr. Hale fpeaks of the

Charge; the Words are thefe: And further, to

carry on and accomplijh the faid traitorous and wick-

ed Pratlice and Defign, he the faid Chriftopher

Love (now this I take to be the Overt-Act) divers

Days and limes between the 29th of March 1 650,

and the \ft of June 1651, at London and divers

other Places, as afore/aid, did traitoroufly and ma-

licioufly ufe and hold Correfpondence and Intelligence

by Letters, (thofe are open Ads) Meffages, In-

firublions, and otherwife, to the Prejudice of the Com-

monwealth: and thefe are laid within the Time,

and not a diftincTt Charge, as Mr. Hale would

infer ; but they do directly fet forth an Overt-Act

done by Mr. Love.

Mr. Hale. Is it your Lordfhip's Pleafure I

Jhould reply any thing, becaufe I come utterly

unprovided for it, I muft profefs?

Attorn. Gen. We may give him this, and one

or two more.

LdPrefident. Goon, Matter Hale; ifyou have

that that is material for another Reply, do •, but

take this, Mafter Hale, I take it very ftrong both

in Grammar and Logick too, as well as in Law,
that when all the whole Charge is radically and

fundamentally but one Treafon, though there be

many Branches of it, the Charge hath knit them

all together, and made but one Act of fo many
complicated Treafons as are here •, and when he

comes to the latter end, if fome of them were

de fatlo, not by an Overt-Deed publifhed, yet if

he come and prove, that it was fo done by the

Proofs, that there was Correfpondence, and thefe

things de fatlo done, and that Charge de fatlo

done, you cannot break it there, to fay that this

Fact did not reach to all : for if there be any one,

it is fufficient •, but here it is to all, even to that

one that you fpeak of.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I mall read a Word to

Mr. Hale ; All which Treafons, and traitorous and
wicked Pratlices and Dcfigns of him, the faid Chri-

ftopher Love, were, and are to the apparent Ha-
zard of the publick Peace of this Commonwealth and
Free State, Parliament and People of England,
[Mr. Hale findeth not thefe in any Indictment.]

and to the manifeft Breach, Contempt and Violation

of the Laws of this Land, and contrary to the Form
of divers Statutes and Acls of Parliament in fuch
cafe made and provided ; in general, my Lord.
Mr. Hale. We conceive, under favour, and we

think that it cannot be denied, that fuch a Con-
clufion will not ferve the turn.

Attorn. Gen. No, not in an Indictment.

Mr. Hale. If there be a fubftantial part of the

Charge omitted, that ought to be alledged in

Fact, it is not in the Conclufion, that contrary to

the Form of the Statutes in this Cafe made and pro-
vided, will help it. My Lord (I come unpro-
vided) the Cafe of my Lord Dyer, that known
Cafe upon an Indictment for Recufancy, or for

a wilful or knowing harbouring of a Jefuit or
Prieft : Saith my Lord Dyer, It is not enough to

fay, he did harbour him contrary to the Form of the

Statute, but he muft Jay, he did it knowingly: he

muft alledge and purfue the fubftantial words of the

Acl of Parliament. And fo again, an Indictment
Vol. II.

for abfenting from Church ; it is not enough to

fay, He did it contrary to the Form of the Statute 5

but that he did it obftinately. Therefore that ge-

neral Conclufion, that this was to the Hazard of
the Commonwealth ; (it is true, it is an ill thing

for a Man to do fuch a thing that is to the Ha-
zard of the Commonwealth,) but thofe Words
ferve not the Statute neither : and then to fay ac

the Conclufion, contrary to the Form of divers Sta-

tutes, that will not help it, under favour, in cafe

of an Indictment. Then Mr. Attorney makes a

Difference between the Cafe of an Indictment

and this Charge. I conceive that in this Cafe
there is no Difference ; the Matter is the fame,

the one concerns the Life of a Perfon, and fo

doth the other : the Offence is the fame ; the one
is a Charge of High Treafon, and fo is the

other. It is true, thole Formalities that concern

the Manner of the Trial, thofe (it is true) are

laid by, becaufe here is no Jury to come before

your Lordfhip -, but your Lordfhip trieth upon
the hearing of the Teftimony, and according to

things alledged and proved. But for other Mat-
ters that efpecially are fubflantially required by
the Act of Parliament, we conceive that thofe

fhall be fupplied no more by an Intendment in

cafe of a Charge before your Lordfhip, than in

cafe of an Indictment for Treafon. To this I

fhall fay no more, but leave a word or two to

your Lordfhip's Judgment. For the other thing

(we are ftill but upon the firft Charge, the firft

Article,) it hath firft of all been infilled upon,

that an Over-Act is not neceflary to be alledged,

becaufe fupplied by the Words of the Conclu-

fion, contrary to the Form of the Statute. To that

I have anfwered, I conceive, it is not, nor can

it be fupplied, becaufe it is a fubftantial thing in

the very Words and Bowels of the Act, and can-

not be fupplied by a general Conclufion. Then
it hath been faid by Sir Thomas Witherington, the

State's Serjeant, That in this cafe thofe fubfe-

quent Matters and Charges fhall be an Overt-Act
within the Statute •, that is that which he hath

read to you ; it is in the fourth Article (as I take

it) That Chriftopher Love divers Times between

the 29th of March 1650, and the ift of June 1651,
did traitoroufly and malicioufly hold and ufe Correfpon-

dence and Intelligence by Letters and Meffages. But
that cannot be ; I may fay it, that is not a fuffi-

cient Manifeftation of an Overt-Act, becaufe there

do precede it thefe particular Charges of Trea-

fon within particular Acts of Parliament. Why
then, if fo be (to maintain his Defign, for the

carrying on of his Defign aforefaid) this fhould

be faid to relate to the firft Defign, why not to

the fecond Defign of promoting Charles Stuart

to be King? And why not to the third Defign?

So that where there are three feveral Defigns be-

fore, all made Treafon by the Acts of Parliament,

that cannot be an Overt-Aft to make good the

firft part of the Charge, with Submiffion to your

Lordfhip's Judgment. And then another thing

we fay, That this Charge which Sir Thomas

would carry up to the firft Charge, and make it

as an Inforcing and Overt-Act within the firft

Charge, that cannot be, for this other Reafon ;

becaufe it is charged as a traitorous diftinct Act

in him. Now we have this Learning delivered

by Sir Edward Coke in his Comment upon this,

in the 25th Year of Edward the Third; that is

where there are feveral Acts made Treafon, the

one is an Acl: for levying of War: Now there

Y 2 the
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the Cafe was Treafon againft the Perfon of the

King, Queen, Prince, isc. that one part fhall

not be an Overt-Act in cafe of an Indictment,

fhall not be conftrued as an Over-Act for the

making good of another part ; becaufe where all

are made equally traitorous, and all are charged

as equally traitorous, we think, with Submiffion,

thofe parts fhall not be made an Overt-Act to

another Treafon. So when here is a Treafon

made by the Act of the 1 7th of July, and ano-

ther by a fubfequent Act, that which is charged as

a Treafon in the fubfequent Act, fhall not be faid

to be an Overt- Act for the making good of the

former ; if the former be not a Treafon, able to

maintain and fupport it felf, this fubfequent Act
fhall not ferve as a Bolfter to uphold it, and to

fupply that which is laid as a diftinct Treafon of

it felf. Now thefe are the three things we infift

on : Firft, That an Overt-Act is neceffary to be

laid. Secondly, That it is not fupplied by the

general Conclufion, nor can it be. Next of all,

That this Act that is here laid to be done traito-

roufly, to hold Correfpondence and Intelligence,

it refers no more to the firft Defign, than to the

fecond or to the third Defign, which are char-

ged as three diftinct Treafons •, and this is char-

ged as a diftinct and pofitive Treafon of it felf,

and therefore fhall not be carried over as a Sup-

plement to another.

Attorn. Gen. We granting that an Overt-Act

is neceffary to be exprefs'd ; grant it fhould be fo,

but no more but in Evidence: and then granting

in the next place, That the general Conclufion

will not be fufficient to maintain it, when it is

requifite and open Deed fhould be exprefs'd. Then
for the third, 1 cannot be of his Judgment in

this way of Impeachments ; but as we fee one

Perfon may commit four or five Treafons, and

one Act may be an Offence againft four or five

Acts of Parliament ; and this is the Truth : for

where the Several Acts are repeated, that (my
Lord ) are thofe Laws againft which this Trea-

fon, and this treafonable Practice and Defign is

laid to be ; then follows the feveral Enumera-
tions of thofe Practices, Defigns and open Acts

of his, now applied by us : but Mr. Hale would

take them and apply them to one fingly. But I

obferve to your Lordfhip, that thofe open Acts

of his, are Offences by an open Act againft the

feveral Acts of Parliament ; but it ferves his turn

for his Client to apply them fo : but I hope you

will not apply them fo; but when they come
between the Offences, and the Overt-Acts fol-

low it, and the Conclufion upon the whole, that

all thofe traitorous and wicked Practices and De-
figns are againft the feveral Acts of Parliament

:

And if there be an open Act, fo exprefs'd, in the

Impeachment, that in Law is an open Act, fup-

pofe it fhould be required to be exprefs'd, if there

be an open Act, then I hope you will be fatif-

fied, when it has been well proved, if it be ex-

prefs'd in the Indictment an open Act, that I

hope will fatisfy your Judgments and Confciences

;

efpecially when open Acts fhall appear to you to

be an Offence againft the Acts of Parliament. I

fhall leave this to your Judgment, and trouble

you no further; and you will find in its place

whether it be requifite or not.

Ld Prefident. That that Mr. Hale faid, if it

were a thing of abfolute Neceffity in an Indict-

ment, then the Conclufion will not help ; if the

thing were of abfolute Neceffity there charged,

er Love 3 Car. II.

and not charged contra formam Statuti, will not

do it : but if I underftand it right, it is fully laid

in this Charge, that he did by open and Overt-

Acts do the thing ; it is laid fo : the Words of
open Act are not, but the Value, that is, that

he did by Writing, by Words, by Meffages,

by Money ; and thefe are really Overt-Acts,

though he did not call thefe Overt- Acts ; thefe

are laid fully in the Charge : and then, if they

be laid fully in the Charge, and we fatisfied in

the full Proof of that Charge, that we have
heard Overt-Acts to maintain it, then I think

this cannot come within any of thofe Cafes, that

when an effential thing is left out of an Indict-

ment, there the Conclufion will not help : this

I conceive fo far. Then the next, what Me-
thod or Order this can be, by fetting down the

Statutes, and then withal thefe Overt-Acts of
Letters, of Meffages, of Money, will reach to

every one of the Qualities, that thefe Treafons

are manifefted by this Act; but if it were a
Treafon of fuch a nature, that none of thefe

could reach to the Manifeftation of it, then you
fay well: but when thefe Words reach to the

Manifeftation of every Charge laid in the Charge,

then it is effectual and real, and the Conclufion is

fufficient.

Attorn. Gen. Before he goes to the next, I

fhall crave your Direction in it ; for I profefs,

my Lord, to you, that I, in drawing the Im-
peachments, take not my felf to be foilrictly tied

to the Forms of Indictments in Letters and Sylla-

bles ; and the Forms I have taken and do take,

are thofe that have pafs'd heretofore, and I fol-

low them ; and till I receive your Direction to

the contrary, I take not my felf bound but to

exprefs the Subftance of that which is laid to his

Charge, by which he may know his Offence,

and give an Anfwer : But to Forms, and Quiddi-

ties, and Niceties, I conceive I was not bound to

that.

Mr. Hale. I prefs not Forms, nor Quiddities,

nor Niceties in this Bufinefs. The next is con-

cerning the Charge of promoting the Prince of

Wales.

Attorn. Gen. No, there is no fuch thing in it

;

your Copy is amifs again ; read it.

Mr. Hale. Our Exception is this (we have

been but upon the firft all this while, I take it

fo ) the next is, That he did traitoroufly publifh

the Son of the late King of England, to be King
of England (meaning this Commonwealth) with-

out the Confent of the People in Parliament

firft had or fignified by Ordinance to that pur-

pdfe. I think we fhall not trouble your Lord-
fhip much with that ; for if that be as our Co-

py is, it is true, it is not well laid : but if it be

never fo well laid, I conceive, as I am inform-

ed, there is nothing of that endeavoured to be

proved.

Attorn. Gen. That we leave to the Court,

Mr. Hale.

Mr Hale. Then the next is, That to accom-

plifh the faid traitorous and wicked Defign, Chri-

Jlopher Love did at feveral Days in the Years a-

forefaid, traitoroufly and wickedly advife the

Scots. Our Exception to that is this: There is

a treafonable Affiftance charged, in fome of the

Years that were before the making of the Act that

did prohibit it.

Attorn. Gen. And afterwards too, Mr. Hale.

Mr.
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Mr. Hale. It lays it in fotne of the Years before

the making of the Act, and that is fufficient to

invalidate this Charge.

The Clerk. And further; to carry on and ac-

compli/h thefaid traitorous and wicked Practices and

Defign, he thefaid Chriftopher Love feveral Bays
and Times in the refpeclive Tears aforefaid, at Lon-

don, and divers other Places within this Common-

wealth of England, and elfewhere, as aforefaid

together with the faid William Drake, Henry

Jermin, and other their Complices aforefaid, did

traitoroufy and malicioufly invite, aid and affift the

Scots, being Foreigners and Strangers, to invade

this Commonwealth of England, and hath adhered

to the Forces raifed by the Enemies of the Parlia-

ment and Commonwealth aforefaid, and Keepers of

the Liberties of England, as aforefaid.

Attorn. Gen. You will find this in a Statute be-

fore this.

Mr. Hale. Not before the 17th of July 1649,

and then your Charge is repugnant •, you charge

us for an Offence which is precedent to the Sta-

tute.

Attorn. Gen. For that, you go and take them

and pick them ; but we lay them all together

:

there were Treafons he committed in 1648, and

that which I pitch upon ftill is this (that Mr. Hale

thought was waved) That this Man did not pro-

mote the Intereft of Charles Stuart late King, or

that he had not endeavoured a Subverfion of this

Government; I lay that againft this Act made

in 1648. Then by confequence to maintain that,

he did it to promote his Intereft, and to fubvert

the Government; and there was a Law in 164.8

that did inhibit that: there is a Law inhibits the

calling in of Strangers ; and it follows by that,

that he who calls in Strangers, may promote the

Intereft of Charles Stuart too : and that Founda-

tion is to this purpofe, that he did promote him

to have been King of England: and you know
what he exprefs'd to you, what Tendernefs of

Confcience he had to take care that he might not

go elfewhere.

Mr. Hale. If it be fo, then we muft defire

that part of the Charge may be read.

Attorn. Gen. I have not charged them, nor

until I receive Command, fhall I vary from

what I have received formerly, that I fhall

charge this to be againft this, and that againft

that ; but I have laid down the Acts of Parlia-

ment that have made things Treafon, and the

Offences feverally, and upon the whole con-

clude, that thefe are Treafons againft feveral

Acts of Parliament feverally ; if one or all to-

gether ferve turn, I hold it well enough. If you

put me to every one of them particularly, I muft

have more time, and better Clerks to draw the

Indictments.

Mr. Hale. Still the fame Objection meeteth

(with Submiflion to the Court and Mr. Attorney,

the fame Objection meets) with them ; we fay then,

he will make this a kind of an additional Charge

to the firft or to the fecond, or to both ; but we
know not to which.

Attorn. Gen. Yes.

Mr. Hale. But we fay, That that is not fuffi-

cient upon thefe Reafons, becaufe it is a Charge

of Treafon in itfelf, and therefore fhall not be

made an additional and fupplemental Charge to

make out another. And then we fay, that this

is uncertainly charged, whether you will make
it fupplemental to the firft Charge of Treafon,

that is, the endeavouring of the Subverfion of

the Commonwealth ; or to the fecond Charge

of Treafon, which is a diftinct Charge of Trea-

fon, of the Promotion of the Intereft of Charles

Stuart.

Attorn. Gen. 1 cannot divide them.

Ld Prefident. Are not thefe as perfect as be-

fore? Doth not the Subverfion of this Common-
wealth promote the Intereft of Charles Stuart ?

And doth not the Promotion of Charles Stuart

fubvert the Intereft of this Commonwealth? If
he hath laid it, that he did both of thefe by
afiuming it, by a double or multiplied Act ; and
all thefe multiplied Acts are but one Subverfion

:

if I fubvert it by one, or by twenty Acts, both of
them are the fame in nature ; for the Subverfion

of the one, is the bringing in of the other; and
the bringing in of the one is the Subverfion of
the other; and fo they are Relatives fully one
to the other, and there cannot be more exprefs'd

in the Charge than this. And notwithftanding
all thefe Acts, though that Act hath made the

Treafon, cannot it be by another Act ? You may
profecute by virtue of this fubfequent Act, any
thing that was underftood to be general Treafon
by the Law of the Land.
Mr. Hale. My Lord, this is that we infill

upon. It is true, we de conceive, though the

Promotion of the Intereft of Charles Stuart is

not confiftent with the Prefervation of the In-
tereft of the Commonwealth, yet every Deftru-
ction of the Intereft of the Commonwealth is

not therefore a Promotion of the Intereft of
Charles Stuart ; for then there could be no Trea-
fon againft the Commonwealth, but it muft be
a Promotion of the other's Intereft. Now there

may be a Treafon againft the Commonwealth,
without the Promotion of the other's Intereft.

I urge it to this purpofe, to make it appear, that

they are feveral Charges bottomed upon feveral

Acts ; and therefore the reference here made to

promote the Defign aforefaid, is uncertain to

which it fhall relate : it may fall out the Party

may be guilty upon the firft Article ; it may fall

out he is not guilty upon the fecond Article, and
then it is uncertain to which Article it relates,

that he is guilty of, or not guilty of: and here

may be the Confequence of it, then you will

make a Treafon, which to this third Claufe is a

Subftantive, and contained in it felf, to be an
Overt-Act to another Charge of Treafon, and
that you cannot do ; you cannot make a Trea-

fon which is fo charged, to be an Overt- Act, or

Expofition, or a Declaration of that which is

contained in the former ; like that Cafe I inftan-

ced in before, of the 25th of Edward the Third,

That no Man fhall go about to deftroy the Per-

fon of the King, nor to raife War againft his

People : fo that we ufe it not in any other refe-

rence, but only to explain and bring the Reafon

of that ancient Law to this Law. In that Cafes

a Man cannot charge the Overt-Act of going a-

bout to deftroy his Perfon, which is a diftinct

Treafon of itfelf, to be an Overt- Ail to the

Charge of levying War, which is another diftinct

Treafon. And if he alledge, fuch a one did go
about to deftroy the Prince, or the Confort of

the King, or the King, and to make the levy-

ing of War to be an Overt-Act to it, this he

cannot do ; beciiufc though it is true, it might

be an Overt Act to it, yet notwithftanding it

being made a diftinct Treafon, it cannot be an

Overt-
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Overt-Act to another Trcafbn : And fo here, this

very affifting and inviting of Forces is made a di-

ftinct Treafon. And fo if you take it fubftantive-

ly, it is infuificiently hid : And if relatively, you
may not do fo, becaufe it is a Treafon of it felf,

and fhall not be brought in relation to another

Treafon laid before it.

Attorn. Gen. For that, I hope Mr. Hale will

Jeave me to that Liberty I have ; that is, That
if one Act be an Offence againft feveral Acts, I

may aggravate it fo, as to make him know it is

fo. And I take it for an Aggravation of his

Offence, when he hath offended againft fo many
feveral Laws, which he hath done ; and that I

may have Liberty to fay fo, though perhaps

that Subverfion of this Government is not in

every refpect a promoting of the Intereft of
Charles Stuart : But the Subverfion of this Go-
vernment, as it is here laid in this Indictment,

is a Promotion of the Intereft of Charles Stuart.

And fo it is here. And I have done now with

that.

Ld Prefident. Then Mr. Hale, I will add a

Word, becaufe that you did put the Cafe of a

Man deftroying the Perfon of a King, and levy-

ing of War. If it be laid ; thofe very Acts, if

they be laid as a continued, or a Medium, or an

Enterprize, that he had taken up a War to de-

ftroy the Perfon of the King ; thofe Words in

one Senfe, if it had been laid folitarily by it felf,

and deftroying the King in another; but if he

mewed that by levying of War, he endeavoured

it, then the Denomination is from the End in that

place: and though they be two Treafons fub-

ftantively, yet when they are laid as one conti-

nued Act, they are but one. And fo it is in this

Cafe : All thefe, though there are feveral Statutes,

and feveral Treafons, thefe multiplied Acts make
up but one compleat in the Conclufion. If there

want one of thefe, if there be fufficient in the

other, it is Treafon enough, and too much too,

(I would it were not fo :) If they be laid in Sub-

ordination, as all thefe are, every one of them

further to promote this, and to promote that, fo

they are laid in Promotion of it to every one

:

And then they are contiguous, and depend one

upon another, and are fubftantive ; and fo fub-

ftantial, as that they may be Relatives one to

another. And fo are thefe.

Attorn. Gen. The next, Mr. Hale.

Mr. Hale. The next is the fourth Charge;

and that is concerning holding Correfpondence

by Letters and Meffages with Charles Stuart, and

the late Queen his Mother: We fay that this

Part of the Charge is ill laid alfo. It is laid in

nature of a Felony by the Act, and laid to be

done traitoroufly in the Charge ; and that a fub-

Itantial (not a mere Formality, but a fubftantial)

Miftake : For if fo be a Woman be indicted of

Petty Treafon, becaufe it is Proditoria, yet in

truth it amounts but to Felony. Now, in Cafe

where fhe is an Acceffary to a Felony, the In-

dictment is naught. If a Man be accufed that

he did traitoroufly fuch an Action, which in it

felf amounts but to a Felony, that Charge is

nought. And fo it is here ; it is miflaid : For

by the Act of the 29th of March, 1650, the

Matters therein charged are not made Treafon,

at moft but capital, but we think it only prohi-

bited, and then we fay it is an uncertain Charge.

And fo, it is under favour : For though the Act

faith no Man fhall hold Correfpondence by Let-

ters, Meffages, or othcrwiie ; yet when we come
to inform upon it, or to indict upon it, it is not

enough to fay he held Correfpondence by Letters
,.

Meffages, or otherwife : but, if you will ground
your Deed upon that Act, you muft fhew what,

that otherwife is. And that is the Exception to

that Part of the Charge.

The Clerk. And further, to carry on the faid.

traitorous and wicked Practice and Defign, he the

faid Chriftopher Love divers Days and Times, be-

tween the 29th of March, 1650, and the ijl of
June* 1 65 1, at London and other Places, as a-

forefaid, did traitoroufly and malicioufly give, hold9

ufe, and maintain Correfpondence and Intelligence by

Letters, Meffages, Inflru£iions, and otherwife.

Mr. Hale. Or otherwife was our Notes ; then

that is out of doors : But our Exception is, That
it is alledged to be done traitoroufly.

Ld Prefident. And the Statute faith it fhall

be Treafon.

Mr. Hale. No, it faith not fo: The Act lays

it only in nature of a Felony, and in the Charge
it is laid to be done traitoroufly ; and fo the Charge
is miflaid.

Attorn. Gen. I confefs it is expreft fo in the

29th of March, 1650, and it is not faid what
the Offence is •, but I conceive, in the firft place,

that by the Law of England he that holds Cor-
refpondence with a Traitor will go very near it,

my Lord. And then I humbly conceive that

ftill, he going upon the firft Act, it is laid to be
with Charles Stuart, and the Queen and Counfel

with him, (I think) it is a promoting of his In-

tereft: He to hold a Correfpondence with him
whom the Parliament hath faid, You fhall in no
cafe promote his Intereft.

Mr. Hale. I muft be bold ftill a little, to crave

Mr. Attorney's Favour, to reply upon him in

this kind of way ; for I have not had Time.
Attorn. Gen. You have had more Time than I

;

for I heard not of it till now.
Mr. Hale. We fay the Charge is not good, be-

caufe it is made Felony only by the Act, and laid

in the Charge to be done traitoroufly ; and then

we fay that Charge is uncertain to what Defign

it relates: If it relates to the Bufinefs concern-

ing the promoting of Charles Stuart's Intereft,

if it be fo, we conceive it is not proved : For the

Proof I mention not; but that is not infift-

ed upon, that Mafter Love did promote the

Intereft of Charles Stuart, contrary to the Act
of Parliament; that (1 think) is not infilled

upon.

Attorn. Gen. O, yes.

Mr. Hale. I conceive no.

Attorn. Gen. I conceive very much otherwife,

Mr. Hale.

Mr. Hale. I defire that Charge once more may
be read, concerning the promoting the Intereft of
Charles Stuart.

The Clerk. And the better to carry on and ac'

complifh the faid traitorous and wicked Pratlice and
Defign, he the faid Chriftopher Love, with the

faid William Drake, &c. {fince the Death of
Charles Stuart, late King of England, who, for
his notorious Treafons, and other Tyrannies and
Murders by him committed in the late unnatural and
cruel Wars, was by Authority, derived from the

Parliament, juftly condemned to Death^ and execu-

ted) feveral Days and Times, in the reflective Tears

aforefaid, at London aforefaid, and fundry other

Places within this Commonwealth, and fince this

Nation
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Nation was fettled in the Way of a Commonwealth,

or a Free State, as afore/aid, did traitoroufly de-

clare, publifh, and promote Charles Stuart, eldeft

Son to the late King, to be King of England.

Mr. Hale. We are informed that there is no-

thing of any particular Aft of his concerning that:

But we have nothing to do with the Faft. But we

conceive that no fubfequent Thing , by way of

Conftruftion or Interpretation, fhall make a pub-

lifhing and promoting in fuch a manner as this is,

it muft be fuch a Thing as exprefly publifhcth and

promotes him to be the chief Magiftrate of Eng-

land, according to the Words of the Aft, and

not by way of Dilation : We fay this is not a

Thing to be applied to ferve the Turn, upon this

Reafon ; we fay that the holding of Correfpon-

dence and Intelligence with Charles Stuart, eldeft

Son to the late King, cannot be coupled to the

Promotion of the Intereft of Charles Stuart, to be

King of England, feeing that is but by way of In-

terpretation to bring it within the firft part of the

Aft.
Attorn. Gen. For that, I fhall crave your Di-

rection.

Ld Prefident. It is not interpretative, but po-

fitive.

Attorn. Gen. But I fhall crave your Pleafure ;

Whether 1 fhall in my Impeachments afterwards

put in all my Evidence ? What is charged, and

Evidence proves, that you will judge upon, I

hope.

Mr. Hale. Then the next part of the Charge,

and that is the fifth, That he did hold Correfpon-

dence with divers Perfons ofthe Scotch Nation. Our

Exception to that is plain : We conceive that part

of it is not well laid neither ; it is not laid in pur-

fuance of the Aft of Parliament, as our Notes

are. This is that we fay, That it is not exprefly

alledged, that they were Perfons refiding in Scot-

land, our Notes are.

Attorn. Gen. Like enough fo, Sir.

The Clerk. And further, to carry on and ac-

compliflo the faid traitorous and wicked Defign, he

the faid Chriltopher Love, feveral Days and Times

in the refpetlive Tears aforefaid, at London afore-

faid, and divers other Places within this Common-
wealth of England, and elfewhere, as aforefaid, did

traitoroufly and malicioufly hold and maintain Cor-

refpondence and Intelligence with divers Perfons of

the Scotch Nation, viz. with the Earl of Argyle,

Lowdon, Lothian, Bailey, Belcarras, and divers

other Perfons of the Scots and other Nations, whom
he well knew to adhere to the Scotch Nation in this

War againft the Parliament and Commonwealth of

England.

Mr. Hale. This we conceive is not a good

Charge ; for the Words of the Aft of the 2d of

Auguft, 1650, upon which this is grounded, are,

That no Wan fhall hold Correfpondence with the

Scotch Nation refiding in Scotland.

Attorn. Gen. You were belt read further, Mr.
Hale.

[Then Mr. Hale read part of that Aft, begin-

ning at thefe Words, [Be it enailed, ordained,

and declared by this prefent Parliament,'] and

ending with thefe Words, [Without the Al-

lowance, Licence, &c]

Mr. Hale. It is true, there is no Refiding •, for

that yet comes not home, we conceive, to part

of the Charge. There are two Farts of the

Charge j the one, That he did maintain Corre-

fpondence with divers of the Scotifh Nation ; and
with divers others Perfons of divers other Nations,

whom he well knew to adhere to the Scotch Nation

in this War againft the Parliament. As to the

firft, that is out of doors : Then here is no full

Charge of helding any Correfpondence with

any of the Scotch Nation 5 for that part of the

Charge refts upon this, that it muft be with

holding of Correfpondence with any fuch Per-

fons as are refiding in Scotland, and with any other

Perfon refiding there. Then as to the other

part

Ld Prefident. It is a continued Speech j Not-
with the Scots, nor any other.

Mr. Hale. Then here is another Thing in it

:

That it is not averred that fuch a Correfpondence

and Intelligence was held without the Licence of

Parliament.

Attorn. Gen. You are miftaken in that -, your

Notes are not true.

The Clerk. And he the faid Chriftopher Love,
within the Times, and at the Places before mentioned,

did traitoroufly ajftfl, encourage, without the fpecial

Licence of the Council of State, or Parliament, or

Captain-General of the Parliament Forces.

Mr. Hale. We fay then, thefe are two diftinft

Charges, and grounded upon two diftinft Parts

of an Aft. But there is this more in it, which
we conceive is not to be anfwered, with Submif-
lion ; under favour, it is faid he did it within the

Times aforefaid : The Times that are aforefaid

are between the 29th of March 1650, and June
1 65 1. Now this Aft, whereby this is made trai=

torous or treafonable, takes not place till the 5th

of Auguft 1650 : So that it might be done with-

in the Times aforefaid, that is, between the 29th

of March 1 650, and June 1 65 1 , and yet not con-

trary to the Aft of the 2d of Auguft, which was

1650.

Sir Tho. Wither. We lay it within all the Times
aforefaid : And I fuppofe the Matter of the Evi-

dence hath told you the Times, which now we
are not to difpute.

Mr. Hale. Whatfoever is done between the 29th

ofMarch 1650, and the 2d of Auguft 1650, is not

done contrary to the Aft of the 2d of Auguft 1650,

upon which Aft this Charge is grounded : There

is a Time between them, and between the Time of

exhibiting of thefe Articles. Whatfoever is faid to

be done between the 29th of March 16go, and the

exhibiting the Articles, is not faid to be done af-

ter the 2d of Auguft i6§o : For if it be done be-

tween the 29th of March and the 2d of Auguft, it

is done within the Time aforefaid, that is, be-

tween the 29th of March 1650, and June 165 ? 5,

and yet not done contrary to the Aft of the 2d
of Auguft, becaufe done before the Aft came
forth.

Attorn.. Gen. Though Mr. Hale will not con-

fent to it, we will ftrike out the 29th of March $

and then he will not deny but that is good enough 3

with that ftriken out, before the firft of June

1 65 1. Whether it be not good enough, and no

Time laid before it?

Mr. Hale. No indeed, it is not good enough.

Attorn. Gen. Why not? It is after the Offence

committed.

Mr. Hale. Becaufe it may as well be before the

Aft, as after the Aft.

Attorn. Gen. If we lay it after the Offence

committed, I fuppofe it is well enough \ and the

wifeft
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wifeft will think fo. Lay it to be the ift of June

i6fi: Suppofe it were in September before, it is

good enough.

Mr. Hale. If you lay it upon the ift of June,

it is a Year ; before it is not good enough.

Attorn. Gen. That that Mr. Hale infifts upon,

he may fay it is before the ift of June 1651, fo

]ong fince ; but in a juft and reasonable Intend-

ment, when we infift upon that Law that makes

it Treafon to hold it after fuch a Time, and we
fay that before the firft of June 1 651, he did com-
mit Treafon in holding Correfpondence, and fend-

ing Provifions of War before that Law, though it

were before the fecond of Auguft 1 650, that were

not againft that Law.
Mr. Hale. Still we fay, That contrary to the

Form of the Statute, or contrary to the Form of

the Law, which is but the Conclufion, fhall not

fupply that which is material to be alledged.

Now when here is an Act laid to be done, cer-

tainly it is material to alledge that it is done in

fuch a Time as may appear to be after the Time
of the Prohibition of it to be done. The Pro-

hibition runs to the 2d of Auguft 1650, That
no Man after the 5th of Auguft fhall do fuch an

Act : Then it muft be laid to be an Act done

after the 5th of that Auguft. But it is not laid

fo here ; but laid fo as may be intended to be

done before the 5th of Auguft : For here is a

Time laid between the 29th of March 16^0, and
the Time of the exhibiting the Articles, which is

in June 1651, and that he did this within the

Time aforefaid. Now he that faith he did it

the 30th of March, faith he did it within the

Time aforefaid ; and yet faith not that it is within

the Act.

Sir Tho. Wither. We have given an Anfwer to

that : We have laid it within and without the

Time. That is within the Time, the Witnefs doth

prove it ; and Mr. Hale fpeaks not to wnat we
have proved, and cannot fpeak to it.

Mr. Hale. The Proof fhall never fupply the In-

efficiency of the Charge : For we may as entirely

offer you an Exception to this Matter after you
have heard the Proof, as before you have heard

it ; for it ftands no ways upon the Charge fingly ;

fo that it fhall not be fupplied out of Matter

that appears in the Proof, but it muft be con-

fidered whether the Charge can fupply itfelf, or

not : for that that is alledgable againft the

Charge before the Proof made, is alledgable as

well afterwards. If it were not good before the

Proof, the Proof fhall not be fupplemental to

it : For upon that Reafon, if an Indictment did

want Time or Certainty, then after the Party

were heard upon his Defence, it might be faid,

when this Exception was taken to the Indictment,

all this might appear upon the Evidence. But

that will not fupply the Defect of the Indict-

ment.

Attorn. Gen. I am fure we have laid it late e-

nough, the firft of June 1651, before that

Time ; and Mr. Hale's Exception is ftill upon

that way of Proceedings upon Indictments : He
muft have that pofitive and ftrict Certainty in it

in each Particular. I muft give it that Anfwer
ftill, that if you do in thefe Cafes put me to it,

to exprefs every particular Circumftance of every

particular Fact, and every particular Time, and

that it muft conduce in the Conclufion of it, I

muft make you Impeachments that will not be

fit for you to read, nor hear : But, under fa-

vour, if that it contains in it in this way of
Charge that convenient Certainty, that Conve-
niency that may put the Prifoner to the Know-
ledge of it, and to prove it. For this relates

not fingly : For if I fhould go that way Mr. Hale
hath laboured to draw me, that is, to take every

one of thefe feverally, and that I muft make a
diftinct Charge upon one, and upon the other,

and a diftinct Evidence upon one, and upon the

other ; I conceive thefe run quite through all the

Laws, every one of them. Had I confined this

now between the 5th of Auguft 1650, and June
1 65 1, then what had become of all the Laws
before that Time ? Therefore to make them re-

lative to all, I have exprefs'd fuch a Time as

may relate to all : For had I confined it fingly

upon this or that Act, whereas I humbly con-
ceive that thefe Acts, and thefe Offences of Mr.
Love, are relative to more than one Act of Parr

liament, and go to feveral Acts : And therefore

I cannot confine myfelf to one Act, and fay it

was done at fuch a Time, and there limit it, and
let it die. But my Endeavour hath been, and
upon this Particular we debated it, when we did

draw it : we put it fo that the feveral Acts may
have the feveral Effects, and Mr. Love's Trea-

fons look upon every one of them, and they up-

on every one of his Treafons -, and as his Offences

run through, and againft all the Acts, fo muft
our laying it upon him run, and the Evidence al-

io. And though we took care to lay it back far

enough, that was, to the ift of June 1651, and
fo laid it high enough to the other, that it might
reach the reft. And in this way we are not tied

fo to exprefs it in every Particular, as other In-

dictments run.

Mr. Hall, Attorney of the Dutchy. He would
charge it upon the Times between the 29th of
March, and the ift of June ; that be not the

Times that we have exprefs'd in this ; for it is

that within the Times aforefaid we have pofitively

laid, that it was in the Year 1651 : For we have

laid before, that in the Years 1648, 1649, 1650,
1 65 1 ; then in the Times aforefaid we have pofi-

tively laid that this Fact was done in the Year
1 65 1 , which of neceffity muft be fince that Act
concerning the Scots was made : And that I con-

ceive is an exprefs pofitive Time mentioned in

the Charge, and gives a full Anfwer to that Ob-
jection •, for it is not within fuch a Time, but in

the Year 1651.
Mr. Hale. That Charge is within the Times

aforefaid, which is laft mentioned, between March
1650, and 1 65 1.

Mr. Hall. That we fhall fubmit to the Court,

whether in the fame Times aforefaid fhall not re-

late to all the Times before mentioned, as well as

the particular Times he hath picked out ; for we
mention that in the Year 1 65 1 thefe Things were

done.

Attorn. Gen. For that I have given you, that

that is the general Anfwer, if I be put to it

:

Whereas Mr. Love had tranfgrefTed againft thofe

feveral Acts of Parliament, we have put it fo, that

we conceive his Offences run through them all

;

and fo we have Jaid them : And ( I hope ) we
are not upon thofe Niceties, that we muft exprefs

the direct Days and Times, as Indictments run :

But here is enough to make him know his Of-

fences.

Ld Prefident. I conceive it is much better as it

is too, and more obvious to every Underftanding,

and
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and their Interpretation, than as you would have

it, a <*reat deal : For the Neceffities of the Day,

it is not material, that you will agree ; nor the

Week, if they lay a Time fo many Months be-

fore, or after, if the Proof come and fall within

the compafs of the Charge. As the Proof is laid,

fo is the Fact ; The Proof determines whether it

were within the Times without the Law, or within

the Times aforefaid ; for it is not within that Time,

and every of them, but within the Times gene-

rally laid, all thofe Acts were done. And thofe

muft be laid in particular which was at one Time,

and one at another, which were two Years a brew-

ing, and are by the Proofs laid in general ; that

is bed to fay one Fact was done at one Time,

and another at another Time, and at fuch a Time,

and not at fuch a Time. It can be no Man's

Judgment to be fo laid in an Indictment or

Charge ; but they muft be laid thus in general,

and the Evidence muft make it particular, that it

was within the Times that are laid ; as when there

are no Times, as from March to June and Auguji ;

and after, if they be both laid, if the Fact be

within fuch a Time that is within the Law, all

the other is out of doors.

Mr. Hale. My Lord, thus, if it pleafe your

Lordfhip, I think, with Submiflion to your

Lordfhip's Judgment, that in fuch a Cafe it is

not in the Proof to make good a Charge : If the

Charge do not contain a fufficient Certainty, it is

not in the Proof to make it good. My Lord, I

infill now upon the Neceffity of a Day to be pre-

cifely laid. I know (though it is true, it hath

been otherwife held in fome Cafes) yet in a Cafe

of this nature, the Day is now material ; for now
we are upon Act of Parliament. As now, if fo

be the Statute of the 29th of Elizabeth enacts that

every Man that fhall knowingly entertain a Je-

fuit, that that Man fhall be a Traitor, fhall ftand

guilty of Treafon ; if fo be a Man would fay in

an Indictment, that fuch a Man between the 28th

of November in the 28th Year of the Queen, and

the 28th of December in the 29th Year of the

Queen, did entertain fuch a Jefuit, this Indict-

ment would be naught, not upon the Uncertainty

of the Day, but becaufe it takes in a Time which

is not prohibited by the Statute. The Indictment

may be true, that he did receive a Jefuit within

that Time, and yet that he did not receive him
contrary to the Form of the Statute ; and to fay

in the Conclufion contrary to the Form of the

Statute, will not help it. For that is our Objec-

tion, that it is not done contrary to the Form of

the Statute, becaufe it takes in fuch a Time, as

that it might be done before the Statute came
forth. We fay, that when there is a Time
laid between the 29th of March 1650, and June
1 65 1, and that within that Time he did do thu3

and thus, there is the Fault •, it doth over-reach

the Time of the Prohibition of the Statute, for

any thing appears to the Court : The Court

may find the Indictment or Information true,

that he did it within this Time, that is, between

the 29th of March 1650, and June 1651, and

yet for all that the Party not in fault to be im-

peached, becaufe he might not do it contrary to

the Act; for he might do it between the 29th

of March 1650, and June 1651, and yet do it

before the Act came forth, which was in Augufi
1650.

Mr. Hall. My Lord, I conceive Mr. Hale
hath not anfwered that I alledged : But now, if
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there were no other Times mentioned in all the

Charge, but only between the 29th of March and
June 1 65 1, then it were fomewhat; but when the

Times arc exprefs'd before, though that it was in

the Year 1651, and then we fay in the Times be-

fore faid, I conceive that in the Times aforefaid

fhall relate expiefly to that Time in the Year 1 65 1

,

and then it muft be within the Act.

Mr. Hale. That cannot be ; that will make the

Charge worfe.

Ld Prefident. That I conceive you are upon,
is this, The very Letter of the Charge : For you
fay, At this Time that is laid he could not be

a Traitor, and you join it with a Time in which
he might be a Traitor. This (you fay) they lay

in the Indictment, That he did in fuch a Time
of March, and afterward ; and at that Time there

'

was no Law to prohibit it, and fo that could not

be a Crime againft him ; and this, you fay, no
Proof will help it : I take it, Mr. Hale, this is

the Subftance. But if this be thus laid, and the

Proof doth come in, this is very effential in my
Judgment, when upon the Matter, if this be, as

you fee it appears upon the face of the Thing,
that the Proof muft go to that Time within

the Law ; and therefore that will not vitiate

at all fuch an Indictment, if it were fo as you

fay. But I take it, that this being complicated

with more Laws, as I faid before, though he

were not guilty upon this, yet in the Conclufion

he is found guilty of that which is as toother

Offences.

Attorn. Gen. I fhall fay but this : We all know
that a Time is exprefs'd but for Formality ; and
that Time that is exprefs'd, is not material, fo it

be laid far back enough. But if I lay it in June,
and prove it in June Twelvo-months, it is time

enough for this, as your Lordfhip was faying.

That which 1 do fay is, That I cannot confine

this very Act that is fuppofed to be, and yet not

laid to be againft that Act of the 2d of Auguji

1650, from this Claufe, in exprefs Terms, not

fingly. But that which I humbly infift upon is

this, That never a one of thefe Offences fingly

tranfgrefs one fingle Law, but is an Offence a-

gainft feveral Laws. I conceive I had done my
felf and the Commonwealth wrong, had I limited

it to anyone; for his complying with the Scots,

and joining with them, and contributing with

them, and receiving Intelligence, it is more than

againft that fingle Act. It is Promotion of his

Intereft, and Subverfion of the Government, and
againft every one of the Laws. And therefore,

I conceive, I had not done right to the Place I

am intrufted with, if I fhould have laid it fingly.

But he is indicted, That as a falfe Traitor he

hath done thefe Things : that is the Preamble.

And then we inftanced the Particulars, and give

a Time ; which Time he will acknowledge is

not pofitively neceffary to be true, that that

Time muft be the Day the Fact was committed ;

but if it be before, it is enough. But he infers,

becaufe this feems to be an Offence within the

Statute of the 2d of Augufi 1 650, and is laid be-

tween the 29th of March 1650, and the ift of

June 1 65 1, and fo whether this can relate to

that Act : And by Evidence you know it is after-

wards. But this being an Offence againft feve-

ral Laws, I cannot charge it to be againft one

Law : But the Art is now, as Mr. Love began,

to take it afunder and fingly, and then it is no-

thing : And Mr. Hale takes it fingly. It is not

Z againft
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againft this, nor againft this ; but it is againft

every one of them ; and not againft this fmgly,

but againft the reft of them.

Sir Tho. Wither. My Lord, it cannot be con-

trary to the Form of the Statute, unlefs it be

done after the Time, fo that the Conclufion

mews it was laid within the Time. But for the

(yafe, as Mr. Hale inftanced in : He puts a Cafe

of one Act of Parliament ; we are now upon
Offences againft feveral Acts of Parliament. In

that Cafe, of retaining a Jefuit, he is a Traitor

by the Act of the 2.9th of Elizabeth -, fo that if

he lays it between the 28th of the Queen, and

the 29th, if the Jury find that he did retain him
knowingly on the 10th of May 29, then it will

not be denied but that it is an Offence againft the

Statute.

Mr. Hale. But ftill we fay the Indictment is

naught in that Cafe, becaufe it takes in a Time
which was before the Act came forth ; fo that the

Party might do it within the Time exprefs'd in

the Indictment, and yet not do it contrary to the

Act : And this is our Cafe.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, you have heard us for

that.

Mr. Hale. The laft Thing is concerning Con-
tribution to Silas Titus, and Sterks a Scotchman.

And to that we have the fame Exception ; That
that is not made Treafon by any Act of Parlia-

ment : And therefore it is mif-laid to be done

traitoroufly ; for the Statute of the 26th ofMarch
1650, only prohibits it, and fo makes it penal,

but not Treafon. But then we fay again, it is

laid very uncertainly too, that is, at the Times
before mentioned. If Mr. Attorney of the

Dutchy's Conftructions fhould ftand, that is, that

the Times before mentioned refer to the Time
paft, then he may refer to a Time before the

Act. But we conceive the Thing itfelf is not

Treafon by the Act, but only prohibited ; and
we conceive, under favour, ftill, that by way of

Reduction to any of the former Charges, this

mall not be made as an Inftance or an Overt-Act,

by way of Reduction to any of the former

Charges, becaufe it is charg'd particularly to be

traitoroufly done, becaufe there are feveral

Charges of Treafon before : And that which

Mr. Attorney was pleafed to obferve upon ano-

ther occafion, That in this Cafe the Charge is

againft feveral Acts of Parliament, it is true ; but

tho' it be againft feveral Acts of Parliament, yet

it muft bind and pinch upon one : For we fay one

Treafon is not to be made an Inftance to another,

and fo to be made accefiary, and depending, and
accidental to another. And then we fay in this

Cafe, that this being not a Treafon in itfelf,

and being as uncertain to which of the former

Treafons it is apply'd, it cannot be well laid, nor

well apply'd, that is, to the laft, that he did

voluntarily relieve Silas Titus, it is not made Trea-

fon.

Attorn. Gen. It is againft the Act of the 2d of

Auguft 1 650, in exprefs words : read the Impeach-
ment.

The Clerk. Andfurther to carry on and accom-

plifh the /aid traitorous and wicked Praclice and

Defign, he the /aid Chriftopher Love, within the

Times and at the Places laft afore/aid, did traito-

roufly and voluntarily relieve the [aid Silas Titus,

Edward Mafiey, Col. Bamfield, one Mafon late of
London Gentleman, and one Sterks late of London
Gentleman^ who then were., and yet are under the

power of the Scotch Nation in Arms againft the Par-
liament and Commonwealth of England, with Mo-
neys and Ammunition. Which Treafons and trai-

torous and wicked Pratlices and Defigns of him the

faid Chriftopher Love, were and are to the appa-

rent Hazard of the publick Peace of the Common-
wealth and Free-State, Parliament and People of
England, and to the manifold Breach, Contempt^

and Violation of the Laws of this Land, and con-

trary to the Form of divers Statutes and A8s of
Parliament in fuch cafe made and provided.

Mr. Hale. Then we fay, it is uncertainly al-

ledged, and uncertainly laid ; but we take it, it

is not within the Words of the Act : we defire that

Act may be read.

The Clerk. That fhall from and after the 5th of
Auguft 1 650, ufe, hold, and maintain any Corre-

fpondence, &c.

Mr. Hale. Then this is not within this Act, be-

caufe that this is concerning fending to Perfons

that are in Scotland ; I obferve not that it is

charged that they were in Scotland.

Attorn. Gen. Or Jhall abet, ajfift, countenance or

encourage the Scotch Nation, or any other Perfon

or Perfons adhering to them in their War againft

the Commonwealth. What think you of relieving,

is not that abetting and encouraging ?

Mr. Hale. It mould be laid fo then. I defire

that part of the Charge may be read again.

The Clerk. And further to carry on, &c.
Mr. Hale. My Lord, we think this is not fully

charged according to the Act.

Attorn. Gen. I will read you another, of the

z6th of March 1650.

Mr. Hale. That makes it not Treafon.

Attorn. Gen. It comes very near it ; but I infift

upon it, it is under the other, relieving them with

Money, buying of Arms;
Mr. Hale. Still the fame Exception lies upon

it, within the Times aforefaid, which certainly

cannot be acknowledged.

Attorn. Gen. We acknowledge the fame Ex-
ception ; and the fame Anfwer lies to it, that of

the 26th of March 1650, it is, he fhall fuffer

Death : and upon this it is Treafon upon both

together, we cannot divide them, but muft ex-

prefs them fo.

Mr. Hale. Under favour, the one snakes it

Felony, and the other a Treafon.

Attorn. Gen. But it is a deadly one.

Ld Prefident. If a Statute Law makes a thing

Felony that was not Felony, or recites a thing

that is Felony, and faith it fhall be punifhed

with Death, being a Petty Larceny, therein you
fay well ; but if the Statute recites that that is

Treafon in itfelf actually, and faith that they

that do thefe things fhall fuffer Death, according

to the nature of that Offence that is formerly

recited, and limits it fo in the Recital, if the

Recital be Treafon in the beginning, and then

fay, that that Traitor fhall fuffer Death without

mercy.

Mr. Hale. We have fhewed our Reafons in

the Cafe, my Lord ; it is as much as we can fay

upon this fudden, concerning this Charge ; there

are fome other things that are mentioned here

by Mr Love, as how far forth there be fufficient

WitneJTes, admitting the Charge were good ;

how far forth the Witnefies are fufficient in

themfelves ; and then whether here be two con-

curring Witnefies to any one Act, and whether

any thing be more proved than Mifprifion of

Trea-
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Treafon, and Concealment of Treafon : thefe are

things Mr. Love takes upon him in fact to fay.

And now for thofe, when the Cafe is made, we

fliall be ready to fpeak to thefe things ; for truly

it is fudden and new to me, for thefe matters

came not to my knowledge till this Morning

after Eight o'Clock ; that is, concerning the laft

Paper he offers to your Lordfhip, and that is,

Exception to Witneffes, Proof, and Matter of

the Proof, whether the bare Concealment (for

thus it is ftated unto us, the Concealment) of any

thing that is Treafon, whether that be Treafon

or no in the Party that conceals it ; thefe are

things that if we were prepared for, we mould

fpeak to. Firft, we conceive by the Statute of

primo & qiiinto Elizabeths, there is a neceffity in

this Proceeding before your Lordfhip, to have

two lawful and fufficient Witneffes. Next of

all, we think, that if thefe Witneffes be fuch as

he hath ftated them to be ; which whether they

be or no, we know nor, for we are utterly un-

acquainted with the Evidence, yet we fhould

think they are no fufficient Witneffes : and then

admitting they were fufficient Witneffes, yet if fo

be oneWitnefs fpeaks to one Fact, another to

another, we conceive thefe are not fufficient Wit-

neffes within the Statute, not fufficient to convict

him. And then, if that which they have witnef-

fed be nothing that amounts to Treafon, haply

committed by others, that makes him not guilty

within the Acts. If we had time to underftand,

and digeft, and confider, what were the Matters

that are alledged, we mould be able to fay fome-

what to it. My Lord, that which we have faid,

we have faid of a fudden -, and fo it appears, be-

caufe we had not that clear underftand ing ot the

Charge, as otherwife we might have had, and fo

have faved much of your time.

Attorn. Gen. For that that hath been faid fud-

denly by Mr. Hale, I fhall fuddenly give it this

Anfwer : He hath had more time than I, he hath

faid from Mr. Love, and not from himfelf : he

faith when the Cafe is made ; I think it will appear

then, that thefe Exceptions have been made to

the Court, that the Witneffes have not been com-
petent neither in Quality nor Numbtr, they have

been fpoken to. For the Witneffes, the Excep-

tion to the Quality, becaufe they were of the

fame Gang, they had a hand in the fame Trea-

fon, that was the Exception ; I think that will not

be allowed to be a legal Exception, they are Per-

fons that (as Mr. Love pretended) had a hand

with him in this Fact, and therefore they fhould

not be competent Witneffes ; that I fhall appeal

to Mr. Hale's Judgment, before Conviction, and

upon a Proceeding, whether they may not difco-

ver (and after Conviction) if they be Approvers.

For the next, for two Witneffes ; when- the Cafe

is made, you will find one, two, three, four, five,

fix, and to moft of them two, three, and four,

for fo I may make bold to fay, for fo I read them
to you the laft day. And then for the laft Excep-
tion, that was for the Concealment of Treafon,

it is far from it, for I know not what a Conceal-

ment Mr. Love may intend •, I am fure Mr.
Hale will not think that a Concealment, to run

one, two, or three Years, and run on, and fend

Letters •, that when he acts along with them,

and hath the Meetings at his Houfe continually,

moves them to receive Money, and contribute ; I

think he was the higheft Actor amongft them,
for the Meetings were continually at his Houfe,
Vol. II.

171
the Advices were there refolved upon Debates,

there he gave his Advice one way, and they

another way : I think he will not think . this

is but Mifprifion of Treafon •, and we never did
charge it, nor intend it fo, but went a little

higher.

Mr. Hale. If that be declared to be infilled

upon, that the non-revealing of Treafon, tho'

it be a Month or two, or a Year or two, can
be no Treafon, then we have done with that Qye-
ftion ; for that it will reft fingly upon the

Fact before your Lordfhip, whether there be
any thing more proved than fuch a Concealment,
then it is true we are difcharged of that Que-
ftion. But then concerning the Proof, if Matter
Attorney will pleafe to admit, that the Proofs

are fuch as Mafter Love hath ftated in this

Paper

Attorn. Gen. That I fliall not do before-hand,

but to debate upon the Proof, I fliall crave your
Lordfhip's Directions ; I have gone over them
already, and it hath been trouble enough to me

;

if it be your Lordfhip's pleafure I muft go over

the Proof again, I fliall fubmit to you, but not

to him.

Ld Prefident. Mr. Hale, there are no Witneffes

that have been heard, but they have been of the

faid Confederacy, that was one Exception Mr.
Love made ; it was debated at the producing,

and over-ruled, and I believe your Judgment will

go well with us, that it was no Exception. Ano-
ther was, That they have been promifed Re-
wards ; that was likewife moved and over-ruled,

the Court was of opinion that they may do it ;

that if there be a Treafon, and there be many
Correfpondents in it, and one out of remorfe, as

fome of thefe did fay, that when they had been
there they did not like their ways, but went
from them, and came to them no more ; if this

Man, or any other Man afterwards fhall come
and reveal this, it is in the power of the State ei-

ther to reward him with Moneys, and to pro-

mife him Life too, if he fhall faithfully do it.

And this, we fay, is a ftronger Cafe than the

Cafe of an Approver, which afterwards when
they became Approvers, they muft confefs the

Fact, and fay they are guilty of the Fact plainly

and openly, and yet then they are good Witneffes

to difcover this, as it was plotted in Hell, for

this was no other, though they had a Vizard upon
them, which wa3 no otherwife : I fay, if any
one will difcover fuch ; nay, haply it was offer-

ed to Mr. Love himfelf, if he would have done
it ; I believe there were fome Overtures made
to him. But this is Law too, by the Law of this

Land, which is the Law of God ; for we
have no Law practifed in this Land, but is the

Law of God ; and fo did the Lawyers main-
tain it before the King, in Henry the Eight's

time, the Pope's Legates, and) chief Archbifhops

and Bifhops of England ; and did then prove it

to them, that there was no Law praclifed in

Englandrbwx. the Law of God, which our Mini-
fters are loth to touch, and bufy themfelves to

ftudy, but ftudy the Ceremonial Laws of the

Jews, which are Mortua Mortifene, which are

not to be pradtifed by any other Nation, till

they be eftabliflied by a Law : and that which

is the Law of God in this Land, that hath fo

much preferved it, thefe they are wilfully igno-

rant of, and fay, it is Civil ; but I fay, it is

Chriftian Law. And therefore never diltinguifh

Z 2 in
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in a Chriftian Nation, that the Laws are Moral

and Ecclefiaftical, with that feigned Diftinc-

tion i but all the Laws of this Nation are Chri-

ftian, and ftand with Evangelical Truth, as well

as with natural Reafon, and they are founded

upon it : and therefore, Mailer Hale, we are

here now to go on by thefe Laws, which are

the Laws of God, and we mud walk in them,

as we would walk to Heaven. And for that you

fpeak of now, Mr. Attorney hath anfwered all

the Exceptions every one ; and I think for that

Matter of Fact, every one of them particularly.

Mr. Love did take his Exceptions too, and they

were over-ruled. Now to come whether thefe

are lawful Witneffes over again, when it is in

Matter of Fact, and over-ruled by the Judgment
of the Court, Mafter Hale will not think that is

regular. And then, whether there be two to one

Point or not, that is another of your Exceptions

;

that, I take it (Mafter Hale) is not Matter of

Law, but for the Judges to confider of it : that

which mould be Matter of Law, is this, whe-

ther that fingle Proofs, fome to one, and fome

to another, joined all together do ifTue out all

this Treafon. We want not Precedents for that,

for this is a heterogeneal Treafon ; every Parti-

cular that thefe Statutes make a Treafon, they are

all of them complicated, he hath gone through

them all in his Act, and we mufl pafs through

them all in our Judgments : though every one is

particular Treafon, had it been Angularly laid

by it felf; yet now being laid as one concate-

nated Treafon, they all of them make but one.

For the next, for that of Mifprifion, he is not

charged here with Mifprifion at all, but direct

Treafons ; and if it be but Mifprifion, we fhall

not for Mifprifion judge him a Traitor upon this

Charge. But then, what is in his Judgment Mif-

prifion ? If this be nothing but a Concealment,

I think that the Court upon the Evidence will

judge that it is more than a bare Concealment

;

and whether Mr. Hale will think, if I be a

Promoter and Concealer from one to another,

and have fo many continued Meetings, whether

two or three Years together acting with them,

and concealing them, for it is not a bare Con-
cealment, but a complicated Act : for if it

were but a bare Notion of it, we fhould have

much ado to prove it ; but (I think) the Court
is fatisfied, it is more than Notion.

Sir Tho. Witherington. I fhall fpeak a word to

that Mr. Hale moved laft, whether you will be

pleafed to hear any more of Counfel in thefe

three Particulars ; for, under favour, thefe three

Particulars concerning the Witneffes, concerning

their Quality and Number, and the Treafon

it felf, thefe are Matters of another kind of na-

ture than all the red he infifted upon, for the

reft are mere Matters of Law, upon the Forma-
lity and Infufficiency of the Charge : thefe Que-
ftions of the Witneffes are Quedions that are

mix'd j for they depend upon the Matters in

Fact, and cannot be otherwife dated. Now Mr.
Love, tho' he had no Counfel appeared before, yet

he had in his Defence all thefe Objections too j

as of the Incompetency of them, becaufe they

were Participes criminis, and for that I think

(under favour of your Lordfhip's Judgment) he

had a full and clear Anfwer to it : in cafe of an

Approver, he is Particeps criminis, and accufeth

Men that are Particeps criminis, yet that Man s

even ex merito jufliiice, he fhall be pardoned, faith

our Law : and therefore that Objection that is made
againft the Witneffes, that they are promifed Re-
wards and Pardon, that is no Objection, for in

that Cafe the Approver fhall have his Pardon ex
merito juftiti<s. Then for the other Point, that

is, whether by two Witneffes in fuch a Plot or
no, to prove a Treafonable Act, that is, confid-

ing merely upon the Matter of Fact ; that I fhall

not take upon me to repeat, you have heard it :

but this I faid then, and this I humbly offer

now, that if there be two Witneffes, tho' they
concur not in the fame individual Act, yet if they
concur in two Acts, concurring to the lame Trea-
fon, they prove the fame Treafon ; if one prove
the fending of Letters, and another the fending
of Money, I take it thefe are two Witneffes,
tho' they fpeak of two diftinct Acts : but in our
Proof we have gone on to two Witneffes, three

or four in mod Points. But then for the Mif-
prifion of Treafon, we did apprehend that that

which Mr. Love himfelf hath confeffed, is Trea-
fon it felf j but Mr. Love is pleafed to make his

own Collection upon his own Confeffion : For I
confefs my Prefence and Silence after thefe Meetings
and Confutations, but this I take to be Mifprifion of
treafon. To this I replied, we took it to be
Treafon it felf ; for our Books fay, a Man mult
not fleep, nor look back, but go prefently to a
Magidrate to reveal it : but when a Man will

not only fleep upon it, but keep it back, and act

in it, this is more than Mifprifion. But our
Charge is for Treafon it felf, and truly Treafon
comprehends a Mifprifion of Treafon in it ; but
this Point I think neither will come in quedion
now : for we fay and charge, that it is a Trea-
fon it felf, not Mifprifion ; and that Collection

Mr. Love makes, it is his own, but the Judg-
ment is yours, whether it be a Treafon or
not.

Mr. Hale. If it be your Lordfhip's Pleafure,

we are ready to fay what we can in the Shortnefs

of time •, but if it be not your Lordfhip's Plea-

fure, we fhall not fay it.

Attorn. Gen. If your Lordlhip pleafe to declare

what he fhould fpeak to.

Mr. Hale. Thefe Points I fhall only mention
them, I cannot argue them now. This is that I

conceive ; fird of ail, according as the Cafe is

dated, that is, Whether a Perfon menaced, that

he fhall lofe his Life if he difcover not a particular

Perfon, and that he fhall have his Life, if he do
difcover him, whether fuch a Perfon be a compe-
tent Witnefs or no ?

Attorn. Gen. Hear a word ; I appeal then to

you, whether any fuch Perfon were produced be-

fore you.

Mr. Hale. Fird, we only go upon what Suppo-
fition Mr. Love makes.

Mr. Love. 1 humbly crave leave to that effect,

to prove that Particular.

Attorn. Gen. No, not now, Sir.

Mr. Hale We conceive fuch a Perfon is not a

competent Witnefs : then that is out of the Cafe,

it fhould feem, Sir. Truly, then the Cafe that is

put concerning an Approver, comes not to the

Quedion, under favour ; for tho' it is true, an

Approver at Common Law might be an Accu-
fer, yet we are not now upon a Proceeding at the

Common Law, when we talk of Witneffes now,

but we are upon a Proceeding how far forth war-

ranted for the Witneffes, by the Statute of the

fird and fifth of Edward 6. So that what is faid

con-
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concerning an Approver, comes not to this Que-

ftion ; he that may be a competent Witnefs at

Common Law, he is not a competent Witnefs

upon thofe Statutes, for the Words of the Sta-

tute are exprefly, That he Jhall be a lawful and

a fufficient Witnefs. And if fo be that fuch a Cafe

were now, it is not to fample this Cafe that is

m
another Treafon for counterfeiting of the Coin^
or thofe kind of things ; thefe are feveral Trea-
fons, tho' they are all put into one Information,
and haply may be put, in cafe of neceffity, into

one Indictment, as here are feveral Acts put into

one Charge. But now a Proof of Treafon within
one of the Acts by one Witnefs, and a Proof of

before you with the Cafe of an Approver, which a Treafon within another of the Ads by another

is a bare Accufation at Common Law, and where Witnefs, will not be efteemed and accounted a

the Jury likewife are to have other Evidence : Proof by two Witneffes ; for it muft be a Proof,

for either the Defendant may wage his Battle, not that he is within the Charge, but within that

or put himfelf upon his Country ; and then it is part of the Charge upon which he is to be ar=

at the pleafure of the Jury, whether they will raigned : and hare is not a proving each diftincl

believe the Approver or no. But by the Ad of

thefirft and fifth of Edward 6. it is exprefly faid,

Ibere Jhall be two fufficient Witneffes in cafe of

Treafon : fo that that hath made an Alteration of

what was in the Common Law before ; one Wit-

nefs was enough before, now two Witneffes are

requifite : and we conceive, the Words lawful and

fufficient conclude fuch Perfons. If there be not

any fuch, we are not to fay we know, or know

not : but if fo be any Perfon is drawn to make

Rich a Teftimony for the Prefervation of his Life,

and fhall make fuch an Expreffion, we think,

that tho' it is true he is not a Perfon that is at-

tainted, yet he is a Perfon that is thus drawn,,

and we think he is not fuch a Witnefs as is in-

tended, efpecially in fuch a Cafe as this is, where

the Trial of the Fact is before your Lord (hip,

which is both Jury and Judge; to try the Fact,

and determine the Law -, and therefore perhaps

here will be a more rigorous Expectation who
fhould be, and who fhould not be a fufficient

Witnefs, than in cafe it were a bare Trial by Ju-

ry : there may be thofe Exceptions alledged a-

gainft a Witnefs when the Trial is as now it is,

that may not be when a Trial is by a Jury ; and

therefore if fo be that a Party be thus drawn to

teftify for the Prefervation of his Life, we think

that this is not fuch a lawful and fufficient Wit-

nefs as is required in fuch a Cafe. Next of all

it is faid in the Paper, That they have detected

themfelves, being Parties of as deep a Guilt as the

Perfon that is accufed. I will not difpute that

at this time ; for it is not the Cafe, whether a

Perfon that is a Plotter and Confederate with

one that commits Treafon, may be a Witnefs ;

but when a Perfon is detected by lawful Autho-

rity, before the Charge exhibited, whether fuch

a Perfon who is fo detected, whole Life is in the

hands of the State, be one of thefe competent

Witneffes, we muft leave it to your Judgment in

that : but we think he is not a competent Wit-

nefs ; for there is not a bare Accufation of a Per-

fon, but (as the Cafe is ftated to us) by a Perfon

that fhould be examined, and confefs himfelf

guilty of thofe things whereof Mr. Love is im-

peached, and that before the Charge is exhibi-

ted. My Lord, the next Matter is concerning

the Plurality of Witneffes, the number of them •,

we think, under favour, with fubmiffion, that in

this Cafe fuppofe the Charge had been fingly up-

on one Act of Treafon, we conceive, that in

part of the Charge by two Witneffes, as the Sta-

tute requires. And then to come nearer, fuppofe
the Charge were but upon one Act, as that he
held Correfpondence with the Scots^ and did in-

vite them, &c. I conceive that in this Cafe, un-
der favour, that that particular Act with which
you will charge him to be a Traitor within any
one Law, muft be proved by two Witneffes.

The Star - Chamber Courfe, I know what it

was, that in cafe there were one general Charge,
and when it did defoend to feveral Particulars -,

one Witnefs would ferve for one, and another to

another, and a third to a third, and thefe fhould

make up two Witneffes to convict the Party t

but we are not now in a Proceeding of Star-

Chamber, that is laid by, it was not altogether

fo regular in all things ; and then we are not in

a thing barely criminal, but in a Cafe of Life j

and not in the Cafe of Life ordinarily, but in a

Cafe wherein a Party is accufed of Treafon,

wherein the Statute doth provide that there fhall

be two Witneffes (as I conceive) to fwear to the

fame thing, by which you would bring him
within it ; otherwife they ftand as fingle Wit-
neffes, every one apart. I have heard of a Cafe

(I have not had fo much time as to look into it)

concerning Mr. Rolph, indicted at JVinchefter •, I

will not fo much as repeat over the Cafe upon.

my Credit to the Court \ but I take it, it was
thus : He was indicted for fomewhat about the

Perfon of the King ; one Witnefs depofed about

the prefenting of a Piftol, or that he faid he

would ; another about poifoning, or that he faid

he would : thefe two things did conclude in one

and the fame Act ; and tho* they concluded in

one and the fame as Evidences, complicated E~
vidences to make good one Charge, and either

of them had been fufficient, if proved by two ;

yet as I am informed (this is the Inconvenience,

upon the fudden we cannot offer it upon the con^

fidence of our own Knowledge, which a little

time would make us wholly decline the mention-

ing of it, or affirm it upon our Credit ; but this

I am informed) was not held a Cafe proved by
two Witneffes: and if that be fo, then I con-

ceive thefe Steps ; the firft will be agreed, that

the Proof of feveral Charges by feveral Wit-
neffes, againft feveral Acts, will not make a

Proof by two Witneffes ; it muft be a Proof

by two Witneffes againft one Act. There-

fore the Proof of any thing againft the Act of

that cafe there is a neceffity of two Perfons to the 17th of July 1649, and another Proof of a

prove that Charge : If the Charge be upon feve-

ral Acts of Treafon, be the Charge fo ; yet if you
will bring them within any one of the Acts, you
muft have two Witneffes to bring them within

that Act. For fuppofe a Man were indicted of
Treafon heretofore for levying of War* and a-

nother Treafon for adhering to the Enemies, and

thing done againft the Act of the 30th of Ja-
nuary 1648, and another for a thing done againft

the Act of the 2d of Augufl 1650 ; here the Of-

fences are feveral, the Treafons feveral, and the

Witneffes to either ftand fingly by themfelves.

How the Cafe of the Fad is upon the Proof, I

cannot tell 5 that is, whether this falls out to be
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the Cafe. But again, if the Charge were fingle, ctions, and Letters ; I think this goes as far be-

as now upon the Act of the 30th ofJanuary 1648, yond Mifprifion, as Treafon is beyond Mif-
for proclaiming of the King, or promoting the prifion. But feeing thefe are new Cafes before

Prince of IVales's Intereft to be King of England; you, you have fpent enough of your time, I

we think,with Submiffion (which we fhall leave to fhall not fpend more to argue the Cafes that are

yourJudgment) that in that cafe there is a neceffity not.

of tv/o Witneffes to fpeak to one thing ; and not Mr. Love. I humbly crave leave, that feeing

one to fupply one part, and another to fupply a- my Counfel fome of them are rejected by the

nother : That fhall be as much as I fhall fay con- Court, as not fit to plead before you •, and fee-

cerning that ; and I could wifh that we had had fo ing another of them, Mr. Maynard, the Necefli-

much time as to look into it, to enquire what the ty of his Affairs is fuch, he could not be here

Truth of that Cafe was which was tried at IVin- this Day to plead here j and feeing this worthy
cbefter, as I take it. Now for the other Matter, Gentleman came here unprepared, whofe Face [

that is, Whether Mifprifion of Treafon, Conceal- never faw till this Morning ; therefore I humbly
ment of Treafon, be Treafon ; if that be not in- pray there may be more Time and Counfel af-

fifted upon. figned me, with your Favour and Leave, that

Attorn. Gen. No, no. they may fully debate the Argument before you,
Mr. Hale. Under favour, the Law is, That thofe Matters of the Law which are under his

Concealment of Treafon is not Treafon ; but if Hand, and the Hands of the two worthy Gen-
that be not infifted upon, then the Queftion of tlemen rejected by you to plead here, that others

the Fact is, whether there be any more than a may be added to Mr. Hale to plead the Matters
Proof of a Concealment, or of a Mifprifion of of Law before you, and that I may have a Copy
Treafon ? which if fo be it be not, I can fay no of the Charge.

more. Attorn. Gen. I hope we have had Delays e-

Attorn. Gen. Truly, my Lord, I did intend to nough, it is with the Court, now we have
fpeak to that of Mr. Love''s Cafe, and as of his done.

making, but not now of his making, but as he Mr. Love. And, Sir, there are Witneffes here

hath made it formerly ; furely, it is a great deal prefent that will prove that which Mr. Attorney-
of Patience and Favour you have afforded him, General thought none could prove, to wit, not

that for Matter of Fact and Law you have heard only general Threats, if they would not confefs

it all over again. As for that firft, of the Com- in the general, but Promifes of Favour, and
petency of the Teftimony, I fhall remember his Threatning of Death if they would not teftify

own Divifion ; Firft, of the Charge ; Secondly, againft me in particular : and I have manifold
of the Witneffes and the Teftimony •, the Third, Exceptions touching the Incompetency not only
concerning himfelf; and the Fourth, his hum- of Number, but Quality. One Witnefs faid,he

ble Propofals to the Court. One part of his De- could not in Confcience, and did not fwear till

fence was concerning the Witneffes and Teftimo- he was threatned, nay, fined by you, and drawn
ny, that he made a long Defence to ; and if it be out of the Court : Another Witnefs had Money
not good Evidence, that Parties that are of the laid to him by Cobbet, which was given his

fame Robberies may not accufe their Fellow- Wife, which did feem to conceal the Bribery the

Thieves, I think fome muft be unhanged that more ; but he confeffed himfelf, that the Money
have been hanged : but that I fhall not fpeak to, was laid down in his Houfe, and given him to

for I think not that Mr. Hale's Judgment leads make ufe of, and to be the Price of my Blood
him to it ; but if they were threatned, and fhould (Sir) to teftify againft me. I have Witneffes to
be made afraid of their Lives, that were fome- produce, Major Adams faid, he fhould be
what , but that is not the Cafe here. The next hanged, if he did not teftify againft me ; for

is for two Witneffes : 1 might fay, that by the he had given Information, and been in hire

Common Law of England one Witnefs was e- for many Months together. Major Cobbet, and
nough before the Law of qu'into Edwardi fexti three other Meffengers have come to him, and
was made; for elfe it was not needful to be made, offered him Preferment, for four Months toge-

And Mr. Hale knows again, that as to Trial, ther, if he would reveal what he calls a Defign
thofe Laws are repealed. But not to trouble you againft the Commonwealth ; and he hath not re-

with thefe things, or to fay wherein they muft vealed this, till he had thefe Promifes of Pre-

concur, I did crave the Favour of you to read ferment, and did not declare againft me till he
the Witneffes as they depofed, and I did tell was threatned by Death if he did not do it :

you when it was by Hear-fay, and when upon therefore I befeech you, hear what Witnefies I
Knowledge, and when by two, three, and four, can bring in, to invalidate the Teftimonies of
to feveral Acts of Mr. Love's own acting, two, thefe Men.
three, four Witneffes, I think they are number Attorn. Gen. My Lord, it feems I muft be for

enough to accufe, and detect a Perfon of as high all. Now Mr. Love begins with the Court,

Quality. And for the laft, for Mifprifion of that you threatned them, and punifhed them :

Treafon, Mr. Love hath faid that which never I appeal to all here, whether a Witnefs brought
eame into my Thoughts, that fuch Actings done into a Court in Matter of Property, and refufe

by Mr. Love could be judged Mifprifion ; he to take his Oath, whether that Court be not

that acted with them, confulted, and debated, bound in Juftice to punifh him ; and yet if he
and plotted, gave his Judgment one way, moved ihall fee his Error, and fubmit himfelf to do
to raife Money, received Intelligence, all brought that which to Juftice belongs, then (I think) it

to his Houfe, and tranfacted there : I would ap.. is Juftice and Mercy in you to remit him of
peal to Mr. Hale's Judgment, whether this could both : and that is the Cafe of this Gentleman

;

be Mifprifion of Treafon, when a Party acts in in Confcience he could not fwear againft him, a
it, hath the Meetings at his own Houfe, and Confcience well wrought upon j he could not

hath there Debates of Commiffions, and Inftru- in Confcience fwear againft him : for him it was

done
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done in the Court, and by the Court, and (

I

think ) undeniably jufiified.

Mr. Love. He is not under an Oath to this

Day, he hath declared it himfelf.

Attorn. Gen. This is to fatisfy other Men, but

it is not fo regular and orderly to be done : but

my Lord and the Court are pleafed to give you

a fair Hearing and Proceedings, that no Excep-

tions may be taken to it. There was another

that was as good as his Word, that he could not

find in his Confcience to fwear againft Mr. Love,

and that was a Minifter ; that Confcience defer-

ved to be rectified more than Five Hundred
Pounds come to, and perpetual Imprifonment :

that Man that cannot find in his Confcience to

judge him that was a godly Perfon (as he thought)

and againft him he muft not give witnefs, not

for Treafon, not to fave a Commonwealth ; and

he hath had your Sentence, and moft juftly : I

think all that was, was too little, my Lord.

Then for the reft, this is a Difcourfe to fatisfy

People, the Spectators here ; for furely thefe are

Extravagancies, and total Irregularities ; he hath

had his time to except, and heard to except,

and faid all that he hath faid now : and fo there

is nothing more to be done, but now for us to

reft in your Judgments what you will do fur-

ther.

Mr. Love. I befeech you, I acquainted your

Lordfhip and the Court, that fome of the Wit-
neffes were not well, others I could not get them
here prefent, but did make offer to bring Wit-
neffes to prove againft Major Adams, that he

hath confefied himfelf he was threatned with

Death if he did not inform againft me ; and he

faid thefe Words, He could not tell whether he

fhould in Confcience think rather better to be

hanged, than to come in againft me ; and he

could fwear only Generals; and could not

fwear that ever I did write or receive Letters.

And Mr. Jaquel himfelf, fince he was fent away
from the Court, hath faid he was not under an

Oath.

Attorn. Gen. What Courfe fhall we hold ? If

you will not be regular, let the Court be regular:

had you not time for to do it then ? Did he not

demand Indemnity for them ? And rather than he

would produce others to hurt themfelves, he would
rather die himfelf firft.

Mr. Love. But thefe are not under a Crime ; I

befeech you, the Court would be tender in Mat-
ters of Blood.

Attorn. Gen. Be tender of Juftice.

Ld Prefident. I would you had been fo too.

Mr. Love. This Man declares himfelf he is

not under an Oath to this Day, he did but put his

Hand upon his Buttons.

Ld Prefident. Thofe were your very Words,
and very uncivil and indifcreet

; you have not
fpoke at any time yet, but you have hurt yourfelf

more than any body elfe hath, and yet your Lan-
guage is fo liberal, that no Man fhall efcape the

Lafh of your Tongue.
Mr. Love. I fear no Man, my Lord.
Attorn. Gen. That is a bold Word.
Ld Prefident. You have as ill Comments as

any Man that wears a Cap ; your Guiltinefs ap-
pears in this ycu fay ; we have heard all this that

you require before : thofe very Words that you
fay of this Man now particularly, go to them
firft, that he was faying, he was not under an
Oath : It was faid fo again and again, and again

at that time we brought him, and before he

was examined, holding up his Hand, we asked

him it, and he faid, he did ; and put it to him
again and again, Are you under an Oath? till

at Jaft he did conclude and teftify he was un-

der an Oath. I teftify this before all the

Company here, this is noifed abroad again by
many People, the Care we had of that very

Man you fpeak of; you asked him three or four

times then, and at the laft, upon the Conclufion,,

he confeffed himfelf he was under an Oath : he

did not do as you do, you will fay things are

Truth, but you will not fpeak thofe Truths be-

fore God in a teftimonial way •, though fome of

your Witneffes that proved it, faid it was true in

the prefence of God, what they gave under their

hands t Thefe Men that do thus, are no better

than Jefuits in Reality, though not in Name. Yotl

made a Confefiion of Mifprifion of Treafon, you
faid, but you have confefied Treafon. 1 will

tell you who did the like in the very words al-

moft that you did, and that was Father Garnet %

when he came to fee the Evidence produced fo

full againft him by thofe that were Participes

Criminis, as you are, himfelf confeffed when he

came to the laft. Had I thought (faid he) that

the State had had fuch clear Proof againft me,
I would have ingenuoufly confefied it, and not

trifled with them as I have done. So you faid,

you did not think it would have been proved fo

far as Mifprifion : but when it was proved fuffi-

ciently in your Apprehenfion, and convicted,

and your Counfel had informed you it could not

be' lefs than Mifprifion, then you would ingenu-

oufly confefs; fo did Garnet. The other Wit-
nefs that was threatned, it was teftified by a

worthy Captain; I fpeak it again, was not it

debated as much as the Wit of Man could ?

Did you not object that then, that you do now ?

And did not the Court then fatisfy you, or at

leaft fatisfy themfelves that it was not fo ? For
I tell you in that very thing wherein you fay

he was threatned, it was told you, That the

Captain that was here then, depofed what he

had done, and how he had done it, and at what
time it was delivered ; for you were difcovered

long before that, and your Examinations taken

long before that. Upon this, now when your
Treafon was difcovered and declared by feveral

Witnefies, and that fuch a one was in Confede-
racy ; and I think the State might fafely prornife

him Life, and Reward too ; for there is more in

the Plot yet, than is yet found out, and that

fome are like to hear of within this Fortnight.,

that were here, which is a dangerous thing : but

this you did declare, and the Court was fatisfied,

that all that was promifed as a Reward, was for

difcovering of a Plot againft the State ; and that

was lawful by the Laws of God and Man,
And now you bring Witnefs ; you were at firft

demanded, whether you would bring them or

no ? and you asked Indemnity for them ; and
the next time you denied, you would bring none %

and now you asked, What you have to offer to

the Court ? and after all this time, what come
you to do now ? To prove that that was acted

here in the Court : you fay we threatned them ;

true, that we did threaten fome °, and I think we
went thus far, that if he would not, we would
fet Five Hundred Pounds Fine upon his Head j

but he would none of that, but came in again,

and delivered his Knowledge. But you had a-

nother
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nother cf your own Robe too that came in, and

he would not teftify •, and why ? His Confcience

was tender ; his Science was perfect enough to

fpeak againft you, for he was Confederate

with you, and hath confeffed enough of it : but

his Confcience was tender. No Man can

tell here whofe Confcience is crazy and tender :

Confcience is a thing betwixt God and Man
only ; and they that lay nothing upon their Con-
fciences to prove their Integrity, they had as

good fay nothing before a Judge : For though

we have a Law of Confcience in England, yet

that Law is judged by Rules : and therefore he,

whoever he be, that pretends Confcience, there

are fo many Confciences as there are Men ; and

no Men have Power to judge of it, but God.
But, Sir, for that caufe that he would not for

his tender Confcience we did fet a Fine of 500/.

upon him, and fentenced him to the Fleet

till he paid it. We call not this terrifying, nei-

ther doth the Law , nor any Reward, Favour,

or Affection for the Difcovery of a Traitor, is

no illegal Act ; this we told you before, but

you muft have it again, and again, and again ; fo

that you may delay, no time fhall be omitted by

you.

Mr. Love. I have but a few words more : Your
Lordfhip was pleafed to fay, that you could juf-

tify promifing Rewards to thofe that would dis-

cover, and threatning Punifhments to thofe that

would not ; but you ("aid, if I could prove pro-

mifing of Rewards or Threatnings to them that

would not teftify againft me, they fhould be

heard : now I produce not Witneffes in general,

that they were promifed Favour, or threatned if

they would or would not ; but I offer to pro-

duce Witneffes that can witnefs againft fome of

the particular Witneffes that faid, They fhould

be hang'd, if they did not witnefs againft me :

and this, as your Lordfhip promifed, I humbly
crave.

Attorn. Gen. Truly, he will not want Sugge-

ftions, he hath had his time to prove it ; and
one Favour I fhall beg of the Court, that this

your Patience to Mr. Love, your juft Favour to-

ward him, may be no Precedent hereafter ; but

for this, when we clofed the Evidence Saturday

was fevennight for the Commonwealth, he had
till Wednefday following to make his Defence.

For his Witneffes he offered them, you offered

to receive them; he faid, he would have none;
now he comes to offer : we produce you no new
Witnefs, nor offered nothing fince Saturday was
fevennight ; if we come to Witneffes again, we
fhall come to an afperfing one another ; we fhall

make it a pretty endlefs Work : we have done
our parts, and followed the Rules of Juftice

;

and Mr. Love hath had his full Liberty to jufti-

fy, to fay what he could, and prove what he

could for himfelf; if he neglect his own time,

to his own Peril be it ; the Court, I hope, will

not be guilty of it, to alter the ways of Ju-
ftice.

Mr. Love. I could not compel Witnefles, there

was no Subpcena's ; but they muft come when
they offer themfelves.

Ld Prefident. You were asked, and you would

produce none.

Mr. Love. They were not in -a Capacity to

come, my Lord.

Attorn. Gen. There is nothing refting more to

be done, but now all being done ( if you pleafe,

my Lord, all being done) for the Iffue of the Fact,

all his Exceptions to the Impeachments, which
are Matters of Law, we are now humbly craving
your Judgment upon this Impeachment between
the Keepers of the Liberty of England, and Mafter
Love the Prifoner at the Bar. 1 now humbly de-
mand your Judgment.
Mr. Love. 1 humbly pray, that fince I never

faw the Face of this worthy Gentleman till this

Morning, and fo could have no particular Ad-
vice from him, that there might be longer time
allowed to this Gentleman, and an Addition
of three Gentlemen more, and a Copy of the
Charge.

Attorn. Gen. You have had more than ordinary
Prifoners have had before, I will affure you, Mr.
Love.

Ld Prefident. Mr. Hale, you have heard a little

opened of our Paffages and Proceedings, which
you did not before, but every Man elfe hath
lift up his Voice ; you have gone over a great
deal of the Fact : now for Matter of Law, for

that of Mifprifion, that will reft, I think, in the

Judgment of the Court j there is no Mifprifion
laid, but Treafon : and I think the Court will

find Treafon upon the Proofs that are before

them ; they will not need to have any Argu-
ment of Mifprifion, if the Court think there is

fufficient Treafon laid, then that Argument, we
need not defire more Time for that ; and if it

be Mifprifion, that the Court fhall judge it fo,

then upon the Matter there is no Charge againft

him for us to proceed upon ; fo that by that

Charge, I cannot fee what you can ground your
Argument upon.

Mr. Hale. The Charge is not only for Treafon,
but for Treafon and other high Crimes and Mif-
demeanours.

Attorn. Gen. But not Mifprifion.

Mr. Hale. Though the Word be not in, we
think it will reach it.

Ld Pref.dent. It will not indeed.

Attorn. Gen. We infift upon it for the Com-
monwealth, for the Charge is as it is laid.

Ld Prefident. For the two next, fb I told

Mr. Love before, and he fpent two Hours at the

leaft in recapitulating the Evidence of 4:he State,
'

not any thing of his own, for he gave no Wit-
neffes ; but he did go over the whole Evidence
of the State from Point to Point, and made, I

think, himfelf (as he faid) the Exceptions that

were made againft them : thefe he went over,

though we might have fhut him up at the firft.

For him to fum up that which was the Duty of
the Court, when he had no Evidence, to fum
up the Evidence of the State, which we might
not have let him : but this he did ; and it is our
part to examine the Evidences, and the Nature
of them, and what the Nature of the Thing is,

and how many Witneffes are to every Point;
whether there be two Witneffes to a Point or

no, cannot fall under Difpute of Law, it is Mat-
ter of Fact.

Mr. Hale. It is true, we are here only to do
that Duty which your Lordfhip injoins us to,

my Lord. It is true, for us to difpute whether
this Evidence proveth fuch a thing or no ; hap-
ly it may not belong to us to do that. But thus

far, if your Lordfhip think fit, this may haply
be allowable (with fubmiffion to the Court,

that is, Whether, if the Proofs be admitted,

this Man pofitively proves thus, the other Man
proves
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proves pofitively thus; whether that thefe two

Proofs do make a Proof of one Act? Haply

(if your Lordfhip mall think fo fit) there may

be fomewhat of Law in that ; that is, whether

it make a double Teftimony within the Statute

of Prima and Quinto. For (with fubmiffion to

your Lordfhip) the Statute of Prima and Quinto

is not repealed as to point of Teftimony ; it is

repealed as to the Place from whence the Trial

is to come, but not in point of Witnefies ; there-

in it may come in, queftionlefs, if your Lord-

ihip mall think fit. But truly, I have not feen

one word of the Evidence from the Beginning

to the End : and if fo be that any Matter mould

rile, that the Court fhould think fit as well as

proper for me to offer in the Defence of this

Gentleman, I muft profefs I cannot, unlefs I

had feen the things ; for I have not feen one

word.

Ld Prefident. For feeing the Evidence further

than Memory, you, nor no Man elfe ought to

know, tho' we have given you leave to write

;

and therefore tho' we have given leave to take

notice of them, yet that is more than ever any

Court did, or we need to have done, but only to

trufl to their own Memories. But in that you

{peak of now, for you to have Day to argue, when

you are not able to fay, nor we neither, that there

is any fuch thing ; did you ever hear fuch a thing,

to pray Day to argue, that you do not know
pofitively it is fo ?

Alton. Gen. We have fpent a great deal Of

time, and all that can be laid, will be to run a

round ; what is to be done, is your own Confulta-

tion among your felves.

Ld Prefident. Withdraw your Prifoner.

Mr. Love. I befeech you, allow me time for

Counfel.

The Court adjourns.

The Sixth Day s Proceedings
, July the $th

1651.

THERE was but little faid this Day befides

the Sentence. When Mr. Love appeared at

the Bar, the Attorney-General fpake to the Court

to this purpofe •, That there had been much time

fpent, and Mr. Love had had a fair Trial, and

therefore he defired the Court to proceed to Sen-

tence. Upon which the Lord Prefident fpake to

Mr. Love to this effect ; That he had heard what
the Attorney-General defired in the behalf of

the Commonwealth ; and therefore demanded of

Mr. Love what he had to fay why Sentence

mould not be pafled upon him ? Mr. Love an-

swered, That he had fomewhat to fay, and de-

fired longer Time, and more Counfel to argue

tbofe Matters of Law contained in that Paper
that he had formerly given into the Court : But
the Court would not yield to him in it. Then
Mr. Love would have fpoken further* but the

Lord Prefident told him, he would fpeak ad Po-
pulum. Mr. Love anfwered, No, he would fpeak

ad Magiftratum. But the Court prefently over-

ruled him in it, and would not fuffer him to

fpeak. Then the Lord Prefident told Mr. Love,

That he had gone out of his Place and Calling in

what he had done. Then fpeaking fbmething
about an Elder, That an Elder was one that was
fo, either in refpeft of his Age, or in refped of
his Office, with fome other things about Pres-

bytery ; and when he had done, he commanded
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the Clerk to read the Sentence, which was in this

manner : The Clerk read over the whole Charge^

beginning thus ; Whereas Chriftopher Love* the

Prifoner at the Bar, Jiands charged (on the behalf of
the Keepers of the Liberties of England, &c.) of
High Treafon, and other High Crimes and Offences^

&c. [and fo he read on as it is in the Charge ; and
ending thus] For all all which Treafons and trai-

torous and wicked Practices of him thefaid Chrifto-

pher Love, this Court doth adjudge him to fuffer

the Pains of Death, by having his Headfeveredfrom
his Body.

Mr. Love. My Lord, I would fpeak a word.

Ld Prefident. You cannot be heard now5

Mr. Love.

Mr. Love. But a word, my Lord, and - tis this*

in the words of the Apoftle ; / have received the

Sentence of Death in my felf that Ifhould not trufl in

myfelf, but in God,which raifeth the Dead. And, my
Lord, though you have condemned me, yet this I

can fay, that neither God nor my own Confcience

doth condemn me.

Mr. Love withdraws, and the Lieutenant of the

Tower takes him into cuffody.

Mr. Love was ordered for Execution the 15th

of July, but by the favour of the Parliament it was
refpited till the 15th of Auguji, and from thence

to the 2 2d, during which time, (it is faid) fuch

application was made to Cromwell, that he granted

him a Pardon, but the Exprefs who brought it

from Cromwell (then in the North) fell into the

hands of fome Cavaliers, before he arrived at Lon-
don ; and they, confidering that Mr. Live had been

a great Incendiary, and had purfued the King's

friends with great violence, detained the Exprefs,

till the Execution was over, which was on the laid

22d of Auguft.

Mr. Love was then brought from the Tower by
the Sheriffs of London to the Scaffold on Tower-
hill, about two o'clock in the Afternoon : The
Minifters that accompanied him were Mr. Afh^

Mr. Calamy, and Mr. Manton, When he was
upon the Scaffold, Sheriff Titchktrn fhewed him
the Warrant for his Suffering, telling him, that

he took no Pleafure in this Work, but it was a

Duty laid upon him.

Mr. Love. I believe it, Sir.

Sheriff" Titcbburn. I have done my Duty for you^

Mr. Love. The Lord blefs you.

Lieutenant of the Tower. The Lord ftrengthen

you in this Hour of your Temptation.

Mr. Love. Sir, I blefs God my Heart is in Hea-
ven, I am well. Then turning to Sheriff Titcbburn^

faid, May I have the Liberty to fpeak and pray ?

Sheriff Titchburn. Yes : But I deftre you to con-

fider, we have the other [meaning Mr. Gibbons]

to execute afterwards, and fix o'clock is our Hour 5

but we will give you as much time as we can,

Mr. Love. I fhall be the briefer. Then he put

off his Hat two feveral times to the People, and
fpake as followeth

:

Beloved Chriflians,

I
A M made this Day a Spectacle unto God*
Angels, and Men : And among Men 5 I am

made a Grief to the Godly, a Laughing-ftock to

the Wicked, and a Gazing-ftock to all ; yet blef-

fed be God, not a Terror to myfelf. Altho' there

be but little between me and Death; yet this

bears up my Heart, there is but little between

me and Heaven It comforted Dr. Taylor the

Martyr, when he was going to Execution, that

A a there



178 47- The Trial of Chriftopher Love 3 Car. II.

there were but two Styles between him and his Fa-

ther's Houfe ; there is a leffer Way between me
and my Father's Houfe ; but two Steps between

me and Glory; it is but lying down upon the

Block, and I lhall afcend upon a Throne. I am
this Day failing towards the Ocean of Eternity,

thro' a rough Paffage to my Haven of Reft;

thro' a Red Sea to the promifed Land. Methinks

I hear God fay to me as he did to Mofes, Go up to

Mount Nebo, and die there: So to me, Go up to

Tower-hill, and die there. Ifaac faid of himfelf,

that he was old, and yet he knew not the Day of

his Death ; but I cannot fay fo, I am young, and

yet I know the Day of my Death, and 1 know
the Kind of my Death, and the Place of my Death

alfo. I am put to fuch a kind of Death as two

famous Preachers of the Gofpel were put to be-

fore me, John the Baptift, and Paul the Apoftle,

they were both beheaded ; you have mention of

the one in Scripture Story, and of the other in Ec-

clefiaftical Hiftory. And I read in Rev. xx. 4.

The Saints were beheadedfor the Word of God, and

for the Teftimony of Jefus: But herein is the

Difadvantage which I lie under in the Thoughts
of many, they judge that I fuffer not for the

Word of God, or for Confcience, but for med-
dling with State Matters. To this I fhall briefly

fay, That it is an old Guife of the Devil, to im-

pute the Caufe of God's Peoples Sufferings, to be

Contrivements againft the State, when in Truth
it is their Religion and Confcience they are per-

fected for: The Rulers of Ifrael would have put

Jeremy to Death upon a civil Account, tho' in-

deed it was only the Truth of his Prophecy that

made the Rulers angry with him ; and yet upon
a civil Account they pretend he muft die, be-

caufe he fell away to the Chaldeans, and would

have brought in foreign Forces to invade them

:

The fame thing is laid to my Charge, of which I

am as innocent as Jeremy was. Yea, I find other

Inftances in Scripture, wherein the Caufe of the

Saints Sufferings were ftill imputed to their med-
dling with State Matters. Paul, tho* he did but

preach Jefus Chrift, yet he muft die, if the Peo-

ple might have their Will, under Pretence that

he was a Mover of Sedition. Upon a civil Account
my Life is pretended to be taken away, whereas

indeed it is becaufe I purfue my Covenant, and
will not proftitute my Principles and Confcience

to the Ambition and Lufts of Men. Beloved, I

am this Day making a double Exchange, I am
changing a Pulpit for a Scaffold, and a Scaffold for

a Throne; and I might add a third, I am chang-

ing this numerous Multitude, the Prefence of this

numerous Multitude on Tower-hill, for the innu-

merable Company of Saints and Angels in Hea-
ven, the holy Hill of Sion ; and I am changing a

Guard of Soldiers for a Guard of Angels, which
will receive me, and carry me into Abraham's Bo-

fom. This Scaffold is the beft Pulpit that ever I

preach'd in ; in my Church-Pulpit, God thro' his

Grace made me an Inftrument to bring others to

Heaven ; but in this Pulpit he will bring me to

Heaven. Thefe are the laft Words that I fhall

fpeak in this World, and it may be I fhall bring

more Glory to God by this one Speech on a

Scaffold, than I have done by many Sermons in a

Pulpit.

Before I lay down my Neck upon the Block, I

fhall lay open my Caule unto the People that hear

me this Day, that I might not die under all that

Obloquy and Reproach that is caft upon me;

and in doing it, I fhall avoid all Rancor, all Bit-

ternefs of Spirit, Animofity and Revenge ; God
is my Record, whom I ferve in the Spirit ; I fpeak

the Truth, and lye not ; I do not bring a revenge-

ful Heart unto the Scaffold. This Day, before I

came here, upon my bended Knees I have beg'd
Mercy for them that denied Mercy to me, and I

have prayed God to forgive them who would not

forgive me ; I have forgiven from my Heart the

worft Enemy I have in all the World ; and this is

the worft that I wifh to my Accufers and Profecu-

tors, who have purfued my Blood, that I might
meet their Souls in Heaven.

I fhall divide my Speech into three Parts : I

fhall fpeak fomething concerning my Charge, and
a Word concerning my Accufers and touching my
Judges, without any Animofity at all; and then
fomething concerning myfelf, for my own Vindi*
cation, and then a Word of Exhortation, and fo

I fhall commit my Soul to God.
Concerning my Charge, it is black and hideous,

many things falfly fuggefted, hardly a Line of it

true, and nothing Capital fufficiently prov'd a-

gainft me by any one Aft that I am confcious to

myfelf 1 did. The Charge is high and full, but
the Proof empty and low ; tho' there were eight

Witneffes that came in againft me, yet none of
them did prove that ever I writ any Letter, or
directed any Man to write a Letter into Scotland,

or into foreign Parts; no Man did prove that I

fent away any Letter, that I received any Letter,

that I collected or gave, or lent any Money to af-

fift or promote the Scotifh War : This is all that

is fworn againft me, that I was prelent where
Letters were read, and that I made a Motion for

Money to give to Maffey; fo that (Beloved) my
Prefence at, and Concealment of Letters that were
receiv'd and fent from foreign Parts, is that for

which I muft die.

As concerning my Accufers, I fhall not fay

much ; I do forgive them with all my Heart, and
I pray God forgive them alfo. Yet what the Evan-
gelift faid concerning Chrift's Accufers, I may
(without Vanity or Falfhood) fay of mine, That
they did not agree amongft themfelves: One
Witnefs fwears one thing, and another the quite

contrary; yea, not only did they contradict one
another, but fometimes a fingle Witnefs contra-

difted himfelf. And tho' their Teftimony did

condemn my Perfon, yet I have condemned their

Teftimony. And truly there are many remark-
able Circumftances that I might take notice of,

either in, or before, or fince the Trial, that might
be worthy Obfervation ; but 1 will not infift up-

on it, only in the general (for I fhall name none
of my Accufers) fome of them have fent to me,
to pray me to forgive them the Wrong they have
done me : And one of them hath written to me
under his own Hand, to pray me to forgive him
the Wrong that he hath done me; and told me
withal, that that Day I fhould die a violent Death,
his Life would be no Comfort to him, becaufe he
was an Inftrument in taking away of mine. Others

of the Witnefles were fome terrified before they
would teftify ; fome were hired, fome fined be-

fore they would bear Witnefs againft me. But I

will be off of this. As concerning my Judges, I

will not judge them, and yet I will not juftify

them : I will fay but this of them, I believe that

what moved Herod to cut off John Baptift's Head,
that moved them to cut off mine ; and that wai
for his Oath's fake: Herod, to avoid Perjury,

would
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would commit Murder ; whereas if John's Head

had been upon his Shoulders, he would have been

guilty of neither.

I have fomething in the fecond Place to fpeak

concerning myfelf, and then I fhall come briefly

to a Conclufion. Concerning myfelf, I have gone

thro' various Reports; there are many Sons of

Slander, whofe Mouths are as open Sepulchres,

in which they would bury my Name, before my
Friends can bury my Body; but my Comfort is,

there will be a Refurrection of Names as well as

Bodies at the laft Day : God will not only wipe

off all Tears from my Eyes this Day, but he will

alfo wipe off all Blots and Reproaches from my
Name before many Days be over ; and tho' my
Body will foon rot under Ground, yet my Hope
is my Name will not rot above it. I am not ig-

norant what Calumnies are caft upon me, and

more likely to be after I am dead and gone. The
very Night before my intended Execution, the

laft Month, there was an infulting Letter writ-

ten to me, to tell me, that after my Death there

fhould be fomething publifh'd againft me to my
Shame. I hope you will have fo much Charity

as not to believe Reproaches caft upon a dead

Man, who will be filent in the Grave, and not

able to fpeak a Word in his own Juftification. I

am afperfed both as to my Practice, and as to my
Principles. I fhall begin with the firft. There

are five Afperfions, as to my Practice, that are

laid upon me, That I am a Liar, an Extortioner,

an Adulterer, a Murderer, and a turbulent Perfon :

Crimes fcandalous in any Man, but much more
abominable in a Minifter. Now I hope you

will believe a dying Man, who dares not look

God in the Face with a Lye in his Mouth : I am
accus'd of Lying, that what I denied before the

High Court of Juftice, that that afterwards I

fhould confefs, or elfe was proved againft me.

Now, in the Prefence of God I tell you, as I

would confeis nothing that was criminal, fb I did

deny nothing that was true ; and that I may feal

it to you with my Blood, the fame Proteftations

I made before the High Court, I fhall make
briefly now. 1 . That I never writ Letter to the

King, Queen, Church or State of Scotland, or

to any particular Perfon of the Scotijh Nation,

fince the Wars began, to this Day. 2 . That I

never received any Letter writ to me, either

from the King, or from the Queen, or from the

Church or State of Scotland, or from any parti-

cular Perfon of the Scotijh Nation, fince the

Wars began, to this Day. 3. That I never col-

lected, gave or lent one Penny of Money, either

to the King, Queen, Church or State of Scot-

land, or to any particular Perfon to fend into

Scotland, to any Perfon of the Scotijh Nation, to

this Day. It is true, 1 did confefs, tho' it was
not prov'd (and haply upon that Ground the Mif-
take might arife) I did give Money to MaJJey,
and I did alfo write a Letter to him ; but he is

of the Englijh, not of the Scotijh Nation. That
for which I come here, is only for moving for

Money for him, and that not upon a military Ac-
count, but merely to relieve his perfonal Necef-
fities, and for being prefent where Letters were
read from him and others. And altho' Man hath
condemned me, yet I am fo far from thinking
that either God or my own Confcience condemns
rne, as finning in what I am condemn'd for, that

both God and my own Confcience doth acquit

me : And what I faid at the Bar, when I re-

VOL.II.

ceiv'd my Sentence, that I fhall fay upon the

Scaffold, That for thofe things for which I am
condemned, neither God nor my own Confcience

condemns me.
Again, I am accufed to be an Extortioner ; and

this is in the Mouths — I am loth to name them,

becaufe I would avoid all Rancor : But I am char-

ged as if I fhould be a grievous Extortioner, to re-

ceive thirty Pounds for the Loan of three hun-

dred Pounds, befides eight Pounds -per Cent, for

Intereft, which in the Prefence of God, and of

you all, I "do declare to you, is a mod notorious

and abominable Falfhood.

I am accufed likewife to be an Adulterer, and

this Report is not in the Mouths of mean Men,
but in the Mouths of thofe that fit at the Stern :

As if I were a debauched Perfon, and were guil-

ty of Uncleannefs. Now I tell you, as Luther

faid of himfelf in another Cafe, that he was not

tempted to Covetoufnefs ; fo thro' the Grace of

God I can fay, I have not been tempted in all

my Life to Uncleannefs. It doth not much
grieve me, tho' thefe Slanders be caft upon me :

I know my Betters have been worfe accufed be-

fore me : Athanafius was accufed by two Har-
lots, that he had committed Folly with them

;

and yet the Man was chaft and innocent. Beza

was charged not only with Drunkennefs, but with

Lafcivioufnefs alfo ; and many others have been ac-

cufed with the fame, if not with worfe Slanders

than I have been.

But (that which goeth neareft my ILj
art) I

am accus'd to be a Murderer alfo ; and this is a

Charge high indeed; I am charged with the

Guilt of all the Blood of Scotland; whereas, did

1 he under the Guilt of one Drop of Blood, £

could not look upon God with fb chcarful a

Countenance, and I could not be fill'd with fo

peaceable a Heart and Confcience as I have at

this Day. I blefs my God, I am free from the

Blood of all Men : Thofe who lay this to my
Charge, they do to me as Nero did to the Chri-

ftians: He fet Rome on fire, and then charged

the Chriftians with it : So they put England and
Scotland into a Flame, and yet charge me with

the Guilt of that Blood, who have poured forth

Tears to God Night and Day, to quench the

Burning which thefe Mens Ambitions and Luffs

have kindled: And I would fain know of any
Man what Act it is that I have done ? Or what
is it that was proved in the High Court againft

me, that makes me guilty of Scotland's, Blood ?

Did I ever invite the Scots to invade England?

What Man doth lay that to my Charge ? Did I

ever encourage the Englijh Army to invade Scot-

land? What Action is it that I have done that

makes me guilty of that Blood ? Indeed this I

have done, and this I have, and this I do ftand

to ; I have, as a private Man, prayed unto God
many a Day, and kept many a Faft, wherein I

have fought God that there might be an Agree-

ment between the King and the Scots, upon the

Intereft of Religion and Terms of the Covenant

:

Now, by what Confequence can this be ftrain'd,

to charge me with Scotland's Blood ? For my
Part, 1 was but only at one Meeting where the

Queftion was propos'd ( Fafts only excepted

)

what fhould be thought fit to be done to pro-

mote the Agreement between the King and the

Scots? and that was moved in my Houfe : And
to that End, when there were fome things there

propofed which they call'd a Commiffion, or In-

A a 2 ftructions
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ftfuctions to fend to Holland', as Coon as ever I

heard them, I did declare againft them. I did

declare that it was an Act of high Preemption for

private Perfons to commiflionate ; an Act of no-

torious Falfhood, to fay it was in the Name of the

Presbyterian Party, when none knew of it (that I

know of) but only thofe few then prefent. Now
this is only a political Engine to make the Presby-

terian Party odious, who are the beft Friends to a

well-order'd Government, of any fort of People

in the World.

I am accufed likewife to be a Man of a turbu-

lent Spirit, to be an Enemy to the Peace and

Quiet of the Nation. Now, as to this, let my
Congregation and my Domeftical Relations judge

for me, whether I am not a Man that would fain

have lived quiet in the Land : I am, as Jeremy

was, born a Man of Contentions not actively; I

contend, I ftrive with none : But paffively, many
ftrive and contend with me. God is my Wit-
nefs, my Judgment hath put me upon endea-

vouring after all honourable and juft Ways for

Peace and Love among the Godly. The Grief

of my Heart hath been for the Divifions, and

the Defire of my Soul for an Union among God's

People. But when I fpeak of an Union, I would

not be mifimderftood, I do not mean a State

Union, to engage to the prefent Power, that is

againft my Principles ; that is to fay, A Confede-

racy with them that fay, A Confederacy : That is

rather a Combination, than a Gofpel Union : O
join not with them, left ye be confumed in their

Sins ; they who get Power into their Hands by
Policy, and ufe it with Cruelty, will lofe it with

Ignominy. It was faid of Pope Boniface, He did

enter into the Popedom like a Fox, reign'd like

a Lion, but died like a Dog. Beloved, the

Union for which I plead, is a Church Union ;

to wit, Love among the Godly, for this the

Defires of my Soul have ever been, that thofe

that fear God might walk Hand in Hand in the

Fellowfhip of the Gofpel, both in Truth and

Love : If this Union be not, I am afraid, through

our Divifions, a Company of loofe Libertines

will arife, who will endeavour not only to over-

throw the Doctrine of Faith, and the Power of

Godlinels, but even good Manners alfo. I re-

member an Obfervation of holy Greenhamh, giv-

ing his Judgment upon the State of England, faith

he, There is great Fear that Popery is coming into

England, and Ifear it too; But (fays he) I fear

more the coming in of Atheifm into England than the

coming in of Popery ; and truly, that is my Fear

alfo. Thus as to my Practice : A Word now as

to my Principles.

I am accus'd to be an Apoftate, to be a Turn-

coat, to be this, to be that, to beany thing but

what I am : In the general, I will tell you, I blefs

my God, a High-Court, a long Sword, a bloody

Scaffold, have not made me in the leaft to alter my
Principles, or to wrong my Confcience: And
that I might difcover to you my Principles, I

hope I lhall do it with Freedom ; I will irritate

and provoke none ; what I lhall fay, fhall not be

an Irritation or Provocation of others, at leaft not

intended by me ; but only as a genuine and clear

Manifeftation of my own Principles how they

ftand.

Firft then, my Principles, as to Civil and Re-

ligious Affairs, I do declare that I die with my
Judgment itt againft Malignity, I do hate both

Name and Thing; I ftill retain as vehement a

Deteftation of a Malignant Intereft as ever I did

;

yet I would not be mifunderftood : I do not un-
derftand, nor count the godly Party, our cove-

nanting Brethren in Scotland, to be a Malignant
Party ; nor the Scots defending their Nation and
Title of their King to be a Malignant Intereft,

but an honeft and juftifiable Caufe.

Secondly, Tho' I am againft Malignity, yet I
am not againft, but for a regulated Monarchy

;

a mixt Monarchy, fuch as ours is, I judge to be
the beft Government in the World : I did, it's

true, in my Place and Calling, oppofe the Forces
of the late King, but I was never againft the Of-
fice-, I am not only againft Court-Parafites, who
Would fcrew up Monarchy into Tyranny, but
againft thofe who pull down Monarchy to bring in

Anarchy.

Thirdly, I was never for putting the King to

death, whofe Perfon I did promife in my Cove-
nant to preferve : It is true, I did in my Place and
Calling oppofe his Forces, but I did never endea-
vour to deftroy his Perfon. There is a Scandal
rais'd of me, that in a Sermon at Windfor I fhould
have thefe Words, that // would never be well with
England, 'till the King were let blood in the Neck-
vein ; which Speech I utterly deteft, profefling, as

a dying Man, in the Prefence of God and of you
all, I never fpake fuch Words, as relating to him :

Tho' my Judgment was for bringing Malignants,
who did feduce him and draw him from his Parlia-

ment, to condign Punifhment; yet I deem'd it an
ill way to cure the -Body-Politick, by cutting off

the political Head.
Fourthly, I die withmy Judgment abfolutely fet

againft the Engagement ; I pray God forgive them
that impofe and fubferibe it, and preferve thole

that refufe it.

Fifthly, I would not in the next place be look'd
upon, now I am a dying Man, as a Man owning
this prefent Government; I die with my Judg-
ment againft it : It is true, in a Cafe of Life, f

did petition the prefent Power, and did give them
the Titles they take to themfelves, and that

others give them ; but herein I did not wrong nor
thwart my Principles; there are many Inftances

in Scripture to juftify this : Hufhai did give the

Title of King to Abfalom, tho' Abfalom had no
Right to that Title; for David was the lawful

King : And David himfelf gave him that Title as

well as Hufhai. And Calvin he gave the Title to

the French King, calling him the moft Chriftian

King, yet we know he was a Papift: And we
give a Title to King Henry VIII. and call him
the Defender of the Faith, and yet he had no
Right to that Title; for he was an Oppofer,
not a Defender of the Faith; that Title was
given him upon an evil ground, becaufe he op-

pofed the Faith ; he oppofed the Doctrine of
Luther, therefore the Pope gave them that Tide,

The Defender of the Faith ; and yet none did fcru-

ple to give him that Title that was then common-
ly given him.

Sixthly, In the next place (I difcover my Judg-
ment, I provoke none, only tell you what my own
Thoughts are, that fo after I am dead and gone,

I might not be belied, for I dare not now belye

my Principles) my Judgment is againft the Iriva-

fion of the Scotifh Nation by the Englifh Army.
They, who gave us a friendly Afliftance, who
are joined with us in the fame Covenant, who
drew a Sword with us in the fame Quarrel, fhould

I live a Thoufand Years, I mould never draw

Sword



1 65 1. H- G j. for High-Treafoa I5r

Sword againft them ; but the Englijh Army have

forgot the Brotherly Covenant : So that Scotland

may fay as Edom, The Men of my Confederacy, who

were at Peace with me, have rifen up and prevail-

ed againft me : Becaufe Scotland will not be a

Commonwealth, they mail not be a People ; be-

caufe they will not break Covenant, fome Men
would have them broken ; becaufe they will not

lay their Confciences wafte, their Land mull be

laid wafte.

Lqftly, And fo I have done, (only with a Word

of Exhortation) I die cleaving to all thofe Oaths,

Vows, Covenants, and Proteftations that were im-

pofed by the two Houfes of Parliament, as own-

ing them, and dying with my Judgment for theirs

to°the Proteftation, the Vow and Covenant, the

Solemn League and Covenant. And this I tell

you all, I had rather die a Covenant-keeper, than

live a Covenant-breaker.

I am now come to the third and laft part of

my Speech, and fo I mall have done, and commit

my Soul to God who gave it. My Exhortation

firft mall be to this great City, unto the godly

Miniftry of it; and unto my own Congregation,

from whom Death parts me, which nothing elfe

could.

To the City I wifh an Affluence and Conflu-

ence of all Bleffings upon it; and yet I fear gray

Hairs, as the fad Symptoms of a Declenfion, are

here and there upon London, and yet fhe knows

it hot. O London, London, God is ftaining the

Pride of all thy Glory. Thy Glory is flying away

like a Bird ; Contempt of the Miniftry, Oppofi-

tion againft the Reformation, general Apoftacy,

Covenant-breaking have brought London low, and

I fear will yet bring it lower •, I tremble to think

what Evils are coming upon it : This City it is the

Receptacle of all Errors ; that as your Commodi-

ties are vented and fpread from hence into every

Corner of the Land, fo have Herefies and Blaf-

phemies had their firft Rife from this great and po-

pulous City, and from hence are fpread into all

Countries.

To the Inhabitants of this City I commend

but thefe few Particulars : Firft let me beg you

to love your painful and your godly Minifters; If

they be taken away, you are like to have worfe

come in their rooms. I know the Presbyterian

Minifters are the great Eye-fore, who have for-

merly been counted the Chariots and Horfemen

of Ifrael: But I will fay of London (as was faid

of Leyden, 'That after Junius, an Orthodox Mini-

Jier, was taken away, Arminius, that pejlilent He-

retick, came in his room.) If your godly Minifters

(and there have been 1 en already at one blow ta-

ken from you) if they be taken away, Arminians,

Ambaptifts, myjefuits, are likely to fupply their

rooms, if God in Mercy prevent not. 2. Sub-

mit your felves to Church-Government-, that

would lay a Curb and Reftraint upon your Lufts

:

It is a golden and eafy Yoke, to which if you

do not fubmit, God may lay a heavy and an iron

Yoke upon your Necks. 3. Take heed of thofe

Doctrines that come under the Notion of New
Light: Thofe Doctrines you ought to fufpecl,

whether true, which the Broachers of them fay

are new ; for Truth is as old as the Bible. A
remarkable Paflage I would fuggeft unto you,

in -Dent, xxxii. -ver. 17. It is laid there, They

chofe them new Gods that were newly come upi and

what were thefe new Gods ? The next Words tell

you, they were .old Devils-, for they facrificed to

Devils, and not to God a, Now their facrificirig id
old Devils is call'd a facrificing (to deceive the
People) to new Gods, that were newly come upx
yet their new Gods were but old Devils. Why,,
fo I fay, tho' many things go under the Notion
of New Light, yet they are but old Darknefs, old

Herefies rak'd out of the Dunghil, and which
were buried in former Ages of the Churchy with
Contempt and Reproach, many Hundred Years
ago. 4. Bewail your great Lois which you have 3

in the taking away of fo many Minifters out of
your City ; there are Ten Minifters (if I miftake

not) that have been taken away and remov'd at

one Blow, who were burning and mining Lights

in their feveral Candlefticks^ and bright Stars in

their feveral Orbs ; tho
s

I am not worthy of the

World, and therefore am taken out of it ; yet,

as for my fuftering Brethren, who are now in

Bonds and Banifhment, the World is not wor-

thy of them. 5. Again, in the next place, take

heed of engaging in a War againft your Bre-

thren of the Scotifh Nation : For my part, 1

have oppos'd the Tyranny of a King, but I ne-

ver oppos'd the Title. — Take heed what
you do.

I have fbmething in the next place to ipeak 10

the godly Miniftry of this City : Were it not

that I am a dying Man, I would not fpeak to

fuch reverend and grave Men ; I would fay 2s

Elihu did (being but a young Man) Multitude cf
Tears foould teach Wifdom, and I would hold my
Tongue •, but the Words of a dying Man take,,

whether they be difcreet or no; or fo well or-

der'd or manag'd, or no ; as to them, I would

firft defire God to fhew them Mercy, who have

beg'd Mercy for me; now at the Day of my
Death I would beg but this of them, that as they

have not been afham'd of my Chain, fo they

would now wax confident by my Bonds, and by

my Blood. I know they are maligned and threat-

ned, yet my Prayer for them is that in Alls iv.

29. And now, Lord, behold their ThreainingSj

and grant that thy Servants may preach thy Word
with all Boldnefs. Tho' I am but young, yet I will

offer my young Experience to my grave Fathers

and Brethren, and that is this ; Now I am to die,

I have abundance of Peace in my own Confciencey

that I have fet my felf againft the Sins and

Apoftacies of this prefent Age. It is true, my
Faithfulnefs hath procur'd me Ill-will from Men,
but it hath purchas'd me Peace with God : I

have liv'd in Peace, and I fhall die in Peace:

That which I have to befeech Of the Minifters

is this, to beg them to keep up Church-Govern-

ment; whatever God doth with the Govern-

ments of the World, turning Kingdoms upiide

down, yet the Government of the Church fhall

ftand ; and of all Governments, I die with this

Perfuafion, that the l^resbyterial Government

makes moft for Purity and Unity throughout the

Churches of the Saints, I would beg them there-

fore to keep up Church-Government, that they

would not let their Elderfhips fall, that they

would take heed of too general Admiffions to

the Lord's Supper, that they be not too prodi-

gal of the Blood of Chrift, by too general Ad-

millions of Men to the Supper of the Lord, that

fealing Ordinance. And now I am fpeaking to

them, I fhall fpeak a Word of them, and fo £

have done : I have heard many Clamours fince I

came to Prifon, as if all the City-Minifters were

engag'd in the. Plot (as 'tis call'd) that I am eon-

demn'd'
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demn'd for : Now, as a dying Man, I tell you*

that all the Minifters that were prefent at the

Meetings, and had a hand in the bufinefs for

which I am to be put to death, are either in

Prifon, or they are difcover'd already ; and there-

fore I do here, upon my Death, free the Mini-

fters of the City, who are not yet in Trouble,

nor difcover'd to the Committee of Examina-

tions •, none of them had a hand in the Bufinefs

in which I was engaged ; in which my Con-

ference tells me, I have not fin'd. I have done

immediately, for I would fain be at my Father's

Houfe.

I have but a Word to fpeak to my own Con-

gregation ; I return Praifes unto God, and Thank-

iulnefs to them, for the Love I have had from

them ; I found them a folid, judicious, and ma-

ny of them a religious People : The Miniftry of

that learned Man, Mr. Anth. Burgefs, did much

good amongft them ; tho' I have caufe to be

humbled, that my weak Miniftry did but little.

They afforded me a great deal of Love, and a

liberal Maintenance •, and this is all I defire of

them, that they would choofe a godly, learned,

and orthodox Minifter to fucceed, fuch an one as

may keep up and carry on Church-Government

:

It would be a great Comfort to me before I go

to Heaven, if I had but this Perfuafion, that a

learned, orthodox, godly Man fhould fill that

Pulpit. And for Encouragement to any godly

Minifter, whofe Lot may be to fucceed me, I

will fay this, that he will have as comfortable a

Livelihood, and as loving a People, as are any

People in London, a few only excepted : I had as

much fatisfacfion among them as ever I had in

any Condition in all my Life, and fhould never

have parted from them had not Death now part-

ed us ; to which I do fubmit with all Chriftian

Meeknefs and Chearfulnefs. I am now drawing

to an end of my Speech, and to an end of my Life

together ; but before I do expire my laft Breath,

I fhall defire to juftify God, and to condemn my
felf in all that is brought upon me. Here I

come to that which you call an untimely End,

and a fhameful Death ; but (bleffed be God) it is

my Glory, and it is my Comfort : I fhall juftify

God, he is righteous, becaufe I have finned; he

is righteous, tho' he cut me off in the midft of

my Days, and in the midft of my Miniftry : I

cannot complain that Complaint in Pfalm xliv.

12. Tkou fcllejl thy people for nought, and doft not

increase thy wealth by their price. My Blood it

fhall not be fpilt for nought; I may do more

good by my Death, than by my Life, and glo-

rify God more in dying upon a Scaffold, than if

I had died of a Difeafe upon my Bed. I blefs

my God, I have not the leaft Trouble upon my
Spirit ; but I do with as much Quietnefs of

Mind lie down (I hope I fhall) upon the Block,

as if I were going to lie down upon my Bed to

take my Reft. If Men hunger after my Flefh,

and thirft after my Blood, let them have it, it

will haflen my Happinefs, and their Ruine, and

greaten their Guiltinefs : Tho' I am a Man of

an obfeure Family, of mean Parentage, fo that

my Blood is not as the Blood of Nobles, yet I

will fay it is a Chnftian's Blood, a Minifter's

Blood, yea, it is innocent Blood alfo : My Bo-

dy, my dead Body, it will be a Morfel, which

I believe will hardly be digefted, and my Blood

it will be bad Food for this Infant-Common-

wealth (as Mr. Prideaux call'd it) to luck upon

:

Mine is not malignant Blood, tho' here I am
brought as a grievous and notorious Offender.

Now, Beloved, I fhall not only juftify God (as

I do without a Compliment ; for he were very

juft, if my Prifon had been Hell, and this Scaf-

fold the bottomlefs Pit ; I have deferved both ;

fo that I do not only juftify God) but I defire

this Day to magnify God, to magnify the Riches

of his glorious Grace, that fuch an one as I,

born in an obfeure Country (in Wales) of ob-

feure Parents, that God fhould look upon me,
and fingle me out from amongft all my Kindred,

to be an Object of his everlafting Love ; that

when as the firft Fourteen Years of my Life I

never heard a Sermon, yet in the Fifteenth Year
of my Life God (through his Grace) did con-

vert me. And here I fpeak it without Vanity

(for what fhould a dying Man be proud of?)

tho' I am accus'd of many fcaridalous Evils, yet

(I fpeak to the Praife and Glory of my God) for

thele Twenty Years God hath kept me, that I

have not fallen into any fcandalous Sin ; I have

laboured to keep a good Confcience from my
Youth up, and I magnify his Grace, that he

hath not only made me a Chriftian, but a Mini-

fter, andjudg'd me faithful to put me into the

Miniftry : And tho' the Office be troden upon
and difgraced, yet it is my Glory that I die a

defpifed Minifter ; I had rather be a Preacher in

a Pulpit, than a Prince upon a Throne ; I had
rather be an Inftrument to bring Souls to Hea-
ven, than to have all the Nations bring in Tri-

bute to me: I am not only a Chriftian and a

Preacher, but whatever Men judge, I am a Mar-
tyr too, I fpeak it without Vanity ; would I

have renoune'd my Covenant, and debauch'd my
Confcience, and ventur'd my Soul, there might
have been hopes of faving my Life, that I fhould

not have come to this place ; but bleffed be my
God, I have made the beft Choice, I have cho-

fen Affliction rather than Sin, and therefore wel-

come Scaffold, and welcome Ax, and welcome
Block, and welcome Death, and welcome All,

becaufe it will fend me to my Father's Houfe :

I have great caufe to magnify God's Grace,

that he hath flood by me during mine Impri-

fonment ; It hath been a Time of no little Temp-
tation to me, yet (bleffed be his Grace) he hath

flood by me and ftrengthened me ; I magnify

his Grace, that tho' now I come to die a vio-

lent Death, yet that Death is not a Terror to

me ; through the Blood of fprinkling, the Fear

of Death is taken out of my Heart; God is not

a Terror to me, therefore Death is not dreadful

to me ; I blefs my God, I fpeak it without Va-
nity, I have formerly had more Fear in the draw-

ing of a Tooth, than now I have at the cutting

off my Head : 1 was for fome Five or Six Years

under a Spirit of Bondage, and did fear Death

exceedingly ; but when the Fear of Death was

upon me, Death was not near me; but now
Death is near me, the Fear of it is far from me

:

And bleffed be my Saviour that hath the Sting

of Death in his own Sides, and fo makes the

Grave a Bed of Reft to me, and makes Death
(the laft Enemy) to be a Friend, tho' he be a

grim Friend. Further, I blefs my God, that tho'

Men have judg'd me to be caft out of the World,
yet that God hath not caft me out of the Hearts

and Prayers of his People ; I had rather be caft

out of the World, than caft out of the Hearts

of godly Men. Some think me (it is true) not

worthy
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worthy to live ; and yet others judge I do not de-

ierve to die : But God will judge all, I will judge

no Man.
I have now done, I have no more to lay, but

to defire the Help of all your Prayers, that God
would give me the Continuance and Supply of

divine Grace to carry me through this great Work
that I am now about: That as I am to do a

Work I never did, fo I may have a Strength I

never had : That I may put off this Body with

as much Quietnefs and Comfort of Mind, as

ever I put off my Clothes to go to Bed : And
now I am to commend my Soul to God, and to

receive my fatal Blow, I am comforted in this,

Tho' Men kill me, they cannot damn me ; and thai'

they thruft me out of the World, yet they cannot

Jhut me out of Heaven. I am now going to my
long Home, and you are going to your fhort

Homes •, but I will tell you, I ihall be at Home
before you ; I fhall be at my Father's Houfe, be-

fore you will be at your own Houfes: I am
now going to the Heavenly Jerufalem, to the

innumerable Company of Angels, to Jefus the

Mediator of the New Covenant, to the Spirits

of juft Men made perfect, and to God the Judge

of all, In whofe Prefence there is Fulnefs of Joy,

and at whofe Right Hand are Pleafures for ever-

more. I conclude with the Speech of the Apo-

ftle, 2 Tim. iv. 6, 7. / am now to be offered up,

and the Time of my Departure is at hand; I have

fni/h'd my courfe, I have fought the good Fight, I
have kept the Faith, henceforth there is a Crown of

Righteoufnefs laid up for me ; and not for me on-

ly, hit for all them that love the appearing of

our Lord Jefus Chrift, through whofe Blood,

when my Blood is Ihed, I expecl Remifllon of

Sins and eternal Salvation. And fo the Lord
blefs you all.

Then turning to the Sheriff, he faid, May I

pray ?

Sheriff Titchburn. Yes, but confider the

Time.

Mr. Love. I have done, Sir. Then turning to

the People, he faid, Beloved, I will but pray a lit-

tle while with you, to commend my Soul to God,
and I have done. After which he pray'd with an
audible Voice.

His Prayers being ended, Mr. Afh faid, Tou make
a Chrifiian End, I hope.

Mr. Love. Ay, I blefs God.

Then turning to Mr. Sheriff Titchburn, he
laid, / thank you for this Kindnefs, you have ex-

prefs'd a great deal of Kindnefs for me. Well,
I go from a Block to the Bofom of my Sa-

viour.

Mr. Love. Where is the Executioner ?

When the Executioner came forward,

Art thou the Officer ?

Executioner. Tes.

Mr. Love. (Lifting up his Eyes) O
fus, that hath kept me from the Hurt of Death,

bleffed be God! bleffed be God I

Then taking leave of the Minifters, he faid,

The Lord be with you all.

And taking leave of Sheriff Titchburn, he killed

his Hand ; then kneeling down, he made a fhort

Prayer privately.

Rifing up he faid, Bleffed be God, I am full

of Joy and Peace in believing : I lie down with a
World of Comfort ; as if I were to lie down in my
Bed: My Bed is but a fhort Sleep, and this

Death is a long Sleep, where Ifhall reft in Abra-
ham'j Bofom, and in the Embraces of the Lord
Jefus.

And then faying, The Lord blefs you, he laid

himfelf down upon the Scaffold with his Head
over the Block; and, when he ftretched forth

his Hands, the Executioner cut off his Head at

one Blow.

he faid,

O
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XLVIII. The Trial of Mr. John Gibbons*, before the

High Court of Juft
l

iee, for High-Treafon3 July i83 1651.

3 Car. II.

OTTER and Gibbons were both

brought to the Bar together.

Potter's Charge was firft read, un-

to which he pleaded Guilty, and made
a large Narrative of all his Crimes

againfr the State: very much was he examined
againft Mafter Gibbons, but no hurt at all he did
him. After they had done with him, the Charge
of Mafter Gibbons was read, which when he heard,
he fpake in this manner.
Gibbons. My Lord, this Charge is very new

tome; I have been a Prifoner under clofe Im-
prifonment for many Weeks together, and ne-

ver knew before this time what it was, in parti-

cular, that was laid to my Charge : And now
I do hear my particular Accufation, it is fo

ftrange to me, that I do not know what to fay

to it at the firft hearing; therefore I humbly
beleech your Lordfhip, that I may hear it read

again.

* Attorney-General. My Lord, * Mr#Prideaux
Mafter Gibbons heard Potter's Charge

read, which was very like to his own ; fo he

hath heard it twice already : however, my Lord,

he may hear it read again ; for he may hear it

thrice,

* Clar. Hift. Vol. III. p. 434, Keble.
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Keble. Come let him hear it again, he is a young
Man, let him have what Favour he may have:

mark it well, now you hear it again.

After reading, Mafter Gibbons fpake in this

manner

:

Gibbons. My Lord, I am brought hither by
an Order of this Court, which Order mentions a

Charge of Treafon exhibited againft me ; I mould
betray the Liberty I am born unto, if I fhould

not defire a Trial, according to the Fundamental

Laws of this Nation, which is by a Jury of my
Neighbourhood : the Benefits and Advantages are

exceeding great, therefore I do earneftly crave to

have them.

Keble. The State hath thought of another way
of Trial, which you mult have, and fubmit to ;

this is beft for your Advantage, and more honour-

able •, than any other you can have, therefore you

muft plead Guilty, or not Guilty.

Gibbons. My Lord, I mall never be fo prodi-

gal of my Blood, as to throw away my Life by

refufing a Trial before you, though I am not fa-

tisfied in this new way of Trial ; yet I fhall not re-

fufe to plead in Confidence ofmy own Innocency,

and in hope of your Tendernefs in Matters of

Blood. But before I plead, and anfwer to my
Charge, I have this humble Motion to make.

Here he fpake very much on the firft Day of

his Trial, moving very much for Counfel ; but

after he had ufed many Arguments to perfuade

the Court to incline to it, and could not have it,

he defired the Court to be the Counfel for him,

and take care of his Life, and not fufFer him by

his own Ignorance to weave a Web for his own
Ruin and Deftruclion. After much faid of this

nature, he pleaded Not Guilty : the which be-

ing entered in the Book, they proceeded to the

Trial.

Attorn. Gen. The Attorney-General began with

a long Speech, how Mafter Gibbons had plotted

and contrived thefe Treafons; named the Meet-

ings and the Places where he faid it began pre-

lently after -the late King's Death, under the

pretence of getting the King to Scotland; but

the Truth was, they intended to fettle him up-

on this Commonwealth. And further, That he

the faid John Gibbons, as a falfe Traitor, and out

of a malicious and wicked Purpofe and Defign

to raife Infurreclions in this Nation, did feveral

Days and Times in the Years 1648, 49, 50, and

5 i , and at divers other Times and Places within

this Commonwealth, together with Chriftopher

Love, Piercy, Jermin, Maffey, &c. and other

their Complices, being falfe Traitors to this

Commonwealth, traitoroufly, malicioufly corn-

plot, contrive and endeavour to raife Forces a-

gainfc this Commonwealth, fettled in way of a

Free State, without King or Houfe of Lords:

and for the fubverfion of the fame, did raife and

collecT: divers great Sums of Money, and did hold

Intelligence by Letters, Mefiages and Inftruc-

tions, with Charles Stuart, Son of the late King,

and with the Queen his Mother, and divers o-

ther Perfons, being falfe Traitors to this Com-
monwealth.

And further, .he die laid John Gibbons, toge-

ther with Chriftopher Love, William Drake, Pier-

cy, Jermin, &c. and other their Complices, fince

the Death of the late King, feveral Days and

Times in the Years aforefaid, within this Com-
monwealth of England, and elfewhere, did trai-

toroufly and malicioufly declare, publifti, and
promote Charles Stuart, Son of the late King,
commonly called the Prince of Wales, to be
King of England, meaning of this Common-
wealth.

_
And further to carry on the faid Defign, he the

faid John Gibbons feveral Days and Times in the
refpective Years aforefaid, together with Chrifto-
pher Love, William Drake, Piercy, &c. did endea-
vour to procure the Scots to invade this Common-
wealth of England.

And further, That he the faid John Gibbons ori

the 6th of April 1650, and on divers other Days
and Times between the 29th Day of March 1650,
and the firft Day of June 1651, at London, and
elfewhere, did give, ufe, and hold Correfpon-
dence with the faid Charles Stuart, Son of the late

King, and the Queen his Mother, Jermin, Pier-
cy, &c.
And further, to accomplifh the faid Defigns,

he the faid John Gibbons, on the 6th Day of A-
pril 16 c,i, at the Places afore-mentioned, did
hold and give Correfpondence and Intelligence

with divers Perfons of the Scotifh Nation, as Ar-
gyle, Lowdon, Lothian, &c. Enemies to this Com-
monwealth, and adhering to the King in the War
againft them.

And further, the faid John Gibbons did traito-

roufly and malicioufly abet, affift, countenance, and
encourage the Scotijh Nation, and divers other
Perfons adhering to them ; and did convey great
Sums of Money, Arms, and Ammunition mtoScou
land, and elfewhere. All which wicked Pra&ices
and Defigns of him the faid John Gibbons were
againft this Commonwealth, Parliament, and Peo-
ple ; and in manifeft Contempt of the Laws of this

Nation, and Afts of Parliament, in fuch Cafes
made and provided.

[After he had ended, the Witnefies were cal-

led : The firft was Major Adams; the fe-

cond Colonel Barton; the third was Cap-
tain Hat/ell ; the fourth Colonel Barnes ; the

fifth Major Alford ; the fixth Captain Far ;

the feventh was Mafter Jaquel; the eighth
was Major Huntington; the ninth Mafter
Harvey ; the tenth was Major Corbet. A-
dams being firft examined, his Teftimony
was to this effect.]

Adams'; Teftimony.

That the Correfpondency of John Gibbons with
the reft abovefaid, was to endeavour an Agree-
ment between the King and the Scots The firft

Meeting was at the Swan in Fijh-Street, where
Mafter Gibbons was. At that Place there was
only a Confideration how to carry on the Cor-
refpondency. There was alfo a Petition to be
fent to the King, (as I was informed ;) and the

Meeting in this Place was in reference to that

alfo. There was Letters written to Scotland,

and fome received thence ; which Mr. Gibbons

was privy to.

After Mafter Drake went away, we met at

Mafter Love's Houfe, where Mafter Gibbons met
alfo. There were Letters read ; and I think Ma-
fter Gibbons did hear them, and did confer about

them. The Letter fent to Jermin, Piercy, &c.
at one time or other Mafter Gibbons was prefent,

and heard them read. This was before Titus's

going away.

Then
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Then after there were Letters fent from the

Kino-, which were read at Mafter Love's, Houfe •,

where Mafter Gibbons was prefent, and heard

them read. Mafter Gibbons brought likewife a

rou<*h Draught of the Inftru&ions that were to

<?o to Holland.
°

Alfo there was a Letter read at Mr. Love's

from Alderman Bunce, where Mafter Gibbons

was prefent. Alfo a Letter after Dunbar Fight

from Scotland, relating how Affairs ftood there,

(and that Letter, as I remember, was for Arms

and Money) was read at Mafter Love's Houfe

;

where Mafter Gibbons was prefent at the reading

of it.

Mafter Gibbons was a conftant Man at all

Meetings.

A Letter was fent from Mafey, read at Ma-

fter Love's, for Arms and Money : Mafter Gib-

bons was prefent. And three or four hundred

Pounds agreed to be fent.

A Letter was written to the Eftates of Scot-

land, to procure Mafiey and the Englijh to be in

efteem.

Mafter Gibbons fometimes acquainted me where

we were to meet.

Lieutenant-Colonel BainesV Tefiimony.

A little while after the Daath of the late King,

there was a Meeting at the Swan at Dowgate,

where feveral Perlbns were : But whether Mr, Gib-

bons was there, I know not. But Captain Titus

was there, and gave a large Commendation of

the young Prince j and moved that a Petition

might be drawn up, and fent to the Prince from

the Presbyterian Party here. There was a De-

bate upon it •, and this Defign was looked upon

as the only vifible Way to preferve the Presby-

terian Party, and to bring the Prince to the

Crown.

Colonel BartonV Tefiimony.

A while after the Death of the late King I was

going into Cannon-Street, and at Dowgate I met

with William Drake, who defired me to meet

him at the Swan at Dowgate. When I came

there, I found Captain Titus, Lieutenant-Colo-

nel Baines, and divers other Perfons : I believe

Mr. Gibbons was not there. I came in while

they were in difeourfe, and I could not well

hear them. But at their riling, I asked Mr. Drake

what was the Occafion of their Meeting ; and he

told me that Captain Titus had given a good Re-

port of the Prince, and did defire that fomc

AddrclTes might be made to him, that thereby

he might be taken off from his Cavaliering

Counfellors.

After a while William Drake came to me for

lol. which he faid was to furnifh a Friend of

his which did want ioo/. He defired I would

not deny him ; and becaufe he was a good Cu-

ftomer to my Houfe, I did lend it him. And
after I heard it was for Captain Titus. As for

the Prifoner, I think he was not at the Swan

at Dowgate ; for I did not know him till after-

wards.

Major Alford's Tefiimony.

At the Meeting at the Swan at Dowgate, where

divers were, Captain Titus made a large Narra-

tion of the Prince's Deportment, declaring how
inclinable he was to caft off his Cavaliering Ad-
herents, if he were but allured there was a Peo-
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pie in England that ftuck to their Covenant •, he

was weary of his other Counfels, and was

ready to apply himfelf to the Ends of the Cove-
nant.

A Petition was brought to the Bear in Bread-

fireet, where it was read, and debated among
us, and agreed to be drawn up ; and Captain

Titus and Drake were fent away with it.

I do not remember that Mafter Gibbons was at

either of thefe Meetings.

There was Money raifed for Titus : Drake had

10 /. of me ; he had it in private. Captain Titus

had 30 /. for his Journey. He went over twice,

I think ; and if lo, the fecond time Mafter Gib-

bons was there. The fecond time I law Mafter

Gibbons, he brought me to his Chamber ; and
the third time he and I went with fome Papers

to Grave/end, agreed on at Mafter Love's. Thefe
Papers were either a Commifiion, or Inftruclions,

or both together in one. But this was the Sub-

ftance, That the Lord Wilhugkby, and others*

fhould go to the Treaty at Breda, and to prefs

the King concerning this Agreement with Scot-

land.

Mafter Gibbons was at Mafter Love's Houfe
when the CommifTion and Inftructions were a-

greed upon. He and I went to Grave/end j and

(I think) he carried the Papers. But of this I

am fure, That he knew the end of our going.

We tarried there all Night ; and delivered the

Papers to Mr. Ma/on:

I did go to Calais when I came back ; but I

do not know whether the Papers that I brought

over (being read at Mafter Love's Houfe) were

read all at one time, or not : If they were, then

Mailer Gibbons was there.

I was prefent when the Letters came, after

Dunbar Fight, at Mr. Love's. The Letters

came from Colonel Mafjey : They gave an Ac-
count of the Fight there, and of the State of
Affairs j and withal, writ for Money aiid Arms,
to be fent by way of Holland. I cannot fay Mr.
Gibbons was prefent. There was Money agreed

upon there to be raifed for Majjey and Ti-

tus. Mr. Gibbons was many times at the Swan
at Dowgate ; he Was conftant at the Club. But

after Mr. Drake fled, we did take in other Men
into the Club : Mr. Gibbons was as little abfent

as any Man.
Mr. Gibbons did put me upon it* to Ihew

Friendfhip to Mr. Ma/on ; and he gave me this

Reafon, That fo Mr. Ma/on might reprefent our

good Affeclions to the King : And Mr. Gibboits

did defire me to defray the Charges of that

Night's Expences at Grave/end ; where Mr. Ma-
fon was telling me, That if I were not allowed it

by our Friends, he would do it*

Mafter Harvey's Tefiimony.

I came to the Knowledge of this Defign at

feveral Meetings and Places. Mr, Gibbons told

me of 2000 /. which' was to be fent into Scot-

land; and that Majjey Was to land Forces in the

Weft : And concerning my Lord General's Sol-

diers, that many of them were run away : And
concerning the Trained Bands of the North, he

faid they waited but for one Blow to b^ glveri

in Scotland. He told me alfo of a Town that

was to be delivered.

Major Huntington's Tefiimony.

The firft that made me acquainted with this

Defign was Mr. Gibbons -, who told me, That
B b if

-
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if I would come to Mr. Love's Houfe, I fhould

hear the News. I went to Mr. Love's : And

when I came there, that which I heard was a

Paper fent from Majfey, Graves, and Titus,

brought by Drake, and read by him. Mr. Gib-

bons was there then : There was many more there

in Mr. Love's Clofet ; but I cannot fay well who

they were.

[The Teftimonies of the reft of the Wit-

neffes could not be well heard •, neither can

they be had, the Books being fo clofe kept.]

[After all was ended, Mr. Keble defired Ma-
iler Gibbons to fpeak for himfelf.]

Gibbons. My Lord, I have now flood here

near five Hours, and am both fpent in my Body

and Spirit ; and that I am as unable in Body to

fpeak for myfelf, as I am difabled to make my
Defence without the Court grant me Time, a

Copy of my Charge, the Depofitions of the

Witnefies, and aflign me Counfel. And there-

fore, before I plead or anfwer to my Charge, I

have this humble Motion to make, (I being a

Man altogether ignorant and unacquainted with

the Laws) That this Court would be pleafed, as

I faid before, to aflign me Counfel to advife me in

my Chamber, and to plead for me in the Court

;

and that your Lordfhip and this Court would

be pleafed to give me a Copy of my Charge,

and to afiign me a Solicitor, to folicit my Bufi-

nefs for me.

Keble. Mr. Gibbons, you mufl proceed to make
fome general Defence for the prefent.

Gibbons. My Lord, I hope you will do as God
ufe to do, allow fome grains of Allowance, that

a Man that hath nothing but Weaknefs and Ig-

norance may help himfelf.

Upon this Motion the Court adjourn'd, and

Mr. Gibbons was taken away by the Keeper of

Newgate ; and thereafter came a Warrant to

bring him to the Bar the Wednefday following.

In the mean time there were feveral Friends

that went to mediate and fpeak for him to the

Judge, who did lay out his Simplicity and In-

nocency, labouring what they could for the

faving of his Life. The Judge anfwered, That

he was not fo fimple as he was fet out by them ;

and that he doubted not but he was a Servant to

greater Perfons, who had employed him : But if

he would be ingenuous, and difcover the Par-

ties that were in that Defign, he would labour

to fave his Life, and do him good ; but if he

would not confefs, he could not help him. Yet

flill they interceded for him, until at laft the

Judge told one of them, That verily he was

perfuaded that he was innocent : But neverthe-

Jefs, if he did not reveal all thofe whom he knew
to have any Knowledge of the Bufinefs befides

himfelf, nothing could be expected but Death.

He was extremely defirous to have a Difcovery

of fome Perfons of Quality: But Mr. Gibbons

conflantly affirmed he knew of none ; neither

would he accufe any ; for he had rather die than

be a means to fcandal or hazard any good Man.
This he conflantly affirmed with an undaunted

Refolution to the laft.

Wednefday, the fecond Day's Trial, July 23.

After Gibbons being brought before the

Court, my Lord Keble fpakc as followeth .*M

Keble. M after Gibbons, the Court out of abun-

dance of Favour to you, have given you time

from Friday till now, whereby you may be able

to make your Defence ; Therefore it is now ex-

petted you fhould proceed, and plead what you

have to fay.

Gibbons. My Lord, the laft time I was before

this honourable Court, after I had defired a Jury*
'•

and was denied it, I did, in Confidence of my
own Innocency, and your Tendernefs in Mat-

ters of Blood, fubmit to a Trial, tho' I was no

way fatisfied in this new Way of Trial : But be-

fore I could plead, 1 made this humble Motion,'

perceiving the Charge againft me for High Trea-

son, was againft ieveral Statutes, Laws, and

Acts of Parliament, which I never faw, heard,

or read them in my Life.

My Life and Eftate being thus drawn into

queflion, my Lord, it did very much concern

me to be well advifed, there being many Things

in the Statutes which made for my Advantage,

both in my Plea and Defence : Therefore I did

humbly befeech your Lordfhip and this High
Court that I might have Counfel in Law affigned

me, both to advife me in my Chamber, and
plead for me in this Court, that fo I might be

able to take all thofe lawful Advantages which

the Statutes and Atts of Parliament afford me ;

which I was not able to do myfelf, being igno-

rant of the Laws. This being denied, and I

feeing I could no way obtain Counfel to pre-

ferve my Life, as I did fee the State had got

great Counfel againft me, to profecute me for

my Life ; I did humbly befeech your Lordfhip,

and this High Court, that you would be fo far

of Counfel for me, a poor Prifoner ftanding at

the Bar, drawn in queltion before the Juflice for

my Life, that you would not let the learned

Counfel of this Commonwealth take any advan-

tage againft me, through my Ignorance or want of

Skill in the Laws ; but that if the Statutes and
Atts of Parliament, and Laws of the Land, did

afford me any Advantage, which I might over-

flip through my Ignorance, that your Lordfhip

and the Court, out of your Bowels of Compaf-
fion to a poor Prifoner, would fland for me, that'

I might not have any Wrong done, nor Law
denied me, which by right was due unto me.
Upon thefe Confiderations, my Lord, I did

plead Not Guilty. I do humbly thank your

Lordfhip and the Court for the Time you have

given me ; but am as unable to anfwer or fpeak

for my felf now, as I was the laft time I took my
leave of this Court, being wholly unfurnifhed,

and altogether difinabled to make my Defence

:

For when I came back to my Prifon at Newgate,

with an Expettation of meeting both the Copy
of my Charge, and the Depofition of the Wit-
nefies, I found all was taken away from my No-
tary, whom I brought on purpofe to this Place

to help me therein. Seeing my felf thus totally

deprived and cut off from all Helps and Hopes
of making my Defence, I could not tell whither

to go or fend, but to your Lordfhip, whom I

thought, upon my humble Petition, might have
granted both a Copy of my Charge, and the

Depofitions of the Witnefies: But feeing that

could not be granted, I am left without all Pof-

fibilities of pleading, or making any Defence.

Therefore I do now again, with all Humility,
addrefs myfelf to your Lordfhip and this hc%-

nourable Court, and do molt earneftly defire a

Copy
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Copy of the Charge, alio the Depofitions of

Witneffes, and Counfel affigned me to come to

my Chamber, to advife me there -,
alfo Counfel

to plead for me before this Court, and a Solici-

tor affigned me, to follow my Bufinefs. And if

God fhall not incline your Hearts to fhew this

Mercy, I do not look upon myfelf as able to

make my Defence, as to ltand before a Company

of armed Men.
Keble. The Court will be very tender of your

Biood •, and they muft and will be as tender to

preferve the Blood of the Commonwealth, in

execution of Juftice upon Traitors, that feek to

deftroy them. You have had a great deal of Fa-

vour, and Time given you ; therefore now you

muft make your Defence.

Gibbons. My Lord, if ever Prifoner that came

before this Court had reafon to cry and call for all

poffible Helps and Advantages that may be al-

lowed them, much more have I caufe to do the

fame ; verily believing never until now there was

ever any brought before Juftice fo unable to help

or anfwer for himfelf, as I am. Therefore I

humbly befeech your Lordfhip, and this High

Court ; and I do withal earneftly defire Counfel,

a Copy of my Charge, the Depofitions of the

Witneffes, without which I am never able to

plead, or make any Defence for my Life : And
the rather am I invited to crave and defire the

fame, for that I have both heard and feen Prece-

dents before mine Eyes of this nature. Major

Rolfe, that was accufed for High Treafon, had

Counfel affigned him; by whole Affiftance he

faved his Life. Sir John Gell, before this Court

of Juftice, had his Brother, Mafter Getty to

fpeak for him. And fince, Mr. Love had Coun-

fel to plead for him in this very Place.

Keble. Mr. Gibbons, you will not be denied

Counfel, or any thing elfe, that may help you,

if there be found Matter of Law. Go on, and

make your Defence ; and make it appear to the

Court that there is Matter of Law, and you

fhall not be denied Counfel, and whatever elfe

may do you good.

Gibbons. My Lord, had I the feveral Advan-
tages the others have had, to offer fuch Matters

of Law, I fhould be as ready as any elfe to do

it : But being deprived of all thefe Helps by the

Officers of the Court, who took away the Book
from my Notary, after he had written the

Charge ; therefore, my Lord, without a Copy
of the Charge, and the Depofitions of the Wit-
neffes, it will be in vain for me to trouble this

! honourable Court, when I never had fight of

i the Charge, nor Depofitions of the Witneffes -,

the want -of which have fo difinabled me, (fee-

I

ing I could not have Help of Counfel to advife

me) that I cannot tell what in the world to fay

my felf.

Keble. Mr. Gibbons, you muft proceed to plead,

or elfe you will incenfe the Court more than you

are aware of: For you to ftand out thus, and

1 plead for that which cannot be granted, will do
you no good ; therefore I advife you no longer

to ftand out, but make your Defenee.

Gibbons. My Lord, if I fhould begin to pro-

ceed, and make my Defence, being (as 1 faid al-

readyj totally ignorant in all the Laws, and utterly

unable both in Memory and Parts to take all

juft and clear Objections againft the Advantages
of the Charge and Evidences ; if I fhould make
my Defence when all Means are thus taken a-
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way, I fhould certainly throw away my own
Life, and become guilty of fhedding my own
Blood : Therefore I had rather, a hundred times,

leave myfelf to the Mercy and Juftice of the

Court, who, I hope, are very fenfible how much
the Life of a Man is worth ; and withal con-

fider the hard Meafure I had in taking away the

Books of thole that wrote for me, that fo I

could never have fight of the Charge, nor Depo-
fitions of the Witneffes, which all others have

had, nor no Counfel to advife me. Thus being

left naked and deftitute of all Helps, I had ra-

ther fubmit to the Mercy of the Court, than

ever plead to lave my Life. My Lord, I am
perfuaded I ftand to bejudg'd by a Court, where

1 fee the Faces of thofe that truly fear God ; and
that they will ferioufly weigh and confider that the

Blood of any for whom Chrift hath died, is ex-

ceeding precious in the fight of God, who will

not take any Advantage againft any for their Ig-

norance ; and that you alfo do remember that all

your Judgments will be judged over again at the

Tribunal of Chrift, who will both be a Counfel

and Advocate for me, Prifoner now ftanding

at the Bar. Thus hoping that you will reckon

the Life and Blood of the meaneft Perlbn, for

whom Chrift hath died, as much worth as the

Life of the greateft, I will rather fubmk to your
Mercy than plead, if I cannot have what I do
defire. But being very unwilling to have any
hand to deftroy myfelf, and fo become guilty of
my own Death, therefore though for want of
Help I be not able to make my Defence, yet I

fhall make an Appeal to the Court ; which is all

1 can do. And therefore I defire you ferioufly to
"

weigh and confider how far fhort the Evidences

come, and how full of Contrarieties and Con-
tradictions. By the Law there ought to be two
lawful and fufficient Witneffes to make a Man
guilty of Treafon : Thefe Witneffes muft agree

punctually in their Teftimony, and the Treafon

they prove muft be againft the exprefs Words of
the Act. Alfo the Law will not iuffer thofe that

are guilty and convict of the fame Crime by
their Confeffions, whereof they accufe me, to

give Evidence againft me : Thefe Witneffes there-

fore cannot be lawful and fufficient againft me,
they having confeffed thus much againft them-
felves, and lb do either witnefs againft me out of
fear of Death, or promife of Reward. This I

am certainly inform'd will be proved againft Ma-
jor Adams, and was declared in the Face of the

Court at Mr. Love's Trial, concerning the Te-
ftimony of Major Adams, which is the molt
material Witnefs againft me. I hope your Lord-
fhip and the Court will look upon it, as not only

he hath been offered, received, and taken Mo-
ney to difcover the Defign, and witnefs againft

me ; but alfo in regard to whatfoever he fwears,

as that I fhould bring in the rough Draught of

I nil; ructions to Mr. Love's: And as to my Pre-

fence at the Swan at feveral Meetings, was both

contradicted, and pofitively fworn againft by leve-

ral other of the Witneffes. None but he dcth

fay that [ was prefent at the reading of any Let-

ters of the Fight at Dunbar : Nor none but A-
dams faith I was prefent at Mr. Love's Houfe,

when any Moneys was debated : Nor none but

Adams fiith I was a conftant Man at Meetings ;

that ever 1 invited any to a Meeting. I hope your

Lordfhip and the Court will confider, that though

there are ten Witneffes produced againft me, bc-

B b 2 fides
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fides feveral Queftions asked Captain Potter at the

Bar concerning me, yet many of them neither

faid nor fwore any thing that touched me at all ,

and of thofe that do reach me in their Teftimony,

not any two did agree in proving the fame Fact.

As concerning the particular Teftimony of Mr.

Harvey, unto which no one Witnefs but himfelf

either faid or fwore the lead Tittle of it to be

true ; being ftruck with Wonder, and amazed

to hear thefe Things given in againft me, which

my Heart never thought, nor my Tongue never

fpake ; I do both before your Lordfhip and this

High-Court, and Prefence of all the People, lay

it before the righteous God to plead my Caufe,

and judge between me, a Prifoner at the Bar,

and Mr. Harvey, that falfly accufed me. I did

further defire, that this Appeal might be fet

upon record, and meet me before the Tribunal-

Seat of Chrift, and that both your Lordfhip, and

them that fit in this honourable Court, might

follow this my Appeal to the Judgment-Seat,

and there witnefs it before the Prefence of the

Lord againft me when I am pleading for Mercy,

if ever I fpake or heard of thefe Things which

he hath accufed me of. My Lord, I fhall go

further, and did offer unto the Court, That if in

all England they could find a Man that would fay

any of thefe Things Mr. Harvey accufed me of,

then I faid more particularly, if any whom I had

moft frequently convers'd withal, or any of thofe

that kept me Company, would fay they ever

heard me fay any of thefe Words, the next Time
I came before this honourable Court, I would

come and plead guilty. And I do new fay, if it

pleale your Lordfhip and the Court to give me
Time, I fhall be able to produce Witneffe, I

fhall make it appear Mr. Harvey is as unfit to

be a Witnefs in any Court of Record, as he was

unfit to be a Juftice of Peace in Ejfex, where he

was indicted for many and notorious Offences.

If I might have Time, I fhould produce Wit-

nefles that Mr. Harvey was the original Reporter

of fome of thofe Things he accufed me of. And
concerning Major Corbet's Teftimony, I know
little in it, but that I fhall call God to witnefs

I knew not Mafon. I did then in the Face of

the Court declare how much he had wronged me j

for that I had acquainted the Committee who
examined me, that I both knew Mafon, and told

them the Place, and how I came to know him.

Befides, there is a Copy of my Examination a-

broad that doth confirm the fame, That Corbet

came to me more like a Murderer than a Chri-

flian ; and becaufe I did call God to witnefs a-

gainft thefe Untruths he charged me withal, he

did in effect judge my Soul to the Devil, and

my Body to the Gallows, and fo he left me. For

which unchriftian Carriage of his, I both com-

plained to Mr. Price, Clerk to the Warden in

the Fleet, my Keeper, and fome others. My
Lord, I am charged with being a Sollicitor,

and reprefented as a Man that had nothing elfe

to do but follow fuch BufinefTes as here I am
accufed of^ which is a Life fo unlike an

Englijhman, and fo ill beooming a Chriftian, that

I have all the Days of my Life walked a con-

trary Courfe : If it were necefTary, Multitudes

of WitnefTes will teftify the fame for me. I

was entertained by my Mafter to wait upon

him in his Chamber : After he was gone to the

Houfe, 1 had conftant Occafions to go into the

City, either to Jay out, pay, or receive Money.

So much Experience had I gained, as I entred

upon a Merchant's Trade, dealt with many and
feveral merchantable Commodities ; having a
Wife and Children then living, that was the

Trade I refolved to follow. My Wife dying, I

went over to France fome little Time after with
my Mafter, and carried many merchantable

Commodities with me, where I found Liberty

to increafe my Experience. My Mafter return-

ing to England, where he ftaid not a Year, bun
went back again into France, I was left behind
to wait upon my Lady. My Employment in my
Lady's Service is fufflciently known to be fuch

as daily led me to go into the City. The 19th
of July 1 650, my Lady went from the City

;

there was a Neceffity one Man fhe muft leave

behind in London, which fell to my Portion.

And my Bufinefs called me daily into the City j

fometimes to go to Counfel, fometimes to fhew
Bills of Exchange, fometimes to pay Moneys,
fometimes to lay out Money, and buy feveral

Things which both my Mafter and Lady did
daily fend for to me : There was fome Letters

that came conftantly every Week from my Lady,
fome out of France, to one Mr. Charboner's,

whofe Houfe was in Tower-Street. I miffing

thefe Letters often on the Monday, went on the

Tuefday for them, which was the Day we met
at the Club, which was the main reafon of my
being fo conftantly there. Where I met for no
other end riian to fee the Faces of my Friends,

and to difcourfe of the News of the Town.
Moft of whatever I heard there difcourfed on,

I found in the printed *' Books : Nothing do I

know was ever laid or done there prejudicial to

the State. But fince it is looked upon as a
Crime, I would I had never come there. Con-
cerning my Mafter, were it necefTary, I would
here make a Declaration that he never left me
to do any Bufinefs but to wait upon his Lady,
and to provide, buy, and fend thofe Things into

France that were necefTary for him. For Letters,

I never received any from him, but fuch as

might have looked all the World in the Face

:

Neither, think I, I need fay much to clear this,

for that the State have feen moft of thofe Let-
ters that my Mafter fent, before they ever came
to my Hands. My Lords, this is all I can fay,

'

being unwilling to trouble the Court any lon-

ger ; but muft declare how much I am amazed
to be indicted by fb high a Charge of Treafbn,

as I dare fay never looked any fuch Man as I am,
in my Condition, in the Face till now ; and do
fully perfuade myfelf that your Lordfhip will ra-

ther pity my Ignorance and fad Condition, than

look upon me as a Man either fit for Plots, or

any fuch Matter I am charged with. I do pro-

teft, that if I would make a Declaration of every

Act I have done, of every Word I have faid, of
every Line I have written, I never knew it

came up to the Border of Treafon, whatever is

laid to my Charge. And whereas Major Adams
charges me of being at feveral Meetings prefent-

ly after the late King's Death, I did not fee them
in nine Months after the Death of the King

:

And after that, I came acquainted with Alford, and
all that he lays to my charge, is going down to

Grave/end, but he did not fay whether he or I

carried the Commiffions or Letters he fpeaks of.

It is hard for me to remember what the Difcourfe

was a year and half fince, but I dare fay he doth

moft falfly charge me that I fhould bid him fhew

Kindnefs
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Kindnefs to Mafon, that lo he might reprefent

the Presbyterian Party confiderable to the King

;

and that I fhould bid him disburfe fome Money,

and pay all the Charges, and if it was not paid

him by the Company again, I would ; this, to

the beft of my remembrance, is all falfe. Capt.

Par (who is another of the Witneffes, who

went along with me, and Alford) did declare

it in the face of the Court, that he knew no fuch

thing, and that Major Alford was the Man that

invited him to Grave/end ; and fo I do proteft

he did me, or elfe I had never gone.

For Letters, I do not remember that ever I

touched any ; nor did Major Alford in the leaft

fwear pofitively I did ; only he faith, either he

or I did deliver them. Alford doth not fwear

that ever I wrote, that ever I faw them open'd,

or ever heard them read. All this, my Lord,

was done above a Year and a half ago ; and I

hope if there fhall be any thing found done amifs

in that Journey, the A£ts will clear me; for that

it is faid, If a Man be not indicated within a

Year, he is not to be arraigned or queftioned.

All that Major Huntington lays, is, He faw me

at Mafter Love's when the Inftruclions were

read, but whether I heard them, he could not

fwear; but he faw me go out of one Room

into another : And fince he fays, I met him in

'.he ftreet, and asked him if he would not go to

Mr. Love*s to hear News ; and when we came

there, after Prayer half an hour, Will. Drake

pulled a Letter out of his pocket, neither fwore

he what it was, nor that I heard it read. My
Lord, upon the whole, I do fay, among all the

ten Witneffes, there is not one that doth fay or

fwear that ever I wrote Letter, fent Letter, or

received Letter ; that ever I collected Money,

paid Money, or received Money ; or that ever

I difcourfed any thing prejudicial to the State;

not any one Witnefs doth lay any one thing to

my Charge done for more than this Year and

half, befides Major Adams : and all that ever he

fwears, is, being prefent at Letters read ; he

neither fays I heard them, or ever difcourfed any

thing concerning them. So, my Lord, except

it be one fingle Witnefs, there is nothing laid

to my charge done this Year and a half: ib, my
Lord, the utmoft that the whole Proof againft

me doth amount unto, is but hearing of Letters

read at the fecond hand ; and all this but in the

utmoft were but Mifpriiion of Treafon, if fully

proved-, but being but one fingle Witnefs to

fwear this, I cannot imagine it will ever hurt

me. For Potter, Jaquel, Far, or Alford, (who

knew as much by me as Adams) did not fay any

fuch thing ; and all that Adams did fay, is but

hearing of Letters, he doth not fay that ever I

fent Means to the King : tho' I never did this,

yet I have weakned my felf, and opened my
Purfe to help the State. About the time the

King and Scots were agreed, I furnifhed my Bro-

ther with a confiderable Sum of Money, and

fent him into Ireland to do the State Service,

I where he gained a Command under my Lord,

i
and did very good Service for the State. My
Lord, had I ever fuch a mind to the War in

Scotland, I could have fent my Brother thither,

J

and not into Ireland. Thus, my Lord, I have

;

gone as far as I can, in making my Appeal to

: the Court ; being utterly unable to make any

,
Defence, I do hope there will be no advantage

1 taken by my Ignorance, but you will be pkaled

to take my Condition into your Consideration*

and yet grant me both Time and Counfel, and
give me a Copy of my Charge, and the Depo-
fitions of the Witneffes, which is no more Fa-
vour than was allowed to the Archbifhop of
Canterbury, and Deputy of Ireland, 1 crave leave

of your Lordihip and the Court, that I may
not fuffer for want of Experience, nor that my
Ignorance may be made uie of to work my Ruin
and Deftruciion. From my Youth I have ftu-

died the Scripture, bt never have ftudied the
Laws in my Life •, and therefore all that I have
to help my felf with, is from the Scripture,

where I find that Ignorance hath conftantly the

Plea at the Bar of Heaven, and fo I am certain

fhould have at the Bars of all the Courts of
Juftice. Abimelech that committed a very great

Sin in taking another Man's Wife from him, he
pleaded his Integrity, and God did fpare him,
becaufe he knew it not. God hath always been
wonderful tender of the Life of a Man, and
that in the time of the moft ftricteft Laws \ fo

much care did he take to preferve the Life of
Man, that he provided Cities of Refuge to fly

unto, if any killed a Man by accident, or un-

awares. Murder is a great crying Sin, yet were
it doue unawares, God made a City of Refuge
to fly unto, that the Man might be fafe, and
out of Danger of the Revenger. My Lord,
whatfoever I have done amifs, I do profefs it is

out of Ignorance ; I never knew I broke any
of the Acls of Parliament, nor that I offended

the Laws of England: and therefore I hope my
Ignorance fhall have the Plea at your Bar, as I

am fure it fhall have at the Bar of God. I have
often heard that the Law of England is the

Law of Mercy, and that there is no Law in the

world looks with more Tendernefs and Com-
panion upon a Man's Life; therefore I fay as

David concerning the Sword of Goliah, There is

none like that, give it me. The fame I do fay this

day, no Law is like to our Englifh Laws, there-

fore let me enjoy thern : I know the Benefits

and Advantages thereby is wonderful great. I

do verily believe I am before a Court that are

fully perfuaded that the ftricl beholding Eye of
God looks upon them, and beholds all your In-

tentions, and the Thoughts of your Heart to-

wards me, and fees whether you do deny me any
Help or Advantage that may fave my Life.

Therefore I earneftly befeech your Lordihip,

and this Honourable Court, to look upon the

Laws of England, and fee whether there be not
fome Helps, fome City of Refuge to fly unto,

where I may be out of danger of all that I am
here charged with. My Lord, this is the firft

time that ever I was brought upon a Stage, the

firft time that ever my Name was heard of, or I

known to be an Offender againft the State : And
whatfoever fhall now be found in me amifs, I

defire there may be a favourable Conftruclion

made of it, and not to be ftrained beyond what
my Intention was, who have always abhorred

from my very Soul all Defigns that have tended

to Blood. I have always flood firm to the

Caufe of Liberty and Religion, and all the In-

terests thereof: thefe are the Principles I firft

took up, thefe are the Principles I have always

held ; from which Principles I never yet depart

ted. I have always had a bleeding Heart when
the Church hath been in a fuffering Condition \

I have never been of a bitter Spirit, but have

always



48. The Trial of John Gibbons190
always carried a moft. Tender and Chriftian Re-

fpeft towards thofe that were of an unblamable

Life and Converfation : And where I thought

there was Truth of Grace, however contrary

to me in Judgment, yet I have loved them, and

embraced them as Chriftians. I have always

lived peaceably, never no Difturber of the

Church or State, either by writing, or printing

Books, or any thing elfe. May it pleafe your

Lordfhip, it is my Defire you mould do as God
did, when the Cry of Sodom came up before

him ; 1 will go down, faith he, and fee whether

they have done altogether according to the Cry which

is come up to me \ if not, I will know : The Lord
that knows all things, knew before what Sodom

had done ; but after the manner of Men he

came down, to teach all Courts of what they

mould do before they proceed to Judgment.

My Lord, here hath been a great Charge againft

me, a great Cry come up unto your Ears ; I de-

fire you to do as God did, that is, to know
whether it be according to the Cry, that you

would ferioufly weigh all that the WitnefTes

have faid, gather all the Circumftances together,

and fee the utmoft that it doth amount unto ;

and then I am fure you will fee the Evidences to

come fo infinite fhort of what the Charge and
Cry hath been againft me, that you will find

Arguments to incline to Mercy : and if I might
not be quitted, yet at lead you will let me have

thofe Helps and Advantages that the Laws afford

me, and God hath commanded you to give me ;

that you will not keep any thing from me, that

I, according to Juftice, have demanded, and for

the want of which fee me deftroyed before your

faces. Therefore I do once more with all

earneftnefs defire you will not deny me a Copy
of my Charge, alio the Depofitions of the Wit-
neiTes, and affign me Counfel to come to my
Chamber, and plead for me at the Bar, without

which you take from me all thofe Helps that

fhould enable me to make my Defence ; with-

out which it is impoffible for me to go any fur-

ther, and mull declare that I want all the ma-

terial things that ihould help me to fave my
Life, when I fee before my Eyes all poffible

Advantages to undo me. My Lord, I am able to

fay no more ; if this my juft Requeft iliall be

denied, I have gone as far as I can without

them, both to clear my Innocency, and vindi-

cate my felf from that which is laid to my
charge •, and am moft confident, if you would

Jet me have what you cannot juftly deny me, a

Copy of my Charge, and the Depofitions of the

"WitneiTes, I ihould ftand as clear in the eyes of

the Law, in the eyes of your Lordfhip, and all

this Court, as I am clear in the eyes of God,

and my own Confcience, from what is unjuftly

charged upon me. And thus much I have done,

and am able to do no more ; therefore if you do

deny me, I ihall be abundantly fatisfied, hov/fo-

ever it ihall pleafe God to fuffer you to deal with

me. Concerning the WitneiTes, I have little

further to fay, but defire that the Lord would

forgive them, as I do freely ; I would not change

Conditions with them, tho' I were fure to die

in Fire flaming, or in the Mouth of Lions, even

in the worit Condition that could be imagined.

I both pity and defire to mourn for them, who
have fo defperately wounded their own Souls

and Confciences to dtftroy my Life. And the

Lord grant, that not one Drop of my Blood,

which they have endeavoured to fhed, nlay
Hand betwixt them and Mercy, when they are

upon their dying Beds a crying for it. And this

is the worft hurt I v/iih them for all the wrono-
they have done me. Now the Lord of Heaven
direct your Lordfhip, and this honourable Court,
that you may not fuffer the WitneiTes Teftimo-
nies to be ftrained, for me to lofe my Life upon
Circumftances, or what is fuppofed to be, or in
Confcience thought, but according to clear

Proof and Evidence. Do that which may give
you Comfort upon a dying Bed, and no more
than you dare look God in the face withal, and
anfwer to me his poor Servant, who am inno-
cent, at the Bar of the Lord Jefus Chrift, where
I ihall have free liberty to fpeak, and you malt
and ihall hear me. The Lord of Heaven direcl:

you, that you do no more than what the Law
will allow ; and that what you do, may be ac-
cording to the Mind of God, and moft for his

Glory, and the Good of me a helplefs Prifoner
at the Bar. And fo let it go which way it will,

I ihall fubmit with abundance of Content and
Satisfaction, and with a quiet Spirit fay, The
Will of the Lord be done.

Thus having ended his Speech, the Court ad-
journed until Friday next ; and fo Mr. Gibbons
was carried back by his Keeper, and ordered to
be brought before them again on Friday after.

Friday, about Twelve o' clock, Mr. Gibbons
was brought to the Bar.

Keble.GOME, Mr. Gibbons, what have yon
to fay ?

Gibbons. My Lord, I have not much to fay,

being totally difenabled, and cut off" from thofe
Means that might help me to fave my Life ;

which the laft time I was here, I fully declared
and as earneftly defired both a Copy of my
Charge, and the Depofitions of the WitneiTes,

and Counfel affigned me : this I pleaded for,

until your Lordfhip told me the Court would be
incenfed, if I did not proceed to my Defence.
Which made me dare to go no further, but
rather choofe to fubmit to the Mercy of the

Court, and make an Appeal to their Juftice;

where I defired that you would ferioufly weio-h

and confider how wonderful fhort the whole
Evidences come ; there was not any two agree-

ing: Adams, the material Witneis, moft what
he faid, was difapproved by the other feveral Wit-
neiTes that came after. I hope the Court is very
fenfible how little is laid to my charge by Major
Adams, after fo great an Inquifition, as he daily

fct upon me, inviting of me to his Houfe in the

City, to his Houfe in the Country, going from
one Shop to another, where he thought I did

come; to Aldermanbury Church, and ail other

places where he did hope to find me: after all

this fifting, and trying, what was it he got out?

nothing but the hearing of Letters read, which
none but himfelf fwears. My Lord, all that I

have to fay, is to defire both your Lordfhip,

and this Court, to confider with what great Ag-
gravation the Attorney-General did multiply,

and aggravate againft me beyond all that ever

the WitneiTes faid, leaving out all what might
ferve for my Advantage. My Lord, how the

Attorney-General could bring Major Afford and

Major Adams together, and fo make them double

WitneiTes
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Witneffes againfl me, that is not poffible for me
or any Man elfe to understand. Firft, what

Adams fays, is concerning of my bringing in of

the rough Draught of Inrtruclions, which I

wholly deny, and fo do all the WitneiTes that

came after him, to the beft of my remembrance

:

and fome of them fvvear pofitively that Drake

brought it in ; none but himfelf fays that I

brought it in. To teflify unto this, Major Al-

ford fays nothing : but all that he fays, is, That

I went down to Grave/end with him, and did

not fay or fwear that I either carried the In-

structions, or delivered them, or that ever I

heard them read : all that he can fay, is, that I

went with them, but whether he or I delivered

them, that he cannot tell. He fpeaks of fome

Difcourfe concerning (hewing of Kindnefs to

Mafon ; it being a Year and half ago, I am not

able to charge myfelf with what I faid then, but

dare fay he hath falfly accufed me. What Major

Alford fays more, is only that I mould bring

them to Mafon*% Chamber in the Strand, deli-

vered not, nor fays that we had any Difcourfe at

all, but took our leaves, and came away pre-

fently. Another time, faid Alford, I brought

Mafon to 'Titus to Mr. lVhitarr\ a Bookfeller's,

and that Mafon and Titus went up to the Cham-

ber, where they had private Difcourfe together :

he did not fay, that I went up to the Chamber,

or heard, or knew any thing what their Dif-

courfe was. Now, my Lord, I hope by this

time both your Lordfhip and the Court are fatif-

fied what (lender Testimony there is againfl me.

Firft, my Lord, I was never heard of till I came

to Gravcfend with Major Alford ; only fomething

that Major Adams faith of me, meeting at the

Swan, which all the other Witneffes do acquit

and clear me from. Now, my Lord, to what

Major Alford faith, is nothing but giving a Vifit

to Titus and Mafon, which I hope will never

be thought any Crime ; for that neither of them

both were declared Enemies to the State, and

therefore certainly it could be no hurt for me to

fee them. And befides, whatever Major Alford

charges me withal, is a Year and half fince,

therefore am acquitted by your own Acts. So

that it cannot enter into my Thoughts, by what

Act of Parliament or Law you can pafs any Sen-

tence againfl me : for all that ever is laid to my
charge done within this Year, is nothing but hear-

ing of Letters read : which not any one but

Major Adams fays, and he neither faith what

thefe Letters were, and that I ever difcourfed, or

faid any thing concerning them. Thus, my
Lord, you fee there is but one fingle Witnefs

throughout. My Lord, I waited upon a Gentle-

man that led me to two or three Meetings, by

which means I gained a nearer Acquaintance,

which now proves part of my Unhappinefs,

feeing it is become a Crime to meet Friends at

the Club, and other Places, and hear Letters,

and other News read, which is all that I am
charged with. My Lord, I hope I am before

a Court that doth confider, that all thofe Days

Works will be judged over again •, therefore I

cannot imagine that any Court of Juftice in the

world will proceed to Sentence upon fo (lender

a Teitimony that lies before you, but that you

will rather allow me thole Helps that may enable

me to end the Difference that is betwixt the

State and me : that is, to let me have a Copy
of my Charge, the Depofition of the Witneffes,

and Counfel affigned me ; without which, it is

as impoffible to defend my felf, as for a little

Child to encounter an armed Man with a drawn
Sword in his hand. My Lord, I have no more to

fay, but (hall fubmit to God, whatfoever comes j

and as I faid before, fo I fay again, I do freely

forgive, the Witneffes, but do defire that the

Court will not proceed upon fo flight and (lender

Teflimonies, which never can, nor will hold,

water in the fight of God, or Law.
Keble. Mr. Gibbons, mod of what you have

faid now, you faid before, only you made fome
little addition. The Court hath debated your
Bufinefs and Life, with as much care as if you
were the greateft Nobleman in England-, and
upon the Debate, they are perfuaded in their

Confciences that you deferve to be fentenced.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, Mr. Gibbons pleads for

his Life, and I for Juftice in the behalf of the

Commonwealth, therefore I defire you will pro-

ceed to Sentence according to the Judgment of
the Court.

Whereupon Sentence was read. After that,

all the whole Charge was read, and Mr. Gibbons

fentenced as a falfe Traitor, to return to that

place from whence he came, fo to fuffer Death,

by having his Head fever'd from his Body.

After Sentence, Keble fpake in this manner

:

Mr. Gibbons, you have nothing to do, but to

prepare yourfelf for God ; you have a great Ac-
quaintance among the Minifters, you (hould do
very well to fend for them, and reveal what you
know, and fo do the State what good you can

before you die. Have you any thing more to

fay?

But Mr. Gibbons faid not one word more, but

took his leave of the Court, humbly bowing to

them i and after that, he bowed to the Attorney-

General, and took his leave of him, and fo came
down the Stairs with abundance of Cheerfulnefs,

fpeaking to his Friends, and fhaking them by
the hands. And in this manner he went along

the Hall, until he took Coach to go to Prifbn.

He was afterwards Executed, in purfuance of
the Sentence on Tower-Hill, the fame Day with

Mr. Love, the 22d of Augufl.

Being come upon the Scaffold, he fpoke in

the following manner.

Gentlemen,

AM brought here to the Stage, where I am
made a fpectacle to God, to Angels, and to

Men; an object of pity and companion to my
Friends, where they fee before their eyes a Man
in the prime of his years and in the flower of

his youth cut off as an untimely fruit, and as a

Tree that burdeneth the ground, therefore they

are forry; but this is no new thing, it is God's

ordinary way to fuffer men to be caft out, that

he may receive them to Mercy ; the poor blind

man was thrown out, but he was received to

Jefus Chrift ; the three Children were thrown

into the Furnace, but they were received to

God ; that was the way that he delivered them:

Do not (land wondering at God's proceedings,

whatfoever the Men be, yet I blefs God to eter-

nity i
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nity ; I take it well at his hands, though it feem

ftrange ; It is God's ordinary way, and if it be,

Chriftrans fhould not fhun any extremity, if it

bring them to Jefus Chrift , and therefore I blefs

God, I come to this Scaffold, to this place,, with

as much willingnefs as ever Bridegroom did to

receive his Bride : I know the paffage of blood

is but fhort, and the way to the Crown •, though

my Head be fevered from my Body, yet my Soul

to all eternity fhall be joined to the Lord Jefus

Chrift ; and I in the prefence of you all, defire

you to witnefs, that I from my foul defire that

the prefent Power and Court that is fet up, have

done thernfelves no more hurt than they have

done me ; for I am affured that all that ever their

Sentence hath done, hath put me in the way

that I am going ; from Earth to Heaven, from

Friends, and Comfort, and Creature-relations,

that of necclfity ere-long mull be left •, and it

were a great deal of folly to defire that that we
cannot keep ; I am going to receive the end of my
Faith, the reward of my Hope, the comfort of

my Prayers, and of all the Prayers and Tears

of God's People ; where I fhall enjoy the Society

of all Believers, the fight of God, the fellow-

fhip of the Saints, and embrace God to all eter-

nity ; thefe things none can take from me r

Therefore why fhould I defire to keep thefe

things that the Providence of God calls for ? and

therefore I need not ftand grumbling and repin-

ing at God's Will : And I freely fubmit.

I come not hither to tell a long Story, or to

make a. difcovery of my Sins •, the Lord knows
(upon the examination of my heart) how many
thoufands and hundred millions of Sins I have, and

I defire to pour out Floods of Tears for them ;

and I defire that through the Merit of Chrift,

the atonement might be made to God for them.

From my childhood I muft needs fay, I have

been fuch ; I have feen a Father buried in the

grave, and a Sifter,, and a Wife, and a Child

laid in the grave ; but all that ever I could do to

this day, could never put my Sins into the

grave, with all my endeavours and all the afflic-

tions and mercies I have had : It is an infinite

comfort, though I enjoy nothing elfe ; after this

day I fhall affuredly never fin any more, nor

grieve the Spirit of God any more, nor dis-

honour God any more ; I profefs, though I

fhould not come to Heaven, it is a comfort to

me that I fhall not fin and grieve the Spirit of

God any more •, Blefied be God to all eternity,

I fhall be out of the power of fin.

This is not all, but further, fince I can re-

member that I fet my face towards God-, from my
childhood I have hedged in my way with thorns,

that I might go the ftricteft and ftraiteft way,

my way to bring me to the Lord Jefus Chrift

;

it is a wonderful Comfort, and blefied be God
for this day's work ; I profefs I would not change

my condition for ten thoufand worlds: I bleis

Qod I find the reward and benefit of the Prayers

of good People in a wonderful manner ; they

have more caufe to go home and feek days of re-

joicing and days of praife, than to mourn and
repine.

In the Bifhop's time I was one that was a

Mourner, that lamented the Time and the State,

and defired to fhed tears when the Church was
under Affliction.

And truly, I further declare, that I have al-

ways been and gone upon Gofpel Principles j I

have always defired to apply particular Promifes

to my particular Condition : I know ten thoufand

generals will do me no good, only particular

Faith and application will do me good and ftreng-

then and liipport me this day : I have always

engaged upon pure Principles of Religion to the

beft of my knowledge, and the utmoft of my
endeavours ; I have always engaged upon thole

Principles, from thofe I never departed ; and in

thofe Principles by God's Grace this day I fhall

die and come to feal with my Blood •> I always
owned the ways of God, when they were moft
perfecuted ; I think an hundred, nay (I may fay)

a thoufand can tell, that 1 did never dare to fave
my Life, or my Skin > or any thing, to quit
Religion, though it were never fo much clouded,
and delpifed, and difdained ; I do now this day
rather a thoufand times willingly lay my Neck
on the Block ; believe it, I am a dying man, I
chufe it, and had rather have it, than enjoy the
moft glorious life and liberty with thofe that are
Betrayers of the Truth of God and a good Con-
fcience ; O Sirs, believe it, carry it from a dying,
man : In the time of afflictions a good Confcience
will ftand you in more ftead, and more comfort,
than a thoufand worlds : I blefs God more that
he now fmiles on me, than if all the Emperors
and Princes of the World did own me.

I have never been without a trembiing heart,
fince the Spoufe of Chrift was clothed in mourn-
ing ; I always thought it my duty, and the leaft

I could do, to be in tears when the Church
rolled in blood ; and the Lord grant that every
Chriftian Soul may make it his work : It is the
great breaking of my heart, that I could never
get my heart to break enough, to fee the Church
of Chrift in mifery : Though God have called, and
Chrift have called, and there was never fuch call'

ing ; it wounds my Soul that I could never mourn
more for the Church's' afflictions, and the Lord
keep all that fear the Lord and his Name, keep
thofe from days of rejoicing and thankfgivino-

for the death of thofe that God owns, and wiU
wipe all Tears from their Eyes, and thofe God
accounts their blood precious : Have a care of
being of the Number of thofe that rejoice over
the heaps of the carcafes of God's people.

I am now at the laft brought to fufter death,

as an enemy to the STATE, though my Con-
fcience tells me I am a friend to the Lord Jefiis

Chrift, His Church, and Members ; and though
the Jews heretofore told Pilate, if he did ht the
Lord Chrift go, he was no friend to Ccefar

:

Muft I not fay truly, my Confcience bids me fay
it in the cafe I am in, whofoever defires to keep
the Lord Jefus, to keep Integrity of heart, and
Innocency of life, and defires to walk in an un-
fpotted life and conversation, whofoever defires.

to let thefe old broached Herefies go, and draw
their fword for Chrift, are not thefe declared to

be Enemies to the STATE, and are againft
them that defire to keep a good Confcience ; and
if there be no Law of God to condemn us, (as

the Jews faidj There is a Law found out, and
by that Law he ought to die.

I will not make a difcourfe of the manner of
my Trial ; ten thoufand Men, and Angels, yea
God himfelf can witnefs the hard meafure I had.

I am in Charity with all the World,, the Lord
of Heaven forgive them ; I fay nothing my felf,

only I will tell you what a Gentleman laid that
was an Eye-witnefs at my Trial, that knows all

the
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the Actions and Laws as well as any Man in the

Place; He profeffed that he faw fo much, that

he would not have a hand in my Sentence for all

the Gold that could lie in Weftminfter-Hall. I

mult fay for mine own part, and in my Con-

fcience I believe it, if they do not repent, the

Lord will call them to an account for this Day's

Work, I believe they have gone againft God, and

his Laws, and the Laws of Nations ; I believe

fo, I fpeak not this from a bitter Spirit; the

Lord of Heaven forgive all them that ever had a

hand in it, as now I defire Mercy when I fhall

come before the Lord ; I look upon them as a

Company of poor Instruments that the Lord

knows how to deal with, and will call to ac-

count; it will be time enough when they come

to lie upon their dying beds : The Lord grant

that my Blood may not ftand between them and

Mercy when they put up their Prayers, that no-

thing concerning me may ftand in the way of all

the Mercy that their Souls fhall ftand in need of

:

Truly, if you will believe me, I would not leave

this Scaffold to enjoy all the Pleafures that this

World can give, I would not change my Con-

dition with them ; not with my Witneffes, not

with my Judges I would not change my Con-

dition ; my Confcience tells me, and io I fpeak, I

forgive them, the Lord of Heaven lay not this

great Sin to their Charge; let all the People of

God fo pray; they will one Day fee what it is to

lofc a good Confcience; and that it is better a great

deal to have the Light of God's Countenance, than

to have a Confcience upon the Rack : They will

one Day fee, that there is nothing to be feared but

Sin and Wrath ; and what a Comfort and Happi-

nefs the Peace of a good Confcience is, the Lord

fhew it you.

I am brought here to die for Treafon ; for

complotting againft the State : and this is fuch a

Treafon as is proclaimed to all the World ; fuch

a Plot as was never before : bleffed be God, I am
of another mind ; I fhould appear fadly before

God, if my Confcience told me what hath been

reprefented : But I mull needs declare my Opi-

nion without Offence to any ; It is a pretended

Plot, to beget a greater Plot : God grant that it

be not fo; a Plot, I fear, to deftroy all Church-

Government, and the Faithful of the Lord and

the Godly : For other Plots I underftand none

;

I profcfs in the Prefence of God, I know of no

Plot, or had a hand in any Plot : I would not for

ten thoufand Worlds be guilty of the Blood of any

Man : I am fenfible how many thoufands, and

ten thoufand thoufands of Sins I have committed,

as the number of Minutes of one hundred thou-

fand thoufands of Days ; that I am fenfible of,

and defire to bring them before the Lord to

ftone them to death, and to pour out Floods of

Tears for them before this that I am to die : But

I am put now to appeal to the righteous God,

whither I am going, to ftand before the Bar of

an impartial Judge, that knows the Intents and

Thoughts of my Heart, and what all my Endea-

vours have been, I never had any other Thought

than the Honour of the Gofpel and Religion, and

to bring thefe precious things into the Channels

that the Lord would have them in. This was^my

Defire.

Not long fince I told a Gentleman (now in

Heaven) that fo great is the W ound that it breaks

my Heart, to fee the wonderful Scorn and Con-

tempt that lies on the Face of Religion in the
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Eyes of Papifts, Turks and Heathens, and all re=

formed Nations, that I profefs I have fometimes
wifh'd to have fwim'd out of my Chamber in

Tears, and faid to the Gentleman, that it was a
Mercy if ever the Lord would find a Means to

wafh away the Stain of Scorn and Contempt of
the Gofpel, though it were with the Blood of
his Mmifters and faithful Servants : Who know*
what this Day's Work may do? who knows what
God hath for this Land ? Let none defpife the

Day of fmall things ; if it be Clay and Spittle, if

God take it in his Hand, it fhall cure the Blind

:

What do we know what the Blood of two Men
may do to fill up the Meafure of Blood f

what the Blood of two Men may do towards all

the Prayers and Endeavours of God's People ?

therefore be not troubled. But I pray give me
leave : whatfoever is written concerning me, or

the bleffed Servant of God who is gone before

me, and now ringing Hallelujahs to all Eternity^

this Day's Work will be written in Heaven, it will

be written by the Lord Jefus : Suffering for God
and Religion, confident I am you will find it fo.

I can look in the Face of God (excepting my
Weaknefs and Failings) that in all this Bufi-

nefs I had no ill Intention : you are to believe a

dying Man: I am fenfible what it is to die to

God, to the Ocean of Erernity ; to go to ftand at

his Bar: Believe me, believe me; I profefs be-
fore God, Angels and Men, I know not what I

die for this Day : whatever Reports do fay, be-

lieve the Words of a dying Man : I am confident

the Odium of this Day's Work (were an Angel of
Heaven to write a Book) will never be wafht

off: that this Day's Work will lie upon fome : the

Lord grant they may fee their Sin, and repent in

time.

But let me fay a little further : I confefs I can-

not but wonder^ how the Men now in Power can

look any Chriftian in the Face, my Confcience tells

me, that it is the Original of all Plots, that hath

torn the Nation afunder, and the Kingdom, and
the Liberty, and the Profits afunder : whatfoever

belongs to Chriftians and rational Men, is all torn

from us ; Have they not thrown the three King-
doms into that Mifery, that I am confident all the

Enemies of the Church could not have done the

like ? but rather how fhall they be able to look the

great God in the Face, when he fhall make Inqui-

fition for Blood ? To whefe Door fhall all the

Blood of England, and Scotland, and Ireland re-

turn ? Who knows not, that within thefe three

Years there was the mofe glorious promifing Morn-
ing that ever looked England in the Face? how
comes it to pafs that we have luch Days of Trou-

ble and Mifery ? God knows who hath had a

hand and been Inftruments in it. He knows that

thefe are the Plotters with a witnefs : Thefe are the

Egyptians that all the People of God groan under :

and all

'then the People interrupted him, and fome faid

He is going to die with a Lye in his Mouth,

Mr. Sheriff. When they were quiet he went

on thus.

I mufi needs fay, that the Blood that was fhed

in Queen Ma?y 7

s Days was a delightful Sight and

PerJecution, and it was a pleafant Sight to Anti-

chrift in the Bifhops Time, and there have been

many delightful Sights of late that 5 will not

fpeak of, becaufe it gives Offence ; but the moft

C c joyful



48. The Trial ofJohn Gibbons 3 Car. II.194
joyful fight that ever Antichrift faw, he beholds

this day in the blood of the faithful Minifters

and Servants of God ; and now I come upon the

Scaffold to fight this bloody Field, the Lord grant

I may be enabled to overcome it.

I confefs, I believe it is a fad fight to the

People of God, to fee all their Prayers, Fallings,

and Tears come to this, to fee the piercing Sword

thruft into their Bowels ; but I defire them to

take heed of repining and murmuring : look

who ftands on the top of the ladder, and not on

the next ftep ; fee God ordering and contriving

all ; look not at the hammer, but God ; God is

the beft contriver, he knows what is beft for you,

and us, and bleflfed be his Name : I am come

hither to witnefs of his Gory, there is none knows

what Glory a fufFering condition brings to God,

and to his Saints, how many flowers it adds to

their Garland, we fhould fee as many run to it,

as now fhun it. When Chrifl fhall come,

and all fhall call to the Mountains and Rocks to

fall on them and cover them, what a bleffed fight

will it be for Chrifl to put forth his hand to

them ! If they faw but the infinite Reward

Chrifl hath for them in Heaven, it would be fuf-

ficient to invite them to come in and fuller for the

Lord ; nay we may be afhamed we have done no

more, nor looked after the gaining of that pre-

cious eternal Manfion, where we fhall fee God,

and be in the arms of Jefus Chrifl, where we fhall

fuffer no more, but enjoy an infinite weight of

Beatitude and Glory.

Let the word of a dying man prevail ; for the

Lord's fake hold to the Truth, part not from

the Truth; it were better that Heaven fhould

fail, and the World be on fire, than that God
fhould be difhonoured. The leafl Error is as a

barrel ofgun-powder that will blowup the Church

and Kingdom ; Error draws a Sword againfl Chrifl

and his Truth •, take heed of Error, left you fall

into a gulf that you can never come out of. Ask
your own experience, how many Minifters and

ProfefTors have fallen into Error, and have gone

away with guilt upon their Confcience, and a blot

upon their Names : Error is like a chain, if the

Soul would go to Chrifl, it cannot : Error is as a

partition, under what glofs foever it come : though

in the habit of a Saint or Angel, it is dangerous

poifon -, be like Athanqfius, own the Truth, though

all the World were againfl it ; or as Martin

Luther, who fet himfelf againfl all the power

and force of Antichrift: own the Truth, though

eminent Minifters and ProfefTors that feem emi-

nent in Faith and Grace fall from it, as many

do.

I fhall now fuddenly conclude ; I am very un-

willing in my condition to fpeak any thing that

may be offenfive to any, I have only this to fay,

and I have done •, whatfoever chargeth me neareft,

I am confident the Lord will one day clear my in-

nocence ; he hath written down the actions and

proceedings, and he will one day fhew it, and vin-

dicate my name in the fight of all ; there will be

a Refurreclion, and all Men fhall be called to an

account for all the Reproaches that have been caft

upon the faithful of the Lord.

All the Churches of Chrift are now in the fur-

nace ; the Church of Scotland, England, and Ire-

land-, the Lord grant that all may mourn, and

never dare to keep a joyful day, till the Church

of Chrift be delivered ; for God calls, and Chrift

calls, and the Church .calls } and I had rather be

(and let all that fear God chufe rather to lie) in

the Den of Dragons, than to be of the number
of thofe that rejoice when the Churches of God
are in Sorrow. The Sun fhined upon Sodom a
little while, but prefently a fhower of fire and
brimftone came and deftroyed them all •, fo the
profperity and fiourifhing ftate of the wicked is

like that : the children of God may fit in dark-
nefs for a while, but they fhall have light to

eternity : wicked Men may rejoice for a mo-
ment, but there is an eternal night that will fol-

low, that fhall never be blown over : A child of
God had rather that all the Lions in the Wil-
dernefs fhould roar, than to. have God angry.
What were it for a Man, though like Alexander,
he had profperity, and had as much peace and
glory as Pompey, and did ride in as much ftate as

Ccefar, when he is under the frowns of God that

hates wicked Men, as much as he is hated of
wicked Men ? The Bufh may burn, but it fhall

never be confumed ; the Church hath been 5600
Years under burning, and perfecution, and flame,
but the Church fhail remain to the end of the
World.

Thus I have endeavoured to declare my felf

and my Confcience, though with much broken-
nefs and diflemper : and now 1 am to take my
leave of the World, I have only this word to
fay, that you bear me witnefs, that whatfoever
may be charged on me, or may be laid after my
death, I am confident God will own me for an
innocent perfon •, I never to the beft of my re-

membrance had a hand or a heart, I had rather

die a thoufand deaths than ever to have a hand
in the blood of any of God's People ; and now
God hath brought me hither and not Men, it

is his hand ; I again defire to forgive all the
World, every Man's Perfon ; the Lord grant that

they may have mercy, and I defire, as now I

defire Mercy, the Lord to forgive all their fins.

I know all things are under God's Dealing and
Commiftion, and this condition had never come
to me if God had not feen it good ; and though
the Ax be lb near, if I had more to do for God,
and for his Church and People, . he would do
with the Ax, as he did with that of Abraham,
God would take hold of it, and could, and
bleffed be his Name that he takes the ordering

of it to himfelf, therefore I have a quiet Spirit,

I have no difcontent in the World: and now
not to fpeak of Death, alas that is nothing ; but

of eternity that my Soul is now lanching into : I

am now to enter into Eternity, where to ftand

with a naked Soul before God, whofe Eyes are

ten thoufand times brighter than the Sun, that

cannot endure to behold iniquity : I am now
going to God, that will be as a confuming fire,

and as armed thunder againfl me, if I did not fee

his infinite mercy, and my blefTed Saviour (land-

ing between me and the Lord, prefenting all

that I do: if I had all the righteoufnefs of all the

Angels in Heaven this day to go to God the Fa-
ther, woe, and ten thoufand woes to me, if I

had noL intereft in the Lord Jefus Chrift •, if I

had the fin of all the Perfons that are here, and
that have been ever fince the Creation, if I

come and ftand clothed this day with the

Righteoufnefs of the Lord Jefus, I am confident

I fhould have pardon for them all, as for one;
there lies my ftrength and my hope, and my
happineis. All my Righteoufnefs, and all my
Prayers, and all mv Performances, are but as

filthy
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filthy Rags ; and fhould God draw out the bell

Sabbath that ever I kept, and the bell Prayer

that ever I made, and the beft Syllable of that

Prayer, it would be a Sin ; I have Scarlet Sins,

Sins of all forts and ranks, I defire you that you

would all mourn and help me this Day. BlelTed

be the Lord of Heaven for the Benefit and Sup-

port of the Prayers of God's People ; I am per-

iiiaded that there was never any Man in my Con-

dition, that went to Heaven upon the Wings of

fo many Prayers : Be ye all content, and go home
and rejoice before the Lord, be certain that you

keep a Day of Thankfgiving for this Day's Work,
and our Souls fhall blefs God to Eternity for this

Day's Work •, there is not one Drop of Blood

could be fpared, if it could, it fhould have been

kept •, God knows how to anlwer your Prayers and

Tears, though we muftnot be heard, he hath fum-

moned us to come to the Arm of his Mercy, why
do I ftay from God longer ? I blefs God I am
coming.

Now I fhall only defire as Samfon when he

made his laft Requeft, only this once help me

;

my call to you all is, that you would pray and

mourn for me, this once help me ; after a little

while your Prayers will do me no good, nor your

Tears will do me no good ; therefore now for

the Lord's fake help me off the Scaffold, lift up

a Prayer to God for me, let there be fome Com-
panion, you know not what Fightings may be

in me •, but I blefs God, I hope to walk trium-

phantly to God prefently, but do you act your

Parts, your Strength, and your Intereft, whatever

your Prayers and Tears can do, help me, I be-

feech you now, for I fhall never more need your

Help.

And now is Chrift taking notice what was call

into the Church's Treafure, he looked upon the

Widow's two Mites, Chrift is looking this Day

who helps me a poor Creature, and fupports me,
and faith Chrift, Is there none will help him ?

pray help me to commend all my Conditions to

God, that he would rebuke Satan, and make me
die fincerely as a Chriftian, that I may willingly

lie down on the Block, as I would to lie down
on a Feather-bed after I am weary, that I may
be willing to come to him; pray for me, that

all the Graces that my Soul wants they may be
ftrengthened.

Moft glorious God, I now into thy Hands
commend my Spirit, and all that is in me ; O
blefTed God, I never was in want but thou did-

deft relieve me, I was never in Diftrefs but thou

helpedft me, never, never, and I am confident

thou wilt not leave me, till thou fee my Soul in

Heaven. O blefTed Saviour! thou wenteft up
and down on the Earth, thou knoweft what it

is to fuffer, what it is to be betrayed, what it is

to be fcorned and tempted •, blefTed Saviour, thou

faweft me when I was running from thee ; wilt

thou leave me now I come to thee ? Lord Jefus,

1 commend all into thy Hands, hoping that after

this Day I fhall never fuffer more, nor never pray

more.

His Prayer being ended, he put off his Doublet,

and askt for his Friend Dr. Baftwick, and em-
braced him : after that he embraced his Uncle,

and others of his Friends on the Scaffold ; then

laying his Head on the Block, Dr. Baft-wick came
to him, and wifh'd him to take off his Rings,

which accordingly he did, by raifing himfelf

upon his Knees, and gave them to his Uncle ;

which done, he laid his Head on the Block,

and holding up his left Hand, the Executioner

at one Blow and a fmall Rafe fevered his Head
from his Body.
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XLIX. The Cafe of Capt. John Streater* on an
Habeas Corpus, at the Upper Bench in Weftminfter-Hall ?

November, &c. 1653. Mich. &Hil. 5 Car. II.

B

The Habeas Corpus was read.

^ T the Keepers of the Liberty of Eng-
m land by Authority of Parliament. To
s§[ the Keeper of the Prifon of the Gate-

Houfe in the Liberty ^Weftminfter,
Xa§&*£B@S in the County of Middlefex, or to his

Deputy, Ihefe, Greeting. We command you that

the Body of John Streater, in the Prifon underyour

Cuflody detained, as it is faid, together with the

Day and Cattfe of his taking and detaining, by what-

foever Name the faid John is called therein, you
have before us in the Upper Bench at Weftminfter,

Wednefday next, after the Morrow of St. Martin ;

to undergo and receive thofe things which our faid

Court of Upper Bench fhall then and there order

concerning him in this part. And this you muft not

omit at your peril. And have you then this Writ.

Witnefs Henry Rolle at Weftminiter, the 1 2th of

Novemb. in the Tear of our Lord 1653.

By the Court. Ex. Broughton.

Capt. Streater. My Lord, 1 defire that this

Writ with the Return may be filed.

f Judge. What fay you, Mr. Prideaux ?

Prid. Nothing.

Judge. Let it be filed. Have you any Counfel ?

Capt. Streater. Yes, my Lord.

Judge. What do you fay to it ?

Capt. Streater. I defire to have a Copy of the

Return, and that I may be bailed.

Styk'j Reports, 397. f Lord Cbitf Juftice Roll.

Vol. II. Cc 2 Judge.
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Judg. It cannot be t you are committed by the

Parliament, and you muft fhew Caufe firft.

Capt. Streater. I am ready \ I defire to fpeak to

it now, both I and my Counfel.

Mr. Twifden. I was a Counfel for the firft part

of the Return, but not for this.

Judge. What fay you ?

Mr. Freeman. I defire he may have a Copy of

the Return.

Judge. Do fb, and let him be here again on

Friday next : let it be fo.

Capt. Streater. I defire, my Lord, I may not

be put to the trouble to fue for a new Habeas

Corpus.

[And then Mr. Streater not being permitted to

fpeak any more, he was taken away by the

Marfhal of the Court of the Upper Bench,

and carried to the Prifon of the Upper Bench

in Southwark.~]

Colonel Barkfted then appeared upon Lieut.

Col. Lilburne*s Habeas Corpus, and gave this fol-

lowing Reafon for his not bringing the Body of

Lieut Col. Lilburne*

' According to my Orders, my Lord, and the
4 Return of the Habeas Corpus. I brought the

* Body of Lieut. Col. John Lilburne on Monday
* to the Court ; at which time I was ordered to
1 attend the Court again with him here as this

' Day. But this Morning I received an Order
' from the Council of State to the contrary :

* And here it is, my Lord.'

Clerk. Wednefday, Novemb. 23.

Whereas the Body of Mr. John Lilburne, by an

Order of Parliament, was committed- to the Tower

for the Peace of the Nation ; and whereas there was

an Order to the bringing of him forth thence to the

Upper Bench this day : It is ordered by the Council

of State, that they do not bring him, but that he

there abide the Pleafure of the Houfe.

Mr. Lilb. Counf. My Lord, on Monday it was

agreed that they fhould bring him again on Wed-
nefday ; and I have no Inftruclion from my Client,

for I have no Accefs to him, nor he to me.

Judge. Well, pray advife with your Client.

Mr. Lilb. Counf. My Lord, I defire to have an

Alias Habeas Corpus.

Baxt. I have only learned, my Lord, to obey

Orders, and I fhall obey them.

Judge. You do well. The Council of State

have a Reafon for what they do in this Bufinefs.

Mr. Lilb. Counf. My Lord, when muft we at-

tend at Court ?

Judge. On Saturday.

The Return of the Habeas Corpus for Captain

'

Streater being filed, the Caufe of Imprifbn-

ment fhewn in the Return was grounded

upon two Warrants : firft from the Council

of State.

^T* HESE are to will and require you to take the

1 Body of Streater, and him you fhall

fafely keep Prifoner in your Prifon of the Gate-

Houfe ; he being committed for publishing offedi-

tious Pamphlets againfi the State : Of which you.

* Style's Reports, 397.

are not to fail. And for fo doing this fhall be your
fufficient Warrant. Given at the Council of State
fitting 0/ White-hall, the izth Day of September,
!%3-

To the Keeper of

the Gate-Houfe.

S. Moyer.
R. TichburnPr^,
R. Lawrence.

John Hewfbn.

The fecond Warrant was figned by the Speaker,
by Order of the Parliament.

T virtue of an Order of Parliament, bearing
> date this prefent 21ft Day of November, Thefe.

are to will and require you to receive and take into

your cufiody the Body of John Streater, and him to

keep and retain in fafe cuftody, until he fhall be de-

livered by Order of Parliament. Whereof you are
not to fail, as you will anfwer the contrary at your
peril. Given under my Hand this 21JI of No-
vember, 1653.

To the Keeper of

the Gatehoufe,

Wefiminfter.

Francis Rous Speaker.

Upon the reading thereof in Court, this Rule
following was ordered to be entered.

Wednefday next after eight Days of St. Martin,

1653. The Gate-Houfe, Wefiminfter.

THE Defendant was this day brought into this

Court, by virtue of a Writ of Habeas Cor-
pus, to undergo, &c. under the Cufiody ofthe Keeper

of the Prifon of the Gate-Houfe. And it is ordered
by the Court, that the Habeas Corpus and the Re-
turn thereof be filed, and that the faid Streater have
Copies of the faid Writ and Return, and that the

faid Streater be committed to the Cuftody of the Mar-
fhal of this Courts and that he have the Body of the

faid Streater in Court upon Friday next, upon the

Motion of Mr. Freeman.

By the Court.

The fecond Appearance of Captain Streater,

on Friday the 23^ of November 1653, by

virtue of an Habeas Corpus, and the

Rule aforefaid of the Court of Upper

Bench of the 2 if prefent.

CAptain Streater being at the Bar, the Clerk

read the Return, which was only the Keeper's

Anfwer to the Habeas Corpus, which requireth

him to fhew caufe why the Prifoner is detained in

Prifon. He in the Return citeth the Warrant,
Order, or Mittimus for Commitment, and certi-

fieth that is the Caufe contained in them, and none
other.

The Return being read, the Judge asked Captain

Streater what he had to fay to the Return, and who
was his Counfel.

Capt. Streater. Mr. Norbury, Mr. Freeman, and
Mr. Twifden, are Counfel with me.

Judge. What fay you ?

Mr. Twifden. I was a Counfel for the firft

part, but not for the fecond, for publifhing fcan-

dalous Pamphlets. If there be no more in it, he

may be bailed.
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Judge.. No, there is rio more in it. What fay

you, Mr. Freeman ?

Mr. Freeman. My Lord, as to the fecond part

of. the Return, it is in thefe words: Thefe are to

will and require you to take into your Cuftody the

Body of John Streater, and him fafely keep-, till he

/hall be delivered by order of Parliament. My Lord,

every Return ought to have thefe two things in it*

the Caufe, and how long he fhall be a Prifoner

:

and fo you have it in Magna Charta, p. 54. My
Lord, all Acts of Parliament againft the Laws of

the Land, are in themfelves void. The Law is

above the Parliament.

Judge. Good Sir, do not (land to repeat thefe

things before us.

Mr. Freeman. My Lord, I do know it ; they

may pafs their Acts according to Law, but not

againft Law. The Lord Dyer hath it fo in his

Reports.

Judge. When we are in examination of a Pri-

foner, will you come and overthrow the Ads of

Parliament ?

Mr. Freemam. My Lord, I refer it to your

Lordfhip's Judgment, whether this Gentleman

ought to be kept in Prifon without Caufe fhewn.

Judge. What fay you, Mr. Norburyf

Mr. Norbury. My Lord, we muft look to fee

if the Return be true : If it be not, we have an Ac-

tion of the Cale againft them that made it falfe.

And tho' we will not fay that is falfe, yet here is no

Offence recited at all. And, my Lord, all the

Acts are the Acts of this prefent Parliament ; and

we look on them to be, or ought to be, for the

Liberty of the People.

Judge. What have you to fay to the fecond part

of the Return ?

As to the firft part of the Return, Mr. Prideanx

faid he fhould fay nothing unto it ; therefore the

Judges advife Captain Streater to fpeak to the fe-

cond part of the Return.

[Now for that the Argument that Captain Srea-

ter had prepared to fhew the Infufficiency of the

firft part of the Return, may be of great uie, and

fit for publick View, it is thought fit to be infert-

ed here ; and after it, his Argument upon the fe-

cond part of the Return, the which he delivered

with an audible Voice at the Bar : With the At-

torney-General's Plea thereto, and the Judges

Judgment thereupon.]

Captain Streater'.* Argument to thejirji Part

of the Return.

[
Y Lord, I being brought to this Bar by vir-

tue of a Habeas Corpus, which rcquireth

(by virtue of the Law, which is the Supreme Au-
thority of England, and only Authority of Parlia-

ments, and all Courts of Judicature) the Caufe

ought to be fhewn why I am detained a Prifoner

upon the Return. The firft Part mentioneth a

Caufe, tho' not a lawful Caufe : the fecond Part

fheweth no Caufe.

My Lord, the Intent in Law of an Habeas
Corpus, is to relieve Prifoners, notwithftanding

ipecial Commands for Imprifonment, as appear-

eth by the Act of Parliament the 17th of the late

King, intitled, An Ail for the abolijhing the Star-

Chamber, and regulating the CounciUTable : which
ordaineth, that notwithftanding fpecial Com-
mands for Imprifonment, the Party fo imprifoned
Hull by a Habeas Corpus be brought before the

Judges of one Bench or other. And if the Caiift

of his Commitment be legal, he fhall be reman-
ded to the Prifon from whence he came \ if

no Caufe (that is to fay, no lawful Caufe) ap-

pear, then the Prifoner is to be fet at liberty j

if it be doubtful, then the Prifoner is to be
bailed.

My Lord, with thefe agree the learned Ar-
guments of Sir Edward Coke, Sir Edward Little-

ton, and Mr. Selden •, together with the Refolves

of the Commons in Parliament (1628) there-

upon.

And the fecond Part of Infiitutes, fol. 52. The
Warrant or Mittimus ought to contain a lawful

Caufe.

The Writ of Habeas Corpus is the Water of
Life, to revive from the Death of Imprifon-

ment.

Sir Edward Coke in his third general Reafon
why a Habeas Corpus is to remove the Body, not-

withftanding of fpecial Commands, faith* That
Imprifonment is accounted in Law a Civil Deaths
where a Man is deprived -of Society, of Wife, Houfe^

Country, Friends -, and liveth with wicked andwretch-
ed Men.
The Writ of Habeas Corpus, and the Benefit

thereof by Law (which is the undeniable Right
of every Englifhman) is called The High Point,

the only Point. Nay the Commons of Parliament

of the 4th of the late King, in the Conference

with the Lords, fay that they had redeemed the

Body of Liberty, by clearing this Point I that

is to fay, That in cafe one be committed by
virtue of fpecial Command, he fhall have the Be-

nefit of the Writ of Habeas Corpus to bring his

Body, with the Caufe, before the Judges of either

Bench ; where if it be found a lawful Caufe, he:

fhall be remanded ; if no Caufe, delivered ; if it

be doubtful, then to be bailed.

My Lord, I fhall make it evidently appear,when

I come to make my Exceptions, that there is no
lawful Caufe fhewn in the Return to the Habeas

Corpus why I fhould be a Prifoner.

With your Lordfhip's Favour, I fhall fpeak

one Word or two of the Law of England ; 1

fhall make ufe of it anon. It may not improperly

be faid, it is written by the Finger of God : it

is not unlike (in that where indeed the Perfects

on of it lieth) unto the Laws of the Eternal

Lawgiver ; which is, it is as well binding to the

Lawgiver, as to thofe that are to give obedience

unto it.

Anno 42 Edw. 3. chap. 3. No Manfhall bepro-

ceeded againft, but according to the old Law of the

Land: There fhall be nothing done to the contrary, if

it be, itfhall be void.

If this ferve not my turn, I am fure there be

enough that fpeak the Language I would have

them, that fay, Be it fo and fo enacted, and not

otherwife.

Firft, I obferve here they command Law.
Secondly, That they command, that none fhall

command otherwife but by Law.
God himfelf bindeth himfelf by his Laws : he

is as well bound, as he bindeth thofe feveral Be-

ings he gives Laws unto, let them be Eternal,

Moral or Natural. If he maketh a Promife, he

performeth it : he muft not* he doth not but per-

form it. If he create a World, and willeth it

to continue* he muft fupport it in its Beauty and

Strength, and by his Providence fupport the feveral

Beings in it.

My



198 49- Ibe CafeofCapt.JohnStreater Mich.&Hil. 5Car.II.

My Lord, Law is Supreme; none ought to

command contrary to Law. It is not, that he

or they are fuperiour that command, that there-

fore they fhould be obeyed ; no, it ought to be

diligently enquired by the Inferiors, whether Su-

periors command Law, or not ; if not, they are

not to be obeyed. For that this is not a Rule

amongft Men, is the Reafon fo much of Ab-
folutenefs and Tyranny is fo much on foot in the

World.
Camerarius mentioneth a Story of Henry II. of

France, his committing to Prifon an Italian

Lackey, and mewing no Caufe of his Commit-
ment. The Judges vifiting the Prifoner, com-
manded that he fhould be delivered. The King
again committed him, and commanded that he

Ihould be executed. The Judges notwithftand-

ing the fecond time opened the Prifon-Doors for

him, for that the Law warranted them for fo

doing.

Henry III. of England, commanded Ralph Ne-
•vil (Lord Keeper or Lord Chancellor) to deli-

ver the Great Seal. He refufed it, becaufe it

was to be difpofed of by the Common-Council,
or Parliament of the Kingdom. This is atteft-

ed by Matthew Paris, and Matthew of JVeft-

minjler.

Thomas late Lord Strafford's Plea, That what
he did, was in Obedience to his Superiour, the King

his Mafier, could not protect him from condign

Punifhment, for that he had tranfgreffed the

Law.
Plutarch faith, the Spartans were happy in their

King Age/dans, who had fuch a reverend Efteem

of Law, that he gave Obedience to a fmall Scrool

of Parchment, which was the Summons of his

Country for his Appearance.

That which will make us happy, muft be our

Laws-, not Men, Councils, or Courts. Arifiotle

faid, That it is better to govern by good Laws
than good Men.
My Lord, our Laws are good ; they are (as to

the intent) the only preferving Laws in the World:
they are the Strong-holds, the Bulwarks to the

weakeft.

Edw. 6.fol. 36. The Law is called, The Inheri-

tance of every Subject. It is the Inheritance of In-

heritances-, and without which Inheritance, we
have no Inheritance: we fhould be but as Tenants

at Will, to be turned out of Life, Liberty and

Eftate, at pleafure.

My Lord, withal, the Law fignifieth nothing

at all, if there be not a way to obtain the Benefit

thereof; the which fhould be as certain and unal-

terable as the Law itfelf. And therefore I think

that the Statute of .42 Edw, 3. chap. 3. is meant a

Proceeding by Record, when it faith, That no

Man /hall be proceeded againft, taken or imprifoned,

but according to the old Law of the Land. The
fame Opinion may pafs of the 29th chap, of Magna
Charta, which is but an Expofition of the good
old Law of the Land.

Mr. Selden, in his Argument at the Conference

of the Lords and Commons, 1628, faith, The

Law is of no Benefit, if that the way be not open to

obtain the Benefit of the Law.
In all which, Proceedings by Difcretion are

juftly reproved -, for they are of evil Confequence,

as witnefs Empfon and Dudley in Henry the Se-

venth's Days, by whom the Subjecls were grieved,

my Author faith.

My Lord, jufl Proceedings are as neceflary as

juft Judgments.

It is Juftice that faveth and defendeth a Na-
tion, that maketh it happy, fruitful and profpe-

rous.

The Frontiers of a Nation may be guarded with
Men at Arms, but it will not be preferved thereby:

it muft be Juftice in the midft of it: If there be

but a Man that executeth Juftice and true Judgment,
he fhall fave the City.

There may be good Reafons given for it. In-

juftice difcontents a People ; and ufually the Foun-
dations of Changes are laid upon the Difcontent

of the People.

My Lord, I fpeak not this as reflecting on diis

Court, or out of Fear of Injuftice at this Time or

Place ; no, but only as laying a fure Foundation
for my Exceptions.

If the Law be Supreme, and not to be varied

from in the leaft Tittle, then it is a fufBcient

Sanctuary. Unlefs this be granted, all my Excep-
tions will profit me nothing.

I ought not to be remanded, becaufe it cannot

but appear I have been proceeded againft not ac-

cording to the Law of the Land, which is my
Right; and if my Right, every Man's Right; and
if not my Right, it is no Man's Right.

42 Edw. 3. chap. 3. None fhall be proceeded a-

gainft, but by Prefentment, or things of Record, ac-

cording to the old Law of the Land.

It is not the Law of our Kings, but the Con-
fent of our Forefathers: Thefe are our Privileges,

and the prefent Power hath declared they will be
tender of them.

The Writ is by Authority of Parliament.

This Privilege of an Habeas Corpus putteth

the Difference between the Villain and the Free-

man.

My Lord, I fhall now make my Exceptions to

the Return.

Firft, The Return is too general, and fheweth

not lawful Caufe why I fhould be imprifoned.

1 doubt not but to make it appear ; and if fo, I

ought to be fet at liberty without Bail.

The Act of the 17 th of the late King provi-

deth, That if no Caufe befhewn (that is to be un-

derftood, a lawful Caufe) then the Prifoner fhall be

difcharged.

A Prifoner is not difcharged, if he be bailed,

for that he is a Prifoner to his Bail ; and if bailed,

then it is to be fuppofed a Caufe, though fuch upon
which he may be bailed.

The Caufe of Imprifonment fhewn in the firft

Part of the Return, is for a Seditious Pamphlet

againft the State: It doth not name wherein it

is feditious; it doth not name what Books or

Pamphlets.

2 Part Inftit. fiol. 59 1 . on the Statute of 1 Edw.
2. Sir Edward Coke faith, That the Mittimus or

Warrant muft contain the Caufe, though not fo cer-

tainly as the Indictment ought; yet with fo much con-*

venient Certainty, as that it may appear judicially

what the Offence is -, as for ftealing a Horfe, or the

like. And this is according to Reafon, which is

the Mother of Law ; which hath had good Au-
thority at this Bar, and now hath, and I hope fhall

have.

As by Variety of Natures, and Forms, and
Names, feveral Beafts are diftinguifhed ; fo Va-
riety of Titles do diftingufh Books or Pamph-
lets. And for that there is or hath been as

many feveral forts of Books or Pamphlets di-

ftinguifhable by their Title or Name, and Mat-
ter or Subject, wherein they are feditious, aa

there
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there are feveral forts of Beafts diftinguifhable ei-

ther by their Nature, Name or Form : therefore

if it be needful, if a Man fteal a Horfe, that the

Warrant or Mittimus fhall fay, the Imprifonment

is for Healing a Horfe, and not for fteahng of a

Cow, the fame will hold good for a Cow, Ox, or

any other Creature or Thing.

If fo, it had been as needful for the Return

to exorefs what Pamphlets or Books, either by

Title or Name, Matter or Subject. •, for that there

are, or have been as many feveral forts of feditious

Pamphlets (fo accounted) within thefe few Years,

of feveral Titles, as there are feveral forts of Beafts

in the World. And therefore feeing the Re-

turn doth not fhew for which of them I am im-

prifoned, it muft be prelumed, there is not Caufe

for my Imprifonment. Generals are nothing in

Law.
Again, my Lord : Sir Edward Coke, 4 Part

Inftit.fol. 39. chap. 1. High Court of Parliament,

there in thele words, faith, That by order of Law,

a Man cannot be attainted of High-Treafon, un-

lefs the Offence be in Law High-Treafon. He
ought not to be attainted by general Words of

High-Treafon by Authority of Parliament, (as

fometime hath been) but the High-Treafon ought

to be fpecially exprefs'd.

This is fo plain, it need not be preffed fur-

ther.

Likewife the Refolution of the Commons in

Parliament, the 4th of the late King, refolveth,

That notwithstanding fpecial Commands for Im-
prifonment, if there be not lawful Caufe of Im-
prifonment fhewed upon the Return of a Habeas

Corpus, that then the Prifoner fhall be acquitted.

I have plainly made it appear, that there is

no lawful Caufe ; yet notwithstanding I fhall back

it with Reafons that fhall carry fufficient Authori-

ty with them, to prove my Affertion, That there

is not lawful Caufe, and to prove that my Im-
prifonment hath not been according to the Law
of the Land, as is provided in the Act of the 1 7th

of the late King, 42' Edw. 3. chap. 3. 25 Edw. 3.

chap. 4. and Magna Charta, chap. 29, All which
command but the Law, or are rather but Exposi-

tions of the Law.
And feeing the Parliament lath left this Court

open for any to be relieved, I pray to be re-

lieved.

My Lord, I ought to be proceeded againft by
due Courfe of Law.
The Act of the 20th of September, 1640, pro-

videth, if it be for treafonable and feditious Pamph-
lets, the Party fhall fuffer fuch Penalties as are by
the Law of the Land provided. By which it ap-

peared!, that they intended no otherwife a Man
fhould be proceeded againft in this cafe, but by
due Courfe of Law; which is to be by Prefer-
ment before Juftice, or Thing of Record •, as 42
Edw. 3. chap. 3. at which time it is ufual the Ac-
cufers and the Accufed are face to face, and there

they the Accufers do aver, that that is the Man
that hath fo and fo offended; elfe how fhall

it be known that this or that is the Man meant by
the Accufers.

Befides, my Lord, Anno 10 Eliz. chap. 6. it is

provided, That two Witneffes be as well at the

Indictment as the Arraignment.
Indictment is an Accufation againft a Man ;

and it is upon Accufation the Mittimus is made
for Commitment. It is fit a Man at his Com-
mitment do know his Accufation and Accufer ;

if he do not, he cannot make his Defence, It is

not fit he fhould be deprived of any Advantage
of that kind.

Feftus (Acts xxv. 27.) faith, It feemeth notrea~

finable that he Jhouldfend Paul to Auguftus Caefart
without /hewing Caufe of his Imprifonment. There
was Caufe, but not a lawful Caufe ; for he faith,

He might have been acquitted, if he had not appealed

to Caelar.

If it fhould be objected, That a Privy-Council
may, for feveral fecret Reafons of State (if they
pleafe) commit Men, and fhew no Caufe* or ar
Jeaft not fo particular as the Law requireth ; Sir

Edward Coke, 2 Part Inf. fol. 199. fufficiently r

anfwereth that, and faith, That the Law admitteth

not of Matters of Pleafure.

My Lord, that good Maxim, That the Safety of
the People is thefupreme Law, hath been mifinter-

preLcd by fome that would have it thus : That if

any by theit Endeavours do threaten Difturbance

to a Government, and that they conceive it fafe

to take away thofe Difturbers Lives, or their Li-
berties, in order to prevent thofe Mifchiefs they

apprehend they may be inftrumental in : if they
cannot do it by Law, then they may repair to ex-

traordinary Courfes.

Mr. Sadler, in his Book, intitled, The Rights of
the Kingdom, and C-uftoms of our Anceftors, report-

ed!, That the old Saxons had a Maxim, That
high or extraordinary Juftice is Injufiice.

My Lord, and Injufiice doth a Nation or State

more Mifchief and Hurt, than all its private and
open Enemies can do.

Now having proved that there is no lawful Caufe

fhewn in the Return why I am detained a Prifon-

er, I fhall prefent your Lordfhip with my fecond

Exception, which is, That there is not alledged

the Time nor Place where the Crime was com-
mitted, that is the pretended Caufe of my Com-
mitment.

My Lord, I fhall not infift upon Matter of Fad
to any other end, than to fhew the Infufficiency of

the Return.

And that the Law intendeth that Caufe, nay,

lawful Caufe fhould be fhewn of Commitment, in

the Warrant or Mittimus, upon the firft commit-
ting, the Caufe of Commitment, may the better

prepare his Defence ; the which the Law intendeth

not to deprive a Perfon of: the which he fhould

be deprived of by fuch Returns.

I fhall fhew your Lordfhip wherein firft it may
be alledged that I did commit a Crime at London

fueh a time, when I was at Tork.

Mirrour, Chap. 3. Sect. 23. One that is ap-

pealed of Maim, may plead that he wasfick at that

time.

My Lord, many times fuch Circumftances are

the Standards to meafure the Truth or Falihood of

an Accufation.

I fhall firft offer fomething to prove, that the

Place where the Caufe of Commitment was

committed, ought to have been fhewn in the

Return.

Page 611 Fitz-Herbert, Natura Brevium, of a

Writ of Mainprife, it is in the Beginning of the

Writ thus; The King to the Sheriff, dec of the part

of A. taken and detained in our Goal at G, for cer-

tain Larcenary of a Horfe at S.

Now, my Lord, here is the place alledged.

Sir Edward Coke, 2 Part Inftit. fol. 37. faith,

That Appeals ought to contain, \ft, The Fail ;

2dlv, The Tear: %dly, The Day: ^thly, The Hour

of
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of the Day : sthly, The Place where the Fail was

done.

Here are many Certainties, but the Certainty of

Time and Place arc not to be omitted j they are

two EfTentials.

So that if Time and Place be not fhewn, when
and where the Crime was done, that is alledged to

be the Caufe of Imprifonment, it may be conclud-

ed that there is no Caufe if it was done at no Time,
nor no Place.

Another Reafon why the Time when the Crime
was committed, that is the Caufe of Commitment,
ought to be fhewn in the Return, is this : If it

were granted that it was fo, that I did publifh fe-

ditious Pamphlets or Books •, it may be done feven

Years fince, for ought that appeareth in the Re-
turn.

That the Time when the Fact was done, ought

to be fhewn, appeareth evidently by theProvifion

that is made in the Act of the 20th of September

1649, intitled, An Acl for preventing of fcandalous

and feditious Books and Pamphlets. Provided al-

ways, and be it enatled, "That no Perfon or Perfons

fhall be molefted and impeachedfor any of the Offences

mentioned in this Acl, unlefs he or they be thereofac-

cufed withinfix Months after his or their Offence fo

committed or done.

Then 15 Eliz. chap. 1. it is provided, That
none, fhall jbejued, troubled or moleftedfor any of the

Offences contained in that Acl, unlefs they were accufed

thereof within fix Months, if the Party or Parties

were not out of the. Realm.

Now for ought there appeareth in the Return
the pretended Caufe of Imprifonment was commit-
ted feven Years fince -, and it may be as legally pre-

fumed to be fix or feven Years fince, as four Months
fince. And if fo, then I am clear by virtue of

thofe Acts I mentioned: they concern feditious

and treafonable Books or Pamphlets. In a doubt-

ful Caufe, it is better to acquit the Guilty, than to

condemn the the Innocent.

My third Exception is, That the Conclufion of

the Return ought to be according to Law, and
have thefe Words ; To be delivered by due Courfe of
Law.

By which is to be unfexVioo&fpeedily, at the next

Goal- delivery. It is not by the Return faid by
what I fhall be delivered, nor when, whether

ever or never delivered ; it feemeth to intend a

perpetual Imprifonment, the which is utterly a-

gainft the Law of the Land.
2 Part. Infiit. fol. 315. chap. 9. on the Stat.

Gloucejl. Expedition ought to be ufed, to prevent long

Imprifonment. ImprifonmentJhould be but till the next

coming of theJuftice. And (faith he) it is the Mer-
cifulnefs of the Law of England, that it willeth that

none be ruined by long Imprifonment.

And therefore the afore-mentioned Writ of
Mainprife (cited in Fitz-Herbert's Natura Brevium)
feemeth to take up a Complaint, That the People
are not only grieved with wrong Imprifonment,
but more efpecially with long Imprifonment, in

thefe Words ; And him by fuch Mainprife from the

Goal aforefaid haft delayed to deliver,, to the no fmall

Lofs and Grievance of him the faid R. and manifeft

Peril of his Life.

Brooks's 9 Report in Powler's Cafe, and in the

end of the Writ, hath thefe Words ; That the

Subjecl be not detained fo long in Prifon, as till the

"Jufticefhall come in Eyre.

By all which appeareth, that the Law re-

lieveth againfl long or perpetual Imprifonment>

as alfb againfl Imprifonment without lawful

Caufe, notwithflanding that it be by fpecial Com-
mand.
My Lord, my Life nor Liberty cannot be taken

away, but by Law ; nor given unto me but by
Law. It is a good Maxim, If we keep the Law^
the Law will keep us.

It would be fad if a Man fhould be neceffitated

to plead his Caufe by the making of Friends, when
the Law fhall not be fufficient to plead in his de-

fence, and when Life and Liberty fhall be difpofed

of at pleafure.

It is provided againfl in 2 Edw. 3. chap. 2. of
Charters of Pardon ; where it is ordained and en-

acted, That fuch Charters fhall not be granted, but

only where the King may do it by his Oath ; that is to

fay, where a Man flayeth another in his own De-
fence, or by Misfortune : This the Law warrant-;

eth to be done.

Now having proved, that there is no lawful

Caufe fhewn in the Return why I fhould be a
Prifoner, together with the Infufficiency of the

Return : if fo, it is my Privilege by Law to be

difcharged and acquitted.

And the prefent Power hath declared to be
tender of -our Rights and Privileges : We have
no Rights, Privileges or Properties, but what
we are inflated in by the Law : if fb, then it is

my Right not to be deprived of what the Law
doth allow me. Your Lordfhip is a Judge of the

Law.

Captain John Streater'* Argument to the

Jecond Part of the Return.

My Lord,

S to the fecond Part of the Return, that

mentioneth an Order of Parliament, I make
this Exception, That it doth not mention any Caufe

at all of my Imprifonment. And feeing it doth not

fhew Caufe, it is of lefs Strength than the former
Part of the Return,wherein is Caufe fhewn, though
not a lawful Caufe.

And therefore there may be no more, but only
the bare reading of it to fnew the Infufficiency of
that part of the Return.

But here, if it fhould be objected, That it is

grounded upon an Order of Parliament, and that

the Parliament are not bound to fhew a caufe :

Truly, I am of Opinion that the Parliament

would not own any one that fhould fb argue, it

being fo perfectly repugnant to their Honour, it

being condemned in Parliament within our Me-
mory, as unjufl, illegal, unreafonable, and per-

fectly contrary to Law; and Law is the only

Scepter of Senates, Parliaments, Councils, Em-
pires, Kings, Princes, Governours and Magi-
flrates.

The late Parliament in their Declaration upon
declaring England a Free-State, (March ij. 1648.)
fay, That their only Authority is by the Law.

Again, they fay that they are fenfible of the
Excellency and the Equality of the Law flfEngland:
Alfo, That they fhould uphold the true approved
Rules, of the Law of England; and that the good
old Laws and Courts of Juflice, and the Cuflom
of England, are the Badges of our Freedom, Rights
and Privileges.

And this Parliament hath declared, That they
will be tender of our Rights and Privileges ; the

which we enjoy by our Laws.

29 Chap*.
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29 Chap. Magna Charta ; None /hall be taken

cr imprifoned, but by a legal Proceeding, according

to the old Law of the Land.

The words, None pall be taken, imply, That

none fhall take or imprifon any contrary to Law.

And it cannot be denied, but the Law in-

tendeth the Protection of innocent Perfbns in

Freedom : And there being no Caufe fhewn in

the Return, let the Command come from whence

it will, the Law will warrant a Difcharge.

If it be by Order of Parliament, if the Order

fhew not Caufe of Imprifonment, not a Caufe

only, but a lawful Caufe.

Parliaments ever made Laws, but the Judges

of the Law judged by thofe Laws.

Who will queftion but that the Warrant of a

Juftice of Peace, fhewing lawful Caufe of Im-

prifonment, is of greater Force in Law, than

an Order of Parliament fhewing no Caufe of Im-

prifonment ?

But, my Lord, the Parliament is here ; it is

their Authority that I apply myfelf unto ; there

is nothing can be done here but by their Autho-

rity ; that is to fay, the Law.

And therefore the Law, and feveral Acts of

Parliament, as that of the 17th of the late King,

and divers . others fay, That I fhall be dif-

charged.

Shall an Order of Parliament over-rule Laws,

Statutes, Cuftoms, Ufages and Reafon ?

No, my Lord, doubtlefs the Parliament's In-

tention in ordering that I mould not be delivered

but by Order of Parliament, is, That I fhould

be delivered by Order of Law, as I here expect

now, and do not queftion in the Jeafl.

Order of Law may be reckoned as the come-

lieft of all the Parliament's Orders.

Surely none will alledge, that the Parliament

intendeth to ftop the Proceedings of Law that

may relieve me ; or that this Order of Parlia-

ment is fuperior to Authority of Parliament that

is judicially in this Court.

My Lord, the Inferior muft give way to the

Superior. The fame Reafon that the Commons
in Parliament, of the 4th of the late King,

judged of the Invalidity of the Record in James
Dameftris and Cafar'% Cafe ; for that it was not

argued or debated it was not of Weight to be a

fufficient Record : The fame Reafon, I fay, may
be given for an Order of Parliament not to be

in force againft an Act of Parliament.

An Order of Parliament hath but the fame

Proportion with an Act of Parliament, that a

verbal Command hath with a Command by Re-
cord ; for that there are not the Debates, Deli-

berations, and three Times of reading of an Or-

der of Parliament, as is at the eflablifhing an

Ac~t of Parliament.

My Lord, befides, any rational Man will think

that the Wifdom and Prudence of the Parliament

is fuch, that they will not lay up fuch a Portion

for their Succeflbrs and Children, as a Record
that fhall be a Law or Precedent to After-Ages,

that fhall be in effecT:, That J. S. was remanded to

Prifon by the virtue of an Order of Parliament,

•when no Caufe isfhewn in the one part of the Re-
turn, nor lawful Caufe in the other.

When the fupreme Authority of Parliament,

the Law, and Acls of Parliament that contain

Law, fay exprefly, That if no Caufe (or lawful

Caufe) be fhewn in the Return for Imprifonment,

that then the Priloner fhall, be fet at liberty.

Vol. II.
J

And Anno 20 Edw. 3. cap. 1. That if Com-
mands come to the contrary, Judges fhall not ceafe to

do -even Law and Right.

Befides, Sir Edward Coke, in the 4th Part of
his Inflitutes, cap. 10. High Court of Parliament

\

intimateth that an Act of Parliament is not plea-

dable in a Court of Record, but by Record, or
under the Seal. And Mr. Sadler, in his Book,
entitled, The Rights of the Kingdom, and Cuftoms

of our Ancejlors, faith as much. Then much lefs

an Order of Parliament, that is not recorded up-
on the Parliament-Rolls itfelf.

My Lord, it is not to be imagined, neither do
I think, that the Parliament expected that their

Order (the inferior part of their Power) fhall

take place of the fuperior part of their Power,
the Law and Ads of Parliament that com-
mand Law, which is judicially here, as I faid

before.

My Lord, all Acts of Parliament that are un-
repealed, are their own: They are not theirs,

when they difbwn them . by repealing. Until
then they are with not otherwife in force, and are

Law.
My Lord, a Parliament, as they command Law,

may be called the Wifdom and Reafon of the

Nation.

Anno 4 Hen. 7. cap. 12. The Law is called the

Policy of the Nation. Indeed it is fo : Juftice is

the beft Policy, as I faid before.

None can demonftrate what Juftice is, with-

out the Law be as the golden Mete-Wand, that

Sir Edward Coke cautions Parliaments to leave

all Caufes to be meafured by, 4 Part. In/lit.

fol. 41.

Upon the Queftion of Henry VIII. to the

Judges, Whether a Man might be attainted of
High Treafon in Parliament, and not to call him
to his Anfwer ? The Judges Anfwer was, That

an inferior Court could not in Law or Juftice do fo :

And their Opinion was, That the higher the Court

is, the more jufi they ought to be.

It is not to be fuppofed that a Parliament will

act contrary to their Wifdom and Policy, which

is the Law : or that they would have their in-

ferior Power take place of their fuperior Power.

Neither will the Parliament plead againft me
with their Power, no furely, but by Law, le-

gally -, elfe they would have nailed up my Pri-

ion-Doors with armed Men, and never have

fuffered me to come to this Bar. And if that

they had not intended that I fhould have been

acquitted, they doubtlefs would have fhewn

Caufe. I know there can be no lawful Caufe of

Imprifonment fhewn againft me.

My Lord, Job's Friends, they tell Job that

becaufe he was guilty, in their Opinion, in the

fight of God of Sin, Job. xxii. 4. Will he (mean-

ing God) reprove thee for fear of thee? Will he

enter with thee into Judgment ? As much as to fay,

That God would cut him off from amongft Men
becaufe he was finful, and God powerful. But

faith Job, (Chap, xxiii. 3.) O that I knew where I
might find him, that I might come to his Seat ! I
would order 'my Caufe before him, and fill my Mouth

with Arguments. I would know the Words which

he would anfwer me, and under/land what he would

fay unto me. WILL HE PLEAD AGAINST
ME WITH HIS GREAT POWER ? NO ;

but he wouldput Strength in me. There the Righ-

teous might difpute with him, &c. And chap.xxxviii.

ver. 22. God faith, Gird up thy Loins like a Man,
* D d for
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for I will demand of thee, &c. And here God
declareth his Power and Wifdom vifibly in the

Creation of Creatures great in Magnitude, as the

Leviathan ; fweet in Influence, as the Pleiades

;

Swiftnefs and Courage of the Horfe in the Day
of Battle ; and fo of the whole Creation. That
this great and glorious Eternal God, that gave

a Being to all Beings by one only Concep-

tion of his Mind ; he willed them to be, and they

were : This God, you fhall find, pleaded with

Job by and by, in Chap. 42. ver. 4. Hear, I be-

feech thee, and 1 willfpeak ; / will demand of thee,

and declare thou unto me.

My Lord, will the Parliament plead againft

me with their Power, that is to fay, what they

may do ? Surely they will not ; but rather

ftrengthen me, by affording me the Benefit of

the Law at this Time and Place ; which is the

utmoft of what I do expect, and the which they

ought to do. By the which I fhall arrive at

my Liberty, which is my Right by Law, in

regard there appeareth no Caufe in the one
part of the Return, nor lawful Caufe in the o-

ther.

My Lord, I have feen the Copy of an Order
of Parliament, bearing Date the 21ft of Novem-
ber prefent, that faith, That John Streater be and

do ftand committed to the Prifon of the Gate-Houfe,

Weftminfter, in order to a Trial', and that Mr.
Speaker do ijfue a Warrant accordingly.

Without doubt this is the Trial intended by

the Parliament, here at this Place, to try whether

there be caufe of Imprifonment, or not.

The Innocent need no other Trial.

The Caufe that is already fhewn in the firft

part of the Return, is to be fuppofed true, and

all the Caufe that was to be fhewn, and none o-

ther ; for that the fecond part mentioneth no

Caufe at all. And if there had been lawful Caufe

fhewn, it is not to be denied but it had been of

force.

By all which it appeareth, that they intended

me the Benefit of the Law ; which fpeaketh this

Language, That the Innocentpjall be acquitted.

My Lord, an Order of Parliament is but as the

firft Thoughts of a Man, by which he intendeth

this or that.

An Act of Parliament and the Law, is like

the fecond, third, and fourth Thoughts of a

Man, wherein he altereth his firft Refolutions,

formed by his firft Thoughts, unto more fafe and

better Refolutions.

And it is not contradictory to himfelf at all,

nor never a whit below him.

My Lord, here are the Parliament's fecond,

third, and fourth Thoughts judicially in this

Court : It is Law digefted by Councils, De-
bates, Time and Practice, into Safety and Con-

veniency. The which is for their Honour to acl:

by : The Benefit thereof I pray.

My Lord, the Return faith I fhall not be de-

livered but by Order of Parliament. The Order

of Parliament faith not fuch a Word, but to

be committed in order to a Trial; at which I

am.
My Lord, the Return faith / fhall be com-

mitted Prifoner to the Gate-Houfe by Order of Par-

liament.

The Authority of Parliament, the Law judi-

cially in this Court, hath committed me Prifoner

to the Marfhal of this Court ; fhall this be cal-

led a Contradiction to the Order of Parliament?

No, furely it will not ftand fo in the Opinion of
this Court.

Neither can it be called a Contradiction to the

Order of Parliament, if I fhould be difcharged

of my Imprifonment ; becaufe the Authority of
Parliament, the Law, faith, If there be no Caufe

of Imprifonment, I/hall be difcharged.

The Law intendeth but three Things only to

defend, in which all elfe is comprehended : They
are Life, Liberty, and Eftate.

Liberty is the chief: Not a Liberty to do what
one lifts, either in obeying, or in commanding ;

but a juft preferving Liberty, that fhall be for

the Good of Society.

It was this that our Forefathers and we have
contended for by Arms : And being victorious,

will the Parliament deprive us of the Benefit of
the Law, which is the Ornament of our Tri-
umph ?

No, my Lord, they have declared to the con-
trary that they will not.

Something of the like nature may be conclu-

ded from the Anfwer of the Council of State to

my Keeper : The Keeper of the Gate-Houfe, when
he defired of them to know their Pleafure, whe-
ther he fhould allow the Writ of Habeas Cor-
pus, or not, in regard I was a Prifoner by
their Command ; their Anfwer was, They would
leave it unto him. As much as to fay, They in-

tended not to deprive me of the Benefit of the

Law.
My Lord Chief Juftice Hyde is not now on this

Bench, who once was, and to his Shame did de-

liver in effect this Judgment, That for feveral

Reafons of State, the King may do or act con-

trary to Law.
My Lord, I have power to kill this Gentle-

man next me, but not by Law.
It did better become Mr. Attorney-General

Heath, in his pleading for a corrupt Intereft (in

the Caufe of Sir John Heningham, and others,)

at this Bar, to alledge, That the King may act

above and contrary to the Law ; than Mr. At-
torney-General Prideaux, that is to plead in be-

half of a State, that fome fuppofe are laying a

Foundation of the Kingdom of Chrift. If he
fhould it would be the grandeft Inconfiftency

that poffibly could be, to what they have deck-
'

red, namely, Tendernefs of our juft Rights and
Privileges.

The which Declaration hath invited a natio-

nal Expectation thereof: The which fhould be
a fufficient Law to them to do nothing that

might deprive any Individual, though the moil
inferior and inconfiderable Part or Perfon of the

Whole ; becaufe they were comprehended in the

Whole, unto which the Promifes were made.
My Lord, upon the Agreement of fharing

the Roman Empire made between OSlavius, An-
tonius and Pompeius Sextus, it fell out that they

agreed to feaft aboard of Pompeius's Admiral-
Galley, lying at an Anchor off" the Head of

Mount Mifena : And when they were all a-

board, and merry, Menas the Pirate came and
whifpered Pompeius in the Ear ; Come, faith he,

Jhall I cut Cable, weigh Anchor, and fet Sail, and

not only make thee Lord of Sicily and Sardinia, but

of the whole Empire alfo ? No, faith noble Pom-
peius, I have not learned to break Faith, although

it were to the gaining of an Empire. When he

had invited them to a Banquet, they fhould not

be deprived of what they expected by Imprifon-

ment
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ment, or Lofs of their Shares of the Empire

:

Such Advice and fuch Practices do better be-

come Pirates and Thieves, than Perfons of Vir-

tue and Honour ; the which was in his power to

have done.

My Lord, feeing, as I fay, that the Parlia-

ment did at the firft declare that they would be

tender of our Rights and Privileges ; and feeing

it is our Privilege to have the Benefit of the

Law ; and feeing the Law faith, That if there be

no Caufe, there Jhall be no Imprifonment ; and in

regard there is no Caufe fhewn, why I fhould
"

be a Prifoner : I do aver that the Parliament

cannot have greater Difhonour put upon them,

than for any one to alledge that they intended

Imprifonment to me, if there mould no Caufe

in Law appear.

My Lord, if there be any thing elfe alledged

to be againft me than what appeareth upon the

Return and the Record, the Law requireth you

not to take notice of it.

And feeing there is no Caufe, there ought to

be no Imprifonment : If it fhould, it would be

Injuftice.

Juftice is one of the Attributes of God, that

by his Difpenfations he would have adminiftred

to Men,
The Adminiftration of Injuftice is a perfect

Fighting againft God.

I believe the Parliament would not be found

Fighters againft God.

My Lord, the Philofopher faith, Where juji

Law ruleth, there God may be faid to rule.

If you judge juftly, you have no Caufe to

fear.

I expect it, as you will anfwer the contrary at

the dreadful Day of Judgment.

Judge. What have you to fay, Mr. Attorney-

General ?

Prideaux. That which I have to fay is not to

argue, but to acquaint the Court he is commit-

ted by an Order of Parliament, which is not to

give an account to the Court. It is their Plea-

fure to commit him till he be cleared by an Or-

der of the fame Power. And I hope, my Lord,

you will not difpute it : For I know it is frefh

in your Memory, where Orders of the like na-

ture have been made by the Parliament. He is

to remain Prifoner by the Authority that put

him there.

Judge. Yea, as in the Cafe of Lilburne, Chetwin,

and others, which after made their Addrefs to

the Parliament ; which, if this Gentleman do, I

make no queftion but they will do according to

Law and Juftice by him, and no otherwifc,

fince he is committed by them ; and they only

know the Caufe of his Commitment.

Sir Thomas Witherington, Serjeant at Law
for the Commonwealth.

There has been two Counfels have fpoke fome-

thing in behalf of the Gentleman at the Bar

:

one of them pleaded this, That there was an Or-

der of Parliament, but not an Act of Parliament.

My Lord, an Order hath force as well as an Act.

As fcr Mr. Norbury, he faid, Part of the Re-

turn was true, and Part was not true. If it be

not true, he has an Action of the Cafe againft

the Keeper. Again, whereas he fays, That all

Acts of Parliament were made for the Liberty of

Vol. II.

the People : truly fb they are ; but not to give

leave to Licentioufnefs.

Judge. Mr. Streater, one muft be above ano-

ther, and the Inferior muft fubmit to the Supe-

rior > and in all Juftice, an inferior Court cannot

controul what the Parliament does. If the Par-

liament fhould do one thing, and we do the con-

trary here, things would run round. We muft
fubmit to the Legi dative Power : for if we fhould

free you, and they commit you again j why here

would be no end : and there muft be an end in all

things.

Where you fay we are not to imprifon you
without Caufe fhewn: It is true, we are not:

but if there be any that do difturb the Peace of
the Nation, we are to fettle things ia Peace and
Quietnefs ; for the Caufe of the Law is to quiet

the Nation.

The fecond thing that hath been objected a-

gainft the Return, was by Mr. Freeman: He fays,

The Parliament hath not Power to alter the

Laws. Why, they have the Legifiative Power,
and may alter and order in fuch fort as they pleafe

;

they may daily. If they find any thing that is

fit to be reformed, they may alter and reform

them, and make Laws new. It is ftrange a

Counfellor fhould fay this.

Another Objection was, That there was no
Caufe exprefs'd. It's true, here there is not.

We are Judges of the Law, and we may call

inferior Courts to an account why they do im-

prifon this or that Man againft the known
Laws of the Land ; and they muft fhew Caufe

to any Man. In this Cafe, if the Caufe fhould

come before us, we cannot examine it, whether

it be true or unjuft : they have the Legifiative

Power.

Now whereas you fay, It is but an Order of

Parliament, and has not been three times read in

the Houfe: How can you tell but that it has

been three times read ? Indeed they ufed to read

it thrice when the King and Houfe of Lords and

Commons fat ; and fo it may be now, for ought

we know. But if it were but once read, we
cannot call it into queftion, but muft conceive

it was on juft grounds : and it may be they

thought it not fitting to exprefs a Cafe in Mat-
ter of State j for if they fhould exprefs the

Caufe, and we not able to judge of it, there

would be nothing done in it. Therefore, Gen-

tlemen, we can do no more in it, and yet I hope

we fhall do according to Juftice, that the Peo-

ple may not be opprefs'd. If it had been a

Caufe we could have meddled in, fbmething

might have been done ; but now we fee no Caufe

it fhould be repealed.

Juftice Garmond. God made man, and gave

him a Law to live by ; and the Laws of Eng-

land are grounded on the Laws of God : and in

the Laws of England every Man is concerned.

And now the Parliament of England is grounded

on the whole Body of the Nation. Now if

one Power were not above another, things

would go in a Circle to and fro, and have no

end : Now this will bring them to an end, fince

the whole Law of the Nation is grounded on the

Parliament Laws.

Judge Nichols. I am of the fame Opinion, e-

very thing muft be done in order : And God is

the God of Order ; and therefore every thing ought

to be done in Order, and not in Confufion. Now
what the Parliament does, we cannot difpute or

D d 2 judge



204 Afiffle Cafe ofCapt]ohn Streater Mich.& Hil. 5 Car. II.

judge of : Their Laws are to bind all People;

and we are to believe they had Caufe for what

they did. And for that you fay an Order fhould

bt read three Times ; when I was a Parliament-

Man, divers Afts pafs'd with one time reading. In

the next place, you did diftinguifh between an

Order and an Ad of Parliament. Why, their

Power is a Law, and we cannot difpute any fuch

thing. And whereas you affirm it was once plead-

ed here, That the King was above the Law, and

might do what he pleafed againft the Law ; that it

was fo here, I do not remember : but the Parlia-

ment does not fo.

Prid. I humbly pray he may be remanded to

the Gate-Houfe again.

Judge Nichols. There is a Primum Mobile, or

things would come into confufion. The Parlia-

ment has the greateft Power.

Capt. Streater. I defire I might be bailed ; I

mail be a Prifoner neverthelefs : the Law ac-

counted one a Prifoner, tho' he be bailed : and

if. not bailed, I may be a Prifoner a hundred

Years.

Prid. My Lord, pray let him be fent to the

Gate-Houfe.

Capt. Streater. I defire then I may be a Prifo-

ner to this Court. I am a wounded Man, and

have done Service for my Country, and deferve

not to be fhut up in a clofe Hole. Befides, I

have been a Prifoner three Days contrary to the

Order of Parliament, by Order of Law, to the

Marfhal of this Court ; when the Order of Par-

liament faith, I Jhall be a Prifoner to tfie Gate-

Houfe : and if the Law can warrant the Court

for the doing of the one, doubtlefs it will for the

doing of the other. I am fure it is my Right

by Law.
Judge. No, no ; no fuch matter.

Prid. My Lord, I heard this Man fay he has

been wounded, and that he was for the Parlia-

ment ; but I am informed he was cafhiered. He
cited the Order of Parliament, and that they did

not publifh the Caufe wherefore : But I will fpeak

it publickly, it is in order to his Trial.

Capt. Streater. My Lord, he fpeaks falfly ; I

laid down my Commiffion myfelf.

Judge. We are to judge honourably of the Su-

preme Power.

Capt. Streater. You faid but now, my Lord,
you could judge of nothing but what was before

you upon Record.

Judge. Let him be fent again to the Gate-

Houfe ; he was committed there. And, Gentle-

man, you fhould do well to apply yourfelf to the

Parliament in the mean time ; for while we are

poffeft otherwife, it muft be our Office that you
muft be fent back according to the Order of
Parliament.

Capt. Streater. I never petitioned in my life -,

I fhall not now begin.

Prid. When the Caufe is done, you may leave

him as you found him.

Judge. You had your Habeas Corpus.

Capt. Streater. I could wifh I had the Benefit

of it, as is my Right by Law. I defire that no-

tice may be taken, that the fame Judgment and
the fame Plea were adjudged illegal, arbitrary,

and perfectly repugnant to Law, the juft Rights

and Liberty of the People in Parliament, the

4th of the late King, 1628, as in the Cafe of
Sir John Heningham, Sir Humphry Hampden, and
othersj at this Bar.

I

Judge. The King was Plaintiff againft them,
and he was but a Feoffee in Truft : the Parlia-

ment is Plaintiff againft you, and they are a Le-
gifiative Power.

The Prifoner was carried back to the Gate-
Houfe.

The Proceedings upon the Habeas Corpus
in Hihry-Term.

N the Vacation between Michaelmas and Hi-
lary-Term, the Parliament diffolving, Mr.

Streater refolved to apply himfelf again to the
Law ; he conceiving that the Order of Parlia-

ment was void, inafmuch as the Parliament was
diffolved. And accordingly, on Monday 23 Ja-
nuary 1653, being the firft fitting of the Judges
in Hilary-Term, he had Mr. Dormer of Coun-
fel, who moved the Court for an Habeas Cor-
pus. It was granted, and made returnable on
Thurfday the 26th next following. At which
time, the Keeper fent the Body of Mr. Strea-

ter^ with a Return of the Habeas Corpus not
figned : which being in Court, was refufed to be
received.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I am here brought to
this Bar, by virtue of an Habeas Corpus : I de-
fire that the Writ with the Return may be read.

Ld Ch. Juft. Let it be read.

Mr. Broughton. My Lord, the Return is not
figned.

Ld Ch. Juft. If the Return be not figned, we
cannot take notice of it.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I defire that another

Day may be appointed by Rule of the Court.

Ld Ch. Juft. We cannot do fo ; we cannot

take notice of you, whether you are the Perfon or

not, if the Return be not under your Keeper's

Hand.
Mr. Streater. My Lord, I defire I may have

an Alias Habeas Corpus.

Ld Ch. Juft. We cannot deny you that.

[The Alias Habeas Corpus was made returnable

on Monday the 31ft of January 1653.]

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I defire that I may by
Rule of Court have affigned of Counfel (with

me) Mr. Twifden, Mr. Freeman, Mr. Wilde, Mr.
Norbury, and Mr. Dormer.

Ld Ch. Juft. Let them be affigned.

Monday the 3 ift of January 1653, Mr. Strea-

ter was again brought before the Court of Up-
per Bench, by virtue of his Habeas Corpus.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I am brought hither

by virtue of an Alias Habeas Corpus. I defire that

the Writ, with the Return, may be read.

The Clerk reads the Return.

Liver, Lord Proteclor of the Commonwealth

of England, Scotland, and Ireland, &c. To
the Keeper of the Prifon of the Gate-Houfe,. Weft-
minfter, in the County of Middlefex, or his De-
putys there, Greeting. We command you, as for-
merly we have commanded you, that the Body of
John Streater Gent, in Prifon under your Cuftody

detained, together with the Day and Caufe of his

taking and detaining, by whatfoever Name the faid

John
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53 on an Habeas Corpus.

John is called therein, you have before us at the

Upper Bench in Weftminfter upon Monday next

after the Fifteen Bays of St. Hilary next to come;

to undergo and receive thofe things which our Court

f Upper Bench aforefaid of him fhail confider of

in this behalf. And this you muft not omit on any

wife, and upon peril that will follow thereupon.

Witncfs Henry Rolle, at Weftminfter, the 26th

Day of January, 1653.

And the Return of this Writ appears in a cer-

tain Schedule hereunto annexed, and the Anfwer

of Aquila Wykes, Keeper of the Gate-Houfe Pri-

ibn in Weftminfter.

TO his Highnefs the Lord Protector of the Com-

monwealth of England, Scotland and Ire-

land, and the Dominions thereof in the Upper

Bench at Weftminfter, at the Day and Place in

the Writ to this Schedule annexed named ; do cer-

tify, that before the coming of the faid Writ to me

directed, that is to fay, the 1 2th Day of Septem-

ber 1653, John Streater in the Writ named was

committed to my Cujlody, and there detained by vir-

tue of a Warrant from the later Council of State,

the Tenour of which Warrant followeth in thefe

Words.

« -rHESE are to will and require you to

* 1 receive into your Cuftody the Body of
* John Streater, and him you fhall fafely keep
« Prifoner in the Prifon of the Gate-Houfe, he
' being committed for publifhing feditious

' Pamphlets againft the State. Of which you
* are not to fail : and for fo doing, this fhall be
' your fufhcient Warrant. Given at the Coun-
* cil of State at Whitehall, this 12 th Day of
* September 1653/

Rob. 'Tichburn Prefid.

To the Keeper of H. Lawrence,

the Gate-Houfe. Sa. Moyer.

J . Hewfon.

Ch. Howard.

And the faid John Streater is alfo detained by

virtue of a Warrant under the Hand of the Speaker

of the Parliament -, the Tenour of which Warrant

follows in thefe Words.

« T) Y virtue of an Order of Parliament bear-

' Jj ing Date this prefent 21ft Day of Novem-
' ber, Thefe are to will and require you to re-
4 ceive and take into your Cuftody the Body of
* John Streater, and him to keep and retain in

* iafe Cuftody, until he fhall be delivered by Or-
4 der of Parliament. Whereof you are not to

* fail, as you will anfwer the contrary at your
' peril. Given under my Hand the 21ft Day of
' November 1653.'

Francis Rous Speaker.

And the faid John Streater is alfo detained by

Rule of the Upper-Bench Court ; the tenour of
which Rule follows in thefe Words.

TH E Keepers, &c. againft John Streater.

Friday in fifteen Days of St. Martin 1653.

The Defendant was this Day brought in Court

by virtue of a Rule of this Court, under the

Cuftody of the Marfhal of this Court : And
it is ordered, That the faid Marfhal do deliver

the Body of the faid Streater to the Keeper of
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* the Prifon of the Gate-Houfe in Wefiminfier, to
' remain under his Cuftody according to the Or-
' der of Parliament, upon the Motion of Mr.
6 Attorney-General.'

By the Court.

And thefe are the Caufes of the detaining ths

faid John Streater, whofe Body before the Prote-

ctor aforefaid I have ready accordingly, at the

Day and Place in the faid Writ contained, as I am
within commanded.

Aquila Wykes, Keeper of the Gate-Houfe.

Ld Ch. Juft. Mr. Attorney, what fay you to

it ? The Prifoner hath been here many times.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, I heard not of it.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I fent him notice the

fame Day the Writ was granted.

Attorn. Gen. My Lord, he fent me a Man
that faid he lived in Fleetjlreet, I do not know
where.

Ld Ch. Juft. How cometh it that you did not
fend him other notice ?

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I befeech your Lord-
fhip that 1 may not be intercepted by fuch Pre-

tences, and that I may not fuffer any Delay for

want of fuch Formalities. My Lord, Mr. At-
torney-General hath appeared often enough in

this Cafe ; he cannot with Credit pretend he is

unprovided to fpeak to it.

Ld Ch. Juft. Let the Prifoner be here again

on Friday.

[Mr. Streater was again fent back to the Gate-

Houfe, and was, on Friday the 3d of Fe-

bruary 1653, brought by Rule upon the A-
lias Habeas Corpus.]

Mr. Twifden. My Lord, I defire that the Pri-

foner may be bailed.

Mr. Wylde. I defire that the Writ and Return
may be filed.

Ld Ch. Juft. Mr. Atkin, what have you to fay

why it may not be filed ?

Mr. Atkin. Nothing, my Lord.
Ld Ch. Juft. Let it be filed, and let the Pri-

foner be here on Thurfday next.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I defire that I may
have afligned of Counfel with me, Mr. Latch and
Mr. Windham.

Li Ch. Juft. Let it be fo.

[The Prifoner was carried by the Marfhal of

the Upper Bench unto the Upper Bench
Prifon, Southwark ; and on Tuefday the 7th

of February 1653, was again brought into

Court, under the Cuftody of the Marfhal

of the Court.]

Mr. Twifden. I defire that the Prifoner may be

bailed. He is committed by two Orders ; the

one from the Council of State, the other from

the Speaker of Parliament, by virtue of an Or-

der of Parliament. The Order of Parliament is

out of Doors, the Parliament being difiblved.

Mr. Attorney-General began thus

:

My Lord, this Gentleman the Prifoner ftands

committed by Order of Parliament : And where-

as in his behalf the Counfel afligned for him
have
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have allcdg'd, That the Order of Parliament is

void, by reafon (as they fay) the Parliament is

difiblved

:

My Lord, Parliaments cannot be difiblved

;

the Parliament are the fame Power that is in

being now.

And Parliaments were to be once a Year, as

by the Statute of the 4th of Edward 3. at which

time he may be relieved. In the North Parts,

the Aflizes can be held but once a Year.

But grant that the Meaning of Parliament

was to deliver him themfelves, and not that they

meant the Parliament to be on the 3d of Sep-

tember 1654.; yet for that they ordered that he

fhould not be delivered but by Order of Par-

liament, I conceive he can be delivered no other-

wife than by an Order of Parliament, nor by any

other but a Parliament.

Poflibly when that the Parliament confifled

of King, Lords, and Commons, an Order of

one or two Houfes, without a threefold Con-

fent, had not been binding : but now the Power

that was in the Lords and King is joined in

the Commons, and therefore is of greater force.

And it is not material whether they fhew

Caufe or not ; there may be good Caufe : And
it cannot be prefumed that the Parliament would

commit a Man, and have no Caufe at all for fo

doing.

But without queftion, a Parliament may com-

mit Men, and fhew no Caufe.

But fuppofe his Commitment be in order to a

Trial in Parliament, will this Court take upon

them to judge in the Caufe ? Or can they by

Habeas Corpus bring the Body of the Prifoner and

the Caufe before them, out of Parliament ?

The Lord of Strafford was tried in Parliament

:

I believe this Court would not in fuch a Cafe

remove the Trial before them, nor indeed can

they. Upon the Return it appeareth, he is

committed by Order of Parliament, and to be

delivered by Order of Parliament : if they had

intended he fhould have been delivered other-

wife, they would have either faid nothing, or

have ordered he fhould be delivered according to

Law.
When Kings die, it is true, that Commifllons

do ceafe ; but when Parliaments do diffblve, their

Acts do not ceafe. Befides, a Parliament is the

Supreme Court, and they do conftitute other

Courts ; and therefore it is not for other Courts

to queftion the Proceedings of a Parliament.

It will not be expected of me to fhew that

the Parliament had fufficient Matter or Caufe of
Imprifonment.

To this the Judges anfwered, No, no : if he

had any thing more to fpeak to the Order of
Parliament, that was it that was to be fpoken

unto.

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, this Gentleman might
make his Application for his Liberty to the pre-

fent Authority elfewhere; and I doubt not but

it would be granted him : for now Parliamentary

Authority is in one Perfon.

My Lord, I doubt not but the Court will be

cautious in meddling in this Cafe, but will ra-

ther remand him to Prifon : Firft, for that it

may be that the Proceedings againft him are not

yet ripe j it may be yet under examination. Se-

condly, for that this is the firft Precedent of the

like nature, and it being of fo great and high
Concernment.

Mr. Twifden. My Lord, a Parliament may de-
termine, and Parliaments do determine ; and
when they do, their Orders alfo determine with
them. It is true, that Ads of Parliament do
continue ; but this is but an Order of Parliament
and not an Act of Parliament.

My Lord, we mult come hither to be re-

lieved ; this is the Place, this is the Court ap-
pointed for Relief in this Caie : we expect it,

and, my Lord, defire that the Prifoner may be
bailed.

Befides, my Lord, this is not an Order of Par-
liament upon Return, but a Warrant of the
Speaker.

Mr. Windham, of Counfel with the Prifoner.

My Lord, it is true, we find Writs of Error
returnable in Parliament, as in Flowerdew's Cafe,
and in Bafjet *s Cafe of Error given in this Court
of King's-Bench againft Bajfet, in a Judgment for

the King: Rot. Pari. 25 ic. 2. num. 24. This is

after Trial of Law, and not before.

As to the Cafe of the Lord Strafford, we
know not but that by Law he ought to have
been appeach'd here.

As to the Order, it is determined by Law.

Mr. Wylde, of Counfel with the Prifoner.

My Lord, the Order cannot be a Bar but that
the Prifoner may be bailed.

Befides, the Order is void, for that the Par-
liament difcontinueth ; and it is ordained, That
he or they that Jhallfay the Parliament continueth,

Jhall be guilty of an high Offence.

An Act or Order of Parliament is not a Judg-
ment of Parliament.

We are here coram Protetlore.

Capt. Streater. My Lord, I fhould not at all

undertake at this time, having fo many learned
Counfel afligned, who attend my Caufe and
who have fufficiently urged enough Law to
warrant the Court for my Difcharge, but that

the Attorney-General hath both laft Term and
this Term endeavoured to afperfe, to dif-

courage the Court, fo as to delay or deny me
Juftice : As the laft Term, by fuggefting to the
Court that I was a dangerous Perfon, and ftood
accufed in Parliament for high Mifdemeanours j

and faid that they were fuch, and fo dangerous,
that they for many fecret Reafons of State

thought it convenient not to difcover them.
And this Term, by faying, the laft Day of
hearing, that I was a ftubborn refractory Perfon,

and would not make my Application to the
prefent Authority, where ^he affured me that I

might have my Liberty for asking for it ; and
that my Endeavours were to ftrike at the very
Power of Parliament.

My Lord, as to what great and high Matters
or Things that were by him fuggefted to this

Court to be in Parliament, certainly it would
have appeared upon the Return : they have not
been intercepted, as to Time, in the making of
their Return to the Habeas Corpus ; they have
alfo had time to make feveral Returns ; and laft-

ly, to amend the Returns by Rule of Court.

Without queftion, my Lord, if they had had
other Caufe, they would have made it appear.

However, your Lordfhip can take no notice of

any thing but what appeareth upon Record.

My
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My Lord, as to the other that Mr. Attorney

uro-eth, That I am a ftubborn Perfon, and re-

fuie to make my Application to the prefent Au-

thority ; I deny it : my Actions give another

Teftimony of me, in this applying myfelf to the

prefent Authority in this manner, and at this

place, by Law ; this is the proper and only fu-

perior Court for Relief, in cafe of falfe or Jong

Imprifonment : it ever was in this Court fettled

by Law, the Supreme Authority of this Na-

tion, and the only Authority of thofe that will

take upon them Supreme Power. The Lord Protec-

tor hath fworn to govern this Nation according

to its Laws, Statutes and Cuftoms : and here I

make my Application to the prefent Authority

judicially in this Court. The Writ of Habeas

Corpus is in the name of the Lord Protector : by

which it appeareth, that thole Suggeftions are

falfe, and that I own the prefent Authority in

its proper Channel, and own its true Bafis, by

applying myfelf to the prefent Authority here

in this Court.

My Lord, I mould have infilled upon the

whole Matter now before you ; but I fee that

there hath been enough urged by my Counfel,

to mew the Invalidity of the Order of Parlia-

ment, the only Bufinefs where all fticketh.

My Lord, I fhall not fpend time to anfwer

Mr. Attorney-General, for that the Subftance of

his Argument is but of little weight, and not

worthy of any Anfwer.
,

Here followeth the Argument that Mr. Streater

had prepared to have infilled upon in this place

:

but for that he perceived the Opinion of the

Court was, that the Order of Parliament was

not in force now, he omitted to urge it further.

But for general Satisfaction, it is here prefented

the Reader word for word, according to his

Copy.

AM brought here by virtue of an Habeas

Corpus , which doth require that Caufe to be

fliewn why I am detained a Prifoner ; not who
committed me to Prifon.

Upon the Return, there is in the firft part a

Caufe, but not a lawful Caufe : in the fecond

part of the Return, no Caufe at all.

My Lord, the Intent in Law of an Habeas

Corpus is to relieve Priloners, notwithstanding of

fpecial Commands for Imprifonment: as ap-

peareth by an Act of Parliament in the 17th of

the late King, intitled An A£i for abolifhing of

the Star-Chamber, and for regulating the Council-

table ; which ordaineth, * That notwithftand-

* ing of fpecial Commands for Imprifonment,
' the Parcy fo imprilbned fhall by an Habeas Cor-
1 pus be brought before the Judges of one Bench
' or other : and if the Caufe of his Commitment
* be legal, he fhall be remanded •, if no Caufe,

* (that is to fay, no lawful Caufe) he fhall be fet

* at liberty : and if it be doubtful, then the
' Prifoner fhall be bailed.

'

This Act reciteth feveral Acts, as that of 17

R. 2. chap. 31. 42 Edw. 3. chap. 3. 28 Edw. 3.

chap. 9. Magna Charta, chap. 29. and the Peti-

tion of Right. Thefe Acts declare, that this is the

Intent and Meaning of the aforementioned.

My Lord, with thefe agree the learned Ar-
guments of Sir Edward Coke, Sir Edward Little-

ton, and Mr. Selden; together with the Refblu-

tion of the Commons in Parliament 1628 there-

upon, in thefe words.

Die Jovis, 3 Aprilis, 4 Caroli Regis.
' Reiblved upoii the Queftion, That no Free-
man ought to be detained or kept in Prifon,

or otherwife reftrained, by the Command of
the King, or the Privy-Council, or any other,

unlefs fome Caufe of the Commitment, De-
tainer, or Reftraint, be expreffed, for which
by Law he ought to be committed, detained,

or reftrained.

' That the Writ of Habeas Corpus may not
be denied, but ought to be granted to every
Man that is committed or detained in Prifon,

or otherwife reftrained, tho' it be by a Com-
mand of the King, the Privy- Council, or any
other, he praying the fame.
1 That if a Freeman be committed or detained
in Prifon, or othewife reftrained, by the Com-
mand of the King, the Privy-Council, or any
other, no Caufe of fuch Commitment, De-
tainer, or Reftraint, being exprefs'd for which
by Law he ought to be committed, detained

or reftrained, and the fame be returned upon an
Habeas Corpus granted for the faid Party ; then
he ought to be delivered or bailed.'

2 Part Inftit. fol. 52. The Warrant or Mitti-

mus ought to contain lawful Caufe.

Sir Edward Coke in his firft general Reafon
why a Habeas Corpus is to remove the Body not-

withftanding of fpecial Commands, faith, ' That
* Imprifonment in Law is counted a Civil Death,
* when Men are taken from their Houfe, Wife,
* Children,Country,Friends, and familiar Acquain-
4 tance, to live with wicked and wretched Men.'

Mirrour, Chap. 2. Sect. 9. faith of Prifoners

and Prifons thus : ' A Goal is nothing elfe but
* a common Prifon : and as a Leper, or a Man
1 who hath a difeafed Body, is not to be fuffered
4 to dwell or remain amongft Men who are
* found, csV. therefore mortal Offenders ought
1 to be feparated from the Society of People,
* to the end the Innocent be not infected with
* their Offences.'

Now, my Lord, if it be fb, it was of abfo-

lute neceflity for the Law to provide againft long
Imprifonment as well as wrong Imprifoment, not-

withstanding any fpecial Commands.
The Writ of Habeas Corpus, and the Benefit

by Law, is the undeniable Right of every Eng-
lifhman ; it is called the high Point, the only Point.

Nay, the Commons in Parliament, of the 4th
of the late King, in their Conference with the

Lords, fay, That they had recovered the Body of
Liberty, by clearing of this Point. In this is the

only difference between Slaves and Freemen, Vil-

lains and Freemen.

My Lord, the Law of England doth fettle a

Freedom in the People of England, in their

Life, Liberty, and Eftate : it doth relieve againft

any thing that fhall by any be done to their de«

triment, either in one or other.

Mirrour, Chap. 2. Sect. 18. of Appeals of

Imprifonment thus : Darling here appealeth

Weloc, for that whereas the faid Darling, &c.

the faid Weloc came and arrefted the faid Darling*

brought him to fuch a place on fuch a day, and put

him into the Stocks or in Irons, or in other Pain

or Inclofure : Such a day, this Felony he did felo-

nioufly.

My Lord, here we fee the Law ever did allow

of a Remedy to be had againft falfe Imprifon-

ment, Here
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Here is no Caufe of Imprifonment at all fhewn,

in either one part of the Return or other ; there-

fore I ought to be fet at liberty without Bail, as

is exprefly provided in the Aft of the 17th of the

late King, in thefe words :
' If there appear no

* Caufe of Imprifonment upon the Return, then

« thePrifoner fhall be fet at liberty, and not bailed.'

My Lord, he that is bailed, is ftill a Prifo-

ner ; for he is a Prifoner unto his Bail. If bailed,

it is to be prefumed a Caufe, though fuch upon

which he may be bailed.

The following Claufes of this Act explain the

Meaning to be ib, in thefe "Words :
* If the Caufe

* be doubtful, then the Prifoner fhall be bailed.*

My Lord, if it fhould be objected, That the

oreateft and only Caufe of my Imprifonment is

an Order of Parliament, or a Warrant grounded

upon an Order of Parliament, that faith I fhall

not be delivered but by Order of Parliament : I

have feen a Copy of the Order of Parliament,

wherein there is not any fuch word mentioned ;

but it only faith this, That Mr. Speaker do ijfue

forth a Warrant (according to the Order) for my

Imprifonment, &c.

Bat for that your Lordfhip is not to take no-

tice of any thing but what appeareth before you

upon Record, I fhall make no ufe of that ; I

fhall not need.

Firft, for that the Order itfelf is out of doors,

the Parliament being diffolved.

Sir Edward Coke, 4 Part Inftit. fol. 23. Chap.

High Court of Parliament, faith, That an Ordi-

nance of Parliament bindeth not in Succeffion : then

much lefs an Order of Parliament.

Befides, if Orders of Parliament were binding

in Succeffion, there would be no need of Acts of

Parliament.

And more efpecially fuch Orders are not bind-

ing, that there is no Reafon or Law in them,

but are oppofite to Reafon and Law.

Nay, but an Act of Parliament could not

make fuch a Return to be good or allowable, as

this, that fhall mention no Caufe for which a

Prifoner is committed: it is againfl Reafon a

Man fhould be committed for nothing; and if

there appear no Caufe upon the Return, this

Court is to prefume there is no Caufe, and

therefore ought to deliver the Prifoner, and can-

not but look upon fuch Returns as unreafonable,

and againfl Law.
The Dotlor and Student, pag. 4. Chap. 2. faith,

That fuch Statutes, Ordinances and Prefcriptions,

as are not according to Reafon, or are againfl Rea-

fon, they are not Statutes, Ordinances, or Prefcrip-

tions, but are things void in Law.
Again, my Lord, a Parliament cannot over-rule

juft Proceedings in or by this Court, that are ac-

cording to Law and Juftice : but a Parliament

may over-rule Proceedings in this Court that have

Error, or are not according to Law and Juftice.

My Lord, we underftand Parliaments to be

Legiflative Powers, and therefore not to be the

Executive : it is not for Law-makers to be Ju-

ftices of the Peace ; a Sheriff cannot be a Ju-

ftice where he is Sheriff. There is a Maxim,
That Law-makers mufi fuppofe all Men to be evil,

and therefore they make Laws againfl fuch Offences

in all Perfons : But Judges of the Law mufi fup-

pofe all Men good, until Convitlion.

If fo, my Lord, a Parliament are not compe-

tent Judges who and who not fhall be Prifoners.

But here are the Judges, before whom I am i

here is the Place where I am, that a Caufe of that

nature fhould be determined.

My Lord, I dare confidently aver, That if

ever it had entred into the Confideration of our
former preceding Parliaments, that a fucceeding

Parliament would ever do fuch a thing as com-
mit a Man for no Caufe at all, they would have
provided againfl it by an Act of Parliament in

Teftimony of their abhorring of fo great an
Abfurdity as it is.

Anno 1 H. 4. Chap. 14. It is provided, That
Appeals are not in any wife to be purfued in Par-
liament. No man can imagine it to be lawful

in any inferior Power to a Parliament.

If fo, it cannot be lawful in a fuperior Power.
Upon the Queflion to the Judges by Henry

VIII. ' Whether a Man that was forth-coming,
1 might be attainted of High-Treafon by Par-
* liament ?

' Their Anfwer was, ' That an in-
' ferior Court could not do fo ;* they thought a
Parliament would not : Their Opinion was,
* That the higher a Court is, the more juft they
' ought to be, to give example to inferior Courts.'

4 Part Infl. fol. 37. Chap. High Court of Par-
liament : If it be necefjary for inferior Powers to

fhew caufe of Commitment, it is as abfolutely neceffary

that a fuperior Court fhould.

From whence it may be concluded, That were
the Parliament in being, yet I might by Law be.

relieved by this Court.

1. For that the Law doth warrant my Dis-

charge, in cafe no Caufe of Imprifonment ap-
pear in the Return ; as by the 1 7th of the late

King, who had then the Executive Power in

his Hands, as fupreme Magiflrate : And the

fame Reafon why that it fhould be limited and
bounded when it was diftinct from the Legifla-

tive and Judicial, may be given, why it fhould

be limited when they are all joined in one

;

which is, That it may not extend to grieve any
contrary to Reafon and Law.

2. That none ought to be taken or arrefted,

but by fuch againfl whom a Remedy may be had
in cafe of falfe Imprifonment.

It was Sir John Markham's Opinion, That
the King could not arrefl, becaufe a Remedy could

not be had againfl him in cafe of falfe Imprifonment.

Much lefs a Remedy be had againfl a Parliament

that may poffibly arreft or commit Men upon
falfe Suggeflions.

Again, my Lord, if it had been an Acl: of
Parliament that had provided I fhould be a Pri-

foner in general words, and had provided I fhould

not have had the Benefit of an Habeas Corpus,

I conceive I might have been relieved by an
Habeas Corpus. This I fuppofe, if in cafe an
Aft could be made againfl Law and Reafon, as

fuch an A61 as fhould deprive me of a common
Benefit that is due unto all, and to every Indi-

vidual, throughout the whole Nation.

Parliaments ever made it their Work, (as in

duty they ought) to keep parallel to Law and
Reafon : they ever did make Laws agreeable to

both. But the Judges of the Law, in open
Courts of Judicature, did judge by thofe Laws

:

Nay, Parliaments ever did advife with the Judges
of the Law. The Judges of the Law were as the

Watchmen or Centinels to the juft Liberty of the

People •, and our Laws the Bulwarks of Defence.

Mr. Waller, in a Speech in Parliament at a
Conference of both Houfes, the 6th of July,

1641, faith, That out of Parliaments all our Courts

*
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of Jufiice are governed and directed by the Judges of

the Law ; and in Parliaments, the Lords and Com-

mons were affified by them : otherwife (faith he) it

might befiled Parliamentum indoctorum.

And further he faith, That Judges that delay

Juftice, or give falfe Judgment, or Opinions that are

contrary to Law, that they are no other than Confpi-

rators againft the Commonwealth. <

My Lord, Mr. Attorney-General hath not

omitted to poffefs this Court with ftrange Ap-

prchenfions of the Dangeroufnefs of me, both in

what he urged in this Court the laft Term, of

Dangeroufnefs, and this Term, of Stubbornnefs

:

fo that as much as in him lay, by his falfe Sug-

o-eftions, to prevent me of my Right by Law ;

as in the "Words of your Lordlhip, defiring that

I mio-ht be remanded till my Stomach came

down. .

My Lord, you fit here to raife the Spirits,

Minds, and Stomachs of Men, by doing of them

Right by Law, to encourage them to Improve-

ments and Induftry, by defending them in Life,

Liberty and Eftate, as the Law requireth and in-

tendeth.

My Lord, Articles were exhibited againft Sir

Robert Berkley, one of the Juftices of the King's-

Bench, and others. The Subftance of the firft

Article againft Sir Robert Berkley, was, That he

did traiteroufy and wickedly endeavour to fubvert

the Fundamental Laws and Efiablifhed Government

of England, by traiterous Words, Opinions and Judg-

ments.

The tenth Article: That the faid Sir Robert

Berkley being one of the Juftices of the Court of

King's-Bench, and duly Jworn as aforefaid, in

Trinity-Term 1637, deferred to difcharge or bail

Alexander Jennings, Prifoner in the Fleet, brought

by an Habeas Corpus to the Bar of the faid Court

;

the Return of his Commitment being, That he was

committed by two feveral Warrants of the Lords

of the Council, dated the 5th of November, 1636,

thefirft being only read in Court, expreffing no Caufe ;

the other for not paying Meffengers Fees : he was re-

manded in Michaelmas-Term . After, the faid Jen-

nings being brought by another Habeas Corpus be-

fore him, and thefame Return,yet thefaid Sir Robert

Berkley refufed to difcharge him, &c.

My Lord, I hope this Court, nay, I doubt

not but that you will eye the future, and judge

according to Law and Reafon, not by Difcre-

tion.

My Lord, fuch Advice followed, as Mr. At-

torney gave, is the ordinary Caufe of Changes in

States and Commonwealths.

1

.

Injuftice brings the Judgments of God upon

a Nation.

2. Injuftice difcontents a People, and Difcon-

tents are the ordinary Foundations that Changes

are laid upon.

It was but the other day the Lord Protector

took an Oath to govern according to the Laws,

Statutes and Cuftoms of this Nation : and now
his Attorney-General would have Matters ruled

by Difcretion in this Court, contrary to Law and

Reafon, to pull Mens Stomachs down.

My Lord, I make my Application to the pre-

fent Authority in its proper Channel, where of

right I ought to be relieved here in this Cafe of

mine by an Habeas Corpus.

My Lord, I do aver, that my Life, Liberty,

or Eftate, cannot be taken away, or given unto

me, but where the Law doth it.
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My Lord, God himfelf ruleth by Law, Eter-

nal, Moral and Natural ; and they have Cer-
tainty in them •> and he ruleth not otherwife, or
contrary to them. Andean it be imagined, that

there is a Mortal living, that will think it a

Diminution to his Honour, if Men choofe the

Law for their Sanctuary, rather than their

changeable Affections, and mutable Will and
Pleafure ?

There is a Maxim, « That the Law delighteth
4 in Certainty, and it doth abandon Incertainty,
4 as the Mother of all Debate and- Confufion,
4 than which there is nothing more odious in
4 Law.'

My Lord, another Reafon why I make my
Application to the prefent Authority this way
rather than any other, is, that the Record in

this Cafe will be of fingular Ufe and Benefit,

not only to the prefent, but to future Ages •, the
which I do in duty, in regard a Man ought to

prefer the Good of his Country before a private

Good.
The contrary will tend to the fubverting of

our Englifh Liberties. Our Forefathers left us a

Law, by which we might demand Juftice, and*

not be neceffitated to make ufe of Friends to beg
Juftice.

Mirrour, Chap. 3. Sect. 6. Of Exceptions to the

Power of a Judge, thus it is •, Sir, I demand the

Hearing and Sight of your Commiffion, by which you,

claim Jurifditlion over me.

Anno 13. Edw. 1. Chap. 3. When any is im-
pleaded before any Juftices, and doth alledge an Ex-
ception, praying that the Juftices will allow it -

t

which if they will not allow, &c. he fhall reauire

the Juftices to put to their Seal, &c.
My Lord, this Law of England is a Law of

Freedom, and a Law for Freemen, and not for

Slaves : it is a Law that fettleth a Right in its

Subjects.

Now, my Lord, having prefented your Lord-
fhip with what the Law accounteth of Imprifon-
ment, as in the Writ of Mainprife.

Whereas thou A. haft delayed to deliver B. to the

no fmall Grievance of him the faid B. and manifeft
Peril of his Life.

And, page 162. Fitz-Herbert'sNatura Brevium ;

of the Writ de Homine replegiando. The Kino-.

Whereas A. hath complained to us, Sec. We com-
mand you that he be replevy'd, &c. that we
hear no more a Clamour for want of Juftice.

Seeing the Law relieveth as well

Imprifonment as wrong Imprifonment ; and fets

ing that there is no lawful Caufe of Imprifon-

ment fhewn in the firft part of the Return, nor
Caufe at all in the fecond ; although it be
grounded upon an Order of Parliament, it is

void in a twofold Confideration. Firft, For
that the Parliament is diffolved. Secondly, For
that it is againft Law and Reafon • And alfo con-

fidering that this Court is the higheft Court of
Judicature that can relieve in this Cafe ; and it

being contrary to Reafon, that a Legiflative

Power fhould be an Executive Power, for they

will be Parties to judge by their own Law, they

will vindicate their own Commands, and will

take upon themfelves to give their Senfe, pof-

fibly different from the Letter of their own
Commands.
And therefore it is fafer for the Judges of the

Law to judge by the Letter of the Lav/, and

not otherwile.

Ee Mr

may

againft long
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Mr. Robert Brook, Serjeant at Law, in his read-

ing upon the 16th Chapter of Magna Charta, faith,

If a Man hath Judgment to he hanged, and if the

Sheriff do behead him, it is Murder.

The Letter of the Law is duly to be obferved,

and not to be varied from upon any Pretences of

Matters of State whatfoever.

All which confidered, I pray to be difcharged,

as the Lav/ hath provided : Your Lordfhip is

Judge of the Law.
Mr. Attorney. My Lord, for ought we know,

this is a Judgment in Parliament.

If it be not, yet it hath the fame Stamp that

an Act hath ; that is to fay, Parliamentary Au-
thority.

If this Order be not good, the Prifoner hath

an Action of falfe Imprifonment againfl the Jay-
lor. If the Order die by the Diflblution of the

Parliament, the Jaylor ought to have fet the Pri-

fon-doors open unto the Prifoner at the Time of

the Diflblution of the Parliament.

Mr. Twifden. My Lord, they have not returned

an Order of Parliament, but a Warrant from the

Speaker of Parliament.

Chief Juftice Rolle. Mr. Attorney, what if the

Parliament by Order do appoint a Committee,
the Parliament diflblved ; doth the Committee
continue by virtue of that Order, or not?

Mr. Attorney. I think the Perfons are diflblved :

But although it be laid, by Order of Parliament,

1 think that it is not much material whether the

word Act, Order or Ordinance be ufed. My Lord,

it is by Parliament.

Lord Chief Juftice Rolle. By your Favour, Mr.
Attorney, it is the word Order, Act or Ordinance,

we muft take notice of. How fhall we know
how to judge, but by the Word or Letter to direct

us ?

Judge Ash. Mr. Attorney, if an Order of Par-

liament fhall be in force after the Diflblution of

a Parliament, and there be an Order made for

the Commitment of one or more, as in the Cafe

now under Confideration ; I pray which way
fhall the Subjects be relieved, if not this way, in

cafe we fhould live to fee a Parliament but once

in one Age, as in the latter end of the Reign of

King James, and as in the Reign of the late

King ?

Lord Chief Juftice Rolle. This Court is the

proper Court to relieve in this Cafe ; this Court

is a ftanding Court, and the Law doth adjourn

it from time to time { but a Parliament is a new
Court, they appear, and are always fummoned
by new Writs.

Mr. Attorney. The Prifoner knoweth he might

have his Liberty for asking for.

Ld Ch. Juft. Rolle. A Man is not bound to do

that. Well, let the Prifoner be remanded until

Saturday; and then we fhall deliver our Opinions:

It is a weighty Bufinefs. And, Gentleman, in

the mean time you may 'make your Application

otherways for your Liberty.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, the Law hath provided

no other way, and I am bound to take notice of

the way the Law hath appointed.

Our Forefathers knew no other way.

My Lord, I defire that I may have the Liberty

to go to my Counfel with my Keeper : Both the

laft Term, and this, I have not at all advifed

with my Counfel.

Ld Ch. Juft, Rolle. That will not be denied

you.

Mr. Wylde. My Lord, it was moved this Term,
and it was denied, being oppofed by the other
fide, but it was before the Writ was filed. And
I fuppofe that the Court may grant that Liberty
to the Prifoner under the Cuftody of their own
Marfhal.

Saturday, February n.

THE Prifoner was brought again to the Bar,
under the Cuftody of the Marfhal of the

Court.

Ld Ch. Juft. Rolle. Sir* have you your Counfel
here ?

Mr. Streater. Yea, my Lord.
Ld Ch. Juft. Rolle. Where are they ?

Mr. Windham. I am of Counfel for the Prifoner.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, here is alfo Mr. Wylde,
Mr. Freeman, Mr. Norbury.

Ld Ch. Juft. Rolle. Deputy-Marfhal, go into
the Chancery, and acquaint Mr. Attorney-General
that we are going to deliver our Opinions in Strea-

ter's Cafe : And if he pleafe to be prefent, he
may ; or if he hath any thing more to urge.

Mr. Pain, Deputy-Marfhal. My Lord, I have
been with Mr. Attorney-General j and he faith he
will be here immediately.

[After a little fpace of Time, Mr. Attorney
cometh into the Court.]

Ld Ch. Juft. Rolle. Mr. Attorney, here is Mr.
Streater again by Rule of Court. He hath been
a long time in Prifon ; and I fee here is nothing
come againft him that is material.

Mr. Serjeant Twifden, of Counfel for the Pri-

foner. My Lord, we defire that he may be bailed.

Ld Ch. Juft. Rolle. What, have you any thing
more to fay, Mr. Attorney ?

Mr. Attorney. My Lord, I thought I fhould
have heard of him ; but I did not. The Court
muft do Juftice: He is committed by Order of
Parliament.

My Lord, if you will undo an Order of Par-
liament, he is to be delivered : But I hope the

Court will not.

Mr. Windham. The Order of Parliament is un-
done by the Parliament's being diflblved.

Mr. Attorney. Commiflions of Sewers are grant-

ed by Parliament, and they do continue after the

Parliament is diflblved. Goal-Delivery is but once
a Year in the North-Parts : And I fuppofe the

next Parliament will be fitting before he hath been
a Year in Prifon ; at which time he may be tried,

or delivered : And although this be called an
Order of Parliament, yet it was acted by Par-

liament.

Ld Ch. Juft. Rolle. But all that the Parliament

acteth are not Acts of Parliament.

The firft part of the Return is too general:

It mentioneth not what Books, nor whofe Books,

or where they were, or when publifhed.

The fecond part of the Return is grounded
upon an Order of Parliament : We are to take

notice when a Parliament fitteth, and alfb when
it is diflblved ; or when it endeth or determineth.

Difcontinuance is a Determination.

A Writ of Error many times is made returnable

in the next Parliament ; but that lieth after Trial

at Law. The Word Order is a proper Phrafe to

that which is not an Act.

An
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An Order of Parliament is not binding in Suc-

cefnon : How fhall the next Parliament take no-

tice of a former Parliament's Order ?

Committees that are appointed by Order of Par-

liament do ceafe upon the diffolving of the Parlia-

ment. I have been of the Parliament: I ever

found Parliaments of the fame Opinion.

We muft look to the firft Imprifonment, and

no farther: If you had returned other Caufe, we

fhould have taken notice of it.

We do not reverfe the Order of Parliament

;

that is reverfed by the Parliament's being diflblved:

And it being diffolved, there is no vifible way how

the Prifoner fhall be relieved, though there may be

a probable way.

Judge Ask. I am of the fame Opinion ; and

that it could not be, that the Order of Parliament,

by faying he fhould not be delivered but by Order

of Parliament, but that they meant by the fame

Parliament, and not by a fucceflive Parliament. If

it fhould be taken to be by Order of the next Par-

liament, where fhall be the Liberty of the Sub-

jects? Or how fhall they be relieved in long In-

terval of Parliament ? As in the Reign of King

James, and the Reign of King Charles, we had

not Parliaments in many Years together ; and al-

though it be Co, that the Parliament, by the Sta-

tute of the 4th of Edw. 3. fhould be once a Year,

or oftner, if need be. Befides, here is no Suc-

ceftion of Parliament, but a DifTolution. Another

Parliament, muft be another Seffion ; and there-

fore an Order cannot be in force until another Sef-

fion. If they had made an Act of Parliament, or

pafTed a Judgment of Parliament, it had been ano-

ther Cafe.

Upon the Confideration of the whole Matter,

the Judges Opinion was, That the Prifoner ought

to be difcharged, and this Rule enter'd.

Saturday next, after eight Days of the Purifi-

cation, 1653.

The Lord Protector againft John Streater, Gent.

HE Defendant was brought into Court by the

Marfhal, upon Habeas Corpus ; and by the

Court difcharged of his Imprifonment, by the Motion

of Mr. Serjeant Twifden.

By the Court.

Ld Ch. Jufl. Rolle. Sir, you will do well to carry

your felf conformably to the prefent Power, and
walk inoffenfively.

Mr. Streater. My Lord, I ever have been, and,

I hope, fhall be, a Subject to Government, fo as

the Law requireth me to be : It is not my Duty to

be otherwife fubjecl:.

POSTSCRIPT.
IF you obferve the Tenor of the Writ of Ha-

beas Corpus, as it is obferved by Mr. Streater

in his laft Argument, that the Writ doth only
require that Caufe be fhewn why the Party
is imprifoned, not who did commit the Party to

Prifon : If any Caufe lawful was returned, then
the Party is to continue ftill in Prifon ; but
without Caufe no Commitment, from what
Power foever, can or ought, in Law or Reafon,
to be binding. That it is the Caufe only for
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which a Prifoner is committed, that cutteth the
Prifoner off from the Benefit of a Habeas Corpus,
and not the Will, Pleafure, or Power of thole in
Power. Here take Sir Edward Coke's Nine Gene-
ral Reafons, why a Habeas Corpus is to relieve
againft illegal or long Imprifonment.

The Firft General Reafon.

The Firft General Reafon is drawn h re ipfa,
from Imprifonment, ex vifceribus caufe, be it thofe
or other Imprifonments, which are divided into
three Parts.

1. No Man can be imprifoned at the Will
and Pleafure of any, but he that is bound, and a
Villain

;
for that Imprifonment at Will is Tailes luy

haut bafe, are propria quarto modo to Villains
2. But if Freemen of England might be impri-

foned at the Will and Pleafure of the Kina Gr
any other's Command, then were they in worfe
Cafe than Bondmen and Villains: for the Lord of
a Villain cannot command another to imprifon his
Villain without Caufe, as of Difobedience, or re-
futing to ferve; as it is agreed in our Books.

3. Imprifonment is accounted in Law a' Civil
Death; Perdit Dsmum, Familiam, Vicinos, Putn-
am; his Houfe, his Family, his Wife, his Chil-
dren, his Neighbours, his Country, and to live
among wretched wicked Men.

If a Man be threatned to be killed, he may
avoid a Feoffment of Lands, Gifts of Goods, fc?/
So it is, if he be threatened to be imprifoned he"
fhall do the like; for that is a Civil Death.

The Second General Reafon.

_

The Second General Reafon is, A minore adma-
jus

; p^na corpora/is eft majus qualibet pecuniaria •

but the King himfelf cannot impofe a Fine upon
any Man. r

But it muft be done judicially by his Judges
per Jufticiar* in Cur', non per Regem in Camera.
And io it hath been rdblved by all the Iudo-es f
England. °

The Third General Reafon.

The Third General Reafon is drawn from the
Number and Diverfity of Remedies, which the
Law giveth againft Imprifonment, viz. Brevia de
homine replegiando, de Odio fc? Alia, de Habeas Cor-
pus, i£ Brev' de Manucaptione

.

The former of thefe are antiquated ; but the
Writ de Odio fc? Atia is revived, for that was given
by the Statute of Magna Charta, cap. 26.

&
And

therefore though it were repealed by the Statute of
28 Edw. 3. cap. 9. yet it is revived by the Statute
of 43 Edw. 3. cap. 1 . by which it is provided, That
all Statutes made againft Magna Charta are void.
Now the Law would never have given fo many
Remedies, if the Freemen of England might have
been imprifoned at Free-will and Pleafure.

The Fourth General Reafon.

The Fourth General Reafon is drawn from
the Extent and Univerfality of the pretended
Power to imprifon; for it fhould not extend
only to the Commons of the Realm, and their

Pofterity, but to the Nobility, and the Realm,
and their SuccefTors; to all Perfons, of what
Condition, or Sex, or Age foever ; to all Judges,

Ee 2 Officers,
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Officers, &c. whofe Attendance are nccefiary,

without Exception of any Perfon.

The Fifth General Reafon.

The Fifth General Reafon is drawn from the In-

definitenefs of Time : The pretended Power being

limited to no Time, it may be perpetual during

Life.

The Sixth General Reafon.

The Sixth General Reafon is drawn a Dedecore,

from the Lois and Dishonour of the Englifh Na-

tion, in two Refpecls : i . For their Valour and

Power, fo famous through the whole World.

2. For their Induftry: For who will endeavour to

employ himfelf in any Profeffion, either of War,
Liberal Science, or Merchandize, if he be but Te-

nant at Will of his Liberty ? And no tenant at Will

will fupport or improve any thing, becaufe he hath

no certain Eftate. And thus it mould be both De-

decus & Damnum to the Englifh Nation : And it

fhould be no Honour to the King, to be a King of

Slaves.

The Seventh General Reafon.

The Seventh General Reafon is drawn ab Utili

& Inutili: For that appeareth by the Statute of 36
Edw. 3. that the Execution of the Statute of

Magna Charta, 5 Edw. 3. 25 Edw. 3. and 28

Edw. 3. are adjudged in Parliament to be for the

common Profit of the King, and of his People

:

And therefore the pretended Power being again ft

the Profit of the King, and of his People, can be

no part of his Prerogative.

The Eighth General Reafon.

The Eighth General Reafon is drawn a Tuto:
For it is fafe for the King to exprefs the Caufe of
the Commitment, and dangerous for him to omit
it. For if any be committed without expreffing
the Caufe, though he efcape, albeit the Truth be
it were for Trealbn or Felony ; but if the Cxufe
be expreffed to be for Sufpicion of Treafon or Fe-
lony, then if he efcape, albeit the Truth be it

were Treafon or Felony, yet the Efcape is neither
Felony nor Treafon : But if the Caufe be exprefied
to be for Sufpicion of Treafon or Felony, then if

he efcape, albeit he be innocent, it is Treafon or
Felony.

The Loft General Reafon.

The Laft General Reafon is drawn from Autho-
rities, 16 H. 6. Means de Fait, 182. by the whole
Court : The King in his Prefence cannot com-
mand one to be arretted, but an Action of falfe

Imprifonment lies againft him that arrefteth. 22
H. 7.4. Newton. 1 H. 7. 4. The Opinion of
Markham, Chief Juftice to Edward the Fourth

;

and the Reafon, becaufe the Party hath no Re-
medy.

Foriefcue, cap. 8. Proprio ore nullus regum ufus

eft, &c. to commit any Man.
4 El. Plo. Com. 236. The common Law hath

fo admeafured the King's Prerogative, as he can-

not prejudice any Man in his Inheritance: And the

greater! Inheritance a Man hath, is the Liberty of
his Perfon j all other are acceffary to it.

L. The Trial of John Gerhard, Peter Vowell,
and Somerset Fox, before the High Court of Juftice

for High-Treafon, in confpiring to Murder the Lord Pro-

testor, the %oth of June, 1654. 6 Car. II.

Friday, 30 June, 1654.

H E High Court of Juftice met this

Day in the Painted Chamber.

Mr. Bond prayed with them about

half an Hour.
The Court then fat, and prefently

adjourned to the Court of Chancery prepared for

their Sitting ; The Lord CommifDoner Li/le was

Prefident, Mr Phelps Cierk, Serjeant Glyn, Mr. Pri-

deaux, and Mr. Ellis, Council for the Common-
wealth.

The Court was called (each Member by Name)
and the Ordinance impowering them read.. The
Prifoners to be tried were,

Mr. John Gerhard, Gentleman.

Mr. Peter Vowell, Schoolmafter of Iflington.

And Somerfet Fox.

Somerfet Fox was firft called to the Bar, and an

Indictment of High-Treafon read againft him,

for joining in a traitorous Defign to have murdered

his Highnefs the Lord Protector and divers of his

Council, Proclaimed Charles Stuart King, feized.

on the prefent Guards and Forces, involved the

Nation in a bloody War, &c.
Somerfet Fox did ingenuoufiy confefs the Charge

againft him upon the main, to be true, and that

he is guilty.

Then Mr. John Gerhard and Mr. Peter Vowell

were brought to the Bar, and an Indictment td

the fame purpofe as that againft Somerfet Fox,

read againft them.

They pleaded Not guilty, and denied every

thing.

Vowell faid that he required a Jury of Twelve
of his Equals, it being a Law confirmed by
Magna Charta ; and according to the fixth Ar-
ticle of the Government by the Lord Protector

alfo,
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alfo, that Law being not repealed, and therefore

that he might be tried by his Peers.

The Lord Prefident told him, That the Mem-
bers of the Court were his Peers, not his Supe-

riors but his Equals, and that they were prefent

near twice twelve, as he faw ; And that they are

to proceed by the Power of an Ordinance before

them.

It was alfo told him by Serjeant Glyn that he had

owned the Jurifdiclion of the Court, in pleading

not Guilty.

Vowell faid he was a Man ignorant in the Law,

and defired advantage might not be taken of his

weaknefs.

The Attorney General Prideaux faid none de-

fired to take any advantage of any thing, wiihed

they had not brought themfelves into thefe

troubles ; that they were there in the name of

the Lord Protector of the Commonwealth of

England to accufe the Prifoners at the Bar, and

to bring in their Proof, and the Prifoners were to

defend themfelves as well as they could, and when

both fides were heard, it was to be left to the

Court to determine, and to judge between

them.

And it was declared that the Plot was to this

effect.

That the Plot was to feize on the Lord Protector

and murder him, and fome of the Council and

others, and Proclaim and bring in Charles Stuart,

Son of the late King, to be King, which Bloody

Defign was to be effected thus.

That the firft hatching of the Plot was in Eng-

land by Mr. Hinjhaw, who was one of the chief

Plotters, and others ; Mr. Hinjhaw went over from

England to France to acquaint Charles Stuart (whom
they called their King) with the Defign, and Mr.

John Gerhard about that time went over to France

alfo, who had told Mr. Hinjhaw that he would do
nothing in it until he had firft had approbation

from Charles Stuart. Mr. Wijeman was alfo then

in France with them.

Addrefs was made to Prince Rupert, and the

Defign made known to him, defiring him to com-
municate it to (him they called) the King, who
accordingly did, and brought Mr. Hinjhaw to him,

but Charles Stuart at the firft delivered his Judg-
ment in the thing, that he was at prefent unfatis-

fied at that time to go on in that defign for three

reafons.

1. Becaufe it would be difhonourable to him in

the efteem of other Princes, in cafe fuch a thing

Ihould be known, and fhould not be effected, to

come in in fuch a way.

2. Becaufe it did not feem to him to be feafible,

but unlikely to be effected.

3. Becaufe it was not at that time feafonable.

But Prince Rupert afterwards did much encou-

rage and perfuade, That the defign might be car-

ried on, and promifed all affiftance.

Mr. Hinjhaw, and Mr. Wijeman returned into

England, hAx Gerhard ftayed there a while lon-

ger, but fome Weeks after came back alfo j

Mr. Hinjhaw declared to his Confederates here in

England what Overtures had been with Charles

Stuart, and that Prince Rupert had engaged to

fend ten thoufand Scots, Englijh, and French, and
the Duke of York to come with them to land in

SuJJex, and other places, and that there would
be Forces enough ready to alTift and join with
them.

Mr. Hudjm the Minifter was thought on, to

have Letters of Credence from Charles Stuart, who
fent a Letter to him, and that which he defined in

cafe the Plot had taken,was to be made the Mafter
of Sutton's Hofpital, which Mr. Hinjhaw promifed
him.

One Mafter Philips alfo, and others were treated

with about it, and Mafter Gerhard returning from
France, the Plot was refolved to be carried on?

which was to be effected thus.

1

.

They were to feize on the Lord Protector,

and Murder him; and to do this Work, they

fhould take the opportunity of his going to Hamp-
ton-Court, which he ufed to do every Saturday,

with a fmall number flenderly armed •, and thofe

that were to do this were Mafter Hinjhaw and
Mr. John Gerhard, with thirty Horfe. Mr. John
Gerhard to bring twenty five Horfe, and Mr. Hin-
jhaw five, which each of them was to engage.

Mr. Gerhard was fomething cautious not to dis-

cover who they were he engaged, before an Oath
of Secrecy was given, but twenty five he had un-

dertaken for.

Mr. Hinjhaw*s five were himfelf, Mr. Tuedore

the Apothecary, Mr. Wijeman, Col. Aldridge, and
another, and then to feize on the Tower of London^

and to go on with their work.

2. If that failed, to feize on all the Guards
about Wejlminjler, which they thought two
thoufand five hundred fufficient to do, and carry

on their work here about London ; and for that

purpofe - Mr. Hinjhaw, Mr. Gerhard and o-

thers viewed the Meuje, and the reft, and was

heard to fay, What a pity it was that fo (lender

Guards fhould not be feized on, and that when
the Soldiers were at Nine-pines in the Meuje, it

was but fhooting off a Piftol, and prefently to

fall on.

3. The laft way to have it effected to be thus,

That when the Foot Regiments that are for the

Guards about London were Muftering in Tuttle*-

Fields, as they ufe feveral times to do, to come
into 'Tuttie-Fields and meet them there as of their

own Party, and when they have kid down their

Arms to feize upon them, and have others to be

ready at the fame time every where to perfect

the work. And for this purpofe, if they acted

this way.

Col. Finch with a Party of two hundred was to

fall into London, and do the work in the City.

Major John Gerhard to fall on White-Hall.

Col. Hinjhaw to fall on the Meuje.

Col. Daniel with two hundred to fall on St.

James's.

Another to fall into Southwark.

And one Billingjly, a. Butcher at Smithjield

Bars, with a Party to fall upon IJlington -, and ic

was preffed that the opportunity might not be

neglected.

And that the Work might be the more feafi-

ble, they confidered how as many of the Sol-

diery as might be, might be engaged in the Bu-

finds. And the Papifts (who had a great hand

in the Defign) gave information of two Soldiers

of the Army, that ufed fometimes to come and

hear Mafs, and thefe two they fent a Papift

Woman to, who engaged them, and their di-

rection was, to give intelligence at Mr. Hudjcn*s

Houfe, where Mr. Hinjhaw and others of them

frequented.

Mafter Vowell was cautious being a folid Man,
for his Work was not to bear Arms, but as

a Privy-Counfellor to them, and he was to en-

gage
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engage Mr. Billingfly the Butcher with a Party to

feize the Lord Protector's Houfe at Ifiington, and

him Mr. Vovjell recommended to be a very fit

Man for that Work.
And they had this Art, to endeavour to make

the Lord Protector odious to the People, in turn-

ing the Defign upon him by a Libel, which was

fcattered up and down London, that his Highnefs

and the Army had a Defign to Maffacre all but

their Friends in all Parts of England; and this Li-

bel was written by Mr. Fenfhaw, which was got

printed by one in Newgate-Market) and Mr. Vowell

had one of them.

When the Defign was difcovered, and Mr. Ger-

hard and fome others apprehended, Mr. Vowell

being at Mr. Hudfon's Houfe, it was faid by him,

That the Defign might ftill go on, though fome

were difcovered ; Mr. Hinfhaw, and Mr. Wifeman

came to him to IJlington to his Houfe, from whence

they went to drink their Morning's Draught.

Mr. Vowell faid, There were enough to do the

Work ftill ; Mr. Wifeman faid, There were many
Horie to fall on ; Mr. Vowell faid, It might be

eafily done.

One Wharton in Black-Friers was to proclaim

Charles Stuart King, and Col. Finch was to feize

on the Lord Mayor, and make him to proclaim

him ; Somerfet Fox and others were to raife

Apprentices to join in the Defign ; but the

Lord Protector going by Water difappointed

them.

Mr. Vowell then faid to the Court, That they

were not his Peers becaufe they were his Judges,

and therefore defired a Jury of Twelve of his

Equals.

Mr. Prideaux anfwered, that fo a Jury are the

Judges, though they be the Prifoners Peers.

The Witneffes againft the Prifoners at the Bar were

calledfor.

John Wifeman was fworn, and being required to

give Evidence what he had to fay touching the

Prifoners at the Bar, avouched the Charge againft

them, and faid,

That he was with Mr. Hinjhaw in France, who
did communicate by Prince Rupert to CharlesStuart

the Defign, as is before expreft.

That he faw Mr. John Gerhard oftentimes with

Mr. Hinjhaw while he was in France, and that he

told him in England, That there was a Plot to fall

on the Lord Protector, and to bring in Charles Stu-

art to be King, and to the reft of that Defign as

is before expreft. And about three Weeks after

he met Mr. Hinfhaw, and Mr. John Gerhard, and
they went to James's^ and the Meufe, White-Hall,

and other Places.

That Mr. John Gerhard told one Mr. Mi-
nors of the Bufinefs, and how they were to fall

on my Lord Protector, and fo as before is ex-

preft.

Then Mr. Gerhard interrupted him, faying,

How jhould this be done with a Company of
Geefe ?

To whom Mr. Prideaux anfwered, That he

knew beft how it flmuld be done, and wijh'd he had
ne'er known it, nor gone about it.

Mr. Wijeman went on in his Evidence, and faid,

That Mr. John Gerhard being at Mr. Hudfon's

Houfe, did there fpeak about the Plot to fall on
the Lord Protetlor, &c.

That he had a Difpute with Mr. Hinjhaw

(whom the faid Wifeman calleth Brother by fome

Relation) That fuch a time, and fo, and fo,

would be feafonable (mentioning fome Particu-

lars.).

That another Day he heard Mr. John Gerhard
fay, That he was to command the Party, and had
a Piftol that would difcharge three feveral times,

Mr. Hinjhaw, and leveral other Perfons being then

by ; and that he doubted not but it would be fea-

fonable. That there were to be about Thirty Per-

fons to fall on the Lord Protestor , that his Brother
Hinjhaw faid he was to bring Five, and Mr. Ger-
hard Twenty Five to do the Work, and named the

Five aforefaid that his Brother Hinfhaw was to

bring, and that his Brother Hinjhaw told him
that Mr. John Gerhard was to furprize the Lord
Protector's Perlbn.

And when the Plot was difcovered, he heard
his Brother Hinjhaw fay, that they that were taken
were all of Gerhard's, Party, and none of his, and
that there was a Libel printed to turn the Plot on
the Lord Protector, as is before expreft ; and that

his Brother Hinjhaw and Mr. Vowell had fome of
the Papers.

Thai" on Wednefday after it was difcovered he
was at Mr. Vowell's Houfe at Ifiington, and his Bro-
ther Hinfiaw was there, and they went to the

Kings-Head to drink, and there his Brother Hin-
fhaw faid, that the Bafinefs might go on for all it

was difcovered, many Regiments in feveral Parts

being ready to rife, enough to carry on the

Work.
Mr. John Gerhard, and Mr. Peter Vowell, the

Prifoners at the Bar, ftill denied all, andfaid it was
not true what hefaid.

Then Mr. Edward Hudfon a Minifter, that was
blind, was fworn, who laid that Mr. Hinfhaw
defired him to write two or three Words to the

Scotch King, and that Mr. Hinfhaw related all the

Bufinefs to him of the Defign, and the three

Objections by Charles Stuart, and P. Rupert'*, An-
fwer afterwards, and the three ways to effect it j

very much agreeing with the Particulars afore-

mentioned.

When he came to Particulars touching the

Prifoners at the Bar, he faid that Mr. Vowell was
his intimate Friend, one that he had been much
beholden to, and might have perifhed had not

he relieved him. That Mr. Hinfhaw fought to en-

gage Mr. Vowell, but he anfwered that he thought

himfelf to be unfit -, That he faid he did not relifh

it: What Mr. Hinjhaw and he did agree, he
knows not. What he heard was from Mr. Hin-

jhaw, That he did meet accidentally, That he

did fufpect Mr. Vowell to act, but was not fure

of it, That he did fuppofe they had concluded,

but was not fure of any thing. That Mr. Vowell

faid he was himfelf unfit to engage, but he would

engage a Friend if he could ; That Mr. Vowell faid

there were a great many Horfes at Ifiington which

might be furprized, that he would try what he could

do, but whether he did any thing or not, he

knows not.

Mr. Hudfon denied fome things he confeffed upon

Oath before Col. Goff, Juftice of the Peace.

Col. Goff was fworn, He teftified that the Ex-
amination (which was produced in the Court) was
all written from Mr. Hudfon's own Mouth, and
after it was written, it was read to him, to the

end that if there had been any Miftake it might
be altered, and was all by him owned upon his

Oath, that it was freely teftified, and nothing in

it extorted from him.

Mr.
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Mr. Hudfon faid that he was preffed, and that he

then /aid thefe Words, Do not thus afflict an old

difrrefled Man* that hath nothing but Afflictions

upon him.

To which Col. Goff anfwered, That at firji Mr.
Hudfon denied all, and would confefs nothing until he

heard the whole Bufmefs confejfed by another, and that

all that was prefjed to him , was to difcharge his Con-

fcience in /peaking the Truth, and that when he heard

another to confefs the Plot fo fully, he defired to be

heard again, and then didfreely confefs according to

the Examination.

In the faid Examination Mr. Hudfon declareth

the whole Plot, and the Proceedings in France-,

Charles Stuart's Objections, P. Rupert's Encourage-

ment, the three ways to effect it, and all the Par-

ticulars of the Defign as aforefaid, &c.

And how Mr. Vowell fpake with Mr. Hinfhaw,

Mr. Wifeman and the two Soldiers-, that Mr. Hin-

fhaw laid there were many Cavaliers in Town in the

Plot, but would never fpeak to two together; that

fome relilhed it well, others doubted. And fome

agreed to feize on the Lord Protector and the

Guards, go with Drums and Colours to White-

Hall, and the reft of the Particulars, for bringing

in Charles Stuart, &c.

In the faid Examination he alfo faid, that Mr. Hin-

fhaw faid that they would fet up Major Gen. Brown
to be at the Head of them, by a Letter which they

hoped to get from Charles Stuart, and believed

that he would accept of it, he being a Friend to

the King, as they called him.

That it was propounded to Mr. Vowell, who
did confent to do fomething in it, and did after-

wards meet fome fix times at Mr. Hudfon's

Houfe.

That Mr. Vowell engaged Billingsly the Butcher

aforefaid to be a confiderable Man, difcourfed with

him of the Number of Plorfe, and Billingsly faid

to him that the Horfes at Grafs might be eafily

feized.

That Hinfhaw told him and Vowell, after Gerhard

was taken, that none of his Party was taken, and

that the Plot might go on, that the French, Eng-

lifh, and Irifh from P. Rupert were to land at Rye,

and other Places in Sujfex.

The Lord Prefident asked Mr. Hudfon whether

he did own it ; to whom he anfwered, that they were
together, andfuch and fuch Things were fpoken, but

how far Mr. Vowell confuted, he knows not.

Then Mr. Robert Dale was fworn, who de-

clared againft Mr. Vowell the Prifoner at the Bar,

that Mr. Vowell came to his Houfe, and asked

him what Arms he had, he told him two Pi-

ftols, he faid he would buy them of him, he asked

for what Ufe, he faid, that he would tell him here-

after.

That he came with Mr. Hinfhaw and Mr. Wife-
man feveral times to his Houfe, who did de-

clare that they had a Defign to fall on the Lord
Protector {and fo in all the Particulars agreeing

with the reft touching the whole Bufmefs of the De-
fign how it fhsuld have been done, as hath been before

exprefl.)

And that Sir Gilbert Pickering, Mr. Strickland,

and two or three more of the Council were named
that fhould be cut off.

That they invited him to affift them, and would
have engaged him to fall on in the feizing of
them at Iflington, and they faid there was one to

head them, which they fhould know afterwards,

and he faid that Mr. Vowell heard thefe things,

And that at another time Mr. Hinfhaw, Mr, Wife-
man, and Mr. Plunket met with Mr. Vowell.

And his Examination was read.

That Mr. Vowell asked him whether he had
any Arms to accommodate Friends, he faid twd
Piftols {and the reft of the Difcourfe as now he had,

fpoken before the Court;) only the Examination
mentioned a third Perfon of the Council, viz.

Maj. Gen. Lambert alfo to be cut off. That they

were provided of an Head, and bade him there-

fore be fure to rife when he had notice. Then
Mr. Hinfhaw feeing two Men paffing along by
where he was, fuppofing them to be Soldiers, faid

they fhould be killed, and he faid that Plunket

would give notice when they mould be ready

upon the Defign to fall on ; and that he was
engaged to get as many as he could to affift in

the Work : That Vowell brought Hin/haw to his

Houfe.

John Hipwell, one of the two Soldiers in the Plot,

being fworn, faid, That a Papift Woman brought
him to Mr. Hudfon's Houfe, where he met with

them, and one told him, That he had fomething to

difcover to him, if he couldjoin in it.

That he was examined how ftrong the Guards
were, and that Regiment of which he was, and
faid, the Regiment were 1200; He was asked what
Ammunition, and other fuch like Queftions, to all

which he gave anfwer.

After fome Difcourfe he told him, That it was
to fall on the LordProtetlor, and on the Guards, &c.
and fo told him the whole Defign, {which he rela-

ted to the fame purpofe as thofe before.)

That he was bid to enquire what Cavaliers

were in the Regiment, and among the Soldiery,

and drink with them, and do what he could to

divide the Soldiery, and to make what Party he

could for this Work, and that when the time

fhould be. for Action, the Word fhould be^

FALL ON.
The next Morning hearing fome were taken

Priibners, there was much Sorrow.

Then Col. Aldridge was fworn, who faid, That
Mr. Flinjhaw revealed there was a Defign to have

fallen on the Lord Protector, and brought in

Charles Stuart to be King, and related the Parti-

culars much to the purpofe as is before exprefu

and that Hinfhaw asked him if he would be one ;•

That he made fome Queries about it, but Mr. Hin-

fhaw told him, They had great Hopes of accom-

plifhing it, and that there was an Officer of their own
in the Tower that Jhouldfree the Prifoners, and put

Swords in their Elands, and that all fhoidd be done

upon an Infant, and that then they Jhould have Mo-
ney enough i

Then Mr. John Gerhard was caufcd to withdraw

awhile.

Mr. Charles Gerhard was next called for, to

fee what he could fay touching the Plot, who de-

clared, That Mr. Hinfhaw had been in France

with Charles Stuart, and his Brother John alfo,

and Mr. Wifeman had been there ; and made a

Narrative of all the Proceedings there, agreeing

with the reft before j and fpake alfo of feveral

Meetings at Ludgate-Hill, and Covent-Garden 5

how he met Col. Finch at the Piazza, who told

him of the Defign to kill the Lord ProtecJor,

feize on the Guards, the Lord Mayor, &c pro-

claim Charles Stuart King; and the reft of that

Story of their Defign, in which he agreed with

the former. And that he declared to him, That

they were Lifting apace, and they had many
joined
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joined hereabouts. That Col. Deane had lifted all

that Day : That he himfelf had lifted forae : That

Col. Finch had a Party to join with him in the

City. That another time he had further Difcourfe

again with him about it ; that they were to meet

the next Day, and then it was alio faid, That

Finch was to command a Party, and that his Bro-

ther John Gerhard alfo was to command a Party,

and that his Brother John was then by, and heard

this Difcourfe ; and that it was faid there was ready

about London to feize on feveral Parts, in all, about

two or three thoufand : That Col. Finch was to

feize on the Lord-Mayor, Col. Dean on James's,

Col. Haines on Col. Ingolsbie in Southwark (and

fo named other Particulars like what is mentioned

before) Told him alfo the Management of the

Defign in France (agreeing with what is mentioned

before) and faid, He had a Commiffion from the

King (as he called him.) And he fpake alfo of

their meeting at Bell-Savage at Ludgate-Hill, where

mention was made of his Brother John Gerhard;

and that Somerfet Fox was there, and engaged in

the Defign, and his was to get in all the Ap-
prentices he could to join in it. That at another

time Hinfhaw faid, they had lifted two or three thou-

fand.

Then Mr. John Gerhard was called to the Bar

again, where he appeared with the other two.

Mr. Charles Gerhard was then fworn, and upon
his Oath gave in Evidence, after his Brother was

brought to the Bar, That the Defign was to fall

on the Lord Protetlor, &c. (he gave afhort Nar-
rative as before) and further faid, that his Brother

John Gerhard had been in France. John Gerhard

Prifoner at the Bar faid he confefl it, that he was
in France, when they were there, and wasfometimes
in their Company, but denied that he knew any thing

of any Plot.

Mr. Charles Gerhard being defired to go on
Further, faid, That Mr. Hinfhaw was feveral times

at his Lodgings, near Ejfex Houfe, and his Bro-

ther with him, and talked with him of the De-
fign, which his Brother fcrupled, but he told

him, that if it could be accomplifhed the King
(as he called him) would like well of it. That
his Brother met Mr. Hinfhaw at Covent-Garden,

at Mr. Jones's Houfe in Rofc-Street, who had
Pen and Ink before him, and talked of the Num-
bers and other Particulars, his Brother John then

in the Room (and he named the Particulars as be-

fore) But his Brother did not relifh it, and was pref-

fed by them, nor did he know that he confented

to act.

Mr. Prideaux told Mr. Charles Gerard, that he

did well to be as fparing as he could againfl a Bro-
ther, only be careful to fpeak the Truth, though with
the fairefl Interpretation, becaufe Confcience is near-

er than a Brother. The Lord Prefident alfo faid,

that he was not to look upon either the Greatnefs of
Men, or the Relation of a Brother in this thing,

but to look upon his Confcience, and to look up to

his God.

John Man was fworn, who declared the De-
fign in general, (as the reft all agreeing) and that

Mr. John Gerhard and others had confulted a-

bout it.

That being asked if he would engage in it, he
anfwered, Yes : That afterwards he went to Bell-

Savage, but when lie came there, there were Somer-

fet Fox and others, and they faid he could not have
Admifiion, for feveral were apprehended about it,

and they knew not what to do.

was fworn, who gave in Evi-

on Thurfday Morning in Whitfon

William Dod
dence, That
Week, Somerfet Fox told him, that there was a

Defign (as aforefaid, giving him an Account of
the whole) Bat he told him that it was to be

kept fecret. And that they were to meet about

Two o' Clock in the Morning about it. That
at Bell-Savage he met with Somerfet Fox, and his

Coufin Fox the next Day again, and had the like

Difcourfe.

Francis Fox being fworn, gave in the like Evi-

dence againft his Coufin Somerfet Fox, and that he

was invited to join with them, but could not tell

what to do.

John Wharton was fworn, who faid, he keeps

a Viclualling-Houfe in Black-Friers, and that a

Gentleman, a Stranger, came to him, and asked

him, if he would ferve the King, and fell in Dif-

courfe about his Calling; that he told him he

had marry*d a poor Widow: And that the Gen-
tleman told him that if the Defign went on, he

might have Money enough, and faid that he would

find him better Employment. The Gentleman's

Name, he faid, was Hinfhaw, as he heard after-

ward. And that he told him he would not be long

before he came again. He faid that he did believe

they had defigned to feize on the Lord Protec7ort
and all the Horfe Guards. But for his Part, he
was, when they fhould give him notice of it,

only to proclaim the King, that was all that he
was to do.

Mr. Barnes was fworn, who fpake of the De-
fign in general, much after the fame manner as

thofe before.

Mr. Minors was the laft Witnefs fworn, who
gave Evidence, that Major Hinfhaw told him of
the Defign near Covent-Garden, and one Mr. Har-
rifon, Tuedor, and others, were mentioned. That
he asked him if he would join in it. That af-

terward he met with Hinfhaw in the Palace-Yard
at Weftminfier, who told him of the Defign as

before. And that Major John Gerhard would

command a Party, and that the Bufinefs was
then in good Forwardnefs, but Major John
Gerhard thought it could not yet be accom-
plifhed.

And that when Mr. Hinfhaw heard that Mr. John
Gerhard was taken, he faid that he might
thank himfelf, for had not he delayed it, the

Bufinefs might have been done two Days be-

fore.

The Prifoners at the Bar were then asked what
they had to fay for themfelves.

Mr. John Gerhard faid he was falfiy accufed, and

that the Witneffes did not fpeak Truth, and denied

that he had any thing to do in the Plot, or knew
of it.

Mr. Vowell did require of the Court to be allow-

ed Pen, Ink and Paper, the Copy of his Charge,

and Council to advife him what Defence to make
for himfelf. And pleaded Magna Charta again,

as before, and the fixth Article of the Government
of the Lord Protetlor.

Serjeant Glyn declared, that an Ordinance be-

ing declared Law until the Parliament fhall re-

peal it, is to give the fame Authority to it,

which is to an Act of Parliament, every Act be-

ing a Law no longer. That the Laws of old of

Treafon againft the King are of force (were this

new Ordinance not in being) For it means the

Supreme Governour ; though it names only a King,

it hath been made ufe of for Treafon againft a

Queen,
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Queen, and fo is to be touching a Ztfri Protestor,

or any other Supreme Governour.

Mr. £//w, Council of the Commonwealth,

produced in Court the Government of the Lord

Prote^or, in which that very Article in the Con-

clufion of it, hath a Provifo to the 30th Ar-

ticle.

The Attorney - General Prideaux declared,

that the Charge having been fo fully proved ar

o-ainft them, yet they could not but take notice

of the ingenuous Confefiion of Somerfet Fox ;

but were ibrry to fee fuch Obftinacy in the o-

ther two, after fuch a barbarous and bloody De-

fign ; that they fhould mew no Signs of Repen-

tance: And therefore in behalf of the Com-

monwealth prayed for Juftice from the Court a-

gainft them.

The Court adjourned into the Fainted Cham-

ber, and Ordered that they fhould have Pen, Ink

and Paper, and any Friend to come to them that

they fhould defire in the Prefence of the Lieu-

tenant of the Tower.

The Court adjourned until Thurfday next in

the Afternoon.

When Mr. Gerhard, Vowellt and Fox were a-

gain brought before the Court, and were de-

manded what they had more to fay for them-

felves, Gerhard and Vowell denied the Fact, not-,

withftanding what had been proved againft them ;

after which the Lord Prefident Lijle made a fhort

Speech to convince them of the defperate Wick-

ednefs of their Defign, and how fully the

Charge had been proved, and what Punifhments

the Law had provided in fuch Cafes ; after which

the Sentence of the Court was read feverally

to all three to this effecl:, 'That upon mature Con-

sideration of the Treafons and Murders plotted and

contrived by them againft his Highnefs the Lord Pro-

testor, and the Commonwealth, and raifing a bloody

War in the fame, the Court did adjudge them to be

hanged by the Neck, until they be dead.

Mr. Gerhard defired the Execution might be

alter'd, and that he might be Beheaded, or Shot

to Death ; and prefented a Petition to the Lord
Protestor for that Purpofe. ,

The Protestor was pleafed to Reprieve Somer-

fet Fox, becaufe of his ingenuous Confefiion, but

the other two were Executed the Monday fol-

lowing, July 10, Vowell was executed in the

Morning upon a Gallows erecled at Charing-

Crofs -, he fpake little of the Crime for which he

fuffer*d, but his main Difcourfe was to proclaim

his Zeal for the Old Way of Religion, and to

the Caufe of the late King and his Family •, after

half an Hour's hanging he was cut down, and

convey'd away in a Coach.

About Four in the Afternoon of the fame

Day, Mr. John Gerhard was brought to the

Scaffold on 'Tower - Hill
-, his Behaviour was

fprightly, the Subftance of his Difcourfe Cava-

lier-like, boafting himfelf of the Proferfion of

Religion which was eftablifhed by Queen Eliza-

beth, King James, and King Charles, to which

Family he declared his Affection. * He acknow-

ledged himfelf guilty of former Sins, for which

he had deferved Death heretofore, but as touch-

ing the Crime, for which he was to die, he

fpent not many Words, only he confefs'd, that

he knew of the Plot. At length he fubmitted

his Neck to the Executioner, who at one Blow
fever'd his Head from his Body.
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LI. 'The Proceedings of the Commijfwners ofBerksyfor ejeff-

ing Scandalous and Infufficient Minifters, againft John
Pordage 0/ Bradfield, in the fame County? begun the

\%th of September 1654. 6 Car. II. Wrote by Himfelf

Was firft warned by this fubfequent

Summons, to appear before the Com-

||§g|||- mrffioners.

Monday, the 18 th of September, 1654.

Berks, ff. By the Commiffioners appoi?ited

by an Ordinance of his Highnefs

the Lord Troteffor and his

Council, for the ejeffing of
Scandalous Miniflers.

WHercas feveral fcandalous Articles have

been exhibited againft Dr. John Pordage

of Rradfield, in the faid County of Berks ; which

Vol. II.

faid Articles lying now before the faid Commif-
fioners, it is thereupon ordered by the faid Com-
miffioners, that the faid Dr. Pordage do make
his Perfonal Appearance before the faid Commif-

fioners, on Thurfday the 5th Day of OStober

next, at the Bear in Speenhamland, by New-
bury, at Nine of the Clock in the Morning,

to anfwer the faid Articles exhibited againft

him : Whereof he is not to fail. Given un-

der our Hands and Seals in Reading, the Day
and Year abovefaid.

Chr. Whichcot.

Sam. Wightwick.

Ri. Fincher.

F f

William Strowde. -

William Natkine.

William Cooke.

Ac-

' * See the Relation of the Death, (and Dying Speech) of Mr. Vawell, and Gerhard, in Stan Trials, Vol. VIII. p. 359,

360. 362.
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Accordingly at the Time prefixed I appeared,

about Nine of the Clock in the Morning, in the

Place above expreffed ; where I waited till be-

twixt Three and Four of the Clock before

I was called in. Then came the Door-keeper to

tell me that the Commiflioners called for me.

I prefently obeyed, and followed their Ser-

vant, with two Friends that accompanied me.

Then the Door-keeper commanded my two

Friends to go forth of the Room. I told him
they were to be there. He replied, That he

was ordered by the Commiflioners to let none in

but myfelf ; and therefore they fhould be put

out : And fo began in an uncivil manner, by

Violence, to thruft them forth. Whereupon I

applied myfelf to the Commiflioners, telling

them thefe two were my Friends ; and that I

brought them as Eye-witnefles of the Proceed-

ings i and that it was no reafon that I fhould be

alone. To which it was anfwered, They muff,

depart, it being refolved upon by them to have

none but myfelf there prefent. Then the Door-

keeper began with Violence to pull them forth,

crying out, Do you not hear the Senfe of the

Commiflioners ? I turning towards them again,

faid, I defire none prefent but thefe my two

Friends. It was replied, it fhould not be fo.

Upon this I was neceflitated to ask them, a-

gainft my Will, what they were, whether a

public Court of Juftice, yea or no? For if

they were, I demanded the Liberty of a Sub-

ject, that their Doors might be opened, for all

to come in that would ; that fo their Proceed-

ings might be open. Moreover, I fhewed how
this was the Cuftom of all Committees above,

and of all fuch Courts of Judicature. Where-
upon the Doors were opened, and the People

came in •, Mr. Wightwick openly averring that

I fhould fare the worfe for it. Thus was I ne-

ceflitated to contend for this juft and reafonable

Privilege •, for which my Caufe was unjuftly

threaten'd.

The Commiflioners then fitting were thefe,

with one or two more ; Mr. Fettiphce Chair-

man, Mr. Samuel Wightmick, Mr. Samuel Dunch,

Major Fincher, Major Allin, Mr. Cox, Mr.
Stromde, Mr. Angell Bell. The Minifters were

thefe, with fome other, Mr. Hemes, Mr. 'Tickle.

But to proceed : As I flood filent before them,

Mr. Dunch turned to me, and with much feem-

ing Bitternefs and Paflion fpake thus ; Dare you
deny Chrift to be God ? And again, How dare

you deny the Godhead of Chrift ? To whom I

replied, I came to know my Charge which was
exhibited againft me •, and that I hoped he had
not judged my Caufe before it was heard.

Hereupon the Chairman commanded Langley

the Clerk to read thefe following Articles in o-

pen Court.

Articles againjl Dr. Pordage of Bradfield.

i. "T" HAT the Fiery Deity of Chrift mingles

J and mixes itfelf with our Flefh.

2. That the Imputative Righteoufnefs of Chrift

is a Saplefs Righteoufnefs.

3. That the Difcoveries of the Sinfulnefs of
Sin, the Terrors of the Law, the Death of
Chrift, the Free-Grace of God, are flefhly and
fiafhy Difcoveries.

4. That the Liberty and Freedom fpoken of,

purchafed by the Blood of Chrift, and applied by
the clinging and cleaving of the Soul to, is not
a Liberty or Freedom from the Guilt of Sin,
the Curfe of the Law, the Wrath of God ; but
the Fiery Deity of Chrift in the Centre of our
Souls.

5. That by Male and Female, Gen. i. we are
to underftand by Male the Deity, by the Female
the Humanity ; and that thefe two became one
Flefh. Thefe Things were delivered without a-
ny Limitation whatlbever.

6. That Gifts and Graces of the Spirit are
but Flefh.

7. That Chrift is a Type, and but a Type.
8. That Chrift is not God.

9. That Chrift is not Jehovah.

Tickle witnefTeth.

After thefe Articles were read the Chairman
demanded my Anfwer. To whom I replied,

That I had been acquitted from all thefe, four
Years fince, by the Committee of Plundered
Minifters, and that after a full Hearing and De-
bate ; therefore I defired that (according to Law)
they would pafs by thefe old ones. But if they
had any that were new, I told them I was rea-

dy and willing to receive and anfwer them. I
further replied, I hoped they would give me
the Liberty of a Felon, who, after Trial and
Acquitment, cannot be queftioned for the fame
thing again. To which Mr. Dunch replied, with
much feeming Fiercenefs, You are worfe than a
Felon, for ought I know. Which Language
coming from a Judge to the Defendant before
Trial, let all fober Perfons judge of, who are ac-

quainted with the Rules of Civility, Morality,
or Chriftianity.

Here Mr. Hemes the Minifter interpofed, af-

firming, That a Felon might be acquitted at one
Afflzes, and hang for the fame thing at the
next : Of which he gave an Inftance in a Sto-

ry not worth the relating. To which I replied

only this, That it could not be for the fame
he was acquitted of before. But I feeing that

he had gone ultra crepidam, beyond his Office,

and beyond Reafon, faid no more to him ; though
he was very bitter and pragmatical, fpeaking oft

as Judge, although he was but an Alfiftant, and
that only in reference to Ignorance and Ineffi-

ciency.

But afterward, applying myfelf to the Chair-

man, I further urged, That thefe Articles were
not within the Cognizance of the Commiflio-
ners, in that I had been difcharged from them,
by thofe who had full Power and Authority to

do it.

After this, all were commanded to withdraw ;

and about an Hour after I was called in again,

and asked for my Difcharge. I anfwered, I came
now only to know my Charge ; and that I had
not my Difcharge there, but would bring it when
they would appoint me.
Then they declared, That notwithftanding

my Difcharge in another Court, yet it was the

Judgment of the Commiflioners, that they had
Power to take Cognizance of the Articles exhi-

bited : Whence they made this Order, viz.

Berks,
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Berks, ft By the CommiJJioners for eject-

ing of Scandalous Miniflers,

&c. October 5, 1654, at the

Bear in Speenhamland.

R. John Pordage, Rector of Bradfield, in
1

this County, hath in Obedience to our

Warrant, dated the 18th of September laft, to

him directed, this Day attended, and pleadeth

that he hath been already difcharged from the

Articles that are exhibited to us againft him, by

the Parliament and the late Committee of this

County, and therefore not again to be queftion-

ed or proceeded againft for the fame by thefe

Commiffioners. But the faid Doctor hath pro-

duced no fuch Difcharge.

Refolved, upon the Queftion, That by virtue

of the Ordinance of his Highnefs the Lord Pro-

testor and his Council, for ejecting of fcanda-

lous, ignorant, and infufficient Minifters and

School-Mafters, the faid Commiffioners have

power to queftion the faid Doclor upon the faid

Articles ; and that notwithftanding his Plea, as

aforefaid, of a former Difcharge.

And it is thereupon ordered, That the faid

Doctor do give his pofitive Anfwer to the faid

Articles unto us on this Day fortnight, being the

19th Inftant, at this Place : Whereof he is not

to fail.

Now this was the Subftance of the Things

which were tranfa&ed the firft Day of my Ap-

pearance ; which 1 have here prefented in Truth

and Righteoufnefs to the impartial Reader.'

My fecond Appearance before them was the

19th of October, at the fame Place.

The Commiffioners then fitting were thefe ;

Mr. Wightwick Chairman, Mr. Dunch, Mr.

Evelyn, Mr. Bell, Mr. Mills. The Minifters,

Mr. Woodbridge, Mr. Fowler, Mr. Hewes, with

Ibme others.

The firft Thing they demanded, was my An-

fwer to the Articles exhibited againft me. But

I defired them to receive my Difcharge, which

I hoped would be inftead of a full and fatisfa&o-

ry Anfwer. So I produced it ; and it was re-

ceived by them, and delivered to the Clerk ;

who, after it was read, took a Copy of it, and

then returned it to me again.

The Tenor of it was as followeth :

At the Committee for Plundered Miniflers,

March 27, 1651.

UPON hearing the Caufe, in prefence of

Parties and Lounfel on both fides, con-

cerning Dr. Pordage, Minifter of Bradfield, in

the County of Berks ; and upon reading the Pa-

pers and Examinations depending againft him

before this Committee, and full hearing what

could be faid by both Parties ; this Committee

hath taken the faid Caufe into ferious Confide-

ration and Debate : And do thereupon order that

the faid Caufe be difmiffed. And the fame is

hereby difmiffed.

Gilb. Millington.

Afterward they asked me how they fhould

Vol. II.

know that it was a true Copy. I returned an-

fwer, I received it from their Clerk there pre-

fent, who knew it to be true : And befides, I

had a Friend by, who being with me when T
received it, could atteft the Truth of it by Oath.

Then they waved my Difcharge, and called for

my particular Anfwer to the Articles, alledging,

that notwithftanding the Difcharge, the Com-
miffioners had judg'd the Articles under their

Cognizance. So that after I had preffed my
Difcharge with as much Earneftnefs, as in Mo-
defty I could, they ftill haftily calling for my
further Anfwer, I was neceffitated to give in this

which followeth.

My Anfwer to the Articles exhibited againft

me, confjls in thefe Particulars.

p . T Humbly conceive that none of the
' JL Articles exhibited againft me are

comprehended in the Act, intitled, An Acl againft

feveral Atheiftical, Blajpbemous, and Execrable

Opinions, derogatory to the Honour of God, and de-

ftruffive to human Society ; without the Senfe and

Meaning of the Words expreffed in the Aft be

ftretched and wrefted beyond the literal Scope

and Drift of the Act. And this is not my Judg-
ment only, but the Judgment of fome pious

and judicious Lawyers of this Land. Which
Thing, in all Humility, I leave to your ferious

Confiderations.

Partic. 2. I humbly conceive that the fore-

mentioned Act cannot take into Cognizance thole

Articles exhibited againft me ; becaufe they are

acknowledged by the Accufers to have been ut-

tered a Year before this Act had a Birth in the

World. Now can any Guilt be legally imputed

from any Law, before the original Being of it ?

This feemeth contrary to Reafon. Now thofe

Articles were charged upon me Aug. 1 6, 1 649,
and this Act made and publifhed Aug. 9, 1 650.

Moreover, thefe Articles are not punifhable

by that Act ; becaufe, according to the Conclu-

fion of the laid Act, no Perfon is to be impeach-

ed, molefted, troubled, or punifhed, for any

Offence mentioned in that Act, unlefs he be for

the fame Offence accufed, prefented, indicted,

or convicted within fix Months after fuch Of-

fence committed. Now it is fix Years fince

fome, and four fince any of thefe Expreffions

Were pretended to be uttered by me.

Partic. 3. I humbly conceive that the fore-

mentioned Act cannot take into Cognizance the

Articles exhibited againft me ; becaufe upon Ex-

amination of Wkneffes on both Sides, I was

cleared by the Vote of the honourable Commit-

tee of Berks, who had full Power, by an Act

of Parliament, to put out, and to put in Mini-

fters in this County.

Partic. 4. I humbly conceive that the fore-

mentioned Act cannot take into Cognizance the

Articles exhibited againft me ; becaufe, after

Examination of Witneffes, and after a full

Hearing, I have been difmiffed and acquitted

from all Guilt and Offence charged upon mc

from them, by the honourable Committee of

Plundered Minifters, who had full Power to

put out, and to keep and put in Minifters. Now
the judicious Lawyer faith, That thefe Articles

having had their original Dependence before two

Committees of Parliament, who had an abfolute

F f 2 Power,
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Power, by Act and Ordinance of Parliament, to

put out and put in Minifters, and they having

cleared and acquitted me from the pretended

Guilt of fuch Articles, it is not according to

the Liberty of the Subject, or Tenor of the

Law, that it fhould be within the Cognizance

of this Act, or of this Committee ; it being

againft diat fundamental Maxim of Magna Charta,

Nemo bis punietur pro uno delicto.

Moreover, it feemeth contrary to the fixth

Article in the Inftrument of Government, pub-

lifhed by his Highnefs the Lord Protector's fpe-

cial Command; in which it is exprefied, That

the Laws Jhall not be alter-ed, fufpended, abrogated,

or repealed, but by Confent of Parliament, fave as

it is exprejfed in the thirtieth Article. Therefore

my former legal Difcharge, according to the

former Acts and Ordinances of Parliament, is

ftill in force, and holds good, not being abroga-

ted by the Government, or by any thing ex-

prefled or included in the faid thirtieth Article

of Parliament.

1 fhall now proceed to anfwer each Article in

particular.

Art. i. That Chrift is not God: That Chriji is

not Jehovah.

i Part. Anfw. I do acknowledge that fuch

Expreflions were uttered by me: But I hope the

bare Expreflions of fuch Negations doth not

make me come within the Guilt of the Act •, for

it muft be known what Words preceded fuch

Expreflions and what followed. To fay in

Preaching, There is no God, doth not make the

Preacher guilty of Atheifm, if the Words go-

ing before be but annexed, The Fool hath faid in

his Heart, there is no God. So do but annex the

fubfequent Words to the former Expreflions,

That Chrift is not God, viz. the Father; That
Chrift is not Jehovah ; Jehovah taken ftrictly

for the Perfon of the Father, the firft Perfbn of

the glorious Trinity : I fay, add but thefe Words,
and there is nothing blafphemous or culpable in

fuch Expreflions.

2 Part. Anfw. Though I do acknowledge that

fuch Expreflions fell from me, yet I never avow-

edly uttered or maintained fuch Propofitions

;

for they were only uttered by way of Difpute,

and that upon this occafion: Mr. Daniel Bla-

grave, then being Chairman of the Committee,
demanded of Mr. Tickle what Blafphemy was.

He anfwered, Evil-fpeaking againft God the Fa-

ther. I replied, a lame Definition of Blafphe-

my. Had Mr. Tickle faid Evil-fpeaking againft

God, which is a Word implying the Trinity

in Unity, then there had been no occafion given

of Conteft ; for the ground of thefe Expreflions

arofe from the Weaknefs of his Definition of
Blafphemy, in that he faid Blafphemy was Evil-

fpeaking againft God the Father. To which I

replied, His Definition of Blafphemy doth not

reach that of which he accufed me ; for that

which he charged me with, is not Blafphemy
againft God the Father, but againft Chrift, God
the Son. And I have uttered no Evil-fpeakings,

againft God the Son, but feemingly to my Ac-
cufer, in faying, That his Imputative Righte-

oufnefs would prove a Saplefs Righteoufnefs to

all thofe that had not the Fiery Deity of Chrift

in the Centre of their Souls, burning up their

Lufts and Corruptions. Mr. Tickle then replied

to the Committee, Pray take notice that the

Dodtor denieth that Chrift is God, which I

prove out of John i. i. To which I replied^

Chrift was not God the Father, but God the
Son. Chrift is Jehovah, and fo called the Lord
our Righteoufnefs, faid Mr. Tickle. To which
I replied, Chrift is not J.hovah, if you take
Jehovah for the Perfon of the Father. And this

is the Truth, as the whole Committee of Berks
then prefent can teftify ; by whofe Vote I was
then cleared of all thefe unworthy Afperfions,
and difmifTed

;

' and fince, upon proof of Wit-
nefles, acquitted and difmifTed; and that after a
full Hearing by the Committee of plundered
Minifters.

3 Part. Anfw. I do humbly conceive that al-

though the former Act did exprefly adjudge and
condemn Evil-fpeakings, or Blafphemy againft
Chrift, yet my delivering fuch Expreflions Tn an
extemporary Difpute, viz. That Chrift was not
God, or Jehovah, did not make me obnoxious
to the Guilt and Penalty of that Act ; becaufe

p. 980, & 981, they only are condemned as
guilty, who fhall avowedly profefs, maintain,
or publifh in word or writing, fuch or fuch exe-
crable Opinions: which I never did. Nay, I
profefs avowedly the contrary, and do declare
in the Sincerity of my Heart, that the Thought
never entred into my Heart, to deny the God-
head or Deity of Chrift; but I have avowedly
in Words maintained, and publifhed by Preach-
ing, That Chrift is God, out of that Text

.

John i. 14, The Word was made Fief), &c. From
whence I did maintain and publifh, That Chrift
was God, coequal, coeternal, and coefTential
with the Father, contrary to all thofe blafphe-
mous and execrable Opinions, that deny Chrift
to be God. So that now I hope the mere ut-
tering fuch Expreflions, by way of difpute be-
fore a judicious and underftanding Committee,
doth not make me a Tranfgreflbr, according to
the true Senfe and Meaning of this Act.

Artie. 2. That the imputative Righteoufnefs of
Chrift is a faplefs Righteoufnefs.

Anfw. I thus deliver the Truth : As I was pa-
raphrafing on that Portion of Scripture mentioned
in Dan. ix. 24. of everlafting Righteoufnefs, I
did fay Words to this effect ; That the imputative
Righteoufneft of another was a faplefs Righteoufnefs
to all thofe that had no Right or Intereft in it. I
fhall defire a little to explain myfelf on this Pro-
pofition, that the imputative Righteoufnefs of
Chrift in this fenfe will prove a faplefs Righte-
oufnefs : For he that hath not the Spirit of Chrift
dwelling in his Heart by Faith, notwithftanding
all this Application of Chrift and his Merits, yet
to him it is but a faplefs Righteoufnefs : fo faith

the Scripture, He that hath not the Spirit of
Chrift, is none of his, notwithftanding his Appli-
cation of the imputative Righteoufnefs of Chrift
to himfelf : But here I do not deny the imputa-
tive Righteoufnefs of Chrift, nor his active and
paflive Obedience to be the material Caufe of his
Juftification; yea, I own and acknowledge
Chrift's Righteoufnefs to be the Soul's Righte-
oufnefs in point of Juftification, when it is ap-
ply'd upon a true ground,, according to the true
Senfe of the Spirit in the Scriptures.

Artie. 3. That they fhould look to thefiery Na-
ture of Chrift's Deity in the Centre of their Souls,

burning up the Drofs and Chaff of their Lufts and
Corruptions.

Anfw. For the Explanation of this Article, we
muft confider thefe arc Scripture-Metaphors, and

Chrift
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Chrift is often clothed with a Garment of Fire,

according to that of Paul, Heb. xii. 29. Our
God is a confuming Fire -, and in another place,

Chrift Jhall come in flaming Fire. None, or few,

underftand thefe Scriptures, or the like, of ele-

mental material Fire ; but either of the Fire of

his divine Love to burn up our Lulls and Cor-

ruptions, or the Fire of his divine Juftice or

Wrath in deftroying Sin and Sinners.

Artie. 4. That the fiery Deity of Chrift mingles

end mixeth itfelf with our Flejh.

Anfw. I was then fpeaking of the myftical

Union betwixt Chrift and his Church : And in

the Illuftration of this Union, I apply'd that

Exprefiion out of the 5th of the Canticles, He
mingleth his Wine and his Milk together : fo in this

Union, Chrift's divine Nature mingleth itfelf

with our Humanity, his Spirit with our Fleih.

This Exprefiion Mr. Tickle was pleafed to charge

with Blafphemy ; asking me what I meant by Flefh.

I anfwered in Conference, By Flefh I underftand

not the finful and flefhly part of the Soul, that

lufteth againft the Spirit ; for with this there

can be no Union. 2. By Flefh I mean not the

outward elementary Flefh of the Body ; but by

Flefh I underftand our pure Humanity, the pure

regenerated part of the Soul, the converted part

of our Spirit : And thus the Spirit of Chrift

and regenerated Part are really in Union one with

the other, according to the Apoftle's Phrafe,

We are made Partakers of the divine Nature.

And againft this Anfwer he had nothing to re-

ply.

Artie. 5. That Chrift was a Type, and but a

Type.

This was in Conference : He asked me whe-

ther Chrift was a Type or no. I anfwered,

Chrift was a Type, fo exprefled 1 Tim. ii. 21.

How was Chrift a Type, replied Mr. Pendarvis ?

I anfwered, His Lite and Converfation was a

Type, that is, a Pattern and Example for us

Chriftians to fquare our Lives and Converfations

by. Who denies this? faid he. Why I affirm

no more, faid I, than that Chrift is a Type. Is

he but a Type, reply'd Mr. Pendarvis ? I an-

fwered, ' Why lie you thus on the catch ? I fay

Chrift is a Type ; but I will not affirm Chrift is

but a Type. And this they both confefs in their

Anfwers.

Artie. 6. That the Gifts and Graces of the Spirit

are but Flefh.

I confefs I faid the common Gifts and Graces

of the Spirit were but Flefh ; but this I opened

after this manner, That they were but flefhly,

weak, and carnal in point of Juftification, in

point of Truft and Confidence in regard of Sal-

vation and Life eternal ; and no otherwife, as

their own WitnefTes on Examination confefTed

before the honourable Committee of Berks.

To conclude •, As for thefe Articles, efpecially

all the latter, I look not upon them as under the

Cognizance of the Aft ; yet for your Satisfaction

I have tranferibed my former Anfwers, and do
here prefent them again to your Confideration,

by which you may clearly fee my Innocency in

reference to the horrid Opinions for which I am
accufed.

John Pordage.

This being read by the Clerk, we were all

commanded to withdraw. About an hour or

two after, I was called in again j and they told

22 i

me, if I Would, I fhould have an Order to fetch
in my WitnefTes to prove what they could on my
behalf, in reference to that Charge. I reply'd^
That I hoped my Difcharge and. Anfwer were
fufficient, and that they would not put me to
the trouble and charge of traverfing this Bufinefs
(viva voce) by my WitnefTes again ; in that (be-
fides my Difcharge) I had brought all their De~
pofitions delivered by Oath to the Committee of
Plundered Minifters ; which I defired might be
then read before them, becaufe the WitnefTes
could but fay, viva voce, what was there wrote
down.

Hereupon I delivered them to be read j and
fo being handed to the Clerk, the Commiffio-
ners asked me how they fhould know them to be
true. I reply'd, the Clerk delivered them as a
true Copy, and I would affirm on my Oath, that
they had not been altered Tince I had them. But
notwithftanding this, they rejefted them, alledg-
ing that they would not take notice of any writ-
ten Depofitions taken out of another Court; but
that I muft again bring in the former WitnefTes,
to teftify what they could by Word of Mouth

:

fo that all the Reafons and Arguments I could
ufe, could not prevail with them to free me
from the Charge and Trouble of bringing in my
WitnefTes again j for which the Clerk was then
commanded to draw me up an Order.

Berks. By the Commijjioners for ejecting

of Scandalous Minifters, O&ob.
19, 1654. At the Bear in

Spcenhamland.

DR. Pordage of Bradfield hath this Day again
attended, and hath exhibited an Anfwer in

writing to the Articles exhibited againft himj
Ordered, That the faid Doctor do attend again
before us on this day fortnight at this place ; at

which time he is to give Anfwer to the ad-
ditional Articles now exhibited againft him, and
to produce his WitnefTes, if he have any, for

Proof of his Defence •, and Summons are to ifTue

out for that purpofe, if he defire the fame.

Then they told me they had a new Charge of
Articles againft me 5 which were thefe that fol-

low, then openly read by the Clerk.

Articles againft 'Dr. Pordage, Par/on of
Bradfield, to prove his Ignorance and In*-

fujftciencyfor the Miniftry.

i. T'Mprimis, One Miftrefs Lewyn being with

1 child, and near the Time of Travail, lent for

Dr. Pordage's Mother to be her Midwife ; but he

would not fuffer her to go, faying, they would not

be guilty of fuch a beaft-like Life, meaning Mi-
ftrefs Lewyn's being with child by her Husband.

2. The faid Dr. Pordage coming to the Houfe

of Mrs. Lewyn, in his Difcourfe with Mrs. Lewyni

blamed her for having Children by her Husband,

and argued with her the Unlawfulnefs of having

Children by her Husband.

3. In his Difcourfes to Mrs. Lewyn concerning

the fame Subject, endeavoured to maintain the

Unlawfulnefs of their having Children, and faid

that Adam was made Male and Female in himfelfs

and had he not fallen, he had brought forth Chil-

dren
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dren himfelf; and feemed to maintain and prove

the fame by Scripture, and otherwife.

4. In his Difcourfes with Mrs. Lewyn, which

was about the Time that one Everard was with

him in his Houfe at Bradfield, who was generally

reputed to be a Conjurer, he asked Mr. Lewyn
whether he would not be afraid if he fhould fee

his own Picture or Shape ; intimating that he

himfelf had ufed to lee his.

5. The faid Dr. Pordage hath had for fome
Weeks together in his Houfe the faid Everard,

and one Tawny who ftiled himfelf King of the

Jews, who had been queftioned (as it is generally

reported) for holding dangerous and unfound

Opinions; as, That there is no Hell, and the

like.

A True Copy, Jofeph Cook.

Mat. Langley Regijl.

After thefe were read, I defired the Court in

the firft place to finifh the firft Paper of Ar-
ticles ; urging, that if they were fufficient, they

might fave both them and me much trouble.

But this they denied, though I much urged it

:

Whereupon they commanded this fubfequent

Order to be drawn up, viz.

Berks, ff. By the Committee for ejecting of
Scandalous, Ignorant, and In-

fujjicient Minijlers and School-

Majlers in this County, 0<5tob.

19, 1654.

ORdered, That Mr. John Tickle, Mr. John
Pendarvis, Mr. Francis Pordage, John Higgs,

Gifford Luinton, Richard Luinton, Mary Pocock,

and Roger Stevens, do make their perfonal Ap-
pearance before the faid Commiflioners on Thurf-

day the fecond Day of November next, by Eight

of the clock in the Morning, at the Bear in

Speenhamland*6y Newbury, to teftify their Know-
ledge of all fuch Matters as fhall be propounded

unto them concerning Dr. John Pordage of Brad-

field in this County ; whereof they are not to

fail. Given under our Hands and Seals, the Day
and Year above-mention'd.

Samuel Wighlwick.

Ar. Evelyn,

Ed. Mills.

Samuel Dunch.

Angell. Bell.

But this I muft fpeak on the behalf of Mr.
Wightwick and Mr. Evelyn, that by their Pre-

fence things were tranfacted that day with much
more feeming Modefty and Calmnefs than at

Other times ; the Minifters then containing them-

felves within the limits of due Silence, which

gave me fome hopes that the latter part of my
Trial might be tranfacted in fome Moderation,

Equity, and Civility. But thefe two fitting no
more after that day, there broke forth much
Confufion, Rafhnefs, and Incivility in their

Carriage; fome Minifters (who were bitter Ene-
mies againft me) acting the part of Commiflio-

ners, and feeming to have great Influence upon

all their Proceedings, being fufFered to break

forth into uncivil Scoffs, and Railings againft

me in the open Court, as it will afterward ap-

pear.

But thus much for my fecond Day's Appear-

ance, here reprefented according to the Line of

Truth and Equity.

ge'

On the fecond of November I appeared before

them again at the fame Place, according to their

laft Order, at which Time Major Fincher was
Chairman •, be fides whom there were prefenr,

Mr. Dunch, Mr. Stroud, Mr. Cook, Mr. Bell,

with two or three more Commiflioners : The
Minifters were Mr. Fowler, Mr. Woodbridge,

Mr. Hughes, Mr. Tickle, &c.

The firft thing they demanded of me, was to

give in my Anfwer to the fecond Charge of Arti-

cles exhibited the laft Day againft me. I reply'd,

that my Anfwer was ready ; but I defired that

they would keep to their own Order, and firft

hear my Witnefles, and fo finifh my firft Charge,
that we might not run into Confufion. But they •

would not hearken to this rational Requeft, im-
portuning me for my Anfwer, refolving to hear
nothing till I had given it in : fo being neceflita-

ted to yield to their Command, I gave in this

fubfequent Anfwer.

My Anfwer to the fecond Articles exhibited

againft me, is as fbllovveth.

IN the firft place, I fhall take liberty to reply

to the Title of the Articles ; which is, to
prove my Ignorance and Infufficiency for the Mi-
niftry, by the Articles produced.

1 Part. Anfw. I do here humbly defire, that

Ignorance and Infufficiency for the Miniftry may
be preferved as diftindl Heads from Scandal and
Herefy, according as it is intended by the Au-
thors of the Ordinance : for certainly it is againft

the Judgment of the Lord Protestor, and the

Intendment of his Council, who made the Or-
dinance, to confound that which may be called

Scandal or Herefy, and Infufficiency together.

We fee it is ufual this day among us, for know-
ing and learned Minifters to differ in their Judg-
ments, both in Doctrine, Worfhip, and Things
indifferent •, who yet thereupon are not accounted

ignorant and infufficient for the Miniftry. So
that altho' thefe Articles could be proved true,

they are to be referred either to Scandal or
Herefy, and not to Ignorance and Infufficiency.

2 Part. Anfw. If Ignorance and Infufficiency

for the Miniftry be taken for the want of an in-

ward fpecial Gift, as it is qualified with human
Arts and Sciences, attained by much Pains and
Induftry, in relation to Academical Learning :

Or if Ignorance and Infufficiency for the Mini-
ftry are taken for the want of inward Abilities,

qualified with fpiritual Gifts, as with thofe of
Prayer, Utterance and Preaching : Or if Igno-

rance and Infufficiency be taken for the want of
a faving Principle of Grace, manifefting itfelf in

Convictions of Sin, Legal Terrors or Evangeli-

cal Illuminations into the Free Grace and Love of
the Father, or into the meritorious Death of Chrift

for the Redemption of loft Sinners : Or if it be
taken for thole Effects flowing from fuch a laving

Principle of Life, as that of faving Faith, true

Repentance, Pardon of Sin, Peace of Confci-

ence, a holy Life in all univerfai Obedience to

the holy Will and righteous Commands of God:
Then I humbly conceive, that mere Ignorance

and Infufficiency, without the Pretenfions of
Herefy and Scandal, will be found a Bed too

fhort, and a Covering too narrow for my Ejection

out of the Work of the Miniftry, according to

the true Intent of the Ordinance,

3 Part.
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3 Part. Anfw. Hence my humble Defire to you

for time to come, is, that you would not

make your Ephah of Ignorance and Infufficiency

fo fmall, that Herefy and Scandal may not ftand

diftinct in it ; and that you would not make

your Shekel of Ignorance and Infufficiency fo

preat, as to fwallow up Herefy and Scandal into

the boundlefs and endlcfs Extent of it : For

what is this but to falfify the Balances of Juftice

and Equity by a deceitful Weight, in not prefer-

ving Infufficiency as a diftincl: Head from Scan-

dal and Herefy ; which in time may prove very

prejudicial to that Liberty of Confcience, which

of late years hath been, and is ftill preferved and

afferted by the Rulers of the Nation ?

In the fecond place, to the Articles themfelves

I thus reply.

Anfw. 1, As to the four firft, I know not how
or what pofitively and directly to anfwer to

diem, till I fee them firft proved by Oath, and

that by fuch Perfons who are without juft Ex-

ceptions ; and then I fhall be capable of return-

ing a more full and compleat Anfwer.

Anfw. 2. Neither do 1 fee, that feemingly to

maintain and argue, by way of diipute only, the

Unlawfulnefs of Mrs. Lewyn's having Children

by her Husband, for the lifting forth of Truth

from Error, could it be proved that I did fo,

could argue or evince my Ignorance and Infuf-

ficiency for the Miniftry : For this, tho' it were

evinced to be my Crime, cannot in Juftice and

Equity be referred to that Head of Infufficiency,

but to Scandal ; except Ignorance and Infuffici-

ency be refolved into the boundlefs Liberty of the

"Wills of the Judges, that what they deem igno-

rant and infufficient, muft be ignorant and in-

fufficient, whether Ignorance and Infufficiency

be real in fuch a Subject or not.

As to the fifth Article, which concerns my
giving Entertainment in my Houfe to one Eve-

rard, reputed a Conjurer, and to one Tawny, re-

ported to hold unfound Opinions, I thus anfwer

:

As to the firft part of it, I confefs that one

Evemrd, about four Years fince, was received

into my Houfe at Bradfield, for the fpace of

almoft three Weeks and no longer ; and that

after this manner : He came in Harveft-time

with a new Pair of Harveft-Gloves on his Hands,

to fhew his Willingnefs and Readinefs to work •,

and asking to fpeak with me, told me, That if

I pleafed to employ him in Harveft-Work, he

came to offer his Service. Hereupon I enter-

tained him as a Workman . And thus you fee

both the Manner of his Coming, and the Caufe

of his Entertainment.

Whereas it is faid he was generally reputed a

Conjurer :

Anfw. i . T anfwer, I never heard any the leaft

Intimation from any, that he was ever fufpected

to be a Conjurer, till after his departure from

my Family : If he was a Conjurer before he came,

it was more than I knew, or had heard of ; but

after his departure, I confefs there arofe a gene-

ral Report up and down the Country, that he

was a Conjurer. Bat from that time to this, I

have never feen him, nor known what is become
of him.

Anfw. 2. After his abfence, I do further affirm,

That I was ftrongly inclined to believe, accord-

ing to the general Rumour, that he was a Con-
jurer. Hereupon I was in a great ftrait in my own
Spirit, whether I fhould profecute him or not $

my Zeal for God's Glory, and my Obedience to

the Command of God, that faith, Suffer not a
Witch to live, giving me fome Impulfions to do
it. But after ferious Debate and Confideration

within myfelf, I refolved this Cafe or Scruple of
Confcience thus ; That my own Perfuafions and
Jealoufies, tho* they had fome ground of Proba-
bility, yet not being certain, afforded me not a

fufficient ground of profecuting him as a Conju-
rer, or of fwearing pofitively he was fuch. Now
I leave it to your ferious Confiderations, whether
this Tendernefs of Confcience keeping me from
profecuting of him, or fwearing againft him, for

fear of that heinous Sin of Perjury, makes me
either ignorant or infufficient for the Miniftry.

As to the fecond part of the fifth Article,

which concerns my Entertainment of one Tawny
t

reputed (as it is there expreffed) to be one that

holds unfound Opinions

:

Anfw. I anfwer, It is well known, as I invite

none, fo I turn away none that come to vifit me,
tho' their Principles in Matter of Doctrine, Wor-
fhip, and Difcipline, be different from mine. I

will here fhew you briefly my Grounds and Ends

:

My Grounds are thefe ; I look upon it as my
Duty, according to the Gofpel of Chriff, to

entertain all Strangers that be in want and necef-

fity, profeffing the Name of Chrift. If Enemies
hunger, we are to feed them % if they are naked,

we muft clothe them : and as for Strangers, we
are to lodge and entertain them, Heb. xiii. 2.

And as in the Practice of this I break no Law
of God, fo no Law of Man. And you may re-

member, that in the 37th Article of Government
it is expreffed, That all fuch as profefs Faith in

God by Jefus Chrift, tho' differing in Judgment
from the Doctrine, Worfhip, or Difcipline pub-

lickly profeffed, fo as they abufe not this Liberty

to the Civil Injury of others, nor to the actual

Difturbance of the public Peace, fhall be pro-

tected ; and then furely their hungry Bellies may
be fed, their Backs clothed, their Wants fup-

ply'd, and their Perfons lodged and entertained.

And further, my Ends are thefe, which are

Pure and Evangelical, That I may prove all

things, and hold faft that which is good : that I

may try the Spirits, for many falfe Spirits are

gone forth into the World. Now how are they

to be proved and try'd ? Not by carnal Weapons,
as by Penalties, Mulcts, lmprifonments, and
other external Punifhments ; but by convincing

of them with found Doctrine, Chriftian Dif-

courfe, fpiritual Arguments, and by the Ex-
ample of a good Converfation. And thus God's

Glory, and the Good of others are my only Ends,

in giving Entertainment to all Strangers that

come in Civility to vifit me.

Now the Caufe of many Strangers coming
to me as Guefts from all Quarters of this Land,

arifeth from thefe lying printed Pamphlets,

which have hardly a Word of Truth in them ;

thefe draw all feeking inquiring Minds to vifit

me, for divers Ends beft known to themfelves

:

Let it but be proved that ever I gave Entertain-

ment to any common Swearer, or to any open

Drunkard, Sabbath-breaker, or to any known
profane Perfon, and I fhall judge myfelf ob-

noxious to your Cenfure ; but all that I give

free
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free Entertainment to, appear clothed under

fome Shew of Godlinefs or other •, but if they

have not the Power, it will be their own Mifery.

In a word, the Strength of this Article doth

but amount to thus much, That as Chrifl was

fuppofed to be a Friend of Publicans and Sinners,

fo am I fuppofed to be a Friend to all People,

that profefs Religion, and walk orderly, be

their Opinion in Matter of Doctrine or Difci-

pline never fo much differing from mine own,

or from thofe commonly received : yet this doth

not argue my Ignorance or Infufficiency for the

Miniftry ; but if in it any thing be culpable, it

is to be referred to the Head of Scandal. But

here being no Law of Prohibition, I cannot fee

any Tranfgreflion in it, either againft the Law
of God or Man.
To conclude, I cannot give a more direct An-

fwer to thefe Articles, being Matter of Fact, till

I fee them proved, and each Article referred to

its proper place, either of Scandal or Herefy, or

Ignorance and Infufficiency.

John Pordage.

This being read, we proceeded to the Proof

of the firft Charge of Articles attefted by Mr.

fickle, one of the Affiftants, whom I defired to

fee fworn in the open Court ; alledging that I

was altogether ignorant whether he had fworn

or not •, but the Clerk affirmed that he had done

it already : But after much difpute, it was grant-

ed that I fhould hear him fworn in the open

Court. Then I craved liberty to crofs-examine

him openly, and began to put my Interroga-

tories to him ; but this juft Privilege they peremp-

torily denied me, tho' I ufed many Reaibns and

Arguments to fhew the Equity and Reafonable-

nefs of it. Then they commanded me to write

down my Interrogatories, which fhould be pro-

pofed and anfwered in private, without my pre-

fence, according to their fixed Refolution. Then
all being commanded to withdraw, I wrote

down my Interrogatories •, and when I gave

them in, I defired they might be asked in the

open Court: but it was deny'd. Then I re-

quefted that I myfelf might be prefent at the

Crofs-examination, tho' all the reft withdrew ;

urging, that altho' I had given in my Interroga-

tories, yet there might be many neceffary Cir-

cumftances and Queftions emergent in the Exa-

mination, which I could not then give in in

Writing, nor make ufe of without I was prefent,

which yet might ferve very much to clear the

Truth : but notwithstanding this, and more
which was then faid, I could not prevail, but

was commanded to withdraw.

After .this I was called in again, and as I

thought to receive Mr. Tickle's Anfwers to my
Interrogatories ; which though I preffed it with

much earneftnefs, was deny'd, they refolving,

as it feemed to me by their Anfwer, to keep

them private till Publication : which appeared to

me very partial dealing, in regard I could not

know how the Queftions were anfwered, againft

the time of making my Defence by negative

Witneffes.

But afterward
i

importuning the Court to exa-

mine my Witneffes according to their own
Order, I was interrupted by their commanding
of the Clerk .to read a third Charge of Articles

exhibited againft me by Mr. Fowler, an Affiftant

Minifter to the Commiffioners ; whofe Zeal

moving fwifter than the Clerk's flow reading of
the Articles, caufed him to take them out of
his hands, and to read them himfclf, with much
Courage and Refolution. The Articles were
thefe that follow.

Further Additional Articles exhibited againji

Dr. Pordage, by Mr. Fowler, Minijier

oj St. Mary's in Reading.

i. Hp HAT the Righteoufnefs of Jefus Chrift

A was a poor, vain, faplefs Righteoufnefs.

2. That Jefus Chrift was not perfect, alledging

that Text to confirm it, becaufe he cry'd out,

My God, my God, why, &c.

3. That the Blood of Chrift was not merito-

rious of any Man's Salvation.

4. That it was a poor thing to live upon the

Blood of Chrift •, and fetching it over again, in

a contemptuous kind of fpeaking, Pi/h, faid he,

thou art a Babe, thou knowejl nothing ; to live upon

the Blood oj Chrift, is a poor thing.

5. That one fpeaking to him of the glorious

Perfons in Trinity, he reply'd, Perfons in Trinity I

Pijh, there is no fuch Thing. And again, There is

no Juch thing as Perfons in Trinity.

6. That it was a Weaknefs to be troubled for

Sin.

7. That he might fay any thing to the Men of

the World.

8. That he afferted he knew nothing to the

contrary, but that a Man might company with

more than one Woman ; being taxed with keep-

ing carnal Company with a Woman in London.

9. That he hath very frequent and familiar

Converfe with Angels.

10. That a great Dragon came into his Cham-
ber with a Tail of eight Yards long, four great

Teeth, and did fpit Fire at him : and that he

contended with the Dragon.

11. That his own Angel came and ftood by
him while he was expoitulating with the Dta-
gon ; and the Angel came in his own Shape and
Fafhion, the fame Clothes, Bands and Cuffs, the

fame Bandftrings, and that his Angel ftood by
him and upheld him.

12. That Mrs. Pordage and Mrs. Flavel had
their Angels ftanding by them alfo, Mrs. Por-

dage finging fweetly, and keeping time upon her

Breaft ; and that his Children faw the Spirits

coming into the Houfe, and faid, Look there,

Father : And that the Spirits did often come in-

to the Chamber, and drew the Curtains when
they were in Bed.

13. That the faid Mr. Pordage confeffed, that

a ftrong Enchantment was upon him, and that

the Devil did appear to him in the Shape of Eve-

rard, and in the Shape of a fiery Dragon ; and

the whole Roof of the Houfe was full of Spirits.

14. That Mrs. Margaret Pendar acquainted

with this Doctrine of Spirits, and pretended to

be converted by Vifions of Angels, doth think

that fhe was bewitched by them of Bradfield.

'Her Confejjion.

SH E was taken ill upon Wednefday in the

Afternoon, in July 1653. About Nine of

the clock the fame Night, there appeared the

Vifion of a Man ftanding at her Bed's-fset : on

Thurfday the next Day he had a Book in his

Hand,
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Hand, and ftood by her all that Day and faid

nothing. On Friday it fpake audibly unto her,

faying, Why art thou fo difcomforted •, I anfwer-

ed, A wounded, Confidence who can bear ? He re-

plied, He that hath wounded thee, will make

thee whole. I fpake much of my own Unwor-

thinefs ; he anfwered, There was worth in Chrift,

and he had paid a Ranfom for me. Then he

told me, that that Book in his Hand, was the

Book of the Lamb, and that my Name was writ-

ten in it. I faw the Book, a broad Book with a

Parchment-Cover ; and I faw Writing in it, and

then was I lifted up with a great deal of Joy.

And about Four of the clock the fame Friday,

the dark Angel came and ftood by the other Vi-

fion, with a Knife in his Hand, and faid, Thou

haft had a great deal of Joy •, and offering her the

Knife, bid her difpatch herfelf, and fhe mould

enter into that eternal Reft her Soul fo much

thirfted after. Upon this fhe trembled, the Bed

fhook, and my Miftrefs held me.

The fame Friday I had Vifions prefented upon

the Wall ; I faw the World, and the Refurrection

of the Dead, and the Son of Man appearing in the

Clouds of Heaven.

She faw clearly the Vifion of a Friend of hers

in London, in her Chamber at Soutbcot ; her Friend

was much inclined this way : fhe much wondred

at it, and told Mrs. Pordage of it ; who anfwered,

Alas! fo do we fee abundance of thofe we never

knew before, when once they come into our

way.
On Saturday Dr. Pordage came to her, being

fent for, and prayed in a very ftrange Language,

fhe did not underftand well what he faid ; fhe heard

him fay, Lord ; but nothing of Jefus Chrift, but

the Abyfs and bottomlefs Eternity.

She heard a great Noife of Drums and Trum-
pets. She asked the Doctor what the rattling of

Drums and Trumpets meant? He anfwered, It

was an Alarm to the fpiritual War.
One of the Nights fhe faw the Vifion of young

Mr. Daniel Blagrave, which came to her Bed-

fide *, fhe took him by the Hand, and it felt cold.

She asked the Doctor what it meant ? He anfwer-

ed, The Coldnefs of the Hand did fignify his be-

ginning to be cold to Vanity.

She asked Dr. Pordage what the Vifions meant ?

He anfwered, They durft not reveal one another's

Vifions ; he did not queftion but God would dif-

cover himfelf, and reveal wonderful things to

me.

,
She was from Wednefday Noon till Monday

Noon, and did not eat one piece of Bread, but

fometimes a little Water and Sugar; and fhe faith

fhe was not fick at all, after the firft two Hours

:

and when fhe was about to eat, fhe heard a Voice
come to her ; We are not to live upon Bread, but

upon every Word of God: And upon that Voice
fhe did not eat.

She faith, that fhe hath oftentimes feen at Lon-
don Flafhes of Light in her Chamber, and at

laft heard a Voice which put her into a very great

Fear and Sweat, faying, Thou haft married a

Lump of Clay ; but thou muft return to thy
firft Husband, who is thy Saviour, and thou muft
go to Joppa.

And upon this fhe was convinced that thefe

Vifions were of the Devil, becaufe the Voice
was clean contrary to the Scriptures. She faith,

that fhe hath heard it reported at Soutbcot, That
ere long Dr. Pordage fhould have Power from
Vol. II.

him to beftow faving Graces on whom he

pleafed: as alfo, that Marriage was the way of

Beafts.

Francis Knight of Wallingford faith,

That difcourfing with fome of Blewberry, that

ufe to go to Dr. Pordage's, they fpake very much
againft the Lawful nefs of Marriage; he wondred
at it, and ask'd them whence they now came?
They anfwered, We came juft now from the

Dodtor's from Bradfield.

16. Dodtor Pordage's Chamber at Bradfield

hath fometimes been almoft filled with Spirits.

17. That Doctor Pordage preached, That Wa-
ter-Baptifm was not the Ordinance of Jefus

Chrift.

18. That about Michaelmas, in the Year 1653,
he was commanded by his Angel, or from Hea-
ven, to give off preaching, and take no more
Tirhes ; but fince he conceives he hath had a Dif-

penfation.

19. That in July laft, 1654, he was to be ta-

ken up into Heaven ; and it is faid by fome, he

hath been there, and difmilfed again about his

Bufinefs.

20. That in the midft of thefe Vifions he is

fcandaloufly covetous.

21. That he curfed the People at Bradfield in

his Pulpit, and their Pofterity for ever in this

World, and in the World to come.

22. That he preached at Bradfield, and after-

ward did labour to defend it pertinacioufly, That
the little Horn in Dan. vii. 8. was Chrift ; and

being told that the little Horn made War with

the Saints, yet he perfifted to fay it was Chrift ;

and endeavoured to make his Hearers believe that

he was falfly charged.

23. That he faith Goodwife Pocock fingeth the

higheft Hymns very fweetly; that fhe knoweth

not a word when fhe begins, but is taken with a

burning about her Heart ; and when fhe hath done,

fhe cannot repeat a word of it, if it were to gain

the World.

24. That Goodwife Pocock lately came to Co-
lonel Evelyn, and told him, fhe had a Word to

him from God, viz. Have nothing to do with

that juft Man.
25. And that on or about the tenth of this

Month Dr. Pordage fent to invite Mr. Snelling,

and his Wife and Children, to come to the

Doctor that Day, and the fame Day Mr. Snelling

and his Wife did go to the Doctor's Houfe

;

and when he came, Mr. Snelling defired to know-

wherefore he fent for him? Dr. Pordage told

him, to go with him and meet his Bridegroom.

And then Mr. Snelling told the Doctor he knew

not what he meant, and fo departed. And the

next Morning Mr. Francis Pordage met with

Mr. Snelling, and told him he had loft his Part in

Heaven, being he did not wait upon the Doctor

at that time.

26. That Dr. Pordage fent his Man Bolt, in a

very rude and uncivil manner to fetch Mrs. For-'

Jler to his Houfe; that fhe being frighted at the

Meffage, and enquiring to what end fhe was fent

for, the faid Bolt anfwered, She fhould there fee

the Heavens opened, and the Colours flying in

the Air, and hear the Drums bear, and the Trum-

pets found.

27. That Mr. Forfter going to the Doctor's

Houfe, he told him at his firft coming in, that

he fhould fee fuch things, as if he were Empe-
G g -ror
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ror of a thoufand Worlds, he would give them

all to fee it. After asking him for his Wife,

and he anfwering, She was not well, and could

not come, the Doctor called to them to fend

forth a winged Meffenger to fetch her, for fhc

muftcome.
28. That two days after, one Goodwife Po-

cock coming from thence to Mr. Forfief% Houfe,

and they enquiring of her, what was the caufe

of thofe Behaviours in the Doctor's Family?

She anfwered, They had a foul Spirit fent amongft

them, and the Doctor had fought many Hours

with the black Power, and had overcome it;

for which fhe fhould ever think him a bright Man:
That all his Family had been ftrangely acted, the

Power taking them, fome in their Legs, and o-

thers in their Arms, and that then they fpake very

glorious things.

z<). That Mrs. Flavel was in a Trance, and

when fhe came out of it, fpake many precious

things which fhe had feen in that Trance; what

was thePhilofopher's Stone, that fo many Learn-

ed Men had fought after, which fhe knew to be

the Divinity . in the Humanity : and many other

things to the fame effect.

Further Articles preferred againji Dr. John
Pordage, Minijier of Bradfield Parifi,

fa fome of the Inhabitants of the fame
"Parifh.

HAT Dr. Pordage, about eight Years

pad, did carry Mrs. Flavel behind him

on horfeback on the Road to London, and about

Hoiwflow did enquire for a private Houfe, and

was directed to one Goodman Loader's a Smith,

who lives in Hejfen Parifh, half a Mile out of

the Road between Hounflow and Brentford ;

and when he came, asked if his Friend behind,

being fick, might have Entertainment ? 'Twas
anfwered, Yes. Then the Doclor left her there,

but never owned fhe was with Child, till fhe was in

travail.

2. Mrs. Flavel in a fhort time fell in travail,

and then defired no Company might be called in ;

yet the Woman of the Houfe, Goodman Loader's

Wife, called in three or four.

And Mrs. Flavel was then brought to bed of a

Daughter, having then no Husband that the World
knew of, Mr. Flavel being dead.

3. That Dr. Pordage came to that Houfe, and

chriftened that Child, and named it Hannah; and

the Doctor came often to vifit her there, and al-

ways alone by himfelf.

4. That the Child being put to nurfe in the

fame Parifh, the Doctor moved Mrs. Flavel to

Kenfington^ and paid the Smith for her being at

his Houfe : That a little while after the Nurfe

went to Kenfington to enquire for Mrs. Flavel to

pay her fome Money •, but fhe was removed

:

and the Nurfe faying, fhe left a Child with her,

the Company fmiled, and faid, They thought fhe

was fuch a Woman.
After this, the Nurfe's Husband wrote a Let-

ter to the Doctor to Bradfield, that he was twenty

Weeks Pay behind, and could not forbear;

whereupon he was paid: and fhortly after fent

for the Child away from the Nurfe's.

5. That a little while after, this Mrs. Flavel

came again to the Doctor's Family, and a little

Child called Hannah, it was alfo brought thi-

ther ; and Mrs. Flavel took the care of it ever

fince. And Mrs. Flavel being by Neighbours

asked whole Child it was? faid, a dear Friend of

hers : but none could ever hear in the Houfe whofe

Child it was. And fome telling Mrs. Flavel,

that the Child was fo like her, that they fhould

take it to be hers, had fhe not faid the contrary ;

fhe anfwered as before, 'Twas a dear Friend of

hers, but never named whofe.

6. That this Child, who was called Hannah,
this laft Summer they changed her Name, and cal-

led her Ruth ; they have alfo changed all their

Names : The Doctor is called Father Abraham,
his Wife is alfo called Deborah, and old Good-
wife Pocock is called Rahab, and fo the reft.

7. That Goodman Loader's Son being a Soldier,

faw Mrs. Flavel in Bradfield Street, and fpake to

her, but fhe took no notice of it. Afterward

Mrs. Flavel coming to his Father's Houfe, his

Mother in Difcourfe asked, Whether fhe lived

at Bradfield? Mrs. Flavel anfwered, She knew
no fuch Place, I will call my Son in, who faw
you there. Mr. Flavel faid, People be given to

lying, and would not have him called ; and pre-

fently called for her Horfe, and went away, tho*

before fhe had refolved to flay all night: and ne-

ver fince was there, except fince the Doctor hath

been queftioned.

3 1 . That Doctor Pordage is extreme covetous,

and hath exacted five millings at a time to mar-

ry one Man, or elfe told him he would not mar-
ry him. The Man told him, He could not jufl-

ly demand fo much : The Doctor anfwered, With-
out five Shillings he would not marry them ; and

took five Shillings.

32. That his Preaching doth not tend to Edi-

fication.

33. That he is a very ignorant and infufficient

Man for the Work of the Miniftry.

September 9. 1650.

34. I came into Bradfield Parfonage in the

Evening, and there I heard a very mournful Cry,

as if it had been one in extreme Pains ; but what

it was I know not ; for it continued all the time

I was at the Door, which was well near a quarter

of an Hour ; and fo it continued when 1 went

away. And then the 10th Day in the Morning
I came unto Mr. Francis Pordage at the Parfon-

age of Stanford-Dingley ; and he enquired of me
what I did think of the Noife that I heard ? I

told him I could not tell. Then he related to

me, that the Lord was about a great Work in this

Kingdom, and to this Nation ; and the Caufe of

this Cry was one in travail : and the Pain was fo

extreme, that had I ftaid there a little longer, I

might have heard it as far as the Town ; but now
fhe was delivered ofa Manchild, and the Travail

was at an end, and that he and others were Eye-

Witnefles to k.

The Tefiimony of Richard Seward.

35. That in Dr. Pordage''s Houfe in Bradfield,

lately the New Jerufalem hath been feen to come
down from Heaven, all of precious Stones ; and

in the New Jerufalem was a Globe, which Globe

was Eternity ; and in that Eternity were all the

Saints.

36. That at the Doctor's Houfe the Face of

God hath been feen ; not as Mcfes faw him, but

the very Face, as one Man may fee another's.

37- That
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37. That one being in the faid Doctor's Houfe

in a Trance, the faid Doctor's Daughter being

by her, faid, That flie faw two Angels all in

white, with Crowns over her Head.

The Examination of Goodman Seward con-

cerning Mr. Pordagc.

THis Deponent faith, That Mr. Pordage did

affirm Marriage to be a very wicked thing,

contrary to the Word of God. Goodman Seward

telling the aforefaid Mr. Pordage, that a Friend of

his had buried his Wife, and intended to marry

again ; Mr. Pordage replied, That it was a very

wicked Act, and wondered at it. The Deponent

replied, That he took Marriage to be an Ordi-

nance of God. Then demanding if his Wife

fhould have died, what he fhould have done ? He
replied, Would you be fo wicked as to marry ?

This the above-mentioned Deponent will aver

with his Oath.

A true Copy, examined by

Matth. Langley Regijl.

After he had done, it feemed not enough to

him to have read fuch a horrid, fcandalous, con-

fufed Charge to the People againft me ; but he

proceeded to fpeak to them, defiring them to

take notice what a ftrange Perfon I was, reprefent-

ing me to be guilty of Blafphemy, Devilifm, and

of Loofenefs in my Converfation ; promifing to

prove that Charge of Articles, or to be counted a

Slanderer. After which prevaricating Speech he

fuddenly departed.

After I further urged the Commiffioners to

hear the Teftimony of my Witneffes, in reference

to the firft Charge of Articles, that fo it might

be difpatched, that fo I might be freed from the

Trouble of anfwering fo many together, which

would unavoidably bring Confufion and Diforder

to mine and their Proceedings. I further fhewed,

that according to their Appointment, my Wit-

neffes were prefent and ready, defiring them to

confider that I had been at Trouble and Charges

in bringing them ; and that I muft unavoidably

be at more, if they would not then hear them :

Notwithftanding this, they denied to hear them

at that time, calling for two Witneffes which they

had fummoned to atteft my fecond Charge of Ar-
ticles. Here I defired, that as my Charges had

been openly read to the People, fo the Examina-
tion of the Witneffes might be open, that fo the

People might as well hear the Proof as the Ac-
cufation : but this could not be granted. Then I

requefted that I might be prefent ; this was alfo

denied : So two Witneffes were privately exami-

ned to the fecond Charge, whofe Examination

concluded that Day's Tran factions, in reference to

me ; and I received an Order to appear before

them again the 2 2d of November, at the Bear in

Reading.

Berks. By the Commiffioners for Ejecling of
Scandalous Minifters, November 2,

1654, at the Bear in Speenham-
land.

ijRdered, That Dr. Pordage of Bradfield (now
prefent) do appear again before us on Mon-

day the Z2d Inftant at the Bear in Readings and
Vol. II.

that he then give in his Anfwer to the further ad-

ditional Articles now exhibited againft him. And
it is further ordered, That the faid Doctor do then

produce his Witneffes, and bring in his Interroga-

tories in Writing, upon which he will examine

the Witneffes in his Defence, or crofs-examine

them, produced for Proof of the feveral Charges

againft him.

On the Day prefixed I appeared at the ap-

pointed Place ; the Commiffioners then fitting,

being Mr. JDunch, Chairman •, Major Fincher,, Mr.
Trapham, Mr. Stroud, Mr. Cook, Mr. Nutkins.

The Minifters, Mr. Fowler, Mr. Lee, Mr.
Woodbridge, Mr. Tickle, Mr. Hezves, with two
more.

Juft as they were going to Dinner, I was cal-

led in, and asked for my Anfwer to the lad

Charge of Articles : I told them it was ready,

but I fhould be very long in delivering it; but

if they thought fit, I would give it in before

Dinner. At this, one Mr. Trapham, a Chirur-

geon and Commiffioner, began to be very rough,

preffing me to give in my Anfwer, and to leave it

with them. I replied, That it was in my power
whether I would give it in in Writing only,

or by Word of Mouth, and that I refolved

of the laft. So I was commanded to with-

draw.

After Dinner, being called in again, I read this

Anfwer following, and then delivered it to them in

Writing.

My Anfwer to the third Charge of Articles, I

prefent in this Form following.

I
Shall firft prefent fomething by way of general

Preface, and fo defcend to Particulars.

In the firft place then, I look upon the firft

Articles charged upon me by young Mr. Tickle,

to be as the cafting of my innocent Perfon, with

Daniel, into the Lion's Den : But thofe Articles,

as the Mouths of the Lions, I conceive, were

flopped, fo that they could not hurt me, becaufe

the Authority and juft Proceedings of two for-

mer Committees, authorized by Acts and Ordi-

nances of Parliament, with fome other legal Pri-

vileges, had fufficiently muzzled the Mouths of

thofe Lionifh Articles.

And as for the fecond, fubfcribed by an un-

known Name, I believe there hath not been, nor

cannot be any thing proved, which may render

me obnoxious to any legal Guilt.

As for my third Charge brought forth by Mr.
Fowler, who is both my Accufer and myJudge;
I look upon it, as the Defign of the Evil One,
to caft me, with the three Children, into the hot

fiery Furnace of unparallelled Wrath and Envy :

for I know it will one Day appear, that thefe Ar-

ticles were raked together from a Spirit of Bitter-

nefs and Spleen, which feem to me as the Furnace

heated feven times hotter by the Fire of Wrath,

to burn up and confume my Name, Liberty, E-

ftate and Pofterity.

But be it known unto you, O you Judges and

Commiffioners! I am not follicitous what the

Event may be ; 1 know the God whom 1 ferve

in the Integrity of my Heart, who is Jehovah,

the true and only God, is able to deliver me
from this hot fiery Furnace, and to punifh thofe

who caft me in : But however God as yet may
order and difpofe of me, in reference to the Ex-

G e 2 ecution
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ecution of my Enemies Intents, I believe my ftrict

and holy Converfation, with my holding forth

what God in the Riches of his Grace bellowed

upon me, will clearly demonflrate that I am no

fuch Perfon, as the falfe and unworthy Afperfions

of thefe Articles reprefent me to be.

As to the particular Articles (which are raked

together in much Confufion, without reducing of

them to their particular Heads, of Scandal or

Infufficiency, many of them being incapable

juftly to be referred to either) I thus begin my
Anfwers.

Art. i. '"Tp HAT the Righteoufnefs of Chrifl

JL was a poor, vain, faplefsRighteoufnefs.

1 Part. Anfw. This Article was in my former

Charge, and I was cleared of it by two Com-
mittees, who had power legally to acquit me, even

as they did.

2 Part. Anfw. I do cordially acknowledge, That
Chrift's Righteoufnefs is not a poor and faplefs

Righteoufnefs, but very precious, being the ma-
terial Caufe, and fpotlefs Robe of a Chrift ian's

Juftification ; and that every Saint ought to be

found in this Righteoufnefs of Chrift in point of

Juftification, and not in his own Self-righteouf-

nefs.

3 Part. Anf. I deny that ever I fpake fuch

"Words, without fome Limitation ; which Limi-

tation, if annexed, would free me from any

Guilt refuking from fuch Expreflions : and tho'

any one fhould fwear I fpake thofe Words, yet

that could not render me juftly guilty, it not be-

ing declared what preceded, or what followed in

the Series of my Difcourfe. And I have many
Witnefles fufficiently known, and pious, who
being conftant Hearers of me, have teftifled by

Oath, and will upon oceafion again, that the

Scope of my Miniftry drives not againft the due

Application of Chrift's Righteoufnefs to the Souls

of Believers, but againft the mifapplying it to

thofe who have not the Spirit of Chrift living in

their Hearts, purifying their Confciences, and

fubduing their Lulls.

Art. 2. That Jefus Chrift was not perfect ; al-

ledging that Scripture to confirm it, My God,

my God, why haft thou, &c.

i Part. Anf. I do nakedly, without any Veils,

profefs that 1 ever did, and ftill do look upon
Chrift as a moft perfect Copy and Pattern to

fquare our Lives and Converfations by ; yea, and

to be a perfect Mediator, in reference to that

"Work he undertook for the Redemption of the

World, being free from the leaft Tincture either

of original or actual Sin : and truly the Thought
of any fuch thing never lodged in my Heart.

2 Part. Anfw. But fuppofe I uttered fuch Ex-
preflions as thefe, yet the manner of it will fuf-

ficiently free me from that Guilt my Accufer may
hope, and believe I am obnoxious to by it :

I confefs I uttered thefe or the like Words, yet it

was only by way of relating what I heard in a

Sermon of Mr. Erbery's in Somerfet-Houfe, who
at that time endeavoured to enumerate Chrift's

(fuppofed) Imperfections, whereof he made his

crying out upon the Crofs, in thofe Expreflions,

one. Now I leave it to your Confiderations,

whether my relating to fome that are wife and

knowing, what I heard from another, with much
Grief to my Soul, makes me any way culpable

or guilty.

Art. 3. That the Blood of Chrift was ret merito-

rious of any Mans Salvation.

Anfw. I call Heaven and Earth to witnefs, that
fuch Thoughts never entred into my Soul ; nor
did fuch Words ever come out of my Mouth :

For my Judgment ever hath been, and ftill is,

that the Blood of Chrift is fatisfying, reconciling,

cleanfing Blood •, that it is interceding, redeem-
ing, meriting Blood, in relation to all thofe who
through Faith and Patience come to inherit eternal

Life.

Art. 4. That it was a poor thing to live upon the
Blood of Chrift ; and fetching it over again in a
contemptuous kind of'fpeaking, 'Pijb, faid he, thou
art a Babe, thou kneweft nothing , to live upon the
Blood of Chrift, is a poor thing.

1 Part. Anfw. I acknowledge that about four
Years fince fuch Expreflions were uttered by me
to one Mrs. Grip -, but without any fuch Intent as
may be fuppofed by my Accufers, and not with
that circumftantial Aggravation of repeating it in
a contemptuous manner, which is but a Suppo-
sition of my Adverfary, and cannot be attefted

by an Oath, without this Witnefs pretends infal-

libly to know my Thoughts and Purpofes.

2 Part. Anf. Again, this being fpoken to a
particular Perfon, on a particular Oceafion, might
be true, if the Circumftances of the Difcourfe were
accordingly added ; though as here prefented it

feems very monftrous.

3 Part. Anfw. Therefore to make things clear,

I Hull here infert fome particular Circumftances,
which may prefent this Article, though in a new,
yet true Face.

_
I coming to Mrs. Grip's Houfe,

fhe took me into a private Room to have fome
Conference with me alone, where fhe brake forth
into a violent Paflion of Tears, weeping, and
wringing her Hands, and pouring forth bitter

Complaints and Invectives againft Mr. Fowler,
as that he was a gracelefs Man, a Lyar, a Slan-
derer, not worthy to come up into a Pulpit, or to
have the Name of a Minifter of Chrift, with o-
ther fuch bitter Expreflions. The Caufe of
which was, as fhe then told me, Mr. Fowler's
reporting about, That fhe then lived in Adul-
tery. And after her Paflion was fomewhat al-

layed, fhe brake forth into thefe or fuch like

Expreflions of high Afluranee ; Chrift hath
'

loved me, and died for me, and juftified me by
his Bloody from all Guilt of Sin ; I am an elect

Perfon, a juftified Perfon ; and what is this Fow-
ler to charge Sin upon me ? Thefe and other
Expreflions fell from her to this purpofe : from
fome of which, I feared fhe was drenched with
Antinomianifm, and told her more than once, it

was a poor thing to live upon the Blood of
Chrift, and to look fo much upon that, except
fhe had the Nature of Chrift, and the Spirit of
Chrift ; asking her, where was the Meeknefs of
Chrift, and the Patience of Chrift, to fuffer as

an innocent Lamb quietly ? But ftill fhe crying
out, fhe lived on the Blood of Chrift ; I told

her, it was a poor Thing to be thus exalted with
Notions of the Blood of Chrift, without men-
tioning Sanctification, and thofe holy Graces
which flow from Chrift's Nature dwelling in

the Soul. Now by thefe Expreflions of mine,
my Scope was to make Mrs. Grip fee the Ne-
ceflity of Sanctification, and of a pure and holy
Life, and not to make void the blefled Effect of
the Blood of Chrift, applied according to the

Mind of God, and the true Meaning of the

Scrip-
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Scripture. And now having related the Circum-

ftances as near as I can remember, I believe a fo-

ber and knowing Chriftian will not judge me

either fcandalous or ignorant for thefe Expref-

fions.

Art. 5. That one /peaking to me of the glorious

Perfons of the Trinity, I replied, Fiji, there is no

fuch thing as Perfons in the Trinity.

1 Part. Anfw. 1 do here profefs and avow from

the Sincerity of my Heart, that I believe the Tri-

nity of Perfons as an Article of my Faith, viz.

That there are three Perfons diilinft from each

other •, the Perfon of the Father, the Perfon of the

Son, the Perfon of the Holy Ghoft, yet not fo as

to prejudice the Unity in Effence ; and I fo be-

lieve the Unity, as not to confound the Trinity

of Perfons.

2 Part. Anfw. I never uttered fuch Expreffions

in that way, as to give any juft ground of Sufpi-

cion of my denying the Trinity. But I remem-

ber, about four Years fince, being before the

Committee of Berks, Mr. Fowler, or Mr. Gil-

bert, I remember not which, defired the Commit-

tee to give them liberty to ask me two or three

Queftions : Amongft the reft, they asked me
whether there were three Perfons in the Deity.

I anfwered them, I believed the Trinity as it

is recorded in 1 John v. 7. There are Three that

bear Record in Heaven^ the Father, the Word, and

the Holy Ghoft. Thus you fee I believe the Trini-

ty. But do you believe the Trinity of Perfons,

faid they ? I replied, I find not the Term
Perfons in the Text ; but to put you out of doubt,

I do not fhimble at the Word Perfon. And this

afterward I told to the above-mentioned Mrs.

Grip, in a private Conference fome Years fince ;

to whom I affirmed, that 1 found no fuch Ex-
preffions as Perfons in Trinity in the Scripture ;

and that the Word Trinity being a School-

Term, was very difficult to be apprehended

by common Capacities. But I never fpake

thus to prejudice the true Notion of the Per-

fons in the Sacred Trinity, which I do cordi-

ally believe ; but only to fhew that ordinary

Chriftians fhould not be too curious in prying

into that deep Myftery of the Three Perfons in

the Trinity, but rather content themfelves with

what the Scripture plainly affirms of the Fa-

ther, Son, and Holy Ghoft, as diftincl, yet

one. But to conclude this Anfwer, pray con-

fider what hard Meafure it is, thus to pick a

broken Sentence out of a long Difcourfe, and

fo to accufe one without relating the Circum-

ftances which might ferve to clear what o-

therwife may feem very ftrange to prejudiced

Perfons.

Art. 6. That it is a Weaknefs to be troubledfor

Sin.

Anf I do not remember that any fuch Ex-
preffion as this ever dropped from my Mouth,
either publickly or privately ; and I am per-

fuaded that no one dare afTert it with an

Oath : Which if they did, would not make
much to the purpofe ; for with a charitable

Qualification it may be thus made forth ,

That it is a Weaknefs for one to be troubled

for Sin, who hath the Affurance of God's
Love, his Sin pardoned, his Perfon juftified ,

fanclified, and his Will converted from, and
crucified to Sin : For fuch a one 'fhould be tri-

umphing in the Power of £>'aith and Love,
enjoying fweet heavenly Communion with God,

and faying, Death, where is thy Sting ? And
there is no Condemnation to them that are in

Chrift Jefus, who walk not after the Flefh, but

after the Spirit. Whereas Trouble for Sin

thus pardoned and mortified, may be an En-
gine of Satan to make a Soul queftion God's
Love, and to bring it out of a bleffed fpiri-

tual Enjoyment of God, into a flavifh Fear and
Difturbance.

Art. 7. That he might fay any thing to the

Men of the World.

1 Part. Anf I anfwer, To the beft of my
Remembrance, 1 never uttered any fuch un-
chriftian Maxim, much lefs ever held it as my
Judgment ; and I confidently believe there is no
one on the Earth that dare witnefs it v/ith an
Oath.

2 Part. Anfw. I know very well that Mr.
Fowler hath been, if not the Author, yet the
Reporter of my holding this monftrous Tenet ;

for he hath confidently averred, and often infi-

nuated into fome of the Gentry of this County,
and into his own Profelytes, that I am a Fa-
milift ; and that it is my Principle to fay or un-
fay any thing that may make to my own Advan-
tage. Which God knows is a fad Scandal, and a
monftrous Untruth ; and clearly appears, to thofe

who know the Integrity of my Principles and
Converfation, to be a Blur caft upon me from the

Contrivance of fubtile Machiavellian Policy, to

prejudice all I fay or anfwer to thofe horrid

Things objected againft me : For if this be once
fettled in thofe who are my Judges, it is vain for

me to anfwer, deny, or avow any thing. But the

Lord forgive my Adverfary for this his unchri-

ftian Dealing, and grant he may repent of it be-

fore he comes to give up his laft Account before

the great Tribunal of Chrift.

Art. 8. That I ajferted I knew nothing to the

contrary, but that a Man might company with ?nore

than one Woman ; being taxed for keeping carnal

Company with a Woman in London.

Anfw. I never kept fcandalous Company with

any Woman in London ; neither was I ever taxed

for any fuch thing, except once by Mrs. Grip,

who I believe is the Witnefs againft me; and
that upon this Occafion

:

At the time I had my former Conference with

her, the Heat of her Paffion being over, fhe told

me that I was alfo taxed for keeping of carnal

Company with a Woman in London. I replied,

I am a Man born to all kind of Sufferings ; and
told her, that fhe faw and knew the manner of
my Converfation •, asking her whether fhe belie-

ved it. And fhe anfwered, No truly. And then

I folemnly protefted the contrary. And this is

all the Taxing I ever had from any one. At
which time I was earneft with Mrs. Grip to dis-

cover to me from whom fhe heard it : But fhe

put me off, telling me fhe did not believe it, and

that fhe would tell me fome other time. But

from that long Difcourfe I had with her, fear-

ing, as I faid before, fhe was deeply tinctured

with the Principles of Antinomianifm, and not

knowing whether fhe might not be tainted with

fome Notions of Rantifm, which at that time

were every where frequently difcourfed of, I

took this Oca: fion to try her •, telling her (as near

as I remember) that there were fome that af-

firmed they knew nothing to the contrary, but

that a Man might company v/ith more than one

Woman. But, to fpeak the Truth, fhe Jet it

fall.
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fall, without feeming to approve of any fuch

thing. And this I folemnly avow to be the Truth,

as near as I can remember. And I believe Mrs.

Grip dare not fwear that I maintained any fuch

thing as my Judgment, or produced one Scrip-

ture or Argument to defend it.

I profefs to the whole World, in the Prefence

of that Eye that feeth through all Hearts, that all

fuch loofe Principles, which turn the Grace of

God into Wantonnefs, and that run oppofite to

the Laws of Morality, Civility, Modefty, and

Sobriety, or that any ways indulge Wantonnefs

and Lafcivioufnefs, are as inconfiftent with my
Principles as Heaven and Hell, Light and

Darknefs, are oppofite one to another ; which

will one Day clearly appear to the World, what-

ever I am now thought of.

Art. 9. That he hathfrequent and familiar Con-

verfe with Angels.

Anf. As this Article is prefented in general

Terms, without expreffing whether the Commu-
nion be vifible or invifible, I do noc fee how it

can touch me, tho' my Enemies were my Judges

;

becaufe every true Chriftian hath frequent Com-

munion or Converfe with Angels, as you may fee

folidly and clearly proved from Scripture by the

Lord Lawrence, one very learned and pious, now

Prefident of the Lord Protector's Council, in his

Book, entitled, Our Communion and War with

Angeh.
Art. 10, 1 1, 12, 13. Concerning the Vifion of a

Dragon, and the Apparition of Spirits.

Anfw. 1 . 1 may deny thefe four Articles as they

are taken together, and expreffed in thofe Terms,

and in that manner in which they are fet down in

my Accufation ; for I believe none dare fwear

the Meafures and Teeth of the Dragon with the

Appearance of my own Angel, &c. without the

Crime of Perjury.

Anfw. 2. I will not confefs any Apparitions in

particular till they be proved, left I mould feem

to accufe my felf -, they being brought in as a

Crime againft me, and as Inftruments to condemn

me.

Yet in general I acknowledge, that fome four

Years fince there were many ftrange and wonder-

ful Apparitions feen in my Houfe. But what

can thefe in Juftice amount to, though attefted by

Oath, and confeffed particularly by my felf, when

brought before thofe who profefs themfelves

Chriftians, and acquainted with the Hiftory of

the Holy Scriptures ? Pray was not Job a pious,

fincere, and eminent righteous Man ? Yet how

was he feared with Dreams, and terrified through

Vifions ? Chap. vii. ver. 14. Did not Zechariah

the Prophet (Zech. iii.) fee Satan ftanding at the

Right-hand of Jojhua to refift him ? Did not

John (Rev. xii.'j in a Vifion behold a great red

Dragon, that made War againft Michael and the

Holy Angels ? And was not Chrift himfelf

tempted of the Devil by Voice and Vifions ?

Matth. iv. 6, 8. Now the Servant is not greater

than the Lord, John xv. 20. and therefore not

exempted from the like Attempts of the Devil.

I befeech you confider whether this Earth be not

the Place where the Devil walks up and down,

feeking whom he may devour ? How then can

Bradfield, or any other Place, be exempted from

his appearing, when God permits ? And may

not all this be for the mani felling of his Glory,

Goodnefs, and Power ? And who can tell whofe

Family-may be next expofed, by God's Permif-

fion, to be tried and proved by the Reprefen-

tations of Satan ? And 1 defire you ferioufly

to confider how any fuch Apparitions, raifed by
the Devil, and permitted by God for his own
Glory, argue me either fcandalous, ignorant,

or infufficient ? Surely it rather argues that

he hath bleft me with a ftrong Faith, in that

he permitted fuch great Trials, and made
me inftrumental to overcome them by Prayer

and Falling. If it can be proved that I ever

fo much as looked toward the unlawful Art
of Black Magick, or that any evil Spirits were

raifed up by any Compact of mine, explicite or

implicite, or that thofe of evil Apparitions were
fubdued and overcome by any other Means
than by God's Bleffing upon our Falling and
Prayers ; I fhall judge my felf worthy of Pu-
nifhment. But otherwife it is hard Meafure to

be profecuted and prejudiced for the Malice of
the Devil towards me, inflicting what I was
paffive in, and could not help ; efpecially by
thofe who profefs the Chriftian Religion, and
know that the God of Heaven rules over all,

permitting and difpofing of whatever comes to

pafs.

Art. 14. That Mrs. Margaret Pendar doth

think fhe was bewitched by them of Bradfield.

1 Part. Anfw. Here is a long and tedious Re-
lation, in which Truth and Untruths are mixed
together : The whole Structure ofwhich Relation,

fo far as it concerns me, depends upon this weak
Bafis and Foundation, That fhe thinks fhe was
bewitched by them of Bradfield. But what a

fad thing is this, for my Accufer to impeach

me for that which might endanger, if true, my
Eftate and Life, upon the Thoughts of a dif-

compofed Maid ? Becaufe fhe thinks I fent

thofe Vifions, therefore 1 muft be thus arraigned.

But, for my part, I do not believe fhe dare fay

fo, much lefs fwear it, having no ground at all

for it.

2 Part. Anfw. I fhall briefly relate fome Cir-

cumftances which concern this Bufinefs, and may
ferve fomething to clear it up. Before thefe Vi-
fions of hers, I had never feen her, as I know of,

nor exchanged fo much as a Word with her. In

the time of her Vifions, Mr. Daniel Blagrave,

whofe Servant then fhe was, came for me him- -

felf, to fetch me to his Houfe to vifit her. To
which Motion I yielded, being fuitable to the

Law of Chriftian Charity. And when I came,

I had no Conference with her but in the pre-

fence of Mailer and Miffrefs Blagrave, with 0-

thers that were then prefent. And from this Vi-
fit there arofe a Rumour that I was a Conjurer,

and a Sorcerer: Which Report was fpread a-

broad by two that carry the Name of Minifters of

Chrift, Mr. Fowler and Mr. Ford. The laft of

which fo exceeded the Bounds of Charity and

Chriftian Moderation, as in his Sermon, at the

AfTizes, to call me a horrid Blafphemer, affert-

ing that the Devil was as vifibly familiar in my
Family as my own Servants ; and fo excited the

Magistrates to perfecute me.

3 Part. Anfw. As for thofe Untruths which

are mixed in the Relation, I fhall not trouble

my felf to anfwer them ; for I know when they

come to be fworn to, and to be crofs-examined,

they will appear to be the fulfilling of that

wicked Maxim, Calumniare audi tier aliquid he-

relit ; Calumniate and afperfe boldly, fomerhing
will flick. Which being a Piece of Jefuitical

Policy,
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Policy, hath been practifed by my Accufer in

this confufed Rhapfody of Articles.

Articles of one Francis Knighc of
Wallingfbrd.

Art. 1. HP HAT fome of Blewberry, who /pake

JL againft Marriage, /aid they came then

from my Houje.

Anfw. I hope I have enough to do to anfwer

for my felf ; what need the Affertions of others

be alledged as Articles againft me ? They fpeak

againft Marriage, having lately been at my Houfe,

therefore I muft be guilty of it : Surely this Con-

fluence is neither according to natural, artificial,

nor divine Reafon.

Art. 2 . That my Chamber hath been filled with

Spirits.

Anfw. I hope none will be fo unadvifed as to

fwear to this Article, being Spirits are immaterial,

and cannot take up place, or fill a Room.
Art 3 . That I preached that Water -Baptifm was

not an Ordinance of Jefus Chrift.

Anfw. It was never fo preached by me. All

that I then affirmed was this •, That Water-Bap-

tifm could not be proved to be the Ordinance of

Chrift, by way of Eminency fo called, from that

Text of Scripture, Matth. xxviii. 19. Go teach

all Nations, baptizing them in the Name of the Fa-

ther, Son, and Holy Ghoft : For that Baptifm may
very well be underftood of the Baptifm of the

Spirit, which by the Difciples was inftrumentally

adminifter'd to all Converts. Yet I denied not

Water-Baptifm to be a Gofpel-Ordinance, infti-

tuted by John, as the chief Inftrument under

God, from whom he received his Commiffion.

And that this was the Sum of what I then preached,

I can prove by Oath.

Art. 4. That about 1653, / was commanded by

my Angel, orfrom Heaven, to give off Preaching,

and to take no more Tithes ; but that fince I have

had a Difpenfation.

Anfw. I believe no one, that hath the Fear of

God before his Eyes, dare atteft this Article by

Oath, which is here ftated. This is Anfwer
enough to fuch a Thing, which is merely brought

in as an Odium by my Accufer, the more to pre-

judice me.

Art. 5. That in July 1 654, i" was taken up into

Heaven, &c.

Anfw. If Paul were now upon the Earth, he

were in danger to be accufed by my Accufer, for

his Rapture into Heaven or Paradife. But this

concerning me will prove but fome idle Dream,
created by fomebody's Fancy to make People

wonder at me.

Art. 6. That I curfed the People of Bradfield in

my Pulpit, and their Pofterity for ever, &c.

Anfw. This Article was one of thofe heard and
examined four Years fince by the Committee of

Plundered Minifters, from which I was acquit-

ted by them ; thefe WitnefTes, viz. Richard Lu-
inton, John Hambleton, Mary Pocock, Richard

Holmes, with four more, attefting by Oath that

I did not curfe the People of Bradfield, fo as is

exprefTed in the Article. The Teftimony of
thefe WitnefTes was this: That they being pre-

fent September 29, the Doctor exprefTed himfelf

thus: Bradfield is a Place partly made famous,
partly infamous, by reafon of the falfe and lying

Reports that are abroad; But I fay, Curfed be the
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Tongue and Mouth that /hall fay^ That what is

done by the Power of God, is done by the Power of

the Devil. What one Parifhioner is here cur-

fed by me, except any one's Confcience accufeth

him of the Guilt of that forementioned Blaf-

phemy.
Art. 7, Concerning the little Horn mentioned

Dan. vii. to be Chrift.

This Article was four Years fince exhibited

againft me, from which I was difcharged by the

Committee ; Richard Higs, John Higs, and Ri-

chard Luinton, attefting on Oath that I para-

phrafing on the Seventh of Daniel, and fpeak-

ing on the little Horn, faid, That fome fnter-

preters would have the little Horn in the Let-

ter to be meant of Antiochus Epiphanes, a bloody

and perfecuting Tyrant ; others think the little

Horn to be the Turk, who is a great Perfecuter

of Chriftians: But in the Myflery, in regard of

its Power, we will apply it to the Power of

Chrift in a Chriftian, who is often in Scripture

refembled to the Horn of David, and to the

Horn of Salvation ; and that upon three Confix

derations

:

Con/id. 1 In regard that Chrift's Power in the

Soul doth appear to be a little Horn, a fmall

defpifed Inftrument to Senfe and Reafon ; for

Flcfh and Blood look on it as a poor Inftrument,

in regard of bringing down the Strength of Sin

in us.

Confid. 2. In regard of Sin and Satan, who
laughs the Power of Chrift in the Soul to

fcorn, yet before him his accurfed Kingdom
muft fall.

Confid. 2. In regard its Birth and Beginning in

the Soul is at the firft a very little Grain of

Muftard-feed, yet in due time it will deftroy the

Kingdom of Sin, and fet up the Kingdom of

Holinefs in us.

Having thus drawn away the Veil from this Ar-
ticle, I hope it appears with a more tolerable and
innocent Face.

Art. 8. Concerning Goodwife Pocock's finging

Hymns and Spiritual Songs.

Anfw. She acknowledged it as her Gift beftow-

ed by God, being according to the Gifts of Chri-

ftians in the primitive Time. But this doth not

directly concern me.

Art. 9. Concerning thefame Performs coming to

Colonel Evelyn'j, and fayitgjhe had a Wordfrom
God, viz. Have nothing to do with that juft

Man.
Anfw. She owneth thefe Words, and looks

upon me as a juft Man, and a true Chriftian

;

and believeth that Colonel Evelyn will one

Day know fhe gave good Counfel upon good
Grounds.

Art. 10. Concerning Mr. Snelling and hisJVife

coming to my Houfe, &c.

Anfw. This Article hath as little of Truth as

Senfe or Force to prejudice me ; and I believe

none will be found to fwear it: However, I think

it not worthy of a larger Anfwer.

Art. 11, 12. Concerning the fending of my Man
Bolt in an uncivil manner for Mr. Forfter, with

hisfpeaking of ftrange things there to befeen, and of

my telling Mr. Forfter he jhould fee very wonderful

Things, &c.

1 Part. Anfw. Thefe Articles were heard, and

I acquitted four Years fince by the Committee of

Plundered Minifters, and are of fo little Confe-

quence, that they might well have been omitted,

bun
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but that my Accufer thinks he hath never enough

againft me.

2 Part, Anfw. 1 believe Mr. Forfler dares not

fwear to thefe Particulars, fome of which are very

untrue.

3 Part. Anfw The forementioned Robert Bolt

afferted on Oath that 1 fent him not with any

MelTage, but that it was his Miftrefs that fent

him to defire Mr. Forjter and his Wife to come to

my Houfe.

Art. 13. Concerning Goodwife Pocock'

;

coming to

Mr. Forfter'j, and faying, The Doclor had fought

with, and overcome an evil Spirit ; and that the Fa-

mily had been ftrangely ailed, the Power takingfome

of them in one part, fome in another ; and that they

/pake glorious things.

1 Part. Anfw. This was another of the Articles

heard, difcufTed, and I acquitted by the fore-

mentioned Committee, becaufe nothing material

could be made of it.

2 Part. Anfw. The faid Mary Pocock attefted

on Oath fhe faw no Apparitions in my Houfe,

being crofs-examined concerning that Particular.

And though fhe did fay God gave extraordinary

Power to fuflain both our Spirits and Bodies in

an extraordinary Trial, what Hurt was there in

that ? Why mould it be brought as an Article a-

gainft me?
Art. 14. 'That Mrs. P'lavel was in a Trance,

and in itfaw the Philofopher's Stone, which fhe knew

to be the Divinity in the Humanity.

Anfw. Not to fpeak any thing concerning the

myftical Writings of the deep Herrnetick Philo-

fophers, or what the Judgment of fome of them

is concerning this Secret, 1 myfelf being not here

accufed to have feen it, or to have affirmed k was

the Divinity in the Humanity -, all that I fhall

anfwer is this, I wonder that this is brought in

as an Article againft me, to prove me Scanda-

lous, Ignorant, or Inefficient; it not direclly

proving any thing againft me, being affirmed of

another, and being one of thofe Articles I was

difcharged of by the Committee for Plundered

Minifters.

Art. 1 5. 'touching Sawood'i Depofitions of the

Birth of a Child, and one being in Travail.

Anfw. 1. This was one of the Articles of

which I was acquitted by the forementioned Com-
mittee.

Anfw. 2. Mrs. Elizabeth Pordage and Mary
Pocock afferted on Oath, That there was no Wo-
man in Travail, nor any Child born, nor any

other Cry heard, but of thofe at Prayer ; which

was alfo witneffed on Oath by Mr. Francis

Pordage.

Art. 16. 'That in my Houfe the New Jerufalem

hath beenfeen to come downfrom Heaven, and that in

it was a Globe, in which Globe was Eternity\ and

in that Eternity all the Saints,

Anfw. As to the Subftance of this Article ; If

God hath favoured any with fuch a Virion, fure-

]y they would be no more afhamed to own it,

when called to it, than John was, when he wrote,

Rev. xxi. 1. That he faw the Holy City, New
"Jerufalem, come down from God out of Hea-

ven ; where he alfo defcribes it by all the molt

precious Stones in the Creation. But in refe-

rence to my Family, I believe none dare atteft

they heard this fpoken by any of them, which

I believe will prove but fome groundlefs Imagi-

nation.

Art. 17. That in my Houfe God hath been feen

Face to Face, &c.

Anfw. As this Article is ftated, I fhall give no

other Anfwer but this, That I fhall wait to fee

who dare fware to it, or what Proof can be brought

of it.

Now I am come to the Articles exhibited a-

gainft me by fome of Bradfield Parifh.

AacHs to thofe which concern Mrs. Flavel, I

fhall anfwer.

1

.

Somewhat in general touching their Import

and Nature.

2. By way of Negation.

3. By way of Acknowledgment or Affirma-

tion.

Anfw. Gen. This Charge of Articles hath no
legal Reference of Charge at all to me, but is

merely fcandalous, importing but a Libel, no-

thing of Fact really criminous being laid to my
Charge ; which will more clearly appear, when
the erroneous Circumflances of it are detected

:

by which alfo the Subtilty and Envy of my Ad-
verfaries will be difcovered, who pofitively al-

ledge nothing againft me that may bear any

Action of Damage at the Common Law, by
which they might fuffer for their injurious

Dialing •, yet by plaufible prevaricating Circum-

flances, would feem to make me highly crimi-

nous and guiky.

Now I fhall anfwer negatively to many erro-

neous prejudicing Circumflances, which are by

Defign heaped together, to put a plaufible Face

upon an envious Libel or illegal Charge.

1 Circ. It's faid it was fome eight Years fince

I brought one Mrs. Flavel to Goodman Loader's?

&c.

Aifw. neg. WT

hich is an Error, tho' one of the

fmalleft, brought in to prejudice the more, for

it was fome nine Years fince.

2, Circ. It's further faid, this was carrying her

to London.

Anfw. neg. Which I deny •, for it was coming
from London, where fhe had for fome time been.

3 Circ. That I asked whether my Friend be-

hind me, being fick, might have Entertain-

ment, &c.
Anfw. neg. This I alfo deny ; fhe was not then

fick, neither did I ufe any fuch Expreffions.

4 Circ. That I never mentioned fhe was with

child.

Anfw. neg. Tho' I did not, it not concerning

me to do it, yet fhe herfelf did not deny it.

5 Circ. That in a fhort time fhe fell in Tra-

vail.

Anfw. neg. A fhort time may feem to imply

fome few Days, or Weeks, being brought in as

an aggravating Circumflance ; whereas it was fome

four or five Months after.

6 Circ. That fhe had no Husband then, as the

World knew of.

Anfw. neg. She owned then to the People where

fhe was, and doth flill, that fhe had had a fe-

cond Husband, which fome in the World knew
of very well, whofe Teflimonies fke can and

will produce when fhe hath fufficient Occafion

offered by a legal Call thereto : who is alfo able

and ready to give a fufficient account, when oc-

cafion ferves, of her not openly afluming her

fecond Husband's Name, her Eflate then fland-

ing as it did j which having concealed for that

time
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time flie was in Law, fhe thought good ever

fince to be called by her firft Husband's Name.

But this fubtile Dealing of her Adverfaries by

libelling Scandals, without pofitiveJy aflerting

fhe was not married, makes her incapable of re-

covering any Damage of thofe who now en-

vioufly, yet indirectly, afperfe her: which the

Commiffioners ought to take notice of, who

Ihould not receive fuch Libels, which tend to

the blading of one's Credit and good Name,

which all fober Chriftians ought (for the Gof-

pel fake) to value ; and yet abiblutely prove no-

thing of fuch criminous Fad, which they de-

fign feemingly to prove, nor yet give fufficient

ground of calling them to an account for fuch

evil malicious Scandals. But this not directly-

concerning me, I fhall omit much which might

be fpoken of it.

7 Circ. That I came often to vifit her.

Anfw. neg. This is not true: it was rather fel-

dom, being but three times in three quarters of a

Year, and that in Term-time, upon urgent Occa-

fions at Law.
8 Circ. That I removed her to Kenfington:

Anfw. neg. This is falfe, for I knew not when

fhe removed thither.

9 Circ. That I paid the Smith for her being at

his Houfe.

Anfw. neg. This is another Untruth ; I never

paid him a fenny, neither did I ever agree with

him for her being there.

10 Circ. That the Nurfe's Husband wrote a

Letter to me at Bradfield, for Money tor the

Child's nurfing.

Anfw. neg. This is a mere Lye ; for no fuch

Letter was wrote, neither did I ever agree to pay

for the nurfing of it, as the Nurfe and her Huf-

band can witnefs.

1

1

Circ. That fhortly after he fent for the

Child away.

Anfw. neg. This I alfo deny, it containing two
Untruths in it: For firft, the Child was not

fhortly after fent for away, neither did I fend for

it at all, for it was fetch'd away by the Mother
herfelf.

1

2

Circ. That a little while after, the faid Lit-

tle-one was brought into my Family.

Anfw. neg. This is alfo falfe.

13 Circ. As to the feventh Article of this li-

belling Charge, in which many Circumftancesare

produced to fcandal the Gentlewoman, as tho'

fhe had told a great Untruth ; it deferves no other

Anfwer but this, That it is compacted of many
Lies, nothing being there true that really tends to

prejudice her, as I believe will appear by the

Event.

Thus in this fhort Relation, wherein there is

fome Truth, pray take notice how many Un-
truths and mere Lies are mixed with it, to put

a beautiful Face upon an envious and unchriftian

Defign : And is not this to bear falfe witnefs

againft one's Neighbour? May not any one's

Innocency and Integrity be in this manner unde-

fervedly clouded, afperfed, and wounded? Which
I leave to the ferious Confideration of the Judges.

As to my affirmative Anfwer, what I acknow-
ledge is this :

Anfw. Affirm. ^ Bout nine Years fince I brought

£'X behind me from London the

Vol. II.

fore-metioned Mrs. Flavel, who had been of an-

cient and near Acquaintance with me and my Fa-
mily, to one Goodman Loader's a Smith in

HeJJen, where fome four or five months fhe was
brought to bed ofa Daughter, which fhe owned to

the People where fhe then was, to be by a fe-

cond Husband, even as fhe ftill acknowledged!.
And further, that I vifited her three times in the
fpace of three quarters of a Year, at Term-time,
being then engaged in a Law-Suit that concerned
her ; that one of thofe times I chriftned her
Child, and called it Hannah : That afterward her
Occafions not requiring fo much Privacy, fhe
came to live with her ancient Acquaintance at

my Houfe, where alfo for fome Years her Daugh-
ter hath been with her.

Now to take away any thing that may feem to

reflect upon me in this my Acknowledgment,
pray confider thefe fubfequent Particulars.

1
. np H A T I and Mrs. Pordage being of a very

JL near and long Acquaintance with her, it

was but a Friend's Courcefy, for me upon her de^
fire to carry her to this Houfe behind me.

2. That fhe had fufficient ground to retire into

fome fuch Place in the Country : firft, in that the

City-Air was offenfive to her Health: fecoi.diy,

in that by the Counfel of able Lawyers fhe was
advifed to retire into fome private pi ce, fhe being
then in Law- Engagements, and continually iub-
jtct to Arrefts, by the Entanglement of her firft;

Husband's Eftate; her Brother in-Law, who was
her Adverfary, then threatning to feize on her if

flie were above-ground.

3. In reference to my Engagement in her

Law- Bufinefs, I think it material briefly to re-

late the Ground and Occafion of it. In the

time of her Widowhood, her Brother-in-Law
began a Suit with her in the Common Law,
which fearing he fhould there be overthrown,

he removed to the Chancery: now (he being

very unfit and incapable to manage this herfelf,

fhe earneftly defired me, as an ancient and trufty

Friend, to undertake it. Upon this I went to

Judge Rolle and Mr. Chute with her, who look-

ing into her Evidences, and into the Will of her.

late deceafed Plusband, found that for want of
one Claufe in it fhe was liable to many Suits and
Arrefts, and to great Entanglements, and that

her Intereft could not be eftablifhed, but by
much difficulty ; and at length this was the Re-
fult of the Counfel, Th?t fhe muft let all her

Eftate, which was under Mortgage, be forfeited

into the hand of fome faithful Friend, and fo fell

it away. Hence I through much Importunity

laid down fome hundred Pounds, refcued the

Mortgage, and fo became interefted in a Suit at

Chancery, which lafted three Years.

Now from this may further appear fufficient

ground why I brought her to that private Houfe

:

fecondly, why I came to her in the time of her

Retirement, I then receiving Money from her

to follow her Suit: thirdly, why I came alone,

it being then her Intereft to be concealed, being

fubject to Arrefts.

I fhall now proceed to add fome few Circum-

ftances more, which may ferve to clear me be-

fore all fober Perfons.

Hh i. At
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I. A T my coming, I told the People my
jl\ Name, and that I dwelt at Reading, and

that I was Minifter of St. Lawrence Church,

knowing the Gentlewoman to be fober and pious.

Now had I been as my Enemies envioufly pre-

tend, I might have concealed my Name, Quali-

ty, and Place of Refidence.

2. We difcovered to them that the Gentle-

woman had an Eftate in the Bulwark at Lon-

don, and Rents there to receive, which they might

enquire after (as they did) for their Security

:

Now this was not the way to cover a Work of

Darknefs.

3. She fometimes went to London to the Law-
yers, whilft fhe was there, fome belonging to that

Family accompanying her ; who found, that as

fhe had related, fhe was in great Troubles at

Law, and were convinced that fhe returned on

that account.

Now in reference to mofb of thofe Particulars,

in which I have contradicted, and deny'd the al-

ledged Circumftances, and further vindicated my
felf, they are exactly agreeing with what I have in

writing confefled and acknowledged by Loader

himfelf, from whom this Charge is pretended to

be received, and by the Nurfeof the Child, fub-

fcribed by them both before Witneffes ; which

Acknowledgment I mail produce when I fee oc-

cafion.

And by this I hope it may appear to mode-

rate, fober, and judicious Men, that this libel-

ling Charge, drawn up fo falfly, envioufly, and

yet fo fubtilly, calling from the dead a Bufinefs

paft fome nine or ten Years fince ; ( which tho'

it were criminous, as it is not, were invalid le-

gally to prejudice, by the Act of Oblivion, or

general Pardon, as all other things pretended

to be fpoken or acted by me before 1651, ac-

cording to the Judgment of judicious Men,
which I leave to the Commiffioners to confider

of ) I fay, that this is but the Effect of the evil

and wicked Policy of my Accufer, brought

forth to prejudice and overcloud that pure and

innocent Principle, which I profefs and faith-

fully live to; and the better to cover that evil

Defign they have againil my Perfon and Live-

lihood.

And now I appeal unto you the Commiffio-

ners, and to all that are pious and fober-minded,

whether my Enemies do not deal very unreafo-

nably, envioufly, and unbefeeming Chriftians,

from this Bufinefs, fo long fince paft, in which

nothing criminous is pofitively objected againft

me, to draw fuch horrid Conclufions, as com-
monly to report that I now live in bafe Luft and
Wantonnefs, notwithftanding my commending
of and owning the Virgin-Life ; I fay, whe-

ther this be not exceeding hard Meafure, and
ungodly Dealing, let all judge. But I fee the

Defign of the Devil in it, which my Enemies
may be ignorant of, which is to overcloud and
darken by monftrous Lies and Scandals, which

are the Smoke of the bottomlefs Pit, that Life

of Purity, Chaftity, Mortification, Self-denial,

and heavenly Enjoyment, which God hath fa-

voured me to live in, and fo to affright all from

my Acquaintance, which otherwife might very

much prejudice and overthrow his Kingdom.
For the old Serpent knows very well, as alfo

my near Friends and Acquaintance, that for

thefe four Years, even fince the time of my

great Trials, by the extraordinary Temptations

and Reprefentatioris of the Devil, that I have

been abstracted more than ordinary from all out-

ward things, giving myfelf up wholly to Prayer,

Watchfulnefs, Mortification, and conftant Self-

denial, in dying to all earthly Pleafures, even to

things permitted and accounted lawful ; as find-

ing many things which ordinarily are embraced,

to be great Hindrances of the Soul's Progrefs to

God, and great Burdens to a Spirit which hath

tafted much of that Tree of Life which grow-
eth in the midft of the Paradife of God, and
great Clogs to a Soul that fees through the Veil

of the fenfitive Nature into the fpiritual Glory
of Eternity. But what I have enjoyed and ex-

perimented in this time of my extraordinary

Mortification and Self-denial, in the Death of
the Animal Man, and rifing of Chrift's Image in

me, is not feafonable now to declare ; yet for

the Glory of my God, and the undeceiving of

thofe who ftrangely miftake me, this much in

all humility 1 muft fay, That did my Accufer

and my Enemies know what I have enjoyed in

this Way of the Crofs, of the fecret hidden

Treafures of Eternity, and of the Out-goings of

divine Goodnefs ; were they but acquainted with

thefe Difcoveries of celeftial Glory, Inftillations

of the heavenly Dew, and fecret Touches of the

Holy Ghoft; did they but know thofe bright

Irradiations of Eternal Light, thofe ftrong Mo-
tions of Divine Life, and pleafant Streams of

Eternal Love, together with thofe deep Sufferings

in bearing Chrift's Crofs, which I and many in

my Family have in this time experienced ; they

durft not thus condemn me, and judge me as an

Evil-doer, and one that lives in the Lufts of the

Flefh. But my God hath taught me to blefs

whilft they curfe, to pray for them whilft they

defign to ruin me, and to love them whilft they

hate me; and to fay with Chrift, Father forgive

them, for they know not what they do.

This I thought fit in all humility to annex to

that libelling Charge concerning Mrs.' Flavel,

from which I have undefervedly fuffered fo much,

by the Malice of the Devil. And now I fhall

proceed to anfwer the remaining Articles, one of

which is intermixed with the former feven that

concern Mrs. Flavel; which is this.

Artie. That we have changed our Names.

Anfw. 'Tis well known that we own and fub-

fcribe our Names in our Civil Converfe with the

World, as this and my former Anfwers teftify

;

I fhall therefore wait to fee, whether any one dare

fwear to this Article : And tho' we did in our

own private Family call one another by Scrip-

ture-Names, yet I conceive it did not concern

the Civil Magiftrate to take Cognizance of fuch a

thing, it being not practifed to make any Dis-

turbance or Confufion in the State.

Arrtic. 8. That I am extremely covetous, taking

five Shillings at a time to marry one.

Anfw. I wonder my Accufer fhould let this

Article pafs, whofc Confequence is fo much a-

gainft Reafon, as to argue me extremely cove-

tous for one fuch poor inconfiderable Act done

fix or feven Years fince: and I appeal to the

Inhabitants of Reading, and Mr. Fowler's own
Confcience, whether he hath not taken ten Shil-

lings oftner than five for marrying.

Artie. 9. That my Preaching doth not tend to

Edification.

Anfw.
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Anfw. I can bring thofe that are knowing and

fpirkual, and fober Chriftians, who will affert

that my Preaching doth tend to Edification, and

to the building up of Souls in the true Knowledge

and Love of Chrift ; and I believe thefe my Ac-

cufers will be found to be like thofe of Chorazin

and Betbfaida, of whom Chrift faid, That if the

mighty Works which were clone amongjl them

had been done in Sodom and Gomorrah, they had

repented long finee in Duft and Afhes. And was

Chrift's Mmiltry ineffectual, becaufe they did not

believe, but remained in the Hardnefs and Impe-

nitency of their Hearts ? Neither doth it follow

that my Preaching doth not tend to Edification,

becaufe thofe that bring this Article, through their

Unbelief, are not edified by it : for there are ma-

ny, that come from Places round about, that

are edified, ftrengthned, and refrefhed by it ; and

there are many that have been enlightned, con-

victed, and converted by if, who ltill receive

quickning Growth and Comfort under it, con-

feffing that God is in it of a Truth, as finding it

inftrumentally effectual to the pulling down of the

Kingdom of Sin and Satan, and to the erecting

the Kingdom of Chrift in their Hearts ; for

which I blefs God, and praife his Grace, by which

it is what it is.

Art. 10. That I am very ignorant and infuffici-

ent for the Work of the Miniflry.

Anfw. I believe thofe that exhibit this Article

againft me, upon trial will be found very igno-

rant and infufficient to judge of it ; and as to

thofe that are to be my Judges, I hope they will

not make their own Wills the Rule of Ignorance

and InfufEciency, but proceed according to the

Canons of pure Reafon, or fupernatural Reve-

lation, in giving Judgment concerning this Par-

ticular : the Event of which I leave to God.

Now to conclude : Tho' in reference to this,

and the two laft Charges of Articles, I ftand free

from any Guilt in the Sight of God, and I hope,

by my Anfwers to them, in the Sight of all judi-

cious and fober Men : yet to leave any inexcu-

fable, that may defign, whether by Law, or

without Law, abfolutely to condemn me ; 1

crave the Benefit and Privilege of the Act of ge-

neral Pardon in reference to all thofe things that

are pretended to be fpoken or acted by me before

the Year 1 65 1 , as moft of thefe are, that feem

to be of any moment and confequence.

John Pordage.

After this was read, not knowing but that the

Commiflioners retained their former Refolution of

examining their Witneffes in private, I prefTed them
to an open Examination, for the Satisfaction of all

Parties, and for the more full Difcovery of the

Truth , alledging, that I hoped they would not

deal worfe with me than the Jews did with Chrift,

and the Ethnick Romans with Paul, who ful-

lered them to hear their Accufers face to face.

So after fome difpute it was granted, and agreed

upon.

But before I proceed to give you an account

of the Depofitions taken pro and con, I muft in-

form you, that the 2 2d of November was the

time of my fourth Appearance, which continued

three Days ; all which three Days were wholly
fpent in taking the Depofitions of my Accufers

Witneffes, to make good the firft and laft

Charge : And when they had ended their Exa-
Vol. II.

minations on the 24th, being Friday, late at

Night, they called upon me to produce my
Witneffes, if I had any. I anfwered them, I

had Witneffes, but they were not then prefent,

neither had I received any Summons for their

Appearance ; whereupon I defired a Summons
to call in my Witneffes, which they after much
Debate, and many Outcries againft me for not-

having them ready, granted ; together with an

Order, by which I was to appear at the Bear
in Speenbamland at Newbury the 30th of thac

Month, which was juft a Week after, to make
Proof of my Defence by Witneffes. I feeing

they had prefcribed fo fhort a time for mak-
ing my Defence, alledged that it was impoffible

for me to be ready with my Witneffes fo foon,

and defired a fortnight's time ; which, though I

urged it with many Reafons, could not be gran-

ted me.

But I was afterwards prevented by a vehement

Cold, in reference to my appearing at Newbury
on the Day prefcribed : whereupon I lent three

Friends to atteft my Inability to appear on that

Day before them ; who likewife prefented the

Commiflioners with a Letter from me, in which I

gave them an account of my great Diftemper.

Whereupon the Truth of my extraordinary Weak-
nefs being attefted by thofe I fenr, this Order

with a new Summons was granted by the Com-
miffioners.

Berks. By the Commiffoners for ejecting of
Scandalous Minijhrs, November
30, 1654.

H E R E A S Dr. Pordage was required

this day to appear before us in the Caufe

depending concerning him ; and it is now at-

tefted that the faid Doctor is fick, and cannot,

without further danger of his Health, this day

appear: It is therefore ordered, that he fhall have

further day given till thefeventh of December next,

at the Bear in Reading ; which Day is to be per-

emptory unto him.

According to which Order I appeared at

Reading the feventh of December, with my Wit-

neffes ; where two Days were fpent in Examina-

tion, (now this was my fifth and laft time of

Appearance) the Transactions of which can-

not diftinctly be Ccz down by themlelves, in regard

of my joining the Depofitions then taken, with

thofe of the adverfe Party, according to this fubfe-

quent Method.
Now then I fhall proceed to the Merits of the

Caufe, fecundum Allegata £5? Probata.

Here then I muft prefent you with the Depo-

fitions of the Witneffes, and firft with thofe

that concern the firft Charge of Articles ; in re-

ference to which, Mr. Tickle gave Evidence by

Oath againft me, firft at Newbury the fifth of

October, and again at Reading the 2 id ofNovem-

ber., being the Day in which my Anfwer was-

read.

Now to the firft Article ;

John Tickle Minifter of Abingdon, fworn at

Newbury the fifth of Oelober, depofed, That I

delivered in the Pulpit, That the fiery Deity

of Chrift mingleth and mixeth, itfelf with our

Flefh.

H h 2 On
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On farther Examination upon Oath at Readings

November 2. Mr. Tickle affirmed, That he charged

Blafphemy on the former Expreffion, and that I

repeated my Senfe to be thus, viz. That I did

not mean with our Corruption, but with our

FJelh ; holding my Hand over the Pulpit.

ThefaidMr. Tickle being crofs-examined touch-

ing this Article, upon this Interrogatory, viz.

"Whether he did fwear pofitively to this Article,

as thus delivered by me in the very fame Terms,

and Order, without any addition or diminution ;

or only fo, according to his beft Remembrance ;

thus replied, That the Sum and Subftance of that

Article was clearly and fully delivered by me, and

as far as he could remember in thefe words, or

words to that purpofe.

The fame Perfon being fworn again, and fur-

ther examined at the Bear in Reading, November

22. after fomc Expoftulation with me, in which

he grew fomewhat paffionate, further faid, That
after I had held up my Hand, as he had formerly

depofed, 1 faid I did not mean our Flefh, but with

the Soul of Chrift; and that this was delivered

without any the lead Limitation as to the Senfe of

it.

' Now thefe laft Depofitions were taken by the

* Court from Mr. Tickle occafionally, (after he had
4 anfwered the crofs Interrogatories by writing)
4 when Mr. Tickle was fometimes raifed intofeem-

* ing Paffion againfl me, from accidental Dif-
4 courfes that fell in upon Examination.'

But I fhall here difcover my own Meaning, and

bring in the intended Evidence of my Witneffes in

reference to this Article. My Meaning then (not-

withftanding Mr. Tickle's rafh Allegations) was

this j By Flefh I meant the pure regenerated Part

of the Soul, with which the Spirit of Chrift is

United, according to that of the Apoftle, Eph.

v. 30. For ive are Members of bis Body, of bis

Flefh, &c.
4 My Evidence was this ; there were prefent

' three Witneffes, viz. Mr. Francis Pordage Mi-
* nifler, Mrs. Mary Pocock, and one Robert Bolt.
4 who offered to atteft upon Oath, That they
* being prefent at the Committee of Plundered
* Minifters, about March zy, 1651, heard me
s upon the Interpretation of this Article, That the
4

fiery Deity of Chrift mingles itfelf with our Flefh,
4 explain myfelf thus ; That by Flefh I under-
* ftand not the finful and fiefhly Part of the Soul,

* that lufteth againfl: the Spirit, for in this there

' can be no Union, for thefe are contrary ; nei-
4 ther by Flefh did I underftand the outward e-
4 lementifh Flefh of the Body, but by Flefh
* I underflood the pure regenerated Part of the
4 Soul.

4 But this Teftimony they rejected, and would
* not receive it as Evidence, denying to examine
4 the Witneffes, in regard they were not prefent

' at Ilfley, where Mr. Tickle alledged this was
4 fpoken. But I believe the judicious Reader will
4 find this Teftimony to be more pertinent to the
4 clearing of the Truth, in reference to my Senfe
s ' in the former Propofition, than what Mr. Tickle
4 hath uncertainly, according to his beft Remem-
4 brance, afferted.'

To the fecond Article ;

Mr. Tickle faith, That I delivered, That the Im-

putative Righteoufnefs of Chrift is a faplefs Rigbte-

oufnefs.

And being further examined by Interrogato-

ries, he anfwered to the firft of them, That this

was fully and roundly delivered in my Sermon at

Ilfley.

But to the fecond Interrogatory, which was
this, Whether it was with a Limitation, or with-

out ? he thus anfwers, That he doth not remember
any Addition therein, unlefs it were in oppofition

to the Righteoufnefs, which (as he faid) 1 called

faplefs.

Being further examined, Nov. 22. the fame De-
ponent faid, That I did not deliver any fuch Li-
mitation, as I made in my Anfwer thereunto, and
that there was no fuch word as except fpoken, nor
any thing like it.

Roger Stevens, fworn to the fame Article, depo-
fed, That I delivered in a Sermon at Ilfley, Thai
the Righteoufnefs of Chrift was a faplefs Righteouf-

nefs.

And that he doth not remember any thing to

the contrary, but that the fame was an intire Sen-
tence, and only fo. And that to his Apprehen-
fion the Drift of my Sermon was to take away
the Strength and Efficacy of the Righteoufnefs of
Chrift.

And this Deponent further faid, That in the a-

forefaid Sermon at Ilfley I delivered thefe Words,
That you are not to look to this, (meaning, as the

Deponent apprehended, Chrift's Righteoufnefs)

but to the fiery Deity burning in the Center of our

Souls, confuming and deftroying Sin there. Which
faid Words did not immediately follow the Words
that I ufed, when I faid the Righteoufnefs of
Chrift was faplefs ; but the fame were further off

in my Sermon, to his beft R.e?nembrance.

Now I fhall prefent the Depofitions of my own
Witneffes touching the fecond Article.

Mrs. Mary Pocock being fworn and examined
December 7. was asked by me whether fhe heard me
deliver the fecond Article at the Sermon at Ilfley,

viz. That the imputative Righteoufnefs of Chrift

was faplefs ; fhe replied, fhe was then prefent at

the Sermon, and did hear thefe Words delivered.

Then being further asked, Whether delivered

with a Limitation, or without a Limitation ? fhe

anfwered, that it was with a Limitation. Then
fhe was further asked, What that Limitation was ?

fhe re-anfwered, That it was with this Limita-
tion, Except the fiery Deity of Chrift be in the Cen-
ter of our Souls, burning up our Lufts and Corrup-
tions. And being further asked, Whether thefe

laft Words were fpoken together with the other

Words, to make up one Sentence? fhe faid, Yes,
in thefe exprefs Words, viz. That the Righteoufnefs

of Chrift was faplefs, except the fiery Deity of Chrift

be in the Center of our Souls, burning up our Lufts
and Corruptions.

After this I brought three Witneffes more to

be fworn touching this Article.
4 Their Evidence was this, which every one

' in particular intended to give in, in Writing,
' after this manner, viz. I do confefs I was pre-
4

fent before the Committee of Plundered Mini-
4

fters, the 27th of March, 1651 ; where I did
4 hear the Doctor, upon his Examination touching
4

that Article, That the imputative Righteoufnefs
' of Chrift is a faplefs Righteoufnefs, deliver
' himfelf to this purpofe •, That to him that
' hath not the Spirit of Chrift indwelling in his

' Heart by Faith, notwithftanding all his AppJi-
' cation of Chrift and his Merits, it is but a iap-
* lefs Righteoufnefs : So faith the Scripture,

* He
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:

« He that hath not the Spirit of Chrifi is none of

* his.

4 But this Teftimony and Evidence the Com-
* miffioners reje&ed, and would not iuffer the

« Witneffes to depofe it upon Oath.

' In the next place, I certified the Commiffio-

' ners, that I had prefent divers knowing Chrifti-

* ans that were conftant Hearers of me, who were
' ready to depofe on Oath what the Scope of my
« Miniftry was, and what they had frequently

' heard me hold forth in it, touching Chrift's

' imputative Righteoufnefs.'

But the Commiffioners rejected this Teftimony

alfo, and would not hear the Evidence of thefe

intended Witneffes; faying, that it was not to

the purpofe, but merely dilatory. To which I

reply'd, That altho' the Proofs were weak and

altogether impertinent, yet being Judges, they

ought to hear them, and afterward to judge of

their Force or Invalidity : and I further told

them, That this Proceeding of theirs, in thus

preventing and rejecting the Teftimony of my
Witneffes, in not fuffering them to depofe what

they could, did much ftrengthen my Belief of the

common Report fpread abroad the Country, That
they had refolved before-hand to condemn and

eject me, whether by right or wrong. At this

Mr. Trap/yam's Choler fcemed much to be ftirred,

that the Court, of which he was one, fhould

thus be charged ; faying with much paffion, That
this fhould be looked upon as a Contempt and

an Affront againft the Court.

But the Commiffioners peremptorily refolving

'not to take the Evidence of the forementioned

Witneffes, becaufe it contradicted not Mr. Tickle's

Teftimony, quoad idem tempus, in reference to the

fame particular time ; I was forced to tell them,

that I muft be fubject to the Determinations of the

Court : but I hoped they would be more ingenu-

ous and Chriftian-like, than condemn me for a

Word or Expreffion, tho' proved ever fo clearly,

if the Drift and Tenour of my Miniftry were

otherwife.

But I fhall here infert, and fo leave it to the

Judgment of the Reader, what eight fubftantial

Witneffes, who almoft conftantly hear me, would
willingly have depofed upon Oath, touching this

Article, viz. That the Scope of my Miniftry is

riot to take away the due Application of

Chrift's Righteoufnefs, but the mifapplying of
it in reference to thofe who have no Intereft in

it.

After this, I further preffmg the Commiffioners
to hear thofe Witneffes which were to atteft this,

they feemed fomewhat to change their Refolution,

and to admit one or two of them to be examined.
So I mentioned Mrs. Mary Pocock, a very pious

arid experienced Chriftian, and fo known to be in

the place where fhe lives. Againft whom it was
objected, that fhe was one of my own Tribe.

Then I mentioned another difcreet prudent Chrif-

tian, by name Richard Higgs, who is known to be
one of a very good Converfation. Againft whom
Mr. Fowler having fomewhat to object for his fup-

pofed Judgment, was willing to have him called

to Examination.

So this Richard Higgs being fworn, depofed,

That he Had been a Hearer of me at certain times
for five or fix Years Lift paft, and that during
that time, for ought the Deponent knew, the

Scope of my Miniftry hath not been againft the

right and due Application of Chrift's Righteouf-
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nefs, but againft the Mifapplication thereof, for

ought he knew or ever underftood. And being
asked, Whether he had been a conftant Hearer
of me ? he faid, he had heard me very often, but
that he was ufually at his own Parifh in the

Morning, and that fometimes he was abfent, but
had often heard me.

And being further asked, What he had ufu-
ally heard me preach concerning the imputative
Righteoufnefs of Chrift, he faid, He could not
charge his own Memory ; but had a Note to

which he would reflect, for recollecting his

Memory ; and thereupon produced a Note,
which he confeffed was given him from the
Doctor.

[Here, upon this, were many Outcries againft

me, from the Accufer, and others of the Mini-
fters and Commiffioners, as though I had com-
mitted fome heinous Act in fuborning a Witnefs
to fwear what I pleafed : whereas there was no
fuch thing ; for this Man and two more, meeting
at my Houfe, compared their Note-books toge-
ther, out of which this was taken, which was in

that Paper, which he after mature Deliberation,

and Reflection upon it, could with a good Con-
fcience fwear to 3 as looking upon it more fafe,

than to fwear upon fudden Memory.]
But I fhall now proceed to the further Exa-

mination of this Witnefs, as it was taken by the

Clerk, but very partially, as you fhall fee pre-

fently.

This Richard Higgs being asked, what he meant,
or what the Doctor meant by the Righteoufnefs

of Chrift ? he faith he cannot depofe : but the

Doctor interpofing, faid, Chrift's Righteoufnefs

was his active and paffive Obedience. And there-

upon the Deponent being asked,What was Chrift's

active Obedience ? prefently denied his words a-

gain.

To this he refufed to fubferibe.

' The Clerk hath left out fomething touching
* Richard Higgs's Anfwer to thai Queftion about
' Chrift's active Obedience; which Anfwer being
* caught up by the Clerk, before he had liberty
' to exprefs his Meaning, he might very well de-
4 ny, though the Clerk had wrote it down, it be-
' ing not according to his Meaning and Purpofe ;

* and fo not fit to be fubferibed.'

After this, Mr. Fowler, the Accufer, openly
attefted againft this Deponent, That he denied the

Bible to be the Word of God, and faid, that the

fame was but old Declaratives ; which the faid

Deponent denies.

' Here the Clerk's Partiality is again apparent,
* who left out a weighty Diftinction which the
' Deponent made, concerning the Word of God,
1

in anfwer to Mr. Fowler's Accufation, which
' was this ; That he never denied the Sciipture or
' Bible to be the written Word, but had faid, it

8 was not the Effential Word : And this very Di-
' ftinction the Deponent had formerly given to the

' Minifter of the Parifh, who being prefent, con-
' feffed it before the Court, acknowledging that

' he walked like an honeft and fober Chriftian in

' his Converfation.
' But to proceed : Although this Deponent's

' written Evidence would not be received, yec

' I fhall here prefent it as it was to be given in,

' and attefted by feven more Witneffes befides

* himfelf. The Form of it was this; I confefs

* I have heard the Doctor preach at Bradfield

* about



238 5 1 - Proceedings againft John Pordage, 6 Car. II.

about the Year 40, out of Dan. ix. 24. thus

:

Stuejl. What is meant here by this Righteouf-

nefs ? Anfw. By this Righteoufnefs is meant

Chrift's Righteoufnefs, Jer. xxiii. 6. Tfo

Lord our Righteoufnefs. And P##/ defireth not

to be found fn his own Righteoufnefs, but in

the Righteoufnefs of Chrift, Phil. iii. 9. Chrift's

Righteoufnefs is the Soul's Wedding -Robe;
Ifa. vi. 10. He hath covered me with the Robe of

Righteoufnefs. As to the nature of Chrift's

Righteoufnefs, it is a pure, fpotlefs, perfect

and compleat Righteoufnefs, Eph. v. 27. 'That

he might frefent to himfclf a glorious Church,

in this Righteoufnefs of his, not having Spot or

Wrinkle.

* This which follows was alfo intended to be

given in, and was to be attefted by three Wit-
nefTes : I confefs, I heard the Doctor preach in

Bradfield Church, out of Luke i. 68. That the

free Grace of God the Father is the firft Caufe

of the Soul's Juftification.

' Queft. What is the Matter out of which a

Sinner cometh to be juftified in the fight of

God ? Anfw. It is Righteoufnefs. As a Man
cannot live without a Lite, fo a Chriftian cannot

be juft without Righteoufnefs ; and this Righ-
teoufnefs is called Chrift's Righteoufnefs ; no

other Righteoufnefs, but the Righteoufnefs of

Chrift, can juftify the Soul. Therefore he is

ftiled, "Jer. xxiii. 6. The Lord our Righteoufnefs.

1 Cor. i. 30. Chrift is made unto us Wifdom and

Righteoufnefs ; that is, for our Juftification. This

Righteoufnefs of Chrift, in its own nature, is an

everlaftingRighteoufnefs, Dan.1x.24.. 2 Cor.v.21.

That we might be made the Righteoufnefs of God,

in being clothed upon with Chrift's Righteoufnefs.

Phil. iii. 9. We are not to be found in our own
felf Pharifaical Righteoufnefs, but in Chrift's

Righteoufnefs, which is the Righteoufnefs of

Juftification. And the formal Caufe of a Sin-

ner's Juftification, is his Union and Communion
with this Righteoufnefs of Chrift, through Faith

and believing on it ; Rom. x. 6. The Righteouf-

nefs of Faith fpeaketh on this wife, &c. that is,

the Righteoufnefs of Chrift apprehended by
Faith.

* This was alfo intended to have been given

into the Court in Writing, being tranfcribed

out of three or four Note -Books compared
together, and afterward ferioufly confidered

and weighed ; to which the WitnefTes could

fwear with good Confciences, notwithstanding

all thofe Outcries were againft this Evidence by
fome of the Minifters and Commiffioners, as

though I had prefcribed what they fhould

fwear ; and that we were all combined to com-
mit a heinous Sin, and bring the Guilt of Per-

jury upon our felves : whereas we all ftood in

Innocency as to this thing, having no other

End in it, but the ftable AfTurance of the

Truth of what was to be attefted by ferious

Reflections upon it, after the comparing of di-

vers Note-Books together, which ferved to help

and ftrengthen the Memory of the WitnefTes ;

together with the avoiding of the Clerk's Pre-

varications in Writing, by partially taking the

Depofitions, in which we oft found him de-

' fective.

'But to conclude this Article, I have produced
* thefeTeftimonies to fhew my Judgment touch-

* ing Chrift's Righteoufnefs, which ( with the
6 pofitive Depofition of Mrs. Mary Pocock, That

' I fpake that of the Imputative Righteoufnefs of
' Chrift with a Limitation) may in Juftice out-

* weigh the Depofitions of the other two Wit-
' neffes againft me, being neither of them are

" pofitive, and fo not effectual in Law or Rea-
* fon.'

Now I fhall pafs to the third Article ;

To which Mr. Tickle being fworn, faith, That
I delivered, that the Difcoveries of the Sinfulnefs

of Sin, the Terrors of the Law, the Death of
Chrift, the free Grace of God, are flefhly and
flafhy Difcoveries.

Afterward being crofs-examined by me to this

Interrogatory, Whether this Article was delivered

in the lame exprefs Words, and in the fame Or-
der ? he anfwered thus :

That the very Sum and Subftance of this Ar-
icle was delivered fully and roundly by me, and
n the exprefs words for the Subftance of them*

and to the beft of his Remembrance.
' Now I not remembring that ever I faid that

thefe were but fkftily and flafhy Difcoveries, and
knowing that it was but his fingle Teftimony,
and not pofitively fworn to, and fo no legal E-
vidence to condemn ; and befides, that it was
not comprehended in the Act of blafphemous
Opinions, to which the Ordinance refers : I paf-

fed it by formerly without any Anfwer. But now
to fatisfy knowing Chriftians concerning my
Judgment in this Particular, I fhall here preftnt,

this Anfwer ; That I then held forth, and do
ftill own it, That the Difcoveries of the Sinful-

nefs of Sin, the Terrors of the Law, the free

Grace of God, the Death of Chrift, were but

preparatory Works under the Father's Difpenfa-

tion, to the higher and more powerful Working*
of God under the Difpenfation of the Son, in

changing and transforming the Heart into his

Image; and fo but weak in comparifon of the

more full and clear Manifeftations and Opera-
tions of God upon the Soul, in bringing it up
into divine Union and Fruition.'

To the fourth Article

;

Mr. Tickle faith, that I delivered, That the Li*
berty and Freedom fpoken of, purchafed by the

'

Blood of Chrift, is not a Liberty and Freedom
from the Guilt of Sin, the Curfe of the Law,
the Wrath of God, but the fiery Deity of Chrift

in the Center of our Souls.

Mr. Tickle being further examined on this Ar-
ticle by me, to this Interrogatory, viz. Whether
this was delivered firft in the fame exprefsWords?
Secondly, and in the fame Order? Anfwers:

Firft, The very Sum and Subftance of this Ar-
ticle was delivered fully and roundly by theDoctor.

Secondly, That it was delivered in the exprefs

Words, for the Subftance of them.

To a third Interrogatory propofed by me, viz.

Whether this Article was thus exprefied by me,
without any Addition or Diminution of his own ?

He thus anfwers ; To the beft of his Remem-
brance, without any Limitation, Addition or Di-
minution of his own.

' But here, courteous Reader, you muft give
' me leave to fhew you Mr. Tickle's Uncertainty
' and Difagreement with himfelf in delivering this

* Article, which cannot but make it invalid in the
' Eyes of thofe that are judicious.

« In
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* In his attefting of this Article three feveral

* times, he never agreed with himfelf, but either

* diminifhed or added. The firft time he fware
* to this Article, he had this Claufe (And appli-

' ed by the clinging and cleaving of the Soul to

4
Chrift) as you may fee in the firft Paper of Ar-

* tides, which, being fworn again Otlob. 5. he
4

left out : and neither of thefe agreed with his

4 own Depofition given under his own Hand
4 fome four Years fince, to the Committee of
* Plundered Minifters, when it was more frefh

« in his Memory, and yet not delivered fo fully

4 and poficively as now ; which you may fee by
4 his own Words (taken out of his former Depo-
4 fitions) which were thefe.

* Another Preparation was the inflating of the

« Soul into a glorious Liberty and Freedom, in

' thefe Expreffions : Which Liberty and Free-
4 dom is not that Liberty and Freedom from the

' Guilt of Sin, the Curfe of the Law, the Wrath
* of God, brought about (or in an Expreffion

' of the fame Signification) by the Death and
* Blood of another; and applied (or a word like

' it) by the clinging and cleaving of the Soul to

* Chrift.

' Now you may take notice, that in the two
« former, this Claufe was added, viz. But the

« fiery Deity of Chrift in the Center of the Soul

;

4 which here is not mentioned. Moreover the

' Order is changed, and fome doubtful Expreffi-

* ons are inferted ; which ftiewed his Uncertainty
4 four Years fince. All which compared with

* that Anfwer of his, given by Oath at my late

* Trial, that this Article was delivered in the

4 fame exprefs words, for the Subftance of them,

* cannot but fhew that he hath almoft, if not al-

' together, incurred the Sin of Perjury. Now
' all this being well weighed, cannot but demon-
4 Urate that this Teftimony is of no force at all.

* And although I formerly gave no Anfwer to

* this Article, becaufe it was not fworn to pofi-

* tively, but with Referves and Alterations, and
* that by one Witnefs only, and came not under
4 the Act of fcandalous Opinions ; yet I fhall now
' fpeak fomething to it, and fhew you the Depo-
4 nent's Miftake, which was in leaving out this

* word (only) which inferted, makes it appear
4 with a more innocent Face.

4 But now I fhall further anfwer, That I deli-
4 vered this Sentence thus, which I ftill own,
4 viz. That the fecond preparatory Work that

* Chrift did in the Soul of a true Saint, for the
4 manifefting of his Glory in it, was the infta-
4 ting of the Soul into a glorious Liberty and
4 Freedom, which doth not only confift in the
4 Liberty and Freedom from the Guilt of Sin,

' the Curfe of the Law, the Wrath of God ; but
4 alfo in the enjoying of the Spirit of Chrift in
4 the Center of the Soul, there purifying our
4 Natures, mortifying our Lufts, and reftoring
* us into the Image of God. And fo this, tru-
4 ly reprefented, is a glorious Truth ; though as
4 Mr. 'Tickle by Miftake delivered it, it feemed
* monftrous.'

To the fifth Article.

Mr. Tickle faith, that 1 did deliver, That by
Male and Female, Gen. i. we are to underftand
by Male, the Deity; and by Female, the Huma-
nity ; and that thefe two became one Flefh. Thefe
things were delivered without any Limitation
whatfoever.

Mr. Tickle being further examined on this Ar-
ticle, viz. Whether I fpake this as my own
avowed Judgment, or as the Judgment of fome
other Perfon? anfwers thus: That I delivered

thofe Expreffions of the Article with Approbati-
on , and that therefore he had caufe to believe it

was my Judgment ; and, as far as he remembers^
it was delivered as my Judgment.

c Here the Reader may obferve, that Mr. Tickle

doth not anfwer directly and nakedly as a
Chriftian fhould, but fubtilly and indirectly,

like a Sophifter ; for he anfwers, That I deli-

vered this with Approbation : but whether this

Approbation was from my felf, or from fome
other (1 might then cite) he doth not exprefs,

paffing it over in Silence. Afterwards he faith,

he hath Caufe to believe it was my Judgment

;

which is a mere Prevarication, but no Anfwer
to the Queftion ; which was not, Whether
he believed it to be my Judgment, but whether
1 delivered it as my Judgment, or as the Judg-
ment of another ? To which in the laft Claufe

he anfwers fomewhat, viz. That I delivered it

as my own, as far as he remembers. But
though this be fomewhat to the Queftion, yet

not much to the Purpofe, it being no legal

Proof or Evidence; for his Memory might
fail him.
4 Now the Reafon of this Interrogatory wass

in that Mr. Tickle, fome four Years fince, when
this was better in his Memory than now it can

be, gave in this that followeth, under his own
hand, to the Committee of Plundered Mini-
fters, viz. That Gen. i. by Male, we are to

underftand, faith Mr. Pordagc, the Deity ; by
the Female, the Humanity. This he gave from
a Rabbi, with that Approbation.
' Now how confident this is with his late An-
fwer to my Interrogatories, let all judge ; es-

pecially with that part of it in which he af-

firms, that as far as he remembers, I delivered

it as my own Judgment.
' But now to anfwer fomething pofitively to

this, which may give Satisfaction to judicious

and knowing Chriftians, I acknowledge that,

in the Sermon before-mentioned, I delivered

for Subftance, this which follows, viz.
4 That another preparatory Work that Chrift

did in the Soul of a true Chriftian, for the

manifefting of his own Glory in it, was the

bringing up the Spirit of the Soul into a glori-

ous, myftical, yet real Union with himfelf:

And after I had proved the Truth and Sub-
ftantiality of this Union betwixt Chrift and a

Chriftian, from feveral Texts of Scripture,

which directly evinced it; I came by way of II-

luftration to fpeak of that Scripture, Gen. i. out

of which I faid, That by Male and Female,

according to the Judgment of a learned Rabbi,

the Deity and pure Humanity might be fhadow-

ed forth, which by Union become one; the

Male reprefenting the Deity, the Female the

pure Humanity, or regenerated part of the

Soul, which by Union is made Partaker of the

Divine Nature.
4 By this you may fee, that if Mr. Tickle had

been but a charitable and knowing Chriftian,

he needed not have troubled himfelf and me
about this Article.'

To the fixth Article

;

4 Mr. Tickle faith, That he heard me deliver in
4 Difcourfe
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e Difcourfe with Mr. Pendarvis, That the Gifts

' and Graces of the Spirit were but Flefh.

Being further examined, he faid, That to this

fixth Article there was no Limitation whatfoever

in the delivering of it.

4 Here the Reader mud know that Mr. Pen-

darvis was fummoned by me to witnefs to the

Truth in this particular, but he came not ; al-

ledging that he could fay no more than what

he had already depofed. Whereupon 1 defired

the Commiffioners (after Information that I

had fummoned him) to hear his former Depo-
fition read ; but they peremptorily denied it.

By which I clearly faw that they had more
mind to take all Occafion of Advantage againft

me, than to be fully informed of the Truth of

things.

* But Mr. Pendarvis's Depofition given in be-

fore the Committee of Plundered Minifters,

was this, viz. That the Doctor, in Conference,

did fay, That the Gifts and Graces of the Spi-

rit, were but Fiefh •, and I oppofcd him : b.,t

then the Doctor replied, by way of Explana-

tion, that he underftood them only to be Flefh

;

that is, weak in point of Reft and Trult on

them for eternal Life and Salvation: and in this

I agreed with him.
' Correfpondent to this, was my Anfwer to,

and Explanation of this Article before the Com-
mittee of Plundered Minifters, v. hich three VV it-

neffes were ready to depofe on Oath before the

prefent Commiffioners, who refufed to hear their

Teftimony.'

To the feventh Article

;

Mr. Tickle faith, That he heard me deliver in

Difcourfe, That Chrift is a Type, and but a

Type.
Being further examined, he faith, That T en-

deavoured to prove that Chrift was but a Type,

out of Peter, where he is called tutt©^

Further, Roger Stephens being fworn to this

Article, depofeth, That the Doctor, in Difpute

with Mr. Pendarvis, delivered, That Chrift was

but a Type, and went to prove it by that Scrip-

ture, i Pet. ii. He is our Example. To which

Mr. Pendarvis replied, That is not meant by way
of Righteoufnefs to Justification, but by way of

Example, as to Reproaches. To which the Doctor

anfwered, You underftand it one way, and I

another ; or words to that effect.

Now to balance thefe Difpofitions, the Reader

muft take notice,

' i. That my True Senfe of this Article may
* be feen in my Anfwer to this firft Charge, in

* which I have truly fhewed in what Senfe I

* owned Chrift to be a Type, viz, as he is a Pat-

* tern and Example for us to imitate and follow.
4 That this Difcourfe being with Mr. Pen-

* darvis, it as requifite I fhould here infert his

* Depofition taken by the Juftices of Peace of
* that County, and afterward prefented to the

* Committee of Plundered Minifters ; which was
' as follows:

* This Examinant ('which was Mr. Pendar-
* vis) further faith, That the faid Doctor Por-
4 dage, in a Conference had with him at the fame
* time, after his Sermon at Iljley, faid, That
' Chrift was a Type, and but a Type: but this

4 Expreffion was immediately waved by him,
4 but he conftantly affirmed that Chrift was a
' Type.

* But becaufe Mr. Pendarvis could not be there

* to witnefs viva voce, the Commiffioners would
4 not admit this Evidence.'

But Mrs. Mary Pocock being fworn and exa-

mined on this Article, faith, That fhe heard the

Doctor maintain in that Difcourfe with Mr. Pen-

darvis, That Chrift was a Type; and proved
it out of Peter {He was an Example) and that fhe

heard the Doctor fay, He would not ftand to the

word But.

And further,

John Pordage, Son to the Doctor, aged be-

tween 19 and 20 Years, and examined December

the 7th ; this Deponent faith, That in Difpute

between the Doctor and Mr. Pendarvis, about

five or fix Years fince, about Chrift's being a
Type, the Doctor faid, That Chrift was but a
Type. To which Mr. Pendarvis asked, Do you
fay but a Type ? Whereupon the Doctor anfwered,

He did not ftand to the Expreffion, but a Type j

it was but the flip of his Tongue : but he main-
tained that Chrift was a Type.

' You fee here are three Witneffes that atteft I
* never owned or flood to that of Chrift's being
* but a Type.*

Correfpondent to which Teftimony, I gave in

mv Anfwer before the Committee of Plundered
Minifters which I offered to prove by three Wit-
neffes then prefent, who heard me, who were rea-

dy to atteft this which follows, viz.
4 That they being prefent (about the 27th of
March 1 651.) before the Committee of Plun-

dered Minifters, heard me touching this Article

That Chrifl was a Type, and but a Type, deliver

my felf thus ; That I had owned Chrift to be

a Type, that is, a Pattern and Example for us

Chriftians to fquare our Lives and Conven-
tions by ; but that I had not owned him to be

but a Type, or a Type only : But the Com-
miffioners would by no means hear this Evi-
dence.
4 After this I earneftly preffed them to hear

what my Witneffes could further fay, touching

what I had publickly delivered in my Miniftry

about this Subject ; telling them that fuch Evi-

dence was in Juftice more to be refpected, than

a Miftake in fudden fp^aking, prefently retract-'

ed: but they denied all fuch Evidence, and
would not hear-, which clearly fhewed their

Partiality, and that they little regarded what my
avowed Judgment was.

* Notwithstanding, I fhall here infert what

fome were ready to witnefs, in reference to this

Article, who had been conftant Hearers of me ;

whofe Teftimony was this : We confefs we
have heard the Doctor preach out of Luke i. 68.

Firft, This by way of Doctrine, viz. That
God's free Grace is the firft and chief Caufe

of our Redemption. Then he proceeded thus

:

That the inward Man was redeemed in, for,

and through Chrift, Rom. iii, 24. through

the Redemption that is in Jefus Chrift. How
through Chrift ? Anfw. Through Chrift's Death

and Paffion ; Ifa. liii. 5. He was wounded for

our Tranfgreffions, he was broken for our Iniaui~

ties. 1 Pet. ii. 24. Who bare our Sins in his

own Body on the Crofs. Rom. iv 25. Who was

deliveredfor our Offences to the Death of the Crofs.

1 Cor. v. 7. Chrift our Paffover is facrificed for

us.

« Now
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1 Now this clearly fhews, that Chrift is more

4 than a Type, and that he is a compleat Re-

* deemer.

So much for this Article.

To the Eight and Ninth Articles

;

Mr. tickle faith, That he heard me deliver be-

fore the Committee of this County, fitting at

Reading, That Chrift was not God •, and that he

was not Jehovah.

Being further examined to this Article, my In-

terrogatories to him were thefe :

I . Whether thefe Words were not expreffed in a

hot Difpute before the Committee ? To this Mr.

tickle replied, That I endeavoured in Difpute with

great Serioufnefs, before the Committee, to main-

tain, That Chrift was not God, that Chrift was

not Jehovah.

My fecond Queftion was this, Whether, in the

fame Difpute, this Article was not limited and ex-

plained by me ?

' But this Queftion was wholly waved and
* pafled over in Silence ; but whether voluntarily

' by Mr. Tickle, or by the Clerk's Deceit, the In-

* terrogatories being given in in Writing, I do
* not know ; but this I am fure, it was much to

* the prejudicing ofmy Caufe to let fuch a weighty
* Queftion pals without an Anfwer.'

3 . Whether this Article was held forth by me as

my avowed Judgment ?

Anfw. To this he thus anfwers : The Doctor

did maintain and defend this Article as his avow-

ed Judgment.
' Here Mr. "Tickle is very peremptory in a rafh

* Anfwer, though that Interrogatory before could
' be flided over in Silence ; the Anfwer to which,
' if Mr. Tickle had not eafily incurred Perjury,

' would have much cleared the Truth, in regard

* I meant and explained myfelf, of God the Fa-
* ther, as you fhall fee afterward.'

This Deponent, Mr. Tickle, further depofeth to

the eight and ninth Articles, That there was no

fuch Expreffion, of the Father, ufed in the Defi-

nition of Blafphemy, as is mentioned in the Do-
ctor's Anfwer ; but faith that the Definition was,

That Blafphemy was an Evil-fpeaking againft

God, derogating from his Glory, either in his

Name, Nature, Word or Works. Mr. Tickle

further affirms, That my immediate Words there-

upon were, Hark ! he anfwereth, Blafphemy

is an Evil-fpeaking againft God ; and in

his Paper chargeth me with Blafphemy againft

Chrift, as if Chrift were God : And hereupon

we began a hot Difpute about the Godhead of

Chrift.

' The Reader muft here know, That upon
e Mr. Tickle's defining Blafphemy to be an Evil-
* fpeaking againft God the Father, as I then re-

* ally apprehended, I immediately cried out,Hark

!

* he defineth Blafphemy to be an Evil-fpeaking
* againft God the Father, and in his Paper
* chargeth me with Blafphemy againft Chrift,

* who is God the Son. Whereupon began a
* Difpute ; in reference to which Mr. Tickle fur-

* ther depofeth,'

That he asked the Doctor if Chrift were God :

who did deny it, and put the Deponent upon Proof
of the fame. Whereupon he cited that Scripture,

In the beginning was the Word, &c. To which the

Doctor replied, He is called God, but he is not

Jehovah. To which the Deponent replied, He
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is Jehovah ; which the Doctor likewife put him
upon Proof of. To which he anfwered that

Scripture, His Name fhall be called Jehovah, our

Righteoufnefs : And, as he remembers, the Doctor
did difallow of that Proof, as being out of the

Old Teftament ; to which he cited that Scrip-

ture, He that was, is, and is to come, as of the fame
purpofe with Jehovah.

' 'Tis well that Mr. Tickle adds, According to
* his beft Remembrance, which faves him from
' Perjury : For I efteem the Old Teftament to be
' Scripture as well as the New ; neither did I dif-
1 allow of that Proof as being taken thence, as he
* would infinuate : But I faid that Jehovah in the
' Old Teftament moft commonly fignified the
* Perfon of the Father.'

But now we fhall pafs to the next Witnefs.

Thomas Trapham, one of the Commiffioners,
fworn and examined, depofeth ;

That, to his Remembrance, the Word Fa-
ther was not in Mr. Tickle's Definition of Blafphe-

my ; and that the Doctor did then deny Chrift to

be God •, which the Deponent did acquaint Mr.
Blagrave with. To which Mr. Blagrave faid, If

he fay Chrift is not God, we muft take further

Courfe with him. To which the Doctor replied,

Chrift is not Jehovah : and that when Mr. Tickle

had confuted him in that Argument, (I muft now
tell the whole Truth) the Doctor replied, He was
not God the Father.

' Note, This was rather a Confutation of Mr.
* Tickle's own Apprehenfions concerning me, than
* of my Meaning in what I then fpake : And if

* he fwears truly that the Term Father was not in
c his Definition, then as he miftook me, I miftook
1 him ; upon which Miftakes his needlefs Proofs
' were grounded.'

But now to the next.

Mr. Roger Stevens, of Reading, fworn and ex-

amined, November 22, depofeth, That the Doctor
did confefs in the Deponent's Hearing, in a Ser-

mon, That Chrift was not Jehovah.
* Note, Before I proceed any further, I can-

* not but defiie all fober Chriftians to take no-
' tice what a bitter and envious Spirit this Depo-
* nent is of; which will appear by what fol-

* lows.
5

After his before-exprefTed Depofitions, I put

thefe Interrogatories to him :

1. Where did you hear me preach this ? To
this he replied, In a Sermon at St. Lawrence's

Church.

2. I asked him before whom ? He anfwered,

Before the Committee of Berks.

3. I demanded of him how I explained my
felf, when in the Sermon I affirmed openly, That
Chrift was not Jehovah ? He replied, He did

indeed explain himfelf thus, That he had faid

that Chrift was not Jehovah, in oppofition to the

Father.

* Note, Here the Reader muft know that this

* Sermon was delivered at Reading by the Ap-
' pointment of the Committee, (before which
* we had the Difpute about the Godhead of
* Chrift) in which Sermon I openly cleared my
* felf from that difmal Afperfion of denying the

4 Godhead of Chrift ; which fo fatisfied the

* Committee, that upon this they judged me in-

« nocent in that Particular, and by Vote cleared

« me. And now confidering the Scope of my
* Sermon at that time, together with the Depo-
« nent's Depofition, viz. That he heard me in a

I i Sermon
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e Sermon confefs that Chrift was not Jehovah,
8 without adding any more to fhew how 1 faid

« it, till I crofs-examined him : I fay, weighing
* thefe well together, the judicious Reader can-

' not but fee this Deponent's Envy and Parti-

6 ality, and Unfitnefs to take Oath, or be much
* regarded after Oath ; who fwearing to fpeak

* all the Truth, dares yet take one Sentence out

' of a whole Difcourfe, without adding any fur-

's ther Explanation of it, to make the Commif-
6 fioners believe that I accufed myfelf of Blaf-

* phemy at that time, when my whole Scope was
* to vindicate myfelf from the undeferved Impu-
* tation of it.'

Now I mail prefent you with the Depofi-

tions and Evidence given in on my behalf, touch-

ing the Eighth and Ninth Articles, viz That

Chrift is not God ; and, That Chrift is not Jeho-

vah.

UT in the fir ft Place I refer you to my
Anfwer to thefe Articles ; in which you may

fee the Occafion of the Difcourfe before the Com-
mittee, touching the Godhead of Chrift ; and that

I never owned any fuch monftrous Pofition, as,

That Chrift is not God.

In the fecond Place I come to the WitnefTes

:

The firft of which was Mr. Francis Pordage, Bro-

ther to me.

Now this Deponent being asked whether the

Words, That Chrift was not God, and that Chrift

was not Jehovah, before the Committee at Read-

ing, were not delivered in a hot Difpute ; he faith

they were.

And being further asked whether in the fame Dif-

pute thefe Words, that Chrift was not God, were

not limited by me •, he faith, The Doctor did ex-

prefs it with this Limitation, That Chrift was not

the Father.

Now follow the Crofs-Examinations of the

Accufer, and fame other of the Minifters.

' R. Pordage being asked by them the ground

of this Difpute, he thus anfwered, That the

Difpute arofe upon a Definition of Blafphemy

which Mr. Tickle gave to Mr. Blagrave^ That
it was againft God. To which the Doctor re-

plied, He faith it is againft God, and yet chargeth

me for fpeaking againft Chrift.

* Note, Here are fome Things prevaricated by
* the Clerk, the Minifters at that time being very
' hot in examining this Deponent.

' I muft here therefore a little correct it by the

« Line of Truth.'

Mr. Pordage indeed faid that the Difpute arofe

upon a Definition of Blafphemy, which Mr.Tickle

gave to Mr. Blagrave : But then a Minifter ask-

ing him whether the Definition was not thus ex-

preffed, That Blafphemy was an Evil- fpeaking

againft God ? he replied, He could not tell whe-

ther it was exprefied againft God, or againft God
the Father. But now I lhall proceed as the Clerk

took them.

Mr. Pordage being further asked by me, whe-

ther in that Difpute 1 did deny that 1 held Chrift

not to be God ? he faith the Doctor did declare

to Mr. Blagrave, That Chrift was God.

Hereupon he was asked by the Commiflioners

and Minifters, whether there was not fo much
diftance of time at the leaft between the

Doctor's Denial of Chrift to be God, and his

correcting of it afterwards, as required Proof
of Mr. Tickle, to prove him to be God and
Jehovah ? the Deponent doth acknowledge the

fame.

And the Deponent being asked whether he
did hear Mr. Tickle fpeak any Word of God
the Father in that Difpute ? he faith, he doth
not remember that Mr. Tickle ufed any fuch Exj

preflion.

This Deponent being asked by me, whether
frequently in that Difpute, when I fpake of deny-
ing Chrift to be God, I did not fpeak it always in

relation to God the Father ? he thus anfwered,

The Doctor did then fpeak it in relation to God
the Father ; but he cannot fay frequently or al-

ways.

Moreover the former Deponent being asked by
me, How I did explain myfelf in St. Lawrence
Church concerning the Divinity of Chrift, when
I was commanded by the Committee at Reading
to explain myfelf in a Sermon there? he faith, In

that Sermon the Doctor did clear himfelf concern-

ing the Trinity of Perfons, and that Chrift was
God ; and did affert the fame as his avowed Judg-
ment.

After this, being asked by the Commiflioners
whether the Doctor did not make his Limita-
tion, if any, after he was confuted by Mr. Tickle

concerning the Deity of Chrift ? the Deponent
anfwereth to this, That it was after Mr. Tickle

had cited many Scriptures to prove the Deity of
Chrift.

But laft of all being asked by me, whether he
underftood me at that time to be confuted or
miftaken ? he faith, Miftaken.

Francis Pordage.

The next Witnefs is Mary Pocock, fworn again,

and further examined.

WH O being asked by me whether this Ex-
preflion, That Chrift was not God and Je-

hovah, was not fpoken in a Difpute before the

Committee at Reading ? fhe faith, She was before

the Committee of Berks, where me heard the

Doctor in a Difpute with Mr. Tickle concern-

ing Chrift ; in which Difpute fhe heard the

Doctor fay, Chrift was not the Father : But fhe

did not hear him deny that he was God the Son,

neither then, nor at any other time, but owning
him to be perfect God, and perfect Man.
And being further asked, whether fhe did not

hear the Doctor exprefs that Chrift was not God
with a Limitation, and with what Limitation ?

fhe anfwered, Yes ; and that the fame was thus,

He was not God the Father.

And being further asked by the Doctor, Whe-
ther fhe did not hear him deny in that Difpute,

That he held Chrift not to be God? fhe faith, fhe

did apprehend him fo, viz. That he did deny he

held Chrift not to be God ; and fo far as fhe was

fatisfied with it.

And being asked by the Commiflioners, Whe-
ther fhe did not hear the Doctor in that Difpute,

deny Chrift to be God ? fhe anfwereth, fhe heard

him deny Chrift to be God the Father.

And being further asked, Whether the Words
of God the Father were not fpoken by the

Doctor, after Mr. Blagrave did tell him, If he

held fuch Opinions, they muft proceed againft

him ? To this fhe faith, Mr. Blagrave put fome
Que,
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Queftions to him, what they were fhe cannot re-

member.
And being further asked, Whether the Doctor

did not bring in the Expreffion of God the Father,

after many Scriptures cited by Mr. Tickle to prove

Chrift to be God ? To this fhe faith, fome Scrip-

tures Mr. Tickle did bring ; but fhe is not able to

fay it was before the Doctor did exprefs God the

Father.

Mary Pocock.

After this, I defired the Commiflloners, that if

they were not yet fatisfied, they would hear my
Witneffes which I had there ready to be fworn ;

that I had formerly cleared myfelf of holding

Chrift not to be God and Jehovah ; and that I

had held forth the contrary as my avowed Judg-

ment, viz. That Chrift was God and Jehovah, in

a Sermon before the Committee of Berks at Law-
rence-Church in Reading; and how afterward I

was cleared by their Vote from thefe Articles now
in Debate, and particularly from this of holding

Chrift not to be God. But they would not fuf-

fer me to produce the Evidence of thefe Witnef-

fes, replying, They had nothing to do with what

other Committees before had done ; they would

proceed according to the Proofs of the prefent

Witneffes.

But neverthelefs I fhall here prefent to the judi-

cious Reader the Evidence which they through

Prejudice rejected.

Which was this that follows.

* I confefs I heard the Doctor deliver himfelf

c in a Sermon at Reading in Lawrence-Churchy
* where the Committee of Berks was prefent, out

* of Ezek. cap. ix. ver. 4, 5, 6, 7. after this

* manner, That Jehovah, taken late, largely, in-

« eluding the Trinity of Perfons, fo they are all

* Jehovah : But take Jehovah ftriile, only for the

« Perfon of the Father, and then Chrift is not Je-
* hovah. And hereupon he further faid, What
« Dealings have I had from my Fellow-Minifters,

* but as Jacob had from Efau, Obad. ver. 10, 11.

* who fpake proudly againft his Brother Jacob in

* the Day of his Diftrefs. And there he avow-
* edly declared, That the Thought of denying the

* Deity or Godhead of Chrift never enter'd into

* his Soul.

Moreover,
* Thefe following Witneffes were prefent to

1 atteft on Oath their former Depofitions, taken

* before the Committee of Plundered Minifters,

* which were thefe.

' This Deponent (Mr. Francis Pordage) further

* faith on Oath, That he was prefent before the

* Honourable Committee of Berks, when the

* Doctor was cleared by the Vote of the whole
* Committee, touching the Bufinefs at Iljley, and
1 concerning thofe Articles, That Chrift is not
* God and Jehovah.

* This Deponent {John Hambleton) faith on
4 his Oath, That he was prefent before the Ho-
c nourable Committee of Berks, when the Do-
* ctor was cleared by the Vote of the whole
* Committee, concerning Iljley Bufinefs, and thefe

* Articles of Chrift's not being God and Jeho-
' vah.

4 And this Deponent further faith on Oath,
* That he was at Reading before the Committee
' of Berks, where the Doctor was cleared of the
4 Bufinefs at Iljley, and from the falfe Afperfions
* laid to him, as if he denied Chrift to be God or
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Jehovah, and that by the Vote of the whole
Committee.
* But the Commiffioners not receiving thefe

Teftimonies, I earneftly defired them they
would hear the Evidence of fome Witneffes
there prefent, touching the Tenor of my Mi-
niftry fince that Difpute concerning Chrift's

being God, which I looked upon more confi-

derable than one Expreffion uttered in a Dif-
pute upon a Miftake, (if Mr. Tickle fwears the

Truth.) But they denied this reafonable Re-
queft, faying, They were in hafte ; and that

thefe Teftimonies were but dilatory and im-
pertinent. Which notwithstanding I fhall

here prefent, to be weighed by the judicious

Reader.
* Thefe four Witneffes (Mr. Francis Pordage,
Richard Higgs, Mr. Samuel Pordage, John Higgs)
were ready to atteft this which follows upon
their Oaths, which was writ down in fome of
their Note-Books.
* We confefs we heard the Doctor preach out
of Matth. i. 23. in the Year 1652, concerning
Chrift's Birth ; at which time he fpeaking of
fix Wonders, delivered the four laft after this

manner :

4 The third Wonder in Chrift's Birth was
this, That he was born a perfefr. Man, a true

natural Man, Luke i. 42. where Chrift is called

by Elizabeth the Fruit of the Virgin Mary's
Womb ; Gal. iv. 4. made of a Woman ; Gal.
i. 1. not only in and through a Woman, but
out of the Subftance and Nature of the Virgin.

Fourth Wonder, That Chrift was born perfect

God, John i. 14. The Word was made Flejh :

Who is meant by this Word ? The Eternal

Word, the Word Chrift, Heb. i. 2. Fifth Won-
der, Behold two diftinct Natures born in him,
viz. The Deity and Humanity, the Godhead
and the Manhood, Rom. i. 3, 4. According to

the Flefh, he is of the Seed of David ; and ac-

cording to his divine Nature, he is the Son of
God. Thefe two Natures remain diftinct in

Chrift's Perfon; John viii. 58. Before Abraham
was9 I am. According to his divine Nature,
he was before Abraham ; and according to his

human, after. Sixth Wonder, Behold two
Natures hypoftatically united in one Perfon !

Thefe two Natures do not make two Perfons,

two Chrifts, but both thefe Natures hypoftati-

cally united together, make up but one Perfon,

Matt. i. 23. Emanuel, God with us.

' The Nature of this Union was after this

manner explained :

' It was an inconvertible Union, an indivifible

Union, an inconfufed Union, an infeparable

Union, a fubftantial and real Union, yet a my-
ftical Union.
* We alfo heard the Doctor in Bradfeld Church,

at another time, about 1653, deliver himfelf

(out of John i. 14. concerning the Word's be-

ing made FlefbJ thus, viz. That this Word
was Chrift, the Eternal Word, that is co-eter-

nal, coeffential, and coequal with the Father,

Prov. viii. Z2, 23, 24, 15. / was fet upfrom

Everlafling, &c. John x. 30. / and my Father

are one.
4 Befides, we can with a good Confcience tefti-

fy, that in his publick Miniftry, out of divers

Texts of Scripture, we have heard him clearly

hold forth Chrift to be God.'

So much for thefe Articles, as to the Teftimony

of Witneffes. I i 2 * And
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s And now we muft inform the Readers, that

' I have hitherto in Truth, without Partiality to-

4 ward myfelf, or Paffion and Prevarication to-

4 ward my Adverfaries, prefented the Depofitions

* and Evidence on both fides, touching the firft

* Charge : I would therefore requeft, that thefe

* following Particulars, drawn together by way
4 of Recapitulation, may be ferioufly weighed
* and confidered.

4 Part. i. That to moft of thefe nine Articles
4 they have but oneWitnefs, without anyconcur-
4 rent Teftimony, which is not fufficient Proof,

* according to the Ordinance they are to act by j

4 in which it is expreffed, that at leaft there muft
4 be one Witnefs with concurrent Evidence.

4 Tart. 2. That wherefoevcr the Accufer hath
4 two, I have alfo two to balance them.

4 Part. 3. That altho' many of the Articles are
4 in grofs fworn to pofitively, yet in the Crofs-
4 Examinations you will find fuch Limitations as

4 thefe, According to our bed Remembrance,
4 and According to our Apprehenfions, In the
4 fame exprefs Words for the Subftance of them,
4 &c. which cannot therefore amount to legal
4 Evidence, being invalid in point of Law ; be-
4 caufe, as the judicious Lawyer faith, if the De-
4 ponents fwear not pofitively and fyllabically,

4 they may by changing, adding to, or taking from
4 the exprefs Words, ufurp the Place of Judges,
4 and fo prevent their Work and Duty, which is

4 to judge whether fuch exprefs Terms are crimi-

* nous or not ; which they cannot do after the
4 Terms be altered, and made criminous already
4 by the Witneffes mifreprefenting them.

* Part. 4. That my Witneffes in reference to
4 the moft fubftantial Queftions, are pofitive in

* their Anfvvers.

Now I come to the fecond Charge of Articles in

reference to the Proof, being exhibited againft me
by one Jofeph Cook, an unknown Perfon.

Art. 1. f~\NE Mrs. Lewyn being with Child,

\^J and near the time of Travail, fent

for Dr. Pordage'j Mother to be her Midwife ; but

he would not fuffer her to go, faying they would not

be guilty of/uch a beaft-like Life, meaning Mrs. Le-
wyn'j being with Child by her Husband,

Depof. Mr. John Lewyn of Hamjled - Norris,

fworn and examined the fecond ofNovember, at the

Bear in Speenhamland, before the Commiffioners,

to this Article faith, he cannot depofe.

Ann Lewyn, Wife of John Lewyn, Minifter of

Hamjled-Norris, fworn and examined to the fe-

cond Paper of Articles exhibited againft Dr. Por-
dage, faith, to the firft Article fhe cannot depofe.

Art. 2. 'The faid Dr. Pordage coming totheHoufe

of Mr. Lewyn, in his Difcourfewith Mrs. Lewyn,
blamed her for having Children by her Husband, and
argued with her the Unlawfulnefs of having Children

by her Husband.

Depof To this Article Mr. Lewyn faith he can-

not depofe.

To this fecond Article Mrs. Lewyn faith, That
She Doctor told her, when fhe had two Children,

a Boy and a Girl, fhe had enough, one for her

Husband, another for herfelf : To which the De-
ponent anfwered, As it fhall pleafe God. Then
the Doctor replied, Pifh, it is as yourfelves will.

But fhe faith, the Doctor did never perfuade her to

live from her Husband.
Art. 3. In his Difcourje to Mr. Lewyn concern'

ing the fame Subject, he endeavoured to maintain,

the Unlawfulnefs of their having Children; andfaid,
that Adam was Male and Female in himfelf, and
had he notfallen, he had brought forth Children him-

felf; and to maintain andprove the fame by Scrip-

ture and otherwife.

Depof. To this third Article Mr. Lewyn faith,

That about three Years fince, the Doctor and this

Deponent had fome Difcourfe at the Deponent's

Houfe, about fome Principles of Religion : the

Doctor did urge that Place in Genefis, That he

made them Male and Female, but whether he

meant Adam fingly, or what mental Refervation

he had, the Deponent knoweth not. And further

to this Article he cannot depofe.

To this third Article Mrs. Lewyn faith, She
heard the Doctor and her Husband in difcourfe to

the purpofe of the faid Article j but what the

words were, fhe cannot depofe.

Art. 4. In his Difcourfe with Mr. Lewyn,
which was about the time that one Everard was with

him in his Houfe at Bradfield, who was generally

reputed a Conjurer, he asked Mr. Lewyn whether

he would not be afraid if he fhould fee his own
Picture or Shape, intimating that he himfelfhad ufed
to fee his.

Depof. To this fourth Article Mr. Lewyn faith,

That about the time mentioned in the Article, the

Deponent met the Doctor in London % in difcourfe

with him the Doctor asked him, If it would not

be terrible to fee Apparitions ? but did intimate

nothing, that he ufed to fee any himfelf.

To this Mrs. Lewyn faith fhe cannot depofe.

Art. 5. The faid Dr. Pordage hath hadforfome
Weeks together in his Houfe the faid Everard, and
one Tawny, who (tiled himfelf King of the Jews,
who had been queflioned, as it is generally reported,

for holding dangerous and unfound Opinions, as that

there is no-Hell and the like.

Depof. To this Mr. Lewyn depofed nothing, and
Mrs. Lewyn faith fhe cannot depofe.

' Now all that I fhall fay to this Charge, and
4 the Proofs of it, confifts in thefe three fubfe-

* quent Particulars.

'Part. 1.What Paul faith, Alls xxiv. 13. Nei-
4 ther can they prove the Things whereof they now
4

accufe me, I may fay here ; for many things are

' laid to my Charge, but nothing proved by this

4 unknown Accufer. But it is an Act of fubtile

' Policy, to charge boldly, tho' they prove little

4 of it, which hath been practifed againft me in

4 this Trial, as every one may fee.

4 Part. 2. For the further Satisfaction of
4 the Reader, in reference to this Charge,
4

let him look back upon my former Anfwer,
4 given unto it before the Witneffes were exa-
4 mined.

4 Part. 3. I look upon myfelf in fome mea-
4 fure obliged here to give a fhort account of my
4 Judgment concerning Marriage -, the holding
* forth of which may have occafioned my Ene-
4 mies to have framed fome of the precedent Ar-
* tides againft me. I muft therefore acknowledge,
4 That I prefer Virginity before Matrimony,
4 the fingle State before the conjunct ; and that

4 Perfons, though in a married State, [1 Cor. vii.

4
38. J may by confent abftain from the Enjoy-

4 ments of that State, and fo be in it as though
4 they were not in it, living as fingle, though in

4 an united Form. This now is my Judgment and
4 deliberate Practice, being according to that of

4 Chrift, Mat. xix. 12. He that is able to receive

'it,
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it, let him receive it : where he fpeaks of the

Law of Abftinence, and Chriftian Eunuchifm j

which thefe words immediately going before

fhew, viz. there he Eunuchs, that have made

them/elves Eunuchs for the Kingdom of Heaven's

fake. Here is the Practice, and the End of it,

which ought to be the Growth and Increafe

of God's Kingdom in the Heart* to which

the Mortification of the Affections, and the

Abstraction of the Soul from the corrupt fen-

fitive Nature, does make way. And certainly

it were well, if Chriftians, in this corrupt de-

clining Age of the World, did more eye and

imitate the Pattern of Chrift's Life,, who as

he was born of a Virgin, fo lived in Virginity,

and the fingle devoted Life; leaving an Ex-
ample to all that are able [Mat. xix. 12.] to

tread in his fleps, and follow him. And fur-

ther, it is fit for all that are either fingle or

married to confider, that all private Bonds,

Laws, and Engagements, ought to ftrike fail

to our higheft Laws and Engagements to God •,

and that when foever they crofs one another,

the higheft and fupreme Law, by which we
are obliged to live to God in Purity and Inte-

grity, muft have the precedency. Now my
holding forth and declaring this my Judgment,

together with my own Practice, hath given

occafion to many (who are as the Generation

before the Flood, eating and drinking, mar-

rying and giving in Marriage, and taking com-
placency in the Delights of the Flefh) to fpeak

evil of me, as one that breaks Bonds between

Relations, tho' no fuch thing can ( in truth) be

proved againft me : for it is not my defign to

make Profelytes to my Judgment, being wil-

ling to leave all to the Rule of Light in their

own Confciences. Tho' I have faid, and can-

not but fay, that it were well if Chriftians

would more labour after, and pray for the Gift

of Continency, and not involve themfelves in

the Entanglements of the World, till they had
ufed all Means of Mortification prefcribed in

the Holy Scripture, to fubdue their Natures :

and it were happy if the prefent Generation

could clearly diftinguifh betwixt thofe Mar-
riages that are Idolatrous-, Adulterous, and

Beftial, and thofe that are Holy, Pure, Divine,

being made in the Lord, according to his Will,

and fo lawful and honourable. But alas ! moft
People now are as thofe in the days of Noah,
who being infenfible of God's intended Judg-
ment by the Deluge, folaced themfelves in the

Pleafures and Delights of the Earth, till the

Flood came and deftroy'd them. Hence there

is much need of fome at this time, to call

People to Self-denial and Imitation of Chrift's

Life, to live up to the higheft and pureft Rules
of Chriftianity, in the Mortification of their

Flefh, and in the compleat devoting of them-
felves to a conftant Attendance upon the Lord,
as waiting for his coming in Spirit, to deftroy

the Man of Sin, and overthrow Babylon with all

its Idols. So much for the third and laft Par-

ticular, which fhall conclude the things of this

Charge.*

Now I am come to the Depofitions of my third

and laft Charge, fome of which were .taken Nov.
22. being the fourth time of my Appearance ; the

other Decemb. 7 and 8. being the fifth and laft

j

time of my appearing before the Court.

But before I prefent the particular Depofitions^

I muft here inform the Reader of two things^

which relate to the laft time of my Appearance,
and to this laft Charge; one of which fhews
the Cruelty, the other the Injuftnefs of the

CommifTioners. The firft then is this : The
feventh of December having been taken up in the

Examination of my Witneffes to the firft Charge,
which continued till it was late in the Night, the
CommifTioners called for more Lights, that they
might proceed to the Examination of Witneffes
in reference to the third Charge. Whereupon
I reply'd it was late, and I had many Witneffes
to examine upon the laft Charge, At this Mr„
Fowler the Accufer rofe up, and urged the Pro-
ceeding to the laft Charge; faying, it would
quickly be difpatched. Then the CommifTio-
ners cry'd out, Fetch us more Candles, we will

make an end of it this Night. To which I re-

ply'd, Gentlemen, I have here flood very long
before you, and having not dined, (through the

Urgency of my Bufmefs) I am not well, being

very faint, and much fpent and wearied ; I de-
fire you would therefore ftay till the next Mor-
ning. But they peremptorily denied this juft

Requeft, and refolved to proceed. But they

permitting me to withdraw for a little fpace,

through Emptinefs and Wearinefs I fell very
fick, and was forced to go into my Bed : at

which the CommifTioners were very much trou-

bled, feeming to confult whether they fhould

proceed to Judgment. The fecond thing is this;

On the morrow the CommifTioners requiring me^
againft many Objections which I made, to give

in my Interrogatories by writing ; afterward

judged moft of them dilatory and impertinent

to the Bufinefs, and fo not fit to be examined.

To which I objected, whatever my Proofs were,

they ought in juftice to hear them, by examining
the Witneffes to my Interrogatories, and after-

wards to judge of them, whether valid or invalid.

But nothing I could fpeak prevailed with them,

to obftruct their rejecting moft of my Teftimo-*

nies.

But now as to the particular Depofitions, relat-

ing to the third Charge, exhibited by Mr. Fow-
ler, I fhall here prefent them to be weighed in

the Scales of Juftice by the Reader.

Art. 2.
t~T*lHJ T Jefus Chrifi was not perfect',

X alledging that Text to confirm it, He
cry'd out, My God, my God, why, &V.

Mr. Chrifiopher Fowler fworn and examined
(at Reading, Novemb. 23.) to this Article, faiths

That about five Weeks or a Month fince, he

acquainted Mr. Daniel Blagrave the younger*

that the CommifTioners did intend to furnmon
him to teftify what he knew of Dr. Pordage m
relation to Jefus Chrift; and the Deponent
asked him, if he heard the Doctor fay, That

Chrifi was not perfecl? To which he anfwered,

Yes.

Now as to my Defence againft thisTeftimony,

not repeating the Illegality and Invalidity of it,

I have thefe things to fay.

i.'T'HAT the Clerk hath left out fome Crofs*

JL Interrogatories, which were propofed by

me to the Accufer, in reference to this his De°

pofition. As firft, Whether he asked Mr, Bla*

grave*
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%r<we, whether I fpake it from myfelf, as my
Judgment, or related it as delivered by and heard

from another? Which Queftion the Accufer

waved. And fecondly, If he did ask it, what

was reply'd to it by Mr. Blagrave ? Which like-

wife was waved by him without any pofitive An-

fwer. Whereupon I faid to the Commiflioners,

I hope you will not take this Depofition as Evi-

dence againft me, without fummoning Mr. Bla-

grave himfelf, who only can refolve the Truth of

thefe Particulars.

2. In the fecond place, I fhall refer you to my
Anfwer to this Article; in which you may fee,

that I only related what I had heard another

fpeak at a publick Meeting in London, the thing

itfelf being much againft my Judgment.
* 3. In the third place, I muft tell you that I had

s three WitnefTes ready to depofe on Oath, That
' after my coming from London they heard me
* relate this, as fpoken by Mr. Erbery in a pub-
' lick Sermon at Somerfet-Houfe ; which Tefti-

* mony was according to my Anfwer to this Ar-
' tide, tho' accounted impertinent by the Com-
* miffioners, and fo rejected, without examining
4 the WitnefTes.

* 4. Farther to clear my Innocency in this par-
c ticular, I defired them to hear what my Wit-
* nefTes could fay, as to the Tenour of my Mi-
' niftry, touching Chrift's being a perfect Re-
* deemer : But this was alfo rejected as imperti-

* nent. But whether this fubfequent Teftimony,
* intended to have been given in, was not as

' weighty as the Accufers Depofition or Hear-
* fay, let the Reader judge.

" We have heard the Doctor preach in Brad-
" field Church (about 1652, out of Colojf. i. 14.
*' In whom we have Redemption, &c .) after this

" manner. Thefe words he divided into three
*' Particulars; 1. Into the Redeemer, in whom.
" 2. The Redeemed, We. 3. The Act itfelf, Re-
" demption. As to the firft Particular, he thus
*' enlarged himfelf? Who can this Redeeming
*' Perfon be, but Chrift ? Atts iv. 12. Neither is

*' there Salvation in any other, for there is no other

" Name given under Heaven, whereby we muft
" be faved. 1 Cor. iii. 7. For other Foundation
* c can no Man lay, than that is laid, which is Je-
*' fus Chrift. As to the fecond Particular, The
" Perfons redeemed, he faid they were the whole
" myftical Body of Chrift. Thirdly, As to the
*' third Particular, the Act itfelf, Redemption,
** he faid it imply'd a Deliverance from a State

" of Bondage into a State of Liberty ; which he
" opened at large in every Particular, fetting

" forth the Riches of this Redemption to us by
" Chrift.

" And we heard him further preach in Brad-
" field Church, about 1654, from thefe words
*' out of 1 Tim. i. 15. That Jefus Chrift came
*' into the World to fave Sinners, viz. That Je-
" fus Chrift was a perfect Saviour, in reference
* c both to his Prophetical, Prieftly, and Kingly
" Office, every one of which Heads he opened at

" large."

* Now let the Reader but impartially weigh
« the Accufers illegal Depofition, with the Parti-

' culars here recited on my behalf, and judge
* whether the Commiflioners have not broken
« their own Law, the Law of Nature, and the

« Law of Scripture, in taking this Depofition of
« my Accufers into their Sentence of Ejectment,

* in which they exprefly condemn me for hold-
* ing, That Chrift was not perfecl?

Artie. 3. That the Blood of Chrift was not me'
ritorious of any Man's Salvation.

To this Mr. Chri(lopher Fowler, fworn and
examined, depofeth, That about three Weeks or
a Month fince he asked Mr. Daniel Blagrave the

younger, whether he did not hear the Doctor fay,

That the Blood of Chrift was not meritorious of
any Man's Salvation ? he anfwered, He heard him
to that purpofe.

To balance this Depofition, let the Reader
confider,

1

.

That the Accufer is here Deponent, which is

againft Law.
2. That the Depofition is but a Story or Hear-

fay, and no legal Teftimony.
* 3. That the Deponent was not able to an-

* fwer to any of my Interrogatories, fo as to de-
' clare where, before whom, or on what occafion
* this was fpoken ; only protefted as he was a
4 Minifter of the Gofpel, that Mr. Blagrave told
* him fo.

' 4. That I am not guilty of holding any fuch
* thing, as my Anfwer to this Article mews.

* 5. That feeing I had no other way of clearing
' my innocency, but by fhewing my Judgment,
* and producing Proofs of the Tenour of my Mi-
' niftry touching this particular ; I defired them
1

to examine fome WitnefTes, that were there
* ready to atteft this which follows.

" We heard the Doctor in Bradfield Church
<£ (about 1652, out of Colojf. i. 4. viz. In whom
" we have Redemption through his Blood) deliver
«' himfelf thus: That the fourth particular in this

" Text, was the Means of this Redemption,
" exprefTed in the laft words, 'through his Bloody
li to be underftood per modum merit i, through
" his meritorious Blood. 1 Cor. vi. 20. Te are
44 bought with a Price•', that is, the Price of Blood.
" 1 Pet. i. 18, 19. Forafmuch as ye know that
" ye were not redeemed with corruptible things, as
'• with Silver and Gold, from your vain Convey

-

'.' fations, but with the precious Blood of Chrift.
" Acts xx. 28. Which he hath purchafed with his
" own Blood.

" We alfo heard the Doctor in Bradfield
" Church, (about 1654, out of thefe words,.
" Ifa. xxxv. 6. In this Mountain will the Lord of
" Hofts make a Feaft of fat things, &c.) fpeak .

" thus ; That one Difh amongft the Dainties of
" this Feaft, was the Blood of Chrift; which he
" opened, to be cleanfing purging Blood : 1 John
" i. 7. Having cleanfed usfrom all our Sins through
" his Blood. And reconciling Blood, Colojf. i. 20.
" Reconciled through his Blood. And pardoning
" Blood, Colojf. i. 14. Through his Blood, even
*' the Forgivenefs of our Sin.

" And we have oft heard him in his Miniftry
" thus fet forth the Efficacy of the Blood of

" Chrift."

* But you muft know that this Teftimony
* would not be received, for they judged it inva-

' lid, tho' they received the Accufers Hearfay as

* Evidence againft me. Now whether this Deal-
* ing was not more fuitable to corrupted Ethnicks,
* than to fuch Profeffors of Religion, let know-
4 ing Perfons judge.'

Art. 4. Pifh ! It is a poor thing to live upon the

Blood of Chrift.

Depof. Sufannah Grip, Wife of John Grip of

Reading, Joiner, fworn, depofeth, This Depo-
nent told Dr. Pordage, That it was a high thing

to live upon the Blood of Chrift. To which

v he
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he replied ; To live upon the Blood of Chrift,

that is a poor thing : and repeated the fame a-

gain, and faid, Thou art a Babe, thou knoweft

nothing •, to live upon the Blood of Chrift, that

is a poor thing. Whereupon the Deponent's

Heart fell almoft dead with Fear at his words.

And being asked by the Doctor, whether the

fame were delivered in the fame very words ? fhe

anfwered, Yes, in the very fame words. Being

asked where ? me replied, In the Kitchen : Being

further asked when ? fhe faith, Four Years fince,

to the beft of her Remembrance ; but who was

then prefent, fhe doth not remember. And being

asked by the Doctor, upon what occafion the fame

was fpoken ? fhe faith, the Doctor was fpeaking

fomething in a rambling manner, which fhe did

not underftand ; but fhe faid, fhe thought would

fpeak fomething to him, that he fhould underftand

and rejoice with her for it : and that was the Oc-

cafion of the Difcourfe ; and that the Doctor's

words were without any Explanation. This

Deponent being ready to faint, faid, What then,

Doctor? He anfwered, I know not what the

Matter is, that I muft fpeak to you j I do not

ufe to difcover myfelf: but he told her fomething

of the Man that died at Jerufalem, which fhe did

not remember, being then fo amazed.

The Doctor's Anfwer to the eighth Article be-

ing read unto her, fhe faith, that all the Circum-

fiances mentioned in the faid Anfwer, are all of

them falfe and untrue.

Now as to this Depofition, what is further to

be added, to give the Reader more Light to judge

of both the Article and Depofition, is this :

O T to fpeak any thing of the Levity and

Rafhnefs of this Woman, which is well

known to the Inhabitants of Reading, and may
make her Teftimony the lefs to be valued ; fhe in

her rafh Denial of the Circumftances of my An-
fwer, confidently fpake a known Untruth upon
her Oath, and fo made her felf guilty of open Per-

jury.

Whereupon, when I came to make my De-

fence, to invalidate her Teftimony, I prefented

four Witneffes, who were ready upon Oath to

prove her perjured.

The firft of thefe was one Mr. Richard Stock-

well, efteemed by all moderate Perfons that know
him to be a fober and pious Chriftian. Although

he was excepted againft by Mr. Fowler the Accu-

fer, as an Erberifi, as this fubfequent Depofition

fheweth.

Mr. Fowler being fworn, as to his knowledge

of Mr. Stockwell, depofeth, That he conceives

the faid Stockwell is an Erberift ; becaufe that when
the Deponent (being charged to be a Slanderer of

him) did offer to make a publick Recantation,

and to confefs himfclf to be a Slanderer, in cafe

the faid Mr. Stockwell would deny the Do-
ctrine and Opinion of Mr. Erbery, which he re-

fufed.

Notwithftanding which, the Commiffioners

would examine him, if the Doctor would ask

him any material Queftion ; but do not think fit

to examine him to their due or undue taking of

Mr.Gn/sExamination,whichthe Doctor infifieth

on.

Now let the Reader judge whether the Que-
ftion was not material, which this Witriefs

would have anfwered to by Oath, viz. Whether

f/

Mrs. Grip did not aver on Oath in open Court,

That fhe never railed againft Mr. Fowler ? To
this one Mr. Tench was ready alfo to be fworn
in the Affirmative : there were alfo many others

which heard it. And further, I had two more
fubftantial Witneffes, who offered to fwear they

had heard Mrs. Grip rail againft Mr. Fowler in

publick Meetings before many Witneffes. Mrsi
Eleanor Burleigh was willing to depofe, That fhe

heard Mrs. Grip fay, That Mr. Fowler was a
Son of Belial, &c. and one Mrs. Kent would
have attefted, that fhe heard her rail againft Mr.
Fowler in the fame and the like Speeches, with
much more. Now becaufe the Clerk had not
taken that Expreffion of hers, That fhe never

railed againft him, therefore the Commiffioners
made it their Pretence, of not examining the

Witneffes to it, as a thing impertinent ; though
by the Atteftation of that, with the Teftimony
of the other two Witneffes, fhe had been proved
directly perjured. But Mr. Fowler the Accufer,

being a great Friend of the Woman's, and feeing

fhe was in danger to be proved perjured, and fo

an inefficient Witnefs in all her TeftimonieSj

prevailed with the Court againft the importu-

nate, rational, and legal Pleas of my Counfel;;

to reject thefe fore-mentioned Witneffes. The
Unjuftnefs, palpable Partiality and Illegality of

which Action I leave to be weighed in the

Balance of Equity by the impartial Reader^

who in Juftice may efteem this Woman as

really perjured, as though the Witneffes had
proved it, and value her Teftimony accord-

ingly. And truly, fome of the godly Party

at Reading hearing with what Impudence and
Rafhnefs fhe affirmed on Oath fhe never railed

•againft Mr. Fowler, confeffed they could not but

wonder at her, being it was fo commonly
known.

But, to conclude, let the Reader take notice,

Firft, That this Article may be either true or

falfe, according to the applying of it to particu-

lar Perfons. Secondly, That though it were

taken in the worft Senfe, yet it were not within

the Act of Scandal. Thirdly, That there was

only one Witnefs to it, to whofe Teftimony what

Credit is to be given, let the foregoing Particu-

lars declare. Fourthly, That I had Witneffes-

ready to depofe, That in the Tenour of my Mi-

ni dry, I had often held forth Chrift's Blood to

be of a cleanfmg, redeeming and juftifying

Nature. Fifthly, That in my Anfwer to itj,

I have given the true Ground and Occafion of

it.

Art. 5. Pijh! there was no fuch thing as Per-

fons in Trinity.

Depof. The former Sufannah Grip faith, That

the Doctor came into her Kitchen at another time,

as fhe thinks from the Committee, and faid, That

whereas Minifters fpake of Perfons in Trinity.,

there is no fuch thing ; There are Three that bear

record in Heaven : but there is no fuch thing as

Perfons in Trinity. Note, /» that Scrip-

ture, 1 John v. 7. fhould be added ; and that in

reference only to the Terms.

Now my Interrogatories to her upon this Ar-

ticle, were thefe : ift, When I fpake thefe

Words ? She faith, When I came from the Com-

mittee, which was two or three Years fince, or

thereabouts. 2dly, Before whom ? She anfwer-

eth, Whether her Maid, or any body elfe, or

who was prefent, fhe doth not remember, 3dly,
r

Being
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Being further asked, Whether this Expreffion was

delivered without any further Limitation or Ex-

planation ? She replies, Without any, as lhe

remembers.

Now what I have more to add, to clear the

Truth in reference to this Depofition, is this.

Firft, I refer the Reader to my Anfwer to this

Article, in which you may fee that I made a Re-

lation to this Woman of what had paffed before

the Committee, where fome Queftions were pro-

pofed to me concerning the Holy Trinity. Se-

condly, I had a Witnefs prefent to teftify on

Oath, That what I faid before the Committee,

was only this, That there was no fuch word as

Perfons in Trinity in that Text, 1 John v. 7. a

Relation of which I made to this Woman, who,

as it feems, miftaking my Meaning, comes now

four Years after to accufe me ; though at the ve-

ry time fhe feemed to affent to what I fpake, and

made no Exception againft it ; nor fo much as

asked me to explain my felf for her Satisfaction,

though fhe had a very convenient Opportunity.

Thirdly, She is but a fingle Witnefs, and herTe-

ftimony not pofitive, fhe adding, As fhe remem-

bers. ' Fourthly, I defired the Commiffioners

* to hear what my avowed Judgment was, from
* the Teftimony of fome Witneffes who were

* ready to depofe what I had held forth in

' my publick Miniftry, touching the Perfons in

« the Holy Trinity. But the Commiffioners re-

* fufed to examine the Witneffes, whofe Evi-

' dence was this :

« We heard the Doctor in Bradfield Church
' (about 1653, from thefe words, John i. 14.

' 'the Word was made Flejh) deliver himfclf thus

:

' For the underftanding of the Perfon that was
* made Flefh, you muft confider the unutterable

« Myftery of the Holy Trinity ; the Unity di-

« ftinguifbing itfelf into three Perfons, the Father,

« Son, and Holy Ghoft : Mat. xxviii. 19. Bap-
' fixing them in the Name of the Father, Son, and
* Holy Ghoft. 1 John v. 7. There are Three that

* bear Record in Heaven, the Father, the Word,
' and the Holy Ghoft. Now which of thefe three

* Perfons are made Flefh ? 'Tis not the firft Per-

* fon, the Father, nor the third Perfon, the Ho-
* ly Ghoft ; but it is to be underftood of the Son,

* the fecond Perfon in the Trinity.

* We have alfo heard him out of thefe Texts,

* Ezek. ix. 4, 5, 6. Pfalm ex. 1. Mat. xxviii. 19.
c

1 John v. 7. deliver in Bradfteld-Church, the
« Diftinclions of the Perfons in the Trinity ; as

' that the Father is not the Son, nor the Son the

« Holy Ghoft, and the Holy Ghoft neither the

* Father nor the Son, but each diftincV

So much for this Article.

Art. 6. That it was aWeaknefs to be troubled for

Sin.

Depof. Mr. Benjamin Woodbridge, Minifter of

Newbury, fworn and examined, depofeth, That
Mr. William Twifs of Dorchefter told the Depo-

nent, That Dr. Pordage maintained it to him, or

fpake in his Company, That he was no Chriftian

that could not commit the greateft Sin, and not be

troubled for the fame ; or Words to that effect, to

his beft Remembrance.
To this I replied before the Court

:

I knew not the faid Mr. Twifs, and to my
knowledge I never faw his Face. Being then en-

gaged in the bufinefs of examining my Witneffes,

I faid not much to the Vindication of myfelf,

as to this horrid Imputation ; the Teftimony be-

ing but a mere Hear-fay, and the Deponent ren-

dering it more invalid by thefe Expreffions, viz.

or Words to that effeel, and, to his beft Remem-
brance.

But I defire the Reader here to take notice of

the Weaknefs or Envy of Mr. Woodbridge, that

he fhould thus with a Hear-fay only, which he

himfelf did not exactly remember, thus endeavour

to afperfe me, and render me odious, when he faw

there were fo many horrid things laid to my charge

before : but I believe he will one day be touched in

his Confcience for dealing thus with me ; for the

Lord knows I am innocent as to the acting or

holding of what he faith.

' I therefore (for the Satisfaction of the Reader)
4 folemnly proteft in the prefence of Almighty
4 God, that I never held any fuch Opinion ; for it

* is diametrically oppofite to my Principles: nei-

' ther did I ever utter any fuch Expreffions as my
* Judgment ; and am confident, were that Mr.
4

Twifs brought to my Face, he durft not aver a-

' ny fuch thing.'

To the feventh Article, nothing is depofed, be-

ing contrived and reported abroad by the Accu-
fer, to draw an Odium upon me, as you may fee

in my Anfwer to it.

Art. 8. That he afferted he knew nothing to the

contrary, but that a Man might company with more
than one Woman, &c.

Depof. Sufannah Grip faith, fhe told the Doctor,

That fhe heard it was reported of him, he fhould

keep unlawful Company with a Woman in Lon-
don, and asked him, if it were true ? To which
the Doctor asked her, Who faid fo ? The De-
ponent replied, She would not tell him. Where-
upon the Doctor fmiled, and was not troubled,

but denied it, faying, No : but he made her a fur-

ther Anfwer, That he did not difallow of any

fuch thing, as fhe underftood him. But what his

exprefs Words were, me cannot now remem-
ber.

Note, This laft Claufe makes all invalid, and
fhews her Rafhnefs in fwearing, that I did not

difallow of any fuch thing •, being fhe hath for-

gotten my Words, by which only fhe can judge

of my Senfe.

And the Anfwer of the Doctor to this Particu-

lar being read to her, fhe thus replied : She doth

not remember the Doctor uttered any fuch Paffa-

ges as are therein mentioned ; to wit, That he

fhould fay, I am a Man born to all manner of

Sufferings.

It was further read to her, That the Deponent

knew his Life and Converfation : This fhe could

remember ; and doth confefs, fhe did then reply,

fhe did not believe any fuch thing of him.

Being further asked by the Doctor, Whether
this was expreffed as his own Judgment, or the

Judgment of fome other ? She thus replied ; As
far as fhe conceived, the Do6tor did fpeak that

Paffage of allowing that a Man may have more

than one Woman, as his own Judgment, not as

another Man's.

Note, fhe did conceive amifs ; for if ever I

fpake it, it was in reference to the Ranters, who
then were much talked of : for fuch carnal Prin-

ciples are very much againft my Judgment, and

queftionlefs againft the Truth.
Being
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Being further asked, Where it was fpoken ? fhe

faith, In the Deponent's own Court : Bring ask'd

before whom ? fhe anfwers, No body elfe was

then prefent. Being asked when ? fhe faith, it

was about three or four Years fince.

But let the Reader here take notice,

1- That this Article is not within the Limits of

the Aft. 2. That herTeftimony is not legal, in

that it is fingle and not pofitive, me confefling that

fhe had forgot the exprefs Words. 3. That this

is againft my avowed Judgment ; to prove which,

befides my own Affertions, I had prefent three

Witneffes, who were ready to depofe, That I had

often affirmed in Conference, that although this

Principle was owned by the Ranters, yet it was

much againft my Judgment, as you may further

fee in my Anfwer.

Art. 9. That he hath 'very frequent andfamiliar

Converfe with Angels.

Depof. Mr. Chriftopher Fowler ofReading, fworn

and examined, depofeth, That about three Weeks
or a Month fince, he asked Mr. Daniel Blagrave

the younger, whether he could not fpeak to the

Doctor's Converfe with Angels ? He anfwered (as

far as the Deponent remembers,) he could fpeak

much.
Mr. Fowler fworn again, and further examined,

November 23, at the Bear in Readings before the

Commiffioners, depofeth, That about Michaelmas

laft, the Deponent fpeaking with Mr. Daniel Bla-

grave the elder, concerning the Virions of Angels

that were at his Houfe, in reference to Mrs. Pin-

dar ', the Deponent told him, he the faid Mr. Bla-

grave was able to fay much to the purpofe, it being

in his Houfe: and defired him thereupon to fpeak

his knowledge of the Truth, both in point of
Confcience and Reputation, being cenfured for

fupporting fuch a Man as Dr. Pordage.

The faid Mr. Blagrave anfwered, Why, the

Doctor doth converfe with Angels •, and I be-

lieve when he comes before the Commiffioners,

he will not deny but he doth converfe with An-
gels.

The Deponent thus replied to Mr. Blagrave,

If the Doctor will confefs them Angels, we will

prove them Devils.

* Note, How full of Pride and Rafhnefs was
' this Speech of Mr. Fowler's, and how unfuita-
* ble to the Scriptures, and the Law of Charity ?

' For there are two forts of Angels and Spirits,

' good and evil, light and dark, holy and wic-

ked, which are continually tending upon Men
* in this World : the Evil to tempt and draw
* Men into the fame Condemnation with them-
* felves : the good, to guard and preferve them
' from the evil Influences and malicious Defigns
* of the other. But doth not the Accufer feem to
* forget, that the Miniftration of the Holy An-
* gels ftill abides ; who are mini,: ring Spirits fent
* forth to minifter for thofe who fhall inherit Salva-
* tion? Heb. i. 14, And the Pfalmift fays, The
4 Angel of the Lord pitcheth his Tent round about
4

thofe that fear him. How then dare Mr. Fow-
4 ler affirm, that if [ confefs i have Communion
4 with Angels, they will prove them Devils ? How
* dare he thus limit the Holy One of Ifrael,
4 and fhut up his Favours within the narrow
* Limits of his own Conceptions and Enjoy-
* ments ? And why may not God, for the
4 Support and Comfort of fome precious Saints,

« who in Humility, Self-denial and Abftracted-
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nefs of Spirit, ferve him Day and Night ; I

4
fay, why may he not afford fuch a fweet and

' heavenly Converfe with the Holy Angels? What
' Scripture is there that fpeaks againft it ? Is it

4 not fuitable to what he afforded the Patriarchs,
4 Prophets and Apoftles, and the Primitive Chri-
4

ftians ? But if my Accufer lives fo much in his
4

Senfes, as to have no Senfe or Knowledge of
4

it, yet why mould he thus rafhly condemn o-
4

triers.'

But the Accufer proceeds in his Depofitions

:

And further, this Deponent faith, That he

hath credibly heard fomething tending to this

purpofe, That Dr. Pordage hath feen the Viiion

of the faid Mr. Blagrave, fomewhat a bright Vi-

rion.

But here I put in a Queftion, which was this:

Mr. Chairman, I docontefsin my Anfwer, Com-
munion and Converfe with Angels ; but pray ask
Mr. Fowler, What Converfe with Angels Mr.
Blagrave underftood, vifible or invifible?

To this the Deponent further faith,

That the Entrance of this Difcourfe with Mr.
Blagrave, was in reference to Vifions that were feen

with a bodily Eye ; and mentioned the Vifions of
Mrs. Pindar, that were by her reported to be fuch.

Upon this, he underftood Mr. Blagrave, that the

Purport of his Anfwer was a vifible Converfe with

Angels.

And the Deponent further faith, That he de-

livered a Summons for Mr. Blagrave to atteft

thefe things in perfon, to Mr. Cook, one of the

Commiffioners, who fent the Deponent word by
Letter, that he had fhewed the fame to Mr. Bla-

grave, who hath notwithstanding refufed to ap-

pear.

And further, he fpake thus in open Court a-

gainft Mr. Blagrave, though the Clerk did not

take it, viz. 1 do verily believe, fuch a Judge as

he was in this Cafe before, fuch a Witnefs he

would have been, were he now prefent : But I

fay, it was the Plague of this County to have fuch

a curfed Committee.

Note, Mr. Fowler here asked me fome Que-
ftions to enfnare me, as, Whether 1 had not ken
the Vifion of Mr. Daniel Blagrave ? To which

I anfwered, To this profound Queftion I will

anfwer when I fee it attefted upon Oath. And
further asking me concerning Converfe with An-
gels ; the Clerk took this Anfwer :

The Doctor doth confefs that he hath daily

Converfe with Angels : But he defires Mr. Fowler

to declare what Converfe with Angels Mr. Bla-

grave did inform that the faid Doctor had.

The Doctor doth further fay, That he heard

it credibly reported, that he hath every day two
Angels dreffing of him : To which he added,

That they that reported it to him, faid they had

it from the Mouths of two godly Mini Iters, that

would not lye, viz. Mr. Fowler and Mr. Ford.

Note, I brought in this Story to fhew the Va-

nity and Invalidity of fuch Proofs as the Accu-

fer had before produced, as that he had creuibly

heard fomewhat to that purpofe, That I had

feen the Vifion of Mr. Blagrave. And, for all

the Accufer knows, that which he heard fo cre-

dibly reported might be as great an Untruth as

that which I heard reported of my felf, as com-

ing from him and his Brother Ford, whofe Fun-

ction feems very unfuitable to that of Lying and

Slandering.

K k After-
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Afterward Mr. Fowler asked me again, Whe-
ther I had feen the Vifion of Mr. Daniel £la-

grave ? I anfwered, As long as it is attefted only

upon Report, I would notanfwer to it.

Art. 10, 1 1 , 12., 13. Concerning the appari-

tions of Spirits, and of a great Dragon.

Here i muft intreat the Reader ferioufly to

weigh the following Depofuions, from which my
Enemies have charged me to be a Conjurer and a

Sorcerer ; that fo it may be ken whether they

have any better ground thus to efteem me, than

they have to efteem Job, who was terrified

through Vifions •, and Chrift, who was tempted

by Voice and Vifion in the Wildernefs ; and

John, who in Vifions faw a great red Dragon,

and terrible Locufts go forth of the bottomlefs

Pit, and three unclean Frogs, the Spirits of De-

vils, going forth to deceive the World ; 1 fay,

than they have to efteem thefe Conjurers and Ne-
gromancers for fuch Sights.

But now to the Depofitions :

Depof. Sufannah Grip, Wife of John Grip, of

Reading, fworn and examined, depofeth, That
the Doctor told her, that a great many Spirits ho-

vered about his Window, and kept a Noife ; but

the Doctor faid, He told the Company there fhould

come in but one at a time ; and that a Dragon did

come in with a long Tail, and great Eyes and
Fangs, and did fpit Fire at him.

And this Witnefs further faith, That his An-
gel ftood by him in his own Shape, in the fame

Clothes, Band, and Cuffs, and did protect him.

Note, Where this Woman fpeaks Truth, I

fhall not contradict her : But where me miftakes,

I muft inform the Reader of the Truth, and fhew

that fhe rafhly fwears Untruths. This then I

told her, that I had an Angel of God that ftood

by me, affifted me, comforted me, and protected

me, when that dreadful Apparition was before

me ; and that the Dragon was then over-

come.

And I further told her, that the Angel or Spi-

rit of one Everard appeared in his own Shape,

Clothes, Band, and Cuffs, &c. Which compared
with Mrs. Grip's Depofition, (hews her Miftake.

This Everard I fufpecled to be a Conjurer, and

to be inftrumental in the raifing of thofe Appari-

tions •, though I was not fo fure of it as to pro-

fecute him, or to fwear he caufed them : for the

Devil may take up anyone's Shape by God's Per-

miffion, as it is generally thought he did Sa-

muel's.

Further this Deponent faith, that the Doctor
likewife told her, that Mrs. Pordage and Mrs. Fla-

vel had their Angels Handing by them ; and that

he overcame the Dragon ; and that he faid the

Children faw the Spirits, and faid, Look there,

Father! being not afraid, after they had failed

and prayed. And that the Doctor further faid,

that the Spirits did afterward come into their

Chambers, and drew the Curtains, and looked

on them ; but they would not take notice of

them : And that the Spirits did come about three

Days after he had fafted and prayed, and flafhed

open the Curtains, and looked upon them.
' Note, For three Weeks or a Month there

* were very many, and very ftrange Apparitions •,

* but the Curtains were never drawn but once, and
4 that was by a Spirit in the Shape of Everard.

* For fome other Particulars of this Depofition,

4
I do not remember whether I fpake them or

' not.'

Depof. The Doctor being asked by Mr. Fowler^

What he faith concerning the Apparition of the

Dragon ? The Doctor doth confefs before the

Commiffioners, That he hath feen very many
dreadful Apparitions of Devils at his Houfe ;

and that fome of his Family did fee them ; and
that a Dragon did come into his Houfe with a-
long Tail and great Teeth : but that he faid his

Angel did protect him, he denies. But he fur-

ther faith, That about four Years fince he had
Apparitions both of good and bad Angels, for

three Weeks together, at his own Houfe: But
from that time to this, they have ceafed in that

manner.

Being further asked by Mr. Fowler, the Doctor
doth deny, that ever any Angel appeared in his

Clothes, Band, and Cuffs ; and further faith,

that his Angel never did appear to him in any
vifible Shape.

And being asked, Whether he ever faw
Mrs. Pordage's and Mrs. Flavel's Angels ftanding

by them ? he anfwereth, He never faw them
ftanding by them ; but it doth not therefore fol-

low that they might not ftand by them : And
though he can, yet he will not anfwer to any
Queftions, but fuch as concern himfelf immedi-
ately ?

And being further asked by Mr. Fowler, Whe-
ther he did not relate to Mrs. Grip that Mrs. Fla-

w/and Mrs. Pordage hud their Angels ftanding by
them ? he anfwereth, He can neither afErm nor
deny it ; for he doth not remember whether he
did, or no.

And being further asked by Mr. Fowler, Whe-
ther he did not relate to the faid Mrs. Grip that

his Children faw the Spirits come into his Houfe,
and cried, Look there, Father ! and that the Spi-

rits did often come into his Chamber, and drew
the Curtains when they were in Bed ?

To the firft Part of the Queftion he anfwereth,

He cannot affirm or deny it ; for in truth he doth
not remember whether he did, or no. To the fe-

cond Part of the Queftion he faith, He doth deny
it pofitivelyj and he will prove the Depofition to

be Perjury.

And the Doctor being further asked, Whether
or no he knows that the Children did fee the Spi-'

rits come up and down the Houfe, or no , and
whether they thereupon did fay, Look there, Fa-
ther !

To the firft Part of this Queftion, he faith, He
cannot know what the Eyes of Children do fee ;

and otherwife he will not anfwer. And to the

other Part of the Queftion, he anfwers, He can-

not remember whether the Children did fay fo, or

no ; and therefore will neither affirm nor deny
it.

id Witnefs. Sufannah Grip, Daughter of the

forefaid John Grip, aged 21 Years, fworn and
examined, depofeth ;

That about three or four Years fince, in her

Mother's Kitchen fhe heard Dr. Pordage fay,

that a Dragon came into his Chamber, and that

he expoftulated and contended with it ; and that

he faid the Dragon did fpit Fire at him ; and that

his Angel did appear to him in the Shape of a

Man, with his Band, and his Clothes, and Band-
ftrings, and did fupport him while he contended

with the Dragon. The Deponent further faith,

That fhe heard the Doctor fay that the Spirits

did
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did come into his Chamber, and drew the Cur-

tains, and looked upon him ; and that the Doctor

likewife faid they were affrighted at it at firft, but

afterward, when they were ufed to it, they were

not.

She faith fhe heard feveral other Things to this

purpofe, which fhe cannot now remember to de-

pofe.

And being asked by the Doctor, whether the

Doctor faid that the Angel that appeared with

the Band and Band- firings, was the Doctor's own
Angel, or the Angel of fome other? fhe faith,

To her beft Remembrance, he faid it was his

own Angel.

%d Witnefs. Elizabeth Benwell, Servant to

Mr. Ellis of Shin-field, and formerly Servant to

the Doctor, fworn and examined, depofeth :

That fhe faw fomething like a Star in the

Red Chamber in the Doctor's Houfe by the

Bed's Leg: It was light, and fomewhat like a

Star ; but the Deponent cannot fay it was a

Star. Yet it was in the Night, and no other

Light in the Room, to the beft of her Remem-
brance.

She further faith, That fhe hath heard Mufick

at feveral Times at the Doctor's Houfe, when fhe

did not know that any Inftruments or Muficians

were in the faid Houfe. She faith fhe hath heard

it in the Kitchen, and in her Miftrefs's Clofet-,

did apprehend the fame to be near her, but faw

none playing.

She further faith, That Mrs. Flavel did ufual-

ly lie in the Doctor's Bed-chamber during the

Time the Deponent was Servant there, which was

about a Year and a quarter.

But immediately to this the Maid added, But

I never lived in luch a Family for Piety and Ho-
linefs, as that was ; and I believe never fhall a-

gain, except I return thither.

But this, by the Clerk's Knavery, was left out,

although 1 flood by, and asked him why he did

not write down thofe Words. To which he re-

plied, If you will have me, I muft. 1 faid, I

will have it. Yet he neglected it ; and I believe

by the Command of fome of the Court, who
were troubled at any thing that feemed to make
for me: But what Unjuftnefs this was, let the

Reader judge.
* But from thefe preceeding Apparitions of

* Spirits in my Family, in which we were mere-
' ly paflive, and by which we were excited the
1 more to wait upon God in Prayer and Farting,
* my Enemies have fcandalized me for Conjurati-
' on and Sorcery, reporting fo confidently that I

' am a Conjurer, that many, who are not ac-

* quainted with my Principles and Converfation,
* believe it fo in earnefl. But thefe horrid Scan-
* dais I take up as my Crofs, and fee my felf in

* them conformable to Chrift's Sufferings, who
* was reckoned amongft Conjurers and Tranf-
* greflbrs by the Jewifh Zealots.

* But the Lord hath given me Peace in my
* Confcience, whilfl my Enemies have railed a-

* gainft me in their Pulpits, as Mr. Ford in his

* Sermon at the Afllzes held at Reading, Feb. 28.
* 1653. In which, Page 22, he faith, That
* there is one of the mofl eminent Church-Livings
' in the County poffeffed by a Blafphemer, and
* in whofe Houfe the Devil is as vifibly familiar,

* as any of the Family ; and fhall the Horns of
* thefe Brafts never be pared off by the Civil Ma-
* giftratc?
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Flere you fee he endeavours to brand me for

' a Conjurer, and calls me Blafphemer, exciting
* the Magiftrate to perfecute me. And this was
he who was chofen by the CommifTioners to

make a Speech in the Court before they gave
Sentence againft me, who there by envious Pre-

varication fhewed himfelf a fecond Tertullus,

though no Orator.

Art. 14. That Mrs. Magaret Pindar acquainted
with this Doftrins of Spirits, and pretending to be

converted by Vifions of Angels, doth thinkfie was be*

witched by them of Bradfield, &c.
Depof. Mr. Cbrijlopher Fowler, fworn to this

Article, and examined, faith, That Mrs. Pindar,
being asked by him, did acknowledge on Thurf-
day laft, at London, that at Mr. Blagrave's Houfe,
at Southcot, fhe heard a great Noife of Drums and
Trumpets ; which Dr. Pordage ( who was then
fent for to her) told her was the Alarum to the
Spiritual War. And that one Night fhe had the
Vifion of young Mr. Daniel Blagrave come to her
Bed-fide, and fhe took him by the Hand, which
Hand felt cold ; which Dr. Pordage expounded
to her thus : That the Coldnefs cf his Hand fig-

nified that he began to be cold to Vanity. And
that fhe asked the Doctor what the Vifions meant j

and he replied to her, We do not ufe to reveal
one another's Vifions.

The Depofition taken on my behalf was this

that follows :

R S. Elizabeth Blagrave, Wife of Mr. Da-
rnel Blagrave, fworn and examined : This

Deponent faith, She never heard Mrs. Pindar fay

that fhe was bewitched by them of Bradfield; but
the faid Mrs. Pindar told the Deponent that her
Vifions were from God ; and that the faid Mrs.
Pindar told the Deponent fhe never fpake with
the Doctor in her Life.

This Deponent further faith, That Mrs. Pin-
dar told her fhe had been at Mr. Fowler's Houfe j

and that Mr. Fowler examined her touching her
Vifions, and the Deponent asked her what fhe
faid : To which fhe replied, She was fure fhe had
faid nothing to him that could hurt the Doctor.
Hereupon the Deponent asked her if fhe told

Mr. Fowler that the Doctor did fend thefe Vifi-

ons? To which fhe anfwered, She could not fay

the Doctor fent them for a World.
This Deponent further faith, That Mr. Pindar

told the Deponent that his Wife faid, when fhe

came to London, fhe would not fay what fhe had
faid to Mr. Fowler, if it were to do again ; for

fhe perceived it was a Snare, or a Trap.

This Deponent further faith, She was by
when the Queftion concerning the Coldnefs of
young Mr. Blagrave's Hand was put •, and the

Deponent asked it her felf to one in the Room:
And the Anfwer was, That the Coldnefs of his

Hand, as far as they knew, fignified his dying

to Vanity ; which was delivered in a jetting man-
ner. Which Anfwer was not delivered by the

Doctor. And the Deponent faith, The Doctor

never gave fuch an Anfwer in his Life, as fhe

knows.

Here follow the Depofitions of John Grip

of Reading, Joiner; who being fworn and exa-

mined, depofeth :

K k 2 That
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That he was at Mr. BIagrafe's when Mrs. Pw-
J#r faw the Vifions that are mentioned in her Con-

feffion ; and that (he (aid flie faw a Man in white,

(as fhe thought) with the Lamb's Book ; and

that the faid Man told her her Name was written

in the Book ; and that me heard a Watch going •,

and that there appeared another in the Likenefs of

a black Man, with a Knife, which he offered un-

to her.

And this Deponent further faith, That at a-

nother time, at the Deponent's Houfe, the

faid Mrs. Pindar did inform the Deponent that

"Dr. Pardage had faid he had power to beftow

the Gifts and Graces of the Spirit on whom he

pleafed.

Note, That this difagreeth from Mrs. Pindar's

Confeflion, under the Head of the 14th Article,

where fhe faith that fhe heard it reported at

Southcot, That ere long the Doctor fhould have

power to beftow faving Graces on whom he

pleafed.

And this Deponent further faith, That ano-

ther time he was at Mr. Blagrave's Houfe, when

the faid Mr. Blagrave was ill, and kept his Cham-

ber ; and Mr. Blagrave and the Deponent fell in-

to Difcourfe concerning Dr. Pordage in piefence

of Mrs. Blagrave; that in the laid Difcourfe

Mr. Blagrave faid to his Wife, That the Doctor

held ftrange Opinions, fuch as were not agreeable

to the Word of God : for he did maintain that

Jefus Chrift was not God ; and that he was a

Type, and but a Type •, Man, and not God ; a

Shadow, and not the Subftance. And Mr. Bla-

grave did labour very much to take off his

Wife's Affections from the Doctor and his Ways

;

but could not prevail. This was about three

quarters of a Year fince, to the Deponent's bell

Remembrance.

In reference to thefe two laft Particulars, touch-

ing Mr. Blagrave and his Wife, confider this

following Depofition and Evidence.

R S. Blagrave) fworn and examined, depo-

feth, that fhe never knew any thing of

the Doctor's Judgment ; neither did he ever

bring the Deponent into any Judgment; and

that fhe had never any Difcourfe with the

Do<5tor, till fhe did firft begin with him : and

that if ever he had confirmed her in any thing,

it was in nothing difagreeable to the Word of

God.

As to that part of the former Depofitions, which

concerns Mr. Blagrave's Relation of what Opini-

ons I held, I had a Summons for his perfonal Ap-
pearance to witnefs the Truth in that Particular:

But he being detained in London by earneft Bufi-

nefs, could not appear according to the Summons,

and therefore wrote this following Letter to. the

Commiffioners, which was exactly copied out by

a Friend of mine, who had the Favour from

Mr. Blagrave to read it.

Gentlemen,

UNderftanding by this Bearer, Mr. Samuel

Pordage, that one John Grip of Reading,

upon his Examination againft Dr. Pordage, did

affirm upon Oath, That having Difcourfe wich

me lately touching the Doctor's Opinions, I

fhould fay that he denied that Chrift was God,

and that he held him to be a Man, and not God •,

a Type, and but a Type ; a Shadow, and not

the Subftance: The Things are highly blafphe-

mous, if true. But this I affure you, if ever any

fuch Language fell from me, (which truly I do

not remember) it was fpoken as relating to that

Charge he lay under at chat time, railed by fome

who leem to know Mens Meanings and Opini-

ons better than I do. In fhort, this I do affirm,

and fhall readily atteft upon Oath, when required.

That the Doctor hath feveral times moft folemn-

ly avowed the contrary ; and to me by Scripture,

under his own Hand, evinced it: For the truth

is, I have with much Boldnefs charged the Do-
ctor with things of that nature, having received

them upon report. But upon Debate he hath

given me fuch clear Satisfaction, both touching

the Divinity of Chrift, and other Matters of

Faith of the higheft Concernment, that I have

flood filent, having nothing to object againft

him. I did therefore apprehend it a Duty in-

cumbent upon me thus to write ; for as I will

never be inftrumental to clear him in what he is

guilty, fo not to condemn him wherein I believe

he is innocent.

Thus, defiring the juft and all-knowing God
to direct you in this great Work, I remain,

Gentlemen,

28 Novemb. 1654. ^ r , » «
w«ftm;nfw ToHr Fnend and Servant,

Dan. Blagrave.

Weftminfter.

I defired that this Letter might have been read

in the open Court : But they denied it, though I

alledged that it was Evidence on my behalf. But
whether this was not more confiderable, and fo

more fit openly to be read, than Mr. Grip's Sto-

ries and Hearfays to be openly received as Evi-

dence, let the Reader judge.

But Mr. Grip further on Oath depofeth, That
at other times he hath often had Conference

with Mr. Blagrave. And at one time, above

the reft, walking over the Fields towards South-

cot, we fell into Difcourfe concerning Dr. Por-

dage; and the faid Mr. Blagrave did then tell

him that the Doctor did go about to perfuade

him to leave off all Employment, and to fell his

Eftate, and retire to his Houfe ; for his Houfe
was the Ark, as Noah's Ark was, to receive all

thofe that muft be faved. This was fome time

the laft Summer. And that Mr. Blagrave did

feem very much to flight and fcorn it, and asked

the Deponent what he thought he fhould have

got by it, had the Doctor prevailed. To which
the Deponent replied, That he thoughE the

Doctor had a grand defign in it : For Mr. Bla-

grave being taken notice of to be one of the

wifeft Men in the County, if the Doctor had
prevailed to draw him away, he might likewjfe

have drawn away moft of the County ; and
then the Doctor would have fet himfeif up like

a Mahomet.

In oppofition to this Story, Mrs. Blagrave, fworn
and examined, depofeth, That fhe had heard a
Muttering that Mr. Grip fhould fay that the Do-
ctor had perfuaded Mr. Blagrave to leave all, and
come and live with him. Whereupon the Depo-
nent asked Mr. Blagrave, about five or fix Weeks
fince, concerning it ; and the faid Mr. Blagrave
anfwered to the Deponent, That he did not re-

member that the Doctor ever faid any fuch thino-.

This
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This Deponent, John Grip, further faith, That
Mr. Daniel Elagrave, the younger told him,

When the Spirit came upon the Doctor, he could

leap over Pales of a great height, about five Foot

and an half high, as the Deponent could conceive

by his Relation ; and that this was told him with-

in five Months laft paft.

This Deponent further faith, That Mr. Charles

Elagrave told him fome time the laft Summer,
that Dr. Pordage fhould fay that Chrift was not

perfect ; and that he quoted that Place of Scrip-

ture, mentioning our Saviour's Paffion, when
he cried out, My Gcd, my God, &c. to prove

the fame.

Art. 28, 29. Concerning Mrs. Mary Pocok'j

Relation to Mrs. Forftcr, of what was atled in my
Houfe; and of Mrs. Fhvd's being in a Trance, and

feeing what was the Pbilofopher's Stone.

The Depofitions of Mrs Mary Pocock, taken

at the Bear in Speenham'and, Novem-
ber 30, before the CommiJJioners, for the

Proof of the two former Articles.

R S. Pocock, fworn and examined, depo-

feth : The Queftion being asked, Whether

the Deponent did not tell Mrs. Forfler and Mrs.

Evelyn, That the Doctor had contended with the

dark Power in his Shirt two or three Hours ? fhe

anfwereth, It is fo long fince that fhe cannot re-

member any thing pofuive fhe then faid : But fhe

faith there was fome great Power then amongft

the Doctor's Family.

And being asked, Whether fhe did not fay

to the aforefaid Parties, that when the Doctor

contended with the dark Power, there was fuch

an Expoftulation between them, as, Thou lyeft

;

and thou lyefi, &c. fhe anfwereth, She cannot

tell.

And being further asked, Whether upon this

Conqueft of the dark Power by the Doctor,

fhe did not tell the aforefaid Parties fhe fhould

think the Doctor to be a bright Man? To
this Queftion fhe anfwereth, If fhe did not

lay fo, fhe hopes fhe fhall, when he hath the

Victory.

And being asked, Whether fhe did not tell

the aforefaid Parties, the Doctor's Family were

ftrangely acted, fome in their Legs, Thighs,

and Arms? To this fhe anfwereth, She cannot

tell.

And being further asked, Whether fhe did not

tell the faid Parties, that Mrs. Flavel did fee in

a Trance the Philofopher's Stone ? fhe faith, She

cannot tell.

And being further asked, Whether the Philo-

fopher's Stone, feen by Mrs. Flavel in a Trance,

were not the Divinity in the Humanity ? fhe an-

fwereth, She knows no fuch Thing.

Art. 30. This eonftfls of feven Particulars, being

the. firfi that relates to Scandal in my Converfation.

Depof. Roger Laughton of Hejlon in the County
of Middlefex, Lockfmith, fworn and examined,
depofeth

;

That about nine Years, fince, or upwards, Dr.
Pordage brought to the Deponent's Houfe Mrs.
Flavel behind him, under the Name of Mrs. Fru-
in ; and that both the Doctor and the faid Mrs.
Flavel did ask for Entertainment for her; and

3 J
that they did ask what they fhould give for her
Board, and her Son Stephen's : and that they did
bargain for Eight Shillings a Week, and then he
carried her away; and fhe came not till after

Chrifimas. But he faith, how fhe then came,
whether in a Cart, with her Trunk and Clothes,
or otherwifc, he knoweth not ; but the Doctor
did not then come with her. And after fhe had
been there a while, the Deponent's Wife con-
ceived fhe was with Child; which fhe denied,

faying it was a Tympany. And that fhe remained
there till betwixt Eajler and Whitfuntide, where
and when flic was brought to bed of a Daugh-
ter; and flie did not defire any Store of Com-
pany to come to her Labour, though the Depo-
nent's Wife did defire it. And after fhe had
been a fhort time delivered, the Doctor came and
baptized the Child in the Deponent's Chamber,
and named it Hannah. And after that the Doctor
called the Deponent afide into his Orchard, and
prayed him to find out a private Place, two or

three Miles from the Deponent's Houfe, where
the faid Mrs. Flavel might come now and then
to fee her Child. The Deponent faid it would
be inconvenient, becaufe it was a Time of Sol-

diers, and the Corn was high ; and thereupon

the Deponent did not look out as he defired.

And he further faith, When the Nurfe did bring

the Child oft-times to fee the faid Mrs. Flavel,

flie would not permit her Son Stephen to call her

Sifter, faying, Stephen, it is Nurfe's Child. Af-
terwards the faid Mrs. Flavel departed from the

Deponent's Floufe to Kenfington^ where flie re-

mained about a Month. And that the Deponent
having occafion to go to London called at Hen-

fington by the way, to fpeak with her ; but fhe

was gone: Whereupon the Deponent faid htr

Child wis not well. Then two Gentlewomen'

of the Floufe told the Deponent, that fhe denied

unto them that fhe had any other Child but her

Son Stephen. And the Deponent further faith,

That the Doctor came to the Deponent's Houfe
three or four times, in Term-time only: And
that both the Doctor and the faid Mrs. Flavel did

inform the Deponent that fhe was married to one

Mr. Fruin, a Minifter; but was now a Widow,
as both of them faid when they came to the

Deponent's Houfe.

For the clearing of Truth, in reference to this

Depofition, I fhall here annex the Confeffion of

the fame Perfon, as fubferibed by him, and own-

ed before two fufficient VVitneffes; which is as

follows.

THAT about nine Years ago Dr. Pordage

brought a Gentlewoman, by Name Mrs.

Fruin, behind him from London, as he faid, to one

Roger Laugbton's Houfe, a Smith in Hejlon Parifh

;

That the faid Mrs. Fruin agreed with him herielf

for her Boarding.

That fhe told his Wife, at her firft coming,

fhe knew not certainly whether fhe were with Child,

or not ; but thought flie was.

That her firft Husband's Name was Mr. Flavel;

and that fhe had had a fecond Husband, by Name
Mr. Fruin, who alfo was then dead.

That the Caufe of her private living there, was

in that her Brother- in-Law threaten'd he would

have her Body, if it were above Ground, fhe

being then in Law with him.

That
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That at the lame time the Doctor owned that

he dwelt at Reading; and that he was Minifter

of St. Lawrence Church; and that he knew the

Gentlewoman to be feber and godly.

That fhe told him, for his Security, he might
enquire at the Bulwark by the Tower of London \

where he might know that (he had there an Eftate

in Houfes.

That after fhe had been in the faid Roger Laugh-

ton's Houfe about four Months, fhe was brought

to-bed of a Girl, which was chriftned by the

faid Ductor, and named Hannah. That the Time
of her Continuance with him was about three

quarters of a Year ; in which Time the faid

Doctor vifited her fome three times, or four at

the moft, and that in Term-time, when he went

to London.

That by Enquiry he came to know fhe was in

great Troubles at Law.
That the faid Doctor never agreed with

him, nor paid him for her Board, nor removed
her, fo far as he knows, to Kenfington from his

Houfe.

R. L.

This was delivered into the Court after Laugh-
ton had finifhed his Depofition : But they would

not futfer it to be enrolled among the Depofi-

tions, it in fome Particulars croffing Laughton's

prefent Teftimony, and in others, tending to

clear the Truth, in reference to the Occafion of

Mrs. Flavefs being there. But the Accufer ask-

ing him whether he would not (land to his pre-

fent Depofition? he faid, Yea. Whereupon the

Clerk returning me the Paper again, wrote this

at the bottom of it, Mr. Laughton acknowledgeth

the two Letters R. L. to be his Writing ; but will

flick to what he hath now depofed.

* There was not a Word altered after he had
* fubferibed the Paper, as two Witnefies then
' prefent could atteft by Oath. Now the Parti-

* culars in which he croffcth himfelf, cannot be
' all true. And if a Man will folemnly own and
' fubferibe an Untruth, he may after fwear an
c Untruth: But the Confeflion he wrote laft is

* much to be regarded, being he owned and fub-

' fcribed it before the other, being then in a

* calm, fober Pofture ; but the other he depofed
* after my Adverfaries had been a whole Day tam-
* pering with him at the Bear in Reading, and
* poffefling him with Prejudice againft me

;

' which he openly fhewed in the Court by bit-

' ter Expreffions, and by thofe Circumftances in

* the former Depofition, which tend to blaft

* the Gentlewoman's good Name and Rcpu-
* tation.

' But for further Satisfaction, i. I refer you
* to my Anfwer •, in which I have largely fhew-
' ed the Reafons of her private Retirement,
' there, which may in Juflice clear me from that
6 undeferved Afperfion my Enemies have call up-
' on me.

4
2. Confider that this, as to me, is no legal

' Proof of any Crime, but a mere circumftantial

* Thing, brought to raife Sufpicions and Preju-

* dices againft me, being but of the nature of a
1 Libel, and fo unfit to have been received into

« a judicial Court: for whofe Name and Repu-
« tation may not be blafted, if fuch libellous ille-

* gal Things, fo long paft, mould be received

* into Courts of Judicature as Accuiations to con-
c demn them ?

' Tho' that Crime, which my Accufer would

render me fufpected for by this circumftantial

Depofition, had been ever fo clearly proved,

yet the Date of it (being nine or ten Years

fince,) had put it quite out of the Cognizance

of the Commiflioners, not only by the Act of

general Pardon, but alfo by another Law,
made particularly by the Parliament in refe-

rence to things of this nature, which takes

away all legal Guilt from any Perfons that are

not accufed within a Year after the Commif-
fion of any fuch Crime ; befides, the Act to

which the Commiflioners are confined, as their

Rule to judge of Scandal, was made many
Years fince. Therefore, I fay, they neither

had nor have Power to take a Bufinefs fo long

paft, tho' otherwife ever fo criminal, into their

Cognizance.
* But notwithstanding thefe Things, the Com-
miflioners fent a Summons for Mrs. Flavel, tho'

they had no pofitive Charge againft her ; and
after her Appearance, would have forced an

Oath upon her, and examined her to Queftions

concerning herfelf. But fhe, as in Juftice fhe

might, refufed to anfwer them, alledging,

That if any one durft lay any pofitive Crime
to her Charge, fhe would anfwer by the Mouth
of her Lawyer. Whereupon the Commiflio-

ners threaten'd to fend her immediately to Pri-

fon, tho' they durft pofitively accufe her of no-

thing.'

Art. 33. That he is a very ignorant and ineffi-

cient Man for the Work of the Miniflry.

George Haftlet, of Bradfield, Weaver, fworn

and examined, depofeth, That he heard Dr. Por-

dage in a Sermon, in the Church of Bradfeld, a-

bout two Years fince deliver, That it was a vain

Thing to truft in the Blood of him that died at

Jerufalem 1 600 Years fince, or more, unlefs it

were acted in me, or in thee ; for that was but

in the Type, the Subftance muft be fulfilled in

us: And that Chrift muft be crucified in us, we
muft have the Jews and Pilate to put him to

death in us ; otherwife it was a vain Thing to

believe in him that died at Jerufalem 1600 Years

fince without us.

1 Note, As I own and embrace the Hiftorical

Birth, Life, Death, and Refurrection of Chrift

without us, with the blefTed Effects of them,

clearly held forth in the Gofpel ; fo do I alfo

believe the Myftical Birth, Death, and Refur-

rection of Chrift in us, according to the

Scriptures, Matt. xii. 50. Gal. iii. 1. Ephef.

ii. 5.
4 And to fay that both thefe are neceftary to

be known, at leaft experimentally enjoyed by
al 1 that will be faved ; and that it is vain to de-

pend upon the firft, without fome Senfe and

Feeling of the laft, as it is to depend upon a

notional Juftification, without a real Sanctifica-

tion: I fay, to aver this, is not againft, nay,

altogether according to the Holy Scriptures

;

For we know that Chrift Jefus is in us, except we
be Reprobates : And if we have not his Spirit,

we are none of his.'

This Deponent further faith, That the faid

Doctor, about a Month fince, in Bradfeld Church,

did deliver, That doublcfs the Apoftles by that

Text (Know you not that your Bodies are the Tem-

ple of the Holy Ghojl ? ) did not mean thefe earth-

ly Bodies.

' Note
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4 Note, I never denied our elemental Bodies to

* be the mediate Temples of the Holy Ghoft,

4 but the immediate : For the immediate Temple
* of the Spirit is the Image of God in us, which
4

is renewed in Righteoufnefs and true Holinefs,

* and may truly be called the Body of Righte-

4 oufnefs and Life in oppofition to that Body of

* Sin and Death, Rom. vii. 24. which hath many
4 Members, Colojf. iii. 5. being the evil corrupt

« Inclinations and Habits of the Old Man. This
c inward Body, which is the immediate Temple
* of the Spirit, is called, Rev. xvi. 15. our Gar-

* ments, which we are exhorted there to keep,

4
left we walk naked •, and the Armour of Light,

4 Rom. xiii. 12. which we are there commanded
4 to put on, in oppofition to the Works of

* Darknefs, which we are to caft oft. This may
4 alfo be called our pure Flefh, in oppofition

* to that finfu! Flefh fpoken of, Rom. vii. 18.

* And as in the laft there dwells no good Thing,
4 fo in the firft nothing but Good, being it is

4 the immediate Tabernacle of the Holy Ghoft,

* Joel ii. 2I. i" will pour out my Spirit upon all

4 Flejh:

And this Deponent further faith, The Doctor

did deliver, That by that Text {Gen. xviii. 19. /

know him, that he will command his Children and

his Houfhold after him, &cj was not meant the

outward Houfhold of Abraham, but his inward

Houfhold, his Will and Affections, which he was

Lord Paramount over ; and he quoted that Text

in the laft of Jojhua, {As for me and my Houfe,

we will ferve the Lord) which he likewife faid was

the inward Houfe, and not the outward. This

was about two Years fince, as far as this Depo-

nent can remember. And the Deponent faith, He
judged the fame contrary to the Mind of the Holy

Ghoft.
* Note, Had the Commiflioners allowed me fo

* much Time as to have brought in what Evi-
* dence I could againft this Man's Depofition, I

* ftiould have proved, that in the Tenor of my
* Miniftry I never denied or rejected theHiftorical

* or Literal Senfe of the Scriptures, for which
* there can be no juft Ground ; but that I have
* ufually joined the literal and allegorical Inter-

* pretation together, even as Paul doth, Gal. iv.

* 24, 25, 26. which fweetly united, cannot but

* make an amiable Harmony. And the Deponent
* miftakes, in faying I excluded theHiftory ; for

* I had before opened it in the plain hiftorical

* Senfe, and afterwards came to open it myfti-

* cally, in making a fpiritually moral Ufe of thofe

* Scriptures, in applying them to the Work of
* God upon the inward Man.

' Let the Reader further know, That the Com-
* mifiioners could not in Juftice take this as Evi-
4 dence againft me, becaufe it was all brought
* jhe very Day of my Sentence, I having no
4 Time allowed me to make my Defence by the

* Teftimonies of fome others that conftantly hear
4 me, who might have certified this Deponent's
4 Miftakes, in mifreprefenting both my Words
4 and Meaning, by fhewing I excluded not the
4 literal Meaning of the Texts produced. 2. In
4 regard I objected againft him as a Drunkard,
4 and fo an infufficient Witnefs. 3. In that

4 there was no concurrent Teftimony. 4. In
4 that he wrote not this down, and fo could
4 not exactly deliver fo much Word for Word,
4 as I fpake it, efpecially fo long after fome
4 part of it was delivered, and fo^by a little

* Miftake might prevaricate my Senfe and Meahi
4

ing.*

This Deponent further faith. That Goodwife
Knap told him about a Month fince, that fhe be^
ing at the Doctor's Houfe, Mrs. Flavel was very
angry with her, and threatned to have her whiptj
for faying the Child Hannah was Mrs. Flaveh
Child

; and that fhe then denied fhe had any other
Child except Stephen her Son. And that when
the faid Goodwife Knap denied fhe had faid any
fuch thing, and began to be outrageous, both
old and young Mrs. Pordage defired her to be pa-
cified, faying, Happily it might be another Wo-
man might (peak fo.

4 Note, The Woman here mentioned hath tin-
4 der her Hand, before Witnefs, denied what the
4 Deponent here relates of her ; fo that either the
i Deponent is perjured, or this Woman afhamed
* to ftand to fo grofs an Untruth, as the Deponent
* pretends fhe related to him. But the Sentence
* being given the Day in which this Depofition
' was taken, I had not time to bring thisWoman
' face to face to the Deponent, fo to fee where
4
the Guilt of Perjury, or a lying Slander lay.

4 Tho' as to the Strength of thisTeftimony, there
4 was no fuch thing neccflfary, it being a mere
« Hear-fay.

5

Art. 34. The Teftimony of Richard Sawood,
who was neither [worn nor examined in publick

Court.

I came intoifrtfJ/MiParfonagein the Evenings
Septetn. 9, 1650, and there I heard a very mourn-
ful Cry, as if it had been one in extreme Pains ;

but who it was, I knew not, for it continued all

the time I was at the Door, which was well near

a quarter of an Hour ; and fo it continued when
I went away. And then on the tenth Day in

the Morning I came to Mr. Francis Pordage^ at

the Parfonage of Stanford-Dingley, and he en-

quired of me, what I did think of the Noife

that I heard ? I told him, I could not tell. Then
he related to me, that the Lord was about a great

Work in this Kingdom, and to this Nation.

And the Caufe of this Cry was one in Travail,

and the Pain3 were fo extreme, that had I ftaid

there but a little longer, I might have heard

it as far as the Town ; but now fhe was deli-

vered of a Man-Child, and the Travail was at

an end, and that he and others were WitneiTes

of it.

Mr. Pordage, Minifter of Stanford -"Dinghy^

fworn and examined to the former Depofition

of Richard Sawoed.

This Deponent being asked, Who it was that

was in Travail of the Child in the faid Depofition

mentioned, and what became of it ? To this

Queftion he anfwereth, That it was one Mrs^

Flavel. And he further faith, That above four

Years fince, Mrs. Flavel was very earneft in

Prayer, on a Day when they were Faffing;

which was at the time when one Sawood came to

the Door : the faid Sawood knocking, the De-

ponent went to the Door to him. And he faiths

he doth acknowledge that Richard Sawood did

come to him (about the time mentioned in the

Examination of the faid Sawood) to the Parfo-

nage of Stanford ; and he faith, it is probable

he did ask the faid Sawood, what he did think

of the Noife he heard in the Doctor's Houfe
the
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the Day before ? And that when the faid Sawood

anfvvered to this foregoing Queftion, He could

not tell, it is very probable the Deponent did

relate to him, that the Lord was doing a great

Work in this Kingdom,, and to this Nation •,

and doth confefs, that unadvifedly he told the

faid Sawood, that the Caufe of the forefaid Cry
was one in Travail •, but doth not remember he

fpake any fuch thing, as that the Pains were fo

extreme, as that, had he ftaid longer, he might

have heard it as far as the Town : but doth con-

fefs, that he faid fhe was in Travail of a Man-
Child, and that he and many others were Eye-
witneffes of ie.

And being asked who it was that was in Tra-

vail ? he anfwered, Mrs. Flavel. And being fur-

ther asked, what became of this Man-Child ? he

anfwereth, It was the Birth, Death, and Refur-

rection of Chrift, in her Nature. And being

asked, How the Birth, Death, and Refurrection

of Chrift, in the Nature of Mrs. Flavel, was fo

great a Work, that God was doing to this Na-
tion ? he anfwereth, He never faid any fuch

thing. And being further asked, Whether himfelf

(being demanded what this Man-Child was) did

not anfwer, The Child of Reformation ? to this

he anfwereth negatively.

He further faith,. That this Travail of a Man-
Child was not any natural Birth of a Child out

of the Womb ; but the Cry that was then made
was nothing elfe but the Groanings and Intercef-

fions of the Spirit in her Prayer.

' Note, This laft Part is the real Truth of the
e Bufinefs, which I could have proved by many
' WitneiTes more, who were prefent in my Houfe
* at the time, and whom I had ready before the
1 Court, to atteft upon Oath, that there was no
* natural Travail, nor any natural Birth, nor any
' fuch Child born ; but only the Gentlewoman
« was then very earned in Prayer. But this was
' thought fuperfluous, being that the Deponent
' Mr. Pordage, from the Miltake of whofe Dif-
* courfe this came to be made an Article againft

* me, cleared the Bufinefs himfelf by Oath. But
4 how my Name hath fuffered from this

' groundlefs Bufinefs, is known very well, both
* to my Friends and Enemies ; fome of which,
4 as the Accufer Mr. Fowler for one, in open
* Court, fcoffed at me, threatning to prove great

* things againft me from this Depofition of Sa-
4 wood's.

To the 35th and 37th Articles

;

Mr. John Tickle of Abingdon, fworn again, and
further examined, depofeth, That a Summons be-

ing iflued for the Appearance of Sufanna Day,

the Meffenger went for her, and met with her on
Tuefday Night laft, being the fifth Inftant, at

the Deponent's Houfe, and that (he was willing

to come, and could not in regard of her Diftem-

per at prefent : but the faid Sufanna having re-

ported to feveral People in Abingdon, and parti-

cularly to the Deponent's Wife, that fhe was at

Dr. Pordage'a Houfe, and that the People there

told her her Eyes were opened, and fhe faid

fhe faw at that time the New Jerufalem to

come down from Heaven all of precious Stones,

and fo on, according as in the Article.

The faid Sufanna told the Deponent on the

faid Tuefday Night, That the laft time fhe was

at the Doctor's Houfe, fhe faw the New Jerufa*

Jem to come down from Heaven, a City four-

fquare, with Borders and precious Stones. And
being asked, whether it was not her Fancy only i

fhe anfwered, me faw it really.

The Deponent faith, That he asked the faid

Sufanna, whether fhe faw any Angels in the Doc-
tor's Houfe? To which fhe anfwered, No. But
fhe faid the Doctor's Daughter did fee two An-
gels holding a golden Crown over her Head.

Thus have I finifhed this laft Charge of Arti-
cles, being in number 37. Of thefe, 21 were
paffed by without any Depofitions brought to>

prove them •, and of thofe Articles to which fome-
what was faid to prove them, moft part was at-
tefted but by Hear-fays and Reports from others

;

as the Depofitions of Mr. Fowler the Accufer, of
Mr. Woodbridge, Mr. Tickle, and John Grip,
clearly fhew ; which cannot be accounted fo much
as concurrent Teftimonies, being they are not
any way Teftimonies in Law. The reft were
attefted but by a fingle Witnefs, (except thofe
of Vifions and Apparitions, which I acknow-
ledged myfelf, and which are no way criminous,
nor under the cognizance of thofe Comrniffion-
ers) viz. Mrs. Grip, who in her Teftimony is

not wholly pofuive, tho' fhe did fwear very de-
fperately to two or three of the Articles -, the
Particulars of which are no way included in the
Aft of fcandalous Opinions, as to their Nature
or Time : for as to the laft, I was fo far from
being accufed within fix Months after the pre-
tended fpeaking thofe words, as it was four Years
before they were alledged againft me. Befides,

this Woman fpeaking an Untruth upon Oath,
was really perjured, and had been fo proved, had
I had juft dealings from the Commiffioners

;

whence in equity her Teftimony is to be ac-

counted invalid, as in Law it might have been,
had my Witneffes been but examined, who were
ready to prove it.

Now as to that Article of Ignorance and Inef-
ficiency, I have before fhewed, That the Depofi-
tions of George Haftlet, brought to prove it, can-
not in Juftice and Equity weigh any thing to con-
demn me, for the Reafons before exprefled.

And now let the Reader confider, whether
Mr. Fowler was not very rafh, to proclaim in the

open Court at Newbury% That if he did not prove
the greateft part of thefe Articles, he would be
accounted a Slanderer. Which Title, whether he
deferves or not, I leave to the Judgment of the

judicious Reader.

But to proceed ; The Depofitions on both fides-

being ended, I prefented into the hands of Mr..

Dunch the Chairman, this following Proteftation,.

to be read publickly before the Court and the

People ; but they privately confulting of it,

would not fuffer it openly to be read, but fup-

prefied it, as before they did Mr. Blagrave's.

Letter.

My Proteftation was this :

I John Pordage do folemnly avow and, protefi,

before the all-feeing Eye of Almighty God, That Ida
maintain, hold, and embrace thefe following Prin-
ciples of Divine Truth, as my real and avowed
Judgment.

1. That there is a Trinity of Perfons in the
Unity of the Divine EfTence, viz. The Father,
Son, and Holy Ghoft, diftinct from each other.

2. That
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2. That Chrift is God, coeternal, coeffential, '

and coequal with the Father, and therefore Je-

hovah.

2. That Chrift is a perfect Saviour and Re-

deemer of his Church, and fo more than a Type.

4. That Chrift's Righteoufnefs is a mod holy,

pure, fpotlefs, compleat, and perfect Righteouf-

nefs for the Satisfaction of loft Sinners.

5. That the Blood of Chrift is not only re-

deeming and ranfoming, in reference to Hell and

Damnation, but alfo purchafing in reference to

Salvation, as having purchafed an open Gate and

Way to Glorification and Life eternal for purifi-

ed Saints.

6. That all Arts of Necromancy, and black

Magick, all Compacts with evil Spirits, whether

explicit or implicit, direct or indirect, are unlaw-

ful, beino- againft the Holy Scriptures, and never

looked into or practifed by me j but, on the con-

trary, abominated, even as they are to be deteft-

ed and abhorred, not only by all Chriftians, but by

all Mankind.

7. That Polygamy, and all fuch Practices that

tend to the indulging of the Flefh, are contrary

to the Mind of God, and not to be owned by

Chriftians.

I do moreover difown and reject thefe fubfe-

quent Pofitions, which are contrary to the for-

mer Principles.

1

.

As to maintain that there is no fuch thing as

Perfons in the Holy Trinity.

2. That Chrift is not God* that Chrift is not

Jehovah.

3. That Chrift was not perfect, and that he is

no more than a Type.

4. That Chrift's Righteoufnefs is a poor, vain,

empty, and faplefs Righteoufnefs.

5. That the Blood of Chrift is not meriting

and redeeming Blood, or that it is a poor thing

to live upon the Blood of Chrift.

6. That it is lawful to have Communion with

evil Spirits, or any Compact with them, explicit

or implicit.

7. That it is lawful for a Man to keep compa-

ny with more Women than one.

Now this moft folemn Proteftation I make in all

Humility and Reverence before the Divine Majefty,

the Omniprefent God, the Searcher of all Hearts,

and from a true Intention, without any Veil or

Covering, as I fhall anfwer it at the great Day,

when the Secrets of all Hearts fhall be revealed.

And now if you my Judges have not fo much as

a Grain of Faith, to believe this my cordial and

folemn Proteftation ; let God, Angels, Saints,

and all here prefent, bear witnefs that I have left

every one of you inexcufable.

And now having performed what I could, and

what 1 thought myfelf obliged to do in reference

to the Vindication of that pure Truth I own and

live to ; I am as ready to receive any Sentence

from you, whether of Acquitment or Ejectment,

as you are to deliver it.

* Now altho' the Commiflioners would take no
* notice of this folemn declaring ofmy Judgment,
* yet it is of great moment, as you may fee by
' that Paffage in the Ordinance, by which the

* Commiflioners are to act, pag. 613. where it

* runs thus ; Such Minifters Jhall be deemed and
* accounted Scandalous in their Lives and Converfa-

Vol. II.

1
tions, as Jhall be proved guilty of holding and

' maintaining fuch blafphemous and atheiftical Opi~
' nions, &c. In which you fee the time prefent is

' only refpected : What then have the Commif-
* fioners to do to judge any for things many Years
* paft, tho' then guilty, as I never was, if now
' they difown them, and own the contrary as their
* Judgment ?

'

But to proceed in relating the Tranfactions of
the laft Day of Trial : After the Particulars be-

fore recited, Mr. Dunch the Chairman faid to me,
If Mr. Starkey

.f
being of Counfel for me) had any

thing to prefent on my behalf, he might have li-

berty to fpeak. Whereupon Mr. Starkey, being

defired by me, recited all the Evidence, with
much Acutenefs, Method, and Judgment •, fhew-
ing, That if they fquared their Proceedings by
the Rules of Law they were to act by, they could

have no ground to give Sentence againft me

:

which he demonftrated fo clearly, by enumerating

both the Teftimonies on both fides, and alfo the

particular Laws and Privileges, which freed me
from the Imputation of any legal Guilt, that ma-
ny, tho' prejudiced Perfons, were much ftaggered,

doubting of the Iffue in reference to Sentence.

But after this Speech, we were all commanded to

withdraw ; and about an hour and a half after,

we were called in again, and the Regifter was
commanded to proceed to Publication. Where-
upon all the Depofitions on both fides were

read : which being done, Mr. Ford was ordered

by the Commiflioners to make a Speech in jufti-

fication of their intended Sentence againft me ;

which Office he performed as wretchedly, as he

undertook it willingly, mifreprefenting the Evi-

dence with confufed Paraphrafes and Miftakes,

labouring to refute the Law of my Counfel's

Speech, with fuch Affertions as thefe, viz. That
although many of the Proofs brought againft

the Doctor, were not Proofs according to Law ;

yet to the Commiflioners, who are a Court of

Equity, and of an Ecclefiaftical Jurifdiction, and

fo not obliged to judge according to pofitiveLaws

and Statutes, they were, and might be efteemed

fufficient Proofs.
1 Many fuch Speeches as thefe he ufed, con-

' trary to the Liberty of the Subject, the Rule
' of Reafon and Scripture, endeavouring to per-

* fuade the People, I was as monftrous as he and
' fome others had reprefented me in their Pulpits

* and Difcourfes •, but I fhall fay no more of him
' and his Speech, leaving them both to the righ-

* teous Judge of all things, who one day will ju-

* ftify, whom he and others of his way have con-

' demned.'

After this Speech of Mr. Ford's was ended, I

defired liberty of Mr. Dunch, the Chairman, to

fpeak fomething to the People, in reply to fome

things Mr. Ford had untruly faid againft me : but

it would not be permitted.

Then I defired them to receive in this my laft

Requeft, and to weigh it ferioufly, before they

proceeded to Sentence ; which tho' it was return-

ed into my hand again before it was read, I fhall

here prefent, for the Satisfaction of the judicious

Reader.

Gentlemen,

E F O R E you proceed to Judgment and pafs

Sentence, 1 defire you ferioufly to confider

thefe fubfequent Particulars.

L i 1. That
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i. That I was according to Law acquitted of

that Charge attefted by Mr. Tickle, whence I pro-

duced my Difcharge before you, which according

to the Judgment ofjudicious Lawyers is undoubt-

edly legal, and will hold good, notwithstanding

all Pretentions to the contrary.

2. That the Matters of the fame Charge are ac-

knowledged by the Witnefs to have been fpoken

a Year before that Act was made, intitled, An
Atl againft feveral Blafphemous Atheiftical Opi-

nions ; to which the Commiflion refers, as the

Rule to judge of fcandalous Opinions, which

make a diftinct Head from Matters of Ignorance

and Infufficiency, according to the Tenourofthe

Commiflion.

3. That the fame Act cannot take into cogni-

zance any Crime for which the Offender was not

accufed within fix Months after the committing of

it ; therefore nothing in either the firft or laft

Charge that hath been any way proved, can be

judged as an Offence againft that Act.

4. In reference to my third or laft Charge,

there hath been nothing directly proved againft

me ; but fome Words and Expreflions dropt from

me in a private Difcourfe to one fingle Witnefs

:

which Expreflions, as you fee, are capable of a

harmlefs Interpretation, being never owned in that

fenfe the Witnefs took them, as my avow'd Judg-
ment, but folemnly difowned, as contrary to it,

and therefore incapable legally to prejudice me ;

for the former Act doth not make one an Offen-

der for a Word, but for avowedly maintaining

or holding forth in Words or Writing, any thing

there prohibited.

5. That in reference to thofe Words in both

my Charges, which have been any way proved to

have fallen from me, I never owned them as my
Judgment, in that fenfe my Accufer takes them ;

but have openly denied and difowned them :

which therefore cannot render me guilty, either by
the Law of that former Act, or by the Law of

Scripture, which denounceth Judgment againft

thofe who make a Man an Offender for a Word,
Ifa. xxix. 20, zi. which deferves your Considera-

tion.

6. That the particular Articles both of my firft

and laft Charge, that feem to be of worft confe-

quence, cannot juftly be brought within the cog-

nizance of that Act, according to the literal and

genuine Scope of it ; being chiefly made againft

the Principles and Practices of thofe called Ran-
ters.

7. That nothing of Scandal in Life and Con-
verfation being proved againft me, my free own-
ing and confefling the Appearance of evil Spirits

for fome time in my Family, permitted by God,
oppofed and overcome by the Chriftian Weapons
of Prayer and Fading, ought not in Equity to

prejudice any againft me, fo as to fway them in

their Sentence or Judgment ; I having cordially,

folemnly, and fincerely protefted my Innocency,

as to any Communion or Compact with evil Spi-

rits : and that you would confider that things of
this nature, tho' criminous, are not under the cog-

nizance of the Act, but to be tried by the Com-
mon Law, according to the ufual Cuftom of this

Nation.

8. That the Act of general Pardon doth clearly

take away all legal Guilt from things done or fpo-

ken before 1651, that are not excepted in the faid

Pardon. Now the Particulars of my firft Charge,

and all thofe of my third or laft., which feem to

be of moment, and to be any way proved, were

fpoken or done before the Year 1 65 1 . Now this

being the pofuive Judgment of able Lawyers,

who have feen it experienced in things of more
dangerous confequence, may give you the Com-
miflioners sufficient ground of ferious Reflections

upon it.

9. That (according to the Judgment of wife,

judicious, and knowing Men, your Commiflion
having been long fince, and being now again un-
der Confideration and Debate, whether to be con-

firmed or altered) you the Commiflloners in the

interim have notcompleat Power to act, efpecially

in reference to Sentence, Judgment, and Execu-
tion : which I believe is the reafon why fo few
of the Commiflloners have fat, and why others

that were at firft fo earneft in their Proceedings,

have fince withdrawn themfelves.

10. That in reference to Judgment and Sentence

concerning me, Scandal ought to be preferved as

an abfolute diftinct Head from Ignorance and In-

fufficiency, according to the Letter of your Com-
miflion, and the undoubted Judgment and Intent

of the Authors.

11. That the Teftimony of any one, tho' by
Oath, concerning what another related to him
touching a third Perfon, (i. e. the Defendant) is

no Proof at all according to Law, being not fo

much as concurrent Teftimony, if the Defendant
deny it, and do not own it himfelf : Moreover, that

the Teftimony Mr. Fowler gave, is not legally va-

lid ; becaufe, befides the former Reafon, he is the

Accufer, and incapable to be Witnefs, according

to Law.
12. That in the Day of Sentence, Mr. Duncb

and Mr. Trapham cannot by Law fit as Judges, be-

caufe they condemned me long before Proof j

threatning me before Witnefs, to turn me out

of my Living, at the fitting of this Parliament

;

and the laft was a Witnefs againft me. That
Mr. Fowler, Mr. IVoodbridge, and Mr. Tickle,

cannot by Law fit as Afllftants to the Judges, or

give their Votes in the Day of Sentence •, the

one being my Accufer, the other two Witnefles

againft me.

After I had delivered this to be read, and had
received it again, we all withdrew; and about

two Hours after were called in again : when the

Room being full of People, one Mr. Lee a Mini-

fter, the graved Man amongft them, began a

very formal Speech to me, in which he very

rhetorically exprefied what a grief and trouble

it was to them to pafs Sentence againft me, and

that he durft not judge that I then was guilty of

holding thofe monftrous Tenets I was accufed of;

yet they muft proceed fecundum Allegata fc? Pro-

bata. Afterward he proceeded to give me many
Exhortations and fecret Reproofs, in which he,

with much Artifice, made me guilty of all I was

accufed of. Whereupon, after I had heard him
for a pretty fpace, being very fenfible of his dif-

guifed prejudicing Difcourfe, and his Defign in it,

I was forced to flop him, by replying, That
if he had any brotherly Exhortations to give me,

he might come in private with me : but thus

to pretend to admonifh and exhort me, yet re-

ally to reprefent me as guilty of all I was ac-

cufed of, and that before the People, was the

Cuftom of the Scribes and Pharifees, who were

wont to hide foul Defigns under fair Colours,

witnefs their Dealings with Chrift, Whence I

defired
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dented him to fpare his Admonitions, and to

leave off twilling fuch filken Halters, faying, I

was prepared for Sentence, and that I defired

him and the reft to take heed of condemning

and betraying the Innocent. Upon this, the

JMan being ftruck fomewhat filent, Mr. Duncb
the Chairman commanded the Regifter to do his

Office ; who prefently read the Sentence of my
Ejectment in the open Court, which was then

very brief, tho' afterwards enlarged with many
circumftantial Aggravations, and great Untruths ;

as this following Copy fent to me from the

Clerk, on the next day after my Sentence, clear-

ly fhews.

Berks IT. By the Commiffioners appointed

by Order of his Highnefs the

Lord ProteSlor and his Coun-

cil, for ejecting of Scandalous

Ignorant, and Insufficient Mi-
nijlers and School- Maflers.

Reading, Dec. 8. 1654.

H E R E A S feveral Charges have been

exhibited to us againft Dr. John Pordage,

Rector of Bradfield in this County, who hath

given in feveral Anfwers in writing thereunto ;

and thereupon we have proceeded to Examina-

tion of feveral credible WitnefTes upon Oath, for

proof of the faid Charges in open Court ; which

WitnefTes the faid Doctor hath been permitted

fully and freely to crofs-examine : And the faid

Doctor hath been required to produce his Wit-
nefTes for his Juftification, and to bring in his

Interrogatories, upon which he would examine

his faid WitnefTes, and hath had day after day

affigned him for that purpofe ; but notwithftand-

ing hath peremptorily refufed fo to do, perfifting

in his own way, and refufing to obferve our

Direction in his proceeding ; and hath publickly,

by his evil and contumacious Expreffions, flighted

and affronted the faid Comnuffioners, and in-

ftead of producing his Interrogatories in writings

according to our Order, he hath now verbally

offer'd leveral Queftions, which he defires to

have propounded to feveral of his faid WitnefTes,

which the Commiffioners (upon confideration of)

have judged impertinent to clear him from the

Matters charged againft him, but merely to de-
lay and weary out the faid' Commiffioners ; and
therefore they have examined only to two of the
faid Queftions, which they conceived might fome-
what tend to his Juftification: And upon full

hearing what the faid Doctor could fay, and
Mr. Starkey, of Counfel in his behalf, upon the

whole matters ; and upon due Confideration, it

appeareth that the faid Doctor is guilty of deny-
ing the Deity of Chrift, and the Merit of his

precious Blood and Paffion ; and hath afferted

and maintained, That Chrift was a Type, and
but a Type, and not perfect, and that his impu-
tative Righteoufnefs was faplefs, and feveral other

hellifh Opinions ; and is otherwife fcandalous, as

by the faid Depofitions may more fully appear.

And it is likcwife declared, under the Hands of
fix of the faid Commiffioners, and feveral Mini-
fters their Affiftants, That upon the Matters pro-

ved againft him, the faid Dr. Pordage is ignorant,

and very inefficient for the Work of the Mini-
ftry. It is therefore ordered, That the faid Dr.
Pordage be, and he is hereby ejected out of the

Rectory of Bradfield aforefaid, and Profits there-

of: But the faid Commiffioners do grant him
time to remove himfelf, Family, and Goods and
Chattels out of the faid Parfonage-Houfe, till

the fecond of February next ; and further time
to remove his Corn out of the Parfonage-Barns,

till the 15th of March next.

A 'True Copy, Mat. Langley Regift.

Wfm?^

LII. The Trial of the Honourable Colonel]ohn Penrud-
dock*5 at Exonfor High-Treafon? 19th April, 1655.

7 Car. II. Wrote by Himfelf

PON Thurfday the 19th of April',

1655, the Commiffioners of Oyer
and Terminer being fat in the Caftle

of Exon, fummoned before them my-
felf, Mr. Hugh Grove, Mr. Richard

Reeves, Mr. Robert Duke, Mr. George Duke,
Mr. "Thomas Fitz-James, Mr. Francis Jones,

Mr. Edward Davis, Mr. Thomas Poulton, and
Mr. Francis Bennet. Being all called to the Bar,

we were commanded to hold up our Hands, and
an Indictment of High-Treafon was read againft

us: and being asked whether we would plead

Guilty or Not Guilty to the Indictment, in the

behalf of myfelf and of the Gentlemen therein

charged, I fpakeas followeth.

Col. Penruddock. My Lords, tho' my Educa-
Vol. II.

* Clar. Hift. Vol. 3. p. 433.

tion hath been fuch, as not to give me thofe

Advantages which the Knowledge of the Laws
would have affifted me with, for the defending

myfelf; yet upon the hearing this very Indict-

ment, my Reafon tells me that it is illegal ; and

therefore I do demand Counfel, that may dif-

pute the Illegality thereof.

Serjeant Glyn. Sir, you defire that which can-

not be granted ; therefore give your Anfwer, whe-

ther you are Guilty or Not Guilty of the Treafon

of which you ftand charged.

Col. Pen. Sir, by your favour, it is that

whith hath been granted to my Inferiors, viz.

to Mr. Lilburne, and to one Rolf a Shoemaker

;

and/I have as great a Right to the Laws, as any

Peyfon that fits here as my Judge : I do there-

L 1 2 fore
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fore challenge it as my Right. Judge Nicholas,

whom I there fee, will tell you he himfelF was

Counfel for this Rolf: and it is a hard cafe, if a

free-born Gentleman of England cannot have the

fame Privilege that his Inferiours have had before

him.
Attorney-General. Sir, there is

Mr. Pndeaux. a g, eat difference between Trea-

fon acting and acted •, the latter is your Cafe

:

therefore flatter not yourfelf, and do not think

your being mute (hall fave your Eftate in cafe of

Treafon ; for if you plead not to the Indictment,

Sentence will be pronounced againft you, as if

you had been found guilty of the Fact you are

charged with.

Col. Pen. Sir, I obferve your Diftinction

:

but all the Logick you have, fhall not make me
nor any rational Man acknowledge, that this was

either acting or acted, before it be proved. Sir,

it is but a bare Sufpicion, and I hope you will

not condemn me before I am convicted : I fay

the Indictment is illegal, and I do demand Coun-

fel.

At. Gen. Sir, the Court muft not be dallied

withal : I do peremptorily demand of you, Are.

you Guilty or Not Guilty? If you plead, you

may have favour ; otherwife we fhall proceed to

Sentence.

Col. Pen. Sir, put cafe I do plead, fhall I

then have Counfel allowed me ?

At. Gen. Sir, the Court makes no Bargains j

refer your felf to us.

[Hereupon my Fellow-Prifoncrs perfuaded me
to plead Not Guilty : which being done, I de-

manded Counfel, as being partly promifed it.

Mr. Attorney told me, I could have none. Then
I reply'dj]

Col. Pen. Sir, Durus eft hie Sermoy it is no more
than I expected from you ; but rather than I will

be taken off unheard, I will make my own De-
fence as well as 1 can.

[The Jurors being then called, I challenged a-

bout 24 of the 35 I might have challenged. The
reft of the Gentlemen were fent from the Bar, I

was left alone upon my Trial : and the Jurors

were fo pack'd, that had I known them the Iffue

had been the fame that it was. The Jurors be-

ing fworn, and the Indictment again read, Mr.
Attorney demanded what Exception I could make
to it.]

Col. Pen. Sir, I except againft every part

thereof ; for I take it to be illegal in toio Compo-

fit0-

Record. Steel. Sir, it is not ufual for any Court

to admit of general Exceptions, therefore we ex-

pect that you fhould make it to fome Parti-

cular.

Col. Pen. Sir, I defire a Copy of my Indict-

ment, and time until to-morrow to make my
Defence.

At. Gen. Sir, you cannot have it j the Court

expects you fhould do it now.

Col. Pen. Then if I cannot have time, if my
general Exception might have been admitted, it

would have told you, That there can be no
High-Treafon in this Nation, but it muft be

grounded either upon the Common or Statute

Law. But this is neither grounded upon the

Common Law, or the Statute ; ergo, no Trea-

fon, (againft a Protector, who hath no power ac-

cording to Law :) neither is there any fuch thing

in Law as a Protector, for all Treafons and fuch

Pleas are prepria Caufa regis. .

Serj. Glyn. Sir, you are peremptory, you ftrike

at the Government ; you will fare never a whit
the better for this Speech : Speak as to any
particular Exception you have to the Indict-
ment.

- Col. Pen. Sir, if I fpeak any thing which
grates upon the prefent Government, I may con-
fidently expect your Pardon : my Life is as dear
to me, as this Government can be to any of you.
The holy Prophet David, when he was in danger
of his Life, feigned himfelf mad, and the Spittle
hung upon his Beard : you may eafily therefore
excufe my Imperfections. And fince I am now-
forced to give you my particular Exception (more
plainly) to the Indictment, I am bold to tell you,
I obferve in the latter part of the Indictment, you
fay I am guilty of High-Treafon, by virtue of a
Statute in that cafe made and provided : If there
be any fuch Statute, pray let it be read ; I know
none fuch. My Actions were for the King ; and
1 well remember what Bratlon faith, [5 Trail, de
Delatis cap."] Rex non habetfuperiorem nifi Deum %

fatis habet ad pesnam, quod Deum expeclat ulto-
rem. And in another place he faith, [Brat?*
Rem. H. g. cap. 3. feci. 24.] Rex habet potefta-
tem & jurifditlionem fuper omnes qui in regno fuo
funt : ea quce funt jurifditlionis & pads, ad nullum
pertinent, nifi ad regiam dignitatem ; habet etiam
eoercionem, ut delinquentes puniat ex? coerceat. Again
he faith, Omnes fub rege, cif ipfe nullo nifi tantum
Deo ; non eft inferiorfibifubjetits ; non parem habet
in regno fuo. This fhews us where the true Power
is : You fhall find alfo,

That whoever fhall refufe to aid the King when
War is levied againft him, or againft any that
keep the King from his juft Rights, offends the
Law, and is thereby guilty of Treafon. {Pari
Rol. num. 7] Again

All Men that adhere to the King in perfonal
Service, are freed from Treafon by Law : [Rex
£5? confuetudo Parliament, u //. 7. cap. 1.] And
yet you tell me of a Statute, which makes my
adhering to my King according to Law, to be
High-Treafon : Pray let it be read. .

Attorn. Gen. Sir, you have not behaved your
felf fo as to have fuch a Favour from the Court.

Col. Pen. I require it not as a Favour, but as
my Right.

Attorn. Gen. Sir, you cannot have it.

Col. Pen. If I cannot have it, thefe Gentlemen
that are the Jurors, have not offended you, their
Verdict reaches to their Souls, as to my Life ; pray
let not them go blind-fold, but let that Statute be
their Guide.

Attorn. Gen. Sir, the Jury ought to be fatif-

fied with what hath been already faid, and fo
might you too.

Col. Pen. Sir, I thank you; you now tell me
what I muft truft to.

Mr. Attorney then made a large Speech in
the Face of the Court, wherein he aggravated
the Offence with divers Circumftances ; as fay-
ing, I had been four Years in France, and held a
Correfpondency with the King my Mafter, of
whom I had learned the Popifh Religion ; That
I endeavoured to bring in a debauch'd lewd
young Man, and, to engage this Nation in ano-

ther
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ther bloody War ; and that if I had not been

timely prevented, I had deftroyed them, (mean-

ing the Jurors) and their whole Families. I inter-

rupted him, and faid,

Col. Pen. Mr. Attorney, you have been here-

tofore of Counfel for me ; you then made my
Cafe better than indeed it was : I fee you have the

Faculty to make Men believe Falfhoods to be

Truth too.

Attorn. Gen. Sir, you interrupt me ; you faid

but now you were a Gentleman.

Col. Pen. I have been thought worthy hereto-

fore to fit on the Bench, though now I am at

the Bar. Mr. Attorney then proceeded in his

Speech, and called the Witneffes. Then I

faid,

Sir, you have put me in a Bear's Skin, and

now you will bait me with a witnefs. But I fee

the Face of a Gentleman here in Court, (I

mean Captain Crook) whofe Confcience can tell

him, that I had Articles from him which ought

to have kept me from hence. Captain Crook

hereupon flood up, and his guilty Confcience

(I fuppofe) advifed him to fit down again, after

he had made this Speech, ("that is to fay) he o-

pened his Lips and fpake nothing. The feveral

WitnefTes now come in, Mr. Dove the Sheriff of

Wilts, and others •, my Charity forbids me to

tell you what many of them fvvore: I fhall there-

fore omit that, and only tell you that one of our

own Party, (and indeed I think an honeft Man)
being forced to give his Evidence •, I faid, My
Lords, it is a hard cafe, that when you find you

cannot otherwife cleave me in pieces, that you

muft look after Wedges made of my own Tim-
ber. The virtuous Crier of Blandford being

asked what were the Words I ufed in the pro-

claiming King Charles at the Market ? he faid, I

declared for Charles the Second, and fettling the

true Proteftant Religion •, for the Liberty of the

Subject, and Privilege of Parliaments.

Then I faid to the Attorney- General and the

whole Court, You faid even now, that I had

learned of the King my Mafter the Popifh Reli-

gion, and endeavoured to bring him in : your

own Witnefs tells you what, and whom I would

bring in ; and that it was the true Proteftant,

and not the Popifh Religion, his Majefty is of,

and intends to fettle. I urged divers Cafes to

make the Bufinefs but a Riot (as my Lord of

'Northumberland's) pretending it was for the tak-

ing of Taxes •, and that the Power was not de-

clared to be where they fay it is. I required the

Judges to be of Counfel for me, and told them
it was their Duty. Commiffioner Lijle told me
I fhould have no wrong, (but he meant Right)

but Judge Rolle and Nicholas confefTed themfelves

Parties, therefore would fay nothing. Then I

told the Court, if I had feen a Crown upon the

Head of any Perfon, 1 had known what had
been Treafon ; The Law of England would have

taken hold of me, out of the Refpecl: it has to

Monarchy : There were no fuch Land- marks be-

fore me, therefore I conceive I cannot be guilty

of what I am charged with. And my Lord, and
Mr. Attorney, you here indict me for a Treafon

committed at South-moulton in Devon/hire ; and,

Gentlemen, ye fwear WitnefTes againft me for

Facts done in other Countries ; Sarum, Bland-

ford, and South-moulton, are not in a Parifh.

You puzzle the Jurors with thefe Circumftances,

pray go to the Kernel, And you, Gentlemen of

the Jury, fave your Labour of taking thofe

Notes. Mr. Attorney then add relied himfelf to

the Jury ; and to be fhort, after the Space of
half an Hour long, gave them Directions to

bring me in guilty. This being done, I craved

the Favour from the Court, that 1 might lpeak to

the Jury ; which being allowed, 1 faid to them
as followeth, or to the fame effect.

Gentlemen, You are called a Jury of Life and
Death ; and happy will it be for your Souls, if

you prove to be a Jury of Life. You have heard
what hath been faid to make my Actions Trea-
fon ; and with what Vigour many Untruths have
been urged to you. I have made appear to you,
that there can be no Treafon but againft the King %

that the Law knows no fuch Peribn as a Protec-

tor. Mr. Attorney pretends a Statute for ir, but

refufeth the Reading thereof either to me or you ;

vilifies me at pleafure, and tells you I am a Pa-
pift, and would bring in the Popifh Religion ;

and that if I had not been timely prevented, I

had deftroyed you. I hope you are alfo fatisfied

of the contrary, from the Mouth of one of the

bittereft Witneffes. You are now Judges between
me and thefe Judges. Let not the Majefty of

their Looks, or the Glory of their Habits be-

tray you to a Sin which is of a deeper Dye than

their Scarlet : I mean that Sin, Blood ; which
calls to Heaven for Vengeance. Gentlemen, you
do not fee a Hair of my Head but is numbered,
neither can you make any one of them, much
lefs can you put Breath into my Noftrils when
it is taken out. A Sparrow doth not fall to the

Ground without the Providence of God, much
lefs fhall Man, to whom he hath given Domi*
nion and Rule over all the Creatures of the Earth.

Gentlemen, look upon me, I am the Image of
my Creator, and that Stamp of his which is in

my Vifage, is not to be defaced, without an Ac-
count given wherefore it was. I have here chal-

lenged, as I am a Gentleman, and free-born Man
of England, the Right which the Law allows me

;

I demanded a Copy of my Indictment and
Counfel, but it is denied me. The Law which

I would have been tried by, is the known Law
of the Land, which v/as drawn by the wife Con-
futation of our Princes, and by the ready Pens
of our Progenitors. The Law which I am now
tried by, is no Law, but what is cut out by the

Point of a rebellious Sword ; and the Sheets in

which they are recorded, being varnifhed with the

Moifture of an eloquent Tongue, if you look not

well to it, may chance to ferve for fome of your
Shrouds. If the Fear of difpleafing others, fhall

betray you to find me guilty of any thing, you
can at the moft but make a Riot of this. Pray,

by the way, take notice, that the laft Parliament

would not allow the Legiflative Power to be out

of themfelves ; feventeen of twenty in this very

County were of that Opinion, and deferted the

Houfe ; they were your Reprefentative ; if you
fhould find me guilty, you bring them in dan-

ger, and in them your felves. Have a care of be-

ing drawn into a Snare. Gentlemen, your Blood
may run in the fame Channel with mine : if

what I have faid do not fatisfy ycu, fo as to

acquit me ; if you bring a fpecial Verdict, you

do in fome meafure acquit yourfelves, and throw

the Blood that will be fpilt upon the Judges.

Confider of it, and the Lord direct you tor the

belt.

The
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The Jury, after a quarter of an Hour's Retire-

ment, brought me in Guilty : The Lord forgive

them, for they knew not what they did.

Upon Monday the 23d of April, we were a-

gain called to the Bar, being then in number

twenty-fix. Serjeant Glyn asked of me firft, what

I could fay for my felf, that I mould not have

Sentence according to Law ? Then I faid,

My Lords and Gentlemen, you ask what I

can fay for my felf, that I mould not have Sen-

tence paffed upon me. The Jury found me guil-

ty : if I mould go about to make a Defence now,

it would fignify no more than as if my Friends

mould petition for my Pardon after 1 am exe-

cuted. I could have offered you Articles here,

but I thought them inconfiftent with this Court.

When I look upon my Offence (as to the Protector)

I conclude my felf a dead Man ; but when I re-

flect upon the Favour he hath fhewed to others

of my Condition, and the Hopes I have of your

Interceffion, methinks I feel my Spirits renewed

again. My Lords, Death is a Debt due from

me to Nature ; the Protector has now the keep-

ing the Bond, and has put it in Suit by his

Attorney ; if he pleafe to forbear the ferving me
with an Execution, and let me keep it a little

longer, I will pay him the Intereft of Thanks
for it as long as I live, and engage my Pofterity

and a numerous Alliance to be bound for me. So

the Lord direct you all for the beft. If I have

found Favour, I fhall thank you ; if not, I mail

forgive you.

This being done, Serjeant Glyn, after a moll

bitter and nonfenfical Speech, gave Sentence a-

gainft us ; viz. to be drawn, hanged and quar-

tered. A pretty Exchange for unworthy Crook's

Articles for Life, Liberty, and Eftate ; which I

can prove, and will die upon. My Trial held

at leaft five Hours. This is as much as at pre-

fent I can remember of it -, excufe the Errors.

One of the Jury being asked by a Gentleman,

why he found me guilty ? anfwered, He was re-

folved to hang me, before he did fee me.

I obferve Treafon in this Age to be an indivi-

duum vagum, like the Wind in the Gofpel, which

bloweth where it lifteth ; for that fhall be Trea-

fon in me to-day, which fhall be none in another

to-morrow, as it pleafeth Mr. Attorney.

The Judges are fworn to do Juftice according

to the Law of the Land [3 Part. Inft. pag. 22.

2 Part Inft. 47,48. Prince*.* Cafe. 8 Report.] and

therefore have miferably perjured themfelves in

condemning me contrary to Law : And (not fo

contented) mud caufe the Jury (fo wife they

•were) through their falfe and unjuft Directions,

to deftroy their own Rights and Properties, and

fet up a New, Arbitrary and Tyrannical Govern-

ment.

The Judges would not give me their Advice in

point of Law, (as was their Duty) becaufe they

faid they were Parties ; yet could fit ftill on the

Bench in their Robes, to countenance and approve

of my Sentence.

No Man can be a Judge where he is a Party in

the fame Caufe ; [Hobart fol. 120. Doct. Bonam's

Cafe, 8 Part of Coke's Reports.~] therefore my
Trial was contrary to Law.
The Judges being Parties ought not to fit up-

on the Bench, but ftand by ; therefore my Trial

was illegal : the reft being no Judges, but the

Protector's immediate Servants, fo could not be

my Judges in cafe of High-Treafon ; for none

but the fworn Judges of the Land are capable of

it by Law.
One thing of Colonel Dove, the reverend She-

riff 0$ Wilts, who, that the Jury might be fuffici-

ently incenfed, complaining of the many Incivi-

lities (he pretended) were offered him by our Par-

ty, being upon his Oath, faid, That one of our

Men did run him through the Side with a Cara-

bine. Surely it was a very fmall one, for the

Wound is not difcernible.

A great deal of pains every Man in his place

took for the carrying on his Matter's Work.

Be merciful unto me, O Lord, be merciful unto

me : under the Shadow of thy Wings will I hide my

felf till this Tyranny be cverpajl.

Glory to God on high, in Earth Peace, Good-Will

towards Men ; and fo have jnercy on me, O
Lord.

The Sentence was ordered to be executed the

1 6th of May following.

As he was afcending the Scaffold, he faid, This,

I hope, will prove to be like Jacob's Ladder

;

tho' the Feet of it reft on Earth, yet I doubt not
but the Top of it reacheth to Heaven.
When he came upon the Scaffold, he fpoke

to the People as follows:

Gentlemen,

T hath ever been the Cuftom of all Perfons

whatfoever, when they come to die, to give

fome Satisfaction to the World, whether they

be guilty of the Fact of which they ftand charg-

ed. The Crime for which I am now to die, is

Loyalty, (but) in this Age called High-Treafon.
I cannot deny but I was at South-moulton, in this

County ; but whether my being there, or my
Actions there, amount to fo high a Crime as

High-Treafon, I leave to the World, and to the

Law to judge : Truly, if I were confcious to

my felf of any bafe Ends that I had in this Un-
dertaking, I would not be fo injurious to my
own Soul, or difingenuous to you, as not to

make a publick Acknowledgment thereof. I
fuppofe that divers Perfons, according as they -

are biafs'd in their feveral Interefts and Relations,

give their Opinions to the World concerning us.

I conceive it impoffible therefore, fo to exprefs

my feif in this Particular, as not to expofc both

my Judgment and Reputation to the Cenfure of
many whom I fhall leave behind me ; becaufe I

will not put others (therefore) upon a Breach
of Charity concerning me, or my Actions, I

have thought fit to decline all Difcourfes which
may give them a Capacity either to injure them-
felves, or me. My Trial was publick, and my fe-

veral Examinations (I believe) will be produced
when I am in my Grave : I will refer you there-

fore to the firft, which I am fure fome of you
heard ; and to the latter, which many of you (in

good time) may fee ; had Captain Crook done him-
felf and us that Right which a Gentleman and a

Soldier ought to have done, I had not now been
here. The Man I forgive with all my heart : But
truly, Gentlemen, his protefting againft thofe Ar-
ticles he himfelf, with fo many Proteftations and
Importunities put upon us, hath drawn fo much
Difhonour and Blood upon his Head, that I fear

fome heavy Judgment will purfue him -, tho* he

hath
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hath been falfe to us, I pray God I do not prove

a true Prophet to him ; nay, I muft fay more,

that coming on the Road to Exon, he, the faid

Captain Crook, told me, Sir Jofeph Wagflaff was

a gallant Gentleman, and that he was forry he

was not taken with us ; that then he might have

had the Benefit of our Articles ; but now^ faid

he, I have befet all the Country for him, fo that

he cannot efcape, but muft be hang'd. He alfo

queftion'd me, as I pafs'd through Salisbury from

London, whether he had given me Conditions*

which I endeavouring to make appear to Major

Butler, he interrupted me, and unwillingly con-

fefs'd it, faying I proffer'd him Four Hundred

Pounds to perform his Articles j which had been

a ftrange Proffer of mine, had I not really condi-

tion'd with him *, and I told him then ( having

found him unworthy) I would have given him

Five Hundred Pounds, believing him to be mer-

cenary ; to make it yet farther appear, I injure

him not, by ftiling him unworthy ; after thefe

Articles were given, he proffer*d to piftol me, if

I did not perfuade another Houfe to yield, which

then were boldly refitting ; to which my Servant,

John Biby (now a PrifonerJ reply'd, I hope you

will not be fo unworthy as to break the Law of

Arms. Thus much I am obliged to fay to the

Honour of the Soldiery, That they have been fo

far from breaking any Articles given to others,

that they have rather better'd them than other-

wife. It is now our Misfortune to be made Pre-

cedents and Examples together : But I will not

do the Protector fo much Injury, as to load him
with Difhonour, fince 1 have been inform'd, that

he would have made our Conditions good, if

Crook, that gave them, had not abjur'd them. This

is not a Time for me to enlarge upon any Subject,

fince I am now become the Subject of Death ;

but fince the Articles were drawn by my Hand,
I thought myfelf oblig'd to a particular Juftifi-

cation of them. I could tell you of fome Soldiers

which were turn'd out of his Troop for defending

thofe Conditions of ours ; but let that pafs, and

henceforward, inftead of Life, Liberty, and E-
ftate, (which were the Articles agreed upon) let

Drawing, Hanging, and Quartering bear the De-
nomination of Captain Crook's Articles. How-
ever, I thank the Protector for granting me this

honourable Death. I fliould now give you an

Account of my Faith ; but, truly, Gentlemen , this

poor Nation is rent into fo many feveral Opinions,

that it is impoffible for me to give you mine,

without difpleafing fome of you ; however, if any
Man be fo critical as to enquire of what Faith I

die, I fhall refer him to the Apoftles, Athanajius,

and the Nicene-Crecd, and to the Teftimony of

this reverend Gentleman, Dr. Short, to whom I

have unbofom'd myfelf: And if this do not fa-

tisfy, look in the Thirty Nine Articles of the Ca-
tholick Church of England, to them I have fub-

fcribed, and do own them as authentick. Having
now given you an Account concerning myfelf, I

hold myfelf obliged in Duty to fome of my
Friends, to take off a Sufpicion which lies upon
them ; I mean, as to fome Perfons of Honour,
which upon my Examination I was charged to

have held Correfpondency with j the Marquefs
of Hertford, the Marquefs of Winchefter, and my
Lord of Pembroke, were the Perfons nominated to

me ; I did then acquit them, and do now fecond
it with this Proteftation, that I never held any
Correfpondency with either, or any of them, in

relation to this particular Bufinefs, or indeed td

any thing which concern'd the Protector, or his

Government : As for the Marquefs of Winchefler^

I faw him fome twelve Years fince, and not la-

ter ; and if I fhould fee him here prefent, I be-

lieve I fhould not know him ; and for the Earl

of Pembroke, he was not a Man likely to whom -

I fliould difcover my Thoughts, becaufe he is a,

Man of contrary Judgment. I was examin'd like-

wife concerning my Brother Freke, my Coufin
Haftings, Mr. Dorrington, and others : It is pro-
bable their Eftates may make them liable to this

my Condition -, but I do here fo far acquit them,
as to give the World this further Proteftation,

that 1 am confident they are as innocent in this

Bufinefs as the youngeft Child here : I have no
more to fay to you now, but to let you know
that I am in Charity with all Men, I thank God;
I both can and do forgive my greateft Perfecu-

tors, and all that ever had any Hand in my
Death. I have offered the Protector as good Se-
curity for my future Demeanour, as I fuppofe he
could have expected ; if he had thought fit to have
given me my Life, certainly I fhould not have
been fo ungrateful as to have employ'd it againft

him. I do humbly fubmit to God's Pleafurei

knowing that the Iffues of Life and Death are

in his Hand ; my Blood is but a fmall Sacrifice 5

if it had been faved, 1 am fo much a Gentleman
as to have given Thanks to him that preferv'd itr-j

and fo much a Chriftian as to forgive them which
take it ; but feeing God by his Providence hath
call'd me to lay it down, I willingly fubmit to it,

tho' terrible to Nature ; but bleffed be my Sa-
viour, who hath taken out the Sting ; fo that I

look upon it, without Terror. Death is a Debt,
and a. due Debt ; and it hath pleafed God to
make me fo good a Husband that I am come to

pay it before it is due. I am not afham'd of the

Caufe for which I die, but rather rejoice that I

am thought worthy to fuffer in the De rence and
Caufe of God's true Church, my lawful King, the

Liberty of the Subject, and Privilege of Parlia-

ments ; therefore I hope none of my Alliance and
Friends will be afham'd of it ; it is fo far from
pulling down my Family, that I look upon it as

the raifing of it one Story higher ; neither was I

fo prodigal of Nature, as to throw away my"
Life, but have ufed (tho' none but honourable
and honefl) means to preferve it. Thefe unhap-

py Times indeed have been very fatal to my Fa-
mily, two of my Brothers already flain, and my
felf going to the Slaughter •, it is God's Will, and
I humbly fubmit to that Providence. I muft ren-

der an Acknowledgment of the great Civilities

that I have receiv'd from this City of Exon, and
fome Perfons of Quality, and for their plentiful

Provifion made for the Prifoners. I thank Mr.
Sheriff for his Favour towards us, in particular to

myfelf, and I defire him to prefent my due Re-
fpedts to the Protector, and tho' he had no Mercy
for myfelf, yet that he would have refpect to my
Family. I am now a ftripping off my Clothes to

fight a Duel with Death ( I conceive no other

Duel lawful ) but my Saviour hath pulled out the

Sting of this mine Enemy, by making himfelf 3

Sacrifice for me, and truly I do not think that

Man deferving one Drop of his Blood that will

not fpend all for him in fo good a Caufe. The
Truth is, Gentlemen, in this Age Treafon is an

Individuum Vagum, like theWind in the Gofpel, it

bloweth where it lifteth : So now Treafon is what
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they pleafe, and lighteth upon whom they will.

Indeed no Man, except he will be a Traitor, can

avoid this Cenfure of Treafbn. I know not to

what End it may come, but I pray God my own
and my Brother's Blood, that is now to die with

me, may be the laft upon this fcorc : Now,
. Gentlemen, you may fee what a Condition you

are in without a King ; you have no Law to pro-

tect you, no Rule to walk by when you perform

your Duty to God, your King and Country •, you

difpleafe the Arbitrary Power now fet up ( I can-

not call it Government.) I fhall leave you to per-

ufe my Trial, and there you fhall fee what a Con-

dition this poor Nation is brought into ; and (no

QueftionJ will be utterly deftroy'd, if not re-

ftor'd ( by loyal Subjects) to its old and glorious

Government •, I pray God he lay not his Judg-
ments upon England for their fluggifhnefs in do-

ing their Duty, and readinefs to put their Hands
in their Bofoms, or rather taking part with the

Enemy of Truth. The Lord open their Eyes,

that they may be no longer led, or drawn into

fuch Snares, elfe the Child that is unborn will

curfe the Day of their Parents Birth. God Almigh-
ty preferve my lawful King, Charles II. from the

Hands of his Enemies, and break down thatWall
of Pride and Rebellion, which fo long hath kept

him from his juft Rights. God preferve his

Royal Mother, and all his Majefty's Royal Bre-

thren •, and incline their Hearts to feek after him.

God incline the Hearts of all true Englijh-men to

ftand up as one Man to bring in the King, and

redeem themfelves and this poor Kingdom out of

its more than Egyptian Slavery. As I have now
put off thefe Garments of Cloth, fo I hope

1 have put off my Garments of Sin, and have

put on the Robes of Chrift's Righteoufnefs here,

which will bring me to the Enjoyment of his glo-

rious Robes anon. Then he kneel'd down and
kifs'd the Block, and faid thus ; I commit my
Soul to God my Creator and Redeemer, Look
upon me, O Lord, at my laft gafping, hear my
Prayer, and the Prayers of all good People ; I

thank thee, O God, for all thy Difpenfations to-

wards me. Then kneeling down, he pray'd molt

devoutly. Then he defir'd to fee the Ax, and kit-

fed it, faying, I am like to have a ftiarp Paffage

of it, but my Saviour hath fweeten'd it unto me.

Then he faid, If 1 would have been fo unworthy

as others have been, I fuppofe I might by a Lye
have faved my Life, which I fcorn to purchafe at

fuch a rate ; I defy fuch Temptations and them
that gave them me. Glory be to God on high,

on Earth Peace, Good-will towards Men, and the

Lord have Mercy upon my poor Soul. Amen.
So laying his Neck upon the Block, after fome

private Ejaculations, he gave the Headfman a

Sign with his Hand, who at one Blow fever'd

his Head from his Body.

The Night before his Execution he received the

following Letter from his Lady.

My dear Heart,

Y fad Parting was fo far from making me
forget you, that I fcarce thought upon

myfelf fince, but wholly upon you. Thofe
dear Embraces which I yet feel, and fhall ne-

ver lofe, being the faithful Teftimonies of an
indulgent Husband, have charm'd my Soul to

fuch a Reverence of your Remembrance, that

were it poffible, I would, with my own Blood,
cement your dead Limbs to Life again ; and
(with Reverence) think it no Sin to rob Hea-
ven a little while longer of a Martyr. Oh my
Dear ! you muft now pardon my Paffion, this

being my laft (oh fatal) Word that ever you
will receive from me ; and know, that until the
laft Minute that I can imagine you fhall live,

I will facrifice the Prayers of a Chriftian, and
the Groans of an afflicted Wife. And when
you are not (which fure by Sympathy I fhall

know) I fhall wifh my own DifTolution with
you, that fo we may go Hand in Hand to Hea-
ven. 'Tis too late to tell you what I have, or
rather have not done for you ; how turn'd out
of Doors becaufe I came to beg Mercy ; the
Lord lay not your Blood to their Charge. I
would fain difcourfe longer with you, but dare
not ; Paffion begins to drown my Reafon, and
will rob me of my devoir, which is all I have
left to ferve you. Adieu therefore ten thoufand
times, my deareft Dear ; and fince I muft never
fee you more, take this Prayer ; May your
Faith be fo ftrengthned, that- your Conftancy
may continue, and then I know Heaven will

receive you ; whither Grief and Love will in a
fhort time (I hope) tranflate,

My Bear,

Tour fad, but conftant Wife, even ts

love your Ajhes when Dead,

Arundel Penruddock.

* May the 15th, 1655, n o'clock at Night.
; Your Children beg your Blefiing, and prefent
s

their Duties to you.

To which he wrote this Anfwer :

Dearefi hefi of Creatures,

I
Had taken leave of the World when I re-

ceiv'd yours : It did at once recal my
Fondnefs for Life, and enable me to refign it.

As I am fure I fhall leave none behind me like

you, which weakens my Refolution to part
from you, fo when I reflect I am going to a
Place where there are none but fuch as you, I

'

recover my Courage. But Fondnefs breaks in

upon me ; and as I would not have my Tears
flow to-morrow, when your Husband and the

Father of our dear Babes, is a Publick Specta-
cle ; do not think meanly of me, that I give
way to Grief now in private, when I fee my
Sand run fo faft, and 1 within few Hours am to
leave you Helplefs, and expofed to the Merci-
lefs and lnfolent, that have wrongfully put mc
to a fhamelefs Death, and will object that

Shame to my poor Children. I thank you for

all your Goodnefs to me, and will endeavour
fo to die, as to do nothing unworthy that Vir-
tue in which we have mutually fupported each
other, and for which I defire you not repine

that I am firft to be rewarded ; fince you ever
preferred me to yourfeJf in all other things,

afford me, with Chearfulnefs, the Precedence
in this.

' I defire your Prayers in the Article of Death,
for my own will then be offered for You and
Yours,

J. Penruddock,
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Nayler ^or Blafphemy, and other Mijdemeanours^
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Refplved,

HAT the Matter of Fact, together

with the .particular Refolutions of

this Committee thereupon, be re-

ported to the Houfe.

Firft, I mall give you the rnort

Hiftory of his Life, as the Committee had it

from his own Mouth. He faith he was born in

the Parifh of Ardijloe, near Wakefield in York-

Jhire, where he lived 22 or 23 Years, till he was

married (according to the World.) as he expref-

fed it. Then he removed into the Parifh of

Wakefield, where he continued till the laft Wars
began •, during which time he was under feveral

Commands, and at laft was Quarter-mafter in

Major-General Lambert's Troop ; in which Ser-

vice he continued till difabled by Sicknefs in

Scotland, and fo retired to his own Home : about

which time he was a Member of an Independent

Church at Horbery in York/hire, of which Church

Mr. Chriftopher Marjhal was Paftor ; and by the

•fame Church fince caftout (as himfelf confefleth he

hath heard) by which Church he was charged as

guilty of Blafphemy, and uncivil and wanton

Carriage with one Mrs. Roper a married Wo-
man, as that fhe fhould fit on his Knee, and

kifs him before divers other Perfons ; and that it

was his Opinion, he might lie with any Woman,
that was of his Judgment. And then after fome

time went to vifit the Quakers in Cornwall, and

by his way was by Major Saunders committed

to the common Goal in Exon, as a Vagrant:

And thence he and his Company being delivered

by an Order from the Council, they travelling to

Briftol, in the way Nayler took upon him, as was

alledged againft him. And as he paffed through

Chewftoke in the County of Somerfet, towards Bri-

ftol, it is informed upon Oath, certified by three

Juftices to the Committee, That flaying in that

Town one Night, he was there in a Chamber
with three Women of his Company, leaning up-

on the Bed with one of them at Night when the

Servant of the Houfe left them : And in the

Morning the Servant found Nayler on the Bed
with one of the Women, and the Curtains drawn j

and fome of the Company wifhed the Servant to

make no noife to awake them.

The way taken in this Report, will be,

Firft, To give you the Articles charged againft

him.

Secondly, the Evidence, wherein there will be

a little mention of the Examinations and Informa-
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dons upon Oath taken at Briftol ; againft which,
becaufe there lies a feeming Objection, I fhall

firft clear that upon the Matter of Fact.

The Objection was, That they were not read
again to the Parties, as is ufual in fuch Cafes.

Anfwer. That two Witneffes, both of more
than ordinary good Repute, in that Place were
both put, and took Characters of the Queftions
and Anfwers there ; and comparing their Notes,
did both of them publickly avow to the Com-
mittee, as that which they were ready to depofe,

That every material Pafiage was read unto the

Parties once or twice after they writ it down ;

and that they were the fame which were offer-

ed to the Committee, attefted under the Mayor
of Briftol*s Hand to every of the faid Examina-
tions and Informations, and the City Seal annex-
ed to the whole. And befides, there is nothing

in the faid Examinations and Informations taken

there, but what is generally more clearly made out

upon their Examinations before the Committee.
Other Evidence will be from Nayler's Exami-

nation, wherein is moft of this whole Matter,
which was taken in Characters by Five of the

Committee, who were appointed ro, and did
compare their Notes.

Thirdly, The Opinion of the Committee.
The whole Fact will fall under one of thefe two

Articles.

Firft, James Nayler did affume the Gefture,

Words, Honour, Worftiip, and Miracles of our

bleftcd Saviour.

Secondly, " The Names and incommunicable

Attributes and Titles of our bleflfed Saviour.

As to part of the firft Article, That James
Nayler riding through a Town in So?nerJet, his

Company fpread their Garments, and fang, Ho-
ly, Holy, before him ; and alfo fang the like at

his Entrance into Briftol, one going bare-headed

before his Horfe :

The Evidence was,- That Dorcas Erbury, in her

Examination before the Committee in the Pain-

ted Chamber, confeffed, that fhe did fpread Gar-

ments before him. And Martha Simmons in her

Examination at the fame time faith, that thofe

Garments that fhe did fpread fhe fpread in obedi-

ence to the Lord. And Hannah Stranger being

then alfo examined, faid, fhe threw two Hand-

kerchiefs before him, which fhe did, becaufe he

that is Lord of all commanded her fo to do.

And
M m John
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John Stranger confeffeth, That he faw others

fpread Garments before him in the way from Ex-

en to Briftol. And
James Nayler himfelf confeffeth (upon the

Queftion, Whether Garments were fpread before

him ? ) That fome Clothes were call down,

and afterwards, that fome Gloves and other

things.

The Evidence for finging Holy, Holy, was

thus :

Dorcas Erbury, in her Examination at Bri-

ftol, being then asked, Why fhe paffed along

finging ? faid, She did not do it ; but they that

did it, were commanded to do it : and the

Lord hath made it manifeft that they were

moved of the Lord to do it. And being ask-

ed, To whom they fang ? and whom they cal-

led the Holy One of Ifrael ? fhe faid, Him that

rode upon the Horfe ; and fhe would maintain it

with her Blood. And being examined by the

Committee as to this part of the Examination,

and advifed to deny, if it were falfe ; yet did not

deny it, though fhe did fome other part of that

Examination.

Martha Simmons being examined in the Pain-

ted Chamber, Whether fhe did fing the Words,

Holy, Holy, before the faid James Nayler ? an-

fwered, It is my Life to praife the Lord, whether

he be before me, or from me, it is my Life to

praife the Lord. And being asked, Whether fhe

heard any Perfons fing Holy, Holy, before the

faid James Nayler ? fhe anfwered, It is our Life

to praife the Lord.

Hannah Stranger being examined in the Pain-

ted Chamber, Whether fhe fang the Words, Ho-
ly, Holy ? anfwered, She could not well remem-

ber the Words ; but if fhe did not fing Holy,

Holy, fhe witneffeth the Holy of Holies was ri-

fen, which moved her fo to do : but faid fur-

ther, fhe did not ftand there to accufe her felf.

James Nayler being examined by the Commit-
tee, whether any fang Holy, Holy, before him
as he rode ? anfwered, There were Praifes fung

to the Lord. And being asked, Whether thofe

Words, Holy, Holy, were fung ? anfwered, That
.he heard thofe Words. And being asked as to

the finging before him when he rode into Briftol,

anfwered, That there was a Pfalm fung, fuch a

one as the Lord was pleafed to give into the Hearts

of them that fang. And being asked as to the

Words of the Pfalm, whether they were not Ho-
ly, Holy ? faid, It may be it was ; very like it

might be fo.

And in his Examination at Briftol, being ask-

ed why he came in there in fuch an unufual man-
ner, two Women leading his Horfe, and finging,

with one bare before him ? faid, It was for the

praifes of his Father ; and that he may not re-

fufe any thing that is moved of the Lord : and
that he did think the Father did command them
to do it. And being then asked, Whom they

meant by the Word Holy that they fang ? he an-

fwered, That they that fang were all ofAge to an-

fwer for themfelves.

And this fpeaks fomething for the proving of

another part of the firft Article, vindicating one

going bare-headed before him, and Women lead-

ing his Horfe, which is more fully proved by
the Informations upon Oath of George Witherley

. and Richard Hart, taken at Briftol, before the

Mayor there, and certified as aforefaid ; and up-

on the Confeffion of one Thomas Woodcock be-

fore the faid Mayor, who went bare-headed be-

fore James Nayler, and faid he was moved by
the Spirit fo to do. And James Nayler himfelf,

upon his Examination by the Committee, when
he was asked, Whether any went bare-headed

before him as he went into Briftol ? anfwered,

He did not know, he took little notice of it, but

heard fome fay it was fo. And being asked, Whe-
ther any Woman led his Horfe? anfwered,; There
was a Woman took hold of the Bridle of the

Horfe.

Refolution of the Committee upon this whole

Evidence.

The Committee were of Opinion, that the firft

Article was proved.

One thing alfo, being part of the Matter of

Fa<5t , we think worthy your Knowledge

,

though much Strefs will not be laid on it ; and
that is, That the Defcription of our Saviour by
Publius Lentulus to the Senate of Rome in Wri-
ting, (which is alfo imprinted) was taken up-
on one of James Nayler*s Attendants, which is

alfo certified by the faid Mayor. And for

Nayler's Hair, both Colour and Manner of
wearing it, as alfo the Fafhion of his Beard,

and Feature and Perfon, did much agree with

that Defcription; which alfo was taken notice

of by many of the Committee, how much he

refembled (as they apprehended with fome Af-
fectation) the Picture ufually drawn for our Sa-

viour.

That in divers Anfwers he imitated our Sa-

viour Jefus Chrift, ufing the fame Expreffions that

he did ; in one place he faith, That he lived

fome Weeks, fifteen or fixteen Days, without

any Food or other Suftenance ; and being asked,

wherewithal God fed him, if not with Food ?

anfwered, Man liveth not by Bread alone, but by

every Word which procecdeth out of the Mouth of

the Lord.

I fhall here mention one remarkable one in his

Examination at Briftol : his Exprefiion was, If

they had known the Father, they fhould know
him alfo. And Nayler being examined by the

Committee to this, Whether that were his An-
fwer at Briftol? he anfwer'd in thefe Words;
Truly I can fay little of that, whether I did fay

it or no ; but if I did fay it there, it is true ;

for if any one do know the Father, they fhall

know what I am, and where I live ; and none

can know my Life further than they know the

Father ; for the Father is my Life : none can

know my Life, but they that know my Father ;

for he is my Life. This I particularly mention,

being commanded by the Committee, who re-

folved, That this whole Anfwer of James Nay-
ler be reported to the Houfe.

Another part of this Article was, That he re-

ceived the outward Worfhip of being kneeled

unto, and having his Feet kiffed. And for this

the Evidence was

Martha Simmons, in her Examination at Bri-

ftol, faid, She ought to worfhip him, but here

denied.

And further the Evidence went, That after

his Imprifonment at Briftol, it appeared by the

Information upon Oath at Briftol, to wit, of

Thomas Perkins and Thomas Cole :

Thomas Perkins informeth, That Darcas Er-

bury fell down at Nayler's Feet, and kiffed his

Feet

;
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Feet ; and the fame Evening one Alice Brock fell

on her Knees before the faid Nayler, and Nayler

put his Hands upon her Head, and faid, Stand

faft, fcfc.

Thomas Cole informeth, That the 25th of Otto-

her, Martha Simmons and Hannah Stranger being

called out of Nayler's Room into their own
Lodging, they one after another kneeled before

Nayler, and laid their Heads on his Knees ; and

he laid his Hands on their Heads, making a

groaning Noife within himfelf ; and before they

rofe from his Knees, he croffed his Hands over

their Heads. And Hannah Stranger at her Ex-
amination before the Committee, confeffed,

That fhe kneeled at James Nayler'* Feet, and

kified them. And others being demanded con-

cerning thefe Actions, would give no Anfwer.

And
James Nayler being examined, whether any

kneeled and killed his Feet, anfwered, That there

might be fuch things, though he did not mind it,

being things that he did not glory in.

As for his doing of Miracles particularly, Dor-

cas Erbury faith, That ihe was dead in Exeter

Goal two Days, and that Nayler laid his Hands
upon her, and raifed her ; which fhe affirmed

in her Examination at Briftolr and did not de-

ny when examined as to this by the Com-
mittee.

To which Nayler being examined whether

Dorcas Erbury was dead in Exon Goal, as in her

Examination, anfwered, If you fpeak of fuch

a Death as you may underftand, Ihe was dead.

Being further asked, How Ihe was dead, in his

Underftanding? anfwered, I fhall fay little of

my fclf in that thing. And being further asked,

whether he raifed her from the Dead? anfwer-

ed, I can do nothing of my felf. Being asked,

whether any other did raife her by his Hands,
and if he hid his Hands upon her? anfwered,

There is a Power in me from above. And be-

ing demanded, whether he had fuch a Power as

to raife from the Dead? anfwered, I have faid

before I cannot bear witnefs of my felf in the

thing. And being asked, who bore witnefs of

him? anfwered, The Scriptures do bear witnefs

to the Power which is in me, which is ever-

kfling. And being demanded, whether he raifed

from the Dead by virtue of that Power ? an-

fwered, I can do nothing but what the Power
doth in me : and it is the fame Power whereof

you read in the Scriptures, that hath raifed the

Dead, according to the Meafure of the Power
manifeft.

And being asked, whether that Pov/er were
manifeft in fuch a manner in him as to raife Dor-
cas Erbury from the Dead ? anfwered, I have
faid ; I fhali not fatisfy in words concerning the

thing further than only this, that you may clear-

ly underftand that wherein Dorcas Erbury, or a-

ny elfe do attribute unto me, as to a Creature

that hath Beginning and Ending, that I utterly

deny •, but that that any fee of God in me, by
the fame Spirit that revealed any thing to them,
that 1 do not deny. This may ferve at one
word; for there cannot be a more abominable
thing than to take from the Creator, and give

to the Creature: the fame Power which did

raife from the Dead, which you read in the

Scripture, the fame Chrift, the fame Anoint-
ing according to the Meafure of him, is mani-
feft in me, and no other. And being asked, if

Vol. II.

any prayed to Chrift in him, whether he did

difown it ? anfwered, As a Creature I do difown

it.

Thefe things and divers others we have report-

ed as part of the Matter of Faft.

Second Article : That the faid James Nayler

aflumed the Name, and the incommunicable

Attributes and Titles of our bleffed Saviour : as

firft,

floe Faireft of Ten Thoufand.

As for this, the Evidence was in a Letter of
Hannah Stranger, found about him at Briftol^ fhe

giving him the Title of the Faireft of ten thoufand:

which upon her Examination at Briftol and be-

fore the Committee, fhe confeffed fhe wrote to

him in her Letter. And James Nayler being

asked by the Committee, whether any fuch Ti-

tle as the Faireft of ten thoufand, had been given

to him in any Writing or Letter ? he anfwered,

To what they did in the Letter, if they gave it

to me as to the vifible, then I do deny it •, but

if they fpeak it to that begotten of the Father in

me, then I dare not deny it. And being willed

to repeat that Anfwer again, he faid, If they

fpeak it as to the vifible, as to that which is

earthly, then I deny any fuch thing belonging to

me in that Senfe: but if they fpeak it to that

which the Father hath begotten in me, then I

dare not deny it; becaufe that (as he faid) is

beautiful, where-ever it is begotten. And in his

fecond Examination before the Committee, his

Anfwer was to the fame effect.

Refolution of the Committee.

Upon this Evidence the Committee were of
Opinion, That James Nayler had affumed the

Title of the Faireft of Ten Thoufand.

'The Only-begotten Son of God.

And for that the Evidence was, That Hannah
Stranger in the faid Letter g;ive him that Title

:

And being demanded whether he did affume that

Title, anfwered in thefe words ; that there are

many Sons befides, yet the Son of God I muft

witnefs, and dare not deny : The Son of God I

am, and dare not deny. And being often pref-

fed to give a direct Anfwer, whether he were

the only-begotten Son of God ? anfwered thus

;

I am the Son of God, but I have many Bre-

thren ; and again faid, I have many Brethren,

though fome of them do not yet know me. And
being urged to confefs or deny it, anfwered in

thefe words ; I have anfwered, That I have gi-

ven of my Father to fpeak for the prefent unto

that thing. Being asked, whether he were the

only-begotten Son of God? he anfwered, Thou
haft faid it. Which Queftion and Anfwer being

repeated to him as his Anfwer, he anfwered, Do
not enfnare the Innocent. And upon his Exa-
mination taken, certified and attefted, as afore-

faid, being asked, whether he be the only-be-

gotten Son of God ? anfwered, That he was the

Son of God ; and that the Son of God was but

one.

But being examined by the Committee as to

this Part of his Examination at Briftol, he affirm-

ed, That this was not his Anfwer,

M m 2 Refolu*
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Refolution of the Committee.

dom I have ; and he that hath redeemed me,
hath redeemed me to be a King for ever. And
being examined again to the fame Queftion, whe-

Upon this Evidence the Committee were of ther he owned the Title of the King of Ifrael?

Opinion, That the Title of the only-begotten Son he anfwered, As a Creature, I deny any fuch

of God, was given to James Nayler And being Thing, further than as God manifefted in the

demanded whether he affumed that Title, he did Flefh : And if they gave that Title to Chrift in

not deny it.

The Prophet of the Moji High.

This Title we find given him in a Letter to

Nayler from one Jane Woodcock, found about

him at Briftol. And being examined there upon

that Claufe in the Letter, he anfwered, That he

was the Prophet of the moft high God.

And Martha Simmons, upon her Examination

at Briftol, faid, There was a Time when James

Nayler was a true Prophet of the moft high God,

but now he is gone beyond, and is in the Admi-

niftration of Peace, and is the Beloved of the

Lord.

James Nayler being examined by the Commit-

tee, whether he owned this Title of the Prophet

of the moft high God? He anfwered, Yea, I am
a Prophet of the moft high God. And being

prefied to anfwer whether he were the Prophet,

he anfwered, There be other Prophets befides me.

And being prefied again with the fame Queftion,

anfwered, 1 have faid what I may, as to that

thing in the Counfel of my Father.

Upon this his Confeffion at Briftol, and An-

fwer as aforefaid,

Refolution of the Committee.

The Committee were of Opinion, That James
Nayler had afiumed the Title of the Prophet of

the moft high God.

The King of Ifrael.

And for this the Evidence was, We find in a

Letter from one Thomas Simmons this Title given

to James Nayler ; and in the Examination of

Dorcas Erbury, taken at Briftol aforefaid, we find

fomething to this purpofe; who being asked why
fhe pulled off his Stockings, fhe anfwered, Be-

caufe he is the Holy One of Ifrael, and deferves

and is worthy of it.

And Martha Simmons, upon her Examination

at Briftol, faith, That James Nayler's Name is

now buried, and that he is anointed King of

Ifrael. To which being examined by the Com-
mittee, exprefly owned the Examination as to

that to be true, and the thing it felf: But be-

caufe this varies a little from the Charge, and
fattens it not altogether upon James Nayler, they

had this further Proof: James Nayler, in his

Examination at Briftol, being asked whether he

were the King of Ifrael? anfwered, Thou haft

faid. To this James Nayler, being examined by
the Committee, whether this Queftion were fo

demanded as aforefaid ? he anfwered, That it

was not asked by way of a Queftion, whether

he were the King of Ifrael, but that the Exa-
miner did pofitively affirm, Thou art the King
of Ifrael-, to which he anfwered, Thou haft

faid it. And being particularly examined by the

Committee, whether he' did own the Title of

the King of Ifrael? He anfwered in thefe words,

1 have no Kingdom in this World, yet a King-

me, then I do own it.

Refolution of the Committee.

Upon this Evidence the Committee were of
Opinion, That James Nayler afiumed the Title of
the King of Ifrael.

The Everlafting Son of Righteoufnefs.

This we find given to him in a Letter by Han-
nah Stranger in "thefe Words, Thou Everlafting

Son of Righteoufnefs. And Martha Simmons,
in her Examination at Briftol, calls him Lord of
Righteoufnefs ; which fhe alfo affirmed before the

Committee. And James Nayler himfelf being

examined by the Committee, whether any Perfon
had given him that Title of the Everlafting Son
of Righteoufnefs? he anfwered, Where God is

manifefted in the Flefh, there is the Everlafting

Son of Righteoufnefs. And being asked twice,

Whether God was manifefted in the Flefh in him ?

anfwered both times, God manifeft in the Flefh I

witnefs, and may not deny.

Prince of Peace.

This we find given him in a Letter by the

faid Hannah Stranger j and in her Examination at

Briftol fhe owned him to be the Prince of Peace.

The fame Title was alfo given him by Mar-
tha Simmons, as it appeared by her Examina-
tion at Briftol, which was confeffed by her before

the Committee. And being particularly asked,

what fhe called the Man whom we call James
Nayler? anfwered, I call him a perfecl Man.
And being further demanded, whether fhe did noc

call him the Prince of Peace? anfwered, He
that is a perfect Man, he is the Prince of Peace.

And Nayler being examined by the Committee,'

whether he owned the Title of the Prince

of Peace? anfwered, the Prince of Peace I

own, the Everlafting Peace is begotten in

me.

Sent tojudge and try the Caufe of Ifrael.

The Evidence of this was in the fame Letter

of Jane Woodcock's we find it given to him ; and
in his Examination at Briftol, whether that Ti-

tle was given to him, he would make no An-
fwer. And being examined by the Committee,
whether he afiumed to judge and try the Caufe of

Ifrael? anfwered in thefe Words; The Judge
of Ifrael is but one, and that Judge I witnefs in

me, which is the Chrift : And further anfwered,

If thou fpeak of him whom the Father hath

fent into the World and begotten in me, the

Holy Ghoft, the Spirit of the Father, and the

Son in me, which is in me; if thou fpeak of it,

this I own. And being asked, in what refpect

he was fent ? he anfwered, no otherwife but as

God manifeft in the Flefh, though not as mor-
tal. And being asked, by whom he was fent

to try the Caufe of Ifrael? anfwered, By him
who



1656. or >hemy* a6>,

who hath made all Creatures, and hath fent his

Spirit into me* his Son into me, to try the

Caufe ; though he faid he was no Judge in car-

nal Matters. And being asked whether he

were more fent to judge and try the Caufe of

Ifrael, than another ? anfwered in thefe Words

;

As to my faying I am fent, mind that no other-

wife than as the Father and the Son is in me:

and to that I fay further, That no other Man

is fent in that Senfe, but he that knoweth the

indwelling of that God, and according to the

Meafure of his Knowledge of the living God,

fo far is Judgment committed to him, and no

further.

And being urged to anfwer, whether any other

had the fame Meafure of Judgment, to judge

the Caufe of Ifrael, as he had? he anfwered,

That he had not at prefent any thing given him,

of his Father to anfwer unto that.

Resolution of the Committee.

That James Nayler hath affumed to be fent to

judge and try the Caufe of Ifrael.

JESUS.

And for this the Evidence was,

John Stranger, in a Poftfcript in his Wife's

Letter directed to, and found upon James Nay-

ler, ufed thefe Words ; thy Name is no more to

be 'called James, but Jefus. Which Poftfcript

being fhewed to Stranger by the Committee, he

owned it written by him : and being asked, where-

fore he called him Jefus? anfwered in thefe

Words •, I was moved of the Lord, and after^

wards by the Spirit of the Lord. And being

asked, whether by Jefus he meant the Saviour of

the World? he would give no Anfwer. And
Martha Simmons in her Examination at Briftol,

faith, That fhe hath heard fome call him Jefus

;

which Examination being read unto her, fhe de-

nied not that, though fhe denied another part of

that Examination. And James Nayler being ex-

amined, whether any Perfon had called him by

the Name of Jefus? anfwered in thefe Words-,

As 1 am vifible here before you, I believe they

have not; but that the Name of the Lord is in

me, that I dare not deny : And further faid,

That they have given that Name to him who is

the Jefus, but if they have given it to any other

than to the Son of God that is in me, I do

deny what they have fpoken. And being asked,

Whether he denied that they gave him the Name
of Jefus ? anfwered, As I am a Creature, I be-

lieve they did not : And afterwards confeffed that

the Name of Jefus was given him in a Letter j

and if he had underftood it of any other than

the Jefus, he fhould have denied it. Being de-

manded, whether they gave the Name of Jefus

to him ? he anfwered in thefe Words, no other-

wife than as to the Son of God. Being demand-

ed, whether any had given him the Name of

Jefus ? anfwered, Not as to the Vifible. And be-

ing demanded, to what then they gave the Name
of Jefus ? anfwered in thefe Words, I underftand

they gave that Name to the Jefus, to the Chrift

that is in me.

Upon his fecond Examination, being asked

whether he owned the Name of Jefus ; and if

that Title belonged to him, as to Chrift within ?

he anfwered, That Name was never publifhed to

be called by me, neither do I call my felf by
that Name j but what my Father hath publifhed",.

is another thing.

Refolntion of the Committee.

Upon this Evidence the Committee were of
Opinion that James Nayler affumed the Namd
of Jefus.

He in whom the Hope of Ifrael ftandeth.

And for this, the Evidence was in the Letter

of Martha Simmons, found upon James Nayler<>

where were thefe Words. Thou well-beloved

Lamb of God, in whom the Hope of Ifrael

ftands. And James Nayler, in his Examination
at Briftol, being asked, whether he were the

Lamb of God, in whom the Hope of Ifrael

ftands ? anfwered, That if I were not his Lamb,
I fhould not be fo fought to be devoured ; and
that the true Hope of Ifrael ftands in the Righ-
teoufnefs of the Father, in whomfoever it is.

And being asked, whether Ifrael'% Hope were
in any meafure in him? he anfwered, Yea. Which
Examination of his at Briftol being read to him
by the Committee, he denied not this part of it.

And being examined by the Committee, whether

their Hope of Ifrael did ftand in him ? anfwered

in thefe Words, It ftands only in. Chrift Jefus,

and as Chrift Jefus is known in me. And being

asked again, whether he were he in whom the

Hope of Ifrael ftands? anfwered in thefe Words,
No way but as Chrift is in me. And being then

asked, whether as Chrift is in you, fo are you
he in whom the Hope of Ifrael ftands? anfwered,

Nay, do not add to my Words ; I fpeak as

plain as I can, that all the Glory may. be given

to God, and none to the Creature ; that the

whole Glory may be given to my Father, and

none to me, as you look upon me as a Creature.

And the next Queftion was, whether as Chrift

is in you, are you he in whom the FJope of Ijrael

ftands? To which he anfwered, Chrift in me, the

Hope of Glory. And being examined, what

Hopes Ifrael had in him beyond any other Per-

fon? anfwered, None can know, but they that

are of Ifrael: They can give an Account of their

Hopes i Ifrael muft give an Account of their

Hopes themfelves.

The Refolution of the Committee.

That James Nayler affumed to befeem him m
whom the Hope of Ifrael ftands.

The Committee being defirous to inform

themfelves how far the faid Nayler was confent-

ing unto that Worfhip, and thofe Titles, before

given unto him, befides the former Evidence,-

they did find in his Examination at Briftol, where

being asked why he came in fo unufual a Man-

ner, as the Woman leading his Florfe, and ring-

ing before him? he anfwered, That he might

not refufe any thing that's moved of the Lord

:

Which being read unto him at the Committee,

he denied not. And for the better clearing of

this, the Committee examined Hannah Stranger,

whether Nayler reproved her for cafting her

Garments before him, or for kneeling, or killing

his-
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his Feet ? From whom they could get no other

Anfwer than this, She would not accufe or

juftify any. The Committee did alfo find in

their Examination of Nayler, being asked by

them, whether he reproved the Women for

fpreading their Garments, and Tinging before

him, anfwered in thefe Words, Nay, only I faid

unto them, take heed that they did nothing but

what they were really moved of the Lord. And
being alfo examined by the Committee, whether

he reproved thofe that gave him the Titles be-

fore mentioned ? anfwered, That he had not at

all fpoken unto them concerning that Thing,

only the Letters he had, wherein the Titles

were given ; and did not think at all that any

ihould have feen them, becaufe he knew there

was Things in them that many could not bear

;

but now he faw his Father purpofed they fhould

not be hid.

Nayler, at his fecond Examination before the

Committee, being demanded ; whether he had
reproved the Perfbns that gave him thofe Titles

and Attributes? he would not fay he had re-

proved them. Being demanded, whether he

owned them, or difclaimed them? anfwered in

thefe Words, If they had it from the Lord,

what am I, that I fhould judge it ? And being

preffed again with the fame Queftion, anfwered

thus, If the Father move them by his Spirit to

give them to .Chrift, I may not deny •, if they

give that to any other but Chrift, I difown it.

And being asked again, whether he reproved

them, or not ? anfwered, If attributed to the

Creature, then it is reprovable ; if they did it to

the Lord, then I dare not reprove it. And be-

ing asked, whether he thought not Chrift rob-

bed of his Honour, by that Honour or Worfhip
given unto him ? anfwered, That he looked

upon it to be really to the true Honour of Chrift,

or elfe he would utterly have denied it. And
being asked, whether he had at any time what-

foever reproved thofe Perfons? he anfwered, I

never underftood that they gave that Honour but

to God.

Here we thought to have concluded this Re-
port •, but the Committee meeting with fome
further Evidence, they were willing you fhould

be Partakers of it. And it is this : John Bayn-

ham, Deputy to the Serjeant of the Houfe, to

whofe Cuftody Nayler and his Company are

committed, informed, That the ufual Pofture of

James, Nayler is fitting in a Chair, and his Com-
pany, both Men and Women, do fometimes

kneel ; and when they are weary of kneeling,

they fit upon the Ground before him, finging

thefe and divers other Words to the like pur-

pofe, viz. Holy, holy, to the Almighty, to the

true God, and great God; and Glory to the

Almighty, &c. And thus they do.ufually all the

Day long : But the Informer never heard Nayler

fing as aforefaid. And faith, There is great Re-
fort to the faid Nayler by divers Perfons, who,
moft of them, do kneel before him in the man-
ner aforefaid. And Martha Simmons, in the

Pofture aforefaid, fung, This is the joyful Day ;

behold the King of Righteoufnefs is come. And
further, the Informer faith, That he never knew
the faid Nayler fhew any Diflike, either by Re-

proof or otherwife, of that Honour or Worfhip

which John Stranger and his Wife, Martha Sim-

momy and Dorcas Erbury, and the reft, gave him

as aforefaid. And a Member of the Houfe, be-
ing lately at the Place where Nayler is now a
Prifoner, informs the Committee, That he faw
Nayler and his Company in the Pofture aforefaid

:

and heard John Stranger, and one of the Women
fing, Holy, holy, holy Lord God ; and, Holy,
holy, holy to thee, thee, thee, Lord God. And
whilft John Stranger fung thefe Words, he did
fometimes look upwards, and fometimes upon
James Nayler. Another Member informed us,

as upon his own View, to the fame purpofe.
And at Nayler's laft Examination before the Com-
mittee, being Wednefday the 3d inftant, one
William Piggot did inform, That Nayler fitting

in a Chair where he is now a Prifoner, one Sarah
Blackbury came to him, and took him by the

Hand, and faid, Rife up my Love, my Dove,
my Fair- one, and come away : Why fitted thou
among the Pots? And prefently put her Mouth
upon his Hand, and funk down upon the Ground
before him.

To which Nayler himfelf, being examined by
the Committee, confeffed fhe took him by the
Hand, and fpoke the Words aforefaid ; but de-
nies the putting her Mouth upon his Hand, and
fuch Bowing-down : But faith, That he fat low ;

and that he was not free to go with her. And
Nayler being asked to whom fhe directed that

Speech? anfwered, To the Lord, and to him that

raifeth from the Duft, and cafteth them down
that are exalted. And being asked whether he
reproved her for that Expreffion ? he anfwered,
He reproved her not. And further, William
Piggot informed the Committee, That the laft

Week he was at the Place aforefaid, where Nay-
ler is now a Prifoner ; and that one Stranger and
Martha Simmons were, with others, fitting upon
their Heels before and about Nayler; and that

Stranger rofe up, and flood and fung juft before
Nayl r, according to their ufual manner of fing-

'

ing, when and where a Man Quaker (being
prefent) asked Nayler, Dolt thou own that Voice ?

Nayler anfwered, Yea, I do. And Nayler being
asked by the Committee, if this were fo, anfwer-
ed, If I tell you the Truth, you will not believe

me. And Nayler being preffed to anfwer, whe-
ther he owned the Voice aforefaid? anfwered, that'

Voice I will not deny.

To fum up all : The Committee asked Nayler
what he had more to fay? (that being likely to

be the laft Time of hearing him, before the
Committee reported the whole Fact to the Houfe)
he thus anfwered

:

I do abhor that any of that Honour which
is due to God fhould be given to me, as I am a
Creature: But it pleafed the Lord to fet me up
as a Sign of the coming of the Righteous One

;

and what hath been done in my palling through
the Towns, I was commanded by the Power of
the Lord to fuffer fuch Things to be done to

the Outward as a Sign. I abhor any Honour as

a Creature.

T
December 5.

H E Report concerning James Nayler recei-

ved and read in the Houfe this Day from
the Committee.

December
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Decemler 6.

The Houfe this Day refumed the Debate upon

the Report touching James Nayler.

Refolved, That James Nayler be brought forth-

with to the Bar ; and that the Report of the Com-

mittee be read to him ; and that it be then de-

manded of him what he faith hereunto by Con-

feffion or Denial. He was fent for accordingly :

And being brought to the Bar, was fpoken to to

kneel, which he did not -,
and keeping his Hat

on, the Serjeant by Command of the Speaker took

off his Hat. And being asked whether his Name
were James Nayler ? he anfwered, He is fo cal-

led. Being asked, how long he hath been fo

called ? he anfwered, Ever fince he can remem-

ber.

The Report that the Committee had drawn up

was read to him, and he was demanded to every

Particular, whether that were his Anfwer to the

Committee ? To which he anfwered, particularly,

acknowledging them to be fo, or to that effect,

and fo withdrew.

Refolved* That James Nayler be called in to the

Bar, and demanded feveral Queftions. He was ac-

cordingly called in, and thefe * Queftions demand-

ed of him.

Refolved* That the Houfe doth agree with the

Committee in the Report of the Matter touching

James Nayler.

Refolved, That this Debate be adjourned till

Monday Morning ; and nothing to intervene.

Refolved* That James Nayler be kept private.

Monday 8t

The Houfe, according to former Order, refu-

med the Debate upon the Bufinefs of James Nay-

ler.

Refolved, That this Debate be adjourned till

Three of the clock.

Refolved, That Candles be brought in.

The Queftion being propounded, That James

Nayler, upon the whole Matter of Fact, is guilty

of Blafphemy : And the Queftion being put,

That the Word Horrid be inferted in the Queftion,

next before the Word Blafphemy, it paffed in the

Affirmative.

And the Queftion being propounded,That James

Nayler, upon the whole Matter of Fad:, is guilty

of horrid Blafphemy

;

And the Queftion being put, That the Queftion

be now put, it paffed in the Affirmative.

Arid the main Queftion being put, it was

Refolved, That James Nayler, upon the whole

Matter of Fact, is guilty of horrid Blafphemy.

Refolved, That James Nayler is a grand Im-

poftor, and Seducer of the People.

Refohed, That the Debate upon this Report,

touching James Nayler, be adjourned till to-mor-

row Morning.

Tuefday 9.

The Houfe, according to former Order, did re-

fume the Debate upon the Report touching James
Nayler.

Refolved, That the Debate be adjourned two
Hours.

The Houfe adjourned till Three of the clock.

271
The Houfe refumed the Debate upon the Report

touching James Nayler.

Refolved, That this Debate touching James Nay-
ler be adjourned till to-morrow morning,

Wednefday 10.

Refolved, That this Debate" be adjourned till to=

morrow Morning Eight of the clock, and nothing
to intervene.

Thurfday 11.

The Houfe refolved, &c.
The Queftion being put,That the Houfe adjourn

two Hours, the Houfe was divided.

Yeas went forth 84
Noes 87

So it paffed in the Negative.

Refolved, That the Debate touching James Nay*
ler be adjourned till to-morrow Morning, and no-
thing to intervene.

Friday 12.

The Houfe, according to former Order, refu>

med the Debate upon the Bufinefs of James Nay-
ler.

Refoh-ed, That this Debate, &c. till to-morrow
Morning, and nothing to intervene.

Saturday 13.

The Houfe this Day, according to former Or«
der, refumed, &ct

The Queftion being propounded, That the De-
bate touching James Nayler be adjourned till Mon-
day Morning, and nothing to intervene., the Houfe
was divided.

Noes went out 65
Yeas 108

So it was refolved, That the Debate touching
James Nayler mould be adjourned till Monday
Morning Eight of the clock, and nothing to in-
tervene.

Monday if.

The Houfe, according to former Order, refumed
the Debate about James Nayler, and adjourned till

to-morrow Morning.

Tuefday 16.

The Houfe, according to former Order, refu-

med, &c.
The Queftion being propounded, That the Pu-

nifhment of James Nayler for his Crimes mall be
Death ; and that a Bill be prepared, and brought
in for that purpofe: And the Queftion being put,

That the Queftion be now put, the Houfe was di-

vided.

The Noes went forth 96
The Yeas 82

So it paffed in the Negative.

The Queftion being put, That this be part of

the Punifhment of James Nayler, To have his Hair
cut off, it paffed in the Negative.

Refolved, That this be part of the Punifhment of

James Nayler, That his Tongue be bored through

with a hot Iron.

What thefe Queftions were, is not known, there being no Record kept of them,

That
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That the further Punifhment ofJames Nayler,

fhall be, That he fhall be ftigmatized in the

Forehead with the Letter B.
The Queftion being propounded, That James

Nayler be fet on the Pillory in the New Palace-

Yard, Wejlminfter, the fpace of two Hours, and
then fhall be whipped by the Hangman through
the Streets, from Wefiminfter to Cheapfide ; and
there likewife be fet upon the Pillory for the

Space of two Hours in each of the faid Places,

wearing a Paper, containing an Infcription of
his Crimes : That his Tongue fhall be bored

through with a hot Iron} and that he be ftig-

matized in the Forehead with the Letter B.

Refolved, That inftead of the Word Cheapfide

in this Queftion, the Old Exchange be inferted.

Refolved, That thefe Words be added in the

Queftion, With his Head in the Pillory.

Refolved, That the Place for boring his

Tongue, and ftigmatizing, be near the Old Ex-
change.

The Queftion being propounded, That the

Prifon he fliall be committed to, be Bridewell in

Brijlol: And the Queftion being put, it pafTed

in the Negative.

Refolved, He be committed to Prifon to Bride-

well, London.

Refolved, That inftead of the Words, From
the Society of all Men, thefe be inferted From the

Society of all People.

Refolved, That he have no Pen, Ink, or Paper.

Refolved, That he fhall have no Relief but

what he earns by his daily Labour.

Wednefday 17.

Refolved, That James Nayler be fet on the

Pillory, with his Head' in the Pillory, in the

Palace-Yard, Weflminfler, during the fpace of

two Hours, on thurfday next -, and fhall be

whipped by the Hangman through the Streets,

from Weflminfler to the Old Exchange, London ;

and there likewife be fet on the Pillory, with

his Head in the Pillory, for the fpace of two
Hours, between the Hours of Eleven and One,
on Saturday next ; in each Place wearing a

Paper containing an Infcription of his Crimes :

and that at the Old Exchange his Tongue be bored

through with a hot Iron ; and that he be there

alfo ftigmatized in the Forehead with the Letter

B 3 and that he be afterwards fent to BriJlol,and

be conveyed into and through the faid City on
Horfeback, bare ridged, with his Face backward,
and there alfo publickly whipped the next Mar-
lcet-Day after he come thither ; and that from
thence he be committed to Prifon in Bridewell,

London, and there reftrained from the Society of

all People, and there to labour hard till he fhall

be releafed by Parliament} and during that Time,
to be debarred the ufe of Pen, Ink, and Paper,

and fhall have no Relief but what he earns by
his daily Labours.

Refolved, That the faid James Nayler be
brought to the Bar to-morrow Morning by Ten
of the cloek to receive this Judgment.

Refolved, That the Speaker be authorized to

ifTue his Warrants to the Sheriffs of London and

Middlefex, the Sheriff of Brijlol, and Governor
of Bridewell, to fee this Judgment put in Exe-
cution refpectively in the faid Places.

Refolved, That the Speaker be authorized to

make his Warrant to the Sheriffs of London and
Middlefex, to convey the faid Nayler to Brijlol.

Refolved, That the Speaker do ifTue the like

Warrant to the Sheriff of Briftol, to convey him
up to London after the Execution of this Judg-
ment there.

Refolved, That to-morrow after the Sentence
is pronounced againft James Nayler, the feveral

Petitions now offered be read.

Refolved, That then the Houfe do likewife

take into Confideration the Perfons brought up
with James Nayler.

The Houfe being informed that James Nayler

was brought to the Door, according to the for-

mer Order made Yefterday, that he fhould be
brought to the Bar to receive the Judgment and
the Refolution made yefterday, touching the faid

James Nayler, for his Punifhment.

Refolved, That thefe Words be added to the

faid Refolution, viz. Jlnd the Parliament do de-

clare andjudge the fame accordingly.

The Queftion being propounded, That James
Nayler be had in, and before Judgment pronoun-
ced be demanded, whether he have any thing to

fay why Judgment fhould not be pronounced
upon him ? And the Queftion being put, Thac
the Queftion be now put, the Houfe was divi-

ded.

The Noes went forth 107
The Yeas, 87

So it paft in the Negative.

The faid James Nayler was by Order of the

Houfe brought in to the Bar ; where the Speaker

acquainted him of the Heinoufnefs of the Crime
of which the Parliament found him guilty; and
accordingly did pronounce the Judgment againft

himj upon which he withdrew.

Which Sentence was accordingly Executed
upon him ; and fome of his Followers were fo

prodigioufly impious and filly as to lick his

Wounds, kifs his Feet, lean in his Bofom, &c.
When he came firft to Bridewell, to carry on

the Impofture he fafted three Days} but Flefh

and Blood being able to hold out no longer, he

fell to work to earn himfelf fome Food. Upon
the return of the Rump he obtained his liberty,

and died foon after, without any figns of Re-
pentance.

fbe



i6$6. for Blafphemy. 273

In the Debate upon the Queftion^ Whether James Nayler fhould be

puniihed with Death, Lord Commijftoner Whitlock delivered his Opinion

to this EffeBy viz.

THE Arguments of thofe Gentlemen who
would have James Nayler put to Death,

are chiefly drawn from thefe three Grounds:

1. From the Law of Nature.

z. From the Law of God.

3 . From the Law of the Land.

And I hold that he ought not to fuffer Death

by any of thefe Laws.

Firft, As to the Law of Nature;

1. It is held amongft the Politicians That

the Subject thereof is Confervatio fu't ; for that

Nature, but by the Law of Grace only j and
therefore cannot be an Offence againfl the Law
of Nature, by which there cannot be any
Knowledge of him.

But it hath been objected, That the Papifls

put to Death thofe who deny the Real Prefence s

and other of their Opinions held contrary to the

Truth ; and, that the very Heathens, by the

Light of Nature, did put to Death fuch as de-

nied or reproached their Idol Gods ; and how
much more Zeal ought we to have for the Ho-
nour ofthe only true God whom we worihip ?

This may be anfwered in the Parallel, That
neither are we to follow the Examples of thofe

bloody, perfecuting Papills ; nor is James Nay-

every Creature by the Law of Nature fecks his kr worthy the Honour to be ranked amongft

own Confervation

Then, Whether the Confervation of the Peo-

ple and Commonwealth of England do depend

upon the Life or Death of James Nayler ? is the

Queftion.

It is likewife held among the Politicians,

That there is no Judge of the Law of Nature,

but only the Supreme Magiftracy of each par-

ticular Commonwealth ; and that within then-

own Bounds only j and ofaprefent Cafe, not

of a paft or future Cafe.

As in England j the Parliament only is the

Judge of the Law of Nature in England, <md of

the prefent Cafe before them j wherein if the

Parliament fhall adjudge, That it is necefTary

for the Being and Prefervation of the People and

Commonwealth of England, that James Nayler

be put to Death, then he ought to die by the

Law of Nature.

But I fuppofe that no Gentleman is of Opi-
nion, That it is necefTary for the Being and Pre-

fervation of the People and Commonwealth of to be worfhipped, who faith, That Chrift is in

England, that James Nayler fhould be put to him. But yet it cannot be warranted by the

Death ; and therefore on that Head or Principle Law of Nature, to put a Man to Death for thefe

of the Law of Nature, he is not to die. AfTertions.

the Holy Martyrs. And,
As to the Judgments of the Heathens, they

were againfl fuch as denied their Gods to be

Gods j but James Nayler at the Bar did ac-

knowledge, That Jefus Chrift, who died at Je-

rufalem, was the Son of God, and the Saviour

of the World.
And fome of the Heathen Princes, by their

Light of Nature, when Flattery and their own
Strength did bear them out, aflumed the Names
and Titles of the Gods of their Countries, and

were worfhipped by their VafTals,

Herein, James Nayler comes towards them,
permitting, and not reproving thofe who did

adore him ; which he would evade by the Di-
ftinction, That as he is a poor Creature, and
vifible, no Adoration is due to him ; but, as to

that Power which is invifible (that Chrift with-

in him) he is to be worfhipped.

That Chrift is in the Heart of a true Believer,

is not fo ftrange a Doctrine, as that a Man is

2. If by the Law of Nature a Blafphemer is

to die, How comes it to pafs that Mofes was fo

doubtful in the Cafe of the JEgyptian, in the

24th Chapter of Leviticus ? he put him in Ward,
and asked Counfel of God what mould be done
with him.

Mofes was a Man of great Knowledge and
Wifdom, and as able to underftand the Law of
Nature as any of us are; and if the Cafe of the
JEgyptian had been againft the Law of Nature,
he was furely capable to have found it out, and
not to have made fo much Difficulty as he did
of it, fo as to know the immediate Pleafure of
God in it.

3. The Crimes of James Nayler cannot be a-

gainft the Law of Nature, becaufe they are a-

gainft the Second Perfon of the Trinity, the
Knowledge of whom is not by the Law of
Vol. II.

Then Secondly,

The Second Ground is the Law of God : By
which it is objected, That this Man being

guilty of horrid Blafphemy, ought to be put

to Death.

And the Cafe of the jEgyptian is inftanced in,

and much infifted on as a pofitive Rule and Law
for us to do the like in the Cafe ofJames Nayler.

Herein I think it not improper, firft to con-

fider the Signification of the Word Blafphemy,

and what it comprehends in the Extenfivenefs of

it 5 and I take it to comprehend, The reviling cr

curfing the Name of God, or of our Neighbour.

And Gregorius Turoncnfis, in his Jppendix, cap.

j" I. hath this Expreffion, Liberare poteras de

Blafphemia banc caufam. From whence the

French Word, Blafme; and our EngUJb, Blame.

Nn Sprfman,
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Spelman faith it is increpare, vel convitiis ali-

quem afficere.

Paratus derives it from (Z\a.7rru> tjjv (p«/j»jv

;

i. e. Lafio Fama.
And is this in Relation to Men, as well as to

God.
And therefore the great Objection is taken

away, That the Parliament having voted him
Guilty of horrid Blafphemy, cannot in Honour
and Confcience inflict upon him a lefs Punifh-

ment than Death, for this Offence.

They have not Voted it Blafphemy againfl

God -, and it appears the Word extends to Men,
in the genuine Signification of it.

But I mail take it according to the ufual Ac-
ceptation amongft us, and, as I fuppofe, is in-

tended by the Vote, That he is Guilty of hor-

rid Blafphemy againfl: God.
Yet I do not find my felf convinced, that by

the Law of God, whofoever is guilty of horrid

Blafphemy amongft us, is to be put to Death.

That we ought all of us, as Magi ftrates and

Chriftians, to bear our Teftimony againfl thefe

abominable Crimes,and againfl this poorWretch,
I do agree •, but rhat the Punifhment for thofe

Offences muft be Death, I am not fatisfy'd.

That the Law of God is fo, many Gentlemen
have urged the Cafe of the ^Egyptian, the
1'fraelitifhW oman's Son ftriving with the/fraelite,

in the 14th Chapter of Leviticus, becaufe God
determined that he ihould die ; and therefore,

as their Argument is, James Nayler muft alfo

die.

By the fame Argument he muft be ftoned to

Death 5 and fo muft every rebellious Son, and

even he that gathereth Sticks upon the Sabbath

Day, and the like.

Very learned Divines are of Opinion, and I

think it not to be confuted, That no Part of

the Law of the Jews doth bind any other Na-
tion, but that Part of it only, which is Moral.

The Laws of the IJraelites were by the Wif-
dom of God fuited to the Inclinations and Dif-

pofitions of that People ; and others (as there

is great Difference between the Inclinations of

People) muft have different Laws: and none

hath ever yet affirmed, That this or that Punifh-

ment of any Offence is Moral, tho' the Offence

itfelf befo.

But to come to a more particular Difquifition

of the Cafe of this ^Egyptian. He was one bred

up in the Worfhip of the Idol Gods of JEgypt,

and in ftriving with the Ifraelite, it is conceived,

that he preferred his own God before the God
of Jfrael, and faid, that their God did not bring

them out of the Land of JEgypt, nor was able

to do it.

There is a Difference to be obferved in this

Chapter between the Offence of this JEgyptian,

and the Offence of Blafpheming or Curling of

God in another Cafe.

In the ifth Verfe of this 14th Chapter of

Leviticus it is faid thus, And thou Jhalt /peak to

the Children of Ifrael, faying WW WW Man,
Man. i.e. Whofoever or whatever Manfhall V?p
curfe God fhall bear his Sin 5 that is, ihall be

punifhed as the Nature of the Fact fhall require i

fo faith Aynfworth in locum, fhall bear the Punifh-

ment due for his Sin.

The Word Curfe, in Hebrew is V?pi Jicallel,

the Root of which fignifieth, to count light of;

and in the Conjugation Piel is found to fignify

to Curfe out of Evil Will, to fpeak ill of, or to
Imprecate ; and alfo, to fpeak Evil, fo as by
fpeaking to bring it.

This ifth Verfe in Grotius's Opinion (in his

Exposition upon this Text) is to be underftood
of him that Curfeth, but not diftinctly naming
the Sacred Name Jehovah, nor taking from him
his Reverence and Deity, as if he were no God,
and fo is to be punifhed with an arbitrary Punifh-
ment, as Stripes, or the like.

But the 1 6 th Verfe is thus, Andhe that Blaf-
phemeth npJ Nokeb, from the Root npJ Nacabh,
which fignifies, to run through, or, to bore
through, and alfo to fpeak or name to ones Dif-
grace ; and is the fame with the Latin Phrafe,

configere Nomen alicujus malediclis.

The Emphafis is not in this Word, but in the
other Die Shem, and TX\T\ Jehovah ; and when
that Name was named, it was a m ^ft immediate
and direct Blafpheming ofGod 5 detracting from
him his Honour and Deity.

He that Blafphemeth the Name Jehovah, or

the Name of Jehovah, fhalljurely be put to Death,
and all the Congregation fkall jlone him.
Upon this, Aynfworth is of Opinion, that

the Hebrews fome of them will not fenterce this

Blafphemer with Death, unlefs Jehovah be
named} which Opinion he difallowech, faying,

That the Word is not fo much, but the Thing
is to be refpected. But he feems to require,

that the Blafphemer muft immediately fpeak
ill of God or blafpheme him, or elfe he is not
fubject to this Punifhment.

Grotius agrees with the Rabbins, who fay that

every Curfing ofGod was not punifhable with
Death, but that the Punifhment in fome Cafes

was Arbitrary, as the godly Judgment of thofe,

who were to cenfure, mould determine. But
if Jehovah were named by a Jew, or others un-

der their Government, and fo exprefly and im-

mediately difhonoured, that was to be punifhed

with Death.

Wherein he doth diftinguifh between im-

mediate, and exprefs Blafphemy, and thac

which is fo interpretatively onlyj and fignifieth,

that the Punifhment by Stripes was only in-

flicted upon him that did Blafpheme but in-

terpretatively, and not malicioufly nominating

Jehovah.

This Judgment of Grotius feems to me to be

reafonable, and that the Offence of'James Nay-
ler is within the ifth Verfe of this Text, a 1

Blafphemy interpretatively only, and therefore

punifhable with Stripes or the like. But that

it is not within the i<5th Verfe, an immediate !

and direct reproaching of the Name of God} ;

for at your Bar he did acknowledge Jefus 1

Chrifi to be the Saviour of the World, £?V.

And if it be not within the 16th Verfe, then

it is not punifhable by Death according to that

Law of the Jews, admitting the fame to be

binding amongft us Chriftians j as with Sub-

miffion to better Judgments, I think it is not,

no more than thofe other Laws of theirs of the
,

like Nature. Nor can any fort of Punifhment

be conftrued to be Moral.

I (therefore) conclude this Point, that there

is no binding Rule or Law of God, that for

thefe Offences James Nayler ought to be put

to Death.
And



for Blafpl

And if the Matter be but doubtful, we fliould,

in favorem Fitx, incline to the way of moft

iemy.

Mercy.

Thirdly, The Third Ground, is, The Law of

the Land.

And hereupon hath been obferved, That by

she Laws of other Nations Blafphemy ispunifh-

able with Death : And fhall we do lefs for the

Honour of God, than others? And a worthy

Gentleman reported a Cafe, which did lately

happen in France, where the Parliament of

Bourdeaux adjudg'd an Englijhman to Death,

upon the Complaint of the Proteftants there, for

Blafphemy, in faying, That he was Chrift,.

1 know not what might be lately done there,

but I find the Laws of France concerning Blaf-

phemy, in the Code of Foreign Dccijions, and of

Henry III. to be this; That for the firfl four

Offences, a Blafphemer may be committed to

Prifon to Bread and Water; for the fifth Of-
fence, to have his under Lip flit j for the fixth,

that his under Lip mould be cut fo that his

Teeth be feen -, for the feventh his Tongue to

be bored, and for the eighth Offence he is to be

put to Death.

It is true, that the Popifh Countries, where

the Inquifition is in Force, do put Proteftants

to Death as Blafphemers : but I hope that will

be no Precedent for us to imitate.

The Lutherans do hold the Ubiquity of Chrift

in fuch fort, that the News of James Nayler'*

being put to Death for thefe Offences, would
not be pleafing to them.

But to come to that which is mofl proper

for your Confederation, and for my Difcourfe,

The Law of England.

I muff acknowledge my own Ignorance, that

1 do not know any Law of this Nation now in

Force, for the putting ofJames Nayler for thefe

Offences to Death.

It is held that the Ordinance * of the Long
Parliament concerning Blafphemy is not now in

Force, and I do agree to that Opinion ; nor

do I know any other Law in that Cafe.

That Ordinance coft much Debate, and there-

in was a great diverfity ofJudgments j and fo I

prefume we fhall again find it, whenfoever thefe

Matters fhall fall under Consideration.

The Objection was very weightily urged,

That there is a Law in Force againil Herefy,

as appears by the Writ De Ha?retico comburendo,

which (they fay) was by the Common Law ;

and that Blafphemy is an Herefy within that

Law, by which he may be put to Death.
This Objection may receive a clear Anfwer.
I am not of Opinion, That Herefy was pu-

nifhable by the Common Law with Death, not-

withftanding the Writ De Htsretico comburendo
be in the Regilter ; for it is not in the antient

Manufcript Regiflers, which indeed is a true

part and demonftrationofthe Common Law. -f

Butthis Writ was of later Date, and brought
in by Arundel Archbifhop of Canterbury, in

Henry the Fourth's Time, for the Punifhment
and Suppreffion of Lollards, who were good
Chriflians, and of the fame Profeflion that we

are. But the blo6dy practice of that Prelate

did not work the Effect he intended, as appears
(blcfled be God) at this Day.
Yet if it mould be admitted that Herefy was

punifhableby Death at the Common Lawj thac

cannot include Blafphemy.

They are Offences of a different Nature 5

Herefy is Crimen Judicii, an erroneous Opinion

:

Blafphemy is Crimen Malitia?, a reviling the Name
and Honour of God.

Herefy was to be declared in particular, and
by the four firft general Councils. But the
Blafphemy in this Vote is general j and I do
not find it reckoned in thofe Councils for He-
refy.

I remember a Cafe in our Book of H. 7-
where the Bifhop committed one to Prifon for

a Heretick, and the Herefy was, denying That
Tythes were due to his Parfon. This at that Time
was a very great Herefy; but now I believe

fome are inclinable to think, that to fay, Tythes

are due to the Parfon, is a kind of Herefy.

So in this Cafe, That which now may bd
accounted Blafphemy, and the Offender to be
put to Death for it ; in another Age the con-
trary may be efteemed Blafphemy, and the Of-
fender likewife put to Death for that; which
may be warranted by the prefent Cafe before

you, if James Nayler fhould be put to Death
upon the general Vote for being guilty of hor-

rid Blafphemy, the Particulars thereof not be-
ing expreft.

And what Mifchief and Inconvenience in the

Confequence thereof may enfue to the People
of England, and to Poflerity, is worthy the Care
of a Parliament, and to be avoided, we being

fent hither to provide for the Good and Safety

of the People ; and not to do that, which may
bring them into Snares and Dangers.

If this Wretch be put to Death, it muff, be
either by Judgment of the Parliament, as the

Supreme Court of Juftice 5 or by Act of Parlia-

ment to attaint him of the Crimes, and to in-

flict the Punilhment of Death upon him for thofe

Crimes.

If you fhall think fit to proceed in the judi-

cial way, 1 hope you will be pleafed to confi-

der the Weight of the Confequences thereof,

and to be very clear in the Foundation, we
being here in a Corjffitution different from the

former.

And whofoever will take the Pains to read the

Records of the Parliament- Rolls in Edward the

Second, and Richard the Second's time, of the

Judgments then given in Parliament, (with
Quicknefsand Sharpnefs enough) and the fpeedy

Executions thereupon, will be the more tender

of making new Precedents of fuch Proceedings

in Parliament.

I am far from derogating from the Honour and
Authority ofParliaments, and ofthisefpecially 5

but I humbly inform you what I have obfei ved,

and fubmit it to your betterJudgment.
It is held, That antiently the Judicatory of

Parliaments was in the Lords Houfe, and parti-

cularly in criminal Caufes, which was very fre-

quent ; but feldom without an Impeachment by

the then Houfe of Commons, who were as

* This Ordinance hears date May 2, 1 64.8. and Ordains, that tvhoe-verfhould maintain any one of the federal'Opinions (then
caird Errors) unlefs be would abjure thefame, or after AbjurationJJjould relapfe', fiould be Guilty of Felony wjithout Binef.t ofClergy.

t See Hale'j Hift. P. C. Vol. I. p. 392. Note (h) p. 394. and Note (p) p. 709.... N n iht
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tfoe Grand Jury in that refpe& of the whole

Nation.
You are now the foie Parliament of England,

and have the fole Power in youj yet probably

fome may object, whether in a judicial Pro-

ceeding the Lord ProteSlor ought not to join

with you.

I do pot know any Judgment given in Parlia-

ment, but where there was a known Law then

in Force againft the Offence adjudged, and the

Judgment given according to that known
Law.

In this Cafe ofJames Nayler there is no known
Law in Force for the Punifhment of his Offence

with Death, and therefore I am not fatisfied,

that we fhould by Judgment of Parliament con-

demn him to Death ; nor to make a new Law
for the Punifhment of an Offence by Death,

which Law was not known nor made at the

Time of the Offence committed $ and this to

be done by a Judgment.
Perhaps it will be faid, That this may be done

by a Bill of Attainder, and I perceive many
Gentlemen inclined thereunto •, they have re-

membred the Cafes of the Earl of Strafford, and

of the Archbifhop of Canterbury, who were at-

tainted by Bill, and the Offences by them com-
mitted were not Treafon by the known Law at

the Time when they were committed, and yet

by Acl of Parliament they were attainted of

Treafon for thofe Offences.

But (here we are to) obferve, That in thofe

Ads of Attainder is a-Claufe, That they fhall

not be drawn into Precedent s and I hope they

fliall not.

And further give me leave to inform you*
That there is a great difference between thofe

Cafes, and that now before you.

By the Stat, if E. 5 . Treafons are enumerated,
and a Power is left in the Parliament to declare

any other FadTrs to be Treafon.

And the Facts of the Earl of Strafford, and
of the Archbifhop, in the general was the fame,
endeavouring to fubvert the Fundamental Laws
of the Land, and to introduce an Arbitrary and
Tyrannical Government ; which were maintain-
ed by the Arguments of a very learned and ho-
nourable Perfon, now a Chief Juftice, to be
Treafon by the Common Law of England.

But it will be hard to maintain, that the
Offences of James Nayler are punifhable by
Death by the Common Law of England, and
therefore it will be very dangerous in the Con-
fequence of it to inflict this Punifhment upon
him by a new Law.

I fhair not mention the Lofsof Time (where-

of too much hath been already fpent about this

Matter) in cafe you fhall proceed by Bill. All

the Matter mull be again debated and examined
by you, and after that by my Lord Protetlor.

But the Mifchief which it may produce to

the People of England in the Precedent of it,

wherein no Man can be fafe, that by a Law
now to be made you fhould inflict the Punifh-

ment of Death upon James Nayler for Offences,

which were not by the Law of England punifh-

able by Death at the Time when they were
committed, is the ftrong Argument with me to

be againft the Queftionfor the putting ofJames
Nayler to Death for thefc Offences

.

LIV. the
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LIV. The Trial ofSirHenry Slingsby * Kt.beforethe

High Court of Jufiice, for High-Treafon, the 15th of
May, 1658. 10 Car. II.

H E High Court being fet, and the

Names of the Commiffioners being

called,the Serjeant at Arms was com-
manded to fetch the Prifoner to the

Bar. Sir Henry Slingsby was brought

accordingly to the Bar. Then Proclamation

made for Silence, and the Commiffion for Trial

of the Prifoner read. Proclamation for Silence

again was made. Then Mr. Attorney-General

Prideaux exhibited a Charge of High Treafon

againft Sir Henry Slingsby the Prifoner > which

was read. The Subftance of which Charge was

asfoiloweth, viz.

' rT^HAT the Town otKingfton upon Hulk
* Jl in the County cAKingflon upon Hull, in

« England, on the nth of Oclober, i6f6, and

' ever fince, unto the Day of the exhibiting of

' this Charge, was and hath been, and is yet, a

* Town belonging to this Commonwealth j

« where there is a Garifon, and a great part of
1 the Army and Forces belonging to this Com-
* monweakh : That Sir Henry Slingsby, late of

* Redhoufe, in the County of York, Knighr,
« minding and intending to imbroil this Com-
' monwealth ininteftine Wars, the 30th of April

* laft,and divers Times fince the rothof Oclober

' 16^6, and before the faid 30th of April Lift,

* as a falfe Traitor and Enemy then and yet to

' his Highnefs Oliver, Lord Protector of thefe

' Nations, together with one Robert Gardiner

' and Edward Chapman, and with one William
* Smith, of the faid County o£Tork, Gentlemen,
* and divers others, did traitoroufly, advifedly,

' and malicioufly combine together, and plot

* and contrive to betray and yield up the faid

* Garifon of Hull unto Charles Stuart, eldeftSon
' of the late King Charles, now an Enemy to

* this Commonwealth.
' That the faid Sir Henry Slingsby, by like

' traitorous Combination, the faid 50th of April
* laft, and divers Times after the faid loth of Oil.

' i6y6, did traitoroufly and malicioufly plot,

' and contrive, and endeavour to flir up Muti-
* nies within the faid Garifon, to withdraw Ralph
' Waterhoufe, John Overton, George Thompfon,
c &c. Officers of the fame, from their Obedience
' to his Highnefs Oliver Lord Protector.

* That then and there, and at divers other
' Times, as well before as after the faid 30th of
* April laft, and after the faid 10th of Oclober,

* 1656', he the faid Sir Henry Slingsby did traito-

' rou-fly, advifedly, and malicioufly plot, con-
' trive, and endeavour to ftir and raife up Forces
' againft Oliver Lord Protector, and againft the
' Government of this Commonwealth, as the
' fame is eftablifhed, and to alter the fame.

* That the faid Sir Henry Slingsby did traito-

roufly, &V. then and there declare, publifh,

and promote the faid Charles Stuart to be King
of England, Scotland, and Ireland, and the Do-
minions thereto belonging, and held Corre-
fpondence with him. All thefe Things the
faid Sir Henry Slingsby, at Kingflon upon Hull
aforefaid, did malicioufly, &V. carry on by con-
ferring with the faid Officers how to effect the
aforefaid Treafon, and encouraging the faid

Officers thereto by promifing to them, and
every of them, Rewards and Sums of Money
to join with him in the Treafon aforefaid, and
by delivering to the faid Ralph Waterhou/e,one
of the Officers of the Garifon, a certain In-

ftrument under Seal, which the faid Sir Henry
Slingsby faid was from Charles Stuart, and did

purport to be a Commiffion from the faid

Charles Stuart, to him the faid Ralph Water-
boufe, to be Governor of the Caftle. All which
faid Treafons are contrary to the Statute in

that Cafe made and provided. With which
Treafons the find Attorney- General, on behalf

of the Lord Protector, ws. doth Charge the
faid Sir Henry Slingsby, and prays that the faid

Sir Henry Slingsby may be put to anfwer there-

to 5 averring that the faid Sir Henry Slingsby is

the Perfon by Name appointed by his High-
nefs the Lord Protector to be tried and pro-

ceeded againft. Signed May if, i6r8.'

Edm. Prideaux.

* Lord Prefident. Thou here (land- * johnlijle.

eft charged for High-Treafon : This
Court requires that thou give a pofitive Anfwer,
whether Guilty, or Not guilty.

Sir Henry Slingsby. I defire to have Counfel af=

figned me.
Ld Prefident. There is Matter of Fact laid to

your Charge, which amounts to Treafon •, and
there is no Law allowed in Matters of Fact.

Sir //. Slingsby. There is alfo Matter of Law

:

And I defire to be tried by a Jury, which is ac-

cording to the Law of the Land.

Ld Prefident. We are all here your Jury, as

well as your Judges: We are the Number of
two or three Juries. And your Jury is well

known ; for they are chofen by the Parliament.

You are to plead to your Indictment.

Sir H. Slingsby. I defire to know whether
there can be any Conviction, unlefs it be by
Confeffion ?

Ld Prefident. If you had looked upon the Act
of Parliament, that would have toid you : It

fpeaksof Examination of Witneffes-, it fpeaksof

your Confeffion and Anfwer, and of your De-
fault ;

* Clar. Hift. Vol. 3. p. 485, fcrV.
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fault ;and if you do not plead to it, it will be

very penal to you.

Sir H. Slingsby. If it be by the Laws of the

Land, that the Trial fhould be by a Jury, 1 de-

fire I may have that Privilege.

Ld Prefident. Acts of Parliament make Juftice

and Law: They are both. They think fit to

change the Cuftom of Trials that have been in

former Times, and all Perfons muft fubmit to it.

And the Parliament hath thought fit to make
this Court both Jury and Judges. And there-

fore I require that you anfwer, whether Guilty
or Not Guilty.

Sir H. Slingsby. I defire that the Act of Par-

liament may be read.

Ld Prefident. You are before your Jury arid

Judges; Parliaments have great Care of the

Rights of the People, and have appointed this

Court; and his Highnefs hath appointed you
to be tried by usj you ought therefore to plead

to your Indictment.

Sir H. Slingsby. The Law gives Liberty in

cafe ofJuries to the Party accufed, to make his

Exceptions againft the Jury; which he cannot
do here, where you are both Judge and Jury.
Ld Prefident. If you have any particular Ex-

ception to any Man, you may make it : You
were, Sir, of the Parliament when this Act was
made.

Sir H. Slingsby. I was a Prifoner at the fame
Time.
Ld Prefident. Although a Prifoner, yet you

are bound by Act of Parliament.

Mr. Phelps, Clerk. You have heard your
Charge read, and Plea demanded : The Court
again requires of you that you give a pofitive

Anfwer, whether Guilty, or not.

Sir H, Slingsby. I am, my Lord, ofan Opinion
(though you account it a Paradox) that I cannot
trefpafs againft your Laws, becaufe I did not
fubmit to them.

Ld Prefident. All the People of England muft
fubmit to the Laws of England, to the Autho-
rities of England; all muft fubmit to my Lord
Protector and Acts of Parliament. We fit here

by Authority of his Highnefs, byaCommiflion
under the Great Seal of England, and by
Authority of Parliament; and you muft fubmit
to our Authority.

Sir H. Slingsby. The Laws have been fo un-
certain with me, that I could not well know
them j and when I was a Prifoner, I could not
take notice of them : I could have no Benefit

by your Laws, becaufe that is no Law to me
which doth not give me Intereft and Property

to what I have, it is the Benefit ofLaws, that

they do diftinguifh between meum and tuum :

But when you take all from me, in my Cafe it

is not fo.

Mr. Attorn. Gen. Prideaux. He may enjoy as

much Benefit by the Laws as any, if he have
not forfeited it j and I defire he may be put to

anfwer.

Ld Prefident. The Court again require you
to plead to your Indictment.

Sir H. Slingsby. Not guilty.

Mr. Phelps. Your Plea then is, That you are

Not Guilty. To which Sir Henry Slingsby an-

fwered, Yes.

Mr.Lechmere. Mr. Attorney-General having

exhibited a Charge of High-Treafon againtt

this Gentleman, Sir H. Slingsby, the Prifoner at

the Bar, the Charge doth fet forth, That the

Town of Kingfton upon Hull, October 1 1, I6f6,
and ever fince, to the Time of exhibiting the

Charge, was a Town of this Commonwealth's j

and that within that Town, in all that Time,
there is and hath been a Garifon, and part of the

Army of this Commonwealth •, and during that

Time, Ralph Waterhoufe, John Overton, George

Thompfon, &c. were Officers of the Forces of
that Garifon. That Sir H. Slingsby, minding
to imbroil the Commonwealth in War, April

30 laft, and divers other Times fince Otlober o,

1 6f<S, as a falfe Traitor and Enemy to his High-
nefs the Lord Protector, did plot, contrive, and
endeavour to betray the faid Town and Garifon
to Charles Stuart, an Enemy to this Common-

'

wealth. It fets forth further, That SirH Slings-

by, the Time and Place aforefaid, did contrive
and endeavour to ftir up Mutinies among the
Soldiery of that Garifon, and to raife Forces
againft this Commonwealth; and that he did

publifh and declare the faid Charles Stuart to be
King of England, Scotland, and Ireland, £jV.

and hath held Correfpondence with him j and
that he delivered to the faid Ralph Waterhoufe
a certain Inftrument, which he faid wasaCom-
miflion from Charles Stuart: All which Trea-
fonsare contrary to the Form and Effect of the
Act of Parliament. And the Prifoner having
pleaded Not guilty, which Plea is recorded,
we are ready to prove him guilty, and ready to •

call our WitnefTes.

Mr. At. Gen. You have heard the Charge, and
Plea Not guilty ; it refts upon us to prove it

to you. This Gentleman himfelf, I believe,

when he hath heard them particularly opened,
will be convinced that ofthefe Acts he hath been
guilty. It would not have been expected from
him to have tafted of the Mercy of this Court:
For had he had Juftice done formerly, he had
not been to have anfwered this here. I do be-
lieve it was expected from thofe that did govern,
to have got him off by Mercy, not to take
him off by Juftice. But heceafed not to inter-

pofe on the Behalf of Charles Stuart, and en-

deavoured to bring him in again, and had like

to have withdrawn the faithful Officers of that

Garifon to betray their Truft: IfMoney would -

have done it, that was not wanting to be offered ;

if Preferment would have wrought upon them,
that was proffered ; if Hopes of higher Prefer-

ment under Charles Stuart would have wrought
upon them^k^would have been done. But to

our WitnefTes.

Ralph Waterhoufe fworn.
Mr. At. Gen. What Difcourfe had you with

Sir Henry Slingsby, touching the delivering up
of Hull ?

Mr. Waterhoufe. I had feveral Difcourfes with
him j particularly about the latter end of De-
cember laft, being a hunting, Sir Henry Slingsbfs

Son came to me in the Field, and told me his

Father prefented his Service tome, and gave me
a Book j which I looked on about an Hour
after, and found it was a printed Book. At the

beginning was a Paper thus written, Put this

out withyour Finger, and then tell me whether Rob.
Gardiner had notfpoke to me toferve the King, &c.
Prefently after I acquainted Col. Smith, who ad-

vifed me to difcover, if I could, whether Sir

H. Slingsby was carrying on any Plot. I went to Sir

//. Slingsby, and Sir H.S. took me to the Win-
dow-
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dow- fide, and hugged and embraced me 5 and

asked me \$ Robert Gardiner had not fpoke to me
to ferve the King : and then began with a great

many good Words, and faid that one (meaning

his Highnefs) had put a difrefpe6t upon me,

and if I would I might right myfelf •, with many

other Words ; and promifedme a Sum of Money,

to fecure the South-houfe for the Service of the

Kinc*. About a Week after, he fent the Book
again, and in the fame Leaf wrote a few Lines

more, which I alfo fhewed to Col. Smith s he

promifed me fooo/. in Land or Money here or

elfewhere. I made many Queries, and told him

I thought it was to no purpofe : he told me,

that if that Houfe were fecured, in a little time

he would bring an Army to befiege Hull, and

then half our Work would be done. He after

fent me another Paper, which was to this pur-

pofe, That if the Governour fought for him,

he would give Security for his peaceable living

;

and faid, if I would give him a Piece, he would

make it twenty if he did not procure me a

Commiflion from C. Stuart within fourteen

days. He faid further, That a great Party

were engaged in Scotland. Upon the fecond of

April he delivered to me a Commiflion, which

he faid was from the King j and the Commiflion

being read in Court, the faid Mr. Waterhoufe

averred it to be the fame he received of Sir

Henry Slingsby, and which ran thus

:

C. R.

CH A R L E S by the Grace of God (with the

old ufual Title, 13c.) to our Right Trujly

and Well-beloved Major Ralph Waterhoufe : We
do by thefe Prefents confiitute and appoint you to be

Governour of the Cajlle and two Block- Houfes near

Hull, and to put fuch a Garifon ofHorfe and Foot

therein, as you palljudge neceffary for the Defence

of the fame ; and to command the Garifon and Go-

vernour thereof and to do all things neceffary for

the Prefervation of the fame Place. Given at

Bruges, March it. \6

f

7.

Sir H. Slingsby alfo faid to me, That he had
fpoken with Capt. Overton, and promifed to fur-

nifli him with Money to lay in Provifion, and
engaged by a Bond to repay fuch Money, as I

fhould lay out for the Victualling of the South-
Houfe j and alfo read a Letter from C. Stuart,

running 1 hus, / can never be enoughfenfible ofyour

Favours, Sec. I demanded how the Army mould
come •, he anfwered, that the Duke of York, had

7 or 8000 Men, that the King of Spain would
furnifh them, if there was a place of Security.

And asking what way of Conefpondence he
had with C. Stuart, he faid he had a way of
having Commiflions from C. Stourt, which he
would not difcover. [ Here Sir H. Slingsby

food up, and difowned any fuch Expreffion7\

M. At. Gen. What Officer were you, Mr.
Waterhoufe ?

Mr. Waterhoufe. I have the Command of a

Company, and of the South Block-houfe.
Mr. /It. Gen. Mr. Waterhoufe, what Letter

was that Sir H. Slingsby fent to his Son?
Mr. Wat. The Contents were thus: That

Harry wouldfpeak to the two Men to be very im-
portunate with the twelve. Sir H. Slingsby pro-
mifed lo many Men that he offered Capt. Over-
ton zo /. to raife forty Men.

Mr. At. Gen. How many Men did he tell you
fhould be at Paul near Hull?

279
Mr. Waterhoufe. 600 to march into Hull.

Mr. At. Gen. What Men did he tell you An~
drew would raife ?

Mr. Wat. He faid Andrew would raife fifty or

fixty Men when he pleafed, and that Capt.

Overton mould have a Deputation to command
the Caftle under me ; he faid he had good hopes

of Col. Smith, and that he had a Commiflion
for him, if he would accept of it.

Sir H. Slingsby. This which is here fpoken
in Serioufnefs, was then fpoke in Mirth, a mere
Difcourfe, as thofe that are ingoodFellowfhip
may have, and what I faid or did was but in

Jeft.

Ld Prefident. There ought to be no good
Fellowfhip in Treafon.

Mr. Wat. I never vifited him but by CoL
Smith's Commiflion. Sir H. Slingsby according

to his Engagement, upon receipt of a Piece,

gave me another Commiflion running thusj
Oliver, Lord Proteclor, &c. took it again, and
burned it.

Mr. At. Gen. Sir Henry, was it you that filled

up that blank Commiflion ?

Sir H. Slingsby. It is more than any Man
knows : but it is not the Commiflion I gave

Waterhoufe, which is dated 12, March^ 16

j

7.

Capt. John Overton fworn.

Mr. Phelps fhew'd him the Commiflion dated

\t March, \6^j.
Mr. At. Gen. Did you fee that Commiflion

delivered to Waterhoufe'by Sir H. Slingsby ?

Capt. Overton. Yes, 1 did ; he delivered it to

him in the Cafile about the fecond ofApril laft.

Sir H. Slingsby. Mr. Overton, what date did

that Commiflion which I then delivered benr ?

Capt. Overton. This is the fame Commiflionj

and (having it in his Hand) I here fee it is dated

1 2. March, 16 5*7.

SirH. Slingsby. I deny that the Commiflion I

then delivered did bear that date.

Waterh. and Overton. My^ord, we are upon
our Oaths.

Capt. Overton. I faw SirH. give it to Major
Waterhoufe in his own Chamber in the Caftle of

Hull, and Major W bid me read it, which I

did.

Sir H. Slingsby. Was that Commiflion, which
you read, dated iz March?

[Capt. Overton reads the Copy of it, which
he then wrote from the Original, which agreed

with this.]

Sir H. Slingsby. I deny that the Commiflion
then delivered was of that Date.

Waterh. and Overton both deny the altering

of the Date.

Sir H. Slingsby. Major Waterhoufe defired me
to alter the Date of the Commiflion, and I

fcraped out April and the Day, and put in March.

Capt. Overton examined.

Mr. At. Gen. What Treaty was between Sir

H and you at Hull? Are you an Officer there ?

Capt. Overton. Yes.

Mr. At. Gen. How long have you been an

Officer there ?

Capt. Overton. About ten Years.

Mr. At. Gen. What Proceedings was there

between Sir H. and you? What Meetings had

you, &c. Was he your Priibner?

Capt.
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1

Capt. Overton. He was my Prifoner. The firft

time he (pake any thing to me, was on Feb. 18.

kft, when he told me, he thought me the ftricteft

Man alive with Prifoners, but now would be-

lieve the contrary : faid, that I fearched a Man
of his for a Letter ; but afterwards, to prevent

me, he gave his Letter in a Purfe with fome
Money to his Landrefs, who carried it into the

Town, and fent it away > and after that (he told

me) I never found any Letter. I told him, if

he wanted any thing necefiary, I would go to the

Governour about it : he told me, it was not

much for that, but that I might very much be-

friend him. He wrote to me, that a Colonel

(naming him) was engaged to bring fix Regi-
ments from the King ; asking whether I knew
my Men were right for me, and particularized

one Clark : I told him he was right. He asked me
what I thought of ioo /. to give them : I told

him they did not ufe to have fuch great Gratui-

ties. This was 18 Feb. i6fj.
28 Feb.. He asked me where the Sally-port

was : I told him it was twenty yards from the

Cattle. He told me, fome Prifoners not long

ago intended to make an Efcape that way, but

were prevented, and asked me which way it

enter'd into the Caftle, which way I could let

in any Men into the Caftle, that I {hould not

want Money •, whether I could tell how to vi-

ctual the Cattle, he would be glad if I could do
it. He told me, that the King kept his Defigns

fo clofe, that none knew of them, and that it

was not known whether he would land at Hull

or Scarborough.

2 March. He asked me whether I continued

my Command : I told him I knew nothing to the

contrary ; to which he fhew'd much gladnefs.

He told me, Duke Daffy was to bring a consi-

derable Party, but ftaid fo long that the reft:

were gone.

6 March. He asked mc what News, and faid

that Chapman had allured his Son the Town was

too ftrong for the Garrifon $ and asked me who I

knew in the Town to be right : I told him, Ecliv.

Chapman was not for the Soldiery.

14 March. I told him, that his old Mafter C.

Stuart was about to fet fail with 7 or 8000 Men.
He faid, that the King was more private than to

let any Man know his Defign ; but asked me,
whether I was ready to receive him ?

2$ March. Sir H. Slingsby being below in our

Chamber, told me that 1 had a fit opportunity

to receive fuch Men as might be right for me.

I told him, I thought I could not have halfmy
number. He told me, he was glad I would
ferve the King ; and faid, that if he had any Fa-

vour from the King, I (hould not want any
thing. He told me he had aflurance, that any

that aflifted the King when he firft came to kifs

his Mother Earth, he would give them 4 or

5-000 /. That he would furnifh me with Money -

3

and defired that I would not ihoot any great

Bullets at King Charles's Men when they were
landing. And further told me, That if I would

take a Depu'ation to command under Major
Waterhoufe, he would procure it.

On April z. Sir FI.S. told Major Waterhoufe,

That he had a Commiflion for him to be Go-
vernour of Hull, and I faw him deliver a Parch-

ment Commiflion to Major Waterhoufe.

Mr. At. Gen. If Sir H. hath any thing to ob-

je£t, he may.

Sir. H. Slingsby. I fee that I am trepan'd by
thefe two Fellows : they have faid that feriouily

againft me, which was fpoken in Mirth between
us : I never fought to them, but they to me:
the Commiflion was procured by no Intercourfe

with any Perfons beyond the Seas, but a Blank
which 1 had for four Years together. Nor had
I any Correfpondence beyond Sea, to carry on
any Defign here.

Lieutenant 'George Thompfon £v?orn.

Being asked what Officer he was, he an-

fwered, I am a Lieutenant to Major Waterhoufe,
I was defired to go and fee Sir H. Slingsby', April

\6, who told me, That he had great Confidence
in me. I faid to him, Why ? He told me, he
thought I had good Thoughts of the King. His
Son told me, he heard the King was to come in,

and to bring in aconfiderable Army, but knew
not when. Next day I went again to Sir H.
and asked him if he would walk on the Leads,
which he did ; and there I told him, I had been
pondering on the Words he laft fpoke to me:
who then hugging me, faid, I have a great deal

of Confidence in you, there is a Defign in agi-

tation to bring in the King with a considerable

Army, but he did not know how foon it would
be; but told me, I fhould have notice of it:

and faid that the King had promifed Pardon to

all Officers but the Lord Protector and Lord
Bradjhaw.

Sir H. Slingsby. I confefs fuch like Difcourfes j

but Waterhoufe fpoke to me, that I would
fpeak to Thompfon to try whether he would
be afliftant; but I told him I would not, left:

he fhould not accept it, and then turn him out of
his Place. Waterhoufe prefled me to [go to

Thompfon, and Major Waterhoufe invited us to

his Houfe to dinner : After dinner he fpoke to

Thompfon to go with me on the Leads, to fhew
me the Guns ; we walked about, and came
down again. Then faid Waterhoufe to me,
Did not you fpeak ito Thompfon ? I faid not.

You had a good Opportunity, faid he. At laft

Thompfon came to me, and I had fome Dif-

courfe with him about it.

LdPrefident. Sir H. S. have you any thing .

elfe to fay ?

Sir H. Slingsby. No, my Lord.

[Then Mr. Serjeant Maynard fummed up the

Charge, Plea, and Evidence, and eloquently fet

forth the Fulnefs and Clearnefs of the Evidence,

with the heinoufnefs of the Offence, and de-

manded the Judgment of the Court.]

Mr. At. Gen. I fhall not trouble you with Re-
petition, the Matter being clearly laid open . The
Place where this Acting was, and where the

Defign was laid, was, I may fafely fay, the mod
considerable Place in England {or Charles Stuart's

Defign; a Place ftrongly feated and fituated, and
remote from this City : and had he prevailed

there, as he endeavoured, it had not been Peace

with us that now are here. And, truly, my Lord,
I cannot but pity thofe Gentlemen that are thus

drawn into Defigns which I am confident will

never takej and I amforry that People fhould

be fo feduced as they are, for their Seducers

bring them to the Gallows, and then laugh at

them. And my Lord, I pity this Gentleman,
(pointing
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(pointing at Sir H.) that thofe grey Hairs fhould

thus go to the Grave. I have no more to fay,

but crave the Juftice of this Court.

The Serjeant at Arms was commanded to take

away the Pnfoner.

Proclamation for Adjournment of the Court

into the Painted Chamber: After a little private

Debate in the Painted Chamber, they adjourned

till Thurfday next, Nine in the Morning.
Thurfday, May 2.7, being appointed for the

Meeting of the fame Court, about Ten of the
clock they accordingly met in the Painted Cham-
ber, JVeftminfier; where after about two Hours
private Debate, they adjourned 'till Tuefday next,

thefirft Day oijune.

*» .* ;» 4fe .« i!&* ;* .^ ^^^ i& i^ ^ i&* * ^ if; i&^

LV. The Trial of Dr. John Hewet , before the

Court of Jufticefor High-Treafon, the
\fi. of June, 1658.

10 Car. II.

H E Serjeant at Arms being com-
manded by the Court to fetch the

Prifoners to the Bar ; Dr. Hewet was
brought to the Bar accordingly.

After Proclamation was made for

Silence, the Lord Prefident asked Mr. Attorney-

! General what he had to fay againft the Prifoner

at the Bar. Mr. Attorney- General thereupon

exhibited an Impeachment of High-Treafon a-
'

gainft the Prifoner, and defired it might be read,

and pray'd that the Court would pleafe to receive
1 his Anfwer thereunto. The Charge was read by

Mr. Phelps the Clerk} the Effect of which was

as folio weth, viz.

« »-Tp HAT John Hewet, late of the Parifh of

* A Gregory's in the City of London, Doctor
c of Divinity, minding and intending to em-
* broil this Commonwealth in new and inteftine

' Wars, the 30th ot April now laft paft, and at

4 divers times fince the 10th of October, which
* was in the Year of our Lord i6f6, and before

' the faid 30th of April laft paft, as a falfe Trai-

* tor and Enemy to Oliver then and yet Lord
* Protector of the Commonwealth of England,

* Scotland, and Ireland, and the Dominions and
* Territories thereunto belonging, and to the

» faid Commonwealth} together with one Tre-

* lawney lute of London Gent. Henry Biffop of
* Lewes in Suffex Gent, and other their Com-
' plices, at the Parifh of Gregory's aforefaid, and
' at Lewes in Suffex, did traitoroufly, advifedly,

* and malicioufly plot, contrive, and endeavour
* to ftir up Force, and levy War againft the faid

; * Oliver Lord Protector, and againit theGovern-
; ment of this Commonwealth, as the fame is

' now eftabliftied, and to fubvert and alter the
1 fame. And did alfo then and there, and at

1 divers other times and places, as well before
1 as after the faid 30th Day of April now laft

' paft, and after the faid 10th of October 16 f 6,

* traitoroufly, advifedly, and malicioufly declare,

* publifh, and promote Charles Stuart, eldeft

' Son to the late King Charles, to be King of
4 England, Scotland, and Ireland, and the Do-
' minions thereunto belonging : And did then
* and there traitoroufly, advifedly, and mali-

VOL, II.
* Clar. Hift. Vol. 3. p. 485, Sec.

cioufly hold Intelligence and Correfpondence
with the faid Charles Stuart. All which faid

Treafons he the faid John Hewet, at the Pa-
rifh of Gregory's in the faid City of London, and
alfo at Lewes and elfewhere, did traitoroufly,

advifedly, and malicioufly declare, at the times
and places aforefaid, by conferring with John
Stapely and Henry Mallory how to effect the
fame} and by encouraging the faid John Stapely

and Henry Mallory thereunto, and by delivering

Commiffions to them from the faid Charles

Stuart, concerning the levying War againft

the faid Oliver Lord Protector of the Com-
monwealth of England, Scotland, and Ireland,

8cc. All which faid Treafons are

contrary to the Stature in that cafe made and
provided. With which faid Treafons com-
mitted and done, the faid Attorney-General,

for and on the behalf of his Highnefs the Lord
Protector and the Commonwealth, doth charge
and impeach the faid John Hewet; and for and
on the behalf of the faid Oliver Lord Protec-
tor, and the Commonwealth, prayeth that the

faid John Hewet may be put to anfwer } that

fuch Trial, Judgment, and Proceedings may
be had againft him, as to Juftice doth apper-

tain. And the faid Attorney-General doth aver

that the faid John Hewet \s thePerfon by Name
appointed by his Highnefs the Lord Protector.

to be try'd and proceeded againft according to

the Ad.'

\_Dr. Hewet, the Prifoner, fitting covered whilfi

his Impeachment was reading, the Lord Prefident

commanded his Hat to be taken off; which the Doc-

tor obferving took it off himfelf. T'hen Mr. Phelps,

Clerk to the High Court, addrefs'd to the Prifoner

to this effeel ;]

Mr. Phelps. John Hewet D. D. thou ftandeft

here charged of High-Treafon } this Cogrt re-

quires you to give a pofitive Anfwer, whether

Guilty or Not guilty.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, if I have already mif-

behaved myfelf here, my Error is the more par-

donable, becaufe I have not had any Counfel j

and I dare not prefume to have any Knowledge
O o in
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in any Faculty, efpecially in the Law. I never

did change my Caflbck into a Jump; I am bet-

ter acquainted with a Pulpit than a Bar} better

read in St. Aufiin than my Lord Coke j and in the

Fathers, than RaftaVs Entries, or Plowden's Com-

mentaries. In all my Life I never ftudied any

Law-Cafe 'till now j that Neceffity that hath no

Law hath made me thus far to become a Law-
yer, as to think to plead (not for my Livelihood,

but) for my Life. God forgive them that have

occafioned this unufual and unaccuftomed Stu-

dy, that hath put me into fuch a Pulpit as I ne-

ver faw before. And therefore, my Lord, in as

much as I have often heard that there are fuch

Niceties in the Law, that a Man may be loft in

the Severity of it for a word fpoken in mere

Simplicity ; I fhall crave that there may be no-

thing taken, in Prejudice to my Innocency, from

words fpoken in Simplicity : And I hope you

will pleafe to grant me that.

% Ld Prefident. Dr. He-wet, I am forry, truly

very forry, to fee fuch a one as you in that place

;

but you are impeached of High-Treafon : All

Favour will be (hewn you according to the Rules

of Juftice. I think you defire Counfel ?

Dr. Hewet. No, my Lord, it is firft, that I

knowing nothing of the Law, may have nothing

((Imply fpoken) prejudice mej and that you will

allow me Counfel.

Ld Prefident. The Court is Counfel for you,

yourBufinefs is to plead to the Indictment} you

are required by the Court to anfwer whether

Guilty or Not guilty.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, you fit there as Judge,

I befeech you let me know by what Commiffion

you fit there.

Ld. Prefident. Dr. Hewet, we fit here by a

Commiffion under the Great Seal of England, in

purfuance of an Act of Parliament } that's our

Commiffion.
Dr. Hewet. Pray give me the favour to have

the Commiffion read, my Lord.

Ld Prefident. Dr. Hewet, we know our own
Authority, it is not ufual to read Commiffions to

Prifoners ; the Laws of England and A£ts of Par-

liament are to be fubmitted to.

Dr. Hewet. I am not to own every Perfon that

will fit to judge me, therefore I defire to know
by what Commiffion you fit, and who are the

Judges, and then I fhall fay no more.

Ld Prefident. Thofe that are to judge you, are

very well known } you confented your felf to the

Judges, we are all cholen by Act of Parliament,

the Parliament hath confented to it j we are cho-

fen Judges, and are your Judges by Act of Par-

liament.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, I muft know the Per-

fons, whether they be all here} I fee but very

few.

Ld Prefident. Here be very many, and we
have been all called this Morning, as the Courfe
is, and we fit now as your Judges.

Dr. Hewet. Under favour, my Lord, as I

remember, the Commiffion by the Act is directed

to ifo, and there are the Lords Commiflioners
of the Great Seal, with the Lords of his High-
nefs's Treafury, and all the Judges, and divers

other Perfons, are named in the t\&. of Parlia-

ment : I do not fee fo many Faces as are mention-
ed in that Act.

Ld Prefident. Dr. Hewet, I mufl tell you the

Quorum is any Seventeen or more of them : If

we are here Seventeen or more, we are a Quorum
by that Commiffion : We are here I believe For-

ty or Fifty.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, with Submiffion, the

Cafe is true, in cafe the Commiffioners were but
Seventeen, and they all prefent, then they might-

hear and determine} but if one were abfent, they
cannot, my Lord, as I conceive.

Ld Prefident. You are a Perfon of Parts, and
therefore we may delight to hear you} but we
muft keep ourfelvesto theBufinefsof the Court:
You are required by the Court to anfwer the Im-
peachment.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, if you fit by the Act,
fit according to the A6t, and then I fhall fubmit.
It was refolved by all the Judges of the King's-

Bench in the 15th of Eliz. in the Earl, of * Lei-

cejler's Cafe.

t Mr. At. Gen. The Doctor did profefs his

Ignorance of the Laws, yet pretends more Know-
ledge than the Court: The Court are here, and
know themfelves lawfully authorized to try you.
Dr. Hewet, if you pleafe to proceed to give your
Anfwer, whether guilty or not, you will find the

Juftice of the Court to be according to the Laws
of England.

Dr. Hewet. This learned Gentleman, I know
his Face, though not his Name ; he fpeaks ac*

cording to Worth, but I cannot anfwer him ac-

cording to Law, and therefore frill plead Igno-
rance of the Law, but defire to be tried accord-
ing to Law } and I have given you a Law Pre-
cedent, if you will go againft it I fhall fay no
more.

Mt. At. Gen. This Gentleman hath it by Tra-
dition, not by his own Knowledge } but the Cafe

he mentions cannot parallel this. The Ad of

Parliament faith, an Hundred and Fifty, or any
Seventeen, here are three Seventeen?.

Mr. Sol. Ellis. I think the Commiffion is di-

rected to your Lordfhips, or any Seventeen :

\_Which Commiffioners, or any Seventeen, &c.J
The Meaning whereof is, That thofe Seventeen,

or more .reflectively, fhould hear, rjjV. There
were feveral Quorums for England, Scotland and
Ireland; Seventeen for England, Thirteen for

Scotland, &c That Cafe out of Plowden dif-

fers clearly from this : For if a Commiffion be

directed, and there be no Quorum, then the

Commiffioners muft all certify. We humbly
conceive, that if your Lordfhips be here Seven-

teen, or more, you are fully authorized to pro-

ceed.

Mr. At. Gen. In many Cafes you have a Quo-

rum of Perfons, fuch and fuch Men : It's true,

here is no Quorum of Perfons but a Quorum of

the Number} and if there be a Quorum of Seven-

teen, it is warrantable.

Dr. Hewet. This learned Gentleman, he is

better able to fpeak what is Law than I } but un-

der favour, and with Submiffion, I do not think

he may judge of the Laws, or the other (that fpoke

his private Conception) to interpret the Meaning
I

of the Parliament. And, my Lord, if your

Lordfhip pleafe, I fhall make this my humble
Appeal to the learned Judges of the Law, That

if they will fay, in this refpect, that this is a law-

ful Judicature, I fhall proceed.

X John Lifle. * Plowd. 384: f Mr. Prideaux.

Ld Prefident.
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Ld. Prefident. You have heard the words of

the Act of Parliament read, Authority is given

totheCommiflioners, or any Seventeen or more

of them 5 {Which [aid Commiffioners refipeblively']

that is, for England Seventeen, or more of them:

and you have heard the Judgment of the Court

upon that. That which you fpeak of in relation

to my Lord Leicefter's Cafe is true; if a Com-
miffion be directed to Commiffioners, and no

Quorum appointed, then all mutt certify •, but

by the Aft of Parliament, and the Commiffion

made in purfuance of it, the Quorum is Seven-

teen : but here are three Quorums.

Dr. Hezvet. My Lord, in as much as all the

Commiffioners are named in that Act, and that

Commiffion is according to the Act, they are nil

commifiionated to fit; and unlefs all fit, the reft

cannot try and examine, &V. And I Hull refer it

to the Judges of the Laws.

Ld Prefident. We did not call our felves to be

your Judges; by being named your Judges by

Act of Parliament, we have Power to declare to

you what the Law is by that Act ofParliament.

I have declared it.

Dr. He-wet. My Lord, if the Quorum had been

named, then it were fomewhat; but itbeing di-

rected to Seventeen, or more, when more or Se-

venteen are commifiionated, all muft fit : 1 refer

it again to the Judges of the Laws.

Ld Prefident. Dr. Hezvet, what you fay now,

or what you fay hereafter, befides this, you have

time to fpeak to, as to Matter of Law, after

Matter of Fact hath been tried; if you plead to

Matter of Fact, what you fay to the Court as

to Matter of Law, we fhall be ready to hear

it ; apply your felt* to the Court in Matter of

Fact. The Court asks you, whether guilty or

not?

Dr. flewet. My Lord, I mult firft know whe-
ther the Court be a lawful Judicature, before I

give in my Defence.

Ld Preftdent. Dr. Hezvet, you have offered

very much touching the Jurildiction of the

Court, in Conclufion you mult acquiefce; I

mutt put you up to plead ; you know the Dan-
ger, if you do not plead, being required : if you
itand mute and do not plead, it is equally as

dangerous to you, as if you had confefTed the

Crimes.

Dr. Hezvet. I am fo highly fenfible of the Pri-

vileges of an EngUJJ)man, that both for the Sa-

tisfaction of my own Confcience, and all Per-

fons, I would not willingly give up the Liber-

ties and Privileges of any Engtijh Freeman to a-

dy body that demands it; I am very loth that

there fhould be any juft Imputation laid upon
me, that I mould feek a Diiturbance in point of
Self-Intereft, to divide myfelf from the Com-
munion of thofe that are my Fellow-Freemen;
and I fhould (as I have always) abhor to be both
a Sch'fmatick from the Church, and lingular

from the State. My Lord, I am fo concern-
ed for the Privileges of an Enghfij Freeman, and
publick Interelt, that I fhould be loth to do any
thing togwards the giving them up, that might
make my Heart ake. I fhall defire it may be de-

termined by the Judges.
Ld Prefident. You fpeak of common Friend-

ship
;
what is common Friendlhip, but to be a

Friend to the publick Government? Ifyou have
been a Friend to the Government and Peace of
this Nation, you need not fear to plead to the
Vol. II.
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Indictment: And therefore I require you to

plead to it.

Dr. Hezvet. Whenever you fhall come to a

particular Examination of the Bufinefs, it will

not appear that I have been an Enemy > I defire,

that whereas there are many Niceties in the

Laws, I humbly crave the Engagement of your

Honours, that there may not be any Advantage
taken.

Mr. At, Gen. God forbid.

Dr. Hezvet. My Lord, I think I have not
;

fpoken any thing unrcafonably, or againft Lawj
and therefore humbly crave my former Re-
queft.

Mr. At. Gen. If you pleafe, the Doctor knows
that there muft be a Judgment, in which we
muft acquiefce : This is that Judicature that calls

you before them; you fit by the higheft Autho-
rity of England \ an Act of Parliament in the

firft place, a Commiffion under the Great Seal

in the fecond place, and a Commiffion of his

Highnefs, againft whom, of which the Doctor
is one; I defire he may give an anfwer to the

Impeachment^ that being done, we fhall have
Liberty on both fides to fpeak to what is Ju-
llice, and Law, and Fact: if you are not guil-

ty, be you a flured that this Court will not tike

your Blood upon them ; you have a very fair

Court.

Dr. Hewet. This learned Perfon fpeaks very

fairly; it fhall be far from me to queltion any
Act of a lawful Parliament: but under favour

as yet it doth not appear to me, that you have

by that Act by which you fit, Power to hear

and determine concerning the Matters of which
I am charged: I refer it, and appeal again and
again to the learned Judges of the Laws, even
his Highr.efs's Judges.

Ld Prefident. Dr. Hezvet, the Court has had
much Patience in hearing of you thus long, you
having not fo much as owned their Authority 5

if you will not own us, we will own you:
therefore I require the Clerk to enter it, that we
have required you to plead.

Mr. Phelps Clerk. John Hezvet, you here ftand

charged of High- Vreafon agiinft his Highnefs

the Lord Protector and the Commonwealth j

the Charge hath been read to you, the Court

have demanded whether Guilty or Not guilty j

they again demand ofyou whether Guilty Or Not
guilty.

Dr. Hezvet. My Lord, I fhall be very loth to

do any thing to fave my Life, and forfeit a good
Confcience; and 1 fhall not, for my private Jn-

tereft, give up the Privileges of thofe that are

equal Freemen with my ielf : 1 am look'd upon
in a double Capacity, as a Clergyman, and as a

Commonwealth's Man; I fhould be very loth to

be fcandalous in either : And pray be pleafed to

do that Juftice to your felves, as to vindicate

the Legality of your Judicature, and then I'll

proceed.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, you was pleafed to

tell the Doctor, That you will own him when

he doth not own you j but, my Lord, his flying

in your Face, and taxing you thus, is not to be

endured : I wifh he would have that Considera-

tion of himfelf, that if he doth not own your

Authority, you expect to be owned, otherwife

he will be fuppofed to be guilty of all thofe

Crimes that arc laid to his Charge; and by not

pleading, he doth confefs them; that will be an

O o i high
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Dr. Hewet. My Lord, I hope it is not the

Senfe of the whole Court, that they fhould

proceed againfl me, either to Sentence, or

any other way, till firfb they clear themfelves

to me.

Mr. At. Gen. Pray, who is the Judge ? You
mufl clear your felf to him.
Ld Preftdent. If there be any here that are of

another Opinion, let him declare himfelf. Dr.
Hewet, you lofe your felf mightily in laying this

one thing fo often, and we lofe our Time : I re-

quire you again to plead.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, I cannot fpeak of that
too often, that is fo dear and precious tome and
every Perfon.

Mr. At. Gen. I can fay no more, but pray your
Juftice.

Ld Preftdent. Dr. Hewet, I am called upon by.

the Court, becaufe of your Refufal to anfwerj
but I pity you very much, and therefore defire

once more the Patience and Favour of the Court,
that they would give you leave to anfwer:
Therefore, Mr. Doctor, that we may not re-

cord your flanding mute, and refufing to an-

fwer, I fhall once more, in favour to you, re-

quire you to anfwer. Clerk, flay your Hand a"

while.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, both the Court and all

thefe Perfons will thus clear me to the whole
World, that I have referred my felf, and appeal-

ed to his Highnefs's Judges of the Law, to re-

folve whether this be a lawful Judicature: this

Appeal is denied, therefore I muft proceed to

fome other thing, feeing you all deny me that.

Mr. Phelps Clerk. John Hewet, D. D. you
ftand here charged on behalf of his Highncfs the

Lord Protector, of Treafon againfl him and his

Commonwealth} you have heard the Charge,

the Court hath feveral times demanded your An-
fwer, and you refufe; they the third time re-

quire your Anfwer, whether Guilty, or Not
guilty.

Dr. Hewet. Pray, my Lord, is there any In-

dictment found againfl me by a Grand Jury, by
which I am to be tried? For by the fifth and

fixth of Edward the Sixth, all Treafons are to

be inquired into, and prefented by twelve Men:
the Commiflion by which you fit, doth not de-

clare any other way : I befeech you, is there any

other Indictment.

Ld Preftdent. You have a very great Grand
Jury, forty Perfons, and we have Power upon a

fpecial Act of Parliament, to give order for a

Charge to be brought in againfl you ; and we

have, according to that Power and Authority,

given order for this Charge to be brought in a-

gainflyou, and you are to anfwer to it.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, with Submiffion, you >'

are not a competent Jury.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, now it is the fecond

Part to the fame Tune-, I know there are many
others upon the fame String when this is refol-

ved. Sir, this is the Grand Jury, the Petty Ju-

ry, and your Judge; they require you to give

your Anfwer, whether Guilty, or Not guilty.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, this is likewiie denied

me, I now humbly crave a Copy ofmy Charge,

Time to anfwer to it, and Counfel affigned

me.
Ld Preftdent. For the Copy of your Charge,

it was never granted to any Priloner indicted

for High-Treafon. For Counfel, you are now
upon

J
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high Scandal, Mr. Doctor: therefore to vindi-

cate your felf, I defire you to anfwer.

Dr. Hewet. This learned Gentleman hath ur-

ged it with a great deal of Civility and Refpect

to me, which I muft own, and thankfully ac-

knowledge : but, my Lord, withal, I dare not,

for the faving of my felf, give up others; fo ma-

ny thoufands of others, by my Precedent, that

might likewife be involved in the fame Condi-

tion that I am in : therefore, my Lord, let it

appear that it is a lawful Judicature, and I have

done.

Mr. At. Gen. I befeech Mr.Do£lorto confider

his Cafe j he is not brought as a Champion for

the People of England; as he flands charged, he

appears to you to be contrary affected : i hum-
bly beg that he may be put to plead, that fo his

Innocency may be clear'd.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, I faid before that I am
no Lawyer, I underfland nothing of it, neither

defire to be Judge in my own Caufe; but I do

not defire likewife to be judged by every Perfon

that would fit to judge me; neither would I give

up that Right that belongs to an Englijhman,

to every one that demands it: Therefore I de-

fire you to grant this Petition, That you will

make appear that you are a lawful Judicature. I

would rather die ten thoufand times than I will

be guilty of giving up my Fellow-Freemen's Li-

berties and Privileges.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, fome of his own Coat

have acknowledged the like Authority before

him ; but if Mr. Do6lor be peremptory in this,

that he will not own your Authority, and plead

to his Charge, I muft do my Duty; that is,

humbly to pray the Court, that if he refufe to

anfwer, I muft pray their Judgmenr, and ac-

quaint him with the words of the Act; [which

accordingly were readP\ So that, my Lord, in de-

fault of Anfwer, if Mr. Doctor will not plead

to this, my Lord, I mufl thereupon pray that

you will proceed according to the Act, as in

Cafes of High-Treafon, which is very penal. I

have no more to fay.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, I fuppofe thefe learned

Gentlemen, who are fo learned in the Laws, will

be cautious what they do againfl Law; and I

hope they will remember what Condemnation

* Trial I
anc^ Execution befel * Treftlian in the

11th of Richard the Second, that did

there mifadvife the King to do fuch and fuch

things; that is much like to this Cafe of mine:

And withal, I hope they will remember what
befel the Judges in the Cafe of Ship-money, in

the time of the late King; and therefore I hope

they will be cautious themfelves in doing any

thing that is contrary to Law.
Ld Preftdent. Dr. Hewet, you have heard the

Claufe of the Act of Parliament read to you,

whereby you may underfland, that either we
muft proceed upon your Anfwer, or elfe toJudg-
ment upon your Refufal; if upon your Anfwer

you clear your Innocency, than thofe Freemen

you fpeak of, may faithfully embrace you : but

if you will not anfwer, we mufl proceed to Judg-

ment. I am forry for your Robe-fake, but if

you will not anfwer, you cannot acquit yourfelf:

you thereby confefs it : Therefore let me advife

you, for your Robe-fake, to follow the befl

Counfel; that is, to put your felf upon that

which Frifoners mull do. Anfwer to it, Guilty,

or Not guilty
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upon Matter of Fact, whether Guilty or Not
guilty.

Mr. At. Gen. I have a Word to inform him.

I would not prefs any thing againft him, which

in my Judgment I thought not legal ; you have

given him your Refolution as to theJurifdiction,

there is nothing now to fay, but Guilty or Not
guilty : he mult bring himfelf to be a Party, or

clfe nothing can be asked.

Dr. Hewet. 1 think the Prifoner cannot be

charged and tried on one and the fame Day, no

more than a Man can be indicted and tried the

fame Day, as in Kelway's Reports ; and this was

declared to be Law in the Cafe of the Portugal

Ambaflador's Brother *.

Mr. At. Gen. You are not upon your Trial,

you muft plead and join Iflue, and then we will

confider whether we will try you now or no;

yec there is many a Man hath been brought to

Prifon the fame Day, found the fame Day, and

tried the fame Day.

Dr. Hewet. I defire a Copy ofmy Charge; if

not that, I defire Time to fpeak, and Counfel

affigned me, which hath been the Courfe of for-

mer times ; for Counfel it hath been ufually al-

lowed, as in the Cafe of Humphry Stafford in

the time of Henry the Seventh, and in the Cafe

of Lllburne. Baron Nicholas and Serjeant May-
I narcl were of Counfel for Major Rolph, who

endeavoured to Poifon the late King. And for
1

Matter of Law, it ought to be allowed, as in

; my Lord Coke's fixth Book of his Reports, 14

fol. is of the fame Opinion. Arundel had

Counfel affigned him for Murder, in Matter

of Law.
Sol. Ellis. For Mater of Fact, it was never

allowed * but if he plead, and any Matter of

Law do arife that's doubtful to the Court, then

the Court, if they doubt of ir, affign Counfel ;

but the Prifoner muft plead firftto the Matter

of Fact. For a Man to be accufed the fame

Day, and tried the fame Day, is no new thing.

For Counfel, if any thing arife in Matter of

Law, then it may be confidered. The Portugal

Ambaflador's Brother came, and was accufed

and tried the fame Day. We mail humbly pray

that he may plead Guilty or Not guilty ; if any

Matter of Law arife, your Lordihips may do

him Juftice.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, with Submiffion, this

learned Gentleman hath underftood me but in

part j my Requeft was for Counfel for Matter

ofLaw in general, as well as particular for Mat-
ter of Fact. I humbly conceive that there are

feveral Acts of Parliament that do free me from

this Charge, and particularly the great Charter

of England

-

3 for which I humbly crave I may
have Counfel affigned me.
Ld Prefident. You are now in Generals ; you

fpeak of feveral Acts of Parliament, and you
would have Counfel to plead j Counfel was ne-

ver allowed in this Cafe upon fuch a general

Defire : many that Hand about you may have a

Prejudice to you, and think you are loth to

plead j I have called upon you often : if we
fhould once record the Refufal, it would be
very penal. 1 would advife you to plead to the

Indictment.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, fince you have denied

me Counfel, I fhall defire to fpeak fomething in

my own behalf.

Mr. At. Gen. This is a very ill Precedent to

the Juftice of England ; I fuppofe that you will,

allow him all Favour, but the Juftice of Eng-
land muft be preferred againft all Perfons what-
foever. The Jurifdiction is fettled to the Satis-

faction of the Doctor himfelf; if he will bring
himfelf a Party, and ask any thing of you^
that muft be by pleading : till then he can ask,

nothing.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, the Judicature is not
yet cleared to me, for the Legality of it $ and
if you pleafe to give a little Patience, I fhall

give you the Reafons why.
Mr. At. Gen. I fhall defire it may be no more

thus.

Ld Prefident. I fhall fay no more to you, we
muft make our Authority appear to you either

by trying of you, or judging of you: will you
be try'd ?

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, the Charge depends
upon an Act of Parliament which was made a*

bout two Years -p fince; the Mem-
bers of which Parliament were '

l7
J'^

em '

chofen by the People, yet not-

withstanding one hundred and fify of them
were not permitted to fit.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, we muft not fuffer

this ; pray, if he will not be otherwife fatisfied,

I muft require your ftrict Juftice. Your words
they are feditious; this fhews the Spirit of the

Man.
Dr. Hewet. I hope you will have Patience to

hear me for Vindication of my felf, and Satis-

faction of my own Confcience and all Perfons

whatever; and withal for the clearing of your
felves, that you do not bring Blood upon your
felves by taking that Power that is not juftifi-

able

Mr. At. Gen. Truly, my Lord, this is infttf-

ferable; Mr. Doctor hath had as much Refpect

as ever any had. I have attended many, I never

faw the like in my time; you have had the Pa-
tience to hear him oppofe your felves, your Au-
thority, your Perfons, and to ftrike at the Rooe
of all. Mr. Doctor, I would have you to car-

ry your felf with more Refpect. This fhews,

that much of what is charged againft you, is

true : if you will fcorn the Court, fay it pofi-

tively.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, I humbly fubmit my
felf to the Laws of the Land ; I fhall not dis-

pute Acts of Parliament, but I conceive (if you
pleafe to give me a little Patience) an Houfe of

Commons is not Authority enough-

Ld Prefident. Mr. Doctor, pray remember
that Text, He that feemeth to be Religious, and

bridleth not his Tongue, his Religion is vain. Will

you plead or not ?

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, whilft I fpeak for the

Laws of the Land, this is not an evil Speech.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, if you pleale, I did

receive your Commands to prepare this Charge

againft this Doctor ; in obedience to you I have

done ir, not willingly againft your Perfon, Mr.

Doctor; I have fome others to proceed againft,

* His Name <was Don Pontateon Sa, he ivas tried and eonvitfed before Ld Cb. Juji. Rolle, for the Murder of Mr. Gte-

neway, a Gentleman of Grays-Inn, July 6, 1654, and <was beheaded July 10.
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if you will pleafe that Mr. Doctor may difpatch

one way or other. I muft pray your final Sen-

tence, if he do not plead immediately.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, what I petitioned for

before, I do again, That feeing you will not

pleafe to give me leave to fpeak either as to the

Privileges of Englifhmen, nor as to the Act, I de-

fire time to fpeak to the Charge, and Counfel.

LdPrefident. You have heard that I muft re-

quire your Anfwer > you muft plead Guilty, or

Not guilty.

Dr. Hewet. Hath your Lordfliip afligned me
Counfel in Matter of Fad, when Matters of

Law arife.

LdPrefident. We fliall then take theConfide-

ration of it, now is not a time.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, 1 am in a great ftraighr,

I pray God affift mej and I here appeal to Al-

mighty God, and to all the World, that I do a-

gainft my Soul and Confcience nothing that

ihall be to the Prejudice of the Privileges of the

Laws of England; if there {hall be any thing

in thefe Proceedings that fliall be to the Difad-

vantage of others, my Soul be clear of it, the

Guilt be upon others -, feeing I am neceffitated

upon this, and cannot have Counfel afligned me
for the Judicature, for the Legality of it, I re-

ferring my felf to the Judges of the Land : I

durft refer my felf to his Highnefs's own Coun-

fel, that if they will fay that this Particular that

I have urged, that this is a lawful Judicature,

I will go on.

LdPrefident. I am required by the Court,

before I enter your Refufal, to require your

Anfwer.
Dr. Hewet. I am in a great Difpute, and I

pray God direct me what to do in this Cafe •,

though 1 do not at all difpute my own Innocen-

cy, which I hope I fliall clear ; yet I could pe-

tition again (though I am tedious to you, that

I can never importune enough) to take into

your Thoughts your felves and Pofterity, and

all the People of Enghnd.

Ld Preftdent. I fhall defire, becaufe you may
fee what I fay comes from the Act of Parliament,

1 fhall defire the words may be read to him,

what is to be done, if he refufe to anfwer,

Clerk, read the Claufe.

f
c And for Examination of WitnefTes upon

* Oath (which the faid refpective Commiflioners
* are hereby authorized to adminifter) and there-
4 upon, or upon Confeffion of the Party, or in

* Default of fuch Anfwer, to proceed to Convi-
' ction and final Sentence, as in Cafes of High-
' Treafon, and Mifprifion of Treafon, accord-
' ing to Juftice and the Merits of the Caufe;
4 and fuch final Sentence to execute, or caufe to

4 be executed, fpeedily and impartially.]

Dr. Hewet. My Lord, this is a printed Paper

which is called an A£t of Parliament—

—

LdPrefident. I muft take you off, you have

been required to anfwer, often required} and ha-

ving refufed, in the Name of the Court I require

(a) Coke'* 2 Inflit. p. 45, to 57. Magna Charta of King John, H. 3. & E. 1. c. 29. 25 E. r. c. 1. 28 E. t. c. 1.

5 E. 3. c. 9. 25 E. 3. n. 26 & c. 4. 28 E. 3. c. 3. 42 E. 3. c. 23. 2 H. 4. rot. Pari. n. 60. The Petition of Right,

3 Caroli.

(b) .25 E. 3. c. 2. 26 H. 8. c. 13. 33 H. 8. c. 20. 35 H. 8. c. 1. 1 Ed. 6. c. 12. 1 & 2 Phil. & Mar. c. 10, n.

5 E. 6. c. 11. 1 Eliz. c. 6. 5Eliz.cn. 13 Eliz. c. 1. 14 Eliz. c. 1. 18 Eliz. c. 1. 27 Eliz, c. 2. 1 H. 4. c. 14.

(c) 5 E. i-c. 21. 2. Coke'j 2lnftit. p. 526, 527. 28 E. 3. rot. Pari. n. 7,8, 9, 10, 1 1, 12, 13. 29 E. 3 , rot. Pari. n. 29,

30.' E. 3. coram rege, rot. 92. Coke'j 3 Inftit. p. 52. 42 £. 3. c. 1. 3.

the Clerk to record it ; and pray take away your

Prifoner.

Dr. Hewet. My Lord

Court. Take him away, take him away.

Dr. Hewet had prepared a Plea and Demur-
rer to the Jurifdiction and Proceedings of the

Court, and Exceptions to their Judgment,
drawn up in Form by Council, which was rea-

dy Engrofs'd, and which he defigned to have :

tendered the Court, had he not plainly per-
i

ceived their peremptory Refolution to over-rule

him.

The Plea and Demurrer of John Hewet,
DoBor of Divinity, to the Jurifdiction

and Proceedings of the Commiflioners in

purfuance of an Act, for the Security of
the Lord Protector'* Perfon, &c. and to the

Sentence of Death pronounced againjl him

by them.

HIS Defendant faith, That he is by Birth

a Freeman of England, and that it is the un-
doubted antient infeparable Birth-right, Privilege,

and Inheritance of every Englijh Freeman, both by
the Common Laws, Franchifes, Great Charters,

Statutes, and Ufages of this Land, ratified from
Age to Age by the Votes, Refolutions, Decla-
rations, Judgments of the High Court of Par-

liament, and other publick Courts of Juftice,

the Oaths of the Kings of England and their Ju-
ftices, and by many other folemn publick Con-
firmations, Proteftations, Oaths, Vows and Co-
venants : { a) That no Freeman of England may or

ought to be taken or imprifoned, or difj'eiz-ed, or dif-

inherited of his Freehold, Liberties, or Free Cu-

fioms j or to be outlawed, exiled, or any way de-

firoyed, pafifed upon, dealt with, or forejudged of

Life or Limb, or put to Death, upon any Accufa-

tion whatfoever, but by the lawful Judgment of his

Peers, or by the Law of the Land; and that he

Jhall not be put to anfwer without Prejentment be-

fore the Juftices, or thing of Record) or by due Pro-

cefs of the Law, or by Writ Original, according to

the old Law of the Land; (b) And that all Trials

hereafter to be had, awarded, or made for any Trea-

fon, Jhall be had and ufed only according to the

due Order and Courfe of the Common Laws of this

Realm, and not otherwise, upon Inquejl

and Prefentment by the Oaths of Twelve good and

lawful Men, upon good and probable Evidence and

TVitnefs : And that (c) if any thing be done to the

contrary of the Premifest it fijall be void in Law,
redreffed, and holden for Error, and nought : And I

;/ any Statute be made to the contrary, that Jhall be

holden for none. And moreover this Defendant :

faith, that in the Parliament z R. z. rot. Pari,

n. 47, the Commons petitioned the King, and
Lords, that the Confiable and Marjhal of Eng-
land (then encroaching upon this Privilege of

the Commons, by holding Pleas of Treafon and

Felony before them after the Courfe of Martial

Law) might from thenceforthfurceafe to hold Places
;
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of Treafbn and Felony before them, done within the

Realm, and that the fame may he determined only
before the King's Jujlices, according to the great

Charter; which was then aflentcd to: And that

upon the like Petitions of the Commons in the

Parliaments of 1 H. 4. and 1 H. 4. Rot. Pari. n.

89 it iias affented to, and enabled by tbe King

and Lords, that the King's liege People (d) fbould

not be put to anfwer before the Cenftable or Marfoal
in Courts of Chivalry, for any thing done within

the Realm, but that (as before in the times of his

Progenitors) the fame might be tried and determined

only before his justices in his courts,
as it ought to be according to the
Common Law of the Realm, and in no
other place or manner. Upon which Con-

federations many of the King's loyal Lords, Gentle-

men and other Subjects in the general Infurreilion of

the Villains, and other Rebels againfl the King, in

the fifth Tear of Richard the fecond, having infliti-

ed divers Punifhments upon the faid Villains and

Traitors without due procefs of the Law, and other-

wife than the Laws and Ufages of the Realm required;

though they did it out of no Malice prepenfed, but

out of meer Loyalty to the King, and to appeafe and

ceafe the prefent mifchief, and out of ignorance of the

faid Laws and Ufage, in which if they had been

learned, yet at that time they ought not to have

tarried the procefs of the Law in thofe puniflmients

of their good difcretion ; yet thofe punifhments and

executions of them in a fummary way being contrary

to, and not warranted by the Laws and Ufages ofthe

Realm, they were enforced for their future Indemni-

ty againfl the King and his Heirs, and the Heirs,

Wives and Friends of thofe they punifhed, to petition

the King and Parliament, for a general Pardon by

A51 of Parliament, to fecure and indemnifie them-

felves j which was granted them, in f R. 2.

Pari. I. ch. f.
elfe they might have been im-

peached and punifhed tor the fame, as well as

King Richard the fecond himfelfj who in the

Parliament of 1 H. 4. Rot. Pari. n. 44, (wherein

he was enforced to refign his Crown, and then

depo'ed for his Mif-government) was amongft o-

tl.er Articles impeached of this in particular by
that Parliament, for that againfl the great Charter

(ch. 2.9 ) and his Coronation Oath, hefuffered many

of lots liege People to be malicioufly accufed, appre-

hended, imprifoned, and tried before the Conjlable

and Marfhal of England in their military Court,

for words fecretly fpoken, or atls privately done, to

the fcandal of hh Royal Perfon, where they were

enforced to acquit themfelves by duel ; whence the

deftruclion not only of the Nobles and Great Men, but

likewife of all and every the Perfons of the Commons

of the Realm might probably have enfued. And this

Defendant further faith, that one Peter Burchet

of the Temple, in the thirteenth Year of Queen
Elizabeth's Reign, having wilfully (tabbed that fa-

mous Sea-Captain John Hawkins, for not being
of his Opinion in Religious, (Burchet being per-

fuaded in Confcience that it was lawful for him
to kill every one who was not of his Opinion)
the Queen being much incenfed againfl him for

this horrid fact, commanded him to be forthwith
tried and executedfor it by Martial Law : But her

Judges and Council informing her, that he could

not be fo tried by Law, it being done not in an Army,
but in time of Peace, when her Courts of Law and
Jufiice were open ; thereupon fhe defifled from this

way of Trial j After which he was tried according

(d) Coke'* 4 Inilit. p, 124, 12J.

to Law for this, and his murdering his Keeper in

the Tower, as Mr. Camden records in his Annah
of Queen Elizabeth, p. 142, 143. And whereas
in the Parliament of the fourth of King James
holden at Wefiminfler, there was fome kind of

motion made} that to extirpate and reform the

inveterate evil Cufloms, Diforders, Fewds, Blood-

fheds, Thefts and Spoils, wherewith the worft fort

of Inhabitants near the Borders and Limits of both

Realms of England and Scotland , were infetledand

inured, that they might be tried by a fummary
Proceeding, by way of Martial Law, or by the

Laws of the Kingdom into which they fled to
purchafe their Impunity : This Parliament was
fo far from approving thereof, that they fpecially

enacted, in this cafe (even of thefe word fort of
men) * * That in regard of fome difference and
" inequality in the Laws, Trials, and Proceed-
ings in cafes of Life, between the Juftice of
the Realm of England and that of the Realm
of Scotland, it appearing to be moft conveni-
ent for the contentment and fatisfaction o\ all

his Majefty's Subje&s, to proceed with all pof-

fible Severity againft fuch Offenders in their

own Country, according to the Laws of
the same, whereunto they are Borm
and Inheritable} and by and before the

natural-born Subjects of the fame Realm ; by
whom their Murders, Felonies, Rapes, &g.
mould be inquired of, heard and determined
before his Majefty's Jultices of Affize, or Com-
miffioners of Oyer and Terminer, or Goal deli-

very, by good and lawful Men of the three

Counties therein fpecified, and none other..
And that at all fuchTrials thejury then and there

fworn, fhall have in their Power and Elections

according to their Confcience and Difcretion
upon their Oaths, to receive and admit only
fuch fufficicnt good and lawful WitnefTes upon
their Oaths, either for or againft the Party
arraigned, as fhall not appear to them, or the
greater part of them to be unfit and unworthy
to be WitnefTes in that caufe, either in regard
of their hatred and malice, or their favour and
affection either to the Party profecuting, or to

the Party arraigned, or of their former evil

Life and Converfation.' Which common,
equal, indifferent Juftice allowed to the worffc

Malefactors, as their birth-right and inheritance

by this Parliament and Act, this Defendant now
only craves, and hopes you cannot in Law or

Juftice deny him } nor proceed againft him by
way of Martial Law. And fo much the rather,

becaufe, fince this Statute, King Charles in the
third Year of his Reign, by the advice of his

Council (to fupprefs the Infolencies of Soldiers and
Mariners then billeted in fundry parts of the

RealmJ having ifTued out Commiffions to fundry
Perfons of Quality, in time of Peace, to execute

Martial Law upon thofe Soldiers and Mariners, and
other dijfolute Perfons (only) joining with them, for

Murther, Robbery, Felony, Mutiny, and other Out-

rages committed by them, by fuch fummary courfe

and order as is agreeable to Martial Law, and as is

ufual in Armies in time of War ; to proceed to the

Trial and Condemnation offuch Offenders, and then

fo caufe them to be Executed and put to deaths ac°

cording to the Law Martial ; By pretext whereof

fome of the faid Soldiers and Subjetls were put to

death by fome of the faid Commiffoners, wheii and

where, if by the Laws and Stattites- of the ha-ndfhey

4 Jacob, ch, 1,

had
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had deferved death, by the fame Laws and Statutes

alfo they might, and by no other ought to have

been Judged, before the Kings Juftices) and execu-

ted. Upon Complaint of thefe Commiffions, as

illegal, in the Parliament of 5 Caroli, they were,

after a full debate by both Houfes, voted to be a-

gainfl Law. And in the Petition of Right it felf,

it was then prayed by the Lords and Commons,

affented to by the late beheaded King himfelf,

and enacted by this Law, That hereafter no Com-

miffions of like Nature may ijfue forth to any

Perfon or Perfons whatfoever, to be executed as

aforefaid, left by colour of them any of his Majefty's

Subjecls be deftroycd or put to death, contrary
to the Laws and Franchise of theLand :

•which the Lords and Commons then prayed, and the

King granted, confirmed by Act of Parliament, as

their Right and Liberty according to

the Laws: which Act (lands yet in its full

Force. Upon confideration of which late excel-

lent Law, the lad: long Parliament, in the cafes

of the Lord Connor Magwire and Mac-mohun,

and the Court of King's Bench wherein they were

tried by their Special Order, in Michaelmas and

Hilary Terms zo Caroli were fo juft, punctual

and honourable, in confining themfelves to the

rules of Law and Juftice ; that though thefe

were principal Confpirators, and Aclors in the late

mod horrid, barbarous, bloody Treafon, Rebellion,

and Majfacre in Ireland, and taken in its profecu-

tion ; yet they were fo far from trying them by

Martial Law in a Council of War, or High Court

of Juftice, even in a time of open War both in

England and Ireland, that they affigned the faid

Magwire Council, to argue againft the very Jurif-

diclion of the King's Bench itfelf-, whether he, be-

ing a Peer of Ireland, could in point of Law or

Juftice by the Statute of 3f H. 8. ch. 2. or any

'other Abl, be outed of his Trial by his Peers, and

tried by a Jury of good and lawful Men of the

County of Middlefex for a Treafon committed in

Ireland, being fent a Prifoner from thence againft

his will? Which was there (e) publickly argued

at the Bar by Counfel pro £5? contra; and then by
the Judges, and over-ruled at laft againft him,

before he was put to plead guilty or not guilty to

his Indiclment : after which they both were ad-

mitted to take both their peremptory and legal

challenges to the Juries returned ; (/) (according

to Law, admitting fuch Challenges even in cafes of

High-Treafon ;) and all juft Exceptions to the

"Witnefles produced} and had a moft fair and

free Trial; being found guilty by the Jury, before

any Judgment pafTed againft them. Which
Juftice he humbly craves in his Cafe, of lefs

hainoufnefs and importance than theirs, being

a native Englijh free-man, and they only Irijh

Rebels ; becaufe this his inherent Birth-right and

Liberty, can (g) neither be forfeited by him for any

real or pretended Treafon or Offence whatfoever, nor

yet be denied or deferred to him (after all the pre-

mifed Laws, Statutes, Charters, Judgments,
Refolutions, Precedents) without the higheft In-

juftice. And he further faith, that to proceed

againft, try, condemn, execute him in this high

Court, without a legal Indiclment, Prefentment,

and Trial by the Oaths of twelve good and lawful

Men, according to the due order and courfe of

the Common Laws of this Realm (and that in

Wefiminfter-Hall it felf, the place of Law and
publick Juftice, in time of Peace, when and
where all other Courts ofJuftice are open) or in

any other form by way of Martial Law, or

otherwife than a juft Jury of his Equals,

is not only illegal, erroneous, and againft all

Rules of Juftice (the Commiffioners themfelves

being both his grand and petty Jury, and his

Judges likewifej if not Parties interefted, to

whom he can take no peremptory nor legal Challenges

\

which the {h) Law allows him if tried by a Jury
in cafes ofHigh-Treafon at this day ;) but alfo wilful

and malicious Murder by the Laws of England,

being againft Magna Charta, c. 29. and done by

fuch power and ftrength as he this Defendant cannot

defend himfelf againft, as isrefolved in Six Edward
Coke's 3 Inftit. p. fz. & 224. (printed by fpecial

Order of the Houfe of Commons, dated 1 2 May,
1641.) and long before in Andrew Horn his

Mirrour of Juftices, c. f . p. 106, 207, who re-

cords, that our noble King Alfred caufed no lefs

than 44 of his Juftices to be hanged in one Year
as Murderers, for condemning and executing

fome of his People without a legal Indiclment and
Trial by a fworn Jury ; and others of them for of-

fences not capital by the known Laws of the Land,

and without clear and pregnant Evidence. And this

Defendant likewife faith, that the Commons
themfelves fitting at Weftminfter, after the late

King's Execution, in their printed Declaration of

17 Martii, 1^48, (expreffing the grounds of their

proceedings againft the faid King, andforfettling the

prefent Government in way of a Free State, to

which many in prefent power and fitting here

were affenting and gave their Votes) did thereby

faithfully promife and engage to the whole Engliftj

Nation, That the good old Laws and Cuftoms of

England, the Badges of our Freedom, {the

benefit whereof our Anceftors enjoyed long before the

Conqueft, andfpent much of their blood to have con-

firmed by the great Charters of their Liberties) which

have continued in allformer Changes, and being duly

executed, are the moft juft, free, and equal of any

other Laws in the World ; ftoall be duly continued and
maintained ; the Liberty, Property and Peace of the

Subjetl being fo fully preferved by them; adding^

that, ' If thefe Laws ftiould be taken away, all

' Induftry muft ceafe, all Mifery, Blood and
' Confufion would follow ; and greater Calami-
' ties, if poffible, than fell upon us by the late
1 King's Mifgovernment would certainly involve
1

all Perfons, under which they muft inevita-

* bly perifh.' And moreover, the General Coun-

cil of the Officers and Army themfelves (where-
unto moft Officers and Soldiers in prefent Power
and fome Commiffioners here fitting were Par-

ties) in the Declaration of their Engagements,
Remonftrances, Reprefentations, Propofals, De-
fires, and Refolutions for fettling the Parliament

in their juft Privileges, and the Subjecls in their

Liberties and Freedoms (printed by their own
Orders, and reprinted all together by Order

of the Lords in Parliament, 27 September, 1647)
pag. 11, 36, 37, 38, 39. (efpecially in their Decla-

ration and Reprefentation tendered to the Parlia-

{e) See Mr. Prynne'* Argument thereof.

(/) 32 H. 6. f. 26. 14 H. 7. f. 19. Brook Challenge, 86, 211, 217. Stamford's Pleas 1. 3. c. 7. Coke's 3 Inflit. p. 27. •

( s ) 1 E. 6. c. 12. 1 &f 2 Phil. & Mar. c. 10, 11. Coke's 3 Inftit. c. 1, 2.

(b) Coke's 3 Inftit. f. 27. Brook, Challenge 217.

ment
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\ment concerning the juftand fundamental Rights

land Liberties of the Kingdom, 14 May, 1647)

,'do profefs and declare, ' That they were not a

r meer mercenary Army, hired toferv>eany Arbi-

\* trary power of State, but called forth and con-

' iured by feveral Declarations ofParliament, to

L* the defence of their own and the Peoples juft

' Rights and Liberties, and that they took up
« Arms in Judgment and Confcience to thofe

I

4 Ends, and have fo continued them, and are re-

i

* folved, according to the Parliament's juft defires

;* in their Declarations, and fuch Principles as

* they have received from their frequent Infor-

« mations, and their own common Senfe con-

« cerning thofe fundamental Rights and Liberties,

« to afteit and vindicate the fame again ft all Ar-

* bitrary Power, Violence and Oppreflion, and
* againft all particular Parties and Interelts what-

* foever ; that fo all the free-born People of this

* Nation may (it down in quiet under the glo-

* rious Adminiftrationof Juftice and Righteouf-

* nefs, and in full pofTefTion of thofe fundamental

' Rights and Liberties ; without which we can
' have little Hopes (as to human confidefations)

* to enjoy any comfort of Life, or fo much as

* Life itielf, but at the pleafure of fome Men
* Ruling according to Will and Power.
* That they defire the Eftablifhment of fuch good
' Laws, as may duly and readily render to every

* Man their juft Rights and Liberties. And
« more particularly, in their Propofals to the

* Commiflioners of Parliament, in order to the

« clearing and fecuring of the Rights and Liber-

' ties of the Kingdom, Auguft 1, 1647, Seft.10.

* p. 114. they propofed, That the Rights and
* Liberties of the Commons of England, may
be cleared and vindicated from any
other Judgment, Sentence, or Pkoched-
ing against them, other than by their
Equals, or according to the Law of the
La nd. And this Defendant finally laith, th it

by the Inflrument of Government it ielf, 16 Decem-

ber, i6f 3, Artie. 6. and the Oath therein prefcri-

bed to, and accordingly taken by his Highnefs,

Oliver Cromwell Lord Pretebtor, he is limited and

fworn, ' r ot to alter, fufpend, abrogate or re'

peal the Laws, and to govern thefe Nations

according to the Laws, Sta utes and Cuftoms

;

cauflng Juftice and Law to be equally admini-

ftred : whereunto he is likewife obliged and
' fworn again, by his Oath prefcribed in the late

* printed humble Petition and Advice.' Neither

doth that pietended Acl, by which you here fit

as Cornmitlioners to try this Defendant (made by

no legitimate, nor free Parliament of England,

and that when near one hundred and fifty Mem-
bers thereof were caufelejly and forcibly fecluded)

authorize you (as he humbly conceiveth) to pro-

ceed againft him for any Crime therein fpecified,

to Conviclion or final Sentence, but only as in Cafes

of High-Treafon, and mifprifion of Treafon, and
according to Justice j and that you cannot
do but only by proceeding againft him by a law-

ful Indiclment and Trial by a Grand and Petty

Jury, according to the great Charter, Laws, and
Statutes of the Land, and the late Petition of

Right, which this new Acl: cannot repeal or null.

All which this Defendant is ready to aver,

juftify, and make good, when and where this

high CommiJJion Court, or his Highnefs the Lord
Proteclor mall appoint : which being a meer

matter of Law, wherein both the Liberties and
Lives of all the Free-born People of England
are fo univerfally, highly, and equally Concern-
ed, as well as the Liberty and Life of this De-
fend mt, proper only to be debated before, and
reiblvcd by the Judges of the Law, or the high

Court of Parliament', This Defendant thereupon
humbly pvayeth. That it may bereferredto^ openly

argued by his learned Counfel, before all the Judges,

or a Parliament, and by them determined : and in

the mean time humbly demandeth the Judgment
of this High Commiffon 5 Whether they may,
can, or ought in point of Law and Juftice, to

proceed againft, condemn) or execute this De-
fendant, upon any illegal Accufation or Impeach-

ment whatfoever, here exhibited or read againft

him, without a legal Indictment, Prefentmenc
and Trial by a Jury of his Equals? Or can take

any further connufmce of the Charge againft him,
for the premiied Authorities and Reafons ; which
he in all humility re'errcth to, and imploreth you
to take into your faddeft Confederations, and that

in the Name and dreadful Prefcnce of the Om-
nifcient, Omnipotent, Sovereign (i) Judge of all

the Earth, (k) before whofe glorious Tribunal yon

muft all ere long appear, (ftript of all Earthly

Honour*, Pomp, Guards, and Power,) to give a

ftricl Account of all your Aclions, whether good or

evil, and of your Proceedings in this very Caufej
when this his Plea and Demurrer will rife up in

Judgment againft, and condemn you, in cafe

you wilfully prejudge, misjudge, or rejeel it now,
without due and full Examination according to

Law, Juftice, Confcience: And if theConfide-

ration of this terrible Day of Account and juft

retribution before Chrift's own Tribunal, fhall

not prevail with you to admit of this his Legal

Plea and Demurrer, (as being after your Deaths

perhaps many Years yet to come, and no ways
endangering the lofs of your Lives, Lands,

Honours or Eftates in this prefent World,) He
fhall then humbly intreat you for your own
future Indemnity (he hopes, without Offence)

ferioufly to confider; That in the Parliament of

II R. z. c. I, f.
21 R. z. c. 11, 11. Trefylian

Chief Juftice of the King's Bench, Belknappe

Chief Juftice of the Common- Pleas, John Care,

John Holt, Roger Fulthorpe, William de Burgh

Judges, and John Lotion the King's Serjeant,

were all impeached of High-Treafon, condemned,

and fome of them executed as Traitors and Enemies

to the King and Realm, the reft perpetually baniftxd,

their Lands and Eftates confifcated to the King, and

all accefs of their Wives, Children or others to them

during their Exile, prohibited by Judgment and Act

of Parliament, only for delivering their Opinions

(through menaces and fear of Death at Notting-

ham Caftle) under their Hands and Seals, againft

the Law of the Land j That the Lords and Com"
mons zvho procured the Commiffon in the Parliament

of 10 R. z. for the better Government of the Realm,

and moved the King to confent thereto, defcrved to

be puniftoed as Traitors, by capital pain of Death :

That fo by colour of thefe their Opinions, Ro-

bert de Veer Duke of Ireland, Nicholas Brambre,

Knight, and others of the King's ill Counfellors,

might take occafion to deftroy and take away the

Lives of the Lords who procured and executed that

Commiffon, and others of the King's People, by un-

due and illegal Indictments and Proceedings, without

any lawful Trial by their Peers, as Traitors to the

Vol. II,

(i) Gen. xviii. 25. (k) 2 Cor, v. 10.

King.



290 5$. The Trial ofJohn Hewet D. D] 10 Car. II.

King. And the faid Sir (I) Nicholas Brambre for

enforcing the Judges, with others of the King's ill

Counfellors, to deliver their Opinions againft Law,
and for his beheading and executing 22 Prifoners of

Newgate, (impeached and indicled of Felony, or

fufpicion of Felony) ^/Foul-Hoke in Kent by regal

and tyrannical Power incroached by him, without

IVarrant, or due procefs of the Law, againfi the

Great Charter and Ufage of the Realm of England,

was in the fame Parliament condemned for High-

Treafon, and beheaded at Tower-hill on the fame
Block, with thefame Ax he had prepared to cut off

the Heads cf others he intended there to execute as

his Enemies. And that in the laft Parliament of

King Charles, the (m) two Chief Jujlices, Bramp-

fton and Finch, the Chief Baron Davenport, and

all the reft of the Judges and Barons, except two,

were by the whole Houfe of Commons, and

ibme of the Commiflioners here fitting, and

Counfel pleading againft this Defendant, Im-

peached of High-Treafon, dif-judged and put to

Fines and Ranfoms, for that they had traiteroufly

endeavoured to fubvert the fundamental Laws and

Government of the Realm of England, and inftead

thereof to introduce an Arbitrary and 'Tyrannical

Government againft Law ; which they had declared

by traiterous IVords, Opinions and Judgments in the

cafe of Ship-money, againft Mr. John Hampden

;

Which Judgment and Opinions concerned only

the property of the Subjects Goods, not the

hazard of their Lives, Inheritances and forfeiture

of their Eftates, as your prefent Proceedings do,

being of a more high and dangerous confe-

quence 5 In which Parliament, by the like Im-
peachment and Profecution, William Laud, Arch-

bifhop of Canterbury, and Thomas Earl of Straf-

ford Lord Deputy ofIreland, were condemned and

executed by Judgment of Parliament, and fome
here prefent, as ' Traitors, guilty ofHigh-Trea-
' fon, for that they endeavoured traiteroufly to

' fubvert the Fundamental Laws and eftablifhed

* Government of this Realm, and inftead there-
' of to bring in and fet up an Arbitrary and
4 Tyrannical Power, againft Law. To prove
* which Charge, their Arbitrary Proceedings
' contrary to the Laws and great Charters of
* England, both at the Council Table, in the

* High-Commiflion, Star-Chamber, and elfe-

* where, were given in Evidence againft them ;

* and more particularly, the Earl of Strafford's
4 proceeding againft the Lord Mount Norris in
4 Ireland, by a Council of War in Time of
' Peace, and condemning him to Death therein
4 without any legal Indictment and Trial by his
4 Peers, againft the great Charter and Laws of
' the Land, though he did not execute him
4 thereupon:' And whether your prefent Pro-

ceedings of like nature againft this Defendant,

in cafe you reject or over-rule this his Plea and
Demurrer, and condemn and execute him by
pretext of an illegal Acl (made by no free and
lawful Parliament of England^) for Offences not

treafonable by the known Laws and Statutes of
the Land, nor legally proved againft him by any

one Witnefs produced in Court before his Face,

without confulting the prefent Judges of the

Land (who refufe to join or fit with you in this

new illegal way of Trial) will not much more
involve you in the Crime and Guilt of the very

felf-fame High-Treafons, for which they were
thus anciently and lately Impeached, Con-
demned, Executed by Judgment of Parliament,

and fo expofe you to the like capital Cenfures,

Forfeitures, Confifcations of your Real and Per-

fonal Eftates, as they underwent, in future Par-
liaments, 'by your endeavouring to fubvert all the
* premifed Fundamental Laws and eftablifhed
1 legal Proceedings in the Land, and to intro-
4 duce and fet up a meer Arbitrary and Tyran-
4 nical Power contrary to Law, to the endan-
4 gering not only of the Properties, but Lives,
4 Liberties, and Inheritances of all the Noble-
4 men, Gentlemen, Clergy -Men, and other
4 Freemen ofEngland, by fuch exorbitant, martial
4 Proceedings,' after all thefe Statutes, Judg-
ments, with the late Remonftrances, Declarations,

Leagues, Covenants, and folemn Oaths of the

Lord Protector himfelf and others againft them,
yea after the many Years Wars and heavy Taxes
impofed on the Nation for the maintaining and
inviolable prefervation of thefe Fundamental
Laws, Liberties, and Rights againft all Arbi-

trary Commiffions and Proceedings whatfoever j

he humbly fubmits to your own impartial Refo-
lutions and Confciences. And thereupon this

Defendant prays his Difmiflion from any fuch

further Proceedings againft him, without a law-
ful Jury and Trial by his Peers And that you
will be pleafed, after deliberate confideration of

the premifes, to reverfe and recal that Arbitrary,

unrighteous, bloody Sentence of Death, ye have
newly paffed againft him, without any lawful

Indictment, Prefentment, Trial, Confeffion or

Conviction of Treafon, which ftrikes at the

Root of the Fundamental Laws, Liberties, Fran-

chifes of all Englifh Freemen, and cuts off all

their Necks at one Stroke, tranfeending all the

Arbitrary, Tyrannical Proceedings of Strafford,

Canterbury, and the late King Charles (whom
fome of your felves have Impeached, cenfured,

condemned, decapitated as the very worft, and

greateft of Tyrants) left it become a moft perni-

cious fatal precedent to Pofterity, to others, or

your own Deftruction, and render you as exe-

crable to all fucceeding Generations, as any

formerly guilty of the like exorbitant Pro-

ceedings.

Juji and Legal Exceptions to the Caufe and
Manner of the Illegal Judgment given a-

gainft Dr. John Hewet ; humbly tendred

By him to the Confideration of thofe Corn-

mijjioners who denounced it.

THAT it is fpecially enacted by the Statute

of Weflminfter the 1 ch. 1 2. and accord-
ingly refolved in Brook Pain 1, 2, 4, 5, 8, p,

n, 13, 14, iy, ip, and the Year-Books there-

in abridged, by Stamford's Pleas of the Crown,
1.2. c.6o. Dyer, f. 2oy. a. 300. b. Coke's 2 In-

ftitutes, p. 177, 178, 17P. and 3 Inftituies, p.

217. That no Man ought by Law to be condemned,

or put to Death in cafe of Treafon and Felony,

for ftanding mute, or refujing to Plead, or put

himfelf upon his Trial, or for challenging more

than 7,6 of the Jury peremptorily, but only in

thefe Cafes.

{!) Henry de Knyghton de Event. Anglise 1. 5. p. 2718, 2726, 2727, 2728.
(m) Their Impeachments are entred in the Journals of the Lords and Commons Houfe.

I. When



or

i. When and where the perfon accufed and

arraigned, is a (a) Notorious 'traitor or Felon, and

openly of evil name, and defamed thereof: But Dr.

Hewet is no fuch Perfon.

z. When and where the Treafon or Felony for

which he (lands accufed, is (b) notorious, evident,

certain, or at leaft very probable, and already found

\ upon Oath againfi him by the Prefentment, or In-

;
ditlment of an honeft lawful Grand Jury of his

'• Equals of the fame County wherein he is arraign-

\ed, or confejfed by himfelf : All which Circum-
t fiances and Evidences of Guilt were wanting in

JDo&or Hewefs Cafe.

3. When and where the Judges, (c) for the

\better fatisfablion of their Confciences, and difcharge

\of their Duties, do (as they ought by Law,)

ifirft openly examine the Evidences and IVitneffes,

\which prove the Perfon arraigned guilty of the Fact

\of Treafon or Felony for which he ftands indicted,

\bsfore they proceed to give Judgment againfi him for

•not pleading, or ftanding mute. Which was not

done in this Cafe, there being neither WitnefTes

nor Evidence produced in open Court to prove

jhim guilty.

4. When and where there is a legal Inditlment

ifound againfi the Party arraigned, which being

jread openly to him in Court, the Traitor or

Felon thereupon, doth either (d) wilfully or ma-

ficioufty ftand mute, refufing to anfwer or plead

thereunto, (which the (e) Jury there impannelled

(to try him, are by Law to enquire of, find and re-

turn upon Oath :) Or, peremptorily challengeth above

13 f of his Jury, without any legal Caufe or Excep-

tions -, Or elfe obftinately (f) refufeth to put him-

felf'upon a legal'Trial by God and his Country,
'(being a Jury of honeft, lawful men of the County

then and there prefent
y (g) retorned by the Sheriff

alone, not Jufiices or others, for to try him; to

whom by Law he may take both his legal and pe-

remptory Challenges) faying, That he will be tried

only by God and the Bench; or, by God
and the Court, or Judge; or (h) by God
and the Virgin Mary, or Holy Church :

there being no Precedent extant in Records, or

'Law-books, of any Traitor or Felon hitherto

[condemned to die, for ftanding mute, or not plead-

ing, only for refufing to be tried by God and
the honourable Bench, Judg&s, Court
alone, without any Indictment or Jury ; and

tor earneftly importuning the Court and his

Judges, THAT HE MAY BE TRIED ONLY BY God
Land his Country, and on an Indictment
;by a Jury of his Equals according to
[•Law, cafting himfelf wholly upon fuch a Trial,

[after a lawful Prefentment and Inditlment fir ft

found againfi him by a Jury. The only Reafon
rendered in and by the forecited Statute and

'Lawbooks of all Judgments hitherto given againfi

any Traitor or Felon, for ftanding mute, and re-

tfuilng to plead, being this, (i) ' Becaufe he pe-

remptorily refufeth to fland to and be tried by
the Law of the Land, and a due and
Lawful Trial by a Jury of his Equals,
according to the course of the common
[Law, and the great Charter. But Dr.

'John Hewet is now condemned to be executed as as

Traitor by the High Court of Juftice, ' contrary

2t)t

' to all former Precedents, Statutes, Law-books
s

' and the only legal Reafon in former times of
' all Judgments rendered againfi any Perfons in
' fuch Cafes *, even for his frequent, earned, im-
portunate demanding and peremptory cafting of
himfelf, upon a due legal ' Trial by God and
' his Couutry, and an indifferent Jury of his

* Equals, according to the common Statute
c Laws and great Charter of England, after a
* legal Prefentment and Indictment to be firft

'found againfi him: and for refufing to wave
this his legal Trial (to the publick prejudice of

all other Engliflo Freemen) and ' call himfelf
* wholly and folely upon a new kind of arbitrary

' Trial, contrary to Law, by God and the
Bench, Court, and the Commissioners
themfelves, (who would be both his Grand and

Petty Jury as well as Judges) ' without and be-
' fore any legal Prefentment, Indiclment, or
1 Jury impannelled or returned to try him. There-
fore he humbly conceives this Judgment de-

nounced againfi him upon this Reafon and
Ground alone, to be moft erroneous, illegal,

unjuft, repugnant to all former Pvecedents, and

to one this very Week at the Seffions in the Old
Bailey by Judgment of fome of his Judges at

FFeftminfter, and of very dangerous Confequence.

Whereupon he humbly prays the fufpenfion and

reverfal thereof as unjuft, and merely void in

Law, by the Statutes of if E. 1. cap. z. £5? 42.

E. 2. c. 1. left the Execution of him for a Trai-

tor upon this Judgment and Ground, fhould

prove wilful Murder, and a fhedding of innocent

Blood in the Account both of God and Man.
What therefore the Prophet Jeremiah alledged

to the Princes of Judah, in a like Cafe, when
they refolved him at firft to be worthy of Death,
without a legal Hearing or Trial, Jerem.-x.xvi. 1 1.

14^ if. As for me, behold, I am in your Hands ,

to do unto me what feemeth good and meet unto you :

But know ye for certain, that ifye put me to Death,

YE SHALL SURELY BRING INNOCENT BLOOD
UPON YOUR SELVES, AND U PON THIS ClT Y, AN D
UPON THE INHABITANTS THEREOF: Wheie-
upon the Princes and People, upon fecond and bet-

ter advifed Thoughts, altered their former bloody
Sentence, faying ; This Man is not worthy to die ;

for he hath fpoken unto us in the Name of the Lord
our God. And the Hand of Ahikam was with Je-
remiah, that they (loould not give him into the Hand
of the People to put him to Death ; fhall be my
Allegation to thofe who have paffed this unjuft

Sentence of Death againfi me; and if it pro-

duce not the like Effect for their Reverfal there-

of, and my Prefervation from its violent bloody
Execution, as it did in this Prophet's Cafe; I

fhall then earneftly pray to God, that it may not

draw down from Heaven that heavy Sentence of

Wrath upon them, nor that fad Judgment upon
the whole Land of England which this Prophet
denounced againfi Jehoiakim, Jer. xxii. 17, 18,

10. But thine Eyes and thine Heart are but for thy

Covetoufnefs, andFOR toshed Innocent Blood*
andfor Oppreffion and Violence to do it. Therefore

thus faith the Lord concerning Jehoiakim ; They

fhall not lament for him, faying, Ah my Brother,

or ah Sijler, ah Lord, or ah his Glory: But he

(a) Weft. i.e. 12. Stamford, 1. 2. c. 60. f. 149. b. Coke'.? 2 Inftit. p. 177. 179.
{b) Coke'* 2 Inftit. p. 177. Stamford, f. 150. a. (c) Stamford, 1. 2. c. 60. f. 150. a. y) Stamf. 1. 2. c. 60. Coke'/ 2 Inftit.

. 177, 178. (e) Stamford, f. 150. b. 43 Aft. 30. Fitz. Corone, 225. 8 H. 4. 2. Coke'^ z Inftit. p. 178. 21 E. 3. 18.

(/) Coke'* 2 Inftit. p. 178. (g) 11 H. 4. c. 11. CokeV 3 Inftit. p. 32, 33. (b) 4 E.4. 11. 7 E. 4. 29. Brook Pain. 14.

(i) W. 1. c. 12. 3 Inftit. p. 217. 2 Inftit. p. 179. 8 E. 3. Itin. Nort. Fitz. Corone. 3159. 14 H. 4. 7. Brook Pain. 14, 15.
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(hall he hurled totb the Burial of an Afs, drawn

and call forth heyond the Gates of Jerufalem. And

that which the Prophet Joel threatned to Egypt

and Edom, Joel in. 19. Egypt Jhall he a Defla-

tion, and Edom a defolate Wildernefs, for their

Violence againft the Children of Judah, because

THEY HAVE SHED INNOCENT BlOOD IN THE

Land. And that againft all Rules of Law and

Tuftice, in that they intitle, The High Court of

Juftice, which will not palliate, but % aggravate

the Tnjuftice acted in it, and make it more de«

teftable both to Man and God himfelf, who a-

vers this for an undoubted Truth •,

Gen. ix. 5,6. Surely your Blood of your Lives

will I require ; at the Hand of every Beaft will

I will require it, and at the Hand of every Man's

Brother will I require the Life of Man. Who
SO SHEDDETH Man's BLOOD, BY Man SHALL
his Blood
made he Man

be shed; for in the Image of God

LVL The Trial 0/ John Mordant * Efq; before the

High Court of Juftice for High-Treafon, thefirfi ofJune,

1658. 10 Car. II.

* John Lip.

Mr. Prideaux.

H E Serjeant at Arms was command-
'

ed to bring John Mordant Efq-, to

the Bar; who was brought accor-

dingly.
* Lord Prefident. Mr Attorney,

what have you to fay againft the

Prifoner at the Bar ?

*Mr. Attorney General. My
Lord, I have prepared a Charge

of High-Treafon againft the Gentleman at the

Bar. which I defire may be read.

The Suhfiance of the Impeachment.

Mr. Phelps. John Mordant Efq; ftand at the

Bar, and hear your Charge.

A Charge of High-Treafon againft John

Mordant of Clement Danes, in the County

of Middlefex, Efq; as followeth, viz.

< np h AT John Mordant, late of the Pariih

of Clement Danes, in the faid County of

« Middlefex, Efq; minding and intending to em-
* broil this Commonwealth in new and interline

4 Wars and Seditions, on the 50th of April now
« laft pad, and at divers other Days and Times
« fince the 10th of Ocloher, 16f 6, and before

« the faid 30th of April laft, as a falfe Traitor

« and Enemy to Oliver, then and yet Lord Pro-

* tector of the Commonwealth of England,

« Scotland, and Ireland, and the Dominions
« thereto belonging, and to this Commonwealth ;

« together with Henry Bi/hop, late of Parham,
« in the County of Suffex, Gent. Hartgil Baron,

« and Francis Manfel, and divers other , their

c Complices, at the Pariih of Clement Danes
6 aforefaid, and at divers other Places, did trai-

« toroufly, advifedly, and malicioufly plot, con-

* trive, and endeavour to ftir up and raife War
< againft the faid Oliver, then and yet Lord Pro-

* tector of this Commonwealth, and againft the

' Government thereof, as the fame was efta-

6 blifhed, and to alter and fubvert the fame;

% Ecclef. iii. 16, 17. Pfahxciv. 20, 21, 23.

and did alfo then and there, as well before as

after the faid 50th ofApril laft paft, and after the

10th of Ottober, 16 f6, traitoroufly, advifedly,

and malicioufly declare, publifh, and promote
Charles Stuart, eldeft Son of the late King
Charles, to be King of England, Scotland, and

Ireland^ &c. and did then and there traito-

rouflv, advifedly, and malicioufly hold Intelli-

gence and Correspondence with the faid Charles

Stuart. All which faid Treafon and Treafons

he the faid John Mordant, the faid 50th of

April laft, and other the Times and Places

aforefaid, and after the faid 10th of Oclober,

16 f6, at Clement Danes, and other Places, did

traitoroufly declare by Overt-Act, that is to

fay, by conferring with J. Stapley Efq; and

Henry Mallory, and others, how to effect the

fame; and did then and there encourage the

faid John Stapely and Henry Mallory, and others,

thereunto; and did deliver Commiffions to fe-

veral Perfons in the Name of, and as from the

faid Charles Stuart^ concerning the raifing of

Forces, and levying War againft the faid

Oliver, then and yet Lord Protector, and

againft this Commonwealth: All which faid

Treafon and Treafons are contrary to the Sta-

tute in that Cafe made and provided. With
which faid Treafon and Treafons, he the faid

Attorney-General, for and on the behalf of

the faid Oliver, then and yet Lord Protector,

and on the behalf of the faid Commonwealth,
as aforefaid, doth charge and impeach the faid'

John Mordant. And the Attorney Gene-:

ral prayeth, That he the faid John Mordant

,

may be put to anfwer ; and that fuch Pro-

ceedings, Trial, and Judgment may be had

againft the faid Mordant, as is agreeable to

Law. And the faid Attorney General doth

aver that the faid John Mordant is a Ferfon by

Name appointed by his Highnefs and Council

to be proceeded againft.

Mr. Phelps. John Mordant Efq; thou ftandefl:

here charged with High-Treafon againft his

Highnefs the Lord Protector and the Common-

* Clar. Hift. Vol, 3. p. 484, &c.

wealth,
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wealth. You have heard the Charge read ; The
Court demands your pofitive Ani'wer thereto,

whether Guilty, or Not guilty.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, 1 defire I may hear

the Commiffion read, by which you fit.

Ld Prefident. You are impeached of High-

jTreafon : We require your Anfwer.

Mr. Mordant. I defire the Commiffion may be

lead, and the Commiffioners Names.

Ld Prefident. You are to be tried by the Laws

of England, Act of Parliament, and Commiffion

junder the Great Seal of England, in purfuance

jof that Act.

Mr. Mordant. I claim it as my Right j I am
gnorant in Law j I defire it may be read.

Ld Prefident. It is not granted to any.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, will you take away

that Liberty, that we fhall not know by what

Commiffion we are tried, and who are our

Judges ? I defire I may not be made the fir ft

[Precedent.

Ld Prefident. It is vifible who are yourJudges j

they are named by Act of Parliament : We are

your Judges.
Mr. Mordant. My Lord, if the Acl: fpecify

any fuch Thing that it may not be read, I have

done. I defire it may be read, that I may have

a legal and juft Proceeding.

Ld Prefident. The Act of Parliament doth not

require it.

Mr. Mordant. The Acl: doth not deny it.

Ld Prefident. You fhall have all the Privileges

that may be : But you muft firft plead.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I demand this, to

hear the Commiffion read.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, pray let him know
what is done, to warn him, left he fall into the

jfame Condemnation. There was one but a little

before you that demanded the fame Thing, and

the Court hath ruled it otherwife; and he hath

received his Sentence. I tell you of it, that

you may beware, and know how to carry your

felf. If Mr. Mordant will be pleafed to anfwer

whether or no guilty of thofe Crimes, then he

fhall have a fair Trial, and full Examination:

If otherwife, the fame Sentence muft be required

as before ; that is, upon Refufal, the Judgment
pronoune'd for High-Treafon.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I humbly crave the

Acl: may be read.

Mr. At. Gen. The Ad is publick: The Court
are not to give you an account of their Autho-
rity, or the Way of their Proceedings. They
require your Anfwer.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, fhall I not know by

I

what Law I am tried, nor by what A61, nor by

j
what Commiffion ?

Ld Prefident. You feem to be a young Gentle-

man: I wifh rather you would plead Not guilty,

j

or make an ingenuous Confeffion.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, this is the firft Time
j

that I have been before any Court in my Life:

I

I defire that my Reafon maybe convinced:
\ Either affign me Counfel to argue it with this

I
learned Counfel j and if they convince my Coun-
fel, I fhall fubmit: Or, if this Counfel will fay

the Law doth debar me the hearing of the Com-
miffion and the Act read to me, I fhall refer it

to the Judges of the Law, and by their Opini-
ons I will (land or fall.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord Prefident, you have
offered that Gentleman very feafonable' Advice

:

I wifh he may be capable of It. And in thefe
Debates, I wifh he doth not lofe thofe Advan-
tages that are really intended for him. For the
Court, it is by Acl; of Parliament ; and no Ju-
dicature in England can require an Account of
their Proceedings.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, pray give me leave
to ask this Qyeftion, Whether there is any Pre-
cedent for this ?

Mr. At. Gen. By way of Advice, I do acquaint
you that there is no Judicature in England fupe-
rior to this, but the Parliament immediately.
You are here impeiched of a very high Crime.,
High-Treafon j it may be a Strain of Youth:
the fr ft Step to Mercy is Confeffion.

Nix. Mordant. My Lord, I have heard that the
Judges of the Land are the beft and proper Ex-
pofitors iof the Law: And if they declare that
this is the Senfe of the Act, I'll fubmit to the
Court. If the Court will allow me Counfel, I
fhall fubmit if my Counfel be convinced. I de-
fire to hear the Commiffion read.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, this Gentleman was
a Fellow-Pnfoner with one that went before
him ; he walks after the fame Steps: I wifh he
may not run into the fame Error. Thefe Things
were urged by Dr. Hewet, and the Courr hath
ruled that their Authority is fufficient, and
therefore, my Lord, be pleafed that this Gen-
tleman may plead.

Mr. Mordant. I am over-borne both for Jury
and Counfel: 1 defire that my Reafon may be
convinced. If this Counfel will give it under
their Hands that this is Law by the Act of
i6f<5, if you will fay under your Hands that
this is Law, that I muft be excluded of Jury
and Counfel, and that I muft not know ihe
Commiffion by which I am tried, J will pro-
ceed.

Ld Prefident. I am afraid you have received ill

Advice from others : Poffibly you know what is

become of that Prifoner thac fpake of Counfel.
We cannot affign you Counfel as to Matter of
Fact : The Law and Act of Parliament have made
us your Judges, and therefore you are to plead.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I defire that that
Act may be read, to know whether I am to be
excluded of Jury and Counfel : I refer it to this

Counfel.

Mr. At. Gen. I doubt the Gentleman is in

Jeft: We are here to attend by Command of his

Highnefs t he Lord Protector; thefe Gentlemen
are all fworn by Act of Parliament. It is a little

flighting of the Courr, to appeal from the Court
to the Counfd: But, my Lord, I befeech you
he may forbear to fay he is overborne. You
fhall have Juftice done, if you will plead 3 if

not, there was a Precedent but now. If you
pleafe to put your felf upon the Trial,, you fhall

have a fair Trial.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, convince me by this

Act that I am to lofe the Right of Juryj I have
not heard any Reafon why I muft lofe it.

Mr. At. Gen I do tell you the Court hath
given Judgment juft now in the like Cafe.

Mr. Mordant. 1 ask a Precedent for this.

Mr. At. Gen I tell you a Precedent, Sir Henry

Slingsby and Dr. Heivet.

Mr. Mordant. Is it a good Precedent ? If any

give an ill Precedent, it is reafon I fhould de-

bate it my felf.
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Mr. At. Gen. I humbly conceive that this

Court is your Court, and you ought to plead it.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I defire I may be

heard: The Words are, That the refpective

Commiffioners, or the major part of them, are

to meet, &V. I humbly conceive, without the

whole I cannot be tried.

Ld Prefident. All this that you ask of us now,

we have declared this Morning already to one

who was before you at the Bar: The Quorum

of this Commiffion is feventeen, or any of them.

We muft require you again to plead.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I defire a little Pa-

tience : The Number of the Commiffioners is

feventeen : I conceive that muft be very much
ilrained in Reafon, that they muft try, becaufe

it relates to the refpective Commiffioners. Seve-

ral Perfons were allowed Counfel} I humbly de-

fire Counfel.

Ld Prefident. That is when there is Matter of

Law. You have alledged nothing: You are now
upon Matter of Fa£b.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, my Indictment is

Matter of Law, and upon that I may fafely de-

mand Counfel : I defire to have Counfel as to

my Indictment.

Ld Prefident. Your Reafon, and my Reifon,

and all Reafon, muft fubmit to the Law: You
are now upon Matter of Fact : The fingle Que-

ftion is, Guilty, or Not guilty?

Mr. At. Gen. My Advice to you is, That you

would put your felf upon your Trial.

Mr. Mordant. I am not convinced at all, but

forced upon it 5 and it is a hard Thing: It is

reafon that my Reafon mould be convinced. If

this Act doth fay in any place that I muft lofe

thefe Privileges, or if the Judges will declare it

to be fo, I will fubmit to it. If the Judges

will declare that I muft be tried thus, God's

Will be done 5 I defire to ftand and fall by the

Laws.
Mr. Sol. Ellis. I will tell you where his Mi-

ftake is : He fpeaks of former Trials, which we
do not deny. But this Gentleman will agree

that it is in the power of Parliaments, by Acts

of Parliament, to alter thofe Trials. We con-

ceive that this Act of Parliament hath deter-

mined this very Queftion: For, my Lord, it is,

That you fhall examine upon Oath, and there-

upon proceed to Conviction and final Sentence,

not by Jury : And this Act of Parliament hath

entrufted you to be both Judge and Jury. All

EngUJhmen muft fubmit to what the Parliament

hath done : And the Parliament hath determined

this Queftion, that you have power to examine

upon Oath, and thereupon to proceed to Con-
viction, &c. If a Jury was to do it, you were

not to proceed to Conviction. This Gentleman
fays there is no Precedent for it •, but we fay it

was the fame in Queen Elizabeth's Time: They
proceeded to Conviction and final Sentence,when
they proceeded againft Duke Hamilton, LordC#-
pel, and Holland. Did not the Parliament ap-

prove of what they did in that Cafe as juft, ho-

nourable, and lawful? Did not Duke Hamilton,

did they not all petition to the Houfe ? Did not

the Parliament order Execution upon fome, and

cleared others? To fay this is without Precedent,

when Precedents are fo frequent, I wonder that

fhould be faid. To that Point of a Jury : I

muft tell this Gentleman he fpeaks of a Jury,

but hath not put himfelf upon a Trial. After

he hath pleaded Not guiltv, then it muft be
conGdered the Mariner of the proceeding} but
to come before he plead Guilty, or Not guilty,

to defire a Jury, this is a little to anticipate your
Judgment.

Mr. Mordant. I do not fhun to be tried by the

Act of Parliament, but refer my felf to the

Judges, that thofe Privileges of the Act may
not be taken from me.
Mr. At. Gen. The Parliament hath thought

j

fit to go this way, and it is not to be difputed: i

They that live in this Nation are not to difpute
it. If that Gentleman will pleafe to recollect

himfelf, and not, my Lord, thus expoftulate and
difpute with the Court of Juftice, if he pleafe

to put himfelf upon a Trial, if he thinks him-
j

felf innocent, I think it is bcftj and if he re-

fufe it, his Sentence is from himfelf.

Mr. Mordant. I do not, my Lord, difpute the :

Power of the Court j but I defire my Reafon 1

may be convinced, and that I may have Counfel.

Ld Prefident. We are clearly of Opinion, we 2

have not Power in this Cafe to appoint any /

other Jury, not to fummon a Jury ; we ourfelves 5

have taken an Oath. You would do well to )

plead.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I have but little to

fay; and that is, That, as that Gentleman faid,

it was referred to the Court what Jury I fhall

have, I defire, my Lord, to know whether the
Court doth intend to try me by a Jury.

Mr. Sol. Ellis. They do not.

Mr. Mordant. Is the Court Judge and Jury?
Mr. At. Gen. If you will deal ingenuoufly with

the Cc urr, I think that is beft.

Mr. Mordant. Seeing I am here over-ruled
tho' not convinced in my Reafon, I fhall demur
to the Court, and plead Not guilty. I defire a
Copy of my Indictment, and Time to plead.
Ld Prefident. It was never done: For any In- •

dictment of High-Treafon was never delivered
to any Prifoner.

Mr. Mordant. I urge my Lord Coke for Au-
thority, for a Copy of my Indictment.

Mr. Phelps. John Mordant Efq-, you ftand

here charged of High-Treafon 5 to this Charge
you plead Not guilty : Is this your Plea ?

Mr. Mordant. Yes, I beg, my Lord, that my ,

Ignorance of the Laws may not prejudice me,
not underftanding or knowing any thing of the

Laws: And this granted me, I fhall addrefs to

my Juftification.

Mr. At. Gen. Do you ftand to your Plea, Not
guilty?

Mr. Mordant. Yes.

Mr. Lechmere. My Lord, I fhall fhortly open 1

the Impeachment. The Attorney-General hath 1

exhibited a Charge of High-Treafon againft t

John Mordant Efq; viz. That he the faid 'John

Mordant intending to imbroil this Nation in new
and inteftine Wars, the 30th of April laft pad,

and at divers Times fince the 10th of October

16 f6, together with Henry Bijhop, Hartgil Baron,

&c. at the Parifh of Clement Danes? in the

County of Middlefex, did traitoroufly, advifedly, -

and malicioufly plot, contrive, and endeavour,
Firft, to ftir and raife Force, and levy War a-

gainft his Highnefs the Lord Protector and the

Commonwealth, to fubvert and alter the Go-
vernment of the fame. Secondly, That he did

traitoroufly, advifedly, and malicioufly declare,

publifh, and promote Charles Stuart to be King
of
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of England, Scotland, and Ireland. Thirdly, That

he did traitoroufly, advifedly, and malicioufly

hold Intelligence and Correfpondence with

Charles Stuart; and that he did declare thefe

Treafons by Overt-Aft, that is to fay, by con-

ferring with John Stapely and Henry Mallory how
to effect the fame, and did deliver feveral Com-
miffions from Charles Stuart to feveral Perfons

}

and this contrary to the Statute. To this Charge

of High-Treafon the Prifoner pleads Not guil-

ty : We areready, my Lord, to call our WitnefTes

to prove him guilty of thefe feveral Crimes, and

with the leave of the Court, we fhall call our

WitnefTes.

Mr. At. Gen. I wifh Mr. Mordant had done

this before, and made himfelf capable of more
Favour.

[Air. Mordant then defired to have Pen, Ink,

and Paper, which was granted bim.~\

[John Stapely and Anthony Stapely were then

called..]

John Stapely [worn.

Mr. At. Gen. We produce this Gentleman

(I fuppofe he is well known to the Prifoner) to

prove the Charge: I defire he may declare what

he knows. What do you know concerning the

Difcourfes of Mr. Mordant with you, touching

the bringing in Charles Stuart ?

John Stapely. I have been in Mr. Mordant's

Company feveral Times; and what I can fay

will not be much. Mr. Mordant did once tell me
there was fuch a Defign as the bringing inofrhe

King; and he did ask me if 1 did not know of

fuch a Thing. I told him no. He was pleafed

to tell me fomewhat of it. I asked him if he

was engaged in it : He told me he was not.

Mr. At. Gen. What did he tell you concern-

ing his being entrufted by the King therein?

John Stapely. He told me the King wrote to

him, to fpeak to his Friends that they would be

ready to affift. him when he fhould come into

England with Force ; which he told me was with

7000 Men. This was the chief of all.

My. At. Gen. Did he not fay that he had

Commiffions from the King ?

John Stapely. He did not tell me fo ; but I

have heard him fay others had had Commiffions,

two other Gentlemen in Surrey.

Mr. At. Gen. Did not he encourage you
thereto? What Arguments did he ufe ?

John Stapely. He fpoke to me of it feveral

times.

Mr. At. Gen. After what manner?
John Stapely. Only in Commendation of the

Thing : I heard him fay that if there were a Ne-
ceffity, Surrey Folks would come into Sujfex, to

affift them.

Mr. At. Gen. Who was prefent at any of
thefe Difcourfes ?

John Stapley. There was none but him and
myfelf.

Mr. At. Gen. At what Place, and at what
Time.?

John Stapely. Near his own Houfe, at feveral

Times. I have told you the main of the Dif-
courfes.

Mr. Mordant. Mr. Stapely, about what Time
was this?
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Mr. Mordant. Mr. Stapely, at what Place was
the Encouragement made ?

John Stapely. I do not know what he means
by Encouragement : He only told me of it.

Mr. Mordant. I defire to know when I told

you that I had received a Letter to encourage
my Friends from beyond-Sea, and who was by ?

John Stapely. There was no body by.

Ld Prejident. About what time did he tell

you of this Letter?

John Stapely. About half a Year fince.

Ld Prefident. Who was by ?

John Stapely. No body, my Lord.
Mr. Sol. Ellis. Did he tell you it was the

King that wrote to him ; and therefore it was
juflto affift him?

John Stapely. I think I heard him fay fo 5 I

cannot take my Oath of it.

Ld Prefident. Did he tell you what confider-

able Perfons were concerned ?

John Stapely I have heard him fpeak of fome
Perfons that were engaged in this Defign ; Sir

Francis Vincent, and one Brown: He laid that

Sir William Waller fpake to him to fpeak to

me.
Ld Prefident. When ?

John Stapely. Above a Year fince: It was
fince the Parliament.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I do not know Sir

William Waller.

Anthony Stapely [worn.

Mr. At. Gen. What Difcourfe have you had

with Mr. Mordant, touching Charles Stuart?

Anthony Stapely. We were about a quarter of
a Year ago at the Half-Moon Tavern in Alderfgate-

Street: At that time there was no Dilcourfe

about the Bufinefs at all. After that he was
fpeaking to me about the Times, LofTes of Pri-

vileges, great Taxations, &c . wherein I agreed

with him, and wifhed they might be better. I

asked him if there was any way to help it. He
faid, Yea j and faid that Charles Stuart was in-

tending for England; and that would be a fair

Opportunity to redrefs all Grievances. At Berk-

Jhire-Houfe, there he was pleafed to enquire con-
cerning the Affairs of Suffex, and in what Pre-

paration they were, in cafe the King of Scots

fhould land. I told him I did not know; I had
not been in the Country lately j I did believe

that there would not be an Appearance fuitable

to his Expectation. He told me lomething con-

cerning Surrey; that there was a confiderable

Strength there, ready to affift us in SuJJcx, and

join with us when any fuch Thing fhould hap-

pen. He did fay that he had delivered out four

Commiffions, three for Horfe, and one for Foot;

but to whom I know not: I dare not fwear it ;

but it is to the beft of my Remembrance.
Mr. At. Gen. What Difcourfe paft between

you at the Half-Moon Tavern in Alder[gate- Street

about March laft ?

Anth. Stapely. It was the Day that the Cava-

lier Party were to depart the City : There was

Captain Mallory, myfelf, and this Gentleman,

Mr. Mordant. And then he fpoke again con-,

cerning Sujfex; that the King of Scots coming

was fuddenly expected ; and defired to know in

what Readinefs we were. 1 told him I could not

tell 3 but I did believe that Things would be

in
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in as great a Forwardnefs as the Times would
permit. It was agreed upon that fome of our

Country fhould meet Mr. Mordant at Crawly,

in Surrey, upon the Tuefday following.

Mr. At. Gen. What was the End of your
Meeting ?

Anth. Stapely. It was to confider further how
Things might be carried on, as to the Bufinefs

of Surrey and Sujfex : There was an Expectation
of the landing of Charles Stuart; and he did fay

that he heard Charles Stuart was in a Readinefs,

Mr. Mallory, myfelf, and Mr. Mordant, were
to meet, further to debate of Things. I un-
derftood it was for the Bufinefs of the King ;

but it was not pofitively fo exprefled. He asked

me how Things went on in Sujfex. I told him
1 could not fatisfy him : Therefore we told him
there fhould fome of our Country meet him at

Crawly, to give him an Account. He faid there

was a considerable Force j but I never heard

him fpeak of any Number of Horfe or Foot in

Surrey.

Mr. Mordant. Mr. Stapely, I defire to know
when I fpoke to you of this?

Anth. Stapely. My Lord, it was—I cannot
tell the Days : But it was fuddenly after the

breaking-up of the Parliament ; all the Dif-

courfes were fince the breaking up of the laft

Parliament.

Mr. Mordant. I defire to know where I fpoke

this, and who was by ?

Anth. Stapely. As I take it, the firft Difcourfe

was at Long-Acre; but no body by.

Mr. Mordant. I defire to know the Time
when I met him at the Half-Moon Tavern.

Anth. Stapely. It was the Day fet for the de-

parting of the Cavalier Party out of Town.
Mr. Mordant. I defire to know who was by ?

Anth. Stapely. Captain Mallory.

Mr. Mordant. I defire to know whether I

did meet at the Place appointed ?

Anth, Stapely. My brother and Mr. Mallory

did not me-t him, becaufe my Brother was fent

for to Whitehall.

Mr. Mordant. I defire to know the WitnefTes

to all he fays ?

Anth. Stapely. It was all private j only once

at the Half-Moon Tavern with Captain Mallory.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, there was mention

made of one Captain Mallory, whom we did in-

tend to have as a Witnefs : He was committed
upon this Defign, being privy to it. It hath fo

fallen out that he is lately efcaped . I defire that

Mr. Serjeant at Arms, Major Ellifon,Thomas Mat-

lock, and Willium Capput, may be fworn.

All four fworn.

Mr. At. Gen. We do produce thefe Witnef-

fes for this End : Captain Mallory was a Priloner,

and we did intend to make ufe of him here;

but it hath fo fallen out, that his guilty Con-
icience hath made him to fly. Ask thefe con-

cerning his being in Cuftody, and Endeavour of

Efcape.

Major Ellifon. My Lord, Captain Mallory was

in Cuftody, and a Guard constantly fet upon
him, which Guard was relieved every twenty-

four Hours. The Manner of his Efcape I only

had by relation. We have, ufed all our Endea-

vours to have found him fince he is efcaped :

We did that Night fend prefently to Southwark,

to Inns there, and laid wait for him* and fent

to Captain MaUorf* Brother-in-Law, where he
formerly lay,examined him, but all in vain. Where
we had any Intimation of any Relation of his,

we did fend to fearch for him.

Serj. Dan. My Lord, upon the twenty-eighth
of May laft, fince the Efcape of Captain Mallory %

I received a Warrant from the Council, com-
manding me to ufe all Diligence for apprehend-
ing Captain Mallory ; I have accordingly endea-

vour'd it: Not knowing his Relations, I did

not fpeak to them. I have ufed all Means I

could; but cannot find him.

Tho. Tatlock. My Lord, Captain Mallory went
away about Nine a Clock at Night: He went
away in a black Suit and Cloke.

Will. Capput. All that I know, my Lord, is,

That Captain Mallory was a Prifoner, and chang-
ed his Habit and Hair, went away, and left Mo-
ney in the Window to pay for his Lodging.
Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, the Intention is to

fhew you Captain Mallory was a Prifoner, is ef-

caped, and what Me:ins have been ufed for his Ap-
prehenfion. Officer, pray lwear Mr. Scobell.

Mr. Scobell fworn.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, Mr. Scobell was one
of the Juftices of the Peace that took Captain
Mallory's Examination upon Oath.

Mr. Scobell. My Lord, Captain Mallory gave
in Informal ion upon Oath, before my Lord Goffe

and myfelf, upon the twenty- firft of April laft ;

and upon his Oath did inform us, That about

the beginning of March laft Captain Anthor.y

Stapely and himfelf being at the Half-Moon Ta-
vern, John Mordant, Efq; being upon the Ex-
change, was fent for to Mr. Stapely, and that he

came. Thereupon Mr. Stapely prefented Cap-
tain Mallory to Mr. Mordant as a Gentleman that

was interefted in Charles Stuart's Defign, toge-

ther with Mr. Stapely, that was his Brother: He
faid that by that Brother he meant John Stapely

Efq; Thereupon he informed us That Mr. Mor-
dant did demand of Captain Mallory in what

Readinefs the Horfe that were to be raifed in

Sujfex were. Mr. Mallory informed us, That to

that he returned an Anfwcr, that they were nor

in fo good a Pofture as he did believe Mr. John
Stapely had reprefented to Mr. Mordant, but

doubted that it would fall much fhort. Mallory

told us, That at that Anfwer Mr Mordant did

much wonder, becaufe he faid Charles Stuart the

King was in a very good Pofture j and that there

was a daily Expectation of his coming over with

Forces} and that thereupon Mr. Mordant did de-

fire that there might be a Meeting in fome con-

venient Place between him and Mr. Stapely, and

fome others of that County of Sujfex, as fhould

be thought fit. My Lord, it was (he faid) to

this End, That they might confer together, and

underftand how the Affairs flood in reference to

the Counties of Sujfex and Surrey, that they

might the better affift each other in the intend-

ed Infurreclion. He did inform us, my Lord,

That accordingly it was agreed there fhould be a

Meeting upon the Tuefday following at Crawly ;

and, in order thereunto, he faid that Mr. Antho-

ny Stapely and himfelf did fpeak with Mr. John

Stapely to have a Meeting accordingly at Crawly

upon the Tuefday following, and they did agree

to it. He faid that they fhould meet wirh

Mr. Mordant at Crawly; but in the mean time

Mr. John :
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Mr. John Stapcly being fent for to Whitehall,

that meeting was prevented. My Lord, this

is all.

Ld. Prefident. Mr. Mordant, would you ask

Mr. Scobell any Queftion?

Mr. Scobell. 1 fuppofe that Mr. Mordant's

asking me anyQuetiion will not advantage him,

or that myTeltimony isdifadvantageous to him :

For all that I have fpoke was the Came that Mai-

lory declared unto me, and my Lord Goffe, as Ju-

ftices of the Peace.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I neither know this

Gentleman, nor Mr. Mallory, upon my Oath.

Mr. At. Gen. Mr. Anthony Stapely, were you

with Captain Mallory and Mr. Mordant at Din-

ner together at the Half-Moon ?

Mr. Anth. Stapely. My Lord, Captain Mallory

was once there; but not at Dinner.

Mr. Sol. Ellis. The Attorney- General hath

exhibited a Charge of High-Treafon againft the

Pnfoner at the Bar, that was, to rnife Force a-

gainlt the Government, and publiCh Charles

Stuart to be King, and held Correfpondence

with him.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, you have heard the

WitnelTes . The firft Gentleman, Mr. John
Stapcly, he was pleafed to urge againft me, that

I faid Charles Stuart wric to me to engage my
Friends, but faid not that he faw the Letter, or

that any one was by. He did not name i he Time
or Place but at random ; but that I faid fo. Being

ask d about Commiffions, he denies that I told

him I either had Commiffions, or delivered any.

He fays I gave him Encouragement to this En-
gagement, or what he calls it, I know notj but

he doth not fay what kind of Encouragement it

was; he doth not fay 1 promifed him CvJoney or

Preferment. He fays he heard I engaged two
o.her Gentlemen, Sir Francis Vincent and Col.

Brown. He was asked, if any was by at thefe

Difcourfcs ; he faid none was by. My Lord,

this is a fingle Evidence: he fays it was a Year
or more fince ; he fays I faid I was entrutled by
Charles Stuart about the latter end of the la ft

Winter. For Mr. Anthony Stapely, he urges a-

gainft me, that at his Lodging I difcourfed with
him, that the way to help us was to bring in

Charles Stuart : he fays, that I faid in Surrey was
a confiderable Strength to join with Charles

Stuart, which if true might prove troublefome

to me ; but I have not been in Surrey this Year
and half. He fays, only to the beft of his Re-
membrance, I faid I had three or four Commif-
fions, but he fays it is to the bell of his remem-
brance, but doth not fay he faw the Commiffi-
ons, and will not fwear whether they were for

Horfe or Foot. He fays, at the Half-Moon I

fpake with him and Mallory; who that is, I have
already fpeke to. He fays, I did not name the

Number of any Forces that were ready : He
fays, that we agreed to meet on the TueCday fol-

lowing at Crawly with Mr. Mallory, but fays

that I was not there. My Lord, 1 do not know
that place ; he fays it is in our Country, but it

is not : He fays it was his Brother John Stapely

that was to meet me. He fays, it was not about
any pofitive thing why \ was to meet there, but
in general to carry on things about the intend-
ed Dcfign He fays not that I faid it, but that
1 faid 1 heard that Charles Stuart would land
with a confiderable Party. He fays it was to
debate things in general: He laid, it was not
Vol. II.

faid about Charles Stuart, that he Was not men*
tioned, but he luppofed it to be fo. He fays po-

fitively, that I never fpake of any number of

Horfe or Foot, or any thing of that kind, t

asked him, when I firft fpoke of this ; he return-

ed no time, would not fay any pofitive time, but

faid all was fince the breaking up of the Parlia-

ment. I asked him who was by ; he faid no
body, all was private. He fays, the time when
we were at the Half-Moon was near the time

that thofe that ferved the Lite King were banifh-

ed. He fays poiitively I dd not meet at the

place appointed, and he gives the Rcafon, a very

infufficient one, becaufe his Brother was fent

for up; that could not hinder me. He waves

his own meeting: he fays all was private. I Cub-

mit it all to this honourable Court,

Mr. Sol. Ellis. The Charge is for levying of

War to alter the Government, and embroil us

again in a new War: to which be pleads Not
Guilty. For the Proof of this we have offered

to you WirnefTes: I fhall take them in order as

the Gentleman did at the Bar. John Stapely laid,

Mr. Mordant faid the King writ to him to en-

courage and engage his Friends to affift him at

his coming; but fays not the time when this was

done. He fays he did not fee the Letter,

but fays Mr, Mordant told him he had a Letter,

all the Difcourfes (becaufe he fays there was no
time) it agrees that they were fince the tenth

of Oclober i6"j~6, and fo it is clear within this

Act, and within your Jurifdiftion, Now iee

how it was carried on : ACter he had told him
this, how d th he encourage him in his telling

him the Juftice of the CauCe, the Perfons enga-

ged therein, and of Sir William Waller? Then,
my Lord, he told them if the Forces of Sujfex

were notfuffieient, that the Surrey Forces would
come to affift them for the coming in of Charles

Stuart : this both John and Anthony Stapely. So
that we conceive, under favour, that John Stapely

and Anthony Stapely do agree in mo ft of theCir-

cumflances. Anthony Stapely fays, that Mr. Mor-
dant came to him, tells him there were greac

Grievances; Ay, fays he, but how fhall it be
remedied ? Tells him that Charles Stuart intend-

ed to come to England with a great Force, which
would redrefs them. He asked him how the Bu-
finefs was in Sujfex? He faid it was nor in fo

good a pofture as he expected : he faid that Sur-

rey Forces fhould join with Sujfex. My Lord,

1 leave it nakedly to you, if you find this to be
true, we fubmit it to you, and Mr. Attorney-

General will pray what his Place requires.

Mr. At. Gen. You have heard the Bufinefs, this

Gentleman hath inteipofed himfelf where he

was not called ; it is a Happinefs this Bufinefs

was difcovered. Upon this Evidence I leave it

to your Juftice, and as you fhall judge. I fhall fay

no more.

Mr. Mordant. My Lord, I will fpeak to you
very fhort, it is this : That to all thfc, though
it be urged againft me by the ableft Men in the

Land, yet there is but one Witnefs in a manner,

and that differing in many Circumftances —
\_Here he was interrupted.] My Lord, I leave it

to you, I remit my Life into your hands, refting

and believing your Lordfhips will deal with me
as one of this Nation, an- Ehglijk Freeman. I

leave it to you, and do fubmit.

Ld. Prefident. Withdraw the Pnfoner.

aq Pre-
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Proclamation to adjourn into the Painted Chamber.

After a little Debate in the Painted Cham-

ber, they adjourned till the Morrow, thefecond

of June.

June 2, i6f8.

TH E Lords Commiffioners met in 'the Pain-

ted Chamber about Ten in the Morning,

and there continued till about Four a Clock in

the Afternoon, and then adjourned into IVefi-

minfter-Hall ; where Proclamation being made,

the Names of the Lords Commiffioners being

read,

Mr. Serjeant was commanded to bring Dr.

Hewet, Sir Henry Slingsby, and Mr. Mordant to

the Bar.

Which was accordingly done. *

Proclamation for Silence ivas made.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, as for Sir H. Stings-

by and Mr. Mordant, you have heard the Im-

peachment read, and their Pleas ; I have given

in the Evidence, I pray your Judgment as to

them : as for the other, you have heard the

Impeachment, and no Defence j I pray your

Juftice.

Ld. Prefident. Sir H. Slingsby Kt. thou haft been

impeached, on the behalf of the Lord Protector

and this Commonwealth, of High-Treafon : to

which thou haft pleaded Not Guilty, which the

Court hath taken into Confideration : What haft

thou to fay further, why this Court ihould not

proceed to Judgment ?

Sir H. Slingsby. My Lord, I humbly defire I

may be tried by a Jury, for I muft fay you are

my Enemies, (pardon the Expreflion ;) ifnot fo,

•why did you fcquefter me, and fell my whole

Eftate? And why did you deny me the act of

Oblivion ? There is no man would willingly ap-

peal to his Adverfaries j there are fome among you

that have been inftrumental in my Sequeftration,

and in the felling of my Eftate, for which they

gave me no reafon but this, That I would not

compound, when I thought not fit fo to do,

when there was no Eftablifhment or fettled Peace:

if 1 had compounded, I had not been fure whe-
ther I might not have compounded over again.

My Eftate hath been fequeftred and fold. Now
to be my Judge and Jury 1 humbly pray

being a Commoner, I may be tried by Com-
moners.

Ld. Prefident. Sir H. Slingsbyi, I am not to hear

you as to any of thefe things, (you have plead-

ed already) this is not a time of Pleading, but
a time of Judgment ; therefore I muft require

your Silence, and hear me a few Words.

The Lord Prefident's Speech.

4 Q IR Henry Slingsby, I am really and truly af-
4 i3 flicted for your fad Condition j but when I

* confider the nature of your Offence, with the
4 Circumftanccs and Aggravations of your Trea-
* fon committed j whea I confider your Perfon,
4 and that fuch a Perfon as you are, ihould be
8 inftrumental in fo deteftable a Con(piracy,, and
1 when I think of that Judgment that awft be
4 given againft you *. racthmks ycj» *re one of

the faddeft Spectacles that ever I beheld in all

my Days : I befeech God that you may feri-

oufly lay it to your Heart with Sorrow and
Repentance, and that you may be more fenfi-

ble of what you have done, than of what you
are to fuffer.
4 Sir, was it not a great Aggravation of the
Sins of the Egyptians* that when God had de-
clared himfelf' by fo many Signs and Wonders
on the behalf of the Ifraelites, that yet not*
withftanding they would ftill purfue Mofes and
Ifrael? Was not this a great Aggravation of
their Sin?
4 Who is fo great a Stranger in this Nation, as

to be ignorant what God hath done amongft us,

by a Series of wonderful Providences fo many
years together, againft that very Party who
are ftill hatching of Treafonsand Rebellions a-

mongft us? It grieves my very Soul to think
of it, that after fo many fignal Providences,
wherein God feems to declare himfelf, (as it

were by Signs and Wonders) that your Heart
mould be ftill hardened, I may fay, more har-
dened than the very Hearts of the Egyptians

:

for they at length did not only fee, but confef-

fed that the Lord fought againft them ; but
you, O that you would confefs, and give Glo-
ry to God. You cannot chufe but fee that the
Lord fights againft you, that the Stars in their

Courfes fight againft you j and yet you will

not fee, you will not confefs, until Deftruction
overtakes you. This is a fad Lamentation, and
I befeech God that you may ferioufly confi-

der it.

4 Sir, if the fignal and the wonderful Provi-
dences ofGod will not deter you, yetmethinks
National Considerations fhould deter you from
fuch a Treafon as this is. Charles Stuart is in

Confederacy with Spain againft England* he is

in Confederacy with that great Popifh Intereft.

Is it imaginable that an Englifhman, that a Pro-
tectant fhould affift fuch a Confederacy as this

is ? Yet that which is not imaginable in it-

felf, is here clearly and evidently proved be-

fore us.

4 Sir Henry Slingsby, there are three WitnefTes,

Major Waterhoufe, Captain Overton, and Lieu-

tenant Thompfoni two ofthem full in Evidence
as to every Charge againft you, and three of

them as to fome of the Charges $ and befldes

your own Confeffion at the Bar, full in proof

againft you. Did it not clearly appear in proof

before us, that you promoted Charles Stuart to

be King of England ? Did it not clearly ap-

pear before us, that you endeavoured to betray
j

the Garifon of Hull to Charles Stuart ? Did i

it not likewife clearly appear before us, thad

you endeavoured to withdraw the Officers, and (

fome of the Soldiers of that Garifon from their

Obedience to his Highnefs,and to make a Mu-
tiny in that Garifon, and all the Circumftances

did clearly appear ? Was it not proved before

us, that you offered a Commiffion to MajorWa-
terhoufe, and promifed him a Commiffion in the

firft Place, and a fecond to Captain Overtonr
and a Deputation to the third ? And what you

promifed, did you not make it good ? Did you

not with your own Hand offer a Commiffion
fealed, and faid it was from Charles Stuart ?

And did you not only encourage him, by tell-

ing hirn that he was coming into England with

a considerable Force ; but did you not promife
4 alfo,:
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1 alfo, that upon his Landing, poo I. fhould be 4

4 paid to Major TVaterhoufe? All thefe things '

* were clearly proved before us.

4 Sir, What faid you to this Proof? You con- «

4 feffed upon the matter all, in effect all } but on- 4

* ly fome things you faid by way of Excufe, and <

* 1 {hall truly relate them all. All you did, you
4 told us was but in jeft. What, Sir, if thofe 4

« difcontented Englijh that comply'd with Spain 4

* in Queen Elizabeth's Days in Eighty Eight, «

4 had faid they had been in jeft ; what would you 4

4 have thought of that, Sir? What if thofe Je- '

4 fluted Papifts that would have blown up the *

* Parliament-Houfe upon the yth of November, 4

' with Barrels of Gunpowder, had faid that they *

4 had brought in thofe Barrels in jeft ; what <

* would you have thought of it ? Sir, be not de- !

' ceived : As a Man lows, fo fhall he reap •, you '

* have fow'd Treafon and Rebellion, and you are (

; now come to reap the Fruit of it.

' And, Sir, you told me you did not -own the '

1 Government, you were a Prifoner, and there-

1 fore could not be bound by the Laws of that

' Government. Sir, doth not every Englijloman

1 owe a natural Allegiance to the Supreme Ma-
4 giftrate of England? Is not every Englifiman,

4 whether in Prifon, or out of Prifon, bound by
* the Laws of England? Sir, if you own not the

« Government of England, that is an Offence in

* itfelf, a great Offence } and would you make an

4 Offence agahft the Government to be an Ex-
* cufe or Juftification for Treafon ?

* The laft thing you faid was this, You told us

4 you were trepan'd into it. Sir, did not you
' yourfelt of yourfelf promife a Commiffion to

4 Major Waterhoufe ? Did you not of yourfelf

4 offer Five Thoufand Pound to be paid as foon

* as Charles Stuart landed upon Englifi Ground?
* I fhall name thofe worthy Gentlemen, for Ho-
* nour's fake to them, that had a Hand in this

4 Difcovery. It was that prudent and faithful

4 Governor of Hull, Colonel Smith, that had a

4 Hand in it There were thofe worthy and
4 faithful Commanders, who were here in Court,
4 Major Waterhoufe, Captain Overton, and Lieu-
* tenant Thompfon: Sir, thefe faithful and worthy
4 Gentlemen have carried themfelves in this Bu-
4 finefs, like the Man of Underftanding, that So-
4 lomon fpeaks of.

4
I have done, only I would fay one Word to

4 you, becaufe I hear you are a Protectant : I

would only ask you this Queftion, What think

you would have become of the Proteftant In-

tereft of the Proteltants of England, Scotland,

and Ireland ; if youhad had your Will, if Charles

Stuart had come in? If you had but time (but

the Lord knows you have not timej to look

over the Records of England, to look over the

Declarations of Parliament fince 1640 ; if you
could remember it, Sir, it would tell you what
Family it was that betiay'd the Proteftants of

France, when Rochel was taken j what Family
it was that betray'd the Proteftants in Germa-

ny, and in the Palatinate, when a Peace was

made with Spain without content of Parlia-

ment. What could you think of that Family
that did tolerate Popery for a Match with

Spain? What then would that Family have
done, if it could have gained them England
Scotland, and Ireland ?
4 And now, Sir, but one Word more to you as

you are an Englifhman : I befeech you confider
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what would have become of this Nation, if

you had had your Will} you had brought a

new Civil War upon England at the lealt. I

cannot think of a new Civil War upon Eng-
land, but I think of Defolation upon Defolation

to this poor Nation, &V.
' lhave but one Word to fay to Dr. Heivet:
And Sir, when I look upon you as a Minifter^

I mult confefs I do not know how to fpeakto
you, becaufe it has always been my way to fpeak
to Men of your Profeflion, as to Minifters, I

never fpake to them but as a Child fpeaks to his,

Father} fuch Reverence and fuch Regard I
bear to their Office. But to fpeak foto a Mi-
nifter as a Judge fpeaks to a Traitor, I muffc

confefs I know not how to do it. But, Sir,

there muft be Words fpoken to you, though I

do not fpeak them } and not only to you as a

Traitor, but a Traitor in the higheft Degree j

not as a Traitor (as you are intitled, for endea-

vouring to levy a new War, and to bring De>
folation and a War in this Nation) but fuch an
one as fhould rather die a Traitor, than own

; the Authority of the Nation. Bur, Sir, I
; know not how to fpeak to you, and therefore
': the Record muft fpeak to you ; and 1 myfelf
' will not any further.

4
I have now a Word to fpeak to you, Mr.

* Mordant: God hath appeared in Juftice, and
' God doth appear in Mercy ; as the Lord is juft
4 to them, fo he is exceeding merciful to you

:

4 And I may fay to you,That God appears to you
4 at this time, as he fpeaks to Sinners in Jefus
* Chrift } for, Sir, he doth clear Sinners in Chrift
* Jefus, even when they are guilty, and fo God
* cleareth you : I will not fay you are guilty,

* but ask your own Confcience whether you
4 are or no. Sir, blefs God as long as you live,

* and blefs my Lord Protector, by whofe Autho-
4 rity you are cleared. Sir, I fpeak no more, but
4 I befeech you to fpeak to God.

4 And now let me add this Word to thofe
4 two Gentlemen: Sirs> when I have done
' fpeaking, I fhall never have done praying for

' you, as long as you are alive} that is the laft

4 thing I muft fay to you. And now let the
4 Judgment of the Court be read,'

Thereupon the Clerk read the Judgment and

Sentence of the Court againft Sir H. Slingsby

Knt. which was as follows

:

HAT the faid Sir H. Slingsby, as a falfe

Traitor to his laid Highnefs the Lord
44 Protector and this Commonwealth, fhall be
44 convey'd back again to the Tower of London',
44 and from thence through the middle of the
4e City of London, directly fhall be drawn unto
' 4 the Gallows of Tyburn, and upon the faid Gal-
44 lows there fhall be hanged, and being alive,

" fhall be cut down to the Ground, and his En-
44 trails taken out of his Belly, and, he living,

" be burnt before him; and that his Head fhall

" be cut off, and that his Body fhall be divided
44 into four Quarters, &c.

In the next place, the fame Judgment and

Sentence of the Court was read againft Dr.

Heivet, being Ingrofs'd in like manner.

This being done, the Judgment of the Court

was declared concerning Mr. Mordant, which

QLqi ( in
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(in fhort) was, * c That upon Consideration of
" the whole Matter, in reference to the Charge
" againft him, and his Plea thereunto, they did
«' adjudge him Not Guilty." And fo the Prifo-

ers were dimifs'd.

Proclamation being made, the Court adjourn-

ed back to the Painted Chamber, were they or-

der'd the Execution of the Sentence upon Sir

Henry SUngsby and Dr. Hewet to be on Saturday

next. And Warrants were ifTued out to the

Sheriffs of London to fee Execution done ac-

cordingly.

Then the Court adjourned itfelf 'till Thurfday
the tenth Inftant.

Notwithstanding the former Sentence pafTed

by the High Court, yet his Highnefs being in-

formed, that Dr. Hewet, Prifoner in the Tower
of London, who Hands attainted of High-Trea-
fon, before the Commiffioners appointed by Act
of Parliament, for levying War againft his High-
nefs and the Commonwealth, had Judgment to

be hanged, drawn and quarter'd at Tyburn this

Inftant Saturday; his Highnefs was gracioufly

pleafed, upon humble Suit made, to reprieve

him 'till Tuefday the Eighth Inftant, and to or-

der, That the Judgment ihould be remitted, ex-

cept the cutting off his Head.
The like Favour alfo was extended to Sir

Henry SUngsby.

They were both accordingly Executed on
Tozver-Hitt the faid Eighth of June.

Sir Henry SUngsby was firft brought about
Eleven of the Clock from the Tower to the Scaf-

fold on Tower-Hill; whither being come, he fell

upon his Knees, and for a fhort Space pray'd pri-

vately.

Then Handing up, he did in a fhort Speech,
and with a very low Voice, addrefs himfelf to

Mr. Sheriff Robin/on, telling him, that what he
had to fay he would fpeak to him} which was
to this purpofe :

That he had received Sentence to die, upon account

of his endeavouring to betray the Garifon of Hull

:

But faid, All that he did in that Bufinefs he was
drawn into by others.

That the Officers of that Garifon did believe he

had fome greater Defgn in hand, and therefore they

would needs pump him to the bottom : But what he

fpoke to them in private was brought into Evidence

againft him. He likewife faid, That he did no

more than any Perfon would have done that wasfo
brought on.

That he had made many Applicatiens (by his

Friends) for a Reprieve, but found his Highnefs was
inexorable.

He did confefs, that he did deliver a Commiffon
(as it was charged againft him :) Butfaid, that it

was an old Commiffon, and what he meant was
well known to himfelf; but what Conftrublions o-

thers had made of it might appear by his prefent

Condition.

He difcovered little Senfe of Sorrow, or Fear
of Death ; but faid: He was ready to funmit, or
Words to like purpofe.

Then he addrefTed himfelf to private Prayer
again j and kneeling down to the Block, he pray'd

privately for a fhort Space : Then laid his Head
upon the Block, and at the Sign given, the Exe-
cutioner fever'd his Head from his Body at one
Blow : And his Friends put his Body into a
Coffin, and removed it into a clofe Coach pre-

pared near the Place.

As foon as Sir Henry SUngsby's Body was re-

moved as aforefaid, Dr. Hewet was brought
forth to the Scaffold ; whither being come (to-

gether with Dr. Wild, Dr. Warmeftry, and a- i

nother Divine) he fell upon his Knees, and ,

prayed privately for the Space of a Quarter of
an Hour ; after that he pray'd audibly for a good .

Space.

After which Prayer he addrefs'd himfelf to \

the People in the following Words :

I
Am now become a publick Spectacle to Men
and Angels, and (I hope) God, who is Om-

nifcient, is now beholding me with much Pity,

and great Mercy and Compaffion ; and the more
becaufe I am now come to that End that his

own Son came into the World for, to bear Wit-
nefs to the Truth; he himfelf faid, For this End '

was I born, for this Caufe came Unto the World,
that I fhould bear witnefs to the Truth: T was
brought into the World (the Chriftian World)
for to bear witnefs to the Truth of the Gofpel,

,

as a Common Chriftian ; I was brought into the

World (the Church) as a Minifter of his blefTed
I

Word and Sacraments; [blefTed be his Name for

that great Honour and Dignity;] and I came
into the World to die more immediately for the

Teftimony ofJESUS, which God hath now
called me to. 1 came into this World (this Com-
mon-wealth) to be a Member thereof, to bear

witnefs to the Truths of the Cuftoms, the Laws,
the Liberties, and Privileges thereof; fo I am a

Member of the Common-wealth : And me-
thinks it feems to me a ftrange Thing, that in

as much as we all plead for Liberty, and Privi-

leges, and I pleading for the Privileges, the Laws,
the Statutes, and the Cuftoms of this Land, ye't i

I fhould die by thofe that fhould ftand for the

Laws, the Statutes, and Privileges of the Land:
And I am here beheld by thofe that plead for

their Liberties, and I hope I am pitied, becaufe

I here give up myfelf willingly and freely to be

a State- Martyr for the publick Good ; and I had

rather die many Deaths myfelf, than betray my
Fellow-Freemen to fo many Inconveniencies,

that they might be like to fuffer, by being fub-

ject to the Wills of them that willed me to this

Death.

And it is worthy Remembrance, that Mr. Sol-

licitor having impeached me of Treafon to the (

Commiffioners of the Court againft his Highnefs,

I did often (when brought before thofe Commif-

fioners) plead for the Liberties of the People of

England; tho' I had no Knowledge of the Law,
yet I had Inftruction from thofe that were learn-

ed in the Law, and had feveral Law-Cafes and

Precedents put into my Hand, tho' not by then),

and urged feveral Law-Gafes ; and made my Ap-

peal: Firft, for the Judicature that I was to be

tried by, Whether ic were according to Law?
Whether it were according to the Act ? And

whether it were according to the Words of the

faid Act? I did appeal to have the faid Act ar-

gued by learned Lawyers on both Sides, and then

to be refolved by his Highnefs's own Council,

which
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which was denied me ; [This by the byj I pref-

fing the Argument, made a fecond Appeal, that

thofe Judges, if they would give fingly their

feveral Judgments that it was a juft and lawful

Court of Judicature, I would anfwer to my
Charge. I did make another Appeal to thole

that were his Highnefs's Council, and pleaded

againft me, that if they would deliver it to me
under their Hands to be according to Law, I

would then go on to plead and anfwer to the

Charge. What was then faid further, my Spirits

being faint, I mail not fay much, but only this,

1 was taken in three Defaults upon Formality of

the Court. Jt feems it is a Cuftom in all Courts,

(which I did not know before) that if they an-

fwer not the third time fpeaking by the Clerk,

that then they are guilty of three Defaults, and

proceeded againft as mute : [I had no fuch

Knowledge of the Law.] So they found me guil-

ty of thofe Defaults : And when I would have

pleaded, and refolved to begin to plead, I was

taken from the Bar. I did the next Day make

my Petition to the Court in the Painted Cham-
ber j two Petitions were prefented, the fame in

effect 3 in the former the Title was miftaken : Yet

becaufe the Title was miftaken, and no Anfwer

was given, therefore it was that another Petition

was drawn up to the fame Effect, with a new Ti-

tle given, (as I remember) prefented by the Ser-

jeant at Arms, and one writ it over in fuch hafte,

left they mould be drawn out of the Painted

Chamber into the Court, that I had not time to

read it over, only P fubfcribed my Name, and

there was in the Front of the Petition a Word
left out, but what the Word was I know notj

and this was taken fo ill, as if T had put an Af-

front and Contempt on the Court j and it was

thought they would have heard me plead ; and

then, becaufe of that Miftake, they fent Word
1 mould have my Anfwer when I came into the

Court, and my Anfwer was the Sentence ofCon-
demnation. And therefore, I pray with all my
Soul, that God would forgive all thofe that oc-

cafioned the Charge to be drawn againft me, to

give fuch unjuft things againft me: 1 pray with

all my Soul, that God would forgive all thofe

that upon fo (lender and fmall Grounds adjudg'd

me to die, taking Advantage of fuch fimple Ig-

norance, as I was in. And I had, at the very

Beginning of my Pleading, engag'd their Ho-
nours no Advantage fhould be taken againft me
to my Prejudice, that in as much as I underftood

nothing of the Law, and having heard that a

Man in the Nicety of the Law might be loft in

the Severity thereof, merely for fpeaking a

Word out of fimple Ignorance ; I made it my
Prayer to them, that no Advantage might be taken

againft me, to the Prejudice of my Perfon ; and
there was to me a feeming Confent, for the Pre-
fident told me, there iliould be no Advantage
taken againft me, and upon thefe Confiderations
I am afraid there was too great Uncharitable-
nefs : But I pray God forgive them from the
very Bottom of my Soul, and I defire that even
thofe that filed my Blood, may have Bowels of
the God ofMercy Ihed for them.
And now having giving you the Occafion of

my coming hither, it is fit 1 fhould give you fome-
what as concerning m'yfelf, as I am a Chriftian,
and as I am a Clergy-man : Fir ft, as I am a
Chriftian, I thank God I was baptized to the Ho-
ly Church, fo I was baptized to be a Member of

301
the Holy Catholick Church j that is, the Church
of England, which I dare fay, for Purity ofDoc-
trine, and orderly Difcipline, till a fad Reforma-
tion had fpoiled the Face of the Church, and
made it a Query, whether it was a Church or
no : I fay, it was more purely Divine and Apo-
ftolical than any other Doctrine or Church in the
Chriftan World, whether National, or Claffical,

or Congegrational. And I muft tell you, That
as I am a Member of this Church, fo I am a
Member of the Holy Catholick Church, and
fhall give a moft juft Confefiion of my Faith,
both negatively, and affirmatively. Negatively,
I am fo a Member of the Holy Catholick Church,
that I abhor all Seels, Schifins, Sedition, and
Tyranny in Religion. Affirmatively fo, that as

I hold Communion with, fo I love and honour
all Chriftians in the World that love the fame
Lord JESUS in Sincerity, and call on his

Name, agreeing with thofe Truths that are ab-
folutely neceffary, and clearly demonftrated in

the Word of God, both in the Old and New
Teftament, tho' in Charity diffenting from fome
others that are not neceffary. And I, as I am
thus a Chriftian, I hope for Salvation, thro' the

Merits of Chriftjefusj his Blood I rely on, his

Merits I truft to, for the Salvation of my own
Soul. Tho' to this Faith good Works are necef-

fary, not meretorius in us, but only made meri-
torious by Chrift his Death ; by his All-fuffici-

ency, by his Satisfaction, and his Righteoufnefs,

they become meritorious $ but in us they are no
other than as defiled Rags. And truly, as I am
a Member of the Church, fo I told you I was a
Member of this Community, and fo pleaded

for the Liberties and Privileges thereof I muft
now anfwer fomething I am afperfed withal in

the World.
They talk of fomething of a Plot, and a trea-

fonable Defign, and that I had a great Intereft

in the Knowledge and Practice thereof, and that

for the faving my Life I would have difcovered

and betray'd I cannot tell what : I hope my Con-
verfation hath not been fuch here in this City,

where I have been a long time very well known,
as to make any one imagine I fhould intermeddle

in fuch an Action, and go fo contrary to the Prac-

tice of my Profeffion j and I hope there are none
fo uncharitable towards me, as to believe I had

a Knowledge of that Defign.

Here I muft come to Particulars for a Plot, of

having a Defign upon the City of London, for

the firing of it : I fo much tremble at the

Thought of the thing that fhould have been

done, as they fay, for the carrying on of fuch a

Defign, (if my Heart deceive me not) had I

known it, I fo much abhor the thing, I fhould

have been the firft Difcoverer of it : Nor ever

had I Correfpondency or Meetings with fuch

Perfons as would have carried on fuch a Defign.

It is faid likewife, I entertain'd the Earl, the

Marquifs of Ormond ; to my Remembrance I

never faw the Face of that honourable Perfon in

my Life. It is faid, one Lord's Day I did preach

at St. Gregory's, and the next Lord's Day I was

at Brufels, or Bruges, and kifs'd the King's

Hand, and brought I cannot tell what Orders

and Inftruaions from him: This I fhall fay, for

thefe three Years laft paft together I have not

been fixty Miles from this City of London, and I

think it is fomewhat further to either of thofe

Places than threcfcoie Miles. It is faid that I

kept
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» „ kept Correfpondence with one *MaI-
barrow. ,

l
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lory and Bijhop : They are Perfons I

have heard of their Names, but never faw their

Faces, and to my Knowledge I do not know
they know me; nor do I know them at all, but

only as I have heard of their Names. And who-
foever elfe hath fuggeiled fuch things againfl

me, I know not.

His Highnefs was pleafed to tell me, I was
like a flaming Torch in the midft of a Sheaf of

Corn : He meaning, 1 being apublick Preacher,

was able to fet the City on Fire by Sedition and

Combuftions, and promoting Defigns. Here
truly I do fay, and have it from many of thofe

that are Judges of the High Court, that upon
Examination of the Bufinefs they have not found

me a Meddler at all in thefe Affairs. And truly

] mull needs fay therefore, that it was a very

uncharitable AcT: in 'em (whoever they were)

that brought fuch Accufations againfl: me, and

, irritated his Highnefs againfl: me: I will not fay

it was Malice, it might be Zeal ; but it was rafh

Zeal which caus'd me to be fentenc'd to this

Place : The God of Mercy pardon and forgive

them all. And truly, as I am a Member of the

Church, and as a Member of the Community
where on Behalf I have been fpeaking, I cannot

but do as our Saviour himfelf did for his Difci-
ples; when he was to be taken from them, he
blefled them, and afcended up to Heaven. My
Truft is in the Mercy of the Molt High, Khali
not mifcarry j and however my Days are fhor-
ten'd by this unexpected Doom, and fhall be
brought untimely to the Grave, I cannot go
without my Prayers for a Blefling upon all the
People of this Land, and cannot but blefs them
all in the Name of God, and befeech God to
blefs them in all their Ways, and his Blefling be
upon them.

After this, he joined in publick Prayer with
Dr. Wild, and Dr. Warmeftry, he all the while
lying flat upon his Breaft.

Then he addrefled himfelf to private Prayer,

wherein he continued a certain Time.
After this he prepared himfelf for the Block,

and with a black Ribbon bound over his Eyes,
lying with his Breaft: over the Block, he prayed
again for a fhort while; then laid his Neck
upon the Block, and afcer fome fhort and pri-

vate Ejaculations, the Executioner [having no-

tice that he was ready) at one Blow fever'd his

Head from his Body ; which was put into

CofHn, and convey'd away by his Friends.

'

LVII. The Trials of Twenty Nine Regicides, at iffeOldBaily

for High-Treafon 3 which began the gth of 0£tober5 1660.

12 Car. II.

FTER the Reftoration of King
Charles the Second, feveral Perfons

being apprehended for the Murder
of his Father, the Judges and Coun-
fel for the King aflembled at Ser-

jeants-Inn in Fleet- Street, viz.

Lord Chief Baron Bridgman.

Juftice Fofier.

Juftice Hide.

Juftice Mallet.

Sir Geoffry Palmer, Attorney-General.

Sir Heneage Finch, Sollicitor- General.

Sir Edward Turner, Attorney to the Duke of

York.

Mt. Wadham Windham. And,
Mr. 'John Kelyng.

At which Meeting the following Points were
refolved as preparotary to the Trials of the Mur-
derers of the late King.

1. That it was better to try thofe Traitors

at the Seflions at Newgate by Commiffion of

Goal- Delivery, than only by Special Commif-
fion of Oyer and 'terminer, becaufe then they

might be proceeded againfl: more fpeedily, and

Arraigned and Tried immediately, by the Com-
miflion of Goal-Delivery, and Cafes may be

immediately returned at the Goal-Delivery. And

accordingly Writs were ordered to be made and

fent to the Lieutenant of the tower, in whofe

Cuftcdy the Prifoners then were, to deliver them
to the Sheriffs of London, and Writs to the

Sheriffs of London to receive them, that they

might be in Newgate, which was done accord-

ingly. And becaufe by an Aft of Parliament or

Convention which fat at the King's coming in,

Englijh Proceedings were continued, until Mi-
chaelmas now clofe at hand, but not yet come;
therefore thofe Writs to the Lieutenant of the

Tower and Sheriff of London, were ordered to be

Englijh.

z. It was agreed that all the Prifoners fhould

be arraigned the firft Day, before any of them

were brought to Trial; and the next Day to

proceed to Trial with one or more of them to-

gether, as fhould be thought fit upon the Place.

3. It was refolved that any of the King's

Counfel might privately manage the Evidence

to the Grand Inquefl, in order to the finding

of the Bill of Indictment, and agreed it fhould be

done privately; it being ufual in all Cafes, that

the Profecutors upon Indictments are admitted

to manage the Evidence for finding the Bill.

And the King's Counfel are the only Profecutors

in the King's Cafe j for he cannot profecute in

Perfon.

4- ^
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4. It was refolved that the Indidments fhould

be for comparing the Death of the late King,

(rhe very comparting and Imagining of the

King's Death, being the Treafon within the

Statute zf Ed. 5.) and then that we might lay

as many Overt-Acts as we would, to prove the

comparting of his Death. But it was agreed,

that the actual Murder of the King (hould be

precifely laid in the Indictment, with the fpecial

Circumftances as it was done} and ihould be

made ufe of as one of the Overt-Ads, to prove

the comparting of his Death.

f. It was refolved that if any one Overt-Ad,
tending to the comparting the Kng's Death, be

laid in the Indidmenr, That then any other Ad
which tends to the comparting of the King's

Death may be given in Evidence, together with

that which is laid in the Indidment.

6. It was refolved that there need not be two
Winefles to prove every Overt-Ad, tending to

the comparting of the King's Death. Bur one

Witnefs to prove one Overt-Ad tending to the

Compafllng of the King's Death, and another

"Witnefs to prove another Ad tending to the

fame End, are fufficient ; for compafllng the

King's Death, is Treafon. And then if two
feveral WitnertTes prove two feveral Ads ; tend-

ing to the compafllng the King's Death > the

Treafon is proved by two Witnefles, as the Law
in Cafe of Treafon requireth.

7. It was refolved that if feveral Perfons be
Indidcd together in one Indidment for one
Crime, in cafe fome of them be found guilty by
one Jury, and afterwards fome of the fame Jury
be returned for Trial of others in the fame In-

didment > it is no Challenge for thofe Prifoners

to fay, that thofe Jurors have already given their

Verdid, and found others guilty who are In-

dided in the fame Indidment for the fame
Offence} for though they are all indided in the
fame Indidment for the fame Offence, yet in

the Law it is a feveral Indidment againfl: every
one of them, and the Crime is feveral, and one
may be guilty and not another j and the Jury are

to give their Verdid upon particular Evidence,
"againfl; every feveral Perfon, and therefore the
finding one guilty is no Argument or prefump-
tion that thofe Jurors will find another guilty.

8. It was refolved that if feveral Prifoners be
put upon one Jury, and they challenge peremp-
torily, and fever in their Challenges, that then
he who is challenged by one, is to be drawn a-

gainfl all, becaufe the Pannel being joint, one
Juror cannot be drawn againfl one and ferve for
another. But in fuch cafe it was agreed the Pan-
nel might be fevered, and that the fame Jury
might be returned betwixt the King and every

j

one of the Prifoners, and then they are to be
I Tried feverally, and there the Challenge of one
;
Prifoner, is no Challenge to difable the Juror fo
challenged againfl: another Prifoner. And the
Cafe of Dr. Ellis's Servant, Plow. Com. tfoo,

10 1, was agreed to be good Law, as to /the
fevering of the Pannels in that Cafe } and ac-
cordingly, afterwards upon the Trial of Harrifon
and others, who challenged peremptorily, and
fevered in their Challenges particular Jurors, the
Pannels were fevered.

0. It was refolved that when the Prifoners come
to the Bar to be Tryed, their Irons ought to
be taken off, fo that they be not in any Torture
while they make their Defence, be their Crime
never fo great. And accordingly upon che Ar-
raignment and Trial of Hewlet and others, who
were brought in Irons, the Court commanded
their Irons to be taken off.

10. It being agreed, that the Murder of the
King fhould be efpecially found, with the Cir-
cumltances, in the Indidment ; and it being not
known who did that Villainous Ad j it was re-

folved, that it fhould be laid that ghiidam ignotus^

with a Vifor on his Face, did the Ad; and that
was well enough} and the other Perfons be laid

to be prefent, Aiding and Aflifting thereunto.

11. The Compafllng the King's Death, being
agreed to be laid in the Indidment, to be 2p
Jan. 24. Car. I. and the Murder on the 50th
or" the lame Jan. It was queflioned in which
King's Reign the ;oth Jan. fhould be laid to
be, whether in the Reign of King Charles the

Firft, or King Charles the Second ; and the Que-
ftion grew, becaufe there is no Fraction of the
Day j and all the Ads which tended to the
King's Murder, until his Head was actually
fevered from his Body, were in the time of his

own Reign, and after his Death in the Reign
of King Charles the Second. And though it was
agreed by all, except Jufticc Mallet, that one
and the fame Day might in feveral Refpeds, and
as to feyeral Ads, be faid to be intirdy in two
Kings Reigns, fo that in fome refpeds the whole
Day may be afcribed to one, and in other re-
fpeds the whole Day afcribed to the other, ac-
cording to the Truth in the Matters of Fad
which were aded, either in the Life or after the
Death of the firft King } yet becaufe Juftice
Mallet was earnefl that the whole Day was to
be afcribed to King Charles the Second, there-
fore it was agreed, that in that place, no Year
of any King fhould be named, but that the
Compafllng of the King's Death fhould be laid

on the 29th Jan. 24 Car. I. And the other
Ads tending to his Murder, and the Murder it

felf, kid to be Tricefimo Men/is ejufdem Januarii,
without naming any Year of any King, which
was agreed to be certain enough.

12. It being agreed, that the Indidment
fhould be for Compafllng the King's Death, and
one of the Overt-Ads to be the adual Murder
of the King : It was refolved the Indidment
fhould conclude contra pace?n nuper Domini Regis

Coron
1 & Dignitaf fuas, Necnon contra facem

Domini Regis nunc Coron'' £s? Dignitaf fuas.

15. The Queftion was pur, whether the Re-
corder of London ihould give the Charge to the

Grand Inquefl at Hick's Hall, where the In-

didment was to be found, the Fad being in

Middlefex : and alio whether Judgment at the

Scfllons Houfe, where the Prifoners were to be

Tryed, fhould be given by the Recorder } or

whether the Charge and the Judgment fhould

be given by the ChiefJudge. And it was agreed

that both fhould be given by the Judge.

The
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The Proceedings began at Hick's Hal!, in

the County of Middlefex, the $th of Odo-

ber, 1660.

THE Court being fate, the Commiflion of

Oyer and 'Terminer, under the great Seal of

England, was firft Read. It was directed to the

Lords and others hereafter named, viz.

Sir Thomas Aleyn, Knt.

and Baronet, Lord

Mayor of the City of

London.

The Lord Chancellor

of England.

The Earl of Southamp-

ton^ Lord Treafurer of

England.

The Duke of Somerfet.

The Duke of AWermak.

The Marquifs of Or-

mond, Steward of His

Majefty's Hcufhold.

The Earl of Lindfey,

Great Chamberlain of

England.

The Earl of Manchefer,

Chamberlain of His

Majefty's Houfhold,

The Earl of Dorfet.

The Earl of Berkfnre.

The Earl of Sandwich:

Vifcount Say and Seal:

The Lord Robe-ts.

The Lord Finch.

Denzill Mollis, Efquire.

Sir Frederick Cornwallis,

Knight and Baronet,

Treafurer of His Ma-
jefty's Houfhold.

Sir Charles Barkly, Knt.
Comptroller of His

Majefty's Houfhold.

Mr. Secretary Nichols.

Mr. Secretary Morris.

SirAnthony AJh'ley Cooper.

Arthur Annejly, Efqj

The Lord Chief Baron.

Mr. Juftice Fofter.

Mr. Juftice Mallet.

Mr. Juftice Flide.

Mr. Baron Atkins.

Mr. Juftice Twifden.

Mr. Juftice Tyrrcl.

Mr. Baron Turner.

Sir Harbottle Grimfton,

Knight and Baronet.

Sir William Wild, Knt.
and Baronet, Recor-
der of London.

Mr. Serjeant Brown.
Mr. Serjeant Hale.

John Howel, Efqj

Sir Geoffry Palmer, His Majefty's Attorney-

General.

Sir Heneage Finch, His Majefty's Sollicitor-General.

Sir Edward Turner, Attorney to His Highnefs
the Duke of York.

Wadham Windham, Efq;

Ed-ward Sheltont Efq; Clerk of the Crown,

The Grand Juryfworn were,

Sir William Darcey, Ba-
ronet, Foreman.

Sir Robert Bolles, Bart.

Sir Edward Ford, Knt.
Sir Thomas Prefiwick.

Sir William Coney, Knt.
Sir Charles Sidley, Bart.

Sir Lewis Kirk, Knight.
Sir Henry Littleton, Bart.

Sir Ralph Bovey, Bart.

Edward Chard, Efquire.

Hart,

Robert Giddon, Efquire.

John Fotherly, Efquire.

Charles Gibbons, Efqj

Thomas Geree, Efquire.

Richard Cox, Efquire.

Robert Bladwell, Efq;

Henry Mufiian, Efquire.

John Markham, Elqj

Edward Buckley, Gent.
Francis Bouchier, Gent.
Edward Lole.

Crier.

After Proclamation for Silence was made, it

pleafed Sir Orlando Bridgman, Lord Chief Baron
of his Majefty's High Court of Exchequer, to

fpeak to the Jury as followeth.

The Lord Chief Baron's Speech.

Gentlemen,

O U are the Grand Inquefi for the Body of
this County of Middlefex. You may per-

ceive by this Commifjion that hath been read,

that we are authoriz'd by the King's Majcfty to

hear and determine all freafons, Felonies, and

other Offences, within this County : But be-

caufe this Commifjion is upon a fpecial Occafion,

the execrable Murther or the Bieflcd King, that

is now a Saint in Heaven, King Charles the Firftr

we fnall not trouble you witn the Heads of a

long Charge. The Ground of this Commiffion

was, and is, from the Atl of Oblivion and In-

dempnity. You ihall find in that Atl there is an

Exception of feveral Perfons, who (for their

Execrable Treafons, in Sentencing to Death,

and Signing the Warrant for the raking away
the Life of our faid Sovereign) are left to be
proceeded againft. as Traitors, according to the

Laws of England ; and are out of that Atl wholly
excepted and fore-priz'd.

Gentlemen, You fee thefe Perfons are to be
proceeded with according to the Laws of the

Land j and I fhall fpeak nothing to you but

what are the Words of the Laws. By the Sta-

tute of the Twenty fifth of Edward the Third)

(a Statute or Declaration of Treafon) it is made
High-Treafon tocompafs and imagine the Death
of the King. It was the Ancient Laws of the

Nation. In no Cafe elfe Imagination, or Com-
paring, without an Actual Effect of it, was punifh-

able by our Law. Nihil efficit Conatus nififequa-

tur Effeclus 5 that was the Old Rule of Law : But
in the Cafe of the King, his Life was fo pre-

cious, that the Intent was Treafon by the Com-
mon Law i and declar'd Treafon by this Statute.

The Reafon of it is this , In the Cafe of the

Death of the King, the Head of the Common-
wealth that's cut off} and what a Trunk, and
inanimate Lump, the Body is when the Head is

gone, you all know. For the Life of a fingle

Man, there's the Life of the Offender} there's

fome Recompence, Life for Life : But for the

Death of the King what Recompence can be
made? This Com paffing and Imagining the cut-

ting off the Head of the King is known by fome
Overt- Atl. Treafon it is in the wicked Imagina-
tion, though not Treafon apparent ; but when
this Poifon fvvells out of the Heart, and breaks

'

forth into Action, in that Cafe it's High-Treafon.
Then what is an Overt-Ac! of an imagination'

or Comparing of the King's Death? Truly it is

any thing which fhews what the Imagination is.

Words, in many Cafes, are Evidences of this

Imagination ; they are Evidences of the Heart.

Secondly, as Words 3, fo if a Man, ifTwo Men
do confpire to levy War againft the King, (and,

by the way, what I fay of the King, is as well

of the King Dead, as Living} for, if a Treafon
be committed in the Life of One King, it is

Treafon, and puni [liable in the Time of the Suc-
cefTor,) then, I fay, in cafe not only of Words,
but if they confpire to levy War againft the

King, there's another Branch of this Statute, the

Levying of Wr
ar is Treafon. Bur, if Men mall

go and confuk together, and this is to kill the

King, to put him to Death, this Confukation is

clearly an Overt- Atl to prove this Imagination,

or Comparting of the King's Death.

But what will you fay then, if Men do not

only go about to confpire and confuk, but take

upon them to judge, condemn, nay put to Death,
the King ? Certainly, this is fo much beyoh^cL
the Imagination and Compailing, as 'tis not onlf^

laying
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lading the Cockatrice's Egg, bat brooding upon ' Gentlemen^ This is no new Thing to talk of

it till it hath brought forth a Serpent, I mult an Emperor, or an Imperial Crown. Do not mi-

deltver ;o you for Plain and True Law, That Hake me all this while: It is one Thing to have

no Authority, no Jingle Perfon, no Community of an Imperial Crozvn, and another Thing to go-

Perfotis, not the People Cblleclively, or Reprefenta- vera Absolutely.

tively, have any coercive Power over the King of

England. And I do not .'peak mine own Senfe,

but the Words of the Laws unto you. It was

the Treafnn of the Spencers in King Edward the

Second's Time, in Calvin $ Cafe, Second Report.

The Speucets had an Opinion, that all Homage

Gentlemen, The Imperial Crown is a Word that

is lignificative; you ihall find in all Statutes pri-

mo Eliz. and the fcirfl: of King James, nay, even
in the A51 ofJudicial Proceedings of this Parlia-

ment it is called an Imperial Crown. They that

take the Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy,

and Allegiance was due to the King, by Reaibn they fwear, that they will, to their Power, aflift

of the Crown, as the/ call'd it. And thereupon

(fay the Books and Record's) they drew out this

execrable Inference, (among others, That if

the King ciid not demean himfelf according to

Right, becaule he could not be Reform'd by

Law, he mi^ht per afpertee, that is, by fharp

imprifonment ; but this was adjudg'd horrid i'rea-

fon by Two A5ls of Parliament.

Gentlemen, Let me t 11 you what our Law-
Books lay > for there's the Ground, out of which

nd defend all Jurifdicrions, Privilege?, Prehe-

minences, and Authorities, granted or belonging
to the King, his Heirs, and SuccefTors, or an-

nex'd to the Imperial Crown of this Realm.
What is an Imperial Crozvn ? It is that, which,
a' to the Coerceive Part, is fubjecl: to no Man
under God. The King of Poland has a Crown

;

but what is it ? At his Coronation ic is conditio-

ned with the People, That if he (hall not go-
vern them according to fuch Rules they fliall be

(and the Statutes together) we muff draw all fretd from their Homage and Allegiance j but
eur Conclufions for Matter of Government. the Crown of England is, and always was, an

How do they ftyle the King? They call him, Imperial Crown, and fo fworn.

The Lieutenant of God, and many other Expref- Gentlemen, As I told you, even now, the Im-

fions in the Book of Primo Henrici Septimi; fays perial Crown is a Word fignificative; that Crown,
that Book there, the King is immediate from God, which, as to the Coercive Part, is not fubjecl

and hath no Superior. The Satutes fay, That the to any Human Tribunal, or Judicature, whatfo-

Crown of England is immediately fubjecl to God, ever. And truly that this is fuch an Imperial

and to no other Power. The King (fays our Books) Crown, though I have cited Authorities Ancient

He is not only Caput Populi, the Head of the enough, you may find them much more An-
Peopie ; but Caput Reipublicse, the Head of the cient. I remember in the Story of William

Commonwealth, The Three Eftates. And truly Rufus (you mail find it in Mathew Paris and
thus our Statutes fpeak very fully. Common Eadmerus) fome Queftion was about Invefliture

Experience tells you, when we fpeak of the of Bifhops, and the like, the King writes his

King, and fo the Statutes of Edward the Third, Letter, That, &c.
we call the King, Our Sovereign Lord the King : God forbid I fhould intend any Abfolute Go-
Sovereign, that is, Supreme. And when the Lords vernment by this. It is one thing to have an

and Commons in Parliament apply themfelves to Abfolute Monarchy, another Thing to have that

the King, they ufe this Expreffion, Tour Lords Government Absolutely without Laws, as to any

and Commons, your faithful Subjects, humbly befeech.

I do nop fpeak any Words of my own, but the

Words of the Laws. Look upon the Statute,

primo Jacobi, there's a Recognition, that the

Crown of England was lawfully defcended on
the King and his Progeny.

[The Statute it[elf was read, to which it is de-

fired the Reader will be referr dr]

Thefe are the Words of the Atl. And this

is not the Firft Precedent j for you fhall find it

primo Eliz. cap. 3. They do acknowledge the

Imperial Crown lawfully defcended on the g)ueen,

the fame Recognition with this. Before that

(becaufe we mall fhew you we go upon Grounds
of Law in what we fay) Stat. 2.4 Hen. 8. cap. 11.

Whereas by Sundry Old /luthentick HiStories and
Chronicles it is manifeftly declared and expreffed,

that this Realm of England is an Empire, and fo

hath been accepted in the World, govern cl by One
Supreme Head and King, having the Dignity and

Royal Rflate of the Imperial Crown of the [ame, &c.

2f Hen. 8 c. i\. There it is the People fpeak-

ing of themfelves, That they do recognize no Su-

perior under God, but only the King's Grace.

Gentlemen, You fee, if the King be immediate
under Gcd, he derives his Authority from no
body elfe ; if the King have an Imperial Power,
if the King be Head of the Commonwealth,
Head of the Body Politick, if the Body Poli-

Coerceive Power over the Perfon of the King

;

for as to Things or Anions, they will fall under

another Confidcration, as I will tell you by and by.

Gentlemen, Since this is fo, confider the Oath
of Supremacy, which mod Men have taken, or

fhould take. All Men that enter into the Par-

liament Houfe, they are exprefly enjoined by Sta-

tute to take the Oath of Supremacy. What
fays that Oath ? We fwear that the King is the

only Supreme Governour within this Realm and

Dominions. Pie is Supreme, and the only Supreme t

and truly if he be Supreme, there is neither Major
nor Superior. I urge this the more, left any

Perfon, by any Mifconftrudtion or Inference

which they might make from fomething that

hath been acted by the Higher Powers, they

might draw fome dangerous Inferences or Con-
fequences to colour or fhadow over thofe Mur-
therous and Traitorous Acts, which afterwards

they committed. They had no Authority : But
as I told you, tho' I do fet forth this, and de-

clare this to you, to let you know that the King
was immediately fubjecfc to God, and fo was not

Punifhable by any Perfon : yet let me tell you
there is that excellent Temperament in our Laws,
that for all this the King cannot rule but by his

Laws. It prefcrves the King, and his Perfon,

and the Peoples Rights.

There are Three things touching which the

tick owe him Obedience, truly I think it is an Law is Converfanr, Perfona, Res, £5? Atliones ;

undenied Confcquence, he mult needs be Supc- Perfons, Things, and Actions. For the Perfon

rior over them.

Vol. II. Rr of
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of the King, he is the Supreme Head, he is not

Punifhable' by any Coercive Power : the Laws
provide lor th.-it. the King can do no Wrong; it

is a Rule of Law, ir is in our Law Books very

frequent ; nd of Edward the Fourth, Lord Coke,

and many others. If he can do no Wrong, he

cannot be punifh'd for any Wrong. The King,

he hath the Infirmities and Weaknefs of a Man ;

but he cannot do any Injury, at lead not con-

fidei able, in Perfon ; he muft do it by Ministers,

Agents, In-ftrumens, Now the Law, though

it provide for the King, yet if any of bis Mini-

fters do Wrong, though by his Command, they

are Punifhable. The King cannot arreft a Man,
as he cannot be arretted himfelf ; but if he ar-

reft me by another Man, I have Remedy againft

this Man, though not againlt the King} and fo

he cannot take awr.y my Eftate. This as to the

Perjon of the King : He is not to be touched,

'Touch not mine Anointed.

I come to things. If the King claim a Right,

the King mult fue according to his Laws $ the

King is fubject to the Laws in that Cafe, his

Poffefficns fhall be tried by Juries. If he will

Try a Man for his Father's Death, you fee he

will try them by the Laws. The Law is the

Rule and Square of his Actions, and by which

lie himfelf is judged.

Then for Aclions, that is, fuch Actions where-

by Rights and Titles are profecuted or recove-

red} the King cannot judge in Perfon betwixt

Mian and Man, he does it by his Judges, and

upon Oaih } and fo in all Cafes vvhatfoever, if

the King will have his Right, it muft be brought

before his Judges. Though this is an Abfolute

Monarchy, yet this is fo far from infringing the

Peoples Rights, that the People, as to their

Properties, Liberties, and Lives, have as great

a Privilege as the King. It is not the iharing of

Government that is for the Liberty and Benefit

of the People ; but it is how they may have

their Lives, and Liberties, and Eitates, fa'ely

fecured under Government. And you know,
when the Fatnefs of the Olive was Lid afide, and

we were governed by Brambles, thefe Brambles

they did not only tear the Skin, but tore the

Flefh to the very Bone.

Gentlemen, I have done in this Particular, to

let you fee that the Supreme Power being in

the King, the King is immediately under God,
owing his Power to none but God. It is true

(Bleffed be God) we have as great Liberties as

any People have in Chriftendom, in the World j

but let us own them where they are due } we
have them by the Conceffions of our Princes.

Our Princes have granted them } and the King,

now; he in them hath granted them likewifc.

Gentlemen,, I have been a little too long in

this, and yet I cannot fay it is too long, becaufe

it may clear Mifunderttanding, fo many Poifo-

nous Opinions ha< ing gone Abroad. To come
a little nearer: \f weconfiderj fuppofe there

were the Highcft Authority } but when we mall

confider this horrid Murther (truly I cannot al-

moft fpeak of it, but Vqx faucibus haret)

WJien we fhall confider, that a few Members
of the Houfe of Commons, thofe that had taken

the Oath of Supremacy, and thofe that had taken

die Oath of Allegiance, that was to defend the

King, and his Heirs, againft all Confpiracies

and Attempts vvhatfoever, againft his and their

Perfon, their Crowns, and Pignities ; not only

again ft the Pope's Sentence, as i'ome would pre-

tend, but, as otherwife, againft all Attempts and

Confpiracies, not only againft his Perfon, Crown,
and Royal Dignity, nor Pope's Sentence, not

only in Order to the Profeflion of Religion ;

but Abfolutely or otherwife, that is, vvhatfoever

Attempts, by aiiy Po'/er, Authority, or Pre-

tence whatfoever : I fay, when a few Members
of the Houfe of Commons, not an Eighth Part

of them, having taken thefe Oaths, fhall affume

upon themfelves an Authority; an Authority,

what to do? Shall affume to themfelves an Au-
thority to make Laws, which was never heard

before} Authority to make Laws; What Laws?
A Law for an High Court of Juftice, a Law for

Lives, to fentence Mens Lives } and whofe Life?

The Life of their Sovereign : Upon fuch a King,
who, as to them, had not only redreffed long,

before, at the beginning of the Parliament, all

Grievances that were, and were imaginable, ta-

ken away the Star-Chamber^ High Commijfion-

Court, and about Shipping } fuch a King, and
after fuch Conceffions that he had made in the

Ifle of Wight } when he had granted fo much,
that was more than the People would have de-

fired : When thefe few Commons, not only

without, but excluding the reft of the Commons >

not only without, and excluding the reft, but

rejecting the Lords too, that then fat : Whea
thefe few Commons fhall take upon them this Au*
thority, and by colour of this, their King, So-

vereign Liege Lord, fhall be fentene'd, put to

Death j and that put to Death, even as their

King, and fentene'd as their King} put to Death
as their King, and this before his own Doorj
even before that Place where he ufed in Royal

Majefty to hear Embaffr.dors, to have his Ho-
nourable Entertainments ; that this King fhall

be thus put to Death at Noon-day, it is fuch an

Aggravation of Villany, that truly I cannot tell

what to fay. No Story, that ever was, I do
not think any Romance, any Fabulous Tragedyy

can produce the like. Gentlemen, If any Perfon

fhall now come, and fhroud himfelf under this

pretended Authority, or fuch a pretended Au-
thority, you muft know, that this is fo far from

an Excufe, that it is an Height of Aggravation;

The Court of Common- Pleas is the Common
Shop for Juftice, in that Court an Appeal is

brought for Murther, which ought to have been

in the King's Bench, the Court gives Judgment,
the Party is condemned, and executed : In this

Cafe it is Murther in them that executed, be-

caufe they had no lawful Authority. I fpeak

this to you, to fhevv you, that no Man can

fhroud himfelf by Colour of any fuch falfe or

pretended Authority. I have but One Thing
more to add to you upon this Head, and that is

(which I fhould have faid at firft) if Two or

more do compafs or imagine the King's Death \

if fome of them go on fo far as to Confutation,
if others of them go further, they fentence, and

execute, put to death : In this Cafe they are all

Guilty j the firft Conclufion was Treafon. I

have no more to add, but one Particular, a few

Words.
As you will have Bills prefented againft thofe

for Comparing, Imagining, Adjudging the

King, fo poffibly you may have Bills prefented

againft fome of thofe for Levying War againft

the King : Levying of War, which is another

Branch of the Statute of the if th of Edward the

Third.
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Third. It was but Declarative of the Common
Law •, it was no new Law. By that Law it

was Treafon to Levy War againft the King.

But to Levy War againft the King's Authority

you muft know is Treafon too. If Men will

take up Arms upon any Publick Pretence; if it

be to expulfe Aliens ; if but to pull out Privy-

Counfellors ; if it be but againft any Particular

Laws, v to reform Religion, to pulldown En-

clofures : In all thefe Cafes if Perfons have af-

fembled themfelves in a Warlike Manner to do

any of thefe Acts, this is Treafon, and within

that Branch of Levying War againft the King.

This was adjudg'd in the late King's
Cr. Car. 583. ^^ .

q ^y^ q^ Queen E[i .

lizaheth's, Henry the Eighth's, former Times, King

James's Tme-y much more, if Men will go not

only to Levy War againft the King, but againft

the Laws, all the Laws, fubvert all the Laws,

to fet up New Laws, Models of their own,

If any of thefe Cafes come to be prefented to

you, you know what the Laws are. To con-

clude, you are now to enquire of Blood, of

Royal Blood, of Sacred Blood, Blood like that

of the Saints under the Altar, crying Quoufque

Domine, Flow long, Lord, &c. This Blood cries

for Vengeance, and it will not be appeas'd with-

out a Bloody Sacrifice.

Remember but this, and I have done : I (hall

not prefs you upon your Oaths ; you are Perfons

of Honour; you all know the Obligation of an

Oath. This I will fay, that he that conceals or

favours the Guilt of Bloody takes it upon him-

felf, wilfully, knowingly, takes it upon himfelf

;

and we know rhat when the Jews faid, Let his

Blood be on us and our Seed, it continued unto

them and their Pofterity to this Day.

Godfave the King. Amen, Amen.

His Lordfhip's Speech being ended, there was

prefented to the Grand Jury a Bill of Indiclment

ol High-Treafon againft the following Perfons.

1 Sir Hardrefs Waller. 17 Gilbert Millington.

2, George Fleetwood. 1 8 Robert Titchburne.

0, Thomas Harrifon. 19 Owen Roe.

4 Adrian Scroop. 2.0 Robert Lilburn.

y John Carew. 21 Henry Smith.

6 Thomas Scot. 2.2. John Downes.

7 Gregory Clement. 2} Vincent Potter.

8 John Jones. 24 Auguftine Garland.

9 John Cook. 2f Simon Meyn.

10 Hugh Peters. 2.6 James Temple*

1 1 Daniel Axtell. 27 Peter Temple.

1 2 Francis Hacker. 28 Thomas Waite.

13 William Hulet .
* 29 Wil. Heveningham.

14 Edmund Harvey. 30 John Barkfted.

1 y Ifaac Pennington. 31 John Okey. 1 \

16 Henry Martin. 32 Miles Corbet. }

After which Thomas Lee of the Middle Temple,

London, Gentleman, was call'd to give in the

Names of his Witneffes. The Names of the

Witneffes then and there Sworn follow.

William Clark, Efq;

James Nutley, Efq;

Mr. George Mafterfon, Clerk.

George Farringdon.

Hercules Huncks.

Dr. William King.

Martin Fofler.

John, Baker.

Stephen Kirk.

Richard Nunnelly.

John Powcl.

John Throckmorton.

John Blackwel.

Ralph Hardwick.

Thomas Walkley, Gent.

Holland Simpfon.

Benjamin Francis.

Col. Matthew Tloomlin-

fin.

Mr. Lee.

Robert Ewer.

John King.

Griffith Bodurdo, Efq;

Samuel Boardman.

Robert Carr, Efq;

Richard Young.

Sir Purbeck Temple.

John Rujhworth.

John Gerrard.

John Hearn,

Mr. Coitmore.

Mr. Cunningham.

Mr. Clench.

William Jejfop, Efq a

Edward Auflin,

Darnel, Efq!
Mr. Brown.

Thomas Tongue.

John Bowler.

Mr. Sharp.

Edward Folley.

Mr. Gouge.

Anthony Mildmay, Efq;,

The Grand Jury return'd the Indictment Billa

Vera. Court adjourned to the Old Baily icth
of Oblober.

The 10th of Otlober, 1660.

IR John Robin/on, Knight, Lieutenant of his

Majefty's Tower of London, according to his

Warrant receiv'd, delivered to Mr. Sheriff the
Prifoners hereafter named, who were (\n ieveral

Coaches) with a ftrong Guard of Hovfe and
Foot convey 'd to Newgate, and about Nine of
the Clock in the Morning delivered to the
Keepers of that Prifon, and thence brought to

the Seffions Houfe in the Old-Baily, London^
where the Commiffioners of Oyer and Terminer.

were in Court AfTembled, and where their In-

diclment was publickly read by Edward Shelton^

Efq; Clerk of the Crowm

Seffions- houfe in the Old- Baily, Otlober 10, 1660.

TH E Court being AfTembled, and Silence

Commanded, the Commiffion of Oyer and
Terminer was again read. After which Sir FIar~

drefs Waller, Colonel Thomas Harrifon, and Mr.
William Heveningham, were brought to the Bar
and commanded to hold up their Hands ; which
Sir Hardrefs Waller and Mr. Heveningham did j

but Harrifon being commanded to hold up his

Hand, anfwered, / am here, and faid.

My Lord, if you pleafe I willjpeak a Word—
Court. Hold up your Hand, and you fhall be

heard in due Time. Mr. Harrifon^ the Courfe
is that you muft hold up your Hand firft. And
thenJoe held up his Hand.

The Indiclment was read, purporting, That he,

together with others, not having the Fear of God
before his Eyes, and being inftigated by the Devil^

did malicioufly, treafonably, and felonioufly, con-

trary to his due Allegiance, and bounden Duty, fit

upon and condemn our late Sovereign Lord, King
Charles the Firft, of Ever- Bleffed Memory ; and
alfo did upon the Thirtieth of January, 1648, Sign

and Seal a Warrant for the Execution of his late

Sacred and Serene Majefiy, of Bleffed Memory.
Where alfo, 6cc.

Clerk of the Crown. How fayeft thou Sir Har-
drefs Waller ? Art thou Guilty of that Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Inditled, and for which
thou haft now been Arraigned, or Not Guilty ?

* His Indiclment was not found till the 12th.

% Thefe three were fled, but being Outlawed, were afterwards taken in Holland, and tho* they pleaded they were not the

fame Perfons who were Out-lawed, yet they were immediately tried (Pafcba 14. Car. 2.) and being found the fame Perfons,

received Sentence of Death, and were Executed accordingly. Kelyng. 13. 2 Sid. 72. 1 Lev. 61. 1 Keb. 244.
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Sir Hardrefs Waller. My Lords, I dare not fay,

Not Guilty -, but fence that in a Bufinefs of this

Nature we have no Council or Advice, and being

not able tofpeak to Matter of Law- —
Lord Chief Baron. I am loth to interrupt youj

but this is the Courfe : You have heard the In-

dictment read, and the Courfe is, you mud plead

Guilty, or Not Guilty. There is no Medium,

Guilty, or Not Guilty. It is that which is the

Law, and the Cafe of all Men. Are you Guilty ?

Or Not Guiley ?

Sir Hard. Waller. 1 may confefs myfelf Guilty

of fome Particulars in that Indiftment, but not of

all; for fo, inftead of difcharging, I Jhall wound

my Confcience.

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Sir Hard. Waller. If I might have that Liber-

ty to— •

Court. You fhall have that Liberty that any

Subject ofthe Nation can have or can challenge.

No' Man, Handing at the Bar in that Condition

you are, mult make any other Anfwer to that

Indictment than Guilty or Not Guilty. It's the

Common Cafe of all Men. Your Confeffion

mult be Plain and Dired, either Guilty, or Not

Guilty.

Sir Hard. Waller. My Lord, I defere fome Time

to confeder of it, for it is a great Surprizal.

Court. You have had Time enough, to confi-

derofitj you mult follow the Dire&ions of the

Court, Guilty, or Not Guilty? You mult not thus

difcourfe or being furprized ; for thefe Difcourfes

are contrary to all Proceedings of this Nature.

Clerk. How fay you, Sir H. Waller? Are you

Guilty, or Not Guilty ? _
Sir Hard. Waller. / dare not fay, Not Guilty.

Clerk. Will you confefs then ?

Sir Hard. Waller. J would be glad to be under-

°°Court. Your Plea muft be direft, Guilty, or

Not Guilty ? J0
Sir Hard. Waller. Shall I be heard, my Lord ?

Court. Yes, upon your Trial. There is but

Two Ways, Plead Not Guilty, or confefs it.

Sir Hardrefs Frailer, we would not have you to

be deceived. If you confefs, and fay, you are

Guilty, there is nothing then but Judgment: If

you fay Not Guilty, then you fhall be heard with

your Evidence. Confider with your felf. Plead

Not Guilty, or confefs, and fay you are Guilty.

Sir Hard. Waller. My Lord, it puts me upon

a great Contefi with myfelf Ijhall be very free to

open my Heart

Court. Sir, you mud plead Guilty, or Not

Guilty.
.

Sir Hard. Waller. My Lord, my Condition dif-

fers from others, 1 am a Stranger j / have been

Thirty Tears tranfplanted into Ireland, which has

made me unacquainted with the Affairs of the Law
here.

Court. You mult keep to the Courfe of the

Law, either Guilty, or Not Guilty. There is

but one of thefe two Pleas to be made.

Sir Hard. Waller. / dare not fay Not Guilty.

Court. There are but thefe Three Things to

be considered. Either you mult fay Guilty, which

is Confeffion, and then there remains no more but

Judgment-, or Not Guilty, and then You fhall be

heard -, or Judgment will pafs for your ftanding

Mute, which is all one as if you had confeffed.

Arraignment of the R egicides. 1 2 Car. II.

Sir Hard. Waller. Infomuch as I have faid I
dare not fay Not Guilty, I muft fay Guilty.

Clerk. You fay you are Guilty ! You confefs

the Indiblment.

Sir Hardrefs Waller. * Yes.

Clerk. Thomas Harrifon, How fayelt thou? Art
thou Guilty of the Treafon whereof thou ftandeft

Indibled, and art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Tho. Harrifon, My Lords, have I Liberty to

fpeak ?

Court. No more (at this Time) than Guilty^

or Not Guilty. Mr. Harrifon, you have heard

the Direction before. We can give you but the

fame Rule. If you plead Not Guilty, you fhall be
heard at large, if Guilty, you know what remains.

Tho. Harrifon. Will you give me Leave to give

you my Anfwer in my own Words ?

Lord ChiefBar. There is no Anfwer but what
the Law directs} it is the fame with you as

with all others, or as I would defirc if I were
in your Condition. You mult plead Not Guilty:

Or if you confefs Guilty, there mult be Judgmeat
upon your Confeffion. The fame Rule for one
mult be for another.

Tho.Harrilon. You exprefs your Rule very fair,

as well to me as this Gentleman (pointing at Sir

Hardrefs Waller) but I have fomething to fay to

your Lordfhips, which concerns your Lordjhips as

well as myfelf.

Court. You muft hold, and plead Guilty, or

Not Guilty. If you go otherwife fas I told you
before) it will be as if you pleaded not at all,

and then Judgment will pafs againlt you. The
Law gives the Words, frames your Anfwer, it is

none elfe but the Laws, Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Tho. Harrifon. My Lord, I have been kept

clofe Prifoner near thefe Three Months, that no

body might have Accefs to me. Do you call me to

give you a Legal Anfwer, not knowing of my Trial

till Nine of the Clock laft Night, and brought away

from the Tower, to this Place, at Six of the

Clock this Morning.

Court. You mult give your direct Anfwer,

Guilty, or Not Guilty. You cannot fay it is fud-

den, or unprovided. You fpend Time in vain.

You trouble the Court. You mult plead Guilty,

or Not Guilty. We muft not fuffer you to make
Difcourfes here. You muft plead either Guilty,

or Not Guilty.

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty?

Thomas Harrifon. I am /peaking. Shall I not

fpeak Two Words ?

Court. If you will not put yourfelf upon your

Trial you muft expect that Courfe that the Law
directs.

Tho. Harrifon. May it pleafe your Lordjhips, I

am now
Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty?

Tho. Harrifon. / defers to be adviefdby the Law,
this is a Special Cafe.

Court. The Law allows nothing now, but to

plead Guilty, or Not Guilty.

Court. You muft plead to your Indiblment. If

it be Treafon it cannot bejuftified} if it be ju-

stifiable, it is not Treafon i therefore plead Guilty,

or Not Guilty.

Tho. Harifon. Give me Advice in this-

Clerk. Tho. Harrifon, are you Guilty, or Not

Guilty?

* He had at firft pleaded Not Guilty, but was allowed by the Court ta withdraw his Plea, Kelyng. n.
Thomas
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Thomas Harrifon. I would -willingly render an

Account of all my Doings-—

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Court. You have been acquainted with the

Legal Proceedings. You never found in all your

Experience that any Prifoner at the Bar, for Fe-

lony or Treafon, was fufFered thus to difcourfe,

or to anfwer otherwife than Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Mr. Sol. Gen. / do befeech your Lordfhips he

may plead; peradventure he knows his Cafe fo well

that he thinks it as cheap to defie the Court, as fub~

wit to it.

Court. We muft enter your Handing Mute;

that's Judgment.

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Tho. Harrifon. Will you refufe to give me any

Satisfaction ?

Court, hxt you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Tho. Harrifon. Will you give me your Jdvice ?

Court. We do give you Advice. The Ad-

vice is, there is no other Plea, but Guilty, or

Not Guilty. You ihall be heard when you have

put your felt upon your Trial.

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Tho. Harrifon. Tou do deny me Counfel, then I

do plead Not Guilty.

Clerk. You plead Not Guilty. Is this your

Plea?

Tho. Harrifon. Yes.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Tho. Harrifon. I will be tried according to the

Laws of the Lord.

Clerk. Whether by God and the Country ?

Lord Chief Baron. Now I muft tell you, if

you do not put your felf upon your Country you have

[aid nothing.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Tho. Harrifon. It is to put my felf upon what

youpleafe to put me upon.

Court. If you understand (you are not every

Man, you are verfcd in Proceedings of Law,)

you know you muft put yourfelf upon the Trial

of God and your Country, if you do not, it is as

good as if you had laid nothing.

Tho. Harrifon. You have been mifmformed of

me.

Court. You have pleaded Not Guilty, that

which remains is, that you muft be Tried by

God and the Country, otherwife we muft Record

your (landing Mute.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Tho. Harrifon. / will be tried according to the

ordinary Courfe.

Clerk. Whether by God and the Countrey?

You muft fpeak the Words.
Tho. Harrifon. They are vain Words

Court. We have given you a great deal of Li-

berty and Scope, which is not ufual. It is the

Courfe, and Proceedings ofLaw, if you will be

Tried you muft put yourfelf upon God and the

Countrey.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Tho. Harrifon. / do offer my felf to be tried in

your own Way, by God and my Countrey.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. William Heveningham, hold up your

Hand. How fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the

Treafon whereof thou ftandeft IndicJed, and arc

now Arraigned? Or Not Guilty?

Will. Heveningham. Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be tried?

Will. Heveningham. By God and the Coun-
trey.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Sir Hard. Waller then prefented his Petition to

the Court, direcled to the King's Majefty and the
Parliament, which was received, but not at this

Court read, and then the Three Perfons aforefaid

were difmijfed.

Clerk. Bring to the Bar Ifaac Pennington, Efqj
Henry Martin, Efq* Gilbert Millington, Gentle-
man, Robert Tichbourn, Efq* Owen Roe, Efq^ and
Robert Lilbum, Gentleman j who were called,

and appeared at the Bar, and being commanded
feveraily, held up their Hmds.

The Indiclment was read again as to the former
Perfons.

Clerk. Ifaac Pennington, Hold up thy Hand.
How fayeft thou? Art thou Guilty of the Trea-
fon whereof thou ftandeft Inditled, and art now
Arraigned? Or Not Guilty ?

Ifaac Pennington. Not Guilty, my Lord.
Clerk. How will you be tried ?

Ifaac Pennington. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Henry Marten, How fayeft thou ? Art
thou Guilty of the Treafon whereof thou ftandeft

Indicted, and art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Hen. Marten. I defire the Benefit of the Ail of
Oblivion.-

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Court. You are to underftand the Law is this,

the fame to you and every one ; you are to plead

Guilty, or Not Guilty. If you will demand the

Benefit of the Act of Oblivion, it is a Confeffion

of being Guilty.

Hen. Marten. I humbly conceive the Acl of In-

demnity
Court. You muft plead Guilty, or Not Guilty.

Hen. Marten. If I plead I lofe the Benefit of
that Acl.

Court. You are totally excepted out of the

Acl.

Hen. Marten. If it were fo I would plead. My
Name is not in that Act.

Court. Henry Martin is there.

Mr. Sol!icitor-Gen. Surely he hath beenkept

clofe Prifoner indeed, if he hath not feen the Acl of

Indemnity. Shew it him.

Mr. Shelton opening the Acl.

Court. How is it written ?

Clerk. It is Henry Martin.

And then the A<5t was fhewed to the [aid Mr.
Marten.

Hen. Marten. Henry Martin. My Name is not

fo, * it is Harry Marten.

Court. The Difference of the Sound is very

little. You are known by that Name of Mar-
tin.

Hen. Marten. I humbly conceive all Penal Sta-

tutes ought to be underfiood literally.

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Hen. Marten. lam not Henry Martin.

Clerk. Are you Guilty?. Or Not Guilty?

Court. Be advifed ; the Effeft of this Plea will

be Judgment.

Here Mr. Solicitor General cited fomewhat

Parallel to this in a Cafe formerly of Baxter,

where

• Kelyn. u.



5 10 5?. The Arraignment ofthe Regicides. 12 Car. II.

where the Name was Bagfter, with an S, and ad-

judged all one, being of the fame Sound.

Clerk. Are you Guilty? Or Not Guilty ?

Hen. Marten. My Lord, I defire Council; there

wilt arife Matter of Law, as well as Facl.

Court. You are Inditled for treafon, for a Ma-

licious, Traitorous Comparting and Imagining

the King's Death} if you have any Thing of

Justification, plead Not Guilty , and you {hall be

heard ; for if it be Juftifiable, it is not treafon.

The Rule is, either you muft plead Guilty, and

fo confefs, or Not Guilty, and put your felf upon

your Trial } there is no Medium.

Hen. Marten. May Igive any thing in Evidence

before Verdict ?

Court. Yes, upon your Trial you may give any

Thing in Evidence that the Law warrants to be

lawful Evidence.

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty ?

Court. Underftand one Thing, becaufe I would

not have you miftaken; you cannot give in Evi-

dence the Mifnomer, but any thing to the Matter

of Facl.

Hen. Marten. Ifubmit, and plead Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Hen. Marten. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Gilbert Millington, Holdup your Hand.

How fayeft thou? Art thou Guilty of the Trea-

fon whereof thou ftandeft Mitled, and art now
Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Gilb. Millington. My Lord, I am an Ancient

Man, and Deaf; I humbly crave your Lordjhip's

Pardon to hear me a few Words ; 1 will promife it

Jhall be pertinent enough.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Impertinent enough he means.

Court. You muft plead either Guilty, and fo

confefs it> or Not Guilty, and then you fhall be

heard any Thing for your Juftification.

Clerk. Are you Guilty? Or Not Guilty?

Gilb. Millington. I defire I may

Court. There is nothing you can fay but Guilty,

or Not Guilty; all other Difcourfes turn upon

your felf.

Clerk. Are you Guilty? Or Not Guilty?

Gilb. Millington. You might enlighten me in

fome Scruples. Does my Paufe trouble you much ?

IJhould not be long.

Court. Your particular Cafe cannot differ from

others.

Clerk. Are you Guilty? Or Not Guilty?

Gilb. Millington. there are fome things in the

Indiclment that I can fay Not Guilty to, there are

others that I muft deal ingenuoufy, and confefs

them,

Clerk. Are you Guilty in Manner and Form as

you are Indicted ? Or Not Guilty ?

Gilb. Millington. Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Gilb. Millington. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

with it. It is neither long nor fhort} the Law
requires your Anfwer, Guilty? Or Not Guilty?

Tichbourn. Spare me but one Word. If upon

the trial there fhall appear to be Matter of Law
fhall I have the Liberty of Council for it? If L
fhall be put in my own Cafe to plead Matter ofLaw
againft thofe Noble Perfons who plead on the other

Part, Ifhall but prejudice my felf, and therefore I
crave Council.

Court. You muft plead Guilty, or Not Guilty.

Tichbourn. I have no Reafon nor Defigntodif-

pleafe you. I am fure I am no ways able to plead
with Equalnefs in Point of Law with thofe Noble
Gentlemen, to the Matter of Fact this is my Plea,
in Manner and Form that I ftand Indicted I am
Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be tried ?

Tichbourn. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Owen Roe, Hold up your Hand. How
fayeft thou? x^rt thou Guilty of the Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Indicted, and arc now Ar-
raigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Owen Roe. My Lord, there hath beenfo much
faid already by others, I think I need fay no more.
In Manner and Form as I am now Indicted I

plead Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Owen Roe. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Robert tichbourn, Hold up your Hand.

How fayeft thou? Art thou Guilty of the Trea-

fon whereof thou ftandeft Indicted, and art now
Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Tichbourn. My Lord, I have been a very clofe

Prifoner, without any Advice ; L am altogether un-

able in Law to fpeak.

Court. You know the Courfe hath been de-

livered to you by others, I will not trouble you

Clerk. Robert Lilburn, Hold up your Hand.
How fayeft thou.? Art thou Guilty of the Trea-
fon whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and art now
Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty?

Robert Lilburn. / defire, in regard that being'

fo clofe a Prifoner for twenty Days, that no body

has been fuffered to advife with me —
Lord Chef Baron.l muft interrupt you. You

muft not mif-fpend the Time. Underftand the

Law. You muft Plead Guilty, or Not Guilty}

Robert Lilburn. Will you give me leave to defire

Council before I plead, to advife me touching my
Plea ?

Clerk. Are you'Guilty? or Not Guilty ?

Robert Lilburn. Idefire Council •
- •

Court. Take heed, if that be your Anfwer, You

defire Council, and do not Plead, and that be Re-
corded, Judgment will pafs againft you. There
is nothing to Plead, but Guilty, or Not Guilty.

If Not Guilty, what you have to fay will be

heard.

Rob. Lilburn. If you over-rule me I muftfub-

mit.

Court. Do not let fuch Language fall from

you } it is improper.

The Law gives us a Rule, the Prifoner muft

plead Guilty, or Not Guilty.

Rob. Lilburn. Ifay then in Manner and Form
as lam Indicled I am Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Rob. Lilburn. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Bring to the Bar Adrian Scroop, John
Carew, John Jones, thomas Scot, Gregory Clement,

and John Cook.

Who were brought accordingly, and being com-

manded, federally held up their Hands at the Bar.

the Indictment was read to the Perfons at the

Bar as before.

Cleric.
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Clerk. Adrian Scroop, Hold up thy Hand.

How fayeft thou? Art thou Guilty of the Trea-

fon whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and art now
Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty?

Adr. Scroop. My Lora', Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried?

Adr. Scroop. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God Tend thee a good Deliverance.

Clerk. John Carew, Holdup thy Hand. How
fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty or the Treafon

whereof thou wt Indicled, and art now Arraigned?

Or Not Guilty?

John Carew. There is fame [pedal Matter in

that Indictment, that ought not to before

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty?

John Carew.. Saving to our Lordjci'm Chrift his

Might to the Government of the[c Kingdoms-

Court. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty?

John Carew. I fay I am Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

John Carew. How would you have me ?

Clerk. Will you be Tried by God and the

Country ?

JohnCtrew. /, if you will.

C.erk. You mull fay the Words. How will

you be Tried ?

John Carew. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. John Jones, Hold up thy Hand. How
fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and for which
thou art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty?

John Jones. Not Guilty, my Lord.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

John Jones. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a go d Deliverance.

Clerk. Thomas Scot, Hold up thy Hand How
fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and for which
thou art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty?

Th. Scot, truly I cannot call it Trealon, and

therefore I Plead Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried?

Th. Scot. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

, Clerk. Gregory Clement, Hold up your Hand'
How fayeft thou? Art thou Guilty of the Trea-
fon whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and for which
thou art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Greg. Clement. My Lord, I cannot excufe my
[elf in many Particulars ; but as to my Indictment,

as there it is, /plead Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

Greg. Clement. By God and the Country,.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. John Cook, Hold up thy Hand. How
fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and for which
thou art now Arraigned? Or Not Guilty?

John Cook. / humbly conceive that this is now
Time to move for Council for Matter of Law—

Court. You know too well the manner of the
Court. Are you Guilty ? Or Not Guilty?

John Cook. Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried ?

John Cook. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Bring Edmund Harvey, Henry Smith,

John Downs, Vincent"Potter, and Augufline Gar-

land, to the Bar,

Who were brought accordingly, and, being com'

manded, [everally held up their Hands. The Indict-

ment was read to them.

Clerk. Edmund Harvey, Hold up your Hand.
How fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of rhe Trea-
fon whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and for which
thou art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty?

Edmund Harvey. Not Guilty, my Lord.

Clerk. How will you be tried ?

Edmund Harvey. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Henry Smith, Hold up thy Hand ? How
fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the Treafon
whereof thou art Indicled, and for which thou
art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Henry Smith. Not Guilty, my Lord.
Clerk. How will you be Tried?
Henry Smith. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

John Downs, Vincent Potter, Augufline Gar=
land, upon the ®ueftion prefently pleaded Not
guilty, and put themfelves on God and the Coun-
try to be Tried:

ClerL Set to the Bar George Fleetwood, Simon
Meyn, James Temple, Peter Temple, Thomas Waity

Hugh Peters, Francis Hacker, and Daniel Axtel.

Who being at the Bar, held up their Hands ac-

cording to Order; afterward the Clerk read the In-

dictment again[I thefaid Perfons ; which being ended,

he proceeded in this manner.

Clerk. George Fleetwood, Hold up thy Hand.
What fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of thi c horrid

Treafon whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and art

now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

George Fleetwood. My Lord, I came in upon

his Majeflfs Proclamation.

Clerk. Art thou Guilty? Or Not Guilty?

George Fleetwood. '* Imuft confefs 1am Guilty,

(and thereupon he delivered a. Petition in to the

Court, which he [aid was direcled to his Majefty
and the Parliament, and the Court did receive it

accordingly.)

Clerk. Set him afide.

Clerk. Simon Meyn, Hold up thy Hand. What
faveft thou ? An thou Guilty of this horrid Trea-
fon, whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and art now
Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

Simon Meyn. Net Guilty. I came in upon his

Majefty 's Proclamation, my Lord.

Clerk. How wilt thou be Tried?

Simon Meyn. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Clerk. James Temple, Hold up thy Hand. What
ftyeft thou? Art thou Guilty of this horrid Trea-
fon, whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and art now
Arraigned? Or Not Guilty?

James Temple, Net Guilty.

Clerk. How wilt thou be Tried ?

James Temple By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Peter Temple, Hold up your Hand. How
fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the Treafon

whereof

He bad at firp. pleaded Not Guilty, btitivas permitted to withdraw bis Plea. Kety'fig. 11.
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whereof thou Handed Indicled, and for which
thou art now Arraigned ? Or Not guilty?

'

Peter Temple. Not guilty?

.Clerk. How wile thou be Tried ?

Perer Temple. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Clerk. 'Thomas Wait, Hold up your Hand-
How fayeft thou? A.Vt thou Guilty of the Trea-
lon whereofthou ftandeft IndiSied', and for which
thou art now Arraigned ? Or Not guilty ?

Th.'Wait. I defire to be heard a Word or two—
Court. There is a Rule of Law which is fct to

us, and you, that in all thefe Cafes you are to

plead Guilty, or Not guilty. When you have

pleaded, if Not guilty, you may fpeak what you
will in irs proper Time.

Clerk. Are you Guilty? or Not guilty?

Th. Wait. Ipray let me be heard a Word. 1 am
•very unwilling to fpend time, knowing you have a

great deal of Bufinefs. 1 am very unwilling to de-

prive my/elf of my Native Right. 1fidall fpeak no-

thing but that which is Truth.

Court. Do not Preface then, but fpeak what
you would fay.

Th. Wait. My Lord) my Cafe is different from
the reft.

Court. Whatfoever the Cafe be, you have
no Plea to us, but Guilty, or Not guilty. We
can go no other Way. The Law fets out your

Plea.

Th. Wait. My Lord, I would fpeak one Word.
TJjere was a great Peer of this Nation Indicled at

Northampton, within thefe Two Tears, for killing

a Man. The Judges there

Court. You mult plead Guilty, or Not guilty.

Pray who are you that fhould take this upon
you more than all the rell ? You muft go the or-

dinary Way ; Guilty, or Not guilty : Are you
Guilty? or Not guilty ? We do not intend to

prevent any Thing you have to fay, but it mult

be proper.

Clerk. Are you Guilty? Or Not guilty?

Th. Wait. I cannot fay I am Guilty.

Court. How then?

Th. Wait. I am Not guilty.

Clerk. How wik thou be Tried?
Th. Wait. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

. Clerk. Hugh Peters, Holdup thy Hand. How
fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Indicled, and for which
thou art now Arraigned? Or Not guilty?

Hugh Peters. / would not for Ten Thoufand
Worlds fay lam Guilty. 1 am Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried?
Hugh Peters. By the Word of God. {Here the

People laughed.
~\

Court. You muft fay, By God and the Country.

Tell him you that (land by him what he fhould
fay, if he doth not know.

Clerk. How will you be Tried?
Hugh Peters. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Daniel Axtel, Hold up thy Hand.
What fayeft thou ? Art thou Guilty of the Trea-
fon whereof thou (landed Indicled, and for

which thou art now Arraigned ? Or Not
Guilty ?

&
Dan. Axtel. May it pleafe your Lordftips, I de-

fire to have the Freedom of an Emdi/hman ; that

which is my Right by Law and Inheritance : 1 have

fomething to offer in Point of Law.
Clerk. Art th^u Guilty? Or Not guilty?

Dan. Axtel, My Lords, give me leave to fpeak.

For the Matter of the Indictment / conceive is up-

on the King's Death $ that there is a Commiffion

of Oyer and Terminer for you to Sit : But in re-

gard it was in Purfuance of an Act of Parliament,

1 conceive no Infeiior Court ought to judge of it, I
defire Council, it being of great and eminent Con-
cernment in Law, That ever any Judges, or any In-

ferior Court, fhouldjudge of the Powers and Pri-

vileges of a Parliament j and Ipray that Council
may be ajfigned me.

Clerk. Are you Guilty ? Or Not guilty ?

Dan. Axtel. If the Court over-rule me, and I

ft]all not have my Liberty, as an Englifhman
Court. TheCourfe of Law is this ; No Man

can juftify Treafon. If the Matter which you have

to fay be Juftifiable, it is not Treafon; if Trea-
fon, it is not Juftifiable $ therefore you muft go
to the ordinary Courfe of the Law. You muft
plead Guilty, or Not guilty.

Dan. Axtel. I can produce many Precedents—
Court. Are you Guilty ? or Not guilty ? The

Language is put into your Mouth. You have no
other Words to exprefs yourfelf by at this Time,
but Guilty, or Not guilty.

Dan. Axtel. Judge Heath had Council affign'd

him upon the fame Cafe.

Court. That is very ftrange ; the fame Cafe ?

Whar, was it for killing a King?
Dan. Axtel. If the Court will over-rule me I

cannot help it.

Mr. Solicitor Gen. It may be this Gentleman may
be deceived by a Miftake. It may be he knows
not the Law, which your Lordfhips may be
pleas'd to acquaint him with: That to (land

Mute in High-Treafon is all one as to Confefs the

Fact, and will have the fame Sentence and Con-
demnation upon them, as if they had confefled

it.

Lord Chief Baron. Then III tell you the Law.
He that doth refufe to put himfelf upon his Le-,

gal Trial of God and the Country, is a Mute in

Law; and therefore you muft plead Guilty, or Not
Guilty. Let his Language be what it will, he is a
Mute in Law.

Dan. Axtel. I do not refufe it.

,
Court. Then fay.

Dan. Axtel. I am Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be Tried?
Dan. Axtel. By Twelve Lawful Men, according

to the Conftitutions of the Law.
Court. That is by Go^and the Country.

Dan. Axtel. That is not lawful. God is not lo-

cally here.

Clerk. How wilt thou be Tried ? You muft

fay, By God and the Country.

Dan. Axtel. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Axtel, have you your

Papers again?

Dan. Axtel. Yes, my Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. When your Indictment is

read the Second Time, when you come to your Trials

you may take what Notes you pleafe.

The Court then adjourned to the fame Place till

the -next Morning Seven of the Clock.

Oclober
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October 1 \th, 1660.

The Court being affembled, the Keeper was

commanded to let the Prifoners to the Bar.

Thomas Harrifon, Adrian Scroop, John Carew,

John Jones, Gregory Clement, Thomas Scot, were

brought to the Bar accordingly. After which

Silence was commanded.

Court. You that are the Prifoners at the Bar,

if you, or any of you, defire Pen, Ink, and Paper,

you (hall have it ; and if you, or any of you

will Challenge any of the Jury, you may when

they come to be Sworn, and that before they are

Sworn.
Sir Thomas Allen being call rf, was deftred to

look on the Prifoners, and lay his Hand on the

Book : His Oath -was then read to him, viz.

You fhall well and truly Try, and true De-

liverance make, between our Sovereign Lord

the King, and the Prifoners at the Bar,

whom you fhall have in Charge, according

to your Evidence. So help you God.

Sir Jofhua Afh being next call'd, Mr. Scroop

excepted againft him.

Sir Jeremy Wnichcot, Baronet, being next to be

Sworn, Mr. Harrifon excepted againft him.

James Halley, Efq; being next to be Sworn, Mr.

Scot excepted againft him.

Court. If you will not agree (/peaking to the

Prifoners) in your Challenges, we muft be fore'd

to Try you feverally.

Henry Mildmay, Efq; being called next, Mr.

Scroop excepted againft him.

Court. We rnuft needs Try them feverally,

therefore fct them all afide but Harrifon.

Court. Gentlemen, you that are excepted

muft not depart the Court.

Sir Jofhua Afh being again caWd, was excepted

againft by Mr. Harrifon.

SirJeremy Whichcot, Bart

James Halley, Efq;

Henry Mildmay, Efq;

Chriftopher Abdy, Efq;

Court. Mr. Harrifon, you

You muft fay, I challenge him.

Mr. Harrifon, /fhall, Sir.

Ralph Hartley being next called, and being

very tick, humbly prayed to be excus'd by the

Court, which was granted.

Arthur Newman was called next.

Mr. Harrifon. May I not ask of what Quality

Court. No, Sir, you are to challenge him, or

not to challenge him.

.Mr. Harrifon. / challenge him.

Thomas Bhth was next call'd, and alfo chal-

lenged.

\_Here the People feemed to laugh.]

Mr. Harrifon. My Lord, 1 muft make ufe of

my Liberty in this Cafe.

Court. God forbid.

Then Grover, Robert Clark, and Richard Whal-

ley, were called, and by Mr. Harrifon chal-

lenged.

Court. Mr. Harrifon, you know how many

to challenge ; if you go beyond the Number at

your own Peril be it.

Mr. Harrifon. My Lord, pray tell me what

it is.

Court. You fay very well j God forbid but

you fhould know. You may challenge Five and

Thirty Peremptorily, if you go beyond you know
the Danger.

I
Being caWd again,

werefeverally ex-

cepted againft by

the Prifoner.

know the Law.

Mr. Harrifon. My Lord, I do not this to keep

you off' from the Bufmefs.

William Vincent, and Henry Twiford, were then

called, and Challenged.

John Life was next called.

Mr. Harrifon. I do not know him.

Mr. Life. Nor I you Mr. Harrifon. He
was Sworn.

Thomas Franklin Sworn.
Thomas Winter Challenged.

Richard Nichol Sworn.
Moyce being Sick, prayed Excufe, which

was granted accordingly.

Richard Cheyney Challenged.

Mien Parfons Challenged.

Henry Edlin Called.

Mr. Harrifon. / Challenge him.

Mr. Harrifon. Let him be Sworn.
Court. No, no, (Whereupon he was fet afide.)

Mr. Harrifon. If I have any Apprehenfion or

Knowledge of them, that's the Thing that leads me
to it, as touching this Man, he may be Sworn.

Court. When he is Challenged he cannot be

re-called.

Mr. Harrifon, 1 am content.

Samuel Greenhil Sworn.
Thomas Bede Challenged.

John Page Challenged.

Richard Rider Challenged.

Mr. Harrifon. Left 1 may run into an Hazard9
in making ufe of that Liberty which the Law gives

me in this Cafe, and having not taken Notice of any

Perfan Challenged, I mean as to the Number, I de-

fire your Officer that takes Notice may acquaint me
with the Number.

Court. You fhall know it 5 God forbid the

contrary.

Edward Rolph was called next.

Mr. Harrifon. Mr. Rolph is his Nam? Let

him be Sworn.

Francis Beal Challenged.

John Kirk Challenged.

Charles Pitfield Challenged.

John Smith Challenged.

Bell Sworn.
Edward Franklin Challenged.

William Whitcomb Challenged.

Samuel Harris Sworn.
John Collins Challenged.

Thomas Snow Sworn.
William Blunt Challenged.

George Rigth Challenged.

John Nichol of Finchley Sworn.
Timothy Taylor Challenged.

Thomas Fruin Challenged.

Richard Abel Challenged.

Thomas Morris Sworn.

Ambrofe Scudamore Challenged.

Ralph Halfel Challenged.

George Tirry Challenged.

Court. You have Challenged Thirty Three al*

ready.

Mr. Harrifon. 1 pray the Names may be read

to me, to fee if it be fo.

Court. When you come to Thirty Five you
fhall have the Names Read.

John Galliard Challenged.

Thomas Swallow Challenged.

Court. Now read their Names to him.

Which were read accordingly. In all Shirty-Jive

Challenged.

George Pickering was next called and Sworn.

S f Then
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Then they were called over who were admit-

ted, viz.

Sir Thomas Allen, John Lifte, Thomas Frank-
lin, Richard Nichol, Samuel Greenhil, Edward
Rolph, Bell, Samuel Harris, Thomas Snow,
John Nichol, Thomas Morris, George Pickering;

and Sworn.
Proclamation wns then made.

If any Man can inform my Lords, the King's Ju-
flices, the King's Serjeant, or the King's Attorney,

before this Inaueft be taken, let them comeforth, and
they Jhall be heard, for now- the Prifoner ftands ot

the Bar upon his Deliverance. And all thofe bound
by Recognizance to appear, let them come forth,

and give their Evidence, or elfe to Forfeit their Re-
cognizance.

George Mafterfon, James Nutley, Robert Coyt-

more, Holland Simpfon, and William Jejfop, Wit-
neffes, were called.

Court. Gentlemen, that are not of the Jury,
pray clear the Paffage. The Prifoner is herefor

Life and Death, let him have Liberty to lee the

Jury.

Clerk. Thomas Harrifon, holdup thy Hand.
Clerk. Look upon the Prifoner, you that are

Sworn. Tou pall underftand that the Prifoner at

the Bar ftands IndiEted by the Name of Thomas
Harrifon, late of Weftminfter, mthe County: of
Middlefex, Gentleman, for that he, together with

John Lifle, &c. (here the Indiclment was read)

upon which Indictment he hath been Arraigned, and
thereunto hath pleaded Not Guilty, and for his Tri-

al hath put himfelf upon God and the Country,

•which Country you are. Now your Charge is to

enquire, whether he be Guilty of the High-Treafon

in- Manner and Form as he ftands indicled,or Not
Guilty. Ifyoufind that he is Guilty, you fhall en-

quire what Goods and Chattels he had at the time of
committing thefaid Treafon, or any Time fithence.

Ifyou find that he is Not Guilty, you fhall enquire

'whether he did fly for it ; and ifyou find that he

fled for it, you Jhall enquire of his Goods and Chat-

tels, as if you had found him Guilty: If you find
that he is Not Guilty, nor that he did fly, you fhall

fay fo, and no more. And take heed to your Evi-

dence.

Mr. Keeling enforced the Charge at large : Af-

ter whom Sir Heneage Finch, his Majefty's Soli'

citor-General^ in thefe Words.

A Y it pleafe your Lordlhips, We bring

before your Lordlhips into Judgment this

Day the Murtherers of a King. A Man would
think the Laws of God and Men had fo fully fe-

cured thefe Sacred Perfons, that the Sons of Vio-

lence fhould never approach to hurt them : For
(my Lord) the very Thoughts of fuch an Attempt
hath ever been prefented by all Laws, mall Ages,

in all Nations of the World, as a moil unpardo-

nable Treafon. My Lord, This is that that

brought the Two Eunuchs in the Perfian Court

to their juft Deflruction ; Voluerunt injurgere, fays

the Text, and yet that was enough to Attaint

them. And fo (my Lords) it was by the Roman

Laws too, as T^a/z/j-obfervesj ghiideliberant, de-

fciverunt. To Doubt or Hefiiate in a Point of Al-

legiance, is direct Treafon and Apoftafie. And up-

on this Ground it is, that the Statute upon which

your Lordfhips are now to proceed hath thefe ex-

prefs Words j // a Man doth Compafs or Imagine

the Death of the King, &c. Kings, who are God's

Vice-gerents upon Earthy have thus far a kind of

Refemblance of the Divine Majefty, that their

Subjtcls ftand accountable to them for the very
Thoughts of their Hearts Not that any Man can
know the Heart, fave God alone; but becaufe
when the Wicked Heart breaks out into any open

Expreflions, by which it may be judged, 'tis the
Thoughts of'the Heart which makes the Treafon}
the Overt-Act is but the Evidence of it.

My Lords, This Care and Caution is not fo to
be underftood, as if it were the Single Intereft

ofOne Royal Perlon only. The Law doth wifely
judge and forefee, that upon the Life of the King
depends the Laws and Liberties, the Eftates ana
Properties, the Wealth and Peace, the Religion^

and in Sum, the Glory of the Nation.
My Lords, This judgment of the Law has been

verified by a fad Experience} for when that Blef-

fed King (whofe Blood we are now making Inqui-

Jition for) was untimely taken away, Religion and
Juftice both lay buried in the fame Grave with.

him} and there they had fleptftill, if the Mira-
culous Return of our Gracious Sovereign had not
given them a New Refurreclion.

My Lords, My Lord Coke in his Comment upon
this Statute has one Conceit, which is fomewhat
Strange; I am fare it is very New; he feems to
think that it would have added to the Perfection

of this Law if there had been a Time limited for

the Party to be accufed. But certainly the Work
of this Day has quite confuted that Imagination.

For here is a Treafon that has fo long out-fae'd the
Law, and the Juftice of this Kingdom, that if

there had been any Time of Limitation in the
Statute, there would have been no Time nor Place
left for Punijhment. And if this Treafon had but
once grown up'to an Impunity, it might perhaps
have drawn the Guilt of that Innocent Blood, and
with it the Vengeance due to it, upon the whole
Nation.

The Scope of this
1

Indiclment is for the compafjing

the Death of the King, the reft of the Indiclment%
as the Ufurping Authority over the King's Perfony
the Affembling, Sitting, Judging, and Killing of the
King, are but fo many feveral Overt-Abls to prove
the Intention of the Heart. We are not bound
(under Favour) to prove every one ofthefe againft

every particular Perfon who is Inditled; for he
that is in at one, is Guilty in Law of all the reft,

as much as if he had ftruck the Fatal Stroke itfelf:

Nay (under Favour) if we can prove any other

Overt-Ac! befides what is laid in the Indiclment,

as the encouraging of the Soldiers to cry out, Juf-
tice, Juftice ; or Preaching to them to go on in

this Work, as Godly and Religious ; or any other

Act of all that Catalogue of Villanies, for which
the Story will be for ever Infamous ; this may be

given in Evidence to prove the Compaffing and
Imagining the King's Death. The Conclufion
of this Indiclment alledges the Fatl done to be to

the great Difpleafure of Almighty God, and to the

Di[grace of the People of England. A Truth fo

clear and known, that it can neither be heighten'

ed by any Aggravation, or lejfened by any Ex-
cufe.

As for the Faft itfelf, with the Manner of it, I

fhall not need to open it at large, for thefe

Things were not done in a Corner ; every true

Englijb-Hean ftill keeps within itfelf a bleeding

Regifter of this Story ; only (my Lords) in the

Way to our Evidence, with your Lordfloips Fa-

vour, this I think may be fit to be faid.

Firft, :
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Firft, for the Year 1648, (for that was the Fa-

/a/ Year of this King, and beyond that Year we
fhall not now enqUireJ I fay whatfoever in the

Tear 1648 could have been done by a Parlia-

ment to fave the Life of a King, was done in this

Cafe.

They opened the Way to the treaty in fpight

of the Army, and while thefe Sons of Zerviah,

who were too hard for them, were engaged in

Service in the Remoter Parts, they haftened the

treaty as much as was poffible ; the Debates upon

his Majefty's Conctfftons were Voted zgood Ground

for Peace ; notwithstanding the Remonftrances of

the Army ftill flew about their Ears, and not-

withftanding the Oppofitions of a fearful and unbe-

lieving Party of the Houfe ofCommons, whom the

Army had frighted into an Awful and a Slavijh

Dependence upon them. And when nothing

elfe could be done for him, they were fo true to

the Obligations they lay under, that they refolved

to fall with him, and did fo. For the Army who
faw the Treaty proceed fo faff, made as great hafte

to break it. They feize upon the Bleffed Perfon

of our Sacred King by Force, and bring him to

London; and here they force the Parliament, flout

out fome Members, imprifon others, and then cal-

led this wretched little Company which was left

a Parliament. By this, and before they had ta-

ken upon them the Boldnefs to diffolve the Houfe

of Peers, they pafs a Law, and ered, forfooth

!

an High Court of Juftice, as they call it, a Sham-

bles of Juftice, appoint Judges, Advocates, Offi-

cers, and Minifters, fit upon the Life of the King.

Now they Speak out and Expound their own De-

clarations, and tell us what that was which be-

fore they had demanded in obfcure Terms, when
they called for Juftice againft all Delinquents.

Now they fpeak plainly what they mean, and

call this Bleffed King, this Glorious Saint, the

Grand Delinquent

:

- Hac Acies vitlum fablura Nocentem eft.

My Lords, When they had thus proceeded to

appoint their Judges, Officers, and Court, then

they call this Perfon, their only Liege Lord and

Sovereign, to the Bar, and by a Formal Pageantry

of Juftice, proceed to Sit upon him, Arraign,

try, Sentence, Condemn, and Kill, (I had almoft

faid Crucifie,) him, whom they could not but

know to be their King; and all this againft the

cleareft Light, the fliarpeft Checks, and moil tho-

rough Convictions of Confcience, that ever Men
refitted. And yet in this Moment of Time, fuch

was the Majejly and Innocence of our Gracious So-

vereign, that the People followed him with tears

in their Eyes, and Acclamations in their Mouths.

God Save the King; even then, when the Soldiers

were ready to Fire upon them who did either

look fadly, or fpeak affectionately. And yet it will

appear upon our Evidence too, that fo few of the

very Common Soldiers could be brought to approve

thefe Proceedings, or to cry out Juftice, that their

Officers were fain by Money, or Blows, or both,

to bring a great many to it.

My Lords, The Alton in this tragedy were ma-

ny, very many, fo many, that fure their Name is

Legion, or rather many Legions. And certainly

{my Lords) when we fhall confider the thing that

they have done, we cannot but look upon it as

a Villany which had in it all the Ingredients to

make it deteftable, that it was poffible for the

Counfel of Men, or Devils either, to put together.

But yet, if any Thing can be of a deeper. Dye
Vol. II.

3 1?
than the Guilt of that Sacred Blood, wherewith
they ftand Polluted? methinks their Impudence

fiiould make them more odious than their trect-

fon. It was the Deftru&ion of God's Anointed*,

in the Name of the Lord. It was the Murder
of a moft Bleffed and Beloved Prince, in the Name
of his People. Him whom they had taken the

tranfcendent Boldnefs to imprifon, as the Author
of the War, they put to death,hecmfe he would
have been the Author of our Peace 3 and that

with fo much Sicorn and Indignity, that fome of
them were not afham'd tofpit in the Face of our

Lord and Sovereign. And when they had thus

quenched the Light of Ifrael, Darknefs and Confu-

fion did overfpread the Face of the Land; many
Poor Subjects at Home, and fome Proteftants in Fo-

reign Nations, at the very News of it fell down.

Dead; as if this Excellent King had been in a

Natural as well as a Religious Senfe, the Breath of
our Noftrils, the Anointed of the Lord, who was
taken in their Pits. The Judges, Officers, and o-

ther immediate Actors in this pretended Court,

were in Number about Fourfcore, of thefe fome
Four or Five and Twenty are Dead, and gone tq

their own Place. The God of Recompences hath

taken the Matter fo far into his own Hands ; and
who knows but that it might be one dreadful

Part of his Vengeance that they died in Peace $

Some Six or Seven of them, who were thought
to have finned with lefs Malice, have their Lives

fpared indeed, but are like to be brought to a fe-

vere Repentance by future Penalties. Some Eigh-
teen or N ineteen have fled from Juftice, and wan-
derto and fro about the World with the Mark of
Cain upon them, and perpetual trembling, left e-

very Eye that fees them, and every Hand that

meets them, fhould fall upon them. Twenty
Nine Perfons do now expect your Juftice. A*
mongft them the firft that is brought is the Pri-

foner at the Bar, and he deferves to be the Firft;

for if any Perfon now left alive ought to beftyl'd

the Conductor,Leader,and Captain of all thisWork,
that's the Man. He (my Lord) brought the King
up a Prifoner from Windfor, but how, and in what
Manner, with how little Duty, nay, with how
little Civility, to a Common Perfon, you will hear

in Time. He Sat upon him, Sentenced him, he
Sign'd the Warrant firft to call that Court toge-

ther, then the Bloody Warrant to cut off his Sa-

cred Head. Againft him, as againft all the reftS,

our Evidence will be of Two Sorts ; Witneffes

Viva voce, that fhall firft prove to your Lordflnps

that every Perfon now in Qucftion did fit in that

Court, when their King flood as a Prifoner at the

Bar. We fhall prove that the Precept by which
this pretended Court was fummon'd, was not o-

beyed and executed, till it had had the Hands and
Seals of moft of the pretended Judges ; among
the reft the Hand of the Prifoner at the Bar will

be found there. We fhall prove his Hand to the

Bloody Warrant for fevering the Sacred Head of

our Bleffed Sovereign from the Body, and then

fome Circumftances of his Malice, and of his De-
meanour. And after we have done with our Wit-
neffes Viva voce, if we. have Occafion to ufe

Records of Parliament, we fhall fhew them too^

for we have the Originals, or Authentick Co-

pies. But now we fhall proceed to our Evi-

dence.

Proclamation was made for Silence.

Sir Edward turner. My Lords, the Service of

-this Day doth call .to my Memory the Story ofgood

S f2 '
* King
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King Araaziah. We read in Holy Writ, that his Fa-

ther, JT/wgJoafh, was murthered, and mnrtheredby

his own Subjects', but we readfurther, that when

Amaziab. had regained the Crown, was fettled in the

Government, heflew thofe who flew his Father. He
did go down into Edom, the Valley of Salt, and

there he did flay ten Thou/and. the Work of this

Day doth very much refemble that Action. Our Good

and Gracious King, his Father of Bleffed Memory,

and our Father, his Natural, and our Politick Fa-

ther, to whom our Natural Allegiance was due, was

murthered, and by his own Subjects. But, my
Lords, this was not a National Crime ; and our

Good and Gracious Sovereign hath done us that Ho-

nour and Right to vindicate us in Foreign Nations ;

and now he is come Home in Power and Glory, he

does continue in ikefame Mind: That's the Reafon

we are not now flain by thoufands, but that thofe

Mifcreants are gathered up here and there that did

commit the Offence, and wouldhave involved the Na-
tion in a comfnon Infamy.

Gentlemen of the Jury, Tour time to enquire of

this Matter is precious, moreprecious than my Words,

elfe I would repeat to you the Hiftory of that Tra-

gedy, at leafl that Summary that was entred in the

Black Book, or ^ Journals of that they then cal-

led a Parliament. It fhall Juftice to tell you, and

that mofl truly, that it was but an handful of Men
in refpecl of the whole Nation, that did contrive and

defign this damnable and traitorous Plot, to fubvert

j&eLaws, and change //^Government of this well-

govern 'd Nation. In Profecution of which they did

caft abroad, and fpread forth, Jefuitical Maxims,
Damnable and Diabolical Principles, to intoxicate

the People ; and when their Heads were troubled,

they were eafily led into Arms, where afterfome time

they grew drunk with Succeffes ; and when they had

drunk too much of the Loyal Blood of the People,

then tbey thirfled for the Royal Blood alfo. I do

confefs we read in Stories that Rings have before this

time been murthered; fome in our Nation, as King

Richard the Second, and Edward the Third; and

in other Nations. But the Actors of thofe Murthers

were modeft to thefe. They did it in Private, thefe

in the Face of the Sun, and the People , but it was
thofe People, Gentlemen, they had corrupted with

Shares in their Robberies and Villanies. They pre-

tended it was in a Way of Juftice ; but you muft

know no Juftice can be executed upon the Perfon of

the King. Touch not mine Anointed, faith God

himfelf.

My Lords, I do read in the Roman Story, that

both amongfl them, and other Nations, there was
no Law againft Parricide. // was not thought that

any Man was fo Unnatural and Devilifh to deftroy

his Father. But we do find among the RomansyWj
a Fact was committed, and then they were at a Lofs

to punifh it. The Way was this that was found
out ; the Offender they fezved into a Mail of Lea-

ther, fo clofe that no Water could get in ; when they

had done, they threw him into the Sea ; by this de-

noting, the Offender was not worthy to tread upon

the Ground, nor to breathe in the Air, nor to

have the Benefit of any of the Four Elements, nor

the Ufe of any of God's Creatures, and fo beftar-

ved.

Gentlemen, Parricide and Regicide differ not in

Nature, but in Degree. Parricide is the killing of

the Father of one, or a few Perfons; Regicide

the killing the Father of a Country. What Punifh-

ment then is fuitable to this Offence ? Gentlemen,

the Prifoner at the Bar is accus'd of this Offence,

and now to be tried by you : But before we enter

upon the Evidence, I muft, with the Leave of the

Court, inform you, that though the Indictment con'

tains many Circumftances and Gradations in the

treafon, yet the Imagining and Compaffing the

Death of our late Sovereign, is the treafon to which

we fhall apply our Evidence} this being, both by the

Common-Law, and by the Statute of the zyth of

Edward the \d, the Principal Treafon to be enqui-

red of. And the other Circumftances in the Indict-

ment are but fo many Matters to prove the Overt-

Ad:, the Confultations, the Affuming Power to Try

and Condemn the King, the Affault upon him, and

the Fatal Blow that was given him, are but fo

many Demonfirations, and open Aels, proving the

firfi Treafonable Defign of the Heart.

It will be enoughfor you, and fo my Lords will

tell you, if we provethe Treafon itfelf, which is the

Compaffing and Imagining the Death of the King,

though we fail in fome of the Circumftances laid

in the Indictment. I do not fpeak this as if we
fhould fail in any ; but it is not neceffary to prove

them all ; if weprove any, you are to find the Prifo-

ner Guilty. I am not willing to hold your Lordfhips

too long in the Porch, but defire to defend into the

Body of the Bufinefs ; andfo we fhall call our Wit-
neffes, and doubt not but to prove, that this Man
at the Bar was the firfi, and not the leaf, of thefe

Offenders.

Mr. George Mafterfon was called.

Mr. Harrifon. When I was before your Lordftoips

Tefterday, I offered fomething very material, in re-

ference to the Jurisdiction of the Court j but you

told me according to the Rule, / muft plead Guilty,

or Not Guilty ; and what I had to offer fhould be

heard in its proper Place. I now defire to know,
whether it be proper now to deliver myfelfi, before

you proceed to the calling of Witneffes, for I would
go the beft Way, and would not willingly di/pleafe

you.

Lord ChiefBaron. What was promifedyou Ye-
fterday God forbid but you fhould have it. But
I think it will be beft for you to hear the Evi-
dence, and then what you have to fay you fliall

be fully heard.

Mr. Harrifon. / am content.

Whereupon George Mafterfon, Stephen Kirk,

Francis Hearn, William Clark, Robert Coytmore,

and James Nutley, were called, and Sworn.
Council. Mr. Mafterfon, whether did the Prifo-

ner at the Bar fit in that which they called the

High Court of Juftice, to Sentence the King, or

no? Pray tell my Lords, and the Jury thereof,

and what elfe you know of the Matter.

Mr. Mafterfon. Upon the Oath I have taken,

(my Lords, and Gentlemen of the Jury,) I faw

the Prifoner, tho. Harrifon, fit in that which
they called the High Court of Juftice, upon the

27th Day of January, in the Year 1648, to Sen-

tence the King.

Council. Was it the Day the Sentence was
paffed againft the King?

Mr. Mafterfon. It was the Day of the Sentence,

the 17th of Jan. 1648.

Council. Can you fay any Thing elfe ?

Mr. Mafterfon. I do (Sir) further remember,
that when the Clerk of the Court (as he was
called) read the Sentence againft the King, and

faid, it was the Sentence of the whole Court, I

faw the Prifoner at the Bar, together with o-

thers, ftand up, to my Apprehenfion, as affent-

ing to it.

Council.
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Council. Was there not Direction that all

fliould Hand upas Aflenting?

Mr. Mafterfon. I do not know that ; but

when the bentence was read feveral of them did

Hand up, and he among the reft, as Aflenting

to the Sentence, as the Spectators underftood.

Council. Mr. Clark, What do you fay to the

fame Qyeftion ?

Mr. Clark. My Lords and Gentlemen of the

Jury, I remember I faw the Prifoner at the Bar

fit feveral times in the Court of Juftice, as they

called it; particularly on the z$d and 27th of

January, 1648, as I took Notice of it in a Book.
Council. Was that the Day of the Sentence?
Mr. Clark. Yes, my Lord.

Council. What fay you to that of the riling of
thofe Perfons in the Court ?

Mr. Clark. I remember they all rofe, but I

did not take particular Notice then of the Pri-

foner.

Council. Mr. Kirk, You hear the Queftion.

Did you fee the Prifoner at the Bar in Weftmin-

fter-Hall, fitting upon the Bench in that which
they called the High Court of Juftice^ when the

King flood Prifoner at the Bar there?

Mr. Kirk. My Lord, I did fee the Prifoner at

the Bar fit feveral Days in that which they called

the High-Court of Juftice. I was there every Day
of their Sitting.

Council. Do you remember he was there on
the 17th of Jan. 1648?

Mr. Kirk. I do, Sir.

Council. Tell the Jury what was the Work
there.

Mr. Kirk. It was Sentence. I did take the

Names of all thofe Gentlemen that did appear in

the Court on that Day, the 2.7th of Jan. 1648,
and among the reft I took a Note of that Gen-
tleman's Name, as b< ing prefent.

Council. Whereas thefe Gentlemen (Mr. Ma-
fierfon and Mr. Clark) have declared, that, as

Aflenting to the Sentence, they all ftood up-,

did you fee them (land? And whether by Direc-

tion, or no

Mr. Kirk. As for the Direction I know no-

thing of it; but the Members then prefent in

the Court, (after Sentence was read,) as far as

my Eyes could perceive, ftood up unanimoufly,

1 fuppofe, as Aflenting to the Sentence.

Court. Mr. Nut ley. Did you know the Prifo-

ner at the Bar? Have you feen him fit in Weft-

minfter-Hall at any Time upon the Bench when
the King was brought as a Prifoner to the Bar?

Mr. Nutley. My Lords, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, I faw the Prifoner at the Bar feveral Days
fit there, amongft the reft of the Judges, as a

Judge, I fuppofe. To the beft of my Remem-
brance he fat there Four Days together.

Court. Was he thereupon the Day ofthe Sen-

tence?

Mr. Nutley. I did take Notes, my Lord, that

Day in the Court, and I find he did fit that Day.
Court. Do you know any thing more of the

Prifoner at the Bar.

Mr. Nutley. Thus much I know concerning

the Prifoner at the Bar, my Lord. The firft Day
they fat in Publick was (as I remember) the zoth

of Jan 1648; fome few Days afore that, there

was a Committee that fat in the Exchequer-Cham-
ber, and of that Committee the Prifoner at the

Bar was one of the Members. I do remember
well it was in the Evening} they were Lighting

3*7
of Candles, they were fomewhat private. This
Gentleman was there, I faw him j for through
the Kindnefs of Mr. Phelps, who was then Clerk
to that Committee, I was admitted, pretending

firft to fpeak with the faid Mr. Phelps, and that

I had fome Bufincfs with him, andfo (as I faid

before) I was admitted into the Committee-
Chamber : Being there, I did obferve fome Paf-

fages fall from the Prifoner at the Bar ; the

Words were to this Purpofe : He was making a

Narrative of fome Difcourfes that paffed between
his late Majefty and himfelf in coming between
Wind/or and London, or Hurfi-Cafile, 1 know not
well whether. My Lord, that Paffage that I

obferved to fall from him in that Difcourfe was
this : He faid, That the King, as he fat in the

Coach with him, was importunate to know
what they intended to do with him.

Mr. Harrifon. In the Coach was it?

Mr. Nutley. Yea, Sir, it was in the Coach.
He told the reft of the Company (as I faid be^

fore) that the King asked, What do they intend to

do with me ? Whether to Murther me, or no ? And
I faid to him, There was no fuch Intention as to

kill him, we have no fuch thoughts. But (faith he)

the Lord hath referved you for a Publick Example

of Juftice. There is one Word more, my Lords,

and that is this, which I heard from this Pri-

foner at the Bar. The Reafon and End of their

Meeting together at that Committee was concern-

ing the Charge. So much I obferv'd. It was
concerning the Contracting of the Impeachment.

I obferv'd that fome found fault with the Length
of that, as it was drawn. They were offering

fome Reafons to Contract it, and I heard this

Prifoner at the Bar vent this Exprefiion, Gentle-

men, it will be good for us to Blacken him what we
can; pray let us Blacken him: Or Words to that

purpofe. I am fure Blacken was his Word.
Mr. Windham, Mr. Nutley, you fpeak of an

Impeachment. Againft whom was that Impeach-

ment ?

Mr. Nutley. It was againft his late Majefty the

King.
Council. And it was to draw up that Impeach-

ment fo as to Blacken him. Was it fo ?

Mr. Nutley. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Coytmore Sworn.

Mr. Windham. Did you fee the Prifoner at

the Bar fitting in that which they call'd the

High-Court of Juftice on that Day when the King
was Sentenced, or at any other Time ? Pray tell

my Lords and the Jury.

Mr. Cotymore. My Lords, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, I was in that which they called the

High-Court of Juftice Three or Four Times. L

faw this Gentleman either once or twice fitting

there.

Council. Do you know any Thing more?
Cotymore. No really: I came only to hear and

fee what they were doing, and 1 did there fee

him, I think, feveral Days; I am fure once.

Council. Did you fee him on the Seven and
Twentieth of January 1648, fitting theie, which
was the Day of the Sentence ?

Cotymore. I cannot call that to Memory.
Council. Do you know of any Exprefftons that

the King fhould be an Example of Judgment ?

Cotymore. No, my Lords.

Mr. Windham. My Lords, in the next Place

we fhall fhew that lnftrument that was made
under the Hand and Seal of the Prifoner at the

Bar,
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Bar, as well as others, for Execution of the

King, that Bloody Warrant. But firft we will

ask this Witnefs another gfjteftion.

Council. Did you fee the Prifoner at the Bar

fit on the Bench as an ordinary Spectator, or as

one of the Judges ?

Cotymore. He was in the Court, fitting among
the reft of the Judges, as one of them.

Mr. Solicitor. My JLords, we will prove that

this Prifoner at the Bar was one of them that

took upon him the conducting of the King, and

that the King was in his Cuftody i and to the

High Court of Juftice alfo.

The Lord Newburgh Sworn.

Council. Pray, my Lord, give your fclf the

Trouble to raife your Voice, and to tell my
Lords and the Jury what you know of the Pri-

foner at the Bar •, the Part that he aclred in bring-

ing up the King.
Lord Newburgh. / was then living at his Ma-

jefty
1

s Lodge at Bagfhot, when the Prifoner at the

Bar brought the King from Hurft-Caftle to Lon-
don. He was the Perfon that commanded the whole

Party j and when the King by the Way went to

Dinnery by his Orders there were Centries fet at

every Door where he was. When the King had
dined he carried him to Windfor, and appointed

feveral of his Officers to ride clofe to the King, as he

was riding, left he Jhould make his Efcape from

Council. That was an Imprifonment itfelf, and
fo a Treafon.

Mr. Windham. My Lords,- we fhall now pro-

duce to you Two Inftruments which were made,
the one for Convening and Summoning the

Affembling of that which they called the High-

Court of Juftice, and fhew this Prifoner's Hand
and Seal to that, and then fhew you likewife

that which was the Confummating of al!, that

Bloody Warrant for Execution of his late Majefty
of Bleffed Memory, with the Hand and Seal of the

Prifoner at the Bar unto it amongft others.

Mr. Solicitor. My Lords, it will be fit before

this to give you an account how we came by
thefe Inftruments.

Mr. Jeffop Sworn.

Council. Shew to Mr. Jeffop the Warrant for

fummoning that Court.

Mr. Solicitor. Mr. Jeffop, pray tell my Lords
and the Jury how you came by that Inftrument

you have in your Hand.
Mr. Jeffop. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, I

having the Honour to attend the Houfe of Com-
mons, the Houfe was pleafed to make an Order

*hat Mr. Scobell fhould deliver into my Hands
all fuch Books and Records, Papers, and other
Things, as did belong to the Houfe of Commons

;

and in Purfuance to that Order I did receive a-

mongft other Things this Inftrument; as a Thing
that had been formerly in his Hands, as Clerk of
the Houfe of Commons.

Mr. Solicitor. We defire it may be read, my
Lords.

Court. Pray firft prove his Hand.
Mr. Harrifon. 1 defire to know what is offered

to be read.

Court. It is a Warrant that you Sealed a-

mongft other pretended Judges of your High-
Court of Juftice (as you call'd it) for Trial of the
King, and for fummoning that Court.

Council. Mr. Kirk, have you feen the Hand-
writing ofthe Priibner at any Time ?

Mr. Kirk. I have very often feen it, and am
well acquainted with it, and fo far as it is poffi-
ble a Man can can teftify touching the Hand of
another Perfon, I do verily believe this to be his
Hand.

Council. How came you to be acquainted with
his Hand ?

Mr. Kirk. As he was a Member of the Houfi
of Commons, and my Employment having relation
thereto, I have feen him fet his Hand feveral
Times.

Mr. Farrington Sworn.
Council. Do you believe that this is the Hand*

writing of the Prifoner at the Bar? [7fo Inftru-
ment beingfhewed him.~\

Mr. Farrington. I did not fee him write ir,

my Lords, but I believe it to be his, for I have
often feen his Hand-writing. It is his Hand fo
far as poflibly a Man can know any Perfon's
Hand that did not fee him write.
Mr. Harrifon. / defire to fee the Inftrument.

Which being fhew'd to him, he faid, / believe
it is my own Hand.

Council. That's the Warrant for Summoning
that Court that he owns his Hand to.

Court. Shew him the other Inftrument.
That being for Execution of the Sentence } it

being fhew'd him.

Mr. Harrifon. I do think this is my Hand too.

Council. If you think it, the Jury will not
doubt it. That's the Bloody Warrant for Execu-
tion j and we defire they may be both read.
Mr. Harrifon. My Lords, do thefe Learned Gen-

tlemen offer thefe as being any Records ?

Council. No, but as your own Hand-writing.
Mr. Harrifon. Ifyou do not read it as a Record,

/ hope your Lordfhips will not admit of any thing

of that kind againft me.

Council. He knows that a Letter under his
Hand and Seal may be read in a Court. We do
not offer it as a Record, but prove it by Wit-
nefies that it is your Hand-writing.

Court. You have confefTed thefe to be your
Hands. Whether they are Records, or no j whe-
ther Prf/x?™, ox Letters, they may be read againft
you. You Sign'd the Warrant for Convening to-
gether thofe which you call'd the High-Court of
Juftice, and you Sign'd the other Warrant for
putting the King to Death. You do confefs
thefe Two Things. We do not fee what fur-

ther Ufe may be made of them.
Court. You might obferve how the Indiclment

was for the Imagining, Compaffmg, and Contriving
the King's Death. To prove that, there muft be
fome Overt-Acl; and a Letter under the Party's
Hand is a -fufficient Overt-At! to prove fuch
Imagination ; to that End thefe are ufed.

Mr. Harrifon. I do not come to be denying any
Thing that in my own Judgment and Confcience I
have done or committed, but rather to be bringing it

forth to the Light.

Court. • Sir, you muft underftand this by the
way, this you muft take along with you, that
thefe are read, not as any Thing of Authority in

j

themfelves, or as us'd to any other Purpofe, but
as an Evidence of the Fad againft you: Take
that along with you.

{The Two Bloody Warrants for Trial, and for

Execution of his Majefty, •were hare read., the

UtW of which isasfotioweth.)

At
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At the High-Court of JuPnce for the

'Trying and fudging of Charles

Stuart, King of England, Jan. 29.

1648.

'Hereas Charles Stuart, King of England,

is and ttandeth Convicted, Attainted, and

Condemned, of High-Treafon, and other High
Crimes ; and Sentence upon Saturday laft was pro-

nounced againfl him by this Court, to be put

to Death, by the Severing his Head from his Bo-
dy, of which Sentence Execution yet remaineth

to be done ; Thefc are therefore to will and re-

quire you to fee the faid Sentence executed in the

open Street before White-hall upon the Morrow,
being the 50th Day of this Inftant Month of Ja-
nuary, between the Hours of Ten in the Morn-
ing and Five in the Afternoon of the fame Day,

with full Effe£fc ; and for fo doing this fhall be

your fufficient Warrant. And thefe are to re-

quire all Officers and Soldiers, and other the

good People of this Nation of England, to be

affiffca'nt unto you in this Service. Given under

our Hands and Seals.

To Colonel Francis Hacker, Colonel
Huncks, and Lieutenant-Colonel
Phayre, and every of them.

Sealed and Suhfcrlbed by

'John Brad/haw, Lord
Prefident.

Jo. Hewfon.

Per. Pelharn.

John Dangers.

Mich. Livefay.

Jo. Bourchier.

Hen. Ireton-.

Thomas Grey.

Oliver CromweL
Edward Whalley.

John Okey,

Thomas Pride.

Hen. Smith.

Peter Temple.

Tho. Harrifon.

Jfaac Ewer.

Val. Wauton.
Simon Meyn.

Tho. Horton.

Jo. Jones.

Jo. Moor.

Hardrefs Waller.

Gilbert Millington.

Geo. Fleetwood.

Jo. Alured.

Rob. Lilburn.

Will Say.

Rich. Dean.

Rob. Tichboum.

Hum. Edwards.
Dan. Blagrave.

Owen Roe.

Will. Puefroy.

Thomas Maleverer.

Jo. Blikeffone.

Jo. Hiitchinjon.

Will. Goff.

Adrian Scroop.

James Temple.

Aug. Garland.

Edmund Ludlow.

Hen. Marten.

Vincent Potter.

Will. Conftable.

Rich. Ingoldsby.

Will. Cawley.

Job. Barkfiead.

Anth. Stapeley.

Greg. Norton.

Tho. Challoner.

Tho. Wogan.

Jo. Ven.

Greg. Clement,

J». Downs.
Tho. Wayt.
Tho. Scot.

Jo. Carew.

Miles Corbet.

Mr. Windham. Gentlemen of the Jury, We
have done our Evidence ; and you muff know,
Gentlemen, that the Principal Point of the Indict-

ment is for Comparing, Imagining, and Contriving
the Death of his late Majefty of Glorious Memo-
ry. There lyes the Treafon; fo fays the Statute
of the 27th Ed. III. It hath nothing of Killing

the King there, but of Imagining and Compajfmg

the Death of the King. The going about it,

that's the Treafon, as hath been learnediy open-
ed to you j the reft are but Overt-Alls : If there

be fuch an Imagination or Compajjing the Death
of the King once declared, though no Fruit at

all follow, it is Treafon. Here certainly you
have a very fall Evidence given. We fhew you
a Confutation, this is one Overt-AH, which would
do the Work if there were nothing clfe. I
mufl tell you (and that with Submiffion to my
Lords, the Jufiices) if they had advifed, and gone
no further, that had been Treafon in the Letter

of the Law. They conven'd and met together,

and fuppofe then they had abfolved and acquit-

ted him, do you think they had abfolved them-
folves from Treafon ? With Reverence be it

fpoken, if they had acquitted him, they had been
Guilty of Treafon. Affuming a Power to put
the King to Death is an Overt- At! declaring fuch
an Imagination. You fee this Prifoner was no
ordinary Actor in it , his Hand is in at all Games.
Taking of him, Imprifoning of him, bringing
him to London, and Setting Guards on him.
You fee atfo his Malice, let us Blacken him; for

they knew his Innocency would fhirie forth, un-
lefs it was Blackened by their Imputations. He
Sate many Times, as you hear, and Sentenced

him, and affented to that Sentence by {landing

up, and likewife by concluding the Catajlrophe

of that fad beginning of Sufferings, his making
a Warrant for his Execution; and accordingly

you know what did follow : I think a clearer

Evidence of a Fatl can never be given than is for

thefe Things.

[Here the Spectators Humm'tF]
Lord Chief Baron. Gentlemen, this Humming

is not at all becoming the Gravity of this Court.

Let there be Free Speaking by the Prifoner and
Council It is more fitting for a Stage- Play than
for a Court of Juflice.

Mr. Harrifon. // is now Time, my Lords, to

offer what I have to fay. Have thefe Learned Gen-

tlemen offered what they willfay?
Council. We have no more till he hath given

us Occafion ; not for Evidence of the Fatl. Mr.
Harrifon. My Lords, the Matter that hath

been offer'd to you, as it was touch'd, was not a

Thing done in a Corner. I believe the Sound
of it hath been in moft Nations. I believe the

Hearts of fome have felt the Terrors of that

Prefence of God that was with his Servants in

thofe Days, (however it feemeth good to him
to fuffcr this Turn to come on us,) and are Wit-
neffes that the Things were not done in a Corner.

I have defired, as in the Sight of him that

fearcheth all Hearts, whilft this hath been done,

to wait, and receive from him Convictions upon
my own Conference, tho 1 have fought it with

Tears many a Time, and Prayers over and over,

to that God to whom you and all Nations are

lefs than a Drop of Water of the Bucket; and

to this Moment I have receiv'd rather Affurancc

of it, and that the Things that' have been dons

as aftonifhing on one Hand, I do believe e'er it

be long it will be made known from Heaven,

there was more from God than Men are aware

of. I do profefs that I would not offer of

myfelf the leaft Injury to the poorelt Man
or Woman that goes upon the Earth. That I

have humbly to offer is this to your Lordfhips j

you know what a Conteff. hath been in thefe

Nations for many Years. Divers of thofe that

fie
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fie upon the Bench were formerly as active-

Court. Pray Mr. Harrilon do not thus reflect

on the Court. This is not the Buftnefs.

Mr. Harrifon. 1 follow'd noc my own Judg-
ment ; I did what I did as out of Confcience to

the Lord ; for when I found thofe that were as

the Apple of mine Eye to turn afide, 1 d:d

loath them, and fuffer'd Imprifonment many
Years. Rather than to turn as many did, that

did put their Hands to this Plough, I chofe ra-

ther to be fepa rated from Wife and Family than

to have Compliance with them, tho it was faid,

Sit at my Right-hand, and fuch kind Expreffions.

Thus 1 have given a little poor Teftimony that

I have not been doing Things in a Corner, or from

myfelf. May be I might be a little miftaken,

but I did it all according to the bed of my Un-
derftanding, deliring to make the Revealed Will

of God in his Holy Scriptures as a Guide to me.

I humbly conceive that what was done, was done

in the Name of the Parliament of England, that

what was done was done by their Power and

Authority ; and I do humbly conceive it is my
Duty to offer unto you in the Beginning that

this Court, or any Court below the High-Court

of Parliament, hath no Jurifdi&ion of their A-
£tions. Here are many Learned in the Law, and

to fhprten the Work, I defire I may have the

Help of Council Learned in the Laws, that may
in this Matter give me a little Affiftance, to offer

thofe Grounds that the Law of the Land doth

offer. I fay what was done was done by the

Authority of the Parliament, which was then

the Supreme Authority, and that thofe that have

acted under them are not to be queftioned by any

Power lefs than them. And for that I conceive

there is much out of the Laws to be fhewed to

you, and many Precedents alfo in the Cafe. Much
is to be offered to you in that} according to the

Laws of the Nations that was a due Parliament.

Thofe Commiflions were iffued forth, and what

was done was done by their Power j and whereas

it hath been faid we did affume and ufurp an

Authority, I fay this was done rather in the Fear

of the Lord.

Court. Away with him. Know where you are,

Sir j
you are in the Affembly of Chriflians ; will

you make God the Author of your Treafons and

JVlurthers? Take heed where you are. Chriflians

muft not hear this. We will allow you to fay for

your own Defence what you can } and we have

with a great deal of Patience fuffer'd you to fally

out, wherein you have not gone about fo much
for Extenuation of your Crimes, as to juftifie

them, to fall upon others, and to Blafpheme

God, and commit a New Treafon : For your

having of Council, this is the Reafon for allow-

ing of Council, when a Man would Plead any

Thing, becaufe he would Plead it in Formality,

Council is allowed. But you muft firft fay in

what the Matter fhall be, and then you fhall have

the Court's Anfwer.

Lord Finch. Tho my Lords here have been

pleafed to give you a great Latitude, this muft

not be fuffered, that you mould run into thefe

damnable Excurfions, to make God the Author

of this damnable Treafon committed.

Mr. Harrifon. I have Two Things to offer to

you, to fay for my Defence in Matter of Lain.

One is, That this that hath been done was done

by a Parliament of England, by the Commons of

England Affembled in Parliament ; and that be-

ing fo, whatever was done by their Commands
or their Authority, is not queftionable by your
Lordjhips, as being (as I humbly conceive) a
Power Inferior to that of High- Court of Par-
liament ; that's One. A Second is this, That
what therefore, any did in Obedience to that

Power and Authority, they are not to be que-
flioned for it ; otherwife we are in a mod
miferable Condition, bound to obey them that

are in Authority, and yet to be punifhed if o-
beyed. We are not to judge what is Lawful, or
what is unlawful. My Lords, upon thefe Two
Points I do defire that thofe that are Learned in

the Laws may fpeak to on my Behalf. It concerns
all my Country-men. There are Cafes alike to
this, you know, in King Richard the Second's

Time, wherein lome Queilion had been of what
had been done by a Parliament ; and what fol-

lowed upon it I need not urge in it. I hope it

will feem good to you that Council may be af-

figned, for it concerns all my Country-men.
Council. You are miftaken ifyou appeal to your

Country-men i they will cry you out, and fharae

you.

Mr. Harrifon. May be fo, my Lords, fome-will,

but I am fure others will not.

Mr. Solicitor Gen. Thefe Two Points, my
Lords, are but One, and they are a New Trea-
fon at the Bar, for which he deferves to Die, if

there were no other Indiclment, It is the Malice
of his Heart to the Dignity and Crown of Eng-

land. I fay this is not Matter for which Council

can be affigned. Council cannot put into Form
that which is not Matter Pleadable itfelf. It is

fo far from being true, that was the A£t of

the Supreme Parliament of the People of Eng-
land, that there was nothing receiv'd with more
Heart-bleeding than this Bloody Bufinefs. But
that the World may not be abufed by the Infi-

nuations of a Man, who ads as if he had a Spi-

rit, and in truth is poffefs'd, I will fay, that the

Lords and Commons are not a Parliament j that

the King and Lords cannot do any Thing with-

out the Commons ; nor the King and Commons
without the Lords; nor the Lords and Commons
without the Kingy efpecially againft the King.

If they do, they muft anfwer it with their

-

Head ; for the King is not accountable to any

Coerceive Power. And for the Prifoner to ju-

ftifie his aft, as if it were the Aft of the Com-

mons of England, he is very much to be reproved

:

Shall he pretend that One Houfe, nay, the Eighth

part of a Houfe, (for fo it was,) can condemn a

King, when both Houfes cannot condemn One
Man in fpight of the King ? I defire, my Lords9

it may pafs with a due Reproach, and a Sentence

upon it.

Lord Chief Baron. It is true, your Queftions

are but One Point. You pretend the Parlia-

ment's Authority, and when you come to fpeak

of it, you fay the Commons of England. They
were but One Houfe of Parliament. The Par-

liament, what is that ? It is the King, the Lords,

and the Commons. I would fain know of you

where ever you read, by the Light you fay you

have in your Confcience, that the Commons of

England were a Parliament of England, that the

Commons in Parliament us'd a Legiflativc Power
alone. Do you call that a Parliament that fat

when the Houfe was Purged, as they call it, and

was fo much under the Awe of the Army, who
were then but Forty, or Forty-five at moft?

Then
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Then you fay it was done by Authority of them.

You mull know where there is fuch an, Autho-

rity, (which indeed is no Authority,) he that

confirms fuch an Authority, he commits a dou-

ble Offence-, therefore confider what your Plea

is. If your Plea were doubtful, we fhould, and

ought, and would, our felves be of Council for

you. That which you fpeak concerning Con-

vitlion of your own Conference, remember that it

is faid in Scripture, that they jhall think they did

God good Service when they flay you, as it is in

St. John. He hath a great deal of Charity that

thinks that what you did was out of a Confci-

entious Principle ; it was againft the Light of

Noon-day and common Practice. You make
yourfelf a Solicitor in the Bufinefs. Let us Blacken

him as much as we can. I have not touched at all

upon the Evidence, I will not urge it now. I

fay you juftifie it upon ConviUions of Confcience,

and pretend it upon Auhorky ; a Thing never

known or feen under the Sun, that the Commons,

nay a few Commons alone, fhould take upon them,

and call themfelves the Parliament of England.

"We have been cheated enough by Names and

Words i there is no Colour for what you fay. I

do think and hope my Brethren will fpeak to this

Cafe, that none of us do own that Convention,

whatfoever it be, to be the Parliament of Eng-

land. There was another Aggravation j at this

Time that this pretended Authority ufurped that

Power, the Lords were then fitting. You had

not taken this ufurp'd Power to diffolve thofe

Lords. No ; you did this \£k in Defpight of

the Lords ; you had fent up an Ordinance to the

Lords, and they rejected it, and thereupon thefe

Members took it upon themfelves ; Amongft
thofe there were fome Negatives, and thofe Mem-
bers were under the Awe and Power of your

Forces at that Time. What you plead, the

Court are of Opinion tends to the Subverfion of

the Lawsj for you to ufurp Power over the Peo-

ple without their Confents, to call this the Peo-

ple, we never knew the like before ; but the

Parliament of England was the King, Lords and

Commons. For you to fpeak of this Power, and

juftifie this Power, is an Aggravation, adding one

Sin and Treafon to another. We fhall tell you,

that neither both Houfes of Parliament, if they

had been there, not any fwgle Perfon, Communi-

ty, not the People, either collectively, or reprefen-

tatively, had any Colour to have any Coercive

Power over their King. And this Plea which
you have fpoken of, it ought to be over-ruled,

and not to ftand good.

Mr. Annefley. 1 do the more willingly fpeak to

this Bufinefs, becaufe I was one of thofe that

fhould have made up that Parliament that this

Prifoner pretends to. I was one of that Corrupt

Majority (as they call'd it) that were put out of the

Houfe. He cannot forget that at that Time
there were Guards upon both Houfes of Parlia-

ment to attend them, that were of their own Ap-
pointment ; and that thofe Guards were forcibly

removed by the Prifoner at the Bar, and his Fel-

lows, and other Guards put there, who inftead

of being a Defence unto them when thofe Com-
mons flood at the Door, were by them threatned.

Yet the Lords and Commons of England in Par-
liament AfTembled, a full Houfe of Commons, did

refolve, notwithftanding what was aforefaid, that

the Treaty in the lfle of Wight was a Ground for
Peace. Afterwards the major part of the Houfe
Vol. II.

of Commons having refolved on this, fent it up
to the Lords; that very Day when they were
Adjourned there were Forces drawn down to the

Houfe of Commons Door, and none fuffered to

come into the Houfe but thofe that they pleafed.

All thofe that had a Mind for Peace, that minded
their Duty, and Truft, and Allegiance to their

King, were feized on by this Gentleman and his

Fellows. When this was done, what did he and
thofe Fellow do ? They fat and put a Check
upon all thofe that fhould come in. None mufl
come in but thofe that would renounce their Al-
legiance and Duty to their King and the People,
for whom they ferved, and then declar'd againft

that Vote which had been pafTed upon Debate
of twelve or Fourteen Hours ; and then to call

this an Houfe of Commons, nay, the Supreme Au-
thority of the Nation, he knows is againft the
Laws of the Land. For the Houfe of Commons
alone cannot fo much as give an Oath. It hath
not Power of Judicature of Life and Death :

This he knows well to be according to the Laws
of England. He knows that no Authority lefs

than an Abl of Parliament can make a Law ; and
he knows an Acl of Parliament muft be paffed

by the King, Lords, and Commons. I wonder
much to hear a Jultification in this kind by one
that knows the Laws of England fo well. There
will none of the Court allow that that was a
Parliament : The Majority of the Houfe did all

difavow it. Thefe Things have been already

difcourfed of j I fhall only fay, that he knowing
the Laws fo well, I hope he fhall fuffer for

Tranfgreflion thereof.

Mr. Hollis. You do very well know that this

that you did, this horrid, deteftable Acl which
you commicted, could never be perfected by you
till you had broken the Parliameat. That Houfe
of Commons, which you fay gave you Authority,
you know what yourfelf made of it when you
pulled out the Speaker; therefore do not make
the Parliament to be the Author of your Black
Crimes. It was innocent of it. You know your
felf what Efteem you had of it, when you broke
and tore it in funder, when you fcattered, and
made them hide themfelves, to preferve them
from your Fury and Violence : Do not make the

Parliament to be the Author of your Crimes ?

The Parliament are the Three Eftates: It muft
not be admitted that one Houfe, Part of the Par-
liament, fhould be called the Supreme Authority.

You know what that Rump that you left did,

what Laws they made. Did you go home to ad-

vife with your Country that chofe you for that

Place ? You know that no Act of Parliament is

binding but what is Acted by King, Lords, and
Commons : And now as you would make God the

Author of your Offence, fo likewife you would
make the People Guilty of your Opinion; but your
Plea is over- ruled.

yb which the Court affented.

Mr. Harrifon. I was miftaken a little. Whereas
it was faid the Points were one, I do humbly con-

ceive they were not fo. I fay what was done, was
done in Obedience to the Authority. If it were but

an Order of the Houfe of Commons, thus under a

Force, yet this Court is not Judge of that Force. I

fay if it was done by One Eftate of Parliament, it-

is not to be queflioned.

Court. It was not done by One Eftate, they were

but a Part, nay, but an Eighth Part.

Denz. Hollis. It was not an Houfe of Commons j

T t They
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They kept up a Company by the Power of the

Sword : Do not abufe the People, in faying it

was done by the Supreme Power,

Council. My Lord, if it were an Houfe of Com-
mons, neither Houfe of Commons, nor Houfe of

Lords, nor Houfe of Lords and Commons together j

no Authority upon Earth can give Authority for

murthering the King ; this that he alledgeth is

Treafon 3 my Lord, this that is faid is a clear

Evidence of that which is charged ; there is only

this more in it, he hath done it, and if he were
to do it again he would do it.

Lord Chief Baron. It is clear as the Noon-day,
that this was not the Houfe of Commons. Suppofe
it had been an Houfe of Commons and full, and
fuppofe (which far be it from me to fuppofe) they

mould have agreed upon fuch a Murtherous Act;

for the Houfe of Commons to do fuch an Acl, it

was void in itfelf : nay, any Authority without
the Houfe of Lords and King is void. You plead

to the Jurifdiclion of the Courr, whether we
ihould judge it, or no. Yes, I tell you, and pro-

per too : We fhall not fpeak what Power we
have ; the Judges have Power after Laws are

made to go upon the Interpretation of them. We
are not to judge of thofe Things that the Par-
liament do. But when the Parliament is purged,

(as you call it,) for the Commons alone to ad, for

you to fay that this is the Authority of Parliament,

it is that which every Man will fay intrenches

highly upon his Liberty and Privilege : And what
you have faid to your Juftification, what doth it

tend to but as much as this, I did it, jufiifie it,

and would do it again 5 which is a New Treafon.

The greateft Right that ever the Houfe of Com-
mons did claim is but over the Commons. Do they

claim a particular Right over the Lords ? Nay,
over the King ? Make it out if you can, but it

cannot poffibly be made out. What you have faid

doth aggravate your Crimes : It is fuch an Ap-
provement of your Treafon that all Evidences

come fhort of it : King, Lords, and Commons, is

the Ground of the Englijh Law, without that no
del of Parliament binds.

Juftice Mallet. I have been a Parliament-Man
as long as any Man here prefent, and I did never

know or hear that the Houfe of Commons had
Jurifdiclion over any, faving their own Members
which is as much as I will fay concerning the

Parliament, I have heard a Story of a Mute, that

was born, Mute, whofe Father was flain by a

Stranger, a Man unknown. After Twenty Years,

or thereabout, this Mute Man fortuned to fee

the Murtherer of his Father, and thefe were his

Words, Oh / here is he that flew my Father. Sir,

the King is the Father of the Country, Pater

Patria, fo faith Sir Edward Coke. He is Caput
Reipublica, the Head of the Commonwealth. Sir,

what have you done? Here you have cut off the

Head of the whole Commonwealth, and taken
away him that was our Father, the Governour
of the whole Country, This you mail find

Printed and Publifhed in a Book of the greateft

Lawyer, Sir, Edward Coke. I mail not need, my
Lord, to fay more of this Bufmefs. I do hold
the Prifoner's Plea vain and unreafonable, and to
be rejected.

Juftice Hide. I fhall not trouble you with ma-
ny Words. . I am forry that any Man fhould

have the Face and Boldnefs to deliver fuch Words
as you have. You, and all, muft know, that the

King is above the Two Houfes. They muft propofe

their Laws to him : The Laws are made by him,
and not by them j by their Confenting, but they

are his Laws. That which you fpeak as to the

Jurifdiclion, you are here Indicled for High-Tiea-
fon, for you to come to talk of Juftification of

this by Pretence of Authority, your Plea is

naught, illegal, and wicked, and ought not to be

allowed. As to having oft Council, the Court un-

derftand what you are upon \ Council is not to be

allowed in that Cafe, and therefore your Plea
'

muft be over-ruled.

Mr. Juftice Twifden. I fhall agree with that

which many have already faid > only this, you
have eas'd the Jury, you have confefTed the Fact.

I am of the fame Opinion, that you can have

no Council, therefore I over-rule your Plea, if it
j

had been put in never fo good Form and Manner.
Earl of Manchefter. I befeech you, my Lords,

let us go fome other Way to work—

—

Sir William Wild. That which is before us, is:

whether it be a Matter of Law or Facl : For
the Matter of Law, your Lordfhips have de-

clar'd what it is, his Juftification is as high a

;

Treafon as the former. For Matter of Facl, he 1

hath confefs'd it. I befeech you, my Lord, di-

reel: the Jury for their Verdicl. This Gentle-

man hath forgot their Barbaroufnefs ; they would
not hear their King.

Court. No Council can be allowed to Juftifie

a Treafon 5 that this is a Treafon, you are Jn~

dicled by an A£t of the 2fth of Edw. III. That
which you fpeak of the Houfe of Commons, is but

part of the Houfe of Commons; they never did,

nor had any Power, to make a Law, but by

King, Lords, and Commons 5 and therefore your

Plea is naught, and all the Court here is of the

fame Opinion j if they were not they would
fay fo, therefore what you have faid is over-rul'd

by the Court. Have you any Thing elfe to

offer?

Mr. Harrifon. Notwithftanding the Judgment

offo many Learned ones, that the Kings of England
are no ways accountable to the Parliament, the

Lords, and Commons in the Beginning of this War 1

having declared the King's beginning War upon

them j the God of Gods
Court. Do yo render yourfelf fo defperate, that

you care not what Language you let fall ? It muft

not be fuffered.

Mr, Harrifon. I would not willingly fpeak to of-

fend any Man \ but I know God is no Refpec"ter

of Perfons. His fetting up his Standard againfithe

People •

Court. Truly, Mr. Harrifon, this muft not be

fuffered : This doth not at all belong to you.

Mr. Harrifon. Under Favour this both belong to
\

me. I would have abhorred to have brought him to 1

Account, had not the Blood of Englifhmen, that •

had been Jhed.-

Council. Methinks he fhould be fent to Bed-

lam, till he comes to the Gallows to render an Ac-

count of this. This muft not be fuffered. It is

in a Manner a New Impeachment of this King, to

juftifie their Treafons againft his late Majefty.

Mr. Solicitor-General. My Lords, I pray that
j

the Jury may go together upon the Evidence.

Sir Edw. Turner. My Lords, this Man hath the

Plague all over him j it is Pity any fhould fland

near him, for he will infect them. Let us fay

to him as they ufed to write over an Houfe

infected, The Lord have Mercy upon him, and fo

let the Officer taken him away.
Low
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Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Harrifon, we are ready

to hear you again j but to hear fuch Stuff, ic

cannot be differed. You have ipoken that which

is as high a Degree of Blafphemy, next to that

aeainft God, as I have heard. You have made

very ill ufe of thefe Favours that have been al-

lowed you to fpeak ; your own Confcience can-

not but tell you the Contradiction of your A-

ctions againft this that you have heard as the

Opinion of the Court. To extenuate your

Crimes you may go on, but you mull not go as

before.

Mr. Harrifon. I muft not fpeak fo as to be piea-

fing to Men ; but if I muft not have Liberty as an

Englifhman
Court. Pray do not reflect thus •, you have had

Liberty, and more than any Prifoner in your

Condition can expect ; and I with you had made

a good Ufe of it. Keep to the Bufinefs, fay

what you will.

Mr. Harrifon. My Lords, thus ; There was a

Difcourfe by one of the Witneffes that I -was at the

Committee preparing the Charge, and that IJhould

fay, Let us Blacken him. This Thing is utterly un-

'true -, I abhorred the doing of any Thing touching the

Blackening of the King. There was a little Dif-

courfe between the King and my/elf The King had

told me that he had heard that IJhould come private-

ly to the Ifle of Wight to offerfome Injury to him -,

hut I told him I abhorred the Thoughts of it. And

whereas it is faid that my Carriage was hard to him

when I brought him to London, it was not J that

brought him to London, / was commanded by the.

General to fetch him from Hurft-Caftle. / do not

remember any hard Carriage towards him.

Court. Mr. Harrifon, You have faid that you

deny that of Blackening, which the Witnefs hath

Sworn-, and fomewhat elfe touching the King in

his Way to London, that the Witnefs hath Sworn

to alfo. The Jury muft confider of it, both of

their Oaths and your Contradictions . If you have

nothing more to fay, which tends to your Ju-

ftication, we muft direct the Jury. The end

of your Speech is nothing but to infect the Peo-

ple.

Mr. Harrifou. You are uncharitable in that.

Juftice Fojler. My Lords, This ought not to

come from the Bar to the Bench ; if youfdlley out

thus about your Confcience; if your Confidence:

fhould be a darkened Confcience, that muft not

be the Rule of other Men's Actions. What you

fpeak of that Nature is nothing to the Bufinefs.

If you have any thing to fay, by Way of Excufe

for yourfelf for Matter of Fail, you may fpeak :

But if you will go on as before, it muft not be

fuffered.

Mr. Harrifon. The Things that have been done,

have been done upon the Stage, in the Sight of the

Sun

Court. All this is a Continuance of the Jufti-

fication andConfeffion of the Fact. We need no

other Evidence.

Council. He hath confeffed his Fail, my Lords.

The Matter itfelf is Treafon upon Treafon ;

therefore we pray Direction to the Jury.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Harrifon, I muft give

Direction to the Jury, if you will not go further

touching the Fabl.

Mr. Harrifon. My Lords, 1 fay what I did w'as

hy the Supreme Authority. I have faid it before,

and appeal to your own Confciences that this Courts

cannot call me to Queftion.

Vol. II.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Harrifon, you have ap-

pealed to our Confciences. We {hall do that,

which, by the Bleflmg of God, fhall bejuft ; for

which we fhall anfwer before the Tribunal of God.
Pray take heed of an Obdurate, Hard Heart, and
Seared Confcience.

Mr. Harrifon. My Lord?, 1 have been kept fix
Months a Clofe Prifoner, and could not prepare my
felffor this Trial by Council. / have got here fome
Acts of Parliament of that Houfe 0/ Commons,
which your Lordfloips will not own ; and the Pro-
ceedings of that Houfe, whofe Authority I did own.

Lord ChiefBaron. This you have faid already.

If you fhevv never fo many of that Nature they

will not help you : You have heard the Opinion
of the Court touching that Authority. They all

unanimoufly concur in it.

Gentlemen of the Jury, You fee that this Pri-

foner at the Bar is Indicted for Compaffmg, Ima-
gining, and Contriving the Death of our lace So-
vereign Lord, King Charles the Firft, of Bleffed

Memory. In this Indiilment there are feveral

Things given but as Evidences of ic 3 they are

but the Overt- Alls of it. The one is, firft, that

they did meet and confu't together about the put-

ting the King to Death ; and that alone, if no-
thing elfe had been proved in the Cafe, was e-

nough for you to find the Indictment ; for the I-

magination alone is Treafon by the Law. But be-
caufe the Compaffmg and Imagining the Death of
the King is fecret in the Heart, and no Man
knows it but God Almighty, I fay, That the I-

magination is Treafon ; yet it is not fuch as the

Law can take hold of, unlefs it appears by fome
Overt-Abl. Then the firft Overt-Ail is their

Meeting, Confulting, and Propofing to put the King
to Death. The Second is more open ; namely,
their Sitting together, and Affirming an Authority

to put the King to Death. The Third is Sen-

tencing the King. And I muft tell you that any
one of thefe Acts prove the Indictment. If you
find him Guilty but of any one of them, either

Confulting, Propofing, Sitting, or Sentencing (though
there is full Proof for all,) yet notwithftanding

you oughc to find the Indiilment. You have
heard what the Witneffes have faid, and the Pri-

foner's own Ccnfeffion. Witneffes have Sworn
their Sitting together ; and that he was one :

One fwears he fat Four times, another Twice \

tome feveral times. There are feveral Witneffes

for this, as Mr. Maflerfon, Mr. Clark, Mr. Kirk,

and Mr. Nutley. And then you have another
Thingtoo, which truly the Prifoner did not fpeak

of. Witnefs was given againft him, that he was
the Perfon that Conducted the King ; this was
before that which he would have to be done by
a Legiflative Power,a.t\d that is another Overt- Ail.

If a Man will go about to Imprifon the King, the

Law knows what is the fad Effect of fuch Im»
prifonment. That hath often been adjudged to

be an Evidence of Imagining and Compaffmg the

Death of the King. That Man, the Prifoner at

the Bar, it hath been proved to you did Impri-

fon the King ; as appears by his own Hand
to the Warrant for fummoning of that Traito-

rous Affembly, The High Court of Juftice, as they

called it. And alio it appears by his Hand to the

Warrant for Execution: that Bloody Warrant,

He hath been fo far from denying, that he hath

juftifled thefe Actions. The Evidence is fo clear

and pregnant as nothing more. I think you
need not go out,

T t z, The
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T'he Jury went together at the Bar, and prefently

unanimoufly agreed on their Verdict ; whereupon they

were demanded by the Clerk.

Clerk. Are you agreed on your Verdict ?

Jury. res.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. Our Fore-man. (Which was Sir fho. Al-

len.)

Clerk. Thomas Harrifon, Hold up thy Hand.
Gentlemen of the Jury, look upon the Prifoner.

How fay ye? Is he Guilty of the Treafon where-

of he Hands Indicled, and hath been Arraigned ?

Or Not Guilty ?

Fore-man. Guilty.

Then the Keeper was charged to look to the Pri-

foner.

Clerk. What Goods and Chattels had he at the

Time of Committing this Treafon, or at any

Time fithence ?

Fore-man. None to our Knowledge.
Which Verdict being repeated to the Jury by

Mr. Clerk of the Crown, the Jury owned it una-

nimoufly.

Mr. Solicitor-Gen. My Lords, upon this VerdicT;

that hath been given againft the Prifoner at the

Bar I humbly move that we may have Judgment
given.

Your Seffions will be long, and your Work
will be great ; his Demeanour hath been fuch

that he doth not deferve a Reprieve for fo

many Days that you are like to fpend in this

Seffion.

Court. Mr. Harrifon, they defire Judgment up-

on the Verdicl. What do you fay for your felf

why Judgment fhould not pafs againft you ?

Clerk. Thomas Harrifon, hold up thy Hand.
What haft thou to fay for thy felf why Judgment
fhould not pafs againft; thee, to Die according

to Law ?

Mr. Harrifon. I have nothing further to fay, be-

caufe the Court have not feen meet to hear what was
in my Heart to fpeak, IJubmit to it.

The Crier made Proclamation for Silence whilft

Judgment was in giving.

Lord Chief Baron. You that are the Prifoner at

the Bar, you are to pafs the Sentence of Death,

which Sentence is this. The Judgment of this

Court is, and the Court doth award, That you be

led back to the Place from whence you came, and

from thence to be drawn upon an Hurdle to the Place

of Execution, and there you fhall be Hanged by the

Neck, and being Alive fhall be cut down, and your

Privy Members to be cut off, your Entrails to be ta-

ken out ofyour Body, and (you living) the fame to

be Burnt before your Eyes, and your Head to be cut

off, your Body to be divided into Four Quarters, and
Head and Quarters to be difpofed of at the Pleafure

of the King's Majefty, and the Lord have Mercy
upon your Soul.

And then Proclamation was made for Adjourn-

ment of the Court to this Place till Seven of the*

Clock to-morrow Morning ; and all Jury-Men
and Witneffes were Commanded to be at the faid

Place and Time upon Forfeiture of an Hundred
Pounds apiece.

Oclober iz, 1660.

The Proclamation for Slience.

The Jury called.

Prifoners brought to the Bar, viz.

John Jones, Adrian Scroop, Thomas Scot, Gre-
gory Clemenl, John Carew.

Crier. Sir Thomas Allen.

Clerk. Sir Tho. Allen, lay your Hand upon the
Book, look upon the Prifoner at the Bar.

Scroop. / challenge him, my Lord.

Ld Chief Baron. That you may not miftake, if
you challenge in this manner, and do not join in
your Challenges, we muft Try you feverally one
after another -, 1 muft tell you the Courfe of the
Law, if one challenge one, and another chal-
lenge another, we muft fever, and go to Trial
one by one. Call the next.

Clerk. Sir Henry Wroth.
Scroop. 1 challenge him.

Lord Chief Baron. Then we muft go on feve-
rally. Set all afide but Mr. Scroop. Mr. Scroop,
you may challenge particularly whom you will
till you come to Thirty-five, if you go beyond
that Number you will lofe the Benefit of the
Law.

Scroop. I defire, my Lord, that whofoecer was
challenged Teflerday may not be called again.

Court. No, that cannot be, that is nothing
to you. The Court thereupon proceeded, and
called

Challenged, John Life, Nich. Raynton, Thomas
Wynter, Thomas Frankelyn, Randal Nichol, Jo.
Kirke, Ambrofe Scudamore, George Tirrey, who were
all challenged.

Jury. Thomas Willet, Hen. Marfh, Charles Pit*
field, Chriflopher Abdy, Richard Cheny, Tho. Bid,
Jo. Smith, Richard Abel, Ralph Halfal, Jo. Gal-
lyard, Iho. Swallow, Sam. Stamel, were admitted
and fworn on the Jury.

Clerk. Cryer, make Proclamation. If any Man
can inform my Lords, the King's Juftices, the King's
Serjeant,'or the King's Attorney, before this Inauefl
be taken between our Sovereign Lord the King, and
the Prifoner at the Bar, let them comeforth and they

fhall be heard, for now the Prifoner fiands at the
Bar upon his Delivery ; and all others bound by Re'
cognizance to give Evidence againft the Prifoner at

the Bar, let them come forth and give their Evi-
dence, or elfe they fhall forfeit their Recogni-
zance.

Clerk. Adrian Scroop, Hold up thy Hand} you
Gentlemen that are Sworn, look upon the Prifo-

ner, and hearken to his Charge j you fhall un-
derftand, cjtV. upon this Indictment he hath plead-
ed Not guilty.

Mr. Sol. Gen. May it pleafe your Lordfhips,
and you Gentlemen of the Jury, this Prifoner at

the Bar ftands Indicted for Compaffing and Ima-
gining the Death of the late King of Bleffed

Memory. The Indictment fets out, that to that
End and Purpofe the Prifoner at the Bar did, with
others, aflemble and fit together at Weftminfer-
Hall, confulting upon him, and Ufurped an Au-
thority to proceed againft the Life of our faid

late Sovereign, and in Purfuance of that our late

Sovereign was brought to his Death. Thefe
Things are alledged in the Indictment as feveral

Overt-Ails, to {hew the Treafon of his Heart,
which was the Compaffing and Imagining the

Death of the King; Compaffing and Imagining
are the Words of the Statute, the reft of the In-

dictment is but as fo many Overt- Acts, Evidences
j

and Manifestations of that corrupt and wicked
Heart of his, by which he firft thought fuch a

Thoughc againft his Sovereign. The Manner of

our
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our Evidence fhall be this : Before they could

come to accomplish this damnable Defign, it was

neceflary to meet in a Traitorous Aflembly,which

they called the High-Court of Juftice, that under

the Pageantry and Mockery of that, they might

pretend to Murder him by a Sentence ; and be-

fore that AfTembly could come to fit, there was

a Precept fet forth very formally to fummon

them to fit. This Prifoner at the ,Bar is one of

thofe Perfons, who under his Hand and Seal did

fummon that Court to fit upon the Life of our

late Sovereign. When the Court, in Obedience

to that Summons (as they called it) did meet, they

fate feveral times, and he among them •, they did

proceed with a wonderful Impudence (as they

had begun) to pronounce Sentence of Death up-

on our late Sovereign-, my Lords, this Prifoner

at the Bar was amongft them, and was at that

Court, and gave the Sentence. When they had

done, that they might compleat their Villany,

they made a Bloody Warrant for Severing

the Head of his late Majefty from his Body,

and the Hand of the Prifoner is to that War-

. rant alfoj and this is the Scope of our Indict-

ment.

Scroop. My Lords, may I have Liberty to

/peak ?

Court. If you do confefs that which is opened

in Evidence againft you, wefhall not need to ex-

amine any Witnefles.

Scroop. Examine whatyou think fit. If Iunder-

jiand that worthy Gentleman thatfpake laft, he Jaid

that my Hand was to the Warrant for Execution

;

my Lord, if I can fee my Hand I can tell, and I will

not dem my Hand.

Court. Shew it him: Which was done accord-

Scroop. My Lords, I will not deny but that it

is my Hand, but it is not my Seal.

Council. Crier, call Mr. Mafterfon, Mr.
Kirke, Mr. Clark, Mr. Carr; who were all

Sworn.

Mr. Mafterfon, pray tell my Lords and the Ju-
ry whether you did fee the Prifoner at the Bar in

that which they called the High-Court of Juftice,

fitting as Judge upon the late King.
1

t. Mafterfon. My Lords, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, I faw upon the zzd or or 2.2,d of Jan. in

the Year 1648, the Prifoner at the Bar fitting

upon the Bench as one of the Judges in that

which they called the High-Court of Juftice, the

King (landing a Prifoner at the Bar j I fay either

the itd or 2,$d. But I fay particularly upon the

2.7th of Jan. 1648, in which the Sentence was
pafied upon the late King, I faw the Prifoner at

the Bar fitting upon the Bench, in that which
they called the High-Court of Juftice.

Council. How did he demean himfelf when the
Sentence was read?

Mr. Mafterfon. When the Sentence was read

it was by the Prefident (as he was called) of that

Court, faid to be the Sentence and Judgment of
the whole Court, upon which the Prifoner at

the Bar rofe up, as to my Apprehenfion, tefti-

fying his Aflent. All their Afients were taken
fo, and no otherwife, to us that were as Specta-
tors.

Scroop. 1 befeechyour Lordfirips that I mayfpeak
without Offence, and anfwer to this.

Court. Mr. Scroop, you may pleafe to have Pa-
per, and Pens, and Ink, to take Notes, or £0 ask
any Queftions.

Scroop. My Lords, give me Leave to ask. him
this Queftion j Whereabouts did he fee me fit in the

Court ?

Court. Mr. Mafterfon, you hear the Queftion,

pray anfwer to it.

Mr. Mafterfon. My Lords, I cannot particu-

larly fay where he fat, but I faw him in the

Court, and to the belt of my Remembrance ic

was on the Second Seat on the Left-hand of
Bradfhaw.

Scroop. / would not give Offence to the Court in

any Kinds J am now pleading for my Life. I defire

to take a little Liberty to ask this Gentleman if ever

he and I were in Company together, that he knows me
fo well.

Mr. Mafterfon. For my part I do not remem-
ber I faw his Face before the fitting of that

Court: If this Gentleman ask me if 1 were ever
in his Company, I know not how I may con-
{true the Word Company 3 but I am fure I never
eat nor drank with him 5 I have feen him very
many Times at Committees, more than twenty
Times fince that Bufinefs.

Mr. Clark called.

Council. Mr. Clark, you have heard the Que-
ftion, did you ever fee the Prifoner at the Bar
in that which they called the High-Court ofJu-
ftice ?

Mr. Clark. I do remember in the Year 1648,
I faw the Prifoner fitting in that which they call

the High-Court of Justice upon the Trial of the

King.
Scroop. My Lords, you may defifil in examining

Witneffes touching my Sitting.

Court. Do you acknowledge you did fit in that

which they called the High-Court ofJuftice ?

Scroop. Tes, Ifee it proved, and Ifee a Gentle-

man here in my Eyes that 1 know very well. I will

not deny it.

Court. Did you fit upon the Sentence - Day,
that is the Evidence, which was the 2,7th of Ja-
nuary? You are not bound to anfwer me, but if

you will not we muft prove it. Do you confefs

that ?

Scroop. / do not confefs that Iflood up as ajfent-

ing to the Sentence.

Mr. Clark called.

Council. Mr. Clark, what fay you to that?

Clark. I did not take particular Notice of him
that Day, that he flood up j but the W hole Court
ftood up, to my Apprehenfion, but I took No-
tice that he was there then prefent.

Council. Mr. Clark, do you remember that you
faw any of them fit ?

Clark. I did not take Notice of any that fate

then, but all ftood up, to my Thoughts.
Mr. Carr called.

Council. Mr. Carr, Tell my Lords and the Ju-
ry whether you did fee the Prifoner at the Bar
fitting in that which they called the High-Court
of Juftice.

Carr. My Lords and Gentlemen ofthe Jury,the
22d, 2 ?d, and 17th of January 1648, 1 was pre-

fent when the Names of that they called the

High-Court of Juftice were called, and amongft
others that were Judges of

that Court, as was printed _
Mr

-
c

.

arr
,

looked %'hf
t-.

•*
1 • t

l
T 1 Paper •when be pave bis c.

~

in a Paper, which I then vfdenctm
had in my Hand, I found

the Name of Mr. A. Scroop, who I faw did there

fit and appear.

Scroop,



326 ^y. The Trial of Adrian Scroop, 12 Car. II.

Scroop. I hope you 'will not take any Evidence

from a printed Lift.

Council. The Manner of his Evidence is, he

faith this, That he had this printed Paper in his

Hand when the Names of that Court were cal-

led, and marking the Perfons in that Paper who

were prefent, and that you were One of them

who did appear.

Scroop. My Lord, IJhall not difpute, in Regard

of my Want of Skill in the Law, the Lawfulness of

bringing in any Paper in Evidence into the Court,

J fhall not difpute againft your Lordfhips-, but by

your Favour 1 do fuppofe there is no Witnefs ought

to ufe any Paper, or look upon any Paper when

he gives Evidence , but I (hall fubmit it to your

Lordfloips.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Ask him the Queftion without

his Paper -, but yet nothing is more ufual than for

a Witnefs to make Ufe of a Paper to help his

Memory.
Scroop. The Gentleman that fpake lafl I cannot

hear him.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We do not need his Paper in this

Cafe, he will tell it without a Paper, Mr. Carr,

fpeak without a Paper.

Carr. My Lords, upon the calling of thofe that

were Judges in that Court which they called the

High-Court ofjuftice then fitting, this Gentleman

the Prifoner at the Bar did anfwer to his Name
then called.

Scroop. Did you fee me?
Carr. I heard you anfwer, and faw you.

Scroop. I pray he maybe ask'd whereabout 1 fate

in that Court.

Council. Mr. Carr, you hear the Queftion, an-

fwer to it.

Carr. I am not able particularly to tell now,

it being many Years fince.

Scroop. My Lord, obferve of what Value this

Evidence is ; I am fure I never was in his Compa-

ny, I do not know that ever hefaw me in his Life

:

I befeech you give me Leave to plead for myfelf in

all Humblenefs and Modefly, my Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. 'Notice is taken of it, Mr.
Scroop, God forbid you fhould be debarr'd of it.

Scroop 1 fay he comes with Evidence of a Pa-

per, he heard my Name call'd, and marked it : It is

firange that a Gentleman whom I never faw, I know
not his Name, nor do I not think he knew my Name
if he had met me.

Lord Chief Baron. J told you that was laid a-

fide, and you heard him fpeak Fiva voce without

a Paper.

Council. Mr. Kirk, did you fee the Prifoner at

the Bar in that Court which they called the High-

Court of Juftice for Trial of the late King?
Kirk. My Lords and Gentlemen of the Jury,

I did fee the Prifoner there, and I did wonder to

fee him there, which was the Reafon I took the

more fpecial Notice of his being there.

Scroop. Pray, my Lord, let me intreat one 'Thing

before he fpeaks, That your Lordfhips will be pleas d
tofpeak to him to give in his Evidence without any

Speech.

Council. How can that be? Can he give Evi-

dence without fpeaking?

Scroop. / befeech you, my Lords, give me Leave

to fay this, Let him give in his Evidence in plain

Words without -any Speech.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scroop, he muft be ex-

cufed, there are Circumftances inducing which

are as much as the Principal > this that he hath

faid is very material ; faith he, 1 did fee the Pri-
foner at the Bar there ; / did not expect it, and won-
dered at it, and therefore took the more Notice
Let him go on, ask him what Queftion you
will.

Scroop. My Lord, Ifubmit.
Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Kirk, you mud fpeak

the Truth, and the whole Truth 5 go on.
Kirk. I fay. as I faid before, I faw this Gentle-

man fitting in that which they called the High-
Court of Juftice, and I did therefore wonder at
it, becaufe I did not expect him there. I came to
know him formerly as he was called Captain
Scroop.

Council. Go on.

Kirk. And, as I faid before, I faw this Perfon
this Prifoner at the Bar, fit amongft the reft of
thofe Perfons, Judges, as they cabled themfelves,
of the High-Court of Juftice for the Trial of the
King; I did more particularly take Notice of this
Perfon, becaufe I did not expect him there; I
knew him formerly upon this Report, being an
Eminent Man, by the Name of Captain Scroop,
and at that Time was an Affbciate of one Cap-
tain Fivers, and Captain Wingham; I had not
feen

t
him fome Years before this Bufinefs, and

feeing of him there, I did the more particularly
take Notice of him.

Scroop. Have you done, Sir? I befeech your
Lord/hip ask him what Employment he had there him-
felf when hefaw me there.

Kirk. My Lord, I was there to hear the Trial.
Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scroop, lam not wil-

ling you fhould have any Thing of Interruption
unlefs you reflect upon any Perfon that concerns
not you, Mr. Scroop, do not think it will be for

your Advantage, nor is it proper for you to ask.

Scroop. In all Humblenefs I do fpeak it to your
Lordfhips, that your Lordjhip willpleafe to confider,

that if he had any Employment in that Bufinejs him-
felf how unfit a Witnefs he is againft me.

Court. Much fitter.

Scroop. If it befo I have done.

Kirk. My Lord, I was there only as a Specta-
tor, I went only there to fee and hear what was.
there to be feen and heard , I flood there and took
Notes in Characters of the Proceedings, and fe-

veral others with my felf did the like, and we'
compared them together, that was all my Bufi-
nefs at that Time, and I faw him fit there the
27th Day of Jan. 1648, which was the Day of
Sentence againft the King.

Scroop. Whereabouts didyou fee mefit there?

Kirk. It is not, I think, imaginable that any
Perfon fhould be able after fo many Years poffi-

bly to fay where any Perfon fate 5 but to the beft

of my Remembrance you fate upon the Second
Bench next the Prefident. But I dare not be
pofitive in that, I dare not juftifie it upon my
Oath, it is but my Remembrance.

{Here Mr. Scroop talked to one that flood near

him7\

Lord Chief Baron. We muft deflre that of you,
Mr. Scroop, that you will not fpeak to any here

but what the Court may hear.

Scroop. Ifhall obferve your Commands.
Mr. Cotymore Sworn.

Council. Did you fee the Prifoner at the Bar fit-

ting in that which they called the High-Court of

Juftice as a Judge upon the King ?

Coyt. I did fee him.

Council. When? What Day?
Coyt.
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Coyt. I cannot name the Day j I was there

Three Days of their Sitting, there I faw him

once or twice -, once I am fure.

Scroop. What Day ?

Coyt. I cannot remember.

Council. Did he fit there as a Judge upon the

King ?

Coyt. He fate among the reft as a Judge.

Scroop. Give me leave to ask him whereabouts

he faw me fit.

Council. Where did you fee him fit?

Coyt. I cannot remember the Place, he was

among them -, I faw him either One or Two
Days} there was a great Company of them to-

gether.

Council. Mr. Nutley, did you fee the Prifoner

at the Bar fitting in that which they called the

High-Court of Jufiice ?

Nut. If it pleafe your Lordfhips, I was there

in the Court thofe Four feveral Days that they

fate in Judgment. I heard the Prifoner at the Bar

called by his Name. I did take Notice he was

there, truly I think he was there twice or thrice

to my Remembrance.
Council. Can you tell what Day, whether the

17th oijan. 1648?
Nut. 1 cannot fay pofitively, but to the beft

ofmy Remembrance he was there i that was the

laft Day when Judgment was given.

Mr. Baker fworn.

Council. Mr. Baker, what fay you ? Did you

fee the Prifoner at the Bar fitting in that which

they called the High-Court of Jufiice?

Baker. Yes, I did fee Col. Scroop on Tuefday the

2jd of Jan. 1648, very particularly ftand up and

anfwer to his Name.
Council. Mr. Coytmore, are you acquainted with

Colonel Scroop's Hand ?

Coyt. I have had feveral Letters from him.

Council. Mr. Scroop, have you a mind to fee

the Warrant for fummoning the Court?

Scroop. / defire to fee it ; I do not remember I

fet my Hand to it.

Court. Shew it him. [it being (hewed him,]

Scroop. I cannot fay it is my Hand.

Council. It is too true •, we (hall prove it to

you.

Court. Shew it to Mr. Coytmore.

Scroop. Be pleas'd to let me fee it once more

:

Which was again fhew'd him : Truly', my Lord,

I will fa ve him the Labour.

Council. You do acknowledge it was your

Hand?
Scroop. Pllfave him the Labour j for I confefs

I do not love Menfhould be put to their Oaths more

than needs.

\_Here likewife the Warrant for Execution was
read."]

Council. My Lords, we fhall conclude our
Evidence with Major-General Brown, the Lord
Mayor Elect.

The Lord Mayor EletJ fwsrn.
Council. My Lord, be pleafed to tell my Lords

what Difcourfe hath lately pafled between the
Prifoner at the Bar and you concerning the Death
of the King.

Lord Elecl. My Lords, upon fome Occafion I

was accidentally at the Chamber of the Speaker,

there I met this Gentleman, whom indeed 1

knew not ; he told me who he was j and when
1 understood who he was, I laid to him (or Words
to this Purpofe, 1 cannot tell the Words) becaufe

I would not diftafle him, and fay You hive
done this, therefore I put it thus, We have done
this, What a fad Cafe have we, faid I, brought
this Kingdom unto ? Why, faith he ? You fee,

faid I, how it is ruined now the King is mur~
thered, rjrV. Saith he, fome are of one Opinion^
andfome of another. Sir, faid I, do you think ic

was well done to murther the King ? Saith he,
/ will not make you my Confeffor, Sir ; it was much
to this Purpofe.

Council. When was this fpoken?
Lord ElecJ. Truly I do not know the Day, but

it was that Day that Sir H. M. rendered himfelf
to the Speaker j it was fince the coming in of
the King.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Neither Time, nor the Hand
of God appearing in this Bufmefs, nor the Con-
dition he was in, was ever able to bring this

Gentleman to be forry for his Offence 3 but we do
not give it as any Evidence of his Crimes : YoU
have heard the Prifoner confefs the Two War-
rants : You have heard by feveral Witneffes
produced that he did fit in that which they cal-
led the High-Court ofJufiice, by Three that he
fat particularly on that Day they called the Day
of their Judgment j you have heard how little

Penitence he hath had, by his Declaration to the
Lord Mayor Elect.

Scroop. / hope now that you have heard the

Evidence againft me, that you will give me have to

make fome Defence for my felf.

Lord Chief Baron. God forbid otherwife bus
that you fhould have free Liberty.

Scroop. Truly, my Lords, though my Breeding
hath not been in the Way ofthe Laws, and therefore

1 have a great Difadvantage when there be fuch
Learned Gentlemen as thefe are to plead againfi mev

I muft confefs to you I have fomeihing for Matter of
Law to plead for the Juftiftcation of the Fail, tho*

L would not undertake tojuflifie the Per[on j this 1
humbly intreat, if it may be granted, that I may
have fome Time given me, and fome Council, that I
may anfwer Matter of Law.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scroop, if you have any1

Thing of matter of Law for which you would
have Council, you mufl alledge that matter fir ft j

the Ufe of Council is only to put in Certainty
what you have of matter of Law, and then the
Court and Judges muft judge of it. If you have
matter of Law, you muft tell what it isj if ic

be matter that there is Caufe to over-rule it, there

is no Caufe of making further Ufe of Council,
If one be indicted for Murther, when he comes
to Trial he will fay, I have matter of Law to
plead -

f what is that? That Murther is no Fe-
lony : Do you think Council will be admitted
in this ? If you do alledge what this Matter is

wherein you defire Council, you fhall have your
Anfwer.

Scroop. My Lords, as well as I am able to do
it I fhall do it 5 my Lord, I was not in the Par-

liament } take Notice of that j and that which
was done in the High-Court of Jufiice, it was
done by a Commiflion from the Parliament. My
Lord, it was that Authority, which was then, I

will not fay it was fo, becaufe 1 would not give

Offencej it was that Authority which was then

accounted the Supreme Authority of the Na-
tion} and that Authority, my Lord> that a great

many of the Generality of the Nation fubmitted

to. My Lord, I having received a Command
from that Authority 9 what I did was in Obe-

dience
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dience to that Authority : My Lord, I have not

had Time to confider of thefe Things, becaufe I

have been for thefe Six Weeks Time {hut up a

clofe Prifoner, and that I could neither come at

Council nor any Thing elfe, nor to get any

Thing to prepare for it j therefore I delire your

Lordfhips to do me the Favour, if you fee any

Weight in it, to let me have Time and Council

affigned me.

Lord Chief Baron. Have you done, Sir?

Scroop, Tes.

Lord Chief Baron. Then I take it this is the

Effect of what you have faid ; if I have not taken

it aright tell mefo: You fay you juftify the Fact,

that they would maintain and keep all Privi-

leges, Immunities, Preheminences, annexed to
the Imperial Crown of this Realm ; there is

Difference between fome Crowns and Imperial
Crowns : An Imperial Crown, it was that

which was not to be touched in the Perfon :

We do not fpeak any Thing of the Abfo-
lute Power of the King, for you fee he cannot
judge concerning the Death of his Father, but
by Laws. When you fwore this Allegiance, all

thofe Members to break this at once, this would
be fo far from having any Colour of Authority,
that he that juftifies it, juflifies it againft the
Light of the Confcience and Laws. You fay

though not your Perfon ; that you were not of you did it by Commandment from them ; he
the Parliament ; that what was done was by Com-
mifflon from the Parliament : Be pleafed not to

miftake me, for I fay you faid this : That that

which I have to plead in Juftification of it, I do

not fay that I juftify my felf, but that which I

have to fay is for Juftification of the Fact : I was

firft no Contriver of the Bufinefs; and then, fe-

condly, I did it by Virtue of the Command, and

in Obedience to the Authority of the Parlia-

ment : That that Authority was then accounted

the Supreme Authority of the Nations, and that

the Generality of the Nations did fubmit to their

Authority j I think I have repeated all you have

faid. Then, Mr. Scroop, you muft know this,

that there is no Caufe at all why Council fhould

be given for what you fpeak ; I profefs it rather

tends to the Aggravation than Extenuation of

what you did. Firft, you fay you did it by Au-
thority of Parliament, I am afraid you have been

miftaken as well as others ; by the Word Par-

liament, what doth that mean ? I am iiire you,

and every one knows, that there was not one
Precedent ever heard of till this, that the Houfe
of Commons mould take upon them the Legi-

slative Power, and make fuch an Act as this was j

there was no Colour for it. Then for Men upon
their own Heads, never heard of before, and a-

gainft the Liberty and Freedom of the People,

that they fhou!d call it the Parliament, when
there was but 46 fate, whereas there was above

240 excluded ; and how you can call this a Houfe
of Commons is a great Wonder to me; but I tell

you this, take it for granted, that if they were
the moft perfect Houfe of Commons that could

be, did ever the Houfe of Commons, before this

that doth a Command by fuch an Authority, it

is his Guilt ; our Law-Books fay, That if a Court
at Common-Law exceed their Jurifdiction, in

that Cafe he that obeys that Command is punifh-
able. In the Court of Common- Pleas, if there
be an Appeal there for Murther, it is only pro-
per to the Upper-Bench j and therefore if the
Party be Condemned, Sentenced, and Executed
thereupon, the Executioner in that Cafe is Guilty
of Murther for obeying that Authority, which
was indeed no Authority : And therefore whereas
you'would go about to juftifie the Fact, becaufe
you did it by Command of that Authority, that
is an Aggravation : That when Men fhall aflume
an Authority which is a Devil at the Noon-day,
appearing without Vizors ; I fay /hall aflume an
Authority never heard of before ; if Men will
countenance their Acts by obeying them, it is

an Aggravation : We have already declared this

in the Cafe of the Prifoner yefterday ; we are
all fatisfied in the Law in that Cafe : It is fo

clear a Point in Law, that my Brethren here
and we did over-rule it Yefterday in the like

Cafe, and fo we muft now; and I hope that all

do concur in this Opinion that hath been de-
livered.

Lord Finch. I hope all do concur in this Opini-
on delivered by my Lord Chief Baron. Youfhel-
ter yourfelf under a Command of the Houfe of
Commons ; but let me tell you, and all the
World, That if the Houfe of Commons (let it

have been never fo compleat) had given a Com- '

mand, it had been a Thing no Ways juftifiable j
the Juftification is an Aggravation.

Scroop. My Lord, 1 do fee that every thing I
Angle Acl, take upon them the Legifiative fpeak, though it be for clearing of myfelffrom your

Power without the Lords? The r^cts are begun ill Opinion, Ifee it is taken in an ill Senfe ; (I bum-
in the Commons Houfe ; when they have done,

ifthe Lords do not pafs it, it is Abortive; if it be
done by both Houfes there ought to be a Royal
Affent : But the Lords had rejected this Act;
then they muft take upon them, thefe 46" Men,
wherof I do believe there was not above if or

26 Men that did Vote this, and this muft be

called the Parliament, the Commons ox England.

I would fain know whether any Man hath heard

that the Houfe of Commons took upon them
the Legifiative Power before this Actj but this

hath been over- ruled in the like Cafe, and I

fhall fay no more to it. What is the Oath of

Allegiance? Is it not that you would defend the

King, his Crown, Rights, and Liberties, againft

all Perfons whatfoever? It was not only againft

the Pope (as fome would have it) but the Word
is, or otherwife : They broke the Oath of Su-

premacy, which was, That the King was Su-

preme Governour of thefe Nations. They fwore

My befeech Pardon for the Exprejfton }) ifI err 1 will
crave your Lordfhifs Pardon ; but, my Lord, Ifay
this, if I have been mif-led, Iam not a Jingle Perfon
that have been mif-led. My Lord, I couldfay, (but

I think it doth not become me to fay fo,) That 1fee
a great many- Faces at this Time that were mif-led as

well as myfelf but that I will not infifi upon : I
fay this, That I hope an Error in Judgment ftjall

not be accounted Malice or an Error of the Will

:

Truly (my Lord) I never went to the Work with a,

Malicious Heart j / humbly dejire your Lordfhips to

take Notice of it, That I never bore any Malice at
all againft his late Majefty.
Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scroop, have you done?
Scroop. My Lord, Ido befeech your Lordfhips to.

take Notice, that an Error in Judgment is not an
Error in the Will.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scroop, I am very glad
to hear you fay fo : but let me tell you what the
Law faith j the Law in this Cafe creates the

Malice.
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Malice. If a Man do an Act of this Nature,

that may be fome Kind of Excufe to G^d, but

towards Man you are to look to the Fact, the

Law implies the Malice. If there be any Thing

you will lay in the Extenuation of your Offence,

we will be very glad to hear that may tend to

your Help.

Scroop. My Lord, there is one Evidence comes

in againft me that I muft confefs I am very forry to

fee ; and, my Lord, there was a faying, and it is by

my Lord Mayor Elect : Truly he is a Worthy

Gentleman, but I defire the Lord may forgive that

'which he hath fpoken: truly, my Lord, I did never

intend any Thing in this, neither can I direclly re-

member that 1 [pake thofe Words direclly, as my
Lord Mayor Elect doth fpeak: I do believe my

Lord Mayor cannot very well remember them him-

felf ; for he faith, fo far as he can remember ; i"

muft confefs that when I was there, and had ap-

peared according to the Proclamation, that fuch Dif-

courfe fomewhat like it was raifed, not of my procu-

ring ; I did not procure the Difcourfe ; / never in-

tended the Juftification of the Fail ; but it was my

ill Succefs that Ifioould meet with that Worthy Gen-

tleman to have fo much Difcourfe with him.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scroop, my Lord

Lord Chief Baron. You Gentlemen that are

fworn of this Jury, you fee the Prifoner Mr.
Scroop hath been Indicted for Imagining and
Contriving the Death of his late Majefty, of
Bleffed Memory, King Charles the Firft. You
fee there are feveral Things in this Indictment;
the Charge is the Imagining and Compafling
the Death of the King. Jn the Indictment
there are feveral Matters of Fact to prove this

Imagination. The Imagination is the Treafon,
the Matters of Fact to prove it are but the Evi-
dences of that Imagination ; if any one of them
be proved to you it is fufficient ; the one is Con-
futing and Meeting together how to put him to

Death, the other Sitting and AiTuming Authori-
ty to bring him to Trial. Then you have a Sen-
tence by the Court to put the King to Death
thereupon; afterwards he was put to Death :

Any one of thefe Matters are Evidence enough
for you to prove the Indiclment; for though the
Indictment concludes thatfo they did Imagine and
Compafs the Death of the King, and that the
King was put to Death in Manner and Form as

aforefaid ; the Manner and Form aforefaid goes

to this, to the Imagination of the Heart ; for

the Law did not think any one would put the

Mayor Elect faith no more than this, fo far as he King to Death, they thought it fo a Crime,

remembers, and the Words that you fhould fay

were thefe, That fome are of one Opinion, andfome

are of another.

Scroop. Upon the Death of the King, (my Lord)

1 mufi confefs to you, that fomewhat Ifaid to him,

but I cannot own that Ifaid thofe Words. My
Lords, He is a worthy Perfon, I do not defire to fpeak

any Thing to degenerate in the leafi kind from him

;

it is but his Tea, and my No ; there was no Body

there.

Lord Chief Baron. Have you any Thing more

to fay for yourfelf ?

Scroop. My Lord, ifyour Lord/hip do over-rule

it fo that I may not have Council, I have little more

to fay.

Lord Chief Baron. You have heard the Senfe

of the Court in that Particular, you cannot have

Counfel allowed you as to the Matter you have

pleaded.

Scroop. / have done, but only this, my Lords,

I know not whether it be feafonable to mention it;

I came in upon the Proclamation ; and, my Lords,

by Means of thefe unhappy Words that have been

reported of me in the Houfe of Commons, whereas

before I was no excepted Perfon, I came to be ex-

cepted, and upon the very laft Day of paffing that

Abl, never was excepted before the very laft Day

:

I befeech you take Notice of this.

Lord Chief Baron, Mr. Scroop, That is a

Thing that is not before us, but there will be a

proper Time to confider of it in another Place;

that is nothing to the Trial; have you any more

to fay, Sir?

Scroop. No, my Lord; Will your Lordjhip

pleafe to let me fpeak a Word to the Jury ?

Lord Chief Baron. If you fpeak to the Court

the Jury will hear it.

Scroop. Truly, my Lord, this I do perceive,

that I am under a very great Prejudice as to this

Fait. It hath been the Cafe of many Gentlemen be-

fides myfelf; I defire that thefe Gentlemen would

take my Cafe into Confederation, as they would their

own, and I defire that the Lord would give them

Direclion that they may do that which is according

to Jufiice and Mercy ; that is all that Ihave tofay,

my Lords.

Vol, II.

they thought it not convenient to bring it into

the Statute. But the Compafjing and Imagining

the Death of the King is made Treafon : Then
to apply it, this Faft, to the Gentleman, it ap-
pears to you here by the Proofs againft him. Here
is Mr. Mafierfon, fwears he faw him fit in that

pretended Court, there was your Evidence of the

firft, the firft was their Meeting together; and of
the fecond too, they did affume Authority upon
them j and he fwears further to the Sentencing,

That the Prifoner was there. Here were the

Three Overt-AUs all proved. He confeffes he
did Sign the Warrant for putting the King to

Death: This, without any Witnefs at all, was
a fufficient Proof, a Proof of Proofs. The other

Witneffes, you hear what they fay ; you hear

Mr. Kirke, Mr. Clark, Mr. Nutley, fwear all to

his Sitting there. It is true, when this comes
to the Particulars where he fate, you muft re-

member it was Twelve Years ago; when a Man
lees a mixt Number of about Eighty Perfons,

it is impoiTible a Man fhould be able to anfwer

this Particular after Twelve Years, where fuch

a one fate; but you may fee by his Sentencing

what he did. They all witnefs they faw him
pofitivcly ; and one tells you, He wondered he

faw him there; and indeed it might be a Won-
der ; for Mr. Scroop (to give him his Righrj was
not a Perfon as fome of the reft, but he was
unhappily engaged in that Bloody Bufinefs, I

hope miftakenly ; but when it comes to fo High
a Crime as this, Men muft not excufe themfelves

by Ignorance or mifguided Confcience. As to

God, for this Horrid Murther of the King, fome-
what may be, but there is no Excufe or Exte-
nuation before Man; there may be, I fay, before

the Lord. You fee the Proof is full againft this

Gentleman, as full as may be; WitnefTes faw

him Sit, and he himfelf confeffed he Signed the

Warrants. I have no more to fay to you, but,

Gentlemen, you fee what it is ; I think for Mat-
ter of Facl you need not go from the Bar ; but I

leave it to you.

Scroop. My Lord——*

U u Lord
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Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scroop, ifyou have any

Thing to fay when the Jury have brought in

their Verdict, ifyou will fay any Thing for Mat-

ter of Mercy, the Court will hear you.

Scroop. / thank your Lordjhip.

'The Jury went together, and prefently

fettled themfehes in their Places.

Clerk. Adrian Scroop, hold up thy Hand.
Look upon the Prifoner. How fay you? Is he

Guilty of the Treafon whereof he Hands Indic-

ted and hath been Arraigned, or Not Guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Clerk. What Goods and Chattels, &c.
Jury. None that we know.
Lord Chief Baron, If you will fay any Thing

the Court will hear you.

Scroop. / have no more, my Lord, but refer

myfelfto this Honourable Court.

Clerk. Set John Carew, Tho. Scot, John Jones,

and Gregory Clement to the Bar; who were fet

accordingly j and being commanded, they feve-

rally held up their Hands.
Clerk. Thefe Men that were Iaft called, &c.
Sir Thomas Allen, Lay your Hand on the

Book: Look, &c.
Carew. / challenge him.

Lord Chief Baron. Are you all agreed as to

your Challenges?

Prifoner. No, My Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. Then we mud do as before,

fever you, and go to Trial feverally : Take the

Three away, and let Mr. Carew ftand at the Bar.

Challenged, Charles Pitfield, Wille, Will.

Smiths, Rich. Rider, Edward Rolph, James Sher-

crpft, Thomas Uffman, Francis Beal, Will. Whit-
combe, Samuel Harris, Jo. Nichol of Fincheley,

George Rigth, ThomasFruen, Ab. Newman, Tho-

mas Blithe, Will. Vincent, James Hawley, Chr.

Abdy, Tho. Bide, John Smithy Ab. Scudamore,

Ralph Halfel, John Galliard. In all 25.

Jury Sworn, Robert Clarke, Thomas Grover,

Richard Whaley, Samuel Grcenhil, Nicholas Rayn-
ton, Thomas Winter, Richard Cheney, John Kerk,

Rich. Abel, Thomas Morris, George Tirrey, Tho.

Swallow } in all 12.

If any Man can inform my Lords the King's

Jufticcs, &c
Clerk. John Carew, hold up thy Hand.
You that are Sworn look upon the Prifoner

:

You fhall underftand, &c.
Sir Edward Turner. May it pleafe your Lord-

fhips, our Hue and Cry {till poceeds againft the

Murtherers of our late Sovereign Lord King
Charles the Firft of Bleffed Memory, and this

Gentleman the Prifoner at the Bar is apprehend-

ed as one among others for fhedding that Pre-

cious Blood. Gentlemen of the Jury, he Hands
Indicted before you , for that he (I cannot ex-

prefs it better) not having the Fear of God be-

fore his Eyes, but being feduced by the Inftigation

of the Devil, he did Imagine and Compafs the

Death of his faid late Majefty. In Profecution

of this, Gentlemen, there be feveral Things that

are mentioned in the Indictment, which are the

open Acts to difcover to you thefe Secret and

Private Imaginations. He did meet and confult

with divers Perfons touching the Death of the

King, that did ufurp and take upon them to

exercife a Power and Jurifdiction to Try the

King; and finally, molt horribly put him to

Death. The Treafon by the Statute ofif Edw.

5. and which you are to enquire of, is, the Ima-
gination and Compafling the Death of the King,
the reft of the Indictment are but Particulars to

prove that he did fo Imagine and Compafs the

Death of the King. If we fha!l prove thefe, or
any of thefe Facts, you have then fufficient to

convict him. There was a Thing they called

a High Court ofJullice, that was fet up, whete-
in they did intend to fry our late Sovereign

Lord, and a Precept made, and that under the

Hand and Seal of the Prifoner at the Bar, amongft
others, for fummoning and convening that

Bloody Court, where (among the reft of the

Mifcreantsj the Prifoner at the Bar did fit, and
had Confidence, nay, Impudence, to pronounce
Judgment againft his Sovereign. In this he re fl-

ed not, but he, among them, fet his Hand and
Seal to that Bloody Roll or Warrant for putting

him to Death, which accordingly was done, and
to thefe feveral open Acts we fhall call our Wit-
nefTes, and fo proceed.

M. Mafterfon, M. Clark, and M. Kirk fworn.

Council. Mr. Mafterfon, look upon the Pri-

foner, did you fee him fit in that they called

the High Court of Juftice?

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Carew, if you will

have Pen, Ink, and Paper, you may have it, pray

call for it.

Carew. I have no need of it.

Council. Mr. Mafterfon, did you fee, ($c.

Mafterfon. My Lords, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, I was prefent at that AfTembly, which they
called the High- Court of Juftice for Trial of the

King, upon the 2zd, 2$d, and 27th Days of
January 16*48, and there I faw the King ftand

a Prifoner at the Bar. I faw this Gentleman,
the Prifoner at the Bar, fit upon the Bench in

that Court, as one of his Majefty's Judges ; par-

ticularly upon the 27th Day of Jnnuary, which,

was the Day of Sentence, I faw him fitting

there.

Council. Mr. Clark, you hear the Queftion ;

Do you remember that you faw the Prifoner at

the Bar fitting in that which they called the

High- Court ofJuftice?
Mr. Clark. I remember I faw the Prifoner at

the Bar fitting in that which they called the

High-Court of Juftice for the Trial of the late

King, and particularly I took Notice upon the

23d and 27 of January 1648, that he was prefent.

Council. What was done upon the 27th Day?
Mr. Clark. The 27th Day the late King was

Sentenced to Death.

Jury. What is your Name, Sir ?

Council. His Name is William Clark.

Council. Mr. Kirk, What fay you to the for-

mer Queftion touching the Prifoner, his being

at that which they called the High- Court of

Juftice ?

Mr. Kirk. My Lords, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, I was prefent at the Trial of his late Ma-
jefty of Blefled Memory, I faw that Gentleman,
the Prifoner at the Bar, feveral Days there, par-

ticularly the Day of the Sentence, which was the

27th Day of January 16485 when the Sentence

was palled he rofe up, aflenting to it. [Then the

Warrant for fummoning that pretended Court was

jhewed to Mr. Kirk.]

Council. Do you believe that Hand to be the

Hand of Mr. Jo. Carew, Prifoner at the Bar ?

Kirk. My Lords, I do believe it to be his

Hand > I have feen his Hand to feveral Orders,

and
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and being very well acquainted with his Hand-
writing, I believe it to be his Hand as much as

any Man can poflibly know another Man's Hand.
[Then the Warrant for Execution of the King

'was likewife ftjewn him.~\

Council. Is that the Hand alfo of the Prifoner

at the Bar?

Kirk. It is the fame Hand, my Lord.

Court. Was Mr. Carew a Member of the Long
Parliament ?

Kirk. Yes, my Lord.

Council. Hud you Occafion to be acquainted

with his Hand ?

Kirk. My Lord, I have feen him fet his Hand
feveral times to Orders and other Papers.

Mr. Farrington Sworn.

Council. Do you know {the Warrants being

/hewn him,"] thofe Hands to be the Writing of

the Prifoner at the Bar?

Far. My Lords, really I believe thefe are his

Hand.
Court. Are you acquainted with his Hand ?

Farrington. Yes, my Lord, and I do believe

thefe to be his Hand-writing. I did not fee

him write them, but fo far as poflibly a Man
can know another's Writing I do believe thefe

to be his.

Court. If you will ask to fee them, you may
fee them, Mr. Carew.

Carew. Pleafe you to go on. Here they were

both read.

Council. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, we fhall

not need to trouble the Jury any further, we
have proved that the Prifoner did Sign that War-
rant for fummoning that Court of Injuftice,

that he fate there and fentenced the King to

Death among others, and thar he figoed the War-
rant for Execution.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Carew, you have heard

the Evidence; you may pleafe to fpeak what you
think fit for your felf.

Carew. My Lords, the Crimes that are here laid

to my Charge in this Indictment are Ireafon and
Murther.

Lord Chief Baron. I would not have you to be
mif-informed, it is Treafin only, but it carries

the other in with it, Murther.

Carew. Becaufe you fay it carries the other in-

clufively.

Lord Chief Baron. It doth, the Charge is the

Compafling and Imagining the Death of the

King, the other is bat Evidence.
Carew. Then the Thing that I ftand upon before

the Lord, and before you alf Ifay before the Lord,

before whom we mufl all ftand, and give an Account

of this Action, which is a very great and weighty

one : And whereas it is charged there, {for Ifhall
not trouble you with many Words as to the Parti-

culars, or as to the Proofs, but I fhall ingenuoufly

acknowledge what the Truth is, and how far 1 can

believe it;) and therefore I fay as to the Beginning

of what was charged by the Council, and according

to the Courfe of the Indictment, that what was
done in thofe Things, that it was not having the

Fear of God before mine Eyes, but being moved by

the Devil, and that it was done with a Traitorous,

Malicious, and Devilijh Heart, and all thofe Things

mentioned in the Indictment : As for that I can

fay in the Prefence of the Lord, who is the Sear-

cher of all Hearts, that what I did was in his

Vol. II.

Fear, and I did it in Obedience to his Holy and
Righteous Laws.

\_Here the People humm ,

d.~\

Lord Chief Baron. Go on. He ftands for his

Life, let him have Liberty.

Carew. It is Part of my Charge not to have the

Fear of God, &c. I did fuch and fuch Things . I
hope I may have Liberty.

Lord Chief Baron. Go on, you fhall not be in-

terrupted.

Carew. I fay that I did it in the Fear of the

Lord, and I will begin with that, and confefs inge-

nuoufly the Truth of it. When this came into ff)ue~

fiion, there was an Ordinance brought in to Try
the King, where my Name was not as one of the

Judges. There was another afterwards, an act

which I Jhall mention upon what Ground by and
by, what that was, and that Act was brought in

and committed, and Names brought in, and my
Name was not brought in, and fo afterwards my
Name was put in, and feeing it I did ftrike it

out. After the Committee was up, I told them I did

defire to be excufed in fuch a Bufmefs. 1 have told

you, how, wherein, and the Ground, that I did it,

which I fhall leave with the Lord, in whofe Hand
your and my Breath, and all our Breaths, are ; and
therefore when it was fo, I did, becaufe of the

Weight of it, as being a very gnat and fpecial

Thing, andfo I was very unwilling, becaufe of there

being enow, which I thought had more Experience

every Way for fo great a Concernment as that was
to be employed rather than I; yet being fatisfied

with that Authority that did it, this is to fhewyou
how that I had the Fear of the Lord, and did

weigh the Things : After that, when the Bill was
brought into the Houfe, my Name was put in there

with feveral others, fo I came to be in ; and what
I did was upon thefe two Accounts : Firft in Obe-
dience (as I told you) to the Lord, which was the

chief Thing, and in Obedience to that which was
then the Supreme Authority of this Nation', and
therefore I floall mention thefe" Grounds very briefly,

becaufe indeed the Things that are controverted here

at this Time, they have been controverted in the

Face of the whole World in feveral Nations ; and
the Lord hath given an Anfiver upon folemn Ap-
peals to thefe Things j I fhall therefore mention them
very briefly ; becaufe they have been fo publick. The
Declarations and Remon (Trances that have paffed

between the King and Parliament concerning the be-

ginning of the Wars—
Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Carew, I would be ve-

ry loth to interrupt you, but I fee what Courfe
is taken, and the Peoples Eyes are upon you :

You feek Delays, and againft the Courfe of Pri-

foners : You fay you will confefs, but yon don't

confefs the Fad:, after you have fpent all this

Time; and all the Witneffes are heard for this

that you fpeak of now ; if you go about to jufti-

fie as in the Fear of the Lord, or any Thing ofthat
Nature, that we cannot allow of; but we do
allow you to fpeak and give the Heads of what
you will fay as to the Matter of Facl ; but to

hear you make Difcourfes and Debates which
are a Juftification of a horrid and notorious

Treafon, we cannot hear it ; we ought not to

hear the maintaining of open Treafon ; cannon

hear you to fpeak that upon your opening,

which is Treafon: We are willing that you o-

pen the Heads what you have to fay ; we are

upon our Confciences, and to appear before God
for what we do, and fo are you too ; but re-

U u 2 member,
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Member, the Devil fometimes appears in the Ha-

bit of an Angel of Light. If you will couch

your Matter in a few Words, the Court affords

you Liberty, which is indeed beyond the ftrict

Rules of Law.
Carew. Tou fay you fit here by the Laws of

the Land) and are fwom to maintain the Laws.

We eught not, that we floould plead to this IndicJ-

went, for what we did was by an Acl of Parlia-

ment.

Court. Pray Sir, this rauft not be let fall

without Reproof, or rather Punifhment.

Carew. / believe there is no Precedentfor it.

Court. Sir, we know the Act of Parliament

as well as you, and moft of the Standers-by : You
go upon a falfe Ground, there was no fuch Act

of the Supreme Authority as you pretend to*

thefe are but Phantafms of your own Brain, and

muft not be fuffered ; thefe Things have been

controverted and decided many a time again and

again.

Carew. / defire to have Time to /peak how it

was begun end carried on, or elfe how Jhall I be

able to make my Defence, or to tell you what are

the Heads I will infift upon : I Jhall declare the

Grounds upon which the Parliament did proceed.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Carew. If that be your

Ground, the Parliament did it, the Houfe of

Commons did it, I have fomething to offer (not

to interrupt you) to the then Commons

Carew. In my humble Opinionfor the maintain'

ing of this; it was by Authority, the Supreme Au-

thority, by which it was done.

Lord Chief Baron. Did you Sign this Warrant

for the Summoning and Warning of that Court?

And did you Sign the Warrant for Executing

the late King.

Carew. I defire I may go on with my Defence.

Lord Chief Baron. We would not have you be

miftaken : You feem to confefs the Act, and now
you juftifie it } you cannot fpeak any Thing for

your Juftification till you confefs the Fact.

Carew. I (I)allfpeak to that in its Time.

Lord Chief Baron. You muft fpeak to that firft,

that is Matter of Fact, whereupon the Jury are

to go.

Carew. There is Matter of Law.
Court. You muft fpeak to Matter of Fact firft.

Carew. I fay this is that I was about to fay,

That the Supreme Authority—
Court. You muft fpeak to the Facl firft, Whe-

ther you did Compafs, &c. the King's Death, or

not? That is the firft Ground} if you did not,

there's an End of the Bufinefs : It is proved a-

gainft you that you did it} if you come to ju-

ftifie it, it muft be when you have firft agreed

the Matter of Fad.
Carew. / defire L may have Liberty to proceed,

either for Matter of Facl, or Law, as I lift.

Court. No, no, you muft firft fpeak to the

Fact } you may be after heard. You know in

all Cafes they muft begin with the Fact, either

denying or extenuating} for Matter of Law in

this Cafe muft arife from the Fact.

Carew. But I humbly conceive there is a Matter

of Law in this Cafe, and it is Matter of Law that

is above the Jurifdiclion of this Inferior Court.

Mr. Sol. Finch. I pray that he may be held to

the IiTue, Guilty, or Not guilty : If he deny the

Fa6t, let us rely upon our Evidence, and he upon
his } he cannot come to Law till he hath confefled

the Fad. The Queftion is, whether you did,

or not ? There is the Fact ; if you have any
Thing to juftifie, that follows.

Carew. / was upon that, and going on to JJiew

the Reafons and Grounds of it.

Court. Firft you muft confefs it, if you will

fhew the Reafons why you did it.

Carew. Itold you there wasfome Things I did.

Court. What are thofe fome?
Carew. / do acknowledge that Iwas there at the

Court.

Council. Did you Sign .the Warrants for Sum-
moning vthat Court, and for Execution of the
King ?

Carew. Yes, I did Sign them both.

Council. Then fay what you will.

Lord Chief Baron. Now go on.

Carew. In the Tear 1640, there was a Parlia-
ment called according to the Law* and Conftitutions

of this Nation, and after that there was fome Dif-
ference between the King and the Parliament, the.

Two Houfes of Parliament, Lords and Commons,
and thereupon the King did withdraw from the

Two Houfes of Parliament, as appears by their

own Declaration, The Great Remonftrance,
Printed in 1642} and therepon the Lords and Com-
mons did declare-—

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Carew, the Court are

of Opinion not to fuffer you to go on in this}

they fay it tends not only to juftifie your. Act,
but you caft in Bones here to make fome Diffe-
rence. You talk of the Lords and Commons}
you have nothing to do with that Bufinefs ; your
Authority that you pretend to was an Act of
Parliament (as they called themfdves) and that

where there was but 46 Commons in the Houfe,
and but 26 Voted it.

Carew. I fay, that the Lords and Commons by

their Declaration •

Mr. Juflice Fojler. Hold your Hand a while,

Sir, not fo faft } you go to raife up thofe Differ-

ences which I hope are afleep; New Troubles,
to revive thofe Things which by the Grace of
God are extinct, you are not to be fuffered in

this } it is not the fingling out of a few Per-
fons that makes a Parliament. We fee as before,

fo ft ill, it is your Courfe to Blow the Trumpec
of Sedition. Did you ever hear, or can you
produce Inftances of an Act of Parliament made
by the Houfe of Commons alone? though this

was not the Houfe of Commons, as you heard
before.

Carew. Neither was there ever fuch a War, or

fuch a Precedent.

Court. Nor we hope never will be : Pray re-

member, you were returned to ferve in the

Houfe} what was that Writ that Summoned
your Appearance? You had no Manner of

Ground in the World to go that Way that you
did.

Council. We pray that the Prifoner at the Bar

give us Patience a little to repeat that to him
which your Lordfhips have been fo often trou-

bled with declaring ; this is not the Firft or Se-

cond Time that in this Publick AfTembly it

hath been faid, That neither the Lords nor the

Commons, jointly nor feverally, have any Power
at all to proceed upon the Perfon of the King;
that it is not in their Power to condemn any

Man in England without the good Pleafure of

the King, much lefs the King himfelf} and that

this is the great Liberty of the People of Eng-

land that it fhould be foj and it was the Firft

Breach
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Breach and Invafion cf our Liberty that that

Firft Parliament made, and which you juftifie

in the Name ofthe Lord. In this Cafe to throw

us upon Debates of the War, and to talk here

of the Caufes and Reafons of that Quarrel which

ended in fuch a Tragedy j for this Perfon to

come here with this Confidence, and to juftifie

it but that he knows he cannot be in a worfe

Condition, one would wonder it mould fall from

any Man that hath any regard of himfelf. It is

all one to them that Pcrifh, whether they fall by

one Sin, or Multitudes: He makes no Scruple

to multiply Treafons. I do befeech your Lord-

fhip he may not offer as he hath begun, but that

the Jury may proceed.

Court. All the Court are of the fame Opinion,

not to hear any thing like the former Difcourfes.

Carew. / defire 1 may be heard; I have not

Compaffed the Death of the late King, Contrived

the Death of the King ; what I did I did by Au-
thority.

Court. This is not to be heard ; you have heard

what hath been faid to you, there could be no

fuch Authority, neither was, nor could be ; but

you would by a Wire-lace bring it in by this.

You have confefled the Fact, which mufl be left

to the Jury.

L. Anfley. I think you were prefent in the

Houfe of Commons when that Vote palled for

Agreement with the King in the Treaty at the

JJle of Wight. You know the King having con-

defcended to moll of the Defires of his Parlia-

ment, there was a Debate in the Houfe, and a

Conclufion that they were Grounds for Peace.

You know the Lords and Commons did rcfolve

to agree with their King j when that was done,

that would not fatisfie you, and other Members
of the Houfe j then you go and contrive New
Ways; you contrive a New-fafhioned Parlia-

ment, the driving away many Members by Power,
which you could not do by the Law of the Land :

Nay, the Parliament had declared againft: That
which you pretend is by Authority, is no Au-
thority j for a few of you fet up an Arbitrary

Parliament of a few of yourfelves, when you hid

driven away the reft : This Kind of Parliament

gives you the Authority you pretend to. You
were faying that the Parliament was called at

firft, the Lords and Commons, by the King, ac-

cording to the Ancient Constitutions of the

Laws : Did fuch a Parliament give you fuch Au-
thority as you pretend to, an Aft of Parliament,

as you call it, which was but an Order of fome
of the Commons, and but a few of them } you
can have no Manner of Juftification, and there-

fore your Plea muft be over-ruled, as Yefterday

it was in the like Cafe. You are Indicted upon
a clear Aft of Parliament of if Edward III.

and you defend your felf upon Pretence of an
Aft of Parliament, which hath been over-ruled

as no Aft.

Carew. I am a Stranger to many of thefe things

whichyou have offered, and this Isfirange, you give

Evidence fitting as a "Judge.

Lord Chief Baron. You are miftaken, it is not
Evidence} he (hews you what Authority that

was, an Authority of 26 Members: How is this

Evidence? Mr. Carew, if you have any Thing
more of Fact, go on: If you have nothing but
according to this kind of Difcourfe, I am com-
manded to direct the Jury.

Carew. I am very willing to leave it with the

v give Di-
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Lord, if you will flop me that I cannot open the

true Nature of thofe Things that did give meground

of Satlsfaclion In my Confclence that I did It from
the Lord.

Mr. Sol. Gen. I do pray, for the Honour of
God, and our King, that he may not be fuffered

to go on in this manner. You have been fuffered

to fpeak } you have faid but little, only Sedition,

you pretend a Confcience, and the Fear of the
Lord, when all the World knows you did it

againft the Law of the Lord, your own Con-
fcience, the Light of Nature, and the Laws of
the Land, againft the Oaths you have taken of
Allegiance and Supremacy.

Carew. Gentlemen of the Jury, I fay I Jhall

leave it with you. this Authority I fpeak of is

right, which was the Supreme Pozver, It is well

known what they were.

Council. It is fo indeed, many have known
what they were.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Carew, You have been
heard what, and beyond what, was fit to fay in

your own Defence } that which you have faid,

the Heads of it you fee the whole Court hath
over-ruled. To fuffer you to expatiate againft

God, and the King, byB'ifphemy, is not to be
endured} it is fuffering Poifon to go about to

infect the People} but they know now too well
the Old Saying, In Nomine Domini, in the Name
of the Lord* all Mifchiefs have been done; that

hath been an Old Rule. I muft
rections to the Jury.

Lord ChiefBaron. Gentlemen of theJury
Carew. I have defired to fpeak the TVords of

truth and Sobernefs, but have been hindered.

Lord Chief Baron. Gentlemen of theJury, you
fee the Prifoner here at the Bar hath been In-
dicted of Treafon, and this was for Compaffing
and Imagining the Death of our Sovereign Lord,
King Charles the Firft of BlefTed Memory. This
Indictment fets forth feveral Overt- Acts to prove
this Imagination, for otherwife it is Secret in

the Heart } the Fact itfelf, the Treafon itfelf, is

the Imagination of the Heart: The Overt- Ails
that are laid down in the Indiftment to prove
this, "that they did confult and meet together how to

put the King to Death, That they did fit upon him :

And Thirdly, That they did Sentente him to Death,
and afterwards he Died. You heard what is

proved againft the Gentleman, the Prifoner at

the Bar, by feveral WitnefTes, his own Confef-

fion, That he figned the Warrant for Summon-
ing and Convening that Court together, whereby
the King was to be brought to his Trial} and
that he fate at his Sentence, and iflued the War-
rant for his Execution : You faw that this Gen-
tleman did the Fact, did Compafs and Imagine
the King's Death. That which you are to try

is this Iflue, being Indicted for Hlgh-Trcafon, and
pleading Not guilty, whether this Gentleman
that went fo far, Sate upon him, Condemned
him, Signed the Warrant for his Execution, did

not Compafs and Imagine the King's Death? I

think you need not ftir from the Bar where you
are, but I leave that to you.

After a wry fmall Time of Confutation

by the Jury amongfl themfelves at the

Bar, they agreed in a Verdibl.

Silence was Commanded.

Clerk. John Carew. Hold up thy Hand. Gen-

tlemen of the Jury, look upon the Prifoner

:

How
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How fay you? Is he Guilty of the horrid

Treafon whereof he ftands Indicted, or Not

guilty ?

Fore-man. Guilty.

Clerk. What Goods and Chattels, fjfV.

Jury. None that we know of.

Mr. Scot' j- Trial, on Friday October

12, 1660, at the Seflions-Houle

aforenamed.

Clerk. Set Thomas Scot to the Bar, (which was
accordingly done.) "Thomas Scot, Holdup thy Hand.

Thefe Men that have been of the la ft Jury are

to Try, 13 c. If you will Challenge all, or any

of them, you mud Challenge them before they

are Sworn.
Scot. 1 defire that thofe Men who have heen of

theformer Jury may not be named. I know my Li-

berty of excepting againjl my Number.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scot, That which you
do defire is a Thing not right j the Offence with

one is not the fame with others : I fpeak not but

that the Court will do you all Right ; the Court

will grant it, if you will wave your Challenges

;

but if you mean thofe that have been by others

Challenged, it is againft Law.
Scot. / am willing to bring my felfupon my Trial,

and I will take the ordinary Way of Excepting and

Challenging.

Sir Hen. Worth, Sir Jer. Whichcote, James
Hawley, Rich. Rider, Fra. Beale, Chr. Abdy,

Nicho. Raynton, Tho. Winter, John Kirke, Rich.

Abel, Sir Tho. Aleyn, Abr. Scudamore, Ralph Hal-

fall, George Tirrey, Tho. Swallowe, Charles Pic-

kerne, Arthur Newman, Tho. Blithe, William

Vincent, Rich. Whaley, were called and chal-

lenged.

Thomas Grover, Edw. Rolfe, Tho. Ufman, Wil-

liam Whitcombe, Rich. Cheney, Tho. Bide, Charles

Pitfield, John Smith, Tho. Morris, Tho. Fruen,

Henry Twyford, Samuel Starnel, were the Jury
Sworn.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation.

Cryer. O Yes, if any Man can inform my
Lords the King's Juftices, (3c.

Clerk. Tho. Scot. Hold up thy Hand. You that

are fworn of this Jury you fhall underftand that

the Prifoner at the Bar ftands Indicted by the

Name of Tho. Scot
7

late of Wefiminfler, in the

County of Middlefex, Gent. For that he, toge-

ther with John Lifle, &c [Here the Indicl-

ment was read.~\ Unto which Indictment he

hath been arraigned, and thereunto hath plead-

ed Not guilty, and for his Trial hath put him-

felf upon God and the Country, which Coun-
try you are. Now your Charge is to enquire

whether, (3c.

Mr. Sol. Gen. You that are fworn of this Jury,

this Inquifition for Blood, Royal Blood, goes on

againft the Prifoner at the Bar ; he ftands Indict-

ed for Compafling, Imagining, and Contriving

the Death of the late King, of BlefTed Memo-
ry : It is laid to his Charge in the Indictment,

that he did Aflemble at Wefiminfler, and that he,

with other Perfons,ufurped the Authority of Sit-

ting and Sentencing to Death his faid late Maje-
fty, and that in Confequence and Purfuance of

that the King came to his Death : The Trea-

fon he ftands charged with is the Compaffing and

Imagining the King's Death ; the other Parts of

the Indictment are but Overt-Acts, that do but
evidence and prove the Corruption of his Heart.

If wejprovebut fome of thefe Overt-Acts, then

you muft find him Guilty. Our Evidence againft

this Gentleman will be thus: We fhall call Wic-
nefTes to prove his Sitting in the Court, Senten-

cing his King, while his King flood a Prifoner

at the Bar j the Warrant for Execution of the

King, directed to certain Peifons to fee Execu-
tion done accordingly, was under Hands and
Seals, and among thofe Hands and Seals the Hand
and Seal of the Prifoner at the Bar is one : And
then we fhall produce to your Lordfhips Witnef-
fes to fhew you with what a hard and impeni-

tent Heart this hath been Committed j for he fo

gloried in the Act, that he defired it might be
writ upon his Tomb—

Mr. Nutley, Mr. Kirke, Mr. Mafterfon, and

Mr. Clark, fworn.

Council. Mr. Mafterfon, be pleafed to tell my
Lords and the Jury if you have feen the Piifoner

at the Bar fit in that which they called the High

Court ofjuflice.

Mr. Maflerfon. My Lords, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, I faw the Prifoner at the Bar prefent

at the High-Court of Juftice (as they called it)

for the Trial of the late King fome Daysj that

is to fay, either upon the nd or 13d Day of

January 1648, but particularly upon the 27th

Day of that Month in the faid Year, when the

Sentence of Death was pronounced againft bis

late Majefty, I faw the Prifoner at the Bar pre-

fent.

Council. As one of the Judges, do you mean?
Mr. Mafterfon. As one of the Judges fitting

upon the Bench.
Scot. Doyou know whereabouts Ifate ?

Mr. Mafterfon. I cannot fatisfie you in that,

but 1 faw you fitting upon one of the Benches.

Council. Mr. Clark, you hear the Queftion,

pray anfwer what you know touching it.

Mr. Clark. My Lords, and you Gentlemen of

the Jury, I was prefent in the Year 1648, when
his late Majefty flood a Prifoner at the Bar in

'

that which they called the High Court of Juftice,

and among other Perfons there prefent in that

Bufinefs, I obferved Mr. Scot, the Prifoner at the

Bar, to fit as one of the Judges, and particular-

ly upon the 13d and 27th Days of January in the

faid Year, upon which laft Day the Court pro-

nounced Judgment upon the late King.

Council. Did he ftand up as afTenting to the

Sentence ?

Mr. Clark. They all flood up, to my Appre-

henfion, I know not particularly whether the

Prifoner at the Bar did.

Council. Mr. Kirke, tell my Lords and the Ju-
ry your Knowledge in this Bufinefs touching the

Prifoner at the Bar.

Mr. Kirke. I was prefent at the Trial of his late

Majefty feveral Daysj among the reft of the Per-

fons that fate in the Court as Judges, I faw

the Prifoner at the Bar, and particularly upon
the Day of the Sentence, the 2.7th of January

1648, the Court ftood up unanimoufiy as afTent-

ing.

Council. Shew him the Warrant for Execu-
tion.

Kirke. This is his Hand,
Council.
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Council. Have you feen his Hand often ?

Kirke. Yes, Sir, and am well acquainted with

it.

George Farrington Sworn.

Council. Shew Mr. Farrington the Warrant ;

do you know that to be Mr. Scot's Hand-wri-

ting?

Mr. Farrington. I did not fee him write it, but

I do verily believe it to be his j 1 have often feen

his Hand-writing.

Council. Mr. Nutley, do you know Mr. Scot's

Hand-writing? Is that Mr. Scot's Writing? [The

Warrant fhewn him~\

M. Nutley. I do verily believe is is.

Council. Have you been acquainted with the

Writing of his Name ?

Mr. Nutley. I have feen him write his Name,
and do verily believe it to be his Hand.

Council. Clerk, read the Warrant. He read it

accordingly.

Council. That which remains of our Evidence
is to prove hisboafting of this Villainy ; we fhaVT

defire you to hear Sir Theophilus Biddolph.

Sir Theophilus Biddolph Sworn.
Council. Pray tell my Lords and the Jury what

you have heard the Prifoner fay touching this

Bufinefs of putting the King to Death.
Sir Theophilus Biddolph. I did hear him confefs

that he did fit as one of the Judges of the late

King; and that he was fo far from repenting of

the Aft, that he did defire when he died that a

Tomb-ftone might be laid over him with this

Infcription, Here lies Thomas Scot, who adjudged

to Death the late King.

Council. Where did he fay this?

Sir Theo. Biddolph. In the Parliament-Houfe.

Colonel Copley, Efqj Sworn.
Council. Pray, Mr. Copley, tell my Lords what

you know of this Bufinefs.

Mr. Copley. My Lord, I was one of the Seclu-

ded Members j when we were called to fit in the

Houfe again, the Prifoner at the Bar, Mr. Tho-

mas Scot, (I think it was the laft Day we fate,)

there being fome fpeaking of the horridnefs of
the Eaft, he made a long harangue about that

horrid Aft ; and he faid, He hoped he Jhould never

repent of it, and defired that when he died it

might be written upon his Tomb-ftone, Here
lies Thomas Scot, who adjudged to Death the late

King.

Council. We have done with our Evidence.
Court. Sir Theophilus Biddolph, When was it

you heard him fpeak thofe Words?
Sir Theo. Biddolph. To my belt Remembrance

it was in Richard's Parliament ; it was about
January or February was Twelve-months.

Council. Were not you a Member for the Ci-
ty of London in that Parliament?

Sir T. Biddolph. Yes.
Council. Mr. Copley, When was it that you

heard it?

Mr. Copley. It was in April laft.

M. Sol. Gen. It was a fettled Perfuafion of his
Heart, and he thought it fit to be gloried in.

The Lord Mayor Elecl Sworn.
Council, Pray, my Lord, tell my Lords what

you know concerning the Prifoner at the Bar.
Lord Mayor Elecl. My Lords, I was one of

thole Secluded Members that were returned a-

gain a little before the coming in of hisMajefty:
Upon the laft Day of our Sitting, Mr. Scot fee-
ing the Houfe muft break, faid, Their Heads muft

33?
be laid to the Block if there was a new Parliament

\

for faid you, [looking on Mr. Scotf\ I confefs I
had a Hand in putting the King to Death, and I
defire all the World may take Notice of it, and I
defire when 1 die it may be written on my Tomb.
I do not repent of any Thing I have done ; if it were
to do I could do it again.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Do it again ! He follows his

Blows home.
William Lenthall, Efqj Sworn.

Council. Mr. Lenthall, pray be pleafed to tell

my Lords, and the Jury, what you do remember
of any Difcourfe of Mr. Tho. Scot, (the Prifoner

at the Bar,) tending to the glorying in this Act,
or any Thing in Justification of that Act.

Mr. Lenth. My Lords, the laft Day it was,

the laft Inftant of Time, we were rcfdving of
breaking the Houfe, there was fome Oppofition
in ir, not very much : The general Confent of
the Houfe was to diffolve it 5 I mult confefs at

that Time I did hear Mr. Scot much juftifit: that

Aft of the Death of the King, (which truly I

was much offended at,) I confefs to you upon
my Oath touching his Speech of the Infcription

upon his Tomb I did not hear that : Juftifying

the Death of the King he made a long Harangue
about, and he fate at the upper end of the Gal-
lery ; but thefe Words, Of having it written up-

on his Tomb, and to have all the World take Notice

of it, I do not remember.
Council. My Lords, my Lord Mayor Elecl omit-

ted fomethingj pray let him fpeak to it.

Lord Mayor Elecl. My Lords, the Conclufion

of his Speech ended thus ; Being it is your P.lea-

fure to have it fo, (the Houfe Diffolved) / know
not how to hinder it ; but when that is done, I know
not where to hide this hated HEAD of mine.

Council. We defire to hear what the Prifoner

will fay for himfelf.

Scot. / have no Certaintyfrom the Witneffes that

Iwas there, but in a Wandering Way, they knozv not

where Ifate, nor my Poflure.

Mr. Baker Sworn.

Council. We do not call this Witnefs as mate-

rial, for we muft infill upon it quite through,

that after twelve Years Time it is not poffible a

Witnefs fhould remember where every particular

£erfon fate. Pray hear this Witnefs.

Mr. Baker. I do perfeftly remember that Mr.
Scot fate Two Rows above Mr. Bradfhaw on his

Left Hand in that which they called the High-

Court of Juftice.

Scot. Js to the Warrant you fpeak of, I know
not what it fignifies, I defire to know what the Na-
ture of it is.

Council. The Warrant hath been read ; it is not

produced againft him as a Record, for then it

needed not be proved : But it is produced a-

gainft him as an Evidence in Writing under his

own Hand, that he was confenting to the Death
of the King.

Scot. They may very much miftake my Hand', you

fpeak of Words that 1fhould utter in Parliament, 1

do humbly infift upon it that I am not to anfwer,

nor they aHedge, any Thing of that Nature : It is

a high Breach of Privilege.

Council. There is no Privilege of Parliament

for Treafon. Firft, fome of the Words were

fpoken in Richard's Parliament, and that you do

not own to be a Parliament j then another Thing

(a known Rule in Law) there is no Privilege of

Parliament for Treafon.
Scot.
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Scot. 1 have heard the Rule, but do not fo well

underftand it) ofthatfpoken in Richard'*Parliament ;

it will be a Nice 'Thing for me to diftinguijh between

that and another Parliament } but this J think, that

Convention of the People ought to have the Privilege

of the Parliament, as well as any other. I humbly

conceive it was Teftimony ought not to be given to you

;

whatever Ifay in Parliament, the Privilege extends

to no more than this, that I may be lawfully fecured

till the Parliament hath been acquainted with it,

but not finally concluded till the Parliament have
heard it.

Lord Chief Baron. You are Indicted for Com-
paffing and Imagining the Death of the King : I

would have you underftand, that in cafe a Man
fhould commit an Act ofTreafon, be it in what
Place foever, there is no Place of Sanctuary for

Treafon: In cafe of Felony, ifa Man be Indicted

for Felony in the Parliament- Houfe, during the

Tjme of Parliament, this is not to be tried in

Parliament, but according to the Rule of Com-
mon Law ; fo in cafe of Treafon, the Houfe of
Commons in Parliament doth not try Treafons :

That Diftinction which you make is nothing.

Scot. I humbly conceive there is fuch a Privilege
',

that no Man fhall ever be called to Account for any

thing fpoken in Parliament, if he be not called to

Account by the Houfe before any other Member be

fuffered to fpeak.

Lord Chief Baron. That is, the Houfe will not
determine ; but that doth not extend to your Cafe,

you are not charged here criminally for fpeaking

thofe Words that have been teftified againflyou ;

but for Compaffing and Imagining the King's

Death, of which there are other Evidences, and
this but an Evidence to prove that.

Scot. My Lord, Inever didfay thefe Woods with

that Aggravation which is put upon them, I have a
great deal of hard Meafure, as to fay, I hope I

fhall never repent, I take God to witnefs I have of-

ten, becaufe it was fpoken well of byfome, and ill by

others, I have by Prayers and Tears oftenfought the

Lord, that if there were Iniquity in it he wouldfhew
it me> I do affirm I did not fay fo.

Mr. Baker. My Lord, I omitted fomething,
which was this ; I had occaflon to fpeak with
Mr. Scot whilft Richard's Parliament was Sitting,

and among other Difcourfe infilling upon fome
Things that Richard had done, faith he, I have
cut off one Tyrant's Head, and I hope to cut off

another.

Scot. My Lord, this is but a fingle Witnefs.

Mr. Sol. Gen. I fuppofe he meant Richard, for

he was a Tyrant.
Lord ChiefBaron. Speak on, Mr. Scot, whatever

you have to fay.

Scot. If that be laid afide as an Impertinency, I
have the lefs to fay.

Lord Chief Baron. The next Thing you have
to do is to anfwer to the Fact, whether you did

it, or did it not.

Scot. Ifay this, whatever Idid, be it more or lefs,

I did it by the Command and Authority of a Parlia-

mentary Power } / did fit as one of the Judges of
the King, and that doth juftifie me, whatever the

Nature of the Fatl tvas.

Lord Chief Baron. We have had thefe Things
alledged before us again and again : The Court

hath any Coercive Power over the King, neither

Single Perfons nor a Community, neither the

People Collectively nor Reprefentatively. In
the next Place, that which you offer to be done
as by Authority of Parliament, it was done by a
few Members of the Houfe of Commons j there

were but 46 there at that Time, and of thofe 46,
not above 26 that voted it; at that Time the

Houfe of Lords was fitting, who had rejected

it, and without them there was no Parliament}

there was a Force upon the Parliament, there

was excluded Seven Parts of Eight : Suppofing
you were a full Houfe of Commons, and that

without Exception, there was not Authority
enough ; and it is known to you, (no Man
better,) that there never was a Houfe of Com-
mons, before this Time that this Foul Act was
made for erecting that High-Court of Juflice,

(as you call'd it,) affumed that Authority of ma-
king a Law j you cannot pretend to Act by Au-
thority of Parliament ; and becaufe you would
excufe it, you did it by Authority of Parliament,

whether it were good or no : If any Man do
that which is unlawful by an unlawful Autho-
rity, the affuming to do it by that Authority is

an Aggravation, not an Extenuation, of the

Fact : it was over-ruled -, 1 think my Lords
will tell you, That they do not allow of that

Authority at all, either to be for Jutt ification or
Plea.

Scot. My Lords, 1 humblypray leave to fay, that

without Offence to the Court, (every Perfon whereof
I honour) this Court hath not Cognizance to declare

whether it were a Parliament or no.

Lord Chief Baron. That was objected too 3 and
we rauft acquaint you, That firft of all it is no
Derogation to Parliaments, that what is a Sta-

tute mould be adjudged by the Common Laws.
We have often brought it into Quellion, whe-
ther fuch and fuch a Thing was an Act of Par-

liament, or not 5 any Man may pretend to an

Authority of Parliament : If Forty Men fhould
meet at ShooterS' Hill, as the Little Convention did

at Weftminfter, and fay, We do declare ourfelvcs a
Parliament of England j becaufe they do fo, fhall

not this be judged what is a Statute, and what
not? It is every Day's Practice, we do judge
upon it j the Fact is fo known to every Body,
they did aflume to themfelves a Royal Authority

,

it hath been over-ruled already ; it hath been the

Miflake of many ; the vulgar Acceptation of the

Word Parliament. A Parliament confifls of the

King, Lords, and Commons j it is not the

Houfe of Commons alone, and fo it is not by
Authority of Parliament : It is not, unlefs it be
by that Authority which makes up the Parlia-

ment : You cannot give one Inflance that ever

the Houfe of Commons did affume the King's

Authority.

Scot. / can many, where there was nothing but

a Houfe of Commons.
Court. When was that ?

Scot. In the Saxons Time.

Court. You fay it was in the Saxons Time}
you do not come to any Time within 600 Years j

you fpeak of thofe Times wherein Things were
obfeure.

Scot. I know not but that it might be as lawful

are clearly fatisfied in themfelves that this Act for them to make Laws as this late Parliament, being

could not be done by any Parliamentary Power called by the Keepers of the Liberties of England:
whatfoever. I mufl tell you what hath been My Lords, I have no Seditious Dejign, but to fub-

delivered, that there is no Power on Earth that mit to the Providence of God.

Court.
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Court. This is Notorious to every Man •, this

we have already heard and over- ruled.

L. Finch. That that I hope is this, That Mr.

Scot will contradict that which he hath faid be-

fore j that is, that he hopes he fhould not Re-

pent, I hope he doth defire to Repent. Mr.

This Declaration you know was by Order of

both Houfes affixed in all Churches of England,

that People might take Notice what they held

to be the fundamental Government of this

Kingdom, King, Lords, and Commons : After
this for you to let up another Government, and

Scot, for this we mull over-rule it, as we have under them to act luch Things that one would

done before, there is nothing at all to be plead- think fhould hardly enter into the Heart of any

cd to the Jurifdiclion, and this Point hath been Man. You know very well all along they dc-

dctermined before. clared themfelves Faithful Sujects to the King,

Scot, The Parliament in former Times confifted and fo would have lived and died ; and you

not fo much of King, Lords and Commons, but might have had your Share of the Happinefs of

King and Parliament. In the beginning of the Par-

liament in J64.I5 tl°e Bijhops were one of the Three

Eftates ; if it be not properly to be called a Parlia-

ment, a Legiflative Power, though it be not a Par-

liament, it is binding : If Two Eftates may take

away the Third, if the Second do not continue to

that Peace, if you could have had an Inclination

to fubmit to that which both Houfes had re-

folved. When you and others could not bring
your Hearts to Hoop to your Fellow Subjects,

when you could not fubmit to that equal Rule
to take your Share with them, when Pride

execute their Truft, he that is in Occupancy may have carried iome fo high, then was the beginning of

a Title to the whole: I do affirm I have a Parlia- your Fall and others} and none could expect

mentary Authority, a Legiflative Power, tojuflifie me. other than what is now come to pafs, that they

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scot, what you fpeak Should come to that Shame and Sorrow that this

concerning the Lords Spiritual is nothing to Day hath brought upon you : I could have

your Cafe, be it either one Way or other, it wifhed to have heard nothing but an humble
was done by an Act of Parliament, with Con- Confeffion of the Fault that hath been clearly

fentof the King, Lords, and Commons ; though proved, and no Justification ol it : You have

you will bring it down to make thefe Commons fworn, among others, to prefeve the Laws and
have a Legiflative Power, I told you it was People of this Kingdom : but you drove away
over-ruled before. We have fufTeredyou to ex- not only the Houfe of Lords, but moft of the

patiate into that which was a Thing not inten- Commons, and then to give the Name of a

ded by many of my Lords, that you fhould have Parliament to the Remainder, this is a great

any fuch Power to expatiate into that which Aggravation of your Treafon. I think we of
is nothing but indeed to make a new Govern- the Secluded Members could not have difcharged

ment, which is the higeft Treafon next to the our Duty to God and the Kingdom if we had
Murthering of the King, in the World ; to fub- not then appeared in Parliament to have Diffol-

vert the Laws, and to make a few of the Com- ved that Parliament, and fo by our joint AfTent
mons, nay, if they had been the whole, to make put an End to all your Pretences, which if we
them to have the Legiflative Power. Mr. Scot, had not done, we had not fo foon come to our
if you have any Thing in Extenuation of the Happinefs, nor you to your Miferies.

Fact wc fhall hear you, further we cannot. Lord Chief Baron. The Court hath told you
L. Finch. If you fpe.de to this purpofe again, befo re their Opinions in the Thing, and no fur-

for my part I will profefs myfelf I dare not hear ther Debate is to be allowed in this, the Juftifi-

further of it •, it is fo Poilonous Blafphemous a cition of it doth comprehend Treafon; we our
Doctrine, contrary to the Laws, if you go up- lelves are not by Law to allow the Hearing of
on this Point, I fhali (and I hope my Lords will it. If you have nothing to fay for yourfelf I

be of that Opinion too) defire the Juiy may be muft give Direction to the Jury,
directed. Scot. / humbly crave Leave to move the Jury

Scot. I thought, my Lord, you would rather be that they bethink themfelves, and confider of it ra-

my Council j // is not my Jingle Opinion, I am not ther as a fpecial Verditl, than of a definitive one.

alone in this Cafe, therefore I think I may juflifie I think there is Caufe of a Special Verditl.

myfelf in it j it was the Judgment of many of the Court. If there was need of a Special Verdict,
Secluded Members to own us to be a Parliament. (we are upon our Oaths,) I fhould give Direc-

Lord Annefley. What you faid lafi; doth occafi- tion to the Juty. What we do, we do upon
on my Rifing j you feem to deliver my Opini- our Oaths, and mud anfwer it before God Ai-
on, who you know could never agree to what mighty. The Court hath delivered their Opi-
you have alledged ; truly I have been heartily nions before, that in this Cafe the pretended
forry to hear the Defence you have made to-day, Authority under which you did derive that Po-
becaufe you know I have had Letters from you wer which you did execute, that it is no Au-
"of another Nature ; I was very confident to have thority, it is void in Law, it is a Foundation (if

heard you an Humble Penitent this Day, inftead it were true) of fubverting all Laws, and indeed
of Justifying yourfelf: As to that which you of all Religion, a Power that you aflume to
fay of the Secluded Members owning you to be yourfelves of Judging and Condemning vour
a Parliament, they were fo far from k, that you King, that you would countenance fuch anAu-
know for how many Years they lay under Suf-

ferings and Obfcurity becaufe they could not ac-

knowledge that an Authority which was not fo :

You cannot forget the Declaration of both
Houfes that was publifhed upon a Jealoufie that

the People had, they would change the Go-
vernment of King, Lords and Commons ; it

was fo far from their Thoughts, it was called in

that Declaration, A Black Scandal caft upon them

:

Vol 11.

thority is a great Aggravation of the Fault.

They are Judges whether yoXi did Imagine or
Compafs the King's Death, that is all the Jurors
have to do, Gentlemen of the Jury

Scot. / would know what particular Law I
have tranfgreffed in this Thing.

Court. The Law of God and Man, 15 Edw. IIT.

Scot. / humbly conceive that reaches not to this

Cafe.

X x Court.
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but it is nothing in the Mat-

Court. To fatisfie you in that, the very Words
of the Statute are, If any Man do Compafs or

Imagine the Kings Death it is Treafon ; the In-

dictment is, That you did Imagine and Compafs
the Death of the King ; If the Fact be proved
againft you, you are within the Statute.

Scot. You will not fay the King Jhall be a Trai-

tor if he Jhall Compafs the Death of the Queen.

Court. The Queen is a Subject.

Scot. / am not yet convinced.

Lord Chief Baron. Gentlemen of the Jury—

—

Scot. I do plead and claim that I am within the

Compafs of federal Pardons, and defire Council in

that Particular ; I do come within the Compafs of
his Majefty's Pardon.

Lord Chief Baron. If you had not gone on to

Matter of Justification you might have been
more heard to this of Pardon ; but after a Justi-

fication then to come for a Pardon, which im-
plies a Confcflion of Guilt, they are Contradi-

ctory ; I m lift t<-ll you we are now upon Point

of Law. That Proclamation I doubt not but his

Majefiy will inviolably make good j but we are

not to Judge of that, it is nothing to a Legal
Proceeding : You are now in a Court of Law,
it is not to be pleaded in a Court of Law $ the

King's Pardon in Law muft be under his Broad
Seal : How far you are under that Proclamation

Care will be taken, and what is fitting to be
done will be done

ter of the Charge to this Jury.

Scot. / defire Council touching the Statute 23
Edw. III.

Court. You mould have done it before you had
.confefled the Fact..

Scot. I may do it in Arrefl of Judgment.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scot, for that of the

King's Proclamation, if you be within the Be-

nefit:- and Compafs of ir, accordii'g to his Royal
Word and Honour in it, ycu will have the Be-
nefit of it, but it is not a Plea in Law, but it

muft be a Pardon under Seal ; whatfoever con-
cerns that Proclamation will be confi.lered, it is

nothing to the Matter whereupon the Jury are

to go.

Lord Chief Baron. Gentlemen of the Jury,
you fee the Prifoner, The. Scot, ftands indicted

for Compafling and Imagining the Death of our
Dread Sovereign King Charles the Firft of moft
Glorious and BlefTed Memory : He is Indicted

for Compafling and Imagining his Death, there

is the Treafon ; and what is fet afterwards in

this Indictment is only to manifeft this Cornpaf-
fing and Imagining, becaufe that being in the

Heart alone, without fome Overt- Act no Body
can prove it: There are feveral Overt- Acts laid

in the Indictment j one is, A Traitorous Con-
fulting and Meeting together how to put the

King to Death : Then a fitting upon the King
as a Prifoner, being before them about his Life
and Death : The Third is Sentencing to Death j

that which followed is, that be was Murthered:
If any of thefe Acts fhould be proved the In-

dictment is proved } for the Proof, there are fe-

veral WitnefTes Wave fully proved that he did fit

there feveral Times, particularly upon Jan. 27.

which was the Day of the Sentence $ that he
did fit there all of them agree to that ; it is

true, as to the Circumftances where he fate,.

one Gentleman faith he fate in the Second Row,.
on the Left Hand of Bradjhaw, you will re-

member it is ii Years ago, how any Man upon

the View, and after fo long a Diftance of Time,
would be able to remember in what Pollute one
Man was from the reft, I think neither you nor
I can remember : Here is one proves to you that

he did Sign the Warrant for Executing the King j

he faith, How can another know his Hand? You
fee what the Witnefles fay, they knew it; a
Man can prove nothing more of another Man's
Hand than that, unlefsthey lee it written > there

is nothing to put upon you but his Words:
You fee what Words are Aggravated againft

Mr. Scot ; whereas he faith, it is a Breach of the

Privileges of Parliament j if it were i'o, it is

nothing to this Fact $ though another Man
fhould break the Privileges of Parliament, it

is nothing to you ; but betides, it is not a Breach
of the Privilege of Parliament. You have heard

the WitnefTes what they have faid againft him.

Mr. Lenthall fwears that he did fpeak at huge
fully in owning that Bufinefs of the King's

Death, the rell fwear pofitivtly to the fame

EfRct, and that at feveral Times ; what was
that ? He gloried in it, defended it, and faid,

He could wifij it were Engraven on his Tomb' Stone j

he hath denied this that the Witnefles have

proved : That which is left to you is, whether
the Prifoner at the Bar is Guilty of Compafling
and Imagining the King's Death ; and fo go to-

gether Jfter a little Confutation together

they fettled in their Places again.

Clerk. Tho. Scot, Hold up thy Hand. Look
upon the Prifoner at the Bar ; how fay you, is

he Guilty of the Treafon whereof he ftands in-

dicted ? Or Not Guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Clerk. Look to him, Keeper.

Clerk. You fay the Prifoner is Guilty, cjfr-

and fo ycu fay all ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Set Mr. Scot afide.

Clerk. Set John Jones and Gregory Clement to

the Bar.

Which was done accordingly.

Thereupon the faid Gregory Clement preferred

his Petition to the Court.

Indictment read againft them both.

yourLord Chief Baron. If you do confefs

Offence your Petition will be read.

Clem. I do, my Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Clement, if you do
confefs (that you may underfband it) you muft

when you are called, and when the Jury are to

be charged
; you muft fay, (if you will have it

go by Way of Confcffion,) that you wave your

former Plea, and confefs the Fact.

Clerk. Gregory Clement., you ha* e been Indict-

ed of High Treafon, lor Compafling and Ima-

gining the Death of his late Majefty, and you-

have pleaded Not Guilty ; are you contented to

wave that Plea, and confefs it?

Clem. I do confefs myfelf to be Guilty, my Lord'

Clerk. Set him afide.

Clerk. John Jones, hold up thy Hand. Thcfe

Men that were laft called, cjJV if you will Chal-

lenge all, or any of them, you muft Challenge

them when they come to the Book, and before

they are Sworn.
Jones. I confefs I fate among ft then: fome.Dayfjt

but not maUcionfiy contrived the Death of the King-

Council. He is troubled at the Form, he con*

fefleth the Matter, that he was theie fitting n*

the High-Court of Jultice. If he will not con-

kis



166c. O. B. two of the Regicides.

Fefs it, he knows we can prove his Hand and

Seal to that Bloody Warrant. He is troubled

that he is faid to have Traitoroufly and Malici-

oufly contrived the King's Death : He that doth

thefe Acls towards it is by Law iefponfible as to

xhe Malice.

Jury Sworn.

Sir Tho. Allen, Sir Henry Wroth, Sir Jer.

Whitchcott, James Hawley, Henry MHdmay,
Chrift. Abdy, Nich. Raynton, Richard Cheney,

Tho. Byde, Charles Pitfield, Abraham Scudamore,

Charles Pickerne, in all Twelve.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation.

Crier. If any Man can inform, &c.
• Clerk. "John Jones, Hold up thy Hand. Look
upon the Prifoner, &c.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, I mult open to you, as to other Ju-

ries, that the fhort Point of this long Indict-

ment is but this, that the Prifoner at the Bar

did Imagine and Compafs the Death of the King,

which is your Iflue to Try. We fhall prove it

by thofe Overt-Acts which the Law doth re-

quire. To prove the Sitting, Sentencing, and

Signing the Warrant for Execution by the Pri-

foner at the Bar.

Council. Call Mr. Clark, and Mr. Carr, and

Holl. Sympfon, who were fworn.

Mr. Sympfon, did you fee the Prifoner at the

Bar fitting in that which they called the High-

Court of Juflice ?

Sympfon. I did fee Mr. Jones fit divers Times,

both there, and in the Painted Chamber.

Jones. / do confefs I fate divers times.

Council. Did he Sit the Day of Sentence?

Sympfon. I cannot fay it.

Council. Mr. Clark, you hear the Qneftion,

pray anfwer my Lord.

Clark. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury,

I was there the 17th of January 1648. I faw

Colonel Jones there feveral Days before, but I

did not fee him that Day ; his Name was called,

but I d } not know whether he was Prefent.

Council. Mr. Carr, did you fee him fit on the

27th Day, which was the Day of Sentence?

Carr. My Lords, he anfwered to his Name
fome Days, I am not able to tell what Day.

Mr. Nutley fworn.

Council. Can you tell whether the Prifoner at

the Bar was prefent in that which they called

the High Court of Juftice ?

Nutley. The Prifoner at the Bar was feveral

times in the Court which was called the High

Court of Juftice ; truly I cannot fay whether he

was there the 2.7th Day, the Day of the Sen-

tence.

7he Warrant for Summoning the Court beingfjewed.

Council. Is that Mr. Jones's Hand (the Prifo-

ner at the Bar) fet to that Warrant ?

Nutley. 1 have been acquainted with his

Hand, I do believe it is.

The Warrant for Execution alfo fhewed.

Council. Is that the fame Hand-writing?
Nutley. Yes, I believe it is j he hath written

feveral Letters to me.
Mr. Hartlib fworn.

Court. Mr. Hartlib, do you know Mr. Jones's

Hand?
Hartlib. I never did fee him write, but I have

feen feveral Letters out of Ireland, and other

Papers which have been fuppofed to be his

Hand-writing j this feems to be like that which
was reputed to be his Hand,
Vol. II.
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Council. Mr. Clark, do you know Mr. Jones's

Hand- writing?
Clark. I have feen feveral Letters of CoL

Jones's, and thefe are like his Hand-writing; I

do believe they are his Hand-writing.

Mr. Jones looks upon them both, and con-

feffes they are like his Hand-writing.

Council. We have given our Evidence: What
do you fay for your klf before Charge be given
to the Jury ?

Jones. I have little to fay, your Lordfiips have
already heard what is to be faid in this Cafe , I
have nothing to fay to the Point -, I am not fit to

Plead any 'Thing, efpecially in Matter of Law ; I
muft wholly put myfelf upon the Lord, and this Ho-
nourable Court and Jury.

Lord Chief Baron. Gentlemen of the Jury,
here is this Prifoner, John Jones, Hands Indicted,

for that he, with others, did Compafs and Ima-
gine the King's Death, that is the Subftance of
the Indictment. The Indictment lets forth feve-

ral Acts, each proving the Compafling and Ima-
gining the King's Death: One of them is, that

he did confult and meet together, and propound
how the King fhould be put to Dear.h : The Se-

cond is, they did aflume a Power to Judge the

King : The Third is, that they did actually lit

upon him : And the laft of them is, that they

fentenced the King, and afterwards the King
was murthered. The whole Subftance is, whe-
ther he did Compafs and Imagine the King's

Death. If any one of thefe Particulars that are

alledged for the Overt-Acts be proved, you are

to find the Indictment. Pie hath confefled very

Ingenuoufly, that he did fit upon the King, that

he did fit in that Court, and fo there is an
Overt-Act proved r if nothing elfe, you ought
to find him guilty of this Treafon. There is

further Evidence (though not any Evidence of

his fitting the laft day of the Sentence,) you
have had Three comparing Similitudes of Hands
to prove that he did Sign that Sentence, that

horrid Inftrument, whereby the King was or-

dered to be put to Death ; one of them having

received Letters from Ireland, and others ac-

quainted with his Hand, fay, that it is like his

Hand 5 he hath fo confefled the Likenefs of his

Hand, but he faith, he doth not remember he

Signed it. As to you of the Jury, there is no
more to be confidered, if any one of the Acts do
appear true to you, that is fufBcicnt to find him
guilty, (though he were not guilty of all ;) but

that he did Compafs and Imagine the King's

Death is clear, in Sitting and Signing the War-
rant j for the other, whether you fhall find that

he did Sentence the King, that muft be left to

you. Whatfoever it is, ftill it is the fame; if

any one be proved you ought to find him guilty

of the Indictment, which is the Compafling and

Imagining the King's Death. I think you need

not ftir from the Bar, for he hath confefled it.

The Jury went together, and after a little

Confutation returned to their Places.

Clerk. Are you agreed of your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you?

Jury. Our Fore-man.

Clerk. John Jones, Hold up thy Hand. Look
upon the Prifoner at the Bar. How fay ye, ij

he Guilty, &c.
Fore-man. Guilty.

X x 2 Clerk,
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Clerk.

Clerk.

ty, fjiV.

Jury.
Clerk.

5j. The Trial-'of'Thomas Scot, &c. 1% Car. II.

Look to him, Keeper.

You fay the Prifoner at the Bar is Guil-

andfo you fay all?

Yes.

Set all that have been Tried this Day

to the Bar.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Scot, I muft fpeak a

Word to youj you made mention of the King's

Proclamation for Pardon, and you did defire the

Benefit of it. As I told you before, fo now
again, that it was not proper for us upon that

Proclamation to give any Allowance by Way of

Plea, becaufe the Pardon ought to be under the

Broad Seal-, but God forbid but juft and due

Confideration fhould be had of it with Honour,

fo far as you are comprehended within if, though

Judgment mall pafs, no Warrant for Execution

{hall go out againft you till Confideration be

had, how far you are within the Compafs of that

Proclamation ; and the like to you, Mr. Scroop.

Clerk. Adrian Scroop, Hold up thy Hand.

Thou haft been Indi&ed of High-Treafon, and

haft thereof been found Guilty : What canft

thou fay for thy felf why Judgment fhould not

pafs for thee to Die according to Law?
Scroop. / do humbly fubmit to hi§ Majefty's

Mercy.

Clerk. John Carew, Hold up thy Hand. Thou
art in the like Condition with the former, what

canft thou fay, t§c.

Carew. / commit my Caufe unto the Lord.

Clerk. Thomas Scot, Hold up thy Hand. Thou
art in the like Condition with the former, what

canft thou fay, £jV.

Scot, I Jhall only fay, I do only caft myfilfupon

His Majefiy, and pray Mercy.

Clerk. John Jones, Hold up thy Hand. Thou
art in the like Condition with the former, what

haft thou to fay, &c.

Jones. 1pray his Majefy's Clemency.

Clerk. Gregory Clement, Hold up thy Hand.

Thou ftandeft Indi&ed of High-Treafon, and

thereunto haft pleaded Guilty, what canft thou

fay, 13c.

Clement. Ipray Mercy from the King.

Lord Chief Baron. You that are Prifoners at

the Bar, ye fee the Sentence of Death is to pafs

againft you •, and for ought you know, or we
know yet, may be nearer than you are aware :

How foon it will be executed we know not

;

when you have refleded upon your own Con-
ferences, many of you could not chufe but look

there, and fee, as in a Glafs, the Foulnefs of

this horrid Offence : It is the Murder of our mofi

Gracious Sovereign King Charles the Firft. of Blef-

fecl Memory ; a Prince whom we (fuch of us as

had the Honour perfonally to attend him) knew
was of fuch Parts and Virtues, if he had been a

Private Man more could not have been defiredj

truly what he did as a King, his Clemency, how
it appeared at firft in this Prince's time : If you

look what Peace aud Profperity we enjoyed in

his Days, we will not find it in other Kings

Times ; you had not a Nobleman put to Death,

fave One, and that for an Offence which muft

not be named; a Prince that had granted fo

much: You may remember what was granted

before the Beginning of thefe Wars; Grievances

complained of, Star-Chamber, High-Commif-

fion Court, Ship-mony, the Claim of Stannery,

&V. all thefe were taken away : What Concef-

fions he made after in the IJle of Wight j how

much he wooed and courted the People for Peace.

I urge this unto you only that you would lay ic

to your Hearts, that you would eonfider what ic

is to Kill a King, and to Kill fuch a King. If

any of you fhall fay, that we had no Hand in the

aclual Murtherof the King, remember that they
that brought him to the Bar, were all one as if

they had brought him to the Block; as St. Paul
confefTed, though he held but the Cloths, he
killed the Martyr Stephen. You are fhortly ,to

appear before God's Tribunal, and I befeecf*

God Almighty that he will giye you, and us alj,

thofe Hearts, that we may look into ourfelves;

no Fig-leaves will ferve the Turn > whatfocver
you have fajd now as Prifoners, or allowed to

fay for your own Prefervation in Point of Fact $

notwithfianding it will not ferve before God Al-

mighty: All Things are naked before him. Lay
it to your Heart?; God Almighty, though you
have committed thefe foul and horrid Sins, yet
he can Pardon you, as he pardoned that Murthtr
of David : I fpeak it to you, that you may lay

it to your Hearts. I am heartily forry, in Re-
fpe£t you are Perfons ofgreat Civility, and (thofe

that I know) of very good Parts; and this £

muft fay, That you will eonfider with yourfelves,

if any of you have been Jed away, though ic

were with his own Conference, if any gf yon
did it, as you conceived, in Confcience, remem-
ber that our Saviour faith, the Time Jhall come
when they will perfecute you, and kill you, and
think they do God good Service. I have the Judg-
ment of Charity, poffibly fome of you did it in

this Kind, and this is lefs than doing it wilfully j

others might do it by a mif-guided Confcience;
there is a Spiritual Pride ; Men may over-run
themfejves by their own Holinefs, and they may
go by pretended Revelations: Men may fay I

have prayed about fuch a Thing. (I do not fpeak

it with Reproach to any.) If a Msm ftiould

commit a Robbery, or Murther, meerly becaufe
he will, and ihould come and fay, I have prayed
againft it, and cannot underftand it to be a Sir>,

as one in Shropfhire did, and yet notwithstanding

killed his own Father and Mother; try your
own Spirits, you muft not think that every.

Fancy and Imagination is Confcience; Men may
have a ftrange Fancy and Prefumption, and that

they may call Confcience: Take heed, there is

a Spiritual Pride 5 the Devil doth many times ap-

pear like an Angel of Light; do not reft upon
that Self-confidence: Examine your Hearts, eon-

fider the Fa£c by the Word of God; that is the

Rule, the Law is to be applied to ir, Ecclef. viij.

Where the Word of a King is, there is Power ;

and who can fay unto him, What doft thou? That
is to fhew the Power of Kings in Scripture:

Remember withal that of David in Pfalm li«

that Penitential Pfalm, when he fad committed,

that horrid Sin againft Uriah-, remember what
he faid being a King, Tibi foli peccavi, againft

thee only have Ifinned. Truly it being in fuch a

Cafe, I fpeak it as before God Almighty, accord-

ing to my Duty and Confcience, I wifh moft

heartily as to your Perfons ; I pray God to give

you that Grace that you may ferioufly eonfider

it, and lay it to Heart, and to have Mercy upon

you, and to forgive you, and this is all that I

have to fay ; and now not I, but the Sentence

of the Law, the Judgment which I have to give

againft you, is this, Tou Prifoners at the Bar, tbt

Judgment of the Court is, and the Court doth a<-

ward
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ward, that you be led back, &c. and the Lord

have Mercy on your Souls.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation.

Crier. O Yes, &c. All manner of Perfons, i$c.

Jurors and Witnefles,to appear to Morrow Morn-
ing at Seven of the Clack, at this Place ; fo God

fave his Majefty.

SeJ/ions-Houfe in the Old-Baily, O&ober

the 13th, 1660.

The Court being Affembled, Proclamation

was made.

Clerk of the Court. Set Cooky Peters, Hacker

,

and Axttl, to the Bar: They being brought, the

Keeper was afterwards ordered to take back all,

except Mr. Cook.

Clerk. John Cook, hold up thy Hand,&fc.

Jury. Sir J. Whitehcot, James Hawley, Jo.

Nichol of Henden, Tho. Nichol, F. 'Thorn, Edw.
Wilford, JVM. Gumbleton, Jo. Shelbury, Tho.

Jenney, Tho. Willet, Sir H. IVvoth, Richard Che-

ney, of the Jury called and fworn.

Mr. Cook. May it pleafe your Lordjhip, I do not

know any of thefe Perfons. I befeech your Lordjlnp,

that in regard the Safety of my Life depends upon

the Indifferency of thefe Perfons, that your Lordjhip

may demand of the Sheriff to know whether he hath

riot heard them fay, or any of them, that they are

pre-ingaged', I hope they are not, and thereupon 1

have not Challenged any.

Lord Chief Baron. Sir, the Officer reads their

Names out of his Papers, I fuppofe he doth not

pick and chufe them* I would not have himj
and I am fure he will not do you any Wrong in

that Particular.

Cook. My Lord, I am fitisfied.

Clerk. If any Man can inform, He.
Clerk. J.

Cook, Hold up thy Hand.
Cook. My Lords, I de-fire Pen, Ink and Paper.

Lord Chief Baron. Give k him.

Clerk. J.Cook. Hold up thy Hand. You that

are Sworn look upon the Prifoner 5 you (hall un-

derstand, (jV. \_Here the Indiclment was read as

before^

Mr. Sol. Gen. May it plea fe your Lordfhips,

and you Gentlemen that are Sworn of this Jury,

the Prifoner at the Bar (lands Indicted for High-
Treafon, for Comparing and Imagining the

Death of the late King of Blefled Memory

:

The Indictment fets forth, That he, together

with others, did aflemble at IVeftminfter-HaH,

and fers forth many other Particulars of Sitting,

Sentencing, and or the confequent Death and

Murder of the King. The Matter and Charge
of the Irid'i&ment is, for Comparing and Ima-
gining the Death of die King, the reft of the

Circumftances of the indictment are butallcdged

as Overt- Acts to prove the tlmagination, which
only is the Treafon. This Prifoner at the Bar
Hands here Indicted for this Treafon of Com-
pafling and imagining the late King's Death.
My Lord, his Part and Portion in this Matter
will be different from thofethat have been Tried
before you •, they fat as Judges to Sentence the

King, and he, my Lord, ftood as a wicked In-

Hrument of that Matter at the Bar, and there he
doth with his own Hand fublcribe and exhibit a

Charge of High-Treafon, a Scandalous Libel, a-

gainft our Sovereign, jq that pretended Court
to be read againft him, as an Accufation in the
Name of all the People of England; when he
had done that, he makes large Difcourfes and
Aggravations to prove (if it had been poftible)
Innocency itfelf to be Treafon. When he had
dorje, he would not fuffer his Majeliy to fpeafc

in his Defence, but ftill took him up, and laid,

fhat he did fpin out Delays, and defired that the
Charge might be taken as if he had confefTed it:

He prefled the Court that Judgment might be
given againft the King; he was the Man thac
did dernand that wicked Judgmenc before the
Court pronounced it; and he was the Man that
did againft his own Confidence, after he had ac-
knowledged that he was a Wife and Gracious
King, yet, fays he, That he muft die, and Monar-
chy with him; there in rruth was the Treafon
and the Caufe of that Fatal Blow that fell upon
the King. This was his Part to carry on ; how
he did it as a wicked Counfellor we fhall prove to
you, and the Wages and Reward of the Iniquity
that he did receive.

James Nutley Sworn.

Council. Pray tell the Circumftances of the
Priibner's Proceedings at TVeftminfter-Hall, when
he did exhibit a Charge againft the King.

Mr. Nutley. My Lords, the firft Day of bring-
ing his Majefty to his Trial was Saturday, Jan.
2,0, 1648. Before they fate in pubhek, they thac
wereofthe Committee of that which they called
the High-Court of Juftice, did meet in the Paint-
ed Chamber, which was in the Forenoon of that
Day. Being there, I did obferve that there was
one [Price a Scrivener that was writing of a
Charge j I ftood at a great diftanceand law him
write, I faw this Gentleman, the Prifoner ac
the Bar, near thereabouts where it was writing,
I think it was at the Court ofWards. This Charge
afterwards (a Parchment Writing) I did fee in
the Hands of this Gentleman the Prifoner at the
Bar. A very little after that they called their

Names they did adjourn from the Painted Cham-
ber into Weflminfter-Hall, the great Hall. The
Method that they obferved, the firft thing was
to call the Commiffioners by Name in the Act*
the pretended Act for trying the King was rend j

that is, when the Court was fate the Commiffio-
ners were called by their Names, and as I re-

member they flood up as their Names were cal-

led : The next thing was reading the Act for

trying of his late Majefty. After that was read,

then this Gentleman, the Prifoner at the Bar,
prefented the Parchment Writing, which was
called the Impeachment, or Charge, againft his

Majefty: Mr. Brad/haw was then Prefident of
that Court, and fo called Lord Prefident 5 he
commanded that the Prifoner fhould be fent for,

fiying, Serjeant Dendy fend for your Prifoner j

thereupon the King was brought up as a Prifo-

ner, and put within a Bar: And when the
Court was filenced, and fettled, this Gentleman,
the Prifoner at the Bar, did deliver the Charge,
the Impeachment to the Court, and it was read ;

the King was demanded to plead to it prefently.

Here I fhould firft tell you, that upon the King's

firft coming in there was a kind of Speech made
by Mr. Bradfhaw to the King in this Manner, I

think I fhall repeat the very Words, Charles

Stuart King of England, the Commons of England?,

ajfembled in Parliament, taking Notice of the Ef-
fufion
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fufion of Blood in the Land, which is fixed on you

as the Author of it, and whereof you are guilty,

have refolded to bring you to a trial and Judgment,

and for this Caufe this "Tribunal is eretied: There

was little Reverence given to his Majefty then,

which I was troubled at : He added this further,

that there was a Charge to be exhibited againfi him

by the Solicitor-General; I think this Gentleman

was fo called at that Time, and he called to him

to exhibit the Charge j and this Gentleman, (the

Prifoner at the Bar,) did deliver an Impeach-

ment, a Parchment Writing, which was called

a Charge againfi: the King at that Time, which

was received, and read againfi: him.

Council. Did you ever fee the Charge ? [which

was now foewn to Mr. Nutley.]

Mr. Nutley. My Lords, I do believe that this

is the very Charge, I am confident it is the

fame Writing j 1 have often feen him write, and

by the Character of his Hand this is the fame.

Council. Go on with your Story.

My. Nutky. My Lords, immediately upon the

Delivery of this Charge of Impeachment which

was delivered in the King's Prefence, after it

was read the King was demanded to give an

Anfwer to it} His Majefty defired to fpeak

fomething before he did Anfwer to the pretend-

ed Impeachment, (for fo his Majeity was

pleafed to call it,) he did ufe Words to this

purpofe} faith he, I do wonder for what Caufe

you do convene me here before you : He look-

ed about him, faith he, I fee no Lords here,

where are the Lords? Upon this Mr. Bradjhaw,

the Prefident, for fo he was called, did interrupt

His Majefty, and told him, Sir, faith he, you

mufl attend the Bufinefs of the Court ; to that

Purpofe you are brought hither, and you muft

give a pofitive Anfwer to the Charge -, faith the

King, you will hear me fpeak, I have fomething

to fay before I Anfwer-, after much ado, he

was permitted to go on in the Difcourfe he was

in, fo far as they pleaf d. His Majefty did, I

was in the Hie of Wight, and there 1 was treated

with by divers Honourable Perfons, Lords and

Commons, a Treaty of Peace between me and

my People j the Treaty was fo far proceeded in

that it was near a Perfection: Truly (faith he)

I muft needs fay they treated with me honou-

bly, and uprightly } and when the Bufinefs was

come almoft to an End, then (faith he) was I

hurried away from them hither, I know not by

what Authority j now I defiretoknow by what

Authority I was called to this Place? That is

the firft Queftion I (hall ask you before I anfwer

the Charge. It was told him by Mr. Bradfhaw,

the Prefident,that the Authority that called him

hither was a Lawful Authority; he asked him

what Authority it was, the Second Time ; it was

anfwered him by the Prefident, that it was the

Authority of the Commons of England, AfTem-

bled in Parliament, which he affirmed then to

be the Supreme Authority of this Nation} the

King faid, I do not acknowledge its Authority :

Authority, if taken in the beft Senfe, it muft

be of Neceffity underftood to be Lawful, there-

fore I cannot affent to that} I am under a Power,

but not under an Authority } and there are many

unlawful Powers, a Power that is on the High-

way } I think I am under a Power, but not under

an Authority } you cannot judge me by the Laws
of the Land, nor the meaneft Subject. I wonder

you will take the Boldnefs to Impeach me, your
Lawful King. To this purpofe His Majefty was
pleafed to exprefs himfelf at that Time, with
more Words to that Purpofe. The King went
on to further Difcourfe concerning the Jurifdi-

ction of the Court. Brad/haw, the Prefident,

was pleafed to interrupt him, and told him fe-

veral times, that he trifled out the Court's Time,
and they ought not to indure to have their Ju-
rifdiction fo much as queftioned.

Court. Pray go on.

Mr. Nutley. This Gentleman at the Barl did
hear him demand the King's Anfwer feveral

times } a pofitive Anfwer was required of the

King-, the King often defired to be heard, and
he interrupted him again and again, feveral times,

2nd at length it was pray'd that the Charge that

was exhibited againft him might be taken pro

confeffb.

Court. By whom?
Nutley. By the Prifoner at the Bar, if fo be

that he would not Anfwer. This, my Lord, is

the Subftance of what I have to fay againft him.
Council. Mr. Nutley, pray what Difcourfe have

you had at any Time with the Prifoner at the
Bar concerning this Impeachment ?

Nutley. Truly, my Lord, I know the Gen-
tleman well, I was well acquainted with him,
and for the Satisfaction of my own Confcience,
(for I was very tender in the Bufinefs, and forry

he was engaged in it,) I went to him, and did

defire him to defift } I had Difcourfe with him,
(for I was then a young Student in the Temple,

and had a little Knowledge in the Laws:) I

defired him to conGder the dangerous Confe-
quences of fuch a Proceeding} I may fay I did

it with Tears in my Eyes, for I had a veiy good
Refpect to the Gentleman for his Profeffion Sake,

being learned therein: Truly, my Lord, he did

Anfwer me thus, / acknowledge it is a very bafe

Bufinefs, but they put it upon me ; I cannot avoid

it, you fee they put it upon me. I had fome Dif-

courfe with him concerning the Oath of Alle-

giance} truly he was fatisfied that this Oath was
againft the Bufinefs in Queftion : 1 faw he was
troubled at it.

Council. Can ye fpeak of the manner of calling

for Judgment againft the King ?

Nutley. That (I have already anfwered to it)

was feveral times done} the King was brought
feveral Times to the Bar, and at every Time he

was brought he was prcfled to Anfwer whether
Guilty? Or Not Guilty?

Court. By whom?
Nutley. By the Solicitor then, the Prifoner

now at the Bar. My Lord, I remember His

Majefty was pleafed when he faw he could not

be heard to the Difcourfe that he did intend to

make of the whole Bufinefs } faith the King, if

you will needs prefs me to Anfwer, I muft De-

mur to your Jurifdiction : My Lord, the An-

fwer that was given to that was this, Mr. Brad-

fhaw, their then Prefident did fay, Sir, faith he,

if you Demurr to the Jurifdiction of this Court,

I muft let you know that the Court doth over-

rule your Demurrer} this was faid, my Lord,

and Judgment was preffed very often.

Court. By whom ?

Nutley. By the Prifoner at the Bar.

Cook. My Lord, may. Iask him a ghiefiion?

Court, Yej.
Cook.
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Cook. The firft Queftion is, whether the Parch-

ment was delivered by me unto the Court, or brought

into the Court by Mr. Broughton, the Clerk.

Mr. Nutley. I do encline to believe, (my Lord,)

that it was brought into the Court, and deli-

vered by fome Hand or other to the Prifoner at

the Bar ; I do believe it was, for I do remember

it was written by one Price; I was told that

was his Name ; that may be true j I believe it

was brought into the Court, and delivered to

the Prifoner now at the Bar.

Council. But did he exhibit it?

Nutley. Yes, my Lords.

Cook. Did you fee me fit my Hand to that

Parchment ?

Nutley. No, my Lords, but I believe it to be

his Hand.
Cook. Another Queftion, whether Mr. Nutley

did hear me fay concerning the Opinions of thofe

Gentlemen, what they intended to do in that Bu-

finefs ?

Nutley. My Lords, I do remember that I had

often Conference with the Gentleman at the Bar.

I defired him to defift from the Bufintfs, con-

fidering the dingerous Confequences of it :

Truly, my Lord, I do well remember that he

did lay he did hope they did not intend to take

aw y the King's Life: Said I, if they go about

any fuch Thing do you ufe your utmoft Endea-

vour to preferve his Life ; faith he, I did Labour

to that Purpofe, but they tell me they only in-

tend to bring him to fubmit to the Parliament.

Cook. 7/ is [aid that I demanded Judgment of

his Life; Mr. Nutley, I demand ofyou whether I

ufed the Words of Judgment againfl his Life, but

only 1 demanded their Judgment ?

Nutley. My Lords, tor that I cannot remem-
ber poflibly to a Syllable, but Judgment was de-

manded.
Court. By whom ?

Nutley. By this Perfon.

Cook. I faid the Judgment of the Court, not

Ggainft him, I meant Judgment for his Acquittal.

Court. Did you ever hear himdefire the Court
that the Charge might be taken pro confejfo?

Nutley. That I have faid, my Lord, it was
urged by the Prifoner at the Bar againft His Ma-
jefty, that if he would not plead to the Charge,

that then the Matter charged in it might be

taken pro confejfo. But, my Lord, if you pkafe

to give me leave to add this one Word more,

my Lord, I did hear him fay at that Time; he

fhewed me a Paper, that contained an Order of

the Court, that did direct the very Words that

he mould ufe when he came to deliver the

Charge ; whether thofe Words were in the

Order 5 do not know.
Cook. Whether was I not direcled by thofe Gen-

tlemen the very Words 1 foould [peak ?

Court. We are fatisfied in that ; he faith by an
Order that you fhewed him, you were fo direct-

ed. If you have any Thing more ask it him.
Mr. Farrington Sworn.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Pray tell my Lords, and the
r

u-

ry, what was the Carriage of the Prifoner at the

Bar at IVeftminftcr, at the Place they called the

High-Court of Juftice.

Farrington. My Lord, I was prefent about the

zoth of fan. 1648, a: that which they called the

High-Court of Juftice, and Mr. Bradpa-zv fate

then as Prefident ; fo much as I remember con-
cerning the Prifoner at the Bar I Dull acquaint

your Lordfhip. This Gentleman at the Bar,
after the reading of the Commiffion, and Direc-
tions by the Prefident to bring His Majefty
(the Prifoner they called him) to the Bar ; the

King being brought, after Silence made, and
fome Speeches made by the Prefident, this

Gentleman, the Prifoner at rhe Bar, having then,

a Parchment in his Hand, the Subftance of it

was for levying War againft the Kingdom, he
prayed that it might be read, and accepted as a
Charge, in Behalf of the good People of Eng-
land. It was accordingly read, and afterwards

being demanded to Anfwer, after His Majefty
having giving feveral Reafons as to the Junfdic-
tion of the Court Four Days, every Day the
Prifoner at the Bar demanded the Judgment of
the Court : And if His Majefty would not An-
fwer to the Charge it might be taken pro con*

fejfo.

Council. Do you know his Hand if you fee it?

Farrington. i have not feen his Hand a long
Time. [Then the Impeachment was Jhewn to the

Witnefs.~]

Farrington. Truly, Sir, this is like his Hand.
Council. Do you believe it ?

Farrington. It is very like it, I do not know
positively.

Council. Did you hear the Words pro confejfo ?

Farrington. Yes, my Lord, feveral Times after

the firft Day.
Council. Did he interrupt the King in his Dif-

courfe, as to fay thefe Words, that the Charge
might be taken pro confejfo ?

Farrington. I do remember one Day there was
fome Interruption between the King and him,
the King laying his Cane upon his Shoulder,

defiring him to forbear.

Cook. You cannot fay that I interrupted his

Majefty.

Farrington. I remember that the King laid his

Cane upon your Shoulders.

Cook. Whether did I the firft or the laft Day
demand Judgment, or that any Thing might be
taken pro confejfo ?

Farrington. The firft Day? No-, but after the

firft Day he did feveral Days j you did the laft

Day.

Griffith Bodurdo Efq; Sworn.
Council. Sir, you have heard the Queftion,

give an Account to my Lord, and Gentlemen of
the Jury, of the Carriage of the Prifoner at the

Bar towards his Majefty during the Time of the

Trial.

Mr. Bodurdo. My Lord, I was all the Time
that the King was brought there before the

Court as a Prifoner ; 1 was prefent all the Day,
having a Conveniency out of my Lloufe into a
Gallery that was fome part of it over that Court.

I do remember that the Prifoner at the Bar
(whom I never faw before that Time) did exhi-

bit a Charge the firft Day againft the Prifoner at

the Bar, which was the King, in thefe very

Terms, the Prifoner at the Bar : The Charge {

heard it read then, I have not feen it fincej the

Subftance was this. That for levying War a-

gainft the Parliament nnd People oi
:England, and

namely, at fuch and fuch a Place killing of c!k:

People of England, (I think Nafchy and Keinton

Field was named in it, and divers other i- laces

were named in the Charge,) and thcConclufion

was, that he had done thofe Things as a Tyrant,

Traitor, Murrherer, and a Publick an.l Impla-
cable
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cable Enemy of the Commonwealth. But this Pri-

foneratthe Bar did exhibit the Charge, and the

King did then, as you have heard he did, plead

to the Jurifdidtion of the Court. The King
would fain have been heard, but I think they

did adjourn for that Time. The next Day he

pleaded the fame thing ; I remember the Anfwer
that was feveral Times given; twice given by

Bradftiaw to the King thus, That the Court did

ajfert their own Jurifdiclion, the Second and Third
Day, I do not remember any Day after the Firft,

but that the Prifoner at the Bar did demand Judg-
ment for the King's not pleading, and did feveral

Times make Complaints to the Court of the

King's Delaysj that he intended Delays, and no-

thing elfe.

Cook. Pray, my Lord, oneQueftion; whether,

my Lord, before he heard me fpeak of demanding
Judgment againft the King, whether he did not

hear Mr. Bradjhaw feveral Times fay that the

Court own'd their Authority, and that the matter

would be taken-pro confejfo ?

Mr. Bodurdo. I did hear the Prifoner at the

Bar defire of the Court, that it might be foj

and I heard the Prifoner tell the King that it

mufl be fo.

Jofeph Heme Sworn.

Council. Mr. Heme, Tell my Lords what you

know of the Prifoner's Carriage at the High-
Court of Juftice, as they called it.

Mr. Heme. Upon Saturday the 20th otjanu*

ary, 1648, it was the Firft Day His Majefty was
convened before them. I could not come near

the Court,, only I faw him at a Diftance; I heard

nothing but the Acclamations of the People,

crying our, God fave Tour Majefty ; what was
done in Court I know nothing of On Monday
1 was there, and had a Conveniency to fee and

hear what was a&ed ; and fo His Majefty being

come to the Seat appointed for him, the Prifoner

at the Bar being called upon by the then Prefi-

dent Bradjhaw, he demanded of him what he

had to ask of the Court. He was then talking

with Doriftaus, and feem'd not to mind the Bu-
finefs of the Court. His Majefty fitting near,

takes his Stick and thrufts the Prifoner at the

Bar upon his Shoulder ; and the Prifoner looking

back with a great deal of Indignation turned

about : I did hear Bradjhaw fpeaking to him in

thefe Words, Mr. Solicitor, have you any Thing
to demand of the Court ? Whereupon the Pri-

foner at the Bar did ufe thefe or the like Words

;

May it pleafe your Lordfhips, I have formerly in

the Name of the Commons afTembled in Parlia-

ment, and the good People of England, exhibi-

ted a Charge of High-Treafon, and other High
Crimes, againft Charles Stuart, the Prifoner at

the Bar; (flinging his Head back in this manner
to him j) he had there further to require of the

Court, that he might be demanded'to make po-

fitive Anfwer by Confeffion or Denial ; if nor,

that the Court would take it pro Confejfo, and

proceed according to Juftice ; this was on the

Firft Day I was in the Court. The Prefident

Bradjhaw told his Majefty, that he heard what
was craved in the Name of the Commons Af-

fembled in Parliament, and the good People of

England, againft him, by the now Prifoner at

the Bar. The King flood up, but Bradjlmw

prevented him in what he had to fay, telling of

him that the Court had given him Time to that

Day to know when he would plead to the

Charge. His Majefty proceeded to object againft

the Jurifdidtion, and faid he did Demurr to the
Jurifdidtion of the Court; upon which the Pre-
fident anfwered him, If you Demurr to the Tu-
rifdidtion of the Court, you mufl know that the
Court hath over-rukd your Demurrer s and you
mufl plead to your Charge, Guilty, or Not
Guilty : Upon that the King asked their Au-
thority, and defired he might give Reafons a-

gainftit} he was denied it by the Prefident j the
Prefident at laft was content to tell him, -that

though he was not fatisfied with their Authority,
they were, and he mufl; but to fatisfy him, he
told him in fliort, they fate there by the Supreme
Authority of the Nation, the Commons /iffem-
bled in Parliament, by whom hisAnceftors ever
were, and to whom he was accountable j then
the King flood up, By your Favour fhew me
One Precedent. Bradjhaw fits down in an angry
manner, Sir, faith he, we fit not here to anfwer
your Queftions, plead to your Charge, Guiltyr
or Not Guilty: Clerk, do your Duty: Where-
upon Broughton flood up, and asked what he had
to fay, whether Guilty or Not Guilty ? And Pre-
fident Bradjliaw faid, that if he would not plead
they muft record his Contempt. His Majefty
turned about to the People, and faid, Then re-

member trat the King of England fuffers, being
not permitted to give his Reafons, for the Li-
berty of the People; with that a great Shout
came from the People, crying, Godjave the King;
but there was an Awe upon them, that they
could not exprefs themfelves as they would have
done, I believe.

Council. What did Cook fay to the Judgment?
Did you hear him prefs for Judgment?
Mr. Heme. Yes, I heard thefe Words from the

Prifoner at the Bar, That if the King would not
plead, his Charge might be taken pro Confeffo;

and that the Court might proceed according to

Juftice.

Cook. One Queftion more, Whether he ofcen
heard me fpeak thofeWords, that it might l/e

taken pro Confeffo, and to proceed according to
Juftice?

M. Heme. You defired he might be held to

his Plea, Confeffion or Denial, that he might
not be fuffered to ufe any Words to the Juris-

diction of the Court.

Cook. Wherher he heard the Charge read?

Heme. I did not hear the Charge read, I was-

not there the Firft Day. I heard you confefs

you had exhibited a Charge of High-Treafon
againft the Prifoner at the Bar, which was then

the King's Majefty.

Cook. Whether I did not in theCharge conclude,

that allProceedings might beaccordingtojuftice?
Court. Read the Title and laft Article of that

Charge. Which was accordingly read, and foI<-

lows in h#c Verba.

Floe Title of the Charge.

The Charge of the Commons of England againft

Charles Stuart, KING of England, of

High-Treafon, and ether Crimes, exhibited to

the High-Court of Juftice.

The Laft Claufe in the Charge.

And the faid John Cook by Pio'eftation (favingV

on the behnlf of the People of England, the Lr-

berty
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berty of exhibiting at any Time hereafter any

other Charge againfl the laid Charles Stuart, and

alfo of replying to the Anfwers which the faid

Charles Stuart fhall make to the PremifTes, or

any of them, or any other Charge that fhall be

fo exhibited) doth for the faid Treafons and

Crimes on the Behalf of the faid People of Eng-

land Impeach the faid Charles Stuart as a Ty-
rant, Traitor, Murderer, Publick and Impla-

cable Enemy to the Commonwealth of England.,

and prayeth that the faid Charles Stuart, King

of England^ may be put to anfwer all and every

the PremifTes; that fuch Proceedings, Exa-
minations, Trials, Sentences, and Judgment,

may be hereupon had as fhall be agreeable to

Juflice.

Court. Mr. Cook, will you have any WitnefTes

examined touching the Queflionyou lafl asked?

Cook. No, be pleafed to go on.

Mr. Baker Sworn.

Mr. Baker. My Lords, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, I was at the High-Court of Juflice , as

they called it, the Firft, Second, and Third Days-

Not to trouble you with the Proceedings of

Brad/haw, I will tell you what I obferved of this

Gentleman ; I have the Notes that I took there,

and pray that I may read them to help my Me-
mory. \JVhich was granted, and then he proceeded

in this Manner;'] That Day, my Lord, Mr. Cook

told the Court, that he charged the Prifoner at

,
the Bar (meaning the KING) with Treafon
and High Mifdemeanours, and defired that the

Charge might be read; the Charge was this,

* That he had upheld a Tyrannical Government,
&c. and for that Caufe was adjudged to be a

Tyrant, 13 c- and did then prefs that the Prifoner

might give an Anfwer to that, and that very ear-

neitly. The Second Day, my Lord, he told the

Court that he did the lafl Day exhibit a Charge
of High-Treafon againfl the Prifoner at the Bar,

('meaning the King,) and that he did defire he
might make Anfwer to it j and he told them alfo,

that inftead of making an Anfwer to the Court,
the King had delayed the Court, but defired the

King might make a pofitive Anfwer, or other-
wise that it might be taken pro Confeftb. The
Third Day, my Lord, he came and told the

Court as before, that the King had delayed them,
and then he Charged him with the Higheft Trea-
fons and Crimes that ever were acted upon the
Theatre of England, and then prefTed that Judg-
ment 'might be given agamft him ; and another
Exprcffion was, that it was not fo much he, but
the Innocent and Precious Blood that was fhed,

that did cry for Judgment againfl the Prifoner

at the Bar : This, my Lord, is the Subftance >

there were other Paffages.

Cook. Whether before this Time he had not heard
fomething of an Aft or Order Proclaimed at Weft-
mi nfler ?" Whether there -was any other Word in

Effect ufed in that Charge more than in the Pro-
clamation ?

Mr. Baker. .? did hear of the Proclamation
and Charge, and the Subftance of it > 1 have
given an Account of it, and ! did hear you prefs

upon it very much ; the Proclamation, I heard
of ir, that it was made for the Summoning of the
Court, but I did not hear the Proclamation
made.

Cook. That that was called the Act of the
Commons for Trying of the King.

Vol. II.
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Mr. Baker. I did hear of the Aft, but did

not take Notice of it.

Mr. George Mafterfon Sworn.
Council. Mr. Mafterfon, pray inform my Lords

and the Jury what you know touching the Car-
riage of the Prifoner at the Bar at the Trial of
his late Majefty.

Mr. Mafterfon. My Lords, and you Gentle-
men of the Jury, I was prefent in that they cal-

led the High-Court of Juflice, upon the 2?.d,

23d, and 27th Days of January, in the Year 1648.
I fhall wave thofe Circumflances which you have
heard, and many of which I well remember,and
what I heard likewife between the King, who
was then a Prifoner, and the then Prefident Brad-
Jhaw ; but concerning the Prifoner at the Bar,
this I very well remember, that upon Monday I

heard him fay he had exhibited a Charge of
High-Treafon againfl the Prifoner, (then the
King,) and demanded now that he might plead to
his Charge; I do very well remember that after

fome Paffages between the King and the Court,
the Prifoner at the Bar defired the King might
plead to his Charge, or elfe it might be taken
pro Confeftb: I remember upon the lafl Day, the
Day of that Fatal Sentence, I heard the Pri-
foner at the Bar demand in the Name of the
Commons AfTembled in Parliament, and all the
good People of England, Judgment upon the
Prifoner at the Bar, pointing to the Kingj this

is all.

Mr. Burden Sworn.
Council. Do you know who did examine the

WitnefTes againfl the King? And were you exa-
mined? And by whom?

Burden. By Judge Cook, for fo he was called

in Ireland.

Council. Did he examine you as a Witnefs
againfl the King? Did he give you an Oath?

Burden. Yes, my Lord, and many others.

Cook. This is a New Thing, I never heard of
this before ; where was it that 1 examined him ? I
had no Power.

Council. No, we know that, but you were
Active.

Court. Where was it ?

Cook. Whether there were not any others with
me in the Room ? And where was it ?

Burden. It was at Weflminfler- Hall, within
the High-Court of Juflice.

Cook. Who was there befides me?
Burden. I cannot tell j Axtel^ he was there,

and I am fure Cook was there.

Council. Mr. Burden, pray tell my Lords and
the Jury what Queftions you were examined up-
on, and what they tended to.

Burden. He examined me, and gave me my
Oath j there was Eight or Nine of us we had
been in the King's Army in former Times j this

Gentleman (Colonel Axtel brought us in, Com-
manded us out of our Company, I was in his

Company, and this Gentleman) himfelf gave us

our Oaths, he asked us where we faw the King
in Action ? I did reply to him, and told him,

I faw him in the Field with his Army; he a ked

me many other Queftions that I could not tell

him -, he asked me, whether I did fee the King
at Nottingham fet up his Standard ? And I was

never at Nottingham in my Life -, thefe were the

Queftions.

Mr. Starkey Sworn.

Council. Pray inform my Lords and Gentlemen

Yy of
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of the Jury what palled between you and the

Prifoner at the Bar concerning the Trial of his

late Majefty.

Mr. Starkey. My Lords, this Gentleman,

now Prifoner, and myfelf, have been acquainted

a great while, being of the fame Society ofGrafs-

Inn; and truly, my Lord, I confefs I owe all my
Knowledge in the Laws to that Gentleman

;

when I came firft he was accus'd for Debt, and

was pleafed to do me, and feveral other Gentle-

men, now and then the Favour to reafon the

Law with us, and aflift us in the Beginning of

the Long Parliament; that is, to give you an

Account of his being indebted, he did defire

] would do my Endeavour to get his Protection.

Near the Time of the King's Trial there was a

Gentleman with myfelf, one Samuel Palmer of

Grafs-Inn, which frequented his Company, had

feveral Nights the Opportunity of underftand-

ing the Affairs at Weflminfier, and truly he him-

ielf did feem to us to count that a very ridicu-

lous Council. I remember what he faid one

Night, I think they are all Mad, which was
within Two or Three Days before the King's

Trial} and inftanced how a Fellow cried out 10

the Lord Fairfax, that if he did not confent to

the Proceedings he would kill Chrift and him.

After that I did not think he did go to this

Council for Employment, but out of Curiolity :

When the King came to Trial we heard that

Mr. Cook was the Perfon that was Solicitor, and

acled that Part that you have heard of; and that

during that Trial, whether the Second or Third

Pay, I cannot fay that certainly, Mr. Cook came
to Grafs-Inn that Evening about Ten or Eleven

of the Clock at Night, only upon fome parti-

cular Occafion, as he faid j I being walking in

the Court in the Walk before my Chamber
with another Gentleman, I did fee him pafs out

of a Houfe to go back again ; I thought it was
he, called after him j Mr. Cook, faid I j upon
that he turned back and met me; I took him
by the Hand, laid !, 1 hear you are up to the

Ears in this Bufinefs ; no, faith he, I am ferving

the People; truly, faid I, I believe there's a Thou-
fand to One will not give you Thanks } faid I,

I hear you Charge the King for the Levying
War againft the Parliament, how can you ra-

tionally do this, when you have pull'd out the

Parliament to make Way to his Trial? He an-

fwered me, you will fee flrange Things, and you

inuft wait upon God. I did ask him, but firft he
faid this of himfelf, faid he, he was as Gracious

and IVife a Prince as any was in the World; which
made me reflect upon him again, and asked how
he could prefs thofe Things as I have heard?
What Anfwer he made to that I cannot tell. I

did by the Way inquire what he thought con-
cerning the King, whether hemuft fuffer or no?
He told me he mufi die, and Monarchy mufi die

with him.

Cook. Whether was this after or before the

Sentence ?

Mr. Starkey. It was before the Sentence ;

for it was either the Second or Third Trial ;

or rather in fome interim of Time before the
Sentence ; for there was an Adjournment for a

Day or Two ; but I am fure it was before the

Sentence.

Court. Mr. Cook, they have concluded their

Evidence, plead for yourfelf what you think
fitting.

Cook. My Lord, I have been a Prifoner Three
Months, I humbly defire to acknowledge His Ma-

1

jelly's and his Council's Favour, that I was not put

into a Jeremy's Prifon, but in the Tower, and not

in Irons; 1 give your Lordihips humble Thanks
for that} and truly, confidering the Nature ofthe

Charge, had it been in fome other Kingdom they

woulJ haveferved us as John Baptift in Prifon } I

thank you that I have a fair Tri il with the Judges

of the Law, who are upon their Oaths to do equal

Right andjuftice between our SovereignLordthe
King, and every Prifoner, concerning Matters of

Life and Death } andlikewife thofc Noble Lords,

that though they are not put upon their Oaths, but

upon their Honour, ifthey know any Law topre-

ferve my Life I trull they will rather fave than de-

ftroy. My Lords, I do therefore fay as Paul faid,

my Plea is much of that Nature, againfl the Law,
and againfl Casfar, / hope I have not offended at

all, and lo I have pleaded Not Guilty. The Learn-

ed Council have examined feveral WitnefTes a-

gainft me} and I humbly conceive that the Mat-
ter will reft in a very narrow Compafs} the Sub-

ftance of the Charge (lb far as my Memory will

ferve) doth reft in thefe Three Things, the other

being but Matter of Form. That J, with others,

fliould Propound, Confult, Contrive and Imagine the

Death of the King, becondly, That to the Perfect-

ing and bringing about this wicked and horrid Confpi-

racy, that I, with others, did affume a Power and

Authority, (as I remember,) Power I am fure,

then to Kill and Murther the King j and Thirdly,

That there was a Per/on unknown that did cut off

the King's Head, and that we were abetting, aiding,

affifting, countenancing, and procuring the Perfon,

(or Words to that Effect,) againft the Form of the

Statutes, andfoforth. 1 have Twelve poor "Words

to offer for myfelf in this Bufinefs, wherein if 1 do

not Anfwer every Thing that hath been particu-

larly objected, I hope you will give me leave af-

terwards to offer it. Firft, I humbly propound
this, that if it was not made appear to your Lord-
fhips that I did ever propound, confult, advife,

contrive, attempt, or any way plot or counfel the

Death of his Majefty, then I hope 1 cannot be

found Guilty within the Statute of 2f Edward
the Third; for the Naked Truth Mr. Nutley hat\i

in a great Part fpoke to ; I was appointed upon
the Tenth of January, 164S, for to give my Ad-

vice concerning a Charge, r.here having been up-

on the Ninth a Proclamation for the Trial} and

upon the Tenth M. Steel, Dr. Doriflaus,vcA Mr.

Ask> and myfelf, were appointed, and ordered to

be of Council to draw up a Charge } here I have

the Order attefted by Mr. Jeffop, and pray it may
be read.

Court. They do admit the Thing that you

were fo affigned.

Cook. Then 1 humbly concehre that that cannot

be faid to be done maliciouily,or advifedly, or with

any wicked Intention in me, whiich I was required

and commanded to do} acting only with- Kelyng 12.

in my Sphere and Element as a Coiinfellor, &f 23-

and no otherwife. The next Thing is this, my
Lord, that by Law Words will n'.ot amount unto

Treafon } we ufually fay, that Words may declare

an Heretick, but not a Traitor} there were fome

Statutes formerly 1 Edw. 6.whereWords are made

Treafon, but they are all repealed by 1 Maria,

that nothing ihall be Treafon buit what is ex-

prefledin if Edw. 3. This Objection will feem to

lye, that thefe were Words put in Writing} and

that
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that I humbly conceive to be the greateft Matter

objected ; to which J anfwer, i . W hether there be

any full, certain, clear Proof, that that is my Hand
to the Charge, I muff, leave to you ; Two or Three
Witneffes iay they believe it, and that it is like my
Hand ; that I leave to you if that appear; yet (my
Lord) that that is put in Writing as done by ano-

ther that is the Dictator, and does dictate unto me ;

I humbly conceive, that for any Man to write

Words, which in their own Nature may be Trealb-

nablc, if he doth but write them by the Command
ofanother, by fpeaking them after another, taking

them upon rebound, that is not Treafon, becauie

they do not difcover a traitorous Heart; thofe

Words of compaffing the Death of the King in the

2f Edw. 3. they are fecret Imaginations in the

Heart, and they muft be manifeft byfome Overt-

act; that which was dictated (my Lord^ unto me,

that I had exprefly prefcribed me,what I fhould fay,

what Words I mould fay. That I did not invent any

Thing of mine own Head, of my own Conceit

;

and therefore cannot properly be faid to be malici-

ous. The next Thing that I crave leave to offer is

this, that the pure and plain demanding and praying

of Juftice, tho' Injuftice be done upon it, cannot

poffiblybe call'd Treafon within the Statute, then

I hope nothing that has been faid againft me will

amount to Treafon : For theWords in the Natural,

Grammatical, Plain, Genuine, and Legal Senfe,

will bear no other Conftrudtion, as I humbly con-

ceive, but (that whercis thofe Gentlemen had his

Majeftv then in their Power a Prifoner) that it was
' prayed by me that they would do him Juftice ; I do
hope that it will appear that I did give bonum& fi-

dele Con/ilium. It will appear, I hope, that iome
would have had a very voluminous and long

Charge; that I was utterly againft it, as conceiv-

;
ing that it was not fit and requifite that any Thing

: fhould be put in; at lead: 1 durft not invent one

;

Word myfelf, but what was exprefled in the Act for

Trial ; if your Lordihip:. will not admit it an Act,

you will an Order, and fo it will bear me forth, at

leaft to excufe me from Treafon, becaufe I kept my
> (elfto the Words ; whereas in that it was faid, that

I
they fhould proceed according to the Merits of the

Oufe, I was againft that, that i did not underftand
I that ; but according to Juftice, and that is bur ac-

cording to Law, becaufe the Law is the Rule of
1

Juftice. I do humbly hope, (my Lord), that if by
Law, when Words may be taken in a double Senfe,

they fhall always have the more favourable Inter-

pretation, much more when the Words in the legal

Serfe will bear it; when it is prayed they will pro-
! ceed according to Juftice, I hope it will notbe in-

ferred there was any Intention of doing Injuftice,

when Juftice was required. And therefore, (my
Lord,) the next Word that I would offer is this, if,

I
my Lord, in all Tragedies which are, as we call

I

them, judicioufly or colourably, there are but
theie Four Actors, AccufersorWitneffes, thejury,

Judges, and Executioner; if I be none of thefe I

I

cannot be Guilty of Treafon. I hope I mayfafely
fay according to Law, that I had not a Hand at all

in his Majefty's Death. My Lord, the Court and
Council, it is very true, they do aim at the fame
Thing; the Council Requirendo Juftitiam, the o-

ther Exequendo Juftitiam, the End being the fame,
to have Juftice. If when Juftice be demanded, and
Injuftice be done, what is that to the Council ? We
read in the 19th of John concerning Pilate, Know-
eft thou not (fpeaking to Chrift) that Ihavepower to

crucifie thee, and have -power to releafe thee? My
Lord, I humbly anfwer this to that which feems
Vol. II.

to be the moft material part in the Indictment,

That we did affume a Power ; my Lords, I did not
affume a Power ; I hope it will not be faid that the
Council had any Power j Eloquentia in the Council,

Judicium in the Judges, and Veritas in theWit-
neffes. 2fth of Acts, Tertullus, that Eloquent Ora-
tor, accufed Paul; Paul anfwered for himfelf, and
it is faid, Fefius being willing to do the Jezvs a courtefy,
he left Paul bound , it was not the Council than

left him bound. HisMajefty was never a Prifoner

to me, and I never laid any Hands upon him; if

any Witneffes have fpoke of any Irreverence, I

muft appeal to God in that I did not in the leaft

manner carry my felf undutifully to his Majefty,
though One of the Witneffes was pleafed to fay

that I faid thefe Words, 'that there is a Charge a-

gainfi the Prifoner at the Bar; it was not faid the
Prifoner at the Bar ; there was not One Difrepec-
tive Word from me. There is a Cafe in the Third
Inftitutes of my Lord Coke, it is to this purpofe,

that one wilfully and knowingly forfwore himfelf j

the Cafe was put to inveigle the Court; and tho'

the Court does Injuftice upon a falfe Oath, it is

not Injuftice at all in the Witnefs, it is Perjury in

him ; ifthere can be no Injuftice in aWitnefs,much
lefs a Counfellor can be faid to have his Hand in

the Death of any, becaufe he has no Power at all ;

this muft needs follow, that if it fhall be conceived
to be Treafon for a Counfellor to plead againft his

Majefty, then it will be Felony to plead againft

any Man that is condemned unjuftly for Felony.
The Counfellor is to make the belt of his Client's

Caufe, then to leave it to the Court. It is faid, I

fhould demandJudgment ; I do not remember that,

I leave it to you, but ftill to demand J uftice. Coun-
fellors they do engage in Bufinefs before they do
rightly underftand the true Matter of the Fact; it

is part of a Serjeants
7

s Oath, that fo foon as he does
difcover the Falfity of the Caufe, he fhould forfake

the Caufe. My Lord, by what Mr. Nut ley hath
faid it appears, and I have many Witneffes in the

Country, Three or Four in Leicefterfhire, would
have fpoken full to this, that (my Lord) there

was not before the Sentence of the King (to the

belt of my Knowledge) a Word fpoken by any
that they did intend to put him to Death ; I fay,

to my Knowledge ; and, my Lord, when Judg-
ment is demanded is it not Twofold, of Acquit-
tal or Condemnation? If thofe that then were
entrufted with the Power of Judicature, if they
did not know any Law to proceed by to take a-

way his Majefty, then I demanding their Judg-
ment, it doth not appear to be my Judgment

;

and I refer it to the Learned Council, that Coun-
cil many Times at the Affizes and other Courts
have been forry that the Verdict have been given
for their Clients, when they have known the
Right lay on the other Side, and fo I might in

this. The next Thing I humbly offer, is, that if

in Right Reafon, confidering the Condition his

Majefty was then in, the adviling to draw up the

Charge was rather to be looked upon as a Mat-
ter ot Service than Differvice, then it cannot be
called Treafon ; it is very true, my Lord, that a

very little fmall Overt- Act will amount to a Trea-
fon; and, my Lord, had this been in Times of
Peace, and had his Majefty been no Prifoner,

(now he was under the Power of an Army,) this

had been great Treafon ; but he heing a Prifo-

ner, (not by my Means, for I was no Sword-
man,) what can a Man that knows himfelf In-

nocent, being a Prifoner, defire more than a fpeedy

Trial ? So that making the Trial more fpeedy cannot

Yyj b&
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be faid to be done traitoroufly. A Trial doth fol-

low Imprifonment as naturally and neceffarily as the

Shadow doth the Body . If any Man fhall defire and

be inftrumental in bringing him to aTrial which might

acquit, rather than condemn him,and fo humbly pray

Proceedings according to Juftice, this will have, I

hope, abetter Name than Treafon. I am much be-

holden to his Majefty, and this Honourable Parlia-

ment for the penning of the ASt ofIndempnity,which,

I hope, my Lord, you will give me leave to take

notice of.

Court. Open as much as you will of it.

Cook. My Lords, the Words that I would make ufe

of are in the Beginning; Treafon, Murder, and other

Felonies that are fpoken of, they are faid to be counfel-

led, commanded, acted or done ; in the Preamble,

which is as the Key to open the Mind and Meaning of

the Law- makers, it is faid that all Perfons fhall be

pardoned for all, excepting fuch as fhall benamed,and

in fuch manner as they fhall be excepted ; and then

it comes, Provided that this Act fhall not extend to

pardon fuch and fuch Perfons, and by Name I am
one ; and it is faid, all which Perfons, for their exe-

crable Treafon, in fentencing to Death, or figningthe

Inftrument for the horrid Murder, or being inftru-

mental in taking away the precious Life of our late

Sovereign Lord, Charles the Firft, of Glorious Me-
mory, are left to be proceeded againft as Traitors to

his late Majefty, according to the Laws of England,

and are out of the faid Act wholly excepted and fore-

prized. There is not any thing offered againft me
upon the two firft great Words, which are Sentencing

and Signing ; that which I have to do to endeavour

to clear myfelf is this, being inftrumental in taking

away the Life of his faid Majefty , firft, I humbly
offer this to the Jury's Confideration, That where

the Parliament doth begin to fix the treafonable Part,

there, I hope, and no otherwife, this Honourable

Court will fix it : If it had been the Intention that

Counfellors, Advifers, and fuch as fpoke their minds

fometimes in the Bufinefs, (you know that was epi-

demical^) many Words were fpoken which cannot

bejuftified ; whether naturally it would not have fol-

lowed, that all fuch Perfons, for their Counfelling,

Advifing, or being inftrumental, are left to be pro-

ceeded againft as Traitors, I hope you will take that

into Confideration ; concerning the Words, or being

inftrumental, obferve it is not faid, or being any o-

therways inftrumental ; but fentencing, figning, or

being inftrumental ; if therefore the Word Inftru-

mental be not of a general comprehenfive nature,

then all this Evidence which hath been given in a-

gainft me, being before the fentencing and figning,

will fall to the Ground ; that this is the legal, genu-

ine and grammatical Senfe, and cannot be any other-

ways than as particular, 'as if it were the Sentencer,

Signer, and Executioner j which if it had been fo,

nothing of the Evidence would have reach'd me.
My Argument is this, fuch a Ufe is to be made of

an Act of Parliament, that no Word may be fru-

ftrate and infignificant ; but ifthis Interpretation fhall

be put upon it, fentencing, figning, or being any

way inftrumental, then the Words Sentencing and

Signing need not have been. If Inftrumental will

carry the Words Sentencing and Signing, then thefe

Words will carry no Force at all ; efpecially, my
Lord, when there is no need of any Retrofpect at

all ; if it be fo, I know not how far it may look

back ; there is no neceffity of putting any compre-

henfive Generality upon this Word Inftrumental, but

that the plain natural Senfe will be this, that thofe

that did fentence and fign, and thofe that were inftru-

mental in taking away his Life, that is, thofe that

did abet and comfort that Perfon unknown, or ju-
ftifie, or countenance him, which is after the Sen-
tencing, and not before, in the legal Senfe. Next
I conceive, that a Counfellor cannot be faid to do
any thing vi C5

1

armis.

It is faid, that by Force and Arms I did abet, &c.
it is rhetorical to fay that Words may be as Swords
but legal it is not, unlefs there be fomething i>i&f ar-
mis ; in the grammatical Senfe, inftrumental in tak-
ing away the King's Life, it is not faid inftrumental
in order to take away the King's Life, or inftrumen-
tal in advifing to take away the King's Life, but in-

ftrumental in taking away the King's Life. My
Lord, the next thing is, that there cannot be any
Thing to be faid to be done by me, firft not falfo,

becaufe in that fenfe it muft have the Operation of
Mendacity ; that there muft be a Lie told in it

;

I did (nothing but what I was required to do, to fet

down fuch and fuch Words ; I did not invent nor
contrive them , I heard nothing of it till the ioth
Day of January. My Lord, for malitiofe, that I

did not any thing malicioufly, I hope it will appear
in this ; what I then fpoke it was for my Fee •, it may
be called avaritia, but not malitia ; for the Law
will imply a Malice, when there is no other exprefs
Ground or Reafon why the Thing was done, but
here was an exprefs Ground to fpeak for my Fee, I

hope the Jury will take that into Confideration. Then,
fecondly, I was not Judicial in the Cafe, I was not
Magifterial as any Officer, but Minifterial. As
touching examining of Witneffes, it is a great Mi-
ftake, the Court had power to give an Oath •, I might
be there, but I had no power to give an Oath ; but
whether I might ask any Queftion, I do not remem-
ber, but that I fhould give an Oath, that is a Fal-

fity ; then, my Lord, for Proditorie, I hope there is

nothing at all that appears to the Jury ; fo that there

was no Malice nor traitorous Intention in the Thing.
There are fome Matters of Law which I defire your
Lordfhips will give me leave to fpeak to, and that

your Lordfhips will be of Counfel with me. I would
offer fomething concerning his Majefty's gracious
Declaration from Breda to the Parliament ; (I was
then in Ireland) I did put in a Petition to the Ho-
nourable Commiffioners before any Exception was,
that I might have the Benefit of that Declaration

;

I did lay hold of it : My Lords, there are two'

Things in that Declaration that I would offer. His
Majefty faith, that for the reftoring of the King's
Peers and People of the Kingdom to their juft

Rights and Liberties, he will grant a free and general

Pardon to all, excepting fuch as fhall be by Parlia-

ment excepted ; and within three or four Lines af-

ter it is faid, a Free Parliament ; though I do not

in the leaft queftion the Legality of this Parliament,

yet, my Lords, to this particular purpofe, whether
the Parliament that was to except ought not to be a

Parliament that was to be called according to his

Majefty's Writ, according to the Laws of the King-
dom, I humbly conceive it will bear that ; though
his Majefty is pleafed to confirm this, yet it is not

fuch a Parliament that was to except ; that I offer

to your Lordfhips. My Lords, that that I would
humbly make bold to put for myfelf, becaufe it is

the Privilege of one in my Condition, is this ; There
is, my Lords, many Lords, the Earl of EJfex, the

Earl of Southampton, and others, that were adjudg-

ed in the 44 of Eliz. 3. Inflitutes. They did traito-

roufly and malicioufly confpire to take her Ma^
jefty Prifoner, and to remove her Counfellors from
her, which were found guilty, and fuffered accord-

ingly ; the Reafon is, That becaufe thereby if

it had been done, they had defpoiled her Majefty

of
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of her Regal Government •, andithe Cafe is Inftant

in Philip, who was a Nominative King, that it was

not Treafon to have attempted any Thing againft

him. My Lords, his Majefty being a Prifoner with-

out any Hand ofmine, 1 giving Advice according

to what was dictated to me to bring him to that

Trial, whereby he might have been Acquitted,

and fo fet at Liberty, I hope that will not be faid

as Inftrumental.

My Lords, 1 humbly fhall offer but Two Words,

I .To the Honourable Courr,then to the Jury. The
Words if of E. $. and fo the Expolition of the

LearnedJudges have been from time to time, that

there mail be no Semblablc Treafons made by Pre-

fnmptions orStrains ofWit,but thofeTreafons fpe-

cified there : It is faid ifa Husband do kill hisWife,

or a W ife kill her Husband, a Mafter mould kill his

Servant,or the Servant fhould kill his Mafter, that

that (hall be petty Treafon j a Child did kill his Fa-

ther, though that was looked upon as a great Sin,

yec theJudges did not prefume that to be Treafon,

becaufe it was not in the very Words ; th is being an

extraordinary Cafe, to write a Thing after another

doth not appear that there was a Malicious Heart

in him that did write. There hath been the Act of

Parliament that doth call thefe Courts Tyrannical

and Unlawful Courts j but, my Lords, a Tyranni-

cal and Unlawful Court is a Court defablo, though

not dejure; ifa Court be not a Juft and Lawful

Court, it cannot be faid but that it is a Court: We
fay a Thief is a True Man, though Morally he is

not fo } this was a Court, Officers attending on

them ; fome faid they had Authority ; and there-

fore for one to come and act within his Sphere,not

to act out ofthat, nor do any thing but what he bad

a Prefcript Form appointed him, I hope that will

not be found to be within the Letter ofthe Law. I

have been told, (how true I cannot tell) that there

have been fome Votes in the Honourable Parlia-

ment, that thofc that did only counfel or advife,

thofe that were not to be looked upon as Trai-

tors i I have been told fo, that thofe th it did only

fptakas Council for their Fee, who were not the

Contrivers of it, the Parliament did not intend

they mould be left to be proceeded againft.

Court. That Letter that was fent from the

Commons to the King at Breda, they fpeak firft of

the Violation that was put upon the Parliament,

and of the bafe horrid and Murther of his late Ma-
jefty. It is faid that the Parliament (I conceive they

meant of the remaining Part) they were not guilty,

but fome few ambitious, bloody, guilty Perfons,

who contrived the fame, and others mif-led by
them.

Cook.The other Matter ofLaw is this : I fay that I

do hopethat though that Order,which I was about

to produce concerning my acting, that if it may
not in a Legal Senfe any way be laid to be an Act of

the Parliament and Commons, yet it may be faid to

be fuch an Order to bear out thofe that did Act ac-

cording to it, becaufe there was an Authority de

faclo, otherwife it were not lawful for any Man to

exercife his Profeffion during their a Power. I hope
Counfellors might then exercife fuch Profeffion,as

well as others. My Lord,though I fhould fuffer my
felf in this Cafe, I fhould be loth the Honourable
Profeffion of the Law fhould. I think I was in my
Sphere, acting as a Counfellor. Now, Gentlemen
ofthe Jury, that which I have to fay to you is an E-
vidence concerning Matter of Life, it muft be fo

clear that every one that hears it may underftand it.

It is called an Evidence, becaufe it is evident ; it is

one Reafon why Prifoners for their Lives are not

allowed Council for Matter ofFact,becaufe the E~
vidence is, and ought to be, fo clear and plain that

everyone fhould be fatisfied, both Jury and Slan-
ders by j and it is a properWord to fay the Prifoner

is convicted,that is as much as, his Mouth is flop-

ped j and therefore I fay, truly as I hope I may
lpeak it to you without Offence, as Jeremy in ano-
ther Cafe when fome ofthe People would have had
them put him to Death, As forme, behold lam in

your Hand, do with me asfeemeth good and meet unto

jjw,Jer.xxvi.ver. 14, if. faith he, But knowyefor
certain, that ifyeput me to Death, yefloallfurcly bring

innocent Blood upon yonrfelves. I hope you will not
willingly be guilty of any fuch Thing; I muft
leave it to your Confciences, whether you believe

that 1 had an Hand in the King's Death, when I

did write but only that which others did dictate

unto me, and when I fpoke only for my Fee ; and
this I would be bold to fay, though the Argument
is not fo directly confeffed, that Humane Juftice,

(I do firft fay as this my Principle and Opinion is,)

that as every Man ought to pay his moral Debts,
fo all political Debts ; there is a Debt due to Hu-
mane Juftice, fo political, if the Lord fhould have
fuffered me to have been Drunk, and killed a Man,
for which I ought to have died, inftead of fpeak-

ing for my felf, I would have rather intveated the

Jury to have found me Guilty ; I think thefe

Things ought to be anfwered, political Debts.

When I was in Ireland, and had Opportunity of
going away, if I thought I had been Guilty I might
have done it j my Name is put into His Majefty's

Proclamation. It is true, I was a Prifoner Three or

Four Months before, fo that I could not render my
felf, to what End fhould that Proclamation men-
tion my Name? It was faid i obfeured my felf, but
I did not. Humane Juftice doth never punifh fo

much for Expiation as for Prevention; the Judg-
ments of the Learned Aquinas, Grotius, and Ame-
fius, and many others, that if a Man doth kill a

Man,commit any Thing worthyof Death,though
he doth repent never fo much, yet that others may
be deterred from committing fuch Acts, the Ma-
giftrate is bound to put him to Death. But where
there is not fuch a Thing, there it is different ;

though it is faid the Land is defiled, that is, where
there is Danger that the like may be committed
again j now all Things are fettled, there is no
Danger at all ; now there can never come fuch a

Cafe as this again j I fay, my Lord, what I acted t

did as a Counfellor, I had no malicious Intention

in it. Mr. Nutley bare Teftimony fo far, that I

told him there was not Intention ofputting his Ma-
jefty to Death; I only did fay, that I defired them

to do Juftice ; and I hope what was done was
their Act,not mine, and fol leave my felf to your
Lordfhips.

Court. Silence Commanded.
Mr. Solicitor General. My Lords, this Gentle-

man who is the Prifoner at the Bar requires fuch

an Evidence of the Fact as may be evident, he

faith fo evident as may be as clear as the Sun;
I think that Evidence is not to feek ; but if he
muft never be convicted till he be fo far convin-

ced as to be fpeechlefs, I believe we may ftay

long enough ; neverthelefs if he be willing (as

he faith he is) to pay his Debts to political Ju-

ftice, we fhall quickly give him the total Sum.

That which he hath faid hath been like a Law--

yer, the beft that his Cafe will bear, but withal,

it is a great Aggravation to his Crime, that he

that knew the Law fo well, fhould fo much
tranfgrefs it. He began, Words do not make Trea-

fon',
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fon; he miftakes, his Charge is not for Words,

Gentlemen, his Charge is for Comparing and

Imagining the Death of the King, and the Evidence

of that Charge is meeting in that Aflembly, and

the Part that he bore in that AfTembly. And

yet, my Lords, he will be much miftaken too,

funder Favour, and with Submiffion to your

Lordfhips Judgments, and thofe that hear him,)

if they think that in all Cafes it is a general

Rule that Words are no Treafon } for when a

Man fhall proceed to declare the Imagination

of his Heart, as to exhort and perfwade Men to

effect that wicked thing, the killing of the King,

certainly there cannot be a greater Overt-Ad

than thefe Words, nor a clearer Evidence of

fuch an Imagination, for out of the abundance of

the Heart the Mouth /peaks. My Lord, to fay

that the demanding of Juftice is not Treafon,

though Injuftice do follow, is a very weak Glofs

upon a wicked Action. The Subject Matter

•was a Charge of High-freafon againfi the King,

the Conclufion of the Charge was a Proteftation,

by which he faved to himfelf a Liberty to put

in a new Charge, if that was not fufficient •, up-

on the whole he defires, that the King as a

Traitor, may be brought to Juftice. Judge ye

now, Gentlemen, upon the Nature of this De-

mand, whether this were fuch a Demand of

Juftice as might end in Acquittal j whether he

that prefles that this Charge may be taken pro

Confejfo, did mean that when the Court had re-

corded it they mould Acquit him when they

had done ? My Lords, to fay there are Four

Actors in this Cafe, the Witnefs or Accufer,

the Judge, the Jury and the Executioner, and

that he is none of them, and therefore in this

Cafe he cannot be a Traitor } ftill, my Lord,

that is to beg the Queftion •, for if he be one of

them that did Aflemble in the Place, and were

any Inftrument of that AfTembly, he hath there-

by given an Evidence of an Overt-act of his

wicked Heart ; and when all is done this poor

Glofs amounts but to this, I am none of thofe

Four Ranks, that is, there were others worfe than

my [elf, and therefure I am none at all. My Lord,

the Thing that he hath mainly infilled upon is

the Acl of Indempfnty } my Lord, he doth ob-

ferve that his Name is excepted in that Act}

that he doth hope that it is fo Penn'd, as by

the Favour of the Parliament it may reach his

Cafe} and he hath argued very much upon it,

and he fpeaks as if he did believe it himfelf.

But furely there is no colour for that Interpreta-

tion, that he lhould ftep out of this Provifo, by

the very Aft of Indempnity, that was made on

purpofe to bring him in by Name-, the Words
are, Provided that this Acl, nor any Thing therein

contained, fhall extend to Pardon, or give any Be-

nefit to John Cook, &c. " all which Perfons, for

" their execrable Treafons in Sentencing toDeath,
4 or Signing the Inftrument for the Horrid Mur-
* der, or being Inftrumental in taking away the

* Precious Life of our late Sovereign Lord King
« Charles the Firft, of Glorious Memory, are lefc

4 to be proceeded againft as Traitors, &V.' Firft,

my Lord, this general and clear Anfwer, I con-

ceive, is to be given, that the Prifoner at the

Bar being by Name excepted out of the Acl of

Indempnity, by the Provifo mentioned in it, al-

though the fubfequent Lines that follow be the

Reafons why the Parliament do except, yet if it

be within the very Words of the Exception,

whether he be in the Reafons chat moved them

to that Exception, is not material} if he could

diftinguifh that he was not Inftrumental in that

Senfe, to which he labours to reftrain this Pro-

vifo, he can but fay this, the Parliament was
miftaken in their Reafon, but not in their Con-
clufion; but he is directly within the Exception,

and the Reafon of it too, for the Word Inllru-

mental goes as far as far can be, and he is pro-

perly and litterally in the ftrict Notion of the

Word, an Inftrument of the Death of the King

:

The King could never have been brought to

Death, if not to the Bar; never had been Sen-

tenced, if he had not been Impeached ; that Im-
peachment could never have been taken pro Con-

fejfo, nor the Impeachment itfelf delivered, if he
had not delivered the one, andprefled the other

:

He that brought the Axe from the Tower was
not more Inftrumental than he: And befides, a

Lawyer, as he of great Underftanding, and
of good Parts, he knows very well there are no
AcceiTaries in Treafon, but he that A6ts any Part

in fo wicked a Confpiracy, let him begin at

what End he will, he ftands refponfible for the

utmoft Confequence of it ; and in effect the very

penning of this Provifo is an exprefs Judgment
of Parliament, that he was Inftrumental } but
that is not to be prefled.

The next Thing he doth infill upon is the

Declaration of his Majefty, that he fent from
Breda, which he faith he laid hold upon } here

lies the Weight of his Anfwer, The King
writes his Letter to the Parliament now fitting,

that he doth purpofe, for the quieting of the

Hearts of Men that may be in doubt, to par-

don all Perfons all Crimes of what Nature fo-

ever, either againft himfelf or Royal Father, ex-

cepting thofe which fhall be by Act of Parlia-

ment excepted } and, my Lord, he doth fay, and

modeftly prefles, that he doth conceive the

Meaning of that is to pardon all Perfons what
Crimes foever they have committed, except fuch

as by a Free Parliament fhall be excepted ; a Le-
gal Parliament, called by the Writ of the King,
which this Parliament is not. To that I give

thefe Anfwers} Firft, my Lord, I do fay that

this Letter of our Gracious Sovereign from

Breda in itfelf undoubtedly is no Pardon in Law

-

for Treafon, that cannot be without the Broad-

Seal. Next, a Pardon under the Great-Seal in

fuch a Form of Words as this is would not be

a Pardon for Treafon, for that muft not be par-

doned by Implication, but by politive Words;
fo in the Cafe of Sir Walter Raleigh, a Commif-
fion directed to Our Well- beloved Subject

would not pardon the Treafon of which he was
Condemned. In the next place, this Letter at

the moft is but a Pardon in Honour, which muft

always be taken according to the Meaning ; and

that the King's Honour may be for ever Sacred,

I fay this Letter doth no Way help the Pnfoner
at the Bar.

Firft, it is plain by the very Superfcription of

this Letter in which the Declaration was inclo-

fed, that it is directed to the Speaker of our

Houfe of Commons in Parliament Affembled >

which cannot poffibly be expounded ofany other

Parliament than that which was then Sitting,

to whofc Speaker it was written.

Secondly, The Letter it felf fays, We have

left it to you to provide for Security and Indemp-
nity; and again, If there be a Crying Sin for

which the Nation may be involved in Infamy,

we cannot doubt but you will be as folicitous to

vindicate
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Vindicate it as we can be. And then in this very

Letter enclofeth thac Declaration, upon the Pen-

ning ofwhich the Priionerfo much relies : Now
lay all together, and it is clear the Parliament,

meant by the Declaration, muft be the fame

Parliament which was meant by the Letter} and

that was this very Parliament whom the King

intended to truft, both with Indempnity, and

With the Vindication of his Father's Death, and

to be the Difpenfers both of Mercy and Juftice

in this particular. Another Thing is this, This

very Parliament, as the Prifoner obferves, they

did go to the King according to his Gracious

Letter, and in the Behalf of all the Good People

of England, they did lay hold of the King's

Mercy in his Letter and Declaration, and prayed

that this Claim by their Speaker, in Behalf of all

the reft of the Commons of England, might be

Effectual to all purpofc, and for all Perfons other

than thofe that mould be by ihemfelves after-

ward excepted, according to their Requeftsj His

Majefty accepts their Petition, and makes Pro-

clamation, that his Pardon mould extend to all

but fuch as they mould except: What can be

more clear and evident, than that this is the

Parliament which the King did mean to be the

very Parliament to which the Letter fhould have

Reference till the Act of Oblivion was piffed?

Again: The late Tranfactions of thefe Twelve
Years paft hid involved fo many Perfons, that

we could fcarce find a Man bat he had need of

Mercy } nay, this very Parliament to which this

Letter was written had need of Indempnity ;

and is it probable in the Nature of the Thing, or

can ic be underftood by any Man, that the King
writing to this Parliament, and offering them
Pardon and Indempnity, mould mean fuch a Par-

don and indempnity as a future Parliament, to be

called by his own Writ, ihould be willing to

aff>rd them? Whofe Hearts would have been

fatisf.ed with fo contingent a Security?

My Lords, upon the whole matter, by what
the King hath faid in this Letter, and by what
the Parliament hah done in purfuance thereof,

and bv what the King hath proclaimed, it is to

myUnderlt Hiding as clear as the Noon-day, that

the Honour of the King is not concenVd at all

in the Exemption of the Prifoner at the Barj

and for the Cafes of my Lord of EJfex and Sou-

thampton, which he hath cited, they make a-

gainll him ; they were condemned becaufe they

endeavoured to imprifon the Queen, and to re-

move her Counfellors, of which very Fact the

Prifoner is in Law Guilty too ; and then the

Cafe of King Philip, the Husband of Queen
Mary, makes nothing for him neither, unlefs he

will fpeak out, and tell us plainly, that becaufe

by a former Violence the King was made a Pri-

foner, he" became but like a Titular King, as

King Philip.

In' the next place he faith, my Cafe is out of
the Law, I acted as a Counfellor in my own
Particular for my Fee 3 it was Avaritia, but not

Malitia, nor Falfo, Malitiofe, or Proditorie: Bur
he'mult know, thac no Man hath, or can have,

a Lawful Calling to purfue the Life of his King $

and the Law implies Malice j for Malitiofe and

Proditorie are not only Words of Courfe, but of
Truth too, in this Cafe, elfe it were as much as

to fay, that no Council can be guiUy of Hi^h-
Treafon, than which nothing can be more ab-

furd: My Lord, for that which he faid laft, (for

'& J

I muft omit fome Things, and give him leave to
take the Advantage of it,) to ftand upon it, thac
the place was a Court, fuch a one it was that he
was not anfwerable for the Conflitution of it 5
if it were not in a Legal Senfe, it was fuch ?.n

Order as might bear him our, that is, with Mo-
deiiy andgoodManners to juftifie High-Treafon j
it is not with fuch Infolency as fome others be-
fore him did it, but it amounts to that, That an
Order of a few Perfons that firft made themfelves
a Parliament, and then made a Court of JufticCj
had Officers, and met together, and perfected fo

great a Treafon j I fay, that this Order to bear
him out is impoffible. He that is a Lawyer, he
muft account to the Laws for what he harh
done ; if the Authority were not lawful, he
cannot but know that this which lie calls the
Parliament was fo far from a Legal Authority,
that it was one part of the Treafon that he did
affift fuch an AfTembly.

Gentlemen of the Jury, This is your own Cafe,
here is a Charge that is exhibited by the Prifoner
at the Bar, as he faith, in the Name of all the
People of England. Look on it, for you are
fome of them if you own it ; then it may be
true what he hath faid ; but I hope you meet
hereto tell this Nation, and all the Worlds that

the People of England had no Hand in that

Charge j do but confider how that this Prifoner
at the Bar had hunted the Life of the King, how
he did fifth out and examine Evidence, whether
the King fet up his Standard at Nottingham, was
at fuch a place, and fuch a place ; to what End
is all this, but with Delign of Blood? Were
thefe Thing* to be produced againft the King^
and then Judgment to be demanded that he may
be faved ? Is it not plainly proved to you by
WitnelTes, how he did exhibit the Charge, prefs

it, aggravate it, defired it might be taken pro

Confeftb, was afflicted with the Del tys, how angry
he was when he was interrupted ? Is it not
proved to you, that he was at firft againft the
Thing, and faid, It -was a bafe BufenefsfWhcn
he was engaged in it faid, that he was a Servant

of the People of this Kingdom ? What doth he do
at laft, when the Thing had gone far? He fpeaks

that which is the only Truth which I have heard
yet from him, He muft die, and Monarchy then

muft perifh with him; from which Event, Good
Lord deliver us.

Sir Edward Turner. My Lord, the Subftance
of the Defence that the Prifoner hath made at

the Bar, with much Skill and Cunning, may be
referred to Two Heads. The Firft to the Sta-

tute of the 25th of Edward the 3d, the Second
to the late Act of Oblivion : For the Firft,, my
Lord, he faith, that his Fact is not comprized
within that Statute; faith he, I did never Con-
fpire or Imagine the Death of the King 5 nor
did believe that would be a Consequent of their

Actings. It was expreflv proved that himfelf
did fay th :t the King muft Die, and Monarchy
with him j but, Gentlemen, though he had faid

true, that it had not been proved, or that he
did not believe that would be a Confequent, yet3

my Lord, I muft tell you, that everv Step of
this Tragedy was Treafon j the Summoning
themfeives, that was Treafon j every Proceeding

upon that was Treafon ; the Summoning of their

Meetr.'gs in the Painted Chamber, Coming into

tVcftminfter-Hall, every Perfon as Inftrumental,

thole that came to Act the Jeaft Part in thae

Tragedy*
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Tragedy, were every one Guilty of Treafon ;

what, faith he, I acted as a Counfellor for my
Fee : It was that Fee that Judas had, the 50
Pieces of Silver, that made him hang himfelf.

He goes further, and tells you, there mult be

no Semblable Treafons, this is clear ; the Con-
fpiring and Imagining the Death of the King,

that's the Treafon that is mentioned in the Act 5

Treafon by the Common Law j though this be

rot named the killing of the King j yet all thefe

Proceedings are Demonftrations to you there

was a Secret Imagination to kill him. Then to

the Act of Oblivion, his Argument is, That be-

caufe the Act faith, that if they had Sentenced,

Signed, or been Inftrumental in the Death of

the King, that they mould be excepted ; bur it

is not faid, or otherwife inftrumental; that this

therefore fhould refer to fubfequent, not prece-

dent Acts, that's a ftrange Expofition j take it

Grammatically, it hath the moft large Conftruc-

tion, Inftrumental, more large than if they had

faid or otherwife, for it doth comprehend every

Thing : There having been fo full an Anfwer
already, I will be fhcrt; I will not meddle with

his Civil Debts, but with his Political j ifa Man
kill another, though he do repent, the Magi-
ftrate mull do Juftice in Terrorem. Though he

doth repent, ( I hope in God he doth fo,j the

Magiftrates, your Lordfhips, muft do Juftice in

Ifcrrorem , I defire that Juftice may be done upon
that Man. He faid it was no Treafon to demand
Juftice againft the King, becaufe he did but de-

mand it ; I hope he will think it no Unkindnefs

in me to defire Judgment againft him, becaufe

it is Juft.

Mr. Wadham Windham. As I underftand the

Prifoner at the Bar, the chief Argument which

he fhelters himfelf under was his Profeffion,

which gives a Blaft to all of us of the Long
Robe j I will not mince his Arguments j faith he,

here was a Court, I was appointed Solicitor;

and faith he, for Men to practife before thofe

that have not a proper Judicature, it is not

Felony, Murther, or Treafon, (I would not

willingly mince his Argument,) and that I was
appointed, and the Words dictated to me; and

a Counfellor carrying himfelf within the Com-
pafs of his Profeffi n is not Anfwerable; but if

he will exceed his Bounds, his Profeffion is fo

far from fheltering him, that, as it has been

opened, it is very much an Aggravation ; it is

the Duty of a Counfellor to give Council ; ifa

Man fhall come to me and ask Counfel, and I

mail Counfel him to kill a Man, am not I ac-

ceiTary to that Murder? Words by his Argument,
will not amount to Treafon ; if the Fact follows,

I am as Guilty as if I did the Fact ; in point of

Treafon, it is all one as if I had done that very

Act. If Mr. Cook did advife that Aft, or was
Inftrumental, he is as much a Traitor as the

Man in the Frock that did the Execution; for

his Profeffion, truly, my Lord, I do not think

that a Counfellor is always bound to know the

Patent of him that fits as Judge, that will not'

be his Cafe 5 here was no ordinary Warrant of

Law to carry on Juftice : Grotius faith, in Cafe

of Neceffity for carrying on Juftice, there may
be many things allowed : I pray where did Mr.
Cook read of fuch a Court as a High- Court of

Juftice? There was never fuch a High-Court of

Juftice read of in the Law; then as this was a

Mock-Court, fo under good Favour it was a

Mock Jurifdiction. Was there any Law under
Heaven to put the King to Death ? Is it not out
of the Compafs of all Courts whatfoever to do
it? And under good Favour, my Lord, this is

but to Inciter a Man's fclf under Colour of Ju-
ftice to do the moft Execrable Treafon in the
World ; I have no more to fay to you.

Lord ChiefBaron. I would repeat the Evidence
and your Anfwer to you, if you have any thing
New fpeak to it.

Cook. This is New ; it was faid by one, that if

there had been no Charge there had been no Sen-
tence given in the Cafe j I fay that the Indictment
or Charge is no part of the Trial by the Statute
ofMagna Charta : The Peers of the Land fhall be
Tried by Peers, but are Indicted by the Coun.ry

;

I conceive by what they have faid they do make
me caufal of the King's Death. It is faid in the
Indictment there was a Power; I fay this, I did
not aflume any Power j it cannot be faid, if Coun-
fel be come in to an unlawful Power, that he takes

the Power, but ftands with Refpect at the Bar.
At Afllzes Judgment pafTes, the Clerk of the
Affizes he is not Inftrumental in taking away Life.

For that which Mr. Starkey fhould fay, that I

fhould fay The King muft dieand Monarchy with him,

1 humbly beg that the Jury would take Notice
of what Mr. Nutley faid, that I told him there
was no Intention of taking away the King's Life

;

and befides, ic is but a fingle Witnefs. I hope
there muft be Two Witneffes in Point of Law
to Convict a Man of High-Treafon.

Lord ChiefBaron. Mr. Cook, you faid right but
even now, that if there was any Thing in Matter
of Law which the Court knows of, which may
be of Advantage to you, they are of Council to

you, and fo they ought to be.

Cook. I thank your Lordfhips.

Lord Chief Baron. I fhall repeat the whole
Evidence, and begin with that firft; (we are

upon our Oaths;) the Witneffes that are againft

you, I took Notice of them ; you have had a
great deal of Liberty, which you have made ufe

of civilly ; but, Sir, for the Fact, I think it is a
great deal more full than as you have anfwered.
Firft, The Firft Witnefs produced againft you
was Mr. Nutley, (I fhall fpeak only the Material
parts that concern your Charge,) he fwears ex-

prefly that he faw Price a Scrivener writing a

Charge in the Court of Wards, that he faw his

Charge in your Hands ; he faw afterwards, when
the King of Bleffcd Memory was brought as a

Prifoner, that there you delivered the Charge
in ; there is more than Words ; you delivered

that Charge in, that alone is an Overt- Act ; then

if there were nothing elfe in that Cafe, that a

Man in a Paper fhould call the King Traitor,

Tyrant, Murtherer, and Implacable Enemy, as

there the Words are, and he deliver this Paper,
and this be read, if this be not an Overt- Act
of Imagining and Compaffmg the King's Death,
1 do not know what an Overt- Act is; and he

gives further Evidence ; if I miftake, take free

Liberty to interrupt me.
Cook. Sir, they were not my Words, but their

Words that Commanded me.
Lord Chief Baron. This I fay, that this very

Thing alone, fuch a Paper approved by you, de-

livering this Paper to an Affembly, and requiring

it may be read, this is an Overt-Act to prove the

Imagination of your Heart for the Death of the

King ; the Reafon is, if the King fhould be a

Tyrant,
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Tyrant, a Traitor, &c. it ftirs up Hatred in the exhibited a Charge of High-Treafon againft the

People, and the Confequences of that Hatred is Prifoner then ar the Bar, and tells you the Sub*

the Death of the Prince. The next Thing that ftance of it ; he faith that all but the Fir it Day-

Mr. Nutley (aid was this, he faid that you de- you demanded Judgment for not pleading to the

manded pofitively Judgment againft him, againft Charge ; he adds, that you complained of the

the Blefled King, then Prifoner at the Bar. I Delays; I am lure that was not dictated to you 5

remember you laid that you did demand Judg- that could not be thought chat you fhould defire

ment, but that you did not demand Judgment Judgment for the Prifoner: It is very true which

againft the Kings take it fo whether you did, or you lay for yourfelf in that, that you did not de-

not, (though you fhall find in fome other Wit-

neftes that I (hall repeat, that you faid Judgment

againft the King •, the Confequence will be the

fame ; who could you demand Judgment againft

but the King ? He was the Prifoner : Becaufe he

did demand a further Hearing by the Parliament,

mand it firft, till it was demanded by the Court

;

Mr. Bodurdo tells you, and fo it was granted the

Firft Day, that Brad/haw only faid ic, but after-

wards that you always demanded it : The next

was Mr. Heme, he fwears the fame Words again,

that you did in the Name of the Commons Af-

you urged that his Charge might be taken pro fembled in Parliament, and the People of Eng

Confeffo, then it muft needs be Judgment againft

the King ; it is effectively and implicitly the fame.

He went further, and that was, that being your

Friend and Acquaintance, and acknowledging

your Parts as a Lawyer, (which truly I do very

much know my felf, and do know this Gentle-

man to be a Man of very great Parts in his Pro-

feffion,) he had familiar Acquaintance with you;

land, exhibit a Charge, &c. Theie are your
own Woids ; if you did exhibit a Charge againft

the King, to exhibit a Charge of High-Treafon
the very Thing followed ; if it were fo, there

was Death, fo certainly there cannot be a greater

Expreflion of the Imagination of a Man's Hearc

than that is : It is true, you asked then a Que-
ftion, and that was, whether that that you con-

he told you what a bale Bufinefs it was, and you eluded was not that you defired them to proceed

did yourfelf acknowledge it •, faid the Prifoner according to Juftice ? It is true, the Words of

to Mr. Nutley himfelf, it is a bafe Bufinefs, but the Charge are fo ; but before you come to Con-

they put it upon me. He did difcourfe further clufion you Charge him as a Traitor, Tyrant,

to him of the Oaths of Allegiance and Supre- {$c. Communis Hops ; after you had given that

I
macv, which he knew very well, no Man better ; Charge you demanded Juftice ; thofe that fpit in

this,' Gentlemen, he very ingenuoufly confeffed his Face they demanded Juftice ; every one knew
it, faying, I confefs it is fo, they put me upon what belonged to that Juftice: Then Baker, he

jit, I cannot avoid it ; but then excufes it, 1 am fwears pofitively that you did exhibit the Charge

the Servant of the People : Afterwards he pref- in this Manner ; he faid this, that you faid, you

Ifed the King to anfwer pofitively, whether had exhibited a Charge of High-Treafon, &c.

Guilty or Not Guilty; the preffing of the King and that the King fought Delays ; there is your

to anfwer, what was it in Effect but to haften infifting upon it ; he fays further that you faid

Judgment ? And that was to haften his Death ; thefe Words, that you did defire Judgment
[fo that this is the Subftance of Mr. Nutley-s Te- fhould be given againft him, and not fo much
jilimony, that he prefled Judgment ; Judgment you, as the Blood that had been fhed that cried

was demanded by the Prifoner now ac the Bar; for Judgment; truly whether that was a Judg-
jit is not only demanded, but preffed, and all the mer.t that you intended for Acquittal, that muft

Current of the Witneffes at feveral Days are to be left to the Jury. You asked (becaufe I will

this purpofe. It is true (that I may repeat the repeat it in order as my Memory will give me
Iwhole for you, and againft you,) that this Gen- leave) whether there was any other Words in

tleman, the Prifoner at the Bar, when Mr. Nut- the Charge than was in the Proclamation? Mr.
ifey did urge this to him, faid, he hoped they did Cook, Whether there was any other Words, or

[not intend to take away the King's Life; I no, that differed in the Proclamation ; as it was
verily believe they do hot intend to take away a great Sin and foul Fact in the Proclamation,

Mr.
you

the King's Life ; I hope they do not. But,

Cook, it is no Excufe to fay you hope, or

believe, they will not, &c. How far it may be

in lucha Crime fomethingin Extenuation in Foro

\Cceli, but not in Foro Civili; you opened it your-

felf, that if a Man fhould go about to take the

King Prifoner, it is Treafon ; the Law adjudg'd

that to be Treafon; when you knew they would

{condemn him as a Tyrant, Mutherer, &c. you

mult eafily believe what would follow fuch a

Condemnation, truly Death; that is no Colour

of Excufe in Foro Civili. Farrington fwears to

the fame Purpofe, that he fiw you having a

Parchment in your Hands, delivering it in it feems he was in the King's Army ; he fwears

and prayed it might be read as a Charge of the you gave him an Oath ; (it is Teftimony fit to

People; you did not fpeak, I deliver this in, be believed ;) but however, if you did not give

from thofe that deliver'd it to me; that was not the Oath, by what you fay yourfelf you may be

in the Paper, that you faid of yourfelf; my Bre- by, and asked him the Queftion. Mafter Starkey,

j
thrcn will tell you all this is an apparent Point of he tells you, that during the Trial, and before the

ji the Imagination of your Heart; at that Time he Sentence, that you, being an Old Acquaintance

fo it was as foul in the Charge. Mafter Mafter-

fon (wears the fame too, he heard you fay the
Second Day you had delivered a Charge (the

Day before) againft the King ; and that he had
delayed his Anfwer; you defired he might plead

Guilty, or Not Guilty; the laft Day, that you
did in the Names of the Commons AiTembled in

Parliament, and the People of England, demand
Judgment againft the King ; and then another

fwears thofe Words, Judgment againft the Pri-

foner at the Bar, which was the King. Burden
fwears you Examined him as a Witnefs againft

the King, in what Place he was with the King;

fwears the fame Thing, that you did defire it

might be taken pro Confeffo. Mr. Bodurdo is the
1 Third, he fwears the fame Thing too, that you

Vol. II.

of his in Grays-Inn, and fpeaking with him, he
fpake like a Friend to you, / hear you are up to

the Ears in this Bufinefs ; and whereas you talk of
Z 2 the
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the People, there is a fhoufand for One againft it ;

that you mould tell him again. You willfee firange

Things, but you mufi wait upon God; thefe Words
of waiting upon God are Words of that Nature,

People do ule them now-a-days when they would
do lbme horrid Impiety, which hath been the

Sin of too many } it is but a Canting Language,
that is the beft Term I can give it : You told

him then He muft Die, this was before the Sen-

tence } (that is to be obferved, Gentlemen of

the Jury }) you fay you did not know of the Sen-

tence, you faid He mufi Die, and Monarchy with

him. You mufl here know that fome of thofe

Perfons that fate upon him faid, the King was a

Gracious and Wife King ; and as Mr. Cook did

fay, and they were the beft Words they fpoke,

and I think he thinks fo in his Confcience j but

in Conclusion He muft Die, and Monarchy muft
Die with him } others faid, they did not hate

King Charles, but they hated Monarchy and Go-
vernment, but Monarchy was the Thing that

they would Behead. I think I have done with that

Evidence that was given againft you ; the Indict-

ment itfelf was read, the Overt-Acts was the

Meeting, Propounding, and Confulting about

it. It appears he was in the Chamber about the

Charge, that he did propound it, he delivered

the Charge, and it appears withal, that he de-

manded Judgment, he defired the King might
anfwer, or that it might be taken pro Confeffo.

Thefe are Overt-Acts to declare the Imagination

of his Heart. The Anfwer of Mr. Cook I will

repeat it as clearly as 1 can, becaufe nothing fhall

go to the extenuating of the Fact but it fhall be

fpoken. Mr. Cook, in your Anfwer, your De-
fence that you make, you fet forth the Heads of

this Indictment, and you fet them forth very

truly ; the Heads are the Aggravations of the

Indictment, the Indictment was the Compafling
and Imagining the Death of the King} it faid it

was upon thefe Grounds, that you did Propound,
Abet, and Confuk the Death of the King ; that

you with others did affume Power and Autho-
rity to kill the King, and that thereupon a Per-

fon unknown in a Frock did accordingly kill the

King. You fay to the firft Part, if it did not
appear that you did advife the Death of the King
that you were not Guilty : For that, Sir, as I

told you before, taking them either complexly
or fingly, if any of the Particulars reached to

one of thefe Acts, it was enough, but it reaches

to all : You required Judgment againft the King
as a Traitor, and that with a Reafon, and cer-

tainly Death muft follow : You fay you were
appointed to give your Advice j you had a Pro-

clamation firit for Trial of the King -, you had

the Order of January 10, whereby you were ap-

pointed to give your Advice } if it were fo it

will be no Excufe at all ; the Proclamation gives

you no Warrant at all} he that obeys fo wicked
a Proclamation it will not fave him •, it appears

you were privy to this before the Proclamation

;

if you were not at all, when fuch a thing as this

is, fuch a Proclamation and Act, and fuch a man-
ner of Trial, as I believe, though you have read

very much, you never heard of fuch a Thing in

our Law, or Foreign Nations, that you there-

upon fhould take upon you to be of Council a-

gainft the King, it Aggravates the Fact : O-
ther Men may be Impudent and Ignorant, but

you that were a Learned Lawyer, your being of

Council doth aggravate the Thing. You fay,

Secondly, By Law Words will not amount to

Treafon} for that, I would not have that go for

Law by no means, though it be not your Cafe;

for you are not Indicted for Words, but Words
are Treafon, and Indictments are often for it $

but the Difference is this, the Indictment is not
for Words, but Compaffing and Imagining the

Death of the King} Words are Evidence of the

Compaffing and Imagining the King's Death } it

is the greateft Evidence of the Imagination of
the Heart} Words do not make a Treafon, that

'

is, if it be by Inference or Confequence, but re-

ductively } but if it be immediately, I fhall fay

to a Man, Go kill the King, by that which is

an abfolute, immediate, neceffary Confequence, to
\

fay this is no Treafon, I would not have that go
'

for Law } your Cafe is not for Words, but for

delivering a Charge, the Ground that you fpeak
of } Words may make a Hererick, but not a •

Traitor ; it was a witty. Saying, but you have no I

fufficient Authority for it} thefe are Words put
in Writing } we all know if a Man put his

Words in Writing, if a Man fpeak Treafonable
Words, and put them in Writing, they have
been feveral Times adjudged Treafon} and fo in

my Lord Coke's $ Inflitutes, the Cafe of Williams
of the Temple ; there was a Book of Treafon in

his own Study of his making, and he was Indi-

cted for it} Words put in Writing is an exprefs

Evidence of the Imagination of the Heart; you
fay it was dictated to you, but when Words are

written in a Charge, and your Name to it,

(which I had almoft forgotten,) that's more than

Words } the Witneffes fwear the Likenefs of

your Hand j they do but fwear the Likenefs of

your Hand ; no Man can fwear more, unlefs he

was prefent and faw it ; but you owned the Charge,

and there your Name is ; that befides the Two
Witneffes there is your own Actions to prove it.

When Two Witneffes fhall fwear it is like your

Hand, and you own that Charge, I muft leave

it to the Jury: You fay you did this after Com-
mand, the Words were dictated to you } the

Words were conceptis Verbis, appointed and or-

dered by the Court, but the preffing was yours

}

he ftands upon Delays, let it be taken pro Con-

feffo, demanding Judgment ; thefe were your

Words } another Man may dictate a Thing, but

you are not forced to fpeak it j you urged it,

owned it } you demanded not in the Name of

the Court, but in the Name of all the People of

England; you fay further, that your demanding

Juftice is not within the Statute j as I faid be-

fore, what can be the Effect of demanding Ju-

ftice, but that the King fhould die upon thole

Premiffes ? You fay farther, that it was in be- •

hoof of the King, as you would urge it} to do

the King a Courtefie, in asking the King might

have Juftice } but you did not name whar Juftice

it was } but you did him a Courtefie } truly the

King was but a little beholden to you for that Re-

quest } all the World knows what that demand-

ing of Juftice was, it was to have the King's

Head cut off} you went as far as you could } it

ended with you when you demanded Juftice}

that is as far as you could you cut off the Head.

St. Paul, when the Witneffes laid down the

Cloaths at his Feet, he faid, I killed Stephen the

Martyr. You fa- further, that in all Tragedies

the Accufcr or Witnefs, the Jury, the Judge,

and Executiomr, are the only Perfons } and you

are none of thefe j you are only of Council } if

Juftice
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/ou?

[here

You
was

Juftice was not done, what was it to y
faid you did noc affume a r"ower, t

only Eloquence required in the Council ; it hath

been truly faid, that this is a great Aggravation

to be of Council againft the king; you laid his

Maiefty was then a Prifoner and acculed > Coun-

cil cannot be heard agiinft the King* you un-

thofe Two Perfons, or either of them, who being

dilguifed by Frocks and Vizards, did appear upon

the Scaffold erecled before White-hall, upon the

Thirtieth of January 5648. Ail "which Perfons,

[thele are the Words.] Firft^ It fhall not ex-

tend to y< u ; then it comet., All which Perfons,

for their execrable Treafon in fentencing to Death, or

dertake to be Council againft the King in his own f'gning the Inftrument for the horrid Murther, or

Perfon, and in the higheft Crime} if the Council

at the Bar in behalf of his Client fhould fpeak

Treafon, he went beyond his Sphere} but you

did not only fpeak (bur acted,) Treafon; you faid

vou ufed not adifrefpective Word to the King}
j . r , . 1 .,.u„.. tu w.v^/r:,,. u„., a

being fnflrumental in taking away the Precious Life

of our late Sovereign Lord CHARLES the Firft

of Glorious Memory, are left to be proceeded againft

as Traitors to His late Majefly^ according to the

Laws of England, and are out of this prefent Atl

truly for that you hear what the WitnefTes have wholly excepted and foreprized. Firft, as I told

faid }
you preffed upon him ; you called it a De-

lay •/ you termed him not the King, but the Pri-

foner at the Bar, at every Word ; you fay you

did not affume an Authority, it is an AfTumption

of Authority, if you countenance or allow of

their Authority •, you fay you do not remember

you demanded Judgment againft the King} that

lis fully proved againft you} you yourTelr asked

\
the Queftion,} whether you did fay againft the

JKing he did not remember} but others pofitive-

Sly, that you demanded Judgment againft the

I King and Prifoner at the Bar; you faid that be-

fore Sentence there was not an Intention to put

: the King to Death, to that Mr. Starkey fwears

jthat you exprefly faid, the King muft die, and Third Or makes all disjunctive: Here are Three

I
Monarchy with him, and this before the Sen- Ors, fii it in Sentencing to Death, or Signing the

you before, and as it was very well faid by Ma-
iler Solicitor, admitting the Reafonhad been mi-
ftaken, and that you had not been comprehended
in the Reafon, you are excepted our of the Bo-
dy, Provided it fhall not extend, &c. Many
times Laws do make Recital?, which in them-
felves are fometimes falfe in point of Fact ; that
which is the Law is Pofitive Words, the o-
ther Words are for the Reafon ; excepting all

which, that is, Mailer Cook, which Perfon is

excepted, not for Doing of it, but for his execra-
ble Crimes in being inftrumental. It is clear

without that, if it were not (o ; we fay when a
Sentence is, or fuch a one, or fuch a one, the

: Whereas you lay this is but one Wit-

nefs, that there is to be in Treafon Two Wit-

nefTes ; but that there fhould be Two WitnefTes

to every Particular that is an Evidence ot the

Fact, that is not Law ; if to one Particular that

is an Evidence there be one Witnels, another to

another, here are Two WitnefTes within the

Inftrument, then comes this, or being Inftru-

mental in takirg away the Precious Life of our
late Sovereign, &V. this Or doth clearly exclude
the other Two ; or Inftrumental not only in
point of Death, but farther, being either a
Sentcncer, Signer, or being Inftrumental in ta-

king away the King's Life; that is, being any

Meaning of the Statute; Two WitnefTes to the way Inftrumental. Truly, whether it be noc

Indictment, Comparing and Imagining the Death

of the King ; being accompanied with other

\
Circumftances, this One Witnefs, if you believe

, him, is as good as Twenty WitnefTes, becaufe

other Overt-Acts are exprefly proved by feveral

\ WitnefTes. You fay next, for the drawingfof

\
the Charge, in right Reafon, it ought to be

S
counted for the Service of the King : Firft you

do acknowledge, and truly very ingenuouily,

that in the Time of Peace to bring him to the

Bar, not being a Prifoner, is Treafon, (you fay

it,) according to the Law, and that you deliver-

ed the Charge for the accelerating of the Trial

;

, and that it was not done by you traitoroufly ; you

Inftrumental to exhibit a Charge againft him,
or complain of his Delays, to ask Juftice againft

him in the Name of the People, to do all this,

and defiie that the Charge might be taken pro

Confejjb, if this be not Inftrumental, I know no-
thing elfe but Sentencing and Signing :Somefign-
ed the Sentence, fome the Inftrument for Death:
'I he next Degree of being Inftrumental, the
higheft Degree of that, is to Accufe him, to de-
liver in the Charge againft him in the Name of
the People; do it again and again, be angry at

the Delays. The next Thing is this, that you
did not do this falfo or malitiofe, but for your
Fee ; and that though there might be avaritia,

fay the King was a Prifoner before; and you fay there was not malitia in it ; it was done by your

what Hands he was in, in the Hands of Men of Profeiiion, you were not Magifterial in it ; you
Power and Violence; it had been your Duty to thought the Confequences that did follow, would

have delayed it, not accelerated it, that there not follow. If a Man does but intend to beat

might have been fome Means of Prevention of a Man, and he die upon it, you know in Law it

that Bloody Act that followed ; if you knew that is all one: You muft underftand there is a Ma-
to be Treafon to make him a Prifoner, Subjects lice in the Law ; if a Man beat One in the Streets,

do not ufe to make Kings Prifoners, but Death and kill him, though not malicioufiy in him, yet

follows. You urge in the next Place the Act of it is fo in Law. That you defire to have the Be-

Indempnity, and that you are not excepted ; for nefit of theKing's Declaration ; that you did

that, you have made as much of it as the Matter

will bear ; yet you muft confider, Firft, as a

Rule in Law, that where they are General

Words, when they come to be explained by the

Particulars, you fhall not include them within the

General : Mark the very Words, they are thefe,

Provided that this Atl, nor any Thing therein con-

tained, fhall extend to Pardon, Difcharge, or give

any other Benefits whatfoever unto fuch and fuch,

{among whom you are named,) nor any of them
t nor

Vol. II.

put in your Petition proving the fame ; that you
were a Prifoner before ; that the Commons in

behalf of themfelves and the People of England^

they craved the Benefit of it, which was grant-

ed, excepting fuch as fhould be by Parliament

excepted ; and that the King fhould mention a

Free Parliament; for this, it hath been fully an-

fwered to you, and clearly, by Mr. Solicitor, that

you are not at all concerned in the King's De-
claration at Breda. For Firft, it is nothing in

Z z i Law,



356 57. The Trial ofJohn Cook, 12 Car. II.

Law, it binds in Honour; and we have given

the fame Dire&ions Yefterday upon the like Oc-

cafion, that is, that the King's Declaration binds

him in Honour and in Confcience, but it does

not bind him in Point of Law, unlefs there were

a Pardon granted by the Broad Seal ; the Thing

is cleared to you what Parliament the King

meant by it ; they were fitting at that Time,

had acknowledged their Duty and Allegiance to

their King ; they went ad ultimum potentia for

a Free and Abfolute Parliament, whilft the King

was abfent, though the King was away j yet

notwithstanding the King declared whom he

meant; he directed one of thofe Declarations to

Our Speaker of the Houfe of Commons, and a-

nothev to the Speaker of our Peers : in this Cafe

it was loquendum ut vulgus; it was owned by him

as having the Name of a Parliament ; it was done

with great Wifdom and Prudence and fo as it

could be no otherwife ; that they were Loyal

Subjects, acting in the King's Abfence ; he con-

fenting to it ; the King owning that Authority,

fo he was obliged in Honour no further than his

own Meaning and Words •, but there is another

Claufe in t he Act which excludes all thefe Perfons.

The next Thing is this, you fay the Statute of

if Edward?, and it is very true, you fay if it be

any Semblable Treafon, we were not to judge

upon that, unlefs they were the Treafons in the

Ad; and it is moll true; now you would urge

but this, that this is but a Semblable Treafon $

but you are Indicted for the Compaffing and I-

magining the Death of the King: If thefe Acts

did not tend to the Compaffing and Imagining

the King's Death, I know not what does ; I am

fatisfied you are convicted in your Confcience.

The next Thing ("for you have faid as much as

any Man can in filch a Caufe, it is Pity you have

not a better,,) you fay, though it was a Tyran-

nical Court, as it is called, but fuch a Court it

was, and there were Officers you fay, it had

figuram judicii ; that aggravates the act to you,

"to your Profeffion. There is a difference be-

tween a ftanding Court, and that which is but

named to be a Court ; this was but One of a

Day or I wo's growth before, and you know by

whom ; by fome that pretended to be only the

Commons ;
your Knowledge can tell you that

there was never an Act made by the Commons
affembled in Parliament alone ; and you may find

it in my Lord Coke, that an Act by the Lords

and Commons alone was naught, as appeared by

the Records; Sir Jams Ormond was Attainted

of Treafon ; the Act was a private Act, by the

King and Commons alone, the Lords were for-

got ; when the Judges came to try it, it was

void ; and another in Henry the 6th's Time j

you know this was no Court at all ; you know
by a Printed Authority, that where a fettled

Court, a true Court is, if that Court meddle

with that which is not in their Cognizance, it

is purely void ; the Minifter that obeys them

is punishable; if it be Treafonable Matter, it is

Treafon; if Murder, it is Murder: So in the

Cafe of Marjhalfea% and in the Common Pleas, if

a Man fhall begin an Appeal of Death which is

of a Criminal Nature, and ought to be in the

King's-Bench, if they proceed in it, it is void, if

this Court ihould condemn the Party convicted,

and he be executed, it is Murder in the Exe-

cutioner ; the Court had no Power over fuch

Things. You fpeak of a Court: Firfl it was

not a Court : Secondly, no Court whatfoever

could have any Power over a King in a coercive

Way, as to his Perfon. The laft Thing that you
have faid for your felf is this, that admitting
there was nothing to be conftrued of an Act or

an Order, yet there was a difference; it was an
Act de facto, that you urged rightly upon the

Statute of 1 1 Hen. 7. which was denied to fome,
God forbid it fhould be denied you ; if a Man
fei ve the King in the War, he fhall not be pu-
nifhed, let the Fact be what it will. King Henry
the 7th took Care for him that was King de
facto, that his Subjects might be encouraged to

follow him, to preferve him, whatever the E-
vent of the King was : Mr. Cook, you fay, to
have the Equity of that Act, that here was an
Authority defatJo ; thefe Perfons had gotten the

Supreme Power, and therefore what you did un-
der them you do defire the Equity of that Act;
for that, clearly the Intent and Meaning of that

Act is againft you ; it was to preferve the King
de facto, how much more to preferve the King de

jure ; he was owned by thefe Men, and you, as

King ; you Charged him as King, and he was
Sentenced as King. That that King Henry the
7th did was to take Care of the King de faclo
againft the King de jure; it was for a King
and Kingly Government, it was not for an Anti-
monarchical Government ; you proceeded againft

your own King, and as your King, called him
in your Charge Charles Stuart King of England.
I think there is no Colour you fhould have any
Benefit of the Letter, or of the Equity of the

Act. They had not all the Authority at that

Time, they were a few of the People that did

it, they had fome Part of the Army with them

;

the Lords were not diffolved then when they had
adjourned fome Time, they did fit afterwards, fo

that all the Particulars you allcdge are againft

you. The Jaft Thing was this, you fay, that it

having pleafed God to reftore the King, Judg-
ment fhould be given for Example for Terrour
to others, that this could not be drawn into

Example again ; why ? Becaufe by the Bleffing

of God Peace was reftored ; no Probability that

if your Life was fpared, that it would be drawn
again into Example; this is the weakeft Thing
you have urged; you muft know the Reafon:
There are Two Things, there is the Punifhment,
and Example ; Punifhment goes to the Prifoner,

but Example to the Documents of all others

;

God knows what fuch Things may be in After-

Ages, if there fhould be Impunity for them; it

would rather make Men Impudent and Confi-

dent afterwards. If you have any more to fay I

will hear you, if not I muft conclude to the

Jury : You hear the Evidence is clear for Com-
paffing and Imagining the Death of the King}
you have heard what he has faid, and what he

hath done ; he was within, and examined W/'tT

neffes againft the King, that he was by at the

drawing of the Charge where it was drawn;
you hear he exhibited this Charge in the Name
of the Commons Affembled in Parliament, and

the good People of England, and what this

Charge is; it is High-Treafon,and other High-
Miidemeanours ; you find that he does compiaiii

of Delays, does again and again fpeak of this

Charge, defire it may he taken pro ConfeJJo ; in

the clofe of all, it was not fo much he as Inno-

cent Blood that demanded Juftice ; this was

more than was dictated to him. You have heard

the
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the Witneffes j he was perfwadcd to forbear j

acknowledged the King to be a Gracious and

Wife King ; the Oaths alledged againft him, and

you have heard his Excufe; I have nothing more

to fay ; I fhall be very willing to hear you fur-

ther ; I have not abfolutely directed the Jury.

Cook. I do humbly acknowledge your Patience

in hearing me, and that your Lordfhips have truly

and iuftly Hated both Proofs and my Anfwer. If

your Lofdfhips are pleafed to lay afide thefe Acts,

or Orders, or Authority, whereby I did at that

Time trulv confcientioully act, and did think that

it would bear me out, if you lay afide that, and

look upon it as fo many Men got together without

Authority, and as well thofe that were Inftrumen-

tal though not Sentencers or Signers, and that

Claufe in the Act, I confef, I humbly make bold

to fay I have not received Satisfaction in my Judg-

ment, thofe very Words ofnotfo much I as the In-

nocent Blood criesfor Juftice were dictated to me;

there was nothing at all left to me, becaufe his

Majefty did not plead; there was no Trial; that

which 1 did was according to the be ft, though it

may be according to the wcakeft, Part of my
Judgment: I have no New Matter.

Lrrd Chief Baron. You have faid no New
Matter, unlefs it be worfe than before, for now
you warrant that Authority.

Cook. Do not miftake me, (my Lord,) I mean fo

far as to excufe me in the Point of High-Treafon.

Lord Chief Baron. We delivered our Opinions

as to that formerly ; we were of Opinion, that

the acting by Colour of that pretended Autho-

rity was fo far from any Extenuation, that it

was an Aggravation of the Thing; the meeting

by that Authority was Treafon, and in them

that acted under them, and approving of it, the

making of that traitorous pretended Act, making

the Proclamation, fitting upon it, they were all

fo many Treafons; that was the Reafon why
that was urged againft you, afTuming upon you

the Power, that was, you approving of their

Powrr by acting under them, fo that there is

nothing more to be faid,

Gentlemen of the Jury. You have heard the In-

dictment was for Compaffing and Imagining the

Death of the King ; you have heard the feveral

Overt- Acts repeated, and whether thefe are

Guilty of Treafon to deliver in a Charge againft

the King, fuch a One as that was in thefe

Words, as againft a Traitor, Tyrant, Murde-

rer, and Implacable Enemy to the Common-
wealth; in thefe very Words to defirejudgment

againft the Prifotier (then the King) at the Bar,

angry at Delays, todefire that the Charge might

be taken pro Confejfo, to have it exprefly, again

and again to demand Judgment, if thefe be not

Overt- Acts of Compaffing and Imagining the

Death of the King, and that which hath been

faid by the Witneffes, it muft be left to you: I

think you need not go from the Bar. Jury went

together. Silence is Commanded.

Clerk. Are you agreed of your Verdict?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fpeak for you?

Jury. The Foreman.

Clerk. John Cook, Hold up thy Hand. Look
upon the Prifoner at the Bar, how fay you, is

he Guilty of the Treafon in Manner and Form
as he ftands Indicted ? Or not Guilty ?

Fore-man. Guilty.
- Clerk. Look to him, Keeper.

Clerk. What Goods and Chattels ?

Jury. None that we know of.

The Trial a/Hugh Peters, the

fa?ne 13th of O&ober.

Clerk of the Crown. Set Hugh Peters to the
Bar: which was done accordingly.

Clerk. Hugh Peters, Hold up thy Hand; thou
ftandeft Indicted, &c. If you will challenge any
of the Jury you muft challenge them when they

come to the Book, before they are Sworn.
Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Peters, you may chal-

lenge to the Number of gf peremptorily, but
beyond that you cannot, without goo-i Caufe
{hewn; and you may have Pen, ink, and Paper.

Peters. My Lord, Ifiall challenge none.

Jury Sworn 12, Sir Jer. Whitch, James Hally,

Chrift. Abdy, Nich. Rainton, Rich. Cheney, Jo.
Smith, Rich. Abol, G. Terry, Char. Pickern, Jo.
Nichol, Fran. Dorrington, Anthony Hall.

Clerk. Hugh Peters, Hold up thy Hand. Look
on the Prifoner you that are Sworn, rjJV.

Sir Edward Turner to the Juiy. You have of-

ten heard repeated to you that the Subftantial

Part of the Charge is the Compaffing and Ima-
gining the Death of the King, and all the reft

will be but Evidence to prove that Imagination

againft the Prifoner at the Bar, whom we will

prove to be a Principal Actor in this fad Trage-
dy, and next to him whom G d hath taken away,

and referved to his own Judgment ; and we (hall

endeavour to prove, that he was a Chief Con-
fpirator with Cromwell at feveral Times, and in

feveral Places ; and that it was defigned by them :

We fhall prove that he was the Principal Per-

fon to procure the Soldiery to cry out, Juftice,

Juftice, or affift or defiie thofe for the taking a-

way the Life of the King. He did make ufe

of his Profeffion, wherein he fh< uld have been

the Minifter of Peace, to make himfelfa Trum-
peter of War, of Treafon and bedition, in the

Kingdom : He preached many Sermons to the

Soldiery, in direct Terms for taking away the

King, comparing the King t> Burabbas : He
was lnftrumental when the Proclamation for the

High-Courc of Juftice (as ihey called it) was
proclaimed, directing where it fhould be pro-

claimed, and in what Place. When the King
was brought upon the Stage, that Mock work,
he was the Perfon that ftirred up the Soldiery

below to cry for Juftice; we fhall fhew you as

he preached at feveral Times upon feveral Occa=
fions, ftill he was in the Pulpit to promote this

Bufinefs; the next Day after he was brought to

Trial he commends it ; you fhall hear all out of

the Mouth of the Prifoner, therefore I fay no
more; call the Witneffes.

Dr. William Toung Sworn.

Council. Tell my Lords and Jury what the

Prifoner at the Bar has declared to you concern-

ing the Contrivance of bringing the King to

Trial.

Dr. Young. My Lords and Gentlemen of the

Jury, it was near about (and that the Prifoner

may remember) the Month of July 16*48, fince

we came firft acquainted, when he went over to

Ireland; it was about the Siege of Pembroke

Caftle s
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Caftle; but afterwards in the Year 1649 we re-

newed our Acquaintance} he went over into

Ireland with thac Ufurper, the late Protector, as

he was called, after the Town of Wexford was

taken } coming over he fell fick of the Flux,

and faid he received it by Infection, praying o-

ver Captain Norton : Coming into Milford, that

Captain fends a Summons to me to come on Board,

that was to fetch this Prifoner at the Bar, who

was fick. I ,found him there grovelling upon

the Deck, and fick he was indeed; with much
Difficulty we got him on Shore j within a very

few Days (to the beft of my Remembrance Five

Days) I perfected his Cure : We became very

familiar} 1 obferved in him that he had fome

fecret Thoughts that I could not well difcover,

neither well underftand} whereupon I thought

it might tend to my Security that I fhould fo

much fympathize with him, to get within him
to know his Intentions. After fome Weeks, (for

he continued with me ten Weeks, or near there-

abouts, fome few Days rather over thin under,)

we grew fo familiar, that at laft I found he be-

gan to enlarge his Heart to me. Many times I

ihould hear him rail moll infufferably againft the

Blood Royal, not onlv againft our Martyred

King, but againft his Off fpring; ftill as we con-

tinued our Acquaintance, he became more and

more open to me} fo we would fit up difcour-

fing (till about Twelve or One of the Clock at

Night very often) about thefe unhappy Wars
late in England. At laft, my Lord, I found him

that he began to tell me how he came into Eng-

land^ and upon what Accounc he came out of

New-England. I fhall defire that in regard his

Difcouries were various, that I may deliver them

orderly} they were delivered to me within the

Compafs of ten Weeks } but the Days and

Weeks I cannot remember. Firft, he told me
(difcourfing of New- England and the Clergy

there, and much of the Clergy here in England,

and of the Bufinefs here of Reformation,) he

told me, that for the dr ving on of this Inrereft

of this Reformation, he was imployed out of

New-England for the ftirring up of this War,
and driving of it on ; this 1 fhall my Lord fpeak

to in the fivft place, and that upon the Oath I

have taken: And, Secondly, he was pleafed at

another time to acquaint me, and that by way
of Compliment, complaining then againft the

Parliament, faying, that fome time after he was

come into England he was fent over into Ireland

by the Parliament to receive further Jnftructions

to drive on the Defi^n, to extirpate Monarchy }

faith he, I did difpend a great deal of my own
Money, yet never had that Satisfiction from

them which they promifed me, that wa?, they

promifed z or 3000/. for my Journey, and yet

they have given me no more but only a fmall

Pittance of Land out ofmy Lord of Worcefter's

Eftate in Worcefterjhire. I have feen his Letters

directed to his Kinfman here in London, as I take

it his Name was Parker, advifing him for the

fettling of th s Land, a*d felling it. Thirdly,

my Lord, I have obferved, rhat by way of Vili-

fication of the Monarchical Government, I

have found him jocondarily fcoffing at it, and

would ordinarily quibble in this Manner, faying

this Commonwealth will never be at Peace till

iro be put down. I asked him what this ifo

was, he told me Three LV, and afterwards in-

terpreted the meaning to be the Lords, the Le-

vites, and the Lawyers, with that faid I, we
fhall be like Switzers, linkers and Traitors. Now,
my Lord, we are come to the laft Particular 9

we difcourfing thus frequently, and withal he
was then a Colonel, and had a Commiflion un-
der that Ufurper Oliver, and brought over his

Commiflion for Raifing of Soldiers to foment
that War in Ireland; that it was fo I appeal to
the Dictates of his own Confcienee, and whe-
ther he did not prefs me very importunately to
accept of a Commiflion of Major, or a Captain}
he did Iflue forth Two Commiflions under his
own Hand, one of them to bring over from De-
von/hire Two Foot Companies unto Cork. My
Lord, becaufe we were Militarily affected, a-

mongft the Difcourf s of our unhappy Wars, I
know not how it came from him, it being near
Eleven Years fince, and I have had many Suf-
ferings incumbent on me, fo that I may fail in

fome particulars, but in general thus it was:
We were difcourfing concerning our Martyr'd
King, as then we call'd him, and of his Impri-
fonment in Holmeby-Houfe, which I wondered
at} thus we difcours'd ; he told me the Story
how they had ufed him at Holmeby; and at laft

came up to this, when he was taken away from
Holmeby-Houfe, the Parliament had then a Defign
to have fecured Oliver Cromwell, and my felf, be-
ing then in London; faith he, we having Intelli-

gence of it, efcaped out of London, and rode
hard for it, and as we rode to Ware we made a
Halt, and advifed how we fhould fettle this

Kingdom in Peace, and difpofe of the King}
the Refult was this, They fhould bring him to
Juftice, Try him for his Life, and cut off his

Head: Whether this was the hxpreflion of
Cromwell 1 cannot tell; but to the utmoftofmy
Remembrance, and I am miftaken if it was not
the Advice of Mr. Peters to Cromwell; and I

believe it, becaufe his former Relations of his

Inftructions out of Ireland did tend to that ef-

fect.

Mr. Sol. Gen. I will ask you this Queftion

}

we will not prefs you particularly upon your
Memory, whether Cromwell or Peters faid the
Words ? Do you remember he confefTed to you
they were agreed upon that Matter?

Young. They did confult and agree upon it.

Peters. My Lord, I defire to fpeak a Word, [his

Voice being low he was brought to the Second
Bar,] I am the Bolder to fpeak to your Lordfhips at

this time a Word, and it is high Time to fatisfie

my Confcienee ; if thefe Things were true there is

enough faid to dejlroy me ; I defire leave to tell you

what Offence I take at the Witnefs, thus, my Lord,

This Gentleman I do know
Council. What fay you to him ?

Peters. That which I have to fay is this, that in

his Story he hath told that which is not true ; but I
will not find fault with him, becaufe he was my
Hofi, I will not refleel and recriminate; 1fhall give
your Lordfhips in Simplicity as much Satisfaction

myfelf as any Witnefs; this I fay to the Man that

fpeaks, and this is certain, J did fpend fome time

at this Gentleman's Houfe, he is called there Dr.
Young } and my Trouble at this Difcourfe is this,

I do not know, my Lord, that I found a more

violent Man for the Parliament than himfelf; fo

far he undertook to be a Spy on one Side; this 1

find to be fo, he will not deny it; he was very

fierce in that Way, I think Words of fuch a Man
ought to be little attended to. Zhe Second is

this,
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this, this Gentleman is not a competent Witnefs,

and that upon a Twofold Ground. Firft, becaufe I

know he is under a very great Temptation and

'Trouble in this very Thing, and it is upon this

Account he was put out of his Living in the Coun-

try, and here he came to me to help him in again,

and was very highly offended becaufe I did not do it.

Secondly, it is not that I would invalidate his Wit-

nefs, but give me leave to tell you, it is his way to

fnap and catch at every Man, which is the Complaint

of the People in his own Country. I know that

fame which is fpoken is falfe; Ifpeak it in thepre-

fence of God, I profefs, I never had any near Converfe

with O. C about fuch Things ; I [peak this to the

Jury, that they would have a care of the Witnefs ;

i" was in Sicknefs then ; thofe that have known me

do know likewife that I have much Weaknefs in my
Head when I am Sick, and to take Words that are

fpoken in a Sick Condition, he ought not to do it ; for

the Words themfelves I do here profefs againft them,

for the Generality of them ; and that he hath been

freer in my Judgment in any Communication this

Way than I have been ; it is marvellous, here I pro-

fefs the Things Untruths, I call God and Angels to

witnefs they are not true. I willgive you an Account

of my whole Condition by and by, if I may be heard.

Court. You fhall be heard at large; that which

you have been heard now is concerning the Com-
petency or Incompetency of the Witnefs : the

Incompetency againft him is thi?, that when you

came thither none more violent for the Parlia-

ment than himfelf, and that he was a great Spy,

and you fay it was ufual with him to take fuch

Courfes : thefe are but Words ; if you have any

WitnefTes we will hear them ; the Man may be

traduced and flandered, and fo all WitnefTes may
be taken away.

Mr. Peters, if you take this Courfe God knows
when this Bufinefs will end ; if you have a mind
take Pen, Ink, and Paper, and take Notes of

the WitnefTes, and make Exceptions to them
one after another •, but interrupting one, and fo

another, we fhall never have done.

Toung. I do recollect my felf of fome other

Conferences between us ; as to my being mali-

cious, I know he never did me any Wrong, and

therefore I cannot be malicious; and as for my
Reputation, having refided Two Years in Lon-

don, I can have Certificates both from my Coun-
try, and fome of this City, to vindicate me in

that particular : But, my Lord, that which I

would inform your Loidmip is this, he told me
he took Duke Hamilton a Prifoner himfelf in his

own Chamber, feized on his Goods, and took

his George and Blue Ribbon off his Shoulder, and

the George he fhewed me.

Wybert Gunter Sworn,

Council. Mr. Gunter, what can you fay con-
cerning a Meeting and Confultation at the Star

in Coleman-fireet ?

Gunter. My Lord, I was a Servant at the Star

in Coleman-ftreet, with one Mr. Hildefley ; that

Houfe was a Houfe where Oliver Cromwell and
feveral of that Party did ufe to meet in Confulta-

tion ; they had feveral Meetings ; I do remem-
ber very well one among the reft, in particular

that Mr. Peters was there ; he came in the

Afternoon about Four a Clock, and was there

till Ten or Eleven at Night ; I being but a

Drawer could not hear much of their Difcourfe j

359
but the Subject was tending towards the King
after he was a Prifoner, for they called him by
the Name of Charles Stuart : I heard not much
of the Difcourfe; they were writing, but what I

knownot ; but I guefled it to be fomething drawn
up againft the King ; I perceived that Mr. Peters

was privy to it, and pleafunt in the Company.
Court. How old were you at that Time ?

Gunter. I am now Thirty Years the laft Bar-
tholomew-Day

y
and this was in 1648.

Court. How long before the King was put to

Death ?

Gunter. A good while ; it was fuddenly, as I

remember, Three Days before Oliver Cromwell
went out of Town.

Peters. / was never there but once with Mr.
Nathaniel Fines.

Council. Was Cromwell there?

Gumer. Yes.

Council. Was Mr. Peters there any oftner than
once ?

Gunter. I know not, but once I am certain of
it ; this is the Gentleman i for then he wore a
great Sword.

Peters. / never wore a great Sword in my Life.

Mr, Siarkey Sworn.

Starkey. My Lords, in the Month of Decern*

ber, before the King died, in the beginning of
that Month, and fo towards the 12th of January
following, the Head-Quarters of the Army were
at Windfor, and Mr. Ireton, that is dead, (who
was a General Officer of the Army) was quar-
tered in my Father's Houfe there, and by reafon

of his long Refidence there, being about Two
Months, 1 knew him very well. My Lords,
this Gentleman Mr. Peters, he likewife quar-

tered in another place in that Town, and Crom-
well himfelf was quartered at one Mr. Baker's

that lay low in the Town; fo that in truth my
Father's Houfe being near the Caftle, and there

being in it a large Room, and in refpect that

Mr. Ireton was quartered there, uiu^lly the

Council of War fat there. My Lords, I was
then in the Houfe con ftantly : Bcfides this Coun-
cil of War, which did commonly fit there, I

did obferve that Cromwell^ Ireton, and this Gen-
tleman Mr. Peters, and one Colonel Rich, and a

Fifth Perfon, whofe Name I have forgot, did

ufually meet and confult together, and would fit

up till Two or Three a Clock in the Morning
very privately together ; this was their ufual

Courle when their Council of War fat ; Mr. Ire*

ton came in to Supper, but went out again ;

there were Guards upon them : After this Time
it happened that I was often in Mr. Ireton's

Company, where Mr. Peters coming to him,

was very often at Meals there, but efpecially at

Nights.

M. Ireton being civil in Carriage, would
ufually entertain Difcourfes with Mr. Peters,

likewife would favour me fometimes with Dif-

courfe ; and in that Difcourfe I did many
Times take occafion to aflert the Laws in point

of the King ; and difcourfing about the King
as being a Capital Inftrument in the late Incon-

veniences, as they called it, in the Times of

the War, Mr. Ireton would difcourfe this ordi-

narily ; I was bold to tell them that the Perfon

of the King was folutus legibus ; this Gentleman,

the Prifoner at the Bar, told me it was an une-

qual
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qual Law. I did obferve Mr. Peters did bend
his Difcourfe, not by way of Argument only,

but in point of Refolution of Judgment, fully

againft the Perfon and Government of the King.
I remember fome of his Expreffions were thefe,

That he was a Tyrant, that he was a Fool, that

he was not fit to be a King, or bear that: Office-, I

have heard him fay, that for the Office it felf,

(in thofe very Words which fhortly afcer came
into print,) that it was a Dangerous^ Chargeable,

and Ufelefs Office. My Lords, the conftant Dif-

courfe of this Gentleman at that Time was fuch

as he did believe would never be called into Que-
ftion, fo it was not a thing that a Man was ne-

ceffiated to obferve by an Accident, but it was
their whole Difcourfe. I will put you in mind
of a particular Paflage : When the News came
to Windfor that the King was inPrifon at iheljle

of Wights my Father, (whofe Houfe that was)

was very much troubled at it j and being an an-

cient Man, was not able to controul his Paffions

with Reafon, told my Mother that they (mean-
ing Mr. Ireton, &c.) fhould have no Entertain-

ment there, and took the Key of the Cellar and
put it in his Pocket ; his Paffions being lefTened,

Mr. Ireton, his Wife, and another Officer being

at Supper, and afterwards my Father faid Grace,
and, as he ufually did, tho' they were there, he

faid that Ufual and Honeft Expreffion, praying

for the King in thefe Ufual Words, Godfave the

King, Prince, and Realm ; fometimes they did

laugh at it, but never did reflecT: upon him j but

this Night he made this Expreffion, Godfave the

King's mofi Excellent Majefty, and preferve him out

of the Hands of all his Enemies. Peters, who was
then at the Table, turns about to him, and faid,

Old Gentlman^ your Idol will not Jland long % I do
conceive he meant it of the King. For a mat-
ter of Two Months of the conllant Refidence

and being of the Army there, I did obferve that

in the General Council there, and in this private

Cabal, (after the Bufinefs was broke out, and
when the King was taken Prifoner, and carried

to Windfor.) Mr. Peters was the conftant Man;
and when the Bufinefs broke out, I looked upon
it in reafon that Cromwell, Ireton, and this Gen-
tleman at the Bar, and Rich, and that other Gen-
tleman, whofe Name 1 have forgot, that they

were the Perfons that did the Bufinefs. My
Lords, Mr. Peters he continued at Windfor; I

remember very well that after the Body of the

Army, the General, and the Officers of the Ar-
my, were gone to London, he continued in Wind-
for : I remember a Paffage of one Bacon, who
was a Sectary ; Mr. Peters being in Difcourfe

of the King, Mr. Bacon took great Diftafte at

Mr. Peters for fome Affront put upon the

King •, Mr. Peters falls upon him, and rails at

him, and was ready to beat him ; we underftood

it fi>, becaufe he did tell him of his affronting

the King.
Council. Mr. Peters, if you have any thing to

ask this Witnefs you may.

Peters. / have many Things to ask him. Did I
ever lye there ?

Starkey. No.
Peters. Did you fee me there at Three a Clock in

the Morning?
Starkey. I have feen you go up at Ten a Clock

at Night to Mr. Ireton's Chamber, and fome-

times I underftood you did not go away till Four
a Clock in the Morning j I went to Bed it's true,

but I underftood it fo.

Thomas Walkeley Sworn.
Council. Give your Teftimony what Confu-

tation you have had with the Prifoner at the

Bar.

Walkeley. I came out of Effex in at Aldgate;

juft as I came in a Proclamation was read for

Trial of his late Majefty ; 1 went down the next

Day to the Painted Chamber at Weftminfter, where
1 faw Oliver Cromwell, John Goodwin, and Peters^

and others ; John Goodwin fate in the middle of

the Table, and he made a long Speech or Pray?r,

I know not whether, but Mr. Peters flood there

:

After John Goodwin had done his Prayer, it was
defired that Strangers might avoid the Room

;

then came up Cook, and Doriflaus, and Humphryes,
and Ask, and Dendy, and feveral others, and
ftood by Brad/haw at the upper End of the Ta-
ble ; but Cromwell ftood up and told them it was
not neceffary that the People fhould go out ; but
that was over- ruled ; and fo I went out and ftaid

their Rifing, and faw this Gentleman Mr. Peters

come out, with them. After that, when the

King was brought to Town a Prifoner, the Lord
Carew, a very honourable Perfon, meeting with
me, faith he, Walkeley, if you will ever fee your
Old Mafter, go now, or elfe it may be you will

never fee him. Where is he, my Lord, faid 1 ?

Saith he, he is coming on this Side Brainford. I

went to the farther end of St. 'James's Corner,

and there I met fome of the Army coming, and
then 1 faw his Majefty in his Coach with Six

Horfes, and Peters, like Bifhop Almoner, riding

before the King triumphing ; then, after that, in

St. James's Park, I faw Peters marfhalling the

Soldiers, and I was forced to go about. My Lord,
this is all I can fay concerning that. I remember
one thing further of him; I heard him in Weft-
minfter-Hall fay, within a Year or Two after the

Army was raifed, If we can keep up our Army but

Seven Tears longer, we need not care for the King and
all his Pojierity.

Mr. Proctor Sworn.
Procl. I having occafion to go from London to

Windfor the Day that the. King was brought
from thence a Prifoner, a little on this Side Brain-

ford I faw great Troops of Horfe ; I did conceive

what the Caufe was, having heard the King was

to be brought up to his Trial ; after I had paffed

fome number of Horfes, at laft I efpied the Pri-

foner at the Bar immediately before the King's

Coach, fingly riding before the Coach- Horfes,

and the King fitting alone in the Coach. My
Lord, I did put off my Hat, and he was Graci-

oufly pleafed to put off his Hat; the Troopers
feeing this, they threw me into the Ditch, Horfe
and all, where I ftaid till they pafled by, and was
glad I efcapcd fo.

Hardwick Sworn.
Council. When the Proclamation was read in

Weftminfter-Hall for Trial of the King, did you
fee Mr. Peters there ?

Hardwick. I was in the Hall when that ugly

Proclamation was proclaimed, where I faw Den-
dy, King, and that Gentleman, the Prifoner at the

Bar, in the Hall ; after the Proclamation was

proclaimed, the Prifoner at the Bar came out

into the Palace-Tard, and told them, Gentlemen,

faith he, (a great many Officers and Soldiers

being there) all this is worth nothing, unlefs you

proclaim it in Cheapfide, and at the Old Ex-
change.

Council,
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Council. Explain yourfelf, what Proclama-

tion do you mean ?

Hardwick. The Proclamation for the High-

Court ofJuftice.

Holland Simp/on Sworn.

Council. What do you know concerning the

Prifoner at the Bar ?

Simpfon. I do know Mr. Peters very well, I

have known him thefe u or 12. Years: When
the High-Court of Juftice was fitting, both in

the Court and Painted Chamber 1 faw this Gen-

:
tleman in Confultation there, and at feveral

other Places, at Sir Will. Brereton's, and other-

where.
Council. Did you fee him at the Trial ?

Simpfon. I faw him, but not as a Judge.

There was one Day in the Hall Colonel Stub-

bards, who was Adjutant-General, (he was a ve-

ry bufie Man,) and Colonel Axtel; Mr. Peters

going down the Stairs, comes to him, and bids

Stubbards to command the Soldiers to cry out

JuHice, Juftice, againft the Traitor at the Bar.

Council. Who did he mean?

Simpfon. The King was at the Bar at the

fame Time; whereupon, my Lord, the Soldiers

did cry out upon the fame; and as the King

was taken away to Sir Robert Cotton's, fome of

them fpit in the King's Face, but he took his

Handkerchief, wiped it off, and fmiled.

Peters. / do not know this Gentleman, did he

>ever fee me?
Simpfon. Yes, divers Times in the Painted-

^Chamber, at Sir William Brereton's, at the Dean-

ijery, in Confultation with Bradfiaw, and you

'were admitted, and no Man elfe, as I know,

unlefs Sir Will. Brereton, who came along with

you.

Thomas Richard/on Sworn.

Richardfon. My Lords, the Firft Day that

this Court of Juftice (as they called it) did ad-

journ, I went up into the Court, and 1 faw the

Prifoner at the Bar with fome more ftanding in

the Court, and I came and ftood clofe by him,

and fome with him, whom I did not know ; I

Iheard him commend Bradfloaw, the Carriage of

him in the Trial of the King, and another Cook's

Carriage j to be fhort, Mr. Peters holding up
.his Hands, faid, This is a mofi Glorious Beginning

\of the Work.
Sir Jeremy Whichcot Sworn.

Whichcot. My Lords, I have by Accident, not

by Choice, been feveral Times in Mr. Peters's

Company; truly I have heard him fpeak very

fcurriloufly of the King ; amongft the reft he

was making fome kind of Narration of Cromwell

making an Efcape, and that he was intended to

ibe furpriz.'d ; That if he had not prefently gone

I
away he had been clapt up in the Tower, and de-

clared a Traitor ; he faid there was a Meeting of
the Officers of the Army, where he us^d this Ex-
preffion, And there we did refolve to fet afide the

King. My Lord, after this (it was at another

Time) he was fpeaking of that which they cal-

led the High-Court of Juftice, and I do very
well remember this was his Expreffion of it, /
cannot .but look upon this Court with a great Reve-
rence, for it doth refemble in fome mealare the Tri-

al that fliall be at the End of the W'orld by the

Saints. This is all that I perfectly remember ; it

was a great while ago; I cannot fpeak more pun-
ctually; I have feldom heard him fpeak of the

King, but of the Tyrant . I remember one Time
Vol. II.
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he was faying he would have Preached before
the King, but, faid he, the poor Wretch would
not hear me.

Richard Nunnelly Sworn.
Coun. Was Peters upon the Scaffold at the

Time of Execution, or before?

Nun. On that unhappy Day, 30th of Jan.

1648, this Hugh Peters came an Hour before the

King came to Whitehall ; I came with a War-
rant of 40 or j"oooo /. to Oliver Cromwell, being
Door-keeper to the Committee of the Army*
Nunnelly, fays Oliver Cromwell, will you go to

Whitehall? Surely you will fee the Beheading of
the King; and he let me \x\\o Whitehall; coming
into the Boarded Gallery I met Hugh Peters, and
he was in the Gallery ; and then I got with Hugh
Peters into the Banqueting-Houfe ; being there,

Hugh Peters met one Tench of Hounfditch, that

wasajoinerj meeting him; he fpeaks to him,
and whifpers in his Ear, and told him fomewhat,
I do not know what it was; but Tench prefent-

ly went and knocked four Staples upon the Scaf-

fold ; I meeting Tench again, What art thou do-
ing, faid I? What, will you turn Hangman?
Says he, This Day will be a Happy Day, faid 1,

Pray God fend it be not a bloody Day; upon
that Hugh Peters went upon the Scaffold juit an
Hour before the King came, and then he went
off again. I watched at the Window when the

King's Head was cut off, and afterwards I faw
the Vizards going into a Chamber there; about

an Hour afterwards (1 ftaying there at the Door)
there comes Hugh Peters in his Black Cloak and
Broad Hat out of that Chamber (as I take

it) with the Hangman; I am lure I did fee

him go along with the Hangman to take Water;
this is all I can remember, it being many Years
fince.

Peters. I humbly beg Imay be heard in this Cafe ;

I have here a Witnefs, and I defire he may be exa-

mined; it is noifed 1 was upon the Scaffold, I here

call God to witnefs I was not out of my Chamber
that Day ; I was Sick that Day j Ifpeak in the

Prefence of the Lord.

Court. If your Witnefs will ftay he fhall be

heard > there are more Witneffes to the fame

Thing, and fo he may fpeak to all together.

Dr. Mortimer Sworn.
Mortimer. Me Lar, me ha ferd de King, &c.
Court. We cannot underftand a Word.
Coun. He is a Frenchman, my Lord.

Court. Pray let there be an Interpreter.

[One Mr. Young was fwom to interpret truly

his Evidence^

But it being afterwards found difficult and trou-

blefome, the Council waved his Evidence, and pray-

ed another Witnefs might be called.

Dr. Mortimer. Me Lar, me can peak Englis

—

Coun. No, no, pray fit down, we will examine
other Witneffes. Call Stephen Clough.

Stephen Clough Sworn.
Coun. What do you know of Hugh Peters ?

Clough. Mv Lords and Gentlemen of theJu-
ry, in 1648 1 heard of a meeting of the Coun-
cil of Officers at Wcftminfter, I think in the Pain-

ted-Chamber, and I being willing (my Lord) to

hear what their Confultations were, I went thi-

ther, and was there as one of them (but I was

not one,) amongft the reft Hugh Peters was one •,

when the Room was pretty full the Door was

{hut. Mr. Peters defired to call for a Elefling

upon their Bufinefs, in his Prayer he uttered thefe

A a a Words,
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Words, *< O Lord, (faid he) what a Mercy is it

85 to fee this great City fall down before us ! And
" what a Stir is there to bring this Great Man
* c to Trial, without whofe Blood he will turn
£{ us all into Blood if he Reign again

!

Peters. What Day was this ?

Clough. It was about Three Weeks or a Month
before the King died.

Peters. Where was this?

Clough. In the Painted Chamber.

Peters. You have been very Bold.

Clough. I fpeak upon my Oath.

Peters. How long was this ago ?

Clough. In 1648.

Peters. How many Tears fince is that?

Clough. You know yourfelffure how many
Years fince 1648.

Peters. How long before the King died, do you

fay?
Clough. About Three Weeks or a Month be-

fore the King was Murdered.

Council. We (hall call a Witnefs to prove, that

in December 1648, there was a folemn Faft ap-

pointed to fcek God in what they were abour,

and Mr. Peters was appointed to Preach before

them.
Mr. Beaver Sworn.

Mr. Beavers Evidence. My Lord, and you

Gentlemen of the Jury, upon a Day that was

appointed for a Fait for thofe that fat then as a

Parliament, I went to Weftminfter to find out

fome Company to dine with me, and having

walked about an Hour in Weftminfter- Hall, and

finding none of my Friends to dine with me, I

went to that Place called Heaven, and Dined

there ; after I had Dined I pafled through St.

Margaret's Church-yard to go Home again, (I

lay in the Strand,) I perceived all the Church-

yard full of Muskets and Pikes upon the Ground,

and asked fome Soldiers that were there what
was the Bufinefs? They told me they were
guarding the Parliament that were keeping a Faft

at St. Margaret's-, Who Preaches, faid I, They
told me Mr. Peters is juft now gone up into the

Pulpit ; faid I, I muft needs have the Curiofity

to hear that Man, having heard many Stories of
the Manner of his Preaching ; (God knows I

did not do it out of any manner of Devotion j)

I crouded near the Pulpit, and came near the

Speaker's Pew ; and I law a great many Mem-
bers there, whom I knew well: I could not

guefs what his Text might be, but hearing him
talk much of Barabbas and our Saviour, and in-

filling altogether upon. that, I guefTed his Text
was that PalTage wherein the Jews did defire the

Releife of Barabbas and crucifying of Chrift j

and fo it proved ; the Firft Thing I heard him
fay was, It was a very fad Thing that this fhould

be a ffhieftion amongft us, as among the Old Jews,
whether our Saviour Jefus Chrift muft be crucified,

or that Barabbas ftoould be releafed, the Oppreffor of
the People : O Jefus, faith he, where are we, that

that fhould be a Queftion amongft us ? Says he,

And becauje that you fhould think, my Lords and
Gentlemen, that it is a Queftion, I tell you it is a

ghieftim ; I have been in the City, which may very

well be compared to Hierufalem in this Conjuncture

of Time, and I profefs thofe fooliftj Citizens for a

little Trading and Profit they will have Chrift

(pointing to the Redcoats on the Pulpit-ftairs)

Crucified, and the great Barabbas at Windfor re-

leafed, fays he, but I do not much heed what the

Rabble fay : I hope, fays he, that my Brethren of
the Clergy will be wifer, the Lips of the Pricfts do,

ufe to preferve Knowledge ; I hafUe been with them
too in the Affembly, and having feen and heara\

what they faid, Iperceive they are for crucifying of

Chrift, and releafing of Barabbas •, O Jefus, what
fhall we do now ? With fuch like ltrange Ex-
preffions, and mrugging of his Shoulders in the

Pulpit.

Council. How long was this before the King
was Murdered?

It was a few Days before the Houfe of
Commons made that thing called An A& for hi*

Trial.

Council. What did he fay to the Members?
I am coming to it ; fays he, My Lords,

and you Noble Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons
j,

you are the Sanhedrim, and the great Council of the

Nation, thereforeyou muft be fure to do Juftice, and
it is from you we expecl it ; you muft not only be In-
heritors ofyour Ancefiors, but you muft do as they

did ; they have oppofed Tyrannical Kings, they have
deftroyed them; it is you chiefly that we look for Ju-
ftice from. Do notprefer the great Barabbas, Mur-
derer, Tyrant and Traitor, before thefe poor Hearts^

[pointing to the Red-coats,} and the Army, who are.

our Saviours: And thus for Two or Three Hours
Time that he fpcnt, he nothing but rak'd up all

the Reafons, Arguments and Examples he could,
to perfwade them to bring the King to condign,
fpeedy and capital Punifhment.

Peters. / do not know you, are^ you fure you Jaw
me at that Time? Do you know me?

—

—Yes, Sir.

Peters-. / did not Preach there at that Time-.

Council. Pray, my Lord, will you call Mr. Jef-

fop, who hath the Records of the Parliament*

and can produce the Order, whereby you were
appointed to carry on the Work of that Faft ;

there was the Order for his Preaching, and Or-
der for Thanks for his Work.

[Mr. Jeffop produced the Journal, wherein was
the Order following, which was read,

[Clerk reads. ~\ Die Jovis 7 September 1648.
Refolved, that there be a Day of Publick Humilia-
tion for this Houfe to feek God in thefe Times of Dif-

ficulty, and that to Morrow be the Day, and kepi

here in this Houfe. Refolved that Mr. Peters, Mr.
Marfhal, and Mr. Caryll, be defired to perform the

Duty on the Day of Humiliation with the Houfe to

Morrow.
Council. That is not it we intend, there was

one after that, in December 1648.
[Clerk reads.

-

] 20 December 1648. Ordered,

That Mr. Peters fo defired to Preach on Friday next^

the Day of Publick Humiliation, at Margaret

V

Weftminfter, in the Place of

Council. Call Mr. Chace. After this the

Work went on, and the High-Court of Juilice

fate j and the Firft Day they fate was Saturday

January 20, in Weftminfter- Hall, the 21ft bring

the Sunday following} I think this Gentleman
was at White-hall; he will tell you what he

preached.

Mr. Chace Sworn.
Chace. My Lord, I heard the Prifoner at the

Bar preaching before Oliver Cromwell and Brad-

fhaw, who was called Lord Prefident of the

High-Court of Juftice, and he took his Text

out of the Pfalms in thefe Words, Bind your

Kings with Chains, and your Nobles with Fetters

of Iron } that was Part of the Text: But fays

he
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he in his Sermon, Beloved, it is the lap Pfalm but

one, and the nest Pfalm hath Six Verfes, and Twelve

Hallelujahs, Prai/e ye the Lord, praifi God in bis

Sancluary, and Jo on; For what? fays he, Look

into my Text, there is the Reafon of it, That Kings

were bound in Chains, 8tc. He went on with a

Story of a Mayor and a Biihop arid his Man ;

The B'Jhop's Man, faith he, being Drunk, the

Mayor laid him by the Heels ; the Eifhop fends to

the Mayor to know by what Authority he xmprifon-

ed Ms Servant ; the Mayor's Anfwer was, there is

an Act of Parliament for it, and neither the Bi/hop

nor his Man are excepted out of it; and applied it

thus : Here is, faith he, a great Difcourfe and

Talk in the World, H hat, willye Cut off the King's

Head? the Head of a Proteftant Prince and King?

Turn to your Bibles and you jhall findjt there, Who-
foever fheds Man's Bl od, by Man fh 11 his Blood

be flicd •, (fays he) / will even anfaer them as the

Mayor did the hifhop, here is an Aft of God, Who-
mever fheds Man's Elood, by Man fhall his Blood

be fhed ; and I fee neither King Charles, nor Prince

Charles, nor Prince Rupert, nor Prince Maurice,

nor any of that Ribble, excepted out of it. And
further he faid, This is the Day that I, and many
Saints of God bejides, have been praying for thefe

many Tears.

Peters. Ask him whether he took Notes.

Chace. No Sir, but it being fo Memorable a

Sermon I took fpecial Notice of it; I came to

my Brother's Houfe in Shoe Lane, and told him }

faid I, Brorher, I have been at White Hall, and

have heard the mod Execrable Bufinefs that ever

was heard in the World by a Minilter of the

Gofpel, and I told him the Words : I obferved

that Oliver Cromwell did Laugh at that time

when you were preaching.

Tho. Tongue Sworn.
Council. What do you know of the Prifoner's

Preaching?

Tongue. Upon January 21, 1648, I was at

I White- Hall, where this Gentleman preached, and

he preached upon this I e-?t, Pfalm cxlix. v. 8.

:
To bind their Kings in Chains, and their Nobles in

J

Links of Iron ; in which Text this Peters did

;
much applaud the Soldiers there ; he faid he ho-

\
ped to fee fuch another Day following as the

Day before, and that Bleffed be God (fays this

;

Parfon Peters) the Houfe, the Lower Houfe, is

purged, and the Houfe of Lords themfelves they will

down fuddenly ; this is all that I well remember
at that Time. Upon the 28th of January, 1648,
next Day after Sentence of the King, I heard
Peters preach upon this Text in St. James's

[

Chappel, Pfalm cxlix. 6, 7, 8, p. Let the high

Prutfes of God be in their Mouth, and a Two-edged
Sword in their Hands, to execute Vengeance upon

j

the Heathen, and Punifment upon the People, to

\
bind their Kings with Chains, and their Nobles with

\

Fetters of Iron, to execute upon them the Judgment
\
written, this Honour have all his Saints ; praife ye

; the Lord: And there he did fo Saint the Red-
coats, and fo Reprobate the poor King's Friends

!

And in the middle rf his Sermon he took Oc-
cafion to produce a Text, Jfaiab xiv. 18, 19,20.
All the Kings of the Nations, even all of them, lye

\

in Glory, every one in his own Houfe. But thou

art caft out of thy Grave like an abominable Branch,
and as the Raiment of thofe that are fain, thruft
through with a Sword, that go down to the Stones

I

of the Pit, as a Carcafs trodden under Feet ; thou

\fhalt not be joined with them in Burial > becaufe
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thou haft dejlroyed thy Land, and flain thy People

\

the Seed of Evil-doers fhall never be renowned:

Says he, This I did intend to injift and preach upon

before the poor Wretch, and the poor Wretch
would not hear me.

Council. Who did he mean ?

Tongue. His Majefty, who was the Day be-

fore Condemned j faith he, Look in your leffer Bi-
bles and you pall find the Title is, The Tyrant's

Fall.

Council. That that was fpoken of the King of

Babylon, the Ignominy that was caft upon him,
he applies it to the King of England.

Peters. Ask him where it was?
Tongue. It was in St. James's Chapped Sunday

the 28th of January 1648, in the Forenoon.
Reynold Bowdler Sworn.

Bawdier. That which I have now to fay is

this, I did hear him a few Days before the King
was Murtlr red, preach in St. Sepulchre's Church,
that he compares the King that was then to

Die, to Barrabas a Murderer, and in this man-
ner j faith he, There is a great Company among/1

us like the Jews, they cry out, let Chriil be crucified,

and let Barabbas bereleafed; ftill comparing the

King to Barabbas the Murthererj thefe were
his Words, with many more to the fame Pur-

pofe.

William Rider Sworn.
Council. Speak what you know concerning

the l-'nfoner.

Rider, I was at the fame time at Church in

St. Sepulchre's.

Council. How long was that before the King
died?

Rider. It was very near the King's Death.
Council. Was it after the High-Court of Ju-

flice fate, as they called ic ?

Rider. About that Time it was. My Lord, as

foon as ever he had read the Words of his Text,
which was, Hs fiall call his Name Emmanuel, he
prefently fhook Hands with his Text, and fell

(as he was wont) to News, and there he faid

The great Inquiry now is to know what fioeuld be-

come of the King; Let that alone, faith he ; and
prefently he falls to it again, and was pieaied to

flyle the King Barabbas ; faith he, There is a great

many of the People had rather Chrifl floould be cru-

cified than Barabbas ; and here he was applauding

the Soldiers ; and faid that Emmanuel was written

upon the Bridles of their Horfes; and he was
fpeaking of the King's Soldiers, faith he, I have

known Eighty Thoufand of them, and not one of them

a Gracious Per/on.

Council. Now we expe£t the Anfwer of the

Prifoner at the Bar, the Indictment hath been
fully proved.

Peters. / defire that Witnefs may be admitted

which Ifpoke of, his Name is Corneliu c Glover.

Council We have omitted One Evidence ; we
defire Mailer Walker may be called.

Mr. Walker Sworn.

Walker. On Sunday after the King was firft

brought to his Trial, out of Curiofity I went to

hear Mr. Peters at White- Hall; after he had made
a long Prayer, faith he, / have prayed and preach-

ed thefe Twenty Tears, and now I may fay with \>ld

Simeon, Lord, now lettefl thou thv Servant de-

part in Peac •, for mine Eyes have feen thy Sal-

vation. Afterwards he ipeaks of the Text, of

binding their Kings in Chains &c. then much re-

viled the King: But foft there, faith he, I muft

A a a 1 not
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not talk fo here, I am in the King's Chappel; there

is a very remarkable Paffage in Amos ; Ames went

to preach, and Amaziah would not let him, but A-
mos would preach ; the poor Wretch would not

hear me, but yet I will preach. Afterwards he

fpeaks of the Mayor of Exeter that commit-

ted the Bifhop's Servant for being Di unk ; faith

the Mayor, here is an Acl of Parliament for it,

and I do not fee that the Biflocp nor his Man arc ei-

ther ofthem excepted out of'the Acl ; and, faith he,

in Scripture it is faid, Whofoever fheddeth Man's

Blood, bv Man fhall his Blood be fhed; and I do

not find that either King Charles, Prince Charles,

Prince Rupert, Prince Maurice, or any of that

Rabble are excepted.

.Council. Now Mr. Peters you may call your

Witnels.

Cornelius Glover not Sworn.

Lord ChiefBaron. Where do you dwell?

Glover. In Paul's Church-yard.

Lord Chief Baron. What is your Quality of

Life?
Peters. A Servant of the Kings.

Lord Chief Baron. 1 do not ask you, Mr. Pe-
ters.

Glover. I belong to the Poft-houfe.

Peters. Pray hear himfpeak.

Lord Chief Baron. What would you have him
asked ?

Peters. Whether I was out of my Chamber that

Day the King fuffered ?

Lord Chief Baron. What fay you to that?

Glover. 1 was come to Mr. Peters a little be-

fore that Time, to live with him as his Servant;

it fell out that Day he was ill in his Chamber all

the Morning-, the Soldiers in St. James's Houfe
were all gone away ; I had a Defire to go fee

the Meecing, where they were at White-Hall

;

faith he, Thou feemeftto have a great Defire to

go and look about thee, it is very fad, but if you
will go you may. I did go over the Park,

Council. What Time?
Glover. About Noon. ,

Council What Hour ?

Glover. I do not know; I did not flay there

;

the Soldiers and the People filled the Place, and

I went back again to the Chamber; I came back
again within a matter of an Hour's Time.

Council. Was the King dead before you came
back again ?

Glover. They faid he was not : When I went
Home he asked me what was doing ? I told

him there was a great Croud, I could not come
near ; 1 ftaid there an Hour, and then went out

again, and Hill there was a Croud; and I came
back again, and Mr. Peters was in his Chamber
then.

Council. Was he in Bed, or up?
Glover. I do not remember.
Council. How Old were you then ?

Glover. I am not above 31 or 33.

Council. Was Mr. Peters fick ?

Glover. Yes, he was Melancholy fick, as he
ured to be.

Lord Chief Baron. How long have you been at

the Pofl-houfe?

Glover. About Five Years.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Peters, have you any
more to ask him ?

Peters. I brought him to teflifie that I was not

out of my Chamber that Day, and that I was

M.

Lord Chief Baron. Did you defire to gr, or
did he fend you?

Glover. I did defire to go, being newly come
to London.

Lord Chief Baron. This Gentleman, though
not upon Oath, is examined, and it is only to

One Particular, nothing at all to the Main
Proofs.

Peters. I bring him only to vindicate my felffront

that Afperfion of my being upon the Scaffold.

Lord Chief Baron. They do not lay the
Weight of their Evidence upon that: The
King's Council have done with their Evidence,
if you have any Thing to fay, you have your
Liberty.

Peters. May it pleafe your Lordjhips, I will give

you an Account of the Bufinefs : I lived Fourteen

Tears out o/England, when I came over Ifound the

Wars begun ; I began no War, my Lord, nor have
been the Trumpeter ; when I came out of the Weft-
Indies, Ifled from the War into Ireland, to the

Weftern Part there ; and it was after the Rebellion,

when fome fome of the Irifh had been ftirring there,

I went and/pent my Time there. I was neither at

Edge- hill, nor Nafeby ; but, my Lord, after Icame
over there was War that the People were engaged in j

/ was not here in the Beginning of it, but was a
Stranger to the Carriage of it. When I came into

the Nation I looked after Three Things : One wasf

that there might be Sound Religion ; the Second was,
that Learning and Laws might be maintained ; the

Third, that the Poor might be caredfor ; and I muft
confefs I havefpent moft of my Time in thefe Things,

to this End and Purpofe : There wis a Noife in all

Parts offome Mifcariages in Matters of Religion,

after it was fettled I lived in Ireland; I mufl pro-

fefs for my own part, folemnly, that my Carriage hath

been upon thefe Heads. For Religion, 1 have, through

God's Mercies, /poke of the Truths of the Protefiant

Church, upon this Account I did flay tofee what God
might do : I was fent over to his Majefty that we
might have a little Help in point of Excife and Cu-
Jloms, and Encouragement in Learning. My Lord,

this is true, that I being here in the Nation, and be-

ing fent over upon the Occafwns of the Country, and
not upon any Defign ; but this Ifay, (I cannot deny

it,) that after I came over, andhadfeen the State of'

England, in fome Meafure I did ftir, but by ftrong

Importunities, the Mini/lers of London deeper than

I: I am very forry to hear of my Carriage towards

the Khg ; it is my great Trouble j / beg Pardonfor
my own Folly and Weaknefs ; I thought God had a
great Controverfy with the Nation, and the Lord
was difpleafed on all Hands ; that whichfome People

took to Idid take unto ; J went into the Army ; Ifata
at the Beginning of it that Corruptions grew among
them . lfuppofe none can fay I have gone afide from
any Orthodox Truth of the Lord: And now to take

off the Scandal upon me, and to the Bufinefs, let me
beg ofyour Lordjhips to confider whatever Prejudices

or Revenge may take up Men's Hearts, there is a God
that knows all; God hath a Regard to the People of

England ; / look upon this Nation as the Cabinet of

the World. That that doth, concern the Bufinefs is

this, my Lord, that after this Time hither I came,

and did bear Witnefs to all the World, that there

was amongfl us fomething that was for better, and

fomething worfe, for the Nation ; / took Advice of

fome great Perfons concerning the Weightinefs of it,

I had neither Malice nor Mifchief in my Heart a-

gainfl the King ; upon this I did engage fo far, being

Invited ; / went into the Wars, and there 1found
very
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very frange and feveral Kinds of Providences, as this

Day hath been J'een ; I do not deny but that I was

Relive, but not tofiir in a way that was not Honour-

able. 1 challenge a great Part of the Nation to ma-

nifeft my Carriage among them ; I[ball make it good

divers ways ; 1 hadfo much Refpecl to his Majefiy,

particularly at Windfor, that I propounded to his

^Majefiy my Thoughts Three ways to preferve himfelf

from Danger', which were good, as he was pleafed

to think, though they did not fucceed, and the Work
died-, as for Malice, I had none in me. It is true,

there was a Difference among ft us, an Army, and

an Army, I never had a Groat or Penny from O.
Cromwell ftnee I knew this Place: Iprofefs I have

had no Ends for Honour or Gainfince [fet Foot up-

on this Shoar ; I challenge any Man that belonged

to that Party whether they had not the fame Re-

fpecl from me as my own Party, I have not perfe-

cted any with Malice; I will only take off Ma-
lice.

Lord Chief Baron. Your Bufinefs is Matter of

Faft.

Peters. Iam unskilful in Law, this that I offer

is tofhew that I had no Malice in me-y I was fafar

from Malice, that 1 have a Certificate, if worth the

reading, from one of the Eminentefl Perfons in the

Nation, te fhew I had no Malice : It is concerning

the Marquifso/" Worcefter, under his Lady's Hand,

beginning with thefe Words, I do here teftifie th >t

in all the Sufferings of my Hu band, Mr. Peters

was my great Friend, Sec. / have here a Seal,

[and then produced it] that the Earl of Norwich,
gave me to keep for his Sake for favmg his Life,

which I will keep as long as I live.

Lord Chief Baron. I am not willing at all to

interrupt you, or hinder you; that which you
fpeak of doing good Services is not at all to the

Point; we do not queftion you for what good
you have done, but for the Evil you have done ,

I hope there is no Malice in your Heart, nor up-

on the Court nor Jury, we and they are upon
our Oaths; and you hear the Matter alledged a-

gainft you ; pray come to the Matter.

Peters. My Lord, I cannot remember them.

Lord Chief Baron. Then 1 will remember you :

\ You are charged by this Indictment for Compaf-

|

ling and Imagining the Death of the King, and
1 there is fet forth fundry Particulars to prove the

' Overt- Act, that you with other Jferfons named
in that Indictment, did confult and meet to-

gether how to bring about the Kings Death.
Then you are charged with feveral Acts of Con-
triving and Endeavouring the Kings Death.

;

Overt-Acts that tend to the Comparing and
Imagining the Kings Death, or any one of thefe,

to encourage the bringing on the King to his

iDeath, the confulting or meeting together about
'it, though you did not fit or fentence ; yet if

! you did any Thing tending to that Incourage-
jment, or otherwife Abet it, Comfort, or any
wife Aid thofe Traitorous Perfons that did it, in

the doing of it you are by Law Guilty of the
whole Fact: The propofing and determining the
King fhall die, though you were not he that
actually put him to Death, yet notwithstanding,
if you did the other, you are Guilty of al!> if

you {hah fpeak any Seditious Speeches, be they
in the Pulpit, or out of the Pulpir, if you fhall

utter any Thing that tends to Sedition, thefe

are open Acts, which prove the Imagination of
I the Heart: though Imagination of the Heart be
jTreafon, yet it cannot be proved but by open

.Regicides, 3of
Acts, yet the Imagination it felf isTreafott. Firfc

you did confpire, all the WitnefTes go aloi g to

prove this. Dr. Toung faith, you came over from
Ireland to his Houfe, and after Five Days that

you were recovered of the Flux, you ftdd there

Ten Weeks
j you faid your felfthere was enough,

if it were true, to condemn you or any Man : I

fhall repeat it to you ; you told him a Narrative^

that you came from New-England, from thence

to Ireland, and then you came to Hoi and. foith

an Intent to fee how you might bring on the

Kingdom to be a Commonwealth : Next he

faith, you fpoke very often againft the King by-

way of Difgrace, againft him and his Family,

againft the King and his Off-fping, this you
(aid very often: Then you fpake in Vilification

of Monarchical Government that this Common-
wealth would never be at Peace till 1 50, or

Three L's, Lords, Levites, and Lawyers were
taken away, at which he replied, then they

mud be all Switzers, Tinkers or Traitors ; he

fwears you were a Colonel, and had a Commii-
fion ; that you would have had him acc.pt of

a Commiflior? j and that you had Two Companies
com': from the We(tj you told him the Parlia-

ment had an Iment to fecure Cromwell and your-

felf, but that you rid hard for it ; and then you
conferred you agreed then upon his Death, to

bring him to Trial, and to cut off his Head 3

you did agree together, and he believes it was
your Advice to Cromwell; your Anfwer was this,

that he was more violent than yourfelf j that he
took upon him to be a Spy ; and that he was no
competent Witnefs, becaufe he was under a

Temptation, becaufe you did not help hin; to

his Living, and fo conceived it to be Malice j

you fay he was ufed to take up fach Courfes in

his own Country j the Matter is not whether you
had Malice to the King's Life or Monarchy.
For the next, One Gunter, he fwears, that he

was a Servant to W.x. Hildefley, at the Star in

Coleman-fireet, and this was in 1648, he faith,

that many of the Party of Cromwell did ufe to

refort thither, among the reft he faw you, he

faid he came in to them, and their Difcourfe

was about Charles Stuart, and the Prifoner—

-

and did guefs it was about the King; that you
were privy to it then; he faith this was Three
Days before Oliver Cromwell went out of Town ;

the Effect of that is urged no further than this,

that you were fo far of the Cabal, thar you were
prefenr with thofe Perfons, Cromwell, Ireton, Rich,

and others ; y>u faid, I was there once with Mr.
Nathaniel Fines. Starkey, he faith, that at his

Father's Houfe Ireton lay, and was quartered

there at Windfor, before and when the King was
Prifoner; that you had your Quarter;, there, and

Cromwell too, in that Town : The General

Meeting of the Council of War was at his Fa-

ther's Houfe; that Ireton and his Wife lying

there, you came andreforted thither very often ;

he faith then, that it appeared that after the

Council of War had done, many Time:-. Rich,

and you, and Cromwell, and Ireton, were there

together, fometirnes till Two a Clock in the

Morning; he faith then, that he did vbferve

there was a Fifth Perfon, (he did not remember

his Name) and you fat up ufually nil Two or

Three in the Morning; you had Guards about

you; he faith further, that Ireton being a Do-
meftick, he often difcourfed with him, and you

came fometirnes to be there too> that there be-

ing
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ing fome Difcourfe concerning the King, many
Times he did affert the Law concerning him,

that he wzsfolutus legibus, as to his Perfon > thac

you fhould fay, thac it was an unequal Law, and

that you did then difcourfe fully againft. the

King's Government •, you faid he was a Tyrant,

not fit for that Office ; that the Office was ufe-

lefs, chargeable and dangerous ; thefevery Words
he obferved, which afterwards were Printed

when they took away Monarchy. He faith fur-

ther, that was their full and whole Difcourfe,.

he faith that his Father at Supper ufed to fay that

ufual Grace, Godfave the King, Prince, and

Realm ; but afterwards that he heard the King
was made a Prifoner, that his Father altering the

Grace, he faid, Godfave his mofi excellent Majefiy,

and deliver him out of all his Enemies Hands, you

rofe up, and faid, Old Gentleman your Idol will

not ftand long ; that he did obferve you often

with them ; he faith further, when Bacon wa*
coming out, and fpeaking fome Words con-

cerning your frequent Affronting the King, you

took up a Staff, and were ready to beat him,

and made an Uproar: It appears alio of your be-

ing privy to Cromwell's Actions. The next Wit-
nefs is Walkeley, and he fwears this again ft you,

that he was in the Painted Chamber the next

Day after the Proclamation was made, and there

he faw John Goodwin and you ; and there was an

Affrmbly, and at the Middle of the Table John

Goodwin was, and made a long Speech or Prayer

;

that Cromwell would have had the People flay

there, but it was ordered they fhould be turned

out; at the End he faw you come out with the

reft; there it appeared you were in the Confu-

tation ; he faith he met the Army at St. James's,

and there, when they were half paft, he faw the

King in his Coach, and there he faw Mr. Peters

like Biihop Almoner riding immediately before

the King; and at St.^^"'s Pafk ne &w you

Marinading the Soldiers, that he was forced

thereupon to go about; he faith further, that

within a Year or Two after the Army was raifed

he heard you fay thefe Words, If we can keep

up our Army Seven Years longer we need not

care for the King and all his Pofterity.

Peters. My Lord, Imuft deny abundance of this j

the King commanded me to ride before him, that the

Bijhop of London might come to him.

Lord Chief Baron. But this was Three Weeks
after The next Witnefs againft you is

one Problor; he faith, that Day (as the other

Witnefs did) he faw you riding juft before the

King's Coach, and becaufe he did his Duty
the Soldiers threw him, Horfe and all, into a

Ditch. The next Witnefs is one Hardwick, he

faith that when the Proclamation was read he

faw you in Wejminfter-Hall, and that you faid,

they had done as good as nothing, unlefs it was
proclaimed in Cheapfide and at the Old-Exchange',

this you faid to fome of the Officers there.

Peteis. My Lord, I cannot acknowledge it.

Lord Chief Baron. The next Witnefs againft

you is Simfon, he fwears he faw you in Confu-

tation with Oliver Cromwell, and take Sir William

Brereton by the Hand, and come to Bradfiaw's,

and this during the time of the King's Trial ; he

further faith, that one Day when the King was

at his Trial you commanded Colonel Stubbers to

bid his Soldiers cry out Juftice, Juftice, which

they cried, and afterwards fome of the Soldiers

fpit upon the King.

Peters. I do believe that he that fwcre that can-

not/ay I was there.

Lord Chief Baron. Another Witnefs is one Ri-
chardfon, who fuw you the Firft Day in the
Court ; and he faid further, that you commend-
ed Bradftmw and another, to wit Cook, for their

Carriage in the Trial of the King; that you held

up your Hands, and faid, This is a moft Glorious
Beginning of the Work.

Peters. Whereabouts in the Court?
Richardfon. In the Body of the Court, called

then the High Court of Juftice.

Peters. My Lord, I do not know that ever I was
in the Body of the Court.

Lord Chief Baron. The next Witnefs is Sir

Jeremy Whichcot, he faith he heard you often

fpeak fcurriloufly of the King; and making a
Narrative of Cromwell's Efcape, you faid there
was a Meeting, and there we refolved tofet afids

the King; remember what the other Witnefs faid,

we agreed, and here we refolved $ you faid, I

cannot but reverence the High-Court ofJuftice,
it doth refemble the Judging of the World at

the Laft Day by the Saints ; fo it was the Saints

that fit there j I would have preached before
the Wretch, but the Poor Wretch would not
hear me; you often called him Tyrant; I can-
not poflibly remember the Place, Things, or
Words, that are alledged. Then you have ano-
ther Witnefs, Nunnelley, he faith he came with
a Warrant to Oliver Cromwell for fome Money,
and that he fhould fay, go and fee the Beheading
of the King at White-Hall; he faith there he
met with you (though you faid you were not
there that day) going to the Banqueting-Houfe$
that you fpoke to Tench, and whifpered in his

Ear, and that Tench went and knocked Staples

on the Scaffold ; he meeting Tench faid, What,
are you a Hangman ? Saith Tench, This Day will

be a happy Day ; he faith, after all this Hugh
Peters was upon the Scaffold, and that he went
out with the Hangman

Peters. I do profefs to your Lordjhips before An-
gels and Men that I did not Jlir out of my Chamber
that Day.

Lord Chief Baron. The Council doth not put
Reliance upon that, becaufe of what your Wit-
nefs faith, tho' his Evidence is not at all Satis-

factory. The next is Clough, and he fwears this,

that he faw you in the Painted-Chamber with the

Council of Officers, and there you defired them
to call on God for a Bleffing upon their Bufinefs,

and there you faid, O Lord, what a Mercy it is

to fee this great City fall down before us ! And
what a Stir is there to bring this Great Man to

Trial, without whole Blood he will turn us all

into Blood, if he reign again! And this was
about a Month before the King was Murthered.

Lord Chief Baron. You hear it, Mr. Peters,

Peters. Some Part I did, but it is impoffible for

me to bear down many Witneffes ; indeed, my Lord,

Ifay this, they are marvellous Uncharitable, and

fpeak many falfe Things.

Lord Chief Baron. The next is this, theTefti-

mony concerning leveral Sermons of yours ; and
let me tell you the Pulpit ought not to be a

Place where Men with Impunity may fpeak any

Thing, what they lift, of Sedition and Treafon.

Peters. lam of the fame Judgment myfelf, my
Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. And there was a Solemn
Day to feek God, then you preach'd at St.

Margaret's
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Margaret's Church ; thjs Was Mr-. Sever-;, in he

came, and heard yon talk: much of Barabbas

and our Saviour ; there you fell upon this, fpeak-

ing of the King, it is a fad thing that it fhould

now be a Queftion, whether we fhould cruoifie

our Saviour Jefus Chrift, or that great Barabbas,

/peaking of the King ; you called him Traitor-,

Tyrant, Murtherer of his Subjects, and the

like, you went on in a Way of a Story, Thefe

Citizens for a little Trading they will have

Chri ft crucified, and the great BwAbbai at Wind-

for releafed ; and faid you, the Clergy, the Af-

fembly, they are ail for crucifying Chrift, and

releafing Barabbas -, you made that Expreflion,

Q Jefus, what Jhall we do ? The King was a Pri-

foner then at Windfor ; you made your Applica-

tion to the Parliament that was then prefmt

;

you told them the People did expect Juftice from

them i you muft not prefer the great Tyrant

and Traitor^ naming the King, to thefe poor

Hearts, (the Redcoats ftanding by.)

Peters. / muft profefs agajnft mofi of that.

Lord Chief Baron. There is the fame by

others. It is further proved, by the Order that

you were appointed to pre-ach.

Peters. / do mi deny I preached, but not thefe

things.

Lord Chief Baron. The next Thing-is this,

there was one Mr. Chace, this was during the

Trial, he faith you preached at White-Hall up-

on this Text, Pfalm cxlix, %o bind their Kings in

Chains, and their Nobles in. Fetters of Iron. You
had Two or Three other Verfes more ; then you

made a Difcourfe of a Mayor and a Bifhop's Man,

the Bifhop's Man being drunk, the Mayor com-

mitted him to Prifon ; the Bifliop being angry,

asked by what Authority ? The Mayor laid,

there was an Act of Parliament for it ; he did

not find that either the Bilhop or his Man was

excepted ; you applied that to the King ; faid

you, I will (hew you an Aft of the Bible, Who-
mever jheds Man's Blood, by Man Jhall his Blood

be flocd ; this doth not except the King, Prince,

Prince Rupert^ Prince Maurice, or any of that

Rabble.

Peters. It is falfe.

Lord Chief Baron. You faid further, this is the

Day that I and many other Saints of God have

prayed for thefe many Years ; and Oliver Crom-

well laughed at that Time. The next Witncfs

was Tongue, he heard you preach, and he fwears

the fame with the former ; that you applauded

the Soldiers, and that you hoped to fee fuch

another Day following as the Day before ; and

that Blefled be God the Houfe is purged, and

the Lords will fhortly be pull'd out; and the

Twenty Eighth Day of January, which was the

Day after the King was Sentenced, at St. James's,

his Chapel, you took for your Text the cxlix

Pfahn, 6, 7, 8, and p Verfes, whereof thefe

Words were part, To bind their -Kings in Chains

,

and their Nobles -with Fetters of Iron ; there in the

middle of that Sermon, having fpoken before

of the King, you faid you did intend to preach

before the poor Wretch upon the 14th of Ifaiah,

18, ip, and 20 Verfes, fpeaking of all the Kings
of the Nations, Thou art caft out of thy Grave
like an abominable Branch, &c. he faith further,

you faid, look upon your letter Bibles and you
will find the Title is, The Tyrant's Fall. There
is another Witnefs, that is one Bowdler, a few

3-D7

Days before the King's Death, at St Sepulchre's,

there you fell upon the old Companion ; all

along you compared the King to Barabbas; and
that a great many would have Chrift crucified,

and Barabbas releafed; all along comparing the

King to Barabbas. One more, and that was
Ryder, he heard this Text, He pall call his Name
Emmanuel', you fell tofpeakofNews; what ftiaU

become of the King ? And you faid the King
was Barabbas, and a great many would rather

have Chrift crucified than Barabbas. And then

Mr. Walker he faith, that after the King was
firft jbrought to his Trial he heard you fay this,

I have prayed and preached this- Twenty Years,

and now may 1 fay with Old Simeon, Lord, now
letteft thou thy Servant depart in Peace, for mine

Eyes have feen thy Salvation : He mentions, that

you made Ule of the other Companion of the

Mayor and the Bifliop's Man, and inferred from
thence, that the King and Prince, fife, were not
excepted out of the Scripture, where ir is faid$

Whofoeverfoeds Man's Blood, &c. You have heard w

all this witneffed againft you, what have yoif

to fay for yourfelf ?

Peters. Thefe are but ftngle Witneffes.

Lord Chief Baron. The Statute is Two Wit-
neffes for Treafon, but not Two to One indivi-

dual Thing, tho' there are feveral Witneffes

have proved the fame Thing about Barabbas, and
our Saviour, bind their Kings with Chains, &c.
and of your other Actions there is a whole ury

. of Witneffes. Two Witneffes expreffy, we a-

greed upon the King's Death, and we refolved

to fet the King afide.

Peters. I do not know the Witneffes.

Lord Chief Baron. One is Sir Jeremy Whichcot^

the other is Doctor Young; you mall do well if

you have any Thing to invalidate thefe Witne!-

fes to fpeak it, elfe the Jury will be fent toge^

ther to deliver up their Verdict.

Peters. My Lord, if I had Time and Opportunity

\

I could lake off many of the Witneffes, but becaufe

their Teftimony is without Controul I cannot fatisfie

my felf ; I have no Skill in the Law, elfe I might

have fpoke for my felf ; I do not know what to fay
more, unlefs 1 had more Time and Counfel.

Mr. Solicitor General. If the Prifoner can fay

no more, here is this in it ; here are Five Places

where he did confult about the King's Death, at

Windfor, at Ware, in Coleman-ftreet, in the

Painted Chamber, and in Bradfhaw's Houfe ; and
Four Witneffes to prove this ; there are Two
Witneffes to his Comparifon of the King and
Barabbas, and Two Witneffes to his Text of
binding their Kings in Chains, &c. Proof that

he hath been in Action in New-England ; that

he came from it with that Intent, and then wenc
to Holland ; that he had been in Arms ; that he

called the Day of his Majefty's Trial a Glorious

Day, refembling the Judging of the World by
the Saints ; he prays for this in the Painted-

Chamber, preaches for ic at White- Hall, St. James's

Chapel, St. Sepulchre's ; what Man could more
contrive the Death of the King than this mifera-

ble Prieft hath done ? The Honour of the Pul-

pit is to be vindicated ; and the Death of this

Man will preach better than his Life did; it

may be a Means to convert many a miferable

Perfon, whom the Preaching of this Perfon

hath fedueed ; for many come here and fay they

did it in the Fear of the Lord', and now you fee

who
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who taught them j and I hope you will make
an Example of this Carnal Prophet.

The Jury went together, and after a little

Confutation fettled in their Places.

Clerk. Are you agreed in your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who {hall fay for you ?

Jury. Our Fore-man.

Clerk. How fay you ? Is the Prifoner at the

Bar Guilty of the Treafon whereof he Hands

Indicted ? Or Not Guilty ?

Fore-man. Guilty.

Clerk. And fo you fay all ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Look to him, Keeper.

Council. We defire Mr. Cook may be brought

to the Bar, and that they may both have their

Judgment pronounced.

Clerk. John Cook, Hold up thy Hand j what
haft thou to fay why the Court fhould not pro-

nounce Judgment for thee to Die according to

Law.
Cook. / have a few Words, Matter of Law

:

Firft, there is no Averment in the Inditlment, that

John Cook mentioned in the Atl of Indempnity, is

the fame with the John Cook mentioned in the In-

ditlment, and that I am the John Cook mentioned

in both.

Lord Chief Baron. This will not help you in

this Cafe, you have owned, and have pleaded

by the Name of John Cook.

Cook. The Second is this, that the Overt- Alls

JJiould be particularly exprej/ed in the Inditlment.

Lord Chief Baron. This cannot be alledged in

Arreft of Judgment, the Jury have found you

Guilty of Comparing and Imagining the Death

of the King by the Statute oi zf Edw. $. and

this cannot help you.

Cook. / fay it was profejftonately.

Lord Chief Baron. That hath been over-ruled

already ; we have delivered our Opinions 5 the

Profeffion of a Lawyer will not excufe them,

or any of them, from Treafon, and this hath been

over-ruled, and is over-ruled again.

Cook. / humbly conceive that the remaining part

of the Houfe of Commons were to be Judges whe-

ther there was a Force or not.

Lord Chief Baron. This is all paft and over-

ruled.

Cook. Then 1 have no more.

Clerk. Hugh Peters, Hold up thy Hand ;

what haft thou to fay for thyfelf why Judgment
fhould not pafs againft thee to Die according to

Law ?

Peters. / will fubmit myfelf to God, and if I
have fpoken any thing againft the Gofpel of Chrift I
-am heartily forry.

Silence commanded.
Lord Chief Baron. You are both Perfons of

that Ingenuous and Liberal Education as Ihope
I fhall not need to tell you what it is to Die,

you have had a great deal of Time to think of

it j you could not but think of this Iflue of your

Do ngs long ago, and therefore I fhall fpare my
Labour of telling you what it is to Die, and of

that Eternity that you are to enter intoj only

give me leave in a few Words, in relation to

both your Profeffions, to fay fomething to fhew

the Nature and Heinoufnefs of this Offence, the

Murther of the King. If you were not actually

guilty of putting the King to Death} nay, ad-

mitting (in Charity) you had no intent to go as

far as you did, you are by the Laws of Chrift

and this Nation, guilty of High-Treafon, in that

you that are aLawyer know very well, (and 1 fpeak

it that you may lay it to your Heart in the Con-
victions of your Confcience. I muft fay to you
as Jofhua faid to Achan, my Son, give Glory to

God, and confefs ; and it would become you fo

to do) you know very well it is the Law of this

Nation, that no one Houfe, nor both Houfes of
Parliament, have any coercive Power over the

King, much lefs to put him to Death j you know,
(as you cited very wellj that the imprifoning of

the King is Treafon. You know both of you,
this is an undoubted Truth ; the Rule of Law
is, that the King can do no Wrong j that is

the King can do no Wrong in the Eftimation
of Law } he may do fome particular Acts as a

private Perfon, but he can do little Prejudice in

his own Perfon ; if he would hurt any it muft
be by Minifters, in that Cafe the Law provides

a Remedy ; if he doth it by Minifters they mult
anfwer for it. The King of England is one of
thofe Princes who hath an Imperial Crown ;

what is that ? It is not to do what he will ; no,

but it is that he fhall not be punifhed in his own
Perfon if he doth that which in itfelf is unlaw-
ful. Now remember this when you took the

Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy ; (I prefume
you both did fo ;) What was your Oath of Su-
premacy ? It was this, that the King was the

only Supreme Governour of thefe Realms j it

goes further, as he was Supreme Governour, fo

he was the only Supreme Governour, that ex-

cludes Co-ordination ; you fwear farther, that

you will to the utmoft of your Power defend

the King againft all Confpiracies and Attempts
whatsoever ; truly you that were a Lawyer when
you had thus fworn, your Fee could bt no Ex-
cufe againft what you had fworn to. We know
that the King, in his Politick or Natural Capa-

city, is not only falus Populi, but fains Reipub-

lica. The Law hath taken Care that the Peo-

ple fhall have Juftice and Right ; the King's Per-

fon ought not to be touched ; r.he Ring himfelf

is pleafed to judge by the Law ; you fee he doth

by Law queftion the Death of his Father; he'

doth not judge it himfelf, but the Law judges

it. Mr. Peters knows very well he fubferibed

the $p Articles of Religion ; look upon them
that were confirmed in iff 2, and upon thofe

Articles that were confirmed in 13 Elizabeth;

the King is there acknowledged to have the chief

Power in thefe Nations ; the meddling with the

King was a Jefuitical Doctrine: This I fpeak, not

that the King fhould or ought to Govern but by

the Fundamental Laws of the Landj they that

keep within the Bounds of the Law are happy >

you that are a Lawyer know this in point of

Law, and you that are a Divine know this in

point of Divinity. You both know the Truth

of it, and when you have thought upon it, I

hope you will reflect upon that horrid Crime,

the fhedding of Royal Blood. You fee he had

granted all thofe Grievances of the People, taken

them away, fecured them, for the future •, and

at this very Time, when this horrid Act was

done, you fee he had granted all at the Defiie

of the People ; he had made thofe Concefhons,

fuch, as (were it not in refpect of others more

than thofe that treated themfelves) they thought

was more than could be expected by the Na-
tion*.
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on. You that had a Hand in the King's Death

it falls upon you, the Guilt of it, becaufe you

were fome of thole Inftruments that aflifted thofe

Perfons that broke the Treaty j prepare your

fclves for that Death which you are to die } it is

a Debt which we all owe to Nature •, if in this

Cafe there is fomething of Shame comes to you

it is that you mud take as Part of the Reward

of your Sin. The only Work I have now to

do is to pronounce the Judgment, and this is the

Judgment of the Court, and the Court doth

award, that both of you be led back to the

Place from whence you came, and from thence

fhall be drawn upon a Hurdle, &c. and the Lord

have Mercy upon your Souls.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation.

Clerk. O Yes, &c. All Manner of Perfons, &V.

and all Jurors and Witneffes, are to appear at

this Place to Morrow Morning at Seven of the

Clock in the morning, upon Pain of One Hun-
dred Pound a piece. So God blefs King Charles,

Sec.

Oclober 15.

Memorandum, That the Bill of Indictment a-

gainft William Hewlett alias Howlet, was found

at Hicks'* Hall, Ottober 1 2th inftant.

Proclamation of the Court being made

:

Clerk of the Crown. Set William Hewlet, alias

i Howlet, to the Bar : which was done accordingly.

Clerk, William Hewlet, alias Howlet, Hold up

thy Hand. Thou ftandeft Indifted of High Trea-

son in the County of Middlefex, by the Name
;
of William Hewlet, alias Howlet, for that thou,

(3c How fayeft thou, art thou Guilty of the

High-Treafon whereof thou haft been Indicted,

and art now Arraigned ? Or Not Guilty ?

I

Hewlet. I am not Guilty, my Lord.

Clerk. How wilt thou be Tried ?

Hewlet. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Delivery.

Set him afide.

The Trial 0/ Daniel Axtell,
OEiober 15, 1660.

Clerk of the Crown. Set Axtell to the Bar

:

which was done accordingly.

Clerk. Daniel Axtell, Hold up thy Hand.
Axtell. Pray, my Lord, let me have Pen and

\M.
Lord Chief Baron. Give Mr. Axtell Pen and

: Ink.

Clerk. Daniel Axtell, thefe Men that were laft

called of the Jury are to pafs, &c. if you will

challenge them, or any of them, you muft chal-

lenge them when they come to the Book, before

they are Sworn.

Lord Chief Baron. Do you know how many you
have Liberty to Challenge? Becaufe I would not

have you mifinform'd, 37- you may Challenge
peremptorily, and no more.

Axtell. J thank your Lord/hip.

Lord Chief Baron. Unlefs you have any parti-

cular Caufe j if fo, you may challenge more.

Vol. II.

Axtell. / confefs I am wholly ignorant of the

Law.
John Kirke, John Smith, Thomas Morris, Ralph

Halfell, John Sherecroft, Francis Beale, Robert

Cromwell, John Gallyard, John Shelbury, George

Rithe were called, and by the Prifoner Challeng-
ed.

Thomas Bide, Charles Pitfield, Robert Sheppard,

William Dod, Thomas Ufman, William Mayncrd,
George Plucknet, Samuel Harris, John Nicholl of

Hendon, Henry Marjh, Thomas Bijhop, Thomas
Snow, in all Twelve, were admitted, and fworn
of the Jury.

Clerk of the Crown. If any Man can inform
my Lords the King's Juftices, &c.

Clerk. Daniel'Axtell, Hold up thy Hand. Look
upon the Prifoner you that are fworn, and

hearken to your Charge j you fhall underftand

that the Prifoner ftands Indicted, &c.
Council. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, and you

Gentlemen that are Sworn of the Jury, the High-
Court of Injuftice that was Erected for Trial of
the late King, it had all the Formalities of a

Court to put in Execution that Bloody Act j

they had their Preftdent, their Council, their

Chaplain, and their Guards ; fome of their Judges
have been already Tried, one of their Council,

and their Chaplain. Now, my Lord, we come
to the Guards, and this Gentleman at the Bar,

that is now the Prifoner, he was Commander of

that Black Guard, that Cruel and Bloody Guard;
The Indictment is, That he did Imagine and Com-
pafs the Death of the King ; there be feveral O-
vert-Acts that are mentioned in the Indictment

as Evidences of that Imagination, as the Con-
futation to bring him to Trial, the actual bring-

ing him to Trial, and the Bloody Execution up-

on the Scaffold ; our Evidence fhall be this, that

during the Time of the Trial the Prifoner at the

Bar did Command the Soldiers in Wefiminfter-

Hall, himfelf did keep the Entrance into the

Court j and when Bradjhaw did fpeak to the

King, and told him he trifled away Time, and

required his Anfwer to the Charge exhibited in

the Name of the Commons of England AfTem-

bled in Parliament, and the good People of

England, that a Noble Perfon in the Gallery-

there cried out, It was a Lye; faying that above

half the Commons difowned it , faying where
are thefe good People ? It is a Lye ; Oliver Crom-
well is a Traitor ; this Bloody Fellow command-
ed the Soldiers to Shoot her ; he did feveral

times command and encourage the Soldiers to

cry out, Juftice, Juflice -, and the Laft Day of

that horrid Trial, called by them the Day of

Judgment, he likewife commanded them to cry

out, Execution, Execution j and when fome of

them would not do it, he had the Valour to

Beat them. My Lords, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, if we prove any of thefe Particulars to de-

monftrate unto you that he was Guilty of Com-
paring and Imagining the King's Death, it is

equal as if we had proved he did actually cut off

the King's Head.

Mr. Bodurdoe, Mr. Nutley, Mr. Harrington,

Sir Purbeck Temple, Mr. Simpfon, Mr. Baker,

Mr. Huncks, and Mr. Jeonar, Sworn.

Council. Mr. Simpfon, Tell my Lords, and the

Jury, who had the Command of the Soldiers

during the Trial of the King in Wejlminjler-

Hall

Bbb Simpfon.
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Simpfon. My Lords, (as I laid before in the

Cafe of Mr. Peters,) Col. Stubberd and Col. Ax-

tell had the Command of the Soldiers below

Stairs, near that which was called the High-Court

of Juftice.

Axtell. I defire to know his Name, my Lord.

Simpfon. My Name is Holland Simpfon.

Council. Did you fee him there commanding
the Soldiers ?

Simpfon. There was a kind of Hubbub in the

Court ; there was a Lady (they faid it was the

Lady Fairfax) who at the exhibiting of the Charge
againff. the King, faid to be in the Name of the

Commons and People of England, fhe fpoke out a-

loud, and faid, it was a Lie, that not half, nor a

quarter of the People ; Oliver Cromwell is a Rogue
and a Traitor ; they called for a Guard, this Gen-
tleman he was called, and brought up fome Muf-
queteers, and commanded his Soldiers to Prefent

and give Fire againfl: the Lady, and commanded
her to Unmask.

Axtell. What Lady was it ? I defire to know.

Simpfon. She went by the Name of the Lady
Fairfax; I know not whether it was fo or no, it

was the common Report it was Ihe.

Clerk. Mr. Huncks, Pray tell my Lord what
you know of the Prifoner at the Bar.

Huncks. My Lord, to fay pofitively any Thing
of the Man touching his Command 1 cannot, but

only that Morning the King died he came into

the Door of the Room where Colonel Phayre,

Colonel Hacker, Cromwell, and myfelf, were,

(Ireton and Harrifon, lying in Bed together in the

fame Room,) and then he ftood at the Door half

in and half out ; I refufed to Sign an Order for

Executing the King, as Cromwell ordered me,
and fome little crofs Language having pafTed,

faith the Prifoner at the Bar, Colonel Huncks, J
am afoamed of you, the Ship is now coming into the

Harbour, and will you firike Sail before we come to

Anchor? This I appeal to yourfelf; but for cry-

ing out, Knock them down, fhoot them, I know not
who it was j the Officers cried, Juftice, and fome
of the Soldiers, but I profefs I know not who it

was particularly -, but they cried, Juftice, and then

I fell a trembling, for I was afraid of the King

;

but thefe were the Words he ufed to me, Will

you firike Sail, £cc?

Axtell. My Lord, I defire to ask him a Que-

ftion.

Lord Chief Baron. Ask him what you will.

Axtell. If Iam not in the right I hope your Lord-

fhips will direbl me.

Lord Chief Baron. Go on.

Axtell. Colonel Huncks, where was it?

Huncks. In a little Room in White-Hall, where
Ireton and Harrifon lay in Bed together.

Axtell. Do you know whereabouts ?

Huncks. I think I can go to the Room again \

I appeal to your own Confidence before all this

People.

Axtell. By your Favour, Sir, the Room, I per-
ceive, you know not j and truly, Sir, My Lord, if
you pleafe to give me Leave, becaufe he appeals to my
Confcience, I do appeal to the great God, before whom
it may be Ifhall fhortly be Arraigned to give an Ac-
count of all my Words, Thoughts and Aclions, I do

not remember that ever I had any Converfe with this

Man there, or met him there, or any of that Com-
pany there, that Day j he was a Stranger to me, but

I wifh that you (to fave yourfef being in the War-
rantfor Execution) do not make others a Peace-Offer-

ing to fave yourfelf; the Lord that knows my Heart

1 appeal to him j / appeal to your own Confcience,

becaufe you appeal to my Confidence, I never met you.

nor faw you there.

Fluncks. Have you done ? Then give me Leave}
you fay you do not know me } i appeal to the

fame God, when Cromwell'took upon him to have

the Crown, have not I faid, What have you got
by being Jehu-Yike ? Lord, firike me Dead here

if it be not true.

Axtell. I will not reflect upon him ; but becaufe he

hath appealed to my Confcience therefore I fpeak it-t

it is known Notorioufily how ]ehu-like you were
y

when yon were one of the Chief Guards of his Ma*
jefty, One of the Forty Halberteers that did oppofe

every Perfon then for the King ; had I had Time, and

had not been a clofe Prifoner as I was, there were

Witneffes enough.

Council. This after our Evidence is more pro-

per.

Huncks. Spare me not, Colonel Axtell.

Lord Chief Baoon. Take the Old and Ancient

Courfe, let the Witnefles that are produced for

the King be all heard, then give your Anfwer to

all of them together.

Axtell. My Memory is not very good.

Lord Chief Baron. You have Pen, Ink and Pa-

per.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Axtell, is this all that

you defire to fpeak to Colonel Huncks ?

Axtell. Tes, my Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. Have you any other Que-
ftions ?

Council. My Lord, we have a few Words ; he

objects as if Colonel Huncks were under a Dan-
ger ; he is pardoned.

Axtell. I defire to ask him upon what Account

thefe Words were fpoke.

Huncks. My Lord, it was this ; Cromwell ha-

ving a Commiflion, (which I think I heard read

here,) Colonel Hacker was reading of it, my Lord,

Cromwell he comes to me, and by vertue of that

Commiffion he would have me to write a War-
rant for Executing the King, but I refufed to

write that Warrant ; the Prifoner then ftanding at

the Door, (If God blefs me I will fearch all the

Doors at White- Hall, but I will find it out,) I not

doing it, I faid, Why fhould it be offered to me?
Says Cromwell, Thou art a peevifh Felloiv ; Crom-

well fell a writing ; as foon as ever he had done

that writing, he gave Hacker the Pen, what Hack-

er writes I know not ; and upon my refufing,

this Prifoner at the Bar faid, Colonel Huncks, /

am now afoamed of you, the Ship is now coming in-

to the Harbour, and will you now firike Sail before

you caft Anchor ?

Council. You obferve the^ Courfe of this Evi-

dence j there was a Warrant of Commiffion di-

rected to Three Perfons, Hacker, Huncks, and

Phaire, for Execution of the King j Cromwell

demanded of this Gentleman (Colonel Huncks)

that he mould Sign a Warrant by vertue of that

other Warrant, and this Gentleman refufed it:

The Prifoner objects this, that he to fave him-

felfdoth witnefs this againfl: the Prifoner j Gen-

tlemen, he did refufe the Thing ; have you any

Thing to ask Colonel Huncks?
Axtell. He fays Colonel Phaire and Hacker were

there, I do not doubt but they will be fo confidential

to vindicate me from all this Charge.

Lord Chief Baron. If it be any Thing that

tends to your Defence that you will be heard af-

terwards 5
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terwards -, but have you any Queftions to ask

Colonel Hunch ?

Axtell. No more ; I know nothing of it, if I

were to Die at this Bar prefently.

Cornell. Sir Purbeck Temple, Pray tell my Lords

and the Jury your Knowledge of the Carriage of

this Gentleman touching the Trial of his late

Majefty.

Sir Purbeck Temple. My Lord, being prefent,

and engaged by fome Perfons of Honour, Ser-

vants of his late Majefty, to be prefent when that

horrid Murther was acting before this Court of

Juftice, (as they called it,) 1 was prefent at all the

Trials of the King, and very near him ; I heard

the King demand from Brad/haw by what Autho-

rity and Commiffton they proceeded thus ftrange-

ly to Try him. Then I heard the Lady Fairfax,

and one Mrs. Nelfon, (my Sifter,) after the exhi-

biting of the Charge in the Name of the Com-

mons Affembled in Parliament, and the good Peo-

ple of this Kingdom, aginft Charles Stuart,

King of England; I fay I heard the Lady cry out

from a Gallery over the Court, Not half the Peo-

ple ; it isfalfe j Where are they, or their Confents ?

Oliver Cromwell is a Traitor. Upon which I

heard thePrifoner at the Bar cry out, Down with

the Whores, fhoot them ; which made me take far-

ther Notice of him j feeing him in Wcflminfter-

Hall, commanding the Soldiers there, I faw him

the moft active Perfon there •, and during theTime

that the King was urging to be heard, he was

then laughing, entertaining his Soldiers, fcoffing

aloud, whilft fome of the Soldiers, by his Suffer-

ing, and (1 believe) Procurement, did fire Powder

in the Palms of their Hands, that they did not

only offend his Majefty's Smell, but inforccd him

to rife up out of his Chair, and with his Hand to

turn away the Smoke ; and after this he turned a-

bout to the People, and fmiled upon them, and

thofe Soldiers that fo rudely treated him : Then
turning himfelf to Bradjhaw, faid to him and the

Court, There are fome fitting here (fixing his Eyes

upon fome Perfons near Bradfiiaw) that well knew

that if I would have forfeited or betrayed the Li~

!
berties and Rights of the People I need not have come

\
hither, (or Words to this Effect,) but their Liber-

l
ties and Rights are dearer and nearer to me than my
Three Kingdoms', nay, than my Life itfelf; therefore

i I defireyou to hear me, and remember that I am your

j

Lawful King, that have done you many ASls of Grace

and Favour.

After which, this Perfon, Mr. Axtell, Prifoner

at the Bar, commanded his Soldiers to cryout

Juftice ; which the Soldiers not readily obeying

of him, I faw him beat Four or Five of them
' with his Cane until they cried out, (with himfelf)

Juftice, Juftice, Execution, Execution, which made

j
me turn to a Noble Lord, by whom I then flood,

i
and faid, Pray, my Lord, take Notice, there is not

;

above Four cr Five that cry out Juftice, Juftice. I

i heard alfo of their fpitting in the King's Face j

! and I think no Body's Sufferings have been fo

like thofe of our Saviour Chrift Jefus, as his Ma-
; jefty's were. After this, this Perfon crying Ju-
'

ftice, Juftice, Execution, Execution, a fecondTime,
" the Court proceeded to pafs a Sentence; the which
\
his Majefty preffed hard againft, and faid, Sir,

before you pafs that ugly Sentence, {which I very

well underfiand you are determined to do,) I defire

you to hear me ; hear me, hear me ; paffionately,

j

and moft affectionately expreffing it, which they

j

denying the King, and the Noife of Juftice, Ju-
. .Vol. II.

fiice, Execution*, Execution, being repeated, they

proceeded and read that ugly Sentence ofDeath:
After which his Majefty was immediately hurried

away from the Bar into a common Sedan, where
he was carried by two common Porters ; which
Sedan I followed to the middle of King's- Street^

where I faw the two Porters in Reverence go
bare, till the Soldiers (under theCommand of the

Prifoner at the Bar) beat them, and would not
fuffer them to go bare, when they carried him.
After this the People cryed out, What^ do you

carry the King in a common Sedan, as they carry fuch

as have the Plague ? God deliver your Majefty out

of fuch Enemies Flands. In which Street 1 was
forced to leave the Sight of his Majefty, ocea-

fioned by the Injuries and Hurts I received in my
Perfon from the Soldiers under Axtell' s Command,
they carrying him through the Streets fhouting

in Triumph. A fhoi t Time after I received aa
importunate Command from a Lady of great Ho-
nour, (a Servant of his Majefty's) that I would
endeavour to find out where the Body of the

Martyred King was, and to give her an Account
where it then was: Applying my felf to White-

Hall, after Two or Three- fcore Intreatics, I

was denied ; but underftanding that Money would
do it, I gave the Perfon then under the Com-
mand of Mr. Axtell, that then kept it, half a

Piece to fhew it me, who in a fcoffing Manner
took me by the Hand and faid, If thou thinkeft

there is any Santlity or flolinefs in it, look here 5

where I faw the Head of that BlelTed Martyr'd
King lye in a Coffin with his Body, which fmi-

led as perfectly as if it had been alive ; this is

the fad Account of the Martyr'd King, and this

horrid Prifoner, Mr. Axtell.

Axtell. My Lord, may I ask that Gentleman fome

Queftions ?

Lord Chief Baron. Yes, yes.

Axtell. My Lord, he feems to fay that I bid the

Soldiers cry out for Juftice; he doth not fay at all

I was there in Command, but he faith a Lady, by

Report the Lady Fairfax, fpake fome Words, and

that I ftjould bid the Soldiers Silence her ; truly L
defire to know the Certainty of the Place where I
flood.

Sir Purbeck Temple. My Lords, and Gentlemen
of the Jury, I faw this Perfon ftanding within a

Pike or two's Length, as I can guefs it, (I re-

member the Place within a Yard of the Ground
in Weftminfter-Hall,) I do not fay this Perfon fate

in the Court as a Principal Officer, that did then

hold his Majefty Prifoner at the Bar % I did not

fay it was a Lady unknown, or reported to be

fuch a one ; but I faid it was the Lady Fairfax^

and my own Sifter, Mrs. Nelfon, and he cried,

Shoot the Whores.

Axtell. He feems now to fay 1 Commanded the

Guards ; / never was a Guard to his Majefty, or had

any thing to do in that Bufinefs, but it was wholly

committed to a Company of Mm I know not oft

That Gentleman that fpoke I have no Acquain-

tance with him, I think he did not know me at that

Time.

Lord Chief Baron. Have you any thing to ask

him?
Sir Purbeck Temple. My Lord, anorherPaffage

he puts into my Memory ; when I did obferve a

Thoufand of fad Faces, I faw none laughing but

yourfelf, as. if ycu had been cavoufingand enter-

taining the Soldiers. I do not charge you that

you Commanded thofe Halberteers, but thofe

Bbbi j&rf-
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Red-coats; you were all in Red: I faw you
cane thofe Four or Five Soldiers I mentioned,

till they cried Juftice, Juftice, with you; and

that with the Powder in the Palms of their

Hands they forced the King to rife out of his

Chair, which you were much pleafed with, and
laughed at.

Axtell. Ifay before the Lord, before whom I mufi

be judged again for this, I do deny this whole Ac-
count.

Griffith Bodurdoe, Efq; Sworn.

Bodurdoe. My Lords, and you Gentlemen of
the Jury, I was at the time of this fad Trial in

Weftminfter- Hall.

Axtell. Your Name, Sir, I befeech you?
Council. His Name is Mr. Bodurdoe.

Bodurdoe. I fay I was all the time of the King's

Trial in Weftminfter- Flail; I was in a Gallery that

I had out of my Houfe where I then lived, juft

under and befides the Houfe of Common;, and I

do remember I faw this Gentleman there; I do
think he was then called Lieutenant Colonel Ax-
tell, fo far as I remember; truly I have not feen

him fince, before this Day, nor have had any
Rcafon to have known him, but that I faw him
very Active in giving Commands to the Soldiers

there : This Gentleman was keeping the Court,

letting fome in, and putting others out ; he feem-

ed to have the Command of it 5 one Day (whe-

ther it was about fome Paflage, or their Prefi-

dent's Speech, I know not) there was a Lady in

the fame Gallery where I flood, and fome Mut-
tering, It is a Lye, not half the People, or Words
to this Effect ; he the now Prifoner at the Bar

Handing below in the Court, without the Bar,

not far from Dendy, with Five or Six Soldiers,

upon this Muttering and Difturbance (as he ap-

prehended,) to the Court, he called to the Soldi-

ers, faying, Shoot them, if they fpeak one Word
more ; they did alfo prefent the Muzzles of their

Muskets up to the Gallery ; my Lord, by this

we were very hufh ; after that immediately with-

in half a Quarter of an Hour Dendy came to the

Gallery from the Court, to know who it was

that made that Difturbance ; but the Lady was
withdrawn into my Chamber, and did not come
out afterwards.

Axtell. Where was this, Sir?

Lord Chief Baron. What is youdefire?

Axtell. My Lord, where he faw me then?

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Bodurdoe, you hear the

Queftion.

Mr. Bodurdoe. There was a Gallery, which I

do believe is yet Handing, and the Court was juft

underneath the Gallery, and you were juft under-

neath the Gallery, and Five or Six Soldiers with
you.

Richard Young Sworn.

Council. What do you know of the Carriage

of the Prifoner at the Time of the Trial ?

Young. I was upon a Scaffold, whereby I did

fee what was done in the Hall; I faw that Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Axtell was bufy and very active

in encouraging the Soldiers to fay, Let us have

Juftice againft the King.

Axtell I defire to ask Mr. Young one Que/Hon;
others fay that the Word was, Cry for Juftice, this

Gentleman is pleafed to make fome Addition, Let us

have Juftice againft the King.

Young. No, not againft the King, but I con-
ceived you meant againft the King.

Axtell. / cry you Mercy, you do but conceive:

fo.

Young. You were upon the Right Hand of the
Hall, almoft at the Corner of the Pavement •

it could not be otherwife applied.

John Jeonar Sworn.

Council. Speak your Knowledge of Col. Ax-
tell'* Carriage at the High-Court ofJuftice.

Jeonar. I had the Honour to wait upon the
King as a Domeftick Servant, to the Time of
his Death ; that Day, which was the Firft Day
the King was brought to his Trial, I did wait up-
on him among other Servants; we ftood clofe to
the Bar where the King was, fome Three or
Four of us ; Colonel Axtell was upon the Right
Hand of us commanding the Guard, to keep
Things in Order when the Court was to be with-
drawn ; (the many Circumrtances about the Lady
Fairfax {ha\\ be omitted;) the Prefident comman-
ded rhe Prifoner to be withdrawn; with that
Col. Axtell iteps down before me to draw out his
Guard; this I heard him fay, Soldiers, cry for J u-
ftice, Juftice ; I was the next Man to him ; and
upon the laft D;.y of the Trial he did come
down in the fame manner, and bid the Soldiers
cry out for Execution, Execution.

Axtell. / do defire a Queftion may be asked of
that Gentleman; I mud confefs I did not know ths
Gentleman at that time, though he faid he knew
me ; hefeems to fay that at the Firft Bay I cecou-
raged the Soldiers to cry, Juftice, Juftice, and the

Laft Day, Execution, Execution; what Place
was this in, Sir ?

Jeonar. I tell you the King was brought from
Cotton-Houfe, through a Guard, that you mana-
ged, of Mufqueteers, and with a Guard of Par-
tizans ; befides, there was myfelf and others there:
When we came up we got as clofe to the Bar as
we could , you were paffing up and down from
above and below : When the Court was dif-
folved, you ftept down juft before to draw your
Guard to make ready, and to cry, Juftice, Juftice,
and the Second Time, Execution, Execution; you
were very near me, and then you cried, Jufticet
Juftice, Execution, Execution.

Axtell. Are you certain ? I have heard other.
Men, I confefs, accufed for this, fome other Offi-
cers.

Jeonar. I did hear you, I do know you by
Sight.

Council. You know him now to be the fame
Perfon ?

Jeonar. Yes.

Samuel Burden Sworn.
Council. Tell my Lord and the Jury what you

know of the Carriage of the Prifoner.

Burden. My Lords and Gentlemen, I do be-
lieve Col. Axtell knows me well enough, I was
then under his own Command at White-Hall;
there were fome Cavaliers then in the Regiment

;

it was my Fortune I came into your Company,
I wifh I never had : You commanded more
befides my felf to be a Witnefs againft the King,
and Juftice Cook took my Examination; you
brought me in, you commanded the Guards that

Time at White-Hall, when the King was upon
his Trial.

Axtell. What more?
Burden. And you commanded Elifha Axtell,

with a File of Soldiers, to take a Boat and go
down to the Common Hang-man, who liv'd be-

yond
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yond the Tower, to Execute the Kings he is

now Sheppard's Serjeant in Ireland.

Axtell. My Lord, I defire to ask him a §)ue-

fiion ; he was pleafed to fay I defired him to be a

Witnefs.

Burden. Yes.

Axtell. Where was it ?

Burden. In the Court at White-Hall.

Axtell. My Lord, 1 have feen the Printed Lift

of Witneffes againft the King, and in that Lift you

pall find no fuch Name.

Burden. I have been a Prifoner in Dublin by

your means.

Axtell. My Lord, Ihope you will take Notice of

that.

Council. Burden, do you remember any of his

Commands to Web, to draw up in the Banquet-

ing Houfe?
Burd. He commanded Web to draw up in the

Banqueting- Houfe, during the time of Execution,

his own Company. I was one of his own Com-

pany then.

Council. In order to what?

Burden. For Execution.

Axtell. My Lord, is Web here?

Burden. He is in Dublin.

Axtell. Iwifl) he were here.

Edward Cook Sworn.

Cook. May it pleafe your Honour, my Lord,

the laff. Day of the Trial of his Majefty I came

into Wefminfter-Hall, coming where the Court

was, I did fee Col. Axtell, the Prifoner at the

Bar, there with fome Mufqueteers.

Council. What Day was this ?

Cook. Thelalt Day of His Majefty's Trial.

Lord Chief Baron. Go on, Sir.

Cook. Standing there a little while His Ma-
jefty came Guarded with fome Halberteers, when
he came by the Soldiers that Hood with Colonel

Axtell, His Majefty bowed, and afterwards put

off his Hat, and went up to the Court j I could

not know what Btadftniw faid to him, I flood

below j I heard him fay he was brought by the

Confent of the Commons and People of England ;

there flood a Lady above in a Gallery, crying

out, it is a Lie, where are the People ? or their

Confents ? Cromwell is a Trtitor : W hereupon

: Colonel Axtell (landing by, faith he, What Drab
is that that difturbs the Court ? Come down, or I

will fetch you down.

Mr. Nelfon Sworn.
Council. Tell my Lords, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, touching the Difcouife between you and

the Prifoner at the Bar, in Dublin.

Nelfon. My Lords, and Gentlemen of the Jury,

upon a Difcouife with the Prifoner at the Bar in

Dublin, Five or Six Years fince, upon the Plat-

form in that Caftle we difcourfed of the late

King's having had feveral Reports ; I defired to

know of him who it was that Executed the

King, thinking he might inform mej he was

pleafed to tell me this, faith he, the Perfons that

were employed in that Service, you know them
as well as I do j truly Sir, not I, faid I, I faw
them in Vizards, but not their Vifage, as I know
of-, yes, faith he, you do know them j it is true,

faith he, myfelf and others were employed in

that Affair, in order to the Execution} but there

were feveral Perfons came and offered themfelves

out of a kind of Zeal, to do the Thing, but we
did not think it proper to employ Perfons whom
we did not know, but we made choice of a
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couple of Stout Perfons j pray let me hear their

Names, faid I; faith he, it was Hewlt and
Walker ; I defired to know their Reward $ truly

faith he, I do not know whether 30/. apiece, or

between them ; I faid it was a fmall Reward for

a Work of that Nature j truly, faith he, that was
all.

Axtell. Ton named one Man, I did not hear the

other named.

Nelfon. I named Hewlet and Walker; he was
one that managed the Execution, he told mefo,
and it pleafed you, Sir.

Axtell. He is pleafed to fay that in Ireland then

was fuch Conference ; was any Body by ?

Nelfon. No, Sir.

Axtell. Did I Name any Body to you ?

Nelfon. You named thofe two Perfons.

Axtell. Certainly I mufl invent them then, for I
had no more Knowledge of them than any one here.

Nelfon. You told me you were one of thera
that had the managing of that Affair.

Council. My Lord, we have done with our
Evidence; thofe Particulars that were fir ft

opened to you have rendered the Prifoner much
a blacker Perfon than we thought ; we leave

him to his Defence.

Axtell. May it pleafe your Lordflnps in the firfl
place, becaufe I am ignorant in the Laws, I defire

to know upon what Statute this indiclment is

grounded.

Lord Chief Baron. It is grounded upon the

Statute of the 2fth of Edward the Thiid.
Axtell. My Lords, I mufl acknowledge my Igno-

rance of the Laws, being a Thing I never ftudied,

nor have the Knowledge of, but I have heard it is

the Duty of your Lordjhips and the Judges to be of
Councilfor the Prifoner in Things wherein he is ig-

norant in Matter of Lazv, to make his juft De-
fence, and therefore, my Lord, the Indiclment itfelf

being Matter of Law, if your Lordflnps pleafe not

to grant me Council to fpeak to Matters of Law, I
humbly pray that your Lordjhips will be pleafed

that for want of Knowledge, Formalities, Puncli-

lioes, and Niceties of the Lazv, I might not undo

myfelf : Ihave heard by a learned Judge, that though

the Judge be of Council to the King, yet by his

Oath he is alfo to be Councellor to the Prifoner, and
ftands as Mediator between the King and Prifoner ;

and therefore, my Lord, Iflmll beg that humble Fa-
vour, that wherein Ift)all fall Jhort to make the be(I

Improvement of my Plea in Matter of Law, that

your Lordflnps will help me, and not take Advan-
tages againft me, as to the Niceties, Formalities,

and Punclilioes of the Law ; and, my Lord, this is a
Refemblance of that Great Day, where Cbrift will

be Judge, and willjudge the Secrets of all Hearts,

and of all Words, and of all Perfons, and by him
all Atlions are weighed, knows all our Hearts whe-
ther there be Malice, or how it ftands in the Frame

of each Heart before him in this place ; and therefore

I hope there will be nothing by pre-judging, or any

Thing by pre- eluding, to be fo Black a Perfon as is

feemed to be faid againft me. My Lords, Imuflfliorten
the Time, and come to fpeak as to the Authority.

Lord Chief Baron. As to what, Sir?

Axtell. I fpeak as to the Authority by which, or

under which, labled; I humbly conceive, my Lord,

under Favour, that I am not within the Compafs of

that Statute of the tf Ed. 3. for that queflionlefs

mufl intend private Perfons, Counfelling, Com-
paring, or Imagining the Death of the King.

But ytu know, my Lords, the War was firfl ftated

by
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by the Lords and Commons, the Parliament of Eng-
land, and by Pertue of their Authority was forced

to be raifed, and they pretended by Law that the

Might of the Militia was in them; and your Lord-

Jhips will remember infeveral Declarations and Abls

that were mutually exchanged between his Majefiy

and Parliament ; and, my Lord, that was the Au-
thority^ the Lords and Commons affembled in Par-

liament raifed a Force, and made the Earl of Eflex

General, and after him the Earl of Manchefter, of

the Eafiern Affociation, and after that Sir Thomas
Fairfax, Lord General of the Forces ; by this Au-
thority I ailedt and this Authority I humbly conceive

to be legal, becaufe this Parliament was called by

the King's Writ, chofen by the People, and pajfed

a Bill they fhould not be Dijfolved without their

own Confents ; that the Parliament was in Being

when the 'Trial was, and a Quefiion whether yet

legally Dijfolved.

In the Fourth Place, they were not only owned and

obeyed at Home, but Abroad, to be the chief Authori-

ty of the Nation , and alfo owned by Foreign States

and Kingdoms,who fent Ambaffadors to that Purpofe ;

under them did all the Judges of the Land Abl, who
ought to be the Eye of the Land, and the very Light

of the People, to guide them in their right Atlions

;

and I remember the Judges upon Trial, (I have read

it of High-Treafon,) Judge Thorp, Nichols and

Jermin have declared it publickly, that it was a

/awful juftifiable Thing by the Law of the Land to

obey the Parliament of England. My Lord, it fur-

ther appears as to their Authority over the People of
this Nation, Petitioning them as the Supreme and
Lawful Authority: And, my Lords, as I have

heard it hath been objected, that the Houfes of Lords

and Commons could make no Aft, truly, my Lord, if

you will not allow them to be Acls, thd
1

they intiile

them fo, call them fo, and are obeyed as fo, by the

Judges, Minifters, and Officers of State, and by all

other Perfons in the Nation, yet I hope they cannot

be denied to be Orders of Parliament', and were they

yo more but Orders, yet were they fufficient, as I
humbly conceive, to bear out fuch as acled thereby.

And, my Lord, the Parliament thus Conflituted,

and having made their Generals, he, by their Au-
thority, did Conflitute and Appoint me to be an In-

ferior Officer in the Army, ferving them in the

Quarters of the Parliament, and under and within

their Power ; and what I have done, my Lord, it

K . hath been done only as a Soldier, deriving

my Power from the General; he had his

Power from the Fountain, to wit, the Lords and

Commons ; and, my Lord, this being done, as hath

been \faid by fevern.1, that I was there, and had

Command at Weftminfter-Hall, truly, my Lord,

if the Parliament Command the General, and the

General the Inferior Officers, Iam bound by my Com-

rniffion, according to the Laws and Cufioms of War,

to be where the Regiment is ; / came not thither Vo-

luntarily, but by Command of the General, who had

a Commiffion {as Ifaid before) from the Parliament.

I was no Counfellor no Contriver, I was no Parlia-

ment Man, none of the Judges, none that Sentenced,

Signed, none that had any Hand in the Execution,

only that which is charged is, that I was an. Officer

in the Army ; if that be fo great a Crime, I con-

ceive lam no no more Guilty than the Earl of Eflex,

Fairfax, or the Lord of Manchefter.

Judge Mallet. You are not charged as you

were an Officer of the Army.

Axtell . My Lords, That is the main Thing they

do infiji upon : My Lord, I am no more Guilty than

his Excellency the Lord General Monk, who atled

by the fame Authority, and all the People in the

Three Nations -, and my Lord, I do humbly fuppofe,

if the Authority had been only an Authority in Facl,

and not Right, yet thofe that acled under them ought

not to be quefiioned ; but if the Authority commanded,

whatfoever Offence they committed, especially that

that guided me, was no lefs than the declared Judg-
ment of the Lords and Commons fitting in Parlia-

ment ; they declared that was their Right, as to the

Militia j and having explained feveral Statutes of
Henry the jth, wherein the King having enter*

changed Declarations zv.ith the Parliament, the Par-
liament comes to make an Explanation on that Sta-

tute; and, my Lord, it is in Folio 280, wherein

they do positively expound it, and declare it as their

allowed Judgment. To clear up all Scruples to all

thatjhould take up Arms for them, faith the Par-

liament there, as to the Statute of nth of Henry
the jth, Chapter the Firft, which is printed at

Large, comes there to explain it in General, and
comes here, Folio z8i, and gives this Judgment;
It is not, fay they, agreeable to Reafon orCon-
fcience, that any one's Duty fhould be known,
if the Judgment of the High-Court of Parlia-

ment be not a Rule or Guide to them. In the

next Place, this is the next Guidance, Rule, and
Judgment of Parliament, upon the Expofition of this

Statute, and as they have faicl in feveral Places,

(was it not too much to take up your Lordjhifs Time,)

they are the proper Judges and Expounders of the

Law. The High-Court of Parliament have taken

upon them to expound the Law, andfaid that we
Lawyers will give the Meaning of the Text contrary

to what they have Expounded the Meaning under

their Hands : In the fame Declaration his Majefly

is pleafed to quit that Statute upon which I(land In-

dicled, the z^th of Edward the Third, where they

do, my Lord, expound that very Statute in tht

Declaration made in io"4j, Folio 722. I come to

the declared Judgment, wherein they did pofitively

fay
7
that the Perfons that do Abl under their Autho'

rity ought not to be quefiioned as Perfons Guilty,

Folio 727, that is the Expofition that the Lords

and Commons Affembled in Parliament do make

upon the Statute.

Council. My Lord, this is an Argumentation
of Difcourfe in Juftification of his Proceedings,

we defire to know what he will Anfwer as to

the Plea.

Axtell. My Lords, I have this further to fay,

that if a Houfe of Commons Affembled in Parliament

may be guilty of Treafon, {for the Truth is, if I

acled Treafon, that acled under the Authority of the

Lords and Commons in Parliament, and of the Com-

mons in Parliament, then doubtlefs they mufi begin

the Treafon:) If the Houfe of Commons, who are

the Collet!ive Body and Reprefentation of the Nation

be guilty, all the People of England, who chofe them,

are guilty too ; and then where will there be a Jury

to try this ? Concerning the Commons alone I have

been over-ruled.

Lord Chief Baron, If you have any Thing to

fay to the Lords and Commons, Anfwer to your

Charge} your Charge is nothing of the Lords

and Commons, but what you a£ted when the

Houfe was broke and forced.

Council. You cannot but know that there is

nothing charged againft you, for which you can

fo much as pretend an Authority of the Lords

and Commons j you know before you could do

this horrid Murther, you were the Perfons that

deftroyed
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deftroyed the Lords and Commons both j indeed

you Ravel in a Bufinef., to make People gaze

upon you without any Ground.

Axtell. I am upon my Life, I hope you will hear

me patiently.

Lord Chief Baron. God forbid but we fhould.

Axtell. I do defire to ajfert my Authority \ if any

Thing was done upon the Houfe of Lords and Com-

mons I do not come here to juftify their Aclions, I

was not concerned in it. My next Plea is this ; that

if a Houfe of Commons can be charged Guilty of

High-Treafon as a Community, the diflributive

Body mufl needs be Guilty.

Court. If there fliould have been 20 or 40 Men
come out of the Houfe of Commons, and fhould

Murther a Man, they mufl: Anfwer for that} it

is not the Community that can do fuch an Act

of Treafon : Thefe Perfons that ycu call a Houfe

of Commons, there was but 16 of them, and

thefe muft be the People ; this is the State of

the Cafe} and when you have thruft out thrice

the Number of thofe remaining, only thofe can

ferve your Turn.

Lord Annefiy. Mr. Axtell, I am very forry to

fee you in that Place, and it troubles me as much
to hear you vent that for an Authority } which

you know yourfelf was no Authority } you

would now for your Defence for Life, (and it is

Reafon you fhould make as full a Defence for

Life as you can,) you would fhelter yourfelf

under that Authority, which I am forry I mufl:

fay you were one of the greateft Violators of. You
cannot forget how near a Clofe of this Bloody
War, by the Mercy of God, this Nation was,

when the Army interpofed, whofe Trade it was

to live by War, when they had felt fo much of

the Sweet of War, they would not fuffer the

People to enjoy Peace, though the Lords and
Reprefentatives in Parliament had agreed to it

}

a Treaty was begun, Terms of Peace propound-

ed and agreed to } this you cannot forget, and

will have no need of Notes or Books to help

your Memory : When the People Groaned un-

der the Miferies of War, and Thirfted after

Peace, then came up the Army, who were Ser-

vants to the Parliament till that Time, taking

upon them the Authority ; (you cannot forget

that yourfelf was one of the Number that came
to offer Accufations againft the Majority of the

Commons Houfe, calling them Rotten Mem-
bers;) the Houfe of Lords was not then fufFered

to fit, they would not join in that Ordinance
that was preparing for the Trial of the King }

when the Lords had refufed, they were no longer

fit to be Lords neither ; then comes in a new
Authority, which we never heard of before } a

Remnant of the Houfe of Commons joining

with the Army that had driven away the greatelt

Part of the Houfe of Commons } (for in all Af-
femblies and Courts the Major Part muft deter-

mine, or no Determination,) after this Courfe was
taken, then is an Act fet on Foot, they take up-
on them by Votes of their own ro be the Parlia-

ment of England ; that the Supreme Power of
the Nation is in the Reprefeniatives of the Peo-
ple •, who were they ? Thofe few only that re-

mained} almoft all the Cities, Counties and Bo-
roughs of England had none left to reprefent

them, they were driven away by Force } then
was this Act of Parliament (fuch an Act as was
never heard of before) fet on Foot and pafTed as

an Act by a few of the Houfe of Commons} if
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you can plead this for your Defence, this is the
Act that you muft fhelter under. But you know
the Lords and Commons had unanimoufly re-
folved for Peace, and fo agree with the King.
If this Act will be any Defence, you may plead
it to the full ; and this is all you have to %>
therefore go upon no foreign Matter.

Axtell. If it pleafe your Lord/hip, that worthy
Lord that /poke laft is pleafed to fay, that I was
one of the Perfons that did accufe fome of thofe Mem-
bers of Parliament ; truly, my Lord, I never did
come to the Commons Bar but once, prefenting d
Petition ; and for my Pland either in Charging any
of the Members, or Secluding any of them, I never
had any Hand in that Matter ; this is all to that
Part. Next, I humbly conceive here 1 muft ground
my Bottom, and if I peri/h , I

'

peri/h by a Judgment
in a Parliament } my Commiffton that did Authorize
me to obey my General, was given me when the Lords
and Commons /ate in Parliament ; / had no other

Commiffton than this : My Lord Fairfax commanded
the Army after the King's Death by the like Com-
miffion } I did but my Duty in going to my Regiment )

the Generalfaith, go to fuch a Place, flay there; if
I refufe, by the Law of IVar I Die } if I obey, I
am in Danger likewife ; I fay my Commiffton was
given me by the Lords and Commons, and therefore

I hope, my Lord, that what I havefaid and offered

in that Particular is not Trutkiefs, but of IVeight.

Court. The Effect of your Commiflion is only
to make you an Officer.

Axtell. My Commiffton bears Date the ijtb of
March 1 648, Ten Months before the King's Death ;

we had no other Commi/fions, therefore I humbly con-

ceive the Queftion will be this in Point of Law, and
I humbly defire it may be truly and fairly ftated by
your Lord/hip, and thefe Honourable Judges, that

whether a Man being guided by the Judgment of
the Lords and Commons Affembled in Parliament,

and having declared their Judgments and Expofttion

of that Statute of the itfth of Edward the Third,

and Atling only by that Judgment of Parliament,

and under their Authority, can be queftioned for
Treafon. That, my Lord, is a Queftion that I do

humbly think is a Point in Law, and that you will

pleafe fairly and truly to flate it, whether I am
within the compafs of that Statute whereupon I am
IndicJed.

Council. My Lord, we do not charge him with
any Thing that he did act under the Colour of
his Commiffion, or with any Thing he did be-
fore that, but that which we charge hiin with
are the Ads that he did at the Trial of the King;
fhew us your Commiffion from the Lords and
Commons AfTembled in Parliament, for Trial
and Execution of the King, you lay fomething;
we do not charge him for any Thing done by
Vertue of that Commiflion, but with thofe vio-

lent Aits that he did in encouraging the Soldiers

to cry, Jujlice, Juftice, Execution, Execution, and
all thofe other violent Actions of his own mali-

cious Heart againft the King. We humbly be-

feech you he may anfwer to that which is the

Charge againft him, and that is, the Co?,

and Imagining the Death of the late King, and his

declaring that by thofe Overt- Acts that we have

proved My Lords, we defire that the Prifoner

at the Bar may remember that he is not Indicted

for Levying War againft the King} if fo, then

that, Sir, which you offer, might be given as a

Plea, and we fhould have fpoken to it} but you

are Indicted for Comparing and Imagining the

Death
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Death of the King j and that which we have

given in Evidence were the fubfequent Overt-

acts to prove the fame.

Axtell. / hope you 'will not think it much to give

tne fome more Freedom for my own Defence for Life ;

My Lord, 1 muft needs fay, though there was a Force

on the Parliament, I am not to juflifie it', I was no

Lawyer, no States-man, no Counfellor, but a Soldier ;

and if the General, who had a Commiffion from the

Lords and Commons, and that- fome Tears before

and after the King's Death, be not Guilty of Treafon,

what I did was by Command from my General; and

though Iam charged with being in Arms in Weftmin-
fter-Hall, and at fuch and fuch a Place, yet it was

not a Voluntary AH, for 1 was bound to obey my
General ; 1 do humbly pray that 1 may have your

Lordfloifs Judgment in this Point ; I mufl fay it

was from the Senfe of their Expofition of the Law,
and of the Statutes, and from the Authority, that

every one took up Arms for, and ferved them, and

obeyed either the one General, or the other ; Ifay,
it was under this very Authority, and this muft

needs acquit me from all the Guilt that is laid upon

me.

Lord Chief Baron. You put yourfelf upon the

Judgment of the Court upon this which you call

a Point in Law. Firft, It is manifeft that there is

no Excufe at all for Treafon ; no Man by his Com-
miffion can warrant the doing of an Act which
is Treafon : You muft take notice of the Au-

j,

,

thoi ity, whether it be good or no j
J 3 your Commmion was not to put the

King to Death, but on the contrary, to preferve

the King's Life. The Lords and Commons,
what they did we do not meddle with ; the Rea-
fon and Ground of what they did was the Pre-

fervation of the King's Perfbn, as well as the

Maintenance of the Laws and Liberties of this

Nation j they made Proceftations, Declarations,

and Oaths, for the Prefervation of the King's

Perfon •, and you could not but take notice of
thofe Things : Now whereas you go about to

fhroud yourfelf under the Lord Fairfax, he had
no fuch Power, and therefore you can challenge

no more than he had ; and to what you fay con-

cerning the Judgment of the Parliament, there

will be a great deal of Difference between a par-

ticular Cafe and a Declaration of Lords and
Commons j there is nothing you have faid that

hath any Thing of Force, and God forbid you
ihould make ufe of itj but I muft tell you, you
could not but notorioufly know all thofe Tranf-

actions that were in the Army, what the Army
had done, that they came up with Swords in

their Plands, and turn'd out whom they would j

you faw what the Lords and Commons had done,

that the Treaty was ready for its Birth ; and
then you came up with your Myrmidons, with
Force and Arms, and excluded the greateft Part

of the Members, and then the Lords were laid

afide : It is true, the Lords were not wholly
diffolved, but they would not fuffer them to Sit,

nor Act at all, and this was apparent to the Na-
tion. So that this was but a Colour and Pre-

tence of a Parliament, that a few Perfons, (for

fo they were, but an Eighth Part of the Houfe
of Commons, fftould take upon them to act as

an Houfe, and of that Eighth Part (which was but
Forty Six in the whole) there was but Twenty
Six that Voted that Act which you fay you o-

beyed : But you fay you obeyed the General}

you are not to obey the General in this Cafe j

for the Facts that you have committed are not
charged as Acts of War ; you are not charged
for bringing the Soldiers in, but for thofe vio-
lent Actions that you were guilty of there ; you
made the Soldiers cry out, Juftice, Juftice, Exe-
cution, Execution ; you fent officioufly for a Hang-
man to come down to you > your Commiffion
gave you no Power for this ; the Death of the
King you know how it was defigned ; you know
the Act for the bringing in of that Commiffion
(as they call'd it) to fit in Juftice was after the
Houfe of Commons was reduced to a very fmall
Number, and fome of thofe diffenting too ; what
you did act under that Authority, if you can
juftifie it, in the Name of God fay fo j but do
not engage the Nation in thofe Things which
they abhorred, and by the Mercy of God are
laid afleep.

Mr. Juftice Fofter. You begin at the wrong
End } you ought, as all Men ought to do, firlt

to Anfwer the Matter of Fact, and not to put
in thofe long dilatory Pleas, till you have an-
fwered the Matter of Fact, whether thofe
Things charged on you be true or not ; then
if you have any thing further fay for yourfelf
by Way of Excufe, it will be the Time to
fpeak, and not before.

Axtell. May it pleafe your Lordjhips, I humbly
conceive I am upon that Method to the firft Part of
the Witnefs : they accufe me for commanding my
Soldiers in Weftminfter-Hall, then L muft prove
my Authority, which I have been about to do, and
declared the Judgment of Parliament.

Lord Chief Baron. The Court have heard you
with a great deal of Patience, and that which is

not at all to the Bufinefs.

Axtell. I only refer this as to the Authority
; (I

humbly conceive you will give me Leave to infift up-,

on this, and how far I may improve it for my own
Defence-,) here is the Commiffion by which my Lord
Fairfax acled, and that after the King's Death, and
I acled ; by the fame Authority he did ; I had not

been at Weftminfter-Hall but on the Command of
the General.

Court. Doth that Commiffion Authorize you
to cry Juftice, Juftice ? And to look up and
down to get Witnefles againft the King j Is that

'

in your Commiffion ?

Axtell. / am to ferve and obey all my Superior

Officers, that is my Commiffion ; if I do not I die

by the Law of War.
Court. You are to obey them in their Juft

Commands ; all Unjuft Commands are Invalid.

If our Superiors fhould command us to undue
and irregular Things, (much more if to the

committing of Treafon) we are in each Cafe to

make Ufe of our Paffive, not Active, Obe-
dience.

Axtell. Under Favour, it is not proved, that I

did either Compafs or Imagine the King's Death*
that is Matter of Fall.

Court. Let us try that.

Axtell. My Lord, I did nothing but as a meer

Soldier, I had Authorityfrom the General; I would
have this before your Lordjhips and the Jury, that

what I have done hath been by Authority of the

General.

Lord Flollis. Sir, a Word to you ; if you
could fatisfy the Court that you had received a

Commiffion from the General to do thofe Things
with which you ftand charged it were fome-
thing, then were it proper for you to plead it,

and



1660 O. B. one ofthe Regicides. 377
and the Court to Judge. Pray take this along

with you, the General gave you no fuch Com-
mand; what you are charged with in the Indict-

ment is, for Compaffing and Imagining the Death

of the King, and that by fuch and >'uch Overt-

A&s, as making your Soldiers cry out Juftice and

Execution, for being a£tive and forward in lend-

ing for the Executioner, and fuch other A&s

;

prove thefe are in your Commiffion, and you fay

fomething: I am fure you cannot be ignorant

that that very Authority that you now do urge

to give Life and Power to your Adtions, that

you deftroyed it, laid it in the Duft, a£ted con-

trary to it feveral Waysj when the Parliament

protefted againft fetching the King from Holmby,

as they did, when they went on proceeding in

the Way of Peace, then came you up to the

Bar, (I think you yourfelf,) and charged fome

of the Members; firft Eleven as Rotten Mem-
bers, and thefe Men were forced awav, this you

know your General had no Commiffion to do;

and this you know was a Violation ofthat Power

that gave your General the Cornmiffmn. After

that, when the Treaty was brought onintheT/7?

\ of Wight, when there was great hopes of Peace,

then you know the King was hurried thence by

Force, which the Parliament protefted againft.

After that, when both the Hou<e of Commons
land Lords came to confider of one Particular

that paffed, they refolved that it was fufficient

Ground to proceed on for the Settlement of

\
Peace; then did you fall upon thefe Houfes, and

' tear them in Pieces, and throwing out above

200, fuffered only about 40 to remain, and they

were glad to fend for one Member out of Pri-

fon to make up a Houfe. That which you fay

of the Supreme Authority, and that by Virtue

of which you did ai5t, it fhews that you did not

at all go by any Authority, but you followed

your own Lulls ; and therefore do not few thefe

Fig- Leaves together, which will ftand you in

no ftead; if you would apply yourfelf to anfwer

that which you are charged with, it were fome-

|

thing.

Axt. / do defire to have no more Interruptions

than is meet in making my own Defence. My Lord,

here are many Things by way of Motive urged to the

Jury which is not within the Charge, I defire I may
have that fair Play, that nothing may be urg'd

but what is in the Charge.

Lord Chief Baron. You give the Occafion,

Mr. Axtell, keep to the Matter, and you fhall

not be interrupted.

Lord Hollis. I fhall be very forry to urge any
Thing againft you which doth not neceffarily

follow; for what you fay touching your Autho-
i
rity, 1 fhall fhew you have no Authority.

Axt. My Lord, I have the fame Commiffion as
1

the General ; what I did was not of mine own
Head, 1 had a Command : As for all that hath been

;

(barged againft me Ifhall fay this, I was none of
the Court, I did not fetch the King from the I fie

of Wight, nor advis'd, compared, or imagined,

I his Death, or Sentenced him to Death, or Signed
the Warrant for his Execution, or Executed him >

I am none of them, my Lords ; and therefore who-
ever did make any Breach upon the Houfe of Com-
mons, they were Grandees, Perfons of a greater

Quality ; / was an inferior Officer ; I was never

j

at the Houfe Bar, but upon prefenting one Petition

I
to the Parliament from the Army. I ft)all now

,
come tofpeak to the Evidence which hath been riven
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particularly againft me ; and the Firft, my Lords,

is Mr. Simpion, he faith, I had the Command of
the Guards at Weftminfter-PLll : My Lords, I
have told you already, fiiewn you by what Authority

I came thither, and that I ought not to refufe ; if

I had, according to the Laws of War I muft have

fuffered Death; and that is all as to Mr. Simpfon,
only thit a Lady {he knows not who) [pake fome-
thing there.

Lord Chief Baron. He faith he heard you bid

the Soldiers give Fire againft the Lady.
Axt. My Lord, I muftfay, if there was any Lady

that didfpeak, who fije was I know no more than the

leaft Child here ; but, my Lord, to Silence a Lady I
fuppofe is no Treafon; if a Lady will Talk imperti-

nently it is no Treafon to bid her hold her Tongue.

Lord Chief Baron. A Lady was fpeaking perti-

nently enough, when fhe heard Bradffiaw fay to

the King, fuch a Charge is exhibited, a Charge
of High-Treafon againft him in the Name of the

Commons Ajfembled in Parliament, and the good

People of England ; fhe faid, That was a Lye, not

half, nor a quarter of the People of England; that

Oliver Cromwell was a Traitor ; then you took
upon you to Command the Soldiers to Fire at

her, and accoidingly they levelled the Muzzles
of their Mufquets towards her.

Axt. My Lord, as to that Particular concern-

ing Oliver Cromwell, or any other Words concern-

ing the Court, I underftar.d them not ; but if any
Interruption was made, to prejerve the Peace, to de-

fire a Woman to hold her Tongue is no Treafon.

To the next Particular, wherein Colonel Huncks
faith, at a Door of a certain Lodging where Jreton

and Harrifon were in Bed together, he faith that

upon his Refufal to Sign the Warrant for Execu-
ting the King, I faid to him, Colonel Huncks, I am
afhamed of you, the Ship is now coming into

Harbour, and will you ftrike Sail before we
come to Anchor ? Truly, my Lord, )I think all

that amounts to nothing ; if it were fo, which I deny

it, for to bring the Ship into Harbour, what is

that ? There is no Perfon named, Fail named, nor

Defign named ; and I appeal to my Confcience, I re-

member not the Time, Place, Perfon, or Words ; and I
can call for Colonel Phayre and Colonel Hacker, who
were there ; for I defire Things may appear right, I
defire they two Perfons may be called for their Evi-
dence in that Point.

Lord Cheef Baron. They both are in the fame
Condition, Colonel Hacker in the Prifon behind

you, Colonel Phayre in the Tower ; Mr. Axtell^

you know the Strength of one Affirmative Wit-
nefs; I faw fuch a Man, and heard fuch a Man
fay, &c. is more than if Twenty fhould Witnefs

they flood by, but did not fee him, or hear him
fpeak.

Axt. My Lord, he faith only this, Ifaw you

at the Door going into Ireton's Chamber, and faid,

Will you ftrike Sail, &c? Truly, my Lord, he doth

not fay what, or how, any Thing I meant; there

muft be according to Sir Edward CokeV jth Book

of his Inftitutes, that Oracle of the Law, he faith,

That Evidence ought to be as clear as the Sun at

Noon-day ; all that you can fay is this, it muft be

a wide Inference, a large Inference ; Iconceive there

is nothing in thefe two Witneffes, and if the Two
Prifoners were here they would clear me in this.

Lord ChiefBaron. If by the Law you could have

had them, you fhould ; but I fear if they could

be admitted they would not be to your Advan-

tage.

C c c Axtell.
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Axtell. Then, my Lord, in the next place, Colo-

nel Temple is pleafed to fay, that the Lady Fairfax

faying fomething againft the Court, {which in truth,

as Ifaid before, 1 know not who it was, or what the

Words were,) he faith, I bid Fire againft than ; I
did nothing but what I was commanded upon pain of
Death, to preferve peace, and in purfuance of that

Commandfrom the Superior Officers of the Army, Si-

lence was required, and that was all that was done.

Ifuppofe where a Man is commanded to keep Silence,

as the Sheriff is required to keep all at peace in

a Court, if he refrain a per[on that will not be quiet,

it is not Treafon in him, nor in me, in this particular

.

My Lord, in the next place, Mr. Temple is pleafed

to fay, that Iflood upon thepavement laughing, while

others fighed ; truly, my Lord, I know not whether I
faw the Gentleman, or no ; certainly Smiling is no

Treafon, if I did fo, though I believe I had as great

a Senfe that day as many other perfons there •> this

is the Sum of that he faith, only he further adds,

that I bid the Soldiers cry for Juftice ; truly, my
Lord,

Lord Chief Baron. Becaufe it may be your

Notes are fhort, I will acquaint you there was a

little more in it ; he faid, you bid the Soldiers cry

out, Juftice, Juftice ; and they coming not very

readily to it, you ftruck fome of them, till they

with yourfelf cried out Juftice, Juftice ; till they

with yourfelf did it.

Axtell. My Lord, to that I anfwer, that in the

Hall there was fome kind of people did fet up a cry-

ing fome kind of Words, and may be fome of the Sol-

diers might cryfo too ; I might command them to hold

their tongues, and to fay, I'll teach you to cry Ju-
ftice, and fo the Gentleman ftanding by might believe

I was the perfen that bid them do it : Truly, my Lord,

this is all that the Gentleman fays, which I humbly

conceive is nothing, becaufe he does not fay againft

any perfon ; and therefore, my Lord, I do' hold to

that Maxim in the law, as Sir Edward Coke holds,

(that Man of great parts, of learning and know-

ledge,) That in matters of Treafon, wherein a

Man is the highlieft concerned in his Life

and Pofterity, there ought not to be conflrued

againft him Inferences or Prefumptions, or Strains

of Wit ; there is no more in this, and this is all that

1 fay in this particular. In the next place, Mr.
Temple is pleafed to fay, that after the Court had

fentenced his Majefty, he was hurried away in a

Sedan ; truly, whether he was, or not, I know not ;

there was a Guard of Halberteers, whereof Colonel

Huncks was one, and feveral others, as I have

heard ; they were felecl Guards of his Majefty,

guarding him from St. James's to other places ; how
he came to be hurried, I know not, it was not by

me ; and whereas he fays during the whole Trial

I was there, truly I think Izvas there by Command

of my General, by Authority of the Lords and Com-
mons.

Lord Chief Baron. You fpeak this that the Jury
may underftand you did it by Command of your

General. Do you mean by exprefs Command ?

Axtell. / did not move a Day but by Jpccial Com-
mand.

Lord Chief Baron. By whom ?

Axtell. The Lord Fairfax gave his Orders every

Morning to his Adjutant-General, or Major-General,

and they iffued them out tofuch and fuch perfons as he

appoints.

Lord Chief Baron. Who gave thefe Orders

out ?

Axtell. The Lord Fairfax ; we did all under him.

Lord Chief Baron. You had not the Order im-
mediately from him ?

Axtell. The Major-General had.

Lord Chief Baron. What Major-General gave
you that Order?

Axtell. There was Cromwell and Ireton.

Lord Chief Baron. The Lord Fairfax gave you
no immediate Commiflion ?

Axtell. He gave my Superior Officers.

Lord Chief Baron. How do you know that?

Axtell. My Lord, becaufe they told me fo, it was
'

by his Command.
Lord Chief Baron. The Oueftion is now under-

flood.

Axtell. The next perfon that fpeaks is Mr. Bo-
durdoe, and he fays that I commanded the Soldiers a*.

the King's Trial ; and that a Lady that was fpeak-
ing was commanded Silence, to this purpofe ; truly,

my Lord, this is but the fame as before.

Lord Chief Baron. You faid Shoot too.

Axtell. No, (my Lord,) Ifaid not any fuch Word, I

or any thing like it ; I heard there was an Officer

went up and intreated her to befilent ; I fay, it is the

fame with theformer, it is no Treafon to defire one to

befilent. My Lord, the next Witnefs that fpeaks in

Evidence againft me is Mr. Young ; he fays this,

I bid the Soldiers cry for Juftice ; it is very like that

perfon, as well as Mr. Temple, might fee me in the

Croudfpeaking to make the Soldiers quiet, I might

repeat the Words that the People faid, repeat the

Word Juftice, or fome fuch Word, as the people's

Words.

Lord Chief Baron. Remember how he repeats

them ; he faw you aclive in fetting on the Soldi-

ers to cry Juftice.

Axtell. If I have taken them right ; one fays he

heard me fay fuch Words as Juftice ; and that he

faw me ftrike two or three Soldiers ; if in the Tumult

fuch a Word fhould be ftarted, I hearing of them, I
might ftrike thofe Soldiers that faid J uftice, Juftice,

and might repeat the Words, I'll give you [uftice, and

fo ftrike them ; that is a good Evidence that it might

be a Repetition of their Words, and not any of mine

own: They both fpeak as to the Word Juftice, but

here was not Juftice mentioned to any perfon ; Imight
repeat their own Words, and ehaftife them for thofe

Words ; befides this, (though I do not fay the Word
was fpoken by me) if the Word J uftice had been fpo-

ken, my Lord, I hope it is no Treafon to fay, I de-

fire Juftice ; it is God's great Attribute, it is God's

Ordinance, and that can be no Treafon. / have

read in Law-Books, (though but lately) and Icannot
find that the Word Jufticefhould be made Treafon ;

then there is no perfon to whom that adjuncl doth be-

long. The next Evidence, my Lord, is Captain Je-

noar, he faith I commanded a Guard ; truly feveral i

Regiments took their Turns as they were com-

manded by the General, and I, as an inferior Offi-

cer, was there ; but that is no more than what was

faid before, it was done by the Authority of the Gene-

ral ; if I had not done it, I had died by the Law of

War : He faith, there was a Cry for Juftice ; I

can fay nothing more than I have formerly faid ; it

may be in the Tumult the Soldiers might fay fo,

and I chaftifing of them, and repeating that in mj

Chaftifement, they might think they were mine own

Words.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Axtell, I would help

your memory ; he fwears the laft Day you en-

couraged the Soldiers to cry, Execution, Execu-

tion.

Axtell.
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Axcell. For that Particular I am coming to It,

(I thank your Lordlliip for helping me-,) my

Lord, for that ^/Execution, truly 1 cannot fay whe-

ther I was there that Day or no ; one Day Iwas com-

manded to be there with fome Companies in Welt*
ininftei -Hall, but whether I was there any more than

that one Time is the Que[Iion : Admit I was there

that Day, Iwas never there but when Iwas command-

ed ; when the Colonel that commanded the Regiment

was there, /, as an Inferior Officer, ought to be

there : I was there by a Special Order, and not by

a Voluntary Act of mine own, and fo it cannot be

Comparing the Death of the King. For as to the

Word Execution, what can be the Senfe of this

Word? Execution is a Jingle Word; thofe People

that farted the Word Juftice might put it in the

Heads of the Soldiers, which I might, ftrike to com-

mand Silence ; they likewife might upon the fame

Jcccunt cry out Execu'ion, and fo to kinder all

Tumults, and Hubbub;, and the like, in the Place ;

1 might repeat their Words in correcting of them for

it, I might fay, I'll Juftice you, I'll Execution
you : But my Lord, this Word Execution of Ju-
ftice, it is a Glorious Word: not that there can be

an Inference that what they did IJhould fay was Ju-
ftice, or to approve of any Thing that they did, but

only in General Execution of Juftice, which, my
Lord, relates not to any Per[on j poffibly the rude

People might be Jpeaking (as hath been faid before)

in that Manner, and the Soldiers might take it up,

end I might reprove them, and make Ufe of their

own Words by way of Repetition, I will Juftice

you, I will Execution you.

My Lord, in the next Place I do defire to [peak to

that of Mr. Burden ; he did obferve to your Lord-
pips and the Jury, my Country-men, my Brethren,

with whom are the Iffues of Life and Death, for whofe

Life they muft anfwsr before the Lord as to Righ-

teoufnefs, Judgment, and Equity ; Ifay, my Lord,

as to Mr. Burden, he tells you, that for my Sake

he was Imprifoned ; faith he, I have fuffered much
by him ; and fpeaks it with much Indignation of
Spirit ; / have fuffered, and been Imprifoned by

him, and afterwards he comes to fpeak his Evidence ;

how much his Evidence may be of Force I defire, my
Lord, the Jury may confider of that ; and then he

comes and faith, I commanded a Guard at the Ban-
queting-Houfe 'in White-Hall. Truly, my Lord,

the Lord Fairfax commanded a Regiment to quarter

there, and I, as an Inferior Officer , might be there.

In the next Place, my Lord, he faith, I fent Elifha

Axtell to fetch the Hangman; Truly, my Lord, I
wonder this Perfon is not come from Ireland ; (if this

werefo,) the Authority there would not fend that

Perfon with his great Evidence, as well as this

Perfon ; he may as well charge any Perfon with this

as me : It is evident, Ireton, Harrifon, and Crom-
well, they did all amongfl themfelvcs ; I never was
with them, among/I them, received no commandfrom
them, nor obeyed them ; nor did any Thing but what
1 had Command for from the General, whom, by the

Law, 1 was bound to obey as a Soldier. I fhall only

cbferve one Thing more ; this Perfon being fo long a
Prifuner, to Extricate himfelf out of his ImpriJon-
ment and Chains, poor Man ! he may fay more than

is true. I wonder he ftjould fay I fent for the Exe-
cutioner ; I never knew of any Circumjlance touch-

ing Confultation about his Death, or took him Pri-

foner. When they fent to me to be one of his Guard,
I never would go; Ihumbly conceive there is nothing

flicks upon me in this, considering the Circum/Iances,

and the W'rds of the Perfon that fpoke them.
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My Lord, the next Perfon that fpeaks againft me
is Mr. Cook, he faith he heard me fay, Thruft thac

Lad) down that made a Diftuib;-ince in the Cdurt,

or Words to that Purpofe; it is probable then

might be a Defire of Silence. The next Evidence is

Lieutenant Colonel Nellbn, he faith, that upon a-

Dijcourje-

Lord Chief Baron. I would put you in Remem-
brance, left you fhould forget what Sir Purbeck

Temple laid, that by Leive of Perfons under your
Command he Jaw the Body of the King, it is only

a Circumftance.

Axtell. / have heird there were Chirurgions,

Phyficians, and Halberteers, appointed by whom I
know not; they had the Care of fuch Things, and

had the keeping of him ; he was locked up by them $

no Body could come in but by them ; I never had a

Key; poffibly Colonel Temple might come to me,

quartering there, and defire me to Jpeak to fome Per-

fons that had the Charge of it to let him in ; whe-
ther I did or no I cannot remember ; but if it were

fo-, I hope it will not amount to Trcafn. 'I be Lift

Thinggiven in Evidence againfl me is by Mr. Nelfon,

he faith, that upon fome Dijcourje between us, he

was asking what Perfon cut off the King's Head,

and that I fiould fay Hewlet, &c. Truly, my Lord,

Iwas neverprivy ; and I appeal to Mr. Rufhworth,

if he were here, who was Secretary, if ever he Jaw
me in any Council, to advife, or act, or any Thing

in that Kind, in relation to the King's Trial, Sen-

tence, or Execution ; for me to know the Perfon

that was imployed about the Execution it is ftrange,

when (as I faid before) they did all within them-

J'elves. I had no Knowledge thereof, and meddled
not with any Thing but within my own Sphere as

a Soldier under my Lord Fairfax, by Authority of
Parliament. For naming any Perfon, truly, my
Lord, it would be a wonder to me that I fiould

name any Perfon to go to do any Perfon that Wrong
and Injury, to fay he was the Perfon ; I muft in-

vent it, for I knew nothing of it. But by common
Fame up and down the City it was faid to be ano-

ther Perfon, but who it was I cannot fay, my
Lord; but to all this that hath been faid againfl me,

there are but Two Things upon Two Witneffes that

are placed upon me ; the Firft, my Lord, here is Two
Witneffesfor crying Juftice, and Execution,

Lord Chief Baron. I think you have more
than Two to thofe Words.

Axtell. Not for both together.

Lord Chief Baron. No, but feveral for Juftice.

Axtell. There is Three to that; I Jhall only fay
this to your Lordftoip, and this Jury, in whofe Pland

this Life of mine is, and is committed to them, either

to acquit or condemn me ; and God knows the Hearts

of all Men, and my Innocency and Integrity ; Ift)all

Jay nothing to the Witneffes, it is a Day of Temp-
tation ; and I deftre the Jury, my Countrymen, my
Fellow-Citizens, and my Brethren, that they would
well confider of it,the Word Execution and Juftice ;

admit I had faid them, (which, my Lord^ I do not,

I muft not grant) there being an Uproar of People,

therefuch Words might be ufed, and pnfffbly Soldi-

ers might take them up from them, and chaftiftng

the Soldiers I might repeat the Words I will Ju-
ftice, I will Execution you.

Lord Chief Baron. The Evidence is, that you •

beat them becaufe they did not readily cry Ju--

ftice, Juftice.

Axtell. // might be more probable I beat them be-

caufe they did do it, I might chaftife them for doing

of it, and repeat it is a B.eafon for their Chaftife-

C c c 2, mint;
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went; and but admitting it was true, which I grant

not, yet I hope Ju (lice, and Execution of Juftice, as

it isfio great an 4(tribute of God, by God's Laws,

or Man's Laws, is no where made Treafon, but

Mercy attends it, and Judgment attends the contrary ;

I leave it upon the Confidences of the Jury to weigh

it carefully, how I Jbould be guilty o/Compaffing

and Imagining the Death of the late King, when

nothing is charged againft me to be either of Council,

Sentencing or Signing, or to be at the Execution ; only

one Man, as I told you before, he fipoke fomething

Wrathfully, and that he hadfuffered much, and there-

fore he is come over now, andfaith Ifijouldfend for

the Executioner, which I never knew of, or had any

Hand in fendingfor ; how much Validity that hath, I

leave to the Jury ; . if it werefo, it is not Treafon ; for

Words may make a Heretick, not a Traitor ; Ifpeak

that by way of Preface ; / do humbly conceive that

thefe being only noted Words, Execution and Ju-

fiice, the King not fo much as named, or any Thing

done to it by me, Ifay, I conceive it doth not amount

to Treafon by the Law ; and befides, it is againft the

Law of the Great Judge, the Judge of Judges ; all

of us that are now, and are to come, floallftand be-

fore him to receive our Deferts ; I fay it is againft

the Law of God to make me an Offender ior a

Word ; for a Word. I have heard the Judgesfay,

that the Laws of England are goounded upon the

Laws of God, and the Laws of England are Laws

of Mercy, not of Rigour : My Lord, if a Manpall
be cleftroyed in his Life, in his Pofterity, for a Word,

[admit the Thing had beenfo,) I leave upon the Con-

sciences ofmy Jury, before the Prefence ofjefus Chrift,

and before whom they and I muft come to be re-judg-

ed again at the Tribunal; and befides it is only

Words, and Words uncertain ; and Sir Edward
Coke faith, he muft declare plain Truth in Matter

of Treafon ; nothing muft be taken for Evidence that

may be a Prefumption or Inference, or Strain ofWit 3

Ihope upon this Confideration that the Word)uftice,

fixed upon me by Two Witneffies, may be taken up at

Second or Third Hand from the People or Soldiers,

by chaftfiing them for the Tumult. Then, my Lord,

in the next Placet thefe Words were never put in

Writing, andfo not Treafon ; then, my Lord, there

was never an Overt-Acl done by me; for that All

of Indempnity that His Majefty and both Houfies of

Parliament paffed, wherein they were pleafied the ve-

ry loft to except me, I wondered when I came to be

excepted of that Number. I do come back to the

Place where I left, and that is the Overt-Ail. My
Lord, I would only bring it in this Place ; when

I was excepted by the Hottfie of Commons, one of the

Twenty, I was excepted thus, not extending to Life j

I went up and down free at Noon-Day ; I did not

hide myfelf; engaging a Perfon that was one of His

Majefty'' s Servants to do me a Courtsfie, he promi-

fed me he would do it, and contrary to his Promifie,

he was pleafed to bring the King's Warrant to carry

me to the Tower ; and after that I came to be ex-

cepted with that Black Catalogue of excepted Perfons,

and to be brought to the Trial of the Law. Now
(my Lord) I return to that Overt- Acl, as it was but

Words uncertain, and they may be Words repeated

from the Third or the Fourth Hand, for they were not

put in Writing, according to that Acl of Indempnity,

which I underftand the Meaning of to be thus ; that

for their execrable Treafons in Sentencing, Signing,

or otherwife Inflrumental, they are excepted out of
this Acl, and to be tried according to the Laws of

this Nation. I underftand that to be inflrumental,

to be Inftrumentally the Executioner of the King; I

never had any Hand in that. Upon the whole, this

is the Facl that is proved by Two Witneffies ; they

heard me fay, Juftice and Execution, which muft
relate to the Execution of Juftice, which by the

Law of God is not Treafon, efpecially when then
was not the Word King ; for a Word, to take a-

way, and defiroy fo many, my Life, Wife, Chit'

dren, and many Fatherlefs that are under the Charge

of the Prifoner at the Bar, is very fad ; the Word?
I do not grant, but uponfiuch Probabilities as I have
[aid I might repeat them, I will Juftice you, I will
Execution you ; and then the Words were not writ*
ten ; Ifay as Sir Edward Coke fiaid, They may
make a Heretick, but not a Traitor. The other

Part of the Evidence is this, that I was there with
Soldiers at Weftminfter-Hall 5 / muft fay, if that
be Treafon to be guided by the Judgment of Lords
and Commons in Parliament, I muft fay, if that be

Treafon to take up Arms for a Parliament upon fiuch

Grounds and Expofitions of the Statute which they

have made and publifloed by their own Authority, if

I am Guilty under the General, then the Parliament
would be Guilty of Treafon.

Lord Chief Baron. That you have fpokc to

—

I am loth to interrupt you.
Ax tell. I thank your Lordfhip for informing me,

but I was commanded to be there by my General ; if
I had not gone I muft have died; I did only fiand
there for Preficrvation of the Peace, in no other

Senfie j if the General order me to be at fiuch a Ren-
dezvous, I muft be there; ifIhad difiobeyed he would
have condemned me by the Law of War. The next

Ihing again/l me material are thefe Two Things, that

is, that Ifiwuld fiend one Elifha Axtell /br the Exe-
cutio?ier ; I muft fay it is moft admirablefiuch Things

fhould be laid to my Charge ; I hope your Lordfhips

and the Jury do obfierve, he told you, he fufferei
much, and a poor Man, under his Extremities, and
Lojfies, and Sufferings, perhaps might ftartfame un-

advified Words, and being now fient over, may aficerm

tain it. But doubtlefs this Eiifha Ax tell being in

Ireland, if by Command it had been fib, would have
been fient over; truly I muft fay, I had no Hand in

the Bufmefis; it was left wholly to them amongft
themfelves, and whatever was done, or whatever was
fiaid, it was fiaid and done by them ; I never was ac-

quainted with any Thing of that Nature. He fiaii

he heard Ifiiould fiend Elifha Axtell for an Execu-
tioner ; if Hear-fays may be Treafon it will be a heard

Lefifion; and, my Lord, Sir Edward Coke faith,

there muft be Two Witneffies, here is but one. It

comes fromfiuch a Man, my Lord, as the Providenc»

ofGod—but I will fay no more as to that, but pray
the Jury will take Notice of it.

Lord Chief Baron. You need not doubt of ir,

it fhall be taken Notice of, this of Burden.
Axtell. Now, my Lord, Ihave but Two or Three

Words more, the Statute of the z^th of Edward.
the Third, it doth intend private Perfons, my Lord

\

here is my Commiffton.

Lord Chief Baron. It is owned you had it from
your General.

Axtell. My Lord, His Majefty is pleafied to fay
in His Gracious Letter, We do by thefe Prefients de-

clare, That we do grant a Free and General Par-

don to all our Subjects, of what Degree or Qua-
lity whatfover, who within Four Days after the

publifhing hereof fhall lay hold upon this our
Grace and Favour, excepting only iuch Perfons
as mail hereafter be excepted by Parliament ; that

is, a Parliament called by his own Writ, lou knots

this Parliament —
Lord
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Lord Chief Baron-. Mr. Axtell;, I would hot in-

terrupt you to that, but this very Objection was

made by one of the Prifoners before-, this An-

fwer was given, Firft, the King's Declaration is

not a Pardon in point of Law, it mult be under

the Broad- Seal, but God forbid but it inould

bind in Honour. You inftanced in the Word
Parliament, what was meant by the Word Par-

liament: You muft know this, the Exigency of

the Times were fuch, that there were many No-

ble Perfons that took the Advantage toafiemble

themfelves together to reinftate the King ; they

did that which was juil and lawful, according to

the Exigency of the Times-, this Declaration he

fenc to the Two Houfes, he called them His Two
Houfes* fo that it appears clearly and manifeftly

they were then fitting, they being accepted by

the King-, and owned by him, and they did fit

in Way of Convention, according as a Parliament,

and his Majefty ferit his Letter to them * and

thefe are the Perfons that have thought fit to ex-

cept you out of that Aft.

Ax tell. My Lord, may I[peak to that any fur-

ther ?

Lord Chief Baron. If you do, it will be over-

ruled

-

Axtcll. lfubmit 'with Submijfionto the Pro-

vidence of God-, 1 did apply to Sir Harbottle Grim-

fton for the Mercy and favour of his Majefly, ac-

cording to his Declaration, and here is Sir Har-

bottle'* own Handfor a Certificate.

Lord Chief Baron. This is allowed you, that

you did claim that Benefit within the Time,but

you may remember that it was referred to thofe

Two Houfes of Parliament, they were to con-

fider who was fit for the Pardon, and you are by

them excepted out by Name: Your Queftion

now is no more, but -whether Guilty ? Or, Not

Guilty ? And thefe are but extravagant Difcour-

fes that you fay otherwife, and rather do you

Harm than Good.
Axtell. I hope you will pardon me, my Lord-, I

hope I have fpoken to clear the Point, the Fail char-

ged by your Lord/hip, and before the Jury; and I

hope the Lord will give the Jury a Memory of it,

and a right Underfianding in what I have faid for

my own Defence. My Lord, the next Thing I have

to offer, is this, to expound that Ail of Parliament,

that it was the Intention of his Majefly and Parlia-

ment that all fijould be excepted, but thofe Guilty of

Councelling, Signing, or Sentencing. "Truly, my
Lord, I humbly conceive, I being none of thofe, am
not Guilty of Treafon. Ipall only fpeak one Word
to my Jury, That they will remember what I have

faid, that there is but Two Things, Two Witneffes,

<is to Juftice and Execution ; that it relates to no

Perfon, but in General ; and then I do not own the

Things, but poffbly they might hear fuch Words, 1

taking of them up upon a Rebound, reproved the Sol-

diers; for the other, that I Jbouldfend one for the

Executioner, {he heard foJ) and that 1Jbould name

who was the Executioner, I would not have that

Perfon, or any other, toJujfer for that.

Lord Chief Baron. That is not at all preffed

upon you, not as to any Charge.

Axtell. I thank your Lordfirip. lam very Igno-

rant.

Lord Chief Baron. Have you done, Sir?

Axtell. Heave the Matter to the Jury, in whole

Hands I, and my little Ones, and Family, are left

;

I only fay this to you, remember your Ancejlors, re-

member your Poflerity. I never heard it before that

Words were Treafon. h ghiecn mivfs Time Throc-
morton w«j acquitted for Words by the Jury. Gen-

tlemen of the Jury, I leave my Cafe, my Life, my.

All, in your Hands.

Lord ChiefBaron. Gentlemen of the Jury, there

have been feveral Things offered by the Prifoner

at the Bar, fo near as my Memory will give me
leave in f > long a Difcourle, I lhall repeat ail

Things which he faith for himfelf, and which are

faidagainft himwThere are fome Things that he
feems to utter as tending to Matter of Law, and
fomething meerly of Faft, proper only for you
of the Jury. For Matter of Law, he hath ur-

ged feveral Things for himfelf* not by Way of

Juftification of the Faft (I muft do him that

Right,) but in Excufe of himfelf; and I hope his

Confcience hath fo wrought upon him, that he

is of Opinion the Faft is a horrid Fact, which
was fo indeed.

For that which he hath faid for himfe'.f, Firft„

He doth alledge to have hisCommifilon from the

Lord Fairfax, my Lord Fairfax had his Commif-
fion from the Two Houfes of Parliament, and
this Gentleman's was in March, the Beginning of

the Year 1648. He faith, what he aid was in

Obedience to his Superiors, as a Soldier, that he

never confulted or advifed about any Thing of

the Trial or Execution of his Majefty. For this

Point, it hath already been fpoken to, Gentle-

men j for that which hath been fpoken to at large

heretofore I muft repeat it here, that he may
know it, That no Perfon whatfoever, no Com-
munity, not the People, either Colleftively or

Rcprefentatively, have any Coercive Power over

the King ; neither the Lord Fairfax, his Gene-
ral, nor he, nor any other Perfon, could be ex-

cuied for this horrid Faft of bringing the King
to Trial, no Perfon, as 1 faid before, nor Com-
munity, have any fuch Power. The Law- Books
which he hath lately feen, (and truly he hath em-
ployed his Time well in that,) the Law-books
tell us, that whereas the Two Spencers had
broached a damnable and deteftahle Principle,

That the Homage was only due to the King, in

refpeft to his Crown j that if he did not demean
himfelf according to fuch and fuch Rules, his

Subjects might rule him per afpertee, by Afperity

and Sharpnefs; but this was condemned by Two
Afts of Parliament; they both appear in my
Lord Coke, in Calvin's Cafe. I do not go to re-

peat all the Evidence that might clear this Truth ;

I fay, had there been any fuch Thing, but it

hath been told him there was no fuch thing in

Faft. My Lord Fairfax's Commiffion was for

the Prefervation of the King, as well as for the

Liberties of the People. The 1 ith of Richard 2,

Robert de Fere, and others, for levying a V/ar,

was punifhed, but this Gentleman was not char-

ged for levying of War. If either of the Hou-
fes of Parliament fhould command fuch a Thing
as tends to the Death of the King, in would be

void in icfclf. Something he let fall of the Par-

liament not being diifolved. My Mailers, for

that you have heard fome of my Lords declare

how, and in what manner, this was an Autho-

rity of Parliament, but it was clearly nothing at

all; this Gentleman goes by virtue of a Power.

from the Lord Fairfax. The next Thing he ur-

ges in point of Law was this, he comes by Way
of Dilemma-, faith he, either I muft obey my
General, or die by the Law of War. He goes

further, and urges the Statute of 1 1 Henry 7.

He
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Compaffing and Imagining the Death of the late

KingCbaiies the Firtt, of Happy Memory. The
Comparing anil Imagining is the Treafonitftlf;

the other Jr/oints, as Convening, Afjembling, Meet'

ing together, and the actual Villany that followed

all thefe, are but as Evidences of that Imagina-

tion. As to this Perfon at the Bar, our Evidence
will be thus ; we (hall make it appear to you that

he was one of the Perfons that were upon the

Guard, and kept the King a Prifoner, that he
might be lure to be brought to that Mock-Court

of Jnjufike. Then it will appear to you that this

Prifoner at the Bar was highly Trufltd by all

thofe Mifcreants that thinted for the King's
Blood, by their Bloody Warrant directed to him
and others, to take the King's Perfon into Cu-

sutt'ing the King to Death. That they did meet llody, and to fee Execution done. This was the

in a Traitorous Aflembly about the King's Death, Perfon that kept him till he brought him to that

j I think, go

He comes further, and faith, in the zfth Ed-

ward 3, that concerns fingle Perfons, truly it

concerns every Man. The Indictment, youfe

how it is laid, it is for Imagining and Comparing

the Death of the King. The Overt-Ads in the

Indictment, you have heard what they are •, there

mull be more than one Witnefi for Tjreafon. It

is very true; butif one Perfon prove one Thing,

another Perfon another; if one fwear he did cry*

Jufiice, Jufiice, Execution, Execution, and another

fwear fome other Part, Gentlemen, this was here

before delivered to you for an Overt- Act. It is

any thing that opens and makes it appear to the

Ju;y that he did do the Things for which he is

Indicted; I fay, any one of thefe, that they did

meet together, and did confult in order to the

I fhall fay no more j you need not

from the Bar.

[The Jury go together , and after a little Confu-

tation among tbemfehes, they returned to their

Places^]

Clerk of the Crown. Gentlemen of the Jury, are

you agreed of your Verdict.

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you?

Jury. Our Foreman.

Clerk. DanicUxtell. Hold up thy Hand. Gen-

tlemen, look upon the Prifoner at the Bar : How
fay you, is he Guilty of High-Treafon whereof as WitnefTes.

he (lands Indi&ed and hath been Arraigned ? Council. Mr. Simpfon, fpeak your Knowledge

Fatal Stage.That this Warrant w.is lately brought
from his own Houfe by his own Wife to the

Houfe of Lords. And then we fhall fhew you
that this Perfon fet his Hand to the Warrant to

the Executioner for Execution. That he did

not do it ign rantly nor unwillingly, for he
heard the Warrant read. We fhall make it ap-

pear that he was upon the Scaffold, and had the

Ax in his Hand.
Council. Crier, call Holland Simpfon, Colonel

lomlinfon, Mr. Nunnelly, Mr. Nutlcy, Hercules

Hunfa, and Beuj. Francis: who were all Sworn

ignec

Or not Guilty?

Foreman. Guilty.

Clerk. Look to him, Keeper. What Goods

and Chattels.

Jury. None to our Knowledge.

of the Employment of the Prifoner, touching

the Trial and Execution of the King.

Flacker. My Lords, I will confefs what I

know in this Cafe, to five your Lordfhips the

Trouble. I confefs I was upon the Guard, and

had a Warrant to keep the King for his Execu-
tion. [The Warrant being fhewn to the Prifoner,

he confejfed that to be the Warrant.
~\

Ciuncil. After you had that Warrant brought
to you, did you by virtue of that direct anotherThe Trial of Colonel Hacker, on

the Fifteenth of Odtober^ 1660, Warrant for Execution of the King? Did you

at the Seffions-Houfe in the Old-

Baily.

Clerk of the Crown. Set Francis Hacker to the

Bar. [Which was done accordingly.
~\

Clerk. Francis Hacker, Hold up thy Hand.

Thefe Men that were lafl called are to pal's up-

not take the King (then Prifoner) from the Cu-
flody of Colonel -lomlinfon?

Hacker. No, Sir.

Council. We fhall prove it ; [the Warrant was
read."] At the High-Court of Jufiice for Trial, &c.

'

My Lord, at the time that this Warant was
Signed, the Perfon of the King was in the Cu-
ll ody of Col. Tomlinfon ; Did not you take and

on you, &c. If you will Challenge all, or any of demand from Col. Tomlinfon the Perfon of the

them, you mult Challenge them when they come
to the Book before they are fworn.

Lord Chief Baron. You may Challenge
3 f pe-

remptorily, but no more.

Hacker. My Lord, I fhall Challenge none.

Tho. Bide, Rob. Sheppard, William Dod, Sir

Tho. Jliein, Sir Hen. Wroth, Tho. Morris, Ralph

Halfal, John Galliard, John Nichol, Tho. Ufman,

Tho. Nicol, Chrifiopher Abdy, in all Twelve. The
Jury Called and Sworn.

Clerk of the Crown. Make Proclamation. If

any Man can inform my Lords the King's Ju-
ftices, fjfr.

Clerk. Francis Flacker, Hold up thy Hand.

King, as foon as you received that Warrant?
Hacker. No, Sir, I demanded him not.

Council. Col. Tomlinfon, tell my Lords the'

manner of that Bufinefs.

Tomlinfon. My Lords and Gentlemen of this

Jury, I (hall, as my Memory enables me, make
a faithful Narrative of this Bufinefs: I had in-1

deed to do with the Guard that had to do with

the Perfon of the King about St. Jameses. Be-

ing then an Officer of the Army, a Colonel of

Horfc, when the King came to St. James's, it

was obferv'd by fome, that there was too great

an Accefs of People admitted to the King; and

within One Day or Two after, there was a Par-

Look upon the Prifoner, you that are Sworn of ty of Halberteers appointed, for the flricter ob

this Jury. You fhall underfland that Francis

Hacker, Prifoner at the Bar, viands Indicted, fjJV.

Mr. Serjeant Keeling. My Lords, and Gentle-

men of this Jury, Francis Flacker, the Prifoner

at the Bar, Hands Indicted, amongfl others, for

ferving the Guard; they were commanded by
Three Gentlemen, of whom this Prifoner at the

Bar was one; the Orders every Day for remov-
ing the Perfon of the King were commonly di-

rected to Four Perfons, and thofe were my Self,

Lc. Col.
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Lt. Col. Cobbet, Capr. Merryman, and one more j

but the Guards that ftill went along were the

Halberteers. So that evey Day when the King

did go to Weflminjler, he went to Sir Robert

Cotton's Houfe, and To far I went with him, and

no farther; I never went with him, nor faw

him, at that pretended High-Court of Juftice.

When he ufed to go to the High-Courc of Ju-

ftice, commonly (every Time indeed) the Ser-

jeant, Serjeant Bendy (as I remember his Name
was,) he ufed to come and demand that the King

fhould go to the High-Court of Juftice, and

Col. Hacker did ordinarily go with him, with the

Halberteers. It was my Cuftom to flay in the

Room till he came back again j thefe Orders

continued during the Time of his Trial. After

the Sentence was given, on the Day whereon

the Execution was to be done, it was ordered,

(which Order may be produced, if fignificant)

chat the Guards that were for the Security of

the Perfon of the King fhould ceafe, when a

Warrant from the High-Court of Juftice fhould

be produced : I would not omit any thing that

I well remember; and this I remember, that the

Night before the Execution, the King called

me into his Chamber, and told me feveral Things

;

I will take the Occafion to trouble you with a

fhort Difcourfe of it : He told me of fome Le-

gacies he had given ; he told me he had prepa-

red fomething that he would fpeak the next Day j

and in the clofe of it he delired me that I would

not leave him ; (for I fpeak it in Truth,) there

were many times feveral Incivilities offered to

himj and tho' I was upon a Duty that was of a

harfh and unpleafing Nature to me, and did de-

fire feveral Times to be releafed from ir, (as I be-

lieve is well known to fome,) yet I did not admit

any Time that any Incivility fliould be offered to

him; People would take Tobacco before him,

and keep their Hats on before him, I always

check'd them for it} he was pleafed to have a

Confederation of that Care that I had in that

Capacity I thenftood. That very Night before

his Death he was pleafed to give me a Legacy,

which was a Gold Tooth-picker and Cafe that

he kept in his Pocket. The next Day, when
the Warrant came, the Guard of Halberteers

went with him through St. James's Parky I was

prefent, walking near the King, the Bifhop of

London, (now of Canterbury) was with him, and

fome others. As we were going through the

Park, he was pleafed to Difcourfe fomething of

what he had been Difcourfing before, touching

his Burial ; he wifhed that the Duke of Rich-

mond, and fome others that he fhould bring,

fhould take Care of it. That Morning, in the

Park, he told me he had been thinking of what
he had faid the Night before. He told me he

had fome Thoughts that his Son might come to

Bury him, and defired he might not fuddenly be

Buried } I gave him Affurance 1 would commu-
nicate his Defire, and fo I did : When he came
to White-Hall, he went into a Room in the Gal-

lery, (I know not the Name,) the Guard ftood

in the outer Room there. There was a Gentle-

man that came to me there, and told mc he was
endeavouring to prefent a Letter from the Prince

to the King, and told me he could not get an

Opportunicyj I fiid he fliould not want an Op-
portunity, if I could help him } it was Mr. Hen-

ry Seymour; it was delivered, and the King read

it, and he gave feveral Things in. Charge to

Mr. Seyfhour, to acquaint the Prince with, and was
pleafed to mention to him fomething of Civility

that I had fhewn him in his Imprifonment } the
Effecl: and Fruit of it I find, and do moft hum-
bly acknowledge before all the World my Thanks
to his moft Gracious Majefty the King, and to
the Lords and Commons. After Mr. Seymour
was gone from him, (I do not well remember
the Time, whether it was Twelve, One, or
Two a-Clock,) Col. Hacker came in, and there
was prefent with him the Two other Gentlemen
that were named in the Warrant, (as I remem-
ber,) I am fure Col. Hacker (if my Memory fail

me not) did produce the Warrant. Myfelf^ and
thofe Gentlemen that were concerned in the for-

mer Orders, looked upon this Warrant, bv
which the Orders which we had were at an
End. I muft confefs I did not, nor none of thofe
did tell him, that the Orders for Security of his

Perfon were at an End} but Col. Hacker did go
in to him, and after a little while Col. Hacker
comes to the Door, and the King was coming
forth, and he told me that the King defired i

fhould go along with him ; and indeed the Night
before, when the King told me that he had pre-
pared fomething to fpeak, he defired I would not
leave him. So Col. Hacker led him forth, the
Bifhop of London followed him, and I followed
the Bifhop of London ; the Guards were prepa-
red without, and they went on to the Scaffold 5

when we came to the Scaffold, I went fo far as

to the Entrance upon it} the King was upon it,

and had looked a little while about it, and was
thinking to have fpoken over, but he turned a-

bout to me, and began to direct his Speech to
me. I cannot trouble you with what the King
faid, for I cannot remember it} but that Colo-
nel Hacker was there in Profecutionof that War-
rant, and upon that Warrant our Orders were at

an End, I do averr.

Council. You delivered him upon that War-
rant, did you ?

Tomlinfon. He went and received the King up-
on that Warrant ; it was a Chamber that was
known then by the Name of the Horn-Chamber,
and there the King was in the inner Room ; this

is the Subftance of all.

Council. We will trouble you with One or Two
WitnefTes more.

Council. Mr. Tomlinfon, did Mr. Hacker, or his

Soldiers, take Tobacco to the Offence of the
King?

Tomlinfon. I do not fay that any Tobacco was
taken there by Mr. Hacker; but the Soldiers

would be ftepping in, and take Tobacco at his

Chamber in St. James's, and committed other In-

civilities.

Council. We have proved that the Prifoner did

demand, and had the Perfon of the King: Now
we will prove to you that himfelf had the Bold-

nefs to make a Warrant in pui fuance of the for-

mer, for the Execution of the King.

Council. Crier, call Mr. Huncks. \_He being Sivofiij

faid.~\

Huncks. My Lords, and Gentlemen of theJu-
ry, that Day the King died, a little before the

Hour he died, I was in Iretons Chamber, where
lreton and Harrifon were in Bed together, there

was Cromivell, Col. Hacker, Lieut. Col. Phayre3
Axtell, and myfelf, ftanding at the Door} this

Warrant for the Execution was there produced*

and you {looking upon Mr. Hacker at the Barf\
were
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were reading of it, but Cromwell, addrefled him-

felf to me, commanding me, by Virtue of that

Warrant, to draw up an Order for the Execu-

tioner ; I refufed it, and upon refufing of it there

hapned fome crofs Pafiages. Cromwell would have

no Delay. There was a little Table that flood

by the Door, and Pen, Ink, and Paper being

there, Cromwell ftepped and writ, (1 conceive he

wrote that which he would have had me to

write :) As foon as he had done writing, he gives

the Pen over to Hacker ; Hacker, he itoops and

did write, (I cannot fay what he writ,) away

goes Cromwell, and then Axtell ; we all went

out ; afterwards they went into another Room.
Council. What followed?

Hunch. Immediately the King came out, and

was Murder'd.

Mr. Secretary Morrice. Mr. Hunch, you did

tell us in the Tower, (when we were fent by His

Majefty's Council to examine you, and others

there,) that Colonel Hacker did then Sign that

Warrant for nominating and appointing the

Execution.

Hunch. My Lord, Cromwell comes to me,

and bids me write a Warrant for that Purpofe ;

I refufing of it, Cromwell writes himfelf, and

Hacker writing on the fame Paper, what ihould

I conceive but that it was the Warrant ? (the

King prefently after coming to the Scaffold.)

Council. Did Cromwell give you no bad Names
becaufe you would not write that Order ? Did

not he fay you were a Coward ?

Hunch. He faid I was a froward peevifh Fel-

low.

Council. Did Hacker only write his Name, or

give Directions in the drawing up of the Order?

Hunch. I conceive he only writ his Name.
Council. My Lord, we have only that Eye-

witnefs.

Hunch. Hacker confefled to the Gentleman

Jaylor of the Tower, that if he did do it he did

it by Order.

* Mr. Secretary Morrice and the L. Anfley

Sworn.

Council. Mr. Secretary, we defire you would
be pleafed to tell my Lords what Colonel Hacker

the Pdfoner at the Bar did confefs to you, and

others touching this Bufinefs.

Mr. Secretary. When Colonel Hunch (for that

Title he nowafluraes,) was brought over out of

Ireland, and committed to the Tower of London,

there was Three of the Council, by Order of the

Board, fent to examine him, Sir Anthony Ajhly-

Cooper, Mr. Anncjly, and myfelf : In Obedience
to that Order we repaired to the Tower, and had

Col. Hunch brought before us ; we told him,

that he (being one of thofe which were appointed

by Warrant from theSuppofititious High-Court
of Jufticeto carry on the Execution of the King,

and fee it done,) muft needs know who was the

Executioner: Whereunto he anfwered, that he,

for his Part, did not know who was the Execu-
tioner, for the Warrant whereby the Executioner

was nominated and appointed was refufed to be

figned by him, but Colonel Hacker figned it, and

therefore Colonel Hacker muft know it. Ac-
cordingly upon our Return we made our Report

to the Board, and upon this there was an Order

that Col. Hacker ihould be fent for, taken into
Cuftody, and brought before the Lords of the
Council : Accordingly he was apprehended, and
the fame Three Councellors were fent down to
examine him. We took him into a private
Room, and examined him, and told him, (a-

mongft other Things,) that he being the Man
that (as we are informed,) did Sign the Warrant
for the nominating and appointing the Execu-
tioner, doubtlefs he muft needs know who that
was ; at firft he faid he did not Sign this War-
rant : I told him I would have him well advifed
what he faid ; for if you deny it, it will be proved
by fuch a Man, naming Colonel Hunch, and
that you will do yourfelr a great Prejudice if you
deny that; faith he, / do believe I did Sign the
Warrant for appointing the Executioner; this is all

I can fay.

Lord Annejly. Gentlemen of the Jury, it is

very true as you have been told abeady, that I

was amongft thofe that the Council fent to the
Tower of London, tirft to examine Colonel Hunch,
and Mr. Cook, that hath been condemned, Hulet,
and fome other Pnfoners. We did examine Co-
lonel Hunch, and he did by his Examination ac-
quit himfelf from Signing that Warrant that he
was charged with, being one of the Three ap-
pointed to fee Execution done ; but they ap-
pointed another to Sign the. Warrant, (Colonel
Hunch refufing,) and upon his refufing, (as he
faid,) Cromwell, that urged him to it, faid he
was a cowardly fellow, or fomething to that
Purpofe : When we examined him about the
Perfon in the Frock, he faid he knew nothing of
that, but that Colonel Hacker Signed that War-
rant for Execution > this Examination being re-

ported to the Council, the Lords fent for Hacker.
I think upon Notice Colonel Hacker came ; he
had been of the Army, and continued till that
Time an Officer. When he came thither, the
Lords of the Council having Notice of it, com-
manded the fame Perfons formerly appoimed to
go out and examine him ; we had him into a

little Room belonging to the Clerks of the
Council, and examined him to that Point con-
cerning the Man that cut off the King's Head,
whether he knew any Thing of it? He did affirm

poiltively he did not know ; we told him that

he was the Man by Teftimony that Signed a

Warrant for Execution of the King, and then

certainly he muft know the Perfon that he ap-

pointed by his Warrant j he faid, if I did Sign
any Warrant it was by command of the Ge-
neral; that being but Hypothetical, we thought
it meet to make it more pofitive, whereupon we
asked him whether he was the Man that Signed
the Warrant, Or no ? Thereupon, (as I remem-
ber, and as the Examination, which was all

written with mine own Hand, doth help my
Memory,) he did fay he did believe he did Sign

fuch a Warrant ; thereupon he was asked further,

how could it be poffible that he could forgec

the Man, if he Signed the Warrant ; he knew
who the Man was that was appointed ; he faid

for that, that he did believe the Warrant was
read to him, and that therein the Man's Name
might be, but he could not now remember his

Name; this was the Effect of his Examination
and Confeftion.

* The/e were loth CommiJJioners, yet came off from the Bench to give Evidence, but did not go up to the Bench again during

that Trial. Kelyng 1 z.

Council.



i66o. O.B. one of the Regicides.

Council. Mr. Francis, did you fee Colonel

Hacker, at the Time of the Execution, upon the

Scaffold ?

Francis. Yes, I did fee him as a Principal Com-
mander there •, I was coming out of Weftminfter

into London, about half an Hour bef >re the King

came upon the Scaffold 3 coming near the Scaf-

fold, as foon as I was engaged in the Throng,

(when I had paffed about Eight or Ten Yards,)

I could not pafs backward nor forward 3 I was

inforced to ftand there: During that Time I

faw the Scaffold, and the Ax, and the Block

taken up by divers People; and principally I faw

a Man that is not here, he is in Cuftody, I faw

him take it up, and try it with his Thumb, and

lay it downj this was James Berry, he came off,

and came not upon the Scaffold again, unlefs

difguifed.

Council. Did you fee Hacker there ? Did you

fee him upon the Scaffold when the King came

on ?

Francis. I did fee him, he was there } His Ma-

jefty came to the Side of the Scaffold next to

St. James's j he looked that Way and fmiled ;

after a while the Block and Ax lying down about

the middle of the Scaffold, there was a Black

Cloth hung about the Rails of the Scaff >ld.

Council. We have another Evidence, the Pri-

foncr hath confeffed enough} but we have

proved that he had the King in Cuftody; he

confeffed that he believed he did Sign the War-

rant, and that he at the Time of Execution was

there to manage it. What do you fay for your

felf?

Hacker. Truly, my Lord, I have no more to fay

for myfelf, hut that I was a Soldier, and under Com-

mand, and what I did was by that Commiffion you

have read.

Lord Chief Baron. Can you deny any Thing
that Mr. Secretary and Mr. Annejley have de-

clared ?

Hacker. 1 cannot tell what 1 might then fay, the

Gentlemen were very ftrid with me; truly I have

Veen no Counfellor, no Advifer, nor Abettor of it,

but in Obedience to the Command over me I did acl.

My Defire hath been ever for the Welfare of my
Country, and that Civil Power might ftand.

Lord Chief Baron. Have you yet refolved who
you gave the Warrant for Execution to ?

Hacker. No, my Lord, I delivered none.

Lord Chief Baron. But you know who it was
directed to ?

Hacker. No indeed, my Lord ; be pleased to ask

Col. Huncks whether 1 read this Warrant or no.

Lord Chief Baron. This is all you have to fay

for yourfelf?

Hacker. Tes, my Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. Then, Col Hacker, for that

which you fay for yourfelf, that you did ic by
Command, you muft underftand that no Power
on Earth could Authorize fuch a Thing, no
Command in fuch a Cafe can excufeyou. There
is a Twofold Obedience, a Paffive-Obedience,

tofuffer rather than do Things unlawful ; and an
Active Obedience, to do that only which is

lawful ; and therefore this will not excufe your
Obedience to thofe unlawful Commands.——
Gentlemen of the Jury, you fee the Prifoner at

the Bar (lands Indicted for Compaffing and Imagin-
ing the Death of the late King ; and there are
feveral open Acts fet forth in the Indictment,
which tend to prove that Matter; one is Affem-
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bling and Meeting together, another is Sitting

upon the King, another Sentencing, and at lalt

concludes with the Murder of the King, as

the Confequence of all. Any Thing that tends

to the proving of this Compaffing and Imagining
his Death in any one of thefe Particulars, that is

an Evidence co you to prove the whole Indict-

ment. This Gentleman was Commander of
Halberteers ; Col. Tomlinfon faith, that though
he kept the Guards that were about the King's
Perfon, this Gentleman, with Two other Per-
fons, brought Halberteers, that there might not
be fuch frequent Accefs as formerly to the King ;

there is one Act. He commands thefe Halber-
teers at that Time, when the Bufinefs was in

Agitation, before that High-Court, as they called

it. You fee after the Sentence was given that

he was one of the Perlons to whom the War-
rant for Execution was directed ; you fee after-

wards there was a confulting together, Cromwell,

Ireton, Harrifon, and Axtell, were in the Cham-
ber, when Col. Huncks refufed to Sign; the Pri-

foner figned the Warrant, but knows not the

Perfon to whom it was directed : You fee be-

fides Col. Tomlinfon's Teflimony, who faith fur-

ther, that when they were difcharged, Col.
Hacker went in, and the King was brought out
prefently after to that Fatal Place. Col. Huncks
Swears that when the Warrant was offered to

him he refufed it; that Hacker, the Prifoner at

the Bar, figned a Warrant, though he doth not
remember the Name of the Perfon to whom;
it appears by Two Witneffes (honourable Perfons)

he confeffed he figned it, but he did not know
the Perfon to whom directed. You fee another
Witnefs, Benjamin Francis, he fiith he faw
Hacker upon the Scaffold with the King.
He doth not deny the Fact ; you n< ed go no

further, it is very plain he had a Hand in this

Bufinefs, a principal Agent in it ; he that brought
the King to the Scaffold, he that had the Care
in managing that Bufinefs, he that figned the

Warrant to the Executioner, either he is Guilty
of Compaffing the Death of the King, or no
Man can be laid to be Guilty.

The Jury went together, and after fome little

Confultation returned' to their Places.

Clerk of the Crown. Gentlemen of the Jury,
arc you agreed on your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you?

Jury. Our Foreman.

Clerk. Francis Hacker, Hold up thy Hand.
Gentlemen, look upon the Prifoner at the Bar,

how fay you, is he Guilty of the High-Treafon,
whereof he ftands Indicted, and hath been Ar-
raigned? Or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Clerk. Look to him, Keeper.

jClerk. What Goods and Chattels, &c.
Jury. None that we know of.

The Trial ofWilliam Hulet, on

the Fifteenth of October, 1660, at

theSefTions Houfe in the Old-Baily.

Clerk of the Crown. Set William Hulet to the

Bar, [who was brought accordingly.] William
" D d d Hulet,
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Hulet, alias Houlet, Hold up thy Hand. Thofe

Perfons that were laft called of the Jury are to

pafs, Z3c. if you will Challenge them, or any of

them, you muft Challenge them when they come

to the Book before they be Sworn.

Lord Chief Baron. Underftand you have Power

to Challenge Five and Thirty Men, and not

above j you may Challenge them without Caufe

(hewn. If you have Caufe for any other you

may Challenge them alfo. If you will have Pen,

Ink, and Paper, you may have them.

Hulet. Truly, my Lord, I cannot write but a very

little ; I Jhall not 'need them. J did not underfiand

my Indiclment well, I defire to hear it again.

Lord Chief Baron. You will hear it read again.

Clerk. Six Thomas Allen, Six Henry Wroth, Tho.

Bide, Robert Sheppard, Thomas Morris, Ralph

Haifa!, John GaUyard, John Nichol, Thomas Uf-

man, Chriflopher Abdy, William Dod, in all

Twelve, Jury Called and Sworn.

Clerk of the Crown. William Hulet , alias Houlet,

Hold up thy Hand. You Gentlemen that are

Sworn, look upon the Prifoner.

Clerk. You (hall underftand that he Hands In-

dicted of High- Treafon, by the Name of Wil-

liam Hulet, alias Houlet, late of Weftminjler in

the County of Middlefex, Gent, for that he as a

falfe Traitor, &c. [here the Indiclment was read,]

unto which Indiclment he hath pleaded Not
Guilty, and for his Trial hath put himfelf upon
God and the Country, which Country you are

:

Now your Charge is to enquire, &c.

Sir Edward Turner. May it pleafe your Lord-
fhips, and you Gentlemen that are Sworn of this

Jury, we are now entering upon the laft Aft in

this fad Tragedy of the Murder of the late

King ; there have been before you fome of the

Judges, the Council, the Chaplain, and the

Guard } this Prifoner at the Bar, in the laft

Place, was one of thofe, which came with a

Frock on his Body, and a Vizor on his Face, to

do the Work. The Courfe of our Evidence

will be this j Firft, we fliall prove by Witneffes

that faw him, and knew him, that he was thus

difguifed j he hath confeft that he was upon the

Scaffold, that he hath had feveral Preferments ;

and I fear it will appear, that it was he, that

gave that Fatal Blowj for he hath confeffed he
had an Hundred Pounds given him for, his Ser-

vice therein j and we doubt not but to pluck

off his Vizor by and by. The Indiclment is for

Compaffing and Imagining the Death of his late

Majefty of Glorious Memory } if we prove to

you any Circumftantial Overt-del whereby you
ihall be convinced of this, you are to find him
Guilty.

Richard Gittens Sworn.
Council. Mr. Gittens, tell my Lord and the

Jury what you know concerning the Prifoner at

the Bar.

Gittens. The Thing is this, my Lord, this

Gentleman at the Bar and myfelf were both in a

Regiment in One Company as Serjeants about

Twelve or Thirteen Years together. About a

Day or Two before the King came to the Scaf-

fold, Colonel Hewfon did give notice to a Lieu-

tenant that we mould come to him, about 38 of

us, and he put us all to our Oaths, that we
fhould fay nothing of what they did j he Swore
us to the Book; after he had Sworn us, he asked

us if we would undertake to do fuch an A£tj

if we would we mould have an Hundred Pounds

down, and Preferment in the Army as long as

that flood, and the Parliament. Afterwards we
refufed every Perfon, we thought Captain Hulet
did refufe •, after all refufed, it feems he did un-
dertake to do the Deed. When the King was
brought on the Scaffold, we were in Scotland-

yard, and they were upon the Guard in the Ban-
queting-Chamber ; when they were there I laid

down my Arms, and got into the Company;
Captain Webb kept the Guard, with his Halberc
in his Hand, by the Scaffold, and 1 did buftle to

come near to them ; then I returned back.
Hulet (as far as I can guefs) when the King came
on the Scaffold for his Execution, and faid, Exe-
cutioner, is the Block fafi? Then he fell upon his

Knees.

Council. Who did?

Gettins. Hulet, to ask him forgivenefs; by his

Speech I thought it was he; Captain Atkins
faid, who would not undertake to do this Faft;

I told him I would not do it for all the City of
London; no, nor I neither for all the World,
faith Atkins ; you fhall fee Hulet quickly come
to Preferment ; and prefently after he was made
Caprain-Licutenant.

Council. Was he with his Regiment that Day?
Gittens. We could not fee him with the Re-

giment all that Day ; he was never abfent at any
Time before.

Council. Did you know his Voice?
Gittens Yes, Sir.

Council. Did you mark the Proportion of his

Body, or his Habit, what Difguife he was in?

Gittens. He had a Pair of Freeze Trunk
Breeches, and a Vizor, with a Gray Beard -, and

|

after that Time Colonel Hewfon called him Father

Gray-beard, and moft of the Army befides, he
cannot deny it.

Hulet. / defire as to this Witnefs ; he doth al-

ledge that he and I were Serjeants in One Company,
which I deny ; he was not in that Company I was
in ; I defire to know of him how he comes to know
that I was there at that Time.

Gittens. By your Voice.

Hulet. / will Swear that this Man was with the

Regiment under the Scaffold-, where were you at that

Time when the Act was done ? i

Gittens. Where was I ? By Captain Webb.
Hulet. Where was he ?

Gittens. At the Door of the Banqueting- houfe.

Hulet. Was you on the Scaffold, or no, Sir ?

Gittens. I was on the Scaffold End.
Hulet. My Lord, I defire you to confider what

this Perfon faith, that he was upon the Guard in 1

Scotland- yard, and at the Scaffold with Captain 1

Webb. My Lord, I defire again, whereas he faid I

/ had a Gray Beard, let any Man befides himfelf 1

fay that ever I was called by that Name Gray-beard,
\

throughout the Regiment.

Stammers Sworn.

Council. What have you to fay concerning the

Prifoner at the Bar.

Stammers. He was a Captain-Lieutenant to

Colonel Hewfon's Troop j when I had entered

myfelf into that Troop I was a while in Dublin,

and I was commanded by the Prifoner at the

Bar, I and the reft, to march to a Place called

Lutterels-Town, about f Mdes beyond Dublin

;

the frifoner at the Bar came thither to us Two
Days afterj then being in his Chamber he feitt

for me up} I went up and fat down; he exa-

mined where I had ferved : I told him I did for-

merly
,
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merly belong to the Lord of Inchiqueen ; he asked

me if I was ever in the King's Army ? With

that he walks about the Room Two or Three

Turns ; faith he, I was the Man that Beheaded

King Charles, and for doing it I had an Hundred

Pounds, faying, I was a Serjeant at that Time.

Hulet. Idefire to ask him a Quefiion j / confefs—
(what is your Name ?)

Council. Stammers, his Name is Stammers.

Hulet. Such a one was under my Command: I

think I have not feen you thefe Eight Tears : I de-

fire to know when theje Words werefpoken, and the

Place.

Stammers. I fay in Lutterels Town, in your

own Chamber, and that was Nine or Ten Years

ago.

Hulet. It is about Eight Tears ago fince I left

that Command : Who was by at that 'Time ?

Stammers. No body.

Hulet. 'Its ftrange : How long had you been in

the Troop before ?

Stammers. I was in Dublin about a Fortnight's

time, then you fent for me, and I came to Lut-

terels Town j the firft Time that I came to the

Troop was at Dublin, and then you came to me
with Two Orders from Hewfon, and then you

did pretend you was Brother to one Mr. Cham-

bers, and then we went and quartered in Lutterels

Town.
Hulet. My Lord, his Examination in Ireland

and this doth not agree ; you did deny this before

Baldwin a Trooper; I defire his Examination may

he read, (which was accordingly read, and agreed

with the Teftimony now given.) / defire he may

mention what Man that was, that Ifent for him.

Stammers. I cannot tell what Man.
Hulet. My Lord, I defire that Servant may be

either named or produced.

Stammers. I cannot remember the Man, it

was Seven Years ago.

Hulet. Then again upon another Account, as he

fpeaks before, that Ifijould examine him where he

had been, and that hejhould fay at the Lord Inchi-

queen's.

Captain Toogood Sworn.

Toogood. I fhall firft give your Lordfhips and

the Jury what I have heard others fay concern-

ing the Prifoner at the Bar, and that is firft Co-
lonel Hewfon; I was in the Year i6fO, about

September, in Dublin Caftle, about fome Bufinefs

with Hewfon; Captain Hulet, the Prifoner at

the Bar, came into the Room, he talked with
Col. Hewfon a little while j I obferved them very

familiar, and I asked Hewfon what he was, he

told me he was his Captain-Lieutenant of Horfe;
I defired to know where he had him ? he told

me he made him fo from a Serjeant, and a very

Mettled Fellow he was , it was he that did the

King's Bufinefs for him upon the Scaffold. In

the Year 165*3, tnere was a Disbanding of the

Army in Ireland; this Gentleman was then con-

tinued Captain-Lieutenant in Pretty's Regiment

:

I difcourfed with Pretty concerning him, and one
Part of it, I remember, was about the King's
Death ; and he did tell me that he was allured

by Colonel Hewfon, that Hulet either cut off the

King's Head, or held it up, and faid, Behold the

Head of a Traitor; Col. Pretty would not tell

me which of the Two it was; but I faw the

Perfon that did it, and methought he did refem-

ble this Perfon. About 12, Months after I came

to live near the Prifoner in Ireland; once I re-

member at one Mr. Smith's at the White-horfe in

Carlow I met him there, and I was asking the

Prifoner at the Bar the Queftion, Whether he
was the Man that cut off the King's Head, or
not ? Saith he, Why do you ask me this Que-
ftion ? I told him I had heard fo by feveral,

namely, by Hewfon and Pretty; upon that he
faid, well, What I did I will not be afloamed of;

if it were to do again, 1 would do it. Once fince

that Time, about half a Year afterwards, I was
in the fame Place, and there talking with him.

about the King's Death} he was telling me ic

was true, he was one of the Two Perfons, thac

were difguifed upon the Scaffold. I defired to

know what if the King had refufed to fubmit to

the Block? Saith he, there were Staples placed

about the Scaffold, and I had that about me thac

would have compelled him} or Words to thac
Effect} other Times I have heard him fpealc

fomething to this. November the laft, in the
Queen's County at Maryborough, Col. Jones took
upon him to be Governour, and to chufe Two
out of a Regiment that might be the Rulers of
the People, Legiflators I think they call'd them }

I did Difcourfe about the Bufinefs again, and did

oppofe it all : After a while he began to be very
hot in the Bufinefs about Lambert: Said I, you
were heretofore too forward ; fays he, if it be
the Bufinefs of the King's Head I will never
deny it, call me to an Account when you will

:

I have obferved in Ireland, that it hath been ge-
nerally reported that he was either the Man thac

cut off the King's Head, or thac held it up, as

I faid before, and I have heard them fometimes
call him Grandfire Grey-beard.

Hulet. My Lord, I do confefs I know the Gen-

tleman very well, we were in a Regiment together }

/ never difcourfed with any concerning this, but only

once at a Place going from Cullen to Munfterw did

drink at a Place called Goran, we *were difcourfing

about the Bufinefs of the King, the Juflification of
the cutting off his Head; faith Stammers, / did

hear that you were one of the Perfons for that pur-

poje, faid I, they that fay fo, do me Wrong: Saith

he, it is no Matter if you were fo, for it was a Juft
Act : Said I, whether it was or no I have nothing

to do to Juftifie it ; he was fpeaking. as I hope to be

faved, 'I would have done it.

Walter Davis Sworn.

Council. What can you fay, Mr. Davis, to

this Bufinefs ?

Davis. Gentlemen, that which I can fay is

this 5 in January laft was Two Years I was ac

Dublin, I met Captain Hulet, he invited me to

take Share of a Pint of Wine, I went with him
to a Tavern } when we were in the Tavern he

called for a Pint of Wine, and I call'd for ano-
ther } before we had Drank the laft Pint of

Wine, faid I to Captain Hulet, I pray refolve

me this one Queftion } it is reported that you
took up the King's Head, and faid, Behold the

Head of a Traitor; Sir, faid he, it was a Que-
ftion 1 never refolved any Man, though often

demanded ; yet, faith he, whofoever faid it then

it matters not, 1 fay it now, it was the Head of

a Traitor.

Hulet. Iconfefs we did meet together^ as youfay,

but I mufi and do deny the Words.

Lieutenant- Colonel Nelfon Sworn.

Nelfon. My Lords, and Gentlemen of theJury,

upon a Difcourfe with Colonel Axtell, as I re-

D d d 4 lated
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lated once this Day, about Six Years fince, in

many other Difcourfes we fell to difcourfe about

the Death of the late King ; I fuppofmg he had

been acquainted with that Affair, I defired him

to tell me thofe Two Perfons difguifed upon the

Scaffold j he told me I knew the Perfons as well

ashimfelf* faith he, they have been upon Ser-

vice with you many a Time j pray, Sir, fa id I,

let me know their Names* truly, faid he, we

would not employ Perfons of low Spirits that we

did not know, and therefore we pitch'd upon Two
flout Fellows; who were thofe, faid I? It was

Walker and Hulet, they were both Serjeants in

Kent when you were there, and ftout Men ; who
gave the Blow, faid I ? Saith he, poor Walker,

and Hulet took up the Head •, pray, faid I, what

Reward had they? I am not certain whether

they had Thirty Pounds apiece, or Thirty Pounds

between them.

Hulet. Pray let Mr. Axtell /peak to this, he is

hard by.

Colonel tomlin/on Sworn.

Council. Pray tell my Lords your Knowledge

in this Bufinefs.

tomlin/on. My Lords, and Gentlemen of this

Jury, I cannot punctually remember what their

Habits were ; they had clofe Garments to their

Bodies, they had Hair on their Faces, one was

Gray to the beft of my Remembrance, the other

was Flaxen.

Council. Can you tell who flruck the Blow ?

tomlin/on.. My Lord, I cannot remember, but

I think he with the Gray Hair on his Face did

it.

Nel/on. My Lord, I will not pofitively fay> it,

but it came lately to my Mind, that I did hear

in Ireland by Colonel Pretty that Hulet did it ;

my Lord, this Colonel Pretty is alive in Ireland.

Benjamin Francis Sworn.

Francis. My Lords, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, as to the Prifoner at the Bar, he was very

Active in that horrid A£t ; there was Two of

them had both Cloaths alike, their Frocks were

clofe to their Bodies, (as I remember,) they

were rather in Butchers Habits of Woolen ; one

had a Black Hat on his Head cock'd up, and a

Black Beard, and the other had a Gray grilled

Perriwig hung down very low; I affirm that he

that cut off the King's Head was in the Gray
Perriwig, and I believe this was about that

Man's Stature, {pointing to Mr. Hulet,) and his

Beard was of the fame Colour, if he had any. I

was coming from Weftminfter, the Scaffold was
encompaffed within with a great Guard of Sol-

diers of Redcoats, I think commanded by Bi/coe.

Hulet. Was you upon the Scaffold?

Francis. No, Sir, there was none of my Con-
ftitution upon the Scaffold.

Council. Fuller Evidence I think cannot be ex-

petted} you have heard all the Witneffes j what
can you fay for yourfelf ?

Hulet. My Lord, here are /everal Witne/fes ex-

amined concerning the Bu/ine/s, and/or my Part I do

not under/and the Law ; I mufl leave it to the Court.

I can upon the other Account prove where I was at

that very 'time ; / can in the next place, my Lord,

fince I came into London, /or I did not hear it be-

fore t 1 can tellyou who was the Per/on, that did that

Act; I can bring Forty and Forty Witne/fes that

ivill prove, who they were that did it, as I have

1 2 Car. IL

been informed by feveral Witne/fes, that they know
who was the Perfon that did it : Upon the other Ac-

count, I can prove where I was that Day, but I did

not know, when I was Arraigned, what was laid to

my Charge ; here werefeme Examinations taken be-

/ore my Lord Mayor concerning the Perfon or Per-

/ons, that did that AtJ. \Here he offered a Paper,

a Copy of the faid Examinations, Sub/cribed Mary
Brandon, and divers others^]

Mr. Secretary Morrice. Was you not examined

in the tower ?

Hulet. Tes, Sir.

Mr. Secretary Morrice. Did not we tell you
that you were charged v/ith cutting off the Head
of the King ?

Hulet. Tes, Sir, you did tell me /o.

Lord Chie/ Baron. Then you had time to pro-

vide your Witneffes.

Hulet. / was a clofe Pri/oner.

Lord Chief Baron. Where were you on the Day
of Execution ?

Hulet. I was a Pri/oner then at Whitehall.
Lord Chie/ Baron. For what?
Hulet. Upon this Account we were taken up, a-

bout Seven or Nine o/ us were taken up, we were all

Serjeants, three o/ Colonel Hacker'*, the reft of

Pride'* and Fairfax'*, and about ten of Clock at

Night were di/charged.

Lord Chie/ Baron. For what was you Impri-

foned ?

Hulet. For re/ufing to be upon the Scaffold.

Burden. It was a Common Speech among the

Soldiers, that Hulet cut off the King's Head.
Lord Chie/ Baron. How long before did you

fee Hulet upon the Guard ?

Burden. The Day before, but not that Day,
nor the Day after.

Lord Chie/ Baron. William Hulet, the Evidence
againft you is Twofold, one concerning the

cutting off the King's Head, the other that you
were in a Frock, if it be proved that you did

not cut off the King's Head, yet if you were
in a Frock in that Place, it will not excufe you ;

if you have any Thing to fay I will be glad to

hear it.

Hulet. I defere the Perfons may be examined up-

on Oath, Pri/oners and others, who was the Per/on

that did it; I mean Hacker, Huncks and Pha.y re..

Lord Chief Baron. You that are the Prifoner,

for that which concerns Hacker and Phayre, you

know what Conditions they are in, one already

tried for his Life, the other a Prifoner in the

tower; and Hacker faith himfelf he doth not

know the Perfon at all ; you that are Prifoner at

the Bar, the Court conceives you have had Time
to get your Witneffes here ; you were informed

of the Bufinefs before you came here, yet not-

withftanding, it is conceived there are fome here

that can fay fomething tending to the Informa-

tion of the Jury, but they are not to be admit-

ted upon Oath againft the King.

Sheriffs Officer Examined.

Sheriffs Officer. My Lord, all that I can fay in.

this Bufinefs is this 5, one of our Fellows that

belong to our Mafter, the Sheriff, John Rooten

by Name, he and I were talking about this very

Story, and he did acquaint me with this, That

he was in Ro/emary Lane, a little after the Exe-

cution of the King, drinking with the Hang-
man, that he did urge him whether he did this

Fa6t : God forgive me, faith the Hangman I

did
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did it, and I had Forty Half-crowns for my
Pains.

Abraham Smith Examined.

Smith. My Lord, affoon as that Fatal Blow

was given I was walking about Whitehall, down

came a File of Musketeers 5 the firft Word they

faid was this, Where be the Bargemen ? An-

fwer was made, Here are none 5 away they di-

rected the Hangman into my Boat ; going into

the Boat he give one of the Soldiers a Half-

crown ; faid the Soldiers, Watermen, away

with him, be gone quickly ; but I fearing this

Hangman had cut off the King's Head, I trem-

bled that he mould come into my Boar, but da-

red not to examine him on Shore for fear of the

Soldiers ; foout I lanched, and having got a lit-

tle way in the Water, faid I, who the Devil

have I got in>my Boat? Says my Fellow, fays he,

why ? I directed my Speech to him, faying, Are

you the Hangman that cut off the King's Head ?

No, as I am a Sinner to God, faith he, not I j

he {hook every Joint of him j I knew not what

to do > I rowed away a little further, and fell to

a New Examination of him, when I had got him

a little further : Tell me true, faid i, are you the

Hangman that hath cut off the King's Head ? I

cannot carry you, faid I j No, faith he, I was

fetched with a Troop of Horfe, and I was kept

a clofe Prifoner at Whitehall, and truly I did not

do it ; I was kept a clofe Prifoner all the while,

but they had my Inftruments, I faid I would

fink the Boat if he would not tell me true ; but

he denied it with feveral Proteftations.

William Cox Examined.

Cox. When my Lord Capell, Duke Hamilton,

and the Earl of Holland, were Beheaded in Pa-

lace-yard in JVefiminfter, my Lord Capell asked

the Common Hangman, faid he, Did you cut off

my Mailer's Head ? Yes, faith he. W here is the

Inftrument that did it ? He* then brought the

Ax, Is this the fame Ax, are you fure? faid my
Lord. Yes, my Lord, faith the Hangman, I

am very fure it is the fame. My Lord Capell took

the Ax, and killed it, and gave him Five Pieces

of Gold. I heard him fay, Sirrah, wtrt thou

not afraid ? Saith the Hangman, they made me

Cut it off, and I had Thirty Pound for my Pains.

Richard Abell Examined.'

Abell My Lord, in the Houfe ofone Mr. Bram-

fion I did hear Gregory himfelf confefs that he

cut off the King's Head.
Lord Chief Baron. You that are the Prifoner at

the Bar, the Court is willing to give all full

Scope, as far as may be, to examine the Truth

of the Fact j as they would not condemn the In-

nocent, fo they would not acquit the Gudty:
Do you defire further Time to examine the

Truth of it, before it be put upon the Jury ?

Hulet. I do confefs I do not underftand the Laws,

I defire a little further time ; I defire the Jury may

be withdrawn ; / defire a Fortnights Time, butfub-

mit to the Court.

A Stranger Examined.

Stranger. My Lord, I was with my Matter in

the Company of Brandon the Hangman, and my
Matter asked Brandon whether he cut off the

King's Head, or no ? He confeffed in my Pre-
fence that he was the Man that did cut off the

King's Head.

<9

Lord Chief Baron. You that are the Prifoner

at the Bar, the Court was willing to give you as

much Time as they could by Law ; the Jury
hath been charged, and Evidence given $ ali

thofe Witneffes have been Examined that we
could hear of now fdr your Advantage ; I will

fay fomethingtoyou. It was here faid, and given
in Evidence, that Axtell did fend a Boat to fetch

the Common Hangman : If we knew more that

might tend to your A-dvantage it mould be re-

peated. You Gentlemen of the Jury, mark it 3

There is firft Gittens, he fvvears that he was in

the fame Regiment that you were in 12 or 15
Years together j he faith that he and others were
called together upon their Oaths, and you a-

mongft the reft j and there was an Oath of Se-

crecy, asking them if they would do fuch an.

Actj they all refufed to do it, fo did you j but
he faid, the Day of Execution of the King this

Gittens got among them, and one Captain Webb
kept the Door, and he faw you fall before the
King, and ask the King Forgivenefs 5 he faid he
heard your Voice, and fo knew you j and that

the Day after Captain Atkins faid, you fhali fee

Hulet fhortly come to Preferment j and he faith

he did not fee you in the Regiment that day j

and that Hewfon and all the Regiment ufed to

call you Father Grey-beard. Stammers he faith,

that you was Captain-Lieutenant to Col. Hew-
fon's Troop ; and you coming to LuttereIs Town
asked him feveral Particulars, whether he had
been in the King's Army ? Walking up and
down, you faid you were the Man Beheaded
King Charles, and for that you had One Hun-
dred Pounds ; this he Swears pofitively. Sampfon
Toogood, he fwears he faw you come to Col. Hew-
fon''s in i6fo, you talked to him very familiarly ;

when you were gone he asked who you were ?

he told him you were a Captain-Lieutenant of

Horfe j and he faid that you were a very Met-
tled Fellow, and did the King's Bufinefs upon
the Scaffold ; that afterwards Col. Hewforfs

Regiment being difcharged, you came to be of

Pretty's Regimenc, and thar he told this Gen-
tleman that he wa.^ afTured by Col. Hewfon that

it was you that either cut off the King's Head,
or took it up, and faid, Behold the Head of a

Traitor. He faith afterwards, that in I6f4 in

Carlow he asked you the fame Queftion, and you
demanded of him who told him •, he anfwered

he was told by feveral Perfons, namely, Hewfon
and Pretty ; you faid, What I did I will not be
aihamed of, and if it were to do 1 would do ic

again j he fays again at another Time, that you
were One of the Two Perfons who were then

upon the Scaffold, and that there were Staples

to enforce the King to fubmit, if he ftruggled 5

I had that about me which would have done the

Bufinefs. And he fays, in November laft you came
to a Meeting upon a Summons of Col. Jones* and
then did avouch Lambert's Quarrel •, he faid you
were too forward heretofore ; you faid, if it be

the Bufinefs of the King's Head I will never de-

ny it, call me to an Account when you will. He
heard many call you Grandfre Grey-beard. Then
there is another Witnefs, I think his Name is

Davis, he was in Difcourfe with you drinking

Two Pints of Wine-, it is reported (fays he)

you took up the King's Head, and faid, Behold

the Head of a Traitor ; and he defired you to re-

folve him whether it was fo or no j you faid a-

gain, it had been demanded oftenj but you never

refolved



57- The Trials of the Regicides. 12 Car. II.
39°
refolved any Man* you faid, whofoever:faid it

then, I fay now, it ivas the Head of a Traitor.

Nelfon, he fwears, That about Six Years fince

he was in difcourfe with Axtell about it, and

Axull told him they were a couple of Stout Men

to your Knowledge, (fpeaking to Nelfon i) I was

one to do in that Affair } we made Choice ot

Two, Walker and Hulet; who gave the Blow ?

JValker ; but Hulet took up the Head. Colonel

Tomlinfon, he fays, that there were Two on the

Scaffold, one that had a Gray Beard, and the other

fomewhat Flaxen. Nelfon &Ko heard by ColPretty,

that you did it. And then Ben. Francis, he fays,

they had both Frocks alike, one a Black Beard,

and a Gray-grifled Perriwig, and believes he was

about your Stature. This is the Subftance of

what the Witneffes have faid againft you. Gen-

tlemen, you hear what has been proved on be-

half of the Prifoner, that is, if you believe the

Witneffes that are not upon Oath, that Brandon

confeffed it, and denied he did it : Several Wit-

neffes that fay Brandon confeffed he did it, and

that he told them of a Sum of Money that was

given him. Gentlemen of the Jury, You fee the

whole Point in this Cafe, the Indictment is for

Compaffing and Imagining the Death of his late

Maje.fty •, the Evidence goes Two Ways, part of

the" Witneffes one way, part another way ; if

you believe either of them, then you ought to

find that the Defendant is Guilty ; if either he

was in the Frock, though he was not the Man
that did it ; or if you find he did it, it is a clear

Teftimony of his Imagining and Compaffing the

Death of the King. Now it refts upon you to

confider the Evidence that is given for the Com-
mon Hang-man, that hefhould be the Man that

did it, that the Prifoner at the Bar did not Cut

off the Head : On the other Side, if you do

believe he was One of the Two in the Frocks,

upon the Relations of thefe Perfons, Pretty,

Hew/on, and Axtell j if you believe it upon thefe

Relations, and after his own Confeffion, that if

he was to do it again, he would do it 5 then up-

on this Evidence that is given you, he is to be

found Guilty, tho' he did not cut off the King's

Head. You have heard the Evidence on all

Sides, it refts upon you j pray, go together, and

confider of your Verdict. 1 have forgotten one

Thing. God forbid I ihould omit any Thing

that may be as well for Advantage, as againft

the Prifoner at the Bar : If you take it fingly,

if you have nothing of other Proof, what a-

nother Man fays of me doth not charge me, un-

lefs theie be fomething of my own , what you

have heard from himfelf, and what you have

heard by Relations from others, that is to be

left to you. It is my Duty to tell you, that

which is faid by another of me, that atone is not

a pregnane Evidence ; you muft remember with-

all what is fworn politively, what he faid him-

felf j this being faid, I muft leave it to you. Pray

go together.

[_After a more than ordinary Time of Confutation,

the Jury returned to their Places.]

Clerk. Are you agreed of your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. Our Fore- man.

Clerk. William Hewlet, alias Howlet, Hold up

thy Hand. Gentlemen, look upon the Prifoner

at the Bar : How fay you, is he Guilty of the

High-Treafon, &c.

Fore-man. Guilty.

Clerk. Look to him, Keeper. What Goods
and Chattels ?

Jury. None, to our Knowledge.

\_And then the Court adjourned till to Morrow
Morning Seven a Clock, in this Place.']

O&ober i6tb, 1660.

Seflions-Houfe in the Old-Baily.

Proclamation being made.

Clerk of the Crown. Set Ifaac Pennington, Hen-
ry Marten, Gilbert Millington, Robert Tichburn,

Owen Roe, Robert Lilburn, Henry Smith, Edm.
Harvey, John Downs, Vincent Potter^ Auguftin
Garland, Simon Meyne, James Temple, Peter Tem-
ple, and Tho. Wayte, (in all Fifteen) to the Bar :

which was done accordingly.

Clerk of the Crown. You the Prifoners at the

Bar, thofe of the Jury that were laft called are

to pafs, &jV. If you, or any of you, will Chal-
lenge all, or any of them, you muft Challenge
them when they come to the Book, before they

be Sworn.
Charles Pitfield, Chriftopher Abdy, Richard Chey-

ney, George Tirrey, Daniel Cole, Hall, Richard
Abell, Edmund Starnel, Edmund Pit, Will Wit-
comb, Fran. Dorrington, and T. Nicoll, Called and
Sworn of the Jury.

Clerk of the Crown. Ifaac Pennington, Henry
Marten, Sec. Hold up your Hands. Gentlemen
that are Sworn, look upon the Prifoners at the

Bar. You fhall underftand that the faid Ifaac

Pennington, &c. together with, &c. \Here the

Indiclment was read.] unto which they and every

of them have feverally pleaded Not guilty, and
for their Trial have put themfelves upon God and
the Country, which Country you are : Now
your Charge is to enquire, &c-

Council. May it pleafe your Lordihips, and you
Gentlemen of the Jury, the Prifoners at the Bar
ftand Indicted of High-Treafon, for Compaffing
and Imagining the Death of the late King Charles,

the Firft, of Glorious Memory. The Indict-

ment fets forth feveral Overt- Acls, by which that

Imagination doth appear, the Treafon it felf is

the Compaffing: Our Evidence will go on thus j

we fhall prove againft them all, that they did

fit (in that which they called the High-Court
of Juftice) upon the King, whilft the King was
a Prifoner at the Bar, moft of them did Sentence

him } all but Harvey and Pennington did Sign

that Bloody Warrant for his Execution j and

that one of the Prifoners at the Bar was in

before the High- Court of Juftice, confulting

of bringing it about. When we have proved

this, I think it is enough. Pray call the Wit-
neffes.

Harvey. My Lord, according to my Duty, I

fhall fave this Honourable Court all their Trou-
ble. I do humbly acknowledge that I was and

did Sit in that Court, but I did not Sign and

Seal that Warrant.
Lord Chief Baron. It is very true, Mr. Har-

vey.

Harvey. I hope your Lordfhips and this Ho-
nourable Bench will give me leave (in that Time

which
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which you fhall appoint) to fhew you my Rea-

fons that I did it not of Malice, and it was an

Error not of Will, but of Judgment -, what I

have to fay will be thought not for the annihi-

lating, yet for the Extenuation of my Crimes.

Lord Chief Baron. Say now what you will, on-

ly confider with your felf whether you have not

already fpoken as much as you can for the Exte-

nuation of it } fay what you can further.

Harvey. Let me fpeak a Word.

Lord Chief Baron. Go on, Sir.

Harvey. My Lord, I do humbly conceive if I

had conceived that 1 had then done any Thing

of Treafon, I would not for all the World have

been there 3 I was prefent when his Majefty did

not own the Court, defiring that both his Hou-

Divine, till Four a Clock in the Afternoon, and
then I parted and went to Weflminfler, to Sign
and Affift that which I did apprehend my boun-
ded Duty, the Vindication of the Affembly of
Divines, wherein we did teftify, that it was far

from our Thoughts to advife the Parliament to

any fuch unheard-of unnatural Act.

Council. Wc do admit that after he fat, and
Sentence paft, that he did not Sign.

Harvey. Be pleafed to call one Mr. Thomas
Langham, he hath heard me often declare againft

that Act.

Mr. Thomas Langham Examined.
Lord ChiefBaron. What do you fay, Mr. Lang-

ham, as to this Bufinefs ?

Langham. Sir, about the Time that his Ma-
les might meet, that he might have a Conference jelly was executed in 1648, I was then Servant

with them for fettling of the Peace : My Lord, to Alderman Sleigh^ who was formerly Partner

heartily and unfeignedly I did endeavour that with this Colonel, and he frequently came to

thar Advice might be embraced, and that no Sen-

tence might be pronounced. I was one of thofe

(with fome others) that did fo far promote it,

that that which they called the. High-Court of

Juftice did withdraw to confider of it, but the

Major Part of it did diffent. But, my Lord, I

was fo unhappy as to return to the Courr, though

with Reluctancy ; I went with a Refolution not

to go more to them, nor never did 3 I was fum-

moned to come to the Court : I did declare I

abhorred the Thing, that my Soul had Relu&an-

cy againft it, and I was greatly grieved and trou-

bled at it, and I drd refufe any more to come,

or to confult about any thing that followed, in

order to Hjs Majefty's Death, and to Sign, and

to Seal. And that 1 may make it appear to your

Lordfhips, I pray I may have a Witnefs or two
examined.

Lord Chief Baron. Name them. Did he Sit

upon the Day of Sentence ?

Council. Yes he did ; he followed it.

Mr. Edward Corbet Examined.

Mr. Corbst. My Lord, the Attestation which

I this Day make folemnly, in the Holy Fear of

Almighty God, and in Awful Reverence of this

great Tribunal, hath only this great Scope, that

Colonel Harvey, the Prifoner at the Bar, upon

that Day of Signing the Warrant for that hor-

rid Execution of his moft Excellent Majefty,

not in Title only, but in Reality, he finding me
as I was palling to the Duty of my Place in

the Affembly of Divines then Sitting, he feized

on me, and defired Privacy of Time and Place,

that he might disburden his Soul and Spirit un-

to mej it w<s then about Nine a Clock in the

Forenoon to the belt of my Remembrance.

Lord Chief Baron. What Day, I befeech you?

Corbet. To the belt of my Remembrance up-

on the Monday \ Sir, fays he, I defire to make
known unco you the deep Horror that fits upon
my Spirit, the Sadnefs and Grief, above all Ex-
preffions, that my prefent Cafe has caft me into j

I have endeavoured, Sir, (fays he) in the Sight

of God, all that poffibly I could to divert them

from the Sentence, I could not prevail. Sir,

fays he, I have been this Morning iollicited with

very much Earneftnefs, that I would go and

Sign, and Seal, and Order thrtt wicked Execu-

tion, which my Soul abhors ; and, bir, that I

might be removed and withdrawn from all

Temptations and Sollicitations of fuch a wicked
Fact, I befeech you fpare me your Time this

Day j which I did, in the Prefence of another

Alderman Sleigh's every Night ; and the Alder-

man having fome Bufinefs with him, would ask

him what News there v/as at the High-Court
of Ju 11 ice •, he ufually told him the Paffages up-
on any Day; the Alderman asked him, if fo be
he thought His Majefty might efcape ? He told

them this, That he would do what lay in his

Power, that he might not come to have Sen-
tence paft : Upon Saturday, being alfo there,

he told him this, That he had done what lay in

his Power, to hinder the Sentence, but could
not attain his Defign j but he was refolvcd he
would never Sign nor Seal to his Majefty's

Death, for it was utterly againft his Judg-
ment.

Harvey. There is another, (my Lord,) and but
one more, that is George Langham.

Lord Chief Baron. To what purpofe ? This is

believed.

Harvey. I fhall only crave and fupplicate this

Favour of this Honourable Bench, that this

Honourable Bench will be pleafed, on my Be-
half, (fince 1 have endeavoured it Two Months
before,) to prefent my humble Petition to His
Sacred Majefty, and to intercede for Mercy and
Favour on my Behalf} my felf, my Wife, and
Thirteen Children, fhall humbly pray.

[The Court received the faid Petition, andpromt"

fed to prefent it to his Majefty. ~]

Millington. I do not know whether it will be

feafonable for me to interpoie now, I would
fpeak a little.

Lord Chief Baron, Is he next in Order?
Clerk. No, my Lord, Pennington is next.

Pennington. I am unwilling to be troublefome
to the Court. This I fhali take the Boldnets to

fay, (which fhall be nothing but Truth,) I ne-

ver had a Hand in plotting, contriving malici-

ous Practices againft his Majefty, demonftrated

by my utterly refufing to Sign the Warrant for

his Execution, though often follicited thereto %

I cannot deny but I fat amongft them that Day
of the Sentence, but 1 cannot remember 1 was
there when the Sentence paffed. My Sitting

amongft them was out of Ignorance 5 1 knew not

what I did, therefore I hope you will believe

there was nothing of Malice in any Thing I did j

1 was mif-led to it.

Lord Chief Baron. I cannot hear you. [He not

fpeaking aloud.]

Pennington. It was Ignorance, not Malice, that

led me ; if I had known what I had done I woujd

not have done it j I humbly pray that there may
be
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be a favourable Conftruftion made of it, I hum-

bly leave it with you. I did my Duty to pray

for the King, but had no Malice to aft willing-

ly againft him.

Clerk. Henry Marten.

Council. He did both Sign and Seal the Pre-

cept for Summoning the Court, and the War-

rant for Execution } fat almoft every Day, and

particularly the Day of Sentence.

Marten. My Lord, I do not decline a Conret-

fion, fo as to the Matter of Fa£r, the Malice

fet afide, Malicioufly* Murderoufly* and Traito-

roufly. .

.

_ ,

Council. If you have any thing to fay to that,

we will prove it.

Lord Chief Baron. That I may inform you in

it, there is Malice implied by Law, Malice in

the A£fc itfelf : That which you call Malice, that

you had no particular Intention or Defignagainft

the King's Perfon, but in relation to the Go-

vernment, that will not be to this prefent Bu-

finefs-, if it mould extenuate any Thing, that

would be between God and your own Soul i

but as to that which is alledged in the Indid-

ment, Malicioufly* Murderoufly, and Traitoroufly*

they are the Confequences of Law. If a Man

meet another in the Street, and run him through,

in this Cafe the Law implies Malice; though

but to an ordinary Watchman, there is Malice

by the Law in the Fad •, if there was no fuch

exprefled Perfonal Malice as you conceive, yet

the Fa& done implies Malice in Law.

Mr. Solicitor General. My Lord, he does think

a Man may Sit upon the Death of the King,

Sentence him to Death, Sign a Warrant for his

Execution, Meekly* Innocently* Charitably* and

Honeftly.

Marten. I fhall not prefume to compare my
Knowledge in the Law with that of that Learn-

ed Gentleman > but according to that poor Un-

derftanding of the Law of England that I was

capable of, there is no FadV. that he can name

that is a Crime of itfelf, but as it is Circumfhn-

tiated. Of killing a Watchman, as your Lord-

fhip inftanced, a Watchman may be killed in

not doing his Office, and yet no Murder.

Lord Chief Baron. I inftanced that of a Watch-

man, to (hew there may be a Malice by Law,

tho' not exprefled; tho' a Man kill a Watch-

man, intending to kill another Man, in that Cafe

it is Malice in Law againft him : So in this

Cafe, if you went to kill the King when he was

not doing his Office, becaufe he was in Prifon,

and you hindred him from it, the Law implies

Malice in this. It is true, all Actions are Cir-

cumftantiated, but the killing of the King is

Treafon of all Treafons.

Juftice Fofter. If a Watchman be killed it is

Murder j it is in contempt of Magiftracy, of the

Powers Above •* the Law fays that Contempt

adds to the Malice.

Council. We fhall prove againft the Prifoner at

the Bar (becaufe he would wipe off Malice,) he

did this very Merrily, and was in great Sport at

the Time of the Signing the Warrant for the

King's Execution.

Marten. That does not imply Malice.

Ewer Sworn.

Council. Come, Sir, you are here upon your

Oath, fpeak to my Lords and the Jury ; you

know the Prifoner at the Bar very well, you have

iometimes ferved him j were you prefent in the

Painted Chamber* January 29, 1648, at the

Signing the Warrant, the Parchment againft the

King?
Ewer. The Day I do not remember, but I was

in that Chamber to attend a Gentleman there ;

I followed that Gentleman, [looking at Mr. Mar-
ten,] I followed that Gentleman into that Cham-
ber.

Lord Chief Baron. After what Gentleman ?

Ewer. Mr. Marten, My Lord. I was preffing

to come near, but 1 was put off by an Officer,

or Soldier there, who told me I fhould not be

there j I told him I was ordered to be by
that Gentleman. My Lord, I did fee a Pen in

Mr. Cromwell's Hand, and he marked Mr. Mar-
ten in the Face with it, and Mr. Marten did the

like to him •* but I did not fee any one fet his

Hand, though I did fee a Parchment there with
a great many Seals to it.

Sir Purbeck Temple Sworn.
Council. What do you know of that Gentle-

man in his Carriage of this Bufinefs ?

Sir Purbeck 'Temple. My Lords, I being prefent

in Town, when that horrid Murder was con-

trived againft the late King, there came fome
Perfons of Honour, Servants to the late King,
to my Father's Houfe, Sir Edward Partridge* to

engage me to join with them to attempt the

King's Efcape. In order whereunto they told

me, nothing would tend fo much to His Maje-
fty's Service, as to endeavour to difcover fome
Part of their Counfels, for that it was refolved

by Cromwell to have the King tried at the High-

Court of Juftice* as they called it, the next Day,
and defired me (if poffible,) to be there to difco-

ver their Counfels, whereby the King might
have Notice, and thofethat were to attempt his

Efcape. In order whereunto, the next Day, by
giving Money to the Officer of the Painted

Chamber* I got in by Day-light in the Lobby of

the Lords-Houfe ; I efpied a Hole in the Wall,
under the Hangings, where I placed my felftill

the Council came, where they were contriving

the manner of trying the King when he fhould

come before them : And after the manner of
Praying, and private Confults amongft them-
felves, when their Prayer was over, there came
News that the King was Landed at Sir Robert-

Cotton's Stairs j at which Cromwell run to a Win-
dow, looking on the King as he came up the

Garden, he returned as White as the Wall:
Returning to the Board, he fpeaks to Brad/haw,
and Sir Henry Mildmay* how they and Sir Wil-
liam Brereton had concluded on fuch a Bufinefs j

then turning to the Board, faid thus : My Ma-
fters* he is come* he is come* and now we are doing

that great Work that the whole Nation will be full

of', therefore I defire you to let us refolve here what

Anfwer we fhallgive the King when he comes before

us j for the firft Queflion that he will ask us will

be* by -what Authority and CommiJJion we do Try

him ? To which none anfwered prejently. Then af-

ter a little Space* Henry Marten, the Prifoner at

the Bar* roje up* and faid* In the Name of the

Commons and Parliament ajfembled* and all thegood

People of England , which none contradicted, fo

all rofe up, and then I faw every Officer that

waited in the Room fent out, by Cromwell, to call

away my Lord fuch-a-one, (whofe Name I have

forgot,) who was in the Court of Wards Cham-
ber, that he fhould fend away the Inftrument,

which came not, and fo they adjourned them-
felves
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felves to Weftminfier-Hall^ going into the Court

ofWards ihemfelves, as they went thither. When
they came to the Court in Wefiminfter- Hall, I

heard the King ask them the very fame Queflion

that Cromwell had iaid to them.

Mr. Solicitor. Gentlemen, the Prifoner at the

Bar confefTes his Hand to the Warrant for Exe-

cuting the King ; you fee by his Servant how
Merry he was at the Sport; you fee by this

Witnefs, how ferious he was at it, and gave the

Foundation of that Advice upon which they all

proceeded; and now he fays he did it not traito-

roufly, 1 humbly conceive he means it was Ju-

Itifiable.

Sir Purbeck 'Temple. At another Time I was in

Town on a Friday, and wanting Horfes I went

to Smithfield, where 1 faw the Horfes of State of

his late Majetly, to be Sold in the common Mar-

ket; at which I called to the Rider, faid I,

What makes thefe Horfes here? Says he, I am
to Sell them; Why, faid I, there's the King's

Brand upon them, C. R. and he fhewed them

me: Said I, will you fell thefe Horfes? What
Price ? He asked me Three or Four-fcore Pound

a piece; fays I, Who Warrants the Sale of

thefe Horfes? Says he, Mr. Marten and Sir Wil-

liam Brereton. Afterwards 1 heard the Horfes

were taken into the Mews by the Prifoner at the

Bar, and Sir Will. Brereton.

Council. Was this before the Trial ?

Sir Purbeck Temple. It was in 1641, or 1643.

Council. That's nothing to this Bufinefs.

Marten. My Lord, the Commiffion went in

the Name of the Commons affembled in Parlia-

ment, and the Good People of England : and

what a Matter is it for one of the Commiflio-

ners to fay, Let it be acted by the Good People of

England ?

Gen. You know all Good People did

1 am forry to fee fo little Repen-
Mr. Sol.

abhor it.

tance.

Marten. My Lord, I hope that which is ur-

ged by the learned Council, will not have that

lmpreflion upon the Court and Jury that it feems

to have, that 1 am fo obfbinate in a Thing foap-

:

parently 111 : My Lord, if it were poflible for

that Blood to be in the Body again, and every

Drop that was fhed in the late Wars, I could

wifhit with all my Heart: But, my Lord, 1 hope
it is lawful to offer in my own Defence that,

which, when I did it, I thought I might do.

My Lord, there was the Houfe of Commons, as

I underftood it, ('perhaps your Lordfhips think it

was not a Houfe of Commons,) but then it was
the Supreme Authority of England; it was fo

reputed both at Home and Abroad. My Lord,
I fuppofe he that gives Obedience to the Autho-
rity in being, de faclo, whether de jure, or no,

; I think he is of a Peaceable Difpofition, and far

.from a Traitor. My Lord, 1 think there was a

; Statute made in Henry the Seventh's Time,
; whereby it was provided, That whofoever was

in Aims for the King de fablo, he fhould be in-

demnified, tho' that King defatlo was not fo de

; jure: And if Supreme Officers de fablo can ju-

ilify a War, (the moil: pernicious Remedy that

was ever adjudged by Mankind, be the Caufe
what it will,) I prefume the Supreme Authori-

ty of England may juftify a Judicature, though.

it be but an Authority de faclo. My Lord, if

it be faid that it is but a Third Eftate, and a

fmall Parcel of that, my Lord, it was all that

Vol. II.
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was extant. I have heard Lawyers fay, that if

there be Commons appurtenant to a Tenement,
and that Tenement be all Burnt down except a
Imall Stick, the Commons belong to that One
fmall Piece, as it did to the Tenement when all

{landing. My Lord, I fhall humbly offer to

Consideration, whether the King were the King
indeed, fuch a one whole Peace, Crowns, and
Dignities, were concerned in Publick Matters :

My Lord, he was not in Execution of his Offi-

ces, he was a Prifoner. My Lord, I will not
defer you long, neither would I be offenfive: I

had then, and I have now, a Peaceable Incli-

nation, a Refolution to fubmit to the Govern-
ment that God hath fet over me. I think his

Majefty that now is, is King upon the bell Ti-
tle under He.iven, for he was called in by the
Reprefentative Body of England. I fhall, du-
ring my Life, Jong or fhort, pay Obedience to
him : Befides, my Lords, I do owe my Life to

him, it-' I am acquitted for this. I do confefs I

did adhere to the Parliament's Army heartily

;

my Life is at his Mercy; if his Grace be plea-

fed to grant it, I have a double Obligation to

him.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, rhis Gentleman, the
Prifoner at the Bar, hath entredintoa Difcourfe
that I am afraid he muff, have an Anfwer in Par-
liament for it. He hath owned the King, but
thinks his befl Title is the Acknowledgment of
the People; and he that hath that, let him be
who he will, hath the bed Title. We have
done with our Evidence.

Marten. I have one Word more, my Lord, I

humbly defire that the Jury would take notice,

that though I am accufed in the Name of the
King, that if I be Acquitted, the King is not
Calf : It doth not concern the King that the
Prifoner be Condemned, it concerns him that

the Prifoner be Tried: It is as much to his

Intereft, Crown nnd Dignity, that the Inno-

cent be Acquitted, as that the Nocent be Con-
demned.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, this puts us now up-
on the Reputation of our Evidence; and you
may fee how neceffary it is to diltinguifh be-
tween Confidence and Innocence ; for this very
Perfon that defires you to have a Care how you
Condemn the Innocent, he doth feem to intimate

to you, that he is an Innocent Perfon at the
Bar; and yet confefTes he did Sit upon the King,
did Sentence him to Death ; thac he Signed the
Warrant for the Execution; and yet here Hands
the Perfon that defires you to have a Care of
Condemning Innocence: What is this at the

Bottom of it, but that the Fact is fuch as I dare

not call Innocence, but would have you to be-
lieve it fuch ? Gentlemen of the Jury, was it

your Intention the King fhould be fo Tried as

this Prifoner moved ? It will concern you to

declare, that the People of England do abhor his

Facts and Principles; every Fadf. the Prifoner

hath confeffed himfelf, the Sitting in that Court,
which was Treafon ; his Sentencing was Trea-

fon; Signing the Warrant for Execution was the

Higheft of Treafons: Gentlemen, all that he

hath to fay for himfelf is, there was an Authority

of his own making, whereby he becomes Inno-

cent ; but we hope out of his own Mouth you
will find him Guilty.

Gilbert Millington. I defire you to hear me; I

come not hitherto difpute,but to acknowledge;
E e e I
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I will not trouble you with long Difcourfes.

My Lord, it is not fit for Wife Men to hear

them, I am not able to exprefs them } I will not

juftify myfelf, I will acknowledge myfelf Guilty.

My Lord, the Reafon why I faid the laft Day,

Not Guilty, was id refpect of being upon the

Scaffold, and Murdering the King, and thofe

Things-, but I will wave all Things, if your

Lordfhip will give me Leave, and will go unto

the loweft Strain that poiTible can be ; I will

confefs myfelf Guilty every Way. I was awed

by the Prefent Power then in Being. This I

leave with you, and lay myfelf at your Feet, and

have no more at all to fay, but a few Words in

a Petition, which I defire you will pleafe to ac-

cept, and fo 1 conclude.

Council. We do accept this Honeft and Hum-
ble Confeflion, ——and {hall give no Evidence

againft him to aggravate the Matter.

Lord Chief Baron. Your Petition is accepted,

and fhall be read.

Robert Titchburn. My Lord, when I firft plead-

ed to the Indictment, it was, Not Guilty, in Man-
ner and Form as Iflood Indii~lcd-> my Lord, it was

not then in my Heart, either to deny or juftify

any Tittle of the Matter of Fact ; my Lord, the

Matter that I was led into by Ignorance, my
Confcience leads me to acknowledge ; but, my
Lord, if I mould havefud Guilty in Manner and

Form as 1 flood Indicted, I was fearful 1 fhould

have charged my own Confcience as then know-
ingly and mahcioufly to act it. My Lord, it

was my Unhappinefs to be called to fo fad a TVork

when I had fo few Years over my Head j a Per-

fon neither bred up in the Laws, nor in Parlia-

ments where Laws are made. I can fay with a

clear Confcience, I had no more Enmity in my
Heart to his Majefty, than 1 had to my Wife
that lay in my Bofom. My Lord, I fhall deny

nothing } after 1 was Summoned, I think, truly,

I was at moll of the Meetings ; and I do not

fay this, that I did not intend to fay it before,

but, preferving that Salvo to my own Confcience,

that I did not malicioufly and knowingly do it,

I think I am bound in Confcience to own it

:

As I do not deny but I was there, fo trulv, I do
believe I did Sign the Instrument. And had I

known that then, which 1 do now, (I do not

mean, my Lord, my Afflictions and Sufferings,

it is not my Sufferings make me acknowledge,)

I would have chofen a Red-hot Oven to have

gone into, as foon as that Meeting : I blefs God,
I do this neither out of Fear, nor Hopes of Fa-

vour, though the Penalty that may attend this

Acknowledgment may be Grievous •, my Lord,
I do acknowledge the Matter of Fact, and do
folemnly proteft I was led into it for want of
Years ; 1 do not juftify either the Act or the

Perfonj I was fo unhappy then as to be Igno-
rant, and I hope I fhall not now, (fince I have
more Light,) juftify that which I was ignorant

of j I am lure my Heart was without Malice j if

I had been only asked in Matter of Fact at firft

I mould have faid the fame } I havefeen a little:

The Great God before whom we all ftand, hath

fhewn his Tender Mercy to Perfons upon Re-
pentance ; Paul tells us, though a Blafphemer,

and a Periecutor ofChrift, it being done igno-

rantly, upon Repentance he found Mercy j my
Lord, Mercy I have found, and I do not doubt
but Mercy 1 mall find. My Lord, I came in

upon the Proclamation, and now I am here, I

have in Truth given your Lordfhip a clear and
full Account, whatever the Law fhall pronounce*

becaufe I was ignorant; yet I hope there will

be Room found for that Mercy and Grace that

I think was intended by the Proclamation, and

1 hope by the Parliament of England. I fhall

fay no more, but, in pleading of that, hum*
bly beg that your Lordfhips will be Instru-

mental to the King and Parliament on that be-

half

Council. We fhall give no Evidence againft

the Prifoner j he fays he did it ignorantly, and I

hope and do believe he is a Penitent j and as far

as the Parliament thinks fit to fhew Mercy, [

fhall be very glad.

Owen Roe. I have not much to fay, I never
had any Ability} therefore, my Lord, it was
never my Intent upon my Plea, as was faid be-

fore, to deny any Thing I have done } for I was
clearly convinced that I ought to confefs it be-

fore, and 1 do confefs againft myfelf, that I did

Sit there ftveral Times, and to the beft of my
Remembrance I did Sign and Seal the Warrant
for his Execution ; and truly, my Lord, it was
never in my Heart to contrive a Plot of this Na-
ture. How I came there I do not know, I was
very unfit for fuch a Bufinefs, and I confefs I did

it ignorantly, not underftanding the Law, fo i

was carried away hidden in the Bufinefs, not

underftanding what 1 did} therefore, my Lord,

I humbly intreat this Honourable Court, that

you willconfider of it, and look upon me as one

that out of Ignorance did it} and if I had known
of my Act, I would rather have been torn in

pieces with a Thoufand Horfes. W hen 1 heard

of the Declaration and Graci >us Pardon of His

Majefty, I confefs I went to my Lord Mayor's,

and laid hold of it, and I thought my Life as fe-

cure as it is now in my own Hands; but I do

wholly call myfelfupon the King's Mercy } and

as I have heard he is a Gracious King, full ot

Lenity and Mercy, fo I hope I fhall find it. I

was never againft Government; it is a BlefTed

Thing that we have it } I hope all the Nations
will he happy under it. I fhall fubmit to his

Majefty and Government. I can fay no more;
I was not brought up a Scholar, but was a

Tradefman, and was meerly ignorant when I

went on in that Bufinefs } I do humbly intreat

your Lordfhips, that you would, as tenderly as

may be, prefent my Cafe to the King, whom I

reft upon, and leave all to your Lordfhips Wif-

dom and Difcretion, to do what you will con-

cerning me —
Council. We accept his Confeflion, and do

hope he is Penitent before God, as well as beforei

the World.
Robert Lilburn. Be pleafed to give me leave \

to fpeak a few Words } I fhall be Ingenuous be-

fore your Lordfhips, I {hall not wilfully nor ob-

ftinately deny the Matter of Fact ; but, my Lord,

I muft, and I can, with a very good Confcience,

fay, that what I did, I did it very innocently,

without any Intention of Murder} nor was I

ever Plotter or Contriver in that Murder j I ne«

ver read in the Law, nor underftood the Cafe

throughly} whatever I have done, I have done

ignorantly.

Lord Chief Baron. Becaufe you fhall not be

miftaken in your Words, God forbid that w<

fhould carp at your Words } the Word Inno

cent hath a double Acceptation, Innocent in re

fpec"
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fpect of Malice, and Innocent in rcfpect of the

Fad.
Lilburn. The Truth is, my Lord, I was for

the withdrawing of the Court, when the King

made the Motion to have it withdrawn ; and

upon the Day (my Lord) that the King was put to

Death, I was fo fenfible of it, that I went to

my Chamber and mourned, and would, if it

had been in my Power, have preferv'd his Life.

My Lord, I was not at all any Dillurber of the

Government j I never interrupted the Parlia-

ment at all. I had no Hand in thofe Things,

neither in 1648, nor at any other Time. I mail

humbly beg the Favour of the King, that he

would be pleafed to grant me his Pardon, accord-

ing to his Declaration, which I laid hold on,

and rendered myfelf according to the Proclama-

tion.

Council We mall fay nothing againft him.

Henry Smith. My Lord, I fhall not defire to

fpend your Lordfhip's Time* what I have done,

I did it ignorantly, not knowing what I did. I

fhdl not deny the Matter of Fact j but as to that

J pleaded Not Guilty before, it was in relation to

that which 1 was ignorant of, the Law ofthe Na-

tion j I have not been Bred to it . I humbly defire

your Lordfhips to confider, that what 1 did was

done ignorantly, not knowing the Law.
Council. What was that?

Smith. I do confefs that I Sat in the Court,

I do not remember that I Signed or Sealed, [both

the IVarrants beingfjewed him'] adds, my Lords,

I confefs the Hands are like mine, but whether

they be fo or no, I know not.

Council, Then we will prove it. Is the Seal

yours r

Smith.

Council.

I do not know.
Do you confefs you were in the Pain-

ted-Chamber the zpth of January? Do you re-

member any Thing of that?

Smith. I do not certainly know that.

Council. My Lord, he hath faid enough. Shall

the Jury doubt of that which he believes?

Smith. I do not remember that I did write it.

Council. My Lord, we prefs it no farther, he

hath confefled enough.

Smith. My Lord, what I have done I befeech

you confiderl did it in Ignorance, not knowing
the Law; there were thofe about me that were

able to call me, who were then in Authority,

whom I dared not difobey, if fo, I had been in

Danger alfo.

Council. My Lords, we have done ; be pleafed

to direct the Jury upon thefe feveral Evidences

and Confeflions.

Smith. I beg one Word, I muff, declare this,

I can fpeak it ferioufly, that from the firft. to the

laft of thefe unhappy Wars, I have been a Man
of Trouble and Sorrow ; I have been (as many
Wifer Men have been) run upon Error. My
Lord, 1 know not what I have done 5 I pray

that this Court will be pleafed to be a Mediator

for me, that I may have his Majefty's Favour,

and that this Petition may be received on my Be-

half. \He then delivered his Petition to the Court.]

I can rejoice for that happy Settlement that is

again in the Nations, and declare cheerfully my
humble Submiffion to that Government, and de-

fire the Lord will blefs and profper his Majefty

and the Parliament in thefe Nations -

y my Lord,

I rendered myfelf according to the Proclama-
tion ; I (hall fay no more.
Vol II.

Lord Chief Baron. Gentlemen, you of the

Jury, thefe Prifoners that ftand before ycu at the

Bar, that is, Mr. Harvey, Pennington, Marten,
Millington, Titchburne, Roe, Lilburn, and Mr.
Smith, there are Eight, thefe are Perfons who
by the Acl of Indemnity are to be Tried for their

Lives for the Treafons they have committed, bur
no Execution is to be until the Parliament have
further confidered the Matter that is before us,

and you are to find the Matter of Fact : What
Mercy they mall find hereafter, that is to be left

(as I told you) to the Confideration of the Par-
liament, we are to proceed according to Law and
Jurtice. They are all Indicted for Comparing
and Imagining the Death of our late Sovereign
Lord Charles the Firft, of moil Glorious Me-
mory; and for that that hath been opened to you
there are fo many Overt- Acts, which arc as fo

many Evidences to prove that Indictment, which
is theCompafTingand Imagination of their Hearts
to put the King to Death. If any one of thefe

be proved, that is alone enough to prove the In-

dictment, which is the Compaffing and Imagi-
ning of the Heart, that is the Treafon, the o-
thers are but Evidences. If any Thing burft

forth from the Mouth, or from the Hand, as

here it is, thefe are Evidences of the Imagina-
tion of the Heart j for this you have heard by
the Confeffion of all of them, that they did e-

nough to find the Indictment j they have all of
them conferled their Sitting upon the King in

that Traitorous AfTembly, which they called the
High Court of Juftice. There is one of the O-
vert-Acts exprefly laid down in the Indictment,
they took upon them an Authority to confider

how to put the King to Death, and that they
did put the King to Death, but they were mil-
taken, as fome of them laid, that the actual

Murdering of the King was not their Meaning.
But if they did that which tended towards ir,

they are all Guilty of Treafon; it is all one to

you, if they be guilty of any of thefe; either

Sitting, Sentencing, or Signing, they are Guil-
ty ; and all of thefe, except Two, are Guilty of
all thefe. The Matter is clear and pregnant j

there is fomething hath been faid by many of
them, with a great deal of Expreffion of Sor-
row ; they did confefs (all but one) the Fact } and
that which tended to their Defence was Igno-
rance ; but that doth not at all concern you. It

will be taken in its due Time into Confideration ;

the feveral Deportments of them all, that is for

another Judicature. Your Bufinefs is to find the

Matter of Fact ; only let me repeat unto you,
there is Mr. Harvey, who hath pleaded feveral

Matters which are not proper for you, expref-

fing his Sorrow and Penitence, we fhall not
trouble you with that, becaufe they are for the

Confideration of another Court ; we ought all

to have a tender Compaflion, ought to be for-

ry with and for them that are forrowful. The
like of. Alderman Pennington. Marten hath done
that which looks forward more than backward.

I could wifh with all my Heart he had looked
more backward ; that is, to Repentance of that

which is paft, than Obedience to that which is

to come ; it is a Trouble to repeat thofe Things
which he faid himfelf, and truly, I hope in Cha-

rity he meant better than his Words were. Mil-

lington, he hath done the like with the reft, con-

fefled the Fact, puc himfelf upon Mercy wholly,

and faid, he was over-awed by the frefent Power.

E e e 2 This
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This I repeat, not as any Thing to you, who
are to confider only Matter of Fact. For Alder-

man Titchburn, he hath fpoken very fully, and

truly very confcientioufly upon the whole

Matter, acknowledges his Ignorance, his Sor-

row, his Conviction in Point of Confcience;

and I befeech God Almighty to incline his Heart

more and more to Repentance. They that Cru-

cified Chrifi, (to ufe his own Words,) through Ig-

norance found Mercy. Colonel Roe, heconfeffes

the fame wholly, and calls himfelf upon the

King's Mercy, and he thought it a blefled Thing

that the King was reflored again, and fubmitted

wholly to Mercy ; and fo did Mr. Lilburn, he

faid he went to his Chamber and mourned the

Day the King was Beheaded ; I am very glad he

had fo early a Scnfe of it. William Smith he did

it ignorantly, he was not guilty thus far ; that

was, he was led on, even like one filly Sheep

that follows another; by what Relation I have

heard of the Perfon, at that Time he was not

thought fit to be of the Privy Council. There

is nothing more to fay to you. The Fact is con-

feffed by them all. It is fo clear you need not

go from the Bar.

[After a little Confutation between the Jurors

they returned to their Places7\

Clerk of the Crown. Are you agreed of your

Verdid ?

Jurors. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. Our Fore-man.

Clerk. Edmund Harvey', Hold up thy Hand.
How fay you, is the Prifoner Guilty of the Trea-
fon whereof he Hands Indicted, and hath been
Arraigned? or Not Guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Clerk. Look to him, Keeper.

Clerk. What Goods and Chattels, &c.

Jury. None to our Knowledge.
The fame Queftion being asked touching Alderman

Pennington, Henry Marten, Gilbert Milling-

ton, Alderman Titchburn, Colonel Roc, Colonel

Lilburn, and Henry Smith, they were federally

found Guilty by the jury in manner aforefaid. All

which Prifoners finding the Place where they flood

to be Cold and Unwholfom, frayed the Court they

might have Leave to be returned to the Prifon ''till

the Court Jhall be pleafed to command their farther

Attendance ; which was granted.

The reft of the Prifoners aforenamed, together

with W. Heveningham, brought to the Bar.
Clerk. You the Prifoners at the Bar, thofe

Perfons lafl called of the Jury are to pafs, &c.
If you, or any of you, will Challenge all, or any
of them, you mufl Challenge them when they
come to the Book, before they be Sworn.

Clerk. Charles Pitfield, Chriflopher Abdy, George

Terry, Daniel Cole, Anthony HalU Richard Abel,

Edmund Starnel, Edmund Pit, William Whitcomb,
Francis Dorrington,ThomasNicholl,Robert Sheppard,

in all Twelve, Admitted and Sworn of the Jury.
Clerk. If any Man can inform, &V.
Clerk. John Downes, Hold up thy Hand, &c.

and the like was faid to all the other Perfons follow-

ing, viz. Vincent Potter, Auguftine Garland, Simon
Meyne, James Temple, Peter Temple, Thomas Waite,

and William Heveningham. Look upon the Pri-

foners at the Bar, you that are Sworn; you mall
underftand that John Downes, the Prifoner at the

Bar, flands Indited, &5V.

King's Council. May it pleafe your Lordifhip's

and you Gentlemen of the Jury, the Prifoners at

the Bar ltand Indicted of High-Treafon, for

Comparing and Imagining the Death of the late

King Charles the Firfl, of Blefled Memory ; the

Evidence by which we fhall make out againfl

them this Treafon of their Heart, in Compaf-
fing and Imagining the King's Death, (for that

is the Subftance of the Indictment, and all that

follows is but Evidence,) will be by proving that

they did fit as Judges in that pretended Cburt of
Juflice when the King flood a Prifoner at the Bar ;

that they did Sentence him to Death, every one
of them j and we fhall prove againfl all but one
of them that they did Sign that Bloody Warrant
for Murdering of the King; and againfl one of
them that flands at the Bar we fhall prove (to his

Shame and Confufion of Face) that he did Spit in

the Face of our late Sovereign Lord.

John Downes. My Lord, 1 have humbly plead-

ed Not Guilty; not with any Intention to juflify

the Fact, or to extenuate it; but, my Lord, in

regard there is that charged in the Indictment,

that my Confcience faith I am not guilty of, I

durfl not plead Guilty ; otherwife, my Lord, I

fhould not have troubled you with Not Guilty,

but fhould have humbly taken the Shame and
Confufion for it; it is my Intention to put the

Court to as little Trouble as poffibly I can;
therefore I do humbly intreat ofyour Lordfhips,

and the Court, that you will permit me to ac-

knowledge that which will be a fufficient Evi-
dence of my Conviction, if the Court fo pleafe,

and that you will be pleafed to hear me on my
Behalf; if I can humbly offer to you fome fpe-

ciai Thing which is not in the Cafe of another,

(I could wifh it had, if it had we had none been
here.) I do humbly acknowledge, that to fit

upon that Occafion in that Place is Evidence
enough to convince what is in the Heart, except

by fome fignal Actions that might happen from
fome that might fhew how it was his Unhappi-
nefs to be put into fuch a Bufinefs, yet had nei-

ther Malice nor Treafon in his Heart: I do
humbly conceive that there is that Goodnefs in

you, that this Plea, this Allegation will be moil

Welcome to you. My Lord, though there was

fuch a Thing, fuch an unparallel'd Thing, I was
thruft into this Number ; but never was in Con-

fultation about the Thing : God is Witnef I was
not put in 'till the Act was ready to pafs in a fe-

cond Commitment, by one of the fame Number;
I denied it, yet they faid I mufl make one, I

mufl take my Share; fo I came in. Never did I

know of his Majefly's being brought to London,

'till he came. My Lords, in this great Unhap-
pinefs I think it is fome Mitigation, and I judge

it a Happinefs, that fo Wife, Prudent Perfons as I

this Court confifls of, that you are my Judges, ,

that can look back, my Lord, and confider what

the Times were then, and can, my Lord, account

it a Happinefs that there is a fpecial Wifdom in

you, that in Nice Cafes you will be able to make
a Diflinction. I do indeed, my Lords, fadly and

fcrioufly confefs, that was divers times with thofe

Perfons that were called Judges of the late King,

at feveral Meetings and Sittings ; it is long ago,

I cannot fay how often ; I was feveral times

there. My Lord, I do humbly beg of your

Lordfhips, (I will trouble you as fhort as I can,)

that you would be pleafed fo far to favour mc
as to give me leave to give you a fhort Account

of the Bufinefs; The laft Day His Majefty

came
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came to that which was called then a Court,

feveral times he was brought, (I think Thrice,)

and His Charge was given in Words high e-

nough j he faid He could not acknowledge their

Jurifdittion \ that was the Anfwer, my Lord,

till the laft day ; then I confefs I was there. He
that was called Prefident did again and again tell

him the Heads of his Charge j told him he had

feveral Days given for Confederation, that this

was the lalt Day that the Court (as they call'd

themfelves) would give him for his final Anfwer; if

he flood ftill to Day, and moved to the Jurifdic-

tion of the Courr, they muft take all pro Confefo,

and would give Sentence : My Lord, to this

His Majefty indeed with a great deal of Com-
pofednels and Wifdom told them to this Effect,

I cannot own your Jurifdiction ; you have Power

enough indeed, I wifh you may ufe it well ; but

becaufe you are fo ready to give a Sentence,

which may be fooner given than avoided, 1 think

fit to let you know that I have fomething that

I defire to fpeak to my Parliament, for 1 have

fomething to offer unto them that will be fatis-

factory to you all, and will be for the immediate

Settlement of the Kingdom in Peace.

.My Lord, he that was called Prefident an-

fwered, that no Notice could be taken of any

Thing, but only whether he would Anfwer to

his Charge : Upon th2t, my Lord, His Majefty

indeed, (with the greateft Earneftnefs that ever

I beheld, and yet in no unfeemly Paffion,) told

them they might foon repent of fuch a Sen-

tence j that he did conjure them to withdraw

once again, and to confider of it, if it were but

half an Hour, or (faith he, if that be too much
for you) I will withdraw. My Lord, here I can

make my Appeal to him that muft Judge me
when you have done with me, I had not a

murderous nor a traitorous Thought againft him ;

but Sir, I confefs fuch deep Paflions did fall up-

on me, that truly myfelf I was not. I remember

the Perfons between whom I fat, as it fell out,

were one Mr. Cawly, and Col. Walton, thefe

Two I fat betwixt, thefe were the Words I

fpake to them, Have we Hearts of Stone ? Are we
Men ? They laboured to appeafe me ; they told

me I would ruin both myfelf and them •, faid I

if I die for it I muft do it. Cromwell fat juft

the Seat below me, the hearing of me make
fome Stir, Whifpering, he looked up to me,

and asked me if I were myfelf? What I meant

to do, that I could not be quiet } Sir, faid I,

no, I cannot be quiet ; upon that I ftarted up in

the very Nick j when the Prefident command-
ed the Clerk to read the Sentence, I ftepping

up, and as loud as I could fpeak, fpoke to this

Effect, thefe Words, or to the like Purpofe; my
Lord, (faid I) I am not fatisfied to give my Con-
felt to this Sentence, but have Reafons to offer

to you againft it, and I defire the Court may
adjourn to hear me ; prefently he ftept up and

Iboked at me ; nay, faith he, if any one of the

Court be unfatisfied the Court muft adjourn :

Sir, accordingly they did adjourn into the inner

Court of Wards ; when they came there I was
called upon by Cromwell to give an Account why
I had put this Trouble and Difturbance upon the

Court ? I did fpeak, Sir, to this Effect, (it is

long ago, the very Words I think I cannot
fpeak,) but to this Effect I did fpeak: My Lord,
I fhould have been exceeding glad if the Court
had been pleafed to condefcend to this gracious

Expreflion ; but it is not too late for me • I

defire not his Death, but his Life, and that the

Nations may be fettled in Peace : The King now
is pleafed to offer, that if he might but fpeak

with his Parliament he would offer to them fuch
Things as fhould be fatisfactory to us all. So
(faid 1) what would you have? Your Pretence of
bringing him to thefe Proceedings was, that

after fuch a long and bloody War His Majefty
would not condefcend to fuch Conceffions as

might fecure the Parliament's Party ; but now
you hear him, that he will give every one of us

Satisfaction : I told them, fadly told them, (I

think 1 may truly fay more fadly than at this

Time,) that if they fhould go precipitancy on
and give Judgment upon him, before they had
acquainted the Parliament with what the King
was pleafed to offer, we fhould never be able to

anfwer it; the rather, my Lord, (and that I did

prefs with all the little Underftanding that I had)
if they did but confider the laft concluded Order
that the Parliament made after the palling of the

Act for Trial, (that which was fo called,) I fay

there was this Order that fhut up all, that upon
any Emergency that could not at that Time be
thought on in the Houfe the Court fhould im-
mediately acquaint the Houfe, with it. My Lord,
I did infer as ftrongly as I could to them, that

if this were not Emergent I could not tell what
was : The King denied the Jurifdiction of the

Court, and yet with all Vehemency defired to

fpeak with his Parliament ; were not thefe Emer-
gencies ? If not, I knew not what were Emer-
gencies. My Lords, befides this, there was a-

nother Thing I did prefs, that I thought was of
greater Confequence than this, as to the Satisfac-

tion of every Man's particular Confcience ; that

admitting (if it might be admitted) that the King
was liable to His Subjects, that they might call

him to an Account, and might Condemn him,
(I beg your Pardon that I take the Boldnefs to

make fuch Admiffions,) but if fuch a Thing
might be admitted, certainly it did exceedingly

become thofe Judges that were to give fuch a

Sentence, (not againft a Common Perfon, bun
againft the greateft,) to be very well fatisfied in

Matter of Fact, to a full Evidence before them,
that fuch and fuch Things that were faid were
true. I do acknowledge this, that to the belt

of my Apprehenfion, (I wifh it had been fo to

others,) there was a great Shortnefs in this j I do,

humbly affirm this, that not one Member of the

Court did hear one Witnefs Viva Voce ; I did

prefs that if the Court did give Judgment againft

the King, without a fair Examination, I faid it

was fuch a Thing as no Judge at any Aflizes

would do againft a common Perfon j what I had

was from Peters, and from fome private W hifpers

from one of them that is gone, and hath re-

ceived his Sentence and Doom. Cromwell did

anfwer with a great deal of Storm ; he told the

Prefident, that now he faw what great Reafon

the Gentleman had to put fuch a Trouble and

Difturbance upon them ; faith he, fure he doth

not know that he hath to do with the hardeft-

hearted Man that lives upon the Earth ; how-
ever, it is not fit that the Court fhould be hun-

dred from their Duty by one peevifh Man ; he

faid, the Bottom was known, that he would fain

fave his Old Mafterj and defired the Courr,

without any more ado, would go and do their

Duty. Another that fpoke to me in Anfwer was
one
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one that hath been before you, and hath re-

ceived his Sentence, but is not dead, (and I de-

fire I may not name his Name,) his Anfwer was

to what I have faid, that fome Men were either

Scepticks, or Infidels. After this I did go into

the Speaker's Chamber, and there I did eafe my
Mind and Heart with Tears, God only knows.

I have an unhappy Memory, I have flipt many

Things.
Lord Chief Baron. Remember yourfelf by Pa-

pers j if you have any, no Man will hinder you.

Downes. I have no Papers ; but, my Lord, for

the Truth of this I have faid, there are fome

"Witneffes that will make the Subftance, the

Effect of this appear.

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Downes, there is one

Particular before you come to the Witneffes,

that after all thefe Convictions you figned the

Warrant ; ifyou deny it, the Council will prove it.

Downes. I did never hope, or think, that any

Thing I can fay fhould befo fatisfactory to you,

but Things might be retorted upon me ; and per-

haps what I thought might be for extenuating

my Crime may fall out to my Difadvantage : I

underftand you do proceed upon Three Particu-

lars, either Signing the firfr. Warrant for confti-

tuting the Court j to my Remembrance I know
not of it -, if my Hand was to it I have forgot.

Council. Your Hand is not to that, but we
mean your Hand is to the Warrant for Execu-

tion, pray (hew it him. [It was JJiewn

him.']

Downes. My Lord, how to reconcile that

which hath been faid before, with this that

comes after, I leave it to you, I am totally at a

Lofs. When thofe Times were, how impetuous

the Soldiers, how not a Man that durit either

difown them, or fpeak againft them. I was
threatened with my very Lite, by the Threats

of one that hath received his Reward I was in-

duced to it. Certainly, my Lord, it doth argue

that there was not Malice Predominant ; Love
and Hatred cannot be at the fame Time in one
Perfon. Defign, my Lord, what fhould be my
Defign? A poor, ordinary, mean Man. Surely,

my Lord, 1 could not defign any great Matters
or Places. I knew myfelf unfit j I humbly beg
you would give me leave to tell you a little what
I got

Mr. Sol. Gen. By your Favour, my Lord, the

Prifoners at the Bar may fay what they will by
"Way of Extenuation j but we expect that when
they enter upon thefe Difcourfes they will fave

your Lordfhip's Time, and ours, by a publick
Confefiion, and Evidence of Sorrow. We can-

not fpend fo long Time to hear thefe long Dif-

courfes j we will rather prove it againft every

Man fingly.

Downes. I will trouble you no further, I do
acknowledge all ; I humbly fubmit, and beg your
Favour, and leave myfelf upon my Countrymen
the Jury, and beg the King's Mercy fpecially.

——Pray fpare me one Word, that you will

hear but a Witnefs or Two unto that Bufinefs.

Council. He doth confefs he Sat and Signed ;

we believe he is Sorrowful, and againft his Con-
ference he did Sign: and that he did it out of a

Fear, and from a Threat ; that he was over-

awed ; (fo was the Hangman too ;) but after he

had apprehended this Sorrow, and declared his

Judgment upon the Fad, he Signed the War-
rant.

Downes. My Lord, I do humbly beg his Ma-
jefty's Mercy > I came in upon the Proclamation.

Vincent Potter. My Lord, my Condition re-

quires Eafe for my Body j [he had a Fit of the

Stone upon him at that fame 'Time {] I pray that

the parting the Sentence for Execution may be
fufpended.

Lord Chief Baron. The Execution muft be fus-

pended, for you are within that Qualification.

Potter. I defire only this, I am not in a Con-
dition to declare what I know, and would fpeak ;

I am mighty full of Pain ? if I am under that

Qualification, let me reft under that.

Council. Do you confefs the Indictment? Or
will you put us to prove it ?

Potter. I am one that came in.

Lord Chief Baron. It is thus with you, whe-
ther or no did you Sit, Sign, or Act in this High-
Court of Juftice againft the King?

Potter. I will deny nothing 5 I confefs the

Fact, but did not contrive itv I am full of Pain.

Lord Chief Baron. According to the Demerit
of the Cafe in Law you muft receive Judgment
here, but no Execution of that Judgment fhall

be, until the King, by Advice and Confent of
Lords and Commons, fhall order the Execution
of it j you are to be Tried now ; do you confefs

you Signed the Warrant for Execution of the

King?
Potter. I do confefs it, my Lord.
Council. We do accept it.

Potter. I befeech you let me go to eafe my-
felf.

Lord Chief Baron. Officer, fet a Chair for

him j [which was clone.'] Mr. Potter, fit down.
Aug. Garland. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, I

came here this Day intending to have waved my
Plea, and referred myfelf to this Honourable
Court, to be recommended to the King's Mercy
and the Parliament ; but hearing of fome Scandal

upon me, more than ever I did hear till within
thefe few Days, I fhall defire your Favour in

hearing of my Trial.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, he faith well ; for if

he had confefTed the Indictment we fhould not
have accepted ir. Call the Witneffes.

Garland. I do confefs this 5 I Sat, and at the
Day of Sentence Signed the Warrant for Exe-

,

cution.

Mr. Sol. Gen. And we will prove that he fpit

in the King's Face.

Garland. I pray let me hear that, otherwife I

would not have put you to any Trouble at all.

Clench Sworn.
Council. Do you know the Prifoner at the Bar,,

Auguftirie Garland?
Clench. I know him very well.

Council. Tell my Lords and the Jury how you
faw him behave himfelf to our Sovereign Lord
the King when he was at the Bar.

Clench. I was that Day at Weftminfler-hall

,

when the King had Sentence ; they hurried the
King down, and Mr. Garland came down Stairs

by them j towards the Bottom of the Stairs he
Spit in his Face at a little diftance.

Council. Do you believe he did it on Purpofe,
upon your Oath?

_
Clench. I fuppofe he did it fomewhat Sufpi-

cioufly in that way $ I did fee the King put his

Hand in his Left Pocket, but I do not know
whether the King wiped it off.

Mr.
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Mr. Sol. Gen. The King wiped it off, but he

will never wipe it off fo long as he lives : He
hath confeffed that he Sat, that he Sentenced,

and that he Signed : We fay he contrived it at

the beginning, and at lait bid Defiance to the

King ; I (hall defire he may be remernbred in

another Place,

Garland. I do not know that I was near him

at that Time : I do not remember this Paffage ;

1 am afraid he is an Indigent Perfon. If 1 was

Guilty of this Inhumanity I defire no Favour

from God Almighty.

Lord Chief Baron. I will tell you this doth not

at all concern the Jury, but this Circumftance

poffibly may be confidered in another Place.

Garland. I refer my felf whether you be fatis-

fied that I did fuch an Inhumane Act, I fubmit

that to you •, I dare appeal to all tfaefe Gentlemen

here, (looking upon the Prifoners,) or any other,

whether they ever heard of it, nor was I ever

accufed for iuch a Thing till a few Days fince

;

but 1 wave my Plea, and refer my felf to the

Court. Now, my Lord, this is the Truth of

my Cafe-, there is that Honourable Gentleman,

the Speaker of the Houfe of Commons, knows
Hived in Effex in the beginning of thefe Troubles,

and was forced to forfake my Habitation ; I

came from thence to London where I have be-

haved my felf fairly in my Way. Afterwards in

1648 I was chofen a Member into the Parlia-

ment; in June 1 <S_jS I came in a Member of the

Parliament. My Lord, after the Divifion of the

Houfe by the lnlblence of the Soldiery, fome

came to me, and defired me that I would go to

the Houfe ; I was then at my Chamber at Lin-

coins-Inn ; I forbore a Week and more ; faid J,

I do not expect to be admitted, for they look

upon me as another Perfon ; laid they, if you
will go you (hall have no Contradiction ; I went,

and went in j when I was in, the Firft Bufinefs

that came was the Bufinefs of Trial upon the

King, and it was put on me to be Chair-man

for bringing in this Act for Trial ; I did not

know how to contradict that Power or Autho-
rity, (be it what it will,) but I rnuft obey •, (I

fear my Ruin will follow it, in that refpect) my
Lord, when 1 came there I was forced to run

throughout what they had impofed upon me.

—

Having feen me J could not Ihrink from them
for fear of my own Deitruction, and thereupon

I did go in, and did that which I have confeffed

to your Lordfhips, not out of any Malignity to

his Majelly, I never had any Difrefpect to him
in my Life; my Lord, I did not know which
Way to be fafe in any thing, without Doors
was Mifery, within Doors was Mifchief. I do
appeal to all that had any Thing to do with me,
that I never did any Wrong to any that was of
the King's Party, but helped them as I wa9 able.

My Lord, when the Government was thus

toffed, and turned, and tumbled, and I know
not what, and the Secluded Members came in-

to the Houfe, I knew not what to do in that

Cafe neither. Affoon as this Parliament had de-

clared the Treaty, which was the Eighth of
May, the Ninth of May I appeared before the

Right Honourable the Lord Mayor of London,
and did claim the Benefit of his Majefty's Gra-
cious Declaration, and to become a I .oyal Sub-
ject, as in my Heart I always was ; and my Lord
Mayor being there, I hope he will 1 edify that

as foon as I heard of the Proclamation I rendered

my felf according to the Proclamation; my Lord
?

this hath been the Carriage of me, being always
under Fear and Force ; I refer my felf to your

Lorfhips.

Simon Meyne. When t was lair, here, my
Lord, that I did then fpeak Not Guilty, was not

as to the Matter of Fact, but my Confcience

telling of me that I had no Malice or ill Inten-

tion to his Majefty, that was the Reafon. For
Matter of Fact I fhall acknowledge what I have

done, and lie at his Majefty's Feet for Mercy.
I am an ignorant weak Man in the Law, I will

confefs the Fact.

Council. Did you Sign the Warrant for Sum-
moning that Court? And did you Sign the War-
rant for Execution of the King?

Meyne. I did Sit in Court.

Council. Did you Sign the Warrant for Exe-
cution ?

Meyne. My Lord, I knew not of the King's

bringing up, I never was at any Committee.
Council. We do not ask you that-, look upon

the Warrant, and fee if your Hand and Seal be

not to it.

Meyne. My Lord, it is my Hand.
Council. Then, my Lord, we have done.

Meyne. My Lord, I acknowledge it is my
Hand, by what importunity it may be known to

fome here -, I was very unwilling to it ; S was

told, what Fear was there when Forty were there

before, and Twenty was of the Quorum? 1 was
thereupon drawn in to fet my Hand to it. My
Lord, I never plotted nor contrived the Bufinefs.

There was a Gentleman that told me, if I did

offer to fpeak in the Houfe, (and pluck'd me
down by the Coat) and he told me I fhould be
Sequeftred as a Delinquent ; (the Name of this

Perfon 1 fhall omit -,) faith he, you will rather

lofe your Eftate than take away the King's Life.

I leave it with you.

James Temple. At the laft Time I pleaded to

the Indictment Not Guilty, but I fhall now defire

to fee my Hand, and if it be my Hand I muft
confefs all Circumftances muff, follow. (The

Warrants being Jhewn him,) I do acknowledge
it is my Hand to both ; I never did confult con-

cerning the Court.

Council. There are fome worfe than he, but he

is bad enough.

James Temple. I refer myfelf to the King and

Parliament ; and prefented a Petition, which was
received by the Court.

Peter Temple. When I was here the laft Time
I pleaded Not Guilty- the Reafon wa«, be-

caufe there are divers Things in the Indictment

that my Confcience tells me I am not Guilty of;

for I had not a Malicious or Traitorous Heart a-

gainft the King. To fave your Lordfhips Time
I will confefs what I am guilty of: I was in the

Court, Sat there; If I fee my Hand 1 fhall con-

fefs it.

Council. Were you there when Sentence was

given ?

Temple. Yes, Sir.

Council. Shew him the Warrants, (which be-

ing jhewed him,) I acknowledge they are my
Hand, and refer it to your Lordfhips.

Council. Mr. Watte, You heard the Charge

read againft you, what fay you to it ?

Thomas Waite, Truly, my Lord, when I was

here laft I pleaded Not Guilty ; I humbly de-

fired then your Lordfhips to hear me a Word
or
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or Two. You promifed me then I fhould be

heard ; I fliall defire to fpealc for myfelf.

Lord Chief Baron. God forbid but you fhould.

Mr. Sol. Gen. By your Lordfhip's Favour we
mull: fpeak firft; if he will confefs the Facl he

may fpeak what he will. Did you Sit in the

Court ?

Waite. Yes.

Council. The Day of Sentence?

Waite. Yes.

Council. Is your Hand to the Warrant for Exe-

cution ?

Waite. I know not ; pray let me fee it. (It

was fiewn him.) My Lord, I confefs it is like

my Hand, but I do not remember it.

Council. If you do not acknowledge it it will

be proved.

Waite. Truly, my Lord, I do believe it is my
Hand.

Council. Then the Jury will not doubt it.

Waite. But I defire to be heard. I am loth

to trouble you much ; I will tell you how I was

brought into this Bufinefs. My Lord, I was a

Member of that Houfe that Erected this Court
when the Treaty was in the ljle of Wight. Im-
mediately ;ifter the Army came up I was utterly a-

gainft that A<5t in the Houfe. When the Army
came up to purge the Houfe I was much trou-

bled at it •, I defired to know the Charge they

had againlt them. Two or Three Days after I

did move, and there were other Gentlemen that

did move, to know what Charge there was.

They fent Word we fhould have a Charge in due

Time; we fent, and none came, but faid we
fhould have it in due Time; I went to thofe

worthy Gentlemen to fee them in Prif>n, and
feeing nothing would be done, I took my Leave,
and made Account to fee them no more, and
went down into the Country to Leiceflerjhire ; I

was fent for up feveral times ; I would not come
with Threats upon Pain of Sequeftration. My
Lords, there were Petitions going up and down
the Country for bringing the King to that Bu-
finefs, which was againft my Confcience. I went
to Rutland/hire, 1 heard there were fome things

working there ; I ufed my Intereft, and I think

God I flopped it; I came then to London when
all thefe Things were deftroyed ; I came to

London the Day before the Sentence was given ;

I went to the Houfe, (thought nothing ;) fome
were fent to the Tower, and I was fent for to the
Houfe, and my Name was in the Act. unknown
to me; but one fent a Note in my Lord Gray's
Name, that he would fpeak with me, I went to
him, and I faid, My Lord, what would you do
with me ? Saith he, I did not fend for you

;

thereupon Cromwell and Ireton laid hold on me

;

faid they, we fent for you, you are one of the
High-Court; no, faid I, not I, my Judgment is

againft it; they carried rneto the Court. When
the King defired to fpeak with his Parliament,
I rifing up, one told me I mutt not be heard,
for the Prefident was to give Judgment, and faid,

there was an Order that none fhould fpeak
in Court. Mr. Downes did move, and they did
adjourn the Court, and I was glad I got out

;

Cromwell laughed, and fmiled, and jeered in the
Court of Wards. I hope your Lordfhip will be
pleafed to confiJer I was no Contriver, no Sol-
dier that put the Force upon the Houfe that e-

re&ed the Court, none of the Law-makers, or
did any Thing malicioufly againft the King.

My Lord, I was looked upon with an Evil Eye
for regarding the King's Friends in the Country;
Gray t Id me the King would not Die, I hope
he will not, faid I : The next Diy, on Monday, \

went to the Houfe, they were labouring to get

Hands for his Execution at the Door; I reiuied,

and went into the Houfe ; faith Cromwell, thofe

that are gone in fhall fet their Hands, 1 will have
their Hands now. That Night I went to the

Lord Gray's, and he faid, I am afraid they will

put him to Death. I faid fo alio. My Lord, I

have been a great Sufferer, I was drawn in, tre-

pann'd into it, fince being a Friend to the King's
Friends, I am almoft ruined in my Eftate; I be-

feech your Lordfhips make the beft Interpreta-

tion. I hope you will believe I was no Contri-

ver ; I humbly lay hold upon the King's Mercy
and Favour. I came in upon the Proclamation;

I pray this this Honourable Court will prefer

my Petition to the King, and both Houfes of
Parliament : which the Court then received.

William Heveningham. My Lord, in 1648 we
were under a Force, under the Tyranny of an
Army ; tbey were our Matter* ; for a Malicious

and Traitorous Heart I had not. I do absolutely

deny the Signing the Warrant for Execution
of Court, and alio that Warrant for Execution
of the King; at the Time of Sealing I had tint

Courage and Boldnefs that 1 protected againlt

it.

Council. We do not queftion him for that, but
for Sitting in the High Court of Juflice, and

that upon the Day of the Sentence j do you de-

ny that ?

Heveningham. My Lord, I cannot fay pofi-

tively.

Council. If you deny the Matter of Fa£r, it

mufl be proved.

Heveningham. My Lord, I cannot fay pofi-

tively, but it may be I might.

Council. Either fay pofitively you did, or elfe

let the Witneffes be called.

Heveningham. Truly, my Lord, I think I did j

but my After- Actions

Lord Chief Baron. Mr. Heveningham, that fhall

be confidered.

Council. My Lord, to Sit upon the Day of

Sentence was High-Treafon in itfelf, and is an

Evidence of Compaffing and Imagining the

King's Death.

Heveningham. I fhall lay hold of the Declara-

tion ; I came in upon the Proclamation ; I pray

your Lordfhips to intercede for me to the King
and both Houfes of Parliament ; I pray the

Mercy of this Court.

Lord Chief Baron. You of the Jury, they have

all confeffed, and therefore you may go toge-

ther.

Simon Meyne. My Lords, I have forgot my Pe-

tition ; it is at my Lodging, I defire I may fend

it at Night.
John Downes and Peter Temple prayed the like

Favour.

Lord Chief Baron. Do, fend them, they fhalj

be received.

The Jury having confulted together a certain Time,

they went to their Places.

Clerk. Gentlemen, are you agreed of your Ver-

dia?
Jury. Yes
Clerk. Who fhall fay for you?
Jury. Our Fore-man.

Clerk.
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Clerk. John Downes, Hold up thy Hand—

-

Look upon the Prifoner; how fay you? Is he

Guilty of High-Treafon whereof he ftands In-

dicted, and hath been Arraigned ? Or not Guilty ?

Fore-man. Guilty.

Clerk. Look to him, Keeper. What Goods and

Chattels, &c.

40I
Shame and Guilt, may know that it was a Force
and Temptation upon me; I fhall not infift

much, I have faid that I did plead Guilty, which
was molt fafe to my own Confcience, yet I ihould

make it appear that I did appear more to pre-

ferve the King from Trial and Sentence than any
other.

Fore-man. None to our Knowledge. And the Lord Finch. Sir Hardrefs Waller, \ have heard

like Verdicts at the fame time palled in the fame

Manner zgninft. Fincent Potter, Augufline Garland,

Simon Meyne, James 'temple, Peter temple, tho-

mas Waite, and William Heveningham.

Potter. I hope I may be freed from Irons, I

am in Pain, and a Man of Bulk.

Lord Chief Baron. We can give no Order in it,

we muft leave it to the Sheriff.

Potter. I beg it of you, my Lord.

Lord Chief Baron. We muft leave it to the

Sheriff. Mr. Heveningham, you muft withdraw

from the Bar.

Clerk. Officer, bring down Waller, Fleetwood,

Hacker, Axtell, Hulet, Pennington, Marten, Mil-

lington, titchburn, Roe, Lilburne, Smith, and

Harvey, and fet them to the Bar. Which was

done accordingly.

Clerk. Hardrefs Waller, Hold up thy Hand.

Thou haft been Indi&ed, and found Guilty of

High-Treafon, what canft thou fay why Judg-

ment fhould not pats on thee to die according to

Law?
Waller. My Lords, I am now, it feems, Con-

victed by Law, and fo adjudged : YourLordfhips

the other Day on my Defire told me I might

have Liberty to fpeak upon my Trial, I muft

now beg the like upon a Condemned Perfon.

Lord Chief Baron. You are Convicied, not Con-

demned.
Waller. My Lords, I was the firft that pleaded

Guilty, I blefs God that he gave me a Heart to

do it, I find moft Peace in the doing it ; and

fince there is nothing left but Hopes of Mercy,

I humbly fubmit it to your Lordfhips to hear

me in this fad Condition, that that may make
me feem more capable of Mercy. I have, my
Lords,been fo unhappy to have been trani'planted

out of my Country thefe Thirty Years. 1 have

been but once thefe Eleven Years in England,

this muft needs make me a Stranger.

Lord Chief Baron. I muft not hinder you, be-

caufc it is for Mercy that you plead ; but confi-

der with yourfelf whether it will not be better

to give it in a Petition : I leave it to you, we can

do nothing in Point of Mercy but Judgment.
Waller. Only this, (my Lord,) whether I am

not the more capable of your Mercy.

Lord Chief Baron. That you may underftand

itj the Act of Indemnity of Parliament hath ex-

cepted you ; yet upon fome Qualifications : we
are to proceed according to Law, that is, to go
to Conviction and Judgment. The Act fays, that

after Judgment there (hall be no Execution, but

that it (hall be fufpended till a further Act of

Parliament to be palled for th.it Purpofe ; fothat

in the mean time we are to proceed no further

than Judgment. That which concerns Mercy
is referred to another Place. If you pleale to

fay any Thing to fatisfy us, or to go by Way
of" Petition, it muft be left to you, but what
you fay for Mercy is nothing to us.

Waller. I humbly thank your Lordfhip for

this clear and noble dealing, and withal, I would
beg that thefe People that are Witneffes of my
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of late of your Sorrow, which T was glad to

hear of, becaufe you are my Kinfman, both by
your Father and Mother's Side, and alfo my
Country-man ; I was glad to hear of your great
Penitence for that horrid Crime, and I would
have been glad to have feen it now ; advife with
yourfelf, whether you do yourfelf any Good in

fpeaking to extenuate, when you know there is

no Man againft whom there are fuch Circum-
ftances of Aggravation as againlt you ; confider
whether a publick Penitence would not be more
proper.

Waller. I befeech you report me both to His
Majefty and Parliament, and receive me into

your Grace, as being Penitent, rruly Penitent

:

To fay fo now were a fmall Thing, for the fear

of the Punifhment may procure it •, but I have
been more Penitent when no Eye hath feen me
but God ; when I never imagined to be quefti-

oned for this Sin, then my Heart hath yearned
in the Bufinefs ; but I (hall not trouble your
Lordfhips. God holds forth Mercy, His Majefty
holds forth Mercy, the Parliament holds forth

Mercy. My Lord, let me fay fomething to you,
(though it be but a Word,) of the Violence and
Force of Temptation ; you may have been un-
der it, or may come to it ; Chnfl himlelf was
under it; we find that faithful Abraham, by the
Power of a Temptation, delivered up his Wife
to commit Adultery, which fcarce a Heathen
would ; we find that valiant Peter denied his

Matter; righteous Lot committed Inceft. None
abhors this Fact more than I do ; I have done it

fo fong beforehand, I need not be afraid to fpeak
it in the Face of the Judge of all Men ; that is

all I (hall fay. I rendred my felf Three Times

;

1 had as much Opportunity to make my Efcape
as any Perfon whatfoever.

Lord Chief Baron. Itisunderftood, Sir Hardrefs.

Clerk. Ifaac Pennington, Hold up thy Hand.
Thou art in the fame Condition as the former,
what canft thou fay for thy felf why Judgment,
&c.

Pennington. My Lord, I have faid what I have
to fay, and (hall not trouble your Lordfhips any
further.

Clerk. Henry Marten, Hold up thy Hand. Thou
art in the fame Condition, what canft thou fay

for thyfelf why Judgment, &fV.

Marten. I claim the Benefit of the Proclama-
tion.

Clerk. Gilbert Millington, Hold up thy Hand.
Thou art in the fame Condition, what canft thou
fay for thyfelf why Judgment, &c.

Millington. I (hall not trouble you with long
Difcourles ; I (hall fay no more but this, I have
made a publick Refentment of my Sorrow for

this Offence formerly, and many tiroes. 1 (hall

now defire no more, but humbly beg that I may
have ihe Benefit of the Proclamation, and pray

his Mujefty's moft Gracious Pardon.

Clerk. Robert titchburn. Hold up thy Hand.

Thou art in the fame Condition, what canft thou

fay for thyfelf why Judgment, &c.

F f f titchburn.
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Tichburn. My Lord, I will not trouble you

with any Repetitions, I have made my humble

Requeft before, I leave it with you.

Clerk. Owen Roe, Hold up thy Hand. Thou

art in the fame Condition, what canft thou fay

for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c?

Roe. My Lord, I have no more to fay than

I faid before.

Clerk. Robert Lilburn. Hold up thy Hand.

Thou art in the fame Condition,v,\hat canft thou

fay for thy felf why Judgment, (3c?

Lilburn. I (hall refer myfelf without further

Trouble to the Court; my Lord, I beg the Be-

nefit of the Proclamation.

Clerk. Thomas JVaite, Hold up thy Hand.

Thou art in the fame Condition, what canft thou

fay for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c?

JVaite. I can declare no more than what I have

already ; my Heart is forry for what 1 have done ;

I beg the Benefit of the Proclamation.

Clerk. Edmund Harvey, Hold up thy Hand.

Thou art in the fame Condition, what canft

thou fay for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c?

Harvey. My Lords, 1 have no more than what

I faid before.

Clerk. John Downes, Hold up thy Hand. Thou

art in the fame Condition, what canft thou fay

for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c?

Downes. I (hall not trouble you any further,

I (hall defire the Benefit of his Majefty's Pro-

clamation.

Clerk. Vincent Potter, Hold up thy Hand. 1 hou

art in the fame Condition, whac canft thou fay

for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c ?

Potter. My Lord, I do not know Law, Iun-

derftand it not} I am not in a Condition to

fpeak what I would have willingly fpoke: I de-

fire that God would have Mercy, and I look for

Mercy from God, [and wept.']

Clerk. Augufiine Garland, Hold up thy Hand.

Thou art in the fame Condition, what canft thou

fay for thyfeif why Judgment, 13c ?

Garland. I humbly defire your Lordftnp's cha-

ritable Opinion of me: Notwithftanding what

has been objeaed againft me, I humbly refer

myfelf to the Parliament.

Clerk. George Fleetwood. Hold up thy Hand.

Thou art in the fame Condition, what canft

thou fay for thyfeif why Judgment, {3d

Fleetwood. My Lord, I have already confefled

the Faa, I wifh, I could exprefs my Sorrow,

[and wept.~\

Clerk. James Temple, Hold up thy Hand. Thou

art in the fame Condition, what canft thou fay

for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c?

James Temple. My Lord, I can fay no more,

I beg the Benefit of the Proclamation.

Clerk. Simon Meyne, Hold up thy Hand. Thou
art in the fame Condition, what canft thou fay

for thyfeif why Judgment, 13e?

Meyne. 1 have told you before, my Lord, I

have no more.

Clerk. Peter Temple, Hold up thy Hand. Thou
arc in the fame Condition, what canft thou fay

for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c?

Peter Temple. My Lord, I came in upon the

Proclamation, and I humbly beg the Benefit of it.

Clerk. Francis Hacker, Hold up thy Hand.

Thou arc in the fame Condition, what canft thou

fay for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c.

Hacker. My Lord, 1 have nothing to fay but

whac has been before your Lordfhips.

Clerk. Daniel Axtell, Hold up thy Hand. Thou
art in the fame Condition, what canft thou fay

for thyfeif why Judgment, (3c ?

Axtell. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, my Cafe
differs from the reft of the Gentlemen.

Lord Chief Baron. I would be loth to hinder

you, but I muft tell you, that what hath been
over-ruled muft not be fpoke to ; if you have

any Thing againft the Indictment, Matter of
Law, go on.

Axtell. I have one Thing more that I did not

then mention.

Lord Chief Baron. If it tend not as an Ex-
ception to the Indi&ment it is not to be heard.

Axtell. My Lord, then I (hall apply myfelf to i

that Point ; I humbly conceive, my Lord, that

my Overt-a£ts were not fufficiently fet down in

the Indictment, as might be fufficient in Law
to Attaint me of High-Treafon ; I do not re-

member that the Overt-act rhat was applied to

me in Evidence was charged in the Indictment ; ,

I have only that Exception, becaufe of the In

fufficiency of that Point. In the next Place,
,

my Lord, there is not the right Additions to i

my Name; there are many Peifonsof the fame

Name •, I am arraigned by the Name of Daniel

Axtell of Weftminfter, in the County of Middle-

sex, Gentleman. I think none knew me to live

there, and inhabit there.

Lord Chief Baron. I would not interrupt you;
this is paft j you (hould have made your Excep-
tion to that as Mafter Marten did before con-
cerning his Name ; that (hould have been firft

done ; you have appeared and pleaded to that

Name, and it was, late of Weflminfler.

Axtell. My Lord, I have this to fpeak in Ar-

reft of Judgment, that the Indictment being

grounded upon that' Statute of the Twenty fifth

of Edward the Third, it is either miftaken, or

not purfued ; my Lords, I did Yefterday give

you the Judgment of the Lords and Commons
concerning the Statute in relation to my Cafe;

1 fay the Statute was miftaken, or not purfued.

Lord Chief Baron. That was ofter'd before,Sir,

as to the Matter of it.

Axtell. My Lord, I think not, I am miftaken

if it were.

Lord Chief Baron. Then open it.

Axtell. My Lord, I do not find in thac Sta-

tute that Words are an Overt-act, Words only.

Lord ChiefBaron. This was over-ruled. The
Things that you objeaed were thefe, that there

is not any Overt-act that is laid that could be ap-

plicable to your Cafe; if it were not particu-

larly applicable (you are found Guilty by the

Jury,) it would be nothing: But there is an O-
vert-Aa, you were prefent at the Court, beat-

ing the Soldiers, fending for an Executioner:

But for Words, if one Man (hould fay, here is

the King, go and kill him, this is Treafon ; buE

you were guilty in all, according to Law. You
being there, and doing this, you were not guilty

only of the Words, but of all that was done;

there is none but Principals in Treafon. What
we fay and do to you we well know we muft an

fwer before God Almighty for it.

Axtell. I have but one Word more; truly I

do appeal to God, before whom I (hall havea-

nother Trial, I do not find my felf Guilty

either of Confulting, Contriving, or having a

Hand in the Death of the King, I am Innocent,

and I pray God that my Innocent Blood
Lord



ex ve jcides. J.03

Lord Chief Baron. Pray Sir-

Axtell. May not cry-

Lord Chief Baron. You are now to fpeak in

Arrcft of Judgment.
Axtell. I have no more ; I pray your Lord-

fhip's Favour and Mercy to me.

Clerk. William Hulet, alias Howlet, Hold up thy

Hand.Thou art in the fame Condition, what canft

thou fay for thy felt* why Judgment, &c?
Hulet. Truly, my Lord, 1 have little further

to fay; if you had been pleafed to give me fur-

ther Time 1 fhould have cleared myfelf ; I call

God above to Witnefs upon this Account that

I am as clear as any Man ; I fubmit to the Mer-
cy of the Court.

Lord Chief Baron. For that, I do believe, (but

cannot pofitivcly fay it,) that at your Requeft

(notwithftanding the Judgment will pafs againft

you) there may be fome Time till his Majefty's

Pleafure be known before any Execution wili

be upon that Judgment againft you; in the mean
time we mull proceed according to Law and

Juftice.

Proclamation for Silence whilft Judgment is

given.

The Lord Chief Baron's Speech before the

Sentence pronounced againft the afore-

named Prisoners found Guilty.

O U that are Prifoners at the Bar., you jland

here in feveral Capacities, yet all of you Per-

fons convicted of the dsteftable and execrable Mur-

der of our Sovereign Lord King Charles the Firfi

of bleffed Memory. Miftake me not, I do not jay

that you are all of you guilty of executing the Fact,

but in Law, and in Conference, (pro tanto, though

not pro toto,) you are guilty of it, in that you pre-

pared the Way and Means to it, in that you brought

his Head to the Block, though you did not cut it off.

Tou are here in 'Three Sorts, and I mufl apply my
Words accordingly ; and truly I do it with as much

Sorrow of Heart as you have, many of you being

Perfons of liberal Education, great Parts ; 1fay you

are of Three Sorts. There are fome of you, that,

though the Judgment of Death is to pafs againfi you,

by His Majefty's Grace and Favour, and the Mercy

under him, of the Two Houfes of Parliament, Exe-

cution is to be Sufpended until another Act of

Parliament fhall pafs to that Purpofe, that is, all

of you but Three ; for thofe Three, the one of them

that was laft called, William Heveningham, he is

in another Capacity too j for I prefume fome Time

will be given to him to confider of fomethir.g rela-

ting to him, before any Order will be given for his

Execution ; there are Two others of you, and that

is Daniel Axtell and Francis Flacker ; and for

you, as it yet flands before us, there is no Mercy,

there is no room for it : But though you be in thefe

feveral Claffes, yet what I jljall fay will concern

you all, becaufe I do not know how it may fall with

you ; none of us knows how foon we may come to

our Deaths, fome {probably) fooner than others ; all

mufl come to it: Ten are now before the Tribunal

of Man, but that is for Judgment for your Offence

here; but there is another Judgment hereafter, and

a Tribunal before which both you and we mufl

jland, every Man here, and we mufl receive accord-

ing to our Work ; thofe that have done ignorantly,

by a ferious and unfeigned Repentance God Almighty

may (hew Mercy unto them. He hath referved
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Mercy even for the greateft Offenders. St> Paul
himfelf, when he pcrfecuted Chrift ignorantly, upon

his Repentance he found Mercy ; thofe of you that

are not yet convicted in your Confcience of the Foul-

nefs of this horrid Fact, look into your Conjciences a
little more, and fee if it be not a great Judgment for
your former Offence, that you fiould be given over

to a Reprobate Senfe j let me tell you, a jeared Con-
fcience, a bold Confidence, not upon good Grounds, is

fo far from fecuring the Confcience, it may jlifle per-

haps the Mouth of Confcience, but it will rije up
more in Judgment againft you. Here you have made
your Defence, and I do not blame you for it ; Life is

precious, but remember the Thoughts of your Hearts
are open ; whether you did it ignorantly, covetoufty,

or to get the Government into your own Hands, that

1 am not able to fearch into, God and you only know
that; give me Leave to fay fomething, perhaps I
have repeated it by Parts before ; God is my Wit-
nefs what 1fpeak Ifpeak from mine own Confcience,

and that is this, Gentlemen, becaufe I faw it ftuck

withfome ofyou, that is, that whatfoever the Cafe
was, that by the Laws of thefe Nations, the Fun-
damental Laws, there could not be any Coercive

Power over your King. Ifpeak it again, becaufe I
would as near as I couldfpeak the whole Truth, and
would not miflead any Man in fuch a Cafe ; remem-
ber that no Power, no 1'erion, no Community
or Body of Men, (not the Peopie, either Collec-

tively or Reprefentativeiy,) have any Coercive
Power over the Peribn of the King, by the Fun-
damental Laws ; for that, Gentlemen, I jljall be-

gin to JJh'w you that which all of you might remem-
ber, that is, your Oaths of Allegiance and Supre-

macy, and to add to this that Obligation which all

this whole Nation did oblige themfelves to, by the

Parliament, without fjfhicftion, then rightly reprefent-

ed, and in Being, the firft of King James; whereby

to jhezvyou, that not only Perfons, but the Body Po-
litick of the Nations, not only the jingle Members,
but the Members in both Houfes of Parliament, were

Loyal and Obedient Subjects to ike King, their Fiead,

even to yield a Natural and Humble Obedience and
Allegiance. I told you the Act of 1 King James,
when King]ames came firft into England, We the

Lords and Commons reprefenting the whole
Peopie of the Nation, {the very Words of the

Act are fo primo Jacobi, Chap. 1 .) Reprefenting

the whole Body of the Nation, do acknowledge
an Humble and Natural Liege Obedience to the

King as Supreme, his Heirs and Succeffors ; and

in the Name of themfelves, and all the People,

humbly fubmit themfelves until the laft Drop of

their Blood be fpent in Defence of the King
and his Royal Pofterityj and therefore they did

oblige themfelves and all the People of England, as

far as they could reprefent them, {the Words are

more full than I can exprefs them, and indeed it is

fo Dark I cannot read them ;) They did acknowledge

to be bound to him and his Fmperial Crown. Remem-
ber thefe were not Words of Compliment ; you jfoall

find that they all of them, and fo did fo many of
you as ate Members of Parliament, yea, all of you,

before you came into the Houfe of Commons, did take

the Oath of Allegiance, which was made after this

Recognition, the Third and Fourth of King James,

or otherwife were not to be Members. What was
that Oath of Allegiance thatyou took? It was, that

you ftjould Defend the King, his Perfon, (that is in

3 Jacobi, Chapter the Fourth,) his Crown and Dig-

nity : What was it? Not only againft the Pope's

Power to Depoje, but the Words are, or otherwife ;

F f f z look
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look into the A®, and reflecl upon your own Confid-

ence, and you Jhall find that all did Sivear to defend

the King, his Crown and Dignity , and there 'it is

called Imperial Crown. / would have you lay this

to Heart, 'and fee how far you have kept this Oath :

Gentlemen, in the Oath of Supremacy, which you

all took, therein you did further acknowledge that

the King was the only Supreme Governor of this

Realm : Mark the Words, I will repeat them that

you may lay it to Heart ; you that have more Time to

apply it to your Fail; and you that have lefs Time,

for ought I know, you have reafon to confider what

I have to fay ; youfware then, that the King by the

Oath of Supremacy , which all ofyou have taken, or

ought to have taken ; if any of you have not taken it,

yet notwithfianding you are not abfolved from the

Obligation of it ; but mofi ofyou did take it; there

you did fwear that the King is the only Supreme

Governor of this Realm ; and you fwear there that

you would defend all Jurijdiclions, Privileges, P're-

heminences, and Authorities, granted or belonging

to the King's Highnefs, his Heirs, and Succejfors,

or united and annexed unto the Imperial Crown of

this Realm. For the Firfi, if the King be Supreme

then there is no Co-ordination. Non babet Majo-

rem,non habet Pzrem; thatWor^(Imperial Crown)
is at leaf in Nine or Ten feveral Statutes ; it is the

very Word in this Act that was made lately in pur-

fuance of former Atls concerning Judicial Proceed'

ings. And fo in the Time of King Charles, they

acknowledged him to be their Liege Sovereign; I

fay that Word Supreme, and fo the Word Impe-

rial Crown, is in the Firfi of gfucen Elizabeth, the

third and the Eighth of Elizabeth, the Twenty

fourth 0/Hen. 8. Chap. II. there it is faid this

Kingdom is an Imperial Crown, fubjecl: to none

but God Almighty. Before thefe 'times you Jhall

find in the i<5 of Richard the Second, the Statute of

Prsemunire, the Crown of England Subjecl to God

alone. I will go higher, William Rufus, (fome of

you are Hiflorians, and you fhall find the fame in

Eadmerus, and alfo in Matthew Paris, fioortly after

William Rufus his Time,) when he wrote to the

Pope he Challenged, and had the fame Liberty in this

Kingdom of England, as the Emperor had in his

Empire; (mifiake me not, L fpeak only as to the

Perfon of the King,) I do not meddle of Rights be-

tween the King and Subjeels, or SubjeU and Subjecl

;

you fee in this Cafe concerning the Death of his Ma-
jefiy's Dear Father, and our Bkffed Sovereign, of

happy Memory, he doth not judge himfelf, but ac-

cording to Law; that which I affert is as to the Per-

fon of the King, which was the Privilege of Empe-
rors, as to their Perfonal Privileges ; if he had of-

fended, and committed an Offence, he was only ac-

countable to God himfelf. I will come back to what
1 have faid ; youfwore to be faithful to the King as

Supreme. The King of Poland hath a Crown, but at

his Oath of Coronation it is conditioned with the

People, that if he fhall not Govern according tofuch

and fuch Rules they fioall be freed from their Ho-
mage and Allegiance. But it differs with our King,

for he was a King before Oath. The King takes his

Oath, but not upon any Condition ; this IJhew you,

to let you fee that we have no coercive Power againfi

the King. The King of England was anointed with

Oil at his Coronation, which was to Jhew that Abfo-
late Power, {I do not fay of Government ,) but of
being accountable to God for what be did : The Law
jaith, The King doth no Injury to any Man;
tiOl but that the King may have the Imbecillities and

Infirmities of other Men, but the King in his Sin'

gle Perfon can do no Wrong: But if the King com-

mand a Man to beat me, or to diffeize me of my,

Land, I have my Remedy againfi the Man, though-

not againfi the King. The Law in all Cafes pre-

ferves the Perfon of the King to be untouched; but

what is done by his Minifiers unlawfully, there is

a Remedy againfi his Minifiers for it ; but in this

Cafe, when you come to the Perfon of the King,

what do our Law-books fay he is? They call it,

Caput Rcipublicse, Salus Populi, the Lieutenant

of God ; and let me tell you, there was never

fuch a Blow given to the Church of England, and

the Protefiant Religion. There was a Cafe, and
that of the Spencers, you [hall find in the ytb

Report of the Lord Coke, in Calvin'/ Cafe, that

Homage is due to the King in his Politick Capa-

city, and then they made this damnable Inference?

that therefore if the King did not demean himfelf as

be ought, that he fhould be reformed, pure afper-

tee, by Afperity, Sharpnefs, or Imprifnment : But
thefe were condemned by Two Acls of Parliament

in Print, that they could not do that even in that

Cafe ; one was called the Ban!foment of Hugh
Spencer; and the other is in I Edward 5. upon

the Roll. My Mafiers, in the firft of Henry the

Seventh you Jhall find it in the Printed Seven Books
y

he faith, That as to the Regality of his Crown,
he is immediately Subjecl: unto God. Mark
the Doclrine of the Church of England, Gentlemen ;

/ do not know with what Spirit of Equivocation any

Man can take that Oath of Supremacy : lou fioallfind

in the Articles of the Church of England, the laft but

One or Two ; it is that Article which fets forth

the Doclrine of the Church of England ; they Jay,-

that the ghieen, and fo the King, hath the Supreme

Power in this Realm, andhath the ChiefGovernment

over all the Eftates of the Realm ; the very Words
are fo ; this was fioortly after making the Acl ; the-

Articles were in if6z, and Jhe came in iff 8, or

I ffp ; it is to Jhew you the King hath the chief Go-

vernment over all the Eftates within the Nation>
and ifyou look upon it, you Jhallfind it was not on-

ly the Judgment of the Church, but of the Parlia-

ment at the fame time. They did confirm this Atticle

Jo far, that they appointed that no Man fhould take,

or be capable of a Living,, but thefe that had taken

that Oath. God forgive thofe Minifiers that went

againfi it. The ffjfueen, and the Church were wil-

ling that thefe fhould be put into Latin, that all the

World might fee the Confejfion of the Church of
England, and of the People of England ; you may
read it in Cambden : / have told you bow, and

wherein, the chief Power confified; not in Refpeit

the King could do what he would; no, the Empe-
rors themfelves did not challenge that ; but this they

challenge by it, that they were not accountable t» t

Man for what they did: No Man ought to touch \

the Perfon of the King ; / prefs it to you in the Point I

of Confcience ; you fee in the Scripture, in Pfalm .1

5*1. the Pfalm of Mercy, wherein we ask Pardon

of God of our great Offences; I think none ofyw
in this Condition but -will join in this ; you know the

Adultery and Murder that David committed, this

Penitential Pfalm was made for that ; what doth

he fay? Againft thee, thee only have I finned,

&c. tibi foli peccavi, Domine; not becaufe he had

not finned againfi Man, for "'tis plain he had finned

both againfi Bethfheba andUrhh too; but becaufe

he was not liable to the Tribunal of Man, he was not

bound or accountable to any Man upon Earth. And
now, my Mafiers, I bejeech you confider, that fome

of you for ought 1 know fuddenly, and Jome ofyou

for
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for ought I know not long after, all of us, we do

not know bow foon, muft come to make a right

Account to God of what we have done. After this

Life you enter into an Eternity, an Eternity, an

Eternity of Happinefs, or of Woe ; God Almighty

is merciful to thofe that are truly penitent ; the

Thief upon the Crofs, and to all that are of a peni-

tent Heart. Tou are Perfons of Education, do not

you go on in an obflinate perverfe Courfe, for Shame

ofMen, even this Shame which you now have, and

which you may have when you come to die; afan-

Uified Ufe may be made of it; you pay to God fome

Part of that Punijhment which you owe to him

for your Sins. J have no more to fay, but the next

-Thing I have to do, is to give the Sentence, the Judg-

ment, which truly I do with as unwilling a Heart

as you do receive it. Tou Prifoners at the Bar, the

'Judgment of the Court is this, and the Court doth

award, That you be led back to the Place from

whence you came, and from thence to be drawn

upon an Hurdle to the Place of Execution, and

there you {hall be Hanged by the Neck, and be-

ing alive mail be cut down, and your Privy

Members to be cut off, your Entrails to be ta-

ken out of your Bodies, and (you living) the

fame to be Burnt before your Eyes, and your

Heads to be cut off, your Bodies to be divided

into Four Quarters, and Heads and Quarters to

be difpofed of at the Pleafure of the KingsMajefly,

and the Lord have Mercy upon your Souls.

Court adjourned till Friday Morning Seven a

Clock.
Friday, Otlober ip, 1660.

Set William Heveningham to the Bar.

Serjeant Keeling. May it pleafe your Lordfhips,

the Prifoner at the Bar, William Heveningham,

hath been Indicted for High-Treafon, for Com-

paring and Imagining the Death of the late

King of Bleffed Memory ; he has been Tried,

the Jury has found him Guilty, I do humbly

move your Lordfhips in the Behalf of the King

that you will proceed to Judgment.

Clerk. William Heveningham, Hold up thy

Hand. What canft thou fay for thyfelf why
Judgment, cj?V-?

Heveningham. My Lords, I have nothing more

to fay than 1 faid formerly, only I plead the Be-

nefit of the Proclamation, and call myfelf upon

the Mercy of our moft Gracious Sovereign and

defne your Lordfhips to be Mediators on my
Behalf.

Lord Chief Baron. By the Aft of Indemnity

(of which you claim the Benefit, and we ought

to take notice of it) we are to proceed to Judg-

ment, but no Execution of this Judgment is to

be until by another Ad of Parliament, by Con-

fent of the King, it fhall be ordered. And there-

fore I need not fpeak any more of that, or any

Exhortation to prepare yourfelf for Death ; our

"Work is only to give Judgment. The Judg-

ment of the Court is this, and the Court doth

award, that you the Prifoner at the Bar be led

back to, &V. and the Lord have Mercy upon

your Soul.

Of thefe, Ten only were Executed, viz.

Thomas Harrifon. Gregory Clements.

John Carew. John Jones.

John Cook. Daniel Axtell.

Thomas Scot. Francis Hacker.

Hugh Peters. Adrian Scroop.

405
Whofe'Behaviour at their Execution is thus

related by their feveral Friends.

The Execution of Major-General Har r i-

s o n, the \$tb Day of October, 1660,

at Charing-Crofs.

THE Sheriff came that Morning that he was

to die, and told him, that in half an Hour
he muff, be gone ; he anfwer'd, that he was rea-

dy, and would not have him flay at all on his

account. But the Sheriff left him to flay a little

longer, and in the mean time, he was longing for

the Sheriff's coming, and as his Friends judg'd

he was in hafle to be gone, and Did, He was
going about a great Work for the Lord that

Day; and that his Support wa c
, that bis Suffe-

rings were upon the account of Jehovah, the

Lord of Hofts. He faid, He look'd upon this

as a clear Anfwer of his Prayers; for many a

time, faid he, have I begg'd of the Lord, That
if he had any hard Thing, any reproachful

Work, or contemptible Service to be done by
his People, That I fhould be employ'd in it;

And now bleffed be the name of God^ who account-

eth me worthy to be put upon this Service for my
Lord Chrifl : Oh, this, is nothing to what Chrifl

fuffefd for me !

He parted with his Wife and Friends with
great Joy and Chearfulnefs, as he did u(e to do
when going fome Journey, or about fome Ser-

vice for the Lord. He told his Wife he had
nothing to leave her but his Bible ; but that he
was affined that God would make up all her
Loffes in due time ; and defired, that thofe that

did love him, fhould manifefl their Love in be-
ing loving and tender to his dear Wife.

The Sheriff commanding the Keeper to ac-

quaint Mr, Harrifon he muff go to fuffer, the

Keeper came forth, and return'd Anfwer, That
he was ready when he pleas'd : Then the Sheriff

commanded the Keeper to fetch him forth; fo

he came forth immediately, foonerthan was ex-

pected ; (running down the Stairs with a fmiling

Countenance;) by reafon of his fudden coming,
the Door (that he was to go up a pair of Stairs

at) was not open'd, which occailon'd his Stay
in the Hall till the Keeper could be found ; and
there one Mrs. M. took him by the Hand, and
faid, with a loud Voice, Bleffed be the great God
of Hofls, that hath enabled you, and call'd you

forth to bear your Teftimony ; the God of all Grace

and Peace be with you, and keep you faithful to the

Death, that you may receive a Crown of Life. W'ith
that one of the Officers pulled the Woman away
by the Shoulder, faying, Away with this Wo-
man, (he (lands prating here. But the Major-
General replied, Be not offended with her, "fhe

fpeaks Scripture-Language: So they thruft her

away from him, and would not permit any to

fpeak more to him in that Place.

Then he was carried into a Room where the

common Prifoners were, and told them what a

fad thing it was to be condemn'd to die, and to

want the Love and Favour ofGod ; But it's not

fo with me; for tho' I die ; yet 1 know I fhall

live with Chrifl to all Eternity, and this is out

of the exceeding Riches of the Grace of God;
for he it is that maketh the Difference: For as

I am in myfelf, I am a bafe, vile, and nothing

Creature; but compleat in him who is the Head
of
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of all Principalities and Powers. Poor Men! I

wifhyou alias well as I do my own Soul. Oh
that you did but know Chrirt ! his Bowels yearn

towards the greatelb of Sinners ; his Blood is

fufficient to do away the deepeft Iniquity ; he

waiteth to be gracious, and is willing to receive

all that come unto him : Oh therefore labour to

come to Chrilt! your Time in this World is

fhort and uncertain} you are walking upon the

Brink of Eternity, and are ready to drop in e-

very Moment; if you die without the Fear of

our God, you will bemiferablefor ever and ever;

but if you come to know Chrift to be yours, it

will be your Joy and Happinefs World without

End. He then put his Hands into his Pocket

and gave them fome Money, and wifh'd them

to take heed of finning againft the Lord. And
from thence was earned upon the Leads on the

Top of Newgate, fo that he could fee the great-

eft Part of the City ; he then faid, The Earth is

the Lord's, and the Fulne/s thereo/, and there is

nothing hid from his Eyes. From thence he was
carry'd down two Pair of Stairs, where he was
tied about the Back, Breaft, and Shoulders; he

took the Rope in his Hand and faid, Friends,

take notice that God gives me Power to receive this

'with Than/giving, and he help'd the Serjeant to

put on the Rope. Then a Friend came weep-
ing to him to take her leave of him, he faid,

Hinder me not, for I am going about a Work /or my
Mafler. Then looking about him, faid, Sin,

it's eafy to folloiv God -when he makes a Hedge a-

bout us, and makes liberal Provifionfor us ; but it's

hard for mo/ to follow him in fucha Difpenfation

as this; and yet my Lord and Mafler is as J'weet

and glorious to me now, as he was in the time of my
greatefl Profperity.

He alfo faid, this I can fay for myfelf, That

according to the Light that God hath given me, I
have ferved him and my Country with Integrity and

Uprightnefs of Heart, not willingly nor wittingly

wronging any: But this I have done with much
Infirmity and Weaknefs. One telling him, that

he did not know how to underftand the Mind
of God in fuch a Difpenfation as this : He faid,

Wait upon the Lord ; for you know not what the

Lord is leading to, and what the End of the Lord
will be.

After this, addreffing himfelftoa Gentleman,

he faid, / dare not, nor cannot be a Pleafer of Men :

A Friend anfwer'd, it appear'd fo by your declin-

ing Cromwell's Jntereft; which Words he af-

fented to, and further faid, The manner of my
/peaking before the Court may /eem /range to /ome

;

but my Deftgn was not to approve my/elf before

Men, but God; and what Ifaid, was according to

my Confcience. And as the Rope was tying on,

he repeated I/aac's Words to [Abraham ; Father,

here is the Wood, but where is the Sacri/ce ? and
alfo faid, If the Lord fee good, he can provide a-

nother Sacri/ce, he can deliver thofe that are ap-

pointed to die; but his Will be done, Death is not

terrible to me ; yea, it is no more to me than a Rufh,

1 have learn*d to die long ago. And was often

heard to fay, concerning the Lord's Difpenfation

to him and his People, Shall not the Lord do

with his own what it pleafeth him ? And fo part-

,
ing with his Friend, went down Stairs to the

Sledge, and ask'd which way muft I fit? for I

am not acquainted with this : Good is the Lord in

all his Ways. Then he was carried away, in the

•Sledge, having a fweet fmiling Countenance,

with his Eyes and Hands lifted up to Heaven
his Countenance never changing in all the Way
as he went to the Place of Execution, but was
mighty cheerful to the Aftonifhment of many.
He call'd feveral times in the Way, and fpoke
aloud, I go to faffer upon the sfecount 0/ the mofi
glorious Cau/e that ever was in the World. As he
was going to fuffer, one in a Derifion call'd t >

him and faid, Where is your Good Old Cau/e? He
with a cheerful Smile clapt his Hand on his
Bread, and faid, Here it is, and I am going to

feal it with my Blood. And when he came" to
the Sight of the Gal'ows, he was tranfported-
.with Joy, and his Servant ask'd him how he did ;
he anfwer'd, Never better in my Lire : His Ser-
vant told him, Sir, there is a Crown of Glory
ready prepar'd for you. O yes, faid he, I fee
it. When he was taken off the Sledpe, the
Hingman defir'd him to forgive him. J°do for-
give thee, faid he, with all my Heart, as it is a
Sin agsinlb me; and told him he wifh'd him all

Happ:nefs. And further faid, Alas poor Man
thou do ft it ignorantly; the Lord grant that this
Sin may not be laid to thy Charge: And puttiuJ
his Hand into his Pocket, gave him all the Mo-
ney he had } and fo parting with his Servant,
nugg' ng of him in his Arms, he went up the
Ladder with an undaunted Countenance ; from
whence he fpake to the Multitude as follows.

Gentlemen,

I Did not expect to have fpoken a Word to
i you at this time; but feeing there is a Silence
commanded, I will fpeak fomething of the Work
God had in Hand in our Days.
Many of you have been WitnefTes of the Fin-

ger of God that hath been ken amongft us of
late Years, in the Deliverance of his People from
their Oppi-eifors, and in bringing to Judgment
thofe that were guilty of the precious* Blood of
the dear Servants of the Lord. And how God
did witnefs thereto by many wonderful and evi-
dent Teftimonies, as it were immediately from
Heaven j infomuch that many of our Enemies,
who were Perfons of no mean Quality, were
fore'd to confefs, That God was with us ; And if
God did but/and neuter, theyfhould not value us:
And therefore, feeing the Finger of God hath'
been pleading this Caufe, I fhall not need to
fpeak much to it : In which Work I with o-
thers were cngag'd ; for the which, I do from
my Soul blefs the Name of God, who out of th e
exceeding Riches of his Grace accounted me
worthy to be inftrumental in fo glorious a Work;
and tho' I am wrongfully charged with Mur-
der and Bloodfhed, yet I muft tell you I have
kept a good Confcience both towards God, and
towards Man; I never had Malice againft any
Man, neither did I aft malicioufly towards any
Perfon, but as I judged them to be Enemies to
God and his People; and the Lord is my Wit-
nefs that I have done what I did out of the Sin-
cerity of my Heart to the Lord. I blefs God f

have no Guilt upon my Confcience, but the
Spirit of God beareth Witnefs that my Actions
are acceptable to the Lord, thro' Jefus Chrift'j
tho' I have been compafTed about with manifold
Infirmities, Failings and Imperfections in my ho-
lieft Duties; but in this I have Comfort and Con-
folation, that I have Pe^ce with God, and do fee

all my Sins wafh'd away in the Blood of my dear
Saviour. And 1 do declare as before the Lord,

that
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that I would not be guilty wittingly, nor wil-

lingly, of the Blood of the meanelt Son, no not

for ten thoufand Worlds, much lefs of the Blood

of fuch as I am charged with.

1 have again and again befought the Lord with

Tears to make known his Will and Mind unto

me concerning it, and to this Day he hath rather

confirmed me in the Juftice of it, and therefore

I leave it to him, and to him I commit my
Ways; but fome that were eminent in the Work,

did wickedly turn afide themfelves, and to fee

up their Nefls on high, which caufed great Dif-

honour to the Name of God, and the Profeffion

they had made. And the Lord knows I could

have fuffered more than this, rather than have

fallen in with them in that Iniquity, tho' I was

offer'd what I would if I would have joined

with them ; my Aim in all my Proceedings was

the Glory of God, and., the Good of his Peo-

ple, and the Welfare of the whole Common-
wealth.

The People obferving him to tremble in his Hands

and Legs, he taking notice of it, [aid

:

Gentlemen, By rcafon of fome Scoffing that

I do hear, I judge that fome do think I am a-

fraid to die, by the Shaking I have in my Hands

and Knees ; I tell you, no, but it is by reafon of

much Blood I have loft in the Wars, and many

Wounds I have received in my Body, which cau-

fed this Shaking and Weaknefs in my Nerves;

I have had it this twelve Years: I fpeak this

to the Praife and Glory of God j he hath carri-

ed me above the Fear of Death ; and I value not

my Life, becaufe I go to my Father, and am af-

fured I mall take it up again.

Gentlemen. Take notice, that for being inftru-

mental in that Caufe and Intereft of the Son

of God, which hath been pleaded amongft us^

and which God hath witneffed to my Appeals

and wonderful Victories, I am brought to this

Place, to fuffer Death this Day ; and if I had

ten thoufand Lives, I could freely and chear-

fully lay them down all, to witnefs to this Mat-

ter.

Oh, what am I, poor Worm, that I mould

be accounted worthy to fuffer any thing for the

fake of my Lord and Saviour Jefus Chrift! I

have gone joyfully and willingly, many a time,

to lay down my Life upon the Account of

Chrift, but never with fo much Joy and Free-

dom as at this time ; I do not lay down my Life

by Conftraint, but willingly; for if I had been

minded to have run away, I might have had ma-
ny Opportunities; but being fo clear in the

thing, I durft not turn my Back, nor ftep a

Foot out of the Way, by reafon I had been en-

gaged in the Service of fo glorious and great a

God. However, Men prefume to call it by

hard Names; yet I believe, ere it be long, the

Lord will make it known from Heaven that

there was more of God in it than Men are now
aware of.

[The Sheriff minding him of the Shortnefs of
time, if he had any thing to fay to the People, he

might.']

He faid, I do defire as from my own Soul, that

they and every one may fear the Lord, that they

may confider their latter End, and fo it may be

well with them ; and even for the worft oi thofe

that have been moft malicious againft me, from
my Soul, I would forgive 'em all fo far as any

thing concerns me ; and h far as it concerns the

Caufe and Glory of God, I leave it for him to
plead ; and as for the Caufe of God, I am wil-
ling to juftify it by my Sufferings, according to

the good Pleafure of his Will.

I have been this Morning, before I came hi-

ther, fo hurried up and down Stairs (the mean-
ing whereof I knew not) that my Spirits are al-

moft fpent ; therefore you may not expect much
from me.

Oh the Greatnefs of the Love of God to fuch
a pool-, vile, and nothing Creature as I am I what
am I, that Jefus Chrift fhould fhed his Heart's
Blood for me, that I might be happy to all E-
ternity, that I might be made a Son of God„
and an Heir of Heaven! Oh, that Chrift fhould
undergo fo great Sufferings and Reproaches for
me! And fhould not I be willing to lay down
my Life, and fuffer Reproaches for him that hath
fo loved me ! Bleffed be the Name of God that,

I have a Life to lofe upon fo glorious, and fo ho-
nourable an Account: [Then praying to himfeif,
•with 'Tears ; and having ended, the Hang-man pull d
down his Cap ; but he tlrrufl it up again, faying,'] I

have one Word more to the Lord's People, that
defire to ferve him with an upright Heart: Lee
'em not think hardly of any of the good Ways
of God for all this ; for I have been near this fe-

ven Years a fuffering Perfon, and have found the
Way of God to be a perfedt Way, his Word a
tried Word, a Buckler to them thattruftinhim,
and will make known his glorious Arm in the
Sight of all Nations. And tho' we may fuffer

hard Things, yet he hath a gracious End, and
will make a good End for his own Glory, and
the Good of his People } therefore be chearful
in the Lord your God, hold faft that which
you have, and be not afraid of Suffering; for

God will make hard and bitter Things fweec
and eafy to all thofe that truft in him: Keep
clofe to the good Confeffion you have made
of Jefus Chritt, and look to the Recompence
of Reward; be not difcouraged by reafon of
the Cloud that now is upon you; for the
Sun will fhine, and God will give a Teltimony
unto what he hath been a doing, in a fhort
Time.
And now I defire to commit my Concernments

into the Hands of my Lord and Saviour Jefus
Chrift, he that hath deliver'd himfeif for the

chief of Sinners; he that came into the World,
was made Flefh, and was crucified j that hath
loved me, and wafhed me from my Sins in his

own Blood, and is rifen again, fitting at the
right Hand of God, making Interceffion for
me.
And as for me, Oh ! who am I, poor, bafe,

vile Worm, that God fhould deal thus by me?
for this will make me come the fooner into his

Glory, and to inherit the Kingdom, and that

Crown prepar'd for me! Oh, I have ferved a

good Lord and Mafter, which hath helped me
from my Beginning to this Day, and hath car-

ried me thro' many Difficulties, Trials, Straits^

and Temptations, and hath always been a very

prefent Help in Time of Trouble} he hath co-

ver'd my Head many times in the Day of Bat-

tle: By God I have leaped over a Wall, by
God I have run thro' a Troop, and by my God
I will go thro' this Death, and he will make it;

eafy to me. Now into thy Hands, O Lord Je-

fus, I commit my Spirit. [Then he was turn'

d

off, and was cut down alive, for after his Body was
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open'd, he mounted him/elf, andgave the Executio-

ner a Box on the Ear.']

The Execution of Mr. John C a r e w,

the i$tb Day of October 1660, at Cha-

ring- Crofs.

TH E Day he fuffer'd, and the Hour being

come, the Rope being ty'd about him, he

rejoyc'd exceedingly, faying, Oh! What am I,

that IJhould be bound for the Caufe and Intereft of

the Son of God? And when he was coming

down Newgate Stairs, to go into the Sledge, in

a very fmiling, chearful manner, he utter'd

Words to this EffecT: ; My Lord Jefus, for the

Joy that was fet before him, endur'd the Crofs, and

defpifed the Shame, and is now fet down on the

right Hand of God; ivhofe Steps I defire to follow.

It was alfo obferv'd, that the Chearfulnefs of his

Countenance, all the way as he went to the Gib-

bet, remain'd, to the Encouragement of the

Faithful, and Admiration of Enemies, uttering

by the way many chearful ExprefTions, fetting

forth his Joy in the Lord.

When he was brought to the Gibbet, before

he went up the Ladder (his Hands being bound)

he exhorted feveral Friends Handing by, to be

faithful unto Death, and not to be afhamed of

the Caufe for which they fuffered, and they

fhould receive a Crown of Life. And further

faid to a Friend that flood by, That he hoped

the Truths of the Kingdom which he had

preach'd up and down would not be the lefs

efteemed, for that he came now to Seal them

with his Blood.

After he had mounted the Ladder, he made
the following Speech.

Truly, it is not Words, nor that which I have

to fpeak in mine own Spirit, will glorify God,
or give any Advantage to your Souls, or unto

me: But it is, if I may fpeak a few Words in

the Spirit of the Lord, and in the Power of his

Might, and from an unfeigned Love unto Jefus

Chrift: That would indeed give me an open
Entrance, and make my Paffage very fweet ; and

a Blefhng may be behind, even upon you. The
firft thing (indeed) that hath been very weighty
(and I defire to leave it upon all, upon Saints,

as well as upon thofe that are not acquainted with

Jefus Chrilt) that Eternity, Immortality, and E-
ternal Life, it is a wonderful thing •, the Thoughts
and Apprehenfions of it are able to fwallow up a

poor Soul: We little think what it is ; he that

knows mod of God, and moft of Chrift, and
hath the greateft Meafure of the Anointing, he

little, little knows what it is to appear before

the holy, the moft g'orious, the moil righteous

God of Heaven and Earth ; to ftand before his

Judgment-Sear, before Jefus Chrift that is at his

Right Hand: And where all the holy Angels

are fo afhamed (becaufe of the Glory of God)
that they fall down and cover their Faces, and

cry, Holy, Holy, Lord God Almighty, which art,

and waft, and art to come. And therefore, if fuch

glorious Creatures, if fuch excellent Spirits, as

thefe Seraphins and Cherubms be, if they do fall

down before the Glory and Majefty of this moft

excellent and wonderful God, how fhould Dull
and Afhes do? And how fhould they fear and

tremble to appear before him? and therefore, I

fay, think of thi?, and of the Righteoufnefs of
God, as well as of his Glory and Majefty, and
of his Jufticej that when for one Sin he threw
down the Angels (thofe glorious Spirits) into
Hell, and he would takenoRanfom or Redemp-
tion for them* and tho' he hath Mercy on the
Sons of Men (according to his own Election and
Purpofe, and according to that that he hathpur-
chaled forhimfelfin Chrift Jefus before the Foun-
dation of the World was laid) yet in time he
made his Son a Sacrifice before Men and Angels,
to bring his chofen Ones to Glory. That he
fhould take Pleafure to fend his own Son out of
his Bofom, who was the Delight of his Soul,
and bruife him for our Sins; yet it pleafed ihe
Father to bruife him. The moft holy and righ-
teous God, that had but one Son, one only be-
gotten Son (that was the Delight of his Soul)
and fhould take Pleafure to bruife him, that we
might be healed, and laid Stripes upon him that
we might be healed! Oh! the Height and
Depth! Oh! the Length and Breadth of the
Love of God in Chrift Jefus unto poor Souls.
Oh ! this i> that the Angels do defire to ftoop
down and look into, and to know more of this
great Myftery of the Love of God in Chrift:
And that God fhould take upon him the Nature
of Man, and put him into that glorious Union
with his own Sonj and that he fhould leave the
Angels, tho' Chrift was made a little lower than
they for fuffering Death for us: Yet now, be-
caufe the Nature of Man is united to the God-
head by virtue of that Marriage and Union, we
become the Sons of God, and Heirs of Glory.
Thofe that 2re adopted by Jefus Chrift arc
brought near to the Throne of Glory, are in a
high and glorious Communion and Fellowfhip
with, the Father and Spirit, owned of all the
holy Angels. And therefore they do ftand with-
out the Throne (as in feveral Places of the Reve-
lations) and round about the Elders, and round about
thofe that were given to the Lamb (as in the fifth

of the Revelations, and many other Scriptures)
they ftand without ; but there is another Com-
pany within, which is the twenty-four Eiders,
and four living Creatures, they fall down and
worfhip God, they are nearer than the Angels;
Oh! who hath credited, who hath believed this
Report, and to whom is the Arm of the Lord
revealed ? Oh ! how many ProfefTors are there
in this Day, in this Nation, that call upon the
Name of Chrift, and that fay they fhall be faved
by Chrift, and do live and truft moft in their

own Works and Righteoufnefs ; and never come
to the Knowledge and Underftanding of this

great Myftery of the Love of God in Chrift?
Who never received thofe Teachings from the
Anointing, and according to the New Covenant,
where it is promifed, that they fhall be all taught
of Godj all the Children of God fhall be taught
of him, and there is no one can teach thefe but
the Father, none can draw them to the Son but
the Father; and no Man can come to the Father
but through the Son: And this great Myftery
is both by the Light and Operation of the holy
Spirit, who makes the new Creature in the Soul :

O that God would pour out of his Holy Spirit!

that God would pour out the Spirit of the New
Covenant, and the Spirit of the Gofpel, and the
Spirit that can declare the Myftery of God's
Word in the Spirit, and that he hath made ma-
nifeft through Jefus Chrift. Oh! there is much

talking
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talking and fpeaking in the Name of Chrift, and

how many Men fpend little Time in getting E-

vidences in the Power and Demonftration of the

Spirit, and come to apprehend God in Chrift,

that fpeak of him? Oh! there are few of thefe,

the Lord knows. O that the Anointing may be

poured out more now, according to this Faith,

in the way of this Grace, and in this Love of

God, even in the Electing Love of the Father

;

and in the Redeeming Blood of Jefus Chrift, ac-

cording to the purchafed Pofleflion that he hath

obtained through his own Righteoufnefs, where-

in God hath been juft alfo, in juftifying the Un-

godly ; and among them, fuch a poor Ample

Piece of Duft and Afbes as I have been, and

have to this Day little glorified my Father ; and

yet I can call him Father, thro' fome meafure of

his Spirit, and Father, according to the Spirit

of Adoption too; and can fay the Lord Jefus

hath given himfelf for me } and I take the Lord

Jefus Chrift as the great Gift of the Father, de-

firing to bear witnefs of that Love, and of that

wonderful Grace and Glory, that he hath made

me Partaker of in and thro' him. Oh ! blefled

be the God and Father of our Lord and Saviour

Jefus Chrift, who hath called me to this Hope,

and who hath made me Partaker of this Glory,

that the Saints are enlightned in. And now I

long to fee the Face of this Father, and of his

Son, tho' I have fuch a Number of Sins in me;
and tho' I have an Intereft in him, and can call

him Father at any time, without Doubt, and in

full Aflurance of Faith in the Holy Spirit ; yet if

Jefus Chrift were not there, to prefent me f.iult-

Jefs before the Prefence of God, I {hould be a-

fraid to appear before him ; but he is able to do

it, and therefore faith the Apoftle, Now unto

him that is able tofave you, and to prefent youfault-

lefs before the Prefence of his Glory with exceeding

Joy, <kc. I am a poor finful Piece, full of Ini-

quity, laden with many Burdens, that have a

Body of Death that 1 carry about me, and I am
now about to lay it down, and my Soul (hall

enter into eternal Life, and be made perfect in

a Moment, thro' the mighty Power of God that

hath wrought that glorious Work of railing

Chrift from the Dead. Oh ! all my Strength,

and all my Joy, and all my Life is in Chrift, and

in him alone; and I have a Righteoufnefs al-

ready of his working, according to his own Grace,

and according to his own mighty Power, and

according to his own Mercy, that he hath been

pleafed to work in me; and fo hath been plea-

fed to keep me in a very wicked, and in a very

evil Day, by the Power of his Grace. And I

deli re to glorify my Father, and many Years

have I been in that Work, that hath been of

late in this Nation; a few and evil have been the

Days of my Pilgrimage, but 1 have defired to

ferve the Lord with Faithfulnefs, ;md in the In-1

tegrity of my S;;ul, without Prejudice againft

any Creature, and it hath been the Defire of my
Soul to approve myfelf faithful towards God,
and towards Man : And what I have done, I

have done it in Obedience to the Lord ; that I

had in my Eye, and in my Heart. There are

many things laid upon many of thofe that pro-

fe(s the Kingdom and glorious Appearance of
Jefus Chrift, as if they were Enemies to Magi-
itracy and Miniftry ; and, as if fo be we were
for theDeftru&ion of the Laws and Properties of
Mankind ; therefore ihall I fpeak a few Words
Vol. II.

unto that: And if indeed we were fuch, we
were fit to be turn'd out of the World ; as fome
now think they fhould do God good Service in

fending fuch poor Creatures quickly from hence.

There is no fuch thing ; I defiie to bear Witnefs

to the true Magiftracy, that Magiftracy that is

in the Word of the Lord. And that true -Mini-

ftry, which Miniftry is a Miniftry from the A-
nointing; that doth bear Witnefs to the Lord
Jefus, and hath his Holy Spirit. ThatTeltimo-
ny I defire to bear; and thatTeftimony I defire

to ftand faithful in, with Integrity to the Lord
Jefus, as King of Saints, and King of Nations.

And therefore it is, I fay, to have a Magiftracy

as at the firft, and Counfellors as at the beginning,

Men fearing God and hating Covetoufnefs. And
that Miniftry as doth preach the everlafting Gof-
pel.

Here Mr. Sheriff interrupted him, faying, ,e
Tis

defired that you fpend the reft of your Time in prepa?

ring yourfelf. Another faid, You fpend your(elfr
Sir, in this Difcourfe. Another faid, It rains. Then
Mr. Careiv faid, Iwill pray.

His Prayer being ended, a Friend that flood

by, faid. // is expected you fhould fpecik fomething
to the Matter ofyour Suffering. The Under- Sheriff

faid, 'Tisnot to befuffer'd; What are you, that you
put on Men to fpeak? What are you, Sir ?

Mr. Carew faid, Farewel, my dear Friends, fare-

well the Lord keep youfaithful. The Friend faid,

We part with you with much Joy in our Souls.

Mr. Carew faid to the Executioner, Stay a
while, I will fpeak one Word, and then faid very
folemnly, with aloud Voice, Lord Jefus, receive

my Soul-, Lord Jefusj into thy Hands I commend my
Spirit. And then was turn'd off.

Mr. John Coou Execution, the \6th

fDay of O&ober, 1660, at the fame
Place.

Mr. Cook to Mr. Peters in the Dungeon, faid,

_ Rother Peters, we fhall be in Fleaven to-

3 morrow in Blifs and Glory ; what a Blefled

Thing is that ? my very Heart leaps within me
for Joy; I am now juft as I was in the Storm,
almoft in Sight of Heaven; read me Ifaiah xliii.

©, 10. and lxi. 10, 11. Hof. xiii. 14.

Then looking upon his Bed, faid, That fhall

be my laft Pillow ; I will lay me down and fleep

awhile: and he flept about an Hour and half, and
then awoke, faying, Now farewel bleep, no
more Sleep in this World, and farewel Darknefs

and Night, I am going where there fhall be no
Night, neither need of a Candle, nor of the

Sun, for the Lord will give us Light, yea, the

Lord will be our everlafting Light, and our God will

be our Glory.

And welcome every Thing that gives notice

the Hour is at Hand, welcome the Cock that

crows, welcome fweet Death, my good Friend,

that will bring me fo near Eternity. O blefled

be God, blefled be his Name; Oh this Chrift

is a blefled Chrift ! he anfwereth all Things, and

within few Hours we fhall be crown'd with Glory

and Victory ; blefled be our Lord Jefus that

hath given us the Victory over Sin and Death.

Welcome Mr. Loman, my Keeper, welcome An-
gels, that will within a few Hours take the Of-

fice, and guard me into Eternity.

Ggg Ac
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At Midnight he pray'd very fervently, and the

common Prifoners heard him, and feem'd very

forrowful by their Expreffions, faying, Sir, the

Lord be with you ; O that our Souls might go

where your Soul goes.

About the Morning, fpeaking to Mrs. Cook,

faid, Lamb, do not difhonour my lafl Wedding-

day by any Trouble for me: For if all my Judges

did but know what Glory I mail be in before

Twelve a-Clock, they would defire to be with

me.
And let the Executioner make what hafte he

can, I fhall be before-hand with himj for before

he can fay, here is the Head of a Traitor, I mall

be in Heaven. Come Lord Jefus, come quickly, my

Soul longeth for thee, and Iwait to hear thy Voice,

faying, come up hither, and immediately Ifhall he in

the Sprit., and then fhall I for ever he with the

Lord. And at Midnight there was a Cry heard,

the Bridegroom cometh, and they that were

ready went in unto the Marriage j this Day I

Jhall enter into the Joy of my Lord.

Come, Brother Peters, let us knock at Heaven

Gates this Morning, God will open the Doors

of Eternity to us before Twelve a-Clock, and let

us into that innumerable Company of Saints and

Angels, and to the Souls of juft Men made perfebl,

and then we fhall never part more, but be with

the Lord for ever and ever, finging Praifes, ring-

ing Praifes to our Lord and everlafting King to

all Eternity : He faid further, O what a good

Mafter have I ferv'd, that Hands by me now,

and fupports me ! with his everlafting Arm he

bears me upj then faid, Come away my beloved,

make hafte, and he thou like unto a young Roe, or a

young Hart upon the Mountains of Spices. Behold

I come Lord Jefus, I come full Sail to thee, I

come upon the Wing of Faith, Lord Jefus re-

ceive me. And going to lie down upon his Bed,

he faid, It is no more to go to die to-morrow
than it is to go to fleep to-night. I blefs the

Lord I am free from Trouble, and my poor

Heart is as full of fpiritual Comfort as ever it

can hold, and this Joy can no Man take from me.

The Doors of the Prifon being open'd in the

Morning, he fpent that little Time he had left

in Prayer and heavenly Difcourfe with Friends

that came to vifit him, preparing himfelf for

his Suffering, with fuch a Chearfulnefs, as was an

Aftoniihment to the Spectators.

Then fpeaking to his Wife, faid, Farewel my
dear Lamb, 1 am now going to the Souls under

the Altar, that cry, How long, O Lord, Holy
and True, doft thou not judge and avenge our

Blood on them that dwell on Earth? and when
I am gone, my Blood will cry and do them more
hurt than if I had liv'd. But I am now going

to Eternity, bleffed be God, be not troubled

for me, but rejoice, becaufe I go to my Fath el-

and your Father, to my God and your God.
And after fomeTime fpent in Prayer, he defir'd

his Wife not to withhold him by an Unwilling-

nefs to part with him now, when God call'd for

him, tobeoffer'd up as a Sacrifice for his Name
and Caufe.

After a little Paufe, fhe freely gave him up to

the Lord; to which he replied, Now all the

Work is done, and faid, I refign thee up to Jefus

Chrift, to be thy Husband, to whom alio I am
going to be married in Glory this Day.

His Wife iliedding Tears, he Aid, Why weep-

eft thou? let them weep who part and fhall ne-
ver meet again j but I am confident we {hall have
a glorious Meeting in Heaven > here our Com-
forts have been mixt with Chequer-work of
Troubles, but in Heaven all Tears fhall be wip'd
from our Eyes.

He ask'd feveral times if the Sheriff was not
come, faying, why ftay the Wheels of his Cha-
riot? why do they drive fo heavily ? I am
ready, bleffed be God, 1 have nothing to do but
to die.

Word being brought that the Sheriff was
come, he makes hafte to be gone, and his Wife
ftepping after him, took him by the Arm 5 where-
upon he faid, O do not hinder me from going to

Jefus Chrift !

And then with a chearful Countenance, taking
leave of his Friends, he went to the Sledge that
carried him, whereon was alfo carried the Head
of Major-General thomas Harrifon, with the

Face bare towards him •, and notwithftanding
that difmal Sight, he paffed rejoicingly thro' the

Streets, as one borne up by that Spirit, which
Man could not caft down. Being come to the

Place of Execution, when he was taken out of the

Sledge, he faid, this is the eafieft Chariot that

ever I rid in in all my Life.

Being come upon the Ladder, and the Rope
put about his Neck, he rejoiced, faying, Bleffed

he the Name of God, that I am bound for the Jake

of Chrift.

Then he addrefs'd himfelf to God in Prayer.

Having ended his Prayer, he made the follow-

ing Speech :

Mr. Sheriff and Gentlemen,

The moft glorious Sight that ever was feen

in the World was our Lord Jefus Chrilt upon
the Crofs j and the moft glorious Sight next to

that is to fee any poor Creature fuffer for him in

his Caufe.

I defire to fpeak a few Words briefly, to let

you underftand what a glorious Work the Lord 1

hath been pleas'd to accomplish upon my Spirit.

I blefs the Lord, I have ranfack'd into every Cor-
ner of my Heart, and I have fearched into all

my Sins actual and original, fecret and open',

known and unknown, fo far as the Lord hath

difcover'd them to me 5 and I have confeffed

them all with a penitential bleeding Heart, and
contrite Spirit ; bleffed be his Name, he hath

been pleas'd to come in abundant manner, and
hath been pleas'd to (hew me that the only Re-
medy is the Blood of Chrift j and I have, bleffed

be the Lord, applied that precious Blood to my
poor Soul, and have laid hold upon Chrift, by 1

a true and lively Faith j and there is a fweet Calm I

and Serenity in my Soul and Confcience, bleffed I

be thy Name. I defire to glorify God, and to

give him the Glory of all, and to take Shame
unto myfelf for any Sins that I have ever com-
mitted, that I know to be Sinj and therefore, I

defire to rejoice in the God of my Salvation} as

Jfa. lxi. 10. 1 will greatly rejoice in the Lord, my
,

Soul Jhall be joyful in my God, for he hath clothed

me with the Garments of Salvation 5 he hath covered

me with the Robe of Righteoufnefs, as a Bridegroom
j

decketh himfelf with Ornaments : And as a Bride

adorneth her[elf with Jewels, even fo the Lord de-

lighteth in me. And as the Earth hringeth forth

her Buds, and as the Garden caufeth the things that

art .
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are fown in it to faring forth, fo the Lord will

caufe Righteoufiefs and Praife to faring forth before

all Nations.

And Ifaiah xliii. 9, lo.Te are my Witnejfes ,faith

the Lord. I do defire to bear a Teftimony unto

God, and to Jefus (Thrift, for Juftice and Truth,

and Righteoufhefs and Hoiinefs,

The Lord knows I have no Malice upon my
Heart againft any Man or Woman living upon

the Face of the Earth ; neither againft jury that

found me guilty, nor Court that puffed Sentence •,

I defire freely to forgive every one from the

Bottom of my Heart. And as concerning this

great Difpenfation, you may (it may be) defire to

hear fomething of it. Truly, I fay, As to the

Majefty, I have not any hard Thoughts

concerning him : My Prayer fhall be for him that

his Throne may be upheld by Truth, and by

Mercy ; for by Mercy, as Prov. 2,5. the 'Throne is

upheld. But I muft needs fay, that poor we have

been bought and fold by our Brethren, asjofeph

was.

Brother hath betray'd Brother to Death j and

that Scripture is in agreatmeafurefulfill'd, Mat.

x. 11. The Father againU the Son, and the Son a-

gainft the Father ; and Brother Jloall deliver up Bro-

ther to Death. I defire for my own Part to kifs

the Rod ; and I do defire (if it may pleafe the

King's Majefty) that no more Blood may be

fhed after mine : It may be the Lord will put it

into his own Breaft.

Here is a poor Brother coming, I am afraid

that he is not fit to die at this Time ; I could

wifh that his Majefty might fhew fome Mercy

-

The Sheriff interrupted in Wo'ds to this ef-

fect : Let that alone, for the King's Majefty hath

Clemency enough for all but his Father's Murderers.

1 Cook replied, Then I fhall proceed to

fpeak. fomething concerning my Profeffion and

Fairh, which I blefs the Lord, is founded upon

the Rock Chrift Jefus. I do not expect Salva-

tion for any thing i have ever done, but only lay

hold upon Chrift as a naked Chrift, and there to

bottom my Soul.

I can fay, to the Praife and Glory of God,
that I have endeavour'd in my Place, and to my
Power, to do that which might be to God's

Glory, according to the beft of my Underftand-

ing„ I have flood for a Gofpel Magiftracy and
Miniftry, and that many Delays in the Law
might be removed, (and that thing I have much
fuffer'd for) I fay it's good both for King and

People, that many Delays in Matter of Juftice

1 fhou'd be removed, and that publick Juftice

might be fpeedily and cheaply adminiftred.

And as for my Profeffion, I am of the congre-

gational Way ; I defire to own it, and am for

Liberty of Confcience, and all that walk hum-
bly and holily before the Lord 5 and defire to

walk in the Fear of the Lord, and I believe it is

a Truth, and there can be nothing faid againft it.

I do confefs I am not convine'd of any thing I

have done amifs; as to that I have been charg'd

with^ I am not indeed j neither did I underftand

the Plea of the Court, that if the Lords and
Commons had brought the King to the Bar, and
had fet him over them again, their bringing him
to the Bar had been Treafon.

I defire never to repent of any thing therein I

have done ; but I defire to own the Caufe of God
and Chrift j and am here to bear wirnefs to it,

and fo far as I know any thing of myfelf, I can
freely confefs it.

Vol. II.

Here the Sheriff interrupted him again, defiring

him to forbear any fuch Expreffions.

Mr. Cook replied, It hath not been the Manner
of Englifh Men to infult over a dying Man, nor
in other Countries among Turks or Galliajfcs.

The Lord blefs every one of us, and help us,

that we may look more to the Flonour and
Glory of God than the Concernments of our
own Lives: For alas, what is a poor miferable

Life to us, but that therein we might give Ho-
nour and Glory to the God of all our Mercies ?

And if there be any here of that Congregation
to which I was related in the time that I lived

here, I would commend to them that Scripture,

Phil. v.. 17, 18. Tea, and if I be offered up upon

the Sacrifice and Service of the Faith, I joy and
rejoice with you all, for the fame Caufe alfo do you
joy and rejoice ivith me. And Deut. xviii. 1 i. The
Lord God of your Fathers make you a thoufand times

more than 'you are, and blefs you as he hah pro-

mifed. !~hc Lord be pleas'd to fpeak Comfort
to them, and to all them that fear the Lord.
The Lord keep England from Popery, and

from Superftition, and keep it from Prophane-
nefs, and that there may not bean Inundation of
Antichrift in the Land, And that is all the

Harm I wifh unto it.

The Lord hath forgiven me many thoufand
Talents, and therefore I may well forgive thofe

few Pence that are owing unto me. I blefs the

Lord I have nothing lying upon my Confcience,

but I can unbofom myfelf to every one, and to

the Throne .of free Grace, in the Simplicity of

my Spirit j I have endeavour'd to do nothing but
with a good Confcience, and thro' the Integrity

of my Heart, tho' accompanied with many Frail-

ties.

I defire to blefs the Lord, my Lot was rather

in Ireland than here, here I have been more
known where I have given the Offence.

The Sheriff again interrupted him.

Mr. Cook replies, Sir, I pray take notice of it,

I think I am the firft Man that ever was hanged
for demanding of Juftice, therefore I hope you
will not interrupt me.

I fuppofe you were there, and do bear me
witnefs in your Confcience, that there was not

any thing then, that I did not communicate to

the Court, that I now fpeak upon the Ladder.

If you will believe the Words of a dying Man,
I fay, as I muft give an Account, I have no-

thing lieth upon my Confcience. We muft all

meet together at the great Day of the Lord, to

give an Account of all our Actions, (and then ic

will appear,) the Lord grant we may meet with

Joy and Comfort.

I have a poor Wife and Child, and fome
Friends left, I defire you that come along with
me, to commend to them Ifat. liv. 4, f , and

10 ver.

I hope the King and Parliament will confider

our poor Friends as to their Eftafesj you know
that thofe Lords that formerly fuffer'd under the

Parliament, did not lofe all their Eftates ; I hope

there will be fome Confideration as to Till ice,

(left that our fmali Eftates prove a Poilon a-

mongft their great deal) and my poor Wife and

Relations fuffer.

The Lord grant that Mercy may be (hewed,

that Mercy and Righteoufnefs may magnify and

exalt, itfelf above Juftice. I fhall not hold you

long} I fhall defire,' in the Fear of the Lord, to

G g"g a give



57. Toe Trials of the Regicides. 12 Car. II.412
give myfelf (as in Rom. xii. I.) Aiming Sacrifice,

holy and acceptable unto God, which is but a rea-

fonable Service. ...

And fo I do intreat that I may have a little

Time to call upon the Lord, unlefs there be any

thing more defir'd, or any one that would ask

me a Queftion.

Truly I forgive all from my Heart, I have

nothing upon my Heart to accufe any of them

withal. 1 blefs the Lord I have a clear Confci-

ence, I fay it in the Integrity and Simplicity of

my Heart, (I do now appeal to the great God,

to whom I mull give an Account of what 1

have done) knowing that all my Guilt is wafhed

away in the Blood of Jefus Chrift, (and before

him ,1 hope to appear) and have nothing elfe to

plead any thing at all for me.

And fo I hope that J havedeclar'd myfelf with

Simplicity and Integrity, in a few Words, that

you may underftand my Mind.

Then he went to his Prayers again ; after

which he was turnM off.

A little before his Death he had wrote a Let-

ter to a Friend, in which, among other things,

he lays, / look upon it as the mojl noble, and highefi

Aft of Jufitice, that our Story can parallel ; and fo

far as I had an hand in it, never any one Aflion in

all my Life comes to my Mind with lefs regret or

trouble of Confidence than that does.

The Execution c/Thomas Scot, the

ijtb Day of O&ober, 1660, at the fame

"Place.

THE Night before Execution, when he was

in the Dungeon, he was (as he had been

that Day) fomewhat fadder than at other times;

and one ask'd him, if any particular Thing lay

on him ? He faid, No ; but the Lord was pleafcd

to fufpend his comforting Prefence: But, faid

he (with an humble Boldnefs I would fpeak it)

The Lord fhall not put me off with any thing

befides himfelf. After having fpent fome Hours

in Prayer, as at other Times, about Midnight

we left hrm, and, his Fellows, that they might

get a little Reft, for the Support of their natural

Spirits ; and in three or four Hours his Wife,Chil-

dren, and many other Friends return'd. When
we came, we found them praying : As foon as

Colonel Scroop had ended, Mr. Scot turned about,

and opening his Arms, he embraced his Wife, and

one of his Daughters : Ah, faid he, my dear ones,

God is good., he is come, he is come ! I am full, I am
full. O blefis the Lord for me, and with me ! O my
Soul, and all that is within n:e, magnify the Lord

!

By and by he went to Prayer himfelf; and one

would have thought he had been (as it were) in

Heaven, his Soul was fo enlarged in bleffing,

praifing and magnifying the God of his Salva-

tion. O ! faid he to his Wife, / would not change

this dark Room for the beft Star-Chamber under

Heaven. He defir'd his Friends and Relations

would not be folicitous for his Body •, but let

them do what they pleafed, and exercife what
Cruelty they would; faying, it was meet it

fhould be fo : And that the dead Bodies of the

Witneffes muft be unburied, that the Scriptures

might be fulfill'd.

Some Part of his Prayer was, to blefs the

Lord, that (as the Pfalmift faid) tho' he came
in there weeping, and fearing that he had not yet

been bearing precious Seed, yet now they were
returning rejoicing and triumphing, and carrying

their Sheaves with them. Call us not (faid he)

Marahs (as fhe once faid) but call us Naomies^
for we came in hither (fome of us) empty, but
we are going out full: The Lord hath not writ
bitter things, but good of us; for this is glorious

Grace, That we are counted worthy to fiufifer for
GOD and his CAUSE. Oh ! What fhall we ren-

der to the Lord ? We will take the Cup of Salva-

tion, and call upon the Name of the Lord. Oh our
Souls, blefs the Lord ! and we do with our Souls
blefs thee, that we have an Eternity to blefs thee

in; for no lefs will fatisfy our Souls. And now,
O bleffed and glorious God ! fhall we be among
thy Worthies? If poffible, let us attain to the
fir ft three-, but if we attain not to fo glorious a
Teftimony as that, yet, O Lord! let us be a-

mong thy Worthies. We defire to glorify thy
great and bleffed Name, that thou haft in any
Meafure enabled us to encourage our Hearts in

the Lord our God, at fuch a time as this, when
eighty are (as it were) in the Flames; and the
People fpake of worfe than (toning us. When
fome fpake of the Reproaches of the People,
he faid, he accounted that his Honour. Being
upon the Ladder he addrefs'd himfelf to the
Spectators in the following manner.

Gentlemen, I (land here a Spectacle to G O D,
to Angels, and Men : ToGOD and Angels,

to whom I hope I am fhortly a going. And now,
to you I owe it; to God, and the Nation, and
myfelf, to fay fomething concerning each. For
myfelf, I think it may become me to tell you how,
and why I came hither} and fomething in the

general, concerning my Capacity. In the Begin-
ning of thefe Troubles I was (as many others

were) unfatisfy'd. I faw Liberties and Religion
in the Nation in great Danger, to mybeft Appre-
henfiun ; I faw the Approaches of Popery in a

great Meafure coming in upon us: I faw- •

Upon which theiS'&m^'inteiruptedhim in thefe

Words : If you will betake yourfielfi to Prayer, you
may.

Mr. Scot replied, I Jhall not fpeak to reproach

any-

The Sheriff interrupted him again, faying, Ton

have but a little Time, Mr. Scot, therefore betake

that little Time to Prayer.

Mr. Scot replied, Ifhallfpeak-
The Sheriff interrupted him again, faying, /

befieech you, Sir, betake yourfelfi to Prayer.

Mr. Scot faid, It may become me to give an Ac~
count of myfelf, becaufe

The Sheriff interrupted him again, faying, It

doth not become you to fpeak any fuch thing here,

therefore I befeech you betake yourfielfi to Prayer ; it

is but a little time you have to live : Tou knoiVy

Mr. Scot, that is the moft needful thing.

Mr. Scot replied, 'Tisfib

The Sheriff interrupted again, faying, Sir, But
when you came upon the Stage, you deprived your

fieIf very much.

Then faid Mr. Scot, I thought to tell you how I

came hither

Llere the Sheriff interrupted him again, and

fpake to this Effect, Every Body knows, that-

Mr. Scot faid, Sir, 'Tis hard that an English-

man hath not Liberty tofpeak

The Sheriff interrupted again, faying, I cannot

fiuffer you tofipeak any fuch thing.

Mr, Scot
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Mr. Scot faid, IJhallfay no more but this, 'That

it is a very mean and bad Caufe that will not bear

the ffords of a dying Man ; it is not ordinarily de-

nied to People in this Condition

The Sheriff interrupted again, faying, Sir, Ton

had a fair Trial, and you were found guilty.

Mr. Scot replied, 'Tis according to my Mind to

fpeak what may be faid • •

Here the Under- Sheriff interrupted, faying, It

hath been denied unto your Predeceffors, and will be

denied unto you.

Then he pray'd j wherein he has this Expref-

fion, I fay again, to the Praife of the free Grace

of God, I blefs his Name, he hath engaged me in a

Caufe not to be repented of. Ifay, in a Caufe not

to be repented of.

His Prayer being ended, he was turn'd off.

Hugh Peters'j Execution, the 1 6th of
Odlober, 1660, at the fame Tlace.

R. Peters, as is well known, was exercifcd

under a great Conflict in his own Spirit,

during the time of his Imprifonment, fearing (as

he would often fay) that he fhould not go thro'

his Sufferings with Courage and Comfort ; and

faid to Friends, that he was fomewhat unprepar'd

for Death, and therefore unwilling to die j fome-

thing he faid he had committed, and other things

omitted, which troubled him > but tho' it was a

cloudy and dark Day with him for a Seafon, yet

the Light of God's Grace and Favour would
break forth at laft.

And furely the Favour of God did at the laft

appear, for a little before he went forth to Exe-
cution (as many can teftify) he was well compo-
fed in his Spirit, and chearfuily faid, I thank God
now I can die, I can look Death in the Face and
nut be afraid.

As for that flanderous Report which was took,
much received by good People as well as bad, to

wit, that he was guilty of Uncleannefs j a Friend
coming to him in Prifon, put that Queftion feri-

oufly and foberly to his Soul. To which he re-

ply'd, That he bleffed the Lord he was wholly
clear in that Matter, and that he never knew
any Woman but his own Wife.
A Night or two before he fuffer'd, two ofthe

Epifcopal Clergy, who, as fome report, were the

King's Chaplains, came to give him a Vifit

j

they endeavoured to make Advantage of the

Temptations wherewith he was then affaulted,

and toperfuade him to a Repentance and Recan-
tation of his former Activity in the Parliament
Caufe, which they endeavoured to enforce upon
him by a Promife of Pardon from the King, in

cafe he would herein hearken to them. But tho'

he was then much afflicted in his Spirit, yet the
Lord did help him to bear up with much Cou-
rage againft the Infinuations of that fort of Men,
and told them he had no Caufe in the leaft to re-

pent of his adhering to that Intereft ; but rather,

that he had in the Profecution thereof done no
more for God and his People in thefe Nations ;

and with Civility difmiffing thofe Vifitants, he
applied himfelf to fome other Minifters then pre-

sent, whom hejudged more able to fpeak a Word
inSeafon to him under thefe great Trials, where-
with the Lord was then pleas'd to exercife him.

Being carried upon the Sledge to Execution,
and made to fit therein within the Rails at Cha-
ring-crofs, to behold the Execution of Mr. Cook,

one came to him, and upbraided him with the
Death of the King, bidding him (with oppro-
brious Language) to repent : He reply'd, Friend,

you do not well to trample upon a dying Man 5

you are greatly miftaken, I had nothing co do
in the Death of the King.
When Mr. Cook was cut down, and brought

to be quarter'd, one they call'd Colonel Turner,

calling to the Sheriff's Men to bring Mr. Peters

near, that he might fee it ; and by and by the

Hangman came to him, all befmear'd in Blood,
and rubbing his bloody Hands together, he
tauntingly ask'd, Come, how do you like this, Mr.
Peters, how do you like this Work? To whom
he repiy'd, I am not (I thank God) terrified at it

t

you may do your worfi.

When he was going to his Execution, he
look'd about and efpy'd a Man, to whom he
gave a Piece of Gold (having bowed it firft) and
defir'd him to go to the Place where his Daugh-
ter lodg'd, and to carry that to her as a Token
from him, and to let her know that his Heart
was as full of Comfort as it could be s and that be-

fore that Piece fhould come to her Hands, he jhould

be with God in Glory.

Being upon the Ladder, he fpake to the Sheriff,

faying, Sir, you have here flain one of the Servants

of God before mine Eyes, and ha ve made me to be-

hold it, on purpofe to terrify and difcourage me, but

God hath made it an Ordinance to me for my
Strengthning and Encouragement.

When he was going to die, he faid, What^
Flefh, art thou unwilling to go to God thro* the

Fire and Jaws of Death ? Oh (faid he) this is a

good Day, he is come that I have long look'd for, and

1 Jhall be with him in Glory, and fo fmiled when
he went away.

What Mr. Peters faid further at his Execution,

cither in his Speech or Prayer, it could not be

taken, in regard his Voice was low at that time,

and the People uncivil.

The Execution o/GregoryCl ements,
the lyth of Odtober, 1660, at the fame
Tlace.

R. Clements was very filentboth in the time

of his Imprifonment at Newgate, and an

the Time and Place of his Execution at Charing-

crofs, only it is faid, that he exprefs'd his Trou-
ble (to fome Friends in the Prifon) for yielding

fo far to the Importunity of his Relations, as

to plead guilty to the Indictment : And tho' he

fpoke little at the Place of Execution, yet (lb far

as could be judged by fome difcerning Perfons

that were near him) he departed this Life in

Peace.

The Execution of Colonel John Jones,
the ijth of Odtober, 1660, at the fame
Tlace.

S
Peaking of the Sledge in which he was to be

carried to Execution ; it is (faid he) like E-

Jijah's fiery Chariot, only it goes thro' Fleet-

Jlreet.

The Time of his Departure being come, this

aged Gentleman was drawn in one Sledge, with

his aged Companion Colonel Scroop, whole grave

and graceful Countenances, accompanied with

Courage and Chearfulnejfs, caufed great Admira-

tion and Compaffion in the Spectators, as they

paffed
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parted along the Streets to Cbaring-Crofs, the Place

of their Execution: And after the Ex:cutioner

had done his Part upon three others that Day, he

was fo drunk with Blood, that like one forfeited,

he orew Tick at Stomach ; and not being able bim-

felfV he fee his Boy to finifli the Tragedy upon

Colonel Jones \ who coming up the Ladder with

the like Chcarfulnefs as his Bretheren did before

him, and being placed fit for Execution, he

proceeded to fpeak as folio weth :

Colonel John Jones'* Speech upon the Ladder.

There are two things that are neceffary now I

am going thro' this narrow Gate or Paffage to

the eternal Majefty j I fay, two things are ne-

ceflary, as to the occafion of my coming hither

to receive my Father's good Pleafure.

Firft, Peace -with God. Secondly, Peace 'with

Man.
I {hall fpeak fomethingto each of thefe ; and,

in the firft Place, fpeak fomething of the Court

wherein I receiv'd the Sentence: It hath been

reported, as I was told, that I confefs'd this Fad,

ani confefs'd that I was guilty of Murder, as

under thofe feveral Expreflions that are in the

Indictment, viz.-

I defire to clear myfelf before the Lord, and

before the World, in that Particular ; for fhould

I grant that I was guilty in Reality and Truth

of Murder and Malice, I fhould bely my own
Confcience, and draw upon me a greater weight

than 1 could bear. But thus far 1 do confefs, I

was willing to make the Work as fhort as I could ;

and becauie I would not ftand fo long, I told

them I w^uld take the firft Jury that came; and

when a Jury was call'd, then I did confefs fo

much as I was convine'd of, as to the Matter of

Fa&vj I defireyou will judge charitably of this

that I fpeak at this time, as in the Prefence of

the Lord, that it is not fo really, (viz. that I

acknowledged myfelf guilty of Murder) 1 had

no fuch thing in my Heart.

I muft confefs I very freely quit his Majefty,

confidering what he doth in this Cafe is the Part

of a loving Son to a Father, efpecially theJudges

telling him that it is the Law; and I conceive

that the Court did nothing but what they, to

their beft Underftandings, judged right as to

Law •, therefore I freely acquit the Court, tho'

there was not enough faid to fatisfy fuch a poor

Creature as 1 am, in fo great and deep a Point as

that was: As for all others, I do not know any

Man on the Earth, to whom I do bear any Ma-
lice, but 1 am in perfect Chanty with all Men,
and I hope the Lord is in Charity with me :

And therefore, as I defire to have Forgivenefs

myfelf from all thofe I have offended, even fo I

do freely forgive all thofe that have in any mea-

fure offended me.

The next thing is towards God, and it is that

which fhould be lift upon my Heart : It is not

expected that 1 fhould give an Account here of

my State and Condirion, for that is betwixt God
and my own Soul} and 1 do, thro' the Grace

and Goodnefs of God, firmly believe that my
Redemption is wrought, and my Pardon is feal-

ed, and that I {hall be immediately in my Fa-

ther's Arms, and that I {hall be tranflated and

brought to behold the Lord Jefus Chrift in Glory,

with Comfort and Fulnefs of Joy.

Then he betook himfelf to his Prayers.

His Prayers being ended, he faid, Mr. Sheriff,

I muft needs return you many Thanks for your
Civility.

Sher. Repl. I am glad to hear fuch an ingenu-

ous ConfelTion, and that you make fuch an End,
and that you have not gone into any reviling

Language, as fome others have done before.

After this he committed his Soul to God, and
was turn'd off.

The 'Execution of Colonel Daniel Axtel,
and Colonel Francis Hacker, the

iqth Day of October, 1660, at Tyburn.

HE Day of their Execution being come,
feveral g~dly Minifters fpent fome time in

Prayer with Colonel Axtel and Colonel Hacker 5

and many Friends coming in to pay their laft Re-
flects, Colonel Axtel feeing one of his familiar

Friends and Companions, faid, My dear Brother,

thou art better than I am, and yet 1 muft go to

Heaven before thee for all that.

Heverychearfully faid to divers then with him,
Dear Friends, rejoice, I am going where ye fhall

be alfo, yea, where we {hall be for ever with the
Lord, and never part, and be without any more
Change; I befeech you follow the Lamb where-
ever he goeth, tho' he may lead you in a harlh,

difmal and difficult Way -

y yet at laft he will biing
you into a pleafant Path, and caufe you to lie

down in green Paftures, in the Land of Reft $

Oh be faithful unto the Death, and he 'will give

you a Crown of Life, as he hath given to your
fufFering Brethren.

Oh ! all that we have, or do fufFer, is but to
make Chrift and Heaven more fweet, dear and
glorious to us ; all the fad Steps we fhall tread on
this Ladder, is but to mount us to Heaven, for

at the Top are Angels ready to receive us, as was
on Jacob's Ladder. All the things I meet with
move me not, I blefs my God, for I am fure to
fight a good Fight, and finifh my Courfe with

Joy-
Afterwards taking his leave of his Son, em-

bracing him in his Arms, he faid, My dear Son,
fare thee well, I muft leave thee, get an Intereft

in Chrift, and love him, nothing elfe will ftand'

thee in ftead but an Intereft in him.
Then calling for his Bible, he hug'd it, fay-

ing, this hath the whole Caufe in it, and I may
carry this without Offence. And calling to a

Friend, he defir'd him to remember his Love to

the Congregation where he was a Member j and
after took his leave of all his Friends, exhorting

them with much Chearfulnefs to love the Lord
Jefus Chrift, and keep clofe to him, and fowith

great Joy addreffed himfelf to go to his next

Work.
Colonel FrancisHacker was a Man of fewWords,

and had n it the Gift of Oratory to deliver him-
felf as others could, yet was veiy fweetiy borne

up under his Suffering, and had a very comfort-
able Affurance that God had pardon'd and accept-

ed him in the Blood of Chrift ; he had been a

Profeflor of Religion many Years in the Presby-

terian Way, and a great Lover of godly Mini-

fters j a Man of juft and honeft Converfition a-

mongftMen, and one that defir'd towalkblame-
lefs in the Sight of God ; his Fellow-Prifoner

did fay, he did believe that Colonel Hacker had

an Intereft in Jefus Chrift.

Colonel
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Colonel Hacker declar'd to feveral of his own
Friends, a little before he fuffer'd, that thegreat-

eft Trouble he had upon his Spirit was, That he

hadformerly borne too great a Prejudice in his Heart

towards the good People of God that differ''d from

him in Judgment. And then broke forth into this

Admiration, O what am I, poor vile Worm, that

Godfhould count me worthy to fujfer with fuch pre-

cious Souls as thefe are, againft -whom I have been

formerlyfo much prejudiced !

And thus thefe two gracious Perfons having fi-

nifh'd their Courfe, and the Time of their De-
parture being at hand, were both brought forth

out of Prifon. The Sledge being ready for them,

they took their Leave of fome Friends that flood

at the Door, and Colonel Axtcl defir'd them to

be at the Place of Execution j and both entring

the Sledge, they caff, up their Eyes towards that

God to whom they were coming ; then with a

chearful Countenance, fetting themfelves down,

they were drawn to Tyburn, the Place of Exe-
cution, where a Cart was fet ready, into which
they both afcended, their Countenance not at

all chang'd, tho' now the King of Terrors fla-

red them in the Face j the Ropes being then put
about their Necks, and a burning Fire kindled

before their Faces ; and being ready to receive

that Sentence which Nature would have funk

under, if Grace had not fupported : Fail Co-
lonel Axtel applies himfelf to the Sheriff in thefe

following Words

:

Mr. Sheriff., I am now, as you fee, come to

the Place of Execution, according to my Sen-

tence, I defire your Leave that I may fpeak free-

ly, and without Interruption; fir ft to this Peo-

ple, and then to God, for it is the laft that Ifhall

fpeak in this World, and I hope it will redound

to your Account.

Mr. Sheriff's Reply. Sir, you know what the

Court prohibited you to fpeak, and what was
fpoken at the Bar of the Court was there deci-

ded, therefore it is needlefs to repeat ic here. I

hope you will keep to the prefent Bufinefs that

concerns you, and not go out into Impertinen-

cies j and becaufe you have but a little Time,
fpend it to your beft Advantage, and the Good
of the People, and then you fhall not be inter-

rupted j or to the fame effect.

Colonel Axtel begins. I fay, the very Caufe
for which I have engaged is contain'd in this

Book of God, (having the Bible in his Hand) both
in the civil and religious Rights of it, which I

leave to you (giving the Book to Mr. Knowles.)

You fee a dead Man living, and yet I hope I

ffiaM live to all Eternity, thro' the Mediation of

Jefus Chrift, the Mediator of the Covenant of
free Grace.

I muft truly tell you, that before thefe late

Wars, it pleas'd the Lord to call me by his

Grace, thro' the Work of the Miniflry j and
afterwards keeping a Day of Humiliation in Faft-

ing and Prayer, with Mr. Simeon Affo, Mr. Love,
Mr. Woodcocke, and other Minifters, in Laurence-
lane, they did fo clearly ftate the Caufe of the
Parliament, that I was fully convine'd in my own
Confcience of the Juftnefsof the War, and there-

upon engaged in the Parliament- Service, which
(as I did and do believe) was the Caufe of the
Lord j I ventur'd my Life freely for it, and now
die for it.

Then Mr. Shcrif faid to this purpofe, Sir,

remember yourfelf.

Colonel Axtel proceeds : And after the Work
of the Lord was done in England, my Lot caffc

me in the Service of Ireland, and I thank the Lord
I was ferviceable to the Engliff Nation in that

Country, and have difcharged my Duty fully, ac-

cording to the Truft committed to me there.

As for the Fact for which I now fuffer, it is-for

Words, only for Words, and but for Words,
and the Sentence is already reverfed in my own
Confcience, and it will be reverfed by Jefus Chriil
by and byj I pray God, from the very Bottom
of my Soul, to forgive all that have had any
Hand in my Death, both Witneffes and Jury,
and the Court that palled Sentence j for conll-

dering the Doctrine of our Lord Jefus Chrift, as

he hath laid it down, Mat. v. 44. It hath been

faid of old time, love your Neighbours, and hate

your Enemies 5 but I fay unto you, love your Ene-
mies, and pray for them that hate and defpitefully

ufe you, that you may be the Children of your Fa-
ther which is in Heaven.

I defire, according to this Doctrine, from the

Bottom of my Heart, that God would give them
true Repentance, and not lay their Sin to their

Charge, nor my Blood, which by God's Law
and Man's (I think) could not juftly have been
brought here to fuffer : But I blefs God I have
fome comfortable Afiurance that I fhall be em-
braced in the Arms of Chrift, and have Caufe
to hope that his Spirit fhall carry my Soul into

the Father's Hands.
And if the Glory of this Sunfhine be fo great

(the Sun then pining bright) how much more is

the Glory of the Son of God, who is the Sun
of Righteoufnefs ?

I think it convenient to give you fome Ac*
count of my Faith.

I believe all things written in the Old and New
Teftament, as the Principles and Doclrine of a

Believer's Faith •, I believe the bleffed Ordi-
nances of Chrift, that it is our Duty to hear the

Word preach'd, to feek unto God in Prayer, and
to perform Family Duties, and to walk in the

Communion of Saints 5 and for my own Part, I

am a Member of a Congregation, which I judge
to be the Way of Chrift, (and were it for that

only I were to die, I could witnefs to it) which
is a Company of Men born again by his Grace,
that walk in the Ways of Chrift blamelefs and
harmlefs. I believe Jefus Chrift died for poor
Sinners, of whom I am Chief, as the Apoitle

Paul faith, This is a faithful Saying, and worthy

of all Acceptation, that Chrift Jefus came into the

World to fave Sinners, of whom I am Chief. And
if the Apoille might fay fo, much more may I.

My Friends and Countrymen, I have reafon to be-

wail my own unprofitable Life, having been very
unfruitful to the People of the Lord, the Lord
knows I have much Fault upon my Heart ; were
it not for the Blood of Chrift that cleanfeth and

waiheth me, according to his Promife, faying, I
loved you, and wafhed away your Sins in my own
Blood. For there is no Remiffion of Sins with-

out the Blood of Chrift. I defire you all to

lothe and caft off Sin, it were better to fuffer

than to fin, it is better to die than to fin 5 no-

thing could grieve our Saviour but Sin, and there-

fore have a care of that : You and I muft meet

one Day at the Bar of Chrift, and the Son of God
fhall be our Judge, for God hath committed all

Judgment to the Son, that all Men ffould honour

the Son as they honour the Father. This Day is
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a Refemblance of that Day, therefore be fe-

rious ; I beg as much Good to your immortal

Souls as I expect to enjoy by and by. I befeech

you beg of God that he would fave your Souls,

and omit no Opportunity thro' the Strength of

the Lord to believe, and put your Trull in the

Lord Jefus Chrift ; be fure to labour after AfTu-

rance ofyour Intereft in him, or elfe you will be

of all Men moft miferable j for I of all Men
weremoft miferable, if I had not believed to fee

the Goodnefs of the Lord in the Land of the Living.

BleiTed be the Lord that brings me into this

State, let the Way or Means be what it will > it

is God's Sovereignty, who made thefe Creatures

fo, to difpofeof them how he pleafeth, and God
hath ordained this Death for me from all Eternity.

The Lord Chrift ofcen pray'd, thy Will be done $

this is the Lord's Will. He hath numbred my
Days, and my Times are in his Hand. Many
feek the Rulers Favour, but every one's Judg-

ment is from the Lord. When Pilate faid unto

Chrift, Knowefi thou not that I have Power to cru-

cify thee? Chrift anfwer'd him, thou couldeft have

no Power againfl me, except it were given thee from
above. Therefore I acknowledge the righteous

Hand of God ; he is righteous, but I am finful j

therefore will I bear God's Indignation, becaufe 1
have finned againft him.

It is faid of Jefus Chrift, that for the Joy fet

before him he endured the Crofs, and defpifed the

Shame, and is Jet down at the right Hand of God,

where I hope to fee him by and by in Glory and

Majefly, and to fee his Angels and Believers

worfhipping of him, and therefore I defpife the

Shame. Our Saviour died upon the Crofs with-

out Sin, I am a finful Creature, a wretched

Sinner, and fhall I expect better than he that

was my Mailer ? He who was holy, and never

had a finful Thought in all his Life ; and died

not for himfelf, but for us, that we might live

thro' his Death} that thro' his Poverty we might
be made Rich. And Chrift having done this

for his People, it fhould not be in their Eyes
thought a defpicable Thing that we fhould fuffer

for him, having been engaged in the Work of
God. But Chnft muft prevail in Righteoufnefs,

and he will prevail,

Now, Mr. Sheriff, I thank you for your Civi-

lity, and for this Leave.

After this Colonel Hacker fpoke fomething
privately to him, whereupon Colonel Axtel faid,

Mr. Sheriff, muft we both die together?

Mr. Sheriff anfwer'd, Yes.

Then Colonel Hacker read a Paper which he

had in his Hand, a Copy whereof followeth :

' Riends and Country-men, all that have known
me in my befi Eftate, have not known me to

have been a Man of Oratory, and that God hath

not given me the Gift of Utterance, as to others j

therefore I have only this briefly to fay unto you that

are Spectators : As the Parliament flated the War,
I did out of Judgment and Confciencejoin with them

in the common Cauf'e, and have thro' Grace been

faithful to it according to my Meafure. And as for

that which now I am condemned for, I do freely

forgive both Judges, Jury, and Witneffes, and all

others j and I thank the Lord, to whom I am now
going, at whofe tribunal L muft render an Account,

£ have nothing lies upon my Confcience as Guilt

whereof I am now condemned, and do not doubt but

to have the Sentence reverft. I do now apply my-

felf unto God by Prayer, and do deftre the hearty

Prayers of all that fear God, that I may have a
fweet Paffage from this mortal Life to that immor-
tal Life, which God hath prepared for all that an
in Cbrill Jefus.

Francis Hacker.

After the reading of this, he defir'd that Co-
lonel Axtel would be both their Mouths to God
in Prayer.

And then Colonel Axtel faid, I defire all that

fear the Lord to hear with Patience, and to life

up their Hearts to feek the Lord with me, that
we may have his Strength, and the Prefence of
his Spirit from this World to everlafting Life.

After he had ended his Prayer, he gave the

Sheriff Thanks again for his Civility, and then
turning to Colonel blacker, they faluted and em-
braced each other in their Arms, and faid, The
Lord fweeten our Paffage, and give us a happy
Meeting with himfelf in Glory.

. Then pulling his Cap over his Eyes, expecting,
as it is fuppos'd, that the Cart fhould be drawn
away j with his Hands lifted up, he utter'd thefe

Words with a loud and audible Voice, Lord Je-
fus, receive my Spirit : But the Cart flaying a lit-

tle longer, he lift up his Hands the fecond Time,
and with the like audible and loud Voice, faid,

Into thy Hands, O Father ! I commend my Spi-

rit : And yet in regard there was no Man found
to put forward the Horfe to draw away the Cart,

until the common Hangman came down out of
the Cart himfelf to do it ; the Carman, as many
Witneffes affirm, faying, he would lofe his Cart
and Horfe before he would have a Hand in hang-
ing fuch a Man j by this Means he had Oppor-
tunity to lift up his Hands, and utter the like

Words the third Time alfo.

the Execution of Col. Adrian Scroop,
October iy, 1660, at Charing- Crofs.

WHEN the Time approach'd for his Exe-
cution, Mr. Scot and Mr. Clements were

firft carried away in the Sleds, and the fame
Sleds were afterwards to come and carry Col:
Scroop and Col. Jones; during that time, fays

Col. Scroop, Well, Brother Jones, do you fpend

your Time as the Lord fhall direct you, 1 in-

tend to take a little Sleep, for I flept not well

laft Night; and my Countenance is not fo frefh

as I would have it. Thereupon he laid him
down, and flept fo foundly, that he fnored very

loud, and fo continued until the Sled came for

him : Whereupon, being awaken'd, he rifeth

up ; and a Friend taking him in his Arms, ask'd

him how he did ? He anfwers, Very well, I

thank God, never better in all my Life.

And now, faith he, will I wafh mine Hands itt

Innocency ; fo will I compafs thine Altar, O Lord

:

And fo with great Chearfulnefs went to Execu-
tion.

Being upon the Ladder he fpake as followeth.

You fee an Object here, that hath been in a

better Place ; but howfoever the Lord Jefus

Chrift hath fent me to this Place, that in this

Place I fhould die. I have no Animofity nor

Malice again ft any Man, nor ever had I -, nei-

ther have I any evil Will to thofe that brought
me hither, nor to the Jury that found me guilty,

nor
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nor Judges that patted Sentence ; nor to him

through whofe means I was brought here to

fuffer. I fay, once more, the Lord forgive him,

I fhall not name him ; for I come not hither to

reflect upon any Man's Perfon.

I will not tell you what my Breeding hath

been, btcaufe it is not good for any Man (efpe-

chlly at fuch a time as this) to boaft of his Line-

age nor Breeding j but this I fhall fay, that I

was born and bred a Gentleman.

As for my Carriage, it may be fome that look

upon me here, know what it hath been : How-
foever the Lord knows all, and the Lord God is

Judge of all, and he will judge; I fhall fubmit

my felf to his Judgment, which is a righteous

Judgment. The Judgment of Men may go

wrong, but G<xTs Judgment is right, I fhall

fubmit to his Way. The Lord he is the Rock

of Ages, and my Support under this great Weight
that is now upon me : I look up to him alone,

the Lord Jefus Thrift is my Saviour and my Re-

deemer ; I am going into his Arms, blefled be

hi» Name, I follow him, he is gone before me
the fame way : Therefore it is no Reproach or

Shame to follow the Lord Jefus Chrift, to die
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in his Caufe ; for that is it which I judge I am
now going to do.

That which I do defire of you (here are a

great many Spectators both on the Right Hand
and on the Left) is, That this Day may repre-

fent to you the general Day of the Judgment of
Chrift, where you muft appear, and there every
Man muft receive according to their Works :

And at that time it will be known j I fay, at

that time it will be known and Teen, whofe
"Works are righteous, and whofe are not

:

Therefore I would with you, and defire you,
to judge charitably of me.

His Speech being ended, he went to Prayers,
after which he was turn'd off.

The others, who were Convicted, having Sur-
rendered themfelves upon the Proclama.ion in

purfuance of 12 Car. 2. cap. n. § 36. could not
be Executed without Confent of Parliament j

which never being askt, they fuffer'd only Im-
pnfonment, and Confifcation of their Eftates.

\Here read the 'Trials and Dying Speeches of Coll.

Okey, Coi Barktiead, and Miles Corbet, Efq.
in State Trials , Vol. 8 p 36*3.

LVIII. Proceedings in Scotland azainft Archibald Marquifs

0/ Argyle, 13 Car. II. i66i> for High-Treafon.*

N January 23, i66r, there was ex-

hibited to the Parliament of Scot land
',

a Charge of High-Treafon, &c. a-

gainft Archibald Marquifs of Argyle,

which was as follows.

CHAR LES, by the Grace of God, King of

Great- Britain, France,- and Ireland, Defen-

der of the Faith, To
Heralds, Purfi-

vants, and MefTengers of Arms, refpeblive, con-

junctly and feverally, fpecially conftituted, Greet-

ing. Forfomuch as it is humbly mean'd and

complain'd to US, by our trufty and well-be-

loved Counfellor, Sir John Fletcher Knight, our

Advocate for our Intereft, in the Adion under-

written y and by Sir James Lamond of Inneryne

Knight, for himfelf and in the behalf of his Kin»

dred, Friends, VafTals, Tenants and Servants,

Parties grieved and damnified in manner after

fpecified, upon Archibald Marquifs of Argyle j

George Campbell, his Juftice and Sheriff Deputv j

James Campbell of Ardkinglas, Officer under the

laid Marquifs his command j Colin Campbell of

Straquhir, Duncan Campbell of Ellangreg, Officer

under the command of the faid Marquifs ; John
Campbell Fiare of Dunftafneich, Officer alfo under

the faid Marquifs's command j Dongal Campbell

alias Mackconnochie of Lmerraw, Officer under the

faid Marquifs's command ; Duncan Campbell,

Uncle to the Laird of Lochnell, Officer under

the faid Marquifs's command ; Robert Campbell

of Auchimwilling, John Campbell of Ardtariche,

Hew Campbell his Son ; Colin Campbell of Otter,

Patrick Campbell his Brother j Campbell

Vol. II.

of Derburghy Charles Campbell of Ballachyll, Ewer
Campbell of Kiibryd his Brother j Duncan Glajfel

alias Campbell in Glendarowell, John Ger Campbell,

there j John Mackeroes Officer to the faid George

Campbell, Donald Mackeroes of'

Glenfelloch, Andrev)

Macklauchlanc, Uncle to Archibald Xlacklauchlane

of Lethimoore, Angus Mackehoernock Son to Ewer
Mackewernock of Obb, James Campbell of Ormfay.
Dowgald Mackleriche ofBralychane, Duncan Mack-
nileifie in Efcog, Archibald Campbell in Evinno-
chane, Son-in-Law to the faid Laird of Otter,

Mr. Colin Macklawchlane, Minifter at Lochgayli-

Jheid\ All or the mod part of them, being the

faid Marquifs of Argyle his Friends, Followers,

or Complices under his command, and fuch as

he might have ftopt or let.

That where notwithstanding by the 129 Act
of the eighth Parliament of Our deareft Grand-
father, King James the Sixth of BltfTed Me-
mory, his Majefty and His three Eftates then

Affembled in Parliament, ratified and approved
the Royal Powt and Authority, over all Eftates,

as well Spiritual as Temporal, within this

Realm, in the Perfon of His Majefty, his Heirs

and SuccefTors j and did Statute and Ordinance,

that his Highnefs and his SuccefTors by them-

felves, and their Councils, were and fhould be

Judges Competent to all Perfons, his Highnefs's

Subjects, of whatfoever Degree, Function, Eltate,

or Condition they fhould be of, in all matters

wherein they, or any of them fhould be appre-

hended, fummoned or charged to anfwer : And
that none fhould prefume, nor take upon hand,

to decline the Judgment of his Hiyhnefs, his

Heirs and SuccefTors, or their Council, in the

Premifes under the Pain of Treafon : And fick-

H h h like,

See Vol. 7. State Trials p. 379. For the Grand Indiftment againft the Marquifs.
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like, by the firft Aft of the eighth Parliament

of our faid deareft Grand-father, King James

the Sixth, His Majefty's Sovereign Authority,

Princely Power, Royal Prerogative and Privi-

lege of his Crown, over all Eftates, Perfons, and

Caufes whatfoever. And the whole Eftates then

conven'd in Parliament for them, and their Suc-

ceflbrs, faithfully promifed, perpetually to ac-

knowledge, obey, maintain, defend and advance

the Life, Honour, Safety, Dignity, Sovereign

Authority and Prerogative Royal of Our faid

deareft Grand-father, his Heirs and Succeflbrs,

and Privilege of the Crown, with their Lives,

Lands and Goods ; and to withftand all Perfons,

Powers and Eftates, who (hall prefume any ways

to impugn, or prejudge the fame. Which Aft

is ratified by the third Aft, by the firft Parlia-

ment of King Charles the Firft, of Biefled Me-
mory, our deareft Father.

Likeas, by the third and fourth Acts of King

James the Firft, his firft Parliament, and by the

57 Aft of the fecond Parliament of King James

the Firft, and feveral other Afts, his Statute, that

none Rebel againft the King's Perfon or Autho-

rity j or if they do in the contrary, or make
War againft his Lieges, or refet any fuch Trai-

tors, or fupply them in Red or Council, or do

favours to Rebels, or any ways affift them, or

do not rife at His Majefty's command, being re-

quired ; they being convifted thereof, are pu-

nifhable as Traitors. Likeas by the 134 Aft

Pari. 8. the 10 Aft of the 10 Pari, of King James

the bixth, All depravers of His Majefty's Laws,

and medlars in His Majefty's Affairs, or Mifcon-

ftruers of His Proceedings, whereby any miftake

may be moved between His Majefty and his lov-

ing Subjefts, are punifhable by death. Likeas

by the 1 Aft of King James the Fifth, his 3

Parliament, and by the fi Aft of the 11 Pari,

of King James the Sixth, All Burners of Folks

in their Houfes, all Burners of Houfes and Corns,

and wilful fire- raiting* As alfo all Murder or

Slaughter of His Majefty's Lieges, where the

Party flain is under truft, credit, afTurance and

power of the Slayer, the fame is declared Trea-

ibn and Lasfe- Majefty. Likeas by the 75 Aft

of Queen Mary's Parliament p, and divers other

Afts, it is Statute, that no manner of Perfon or

Perfons, of whatfoever Quality, Eftate, Condi-

tion or Degree they be, Lieges of this Realm,
attempt to raife any bands of Men of War, on
Horfe, or Foot, without fpecial Licence in Writ
had and obtain'd of the Queen's Majefty for the

Time, and Her Succeflbrs, under the pain of

death, to be executed upon the Raifersand Rifers

in Arms. As alfo, by the fo Aft of the 1 1 Par-

liament of King James the Sixth, it is Statute

and Ordain'd, that in cafe it fhall happen, any
landed Man to be convifted of the Crime of
common Theft, rcfort of Theft, or Stealth,

reift in time coming, they fhall incur the Crime
and Pain of Treafon ; that is to fay, Tinfell and
forfeiture of Life, Lands, and Goods. Likeas,

by the common Law and Practice of this Nation
all Committers of Murder, Man- {laughter, Rob-
bery, Rapine, or Reif, is punifhable by death ;

and who are Art or Part of any fuch Crimes.

As alfo by the fame Laws, all private Imprifon-

ers, Keepers of private Prifons, and falfe Impri-

foncrs, and all Oppreffion whatfoever, are pu-
nifhable in the like manner.

Neverthelefs the Perfons above-named com-

plain'd upon, having laid afide all Fear of God,
Loyalty and Obedience to their Sovereign Lord
and King, natural affeftion and reciprocal duty

to their Countrymen and Fellow-Subjefts, have

moft traitoroufly, treacheroufly, perfidioufly and

cruelly committed the Crimes of High-Treafon,
and other Crimes, Murders, Oppreffions, Rob-
beries, Mifdeeds and Malversations under- writen,

contrary to our faid Laws and Afts of Parlia-

ment ; and thereby have incurred the refpeftive

Pains and Punifhments therein contained. In fo

far as the faid Perfons above-written, Defen-
dants, particularly the faid Marquifs of Argyle,

George Campbell his Servant, and Juftice, and

Sheriff-Deputy -, James Campbell of Ardkinglas,

Qolin Campbell of Straquhir, Robert Campbell of

Auchinwilling, John Campbell of Ardtariche, Majler

Colin Macklanchane, Duncan Campbell of Elangreg,

John Campbell Flare of Dunftafniche, Dongall

Campbell^ alias Mackconnochie of Innerra-w \ Hav-
ing from the beginning of the Infurreftions and I

Troubles in the Year of God 1639, 1640, 1(541, ,

and 1641, both fecretly and avowedly appeared t

in conftant oppofition to Our deareft Father, his 1

Royal Councils and Commands : And after His

Majefty's moft gracious Condefcendencies to all i

the delires of his Lieges, how unreafonable fo-

ever; He having departed to his Kingdom of

England^ a contented Prince from a contented

People. Neverthelefs the aforefaid Perfons con-

tinuing in their treafonable. malice againft their

own Sovereign, did in the Months of January*

February., March, April, May, June, July, Aw
gufi, September, Oclober, November, December, or

one or other of them, in the Year of God 1643,

moft traitoroufly without their Sovereign's Au-
thority of Licence, and exprefly againft his Will,

Pleafure and Service, at their own hand and by
their own power, caufed call and convocate a

pretended Committee and Convocation of His

Majefty's Lieges ; wherein they themfelves, or

one or other of them, did perfonally convene
and meet ; and in the faid treafonable and unlaw-

ful Convocation did aft and appoint treafonable

Levies of His Majefty's own Subjefts in op-

pofition to His Majefty's Perfon, Authority and

exprefs Command. And thereafter did actually

invade and enter within His Majefty's Kingdom
of England in open Hoftility, taking His Maje-

fty's Towns, killing his Subjefts, wafting and

deftroying their Eftates and Fortunes, joining

with his Rebellious Subjefts in England and an

Army of Sectaries there, for deftruftion of His

Majefty's Perfon, Royal Family, Authority and

Government of thefe Nations, fo far as in them
lay. And thereafter in the Months above-writ-

ten, or one or other of them, in Anno 1645,

the faid Archibald Marquifs of Argyle, and the

remnant Perfons above-named Defendants, or

one or other of them, in an unheard-of way of

Treachery and Treafon, delivered His Majefty's

Sacred Perfon into the hands of the faid Rebels,

who thereafter moft treacheroufly Murdered him.

For efchewing and preventing whereof, the

whole Eftates of this Nation finding it necefiary

and incumbent to them, for the relief of their

Sovereign Lord from his Captivity, to raife an

Army for that effect : The faid Perfons com-
plained upon, or one or other of them, not only

by fubtile and clandeftine means, by Declama-

tions and familiar Conferences, and openly by

Declarations and publick Speeches in face of

Parliament,
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Parliament, opened the fame j but alfo the fame

being paft into an act in the Month of

1648 Years, publickly entered their Difaffent or

Protefiation againft the fame, moil treafonably

and treacheroufly againft the Authority of the

King, our deareft Father, and the Eftates of

Parliament. And yet their Malice not refting

fatisfied, they did by themfelves, their Friends

and Adherents, in October 1648 Years, or

thereby, convocate or raife in Arms great num-

bers of His Majefty's Lieges, without any War-

rant from King or Parliament •, and did in open

Hoftility march to His Majefty's Burghs Royal

of Edinburgh and Sterling, profecuting his faid

Army, killing His Majefty's good Subjects, wa-

fting and deitroying their Lands and Houfes.

And thereafter moft bafely and traitoroufly invi-

ted the late Tyrant and Ufurper, Oliver Crom-

well, to enter His Majefty's Kingdom of Scot-

land, with an Army of Strangers, Traitors and

Sectaries •, fuftain'd him and his treafonable Army
with all forts of Provifion, feafting and counte-

nancing himfelfand prime Officers in the Metro-

politan City of Our Kingdom, and within His

Majefty's Fort and Strength thereof, the Caftle

of Edinburgh, where the moft con fid erable

Strength of the Kingdom was for the time: By
thefe Means calling the Secrefies of His Maje-

fty's Kingdom and Forts thereof open to the

view of thofe Strangers and Traitors : Which,

by the Laws of this and all Nations, is High

Treafon j and in all Probability was the King-

dom's Bane and Ruin, and was the Aft imme-

diately preceding the cruel Regicide and Mur-

der of their Sacred Sovereign Our Royal Fa-

ther. At leaft they, or one or other of them,

were either Aiders, Abetters, Afliftants, Promo-

ters, Devifers, or art and part, and particularly

the faid Marquifs of Argyle, of the aforefaid trea-

fonable Crimes and others above libelled.

Secondly, The aforefaid Perfons, and particu-

larly the faid Archibald Marquifs of Argyle, not

having yet fatisfied his. Malice, treafonable At-

tempts and Purpofes, not confidering the Duty
either he owed to God, his Prince, Country,

Nobility of his Family, nor his own Honour or

Reputation, after multiplicity of Honours and

Offices gracioufly conferred upon him by Our
Sacred Father, and the Dignity vouchsafed to

him by Our Self, in allowing him the Truft and

Honour of fetting Our Imperial Crown upon

Our Head, upon the Day of Our Coronation in

Scotland, which was the Firft of January i6f 1

Years, in Prefence of Our whole Nobility and

Eftates of Our faid ancient Kingdom, putting

the Crown upon Our Head, with bowed-down
Knees, and up-lifted Hands, in Prefence of God,
Angels and Men, fwore as follows, By the Eter-

nal God, who liveth and reigneth for ever, IJJiall

fupport thee to my uttermofl : And 1 fwear to be a

loyal and true Subjecl, and faithful to the Crown.

And thereafter alfo kneeling, and holding his

Hands betwixt Our Hands, did fwear thefe

Words, By the Eternal and Almighty God, who
liveth and reigneth for ever, I become your Liege,

and Truth and Faith floall bear to you, and live and

die with you, againft all manner of Folk whatfoever

in your fervice. Notwithftanding of all which,

after the faid Archibald Marquifs of Argyle had
difloyally and bafely deferted our Perfon and Ar-

my at Sterling, when We were on Our March
to England, in the Year 16f 1, did in the Months
Vol. II.

above-written, or one or other of them, Anno
i6f2, at the Defire of General Dean and Colo-
nel Overton, Our known and publick Enemies,
they having come to Innerary with a Regi-
ment of Soldiers, and there the faid Marquifs had
Conference and Confultarion with them, and did

fwear, at leaft fubfcnbed and acknowledged the

Government of Our Dominions, as it was then

eftablifhed by the faid wicked Tyrant and Ufur-
per Oliver Cromzvell, and his faid Adherents in a

Commonwealth, without King, or Houfe of
Lords ; and obliged himfelf to live under it, and
be obedient thereto. And conform thereto moft
perjuredly and infamoufly the faid Archibald Mar-
quifs of Argyle, after the faid Army of Rebels
and Seftaries under the Command of the faid

General, Major Dean, and Overton, were drawn
to fuch a Strait in their Return from Innerary,

they being in the Power of certain of the faid

Marquifs his Friends, and divers others of His
Majefty's loyal Subjects then in Arms, (landing

in oppofition againft them 3 and they having ta-

ken in all Paffes, the faid Marquifs being then

Our Jufticiary in thefe Bounds, and Sheriff of

Argyle, moft traitoroufly and infamoufly againft

his faid Oath and Duty, did interpofe himfelf in

favour of the Enemy, commanding and coun-
felling Our faid faithful Subjects, who flood in

oppofition to the faid Enemy, did fuffer them
fafely to pafs withouc Oppofition : And by the

faid Marquifs his Insinuation, there was a fafe

Pafs given to the faid Enemy from the forefaid

Danger. Like as further to evince the faid Mar-
quifs his treafonable Compliance and Affection

to the faid wicked Tyrant and Ufurper Oliver

Cromwell, in all his wicked and treafonable Cour-
fes and Attempts, he in the Month of

a thoufand fix hundred and fifty Years
5

upon a pretended Call from the faid Tyrant and
Ufurper, to convene a pretended Parliament,

without any Coaction or Neceffity, did engyre
himfelf in favour of fome Shires, and dealt with,

them to eleft him for their Commiffioner ; at leaft

being elefted, he voluntarily accepted thereof;

and upon their faid pretended Commiffion, he
went to the faid pretended Parliament at IVefl-

minfler, and there moft perfidioufly and perjuredly?

treacheroufly, treafonably, and unworthily, contrary

to his own Dignity and Degree, fate, and acted

by Voting, and otherwife, in the faid pretended

Parliament, as a Member of the Houfe of Com-
mons, for eftabifhing the faid Tyrant in his u-

furped Authority, and abolifhing of Us and Our
Royal Race from Our juft Right and Title to

Our Crowns of Scotland, England, and Ireland.

And alfo the faid Marquifs, in further Profecution

of his treafonable, rebellious Courfe and Defjgns,

in the Months above-written, or one or other of

them, in the Year i6y }, or 1654, or either of

them, fold and delivered feveral Mufquets and o-

ther Ammunition to the faid Rebels, to the num-
ber of feventeen Cannon, and feven hundred Muf-
quets, or thereabouts.

Thirdly, in the Year i<5f4* feveral of Our
loyal Subjects having, for Vindication of Our
Authority, and revenge of Our Royal Father of

bleffed Memory, his Murder, taken Arms under

the Command of Our Trufty and right well-be-

loved Coufins and Counfellors William Earl of

Glencairne, and John Earl of Middleton, then Our
Commiflioners for that Effect: Againft whom,
and Our Forces under their Command, the faid

H h h & Enemies
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Enemies being about to tranfport eight hundred

Men to the North, under the Command of Col.

Cobbet, and being driven to the Ifle of Mule, and

ihip-broken in their way, and fo ready to perifti,

The faid Archibald Marquifs of Argyle, and the

remanent Perfons above complain'd upon, or one

or other of them, in the Months above- written

or one or other of them, in the Year i6f4, or

16ff, did gather together all their own Boats,

and others, and therein did fafely tranfport them

to Dunbarton, from the faid Ifle of Mule, and to

other fafe Places. At leafl the faid Archibald

Marquifs of Argyle, and remanent Perfons above

complain'd upon, or one or other of them, were

Authors, Aiders, Abettors, Aflifters, Advifers,

or art and part, of the forefaid Treafons, and o-

ther Crimes and MifJeeds above libelled.

Fourthly, The faid Marquifs, and remanent

Perfons above complain'd upon, or one or other

of them, in the Months above-written, or one

or other of them, in the Year !<5f4, or itfff,

mofl perfidioufly, treacheroufly, and traitoroufly,

went into the laid Englifl) Rebels, without any

Coaclion or Neceflity, to the Highlands in Loch-

quhaber^ and feveral other Place •, and joyned

with the faid Rebels, for fuppreffing of the faid

Earls of Glencairne and Middleton, then our Com-
miflioners, and our Forces under their Command ;

and countenanced, counfelled, and conveyed the

faid Rebels through divers Places in the High-
lands, in their Expedition againfl; our Forces. At
leafl the faid Perfons Defendants, and particular-

ly the faid Archibald Marquifs of Argyle, were

Authors, Actors, Aiders, Abettors, Aflifters,

and Countenancers of the faid trealbnable Crimes,

and others above fpecified.

Fifthly, When the faid Arch-Traitor and Re-
gicide died, Richard Cromwell, his Son, was by
order of his Father's traitorous Council, fitting

at London, proclaimed Protector of our three

Kingdoms, at the Market- Crofs of Edinburgh ;

which was done accordingly by a pretended

Council fitting at Edinburgh, for the Time. At
the doing whereof, the faid Archibald Marquifs

of Argyle, mofl; traiteroujly treacheroufly, and

perfidioufly, in the Months of a

thoufand fix hundred fifty Years, went
up to the faid Crofs of Edinburgh, at the time of

the faid Proclamation, and did countenance and

aflift the fame ; by which our Authority was al-

together abolifhed. And moreover, to further

evidence the faid Marquifs of Argyle his Wil-
lingnefs to ferve the faid Ufurper in the accom-
pliihing of all his treafonable Defigns, and to ex-

tirpate us from our Royal Authority and Govern-
ment, he endeavour'd by all means poflible, when
the forefaid Tyrant and Ufurper had commanded
Commiflioners from Shires of Scotland to appear

at London, in his pretended Parliament, for Efta-

blifliing hisUfurped Authority, and abolifhing of

Us and Our Royal Race from our juft: Right and

Title to our Crowns of Scotland, England* and

Ireland ; and for fuppreffing of the Privileges,

Laws and Liberties of this our ancient Kingdom
of Scotland; the faid Marquifs did, in obedience

of the find Traitorous Command, obtain himfelf

to be Elected Commiifioner for the Sheriffdom

of Bamf ; and thereafter went up to England,

and there fat as a Member of that Traitorous

Convention and Meeting at London, wherein De-
claration was made againfl Us and our Succeflbrs,

debarring us for ever from our juft; and lawful

Right and Title, to the Crowns of thefe our
three Kingdoms. Likeas thereafter the faid

Marquifs did embrace the Office of Sheriff-fhip

of Argyle, from the Enemy, and exercifed the
fame under them for his own ends ; and did feve-

ral times fwear, at leafl: fubferibe, in their Fa-
vours againfl: Us, our Succeflbrs, Crown, Go-
vernment and Sovereignty ; and to be obedient
and live peaceably under their Government of
our Kingdoms in form of a Commonwealth, as

it was then eftablilhed by the faid Traitor and
Ufurper. Of the which treafonable Deeds and
Acts, and others aforefaid, the faid Defenders,
and particularly the faid Archibald Marquifs of
Argyle, or one or other of them, were Authors,
Aiders, Abettors, Aflifters, Contrivers, Promo-
ters and Countenancers.

Sixthly, To further manifeft the faid Marquifs
of Argyle his treafonable Deeds, Acts and Inten-
tions againfl: Us, contrary to his Oath and Duty,
the fame evidently appears by his treafonable
Speeches following j in fo far as he being prefent
in a Provincial AfTembly at Innerarey in the Month
of or one or other of the Months
above-written, in the Year i6?i, or i6f$, or
one or other of them, fome Minifters being then
prefent, praying for His Majefty's Happinefs and
Welfare, the faid Marquifs did openly fay and
declare before them, That they were but Fools to

pray for that wicked, falfe, malignant King, whom
God had caften off, and would never reftore again;
and certain other Words to this Purpofe and
Meaning ; the faid Marquifs having uttered the
like treafonable Speeches at London, and elfe-

where. And alfo in one or other of the faid

two Years above-written, in the Month of
or one or other of the faid Months,

the faid Marquifs being within a Chamber of his

Manfion-Houfe at Lochhead in Kentyre, {lamping
with his Foot, did vaunt himfelf, faying, That
he was the only Man that plotted the riflng of the

Forces in the IVefl, terming the fame the Whig-
rode, which proved the main Caufe of our Ruin.
Moreover his Correfpondence, Joining, Acting
and Confulting with the Enemy for our Ruin is

more manifeft, in fo far as he did receive Pre-

cepts from the faid Tyrant and Ufurper, Oliver

Cromwell, directed to his Council at Edinburgh,

for Payment of the Sum of twelve thoufand-

Pounds Sterling, for good and thankful Service

done by the faid Marquifs. Likeas he did keep
correfpondence will the Ufurper Richard Crom-
well, and Charles Fleetwood in the Year 16^8,
and i6fo, by miffive Letters and other ways.

As alfo with Sir Archibald Johnfton of Wariflon,
his Fellow-Traitor, in the faid Year itffp, when
he fate in that traitorous Meeting or Council of

the Rebels at London, called the Committee of

Safety, wherein the faid Wariflon fate as Prefi-

dent ; and did of new emit Declarations for a-

bolifhing of Us and Our Succeflbrs, from our
juft Right and Title to the Crowns of thefe our
faid Kingdoms. Of all which treafonable Acts

and Deeds aforefaid, intended or committed in

one or other of the Months of the refpedtive

Years above-written, contrary to our faid Laws
and Acts of Parliament, and feveral other Laws,
the faid Defendants, and particularly the faid

Archibald Marquifs of Argyle, at leaft they, or

one or other of them, were Authors, Aiders,

Abettors, Afllfters, Promoters, Countenancers,

Contrivers, or Art and Parr.

Seventhly
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Seventhly, Our faid deceas'd Sovereign Lord

nd deareft Father, having granted Commiflion

pon the Day of March, 1643 Years,

inder his faid Majefty's Hand, authorizing and

;iving exprefs Order to the faid Sir James La-

nond to profecute a War, and levy Forces in his

Majefty's Name, againft thofe in Rebellion, and

>articularly againft the faid Marquifs of Argyle,

tnd to invade his Bounds and Lands, as he was

he Principal Promoter ofthefe odious and rebel-

ious Practices againft His Majefty's Authority,

is the faid Commiffion by way of a miffive Let-

;er directed to the faid Sir James at more length

Dears. In obedience whereunto the faid Sir James,

according to his Allegiance and bound Duty, le-

vied all his Friends and Followers, and accord-

ingly acted as became a good Subject in His Ma-
jefty's Service, for promoting whereof, 'till the

Year 1646. That after his Majefty's coming to

Newcaftle, and cafting himfelf upon the Truft

of his Army lying there, the faid Sir James did

then lay down Arms, and with his Friends re-

treated in a peaceable manner, to his own Hou-
fes of Towart and Efcog, there being no other

Houfes for the Shelter of his Friends, the Coun-

try having been formerly wafted and burnt. Af-

ter which, in the Month of or there-

about, in the fame Year, the faid Defendants, or

cne or other of them, being commanded by the

faid James Campbell of Ardkinglas, Dougall Camp-

bell of Innerraiv, and others their Officers, and

others under the faid Marquifs his Command,
did in a hoftile manner lay fiege to the faid two
Houfes, ufing all manner of Violence. And the

faid Sir James, after all legal mean3 ufed for his

own Defence, did bring them to a Treaty where-

in by Articles of Capitulation they did grant to

him, and his faid Friends and Followers, In-

demnity in their Perfons and Fortunes, with

Power to pafs freely where they pleafed j as the

faid Articles, fubferibed by the Hands of the

faid James Campbell of Ardkinglas, Colin Camp-
bell of Straquhir, John Campbell Fiare of Dun-

ftaffneich, Duncan Campbell of Ellangreg, Dougall

Campbell of Innerraiv, Duncan Campbell Uncle to

the Laird of Lochinell, and John Macklanchlane

Fiare ofCraigintareijf, of the Date the third Day
of June, at more length bear : Neverthelefs the

aforefaid Perfons complain'd upon, or one or

other of them, did moft perfidioufly, treacher-

oufly, and treafonably, ftiortly after the faid

: Capitulation, plunder the faid Houfes of their

whole Furniture and Goods therein 5 and did

rob and take away from the Perfons within the

fame, their whole Money and Cloaths, did drive

their whole Cattle of all forts, which together

,

with the Waftations formerly done by them, to

;.
the faid $>\xj ames, his Friends, Vaffals and Te-

i nants, did exceed the Sum of Fifty thoufand

\
Pound Sterling.. And in a moft cruel and barba-

i rous way, whilft fome of his poor Friends were

\
refcuing their own Goods, they barbaroufly mur-

: dered and mafia cred a number of innocent Wo-
! men, as namely, Marie Gilafpie, Marione Mack-

\
leijh, a young Maid, Caleoch Breedmachfoyne, Mar-

i

garet Crawfurde, and certain others > and inhu-

1 manly left their Bodies, as a Prey to ravenous

I

Beads and Fowls. At the leaft, the faid Perfons,

or one or other of them, and particularly the faid

Marquifs of Argyle, were Authors, Aftors, Ai-
ders, Abettors, Affifters, Contrivers, and Art and
Part of the faid cruel bloody Murders, Robberies

Oppreffions, and other Deeds and Malverfations
above libelled.

Eighthly, The faid Perfons Defendants, fhort-

ly after the faid Capitulation, and contrary to

the fame, or one or other of them, and efpeci-

ally the faid James Campbell of Ardkinglas, Dou-
gall Campbell of Innerraiv, Colin Campbell of Stra-

quhir, Duncan Campbell of Ellangreg, Duncan
Campbell Uncle to the Laird of Lochnell, John
Campbell Fiare of Dunflaffneiche, did moft trea-

cheroufly, perfidioufly, and traitoroufly felter

and bind the Hands of near two hundred Perfons

of the faid Sir James his Friends and Followers,
who were comprehended within the faid Capi-
tulation ; detaining them Prifoners with a Guard,
their Hands being bound behind their Backs like

Thieves, within the faid Sir Jameses Houfe and
Yards of towart, for the fpace of feveral Days,
in great Torment and Mifery, they being His

Majefly's free Lieges and People. Likeas moft
traitoroufly and perfidioufly, contrary ic ihe faid

Capitulation, they did carry the faid Sir James
Lamond Prifoner to the faid Houfe and Caftle of

Efcog, and by that means, and for fear of the

faid Sir James his Life, the Keepers of the faid

Caftle being the faid Sir James's Friends and Vaf-

fals, they did furrender the faid Houfe, upon Ca-
pitulation of Life, Fortune and Goods; which
Capitulation was moft traitoroufly and perfidiouf-

ly broken. And in purfuance of their further

Villany, after plundering and robbing of all that

was within and about the faid Houfe, they moft
barbaroufly, cruelly and inhumanly murdered fe-

veral, Young and Old, yea fuckling Children,

fome of them not one Month old. And further,

the faid Defendants, or one or other of them,

and particularly the aforefaid Subfcribcrs of the

faid Capitulations, in the Month of

1 646 Y'ears, did moft traitoroufly and perfidiouf-

ly carry the whole People that was within the

faid Houfe of Efcog Prifoners, with a Guard, to

the faid Sir James his Houfe of Towart, and fhort-

ly after their Removal from the faid Houfe of

Efcog, the faid Defendants, or one or other of

them, caufed burn the fame, deftroying the whole
Orchards and Plantings about the faid Houfe of

Efcog. And not being content with their former

Cruelties, they fhortly thereafter carried all the

faid Perfons who were Prifoners in both the fud

Houfes of Efcog and Towart, bound Prifoners (be-

ing His Majefty's free Lieges) to feveral Boats,

fending the faid Sir James Lamond, his two Bre-

thren, Robert Lamond of Efcog, Patrick Lamond
his only Son, Duncan Lamond his Brother, and

John Lamond of Auchingylle, Prifoners to the faid

George Campbell Sheriff-Deputy to the faid Mar-
quifs his Houfe of Innerarey, at which time the

laid Perfons, or one or other of them, moft vil-

lanoufly, contrary to the faid Capitulation, Laws,

and Acts of Parliament aforefaid, burnt the faid

Sir James Lamond'% Manfion-Houfe of Towltrt

:

Of the which cruel Crimes of Treafon, Mur-
ders, Fire-raifings, Burnings, Oppreffions, Rob-
beries, and other Crimes above-mentioned, com-
mitted contrary to our faid Laws and Acts of

Parliament, and the Capitulation above-written,

the faid Defendants, and particularly the faid

Marquifs of Argyle, at leaft one or other of them,

were Aiders, Abettors, Affifters, Countenances,

Contrivers, Promoters, and Counfellors of the

fame.

Ninthly,
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Ninthly, The faid Perfons Defendants^ or one

or other of them, contrary to the aforefaid Ca-

pitulations, Our Laws and Acts of Parliament,

upon the Day of June, 1646, molt trai-

toroufly and perfidioufly did carry the whole

People, who were in the faid Houfes of Efcog

and Towart, in the faid Boats, to the Village of

Denoone, and there moft cruelly, traitoroufly, and

perfidioufly caufe hang upon one Tree near the num-
ber of Thirty Six Perfons, moft of them being

{pedal Gentlemen of the Name of Lamond, and

Vaflals to the faid Sir James, viz. Neill Mach-
patrick alias Lamond, Archibald Lamond Son to

Baron Machpatrick of Cowfloune, Robert Lamond
his Brother, Duncan Lamond Brother to the faid

Robert, and Hugh Lamond their other Brother,

Duncan Gerlamond in Kilmarnock, Gocie and John
Lamonds his Sons, Ewen Lamond in Midtowart,

Gilbert Lamond, Duncan Lamond, John Mack'
quein alias Lamond, Archibald Mackquein alias La-

mondhis Brother, Donald Mackquein alias Lamond,

Duncan and John Lamonds Sons to Walter Lamond
Brother Germain to the Laird of Efcog, Hugh
Lamond in Corro of the Carrie, Robert Lamond in

the Carrie, Duncan Lamond there, Angus Lamond
there, Donald Lamond there, Walter Lamond
there, Duncan Lamond called Mackwalter there,

Alexander Lamond in Ardyne of Nethercowall,

William Lamond, John Mackquein younger alias

Lamond, Patrick Boigle Son to the deceafed Mr.
John Boigle Minifler at Rothefay, Dougall Harper

alias Mackalafler, Servant to the faid Sir James
Lamond, John Lamond Son to Gilbert Lamond of

Knockow, Gilbert Macklay in Glendarowall, James
Lamond in Ardyne, Donald Lamond, James Mack-
quein alias Lamond in Nethercowall, James La-
mond his Son, and John Mackpatrick alias La-
mond in Ardyne. And alfo the faid Perfons De-
fendants, or one or other of them, upon the fore-

faid Day of June 1645, moft cruelly, bar-

baroufly, inhumanely and unchriftianly murde-
red with Durks, and cut down with Swords and
Piftols the Perfons following, viz. John Lamond
in Auchinjhallech, who being about the Age of

fourfcore Years, having a Flux upon him, and
being alfo pin'd away with Hunger and Thirft,

they moft cruelly and barbaroufly ftabb'd him
with Durks and Skanes at the Ladder-foot:

And did alfo moft barbaroufly murder, flab and
cut down the Perfons following, viz. Thomas

Brown, Neill Mackneill, Meldonich Mackmaw,John
Mackmaw his Brother, Archibald Hamilton, Meldo-

nich Mackilmichael, Robert Michael, John Mackin-

lay, John Hendry, Alexander Hendry,Patrick Hendry,

John Lamond, Angus Mackilmune, John Mack-
innes, John Mackdougall, John Henry, William

Mackwilliam alias Wilfon, Hew Mackcrow, John
Mackcrow his Brother, John Mackperfon, Donald
Mackperfon, Duncan Mackperfon, Donald Mac-
kilbreid Lamond, Duncan Lamond, Duncan Macka-

lafler, Thomas Menchryd, John Michaelfon, John
Moodie, and John Jamifon then Provoft of Rothe-

fay, who being {hot thrice through the Body,
finding fome Life in him, did thruft feveral Durkg
and Skanes in him, and at laft hid cut his Throat,

with a long Durk ; the faid John Jamifon not

only reprefenting His Majefty's Authority, as a

prime Magiftrate of his Burgh Royal, was fo

cruelly murdered in Contempt thereof, and

of the Statutes made in that behalf. And to

manifeft their further Cruelty, they did caft

fome of the aforefaid Perfons into Holes

made for them, who were fpurning and wreft-
ling, whilft they were fuffbcated with Earth j

having denied to them any time to recommend
themfelves to God ; albeit earneftly delired and
begg'd by the faid murdered Perfons. Info-

much that the Lord from Heaven did declare

his Wrath and Difpleafure againft the aforefaid

inhumane Cruelty, by ftrikingthe Tree whereon
they were hanged, in the faid Month of June,
being a lively frefti growing Afh-tree, at the

Kirk-yard of Denoone, amongft many other frefh

Trees with Leaves, the Lord ftruck the faid

Tree immediately thereafter ; fothat the whole
Leaves fell from it, and the Tree withered, never
bearing Leaf thereafter, remaining fo for the
fpace of two Years : Which being cut down,
there fprang out of the very Heart of the Root
thereof a Spring like unto Blood popling up,
running in feveral Streams, all over the Root,
and that for feveral Years thereafter: 'Till the
faid Murderers or their Favourers, perceiving

that it was remarked by Perfons of all Ranks
(reforting there to fee the Miracle) they did

caufe houck out the Root, covering the whole
with Earth, which was full of the faid Matter
like Blood. Of the which cruel Murders, the

faid Perfons, and efpecially the faid Marquifs of
Argyle, or one or other of them, were Authors,
Actors, Aiders, Abettors, Aflifters, Contrivers,

Countenancers and Promoters, many of the faid

Perfons Defendants being Officers under the

Command of the faid Marquifs of Argyle.

Tenthly, Upon the Month of 164^
the faid Sir James Lamond, his faid Brethren and
Friends, being detained Prifoners at the faid

Marquifs's Houfe of Innerary, the faid George

Campbell Sheriff, and Juftice- Deputy to the faid

Marquifs, James Campbell of Ardkinglas, Col. un-

der the Command of the faid Marquifs, Dougall

Campbell alias Mackonnochie of lnnerraw Major
under the Command of the faid Marqnifs,><ind

certain other Perfons being met in a Kind of

Conventicle, who did enquire of the faid Sir

James, whether he would fubmit his Life and
Fortune to them, or not? Who anfwer'd, That
he would not, pleading upon his Majefty's Com-
miffion, the Capitulation given to him, and that

he being the King's Baron could not be judged
by them, none of them being fuch. W hereunto

the faid George Campbell replied, that the faid Sir

James was a falfe Knave, and that he would
judge him whether he would or not, and hang
him as Juftice-Deputy of the faid Marquifs of

Argyle; at which time the faid George Campbell

did rob and feize upon the Sum of 1000 1, be-

longing to Archibald Lamond, Brother to the

faid Sir James, and having within a little time

hereafter fearched the faid Sir James for the

faid Capitulation, finding that he had it not, and

they confidering the Prejudice that might follow

to them thereby, they caufed the faid Sir James

to fubferibe a Paper penn'd by the faid George,

declaring therein that his Quarrel was unjuft,

and that he repented thereof, as alfo that he did

pafs from the Capitulation ; which Paper with

certain other Articles therein was fubferibed by

the faid Sir James, he being compelled thereto

for fear of Death, having gotten notice at that

very fame time that his faid Friends and Follo-

wers were cruelly murdered by them at Denoone,

as is above mentioned ; after fubferibing of the

which Paper, two Days after the Aid Sir James,
his
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his two Brethren, and four Friends aforefaid,

were committed Prifoners, in feveral Houfes,

appertaining to the faid Marquifs of Argyle, the

faid Sir James remaining Priioner in the Houfe

of Dunftuffnagh for the fpace of four Years,

thereafter being carried to the Caftle of Jncho-

tieill, where he remained Prifoner for the fpace

oftwo Years or thereabout, until he was carried

from thence to Sterling, by virtue of an Order

from Us and our Eftates of Parliament, they

having not time to take Trial of the matter at

that time, by reafon of our marching into Eng-

land, fending the faid Sir James up to the Caftle

of Sterling, for fear of the faid Marquifs'% Cruel-

ty j in regard he often threatned, that if ever

the faid Sir James came in his Power, the World

fhould not fave his Life, and that he repented

nothing more, than that he took not that bloody

Knave's Life, whilft he had him in his Power j

faying likewife, that all was but one fault : The
which cruel Crimes of Opprefiion and others

above fpecified, the faid Defendants, particular-

ly the Marquifs of Argyle, one or other of them,

were Actors, Aiders, Abettors, Contrivers, Coun-

tenances or Promoters.

Eleventhly, The faid Perfons Defendants, their

Cruelty againft the faid Sir James is manifeft, in

fo far as the faid Month of i6fi, Do-

nald Campbell fent John Campbell of Ardtarich of

the fpecial caufing, hounding out, and or under

their Command or Direction, came accompa-

nied with 30 Men, all armed with Guns, Swords,

Pillols, and other Weapons, invafive to the

Coaft fide of the Sheriffdoms of Aire and Ren-

frew, where they heard that the faid Sir James

had his Refidence, and did fearch the Houfe of

Southanon belonging to my Lord Sempell, and the

Houfe of Corsby belonging to the Laird of

Auchnames, where the faid Perfons did make
fearch for the faid Sir James, two of them com-
ing early in the Morning to the faid Houfe of

Auchnames, the faid Donald running up Stairs,

with a drawn Durk and bended Piftol in either

Hand, making fearch through the whole Houfe
and Beds, to have murdered the faid Sir James,

who by Providence was in the Wood, not know-
ing any thing of the intended Murder. And
the faid Perfons being difappointed of their In-

tentions, did retire to their Boats, the faid Sir

James flying at that time to the IJle of Arran to

fhelter himlelf under the Protection of the now
Dutchefs of Hamilton, who did refide there for

thei time. Likeas immediately thereafter the

faid Marquifs of Argyle and his Accomplices,
failing of their faid intended Murder, the faid

Marquifs did defire a Warrant from the Com-
; mittee of Parliament, in the faid Year i6f 1, for

apprehending the faid Sir James Lamond, inten-

j
ding thereby to profecutejthe aforefaid Murder

;

I which Warrant was then refufed to be granted

Jto himj at leaft the faid Defendants, and parti-

cularly the faid Marquifs of Argyle, or one or
other of them, were Authors, Actors, Aiders,

Abettors, Affifters, Contrivers, Countenances,
of the aforefaid Crimes of Murder and Oppref-
iion, and others aforefaid.

Twelfthly, And further to evidence the afore-

faid Perfons Defendants, and particularly the
faid Marquifs of Argyle, their Cruelty and Op-
prefiion againft the faid Sir James, the faid Mar-
quifs in the Month of 1647, or there-

abouts, came to our Houfe of Dunftaffneich9

where the faid Sir James had been kept mod un-
juftly and unwarrantably Prifoner feveral Years
before, and fending to him the late deceafed

Archibald Campbell Keeper of our faid Caftle un-
der the faid Marquifs, Colin Campbell of Lochmell9
and Dowgall Campbell alias Mackconnachie of In-

nerraw, as Commifiioners, with certain Propo-
fals following, viz. Firft, that the faid Sir James
fhould renounce and for ever overgive all Right,
Title and lntereft, he had to his own Proper-
ty, and his Vaffals Superiority : And upon con-
dition alfo, that the faid Sir James fhould under
his own Hand abjure Scotland, and never to be
feen therein: Which being done the faid Mar-
quifs faid he would give to Sir James a confide-

rable Sum, threatning alfo that if the faid Sir

James would refufe the faid Offer, fo long as

the faid Marquifs had an Houfe in the World,
the faid Sir James fhould be Prifoner therein,

and fhould torment him with Pain and Mifery,
'till the Marrow fhould rot within his Bones.

The faid Marquifs declaring alfo, that he hath
already pofTefs'd himfelf of the faid Sir James
and his Vaffals Eftates, which he faid he and
his fhould poffefs, in defpite of thofe who would
or would not. Whereupon the faid Sir James
confidering with himfelf, within fome few
Months thereafter, that what a Psifoner did was
Null in Law, and being moft defirous of his

Liberty, from fo miftrable and fo long Impri-
fonment, profefs'd to be willing to grant fome
of the former defires } the faid Marquifs hearing
thereof, caufed carry the faid Sir James with a

Guard to the Town of Innerarey, where the

faid Sir James did write fome few Lines, the

Subftance whereof contained the moft Part of
the faid Marquifs's Defires. Notwithstanding
whereof, and the faid Paper was delivered to the

faid Marquifs, he perfifting in his former Cruelty
and Opprefiion, did fend back the faid Sir James
to Prilon, where he remain'd at Our faid Houfe
of Dunftaffneich, fo that the faid Papers fo fub-

fcribed and delivered to the faid Marquifs and
George Campbell his Juftice and Sheriff- Deputy
(for which they and their Accomplices ought to

be punifh'd as Oppreffors and as Actors and Art
and Part of the aforefaid Crimes) and all follow-

ing upon the faid Writings and Papers ought to

be declared Void and Null.

Thirtcenthly, the faid Perfons Defendants, and
particularly the faid Archibald Marquifs of Ar-
gyle his Friends and Accomplices, perfevering in

their further Opprefiion, in the Month of

1649 Years, caufed the faid deceafed Archibald

Campbell, then Keeper of our faid Caftle of Dun-
ftaffneich, under Command of the faid Marquifs^

compel the faid Sir James to grant a Band to the

faid Archibald, his Heirs, Executors, and Af-

fignes, for payment of the Sum of four thou-

fand four hundred Marks or thereabouts, for al-

ledging four Years Entertainment in our faid

Caftle, where the faid Sir James Lamond was vio-

lently, traitoroufly, and illegally detain'd Prifoner:

Unto the which Band the faid Marquifs be af-

fign'd, he did intend Action thereupon before the

Engliflo Judges, and for that and certain other pre-

tended Debts, which were paid, the faid Marquifs

took forth Caption againft the faid Sir James, in-

tending thereby to profecute his forethought

Cruelties and Oppreffions, and to incarcerate him,

for obtaining his former Defigns. And fo the

faid Marquifs by Acceptation of the faid Afllg-

nation,
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nation, purfued thereupon his Imprifonments,

Threatnings and others above and after fpecified.

Fourteenthly, The faid George CampbellJu&ice

under the (aid Marquifs, ftill continuing in his

former Cruelties and Oppreffion, in the Month

of 1647 Years, or thereabouts, not

only contrary to his faid Majefty's Commiffion,

but alfo contrary to the Articles of Capitulation,

our Laws and Ads of Parliament having taken

Patrick Lamond Fiare of Efcog, and John Lamond

of Auchingylle out of the faid Caftle of Efcog,

after they had rendred the faid Caftle upon the

Capitulation above-mentioned, having detain'd

them Prifoners, the one in the Caftle of Carnick,

and the other in the Caftle of Inchoneill, for the

fpace of a Year and three Quarters, 'till the

Day ofJanuary 104.8 Years. At the

which Time the faid Marquifs, and the faid George

his Deputy, caufed call a pretended Court of

Juftice at the faid Town of Innerrarey, where

having conven'd the faid Patrick Lamond Fiare

oi Efcog, and John Lamond of Auchingylle, at the

faid Town did call an Aflize, confiding of High-

land-men, under Power of the faid Marquifs,

and his Deputy their Judiciary, being alfo their

Dependants and Followers, and of the faid George

his making ufe of, for the moft part, for Mur-
ders and Oppreffions. Which Affize having

Convicted the faid Patrick Lamond Fiare of Ef-

cog, and having abfolved the faid John Lamond,

in refpect to fome Favours done to them, the

faid George Campbell neverthelefs caufed the faid

pretended Inqueft thereafter to meet, contrary

to the exprefs Law and Act of Parliament j the

faid George faying, that it was not fit that one

Young Man mould die alone: Conform to the

which unjuft and illegal Command and Direc-

tion, the aforefaidPerfons of the Affile did meet

again, and did Convict the faid John Lamond alfo,

who by Virtue of the faid George his unjuft and

unlawful Sentence, the faid two Gentlemen were

Hanged to Death at Innerrarey. Likeas the faid

Marquifs of Argyle his concourfe, countenancing

and promoting of the faid cruel Murders and

Oppreffions, the faid Marquifs by himfclf, James

Campbell of Ardkinglas, and their Complices, have

ftill poffefs'd the Lands of Efcog, and Auchingylle,

belonging to the faid two murdered Gentle-

men-, whereof they are yet ftill in Pofleffion to

this fame very Hour : The faidJohn Lamondlew-
ing two Children behind him, the eldeft ofthem
not two Years old, to whom the faid Marquifs

refufed to give any Supply or Entertainment;

they living ftill as yet upon the Charity of the

People. Likeas the faid Marquifs ofArgyle doth

moft violently, illegally and unjuftly, poflefs the

Lands belonging to John Lamond of Auchinjhel-

ioch, who for Age and Infirmity, as faid is, was

cruelly murdered at the Ladder- foot in manner
above- written. At lcaft the faid Perfons Defen-

dants, and particularly the faid Marquifs of Ar-

gyle, George Campbell his Juftice and Sheriff- De-
puty, James Campbell of Ardkinglas, or one or

other of them, were Authors, Aiders, Abettors,

Affifters, Promoters, Counfellors, Contrivers and

Art and Part of the faid wicked Murders. Op-
preffions, Burnings, Robbery, and other Dsed^,

and malvers Actions above-written. Andfurthei^

to manifeft the faid Marquifs of Argyle, George"

Campbell his faid Juftice and Sheriff- Deputy^

and their Complices, their Cruelty and Oppref-

fion, they or one or other of them in the Month

of 1648 Years, having at that time

murdered the faid Patrick Lamond younger of

Efcog as alorcfaid, they caufed immediately there-

after bring before them Duncan Lamond of Stronal-

banochhis Uncle an Old-Man, being then Pnfoner
at Caftle Lanchlane, to the Town of Innerrarey \

threatning him, that if he would not renounce
and difpofe his Right of the whole Lands of
Keames, which he held of the Laird of Lamond,
then they would caule Hang him, as his Ne-
phew was immediately before. Likeas for fafety

of his Life, the faid Duncan Lamond did grant a

Difpofition of his faid Lands of Keames, to the

faid Marquifs of Argyle, and did deliver to him
the whole Writings thereof, conform whereunto
the faid Marquifs remains ftill in Pofleffion.

And in like manner the faid Marquifs of Ar-
gyle, George Campbell his Juftice and Sheriff-De-

puty, and their faid Complices, by their Power
and Warrant have pofleft and do poflefs the

Lands belonging to the faid James Lamond, viz.

The Lands called Archibald Roy-Stewart, the
Sixth-mark Land of Ochrechewne, the Lands of

Craignifroche ; on which Lands of Craignifroche

the faid Marquifs had his own Bowmen and
Heards, keeping thereon a Number of his own
prcper Goods feveral Years: The faid Marquifs
pofleffing alfo feveral other Lands both in Pro-

perty and Superiority belonging to the faid Sir

James, the Marquifs having no right thereto,

but poflefling tne lame by meer Oppofition. Of
the which Crimes of Opp'*effion and others above
fpecified, the faid Marquifs of Argyle, George

Campbell Juftice and Sheriff-Deputy to the faid

Marquifs, James Campbell of Ardkinglafs, Officer

under the faid Marquifs's Command, and rema-

nent Defendants, were Authors, Actors, Aiders,
,

Abettors, Affifters, Contrivers, Promoters, and

Art and Part. And further, the faid Marquifs

of Argyle, George Campbell his Juftice and Sheriff-

Deputy, and their Complices and remanent De-
fendants above-named, or one or other of them,

in the Month of 1648 Years, or

thereabout, did feize and apprehend the Perfon

of Dongall Mackdougall of Downaach, after he

had furrendred the Houfe of Dounolick, upon a

fubfenbed Capitulation under the Hands of Lieu-

tenant- General David Lefiey, for his Life, Liberty

and Eftate. Notwithftanding whereof the faid

Marquifs and his faid Servant, or either of them
and their Complices, caufed incarcerate the laid

Dougall Mackdougall in the Houfe of Inchoneill,

laying Irons upon him j who being in miferable

Torment for the fpace of a Year and a half and

above, was enforced at the faid Marquifs's defire,

to be free of the woful Imprifonment and Tor-
ture, to grant to him a difpofition and Renun-
ciation of the faid DougaWs Lands of Burning-

\

gar; whereof the faid Marquifs is ftill in Pof->

feflion fince the faid Year 1648. Of the which

cruel Acts of Oppreffion, particularly the faid

Marquifs of Argyle and George Campbell his Ser-

vant, or one or other of them, were Authors

Aiders, Abettors, Affifters, Countenancers, Pro-

moters, and Art and Part. And in like manner,

Duncan Campbell of Elangreg moft treacheroufly,

traitorouflyand perfidioufly, after fubferibing of

the Capitulation by him granted to the faid Sir

James, his Friends and Followers, being a Mem-
ber of thcConventicle,and Meeting at the afore-

faid cruel and wicked Murders committed at

Denoone, was a main Author, Actor, Abettor.

Affifter.
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Affifter, Contriver and Promoter of the faid

wicked Murder committed there. Like as there-

after the faid Duncan Campbell did take unlawful

Poffeffion of Lcymont Lamond of Coivfion's Lands

of Stroan and Cozvjlon, and alfo the Lands of

Trozvjlonne and Ardbeg, belonging to the faid Sir

James and Leymount. And alfo the faid Duncan

Campbell with certain of his Complices, in the

Month of March 1646 Years, came from his

own Houfe to the faid Lands of Cowfion, and

Stroan, and there Murdered early in the Morn-
ing of Men and Children to the number of forty

Perfons, viz. Archibald Lamond in Auchinfoure,

John Lamond there, Lamond Son to

Liven Lamond there a Child, Archibald Lamond
of Rive, Coll Lamond his only Son aChild, JEm'»

Lamond in Midtowart, Duncan Lamond his Bro-

ther, Donald Mackneill Servant to the faid Sir

James Lamond, Donald Macklanchlane in Kilmi-

chacl, Finlay Mackilbreid, Donald Mackilbreid his

Brother, two of the Name of Mackalafiers Sons

to Archibald Mackalafler in Killennane j

Macklelland in Knockmillie, Robert Moodie in

Caftle Towart, John Mackiller Servant to the

faid Sir James, Harry Lamond, Archibald Mack'

perfon, John Mitchelfon, John Leith, Dougall

Leith, and feveral others. As alfo the faid Dun-
can Campbell moft traitoroufly, treacheroufly and

perfidioufly, with the faid Defendants his Com-
plices, were main Actors, Abettors, Affifters,

and art and part of the burning of the faid Sir

James his Houfe of Totvart, taking away the

Goods and Plenifhing therein, deftroying of the

faid Sir James his own Men, Tenants, Vaffals

and Servants j robbing and taking away of their

Goods the forefaid Years 164$", and 1646", in

one or other of the Months thereof. Of the

which treafonable Deeds, Murders, Fire-raifings,

Oppreffions, Robberies, and other cruel Acts

and Malverfations above-mentioned, the faid Per-

fons Defendants, and particularly the faid Mar-
quifs of Jrgyle, the faid Duncan Campbell an Of-
ficer under the faid Marquifs's command, George

Campbell Sheriff and Juftice-Deputy, or one of

them, were Authors, Actors, Aiders, Abettors,

Affifters, Contrivers and Promoters of the fame.

And in like manner Robert Campbell of Auchin-

tuilling, and remanant Defendants aforefaid, or

one or other of them, moft bafely and perfidi-

oufly, after the faid Capitulation, and contrary

thereto, and Our faid Laws and Acts of Parlia-

ment above-written, in Month of or
1 one or other of the Months above- fpecified, in

\ the Year of God, 1646, 1647, 1648, 1649,
itffo, i6j*i, i6f2, i6f 3, i<Sf4, or one or other

', of the faid Years, did violently reave and carry

away feveral of the faid SitJames's Houfhold Ple-

j

nifhing,and did deftroy and cut down the whole

j

Plantings in and about the faid Sir James his

I

Houfe of Towart, Orchards, Parks and Walks
thereof j and did fell, ufe and difpone there-

upon, burning fpailes and branches of the faid

Trees, focuttcd upon the Roots of the fame,
that they might never grow thereafter; demo-
lifhing the Walls of the faid Houfe, taking away
the great hewed Stones thereof, and building
therewith Houfes to himfelf. And alfo being
prefent at the faid bloody and cruel Murders
committed at Denoone, and a main Actor, Aider,
Abettor, Affifter, Counfellor and Promoter there-
of; as alfo was a main Actor, Aider, Abrttor,
Affifter, and art and part of the great burnings,
Vot. II.

hairfhips, and ryfFs committed by the faid De-
fendants, or one or other of them, of the faid

Sir James [his own Men, Tenants, Vaffals and
Servants Houfes, in the Year of God i<?4f, and
1646", in one or other of the Months thereof.

Of the which cruel Crimes, Deeds and Malver-
fations above-written the faid Robert Campbell of
Auchinwilling, and the faid Defendants, or one or

other of. them, were main Actors, Aiders, &c.
And alfo the faid John Campbell of Ardtariche

and remanent Defendants above-written, or one
or other of them, in the faid Month of June
16*46 Years, moft villainoufly, contrary to the

faid Capitulation, was acceffory to the burning
of the faid Sir James his Houfe of ctowart, and
in the faid Month was prefent at the meeting,
and a main Counfellor, Aider, Abettor or
Affifter of the faid cruel and bloody Murders,
committed at the Village of Denoone. And to

make the Premifes manifeftly appear, the faid

John Campbell, by meer Oppreffion having poffeft

the Lands belonging to the Deceas'd Duncan La-
mond a murdered Perfon, particularly the Lands
of Knockdazv, Innerchellane, the Lands of Lettin-

gall and Towart-fleeming ; and in like manner
having by Oppreffion alfo poffeft himfelf of the

Lands of Gortamlesk, Kilmarnock and Brackleys,

pertaining to the faid Sir James ; taking away
alfo, before the burning of his faid Houfe, feveral

of the Houfhold-ftuff and Plenifhing therein.

Of the which Deeds and other Crimes above-

written, the faid John Campbell of Ardtariche,

and remanent Defendants aforefaid, or one or

other of them, were Authors, Aiders, &V.
And further Mr. Colin Macklanchlane, Mini-

fter at Lochgolijheed, being prefent at the meeting
in the faid Village of Denoone, in the faid Month
of June 1646, moft villainoufly and treache-

roufly, contrary to the faid Capitulation, was a

main Counfellor, Actor, Author, Aider, Affifter,

Abettor, Promoter, and Art and Part of the

forefaid cruel Murders, committed at the faid

Village of Denoone. And further the faid James
Campbell of Arkinglas Officer under the faid

Marquifs's command, accompanied with his Re-
giment in the Low-lands, at the Village of the

Largis, in the Month of 1645, add-

ing to his former Cruelties, one

Lamond a Beggar coming to the faid James Camp-
bell, and craving his Charity, the faid James
caufed Apprehend the faid Beggar, and moft

cruelly caufed Murder and Hang him, without

any Ground or Warrant. Of the which cruel

Crime of Murder the (aid James Campbell of Ard*

kinglas, and the faid Defendants, or one or other

of them, were Authors, Actors, Abettors, &c

.

And moreover the faid James Campbell, of Ard-

kinglas, Officer under the faid Marquifs his com-
mand, and remanent Perfons Defendants aforefaid,

intending never to put a Period to their Cruelty,

fo long as any of the Name of Lamond and their

Friends and Followers were left, in the Month
of 1646, the faid James Campbell be-

ing accompanied with his faid Regiment in the

Lowlands, there being brought to him by Angus

Mackilvernock, Dermount Campbell, and the de-

ceas'd Francis Campbell his Brother, one John

Machpatrick alias Lamond, the faid James Camp-

bell of Ardkinglas, and remanent Defendants a-

forefaid, or one or other of them, caufed cruelly

Murder and Hang the faid John Machpatrick

alias Lamond, and that without any Ground or

I i i Warrant.
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Warrant. Of the which crime of Murder, the

faid Defendants, or one or other of them, and

particularly the faid James Campbell of Ardking-

las, were Authors, Actors, Aiders, Abettors,

Affifters, or Art or Part.

And alfo, Alexander Campbell of Pennymoir,

with certain of his Followers and Complices, up-

on the Month of 164
J" Years, did

feize and apprehend, in] the Ifle of Comeraiv,

one Robert Lamond Merchant refidenter in Ire-

land, from whence having come about his law-

ful Occafions, to the faid Ifle of Comeraw, the

faid Perfons did moll cruelly and villainoufly

murder and fhoot the faid Robert Lamond to

death, at the faid Ifle : of the which cruel Mur-

der the faid Defendants, or one or other of them,

and particularly the faid Alexander Campbell of

Pennymoir, were Authors, Actors, Aiders, A-
bettors, Affifters, or Art and Part. And likewife

the faid George Campbell, Juftice and Sheriff-

Deputy to the faid Marquifs of Argyle, ftill per-

fifting in his wonted Cruelties and Murders, in

the Month of 164? Years, caufed

murder and hang one John Dow Maclauchlan

of Ardnadanne, at the faid Town of Inverary,

and that without any Ground or Warrant. Of
the which cruel Murder, the faid Defendants,

or one or other of them, and particularly the

faid George Campbell, were Authors, Actors,

Aiders, Abettors, Affifters, or Art and Part.

And further, the faid Archibald Marquifs of

Argyle, and George Campbell his Juftice and Sheriff-

Deputy, likely never to make an End of their

Cruelty, in the Month of i047
Years, or thereby, did moft barbaroufly, cruelly,

and unchriftianly murder and cut off Heclor

Macalhftar of and his two Sons,

at Lochhead in Kintyre, they being His Majefty's

free Lieges, having received Capitulation from
the faid Lieutenant- General David Lejley, for

Life, Lands, Eftate and Goods ; who according

to the faid Capitulation did go home to their

dwelling Houfe, living peaceably : Notwith-
flanding whereof the faid Archibald Marquifs of
Argyleznd the faid George Campbell his faid Juftice

and Sheriff- Deputy, fending for the faid Heclor

Macallajlar and his faid two Sons, coming and
fearing nothing, they moft traitoroufly and vil-

lainoufly, contrary to the faid Capitulation,

caufed to murder and hang the faid Perfons at

Lochhead in Kintyre. Of the which cruel Mur-
ders the faid Defendants, or one or other of
them, and particularly the faid Archibald Mar-
quifs of Argyle and George Campbell his Juftice

and Sheriff- Deputy were Authors, Actors,Aiders,

Abettors, Contrivers, Affifters, and Promoters,
or Art and Part thereof. As alfo Archibald Camp-
bell Evinnochan, Son-in-Law to the Laird of
Otter, in the Month of or one or
other of the Months refpectivc above-written,
in the Year 1646, was AccefTory, Art and Part,

and Aider, Abettor, and Affifter of the forefaid

cruel and wicked Murders committed at the
Lands of Stroane, and at the forefaid Village of
Denoon, being acceffory alfo to the robbing and
taking away of the Houfhold-ftuff and Plenifh-

ing of the faid Sir James his faid Houfe of
Towart, and of the Burning of the fame. Of the

which cruel Acts of Murders, Robberies, and
Fire-raifing, the faid Archibald Campbell was
Actor, Author, Abettor, Affifter, Contriver,
Counfellor, Promoter, and Art and Part thereof.

And likewife the faid Marquifs of Argyle and
George Campbell his Juftice and Sheriff- Deputy,
or one or other of them in the Month of
or one or other of the faid Months above-writ*

ten, in the Year of God 1639, or thereby,

caufed feize upon and apprehend Col. Mac Gil-

lefpy, alias Mac Donald, he being then His Ma-
jefty's free Liege, incarcerate him in our faid

Houfe of Dunftafneich, where he remained Pri-

foner till the Year 1645", aC which time being
excambet after the Battle of Inverlochie he was
taken Prifoner in Ila in the Year 1647, being

then in His Majefty's Service, and within few
Days or Weeks thereafter, the faid Marquifs and
the faid George caufed moft cruelly hang the

faid Col. Mac Gillefpy, at our faid Houfe of

Dunftafneich. And further, the faid Archibald

Marquifs o(Argyle and George Campbell his Sheriff

and Juftice-Deputy, or one or other of them,
upon the Month of or one or other of

the Months above-written, in the Year 1647, or

1648, caufed cruelly murder and hang Ronnali
Macdonnald Son to the faid Col. at Jnverary.

And alfo the faid Marquifs of Argyle and, George

Campbell his Juftice and Sheriff- Deputy, moft
treacheroufly, traitoroufly, and perfidioufly

caufed cruelly murder and hang, in the Month
of or one or other of the Months
above-written, in the Year of God 1647, Alex-

ander Maccoll Vickronnald alias Mackallafter in

Kilmichell of Largy, notwithstanding of a Capi-

tulation granted by the faid Marquifs of Argyle

and Lieutenant-General Lejley, or one or other

of them : Of the which three cruel Murders im-

mediately preceding, committed at Jnverary and

Dunftafneich the faid Defendants, or one or o-

ther of them, and particularly the faid Archibald '

Marquifs of Argyle, and George Campbell his Ju-
ftice and Sheriff-Deputy, were Authors, Actors,

Aiders, Abettors, Affifters, Advifers, Counte-
nances, and Promoters, or Art and Part.

Of the which treafonable Crimes, Murders,
,

Robberies, Oppreffions, and all other Crimes,

Mifdeeds, and Malverfations above-mentioned,

or one or other of them, th§,forenamed Perfons

above complained upon, and every one of them,

at leaft one or other of them, were Actors, Au-
thors, Abettors, Affifters, Contrivers, Devifers,

Confulters, Advifers, or Art and Part. And
thereby they and each one of them, at leaft one

or other of them, have incurred the refpective

Pains and Puuifhments prefcribed by our faid

Laws, and Acts of Parliament, viz. The for-

feiture of Life, Lands, Dignity, Eftates, and

Goods, the benefit thereof to be applied to our

Ufe, or fuch Ufe as we and our faid Eftates of 1

Parliament, or thefe impowered by Us for that 1

effect, fhall appoint } at the leaft have incurred

fuch other Cenfure and Punifhmenr, in their

Bodies, Names, Fames, Eftate, and Goods, as

we and our faid Eftates of Parliament, or thofe

impowered or authorized by us for that Effect,

fhall think fit, to be applied, as faid is, accord-

ing to the nature and quality of their feveral

Crimes, Mifdeeds and Malverfations, done and

committed by them, which ought and fhould

be inflicted upon them with all rigour, in ex-

ample of others.

Our Will is herefore, and we charge you that

you lawfully Summon, Warn, and Charge, the

whole forenamed Perfons, Defendants, above-

named as followethj viz. fo many of them as are

within
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within this our Realm of Scotland, perfonally,

if [hey can be apprehended, and failing thereof,

at their Dwelling-places, and by open Procla-

mation at the Market- Croffes of the Head Bo-

roughs ofour Sheriffdoms, or other Jurisdictions

within the which they dwell •, and fo many of

them as are without the fame, by open Procla-

mation at the Market-Crofs of our Burgh of E-

dinburgh, Peir and Shore of Leith, upon three-

fcore Days Warning, to appear perfonally before

us and our Eftates of Parliament, or thofe im-

powered or authorized by us for that Effect, at

Edinburgh, or where it fhall happen then to be

for the time, the Day of with

Continuation of Days to anfwer at the Inftance

of our faid Advocate, for ouiTmereft, and at the

Inftance of the faid Sir James Lamount, for him-

felf and in Name and Behalf aforefaid, for his

Intereft above- written. That is to fay, the faid

Defendants, to hear and fee it found and decla-

red, verified and proved, in Prefence of our faid

Eltates of Parliament, or fuch as ihall be autho-

rized by us and them, that the faid Defendants,

and every one of them, at leaft one or other of

them, have committed, and are guilty of, the

Crimes of High-Treafon, and other Crimes, Mur-

ders, Robberies, Opprejfions, Mi/deeds, and Mal-

•verfations, refpective above fpecified, or one or

other of them j at leaft they, and every one of

them, or one or other of them, were Authors,

Abettors, Contrivers, Devifcrs, or Art and Part

thereof: And ihe fame being fo verified and

proved, to hear and fee it found and declared,

by us and our faid Eltates of Parliament, or thofe

impowered or authorized by us for that Effect,

tlv.it the fornamed Perfons, and every one of

them , have thereby incurred the rtfpective

Pains and Punifhments, prefenbed by our faid

Laws and Acts of Parliament j and to hear and

fee the Sentence and Doom of Forfeiture pro-

nounced againft them tor the fame, viz. the For-

feiture and Lofs of Life, Lands, Dignities, E~

ftates and Goods, and the Benefit thereof to be

applied to our Uie, or fuch as we or our faid E-

itates of Parliament, or thofe authorized by us

for that Effect fhall appoint ; at leaft to hear and

fee themfelves adjudged to be cenfured in their

Perfons, Names, Fames, Eftates and Goods, as we
and our faid Eltates of Parliament, or thofe im-

powered or authorized by us for that Effect:, fhall

think fit, according to the Nature and Quality

of their feveral Crimes, Mifdeeds and Malverfa-

tions, committed and done by them; and to hear

and fee the forefaid Pains and Punifhments de-

cerned to be executed, and inflicted upon them,
with all Rigour, in example of others, at the

Avbitrement and Determination of us and our
faid Eftates of Parliament, or thofe impowered
and authorized by us for that Effccl: : With Cer-
tification to the Difobeyers, if they be contuma-
cious and appear not, we and our faid Eftates of
Parliament, or thofe impowered and authorized

by us, for that Effect, will then inftantly pro-
ceed againft the faid Defendants, and every one
of them, who does not appear, as Rebels and

: Traitors, and guilty of High-Treafon againft Us
and our Crown, and the Eftates of this our an-
cient Kingdom ; to the forfeiting of their Lives,

Lands, Eftates and Goods, to be applied, as faid

is j and that their Abfence and Contumacy fhall

be holden, as a manifeft Probation of their Guil-

tinefs, without Neceffity of any further Proba-
Vol. II.
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tion. But if they appear and remain prefent at

the whole Diets of the Procedure, that then we
and our faid Eftates of Parliament, or thefe im-
powered and authorized by us for that Effect, will

proceed againft the faid Defenders upon lawful

Probation, to the forfeiting of their laid Lives,

Lands, Eftates, and Goods, to be applied as laid

is, or otherwife by punifhing and cenfuring of
them, according to the Nature and Quality of
their Crimes, Mifdeeds, and Malverfations, in

their Perfons, Eftates, Goods, Name and Fame,
or lome other manner of way,. as we and our faid

Eftates of Parliament, or thofe impowered or
authorized by us for that Effect:, fhall think fit

and appoint, conform to our Sentence, Decree,
and Determination to be given and pronounced
by us againft the faid Defenders therein, accord-
ing to Juftice, to be called fummari'y without
Diet, Table or Continuation of other Summons j

becaufe the aforefaid Action is for Crimes of
High-Treafon, and other Acts, Mifdeeds and Mal-
verfations, committed and done by the forenamed
Perfons againft us, and the Eftates of this our an-
cient Kingdom, and the publick Good and Peace
of the fame; at leaft, whereof the forenamed
Perfons Defendants were Aiders, Abettors, Af-
filters, Confulters, Devifers, Advifers, or Arc
and Part. And therefore merits fummary Pro-
cefs, conform to daily Practick, ufed in the like

Cafes, and a Deliverance granted by our Com-
mittee of Eftates thereanent. Moreover, thac
you lawfully Summon, Warn, and Charge to
appear before Us, and Our Eftates of Parlia-

ment, or thofe impowered or authorized by us,

for that Effect, the faid Day and Place, with
Continuation of Days to bear kill and foo th fall

Witneffing, in fo far as they know, or fhall be
asked at them, in the faid Matter, under all

higheft Pain and Charge that after may fol-

low : As you will anfwer to us thereupon. The
which to do we commit to you, conjunctly and
feverally, our full Power by thefe our Letters,

delivering them by you duly executed, and in-

dorfed again to the Bearer.

Given under our Signet at Edinburgh, the
Twenty Eighth Day of December, and of
our Reign the Twelfth Year, 1660.

Ex dcliberatione commiffionis Par'
Edinburgh, Jan. liamenti fie fubferibitur.

Jo. Cunynghame.
22, 1661.

Signed by Warrant from

the Parliament.

Sic Subfcribitur,

W. Sharp.

To which Charge the Marquis put in the fol-

lowing Anfwer.

I. 'HP HIS Libel may appear to any to be fra-

J. med meerly out of Malice, becaufe it

takes in all things (either alledged, fpoken, or

done) fince the Year of God 1638, notwith-

itanding his Majefty's Royal Father's and his

own Acts of Oblivion and Approbation.

II. Becaufe it does not fo much as alledge any

Reafon or Motive for any thing hath been done,

nor any End why, or to which any did drive,

and fo making any Man who was engaged more
I i i 2 nialisious
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malicious than the Devil) and more unreafona*

ble than the brute Beafts.

III. It repeats all that hath been done by Kirk

or Kingdom, to be the Marquifs of Aigyle's

Deeds, though he neither was at the beginning

of the Bufinefs, nor very many of the Particu-

lars mentioned, as the Narration of his Carriage

can fhew ; he (hews both the Reafons and Ends

of his doing all he did, being meerly for Religi-

on, King and Kingdom, according to the Co-

venant, never preffing any thing earneflly, but

for the Covenant, nor oppofing, but when it

was refus'd.

1

.

Mr. John Stewarts Procefs will clear much
of the Falfliood of this Point -, for though fuch

a Difcourfe had been, it was but narratively of

a Debate, which was before the fitting of the

Parliament, 1640. Wherein Mr. Alexander Hen-

derfon ufed thofe very Words, though nothing

10 His Majefty's Difadvantage ; and whether I

related that Debate, no Man's Memory can be

charged with fuch a thing, after fo long a time,

and a clear Act of Oblivion of his Majefty's

Royal Father, 1641.

2. This is a great Miflake, when the Defen-

der came to the Houfe of Airly, Montrofs had

put a Garrifon in it for the Ufe of the Country,

and when I came there with the Country's Or-

der, Sibbald, who was in it, upon fight of my
Commiflion did prefently leave it; and rhe Earl

of Airltfs own Friends knows, except what

Bufhes were cut for Hutting to Soldiers, I had

no Ufe to cut the Planting ; and my Stay there

a few Days was, expecting the Lord Ogilby,

whofe Friends were gone to him for that Pur-

pofe, and the flighting of the Houfe was then a

Favour, his Order being more ftrict, and I be-

lieve his Friends or Tenants had no Lofs to my
Knowledge : As for burning the Houfe further

in Glenyla, the Defender knew nothing of it ac

all, until fome Days after it was done-, and how-

foever, it was included in the Ad of Oblivion,

1 64 1.

2. Some Men indeed, named under my Com-
mand, lay at Dumbarton, by order of Commit-
tee and Parliament, whereby that Garrifon was

loth to come abroad, and fo many of them fell

fick ; whereupon Sir John Henderfon fent for me,

that I might come to the Caftle and receive it

from him upon honourable Terms, which I did,

and fuffered him to make his own Articles, for

Matter of Honour : And I tranfported none of

the Cannon, but when his Majefty was in Scot-

land, 1641, the Duke of Richmond did give the

Defender two Cannon, this is known to many ;

this Bufinefs is likewife before the Act of Obli-

vion, 1 641.

4. This is anfwered formerly, there is added a

Promife of mine, which needed not been men-
tioned, for I acknowledge my many Obligations

to his Majefty, as ftrong as that Promife could

make it: And it were to wrong his Majefty, to

fay he defired any Promife to take away that,,

which, his Majefty commends fo much in the

large Treaty, Scotland's Defire of Unity in Re-

ligion, and Uniformity in Church-Government,

as a fpecial Means for conferving of Peace be-

twixt the two Kingdoms j neither did Scotland.

at all join with any Army in England, in League

and Covenant, but with the two Houfes of Par-

liament.

f . I neither did burn, nor give Order to burn
the Houfe of Menftre, though I had great Pro-
vocations to it, the Day before Menftre was
burnt, the whole Houfes oftwoParifh.es, where-
of I was only Superior, was burnt, and many
poor Families put to extreme Neceffity by it:

And a Son of the Earl of Stirling, who had Men-
fire in pofleflion, bycomprifing, did concur with
the Actors of fo cruel a Fact, to poor People,
that were not wronging them at all ; himfelf, and
his Father before him, not only holding the
fame of me, but in effect without Money ; I and
my Father gave them the Land ; and when ma-
ny Years few Duties had run on, I my felf dis-

charged that Lady of the fame, amounting to a
confiderable Sum ; fo far do I abhor to be un-
grate, though I have often met with fuch Deal-
ing} howfoever the 30th Act, 16474 for libera-

ting the good Subjects from the Purfuit and A-
6tions of the Rebels, Civil or Criminal, would
fufKce.

6. This is anfwered formerly, and it is a moft
unjuft Calumny.

7. There are three or four things in this Ar-
ticle, 1. Concerning the Men in Loithhead and
Dunavarty. z. An old Man begging his Son's Life
denied. 2. Sending 100 Men from Yh, to ftarve iti

Jura. 4. The carrying of Col. Mac Gillefpie/ro^
Leith Road, being brought there by order of Com-
mittee of Parliament. To thefe, I defire it may
be known, that in May or June, 164(5, his Ma-
jefty fent Order to Alexander Mac Donald, and
all under him, to lay down Arms ; of the which
Number thefe Men in Kintyre were a parr, who
continued in Arms contrary to his Majefty's Or-
der. Next, I defire it may he known, they were
lying under Engagements not to have joined with
Alexander Mac Donald, notwithstanding all

which they were in Arms, fighting againft Da-
vid Lefly and his Party ; yea, after Alexander was
beaten, they refufed to come to him, when o-

ther Countrymen did} and went to the Houfe
of Lochhead and Dunabarty, out of which David
Lefty took them, without any Capitulation, and
difpofed of them as the Council ofWar thought
fit, which the Defender cannot be charged
with. For the Second, of the old Man's Re-*

queft for his Son, he never heard of any fuch'

thing before he faw this Libel, fo he conceives

it to be a Fiction } and juft fo of the third, for

the Defender was never in Tla nor Jura, but
with David Lefty, and he does not remember a-

ny Colour for fuch a Difcourfe. For the 4th,

of Col. Kittack's bringing to Leith Road by or-

der of either Committee or Parliament, is a

meer Fiction, he was taken Prifoner in Tla, by
the Party under David Lefty, and delivered to

me } and I put him aboard of Captain Brown's

Ship, who undertook to deliver him at Dun-

fiaffage, but Captain Brown not being willing to

lofe the Opportunity of a fair Wind, did not go
to Dunfiaffage, but went ftraight to Leith Road,
and immediately gave me notice he had my Pri-

foner aboard, whom I received from him, and

fent to Dunfiaffage } Captain Brown I think lives

at Wcymes, who can declare this. One thing I

{hall add in general, that I thank the Lord, by
his Grace helping me$ I never took any Man's

Life, but what was done in Conflict, or by Or-
der of Law, for notorious Crimes, according to

Handing Acts of Parliament,

8. It
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8. It is well known I was in Ireland by Com-
miffion for the getting Affiftance of the Scots

Army againft thofe in Arms in Scotland when his

Majefty came to the Army before Newark, fo

that his Majefty's Declarations anent his Majefty's

gracoius Intention and Refolution in coming to

the Scots Army, was fent both to the Committee

of Eftates of Scotland, and to the two Houfesof

the Parliament of England, before I come to New-

caftk-, his Majefty's Declarations were all recor-

ded in the Committee Books, and Printed, that

his Majefty came not with any Intention to con-

tinue that unnatural War any longer, or to make

any Divifion betwixt the Kingdoms, but to

comply with his Parliaments, and thofe intrud-

ed by "him, in every thing for fettling Truth and

Peace j and that he would apply himfelf totally

to the Councils and Advices of his Parliaments:

Upon which the Committee of the Parliament of

Scotland, and the General Officers of the Scots

Army, declared to his Majefty himfelf, and the

two Houfes of the Parliament of England, their

receiving his Majefty was upon thefe terms : All

this was done before the Defender come to New-
caflle, after his Majefty's coming there to the

Scots Army : In this Article thefe, whom his

Royal Majefty who then was, and his gracious

Majefty who now is, calls his Parliaments, are

called a Factious Party, and the Defender the

Ring-leader. It is faid in this Article, that I

went to London, but omits to tell, by his Ma-
jefty's and Commiffioners order at Newcaftle as

one of the Commiffioners; and only carried In-

ductions to the reft of the Commiffioners at

London, forhaftning the Proportions: And like-

wife from his Majefty was commanded to take

the Advice of the Duke of Richmond and Mar-
quifs of Hartford, anent what might concern his

Majefty j and particularly, if it was advifeable

that the Scots Army fhould declare for his Ma-
jefty, wherein they told me, and conjured me
to tell it to his Majefty, that it was the only

way at prefcnt inevitably to ruin his Majefty,

and defired me to ihew it to his Majefty in thele

Terms, that himfelf knew, neither the Nobility

nor Gentry of England, who attended his Ma-
jefty at Oxford, defired him altogether to pre-

vail over his Parliament by his Sword, much lefs

would they indure the Scots Army to do it, that

would make all England as one Man againft his

Majefty, therefore defired his Majefty might
by any means give way to the Propofitions, no
other being left, which could be of Advantage
to his Majefty, This very Advice he delivered

to his Majefty at Newcaftle, and told the fame
to his Majefty, who now is, when he was in

Scotland, and intreated the Lieutenant of the

Tower of London to propofe for me that the
Marquifs of Hartford then living, might be exa-
mined in this, but he put it off from time to

time, becaufe of other great Affairs in hand.
It muft likewife here be remembred, that at

that time the two Houfes of the Parliament of
England was fitting fully and freely, and neither
Independent nor Sectaries were able tocarryone
Vote in the Houfes: And that the Houfes de
clared fully their Refolution for Maintenance of
his Majefty's Perfon and Authority} and fuch
of them who attended his Majefty moft, were
moft for the disbanding of the Scots Army, and
hislVfajefty's ftaying in England. Next obferve
this Article, that it is a great miftake that any

4^9
thing done at London, concerning leaving the

King in England, when the Defender was at

London, that Alledgeance ofaDifcourfe of mine
in the Committee of both Kingdoms muft be

likewife forged ; for as is faid there was nothing
moved at that time concerning his Majefty's

Perfon, but meerly for the Army, and whan
concerned their Satisfaction j fo that I think the

Army, at leaft to my Knowledge, emitted no
fuch Declaration. And though they had done
it, I may fay, I was never at any of their Con-
fultations ; let them anfwer for their own Deeds.
And to what the Parliament did, no Man was
ever yet made anfwer for fuch things efpecially

where the lawful King hath approved the Par-

liament as a lawful Parliament : No fucceeding
King will ever queftion his PredeceiTor's Acts,

much lefs can a King in Honour queftion any
Man for acting in a Parliament, which himfelf
hath approved. And of fuch nature are the

moft part in this Libel; yea all of them except
Words before i6f 1 . So I mav fay without offence,

it were more for his Majefty's Honour and this

Kingdom, to think on a Declaration vindicating

the Parliament of Scotland from fuch Acts, than
fo unjuftly to lay fuch foul things on them, and
call them a factious Party.

p. It is to be obferved, that the meeting of
Parliament, 1648, is called the Eftates of Par-

liament met by his Majefty's fpecial Authority,

and ic was fo indeed, being one of the Seffions

of Parliament, 1644. And in the fnft place there

is a great Miftake j for no Propohtion was made
after the Vote of Parliament, the Proteftation

it felf will clear this, as is faid in the former Li-
bel. I did noc come to wait upon the Commit-
tee of Eftates after Prefton, but being called, and
of ncceffity confidering the times ; neither went
I unfent to Mordington, neither did the Invader

Cromwell bring his Army into Scotland, onlvthat
he refolving to propofe fome things to the Com-
mittee, which the Books will clear, he brought
a fmall Parry with him to Lothian, and the flop-

ping him from bringing in his Army, and that he
did not require Pledges and the Strengths of the

Kingdom, was thought a Mercy at that time

both to thofe who returned out of England, and
all the Nation: the Margine doubtlefs in one

branch is miftaken, at leaft as to me, no Man
can fay he heard me; and neither hi? fayings nor

doings was juftifiable; for the Truth is, he de-

clared always he would not remove until he had

Berwick ; and the Informers may imagine that

was in my Power, and he did remove : and

when that was done, what Inftructions were fent

to, or with Sir John Cheejly were neither of my
Dyting or Writing.

10. Being well known how active and inftru-

mental the Defender was in every thing con-

cerning his Majeftv's Reftiiution to his Crowns
and Royal Authority, this Claufe or Article is

purpofely for lb y ling his faithful Service, but

his Majefty both knows and hath acknowledged
the contrary of this by Word and Write. And
for what concerns the Marquifs of Montrojfe's

Death, I neither Confulted nor Voted in the

manner nor matter of it, though it was done in

Parliament. The next Point in this Article is

correfponding with Cromwell after his Majefty

came to Scotland, which is moft falfe ; the like

was faid and recanted by Hamilton, who was a

Spy, and fo was hanged at Sterling,

For
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For any Declaration at the Weft-kirk, I had

no hand in.it by Word, Writ nor MefTage,

but on the contrary I did deal with fome Mi-
nisters who came from the Commiffion of the

Kirk, to forbear pre/ling of his Majefty ; and

where fome of his Majefty's Bed-chamber de-

fired that I might deal with his Majefty to fign

it, I told them I could not well prefs the King
to a thing he faid was fo contrary to his Con-
fcience, feeing it reflected as he thought on his

Royal Father ; but to fpeak to the King I would

not refufe, and if the King had done for a De-
fire, I know no crime in it.

11. There are fome things in this Note in

the former Libel, as joining with Colonel Twi-

fleton in his March up Lochlomount ; he knows,

and I hope will not deny, that before I went
with him, he told me that one Wakmjloa was
with him, whether from the Earl of Glencalm

himfelf, or from General Monk, concerning him,

I do not remember j but he faid the Earl of

Glencairns Bufinefs was as good as ended, and

except I went with him, I could not but mifs

General Monk, who had fent for me, who was
upon March, but that he was to meet with him,

or hear certainly from him the Day he was go-

ing, and all things did fall out accordingly, and

being under a Capitulation, I did not know why
I might not be in their Company, being refolved

never to joyn with them in any Action.

As for having a Company of Foot under their

Pay, it is a Miftake ; the Shire of Argyle trufted

me with a Watch for the Shire of Argyle* which
is moil ordinarily in all Places of the High-Lands,

in broken Times j I made it known to General

Monk, the poor Country not being yet well

planted afcer the burning, could not be able to

pay Cefs and entertain the Watch ; he was plea-

fed to promife once Help for a hundred Men,
but I hope his Grace will not fay that ever he
required any Engagement of them as Soldiers,

nor ever employed he them at all j but becaufe

they did not oppofe my Son, he would not con-
tinue his Affiftance to the Shire anv longer, and
fpoke againft me what his Grace pleafed for my
DifFatisfiction to the Englifj.

And for exchanging Prilbners, it is a Miftake ;

two Men, who had been in Rofeneth, whereof
I have Charge, come from thence, ihortly after

my Boat, in the Twilight; going up Clyd to

fee General Monk, whom I had never feen be-

fore, 1 ftaid for them, thinking it had been fome
poor Men flying from Abufes, but coming a-

board, they alledged they were Men belonging
to the Earl Gkncairn, which I doubted j howe-
ver, I chid them for coming that way, and for

abufing the Country where they came ; I told

them I would only leave them at Dumbarton un-
til I returned from Kilfyth, where General Monk
was, and in the mean time, that they might not
furrer any thing, defired they might deliver any
Arms or Moneys they had to a Servant of mine,
and all inould be fafely returned, as it was done
at my return ; and that they might not go as by
way of any Exchange, I would not fuffer them
to be enrolled by Captain Ihompfon, who was
exchanging fome Prifoners at my Return, but
got them from him, and fent them back, with-

out any Capitulation or Exchange, though fome
Men, I have forgotten who it was, about that

time, took out of Dumbarton fome of my Boat-
Men, and returned them to me, without any

Treaty or Capitulation for that Effect. Becaufe
it's faid the Earl of Gkncairn and Middleton were
commiffioned by his Majefty ; I can fay truly, I

never knew it, neither did any of their Honours
fo much as by Word, Wrir, or MefTage, inti-

mate fo much to me, if they had, I am confi-

dent 1 had Satisfied them concerning my Carri-
age: And becaufe of this, though there was
fome Hazard in it to me, I did defire to meet
with his Grace the Earl of Middleton, in the
Hills, but I got no Anfwer} whether the Mef-
fenger dealt faithfully I know not, but I believe

his Grace knew fo much, and the neceffary

Reafons I gave for the unfeafonablenefs of thac

ftirring, all which I am ready yet to declare,

which doubtlefs will fatisfy any.

As for my taking upon me to bring off any,
it is certain a Miftake, for the Perfon mentioned,
John Mac-Dowgal of Downolleith was not at all

engaged in that Service, when the Earl of Glen-

cairn and Middleton was in the Fields.

A Short Anfwer to the Libel and Dit-
tay given in upon the 2%th Day of Ja-
nuary.

Efore I fay any thing particularly, I muft dif-

ference all can be faid againft me, firft in

thefe Heads, and that is before his Majelly's

going our of Scotland, i6fi, and fince that

Cromwell killed and took poffefilon, until his

Majefty's Happy Return, in Anno i<56"o.

Thele again, which were acted before His
Majefty left Scotland, in Anno i6fi, of Publick
Concernment. 2. Of Private, relating to par-

ticular Perfons: Now for thefe things wherein
I was an Actor, in relation to the Publick Con-
cernment, I never acted without the Appro-
bation of Parliament and General AfTemblies,

ratified by his Majefty's Royal Father and Him-
felf.

And fo the Second, relating to particular Per-

fons, I never had Acceffion to any thing but
what is warranted by Act of Parliament appro-

ven by his Majefty and his Royal PredecefTors,

for my Acting, after his Majefty left Scotland;

i6f 1, until his Majefty's Happy Return, 1660,

I was ftill a Prifoner on Demand, and had no
Agreement nor Capitulation with the Englifo,

after his Majefty went, until Auguft i6fz, be-

ing long after the Deputies had taken the Ten-
der, and were gone to London, and all others in

Arms had Capitulate, and that all the reft in

Scotland were living peaceably at their own Hou-
fes, except my Kinfmen and Vaffals in Argyle-

Shire, and the Invaders in full Poffeftion of the

Power and Government, and never did then Ca-

pitulate but out of Neceffity.

In Anfwer to the particular Articles of the

Libel.

1. The Commiffioners for Confervation of

the Peace, eftablifhed by his Majefty in the

Parliament, 1641, were to look to the keep-

ing of the Articles of the large Treaty, where-

of the Endeavours to procure an Uniformity in

Religion was One ; and that Montrofs, and o-

thers, cenfured by Parliament, fhould not have

Accefs to his Majefty : And when thefe Com-
miffioners
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miffioners found thefe Things flighted, and

themfelves unequal for fuch a Burden, they

met with the Privy-Counfel, and they both,

with the Committee of Common Bnrdens, and

all of them together, invited a Convention of

Eftates, and what they did anent their Appli-

cation to his Majefty, and their Defirc of fet-

tling Differences betwixt Him and his People,

and the League and Covenant, is let down par-

ticularly in the Ratification of Parliament, 1644,

which Parliament was called and convened by

his Majelty's fpecial Authority, and which the

faid Parliament was never difclaimed, but own-

ed by his late Royal Majefty, and is the Foun-

dation of all that followed, even of the Parlia-

ment 1649, which is not only approven by his

Majefty, but by it his Majefty was called home

and Crowned, and from it the laft Committee

which met (before this Parliament) had then

Power; fo all that was done 1643, is fully rati-

fied bv his Majefty in Parliament.

z. For this it was done in publick Parliament

where all the fame Members who fit in 1648

were prefent, and it is likewife fatify'd by his

Majefty, and it was conceived inevitable and

beft for his Majefty as matters flood for the time

being, the kaft of two evils, and no Man then

imagined his Majefty's Perfon nor Government

in any hazard.

3. No Proteftation 1648, againft any Act of

Parliament, the Proteftation it felf will witnefs,

and it was before the Vote in Parliament, the

difference then may be mentioned, for it was not

as it is reported commonly.

4. The Defender was purfuing no Forces, but

coming to meet with the Committee 1648, af-

ter the defeat at Pre/ion, being to confult what

was beft, fearing no harm (being at Sterling)

was invaded by George Monro and others, and

fome of his Friends who were with him were

killed, and others taken Prifoners.

f. There was no Invitation, fo far as the De-
fender knows, at all to Oliver Cromwell to come
into Scotland, but on the contrary, an earneft

endeavour was to keep him out by fairnefs,which
could not be done by force, as the Acts of Com-
mittee and Treaty at Sterling can fhew : And for

Cromwell's vifiting of Edinburgh and Edinburgh-

Caftle, and of vifiting of him in it, the Defen-

der was no keeper of the faid Caftle.

6. The Defender acknowledges his Oath, and

he did not defert cither his Majefty or his Army,
but his ftay behind his Majefty in Sterling was
by his Majefty's own allowance, becaufe of his

"Wife's dangerous Sicknefs.

7. The Defender's Capitulation is not as Li-

belled, for he agreed not to the Government,
though he agreed to live peaceably under the

Parliament of the Common-wealth of England,

and mention not without King and Houfe of
Lords, which he particularly refufed, as the Pa-
per which he was preft to fign, yet extant, can

fhew ; and never yielded to the fame Articles

which he figned, while he was a Prifoner in the

Hmd, and at fuch a time when he could not

make any Efcape, being heavily difeafed, as

Dr. Cunningham and many others know, who
were with him the fame time, it being, as in the

Preface, in Augufl 16 fi.
8. He was hardly able to come out of his

Chamber when the Forces went out of Argyle-

fifre, fo he was not prefent j but I think hardly

.31

could 200 or 300 Men flop the pafilng of two
ftrong Regiments of Foot, Overton and Read*
and about 300 Horfe commanded by Blackmore,
when that Year all his Hills and Bogs were as

pafTable as the beft Highways in that Country \

and though the Defender had done ir, it was but.

according to his Articles, which he could not
then alter j and fure no Man can think it a
Crime.

o. The Defender did not accept any Commif-
fion at that time, but refufed to be in the Par-
liament, and was refolved to forbear ftill, if

neceffity had not compelled him afterward.
10. Did fell fome Cannon to Dean, when he

told him he would not fuffer him to keep
them.

ir. There is a miftake, or call in what you
will, in this Article, for Col. Cobbet had ended
his Expedition when fome of his Ships were
broken in Mull, one Company went by Land
and was not fo much as challenged ; and if the
Defender had not given fome way to go through
the Country, it would have been accounted a

breach of Articles, or if he had ftaid upon free

Quarter in the Country, until he had lent to
Air for new Provifion, it would have ruined
that part of the Country, for it was not fo

much want of Shipping, as Provifion, made
him go the Land way; and if I had betrayed
him, I know no Man could like a Traitor, how-
beit they had liked the Treachery, neither was
Glencarn in the Fields, nor the Earl of Middle-
ton in Scotland at that time, nor had any Man
Commiffion from his Majefty, for any thing he
knows.

12. It is a general only, fo it cannot but have
a general anfwer, that is, moft falfe.

13. This Article is miftaken, it was at pro-
claiming Oliver that I was as prefent, being oc-
cafionally in Town, I was commanded by Ge-
neral Monk to wait on the Council, before I

knew any intention of fuch a Proclamation.

14. 1'his Article is miftaken alfo, I was de-

fired by Aberdeenjhire, to go for them to London
in Richard's time. I had refufed likewife to go
then, as I had in Oliver's time, if I had not been
driven by neceffity to it out of refpect to Reli-

gion, my native Country, and to preferve my
felf from utter ruin, not without hopes buC
fomething might have been thought upon for

his Majefty, becaufe of the freedom of Elections

in England, and as nothing was fo much as men-
tioned at that time to his Majefty's difadvantage 5

fo the Breach was there made, by which his

Majefty entered by the Lord's Bleffing thereafter 5

this I told to feveral was moft probable when I

came back to Scotland, my endeavour to ftop

the Act of Union, until three things were firft

or jointly done, fhews my Resolution for my
Religion and Country; the Three things were,

that our Laws and Judicatories might ftand until

they fhould be altered by common confent. z.

That our Religion in Doctrine, Worfhip, and
Dilcipline, might ftand according to the Cove-

nant. 3. That the Aflefs of Scotland might be
made proportionable with England. I did to

feveral declare, the Union could not be without

thefe, and I was told likewife, that thefe would

never be granted ; my own neceffity was to get

off a moft unjuft decreat of great Sums laid

upon me, by that called the Exchequer in Scot-

land, which was impoffible for me to Pay, this

I ffialjt
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I fliall make clearly to appear : And befide all

this, my going was not until the Invaders had

been paft fevcn Years in pofleffion by confent,

and that all the Lawyers did plead their Autho-

rity and Ordinances as Laws.

if. It was well known I was hard preft to

accept that, and did it never, until the poor

People in whom I was nearly concern'd, were

in great Difficulties for want of Juftice ; and I

would not then embrace it, but with a Prote-

station, though it was long after the Invaders

pofleffion, and that there was no other vifible

Power nor Authority.

16. I can fay nothing to this, but it is a mod
falfe Calumny fay it who will, and I hope when it

comes to be particular in the Circumftances it

will appear to be fo, for ever when the Englijh

were at Inveraray, the Parifh Minifter Mr. A-
lexander Gordon, my own Chaplain, in his Fa-

mily prayed conftantly for his Majefly, and my
felf in Company did always pray for fuch whom
we were engaged to, by either natural, civil, or

Chriflian Bonds.

17. 1 can fay to this as to the former, and that

it cannot be true, becaufe that brake out only

upon the Earl of Calender's marching to the

Welt, whereof it is not faid he was Privy ; and

though it were true, all thatbufinefsis approved

in Parliament, ratified by his Majefly.

i8. This is a great miftake, 1 had no fuch

Precept, but I had by Act of Parliament of

Scotland, the half of Excife of Wines and

Strong-waters in Scotland for Payment to me,
for a great Sum laid out by me for the Irijh

Army, and by my Articles I was to enjoy my
Liberty, and thefe Debts due to me i and when
I craved performance of my Articles, i6f7, the

Protector would not let me have the Excife, but

only fo much yearly out of it, until I were fa-

tisfied, wherein I had not what I ought, fo far

was it from favour.

ip. I did never correfpond with Richard Crom-
well, nor Fleetwood, except in order to my own
Affairs, nor with Sir Archibald Johnfion, either

to the prejudice of King or Country, or to my
Memory at all after the Committee of Safety met.

20, 2.1, 22, 23, 24, 25*. To all thefe Anfwers,

Arch. King!as had his Commifion as Colonel

from the Parliament, or Committee, and not

from him, and if he purfued Lamond doubtlefs

it was as a Rebel at that time to the Eftate of

the Kingdom, according to Act and Declaration

of Parliament, approved of by his Majcfty, and

his Royal Father, and Predeceflbrs ; fo what
Arch.Kinglas or any other did to Lamond,\et them
anfwer for what they did unwarrantably, it can-

not reflect on him, but he hopes they will clear

themfelves.

26. The Defender was in England when La-
mond was brought out of his Houfe, and knew
nothing of the Bufinefs, until he received Let-

ters fhewing what had paft, and that Lamond
had refufed to return Alexander Mac-Donald, ac-

cording to his Capitulation, chufing rather to

remain a Prifoner with the Defender, the Paper

it felf may be found if he deny, whereupon
he was detained Prifoner, having no Security

to give; and having fo often fworn and pro-

mifed and after failed, which will be fhewn un-

der his Hand, and having Murdered fo many
People, Men, Women and Children, feveral of

them after quarter given, befide the Burning of

many Gentlemen his Neighbours Houfes, and
deftroying their Goods and their Lands, and go-
ing in to Alexander Mac-Donald, notwithstand-

ing he was in fervice againft him with the De-
fender, not having fairly exonerated himfelf 5

This can be all clearly inftructed, and if this

was not caufe to keep him a Prifoner, let any
judge.

27. He knew not nor remembers not any fuch
things, fo it is but forged againft him.

28. He caufed no fuch thing, it was a thing

done for his own entertainment, and the Defen-
der being to fecure Lamond for fome juft Debts
due to himfelf, the Captain of Dunftaffage de-

fired his bond likewife to be purfued in the De-
fender's Name, which the Gentleman himfelf

can fhew.

zp. The Marquifs is in pofleffion of none of
their Lands to his knowledge, if he were, it is

a legal civil Procefs.

30. He never knew any fuch thing.

21, 32, 33, 34, 35-, 36, 37, 38, 3P, 40, 4r,

42, 43, 44. 1 o all thefe let every Man anfwer
as he is concerned, as he hopes they will clear

fo, but this he mull fay for himfelf and his de-

pute, That it cannot be faid they Murdered
any of thefe Men with their own Hands, nei-

ther did they judge any Man to die by the Hand
of Juftice, but fuch who were notorioufly guilty

according to ftanding Law, * and no Man can
juftly fay any Man was ever procefled before

them who had received any Articles, though it

was never conceived by any Judicatory in Scot-

land that any Man taking a Rebel could Pardon
him, except the Perfon doer of it had particu-

lar Warrant for that effect, otherwife the Com-
mittee after Philliphauge had been much to blame
for ordaining fo many to be proceffed, at which
Committee were the fentencing of fuch who
died at Glafgow fhortly thereafter, at which the

Defender was not prcfent.

'the Proceedings hereupon are thus related by

Bijhop Burnet in his Hijlory of his own (Timesi

Vol.1, p. 122, &c.
He had Council affigned him, who performed

their part very well ; the Marquifs made along
Speech himfelf, wherein he chiefly infifted,,

that during the late Wars he was but one a-

mong a great many more: He had always acted

by Authority of Parliament, and according to the

Inftructions that were given him, as oft as he was
fent on any Expedition or Negotiation. i\s to

all things done before the year 1641, the late

King had buried them in an Act of Oblivion
then patTed, as the prefent King had alfo done
in the Year i6f 1 : So he did not think he was
bound to anfwer to any particular before that

time. For the fecond head, he was at London
when moil of the Barbarities fet out in it were
committed : Nor did it appear that he gave any
orders about them. It was well known thac

great Outrages had been committed by the Mac-
Donalds : And he believed his People, when they

had the better of them, had taken Cruel Re-
venges: This was to be imputed to the heat of

the time, and to the tempers of the People,

who had been much provoked by the burning
of his whole Country, and by much Blood that

was fhed. And as to many Stories laid to the

charge of his Men, he knew fome of them were

mere Forgeries, and others were aggravated

much
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much beyond the truth: But, what truth foever

might be in them, he could not be anfwerable

but for what was done by himfelf, or by his

Orders. As to the third Head, of his Compli-

ance with the Ufurpa<ion, he had Hood out till

the Nation was quite conquered : And in that

cafe it was the received Opinion both of Di-

vines and Lawyers, that Men might lawfully

fubmit to an Ufurpation, when forced to it by

an inevitable neceffity. It was the epidemical

Sin of the Nation. His Circumlhnces were

fuch, that more than a bare Compliance was re-

quired of him. What he did that way was only

to preferve himfelf and his Family, and was not

done on dcfign to oppofe the King's Interelt.

Nor did his fervice fuffer by any thing he did.

This was the lubftance of his Defence in a long

Speech, which he made with fo good a grace

and fo skilfully, that his Character was as much
railed as his Family fuffered by the Profecution.

In one Speech, excuhng his Compliance with

Comwell, he faid, What could he think of that

matter, after a Man fo eminent in the Law as

his Majeity's Advocate had taken the Engage-

ment ? This inflamed the other fo much, tnat

he called him an impudent Villain ; and was not

lb much as chid for that Barbarous Treatment.

Lord Argyle gravely faid, he had learned in his

Affliction to bear Reproaches ; but if the Par-

liament law no Caufe to condemn him, he was

lei's concerned at the King's Advocate's railing.

The King's Advocate put in an additional Arti-

cle, o^ charging him with Acceffion to the King's

Death, for which all the proof he offered lay

in a prelumption : Cromwell had come down to

Scotland with his Army in September 1648, and

at that time he had many and long Conferences

with Argyle; and immediately upon his return

to London the Treaty with the King was broken

off, and the King was brought to his Trial:

The Advocate from thence inferred, that it was

to be prefumed that Cromwell and Argyle had

concerted that Matter between them. While

this Procefs was carried on, which was the fo-

lemneft that ever was in Scotland, the Lord Lorn

continued at Cou't iblicitingfor his Father; and

obtained a Letter to be writ by the King to the

Earl of Midietoun, requiring him to order his

Advocate not to infill on any publick Proceed-

ings before the Indemnity he himfelf had pafs'd

in the Year 1 6 y 1 . He alfo required him, when
the Trial was ended, to fend up the whole Pro-

cefs, and lay it before the King, before the Par-

liament mould give Sentence, fhe Earl of Mi-
dietoun fubmitted to the firft part of this : So all

' farther enquiry into thole Matters was iuperfed-

ed. But as to the fecond part of the Letter, it

looked fo like a diftruft of the Juftice of the

Parliament, that he faid, he durft not let it be

known, till he had a fecond and more politive

[

order, «"hich he earneftly defired might not be

!

fent ; for it would very much difcourage this

I Loyal and Affectionate Parliament : And he

j

begged earneftly to have- that Order recalled;

which was done. For fome time there was a
1

flop to the Proceedings, in which Lord Argyle
was contriving an escape out of the Cattle. He
kept his Bed for fome Days : And his Lady be-

ing of the fame Stature with himfelf, and com-
ing to him in a Chair, hi had put on her Clothes,

and was g^ing into the Chair: But he appre-
hended he fhould be discovered, and his Lxecu-
Vou II.

tionhaftened ; and fo his Heart failed him. The
Earl of Midietoun refolved, if poflible, to have
the King's Death faftened on him. By this

means as he would die with the more Infamy,
fo he reckoned this would put an end to the

Family, fince no body durlt move in f.vour of
the Son of one judged guilty of that Crime.
And he, as was believed, hoped to obrain a
grant of his Eftate. Search was made into all

the Precedents of Men who had been at any
time condemned upon Prelumption. And the
Earl of Midietoun refolved to argue the Matter
himfelf, hoping that the weight of his Autho-
rity would bear down all Oppofkion. He ma-
naged i; indeed with more force than decency :

He was too vehement, and maintained the Ar-
gument with a ftrength that did more honour
to his Parts than to his Juftice or his Character.
But Gilmore, tho' newly made Prefident of the
Sefiion, which is the fupreme Court of Juftice in

that Kingdom, abhorred the Precedent of at-

tainting a Man upon fo remote a prelumption;
and looked upon it as lefs juftifiable than the
much decried Attainder of the Earl of Strafford.

So he undertook the Argument againfl: Midie-
toun : They replied upon one another thireen
or fourteen times in a Debate that latted many
Hours. Gilmore had fo clearly the better of the
Argument, that, tho' the Parliament was fo fee

againfl: Argyle that every thing was like to pafs

that might blacken him, yet, when it was pur.

to the Vote, he was acquitted as to that by a
great Majority : At which he expreffed fo much
Joy, that he feemed little concerned at any thing
that could happen to him after that. All that
remained was to make his compliance with the
Ufurpers appear to be Treafon. The debate was
like to have lafted long. The Earl of Loivdon,
who had been Lord Chancellor, and was counted
the eloquentefl Man of that time, for he had a
copioulnefs in fpeaking that was never exhaulkd,
(he was come of his Family ana was his parti-

cular Friend,) had prepared a long and learned

Argument on that Head. He had gathered the
Opinions both of Divines and Lawyers, and
had laid together a great deal out of Hiftory,

more particularly out of the Scotijh Hiftory, ro

mew that it had never been cenfured as a Crime:
But that on the contrary in all their Confufions
the Men, who had merited the molt of the
Crown in all its fhakings, were Perfons who
had got credit by compliance with the fide that

prevailed, and by that means had brought things

about again. Bur, while it was doubtful how-
it would have gone, Monk by an inexcufable
bafenels had fearched among his Letters, and
found fome that were writ by Argyle to himfelf,

that were hea ty and zea'ous on their fide. Thefe
he fent down to Scotland. And after they were
read in Parliament, it could not be pretended
that his Compliance was feigned, or extorted

from him. Every Body blamed Monk for fend-

ing thefe down, fince it was a betraying the

Confidence, that they then lhed in.
1"hey were

fent by an Exprefs, and came to the Earl of Mi-
dietoun after ihe Parliament was engaged in the

debate. So he ordered the Letteis to be read.

This was much blamed, as contrary to the forms

of Juftice, fince Probation was clofed on Hoth

fides. But the reading of them filenced all far-

ther debate. All his Friends went out: And he

was condemned as guilty of Treafon. The
K k k Mo,rquifs
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Marquifs of Montrofi only refufed to Vote. He
owned, he had too much Refentment to judge

in that matter. It was defigned he fhould be

hanged, as the Marquifs of Montrofe had been :

But it was carried that he fhould be Beheaded,

and that his Head fhould be fet up where Lord

Montrofe's had been fet. He received his Sen-

tence decently, and compofed himfelf to fuffer.

The Day before his Death he wrote to the

King, juftifying his Intentions in all he had

acted in the Matter of the Covenant : He pro-

tefled his Innocence, as to the Death of the late

King : He fubmitted patiently to his Sentence,

and wifhed the King a long and happy Reign :

He call his Family and Children upon his Mercy

;

and prayed chat they might not fuffer for their

Father's fault.

On the 27th of May, the Day appointed for

his Execution, he came to the Scaffold in a

very folemn but undaunted manner, accompa-

nied with many of the Nobility and fome Mini-

iters, when he fpake as follows.

'ANY will expect that I fpeak many things,

and according to their feveral opinions and

difpofitions, fo will their expectations be from

me, and conftructions of me ; But I refolve to dis-

appoint many, for I come not hither to juflify my
felf, but the Lord, Who is holy in all his Ways,

and righteous in all his Works, holy and blejfed is

his Name; Neither come I to condemn others:

I know many will expect that I will fpeak againft

the hardnefs of the Sentence pronounced againft

me ; But I will fay nothing to it. I blefs the

Lord, I pardon all Men, as I defire to be par-

doned of the Lord myfelf: Let the Will of the

Lord be done; That is all that I defire.

I hope ye will have more Charity to me now,
than ye would have had at another time, feeing I

fpeak before the Lord, to whom I mufl give an

account very fhortly. I know very well that my
Words have had but very little weight with
many: And that many have miftaken my Words
and Actings both : Many have thought me to

be a great Enemy to thefe great Works, that

have of late been brought to pafs. But do not

miftake me, good People : I fpeak it in the pre-

fence of the Lord, I entered not upon the Work
of Reformation with any defign of advantage to

myfelf, or prejudice to the King and his Go-
vernment •, as my latter Will which was written

i6f f, and thereafter delivered to a Friend (in

whole hands it flill remaineth) can fhow. As for

thefe Calumnies, that have gone abroad of me,
I blefs God, I know them to be no more : And
as I go to make a reckoning to my God, I am
free as to any of thefe, concerning the King's
Perfon or Government. I was Real and Cordial
in my defires to bring the King home, and in

my Endeavours for Him when he was at home,
and I had no correfpondence with the Adverfaries

Army, nor any of them, in the time when his

Majefty was in Scotland ; Nor had I any acceffion

to his late Majeily's horrid and execrable Mur-
der, by Counfel or Knowledge of it, or any
other manner of way, This is a Truth, as I fhall

anfwer to myJudge. And all the time his Ma-
jefty was in Scotland, I was flill endeavouring

his advantage; my Confcience beareth me wic-

nefs in it. So much to that Particular. And
{turning about, he Jaid) I hope, Gentlemen, you
will all remember thefe.

I confefs, many look on my Condition as a

Suffering Condition : But I blefs the Lord, that
he that hath gone before me, hath trod the
Wine-prefs of the Father's wrath ; by whofe Suf-
ferings, I hope that my Sufferings fhall not be
Eternal. I blefs Him that hath taken away the
fling of my Sufferings : I may fay that my Char-
ter was Sealed to-day •, for the Lord hath faid to
me, Son, be of good cheer, thy Sins are freely

forgiven thee : And fo I hope my Sufferings fhall

be very eafy. And ye know the Scripture faith,

the Captain of our Salvation was made perfect

by Sufferings.

I fhall not fpeak much to thefe things for
which I am condemned, left I feem to condemn
others: It is well known, it is only for Com'
pliance, which was the Epidemical fault of the
Nation. I wifh the Lord to pardon them : I fay
no more.

There was an Expreflion in thefe Papers pre-
fented by me to the Parliament, of the Contagion

of thefe Times ; Which may by fome be mifcon-
flructed, as if I intended to lay an Imputation
upon the Work of Reformation : But I declare
that I intended no fuch thing; But only related

to the corruptions and failings of Men, occafio-

ned by the Prevailing of the Ufurping Powers.
At this he turned and took them all Witneffes.

Now, Gentlemen, concerning the Nation, I
think there are three forts of People that take

up much of the World and of this Nation.
There is, i. The openly Prophane: And truly I

may fay, though I have been a Prifoner, I have
not had mine Ears fhut; I hear affuredly, thac

Drinking, Swearing, Whoring were never more
Common, never more Countenanced than now
they are. Truly, if Magiflrates were here,

I would fay to them, if they lay forth their

Power for glorifying of God, byreftraining this,

they fhould fare the better; if they continue in

not reftraining, they fhall fare the worfe. I fay

no more, but either let People fhun Prophanity
and Magiflrates reftrain it, or affuredly the

Wrath of God fhall follow on it. 2. Others
are not openly Prophane (every one will not al-

low that) but yet they are Gallios in the matter: If

matters go well as to their Private Interefl, they

care not whether the Church of God fink or

fwim. But whatever they think, God hath laid

Engagements upon Scotland: We are tied by
Covenants to Religion and Reformation : thefe

that were then Unborn are yet engaged ; and in

our Baptifm we are engaged to it. And it paf-

feth the Power of all the Magiflrates under
1

Heaven to abfolve them from the Oath of God:
They deceive themfelves, and it may be would
deceiveothers that think otherwife. But I would .

caveat this, People will be ready to think this a

kind of infligation to Rebellion in me ; But

they are very far wrong that think Religion and

Loyalty are not well confiflent. Whoever they

be that feparate them, Religion is not to be

blamed, but They. It's true, it is the duty of

every Chriflian to be Loyal, yet I think the Or-

ders of things are to be obferved as well as their

Natures; the Order of Religion as well as the

Nature of it. Religion mufl not be the Cock-

boat, it mufl be the Ship. God mufl have what

is his, as well as Cefar what is his: And thofe

are the befl Subjects that are the befl Chriflians.

And that I am looked on as a Friend to Reforma-

tion, is my Glory.

3. There
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2. There is another fort that are truly Godly :

And to them I muft fay what I fear, and every

one hath realon to tear (it's good to fear evil.) It's

true the Lord may prevent it j but if he do not

(and truly I cannot forefee any probability of it)

Times are like either to be very Sinning or very

Suffering Times : And let Chriltians make their

choice: There is a fad Dilemma in the bufinefs,

Sin or Suffer ; and furely, he that would chute

the Better part would chufe to Suffer. Others

that will chufe to Sin, fliall not efcape Suffer-

ing j They fhall Suffer, but it may be, not as I

do {pointing and turning about to the Maiden *) but

worle : Mine is but Temporal, theirs fhall be

Eternal •, when I fhall be Singing, they fhall be

Howling. Beware therefore of Sin whatever you

are aware of, efpecially in fuch Times.

Yet I cannot fay of my own Condition, but

that the Lord in his Providence hath mi id of

Mercy to me, even in this World : For if I had

been more favourably dealt with, 1 fear 1 might

have been overcome with Temptations, as many

others arc, and many more I fear will be > and

fo fhould have gone out of the World with a

more polluted Confcience, than through the

Mercy of God now I have. And hence my
Condition is fuch now, as when I am gone,

will be feen not to have been fuch as many ima-

gined. It is fit God take me away, before I sail

into thefe Temptations that I fee others are

falling into, and many others I fear will fall: I

wifh the Lord may prevent it. Yet bleffed be

his Name, that I am kept both from prefent

evils and evils to come. Here he turned about a

little and fpke fome Words to Mr. Hutchifon,

•when turning again to the People, he /poke as follow-

tth. Some may expect 1 will regret my own
Condition ; But truly 1 neither grudge nor re-

pine, nor defire any revenge. And I declare I

do not repent my laft going up to London \ for

I had always rather have Suffered any thing,

than lie under Reproaches as I did. I defire not

that the Lord fhould judge any Man 5 nor do I

judge any but my Self: I wifh, as the Lord
hath pardoned me, fo he may pardon them for

this and o; her things-, and what they have done
to me, may never meet them in their accounts.

I have no more to fay, but to beg the Lord,
that when 1 go away, he would Blefs every one
that ftayeth behind.

His laft Words, immediately before he laid his

Head on the Block, after his Doublet was pfft were

thefe. I defire you, Gentlemen, all that hear

me this Day to take notice (and I wifh that all

who fee me might hear me) that now when I

am entering into Eternity, and am to appear be-

fore my Judge ; and as 1 defire Salvation, and do
expect eternal Salvation and Happincfs from him,
from my Birth to my Scaffold, I am free from any
aecefllon by my Knowledge, concerning Coun-
fel or any other way to his late Majefly's death :

And I pray the Lord to preferve his prefent Ma-
jelly, and to pour his belt Bleffings on his Perfon

and Government; and the Lord give him good
and faithful Counfellors. Turning about to his

Friends, he /aid, Many Chriflians may Humble at

this, and my Friends may be difcontented ; But
when things are rightly confidered, my Friends

have no Difcredit of Me, nor Chriflians no
Stumbling-block, rather an Engagement.

When he had done fpeaking he took his leave

of his Friends very decently, and after fome
time fpent in his private Devotions, he was be-

headed.
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LIX. The Trial of Sir Henry VANEf? Knt. at the Kings-

Bench for High-Treafon, June 2 and 6, 1662. 7rin.

14 Car. II. Wrote by himfelf.

I R Henry Vane being committed for

High-Treafon, had prepar'd the fol-

lowing Argument for his Defence,

before he knew how the Indictment

would be laid.

[The Offence objecled againfl me, is levying War,
within the Statute if Ed. 5. and by confequence, a

mofl high and great failer in the duty which the

\
Subject, according to the Laws of England, ftands

obliged to perform, in relation to the Imperial Crown

;
and Sovereign Power of England.

The Crime
7 if it prove any, muft needs be very

great, con/idering the Circumflances with which it

'hath been accompanied : For it relates to, and takes

i

in a feries of publick Aclion, of above twenty Tears

continuance. It took its rife and had its root in the

Being, Authority, Judgment, Refolntions, Votes

and Orders of a Parliament, and that, a Parlia-

ment not only authorized and commiffionated in the

ordinary and cuftomary way, by his Majefly's Writ
of Summons^ and the Peoples Election and Deputa-
tion, fubjeel to Adjournment, Di/continuance, and

Diffolution, at the Kings Will; but which, by ex-

prefs Abl of Parliament, was conftituted in its con-

tinuance and exercife of its Power, free from that

fubjetlion, and made therein wholly to depend upon

their own Will, to be declared in an Atl of Parlia-

ment, to be paffed for that purpofe, when they fiould

fee caufe. To fpeak plainly and clearly in this Mat-
ter j That which is endeavoured to be made a Crime

and an Offence of fuch an high nature in my perfon,

* The Maiden is the Name of the Inftrument ufed in Scotland for beheading Criminals.

f Kelyng 14. 1 Lev. 63. 1 Sid. 84. 1 Keb. 304, 315, 324. Burn. Hifi. oujn Times, Vol.1.

Vol. II. K k k 2,

p. 163,
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is no other than the neteffary and unavoidable Act*

ings of the Reprefentative Body of the Kingdom, for

the prefervation of the good People thereof, in their

Allegiance and Duty to God and his Law, as alfo

from the imminent Dangers and Defirublion threat-

tied them, from God's and their own Enemies.

this made both Houfes in their Remonftrance

(May 2.6, 164,1.) protefti If the malignant Spirits

about the King fhould ever force or neceffitate

them to defend their Religion, the Kingdom,

the Privileges of Parliament, and the Rights

and Liberties of the Subjects, with their.Swords;

The Blood and Destruction that fhould enfue

thereupon, rauft be wholly caft upon their ac-

count, God and their own Confciences telling

them, that they were clear j and would not

doubt, but that God and the whole World

would clear them therein.

In his Majeftfs Anfwer to the Declaration of

the two Houfes, (May 19, 1642.) he acknowledgeth

his going into the Houfe of Commons to demand the

five Members, was an Error : And that was it,

•which gave the Parliament the firjl Caufe to put

themfelves in a pofture of defence, by their own

Power and Authority, in commanding the trained-

Bands of the City of London to guard and fe-

cure them from Violence, in the Difcharge of their

trufi and Duty, as the two Houfes of Parlia-

ment, appointed by Atl, to continue, as above-men-

tioned.

the next Caufe was, his Majeftfs raifing Forces

at York, {under pretence of a Guard) expreffed in

the humble Petition of the Lords and Commons,

CMay 23, 1 6'42.) wherein they befeech his Majefty

to disband all fuch Forces, and defiift from any fur-

ther Defigns of that nature, otherwife they fhould

hold themfelves bound in Duty towards God, and

the trufi repofed in them by the People, and the

Fundamental Laws and Conftitutions of this King-

dom, to employ their Care and utmoft Power to fe-

'cure the Parliament, and preferve the Peace and

Quiet of the Kingdom.

May 10, 1642, the two Houfes of Parliament

gave their Judgment, in thefe Votes.

Firft, That it appears, that the King (feduced

by wicked Counfel) intends to make War a-

gainft the Parliament, who in all their Confulta-

tions and Actions have propofed no other End
to themfelves, but the Care of his Kingdoms,
and the Performance of all Duty and Loyalty to

his Perfon.

Secondly, That whenfoever the King maketh
War upon the Parliament, it is a Breach of
Trull repofed in him by his People, contrary to

his Oath, and tending to the Diflblution of this

Government.
thirdly, That whofoever fhall ferve or affift

him in fuch Wars, are Traitors by the funda-

mental Laws of this Kingdom, and have been

lb adjudged by two Acts of Parliament, and

ought to fuffer as Traitors.

Diejovis, Octob. 8, 1642, In the Inftrutlions

agreed upon by the Lords and Commons about the

Militia, they declare, That the King (feduced by
wicked Counfel) hathraifed War againft the Par-

liament, and other his good Subjects.

And by the Judgment and Refolution of both

Houfes, bearing Date Aug. 13, 1642, upon occa-

fion of his Majeftf's Proclamation for fuppreffing

the prefent Rebellion, under the Command of Ro-
bert Earl of EfTex, they do unanimously pubhfh

and declare, That all they who have advifed, de-

clared, abetted, or countenanced, or hereafter

{hall abet and countenance the faid Proclamation,

are Traitors and Enemies to God, the King and
Kingdom, and guilty of the higheft Degree of
Treafon that can be committed againft the King
and Kingdom, as that which invites his Maje-
ity's Subjects to deftroy his Parliament, and good
People, by a Civil War ; and by that means,
to bring Ruin, Confufion, and perpetual Slavery

upon the furviving Part of a then wretched
Kingdom.

the Law is acknowledged by the King, to be the

only Rule, by which the People can be juftly go-

verned; and that, as it is his Duty, fo it fhall be

his perpetual, vigilant Care, tofee to it : therefore he

will not fuffer either or both Houfes by their Votes,

without or againft his Confent, to enjoin any thing

that is forbidden by the Law, or to forbid any thing

that is enjoined by the Law.
the King does ajfert in his Anfwer to the Houfes

Petition, (May 23, 1642.) That he is a Part of
the Parliament, which they take upon them to

defend and fecurej and that his Prerogative is a

part of, and a Defence to the Laws of the

Land.
In the Remonftrance of both Houfes, (May 16,

1642,) they do ajfert j That if they have made
any Precedents this Parliament, they have made
them for Pofterity, upon the fame or better

Grounds of Reafon and Law, than thofe were,

upon which their PredecefTors made any for

them ; and do fay, That as fome Precedents

ought not to be Rules for them to follow, fo

none can be Limits to bound their Proceedings,

which may and mult vary, according to the dif-

ferent Condition of Times.
And for the Particular, with which they were

charged, of Jetting forth Declarations to the People

who have chofen and intrufted them with all that is

deareft to them, if there be no Example for it in

former times, they fay, it is becaufe there never
were fuch Monflers before, that attempted to

difaffect the People towards a Parliament.

they furtherfay $ His Majefty's Towns are no
more his Care than his Kingdom, nor his King-
dom than his People, who are not fo his own,
that he hath abfolute Power over them, or in

them, as in his proper Goods and Eflate-, but

fiduciary, for the Kingdom, and in the para-

mount Right of the Kingdom, they alfo ac-

knowledge the Law to be the Safeguard and Cuftody

of all publick andprivate Interefts, they alfo hold

it fit, to declare unto the Kingdom, {whofe Honour

and Intereft is fo much concerned in it) what is the

Privilege of thegreat Council of Parliament, here-

in i and what is the Obligation that lies upon the

Kings of this Realm, as to the paffing fuch Bills as

are offered to them by both Houfes, in the Name,
and for the Good of the whole Kingdom, whereunto

they ftand engaged, both in Confidence andjuftice, to

give their Royal Affent.

Firfi, In Confcience ; in refpetl of the Oath that

is, or ought to be taken by them, at their Coronation,

as well to confirm by their Royal Affent all fuch

good Laws as the People fhall chufe, {whereby to

remedy fuch Inconveniencies as the Kingdom mayfuf-

fer) as to keep and proteel the Laws already in be-

ing.

the Form of the Oath is upon Record, and affert-

ed by Books of good Authority. Unto it relation is

had, 2f Ed. 5. entitled, The Statute of Provifors

of Benefices,

Hercz
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Hereupon, the faid Commons prayed our[aid Lord

the King, (fith the Right of the Crown of Eng-

land, and the Law of the faid Realm, isfuch, that

upon the Mifchiefs and Damages which happen to

this Realm, he ought and is bound by his Oath,

with the Accord of his People in Parliament, to

make Remedy and Laws for the removing thereof)

That it may pleafe him to ordain Remedy.

This Right, thus claimed by the Lords and Com-

mons, The King doth not deny, in his Anfwer there-

unto.

Secondly, In Juftice the Kings are obliged as well

as in Confidence, in refpetl of the Trufl repofed in

them, to preferve the Kingdom by the making of new

Laws, where there Jhall be need, as well as by ob-

ferving of Laws already made ; a Kingdom being

many times as much expofed to Ruin for want of a

new Law, as by the Violation of thofe that are in

This is a moft clear Right, not to be denied, but

to be as due from his Majefly to his People, as his

Protection. In all Lawsframed by both Houfes, as

Petitions of Right, they have taken themfelves to

be fo far Judges of the Rights claimed by them, That

when the King's Anfwer hath not been in every

Point fully according to their Defire, they have flill

infifted upon their Claim, and never given it over,

till the Anfwer hath been according to their Demands

as was done in the late Petition of Right, 3 Ca-

roli.

This fhews, the tzvo Houfes of Parliament are

Judge between the King and the People in aueftion

of Right, as in the Cafe alfo of Ship-Money and

other illegal Taxes ; and iffo, why fljould they not

alfo be Judge in the Cafes of the Common Good and

Neceffity of the Kingdom, wherein the Kingdom hath

as clear a Right to have the Benefit and Remedy of

the Law>, as in any other Matter, faving Pardon

and Grants of Favour ?

The Malignant Party are they, that not only neg-

lect and defpife, but labour to undermine the Law,
under colour of maintaining it. They endeavour to

defiroy the Fountain and Confrvators of the Law,
the Parliament. They make other Judges of the

Law, than what the Law hath appointed. They

fet up other Rules for themfelves to walk by, than

fuch as are according to Law ; and difpenfe with

the Subjects Obediences to that which the Law calls

Authority, and to their Determinations and Refla-

tions, to whom the Judgment doth appertain by

Law : Tea, though but private Perjons* they make
the Law to be their Rule, according to their own
Under/landing only, contrary to the Judgment of

thofe that are the competent Judges thereof.

The King afferts, That the Act of Sir John Ho-
tham was levying War againft the King, by the

Letter of the Statute, if Ed. 3. cap. 1.

The Houfes fate the Cafe, and deny it to be with-

in that Statute ; faying, If the Letter of that Sta-

tute be thought to import this ; That no War can be

levied againfl the King, but what is directed and in-

tended againft his Perfon j Or, that every levying

of Forces for the Defence of the King's Authority,

and of his Kingdom,, againfl the Perfonal Commands

of the King, oppofed thereunto, (though accompanied

with his Prefence) is Treafon, or levying War a-

gainft the King ; Such Interpretation is very far

from the Senfe of that Statute, and fo much
the Statute it felf fpeaks, befides the Authority of

Book-Cafes. For if the Claufe of levying War had
been meant only again/I the King's Perfon, what need

had there been thereof3 after the other Branch in the
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fame Statute^ of comparing the King's Deathj,

which would necejfarily have implied this ? And be-

caufe the former doth imply this, it feems not at all

to be intended, at leaf}, not chiefly, in the latter-

Branch, but the levying IVar againft his Laws and
Authority ; andfuch a levying War, though not a~

gainft his Perfon, is a levying War againft the

King ; whereas the levying of Force againft his Per"
fonal Commands, though accompanied with his Pre-
fence, and not againft his Laws and Authority, but

in the Maintenance thereof, is no levying of War a-

gainft the King, but for him, efpecially in a time of

fo many fuccefifive Plots and Defigns of Force againft

the Parliament and Kingdom, of probable Invafion,

from abroad, and of fo great Difiance and Aliena-

tion of his Majefly's Affections from his Parlia-
ment and People, and of the particular Danger

of the Place and Magazine of Hull, of which
the two Houfes fating, are the moft proper

Judges.

In proclaiming Sir John Hotham Traitor, they

fay, The Breach of the Privilege of Parliament
was very clear, and the SubverJion of the Subjects

common Right. For though the Privileges of Par-
liament extend not to theje Cafes, mentioned in the

Declaration of Treafon, Felony, and breach of the

Peace, fo as to exempt the Members of Parliament

from Punifhment, orfrom all manner of Procefs and
Trials yet it doth privilege them in the way and me-
thod of their Trial and Puniftoment, and that the

Parliament Jhould firft have the Caufe brought be°

fore them, that they may judge of the Fact, and of
the Grounds of their Accufation, and how far forth
the manner of their Trial may or may not concern

the Privilege of Parliament : Otherwife, under this

Pretext, the Privilege of Parliament in this Mat-
ter, may be fo efjentially broken, as thereby the

very Being of Parliaments may be deftroyed. Nei-

ther doth the fitting of a Parliament fufpend all or

any Law, in maintaining that Lavj, which upholds

the Privilege of Parliament, which upholds the Par-

liament, which upholds the Kingdom.

They further affert; That in fome Senfe^ they ac-

knowledge the King to be the only Perfon, againft

whom Treafon can be committed, that is, as he is

King, and that Treafon which is againft the King-

dom, is more againft the King, than that which is

againft his Perfon, becaufe he is King: For Trea-

fon is not Treafon, as it is againft him as a Man,
but as a Man that is a King s and as he hach, and

ftands in that Relation to the Kingdom, intrufted

with the Kingdom, and difcharging that Truft.

They alfo avow, That there can be no competent

Judge of this or any the like Cafe^ but a Parlia-

ment ; and do fay, that if the wicked Counfel about

the King could mafler this Parliament by force, they

would hold up the fame Power to deprive us of all

Parliaments, which are the Ground and Pillar of

the Subjects Liberty, and that which only maketh

England a free Monarchy.

The Orders of the two Houfes carry in them Law
for their Limits, and the Safety of the Land for

their End. This makes them not doubt but all his

Majefly' s good Subjects will yield Obedience to his

Majefly's Authority, ftgnified therein by both Houfes

of Parliament : for whofe Encouragement, and that

they may know their Duty in Matters of that na-

ture, and upon how fure a Ground they go, that fol-

low the Judgment of Parliament for their Guide ;

They alledge the true Meaning and Ground of that

Statute, 1 1 Hen. 7. cap. 1. printed at large in his

Majeftfs Mefage, May 4 ; This Statute provides

j
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that none that Jhall attend upon the King and do

him true Service, Jhall be attainted, or forfeit any

thing.

What was the Scope of this Statute ?

Anfw. To provide, that Men Jhould not fuffer as

Traitors, for ferving the King in his Wars, accord-

ing to the Duty of their Allegiance. But if this

had been all, it had been a very needlefs and ridicu-

lous Statute. Was it then intended (as theyfeem to

make it, that print it with his Majeftfs Mejfage)

that thofieJhould be free from all Crime and Penalty,

that Jhould follow the King andferve him in War,

in any Cafe whatfoever, whether it was for or a-

gainjl the Kingdom, or the Laws thereof? That

cannot be ; for that could not Jland with the Duty

of their Allegiance, which, in the beginning of this

Statute, is exprefed to be, to ferve the King for

the time being in his Wars, for the Defence of

him and the Land. If therefore it be againfl the

Land, (as it muft be, if it be againfl the Parliament,

the Reprefentative Body of the Kingdom) it is a de-

clining from the Duty of Allegiance, which this Sta-

tute fuppofes may be done, though Men Jhould follow

the King's Per/on in the War. Otherwife, there

had been no need offuch a Provifo in the end of the

Statute, that none Jhould take benefit thereby, that

Jhould declinefrom their Allegiance.

That therefore which is the Principal Verb in this,

is the ferving of the King for the time being,

which cannot be meant of a Perk in Warbeck, or

any that Jhould call himfelf King, butfuch a one, as

(whatever his Title might prove, either in himfelf

or in his Anceflors) Jhould be received and acknow-

ledgedfor fuch, by the Kingdom, the Confent where-

of cannot be dificern'd but by Parliament ; the Aft

whereof is the All of the whole Kingdom, by the

Perfional Sufrage of the Peers, and the Delegate

Confent of the Commons of England. Henry -jth

therefore, a wife Prince, to clear this Matter of

Contefl, happening between Kings de facto and Kings

de jure, procured this Statute to be made, That

none {hall be accounted a Traitor for ferving in

his Wars, the King for the time being ; that is,

him that is for the prefent allowed and received by

the Parliament in behalf of the Kingdom. And as

it is truly Juggefied in the Preamble of the Statute ;

// is not agreeable to Reafon or Confidence, that it

Jhould be otherwifie, fieeing MenJhould be put upon an

Impojfibility of knowing their Duty, if the Judg-

ment of the higheft Court Jhould not be a Rule to

guide them. And if the Judgment thereof is to be

followed, when the Quefiion is, Who is King ?

much more, when the £)ueflionis, What isthebeft

Service of the King and Kingdom ? Thofe there-

fore that Jhall guide themfielves by the Judgment ofi

Parliament, ought (whatever happen) to be fiecure

and free from all Account and Penalties, upon the

Ground and Equity of this Statute.

To make the Parliament Countenancers of Trea-

fion, they fiay, is enough to have dijfolv'd all the

Bands ofi Service and Confidence between his Ma-
jefty and his Parliament, of whom the Law fays,

a difhonourable thing ought not to be imagined.

This Conclujion then is a clear Refiult from what

bath been argued; That in all Cafes of fuch Diffi-

culty and Unufiualnefis, happening by the over-ruling

Providence ofi God, as render it impoffible for the

Subjetl to know his Duty, by any known Law or

certain Rule extant, his relying then upon the Judg-

ment and Rea(on of the whole Realm, declared by

their Reprefentative Body in Parliament, then Jit-

ting, and adhering thereto, and purfiuing thereof,

(though the fiame afterwards be by fiucceeding Parlia-

ments, judged erroneous, fiatlious and unjujj) is moft
agreeable to right Reafon and good Confidence j and
in Jo doing, all Perfions are to be free and fiecure

from all Account and Penalties, not only upon the

Ground and Equity ofi that Statute, 1 1 Hen. 7.
but according to all Rules ofi Jufiice, Natural or

Moral.

Afterwards, in Eafier Term, he was indi&ed
of High-Treafon, before the Middlefex Grand-
Jury j and the Bill being found by them, he was
upon Monday the Second of June, in Trinity

Term, arraigned, to this Effedfc :

THAT you, as a falfe Traitor againft his

moft Excellent Majefty King Charles the
Second, your Supreme and Natural Lord, not
having the Fear of God before your Eyes, and
withdrawing that your Duty and Allegiance,

which a true Subject ought to have and bear
to our faid Liege and Sovereign Lord, the thir-

teenth of May, in the eleventh Year of our
faid Sovereign Lord the King, at the Parifti of
St. Martin in the Fields, in the County of
Middlefex, did Compafs and Imagine the Death
cf our faid Sovereign Lord the King, and the
ancient Frame of Government of this Realm
totally to fubvert, and keep out our faid So-
vereign Lord from the Exercife of his Regal
Government. And the fame the better to ef-

fect, the faid Sir Henry Fane, the faid thirteenth

Day of May, in the faid eleventh Year, &V. ac

St. Martin's aforefaid, together with other falfe

Traitors, to the Jurors unknown, did traito-

roufly and malicioufly aflemble and fit together,

and then and there confulted to bring the King
unto Deftru£tion, and to hold him out from
the Exercife of his Regal Authority, and then
and there ufurped the Government, and ap-
pointed Officers, to wit, Colonels and Cap-
tains of a certain Army, raifed againft the King

;

againft the Peace of our Sovereign Lord the
King, his Crown and Dignity, and contrary to

the Form of the Statute in that Cafe made and
provided.
' And the better to effect this, the twentieth

of December, in the faid eleventh Year, with a-

Multitude, to the number of a thoufand Fer-

fons, to the Jurors unknown, in warlike man-
ner affembled, and array'd with Guns, Trum-
pets, Drums, &c. did levy War againft the

Peace, &c. and contrary to the Form of a

Statute.'

Which being read, he pray'd to have it read

a fecond time, which was granted him. He
then pray'd to have it read in Latin, which all

the Court deny'd, and Keeling the King's Ser-

jeant faid, That tho'all Pleas and Entries are fet

down on Record in Latin, yet the Agitations of

Caufes in Court, ought to be in Englifh.

The Prifoner moved feveral Exceptions to the

Indictment, asthatthezf Ed. 3. isnot purfuedj

that he had levied no fuch Force as amounted
to a levying of War: Alfo the Place in which,
Perfons with whom, are both uncertain ; and

the particular Adts of levying War being not

fet forth, he thought therefore the Indictment
was infufficient. Alfo he faid, Here is a long

time of Action for which I am charged, and I

may be concerned for what I acted as a Member
in
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in that Sovereign Court of Parliament j and if

any thing concerns the Jurifdiction of that

Court, I ought not to be judg'd here. At
which the Court and King's Counfel took great

Offence.

Fie faid alfo, There hath been an Act of ge-

neral Pardon fince that time, whereby all Trea-

fons are put in utter Oblivion ; and though Sir

Henry Vane were excepted, yet none confent

that he was that Sir Henry Vane. But the

King's Counfel faid, If he would plead that

Plea, they would join that Iffue with him, if

he pleafedj which, if it fhould be found a-

gainft him, it would be too late to plead Not
guilty.

But the Court faid, In favour of Life a Man
may plead a double Plea, and give in his Excep-
tion, and plead over to the Felony or Treafon,

Not guilty.

But as to the Exceptions taken to the Indict-

ment, they gave little heed to them, but preffed

him to Plead or Confefs.

Whereupon he pleaded Not guilty ; and had

four Days, to wit, 'till Friday next, for his

Trial.

[Memorandums for and towards my De-
fence.]

Upon hearing the Indictment read, and before

Pleading.

FIRST, to lay before the Court the Impoffibi-

lity that he humbly conceives is already in

view, as to the having any fuch indifferent and e-

qual Trial, as the Law intends him, and doth re-

quire and command on the Behalf of all the free

People of England. The Rife for this Conception

he takes from what hath been already done in relation

to the Prifoner himfelf, unheard, unexamined, and

yet kept clofe Prifoner for near two whole 7ears.
This he pall leave to the Judgment of the Court,

after that he hath made known the Particu-

lars thereof unto them, as neceffary to precede the

thing demanded of him, in pleading Guiky, or Not
Guilty.

Secondly, What is the Indifferency which the Law
requires and appoints throughout, as well in Matters

that go before the Trial, as in the Proceedings at the

Trial it felf?

Before the Trial, and in thefirfl Step to it, which
is the keeping andfecuring his Perfon, Magna Char-
ta is clear, and gives this Rule, cap. 2p. Nullus
liber homo capiatur, &c.
No Free-man fhall be taken or imprifoned, or

be difleifed of his Free-hold or Liberties, or
Free Cuftoms, or be Outlawed or Exiled, or
any otherwife deftroyed ; Nor we will not pafs

upon him, nor condemn him, but by lawful

Judgment of his Peers, or by the Law of the
Land : We will fell to no Man, we will

not deny or defer to any Man either Juftice or

Right.

Out of this Chapter, as out of a Root (faith

Sir Edward Coke) do many fruitful Branches

of the Law of England fpring. It contains nine

Branches j fome whereof I Jhall infift upon in my
Cafe.

Firft, That no Man be taken or imprifoned but
per Legem Terras, that is, by the Common Law
or Cuftom of England -, which Words, per Legem

Trcafc

Terra;, though put laft, refer to all the precedent

Branches.

Secondly, The Goods of any Offender cannot re-

gularly be taken and fcized to the Kings life before

Conviclion, nor be Inventoried, nor the Town char-

ged therewith, before the Owner be Inditled of
Record.

Thirdly, No Man Jhall be Exiled or Banijhed out

of his Country, nor be in any fort deftroyed, but by
the Verdi£1 of his Peers.

This appears by Bracton and other ancient Wri-
ters, quoted by Coke, in the third Part of his In-

ftitutes, fol. 228.

Upon the whole Matter, faith Coke, thefe two
Conclujions are manifeflly proved!

Firft, That before Indiclment, the Goods or other

things of any Offender cannot be fearched, inventori-

ed or in any fort feized, nor after Indiclment, fei-

zed, removed, or taken away, before Conviclion or

Attainder.

Secondly, That the begging of the Goods or E-
ftate of any Delinquent, accufed or indicted of any
Treafon, Felony, or other Offence, before he be Con-
vibled and Attainted, is utterly unlawful ; Stat.

Ri. 1. cap. 5.

And befides, it maketh the Profecution againft the

Delinquent, more precipitant, violent and undue$

than the quiet and equal Proceedings of the Law and
'Juftice would permit : Or elfe, by fome tinder-hand
Agreement, flops or hinders the due Courfe of Ju-
ftice, and difcourageth both Judge, Juror and Wit"
nefs to do their Duty.

Thirdly, The Judges are not to give fo much as

their Opinion before-hand, concerning the Offence,

whether it prove that Offence in that Cafe.

Coke in the Chapter of Petty-Treafon, fol. lr>$

exprefty faith ; And to the end the Trial may be
the more indifferent, feeing the Safety of the
Prifoner confifts in the Indifferency of the Court,

the Judges ought not to deliver their Opinions
before-hand, of any Criminal Cafe, that may
come before them judicially. And he there cites

Humphrey Stafford'* Cafe, that Arch-Traitor, in

which Huffey, Chief Juftice, befought Hen. 7. not

to demand of them their Opinions before-hand.

And in the ^th of his Infututes, in the Chapter of
the High Court of Parliament, fol. 27, he fully

fhews the Evil of asking the Judges Opinions before*

hand.

But infiead of this, The Judges being affftant in

the Lords Houfe, when all Alls of Parliament

pafs, and whofe Advice is taken in them, (as ap-

pears by what is declared in the faid Abis) prejudg'd

by their Opinions, and the Opinions of the Parlia-

ment before-hand, the Merit of the Caufe that now
appears to be put upon the Iffue in my Trial.

Hereby the Judges are rendred ex parte, and the

Indifferency the Law requires, impofftble to be af-

forded.

Nor is this all; but by the Rules declared in the

Act of Indemnity, all are difenabled to plead, or

make ufe of the Ordinances, Orders and Votes

of both, or either Houfes of Parliament, that

may have Occafion thereof; and then by excepting

the Prifoner and his Fellows out of the faid Acl,

and all Benefit thereby, a Door is left open to Ar-

raign, bring to Trial and Sentence the whole Caufe

from the Beginning to the Ending, in the Perfon

of the Prifoner, and at the fame time, deprive him

of all Means and Poffibility of Justification and

Defence,
Fourth-



44^ $9. The Trial of Sir Henry Vane Kt. Tria 14 Car. II.

Fourthly, It is obfervable how early hard meafure

appeared in the way wherein the Prifoner became

excepted out of the Act of Indemnity, when the

Commons, his proper Judges, declared him in their

thoughts, not fit to be endangered in the point of

Life , yet unto the Judgment of the Lords, (that

ought not to judge Commoners, unbrought before them

by the Commons, much lefs, in oppofite Judgment to

the Commons) the Commons were neccjjitated to yield,

left otherwife the Act of Indemnity to the whole

Nation fhouId flop upon this difpute and ejfential dif-

ference between the two Houfes ; A Competition,

eafily over-ruled \ although {as it proves by the fe-

quel) that At! of Indemnity is like to become felo

de fe, or a defiroyer of it felf, if your Lordfhips

ftoall conceive your felves at liberty
,

(notwithftanding

that Act) not only to bring anew into Memory upon

the Stage, the ftate of all the pajfed differences,

from firft to laft, but to try and judge the merit of

them in my perfon, and therein call in queflion the

validity of that whole Atl, and make void the be-

nefit intended by it, in cafe the PFar undertaken and

managed by both or either of the Houfes of Parlia*

went be judged unlawful, and within the Statute

of zf Ed. 3. For this adjudges all the People of

England morally guilty of the evil of a fin and of-

fence againft the Law of Nature, which once done,

whatever promifed Indemnity be granted for the

prefent, the Evil of the Action remains upon Re-

cord', not only to the Infamy of the whole People of

England, but theirfuture danger, uponpretence they

have forfeited the very Indemnity granted.

Fifthly, The length of time taken to fearch out

'matter againft the Prifoner, and the undue practices

and courfes to find out Witneffes, do further evi-

dence how unlike the Prifoner is to have an equal

and indifferent Trial. He doubts not, this will ap-

pear in his two Tears clofe Imprijonment
, (fix

Months whereof was Baniftomeni) during which

time, he was never Jo much as once examined, or

had any queflion put to him, whereby he might con-

jecture wherefore he was committed to Prifon, any

further than was expreffed in the Warrants of
Commitments.

Now thefe were fo general, that nothing certain

er particular could be gathered out of them. But
upon the received opinion, that he was excepted out

of the atl of Indemnity, and in the fenfe of both

Houfes a great Delinquent, his Eftate was attempt-

ed to be Inventoried, his Rentals demanded, his

Rents were actually Jeized in the Tenants hands, and
they forbidden to pay them. His very Courts were

prohibited by Officers of great Perfonages, claiming

the Grant of the Eftate, and threatning his Officers

from doing their duty. By thefe kind of undue

proceedings, the Prifoner had not wherewithal to

maintain himfelf in Prifon ; and his Debts, to the

value of above ten thoufand Pounds, were undifi-

charged, either Principal or Intereft. The hopes of
private lucre and profit hereby, was fuch in the

Tenants and other Perfons, fought out for far and
to be Witneffes, that it is no wonder at laftnear.

fomething by way of Charge comes to be exhibited.

And as this is the Cafe of the Perfon before his

appearance at this Bar, with refpect to the fore/aid

unequal Proceedings towards him, and the great

difadvantages put upon him, and all thefe, as it

e, in a continued fieries of Dejign ; fo, the mat-were*

ters and things themfelves with which it now appears

he is charged in the Indictment, make his Cafe fill

very extraordinary and unufual, involving him in

difficulties that are infuperable, unlefs God's own

immediate Power do Jbew it felf in working his de-

liverance.

The things done, are for many Years paft, in a
time of Differences between King and Parliament,

and Wars enfuing thereupon. Many extraordinary

Changes and Revolutions in the State and Govern-

ment were neccjjitated in the courj'e of God's Provi-

dence, for wife and holy ends of his9 above the reach

of human Wifdom.
The Authority by which they are done, is pre-

judged. The Orders, Votes and Refolutions of Par--

liament are made ufelefs, and forbidden to be pro-

duced. Hereby* all manner of Defence is taken a-

way from the Prifoner ; and that which was done

according to Law, as the Laws of thofe times were9
is endeavoured to be made unlawful, and fo the

Perfons, acting according tofach Laws, are brought

to Punifhment.

The Judges (as hath been fhewed) are foreftallei

in their Judgments, by the declaredfenfe of Parlia-

ments, given ex poll facto. The Jurors are put

upon difficulties never known before, for twelve Com-
moners to judge the Actions of all the Commons of
England, in whom they are included, as to whofe

Judgment is the right, the one or the other's j and
whether their Reprefentatives be trufty.

The Party indicted is under an Incapacity to- bring

Witneffes, as well from the nature of the Place

wherein the things were done, within the Walls of
the Hou/e, as from the fhortnefs of time, having

heard nothing of his Charge, and being kept a cloje

Prifoner, to the laft day. His Sollicitors and Perfons

imployed in his Law-buJineffes, were alfo reftrained

from him.

It is alfo moft evident, that the matters for which

he is queflioned, being the Product of fo many Tears

Agitations of Parliamentary Councils and Arms*.

cannot be of a fingle concern, nor be reputed as the

actions of a private Man, done of his own head,

nor therefore come within any of the fix Claffes of
Treafon, contained in 25* Ed. 3.

// /'; a Cafe moft unufual, and never happening

before in this Kingdom ; yet it is alledged in the In-

dictment to be a levying War within that Statute*

and fo comes to have the na?ne of High-Treafon
put upon it, thereby (if poffible) to deprive him of
the ufe and benefit of Counfel, as alfo of competent,

time to prepare for his Defence, and all fitting and

requifite means for the clearing of his Innocency. Un-
to this, unlefs fome remedy be afforded by thejuftice9
candor and favour of this Court, it may be better

for the Prifoner (for ought he yet knows) to be im-

mediately deftroyed by fpecial Command (if nothing

elfe will fatisfy) without any form of Law, as one

to whom Quarter, after at leaft two Tears cool

blood, is thought fit to be denied in relation to the

late Wars. This may feem better, than under a

colour and form of Juftice, to pretend to give hint

the benefit of the Law and the King's Courts, whofe

part it is, to fit free the Innocent, upon an Equal
and Indifferent Trial had before them, if their Caufe
will bear it : but it is very vifible beforehand, that

all poffible means of Defence are taken and withheld

from him, and Laws are made ex poft facto, to

forejudge the merit of the Caufe, the Party being

unheard.

And when he hath faid all this, that as a rational

Man does occur to him, and is fit for him to re-

prefent in all humility to the Court, he craves leave

further to add ; That h#ftands at this Bar not only

as a Man, and a Man clothed with the Privileges

of the moft Sovereign Court, but as a Chriftian,

that
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that hath Faith and Reliance in God, through whofe

vracious and wife Appointment he is brought into

thefe Circumflances, and unto this Place at this time,

whofe IVill he defires to be found refigned up into,

as well in what He now calls him to fuffer, as in

what He hath called him formerly to act, for the

"ood of his Country, and of the People of God in it.

Upon this bottom (he blejfes the Name of his God)

he is fearlefs, and knows the ijfue will be good, what-

ever it prove. God's firength may appear in the

Prifoner's weaknefs ; and the more all things carry

the face of certain ruin and defirutlion unto all that

is near and dear to him in this World, the more will

divine Deliverance and Salvation appear ; to the

making good of that Scripture, That he that is con-

tent to lofe his life in God's Caufe and Way, ihall

fave it, and he that inftead thereof goes about to

fave his Life upon undue terms, fhall lofe it.

Far be it therefore from me, to have knowingly,

malicioufiy or wittingly ofended the Law, rightly

underflood and afferted ; much lefs, to have done any

thing that is malum per fe, or that is morally evil.

This is that 1 allow not as I am a Man, and what

I defire with ftedfajlnefs to refift, as I am a Chri-

ftian. If 1 can judge any thing of my own Cafe,

'the true rea/on of the prefent difficulties and ftraits

Iam in, is becaufe I have defired to walk by a juft

and righteous Rule in all my Actions, and not to

ferve the Lufts and Pajfions of Men, but had rather

die, than wittingly and deliberately fin againft God

and tranfgrefs his Holy Laws, or prefer my own
private Intereft before the Good of the whole Com-

munity I relate unto, in the Kingdom where the lot

of my Refidence is cafi.~\

Friday, June 6, 1662.

N this Day, the Sheriff returned forty-

eight Freeholders of the County of Mid-

dlefex. After thirty-two were chal-
!

*elyng 16.
lenged by thg prifonerj he had a

\ Jury of twelve Men fworn ; to wit, Sir William

\ Roberts, jun. Sir Chriftopher Abdy, John Stone,

\

Henry Carter, John Leech, Daniel Cole, 'Daniel

i
t
Browne, Thomas Chelfam, Thomas Pitts, Thomas

XJpman, Andrew Bent, and William Smith.

Sir Geoffry Palmer, Alt. Gen. The Indict-

ment is, For trditoroujly imagining and intending,

&c. the Death of the King. This very Imagi-

nation and Compaffmg, de. is Treafon. Yet
forafmuch as the Intentions of the Heart are

fecret, the Law cannot take notice of them,

till they are declared by Overt- Act. There-
fore we fhall give in Evidence, That for ac-

I
complifhing of thefe Intentions, the Prifoner

! fat with others in feveral Councils, or rather

! Confederacies,incroach'd the Government, levy'd
' Forces, appointed Officers, and at lad levy'd

open and a&ual War, in the head of a Regi-
ment. If any of thefe Crimes be proved, it is

fufficient to make him guilty within this Indict-
' ment. And the open levying of War, and ap-

pearing in the head of a Regiment, is not only

a Treafon of itfelf, but an Evidence of all thofe

other Treafons he Hands charged with in the In-

dictment.

Thefe things happening before the Act of
Oblivion, you will cake notice of that Act-, and
that the Prifoner being excepted by name from
Vol II.

the Benefit of that Pardon, though he be
chargeable for any Crime of Treafon fince the

beginning of the late War, yet we mail confine

the Facts for which we charge him, to the
Reign of his now Majefty.

After the Houfe had voted the late King's
Conceflions in the Ifle of Wight to be a good
Ground for Peace, many of the Members were
kept out by Force, others turn'd out ; the Peers

laid afide, and at laft the King murder'd. The
firft thing then that we fhall lay to the charge
of the Prifoner, is, That that very Day wherein
that horrid Act was committed, we find his

Hand and Seal to a Warrant to the Officers of
the Navy, to iffue out Stores for a Summer's
Guard of the Narrow Seas. This was the firft

Day of the Reign of his now Majefty, And Co

he enumerated all the Particulars which he in-

tended to charge him with, and proved them,
as followeth.

1. The Warrant of the 30th of Jan. 48. was
proved to be the Hand of Sir Henry Vane, by
Thomas Lewis and Thomas Turner, as they believes

neither of them affirming that they faw him
write it, but knowing his Hand, believed it to be
{o.

z. Ralph Darnel, anUnder-Clerk of the Hnufe
of Commons, proved the Journal- Book of the

Houfe, and laid, tho' he will not take upon him
to fay when Sir Henry Vane was there, and when
he was abfent, yet he faid pofkively, That at

what time foever he is fet down in the Journal, to

have acted or reported any rhing, he was there.

In which Book, Febr. 7. 1648, fo). 65*3, was the

Order to fet up a Council of State.

Fol. 684, Febr. 13 were the Inductions pre-

fented to the Houfe, upon which the Council of
State was to act.

1. The 'firft 'was, That you, or any four or more,

are to fupprefs all and every Perfon and Perfons pre-

tending Title to the Kingly Government of this Na-
tion, from or by the late King ; Charles Stuart,

his Son ', or any claiming from or by them, or either

of them, or any otherJingle Perfon whatfoever.
This, the Attorney faid, was in the firft part

of that Inftruction, to deftroy the King's Per-

fon ; and in the fecond part, the Kingly Go-
vernment.

z. That you, &c. are appointed to direel the

Forces of this Commonwealth, for the preventing

and fuppreffing of Tumults and Infurreblions at home,

or Invafions from abroad; and for thefe Ends to

raife Forces, 8cc.j

3. That Febr. 14, {648. fol. 6"pf. Sir Henry

Vane was chofen a Member of the Council of
State, and acted upon thefe Inftructions : which
they proved thus ; to wit,

Firft, That Sir Henry Vane, (as fol. 893.) 23d
of March 1648, reported from the Council of

State, an Eftimate of the Number of Ships for

the Summer's Guard of the Narrow Se.is.

Secondly, March 30, io"49, Sir Henry Vane

reports from the Council of State, That ten

thoufand Pounds, Parcel of the twenty thoufand

Pounds afTefled upon South-Wales for their De-
linquency, be allow'd towards the fetting out of

this Fleet, for the Service of the Parliament

:

which was ordered accordingly, and to be paid

to Sir Henry Vane, asTreaturer of the Navy.

Thirdly, That Sir Henry Vane ufually fat in

Council ; but this Deponent being never admit-

ted to go in, after the Council was fat, proves

Lll that
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that he often faw him go in at the Fore-door

and Back-door, and often continue there all the

time the Council was fitting.

William Dobbins and Matthew Lock fay, That

they feveral times faw Sir Henry Vane fit in a

Committee of the Conncil, in the Years 165*1

and i6fi, which confilted only of Members of

the Council ; and particularly at the Committee

for Scotijb and Irijb Affairs, where Sir Henry

Vane was often in the Chair, and produced fe-

veral Orders of that Committee.

Fourthly, Febr. 1 1, 1649, a new Council of

State was chofen, of which Sir Henry Vane was

one : fol. 72.0.

Febr. 12, 164.9. All the Inftructions of the

former Year were read and affented to.

Febr. zz, 1649, fol. 760. Sir Henry Vane re-

ported the Form of an Qatfa of Secrecy to be

admimftred to every of the Members of the

Council} which was, to keep all things which

fhould be tranfacted in Council fecret, and to be

true and faithful to their I iftrucfions : which

the Attorney faid (fi cc their firft Inftru&ion

W^s, to fupprefs all Perfons pretending Title from

the King) was in effect an Oath of Abjuration.

Fifthly, Anno io"f 1, Sir Henry Vane was Prefi-

dent of the Council of State, and feveral War-
rants were produced, to wit, May 20, i6fz,

and May lz, 6fZ, to deliver to Major fVigan

two hundred Firelocks and ten Drums. The
other, for the delivery of five hundred Foot-

Arms, for Recruit of Colonel Ingoldsby's Regi-

ment: and thefe were fubfcribed, By Order of

the Council^ H. Vane Prefident.

April z, i6"fj. A Warrant of that date was
produced by the Comrniffionersof the Navy, of

which he was one, for furnifhing out the Hamp-
JJjire-Frigate with Provifions and Ammunition for

the ufe of the State.

From this time to icjf9, they charge him with

nothing j and then the Journal-Book was pro-

duced, and attefted by Ralph Darnel, wherein,

May 7, i6f9, an Order was made f>r appoint-

ing a Committee of Safety, (whereof Sir Henry

Vane was onej That they, or any four or more of

them, fhould take care of the Safety of this Com-
monwealth^ and they to fit for eight days and no

longer : foi. 56.

Die Ven. May I}, 16 f9. Sir Henry Vane re-

ported, That they had conferred with all the

Foreign ArnbafTadors : That the Commonwealth
is in Amity with all Foreign Princes, but Spain.

Refolved, That Ch. Fleetwood, J. Lambert,

J. Desborough, James Berry, Arthur Hafleng,

Edmond Ludlow, and Sir Henry Vane, be Com-
mijjloners to nominate CommiJJion-Officers for the

Army of this Commonwealth. By virtue hereof,

they proceeded, June 17, 16 f9, to nominate
Commiffion-Officers, appointed Robert Moffe a

Colonel, preknting a Lift of his Commiffion-
Officers i and John Ma/on to be Governour of

Jerfcy.

Di$ Ven. May 21, fol. 158. Sir Henry Vane
reports concerning Affairs between the two Nor-
thern Kings in the Sound,, wherein the Affairs

of this Commonwealth are concerned.

Die Ven. Sept. z, 16^9. At the Committee of

State at Whitehall : An Order was produced for

the Re-delivery of the City-Horfes to their re-

fpective Owners, figned H.Vane Prefident.

A Warrant was produced under the Hand of

Sir Henry Vane, proved by Thomas Lewis and

one Falconer, for fo many Hangers to Col. Thomp*
fon, as he fhall require for his Regiment.

Three feveral Letters, todeliver 1200 Arms for

the ufe of
- my Regiment 5 to wit, to Sam. Linn,

my Captain-Lieutenant, 30 Arms for my Com-
pany •, to Major fhomas Shurman, Major of my
Regiment, 4 or f Barrels of Powder.
Then one Marjh was produced a Witnefs,

who proves, That Sir Henry Vane propofed the
new Model of Government, JVhitlock being in
the Chair, in thefe Particulars:

1

.

That the Supreme Power, delegated by the Peo*

pie to their Truftees, ought to be, infome Fundamen-
tals, not difpenfed with.

z. That it is deftrutlive to the People's Liberties

(to which by God's Blefiing they are reftored) to ad-
mit any earthly King or fingle Peijon, to the Legif*

lathe or Executive Power over this Nation.
2

.

That the Supreme Power delegated, is not in-

truded to the People's Truftees, to eretl Matters of
Faith or JVorJhip, fo as to exercife Compulfion therein.

Thomas Pury proves, That he was at the de-
bating of the two laft of thefe Propofition.% and
believes they were propofed to the Chairman

1

JVhitlock by Sir Henry Vane; but affirms confi-

dently, that Sir Henry Vane gave Reafons to

maintain them.

Tho. Wallis produced, proves Sir Henry Vane
and Col. Rich in the Head of a Company in 1

IVinchefter Park in Southwark', and that the Cap-
tain- Lieutenant Linn faid to the Soldiers, That
Sir Henry Vane had given them Five Pounds to I

drink -, That the faid Linn fent home a Key to 1

his Wife to fend him four Pounds out of his I

Trunk, to give the Soldiers.

"John Cook depofeth, That he was fent to the

Horfejhoe- Stairs to meet Sir Flenry Vane and Col.

Rich, and that Sir Henry Vane delivered five

Pounds to Capt. Linn to reward the Soldiers.

This was all the Evidence given by the King'*
Counfel: To which Sir Henry Vane was requi ed
to make his Defence, and to go through with,

his Cafe all at once, and not tr> reply again upon
the King's Counlel, who refolved to have the

laft word to the Jury.

Sir Henry Vane. Coke, in his Pleas of the Croivn^

fol. 6. faith, King is to be underftond of a King
regnant, and in actual Pcffefiion of a Crown,
and not of a King when he is only Rex dejure^

and out of Poffeffion. Now an Interregnum is

confeffed by the Indictment : All Enfigns of

Authority, and Badges of Government, were

vilibly in another Name and Stile ; the King's

beft Friends fuing, and being fued, in another

Name.
The Court told him, he fhould firft make his

Cafe out in point of Fact, and it would be then

feafonable to fland upon Matter of Law ; lor

(fay they) it is a good Rule, in fablo jus oritur,

and enjoined him to call his WitnefTes, if he

had any.

To which Sir Henry Vane defired Procefs of

Court to fummon them, and a further time to

anfwer the Charge. But it was told him, the

Jury were to be kept without Meat, Drink, Fire

or Candle, till their Verdict was delivered irij

and therefore that could not be granted.

He then cited the fourth Part of Coke's Infli-

tutes concerning the Privilege of Parliament, and

that many of thefe things being tranfacted there—
The
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The Court here interrupted him, and faid. If

the things charged were done, juftify them ; if

not, difprove them. So he went to give anfwer

to the Fact.

And as to the firft Warrant, Jan. 30, 1648,

he faid, That his Hand had been oftentimes

counterfeited, and amongft other Occasions, for

two great Sums, to the Value of Ten Thoufand

Pounds : and that he had great reafon to believe,

that this Warrant was forged, and produced two

Witnefles to prove it.

Then faid Juftice Windham: It may be your

Hand may have been forged for receiving of

Money, but it is not to be conjectured, that it

fhould be forged to fet Ships to Sea; and di-

rected to the Jury to confider of the Circum-

itances.

Sir Henry Vane. Neither of the Witnefles e-

ver faw me fet my Hand to either of thefe War-

rants or Orders ; nor doth one Witnefs prove

that he ever faw me fit in the Council of State.

He further faid, That he abfented from the

Houfe from December 3, 1648, till February-/.

That he was chofen a Member of the Council

of State without his Confent and Knowledge ;

and being demanded to take an Oath of Appro-

bation of what had been done to the late King,

he refufed, and caufed it to be expunged ; That

thefe Actings in Council, (if any were,) were

by Authority of Parliament, of a Parliament

conftituted in an extraordinary manner, made

indiffolvable but by Aft of Parliament. He in-

filled much on the Preamble of that Aft, fo as

that Parliament being co-ordinate with the King,

(for the Government was in the King and the

two Houfes) whatever he afted by them or their

Authority, cannot be Treafon within the Statute

of %s Ed. 3.

He cited an Ordinance of Parliament in 1641,

and faid, That he hoped thefe things had been

laid afleep by the Aft of Oblivion; and if they

jfliould now rife in Judgment againft him, he

feared they would fhake that Security which

the People promifed themfelves under that Aft.

But if he fhould be now called in queftion for

thofe things which were tranfafted in that Par-

liament, of which he was a Member, he fhall

have the Comfort and Peace of thofe Aftions to

I fupport him in his greateft Sufferings. He added,

: That if he were excepted, then muff, he be
< judged for the Crime of the whole Nation, and
1 that Crime muft be ravelled into thro' him: That
i the Cafe is fuch as never yet fell out, to wit,

' That the Government being intrufted to three

;
Eftates, they fhould fo fall out among themfelves,

! as the People cannot tell which to obey; That
where thefe great Changes fall out, it is not

{

poffible for any Man to proceed according to all

! Formalities of Law ; That there was a political

! Power by this Aft of 17 Caroli co-ordinate with

\ the King ; and where thefe Powers are not in

• Conjunction, but in Enmity to each other, no
Court inferior to the Parliament, by whofe Au-

j
thority thefe things were afted, ought to be

Judges of this Cafe, which certainly never hap-
pened before.

He farther faith, he was not the firft Mover in

thefe Aftions, and that he fhould be called in

queftion for thefe Matters by a King that was
out of Poffeffion at a time when thefe things

were afted, would be inconvenient, to fay no
more ; That when the three Eftates were dif-

Vol. II.

joined, he thought it the beft Policy to preferve

the Government in. its. Root, to wit, the Com-
mons; by whom it was preferved, and at la ft

reftored to its former Courfe : That as to the

Regiment that pafled under his Name, he dif-

own'd it; That Reports of MefTages are not
the Fault of the Reporter; for his Judgment
does not always go along with them, but he is

bound to deliver his Meffage ; That he always

loved the Government as it is fet forth in our

antient Law-Books ; and that that Parliament

(fo much decried) at laft reftored Affairs to the

Pofture in which they now are.

As to the Warrants figned by him, he faid,

they appear to be figned in the Name, and by

the Order of the Council; and his Hand that

fubferibes, is not fo much as active or paffive to

the Commands of the Council. If the Council,

who commanded the figning, were unwarranta-

ble, the Parliament who appointed the Council
muft be much more unwarrantable.

And here he offered thefe Points to be con-
fider'd, and pray'd earneftly to have Council

affigned him to fpeak to them.

1. Whether the collective Body of the Parlia-

ment can be impeached of High-Treafon ?

2. Whether any Perfon acting by Authority of
Parliament, can (fo long as he aftethby that Au-
thority) commit Treafon ?

%. VVhether Matters afted by that Authority,

can be called in queftion in an inferior Court ?

4. Whether a King de Jure, and out of Pof-
feffion, can have Treafon committed againft him,
he not being King de Faffo, and in actual Pof-
feffion? and pray'd it might be argued by Coun-
fel.

f.
Whether Matters done in Southwark, in

another County, may be. given in Evidence to a
Middle/ex Jury ?

As to the laft Exception, the Court faid,

That he was indicted for cempaffing and ima-
gining the King's Death in Middle/ex; and any
Overt- Aft to prove this Imagination,

may be given in Evidence, wherefo-
c y nZ 1 5-

ever it be afted. To which Sir Henry Vane
prayed the Benefit of a Bill of Exception, upon
the Statute of PVeftminfter 2. cap. 31. and prayed

that the Juftices might feal it ; which they all

refufed, and held, it lay not in any Cafe of the

Crown.
The King's Counfel defired he might call his

Witneffes, (if any he had) for if they once came
to reply to him, he muft then be filent; and
confented, that (if it would aid him) they would
allow his Actings to be in the Name and by the

Authority of the Council of State ; and the

Actings of the Council of State to be by Autho-
rity of what he called a Parliament.

Sir Henry Vane replied, Then what I acted in

the Council of State, and Committee of Safety,

conftituted by the Parliament to endure for eight

Days, you will allow me : Then you muft prove

that I ever afted in the other Council of State,

after the Parliament was turned out.

Then the King's Counfel produced a Warrant,

dated November 3, 16f9, which was fent in

purfuance of an Order of the Committee of Safety,

by Sir Henry Vane, as Treafurer of the Navy.

This Warrant was for the fending of divers

Arms Northwards after Mr. Lambert
y
who was

Lll z gone
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gone down to oppofe the now Duke of Jibe-

Sir Henry Vane produced William Angela Brifco,

Middleton, Sec. Officers of that Regiment which

went under his Name ; who having recourfe

unto him for Orders about Oclober i6fp, he bad

them defift, and declared his Diflatisfaction in

their Proceedings : and this, after their feveral

Importunities to have Orders from him. And
thus he clofed his Defence.

Sollicitor Finch. As to pretence of the Power

of Parliament, it is to be known, that it was

not the eighth part of the Houfe of Commons 5

fuch as were let in to do all that hath been com-

plained, and acting under Authority of fuch an

End of a Parliament, under fuch a Violation,

was no Excufe, but an Aggravation ; but that

the Parliament was, in Law, ended by the

Death of the late King, notwithstanding that

A£t of 17 Caroli primi, appears thus:

Firft, The King's Writ for a Parliament is ad

traclandam nobifcum; which is intended as well

of the natural Capacity of the King, as of his

politick.

Secondly) 'Tis abfurd to fay, That the Acts

of Parliament of King Charles the Firft, fhould

be his Ads in the time of King Charles the Se-

cond.

Thirdly, A Commiflion of Sewers, enacted to

be on foot for Ten Years, expires by the Death

of the King, and the Authority of the Commif-

fioners is at an end.

Fourthly, It is not poffible for one King to

impofe a Parliament upon a SuccerTbr. So much
for his acting by Colour of Authority of Parlia-

ment.
And as to the Queftion, Whether an Houfe

of Parliament can commit Treafon ? If they de-

part from that Allegiance which they have fworn

at their firft Meeting, they are impeachable for

it.

As to a Co-ordination in the Parliament, he

denied it.

As to the Queftion, Whether the King being

out of actual Pofleffion, can have Treafon com-
mitted againft him ? he affirmed it, and faid,

Othervvife, if Rebellion fhould be fo profperous

as to depofe or opprefs the King in Battle, the

Offenders are not to be called in queftion, be-

caufe they prevailed. He faid it was the Plea of

Watfon the Jefuit, who being indicted for com-
t paffing the Death of King James in Scotland,

after he was declared King of England, and be-

fore his actual entring into this Realm, made this

Defence, That the King was never in Pofleilion

of the Crown.
Juftice Windham. As to the Act of 17 Caroli,

and the Preamble of that Act, fo much infifted

on by the Prifoner} 1. He held, that the Par-

liament had not greater , Authority
Kelyngi4-

^y ^ j3Ut were oniy made more du-

rable than other Parliaments have been : but he

held, That the Parliament was abfolutely dif-

folved by the Death of the King ; and put this

Cafe : If it fhould be enacted, that fuch a Mar-

riage mould continue till it was difiolved by Act

of Parliament ; if one dies, it is a Determina-

tion of it in Fact, fo as no Man can fay, but it

is abfolutely difiolved. z. It muft continue in

the Degree and Dignity of a Parliament. If the

Houfe be under a Force, and fome kept out,

fome let in, to ferve a turn, whatever they act

is a Nullity in Law. For Freedom is the prin-
cipal EfFence and Honour of a Parliament

j yet

though the Houfe be under a Force, the Houfe
is not dhTolved by fuch Force, but the Proceed-
ings are to be fufpended, till it acquire its for-

mer Liberty} and this as well by the Common
Law, as by the Civil and Canon Laws of all

other Countries. 2. The Parliament is the
King's great Council, the Peers are Conciliarii

nati; if they be fore'd away, or laid afide, as

here they were, all the reft is but magni nominis

umbra.

Twifden held the fame Opinion, That it is

not the fitting of a few Members within thofe
Walls, that will continue it a Parliament: And
tho' another Parliament, a great many Years
after the King's Death, declared it to be at an
end} yet that Act was but Declaration, it was at
an end before.

Whether a Parliament may commit Treafon,
is not the Queftion} but whether a few of the
Houfe fhutting out their Fellows, and ufurping
the Government, were not Traitors ?

Fofter held the fame Opinion, and faid, The
Diftinction between the Politick and Natural
Capacity of the King, was the Treafon of the
two Spencers : That Privilege of the Parliament
is no Shelter for Breach of the Peace, much lefs

for Treafon.

fwifden added, That to compafs the Death
of the King as a natural Perfon, was Treafon ; to

compafs his Death in his political Capacity, as

to depofe him, was Treafon ; and both provided I

for by the Act of if Edw. 3. That in the fame
Inftant the late King expired, in the

very fame his now Majefty was King KeIyng '5-

de faSlo } and affirmed the Cafes of Watfon and
Clark, 1 Jac. If an Army be railed againft the
King, and the King is flain in the Battle, this

Trealon is queftionable by the Succeflbr, as Stone's

Cafe is in Dyer. 298. b.

Thus ended theQueftions of Law proposed.

The Sollicitor fpake after to theJury concern-
ing the Fact, which after they withdrew to

confider, and being withdrawn about half an

Hour, returned with their Verdict ; which be-

ing delivered by the Foreman, in the name pf

his Fellows, with their Confenr, found the Pri-

foner guilty of High-Treafon from Jan. 30,

1648.
They not only found him guilty according to

the Indictment, which was laid for K . ,

what the Prifoner did, i6fO} but for
e ^ng '

a long Series of High-Treafon (as they reckon)

from Jan. 50, 1648.

A true Copy of the 'Prifoner's own 'Papers, con-i

taining the Subjlance of what he pleaded on

thefaid Day of his Trial, June 6.

THAT without any feeking of mine, I was

chofen by Writ under the Great Seal, to

ferve as Burgefs for the Town of Kingfton upon

Hull, in the Parliament that fat down on the

third of November 1640, and having in purfuance

thereof taken my Seat in the faid Parliament, I

was obliged by Law to give my Attendance up-

on the laid Truft, as well as upon Grounds of

Duty and Confcience.

The faid Parliament was not only called and

aflembled after the ufual manner, and had the

Powcj :
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Power and Privileges incident to that high

Court, but was by exprefs Statute and Confent

of the three Eftates fo conftituted, as to its Con-

tinuance, Adjournment, Prorogation and DifTb-

lution, that in none of thefe Particulars they

were fubject to Alteration, but by their own
common AfTent, declared by Act of Parliament,

10 be parted by themfelvesfor that purpofe, with

the Royal A {Tent.

In the Preamble to the Act for Continuance

of the faid Parliament, thefe words are con-

tained : Whereas great Sums of Money mufi of ne-

cejfity befpeedily advanced and providedfor the Re-

lief of his Majeftfs Army and People in the Nor-

thern Parts of this Realm, and for preventing the

imminent Danger this Kingdom is in ; and for Sup-

ply of his Majeflfs prefent and urgent Occafions,

'which cannot be fo timely effected as is requifite,

without Credit for raijing the faid Monies > which

Credit cannot be obtained untilfuch Obftacles befirfi

removed, as are occajioned by Fears, Jealoufies and

Apprehenfions of divers his Majejly's loyal Subjecls,

That this prefent Parliament may be adjourned, pro-

rogued or diffblved, before Juflice fall be duly exe-

cuted upon Delinquents, and publick Grievances re-

drejfed, a firm Peace between the two Nations of

England and Scotland concluded, and before fitffi-

cient Provifion be made for the Repayment of the

faid Monies fo. to be raifed, &c. By all which the

Very Work that was between the three Eftates

agreed to be done for the Good and Safety of

the Kingdom, was in fundry Particulars declared

and exprefTed j and not only fo, but as is ac-

knowledged by the late King himfelf in his An-
fwer to the Nineteen Propositions, the Power
which thereby was legally placed in both Hou-
fes, was more than fufficient to prevent and re-

ftrain Tyranny.
So that, by what hath been fhewed, the Law

it felf is with me, and for me, enjoining my
continued Attendance on the Truft which by
this means was committed to me, and authorized

me in particular to effect the things contained

in the faid Preamble •, and to act in all Matters

belonging to the high Court of Parliament, for

the Good and Safety of the Kingdom in time

of imminent Danger: I had been liable to great

Punifhment by the Law, forDif-attendanceand

deferting my Station therein, till lawfully or by
force difmifled therefrom 5 and this, whatever

Occafions others might have, by a voluntary

or fore'd Departure from Attendance upon that

Truft.

The Actions therefore done by me in this Ca-
pacity, and according to the Law, Privileges,

Cuftoms and Power of Parliament, and that

fuch a one as was thus extraordinarily conftitu-

ted, neither are nor can be brought within the

Statute of 2f Edw. 3. cap. z. nor are to be
queftioncd, tried, much lefs judged and fen-

tenced, in any inferior Court. Nay, fo far is it

from this, that by a Declaration and Refolution

of Parliament, Augu/l 13, 1642, it is adjudged

to. be committing Treafon in the higheft de-

gree, to bring both or either Houfes of Parlia-

ment under that or fuch like Imputations.

Nor, till of late, have I ever heard but that

thofe who took the Judgment of Parliament for

their Rule and Guide, (however tortious or er-

roneous it might afterwards be accounted in suc-

ceeding times) and they that afted by and under
the Countenance of their declared Judgments,

Orders or Ordinances, (ever acknowledged bind-
ing during the fitting of the Parliament) were
fife and indemnified from all Puniihment. And
for Government-fake it felf, it is requifue it

fhould be fo ; beCaufe none are Judges of the
Power and Privileges of Parliament but them-
felves. For admit once that their Judgment;
may be called in queftion, and difputed by pri-

vate Perfons, or by inferior Courts, (whole
Votes are included in theirs) the Fundamentals
of Government are pluck'd up by the Roots.
Par in pares -non habet imperium, multo minus in

eos qui majus imperium habent : An Equal has no
Command over his Equal, much lefs over thofe
that have a greater Command or Authority.

His late Majefty, in his Anfwer to the Nine-
teen Propositions, does very briefly and exactly
ftate the Nature and Kind of Government tbac
is exercifed in this Kingdom, faying, The Laws
of this Kingdom are made by a King, a Houfe of
Peers, and a Houfe of Commons, chofen by the
People, all having free Votes, and particular Pri-
vilege. Thefe three Eftates making one incorporate

Body, are they, in whom the Sovereignty and Su-
preme Power is placed, as to the making and re-
pealing of Laws : And the Government, according
to thefe Laws, is trufted to the King, who in the
Interval of Parliament is file in the Exercife of
Government, which (the Parliament fitting) he is

to exercife in conjunblion with the two Houfes.
And his faid Majefly afferting three forts of

Government, Abfolute Monarchy, Ariflocracy and
Democracy, does moil rightly diftinguifh the Mo-
narchy of England from all thofe three, and
commends the Conftitution of this Kingdom, as

it is a Mixture of all three, having the Conve-
niencies of them all without the Inconveniencies
of any one, as long as the Balance hangs even
between the three Eftates, that they run jointly
on in their proper Channels, and that the over-
flowing of either on either fide raife no Deluge
nor Inundation.

By the palling of the aforefaid Act for the
Continuance of the foremennoned Parliament,
the Intervals of Parliament were no longer, as

before, at the Will and Pleasure of the King 3

but the Power to continue in the faid Parlia-

ment, without Adjournment, Prorogation or
Diflblution, reflded in the two Houfes with the
King jointly, and in none of them feverally : fo

that in effect the Government of the Kingdom,
during the Continuance of that Parliament, was
in Conjunction of the three Eftates, and in their

common Confents and Agreements among them-
felves given in Parliament j the aflembling and
meeting whereof was appointed and fixed to a

Place certain, by Law.
By reafon hereof, it is not the Attendance of

any of the Members in Parliament (for Dif-
charge of the Truft repofed in them, confirm'd
and enlarged by the faid Act) that is faulty or
cenfurable by the Law, but thofe that unwar-
rantably depart and defert that their Truft and
Station, are to be blamed; 6 Hen. 8. 16.

The King in Conjunction with the Parlia-

ment, is maxime Rex, and is fupported in the
Throne and Exercife of his Regal Power by
the joint Concurrence of both Houfes. And
becaufe (as his late Majefty well obferved) the

Happinefs and Good of the Conftitution of this

Government lies in keeping the Balance even

between the three Eftates, containing them-
felves
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felves within the Bounds of their proper Chan-

nels, therefore in Attempts of either to overflow

thofe Bounds, (they being co-ordinate) the Of-

fice of a Parliament is by the very fundamental

Conftitution of the Government, to keep this

Balance well poifed. And to that end (as was

before mentioned) his Majefty's own words

are, in his faid Anfwer to the Nineteen Propo-

rtions ; That there was legally placed in both Hou-

fes a Power more than fufficient to prevent and re-

firain the Power of Tyranny. If fo, then are

they the legal Judges, when there is Danger of

Tyranny •, and have legal Power to require their

Judgment and Refolves to be obeyed, not only

when Arms are actually raifed againft them, but

when they difcern and accordingly declare a

Preparation towards it j elfc they may find it too

late to prevent the Power of Tyranny. There

is no greater Attempt of Tyranny, than to arm

againft the Parliament} and there is no vifible

way for the reftraining fuch Tyranny, but by

railing Arms in their own and the Kingdom's

Defence. Lefs than this is not fufficient, and

therefore far from more than fufficient for the

Punifhment of Delinquents, and Reftraint of

Tyranny.
Unto the King, in Conjunction with his two

Houfes, according as is provided by the Law in

this Capacity of his, as maxime Rex, was the

Duty of Allegiance to be yielded by his Subjects

during the indifTolved State of that Parliament

:

For they were the King's great Council, and

Supreme Court, exercifing the known Power

and Privileges, that time out of mind have ap-

pertained to them, and been put forth by them,

as the Exigents of the Kingdom have required,

when Differences have happened about the very

Title of the Crown, in declaring the Duty of

the Subject, by yielding their Allegiance to

Kings de faSio, when Kings de jure have been

kept out of Poffeffion. This our Chronicles,

and the Hiftories of former times, do plentifully

inform.

The Caufes that did happen to move his late

Majefty to depart from his Parliament, and con-

tinue for many Years, not only at a diftance, and

in Disjunction from them, but at laft, in a de-

clared Pofture of Enmity and War againft them,

are fo well known, and fully ftated in Print (not

to fay, written in Charatlers of Blood) on both

parts, that I mall only mention it, and refer to

it.

This Matter was not done in a Corner : the

Appeals were folemn, and the Decifion by the

Sword was given by that God, who being the

Judge of the whole World, does right, and can-

not do otherwife.

By occafion of thefe unhappy Differences thus

happening, moft great and unufual Changes and

Revolutions, like an irrefiftible Torrent, did

break in upon us, not only to the disjointing

that Parliamentary AfTembly among themfelves

(the Head from the Members, the Co-ordinates

from each other, and the Houfes within them-

felves) but to the creating fuch formed Divisi-

ons among the People, and to the producing

fuch a general State of Confufion and Diforder,

that hardly any were able to know their Duty,

and with certainty to difcern who were to com-
mand, and who to obey. All things feemed to

be reduced, and, in a manner, refolved into their

firft Elements and Principles.

Neverthelefs, as dark as fuch a State might
be, the Law of England leaves not the Subject
thereof (as I humbly conceive) without fomc
Glimpfes of Direction what to do: in the cleav-

ing to, and purfuing of which, I hope I fhall

not be accounted nor adjudged an Offender; or
if I am, I fhall have the Comfort and Peace of
my Actions to fupport me in and under my great-

eft Sufferings.

The Relolutions of all the Judges in Calvin's

Cafe, entitled Pofi-nati, in the 7th Book of

Coke's Reports, and the learned Arguments
thereupon, afford me lnftruction even in this

Matter. It may be 'tis truly thence affirmed,

That Allegiance is due only to the King, and
how due, is alfo fhewed.

The King is acknowledged to have two Ca-
pacities in him ; one a natural, as he is defcend-
ed of the Blood Royal of the Realm 5 and the
Body natural he hath in this Capacity, is of the
Creation of Almighty God, and mortal. The
other is a politick Capacity, in refpect of which
he is a Body politick or myftical, framed by the

Policy of Man, which is immortal and invisible.

To the King, in both thefe Capacities conjoin'd,

Allegiance is due ; that is to fay, to the natural

Perfon of the King, accompanied with his po-
litick Capacity, or the politick appropriated to

the natural.

The politick Capacity of the King hath pro-
perly no Body nor Soul -

3 for it is framed by the
Policy of Man.

In all Indictments of Treafon, when any one
does intend the Death and Deftruction of the

King, it muft needs be underftood of his natu-

ral Body, the other being immortal. The In-

dictment therefore concludes contra Ligeantix

fu£ debitunt, againft the Duty of his Allegiance i

fo that Allegiance is due to the natural Body.
Admitting then, that thus by Law, Allegiance

is due to the King (as before recited) yet it is

always to be prefumed, that it is to the King in

Conjunction with the Parliament, the Law and
the Kingdom, and not in Disjunction from, or

Oppofition to them 5 and that while a Parlia-

ment is in being, and cannot be diffolved, but
by the Confent of the three Eftates.

This is therefore that which makes the Matter

'

in queftion, a new Cafe, that never before hap-

pened in the Kingdom, nor was poffible to hap-

pen, unlefs there had been a Parliament confti-

tuted, as this was, unfubjected to Adjournment,
Prorogation, or Diffolution, by the King's Will.

Where fuch a Power is granted, and the Co-
ordinates thereupon difagree and fall out, fuch

Effects and Confequents as thefe that have hap-

pened will but too probably follow. And if

either the Law of Nature or England inform not

in fuch Cafe, it will be impoffible for the Sub-
jects to know their Duty, when that Power and

Command which ought to flow from three in

conjunction, comes to be exercifed by all or

either of them, fingly and apart, or by two of

them againft one.

When new and never-heard-of Changes do-

fall out in the Kingdom, it is not likely that

the known and written Laws of the Land fhould

be the exact Rule ; but the Grounds and Rules

of Juftice, contained and declared in the Law
of Nature, are and ought to be a Sanctuary in

fuch Cafes, even by the very Common Law of

England; For thence originally fpring the uner-

ring
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ring Rules that are fet by the Divine and Eter-

nal Law, for Rule and Subjection in all States

and Kingdoms.

In Contemplation hereof as the Refolve of

all the Judges, it was agreed ;

I. that Allegiance is due to Sovereignty by the

Law of Nature; to wit, that Law which God,

at the Creation of Man, infufed into his Heart

for his Prefervation and Direction, the Law E-

ternal. Yet is it not this Law, as it is in the

Heart of every individual Man, that is binding

over many •, or Legiflativej but as it is the Act

of a Community, or an affociated People, by

the right Dictates arid Perfuafions of the Work
of this Law in their Hearts. This appears in

the Cafe of the Ifraelites, Judges, Chap, zo &
li, cited in the 4th Part of Coke's Jnftitutes,

where mention is made of a Parliament, with-

out a King, that made War, and that with then-

Brethren : They met as one Man to do it, in

Vindication of that Juftice unto which they

were obliged even by the Law of Nature. This

is that which Chancellor Fortefcue calls Political

Power here in England; by which, as by the

Ordinance of Man, in purfuance of the Ordi-

nance of God, the Regal Office is conftituted,

or the King's Politick Capacity, and becomes

appropriated to his natural Perfon.

Thus Politick Power is the immediate Efflux

and Offspring of the Law of Nature, and may

be called a Fart of it. To this, Hooker in his

Ecclefiafiical Polity agrees, and Selden on that Sub-

jed.

The Law of Nature, thus confidered, is part

of the Law of England, as is evident by all the

beft received Law-Books,- Braclon, Fleta, Lam-
bard upon the Saxon Laws, and Fortefcue in the

Praife of the Laws of England. This is the

Law that is before any judicial or municipal

Law, as the Root and Fountain whence thefe

and all Governments, under God and his Law,
do flow.

This Politick Power, as it is exereifed in

Conjunction with, and Conformity to the Eter-

nal Law, partakes of its moral and immutable

Nature, and cannot be changed by Act of Par-

liament. Of this Law it is that Magna Charta,

and the Charter of Foreft, with other Statutes re-

hearfed in the Petition of Right , are for the moft

part declaratory : For they are not introductive

of any new Law, but Confirmations of what
was good in all Laws of England before. This
agrees with that Maxim, Salus Populi fuprema

Lex ; that being made due and binding by this

Law, which in the Judgment of the Commu-
nity, declaring their Mind by their own free

chofen Delegates and Truftees in harmony with

the Eternal Law, appears profitable and necefla-

ry for the Prefervation and Good of the whole
Society.

This is the Law, which is put forth by the

common Confent of the whole Realm, in their

Reprefentative •, and (according to the fundamen-
tal Conftitutions of this Kingdom) is that with
which the Kings of this Land, by the joint Co-
operation of the three Eftates, do make and re-

peal Laws.
But through the Diforders and Divifions of

the Times, thefe two Powers, the Regal and Po-
litical, (which according to the Law of Eng-

|

land, make up but one and the fame fupreme
i Authority) felfaiunder, and found themfelves in

Disjunction from an Opposition to one another.

I do not fay the Qneftion is now, Which of
thefe is moft rightly (according to the Principles

of the Law of Nature, and the Law of England)
to be adhered unto and obeyed ? but unto whe-
ther Power Adherence is a Crime in fuch nn Ex-
igent of State? Which, fince it is fuch a new
and extraordinary Cafe, evidently above the
Track of the ordinary Rules, contained in the
pofitive and municipal Laws of England,' there
can be no Colour to bring it within the Statute

of 2f Ed. 5. cap. 1. forafmuch as all Statutes

prefuppofe thefe two Powers, Regal and Politi-

cal, in Conjunction, perfect Unity, and Subfer-
viency, which this Cafe docs not, Cannot admit,

So exceeding new and extraordinary a Cafe is it,

that it may be doubted whether, and quefiioncd

how far, any other Parliament, but that Parlia-

ment it felf that was privy to all its own Actings
and Intentions, can be an indifferent and com-
petent Judge. But however, the Point is of fo

abftrufe and high Confederation, as no inferior

Court can or ought to judge of it, as by Law-
Books is moft undeniable, to wit, Braclon, and
others.

This then being the true State of the Cafe,

and the Spring of thai Conteft that enfued, and
received its Decifion by the late War, the next
Confideration is, How far I have had my Share

and Part therein, that by the LaWs is not

warrantable, or by what appears in way of Proof
to the Jury.

For the firft, I fh-ill crave leave to give you
this Account of my felf, who have bell known
my own Mind and Intentions throughout, and
would not now, to fave my Life, renounce the

Principles of that righteous Caufe, which my
Confcience tells me was my Duty to be faithful

unto.

I do therefore humbly affirm, that in the a-

fore-mentioned great Changes and Revolutions,

from firft to laft, I was never a firft Mover, but
always a Follower, chufing rather to adhere to

Things than Perfons, and (where Authority was
dark or dubious) to do Things justifiable by the

Light and Law of Nature, as that Law was ac-

knowledge part of the Law of the Land ;

Things that are in fe bona, and fuch as, accord-

ing to the Grounds and Principles of the Com-
mon Law, as well as the Statutes of this Land,
would warrant and indemnify me in doing them.

For I have obferved by Precedents of former
Times, when there have arifen Difputes about

Titles to the Crown, between Kings de Faclo

and Kings de Jure, the People of this Realm
wanted not Directions for their Safety, and how-

to behave themfelves within the Duty and Li-

mits of Allegiance to the King and Kingdom,
in fuch difficult and dangerous Seafons.

My Lord Coke is very clear in this Point, in

his Chapter of treafons, fol. 7. And if it were
otherwife, it were the hardeft Cafe that could

be for the People of England : For then they

would be certainly cxpofed to Punifhment from

thofe that are in Poffeffion of the Supreme Pow-
er, as Traitors, if they do any thing agamffc

them, or do not obey them 3 and they would be

punifhable as Traitors by him that hath Right,

and is King de Jure, in cafe they do obey the

Kings de Facto : and fo ali the People of England

are necefTarily involved in Treafons, either a-

gainft the Powers de Faclo, or de Jure, and may
by
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by the fame Reafon be queflioned for it, as well

as the Prifoner, if the Act of Indemnity and the

King's Pardon did not free them from it. The
Security then and Safety of all the People of

England is by this means made to depend upon a

Pardon, (which might have been granted or de-

nied) and not upon the fure Foundations ofCom-
mon Law : An Opinion fure which (duly

weighed and confidered) is very ftrange, to fay

no more.

For I would gladly know that Perfon in Eng-

land of Eftate and Fortune, and of Age, that

hath not counfelled, aided, or abetted, either

by his Perfon or Eflate, and fubmittcd to the

Laws and Government of the Powers that then

were: And if fo, then by y.ur Judgments up-

on me, you condemn (in Effigies, and by necef-

fary Confequence) the whole Kingdom.
And if that be the Law, and be now known

to be fo, it is worth Confederation, whether if

it had been generally known and underitood be-

fore, it m>ght not have hindred his Majefty's

Refloration.

Befides, although, until this Judgment be

paifed upon me, the People have apprehended

themfelves as free from QuelKon, and out of

Danger, by reafon of the Act of Indemnity and

General Pardon j yet when it fhall appear to

them that fuch their Safety is not grounded on

the Common Law, nor upon the Law of Na-
ture, but that againft both thefe and their Actions

they are found faulty, and tainted with a moral

Guilt, and that as Principals alfo, (fince in T rea-

fon there are no AccefTaries) what terrifying Re-

flections mull this needs ftir up in the Mind of

every Man, that will be apt to believe his Turn
will come next, at leaft once in two Years j as

hath befallen me in my Perfon, who (however I

have been misjudged and mifunderftood) can tru-

ly affirm, That in the whole Series of my Ac-
tions, that which I have had in my Eye hath

been to preferve the ancient vvell-conttituted Go-
vernment of England on its own Bafis and primi-

tive righteous Foundations, moft, learnedly ftated

by Forte[cue in his Book made in praife of the

Englijb Laws. And I did account it the moft
likely Means for the effecting of this, to preferve

it, at leaft in its Root, whatever Changes and
Alterations it might be expofed unto in its

Branches, through the bluftrous and ftormy

Times that have pafTed over us.

This is no new Doctrine in a Kingdom ac-

quainted with Political Power, as Forte/cue fhews
ours is, defcribing it to be in effect the common
AfTent of the Realm, the Will of the People

or whole Body of the Kingdom, reprefented in

Parliament
-

. Nay, though this Reprefentation

(as hath fallen out) be reftrained for a Seafon to

the Commons Houfe, in their fingle Acting, in-

to which (as we have fetn) when by the inordi-

nate Fire of the Times, two of the three fi-

liates have for a Seafon been melted down, they

did but retire into their Root, and were not

hereby in their Right deftroyed, but rather pre-

ferved, though as to their Exercife laid for a while

aflcep, till the Seafon came of their Revival and

Reftoration

And whatever were the Intents and Defigns

of others, (wh<> are to ^ive an Account of their

own Actions) it is fufficient for me that at a

Time critical and decifive (though to my own
Hazard and ill Ufage) 1 did declare my Refufal

of the Oath of Abjuration, which was intended

to be taken by all the Members of Parliament,

in reference to Kingly Government, and the Line
of his now Majefty in particular. This I not
only pofitively refufed to take, but was an occa-
fion of the fecond Thoughts which the Parlia-

ment reafTumed thereof, till in a manner- they

came wholly at laft to decline it : A Proof un-
deniable of the Remotenefs of any Intentions

or Defigns of mine, as to the endeavouring a-

ny Alteration or Change in the Government ;

and was that which gave fuch Jealoufy to

many in the Houfe, that they were willing to

take the firft occafion to fhew their Diflike of
me, and to difcharge me from fitting among
them.

But to return to what I have before affirmed,

as to my being no leading or firft Actor in any
Change ; it is very apparent by my Deportment
at the Time when that great Violation of Pri-

vileges happened to the Parliament, fo as by
Force of Arms feveral Members thereof were
debarred coming into the Houfe, and keeping
their Seats there. This made me forbear to

come to the Parliament for the Space of ten

Weeks, (to wit, from the 3d of December 1648,
till towards the middle of February following)

or to meddle in any publick Tranfactions ; and
during that Time the Matter moft obvious to

Exception, in way of Alteration of the Govern-
ment, did happen. I can therefore truly fay,

that as I had neither Confent nor Vote at firft

in the Refolutionsof theHoufes, concerning the

Non-AddrefTes to his late Majefty, fo neither

had I in the leaft any Confent in, or Approba-
tion to his Death : But on the contrary, when
required by the Parliament to take an Oath, to

give my Approbation ex pofi facto to what "as
done, 1 utterly refufed, and would not accept

of fitting in the Council of State upon thofe

Terms, but occafioned a new Oath to be drawn,
wherein that was omitted. Hereupon many of

the Council of State fat, that would take the

other.

In like manner the Resolutions and Votes for

changing the Government into a Commonwealth
or Free State were palled, fome Weeks before

my Return to Parliament : Yet afterwards (fo

far as I judged the fame confonant to the Prin-

ciples and Grounds, declared in the Laws ofEng-
land, for upholding that Political Power which
hath given the Rile and Introduction in this Na-
tion to Monarchy it felf, by the Account of an-

cient Writers) I conceived it my Duty, as the

State of Things did then appear to me, (not-

withftanding the faid Alteration made) to keep

my Station in the Parliament, and to perform 1

my Allegiance therein to King and Kingdom, .

under the Powers then regnant, (upon my Prin-

ciples before declared) yielding Obedience to

their Authority and Commands. And having

received Truft in reference to the Safety and

Prefervation of the Kingdom, in thofe Times of

imminent Danger, (both within and without) I

did confeientioufly hold myfelf obliged to be ,

true and faithful therein. This I did upon a

publick Account, not daring to quit my Station

in Parliament by virtue of my firft Writ: Nor
was it for any private or gainful Ends to profit

my felf, or enrich my Relations. This may ap-

pear as well by the great Debt I have contiacted,

as by the deftitute Condition my many Children

are



662. B. R. for High-Treafon.

are in, as to any Provifion made for them. And
I do publickly challenge all Perfons whatfoever,

that can give Information of any Bribes or co-

vert Ways ufed by me, during the whole time

of my publick Acting. Therefore I hope it will

be evident to the Confciences of the Jury, that

what I have done, hath been upon Principles

of Integrity, Honour, Juftice, Reafon, and Con-

fcience, and not, as is fuggefted in the Indict-

ment, by Infiigation of the Devil, or Want of the

Fear of God.

A Second great Change that happened upon

the Conftitution of the Parliament, and in them

of the very Kingdom it felf, and the Laws there-

of, (to the plucking up the Liberties of it by the

very Roots, and the introducing of an arbitra-

ry Regal Power, under the Name of Protestor,

by Force and the Law of the Sword) was the

Ufurpation of Cromwell ; which I oppofed from

the Beginning to the End, to that Degree of

Suffering, and with that Conftancy, that well

near had coft me not only the Lofs of my E-

itate, but of my very Life, if he might have

had his Will, which a higher than he hun-

dred : Yet I did remain a Prifoner, under great

Hardfhips, four Months in an Ifland, by his

Orders.

Hereby, that which I have aflerted is mod
undeniably evident, as to the true Grounds and

Ends of my Adions all along, that we againft

Ufurpation on the one hand, or fuch extraordi-

nary Actings on the other, as I doubted the

Laws might not warrant or indemnify, unlefs I

were enforced thereunto by an over- ruling and

inevitable Neceffity.

The third confiderable Change was the total

difappointing and removing of the faid Ufurpa-

tion, and the returning again of the Members of

Parliament to the Exercife of their primitive and

original Truft, for the Good and Safety of the

Kingdom, fo far as the State of the Times would

then permit them ; being fo much, as they were,

! under the Power of an Army, that for fo long a

time had influenced the Government. Towards
i the Recovery therefore of Things again into

i

their own Channel, and upon the legal Root of

; the People's Liberties, to wit, their common
Confent in Parliament, given by their own De-

puties and Truftees, 1 held it my Duty to be a-

gain acting in publick Affairs in the Capacity of

a Member of the faid Parliament, then re-enter'd

upon the actual Exercife of their former Power,

or at leaft ftruggling for it. In this Seafon I

ihad the Opportunity of declaring my true Inten-

tions as to the Government, upon oceafion of

refuting the Oath of Abjuration before men-
tioned.

And whereas I am charged with keeping out

jhis Majefly that now is, from exercifing his Regal
(Power and Royal Authority in this his King-
dom ; through the Ill-will borne me by that part

jof the Parliament then fitting, I was dfcharged
from being a Member thereof about Jan. 9, i6fp,
and by many of them was charged, or at leaft

ftrongly fufpected, to be a Royalilt. Yea, I was
not only difcharged from my Attendance in Par-

liament, but confined as a Prifoner at my own
Houfe, fome time before" there was any vifible

iPower in the Nation that thought it feafonable

jto own the King's Intereft. And I hope my fit-

ting Hill will not be imputed as a Failure of Du-
ty, in the Condition of a Prifoner, and thofe Cir*
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cumftances I was then in. This I can fay, That
from the time I faw his Majefty's Declarations
from Breda, declaring his Intentions and Refa-
ctions as to his Return, to take upon him the

actual Exercife of his Regal Office in England,
and to indemni'y all thofe who had been Actors
in the late Differences and Wars, (as in the faid

Declaration doth appear) I refolved not to avoid
any publick Queftion, (if called thereto) as re-

lying on mine own Innocency, and his Majefty's
declared Favour, as before faid. And for the fu-

ture, I determined to demean my felf with that
Inoffenfivenefs and Agreeablenefs to my Duty,
as to give no juft Matter of new Provocation to
his Majefly in his Government. All this, for

my part, hath been punctually obferved, what-
ever my Sufferings have been. Nor am I wiling
in the leaft to harbour any difcouraging Thoughts
in my Mind as to his Majefty's Generofity and
Favour towards me, who have been faithful to

the Truft I was engaged in without any malici-
ous Intentions againft his Majefty, his Crown or
Dignity, as before hath been mewed* and I am
defirous for the future to walk peaceably and
blamelefly.

Whatever therefore my perfonal Sufferings
have been fince his Majefty's Reftoration, I ra-

ther impute them to the fa lie Reports and Ca-
lumnies of mine Enemies, and Misjudgers of my
Actions, than reckon them as any thing that
hath proceeded from his Majefty's proper Incli-

nation, whofe Favour and Clemency 1 have had
juft Reafon, with all Humility, to acknow-
ledge.

Firft, With regard to his Majefty's Speech,
made the 27th of July, 1660, in the Houfe of
Peers, wherein his Majefty exprefly declared
it to be no Intention of his that a Perfon un-
der my Circumftances fhould be excepted out
of the Act of Indemnity, either for Life or E-
ftate.

And Secondly, However it was the Parlia-

ment's Pleafure (my felf unheard, tho' then in

the Tower, and ready to have been brought be-
fore them) to except me out of the common In-

demnity, and fubject me to queftion for my A-
ctions, yet they themfelves of their own accord
(admitting the Poflibility that in fuch Qiieftion-

ing of me I might be attainted) made it their

humble Defire to his Majefty, that in fuch Cafe
Execution, as to my Life, might be remitted.

Upon this his Majefty readily gave his Grant and
Affent. And I do firmly believe, if the Houfes
had pleafed to give me the Opportunity and
Leave of being heard, they would never have
denied me the Indemnity granted to the reft of

the Nation.

That which remains of further Charge yet to

me is the Bufinefs of a Regiment, an Employ-
ment which, I can in truth affirm, mine own
Inclinations, Nature, and Breeding, little fitted

me for, and which was intended only as honou-
rary and titular, with relation to Volunteers,

who, by their Application to the Council of

State, in a Time of great Commotions, did

propound their own Officers, and (without any

feeking of mine, or not confidering any farther

of it, than as the ufeof my Name) did (among

others) nominate me for a Colonel, which the

Council of State approved, granting Commif-
fions to my felf, and all other Officers relating

thereunto j and the Parliament confirmed my
M m m faid
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faid Commiffion, upon Report thereof made to

them.
This will appear by feveral WitnefTes I have

to produce in this Matter, that will be able to

affirm how little I took upon me, or at all, to

give any Orders, or make ufe of fuch my Com-
miffion, any otherwife than in Name only.

'Tis true, indeed, that at a certain time,

when I was fummoned to appear at the Com-
mittee of the Mil:tia in Southwark, whereof I

was a Member, that which was called my own
Company of Foot (from theRefpect which they

and their Officers pretended to me) were defi-

rous to be in a Pollure fit for me to fee them ;

and as I pafTed by, I took the Opportunity, at

their Defire, to [hew my felf to them, and on-

ly (as taking notice of their Refpect) in fome

few Words, expreffing the Reafon I had to re-

ceive it in good part, I told them I would no

longer detain them from their other Occafions.

After I was gone from them, I appointed my
Captain-Lieutenant to give them from me fome-

thing to drink, as might be fitting on fuch an

Occafion, which, to my beft Remembrance,
was five Pounds > and he laid it out of his own
Money.
More than this (as I remember) was not done

by mej fo much as to the feeing any more the

Companies of that Regiment gathered together,

or giving Orders to them : Which I publickly

and avowedly declined, perfuading the Officers

to lay down their Charges in mine own Exam-
ple, fo foon as I difcerned the Intentions of the

fitting down of the Committee of Safety, and

the exorbitant Power committed to them to

exercife, and the way of Proceedings by the

Army, in interefting themfelves in the Civil

Government of the Nation, which I utterly dif-

liked.

And although I forbore not to keep my Sta-

tion, in reference to the Council of State, while

they fat, or as a Commiffioner of the Admiral-
ty, during the time by them appointed to act by
Parliamentary Authority, and fo had occafion to

be daily converfant with the Members of the

Committee of Safety, (whereof my felf, with o-

thers that would not accept, were named j) yet

I perfectly kept my felf difinterefted from all

thofe Actings of the Army, as to any Confent
or Approbation of mine, (however, in many
Things, by way of Difcourfe, I did not decline

Converfe with them) holding it my Duty to

penetrate as far as I could into their true Inten-

tions and Actions j but refolving within my felf

to hold true to my Parliamentary Truft in all

Things wherein the Parliament appeared to me
to act for the Safety and Good of the Kingdom.
However, I was mifinterpreted, and judged by
them as one that rather favoured fome of the
Army, and their Power.
Upon the whole Matter, there is not any Pre-

cedent that ever both or either of the Houfes of
Parliament did commit Treafon : For tho' Pri-

vilege of Parliament does not fo hold in Trea-
fon, but that particular Members may be punifh-

ed for it, yet it is unprecedented, that both or
either Houfes of Parliament, as a collective Bo-
dy, ever did or could commit Treafon.

All the Acts done in Parliaments have been
reverfed indeed, and repealed, as what was done
ii Ric. z was repealed zi Ric. z and what was
done zi Ric. z. was repealed i Hen. 4. 3. as ap-

pears by the printed Statutes : Yet I do not find

that both or either Houfe of Parliament were
declared Traitors for what they did in thofe Par-

liaments} or that any which acted under them
fuffered for the fame in any inferior Courts. And
furely the Reafon is obvious : For they had a

Co-ordinancy in the Supreme or Legiflative

Power for the making, altering, and repealing

Laws. And if fo, par in parern non habet impe~

rium. And by Authorities out of Braclon, Fleta,

and others, it may appear what Superiors the

King himfelf hath, (who yet hath no Peer in

his Kingdom, nifi Curiam Baronum), God, Law,
and Parliament.

And it either or both Honfes cannot commit
Treaf >n, then thofe that act by their Authority

cannot: For, plus peccat Author quam jiclor, the

Author offends more than the Actor. If thofe

that command do not, nor can commit Treafon,

how can thofe that act by their Authority be

guilty of it?

Further, I muft crave leave to afTert, by rea-

fon of what I fee opened upon the Evidence,

that what is done in Parliament, or by their

Authority, ought not to be queftioned in any
other Court : For every Offence committed in

any Court, muft be punifhed in the fame, or in

fome higher, and not any inferior Court. Now
the Court of Parliament hath no fuperior Court,

as is faid in Cokeh Jurifdiclion of Courts. And the

Reafon there given that Judges ought not to

give any Opinion in a Matter of Parliament, is,

Becaufe it is not to be decided by the Common
Laws, but fecundum Legem £5? Confuetudinem Par-

liament}. This the Judges in divers Parliaments

have confeffed. And that Reafon is not to be

waved which the Lord Coke gives, That a Man 1

can make no Defence ; for what is faid and a-

cted there, is done in Council, and none ought
to reveal the Secrets of the Houfe

h
Every

Member hath a judicial Voice, and can be no

Witnefs.

June the nth.

After the cuftomary Formalities of the Court,

The Clerk demanded of Sir Henry Vane what

he had to fay why Sentence of Death fliould not

be parTed upon him?
Sir Henry Vane fi'rft alledged, That he had not

yet heard the Indictment read in Latin. The
Debate upon this took up fome Time: At

length fome of the King's Counfel defired that

the Prifoner might be fatisfied in that Point.

Sir Henry defired that Counfel then might alfo i

be affigned him, to make Exceptions thereto, 1

if they found Caufe ; otherwife he valued not

)

the hearing of it read in Latin. This was over- r

ruled by the Court : He foon therefore defifted 1

from any further urging it.

The next thing Sir Henry offered in his own

Defence was the Bill of Exceptions, which he

brought with him ready drawn, and offered it

to the Judges, defiring them, according to the

Statute of IVejlm. z. 51. made 1} Edw. i.to

fign it. This he urged fo home, that the Sta-

tute was confuked and read in open Court, run-

ning in favour of the Prifoner to this effect,

Thai if any Man find himfelf aggrieved by the Pro~

ceedings againfl him before any Ju/iices, let hint

write his Exception, and defire the Jujlices to fet

their Seals to it. ' This Act was made (lays Coke)

* that I
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* that the Party wronged might have a Founda-

* tion for a legal Procefs againft the Juttices by

' a Writ of Error, having his Exception entred

« upon Record in the Court where the Injury is

« done, which through the Juftices over-ruling

* it they could not before procure, Co the Par-

« ty grieved was without Remedy ; for whofe

« Relief this Statute was made. The Juftices

« refufing to fet their Seals, the Party grieved

« may hive a Writ grounded on this Statute,

* commanding them to fet their Seals to his Ex-
1 ception. This Exception extends not only to

* all Pleas dilatory and peremptory, &V. but to

* all Challenges of any Jurors, and any material

» Evidence, given to any Jury, by which the

•Court is over-ruled.' As in this Pnfoner's

Cafe, theTeftimony about falfifying of his Hand

to Writing', &V. was, by what was offered to

the Jury by Jufiice Wwdbam.
Further, lavs Coke on this Statute, ' If the Ju-

* ftice (or JufticeO die, their Executors or Ad-
' miniftrators may be proceeded againft. for the

' Injury done. And if the Judge forjudges,) deny

« to feal the Exception, the Party wronged may
* in the Writ of Error take I flue thereupon, if

' he can prove by Witnefles the Judge or Judges
' denied to feal it.

Notwithftanding all this, the Judges over-

ruled this Plea alfo, by fuch Interpretation as

„ , themfelves put upon that Statute,
eyng

"

' 5-
to wit, That it was not allowable

I in criminal Cafes for Life. This makes the Law
; lefs careful for the Prefervation of a Man's Life,

than any Particulars of his Eftate, in Contro-

'verfies about which this Statute is affirmed by

them to hold. Whereas Life is the greater, and

innocent Blood, when fpilt, is irreverfible , as

to the Matter, it cannot be gathered up again;

'The Eftate is the lefler ; and if an erroneous

Judgment pafs about it, 'tis reverfible upon Tra-

verfe, Writ of Error, or otherwife.

The Reafon they alledged for their pretended

Opinion was this, That if it be held in criminal

iCafes for Life, every Felon in Newgate might

plead the fame, and fo there would be no Goal-

Delivery.

Sir Henry anfwered, His Cafe was not the Cafe

•of common Felons, alledging the Grant of his

JVlajefty to the Petition of both Houfes for his

Life, in cafe he fhould be attainted. There is

no need therefore fure (faid he) of fearing the

Confequence of fpinning out the Time a little

with a Perfon in his Circumftances. Befides,

(he faid,) he had been a Prifoner two Years, and

mever called on to give any Account of himfelf

and his Actions, (fo is it not with Felons ;)

kvhich, with other Confederations, may fuffici-

ntly evince that there is no need of fuch halfen-

mg his Death. He told them withal, That he

.defired not this for his own Sake only, but for

theirs, and for Pofterity j that they might, on

a more leifurely and unprejudiced hearing of

what may be laid on all hands, prevent the

bringing of innocent Blood upon themlelves and

the Land.

But being in this alfo over-ruled by the

Court, (fay what he would) he only defired he

might underftand whether they would all give it

as their common Judgment they would Hand to,

That what he defired was not his Due by the

"aw? By this means they were all put upon
t, one by one, to declare themlelves in that

Vol. II.
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Point, unanimoufly denying him the Benefit of
that Aft. To the By-ftanders their chief Reafon
feemed to be, That it had not been practiced

this hundred or two of Years.
The third thing Sir Henry defired was, That

the Petition of both Houfes, with his Maiefty's
Anfwer thereunto, might be read in the Court j

which, after fome Difpute, was concluded to be
a thing they were not bound to take notice of,

not being an Act of Parliament. Yet what is

any Act of Parliament, but a Bill p relented with
the Petition of both Houfes to hisMajefty, with
his Royal Affent thereto, upon publick Record ?

At length they condefcended to read it ; and that

was all.

The fourth and lift thing Sir Henry Vane of-

fered to the Confideration of the Bench was'

this, That in regard there were Queftions touch-
ing Matter of Law in his Cafe, which muft
receive their Determination in Parliament, he
defired he might have Counfel affigned him, to
argue them before their Lordfhips. Some of
thefe Points he inftanced in, to wit,

i. Whether a Parliament were accountable to

any inferior Court?

I". Whether the King, being out ofPofleflion,

and the Power Regent in others,

Here they ftopp'd him, not fuffering him to
proceed, nor admitting that the King was ever
out of Poffeflion. To which Sir Henry replied,

The Words of his Indictment ran thus, That he
endeavoured to keep out his Majefiy ; and how could
he keep him out of the Realm, if he were not
out?

But when he faw they would over-rule him in

all, and were bent upon his Condemnation, he
put up his Papers, appealing to the Righteous
Judgment of God, who (he told them) muft
judge them as well as him, often expreffing his

Satisfaction to die upon this Teitimony ; which
Keeling, one of the King's Counfel, infultingly

anfwered, So you may, Sir, in good time, by the

Grace of God. The fame Perfon had often be-
fore fhewed a very fnappifh Property towards
the Prifoner} and Sir Henry fometimes anfwer-
ed him according to his Folly : For when he
would have had the Book out of the Prifoner's

Hand, wherein was the Statute of Wefiminfler^
2d. C. } I ;

Sir Henry told him, he had a very officious

Memory, and when he was of Counfel for him, he

would find him Books. ( Whereby was verified

what was faid to be fpoken by him, at firft, in

anfwer to one of his Brethren, on the Arraign-
ment-Day, Though we know not what to fay to him,
we know what to do with him.)

[The Bill of Exceptions, tranjlated out of
the beji Latin Form the 'Prifoner could pro-

cure ; no Council learned in the Law da-

ring to qfjijl him in thofe Circumftances,

without Alignment from the Court, which

was

Firft, Concerning my Imprifonment

.

(i.) T Shall here mention my Entrance into this

X new Scene of Sufferings under the pre-

fent Power (after my having been handled at Will

and Pleafure, under the fix Years Ufurpation of

M m m 2 Cromwell)
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Cromwell) which I conceive not to have been at

all according to the Law of the Land, as may

appear by the 2pth Chap, of Magna Charta t
and

Coke upon it, with many other Statutes and

Law-Books : In all which it appears that the

Law of England is fo tender, not to fay curious,

in providing for the Subject's Liberty, that he

is not to fufFer the leaft Reftraint, Confinement

or Imprifonment, but by the lawful Judgment

of his Peers, or by the Law of the Land. Con-

trary to all which, I was committed at mere

Will and Pleafure, and have been detained clofe

Prifoner thefe two Years, without any Caufe

fpecified, or any particular Crime laid to my
Charge.

Secondly, Concerning Tranfaclions at the GrandJury.

(z.) The Grand Jury of Middlesex, without

my Privity, Knowledge or Prefence, (after I had

been kept a clofe Prifoner two full Years) did

meet, take the Depofitions of WitnefTes, and

find the Bill againft me, which inevitably ex-

pofed me to a Trial at the King's-Bench Bar,

for I knew not what: whereas Major Rolf and

others have had the Right of Englijhmen granted

them, to be prefent at the Grand Jury's Pro-

ceedings; yea, and to have Counfel alfo prefent

to plead any thing in a way of Reafon or Law,

for invalidating the Teftimony, or difabling the

Witneffes, whereby the Indictment hath been

immediately quafh'd -, and fo the Party accufed

delivered from any Shadow of Infamy, by fo

much as appearing in the Circumftances of a

Malefactor at any publick Bar of Juftice.

That this Prifoner had great need of that Pri-

vilege of being prefent himfelf, or having Coun-

fel and other Friends prefent at the Grand Jury,

will appear hereafter, by the fubdolous and inju-

rious handling of Matters there.

Thirdly, Concerning the Jurifdiclion of the Court.

(3.) The Offences fuppofed to be committed

by me, are things done not of my own Head,

but as a Member of the Long Parliament, or in

purfuance of their Authority. The Matters

done by me, in the one refpect or other, if they

be deemed Offences, arc punifhable only in Par-

liament j and I ought not to be queftioned for

them in any inferior Court, as Coke fhews in the

4th Part of his lnflitutes, chap. 1. concerning

the High Court of Parliament. For the Parlia-

ment is not confined in their Actings by the

Law, which inferior Courts are tied up to; but

in divers Cafes are privileged to act extraordi-

narily and unaccountably to any but themfelves,

or fucceeding Parliaments. Moreover, that Par-

liament was extraordinarily commiflioned, quali-

fied and authorized byexprefs Act of Parliament,

beyond all preceding Parliaments, for the Caufes

and Ends declared in the Preamble of the Act

for their Eflablifhmenr, accorded and pafTed by

the joint Confent of King, Lords and Commons,
whereby they became unfubjected to Adjunrn-

ment, Prorogation or DifTolution, but by then-

own refpe&ive voluntary Contents, to be by

them expreffed and pafTed for that purpofe, with

the Royal Affentj which occalioned his late.

Majefty in his Anfwer to the Nineteen Propo-

rtions, to fay, That the Power hereby legally

placed in both Houfes, was more than fufficient tu

prevent and reftrain the Power of Tyranny.

And further, the bringing of this Cafe under

the Jurifdiclion of this Court, or of sny other

but a Parliament, may prove of very dangerou3

Confequence, in point of Precedent, and moffc

difagreeing to all Rules ofJuftice. For,
Firft, By the fame Reafon that I am queftion-

ed in this Court, not only every Member of

Parliament, but the very Houfes themfelves,

with all their Debates, Votes and Orders, may
not only be queftioned, but referred to a Petty-

Jury, and fo come to be judged and fentene'd by
a Court inferior to themfelves ; which Judges ira

all times have difclaimed and acknowledged]

to be out of their power, according to the
known Rule, Par in pares non habet imperium^

multo minus in eos qui majus imperium habent.

Secondly, in fuch cafe the Parties accufed

will be debarred of Evidence or Witnefs for their

Jullification and Defence. For no Members,
cjiV. prefent at Debates in Parliament, (who arc

the only Eye and Ear- Witneffes of what is faid

and done there) ought to dilcover the Counfels

of the Houfe.

Fourthly, Concerning the IndiSment..

1 . I have not been permitted to have a Copy
or Sight of the Indictment, nor fo much as tot

hear it read in Latin, which is the original Re-
cord of the Court, and ought to be the Foun-
dation of their whole Proceeding with me. t

often defired thefe things of the Court; yea, or

at leaft to have but the Tranfcripts of fome par-

ticular Claufes in the Indictment, to enable me
to fhew the Deficiencies thereof in Law, (all

which, others in fuch Cafes have often obtained)

but nothing would be granted herein.

This then was my hard Lot and Ufage; I

was put (after two Years clofe Imprifonment) to

anfwer for my Life to a long Indictment read in

Englifh, which whether it were rightly tranf-

lated how mould I know, that might not hear

the original Record in Latin ? Counfel alfo learn-

ed in the Law were denied me, though preifed

for by me again and again, before I pleaded.

And had they been granted, what could they

have faid as to Defects of Law in the Indictment,

unlefs they might have a Copy of it ? What can

any Couniel fay to any petty Bufinefs concerning

any part of a Man's Eftate that's in Controverfy,

unlets they may have a leifurely View and Perufal

of the Writings thereabouts? Much more furc 1

will it appear requifite to the Reafon of all Man-
kind, when a Man's whole Eftate, Life and all, .

are at flake. 'Tis true, before I pleaded, this

Court promifed I fhould have Counfel afugned

me after pleading, {God furfend elfe, faid the

Lord Chief Juftice) but 'tis as true, I never

could yet fee that Promife made good. All

things tending to a fair Trial were promifed me
in general before pleading, but every material

Particular for the juft Defence of my Life, hath

been denied me ever fince. And my Trial for

Life was huddled up the next Day of my appear-

ing before you : The Jury (as was told me) muft

not eat nor drink till they had done their

Work : (Co the more than forty Jewry- Men that

refolved to kill Paul, Acts xxiii. 2,1.) " But why
fuch liafte and Precipitancy for a Man's Lite,

that's
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that's more than Meat or Eftate, when you can

let Civil Caufes about Mens Eftates depend

many Years? And if an erroneous Judgment be

paffed in fuch Matters, 'tis reverfible; but if in-

nocent Blood be fpilt, it cannot be gathered up

again, as the wife Woman of tekoah faid, i Sam.

t. But Secondly then, as to Defects in the

Indictment, which I was in fome meafure ena-

bled to obierve from that broken hearing there-

of, that was afforded me here in the Court; I

fay there are many, and thofevery considerable :

and by the Law of England I ought not to have

been urged to plead or make anlwer to fuch an

illegal and defective Indictment.

i. There is no fufficient Overt- Act therein al-

ledged of the Prifoner's imagining the King's

Death, or that he had any the lean: Intention

that way.
1. The Levying of a War is alledged in South-

ward and cannot therefore be tried by a Jury of

Middlefex, Dyer, fvl. 2.2.4. and the 3d Part of

Coke's Inflitutes, fol 2.4.

5. There is Uncertainty and Obfcurity in the

main thing alledged againlt me in the Indict-

ment; to wit, That /, together with a Multitude

of Perfons, to the Number of a thoufand, unknown

to the Jury, <kc. whereas no criminal Act can

be tried that is not certain ; Certa res debet effe,

qu<£ dsducitur in Judicium.

4. The Treafon laid to my charge, is alledged

to have been committed with a Multitude of

other falfe Traitors, which were pardoned by

the Act of Indemnity : fuch fuppofed Crimes

therefore of theirs cannot be remembred or al-

ledged, without a mauifeft Breach of the Act of

Indemnity and Oblivion.

The Indictment is, or ought to be founded on

fome Claufe or Branch of if Edw. 3. chap. z.

but no fuch Overt-Act is alledged in the Indict-

ment, or proved by Witneffes, as doth difcover

that I had any Intention to kill, depofe, or hold

out the King from the Poffeffion and Exercife of

his Regal Power.
Whereas I am accuftd of compaffng or imagin-

ing the Death ofthe King, this mult be underilood

of his natural or perional, not politick Capacity

,

for in this latter Senfe the Law fays, The King

cannot die.

Firft then, to compafs only the DepoGtion of

the King, is not wuhin the words of that Sta-

tute (feveral Kings have been depofed by Par-

liaments fince the Conquell) and as to my com-

paring or defigning the natural Death of the

'.King's Perfon, with what Colour can I be ac-

t:uted of fuch Intentions, in the Circumftances

the King at that time was in beyond the Seas?

Secondly, The affembling or Men together,

without any Hoililty or Injury offered to any

Perfon, but f >r a Man's own Security and De-
fence in a time of Confufion and Detraction, is

!*ot Levying War, or Treafon at the Common
Law, or by that Statute. Yea, in this Cafe,

and at the Seafon wherein fuch an Act as this is

alledged, it might be fuppofed to be done for

the King's Reftoration, as well as in oppofition

thercuivo; and the molt favourable and advan-

tageous Construction ought to be made and put

upon the Prifoner's Actings or Words, where
there is Ambiguity, fo that they may be takjn

or interpreted divers ways. For the Law al-

\v,.j s preiumeth Actions to be innocent, till the
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contrary be manifellly proved. However, in a

time of Vacancy or an Interregnum, when the
Foundations of Government are out of courfe,

by the Law of Reafm, Nature, and common
Irudence, every Man may ftand upon his own
Guard, endeavouring his own Security and Pro-;

tcction from Injury and Violence.
Thirdly, To be adherent to the King's Ene-

mies within his Realm, &v. cainot, ought not
to be underftood of any Adhefion to a Parlia-

ment, wherein the King by Law is fuppofed
always prefent, as a Part thereof. Nor can the
Long Parliament be called the King's Enemies,
without overthrowing the Act of Indemnity,
which the King harh declared to be the Foun-
dation of the Nation's prefent Peace and Se^
curity.

Laftly, The Treafons alledged in the Indict-

ment are faid to have been committed when the
King was out of Poffeffion: So the Indictment
runs, to keep out the King, &c. Now my Lord
Coke in the third Part of his Inflitutes, fol. 7.
faith, A King de jure, and not de facto, is not

within the Statute ; againft fuch a one no treafon
can be committed. For if there be a King regnant

in Poffeffion, though he be Rex de facto, and not

de-jure, yet he is Seigneur le Roy, within the

Purvieu of this Statute; and the other that hath
Right, and is out of Poffeffion, is not within this.

Acl. Nay, if treafon be committed againft a King
de facto, & non de jure, and after the King de
jure cometh to the Crown, he Jhall puniflo the trea-

fon done to the King de facto.

And after, in the fame Place he faith, that by

Law there is always a King, in whofe Name the

Laws are to to be maintained and executed, other-wife

Juftice would fail. The Act alfo of 11 Hen. 7.
was made for Security of the Subject on this be-
half. The word King alfo may and ought to be
taken largely for any Sovereign Power in a King
or Queen, as Coke in the place fore-quoied
fhews ; and why not by the fame Reafon, in a
Protector, though an Ufurper, or any other Per-
fons, one or more, in whom Sovereginty is lodged,
or that have all the Badges of .Sovereignty j as

the calling of Parliaments, enacting of Laws,
coining of Money, receiving foreign Ambaffa-
dors, &c. His Majefty that now is, is granted
by the very Indictment to have been then out of

Poffeffion : If fo, then was there either fome 0-

ther King, or what was equivalent, fome Sove-
reign Power in actual Poffeilion and Exercife,

or none. If the former, then was there a King
de fatlo, fo no Treafon could be committed a-

gainft him that was King de jure only : if the
latter, then the Government was diffolved, no
Allegiance was due to any Perfons, and fo no
Offence could be properly Treaion within the

Statute.

But had the late Protector had the Name and

Style of a King, no Treafon could have been

committed againft the King de ju,reor.\y. Now
God forbid that you mould give away my Life

upon fuch Niceties, becaufe an ufurping Pro-

tector was not clothed with the Title as well as

Power of a King. The Protector or any Ufur-

per's taking or not taking the Title of a King,

in cafe he have the Power, cannot alter the

State of my fuppofed Crime. You ought not to

be biaffed by popular Reports concerning me.

'Tis eaher to be innocent, than fo reported : the

one is in our own power, not the other.

Fifthly*
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Fifthly, Concerning the Evidence.

i. No Allegation was directly proved by two

pofitive lawful WitneiTcs, as in this Cafe it ought

to be.

z. One of the Witneffes for the King confel-

fed in open Court, That to his knowledge my
Hand had been counterfeited, to my Prejudice

and Damage, in great Sums of Money j yet Or-

ders pretended to be figned by me, (wherein my
Hand may as well be counterfeited) are taken as

Evidence againft me.

3. The IfTue of the whole Caufe depended on

the Solution of fome difficult Queftions of fo

high a Nature, and great Importance, as could

not fafely be determined but in the High Court

of Parliament: As,

i. Whether the Long Parliament calkd in No-
vember 1540, were dijfolved by the late King's

Death?
1. tt'hether the fucceftive remaining Powers that

exercifed the Royal Supreme Authority from 1648,

to the Refloration of his now Majefty, were not

within the true Senfe and Meaning of if Edvv. III.

and 11 Hen. VII.

[Reafons for an Arrejl of 'Judgment, 'writ by

the Prifoner, but rejujed to be heard by

the Court.]

I. I Have been denied Co much as to hear the

1 Indictment read in Latin, as it is the origi-

nal Record of the Court} yea, fo much as a

Copy of it in EngliJJj hath been denied me du-

ring the whole Time of my Trial ; by the

Sight whereof I might be able to aflign the De-
fects of Law that may be in it.

Counfel alfo hath been denied, not only be-

fore I pleaded, but after; and all Points by me
offered in Law to the Judges of the Court have

been over-ruled, without admitting me Counfel

to argue the fame, and better inform the Judg-
ment of the Court, I have demanded that I

might put in a Bill of Exceptions upon the Sta-

tute of IVeftminfl. 1 cap. 31. This likewife is de-

nied me, over-ruled, and judged as out of that

Statute. Neither will Counfel be allowed me
in this, to (hew Caufe why it ought to be ad-

mitted as of Right. And as no Counfel was al-

lowed, fo neither were the Judges Counfel to

me, as they f.iid themfelves they would and ought
to be, but rather fuffered me to wrong and pre-

judice my felf ; fome of them faying, Let him
go on, the worfl will be his own at Iaft. And they

neither checked nor reftrained the King's Coun-
fel in their high and irritating Exprefiions to the

Jury, to find me guilty : one of whom was feen

to fpeak privately with the Foreman of the Ju-
ry, immediately before the Jurors went from the

Bar, after he had fpoken openly, That the Pri-

foner was to be made a publick Sacrifice, in refe-

rence to the Actions done againft his Majefty that

now is.

All this is very far from that Indifferency in

Trial, and from that Equality which the Law
requires, and they are bound by their Oath to

afford me ; befides the undue Proceedings in the

Bufinefs of the Petty Jury. A Lilt of forty

eight Perfons was prefented to me, who being

to me unknown, and no Time allowed me to

gain any Knowledge of them, though I was
permitted to challenge, and refufe three Juries,

without ihewing Caufe, yet could not that Re*

fufal be upon fuch rational Grounds as the Law
fuppofes, which doubtlefs intends fubftantial Re-

lief to the Prifoner, in allowing him the Liber-

ty of fuch Refufal ; whereas, through my igno-

rance of the Perfons, I might refufe the beft,

and chufe the worft, as to my Safety. And then

whereas the Law further allows me the Refufal

of any other beyond the thirty five, on jult and

exceptionable Caufe fhewn, what juft Exception

was I capable to alledge in a fudden Hurry a-

gainft Perfons to me altogether unknown, unlefs

it would be taken for a juft one, That they were
unknown to me ?

All thefe Things being fo contrary to the

Right which the Judges itand obliged to do to

every one, as they are for that purpofe intrufted

by God and the King, is juft Caufe for an Ar-
reft of Judgment, and a good Reafon why they

fhould yet at length allow me a Copy of the In-

dictment, and aflign Counfel to argue for the

Prifoner againft the Defects in Law that may be

found therein. Without this, Law is denied

me, which is my Birthright and Inheritance;

the belt Birthright a Subject hath, fays Coke on
Magna Charta : for thereby (fays he) his Goods,

Lands, Wife, Children, his B'ody, Life, Ho-
nour, and Eftimation, are protected from Injury.

The Life, Birthright, or Inheritance, we have

from our Parents, may foon be gone, if this

Fence thereof be broken down. How great a

Wrong then it is for the Court to withhold it

from me, is manifeft. Are they not therefore

in effect chargeable with my Blood, by fuch

unequal Proceedings as I have had in my Trial?

If. My fecond Reafon for an Arreft of Judg-
men is drawn from the IfTue that is joined in

my Cafe, which feems to depend chiefly upon
Matter of Law ; and that in fuch tender and

high Points, as are only determinable in the

High Court of Parliament.

For it is become the Queftion, Whether I am
guilty or not guilty, according as thefe Propo-

fitions following are truly or erroneoufly re-

folved.

1. Whether the Parliament, that began No-
vember 3, 1640, were diffblved by the King's

Death? And whether this Court may judge

things done in Parliament?

1. Whether the Powers regnant, and defablo,

that fucceflively were in being, from Jan 30,

1048, to Decemb. 10, l6f9, were fuch Powers,

de facto, as are the King, or Seigneur le Roy,

within the Purview of the Statute of if Edw.

3, having the Exercife of Regal Power in all

the Particulars of it, though not the Name?
3. Whether during that time fore-mentioned,

his Majefty that now is were properly King de

faclo? Or whether he were not out of Poffeflion,

and without all Exercife of his Regal Authority

within the Realm ?

4. Whether the Cafe now in queftion be a

Treafon literally within the words of the Sta-

tute if Edw. 3. or at moft, any other than an

interpretative and new Treafon, not declared be-

fore the very time of my Trial ; and that only

by the Judgment of the Court, or Opinion of

my Judges, eleven Years after fome of the things

charged
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charged . on mc, are alledged to have been com-

mitted ?

As for ti he firfl ofthefe, the Act for Continuance

of the Lot. 'g Parliament is exprefs; 'That all and

every thing or things whatfover, done or to be done,

for the Jdjo urnment, Proroguing, or Dijfolvmg of

that Parlian lent, contrary to that Atl, fhall be ut-

terly void ant. ' of none effetl. I then thus argue :

_

The Judg ss do upon occafion of this Tri.il

refolve, Th; it the King's Death diffolv'd that

Parliament. 1 ^o Act of Parliament hath yet de-

clared it to bt ' fo ; and the Judges ought to have

fome Law fo. r their Guide, as Coke well fays.

To be fure, if in procefs of time the Parliament

fhall expreily declare, That not the King's

Death, but th e Ad for the Diflolution of that

Parliament, dit 1 diflblve it ; in fuch cafe, thefe

Judges Refoluti'on by virtue of fuch Act is ab-

folutely void. But innocent Blood in the mean

time rmy be fl'ied, and an Eitate wrongfully

taken away. A nd in cafe what the Judges af-

fert herein, were Law, 'tis Law not known or

declared till many Years after the Fact commit-

ted. At this rate, who is fecure of Eftate or

Life ?

As to the fecond and third Queries or Propo-

fitic«ns, it does appear out of the third part of

Goks*s Inftitutes, fol. 7. and the Statute 1 1 Hen. 7.

cap. I. that Actings for the King in FaM, are not

to be queftion'd by the King in Right. If it be

faid, 'That there was no King in this cafe; it

may be replied, That they who had the Power

and Exercife of the Royal Jurifdiction, as to

Peace and War, Coinage of Money, Power of

Life and Death, &c. which are the higheft En-
figns of Regal Authority, rauft needs be the

Powers regnant, though not under the name of

King, as are within the Statute of if Ediu. 3.

cap. 2. as a Queen alfo is adjudg'd, and any So-

vereign Prince, though under the Title only of

Lord, as was the Cafe of Ireland before it was

a Kingdom. And if fo, why not in more fuch

Perfons as well as one, that de fatlo exercife the

Royal Power and Sovereign Authority, under

what Name or Title foever? If upon this

Nicety, Judgment be given againft me, becaufe

the Powers regnant wanted the Name and For-

mality of a King, I fhall doubtlefs have very

hard meafure. For the Reafon and Equity is

the fame, if the Powers regnant had the Thing,
though not the Title. And where there is the

fame Reafon, there is the fame Law, as is a

known Rule. Now there is the fame Reafon
the Subject fhould be equally indemnified, that

acteth under any Sovereign Authority that hath

not the Name of a King, as if it had. If there

had been many Kings, as a Heptarchy hath been

in England heretofore, thofe would have been
underftood to be within the Statute; and the

Reafon and Equity of the Statute is the fame in

all Cafes. For the Law is made for the Benefit

and Security of the Subject, whom the Law
requires not to examine the Right of Sove-
reignty. Nor is the Danger lefs under one Go-
vernment than another.

The Stature is, for fecuringthe Subjects from
all dormant Titles, that they may fafely pay
their Allegiance when they receive Protection,

and that they may not be in danger of being de-

ftroy'd by two Powers at the fame time. For
that Power which is fupreme and de fablo, will

be obey'd, and make it Treafon to do other-

wife, be it right or wrong. And if the Sub-
ject be at the fame time in danger of commit-
ting Treafon againft the Power de jure, then is

he in a miferable Condition, and State of una-
voidable Neceflity, which is provided againft
by the Laws of the Land. Otherwife, if he be
loyal to the King de jure, he fhall be hanged by
the King de fatlo 5 and if he be faithful to the
King de fatlo, he fhall die by the King de jure,
when he recovers PofTeffion.

Againft this it was, that the Statute of 11
Hen. 7. was provided, in the Difference betwixt
the two Houfes of York and Lancafter. My- Cafe
is either the fame with that, and then I defire

the Benefit of that Statute ; or elfe it is new,
and then I defire, as is provided 25- Ediu. 2, that

it be referred to the Parliament. So that it is

either within the Equity of the Statute 1 1 Hen.

7. or elfe it is a new Cafe, and not to be judged
by this Court.

If the Judges in the Refolves by them deli-

vered, upon any of the Particulars before al-

ledged, have not declared that Law that ought
to guide them, but their particular Judgments
or Opinions, as undertaking to guide the
Law, and that in Points of fo grand Con-
cern as touch the Subjects Life, in cafe their

Judgments after fhould prove erroneous, the
Verd-ct given upon fuch Errors mufi needs be
illegal and void. Judgment therefore ought to

be fufpended, rill fuch time as the Truth and
Certainty of the Law may be fully argued and
cleared, and that in the proper Court for the
hearing and judging of this Cafe. If this be not
done, but I be forthwith proceeded againft (not-

withltanding any thing however rationally or le-

gally alledged to the contrary) by fuch undue
Precipitation and given Sentence, I am (con-

trary to Magna Charta, or Law of the Land)
run upon and deftroy'd, without due Form and
Courfe of Law. And I am like to be deprived

of Eftate and Life upon no Law or certain

Rule, .which was declared before the Fact j no,

nor before the Trial.

Upon thefe Confiderations, I defire an Arreft

of Judgment, and that Counfel may be affigned

me, and competent time allow'd to make good
my Averments.

As an Argument to prefs this, I defire leave

of the Court, That the Petition of the two
Houfes, and the King's AfTent to it, may be read

in open Court, attefted by one that is prefent,

who examined and compared it with the Book
of Record in the Lords Houfej by which it

evidently appears, that as well the King as both
Houfes of Parliament were agreed, that admit-

ting I were attainted, yet Execution, as to my
Life, fhould be remitted. And if fo, there is

no caufe to precipitate the pairing Sentence ;

efpecially when alfo fuch weighty Points in the

Law are yet to be argued and cleared, unlefs the

Judges will evidently charge themfelves with my
innocent Blood.

III. My third Reafon for an Arreft of Judg-
ment, is the manifeft Newnefs of this Cafe, be-

ing fuch as never happen'd before in the

Kingdom; which withal is of fo vaft a confe-

quence to People of all Sorts and Conditions

within this Realm, as nothing more. And be-

ing fo, (as I doubt not with your Lordfhips pa-

tience I fhall make it appear) it is the known
Law
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Law, witneffed by Braclon, and ancient approved

Law-Books, That in fuch Cafes the Judges in

the inferior Courts ought not to proceed, but

bring it before the High-Court of Parliament.

To prove therefore the Newnefs of this Cafe,

(befides what I have already alledged in my De-

fence, before the Verdict) give me leave to add

that, which yet further fhews the Newnefs and

Extraordinarinefs thereof. And I befeech your

Lordfhips to let me go on without interruption,

in my endeavouring to make it out as clearly as

God fhall enable me, and as briefly alfo, not to

fpend too much of your Time.
In general, I do affirm of this Cafe, That it

is fo comprehenfive, as to take in the very Inte-

refts of Heaven and Earth : Firft, Of God the

Univerfal Sovereign and King of Kings : Se-

condly, That of earthly Sovereigns, who are

God's Vicegerents : As alfo the Interefts of all

Mankind, that (land in the Relation of Subjects

to the one or both thofe forts of Sovereigns.

This in general. More particularly: Within
the Bowels of this Cafe is that Caufe of God,
that harh ftated itfelf in the late Differences and
"Wars that have happen'd and arifen within thefe

three Nation*, and have been of more than

twenty years continuance : which,for the greater

Certainty and Solemnity, hath been recorded in

the form of a National Covenant, in which the

generality of the three Nations have been either

implicitly involved, or exprefly concern'd, by
the figning of their Names.
The principal things contained in that Cove-

nant, were the known and commonly-received
Duties, which either as Men or as Chriftians we
owed and ftood obliged to perform either to

God, the higheft and univerfal King in Church
or State, or to our natural Lord and Sovereign,

the Kings of this Realm, in fubordination to

God and his Laws.
Again, It contains as well the Duties which

we owe to every particular and individual Per-

son, in their feveral Stations and Callings, as to

the King in general, and our Reprefenracive Bo-
dy in Parliament affembled. Thefe Duties we
are thereby obliged to yield and perform, in Con-
fiftency with, and in a juft Subordination and
manifeft Agreeablenefs to the Laws of God, as

is therein exprefs'd : And this alfo, in no Difa-

greement to the Laws of the Land as they then
were.

By this Solemn Covenant and Agreement of the

three Nations, giving up themfelves in fubjecti-

on to God and to his Laws, in the firft place,

as the Allegiance they owe to their highelt So-
vereign, (as the Creator, Redeemer, Owner and
Ruler of all Mankind,) they have fo far intereft-

ed the Son of God in the fupreme Rule and
Government of thefe Nations, that nothing
therein ought to be brought into practice, con-

trary to his revealed Will in the Holy Scrip-

tures, and his known and moft righteous Laws.
This Duty which we owe to God, the uni-

verfal King, Nature and Chriftianity do fo clearly

teach and affert, that it needs no more than to

be named. For this Subjection and Allegiance

to God and his Laws, by a Right fo indifputa-

ble, all are accountable before the Judgment-
Seat of Chrift.

It is true indeed, Men may de faclo become
open Rebels to God and to his Laws, and prove

fuch as forfeit his Protection, and engage him to

proceed again ft them as his profeffed FJnemies.

But (with your Lordfhips favour) give me leave

to fay, that that which you have made a Rule
for your Proceedings in my Cafe, will indeed

hold, and that very ftrongly, in this; that is to

fay, in the fenfe wherein Chrift the Son of God
is King de jure, not only in general, over the

whole World, but in particular, in relation to

thefe three Kingdoms. He ought nof; to be kept
out of his Throne, nor his vifible Government,
(that confifts in the Authority of his Word and
Laws) fuppreffed and trampled under foot, un-
der any pretence whatfoever.
And in the afferting and adhering unto the

Right of this higheft Sovereign, (sis Hated in the
Covenant before mentioned) the Lords and Com-
mons jointly, before the Year K648, and the
Commons alone afterwards, to the very times
charged in the Indictment, did manage the War
and late Differences within thefe Kingdoms.
And whatever Defections did happen by Apo-
ftates, Hypocrites, and time-ferving Worldings,
there was a Party amongft them., that continued
firm, fincere and chafte unto the laft, and loved
it better than their very Lives; of which num-
ber I am not afhamed to profefs myfelf to be :

not fo much admiring the Form and Words of
the Covenant, as the righteous and holy Ends
therein expreffed, and the true Senfe and Mean-
ing thereof, which I have reafon to know.
Nor will I deny, but that, as to the Manner

of the Profecution of the Covenant to other
Ends than itfeif warrants, and with a rigid op-
preffive Spirit, (to bring all diffenting Minds and
tender Confciences under one Uniformity of
Church-Difcipline and Government; it was ut-
terly againft my Judgment. For I always
efteem'd it more agreeable to the Word of God,
that the Ends and Work declared in the Cove-
nant fhould be promoted in a Spirit ofLove and
Forbearance to differing Judgments and Con-
fciences, that thereby we might be approving
ourfelves in doing that to others, which we defire

they would do to us ; and fo (though upon diffe-
rent Principles) be found joint and faithful Ad-
vancers of the Reformation contained in the
Covenant, both publick and perfonal.

This happy Union and Conjunction of all In-
terefts in the refpective Duties of all Relations,
agreed and confented toby the common Suffrage
of the three Nations, (as well in their publick
Parliamentary Capacity, as private Stations) ap-
pear'd to me a Rule and Meafure approved of,

and commanded by Parliament, for my Action
and Deportment, though it met with great Op-
pofition, in a tedious, fad, and long War j and
this under the Name and Pretext ofRoyal Au-
thority. Yer, as this Cafe appeared to me in
my Confciencc, under all its Circumftances of
Times, of Perfons, and of Revolutions inevita-
bly happening by the Hand of God and the
Courfe of his wife Providences ; I held it fafeft

and beft to keep my Station in Parliament to
the laft under the guidance and protection of
their Authority, and in purfuance of the Ends
before declared in my juft Defence.

This general and publick Cafe of the King-
doms, is fo well known by the Declarations and
Actions that have palled on both fides, that I
need but name it; fince this matter was not
done in a corner, but frequently contended for in

the high places of the Field, and written even

with
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with Characters of Blood. And out of the Bow-

els of thefe public Differences and Difputes,

doth my particular Cafe arife, for which I am
called into Queftion. But admitting it come to

my Lot to itand fingle, in the Witnefsl am to

give to this Glorious Caufe, and to be left alone,

(as in a fort I am) yet being upheld with the

Authority before afferted, and keeping myfelf in

Union and Conjunction therewith, I am not

afraid to bear my Witnefs to it in this great Pre-

fence, nor to Seal it with my Blood, if called

thereunto. And I am fo far fatisfied in my Con-

fcience and Underftanding, that it neither is nor

can be Treafon, either againft the Law of Na-

ture, or the Law of the Land, either malum per

fe, or malum prohibitum ; that on the contrary, it

is the Duty I owed to God the univerfal King,

and to his Majefty that now is, and to the

Church and People of God in thefe Nations,

and to the innocent Blood of all that have been

(lain in this Quarrel. Nothing it feems will

now ferve, unlefs by the Condemnation paffed

upon my Perfon, they be rendered to Pofterity

Murderers and Rebels, and that upon Record

I

in a Court of Juftice in Weftminfter- Hall. And

I this would inevitably have follow'd, if I had vo-

luntarily given up this Caufe, without afferting

their and my Innocency ; by which I fhould

, have pulled that Blood upon my own Head,

j

which now I am fure muff, lie at the Door of

i
others, and in particular, of thofe that know-

1 ingly and precipitately fhall embrue their Hands

\ in my innocent Blood, under whatever Form or

|

Pretext of Juftice.

My Cafe is evidently new and unufual, that

;

which never happen'd before ; wherein there is

not only much of God and of his Glory, but all

that is dear and of true Value to all the good

People in thefe three Nations. And (as I have

faid) it cannot be Treafon againft the Law of

Nature, fince the Duties of the Subjects in re-

lation to their Sovereigns and Superiours, from

higheft to loweff, are owned and confeientioufly

practifed and yielded by thofe that are the Affer-

tors of this Caufe.

Nor can it be Treafon within the Statute of

2
j- of Edw. 3. fince befides what hath been faid of

no King in poffeffion, and of being under Pow-

ers regnant, and Kings de faclo, as alfo of the

Fact in its own Nature, and the Evidence as to

Overt- Acts pretended 5 it is very plain it cannot

poffibly fall within the Purview of that Statute.

For this Cafe, thus circumftantiated (as before

declared) is no Act of any private Perfon, of his

own Head, as that Statute intends ; nor in rela-

tion to the King there meant, that is prefumed

to be in the Exercife of his Royal Authority, in

conjunction with the Law and the two Houfes

of Parliament, if they be fitting, as the funda-

mental Conftitutions of the Government do re-

quire.

My Lords, if I have been free and plain with

you in this mater, I beg your pardon: For it

concerns me to be fo, and fomething more than

ordinarily urgent, where both my Eftate and

Life are in fuch eminent Peril j nay, more than

my Life, the Concerns of thoufands of Lives are

in it, not only of thofe that are in their Graves

already, but of all Pofterity in time to come.

Had nothing been in it, but the Care to prefervc

my own Life, I needed not have ftaid in England,

but might have taken my Opportunity to with*

Vol. II.

draw myfelf into foreign Parts, to provide for

my own Safety. Nor needed I to have been

put upon pleading, as now I am for an Ar-
rert of Judgment j but might have watch'd up-
on Advantages that were vifible enough to me,
in the managing of my Trial, if I had con-

fulted only the Prefervation of my Life or E-
ftate.

No, my Lords, I have otherwife learned

Chrift, than to fear them that can but kill

the Body, and have no more that they can do.

I have alfo taken notice, in the little reading

that I have had of Hiftory, how glorious the

very Heathens have rendred their Names to

Pofterity, in the Contempt they have fhew'd
of Death, (when the laying down of their Life

has appeared to be their Duty) from the

Love which they have owed to their Coun-
try.

Two remarkable Examples of this, give me
leave to mention to you upon this Occafion. The
one is, of Socrates the divine Philoiopher, who
was brought into Queftion before a Judgment-
Seat, as now I am, for maintaining that there

was but one only true God, againft the Multi-

plicity of the fuperftitious Heathen Gods; and
he was fo little in love with his own Life upon
this Account, (wherein he knew the Right was
on his Side) that he could not be perfuaded by
his Friends to make any Defence, but would
choofe rather to put it upon the Conlcience and
Determination of his Judges, to decide that where-
in he knew not how to make any Choice of his

own, as to what would be beftfor him, whether
to live or to die; he ingenuoufly profeffing that

for ought he knew, it might be much to his

Prejudice and Lofs, to endeavour longer Conti-
nuance in this bodily Life.

The other Example is that of a chief Gover-
nour*, that (to my beft Remembrance)
had the Command of a City in Greece,

which was befieged by a potent Enemy, and
brought into unimaginable Straits. Hereupon
the faid Governour makes his Addrefs to the

Oracle, to know the Event of that Danger. The
Anfwer was, That the City fiould be fafely prefer-

red, if the chief Governour were fain by the Ene-

my. He underftanding this, immediately difgui-

fed himfelf, and went into the Enemy's Camp,
amongft whom he did fo comport himfelf, that

they unwittingly put him to death ; by which
means, immediately Safety and Deliverance arofe

to the City, as the Oracle had declared. So lit-

tle was his Life in efteem with him, when the

Good and Safety of his Country required the

laying of it down.]

Codrus.

As to other pertinent Queries, thou mayeft

them, Reader, in other Parts of this Trial.

fee

That which remains as an appendix to the Bill

of Exceptions, is to lay before thee the Grounds
which plainly fhew that there was a downright
Confpiracy in Sir Henry Pane's Tenants and o-

thers, to profecute him for Life and Eftate, un-

der colour and pretence of Juftice.

1. Prefently after I was committed to the

Tower for High-Treafon, and made a clofe Pri-

foner, Mr. O-Neale, Sir William Darcyy and

Dr. Cradock, obtained an Order from the King to

feize and take into their PofTefTion all the Eftatcs

N n n ot
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of fuch Perfons that were already, or fhould be

forfeited to his Majefty.

Hereupon the faid Mr. O-Neale and Sir Wil-

liam Darcy appointed fome under them, in the

Biihoprick of Durham , (by Name,Thomas Bowes

Efquire, now deceafed, and Captain William

Darcy) to join with the faid Dr. Cradock, to put

in execution the faid Warrant, as their Depu-
ties; who thereupon went to Raby-Caflle, and

demanded the Rent-Books of Thomas Mowbray
my Steward, offering him his Place under them,

which he refufed.

Contrary to this Proceeding, Sir Edward Coke

exprefly declares, ' That before Indictment, the
4 Goods or other things of any Offender, can-
6 not be fearched, inventoried, or in any fort

* feized ; nor after Indictment, feized, moved
c or taken away before Conviction or Attainder,

' In/lit. Part. 3. Chap. 133, concerning the
« Seizure of Goods, &c. for Offences, &c. be-
1 fore Conviction.'

2. At the Inftance and Profecution of my
Tenants and others, an Order was made by the

Houfe of Commons (not of the Lords) requiring

the Tenants of fuch Perfons as were excepted

out of the General Pardon, to detain their Rents

in their own Hands. By pretence of this Or-
der, (though that Parliament that made it, were
diflblved) the Tenants refufed to pay their re-

fpective Rents as they grew due, contrary to

all Law and Equity; and joined together in o-

pen Defiance and Confpiracy againft their Land-
lord.

3. The faid Tenants (when legally profecuted

in his Majefty's Courts at Weftminfter, for the

Recovery of the faid Rents out of their Hands)
did petition the late Houfe of Commons to put

a Stop to fuch legal Profecution and Suits,

which Motion of theirs put the Houfe into

a great Heat and Violence againft me, info-

much as that they had almoft pafTed a Vote to

fequefter all my Eftate, though unheard or un-

convicted.

4. William Watfon of Cockfield, and other of
the faid Tenants, have continued in London to

carry on this Confpiracy againft mej by whofe
Means, with others, the King hath been impor-

tuned to fend for Men from the Ifle of Scilly, in

order to this Trial.

f. By common Fame (which at leaft affords a

ftrong Prefumption) my Goods and Eftate have

been longbegg'd by feveral Perfons, and granted

:

whereas the begging of the Goods and Eftate of

any Delinquent, accufed or indicted of Treafon,

before he be convicted and attainted, is utterly

unlawful j becaufe 'till then nothing is forfeited

to the King, and fo not his to difpofe of; as Sir

Edward Coke fhews in the fore-mentioned Chap-
ter about the Seizure of Goods, &c.

6. I am credibly informed, that about Decem-
forlaft a certain Captain came from the Duke of
Albimarle to Captain Lw, with threatning Lan-
guage, that if he would not confefs things a-

gainft Sir Henry Vane, he fhould be fetched up
before the Council, and made to do it. Linn
anfwered, He knew nothing againft Sir Henry
Vane, nor had any Orders from him, but from

the Parliament and Council.

The fame Captain came again, about a Fort-

night after, from the Duke of Albemarle^ with a

Parcel of fine Words, That if he the faid Linn

would teftify, That Sir Henry Vane was in the

Head of his Regiment, and that he received

Orders from him, the Duke of Albemarle would
gratify him with any Civility he fhould defire.

Linn replied, he knew no Regiment Sir Henry
Vane had ; but that it was the Parliament's and
Council of State's Regiment. The fame Captain
came again to him from the Duke of Albemarle^

and told him, the Duke defired him to teftify Sir

Henry Vane's being in the Head of his Regiment^
and that he received Orders from him to fight

Sir George Booth. Linn replied, Pie knew no
fuch things. The Captain told him as from the

Duke, he fhould have any Place or Office in the

Court : Be not afraid to fpeak, faid he, I war-
rant you we fhall hang Sir Henry Vane^ for he is

a Rogue.

7. I am credibly informed, That one of the

Grand Jury declared, That after the Bill of In-

dictment againft me was brought in, fome from
the King's Counfel came to defire them, they '

would pleafe to come into the inward Court of I

Wards: Upon which, one of the Jury faid,
,

They were there to judge of Matters brought .

before them, and ought not to go in thither ; J

but if the Counfel had any thing to fay, they r

ought to come to them. This was feconded by
fome $ others faid, They were the King's Coun-
fel, and it was but Matter of Civility to grant

them their Requeft. Whereupon they went
into the inward Court of Wards, where the (

King's Counfel were, to wit, Attorney-General

Palmer, Solicitor-General Finch, Serjeant Glynne

and Serjeant Keeling. After a while they caufed

all to withdraw but the Jury. Then the Clerk

read the Indictment in the ufual Form for levy-

ing War from i6fa. After it was read, one of

the Counfel told them, It was a Bill of High-
Treafon againft his Majefty, and they were to

confider of it according to their Evidence.

Then they proceeded to examine their Wit-
nefles.

Jefford faid, Sir Henry Vane offered him a

Commiffion to go againft Sir George Booth ;

which, faid Serjeant Keeling, was to go againft

the King.

Wright being examined, Whether he faw Sir

Henry Vane in the Council, faid, Yes. The At-

torney-General replied, That if he was amongft

them, they might find the Bill upon that.

Upon this the Jury withdrew, and were by

themfelves. Then Sir John Cropley, the Fore-

man, faid, We mufi pafs this Bill: At which all

the jury were filent. At laft, one ftood up and

faid ; ' This Bill contains Matter of Fact, and
4 Matter of Law. Some of this Jury, to myi
£ Knowledge, were never of any Jury before, 1

* as well as I, therefore ignorant of the Law, (in 1

c fo difficult and unufual a Point as this is) and 1

* confequently could not give in their Verdift,

* as to Law, but only Fact.' Several others of

the Jury feconded him in this j and protefteda-

gainft giving in their Verdict, as to Matter of

Law: Notwithftanding all which, the Bill was

carried up to the King's-Bench.

8. On the Day of my Arraignment, an emi-

nent Perfon was heard to fay, I had forfeited my
j

Head, by what I faid that Day, before ever I

came to my Defence : What that fhould be, I

know not, except my faying in open Court, So-

vereign Power of Parliament, which the Attor-

ney-General writ down, after he had promifed,

at my Requeft, no Exceptions fhould be taker

at
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at Words. And whole Volutnes of Lawyers

Books pafs up and down the Nation with that

Title, Sovereign Power of Parliaments.

p. Six moderate Men that were like to confi-

der of what they did, before they would throw

away my Life, were fummoned to be of my Pet-

ty-Jury } which the King's Counfel hearing,

writ a Letter to one of the Sheriffs not to fum-

mon them : And a new Lift was made the Night

immediately before the Day of Verdict, on pur-

pofe that the Prifoner might not have any

Knowledge of them, 'till prefented to his View

and Choice in Wefminfler-Hall. Yet one of the

Forty-eight of this Lift, (who faid, He would

have ftarv'd himfelf before he would have found

Sir Henry Vane guilty of Treafon) was never

called, though he walked in the Hull all the

while. And in that Hurry of thofe that com-

pared him about, he being alone, ftripp'd of all

Affiftance, Sir Willam Roberts, Foreman, and

Sir Chriflopher Abdy, were fworn by the Court,

before I was aware; fo my challenging them,

might feem a perfonal Difobliging, and Exafpe-

ration of them againftmc, after they were fworn

and fixed.

The Solicitor alfo had a long Whifper with

the Foreman of the Jury in the Court, before

they went to VerdicT:, telling him, The Prifoner

muft be facrificedfor the Nation, &c.

Suddenly after which, I am here called to re-

ceive my Sentence.

10. After i he Day of' my Trial, the Judges

went to Hampton-Court.

ii. None were more forward to abfolve the

King from his Grant about my Life, than they

that had appeared moft forward in promoting

the Bill by way of Petition to the King for it.

This Grant being upon Record, may feem to

have the fame Validity that other Acls of Par-

liament have ; which are Mill but the two Hou-
fes Petition to the King for his AfTent to the

Bills by them drawn up and pafTed. They ufed

this as a Means to induce the King to exempt

me from all Benefit of the AcT: of Indemnity and

Oblivion ; and then at laft perfuade and abfolve

him from making good this Grant alfo, thereby

depriving me of all vifible Relief for my Life. I

conceived my Life as fecure by that Grant, as

others Lives or Eftates are by the Act of fndem-
nity itfelf; for what is that, but the Bill of

both Houfes, with the King's AfTent to it, up-

on their Petition?

i

', The Petition of both Houfes of Parliament

to the Kings moji Excellent Majefty, on

the behalf of Sir Henry Vane, and Colonel

John Lambert, after they left them unca-

pable of having any Benefit of the Aft of
Indemnity.

To the King's Moft Excellent Majefty j

* jecls, the Lords and Commons affembled, not
* findmg Sir Henry Vane nor Col. Lambert to
c be of that Number, are humble Suitors to
1 Your Majefty, that if they fhall be attainted,
6 That Execution, as to their Lives, may be re&

' mitted.

And as in Duty bound, &c.

The faid Petition being read, it was agreed

to, and ordered to be prefented to his Majefty

by the Lord Chancellor.

The Lord Chancellor reported, That he had
prefented the Petition of both Houfes to the

King's Majefty, concerning Sir Henry Vane and

Col. Lambert, and his Majtfty grants the Defires

in the faid Petition.

John Brown, Cler* Parliament'orum.']

|
The humble Petition of the Lords and Commons

ajfembled in Parliament,

Sheweth,

THAT your Majefty having declared your
gracious Pleafure to prooed onlyagainft

the immediate Murderers of your Royal Fa-
ther: We your Majefty's moft humble Tub-
Vol. II,

Whereupon the ufual Sentence was pronoun-

ced againft him.

After Sentence, Chief Juftice Forfter endea-

vour'd to perfuade the King, that he lay under

no Obligation by Granting the Petition of both

Houfes, faying, That God, though full of Mercy,

yet intended his Mercy only for the Penitent.

By which means the King was wrought on,

(notwithftanding his Engagement to the con-

trary,) to Sign a Warrant for his Execution^

that he fhould be Beheaded on Tower-Hill the

14th oijune.

The Day before his Execution his Friends had

liberty to vifit him, he receiv'd them with very

great Chearfulnefs ; and when they would have

perfuaded him to make fome SubmiiTion to the

King, and to endeavour the obtaining of his

Life •, he faid, If the King did not think himfelf

more concern
1

d for his Honour and Word, than he

did for his Life, he was very willing theyfhould take

it. Nay, I declare (faid he) that I value my Life

lefs in a good Caufe, than the King can do his Pro-

mife. And when fome others were fpeaking to

him, of giving fome thoufands of Pounds for his

Life ; he faid, If a thoufand Farthings would gain

it, he would not give it : And if any fhould attempt

to make fuch a Bargain, he wouldfpml their Market

:

For I think the King himjelf is fo fufficiently obliged

to fpare my Life, that it is fitter for him to do it,

than my[elf to fetk it.

On Saturday, the Day of his Execution, he

faid to a Friend, God bid Mofes eo to the top

of Mount Pif'gah and die : So he bid him go up

to the top of Tower-Hill and die.

Several Friends being with him in his Cham-
ber this Morniig, he oft encouraged them to

Chearfulnefs, as well by his Example as Expref-

lion. In all his Deportment, he fhew'd himfelf

marvelloufly fitted to meet the King of Terrors,,

without the baft affrightment. But to ihew

where his Strength lay, he faid, He was a poor

unworthy Wretch, and had nothing but the

Grace and Goodnefs of God to depend upon.

He faid moreover, Death fhrunk from him, ra-

ther than he from it. Upon the Occafion of

parting with his Relations, he faid, there is fome

Flefh remaining yet, but I muft caft it behind

me, and prefs forward to my Father.

Then one of the Sheriff's Men came in and

told him, There was no Sled to come, but he

was to walk on Foot.

N n n % "c
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He told his Friends, the Sheriff's Chaplain

came to him at Twelve of the Clock that Night,

with an Order for his Execution, telling him,

he was come to bring him that fatal MefTage of

Death. I think, Friends, that in this Meilage

was no Difmalnefs at all. After the Receipt of

which, I flept four Hours fo foundly, that the

Lord hath made it fufficient for me, and now I

am going to fleep my laft, after which I fhall

need Sleep no more.

Then Mr. Sheriff coming into the Room, was

friendly faluted by him, and after a little Paufe,

communicated a Prohibition that he faid he had

receiv'd, which was, That he muft not fpeak

any thing againft his Majefty, or the Govern-

ment. His anfwer to this he himfelf relates on

the Scaffold. He further told Mr. Sheriff, he

was ready; but the Sheriff faid, he was not, nor

could be this half hour yet; Then, Sir, it refts

on you, not on me (faid Sir Henry) for I have

been ready this half hour. Then the Sheriff, at

his Requeft, promifed him his Servants fhould

attend him on the Scaffold, and be civilly dealt

with ; neither of which were performed j for

(notwithltanding this Promife) they were beaten

and kept off the Scaffold, 'till he faid, What,
have I never a Servant here?

After this, one of the Sheriff's Men came and

told him, there muft be a Sled *; to which Sir

Henry replied, Any way, how they pleafe, for I

long to be at home, to be diffolved and to be

with Chrift, which is beft of all. He went very

chearfully and readily down the Stairs from his

Chamber, and feated himfelfon the Sled, (Friends

and Servants ftanding about him) then he was

forthwith drawn away towards the Scaffold. As
he went, fome in the Tower (Prifoners as well as

others) fpake to him, praying the Lord to go
with him. And after he was out of the Tower,

from the tops of Houfes, and out of Windows,
the People ufed fuch Means and Geftures as

might beft difcover, at a diftance, their Refpe&s
and Love to him, crying aloud, The Lord go
with you, the great God of Heaven and Earth
appear in you, and for you; whereof he took
what Notice he was capable in thofe Circum-
ftances, in a chearful manner accepting their

Refpe£ts, putting offhis Hat and bowing to them.
Being ask'd feveral times, how he did, by fome
about him, he anfwer'd, Never better in all my
Life. Another replied, How fhould he do ill

that fuffers for fo glorious a Caufe? To which
a tall black Man faid, Many fuffer'd for a

better Caufe ; And may for a worfe, faid Sir

Henry ; wifhing, that when they come to feal

their better Caufe (as he call'd it) with their

Blood (as he was now going to feal hisj they

might not find themfelves deceiv'd; and as to

this Caufe, faid he, it hath given Life in

Death to all the Owners of it, and Sufferers

for it.

Being pafs'd within the Rails on Tower-Hill,

there were loud Aclamations of the People, cry-

ing out, The L.ord Jefus go with your dear Soul,

cjtV. One told him, That was the moft glori-

ous Seat he ever fat on ; he anfwer'd, It is fo

indeed, and rejoiced exceedingly.

Being come to the Scaffold, he chearfully af-

cends, and being up, after the Crowd on the
Scaffold was broken in two Pieces, to make way
for him, he fhew'd himfelf to the People on the

front of the Scaffold, with that noble and chri-

ftian-like Deportment, that he rather feem'd a
Looker on, than the Perfon concern'd in the
Execution, infomuch that it was difficult to per-
fuade many of the People that he was the Pri-

foner. But when they knew that the Gentle-
man in the black Suit and Cloke ('with a fcarlet

filk Waftcoat, the victorious Colour fhewing
itfelf at the Breaft) was the Prifoner, they gene-
rally admir'd that noble and great Prefence he
appeared with. How chearful he is ! faid fome -,

He does not look like a dying Man ! faid others

;

with many like Speeches, as aftonifhed with
that ftrange Appearance he fhinqd forth in.

Then (Silence being commanded by the She-
riff) lifting up his Hands and Eyes towards Hea-
ven, and refting his Hands on the Rails ; and
taking a very ferious, compofed, and majeftick

View of the great Multitude about him, he
fpake as follows.

Gentlemen, Fellow-Countrymen, and Chrifiiam ;

WHEN Mr. Sheriff came to me this Mor-
ning, and told me he had receiv'd a Com-

mand from the King, that I fhou'd fay nothing
refle&ing upon his Majefty or the Government j

I anfwer'd, I fhou'd confine and order my Speech,
as near as I could, fo as to be leaft offenfive,

faving my Faithfulnefs to the Truft repofed in

me, which I muft ever difcharge with a good
Confcience unto Death ; for 1 ever valued a

Man according to his Faithfulnefs to the Truft
repofed in him, even on his Majefty's Behalf, in

the late Controverfy. And if you dare truft my
Difcretion, Mr. Sheriff, I fhall do nothing but
what becomes a good Chriftian and an Englijh-

man-y and fo I hope I fhall be civilly dealt with.

When Mr. Sheriff's Chaplain came to me laft

Night about twelve of the Clock, to bring me,
as he call'd it, the fatal MefTage of Death, it

pleafed the Lord to bring that Scripture to my
Mind in the third of Zechary, to intimate to

me, that he was now taking away my filthy

Garments, caufing my Iniquities to pafs from
me, with intention to give me change of Ray-
ment, and that my Mortal fhould put on Im-
mortality.

I fuppofe you may wonder when I fhall tell"

you that I am not brought hither according to

any known Law of the Land. It is true, I have

been before a Court ofJuftice (and am now go-

ing to appear before a greater Tribunal, where

1 am to give an Account of all my Actions)

under their Sentence I ftand here at this time.

When I was before them, I could not have the

Liberty and Privilege of an Englijhman, the

Grounds, Reafons, and Caufes of the Actings I

was charg'd with duly confider'd; I therefore

defir'd the Judges that they would fet their Seals

to my Bill of Exceptions ; I prefs'd hard for it

again and again, as the Right ofmyfelf and every

free-born Englijhman, by the Law of the Land,

but was finally deny'd it

Here Sir John Robinfon (Lieutenant of the

Tower) interrupted him, faying ; Sir, you muft

not go on thus, and (in a furious manner, general-

ly obferv'd even to the DiffatisfadHon of fome of

their own Attendants) faid that he rail'd againft

the Judges, and that it was a Lye, and I am
here, fays he, to teftify that it is falfe.

A Circumjlancs very fingular, and never ufed to thofe, <wbo are executed at that Place.

Sir
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Sir Henry Vane replied, God will judge be-

tween me and you in this Matter. 1 (peak but

Matter of Fact, and cannot you bear that :
'Tis

evident the Judges have refus'd to fign my Bill

of Exceptions' -Then the Trumpets were

order'd to found or murre in his Face, with a

contemptible Noife, to hinder his being heard :

At which Sir Henry (lifting up his Hand, and then

laying it on his Bread) faid, What mean you,

Gentlemen? Is this your ufage of me ? Did you

ufe all the reft fo ? I had even done, as to that,

could you have been parient, but feeing you can-

not bear it, I fhall only fay this, That whereas

the Judges have refufed to feal that with their

Hands that they have done, 1 am come to feal that

with my Blood that I have done. Therefore leav-

ing this Matter, which I perceive will not be

borne, I judge it meet to give you fome Ac-

count of my Life.

I might tell you I was born a Gentleman, had

the Education, Temper, and Spirit of a Gen-

tleman, as well as others, being (in ray youth-

ful Days) inclin'dto the Vanities of this World,

and to that which they call Goodfellowjhip, judg-

ing it to be the only means of accomplifhung a

Gentleman But about the fourteenth of fifteenth

Year of my Age (which is about thirty-four

or five Years fince) God was pleas'd to lay the

Foundation or Ground-work of Repentance in

me, for the bringing me home to himfelf, by

his wonderful, rich, and free Grace, revealing

his Son in me, that by the Knowledge of the

only true God, and Jefus Chrift whom he hath

fent, I might (even whilft here in the Body) be

made Partaker of eternal Life in the firft Fruits

of it.

When my Confcience was thus awaken'd, I

found my former Courfe to be Difloyalty to God,

Profanenefs, and a way of Sin and Death,

which I did with Tears and Bitternefs bewail,

as I had caufe to do. Since that Foundation

of Repentance laid in me, through Grace I have

been kept iledraft, defiling to walk in all good

Confcience towards God and towards Men, ac-

cording to the beft Light and Underftanding

God gave me. For this I was willing to turn

my Back upon my Ellate, expofe myfelf to

Hazards in foreign Parts •, yea nothing feem'd

difficult to me, fo I might preferve Faith and a

good Confcience, which I prefer before all things •,

and do earneftly perfuade all People rather to

fuffer the higheft Contradictions from Men, than

difobey God, by contradicting the Light of their

own Confcience. In this it is I (land with fo

much Comfort and Boldnefs before you all this

Day, and upon this Occafion, being affur'd that

I fhall at laft fit down in Glory with Chrift, at

his right Hand. I (land here this Day to refign

up my Spirit into the Hands of that God that

gave it me. Death is but a little Word, but 'tis

a great Work to die, it is to be but once done,

and after this cometh the Judgment, even the

Judgment of the great God, which it concerns

us all to prepare for. And by this Act I do re-

ceive a Difcharge once for all out of Prifon, even

the Prifon of the mortal Body alfo, which, to a

true Chriftian, is a burdenfomc Weight.

In all refpects, where I have been concern'd

and engag'd, as to the Publick, my Dcfign hath

been to accomplifh good Things for thefe Na-
tions. Then (lifting up his Eyes, and fpreading

his Hands) he faid, I do here appeal to the great

God of Heaven, and all this AfTembly, or any
other Perfons, to fhew wherein I have defiled

my Hands with any Man's Blood or Eftate, or

that I have fought myfelf in any publick Capa-
city or Place I have been in.

The Caufe was three times ftated.

Firft) In the Remonftrance of the Houfe of Com",
mons.

Secondly, In the Covenant, the Solemn League
and Covenant Upon this the Trumpets
founded, the Sheriff catch'd at the Paper in his

Hand j and Sir John Robin/on, who at firft had
acknowledg'd that he had nothing to do there,

wifhing the Sheriff to fee to it, yet found him-
felf fomething to do now, furioufly calling for

the Writers Books, and faying, He treats of
Rebellion, and you write it. Hereupon fix

Note-Books were deliver'd up. The Prifoner
was very patient and comprsfed under all thefe

Injuries, and Soundings of the Trumpets feve-

ral times in his Face, only faying, 'Twas hard
he might not be fuffei 'd to fpeak ; but, fays he,

my Ufage from Man is no harder than was my
Lord and Mailer's j and all that will live his

Life this Day, muft expect hard Dealing from
the worldly Spirit The Trumpets founded
again, to hinder his being heard. Then again

Robinfon, and two or three others, endeavour'd
to fnarch the Paper out of Sir Henry's Hand*
but he kept it for a while, now and then read-

ing part of it ; afterwards, tearing it in pieces,

he deliver'd it to a Friend behind him, who
was prcfently fore'd to deliver it to the She-
riff. Then they put their Hands into his Poc-
kets for Papers (as was pretended) which bred
great Confufion and Diffatisfaction to the Spe-
ctators, feeing a Prifoner fo ftrangely handled in

his dying Words.
The Prifoner fufpecting beforehand the Dif-

orderaforemention'd, writ the main Subflance of
what he intended to fpeak on the Scaffold in that

Paper they catch'd at, and which he tore in

pieces, delivering it to a Friend, from whom the
Sheriff had it, as abovefaid ; the rtue Copy where-
of was, by the Prifoner, carefully committed to

a fafe Hand before he came to the Scaffold,

which take as follows.

The Work which I am at this time call'd un-
to, in this Place (as upon a publick Theatre) is

to die, and receive a Difcharge once for all, out
of Prifon, to do that which is but once to be
done j the doing or not doing of which well,

and as becomes a Chriftian, does much depend
upon the Life we have been taught of God to

lead, before we come to this : They that live in

the Faith do alfo die in it ; Faith is fo far from
leaving Chriftians in this Hour, that the Work
of it breaks forth then into its greateft Power,
as if till then it were not enough at freedom to

do its Office, that is, to look into the things

that are unfeen with moil Stedfaftnefs, Certain-

ty, and Delight, which is the great Sweetner
of Death and Remover of its Sting.

Give me leave therefore, in a very few words,

to give you an Account of my Life, and of

the wonderful great Grace and Mercy of God,
in bringing me home to himfelf, and revealing

his Son in me ; that by the Knowledge of the

only true God, and Jefus Chrift whom he hath

fent, I might (even whilft here in the Body) be

made Partaker of eternal Life, in the firft Fruits

of
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of it, and at laft fit down with Chrift in Glory

at his right Hand.
Here I mall mention fome remarkable Para-

ges and Changes of my Life ; in particular, how
unfought for by myfelf I was call'd to be a Mem-
ber of the long Parliament, what little Advan-

tage I had by it, and by what Steps I became
farisfied with the Caufe I was engag'd in, and

did purfue the fame.

What the Caufe was, did firft fhew itfelf in

the firft Remonftrance of the Houfe of Commons.

Secondly, In The Solemn League and Covenant.

Thirdly, In the more refin'd purfuit of it by the

Commons Houfe, in their Aclings fingle ; with what
Refulc they were growing up into, which was in

the Bread of the Houfe, and unknown} or what

the three Propofals, mention'd in my Charge,

would have come to at laft, I fhall not need now
to fay > but only, from all put together, to afTert,

That this Caufe, which was owned by the Par-

liament, was the Caufe of God, and for the pro-

moting of the Kingdom of his dear Son Jefus

Chrift, wherein are comprehended our Liberties

and Duties, both as Men and as Chriftians.

And fince it hath pleafed God, who feparated

me from the Womb to the Knowledge and Ser-

vice of the Gofpel of his Son, to feparate me
alfo to this hard and difficult Service at this time,

and to fingle me out to the Defence and Juftifi-

cation of this his Caufe, I could not confent, by
any Words or Actions of mine, that the Inno-

cent Blood that hath been fhed in the Defence

of it, throughout the whole War (the Guilt

and moral Evil of which muft and does certain-

ly lie fomewhere) did lie at my Door, or at

theirs that have been the faithful Adherers to

this Caufe. This is with fuch Evidence upon
my Heart, that I am mo ft freely and chearfully

willing to put the greateft Seal to it I am capa-

ble, which is, the pouring out of my very

Blood in witnefs to it ; which is all I {hall need
to fay in this Place and at this Time, having
fpoken at large to it in my Defence at my Trial,

intending to have faid more the laft Day, as

what I thought was reafonable for Arreft of the

Judgment, but I was not permitted then to

fpeak it \ both which may, with Time and God's
Providence, come to publick View.
And I muft ftill aflert, that I remain wholly

unfatisfied that the Courfe of Proceedings againlt

me at my Trial were according to Law, but

that I was run upon and deftroy'd, contrary to

Right, and the Liberties of Magna Charta, under
the Form only of Juftice ; which I leave to

God to decide, who is the Judge of the whole
World, and to clear my Innocencyj whilft in

the mean time I befeech him to forgive them,
and all that have had a Hand in my Death ; and
that the Lord, in his great Mercy, will not lay

it to their Charge.

And I do account the Lot of mine no other

than what is to be expected by thofe that are not

of the World, but whom Chrift hath chofen

out of it j for the Servant is not greater than his

Lord : And if they have done this to the green

Tree, they will do it much more to the dry.

However, I fhall not altogether excufe myfelf.

I know, that by many WeaknefTes and Failures,

I have given occafion enough of the ill Ufage 1

have met with from Men, tho' in the main,

the Lord knows the Sincerity and Integrity of

my Heart, whatever Afperfions and Reproaches
I have or do lie under. I know alfo that God
is juft in bringing this Sentence and Condemna-
tion upon me for my Sins j there is a Body of
Sin and Death in me deferves this Sentence •> and
there is a Similitude and Likenefs alfo, that, as

a Chriftian, God thinks me worthy to bear with
my Lord and Head, in many Circumftmces, in

reference to thefe Dealings I have met with -, in

the Good I have been endeavouring for many
Years to be doing in thefe Nations, and efpe-

cially now at laft, in being numbred among
Tranfgreflbrs, and made a publick Sacrifice, thro'

the Wrath and Contradictions of Men, and in

having finifhed my Courfe, and fought the good
Fight of Faith, and refifted in a Way of Suffe-

ring, (as you fee) even unto Blood.

This is but the needful Preparation the Lord
hath been working in me, to the receiving of
the Crown of Immortality, which he hath pre-
paid for them that love him. The Profpect
whereof is fo chearing, that thro' the Joy (in

it) that is fet before the Eyes of my Faith, I

can, thro' Mercy, endure the Crofs, defpife this

Shame, and am become more than Conqueror,

thro' Chrift that hath loved me.
For my Life, Eftate and all, is not fo dear

to me as my Service to God, to his Caufe, to

the Kingdom of Chrift, and the future Welfare
of my Country ; and I am taught, according to

the Example, as well as that moft Chriftian Say-
ing of a noble Perfon *, that lately died after

this publick Manner in Scotland; How much bet-

ter is it to choofe Affiiclion and the Crofs, than to

fin or draw back from the Service of the living God,

into the Ways of Apoftacy and Perdition?

That noble Perfon, whofe Memory I honour,

was with myfelf at the beginning and making of

the Solemn League and Covenant •, the Matter of

which, and the holy Ends therein contain'd, [

fully afTent unto, and have been as defirous to

obferve > but the rigid Way of profecuting it,

and the Oppreffing Uniformity that hath been en-

deavour'd by it, I never approv'd.

This were fufficent to vindicate me from the

falfe Afperfions and Calumnies which have been
laid upon me, of Jefuitifm and Popery, and al-,

moft what not, to make my Name of ill Savour
with good Men ; which dark Mifts do now difpel

of themfelves, or at leaft ought, and need no
Pains of mine in making an Apology.

For if any Man feek a Proof of Chrift in me
let him read it in this Action of my Death
which will not ceafe to fpeak when I am gone j

And henceforth let no Man trouble me, for I bear

in my Body the Marks of the Lord Jefus.

I fhall not defire in this Place to take up much
time, but only, as my laft Words, leave this

with you : That as the prefent Storm we now lie

under, and the dark Clouds that yet hang over the

reformed Churches of Chrift, (which are coming

thicker and thicker for a Seafon) were not unfore-

feen by me for many Tears paft (as fome Writings

of mine declare) : So the coming of Chrift in thefe

Clouds, in order to a fpeedy and fudden Revival of
his Caufe, and fpreading his Kingdom over the Face

of the whole Earth, is moft char to the Eye of my
Faith, even that Faith in which I die, whereby the

Kingdoms of this World fhall become the Kingdom of

our Lord, and of his Chrift. Amen. Evenfo, come

Lord Jefus.

' Heferns to intend the Marquifs of Argyle, ivbofpake to that eftft.

Before
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Before the Stroke, he fpake to this Effect : /
blefs the Lord, who hath accounted me -worthy to

fuffer for his Name. BleJJed be the Lord that 1

have kept a Confcience void of Offence to this Day.

I blefs the Lord I have not deferted the righteous

Caufe, for which I fuffer.

3
When he had laid his Neck on the Block he

concluded his Life with thefe Words t, Father,

glorify thy Servant in the Sight of Men, that he

may glorify thee in the Difcharge of his Duty to

thee and to his Country. Upon which the Exe->

cutioner did his Office.
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LX. The Trial of John Crook, Isaac Grey
John Bolton, Quakers, at the Old Baily, for re

fujing to take the Oaths of Allegiance and Suprema

June 25, 1662. 14 Car. II. Related

B E I N G in John's Street, London,

about the 1 3th day of the 3d Month
called May, with fome others of the

People of God to wait upon him, as

we were fat together, there came in

a rude Man called Miller with a long Cane in

his Hand, who laid violent hands upon me, with

fome others j who having no Warrant were not

willing to meddle, but as his threatnings pre-

vailed, they being afraid of him, joined with him

to carry us before Juftice Powel, who the next

Day fent us to the Seffions at Hicks's-Hall, where

after fome difcourfe feveral times with them,

manifesting to them the Illegality both of our

Commitment and their Proceedings thereupon,

yet notwithstanding they committed me, to-

gether with Ifaac Grey and John Bolton, to New
Prifon, where we continued for fome Days, and

were then removed to Newgate, where we re-

mained until the Seffions at the Old Baily 5

when I was brought to the Bar.

* Sir Robert

Forfter.

* Chief Judge. John Crook, when
did you take the Oath of Allegi-

ance?

j. Crook. I defire to be heard.

Chief Judge. And to the Queflion, and you

fhall be heard.

J. Crook. I have been about fix Weeks in Pri-

fon, and am I now called to accufe my felf j For
the anfwering to this Queflion in the Negative

is to accufe my felf, which you ought not to put

me upon ; for, nemo debet Jeipfum prodere. lam
an Englifhman, and by the Law of England I

ought not to be taken nor imprifoned, nor dif-

feized of my Freehold, nor called in queflion,

nor put to anfwer, but according to the Law
of the Land j which I challenge as my Birth-

right, on my own behalf, and all that hear me
this day {or words to this purpofe.) I fland here

at this Bar as a Delinquent, and do defire that

my Accufer may be brought forth to accufe me
for my Delinquency, and then I fhall anfwer to

my Charge (if any I be guilty of.)

Chief Judge. You are here demanded to take

the Oath of Allegiance, and when you have
done that, then you fhall be heard about the

other ; for we have power to tender it to any
Man.

J. Crook. Not to me upon this occafion, in

this place > for I am brought hither as an Offen-
der already, and not to be made an Offender
here, or to accufe my felf; for I am an Ejtglifi-

man, as I have faid to you, and challenge the
benefit of the Laws of England % for by them, is

a better Inheritance derived to me as an Englifi'

man, than that which I receive from my Parents j

for by the former the latter is prefei ved : and
this the 20th Chapter of Magna Charta, and
the Petition of Right, mentioned in the 3d of
Car. I. and in other good Laws of England 5

and therefore I defire the benefit and obfervance
of them : And you that are Judges upon the
Bench ought to be my Counfel, and not my
Accufers, but to inform me of the benefit of
thofe Lawsj and wherein lam ignorant you
ought to inform me, that I may not fuffer

through my own ignorance of thofe advantages
which the Laws of England afford me as an
Englifhman.

Chief Judge. We fit here to do Juftice, and
are upon our Oaths, and we are to tell you what
is Law, and not you us : Therefore, Sirrah, you
are too bold.

J. Crook. Sirrah is not a Word becoming a

Judgej for I am no Felon; neither ought you to

menace the Prifoner at the Bar : for I fland

here arraigned as for my Life and Liberty, and
the Prefervation of my Wife and Children,

and outward Eflate, (they being now at the

flake j) Therefore you ought to hear me to the

full what I can fay in my own Defence, accord-

ing to Law, and that in its feafon, as ir is given
me to fpeak : Therefore I hope the Court will

bear with me, if I am bold to affert my Liberty

as an Englifhman and as a Chriflian : and if I fpeak

loud, it is my Zeal for the Truth, and for the

Name of the Lord; and mine Innocency makes me
bold

Judge. It is an evil Zeal. [Interrupting John,

Crook.']

J. Crook. No, I am bold in the Name of the

Lord God Almighty, the everlafling Jehovah, to

affert the Truth, and fland as a Witnefs for it i
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Let my Accufer be brought forth, and I am
ready to anfwer any Court of Juftice

Then the Judge interrupted me, faying,

Sirrah, with fome other Words I do not remem-

ber : But I anfwered, Tou are not to threaten me,

neither are thofe Menaces fit for the mouth of a

Judge : for the Safety of a Prifoner ftands in the

Indifferency of the Court ; And you ought not to be-

have your /elves as Parties ; feeking all advantages

againfi the Prifoner, but not heeding any thing that

may make for his clearing or advantage ——~ The
Judge again interrupted me, faying,

Judge. Sirrah, you are to take the Oath, and

here we tender it you {bidding me to read it."}

J. Crook. Let me fee mine Accufer, that I

may know for what Caufe I have been fix weeks

imprifoned, and do not put me to accufe my
felf by asking me Queftions ; ,but either let my
Accufer come forth, or otherwife let me be dis-

charged by Proclamation, as you ought to do

—

Here J was interrupted again.

Judge Twifden. We take no notice of your be-

ing here otherwife than of a Straggler, or as any

other Perfons, or of the People that are here this

day ; for we may tender the Oath to any Man.
And another Judge [pake to the like pnrpofe.

J. Crock. I am here at your Bar as a Prifoner

retrained of my Liberty, and do queftion whe-

ther you ought in Juftice to tender me the Oath

on the account I am now brought before you,

becaufe I am fuppofed to be an Offender, or

elfe why have I been fix Weeks in Prifon al-

ready ? let me be cleared of my Imprifonment,

and then I mail anfwer to what is charged againft

me, and to the Queftion now propounded j for

I am a lover of Juftice with all my Soul, and am
well known by my Neighbours where I have

lived, to keep a Conscience void of Offence both to-

wards God, and towards Man.
Judge. Sirrah, leave your Canting.

J. Crook. Is this Canting, to fpeak the words

of the Scripture ?

Judge. It's Canting in your mouth, though
they are St. Paul's Words.

J. Crook. I fpeak but the Words of the Scrip-

ture, and it is not Canting though I fpeak them,

but they are Words of truth and fobernefs in

my mouch, they being witneffed by me, and
fulfilled in me.

Judge. We do ask you again, whether you
will take the Oath of Allegiance ? it is but a

fhort Queftion, you may anfwer it if you will.

J. Crook. By what Law have you Power to

gender it ? Then, after fome Confutation together

by whifpering, they called for the Statute-Book, and
turning over the leaves, they anfwered,

Judge. By the 3d of King James.

J. Crook. I defire that Statute may be read ;

for I have confulted it, and do not underftand

that you have Power by that Statute to tender

me the Oath, being here before you in this

place upon this Occafion, as a Delinquent al-

ready ; and therefore I defire the Judgment of

the Court in this Cafe, and that the Statute may
be read.

Then they took the Statute-Book and conful-

ted together upon it, and one faid ; We are the

Judges of this Land, and do better underftand

our Power than you do, and we do judge we
may lawfully do it.

J. Crook. Is this the Judgment of the Court ?

Judge. Yes.

J. Crook. I defire the Statute to be read that

impowers you to tender the Oath to me upon
this Occafion in this Place ; for, Vox audita pe-

rit, fed litera fcripta manet, therefore let me hear

it read.

Judge. Hear me.

J. Crook. I am as willing to hear as to fpeak.

Judge. Then hear me: You are here required

to take the Oath by the Court, and I will in-

form you what the Penalty will be in cafe you
refufe : for, your firft denial Ihall be Recorded,
and then it Ihall be tendered to you again at the

end of the Seffions, and upon the fecond refufal

you run a Premunire, which is the forfeiture of
all your Eftate (if you have any) and Imprifon-

ment during Life.

J. Crook. It is Juftice I ftand for ; let me have
Juftice, in bringing my Accufer face to face, as

by Law you ought to do, I Handing at your Bar
as a Delinquent ; and when that is done, I will

anfwer to what can be charged againft me, as

alfo to the Queftion ; until then I Ihall give no
other Anfwer than 1 have already done, (at leaft

at prefent.)

Then there was a Cry in the Court 'Take him
away, which occafioned a great interruption,

and J. Crook fpake to this purpofe, faying, Mind
the Fear of the Lord God, that you may come
to the knowledge of his Will, and do Juftice;

and take heed of oppreffing the Innocent, for

the Lord God of Heaven and Earth will afluredly

plead their Caufe : and for my part, I defire not

the hurt of one of the Hairs of your Heads, but
let God's Wifdom guide you. Thefe words he

fpake at the Bar, and as he was carrying away.

On the fixth Day of the Week in the forenoon, the

Court being fate, John Crook was called to the

Bar.

ChiefJudge. Friend Crook, We have given you
time to confider of what was faid yelterday to

you by the Court, hoping you may have better

confidered of it by this time: therefore, without

any more Words, will you take the Oath? and

called to the Clerk, and bid him read it.

J. Crook. I did not, neither do I deny Alle-

giance, but do defire to know the Caufe of my
fo long Imprifonment ; for, as 1 faid, I ftand at

your Bar as a Delinquent, and am brought hither

by Force, contrary to the Law ; therefore let

me fee my Accufer, or elfe free me by Procla-

mation, as I ought to be, if none can accufe

me : For the Law is grounded upon right Rea-

fon, and whatfoever is contrary to right Reafon,

is contrary to Law j and therefore if no Accufer

appear, you ought to acquit me firft, and then

I Ihall anfwer, as I have faid, if any new Matter

appear, otherwife it is of force, and that our

Law abhors, and you ought not to take notice

of my fo being before you ; for what is not le-

gally fo, is not fo j and therefore I am in the

condition, as if I were not before you : and

therefore it cannot be fuppofed in right Reafon,

that you have now Power at this time, and in

this place, legally to tender me the Oath.

Judge. Read the Oath to him. [And fo the

Clerk began to read.~]

J. Crook. I defire Juftice according to the

Laws of England : for you ought firft to con-

vi£t me concerning the Caufe of my fo long Im-

prifonment : for you are to proceed according to

Laws
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Laws already made, and not to make Laws ; for

you ought to be Minifters of the Law.

Judge. You are a faucy and an impudent Fel-

low ; will you tell us what is Law in our duties?

Then faid he to the Clerk, Read on ; and when the

Clerk had done reading,

J. Crook faid, Read the Preface to the Aft ;

I fay again, read the Title and Preamble to the

Aft 3 for Titles to Laws are Claves Legum, as

Keys to open the Law ; for by their Titles Laws
are underftood and known, as Men by their

Faces. Then the Judges would have interrupt-

ed me, but I faid as followeth, If you will not

hear me, nor do me Juftice, I mult appeal to

the Lord God of Heaven and Earth, who is

Judge of quick and ;dead, before whom we fhall

all appear to give an Account for the Deeds done

in the Body -, for he will judge between you and

me this Day, whether you have done me Juftice

or not.

Thefe Words following (or the like) I fpake as

woing from the Bar, being pulled away, viz. Mind
the Fear of the Lord God, that you may do Juf-

tice, left you perifh in his Wrath : For fometimes

the Court cried, Pull him away, and then faid,

Bring him again; and thus they didfeveral times,

like Men in confufion and diforder.

The fame Day in the Afternoon, Silence being

made, John Crook was called to the Bar before

thejudges and Juftices aforefaid : the Indiftment

being read, theJudge faid,

Mr. Crooks You have heard your Indiftment,

< what fay you, are you Guilty, or Nor Guilty?

J. Crook. I defire to (peak a few Words in

' Humility and Sobernefs, in regard my Eftate and

Liberty lies at ftake, and am like to be a Prece-

dent for many more ; therefore I hope the Court

will not deny me the right and benefit of the

Law, as being an Englifhman ; I have fome Rea-

fon, before I fpeak any thing to the Indiftment,

to demand and tell you, that I defire to know
mine Accufers ; I have been kept this fix Weeks
in Prifon, and know not, nor have feen the Faces

of them.

Judge. We fhall afford you the Right of the

Law as an Englifhrnan, God forbid you iliould

be denied it ; but you muft anfwer firft, Guilty,

or Not Guilty, that fo in your Trial you may
have a fair Hearing and Pleading} but if you go
ion as you do (and will not anfwer Guilty, or

Not Guilty) you will run your felf into a Pre-

munire, and then you lofe the Benefit of the

Law, and expofe your felf, Body and Eflare, to

great Hazards; and whatever Violence is offered

to your Perion or Eftate, you are out of the

King's Protection, and lofe the Benefit of the

,Law, and all this by your not anfwering Guilty,

ior Not Guilty: if you plead Not Guilty, you
imay be heard.

J. Crook. It is recorded in the Statutes of the

z8 Edw. 3 and 3. and 42. Edw. 3, and 3. in

thefe Words, No Man is to be taken, or imprifon-

ed, or be put to anfwer without Prefentment before

Juftices, or matter of Record, or by due Procefs, or

Writ original, according to the old Law of the Land \

and if any thing from henceforth be done to the con-

trary, it /ball be void in Lazv, and holden for Error :

and alfo in the 25 of Edw. 1, 2. and the 3 Car.

1 . and the 2.0 cap. Mag. Chart. No Freeman

.fhall be taken and jmprifoned but by the Law of the

\Land ; Thefe words [The Law of the Land'] are

explained by the Statute of 37 Edw. 3, 8. to be

Vol. II.

without due procefs of Law : and if any Judgments
be given contrary to Mag. Chart, they are void,

Zf Edw. 1 , z.

Judge. Mr. Crook, you are out of the way, and
do not underftand the Law ; though you adore

the Statute Law fo much, yet you do not under-
ftand it.

J. Crook. I would have you tell me the right

way.
Judge. Mr. Crook, hear me. You muft fay,

Guilty, or Not Guilty j If you plead Not Guilty,
you lhall be heard, and know how far the Law
favours you. And the next thing is, there is no
Circumftance whatfoever that is the Caufe of
your Impnfonment that you queftion, but you
have, as a Subjeft, your Remedies, if you will

go this way, and wave other Things, and
anfwer Guilty, or Not Guilty ; and what the
Law affords you, you fhall have, if you do what
the Law requires you, or elfe you will lofe the
Benefit of the Law, and be out of the King's
Proteftion.

J. Crook. Obferve how the Judge would draw
me into a Snare, viz. by firft pleading Guilty,
or Not Guilty ; and when I have done fo, he
and his Brethren intend fuddenly to put me (as

an Out-law'd Perfon) out of the Kind's Pro-
teftion ; and how then can I have remedy for

my falfe Imprifonment? Therefore firftclear

me, or condemn me for my falfe Imprifonment,
while I am in a capacity to have the Benefit of
the Law, and not to Out-law me for an Offence
created by your felves ; and then to flop my
Mouth, you tell me, that if I have been wronged
or falfe imprifoned, I may have my Remedy after-

wards ; this is to trepan me, and contrary to both
Law and Juftice, &c.

Judge. You muft plead Guilty, or Not Guilty.

J. Crook. I do defire in Humility and Meek-
nefs to fay, I fhall not, I dare not betray the
Honefty of my Caufe, and the honeft Ones ofc

this Nation, whofe Liberty I ftand for as well
as my own, as 1 have caufe to think I fhall, if

1 plead to the prefent Indiftment before I fee the
Faces of my Accufers j for truly, I am not fatis-

fied in my Judgment and Confcience that I ought
to plead to a created Offence by you, before 1 be
firft acquitted of the Caufe of my being brought
Prifoner to your Bar, and therefore it flicks with,

mc to urge this further, viz. That I may fee my
Accufers.- -Interruption.

Judge. The arranteft Thief may fay he is not
fatisfied in his Confcience.

J. Crook. My Cafe is not theirs, yet they have
their Accufers ; and may not I call for mine ?

and therefore call for them, for you ought to

do fo, as Chrift faid to the Woman, {Woman,
where are thine Accufers ? ) fo you ought to fay to
me, {Man, where are thine Accufers ?) Inter"

rupted.

Judge. Your Indiftment is your Accufer, and
the Grand Jury hath found you Guilty, becaufe
you did not Swear; what fay you, Mr. Crook,

are you Guilty or Not Guilty ? If you will not
anfwer, or what you have faid be taken for your
Anfwer, as I told you before, you lole the Be-
nefit of the Law j and what I tell you is for

your good.

J. Crook. What is for good I hope I fhall take

it fo.

Judge. If you will not anfwer, you run your
felf into a Premunire, and you will lofe the Be-

O o o nefit
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nefit of the Law, and of the King's Protedion,

unlefs you plead Guilty, or Not Guilty.

J. Crook. I ftand as brought forcibly and vio-

lently hither, neither had 1 been here but by a

violent'Action, and that you fhould take no No-

tice of it, feems ftrange to me ; and not only fo,

but that you fhould haften me fo faft into a

courfe that I fhould not be able any ways to

help my felf, by reafon of your fo halty and faft

Proceedings againft me to put me out of the

King's Protection, and the Benefit of all Law

;

was ever the like known or heard of in a Court

of Juftice !

Judge. Friend, this is not here in Queftion,

whether you are unjuftly brought here, or not

;

Do you queftion that by Law, but not dif ble

your felf to take Advantage by the Law; if

brought by a wrong hand, you have a Plea a-

gainft them, but you mult firft anfwer Guilty,

or Not Guilty.

J. Crook. How can I help my felf when you
have Out-lawed me? Therefore letProclamaion

be made in the Court, that I was brought by

Force hither, and let me ftand cleared by Pro-

clamation, as you ought to do; for you are dif

cernere per Legem, quid fit juflum, and not to do

what feems good in your own Eyes. [Here I was

interrupted again, but might have fpoken Juftice

Crook's Words in Hamden's Cafe, who faid, fhat

we who are Judges [peak upon our Oaths, and there-

fore mufi deliver our Judgments according to our

Confciences \ and the fault will lie upon us if it be

illegal, and we deliver it for Law : and further

laid, tVe that are Judges mufi not give our Judg-

ments according to Policy, or Rules of State, nor

Conveniences, but only according to Law. Thefe

were his Words, which I might have fpoken,

but was interrupted.]

Judge. What though no Man tendred the

Oath to you when you were committed (as you
fay) it being now tendred to you ? From the

time you refufed it, being tendred to you by a

lawful Authority, you refufing, are Indicted ;

We look not upon what you are here for, but

here finding you, we tender you the Oath, and

you refufing it, your Imprifonment is now juft

and according to Law.

J. Crook. How came I here, if you know not?

I have told you it is by Force and Violence,

which our Law altogether condemns ; and there-

fore I not being legally before you, am not be-

fore you; for what is not legally fo, is not fo;

and I not being legally brought to your Bar,

you ought not to take notice of my being

here.

Judge. No, no, you are miftaken : fo you may
fay of all the People gazing here, they not be-

ing legally here, are not here. I tell you a Man
being brought by Force hither, we may tender

him the Oath, and if he take it not, he may be

committed to Prifon ; Authority hath given us

the Power, and the Starute-Law hath given us

Authority to tender the Oath to any Perfon,and

fo have we tendred it you, and for your not

taking of it, you are Indicted by the Grand Jury

;

Anfwer the Accufation, or confute the Indict-

ment, you muft do the one or the other j an-

fwer Guilty, or Not Guilty.

\_J. Crook. Here I was interrupted, but might
have faid, that the People that were Spectators,

beholding and hearing the Trials, are not to be

called Gazers, as thejudge terms them, becaufe

it is their Liberty and Privilege as they are

EngUJhmen, and the Law of England allows the
fame, fo that they are not to be termed Gazers
upon this account, but are legally in that Place,

to hear Trials and fee Juftice done, and mighc
have fpoken (if occafion had been) any thing in

the Prifoner's Defence, tending to clear up the

Matter in difference, and the Court muft have
heard them or him, and this as a Stander-by, or
Amicus curia, fo faith Coke.]

J. Crook. The Law is built upon right Rea-
fon, or right Reafon is the Law : and whatever
is contrary to right Reafon, is contrary to Law,
the Reafon of the Law being the Law itfelf. I
am no Lawyer, and my knowledge of it is but
little, yet I have had a love to it, for that Rea-
fon I have found in it, and have fpent fome
leifurable Hours in the reading thereof; and the
Law is that which I honour, and is good in its

Place; many Laws being juft and good (not all)

but I fay a great part of it, or much of it, and
that is not my intention in the leaft to difparage

or derogate from.

Judge. Mr. Crook, You have been told you
muft plead Guilty, or Not Guilty, or elfe you
will run your felf into a Premunire ; be not your
own Enemy, nor be not fo obftinate.

J. Crook. I would not ftand obftinately before

you, neither am I fo ; if you underftand it other-

wife, it is a miftake indeed.

Judge. Will you fpeak to the Indictment? and
then you may plead : if you will not anfwer
Guilcy, or Not Guilty, we will Record it, and

Judgment fhall go againft you. Clerk, enter

him.

Recorder. Mr. Crook, If you will anfwer you
may plead for your felf, or will you take the
Oath ? The Court takes no Notice how you
came hither? What fay you, will you anfwer?
For a Man may be brought out of Smithfield by
Head and Shoulders, and the Oath tendred to

him, and may be committed, without taking
notice how he came here.

J. Crook. That kind of Proceeding is not only
unjuft but unreafonable alfo

—

{here was fome in-

terruption) and againft the Laws aforefaid, which
fiy, No Man flmll be taken, or imprifoned, but by

Warrant, or due Procefs of Law ; fo that this

Speech of the Recorder's favours more of Paffion

than Juftice, and Cruelty than due obfervance of

Law : for every forcible reftraint of a Man's Li-

berty is an Imprifonment in Law. Befides, this

kind of practice, to take Men by Force and Im-
prifon them, and then ask them Qyeftions, the

anfwering of which makes them Guilty, is not

only unrighteous in itfelf, but againft Law, and

makes one evil Act the ground of another, and

one Injury offered to one the Foundation of a-

nother j and this is my Cafe this Day— Inter-

ruption.

Judge. Mr. Crook, you muft not be your own
Judge, we are your Judges ; but for our parts

we will not wrong you : will you anfwer Guilty,

or Not Guilty ? if not, you will runyourfelf into

a Premunire unavoidably, and then you know
what I told you would follow; for we take no

Notice how you came hither, but finding you
here we tender you the Oath.

J. Crook. Then it feems You make the Law
a Trepan to enfnare me, or as a Nofe of Wax,
or what you pleafe: Well! I fhall leave my
Caufe with the Lord God, who will plead for

me :
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me in Righteoufnefs. But fuppofe I do take the

Oath [now] at this time, you may call me again

[to-morrow] and make a new Tender; or o-

thers may call me before them.

Judge. Yes, if there be new Matter; or if

there fall out any emergent occafion, whereby

you minifter on your part new occafion: Mr.

Crook, will you fwear ?

J. Crook, if I do take it to-day, it may be ten-

dred me again to-morrow, and fo next Day, ad

infinitum ; whereby a great part of my time may
be fpent and taken up in taking the Oath and

Swearing.

Chief Judge. When you have [once] fworn,

you may not be put upon it again, except you

minifter occafion on your part.

J. Crook. Is this the Judgment of the Court,

that the Oath [once] taken by me is fufficient,

and ought not to be tendred a fecond time,

without new Matter miniftred on my part?

Judge. Yes, you making it appear you have

[once] taken it.

J. Crook. Is this the Judgment of the whole

Court ? for I would not do any thing raihly.

Judges. Yes, it is the Judgment of the Court;

to which they all flanding up, faid^ Yes.

J. Crook. Then it feems there muft be fome

new occafion miniftred by me after I have [once]

taken it, or it ought not to be tendred to me
the fecond time?

Judges. Yes.

J. Crook. Then by the Judgment of this

Court, if I make it appear that I have taken the

Oath [once] and I have miniftred no new Mat-
ter on my part, whereby I can be juftly charged

with the Breach of it, then it ought not to be

tendred me the fecond time ; but I am the Man
that have taken it [once] being a Freeman of

the City of London, when I was made free, wit-

nefs the Records in Guild-hall, which I may
produce, and no new Matter appearing to you
on my part, if there do, let me know it; if not,

you ought not by your own Judgment to tender

me it the fecond time ; for, de non apparcntibus

£5? non exiftentibus, eadem Ratio efi—Interrupted

by the Ihout of the Court, when thefe laft words
might have been fpoken.

Judge. Mr. Crook you are miftaken, you muft
not think to furprize the Court with Criticifms,

nor draw falfe Conclusions from our Judgments.

J. Crook. If this be not a natural Conclufion
from the Judgment of the Court, let right Rea-
fon judge; and if you recede from your own
Judgments in the fame Breath (as it were) given
even now, what Juftice can I expect from you?
for, if you will not be juft to yourfelves and your
own Judgments, how can I expect you fhould

be juft to me ?

Judge. Mr. Crook, If you have taken it, if

there be a new Emergency, you are to take it

again ; as for Inftance, the King hath been out
of England, and now is come in again; there be
many have taken it twenty, thirty, or forty

Years fince, yet this new Emergency requires

J

it again ; and although you have taken it, yet
you muft not make it appear before you anfwer
Guilty, or Not Guilty; therefore do not wrong
yourfelf, and prejudice yourfelf and Family : Do
you think that every Fellow that comes hither
fhall argue as you do? we have no more to do
but to know of you whether you will anfwer
(Guilty, or Not Guilty) or take the Oath, and

Vol. II.
'

then you fhall be freed from the Indictment; if

you will not plead, Clerk record it ; what fay

you ? are you Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

J. Crook. Will you not ftand to your own
Judgments ? did you not fay even now, that if

I had [once] taken the Oath, it ought not to

be tendred to me the fecond time, except I ad-
miniftred new Matter on my part that I have
not kept it, &V. but no fuch Matter appearing,
you ought not to tender it to me the fecond
time by your own Confeffion, much lefs to In-
dict me for Refufal.

Judge. If you will not plesd, we will record
it, and Judgment fhall be given againft you;
therefore fay, Guilty, or Not Guilty, or elfe we
will record it. [The Clerk beginning to record it.']

J. Crook. Before I anfwer, I demand a Copy
of my Indictment; for I have heard it affirmed by
Counfel learned in the Law, that if i plead before
I have a Copy, or have made my Exceptions,
my Exceptions afterwards againft the Indictment
will be made void : Therefore I defire a Copy
of the Indictment.

Judge. He that faid fo, deferves not the name
of a Counfel: for the Law is, You muft fir ft

anfwer, and then you fhall have a Copy. Will
you plead Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

J. Crook. Ifmy pleading Guilty,or Not Guilty,
will not deprive me of the Benefit of quafhing
the Indictment for Infufficiencv, or other Ex-
ceptions that I may make againft it, I fhall fpeak
to it.

Judge. No, it will nor. Will you anfwer,
Guilty, or Not Guilty? If you plead not, the
Indictment will be found againft you : Wjll you
anfwer ? we will ftay no longer.

J. Crook. I am upon the point : Will not my
pleading deprive me of the Benefit of the Law ?

for I am tender in that refpecl, becaufe it is not
my own Cafe [only] but may be the Cafe of
[thoufands] more; therefore I would do no-
thing that might prejudice others or myfelf, as a
Chriftian, or as an Englijhman.

Judge. Underftand your felf, (but we will not
make a bargain with you, faid another Judge)
you fhall have the Right done you as an Englijh-

man, the way is to anfwer, Guilty, or Not
Guilty: If you plead, and find the Indictment

not good, you may have your Remedy; anfwer,

Guilty, or Not Guilty.

J. Crook. As to the Indictment it is very large,

and feems to be confufed, and made up of fome
things true, and fome things falfe ; my Anfwer
therefore is, what is true in the Indictment I

will not deny, becaufe I make Confcience of
what I fay, and therefore, of what is true, I

confefs my felf Guilty, but what is falfe I am
Not Guilty of that.

Judge. That is not fufficient : either anfwer
Guilty, or Not Guilty, or Judgment will be
given againft you.

J. Crook. I will fpeak the Truth as before the

Lord, as all along I have endeavour'd to do, I

am Not Guilty of that which is falfe contained in

the Indictment, which is the Subftance thereof.

Judge. No more ado, the form is nothing,

Guilty, or Not ?

J. Crook. I muft not wrong my Confcience,

I am Not Guilty of what is falfe, as I faid before,

what is true I am Guilty of; what is not true,

I am Not guilty of that, which is the Subftance

thereof, as I faid before,

O o 2 Recorder.
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Recorder. It is enough, and fhall ferve turn.

Enter that, Clerk.

Ifaac Grey being caWd to the Bar.

Judge. Will you take the Oath of Allegiance?

Grey. I have been near five Weeks in Prifon,

I defire to know for what.

fudge. We take no notice of your Imprifon-

ment, nor how you came here j will you take

the Oath ?

Grey. I defire to know for what I am impn-

fon'd, and then I am ready to anfwer; for no

Man (in this particular) hath received fo much

wrong as my felf, having received a Wound,

whereby I was in Jeopardy of my Life.

Judge. If any have wronged you, take your

Courfe in Law. Will you fwear?

Grey. I am a Man of a tender Confcience, and

. do defire time to confider.

Judge. Take him away. Which was accord-

ingly done.

The next Day Ifaac Grey was called to the

Bar, and asked by the Judge, if he would yet

take the Oath ? Recorder fpeaking unto him on

this wife ; Mr. Grey, you are a wife underftanding

Man, and a Scholar j be advifed what you do,

and do not ruin yourfelf, but take the Oath.

Grey. I defire time to confider, and to do no-

thing raihly.

Then in the Afternoon were all three again

called to the Bar, and the Indictment read.

Judge. Mr. Grey, will you take the Oath ?

Crier, hold him the Book.

Grey. I defire to know the Caufe of my firft

Imprifonment, and to difcharge me of the fame

before I give my Anfwer to the Oath ; for I

do not know myfelf guilty of any Crime.

Judge. The Law fuppofeth you tobedifaffected

to the prefent Government, and therefore the

Oath is tendred to you.

Grey. I underftand that the fundamental Law
of England alloweth no Man to be accufed or

condemned upon Supposition : I do further affirm,

and that in the Light of God, that I am not an

Enemy to the King,'nor to any Man living upon
the Face of the Earth.

Judge. Will you anfwer, Guilty, or Not
Guilty?

Grey. I defire Time to confider of the Truth
of this Matter j the Indictment being large, and

having much contained in it which indeed I do

not well underftand.

Judge. Will you yet fwear, or plead to the

Indictment?

Grey. I have told you, and that for Confcience

fake, I dare do nothing rafhly.

Judge. What do you talk to us of Confcience

!

every Fellow may plead Confcience.

Grey. Do you ufe to fwear fuch as make no
Confcience ?

Judge. Guilty, or Not Guilty ? When you
have anfwer'd to this, you may plead what you
can in your own Defence j but firft anfwer,

Guilty, or Not Guilcy : The Rule of the Law is,

you muft firft anfwer.

Grey. Would you have Men fwear whether

they will or nay, efpeciaily when againft their

Confciences ?

Judge. We have Confciences as well as you :

If there beany thing as to Matter of Confcience,

it is nothing! you muft plead Guilty, or Not
Guilty, that we may not fpend time any longer.

Grey. Truly, I defire not that the time fhould
be taken up in any thing that may not advantage
the good of the People ; therefore before I plead,

give me a Copy of the Indictment, and then I

fhall plead.

Judge. Sirrah, Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Grey. I defire firft to be heard as a Chriftian,

and then as an Englifhman.

Judge. Do not i tell you (Sirrah) if you will

plead, Not Guilty, you fhall be heard , but if

you will not, you will run yourfelf into a Pre-
munire ?

Grey. I appeal then to God Almighty, for I

fhall not wrong my Confcience.

Judge. It is no Matter of Confcience : Guilty,
or Not Guilty ?

Grey. Not Guilty.

John Bolton having made the fame Objections,
was at laft oblig'd to plead Not Guilty.

The feventh Day of the Week, called Saturday.

Silence being made, Ifaac Grey, John Bolton,

and myfelf, were brought to the Bar.

The Clerk of the Seffions read fomething con-
cerning the Jury, which was empanell'd on pur-
pofe (as was laid) the Jury being difcharged, who
were Eye-witnefTes of what paffed between us
and the Court : And this Jury being divers of
them Soldiers, fome of whom did by Violence
and Force pull and hale Friends out of their

Meetings, and fome of us out ofourHoufes ; and
thefe were of the Jury by whom we were to be

tried. The Clerk reading the Indictment (as I

remember.)

J. Crook. I defire to be heard a few Words,
which are thefe, That we may have Liberty till

the next Quarter- Seffions to traverfc the Indict-

ment, it being long, and in Latin, and like to

be a Precedent ; and I hope I need not prefs it,

becaufe I underftood that you promifed, (and

efpeciaily the Recorder, who anfwered (when it

was defired) Tou fhall) that we fhould have Coun-
fel alfo, the which we cannot be expected to

have had the Benefit of, as yet, the time being
fo fhort, and we kept Prifoners, that we could

not go forth to advife with Counfel, neither

could we tell how to get them to us : We hav-
ing no Copy of the Indictment before 1

this

Morning, and becaufe fo fuddenly hurried down
to the Seffions, we cannot reafonably be fuppofed

to be provided (as to Matter of Law) to make our

Defence.

C. Judge. We have given you time enough,
and you fhall have no more* for we will try you I

at this time, therefore fwear the Jury.

J. Crook. I defire we may have Juftice, and
|

that we may not be furprized in our Trial, but

that we may have time 'till the next Quarter-Sef-

fions, our Indictment being in Latin, and fo large

as it is j and this is but that which is reafonable,

and is the Practice of other Courts j for, if it

be but an Action above Forty Shillings, it is not

ordinarily ended under two or three Terms.

And in the Quarter- Seffions, if one be Indicted

for a Trefpafs, if it be but to the Value of Five

Shillings, he fhall have Liberty to enter his Tra-

verfe, and, upon Security given to profecute, he
j

fhall have Liberty 'till the next Seffions, which
is the ordinary Practice ; which Liberty we de-

fire, and we hope it is fo reafonable it will not

be denied, efpeciaily upon this Occafion, we be-

ing
:
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ing like to be made a Precedent j and Courts of

Juftice have uied to be efpecially careful in

making of Precedents, for we are not provided

according to Law to make our Defence at this

time, and therefore if we be put upon it, it will

be a Surprizal.

Judge. There is no great matter of Law in

the Cafe, it is only matter of Fact, whether

you have refufed to take the Oath or not j that

is the Point in iffue : And what Law can arife

here ?

Record. Mr. Crook, the Keeper of the Prifon

was fpoken to, to tell you that we intended to

try you this Day, and therefore ordered him

that Counfel might come to you if you would,

and alfo that the Clerk fhould give you a Copy
of your Indictment : This is fair, therefore we

will go on to fwear the Jury j for the Matter is,

whether you refufe the Oath or not ? And that

is the (ingle Point, and there needs neither Law
nor Counfel in the Cafe j and therefore we con-

lidered of it laft night, when we fent you word

and did determine to try you, and therefore it is

in vain to fay any thing, for the Court is refol-

ved to try you now, therefore fwear the Jury,

Crier.

J. Crook. I hope you will not furprize us

:

Then the other Prifoners (who alfo were indict-

ed) cried out (having fpoke fomething before)

Let us have Juftice, and let not the Jury be

fworn till we be firft heard j fo there was a great

Noife, the Court being in a Confufion, lbme

crying, Take them awayj others, Stay, let them
alone ; others faying, Go on to fwear the Jury,

which the Crier in this Uproar and Confufion,

did do fomething, as if he had done it; then

we all cried out tor Juftice, and Liberty till the

next Seffions i the Court being in a Confufion,

fome crying one thing, and fome another, which

now cannot be called to mind, by reafon of the

great Diftraftion that was in the Court, neither

what we faid to them, nor they to us, the Noife

was fo great, and the Commands of the Court

fo various to the Officers, fome commanding
them to take us away, others, to let us alone,

others, to bring us nearer, others cried, put

them into the Bail-Dock, others, to put them
within the further!: Bar where the Felons ufed

to (land, where we were forced into accord-

ingly } and in this Hurliburly and Confufion that

was among them, fome Men were fworn to te-

ftify that we refilled to take the Oath, which we
never p^fitively did; other Officers of the Court,

whom they would have fworn, refufed to fwear,

though preffed to it by the Chief Juftice, they

definng to be excufed. Then fpake one of the

Prifoners again pretty much, but could hardly

be underftood by reafon of the Noife in the

Court, but the People, to whom he fpake with

a loud Voice by way of Exhortation, might
hear the Subftance of what he faid, which can-

not now particularly be called to mind j but it

was to exprefs the Prefence and Love of God to

himfelf, and to exhort others to mind his Fear,

that they alfo might be acquainted with God, &c

.

Judge. Stop his Mouth, Executioner} which
was accordingly done.

Prifoners. Then we cried out, Will you not
give us leave to fpeak for our felves ? We ex-

cept againft fome of the Jury, as being our Ene-
mies, and fome of them who by force comman-
ded us to be pulled out of our Meetings, con-

trary to LaWj and carried us to Prifon without
Warrant, or other due Procefs of Law 5 and
fhall thefe be our Judges ? We except againft

them.

Judge. It is too late now, you fhould have
done it before they had been fworn Jury-men.
Juryj go together^ that which you have to find,

is, whether they have refufed to take the Oath
or no, which hath been fworn before you that

they did refufe? you need not go from the Bar 5

and like Words laid the Recorder and others,

there being a Confufion and Noife in the Court,
many fpeaking together.

Prijoners. Then we cried for Juftice, and
that we might be heard, to make our Defence
before the Jury gave their Verdict : but the

Judge and Recorder faid, we fhould not be heard,

(making good by their practice what the Chief
Judge had faid the Day before, viz. That i£ we
had liberty to fpeak, we would make our fives
famous and them odious) crying again, Stop
theirMouths, Executioner; which was doneac-
cordingly with a dirty Cloth, and alfo endea-
voured to have gagg'd * me, ftnv- * <* h k
ing to get hold of my Tcngue,
having a Gag ready in his Hand for that Pur-

pofe, and fo we were ferved fe vera! Times; then

I called out with a loud Voice, Will you con-

demn us without hearing ? This is to deal worfe
with us than Pilate did with Chrift, who though
he condemned him without a Caufe, yet noc

without hearing him fpeak for himfelf; but you
deny us both. -

Grey. I defire to know whether according to

Law and the Practice of this Court, my ielf,

and my Fellow-Prifoners, may have Liberty to

put in Bail to profecute our Traverfe at the next

Seffions ?

Court. No, we will try you prefently.

Judge. Stop their Mouths, Executioner : And
this was the Cry of many upon the Bench, they

being ftill in a continued Confufion, fome crying

to the Jury, Give in your Verdicl:, for we will

not hear them ; with other Words which could

not be heard for the Noife, the Court being in

Confufion.

J. Crook. You might as well have caufedus to

have been murder'd before we came hither, as

to bring us hither under Pretence to try us, and

not give us leave to make our Defence; you had

as good take away our Lives at the Bar, as to

command us thus to be abufed, and Co have our

Mouths ftopt : Was ever the like known ? Let

the righteous God judge between us. Will you

hear me ? You have often promifed that you
would.

Judge. Hear me, and we will hear you 5 then

he began to fpeak, and fome others of the Bench
interrupted him, fometimes they fpeaking two
or three at a time, and a Noiie amongit the

Officers of the Court ; but the Judge faid, we
may give you Liberty till the next Seffions, but

we may chufe 3 and therefore we will try you
now.

J. Crook. I bade the People take notice of

their Promife, that I fhould have Liberty to

fpeak, faying, fee now you be as good as your

Words.
• Judge. The Law of England h not only juft

but merciful, and therefore you fhall not be fur-

prized, but fhall have what Juftice the Law al-

lows *= Interruption.
J.Crook,
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J. Crook. I remember what the Judge faid

even now, that the Law of England was a Mer-

ciful Law, that the Court had faid before, they

might, if they would, give us liberty till the

next Seffions, but they would not •, and the

Maxim of the Law alfo is, Summumjus eflfum-

ma Injuria, therefore I hope your Practice will

make it good, that it is a Merciful Law, and

not to execute Summum jus, 13c. upon me, and

thereby condemn your ielves out of your own
Mouths.

Judge. Jury, give in your Verdict.

J. Crook. Let me have Liberty firft to fpeak,

it is but few Words, and I hope I fhall do it

with what brevity and pertinency my underftand-

ing will give me leave, and the occafion re-

quires, it is to the point in thefe two Heads, viz.

Matter of Law, and Matter of Confcience : to

Matter of Law I have this to fay, firft, as to the

Statute it felf, it was made againft the Papifts,

occafioned by the Gunpowder-Plot 5 and is En-

tituled, For the better difcovery and fuppreffmg of

Popijh Recufants : but they have Liberty, and we
are Deftroyed, what in you lies- (interrupted

by the Judges and difturbance of the Court.) As to

Confcience, I have fomething to fay, and that is,

It is a tender thing, and we have known what

it is to offend it, and therefore we dare not break

Chrift's Commands, who hath faid, Swear not

at ally and the Apoflle James faid, Above all

things, my Brethren, [wear not' (interrupted)

the Court calling again to the Executioner to
flop my Mouth, which he did accordingly with
his dirty Cloth as aforefaid, and his Gag in his

hand.

Judge. Hear the Jury : who faid fomething to.

him, which was fuppofed to give in the Verdict
according to his Order, for they were fit for his
Purpofe, as it feems, they beginning to lay their
Heads together before we had fpoke any thing
to them, only upon his Words.

Judge. Crier, make Silence in the Court ;

then the Recorder taking a Paper into his Hand,
read to this purpofe, viz. The Jury for the'King
do find that John Crook, John Bolton, and Ifaac
Grey are Guilty of Refufing to take the Oath of Al-
legiance, for which you do incur a Premunire,
which is the forfeiture of all your real Eftates dur-
ing Life, and your perfonal Eftates for ever, and
you to be out of the King's Protection, and to be
imprifoned during his pUafure : and this is your
Sentence.

J. Crook. But we are ftill under God's Pro-
tection.

Recorder. Adjourn the Court •, which was
done accordingly, and we remanded to Newgate,
where we remain Prifoners.
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LXI. The Trial of John James, at the Kings-Bench, for

High-Treafon, November 14, 1662. Mich. 14 Car. II.

Wrote by his Friends.

E I N G carried in a Coach to Weft-
minfler by the Under-Sheriff, and
brought to the King's- Bench Bar,

Chief-Juftice Forfier, Juftice Mallet,

Juftice Twifden, and Juftice Wind-

ham, being Judges upon the Bench > he was

commanded* according to Cuftom, to hold up

his Hand : and he did fo, and told them he did

hold up his Hand to fignify he was there to an-

fwer to what fhould be laid to his Charge. But
he held up his Hand with his Glove on, which
fome were offended at, and told him he muft

pull it oft". John James anfwered, it was all one

to him, to hold up his Hand with it off or on ;

and then he did pull off his Glove, and held up

his Hand, and then his Charge was read.

The Subjiance of the IndiSiment.

E ftooi

James
HE flood indicted by the Name of John

James

:

< 1 . For Compaffing and Imagining the Death
6 of the King.

* 2. For endeavouring to levy War againft

e the King.
*

5. For endeavouring a Change of the Go-

vernment. And in this his Compaffing, Ima-
gining, and Contriving the King's Death, he
had malicioufly, traitoroufly, and by Inftiga-

tion of the Devil, not having the Fear of God
before his Eyes, declared thefe Words : ( I.

)

That the King was a Bloody Tyrant, a Blood-
fucker, and Blood-thirfty Man, and his Nobles
the fame. ( z. ) That the King and his Nobles
had fried the. Blood of the Saints at Charing-

Crofs, and the Blood of the Covenanters in

Scotland. ( 3. ) That the King was brought in

to this end, to fill up the Meafure of his Ini-

quity j and that the King's Cup of Iniquity

had filled more/within this laft ifear, than in

many Years before. ( 4. ) That he did bemoai
that they had not improved their Opportunity
when they had Power in their Hands ; and tha

he did fay it would not be long before the

had Power again, and then they would im
prove it better j and that he did bewail the

Apoftacyof the People ofGod, and fay, They
had not fought the Lord's Battles thoroughly j

but when the Lord fhould give Power to them
again, and give his Work into their Hands,
they would do it better. (

5*
.
) That the Death

and Deftruction of the King drew very near.'

The
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The Indictment being read, the Clerk called

upon John James to anfwer to his Charge, and

plead Guilty, or Not Guilty.

John James defired, before they did proceed,

that he might have a Copy of his Charge, and

Time to confider of it.

The Lord Chief Juftice anfwered, That a

Copy of the Charge was not allowed in Cafes of

High-Treafon 5 and he told him he mult plead

Guilty, or Not Guilty, or elfe a worfe thing

would follow.

John James anfwered, he humbly conceived

it was his Privilege as an Engliflman ; and till he

had that, he was not free to plead one way or

other. He alledged that Chief Juftice Coke had

declared it good Lawj and that Judge Heath

had declared it alfo good Law ; and that he

did at Oxford give John Lilburne a Copy of his

Charge, being arraigned there for High-Treafon.

Then one of the King's Counfel told him,

That the Law would not grant him a Copy of

his Charge in cafe of Felony, much lefs in cafe

of High-Treafon » and told him, If he would not

plead, they would proceed againit him as a Per-

fon contemning the Court, and look upon him

a Mute.

John James made anfwer, Seeing he was over-

ruled, he pleaded Not Guilty, neither in Form
nor Matter.

The Clerk asked him how he would be tried ?

He anfwered, By the Law of God. At which

the Lawyers gave a great Hifs.

And it was anfwered thus, or to this effect

;

It was not a Place or Time to talk of the Laws of

God. But John James was willing to urge it a-

gain, That feeing the Judge did fit there as

Judge of the Law, and of God's Law, as they

thought, it was meet they fhould give him Li-

berty to appeal to God's Law.
Whereupon the Judge told him he mult pro-

ceed according to their Law, or elfe a worfe

Thing would follow j and fay, By God and the

Country.

John James anfwered, He was ignorant of

their Law, and knew not what Snare there

might be in it, never having been at any Bar be-

fore ; and therefore defired him he would open
the Terms, what they meant by God, and what
they meant by the Country.

The Judge anfwered, God forbid but he
fhould open the Terms : By God (fays he) is

meant your firft Demand, to wir, the Law of
God.

John James asked him, Why then his firft

Demand was not granted ?

The Judge faid, God forbid but that you
fhould fo be tried ; but you muft ufe the Form
of the Court.

John James faid, If it were fo, he was fatisfied.

And by the Country, (faith the Judge) twelve
Middlefex Men, Men of Truth, that wouldjudge
impartially between the King and him.

John James faid, If that be the Meaning, he
put himfclf

vupon the Trial of God and the
Country.

When this was done, John James was fentby
a Habeas Corpus to the Kings-Bench Prifon in

Southivark, and there continued till the 19th
Day of November, and then was brought again
to the King's-Bench Bar at Weflminfler, to his

further Trial.

In this Interval betwixt the Commitment and

Trial, upon the firft Day of the Week, being
the 1 8th of November, John James received a

Letter from a Pei fon of Note, to advertife him
that there was fuch a Jury of Life and Death
impannelled to proceed upon him, as had not
been for many Years before, being a'l pick'd
Men, and raoft of them Knights and Gentlemen %

and that if he did not except againft them, or
moft of the chief of them, he was a dead Man.

The Second Day.

UPON the 19th of November he appeared

the fecond lime at the Kings-Bench Bar,

according to the Order of the Court, where
were pretent,

The Judges;

Sir Robert Forfter Chief Juftice.

Sir Mallet Jultice.

Sir Thomas Twifden Juftice.

Sir Wadham Windham Juftice.

Sir Jeoffry Palmer Attorney-General.

Sir Heneage Finch Sollicitor- General.

The Kings Counfel;

Serjeant Maynard. Serjeant Wilde.

Serjeant Glynne. Serjeant Keeling.

The Witnejfes Names appearing in the Court j

Alderman Chard. John Tipler. Bernard Qsburn,

The fourth Witnefs's Name not yet known.

The Names of the Jury.

Charles Pitfeld.

Ralph Halfaye.

Thomas Eglefeld.

Daniel Charlwood.

Ambrofe Hanburough.

Anthony Hall.

Humphry Higgens»

Thomas Snow.

William Cole.

Thomas Upneh
Gilbert Mefe.

William Blunt.

The WitnefTes and Jury being called into the

Court, John James having excepted againft

divers Knights and Gentlemen pick'd for his

Jury, and the afore-named Handing for his Jury,
the Clerk bid John James hold up his Hand as

before. He did fo •, and again told them it was
to fignify he was there j [and then they laughed)

and the Judge faid, O ho, are you come ?

Afterwards, the Indictment being read again,

the Clerk proceeded to tell the Court for what
he was indicled and arraigned ; and that he
pleaded Not Guilty, and had put himielf upon
God and the Country for Trial ; and therefore

told the Jury they were to judge between the

King and him in that Matter.

Serjeant Keeling'* Speech.

Hereupon Serjeant Keeling, one of the King's

Counfel, ltepp'dup, and faid, My Lord, and you

Gentlemen of the Jury, John James, Priloner

at the Bar, ftands indicted for High-Treafon j

for that he, with other difafrecttd Perfons, Ene-

mies unto the Government of the King, being

afiembled at Buifake- Alley in White-Chapel, not

having
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having God before his Eyes, but being moved

by the Inftigation of the Devil, fpake and pub-

lished thefe Words, viz. float King Charles was

a Blood-thirfty Tyrannical King; and that the

Nobles of England were Blood-thirfty and Tyran-

nical Men ; and that the Cup of their Iniquity was

begun to be filled by the Jhedding of the Blood of the

Covenanters in Scotland ; and that it was almoft

filled by the Jhedding of the Blood of the Saints this

time Twelve-month ; and that the Time of their De-

firuclion was near at hand: And did condole the

NeglecJ of the Opportunity and Price they had put

into their hands -, and that if ever the like Occafion

were adminifired unto them again, they would fight

the Lord's Battle more effetlually than they had done

before. And (faid he) if we prove that thefe

AVords were fpoken by John James, you are to

find him Guilty of High-Treafon j (and fo he

fat down.) Then flood up Sir Jeoffry Palmer,

Attorney-General.

The Subjiance of Sir Jeoffry Palmer's

Speech.

Firfl, he fpake of the Antiquity of Monarchy,

and did fully afTert the prefent Government.

Then, by way of Reflection, he reviewed the

twenty Years Troubles that had paffed over our

Heads in thefe Nations j and that the VeiTel of

this Commonwealth had been be.iten and blown

upon the Waves and Billows of a tempeftuous

raging Sea, being almoft broken to pieces, and

like u terly to be loft, unlefs God by a miracu-

lous Providence had reftored his Majefty Charles

the Second to his Crown and Dignity ; for

which (he faid) ever bleffed be his Name. Then
he obferved that the beginning of our Sorrows

was by the feditious preaching of fome difcon-

tented Minifters in this Nation, and about this

City. Then he told them how much Care the

Law had taken for the Prefervation of his Ma-
jefty's Perfon and Government j and that it was

as much Treafon in the Heart, as in the Act,

Mens reafacit num. Then he did defcant upon
the Words of the Indictment, and

13 Car. 2. c. r.

penecj them, and told the Jury,

that according to the Law of England they were

Treafon, for which he ought to die: and then

fat down.

Then the Court called John Tipler, the firft

Witnefs, the Judge bidding him look upon the

Prifoner. Serjeant Glynne asked him, what he

could fay concerning the Words fpoken by John

James ? Who faid, at the Time the Indictment

alledged, (which was on Saturday) he was at a

Houie near adjoining unto the Place where they

ufually did meet ; and that about Two of the

clock in the Afternoon he ftood at a Window in

a Yard, next adjoining to the Meeting-place,

and faw John James, the Perfon at the Bar,

preaching, (as they call it, faid he) and repeated

the Words that were opened by Serjeant Keeling

exactly ; only further, That he did wonderfully

adore Oliver Cromwell, faying, That every Finger

of his was a Champion ; and that when they had

Power again, they Jkould do the Work more tho-

roughly. And faid, That thereupon he told it

prefentlyto ajuftice, and afterwards to a Neigh-
bour of his, who was in an extreme Fright and

Horror, and fo they both went together to Alder-

man Chard Juftice, who then came immediately,

and furprized and feized upon them , the Women
only they let go, but the Men the Juftice did

commit to Prilon that would not take the Oath
of Allegiance : That they feized John James in

the Pulpit, where he was preaching when they
came in. The Court asked him, what Time of

the Day it was ? And he faid it was about Two
of the clock in the Afternoon. And they asked

him, where he ftood? And he faid he ftood di-

rectly oppofite in a Window, in a Yard next ad-

joining to the Meeting-place j and that he could
eafily difcern him. Demanding of him fome o-

ther Queftions, that might induce the Jury to

believe the Evidence given was neither with
Thought of Malice to the Prifoner, nor Hope
of Reward 5 then the Court gave the Prifoner

leave to ask Tipler what Queftions he pleafed.

The Exception that John James took unto the

Witnefs, was, That it was a hard thing for him
to fwear that he was the Perfon that was then
preaching, he being without the Window,
which might intercept his Sight. To which
he anfwered, That he knew him very well} and
that he was not deceived.

Another Witnefs was Alderman Chard, the

Juftice j whofiid, He could fay nothing as to the

Words that were fpoken } but fo foon as John
Tipler came to him, and informed him of the

Words fpoken by John James, he enquired the

Place where it was, and immediately he and his

Clerk and the Conftable hafted thither, where
they found John James preaching, and about
thirty or forty affembled there to hear him. And
faid, He there feized John James, and pulled him
out of the Pulpit where he was preaching} and
all thofe Men that would not take the Oath of
Allegiance, he committed, but the Women he
let go. So the Court asked him, if it were at

the Time alledged in the Indictment ? And he
faid, Yea.

Another Witnefs was a Torkjhire Man, whofe
Name we know not: Who coming into the

Court, was commanded to look upon the Pri-

foner at the Bar, and declared what he heard him
fay. Who anfwered, he was at Tipler's Houfe,
and heard very loud Speaking, which caufed him
to come out, and hearken, and he heard very

dangerous Words. The Judge asked him, what
thole dangerous Words were ? He faid, He could

remember no more than this, that one faid,

That the Lord had a great Work to do for his Peo-

ple ; and that they were the People that mufi do it.

The Judge asked him if he heard nothing con-

cerning the King's Cup of Iniquity? To which
he anfwered, No. And they bid him look upon
the Prifoner at the Bar, and asked if that were

the Man ? He anfwered, He could not fay that

he was the Man.
Whereupon John James defired the Judge to

ask him, if he was the Man ? And he turned his

Face towards John James, as if he directed his

Speech to him, and faid, he could not fay he

was the Man.
Another was Bernard Osburn, whom the Judge

commanded to look upon the Prifoner at the

Bar, and tell the Court what he heard him fay

concerning the King, and the Powers that were

now in being.

Hereupon John James told Osburn, He hoped
he was a Man of fome Confcience and Integrity,

and that he feared wrongfully to take away the

Life of a Man 5 and how great a Sin it was,

efpecially
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cfpecially to fhed the Blood of them that feared

the Lord.

Then the Court asked the Witnefs, where he

was when the Words were fpoken? He faid he

y was in the Meeting-Place : And he faid he

heard John James fay, that King Charles was a

blood- thirfiy tyrannical King; and that the JSiobles

of England were blood-thirfty : "That he had drank

pretty deep of the Blood of the Saints already, in

that he had fhed their Blood twelve Months agone

1 at Charing- Crofs, and the Blood of the Covenan-

'

ters in Scotland ; and that God had brought him

in to that end, to fill up the Meafure of his Iniqui-

ty', and he hadfilled it up more in twelve Months,

than in hany Tears before. They asked him if

he heard nothing concerning the Lord's Bat-

tles ? And he told them (as though he had for-

got it) that he heard him fay, lhat they Jhould

have Pewer in their Hands; and that they Jhould

fight the Lord's Battles more thoroughly. And they

asked him if he heard any thing concerning the

Ruin of the King? He anfwered, Yes, he

heard him fay, That the Ruin of the King was

(
very near. Then they asked him if thofe were

the Words ? He faid, He could not fay they

were the fame Words, but to the fame Sub-

ftance.

Having done this, the Judge told John James

he had Liberty to fpeak for himfelf.

W hereupon he defired the Favour of the Court

to thole Witneffes he had attending the Court,

in refped of Bernard Osburn. Whereupon four

IWitneffes were called into the Court, that gave

Evidence that this Bernard Osburn confeffed to

them he had fworn againft John James he knew

not what. One of them declared further and

more largely, (that was near Marriage to Ber-

nard Osburn) That he had told her he did not on-

ly fwear he knew not what, but that he was af-

frighted into what he fwore. He did fay, That

what he fwore to, was firft fworn to by another

Man, and then brought to him in Writing.

The former Witncffes declared, That moreover

they defired to know of Bernard what he had

fworn againft John James: And he told them,

He could not tell, except he heard the Words repeat-

ed. (Though Bernard Osburn denied in the Face

of the Court that ever he faid any fuch Things.)

John James then told the Court, he had fevcral

Witneffes attending the Court, that were free,

if they pieafed, to prove that the Words char-

ged upon him were not fpoken. The Judge

told him he might call in as many Witneffes as

he would. Whereupon John James called in

four Witneffes more j all which did teftify

in the Face of the Court, That the Words

charged upon him were not fpoken. And

I

the Court did, as before, give them the Hear-

ing.

Thon theJudge bid the Jury take notice what

had been fpokeby the King's Witneffes and his.

And then the Court told John James that now

he had free Leave to fpeak for himfelf, as much

and as long as he pieafed, if he had called all

his Witneffes j and told him, That when the

King's Council had concluded, he could fpeak

no more j but now he might fay as much as he

pieafed. Then he fpake with much Liberty

and Freedom, the Court and all prefent giving

Attention to what he faid, which was to this

purpofe

:

Vol. II.

John James 's Defenfive Speech.

E faid he had fomewhat to fay, firft, as to

the Form of the Charge, viz. that he had
malicioufly, wickedly, traitcrcufly, and by the Infti*

gation of the Devil, not having the Fear of God
before his Eyes, &c. He told them, That in the

Fear of God he did deny it •, and told them he
had not a malicious Thought againft the Perfon
of the King, but defired the Salvation of his

Soul, as of his own ; that he had not dealt mali-

ciously againft the King, neither was inftigated

thereto by the Devil j and that by the Goodnefs
of the Lord, what he had done, he had done it

in the Fear of God. Neither could he be judg-
ed, as he told them, as a malicious Perfon againft

the King, in regard he never had any publick
Employment in the Nation, either againft this

King in being, or his Father, being a Man of no
account in the World, having not worn a Sword
this eleven Years j and therefore defired they
would in their Underftanding clear him from this

Charge, as a Perfon malicious againft the King.
And further he faid, He was a Perfon that could
not be fuppofed to have in his Eye any thing of
Advantage in the World in fo acting againft the
King. And as to the Matter of the Charge,
whereas it runs, That 7John James had compared,
imagined, and contrived the Death ofthe King ; John
James told the Court he did not well underftand

what they mennt by compaffing the Death of the

King, as compaffing and imagining is ordinarily

taken : He had not, neither was he capable of
endeavouring the King's Death, nor the Change
of the Government } being a mean inconfidera-

ble Perfon, a Man that had lived upon his Cal-

ling. And as to thofe Particulars laftly charged
upon him, he faid he was not guilty of them :

He did not fay the King was a Bloody Tyrant, a
Blood-fucker, a Blood-thirfiy Man ; that in the Fear
of the Lord he did utterly deny} neither did he
fay any thing tending thereto. He further faid,

He did not fay the King had fi)ed the Blood of the

Saints at Charing-Crofs this time Twelve-month :

He did not fay, They, when they had Power in

their Hands, would improve it more thoroughly for
God; and that we did not fight the Lord's Battles

thoroughly. And whereas he was charged for

contending for Cromwell, and that Power, (that

God had fo eminently wiped off from the Stage)

he faid he did declare againft that Power, and
was averfe to it, and did fuffer under it in his

meafure ; and told them he did not ftand there

as Cromwell's Advocate. Then did he endeavour
to fpeak more particularly to the Jury, letting

them know that in a fecondary way his Life was
in their Hands ; and it was, in the Eye of Rea-
fon, in their Power to fave or deftroy him, and
wifhed them to have a care of fhedding innocent

Blood : and told them, Becaufe of innocent

Blood the Land did mourn, to wit, for the Blood
fhed in Queen Mary's Days, and KwgHemy the

Eighth's} and if there were any innocent Blood

fhed fince, he defired no more to be added to

it. He told them he did defire they would a£t

confcientioufly, and not to be over-awed by any

Man. He told them they were hisJudges in Law
of Matter of Fact, and defired them to be ten-

der of his Blood. He faid, He mould fay very

little more for himfelf, but one Word for the

p p p
Lord,
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Lord, and therefore defired he might have his

Fear before him , and although he was the poor-

eft and meaneft for fuch a Work, yet he was cal-

led forth, and did declare, That the Lord Jefus

Chrift was King of Nations as well as King of

Saints ; and that the Government of Kingdoms did

of Right belong to him. And he quoted Rev. xi.

if. And the /eventh Angel founded, and there

were great Voices in Heaven, faying., The Kingdoms

of this World are become the Kingdoms of our Lord,

and of his Chrift and he fhall reign for ever and

ever.

And when he had fo fpoke, the Lord Chief

Juftice Forfier interrupted him, faying, Hold,

Sirrah ; Sirrah, you think you are in the Conventi-

cle in White-whapel, preaching. And thereupon

commanded the Clerk to read the Act of Par-

liament, entituled, An AH for the Prefervation of

the King's Per/on and Government; wherein was

exprefs'd to this purpoie, That whofoever fhall

contrive or endeavour to levy War againfl the King

or Government^ See. or endeavour to compafs or

contrive the Death of the King, his Wound or

Maim ; or that by Printing, Preaching, Writing, or

other Speaking, endeavour thefame; then every fuch

Perfan or Perfons fhall be looked upon as Traitors to

the King, and fhall be proceeded againfl as in the Cafe

of High-Treafon, Sec. Which when the Clerk

had read,

John James defired Liberty to fpeak, defiring

the Court to produce a Statute that would reach

his Cafe, for that did not, but the Cafe of fuch as

had endeavoured to levy War againft the King,

or had compafTed or contrived his Death or Maim

:

But he had not contrived or compafTed the Death
of the King, or the Change of the Government
within or without his Dominions ; and there-

fore defired a Statute might be produced that

might reach his Cafe, for he conceived that was
fhort.

TheJudge told him it fully reached his Cafe.

And one of the King's Counfel made anfwer,

That it reached him in every Cafe.

And another of the Counfel faid, Treafon was
the firft Conception and the firft evil Thought
in the Heart j and Treafon was made vifible by
Preaching, or Printing, or Speaking, &V. which
was a Manifeftation of the Things that were in

the Heart.

This being fpoken, theJudge asked him if he
had any more to fay for himfelf ; and told him,
if he did not fpeak now, the King's Counfel
would enter upon their Plea, and then he muft
fpeak no more for himfelf.

He told them he had one Word to the Jury,
which he defired to lay before them : It was a

Scripture written in the 29th of Ifaiah, ver. 21.

T'hat make a Man an Offender for a Word, and
lay a SnarS for him that reproveth in the Gate.'

Whereupon the Judge told him it was not to

be borne ; for he did inveigh againft the Par-
liament.

Though he faid, He had not the leaft Thought
of the Parliament ; but he fpake it to let the Jury
know, that if he were guilty of thofe Words,
there was no Law of God to take away a Man's
Life for Words.
Hereupon the King's Counfel fpake feverally

one after another.

Firft Serjeant Glynne ftood up, and faid, Bro-
ther Maynard, fhall we not anfwer fomething to

what the Prifoner hath objected ? So Glynne

began.

The Subfiance of Serjeant GlynneV Speech.

He told the Jury, That if they proved the

Words alledged in the Indictment fubftantially,

though it were not adequate thereunto in every
Tittle and Iota, yet it was fufficient to fatisfy

their Confciences, and to find the Prifoner guil-
j

ty of High-Treafon.
Firft, He began with the Exception taken un-

to the firft Witnefs, That he ftood without the
Window, and therefore could not eafily difcern

the Vifage and Phyfiognomy of the Prifoner
j

that was there a preaching. He told them he
had fworn exprefly it was the fame Perfonj and
that as he came into the Yard he was there a
preaching, and as he went away to the Juftice

of Peace he faw him : and the Juftice did feize

the fame Perfon, and find him preaching when
he came, j and therefore it muft be him, and no
other. And told them, that the Witnefs could
have no end in difcovering of it $ for if he had
kept Silence, he had confented, and fo been

1

guilty of Mifprifion of Treafon.

Then faid he, As to the Exception taken a-

gainft the fourth Witnefs, That he faid he fwore

he knew not what, and could not tell what he
had fworn to :

He faid, This was no Caufe to reject this E-
vidence ; for peradventure he could not well call

to mind the feveral words that were fpoken 5 or

peradventure he would not tell them, becaufe

he might fuppofe that they were fent to enfnare

him in his Evidence, that they might make it

void.

Then as to the WitnefTes that were brought
on the part of the Prifoner, to teftify that no
fuch words were fpoken j he faid, As to that he
muft refer it unto the Confciences of the Jury.
But he faid, he conceived that it was altogether

immaterial -, for the Queftion is not, what he

did not fay, but what he did fay. They fay that

he did not fay thefe words, but they do not fay

what he did.

Then ftept up Serjeant Maynard, and faid,

That as to the Evidence of thofe three Perfons,

his Brother Glynne had fpoken fo much, and fo

well, that he could add no more, or very little

:

And urged the fame things that Serjeant Glynne

did. And further faid, That the Prifoner fpoke

much of his Integrity and Innocency; I believe

(faith he) Gentlemen of the Jury, never was
there any Offender, orthevileft Mifcreant in the

World, that would ever have received the Re-
ward of his Doings, if his own Excufe and Pro-

teftation might have faved him.

Then he laid, As for the Blood of the Saints

that was fpilt this time twelvemonth, he faid

they were fad Saints, fuch Saints (faid he) as

would have cut all our Throats.

Then John James defired to be heard one

Word, that that Gentleman had untruly alledg-

ed againft him j but the Court refufed to allow

him the Liberty.

Then ftood up Sir Heneage Finch, Sollicitor-

General.
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The Subftance of Sir Heneage FinchV

Speech.

My Lord, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, be

it known unto you, and to all that hear me this

Day, that the Prifoner at the Bar is not arraign-

ed for his Confcience or Religion, but for Trea-

fon and Rebellion, for horrid Treafon and Re-
bellion, for fpurning againft the meekeftKing in

the Earth. His Majefty, to the great and inex-

preffible Grief of his Heart, did not think there

was a Perfon fo unworthy left within his Domi-

nions, that would have lifted up the Heel againfl

him, after twenty Years rejecting of his Majefty

and his Royal Father ; and having alfo conferred

his Grace upon us, to reduce us to a State ofln-

nocency, he could not think there was any Gall

left in our Hearts, or any Guile to be found in

our Mouths.
He then prefs'd his Treafon upon the Con-

fciences of theJury, who, as he told them, would

affright their Confidences with his Innocency.

And told them, how that thePunifhment of this

Offender might affright the like Malefactors for

the future: And faid, that there were a People,

that under the pretence of Religion had the Li-

berty of Confcience allow'd by the King for a

time, 'till they were better informed j but this

Man, and thofe of his Mind, are none of thofe

Men : but they endeavour not only to deftroy

the Monarch, but Monarchy itfelfj not only in

England^ but all the World over. This is the

Principle that they are of, therefore I defire the

Jury to take notice, what may be their Duty up-

on that account. And that when the Prifoner

was preaching that pernicious Sermon, he prefs'd

it with the Peril of their Salvation, and now
would affright you upon the account of inno-

cent Blood: but you fhall find, if his Blood be

rightly and fwiftly purfued, it may be a means of

preventing the fhedding of the Blood of thou-

iands, for the time to come. And withal did de-

fire them to confider further, That the great

Trouble this Nation had undergone for thefe

twenty Years laft paft, fprung from Pulpits, Con-
venticles, and feditious Preaching ; and therefore

if thefe Caufes were taken away, it might pre-

vent fuch evil Effects for the future. And faid,

That as to the Evidence he had produced, it had

been well fpoke to by the two Serjeants that

fpoke laft : And as to that Evidence by the Wo-
men, he faid they had no reafon to tell what
was faid by John James, for thereby they would
makethemfelves guilty of Mifprifion of Treafon ;

which is to be punifhed with perpetual Imprifon-

ment, Confilcation of Goods, and the Lofs of

the Profits of Lands during Life.

That's well obferved, faid my Lord to the
'

Sollicitor.

Then Judge Forfter endeavoured further to in-

form the Jury, and to incenfe them againft his

Principle, telling them, that he was of the fame

I
Spirit with thofe that did endeavour heretofore

to put all the Nation in a Flame, and to fet e-

very one againft each other; and faid, No Trea-
fon was comparable to that Treafon that was co-

vered with a Pretence of Religion.

This being done, and the Jury ready to go
forth, John James defired the Court to favour

him with one Word to the Jury.
Vol. II.
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They told him he had had a great deal of Li-

berty, and time to fpeak; but now he fhould

fpeak no more.
Then 2ohn James reply'd, That if they would

not fuffer him to fpeak to his Jury, they had as

good have hanged him at Bull-ftake- Alley Gate,
before he came there, and not brought him
thither to cover over the Matter with the Pre-
tence of Law.

This being fpoken, the Judge gave him a fore

Rebuke, and told him he was not to be Judge
in the Cafe.

Then my Lord and the Judges laid their Heads
and conferred together, whereupon my Lord
faid thus to the Jury, or to this effect:; You
have heard the Evidence, you are to find the

Matter of Fact as it is laid before you, whereof
you are the proper Judges, and I pray God di-

rect you.

Then the King's Counfel and the Jury depart-

ed from the Bar} and at the Return of the jury,

being about a Quarter of an Hour, the Attorney
and Sollicitor-General came back into the Courc
with them.
Whereupon the Crier called them all by name,

and the Clerk asked them if they were all agreed,

and they anfwered, Yes.
,

Then the Clerk of the Crown commanded the
Prifoner to hold up his Hand, and asked the Ju-
ry, How fay you, is John James, who hath been
arraigned and tried, Guilty of the Treafon al»

ledged in the Indictment, or Not guilty?

And the Foreman, which was Charles Pitfidd,
faid, Guilty according to the Indictment.

Then the Attorney-General pray'd Judgment
for the King. To that the Court anfwered,
Never the fame Day he is arraigned, but appoint
what Day the Prifoner fhall be brought, and it

fhall be granted. Then the Attorney and Sol-
licitor conferred together, and the Attorney
faid, On Friday next. 'Till which time he
was remanded to the Kings-Bench Prifon in

Southwark.

His Wife's Application to the King, after

her Husband was caft.

In the Interval, betwixt his Calling and Con-
demnation, upon the fourth Day of the Week
in the Evening, his Wife, by Advice of fome
Friends, endeavoured to make Addrefs to the

King, to acquaint him with her Husband's In-

nocency, and the Condition of thofe loofe Per-
fons who had falfly accufed him; which fhe put
in writing, left fhe might either want an Op-
portunity, or not have Courage enough to fpeak
to him. And with fome Difficulty at laft {ho

met with the King as he came out of the Park,
going into the Gallery ; where fhe prefented

him with the Paper, which on the Back- fide

was endorfed, 'The humble Requeft of Elizabeth

James: acquainting him alfo by Word who fhe

was, to whom he held up his Finger, and faid,

Oh Mr. James, he is a fweet Gentleman ! But
following him for fome further Anfwer, the

Door was fhut againft her ; which was all fhe

could obrain at that time. The next Morning
fhe came again to the fame Place, where fhe had
not long been, but the King came out of the

Gallery to go into the Parky whom fhe follow'd

P p p a down
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down the flairs, imploring his Anfwer to her

Requeft, who then replied, That he was a Rogue

andjhould be hanged. One of the Lords attend-

ing him, asked her of whom fhe fpake ; where-

unto the King anfwered, Of John jSmes, that

Rogue : he Jhall he hanged, yea he /hall be hanged.

And fo fhe came away, fatisfied in her Confci-

ence, that what fhe had done was but her Duty.

The Third Day, Novemb. 22.

BEING this day brought to the Bar, ac-

cording to former Order, the Clerk pro-

ceeded according to their manner, and told the

Court, that John James had been arraigned and

try'd, 6SV- and had committed himfelf to God
and the Country for Trial, and by the Country

was found guilty of the Crimes and Treafons al-

ledged againft him in the Indictment. And then

it was demanded of John James, what he had to

fay for himfelf why Sentence of Death fhould

not be pafTed upon him according to the Law ?

To which John James anfwered, That he had

not much to fay, only two or three Scriptures

he would leave with them. The firft Scripture

was Jer. xxvi. 14, if. As for me, do asfeemeth

good untoyou; but know ye for certain, that if ye

put me to death, you fhall furely bring innocent Blood

upon your[elves, and upon this City, and upon the

Inhabitants thereof.

The fecond Scripture was Pfal. cxvi. if.

Precious in the fight of the Lord is the Death

of his Saints. He alfo minded that good Word
of the Lord, He that toucheth the Lord's People,

toucheth the Apple of his Eye. He told them he

had not more to fay for himfelf, only one word
for the Lord, and fo he had done : That Jefus

Chrift the Son of God was King of England, Scot-

land, and Ireland, and of all the Kingdoms of this

World. Which being fpoken, they filenced

him, and the Court proceeded to Sentence, and

the Judge prononced Sentence according to the

Law, and faid thus

:

' John James, thou haft been here indicted,
* arraigned, and tried as a falfe Traitor to his

* Majefty, his Crown and Dignity, and haft put
* thy felf upon the Trial of God and the Coun-
' try, and the Country have found thee guilty ;

1 and therefore, John James, thou art to be car-
4 ried from hence to Frifon, and from thence to

« the Place of Execution, and there to be hanged
' by the Neck, and being yet alive, to be cut
' down, and thy Bowels to be taken out, (a
4 Fire being prepared) and to be burnt before
' thy facej and thy Head to be fevered from thy
' Body, and thy Body to be quartered, and thy
4 Head and Body to be difpofed according to
* the King's Pleafure.'

This being done, John James had only time

to fay, Bleffed be God; whom Man hath condemn-

ed, God hath juftified. He was executed in pur-

fuance of the Sentence, Nov. z6.

Little before his going forth, feeing fome
of his Friends come in who had particu-

larly defired to accompany him to the Place of

Execution, he faid, Here come my Bride-men,

embracing them with much Joy. But, faid he,

Mujl not the Sacrifice be bound? One anfwer'd,

Yea, it muft be bound with Cords: He rejoicing,

faid, fo he had heard.

Soon after the Keeper came into the Room,
and calling him down to deliver him to the She-

riff, he told him he was a welcome Meffenger,

he had waited long for him j and fo he came
with Joy after the Keeper, from his Chamber
into the Prcfs-yard, where hearing the Noife

of the Multitude without, faid to a Friend,

There would be by and- by as many Hallelujahs, as \

Shoutings of the People without; and there they

bound him about the Back with a new Cord,

and fo had him into the Street ; and being placed
\

upon the Sled, drawn by a Team of Horfes, at-
J

tended by the Sheriffs Men, and a Company of '

Foot-foldiers, was drawn along to Tyburn ; the

Way out of the Town being very foul, he was 1

drawn thro' very much water and dirt, befides

the very much flapping of the Horfes that went ;

befides him.

Being come to the Place of Execution, he :

asked Mr. Sterling the Sheriff, whether he might
not have Liberty to fpeak to the People ? He
told him he might, if he would not fpeak

feditioufly, (or Words to that purpofe ) Then 1

John James addrefled himfelf to fpeak as fol-

loweth.

Firft of all, that which I have to fay before I

go out of this World, is, to remove that which

hath been thrown upon me by way ofAfperfion, ,

as if I were a Jefuit. * Here at this Hace, at

this Time, are fome that knew me from my
Childhood, and can clear me in this Particular:

and therefore I fhall only fay this to it, That I

am an Englishman, never was out of the Nation

in all my Life ; never had any Knowledge of any

other Tongue but the Englijh Tongue, there-

fore altogether uncapable of fuch Work and

Employment as Jefuits are ufually put upon, they

being commonly Men of great Parts and Learn-

ing, which I am not. 1 fhall only fpeak this

in refpe<5fc of my Parentage and Education -, I

came of a very mean Family $ I may truly fay,

as once Gideon did, My Family is the leaf in all

Manajfeh, and I am the leafi in the Family : And
in truth I may juftly fay, my Family, the Fa-

mily that I came of, it was a very mean Family,

the meaneft among all the Families of the Peo-

ple of the Lord at that Day, as I knew of; and

for my Parents, they were People fearing God,

thofe that durft not for their Lives, I fay, they

were thofe that durft not for their Lives ftain

their Confciences in refpeel: of Idolatry and Su-

perftition that was up at that day.

I fhall not need to fpeak any more to that, I

came not here to boaft of my Parentage ; I de-

clare 1 came of a mean Family, only my Parents

were People fearing God, and did, to their ut-

moft, endeavour what they could to bring me

up in the Nurture and Admonition of the Lord?

and I hope my Father at his Death had not

ought to be charged with by way of Blame:

And my Mother is yet alive, and attained to a

good old Age, and I truft fo fhe is. But I fhall

not trouble you more about this Matter ; for I

only fpeak this, to take off that which was
,

caft upon me, wherein I judged the Name of

God would have fuffer'd, had I not cleared myfelf.

* This Vindication "Mas occajioned by the coming ofa Courtier, (and, as fomefaid, one ofthe Bed-chamber) two or three Nights

iefore hefufferd, to know if he ivas not a Jefuit, and ifhe had not been beyond the Seas.
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The fccond thing that I fhall fay, is what I Worm as I brought hither to fuffer upon that

am in my Principles, what I am in refpect of my Account. Let not the alTembling of your felves

Religion and Judgment, and I fhall be brief as together be any way a burden to you } know
to that. I do own the Title of a Baptized Be- that Word, forfake not the ajfembling ofyourfelves

Jiever, I do own the Ordinances and appointments together, as the manner of fome is, but be inftrucl-

of Jefus Chrifi, I do own all the Principles in ing one another fo much the more as you fee the

Heb.vi. 1, 2;- about the Doctrioe of Faith towards Day approaching, Heb. x. if. and let not any of

God, and Repentance from dead Works, the Do- the Ways of God, any of the Ordinances of
God, any of the Commandments of God be
ever the worfe in your Eyes, becaufe a poor
Worm that has profeffed them, and has in iome
poor meafure tafted in them of the Love of God,
is brought hither, do not think the Words and
Commandments of God are the worfe for that 3
and 1 would intreat you that you would flick

6trine of Baptifm, and laying on of Hands, the

RcfurrecJion of the Dead, and eternal Judgment.

Thefe are the Principles that I defire to own,

and have in fome weak meafure been found

walking in : I da not only own the Principles

and Doctrines declared in the fixth ofthe Hebrews,

but I do own the Commandments of God, the

Ten Commandments, as they are exprefTed in the clofe to them, whatever Difpenfation may be a£

zoth of Exodus. I do here, as before the Lord, the Door, which no Man here knows one or

teflify, I durft not, I durfl not willingly break other : But I fay, whatever the Ways and Dif-

the leaft of thofe Commandments to fave my penfations of God mav be, tho' you may expect

Life •, I do declare that the rather, becaufe I to fuffer more and more, yet know that was the

would inform Perfons that I do own the Lord's Way that our Lord did go, the Captain of our

holy Sabbath, thefeventh Day of the Week to Salvation was made perfect through Sufferings!

be the Lord's Sabbath; you know the Com- and the Apoflles and holy Chriflians of old count*
mandment, Remember that thou keep holy the Se-

venth Day. I fhall forbear to fpeak any more to

that.

Again, further, in refpecl: of my Principle (as

that for which I judge I am here this day to fuf-

fer) That I do own the Kingdom of our Lord

Jefus Chrift, (to wit) the vifible Kingdom of Je-

fus Chrifi here on Earth, and I do defire to de-

clare it humbly and in the Fear of the Lord,

That JESUS CHRIST the Son of God is King

of all the Nations in the World, according to that

in Rev. xi. if upon the founding of the feventh

Trumpet there was a great Voice in Heaven,

The Kingdoms of this World are become the King-

doms of our Lord, and of his Chrift ; and He fhall

reign for ever and ever. There needs no more to

be fiid, tho' many more Scriptures might be

brought to prove that it is fo. It cannot be a

fpiritual Kingdom, the Text cannot be allego-

rical ; for the Text faith exprefly ; The King-

doms of this World, &c. I fhall endeavour not

to tire you with many Words ; I do not come
here (the Lord knows) to fow Sedition, I have

it not upon my Heart, it hath not been my

ed it great Joy, they accounted it great Joy to
be filling up the Meafure of Chrifl's Sufferings
that are behind. And now, my dear Friends,
for Jefus Chrifl's fake, be exhorted in the Fear
of God, not only to flick to thofe Ordinances
and Commandments of God, wherein you are

enli^htned, but take that good Word of God,
in 1 Chron. xxviii. 8. it was David's Advice to

Solomon, the Words are, Solomon my Son, keep

and feekfor all, 8cc. do not content your felves

with what you do already know, but endeavour,
in the Fear of the Lord, to be feeking after

more. I would further charge every one of the

People of the Lord, to have a care of defiling

themfelves with any Idolatry, with any Super-
flition, by treading in By-paths that may notiuic

the Mind of God, however it may be accepted

in the Land.
I fhall not trouble you with much more, only

a Word to thofe that have not yet an Interelt

in Jefus Chrifi, that cannot call God Father, I

befeech fuch to confider, it may be that God
hath a mind, by the Words of a dying Man, to

do their Souls good, and I would add a Word
Practice, tho' this be the pretended Caufe of I befeech you confider, though you may not go
bringing me hither; but the Lord knows, be-

fore whom I Hand, and with whom I fhall

fhortly be, that whatever I am accufed of, as to

Matter of Fa£l, I am free from it ; I defire you

may hear it, and take notice of ir, the Things

charged upon me are notorioufly falfe, I fpeak

it as my lafl Words, the Lord that knows all

Hearts, and one Day will call all Men to an Ac-
count, knows I fpeak true, both in refpecl: of the

Manner of the thing charg'd upon me, and in

refpedt of the Mattel*, notwithstanding that fe-

veral Witneffes took the Boldnefs tofwear it in

Court. I do in the fear of the Lord alfo tell

you, that I blefs the Lord I have not the leaft:

hard Thought of them that fwore againfl me,

I have not the leafl hard Thought upon that ac-

count, not the leafl rifing of Spirit againfl either

Judge, or Jury, or Witneffes, or any other, the

Lord knows it, but have fought their Pardon

upon my bended Knees, and I hope further fhall

do it, if God permit. I have one Word to fay

to the People of God, and that is this ; I would
intreat you not to think ever the worfe of the

Ways of God, becaufe you fee fuch a poor

the fame Way I go, you do not know how foon

God may cull for you by Death ; and therefore

I fpeak to them that are young ones in the firffc

place, That they remember their Creator in the Days

of their Youth, before the evil Day is come, and
the Days wherein they themfelves fhall fay, they

have no Pleafure in them. And to thofe that are

ancient, that have fpent the greatefl part of their

Time here, in fporting in their own Lulls, I

would only fay this to 'em, There is yet a Day
of Grace, To-day ifyou will hear his Foice. Jefus

Chrifi is held forth in the Gofpel freely j He
holds forth his Blood freely $ for the worfl of

Sinners are not too old, nor too wicked, nor

too great, they are not too unclean for Jefus

Chrifi to pity -, and therefore, Friends, confider

in the Fear of the Lord whereabouts you are,

and how the Cafe flands with your poor Souls.

I have faid what I have to fay, only I would de-

Are that I might have liberty to wait upon God 5

to commit my Soul, and the Concernments of

each other to the Lord in Prayer. Then he ad-

drefs'd himfelf to the Lord in Prayer.

Hi*
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His Prayer being ended, he faid he could not

fpeak more, being very much tired, and his Bo-

dy brought very low. The Hangman faid, The

Lord receive your Soul He reply'd, I thank you.

Then another faid, This is a happy Day. He laid,

I blefs the Lord, it is fo. The other faid, The

Lord make your Pajfage eafy. He faid, Itrufi he

will Co. One ask'd if he had any thing to fay to

the Sheriff? He faid, No, but only thank him for

his Civility. Then the Hangman having pre-

pared him for his Death, drew away the Cart,

John James faid aloud, (lifting up his Hands)

Father, into thy Hands I commit my Spirit, and

fo fmifhed his Courfc.

The Sheriff and Hangman were fo civil to

him in his Execution, as to fuffer him to be dead

before he was cut down ; the Hangman taking

out his Heart, and burning his Members and

Entrails, return'd his Head and Quarters back

to Newgate, put in a Basket in a Cart, and from

thence were difpofed by the King, viz. his Quar-

ters to the Gates of the City, and his Head firft:

upon the Bridge, but afterwards (by Appoint-

ment) taken down thence, and put upon a Pole

in White-Chapel, over-againft the PalTage to

the Meeting-place, where he and his Company
were apprehended.

LXII. The Trial ofThom as Tonge, George Phil-

lips, Francis Stubbs, James Hind, John
Sellers, ^Nathaniel Gibbs, * at the Old-

Baily,^r High-Treafon, Decemb n. 1662. 14 Car, II.

HE Commiflion of Oyer and Termi-

ner being read, and Proclamation

made, the Grand Jury werefworn:

whofe Names are,

Arthur Jourdan,

John Freeflow,

Thomas Fawfon,

Thomas Coney,

George Compere,

Ifaac Rutter,

Chr. Righy,

Rowland Steed,

JVilham Standen,

John Worth,

John Rigby,

Leonard Staples.

And feveral Witneffes being called, there ap-

peared William Hill, Edward Riggs, ••••••
tyler, Godolphin, Bonfoy, and

feveral others ; who being all fworn, were di-

refted up to the Grand Jury.

After fome hours Examination of the Wit-

neffes, and Confutation, the Grand Jury re-

turned the Indi&ment Billa Vera.

Clerk of the Peace. You good Men of the City

of London, fummoned to appear here this day,

to inquire between our Sovereign Lord the King

and the Prifoners that are and mall be at the Bar,

anfwer to your Names, as you ihall be called,

every one at their firft call, upon pain and peril

that (hall fall thereon. Good Men of the Ward

of, ?Jc. .

Serjeant 'Glynne, Serjeant Maynard, his Ma-

jefty's Serjeants at Law ; Sir Je'offry Palmer, At-

torney-General i Sir Heneage Finch, his Majefty's

Sollicitor }
Serjeant Keeling, his Majefty's Ser-

jeant ; Sir Edward Turner -,
taking their Places

in Court.

The Prifoners were commanded to be let to

the Bar.

Clerk of the Peace. Thomas Tonge, hold up thy

Hand j George Phillips, hold up thy Hand ; Fran-

* KetyngV Reports, p. 17-

cis Stubbs, hold up thy Hand j James Hind, hold

up thy Hand $ John Sellers, hold up thy Hand 5

and Nathaniel Gibbs, hold up thy Hand.
Which they feverally doing, their Indictment

was read, the Subftance whereof is as followeth,

viz.

YO U the Prifoners that were laft called to

the Bar, ftand indicted in London by the

Names of Thomas Tonge late of London Diftil-

ler, George Phillips lace of London Yeoman,
Francis Stubbs late of London Cheefemonger,

James Hind late of London Gunner, John Sel-

lers late of Z-otf^oKCompafs-maker, and Natha-

niel Gibbs \zx.z o£ London Felt-maker ; for than

you iix,together with divers others,particularly •

in the Indictment mentioned, and others not yet

taken, as falfe Traitors to the llluftrious, Se-

rene, and moft Excellent Prince, Charles the

Second, by the Grace of God, of England,

Scotland, France, and Ireland, King, Defender

of the Faith, &c. minding and with all their

Force intending the Peace and Tranquillity of

this Kingdom of England to difturb, and our

faid Sovereign Lord the King to Death, and

final Deftru&ion to bring, and put, the 3 ift Day
of Oclober in the fourteenth Year of the Reign
of our faid Sovereign Lord King Charles the

Second, traitoroufly did compafs, imagine and

intend the killing of our faid Sovereign Lord
the King, and the ancient Government of this

Kingdom ofEngland to change ;
' [as in the In-

dictment more particularly was mentioned.]

What fayeft thou, Thomas Tonge, art thou

guilty of this High-Treafon in Manner and Form
as thou ftandeft indi&ed, or not guilty?

Tonge. Not guilty.

Clerk. How wilt thou be try'd ?

Tonge.
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3enge. By God and my Country.

Clerk. What fayeft thou, George Phillip, art

thou guilty? &.C.
.

'

:

Phillips. I am guilty in hearing and not dii-

covering of it.

Clerk. Art thou guilty of this High-Treafon

whereof thou ftandeft indicted ?

Phillips. I am guilty, but not in Manner and

Form as I ftand indicted} I have heard the

Words, as I formerly confefTed to Sir Richard

Brown: Not guilty, as to the Manner and

Form.
Clerk. How wilt thou betry'd?

Phillips. By God and my Country.

Clerk. How fayeft thou, Francis Stubbs, art

thou guilty ? t$c.

Stubbs. Not guilty.

Clerk. How wilt thou betry'd?

Stubbs. By God and my Country.

Clerk. What fayeft thou, James Hind, art thou

guilty ? &c.

Hind kneeling down, and difcovering much

Penitency, anfvvered, I am guilty, and humbly

beg Mercy of his Majefty.

Court. Record his Confetfion.

Clerk. How fayeft thou, John Sellersy art thou

guilty? 13c.

Sellers. Not guilty.

Clerk. How wilt thou be try'd?

Sellers. By God and the Country.

Clerk. How fayeft thou, Nathaniel Gibbs, art

thou guilty ? &5V.

Gibbs. Not guilty.

Clerk. How wilt thou be try'd?

Gibbs. By God and the Country.

Court. Carry up Hind to the Goal.

And the reft ftanding at the Bar, Silence was

commanded.
Clerk. Thomas Tonge, George Phillips, Francis

Stubbs, John Sellers, and Nathaniel Gibbs ; you

the Prifoners that were laft called to the Bar,

thofe Men that you fhall hear called are to pafs

upon Trial for your feveral Lives and Deaths

:

if you or any of you will challenge them or

any of them, you muft challenge them when they

come to the Book to be fworn, before they be

fworn.

Edmond Butler.

tonge. I challenge him. [But afterwards ad-

mitted him.]

Clerk. Edmond Butler, Clement Punge, George

Dixon, Samuel Paine, John Bagnal, John Qow~
ney, William Gayler, Ralph Silverton, William

Dudley, Jofeph Drake, John Peake, and Robert

Morrice, were feverally fworn in this manner:

Lay your Hand on the Book, look upon the Prifo-

ner > Tou Jhall well and truly try, and true Deli-

verance make between our Sovereign Lord the King

and the Prifoners at the Bar, whom you fiall have

in charge, according to your Evidence. So helpyou

God.

Clerk. Count thefe, Crier, Edmond Butler %

Crier, One. Clement Punge, Two, &V. Twelve
good Men and true, ftand together, and hear

your Evidence.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation.

Crier. O Yes ! If any one can inform my
Lords the King's Juftices. the King's Serjeanrs,

or the King's Attorney, before this Inqueft be

taken, let them come forth, and they fhall be

heard} for now the Prifoners ftand at the Bar

upon their Deliverance : and all others that are

bound by Recognizance to give Evidence againft
any of the Prifoners at the Bar, come forth and;

give Evidence, or elfe you forfeit your Recog-
nizance. And all manner of Perfons that were
fummoned upon the Jury, and have not yet been
fworn, they are difcharged, and may depart the
Court.

Clerk. tho. T'onge, hold up thy Hand
} [and fo

to the reft of them at the Bar.] You of the Jury,
look upon the Prifoners, and hearken to their
Caufe ; you (hall underftand that they ftand in-
dicted in London by the Names of Tho. Tonge, late

of, &c. [and fo as in the Indictment afore-men*
tioned] who together with James Hind, who
ftands convicted by his own Confefllon, and the
reft alfo aforementioned: [and fo reads the In-
dictment again.]

Upon which Indictment they have been ar-
raigned, and thereunto have feverally pleaded,
Not guilty -, and for their Trial have put them-
felves upon God and the Country, which Coun-
try you are: Your Charge is to inquire whether
they be guilty of the High-Treafon in Manner
and Form as they ftand indicted, or not guilty *

if you find that they, or any of them are guilry,
you fhall inquire what Goods and Chattels,
Lands and Tenements, they or any of them had
at the time of committing the faid Treafons, or
at any time fithence; if you find that they are
not guilty, you fhall inquire whether they or
any of them did flee for it ; if you find that they
fled for it, you mail enquire of their Goods and
Chattels, &c. as if you had found them guilty;
if you find that they were not guilry, nor that
they did flee, fay fo, and no more, and hear your
Evidence.

Sir Edyoard 'turner. May it pleafe your Lord*
{hips, and you Gentlemen that are fworn of this

Jury, the five Prifoners at the Bar, by the name
of T. Tonge, G. Phillips, F. Stubbs, J. Sellers, and
N. Gibbs, do ftand indicted, for that they as falfe

Traitors, together with feveral other Perfons
mentioned in the Indictment, the 31ft of O80"
for laft, did, in the Parifh of St. Michael's in the
Ward of Comhill, London,a(Temb\c and meet to-
gether, confult, contrive, and defign to levy
War againft the King, to fubvert and change
the Government as it is now eltablifhed,to depofe
and kill the King: And in order to effect this,

they did likewife then and there agree and de-
fign to fcize and take in their hands the King's
Royal Palace called Whitehall, where the King
refides. For this they have been indicted, ar-
raigned, and all thefe five have feverally pleaded
Not guilty : if we prove them guilty, you muft
find them fo.

Serjeant Maynard. Gentlemen of the Jury, you
have heard the Indictment read, you have heard
the Subftance of it opened, it is fhort in words,
but of as high confequence as any thing can be,

1 fhall open the Particulars of that Evidence,
that we conceive will be made good by the Oaths
of WitnefTes to be produced to you. You fee

here what the Indictment is: I fhall infill upon
thefe Particulars, which I fhall open and make
good to you: Firft, What was their Defign

j

Next, What was their Means of Accomplifh-
ment, what Encouragements they ufed one to

another, and what Colours they put upon this

wicked Action. For the firft, Gentlemen, I

{hall begin at the higheft, higher no Man carj

go
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go in this World, that is, to defign and com-

pafs, to contrive to put the King himfelf to

death, to feize his Perfon ; fome of them called

it fecuring, you know the Englijh of that, a King

fecured. We will go further, for we fhall prove

to you the Perfon that with his own wicked

Hand undertook the Slaughter and Murder of

the King i he did contrive how he might do it,

fometimes when the King was performing an

Office of Piety to vifit his Mother, other times

•when he mould recreate himfelf by Hunting:

higher than this they could not go, and this they

coloured over with Religion. This merciful

King that had pardoned his People beyond their

own Defires, and contended to do it; this King

they would murder. Had there been no more,

it had been exceeding heinous j but they went

further, their Malice relted not upon his Perfon,

but the Family, the Noble and Excellent Duke
of York is defign'd to be fecured likewife, and

ufed like his Brother: not they only, they went

further, the whole Nobility was in defign ; not

(Gentlemen) that every one of thefe before you
ufed thefe Expreffions, but they and their Com-
plices, fome one and fome another Expreffion :

but all joined in this, to deftroy the King and

his Family, Root and Branch, that was their

Expreffion. King, his Family, Nobility, nay,

go down to the Gentry, and it ceafed not there,

they go to the Clergy, as one of the Prifoners

at the Bar (as you will hear) did exprefs himfelf,

I think it was Stubbs, That there fhould be ne-

ver a Lawn-Sleeve, never a Sutfingler fhould

have a hole to hide his head in.

Stubbs. I never opened my Mouth to that pur-

pofe.

Serj. Maynard. That will be left to Proof: I

undertake not of myfelf to prove this, but to

open it, let the WitnefTes fpeak. In difcourfe

fome went further than that, whofoever would
not join with them in their Defign (it was one
Strange) was an Enemy ; and thereupon one Cole,

who is gone, deferted them, though he was
contented to have the King murdered, the Na-
tion ruin'd, yet would not agree in that Princi-

ple. To accomplifh this, we fhall prove to you
they did treat of levying a War, that among
themfelves it was given out that Arms were pro-

vided, fome delivered ; and their Defigns to

raife Money, feizing all the Treafury at White-
hall, Worcefter-houfe, and the Chamber of Lon-
don ; to feize the Perfon of the noble Duke of
Albemarle, and all about him., and Quarter to

be given to none; that was their Expreffion.

They did give out among themfelves (for a

while there was fome difference among thefe

Foxes, whofe Tails were tied together, and had
fire in them) and Tonge told them (as we fhall

prove) that all Parties were now agreed and
would join: they had framed Declarations to

juftify their Proceedings, framed Papers to raife

a Mutiny among the Mariners, and encouraged
them to join with them, this will be proved.

For their Means, Phillips at the Bar undertakes

to procure the Word that the Guard in the City

had, fo to betray them. There was a Defign

made for feizing the Tower
^
feveral Men appoint-

ed for that purpofe, they and their Complices
were fo come there with Papers in their Hands,
as if they were Mariners and had Accompts to

make up, thefe were to go up to thofe that fit

there to finifh. Accompts. To encourage them.'

felves, they gave out that they had dealt with
the Soldiers at Windfor, and fecured that Caftle -,

if this be proved to you, there can nothing be
higher. There was this one Pretence, it was
given out (and perchance the Rumours of the
City are come to your ears) that they had de-
fign'd a Day for the Execution of this Mifchief;
feveral Days were appointed, one on the Lord
Mayor's Day, another on Alhallows Eve. They
gave out by a feigned Letter, that there would
be a Maffacre by the French and Papifts, of the
Proteftants ; this was to raife a Fear and Difcon-
tent among the Nation, to induce them to join
when this Defign fhould be attempted. Gen-
tlemen of the Jury, had they gone on in this
wicked Purpofe, having poffeffed the People
with thefe Fears, who could have told how to
behave himfelf? And it feems ftrange and won-
derful, efpecially looking upon the Pcrfons,Men
of little Confideration, defpicable Men, and who
live under the Mercies of fo good a Sovereign,
that they fhould take fuch a Defign in their
Hearts, and undetike the Performance. Though
the Spear hath not entred into the Sides of our
Sovereign, yet it muft needs crown his Head
with abundance of Thorns, that fuch People
fhould be fo defperately wicked. But we fhall call
our WitnefTes, and when you have heard this
proved, we cannot be fo uncharitable to think
you fhall need any further Aggravation, or doubt
of your giving a Verdict againft fuch Mifcreants
as thefe are.

Sir Jcoffrey Palmer, Attorney-General. Thefe
few Prifoners at the Bar were not all in this
Contrivance, tho' we have not all their Names

;

but in the Evidence you will hear, there was a
Council of Forty, and then of Six, but none
difcovered. Thefe Six aded and infufed into
thefe and divers others what they intended, and
then broke up, and gave out all was ready, and
would be done on fuch a Day. We fhall not
trouble the Jury with giving Evidence particu-
larly againft thefe Men, they are joined and knit
together in one Caufe. But hear the Evidence.

William'Hill, Edward Riggs, and one Brad-
ley were fworn.

Counfel. Mr. Hill, fpeak your Knowledge in
this Bufinefs, to my Lords and the Jury,

Mr. Hill. May it pleafe yourLordfhips, about
the middle of Oclober laft, I met John Baker,
one that is now indi&ed, he was a Captain for-
merly called) I met him in Cheapftde: he meet-
ing me (after a Salutation) invites me to drink
with him; I went into a Houfe with him.
When I was with him, he began to ask me
what News there was in the Country; I told
him I had a little to inform him. He told me, if

I would ftay a while he would tell me fome. I
asked him of what nature. Says he, Not long
ago the King went a hunting, fent fome Stags
to Sir John Robinfon, now the Lord Mayor, and
went but with a fmall Guard, and I could have
been one of the twenty that would have {lain

that Outlandiih Dog. Then faid I, Mr. Baker,
that's nothing to me ; but what other News have
you ? Says he, I know thou art right, and I know
your Father; there is fomething on foot in the
City, and if you will meet to-morrow, I will
bring fomePerfons to you that will give you In-
formation. Sir, faid I, (underftanding it of dan-
gerous confequence, and willing to get it out,)
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I will meet you : and we agreed to meet the

next Morning. That Morning three Perfons

came early to my Quarters, Hill the Cloch-

dsawer, Mr. Bradley, and this Mr. Riggs ; he ap-

pointed them to meet him there, but failing

himfelf, they being Strangers faid nothing to me
then, and fo I departed, and left them a drink-

ing. The Morrow after, he himfelf came to

my Lodgings, fetches me out of my Bed, and

tells me he had appointed fome Perfons on the

Exchange to give me an Account. I went with

him thither, and there we met with fome Per-

ibns that were his Acquaintance > and from

thence we went to the Ship in Leadenhall-ftreet

;

and among us was Hind, that confeffed himfelf

guilty : and there the Bufinefs was fully difcourfed

of, what their Intention was, that all Interefts

were agreed, Fifth-Monarchy- Men, Anabaptifts,

Independents, and Fighting Quakers ; and the

Congregational Churches were confenting, and

were refolved to endeavour their Deliverance

from Adverfaries at Whitehall : many Pafiages

more. On the Morrow after we met again,

and there met with us Hind, and Brown, and

Baker. There we were acquainted of their Ma-
gazine and Arms provided, and about their Cor-

refpondence in the feveral Counties, that they

were fure of Windfor-Caftle, that the head Gun-
ner and Serjeant there were privy. We had In-

formation concerning this Tonge, as an active

Perfon in this Defign •, I ftudied to know this

Tonge, and I was brought to him at his Houfe ;

and there I met one Ward, Stubbs, and Hind,

and fome others, and there we had difcourfe

concerning the Bufinefs. Tonge told us forae-

thing of the Bufinefs of Windfor-Caftle, and pro-

pofed fomething in reference to the taking the

Tower, what Arms and Men they had for this

Defign. We met many times at the Ship, that

Qibbs we met at Bridewell-Bock, and there was

Stubbs and one Beazley with me-, there we waited

for a Brother of this Gibbs's, to give us Intelli-

gence when the Day of the Infurreftion would

be : we waited not long, but in came his Bro-

ther, and two Perfons more, one Thomas a Brid-

ler or Bit-maker in Shoe-Lane, and another Per-

fon in a handfom Garb came along with him.

His Brother was fomewhat fhy (becaufe I was a

Stranger) to fpeak any thing, but calls for this

Gibbs and Stubbs, and had fome private Difcourfe

with them, and away departed : After they were

gone, we defired to know the Intelligence;

they told us that the Council of Six was broken

up, all Bufinefs was fettled, Ludlow was Com-
mander in chief, and Alhallows-YLvc was the

time, that Horfe and Arms were provided. For

Phillips ; that Day that the Meetings were inter-

cepted, that the Trained- Bands did furprize

them, that Day this Gentleman and I (pointing

to Riggs) came to the Main-Guard at the Ex-
change; where Serjeant Phillips was with a BufF

Coat and a Halbert •, and this Gentleman (mean-

ing Riggs) faluted him, and thanked him for his

Service in fending down notice to the Meeting to

be gone, for he was coming with the Trained-

Bands to furprize them. He asked him, what
was the occafion of the Buftle : fays he, they

fay

Sir Robert Forfter, Chief Juftice. Who is

that he?
Hill. That Phillips faid, They fay they were
Vol. II.

up in the Weft, and if they were not, I would
they were, and here too, for a few would do
the Work. Upon the Monday after, we met
him near the Exchange ; and fo likewife Riggs

thanked him for his Service, and then he (Phillips)

promifed his further Service when the time of
the Infurreclion would be.

For Sellers, I was by Agreement to have thirty

Arms delivered me, and I was very preffing to

have the Arms out of the Magazine. Sellers

met with this Gentleman (Riggs) and he urging
Sellers about the Arms, Sellers told him that they

were all delivered out the Night before, about
five or fix hundred ; and that forty of their.

Friends went away without Arms, but that

within two or three Days there would be more
laid in.

*SV>Heneage Finch, Sollicitor-General. Mr. Hill,

I will ask you one Queftion, (with my Lord's
favour;) as you have given a general Account,
I will keep you to one particular Perfon, Tonge :

Did Tonge, in any Difcourfe with you, tell you
of one Strange that was gone into the Country?

Hill. One night he told .us he had fpoke with
Strange: that he was gone into the Country, and
would come back the Morrow, and then we
fhould have more Intelligence.

Sir Heneage Finch. What concerning theTower
and Windfor-Caftle?

Hill. He talked of the good Service that he
had done in being at Windfor-Caftle, with the
Serjeant and Gunner, for the fecuring of that

Caftle ; that near five hundred of their Friends

were in and about Windfor, ready to afiift for

furprizing that Cattle.

Court. Who told you this ?

Hill. Tonge told me himfelf, That he was in—

Ilrumental in it.

Finch. Did he tell you any thing of iheTower ?

Hill. Only he faid, it was fit fome care fhould

be taken to furprize the Tower at the time.

Finch. Any thing of Alhallows Eve ?

Hill. He did not fix the very inftanttime, but
faid, he look'd for Intelligence from Strange.

Sir Jeoffry Palmer. What Day of the Month
was that ?

Hill. I cannot remember the very Day.
Serj. Maynard. What did he fay concerning

Declarations?

Hill. The Declaration was read, Stubbs ac-

quainted us, againft Popery, and Monopolies,
for Liberty of Confcience, and a Free Common-
wealth.

Finch. Any thing of the Po pirn Maflacre?

Hill. Yes, I had this Paper of them, a Copy
of a Letter.

Sir R. Fofter. How many Copies of that Letter

were to be difperfed in the City?
Hill. About five thoufand.

Sir Jeoffry Palmer. Thefe things were to be

difperfed, to pofTefs the People that the Papifts

about that time would mafTacre the Proteftants,

that fo they might draw all againft that Party

to join with them ; a brave Colour, when in

truth there was no fuch thing, but only to carry

on their Defign of killing the King, and altering

the Government.

The Letter was read by the Clerk, and follows

in his verbis.

Q.qq SIR,
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SIR
e r\UT of the Refpedt which I bear to you
e vJ in particular, and to the Proteftant Party

' in general, I give you notice of this Paflage :

* About a fortnight fince, a Woman, which
c you muft be ignorant where, who had it from
* a Correfpondent of the Papifts, that they in-

' tend to make ufe of their Army (which all the

6 World fees they have provided) againft Alhal-

« lows-Eve next > it was thought good therefore,

s
in as prudent way as may be, to give notice to

6 our Friends in remote Parts, that they may do
' what Piety to God, Loyalty to their Prince,

* Love to their Country, and Self-prefervation

6 mould direct them. Sir, I call the Eternal

* God to witnefs, that this is not to trepan, to

' put a trick upon you, but a fober Truth j and
* alfo communicated to a Juftice of the Peace,

'and by him to the Privy-Council: And what
1 the Iflue of it is, 1 hive not heard j I hope
e you will inquire, and tell us.

' From Texford in Suffolk,

'Ocloh. $1. 1 66z.'

Serj. Keeling. Do you ( Mr. Hill) remember
any Difcourfe of the Way of taking Whitehall?

Name who were there, and who fpoke.

Hill. There was Hind,, and one Captain Browne,

a Shoe-maker in the Strand, and fome other Per-

fons.

Counfel. Was Stubbs there ?

Hill. Not at this Difcourfe: but we talked of

taking Whitehall at Stubbs'* Houfe, when a Sea-

Captain was there, that was to go to Surinam,

and Stubbs invited him to flay at home to affift

them ; who was to come down with a Party by
Charing-Crofs, and another Party to come up by
the Cock-Pit^ and to kill my Lord Duke of Al-

bemarle, and to flay Sir Richard Brown in the

City, and the Party in the City to keep a Drum
beating, &c. And Tonge faid, That their main
Care mufl be to keep down Sir Richard Brown,
and the Trained-Bands, or elfc they mould never

be able to ftand.

Counfel. What concerning the Privy-Garden
Way?

Hill. They difcourfed concerning the getting

down the Door and the Wall, and fo get the

fooner to Whitehall.

Counfel. What was Stubbs's Opinion at that

Communication?
Hill. His was at Blackfriers, the laft Tuefday

Night before they were taken, this Stubbs, Tho-
mas, and Gibbs.

Court. Which Gibbs ?

Hill. This black Gibbs at the Ear : They dif-

courfed that they would be fure to make an end
of Kings, Princes, and Dukes, that they might
have a Free State, and be troubled no more with
any fuch kind of Perfons, neither Lawn-Sleeves
nor Surfinglers.

Counfel. Do you remember that Stubbs pro-
pofed any other Way to Whitehall ?

Hill. No, Sir.

Maynard. Did they fay what Number was
provided, Ten, or Twenty Thoufand?

Hill. Stubbs allured us, that there was a great
Party in Eaft- Smithfield right for the Work, and
had their Arms.

Counfel. What Employment had Sellers about
delivering the Arms ?

Hill. He faid, the Arms were delivered out at

Crutchedfriers, about fix hundred ; and that forty

of their Friends went away laft Night for lack of

Armsj that within two or three Days there

would be more.

Counfel. Did he name a Magazine ?

Hill. Yes, the Magazine in Crutchedfriers.

Counfel. Did you know any thing touching the

Difcovery of the Word, and by whom ?

Hill. No, Sir: But I underftood that Tonge

was allured by Phillips, that Phillips would get
him the Word ihat very Night that they intended
the Infurrection.

Counfel. What was propounded, if they had
taken the King, what would they do ?

Hill. He fhould have the fame Quarter as

Ludlow was to have.

Court. Who faid that ?

Hill. Stubbs, and Gibbs, and Tonge.

Counfel. That's three of the Primers at the

Bar : Lord have Mercy upon us

!

Court. Were you not acquainted of a Council
of Six?

Hill. Yes, they named feveral at a venture,

but they brlieved fome of them were of the Six:

That they met not twice in a place, fometimes
here, and fometimes in another place.

Counfel. Who did they name?
Hill. Colonel Danvers, Phillips, Nye the Mi-

nifter, Lockyer, and one Cole of Southampton,

that thefe five were part of the fix.

Counfel. What Difcourfe touching the Diftance

of Place where they engaged any ?

Hill. Forty Miles about the Town,
Counfel. Did Tonge tell you that Strange had

lodg'd any Horfe ?

Hill. He faid, he had taken out the Horfe that

were provided for a time; but Gibbs and Stubbs

at Blackfriers aflured us of the Horfe coming in-

to the Town the night before.

Counfel. Did Tonge tell you ofany Back, Breads,

BlunderbufTes ?

Hill. Not he, Sir. It was talked of that night

at the Blackfriers.

Counfel. What did you hear concerning fending

into Dorfetfhire, to fpread Rumours there?

Hill. That they had four hundred of their

Friends there, that they were fure of, and feveral

Cafes of Piftols were fent down by the Carrier.

Court. Who faid that ?

Hill. 1 know not what particular Perfon, but

at that Meeting, and in that Company.
Counfel. Who was prefent ?

Hill. Gibbs and Stubbs.

Counfel. None of the reft? Was Tonge or

Phillips there ?

Hill. No, Sir.

Counfel. Did you hear of any other Country,

either Kent, or tVorceflerfhire, or Derby, or Lei-

cefierjhire ?

Hill. Tonge informed us of the Faithfulnefs of

Col. Kendrick in Kent, to bring him fome Arms.
Court. If the Prifoners will ask him any Que-

ftions, they may.
Sellers. Friends, all that are here prefent, I

did ever abhor fuch an Action. Ask him whe-
ther he did hear me fpeak thofe Words, that I

mould fay, That there was Arms delivered out,

and that forty went away lacking, and in one or

two Days there would be more : Which Words I

never did fpeak in my Life, or any fuch thing,

only what I heard from Wapfhot, as Wapfhot de-

clared
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clared to my Lord Mayor he told me, to whom
1 appeal. It's true, meeting with that Wapfoot,

i'ays he, We hear there -will be a Rijing, and there

are fome Arms delivered out. Said ], I would ad-

•vlfe you to have a care of fuch a Bufmefs.

Sir Orl. Bridgman. I would not interrupt you,

you will be admitted to make your Defence after-

wards; but if you will, ask him any Queftion.

Sellers. My Lord, I fhall come to that : Wap-

Jhot told me there were Arms delivered, but fur-

ther told me, he knew not of the Certainty of

thefe things; that at Night he mould go to a

Houfe where he mould know. I bid him have a

care. At Night, as I was palling along, I met

Riggs at Stubbs's Door; he asked me, What
News at London ? I faid, I was told there would

be a Riling, and thatArms were delivered. Is there,

fays he? Said I, 1 do not believe it, but I fhall

know certainly to-morrow. I did call the next

Morning, and asked, Is the Story true? No, fays

he, I was there, and there was no Arms; that

was all that I know of theBufinefs. Friend, did

I tell you any fuch thing ?

Counfel. Tell him, and upon what occafion.

Hill. Upon occafion of Riggs's asking him for

thirty Arms for me, (this upon the Exchange)

Sellers took him a little afide, and told him, they

were all delivered out, that forty went away

lacking, that more would be there within two

or three Days.

Sellers. That which I faid to Riggs, was the

Meffige I received from IVapJhot; but that I

inquired, and there was no Arms there; fo that

ic was but a Fallacy : for I advifed him not to

meddle with any fuch thing. Mr. Hill never faw

my Face, till I was apprehended upon the Ex-

change, and brought before Sir Richard Brown.

Hill. I faw him upon the Exchange with this

Man, {Riggs.)

Counfel. Did he fay that any Arms were deli-

ver'd before, and what number?
Hill. About five or fix hundred.

Sellers. He never heard me fpeak a word.

Counfel. How long before he was apprehended ?

Hill. Never but that time with Riggs upon
the Exchange, about nine Days before his Appre-

henfion ; and he confefTed upon his Examination,

That he did fee me with Riggs.

Court. Have you, or any other the Prifoners,

any Queftions mere?
Sellers. I have more : Whether he will posi-

tively affirm that he fpake with me upon the

Exchange ?

Hill. No. Sir, you anfwered the Queftion to

Riggs.

Counfel. You heard the Anfwer?
Hill. Yes, Sir.

Sellers. May be at the fecond hand.

Counfel. Did you hear the Prifoner anfwer it,

or had you it at the fecond hand ?

Hill. I heard it from Sellers himfelf, anfwering
Riggs.

Sellers. Did you hear me ?

Hill. Yes, to Mr. Riggs.

Sir Hen. Finch. He fwears it, and you wonder
at it, and fo we do all.

Sellers. Who was there then?
Hill. It was upon the Exchange, when almoft

full.

Sellers. What Day of the Month ?

Hill. I cannot remember the Day.
Vol. II.

Sellers. I do declare before this honourable

Bench, Gentlemen of the Jury, and this great

Auditory, That I never faw this Man's Face till

I was apprehended. That which I told Mr.
Riggs, was what I heard M'^pflmt fay. I never

till then faw this Man's Face, nor exchanged one
word with him ; whereas he fays, he heard me.
I do not believe Mr. Riggs faw him near me,
when I gave him the Anfwer.

Hill. Seeing he doth invalidate my Teftimony,
Mr. Adjutant Carent took him upon the Exchange,

I fliew'd him the Perfon; and therefore certainly

I muft fee him before.

1 Sellers. It was not he, but the other in the

white Clothes, that came and took me, that

knew me.

Court. Will any of the reft ask him any Que-
ftion ?

Sellers. Here is that that I am accufed of, That
I delivered Arms, which is altogether falfe : my
Lord Mayor can bear witnefs, Wapfhot confefTed

he told me fuch ,a thing. I did ever abhor any
fuch thing •, I was always ferviceable to his Majefty
upon all occafions, and all times : my Neighbours
can witnefs my civil Converfation.

Court. Have you any thing more to ask him?
Sellers. I would fain know whether the Bench

and fury are fatisfied with this Evidence.

Court. That you will hear anon: What elfe

will you ask him ?

Stubbs. What he accufes me, you have all

heard: I do in the prefence of God, and this

honourable Bench, and the Jury, deny it ; for it

is very falfe, and believe none will verify the lame
upon Oath.

Court. Have you any Queftions ?

Gibbs. We all ftand in the prefence of God ;

and 1 am very confeientious of what I fay and
do ; I muft give account of all things before the
Lord. This Gentleman, Mr. Hill, his aflerted

concerning me, That I fhould deliver divers

Cafes of L'iftols, as knowing the Delivery of
them: if Mr. Hill, who ftands likewife in the
prefence of God, can produce any Man to prove,

that I delivered to any Man any Piltols, or that

any were fo delivered by my Order, or that I

convey'd or fent them away into the Country;
do this in the fight of the Lord and his own
Confcience, I expect not Mercy. But 1 would
have him fpeak no more of me, but what he

knows of me, or by me; whether he knows I

ever received any Piftols, or delivered any at any
time, for fuch an End as he is pleafed to fpeak :

which my Soul abhors, and God can witntfs.

Stubbs. This Mr. Hill was the Man that men-
tioned this, and that he had four Horfes and
Arms himfelf, and had two hundred Pound in

order to it. I was never any Plotter, nor con-
trived any thing, but am as innocent as the

Child unborn; but being by an accident at

1'onge\ Houfe, a Strong-water-Man : Ask the

other Witneffes, whether he fpeaks Truth
Sir Orl. Bridgman. I would have put you in a

right Way : You fhall be all heard at large,

when you make your Defence. But will you
ask him any Queftions ?

Gibbs. I propounded one; I defire an Anfwer:

Whether I received or delivered any Piftols to

fuch a Ufe ?

Hill. I did not fay he did: But at that Meet-

ing at Black-Friers it was difcourfed among them,

Q^q q 2. Thau
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That feveral Arms were fent to Dorfetjhire, to

feveral Friends there •, and he was there then
:

I

believe he cannot deny it.

Stubbs. There was Arras fpoken of; but that

Man (Mr. Hill) fpoke of them, and upon this

Confederation, That there were Arms delivered

to every Hall, Ammunition and Powder. Riggs

knows he fpoke it at that time.

Hill. Sir, that was fpoken after the Queftion

was put, What was the occafion of fending the

Powder and Ammunition to the Halls? Thefe

Arms were fpoken of in reference to the Defign.

I do acknowledge I told them I had fomeArms

my felfj and faid, I had two hundred Pound for

carrying it on. And I know the grounds of my
fpeakingj and fo do fome of this honourable

Bench.
Stubbs. Hill advifed, That they fall upon Sir

Richard Brown as an Enemy to all honeft Men.

Gibbs. This Hill fays that I fhould fay thefe

Things 5 there were more iher?, and had Ears

as well as he, let them fpeak.

Hill. There was Riggs, Stubbs, my felf, and I

know not the other Names.

Gibbs. This Hill and Mr. Riggs, whofe Face

I never faw, came to my Neighbour's Houfe,

where I was alone, found me plotting with no

Man.
Hill. We were brought into his Company by

one Beazley : He had been at 'Tower-Hill, about

Two or Three o'clock, to give fome Intelli-

gence to fome Perfons there about the Defign.

Riggs and I took a Coach, and went after him >

and Stubbs told us we might meet him at a

Baker's Houfe near the Tower. We found Beaz-

ley, and he faid he could not fignify any thing to

us, but would carry us to Black- Friers, to one

Gibbs: And there he brought us to this very

Man. Firft enquiring at a Houfe for him, Beaz-

ley was told he was at a Tavern at Bridewell-

Stairs : We went there, and found him. He
told us he could tell us little himfelf, till his Bro-

ther came ; and accordingly he prefently after

came. That was the occafion that I came into

his Company.
Gibbs. He fays that I fpoke of Piftols deliver-

ed, and a Number ; but how many he knows
not: And that I mould talk of the Death of the

Kingi which is as falfe as God is true. Again,

I knew not of his coming, never appointed him,

never was privy to any fuch Plot ; 1 abhor it in

my Soul. I never engaged in any fuch Defign

with any Man at any time-—«—

-

Court. You do your felf much wrong, and

take away that Time which you may happily

fpend better.

Stubbs. I defire to know of Mr. Hill who was

prefent at that Meeting that I mould fay, The
King mould have fuch Quarter as Ludlow.

Hill It was fpoken at that Meeting at Black-

Friers : After his Brother and the other Perfons

were gone, it was there fpoken, That the

Council was broke up, and all ready ; Alhallows-

Eve the Time, and then the fame Quarter to be

given as Ludlow fhould have, if taken.

Stubbs. You do not anfwer the Queftion

:

Who was there befides your felf?

Hill. There was Riggs, and that Gibbs there.

Stubbs. You have only his Evidence.

Tonge. Who was in Company when I talked

of 500 Men at Windfor ?

Hill. It was at your own Houfe j and there

was Ward, Stubbs, Riggs, Hind, and myfelf.

Phillips. Whether did he ever fee my Face at

any Meeting ?

Hill. I never faw you before that Time in

Cornhill.

Phillips. Upon what account did I fpeak to
Riggs then?

Hill. When you came off the Exchange, you
told him you could not flay, your Captain was
coming. Riggs thanked you for your Favour,
in fending Word to the Meeting to be gone to

a certain Quaker.
Phillips, i never fent to any Quaker to that

purpofe. I did not fee this Man upon the Sab-
bath-day : But Riggs came down to me, and
thought I had fent notice to Anchor-Alley j but
I did not.

Sellers. He affirmed that there was feveral

Meetings of forty, and then of fix ; ask Mr.
Hill whether I was in either of thofe Numbers
at any time.

Counfel. He did not charge you with any fuch
Thing, of being in that Number: He asks a
Queftion about Things not laid to his Charge.
Let Mr. Riggs fpeak.

Edward Riggs. About three and twenty Weeks
fince I became acquainted with Mr. Tonge, upon
this occafion: Captain Baker did fay that he was
a Man of Intelligence, but Mr. Tonge did not
care for himj and told me that I might be ac-

quainted with him. A while after I came ac-
quainted with him accidentally, when i came to
his Houfe.

Court. Whofe Houfe ?

Riggs. Tonge's Houfe. Mr. Stubbs was there*

He laid, That he had been at fVindfor, fpoken
with the Gunner and Serjeant ; and that they
promifed it fhould be ready upon fome certain

notice given. That Night he had received a
Letter of fome Bufinefs concerning a Suit of
Law, he faid ; in which there was a myftical

Meaning, which he did not tell me of. But
this he laid, That he had made fure of JVindfor

by the Gunner and Serjeant's Promifes. This is

that I know of him.

Counfel. Is this all of Tonge ?

Riggs. This likewife he has told me, That he
had fometimes met with a certain Company j he
did not fay thirty or forty, but a pretty many
there was. He named Mr. Cole, Captain Elton,

Captain Leigh, that they had often met, but
could not well agree. But at laft Mr. Strange

did meet with them, give them one Meeting

;

they could not agree neither. They went away,
and faid thefe Words, to the beft of my Re-
membrance; Mr. Strange did refufe to join

with them > but when God did bid him go, he
would go, whether this Day, or next Week, or

next Year, matters not •, but when God bids him
go, he would go. Mr. Cole was fomewhat
troubled to hear it: But fays Mr. Cole, If you
will go, give me but notice, if 1 cannot go (0

fall as you ride, I will hold by your Horfe-tail.

A little while after he told me, They had not

met again j that Mr. Cole, becaufe they could
not agree about this Bufinefs, was gone beyond-
Sea j but before he was gone, he did tell me of

fome Confiderations that were drawn, as he
judged, about a Government by Mafter Cole;

and gave me in a Paper fome certain Propofitions,

three



1662.O. B. Sellers and Gibbs, for High-Treafon, 485
three or four concerning Seamen : The Sub-

ftance was this, What great Benefits they had

by a Commonwealth.
Court. Who gave you them ?

Riggs. Tonge: But it came from Mr. Cote, as

he laid. In general, they were to declare a-

gainlt the Mifgovernment of Church and State :

In particular, to Seamen % what great Advanta-

ges there would be to them. And three or four

Things propounded in order to them : I. That
no Seamen fhould pay Cuftom for any Commo-
dity that he did bring under the Value of ten

Pounds ; upwards they mull. And likewife there

fhouid be care taken upon our own Coafh, and

beyond Sea, that where any of our Engliflj Ships

fhould be call away, there ihould be care t.iken

out of the Cuftoms that might keep them, in

their travelling homewards, either from begging

or flaiving. But Mr. Cole, when they met, as

Tonge faid, would not agree ; and therefore went
beyond-bea. After he was gone, within a Week
or a Fortnight they had another Meeting.

Court. They: Which they ? Name them.

Riggs. I did not hear him name many, unlefs

Leigh and Captain Elton; I remember no more.

And there, hefaid, they had under Confideration

the Government of a Commonwealth j and fo to

dec'are againll the Mifgovernment of the Church
and State : and that there was to be a Meeting

I at London-Wall in a little time after j and he

was there. He afterwards told me he miffed

J
that Meeting ; but had Intelligence brought

i him, That that Time that he miffed, thirty or

forty, I know not the certain Number, had re-

ferred it to fix Men : They called it, The Coun-

cil of Six ; but the Names of them I never

heard from him j and indeed, he laid he knew
them not, by reafon of his Abfence from that

Meeting. But what I gathered from him was
this, That he judged Captain Elton was one of

them.

Counfel. He told you there was a Council of

Six?
Riggs. Yes •, That he heard there was, but

knew them not.

Sir Heneage Finch. To make Things fhort

:

Were you ever at any Meeting where there was
a DHcourfe touching furprizing the King, alter-

ing the Government ? And who was there, upon
your Oath ?

Riggs. That Friday immediately before we
were taken, I think Oclober 24, there was fome
Difcourfe in general concerning Whitehall j

what might be done as to the procuring of that,

and likewife concerning the Tower.

Counfel. Who was prefent that Friday?
Riggs. My felf, Hill, Tonge, Stubbs, Ward,

Hind, and John Baker : And then to the bell

of my Knowledge, there was this DHcourfe in

general. Concerning the taking of the Tower,

there was fome Propofitions on all hands con-
cerning the taking of that. Mr. Hind, he only

mention'd, but did not fay he would undertake
it, the righting of Gunners Accompts. Mr.
Tonge, he faid that the Way that he thought
convenient might be this j When Sir John Ro-
binfon, now Lord Mayor, did late in the Even-
ing go into the Tozver, there fhould be a Party
following his Coach in, and fo might do it.

And John Baker, at that prelent Inftant of Time
did fay, That it was necelfary the King fhould
be furprized: And likewife faid then, Thattheie

fhould be no Quarter ; he would give nor take
none.

Counfel. WT
ho was prefent ?

Riggs. Mr. Hill, my felf, Bradley, Hind, Cap-
tain Brown, and Baker, and another Hill, the
Drawer, I think.

Counfel. Was not Tonge and Stubbs there then
at that Time ?

Riggs. Yes } they were there.

Sir Heneage Finch. I ask you this j I do not
defire large btories, but firm and ciofe Anfwers

:

Were you prefent at any Meeting when the fe-

cuiing the King, Tower, or Whitehall, was dif-

courfed of, or no?

_
Riggs. Sir, that Friday, Oclober 24, imme-

diately before we were taken there was this Dif-
courfe: Tonge did propound fuch a Way for
furprizing the Tower, by following Sir John Ro-
binfon's Coach in at Night} and Baker did fay,

That it was neeeffary to undertake the fecuring
of the King's Perlon, and afTuilring Whitehall j

and that if there were five hundred Horfe and
Foot, they would undertake it, by going into
the Privy-Garden, and Back-flairs.

Counfel. Were you prefent when Stubbs did/
advife the allaulting of Whitehall by the Privy^
Garden ?

Riggs. No : But Baker did fay he would un-
dertake it.

Counfel. Who was prefent ?

Riggs. Mr. Hill, Bradley, Stubbs, and Hind,
was there: But that Stubbs undertook it, I can-
not fay ; but he was there.

Sir Heneage Finch. Did Tonge ever tell you any
thing of Phillips, or that he had Hopes of the

Word ?

Riggs. I came acquainted with Phillips pre-
fently after I was acquainted with Mr. Tonge.

Phillips once met me, and I carried him to

Tonge's; and then Philli, $ freely faid, That there

was three hundred Arms at the Artillery-Gardens
he being one of the Artillery, knew where they
lay, and could tell them how they might come
by thofe Arms. And that for the Word, it was
neceffary to be got. And if in cafe that it fo

fell out, that the White Regiment was then

out, or he then in Office, he would endeavour
to procure it. But afterward, meeting him fe-

veral times, he declared he would not meddle
any more with it.

Sir Heneage Finch. Were you upon the Ex-
change with Sellers when there was a Difcourfe

about delivering out of Arms? And what did

Sellers fay ?

Riggs. Mr. Hill faying that he had two hun-
dred Pound to buy Horles, and that he had four

already, and wanted Swords, and had Friends in

Town wanted Arms, asked me if I knew if any
were given out. I told him, that one Ivir. Sellers

told me, That he had heard fome Arms were
given, and to be given out that Day. Upon the

Exchange, Mr. Hill and Bradley, and I being

together, Mr. Flill faid, Ay, there is the Perfon

that t >ld me of the Arms : I will go and ask

him if there be any fuch thing. W7

hethcr Mr.
Hill heard the Difcourfe, I cannot tell ; but he

faid, fays he, 1 have enquired, and fome Arms
are delivered, and forty went without } but

within two or three Days there would be

more.

Sir Heneage Finch. Did Hill fee Sellers upon

the Exchange at that Time ?
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Riggs. Yes j but whether he heard him, I

cannot tell.

Sir Robert Forfter. What induces you to be-

lieve he did fee him ?

Riggs. We were clofe together.

Sir Robert Forfter. What about Nathaniel Gibbs ?

Riggs. For Gibbs, I brought Mr. /////acquaint-

ed with Mr. Stubbs ; and he faid he knew one

at Fleet-Bridge, that fells Plumbs and fuch Things,

and if we would go along with him, he would
tell us News. Hill, Stubbs, and I, that Day I

was taken, went to Beazley. Stubbs asked him,

What News? Says he, I hear theBuiinefs goes

on j but if you will go to one Gibbs, meaning

him that is fled, he has Intelligence. So we
went to an Alehoufe near him, but he was not

at home j and we were told, if we would go
to Bridewell, they faid they would fend for his

Brother, meaning him at the Bar; and fo fhould

have an Account. Gibbs, at the Bar, being with

us, he told us he knew little himfelf; but when
his Brother came, we fhould hear. Three quar-

ters of an Hour after came Gibbs that is gone,

Thomas, and another Man ; I knew him not

;

and Gibbs called his Brother. Beazley, Stubbs,

and Hill, and I, fat ftill. When this Gibbs came,

he faid his Brother knew little, hoped we were

honeft Men. The News was this, That he

heard that Ludlow was in Town ; and that now
the Council was broken up.

Court. What Council?

Riggs. The Council of Six was broken up ;

and that they had fent MefTengers into the

Country to give notice, and to make their In-

terefts good abroad. This is that he faid there,

or as much as I remember.
Finch. Now I will ask you in general : Did

you ever hear of any Difcourfe at any time of

thefe Meetings touching a Riling by the Papifts,

and a Maflacre of the Proteftants ?

Riggs. Being upon the Exchange, Hill, Bradley,

and I, there was a Lieutenant came to me, and
ask'd me whether I heard of the Maffacre to be ?

I faid, No. Says he, I can let you fee a Copy
of a Letter to that purpofe; and gave it me.
Hill going to the Ship, I told him of this, and
he was defirous of having a Copy. And this

was the Copy that was this Day read in Court.

Sir Jeoffry Palmer. What did you hear con-

cerning the furprizing of the King at Camber-

well, when he came from his Mother ? And
what did Phillips fay ?

Riggs. Phillips, Tonge, Stubbs, and my felf,

being together, they were difcourfing concern-

ing the King's going abroad: and at that Phillips

faid the King was to come from Hampton-Court, to

fee the Queen Mother at Greenwich, and hinted

that he might be furprized. Tonge faid it need
not ; there might be fuch an Opportunity twice
every Week.

Court. Prifoners, will you ask the WitnefTes

any Queftion ?

Phillips. Did you not meet me on a Sabbath-

day ? You may remember I met you in Cheapfide ;

we walked to Birchin- Lane End. You asked me
of a Riling that fhould be : I faid, what Ri-

fing? Says you, To furprize the King coming

from Hampton-Court to Greenwich. And I came
and fpoke it openly in my Family, as News that

I heard. This Gentleman had me to Tonge's

Houfe } and there grew the Difcourfe. Riggs

told me Tonge could tell further : And Riggs told

me, That the Reafon why the Time for it was
not appointed, was becaufe the Fifth-Monarchy-
Men and Anafyaptilts were noc agreed. Riggs-
did not I difclaim this Bufinefs, and declared I
would have nothing to do with it ?

Riggs. This is certain, That afterwards he did
fay he would not have any thing to do with it $
and I did not fee him a great while after that.

Concerning Baker's furprizing the King, it is

true, he did fay before Hill, and I, and Bradley^
That the King was a Hunting, and came through
the City; and faid, He would have been one
of the Fifty would have furprized him, and pul-
led him out of the Coach.

Court. Who faid that ?

Riggs. Baker.

Court. Who prefent ?

Riggs. Bradley, Mr. Hill, and the other Hilly
Brown, and others.

Finch. Do you remember no Difcourfe con-
cerning the coming in at the Privy-Garden ?

Riggs. I have under my Hand to the Giand-
Jury declared, That Baker faid he knew the
way to the Back-ftairs through the Privy-
Garden better than any. And Bradley did once,
and but once, fay, That he knew it as well as

any, and would undertake to do the fame, in the
Prefence of Stubbs, Tonge, Hill, and the reft of
them that were there that Friday Night.

Court. Who were the reft ?

Riggs. Hill, my felf, F/ard, Stubbs, Hind,znd
John Baker, at Tonge's Houfe.

Sir John Maynard. We do conceive that thefe
two WitnefTes have given Evidence againft all

of them j if any thing ftick with the Jury, lee

them fpeak.

Counfel. Here, Bradley. This Witnefs that we
call, he was no Confpirator j but when there
was Notice of the Defign, he was employed to
find it out, and to give us an Account of it.

Sir Heneage Finch. Mr. Bradley, were you pre-
fent at any Debate ?

Gibbs. Whether did Riggs hear me fay, That
Ludlow was in Town ; or that the Council was
broke up, and the Bufinefs went forward ?

Riggs. This I faid, That Hill, Stubbs, and
Beazley, were prefent ; and he faid he knew no-
thing himfelf, but from his Brother : This was
the News, That he heard that Ludlow was in

Town, Council broke up, and that there was
fent out MefTengers to give notice to prepare
for the Bufinefs ; that it would be on Alhallows-
Eve, or the latter end of the Week, being Sa-
turday the next Day.

Gibbs. I never fpake thefe Words j and do de-

fire that the Honourable Bench will enquire of
the Perfons then prefent, whether they will a-

vouch the fame •, whether I faid it from my Bro-
ther ? Thefe Words I did not fpeak ; and o-

thers being prefent, had Ears as well as he.

Tonge. Mr. Riggs told me Ludlow was in Town j

and told me he would enquire after him.
Riggs. I confefs I did fo.

Tonge. And that he was like to be taken in

Cheapfide. He was continually at my Shop, and
would not let me alone, prompting and inducing
me to thefe Things.

Counfel. Mr. Bradley, were you at any Meet-
ing touching Difcourfe of furprizing Whitehall?

Bradley. I was one Friday Night at Tonge's

Houfe, a Strong-water-Man on Tower- Ditch,

where there was thefe two Gentlemen with me,

(pointing
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(pointing to Mr. Hill and Mr. Riggs) and there

was Mr. Stubbs, and John Baker, and another

Gentleman, one Ward ; and we had fome Dif-

courfe about furprizing of Whitehall, which way

it might be done. Some faid that a Party might

go through the Guard, and fo furprize General

Monk's Guard j others faid they might come

down by Charing- Crofs : But Tonge faid, There

was no coming down by Charing-Crofs, becaufe

there was two great Guns planted at the bottom,

and commanded all that way : But faid, The on-

ly way he conceived, was to bring a Party thro'

King's-Street, and, if it were poffible, to get in-

to the Privy-Garden, and fo into the Lodgings

that way. This is all that I remember.

Serjeant Keeling. Do you know any thing a-

bout the Ship at the Eafi-India Houfe ?

Bradley. I went to this Ship fometimes j and

with Riggs , Hill, Brown, Hind, and one Hill a

Cloth-Drawer j we had divers Difcourfes con-

cerning the Defign, and the News on foot.

Court. What Defign ? Exprefs it.

Bradley. To alter the Government > the fur-

prizing the King, the Duke, and the General,

and as many more of the Council as they could

lay Hands on.

Counfel. What about the Guards, furprizing

Whitehall ?

Bradley. At another Meeting they difcourfed

about the bringing down Forces to Whitehall.

Counfel. Who were prefent then ? Which of

the Prifoners at the Bar ?

Bradley. None, unlefs Hindbc there.

Counfel. At what other Meetings were you ?

Bradley. I was never at any other, but twice

at tonge"% Houfe. The Friday Night we had a

Difcourfe about taking Whitehall. And the Day
before we were taken, I met this Mr. Riggs up-

on the Exchange. He asked me to go home, and

dine wirh him ; and we intended to go and fee

a Ship. His Dinner not being ready, we went

over to Tonge's Shop, and had a Quartern of

Strong-waters ; and 1 took a Pipe of Tobacco.

Riggs went away, and faid he would not ftay :

Hind ftaid with me the whilft. After we had

taken a Pipe of Tobacco, he came again, and

faid he heard the Bufinefs was near at hand, and

that there would be fpeedy Aftion. Hill was at

the Shop. And after Dinner, Riggs and I, Mr.
Hill and Hind, went all out together to Stubbs's

Houfe. Riggs and Hill went in j Hind and I ftaid.

Standing there a little, faid I to Hind, What
mean thefe Gentlemen to ftay fo long ? Riggs

faid he ftaid for a Friend ; but I will go and

meet him. Said I, Will you not go on board

a Ship with Matter Hind and I ? Says Riggs, No,
I will go to meet my Friend : Do you go on
board the Ship, and come to my Houfe j if I

am not there, pray ftay a little. We asked Mr.
Hill if he would go with us ; but he went with

Riggs : And they told me coming back, That
Gibbs had informed them the Defign was ready,

Council broke up, and MelTengers fent to give

notice ; and Ludlow in Town, and to be Ge-
neral.

Court. Who told you this ?

Bradley. Riggs did, when he returned from
Bridewell.

Tyler [worn.

Sir Heneage Finch. Mr. Tyler, do you know
Tonge ?

Tyler. I know him very well.

Sir Heneage Finch. Have you ever been in his

Company, and fpake of any Defign about fecu-
ring the King ?

Tyler. Often;,

Counfel. Tell what you have heard.

Tyler. I have met Mr. Tonge and others in three

or four feveral Places: At the Wheat-Sheaf'at
Lion's once, if not twice 5 at the Half

:

-Moon, Wi-
dow Jordan's, within Bipupfgate, twice at the
leaft. Near Duke's-Place, at the Shears, I have
heard feveral Things, and have noted it down, to
be fure to deliver the Truth. I have heard them
fpeak about Whitehall, and fecuring of it, and of
the two Guns there. Elton and he faid, That
they might come with a Party backwards, break-
ing through a Barber's Shop in King's Street, and
dilmount the two Guns. But as touching the
King, the Duke, and the Noble Duke of Albe-
marle, they propofed what excellent Service it

would be to fecure thefe Perfons : He faid it was
not a Thing that would admit of much Debate,
inafmuch as he had a Friend a Courtier. (J know
not his Title) that would give him notice at a-

ny time when the King was gone a hunting, or
his Progrefs > and that it was eafy to take it. Tongs
faid he ferved the Tower-Sutilcrs, and was ac-
quainted there j and faid, There was no way to

furprize that but this, either about Ten or Ele-
ven o'clock, I will undertake we may do it with
Forty Perfons thus, fays he ; Some to go in drop-
ping, one by one, or two together, and others

to be at feveral Alehoufes near, to be ready ; and
they within feizing on the Guard by a private

Sign, we mould fecure thole without ; and the

Soldiers being of the old Army, will readily

comply. And faid, There was a Perfonthat li~

ved nigh him, wears Ropes about him, is a Por-
ter when off the Guard, and believes he can com-
mand the whole Company, and would undertake
it. For Windfor- Caftle, there was an old Gun-
ner that he kept a Correfpondence withal j and
he ferved the Suttlers of that Caftle alfo with

Tobacco, I think he named Strong- water ; and
that the Soldiers were many of them his Ac-
quaintance i and that he had received Letters

from this Gunner under fome ftrange Title. And
faid it was eafy j.and knew that at any time,

when the Word was given, let him go, or fend

by fuch a Token, and thatPlace were our own.

Court. Who faid this?

Tyler. Mr. Tonge. As to the other Perfon,

Phillips, I can only fay this of him : There is

one Lieutenant Chapman, fo formerly, now a Pri-

foner in the Tower. This Lieutenant was a Car-
rier of Norwich. I went to his Inn, the George

in Lombard- Street, and asked for him : I was told

he was at Captain Fofler's Houfe, in Leadenhall-

Street, and there I might find him. I went to

Captain Fofter's > and Captain Fofter told me he
was at Supper there with his Mailer. I went
up : There was this Lieutenant Chapman and Phil-

lips, which was the firft time I laid my Eyes on
Phillips. My Bufinefs was to fpeak with Mr.
Chapman the Carrier •, but 1 perceived by forne

Difcourfe of Mr. Phillips, there was fomething

driving on : But I muft fay that Captain Fofter

walked about the Room as if he minded not the

Difcourfe. There was Chapman, Phillips, Elton,

and a Man looking a-fquintj I heard Phillips call

him Mufter-Mafter, but I know noc the Man.
I heard them difcourfe very promifcuoufly about

Ships,
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Ships and fomething wildly. I tarried while I

fpent Two-pence, and came away with Mr. Chap-

man, and asked him, what that young Blade

was that talked fo promifcuoufly ? Chapman told

me he was a Serjeant, belonging to the Trained-

Bands. Tell me his Name ? His Name is Phil-

Colonels, I think moft that arfe now living both
in England and beyond the Seas.

Counfel. Can you tell any thing of the Rumours
abroad, expecting this Defign ?

Tyler. Tonge told me this, That there was one
that they called the Lord Lockhart ; he faid he

lips. Do you know his Trade or Dwelling? He was Governor of Dunkirk; That he had thirty
or forty Servants about him ; That thefe Perfons
expected a Rifing ; and that they and himfelf
would engage. We heard that Col. Roffiter, not
particularly from Tonge, but there in Company,
was expected to be at Sturbridge-Fair, to head
fifteen Hundred Horfe, to be at London. Alfo
he asked me this Queftion at his Houfe, Whe-
ther I was acquainted with Captain Leigh,zMzn
with one Arm, a flout honeft Fellow, and an
active Fellow, of his Acquaintance ?

Counfel. Speak your Knowledge both of Per-
fons and Things.

Tyler. There was one Mr. Cole of Southampton,
Swetnam, Gibbs a Hatmaker, not he at the Bar
Tonge, Thomas Elton, Elkin, Pryor, and one Cox
a Gardiner, and Ward now a Prifoner in the
Tower, and one Ward a Southwark Man, and Dyer
a young Scholar ; there was one Rofe ofChefter-

is~a Gilder, I think. Then this is the fame Per

fon I have heard of at a Coffee-Houfe -, which

was thus : A Perfumer in Southwark, he heard

of great Rumours about a new Commonwealth ;

and prefling this Perfumer how he came to be

thus informed, fays he, There is one Phillips, that

lives in Abchurch-Lane; this Man knows of it :

For, fays he, he hath faid himfelf, that he has

gone from Committee to Committee, where Of-

ficers met about thefe Things -, and he named

Captain Fofter for one that was engaged in the

Bufinefs. Said I, This is ftrange ! I haftened

back again in the Morning to Captain Fofter'$ ;

Sir, faid I, do you know that Phillips that was

here lafl Night ? Yes, fays he. What is he,

faid I ? He anfwered, A Serjeant. The thing

is this, this Man does talk abroad, That there is

a Meeting of the old Officers, and that you are

engaged. At which Captain Fofter feemed to field, and the Perfumer I fpoke of, I know not
be troubled that he fhould be afperfed, anfwer

ed, 1 know nothing, no not one Word of this j

I do declare an Abhorence thereto, or of any Ac-
tion againfr. his Majeftyj and thereupon pre-

fently went to Phillips, and charged him with

this Report : and foon after this Perfumer comes
to my Houfe, and defired me to go over to the

Crofs-Keys where Phillips was. When I came
there, fays Phillips, Sir, I fawyou the laff. Night,

when we were talking of Ships, I hope you do
not mind the Report about Captain Fofter, fori

am troubled fuch a thing is mentioned : for my
part, I know not that I faid fo 5 I am fure I knew
no fuch thing. This was all as to Phillips j but
for Tonge, I mud needs fay, in all the Meetings
where 1 was, the feveral Places that I formerly

named, and the Whalebone behind the Exchange,

he flill difcourfed of this Bufinefs.

Counfel. What was done there concerning chil-

ling the Council of Six?
Tyler. He was fpoke to, to be at the Shears,

but he fenta Note fealcd and directed, in which
wasinclofed either Nine or Eleven of the Rump-
Parliament Names of Perfons : And fays he,

for my part, I cannot come this Day, becaufe

the Hamlets are to go out into the Field ; fit was
when Sir John Robinfon marched with his Regi-
ment) that I may avoid Sufpicion, Imuflgo with
him.

Counfel. What were thofe Names ?

Tyler. I cannot tell ; but they were Nine or

Eleven of thofe in the Tower : and He promifed
he would g^et a Note of thofe Mens Names in

the Tower ; for he was confident of it, that they

would fit as Members, and do good Service up-
on the account of a Commonwealth : and faid,

there were fome that had a Correfpondence with
them in the Tower.

Counfel. What Correfpondence had they in the

Country ?

Tyler. Tonge told me at the Wheat-fheaf, That,

his Name, he lives in Southwark; and there was
a Quaker, I know not his Name: the great Bu-
finefs was to unite all Interefts. Elkin faid,
There were feveral Meetings in St. Martins, and
other Places.

Tonge. If there beany one of the Six in London,
I believe this Mr. Tyler is one.

Tyler. To clear that I am none of them, I will
name thofe whom I faid were the fix 5 Thomas
of Shoe-Lane the Copperfmith, one Elton in
White-Chapel, one Raddon, Captain Spurway of
Tiverton, a Weft-country Gentleman, Dr. Ward
in Southwark, and Jones a Minifter.

_
Sir Hen. Finch. Did Tonge tell you that the

time was appointed when the Rifing fhould be?
Tyler. I know nothing of that.

Maynard. What about Leicefter ?
Riggs. Bill, faid, he dwelt there, and came from

fome that dwelt there, and others in Gloaccfter-
fhire ; but there was another Perfon with Stubbs
and Tonge, and faid, There was a Report in the -

Country, That there would be fome Rifing ; and
he came to Town to bring his Child to put him
Apprentice with his Brother, and would go down
again, and carry the Certainty of the News: He
was one of Lambert's Soldiers.

Phillips. Mr. Tyler, did not you come in with
the Carrier of Norwich to Capt. Fofer's ?

Tyler. No, I did not.

Phillips. I am fure I came accidentally to Cap-
tain Fofter's, and going I faw you there.

Gibbs. Did I tell you, Mr. Riggs, that my Bro-
ther faid Ludlow was in Town, and there would
be a Rifing fhortly ?

Riggs. Mr. Hill, Beazley, Stubbs, and land
you were together ; Mr. Thomas and your Bro-
ther came in: your Brother, Beazley, Stubbs and
Thomas' were private in Difcourfe. When you
came again to us, we asked you what News ?"

You faid, Before we came you knew not much,
but your Brother could tell } but then you faid,

if a Rifing fhould be, it were neceflary that the Ludlow was in Town, the Council was broke up
and that Meflengers were fent to give notice to
the Country.

Gibbs. I deny that I or my Brother faidfo.

old Commanders up and down the Country fhould

head them : And therefore, fays he, what Forces

can be raifed, fhould go under that Conduct, or

to that effect. He and Elkin did propofe feveral

May
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Maynard. Know you any thing of furprizing

the King's Council, or Whitehall, or any thing

of that,°or altering the Government ?

tyler. As for altering the Government, that

muft needs be defigned j for Tonge faid, It was

debated, and thought convenient, as being the

Defire of feveral in the Country, that the old

Parliament mould be chofen again : that was to

fay, That fo many of them that had approved

themfelves faithful from firft to laft, to a Com-

monwealth's Intereft, efpecially in the Times of

Declenfion. Secondly, That none mould have

Power to elect, or be elected, but fuch alfo as

have approved themfelves faithful, as aforefaid.

Thirdly, This Houfe was to be filled up within

a Month. Fourthly, That it mould continue one

Year, and no more. Fifthly, That they ihould

not have Power in things of an Ecclefiailical

Nature, to impofe any thing upon the Confci-

cn'ces of the People. Sixthly, That it ihould be

High-Treafon amongft them to afiert the Intereft

of a King, Houfe of Lords, or fingle Perfon.

Seventhly, That they mould not appoint any Sa-

lary-Officers. Eighthly, That while they keep

to this, it ihould be High-Treafon to difturb

them. As touching Arms, and things of that na-

ture, the Truth is, the Bufmefs which was very

much urged, is this ; That there fhould be an U-

j
niting of all Interefts together, Quaker, Fifth-

!
monarchy-Men, Anabaptift, Independent, Pref-

byterian, and Leveller j to which purpofe every

: one was obliged at the Meeting to fee what Inte-

;reft they could make among the Presbyters, be-

caufe they looked upon them as Perfons that had

Imoft Money and Strength. I think there was

no Presbytrian fpoken of, except one, who is

lately fecured in the Tower : He faid, that if fo

be that Colonel Beams was at liberty, he could

engage him. There was one Man that was there,

which was one Prior, I fuppofe tonge knew him ;

he faid, He had very much Acquaintance with

the Presbyters, knew many in the Country, and

that there they did not meet with any Difficul-

ties, as here j for all Interefts, Quakers and Pref-

byterians, and the reft, are all agreed.

Sir Hen. Finch. Very well, you fee tonge was

at all thefe Meetings at the Wheat-Sheaf and

Shears ; and there were the Colonels propofed.

Did you hear of any Orders given out, in any of

thefe Confultations, to make the Rifing in the

Country at the fame time as in London?

tyler. Mr. Gibbs's Brother told us, That he

kept a Covrefpondence in the Country j that in

EJfex he knew there were divers Horfe ready

there ; and I myfelf fpoke with one who is late-

ly fecured, who faid, There were divers Horfe

ready thereabouts. I remember there were feve-

ral at the Half-Moon at Bifhopfgate, one Smith, a

Northamptonflrire Man, and one El'ofe of Chefler-

Held, and tonge; and we heard, that at Mansfield

md Nottingham there was a Rifing intended ; and.

t was aflured, that the Country was very ripe and

forward for Action. We were informed that

:here were two hundred Horfe at Briflol ; one

°erfon, not yet fecured, did affirm to us, That
me Colonel templar in EJfex had two or three

:houfand Men ready, his Name was thomas;

That templar was now in Town, if we would,

we might go and fpeak with him. Said I, fure-

y he doth but tell you this. Saith he, His Lieu-

enant-Colonel gave me this Information, and af-

ures me, that his Colonel had converted his E-
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ftate into Money to pay his Soldiers. Upon this^

having occafion to go down into EJfex, Ipromi-
fed tonge I would enquire ftirther there ; and un-
derftanding that one thornback a Glover was one
of this templar's Men formerly, I went to his

Houfe, and not being at home, I rode to Holfted
Fair j and riding there, the Man pulled me by
the Coat, for he knew me; faith he, Mr. tyler,

my Servant faid you were at my Houfe to fpeak
with me. Yes, faid I, I underftand your Name
is thornback ; That you can give me fome Ac-
count concerning Colonel Templar', we hear in

London that he hath two or three thoufand Men
in readinefs, I pray inform me. Saith he, I do
not believe any fuch matter ; I have ferved him
long, and, if Occafion were, he would be for

you. I asked him the News: faith he, We all

dread a MafTacre; we underftand by a Letter
from Ipfwich, That the Papifts intend a MafTacre
of all Proteftants about All-hallontide, and that

that Country was in great fear about it. This
thomas the Copper-fmith told us another Story
about fome Roman Catholicks in Southwark, that

had a Purpofe to rife and take off all Fanaticks.

After this the Court directed, that Phillips's

Examination ihould be fhewed him at the Bar,

and he acknowledged his 'Hand thereto} and
was read as folio weth.

the Examination of George Phillips, Serjeant and
Bringer-up to Col. Sir William Wales'* Com-
pany of trained-Bands in the City of London,
taken this 19th of October 166z, before me
Richard Brown.

Who faith,

THAT he knoweth one Parfon Riggs, lata

Chaplain to Blake, who is now Clerk to

one Friend a Brewer in Cafs-Hole, near the Iron-

gate in St. Catharine's ; which faid Riggs told

him, this Examinant, That there would be a

Rifing of divers godly People in Arms, for Pre-

fervation of Religion, about the time the Queen
came to Town ; and that they intended to feize

the King's Perfon about Camberwell, in his Paf-

fage to fee the Queen Mother at Greenwich:

but after the Queen was come to Town, This
Examinant asked the faid Riggs, why it was not

done according to their Intendment? who re-

plied, They were not then ready, becaufe the

Congregational Churches and they were not

fully agreed; but now they were come all to an

Agreement, and the Work would be done in a

fhort time; That all things were now near ready

both in Country and City ; and that a Frigat or

more would revolt from the King to them. Not
long after, the faid Riggs carried him the faid

Phillips to the Floufe of one tonge, an old Army
Captain, but now a Seller of Tobacco and
Strong-water in tower-Ditch ; where he heard

tonge fay unto Riggs, That he had been at Wind-
for-Cafle, and had made a Captain, two Serje-

ants and a Gunner to be of their Party ; and
that they had undertaken to deliver up the faid

Caftle to that Party which were now to rife.

To which Riggs replied, You have done well:

And further iaid, I am going now to furprize

two Caftles in Kent ; one of them, as this De-
ponent remembreth, was to be Deal-Caftle; and

this he would and could do, for that he had

fome Correfpondence therein, and much Ac-
quaintance near, where he formerly ufed to

R r r preach.
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preach. And further faith, That Tonge asked

Riggs, Who lhould lead the Men that' were to

rile, and who commanded in chief? To which

jftggs replied', That Ludlow was appointed for

thac Work.
He further faith, That he asked Riggs and

Tmge, how this Buftnefs might be earned on

with Safety and Secrecy ^ Riggs told him, That

there was a Council of Six which managed the

Defign, who fat but one Day in a Place, and

would hot be fpoken with, but by the Agita-

tors of each County, who were employed by

them to and fro in this Work, to prepare and

make ready all Parties in the feveral Counties

;

and that thefe Sjx were of feveral Congregations'

and Opinions, to the end that all Parties might

unite. ' And further faith, That one Wade, or

fome fuch Name, whom he heard Riggs and

Tonge fay was a Ship-Chandler in Eafi-Smitb-

field, did- furnifh Powder to carry on this De-

fign^ in whole Company he once was, and

heard himfclf fay as much ; which faid Perfon

he believes he knows when he feeth him again.

He alfo faith, That Riggs told him all the Con-

gregational Churches were now agreed to join

in this Defign ; and that Riggs and Tonge defi-

red this Examinant to furnifh what Men and

Arms he could : which, he faith, he never in-

tended to do ir, though they earneftly requefted

it of him. Only he faith, In fome things he

was too faulty, which he prayeth Pardon for;

which was, in fending word to the feveral Meet-

ings on Sunday laft, That the Trained-Bands

were coming to feize them : Upon which the

chiefeft of them made their efcape before the

Soldiers Arrival •, and that he being deluded by

their fair Speeches, did promise to give them

the Word when the general Rifing was to be;

in which Rifing all the Churches aforefaid pro-

mifed to join, and the Fifth-Mo.narchy-men to

lead the Van. And further faith, That Riggs

told him., They had a Declaration ready to fling

among the People, againft Bijhops and Common-

Prayer ; and that Liberty of Confcience was held

forth therein. But firft, before this Declaration,

they would feize on the King's Perfon, and that

then their Declaration would take with the

People. And alfo faith, That one Capt. Baker

one Bradley and Tonge, were privy to all thefe

Tranfa&ions which were debated by them in

his Prefence; and that the hid Baker came after-

wards to this Examinant, and difcourfed all the

aforcfaid Particulars, and incited him to help on

with the Work; and told him, their Arms and

Powder were diftributed, and that a Porter,

which was formerly a Soldier, carried the Pow-

der to feveral Places in a, Sack. And further

faith, Th,at Riggs told him they had divers Friends

b,oth in London, and the Country, who had, and

would help them to, fyloney ; and that all their

Friends were now ready irt all Countries, wait-

ing only for the D,a,y when they were to acl;

and that the Treafure in the Guild-hafl was like-

wife to be feized.

And that the faid Riggs alfo told him, That
they intended to furprize the Tower, which they

could eafily do, having fome ^herein that w/ouk(

affift : and this was to be put in execution in

fome Evening when Sir John Robinfon came
home late, by following clofe after his Cqach
with a Party of Men, which fliould lie ready

for that purpofe.
George Ppillips.

Sir. William Morice, and Sir Henry Bennet$
Principal Secretaries of State, [worn.

Sir William Morice. I have had Intelligence,

and feveral Advertifements from feveral Parts of
the Kingdom, that there was a Defign of Ri-
fing, and an Infurre&ion, that it was the gene-

ral Expectation and common Difcourfe of the

difcontented and difaftected Party j nay, it was
likewife preached about, that the Papifts had a .

Defign to rife and cut the Throats of the Pro-
teftants. I had four or five Letters to that efFe£t

fent and brought me ; and thefe Rumours were
fpread to excite others to join with thefe.

Sir Henry Bennet. Divers Letters of mine were i

to the fame effect, That there was an Infurrec-

tion intended at that time, and calling upon one
another to be ready at that time.

Sir John Talbot fwora.

Sir John Talbot. I fuppofe that the Evidence
that 1 can give in relation to the Prifoners, as

only the Confcquences of this Report, which
they had rumoured about the Papifts mafiacring

the Proteftams : the Confequence was this, That
it made a very great Difturbance in Worceft'er-

fhire and Warwick/hire, infomuch that many
Gentlemen that lived in the Country in very

good Repute, came under a very great Sufpi-

cion of all their Neighbours; and the Lieute-

nants wrote to one another to fecure many

;

there were Guards fetto, fatisfy the Fears of the

Country. Friday Night, which the Rifing
lhould have been on, they would not intruft the

Catholicks to be in Arms, but other Volunteers.

Mr. Hodges {worn,

Mr. Hodges. In Dorfetfoire the 23d ofOElober

laft, there Was a Difcovery made by fome of the

Tow% of an Intention of a general Rifing;

and fome of the Town were engaged in it : one

Mr. Harvey a Juftice of the Peace examined di-

vers Perfons> four that were privy to it were
fent to the Goal, and an Exprefs fent to Mr. Se-

cretary Morice. Sir John Weld the younger gave

fuch an Account of Shrewsbury.

Stubbs. My Lord, the Occafion of my going

that Friday- Night,' was by Mr. Hill and Mr:
Riggs fuggefting the Papifts rifing; I was never

known to be a Plotter ; I had not gone forth that

Night, but only by their Perfuafions : I never

heard of any Arms, but only the Rumours of

the People.

Sellers. I would fain know of Mr. Riggs what |

Number of Arms I told him was delivered?

Riggs. I know not the Number.

Major Thomas Bonfoy (at his defire) wasfworn.

Major Bonfoy. I do not remember that I ever

faw Phillips's Face, butj did underftand it was

hjs Cuftom to, come to the Exchange to infinuate

himfelf into my Officers, making merry with

them, and endeavouring to get the Word} and I

believe jt was his common Practice.

Phillips. He may remember I came on the Ex-

change and fpoke r,o him, and was looking for

one of his Serjeants i I asked no Man the Word,
but

i
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but prefently went to the Black-Lion in the new

Alky, and from thence I went homej I did not

ask the Word of any one. 1 have confr ffed be-

fore the Council, that at the beginning of Au-

gufi I met Mr. Riggs in Cheapfide ; he then came

and clofed with me, and walking along, faid he,

Do not you hear of a Rifing which fhould have

been on Friday? No, faid 1; and then I asked

him where ? He faid, at Camberwel: and I think-

ing nothing of it, came home and fpoke of it in

my Family, as News from Mr. Riggs. On Tuef-

day I met Mr. Riggs onTower- Hill, and he brought

me to the Houfe of Mr. Tonge ; Tonge told Riggs

he had been at Windfor, and made fome Party to

fecure the Cattle. Riggs faid he could go down

to Kent, and fecure Deal and another Cattle ; for

he had been a Preacher there. As for Mr. Tylerj

one Night coming near Captain Fofter's Door,

and having not feen him in three Years before,

he asked me, if I would not drink? I faid, Yes:

Then came in the Carrier of Norwich, I never

faw this Carrier 'till then : Then came Mr. Ty-

ler, and there was talking of a Frigat, and the

time of the lanching of it, and how it was to

be mann'd ; but a little after Captain Fofter came

and charged me with a Report, That I fhould

lay he was engaged. 1 told him I knew >t not,

nor faid it not : I have often declared I would

have nothing to do in it. It's true, Mr Riggs

came and thanked me that 1 fent Notice to the

Meeting to be gone* and I told him I would do

the People any Good I could 5
buc Mr. Riggs

i knows 1 told him it was a dangerous Bufinel*,

and 1 would not meddle with it : 1 am fure in

; the time of the Fifth- Monarchy Infurreclion I

'was faithful to the King, ventured my Life as

far as any Man; Sir William Wales put truft in

me, and I did that Service there, that the Colo-

nel himfelf did not venture to do. But that I

was engiged in this Bufinefs, it is a Trouble to

me, and I hope the King will be merciful to me,

'1 did not think that fuch a thing would be dif-

clofed in fo fhort a time. For my part, I did

'not mind it, J knew nothing the Night I wasta-

iken, I was in Bed, and did not offer to efcape ;

;I hope the King will look upon me as one

drawn in.

Stubbs. I never had any Meeting with any of the

Council} moft ofthe things I heard at Mr.Tonge's

Houfe, meeting with Mr. Riggs by chance.

For thofe Gentemen Mr. Tyler fpeaks of, the

Council of Forty, and of Six, I never knew
them : I am forry 1 fhould be concerned in fuch

Difcourfe, and I hope his Majefty will have

|Mercy on me.

Gibbs. My Lord, I was at a Neighbour's Houfe

at that time, and went to drink a Cup of Beer

ralone in their Kitchin, not knowing of Hill,

Riggs, or Stubbs coming there: I never appoint-

ed ihem any Meeting, they came in, and when

they came in, they asked if there was not one

Gibbs there j fo the People of the Houfe told

them there was. They came and told me, there

were fome Gentlemen would fpeak with me;
whereupon, they being ftrange Faces, I ftood up
and faid, Gentlemen, what is your Bufinefs with

me? Said they, We would drink a Cup of Beer

with you. Then faid I, Sit down. They had

a Defire to be private, and to go up. Where-
upon, not knowing their Bufinefs, I went up,

foppofing they meant fome Matters ofmy Trade j

but wc fitting down, Mr. Riggs faid to me,

Vol. II.

Mr. Gibbs, what is the brftNews? And Mr. Hill

alfo did urge and ask for News. Said I, Gen-
tlemen, I know no News, nor none can I tell

you. So they mad: Enquiry then for my Bro-
ther: Said I, I cannot tell where my Brother

is, may be your Bufinefs is moft with him : £

will fend for him : And I fent the Maid for him,

and directed her, that if he was not at home, fhe

fhould leave word for him to come. Again they

urged for News, and I told them I knew none
but only this, That the Meeting was feized up-
on the laft Sunday by armed Soldiers : But to

tell them there would be any Rifing, or of any
Arms delivered, or Piftols, as Mr. hill has rela-

ted it, was a thing I was wholly ignorant of. I

fpeak as in the Prefence of God, and I know I

muft one Day give an Account before the great

Affizes of the World ; and I fear that which they
have faid, is out of iome Fear lying upon them,
being guilty of fome Fact, and fo to fhroud them-
felves under falfe Lies. They, nor no other can
prove that ever i received or delivered any Arms,
or that any were delivered by my Order ; thefe

Men fpeak falfly.

Sir Orl. Bridgman. You miftake yourfelf, they
do not charge you with receiving or delivering

Arms, but you related it: your Brother fpeaks

fuch things had been done, and if you know of
this, and do confent and conceal it, you are e-

qually guilty.

Gibbs. After they had asked the News, in a

fhort time my Brother came into the Room, ar,d

I rofe from the Table, and went towards my
Brother ; and then my Brother asked me whan
thofe Gentlemen were ? 1 faid they were Stran-

gers to me, and knew not what they came for.

Says he, they are Strangers to me alfo Imme-
diately we arofe, paid our Reckoning, and went
away. But that ever I faid my Brother told me,
The Council of Six was broke up, all is ready, Lud-
low to be General, and Alhallow-Eve the tune, or
that things went on well; I deny it: my Brother
faid no fuch thing to me, nor 1 to any Man,
When there was an Infunection by the Fifth-

Monarchy Men, I was then prefently ready at

Beat of Drum, went out in my own Perfon to

ferve his Majefty at Twelve o'clock at Night,
tho' I had Servants of my own. My Affections

were fuch, that I have always, ever fince his

Majefty's Reftoration, been an obedient Subject

to all his lawful Commands. I belonged then to

Major Kilby's Company, and did continue march-
ing in the Company 'till the whole Bufinefs was
over, and ventur'd my Life, and never did con-
trive any Plot, or knew of any Plot, received or

delivered any Arms. As to the Inhabitants a-

mong whom I have lived many Years, they have
known my Converfation ; I have been a peacea-

ble Neighbour, fubjecting myfelf under the

Government that now is, whom God conti-

nue. I defire this Certificate may be read con-

cerning my Neighbours Teftimony of my Con-
verfation.

Sir Orl. Bridgman. If you have any of them
here, they may fpeak ^ but the Certificate can-

not be read.

The Porter's Man of Bridewell faid, he knew
nothing but that he lived very quietly among his

Neigbhours.
Sir R. Fofler. Nor I neither.

Court. Mr. Tonge, what have you to fay ?

R r r a
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Tonge. I have nothing to fay, but that the firft

Man that brought me into this Bufinefs was
Tyler.

Sellers. All that I am charged with is a Re-
port of the Delivery of fome Arms j feeing that

a number of Arms are mentioned, I would ask

what was the Number?
Mr. Riggs. I cannot well tell the Number,

but you faid there were fome Arms given, and

fome to be given, and that feveral had come to

that Place, and went away without Arms, and

that within two or three Days there would be

more given j but as to the Number, I cannot

remember.
Sellers. Now take notice of Mr. Hill's Evi-

dence, he hath afferted that there were five or

fix hundred ; how do thefe agree ? I can have

fufficient Teftimony of my Life and Conver-

fation.

Court. If you have any thing more to fay in

this Bufinefs, fpeak in the Name of God, no bo-

dy hinders you, but keep to the Bufinefs.

Sellers. I intreat the Bench to take notice what
I am charged withal; it's only a Report I re-

ceived from one Man, and told to another, and

the very Original was a Lye, there was no fuch

Matter ; and yet here is audacious Evidence : he

fays I named five or fix hundred, and yet Riggs,

to whom I fpoke, heard me name no Number.
Counfel. One fpeaks to the Arms, but does not

remember the Number} they both fpeak to the

thing.

Sellers. How can Mr. Hill be a competent Wit-
nefs againft me, when he never faw my Face be-

fore, but fays Mr. Riggs told him ?

Hill. I faid not fo, but that I heard it from

your own Mouth.
Mr. Sffllicitor. Mr. Riggs, why did you go to

Mr. Sellers to help Mr. Hill to Arms ?

Riggs. Becaufe Mr. Sellers told me the Day
before, that he heard there was fome delivered,

and more would be : and the next Day we went
to the Exchange, and there he told me this

Story.

Sellers. I cannot hear him.

Sir Orl. Bridgman. He fays you told him the

Day before there was Arms delivered, and more
would be delivered } and then the next Day he

and Mr. Hill came on the Exchange, and then

you fpoke thofe Words which they both witnefs

againft you.

Sellers. I never fpoke fuch a Word. It's true,

what IVapJhot told me, I told Riggs, which was,

that there were Arms delivered; but it feems

there was none: and I told him I would tell him
the Truth the next Day on the Exchange. And
fo in the mean time fpeaking with Wapjhot, he

told me there was no fuch thing, and I told Mr.
Riggs, IVapJhot faid there was none.

Court. Pray what made you fo bufily inquire

after Arms, if you were not concern'd?

Sellers. 1 did not inquire after it, but acciden-

tally meeting him in Mark-Lane, he told me.

Tonge. My Lord, as you are my Judge, fo I

hope you will be my Counfellor $ and I pray

your Advice, whether Mr. Tyler and Mr. Riggs

be competent Witneffes againft me, they being

in the fame Cafe.

Sir Orl. Bridgman. Where is the Caufe of your

Exception?

Tonge. Becaufe they are in the fame Cafe.

Sir Orl. Bridgman. There are four Witneffes
all againft you, your own Confeffion and Exami-
nation againft you, through the whole Bufinefs

you are a principal Perfon.

Tonge. I confefs I did confefs it in the Tower, ,

being threatned with the Rack.
Sir Orl. Bridgman. There is Mr. Hill, Mr. Riggs,

Mr. Bradley, and Mr. Tyler: there is Hill and
Bradley without Exception ; Bradley, he was not
at all concerned, he went along with you to know
what you faid ; and Mr. Hill was not a Perfon in

the Defign, but made ufe of only to find out the
Plot : they did nothing unjuftifiable, fo they are

Witneffes without Exception.
Serj. Glynne. We defire your Lordfhip to de-

clare whether Riggs and Tyler be lawful Wit-
\

neffes.

Sir Orl Bridgman. I would have you know this ; :

Where you make exception againft thofe Per- -

fons that are guilty of the fame Crime, that's a i

Miftake to fay they are not Witneffes ; in Cafes s

of Treafon, where there are Works of Dark- >

nefs, thefe are things Men will not do by Day- •

light, but in Darknefs; and who can difcover r

thefe Works of Darknefs better than they, that I

have to do with them, if God turn their Hearts?
It's true, fuch Perfons as thefe are, if they had
been convicted, they are not Witneffes j but tho'

they are in the fame Fault, it is frequent Practice,

they are allow'd in cafe ofFelony. Befides, they

are not Witneffes alone, and there are divers Cir-

cumftances concurring, i Edit). 6. f Edw. 6.

both Statutes fay, There fhall be lawful Witneffes

in Cafes of High-Treafon ; but that is, fuch

Witneffes as the Law would allow before thofe

Statutes : The meaning of the Statutes was, that

Men might not be taken upon bare Surmifesj
therefore the Law fays, there fhall be two Wit-
neffes. When one is accufed of Treafon, ano-

ther in the fame Offence unconvicted,
Kel

his Evidence is made ufe of ; and tho'

he is not fo upright a Witnefs as others, yet he

is fuch a Witnels as the Jury is to take notice

of. Such Teftimony was allowable before thofe

Statutes j and the Trial is ftill by Jury, not Wit-
neffes, and the Jury are to confider ofthe Credit

of the Witneffes. Jn King James's Time a-*

Great Perfon was condemned upon the Evidence

of one in the fame Treafon. It is plain by feve-

ral Circumftances,you have been a principal Per-

fon, a Leader-on of the Bufinefs : Tho' a Man
be but prefent when Treafon is fpoken, or de-

figned and acted ; if this Man be prefent, and

fhew any thing of Approbation, his concealing

of it is as much Treafon as he that did it, they

are all Principals in Treafon.

Sir Heneage Finch. May it pleafe your Lord- 1

fhips, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, you have

heard the Evidence of the Prifoners at the Bar

;

Five of them have ftood out their Trial, a Sixth

hath confefled the Fact. Againft thofe Perfons that

now ftand at the Bar, under good Favour,

there is a clear and unqueftionable Proof of the

Crime charged againft them, and they have not

faid any thing that hath either taken away the

Credit of the Evidence, or excufed the Matter.

If you confider firft Tonge, there is againft him

four Witnefs, and thofe unqueftionable > as you

heard the Direction of the Court, that he knew

Sir Walter Raleigh. Trial XVIII.

of
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of the Defign, approved of it, contrived how
to furpnze IVindfor-Cafile, had corrupted the

head Gunner and Serjeant there: that he did

contrive to feize Whitehall, and if you believe

Bradley, advifed,as the fitted way, to break into

the Privy-Garden : All this againft Tonge, with

a world of other Evidence how active he has

been, his Houfe was the place of Confultation,

he imparts the Defign to Phillips, and Phillips

Undertakes to get the Word of the Trained-

Bands ; I think none can prove more than is

proved againft him. When you come to hear

the Proof againft Phillips, it is proved that he

offered to betray 500 Arms in the Artillery,

where he had fome kind of Truft, and that he

was ready to endeavour the Word when the In-

furrection was to be •, and but a very little be-

fore, he is the Man that difcovers to the Con-

gregational Meetings, that the Trained- Bands

were coming to furprize them, that is in his

own Confeffion, as well as the Willingnefs in

him to difcover the Word. It is proved, that

Tonge and Stubbs were prefent at thofe Difcourfes

touching furprizing the Tower, fecuring the

King, this is proved exprefly againft them j

Stubbs, he thinks he has faid fairly for himfelf,

when he doth ask Mr. Hill whether he did not

fay he had Horfes and 200/. to carry on the

Work; Mr. Hill fays he did fay lb: then it

feems Stubbs was inquifitive what Helps there

were to carry it on. Mr. Hill goes further}

That in the prefence of Stubbs it was faid there

mould be no Quarter given, but fuch as Ludlow

fhould have if he were taken. When you come
to Gibbs, he does deny all the whole matter, and

indeed fo they would all ; and they have nothing

to fay, but to cry the Witnefles have fworn

falfly, and God is a righteous God, and he will

require their Blood one day : but remember what
a horrid Proteftation was in that Letter that was

fent abroad, to alarm the whole Kingdom, as if

a Maflacre was intended by the Papiits, and the

Watch- word they fhould all rife by; that Let-

ter fays, / call the Eternal God to witfiefs, this is

no 'Trepan, but a fober Truth. Do you think, that

Men who are not afhamed to call the Eternal

God to witnefs to a Lye, when 'tis to raife Sedi-

dition, will make any fcruple of fuch Protesta-

tions at the Bar, when 'tis to fave their Lives?

And if a Man may Icape by his own Protefta-

tion, who (hall ever be found guilty? But Gibbs

thinks he fays a great deal for himfelf, when he
fays his Neighbours can give great Teftimony
of his good Converfation. Alas ! who will deny
to give a good Report of any Man till he hear
Evil proved againft him? But do you think a

little demure and fober Carriage amongft a Man's
Neighbours will ferve to balance an Evidence of
High-Treafon? Is not the Proof clear, that he
did both know the Defign and approve it? Mark
what Gibbs tells the Company.
My Brother, faith he, for his part he will not

fpeak before you j but if you be honeft Men,
This is the News that was fpoke, like one that

was not confenting to it. Well then, what is

the News? He tells them why the Council of
Six are broke up, Friday is the Day of Action,
Ludlow is to be General. Can any Man be privy
to thefe things and relate them fo cheerfully, and
yet not be confenting ? Believe it, it is a hard
matter to find greater Evidence of a Knowledge
and Confent againft any Confpirator, until he

break out into open Action. Sellers, he fays that
the Witnefles do not agree; for Mr. ///'// fpeaks
that he faid there was five hundred Arms deli-

vered, and forty Men went without Arms, but
within two or three days there would be more.
And when Riggs comes to fpeak, he fays, he did
fay Arms were delivered, and more would bes

but he did not remember what number; and
becaufe they agree in the thing, but not in the
number, therefore he thinks they difagree in the
matter. Obferve what Reafon was there that

Riggs comes to inquire of Sellers for Arms, be-
caufe Sellers told him the day before Arms were
delivered, and more would be, he thought there-

fore he came to a very proper Perfon to tell him.
If you mark, Sellers does deny openly in the Courc
that ever he faw the face of Hill till he was ap-
prehended, altho' Hill was with Riggs when the
Arms were fpoken of upon the Exchange : And
then he fays again, that Hill fpeaks by hearfay,

he is out in that too ; for Mr. Hill fwears ex-
prefly, he heard the words themfelves from Sel-

lers. Then here are thefe before you, four
Witnefles againft Tonge, two againft Phillips,

and his own Confeffion : Here are two againft

Gibbs, with thefe Cncumftances, If you be ho-

neft Men, this is the News, &c. Here are two
Witnefles likewife againft Stubbs, who was like-

wife prefent at all their Debates, even when the
King himfelf was to have had the fame Quarter
with Ludlow. Now, Gentlemen, that there

was a Confpiracy, I think you have a clear Evi-
dence: we may thank God, and the Care ofthe

King and his Minifters, that it went no further \

but 'tis no thanks to thefe Men, they would
have Carried it to the extremity, had they had
Power. And without queftion this was formed
by other kind of Wits than thefe poor contemp-
tible Agitators, who are now try'd for it : you
fee there was a Council of Forty, and an Under-
Council of Six, a Declaration Framed to fcatter

at the time of Action, and that Action directed

to be both in the City and Country, juft in effect

at the fame pitch of time; and that it might be

fo, a wicked and an impudent Letter is contrived,

and many rhoufand Copies difperfed, and it

wrought fo far, that the Countries, much about

the time appointed, were in great diforder, as

you have heard it proved. Is u not plain, that

an evil Spirit went throughout the whole Na=
tion, and animated the whole Party of Male-
contents? Moft evidently it was a terrible Con-
fpiracy. Gentlemen, 'tis true, it is a Queftion

of Blood, but 'tis Royal Blood, 'tis the Blood
of Princes and Nobles, and it concerns the Peace

and Security of the Kingdom, and every Man's
Propriety, and of Religion, for they had left no
Man of Conference or Reputation behind* if

they had prevailed. Confider the Maflacre thefe

Men would have committed, had they prof-

pered, and oppofe that to the pretended Maf-

facre which they gave out by their Letter the

Papifts would have committed. Confider that

you have the Life of the King in your hands*

and I doubt not but he and the whole Kingdom
fhall always befafein the Verdicts of honeft Men.

Sir Robert Forfter. My Mafters of the Jury,, I

cannot fpeak loud to you, you underftand the

Nature of this Bufinefs, fuch as I think you have

not had the like Precedent in your time. My
Speech will not give me leave to difcourfdof it

;

for the Witnefles, they are none but fuch^s may
fatisfy
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fatisfy all honeft Men : it is clear they all agreed

to fubvert the Government, to deftroy his Ma-

jefty j what can you have more ? Two of the

Witneffes are without exception, but I do not

fee any way but their Teftimony is good. For the

Parties, they in themfelves are very inconfidera-

ble j thefe are but the Out-Boughs, and if fuch

Fellows are not met withal, thefe kind of Peo-

ple are the fitted Inftruments to fet up a Jack

Straw and a Wat Tyler: therefore you muft

lop off thefe, or elfethey will encourage others.

You fee one of their own Company hath con-

fefs'd the Fact, out of Remorfe of his ownCon-
fcience. But I leave the Evidence to you : go

together.

Officer was fvvorn to keep the Jury.

The Jury withdrew ; and after an hour's

Confutation, the Jury return'd.

Silence was commanded, and James Hind
fetch'd from the Goal to the Bar.

Clerk of the Peace. Gentlemen, anfwer to your

Names } Edmond Butler, Clement Pung, [and the

reft of the Jury before-mentioned] are you all

agreed of your Verdict?

Jury. Yes.

CI. of the Peace. Who (hall fay for you?

Jury. The Foreman.
CI. of the Peace. Set up Thomas Tonge to the

Bar: Thomas Tonge, hold up thy Hand} look

upon him, Matters : How fay you, is he guilty

of the High-Treafon whereof he Hands Indict-

ed, or not guilty?

Jury. Guilty.

Cleric of Newgate. Look to him, Keeper.

CI. of'the Peace. What Goods and Chattels?

Jury. None.
CI. of the Peace. George Phillips to the Bar

:

How fay you, is he guilty of the High-Treafon
whereof he ftands indicted, or not guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Clerk of Newgate. Look to him, Keeper.
CI. of the Peace. What Goods and Chattels ?

Jury. None.
CI. of the Peac. Francis Stuhhs to the Bar

:

How fay you, is he guilty of the High-Treafon
whereof he ftands indicted, or not guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Clerk of Newgate. Look to him, Keeper.

CI. of the Peace. What Goods and Chattels?

Jury. None.
CI. of the Peace. John Sellers to the Bar

:

How fay you, is he guilty of the High-Trea-
fon whereof he ftands indicted, or not guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Clerk of Newgate. Look to him, Keeper.
CI. of the Peace. What Goods and Chattels ?

Jury. None.
CI. of the Peace. Nathaniel Gibbs to the Bar:

How fay you, is he guilty of the High-Treafon
whereof he ftands indicted, or not guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Clerk of Newgate. Look to him, Keeper.

CI. of the Peace. What Goods and Chattels?

Jury. None.
CI. of the Peace. Hearken to your Verdict, as

the Court hath recorded it. You fay that Tho-

mas Tonge is guilty of the Treafon whereof he
ftands indicted, and fo all the reft. And you
fay, that they, nor any of them, had any Goods
or Chattels, Lands or Tenements at the time of

committing the fa id Treafon, or at any time
fithence, to your knowledge ; and this you
fay all?

Jury. Yes.

CI of the Peace. Thomas Tonge, hold up thy
Hand, thou haft been indicted of High-Trea-
fon, thou haft thereunto pleaded Not Guilty
and for thy Trial haft putthyfelf upon God and
the Country, and the Country hath found thee
guiltyj what haft thou to fay for thyfelf, why
the Court fhould not proceed to Judgment, and
thereupon award Execution of thee according
to rhe Law ?

Tonge. I pray Mercy from the King, I cry for
Mercy from the King.

Clerk of Newgate. Tye him up, Executioner.
CI. of the Peace. George Phillips, hold up thy

Hand ; thou art in the fame cafe that Thomas
Tonge is, what canft thou fay ? &V.

Phillips kneeled down, and faid, I pray the
Mercy of the King and the Honourable Bench.

Clerk of Newgate. Tye him up, Executioner.
CI. of the Peace. Francis Stubbs, hold up thy

Hand } thou art in the fame cafe the two laft

Prifoncrs before thee are, what canft thou fay?
i$c.

Stubbs. I beg Mercy, I was merely drawn in.

Clerk of Newgate. Tye him up, Executioner.
CI. of the Peace, John Sellers, hold up thy

Hand; thou art, &c. What canft thou fay!*

&c,
J

Sellers. I would intreat this Honourable Bench
to confider my Condition, and what my Charge
is; I delivered no Arms, if I had known where
they had been, 1 would have difcovered them

:

I beg Mercy from the King and this Honoura-
ble Bench.

Clerk of Newgate. Tye him up, Executioner.
CI. of the Peace. Nathaniel Gibbs, hold up

thy Hand} thou art, &c. What canft thou fay?
&c.

Gibbs. And pleafe this Honourable Bench, I

have fomething to fay, I am innocent as to my
Confcience of acting any thing treafonable againft
his Majefty; the Lord forgive the Witneffes: I

beg the Mercy of the King.
Clerk of Newgate. Tye him up, Executioner.
CI. of the Peace. James Hind, hold up thy

Hand } thou art guilty of the Treafon whereof
thou ftandeft indicted by thy own Confeflion,
what canft thou fay ? &c.

Hind. I have nothing to fay, but humbly beg
the Mercy of the King.

Clerk of Newgate. Tye him up, Executioner.
Crier. O Yes ! my Lords, the King's Juftices,

command all manner of Perfons to keep filence

while Judgment is in giving, upon pain of Im-
prifonment.

Sir Robert Ferjler, Thomas Tonge, George Phil-
lips, Francis Stubbs, James Hind, John Sellers,

and Nathaniel Gibbs, you fix Prifoners at the Bar,
you have been here indicted for one of the greateft
Crimes that can be committed upon Earth, as

to this World, againft God, our King, and your
Country, and againft every good Body that is in

this Land, for that capital Sin of High-Treafon,
which is a Sin inexpiable, and indeed hath no
equal Sin as to this World. Upon this you have
feverally been arraigned, and have feverally (ex-

cept one) pleaded Not Guilty, and put your
felves upon God and the Country for your
Trials ; and your Country have found you guilty:

For
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For the five that are found Guilty, I muft fay,

that in you I fine! little Remorfe, little Senfe of

Sin', For the little Man there, Hind, heour

hath rn.ucb fliew'd lusPenitency. As r,o,the Man-

ner and Ciicurnltances of this, maft. Men here

l^'liev^ this did not originally anfe from your par-

Friends and Countrymen^

Am come this Day to pay that great Debt
that I owe to Nature ; it is a Work that had

need be well done, for it is but once to be done.

My Hope is now above; and for what I now
come to fuffer, for my own Parr, I blefs God, in

ticular felves, it mud be put into you by fome whofe Prefence I now fpeak, as a dying Man, I

others: You fpeak as if you defired Mercy, had not any murderous Thought againft the

where was yo.ur Mercy, that would have de- King; but I have pray'd for him, and wifh'd

ftroy'd King and Country, and maflacred- many- that he might Live and Reign, and long Reign
Million?. of SpuW, nP ^e^P^ °^ a9y Per ôn

) in Righteoufnefs ; and that God would make
your own Fellows .? I fpeak th.is, that you

may be the more 'fenfible of your own Crime,

that you may truly, our. of the Remprfe ofCon-

science, be lorry for your Sin: You know very

well the old Counfel, and it is a good one, Fear.

God, and honour the King, and nieddle. not 'with

them that are given to Change. Meddling with

them that are. given, to Change, has brought too

but

\

his Crown a Crown of Righteoufnefs upon his

Head, and blefs him in his Government, fo that

he may not know any of thefe Occasions more

:

For my Part, I have ventur'd my Life for his

Majefty, it was far from my Heart to do any
thing of that Nature. The Lord receive my
Soul. I freely forgive all Men, as I hope to be
forgiven of God: i never did act any thing, but

much Mifchief already to this Nation; and if only this, which was my Ignorance ofthe Laws,
you will commit the fame Sin, you muft re-

ceive the fame Punifhiment : for happy is he, that

by other Mens harms takes heed. I fhall not

fpend long time" with you, but if you will as

much as you can difcoverthe Actors herein,you

will do God, the King, and your Country good

Service.
"
It remains that the Court proceed to

Judgment : and therefore you fix, the one by his

own Confeffion, and the other five by Convic-

tion of Law, the Judgment of this Court is,

1 That you be convey'd back to the place from
' whence you came, and from thence to be
* drawn upon an Hurdle to the place of Execu

c vour Privy-Members to be cut off, your En-
* trails to be taken out of your Body, and (you

' living) the fame to be burnt before your Eyes,

* and your Head to be cut off, your Body to be

that I did not difcover it; and I was juftly found
Guiltv, for not difcovering. I have done, Mr.
Sheriff; but hope, after my Brethren have
fpoken, we may have liberty to call upon the

Lord.
Und. Sheriff. It will not be denied you.
Then Mr. Tongs began in this manner.

Friends and Countrymen,

You fee me here a dying Man : I have fome-
times been in fome Mens Company, where I

have heard them contriving the Bufinefs for

which I am to die; and that which led me to

tion; and there you fhall be hanged by the join with them was this, I was and had been
c Neck, and being alive fhall be cut down, and fometimes in the Armyj and I have looked upon

this Caufe to be good. As for his Majefty, the

Lord blefs him, and profper him, and put it in-

to his Heart, that he may be a Nurfing-Father
indeed to his Country.

Und. Sher. Have you any more to fay ? Youdivided into four Quarters, and your Head and

Quarters to be difpofed of at the pleafure of may fpeak

the King's Majefty : And God have mercy Tonge. I have nothing more
upon your Souls.'

Phillips, Tonge, Gibbs, and Stubbs were ordered

for Execution on Monday, December zz, when
they were drawn on two Hurdles, viz. Phillips,

and Tonge one one, Gibbs and Stubbs on the o-

ther, to the common Place of Execution at

Tyburn : Where being come, they were receiv'd

into a Cart under the Gallows ; and the Execu-

tioner defiring them feverally to forgive him,

they all declar'd they did freely forgive him and

all their Enemies, and did feverally falute each

other with this Phrafe, Welcome Brother ; and to

one another faid, We are now lanching into the

Deep. They being all ty'd up, Phillips gave the

Executioner a fmall Sum of Money, and the reft

directed the Executioner to take out of their

Pockets a fmall Parcel of Money, as their Gift

to him ; and Phillips afterwards bended a Six-

pence, and prefented it to a Friend of his, Mr.
Stroud; and a Shilling likewife bended to one
Mr. Clark. 1 hen the Under-Sheriff of Middle-

fex acquainted them they had all free Liberty to

fpeak, provided they did not reflect upon his

And then Gibbs proceeded and faid, Country-
men and Friends, and I hope Chriftians, and the

kit Confederation is that that makes me the

more free to fpeak to you ; we all profefs to own
God and Jefus Chrift to be our Saviour, our Re-
deemer, our Sanctifier, and Giver of, and Be-

ftower upon us eternal Life; this fhould excite

our Souls to love one another ; and upon the ac-

count of God's Love, that God has fo loved us

as to give Jefus Chrift, to reconcile us Sinners to

God, we ought to love one another, it is his

great Command. Truly, as to the Caufe for

which I am brought here, God the great Judge
of Heaven and Earth, before whom I ftand,

knows that in the Place where I have liv'd, I

behav'd myfelf as an obedient Subject ; and when
there was an lnfurrection by the Fifth-Monarchy

Men, I went out in my own Perfon, tho' I had

Servants as well as others, purely out of Affec-

tion to his Majefty, knowing that in the Peace

of his Government I fhould have Peace, and fo

I went our, hazarded my Life, and continu'd

out till all was quiet. I was at a Neighbour's

Majefty, or the prefent Government ; which Houfe drinking of a Gup of Beer on Tuefday

they all promifed not to do, and thanked him for

his Civility. And then Phillips began in the

Manner following.

Night in the Kitchen alone, fave only the Man
of the Houfe and the Maid; thefe Men came in,

one Hill and Riggs, that are the WitnefTes a_-

gainft me ; there were Riggs and Hill and this

Stubbs, and one Beazley: and I being alone in

the
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the Kitchen, they ask'd for one Gibbs ; the Peo-

ple of the Houfe told me there were fome Gen-

tlemen would fpeak with me; I wifhed them to

direct them to me, and they came to me* and

thro' the Ignorance of the Law, which, itfeems,

runs thus, If any Words treafonable againft his

Majefty arc fpoken, it is Treafon to conceal

'cm : So thus I have given you, in part, the

Caufe of my being here.

Hereupon Information was given to the King's

Majefty, that I ihould fay there would be a Ri-

fing, and that All- hallows Eve was the Time;
that there were Arms fern into the Country, and

that Ludlow was to be General ; and this was

charged upon me by the King's Majefty, when

I came before him to be examin'd : And upon

Hill's and Riggs's Oath, I was fentto the Tower,

and kept a long time a Prifoner, examin'd three

or four times over by the Lords of his Majefty's

Council. I have one Word more; as touching

my Judgment, I am reputed in the World to be

one of thofe that is called by the Name of Ana-

baptift, a Name of Deri (Ion and Scorn ; one is an

Anabaptift, one an Independent, one a Presbyterian,

one this, and one that, and one the other; who
gave thefe Nick-Names to Chriftians? There is

but one God, one Lord Jefus., one Baptifm, one

Hope of Glory: How comes the Body of Chrift,

or the Members of Chrift to be called by thefe

Nick-Names? But now, as I am one that do

profefs Faith in God through the Lord Jefus

Chrift, and do (land before you all, and before

the Lord, I know no other God, but the eternal

and living God, that hath made the World,

and that rules and reigns, and difpofes all his

Creatures; I do believe in this God, he has been

gracious to me a poor Sinner, and to all poor

Sinners, that when we, by reafon of Sin, had

forfeited all our Mercies, and were under Wrath
and everlafting Deftru&ion, and muft perifhfor

ever; that God did out of his rich Grace and

tender Mercies give his only begotten Son, ac-

cording to his Promife, to be the Bleffing of

God to the poor Gentiles, according as the

Scripture did declire ; the Scripture forefeeing

that God would juftify the Heathens through

Faith, preached before the Gofpel to Abraham,

faying, In thee fhall all the Nations of the

Earth be blefled: He fpeaks not of the natural

Seed of Abraham, but of Chrift ; fo that all the

Bleffings that God did convey to the finful

World, are by the means of Jefus Chrift, whom
God in the Fulnefs of Time did fend, his Son,

born of a Woman, to redeem poor Sinners un-

der the Law ; and herein was the great Grace
and Mercy of God towards all Sinners, that he

was fo gracious to fend his beloved Son out of

his own Bofom to take our Natures upon him,

who were defiled, and curfed, and condemned,
and feparated from God. I fay, Jefus Chrift

took our Natures upon him, and for this very

End, to do the Will of his heavenly Father: Lo
it is written in the Volume of the Book, 1 come to

do thy Will, God; and it was his Meat and

Drink to do his Will; and what was that, but

that we might be fanctified through the offering

up of the Body of Jefus Chrift for our Sins, to

tread the Wine-prefsof his Father's Wrath, and

to endure the Crofs, and bear all our Sins in his

own Body, that made his Soul heavy unto Death :

He was a Surety for us and our Sins, and for

our fakes the Lord laid on him the Iniquity of

us all, and he hath borne our Grief and endured
our Punifhment; it made his Soul cry out, My
God, my God, why haft thou forfaken me? or
elfe we muft for ever be banifhed out of the Pre-
fence of God, and never have any Hopes of
Glory, of Faith, or of Salvation, had not the
Son of God become our Mediator and Surety;
fo there is one God, and one Mediator, the Man
Chrift Jefus. He gave himfelf aRanfom for all

our Sins, to free us from the Wrath to come,
everlafting Deftrudtion, and from the Worm that

never dies. O that we could ever be thankful to
God, live to him that hath fo loved us, as to
fend his Son to die for us, and is by the Almighty
Power of God raifed from the Dead, and now
fits at the Right Hand of God, and ever lives

to make Interceffion.

Truly, Friends, this is not the Love of Man,
but the Love of God, and therefore eternal
Love. God fo loved the World ; it is God's Love,
he loved Sinners, ungodly ones ; he did fo love
them as to give his only begotten Son to fave
them, to reconcile them, to uphold them, to
redeem them from Wrath to come ; it was to
feek and fave them that were loft. This is a

faithful Saying, and worthy of all Acceptation,
that Jefus Chrift came into the World to fave
Sinners. We all, like Sheep, had gone aftray,

and muft perifh in our Sins, had not the Lord
Jefus been fent of his Father, out of his Bofom,
to declare the good Will of God, and did it, by
which we are Jancfified through the offering up
of the Body ofJefus Chrift; and this Lord Jefus
Chrift, the eternal Son of God, he is the Media-
tor between God and poor Sinners. Come unto
me all ye that are weary and heavy laden, fays

Chrift, and I will give you Reft; now this

Grace is from God, we are faved by Grace, and
that not of our felves, it is the Gift of God)
through Faith in Chrift we are faved ; and all

things that do pertain to Life and Godlinefsit is

the Gift of God; now all things are of God,
who hath reconciled us to himfelf by Jefus
Chrift, to wit, that God was in Chrift recon-
ciling the World to himfelf, not imputing their

Trefpaffes unto them. Would you know the
Forgivenefs of your Sins, your Peace with Gcd,
and that God is well-pleated with you? God is

reconciled by Jefus Chrift unto you, and does
not impute your Sins unto you, but looks on
the Righteoufnefs of Chrift as Satisfaction, that

thereby you might have the Remiflion of your
Sins through the Blood of Chrift. Be it known
unto all Men, that through this Man's preach-
ing, the Forgivenefs of Sin?, Acls xiii. 38, 39.

and by him all that do believe are juftified from
all things, from which they could not be by the

Law of Mofes. Now Juftification from Sin, and
Redemption from Iniquity, is thro' the Know-
ledge of Chrift's Death for your Sins, and his

Refurredion; and now there is no other Name
given under Heaven whereby we can be faved,

but by the Name of Jefus, and whofoever be-

lieveth in his Name fhall not perifh, but have
everlafting Life, Job. v. 24. It is the Doctrine
of Jefus Chrift, it is his Word, and I hope you
will fearch the Scriptures, and look into thofe

things for your Souls Good, when Chrift Jays,

Verily, verily, I fay unto you, he that heareth

my Words and believeth them, he hath ever-

lafting Life, and fhall not come into Condemna-
tion but is pafled from Death to Life. The Rea-

fon
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fon why God docs aflure poor Sinners they Ihall

not pais into everlafting Condemnation and pe-

rilh, is through his rich Grace, through his

Promifej for he hath promifed, he will be mer-

ciful to our Iniquities, and our Sins will remem-
ber no more j and thefe his Promifes of Grace,

which areall Yea and Amen in Chrift, are rati-

fied by the Blood of Chrift ; the Blood of Chrift

is the Blood of the New Covenant, and it is that

by which we have the Forgivenefs, Remiffion,

and Cleanfing of all our Sins.

Und. Sher. Mr. Gibbs, let me interrupt you

;

this is veiygood and pertinent, but you havefaid

thefe things over and over} there is another of

your Friends to fpeak, and the Time grows fhort,

pray go on to the Matter, or conclude.

Gibbs. I fhall fpeak a Word or two as to the

Knowledge of Forgivenefs of Sins, by and thro'

Jefus Chrift } and lb the Knowledge of the Re-
furrection of the Dead, it is the Fruit of Jefus

Chrift -, for by the firft Man came Death, and

by the fecond Man, Chrift, came Life ; and

God that has by his exceeding great and mighty

Power raifed up Jefus Chrift from the Grave and

Power of Sin, he alfo fhall raife us up by the

fame Power, and when he comes the fecond

time, at his appearing and coming we fhall fee

him, and be made like to him, and he will re-

ceive us to himfelf ; he is gone to prepare a Place

for us, and in his Father's Houfe are many
Manfions, and if it were not fo, he would have

told us : And now God that hath given eternal

Life, and Forgivenefs of Sins unto his poor Ser-

vants, he will alfo, when Jefus Chrift fhall come
to judge the World, receive him into his ever-

lafting Glory, which is my Faith, Expectation,

and Hope, in God, through Jefus Chrift. A Man
may bear his Infirmities, but a wounded Con-
science who can bear ? When God fmites, who
can bear ? And therefore I defire, as I believe,

the Forgivenefs of all my Sins, through the rich

Grace of God, through the Bloodfhed of Jefus

Chrift his Son } every one muft give account to

God, and as their Works are, fo will their Re-
ward be, either accepted by God, as Workers
of Chrift, or condemned as Workers of Iniquity.

Laft of all, as to the feparated Congregations to

whom I belong, I have obferved in thofe few

Days that I have lived, there is a great deal of

\ Animofiry, evil Will, hard Cenfuring, and Abu-
fing the precious Saints of Jefus Chrift. If they

are in an Error, you that are in the Truth in-

ftruct them, and you may recover them out of

the Claws of the Devil : Are you Chriftians, and

have the Light of God in your Souls ? O then

ftrengthen your Brethren, do not give them
Nick-Names, and abufe them > that's not the

wayj Chrift teaches another Leffon, That if

i thine Enemy hunger, you fhall feed him\ and if he

j be a thirfly, give him Drink : We fhould pray to

the Lord that he would turn thofe that be out of

his way, into the right way.
Und. Sher. You know we muft be all fubject

to Government, every Congregation muft not

; have a Ruler, their Meetings are prohibited by
good Authority, and becaufe they will not be

obedient to good Government.
Gibbs. I do not fay, that every Congregation

muft have a Ruler, and I hope I fpeak the Words
of Sobriety •, I hope you will put a charitable

Conftruction upon what I fay. As to the Magi-
ftrates, I have a Word or two.
Vol. II.

Und. Sher. Speak well of them.
Gibbs. Be not afraid, I will not fpeak any Evil

of them •, Magiftracy is an Ordinance of God,
and the End of Magiftracy is for the Punifhment
of Evil-doers, and the Praife ofthem that do well j

and for this purpofe, I do defire that the Lord
would give to the fupreme Magiftratc here on
Earth, W ifdom and Underftanding, a wife Coun-
cil, a Council fearing God, and hating Covetouf-
nefs, that they may ftudy to exalt the Throne of
the King in Righteoufnefs and Truth ; O that
we may all praife the Lord for Deliverance out
of Condemnation} and 1 fay it is the Duty of all

the Subjects of the King's Majefty, in all his

Kingdoms and Dominions, to live peaceably, and
to pray for the King's Majefty : Prayers and In-
terceffions ought to be made for all Men, efpeci-

ally for Kings and Governors, for this very End
and Purpofe, that thereby we may live in all

Quietnefs, Godlinefs, Honefty and Juftice } and
to this very End the Lord blefs our Magiftracy,
give them Counfel and Wifdom, that they may
love them that love the Lord, and hate them that

hate the Lord.
After Gibbs had done fpeaking, then Stubbs

began, who went over all the Particulars of his

Trial at large, to which for brevity's fake we
refer you. After which he faid as fellows.

Friends and Countrymen^

It is true, and I muft confefs my Sin in the
Prefence of God (and did ask Mercy of the King)
that I was in the Company when I did hear
wicked and treafonable Words fpoken; and I be-

ing ignorant, and not knowing the Law, did not
difcover what I did hear.

As to my Judgment, truly I defire to own
that the Scriptures own} I ihall fpeak of that

Place in the Hebrews^ which is the Command of
Chrift, 1 defire the Churches and the People
every one to live the Life of Faith, and love
one another} I am confident it would be a
Means of abundance of Comfort here in the Na-
tion } there is a kind of Heart-burning and rifing

one againft another, you are fo and fo, throw
Dirt one againft the other} it is our and your
Duty, ftill to be ftudying to live in Love, and
bear one with another, not to be angry, deftroy,

and fight one with another: O that wc mighc
live that Life of Love that God has commanded,
then we may expect the Prefence of God to

be with us; finely God hath a great Judgment
againft his own People, for not loving one
another.

Phillips. Mr. Sheriff, I have only one Word
to fpeak before I go to my Prayers ; that is,

Here I fee fome Gentlemen prefent that are in

the Capacity that I was in as a Soldier} I fay,

be faithful to your Truft, and beg of God that

you may ftand faft, and not difhonour God, nor
be difobedient to the King } when the Fifth-

monarchy Men were up, 1 was free and willing

to lay down my Life for the Intereft of the Na-
tion, and did venture it as much as any young
Man in London; therefore good Friends, have a

Care: I am now brought to fuffer; it is true, I

was guilty of concealing it} I defire your Pray-

ers, that now as we are going to the State of

Eternity, from whence there is no Redemption,

I humbly befeech you, as Chriftians and Friends,

that you would feek earneftly to God, that now
S s s he
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he may receive our Souls into everlafting Reft

and Happinefs, which he has been pleas'd to be-

flow on them that love him and fear him ; and

the Lord knows my Heart, I fpeak it in his Pre-

fence, that had the King been pleafed to fhew

Mercy to me, I fhould have been a faithful and

true Subject to him all my Days •, but feeing it

is the righteous Hand of God, that now I am
come to this untimely Death, I defire you to

lift up your Hearts and Souls to God with me,

that when my Soul lhall leave this Body, that

the Lord Jefus Chrift may with his everlafting

Arms receive me to Glory : There is no Re-
demption after Death, wc fhall either go to eter-

nal Woe, or eternal Happinefs j therefore good

Friends, I defire you to look up to God, that

when my Soul departs, it may be received to

Glory.

Then they went to their Prayers ; which be-

ing ended, their Caps were feverally pull'd over

their Faces, and after fome private Ejaculations,

the Executioner caufed the Cart to be drawn a-

way j and after they had hanged a while, they

were feverally beheaded and quartered according

to their Sentence, and their Heads and Quarters

conveyed in a Basket to Newgate, to be difpofed

of at the King's Pleafure.

Their feveral Quarters were buried on Satur*

day Night, December 27.

Their Heads were fet up on feveral Poles, two
on the one Tower-Hill, and two on the other, as

near the Tower as might be.
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LXIII. The Trial ofMary Moders, alias Stedman,
,

flyled the German Princefs, at the Old-Baily, for Bigamy,
\

the ^d of June, 1663. 15 Car. II.

H E Court being fat, a Bill of In-

dictment was drawn upagainft Mary
Moders, alias Stedman, for having

two Husbands now alive, viz. Tho.

Stedman and John Carleton. The
Grand Jury found the Bill, and was to the ef-

fect following, viz.

H A T fhe the faid Mary Moders late of
London Spinller, otherwife Mary Stedman,

' the "Wife of Tho. Stedman, late of the City of
4 Canterbury in the County of Kent Shoemaker,
* May 12, in the Reign of his now Majefty the
4 fixth, at the Parifli of St. Mildred's in the City
' of Canterbury, in the County aforefaid, did
4 take to Husband the aforefaid Thomas Stedman,
4 and him the faid Thomas Stedman then and there
6 had to Husband. And that ihe the faid Mary
4 Moders, alias Stedman, dpril 21, in the fifteenth
* Year of his faid Majeft's Reign, at London, in
4 the Parifh of Great St. Bartholomews, in the
1 Ward of Farringdon without, felonioufly did
* take to Husband one John Carleton, and to
4 him was married, the faid Tho. Stedman her
£ former Husband being then alive, and in full
4 Life: Againft the Form of the Statute in that
' cafe provided, and againft the Peace of our
4 faid Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and
4 Dignity, &V.

Afterwards the faid Mary Moders, alias Sted-

man, was called to the Bar > and appearing, was
commanded to hold up her Hand : Which fhe
accordingly did, and her Indictment was read to
her as followeth.

Clerk of the Peace. Mary Moders, alias Sted-

man, thou ftandeft indicted in London by the
Name of Mary Moders late of London Spinfter,

otherwife Mary Stedman, the Wife of, &c.
[And here the Indictment was read, as above]
How fayeft thou, art thou Guilty of the Felony

whereof thou ftandeft indicted, or Not Guilty?

Mary Moders. Not Guilty, my Lord.
CI. of the Peace. How wilt thou be try'd?

Prifoner. By God and the Country.

CI. of the Peace. God fend thee a good De-
liverance.

And afterwards fhe being fet to the Bar in or-

der to her Trial, fhe pray'd time till the Mor-
row for her Trial : Which was granted, and all

Perfons concerned were ordered to attend them
at Nine of the Clock in the Forenoon.

[The Reader is defired to take notice of the

following Paffage:]

After fhe was arraigned, and going back to

the Goal, her Husband the young Lord told

her, He muft now bid her adieu for ever. To
which fhe replied,

Nay, my Lord, "'tis not amifs,

Before we part, to have a Kifs.

And fo faluted him, and faid, What a Quarrel
and Noife here's of a Cheat / Tou cheated me, and /
you : Tou told me you were a Lord, and I told you

I was a Princefs; and I think I fitted you. And
fo faluting each other, they parted.

June 4, 1663.

TH E Court was fat ; Proclamation was made.

CI. of the Peace. O Yes ! all manner of

Perfons that have any thing more to do, &V.
Set Mary Moders to the Bar : Where fhe accord-

ingly ltood.

67. of the Peace. Mary Moders, alias Stedman,

hold up thy Hand: [which fhe did.] ThofeMen
that you fhall hear called, and perfonally appear,

are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King
and you for your Life: If you will challenge

them,
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hem, or any of them, you muft do it when

hey come to the Book to be fvvorn, before they

re fvvorn. And then were Called,

William Rutland,

Arthur tigers,

Arthur Cape!,

Tho. Smithy

Fran. Chaplin,

Robert Harvey,

Simon Driver,

Robert Kirkham,

Hugh Majfon,

Tho. Wejl/ey,

Richard Clutterbuck,

Randolph Tooke.

And fhe challenged none; but they were fe-

derally fworn by the Oath following:

; Look upon the Prifoner : Tou flail well and truly

'ry,and true Deliverance make, between our Sovereign

Lord the King and the Prifoner at the Bar, whom

sou flail have in Charge, according to your Evi-

dence. So help you God.

CI. of-the Peace. Crier, make Proclamation-:

O Yes ! if any one can inform my Lords the
; King's Juftices, the King's Serjeant, or the

King's Attorney, before this Inqueft be taken

• between our Sovereign Lord the King, and

i

: the Prifoner at the Bar, let them come forth,

and they fhall be heard, for now the Prifoner

; ftands at the Bar upon her Deliverance: And

f
all others that are bound by Recognizance to

f
oive Evidence againft the Prifoner at the Bar,

come forth and give Evidence, or elfe you'll

forfeit your Recognizance.'

The Witneflls being called feveral times, and

lot appearing, young Carleton came into the

Court in a rich Garb trimmed with fcarlet Rib-

bands, and praved that in refpect his Father and

the reft of the WitnetTes were not all ready, the

Trial might be deferr'd for halfan hour* and he

going back, and palling the Prifoner his Princefs,

who flood there in a black Velvet Waftcoat,

drefTed in her Hair, trimmed alfo with fcarlet

Ribbands, (he, (veiling her Face with her Fan)

laugh'd at him, to the great Obfervation of the

Court : And fo the young Lord left the Court

(by Advice of his Friends) and betook himfelf

to an adjoining Houfe, where he flood the whole

Trial.

After fome flay, the Witnefles came into the

Court, and the Prifoner was fet to the Bar, and

Silence being commanded, the Indictment was

again read.

CI. of the Peace. Upon this Indictment fhe

hath pleaded Not Guilty, and for her Trial hath

put herfelf upon God and the Country, which

Country you are. Your Charge is to enquire

whether fhe be Guilty of the laid Felony, or

Not Guilty: If you find her Guilty, you fhall

enquire what Goods and Chattels fhe had at the

itime of the Felony committed, or at any time

lithence : If you find her Not Guilty, you fhall

enquire whether fhe did flee for it; if you find

that fhe fled for it, you fhall enquire of her

Goods, £jV. as if fhe had been Guilty : If you

find fhe be Not Guilty, nor that fhe did flee

for it, fay fo, and no more, and hear your Evi-

dence.

Several WitnefTcs were fworn by the Oath
following:

flail be the Truth, the whole Truth, and nothing but

the Truth. So help you God.

James Knot. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the
Jury, I gave this Woman in Marriage to one
Thomas Stedman, which is now alive in Dover*,

and I faw him laft Week.
Court. "Where was fhe married ?

Knot. In Canterbury.

Court. Where there ?

Knot. In St. Mildred's, by one Parfon Man,
who is now dead.

How long fince were they married?
About Nine Years ago.

Did they live together afterwards ?

Yes, about four Years, and had two

The Evidence that you flailfwear between our So-

•vereign Lord the King and the Prifoner at the Bar,

Vol. II.

Court.

Knot.

Court.

Knot.

Children

Court. You gave her in Marriage, but did
the Minifter give her to her Husband then?

Knot. Yes, and they lived together.

Jury. Friend, did you give this very Woman?
Knot. Yes.

Court. What Company was there?

Knot. There was the married Couple, her Si-

fter, myfelf, the Parfon, and the Sexton.
Court. Where is that Sexton.
Knot. I know not, my Lord.
Court. You are fure they were married in the

Church, and this the Woman?
Knot. Yes, I am fure of it.

Court. How long ago ?

Knot. About Nine Years ago.

Court. Did you know this Woman before

the Marriage, and how long ?

Knot. Yes, I knew her a long time, I was an
Apprentice feven Years near her Mother's Houfe
in Canterbury.

Court. Then fhe's no foreign Princefs ? Of
what Parentage was fhe ?

Knot. I did not know her own Father, \_and

in that he might be believed~\ but her Father-in-

law was a Mufician there.

Court. You faw her married: What Words
were ufed at her Marriage, and in what Man-
ner ?

Knot. They were married according to the

Order of the Land, a little before the Act came
forth touching Marriages by Juftices of the

Peace.

Court. Was it by the Form of Common
Prayer, any thing read of that Form?

Knot. 1 did not take notice of that, I was but

a young Man, and was defired to go along with

them.
William Clark being fworn, faid, my Lord, I

was laft Week in Dover, in company with this

James Knot and Thomas Stedman -, and he the faid

Stedman did own that he did marry one Mary
Moders, a Daughter of one in Canterbury, and than

Knot gave her, and that he had two Children by
her, and declared his Willingnefs to come up to

give Evidence againft her, but wanted Money
for his Journey : And I have underftood that a

Perfon here in Court was of a Jury at Canterbury,

at a Trial between Day and Mary Stedman at the

Bar, for having two Husbands.

Court. Was fhe cleared?

Clark. I cannot tell.

Young Carleton's Father fworn. My Lord,

I was at Dover the laft Week, on Wednefdayj
I faw the Husband of this Woman, and the Man
acknowledge himfelf to be fo, and did fay thac

S s s 2 James
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James Knot was the Man that gave her in Mar-

riage to him.

Court. Where is this Man her Husband?

Hearfays muft Condemn no Man : What do

you know of your own Knowledge ?

Carleton the Elder. I know the Man is alive.

Court. Do you know he was married to her ?

Carleton. Not I, my Lord.

Sarah Williams. My Lord, this Woman was

bound for Barbadoes, to go along with my Huf-

band, and fhe defired to lodge at our Houfe for

fome time, and did fo j and when the Ship was

ready to go, fhe went into Kent to receive her

Means, and faid fhe would meet the Ship in the

Downs j and miffing the Ship, took Boat and went

to the Ship. After feveral Days remaining there,

there came her Husband with an Order, and

fetch'd her afhore, and carried her to Dover-£aftk.

Court. What was his Name that had an Or-

der to bring her on Shore again ?

Sarah Williams. His Name was Thomas Sted-

Court. Have you any more to prove the firft

Marriage ?

Carleton the Elder. No, none but Knot ; there

was none but three, the Miniiter dead, the Sex-

ton not to be found, and this Knot who hath gi-

ven Evidence.

Court. What became of the two Children,

Knot?
Knot. They both died.

Carleton the Elder. Stedman faid in my hear-

ing, that they had lived four Years together,

had two Children by her, and both dead $ five

Years ago laft Eajler fince fhe left him.

Court. Mr. Carleton, what have you heard this

Woman fay ?

Carleton. My Lord, fhe will confefs nothing.

Court. Mr. Carleton, did you look in the

Church-Regifter for the firft Marriage?

Carleton. I did look in the Book, and he that

is now Clerk, was then Sexton, (juft now not to

be found) ;) he told me, that Marriages being then

very numerous, preceeding the A6t before-men-

tion'd, the then Clerk had neglected the Regi-

ftry of this Marriage. If fhe intended this Trade,

fhe likewife knew how to make the Clerk mif-

take regiftring the Marriage.

Young Carleton's Brother fworn j who faid,

My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, I was
prefent at the Marriage of my Brother with this

Gentlewoman, which was on or about April 21,

1665. They were married at Great St. Bartho-

lomew's, by one Mr. Smith, a Minifter here in

Court, by Licenfe.

Mr. Smith the Parfon fworn: My Lord, all

that I can fay, is this; That Mr. Carleton the

Younger told me of fuch a Bufinefs, and defired

me to marry them : They came to Church, and

I did marry them by the Book of Common-
Prayer.

Court. Mr. Smith., are you fure that is the

Woman ?

Parfon. Yes, my Lord, it is ; I believe fhe

will not deny it.

Prifoner. Yes, my Lord, I confefs I am the

Woman.
Court. Have you any more Witneffes ?

Carleton. We can get no more but Knot to

prove the firft Marriage, the laft is clear.

Tudge Howel. Where is Knot ? Remember
^ourfelf what you faid before. You fay, you

know that Woman at the Bar, that you had
known her a great while, that fhe was born near

you in Canterbury^ that you were prefenc at her
Marriage, that Parfon Man married them, that

none were prefent but yourfelf, the married

Couple, Parfon, Sexton, and her Sifter.

Knot. Some others came into the Church,
but none that I knew > I am fure none went with
her, but thofe I named.

Court. Who gave her in Marriage ?

Knot. I did.

Court. How came you to do it ?

Knot. I was Stedmarfs Shop-Mate, and he de-

fired me to go along with him.

Court. Were her Parents then living, or no?
Knot. Her Mother was.

Jury. How old are you?
Knot. Two or three and thirty Years.

Jury. How long ago was this Marriage ?

Knot. About nine Years fince.

Court. Then he was twenty-three, andmight
do it: What is your Trade of Life?

Knot. I am a Cordwainer, otherwife a Shoe-
maker; Stedman was fo too; we wrought both
together.

'Jury. We defire to know whether fhe had

a Father and Mother then living?

Knot. She had a Father-in-law.

Court. Did you know her Mother?
Knot. Yes.

Court. How long before that Marriage did

her own Father die?

Knot. I did not know him. \He faidfo be-

fore indeed."]

Court. What Age was fhe when married?
Knot. I fuppofe about nineteen or twenty.

Prifoner. May it pleafe your Honours, and

Gentlemen of the Jury, you have heard the fe-

veral Witneffes, and I think this whole Country
cannot but plainly fee the Malice of my Huf-
band's Father againft mej how he cauflefly hunts

after my Life. When his Son my Husband,
came and addreffed himfelf to me, pretending
himfelf a Perfon of Honour, and upon firft Sight

preffed me to Marriage j I told him, Sir, (faidl)

I am a Stranger, have no Acquaintance here, and

defire you to defift your Suit. I could not fpeak

my Mind,buthe (having borrow'd fome thread-

bare Compliments) replied, Madam your feeming

Virtues, your amiable Perfon, and noble De-
portment, render you fo excellent, that were I

in the leaft interefted in you, I cannot doubt of

Happinefs : And fo with many Words to the

like purpofe, courted me. I told him, and indeed

could not much wonder, that at fo fmall a

Glance he could be fo prefumpuous with a

Stranger, to hint this to me: But all I could

fay, would not beat him off. And prefently af-

terwards he having intercepted my Letter, by

which he underftood how my Affairs flood, and

how confiderable my Means were, he ftill urged

me to marry him : And immediately by the Con-

trivance of his Friends, gaping at my Fortune,

I was hurried to Church to be married, which

the Parfon at firft did without Licenfe, to fecure

me to my Husband, and fome time after had a

Licenfe.

And my Husband's Father afterwards confl-

dering I had a confiderable Fortune, preffed me,

that in refpect I had no Relations here, and be-

caufe, fays he, we are Mortal, you would do

well to make over your Eftate to my Son your

Husband j



1663. a b. for Bigamy. 501
Husband ; it will be much for your Honour, Sa-

tisfaction of the World, and for which you will

be chronicled for a rare Woman. And percei-

ving he had not baited his Hook fufficient (with

fome fair Pretences,) to catch me then, he and

his Son, who were both willing to make up fome

of their former LofTes in circumventing me of

what I had, they robb'd me of my Jewels, and

Clothes of great Value ; and afterwards preten-

ded they were counterfeit Jewels, and declared

that I had formerly been married to one at Can-

terbury, which Place I know not : and this

grounded on a Letter (of their own framing) fent

from Dover, with a Defcription of me ; that I

was a young fat Woman, full-breafted j that I

fpoke feveral Languages, and therefore they ima-

gined me the Perfon; and fo violently carried

me from my Lodging before a Juftice of Peace,

'only to affright me, that I might make my fi-

liate over to them. The Juftice having heard

their feveral Allegations, could not commit me,

unlefs they would be bound to profecute me >

which my Husband being unwilling to, the Ju-
ftice demanded of his Father whether he would
profecute me, faying, they muft not make a Fool

of himj and fo after fome Whifperings, the Fa-

ther and his Son were both bound to profecute,

and thereupon I was committed to Prifon. And
flncc that, thefe People have been up and down
the Country, and finding none there that could

juftify any thing of this Matter, they get here

an unknown Fellow, unlefs in a Prifon, and from

thence borrow'd, you cannot but all judge, to

fwear againft me. My Lord, were there any

fuch Marriage as this Fellow pretends, methinks
there might be a Certificate from the Minifter,

or Place ; certainly if married, it muft; be regi-

ftred : But there is no Regiftry of it, and fo can

be no Certificate, no Minifter nor Clerk to be
found. And if I fhould own a Marriage, then

you fee that great Witnefs cannot tell you whe-
ther I was lawfully married, or how ; but it is e-

nough for him (if fuch a paltry Fellow may be
believed) to fay, I was married. I was never yet

married to any but John Carleton, the lute pre-

tended Lord : But thefe Perfons have fought all

ways to take away my Life, bring Perfons to

fwear againft me, one hired with Five Pounds,
and another old Fellow perfuaded to own me for

his Wife ; who came to the Prifon, and feeing

another Woman, owned her, and afterwards my-
felf, and indeed any body. If fuch an old incon-

fiderable Fellow had heretofore woo'd me, it

muft have been for want of Difcretion, as Carle-

ton did for want of Money ; but I know of no
fuch thing. Several Scandals have been laid up-
on me, but no mortal Flefh can truly touch the

leaft Hair of my Head for any fuch like Offence ;

they have framed this of themfelves. My Lord,
I am a Stranger and a Foreigner ; and being in-

formed there is Matter of Law in this Trial for

my Life, my Innocence (hall be my Counfellor,

and your Lordfhips my Judges, to whom I

wholly refer my Caufe. Since I have been in

Prifon, feveral from Canterbury have been to fee

me, pretending themfelves (if I were the Perfon
as was related) to be my School-Mates ; and
when they came to me, the Keeper can juftify,

they all declared they dic| not know me.
Court. Knot, you faid )fhe lived n- ar you at

Canterbury; what Woman or Man there, have
you to prove fhe lived there ? Have you none in

that whole City, neither for love of Juftice nor
Right, will come to fay fhe lived there ?

Knot. I believe I could fetch one.

Court. Well faid ! Are they to fetch ftill ?

Prifoner. My Lord, I defire fome WitnefTes
may be heard in my Behalf.

Elizabeth Collier examined. My Lord, my Hus-
band being a Prifoner in the Gate-Houfe, I came
there to fee my Husband, and did work there on
Days •, and there came in an old Man, his Name1

was Billing, he faid he had a Wife there : fays

Mr. Baley, Go in and find her out ; and he faid

I was his Wife, turned my Hood, and put on
his Spectacles, looks upon me, and faid I was
the fame Woman his Wife j and afterwards
faid I was not, and fo to others : I can fay no
more.

Jane Finch examined. My Lord, there came
a Man and Woman one Night, and knock'd at

my Door ; I came down, they asked to fpeak
with one Jane Finch. I am the Perfon, faid L
We underftand, faid they, you know Mrs. Carle-

ton now in Prifon. Not 1, faid J, I only went
to fee her there. Said they, be not fcrupulousj

if you will go and juftify any thing againft her
?

we will give you f /.

Court. Who are thofetwo?
Finch. I do not know them, my Lord.
Mr. Baley examined. My Lord, there has been '

at leaft five hundred People have view'd her j fe-

veral from Canterbury, forty at leaft that fiid ihey

lived there; and when they went up to her, fhe

hid not her Face at all, but not one of them
knew her.

Court. What Country-woman are you?
Prifoner. I was born in Cologn in Germany.

Court. Mr. Carleton, how came you to under-

ftand fhe was married formerly ?

Carleton Elder. I received a Letter from the

Recorder of Canterbury to that purpofe.

Prifoner. They that can offer 5/. to fwear a-

gainft me, can alfo frame a Letter againft me :

They fay I was Nineteen Yeas of Age about

Nine Years ago, and am now but Twenty-one.
Court. Mr. Carleton, you heard what Knot faid 5

he faid fhe lived near him four Years a Wife,

why did not you get fomebody elfe from thence

to teftify this ?

Carleton. Here was one Davis that was at her

Father's Houle, and fpoke with him ->

Court. Where is he ?

Carleton. I know not ; he was here.

Court. You were telling the Court of a former

Indi6tment againft her, what was that for?

Carleton. She was Indicted for having two
Husbands, Stedman of Canterbury her firlt Hus-

band, and Day of Dover, Chirurgeon, her fecond

Husband, The Indictment was traverfed the

Year before his Majefty came to England, fhe

was found Not guilty.

Court. Who was at that Trial?

Carleton. One here in Court was of the Jury,

But that Party faid there was fuch a Trial, but

knows not that this is the Woman.
Judge Howel. Gentlemen of the Jury, you fee

this Indictment is againft Mary Moders, other-

wife Stedman, and it is for having two Husbands,

both at one time alive > the firit Stedman, after-

wards married to Carleton, her former Husband

being alive. You have heard the Proof of the

firft Marriage, and the Proof doth depend upon

one Witnefs, that is Knot

-

3 and he indeed doth
fay,
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fay, he was at the Marriage, gave her, and he

names one Man the Parfon that married her,

that he is dead > none prefent there but the mar-

ried Couple that mud needs be there, the Par-

fon, this Witnefs, her Sifter, and the Sexton }

that he knows not what is become of the Sex-

ton. All the Evidence given on that Side, to

prove her Guilty of this Indi&menr, depends

upon his fingle Teftimony. It is true, he fays

fhe was married at Canterbury, but the Particu-

lars, or Manner of the Marriage, he doth not

fo well remember, whether by the Book of

Common Prayer, or otherwife j but they lived

together for four Years, had two Children. If

fhe were born there, married there, had two

Children there, and lived there fo long, it were

eafy to have brought fomebody to prove this :

that is all that is material for the firft Mar-

riage.

For the fecond, there is little Proof neceflary j

fhe confeffes herfelf married to Carleton, and

owns himj the Queftion is, Whether ihe was

married to Stedman or not?

You have heard what Defence fhe hath made

for herfelf, fome Witneffes on her behalf: Ifyou

believe that Knot, the fingle Witnefs, fpeaks the

Truth fo far forth to fatisfy your Confcience that

that was a Marriage, fhe is Guilty. You fee

what the Circumftances are, it is penal; if Guil-

ty, fhe muft die ; a Woman hath no Clergy, fhe

is to die by the Law, if Guilty. You heard fhe

was indi&ed at Dover for having two Husbands,

Stedman the firft, and Day the fecond. There,

it feems by that which they have faid, fhe was

acquitted ; none can fay this was the Woman :

That there was a Trial, may be believed j but

whether this be the Woman try'd or acquit-

ted, doth not appear. One here, that was of

that Jury, fays there was a Trial, but knows
not that this is the Woman. So that upon
the whole, it it left to you to confider of the

Evidence you have heard, and fo to give your
Verdid.

[The Jury went forth, and after fome fhort
Confultation returned to their Places.]

Their Names were called, and all anfwered.

CI. of the Peace. Are you all agreed of your
Verdift ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you?
Jury. The Foreman.
Clerk. Mary Moders alias Stedman, hold up thy

Hand : Look upon her, Gentlemen ; what fay
you, is fhe Guilty of the Felony whereof fhe
ftands indicted, or Not guilty ?

Foreman. Not guilty.

[And thereupon a great Number of People
being in and about the Court, hiffed and clapped
their Hands]

Clerk. Did fhe fly for it ?

Foreman. Not that We know.

Afterwards fhe defired, that her Jewels and
Clothes taken from her, might be reftored to

her. The Court acquainted her, that they were
her Husband's, and that if any detained them
from her, he might have his Remedy at Law :

She charging old Mr. Carleton with them, he
declared they were already in the Cuftody of his

Son her Husband.
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LXJV. The Trial of Col. James Turner, JohnTur-
^nerj William Turner, Mary Turner, and
Ely Turner, * at the Old-Baily, for Felony and
Burglary, the 15th, 16th, and 19th of January 1663.

1 5 Car. II.

plRji AME s TUR NE R the Titular c°-

181! fpl? lonel, William, Turner, Mary Turner,

W$m WM and Ely Turner, were brought to the

giy^|g|| Bar.
ia^wsG®*^ Clerk of the Peace. James Turner,

hold up thy Hand: which he did. John Turner

hold up thy Hand.

Col. Turner. He is not here, but he is hard by,

and I will fend for him. My Lord, it has been

reported he was fled > it was a Miftake, he is in

Fleet-flreet, where he has been ever fince this

Bufinefs.

[And thereupon he fent one for him, and then

the Court proceeded to fome other Bufinefs. A-

* Kelyng. Rep. 30.

bout half an Hour after, the faid John came in-

to the Court, and was fet among the other Pri-

foners at the Bar.

CI. of the Peace. James Turner, hold up thy

Hand} John Turner, hold up thy Hand; William
Turner, hold up thy Hand ; Mary Turner, hold

up thy Hand * Ely Turner, hold up thy Hand :

Which they all did, and then the faid Clerk read

their Indictment ; which was as followeth

:

' \7 OU ftand indicted in Londonhy the Names
4 I of James Turner late of London Gentleman,
1 John Turner late of London Labourer, William
' Turner late of London Labourer, Mary Turner

« late
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* late of London Spinlter, (otherwife Mary Turner 4

* the Wife of the faid James Turner) and Ely 4

4 Turner late of London Labourer j for that you '

i
the faid James Turner, John Turner, and Wil- '

< nam Turner, the 7th Day of January, in the *

« Fifteenth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign '

4 Lord Charles the Second, by the Grace of God, c

t of England, Scotland, France and Ireland, King, '

« Defender of the Faith, about Ten of the Clock 4

* in the Night-time of the fame Day, with Force 4

* and Arms, &c. at London, that is to fay, in the '

4 Parifh of St. Dyonis Back-church, in the Ward '

4 of Lime-fireet, London, aforefaid, in the Dwel- £

' ling-Houfe of one Francis Tryon Merchant, «

* there felonioufly and burglarly you did break '

* and enter j and on him the faid Francis Tryon, .«

4 againft the Peace of God, and of our faid So- '

* vereign Lord the King, in his Dwelling-Houfe *

* aforefaid, than and there being and refting, fe- *

« lonioufly and burglarly did make an Afiault, and <

* him the faid Francis Tryon in corporal Fear of *

4 his Life felonioufly and burglarly you did put ,
'

4 and one Pendant Pearl fet in Gold, and a pre- '

1 cious Stone fix'd thereto, of the Value of 1 fo /.

4 Two Pendant Pearls with Half-Moon, feven

4 Diamonds, and eight Rubies fix'd to every of

' them, of the Value of 80 /. One Topaz and
4 Pendent Pearl at the bottom thereof, of the

* Value of 10 /. One Emerald Jewel, and five Dia-

4 monds, of the Value of ifo /. One Gold Ring,
4 and Diamonds fet therein, of the Value of 30 /.

4 One other Gold Ring, and nine Diamonds fix'd

4 in the fame Ring, called an Agar Ring, of the

4 Value of 5 /. One Jewel, and thirty-feven Dia-
4 monds, of the Value of 50 /. One Gold Chain
* of the Value of ?,o /. One Gold Ring and
4 nine Diamonds fet therein, of the Value of 6/.

4 Another Gold Ring and a Jacinth-ftone faften-

4 ed therein, and two Diamonds fet in cither of
4 them, of the Value of 3 /. One other Gold
4 Ring of the Value of zo s. One Necklace of
4 Pearl, of the Value of foo /. One Knot of
4 Diamonds and Pendant Pearls faftened thereto,

« of the Value of 300 /. One Sprig and three

4 blue Saphires, nine Pendant Pearls, and fifty-

4 fix Diamonds faftened therero, of the Value of
4 300 /. One Gold Ring and thirteen Diamonds
* fet therein, of the Value of fo /. One other
4 Gold Ring and Diamonds fet therein, of the

4 Value of fo /. One Knot and feventy-five Dia-
4 monds fet therein, of the Value of 100/. One
4 Necklace of Pearls, containing one" hundred
* feventy-two Pearls, of the Value of 11 /. 10 s.

4 One Necklace of Pearl, containing two hun-
* dred feventy fix Pearls, of the Value of 18 /.

4 10 s. One Jewel and forty-fix Diamonds fet

4 therein, of the Value of 300/. Onejeweland
1 fifty-three Diamonds fet therein, of the Value
4 of 200/. One Gold Ring, and one Diamond
4 fet therein, of the Value of 50 /. One Locket
* and thirty-fix Diamonds fet therein, of the Va-
* lue of 70 /. Two Lockets and one Ruby, and

* twenty Diamonds let in cither of them, of the

4 Value of 60 1. One Pendant Pearl fet in Gold,
* and four Diamonds fet therein, of the Value of

* 40/. One other Gold Ring, and with one Dia-
4 mond, of the Value of 3f /. Six Bracelets fet

* with precious Stones, of the Value of zo /.

4 One blue Saphire, twenty-four Diamonds, of
4 the Value of 40 /. One Locket and nine yel-

low Diamonds fet in Gold, of the Value of
zo /. One Locket and eight Diamonds fee

therein, ofthe Value of 8 I One Jewel and
twelve Diamonds fet therein, ofthe Value of

if/. One Gold Ring and Diamond, ofthe
Value off/. One Jewel and Saphire, Ruby
and Emerald adjacent, and four Ophirs fet

therein, ofthe Value of iz /. Twelve Scotch

Pearls, of the Value of 3 /. Sixty-two Pearlsj

of the Value of 1 z /. One Oriental Amethift,
fix Diamonds fet therein, of the Value of zo /.

Two other Gold Rings, nine Diamonds in ei-

ther of them, ofthe Value of if /. One other
Gold Ring and thirteen Diamonds fee therein
of the Value of 8 /. One Jewel and ten Dia-
monds, and feven Emeralds, of the Value of

if/, Sixteen Gold Rings, and feven Diamonds
in every of them, of the Value of 7f4 /. One
Bracelet and thirteen great Rubies let therein,

ofthe Value of 100/. Six Two and Twenty
; Shilling Pieces of Gold, five other Pieces of
1 Gold, called Five Shillings Six Pence a piece ;
6 three other Pieces of Gold of two Shillings
' Nine-pence a piece; another Piece ofG Id of
' Twenty Shillings; two other Pieces of Gold
4 of Five Shillings a piece •, four Eleven-Shilling
* Pieces of Gold ; five Pieces of French Gold of
' fixteen Shillings fix-pence a piece, and 10Z3L
4 in Money, (particularly named in the faid In-
4 dictment) of the Goods and Chattels of the
1 faid Francis Tryon* then and there being found,
* then and there felonioufly and burglarly you did
4

fteal, take and carry away. And that you the
4 faid Mary Turner and Ely Turner knowing the
* faid John Turner the Felony and Burglary afore-
4 faid to have committed ; the faid John Turner
' afterwards, ihat is to fay, the 8th Day of Ja*
4 nuary, in the Fifteenth Year aforefaid, at Lon-
4 don aforefaid, that is to fay, in the Parifh of
4 St. Andrew Underjhaft, in the Ward of Aidgate+
* felonioufly did receive, comfort and maintain,
4 againft the Peace of our faid Sovereign Lord
* the King, his Crown and Dignity.

How fayeft thou, James Turner, art thou Guil-

ty of the Felony and Burglary whereof thou
ftandeft indicted, or Not guilty?

Col. Turner. My Lord, and the honourable

Bench, J fhall no way be refract >ry, nc r do any

thing that doth not become a Gentleman; but I

humbly befeech your Honours that you wdl ftand

my Friend, that I may have Juftice, and your

Honours Opinion———
* Ld Hyde. You are to plead now to your In-

dictment.

Col. Turner. I do not refufe it ; my Lord, I

beg your Honour to hear me a Word-—

—

Ld Hyde. Plead to the Indictment, and then fay

what you will > 'till that be done, all you can

fay will fignify little : we are to receive your

Anfwer to your Plea firft, afterwards fay what
you will 5 you mult now fay Guilty, or Not
Guilty.

Turner. I fhall not refufe to plead, but I beg

my own Goods may be reftored to me j my
Houie, my Lord, is locked up, and Children

turned out of Doors, and 1 have nothing to fup-

port us.

Ld Hyde. Are you Guilty or Not guiliy ? You
fhall have Right done you.

* ChiefJufiki ofthe KingY Bench.

Turner-
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Turner. I will take your Honour's word for

it j I am Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be tried?

Turner. By God and the Country.

Clerk. How fayeft thou, John Turner^ art thou

Guilty of the Felony and Burglary whereof thou

ftandeft indicted, or Not Guilty? [And fo Wil-

liam Turner, and likewife Mary Turner, and Ely

Turner, as Acceffaries, being demanded the like

Queftions, feverally pleaded Not Guilty, and

put themfelves on God and the Country to be

tried.]

Ld Hyde. Now, Mr. Turner, let us know who
has feized any thing of yours.

Turner. The Sheriff, Sir Richard Ford and Sir

Richard Rives, and they are in poffeffion of my
Houfe 5 I have none but a Child of 7 and p at

home, and have not a Shirt to command. It's

true, the Sheriff, Sir Richard Ford, was fo civil

yefterday as to give me fome Linen.

Sir Richard Ford. I fhall give your Lordfhip

an account of this : I fuppofe, my Lord, we
have done nothing but what was cuflomary j a

Seizure we have made now, but after we had

heard this Gentleman was committed for Felony

and Burglary, and that none but Children were

in the Houfe, my Lord, we thought it our

Duty, both for his Good, to fecure his Eftate,

if acquitted, and fo for the King, if convicted,

that fo the fame might not be imbezel'd ; and

thereupon caufed an Inventory to be taken there-

of: But, my Lord, we difpoffefTed none : it is

true, we have left a Servant or two, for whom
we are and muft be refponfible ; whatever they

would difpofe or had occafion for, they had it

without Contradiction. We offered him, that if

he had any Friend of his own that would under-

take them to be forth-coming, in cafe he were
convict, we would leave them in poffeffion of

them ; we have made no Seizure, what we have
done is according to Cuftom ; if we have not
done that which your Lordfhips approve of,

we beg your pardon.

Ld Hyde. We are to look to that which is

according to Law ; the Goods of a Man that is

accufed of Felony (he is but only fo yet) he for-

feits none of his Goods, till convict j more than
that, he is to live upon them during his Trial

}

but on the other hand, where a Man is accufed

of Felony, and indicted for it, it is but Prudence,
and agreeable to Law, to take care the Goods
he not imbezel'd j becaufe, if a Conviction fol-

low, they are forfeited to the King ; therefore

the Sheriffs have done but what they ought to
do : they are not taken from you, whar you have
occafion for, either for Money (or Goods to turn
into Money) for your prefent Supply, till your
Trial be over, God forbid but you fhould have
it, and you fhall have it* if you have any Friend
that will undertake the Goods fhall be forth-

coming for the King, in cafe you be convicted,

or for your felf, if acquitted, it fhall be done. In
the mean time what you have occafion for your
felf, Wife or Children, God forbid but you
fhould have it : and this is as much as by Juftice

you ought to claim.

Turner. I fubmit to your Honour, and I beg
of your Honour and the Bench to be of Counfel
for me ; for though the World looks on me as a

Sollicitor, it is a miftake, my Lord, it is not

in Law, I am a Stranger to it ; it has been only

in Dealings for Monies, by Purchafes and the

like. But, my Lord, I am informed your Lord-
fhip may reftore me thefe Goods without Secu-

rity } if the Law directs Security, I am ready

to give it.

f Ld Ch. J. Bridgman. For that, t ChiefJu-

that vou may not miflake the Law, fll" °fthe
J J

.1 j ,- 1 Common-
It is very true, the words of the pjeas

Statute of Richard III. fay, A Man's
Goods fhall not be feized before indicted. You
muft underftand the Difference of the Law, that

has made the Miflake ; it was then good, but
not now j then a Man's Courfe was to indict

them and procefs againfl: them before commit-
ted, but now it is altered ; for when it re-

mained indifferent, whether Guilty or Not guil-

ty, he was to be maintained out of his Goods:
fo ought you and your Family : for the Town'
being anfwerable for the Goods of fuch a Felon,

that they might not be amerced, in fuch Cafes

fufficient Sureties were given : the Statute of
Philip and Mary gives the Power of Commit-
ment by Juflices of Peace, and fo now it is quite

altered ; and though they cannot feize the Goods,
yet they being refponfible for them, they ought
to have good Security.

Sir Richard Ford. I do affure your Lordfhips,

that from the very firfl Hour we put our People
into the Houfe, none of his Family there then

or now have been denied any thing in the Houfe:
if I be not mifinformed, that very Night that

he was committed, there was conveyed out of

his Houfe for his Ufe and his Occafions, fome
fay 100/. they that fay leaft, fay 100/. they have
had a free Difpofal of what was in the Houfe j

and then, my Lord, could wc do lefs than what
we have done ?

Turner. I would have made a fhort bufinefs of

this, I tendred Security ofyooo/. to their own
Content, they accepted of the Perfons, but one

Handing by, faid, By no means j and fo it is ftill

undone. If you pleafe, I have Security now.
Ld Hyde. There need not much ado for Se-

curity j if your Trial were not to be prefently,

then there were Caufe for you to infift on this j

but now there is but one Night j if you want
any thing for this Night, the Sheriffs here offer

what you will, to-morrow will determine the -

Queftion, whether thefe Goods are yours, or no.

Turner. I will fubmit to the Court, I will not

be refractory ; here is Security, if you pleafe j if

nor, I am content.

Ld Hyde. If you want any thing, either Mo-
ney or Clothes, or any thing elfe, you may have

them.
Turner. My Lord, the greateft thing will be

fome Writings and Papers, which will concern

me at my Trial to clear me then.

Ld Hyde. Do this ; nominate one Perfon, the

Sheriff another to go with him, and what Wri-
tings you will have brought, they fhall take a

Note of them, and bring them to you.

Turner. I have divers Writings of Gentlemens
Eftates, Bonds and Things in my Hands, and the

Papers are amongft them ; and I do beg I may,
with the Keeper, go my felf now.
Ld Hyde. 1 cannot, nor the Court, give you

leave ; you fland indicted for Felony and Bur-
glary.

Turner. Let my Sons go, my Lord.

Ld Hyde. They are indicted too, and are not

bailable \ if Mr. Sheriff (who is anfwerable for

you) will fend any with them, he may.
Sir
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Sir Rich. Ford. I fhall be willing to fervcyou,

Gentlemen, fo far my felf, if your Lordlhip will

fpare me from further Service here, to go with

fuch Perfon as he fliall appoint.

Ld Hyde. We leave that to Mr. Sheriff's Ci-

vility, we can give no Rule for it.

Turner. I may be cut off of my Life, if I want

my Papers.

'Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Doth your Life de-

pend upon this Evidence in Matter of Fact ?

Turner. My Lord, I have been fo ftrangely

handled in this Bufinefs, I know not where it de-

pends.

Sir Rich. Ford. If he will fay in what Trunk
or Cheft they are in, they fliall be brought to

the Court. [Thereupon Mr. "Turner offered to

fend a Pillowbeer, and the Sheriff faid hefhould

have the Writings.]

Ld Hyde. Provide your felf for to-morrow,

Mr. Turner, we will then go on.

Turner. I have an humble Requeft to your

Honours and honourable Bench ; I would beg

an Order to bring in fome WitnefTes, who are

Mr. Try-on's Friends now, though mine lately ;

divers would come in, but fend me word they

dare not, except they are fummoned by an Or-
der of your Lordfhips.

Ld Ch. Juft. We will help what the Law will

do, but this cannot be done ; thofe that will

come in voluntarily, may ; the Law will not ad-

mit us to fummon any WitnefTes: you fee when
any come againft the King, we cannot put them
to their Oaths, much leis can we precept them
to come.

Turner. Pray, my Lord, let fome of the She-

riff's Officers wifh them to come, not from the

Bench.

Ld Ch. Juft. We cannot direct any thing

in't.

Turner. I dcflre the Party himfelf may be

here.

Ld Ch. Juft. We cannot compel him.

Turner. Then I have no Witnelsinthe World}
this is a fad thing, that the Profecutor, being

able, will not come ; I hope you will advife him
to come.
Ld Ch. Juft. The Law is open, the fame to

every Man, you fliall have that that is due to

any Man, you cannot have more, and lefs you
ihall not have ; if he be bound, we will call

him.

Turner. What if he will forfeit his Recogni-
zance ?

Ld. Ch. Juft. We cannot help that, but we
think you need not fear his not coming, he in-

tends to be here.

And afterwards the Prifoners were conveyed
back to the Goal.

1 6 January, in the Morning.

TH E Court being fat, and Proclamation
made, the Jury was call'd, viz.

William Bookey,

Thomas Seawell,

William Allen,

John Port,

Francis Coles,

Robert Mafters,

Thomas Hick/on,

John Andrews,

John Jacob,

David Bolger,

Henry Hague,

Lewis Tayte.

Who feverally anfwered to their Names.
Vol. II.

5°5
Clerk. Set up James Turner, John Turners

William Turner, Mary Turner and Ely Turner
j,

[Who (" ith fome Felons) were accordingly fet

to the Bar] You, the Prifoners that were 'jail;

called to the Bar, thofe Men that you fhall hear
called and perfonally appear, mull pafs between
our Sovereign Lord the King and you for your
feveral Lives and Deaths. If you or any of
you will challenge them or any of them, you
muff, challenge them when they come to the

Book to be fworn, before they be fworri.

Silence commanded twice.

Clerk. William Bookey, look upon the Prifoner i

* You fhall well and truly try, and true Deliver-
* ance make between our Sovereign Lord the
' King and the Prifoners at the Bar, whom you
' fhall have in Charge according to your Evi-
* dence. So help you God.'
And fo ail the reft were fworn, fave only Lewis

Tayte, againft whom he excepted, there being
fome little Difference at prefent between them »

but my Lord Chief Juftices told him he need not
give any Reafon for it, he was free to except
any without Caufe. Thereupon Capt. Edward
Micoe was fworn in his room. Count thefe,

Crier.

William Bookey, &c. Twelve good Men and
true, ftand together and hear your Evidence.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation. O Yes!
If any Man can inform my Lords the King's

Juftices, the King's Serjeant, or the King's At-
torney, before thislnqueft be taken between our
Sovereign Lord the King and the Prifoners at

the Bar, let them come forth, and they fliall be
heard ; for now the Prifoners ftand at the Bar
upon their Deliverance : and all others bound by
Recognizance to give Evidence againft any the

Prifoners at the Bar, come forth and give Evi-
dence, or elfe you will forfeit your Recogni-
zances.

Clerk. Crier, call Francis Tryon, William Hill,

Fred. Ixam, John Garret, Jacob Watcher, Eliz.

Fry, Ann Ball, John Guerney, Francis MiU'mgton,

John Alfop, Peter Culley, Ralph Tasker, JVilliam

Daws, John Roufe, Richard Roberts, Nath. Clarke,

Robert Cole, Edward Cole. They all came into

the Court.
Clerk. James Turner, hold up thy Hand. [And

fo the reft.]

[Here the Indictment was read again.] Upon
this Indictment they have been arraigned, and
thereunto have feverally pleaded Not Guilty, and
for their Trials have put themfelves upon God
and the Country, which Country you are. Your
Charge is to enquire whether the faid James,
John and William Turner, or any of them, be
Guilty of this Felony and Burglary in Manner
and Form as they ftand indicted, or Not Guilty :

And whether the faid Mary and Ely Turner are

guilty of the Felony, as AccefTaries to the faid

John. If you find them Guilty, you fhall enquire

what Goods and Chattels, Lands and Tenements,

they or any of them had at the Time of commit-

ting this Felony or Burglary, or at any time

fince: If you find them Not Guilty, you fhall

enquire if they fled for it; if you find that they

did fly for it, you fliall enquire, &V. as if you

had found them Guilty. If you find them Not
Guilty, and they did not fly for it, fay fo, and

no more, and hear your Evidence.

Ttt But
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But if you acquit James, John and William

"Turner of the Felony and Burglary, then you

fhall not enquire after Mary and Ely as Accef-

faries.

Sir Thomas Aleyn /worn. The Evidence that

you fhall give, &c.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Pray, Sir Thomas Aleyn,

tell your knowledge to the Jury.

Sir T. A. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury ; upon Friday Morn-
ing laft was fevennight, I heard of this Robbery
at Guild- Hall, and the Perfon robbed being my
Acquaintance, I went to vifit him in the After-

noon} and coming there, not thinking but the

Bufinefs had been already examined, feveral Per-

fons with Mr. Francis Tryon put me upon the

Bufinefs to examine it. 1 went and examined

the two Servants, the Man and the Maid : upon
their Examination 1 found they had fupped a-

broad at a Dancing-School, and had been at

Cards, and came home afterwards ; but before

they came home, they heard that an antient

Gentleman, one Mr. Tryon, was robbed, and then

they haftned home. I examined them further,

whether they ufed to go abroad after their Ma-
iler was in Bed? The Man confefled he had

been abroad twenty or thirty times at Col. Tur-

ner's Houfe at Supper, about a Year fince. The
Maid denied they had been there at all : but it is

true the Man's faying he fupped there (though

it was filfe) was the firft Occafion of Sufpicion

of Col. Turner. When I had examined thefe

two, I went to the Examination of Turner,

Where he was all that Day, where at Night?
he told me, at feveral Places and Taverns, and

in Bed at Nine of the clock, and was called out

of his Bed: but having my felf fome Sufpicion

of him, I wifhed him to withdraw. I told

Mr. Tryon, that I believed if he was not the

Thief, he knew where the things were. The
old Gentleman faid, He could not miftruft him,
he had put a great Confidence in him : But I

defired him to give me leave to charge him with

it; and thereupon I called him in, but he de-

nied it ; but not as a Perfon of his Spirit, which
gave me fome Caufe of further Sufpicion. I de-

fired to fearch his Houfe; nay, told him I

would whether he would or no. He defired to

go home ; I told him, if he would go with
them (fome Perfons there) he fhould : but you
fhall not fpeakwith your Sons or Daughters, or

Servants, they fhall be examined by me. They
fearched his Houfe, the Marfhal and Conftable,

they faid they could find nothing. The old Gen-
tleman was very unwilling to charge him with
Felony ; fome Friends there were as well fatis-

fied as I was, that he was guilty of it; and they

brought me a Paper that he would charge him :

and thereupon I wifhed him to read that Paper,

told him I could do no lefs than fend him to

Newgate. Says he, you will not undo a Family,

will you ? Will you not take Bail ? No, I can-

not. What Proof have you material againfl me ?

I will give you as good Bail as any Man; give

me leave to fpeak with Mr. Tryon. I did give

him leave: He had no fooner fpoke with him,

but Mr. Tryon would not charge him, he promi-

sing to endeavour to find the Thief. I took Mr.
Turner on one fide, and told him, I did as verily

believe if he was not the Thief, he could find

him out, as I believed I fhould go hdme to my

Wife and Children; and I faid, That if an An-
gel from Heaven fhould come, and tell me other-

wife, I could hardly believe it. Thispaffed on
this Night: I could not fleep all the Night,
ftill it was in my Thoughts that this Man was
the Man that had done the Robbery. Next
Morning, after Nine, there came a Gentleman
to me, a Perfon of Quality, a Merchant ; if

your Lordfhip defires, I fhall name him.
Ld Chief Jufiice. Pray name him.
Sir T A. It was Alderman Love, my Lord : He

j

told me that he thought I was a Friend to Ju- '

ftice : If 1 would go prefently into the Minories
my felf, I might difcover the Perfon that robbed
Mr. Tryon ; if I ftaid, or fent others, the Birds

i

would be flown : Mr. Turner has this Morning
removed feveral hundred Pounds. I went pre-
fently with a Footboy. When I came to Bi-

Jhopfgate, meeting with Major Tasker, knowing
not whether 1 went without the Liberties, faid

I to him, Are you in hafte ? Pray go along with
me : And he went with me.

This Gentleman, Alderman Love, told me I

fhould meet with- a Maid-Servant of his that

knew me, though I knew not her: She will

meet you at fuch a Corner, and go with you.

When I came without Aldgatey 1 met with two
Maids that were the Perfons to fhew me the

Place: The Maid told me thefe were the Maids.

I bid them come behind me. At the further

End of all the Minories I went into the Shop, and

found Colonel Turner with his Hands in aCheft:
I charged him to take nothing out, and not to

ftir himfelf. There was two Wallets, one of

ioo/. and the other zoo/. I took the Keys from
him, laid them upon the Compter: I went with
him into the nexc Room, which was the Kit-

chen j and in another Cheft was two Wallets

more : and now the Gentleman was fpeechlefs.

I told him it was juft as I told him the laft

Night, that your Roguery would come out:

What (faid I) is become of the reft of the Mo-
ney? Says he, Your hafte will fpoil all. I cal-

led in the Maid, to examine her: But fhe was
fearful, and fo trembled there was no examining
her before Colonel Turner. But in conclufion,

faid I, Colonel Turner, if you will tell me whe-
ther this be Mv.Tryon's Money, I will do you
all the Favour I can. Says he, I cannot fay it

is his Money. I called for a Conftable, and made
a Mittimus to fend him to Newgate, thinking he

would difcover the Truth. Said I, Will you

give me your Examination ? He did: It is in

Court. I asked him whence this Money came?
He told me it was removed by himfelf, his Wife,

and Children this Morning.
Turner. My Son and I, I told you.
Sir T. A. I asked him where he had received

it ? He told me at a Goldfmith's, fourteen Days

fince: He did not remember his Name. I asked

why he fhould remove his own Money ? His

Anfwer was, He did remove it for two or three

Days, till this Foolery was over.

When I faw I could get nothing further from

him, I difcourfed with him touching the Re-
mainder of the Money and the Jewels. Says he,

Sir Thomas, do not trouble your felf, you will

lofe theJewels and the reft of the Money by this

Courfe ; and, fays he, I am now in purfuit of

them : If you will give me leave to go to the

old Gentleman, I know all will be well. I was

not content to let him go : But prefently we
called
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called a Hackney-Coach, and my (elf, and him,

-and Major Tasker went, and carried that Money

to Mr. Tryon. When we came there, I told

Mr. Tryon I thought we had brought foe*-/, of

his Money ; and I did not doubt but I had

brought a Perfon that could tell of the reft of

his Money and Jewels. Colonel Turner defired

to fpeak with Mr. tryon himfelf in private. I

gave him leave. He calls me a little after : Sir,

lays he, Mr. Tryon and I am agreed \ I muft have

this Money delivered to me again : I have af-

fured him he fhall have all his Money and Jew-

els again by Three of the clock this Afternoon.

1 told him I could not agree that he fhould have

the Money back again, prefs'd. him that he

would ftay there, and fend for the reft of the

Money and Jewels. But he would (if I did not)

truft him : Mr. Tryon would have the reft of his

Money and all his Jewels again.

Turner. I faid, I would endeavour it.

Sir T. A. If he had faid he would have endea-

voured it, I would not have parted with him ,

but he faid he ihould have the Money and Jew-

els, &c. I told him I would meet him at that

Time at Mr. Tryon's. Then I took Mr. Tryon,

and faid, Whatever Promife you have made in

private, you muft excufe my aflenting to any

thino-againft the Law: But do not tell him of

it, left you lofe the Jewels: I muft commit him

to Newgate, and I muft bind you to profecute

him. He defired me I would not come fo foon

as Three, not till Four or Five of the clock, and

all would be brought thither. I ftaid till about

Four. In the interim I heard fomc Particulars,

what thefe Maids would teftifyj which Tefti-

mony had I received before 1 had parted with

him, I would not have parted with him for any

Confideration. But when I came thither in the

Afternoon, I heard Colonel Turner was arretted,

and was then at the Hoop-Tavcvn with the Of-

ficers. I fent immediately the Marfhal and his

Men to bring him to me. The Officers and he

c\mej and then Colonel Turner told me, I had

brought all thefe Things, but the Officers pre-

vented me; I was a very unfortunate Man: Give

me but leave till to-morrow Morning at Nine
of the Clock, and you fhall have all. Said I, I

have now heard more ; and you muft produce

the Money and Jewels, if you expect any Favour

from me, or I know what to do. He pref-

ixed very hard an Hour, or almoft two, that he

might be trufted to go for them •, if he did not

go, Mr. Tryon would lofe the reft of his Money
and Jewels. I told him 1 had rather they fhould

be all loft, than I fhould forfeit my Difcretion

and Reputation. And thus he kept us till Seven

or Eight at night. At laft he would have gone
with one Perfon. I told him, no: If there were

enough to fecurc you, 1 might give leave. Saith

he, the Party will not fee more than one •, for

his Life would be in danger. Whither would
you go? I would go, faith he, (to my beft Re-
membrance) to Tower- Hill or IVJjite-ChapeL I

(hould have met him at Five of the clock ; and

now I muft meet him about Nine. I will call

in the Officers : They will tell you, your being

upon a Judgment, they will not part with you
without the Liberties : Nor will I give leave,

becaufe the Sheriffs will blame me. The Officers

faid they could not go without the Liberties,

for it would be an Efcape in Law. Pray give

me leave to go near thofe Places, and I will

fend. Nay, then you may as well fend from
Vol. II.

hence. He begged leave to go to the Hoop-Ts.*

vern, and fend for his Wife ; which I did giant.

And there he did fend for his Wife. They
brought me word he had fent his Wife for the

Jewels and the reft of the Monies. He fent to

me not to think the Time too long, for he had
notice his Wife was coming. I directed the

Marfhal, when his Wife came, he would feeure

her. About Eleven of the clock they brought
his Wife ; who told me flic had delivered the

Jewels: They thought they were in two Bags.

Then he came to me, and defired to fpeak with
Mr. Tryon in private, and told me Mr. Tryort's

Soul was pawned to him, and his to the Thief,
that no Difcovery fhould be made. But when I

examined his Wife what Money went from her

Houfe that Morning, fhe faid fhe knew of none.
Where had you the Jewels? She knew of none:
But fhe had a Couple of Bags that fhe was fent

for: Near White-Chapel or the Tower a Perfon;

fhould meet her, and ask what fhe did there,

and fhe fhould Ly fhe walked up and down for

fomething that fhould be given her by a Perfon -
9

which, if he did, fhe was to bring it to him that

fent her. He did deliver the two Bags, which
fhe delivered to her Husband; but whai was in

them, fhe knew not. There was Sir Thomas
Chamberlane, Mr. Millington, myfelf, and Co-
lonel Turner, with Mr. Tryon. The two Bags
was laid upon a DrefTer. He told us they were
now come ; and having performed his part, he
hoped Mr. Tryon would perform his. Have you
performed your part? Have you brought -the

Jewels and the Remainder of the Money ? He
told us the Money was not brought : For the

6oo /. I l~ha.ll give Mr. Tryon my Bond, to piy
him at fix Months. We prefs'd to fee the Jew-
els: We run them all over. But I Ihould have
told you oneThing: She brought aCat's-Head-
Eye-Ring upon her Finger. This the Gentle-

man was like to forget : He delivered it to me,
to deliver that with the reft. When we had
told out the Jewels, we crolTed them out upon
the printed Paper as they were called. She faid

all that was in the Paper, except one Carcanet
of Diamonds and Jewels, valued at 200 /. that

is fallen behind the Cheft, or afide. You have

2000/. Pounds worth of Jewels over what is

in the Paper ; but that Carcanet fhall be
forth coming. He now preffed that no Piofe-

cution might be, for two Souls were pawn-
ed, (as I faid before) and defired an End of
the Bufmefs. I told him further, and prelTed

him : Said I, I have ftaid a great while, and
would ftay longer, if he might have the 600/.

and the Carcanet. But when I faw there was
nothing more to be got from him, now (faid I)

what would you have this poor Gentleman to do
for you ? What he hath promifed you, I know
not; he is a Stranger to the Law : If there had
been but you two had it, and it had not been
publiihed to the World, and the Neighbours
publick Examination taken, (omewhat might
have been between your felves. But would) 011

have this Gentleman bring himfelf into danger?

He will lofe all his Goods again-, for he will be

indicted himfelf. What will he be the better

for Difcovery, when he muft lofe his Jewels and

Money, and* be liable to a Profecution, as you
will be, were he fo ignorant? Do you think

that I underftand the Law no better, being a

Jultice of Peace, to bring my felf into danger?

All the Kindnefs I can do for you, is, (to be

Ttt: fhort
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Ihort) I muft fend you and your Wife to

Newgate.
How fay you, Matter Alderman ? Then I had

better to have kept the Jewels. Thofe were his

Words > to the beft of my Remembrance he faid

fo.

My Lord, Iaskedhim feveral Queftions: Why
he fhould give a Bond for fix hundred Pounds, if

he was not concerned in this Bufinefs ? But he

knew not what to anfwer. Saith he, Will you

not take Bail! Said I, I can take no Bail: I

muft fend you to the common Goal, and then I

am difcharged. Pray fend me to the Compter.

No, I cannot. Do you think I would make an

Efcape ? I cannot tell ; but I would not bring

my felf into danger. He prayed me I would

give him leave to go home. I muft make my
Warrant : If the Marfhal and Conftable will do

any thing, I fhall not direct them.

He defired his Wife might go and fetch fome
Linen.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. What Day were the

Jewels delivered ?

Sir T. A. Saturday.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Thurfday was the

Robbery, Friday he was examined, Saturday the

Money was removed, and that Nighc the Jewels

were brought, and he committed.

Sir T. A. If I have faid any thing that he is not

fatisfied wherein I have not true fpoken, let him
ask me •, I fhall not do him the leaft Wrong.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Do fo, Mr. Turner.

'Turner. Do your Honours underftand of Sir

'Thomas the Time the Robbery was committed ?

I fhall ask him fome Queftions.

Sir T. A. 1 have only one Word more to fay

to you: That before he went to the Hoop-Tz-

vern, Nay, faid I, Colonel Turner, be ingenious

whether this was not Mr. Tryon's Money that he

removed ? And he confeffed it was.

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. That Money was removed

from his own Houfe ?

Sir T. A. Yes ; but his Wife, Children, and

Maid denied it.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Mr. Turner, will you ask

him any Queftions? What are they?

Turner. I would ask all this back again: You
are upon your Oath, Mr. Alderman.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You need not tell him
that he is fworn ; the Court and Jury underftand

it fo.

Ld Ch. Juft. Br'idgnmn. Go on, Mr. Turner;

ask your Queftions.

Turner. My Lord, I demand of Sir Thomas

Aleyn whether I did not tell him at the firft

there was a wicked young Man had belied my
Houfe and Family, faying, that he fupped there

that Night, when he had not fupped at my
Houfe thefe twelve Months.

S'irT.A. I think I have done him that Right
already. He defired me to examine that young
Man, who faid he fupped at Colonel Turner's

;

but I found he had not been, nor was not there.

Turner. Upon Friday Night, when the Alder-

man preffed me concerning the Thing, I told

him 1 had fome Sufpicion of fome Perfons, who
formerly fhould have robbed Mr. Tryon a Year

ago, and I employed Mofely the Conftable and

Mr. Tryon's Man to go to Ratcliff, and I went
another Way. Pray ask Sir Thomas whether I

did not promife to do all I could.

Sir T. A. I preffed him hard > he faid he

would endeavour it.

Turner. Whether did not I tell him that that

Money was carried there on purpofe to gain the
other Fellows that had the Jewels? Said I, If

this Money be taken away, he that hath the

Jewels will not bring them, and the Remainder
of the Money ; but that this Money muft bring
him to it, that they might fhare it.

Sir T. A. There was not one Word of this :

His Examination was contrary. He told me
400/. was received of a Goldfmitb, he knew not
his Name, and 200/. was in his own Houfe;
and that he removed it for two or three Days,
till this Foolery was over. He faid it was his

own Money. I faid, an honeft Man need not
thus remove his own Money.
One thing I have omitted : When I was exa-

mining of him in the Minories, word was brought
me his Son was fled away at the Back-door. I
bid them run after him, but they faid they faw
him leap over a great Ditch; he was not heard
of till yefterday, tho' I fent out my Warrants for

him.
Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. Yourfelf (as Sir Thomas

Aleyn fwears) faid you knew not of whom you
had part of the Money, but the other was your
own, and yet afterwards that the Money was

Tryon's ; why did you fay fo ?

Turner. I will tell you the Reafon ; I would
not have my Bufinefs fpoiled, and did feign thofe

Anfwers. My Lord, I do demand of him whe-
ther Mr. Tryon and I had not made a bargain in

the Morning, whether or no if he might have

his Goods the Perfon fhould be free, and that he

had agreed no Blood fhould be fpilt ; that he had

rather lofe all his Money and Jewels, than to

forfeit fuch an AfFeveration which the Thief had
bound me that I fhould fwear to him, That by
the Blood of Jefus Chrift that was fhed for him
and all Sinners, his Life fhould be free.

Ld.Ch.Juft. Hyde. You are befide the Bufi-

nefs.

Turner. My Lord, I ask Alderman Aleyn whe-
ther I did not tell him this?

Sir T. A. I told your Lordfhips two Souls

were pawned, as he faid before.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Do not fpend your time

thus ; the Queftion's fhort, whether you are

guilty of robbing, or breaking the Houfe of Mr.
Tryon, or no ?

Turner. I am as free as any Man here.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. They will not believe your

own words.

Sir T. A. I think I have done him no wrong
by this Evidence.

Turner. I hope, my Lord, I fhall have the

benefit to call him again for a Witnefs forme.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You may ask him now.
Turner. No, when I come to my Defence.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Yes, yes.

Turner. Oh your Honour's moft humble Ser-

vant; I am very forry I have put him to this

trouble.

Mr. Tryon, his Servant, and Mr. Garnet fworn.
Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Mr. Tryon, pray (as you are

able) give an account of this Bufinefs.

Tryon. My Lord, about Eleven of the clock,

or fomething paft, upon Thurfday Night laft

was a Seven-night, two Men came into my
Chamber when I was faft afleep, one on' the

one fide, and another on the other fide of the

Bed : one had a Lanthorn that opened on one

fide, and waked me : when I faw him, I was

much aftonifiied fas I might well) knew them
not,
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not, faid, My Mafters, who are yoti ? I was

newly out of my Sleep -, being an antient Man,

I apprehended another Man for the Party I

fpoke to, but was not the Man, and named him

by his Name, What do you do here at this time

of night ? What is your bufinefs ? Said nothing

to me: one took both my Hands, the other

with a little Cord bound me very hard, info-

much here yet is the dents of it j and bound my
Feet, gagg'd me, and ufedmebarbaroufly, moil

inhumanly : I mud fuffer it, becaufe I could not

tell how to avoid it. When they had done, then

told me this withal, You fhall not lole a Hair

of your Head. I knew not their Intentions, I

fear'd what it was, for when they had done this,

they left me ; I had no body could come to me
-in my Houfe, my Servants I knew not upon

what grounds they were forth at Supper when I

a-bed, which was of ill confequence. After I

had been an Hour in this manner, I rolled my-

felf out of my Bed, and fell down ; and, faving

your Lordfhip's Prefence, a Chamber-pot fell,

broke, and I fell upon it, and very much hurt

myfelf upon the pieces of the Pot : and fo with

much ado, it pleafedGod, I know not how my-
felf, I got to the Chamber-Window which lay

to the Street j I called out, Murder / and Thieves !

My Neighbours faid, I call'd with fo ftrong a

Voice, they wondered to hear me* Quickly

after, many of my Neighbours came in, and one

Mr. Peter Fanden-Anchor a Dutchman, that fel-

leth Rhenijh Wine, he came in and unbound

me ; and fo after I was unbound, 1 went down
to the Warehouse as I was, without Clothes

about me, only my Waiftcoat and Shirt, and faw

that they had been there. I confidered thofe

that had done the thing, were very privy to my
Houfe j they knew whce to fetch the Key of

my Cifh, in a Drawing-Box, taking the Money
there, which was about One Thoufand and odd

Pounds: fome Plate there was, they did not med-

dle with it.

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. How came they by the

Jewels ?

Tryon. I forgot fomething concerning fome

Jewels } thefe Jewels were in a Drawer under my
Table in the Compting-houfe, he was privy to

that, beCaufe he did frequent my Houfe very

long, and was very familiar.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Who was privy to all this?

'Tryon. James Turner.

Ld Ch. Juft Hyde. Mr. Turner, would you
ask Mr. Tryon any Queftions ?

Turner\ By and by, when I come upon my Proof

William Hill, Mr. TryonV Man, /worn.

All that I can fay, is this : When I went out,

I locked the Door double, and thofe things were
there then.

Ld Ch. Ju&. Hyde. About what time?

Hill, Seven or Eight of the clock.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Was he a-bed then?

Hill. Yes, my Lord. When I came home
again, I found all thefe things gone j going down
into the Compting-houfe, we found fome Jewels

gone, and fome left, and thofe were inconside-

rable to thofe that were gone j the beft were
cull'd and gone. On Saturday Col. Turner was

arrefted with two Serjeants, and fent the Boy
at the Hoop-Tavern for me : I took two Friends

with me, Mr. Gurney and Mr, Pilkington; he

5°f
prayed me to fpeak to my Mafter that he would
give Bond for him, that the Serjeants might
difcharge him, and he hafte about his bufinefsj

orelfeit would be fpoiled. Proceeding into fome
Difcourfe, I was faying to him, it was a great

Providence that I and the Maid was not theri ac

home, for if we had, we fhould have been kil-

led. He anfwered, Saith he, No j they would
only have bound you and the Maid. I asked
him, how it was poffible to get in? Heanfwer'd,
One went through the Entry in the Day-time,
and there lay till Night, v/ent up Stairs, found
a Candle, lit it, went up to his Chamber, took
the Key, and went down and let in others.

Turner. ThisStory I was informed, I cold him.
Hill. I asked him how he came to know it ?

He faid he examined them.
Ld Bridgman. Did he never tamper with you

about making Mr. Tryon's Will ?

Hill. Yes, my Lord j he came to me about a
Year ago, I went with him to the Cock behind
the Exchange, it was in a Morning, he took me
privately afide, told me the old Gentleman your
Mafter is very fickly, cannot live long, had a
good Eftate, or to that purpofe, and it was pity
he would never make a Will, and fuch an Eftate
fhould go to the building of Paul's. Saith he,
I have prefs'd himfeveratt4mes touching making
his Will j he faid he had done it, when we both.

knew he had not, and I believe he will not make
one. He told ofone that could counterfeit a Hand.
Ld Bridgman. Was it not Grainger ?

Hill. Yes, my Lord} that that Man could
counterfeit a Will, and I and Mr. Garret, and
another Good-fellow fhould be the three Exe-
cutors, and a third Perfon Overfeer, and that

would pleafe the Old-man. I anfwered, I would
not have to do in fuch an unjuft thing for all

the World.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did you go to Turner's t®

Supper that Night this Robbery was committed?
Hill. No, my Lord, to Mr. Starkefs in Fan-

church-ftreet } the Maid went along with me.
Ld Bridgman. One Queftion more: You faid

you came in and found the Doors open, did you
come in before the Neighbours ?

Hill. No, my Lord, I had not known of it^

but that one Gentleman at Supper went home
with a Gentlewoman in Leadenhall-flreet, and
hearing there was fuch a Robbery in Lime-ftreet,

I rUn with a great fright, came in and found the

Doors open, and found the Neighbours within,

Turner. The thing underftood touching the

Will, hath another face : his Uncle was an Ac-
quaintance of Mr. Grainger, his Uncie that bound
him Apprentice, that lived in Cripplegate, now
in Cornhill. This Grainger had countefeited a

Will touching my Lord Gerrard, and fomebody
elfe, about an Eftate. Said I to this young Man,
You have an Uncle acquainted with a notable

Fellow, one Grainger, and your Mafter making
no Will (fpeaking merrily) this Fellow is able

to make it for him. Ask him if I did not tell

him his Uncle was acquainted with fuch a

Perfon.

Hill. You told me fo indeed.

Ld Bridgman. Hill, by the Oath you have ta-

ken, did he not perfuade you to endeavour that

you and he and Grainger mould counterfeit a Will f

Hill. He did, my Lord : he told me, That J,

Mr. Garret, and another Good-fellow, mould

be the three Executors, and another Perfon O-
verfeer.,
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verfeer, and that this Grainger could do it undif-

cernibly. 1 anfwered him, I would not meddle

with it for all the World.

Turner. Go, go, go, this is Malice-, for it was

mere jelling with him.

Elizabeth Fry pworn.

Fry. Mrs. Turner came to my Houfe on Saturday

Morning laft, at Six o'clock in the Morning

:

{he knocked me out of my Bed. I asked, who
was there ? She faid, A Friend. Who are you,

faid I ? Come and fee, fays me. 1 faid, Who,
Mrs. turner ? She faid, Yes. I went anddreffed

me, and let her in. She faid, There was a Friend

of hers, a Merchant, newly broke, he had a

Wife, and feven or eight Children ; they defired

to fecure the Money till they had taken their

Oaths the Money was not in their Houfe. She

faid, Her Husband and her Son Ely was coming

with it. I went and lighted a Candle, there was

{he and her Son Ely with the Money. She

asked me, if I had a fpare Cheft? I faid, Yes,

there was one within. She went in, opened the

Cheft, and me put in the Wallets of Money, I

know not how much, my Lord. I asked her if

there was any more jrOj come ? She faid, Yes,

her Husband was coming with more. She went

to the Door and let it in, but I know not who
brought that.

Ld Bridgman. Did not Mr. Turner come in ?

Fry. Yes, my Lord, he opened the Bags, and

asked his Wife touching the Seals. She faid,

the Gentlewoman that owned the Money had

defired me to pull them off. They offered me
twenty Shillings for my Kindnefs in it, told me
they had power to give it from the Gentle-

woman } defired me if my Sifter or any fhould

ask about it, bid me conceal it, becaufe the Dif-

covery would ruin the poor Gentlewoman and

her Children, but rather to fay that they defi-

red me to let fomc Linen lie there.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Were the Bags fealed ?

Fry. I faw none fealed.

Ld Bridgman. How many Wallets were in the

Shop ?

Fry. I faw but three, and they put one into a

Cheft in the Shop, and two in the Kitchen.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. At that time when the

Money was brought, was there any Difcourfeof

Eleven Hundred Pound ?

Fry. To my beft remembrance it was fo.

Turner. Not a Word of the Sum.
Fry. There was five Wallets brought into my

Houfe, three in the Shop, two in the Kitchen.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. Had they Bags at each end ?

Fry. Yes, my Lord.

Sir T. Aleyn. You hear what the Wench fays;

{he fays, there was five Wallets, three in the

Shop, two in the Kitchen : I took two in the

Shop, and only one in the Kitchen.

Fry. My Lord, I have two Apprentices, little

Girls, when all the People were in the Shop, faid

out aloud, That they faw Mrs. Turner go out of

the Shop with fomething in her Apron, cove-

red with a red Cloth, while I was above, my
Lord.

Turner. Who fhould convey it away ?

Ld Ch Juft. Hyde. Your Son was there.

Turner. Pray, my Lord, ask her which is Ely.

Fry. That is, (pointing to Ely.)

Turner. It was falfe ; this Ely carried none, the

Boy knew nothing of it \ both my Sons are dear
tome, and if either more than the other, it muft
be my eldeft, and yet I muft fay, it was John
my eldeft Son that carried the Money, this Boy
was at home ; {he hath forfworn herfelf.

Fry. Your Wife told me that Ely was to
bring fome

Mr. Gurnet fiworn.

My Lord, I met with Colonel Turner on Sa-
turday Morning after the Robbery $ he told me,
fays he, I have been as good as my Word, I
fent my Son to make fome difcovery of this Bu-
finefs, and I did not doubt but to clear my felf

of it, and make a Difcovery : this was on the
Exchange. Says he, I have met with them. With
what? With the Jewels and Money. Where
are they ? I have brought Five Hundred Pound ;

the reft, with the Jewels, I mall have at Three
o'clock this Afternoon: will you be there? Yes,
faid I, who were they? They were Friends.
Friends ! what and ufe him fo bai baroufly ! O,
fays he, they were two Strangers, they went be-

yond their Commiffion.

Major Ralph Tasker/zcw».

On Saturday Morning I met Sir Thomas Aleyn ;

pafllngby, he called me-, fays he, there is a bufi-

nefs in hand, pray go along with me. We went
along through Aldgate, and into the Minories,

and paffing along the Minories, thefe two Maids
we overtook, and asked them where the Houfe
was } they fhew'd us, we went in, Mr. Turner
was there, his Hand in the Cheft, Sir Tho. Aleyn
Maid it: we feized the Money; there was two
Bags of Buckram, I conceived there was Two
Hundred Pound in either of them, and another
in the Kitchen, Sir Tho. Aleyn defired me to fe-

cure them. I faw a Fellow play bo-peep in a

Back-room, and prefently was a Noife, he was fled

and gone ; his Son they faid it was. Sir Thomas
Aleyn prefled very hard to Mr. Turner, and de-

fired to know whole Money that was. Says

Turner, By the Eternal God it is my own Mo-
ney, with manyother Proteftations. A Confta-
ble was fent for, and wc carried the Money and
Turner in a Hackney-Coach to Mr. Tryony and
there left the Money on a Table with Mr. Tryon:

they had fome Difcourfej Turner came forth and
faid, The old Gentleman and I are agreed, I

will truft the Money no longer with you, but
with the old Gentleman himfelf. Said I, let me
be difcharged of it, do what you will with it.

Ld Bridgman. Did you fee the Bags out of

the Wallets ?

Sir T. Aleyn. We faw one which was fealed, I

think, with the Bifhop of Chichefler's Seal.

Ann Ball fworn.

On Saturday Morning Mrs. Turner came to this

Maid's Houfe, and defired to come in; {he ftept

out of Bed, and asked who was there ? {he faid,

a Friend. She went to the Door, and asked who
was there ? Mrs. Turner faid, Open the Door,
and you {hall fee. Opening of it, {he came in:

who is it, Mrs. Turner? Yes, fays {he. What
would you have ? I have a little Money I would
leave here : This {he came and told me. She
lighted a Candle, I faw Mr. Turner and his Wife

come
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come in, I heard a great Noife and a Quarter, I

lay flill, heard not what they faid. When they

were gone, the Maid told me what they had

brought into the Houfe. Said I, I thought it

had been Pewter: faid I, if you keep this Mo-
ney, we fhall be utterly undone, if you do

not tell fome People of it. She went to her

Sifter to make her acquainted with it.

Ld Bridgman. You faw Mr. Turner and his

Wife come in?

Ball. I did, but knew not what they did

there : ftie did go to her Sifter, and fo it came

10 Sir Thomas Aleyn by accident.

Ld Bridgman. Now for the Seal, who were

thofe that faw the Seal ?

Frederick \xzm fworn.

My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, being

at the Houfe of Mr. Tryon on Saturday in the

Evening, I was defired, with others there pre-

fent, to fee the Bags taken out of the feveral

Wallets; three, I think. I faw them taken out,

three had no Seals on, one was very much de-

faced, and the other had a Seal, which being

queftioned to be the Seal of the Bifhop of Chi-

chefier, it was compared with the Seal of a Let-

ter which Mr. Tryon brought down, and decla-

red to be a Letter received from the Bifhop of

Chichefier, and thofe two Seals agreed : the Bags

being here in Court, will be a further Evidence.

The Letter was produced by Mr. Tryon, and

owned by him to be the Bifhop of Chicheftsr'S)

and they agreed.

Mr. Hanfon the Goldfmith Sworn.

[The Bag fealed was fhewn him.]

Ld Bridgman. Have you feen the Letter ?

Hanfon. Yes.

Ld Bridgman. Doth that Seal and the Seal of

the Bag agree ?

Hanfon. Yes.

Ld Bridgman. Mr. Tryon, whofe Letter was

that ?

Mr. Tryon. Dr. Henry King's, Bifhop of Chi-

chefier

Ld Bridgman. Open the Letter, and fee whe-

ther that be the Letter you received from the

Bifhop of Chichefter.

Tryen. Shall I read it ?

Ld Bridgman. No.
Tryon. It is his Hand and Seal.

Ld Bridgman. Shew the Bag and Letter to the

Foreman of the Jury : [which was done, and

moll of the Jury view'd it.]

Ld Bridgman. You obferve this Evidence; this

was one of the Bags that was taken in the Mino-

rity that Colonel Turner was then removing :

Mr. Tryon had Six Hundred Pounds of the Bi-

fhop of Chichefter's in Bags fealed ; it appears by

the Letter to be his Seal, and thefe Gentlemen

fwear this was one of the Bags then pulled out

of the Wallet, and Sir T. Aleyn has had it in his

Cuftody fince.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. One thing more obferve,

he asked his Wife when the Money was brought

into this Woman's Houfe, Have you taken off

the Seals? His Wife faid, The Gentlewoman
directed her to take them off.

Ld Bridgman. Some were taken off, but it

fecms this was left on.

\_Here Turner [poke fomeivhat to the Jury^

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Pray Mr. 7#mrdifcourfe
not with the Jury, your whifpering will do you
little good : tho' I think they are honeft Men,
and will not be guided by you, yet we expect

the fame Carriage from you as from other Prifo-

ners j you fhall have all the Juftice that maybe.

Cole the Serjeant fworn.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Speak your Knowledge.

Cole. On Saturday in the Afternoon about
Three o'clock, my Brother and I arrefted Colo-

nel Turner in an Action ofSeven Hundred Pounds,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. At whofe Suit ?

Cole. At the Suit of Thomas Lyon, who with
others was Bail for him.

Turner. It was only hearing of this Foolery

that caufed it.

Cole. My Lord we went to the Hoop-Tmcm,
he fent for Mr. Tryon's Man, that he fhould en-

gage for this Account, that he might have his

Liberty to look after Mafter Tryon's Bufinefs.

Soon after came the Conftable, and he charged

us to affift him to go before Sir Thomas Aleyn.

By and by I was faying, Colonel Turner, how
could this Houfe be robb'd, and none of the

Doors broke ? O, faid he, I took a Man in the

Minories, who has difcovered it to me : he told

me, that one going into the Cellar in the day-

time, lay there till Night, then went up Stairs,

found a Candle and lit it, went up to the old

Gentleman's Chamber, took the Key from his

Bed- fide, and went down, and let ail the reft of

the Thieves in. The Young-man being there,

faid, It was well the Maid and I was not at

home, we fhould have been killed. No, fays he,

you would not have been killed, only bound.
Turner. As the Fellow told me.

Ld Ch Juft. Hyde. Did he not fay nothing

touching Mr. Tryon's Tooth ?

Cole. He faid, that the Fellow putting his

Finger in his Mouth to gagg him, the old Gen-
tleman bit him j and he ftruggling to get out his

Finger, pull'd out his Tooth.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You are very perfect at it,

Mr. Turner, every way.

Turner. Ay, my Lord, I examined him every

way.

Cole the Yeoman fworn.

Cole. My Lord, I can fay only what my Brother
faid before.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. Tell it.

Cole. I arrefted him, &c. [And fo related in

the fame manner his Brother did.]

Ld Bridgmm. Mr. Hill, what do you know
about breaking your own Desk ?

Hill. My Desk was fafe locked, and the Key
in my Pocket ; I loft out of that Desk about

forty-five Pound ofmy own.
Ld Bridgman. Where did it ftand ?

Hill. Upon a Table in the Ware-houfej the

Jewels were in a Drawer under the Table in the

Counting-houfe.

Ld Bridgman. How did you leave Mr. Tryon's

Door ?

Hill. Double lock'd.

Ld Bridgman. who had the Key ?

Hill. I had.

Ld Bridgman. Was there more than one Key ?

mi



512 64. TheTrialofCol.James Turner, £$c. 15Car.IL

Hill. Always two.

Ld Bridgman. Who had the other ?

Hill. The other Key was in my Matter's Cham-

ber.

Ld Bridgman. Mr. Tryon, how was your own

Door open'd ?

Tryon. I called fome of my Neighbours, and

Mr. Fanden-Anchor came up to me : It feems

they had forced open the Door with a Crow of

Iron.

Ld Bridgman. The Door of your Chamber,

do you mean ?

Tryon. No, the Street-Door.

Ld Bridgman. How was your Chamber-Door

open'd ?

Tryon. I never lock my Chamber- Door, but

pull it too.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Mr. Hill, the Counting-

houfe where the Jewels were, was that lock'd ?

Hill. Yes, and the Drawer I think was lock'd j

fometimes he does, and fometimes he does not

lock it.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Was the Houfe- Doors o-

pen, or no ?

Hill. Before I came, the Neighbours had broke

open the Door.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Mr. Tryon, were your

Counting-houfe and Till, where the Jewels lay,

lock'd ?

Tryon. Ever, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. That Night ?

Tryon. Yes, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Was it opened with a Key,
or broken open?

Tryon. I know not how it was opened, my
Key was among a Bunch of Keys.

Peter Vanden- Anchor [worn.

Ld Bridgman. When Mr. Tryon cry'd out, you
came in, did not ynu ?

Fanden- Anchor. Yes, my Lord.

Ld. Bridgman. How did you find him ?

Fanden- Anchor. I was lately come home, my
Daughter heard a great Voice of Murder and

Robberies : I went out, and fome of the Neigh-
bours were breaking open the Door, and I was
the firft that went into the Houfe ; and fo I went

prcfently up to Mafter Tryon's Chamber, and
found him bound with this Rope* and put it in-

to my Pocket, and fearched about the Houfe,

and feveral Neighbours came in.

Chaplain /worn.

I was at the Door with Mafter Vanden'Anchor

;

we went into the Ware-houfe and Counting-
houfe, and all open, Cafh was taken away with-

out any breaking. Says Mafter Tryon, All my
Money is gone, a Thoufand and odd Pounds :

Several Pieces of Plate were there left. We
went up with Mafter Tryon, and fent for a Chi-
rurgeon to drefs his Thigh : By this time his

Man came in j I asked him where he had been ?

fays he, I have been at Colonel Turner's at Sup-

per. Where is the Maid ? fays he, She is fallen

into a Swoon. Some Maids came home with

her ; I asked her where fhe had been? She faid,

At one Chamberlin's a Goldfmith's. Said I to

her, The Man fays one thing, and you another.

A little after comes in Colonel Turner, with his

Lanthorn, and his Hair turned up under his Cap,

and there he made a great Buftle. I went to

Chamberlin's to enquire touching the Maid j he

faid, they had been there with a Dancing-Ma-
fter. I went to Mafter Tryon 's again : we asked

him, who he thought bound him ? he named
one Chrijlmas, but 1 knew him not.

Lord Mayor. Did you not find any Door, that

you obferved, to be broken ?

Chaplain. No, but all open'd with Keys.

Mr. Chriflmas/kwtf.

My Lord, I know little of the Bufinefs. A-
bout Two o'clock on Friday Morning there

comesaConftable and other People, and knock'd
at my Ware-houfe Doors : the Man's Servant of
the Houfe rofe up, and asked them who they
would fpeak with ? They faid, they would fpeak

with one Chrijlmas. Hearing my Name, I rofe

up, I asked what was the matter? They faid,

they muft have me to Mafter Tryon, he was robb'd.

If he was, faid 1, it doth not concern me. They
told me, I muft go to Mafter Tryon. I faid, he

was not a civil Man to fend for any at that time

of Night out of their Beds. Then another

Conftable came, and faid he would break open
the Doors. Said I, 1 am not afraid to come
to you, I am not the Man you take me to be.

Nothing would fatisfy, but I muft go ; I told

them I would : and then they took me into their

Charge, and carried me to the Exchange.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Who befides the Con-
ftable?

Chrijlmas. Two Young-men that I know, one

Bagnall's Man, and Browning's Man : they told

the Conftable, I was a Man of Repute, and an

honeft Man, and my Word would be taken at

the Exchange for many Hundred Pounds. After

that they intended to carry me to Mafter Tryon j

and the Conftable of Broad-Jlreet carry'd me to

the Counter : There I was 'till Ten o'clock,

and then the Conftable and Turner came to me.

Turner asked me, what Juftice I would go be-

fore : I told him, it was indifferent to me -, Sir

John Frederick, or the next, Sir Richard Brown,

or before Sir Thomas Aleyn, Sir John Robinfon,

all one to me whom I go before j but I think it

moft convenient to go before Sir Thomas Adams,
becaufe he lives in the fame Parifh with Mr. Tryon.

We went there, and no Man charging me, Sir

Thomas difcharged me, but defired I would /go

over to Mr. Tryon.

Ld Bridgman. I obferve this Gentleman was of

a pretty Bulk, fomewhat corpulent, and fo is

Mr. Turner.

Turner. My Lord, I humbly beg I may have

a Stool to fit down, 1 am troubled with the

Gout.
Ld Bridgman. You may have one.

Mr. Millington/ztwTz.

My Lord, I came to Mr. Tryon's on Saturday

in the Afternoon, about the Evening ; and be-

ing fent for to come with Mr. Turner, he told

me of the Arreft that was made upon him, and

faid, that he fhould not comply with his words,

in bringing the Jewels and Remainder of the

Money. He defired me I would go and inter-

cede, that he might have his Liberty to go a-

bout the Jewels : but I did not think it conve-

nient to make my felf concerned in it. He al-

ledged,
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ledged, that if he did it not prefently, the Thief

would be gone. It was hinted, that they that

were with him, might go along with him, the

Marfhal and Serjeants : He laid, if fo many
came, they would fright him away 5 for he faid,

he was walking about Tower-Hill or White-Cha-

pel. But it was deny'd, and could not be grant-

ed that they fhould go, it being out of their Li-

I

berties. He defired to go near thofe Places,

;

keeping within the Liberties, and to fend for
: them. Sir Thomas Aleyn told him, he might as

1 well fend for them thither. He defired to go
to the Hoop-Tavern, and then fome went with

him to his Houfe : His Wife was private with
' him behind a Partition ; then he came out, and

Jpoke publickly to his Wife, fays he, There is a

Man will be walking all alone, either at White-

Chapel, or on Tower-Hill, do you go there ; if

he fees you, he will ask you whether you want any

thing, and will deliver you what I told you. W c

went to the Hoop-Tavern again, and about two
i
Hours after, the Jewels were brought by his

Wife. That being done, we went to Mr. Try-

e»'s, Mr. Turner carried the Jewels ; being at

Mr. Tryon's, the Jewels were there opened : We
found by Perufal, that there was only a Carca-

net Jewel wanting, of the Value of about Two
Hundred Pounds ; and Mrs. Turner faid, the Man
told her, that that Carcanet was fallen behind a

[Che ft, but did not doubt to procure it to mor-
'row. Afterwards Sir Thomas Aleyn told him,

now he could do no lefs than commit him to

Newgate. Mr. Turner told him, then he had be-
lter have kept the Jewels. The Remainder of the

Money being asked for, he faid he would be

bound for it.

Mr. Mannock /worn.

Ld Bridgman. What Difcourfe paffed between

you and Mr. Turner at Newgate ?

Mannock. My Lord, he told me Mr. Tryon was
to give him foo/. to get the Jewels and Money,
and that he had got him foo/. and moft of the

Jewels •, and that if Sir Thomas Aleyn had not

fecured him, he did believe that he mould have
had them all: But Newgate was not a Place to

find them our.

Ld Bridgman. Did he tell you of bringing any
Money from his own Houfe? That the foo/. he
delivered Mr. Tryon, was procured from his own
Houfe ?

Mannock. He did tell me i~o, my Lord.

Turner. My Lord, I own it, I fhall unfold the

Riddle by and by.

Sir Thomas Chamberlain [worn.

\ Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. What know you, Sir Tho-
mas, of this Bufinefs? Pray let the Jury hear

you.

Sir Thomas Chamberlain. My Lord, on Friday
Morning I was at the Eaft-India Houfe, keep-
ng Court there for that Company: Afterwards
I went to the Exchange, and being tired, I cal-

led in at the Coffec-Houfe, and there heard that

Mr. Tryon was robb'd. I went direcTtly home,
tnd dined : About Three o'clock I went to
Vlr. Tryons Houfe, an old Friend of mine, my
"ather's Servant heretofore, I went tovifit him,
nd found a great many People about him; Sir

Thomas Aleyn, Lady Garret, and the Countefs of
Vol. II.

CarliJIe was there. I told him, Mr. Tryon, I

underftand you have been robb'd. Yes, fays he,

I have a great Lofs. J found him very ftagger-

ing what he fhould do. I faid, you mull now
do like a Man, or you will lofe all: Said I ti

Sir Thomas Aleyn, If you do not help the poor
Man, being ancient, he will quite lofe all. With
that I went up above in the Houfe, Sir Tho'mas

Aleyn was p!eafed to call me along with him, I

was by at all the Examinations; I did miftrufr,

and told Mr. Tryon in French, that no doubt but
that Gentleman was in the Robbery : The Rea-
fon was, that he being a frequent Man in the

Houfe, knew every thing; he was there conti-

nually, coming for Jewels and Things, and no
Man could do it but himfelf ; that was my Judg-
ment. 1 told Sir Thomas Aleyn affuredly he had
a Hand in it. My Lord, the while we were ex-
amining the Servants, Word was brought in,

that he was hearkning at the Door, and in the

Yards, which made me more and more mifhuft
him. We heard that the Maid had been gadding
abroad feveral times ; 1 defired Sir Thomas Aleyn
to examine the Maid how often fhe had fupp'd
at Turner's, fhe denied any time. The young
Man was examined, who faid, they had been
thirty or forty times feafted at Colonel Turner's.

My Lord, Sir Thomas Aleyn has given you a juft

Account, but he omitted one thing: He had a

Note fent him, which he had in his Pocket,
touching Mr. Turner's going about Removal of
the Money into the Minories; and before Turner

came in, he examined Mrs. Turner upon than

Note: Says he, you were there too, and carried

the Money. Says fhe, She is a Lyar and a Whore
for faying fo. Col. Turner came in and faid, Why
do you torment and vex my Wife? and falling

a Curfing, and Swearing and Banning, faid fhe

was with Child, you will make her mifcarry, let

her alone. Sir Thomas Aleyn examined him where
he had been that Day, and that Night; he told

him of many Taverns, and going to lee hisHorfe,

and I know not whar, but we found him fal-

tering. When the Jewels were brought, there

being two Notes, Sir Thomas Aleyn had one, and
I another. The old Gentleman was fo joyful to

fee them again, that lying by him, and handling

them, he puil'd two or three down with his

Sleeve. Says Mr. Turner, Come, I know what
belongs to them better than any of you, and read

them over, and I will fhew them you. There
wanting one Jewel, fays he, That Rogue that has

the other Money, hath this Jewel, but J do not
doubt but I fhall find that out too. We put
them all together, and Sir Thomas Aleyn fealed

them with his Seal. For the Bags of Money, I

faw them taken out, and one being fealed with
a fmall Seal, I put on both my Spectacles, I found
a Lion Rampant at top in one of the Quarters;
faid I, This is a Seal Of fome great Perfon : And
then a Letter was brought down, and being com-
pared, I was fatisfied in my Confciencethey were
alike. Sir Thomas Aleyn told me he muft make a

Mittimus for him and his Wife: Said fhe, Do
you fend me of your Errands? You fhall fend

fbmebody elfe another time: I thought it would
come to this. After much ranting and fwcaring

(I thought rhe Devil would have fetch'd him
out of the Room) he faid, that he had better

have kept the Jewels, than to bring them forth,

and to fuffer for it himfelf, for he had pawned

his Soul, and would not reveal it; and faid, that

U u u Mr.



514 64. The Trial of Col James Turner, l£c. 15 Car, II,;

Mr. Tryon had likewife engaged the like to him.

For the Six Hundred Pound, he offered his Bond.

Lord Mayor. Pray repeat one Part of your E-

vidence again ; that was, that fomebody came to

Mr. Tryon's Houfe, from the Houfe in the Mi-

nories, charging Mrs. Turner to have been at that

Houfe.
Sir T. Chamberlain. I faid, that before Turner

came in with the Jewels, Sir Tho. Aleyn had re-

ceived a little Note, wherein was affirmed, that

Turner and his Wife had been there -, with which

fhe was acquainted, and fwore and took on, fhe

was a Whore, for fhe was not there.

Sir T. Aleyn. When I examined Mrs. Turner,

fhe would own nothing. Why, faid I, will you
deny this which is fo apparent? That you were

there (the Maid told you fo now) you deny'd it

when 1 charged you with it.

Mrs. Turner. 1 did not, it's falfe ; what did—

»

Turner. Pry thee be patient, dear Mai, come fit

thee down.
Sir Tho. Aleyn. I asked Mrs. Turner whether fhe

knew of any Money carried to the Minories that

Day; fhe faid, fhe knew of no Money at all, and

laid fhe was a Whore that faid it.

Mrs. Turner. They put it to me, that I knew
who brought the Money to my Houfe, and that

a Woman acquainted them fo j I faid fhe was a

lying Whore that faid fo.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Mr. Hill, what time

of Night did you go out that Night?
Hill. It was Seven or Eight o'clock.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Was the Door lock'd?

Hill. Yes.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Did you carry the Key
with you ?

Hill. Yes.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Was there any more
Keys? •

Hill. There was another above in the Chamber
by my Matter's Bed.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgntan. Did you find that

other Key when you came back ?

Hill Yes.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. In the fstme Place?
Hill. I know not that.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Mr. Hill, you have
been acquainted with fome Tranfadtions between
Mr. Tryon and Turner ; was he not etnploy'd a-

bout a Mortgage?
Hill. Two or three.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Was not the Names
of fome Perfons given to you to that purpofe?

Hill. We have two or three Mortgages my
Matter lent him fo much Money upon : We
heard of one Man, but whether he gave order

to Mr. Turner to take fo much Money upon the

Land, we know nor.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Mr. Tryon, have you
inquired after the Perfons?

Tryon. No, my Lord; I did believe all was
true.

Garret. I have inquired after Sir Theophilus Gil-

pin, but cannot find that he has any Eftate in

England.

Turner. My Lord, Gilpin only affigns a Judg-
ment of Wefcotfs.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Then if Wefcott be
good, it is iufficient j

you fhould enquire after

him.
Sir T. Aleyn. My Lord, John Turner, his Son*

there, fled away from me, when I came to the
Houfe in the Minories.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Why did you flv a-
way ?

J'ohn Turner. I did not, Sir.

Sir T. Aleyn. No! You ran away as fait as you
could ; you got over a Ditch.

John Turner. My Lord, a Woman cry'd out
Get away and fave your Life! And I not knowing
what the Matter was, I went away.

Col. Turner. Poor Boy! he thought Thieves
had been coming, and affrighted him.

Sir T. Aleyn. As to Ely Turner, I examined him
upon the Sunday, the Day after his Father was 1

committed; he would not confefs the carrying'
of any Money, and the Maid fwearing it, I com-
mitted him alfo.

Col. Turner. What's that of Ely? Upon my
;

Soul, the Boy carried none.

John Turner. I carried what was carried.
Col. Turner. My Lord, one Son is as dear to

me as the other, but if either be more, it mufti
be my eldeftj but yet I muft fay, it was John
my eldeft Son that carried the Money.

Sir T. Aleyn. My Lord, William Turner wasa
brought before me on Tuefday or Wednefday:!
Sir Richard Brown fentout his Warrant for him'i
being a Perfon of evil Name, and likely to do
fuch a Fact ; being taken, he was brought before
me. My Lord, when Mr. Tryon looked upon
him, he fufpected him: I examined him when
he faw Col. Turner ; he faid not thefe three Years
not to fpeak to him ; and yet one at the Cock be-
hind the Exchange faid, this William Turner ftaiJ
for Col. Turner at his Houfe two Hours ; thae
Col. Turner came in, paid for the Pot of Drink
and for ought he knew they both went together:
thereupon I committed him.

In the Afternoon I ordered this Perfon to fend
his Servant ; one came and made Oath that he
came in, and inquired for Col. Turner, asked
for him, ftaid two Hours for him; that they
went both out of the Houfe together : And this
was on the Wednefday, the Day before the Rob-
bery.

William Dawes [worn.

All that I can fay, is this : William Turner was
at my Houfe on Wednefday was fevennight
lafti comes in, and called for a Flagon of Beer;
there comes in a Cuftomer of mine, fays he to
me, What do you with fuch a Fellow in yout
Houfe ? Have a care of him, he is a dange-
rous Fellow. Prefently after Col. Turner came
in, and paid for a Flagon of Beer, and went a-

way.

Col. Turner. I drank not with him, did I?
Dawes. Not that I faw.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Sir Thomas Aleyn, didl

not this William Turner deny that he had feeir

Col. Turner lately ?

Sir T. Aleyn. He faid pofitively he had not feen
him thefe three Years, fo as to fpeak to him;
faid, he was grown too high for him.

John Roufe (Dawes's Servant) [worn.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Do you remember
when Will. Turner was at your Mafter's Houfe?
Which is he ?

Roufe. That's he (pointing to William) he
was there upon Wednefday the 6th of this

Month.

U
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Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did James (called Colonel)

Turner come there then ?

Rowfe. William came, and faid he (laid for the

Colonel -, and by and by the Colonel came.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. When he came, what did

they?

Rowfe. He went to the Bar, and paid the

Reckoning.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. What time of the Day ?

Rowfe. About Twelve or One o'clock.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Did you ever fee them

both there before ?

Rowfe. No, I never faw them together before,

but feveral others have enquired for Col. furrier

at our Houfe.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. By the Oath you have ta-

ken, did William Turner fay he ftaid for Col. Tur-

ner, and that after Col. Turner came, he paid for

the Drink, and they both went away together,

and this on the Wednefday ?

Rowfe. Yes, Sir, it was fo.

Col. Turner. My Lord, I left him there ; he

follow'd me to the Exchange about his Arrears,

as twenty poor Gentlemen do.

Mr. Garret, Mr. Watcher, and Mr. Peter

Cully, [worn.

Mr. Cully. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, I was at Mr. Tryon's this Day fevennight

;

as I came from him, I met Sir Thomas Aleyn,

Col. Turner, and Major Tasker coming up Stairs

:

they asked who was there with Mr. Tryon ? 1

told them nobody. Turner defired earneltly they

would ftay a little ; for (fays he) before God you
will fpoil all the Bufinefs by and by. After he
had been a little time with Mr. Tryon, he comes
forth again, he takes up the Bags of Money, fays

he, Thefe belong to me, this is not Mr. Tryc:is

Money : He carries it to the old Gentleman j

: he comes into the Room, fays he, Gentlemen,
i
you may be all gone, the old Gentleman is fatif-

fied, his Money and jewels {hall be forth-com-
ing by Five o'clock this Nighr ; Perfons of
Quality are concerned in the Bufinefs, and the

old Gentleman will not profecute. I asked Col.

Turner, Why was the Money carried from your
Houfe to the Minories ? He faid there was none,
and did affirm it with an Oath. When the
Bags were taken out of the Wallets, upon com-
paring of a Seal of one of the Bags with the Seal

of a Letter produced, I found them the fame.

That's all I can fay.

Mr. Watcher. My Lord, laft Saturday between
Twelve and One of the Clock came Col. Turner
on the Exchange, and faid that Mr. Tryon fhould
have all his Money and Jewels by Three of the
Clock that Afternoon; and if any Man could

j

fay, that he loft Sixpence of his Money, or Six-
penny-worth of his Jewels, he had two Fellows

;
in Cuftody that fhould fufferfor it. And asking
him why the Money was that Morning remo-
ved from his Houfe to the Minories, he faid

with a great Oath, the Money was never in his

Houfe.

Mr. Garret. When Col. Turner brought home
the Money, he took up one of the Wallets, and
faid, Jack, take notice, this is my Money.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Where was this?

Garret. In my Coufin Tryon's Houfe ; and that
he only left it with my Coufin Tryon. When we
looked over this Money in the Evening, we found
V o l. II.

5*5
that Sale that this Gentleman (pointing to Mr.
Cully) hath fpoke of3 it was a little defaced, but
yet apparent enough.

Turner. I did fay fo, my Lord ; he fpeaks

Truth.

Mr. Pilkington /worn.

I can fay no more than hath been faid already

:

I (hall repeat it. Being at the Hoop-Tavern with
Mr. Trytrn's Man, and others, with the Officers,
we were difcourfing of his Robbery; and I was
faying, That I admired, he being fo ancient a
Gentleman, they would ufe him fo barbaroufly
as hath been related. Said Colonel Turner, In
that they went beyond their Commifiion, they
had no Order for it. And being asked how they
got into the Houfe, he faid one got into the
Cellar in the Day-time: [And fo related it in the

fame manner as feveral Witnejfes before.'] Being
asked how his Tooth came to be beaten out?
Says he, It was not with a Blow ; but the Man's
Finger being in his Mouth, he clofed his Teeth,
and ttruggling to get out his Finger, his Knuckle
thruft out the Tooth. And then Mr. Tryon's

Man faying, If he and the Maid had been at

home, they ihould have been killed: No, faid

Turner, you would only have been bound.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Nov/ Mr. Turner you have

heard your Charge-, you will do well to make
an Anfwer to it j you fee what is laid to your
Charge.

Turner. Ay, my Lord : I fhall clear it all, every
Syllable of it.

Mr. MartinV Coachman was called andfworn.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Tell the Jury what you
know : Did you fee any People about Mr. Tryon's

Houfe upon Thurfday Night?
Coachman. I did, my Lord : I was come by

from the Play-houle with my Coach ; I faw four

Men, two on one Side of the Door, and two on
the other Side; every one had a Handkerchief
tied about his Neck, and every one of them had

a good Cudgel in his Hand.
Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. What Time a-night

was that ?

Coachman. About Eight or Nine o'clock at

Night.

Lord-Mayor. Was their Faces turned towards

Mr. Tryon's Door, as if they were to go in, or to

knock ?

Coachman. No, Sir, two flood towards Fen-

church-Street, and two ftood toward Leadr.->hall-

Street. I did fufpeel: fuch a Bufinefs; for they

pulled down their Hats over their Faces.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Wr

hat kind of Cudgels had
they?

Coachman. Sticks fomewhat bigger than Walk-
ing-Staves.

Mr. Tryon looking upon William Turner at the

Bar, faid, This Man, whofe Name is (as I un-

derftand) William Turner, I do fuppofe to be one

of the two that was in my Chamber at the Bed's-

fide, and that indeed did ftiike out my Tooth.

I asked him, Why do you ufe me fo inhumanly,

like a Beaft, and not like a Man? I am quiet;

what would you have ? Says he, Be ftill, you lhall

not lofe a Hair of your Head.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You believe that to be the

Man?
U u u t Tryon,
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frvgn. I would be loth to charge him ; but

he is as like him as any I ever faw.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Had they either Vizors or

Masks on?
Tryon. Nothing, my Lord } bare-faced. One

faid to the other, It's but paft Eleven of the

clock} elfe I had not known it: I was afleep,

with Surprize amazed, being an antient weak

Man.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. As near as you can con-

jecture, is that the Man? •

Tryon. Yes, both of Face and Pitch.

Lord Mayor. Mr, Tryon* did you obferve thofe

Perfons that were at your Bed-fide, whether

they had Handkerchiefs or Cravats about their

Necks ?

Tryon. My Lord, I did not take notice of that >

I do not remember it.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You hear your Indict-

ment : That you, and William, and John, are

indicted for the Felony and Burglary, for break-

ing and entring into the Houfe of Mr. Francis

Tryon, and dealing the particular Goods and

Money, as you have heard : I would propofe

this to you, to make your Defence touching

your Charge: Which is, firft, that you and

William met the Day before} he came in firft,

and faid he ftaid there 'till you came ; you came,

and paid the reckoning, and went away : You
two were together the Day before: What your

Bufinefs was, you can better tell than J. The
Night he was robbed, his Servant being gone,

the Door was double locked. You knew all

the private Places, where the Keys lay, all the

Rooms wherein Cafh, Jewels, where every

thing was : And it was not poffible this Burglary

could be committed but by one that knew thofe

Things.
Turner. There are about twenty People that

knew as much as I ; his Servants, and fuch as

had been his Servants.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. It falls out that the felf-

fame Night after this Houfe was robbed, in the

Morning early, you, your Wife, and Son, go to

remove ftore of Money out of your Houfe.

Turner. It was two Nights after the Robbery :

Pardon me, my dear Lord.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. When you carry this, you

go with a falfe Story, That a Merchant was

broke, and you muft needs have fome of the Mo-
ney for his Wife and eight Children; and this

Money was to be ki afide for them.

Turner. It was fo, my good Lord.

Ld Ch Juft. Hyde. You would do well to hold

your peace a while: Your Wife and you dif-

owned you removed any Money } yet afterwards,

when the Money was brought there, and taken

upon Sufpicion, (you taken in the very Place re-

moving the Money) you owned it to be your

own: That then it appeared that one of thofe

Bags was fealed with the Bifhop of Chichejler's

Seal ; and at the Time of the Burglary, there

was 600/. in Bags left with Mr Tryon, fealed

with the faid Seal } and one of thofe Bags you
brought back was taken with you, and owned
to be your own, and had the fame Seals. That's

proved by four pr five Witneffes, compared

with the Seal of a Letter of the Bifhop. Your
Son, on their coming thither, he takes footing

and leaps over the Ditch to efcape, which is

a good juft Ground of Sufpicion that he is

guilty of fomewhat that he would not abide to

anfwer. Ypurfelf and Wife take upon you to

know every Thing : You know how the Ufage
was } that there was a purpofe they fhould not
be killed} that he was gagged; that they ex-

ceeded their Commiffion ; if the Man and Maid
had been at home, they fhould have been but
bound. AH Particulars you take upon you to

know, and to confefs the whole and the man-
ner of it ; nay, tell the Story how they came
in.

Turner. As I was informed. ,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Lay all this together, un-
lefs you anfwer it, all the World muft conclude
that you are one that did this Robbery.

Turner. I fhall anfwer it } I hope to give all

the World Satisfaction. Pray call

Mr. fandeputt,

Mr. Covell,

M. Efnow,
Mr. Cook.

My Maid,
And the Lord Marquifs
o£Dorchefter'& Servant.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Tell us to what purpofe.
Turner. To clear every Particular.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Open it.

Turner. I fhall firft prove that upon Thurfday
Night, the Time of this fuppofed Burglary, that
myfelf, my Wife, and all my Family, were in
Bed, faft afleep, and innocent, not knowing any
thing of this Bufinefs. This I fhall prove ; if

not, let me hang and all my Family.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. All this may be true,

and yet this not to the purpofe.

Turner. Then I cannot be guilty of the Bur-
glary.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. If you will lay and
plot fuch a Robbery, though you are not there,

yet you are Guilty of it ; for it is ordinary that

the main Setter will not be prefent at fuch Times,
but will be then in Bed, that People may take
notice thereof. But fatisfy the Court by what
Means you came by this Money and Jewels, and
then call your Witneffes.

Tryon. I fhall go on by degrees, and fatisfy

you as to the whole.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. My Lord Bridgman hath
put you upon the right Bufinefs : Do that in the
firft place ; make it appear how you came to

know fo exa&ly the whole Carriage of this Bu-
finefs, and how you came by the Money and
Jewels.

Turner. I fhall do it, my Lord. The Confta-
ble coming for me, by Direction of Mr. Tryon,

to affift him, I came to him ; faith he, Some
Villains have been here, and have robbed me
this Night; which made me weep. ' Said I,

Thefe are wicked People : I gave you notice

how you fhould have been robbed about a Year
fince; but that was prevented. And faith

Mr. Tryon, For God's fake affift me in this, and
I fhall be thankful to you. Sir, faid I, did you
fee the Faces of them? Said he, It run in my
Mind very ftrongly that one of them is Chrifl-

mas. Said I, Who is he? Saith he, 'Twas Han*
[on the Grocer's Man. I know Han/on, faid I.

Afofely, go and knock up Hanfon, and know where
Cbriftmai is, and bring him to Mr. Tryon. Mofely

took two or three Men, and went to Thomas
Han/on, in Mark-Lane, and there found at a

Bricklayer's Houfe where Chrifimas lay : He was
a little refractory to rife. Another Con liable

coming, he came down ; and then they fenc Chrifi-

mas
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us to the Compter

vas in the Compter,

Mofely came and told us he

I lut with Mr. Tyron that

Sight. But, m y Lord, pray obferve how my
Same came into queftion: The young V!an and

Vlaid being out, came home late, the Conftable

tvas there then : Friends, faith he, where have

vo\x been ? Saith he, 1 have been at Colonel

Turner's at Supper j which was a notorious Lye,

wad brought me here in queftion 5 God forgive

him for it. Away comes the Conilable, by Di-

re&ion of Mr. Tryon, and Hill's Lye together.

He came to my Houfe } we were all afleep.

I arofe, and asked, Who is there? It is I, faid

Mr. Mofely ; Mr. Tryon is robbed ; pray come

down. 1 came down, and opened my Door.

Saith he, Was Mr. fryon's Man and Maid here

at Supper ? When? faid I. To night, faid he.

I have had no Suppers thefe nine Months, faid

1 This Ifiiliam is a very Rogue. Whereupon

ihe Conftable replied, Are your Sons within ?

Yes, in Bed thefe two Hours. Do you fufpeet

any thing by my Sons? He went and looked,

and law my Wife, he finds my Sons faft afleep

;

the one indeed was awake. Pray, faid I, fee

that you know them again. Upon my Ho-

nour, my Lord, this Boy (pointing to Ely) was

afleep. .

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Upon your Honour, Sir!

pray fpeak by your Honefty.

Turner. Lapfus Lingua,, my Lord : It is my

yfiial Fhrafe, I hope I lh'all appear to be a good

Man- This Child was awake: He faw the

Ma J|

, my Daughters : fearched every Room,

fearched every Place that was to be imagined to

be fearched. Saith the Conftable, I am very

glad that your Servants, your Children, and you

are in this Condition : I will acquaint Mr. Tryon,

What a Rogue this Hill is, how he hath belied

you. Nay, faid I, pray take me with you j and

fo I went with my Hair put under my Cap.

When I came to Mr. Tryon's, I asked him who

had been there ? Pardon me, my dear Lord, if

I were guilty, I fhould not fpeak any thing to

excufe it. When I had underftood this, I gave

the Conftable five Shillings, and defired him to

fearch about this Bufinefs. I went to Mr. George

Day the Goldfmith, and gave him a Note of

thofe Things, to be printed, that they faid they

had loft. Friday came ; and at Night Sir Tho-

mas Aleyn was pleafed to argue it with me : I

told him and the Gentleman thefe muft be fume

Rogues that know the Houfe > which put me in

mind of a former Crew that was to rob him a

Year fince.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. We would be glad you

would fpeak to the purpofe.

Turner. I did charge the Conftable and Mr. Pil-

kington that they would get up before Day •, and

that they would go to fuch and fuch Places

where the Conftable and 1 had privately fpoken

;

of, to Ratdiff, or Rat cliff- Croft. The Conftable

and Mr. Tryon's Man had been there •, but the

Man and his Wife was gone into London : But

I

afterwards, by Inquiry, the Boy faid they were

gone into Hortfordjhire a Week before. This

Boy is in two Tales : Here is fome, pray God
thefe People be honeft.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Go on.

Turner. Your Honour's Servant, my Lord.

Afterwards I went beyond the little Poftern be-

tween the two Tower- HiLs, near the Toiver-

i

Ditch : There is one John Wild, who had been

formerly here in Newgate % he fhould have been
tranfported. This Fellow coming into my Mind,
I having before been to take him in Eaft-Smith-

field, I had News he ufed White-Chapel, Eafi'
Smithfield^ and Tower-Hill, and had Lodgings by
the Blue- Boar by the little Poftern, and at Noab's-
Ark, and at the Lion in the Wood, the Corner-
houfe at Tower-Ditch. This Houfe about Toyuer-

Ditch and the Nag's-Head at White-Chapel were
the two Places where I found thofe Perfons a<-

bout a Twelvemonth fince, that fhould have
robbed him. Going now from Houfe to Houfe,
I parTed a Fellow in Black, in a large Coat,
fuch another Man as this, (pointing at one that

ftood by : ) He was in a black Loofe Coat, and
he was trimmed with Ribband at the Knees.
This Perfon 1 pafled him, and he paffed me j

and then I out-went him : And meeting him on
the other Side, I was confirmed it muft be one of
thefe Fellows I looked for, one Wild or White.
Palling the fecond time, I ran to him, thrufting

to him. What mean you, Sir? faid he. Said 1,

I mean to lay flat Felony to your Charge : Do
not you know me? No, faid he, with a great

Oath. Then I know you. Who is it, Colonel

Turner? faid he. I laid, Ay. Saith he, What
do you mean ? Said I, Mr. Tryon's Houfe was
robbed, and you are the Perfon that I will lay

flat Felony to j you fhould have been one of

them that were to rob him a Year fince, when
Colonel Afhton betrayed you all. He began with

fome hard Oa,ths : Be quick, faid I, 1 will call

out 3 you are an undone Man : I will lay this

Felony to you.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. What Night was
this?

Turner. The Friday Night following, about

Twelve o'clock at Night. I fluffed my Hold
from his Collar to the Waiftband of his Breeches

;

I thought I had him fecure, Said I, Wild, do

not deceive your felf, pjay pot the Fool ; if you

will fave your Life, let me fee where thofe

Goods and Moneys are, ejfe you will go to pot.

Saith he, Pray fpeak lower -, we fhall be heard.

"Well, I will fpeak lower. We walked to the

Hill. I had faft hold of his Breeches all this

while*, and yet I was afraid he might have fome

Dagger, and ftab me : Said I, Be Brief, you are

alone ; either refajve me, or I will call out.

Then I will tell you, faid he : Colonel Turner,

I underftand you are a Perfon of Honour, and a

Gentleman that will keep your Word ; and if

you will upon a ferious Vow and Promife fave

my Life, I will unfold the Bufinefs : But if you

will not, with a great Oath, faith he, you fhall

hang me, and lofe all the Jewels. Said I, What
will you have of me ? Saith he, You fhall fwear

to me, That by the Blood of that jefus Chrift that

died for you, and 1, and all Sinners, that I pall
have my Life free, in cafe I difcover the Thing to

you ; and th<m I will tell you more : If you will

not, I will tell you nothing, do with me what

you will. Saith I, Wild, I fhall ftand with you

fo long, that I fhall have my Throat cut. Upon
my Salvation, faith he, ftooping down upon his

Knees, faith he, Let me never rife up, if I am
not juft to you } and not a Hair of your Head

fhall be touched. Said I, Come, ftand up: I do

declare to you that I will endeavour with old

Mr. Tryon : Tell me where the Things are.

They are not far off. Where are they ? They
are at two Places : But do you fwear to me. He

did,
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did, in fhort, make me fay the fame Words that I

have repeated, and that I would get Mr. Tryon

to engage himfelf too by the fame Oath I did

fwear to him ; thinking my Life in danger, and

thinking my Friend's Goods likely to be loft ;

and did and do intend by the Help of God to

make good my Gvith. Saith he, Walk with me.

He whittled once, the fecond time, and at a

pretty diftance a third timej and within a little

while came another Fellow to him, at the fur-

ther End, by the Horfe- Shoe-Tavern, He comes.

Saith he, Art thou come, Tom? I think he cal-

led him White. Ay, faith he. What fhall we
do ? We are all undone ; my Face is known.

But I have lit in the Hands of a Gentleman who
will fave my Life •, but for you, he knows you

not. Saith he, the Money muft be returned ;

go and fetch that Money. Said I, Shall not I

go with them ? No, faid he. And truly, my
Lord, I was very glad to take him at his Word

:

If I had gone, I might have had my Throat

cut. There was this 500 /. brought at twice,

three and two. They went again, and brought,

as I take it, two and one ; fo there was three

and two, and two and one.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Who brought it ?

Turner. White. All this while I had the Fel-

low by the Breeches, and would not part with

him. It was from a little part Twelve till Four
bringing, and was left on the Cnufey, and went

away and fetched the other. This Fellow and

I, all alone together, had this Difcourfe : Said

I, What defperate Villains were you to go and

ufe the old Gentleman in this manner, fourfcore

Years of Age ! You beat and abufed him j you

are ftrange mad Fellows : Why could you not

let him fleep in his Bed ? he was afleep when
you came in : You were the maddeft Fellows

that ever was. Saith he, Some of you have

ftabb'd him. I think you deferve ten thoufand

Deaths for laying your Hands on him, tho' you
did not take Six-penny worth of his Goods.
Saith he, There was no Intention of hurting

him : Upon my Soul there was no Order or

Commiffion. Saith I, How got you in ? Saith

he, The Door ftands open half a Day together,

almoft : One got into the Cellar, and flood till

all was a-bed : He went into the Kitchen, found

a Candle ftanding lighted, and went up into the

old Gentleman's Chamber, and there he found

the Key of the Door, came down, opened the

Door, and let the reft in. How many was
there of them ? Saith he, Three or four. Said I,

What did you do ; and what would you have
done ? We would only have bound them. How
got you the Treafure? By a Key out of the old

Gentleman's Pocket : I think there is no hurt
to the old Gentleman ; I would not for all the

World there fhould. You fhall have the Things
again : And pray keep your Word with me. A-
bout Four o'clock in the Morning they brought
the Money. Now, faid I, what fhall we do
with it? 1 can do nothing with it : You muft
carry it home to my Houfe. Thefe two Fel-

lows carried one three, and the other two
Bags.

We went through yildgate with the Money,
and fo to my Houfe : My Wife, nor Sons, nor
no Soul, God is my Witnefs, knew any thing

of this Bufinefs but my lelf. I knocked at the

Door : This young Man (pointing to "John) came
down, and he unbolted, unlocked, and unlatched

the Door. My Parlour and Kitchen is all of one

Floor : They followed me in, and threw down
the Money. He bringing the Candle to me

;

No, faid I, do not bring it. Said I, Wild, what
fhall I do for the Jewels and the reft of the Mo-
ney ? You fhall have them brought you where
you will appoint to-day. I will have them
brought hither. Saith he, That cannot be. I

have forgot my felf : This Money muft not lie

Jiere ; you muft remove it from hence : For the

other Youths that have the reft of the Money
and Jewels, will never be brought into the City.

If you will remove it into the Miseries, my
Life for ir, you will have it all. I will pretend
there we will (bare it. You muft not let it lie

at all, but carry it prefently thither. I will tell

what I will do : Have you any Acquaintance a-

bout Tower-Hill, where you will leave it? No,
faid he. Nor I neither, faid I. I went up Stairs

to my Wife ; Mall, faid I, have you any Ac-
quaintance about the further Tower-Hill? 1 durft

not truft my Wife nor Sons : for I thought their

Tongues might be too long, and left them in

perfect Ignorance : Truly, I muft clear them.
Mall, faid I, there is a Gentlewoman, whofe
Husband is failed, (this was a feigned Story, my
Lord) it muft be fecured about Tower-Hill: She
was pretty well awake. Saith fhe, There is the
Commiffary-Generai of the King, his Daughter
Betty Fry keeps a Shop of Linen at the lower
End of the Minories. Do you think fhe will be
private, and let it lie for four or five Hours?
Undoubtedly fhe will, faith fhe. Pr'ythce get up,

and put on thy Clothes, and go thither. Wild,
where fhall I find you about Eight or Nine o*

clock ? I will lodge this at the Seamftrefs's Shop,
upon the Right-hand at the farther End of the

Minories : Tell me where I fhall meet you, and
we will have this Money carried there j my Son
and I, we will have it lodged. Saith he, Yon
fhall have me walking within three Doors of the

Blue-Pigs fo he called it. Saith I, What mean
you? Saith he, It is a little Sign, no bigger than
a Pig, but it is called the Blue-Boar: There you
fhall have me walking in the under or upper
Caufey. My Lord, I took this Boy, (pointing

to John) who knew nothing : I told him it was
a Friend's Money. I raifed my Wife: Mall,
faid I, come away. My Wife went before; the

Boy and I took the Money : I carried two, and
he three. My Wife went and knock'd up the

Maid, the Door was open when we came; God
forgive this Maid that fwears it was this Son,
fhe ismiftaken, upon my Salvation this Boy was
abed and afleep. When the Money was there,

I ftaid by my Wife; faid I, what have you done
with this Money? I did not tell my Wife any
thing. I came home; coming home, there wa9
my Son and Wife. I drank a Cup of Cider,

(for I kept a Hogfhead of Cider in my Houfe)
as foon as I drank it, I went out of Doors im-

mediately : Said I, to this youngeft Son, Stay at

home, I fhall have occafion to ufe you by and
by. I went to Mr. Tryon's; coming there, I

found Mr. Gurney the Merchant: Said I,

Mr. Gurney, I have good News, I have fome
hopes of ftrong Preemptions, that Mr. Tryon

will not lofe one Penny-won h of his Goods.
Marry, faid he, I am glad of that. We wenc
up to Mr. Tryon's, we found him fitting by a

little Charcoal Fire, as much as you may cover

with your Hands : He told us he had been up ever

fines



1663. Q. B. for Felony tind Burglary. J19
fince three of the clock. We asked him, what

he would have to comfort him : he told us, he

had fomething. Mr. Gurney after fome difcourfe

took his leave of him, fo I fat down (Jefus !

what a noije is here in the Court. My Lord! I can

hear but with one Ear.) I fay, X fat down at

the Bed-fide of Mr. tryon, he on the Stool

:

Mr. tryon, faid I, I have Good News for you.

Saith he, Haft; thou ! I am glad of it with all

my Soul, Sir, faid I, I am informed you will not

lofe any of your Goods or Money, there is but

thirty-eight Shillings fpent of all your Money,

the Rogues took but forty Shillings out, and

Wild told me there was two Shillings faved : I

dare boldly fay, by Three of the clock in the

Afternoon you will be mailer of them again. I

would be glad of that, and will give you five

hundred Pounds. But, Sir, faid I, there is a

Tale hangs by this : You know you mould have

been robbed about a Year fince; and I have ap-

prehended Wild, who was one of the intended

Thieves : then, he hath made me fwear, By the

Blood of Jefus Chrift, &V. that he mail have his

Life, if you have your Goods : He hath enga-

ged me that you (hall likewife fwear by the like

Oath, or elfe you mall hang him, and fo lofe

your Goods. Said I, I have a great part of

your Money, but the jewels and the reft of

your Money is wanting. The old Gentleman

was almoft overjoy'd: This is not true, faid he.

Said I, 1 do declare this is true in the prefence

of God, make no words of it j if the bufinefs

be difcovered, we (hall lofe the Jewels. Well,

faid he, I will be ruled by you, Colonel ; and

the Lord God make me thankful I have fuch

Friend in the world that hath done this for

I {ball never make you amends : and there-

ion he entred into the fame Oath, that by the

Blood, Seethe Blood ofthe Man mould not be fpilt

tho' he loft both Money and Jewels. I difcourf-

ed with him, I told him over and over again,

left him fatisfied that I would be with him again,

and bring him more tidings, but by Three o'

clock I doubted not but he fhould have all.

Then it was almoft Eight at Night} away went

I to tower-Hill to look my Merchant John

Wild, he was here in Newgate formerly : there

found I him walking by the Blue-Boar, carekfly

walking there, with his Coat under his Arms.

Said I, How now, what News? I think I have

now pleafed you, faith he. What have you

done ? faid I. I have lodged the Money hard

by, and all is right. What have you done? Is

all right on the other fide ? All lhall be well :

but where have you lodg'd it? Here at a Seam-

Ihefs's, at the corner of the Minories : faid he,

The Money muft be removed, there are Salef-

men thereabouts, and the Fellow that hath the

Jewels he is known, he will not come thither j

remove it towards the Water-fide, any where,

and the things lhall come, my Life for it. They
had a Cat's-Eye Ring, they were fuch wife La-

pidaries, they called this a Hundred-Pound Ring,

when it was not worth Five Pound. He gave

order that the Money might be again removed

to the other end by the^Horfepoe-T^vcm. I

run home, fetch'd my Son 3 faid I, Wife, We
muft have away the Money. My Lord, he told

St. Catharine's, he would meet my Son at the
Noah's-Ark at tower-Ditch : let my Son but hand
the Money over that Path, and he would hand
it to the other. We did carry it, carry'd it again
At this fecond Carrying, comes Sir thomas Aleyn,

he had heard fome Cry of Money left, he comes
with a great Company of People after him, and
the foolifh Wench faid to my Son, Mr. John,

fly for your Life. John being furprifed and af-

frighted, he went out of the Back-door, Went
over the Ditch, and went to my Houie. Sir

thomas Aleyn had alfo fent to fecure my Houfe.
When the Lad came home into the ftreet, my
Doors were (hut up : (Gentlemen of the Jury,
do you understand ?) the Boy feeing fuch a Rout
at the Door, faith the People, Mr. John, your.

Father's Houfe is flout up about Mr. Tryon'; Money,
a He walked by the ftreet, and went into Bifb

a

me

gate-ftreet, and Cheapfide, into Patcmoflcr-Row,
and fo into Fleet-ftreet : I did not hear of him
till Saturday, in the Afternoon.

When Sir thomas Aleyn came, faith he,

Mr. turner, here we have catch'd you and the
Money. Said I, if you be hafty and paffionate,

as you were laft night, you will fpoil all the
whole bufinefs. Ted me, faith he, whofe Mo-
ney it is? Said I, it is my Money. The truth

is, the old Gentleman hath promiftd me yoo L
it is the naked truth •, I Would not have Sir tho-

mas Aleyn have the honour of gaining it, but I

would have the honour of gaining it my way.
Sir thomas would know whether it was my

Money, 1 told him I had received part of it ac

a Goldfmith's ; fo 1 put Sir thomas off. Comej
come, faid he, we will carry this Money to

Mr. tryon. Said I to Mr. Tryon, Here is part

of your Money, you know what I told you e-

ven now. Ay, faith he, God be thanked, be-

fore Sir thomas Aleyn. I asked him, what his

Promife was, and told him how the Paffage was
in fhorf, and the old Man did acknowledge that

fuch a Promife was made, and would have down
upon his knees. I palled my word to him, that

by Three o'clock I doubted not but he would
have his Jewels, and the reft of the Money.
Saith Sir thomas Aleyn, Go, (whether he faid

live and profper, I know not) Go, God blefs

you j and upon my honour (I think that was his

word) the old Man (hall make good his Word.
Ay, but Sir thomas, what will become of me
and you, by this Bufinef-, for I underltand the

Law ? How will this Bufinefs be daubed up ?

You will be fined, Sir thomas % I muft break

my Word, he muft be apprehended, or I muft
fuffer. Saith Sir thomas, Do not trouble me
with that, get but the Goods, and the old Man's
Word (hall be made good, leave that to me.
More than that, he faid, He would make up the

Bufinefs, or he would fmother it. My Lord,
you have a great deal of Patience, I am humbly-

bound to you, here is nothing but the naked
Truth, ftep by ftep, as I trod it. Afterwards

Wild came and faid, All will be well. Said Ij

What have you done? Are you fure, faith he,

the Jewels nor nothing (hall be ftirred? Said F,

You fee all is fpoiled ; Sir thomas Aleyn is come
where we had lodged the Money, the thing is

known, do not they hear of it ? Yes, they hear

me he would have away the Money to the Half- as well as you, and know what is done, and fome

Moon Tavern in St. Catharine's, or the corner have eyes upon you. Said f, They will run a-4

way with the Jewels. No, you (hall meet about

Three o'clock 5 no body knows me but you,

your

Tavern at the Iron-gate; faid I, Are not you re-

folved? Well, faid he, k mail be carry'd to
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your Wife, and your Son, who faw me this

Morning at Three o'clock, either by the Blue-

Pig at Tower-Hill, or Nags-Head over-againft

White-Chapel Church.

It is agreed, for God's fake look to it, your

Life and mine is concerned , if the Jewels be

loft, I will perfecute you to the Death, look

they are preferved, and not purloin'd. Saith he,

The Bags were never opened. I partfd with

him, he was to look for me at Three of the

clock : coming home about Change-time, who
fhould I meet with but Mr. Stubbs, who told

me that it was all the News upon the Exchange,

that you have been in the Robbery. Said I, Do
not trouble your head, I have difcovered the bu-

finefs. Then faid Stubbs, You know I and

Thomas Lyon are Bail for you. At that time I

fatisfied him. Afterwards that day I met with

Mr. Cole the Officer j faid he, Colonel, I arreft

you. For what ? for more Fooleries yet ? Tho-

mas Lyon will not be fatisfied. By Six of the

clock this bufinefs will be all over : nothing

will ferve your turn but Violence, Violence, no

Force, no Law, I was forced to go to the Hoop-

Tavern. I got them to fend for Mr. Stubbs and

Lyon; they came: faid I, What will you have?

1 am in profecution of a Bufinefs for Mr. Tryon,

you will undo it with this fixpenny Bufinefs:

fay what Security you will have, and you fhall

have it : faid I, Mr. Tryon and Sir Thomas Aleyn

(hall give you their Security, to fave you harm-

lefs for being my Bail. Said they, Hold Mr. Tryon,

we'll do it y we are content j they went away,

and told me they would get a Bond, and come
prefently ? but what was this prefently j I will

warrant you they ftaid two hours ; it was
Seven o'clock at night before I parted with

them. I was fain to fend the little Boy for

Mr. Hill, Mr. Pilkington, Mr. Millington , this

was either a Curfe from God fent upon me, or

a Plot of Roguery that the Money fhould be

loft. They came not back till Seven of the

clock, and then without a Bond •, and I fell a

little violent : But I was telling them how thefe

Rogues told me the whole Carriage of this Rob-
bery ; when it came that Mr. Tryon and Sir Tho-

mas Aleyn heard that I was in cuftody, he fent a

Conftable with a Warrant to bring us all before

him. When we came there, I defired Sir Tho-

mas to let a Gentleman go with me ; I will

break my Oath with the Fellow, and we will

apprehend him, and make him bring the Jewels.

Sir Thomas Aleyn told them, if they would all go
together, they might ; but to go out of the

Liberties, he could not let them go : I have
you, and I will keep you, and do find him if

you will. How now, Sir Thomas, faid I, are

you come to that ? Have you fooled me all this

while? I'faith, I thank you, for you have tre-

panned me very fairly ; if any thing mifcarry in

my Honour and Reputation, or Blood, you are

in the fault : Here I do declare, faid I, if you
will let me go, I will take him. Then Sir Tho-

mas did incline to let me : what fay you, Offi-

cers, will you go out of your Liberties with this

Gentleman? Sir Thomas, faid I, there is no Li-

berty or Privilege for Felons j I will feize a Fe-

lon my felf in any ground in England without

Warrant. I do remember this Wild did condi-

tion, that in cafe I could not come, I fhould

truft no Man living but myfelf, becaufe he had
had my Soul pawn'd to him. I asked him whom

he would truft : He faid, if I could fend my
Wife, defcribing her to him, that (he was a mil

lhort Woman about forty or fifty Years old, fhe

had a long black Scarf on j then let him alone

if I cannot come, I will fend fuch a Woman,
and fend the things by her, and preferve your
Life. I told Sir Thomas this Story. My Wife
came to me publickly, I did not whifper with

Mrs. Turner. Nay, look you, Husband
Col. Turner. Pr'ythee, Mall, fie down : you fee,

my Lord, my Wife will interrupt me with Non-
fenfe. Pr'ythee fit thee down quickly, and do not

put me out : I cannot hold Womens Tongues,
nor your Lordfhip neither.

Ld Bridgman. This is not a May-game.
Col. Turner. My Lord, it is a ferious Bufinefs,

and I hope God will blefs it Pray, faid I,

Mall go, as you love and honour my Life and
Credit, or any thing that concerns me, I beg
you to go. Then I will go, faith fhej whither

muft I go •, You muft go to the further Tower-

Hill, fix doors beyond the little Poftern : now
it is fo much of the clock, from Five to Seven

he will walk there. A Fellow will come to you
in black, that Man that in the Morning took

the Money from Jack, he will know you, and

once in a quarter or half an hour he will come
to you. If you do not find him in half an hour,

ftay no longer, but pack away to White-Chapel,

ask for the Nags-Head in White-Chapel, and

once in a quarter of an hour you will have a

Man come to you, and take notice of you, and
ask you who you are ; and you muft fay, that

you walk for one to give you fomewhat : he

will deliver you fomewhat, and whatever he de-

livers you, bring it hither. Said I to thtm, You
may fend if you will, and dodge my Wife, and

catch him that way j they would not. I fent

my poor Wife away, and, faving your Lord-
fhip's prefence, fhe did all bedirt herfelf, a thing

fhe did not ufe to do, poor Soul : She found

this Nags-Head, fhe fat down, being fomewhat
fat and weary, poor Heart ! I have had twenty-

feven Children by her, fifteen Sons, and twelve

Daughters. Seven or eight times this Fellow

did round her

Mrs. Turner. Let me give that Relation.

Col. Turner. You cannot, it is as well : pr'ythee

fit down, dear Mall, fit thee down, good Child,

all will be well. When fhe came back, fhe came
with fomething in her Apron : What are you
fped, faith he? I know not what : a Man came
to me, and asked me who I look'd forj I told

him, 1 look'd for any Man that would give me
any thing. Are you Colonel Turner's Wife ?

And upon her Anfwer he gave her thefe Bags
into her Apron, and was gone a matter of a yard

from her : Steps back again, that is not all, here

is a Diamond Ring worth a Hundred Pound,
give that to your Husband. And this Diamond
Ring proves a Cat's-Eye Ring, and worth but

Four Pound.
Mrs. Turner. Well, and did not I bring thefe-—

Col. Turner. Look you, my Lord, this Woman
will put me out. My Lord, fhe did deliver all

thefe things, and went home. I did take out

thefe Goods: Now, faid I, Mr. Tryon, you fee

all is come, (Sir Thomas Chamberlain was there)

I have perform'd all my part, look to the reft,

that you perform yours. Some People report,

that there is other Jewels of my own j my Lord,

they
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they are all his own, and he will not difown it,

and I do not expect my Five Hundred Pounds

for what I have done, according to his Promife,

That as Jefus died, &c and the Man (bould not

be profecuted, nor lofe a Hair of his Head, if

he lofe his whole Eftate : and I do expect my
Money, not fueh a Reward as this. After which

I was committed by Sir 'Thomas Aleyn, and fo

was my Wife. Now pray let me call my Wit-

neffes, and if I cannot make it good, that I am

clear, let me be hanged. My Lord, I fhall hum-

bly intreat that Mr. Vandeput may be called,

Mr. Cowel, and the others.

Ld Bridgman. What do you prove by them ?

Turner. To prove part of this Bufinefs, That

I did affure Mr. Tryon of his Goods; and

to my Reputation. I forgot one chief thing,

I am not a Man in Debt, take notice of

that, no Man in the World hath my Bill

for f /. There is only this Conteft between

Mx.Vanburgh and myfelf, which is left to Arbi-

trators, and the Lord-Mayor is Umpire: It is

known I have an Eftate, and there is one thing

remarkable, Gentlemen of theJury, I could have

had all thefe Jewels at anytime inTruftj I could

have broke as well as others, and paid f s. in the

Pound: I lately made Payment of 2.600 1. for

Goods, and I can have zoooo /. Credit any Day

upon the Exchange: Why 1 that had this Credit,

that might break for fo much Money, why
mould I put my Neck in a Halter? Thefe are

very ftrong Arguments for me, that I am not

fuch a Perfon.

Ld Bridgman. I will tell you what you have

done : You have made a very long Story, and

have taken up the time of the Court thefe two

Hours in a Narrative ; and when all is done,

anfwer me, Have you any Witnefs to prove

all this Difcourfe between you and Wild ?

Turner. I have by, Witnefles to prove I faid

this, that there was fuch Difcourfes between

jus.

Ld Bridgman. No doubt of it} and fo will

many a Man at Newgate frame fuch a Story as

this.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You have told a long Story

about Wild, that you took him by the Throat,

and that you were alone ; what Weapons had

you?
Turner. None, my Lord.

Ld Bridgman. Had you a Lanthorn with you?
Turner. No, my Lord.

Ld Bridgman. What time of the Night was

it?

Turner. Twelve o'Clock, my Lord.

Ld Bridgman. You (laid till Four, fo they were

four Hours a bringing of the Money.
Turner. Yes, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You took a Man in the dark

by the Throat, that Man that was guilty of fuch

a thing, as when that you did let him go to call

his Companions, to bring the Money, bring Fel-

lows to you fingle-, 1 would be glad to know,
, whether in this cafe they would not have knock'

d

you on the Head, and killed you ?

Turner. My Lord, Wild had engaged his Soul,

and I my Soul to him, that if I would not dis-

cover him, 1 fhould go away free.

Ld Bridgman. Great Security indeed!

Col. Turner called feveral Witneffes, viz. Mr.
Vandeput, Mr. Cowel, Mr. Legoofe, Mr. Snow
and Mr. Mofely the Conftable. I defirerny Maid
Vol. II.

may be called : pray ask Sir Thomas Aleyn what
he hath done with my Maid, he took her up with
Sir RichardBrown and two Marfhal's Men : (pray
Gentlemen make not a laughing Bufinefs of this)

Sir Thomas, pray where is my Maid ?

Sir Tho. Aleyn. I had this Maid upon Exami-
nation, I found caufe of further Examination,
and thereupon directed an Officer to take her,
and ihe is now in the Garden.

Mr. Mofely the Conftable examined.

Wlien I came firft to Mr. Tryon, at Mr. Tryon's

Houfe, he was bound ; then he asked where his

Man and Maid was ? he faid he could not tell.

By and by the Man came in, and being asked
where he was, he anfwered he was at Col. Tur-
ner's at Supper. Prefently after we went to CoL
Turner's, he came to the Window, his Wife and
two Sons were in Bed.
Ld Bridgman. Did Mr. Tryon give you order

to come to him ?

Mofely. Yes, my Lord, he did.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Mofely, you were Conftable,
were you not? What Difcourfe had you with
Mr. Turner about a dangerous Place that you did
fufpect, where fome People may be to do fuch a

Feat ?

Mofely. I never heard of any fuch thing fpo-

ken.

Ld Bridgman. You fay Mr. Tryon he wifhed
you to call Turner to him ; did he give you any
Order or Direction to fearch his Houfe ? Who
wifhed you to go up to the Houfe to fee whe-
ther his Sons and Daughters were in Bed ?

Mofely. Mr. Turner did, my Lord.
Turner. He doth not fay true, my Lord : Pray

ask him, when he came to my Door, and I o-
pened it, if he did not ask whether Mr. Tryon

1

s

Servant was there at Supper that Night? I faid,

No. Is your Sons within, faid he? I faid, Ay.
Pray let me fee them.

Mofely. I came to Mr. Turner's Houfe, and
knock'd at the Door with fome others with me*
at laft the Colonel came out of his Bed. I fup-
pofe he came out of his Bed, being partly na-

ked > he came down to the Door ; I asked him,
where are your Sons ? They are in Bed, fays

he. Said I, Mr. Tryon is robb'd, he would have
you come to him.

Ld Bridgman. Did he defire you to go up ?

Mofely. No, my Lord ; but 1 asking him whe-
ther his Sons were in Bed, he faid, I pr'ythee go
up and fee.

Turner. My Lord, I would prove where my
Sons were on Thurfday Night at Ten o'Clock.

Lord Marquifs of Dorchefter\r Servant examined.

My Lord, till Nine o'Clock they were with
me at my Lord Marquifs's Houfe.

Ld Bridgman. What time came they thither ?

Mara. Servant. Between Seven and Eight at

Night.

Gel. Turner'* Maid examined.

Turner. Come, Maiden, pray tell my Lord

and the Court when my Sons came home this

Night.
Maid. Between Nine and Ten o'Clock.

X x x Ld
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Ld Bridgman. Were your Mafter and his Sons

In Bed all Friday Night, or no?

Maid. Yes, my Lord, they were.

LdCh. Juft. Hyde. Did your Mafter go forth

on Friday Night?
Maid. No, he was at home and in Bed all that

Night till Eight o'Clock in the Morning, and

Thurfday Night before.

'turner. A filly Soul, {he knows not what flic

fays.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. I will ask you again, was

your Mafter at home on Friday Night?
Maid. No, I think he was not.

LdCh. Juft. #jrf*. Why did you fay fo be-

fore?

Maid. I cannot remember, Sir.

LA Bridgman. She knows her Matter's Mind.
turner. No, upon my Soul, my Lord.

Ld Bridgman. My Matters of the Jury, this is

the Ufe that is made of this Maid's Teftimony;

(he will fay any thing, me is no fit Witnefs, no

Truft to be given to her either one way or o-

ther.

turner. Pray call Mr. Cowel, Mr. Legoofe,

Mr. Cook the Goldfmith.

Ld Bridgman. What do you call thefe for ?

turner. To prove my Condition, my Credit

and Reputation.

Ld Bridgman. The Jury knows that already.

Mr. Cook. Thus much I can fay, that I have

known him fome twenty Years, I have had Deal-

ing with him to the Value of feveral hundred

Pounds, I have trufted him, and have found him
very faithful ; I have feen in his Poffeffion Jew-
els to the Value ofeight or ten thoufand Pounds

:

by which I fuppofe, if he had been fuch a Per-

fon, he might have done himfelf a Kindnefs by
breaking.

Mr. Legoofe. All I can fay, is, I have an Ac-
quaintance with this Pcrfon, he was a Sollici-

tor, dealt honeftly and faithfully in a Bufinefs

wherein I was concerned ; he hach lived very

well.

Sir Richard Brown. Where you have heard one
Man fay he is an honeft Man, have you not

heard a hundred fay otherwife ?

Mr. Legoofe. There hath been an ill Report,

that he hath been a Perfon that lived high.

turner. Sir Richard Brown, no Man in England

can fay black is my Eye.

Sir Rich. Brown. Mr turner, you fay you were

upon totver-Hillatt Friday Night ; whither went
you in the Morning?

turner. I came home between Four and Five

in the Morning.

Sir Rich. Brown. Your Maid offered to depofe

even now, that you did not rife all that Morn-
ing before Eight of the Clock.

turner. Lap/us Lingua, if the Girl be mif-

taken.

Ld Bridgman. Do not trouble your felf with
that, her Evidence is of no force.

Mr. Jifferies. Col. turner, I cannot fay any
thing that will be advantageous to you ; my Lord,

and Gentlemen ofthe Jury, I have heard Mr. try-

en hath tfufted him with Jewels to a good Va-
lue, and that Mr. tryon had a very good Repute
of him.

Sir Rich. Brown. Pray what Report hath he

upon the Exchange ?

turner. I owe nothing there, Sir Richard, nor

none there can lay any thing to my Charge, ex-

cept it be that I am a Cavalier.

LdCh, Ju&.Hyde. Mr. turner, have you any
more?

turner. My Lord, I do want thefe Goldfmiths,
they do not appear, they promifed me they

would.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. How can we help it ?

turner. I do humbly beg your Honour and
this Honourable Bench, that the old Gentle-
man, my old Friend, may declare what patted

between us on Saturday Morning.
Ld Bridgman. Confider what you do, for here

would you have Mr. tryon fwear againft himfelf:
hear what you would put him to, take it as you
put it, tho' I do not believe a Word of it. As
you put the Cafe, here is Wild commits a Rob-
bery, you come and truck with Wild, and agree
with him that Mr. tryon mall let him go, ihall

not meddle with him, there mall be no Profecu-
tion, fothe Jewels and Money may be brought;
Would not you get Mr. tryon to conceal a Fe-
lony and Felon, and he confefs againft himfelf he
made this Agreement with you ? that Mr. tryon

did confent to it, that he promifed you five hun-
dred Pound to muffle up this Bufinefs?

turner. Hear me, pray ; you put me out : I

had not let this Man go, I begged that they

would go with me, Sir thomas Aleyn would not

let us go, we would have taken him, I was fen-

fible of the Danger; it may be we might have
had the Felon and the Goods too.

LdCh. juft. Hyde. No doubt, upon your own
Story, all this while you had no Poffibility of

having the Goods, unlefs the Life of this Fel-

low may be given you ; fo you were fain to a-

gree, and plight your Word to him, pawn your
Soul that he mould be free, untouch'd, fo he

would difcover the Goods and Money. Sir tho-

mas Aleyn, fpeak to that Particular again.

Sir tho. Aleyn. My Lord, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, he tells a long Story, that he was kept

abroad till Seven o'Clock at Night; I do verily

believe he was brought to Mr. tryon's at Five

o'Clock, and there he kept us 'till Seven, and all

he would do, was, he defired to go himfelf, or

with one Perfon at the moft, or elfe we fhall lofe

all the Jewels, faith he, for two Souls are pawn-
ed : he did not in the leaft argue the taking of

the Thief. I muft fay this, when I came to him

on Monday, he faid if I had fent a good Guard,

we might have taken the Thief. Said I, a Lyar

had need have agood Memory. Then you muft

only go yourfelf, or with one Perfon ; he hath

told you, that I faid there fhould be no Profecu-

tion. I faid only this, whatever Mr. tryon had

promifed you, I knew not ; but if you expert I

Favour, let the old Gentlemen have his Jewels

again.

Sir tho. Chamberlain. I heard no fuch thing.

Ld Bridgman. What did he tell you ?

Sir tho. Chamberlain. He would have gone with

one with him, and pretended he could find out

the Jewels only.

Mr. Millington. There were fome Propofitions

made, he defired firft I fhould go with him fin-

gly; I told him there would be no Security, but ,

if he would get a fufficient Guard, I would go

with him : but he went home to his Wife, and

never made mention of any Party's Name, but

that there was a Party he expected the Jewels

of.

Ld Bridgman. Did he propofe any thing touch-

ing the taking that Man ?

AHWington.
\



1663.O. B. for Felony and Burglary.

MUlington. Nothing but that he had pawned

his Soul there fhould be no Difcovery or' it.

Ld Bridgman. Did he defire that you fhould

go and take the Man ?

MUlington. No, but that we might go and fe-

cure the jewels.

Sen. Cole. My Lord, there was a great deal or

Danger* we are Bail for eight hundred Pounds j

if he had been taken away, we are all undone:

he only propounded of having the Jewels, and

nothing of the Man.

Mr. Gurncy. I underftood you, Col. Turner,

only for the Jewels, and not for the Man.

Mr. John Marjhal. My Lord, he did move

Sir Thomas Aleyn that 1 might go with him to

White-Chapel and about Tower-Hi11. I told Sir

Thomas, it was very unfafe for me to go, being

' late, and out of the Liberties , tho' I was a Con-

!
liable. I could not command Affiftance there $

: and intreated Sir Thomas to excufe me : I thought
'

it not fafe for him. He did then repeat the En-

< gagement of his Soul to theThief, and ofTryon's

'; to him.

Ld Bridgman. Did you ever hear him fay, de-

I fire or propofe, that you mould go and take the

(Thief?

Marfial. No, my Lord, it was to get the reft

of the Jewels.

Alderman Smith. Do not you know that I fpike

to You again and again, and advifcd you by all

means to let us know where this Man is ; that

»1 would go myfelf, or any of thefe Perfons

jprefent? you utterly refuftd it, and faid there

(was two Souls pawned, and you would not dif-

| cover it.

Turner. That was at firft, afterwards I men-

tion'd them all.

Ld Bridgman. For what?

Turner. To take the Thief.

Ld Bridgman. You fee not any Man teftify any

fuch thing.

Yeoman Cole. Sir Thomas Aleyn called my Bro-

ther and I both into the Room to him, and the

iMarfhal and his Man ; and faid, Col. Turner

(would have us go withoutthe Liberties for thefe

Jewels • I think, faith Sir Thomas Aleyn, it is not

ffafc to go out of the Liberties. Mr. Marfial faid

^the fame. He defiied us to go with him, but

<Sir Thomas refufed it.

Ld Bridgman. This is a notable Piece of Cun-

ning j when he was moved by Alderman Smith

&nd others, all this while he names no Man j but
!now he was under an Action, he would have them

go with himfelf out of the Liberties, and yet ne-

ver faith a Word to take the Man : He knew
(very well it was out of the Liberties. Truly I

think, if Sir Thomas Aleyn had done it, I fhould

|not have taken him to be Sir Thomas Jleyn.

Did you defire any of them to go with your

Wife?
1 Marfoal. He deny'd us to go with his Wife 5

his Token was this, the Thief would meet no

Man.
' Turner. My Lord, to the Bufinefs now. I am
here indicted for Burglary: It appears to your

Honours and the Bench, that it was Ten of the

Clock when my Sons came from my Lord the

Mavquifs of Dorchefler's Houfe , faid I, You
Knaves you, what do you out fo late? Said they,

It was paft Nine before we had done, and my
Lord's Gentlemen made us ftay Supper. They
Were all in their Beds at a little pall Ten of the

:
Vol. 11.
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Clock. You hear what Mofely the Conftable
faith, he finds us fleeping in the Houfe > how
fhould this Burglary be laid on me ? I am in-

dicted here for Burglary, and that 1 cannot be,

for that I was at Home.
Ld Ch Juft. Hyde. Have you done?
Turner. Ay, my Lord.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. jVilliam Turner, what fay

you? You fee what is laid to your Charge ;

firft, you are a Ferfon of loofe Lite: there were
two at his Bed- fide, he believes you to be the
Perfon that gagg'd him, and help'd to bind him.

William Turner. I was never in his Houfe in

my Life, till with Sir Thomas Aleyn..

Ld Ch.Jufl. Hyde. Where were you?
Will. Turner. At Home.
Ld Ch.Jufl. Hyde. Make that appear.
Will. Turner. I have none here.

Ld Ch.Jufl. Hyde. He faith it was a Man as

like you as can be.

Will. Turner. And I am as innocent ss mny be.

LdCh Juft. Hyde. John Turner, that which is

againft you is this: You on Saturday Morning
very early was bufy with your Father and Mo-
ther in the removing the Money ; and then when
you had Notice that you would be apprehend-
ed, you got away.

John Turner. Sir, I did not know who it was
that was come, whether to apprehend, or upon
any other fcore; but the Woman fpeakmg to
me, Flee for your Life, or fuch Exprefhons, made
me go away I know not how.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did not you bring fome

Money ?

John Turner. I did, my Lord.
Ld Ch.Jufl. Hyde. How much was brought at

that time?

John Tnrncr. I carried away two Bags to
Wild.

Ld Ch.Jufl. Hyde. Did you know him?
John Turner. Yes, my Lord.
Ld Ch.Jufl. Hyde. Did you carry thefe to Wild

on Saturday-morning? Did not you carry them
to Fry's Houfe ?

John Turner. We took them afterwards from
the Houfe where Wild appointed us to meet.
Ld Bridgman. At what time of the Day did

you carry them back to Wild?
John Turner. Before Sir Thomas Jleyn came that

Day, I was coming for more.

Ld Bridgman. To what Place ?

John Turner. At Tower- Diteh.

Ld Bridgman. At what Houfe?
John Turner. No Houfe, but I delivered them

at Tower- Ditch.

Ld Bridgman. At what Time of the Day ?

John Turner. It was before Sir Thomas Jleyn

came, about Eight or Nine of the Clock in the
Forenoon.

Ld Bridgman. Was there no People there ?

Who was there ?

JohnTurner. I cannot tell ; I faw feveral o-

ther Perfons.

Ld Bridgman. Did Wild ftand in the Street ?

John Turner. Yes.

Ld Bridgman Howcameyou to know him?
John Turner. By my Father's Direction •, and I

had feen the Man at our Houfe that Morning
when he brought in the Money.
Ld Bridgman. Whereabouts? Was it near the

Queft-houfe ? that is, the great Houfe that ftands

in the middle of the way?
X x x z John
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John Turner. Ic was hard by the Sign of No-

ah's-Ark.

Ld Bridgman. This is a likely Story to be be-

lieved, that you fhould in the day-time, between

Eight and Nine in the Morning, meet in the

Tower-Ditch that Man that was a noted Thief,

that had been in Newgate; that you fhould tarry

For this Man to receive two Bags of Money

:

fee how it hangs together

!

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. How often did you go ?

John Turner. Twice.
LdCh.Juft. Hyde. How much at a time?

John Turner. A fingle Bag.

Ld Ch. Juffc. Hyde. Had you a Coat or Cloke?

John Turner. Juft as I am now.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Had Wild a great black

Coat? And what did he do with the Money?
John Turner. I know not : but I delivered one

in the Street, and then went and fetch'd another,

and he (laid ready for it.

LdCh.Juft. Bridgman. Was this all the Mo-
ney that was brought in the Morning, fave that

that Sir Thomas Aleyn brought away?

John Turner. It was all, to my Knowledge.

Sir Tho. Aleyn. Colonel Turner confeffed to me
onThurfday Morning that more came unto his

Houfe, but that Rogue Wild took it away.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. How much ?

Sir Tho. Aleyn. About 200/.

Ld Mayor. How many Turns did you make
when the Money was carried from your Father's

Houfe to the Minories ?

John Turner. Twice.

Lord Mayor. Who went firft?

John Turner. We went both together.

Ld Mayor. How much was carried between
you both?

John Turner. The firft time I carried 2,00 /. as

I can judge.

Ld Mayor. Who carried any more ?

John Turner. My Father.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. What did you bring

the fecond time?

John Turner. Three Hundred Pound.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. William, one thing

more : What was the Occafion of meeting you
and James Turner at the Alehoiife ?

William Turner. I did not meet him, my
Lord.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. You came thither, and

called for a Pot of Ale, and faid you ftaid for

Colonel Turner.

William Turner. It is not right : I only asked

if Colonel Turner ufed the Houfe. By and by he

came, and paid for the Pot.

LdCh.Juft. Bridgman. You two went toge-

ther : What was the Occafion of your meeting

together ?

Col. Turner. Finding him there, I faid I could

not drink with him -, and fo we parted.

W. Turner. I called for a Pot of Drink : and

having no Money to pay for it, Colonel Turner

Xoming by, I called him in, and defired him to

pay for it} which he did.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. The Boy fwore you
faid you ftaid for Colonel Turner : Can you ju-

ftify you were at home, or in any other Place?

Ic is a great Sufpicion: The old Gentleman
charged you to be very like the Man ; and you
can give no Account where you were ; and Tur-

ner and you met together the Day before.

W. Turner. I was at Home.

Ld Mayor. William Turner, when did youfhave
your Beard laft?

W.Turner. Before Chriftmas.

Ld Mayor. Whofhaved it for you?
W. Turner. A Barber in Golden-Lane.

Ld Mayor. When his Hair is fhaved off his

Chin, the other Man, whofe Name is Chriftmas,
being a fmooth-chinn'd Man, it's very poflible

that might beget the Miftake in Mr. Tryon.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. You of the Jury, it is high
time to let you go together to confider your Ver-
dict: We will trouble you no more in this Bu-
finefs to-day. Here is an Indictment agunft
James Turner, John Turner, and William Turner,
for a Burglary in breaking the Houfe of
Mr. Francis Tryon, in the Night-time, and ta-

king away a great deal of Money and Jewels

;

you have heard it particularly named. It is like-

wife charged, That Mary and Ely knowing of
John to have committed this Felony and Burgla-
ry, did comfort and abet him afterwards. I fhall

fpeak to them two firft: Mary, the Wife of
James Turner, thoygh it appears all along that

fhe had a Hand in this Bufinefs, yet nothing ap-
pears at all but doing only that which her Hus-
band had directed j then by Law fhe cannot be
AecefTary for committing of Felony. For Ely,

the other AecefTary, I did not obferve in the
whole courfe of the Evidence, any thing at all

againft him, that he was privy to any thing at

all } for that of the carrying of the Money, ic

appears to be John : For them two, Mary and
Ely, nothing is faften'd upon them. Then the

Matter is to James, John, and William Turner:
I hope, and I am fure you are nearer, and you
take Notes of what hath been delivered : I have
not your Memories ; you are young, and no Per-

fons better
; you are Men of Underftanding, I 1

need not repeat Particulars to you. Thus much
I muff, fay in general, That it is not always ne-

cefTary : But for that I fhall defire my Lord
Bridgman to declare it to you. A Man maybe
guilty of a Burglary, tho' he be not in the Place,

in the Room where it was committed : Or thus,

If three or four Men come together with Pur-
pofe to rob a Houfe ; two go in and do the Feat,

and the reft flay without, to fee no body comes
to prevent, or to receive, one or other coming
to that purpofe ; thofe that are without the

Houfe are as guilty of the Burglary, as the 0-

ther that went in. No Man will deny the Law
to be fo. Then weigh your Evidence: It ap-

pears by the Coachman that he faw four Men,
that had Handkerchiefs about their Necks ; two
upon one fide, the other two upon the other

fide of the Door. Though there were but two 1

appeared to Mr. Tryon, yet there being four in i

Company, and Mr. Turner himfelf tells ye, that 1

by the Story from his Intelligence there were
three or four. Whom they were, or whether
there was any or no, God knows 5 but rather

fuppofe it to be a Story of his own framing:

He walk'd up and down on Tower-Hill, took

the Thief by the Throat, and there kept him
about two Hours, and paft Four o'clock before

they brought the fecond Bags. Then weigh that
j

particular Knowledge that Mr. Turner had of all

thefe Things: That upon Wednefday before he

met with this William Turner, a Perfon you fee,

of what Quality I fhall not repeat, he cannot

give account of himfelf what he is ; and that

Night, when this Robbery was committed, he

fays
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fays he was at home ; they are his own Words

:

He might have had Witnefs to have proved this

as well as Mr. Turner. But for James Turner

;

it's true it appears, and no doubt he was that

Night at home: The Conitable went to his

Houfe upon the occafion of Tryon's Man's faying

he fupp'd there, went to find whether he fupp'd

52J
Ham Turner alone, but he that knew the Houfe s

and all the PaiTages and Doors ; knew where the
Keys and Jewels were. Then who probably
fhould be in the Houfe? It was not for a Stran-
ger to be in the Houfe, only one that muft know
all. If that James Turner {hall appear to you to

have a Hand in ir, ifyou think he was Acceflarv,

there; that was indeed falfe: But the Conftable you muft find him guilty as Principal.

and thofe that went there, found them a-bed.

But then take the time when this Robbery was

done : It was between Eight and Nine, and he

was found in bed at paft Ten, tho' indeed the

Thieves faid it was Eleven, as you might under-

ftand by Mr. Tryon: It muft be left to you upon

the Proof. You fee when he comes the next

Day, he undertakes to find out the Thieves, and

that only upon a Sufpicionj that there being a

Col. Turner. God forbid.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. If he were amongft
them, if the Door be opened by a Picklock, it

is a direct: Burglary, as if broke open by an Iron
Bar: But that muft be left to you. In the next
place, to prove the Burglary, you fee what a
Story he tells you, with all the Circumftances,
as if he had been there : He tells you from this

Wild (if there be any fuch, you muft take it up
Purpofe to rob Mr. Tryon a Year before, he goes on his Word) how the Man's Tooth tame out,

to the fame Place now, he found Wild out then :

He had very good Luck ; that becaufe he lodg- ,

cd there a Year before, he muft have the fame

Lodging now : It's a likely matter that Thieves,

as Wild is, ftiould keep their Lodgings thus con-

ftantly. There he finds him, takes him by the

Throat, and there they were playing a while

:

There one comes, goes, and brings fome part

of the Money. After all this, the next Day he

muft take his Word to come again, and to bring

the Jewels. Obferve but this: After which

time as the Money was received, yet by a Token,

though he never faw the Woman before, de-

fcribing her a fhort fat Woman, with a long

black Scarf, he muft meet her, asked her what

fhe wanted, and muft give her Jewels of that

Value : 'Tis one of the fineft fram'd Stories that

I have heard, that this Man lhould come to be

thus privy after himfelf flood charged, and the

Jewels brought for all this; and yet he muft

know nothing of it. You obferve the Evi-

dences, and their Circumftances themfelves

:

The Witneffes he called in point of Reputation,

that I muft leave to you. I have been here many
a fair Time: Few Men that come to be que-

Ilioned, but ihall have fome come and fay, He
is a very honeft Manj I never knew any Hurt
by him : But is this any thing againft the Evi-

dence of the Fad? But you have here the

whole j I fhall leave it to you.

Ld.Ch.Jufi. Bridgman. Gentlemen of the Jury,

my Lord hath repeated to you the Evidence: I

fhall repeat nothing of that 5 only one or two
Things I fnall obferve to you. Firft, In point

of Law : And I muft agree in Opinion with

what my Lord fays. But in this Cafe there will

be fomething more coniidered ; that is, Whe-
ther or no (for this is the Law) if a Man have

a falfe Key, (we are now upon the point ofLawJ
and we ought to be of Counfel with him and

you, to direel: that which is right : If he appear

plainly to be an Accelfary, you muft find him
guilty of this Indictment: For that you muft
confider Circumftances, whether he broke open
the Houfe or no. Then you muft obferve Mr.
Tryon's Door was fhut ; it was not broke open
by a Crow : Therefore you may conclude that

it is very probable they had a Picklock; But

what he meant to do with the other Perfons,

and all other Things about that Affair. Obferve
another Thing of Sir Thomas Chamberlain : Says
he, Wefufpecled him from the firft : We could
not examine any but he would be thrufting in*

and liftening. I fay, admit that you lhould be

by the Evidence perfuaded he had a hand in the

Bufinefs, you muft find him a Principal : For no-

thing in the World more ordinary, if a Man in-

tend to commit fuch a Felony or Burglary, he
will be fure to have Witnefs to prove he was
here, or in fuch a Place, at the Time when this

Robbery was committed. By all that I can
guefs, and I believe that I guefs right, this Rob-
bery was between Eight and Nine o'clock al

Night. When the Conftable came to Mr. Tur-

nery
no doubt, as it was his wileft Way, he was

then in bed j but can prove nothing at all elfe.

The Truth is, upon all that he hath faid him-
felf, if it be true as he hath faid, he hath made
himfelf a direel Acceflary to a Felony : For firft

of all, being examined before a Juftice of Peace,

Sir Thomas Akyn, he faid himfelf that the Money
he carried, was the Money he had of a Gold-

fmith: Truly his whole Story is a direel: Ro=
mance. This Man muft go upon the Friday

Night, about Eleven or Twelve o'clock: And
there is a Proverb of a Blind- Man's catching a-

Hares if it can be applicable to any thing, ic

muft be to this. He muft go between Eleven

and Twelve o'clock at Night without a Lant-

horn, a good way above his own Houfe, and

there he muft walk and think fome Mephifiophi-

lus fhould come and tell him who is the Man :

That he lhould take him by the Throat, though
he could call two more with one Whittle, and

there get him to deliver the Money : Truly he

was a very noble and ingenious Thief. But^ all

this you muft take upon his own Word. Now
he knows the Money was difcovered, then ic

was a Merchant's that had failed, and muft be

fecured for the Ufe of his Wife and Children. If

you do believe all this that he hath faid, he was

neither Principal nor Acceffary to this Felony,

but /Vcceflary enough to JVild; but that's not

the prefent Bufinefs. It is whether upon all

thefe Circumftances, the Money having been

found with them, he being the Man that brought

that I muft leave to you. Either they muft the Money, and his Wife the Jewels, whether

come in by one being in the Houfe, or by a you do believe the reft of the Story he hath

Picklock. But to fay by one in that Houfe, you made for himfelf? If you believe he had ahand

have no Reafon to prefume on that : If by a in the Bufinefs, you muft find him as Principal.

Picklock, whofoever they were, they muft be I fhall defire a little farther Direction: Suppofe

known, not Strangers to the Houfe : Not Wih it were as he fays, That one was within, and he
opens
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opens the Door, and lets in others, if himfclf

was one that did come in 5
I take it to be Bur-

glary in them all ; it was an unlawful coming in.

So that upon all thefe Circumftances, firft, whe-

ther you do believe that he had a hand in it, or

no, or this fine Story that is made ; next, whether

you do believe this was one that was there ; you

muft believe him guilty as Principal. But 1 leave

it to you.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. To the laft I fay, if one

comes in by Day, with a purpofe before-hand

to rob the Houfe by Night, if he opens the

Door, which is almoft impofhble here, becaufe

the Man fwears it was double-lock'd, it muft

be opened with a Key; if he opened the Door,

and the reft come in and rob him, that is Bur-

glary in them all.

Thereupon the Jury withdrew ; and after

near an Hour's Confultion, they returned to

the Court, and took their Places: Their Names
being called, they feverallyanfwered.

CI. of the Peace. Are ye all agreed of your

Verdi&P
Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fpeak for you?
Jury. Foreman.
Clerk. Set James 'Turner to the Bar. Look

upon him : How fay you ? Is he guilty of the

Felony and Burglary whereof he (lands indicted,

or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

John Turner, William Turner, Mary Turner, and

Ely Turner, were by the faid Jury feverally ac-

quitted. V

January the ipth.

In the Morning the faid William Turner was
again arraigned and indicted for the felonious

Healing of 4f /. of the Moneys of William Hill,

Servant to the faid Mr. Tryen, and ftolen in the

faid Robbery of Mr. Tryon ; but the Trial there-

of was deferred till the next Seffions.

Afterwards, fome of the Juftices of the Bench
having received Intimation that Lodgings were
Ltely taken in Duke's- Place by the ftid Col.

Turner, William Turner, and others, for the car-

rying on of the aforefaid Robbery; the faid Col.

Turner and William Turner were feverally exa-

mined by that worthy Gentleman Sir Thomas
Akyn, who with great prudence had managed
this Affair, who prefled feveral Qucftions to the

faid Prifoners •, who finding their faid Defign
fully difcovered, declared as followeth :

The Examination and Confeffion of Colonel

James Turner and William Turner, two

of the 'Perfons in the Robbery of Mr.
Tryon, taken by Sir Thomas Aleyn
Knight and Baronet, in the Prefence of
the Right Honourable Sor Anthony Bate-

man Knight, Lord Mayor of the City of
London, Sir Richard Brown Knight and
Baronet, Sir John Robinfon Knight and
Baronet, Sir Rich. Ford and Sir Rich.

Rives, Knights, Sheriffs of the City of
London, the 19th of Jan. 1663.

THAT the contriving and fetting of this

Robbery was wholly acted by Col. James

Turner ; and that it was in agitation about Chrift-
mas laft, and fhould have been put in execution
a Week fooner, but that the other Friend,
whom Col. Turner brought, was drunk, and one
White, who was one of the Actors, would not
venture his Life with him : That there were four
Perfons that robbed him, Col. James Turner,

William Turner, White a Sollicitor, and White's
Friend, whofe Name they knew not : That up-
on Thurfday the 7th Day of January inftanr,

Col. James Turner, William Turner, White, and
the other Perfon, whofe Name they knew not,
met at the Red-Lion in Bifbopfgate- Street, near to
St. Helen's, about Three of the Clock in the
Afternoon, where they dined: Col. Turner
fetched a Neck of Veal from the Cook's for
their Dinner ; and then they agreed to rob Mr.
Francis Tryon (who lives in Lime-Street) thac
Night, and went to meet again at the fame
Houfe by Six of the Clock that Evening: But
the Room where they were to meet being taken
up, they went over to the Four Swans, or the

Green Dragon, and there they all ftaid till Eight
of the Clock. Col. Turner did then afTure them
that the Doors fhould be opened ; for rhat by his

own Confeffion he had got the Impreffion of the

Key of the Door in Wax, and had another Key
made by it; but knew not the Smith that made
the Key. From that Place Col. Turner carried

them to the new Market in Leadenhall, where
they fat upon the Stalls for the fpace of half an
Hour; and then he came unto them, and told

them the Man and Maid were now gone out,

and that now was their Time. Thereupon Col.

Turner opened the Door with his Key, and lee

them in. Then they went up the Stairs, Col.

Turner leading the way. He lit a Candle in the
Kitchen, and went up into Mr. Tryon's Cham-
ber, all four of them. Col. Timer went near

the Bed's- feet, the Curtains being drawn clofe.

White and the other Perfons put a Cloth into

Mr. Tryon's Mouth, ftopp'd it, and bound his

Feet and his Hands. Col. Turner brought down
the Key of the Ware-houfe and the Counting-
Houfe out of his Pocket, opened the Ware-
Houfe Door and the Counting-Houfe, and took
the Keys of the Iron Cheft, and took out the

Money and the Jewels. William Turner carried
'

two Wallets with four Bags of Money, as he
conceives ; And Co). Turner faid that the faid

William Turner carried four hundred Pounds,and
White carried two Wallets more, fuppofed to be
four Bags of fome hundred Pounds Col. Turner

and the other Perfon carried the reft ofthe Mo-
ney, only Col. Turner carried away the Jewels
in his two Bags. That William Turner did not
fee any Money, but as they faid it was Money.
They did not ftay in Mr. Tryoris Houfe above an

Hour. That they carried all the aforefaid Mo-
ney and Jewels into a Lodging in one Nicholas

Hickenfon's Houfe in Lou fy-Lane in Duke's- Place,

which they hired fome Days before, pretending
it for the Ufe of a Mafter of a Ship, his Mate,
Purfer, and Boatfwain. They carried the Mo-
ney in about Ten o'clock at Night : When the

Maid let them in, they blew out the Candle,

carry'd up the Money and Jewels, William Tur-

ner going under the Name of Purfer. Colonel

Turner and William Turner came away that

Night, and left the Money and theJewels there.

The next Morning Col. Turner fetch'd away the

Money and Jewels at five Turns to his own
Houfe.



1663 . 0. B. for Felony and Burglary; 527
Houfe. And faith, That William Turner was to

have a hundred Pounds of the Money for his

Pains, White and his Friend twenty Pounds a

piece for their Pains, and Colonel Turner was to

have the reft. That William Turner knew not

of any of the Jewels, nor White, none but Col.

Turner. That after that Night William Turner

never faw Col. Turner, nor the other Perfons in

the Robbery, till himfelf with Col. Turner and

others were arraigned for the Fa£t at Newgate.

Neither did the laid William Turner fee any Mo-
1

ney or Jewels opened ; neither did he receive one

Penny of the Money; neither was he in the

Counting-Houfe of Mr. Tryon. That neither

Col. Turner 's Wife nor Sons knew of this Rob-

bery ; only that they helped him to remove the

Money away on Saturday Morning. That the

Money was in the Houfe on Friday at Night,

when the Conftable and Marfhal fcarched his

Houfe-, but they had hid them. That Col.

Turner being asked where the Jewels were on

Saturday Morning, faid, He did deliver them at

Six of the Clock to White in both the Bags.

That the Carcanet of Rubies were not in thofc

Bags. That Col. Turner, in the conclufion,

conferred, That he had not done that he did,

but that he did lately underftand that another

Perfon was made Executor, and that he was re-

folved to have fomewhat.

After Colonel Turner's Examination, Sir Tho-
' was Aleyn told Colonel Turner, that the firft part

of Repentance was Confefllon, the fecond Re-

ftitution ; and he being a convicl: Perfon, and in

all probability not likely to continue long in this

"World, it were much better for him to reftore

' what was ano,ther Man's, than to think to enrich

his Wife and Children, by leaving them that

•which he knew was none of his ; and that one

Penny of his own Eftate left them, would con-

tinue longer with them than a Pound of another

Body's : and thereupon he was preffed to reftore

Mr. Tryon the reft of his Money, and the Car-

canet of Rubies and Diamonds yet in his Cu-
ftody. This had fuch a prefent Influence upon

Mr. Turner, that he faid he would immediately

go and fetch the Carcanet -, which he according-

ly did, and delivered the fame into the hands of

Sir Richard Rives, one of the Sheriffs.

January 1 9, in the Evening.

Clerk. Set James Turner to the Bar, James Tur-

ner, hold up thy Hand: Thou ftandeft here con-

victed of Felony and Burglary, for the felonious

ftealing of the Goods and Money of Francis

Tryon ; what canft thou fay, why the Court
Ihould not give thee Judgment to die according
to Law ?

Col. Turner. My Lord, I humbly defire your
Honour, and the Honourable Bench, you would
be pleafed to grant me a Reprieve.

J. Howel. That we cannot do i the Court muft
give Judgment upon you : If you can by any
means prevail with his Majefty to do it, you
may ufe your Intereft 1 but the Court cannot do
it.

Col. Turner. I defire your Honours I may be
tranfported.

J. Howel. That likewife is in the power of his

Majefty : That he may do, if he pleafe. It is

not in the power of the Court : We have no-
thing to do but to give Judgment.

Col. Turner. You do it with others.

J. Howel. No, not in this Cafe of Burglary >

but leave that to his Majefty's mere Mercy and
Grace.

Col. Turner. My Lord, I lTiall humbly defire

that my Wife and the two Youths may be dis-

charged.

J. Howel. She is found Not Guilty j and there-

fore fhe {ball have her Acquittal upon the Dif-

charge of the Goal. Thole that are acquitted,

they muft be difcharged, if tfe8 Court do not fee

Caufe for their further Detention.

Col. Turner. I pray the young Man and my
Wife may be difcharged.

J. Howel. Whofoever are found not Guilty,

muft have their Difcharge according to Law.
Col. Turner. My Lord, I hope the Bench is

fatisfied about the young Man.

J. Howel. Say no more.
Col. Turner. Your Honour's humble Servants

Clerk. Set James Turner to the Bar.

J. Howel. I muft pronounce the Judgment of

the Court, which is, That you go to the Placefrom
whence you came, and fo to that Place of Execution

which jhall be appointed to you by Authority, there

to be hanged by the Neck till you be dead; and the

Lord have Mercy on your Soul.

Accordingly the faid Col. James Turner was
drawn in a Cart from Newgate to Lime- Street-

End in Leadenhall-Sreet, the zift of January,

and was there executed on a Gibbet erected for

that purpofe.

See his Speech, and Deportment, in State Trials^

Vol. VIII. p. 37f— 37P.

The
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LXV. Tfo 5TnWx <?/JohnTwyn* Printer, for High-

Treafon; o/Thomas Brewster Bookfeller, Simon
Dover t Printer, Nathan Brooks Bookbinder, for

Mifdemeanours; at the Old-Baily, the 20th and izd of

February i66f. 16 Car. II.

1
1VE feveral Indictments being drawn

up, viz. one of High-Treafon, a-

gainft John Twyn Printer} and the

other four for Sedition, viz. two a-

gainft Thomas Brewfter Bookfeller,

one againft Simon Dover Printer, and one againft

Nathan Brooks Bookbinder} were prefented to

the Grand Inqueft in London, at the Seffions of

Goal- Delivery of Newgate, holden at Juftice-

Hall in the Old-Baily, the 19th Day of February

1665. Except that againft Brooks, which was

found the Day following, by the fame Inqueft.

And after divers WitnefTes were fworn and exa-

min'd before the faid Grand Inqueft, the faid

Bills of Indictment were feverally returned Billa

Vera.

The Names of the faid Grand Inqueft being

as followeth, viz.

Arthur Jourdan,

Arthur Browne,

Simon Rogers,

James Whetham,
Ralph Blore,

Jfaac Barton,

Roger Locke,

Thomas Cooper,

Samuel Taylor,

Roger Hart,

John Watfon,

ChriJiopherPits,

Thomas Gerrard,

John Cropper,

Thomas Partington-,

Ralph Coppinger,

Matthew Pelazer.

At Juftice-Hall in the Old-Baily, Feb. 20,

in the Morning.

THE Court being fet, Proclamation was

made: « O Yes! All manner of Perfons

« that have any thing more to do at this Sef-

« fions of the Peace, and Seffions of Oyer and

« Terminer, held for the City of London, and

< Seffions of Goal-Delivery holden for the City

« of London and County of MiMlefex-, draw near

« and give your Attendance, for now the Court

< will proceed to the Pleas of the Crown of the

e faid City and County.'

Godfave the King.

Silence commanded.

Clerk of the Peace. Set John Twyn to the Bar:

[who was fet there accordingly.] John Twyn, hold

,T^p thy Hand.

Twyn. I defire to underftand the meaning of it.

\_But being told he mufi hold up his Hand in order

to his Trial, he held it up.~]

Clerk, &c. ' Thou ftandeft indicted in London
by the Name of John Twyn, late of London
Stationer, for that thou as a falfe Traitor a-

gainft the moft Illuftrious Charles the Second,
by the Grace of God, of England, Scotland,

France, and Ireland, King, Defender of the

Faith, Ifjc. thy fupreme and natural Lord and
Sovereign—— not having the Fear of God in

thine Heart, nor weighing the Duty of thy
Allegiance, but being moved and feduced by
the lnftigation of the Devil ; and the cordial

Love, true Duty, and natural Obedience,
which true and faithful Subjects towards our
Sovereign Lord the King bear, and of righc

ought to bear, altogether withdrawing; mind-
ing and with all thy force intending the Peace
and common Tranquillity of this Kingdom to

difturb ; and Sedition and Rebellion within
thefehis Majefty's Kingdoms to move, ftirup,

and procure ; and Difcord between our faid

Sovereign and his Subjects to make and move

;

the 27th Day of Oclober, in the Year of the

Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord Charles the.

Second, by the Grace of God, &c. the ifth,

at the Parifh of St. Bartholomews, in the Ward
of Farringdon without, London, aforefaid, trai-

toroufly didft compofe, imagine, and intend

the Death and final Deftruction of our faid

Sovereign Lord the King, and the Antientand

Regal Government of England to change and
fubvert; and our faid Sovereign Lord the

King of his Crown and Regal Government to

depofe and deprive. And thefe thy moft wic-

ked Treafons and traitorous Imaginations to

fulfil, thou the faid John Twyn, the faid 27th

Day of Oclober, in the Year aforefaid, in the

Parifh and Ward aforefaid, advifedly, devilifhr

ly
}
and malicioufly didft declare, by imprint-

ing a certain Seditious, Poifonous, and Scan-

dalous Book, Entitled, A Treatife of the Exe-

cution ofjuftice, &c. In which faid Book,

amongft other things, thou the faid John Twyn,

the 27th Day of Oclober, in the Year afore-

faid, in the Parifh and Ward aforefaid, falfly,

malicioufly, and traitoroufly didft imprint, &V.— againft the Duty of thy Allegiance, and
* the

* Keljng's Reports. 22. f Ibid. *3-
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• the Statute in that cafe made and provided

j

1 and againft the Peace of our faid Sovereign

1 Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.'

What fay'ft thou, John Twyn, art thou Guilty

of this High-Treafon whereof thou ftandeft in-

dicted, or Not Guilty?

Twyn. I defire leave to fpeak a few words :

My Lord, I am a very poor Man ; I have been

in Prifon feveral Months

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Twyn. With all due Submiflion to your Ho-

nours, I defire to fpeak a few words

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You mult firft plead to

your Indictment, and then you may fay what

will i that's the Rule of the Law.you Were
ceive no Expoftulations till you have pleaded to

the Indictment, Guilty or Not Guilty.

Twyn. I do not intend to anfwer to the Indict-

ment, by what I mall now fay ; I am a poor

Man, have a Family and three fmall Children,

I am ignorant of the Law, and have been kept

Prifoner divers Months —
Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Pray plead to the Indict-

ment ; you {hall be heard, fay what you will

afterwards.

Twyn. I humbly thank you, my Lord.

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Twyn. I befeech you to allow me Counfel,

land fome Confiderat'ion ; I defire it with all Sub-

'miffion.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You muft plead firft i then

,ask what you will.

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Twyn. Not Guilty of thofe Crimes.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. God forbid you mould.

Clerk. How wilt thou be try'd ?

Iwyn. I defire to be try'd in the prefence of

that God that is the Searcher of all Hearts, and

the Difpofer of all things.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. God Almighty is prefent

herej there is no other Trial by the Law of

England, but by God and the Peers, that is the

Country, honeft Men. You {hall have all your

Challenges, and all that's due to you, by the

help of Godi we are bound to be your Counfel,

to fee you have no wrong : therefore put your-

felf upon your Trial, fay how you will be try'd.

Twyn. I defire to be try'd in the Prefence of

God.
Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. So you {hall: God Al-

mighty is prefent here, looks down, and beholds

what we do here 5 and we {hall anfwer feverely,

if we do you any wrong. We are as careful of

our Souls, as you can be of yours. You muft

anfwer in the words of the Law.
Twyn. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Now fay what you will.

Twyn. I am a very poor Man.
Ld Ch. Ju&.Hyde. Nay, let me interrupt you

thus far : Whatever you fpeak in your Defence,

to acquit yourfelf of this Crime, that you may
referve till by and by. This is but an Arraign-
ment ; afterwards the Evidence for the King is

co.be heard, then make your Defence. If you
have any Witneffes on your part, let's know
their Names, we'll take care they {hall come in.

If I did not miftake, you defiredto have Coun-
"elj was that your Requeft?
Twyn. Yes.

j
Ld Chief Juftice Hyde. Then I will tell you,
V o l. II.

we arc bound to be of Counfel with you, in
point of Law j that is, the Court, my Brethren
and my felf, are to fee that you fuffer nothing
for your want of Knowledge in Matter of Law

;

I fay, we are to be of Counfel with you. But
for this horrid Crime, (I will hope in Charity
you are not Guilty of it, but if you are) it is the
moft abominable and barbarous Treafon that ever
I heard of, or any Man elfe: The very Title of
the Book (if there were no more) is as perfectly

Treafon as poflibly can be. The whole Book
through, all that is read in the Indictment, not
one Sentence, but is as abfolute High-Treafon
as ever I yet heard of. A Company of Mad-
brains, under pretence of the Worfhip and Ser°

vice of God, to bring in all Villanies and A-
theifm, (as is feen in that Book.) What a horrid

thing is this ! But you {hall have free Liberty of
defending your felf. To the Matter of Fact,
whether it be fo or no : In this Cafe the Law
does not allow you Counfel to plead for you;
but in Matter of Law, we are of Counfel for

you, and it mall be our Care to fee that you
have no Wrong done you.

Clerk. Set Simon Dover to the Bar: \JVho he"

ingfet, his Indiclment was read to the purpofe fol-

lowing.']

Thou ftandeft indicted in London, by the Name
of Simon Dover, late of London Stationer, for

that thou, Sec. the ifth Day of Febr. in the \\th

Tear of the Reign, &c. at the Pari/h of St. Leo-
nardo Fofter-lanej in the Ward of Alderfgate,

London, faljly, malicioufly and wickedly, didji im-

print a certain falfe, malicious, fcandalous and fe-

ditious Book, intuled, The Speeches and Prayers

of fome of the late King's Judges, &c. land the

fame didfi fell and utter, againft the Duty of thy

Allegiance, Sec. How fayeft thou, Simon Dover,

art thou Guilty of this Sedition and OfFenees

whereof thou ftandeft indicted^ or Not Guilty ?

Dover. My Lord, and the honourable Bench s

I defire I may be heard a few Words
Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. When you have pleaded,

you {hall.

Dover. I mall be willing to plead-

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. You muft either confefs

it, or plead Not Guilty. I hope you are Not
Guilty of this foul Crime.

Dover. 1 am not, by the ;Laws of England?

Guilty.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. You fhall be tried by the

Laws of England, whether you are Guilty or no;

Dover. I am willing to be fo, and I am glad

I am come before you to that purpofe, having

been long a Prifoner : I am Not Guilty of any

thing in this Indictment, neither as to Matter,

Time nor Place.

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. What do you mean by
Time and Place?

Dover. I am not guilty in Manner or Form,

And now, my Lord, 1 being altogether ignorant

of the Law, I humbly beg Counfel, and a Copy
of my Indictment : I hope I mall not be de-

ftroyed, becaufe I am ignorant of the Law : I

have been eighteen Weeks clofe Prifoner.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. What would you have?

Dover. I defire Time, and Counfel afligned

me, and a Copy of my Indictment.

Yyy Ld Ch.
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Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. For a Copy of your Indict-

ment, though it be for a foul Offence, yet ("in

Favour to you, it being not made fo Capital as

the other ) we cannot deny it you : For Coun-

fel you may have what you will, we need not

affign it. [Make him a Copy,] but I will tell

you, we {hall try it now.

Dover. I do proteft I knew not what I came

for 5 I never imagined what my Indictment was,

I know not what there's in't—

—

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. You fhall have a Copy

made prefently. If you have Counfel or Wit-
neffes, fend for them; we muft try you to-day;

but you will have fome time, for we will begin

with the other.

Dover. I beg I may have a Copy of the In-

dictment in Englijh, I cannot underfland Latin.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. That that is againft you,

is in Englijh; the Latin fignifies no more, but

that you did feditioufly and malicioufly print all

that which is in Englijh.

Dover. I hope 1 have done nothing, but I

fhall acquit my felf of.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. I hope you may ; but we
can give you nothing but a Copy of the Record :

fend for your own Clerk to underfland it.

Clerk. Set Thomas Brewfter to the Bar : \JVho

'was fet j and then his Indiclment was read, which

was; ]

That £<?^<?/bVThornas Brewfter, late of Lon-
don, Stationery not having* &Cc. [in the Form
aforefaid] the ifth Day of February, &c. at the

Parijh of Little St. BarrholomewV, in the Ward
of Faringdon without, London, malicioufly, %Cc.

did caufe to be imprinted the aforefaid Book of

Speeches and Prayers, &c. and the fame did fell

and utteri againft the Duty, &c.

"Who being demanded, Whether he was guilty

of that Sedition and Offence? anfwered, Not
Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be tried ?

Brewfler. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. Say what you will now.
Brewfler. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, I

am wholly ignorant of the Proceedings of the

Law ; I have been aclofe Prifoner thefe eighteen

Weeks, no body to advife with me, fcarce my
Wife fuffered to come to me j I defire fome
time to take advice.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. I doubt we fhall not be
able, if you mean till next Seflions

Brewfler. No, my Lord, I have had too long
Imprifonment already, would I had been here

the firft Seflions after I was a Prifoner.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. If you defire a Copy of
the Indictment and Counfel, you fhall have it.

Brewfler. I humbly thank you j but I muft
have time to confult them, or they will do me
little good.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. If you have any Friends or

Witneffes, you may fend for them.

Brewfler. I thank you, my Lord.

Clerk. Thomas Brewfler, thou ftandeft again

inditledin London by the Name of, &c. for that

thou not having, Stc. the loth Day of July, in the

I yh Tear, 8cc. at the Parijh of Little St. Bar-

tholomew'^, in the Ward of Faringdon without,
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Loridon, &c. falfly, malicioufly, fcandaloufly and

feditioufly, didfl caufe to be imprinted a Book, in-

titled, The Phoenix, or the Solemn League and
Covenant, &V. And the [aid Book didfl fell

and utter, againft the Duty, &c. How fayeft

thou ? Art thou guilty of this Sedition and Of-
fence whereof thou ftandeft indicted, or Not
Guilty ?

Brewfler. Not Guilty, my Lord.
Clerk. How will you be tried ?

Brewfter. By God and the Country.

Clerk. Set Nathan Brooks to the Bar.

Thou ftandeft indicted in London by the Name
of Nathan Brooks, late of London, Stationer;

not having, &c. [The fame as to Make, Time,
and Place, with that of Dover7

sj and knowing the

faid Book to be fcandalous and feditious, did fell,

utter and publifh the fame, againft the Duty, Sec.

How fayeft thou, Nathan Brooks, art thou Guilty
of this Sedition and Offence whereof thou
ftandeft indicted, or Not guilty?

Brooks. Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be tried ?

Brooks. By God and the Country.
Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. If you defire to have a

Copy of your Indictment and Counfel, you may
have it.

Brooks. I am a poor Man, I have not Money
to get Counfel i I hope I fhall not want that

that belongs to me by Law, for want of Money.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You fhall not, by the

Grace of God.

Clerk. Set John Twyn, Simon Dover, Thomas

Brewfter and Nathan Brooks, to the Bar.

Clerk. John Twyn, thofe Men that you fhall

hear called, and perfonally appear, muft pafs be-

tween our Sovereign Lord the King and you,

upon Trial of your Life and Death ; if you will

challenge them or any of them, you muft do it

when they come to the Book to be fworn, be-

fore they be fworn. And you that are for Sedi-

tions and Offences, look to your Challenges. .

Doner. We defire we may have a Jury of

Bookfellers and Printers, they being the Men
that only underfland our Bufinefs.

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. There are thofe already

that underfland it as well as Bookfeliers or Prin-

ters; befides, half the Jury are fuch, and they

are able to make the reft underfland it : but you

may challenge whom you will.

The Jury were,

William Samborne,

William Rutland,

Thomas Honylove,

Robert Lucas,

Robert Beverjham,

Richard Royflon,

William Hall,

"John Williams,

"James Flejher,

Simon Waterfon,

Samuel Ihomfon,

Thomas Roycroft.

Who were feverally fworn by the Oath fol-

lowing :

Tou fhall well and truly try, and true Deliverance

make, between our Sovereign Lord the King, and the

Prifoners at the Bar, whomyoufloall have in charge,

according to your Evidence. So help you God.
All
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All Four. Wc are all fatisfied with thejury.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation. O Yes!

IP any one can inform my Lords the King's Jus-

tices, the King's Serjeant, or the King's At-

torney, before this Inqueft be taken between our

Sovereign Lord the King and the Prifmers at

the Bar, let them come forth, and they (hall be

heard; for now the Priioners fland at the Bar

upon their Deliverance ; and all others that are

bound by Recognizance to give Evidence againft

any of the Priioners at the Bar, come forth and

give Evidence, or elfe you will forfeit your Re-
cognizance.

Clerk. John Tivyn, hold up thy Hand. You
of the Jury, look upon the Prifoner, and hear-

ken to his Caufe j
you fhall underftand that he

Hands indicted in London by the Name of John

linyn, late of London., Stationer : [Here the In-

dictment is read over again.'] Upon this Indict-

ment he hath been arraigned, and thereunto hath

pleaded Not Guilty $ and for his Trial, hath

put hirnfelf upon God and the Country^ which

Country you are : Your Charge is to enquire

whether he be guilty of the High-Treafon, in

Manner and Form as he (lands indicted, or not

guilty: if you find him guilty, you fhall inquire

what Goods and Chattels, Lands and Tenements

he had at the time of committing the faid Trea-

fon, or at any time fithence. If you find him hot

gudty, you fhall enquire whether he fled for it;

if you find that he fled for it, you ihall inquire

of his Goods and Chattels, Lands and Tene-
ments, as if you had found him guilty: If you
find him not guilty, nor that he did fly for it,

fay Co, and no more, and hear your Evidence.

Mr. North, Barrifter of the Law. JohnTwyn
ftands here indicted, for that he as a falfe Trai-

tor to the moft Illuftrious Charles the Second,

&V. not having the Fear of God before his Eyes,

nor weighing the Duty of his Allegiance,; &c.
\_Here was opened the Form of the lndiclment .~\ To
which he hath pleaded Not Guilty ; if there (hall

be fufficient Evidence given you of the Charge
in the Indictment, you mud do the King and
the Nation that Juftice, as to find him guilty,

that Sentence of Law may pafs on him.

Mr. Serjeant Morton. May it pleafe your
Lord (hips, and you Gentlemen that are fworn
of this Jury, I am of Counfel with the King a-

gainft John Twyn, the Prifoner here at Bar, who
Hands indicted of a mod horrid and damnable
Treafon : It is, the comparing and imagining the

Death of the King, to deprive him of his Croivn and
Royal Government, and to alter and change the an-

tient Legal and Fundamental Government of this

Kingdom; which he has endeavoured to do, and
did intend to do, by printing a traitorous and fe-

ditious Book, which in it (elf contains as many
and as great Treafons, as it was pofllble either

for the Malice of the Devil, or the corrupt and

treafonable Thoughts of blood-thirfty Men to

invent: It contains Treafons againft the King in

his own Royal Perfon ; againft his Government,
both Ecclefialtical and Civil; full of Treafons,

(as my Lord Chief Juftice was pleafed to obferve

to you) Treafons againft the Queen, Scandals a-

gainft all manner of Profefiions both in Church
and Kingdom, of Magiftracy and Miniftry. My
Lord, there are in this Indictment thirteen Pa-

ragraphs of that treafonable Book recited j and

Vol- II.

each of them contains as many Treafons as there

be Lines in it. Nay, my Lord, this treafonable

Book was intended to fet a Flame in this Na-
tion, to raife and ftir up Rebellion in this King-
dom againft the King and his Government. I

(hall obferve to your Lordihip the Time when it

was to be printed; it was in the beginning of
Oblober, your Lordfhip knows, and 1 do not
doubt but the Jury have heard, that there was a

great and dangerous Defign in this Nation, fee

on foot by Men of dangerous Principles, to im-
broil this Nation in a new War, for the De-
flruction of the King and his Government. !t

was executed in part, as far as Time and other

Circumftances would give way and leave to the

Undertakers, (the 1 ith of Oclober laft ; ) and, my
Lord, it was proved upon the Execution of a

Commifiton of Oyer and Terminer at 'fork, that

there was a Council here in London, that fat to

prepare Matter for an Univerfal Rebellion all

England over. They Tent their Agitators into

the North, Weft, all Parts, to give notice to

their Party to be ready to rife at a certain Time :

feVer'al Days were appointed, but it feems they

could not be ready till that nth of Oclober ', for

the feditious Books that were to lead on that

Defign, and the Libels and Declarations could
not be printed before that Day : and truly that

had been printed and publifhed too, if there had
not been great Diligence ufed by the King's

Agents and Minifters, to take them juft as they

were preparing it. This Book, Gentlemen, doth
contain a great deal of Scandal upon the King's

Government, difperfing falfe and bafs Rumours,
to the prejudice of it. It is a Rule in my Lord
Coke, That the difperfing of falfe and evil Rumours

againft the King and Government, and Libi it

Juftices of the Kingdom, they are the Forerunners

of Rebellion.

We fhall now go to the Proof : We fhall prove

that this Prifoner at the 'Bar. to print this Book,

had two Preffes in one Room ; That he himfelf

did work at one of thofePr:(Tes, his Servants at

the other, by his Command, and in his Prefence;

That he did compofe part or it, print the Sheets,

correct the Proofs, and revifethem all in his own
Houfe, which were corrected and brought back
into the Work-houfe by himfelf, in fo (hort a

time, that they could not be carried abroad to

correct, fo that he muft needs correct them him-

felf; That this Work was done in the Night-

time, (and it was proper, it was a Deed of great

Darknefs, and not fit indeed to fee the Light j

and it was well it was ftrangled in the Birth, or

elfe, for ought I know, we might by this time

have been wallowing in our Biood.) We fhall

make it appear, that this Man, when Mr. VE-
flrange came to fearch his Houfe,brake the Forms,

conveyed away as many of the Sheets as he could

from the Prefs to other Places; yet notwithftand-

ing, God's Providence was fo great in the

Thing, that he left there three or four Sheets,

which Mr. /L'Efirange then feized on, and many
more within a little time after : And fomewhar.

of the fame Matter remained upon part of a.

Form of Letter, which his hafte would not

give him leave to break. When he was charg'd

with it by Mr. L'Efirange, he confefled that he

had printed fome Sheets "of this feditious Book -,

and being demanded by Mr. L'Efirange, What
he thought of it? He told him, He thought it'

was mettlefonte- Stuff : he had great Joy in it; he

Y y y 2 con-
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confefled he had received Money for printing of

this; and much other Matter, taken upon Exa-

mination before Mr. Secretary. We {hail call our

Witneffes; I mould have obferved to you, That
this Man would have it done with all the pri-

vacy that could be, and to be done forthwith ;

there was great hafte of it, about the beginning

of Oftober, and the Defign in the North was
upon the 1 2th ; fo that it was clearly intended

for that Defign.

Several Witneffes were fworn.

Jofepb Walker. My Lord, whereas my Matter

is indicted for printing this Book-
Ld Hyde. Your Mailer ! who is your Matter?

Walker. He at the Bar.

Ld Hyde. What fay you of it?

Walker. I delire to fee the Book; [/'/ ivas

Jhewed him.'] About the four firft Pages of this

Treatife I compofed.

Ld. Hyde. Who delivered it .to you to com-
pofe ?

Walker. My Matter delivered the Copy to me.

Ld Hyde. What do you mean by compofing ?

Walker. Setting the Letters.

Ld. Hyde. Well, and you fet the Letters to

print according to the Copy ; and you had it of
your Matter, had you ?

Walker. Yes, my Lord ; but all this Copy we
did not print.

[Part of the Copy in Manufcript being (hewed

him> he faid, He compofed by that Copy!]

Serjeant Morton. How much did you print?

Walker. About three Sheets.

Serj. Morton. How many of thofe did your
Matter compofe ?

Walker. Truly, Sir, I cannot tell.

Ld. Hyde. Did he compofe one?
Walker. As to a whole one, I cannot fay.

* Mr. Ser- Mr. Recorder. * Did he compofe
jiant Wilde, the Title?

Walker. Here is no Title ?

Mr. Recorder. No ? read the top-.

Walker. A Treatife of the Execution, &V.
\He reads the Title.]

Mr. Recorder. Did your Matter compofe that ?

Walker. No, 1 did.

Ld Hyde. Did your Matter give you that to

compofe ?

Walker. Yes.

Serj . Morton. Who compofed the fecond,

third and fourth Sheet ?

Walker. I compofed fome of them, but to

particularize, I cannot.

Ld. Hyde. Who gave you what you did ?

Walker. My Matter.

Ld. Hyde. Can you turn to any part of that

you did compofe ?

Walker. I cannot tell that.

Ld Hyde. You compofed, you fay, four Pages:

there are eight in a Sheet : who compofed the

other of the fame Sheet ?

Walker. I think my Matter did.

Ld Hyde. At the fame Time, and in the fame

Room with you?
Walker. He wrought not in the fame Room.
lad Hyde. After you had ftamp'd the Sheet,

who did perufe and over-read it, to fee if it were
right ?

Walker. I carried them into the Kitchen, and

laid them down upon the Drefler by my Ma-
ter.

i6CarJL
Ld. Hyde. Who compared them ?

Walker. I know not.

Ld Hyde. W ho brought them back to you ?

Walker. My Matter brought them into the
Work-houfe, and laid them down.
Ld Hyde. Was there any body in the Houfc

that might correct it?

Walker. Not that I law.

Ld Hyde. When you had carried a Sheet
down, how long was it ere it was brought back
again ?

Walker. About an Hour, or an Hour and a
half.

Ld Hyde. Was there any Body in the Houfc
befides you and your Matter?

Walker. There was my Fellow-Apprentice,
and the Woman that keeps the Houfe.
Ld Hyde. Were there no Strangers there ?

Walker. No, my Lord.
Mr. Recorder. Were they printed in your

Matter's Houfe?
Walker. Yes.

Serj. Morton. What Room ?

Walker. In the Prefs-Room.
Serj. Morton. Did your Matter work at the

Prefs about this Work any part of the time ?

Walker. Ye?, I faw him beat fome Sheets.
Ld Hyde. When you had printed one Sheet,

were there not fome Miftakes of the Letters to
be mended ?

Walker. Yes, there were Literals.

Ld Hyde. Who made the Amendment ?

Walker. Upon my Oath I cannot tell.

Ld Hyde. Do you believe it to be your Ma-
tter's ?

Walker. I cannot tell that.

Ld Hyde. Have you feen your Matter write,

heretofore ?

Walker. I have feen him write, but becaufe I

have heard of them that could counterfeit Mens
Hands, I dare not fwear it was his Writing.
Ld Hyde. Were the Amendments that were

brought back, like his Hand ?

Walker. The Letters were fomething like

them, but I cannot fwear positively that they
were his.

Ld Hyde. No, that you cannot, unlefs you
faw him write them; but was it like his Hand?

Walker. It was not much unlike his Hand.
Mr. Recorder. Did not your Matter ufe to cor-

rect other Works before this ?

Walker. Yes.

Mr. Recorder. Then by the Oath that you have
taken, were not the Corrections of this Book
like thofe of other Corrections by his own
Hand ?

Walker. I know not that.

Mr. Recorder. Did any body correct Books in

your Houfe but your Matter ?

Walker. No, Sir.

Serj. Morton. Did you fee your Matter with

Copy ?

Walker. Yes, he had Copy before him.
Serj. Morton. What time was this printed?

by Night or by Day?
Walker. In the Night-time.
Serj. Morton. What Directions did your Matter

give you about printing it; did he direct any

Privacy?

Walker. He was not much defirous of that.

Mr. Recorder. At what time did you work a*

bout it ?

Walker.
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Walker

or five.

Serj. Morton. Pray, Sir, thus ; were you in

the Houfe when Mr. UEftrange came up ?

iValhr. Yes.

Serj. Morton. Were you at work then or be-

fore ?

Walker. Not when he was above, but imme-

diately before I was.

Mr. Recorder. You are not bound to conceal

Treafon, though you are bound to keep your

Mailer's Secrets.

Serj. Morton. What were you then at work

upon
the Sheet DWalker. Upon the Signature D,

of this Trcatife.

Serj. Morton. What did your Mafter fay, when

you told him Mr. UEftrange was below?

Walker. Very few words 5 I cannot be posi-

tive in them.

Serj. Morton. To what purpofe were they ?

Walker. Hearing fome body knock at the

Door, I went down into the Compofing-Room,

and looked through the Window, and faw

People ; I imagined Mr. UEftrange was there,

and I told my Matter : whereupon he laid, He

was undone, or to that effect.

Mr. Recorder. Did he not wifh you to make

bafte in compofing it ?

Walker. No, he did not.

Mr. Recorder. How long had you been at work
upon it ? how many Days?

Walker. I cannot tell juftly.

Mr. Recorder. You can guefs.

Walker. About three or four Days.

Mr. Recorder. Did not your Mafter work in

that time ?

Walker. He was in the Work-houfe, and did

fet Letters.

Mr. Recorder. Did henotlikewife print ?

Walker. Yes, he did.

Serj. Morton. Did not you, by his Direction,

break the Form when Mr. UEftrange came to

fearch ?

Walker. I brake one indeed.

Serj . Morton. What became of the other ?

Walker. My Fellow-Apprentice brake it.

Serj. Morton. By whofe Direction ?

Walker. I had no order for it; I brought it

down, and went to fet againfl a Poll, and it fell

in pieces.

Serj. Morton. Did you ask your Mafter who
delivered him this Copy to print ?

Walker. I did ask him two feveral times ; but

he made no Anfwer.

Ld Hyde. Did he not fay, He would not tell

you ; or that it was no matter to you ; nor nothing ?

Walker. Yes, he did aftewards fay, It was
no matter to me.

Mr. Recorder. Did not your Mafter nor Fel-

low-Apprentice tell you who brought the

Copy ?

Walker. No.
Mr. Recorder. And did not you know ?

Walker. No.
Serj. Morton. Was he not ufed to tell you the

Authors of Books that you printed?

Walker. The Authors he did not ; but for

whom they were printed he ufed to tell me.
My Lord, I humbly beg pardon for what I did,

I was his Apprentice.

Ld Hyde. How many Sheets did you Print ?

Walker. Two Reams onaSheet, which makes
aThoufand.
Ld Hyde. The firfl Page, being the Title of

it, your Mailer brought to you to compoie; at

the fame time when you were compofing one
part, your Mafter was compofing another pare

of the fame Sheet in the next Room ; and
part of it your Mafter did print as well as com-
pofe : I think you faid this?

Walker. Yes.

Ld Hyde. Likewife that the Proofs were car-

ried to him to overlook, and he brought them
back within an Hour, or an Hour an half after,

and hid them down in the Work-houfe ; and
that you faw the Hand of the Amendments, but
you cannot fwear it was his, only you fay that

it was not unlike it ; and that he had corrected

former Sheets that you had printed, and that

the Hand with which he corrected others, and
this, was alike: and that there was no Stranger
in the Houfe to correct ic ?

Walker. Not that 1 faw.

Ld Hyde. This is the Subftance of what you
faid ?

Walker. Yes.

Mr. Recorder. Did your other Man, or you,
ever correct ?

Walker. No.
Mr. Recorder. Did he ufe other Correctors at

any time ?

Walker. Yes, about fome Books.
Mr Recorder. What Books ?

Walker. Hooker's Ecclefiaftical Polity.

Ld Hyde. You did rife to work at Two of
the clock in the Morning about it; and your
Mafter faid when you told him Mr. UEftrange
was below, that he was undone?

Walker. It was fo, my Lord.
Mr. North. Mr.L'Eftrange, pray tell my Lord

and the Jury of your taking this.

Mr. UEftrange. My Lord, I do remember
that three or four Days, or thereabouts, before

the 1 2th of Oblober laft, I had notice of a Prefs

that had been at work for feveral Nights in

Cloth- Fair, and employed a Perfon to watch the
Houfe; who told me that they ftill gave over
early in the Morning, at Day-light, or foon af-

ter. At length Intelligence was brought me in

thefe very Words, That now they were at it as

hard as they could drive, (which was about Four
in the Morning.) I arofe, went to one of the

King's Meffengers, and defired him to take a

Printer by the way •, who did fo : and I called

up a Conftable, and fo went to Twyn's Houfe,
where we heard them at Work. I knocked a

matter of a quarter of an Hour, and they would
not open the Door; fo that I was fain to fend

for a Smith to force it j but they perceiving

that, opened the Door, and let us in. There
was a Light when we came •, but before the

Door was opened, it was put out. When i

was got up Stairs, and a Candle lighted, I found

a Form broken, (that is, the Letters difperfed)

only one Corner of it {landing entire; which was

Compared by a Printer that was there, with a»

Corner of a Page newly printed, and appear'd

to be the fame. This Form was brought down
out of the Prefs-Room into the Compc fing-

Rnom. As vet we could not find the whole

Impreftion ; but at laft they were found thrown

down a Pair of Back-Stairs. I remember they

told me the Impreftion was a Thoufand. I asked

bina
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him where he had the Copy ? He told me, He

knew not •, it was brought to him by an unknown

Hand. I told him he muft give an account of

it. He told me at the laft, He had it from Cal-

vert's Maid. I asked him where the Copy was ?

He told me, He could not tell. (When I fpealc

of the Copy, I mean the Manufcript.) We
fearched near two Hours, and could not find it :

And at length went thence to the Conftablc's

Houfe in Smithfield, ai d (laid there a while with

the Prifoner. 1 asked him, Mr. Twyn, faid I,

who corrected this Sheet? Mas, faid he, I have

no Skill in fuch things. Who rev 1 fed it then ?

Who fitted it for the Prefs? Truly I had no body

but my felf ; I read it over. What thought you

upon reading it ? Metbought it was mettlefome

Stuff : The Man was a hot fiery Man that wrote

it. But he knew no Hurt in it.

Serjeant Morton. When you had taken thefe

Sheets, were they wet, or not?

Mr. UEftrange. They were not only wet, but

half of them were imperfect, printed only on

one fide. Miffing the Copy, I told him after

he was carried to Whitehall; Mr. Twyn (faid I)

it may poffibly do you fome good yet, to bring

forth the Copy : If you will be fo ingenuous to

produce the Copy, and difcover the Author, you

may find Mercy for yourfelf; pray therefore get

this Copy : Perchance I may make fome ufe of

it. After that, his Servant Bazilla Winfor brought

out this part of the Copy : producing a Sheet

of Manufcript "in Court ]

Ld Hyde. Jofepb Walker, was the whole Copy
of this Book in the Houfe at that time, when
you compofed that which you did ?

Walker. I cannot tell : I faw it but Sheet by

Sheet.

Mr. Recorder. Did not' you fee the whole en-

tire Copy in your Matter's Hand ?

Walker. No: But [taking fome part of the

Manufcript in his Hand, faid'] this is the Hand
that I compofed by.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. UEftrange, where had you

the entire Copy.

Mr UEftrange. It was only the Copy of the

laft Sheet, that I took in the Prefs.

Mr. Recorder. Who helped you to that ?

Mr. UEftrange. Bazilla Winfor, by Direction

of the Prifoner, as I conceive : For I told him,

If you can help me to the Copy, it may do you

fome good j and foon after part of it was brought

me by her. I asked Mr. Twyn further, How
did you difpofe of thofe Sheets which you
had printed, thofe feveral Heaps, whither are

they gone ? He told me, He had delivered thofe

Sheets to Miftrefs Calvert's Maid, at the Rofe

in Smithfield.

Mr. Recorder. You fay he told you Miftrefs

Calvert's Maid received them of him j did you
fince fpeak with that Maid ?

Mr. UEftrange. I was long in fearching Twyn's

Houfe, and one of his Apprentices made his

Efcape, and probably gave notice of it : For the

Night I went to Miftrefs Calvert's Houfe, fhe

and the Maid too were fled. I have fince taken

the Miftrefs, and fhe is now in Cuftody. I have

heard nothing of the Maid fince.

Tuftice Keeling. Twyn owned to you that he

had corrected fome of the Sheets ; that he had

read them, and faid, It was mettlefome Stuff.

Mr. UEftrange. 1 did ask him in the Houfe

of the Conftable,- Who correSed this? The

1 6 Car. II.

Corrector muft certainly know what it was. Said

he,
v

I have no Skill in correcting. But when I

fpeak of correcting, I mean who revifed it, over-

looked it for the Prefs ? I read it over, fays he.

Twyn. I never faid fuch a Word.
Mr. UEftrange. He fpake this in the Prefence

of two or three here prefent. Could you read

over this Book, faid I, and not know that it

was not fit to be printed ? I thought it was a hot

fiery Fellozv ; it was Mettle, or mettlefome Stuff

:

Somewhat to that effect.

Serjeant Morton. What did you hear him con-
fefs before Sir Henry Rennet ?

Mr. UEftrange. He owned the Thing ; that

is, he acknowledged he bad printed the Sheet I

fhewed there, and two other Sheets of the fame
Treatife.

Serjeant Morton. Did he acknowledge he cor-
rected them ?

Mr. UEftrange. I know not whether before
Six Henry Bennet he did, or no;'

Serjeant Morton. What know you about Mo-
ney received by him ?

Mr. UEftrange. He faid Calvert's Maid paid
him 40 s. in part for that Work.

Twyn. I faid I had received Money of Cal-

vert's Maid for Work I had none j but named
not that-.

Mr. Dickenfon fworn*

About the 7th Day of Oclober, it being Wed-
nefday, as I remember, about Five o'clock, we
attended Mr. UEftrange, myfelf and others

:

We came to the Houfe of the Prifoner in Cloth-

Fair, and upon the Back- fide of his Houfe we
ftood liftening a good while, and heard Prefles

a working. Upon that I came to the Fore-parr,

by Mr. L'Eftrange's Order, and knocked ; but
none would aniwer : I took the Conftable's
Staff, and knocked again ; and none would an-
fwer yet. After that Mr. UEftrange knocked
near half an Hour ; and no body coming, he at

laft fent for a Smith's Hammer to force it opens.

Afterwards they came down, and opened the
Door. Then Mr. UEftrange and the Printer

(Mr. Mabb) went up Stairs : I continued below
with the Conftable and the King's Meflenger,
to obferve whether any went in or out. After

which, fome Sheets fell down on the other fide

of the Houfe. Meeting with one of them, anc

perceiving they had discovered the Sheets they
enquired after, I read fome part of it j and find-

ing what it was, I went up, and found the

Sheets thrown behind the Door. Mr. Twyn
(faid I) I wonder you would print fuch a Thing
as this: You could not chufe but know that it was
very dangerous to do any fuch Thing. He an-

fwered, That he did not corftder what it was.

Queftionlefs, faid I, you could not but know ic

was very dangerous ; for when you revifed it, you
muft needs know the Senfe of it. I think it was
a dnngerous Bufinefs ; what did you think of it?

Says he, / thought he was a good fmart angry Fel-

low ; it was mettlefome Stuff : or to that purpofe.

This was the Subftance of our Difcourfe.

I did. fee fome of the Sheets printed on one fide,

and fome on both fides : The Form lay difor-

dered j. yet not fo, but there was one Corne of

it yet remaining, and I having the Sheet in my
Hand did compare them together, and, to the

beft of my Remembrance, 1 do remember thefe

very Words, Execution of
~ Judgment, and Lord'have*

Ld
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Ld Hyde. Who did he fay revlfed the Prefs ?

Dickenfon. He feemed to confefs that he had

corrected it himfelf : for when I urged it to him,

That he could not chufe but know the Matter

of it by reading it ; Truly fays he, / thought he

was an angry[mart Fellow : It was good mettlefome

Stuff, indeed.

Judge Keeling. The Queftion asked by my
Lord is, Whether he did confefs he reviled it,

or whether you did collect it from his Reply ?

Dickenfon. Truly, by that Anfwer I gueffed

he corrected it.

Recorder. Did he confefs that he read it ?

Dickenfon. I put that Queftion to him ; and,

to the belt of my Remembrance, he did not

deny it.

Ld Hyde. To Mr. UEJlrange he confefted he

read it over.

Thomas Mabb pworn.

My Lord, I was with Mr. UEJlrange in this

Man's Houfe j and being there, going up, we
found the Prefs had been lately at work. There

was at each Prefs a Sheet laid j I took them off

the Tinpin, [fome of the Jury underfland that

Term:j They were juft laid upon the Points,

printed on one fide. I gave Mr. UEJlrange thefe

two Sheets, the fame with thefe, [_Jhewing two

Sheets'] fome were perfect, others imperfect. I

could not find the Form a great while. I gave

him the Sheet to perufej and in the mean while

I went down, and below I found the two Forms,

'but broken: Somewhat indeed was Handing

;

whereof 1 took part in my hand, and read in

the Letters. Mr. Dickenfon having the Sheets,

he heard what I read, and looking on the Sheet,

found them agree.

Twyn. W hat were the Words that you read ?

Mr. Mabb. The Words were Execution and

Judgment, and Lord have—— There was a Back-

pair of Stairs out of his Prefs-Room, partly be-

tween his Houfe and his Neighbour's, and in the

Hurry they had thrown the Sheets down there j

part fell behind the Door, and part at the bot-

tom. When I queftioned him how many was
done, he faid five hundred $ but I adjudged

thofe I faw to be about feven hundred and firty.

Looking again over the Door, I efpied the re-

mainder of the Sheets, about two hundred and

fifty more, and I brought them together j and

then he owned there was one thoufand.

Ld Hyde. What elfe do you know ?

Mr. Mabb. At the Conftable's Houfe I heard

him ufe the Words, That it was mettlefome Stuff,

and that no body corretled it but himfelf. Said I,

1 wonder you would offer to do it j you could

not compofe it, but you muft underfland it.

Said he, It was my bad Fortune to meddle with it.

Said I, You loft a Prefs but a little while fince,

1 wonder you would do this. He feemed to be
forrowful.

Serjeant Morton. He did confefs he corrected

it.

Mr. Mabb. Yes, my Lord.
Twyn. No, my Lord, I did not.

John Wickham fworn.

Upon the 7th of October, as I take it, about
Four o'clock in the Morning, Mr. UEJlrange
came to my Houfe, being one of the King's
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MefTengers, and told me I muft go immediately
with him to Cloth-Fair, and fent me to call one
Mr. Mabb by the way. I met Mr. UEJlrange
near Mr. Twyn's Houfe between Five and Six
o'clock : We had a Conftable, and went and
knocked at the Door : They knocked at leaft

half an Hour before they got in. I heard fome
Papers tumbling down, and heard a rattling a-
bove, before they went up. But I flood at the
Back-Door, to fecure any from running out that
way j and at laft, when they faid there were
fome Sheets thrown into the next Houfe, I
went and looked, and there were two or three
hundred, and they were wet, newly come off
the Prefs. That's all I can fay.

Serjeant Morton. Did you hear this Man fay

that he had corrected it ?

Wickham. No : But I having him in Cuftody
at my Houfe, I asked him about it ; he faid, It

was a very bitter Thing, that it was his unhappy
Fortune to meet with it.

Jury. Did he confefs he printed it?

Wickham. Not to me.
Serjeant Morton. He faid, It was a bitter

Thing ; and that it was his unhappy Fortune to meet

with it : Make the befl of that 5 compare that

with the reft of the Evidence.

William Story Sworn.

Gentlemen of the Jury, upon the 7th of Oclo~

berhft, early in the Morning, I was fent for to

Mr. UEJlrange into Cloth-Fair : We went to the
Houfe of this Twyn. After fome time knocking,
they went up Stairs, and brought down feveral

Papers : I know not what they were. I went
into the next Houfe with Mr. Wickham, and
there we found two or three hundred Sheets,

and brought them to Mr. UEJlrange. I asked

the Prifoner at my Houfe, whether he could
not write or read ? He faid, Tes. Did not you
ufe to read what you printed? He faid, Yes.

Did not you know Treafon when you read it ?

It was a fiery Thing; I did not mind it much : But
I fhould have got Money by it.

Mr. Mabb. He owned he had but a very fmall

Price for the doing of it.

Afr.Jofeph Williamfon/zewT?.

That which I can fay is, That I know this

\looking upon a Paper'] to be my own Hand-writ-

ing, and to be the Examination taken of this

Twyn. I took it 5 and he owned it after it was
written.

Serjeant Morton. What was the Subftance of
it?

Ld Hyde. What did he confefs before Mr.
Secretary, when he was examined ?

Mr. Williamfon. He faid, That' the Copy of"

the Book was brought to him by one Evans,

Maid to Miftrefs Calvert. That for the Author,

being asked if he knew him, he faid he did not 5

and that he had feen the Copy of three Sheets

of the Book} that he had printed only two of

thofe Sheets, a thoufand Exemplaries of each.

Judge Keeling. Did he confefs that ?

Mr. Williamfon. Yes. And further, That he

had delivered them to this Evans at the Sign of

the Rofe in Smithfield ; that he himfelf had cor-

rected thofe Sheets he had printed, and that he

had read them after they were printed ; that for

his
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his Pains and Printing of them, he had received

forty Shillings in part from this Maid at the De-

livery of them at the Rofe; that the Maid car-

ried away thofe Exemplaries from the Rofe ; and

that he parted with her at the Door.

Serjeant Morton. I hope you obferve, Gentle-

men. We have now done : We defire thePri-

foner may give his Anfwer to it j and then we
fhall make our Reply.

Ld Hyde. What fay you ? You have heard the

Witneffes, and what is laid to your Charge.

Twyn. I did never read a Line of it in my Life.

Ld Hyde. That's impoflible. I'll tell you:

Firft, your own Man, who fet part, fwears you

did both fet and print part of this Book your

felf : You gave him the Title to fet. You com-

pofed one part of the Book, whilft he was corn-

poring another part. Is it poflible you could

compofe, and not read a Line of it ? He tells

you further, when the firft Sheet was printed,

he brought it into the Kitchen, and laid it

down, knew not of any one in the Houfe but

your felf j about an Hour, or an Hour and half

after, you brought it back again corrected, laid

it down ; and the Hand that corrected it was

not unlike your Hand upon other Corrections of

Books. Pray, Brother Morton, let the Jury

have Books, and Mr. Lee read the Indictment,

that they may fee they agree.

Serjeant Morton. I oblerved to you there were

thirteen Treafonable Paragraphs} you lhall find

them marked out in the Margent.

Ld Hyde. You fhall fee there are Treafons

with a witnefs : See the very Title.

Mr. Lee. [Reads the 'Title of the Indictment."]

4 A Treatifeofthe Execution ofJuftice: Where-
* in is clearly proved, That the Execution of
* Judgment and Juftice is as well the Peoples as

« the Magistrates Duty j and if the Magiitrates
4 pervert Judgment, the People are bound by
4 the Law of God to execute Judgment without
4 them, and upon them.'

Ld Hyde. That you gave to your Man to fet.

Mr. Lee reads, * It is one of the Scarlet Sins

* of this Nation, that the People fuffered their
4 Rulers, &V.'- The particular PafTages are

too impious to be publifhed, and indeed too foul

to be repeated, but in Subftance. Thofe men-
tioned in the Indictment are as follows :

Firft, The Supreme Magistrate is made ac-

countable to the People.

Secondly, The People are rebellioufly incited to

take the Menage of the Government inco their

own hands.

Thirdly, They are animated to take up Arms,
not only againft the Perfon of his Sacred Ma-
jefty, but likewife againft the Royal Family.

Fourthly, They are ftirred up to a Revolt (in

that very Term) as an Action honourable and
confeientious j making Publication in the next

Claufe of Encouragement to any Town, City,

or Country in the three Nations to begin the

Work.
Fifthly, The People are laboured not only to

call off their Allegiance to the King, but in di-

rect Terms to put his Sacred Majefty to death.

And to the Purpofes before mentioned tends the

whole Scope of the Treatife.

Serjeant Morton. You may judge of the reft

by this : We will not put you to any more Ex-
pence of Time $ there hath been fufticient Trea-
son in that which you have read.

Ld Hyde. Now fay what you will. But I
muft tell you, in thofe Particulars that have been
compared, there is as much Villany and Slander,
as is poflible for the Devil or Man to invent: It
is to deftroy the King in his Perfon, to rob him
of the Love and Affections of his People} to de-
ftroy the whole Family, and all Government,
Ecclefiaftical and Civil. And this read by your
felf, owned, and caufed to be printed.

Twyn. Except it was that Sheet which Mr.
VEftrange read to me when I was taken, I never
heard it before, nor read it.

Ld Hyde. Your Man fwears that you did fet

and print part of it : It's impoflible to compofe
and fet, but you muft read it. Nay, you did
examine and correct the Sheets} brought them
up again. Mr. VEftrange fwears you confefTed
you read it over } it was mettlefome Stuff. Mr.
Dickenfon fays you did not fay you read it over $
but he faying to you it was impoflible youfhould
fet it, and not read it, you told him alfo it was
mettlefome Stuff: You could not judge it to be
mettlejome Stuff, but you muft read it. There is

Mr. Williamfon fays that you confefTed before
Mr. Secretary Bennet that you had feen three
Sheers, printed off two Sheets, corrected thofe
two Sheets; and after printed, and delivered
them ; and that you had forty Shillings in pare
of Payment. Befides this, when Mr. VEftrange
came firft, you were up, (nay, at Two o'clock
in the Morning :) When they came and knocked
at the Door, they heard PrefTes going, you
would make no Anfwer till they called a Smith,
with intent to force it open. When they came
in, they found a Form brought out of the Print-
ing-Roomy and broken, all but one Corner;
that taken up by a Printer, and compared with
the Lines of the printed Sheets, and found to
agree. Some of the Sheets were printed on one
fide only, the reit perfected, you threw them
down Stairs, part into your Neighbour's Houfe

;

Hid you were undone, when you underflood Mr.
VEftrange was there. What needed all this, but
that you knew what you were doing, and did it

purpofely to do mifchief ?

Twyn. I did never read or hear a Line of it,

but when Mr. VEftrange read it when I was
taken.

Judge Keeling. Was it printed at your Houfe,
or no?

Twyn. I know not but that it might : Not
that I did it with my own Hand.
Judge Keeling, The Papers were found wet

with you : Who was in your Houfe?
Twyn. My two Servants.

Judge Keeling. Did any fet them at work but
your felf? Did they work of their own Heads ?

Twyn. 1 did ufe to fet them at work ; but I

did not fet them on that particular Work.
Ld Hyde. Have you any thing elfe to fay ?

God forbid but you fhould be heard j but the

Jury will not eafily believe fuch Denials againft

fo much Evidence.

Judge Keeling. Tell us to whom you carried

this Copy to be corrected ?

Twyn. I know not who corrected it.

Ld Hyde. If you have any thing to fay, fpeak

it} God forbid but youfhould have a full Hear-
ing : Say what you will.

Twyn. I fay I did not read it, nor heard it,

till Mr; VEftrange read it.

Ld
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LAHyde. Have you any thing elfe ?

Twyn. It's poflible I may, upon Confederation.

Ld Hyde. We cannot fpend all the Day : I

muft let the Jury know they are not to take

your Teftimony.

Sen. Morton. I am of Counfel for the King

:

I fh ill reply, if he will fay no more.

Judge Keeling. You have heard your Charge;

I this is your Time to make your Anfwer: If you
'

do not fpeak now, you muft not fpeak after.

' Therefore if you have any thing to fpeak in

your Justification, or Witnefles to call, now is

your Time.

Ld Hyde. Let me give you this Caution : We
cannot fpend Time in vain ; we have other Bufi-

nefs before us, and it grows late. The belt

Counfel 1 can give you, is this : You faid at

firft, That you defired to be tried in the Pre-

) fence of God. You are here in the Pretence of

Almighty God, and I would to God you would

have fo much Care of your felf, and do fo much

Right to your felf, to declare the Truth, that

there may be means of Mercy to you. The belt

you can now do towards Amends for this Wick-

cdnefs you have done, is by difcovering the Au-

thor of this villainous Book: If not, you muft

not expect, and indeed God forbid that there

mould be any Mercy towards you.

Twyn. I never knew the Author of it, nor

mho it was, nor whence it came, but as I told

you.

Ld Hyde. Then we muft not trouble our

felves. Did you never fee the Hand before,

with which this Copy was written?

Twyn. No.
Ld Hyde. I am very confident you would not

then have been fo mad, as to have taken fuch a

Copy : A Copy fraught with fuch abominable

Treafon and Lies; abufing, in the firft place,

the late King that is dead, who was, I'll be

bound to fay it, as virtuous, religious, pious,

merciful, and juft a Prince as ever reigned, and

was as villainoufly and barbaroufly ufed by his

rebellious Subjects. Nay, you have not refted

here, but have fallen upon this King, who has

been gentle and merciful beyond all Precedent.

Since he came to the Crown, he has fpared

thofe that had forfeited their Lives, and all they

had: And he has endeavoured to oblige all the

reft of his People by Mildnefs and Clemency.

And after all this, for you to publifh fo horrid a

Book, you can never make amends : God for-

give you for it.

Twyn. I never knew what was in it.

Ld Hyde. You of the Jury, I will fay only

this : That in Point of Law, in the firft place,

ithere is no doubt in the World, by the Law of

the Land, the publifhing fuch a Book as this is

'as high a Trealon as can be committed : By this

he has endeavoured to take away the Life of the

King, and deftroy the whole Family, and fo

confequently to deliver us up into the hands of

Foreigners and Strangers. It is a great B letting

that we have the Royal Line amongft us. But,

I fay, there is no queftion (and my Brothers will

declaie the fame, if you doubt it) that this Book

is as fully Treafon by the old Statute, as much
the compaffing and endeavouring the Death of

the King, as poflible : And he refts not there,

but incites the People to Rebellion, to dethrone

him, toraifeWar. And the publifhing of this

Book is all one and the fame, as if he had raifed
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an Army to do this. The Proof is, That he fet

part, printed part, and corrected it ; by his own
Confeffion, read it over, It was mettlejome Stuff*

confefled how many Sheets he printed; the Re-
ward and Recompence, you took notice of it.

And I prefume no Man among you can doubt
but the Witnefles have fpoken true: And for

his Anfwer, you have nothing but his bare De-
nial. And fo we fhall leave it to you.

Set Simon Dover to the Bar.

Dover. My Lord, I pray Time, till Monday
Morning r I have fent away the Copy of my In-

dictment.

Ld Hyde. The Seflions will be done to-night:
Mr. Recorder and the reft are to go away on
Monday; and therefore we muft end to-night.

Dover. I befeech your Lordfhip I may have
Time till Night.
Ld Hyde. Men clamour, and fay they are

hardly ufed, their Trials being put off: Are you
content to lie in Goal till the next Seflions ?

Dover. No, my Lord, I have had enough of
that : We are willing now to have it tried.

Ld Hyde. You have had a Kindnefs done to
you, that it is not laid Treafon $ and therefore

go on to your Trial. But becaufe you fhall not
fay you are furprized, ifyou will not go on now,
you muft lie in the Goal till the next Seflions :

We cannot bail you.

Dover. My Lord, the Indictment is full of
Law, and I underftand not the Formalities of
it : 1 defire but till Four o'clock.

Ld Hyde. We muft do it before we go to
Dinner, or not at all ; for there is Judgment to

be given to the Goal, and all of us Judges are

commanded by the King to attend him to-

night.

Dover. I am not able to plead to it.

Ld Hyde. Then becaufe you fhall not fay you
had not all the Right imaginable, we will dif-

patch the reft of the Goal to-night, and adjourn
the Seflions till Monday Morning, and you mall
then have a fair Trial, by the Help of God.
You and your Company, Nathan Brooks and
Thomas Brewfier, are you all defirous to be tried

on Monday Morning?M three. Yes.

Ld Hyde. Becaufe you fhall not want Advice

;

or any thing elfe, you fhall have all the Liberty
you will defire, to fend for Perfons ; but you
muft be Prifoners till then.

All three. We humbly thank you.

Then the Jury went out ; and after about half
an Hours Confutation, they returned to the Court,

and took their Places.

Clerk. Are you all agreed of your Verdict?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you?
Jury. The Foreman.
Clerk. Set John Tivyn to the Bar : Look upon

him, my Mafters, how fay you, is he Guilty of

the High-Treafon whereof he ftands indicted,

or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

CI. ofNewgate. Look to him, Keeper.

Clerk. Hearken to your Verdict, as the Court
hath recorded it: You fay that John Tivyn is

Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof he ftood

indicted, and that at the time of committing the

Z z z faid
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faid Treafon, or any time fince, he had no

Goods, Chattels, Lands nor Tenements, to your

knowledge ; and fo you fay all ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. John Twyn, thou haft been arraigned

for High-Treafon, and thereunto haft pleaded

Not Guilty, and for thy Trial haft put thyfelf

upon God and the Country, and the Country

hath found thee Guilty j what canft thou now
fay for thyfelf, why the Court fhould not pro-

ceed to Judgment, and thereupon award Exe-

cution of Death againft thee, according to the

Law?
Twyn. I humbly beg Mercy; I am a poor

Man, and have three fmall Children, I never

read a word of it.

Ld Hyde. I'll tell you what you fhall do :

Ask Mercy of them that can give it; that is of

God and the King. ^

Twyn. I humbly befeech you to intercede with

his Majefty for Mercy.
CI. of Newgate. Tie him up, Executioner.

Crier. O Yes! My Lords the King's Juftices

command all manner of Perfons to keep filence

while Judgment is in giving, upon pain of Im-

prifonment.

Ld Hyde. John Twyn, and John Dunfmore,

(one convitled for clipping of Money) I am heartily

forry that your Carriage and grievous Offences

fhould draw me to give thatJudgment upon you

that I muft. It is the Law pronounces it, God
knows it is full fore againft my Inclination to do

it ; I will not trouble myfelf or you with re-

peating what you have done ; but only this in

the general, John Twyn, for you : Yours is the

mod grievous and higheft Treafon, and the

moft complicated of all Wickednefs that ever I

knew; ifor you have, as much as poflibly lay in

you, fo reproached and reviled the King, the

dead King, and his Pofterity, on purpofe to en-

deavour to root them out from off the face of

the Earth. I fpeak it from my Soul, I think

we have the greateft Happinefs of the World,

in enjoying what we do under fo gracious and

good a King; yet you in the Rancour of your

Heart thus to abufe him ! I will be fo charitable

to think you are mif-led. There's nothing that

pretends to Religion, that will avow or juftify

the killing of Kings, but the Jefuit on the one

fide, and the Sectary on the other ; indeed it is

a defperate and dangerous Doctrine, fomented

by divers of your Temper, and it's high time

fome be made Examples for it. I fhall not fpend

my time in difcourfe to you, to prepare you for

Death j 1 fee a grave Perfon whofe Office it is,

and I leave it to him. Do not think of any

Time here, make your Peace with God, which
muft be done by Confeffion, and by the Difco-

very of thofe that are Guilty of the fame Crime
with you. God have mercy upon youj and if

you fo do, he will have mercy upon you. But
forafmuch as you John Tivyn have been indicted

of High-Treafon, you have put yourfelf upon

God and the Country to try you, and the Coun-

try have found you Guilty: therefore the Judg-
ment ofthe Court is, and the Court doth award,
4 That you. be led back to the Place from
4 whence you came, and from thence to be
« drawn upon an Hurdle to the Place of Exe-
' cution ; and there you fhall be hanged by the

Neck, and being^alive, fhall be cut down*
and your Privy-Members fhall be cut off, your

Entrails fhall be taken out of your Body, and

you living, the fame to be burnt before your

Eyes ; your Head to be cut off, your Body to

be divided into four Quarters, and your Head
I

and Quarters to be difpofed of at the Pleafure

of the King's Majefty. And the Lord have

mercy upon your Soul.'

Twyn. I moft humbly befeech your Lordfhip

to remember my Condition, and intercede for

me.
Ld Hyde. I would not intercede for my own

Father in this Cafe, if he were alive. *

&s&mi&&m&&&&&&&&&&& *&•'&& teste

Monday, Febr. 22, 166^.

THE Court proclaimed,

Clerk. Set Simon Dover, Thomas Brewfter,

and Nathan Brooks to the Bar : Look to your

Challenges.

The fame Jury fworn anew.

Clerk. Set Tho. Brewfter to the Bar, and the

reft fet by. You of the Jury look upon the Pri-

foner; you fhall underftand that he ftands indic-

ted in London by the Name of Thomas Brewfter,

&c. [and here he reads the IndiElment] for caufing

to be printed, and felling a Book called, The

Speeches, &c. Upon this Indictment he hatK

been arraigned, and thereunto hath pleaded Not
Guilty, and for his, &c. Your Charge is to in-

quire whether he be Guilty of this Sedition

and Offence, or Not Guilty. If you find him,

Mr. North. May it pleafe it your Lordfhip,

and you Gentlemen of the Jury, Tho. Brewfter

ftands here indicted of a foul Mifdemeanour ; it

is for caufing to be printed, publifhing and ut*

tering a fediuous, fcandalous, and malicious

Book. The Indictment fets forth, That he not

having, &V. fJHere Mr. North opens the In-

dictment] and to this Indictment he hath plead-

ed Not Guilty. If there be fufficient Proof of

the Charge, you are to find him guilty of the

Matter contained in it.

Thomas Creek, George Threfher, Thomas Lofr,

and Peter Bodvcl fworn.

Mr. North. Tho. Creek, tell my Lord and the

Jury what you know concerning Brewfter, and

your printing of a Book called The Speeches, &c.

and his uttering and publifhing of it.

Creek. 1 fhall, Sir. There is a Miftake in the

Time, for it was before Chriftmas that Mr.

Brewfter, Mr. Calvert, and Mr. Chapman did

come to me at the Cock in Little- Britain-, and

there they had fome Copy of the Beginning of

the Speeches of the Men that fuffered, that were

the King's Judges, and they fpake to me to print

it : and I did print part of the Book, I cannot

tell you how much, without I had the Book,

and then I can tell you how much I did print,

[The Book being fiewed him} if this be my print-

ing; I fuppofe it was done afterwards, another

Impreffion, and I muft not own it in that. [He

was fhewed one of another Impreffion] My Lord,

* See Twyn' Speech and Behaviour in StateTrials, Vol. 8. p. 380, 381.
thus
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thus far I own •, the Printers that are of the Jury-

will judge ^pointing to the Page] this is my Let-

ter, and here I ended.

Ld Hyde. What Folio is that you ended at?

Creek. You fhall fee, it is 7,6.

Mr. North. By whofe Order did you print

that ?

Creek. They all gave me Order together.

LdHyde. They all! Name them.

Creek. Mr. Calvert, Brewfler, and Chapman.

Mr. North. Did they charge you to do it pri-

vately ?

Creek. With as much Privacy and Expedition

as I could.

Mr. North. When you had printed them, what

did you do with them ?

Creek. I difpoled of them by their Order.

Mr. North. Did you print but one Imprcilion,

or more ?

Creek. Yes, my Lord, I did print part of a

fecond Impreffion.

Mr. North. That we ufe as Evidence, that he

had uttered the firft, becaufe he went upon a fe-

cond : How many did you print at firft ?

Creek. To my belt remembrance, the firft Im-

preffion was 5000.

1 LdHyde. Thefe three employed you to print

this Book, and you printed to the 30'th Folio?

Creek. Yes.

Ld Hyde. And who printed the other part?

Creek. I cannot fay pofitively.

Ld Hyde. Did thefe three afterwards dire£b

you to give out the Sheets to fuch and fuch Per-

fons, Bookbinders, to flitch up, and difpofe of?

Creek. Yes.

LdHyde. The firft was three thoufand, you

fay: what number did they take?

Creek. They had all ; they fent for them of

me as fait as 1 did them.

J. Keeling. Who did you fend the Proofs to?

Creek. They were fent for to my Houfe.

J. Keeling. Sometimes by Calvert, fometimes

his Man, fometimes his Maid, fometimes by

Brewfler.

Ld Hyde. Do not you know who began where

you left off?

Creek. I am not able pofitively to fay. I do

believe, and I have heard, and fpokenwith them
that faid Mr. Dover did ; but I cannot pofitively

fay it.

LdHyde. You were not by, to fee it done?

Creek. No.
Ld Hyde. What grounds have you to believe

that Dover printed the reft?

Creek. Grounds ! Truly it is fo long ago, to

fwear pofitively I cannot.

LdHyde. It is but three Years ago.

Creek. To the bdt of my remembrance, Mr.
Dover in the time of printing it did meet me,

and converfe with me about it > but to exprefs

Time or Place, I cannot.

LdHyde. Did you and he agree that he fhould

print the other part?

Creek. No, my Lord j I had nothing to do to

agree it with him.

Ld Hyde. Did he declare to you that he print-

ed the other ?

Creek. To the beft of my memory he told me
he printed fome Sheets.

Mr. North. Who changed Sheets with you?
Creek. Some Sheets were changed atMr.Dover's.

J. Keeling. Who paid for the Printing ?
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Creek. Mr. Brewfler paid me fome, and fome

Mr. Calvert paid me.

Ld Hyde. If you defire to ask him any Que-
ftions, you may.

Brewfler. By and by I (hall, my Lord.
Dover. I deilre he may tarry till I come to my

Trial.

Serjeant Morton. Don't doubt it.

Mr. North. George Threfloer, fpeak your Know-
ledge to my Lord and the Jury, whether Brewfler
did not bring you the Book called The Speeches,

&c. to be ftitch'd and what you did with them,
tell the manner of it.

Threjher. May it pleafe you, my Lord, and the
Honourable Bench, it is thus: This Bookitfcems
was printed, Mr. Brewfler came to my Houfe to

know whether I could fold them, and ftitch

them in blue Paper. Tha; night I went to fe-

veral Printers, Mr. Dover was one of them j wc
had feveral Sheets from thence, (I did not fee

them printed) I carried them home ; and went
about the working them that night.

J. Keeling. How many Books were delivered

to you?
Threjher. Firft and laft, about foo.

J. Keeling. Who delivered them to you?
Threjher. Some we^e brought to my Houfe.

J. Keeling. By whole Direction?

Threjher. Mr. Brewfler's.

J. Keeling Did you deliver them to anybody?
Threjher. Yes, to Nathan Brooks, ready ftitch'd.

J. Keeling. Who paid you for them ?

Threfloer. Mr. Brewfler for them he had, and
Brooks for them he had

Mr. North. Thomas Loft, tell your Knowledge
in this bufinefs.

Thomas Lojt. May it pleafe you, all that I can
fay is this: There was to the number of abouc
or near upon a thoufand, as I take it, folded and
ftitch'd in my Mafter's Houfe, one Mr Perry,

I was then his Apprentice} they were fent in,

as I judge, by Mr. Brewfler's Order, but I can-

not pofitively fay it: my Mafter appointed us to

do them; I faw Mr. Brewfler there fometimes,

but I cannot pofitively fay that Mr. Brewfler
paid for the doing of them.

Mr. North. Did not your Mafter prefs the

Difpatch ?

Loft. My Mafter did fo; but I know not
whether they converfed to that purpofe.

Mr. North. Who fetch'd them away ?

Loft. His then Appi entice did fetch fome of
them from our Houfe.

Mr. North. Peter Bodvel, tell my Lord and
the Jury what you know.

Bodvel. I did carry fome three Years ago fome
Bundles of Books from Mr. Creek's. Houfe, and
I think they were the Bundles of the Speeches

of the King's Judges.

Ld Hyde. From whence had you them ?

Bodvel. From Mr. Creek's.

Mr. North. What did you do with them?
Were they fold ?

Bodvel. I did fee fome of them fold in the

Shop.
Mr. North Who fold them ?

Bodvel. Myfelf, and my Miftrefs fometimes.

LdHyde. Were they brought to the Shop to

fell, by his privity?

Bodvel. I do believe he knew of them.

LdHyde. By the Oath you have taken, did

he fend you for them to the Printers?

Z z z 1 Bodvel.
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Bodvel. He or my Miftrefs did.

Ld Hyde. Has he been in the Shop when they

have been fold ?

Bodvel. I cannot truly tell } it's three Years

ago.

J. Tyrrel. To whom did you pay the Money

that you received for them ?

Bodvel. We put it in the Box.

J. Keeling. Do not Bjokfellers keep account

what Books they fell, and fet down the Money?
Bodvel. Not for Pamphlets.

Mr. North. Did he not fend you to the Book-

binder's for them, when they were ftitch'd?

Bodvel. It was by his or my Miftrefs's Order.

J. Keeling. What was your Bookbinder's Name ?

Bodvel. Perry.

J. Keeling. Where was this Book kept? Pub-

licity, as other Books, or in other Rooms ?

Bodvel. In the Shop, my Lord.

J. Keeling. Were they publickly to view, as

other Books?
Bodvel. Not fo publick as other Books, but

publick enough, Mr. UEfirange knows.

Ld Hyde. I know you ufe to let your Titles

of a new Book lie open upon your Stalls; did

you lay thefe open ?

Bodvel. No, my Lord, they did not do fo.

Ld Hyde. Who was the caufe they did not ?

Did your Mafter direct the Privacy ?

Bodvel. I think he did, we had fome direction

to that end.

Ld Hyde. Not to lay them open upon the

Stall ?

Bodvel. No.
Ld Hyde. Give the Jury fome Books, and read

he Indictment} let them be compared.

Clerk reads the IndiT; rnent: firft the Title ;

The Speeches and 'layers of fome of th? lace

King's Judges, viz. Major-General Harrif^n,

Ottob. 13. Mr. John Carey, Otlob. if Mr. Ju-

ftice Cooky Mr. Hugh Peters, Ocloh. 16. Mr.

Thomas Scot, Mr. Gregory Clement , Col. Adrian

Scroope, Col. John Jones, Otlob. 17. Col. Da-
niel Axtell, and Col. Francis Hacker, Otlob. I p.

1660. The Times of their Deaths, together

with feveral Occafumal Speeches, and Paffages

in their Imprifonment, till they came to the

place of Execution. Faithfully and impartial-

ly collected for further Satisfaction.

Mr. Cook's Letter to a Friend, fol. 40. ' And
fo I defcend to the Caufe, for which I am in

Bonds ; which is as good as ever it was : And
I believe there is not a Saint that hath engaged

with us, but will wifh at the laft Day that he

had fealed to the Truth of it with his Blood,

if thereupon called ; for I am fatisfied, that it

is the molt Noble and Glorious Caufe that has

been agitated for God and Chrift fince the A-
poftolical Times; being for Truth, Holinefs,

and Righteoufnefs, for our Liberties as Men,
and as Chriftians for removing all Yokes and

Oppreffions.' And fol. 41, ' It isfuch a Caufe,

that the Martyrs would again come from Hea-

ven to fuffcr for it, if they might: I look up-

on it as the moft high Act of Juftice that our

Story can parallel, cj?c\

[Not to trouble the Reader with all the Parti-

culars mentioned in the Indictment ; fince the reft

are but more of the fame kind in other words.]

Ld Hyde. What fay you to this Book?

Brewfter. I defire to ask Mr. Creek a few Que-
ftions: Mr. Creek, how much of that in the In-

dictment did you print ?

Creek. The Jury may fee if they pleafe.

Ld Hyde. Truly if he fays true, he fays he.

printed no part of that with which you are char-

ged, but the Title- Page j he left off at Folio 36".

your Charge is the Title,and beginning at Fol. 40.

Brenvfter. So that you fee he printed nothing
for me that is in the Indictment.

J. Keeling. Did you print the Title ?

Creek. Yes, my Lord.
Ld Hyde. And you printed the reft, by his,

Calvert's, and Chapman's Directions.

Creek. They delivered me the Copy together
to print.

Ld Hyde. If you have any thing to fay, fpeak
to the Court, the Jury will hear you.
Mr. North. Pray, my Lord, give me leave to

ask Creek one Qyeftion : There were two Im-
preffions printed, did not you print more in one,
than in the other.

Creek. I am upon my Oath ; to the beft of
my remembrance I printed the fame that I did
before, for I had fome of it (landing, and fo I

had the fame Sheets again.

Mr. North. Had you no more?
Creek. No, I had rather lefs.

Brevjfler. That's ufual, he that piints the firft,

doth print the fame of the fecond.

Ld Hyde. He fays he did fo j what have you
to fay to the Charge ?

Brewflcr. I conceive that part that I ordered

the printing of, is not included in the Indift-

menc.

Ld Hyde. Yes, every part ; he fays in both
Impreffions he printed to the 36th Folio; and
all the reft was printed by your direction.

Creek. No, my Lord, I printed to the 36th

F0H0 by his Direction, the reft was printed elfe-

wheve.

J. Keeling. Your Indictment was this, For cau-

fing to be printed this Book, called The Prayers,

life, andforJelling and uttering of it. For the Evi-
dence that you caufed it to be printed, he fwears

you directed fome, and it is not likely you would
print half, and let the other half alone > we leave

that to the Jury: For your uttering, that anon.

Ld Hyde. There are thefe two particular

Charges in the Indictment, that you mult an-

fwer : The firft is, your caufing it to be printed

;

and it is not effential, or of neceffity, that every

Particular that is in the Indictment be proved to

be done by you : you caufed this Book to be

printed, with fuch a Title j that he fwears he did

for you : then let the Jury, or any Man living,

judge whether you did direct the Book to be

wholly perfected, or by halves. The fecond

Charge is, that you uttered them : You delive-

red five hundred of thefe to be ftitch'd up, and

difpofed of them, fo that you are in effect both

Printer and Publifher of the whole Book.
Bren&fter. He fpeaks of one part that I orde-

red, there is no more Proof, and that was but

to the 36th Page : he fpeaks alfo of fomebody
elfe that was prefcnt with me j and where they

had the reft of the Copy printed, he tells you he

knows not.

Ld Hyde. Have you any more to fay ?

Bre-wjler. Yes, my Lord : Tho' he fays I

caufed that Part to be printed, yet he doth not

fay I did it malicioufly, or with any defign a-

gainft the Government.
Ld Hyde. The thing fpeaks itfelf.

Brezvfier. Bookfellers do not ufe to read what

they fell. Ld
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"LA Hyde. You have forgot what he fworej

you brought the Proof.

Brew fi'?r. He did not fwear that} he fays Mr.

Calvert s Man, and fometimes others.

Ld Hyde. Ask him again.

Creek. I did declare, that the Proofs were fent

for and carried away and read, fometimes by

Mr. Calvert's Man and others, and fometimes by

his Servants, not by himfelf ; they were wrapt

up and fent.

Ld Hyde. For a Man to pretend he did not

know, when, he being Mailer, fends for his

Proofs by his Servant} for any Man to fuppofe

this is not the Mailer's Ad, (nay, and directing

it to be done privately) you fh all never find a

Man guilty : they were fold in his Shop.

Breivfter. The grand part of the Indictment

lies, That it was done malicioufly and feditiouf-

ly, and then it fays knowingly j though it be

granted I did do it, and fell it, yet it does not

follow that I did it malicioufly and f-ditioufly ;

I did it in my Trade : we do not ufe to read

what we put to print or fell. I fay, my Lord,

felling of Books is our Trade, and for the bare

exercifing of it, knowing nothing of evil in it}

it came out in a time too, when there were no

Licenfers, or appointed Rules ; lo that whatever

was done we are not accountable for, for «c

read very feldom mo;e than the Title, that fome

of the Jury knows } lb that I hope I cannot be

faid to do it m<dicioufly or knowingly. I can

give Teftimony I am no Perfon given to Sedi-

tion, but have been ready to appear upon allOc-

cafions againft it.

Ld Hyde. Have you any more ? if you have,

fay it.
.

Brewfter. My Lord, they arc the Sayings of

dying Men, commonly printed without Oppo-

fition.

Ld Hyde. Never.

Brewfter. I can inftance in many •, the Book-

feller only minds the getting of a Penny : that

declares to the World, that as they lived fuch

defperate Lives, fo they died } fo that it might

fhew to the World the Juftice of their Puniih-

ment; and fo 1 think it a Benefit, far from Se-

dition. It was done fo long ago too, it was not

done in private, it went commonly up and down
the Streets, almoft as common as a Diurnal: it's

three Years and a quarter ago, or thereabouts.

Juftice Tyrrel. You fpeak of your Behaviour,

have you any Teftimony here?

Brewjler. I do expect fome Neighbours} Ma-

jor-General Brown knows me, Capt. Sheldon,

Capt. Colchefter, and others : I can give a very

good account as to my Behaviour ever lince.

Ld Hyde. Say what you will, and call your

Witnefles, and make as much (peed as you can.

Juftice Keeling. There is another Indictment

againft you, and while that is trying, your

Neighbours may come.

Brewfter. My Lord, I {hall defift for the pre-

fent.

Serj. Morton. May it pleafe your Lordlhip,

and you Geitlemen of theJury, I am of Coun

fel for the King againft Thomas Brewfter, Book-

feller, that fta.ids .ere indicVd, for that he, con-

trary to the Duty of his All giance which he

owes to our Sovereign Lord the King, did cuule

malicioufly a feditious and fcandalous Book to be

printed, wherein there are divers fcandalous

Claufes contained, that are in Difparagement of
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the King's Royal Prerogative, and againft his

Government, Crown and Dignity ; and like wife

that he hath fold and uttered the fame Books in

Contempt of his Majefty's Laws. This is the

Effect of the Indictment : It has been proved to

you by four Witnefles, that for which he ftands

indicted } Firft, That he did caufe part of the
Book to be printed } that's clearly proved by
Creek : likewife that he has fold and uttered thqffi

Books in his Shop : nay, he confefTes that he
did, and fays they were fold openly as a Diurnal ;

and therefore he thinks it was lawful for him to

do it. He has gone about to make a Defence
of this his feditious Behaviour; he tells you he
did not print all the Book; it is not faid, that

he printed fuch and fuch a Letter of the Book,
but that he caufed fuch a Book to be printed :

and it is to be prefumed, if he caufed one part,

he would caufe the other, or otherwife it would
be a Book of maimed Senfe and imperfect. Gen-
tlemen, for the uttering and felling of them,
that himfelf conftfles: you have heard the Ex-
cufes he hath made, whether you will not find

him guilty of this Crime, that I mult leave to

you, and to the Direction of the Court.

Ld Hyde. You of the Jury, you fee the In-
dictment is for caufing a libellous and feditious

Book to be printed, under fuch a Title, that is,

The Speeches and Prayers, &c. it is for caufing
this, feditioufly, factioufly and wickedly to be
printed ; and for telling and publifhing it abroad
to the King's People. For the Matter of Evi~
dence, you have heard it: I will not repeat the

Particulars to you, only fomething to what he
has faid, that you may not be mif-led. Firft, He
fays, it does not appear, that he did it malici-

oufly or knowingly ; there are fome things that

you that are of the Jury are not to expect Evi-

dence for, which it is impoffible to know but by
the Act it felf. Malice is conceived in the Heart,

no Man knows it unlefs he declares it: As in

Murder, I have Malice to a Man, no Man knows
it; I meet this Man and kill him; the Law calls

this Malice. If a Man fpeaks fcandalous words a-

gainft a Man in his Calling or Trade, he lays his

Action, Malice, though he cannot prove it but

by the words themfelves. If I fay a Printer or

Stationer is an ignorant Perfon, has no Skill in

his Trade, I would not have any Man to deal

with him, he underftands not how to fet Let-

ters, or the like ; here is nothing of Malice at

all appears, yet if you bring your Action, you
muft lay it, malicioufly ; it is the defiroyingyour

Trade, and you will have Damages. { inftance

in this Particular, that you may ice there is Ma-
lice fupp >fed to a particular private Perfon in that

Slander, much more to the King and the State.

The thing it felf, in caufing a Book to be prin-

ted that is fo full of Scandals and Lies, to in-

veigle, mifguide, and deceive the People, this

is, in Conftrudion of the Law, Malice; and

though no Malice appear further. The next is

this; faclioufly, feditioufly, knowingly: this carries

Sedition as well as Malice. Such a barbarous

tr::nfcenrlent Wretch that murdered his Prince,

without the leaft Colour of Juftice, to declare

that he rejoiced in his Bonds ; and that the Martyrs

'would -willingly come from Heaven to fuffer for it.

Horrid Blafphemy ! All the Saints that engaged in

it, to ivijb that they had fealed it with their Blood!

What can you have more to encourage and in-

cite the People to the killing of Kings, and
murdering
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murdering their lawful Prince! This they pub-

lifh, and fay it was fpoken publickly j let it be

upon his own Soul that did it: for in cafe he did

it, no Man knew it but thofe that heard it. But

to publifh it all over England, (3000 of the firft

Impreflion, and a fecond}) this is to fill all the

King's Subjects with the Justification of that

horrid Murder: I will be bold to fay, not fo

horrid a Villany has been done upon the Face of the

Earth, fmce the crucifying of our Saviour. To
print and publifh this, is Sedition. The next

thing is your Trade. 1 have a Calling to ufe*

and I may juftify the ufingofit, fo longaslufe

it lawfully, but that muft not juftify me in all

manner of Wickednefs againfl the King and

State. As if a Lawyer (1 will put it in my own
Coat) plead a Man's Caufe, and againfl the

King ; this is justifiable, he ought to plead for

his Clienr, but he muft plead as becomes him.

If a Lawyer in d fence of his Client will fpeak

Sedition, do you think he is free from being pu-

nifhed? So of a Printer; if a Printer prints fe-

ditious and factious Books, he muft look to him-

felfj that's no part of his Calling to poifon the

King's People: fo tho' printing of a Book be

lawful, he muft ufe it as the Law appoints him,

and not to incite the People to Faction. Wri-
ting of Letters you know it is common and

lawful ; but if I write treafonable Letters, give

-notice to rife, do fuch and fuch unlawful Acts,

I am to be punifhed for thefe Letters. A Prin-

ter he is a publick Agent, he is to do what he is

able to anfwer, orelfe he muft take what follows.

He fays, There was no Act againfl him: it is

true, you fee he is not indicted upon the Statute,

but at the Common Law, for an Offence in the

nature of a Libel. If I were a Printer,and would
compile a Pamphlet againfl a Man, though not

in Authority, and difparage him, this is the pub-
lifhing of a Libel, and an Offence for which he

ought to be indicted, and punifhed by the Com-
mon Law ; and he that prints that Libel againfl

me, as a publick Perfon, or againfl me as Sir

Robert Hyde ; that Printer, and he that fets him
at work, muft anfwer it, much more when a-

gainft the King and the State. Another thing

is this 5 he talks to you of dying Mens Words: if

Men will be fo vile to be as wicked at their

Deaths, as they had been in their Lives-, put the

Cafe of that Man on Saturday convicted for prin-

ting a horrible villainous thing, if he will be fo

unchriftian to himfelf, as to juftify this at his

Death, or to fpeak as bad as he had caufed to be
printed, is that a Juflification to publifh them,
becaufe they are the Words of a dying Man?
God forbid. A Robber declares upon the Gal-
lows, it is for a noble Caufe, for taking a Purfe

upon the High-way, that it is an unjuft Law to

condemn to death for fuch Crimes. Shall any
Man publifh this in print, and not be liable to

be punifhed for it? If any that were tried here

upon Saturday, fhall vilify the Lord Mayor, or
any of the Bench, traduce them for doing of Ju-
ilice, fhall this go unpunifhed, if a Man take

it up and print it? This I fpeak to let you fee

this is without Colour of Law : He pretended

he did it not knowingly ; I will not repeat the

Evidence; He fent for them, had them pitched,

saufed them to be kept privately, (not upon the'

Stall.) And obferve, he tells you it was done
long ago: it is but three Years ago that they were
as publickly fold as Diumals, he fays. I fhall

repeat no more, I know you are Men of Un-
derllanding, and of Obedience to your King ; it

is high time to take notice of this difperfing of
Pamphlets: if therefore you do believe that he
did caufe it to be printed, or published it, or
both, he is guilty of the Mifdemeanour laid in
the Indictment; (and he hath a great Kindnefs in
that it is not made Capital:) Jf you do believe
that he did either caufe it to be printed or pub-
lifhed, that's enough to find him guilty of this
Indictment.

Clerk. Hearken to the other Indictment: He
Hands indicted in London, &c. and this is for
caufing to be printed a certain Book called, The
Phoenix, &c. publishing the fame, [the Indiclment
•was wholly read'] To this Indictment he hath
pleaded Not Guilty ; fo your Iflue is to enquire
whether he be guilty of this Offence, or not
guilty.

Mr. North opened the Indiclment in manner as
before. To this he hath pleaded Not Guilty $
if the Charge of the Indictment be fufficiently
proved, you are to find him guilty.

Serj. Morton. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,and
you Gentlemen of the Jury, here is another Bill
of Indictment preferred againfl Thomas Brevjfier ;
it is, that contrary to the Duty of his Allegi-
ance to his Sovereign Lord the King, and pur-
pofely to incite the People to Sedition, and to
withdraw them from their natural Allegiance to
the King, he hath caufed to be imprinted, mali-
cioufly, falfly and fcandaloufly, a certain fcan-
dalous Book, entitled, The Phoenix, &c. And this
he hath done to difturb the Peace of the King-
dom, and to withdraw the People from their
Allegiance ; and to the Scandal of his Majefty's
Government, he hath caufed this Book to be
printed, uttered and fold : and this we take to
be a great Offence againfl the King, and his
Crown and Dignity. Gentlemen, the difperfing
of feditious Books is of great danger to the
Kingdom; falfe Rumours, they are the main in-
centives that ftir up the People to Sedition and
Rebellion, that raife Difcontentments among the
People, and then prefently they are up in Arms.,
Difperfing feditious Books is very near a- kin to
raifing of Tumults ; they are as like as Brother
and Siller : Raifing of Tumults is the more maf-
culine; and printing and difperfing feditious
Books, is the Feminine Part of every Rebellion.
But we fhall produce our Witneffes, we fhall

prove that this Thomas Brewfter caufed this Book
to be printed ; that when it was printed he did
receive three hundred ; That rhefe he caufed to
be flitch'd up; That he uttered and fold them,
part in his own Shop, and part elfewhere. Ic
being an Offence of rhat great and dangerous
Confequence, which tends to the Diflurbance of
the Peace of the Kingdom; I hope you will

take it into yourferious Confideration,andifthe
matter ftand proved againfl him, vou will give
him his due Demerit.

Creek, Threfher, Loft and Bodvel fworn again.

Mr. North. Creek, tell my Lord and the Jury
what you know of the printing of the Book cal-
led The Phoenix.

Creek. My Lord, it was in May that Mr. Cal-
vert, Brewfler and Chapman brought that Book
to me to print.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. What Book? name it.

Creek.
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it was printed For

fay is, That Mr.
Creek. The Phoenix, 8Cc.

them three. All that I can

Breivfter's Part was delivered to me by his Di-

rection

.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Who paid you for printing

of it?

Creek. Mr. Brewfter paid for his Part.

Juftice Keeling. How many was his Part?

Creek. His Part of 2000, that was 600 and

odd.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Thefe three Men joined to

bear each Man his Share

Creek. Yes, every Man was to have his Share.

Juft. Keeling. Did he wilh you to do it with

Privacy ?

Creek. Yes, with Expedition and Privacy.

Brewfter. Was the Copy written or printed ?

Creek. It was all printed formerly, fome in

Quarto, fome in OtJavo, and might have been

bought fingle in any Place almoft.

LdCh. Juft. Hyde. What do you mean by all

printed formerly ?

Creek. My Lord, they were in feveral Parcels

printed ; there was Mr. Calamy's Sermon, and

Mr. Douglas's Sermon, and the reft.

Juft. Keeling. How long ago was it fince they

were brought to you to print?

Creek. It was in May, three Years.

Brewfter. Did I order you how you fhould

print them, or Mr. Calvert? Did not you bear

him fay, that they had ftaid two Hours for me
at an Alehoufe to be his Partner?

Creek. I did hear him fay fo.

Juft. Keeling. What made you fo loth to be

their Partner? were they two Hours perfuading

of you?
Creek. No, they waited two Hours for him to

be their Partner,

Serj. Morton. Threjher, did Brewfter deliver any

of thofe Books to you to ftitch up?
Threjlier. Yes, and pleafe you, my Lord, and

I had them by Mr. Brewfter'$ Order to fold.

Serj. Morton. How many?
Threjher. To the number of z, or 300.

Mr. North. Did he not enjoin you Privacy ?

Threjher. Yes, I think he did.

Juft. Keeling. When they were bound, had you

a Note to deliver thofe Books fafely to any ?

Threftoer. Yes, from his own Hand} he defired

me to go and give them to fuch and fuch Per-

fons, Bookfellers. Said I, I (hall hardly re-

member them : he thereupon gave me a Note
of their Names to whom I fhould deliver them ;

I judge they were to be trufted more than o-

thers.

Serj. Morton. Did you deliver them accord-

ingly?

Threjher. Yes, I did.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. How many did you deliver

in that manner?
Threftoer. Two Dozen and more.

Juft. Keeling. If you will ask him any Que-
ftions, do.

Brewfter. Did I give you any Order to deliver

them to any particular Bookfellers?

Threjher. Yes, you did 5 I believe Mr. UE*
ftrange and Mr. fVilliams (one of the Jury) can
remember I fhewed them the Paper you wrote
to that purpofe,

Mr. Williams. I did fee the Note.

Brewfter. I do not remember I gave you any
Order, they were all common things before.

Juft. "Keeling. You may ask him what Que*
ftions you will,

Brewfter. I fhall ask him no more.
Mr. North. Peter Bodvel, fpeak what you

know concerning the Selling or Uttering the
Book called The Phoenix, &c.

Bodvel. I never knew of the printing of them

j

I never knew my Matter fell any of them, nor
heard him give Order for felling of them.

Juft. Keeling. Did you fell any of them for
him?

Bodvel. I think I did fell fome.
Serj. Morton. Were they in the Shop to be

fold ?

Bodvel. Yes, they were,
LdCh. Juft. Hyde. Were they in the Shop pub=

lickly, with the Title-page lying open upon the
Stall, as other Books do, when they are newly
out?

Bodvel. We feldom did fo with Bound Books.
Juft. Keeling. Where were the Books found

when they were feized?

Bodvel. I think they were in fome of the up-
per Rooms.

Juft. Keeling. Where were they found, by the
Oath you have taken?

Bodvel. That Mr. UEftrange can tell better

than I, I did not fee him find any of them.
LdCh. Juft. Hyde. By the Oath you have ta-

ken, where was the Place whence you were to

fetch them, when you were to fell them ?

Bodvel. In the Hall, the Room over the Shop.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Were they put up private-

ly?

Bodvel. They were fo.

Juft. Keeling. What private Place was that ?

Bodvel. It was a Hole in the Wall.

Juft. Tyrrel. By whofe Direction were they

laid there?

Bodvel. I know not whether by his, or rriy

Miftrefs's. v

Juft. Keeling. Were not fome found under the

Bed?
Bodvel. I heard that Mr. UEftrange found

fome of the Titles under the Bed.

Serj. Morton. I think it is enough ; what fay

you to it, Friend?

Ld Ca. Juft. Hyde. Obferve this, and anfwer

it: It appears that you and two more {Calvert

and Chapman) did agree with Creek for printing

this Book, (feveral Parcels drawn into one Vo-
lume) and you were to bear each of you a third

Part, and to have a third Part of the Books ; he

fwears you did both pay your Part, and had your

Part of the Books: Thefe Books were printed

before, and fo they were common enough, and

therefore you muft needs know what was in

them. The third full Part was brought to you,

and delivered by your Appointment 3 you gave a

Note how they fhould be difpofed of, and you

owned them not in publick : (your own Soul told

you they were not to be juftified) two Dozen
were delivered privately to particular Perfons,by

your Direction. Lay thefe things together,

and now anfwer them : For the Indictment is5

Thzt you caufedfuch a Book to be printed and pub*

lifhed.
"
Brewfter. In the firft Place, the Evidence does

fay, That Mr. Calvert did acknowledge when he

gave him the Copy to print, that he ftaid fo long

for me, in order to be their Partner, he that was

the Collector of it together, They were all

printed
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printed before, and printed by Licence ; for the

Books, I never read them : we feldom read the

Books we fell, being they were before printed,

and with Licence fold fingle, (as the Gentlemen

of the Jury know) I thought there was no Crime
to print them all together. It was done in an

Interval when there were no Licenfers, we knew
not where to go: what has been printed former-

ly, we took ic for granted it might be reprint-

ed, till this late Act for Printing ; and this was
done before this A£t.

Juft. Keeling. Have you any more to fay?

Brewfter. No, my Lord, I fhall leave it to

the Jury. But, my Lord, here are now fome

Neighbours to teftify that I am no fuch Perfon

as the Indictment fets forth, that I did malicioufty

and [edit ioufty do fuch and fuch things.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. We will hear them, though

I'll tell you it will not much matter} the Law
fays it is Malice.

Capt. Sheldon fworn. My Lord, all that I can

fay is, he was ready at Beat of Drum upon all

Occifions; what he has been guilty of by print-

ing or otherwife, I am a Stranger to that ; I

know he was of civil Behaviour and Deport-

ment amongft his Neighbours.

Juft. Keeling. It is very ill that the King hath

fuch Trained- Soldiers in the Band.

Capt. Hanfon and others offered to like pur-

pofe.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. If you have a thoufand to

this purpofe only, what fignifies it ?

Juft. Keeling. Are you his Captain?

Capt. Sheldon. No, my Lord, Capt. Bradfhaw.
Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. He mould be cafhier'd the

Band ; not but that he mould be charged with

Arms. I'll tell you, do not miftake your felf,

the Teftimony of your civil Behaviour, going
to Church, appearing in the Train'd-Bands, go-
ing to Paul's, being there at Common-Service,
this is well : but you are not charged for this ; a

Man may do all this, and yet be a naughty Man
in printing abufive Books, to the mif-lcading of
the King's Subjects. If you have any thing to

fay as to that, I fhall be glad to find you inno-

cent.

Brewfter. I have no more to fay.

Ld Hyde. Then you of the Jury, there are

fume things in this Indictment (as in the other)

neceflary to be ftated to you ; my Brothers and
I have confulted here about it: The Indictment
is for caufing a factious and feditious Book, cal-

led the Phoenix, &c. with divers other things

therein, to be printed. But, pray let them
fee the Book, and compare it with the Indict-

ment.
Clerk. [Reads the Indictment, and firft the

Title.] the Phoenix, or the Solemn League and Co-
venant. {Edinburgh Printed in the Year of Co-
venant-Breaking.'] A King abufing his Power, to

nhe Overthrow of Religion, Laws, and Liberties,

which are the very Fundamentals of this Contract

and Covenant, may be controuled and oppofed. And
if he fet himfelf to overthrow all thefe by Arms,
then they who have Power, as the Efiates ofa Land,
may and ought to rcfift by Arms ; becanfe he doth by

that Oppofition break the very Bonds, and overthrow

the Eftentials of this Contract and Covenant, this

mayferve to juftify the Proceedings of this Kingdom

againft the late King, who in an hoftile way fet him-

felf to overthrow Religion, Parliaments, Laws, and
Liberties. [The reft is much at the fame Rate,

only now and then a Spice of Blafphemy, for

the Credit of the Holy League: A greater Sin

(is the Breach of that Scotch Covenant, accord-
ing to our Author, pag. if 8.) than a Sin a-

gainfi a Commandment, or againft an Ordinance.

&c]
Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. You of the Jury, you fee

the Indictment agrees with the Book. There's
a great deal of Mercy that this Man hath not
been indicted of Treafon; for thofe very Parti-

culars you have heard are as high Treafon as can
be. Firft, he doth declare, That the King abufing

his Power, the People may refifi, and take up Arms
againfl him: That's exprefs Treafon, without
any more ado. Then he tells you what a hor-
rid thing it is to break that Solemn League and
Covenant; juftifies the railing of Arms and Re-
bellion againft the late King, unthroning and
murdering of him. I tell you that Solemn League
and Covenant was a moft wicked and ungodly
Thing, againft the Law of God, and the Law
of the Land.

_
To have fuch villainous Stuff to

be publifhed, it is a great Mercy of the King it

had not been drawn higher. You fee the Man
is fo far from acknowledging any Guilt, that he
juftifies the Fact.

Brewfter. No, my Lord, I do not iuftify my
felf. ' J

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Yes, you do. The Prin-
ter fwears he was to go Share and Share like:
He had his Part } he publifhes them to fome par-
ticular Friends : I fay he juftifies this. He tells

you in his Defence, That it was commonly
printed ; that it was done by printed Copy,and
that done formerly by Licence } and when Things
are printed by Licence, they do not expect: or need
any new or fecond Licence : They were com-
monly fold afunder; here they are only printed
together. That he fays is nothing. What is

this but juftifying the printing ofit? Obferve,
weigh, and fee what kind of Defence here is!

The Title, what is it? the Phoenix, or Solemn
League and Covenant. You all know it, and rue
it. When was it printed? It was when the
wicked Rebels here could not feduce fufficient
Numbers of the King's Subjects to fupport their
Rebellion ; and then they invite their Dear Bre-
thren (as they called them) the Scots, to unite
with them. The Scots were cunning; they
would not do it till they had entred into a Co-
venant, in a League; and then they confent to
unite with the Rebels here. This League and Co-
venant was indeed in Defence of the King ; but
how long? So long as he defended them, (the
Presbytery and Scotch Difcipline.) When they
had got this good King into their Hands, they
put what Terms upon him they pleafed ; and
then were thefe feditious Sermons printed. Dou-
glas's was printed in Scotland ; was it licenfed
here ? No, it was done there, and brought hi-
ther. Then for the other Sermon, by what Li-
cence was that printed? Obferve the Time
when it was printed; was it not to fet forward
Rebellion, to fet up the Scotch Presbytery; and this
in Forty-five, when they were in Arms againft
the King, after the King put himfelf upon his

Defence, and was at Oxford? Do you tell me
of the Licence of Rebels then for your Juftifi-
cation? Now, when the King is fo happily
return'd, now to publifh thefe things afrefh to
the People, that they might do the fame again

!

And I tell you once again, It is Mercy in the

King
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King that he was not indicted for Treafon. I

{hall leave it to you, you have had it fully

proved.

Clerk. Set Simon Dover to the Bar. [And
the Indictment is read.]

here

Mr. North opens this Indictment, as the

reft.

Serjeant Morton. We have but two Witneffes,

and they will prove the Matter clearly. There

were two Impreffions of this Book; we will

prove he had a Share in both of them.

Creek [worn again.

Creek. I delivered before what I can fay.

Judge Keeling. Look you, you muft deliver all

that Evidence over again, becaufe it concerns

another Pcrfon.

Creek. I did fay, and fay flill, That, to the beft

of my Memory, Mr. Dover did print part of that

Book, and that he and I did converle about it

in the Time it was doing ; but I cannot fwear it

pofitively, becaufe I cannot remember the Time
when, or the Place where.

Judge Keeling. Did you change Sheets with

him?
Creek. With him, I cannot fay> but fome

Sheets were changed by our Men.
Serjeant Morton. You fay you think you had

fome Difcourfe with him : Did not you fpeak

about the Danger of printing it ?

Creek. We talked of making an end of it.

Serjeant Morton. Can you remember to what

Letter you printed ?

Creek. I have {hewed the Gentlemen of the

Jury.

Judge Keeling. Had you no Difcourfe of the

Danger of it?

Creek. I thought it could not come to any

thing : I did tell Sir R. Brown, (then Lord-

Mayor) That if they hanged twenty more, I

thought I mould print their Speeches.

Judge Keeling. You knew the Contents of the

Book?
Creek. Yes, I did.

Judge Keeling. Such Men as you, the King
and the Government hath a great Intereft in

your Trade: That you mould think it lawful

to print what a Man fays when he dies, and to

fcatter it abroad, though never fo bad, it's a great

Offence: I would not have it pafs for fo clear

a thing.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. If you are of fuch Princi-

ples, to print what you lift, you are not fit to

live in a civil Place; for a Printer or Bookfeller

to print any thing one againft the other, is acti-

onable. Do you think the Prefs is open to print

what you lift?

Creek. I did fo then.

LdCh. Juft. Hyde. I'll deal plainly with you :

For this Book, if you had had your Due, you
ought both to have been drawn, hang'd and
quarter'd. When did you give Mr. UEfirange

Information of this Matter ?

Creek. Lately, when I was a Prifoner in Lud-

Mr. Royflon. [One of the Jury.] I defire to
ask him one Queftion ; Whether Mr. Creek faw
this Book a printing at Mr. Dover's Houfe, or

no?
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Creek. No, I did not.

Serjeant Morton. They changed Sheets,

Thvefher /worn.

Threfioer. This is all that I have to fay, That
the firft Night that Mr. Brewfier fent for me to

flitch thefe Books, it was very late before we
could get them : I went that Night to Mr. Do-
ver's, and had fome of the Sheets, the reft at

Mr. Creek's. I did not fee him print any of
them.

Serjeant Morton. What Quantity was there

of them?
Threjher. I fuppofe there was two or three hun-

dred Sheets.

Mr. North. Were they not of this Book ?

"Thre/her. Yes, of the Speeches.

Mr. North. Where were they delivered?

Threjher. In the lower Room : I fuppofe fome
of them were hanging upon Lines before 1 had
them.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. What fay you to it?

Dover. 1 defire to ask him fome Queftions. I

do fay I never faw the Man before : I would
ask whether ever he faw me before in his

Life?
Threjher. Not before that: I was never in

his Houfe but that Night. By this Token I faw
you, and you me; When I came for the Sheets,

you asked Mr. Brewfier whether he and Mr. Cal-

vert were agreed, or elfe you would not deliver

the Sheets.

Dover. I defire to know what Time and Place :

I am charged in the Indictment on a Day and
Place.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. That's not very material.

Dover. He fixes nothing on me.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. That the Jury can beft tell

:

Have you any more Queftions ?

Dover. No, my Lord.

[The Indictment and Books were compared.]

Dover. My Lord, there is no Perfon fwears

that 1 printed it, or part of it : Nothing fixed

upon me.

Ld.Ch.Juft. Hyde. The firft Man fwears that

you fet it to printing.

Creek. I do not fwear it pofitively ; I never

faw him print a Sheet : It was the Report of

the Town that he did it.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You printed it : For
whom?

Creek. For Brewfier, Calvert^ and Chapman.
Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. But you fay that you and

he did converfe about it when it was printing.

Creek. I did fay, To the beft of my Memory
we did.

Ld Ch.Juft. //>vfr. By the Oath you have ta-

ken, who did you change Sheets with ?

Creek. I cannot fay I did change any with
him : I fay that fome Sheets were changed by
my Men, and they told me they had them of

his Men.
Dover. Where are thofe Men that changed the

Sheets? Which of my Men are they?

Juikice Keeling. Look you, Dover, you are in-

dicted for caufing to be printed this wicked Book,

and for publishing and vending of it. You are a

Printer by your Trade, as well as this Man that

comes againft you: He fays he did not fee you

A a a a print
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print it •, but he took it, and believed that you

printed it. I tell you how far that weighs :

You are a Printer by Trade j and comes the

other and defires the Sheets j you would not de-

liver them unlefs Mr. Brewfter and Mr. Calvert

were agreed. How comes the Sheets to your

Houfe, being a Printer, and yet you not print

it ? Anfwer that.

Dover. I fhall, my Lord : It is no Confequence

at all. Admit I had thefe Sheets, it is no Con-

fequence at all that I printed them ; for Printers

and Bookfellers ufually have Books they did not

print themfelves.

Ld Ch.Juft. #y*. threfher, by the Oath that

you have taken, did you fee thofe Sheets hang

upon the Line in his Houfe ?

Threfher. My Lord, I judged thefe had lately

hung up; And I faw other Sheets hanging

there > and I knew nothing to the contrary but

thofe that hung upon the Line were the fame

with thefe.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. Here are Sheets upon the

Lines ; you delivered him to fold part of thofe

on the Lines : What would you have more plain ?

You would not deliver them, if they were not

agreed : Then they were agreed, and you de-

livered them.

Dover. I fay this; I look upon the Witnefs

to be altogether invalid : He is a Perfon of no

good Repute.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Abetter Man than you, for

ought appears: You are indi&ed for a foul Of-

fence, fo is not he.

Dover. I am not the Man you take me to be.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. You fhall have Evidence, if

you will, that you are at work at this time upon

as bad as this.

Dover. If it be a Crime, I am forry for it.

Mr. L'Eftrange fworn.

Mr. L'Eftrange. Shall I fpeak to the whole
Matter, or only to the Particular you laft men-
tioned?

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. Say your Knowledge.
Mr. L'Eftrange. When I came to his Houfe,

which was about the middle of October, to fearch,

I found at that prefent a little unlicenfed Quak-
ing Book ; and in his Pocket the Libel that was
thrown up and down the Town, called, Murder
will out, ready printed.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Which was a villainous

Thing, andfcattered at York.

Mr. L'Eftrange. Since that, I was at his Houfe,
to compare a Flower which I found in the Pan-
ther, (a dangerous Pamphlet

;
) that Flower, that

is, the very fame Border, I found in his Houfe

;

the fame Mixture of Letter, great and fmall, in

the fame Cafe ; and I took a Copy off the Prefs.

I found over and above this Letter, [producing

the Letter,'] dated the 7th of February, 1 663, and
directed, For my Dear and Loving Wife, J. Do-
ver. Is it your Lordfhip's Pleafure I fhall read

it all?

Ld. Ch.Juft. Hyde. If it be touching the print-

ing of Things you found, do.

Mr. L'Eftrange Reads it. / would fain fee

my Sifter Mary ; therefore fince Sifter Hobbs will

not come, take her Order, and inftead of her Name,
put in Sifter Mary'j; It will never be quefiioned

here. However do it as wifely and handfomely as

you can, 8cc. [And then in a Poftfcripr,] You

muft either get Tom Porter, or fome very trufty

Friend, (poftibly C. D. may help you) to get for you

a fafe and convenient Room to dry Books in, as fbon

as poffbly you can. [And again : ] Let me knonJj

what you intend to do with the two Sheets and Half.

I will have it publifhed, when I am certain IJhall

be tried.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Let the Jury fee now, whe-
ther you are the Man you would be thought.

Dover. I defire to know whether my Name
be to that Letter?

Mr. L'Eftrange. No, it is not.

LdCh. Jufk. Hyde. Where did you receive or
find this Letter?

Mr. LEftrange. My Lord, I found it about
his Wife.
LdCh. Juft. Hyde. Let the Jury judge if this

come from you, or no.

Judge Keeling. You of the Jury, you muft un-
derftand this, That what is faid now is only
upon his Reputation, not to the Point in Que-
ftion at all : That Matter refts upon its own
Bottom.
Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. I'll deal plainly with you:

Had he not ftood upon fuch Terms, I fhould

not have fpoke of this : But when a Man will

be thus bold and confident, I thought it pro-

per to let you fee how he continues now in the

Goal.

Dover. I do not vindicate my felf in it ; but

I fpeak againft the Witnefs: 1 do conceive that

the Witnefs does not fix any thing upon me.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Have you any thirg elfe to

fay to the Indictment?

Dover. I am indicted as a malicious and factious

Man : The Witneffes fay no fuch thing.

LdCh.Juft.//)'^. You are not indicted fo, but

that you have malicioufly and factioufly caufed

to be printed fuch a feditious Book 5 not your

Perfon, but the Action.

Dover. There is nothing of that proved : Ad-
mit I was guilty of it, it was done when there

was no Act or Law in being touching Printing.

The Witneffes do not fwear pofitively that I did

do it: One fays he did not fee me; the other,

that he only believed it; that he did fee fome

Sheets upon the Line, and they were the fame

for ought he knew; does not remember the Time
or Place of our Difcourfe : I do not know that

ever I had half an Hour's Difcourfe with him in

my Life : I never had any Meeting with him
about any fuch Matter, nor had any Converfe

with him. The Title of the Book fays, Faith-

fully and Impartially collected for further Satisfac-

tion ; fo that it cannot be interpreted malicioufly.

It's a Maxim in Law, That the beft Interpre-

tations are to be put upon the Words of the In-

dictment, in favour of the Prifoner at the Bar:

And I hope this honourable Bench and the Ju-
ry will mind that. I am a Printer by Trade;
what I did was for my Livelihood: The Scrip-

ture fays, He is worfe than an Infidel that takes

not care for his Family. I fpeak not this to jufti-

fy any thing againft his Majefty or his Govern-
ment. Through my Ignorance I may poflibly

tranfgrefs : If I have done any fuch Thing, I

am forry for it; I hope I fhall be more careful

for the future. The other Part of the Indi£fc->

ment is for felling of them : No Man fwears

that I fold one Book of them. Mr. Creek fays,

That fome of his Men told him that they had

fome of thofe Sheets from fome of my Folks

;

but
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but of whom he does not fay. That I did med-

dle with them, knowing them to be fcandalous,

I hope there is nothing proved of that nature:

There being then no Law, I humbly hope there

was no Tranfgreffion.

Ld Ch. Jul*. Hyde. Have you done?

Dover. I humbly defire your Honours, and

this Jury, to take notice of what I have faid.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. You of theJury, I will not

fpendTime (it is too late) in repeating the Evi-

dence: You have heard the Evidence particular-

ly, and his Anfwer. He doth in part make the

fame Anfwer with his Fellows, which was, That

it is his Trade. It's true, no doubt but he ought

to maintain his Wife and Children by his law-

ful Calling ; but if a Thief fhould tell you that

he maintained his Wife by Stealing, is that law-

ful ? Printing Books lawfully, no Man will call

him to account for it j but if he prints that,

which is abufive to the King and his Govern-

ment, that's no Part of his Trade, and his Trade

will not bear him out in it : He is charged for

printing and publishing of thefe fcandalous Books,

That he did it knowingly, malicioujly, fal/ly, facli-

oujlyi and /editioufiy. I told you, That although

all thefe Things be not proved, yet if he did it,

the Law calls it Malice, Faclion, and Sedition.

Confider the Circumftances : You fee it is done

in the Dark ; the Sheets delivered at his Houfe,

and Difcourfe about Delivery of them \ he would

not deliver them unlefs Brewfier and Calvert were

agreed. 1 leave the Evidence to you in this

Cafe: Pregnant, ftrong, undeniable Circum-

ftances are good Evidence. Though a Man doth

not come and tell you he declared to him he knew
what was contained in this Book, yet if there

be fufficient Evidence to fatisfy you in your

Conferences, that he knew what was in it, and

was privy to the printing and publifhing of it ;

there is enough for you to find the Indictment.

You are to weigh Circumftances as well as preg-

nant full Proof, in Cafes of this Nature.

Clerk. Set Nathan Brooks to the Bar. You of

I

the Jury, you fhall underftand that he ftands in-

: dieted, &c. \Reads the Indictment .]

Mr. North afterwards opened the Indictment.

Serjeant Morton. This Man, we fhall only

prove him guilty of Stitching and Difperfing the

laid Books.

Threfher /worn.

Threjher. This Man I have not feen thefe three

Years.

Serjeant Morton. Did he fet you to work in

ftitching thofe Books?
Threjher. He brought none to me, that I can

remember : But by Mr. Brewfier
7

s Order I de-

livered about two hundred, or thereabouts, and

carried them to his Houfe in St. Mart/'#'s, and he

took them at the Stair-foot, and paid me for

ftitching of them in Blue Paper.

Serjeant Morton. Who furnifhed you with

Blue Paper?
Tlotejher. I went by Mr. Brewfier's Order to a

Stationer in Bread-Street, and received fome.

Brooks. I defire to know whether in thofe

Books he faid he delivered me, there were thofe

Paffages in the Indictment ?
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Threfaer. I know not : They were the Speeches

and Prayers that I delivered you.
Brooks. How did you deliver them to me?
Threfoer. They were ftitch'd •, and I tied them

up with a Piece of Packthread, and carried them
to him : He received them himfelf, and came
afterwards to an Alehoufe, and gave me a Flag-

gon of Beer. He knew what they were ; for

fome being imperfect, he faid Mr. Brewfier muft
make them good : And Mr. Brewfier gave Or-
der, if he came for them, they fhould be deli-

vered him.

Brooks. Did you know there were thofe Paf-

fages in them ?

Threjher. No, not I.

Brooks. I knew only the Title of it.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Let there be what there

will in it, if you knew the Title, look you to

it. Have you any thing elfe to ask ?

Brooks. No, my Lord.

Henry Mortlock [worn.

Serjeant Morton. Mr. Mortlock^ how many of

thofe Books did you receive of this Nathan
Brooks ?

Mortlock. About Forty or Fifty.

Serjeant Morton. What Talk had you about
receiving them ?

Mortlock. I do not remember any Difcourfe.

Serjeant Morton. Where did you receive

them ?

Mortlock. I am not certain whether in my Shop,
or no.

Ld Ch. Joft. Hyde. Were they open?
, Mortlock. They were tied up.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Did you fpeak for them?
Mortlock. I cannot tell 5 he brought them to

me.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. How came he tobring them

to you ?

Mortlock. May be I might fpeak for them ; I

paid him for them.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. You and he knew what
Book it was ?

Mortlock. I think we did.

Ld Ch. Jufl:. Hyde. Did you not open them?
They might have been The Devil of Echnon-

ton, for ought you knew. Did you open them
afterward? And did they appear to be this

Book ?

Mortlock. Yes.

Mr. L'Eftrange/wora,

Mr. VEftrange. I came to the Houfe of Na-
than Brooks about Oclober laft, and knocking ac

the Door, they made a Difficulty to let me in :

At laft, feeing not how to avoid it, Brooks

opened the Door. I asked him, what he was?

He told me he was the Matter of the Houfe. By
and by comes one that lodged in the Houfe, and.

throws down this Book \_fiiewing the Book~\ in

the Kitchen, with this Expreffion, Til not be

hangd (fays he) for ne^er a Rogue of you all: Do
you hide your Books in my Chamber? This Book
had the Speeches in it, with other Schifmatical

Treatifes. After this I fearched the next Houfe ;

and there I found more Difficulty to get in. But

after a long Stay, I faw the Second Floor in a

Blaze j and then with a Smith's Sledge I endea-

voured to force the Door. At length the Fire

Aaaa 2 was
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was put cut, and one comes down and opens

the Door. I went in, and up Stairs, where I

found about two hundred of the Prelatick

Preachers, and certain Notes of Nathan Brooks,

wherein he mentions the Delivery of feveral of

thefe Speeches, and other feditious Pamphlets.

There is one Particular wherein he records, That
Thomas Brewfter did in the Prefence of Captain

Hanfon undertake to bear his Charges of Impri-

fonment •, this Nathan Brooks having been for-

merly imprifoned for a Crime, wherein Brewfter

was to bear him out.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. What was it that burnt

above ?.

Mr. VEftrange. My Lord, they had burnt, I

fuppofe, fome of the Prelatick Preachers, (a de-

fperate Book : ) I found one Bundle untied, and I

fuppofe (as the Man told me after) that it was a

part of that which was burnt.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You fay this was in the

next Houfe to Brooks : what had Brooks to do

there? Had he conveyed thofe Books thither ?

Mr. VEftrange. The Owner of the Houfe
faid he knew nothing of them : But a Man and

his Wife, lodging in the Chamber where the

Fire was, faid, That Nathan Brooks had delivered

with his own Hands to them thofe Parcel of

Books that were there found.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You hear what he fays,

That one of your Guefts came down, faid he

would not be hanged for ne'er a Rogue of you ally

throws down the Book
Brooks. What's that to me, if a Man have a

Book in his Houfe, and throw it down, and fay

{o, doth that concern me ? He did not bring it

out of my Chamber.

One Mercer [worn.

' Mercer. My Lord, [having the Book in his

Hand'] this is the Book that I did find in a Room,
brought up by Nathan Brooks; and I brought

it down : 1 had it in a Room where two Boys

and my Sifter lay. He came firft and knocked

at our Chamber-Door: Said J, Who is there?

Says he, A Friend. Who are you? Brooks, your

'Landlord, fays he: Pray open the Door, and lay

up this Book for me. No, faid I, if you were

rny Father or Brother, I will not receive it ; I

will not meddle or make with you. After I

had denied the Book, he flings it into the next

Room.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. How came you by the

Book ?

Mercer. After Mr. VEflrange had enquired

there for Books, I knew nothing-, but my Wife
called to my Sifter, and asked her if (he heard

Mr. Brooks in the Room ? She faid, Yes, and he

had left a Book with her. Having notice, I went
up Stairs, cook the Book, and brought it down
prefently.

, Brooks. Is that the Book, the very individual

Book, that I brought up there?

LdCh. Juft. Hyde. He fwears this, That you
knocked, and prayed him to take in a Book ;

he refufed it : You went up to the next Cham-
ber, and there you left it. And his Wife asking

afterwards if you had been there, his Sifter faid,

Yes, you had left a Book. He brought it downj
and this appears to be the very individual Book,

nothing can be more clear.

Mercer',; JVife fiaorn.

That Morning they knocked at Brooks's Door,
we were a-bed ; I heard a Noife of Thieves.
Upon that, I being awake, and my Husband
afleep, I awaked him, and defired him to go to
the Window. He asked who was there ? One
faid to him, Rife, and open the Door. Said mv
Husband, I am but a Lodger ; let my Landlord
open it, if he will. W7ho is your Landlord?
Mr. Brooks. That's the Man I look for, fays

the other. So with that, after fome time,
Mr. Brooks went down, and opened the Door.
Mr. UEftrange coming up to my Husband, fays
he, Are you fure there is nothing in your Rooms?
There is nothing, faid he. When my Husband
went down, I called to my Sifter : Said I, Did
you hear Mr. Brooks there? Yes, faid (he, he has
left a Book here. Said I, Do you know what's in it?

It may bring us all into Trouble. And my Huf-
band having confidently denied any fuch thing,
fearing he might be troubled, I called him up,
and told him of it. Said my Husband, I'll call

up the Gentleman, and give it him. No, faid I,

go take the Book, and carry it him.

Mercer's Sifter fworn.

Thomazin Mercer. It is very true that that is the
very Book I received from Mr. Brooks.

LdCh.Juft. Hyde. Now the individual Book
is brought to light.

Brooks. What was the Title of it ?

1". Mercer. I know not} but there was the
Speeches of the ten Men that were executed.

Brooks. Did you fee that Book, that very Book ?

Y. Mercer. Yes.

One Mr. Merridale/ziw».

Mr. Merridale. My Lord, this very Book did

Mercer bring down, told us, He would be hang'd

for never a Rogue of them all : Did he think to lay

his Books at my Door? I know this is the very
Book : I took notice of the Picture of Sir Henry
Vane in it; and he there owned it.

Mercer. 1 can tell that he owned it, and faid'

it was brought to him to be bound.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Here are two hundred of

thefe Books delivered to you to fell : fifty you
deliver to another. When Mr. VEfirange comes
to fearch, you open not your Doors : When
you fee you could not ftay longer, you run up
to deliver it to Mercer, your Gueft: He would
not receive it ; you deliver it to his Sifter : She
keeps it in her Hands. When her Husband had

denied Books to be there, and hisW ife underftand-

ing afterwards you had left it, fhe was afraid of

her Husband for denying it, calls him, and gives

him the Book; and then he faid, He would be

hanged for never a Rogue of you all: throws down
the Book : And that was the very Book fhe re-

ceived from you : and your felf did own it, and

confefs it.

Brooks. As for Mr. VEflrange, it is not i"o ; he

fays, when firft he knocked at the door, I did

not hear him : afterwards I called out, Who's
there? faid one, Which is Mr. Brooks ? faid I,

Here. I told them, if they would be civil, I

Would open the door, give me but leave to put

on
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on my Breeches. I went and opened it. He
doth not fwear positively they are my Books.

My Lord, this Mercer was a Lodger in my
Houfe j I have often defired him to pay his

Rent, and Since I have been taken, I have fent

feveral Meffengers : I told him I would feize his

Goods, and thereupon he fpcaks againft me ma-

licioufly. I defire you to confider, I being only

a Workman, how can I be guilty of Sedition

and Scandalous Things ? I never printed any

thing, I am only a Bookbinder, that's my Trade

:

I hope you will confider, that I am only a bare

Workman. My Lord, I defire when they go out,

that fomebody may ftand at the door, that no

body may go in to the Jury.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. We will take care of that

:

Have you any more to fay ?

Brooks. No, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Jufl. Hyde. You of the Jury, you have

heard fo much of the other Indictments of the

fame nature, I need not fay much to this. That

which he fpeaks touching his Trade, I muft re-

peat the fame as before ; he is not queftioned

for ufing, but abufing of his Trade $ for pub-

lishing and difperfing feditious and Scandalous

Books, printing and publishing, but the Evi-

dence is only for publiihing. If you be Satisfied

that he publifhed it, that's the Crime j print-

ing alone is not enough, for if a Man print a

Book to make a fire on, that's no Offence, it is

the publishing of it which is the Crime. You

have heard the Evidence, how far forth it is

proved, two hundred delivered to him, fifty by

him delivered to another: This Book you fee

his own Confcience tells him what it was; when

Mr. L'Eftrange came, he would have flipt it

into his Gueft's Chamber ; he refufed it : then

he carries it to another. Lay your Evidence

together-, if you find him guilty of the pub-

lishing, it is enough.

Jury. We defire to know upon what Statute

Law this Indictment is grounded ?

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Upon none ; but it is an

Offence at Common Law, I told you fo at

firft.

[TheJury went forth, and after near an hour's

Conlultation, returned to the Court, and

took their places."]

Are you all agreed of your Verdict ?

Yes.

Who Shall fay for you?

The Foreman.

Clerk. Set up the Prifoners to the Bar : How
fay you, is Tho. Brewfter guilty of the Offence

whereof he Stands indicted, for printing the fe-

ditious Book called The Speeches^ &c. or not

guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty of felling and uttering the

faid Books.

Clerk. What fay you, is he guilty of the Of-

fence of printing and publishing the Book called

The Phoenix^ &c. or not guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty of publishing it.

Clerk. How fay you, is Simon Dover guilty

of the Offence for printing and publishing The

Speeches, &c. or not guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty

Clerk.

Jury.

Clerk.

Jury.

Clerk. How fay you, is Nathan Brooks guilty

of the Offtnce for printing and felling the Said

Book?

Foreman. Guilty of felling it.

Clerk. Hearken to your Verdicts as the Court
hath recorded them : You fay, that &c . and fo

you fay all ?

Jury. Yes.
Mr. North. My Lord, we humbly pray Sen-

tence againft the Prifoners.

Ld Ch. Jufl. Hyde. You three, Thomas Brew-
fter, Simon Dover and Nathan Brooks; you have
been feverally indicted for a heinous and great

Offence : Brewfter, you have been indicted for

two Several Books, as full of Villany, and Slan-

der, and Reproach to the King and Govern-
ment, as poffibly can be : And 1 will tell you alt

three, it is the King's great Mercy you have not

been indibled capitally ; for every one of thofe

Books are filled with Treafon, and you for pub-
lishing of them, by ftrictnefs of Law, have for-

feited your Lives and All to the King : It is

his Clemency towards you. You may fee the

King's Purpofcsj he defires to reform, not to

ruin his Subjects. The Prefs is grown fo com-
mon, and Men take the Boldnefs to print what-
ever is brought to them, let it concern whom
it will ; it is high time Examples be made. I

muft let you and all Men know, by the Courfe
of the Common Law, before this new Act was
made, for a Printer, or any other, under pre-

tence of Printing, to publifh that which is a

Reproach to the King, to the State, to his Go-
vernment, to the Church, nay to a particular

Pcrfon, it is punifhable as a Mifdemeanour. He
muft not fay, He knew not what was in it ; that

is no Anfwer in Law. I fpeak this, becaufe 1

would have Men avoid this for time to come,
and not think to Shelter themSelves under fuch a

Pretence. I will not fpend time in difcourfing

of the Nature of the Offence, it hath been de-

clared already ; it is fo high, that truly the

higheft Punifhment that by Law may be juftly

inflicted, is due to you. But, Thomas Brewfter,

your Offence is double : therefore the Judgment
of the Court is,

* That you Shall pay to the King, for thefe

* Offences committed, an hundred
' Marks: And for you, (the other two)

e)n
'
24 *

' Simon Dover and Nathan Brooks, you Shall pay
' either of you a Fine of forty Marks to the King.

' You Shall each of you feverally Stand upon
* the Pillory from Eleven to One of the Clock
c in one Place at the Exchange, and another Day
4 (the fame fpace of time) in Smithfield ; and you
' Shall have a Paper fet over your Hats, declaring
' your Offence, For printing and publijhing Scan-
4 dalous, Treafonable, and Faclious Books againft
' the King and State.

' You Shall be committed till the next Goal-
' delivery without Bail ; and then you Shall

* make an open Confeffion and Acknowledg-
' ment of your Offences in fuch Words as Shall

c be directed you.
4 And afterwards you Shall remain Prifoners

* during the King's Pleafure : And when you
' are difcharged, you Shall put in good Security

* by Recognizance, your Selves 400/. a-piece,

' and two Securities each of you of 200 /. a-

' piece, not to print or publifh any Books, but

'fuch as Shall be allow'd of. And this is the

* Judgment of the Court.
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LXVI. 2fe 7m/ 0/ ilfr- Benjamin Keach, at the

AJJizes at Ailsbury in Buckinghamfhire> for a Libel,

Odober 8 and 9. 1664. 16 Car. II.

Enjamin Keach of Winflow, in the

County of Bucks, having wrote a

little Book, entitled, The Child's In-

jlruclor; or, ANew and Eafy Prim-

mer : In which were contained fe-

veral Things contrary to the Doctrine and Cere-

monies of the Church of England j as, That In-

fants ought not to be baptized •, That Laymen may

preach the Go/pel; That Chrift Jhall reign perfinally

upon the Earth in the latter Day, &c. He had no

fooner got it printed, and fome of them fent

down to him, but one Mr. Strafford, a Juftice

of the Peace for that County, received Infor-

mation of it. Whereupon, taking a Conftable

with him, he went in queft of the faid Books ;

and coming to the Houfe of Mr. Keach, found

and feized feveral of them, bound Mr. Keach

over to anfwer for it at the next Affizesin a Re-

cognizance of an hundred Pounds, and two

Sureties with him in fifty Pounds each.

The next Affize holden for the faid County

was at Ailsbury on the 8th and pth Days of Octo-

ber, 1664, Lord Chief Juftice Hyde being Judge.

On the firft of which Days, in the Forenoon,

Mr. Keach was called upon j who anfwering to

his Name, was brought to the Bar, and exa-

mined as follows

:

Judge. Did you write this Book? {Holding out

one of the Primmers in his Hand^]

Keach. I writ moll of it.

Judge. What have you to do to take other

Mens Trades out of their hands ? I believe you

can preach as well as write Books. Thus it is

to let you, and fuch as you are, have the Scrip-

ture to wreft to your own Deftruction. You
have made in your Book a new Creed : 1 have

feen three Creeds before} but I never faw a

fourth till you made one.

Keach. I have not made a Creed, but a Con-

feflion of the Chriftian Faith.

Judge. Well, that is a Creed then.

Keach. Your Lordfhip faid you had never feen

but three Creeds-, but Thousands of Chriftians

have made a Confeffion of their Faith.

After this the Judge obferved to the Court fe-

veral Things which were written in the faid

Book, concerning Baptifm and the Minifters of

the Gofpel, which were contrary to the Litur-

gy of the Church of England, and fo a Breach

of the Act of Uniformity.

Keach. My Lord, as to thofe Things

Judge. You ihal! not preach here, nor give

the Reafons of your Damnable Doctrine, to fe-

duce and infeft his Majefty's Subjects. Thefe

are not Things for fuch as you are to meddle

with, and to pretend to write Books ofDivinity

:

But I will try you for it, before I deep.
After this he gave Directions to the Clerk to

draw up the Indictment -, and the WitnefTes were
fworn, and ordered to ftand by the Clerk till

the Indictment was finifhed, and then to go
with it to the Grand Inqueft.

Judge. Gentlemen of the Grand Jury, I {hall

fend you prefently a Bill againft one that hath
taken upon him to write a new Primmer for the
Inftruction of your Children : He is a bafe and
dangerous Fellow j and if this be fuffered, Chil-
dren by learning of it will become fuch as he is,

and therefore I hope you will do your Duty.
The Indictment being long, took fo much time

to draw it up, that the Trial did not come on
till the next Day.

The next Day, the Court being fet, the Grand
Jury found the Bill, and brought it in indorfed

Billa vera.

Clerk. Benjamin Keach, come to the Bar.

Mr. Keach comes to the Bar.

Clerk. Hear your Charge. ' Thou art here in-

dicted by the Name of Benjamin Keach, ofthe
Parifh of Winflow, in the County of Bucks :

For that thou being a Seditious, Heretical, and
Schifmatical Perfon, evilly and maliciouflydif-

pofed, and difaffected to his Majefty's Govern-
ment, and the Government of the Church of
England, didft malicioufly and wickedly, on
the 1 ft Day of May, in the i<5th Year of the

Reign ofour Sovereign Lord the King, write,

print, and publifh, or eaufe to be written,

printed, and publifhed, one Seditious and Veno-
mous Book, entitled, The Child's Inftruclor; or,

A New and Eafy Primmer ; wherein are con-

tained by way of" Queftion and Anfwer, thefe

Damnable Pofitions, contrary to the Book of
Common Prayer, and the Liturgy of the

Church of England : That is to fay, in one
Place you have thus written •, Q. Who are the

right Subjeels of Baptifm? A. Believers, orgodly

Men and Women only, who can make Confeffion

oftheir Faith and Repentance. And in another
place you have malicioufly and wickedly writ-

ten thefe Words } Q. How Jhall it then go with
the Saints ? A. O very well. It is the Day that

they have longed for : then they jhall hear that

Sentence, Come ye Blefled of my Father, inhe-

rit the Kingdom prepared for you ; and fo jhall

they reign with .Chrift on the Earth a thoufand

Tears, even on Mount Sion, in New Jerufalem $

for there will Chrift's Throne be, on which they

* muji ft down with hhn. Then follows this

Queftion,
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* Queftion, with the Anfwer thereto, in thefe

*r plain Englijh Words -, Q^ When (ball the Wicked
4 and the fallen Angels, which be the Devils, be

e judged ? A. When the thoufand Years fioall be ex-

4
fired, then Jhall the refi of the Devils be raifed,

4 " and then fhall be the general and laft Judgment,
4 then pall all the refi of the Dead and Devils be

4 judged by Chrifi and his glorified Saints ; and they

4 being arraigned and judged, the Wicked fhall be

4 condemned, and caft by the Angels into the Lake of
* Tire, there to be burned for ever and ever.

4 In another place thou haft wickedly and ma-
* licioufly written thefe plain Englijh words : G\
' Why may not Infants be received into the Church
* now, as they were under the Law? A. Becaufe
4 the flefhly Seed is caft out : Tho

y God under that

1
Difpenfation did receive Infants in a lineal way

4 by Generation, yet he that hath the Key of David,
4 that openeth and no Man fhutteth, that Jhutteth

4 and no Man openeth, hath Jhut up that Way into

4 the Church ; and hath opened the Door of Re-
4 generation, receiving in none now but -Believers.

4 Q^ What then is the State of Infants ? A. In-

* fants that die are Members of the Kingdom of
4 Glory, tho" they be not Members of the Fifible

* Church. Q: Do they then that bring in Infants

* in a fieJhly lineal way, err from the way ofTruth ?

4 A. Tea, they do j for they make not God's Holy
4 Word their Rule, but do prefume to open a Door
4 that Chrifi hath Jhut, and none ought to open.

4 And alfo in another place thou hail wickedly
4 and malicioufly compofed A fhort Confcjfion of
4 the Chrifiian Taith ; wherein thou haft affirm'd
4

this concerning the fecond Perfon in the

* Bleffed Trinity, in thefe plain Englijh words

:

4 / alfo believe that he rofe again the third Day
4 from the Dead, and afcended into Heaven above,
4 and there now fitteth at the right hand of God the
4 Tathcr ; and from thence he floall come again at
4 the appointed time of the Father, to reign perfon-
4

ally upon the Earth, and to be Judge of the ghiick
4 and Dead. And in another place thou haft
4 wickedly and malicioufly affirmed thefe things
4 concerning true Gofpel-Minifters, in thefe

* plain Englijh words following: Chrifi hath not
4

chofen the wife and prudent Men after the Flefij,
4 not great Dotlors and Rabbles ; Not many
4 Mighty and. Noble, faith Paul, are called : but
4 rather the Poor and Defpifed, even Tradefmen and
4
fuch-like, as was Matthew, Peter, Andrew,

4 Paul, and others. And Chrifi'' s true Minifters
4 have not their Learning and Wifdom from Men,
4 or from Univerfitics, or human Schools for human
4 Learning. Arts and Sciences are not effential to

4 making of a true Minifier, but the Gifts of God,
4 which cannot be bought with Silver and Gold ; and
* alfo as they have freely received the Gift, fo they
4 do freely adminifler : They do not preach for Hire,

* for Gain and filthy Lucre : They are not like the
4
falfe Teachers, who look for Gain from their fguar-

* ter ; who eat the Fat, and clothe themfelves with
4 the Wool, and kill them that are fed ; thofe that
4 put not into their mouths, they prepare War a-

* gainfi : Alfo they are not Lords over God's Heri-
* tage, they rule them not by Torce and' Cruelty,
1

neither have they power to force and compel Men
* to believe and obey their Doctrines, but are only to

4
perfuade and intreat ; for this is the Way of the

4
Gofpel, as Chrifi taught them -

* And many other things haft thou feditioufly,

' wickedly, and malicioufly written in the faid
4 Book, to the great Difpleafure of Almighty

4 God, the Scandal of the Liturgy of the
4 Church of England, the Difaffettion of the
4 King's People to his Majefty's Government*
4 the Danger of the Peace of this Kingdom, to
4 the evil Example of others, and contrary to
' the Statute in that cafe made and provided.'

How fay you, Benjamin Reach, are you Guilty,

or Not Guilty ?

Keach. The Indictment is fo very long, that I

cannot remember half of it, nor have 1 been ac-

cuftomed to plead to Indictments : therefore I

defire a Copy of it, and liberty to confer with

Counfel about it, in order to put in my Excep-
tions, and then I fhall plead to it.

Judge. 'Tis your Intention, I perceive, to de°

lay your Trial to the next Affize.

Keach. No, my Lord, I have no defign by
this to delay my Trial.

Judge. I will not deny you what is your
Right, but you muft firft plead to your Indict-

ment, and afterwards you fhall have a Copy of
it.

Keach. I defire I may have a Copy of it be-

fore I plead, in order to put in my Exceptions
againft it.

Judge. You fhall not have it, before you plead

Guilty or Not Guilty.

Keach. 'Tis what has been granted to others.

Judge. You fhall not have it fir 1

* j and if you
refufe to plead Guilty or Not Guilty, I mail

take \t pro confejfo, and give Judgment againlt

you accordingly.

Keach. Not Guilty, my Lord.

Judge. Now you may have a Copy of your
Indictment, and I will give you an Hour's time

to confider of it.

Keach. If I may have no longer time I don'E

defire any.

Judge. I have fomething elfe to do than wait

upon you j you are not a Perfon fit to go a-

broad till next Affize, and you will think it hard

if I fhould commit you to Goal till then: but

becaufe you fhall not fay but that you were of-

fered fair* if you will find fufficient Sureties for

your Appearance at the next Affize, and for vour

good Behaviour till then, you fhall not be try'd

till then.

Keach. My Lord, I am content to be try'd

now.
Judge. Go on then, a God's Name.
Clerk. Gentlemen of the Jury, anfwer to your

Names, &c.
Then the Jury were fworn, well and truly to

try the Traverfe between the King's Majefty and

the Prifoner at the Bar.

Judge. Clerk, read the Indictment. \He reads

itf\

Gentlemen of the Jury, the Prifoner at the

Bar has pleaded Not Guilty, and your Charge is

to inquire whether he be Guilty or not.

Then the Witnefles were fworn, Who were
Neal and Whitehall.

Neal depofed, That Juftice Strafford fent for

him to his Houfej when he came there, the

Juftice fent him back again for his Staff* of Au-
thority : which being done, he went with the

Juftice to one Moody's Stall, and asked for fome

of the Primmers which he had : he anfweredj

that he had none. That from thence thev went

to Mr. Reach's Houfe, where firft they faw his

Wife, who told them he was in an inward

Room. They asked her, if there were not fome
Primmers
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Primmers in the Houfe ? fhe faid, there was

;

and about thirty were brought forth, and deli-

vered to them.

Then Juftice Strafford himfelf was alio exa-

mined : he faid, That he found the Primmers

now before the Court in Benj. Reach's Houfe,

and feized them •, and that the Prifoner at the

Bar had confeffed before him, that he writ and

compofed the faid Book.

Then a Copy of the Prifoner's Examination

before the faid Juftice, figned with his own

Hand, was produced and read ; wherein was

contained, That the Prifoner being asked whe-

ther he was the Author or Writer of the faid

Book? anfwered, Yes he was. And further de-

clared, That he delivered a part of the Copy to

one Oviat a Printer at London, fince dead ; and

that the reft of the Copy he fent up by another

Hand, but that he knew not who printed it

:

That about forty of them were fent down to

him, of which he had difperfed about twelve,

and that the Price was Five-pence each Book.

After this the Judge called for a Common-

Prayer-Book, and laid it before him ; and order-

ed one of the Primmers to be given to the Gen-

tlemen of the Jury, and bid them look on thofe

Parts where the Leaves were turn'd down.

Judge. Clerk, read thofe Sentences in the In-

diftment, which are taken out of the Book,

that the Jury may turn to them, and fee that

the faid Pofitions are contained in the Book.

Clerk. Q, Who are the right Subjects of Bap-

tifm ? A. Believers or Godly Men and Women
only, who can make Confeffion of their Faith

and Repentance.

Judge. This is contrary to the Book of Com-

mon-Prayer, for that appoints Infants to be bap-

tized, as well as Men and Women. {Here he

read feveral places in the Liturgy , wherein the bap-

tizing of Infants is enjoined and direb~ted.~]

Clerk reads. Q^ How ftiall it then go with the

Saints ? A. Oh very well ! it is the Day that

they have long'd for: then they mall hear that

Sentence, Come ye bleffed of my Father, inherit the

Kingdom preparedfor you : And fo fhall they reign

with Chrift on the Earth a thoufand Years, &c.

Judge. This is contrary to the Creed in the

Book of Common-Prayer, and is an old Herefy,

which was caft out of the Church a thoufand

Years ago, and was likewife condemned by the

Council of Conftance about five hundred Years

ago, and hath lain dead ever fince, till now this

Rafcal hath revived it.

Clerk reads. O^. Why may not Infants be received

into the Church now, as they were under the Law ?

A. Bccaufe the flefhly Seed is caft out, &c. Q.

What then is the State of Infants ? A. Infants that

die, are Members of the Kingdom of Glory,

tho' they be not Members of the Vifible Church.

Q. Do they then that bring in Infants by a flefhly

lineal Way, err from the Truth ? A. Yea, they

do > for they make not God's Holy Word their

Rule, but do piefume to open a Door that

Chrift hath fhut, and none ought to open.

Judge. This alfo is contrary to the Book of

Common-Prayer, which appoints Infants to be

received into the Church, and directs the Prieft

to fay, when he hath fprinkled the Child, We
receive this Child into the Congregation of Chrift'

s

Flock. And whereas he fays that Infants that

die are Members of the Kingdom of Glory, tho'

not of the Vifible Church, he fpeaks this of In-

fants in general, and fo the Child of a Turk or
Heathen is made equal with the Child of aChri-
ftian : But the Church hath otherwife deter-

mined j that is, if an Infant die after Baptifm,

and before it hath actually finned, it is faved,

becaufe Original Sin is wafh'd away in Baptifm.

Read on.

Clerk. Alfo in another place thou haft wicked-
ly and malicioufly compofed yi ftjort Confeffion of
Faith, in which thou haft affirmed thus, con-
cerning the fecond Perfonin the Bleffed Trinity,

in thefe plain Englifh words ; / alfo believe that

he rofe again the third Day from the Dead, and
afcended into Heaven, and there now fitteth at the

right hand of God the Father ; and from thence he

floall come again at the appointed time of the Father,

to reign perfinally upon the Earth, and to be the

Judge ofthe Quick and the Dead.

Judge. This is contrary to our Creed : for

whereas he faith, From thence he flail come again

at the appointed time of the Father, to reign perfon-

ally upon the Earth, and to be Judge both of the

Quick and the Dead; our Creed only faith, From
thence he fliall come to judge both the Quick and the

Dead.
Clerk. And in another place thou haft wick-

edly and malicioufly affirmed thefe things con-
cerning true Gofpel-Minifters, in thefe plain

Englifh words following : Chrift hath not chofen

the wife and prudent Men after the Flejh, not great

Dotlors and Rabbles ; Not many Mighty and
Noble, faith Paul, are called, &c. as above.

Judge. This alfo is contrary to the Book of

Common-Prayer : for whereas the Pofition in the

Indictment faith, Chrift hath not chofen great

Rabbies and Doctors, but rather the Poor, and
Defpifed, and Tradefmen j the Book of Com-
mon-Prayer doth admit of fuch. [Here he read

fome Paffages concerning the Qualification of Mini-

fters, and their Manner of Confecration.~] Becaufe

Chrift, when he was upon the Earth, made
choice of Tradefmen to be his Difciples, there-

fore this Fellow would have Minifters to be fuch
now > Taylors, and Pedlars, and Tinkers, and
fuch Fellows as he is : But it is otherwife now,
as appears from the Manner in which the Church
has appointed them to be chofen, ordained, and
confecrated.

The Judge having thus gone through the In-

dictment, the Prifoner began to fpeakin his De-
fence.

Keach. As to the Doctrines >

Judge. You fhall not fpeak here, except to the

Matter of Factj that is to fay, whetheryou writ

this Book or not.

Keach. I defire liberty to fpeak to the Parti-

culars in my Indictment, and thofe things that

have

Judge. You fhall not be fuffered to give the

Reafons of your damnable Doctrine here, to fe-

duce the King's Subjects.

Keach. Is my Religion fo bad, that I may not

be allow'd to fpeak ?

Judge. I know your Religion, you are a Fifth-

Monarchy-Man j and you can preach, aswellas

write Books ; and you will preach here, if I

would let you : but I fhall take fuch order, as

you fhall do no more mifchief.

Keach. I did not write all the Book, for there

is an Epiftle to it written by another Hand ;

neither can it be proved that I writ all that is

put into the Indictment.

Judge.
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Judge. It is all one whether you writ it your-

felf, or dictated to another to write it : but it

app ars by your Examination under your own
Hand, that you wrote it all.

Keach. Becaufe I writ the major pare of it, I

was contented to let it go with the v/ord all in

my Examination before Jultice Strafford; but I

cannot in Confcience fay I wrote it all: nor is

it proved that I publifhed it.

Judge. Yes, you did ; for Moody had fix Books

of you.

Keach. I did neither fell them, nor deliver

them to him.

Judge. He had them at your Houfe, and it is

not likely he mould take them without your

Confent.

Keach. I do not fay he had them without my
Confent.

Judge. It is all one then, as if you delivered

them.
Here the Judge fumm'd up the Evidence, and

gave his Charge to the Jury j but this the A-
manu nfis has omitted.

The Jury being withdrawn, ftaid for fome

Hours : at length one of the Officers who at-

tended them came in.

Officer. My Lord, the Jury about the Prim-

mers cannot agree.

Judge. But they muft agree

find him Guilty of all, that Sentence excepted:
but why did you come in before you were
agreed ?

Foreman. We thought we had been agreed?

Judge. You mult go out again, and agree : and
as for you, that fay you cannot in Confcience
find him Guilty, if you fay fo again, without
giving Reafons for it, 1 fhall take an Order with
you.

Then the Jury withdrew, and in a little time
returned again.

Clerk. Are you agreed in your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. How fay you, is Benjamin Keach Guilty
of the Matters charged in the Indictment againit

him, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty of the Indictment ; that Sen-
tence, wherein Devils is inferted inftead of Dead,
only excepted.

Upon this, Benjamin Keach was called to the
Bar, and the Judge proceeded to pafs Sentence
upon him as follows.

Judge. Benjamin Keach) you arc here convicted
of writing and publifhing a fedirious and fcanda-

lous Book, for which the Court's Judgment is

this, and the Court doth award, That you fhall

go to Goal for a Fortnight, without Bail or
Mainprifej and the next Saturday to Hand upon
the Pillory at Aihbury for the fpace of two

Officer. They defire to know whether one of Hours, from Eleven of the clock to One, with

them may not come and fpeak with your Lord- a Paper upon your Head with this Inscription,

fhip, about fomething whereof they are in

doubt.

Judge. Yes, privately : [/?nd then ordered one

to come to him on the Bench.~\

Then the Officer called one, and he was fet

For writing, printing, and publijhing ajchifmatical

Book, intitled, The Child's Jnftructor, or a New
and Eafy Primmer. And the next Thurfday to

ftand in the fame manner, and for the fame time,

in the Market of Winjlow ; and there your Bool

upon the Clerk's Table, and the Judge and he mail be openly burnt before your Face by the

whifpered together a great while; and it was common Hangman, in difgrace of you and your

obferved, that the Judge having his Hands upon Doctrine. And you fhall forfeit to the King's

his Shoulders, would frequently ihake him as he Majefty the Sum of zol. and fhall remain in

fpaketohim. Upon this Perfon's returning, the Goal until you find Sureties for your good Be-

whole Jury quickly came in, and being accord- haviour and Appearance at the next Ailiz.es,

ing to Cuftom called over by their Names the there to renounce your Doctrine, and makefuch
Clerk proceeded.

Clerk. Are you agreed in your Verdict?

Jury. Yes, yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fpeak for you?

Jury. Our Foreman.

Clerk. How fay you, is Benjamin Keach Guilty

of the Matters contained in the Indictment a-

gainft him, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty in Part.

Clerk. Of what Part?

Foreman. There is fomething contained in the

Indictment, which is not in the Book.

Clerk. What is that?

Foreman. In the Indictment he is charged with

thefe words, IVhen the thoufand 2ears [hall be ex-

pired, thenfhall all the reft of the Devils be raifed

;

but in the Book it is, Then ft) all the reft of the in the Pillory the whole time.

publick Submiflion as fhall be injoined you.
Take him away, Keeper.

Keach. I hope I fhall never renounce thofe

Truths which I have written in that Book.
Clerk. My Lord, he fays he hopes he fhall

never repent.

But the Judge taking no notice, the Goaler
took him away.

According to the Sentence palTed upon him,
he was kept clofe Prifoner till the Saturday fol-

lowing, and then about ,Eleven o'clock was
carried to the Pillory at Ailsbury, where he
flood full two Hours to a minute, was deny'd
the liberty of fpeaking to the Spectators, and
had his Hands as well a^ his Head carefully kept

Dead be raifed.

Clerk. Is he Guilty of all the reft of the In-

dictment, that Sentence excepted?
One of the Jury. I cannot in Confcience find

him Guilty, becaufe the Words in the Indict-

ment and the Book do not agree.

On the Thurfday following he flood in the

fame manner and for the fame time at Winjlow,
the Town where he lived, and had his Book
burnt before him.

After this, upon paying his Fine, and giving

fufHcient Security for his good Behaviour, he

Judge. That is only through a Miftake of the was fet at liberty ; but was never brought to

Clerk's, and in that Sentence only ; and you may make a Recantation.

Vol. II. B bbb Pro-
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LXVII. Proceedings in Parliament againji Edward Earl

of Clarendon? * ior^ /f/gA Chancellor ^/England,
/#r High-Treafoib $/^ 0/Z^r High Crimes and Mifde-

meanours? July io3 1663. 15 Car. II. and 0£tober5 &c.

1667. 19 Car. II.

ipljlflilj H E Earl of Briftol having been op-

l|3£Hjj|<! pos'd by the Earl of Clarendon in the

lIpfT fp| Defigns which he had form'd in fa-

Ri^H vour of the Papifis, refolved to take

"^Sllfe all Methods to ruin him ; not con-

tented therefore with endeavouring to deprive

him of the King's Favour, he forms Articles of

That His Majejiy had given iooool. to removt

a zealous Proteftant, that he might bring into that

Place ofHigh Truft a concealed Papift j notwithfland-

ing that the /aid Sir Henry Bennet is known to

have ever been, both in his Profeffion and Practice,

conjlant to the Proteftant Religion.

That in purfuance of the fame Traiterous Defign,

High-Treafon and other Mifdemeanours againft feveral near Friends and known Dependences of his

him, which he fhew'd to the King ; and tho' have faid aloud, that were it not for my Lord
Chancellor's Jianding in the Gap, Popery would be

introduced in this Kingdom, or words to that effect.

That in purfuance of the aforefaid Traiterous De-

the King would have diffuaded him from it, yet

the next Day he carried the Charge to the Houfe

of Lords, which was as follows.

- Articles of High-Treafon, and other Hein-

ous Mifdemeanour?, Exhibited againft Ed-

ward Earl of Clarendon, Lord High-

Chancellor of England, in the Houfe of

Lords j on the 10th of July, 1663. By

the Earl of Briftol. |

THAT being in Place of highefl Truft and

Confidence with His Majejiy, and having ar-

rogated a Supreme Direction in all His Majefiy'

s

Affairs, both at Home and Abroad, hath Wickedly

and Malicioufly, and with a Traiterous Intent to

draw Scandal and Contempt upon His Majeflf's

Perfon, and to alienate from him the Affections of

his Subjects, abufed the faid Truft in Manner fol-

lowing, viz.

That he hath Traiteroufly and Malicioufly endea-

voured to Alienate the Hearts of his Majeflfs Sub-

jects from him, by Words of his own, and by arti-

ficial Infinuations of his Creatures and Dependences,

that His Majefiy was inclined to Popery, and had

a Defign to alter the Religion EJlablijhed in this

Kingdom.

That in purfuance of that Traiterous Intent, he

hath to feveral Perfons of His Majeflfs Privy-

Council held Difcourfes to this Effect, viz.

That His Majejiy was dangeroufly corrupted in his

Religion, and inclined to Popery.

That Perfons of that Religion had fuch Accefs,

andfuch Credit with him, that unlefs there were a

careful Eye had unto it, the Proteftant Religion

would be overthrown in this Kingdom; and in pur-

fuance of the faid Wicked and Traiterous Intent, up-

on His Majeflfs admitting Sir Henry Bennet to be from the Pope the Cardinal's Cap for the Lord Au-

Principal Secretary of State, in the Place of Mr. bignv, as aforefaid, promifing great Favour to Pa-

Secretary Nicolas, he hath faid thefe words, or pi (Is here, in cafe it fhould be effectedfor him.

words to this effect

;

* Bijbop Burnett Hiji. of Us Oivn Times, Vol. I. p. 254, ts'c. f Burnet'; fflj}. cf his 0<v.n times. Vol. I. p. 196.

That

fign, he hath not only advifed and perfuaded the

King to do fuch things contrary to his own Reafons

and Reflations as might confirm and increafe the

Scandal, which he had endeavoured to raife upon

His Majefiy as aforefaid, of hisfavour to Popery,

but more particularly to allow his Name to be ufed

to the Pope andfeveral Cardinals in thefollicitation

of a Cardinal' s £ap for the Lord Aubigny, one of

his own Subjects, and great Almoner at prefent to

his Royal Confort the ghteen.

That in purfuance of the fame Hoicked and Trai-

terous Defign, he had recommended to be employed to

the Pope one of his own Domeflicks, Mr. Rich.
Bealing, aPerfon {tho'' an avow'd Papift) known
to be trufted and employed by him in Difpatches and

Negotiations concerning Affairs of greateft Concern',

?nent to the Nation.

That in purfuance of the faid Traiterous Defign,

he being chief Minifler of State, did himfelf write

by the[aid Mr. Rich . Beali ng, Letters tofeveral Car-

dinals, preffing them in the Kings Name to induce

the Pope to Confer a Cardinal's Cap on the faid Lord
Aubigny, promifing, in Cafe it fhould be attained,

exemption to the Roman Catholicks of England

from the Penal Laws in force againji them ; by

which Addrefs unto the Pope for that Ecclefiaflical

Dignity for one of His Majefiy' s Subjects and Do-

meflicks, he hath, as far as from one Aclion can be

inferred, traiteroufly acknowledged the Pope's Ec-

clefiaftical Sovereignty, contrary to the known Laws

of this Kingdom.

That in purfuance of the fame traiterous Defign,

he has called unto him fevsral P> lefts and Jefuits,

whom he knew to be Superiors of Orders here in

England, and defired them to ivrite to their Gene-

rals at Rome, to give their help for the. obtaining
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"that he hath pr'omifed to feveral Papifts he would

do his endeavour, and[aid he hoped, to compafs the

taking away all Penal Laws againft them, which he

did in pur[nance of the traiterous Defign aforcfaid ;

to the end they might prefume and grow vain upon

his Patronage, and by their publiftnng their hopes of

a "toleration, increafe the Scandal endeavoured by

him, and by his Emiffaries, to be raifed upon His

Majefty throughout the Kingdom.

That in purfuance of the fame traiterous Defign,

being intruflcd with the Treaty betwixt His Majefty,

and His Royal Confort the §)ueen, he concluded it

upon Articles fcandalous and dangerous to the Pro-

tectant Religion.

That in purfuance of the fame tralterous Defign,

he concluded the fame Marriage, and brought the

King and Queen together, without anyfettled Agree-

ment in what manner the Rites of Marriage fhould

be performed, whereby the Queen refufng to be

married by a Protefiant Priefl, in cafe of her being

with Child, either the Succeffion fhould be made un-

certain for want of the due Rights of Matrimony,

or elfe His Majefty to be expofed to a fufpicion of hav-

ing been married in his own Dominions by a Ro-
miih Pried, whereby all the former Scandals en-

deavoured to be raifed upon His Majefty by the faid

Earl, as to point of Popery, might be confirmed

and heightned.

That having thus traiteroufly endeavoured to A-
lienate the Affections of His Majeflfs Subjects from

him upon thefcore o/Religion, he hath endeavoured

to make ufe of all the malicious Scandals and Jea-

loufees, which he and his Emiffaries had raifed in

His Majeflfs Subjects, to raife from them unto

bimfelf the popular Applaufe of being the zealous Up-

holder of the Proteitant Religion, and a Promoter

of new Severities againft Papifts.

That he hath traiteroufly endeavoured to Alienate

the Affections of His Majefty's Subjects from him,

by venting in his own Difcourfe, and by the Speeches of

his neareft Relations and Emiffaries, opprobrious

Scandals againjl His Majeflfs Perfon and courfe of

Life, fuch as are not fit to be mentioned, unlefs ne-

ceffity in the way of Proof flhall require it.

That he hath traiteroufly endeavoured to Alienate

the Affections of his Highnefs the Duke of York
from His Majefty, by fuggefting unto him Jealoufies

as far as in him lay, and publifhing abroad by his

Emiffaries, that His Majefty intended to Legitimate

the Duke of Monmouth.
That he hath Wickedly and Malicioufly, contrary

to the Duty of a Privy-Counfellor of England, and

contrary to the perpetual and moft important Intereft

of this Nation, perfuaded His Majefty, againft the

Advice of the Lord General, to withdraw the Eng-
1

lifh. Garrifons out of Scotland, and to demolifh all

the Forts built there, at fo vaft a Charge to this

\
Kingdom.

That His Majefty having been gracioufty pleafed

. to communicate the Defires of the Parliament of

J

Scotland for the remove of thefaid Garrifons to the

Parliament of England, and to ask their Advice

-therein, the faid Earl of Clarendon, not only per-

1 fuaded His Majefty actually to remove thofe Garri-

fons, without expecting the Advice of his Parliament

of England concerning it, but did, by Menaces of his

Majefty'' s difpleafiire, deter fevera I Members of Par-

liament from moving the Houfe, as they intended, to

enter upon confi'deration of that Matter.

That he had Traiteroufly and Malicioufly endea-

voured to Alienate His Majefty''s Affections and E-

fteem from this his Parliament, by telling His Ma-
Vol. II.
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jefty that there was never fo weak and inconftdcrable

a Houfe of Lords, nor never fo weak and fo heady
a Houfe of Commons, or words to that effect, and
particularly, that it was better to fell Dunkirk,
than to be at their Mercy for want of Mo:,ey, or

words to that effeEl.

That he hath wickedly and malicioufly, contrary

to his Duty of Counfellor, and to a known Law
made laft Seffions, by which Money was given, and
particularly applied for the maintaining of Dun-
kirk, advifed and effected the Sale of the fame to

the French King.

That he hath, contrary to Law, enriched himfelf
and his Treafures by the Sale of Offices.

That contrary to his Duty he hath wickedly and
corruptly converted to his own ufe, great and vaft
Sums of publick Money raifed in Ireland by way of
Subfidy, private and publick Benevolences, and other-

wife, given and intended to defray the Charge of
Government in that Kingdom. By which means a
fuvemumerary and difaffetted Anny hath been kept
up there, for want of Money to pay them off, occa-

fion'd it feems to be becaufe of the late and prefent
Diftempers of that Kingdom.

That having arrogated to himfelf a fupreme Di-
rection of all His Majefty' s Affairs, he hath, with
a malicious and corrupt Intention, prevailed to have
His Majefty' s Cuftoms Farmed at a far lower Rate
than others do offer, and that by Perfons, withfome
of whom he goes a ft)are, in that and other Parts of
Money refulting from His Majefty''s Revenue.

July 10th,

166$.

BRISTOL.

The Earl of Briftol having Exhibited a-
gainji the Lord Chancellor, Articles of
High-Treafon, and other Mifdemeanours,
"This Order was made by the Houfe of
Peers.

Die Veneris, 10 July, 1667,.

ORdered, by the Lords Spiritual and Tempo-
ral in Parliament aflembled, That a Copy

of the Articles or Charge of High-Treafon Ex-
hibited this Day by the Earl of Briftol, againft

the Lord Chancellor, be delivered to the Lord
Chief Juftice; who, with all the reft of the jud-
ges are toconfider whether the faid Charge hath
been brought in regularly and legally, and whe-
ther ic may be proceeded in, and how, and,

whether there be any Treafon in it or no, and
make Report thereof to this Houfe on Monday
nexc if they can, or elfe as foon after as poffibly

they may.

Whereupon all the Judges met at Serjeants-

Inn in Fleet-ftreet, and my Lord of Briftol re-

paired to us thither, defiring to fee the Oiderj
which being read, he told us he came out of

Refpe£t to know of us whether we were inform-

ed how it came into the Houfe of Peers, whether
as a Charge or not ; but one of the Judges, who
had been prefent when it was delivered in, fay-

ing, We were tied up by cur Order, his Lordihip

took fome Exception at the manner of his Ex-
preffion, as if his Lordfhip's Addrefs was unne-
ceflary at that time, and taking it as a Rebuke
unto him, went away ; but according to our
Order, which fuppofed it to be a Charge of

Bbbb 2. High*
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High-Treafon, and not mentioning Mi/demeanor,

we did upon Confederation unanimoufly agree

upon this enfuing Anfwer, which on Monday the

13th of July, the Lord Chief Juftice Forfter did

deliver in, viz.

We conceive that a Charge of High-Treafon

cannot by the Laws and Statutes of this Realm be

originally Exhibited by one Peer againfi another unto

the Houfe of Peers, and that therefore a Charge

of High-Treafon by the Earl 0/ Briftol againfi the

Lord Chancellor, mentioned in the Order of Refe-

rence to us of the I oth of this Infant July, bath

not been regularly and legally brought in, and if the

Matters alledged in the [aid Charge were admitted

to be true, altho' alledged to be traiteroujly done,

yet there is no Treafon in it.

Which Anfwer being given in, the Earl of

Briftol took fome Exceptions at it, and fome of

the Lords inferred thence, that if it were Irre-

gularly and Illegally brought in, it was a Libel

;

but we fatisfied them that it was not under Conf-

ederation of us, whether it came in as an Infor-

mation or Charge; our Order required us to

give Anfwer to it as a Charge.

Secondly, We did not meddle with any thing

concerning accufing him of Mifdemeanor, for our

Order reached only to 'Treafon.

Thirdly, It did not follow that if this Charge

were Irregular, or Illegal, that therefore he was

Criminal : There might be Precedents to give

Colour to fuch kind of Proceedings, for which,

till it be declared or known that they are Ille-

gal, they are Titular, and ought not to be pu-

nched.

But it was much infifted on, That we mould
deliver the Reafon of our Opinions, the Lord
of Briftol and his Friends feeming unfatisfied.

We Replied, That it was never known, that

when the Juftices to whom Queftions were refer-

red from Parliament had unanimoufly agreed in

their Opinions, that Reafons were required from
them. Yet notwithftanding, it being the defire

of the Lords, after fome things premifed, and a

defire that this fhould not be drawn into an Ex-
ample, (which the Lords aflented unto, as I took

it, for no Order was entred concerning it, there

being no Order as I think for delivering our

Reafons entred, and it was agreed amongft us,

that no Notefhould be reduced, left we might
be required to deliver our Reafons in Writing

;

nor had I time to digeft it in Writing, having

only Monday Night after Conference with my
Brethren to think upon it,) I did on the next

Tuefday, being the 14th of July, deliver the Rea-
fons of all the Judges, of their Opinions, by
their Confents. To the firft Point, That a Charge

of High-Treafon cannot originally be Exhibited by

one Peer againfi another unto the Houfe of Peers, the

Emphafis of the Word Originally was (hewed.

For Firft, an Indictment of Treafon againfi a

Peer may be removed up to the Lords Houfe to

be tried, as it was in the 31 H. 6. in the Earl of

Devon/hire's Cafe, but a Steward was then to be

made.

Secondly, If an Impeachment came from the

Houfe of Commons unto the Lords Houfe, we did

* Set the Trial of Sir Rober

not take upon us the Consideration, whether
this could be proceeded in or not, for it was
not the Caie to which we were required to give

Anfwer.

We Replied, Upon the Statute 1 H.\. cap. 14.

which recites the many great Inconveniencies

and Mifchiefs by Appeals, and provides that all

Appeals of Things within the Realm, fhall be
Tried and Determined by the good Laws of the
Realm made and ufed in the time of the King's
noble Progenitors, and Appeals of Things out
of the Realm before theConftable and Marfhal:
But we relied upon the Claufe enfuing, and there-

upon it is accorded and aflented, That no Ap-
peals be from thenceforth made, or in any wife
purfued in Parliament, in time to come. I Shew-
ed Appeals in this Statute, and Accufations by
fingle Perfons, were one and the fame Thing, and
that this Statute reached to all Appeals, Charges,
Accufations or Impeachments delivered in, in

Parliament, whereupon the Perfon accufed was
to be put to his Anfwer, and that they were but
feveral Names of the fame Thing, I fnewed firft

Hiftorically, that the Appeals the 11 R. z. * and
21 R.z. were but Accufations by thofe Lords of
Felony againfi the other, and differed from the

Cafe of the Duke of Hereford and Norfolk, which
1

was to be tried as zi R. z. PI. Cor. in Pari. No.
1 p. is by the Courfe of the Civil Law, and I

thereupon Battle was waged. That tho' it con-

cerned H. 4. in Intereft to confirm the 11 R. z.

and repeal the 21 R. z. he being Appellant in

the former, yet he faw the Milchief fo great,

that he himfelf made Provifion againfi them for 1

the time to come; and indeed, the Mifchief was
I

fo great, that it ceafed not after the Deftruction

of many Lords and Families (there being Lex ta-

lionis in that 21 R. z. ufed towards moft of thofe

Appellants in the 1 £ R. 2.) till it tumbled King
R. z. firft out of his Throne, and then into his

Grave.

That there were but two forts of Proceedings
in Capitalibus, the Suit of the Party, which was
called an Appeal, or the Suit of the King, who
ought to proceed by Indictment, and foto Trial

by virtue of Magna Charta. Nee fuper eum ibi-

mus, &c. and that, in an Appeal, being the Suit

of the Party, there was no Prerogative of Ap-
pearance, if it were an Appeal at the Common-
Law, 10 Ed. 4. Lord Gray's Cafe. That an Ap-
peal was taken in our Law-Books frequently for

an Accufation by the Party, I cited PFeftm. the

ift, Cap. 14. where the word Appeal reaches 1

to Indictment; and 9 Coke, up. Lord Zanchar's i

Cafe, that an Appeal hath two Significations, one 1

general and frequent in our Books for an Accu-
fation, and Stamford, 142. in Cafe of an Appro- •

ver, the Felon after Confeffion may Appeal,

that is (faith he) accufe others, Coadjutors with

kim to do the Felony. C. P. C. i2p. Appellant

cometh from the French Word Appeller, which

fignifies to accufe, or appeach, and 1 Co. Inft. §.

i8p. Appel fignifieth an Accufation; and there-

fore to Appeal a Man is as much as to accufe,

and in ancient Books he that doth Appeal a Man
is called accufator, vide 9 Ed. 2. Articuli Cleri,

cap. 16. That I knew no Reafon why in thofe

tumbling Times of R. z. (which caufed this

Statute, for the Statute- Roll is coment ad auter-

ment efte ens en temps la darrein Roy, R. 2.) they

t Trefilian, &c. Trial I.

fhould
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fhould proceed by way of Appeal, but becaufe Jon by Parliament where this Charge is depend-

they were then allowed at the Suit of the Par- ing 5 to this I Anfwefd.

ty, to aceufe any other of Treafon, but at the

King's Suit there ought to be an Indictment,

and an Indictment could not be found but by

Jury.
That in all other Cafes, an Appeal was to be

brought by the Party concerned, the Wife or

Heir, or Party robbed, &c. But in Cafe of Trea-

Con, any Man may Appeal another, and therefore

in all Reafon it mull be underftood of an Accu-

fation, and any Man might aceufe another of

Treafon; and if it can be proved by Witneffes,

it mull not be Tried by Battle, as other Appeals

may. I concluded that the 8 H. 6. No. 58. this

Statute, the I H.4.. cap. 14. is recited, and defi-

red it mould be duly kept and put in Execution j

that Stamford 78 & Coke PI. Cor. 51.131. agree

that Appeals of High-Treafons were commonly

ufed tobefued in Parliament, till the 1 H. 4. cap.

14. Since which time this manner of Appeal

hath gone out of ufe ; and I faid, I had {earth-

ed many Precedents, and tho' of late there may

be a Precedent (as it was of the Earl of Briftol's

Father againft the Duke of Buckingham, offome

kind of Impeachment) yet I did confidently be-

lieve there was not fince that Statute 1 H. 4. cap.

14. any one Precedent of fuch an Impeachment

at the Party-Suit whereupon there was any In-

dictment : In truth, in the Earl of Briftol's Cafe,

the Commons Houfe did Impeach the DukeofTraz-

fon, and fo the Earl of BrifloFs Impeachment pro-

ceeded not.

For the Second Point, 'That there was no Trea-

fon in the Charge, tho' the Matters in it are alledged

to be Traiteroufly done. 1 faid we had perufed

each Article fenatim, and we had found no Trea-

fon in them •, the great Charge, which is endea-

voured to be proved by many Particulars, was,

That he did Traiteroufly, and Malicioufly, to bring

the King into Contempt, and with an Intent to Alien

the Peoples Affectionsfrom him, fay, &c. fuch and

fuch Words, &c.
And fo it runs on, That in purfuance of the

Traiterous Intent, Stc. he did, &V. and that in far-

ther purfuance of the faid Traiterous Defign, Sec.

And in like manner was moft of the Articles up-

on which the Characters of Treafon feemed to be

fixed. I faid that it is a tranfeendent Mifprifion

or Offence to endeavour to bring the King into

Contempt, or to endeavour to alienate the Peo-

ples Affe&ions from him, but yet it was not Trea-

fon. This Statute, 1 3 Car. z. cap. 1. makes Trea-

fon during the King's Life : But if a Man calls

the King Heretick, or Papijl, or that he endea-

vours to introduce Popery, (which is more in ex-

prefs Terms than the Article of that kind irtfi-

nuates) or by Words, Preaching, Prayer, to ftir

up the People to Hatred or Diflike of thePerfon

of his Majefty, or the Eftablifhed Government •,

the Penalty is only Difability to enjoy any

Place Ecclefiaftical, Civil, or Military, and fub-

jedt to fuch Penalties as by the Common-Law
or Statute of this Realm may be inflicted in fuch

Cafe, fwhich is Fine and Ranfom, with Impri-

fonmentj and it limits a time and manner of Pro-

fecution.

There was an Objeclion made yefterday upon the

2f £.3. That this being in Parliament, the King
and Parliament had Power to declare Treafon, and

Firft, 'Tis not Treafon in pr<efenti, and if fuch

a Declaration fhould be, non conftat, whether ic

would relate to the time paft.

Secondly, That I conceived that the Statute as

touching that Declaratory Power, extended but to

fuch Cafes as were clearly Felony, as fingle Acts,

if not Treafon, (the Words being) Whether it be

Treafon or other Felony ; but in refpect of the Doubts
of Efcheats, which, if Treafon, belonged to the

King j if Felony, to the Lords of the Fee, it was
left to the Parliament. I did not fay we Refol-

ved the Point.

Thirdly, That admitting the Declaratory Power
did extend to other Cafes than fuch as were be-

fore the Judges, and was not taken away by
1 Mar. Cap. 1. or any other Statute, yet I read

my Lord Coke's Opinion at large, PI. Cor. Fol.

zi. That this Declaration muft be by the King,
Lords and Commons, not by any two of them
alone •, and we were now in a judicial Way be-

fore the Houfe of Peers only ; and I did affirm as

clear Law, that by this judicial Way no Treafon

could be declared nor adjudged, but as were ex-

prefly within the Letter of the if E. 3. and faid,

That Statute if E. 3. was a fecond Magna Char-

ta, and that their Anceftors thought it their

greateft Security to narrow, and not to enlarge

Treafon, and cited 1 H.<\.cap. 10. to which in the

Parliament-Roll Rot. No.ij. is added (it coming
of the King's Free Grace) That the Lords did

much rejoice and humbly thank the King : And
I read the Statute 1 M. cap. 1

.

That the now Earl of Briflol in my Lord of

Strafford's Cafe, was the great AfTertor of the

Law again ft Con ftructive and Accumulative Trea-

fon, which, if admitted, their Lordfhips could

better fuggeft unto themfelves, than 1 exprefs,

how great a Door they would let open to other

Inconveniencies and Mifchiefs to the Peerage. I

concluded with reading the Act, 14 Cur. z. for

Reverfing the Attainder of the Earl of Strafford ;

the firft Part whereof I read to them, wherein

is exprefTed, That they, who Condemned him,

did purpofely make an Act of Parliament to Con-
demn him upon an Accumulative Treafon, none
of the pretended Crimes being Treafon apart, and

fo could not be in the whole, if they had been

proved.

After I had fpoken to this Effect, the Earl of

J5r//?£</feemed to acquiefce, infomuch as concern-

ed our Opinions as the Cafe was delivered to us

;

but it being to be put to the ghieflion, whether
the Lords did concur with the Judges Opinions,

and himfelf being concerned in the Illative, that

therefore the Charge was Illegal and Irregular

5

yet not being intended by him, as he faid, as a

Charge, but an Information, he defired (tho' as

the Cafe was put to us, it was a good Inference)

that the Voting of that might be fpared till it

vmsRefolvedby the Lords whether he delivered

it in as a Charge, or only as an Information for

the Matter of the Charge, if it fhould be thought

fit for their Lordfhips to proceed in it : After

fome Debate upon the Queftion, the Lords Re'

then we ought to have delivered our Opinions folved the fame Day, according to our Opinions,

with a Qualification, unlefs it be declared Trea-

Firft,
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Firft* That a Charge of High-Treafon cannot

by the Laws and Statutes of this Realm be ori-

ginally Exhibited by one Peer againft another,

unto the Houfe of Peers.

Secondly, That in thefe Articles, if the Mat"
ters alledged in them were admitted to be true,

there is no Treafon in them. And becaufe the

Lords unanimoufly Concurred in them, (my
Lord of Briflol freely as any other) it was by Or-
der entred, that thele Votes were Nemine Con-

tradicente.

Note, That in Judge Hutton's Reports *, the

Refolution of the Judges isexpreffed to be, That
a Peer cannot be Impeached but by Indictment,

and Mr. Rufhworth in his Collections, Fol. zjz,

expreffes fuch an Opinion to be deliver'd by the

Judges, in i or z Car. but upsn Search it was
found to be entred in the Journal of Parliament

of that Time, but it was cautious referring to

the Common-Law only. But that for Proceed-

ings in Parliament it did not belong to them to

determine, or to that Effect •, but no mention of

I H. 4. cap. 14. It hath been credibly reported

that fome of the Judges in my Lord of Straf-

ford's Cafe, being asked fome Queftions, did with
the like Caution deliver their Opinions, and did

fpeak with Refervation?, (as the Cafe is put) tho'

they upon Hearing did know the Cafe mif-putj

which, after, troubled the Confcience of one of

therr., (ut audhi) being a grave Learned Man ;

for Suppreffion of the Truth is the Oppreffion of the

Innocent. Fide Peacock's Cafe, Co. p. Rep. Fo/. 71.

But we having the Cafe referred to us in Parlia-

ment upon Articles exhibited in Parliament, did

Refolve to deliver our Opinions without any fuch

Refervation •, the Aft of i H. 4. being exprefs

againft Appeals in Parliament, (and of Acts of

Parliaments after they are once made, none un-

der the King, and without him are Interpreters

but the Judges. See King's Anfwer printed in the

Old Print of 3 Car. 1 . at the end of the Petition.)

And therefore did deliver thefe Opinions which
I conceive of great Benefit to the Lords them-
felves, and a juft Ground for farther Enquiry to

be made, whether fuch Impeachments may be in

the Houfe of Peers for other Mifdemeanours, with-
out the King's Leave, or being exhibited by his

Attorney.

And fecondly, to take into Confideration the

Validity of Impeachments of Treafon by the Houfe

of Commons, notwithftanding the late Precedents

which yet ended in a Bill, and fo in the Legifla-

tive, not Judiciary Way.

Thus ended this Attempt againft the Earl of
Clarendon ; but thus far it had its Effect, in di-

mini fhing the King's Favour towards him, and
leffening his Intereft with the Lords, and with
the People, whereby he became expos'd to a Se-

cond Attempt, four Years after.

dug. 30, 1667, the King removed him from
his Place of Lord Chancellor j and the Houfe
of Commons Impeach'd him of High-Treafon,

and of High Crimes and Mifdemeanours.

'Proceedings againft the TLarl of Clarendon,

upon an Impeachment of High-Treafon and
High Mifdemeanours.

Oclober z6, 1667.

R. Edward Seymour Charged him viva Voce
with many great Crimes, whereupon a

Debate arofe what Proceeding ought to be had
upon it, fome moving to Impeach him in the
Name of the Commons till Articles fhould be pre-
pared i others urg'd, that WitnefTes fhould be
firft examined to fee how the Charge could be
made good, left failing, it fhould reflect on the
Honour of the Houfe. After long Debate, a
Committee was appointed to fearch Records for
Parliamentary Proceedings in the like Cafes, and
to make Report.

$oth, The Report being made by Sir Thomas
Littleton, that various Proceedings were found in

feveral Parliaments, it occafioned a long Debate,
feveral Members fpeaking to the Effect follow-
ing.

Sir Tho. Little. In Cafes Criminal, we find

Proceedings to have been, fometimes by Articles,

fometimes by Word of Mouth ; but in Capital
Crimes no Proceedings appear till the Earl of
Strafford's * Cafe, againft whom
the Houfe carried up a general Im- TrialXXXIX.

peachment, the Reafon whereof feems to be
this : Some Votes were made in the Houfe, at

which the King takes Offence, as if they would
proceed upon common Fame > whereupon they
vindicate their Proceedings as done in a Parlia-

mentary way, and appoint a Committee to with-
draw for about half an Hour to confider the

Matter for a Conference with the Lords about
the Charge, and upon their Report a general
Charge is carried up to the Lords Bar; the prin-

cipal Charge then was for advifing to bring over
the Irifh Army, and the fingle Proof was Sir Hen-
ry Vane, fo the Impeachment went up for High'

Treafon, tho' no Member would pofitively fay he
would make the Charge good.

So for the Bifhop of Canterbury there was no
Impeachment, but a Charge in general.

And if you take not the fame Courfe now,
but infift upon examining WitnefTes firft, the

Difficulties will be unanfwerable 5 for is it like

that Men before they fhall fee you in earneft will

have their Names produced againft the Earl of

Clarendon? If this be your Proceeding, wc
muft never expect to Impeach a Great Man more.
If you think there is nothing in the Charge,
leave it; but if you think 'tis worth your while,

take heed of making fuch a dangerous Precedent

as by neglecting it to wound your Liberties; but

proceed in the ufual way with a General Im-
peachment.

Serj. Maynard. I ftand not up to give Advice,
but tofpenk to matter of Fact in the Bufinefs of

Strafford and Canterbury ; I attended that Bufinefs

from the beginning. Sir John Clotworthy inform-

ed fomething againft Strafford to be direct Trea-

fon, that he had affumed an Arbitrary Power in

* Lord Digbyi Cafe, Huttons, Reports, 131.

Ire-
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Ireland, and difpofleflect one ta^g* by Force of

Arms, and undertook to prove it. Sir Henry Vane

alto rold them, that he had a Note taken out of

his Father's Cabinet, containing the Advice

which Strafford gave the King in that Cafe j

namely, the King wanting Money, andtheQue-

ftion being how he fliould fupply it,, he replied,

'that if the Parliament was refraclary and -would

not you fiand toofed and abfolved from Rules of Go-

vernment ; you have an Army in Ireland which you

may employ to reduce them.

Then there was a Debate whether they fhould

accufe him of Treafon. And Sir Edward Herbert

(tie Attorney,) faid, If you are perfuaded the

Truth is, as is pretended, you may. And fo it

was ; but when the Clofe Committee had exa-

mined the Bufinefs, they moved the Houfe, that

fome Lawyers might be added to them -, and had

they gone, when they faid they were ready, they

had not touched one Hair of Strafford's Head.

Then it was confidered what was fit to be done:

To accufe him of Treafon would be a dangerous

Precedent, as if out ofmany other Crimes a Trea-

fon could be drawn; thereupon it was refolved,

not to demand Judgment from the Lords, be-

caufe fome Articles were not Treafon. 1 hen it

was propounded not to ftate what his Offences

were, left it fhould give Advantage to inferior

Courts fo to proceed ; but faid, he deferved to

be accufed of Treafon ; and in c>nclufion a Pro-

vifo was added, not to make that Cafe a Prece-

dent.

For the Bifhop of Canterbury', the four Articles

were general, and he was long in Prifon without

any Proceeding againft him ; but after long time

he demurr'd, then new Articles were framed on

which he died.

Mr. John Faughan. You have had a Charge

opened of aflrange Nature, and I know not what
Part of it can be proved, but the Reputation of

this- Houfe is at flake, and of the King too :

For, where a Charge is brought in by fome of

your Members, whereof one Article is, That he

fhould fay fuch Words of the King, as by a Sta-

tute made by you is a Premunire, and to give

Counfel to levy War upon the Kingdom ; is it

agreeable to our Duty to the King and Kingdom
to let it die ?

For thePerfon concerned, I know not which
way his Honour can be whole without his giving

an Anfwer to this Charge ; for mark the Confe-

quence, if the King fhould take him to Favour
again before clear'd, will not the World fay a

Perfon is received to Favour again, who gave

the King Counfel againft the Kingdom, and tra-

due'd the King, and how can he be whole in his

Honour this way ?

Obj. But it will be faid, wemuft have Ground
to put him to Anfwer.

Anfw. Whether you have Ground enough to

prove I know not, but you have Ground enough
to make him Anfwer to clear himfelf. Suppofe
thofetwo Articles had been Charged on a Mem-
ber of this Houfe, what would it have become
that Member to do? Should he fit fl ill and fay,

-I will make no Anfwer, but fee whether the

Houfe will make more Proof? If he fhould do
fo, the not making an Anfwer is Reafon enough
to Charge him.

I can give you Inftances of Perfons Charged
in Parliament, who, tho' not nominated, yet be-
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ing (as it were) pointed at, Petitioned that they
might Anfwer, and fo would any Man j but
when this is bruited up and down, will not the
World fay, You never ask the Party whether he
is Guilty ?

The Duke of Suffolk was Charged upon Com-
mon Fame, and if that were a Ground for a
Charge then (which I do not fay it was) fo it is

in this Cafe; but he moved that he might be
heard : and tho' it was defired he might be Com-
mitted, yet it was juftly rejected till he had An-
fwered. Then for the Nature of the Charge, if

it be true, ic is very High, but whether it be
Treafon is another Matter ; it is brought to you
under no Name, when you make the Charge, it

becomes you to fay what it is j therefore choofe
a Committee to reduce the Accufation into
Heads, and bring them to you, without which
you cannot right your felves, nor him, if Inno-
cent.

For the way of it, it cannot be thought fit to
publiih your WitnefTes and the Matter before
hand; if in private Caufes the Defendant and
Plantiff fliould have a Publication before-hand,
no Ca'ufe would be rightly Judged, much lefs

when you. have Publication of all which con-
cerns the One, but nothing of the Other. A-
gain, if a Witnefs be examined concerning Mat-
ters in his own Knowledge, if he gives Evi-
dence, where he is not brought judicially to give
it, if he hath teflified any thing which brings
him within the Statute of Falfe News, how can
he avoid the Penalty ? For it's not enough for

him to fay he knows it, but he muft have others
to juftify it.

As for the Perfons who bring the Charge, they
are your own Members, which the Writs return
for honeft and difcreet Men, and if you are fa-

ti^fied of that, how can you reject their Com-
plaint, tho' grounded upon Common Fame, as all

Accusations are, feeing they tell you, they can
bring Proof of what they fay ?

Then for Common Fame, if a Man fpends

largely, and hath no vifible way to get an Ertate,

no Man accufeth him to have gotten it unlawful-

ly } yet he may be put to clear himfelf from what
Common Fame charged him with. Upon Sufpi-

cion of Felony, I may bring a Man before a Ma-
giftrate to clear himfeif ; fo in the Courfe of In-

dictments and Prefentments, a Charge is given

of what Things are to be Prefented j then a Pro-
clamation is made, That if any one can give E-
vidence, he may be fworn, but if no Evidence
appear, yet they may Indict.

Then it will be faid, the Oath is a Mate-
rial Thing, but we are proceeding without an
Oath.
To this I anfwer, What this Houfe fhall

Charge is of more Authority than the Oaths of

ordinary WitnefTes j Peers, tho' not upon Oath,
are fuppofed to do Right ; fo are we upon the

Reputation of our Honefty and Difcretion.

Mr. L. H. I am fenfible the Houfe may
think me Partial, but I fhall endeavour to

fhew my felf not fo much a Son of the Earl of

Clarendon as a Member of this Houfe ; and I al-

fure you, that if he fhall be found Guihy, no

Man fhall appear more. againft him than I ; if

not, 1 hope every one will be for him as much
as I; let every Man upon his Confcience think

what of this Charge is true, for 1 believe that

if
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if one Article be proved, he will own himfelf

Guilty of all.

Sir Hen. Finch. An Impeachment there muft

be, if there be Caufe; fuch Accufations are not

to be patted over in Silence.

I believe not one Truth in the Law more than

this Propofition, That there is no fuch thing as

Treafon by Common Law, or by Equity, and we

hold our Lives by that Law; Before the ifth of

Ed. 3. a Man could fcarce fpeak any thing but

it was Treafon, in Parliament or out} but no

Man ought to die as a Traitor, who hath not

literally offended that Law, or fome other made

fince : There is indeed in that Law a Provi-

fo about the Parliament's declaring what is

Treafon ; but note the Danger of taking Decla-

ratory Powers, which I fear ha*th brought us in-

to a Reckoning of Blood, which we have not

yet paid for.

1 he Power of Parliaments is double, Legifla-

tive, which hath no Bounds-, Declaratory, by pro-

nouncing Judgments.

And tho' I know not what the Legijlathe Pow-

er of a Parliament cannot do, yet it is not in the

Power or the Parliament, King, Lords nor

Commons, to declare any thing to be Treafon,

which is not in the Common-Law Felony be-

fore. The Provifo in Strafford's Cafe was (it's

true) made for Inferiour Courts ; but I hope we

fhall not fo proceed as muft needs draw after it

a Ne trahatur in Exemplum, and your own Adfc

this Parliament fhews, That all done by Straf-

ford, apart, or together, was not Treafon : And

it behoves us to take heed we thwart not our

own Argument.
For the Manner then, Confider how you fhould

proceed if it were out of Parliament, and how

the bringing of it into this Houfe alters it.

If it were out of Parliament, without doubt

the Accufation fhould be proved before-hand, and

thofe who difcover it are guilty of Felony. This

provides for the Subject, that the W itneffes muft

be Two, and for the King, that none (hall dif-

cover the Evidence.

Butfuppofe the Charge be for Mifdemeanours,

the Trial then is not to be by the Lords, but by

the Commons * for the Lords are his Peers only

in Cafes Capital.

How then doth the bringing it into Parlia-

ment alter the Cafe? If the Parliament fet a-

fide Laws in this Cafe, we fhould be happy to

fee Law declaring what is the Power of Parlia-

ments.

There is no Precedent produced which is fin-

gly of Weight to guide you, therefore ifyou pro-

ceed, let it be as near as poffibleby the good Old

Laws $ Namely, That there be an Accufation

founded upon an Oath, and the Evidence kept

fecret. I propofe that way for the very reafon

that others oppofe it, {viz.) The Accufation

goes over the Kingdom, and it will bring Dif-

honourto the Houfe, theX/agand the Early For

the Honour of the Houfe it will be hard to fay,

the Charge was brought in upon Mifinforma-

tion. A Perfon accufed for advifing to bring in

Arbitrary Government, &c. And for faying the

King is not fit to Govern •, If this be true, tho*

it be not Treafon in the Formality of the Law,

it deferves no lefs Punifhment than if it were ,

but if not found Guilty, Confider the Cafe. If

one fay, A killed a Man, and it is not fo, muft
not he give Reparation ? We have an Accufa-

tion upon Hear-fay, but if it be not made good,

the blackeft Scandal which Hell can invent, lies

at our Door.
9

Then Sir Tloo Meers moving to refer it to the

Committee of Grievances

:

Mr. Faugh. You fhould have put the firft Que-
flion before another had been moved, the Earl of
Middlefex's * (Cranfield's) Cafe, will not hold pa-
rallel •, He was accuied of Bribery, which might
be proved by their own Books, but this is for

Scandalizing the King, &c. And where fhall

the Committee of Grievances enquire about it?
you fay let them hear the Perfons.

But fuppofe they be of the Lords Houfe, Can
you fend for them ? Or if you do, will they
come and fay it ? The Matter of this Accufa-
tion is fuch, that if it lies in the Knowledge of
a fingle Perfon, if he delivers it extrajudicially

(which he doth, if not upon Oath) he may be
undone by it, and hazard his Perfon too : At
the Committee of Grievances the Perfons muft
be known, and what they can fay, and then

we may conclude what will follow : Bcfides

their Quality may be fuch as they cannot be
brought, or their Difcretion fuch as they will

not anfwer.

Sir Rich. "Temp. Tell but the Lords that a Man
in Publick Place hath misbehaved himfelf, and
they will fentence him, if he purge not himfelf j

Never yet were Witneifes examined before the

Trial in cafe of Treafon or Felony, for then if

there be two Witneffes, a way may be found by
Poifon, orfome other IVay, to take away one.

Serj. Mayn. No Man can do what is Juft, but
he muft have what is true before him j where
Life is concern'd, you ought to have a moral
Certainty of the thing, and every one be able to

fay, Upon this Proof in my Confcience, this Man
is Guilty. Common Fame is no Ground to ac-

cufea Man, where Matter of Fact is not clear j .

To fay an Evil is done, therefore this Man
hath done it, is ftrange in Morality, more in

Logick.

Upon the whole Debate it was Voted,

That the Committee do reduce the Accufa-
tion to Heads, and prefent them to this Houfe.

November 6th, 1667.

Sir Tho. Lit. Reports that the Accufation

was reduced to Heads, which he read

in his Place, and afterwards delivered the

fame in at the Clerk's Table, which are

as folioweth, viz.

I. *~T^HAT the Earl of Clarendon hath defign~

J. ed a Standing Army to be raifed, and to go-

vern the Kingdom thereby, and advrfed the King to

DiJ/blve this prefent Parliament, to lay afide all

* 22 Jac. I. 1624. Clar. Vol. I- P- 10. Ken- Comp. Hal. Vol. II. /. 727, 787. 5 Co. inft. 148.
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thoughts of Parliaments for the future, to govern firmed by Ac! of Parliament: To the Intent he

by a Military Power, and to maintain the fame by

Free Quarter and Contribution.

II. That he hath, in the hearing of the King's

Subjects, fa/fly and feditioufly /aid, That the King

was in his Heart a Papift, or Pepifhly affecled, or

Words to that Effecl.

III. That he hath received great Sums of Money

for the procuring of the Canary Patent, and other

illegal Patents ; and granted illegal Injunctions to

flop Proceedings at Law againft them, and other il-

legal Patents formerly granted.

IV. That he hath Advifed and Procured diverfe

of his Majeflfs Subjecls to be Imprifoned againft

Law, in remote Iflands, Garrifons, and other Places,

thereby to prevent them from the Benefit of the Law,

and to produce Precedents for the Imprifoning any o-

ther of his Majeflfs Subjecls in like manner.

V. That he procured his Majeflfs Cuftoms to be

Farmed at under Rates, knowing thefame, and great

pretended Debts to be paid by his Majefty ; to the

Payment of which, his Majefty was not in Stricl-

nel's bound : And afterwards received great Sums of

• Money for procuring the fame.

VI. That he received great Sums of Money from

the Company of Vintners, or fome of them, or their

Agents, for Enhauncing the Prices of Wines, and

for freeing them from the Payment of legal Penalties

j
which they had incurred.

VII. That he hath in a Jhort time gained to him'

felf a greater Eftate than can be imagined to be gain-

i ed lawfully in fo fort a time ; and contrary to his

! Oath, he hath procuredfeveral Grants under the Seal

from his Majefty to himfelf and Relations, offeve-

"ralofhis Majefty''s Lands, Hereditaments, and Lca-

fes, to the Difprofit of his Majefty.

VIII. That he hath Introduced an Arbitrary Go-

'vernment in his Majeflfs Foreign Plantations, and

hath caufed fuch as complained thereof before his

Majefty and Council, to be long Imprifoned for fo

doing.

IX. That he did rejecl and fruftraie a Propofal

and Undertaking, approved by His Majefty, for the

Prefervation of Nevis and St. Chriftophers, and

reducing the French Plantations to His Majeflfs

Obedience, after the Commifjions were drawn for

that Purpofe, which was the Occafion of our great

Loffes and Damage in thofe Parts.
' X. That he held Correspondence with Cromwell

and his Complices, when he was in Parts beyond the

Seas attending his Majefty, and thereby adhered to

the Kings Enemies.

XI. That he advifed and ejfeblcd the Sale of Dun-
kirk to the French King, being Part of his Maje-

fty''s
Dominions j together with the Ammunitions,

Artillery, and all forts of Stores there, and for no

^greater Value, than the [aid Ammunitions, Artille-

ry, and Stores were worth.

XII. That the [aid Earl did unduly Caufe his

Majeflfs Letters Patent under the Great Seal of

might require great Sums of Money of them for Re-
newing their Charters, which when they complied
withal, he caufed the faid Quo Warranto's to be

Difcharged, and Profecution therein to ceafe.

XV. That he procured the Bills of Settlement for
Ireland, and received great Sums of Money for the

fame, in mofl corrupt and unlawful manner.
XVI. That he hath Deluded and Betrayed his

Majefty and the Nation in all Foreign Treaties and
Negotiations relating to the late War, and Betrayed
and Difcovered his Majeflfs Secret Counfels to his

Enemies.

XVII. That he was a Principal Author of that

fatal Counfel of dividing the Fleet, about June,
1 666.

England, to one Dr. Crowther, to be alter'd, and

the Enrolment thereof to be unduly rafed,

XIII. That he hath in an Arbitrary way exa-

mined and drawn into ghieftion divers of his Ma-
jefty" s Subjecls, concerning their Lands, Tenements,

Goods, Chattels, and Properties, determined thereof

\at the Council Table, and flopped Proceedings at

Law by Order of the Council-Table, and threatned

fome that pleaded the Statute of 17 Car. I.

XIV. That he hath caufed Quo Warranto's to

we iffued out againft moft of the Corporations ofEng-
jland, immediately after their Charters were con-

VOL. II.

The Clerk having read them a fecond time, it

was moved, That in regard the Articles were
many, they might be referr'd to the Committee
to fee how far they were true ; becaufe Fame is

too ilender a Ground to bring a Man upon the
Stage.

Sir Fran. Goodr. Seconds it, becaufe new Mat-
ter was now added to what was formerly char-
ged Viva Voce in the Houfe.

Sir Rob. Howard. Suppofe the Earl of Claren-

don Innocent, and yet Charged and Imprifoned
(which is the worft of the Cafe) he afterwards
appears Innocent, and is difcharged, receiving
no more Hurt than other Subjecls * r> n 1
have done ; Namely, * one Great
Man lately.

Object. But why mould we Commit him?
Anfw. For Proof, whether the Articles be

true or not. Suppofe Men for Self-prefervation

will not venture to come, not knowing how they
may truft themfelves, and fo you have no Proof,
He very guilty, and You not able to proceed -,

Is the Inconveniency greater for an Innocent
Perfon (if he prove fo) to fuffcr a few Days, than

for you to lofe your Reputation for ever ? if

this Man be not brought to his Trial, it may
force him to fly to that which he Counfelled,

that is, that we may never have Parliament
more.

Sir Fr. Goodr. I am not againft proceeding, but
unfaiisfied to do it without Witnefs, it being like

Swearing in Verba Magiftri.

Sir John Holl. That the Committee undertake

to make good the Charge, otherwife Examine
WitnefTes.

Mr.Vaughan. You admit the Accufation to be .

Matter for a Charge, if the Committee find

Proof; if you intend to make this a d i ft i net Cafe

I leave it to you ; but if this be to fettle the

Courfe of the Proceedings of the Houfe, I am
againft it> for this is ordering a way of Proceed-
ing in the Earl of Clarendon's Cafe, which (hall

not be a General Rule. Tho' I cannot fay one
of the Articles to be true, yet I know them to

be a full Charge if made good, and you are pre-

ferring a Courfe neither proper, nor ever prac-

tifed. A Witnefs who fpeaks without Oath, is

fubjecl: to Damage j not fo upon Oath, becaufe

the Law compels him : And whereas it hath

been faid, If WitnefTes atteft before the Houfe of

Commons, what Judges dare meddle in it? I an-

fwer, Such Judges as meddled in the Cafe of

Sir John Elliot, £cc. and the Ship -Money.

Sir .K. Temple. A Grand-Jury is capable to pre-

fent upon their own Knowledge, and are fworn

C c c c to
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to keep the King's Counfel and :heir own, and

I believe there is not one Article of the Accu-

fation but will be made good.

Sir Rob. Howard. As I am fenfible of the Dan-

ger of publifhing WitneiTes beforehand, fo I

would have every one farisfied j therefore take

the Articles one by one, and according as you

fhall find what your Members may fay for the

Truth, you may be induced to proceed or not.

Sir Tho. Osb. The Houfe ought to have fome-

thing to induce their Belief, which they have

had from feveral Members, and I know how
fome will be made good.

Sir Tho. Littl. What Article Members of the

Houfe do not offer you Matter to induce you to

believe, you may lay it aUde* therefore hear

what fhall be faid, and proceed accordingly.

Mr. John Tr. You cannot expeft WitnefTes

will appear before you, Lords will not, nor can

you expect Commoners fhould ; for when you

are up and gone, nothing can protect a Com-
moner, if this Information be not Judicial.

At laft the Queftion was put whether to refer

it to a Committee.
Yeas, iz8.

Noes, 194.

322.

Then the firft Article was read, to fee what

would be faid to induce the Houfe to impeach.

The Firft Article read.

Sir Rob.How. ? Heard from Perfons of Quality,

Lord Faugh. £ That it would be proved.

'The Second Article 'was read.

Lord St. Joh. Perfons of great Quality have

allured him to make it good, and if they perform

not, he will acquaint the Houfe who they are.

The Third Article read.

Mr. Ed. Seym. Sufficient Perfons will make it

good, with this Addition, When he received the

Money, he faid, So long as the King is King^ and

I Lord Chancellor, the Patent will ftand.

The Fourth and Fifth Articles read.

Sir R. Temp. Divers have undertaken to make
them good, if they do not I will name them.

About his receiving Money of Vintners.

Sir Rob. Can. That he knows who will prove
it.

About his getting a great Eftate fo fuddenly.

Mr. Ed. Seym. I fuppofe you need no Proof
the Sun fhines at Noon-day.

Sir Tho. Littl. The matter of Fact in the Arti-

cle is eafily made out, for his Place as Chancel-

lor could not be worth above 4 or 5000 /. per

An.

About introducing an Arbitrary Government in

the Plantations,

Six Tho. Littl. ?One Farmer and others came
Sir Tho. Osb. • from the Barbadoes to complain

of it, and lodg'd their Petition in this Houfe^
but were imprifon'd that they might not be
heard.

About fruftrating Propofals for preferving Nevis
&c.

Sir Charles Wheel. My Lord Chancellor only
oppofed it.

About holding Correfpondence with Cromwell.

Mr. Swinf. That is pardon'd by the Act of
{

Indemnity.

Mr. Vangh. The Committee were aware of
that, but the Defendant may plead it, and prove
that he is not Out-law'd.

Sir Charles Wheel. I want not clearly to prove c

it.

Sir Rob. How. For fuch fecret things ast hefe i

he ought to plead, notwithstanding the Act of >i

Oblivion, that the World may know who are i

undifcern'd Enemies.

Mr. Hampd. It is not only an Act of Parlia- v

ment, but Oblivion j and no Man ought to be
fo much as Accufed for what was done before.

Mr. Faugh. If the Pardon be general, the

Judges, and you are to Note it} but if it hath
Qualifications fas that Act hath) they are not to

Note it > for you muft fay there is no Indictment 1

or Outlawry againft him (for fuch the Act ex-
cepts) or the Article is to Hand.

Then the A£l was read.

Mr. Swinf. The Claufe for Pardon is Abfo-
lute, and any Man accufed, pleading it fhall not
be fued, nor his Fault mentioned, and this is

to all Offences and Offenders: and for thofe

who betrayed the King beyond Sea (who are'i

excepted) they muft be proiecuted within two
Years.

Obj. You will fay, he may plead that Act.

Anfw. By the fame Rule, any Man who com-
mitted a Fault, during the Troubles, may be put

to plead it for Pardon.

Sex]. Mayn. We profefs that there fhall be
1

Candour in our Proceedings, Do we therefore

believe this Great Man is Outlaw'd ? If not,

how fhall we accufe him of what we believe not

true?

Mr. Faugh. When I am fatisfied of a thing I

am not afhamed to own it ; I find now, having
j

perufed the Act, that he is within the Claufe. 1

The Indemnity is general, and he is within it i

if not excepted, the Exception reaches thofe I

who have held Intelligence with the King's E-

nemies, fo as they be profecuted within two

Years, this he is not, therefore is clear.

So upon the Debate, the Article was expun-

ged the Paper without a Vote.

About the Sale of Dunkirk.

Sir Tho. Osb. A great Lord told me that the

Earl of Clarendon had made a Bargain for Dun-

kirk three quarters of a Year before it was

known.

About Sealing Dr. CrowtherV Patent.

Mr.
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Mr. Street. The King gives the Living to Sir Rich. 'Temp. I have been Informed that he

Crowther, in the Grant is a miftake of a County, had a fhare for under-letting the Cuftoms, and

Crowther finds the miftake, and petitions the 40000/. Bribe for getting pretended Debts from

King to amend it j the King calls for the Chan- the King.

cellor and Seal, and in the King's Prefence ic Sir Tho. Osb. The Earl of Clarendon faid, Bid

w«s amended and Sealed. who would for the Cuftoms, none fhould have

Sir J'ho. Litt. The Crime feems as great as a them but the Old Farmers.

Chancellor could commit; the King was to Pre- Mr. Prynn. Having gone over the Articles,

fent by fuch a Day, or not at all} the Error was we fhould know where and when the words
found after the Day, fo that the King (by Ad of were fpoken.

Parliament) had loft his Right. The Chancel- Mr. Seym. That will be a way to Supprcfs the

lor did alter the Patent, and the Record was Evidence. I hope you will Impeach him at the

fetch'd away by one of the Chancellor's Ser- Lords Bar, and in due time produce your Wit-
vants, and brought back, rafed and altered, which neiTes.

might be done (and in other Cafes is done) Mr. Prynn. You muft refolve to Impeach him
where a Word only hath been miftaken; but of Treafon, or Mifdemeanour, and name it ac-

that is in Cafe of fomething perfectly in the cordingly.

King's Power, and to fave new Sealing ; but Sir Ed. Walp. You ought fir ft to give a Title

here could be no new Sealing, the time being to your Impeachment ; for if it be for Treafon,

elapfed : It was to throw another Man out of you will move for Commitment -, if it be for
Impeachment in general, not.

Mr. Coleman. What is laid before you is only
by Hear-fay, but no AfTurance that it will be
made good ; only that if they who reported ic

his Freehold, and is a great Crime

About drawing Mem Lands into Quejlion.

Mr. thorn. I fhall be able to make it out.

About Quo Warranto'^ to Corporations.

do not make it good, you fhall know who they
are. In the Earl of Strafford's Cafe (the worft of
Precedents) the Houfe proceeded not, till one
fpake in the Houfe upon his own Knowledge,

Sir Tho. Litt. This is fo Publick a Thing, that and another engag'd his Reputation to make it

it need not be proved. good.

Sir Rob. Atk. Thofe who have given you In-

About the Settlement of Ireland. ducements to proceed, do it at third hand, and
tho' they may know the Credit and Impartiality

Sir R. How. I doubt not but it will be made of thofe that told them, yet you do not.

out. Sir Tho. Littl. A Qiieftion fhould be put, Whe-
ther this Houfe hath fufficient Inducement to
Impeach? Afterwards Confider what the Title

fhall be, then appoint a Committee to frame Ar*
tides.

About Foreign Treaties.

Sir Tho. Litt. This will appear by the Trea-

ties themfelvcs, putting us in hopes of Peace,

and fo hindring the Fleet's fetting out.

About Mifcarriage of the War.

Mr. Thorn. I want not Perfons to bring to

make it good.

Sir Tho. Littl. Sir Edward Sprag defires Mo-
ney to give an Intelligencer, and has it ; Sprag

brings the Intelligencer to the King, the King
Commands him to meet him at the Chancellor's,

there he met the King, and then Order was
given to divide the Fleet.

Mr. Marvel Chargeth Mr. Seymour with fay-

ing in his Accufation, That the King was in-

fufficient for Government, which is now omit-

ted in the Charge, and defires he may declare

where he had it.

Mr. Seym. The Party that told me at firft dif-

'fer'd fomething afterwards, therefore I rather

withdraw it than to trouble you with Uncertain-

ties •, but a Gentleman in the Houfe can give you
further Satisfaction in it.

Sir John Den. A Peer of the Land heard the

Earl of Clarendon fay in a Coach, That the King
was an unactive Perfon and indifpofed for Go-
vernment : This will be made good.

Upon debate it appearing probable that thefe

words were fpoken before the A6c of Oblivion,
it palled over.

About the Cuftoms.

Vol. II,

Which Queftion being put, was carried in the

Affirmative.

Then Adjourned.

November 9.

The firft Article read.

Sir John Goodrich.. Treafon ought to terminate

in an overt Act, which Defigning is not, there-

fore pray read the Statutes.

Thereupon fundry Statutes were read.

zf Ed. 5.

1 Hen. 4. Cap. 10.

1 Ed. 6. Cap. 12.

1 Q^Ma.
15 Car. 2d.

14 Car. 2d. Cap. 19.

Mr. Steward Declared it to be tranfeendent

Mifdemeanour, but no Treafon.

Mr. Faugh. Two Queftions will be consider-

ed, One, Whether what's Charg'd in the Arti-

cle was Treafon in Common-Law before »

zf Ed. 5. That fo we may underftand the Na-
ture of Treafon j The other, Whether by any

fubfequent Act it is made otherwife.

Mr. Wall. The Advice given to the King I

look upon to be this j To eftablifh a New Go-
C c c c 2. vernment,
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vernment, To be Govern'd by Janizaries inftead

of a Parliament ; To have a Divan and a great

Minifter of State, inftead of Fizier-Bajfau, A
worfe Plot than that of the pb of November

;

There, if the Lords and Commons had been de-

llroyed, there would have been Succeflion, but

here both had been deftroyed for ever. Then
in order to the Debate confider how the Law
looks on it j for tho' we may Accufe on lefs E-

vidence than fhe may Judge, yet we muft be

Cautious in naming the Crime: What there-

fore doth the Law call this before zf Ed. 3 ?

Then look whether the Power of Constructive

Treafon be taken away fince.

Sir Fran. Goodr. The matter concerns Life,

therefore we fhould be wary in the Exercife of

Legiflative Power ; you are not tied to Rules,

but you are now a ftep towards Judicature

:

The Common-Law is Jus non Scriptum, and tho'

every Treafon includes Felony, yet not every

Felony Treafon, zf Ed. 3. There is a Declara-

tory Power, whether a thing be Treafon, or

other Felony, not whether it be Treafon, and

could not be declared Treafon if not Felony be-

fore. In Cafes Capital at Common-Law they

might declare it Treafon, but in Cafes not Ca-

pital at Common-Law, they never exercifed

their Declaratory Power.

Among other things that Statute declares falfe

Coin'd Money to be Treafon, which is but Fe-

lony at Common-Law j afterward Money be-

ing imported, which was not according to the

Stamp, there was no Punifhment for it, but as

a Mifdemeanour : Therefore 4 Hen. 7. Provifi-

on is made againft that Practice, and it is made
Treafon j but if the Parliament's Declaratory-

power could have made it Treafon, what need-

ed a Statute on purpofe? So that I cannot think

the Article before you is Treafon, it not coming
within the Words of the Statute.

Mr. Faugh. I (hall fpeak to the flrft Queftion,

whether this Article was Treafon at Common-
Law ; and flrft remove what fome have afTerted,

Namely, That nothing is Treafon, but what
was Felony before 2f Ed. 3. where petty Trea-
fon is fpoken of, the Wife killing the Husband,
i$c. Thefe words follow, If hereafter it come
into Queftion whether there be another Trea-

fon ? It fhall not be refolved by the Judges, till

the Parliament determine it ; For in petty

Treafon, if it be Treafon, it muft be Felony,

becaufe there is killing.

Then comes more, whether railing, &c. and
it follows whether it be Felony or Trefpafs

;

And the thing it felf is more ftrange. None e-

ver doubted, but that all Treafons of 2f Ed. 3.

was Treafon before, and was fo refolved 12 Q^
Eliz. That by that Act the King declares what
fhould be Treafon ; Namely, If any Man Viti-

ates the King's Eldeft Daughter, &c. But by this

Doctrine if it were not Treafon, what was it ?

Only Adultery or Fornication, when it is the

Eldeft Daughter, not the Youngeft?
It hath been in all Ages a Reputation to Per-

fons who have been Counfellors to Princes ac-

cording to Emergencies to give Counfel to ex-

tricate them out of danger, and therefore hard

to tax a Minifter of State in a Cafe which he
acquaints his Mailer with} for there can be no
Treafon but againft the King himfelf.

I will fhew you what I mean, It is true this is

a Treafon which cannot arife from Mifprifion,

becaufe it was fpoke to the King himfelf; but
as a Minifter of Suate he has liberty to give
Counfel for the King's Safety. If a Perfon be
able to Inform his Mafter what Alliances are

good for him, it is his Duty 3 fo what Trades
are Profitable, what not, &V. So where Men or
Money are wanting, to advife how to extricate

is commendable ; but when it comes to this,

that he breaks in upon the Laws, invading the
Contract between the King and his Subjects, ic

will be as if a Man advifeth, That if the King
wants Money, he may fet up High-way Men
to take it, and bring it to him, and fo the skil-

fulleft for breaking the Law fhall be efteemed
the beft Counfellor ; therefore whoever thinks
to ferve his Prince by breaking the Laws, he is

fo far from a wife Man, that he is the higheft
Criminal, &V Then for the Nature of the thing,
The Treafons declared zf Ed. 3. were decla-

red by the King's Commiffion, and the Treafons
were of that Nature which concern'd Counfel,
&V. they were not like to be declared. And
there is a paiTage in Glanvil, called Seduttio Do-
mini Regis, that is, deceiving the King to what
is pernicious to Him, and his People.
Now fee the Nature of this Crime -, If a Man

Counfel his Prince, and Practice it fuch a way
as fhall render him Prince of Confcience, who
hath broken his Oath, and all this to his Injury,
fo that he hath no AfTent to it. Compare this

with any Treafon of 2f Ed. 3. Confider it :

Here is a Perfon who gives the King Advice,
which at once muft make his People fee he hath
broken all his Faith to his Kingdom (and is not
the Counfel of Governing by an Army fuch)
all the Laws broken, to keep which the King
has Sworn, and this the King put upon, tho5

not
Inclin'd to : I affert not this upon the Earl of
Clarendon, but upon the Article. Who doth this,

Counfels the higheft Treafon againft the Com-
mon-Law, becaufe others are foj but if a Man ,

will pretend to give Counfel, wherein many
fhall have no benefit by the Law, he breaks all

parts, and therefore I think this Counfel was
Treafon at Common-Law.
Mr. Colem. The Queftion is, Whether it be in

your Power to declare this Article Treafon by

Zf Ed. 3. If he advifed an Army againft the

King's Confent, it is againft the Statute ; but I

fuppofe that the Expreflion in the Article was
Advice to the King in Aid of his Government.
Your Enacting Power is a kind of Omnipotency,
but in a Declaratory Power you can declare

no more than is commuted to you, and with
Safety to the Subject you cannot declare this i

Treafon : Then what muft be our Rule in De- :

daring I dare not fay : For fcarce any Man can

tell what was Treafon before 2f Ed. 3. was
made to bring things to a Certainty, and what

was uncertain to them who made that Law can

be certain to us now. As the Judges can de-

clare no other Treafon, fo in your Declaratory-

power, Neither can you declare Treafon unlefs

there be Refemblance to fome other like Cafe:
;

The Advice faid in the Article to be given the

King, cannot be within that Statute, unlefs

the Counfellor muft run the hazard of his Ad-
j

vice.

Mr. Faugh. Thegreateft Declarations ofTrea-

fons which ever were, equal not thofe 22 Rich,

z. in Nottingham Caftle : the Judges are called to

deliver their Opinions upon their Faith, and
j

they
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they declare the Acts to be Treafon, becaufe

Felony before, and tho' fome of them were

Hang'd for it, yet the Parliament declared the

fame thing. .

Ser\. Mayn. Was, what is mentioned, Trea-

fon by the Common-Law, tho' fo faid by the

Lords? and what was fo declared was repealed,

Sir tho. Littl. Pray refolve whether it was

Treafon by Common-Law; and if fo, when

madefo. Some think not, becaufe they find not

the Parliament declaring them Treafons, as be-

ing fo at Common-Law, and that that Statute

was made to bound them, but that was only to

bound Inferior Courts, not themfelves ; for the

Parliament makes not a new Crime, and then

Condemns it, but the Crime was before, and

the Parliament declares it.

Sir Ed. thur. Hath the Parliament declaratory

Power now? Yes, but it muft be by King and

Parliament, fo it was in the Cafe of the Genoua

AmbaiTador *. The Judges would not conclude

the Articles Treafon, nor would the Lords alone

;

and if you come to an equal declarative Power

with them you muft examine WitnefTes, or go

bv a Bill.

'§tx\.Charl. The Queftion is, Whether it be

Treafon by the Practice of England; the Com-

mon-Law is the Cuftom of England, and theU-

fao-e is grounded on Precedents. I know not one

Precedent where Words or Intentions were Trea-

fon at Common-Law, for they are not Trea-

fon where no A dr. follows.

Sir Rich. temp. The Article is Treafon by

Common-Law, and Judges have recourfe to

Glanvih &c. who fay, that giving Advice to o-

verthrow the Realm is Treafon by Common-

Law.

Serj. Mayn. The Queftion is, Whether he fhall

be Impeached of Treafon upon this Article? If

you go to Treafon at Common-Law before if

Ed. 5. you fly out of fight, for the Word Sedu-

ttio was foon after called Seditio, Seducing, but

not faid to what ; nor were thofe Authors ever

reputed of Authority: It's true they are fome-

times quoted for Ornament, but not Argument,

and not one Cafe in one hundred of Glanvil is

Law, but when a Cafe comes that is the

Sheet-Anchor of Life, and Eftate, you fhould be

wary, for by Wit and Oratory That may be

made Treafon which is not •, and this which is a

great Crime, ought not, becaufe great, to be

made Treafon.

Objetl. But it will be faid, levying War a-

gainft the Law, is again ft the King, and here

was an intent to alter the Law.

Anfm. True •, yet a Defign to levy War is not

Treafon within the Statute, here is nothing of

Aft, but Words to that end; If a Counfellor

gives bad Advice, it makes it not Treafon, but

by a Bill it may be made what you pleafe. By

that Statute of zf Ed. \. are more Treafons than

are mentioned ; for it faith if any Cafe happen,

the Judges fhall flay till the King and Parlia-

ment hath declared, fo that there is a Power, but

the Modus is the Queftion, whether by Im-

peachment or Bill ; you may the latter, not the

f Strafford'*

Cafe,Tiia/,T,g.

former. It was done f, but you
have repealed it, and have faid

None of which pretended Crimes are

treafon; and what was pretended againft him ?

That he had Traiteroufly Endeavoured (which
is worfe than Defign'd) to alter the Government,
&c. Now where is the Difference ? Here is Ad-
vice to raife an Army, there to Ule an Army
Raifed, and thefe you have called pretended
Crimes, and no Treafon, which is not Compre-
hended by a Law ; but to Impeach as a Traitor^

and yet the thing No Treafon, is ftrange. In
this Houfe, other than by Bill, you have no
Power; you carry your Impeachment to the

Lords, and they may give Judgment without
coming back to you ; declaring by Bill is by
way of Judgment, but, as an Impeachment, is

only an A.ccufation: fo that whatfoever the

Confequence is, the Lords judge it, and it ne-

ver comes back to you, and if you go by Bill

you make it Treafon ex poft fafto.

Mr. Vaug. Concerning what you have declar-

ed about Strafford's, that this Cafe is, if not lefss

equal to it, and you have declared that not one
Charge againft him is Treafon, is true thus far j

when that Act was made I repaired to it, becaufe

there were fome Things which fhould not have
palled fo, if there had not been fomething to fe-

cure fuch Charges as thefe ; for there is no ex-

preffion of any Particular Charge, but that the

Charge againft the Earl of Strafford was not, in

the particular, Treafon 5 and in the Clofe of the

Bill, it is faid, that the whole Proceeding fhall

be taken awayj and if fo, no Man fhould fpeak

againft the Particulars, but look on it as Re-
pealed.

Then this is faid to be levying War, and it's

true, it muft be Actual, and fo not within the

Charge. And the Charge againft Spencer was

for Counfelling the King, &c. and is called le-

vying War againft the Kingdom, and the Judg-
ment againft him was but Banifhment ; becaufe

the Sentence was mitigated at the inftance of ths

King.
And for Counfel, tho' Counfel is given but in

Words, yet Words are more than Counfel, and

are an Action, otherwife a Counfellor is Sworn
to nothing.

But it may be thought I have not dealt inge-

nuoufly with the Houfe, than which I abhor no-

thing more •, when the Cafe of Strafford was be-

fore the Lords, I was of Opinion the Parliament

had no Declarative Power left, becaufe 1 Hen. 4,

there was an abolifhing of all declared Treafon,

and that no Treafon, for the future, fhould be fo,

and then the Treafon about the Genoua Ambaf-

fador was gone, and all declared Treafons were

gone, 1 Hen. 4 and no Statute hath recovered

them 3 and if all Actual Treafons were taken a-

way 1 Hen. 4. or if not then, 1 Ed. 6. then what

doth the firft of CL M. do, unlefs it take away

all declaratory Treafon ?

Upon the whole, the Queftion was, whether

to accufe of Treafon upon the firft Article.

Teas, \oi.

Noes, 172.

vjf.

rot. 8. 12. Co. Rep. 16,
* See this Cafe 3 Co. Inft. p. 8. Rot. Pari. 3. Ric. 2. N«. 18. Placit. coram Rege Hil. 3 R>c

-
2

- /* 8
j

*

Holin. Chron. Vol. 3. P- 422. Killing the Kings Ambaffador hadformerly at the Common-Law been adjudged Treafon, 22 H. J

Affif. pi. 49. and may fill be fo by Parliament, for the Statute of 25 E. 3. is a reftravnt only upon the Judges, but not upon

tbePatliament. November
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November n.

The Second Article was Read.

Mr. Pryn. Let the A6T: made by you, about

defending the King, be Read, becaufe it limits

Profecution to a Time, to fee if this be within

Time.
Mr. Faugh. In things wherein there is a pub-

lick Defaming the King, it becomes no Man
here to defend the Perfon accufed; if the Charge

be not proved, Jet the Party himfelf plead it

;

you had that which induced you to Impeach

him, and have declared not to Impeach of Trea-

fon upon the Firft Article: And if any Man will

add to the reft of the Articles he may, but you

ought to accufe.

Mr. Sollicitor *. None accufeth

Tinch
HeneaS6 but for Juftice fake

>
and mould be

glad if the Party accufed prove

himfelf Innocent. There is a Duty to the King,

and to Truth, and it is not fit that an Article of

this Kind, brought into the Houfe, mould be

laid by, upon pretence that the time is elapfed ;

for the Crime is more than what is mentioned in

the A£fc made by you; it is an Offence at Com-
mon-Law, and if it be profecuted by Fine and

Imprifonment, no Time is limited.

The Third and Fourth Articles Read, and Voted.

Mr. Faugh. Your reading every Article is

ncedlefs, unlefs it be to fee whether any one

may be Charged as Treafon, for if One may be

Objected agamft, fo may all, as to Mifdemea-

nours.

*

Fifth Article Read.

Sir John Shaw. The Old Farmers had not the

Cuftoms till others faid they would give no

more, and they had no reafon to thank the

Chancellor, becaufe they gave more than others

:

And I declare upon my Life I know no Reward
given him.

Sir Tho. Litt. It appears by the Farmers Con-
feffion, that they had it foooo/. under, befides

time of Payment which was 30000/. more.

Mr. Seym. You are at liberty to receive Ob-
jections to the Articles, but tho' others bade
more, they were told they fhould not have it,

and had about 1000/. each given them to bid

no more.

Sixth, Seventh, Eighth and Ninth Articles Read
and Voted.

The Tenth.

Mr. Vaugh. This is an Article of an high Na-
ture, Dunkirk was then as much a Part of his

Majefly's Dominions as Ireland, and if the Sale

of it be nothing, I know not what you would
think of it if England fhould be Sold ; you lately

debated whether on the firft Article he fhould

be accufed of Treafon, and found by the Statute

of if Ed. 3. he could not, tho' it was abfolute

Treafon at Common-Law ; and it's reported a-

broad that I faid that the Right of the Parlia-

ment in declaring Treafon is taken away,which
I did not, for there are Trcafons not mentioned
in that Statute. Therefore it provided that the

Judges fhould not upon any one Treafon proceed
to Judge, until declared before the King, and
Parliament, and what is fignified by it? If we
think before the King, Lords, and Commons,
that is impoflible; for how can the Commons
poflibly declare before the King and Lords ? nor

was that the Cafe, but this, that there is the ul-

timate Power of determining what the Law is in

a doubtful Cafe. In Writs of Error let them
pafs from Court to Courr, at laft they come to

the Lords, 24 Ed. 3. If the Judges cannot re-

folve what the Law is, it is to be brought thi-

ther, that is, where it is queftionable, but that

is not in the Houfe of Commons, any more than in

a Writ of Error: How then is the Cafe here?

If a Queftion be whether a Thing is Treafon or

not, it fhall be Refolved where the Law ufeth

to Refolve, that is, .before the King in Parlia-

ment, that is in the Lords Houfe. Had the

Words of the Act been thefe, there fhall be no
Proceeding until Refolved by the King in the

Lords Houfe, and Suppofe that Claufe taken a-

way, That Treafon fhall not be Refolved, but
fuppofe it fhall not be declared otherwife, doth

it follow it is taken away ? No. If you charge
Treafon which is not within the Statute, it is

another Thing, but I faid not, there is no Trea-
fon at Common-Law.
Mr. Sollicitor. There was a great Mifchief in

the declaring Treafon by Parliaments ; for Mor-
timer -j- was made a Traitor for incroaching upon
Royal Power, which every Man, who incroach-

eth upon any Power, doth. Hence the Commons
Petition'd the King to explain what incroaching

upon Royal Power was, and when no Anfwer
could be gotten to it, if Ed. 3. they Petition'd

it might be declared certainly, and fo Treafons

were enumerated, and if the Judges be in doubt,

it is provided that the King and Parliament fhall

firft declare it.

Declaration in Parliament, is a Declaration

before the King, Lords and Commons. Would
our Anceftors leave what is to be Refolved Trea-

fon to the Lords, and themfelves have no fhare

in it ? And Talbot's being declared . „
2 [[lit 22'

Treafon by the Lords, it is faid to be ^

no Treafon by Judge Coke, becaufe the Commons

had no hand in it; there is no Treafon in Com-
mon-Law, becaufe there can be no Treafon,

where there is no way to judge it, which is not

at Common-Law.
Mr. Faugh. When the Law is made uncertain

the Lords muff, declare it; it appears there were

Treafons at Common-Law not mention'd, 2f
Ed. 3. It is one Thing for a Matter to be Trea-

fon before, and the Parliament declare it; ano-

ther, for the Parliament to make a Thing Trea-

fon which was not.

Sir William Lewis. I defire to be Refolved

whether Dunkirk was annexed to England, be-

caufe a Bill to that end was carry'd, but not

Palled.

Mr. Waller. To fhew that Dunkirk was an-

nexed to England, confider we were Paffing a

Bill for 1200000/. But when we were making a

Preamble to the Bill, we were to feek for Rea-

fons for giving the Money, feeing we had no

War, fome faid to keep Dunkirk, but we were

f Holin. Chron. Vol. 3. p. 349.
told
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told we fhould take heed of looking upon it as

annexed unto the Crown 3 but it was replied,

Dunkirk was look'd upon as a Frontier Town,

and accordingly noted in the Bill. Therefore

the Sale of it Treafon.

Mr. Coventry. Had it been part of the Crown

of England) what needed a Bill to make itfo r

Mrf Prynn. It cannot be Treafon, becaufe

Sold by the King's Confent.

Mr. Faugh. If the King agreed to it, doth it

follow that he, whoadvifeththe King to a Thing

deftrucfive to his Kingdom and King, is not a

Traitor? If any part of the King's Dominions

may be alienated, efpecially when a Parliament

is Sitting, for they concurring, it may be alie-

nated j by the fame Reafon the King may alie-

nate Ireland or England too without the Parlia-

ment. For by what A£fc of Parliament doth the

King hold Ireland or England? It is by Acqui-

fition •, I fay not Tangier, for that was part of

his Portion, and is his own : But Dunkirk would

have been the Kingdom's ifnot thus difpofed of,

and tho' it might have been alienated with the

Parliament, it could no more without, than

England or Ireland.

Mr. Ed.Hartl. The A6t of Parliament for an-

nexing was not This Parliament's, but of the

Convention, and came in thus ; the King was

pleafed to tell me, that the Spanijlo Ambaflador

mipht prefs him to part with it, which he had

no'niind to do j therefore he would have a Bill

to annex it to the Crown, which fhews it was

the King's Will to have it annexed, accordingly

this Parliament paffed it, and Dunkirk might have

been as ufeful as Calais.

At length this Article was paffed by, without

determining whether Treafon or not.

Eleventh, Twelfth, Thirteenth, Fourteenth and Fif-

teenth Articles Read and Foted.

The Sixteenth Article Read.

Lord Faugh. I brought in this Article •, his be-

traying the King's Counfels was to the French

King during the War, and that in the Secrecy

of State, which was the occafion of the late

Mifchiefs.

Sir Tho. Osb. That is direct adhering to the

King's Enemies, and if fo, it is Treafon.

Mr. Sollicitor. This mull be Treafon if you

have any inducement to believe it.

Sir Rob. How. I have heard it from an Eye-

Witnefs who told it me, and added that we are

neither to be trufled nor dealt with, who were

fo betrayed.

Serjeant Mayn. Betraying the King's Counfel

to his Enemies is, doubtlefs, Treafon. Corre-

fponding is another Thing. Betraying muff be

without the King's Knowledge, otherwife it is

but delivering the King's Words to his Enemies.

Sir John Bramp. Did this Information come
from a Subjeft, or from one of the King's Ene-

mies ?

Sir Rob. How. I would not have brought you
Information from one of the King's Enemies,

nor did I ever Converfe with them during the

War.
Col. Birch. We cannot accufe of Treafon, ex-

cept it be faid, Betraying the King's Counfel,

or Corrcfponding with his Enemies.

Mr. Faugh. You have declared that you have

had inducement to Impeach, and ought to put
the Queftion, whether on this Article he fhall

be Impeached of Treafon.
Mr. Sollicitor. To betray the King's Counfel.,

taken generally, is not Treafon, for it may be
to the King's Friends; but to his Enemies it is3

if the Article be fo.

Lord Faugh. Let it be put, Betraying his

Majefty's Secret Counfels to his Enemies during
the War.
Then the Queftion was put whether thefe

New Words delivered by the faid Lord Faugh.
fhould be added.

Carried in the Affirmative.

Sir John HalL Was this Information given by
an Enemy or by a Subject ?

Mr. Faugh. It muft come from a Foreigner,

or you could not know it ; may not the King
have from a Foreigner a difcovery of Treafon
againft him? The end of queftioning it muft be
to know the Man, for it might as well be asked

whether his Beard be Red or Black.

Sir Thomas Meers. The Words are difcovered

not betrayed, and difcovering may be with the

King's Confent.

Lord Faugh. Add the Word Betraying, for

fo I meant it.

Serjeant Mayn. They who give the Informa-

tion fay not they had it from more than one
Witnefs, which Stat. Ed. 6. requires, and only

one of them names the Earl of Clarendon.

Mr. Seym. This Exception is proper to be

made before the Judges.
t

Then the Queftion was put^

Whether to Impeach of Treafon on this

Article.

Teas, 161.

Noes, 8p.

zyo.

Sir Tho.Litt. That an Impeachment of Trea-
fon and other Crimes and Mifderneanours be
carried up to the Lords againft him by Mr,
Seym.

Serjeant Mayn. For Mifdemeanour he may
have Counfel, not for Treafon: Therefore fo

diftinguifh the Charge, that he may have
Counfel.

Refolved, That a Charge be carried up;

Refolved, That the Speaker and the whole Houfe

carry it.

Nov. it. It being confidered that if the Spea-*

ker go up with the Charge, fome difpute might
arife about carrying the Mace and otherwife ;

It was Refolved, That Mr. Seym, carry it.

Accordingly he went, where at the Bar of the

Lords Houfe, the Lord-Keeper Bridgman being

come to the Bar to meet him, he delivered him-

felf to this purpofe.

My Lords,

THE Commons Affembledin Parliament , having

been informed offeveral Traiterous Praclices,

and other High Crimes and Mifderneanours^ commit-

ted
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ted by Edward Earl of Clarendon,** Member of this

Honourable Houfe, have Commanded me to Impeach

him, and I do accordingly Impeach him of High-

Treafon and other Crimes and Mi/demeanours in the

Name of thefaid Commons, and of all the Com-
mons o/'England : And they havefarther Command'

ed me to dejire your Lordjhips to Sequefter him from

Parliament^ and to Commit him to fafe Cufiody^

and in convenient time they will exhibit Articles a-

gainfl him.

Nov. if. The Lords fent down to defire a

Conference in the Painted Chamber.

At which the Earl of Oxford delivered a Paper

in writing (without any Debate) the Contents

whereof were to this effe£b.

The Lords have not Committed the Earl of

Clarendon, becaufe the Accufation is only of

Treafon in general, without charging any thing

in particular.

Mr. Garraway. I had rather the Houfe fhould

lofe the Punifhment of this Man, (tho' a great

Offender) than that this Houfe fhould lofe its

Privilege: For if this Houfe may at no time

Impeach a Lord without giving in particular

Articles, it may fall out to be at a time (as in

the Duke of B— 's Cafe) where a great Man
by his Intereft with the King procured the Dif-

folution of the Parliament, and then the Accu-

fation falls.

Mr. Faugh. Either you can juftify your Pro-

ceedings, fo as to fatisfy the Lords what you

have done, or you cannot ; you muft name a

Committee as well to confider what you are to

do, if your Reafons fatisfy not, as to draw thofe

Reafons.

Mr. Sollicitor. Without doubt this Houfe was

not miftaken in demanding that the Party accu-

fed for Treafon fhould be committed, That is,

That Treafon is worthy of Commitment, and

you may find Precedents that Perfons have been

accufed of Treafon, and thereupon have been

committed : But the Cafe is this, Treafon is an

Offence, for which Bail cannot be taken -, the

Lords tell you not they will, or will not Com-
mit : But it is true, Perfons have been Commit-
ted for Treafon, and Perfons accufed of Treafon,

Judges may Commit, or not.

Confider this Law. Let the Crime be what it

will, an Imprifoning till the Charge is given is

but an Imprifoning to Security, not to Punifh-

ment ; otherwife the Law is not Juft : and if the

Judges of the King's-Bench have a Judgment of

Difcretion, whether to Commit or not; can we
wonder that the Lords have not Imprifoned, till

they know the Article, when they have Judg-
ments of Difcretion tho' they knew it? You
may find Precedents, but it is not an Argument

it muft always be fo : But as the Judges have a

Latitude, much more than the Lords ; the Im-
peachment from the Commons of England is pro-

perly the King's Suit, for there is no Treafon

but againft him, and if the Judges may Bail in

that Cafe, may not the Lords ? But you are not

told he fhall be Bailed, but they defire to know
•what his Crime is, and then you fhall know
their Anfwer j the Refolution feems reafonable,

having gone no farther, I cannot except againft

it.

Sir 'Thomas Litt. The Long"Parliament had fome

good Precedents which we are not to caft away

left we fmart for it.

Refolved, To Refume the Debate to Morrow.

Nov. 16". Mr. Faugh. The Lords do not fay

Commitments fhould follow becaufe Treafon is

Bailable by the King's-Bench : it's true, the King's-

Bench Bails for Treafons, but how? If Perfons

be brought thither for Treafon directly, there is

no Bail ; but when a Commitment is by the

Council-Table for Sufpicionof Treafon, then if

the Matter fall not out to be what was expected,

they give notice to take Bail ; elfe the great Ar-
ticle of the Great Charter, namely, that Juftice

fhould not be delay'd, nor denied, would be to

no purpofe j and in fuch a Cafe a Man may be
in Prifon for ever. On the other fide, what is

the Cafe of Committing for Treafon? When a

Perfon is Committed by the Council-Table,
they fay, they do no more but by fpecial Com-
mand of the King, and that is the ground of his

Committing, and were not this fo, what would
follow ? Intelligence would be given of a Trea-
fon difcovered, wherein many might be concern-

ed, and if they who Commit fhould Commit
with the Treafon, all the Complices would e-

fcapej and therefore fometime they make it

Treafon General. Then for the Cafe, before you
have gone up with a Charge of Treafon general-

ly, which is to the Lords a Warrant fufflcient

for Commitment, fay they, we will know the

Particulars; then will not the fame Inconvenien-

cies follow, if other Perfons be concerned, and

fo the danger of all expofed upon the Nicety.

If a Bufinefs comes before this Houfe, which
concerns others, and may prove Treafon, if we
go to the Lords (for we have not Jurifdi&ion

except in Cafe of our Privileges) but are not yet

ready to bring up Particulars, and defire the

Lords to apprehend fuch Perfons, would it be

reafonable for them to refufeit, there being no

Inconvenience like to follow the doing it, much
the not doing it ? I fay not to commit them,

and we not profecute, for that is delay of

Juftice.

Qu. But why do the Lords refufe ?

Anfw. Tho' I have great refpeel to the Lords,

yet to clear fomething in point of Privilege, the

Lords have the fame Privilege, with us in point

of Speech, their Members, rj?r. as they are ef-

fential to pafs Laws ; but that great Privilege

which they often afTume as Peers, is as the King
is there prefent in the higheft Court : How then

will it fall out in refpe£t of this Privilege ? If

the King be there, there be many things which
the Lords as Peers cannot pretend to, for the

King hath often fat there not only in paffing

Bills, but in Judgment. Had this Charge then

come before the King there, it had been reafon

if the King fhould have faid, J defire to knoia

what this Treafon is, we muft then have told it,

becaufe he, whom it concerned, required it ; or

if we defired Commitment, he, who could Re-
leafe or Pardon him, might fay, let him be Bailed.

The Lords indeed retain this Privilege, but it is

in the King's Right, not as Peers.

Now we have carried a Charge, if the Lords

Bail him, I know not what would follow, for

no Example can be given of it, and I think they

will not do it, if the King do not direct it.

On the other fide, I would be glad we might

be no more troubled, than is necefTary, becaufe

others are liftening what we do, and think there

is
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5 nothing in the Cafe: Therefore I am not for cording to 2f Ed. $. (for difcovering the King's

lelay, but for fatisfying others, that what we Secrets to his Enemies is within that Statute.)

iave done is not barely for Imprifoning the Earl The firft part of the Article is not pleadable,

>f Clarendon, but for Juftice 3 and if you go this for we muftfhew how he adhered to the King's

way, give the Lords the Reafons why we fent Enemies, and we muft add what the Counfel was

:he Charge as we did, and yet keep up their Pri- that he betrayed, elfe he will deny to plead, and

/ileges, and declare fo to them. fay, I can avoid it : Therefore confider what

But then we mull go up with more than that kind of Certainty this Article muft have to make

Head, on which we Refolved to Impeach of him plead ; for the other Articles, it's enough

Treafon, for your Article muft be fo formed as to fay them without proving Time or Place,

to make it a Charge fie to be Anfwer'd for Time if the Fads were after the A£t of Oblivion ; but

and Place, and that Article hath fomething of in Treafon, the Matter muft appear in the In-

that, which muft be penned fo as to make it dictment, for he hath Liberty not only to plead

more certain •, for the Article goes but thus, not Guilty, but to avoid it : Therefore prepare

That there was Difcovery and Betraying of the

King's Counfcls to his Enemies, and if you leave

it there, thofe, who fcruple doing any Thing,

becaufe particular Treafon is not mentioned,

will fay i you fay he hath difcovered and be-

trayed Counfels to Enemies, but as we truft Bench.

you not what is Treafon, but we will know if,

fo we know not whom you mean by Enemies ;

for we may think them not fo : Therefore ap-

point a Committee to form Articles.

Mr. Solicit. It is a great miftake to fay, That

the Power of the Kings-Bench to take Bail for

Treafon, is no other but what is afTerted, as if

the Judges there had only Power from Magna

Charta; when a Man is Committed upon Sufpi-

1 cion of Treafon, and no Profecution follows, and

the Article accordingly.

Mr. Faugh. What is Moved is to put you
upon an impofTible Bufinefs, for an Article prc-

fentcd from the Parliament needs not that Cer-
tainty, as if it were to be tried at the King's

Sir Thomas Lift. It is not for the Honour of
this Houfe to recede fo eafily from fuch a Pri-

vilege, for befides the Earl of Strafford's Cafe,

we have exprefs Precedents for, but none againft

us. We have heard that we muft have no more
Impeachments, becaufe they are dangerous and
tend to Rebellion. Confider the Archbilhop of
Canterbury's Cafe, Finch, Ratcliff, and others in

the Long Parliament, and we fhould not fo eafily

part with them. William Delapool being com-

the Party bringing his Habeas Corpus, the Bench monly reported to be no true Man, (which is a

Bails him, becaufe he fhould not lie there eter-

Inally. It is not to be faid the Judges Bail for

Treafon-, feeing no Crime is produe'd : For

when a Man hath been accufed of Treafon for

Coining falfe Money, and brought to the Bar,

the Judges have Bailed him, not becaufe they

ought, but from thatdifcretionary Power where-

with the Law trufts them, they may Bail if they

will, for no other Judicature, but they, can Bail

in that Cafe ; for feeing Imprifonment before

Trial is only that the Prifoner may be forthcom

lefs Charge than Treafon) defired he might acquit

himfelf, and the Lords required no fpecial Mat-
ter before they imprifon'd him, and afterward he

was accufed more Specially.

Sir Rob. Atk. In the Cafe otAnfelm Archbifhop
of Cant, the Commons accufed him, but the

Lords did not commit him, and gave no other

Reafon for it, but that he was a great Man;
and yet afterwards he was Condemned as a Trai-

tor, tho' the King reduced his Punifhment only

to be Banifhment. Tho' a Privilege is much
ing, if they fee there is no danger of efcaping fpoken of, yet I fhall never be fond of any Privi-

they may take Bail, for he is a Prifoner when

Bailed, and the Bail is his Keeper -, but there are

few Cafes of this kind, wherein they will Bail,

they have a fundamental Power to do it, placed

in them to preferve the Rights of the Crown;

and the Lords will not think themfelves lefs

trufted with the Rights of the Crown than the

lege which fhall Intrench upon my Liberty as a

Subjeft.

Mr. Faugh. I hear it objected, That as you
Charge a Lord generally, fo may the Lords a

Commoner, but that cannot be; for the Lords
cannot caufe a Commoner to be committed tho*

for Treafon, without your Confent : Therefore

Kings-Bench. Yet tho' the Lords may Bail, they put a Queftion, whether a Committee fhall be

will not exercife their Difcretion, when there is named to draw up Reafons to juftify what you

a probable Truth in the Impeachment} fhall have done.

we then refufe this Intimation from the Lords,

who faying, Becaufe they have not a particular

Article of Treafon do not fecure, feem to imply,

that if they had, they would, tho' they might

lefufe. The Right of Bailing comes not from

jan imaginary apprehenfion of the King's fitting

there, tho' fome Kings have fat there in Judi-

cature, but from their Inherent Authority of

being trufted with the Right of the Crown

:

Let us do then what becomes us, and not let the

Impeachment mifcarry upon a Mifunderftanding,

but draw up the Article. But how is it poffi-

ble to draw it as an Article which you expect

he fhould be imprifon'd upon? For your Im-

Ipeachment
is in the Nature of an Indictment, and

muft contain fo much of Certainty as to put him
to plead, that fo he may not Demur.
How may it then be Circumftantiated, fo as

that he may be put to plead; if you do it ac-

I Vol. II.

Refolved, That the ghteftion fiall be put.

Refolved, That a Committee Jhall draw Reafons.

November 18. .

The Committee brought in their Reafons.

Firft. What can or ought to be done by either

Houfe of Parliament is beft known by the Cu-
ftoms and Proceedings of Parliament in former

times; and it doth appear by Example, that by
the Courfe of Parliaments the Lords have Com-
mitted fuch Perfons as have been generally

Charged by the Houfe ofCommons for High-Trea-
fon, to fafe Cuftody, tho' the particular Trea-

fon hath not been fpecified at the time of fuch

Charge.
D d d d Second^
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Second, That a Committee for High-Treafon

in general, is a Legal Commitment, and if the

Party fo Committed bring his Habeas Corpus, and

the Caufe of his Commitment thereupon be re-

turned for High-Treafon generally ; he may
lawfully be remanded to Prifon by the Judges

upon that Return.

Third, If before fecuring the Perfon, the fpe-

cial matter of the Treafon fhould be Alledged,

it would be a ready courfe that all Complices in

the Treafon might make their Efcape, or quick-

en the Execution of the Treafon intended, tofe-

cure themfelves the better there.

Fourth, If the Houfeoi Peers fhould require the

particular Treafon to be Affigned before the Par-

ty Charged be fecured, they leave the Commons
uncertain and doubtful (and that from time to

time) how particular they muft make their

Charge to their Lordfliips Satisfaction j before

the Offenders be put under any Reftraint.

Fifth, The Commons conceive, that if they

fhould defire the Lords to fecure a Stranger, or

Native Commoner, upon the Sufpicion of Trea-

fon, which the Commons had of him, and which
was by them under Examination to be Eviden-

ced to their Lordfhips indue time; their Lord-

fhips in Juftice for the Safety of the King and

People, would fecure fuch Perfon or Perfons,

upon the defire of the Commons, and in fuch

Cafe there would be no difference between a

Lord and a Commoner fo defired to be fecured.

Sixth, The Proceedings of Inferior Courts,

between the King and the Subject, or Subject

and Subject, and the Difcretion of Judges in fuch

Courts, is bounded andlimited by the Difcretion

of the Parliament which truft them ; and 'tis not

left to the Difcretion of the Judges in ordinary

Jurifdiction to give the King, or take from him

inconvenient Power for the Subject, nor to dif-

penfe the Law Partially between Subject and

Subject for Malice or .Affection •, but the Difcre-

tion of the Parliament, which is the whole Pub-

lick, comprehending the King, Lords and Com-
mons (for the King's Prefence is fuppofed to be

in the Lords Houfe) is, and ought to be uncon-

fin'd for the Safety and Prefervation of the whole,

which is itfelf.

It cannot be malicious to a part of itfelf, nor

affect more Power than already it hath, which

is abfolute over itfelf and part, and may therefore

do for Prefervation of itfelf whatfocver is not re-

pugnant to natural Juftice.

Mr. Prynn. I like not the firfl Reafon, becaufc

it cannot be called a Cuftom, where only one

Parliament hath done it.

Mr. Swinf. The great ftrcngth lies upon this

firft Reafon, and is like to be a Precedent •, for

exact Precedents I find none, except that of Mi-

chael Delapool, and in the Long Parliament : But

confidcr the Reafons why there was no exprefs

Precedent before, and what was the Cuftom of

Parliaments before. The Parliament was wont
to proceed formerly by Bill, and thus far that

Proceeding makes againft the Lords now, and

for committing the Party accufed ; for then the

Proceedings upon Treafon were by Common-
Law, and becaufe the Judges could not proceed,

therefore the Parliament went by Bill, and it

cannot be fuppofed that the Parties were at li-

berty all that while.

Second,Tbird, Fourth and H//£ Reafons Voted,

Sixth Read.

Mr. Solicit. I am againft this Reafon, not as a

Reafon, but unneceflary $ for if the former Rea-
fons fatisfy not, this will not, becaufe it fuppo-

feth things not in queftion.

Our Debate muft at laft end in this Queftion,

betwixt Privilege of Parliament and former Pro-

ceedings i And there being no Privilege in Cafe

of Treafon, Why fhould not former Proceedings

Sway ? Except we call that Treafon which is

not, for otherwife no Privilege will help.

Therefore add this to your Reafon, That there

is ho Privilege for Treafon, and the Lords ought'

not to think that tne Commons will call that

Treafon which is not, or if they do, the Lords
may by a fpeedy Trial determine it.

!

Refolved, That a Conference be defired with the

Lords, and the Reafons carried up.

November 2.1.

The Lords fent down to defire a Confcrence<

about the Subject Matter of the laft Conference.:!

But the Commons doubting that if they fhould i

confent to it, the Lords might afterwards refufeil

a Free Conference, becaufe the Bufinefs in dif-ii

pute concerns Judicature, which belongs to the!'

Lords, and fo the Impeachment generally falls.

Refolved, To fend an Anfwer by Meffengers of

their own : And accordingly did, with Order to ac-

quaint the Lords how far they had proceeded, and

they expecled they fhould rather have defired a Free

Conference.

November 2$.

The Debate about the Freedom of Speech in

Parliament was relumed.

And the Report read of the Pro- r
ceeding about Sir John Elliot, Mr.

Lr
'
Car

'
l8 ''

Hollis, &c. f. Cur. 1.

Mr. Solicit. If you are fatisfied that the Judg-
ment pafled upon them was Illegal, two ways

you have to be fafe ; By taking notice of that

Judgment, giving your Opinion upon it, and

carrying it up to the Lords, that Judgment will

be utterly Damned ; elfe you may proceed by

Act, but confider then the Confequence : Fpr

if you go by Act, you bound the Liberty of

Speech, unlefs in penning it you prevent it, but

an unknown Limitation is better than bounding,

for an Act it felf is fubject to Expofition, but

your Vote, and the Lords Concurrence, is not.

Mr. Faugh. It is not fafe for you to circura-

fcribe Privileges, therefore that muft be done

which may take away what deftroys them.

The Laws and Rights of this Kingdom are

Rights by Common Law, or Act of Parliament;

what is an Act of Parliament, may be Repealed

by Parliament; what is Common Law may be

altered by Parliament, and whatever is both, may
be altered by a New Law, and how is it poffible

to do one or the other without Liberty to fpeak

about it ? And how can there be any Inconveni-

ence about Freedom of Speech, about any thing

which cannot be a Law, without paffing King,

Lords, and Commons.
Then it being moved to put the Queftion for

confirming that Report.
And it being reply'd that fome Paflages in that

Bufinefs, viz. about keeping the Speaker in the

Chair, were not warrantable, and fo not to be

joined in the Queftion with the reft j
• Mr.
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Mr. Faugh. That Bufinefs which is fo much

ilked of, and condemned, I fhall flate to you.

The Houfeis to adjourn it felf, tho' fometimes

le King advifeth them to adjourn themfelves

is then he did ) but the Adjournment is always

lade by a Queftion, and without it the Speaker

annot leave the Chair.

The Speaker acquainting the Houfe then with

he King's Meffage, Sir John Elliot flood up to

peak, but the Speaker would not hear him, but

i/as going to leave the Chair ; whereupon fome

aid, if you go out without a Queftion, the Par-

iament is dillblved, upon which he was leaving

he Chair ; fome kept him, and told him, if this

>e a Houfe, you, as Speaker, have no Place in it mat

>ut the Chair j and this was all the Irregularity

n that Bufinefs fo much talk'd of.

Refolved, That the Judgment given

Cr. Car. 604. againft Sir John Elliot, &c. f Car.

was an illegal Judgment, and againft the Freedom

and Privilege of Parliament.

The Lords fent for a prefent Conference, after

which Report was made that the Lords had

Voted the Commons denying them a Conference

lately, was contrary to the Courfe of Parlia-

mentary Proceedings, and gave Reafons why it

,was not yet time for a Free Conference.

S

I

November zf.

After Debate whereof, it was Refolved to grant

them that the Commons agreed to the Conference

formerly defired.

At which the Lords declared that they had

:onfider'd of the Precedents and Reafons foimer-

y fent them by the Commons, but were not fatif-

ied to fecure the Earl of Clarendon, or to Se-

}uefter him from Parliament, until fome fpecial

JTreafon be affigned.

November 28.

defire a

the laft

,
The Commons fent to the Lords to

i'ree Conference upon the Matter of

conference.

To which the Lords concurring, Mr. Faugh.

\\r.Rob. How. Sir Tho. Littl. and others wereap-

iointed to manage it, who went up immediately

b that End.

Mr. Faugh. Made Report of the Conference

irith the Lords yefterday to the Purpofe fol-

nving.

! The Lords told us, That no Precedent can

minft the Law.

1 We Anfwered,

If that can be made good, we fhall prefs Pre-

sents no more : But what they molt flood upon
'as the Petition of Right, where 'tis provided that

'one fhall be Committed without fpecial Caufe,

'hereby the Party may Anfwer according to

,ie Law ; thence they infer that our Proceedings

re againft Law, becaufe a general Charge is

gainlt the Petition of Right.

Commons. The Cafe of the Petition of Right,

ightly ftated, will clear this, which was This

:

jome Perfons were committed by no other War-
Vol, II.

571
rant, but the King's fpecial Command, they

bring their Habeas Corpus to the King's- Bench to

know the Caufe: This Caufe was returned by
the Judges, that they could not Bail a Man,
when fo committed, becaufe they knew not the

Caufe, nor had any way to bring him to his

Trial.

Then the Petition of Right provides, That the
Caufe fhould be returned, whereby the Crime
might appear, and that before and after the Pe-
tition of Right to this Day, if upon bringing a

Habeas Corpus, it be returned that the Party is

imprifoned forTreafon, the Judges ought to Re-
mand, unlefs there be fome fpecial Caufe to

make them take Bail. So that the Petition of
Right was againft them, for they fay, a Man
ought not to be Imprifoned upon a general

Charge, becaufe 'tis againft the Petition of Right

:

We fay it is not againft the Petition of Right, be-

caufe the Judge may Remand the Party, if there

be not fpecial Caufe.

Then the Lords faid, That the Reafon why- the

Judges Remanded in that Cafe was, becaufe the Par-
ty Committed knew it was for Treafon : Therefore

they Re- committed.

We owned it, becaufe it was the Rule for the

Judges to pmceed by, but chat was no Rule for

Proceeding of Ptrli iment ; for as a Magiftrate
commits for Treafon, and is fuppofed to be ac-

quainted with it j fo alfo is he with the Proba-
bility upon the Proof: But the Lords infill not
now upon that, but fpecify Treafon, and if the
Courfe of Parliaments fo much varied in fuch
Cafes, that was no concluding Proof, why they
fhould have fpecial Treafon. And for the other

Part.

That upon the Return, there fhould be a Caufe

Returned, that fo the Party might Anfwer j for

when a Return is made, if the Caufe be fuch as

that the Party ought not to be Imprifoned, the

Judges free him ; otherwife they leave him to

come to his Trial.

Then to the Precedent about the Earl of Straf-

ford, they Replied, That it was made in bad times.

And we Anfwered, That as good Laws were made
before, in, and after that Time as any other;

and if the Lords then might make fuch Laws,
we could not fee why it fhould be a good time to

make Laws, and no good time to Adminifter to

Perfons the Laws already made.

Farther, to their Objetlion, that in the time

whence thofe Precedents were brought, there

was a Face of War ; We Anfwered, That could

be not alter the Cafe, for the Law calls no Time a

Time of War, whilft the Courts of Juftice have
Freedom, as they had when Strafford, Finch, Can-

terbury and Ratcliff were Impeached : And it was
ftrange that in the Parliament-Houfe there fhould

be fuch a Confternation as to make their Pro-

ceedings invalid, when in other Courts there

were none: Befides, in Holland for many Years
there was a conftant Scene of War, and can we
imagine that there was not Juftice done at that

time.

Then they preffed Precedents againft ours,

One 14 Ed. z. againft the Spencers, where a great

Man moved the King to Commit one of them,

and the King anfwered, it could not be unlefs Caufe

was /hewed. We Replied,_This was a Precedent

like that, a Man was Committed, becaufe he

D d d d 2 was
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was Committed j for there was no Allegation

of Treafon.

Second Precedent was 38 Hen. 8. againft Lord
Stanhope, the Commons moved the King to Impri-

fon him, and the King Anfwered, he would con-

fider of it. We Anfwered, That was no Denial,

but a thing ufual with the King, and that Mo-
tion was to the King himfelf, which differs from
this Cafe, for that was not alledged to be Trea-

fon : Befides, had it been Treafon, it was againft

the King himfelf, and being an Offence againft

himfelf, he might (if he would) not Imprifon, be-

caufe he may difcharge a Man, or pardon him,

tho' for Treafon j but this Cafe is not fo, be-

caufe the Lords Juftice is but miniftred to the

King.

2.x. R. z. Arundell Archbifhop of Canterbury',

who, as they faid, was Impeached of Treafon, but

not Committed.

Anfwer. The Cafe was this. There was a

Commiflion iffued out by Ric. z. That that Bi-

fhop and others mould regulate what was amifs

by evil Government, and the King was offend-

ed at the granting of it, and at Nottingham fent

for the Judges, and charged them upon their

Allegiance to give true Anfwer to what Quefti-

ons he fhould ask them ; and the firft Queftion

was, Whether that Commiffion fo granted, was not

invading his Prerogative? They Anfwered, Yes.

Then he asked how they ought to be punifhed, who
procured it ? They Anfwered, as 'Traitors. In the

21 the Bifhop is charged by the Commons, and

the Treafon alledged is, That he had procured

himfelf to be put into the Commiflion.

This being the Cafe> we faid, that if a Fact be

called Treafon, which afterwards appears to be

none, there could be no Commitment. For if

a Man call another Man's coming into his

Ground Treafon, it falls of itfelf> therefore the

Bifhop was not Committed.
The Lords faid farther, That all thofe Arti-

cles were declared to be Treafon, which before

could not poflibly be Treafon to Commit a Man,
becaufe the Nature of them mult be Treafon at

Common-Law, and 'till thefe Treafons were de-

clared, which was not 'till 21 Ed. z. they were
not Treafon fo as to Imprifon, or Try any Man
for them.

We Replied, All that Parliament was repeal-

ed, yet the Precedent was the more authentick.

But I think that Lord (it was the Earl of Bridg-

water) underftood not what he faid, at leaft I

did not.

Then about the Earl of Strafford's Precedent,

the Lords faid, that the very Impeachment was
taken away by the Act of this Parliament, be-

caufe the Impeachment is recited in it. Name-
ly, Whereas the Earl of Strafford was Impeach-

ed, &c. But every Claufe in that Act of At-

tainder is taken away now, therefore the Im-
peachment} and you cannot make ufe of any

Part of it.

We Replied, It's true, the Act of Attainder is

taken away, but the very Act of Repeal doth

recite that very Claufe (whereas Thomas Earl of

Strafford was Impeached, &c.) and the Act can-

not take away any thing which ftrengthens its

own Suppofition-

Then the Lords faid, that they fhould be wil-

ling to comply with the Commons, but that they

muff, be tender of their own Judicial Proceedings.

Commons. It's true they ought, and we fup-

pofed that the Lords might be jealous that we
fhould Intrench on their Power •, but the Com-
mons were fo far from that, that they thought
the Judicial Power better lodg'd with them than
in the Commons themfclves could be; but we
would open the Objection.

Their Lordfhips being the Judges"' in this Cafe
might think, that for the Commons to take upon
them to know what was Treafon, would be an
affuming to themfelves what was only proper to

the Lords, and that it was fo now in Charging
the Earl of Clarendon generally.

Lords. The Objeclion is right.

Commons. For our knowing Treafon, we have
many among us who are Juftices of Peace, truft-

ed by Law to know and Commit, and (ifthe Par-

liament be not Sitting) even to Commit a Peer

himfelf for Treafon j and the knowing what is

Treafon is fo far from being improper to the

Houfe of Commons, that every Man in the Nation
is bound to know it ; for was it ever known,
that Ignorance of the Law could ever excufe a

Man from breaking the Law ? Laws are made
to be known by Subjects, efpecially thofe which

concern the King; and unlefs they could find a

Reafon, why the Parliament Embodied Ihould

be more ignorant than particular Perfons, the

prefent Cafe mutt be clear. That the Jealoufy

of the Lords arofe from a Fallacy thus, The
Lords have Judicial Power concerning Treafon,

and muft of neceffity know it ; the Commons
have no Judicial Power over it, therefore can-

not know it ; that is, becaufe the Commons know
what Law is, therefore they have Judicial Power
over Law. To this was not any thing Replied.

Farther, We faid that becaufe they infilled up-

on us to fpecify Treafon, becaufe by Commit-
ting upon a General they might wrong the Par-

ty by Committing him without Caufe, and be-

caufe they themfelves were not inform'd in their

Confcicnces what they did : They would do well

to confider the many Inconveniencies which

might follow, if the Charge of Treafon was not

General, but Particular ; and fuppofc it was Spe-

cial, their Lordfhips would know no more by it.

For fuppofe a Man Impeached for Counterfeit-

ing the Great Seal, which is exprefs Treafon,

and he may be Impeached for, yet neither their

Lordfhips nor the Parry could have any Advan- i

tages by that Specification, becaufe there might !

be as many Queftions what is Counterfeiting the 1

Great Seal, as what is Treafon.

For Injlance. One Leak *, a Clerk in Chan-

cery, intending to Forge a Patent, puts together

two Pieces of Parchment, and had fitted them,

and put them together with Mouth-Glew, that

they appeared as one : Then a Grant was writ-

ten upon theoutmoft, and a Seal affix'd, fo that

the Great Seal is put to a true Thing; then he

cues off the Edges of the Parchment, fo as to

fever them, takes off the written One, and leaves

the Seal on the Blank, then Forgeth the Grant

and makes ufe of it. This was queftioned before

the Judges, whether 'twas Treafon or not, that

is, whether Counterfeiting the Great Seal or not?

If it were, it was Treafon, otherwife not. They

Ce. 1 2. Rep. 1 5 . Kelyng, 80.

Refolved)
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Refohed, it was not Counterfeiting the Great

Seal, and fo not Treafon, but Mifprifion. And
if it had been Treafon, they Refolved, that an In-

dictment had been enough to Impeach him. Then
fuppofe you have fuch an Impeachment before you

for Counterfeiting the Great Seal,* you have Spe-

cial Treafon, and Imprifon him j but when it is

brought to Queftion, it appears not to be Trea-

fon, therefore he is wrong Imprifoned : And if

your Lordfhips will examine what Knowledge
you have of this Fact, you have no more than if

it had been a General Treafon.

Lords. There is a Cafe put there, as we are

content to take a Special Treafon, but expect

not the Proof as there it was.

Commons. If it were a Cafe put, fo is your
Lordfliips Reply, for it was put ex Conceffb, be-

caufe you agreed that if the Treafon was Spe-

cial, the Party was to be Committed, and this

Cafe was to fliew their Lordfliips, they were in

no better Cafe then, than if the Treafon were
General.

But the Lords ftill prefllng that the Impeach-
ment it feifof the Earl of Strafford was Repeal-

ed in the Act about him }

Commons. We Replied, one Part of the Act
ought to be fevered from the other, and that

which is without Exception fhall ftand, tho' the

other be taken away : For, fuppofe a Man pro-

fecutes in a Court of Juftice, for what he appre-

hends to be his Right, and yet the Caufe goes

againft him, and he hath no Effect of his Suit,

afterward the Party (being an evil-minded Man,
and thinking to reach his Ends) Forgeth a Deed,
or Suborns Witnefles, and then begins a Suit in

fome other Court, and by thofe ways attains his

Ends. Then a Bill comes before this Parliament

to Reverfe the Judgment, reciting that fuch a

Perfon hath been a Suborner of Witnefles, &V.
fo, and fo, and therefore the Judgment is made
void j certainly tho' this Perfon is Named to be
an evil-minded Perfon, yet this lays no Blemifh
on his firffc Proceedings. So that it appears by
the Act, that the Proceedings againft the Earl

of Strafford were legal at firrt -, if thofe after-

wards, when the Times became tumultuous, were
not, it is not to be applied to what was well

done and legal : Then we told them that we
had prefled them with four Precedents, and to

three of them nothing was Replied.

Lords. They Anfwered, the Reafon why my
Lord Finch was Committed, was becaufe of his

Flight.

Commons. He was fled before the Impeach-
ment j but it was Ordered, That he fhould be
Committed when found.

Then we told them, That we mull Report to

them, that be the Treafon what it would, we
could not go to the Lords to have it punifhed
without that Difadvantage, which the publifh-

ing the Treafon before- hand would expofe us to

by making of Witnefles, efcaping of Parties, and
the like > than bade them confider, whether ifwe
fhould lay before them a Treafon in every Thing
circumftanced as Gun-Powder-Treafon, they would
not Imprifon the Party till the whole Matter
was opened.

Lords. They Anfwered to hear that Cafe
put, for in Matter of State, other Courfes are

to be taken, and they could fee no Inconveni-

ency in publifhing that to the Lords, which
muft be publifhed before 400 in the Houfe of
Commons.

Commons. The Commons may proceed with
what Secrecy or Opennefs they pleafe, and the

Lords are not to take notice of their Proceed-
ings, whether Open or Secret.

Farther, That by a Matter of State muft be
underftood, when a Parliament is not Sitting,

and we know not whither to refort ; but when
a Parliament is particularly called to prevent the
Mifchiefs threatning the Kingdom, if that be
not capable of Remedying, no other Council
could, or we are not bound to refort to that,

we are excluded from that to which we ought
to refort.

Lords. That the Lords bade us take heed of
the Liberty of the Subjects, to which they are

now fain to have Regard, bidding us confider the

Bifliop of Canterbury's long Imprifonment, with-
out knowing the Caufe, and they mult fatisfy

their Confciences, left they fhould Commie for

Treafon, and it not prov'd fo.

Commons. It appears not that the Bifhop of
Canterbury fliould have lain lefs Time, had the

Impeachment been Special ; and for the Liber-

ty of the Subject, we know not how a Subject

fhould have more Liberty by Special Matter,

than General ; Special being but adding a for-

mal Title, and the Subject goes to Prifon, as

well for the one as the other.

For their Confciences. Suppofe a Perfon ac-

cus'd generally, they are then to know whether
it be Treafon, and is not it as much that they

Commit an innocent Perfon ? So as if the Mat-
ter was Special.

December 2.

The Lords fent down a Meflage to the Com-
mons by two Judges, to this Effect, 'That upon

the Report made to them of the I'afi Free Conference,

they are not fatisfied to Commit or Sequefter from
Parliament the Earl of Clarendon, without the

particular Treafon be mentioned or affigned. Who
being withdrawn >

Lord toning. (General M- ck's Son) Mo-
ved not to part with any Privileges nf the Com-
mons of England, but adhere to the General Im-
peachment.

Sir Rob. Hoiv. The Matter before us, is of as

great Concernment as ever came before us j if

there fhould be Malice fuppofed in a Nation a-

gainft it felf, it might be exercifed by giving a

particular Charge, as well as a general ; many of

the Lords are convinced by the Reafons we gave,

and concur, thinking our Precedents good, and

have enter'd their Proteftation in the Lords

Houfe, aflerting the Rights of the Commons of

England to Impeach generally : So that (excep-

ting the Spiritual Lords) I think I may fay the

Major Part of the Lords are for us •, and fhould

we give up this, we may be wrefted out of all

Right, and the Commons have no way to pro-

ceed
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ceed to an Impeachment, but fome Men to be
fo great, as not to be fairly reach'd. Therefore
adhere.

Mr. PFall. The Lords are a Noble Eftate, but
whatever the Matter is, they have of late fome
Advice given them, which makes them proceed
as they never did yet ; for fcarce any Thing
happens betwixt us, but they incroach upon us.

The Militia is now as burdenfom to the Fifty
Pound Man in the Country, almoft as all other
Taxes, and the Lords have gotten this Advan-
tage of us, that they touch not the Burden of
it with their Finger: So in time of the Plague,
the Commons muft be fhut up, but not They,
infomuch that a good Act provided to that Pur-
pofe pafTed not} we Impeach'd the Lord Mor-
dant ^ and could not bring him to the Bar (tho'

formerly I have known an Earl and a Lord
brought thither). You defired a free Conference
about it, but could not obtain one to this Day.
Rome was at firft modeft, and only meddled with
Spirituals, but afterwards concerned themfelves

fo much with other Matters, that every Thing
almoft was made to be in Ordine ad Spiritualia,

and many Kingdoms thereupon break from them.
The Lords now infill upon one Thing, becaufe

they fay 'tis in order to their Judicature, per-

haps hereafter they will tell us we muft come to

them on our Knees, becaufe it is in order to

their Judgment. Confider therefore whether

there be any Hope of giving them Satisfaction}

then, whether you will adhere, and wh t you

will do afterwards ; for the prefent my Motion

is to adhere.

Mr. faugh. It is truly faid, the Bufincfs before

you feems to be as great as hath been in Parlia-

ment} many of the Confequences being invisible,

therefore before you Refohe what to do, take the

whole Matter before you.

The Difference between the Lords and us, is

upon a general Impeachment of Treafon ; the

Lords, after a Free Conference, fay, they will

not Commit unlefs Special Treafon be mention-

ed or affign'd ; thofe whom you employed to Ma-
nage the Conference were very unwilling to dif-

fer with them, but it feems it hath produced no-

thing, and I have nothing to make me believe,

but that the Reafon is, that the Lords were Re-

folved (fay what we would) not to be fatisfied ;

for I know nothing which they OfFer'd, but

it was fully Anfwer'd, nor any thing left un-

done to fatisfy them if they would have been fa-

tisfied ; what I have to fay now is to clear fome-

thing which the Lords may make much Sound

of.

When we urged Precedents, and made them

our principal Reafon, we told them, the way to

decide what was in Difference betwixt the Houfes,

is, the Ufage of Parliaments} but to our Prece-

dents we received no full Anfwer.

Then the Lords ufed this Reafon, name-

ly, That they cared not for Precedents, be-

caufe it was againft the exprefs Law of the

Land.
I Anfwer'd them, we would join with them,

if they could fhew Law againft it, and expected

what they would Anfwer, but heard nothing :

Much Difcourfe there was, without Application,

of the Great Charter, and of a Statute of z8

Ed. %. but not applied} fo that I thought Law
in a Lord's Mouth, was like a Sword in a La-

dy's Hand, the Sword might be there, but when

it comes to cut, it would be aukward and ufc-
lefs.

But I hear fince, that their Meaning was this

(which muft be cleared by mentioning fome
Laws) that by Magna Charta it is provided, That
no Man Jhall be taken or Imprifoned, or Condemned,
but by the Law } and thence they infer, 1 hat no
Man may be Imprifoned, but it muft be by his
Peers, or by the Law of the Land.

Again, f Ed. 3. No Woman mall be attached
upon Accufation, or be adjudged of Life or Limb,
but accordng to the Law.

25- Ed. 3. No Man fhall be taken by a Petition
to the King or his Council, unlefs by Indictment
of lawful People, or by Procefs of Writ at Com-
mon Law, and (fay they) this Cafe is to none of
thefe.

28 Ed. 3. No Man mail be Imprifoned with-
out due Procefs according to the Old Law of
the Land ; But this Cafe being neither by Pre-
ferment nor Indictment, the Lords would not
ftand upon our Precedents, but relied on this,
as if ic were enough in Bar of all our Prece-
dents.

Therefore to open this, and the Danger of the
Confequmce, there are in the Land many dif-

ferent Laws, and Proceedings in thefe Laws, and
Imprifonment upon them ; and yet not one of
them by Presentment, Indictment, or Trial by
Peers, tho' the Lords thought this was the Law,
and there was no other.

1. It is known that the Crown-Law, or Pre-
rogative, is diftinct Law from that between Par-
ty and Party.

2. There is the Law and Cuflom of Parliament,
called a Law, ab omnibus quarenda, a multis igno-

rata, & a paucis cognita.

3. Then the Canon-Law, (and it is much the
Bifhops forgot that) and there is nothing in that
Law, more than ftanding in a White Sheet,
which proceeds not by Indictment or Prefer-
ment, yet there is Imprifonment even in that

Law.
4. There is the Law of Admiralty, and the

Arricles of Oieron, where there is Proceedings of
another Nature, and by Imprifonment.

f . The Law of Merchants, or of the Sta-

ple.

6. The Law of Arms, where is Imprifon-
ment and Death, and yet different Proceed-
ings from the Common-Law in the Great Char-
ter : Now no Man thinks that all thofe

Courfes of Proceedings are taken away by the

Common-Law, and it is grofs Ignorance to

think it.

7. The Law of the Foreft, which is moft
different : So that to urge Magna Charta to

this Purpofe, as if all Proceedings in thofe Ca-

fes muft be according to the Common-Law, is

abfurd.

Then there are divers Writs in the Regifler.

One, When a Man hath received the King's

Money to ferve him, and went not, then there

is a Writ to Arreft him upon a Certificate from

the Captain under whom he was to ferve.

Then the ordinary Writ, which belongs to

the Law Ecclefiaftick, de Excommunicato Capi-

endo.

Another
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Another, de Apoftata Capiendo, to recover a

Regular run away from his Convent.

Another, called ne exeat Regno, to Imprifon a

Man, who will not give Security not to go out

of the Kingdom, and this is not Traverfable any

where, becaufe it fuggefts that he will Machinat

fomewhat hurtful to the Kingdom, and upon

that Suggeftion he is Imprifoned.

Another, when a Man hath a Leprofy.

Another, to burn Hereticks, which concern'd

the Bifhops alfo, if they had pleas'd to think

of it.

Thefe Proceedings are no way agreeable to

thofe mentioned in the Common-Law.
Then confiderhow this Rejolution of the Lords

ftrikes at the Law of Parliaments.

1. It is certain that all Imprifonment by Par-

liament is not by Prefentment, Indictment, &c.

So that by this means that Power is taken a-

way.

2. Contempt againft Parliamentary Authority,

whofoever he is to appear before them, and dif-

obeys them, they may Imprifon him in the

Tower, and yet it is not againlt Magna Charta.

Whither therefore tends this ?

The Conclufion muft be, that no Impeach-

ment by the Commons muft go on, unlefs it be

by Prefcntment, and fo there is an end of all

that, for which the Parliament is principally cal-

led; unlefs we are part of thofe fooo contemptible

Ones, who are only fit to give Money : That

may be referved for us, but nothing elfe } tho'

25 £.5. faith, For Redrefs of Grievances in the

Kingdom a ParliamentJhall be called every Tear. I

would know which Way we fhould redrefs Abu-
fes, if we are fo far from remedying in Parlia-

ment, that we muft be fhut out to the Common
Courfes in other Courts ?

Obj. The Lords may fa}', if you find the Sta-

tutes broken, and fhort, you fhall have New.

Anfw. And when thefe New Ones are bro-

ken, then we fhall have a Remedy j fo rife up
Remedy, and go to the Remedy, ad infinitum,

for there is no more Reafon to think that a

Second Law fhall be maintained more than

the Firft, and what Way a Mifchief mail be

redreffed, other than by Parliament, I know
not.

So that by this Refolution of the Lords, and
denying to Commit upon this Ground (for they

fhew'd no other) every Thing for which a Par-

liament is ufetul is denied us.

After all this come to the very Cafe.

If a Treafon be Committed, and the Fame is

that A. B. is guilty of it, it is lawful to Appre-
hend him for it. If a Hue and Cry pursue a

Man, tho' he be not of evil Fame, ye r he may
lawfully be Imprifoned : If it proves faife, he

hath his Remedy ; but that obfhucts not the

Law to bring h;m to Trial. At W'tchman
may Arreft a Night-walker, and harh a Warrant
in Law for ir, and this is as good Procefs in Law,
as any original Writ.

And after all this, Confider wirh what kind of

Colour, when there are weighty keafons why

we fhould not mention fpecial Treafon, and that

mentioning it generally, anfwers the Petition of
Right, the whole Commons of England (who
are in no Degree reprefented by the Lords, they
only reprefent their own Perfons) fhould be de-

nied the Securing a Perfon Impeached unlefs a-

particular Charge be given, how prejudicial fo-

ever to the Kingdom.
Another Thing, there is no Right which a

Man hath in this Land, or any part of the World,
but his Right is fuch, that if it be kept from him,
he hath a Means to come to it, otherways it is

Damnum fine injuria \ for where the Law gives

no Remedy, there is but a Suppofition of Right

!

By the fame Meafure it will follow, that there is

no civil Wrong can be done to any Man, but
the Law provides a Remedy, if that Wrong be
done j and if by the Law there is no Remedy, it

is no Wrong : confider then this Cafe.

There are in this Kingdom, in the Civil State

of it, three Eftates, which the King hath then in

making Laws : There arc three Eftates, where-
of the King is Principal j fometimes they are men-
tion'd as the King's three Eftates, and he none
of them : The Eftates in general are, the Com-
mons of the Kingdom, (who are perfectly repre-

fented in this Houfe) the Lords another, and the

King another j and thefe are fuch, that there is

no Petitory Action, nor the Laws directed to a-

ny one of them, but the Laws you make, are

to diftribute Juftice in other Courts.

For Inftance, If all the Commons of England
(who are one of the Eftates) fhould Accufe one
of themfelves, the Party can have no Wrong, be-

caufe the Parliament can have no Action brought
againft them, nor can they be fuppofed to do a-

ny thing for Malice.

It is the fame between the Body of the Lords

and Commons ; and there is no Law either to Vin-
dicate the one or the other ; but they ftand as if

there were no communicable Law betwixt them §

but the Meafure between them is that which is

good for the whole ; for they are the Makers of

Laws for others, but no Laws can be fancied to

reach the whole of the Commons, or of the

Lords.

So that 'tis eafily to be feen, how it hath

been put upon us ; fo that now we are in fuch a

Cafe, we know not to what end we fhall pro-

ceed upon this or any other Impeachment ; for

by this Judicial Power, yon fhall be excluded

from any Proceedings by Laws of Parliaments,

and fo you take away the whole Right of the

Kingdom.

gtueft. But now what fhall you do ?

Anfw. I fee many Inconveniencies which may
happen both ways, but I fee fo many this way,
that if any Man gave fuch Counfel as is char-

ged upon the F.arl of Clarendon., it is nor fo dan-

gerous as the Cafe before you ; for the Inconve-

niencies attending that Couniel woutd quickly

fhew it ielf by the Mifcry following : Bui this

is a fmall thing begun with, which, like a Can-

ker, may eat till it be uncurable, and that is as

abfolutely juftifiable as this.

And now I have faid this, I am perplexed

what to fay more, for all can be.;r me witnefs,

what Rcfpect I have endeavoured to preferve to

the Houfe of Peers, but I am fo fenfible of this,

that
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that tho' I cannot forget my Refpe<5t to them,

yet I muft lament the Condition into which
they have brought themfelves firft, and us next,

for they cannot think to avoid it.

The Houje of Peers is but a new Style, called

fo, as Jurors are called Peers, from the Word
Par j for every Commoner hath his Peers as

Lords have; and the whole Style formerly was

Arch-Bifhops, Bifhops, Dukes, Sec. But Pares

Regni is a new Style. It is called the Upper

Houfe, and is to be look'd upon with Reverence.

The Lords have a Jurifdiction ; but in this Cafe,

I muft be plain, their granted Jurifdiftion a-

rifeth from the Houfe of Commons, if you Im-

peach not there your Judicial Power will be very

little. If a Lord be to be Tried for Treafon,

the Lords are but his Jurors ; and tho' they Try
him upon Honour, not upon Oath, yet they

are no more his Triers, than as out of Parlia-

ment: The Judge of Treafon in the Lords Houfe,

is Conftituted by the King, as a Lord High

Steward, and is no other Judge, therefore I

know not the Judicature they fpeak fo much
of.

There is another for Writs of Error, which
are there determined, but the Jurifdicfion of

that is very little, for the Inconveniency of the

Lords determining what could not be determin-

ed in other Courts, is fo found out 15 Eliz.

They are to be brought firft into the Exche-
quer-Chamber.
There is another Way when Perfons carry

Complaints to the Lords, which is a Queftion,

for Commoners ought not to carry Complaints

there, except in fome Cafes from Chancery ;

therefore this matter of Jurifdi£tion, which they

talk of, is not fuch a wonderful thing as they

would make it.

Therefore whatever we fhall do after it, your

Rights being fo much concerned, that you know
not where the ftay will be, it is necefTary that

you make a Committee to draw up a Protefta-

tion to be made by this Houfe concerning this

Matter. The Invafion of your Right in it, and

the Danger to the Kingdom by it.

Mr. Colem. The Lords fay, That committing
upon a genera! Impeachment is againft Law,
and I think it will appear fo ; I deny not, but a

Mittimus without fpecial Caufe is legal, and
grounded upon the Petition of Right, the Rea-
lon of which is to fecure Men againft Commit-
ment by a fpecial Warrant, and a Judge ought
not to difcharge where Treafon is alledged, but

In this Cafe it is different} The Judges cannot
difcharge a Man Committed after Examination,
but the Lords ought not to Commit a Man, ex-

cept there be particular Treafon.

If I come before a Juftice of Peace, and fay,

I accufe this Man of Treafon, will any wile

Man Commit him ? he makes his Warrant in-

deed, but he that accufeth muft go farther and
make it more particular, and the fpecial Matter
muft appear before he Commies, and this is the

prefent Cafe.

The Common-Law is, That no Man ought
to be Committed without particular Caufe ; be-

caufe no Man can Commit in Capital Matters,

without taking Examination before-hand, other-

wife no Man can juftify a Commitment: There-
fore I am not fatisfied that the Lords had not

reafon to deny. The Commons are in the Na-
ture of a Grand Jury to prefent, but the Lords

are the Judges j Commitment is not the Judg-
ment, but in order to it, and the Lords have a

difcretionary Power in the Cafe : The Lords
fay not that they will not Commit, but that

they are not fatisfied to do it without fpecial

Matter, therefore we ought to fend it up.

Sir Rob. Plow. I have attended the Reafons gi-

ven againft making a Proteftation, and what-
ever is faid, is but levelling a Houfe of Commons
with every private Accufer j a Juftice of Peace
(ic is faid) muft have Evidence before he Com-
mit, and this Houfe has had Inducements to Im-
peach j and may not a Houfe of Commons Judge
what is Treafon as well as a Juftice of Peace?
The Inconveniencies and Dangers laid before

you, if you proceed, are nothing in comparifon
of thofe on the other fide.

Had the Lords Imprifoned, they had before
this had the particular Charge, and the Prote-
ftation is not to flop it, but to make way for it

fome other way ; for it will refolve into a Re-
monftrance, by which you may give the Nation
an Account of your Proceedings to come to a
Trial of this Bufinefs.

Mr. Faugh. By the Proteftation fpoken of, is

meant to preferve the Rights of this Houfe upon
the whole Matter, and to give the Reafons of

your Proceedings.

Sir Tho. Meers. What is faid, not being ex-

plained, I know not what is meant by the Pro-

teftation j if it be but to enter it into our Books,

I am not againft it j if it be an Appeal to the

Nation, pray confider what you do.

Mr. Faugh. This way of Proteftation differs

from entring in our Books, but the beft way is

to draw it up, and to bring it to you, and then

any Man may take Exceptions againft it } for

the meaning is, that this Houfe claims its Rights.

Mr. Garraw. Firft make your Proteftation,

and then Appeal to the King.

Mr. Faugh. None can furmife that you mean
an Appeal to the People by what is moved, for

what is done, muft be done to fome part of the

Parliament ; the King, Lords, or your felves :

And they who fpeak of it (if it were done with

evil intent) deferve to be called to the Barj

when it is brought before you for your Appro-,

bation, you may either retain, or reject it.

Sir Walt. Young. I defire that the Houfe may
know before-hand to whom they are to Remon-
ftrate, and on what ground, and therefore to

Adjourn their Debate now.
Mr. Trev. What Appeal you make ought to

be to the King, but bring it in hither and give

it what Name you pleafe.

Sir Rob. Atk. As I would be tender of your

Privileges, fo of giving Offence to the Lords,

therefore we fhall endeavour to be Unanimous
in this Houfe ; a Proteftation is Named, I am a

ftranger to it, and would underftand clearly

what it is, before we do it; That it is a Courfe

warranted by Precedents and Proceedings of Par-

liaments, confidering what effect it hath had in

late times, therefore we may do well to adjourn

the Debate and confider of it.

Sir Tho. Lit. This Proteftation will be like

that in the Lord Maynard's Cafe, but fomewhat

longer, and ought to go no farther than to one

of the Eftates, and be kept within the Walls.

Mr. Sminf. You fent up a Charge to the

Lords in general, defiring that the Earl of Cla-

rendon fhould be fecured, and in convenient time

you
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you would fend up Articles •, from that time it

hath not been done, and the Lords have palled

feveral Votes about it fince, but you have not

pa(Ted one.

Firft they Voted, that they had not complied

with your Defires for want of particular T-rea-

fon j Then you give them Reafons, they are

not fatisficd with them j then a Free Conference,

they are ftill unfatisfied; and all this while you

have not come to any Refolution : So that till

you come to a Vote, no Man knows but that

you are fatisfied with their Anfwerj for when

the Matter of the Proteftation is brought in, we
ihall not be ready for it till we have refolved,

that what the Lords Infill on, is an Obftru&ion

of Juftice, and you cannot agree with them

without great Inconvenience to the Nation;

Therefore put a Queltion, 'That the Lords, not

having agreed to Secure the Earl of Clarendon upon

the general Impeachment, have obflrutled the Pub-

lick Juflice of the Kingdom in Proceedings of Par-

liament, and is of dangerous Confluence :. This is

neceffary, becaufe the Lords have heard nothing

from you, but endeavour to fatisfy them.

Sir John Good. This Queltion will be a greater

Accufation of the whole Houfe of Lords,

than the other is of the Earl of Clarendon. If

you will go by way of Proteflation, and keep it

within your own Walls, I like it better than this

Queltion.

Sir Rob. How. The putting this Queltion is

no Charge upon tb.e Houfe of Lords ; and there-

fore if that Gentleman thinks it fo great an one,

fure he thinks the Charge againlt the Earl of

Clarendon to be a very fraall one. Is there any

Obftruftion to Juftice? If nor, Why do we not

Comply ? If there be, we cannot it feems com-
plain without Charging the Lords. Keeping it

within your own Walls, is but like a Man,
when he is alone, muttering Arguments tohim-

felf, and Commending himfelf for it. If you

meet with any Obftru&ions, pray firft put the

Queltion, whether you are obllrucled.

Sir Rob. Atk. It is no light matter to Charge

the Lords with Obltrucfing Juftice j therefore

the thing being new, pray adjourn it till to-

morrow, that we may be more of one Mind.

Then the Queflion was flat'ed, Namely,

That the Lords not having complied with the

defire of the Commons in Committing the Earl

of Clarendon, and Sequeftring him from Parlia-

ment upon the Impeachment from this Houfe, is

an Obstruction to the publick Juftice of the

Kingdom, and is a Precedent ofevil and dangerous

Confequence.

Refolved, That the Queftion be put.

And being put, Refolved in the Affirmative.
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Sir Tho. Tompk. Moved to take care to get the

Sea-ports ft opt.

Sir Tho. Lit. I believe he is now pad flopping,

but we fhculd do it, tho' it have no effect j left it

look as tho' we would have him efcape.

Sir Rob. How. The Lords feem now miftaken

in their Opinion at the Conference, they faid

there was no fear of his Running away ; and in

our Houfe it hath been JefteJ that he was not

like to Ride Poft. Befides theExpreffion in the

Meffage is {withdrawn) which may be an m-
ward Chamber, therefore 'tis fit to defire to fee

the Petition, and Command fome Members to

prepare fomeihing to Vindicate your felves in

difcharge of your Duty.

Mr. Seym. You cannot take notice to the

Lords of the Petition, unlefs they think good
to Communicate it to you, but make the Decla-
ration.

Mr. Faugh. I look upon what the Lords fay

as doubtful, therefore beware left you do fome-
thing misbecoming you. They only fay, that

he is withdrawn, but not what is his Petition;

for the faying that he is withdrawn, is not the

Matter of a Petition. Perhaps he is gone into

the Country, the Meffage feems light, and you
are to take no notice of it. If it be of Moment,
and they think us Concern'd, they fhould let us

know it j and I cannor think fo of the Lords,

that they would ufe that word, if he were fled :

therefore fend a Meffage, to know whether fled

or withdrawn.
Mr. Sol. Gen. When a Delinquent fignifies to

his Judges, that he is withdrawn, it cannot fig-

nify any thing, but that he is withdrawn from
theirJudgmenc. None but a mad Man will tell

them that he is fled, fearing what may follow ;

it would be well if their Care would prevent his

flying, but you cannot Anfwer it, if you hear

they do nothing, and fo feem to fay, fare him
well.

Upon all which Motions, Ordered,

That Sir Tho. Clifford (Comptroller of the

King's Houfhold) be fent to the King, to defire

the Ports may be flopped.

December 4.

The Lord Fitzharding makes Report from the
King, that the Meffage for flopping the Ports

being delivered him, he had taken care accord-
ingly.

A Meffage from the Lords to defire a fpeedy

Conference

:

From which Mr. Solicitor Reports

;

Refolved, That a Committee be appointed . to

draw up a Declaration to Vindicate the Proceedings

ef this Houfe.

December 3.

A Meffage from the Lords by two Judges,
That they have received a large Petition from
the Earl of Clarendon, which Intimates that he
is withdrawn.
Vol. II.

We attended the Lords at tne Conference,

which was deliver'd by the Duke of Buck, who
Lid to this Purpofe,

That the Lords had Commanded him to de-

liver to us that Scandalous and Seditious Paper

fent from the Earl of Clarendon, defiring us to

prefent it to you -, and to defire you in conveni-

ent time to fend it to them again, for it had a

Stile which they were in love with, and defired

to keep it.

Which faid Paper was read, and is as ollows,

viz.

E e e e To
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To the Right Honourable the Lords
Spiritual and Temporal, in Parliament

Affembled, the humble Petition and Ad-

drefs of Edward Earl of Clarendon.

May it pleafe your Lordftjips,

I
Cannot exprefs the unfupportable Trouble and

Grief of Mind Ifuftain, under the Apprehenfion

of being Mifreprefented to Tour Lordfhips, and

when I hear how much of Tour Lordfhips time hath

been [pent upon the mention of me, as it is attended

'with more Publick Confiquences, and of the Dif-

ferences of Opinion which have already, or may
probably arife between Tour Lordfhips and the Ho-
nourable Houfe of Commons j whereby the great

and weighty Affairs of the Kingdom may he ob-

ftruttedin the time of fo general a Diffatisfaction.

I am very unfortunate to find my felf to fuffer fo

much under two very difadvantagious Reflections,

which are^n no degree applicable to me.

The Firft from the Greatnefs of my Eftate and
Fortune, collected and made in fo few Tears, which

if it beproportionable to what is Reported, may very

reafonably caufe my Integrity to be
fit).peeled.

The Second, That I have been the fole Manager
and chief Minifter in all the Tranfactions of State

fince the King's Return into England, to Auguft

hft, and therefore that all Mifcarriages and Mis-
fortunes ought to be imputed to me and my Counfels.

Concerning my Eftate, Tour Lordihips will not

believe, that after Malice and Envy hath been fo in-

quifitive and fo ffarp-fighted, I will offer any thing

to Tour Lordfhips, but what is exactly true; and I
do affure Tour Lordfhips in the firft place, That

(excepting from the King's Bounty) I have never re-

ceived nor taken one Penny but what was generally

underftood to be the juft lawful Perquifttes of my
Office, by the conftant Practice of the beft Times,

which I did in my own Judgment conceive to be that

of my Lord Coventry, and my Lord Elfmorej the

Practice of which I conftantly obferved, altho' the

Office in both their Times was lawfully worth double

to what it was to me, and I believe now is.

That all the Courteftes and Favours which I have
been able to obtain from the King for other Perfons

in Church or State, or in Weftminfter-Hall, have

never been worth me Five Pounds: So that Tour

Lordfhips may be confident I am as innocent from
Corruption as from any difloyal Thought, which after

near Thirty Tears Service of the Crown, in fome
Difficulties and Diftreffes, I did never expect would

be objected to me in my Age.

And I do affure Tour Lordfhips, andjhall make
it very manifeft, That the feveral Sums of Money,
and fome Parcels of Land, which His Majefty hath

Bountifully beftow-ed upon 'mefince his Return into

England, are worth more than all I have amounts

unto; fo- far I am from advancing my Eftate by in-

directMeans. And tho' this Bounty of his hath very

far exceeded my Merit, or my Expectation, yet fome
others have' been as fortunate at leaft in the fame
Bounty who had asfmall Pretences to it., and have

no great Reafon to envy my Condition.

Concerning the other Imputation of the Credit and
Power of being Chief

cfl Minifter, and fo caufing all

to be done that I had a mind to ; I have no more to

fay, than that I had the good Fortune to ferve a-

Mafter of a very great Judgment and Under(landing,

and be always join'd with Perfons of great Ability

and Experience, without whofe Advice and Concur-

rence, never any thing hath been done.

Before his Majefty' s coming into England, he was

conftantly attended by the then Marquifs of Ormond,
the late Lor^Culpeper, and Mr. Secretary Nicho-

las, who were equally trufied with my felf, and'

without whofe Joint Advice and Concurrence, when

they zvere allprefent (as fome of them always were)

I never gave any Counfel. As foon as it pleafed

God to bring his Majefty into England, he Efta-

blifl)ed his Privy Council, and floortly, out of them

he chofe a Number of Honourable Perfons of great.

Reputation, {who for the moft part are ft ill alive)

as a Committee for Foreign Affairs, and Confidera-

tion of fuch things as in the Nature of them required

much Secrecy, and with thefe Perfons he vouchfifed

to join me : And 1 am confident this Committee never

tranfatted any thing of Moment (his Majefty being

always prefent) without prefenting the fame firft to

the Council-Board \ and I muft appeal to them con-

cerning my Carriage, and whether we were not all of

one Mind, in Matters of Importance.

For more than two Tears I never knew any Dif-
ferences in the Councils, or that there were any Com-
plaints in the Kingdom, which I wholly impute to his

Majefty's great Wifdom, and the intire Concur-

rence of his Connfellors, without the Vanity of af-

fuming any thing to my felf; and therefore I hope I

ft)all not be fingly Charged with any thing that hath

fince fallen out amifs. But from the time Mr. Se-

cretary Nicholas was removedfrom his Place, there

were great Alterations ; and whofoevcr knew any

thing of the Court and Councils, knozv well how
much my Credit hath fince that time been diminiftoed,

tho' his Majefty gracioufty vouchfafed ftill to hear my
Advice in moft of his Affairs : Nor hath there been,

from that time to this, above one or tzvo Perfons

brought to the Council, or preferr'd to any confider-

able Office in the Court who have been of my inti-

mate Acquaintance,^ or fufpetted to have any Kind-

nefs for me ; and moft of them moft Notorioufty

known to have been very long my Enemies, and of

different Judgment and Principles from me, both in

Church and State, and have taken all Opportu-

nities to leffen my Credit\vith the King, and with

all other Perfons, by Mif-reprefenting atid Mif-re-

porting all that Ifaid cr did, and perfuading Men \

I have done them fome Prejudice with his Majefty,

or croffed them in fome of their Pretenftons. Tho'

his Majefty's Goodnefs and Juftice was fuch that, it

made little Impreffion upon him.

In my humble Opinion, the great Misfortunes of

the Kingdom haveproceededfrom the War, to which

it is not orioufiy known that Iw<u always moft averfe,

and may without Vanity fay, I did not only forefee,

but declare the Mifchiefs we floould run into, by en-,

tring into a War, before any Alliances made with'

the Neighbouring Princes. And that it may not be

imputed to his Majefty''s want of Care, or the Neg-
ligence of his Councillors, that nofuch Alliances were

entred into, I muft take the boldncfs -to fay, his Ma-
jefty left nothing unattempted in order thereunto

;

and knowing very well, that France refolved to be-

gin a War upon Spain, as foon as his Ca'Jioliclc"

Majefty ftoould depart this World, which beinr' much'

fooner expected by them, they had, in the two Winters

before been at great Charges inproviding plentiful Ma-
gazines of all Provifions upon the Frontiers^ that they

might be ready for the PVar, his Majefty ufid all pof-

fiblc Means to prepare and dif'pofc the Spaniard wltH'

that Apprehenfwn, offering 'hk FriendTtoip to that De-

'

gree, as might befor the Benefit and Security of bolh'

Crowns. But
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But Spain flattering it felf, That France would

not break with them, at leaf, that they would not

give them any Caufe by adminijlring Matter of

jealoufy to them, never made any real Approach to-

wards a Friendship with his Majefiy, but, both by

their Ambaffadors here, and to his Majefiy' s Am-
baffador at Madrid, always perfiftcd, as Prelimina-

ries^ upon the giving up of Dunkirk, Tangier, and

Jamaica.

Tho' France had an Ambaffador here, to whom a

Project of a Treaty was offered, and the Lord Hol-

lis, his Majefly's Ambaffador at Paris, ujed all En-

deavours to purfue and profecute the faid Treaty, yet

it was quickly difcerned, That the principal Defign

of France was to draw his Majefiy into fuch a

nearer Alliance as might advance their Defign \

without which, they had no mind to enter into the

Treaty propofed.

And this was the State of Affairs when the War
was enired into with the Dutch, from which time,

neither Crown much confidered the making any Al-

liance with England.

As I didfrom my Soul abhor the entring into this

War,fo Iprefumed never to give any Advice or Coun-

felfor the way of managing it, but by oppofmg many

Propofitions, whichfeemed to the late Lord Treafurer

and my felf to be unreafonable, as the Payment of the

Seamen by Tickets, and many other Particulars which

added to the Expence.

My Enemies took all Occafions to inveigh againft

me, and making their Fricndfloip with others out of

the Council, of more licentious Principle',, and who
knew well enough how much I dijliked and complain-

ed of the Liberty they took to themfelves of Revi-

ling all Councils and Counfellors, and turning all

things Serious and Sacred into Ridicule. They took

all ways imaginable to render me ungrateful to all

forts of Men, (whom I Jhall be compelled to name

in my Defence) perfuadir'g thofe. that mfcarried in

any of their Defigns, that it was the Chancellor's

doing', whereof I never knew any thing. How-
ever, they could not withdraw the King's Favour

from me, who was fill plenfed to ufe my Service

with others, nor was there, ever any thing done but

with the joint Advice of at leaf the Major part of

thofe who were confulted with. And as his Ma-
jefiy commanded my Service in the late Treaties, fo I
never gave the leaf Advice in private, nor wrote

one Letter to any one Perfun in either of thofe Ne-
gotiations but upon the Advice of the Council, and

alfo after it was read in Council, or at leaf by the

King himfelf, and fome others ; and if L prepared

any Inftrutlions or Memorials? it was by the King's

Command, and the Rcqueft of the Secretaries who
defired my Affiflance j nor was it any JViJh of my
own, that any Ambaffador fioould give me any Ac-

count of the Tranfailions, but to the Secretaries, to

whom I was always ready to advife ; nor am L
confcious to my felf of ever having given Advice

that hath proved mifchievous or inconvenient to his

Majefiy, and I have been fo far from being the fole

Manager of Affairs, that I have not in the whole

laft Tear be?n above twice with his Majefiy in any

Room alone, and very feldom in the two or three

Tears preceding.

Andfince the Parliament at Oxford, it hath been

very vifible, that my Credit hath been very little, and

that very few things have been hearkened to, which

have been propofed by me, but contradicted, eo no-

mine, becaufe propofed by me.

Imofi humbly befeech Tour Lordfhips to remem-

ber the Office and Truft I had for feven Tears, in

Vol II.
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which, in Di[charge of my Duty, I was o'liged to

flop and obfirucl many Mens Pretences, and refufed

to fet the Seal to many Pardons and other Grants,

which would have been proftable to thofe who pro-

cured them, and many whereof, upon my Reprefen-

tation to his Majefiy, were for ever fiopt, which
naturally have raifed many Enemies tome : And my
frequent concurring, upon the Defires of the late

Lord Treafurer, (with whom I had the Honour to

have a long and vafl FriendfJjip to his Death) in

reprefenting feveral Exceffes and Exorbitances, the

yearly Iffue fo far exceeding the Revenues, provoked

many Perfons concerned, of great Power and Cre-

dit, to do me all the ill Offices they could. And yet

L may faithfullyfiiy, That I never meddled with any

part of the Revenue or the Adminifiration of it,

but when L was dejired by the late Lord Treafurer

to give him my Affijlance and Advice, having had
the Honour formerly to ferve the Crown as chan-
cellor of the Exchequer, which was for the rnofi

part in his Majeftfs Prefence. Nor have I ever
'

been in the leafi Degree concerned, in point of Pro-

fit, in letting any Part of his Majefiy' s Revenue

;

nor have ever Treated or Debated it, but in his Ma-
jefiy's Prefence, in which my Opinion encurr'd al-

way with the Major part of the Counfcllors who
were prefent.

All which, upon Examination, will be made ma-
nifefi to Your Lordfhips, how much foever my In-

tegrity is blafied by the Malice of thofe who I am
confident do not believe themfelves. Nor have I in

my Life, upon all the Treaties, or otherwife, re-

ceived the value of One Shilling from all the Kings

or Princes in the World, (excepting the Books of
the Louvre Print fent me by the Chancellor of
France, by that King's Direction) but from my own
Mailer, to whofe intire Service, and the Good and
Welfare of my Country, no Man's Heart was ever

more devoted.

This being my prefent Condition; I do rnofi hum-
bly befeech Tour Lordfhips to entertain a favoura-
ble Opinion of me, and to believe me to be Innocent

from thofe foul Afperfions, until the contrary Jhall

be proved ; which J am fure can 'never be by any

Man worthy to be believed : AndJince the Difiem-
pers of the Times, and the Difference between the

Two Houfes in the prefent Debate, with the Power
and Malice of my Enemies, who gave out that L
ffould prevail with his Majefiy to Prorogue or Dif-

folve this Parliament in Difpleafure, and threaten

to expofe me to the Rage and Fury of the People,

may make me to be look'd upon as the Caufe which

obfirucls the King's Service, and Unity and Peace

of the Kingdom.

I rnofi humbly befeech Tour Lordfhips, that I may
not forfeit Tour Lordfhips Favour and Protection,

by Withdrawing my felf from fo powerful a Perfe-

ction, in hope that I may be able, by fuch With-
drawing, hereafter to appear and make my Defence,

when his Majefiy' s Jujlice (to which Ifball always

fubmit) may not be Obfiructed, or Controlled, by the

Power and Malice of thofe who have fworn my
Deftrublion,

CLARENDON.

Mr. F~augh. I think it not convenient to lofe

more time about this Paper. Since the time of

the Earl of Clarendon's Name being mention'd

here, I had nothing to Charge him with till

now, but mod of the Heads of this Charge are

fo weighty, that I am confident they will be
eafily and thoroughly proved, tho' I know not

E e e e a how ;
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how •, fo that I admire at his Confidence, to

Chnrge this Hcufe, and fo the Nation, as his

Perfecutors, and that in fuch a Condition, as

he hopes to vindicate himfelf. It's the firft time

that ever I heard an Innocent Man run away
under the grcateft Charge, with hopes to return

again and vindicate himfelf.

Then mark one Expreffion, he faith, he is as

far from Corruption., as from Difloyalty. Ifhefaid

he was guilty of neither, he had faid fomething ;

As for the Earl of Clarendon, he being now
gone, if fuch a like Occafion fhould fall our, we
are in a worfe Condition than we were : for

there is this Precedent againft us, in a Cafe now
manifeft : And it becomes us to do fomething
in order to the Lords concurring, that fo a

good Underihnding may be got j therefore I

lhall propound this to you, to befent up to them
to that End.

Namely, when any Subj< ct fhall be impeach-
but by that Expreffion he may be guilty of ed by the Commons before the Lords in Parlia-

both : So infolent a Paper I never met with ment with defire to fecure him, fuch Perfon by
in this Kingdom, nor have I ever read the the Law of the Land ought to be fecured ac-

like in any other; fo inconfiderable a part of cordingly. This you have in effect Voted al-

the Nation as he is, to lay it upon the Na- ready, in fiying the Juflice of the Kingdom is ob-

tion, who, if innocent, might defend himfelf j flrubled by their not doing it.

if Guilty, why doch he Charge the Nation with Secondly, when fuch Impeached Perfons fhall

perfecuting? Therefore without troubling your he fecured, the Lords may limit a certain Time
felves with if, do as the Lords have done 5

who deliver it to you as a Scandalous and Sedi-

tious Paper; it hath Malice in it, and is the

for bringing in the Charge, to prevent delay of
Juftice.

This may falve all, and prevent fuch Ways
greateft Reproach upon the King, and the whole as may be difpleafing to the Lords, and perhaps
Nation, that ever was given by Man. There- us alfo, in fome Cales hereafter

Mr. Sivin. I am perfuaded that according to

Rules of Parliament, when you Charge by Im-
peachment generally, and promife in due time
to fend up your Charge, they ought to fecure;

but they not having done it, I queftion whether
you could do what you have; but the Earl of
Clarendon flying, it is manifeft Juflice was ob-

ftrucled ; for he might have been brought to his

Trial, if the Lords had fecured him ; but now
your Vote is made good, which feems to lay the

Advantage on your fide.

Sir Rob. How. I think this Mcffige to the

Lords, will deftroy the way of vindicating our

felves by Declaration j therefore finifh the De-
claration, and then Refolve, before you publifh

it, whether to fend up this Meffage.

Mr. Vaugh. If the Lords agree with us, we
may fpare the Declaration, but if they agree

not now, they will much lefs hereafter : Your
Declaration can amount to no more but this,

make a Narrative of the Invalidity of the Lords
Precedents; but then you muft of neceffity do
fomething more, elfe your Labour is in vain ;

therefore this Meffage with thefe Votes are ne-

ceffary.

Sir Rich. 'Temp. I expected that when the Earl

of Clarendon had been fled, the Lords would have

defired the King to iffue out a Proclamation to

Apprehend him, feeing they have been the Oc-
cafion of his Efcape; therefore now defire their

Concurrence to go to the King to that End, and

if they Concur, they have upon the Matter

granted Commitment upon a general Impeach-

ment.

Mr. Vaugh. I thought it my Duty to offer you

A Motion being made to fend to the Lords what I have done, if you like it not, I defire to

in purfuance of the Vote about burning the be excufed in ferving you in the Declaration,

fore put the Queftion whether his Paper fhall

not have th;; Character, that it is a Scandalous

and Malicious Paper, and a Reproach to the Juflice

of the Nation.

Refolved, upon the Queflion,

That the Paper fent to the Lords by the Earl

of Clarendon, and by them fent down to the

Houf'e of Commons, and now read, is Scandalous

and Seditious, and doth Reproach the King and the

Publkk Juflice of the Nation.

Sir Rob. How. You have voted this Paper
Scandalous, and therefore it fhould not live,

wherefore I move it fhould be burnt by the

Hangman.
Mr. Garraw. The Paper is the Lords, and you

mu ft: fend it to them, but enter it into your
Books, and your Vote upon it.

Refolved, To have it burnt.

Sir Rob. Car. The Paper is the Lords, there-

fore move them to concur that it may be burnt.

Sir Rob. How. The meaning ofmy Motion is,

becaufe the Duke of B • ks defired the Pa-

per again for the admirablenefs of the Stile j it

is entered into their Books already, and they

need it not to that End ; therefore defire the

Lords Concurrence to burn it.

Refolved, To fend it to the Lords to that End.

December f.

Paper

Mr. Vaugh. I am againft fending up to the

Lords to that purpofe, becaufe you have Order-

ed to enter the Paper into your Books, and

when a Paper is burnt, it is not to ftand upon
Record, but fhould be rafed out ; which two
Things are a perfect Contradiction, therefore

let it reft as it is; We have Voted it Scandalous,

&c. The Lords tell us not that they have done

any fuch thing, tho' they ought to have done it

firft.

and that they who think it neceffary would be

pleafed to take the Pains to do it.

Sir Tho. Lee. If you declare, it will beget an

Anfwer, and where will that end? If you fend

up your Votes, and the Lords agree, your End
is Anfwered } for it is a yielding that which

they have yet denied
; your declaring, and en-

tring it upon the Journal, will be to no purpofe.

It is but like a Man, who having been beaten

publickly, in the Chamber calls him who did it

Rogue.

Mr.
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Mr. Hampd. I defire that the Words (Law of

the Land) may be left out, and the Words (Law

of Parliament, or, Ufage of Parliament) put in-

itead of them -, for it hath been fhewed us, that

there are feveral ways of Impeachment befides

Common-Law.
Mr. Faugh. Thofe words were purpofely put

in, becaufe at the free Conference, when we

prefTed the Law of Parliaments, the Lords pref-

ixed the Law of the Land, by way of Negative,

as if the Law of the Land were otherwife; but

rather than that mail be any obftruction, put it

by Law.
Mr. Stew. Leave out the Words {by Law) for

if a Man befecured, it is Implied by them who
do Commit that it is according to Law,

Then it being Moved to draw both Votes in

one -,

Sir Tho Litt. Tho' you fhould put both Votes

into one, it will not anfwer your end, for the

Lords will not Concur with the firft Part, and

yet may make ufe of what Part you grant of it,

that is the laft, and fo have advantage againft

you; buc there is another Reafon, why you
ihould forbear thefe Votes, Namely, Prudence.

The Earl of Clarendon being gone, there is an

expectation that a Bill fhould be prepared to do
fomething farther, wherein I hope both Hou-
fes will join; if you fend up this, you will give

difLubance to that Bill j and if you mould enter

this in your Books, in order to fend it up here-

after, they will hear of it, as done to make
them fwallow their former Refolves. Therefore

defer it for the prefent.

Mr. Trev. Confider whether the Matter be-

twixt you and the Lords is not well as it is

:

You have Voted, That when a Man is generally

Impeached, he ought to be fecured, and that

the Lords not having done it, is an obftruction

to Jufticej and what will it fignify to carry it

to the Lords * what hath fince fallen out, julti-

fies you, and lays the difadvantage upon the

Lords. The World expects now what you will

do farther, and that mult be by Concurring
with the Lords.

Sir7l6o. Cliff. We all agree to thefe Votes, in

order to juftify your Rights 5 but what is the

ufe of it ? You have already done it in your
Books, and you cannot expect the Lords fhould

go fo much againft their own Votes, this there-

fore will but widen the Gap, it being telling

them they mult eat their Words.
Sir Tho. Litt. Thofe, who have had a hand

in the Charge againfl the Earl of Clarendon, have

been thought fometimes too Violent, fome-
times too Remifs, as not able to make out the

Charge: But what I fpeak now, is for your
Honour, which will be wrong'd in this Pro-
ceeding ; I am for bringing the Impeachment
to fomething ; and therefore againft thefe

Votes : Now you make a Declaration of your

own Rights, and entring it upon your Books,
that not only the Vote may appear, but the

Ground of it, but not to declare to the Lords,
which will begetan Anfwer, and exafperate. It

is now unfeafonable to make the Lords retract,

therefore lay it afide j for tho' I am confident

that Gentlemen did it to no fuch end, yet if I

would defign any thing to the Earl of Claren-

don's Advantage, I could not take a better way
than this.

58I

Mr. Faugh.. This is but the affirming all which
hath been done already, and I am for none of

thofe, who are contriving for any thing out of

the Houfe.
Sir Will. Covent. This Queftion is not now

feafonable j tho' it is a better expedient than the

Declaration, as things now (land, and confi-

dering what hath paft, I am apt to think the

Lords may do it of their own accord, and you
would not willingly have a Negative to your

Votes. Therefore feeing your Votes may be

of ufe hereafter, put no queftion at all, but ad-

journ the Debate to a proper Seafon.

Mr. Faugh. I am againft the Adjourning of

it, and have given Teitimony, that I have done

nothing to be thought to do that which is fo

much for the Advantage of the Earl of Claren-

don, and fha'l take heed of doing any Thing
hereafter to be fo reflected on.

Sir Tho. Litt. I hope I avoided any fuch Re-
flection, nor did I fpeak any Thing to fuch pur-

pofe. I do not believe, nor ever did think any

fuch Thing, and hope that Gentleman himfelf

believes, that no Man in this Houfe hath more
Honour for him than I.

Sir John Charle. Let the World fee that you

do not intend to reftrain your Proceedings to the

Earl of Clarendon, but make it a general Care

;

and therefore are concerned in Honour to put

the Queftion.

Refolved upon the Queftion,

That the Queftion be put.

Refolved, That both the Queflions propounded by

Mr. Vaugh. and put fingly in the Jjfirmative, be

carried up to the Lords.

December 13.

A Bill was brought from the Lords, to Banifh

the Earl of Clarendon, and read.

After reading, feveral Objections being made,

and it being alledged, that it was an Abufe put

upon the Commons by the Lords, and that a Bill

of Attainder being propounded, after fome De-
bate, the Houfe pafs'd this Vote:

Refolved, That this hloufe taking notice of the

flight of the Earl of Clarendon, being under an

Impeachment of High-Treafon by this Houfe; the

King's Majefty be humbly defired to Ififue out his

Proclamation for Summoning the faid Earl to ap-

pear by a Day, and to apprehend him in Order to

his Trial.

Refolved, To fend to the Lords for their Concur-

rence to this Fote.

December 14.

A Meffage from the Lords for a Conference,

at which they deliver'd two Reafons, why they

could not Concur.

I. Firft, for that they conceive a Proclamation

in the way propofed would be ineffectual, fince it is

not fub poena Convictionis, which cannot be 'till

Particulars in order to Trial be declared.

z. That what the Houfe of Commons bathpro~

pofed, and do propofe at prefent , is intended in Order

to



582 67. Proceedings againflEdwd £. 0/Clarendon, 1 9 Car. II.

to a judicial way of Proceeding ; but fince the Earl

of Clarendon'j Flight, their Lord/hips upon Confe-

deration of the whole State of Affairs, and of the

Kingdom, have upon Grounds of Prudence and Ju-

ftice, thought fit, for fecuring of King and Kingdom,

to proceed in a Legijlative way againfl the faid Earl,

and have to that end pafi and fent down to them a

Bill of Banifhment and Incapacity againfl him, with

which this Vote is inconfiftent.

December \6

The faid Reafons from the Lords being Re-
ported and Confidered, and it being Moved that

the Houfe would declare themfelves unfatisfied

with them :

SivTho. Cliff. I am againfl pafling a Vote at

prefent upon the Lords Reafons, but read the

Bill fent down from thence, and Summons him
by it to appear by a Day.

Mr. Irev. Some are againfl the Bill, becaufe

it goes too far, Condemning before Hearing,

others would have it to go farther. Summons is

in Order to Hearing, Trial, and Judgment j

of thofe he hath made himfelf incapable by
Flight, and hath in his Paper told you, That he

will neither be heard, nor Tried by you : Tho' you
expecled to have him fecured by a general Ac-
cufatiovi, yet you never ex peeled Judgment up-

on it. Then it is faid, This Banifhment fallsjhort

of Treafon ; but we are not to pafs Sentence for

Crime*, but as a Council propound to the King
what is neceflary in this Cafe : Then confider

whether this Bill will anfwer our Ends, and if

it doth, Delay will make it worfe. I think we
fhould make it reach them. What if he hath

Life in other Parts, his Family untainted, and

his Children alive, and enjoy his Eftate ?

Sir Rob. Carr. You have Ordered to confider

the Reafons from the Lords, therefore do it.

Mr. Hen. Covent. The Motion to read the Bill

is not againll your Order, becaufe part of the

Reafons given by the Lords is, That you have a

Bill, and 'till you have read the Bill, you cannot lay

by the Reafins. The Earl of'Clarendon is fled, you
have a tye upon him in having his Innocent Re-
lations, and by Proceeding farther you make
him defperatc, you are now in an even way
with the Lords ; therefore read the Bill.

Mr. Swinf. You may go upon the Reafons,

and yet not reject the Bill ; for when you fent

to the Lords about a Proclamation, and went
not upon the Bill, it was, becaufe what the Bill

drives ar, is the higheft Punifhment next to

Death. Therefore confider what weight is in

the Reafons. One of them feeming to put you
upon the Bill, they put you thereuponon a Le-
giflative Way ; they will neither Secure nor

Summon him, but will condemn him Unheard.
They cannot Secure him upon a Charge of Trea-

fon, nor yet Summon him, but they can Con-
demn him j and this they put you upon, which
is againfl Honour and Juftice, efpecially to do
it upon Reafon of State. The Legiflative Power
of Parliament is great, it hath no Bound, but

the integrity and Juftice of Parliaments. If

Reafon of Stare be a Motive of Parliament to

Banif.i one Man, fo it may be for many. If

you go in chis Legiflative Way, you bring up-

on your leives all the Difhonour of the bufi-

nefs, but the Lords will have fome Excufe,

which you cannot, for they look'd upon the

Charge fo flight, as not to Imprifon him j the

Party is gone, becaufe he was not Secured, ap-

prehending (he faith) fear of the Multirude,

not of his Trial j fo that the Lords not giving

Credit to your Charge againfl him, he fays, he

flies notfrom Juftice. Now if upon this Bill you
fhull Banifh him, it would be faid you could not

make good the Charge, and therefore laid this

Sentence upon him.

The Precedent is alfo dangerous : If having

gone fo far in a Judicial way, you fhould now
go in a Legiflative. If upon Reafon of State,

Lords may be Banifhed, it may be by dozens:

As you proceed Juflly, fo you will be Juftified.

Nor is the Danger greater if the Lords go by
Proclamation, and he be put into Cuftody when
he comes j if he can praclife any Thing, will

not he be lefs capable when under the Procla-

mation, than when this Bill is Paffed, which
Condemns him without Hearing, and I am not

for any Puniffiment till Heard. In Cromwell's

Cafe, who Moved in Hen. VI IPs time, to At-
taint a Lord Unheard, the Judges declared they

might, and it would ftand ; afterward the faid.

Cromwell was Attainted and Condemned Un-
heard, and fuch Counfcl ufually falls upon thofe

that Counfell'd it.

Sir Rob. How. The Earl of Clarendon faith,

That he doth not withdraw from your Juftice, but

for fear of Tumults ; but that Reafon any Man
may give for his flying, if it will be an Excufe;
but he might have fecured himfelffrom Tumults
by rendring himfelf, and his Innocency upon his

Trial would have cleared him. This at laft

may come to a free Conference, then you may
be left to go along with the King; the Houfe
rifeth and doth nothing, and then the World
will fee that this Bufinefs will affure the King of

France, That he hath a Man with him fo Great,

as to hinder us from doing any Thing againfl

him : Therefore as you ought to do fomething

againfl him, fee whether it may not be done

by the Bill, by refuming his Lands, &c. if he

come not in by a Day.

An Exception may be againfl this way, Name-
ly, That there is no Attainder, but if there had

been fuch a Bill, the Thing which fhould fway

'

me fhould be the Duke of York's Marriage : So

that if you Commit this Bil!, you may add all

Severities, except that of Attainder, and if he

come by a Day, then all to be void. If you go

by Proclamation, the Lords may not Concur,

and you lofe your Ends. By this Bill a'l Fa-

vour that he can expect is ffiewcd, and this way
will be the befl Confutation of the Lords Rea-

fons ; therefore Commit the Bill.

Mr. Secretary Morr. I am for Committing the

Bill, tho' it be condemning Unheard; becaufe

he could not but conclude it would be fo. Et
volenti non fit Injuria.

Sir Rich. Temp. You have proceeded againfl

this Earl in all ordinary Ways, and have been

baffled by the Lords. In Edward the Third's

Reign, Adam de Berry fled., and a Proclamation

went againfl him, and the Commons neither

did, nor ever were bound to deliver their Arti-

cles till the Party appeared, and in that Cafe

they delivered not their Articles till the laft

Day, when he not appearing was Convicled.

W hen you would go by Attainder, they tell

you, Deliver ipecial Matter, and we will Sum-
mon
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Juftice : Therefore prefs for a Proclamation, for
the Bill is inconfiltent with your Honour.

Mr. Faugh. 1 have liftned with much Atten-
tion to this Difcourfe, and understand it ;is little

now as at the beginning, the Difcourfe being
nothing adequate to that End. You have Reafons
from the Lords why they agree not with you,
and if you agree with the Reafons, the Sum is

to read the Bill ; but if you agree not, you mud
delire a Conference, and if they concur, you
may have a Proclamation, if not fas I think they
will not) you are where you were: We fuppofe

out touching that. There remains a Bill before him not to be in England, and if fo, what is the

you, and in that you are upon equal Terms Proclamation more than the King's Writ ? it

with the Lords ; therefore give him a Day to reacheth no Man out of the Kingdom. It's true,

Be heard, and if he come, let him ; but then his in fome Cafes, if the Perfonsare gone our of the
Penalties are too low for his Crimes ; therefore Land they are Suramon'd, and if they come not,

read the Bill, go higher, degrade him of Ho-
nours, forfeit his Lands, and whether you will

go fo far, I leave with you.

Mr. Sol,. Gen. It is not poflible to agree with

the Lords in their Reafons, but the Reafonmuft

mon him ; when you ask a Proclamation, they

tell you, Deliver fpecial Matter: If you declare

the Matter- to the Court, it is upon Record, and

all may know it. You have tried all ways Le-

gal and Regular, and they will do you Juflice

iri neither. Now what can you do? except you

and the Lords combine in Juftice together, he

muft efcape, and if you can be made to differ,

he goes -away in a Smoke. Ifyougo to the King

for a Proclamation, you muft return to the Lords

for Juftice. I am forry the Ivy hath been fo

near the Oak, that you cannot touch it, with-

their Lands are Seized, but it is not by Procla-
mation, which fignifies nothing if the Party be
gone.

Then go on ; fuppofe the Lords join in defi-
ring a Proclamation, the end of which is Ap-

be becaufe the Bill is good. But if any Man pearing and Apprehending; pcffibly you gain
thinks it is good upon the Lords Reafons, he is one part, that if he be apprehended, they do
fniftaken ; and therefore my Advice is to pro- Iraprifon him upon a general Impeachment ;

ceed upon the Bill, tho' not upon 1. he Reafons but if they agree not, what Benefit have you by
from the Lords. Some think the Punifhment in it? None: But if he appears, to what is it?

the Bill too little for the Crime, others too

much, becaufe not Summon'd ; fo that it muft

fall out, That a Perfon Impeached by the Holife

of Commons muft fee the Huufe rife without any

there is no Charge, if apprehended, to Anfwer
the general Charge.

Then the Third Way is, if the Lords agree
not, that you fhould go to the King; and there

marks of Difpleafure upon him : Can any Man is a mere dangerous Rock in that, than in any
be heard, who will not be heard? Why fhould thing; for we never heard of a Commitment
not you proceed in fuch a way againft him, as per ipfum Dominum Regent,, but per mandatum Do
whole very Flight amounts to a Confeffion

And have you not burnt his Paper for reflecting

upon the Hotife f and can you think he will ap-

pear who is departed in defpair of the Court ?

and now you are contending to give him Time.
Then confider the Thing in ltfelf. Suppofe

mini Regis, becaufe againft the King lies no Da-
mages: What then muft you do ? many think
it Jnjuftice to proceed, if he be not called by
Proclamation. But it is plain, if you proceed
upon this Bill, you go not upon your Impeach-
ment, but becaufe he is fled from the Juftice of

the King had a mind to Attaint him, the King the Land, wherewith you have charged him in

can do it without your help, for he may be Out' burning his Paper ; and it imports little, that he
lawed for High-Treafon ; for tho' that be Re- faith he is Innocent; for why then doth he fly?

verfable at Common Law, if he be beyond Sea, Shall we abate him of what he ought to fuffer

yet by two exprefs Acts of Parliament it is o- for his faying fo ? He is fled from the Juftice of
therwife, but the King cannot Banifh him with- the Parliament, and therefore is proceeded with j

out your Concurrence : Suppofe him Fled and and for what others fay, you ought not to re-

Attainted, fo that the Queftion is not upon his gard popular Reafons, but to purfue your own j

Life, but his Eftate, fuppofe your Juftice fatis- it is enough for you to hear fome Proofs made
fled in that, is it not paft all manner of Con-
lideration thar. the King cannot upon Applica-

tion reftore it, fo that ail you look'd for by At-

tainder, is done by this Bill of Banifhment, for

When was it known in any Court, that Proofs

fhould be taken only on one fide? So that you
cannot acquit your own Juftice, nor bring him
any ways to Anfwer, he being gone; nor can

his Life is fived by Flight, as would his Eftate you have any Effect of the Proclamation, tho'

by Compaffion •, but there is fomething in this the Lords join in it: Therefore unlefs you will

Bill, which, withoutit, you can neverget, that have nothing done after all this, (Tor he may not

is, you put him under your Difpleafure, winch be Guilty of all Charged, who yet hath made
the King cannot Pardon ; and will you have it hirafelf Guilty of what is Charged by flying)

thought abroad, that the Earl of Clarendon, fled read the Bill.

as he is, hath been fomething too hard for the At laft the Queftion was put, whether the

Two Houfes ? Bill fhould be Read and Committed.
Sir 'tho. Lift. If there he a neceffity of di'ffe-

ing with the Lords, and I thought the Difference

would produce fuch Effects, i mould not fpeak,

but they only tell you 'cis unneceffary and inef-

fectual. You have Impeached, and are now
told if you proceed, it will make Difference ; but

i tear another greater Danger than this Diffe-

rence. The World will fay you were willing

he fhould fly, becaufe you couid not prove; by

I op for it.

f f againft it.

164

December 18.

The Bill for Banifhing the Earl of Clarendon

flying he hath Forfeited his Eftate ; if the King was Reported from the Committee, and Read,

give it him again it is his Mercy > but do you
Sir
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Sir i?o£. How. I defire that to the Preface of

the Bill this Addition may be made.

That 'whereas the Earl of Clarendon was Im-
peached of Trcafon by the Commons, who defired he

might be fecured, but was not , and thereupon is fled.

And this to the End the protefting Lords
may be gratified, who took fo much Care of
the Commons.

Sir Rob. Can, Seconds the Motion.
Sir John Talb. 1 cannot Concur with that

Motion, becaufe we cannot take notice of

what the Lords do.

Sir Rich. Temp. We may take notice of Things
in the Lords Books which are Records, and there

the Proteft is entred ; and tho' not to gratify

them who owned our Right, yet we ought to

take care of our own Right : And that the

World may fee we have fome Caufe to Pafs this

Bill, neither deal fo modeflly with a Man who
flies from Juftice, as to ufe his own Word {'with-

draw) but call it flying.

Sir Tho. Gow. Let the Words be, that having

been Impeached, and moved to be Secured, hath

withdrawn him/elf.

Mr. Sollicitor. The Word Moved, deftroysthe

Bill it felfj the Word of the Bill is to unite the

Two Hou/es, and this Amendment tends to de-

flroy that End, for the Addition to the Preface

being infilled on, the Lords will add the Rea-
fons for not Committing, and fo revive the

whole Matter again.

Let the Lords add in their Books what they

will, your Books will as much juftify you, as

theirs them.

Sir Hum. Win. Let the Words be added, whe-
ther the Lords agree, or not, that it may appear

upon our Books.
Mr. Hugh. Bofcow. The Preface is but Hiftory,

yet add the YVords, and let the Lords infert

what they pleafe. I fhould rather Concur with
them, than leave out thofe Words.
Mr. Faugh. Put no Queftion upon thefeWords,

but whether the Preface fhall go as it is -, The
Bill in Probability is a fafe Bill, becaufe it came
from them: But ifyou begin an Alteration, you
your felves render it unfafe 5 for if you put in

thefe Words, then the Lords will add, for warn
of Special Matter, and fo it will come to no-
thing.

Then the Bill was read the Third time.

Mr. Faugh. I am againft the Word Withdrawn,
and for the Word Flight infteadof it, and in re-

gard the Juftice of this Bill depends upon the
Word (Flight) put it exprefiy.

Sir Rob. Carr. I am againft this Bill, tho' I
Was as earned in the Matter as any one while I

1

thought there v/as Proof, but now none ap-
pearing, I am againft the Bill, becaufe you arc
Confirming what the Lords have done.
Mr. Faugh. Many Men wonder that no Rea- i

fon is given for paffing this Bill, but the Que-
ftion is miftaken, the Bill is grounded upon his
Flight after his Impeachment, and his flying im-
plies fome Guilt > if none, it is the fafeft Argu-
ment for any Man to run away, and then there

(

is nothing to catch him. A Proclamation to s*s

Man out of the Kingdom fignifies nothing. Bui i

in the whole it is plain, that he faith, thatfind-
ing the King's Juitice obftru&ed in Parliament,
he is fled.

Obj. But it will be faid, upon bare Fiight ne- -

ver was any Man punifhed.

Anfw. If one Man kills another and flies, tho*

.

upon his Trial he fhall be acquitted, yet he fhall
never recover his Goods becaufe of his Flight.
There have been feveral A£ts of Banifhment,

Spencer, &c. And tho' in this there is fomething
more feverc than in them, namely, that none fhall

Correfpond with him ; yet there is alfo fome
Advantage, namely, that if he come in by the
Firft of February all fhall be void ; for when
the Crime is laid, and his Flight makes him
Guilty, he ought not to have a Day.

Then the Queftion was put for paffinsr the
Bill.

a

6f For it.

42 Againfl it.

I07

So the Bill pafs'd the Commons, and after-

wards obtain'd the Royal AfTent.

See the Earl of Clarendon 's Vindication of himfelf againfl the articles of High-Treafon, State Trials, Vol. 8. p 381;

LXVIII. 72*



668. 5%$

LXVIII. The "Trials of Peter Meffenger, Richard Beafley,

William Green, Thomas Appletree, John Earles, Wih
liam Wilks, William Ford, Richard Farrell, Edward
Cotton, Edward Bedle5 Richard Latimer, Jbhn Sharps

lefs, Richard Woodward, Thomas Limerick, John Ri-

chardfon, * at the Old-Baily, for High-Treafon, in tu-

multuoujly Affembling themfehes in Moorfields, and other

Places, under Colour ofpulling down Bawdy-House s$

April 4, 1 668. 20 Car. II.

Sir Edward Atkins* ") „ c , < „ . n ,

Sir Chriftopher Turner,
CBaronsofhisMajefty's

Sir Richard Rainsford,)
C° Urt °f Exche^er '

PON Eafier-Monday laft, being the

23d Day of March, in the 10th Year

of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord

the King that now is, it being the

ufual time of the Apprentices Li-

berty for their Civil Recreations, a rude Mul-

itude of People met together in Moorfields-,
tvhere being fo Aflembled, were inftigated by

jbme Factious Perfons amongft them 9 who, to

plour their Defign, infinuated into the Rabble

;he pulling down ofBawdy*Hottfes : Under which
;olour of reforming Bawdy-Houfcs^ they at length

aifed a great Hubbub , and fo increafing in

heir Diforders, in a tumultuous Manner com-
nitced many notorious Crimes. But by the Vi-

filancy of the Magiftrates of the City, with the

\ffiftance of his Majefty's Guards, were at laft

•edue'd : Some of the Ringleaders whereof were

ipprehended, and committed to the Goal for

heir Offences, to receive their Trials according

o the known Laws of the Land.

And having been feveral times examined, up-

m ConfefTion of fome, and pregnant Proof a-

>ainft others, by a fpecial Jury of feveral Knights,

ifquires and Gentlemen, of very great Worth
md Efteem, of the County of Middlefex ;

Thefe Perfons following, to wit,

Together with Sir William Wild, Recorder ofch<

City ofLondon -, thefe Prifoners following, viz.

Peter Mejfenger,

Richard Beafley,

William Green,

Thomas Appletree,

Were firft called to the Bar to receive their Tri-
als j where, after Proclamation being made, they
feverally pleaded to their Indictments, and puc
themfelves for their Trial upon their Country.

The Names of the Jury fwom.

Anthony Hall,

William Knight,

Henry Francis,

'John Baker,

Robert Shaw,
Thomas Conftable^

Thomas Jennins,

John Nichols,

Ralph Bradfioaw,

"John Saving,

John Marjb,
Henry Kent.

Peter Mejfenger,

Richard Beafley,

William Green,

Thomas Appletree,

John Earles,

William Wilks,

William Ford,

Richard Farrell,

Edward Cotton,

Edward Bedle,

Richard Latimer,

John Sharplefs,

Richard Woodward,
Thomas Limerick,

John Richard/on,

Were indicted of High-Treafon, for levying of
'* Publick War againft our Sovereign Lord the
King : And at the Goal-Delivery of Newgate,
held at the Seffions-Houfe in the Old-Bailey,

London, Apr. 1, 1668, and continued til the
touvth Day j on which faid fourth Day, in the
|Pre(ence of

i
Sir John Kelyng, Kn. Lord Chief Juftice .of

his Majefty's Court of King''s-Bench

\

Vol. II.

* Kelyng 70. 1 Sid. 358,

The Jury being fworn$ the Court proceeded
to Trial.

Mr. North. You Gentlemen of the Jury, thefe

four, Peter Mejfenger, Richard Beafley, William
Green, and Thomas Appletree, ftand indicted for

5

High-Treafon; having left their Obedience to

our Sovereign Lord the King, and being infti-

gated by the Devil, upon the 24th Day ofMarch
laft paft, did contrive a Defign to levy War and
Rebellion againft the King, being at the Head
of four or five Hundred armed and array'd. If

this Matter be prov'd againft them, you muft
find them Guilty.

Mr. Pemberton. You Gentlemen of the Jury,
thefe Prifoners at the Bar did contrive and levy

War, and fell upon the King's Officers, and

beat them, and broke the Prifon, and let out the

Prifoners, fome for Felony : Among the Multi-

tude thefe were four of them, as we fhall endea-

vour to prove.

F f f f The
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The Names of the Witnefies call'd and fworn,

Richard Dow/on,

John Cowley,

Henry Ball,

James Martin,

Abraham Brookes.

The O A T H.

THE Evidence you fhall give between our So-

vereign Lord the King and the Prifoners at the

Bar, [hall be the truth, the whole truth, and no-

thing but the truth. So help you God.

Counfel. Sir, pray tell my Lord what you faw

thefe do on Eafter-tuefday.

Witn. My Lord, I faw this Richard Beafley

at the Head of four or five hundred •, he had a

Sword, and I took his Sword from him : he had

Colours, a green Apron upon a Pole. I heard

fome of them cry, Down with the Red-coats ; and

I did fee William Green there too, but not Ap-

pletree.

Lord Chief Juftice. Did they go with the Mul-

titude or no, or were they with them?

Witn. They were with themj but I cannot

fay they went along with them.

Counf Pray tell my Lord what the Multitude

faid at that Time.

Witn. When we fell on them, they run away.

Ld Ch. Juft. Did Beajley lead them on ?

Witn. They faid he was their Captain.

John Cowley, Second Witnefs.

Counf. Mr, Cowley, tell my Lord what you

Cowley. My Lord, he cut me and wounded

me on the Hand. The Conftable charg'd them

to be gone, and difperfe themfelves ; with that

they ftruck at the Conftable, and knock'd him

down.
LdCh. Juft. Under what Pretence did they

pull down any Houfe ?

Witn. The Conftable and fome more of us

beat them up Nightingale-Lane; I know not

what their Pretence was : I faw Appletree there,

for he was the Firft that ftruck at the Confta-

ble. This was on Eafter-tuejday.

Ld.Ch. Juft. Did you fee Green there?

Witn. 1 cannot tell.

LdCh.Juft. Did you fee them pulldown any

Houfe? What did you hear them fay?

Witn. They faid, Down with the Bawdy-Houfes.

Ld Ch. Juft. Did you hear them talk of the

Red-coats there ? Was Green amongft them as

one that help'd and acted with them?

Witn. 1 faw him in Moorfields on Monday,

tuefday> and Wednefday, fhout and throw up his

Hat.

third Witnefs.

LdCh. Juft. What did you fee them do?

Witn. All that I faw, was, that Peter Meffen-

ger came along with the Colours in his Hand,

and I took him and carried him to Prifon my
felf : I did not hear them cry, Down with ho-

neft Houfes, but Bawdy-Houfes : I did not fee

all thofe, but only thefe two, (pointing to two
at the Bar.)

Ld Ch. Juft. Ay, that was the Captain and the

Enfign.

Fourth Witnefs, Henry Bull. My Lord, I fa

this Beajley and Meffenger in Moorfields, pullir

down Houfes on Monday, and on tuefday at tl

Head of three Hundred -, and at that time v

routed them. On Wednefday they came wii

four or five Hundred, and cry'd, Downwithti

Red-coats.

James Martin, Fifth Witnefs.

LdCh.Juft. What can you fay?

Witn. All I know is, Beajley made a Blow;'

our Enfign, and ftruck at him with his Swon
LdCh. J. What was their Pretence?

Witn. I cannot tell that.

Another Witn. I faw thomas Appletree help t
f

pull down Peter Burlingham's Houfe, and brok

another.

Serj. Wild. What Company had they?

Witn. About Three hundred.

Ld Ch. J. Had they any Colours ? What dii

you hear them declare?

Witn. I heard them declare nothing, for I ha!

like to have been knockt on the Head.

Ld Ch. J. to the Prifoner Beajly •, Well, whfi

do you fay for your felf ? you hear it is fwor

againft you, that you were at the head of th

Rabble, and they call'd you Captain, and yo

led them up 3 and when the Conftable camet

command Peace in the King's Name, you fe

on him, and wounded him, fo that he is hard

ly able to be here this Day: Why did you ga

ther this Multitude together ? It will behov

you to make your Anlwer ; what Reafon ha

you for it?

Beajly Prif. I do not know the Reafon.

Ld Ch. J. I fpeak to you, that you fhoul

give a Reafon : After all this Trouble that w
have had in this Nation, it is a fad thing that

great Number of giddy-headed People muft ga

ther together, under Pretence of Reformatio!:

to difturb the Peace of the Nation again •, if yo

can fay no more for your felf, there will be lit

tie trouble with you.

Serj. Wild. What was the meaning of your ga

thering together?

Beajley Prif. We went to pull down Bawdy

Houfes.

LdCh. J. How did you know which wcr

Bawdy-Houfes ? If you had known them, yoi

might have indicted them, there is a Law againl

them 3 but this is a ftrange kind of Reformation

if a Rabble come, and fay, This Man is a Pa

pift, and this keeps a Bawdy-Houfe, and woul

pull it down } this is a mad Reformation.

Meffenger Prif. My Lord, that Man hasfwon

I was out on tuefday, it was Wednefday before n

came forth ; but (laid at home with my Wife

becaufe I would not be among them.

LdCh. J. Did not you carry a green Apro:

on a Pole for your Colours ?

Prif. My Lord, as I pafs'd along by th

Rout, they flung a Bottle at me, and had lik

to have knockt mc down, and tore my Apio

off, and charg'd me to carry it on a Pole* an

I would fain have come away from them, an

could not.

LdCh. J. Make this appear, that you woul \

fain have got away, and that they did force yo

to do what you did, and I fhall be glad of it.

Prif. There is none of them here n^w tfe

were there then.

L
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Ld. Ch. J. Then all that you fay is of little

I Ufe j for it is no great thing to make a Lye to

! lave one's Life.

Prif. God is my Witnefs

Ld. Ch. J. Have a care what you fay.

A Conftable {Witnefs) fworn.

Ld. Ch. J. What fay you of thefe four at the

Bar ?

Conft. My Lord, I heard they were pulling
'' down Houfes, and 1 did what I could to pre-

ferve the King's Peace ; and that Day 1 did fave

a great many Houfes and Goods. The next Day

they were near my own Houfe, and I did en-

deavour to do the fame, and this Fellow with

'his Company did furprize my Men, and knock'd

me down ; yet I commanded the Peace, and

they befet me round about, and cut me over

the Hand : I do remember that Beafly. We
"were in a Place where there were three Turn-

ings, but they knockt me down, and beat me

fo, that I could not tell who it was that did hurt

me.
Ld Ch. J. Do you know any more of this

^Company ?

Conft. No, my Lord : for if the Soldiers had

not come, they would not have left 'till they had

kill'd me.

Counf. Had you your Staff?

Conft. Yes ; but they took it away from me.

!
Another Witn. I faw Meffenger on Tuefday, tho'

he fays to the contrary.

LdCh.J. Meffenger, you hear what is laid a-

gainft you ; you fay you were not out on Tuef-

day: He hath fworn you were at the Head of a

Company, with a green Apron on a Stick, and

led them up.

iPrif.
I was not there.

Henry Bull, Wit. I faw him, my Lord, on

Tuefday, he and Beafly, about Eleven of the

Clock in Moorfields,&nd they had gather'd a great

Multitude offour or five Hundred, and then they

made an Attempt to come into our Parifh, and

they cry'd, Doivn with the Red-coats.

Me/finger, Prif. Pray, my Lord, let my Wit-
neffes be called in, for they fwear falfe.

LdCh.J. Your Witneffes (hall be call'd. A
little of due Confederation before-hand would
lave done you more Good than now.

Mr. Glover, and Mr. Bennet, the Prifoner's

Witneffes.

Ld Ch. J. "What fay you concerning the Pri-

foner ?

Glover. I can fay, my Lord, he was 'till Five

of the Clock on Wednesday at Mr. Bennet's Houfe
in Golden- Lane.

LdCb. J. Where was he on Monday and Tuef
Vay.?

Glover. I know not.

Bennet. On Wednefday he was at a Kinfman's
Houfe.

j

LdCh.J. Thefe two Witneffes give no Ac-
count at all of you, where you were on Monday
and Tuejday.

i LdCh.J. Greene, what fay you?
Greene. I was not among them.
Vol. II.

Ld Ch. J. It is fworn you were amongft
them, and threw up your Cap. Were you not
knockt down ?

Prifoner. Yes, my Lord.
Ld Ch. J. How could you be knockt down if

you were not a ongft them ?

John Cowley Witnefs.

J. Ch.J. Did you not fee Greene in the Mul-
titude?;

Cowley. I faw him do nothing •, but I faw him
with a Staff in his Hand. I did not fee him ace

any thing but follow the Colours.
Greene Prif. 1 was not among them but as I

came home.
LdCh.J. You mean you did not take part

with them, but you were there ; it is fworn you
were upon Tuejday following your Capuin and
the Colours ; it is fworn by Mr. Bull you were
among the Rabble, and were knockt down : now
if the Jury do not believe that you did act among
them, we will leave it to them.
LdCh.J. Appletree, what fay you?
Appletree. As I was paffing along (my Lord)

I faw a Croud, and I went to know what was the

Matter, and there came a Company down, and
fome running after me did me a Mifchief; I did

not fee the Conftable, nor fay, Knock him
down.

Ld Ch. J. It is fworn that you were the fir ft

Man that ftruck the Conftable, and that you
were at the pulling down of Burlingham's Houfe.

Prif. I did not offer to pull down his Houfe,
nor ftrike the Conftable.

Abraham Brooks, Witn. My Lord, he was in

Peter Burlingham's Houfe, and broke it down fo

that you might have ridden a Horfe thro' it; I

fpake to him two or three times to leave off,

and if I had not ftoop'd fuddenly he had ftruck

me down with a Bedftaff.

Cowley Wit. I did fee him on Tuefday with
their Company, and I did fee him ftrike at the

Conftable.

Ld Ch.Juflice, to the Jury. Gentlemen of the

Jury, you have heard what thefe fay •, the Prifo-

ners are indicted for High-Treafon, for levying

of War againft the King. By levytng of War
is not only meant, when a Body is gathered to-

gether, as an Army is, but if a Company of Peo-

ple will go about any publick Reformation, this

is High-Treafon, if it be to pull
Cg j„

downlnclofures, for they take upon
them the Regal Authority i the Way is worfe

than the Thing. Thefe People do pretend their

Defign was againft Bawdy-Houfes j now fo.r

Men to go about to pull down Houfes, under
the Pretence of Bawdy-Houfes, with a Captain,

and an Enfign, and Weapons ; if this Thing be
endur'd, who is fafe? It is High-Treafon, be-

caufe it doth betray the Peace of the Nation,
for every Subject is as much wrong'd as the King ;

for if every Man may reform what he will, no
Man is fafe: therefore this thing is of defperate

Confequence, we muft make this for a publick

Example : There is reafon we mould be very

cautious, we are but newly delivered from Re-
bellion, and we know that that Rebellion firft

began under the Pretence of Religion and the

Law, for the Devil hath always this Vizard upon

it j we know that thatRebellion began thus,there-

fore we have great Reafon to be very wary that

F f f f 1 we
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we fall not again into the fame Error, but it

fhould be carried on with a watchful Eye. And
becaufe Apprentices hereafter fhall not go on

in this Road, we'-will have the folemn Refolu-

tion of all the Judges, and therefore you are to

find it Specially. You muft find the Matter of

Fact, and we will affemble all the Judges toge-

ther in a fober way, to give their Judgment,
whether it be High-Treafon or no; not that

we do doubt of it now, for we know it is High-

Treafon, but for general Satisfaction. It is proved

that Beafley went as their Captain, with his

Sword, and flouriih'd it over his Head j Meffen-

ger was there with his Green Apron on a Pole

in Moorfields on T'uefday, and on Wednefday he

was in the fame Pofture again.

Prifoners. My Lord, we would have our Wit-

nefles heard.

Ld Cb. J. You fhall have no Wrong done to

you.

As for Green, it is prov'd he was with them

fhouting, and calling up his Cap : now the Act

that any one does in fuch a Tumult is the Act

of all, if they all join together. He was ontuef-

day following there, and on Wednefday he was

taken. And then for Appletree, he was the firft

Man that ftruck the Conftable, and pull'd down
Burlingbam's Houfe.

Edmund Bedle, Ricbard Latimer, to the Bar.

Bill of Inditlment. You that are now call'd, be-

ing mov'd thro' the Inftigation of the Devil, and

having not the Fear of God before your Eyes,

have withdrawn your Obedience to our Sove-

reign Lord the King, and againft him did ima-

gine and contrive War and Rebellion the 24th

Day of March,-w\ih four or five hundred Perfons

in a Warlike Manner, array'd with long Pikes

and other Arms, there met and aiTembled againft

the Peace of our Sovereign Lord the King, his

Crown and Dignity, £jV.

Witnefles fworn.

William Badley,

William Riggs,

Jobn Maldey,

John Williams.

Kings Counfel. Gentlemen of the Jury, Bedle

and Latimer ftand indicted for High-Treafon j

wanting that Love and Obedince that every

Man ought to have of his King, did, the 24th

of March, affemble themfelves together, to the

Number of four or five Hundred Perfons, to levy

War and Rebellion : If we prove this, you muft
find them guilty of High-Treafon.

Goaler of Finsbury Prifon, Witnefs, fworn.

Counf. Tell my Lord what you faw.

Witn. I can charge no particular Perfon, I

was from Home j and when I came home I

found the Prifon-Doors open, and they had let

out their own Company and two others j and I

lock'd up the Prifon-Doors, and they gather'd

together about the Prifon, and there came their

Captain with his Half-Pike, and commanded
me to open the Door. I told them I would not
open the Door. They told me, we have been
Servants, but we will be Mafters now ; and if

you will not open the Door, we will do your

Bufinefs for you by and by. They had Swords,
and Belts, and Half- Pikes, and they did pufh at

me j and I came to a Parly with them when I

faw there was no Remedy. I let their Captain
in, and when he could find none of his Company
there he went away} but had it not been for

the Company that flood without, 1 would have
kept him faft enough.

Another Witnefs fworn.

Ld Cb. J. Were any ofthefe that ftand at the
Bar, at Clerkenwell, with a Stick in his Hand ?

Witn.Ycs, my Lord, I faw Latimer there knock-
ing at the Gate, and the Prifon was broke open,
and there came down Juftice Welfh to them to

difperfe them ; but they let out two of their

own Rabble, and two of the Felons.

Another Witnefs fworn. Nine of the Clock on
Friday, I went to the Gate of the New-Prifon,
and they came and clapt a Bar in between the

Gates to open them, and I faw Latimer throw-
ing Stones at the Windows. Juftice Welfh being

there, would have taken fome of them ; and they

cry'd out, One die, and all die.

William Riggs, Witnefs, fworn. I faw Bedle, and

took him j their Number was about four or five

Hundred ; and I got out two Files of Men, and

took four Men more, whereof this Bedle was one
of them.

Judge. What do you fay to this?

Latimer. This Man hath a Spite againft me,

my Lord ; for getting up behind the Coach, I

let my Whip fall and gave him a Lafh.

LdCb.J. But what fays the other againft

you ? What made you there ? And Bedle, what
do you fay for your felf ?

Bedle Pr
if.
My Lord, I was in Southwark, and

came from thence to Bifhopfgate-Street, and met
with a Friend, and we drank four Flagons of

Beer, fo that I got a little too much Drink in

my Head, and I flood and look'd a-while at the

Prifoners at Bijhopfgate ; and my Uncle coming
along, I went with him a little way, and then

turn'd about and left him. And there was a

Man came and faid, Brother, will you not go ani

fee what they do in the Fields ? and it was my hard

Fortune to be among them, but did not and

Hurt, bleffed be God ; but I follow'd them

without doing any Harm, and they, went down
Old- Street to Clerkenwell ; but I did not break

the Prifon, nor do not know where the Prifon

is j for there was a Company made up to them,

and they began to run.

LdCb.J. What did you fay when they run

away? Did you not fay, Face about?

Prif. Your Lordfhip heard fo, but I did not

fay, Face about.

LdCb.J. You Gentlemen of the Jury, you

fee what their Indictment is : They gather'd a

multitude together at Clerkenwell, and they had

a Captain with a Half- Pike, that came to the

Prifon and forc'd open the Door, and brought

out two of their own Crew, and two of the Fe-

lons; and they faid, they had been Servants be-

fore, but now would be Mafters; and they

cry'd out, One die, and all die. And you have

three Witneffcs that fwear, that thefe two were

there, Latimer efpecially. The Keeper fays, he

was forc'd to come to a Parly with them, and

took in their Captain, to give him Satisfaction

that there was none other there of their Gang.

Bedle
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Bedle fays he was there, but he was drunk, which

is no fufficient Excufe.

and others, for High-Treafon.

Richard Cotton,

John Earles,

JPilliam Wilde*

Richard Farrel,

William Ford, Call'd

to the Bar.

Their lndi&ment read,

.Sir Philip Howard, Witnefs, /worn.

Ld Ch. J. Sir Philip, fpeak what you know of

thefe Men.
Sir Ph. I deliver'd thefe Men into the Confta-

ble's Hands.

Counf Did not you fee a Multitude of thefe

People gather'd together in a Warlike Way ? if or never

but notwithftanding they came up to the Wind-
mills, and flung Stones amongft us.

Capt. Wilding, Witnefs, fworn. My Lord, we
did defire them, by fair means, todifperfe them-
(elves, and go home ; they told me, No, They
•would be with us ere- long at White-hall.

Another Captain fworn. My Lord, I was fore'd
to make fome Refinance, but they flung Stones
very thick at us, faying, Theje Life- Guard Rogues
are but a few, and becaufe i commanded one of
my Officers to feizeon one of them, they cry'd,
Knock down the Rogue.

Anotherfworn. My Lord, I defir'd them to
go homej their Anfwer was That we were Rogues
and Dogs, and ere long they would come and pull

White-hall down: and their Word was, Hey, now

fo, tell my Lord.

Sir Ph. There came fome fober People and

told me that the Tumult was greater than it was

when my Lord Craven was there, and they did

defire my Affiftance j and fo 1 went into the

Fields, and divided my Men half on the one

Side, and half on ihe other: and the People

look'd upon us fo contemptibly, that they told

! us we mould quickly be unhors'd ; therefore I

i charg'd my Men not to let any Man come

i within my Arms.

Ld Ch. J. Had they any Colours ?

Sir Ph. They had a Sheet for their Colours,

and when they faw my Horfe they g t into the

;
Field, and Hood as if they did not fear us ; and

|
I order'd fome of my Men to go and take him

that had the Colours, and fo our Men did} and

i I call'd for a C onftable, but there was no Con-

; liable to be found: and I thought my felf to

govern them, and to bring them into better Or-

, der. At length this Man came with his Watch,

and I deliver'd them into his Hands, and I be-

lieve thefe are the Men that 1 deliver'd to the

\ Conftable.

Sir Edward Fi(h,Witnefs, fworn.

Counf. Pray, Sir, look upon the Prifoners, and

fee if you know any of them.

Witn. 1 cannot fay that thefe were any of the

Perfons that we did take, but there was a Mul-

titude of them gather'd togther, and we did

defire them to go home ; and they took up
Brick-bats in their Hands, and faid, They had as

much to do there as we had. I took a Hanger
from one of them my fclf, which is here in the

Court.

Robert Hoydon, Witnefs, fworn.

Counf. Tell my Lord what you heard this Rab-
ble of People fay.

Witn. There came a Troop, and they thought

S
it had been the Duke of York's Troop, and they

ran with Brickbats in their Hands to them, and

faid, That if the King did not give them Liberty of

Conscience, that May-day mufl be a btoody Day.

Another Witnefsfworn.

LdCh.J. Speak what you know of thefe

People.

Witn. My Lord, they ask'd ifthe Duke of York

was there, and Anfwer was made, Yes, think-

ing they would have been fatisfy'd and diipers'd j

Conftablefworn. My Lord, I had thefe three
at the Bar > but Wilde was none of them, point-
ing to the third.

Ld Ch. J. You fay the other were.
Conftable. Yes.

Pike and Gillington, Witneffes, fworn.

Pike. I did fee this Cotton breaking down Bur-
lingham's Houfe.

Gillington. I can fpeak < f the tall Man, Cotton,

I will fwear he was one oi- them.
Ld Ch J. Sir Philip Howard fays he deliver'd

Five to the Conftable, and the Conftable fays

he does not know whether th^fe be the Perfons
or no, but it is the fame thing if they were a-

mong thole that did it.

Serj Wilde. Yea, the thing is the fame.

LdCh.J. You hear the ndidtment is for High-
Treafon, you are Perfons of the fame Company.}
what do you fay for your felves ?

Prifoners. We were not there.

Serj Wilde. The Conftable fwears it.

Conftable I cannot fay, thefe were they, but
two of them, Farrel is one.

Prif. I was walking to IJlington, and I did march
a little way with them, but did nothing.

LdCh J. Where wereyou taken?

Prif By Hollowell- Lane, and I was all alone,

and a Horfeman rode after me, and ask'd me, if

I were not one of them.

LdCh.J. All the Conftable can fay, is this,

There were Men deliver'd to him from the

Guard, and this Man does not deny but that

the Guard took him, but be did nothing j but
many People a^e walking abroad in the Holy=
day i it is Pity to take away a Man's Life with-
out fufficient Evidence.

LdCh. J. Farrel, What do you fay ?

Farrel. I was with my Father and Mother all

the Holidays.

LdCh. J Cotton, What fay you ?

Cotton. I came through Moorfields about Noon,
and I was taken hy one of the Lite Guard.

Serj. Wilde. But you were pulling down a

Houfe.

Witn. He was pulling down a Houfe on Mon-
day, I was inform'd, and he was commonly a-

mongthe Playrrs at Pidgeon-holes ; and after

he had been pul.ing down a Houfe, he was look-

ing about to fee what he could light of.

Prif. As I have a Soul to lave he fwears

falfly.

Ld Ch. J, Have a care what you fay.

You
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You Gentlemen of the Jury, here are five

Men more that are indicted for the fame Difor-

der that the reft were, and we have now a little

more Difcovery of their Rifing, and we have

difcover'd other Colours, for they thought the

Duke of York had been in the Fields, and that

enrag'd them the more, they taking Sir Philip

Howard tor the Duke of York ; and when they

did defire them to difperfe themfelves and go

home, they, faid, They would not for fuch

Rogues as the King's Life-Guard were, but they

would foon be at White-hall: but you {hall fee

what a Difguife is put upon it, If the King will

not give us Liberty of Confcience, May-day (haWbe

a bloody Day. This is, Gentlemen, to give us

an Alarm, that we may not be too fecure: And
this muft be punifh'd as High-Treafon, elfe we
do deftroy all. I think no body would have the

Innocent to fufFer : I had rather a guilty Per-

fon mould efcape, than a guiltlefs Perfon fufFer.

You hear the Conftable cannot fwear that all

thofe were the Men, and fome others, becaufe

in fuch a Hurry a particular Perfon cannot be

known : Except you know any of them by

fight, I cannot fee how you can find them

guilty j God forbid.

John Richardfon,

Thomas Limerick,

Richard Woodward,
to the Bar.

Counf. You Gentlemen of the Jury, thefe

three that were call'd laft to the Bar ftand in-

dicted as the others, for levying War and Re-

bellion in Holbourn-y you lhall hear the Evi-

dence, and if we make good the Evidence, you

muft find them guilty.

Willi :m Rogers, fworn Witnefs. My Lord, I

Found this Man at the head of a Party, and I

took him, and committed him to the charge of

a Company.
Ld f

:h. J. Was he leading them on? Are you
fure he was there ?

Witn. He will not deny that he was there, but

he made no I^efiftance at all-, for we had three

or four Companies ready to furprife them.

Mrs. Burlingham, Witnefs, fworn. My Lord,

this was the firft Man that laid hands to pull

down my Houle.

Serj. Wilde. Miftrefs, was yours a Bawdy-
houfe ?

Mrs. Burlingham. No, but they dragg'd mc
out of it.

LdCh.J. Was your Houfe pull'd down?
Husband's Anfw. Yes : And all my Goods de-

ftroy'd, and Ten Pounds in Gold taken out of

my Wife's Pocket.

Another Witnefs fworn.

Judg. What can you fay of Woodward?
Witn. I cannot fay he did take any thing out

of the Houle that 1 know of.

Ld Ch. J. I do not ask you that ; but did he

go along with them, or had he a StafF in his

Hand ?

Witn. That John Richardfon, my Lord, is a

Tapfter-, I heard him fay he had made Work
for us, for he had help'd to pull down a Houfe.

John Hand, Witnefs, fworn. My Lord, on

Saturday laft at fix of the Clock, I heard him in

the red Hair fay, / have made Work for you all,

I do not know what he is.

LdCh. J. What do you fay for your felf?

Limerick, Prifoner. My Lord, I went up to fee

what the Tumult was doing, for I lodg'd hard
by ; and when they had pull'd down the Houfe,
fome run one way, and fome another; and I

was going to Wejlminfter, and as I was walking
up Holboum, the reft of them were at my Heels.

LdCh.J. That was becaufe you was their >

Captain, and dragg'd the Woman out of the
Houfe that fays fhe hath loft all fhe had. Wood-
ward, what fay you?

Woodward. My Lord, Mr. Brooks gave me a
black Pot to drink, and I ftaid no longer than
the drinking of that.

LdCh.J. What, do you fay that Richardfon
pull'd down the Woman's Houfe ?

Prif My Lord, there was a Whore that clap-
ped hands on me, and I wrung my felf from
her, and told her that her Houfe fhould be pull'd
down.
Ld Ch. J. Truly I fee fcarce an Apprentice a-

mong you all, and I am glad of it there is no
more.

Witn. I dogg'd him home to his Matter's
Houfe, but did not lay hold on him.

Prif. I am very innocent of any thing of hurt
that I did.

LdCh. J. Prove it.

Prif. I was alone, How can I prove it ? I was
not all the Holidays abroad.

The Apprentice's Mafter. All Monday he was at

home, and on Tuefday he was at home.
Serj. Wilde. It is impoffible for him to be one

of them ; you mig^t miftake.

L. Ch.J. You Gentlemen of the Jury, in this

Cafe take notice : As for Woodward, they fay he
was there with a Stick in his Hand. I would
have you take notice that there is but one Wit-
nefs : for the other you have his own Brags, if

you will believe him, that he pull'd down a

Houfe, you have no other j if you will believe

him to be a bragging Fool, you may. And
now fax Limerick's Witnefs, he ihall be heard.

The Prifoner's Witnefs.

Ld Ch. J. What do you know of the Prifoner

at the Bar ?

Witn. This Man, my Lord, did lie in my
Houfe, and he did never ftay out after Nine or

Ten of the Clock : He was at home every Night
betimes, and did give me all his Money to lay

up, and he did earn Sixteen Pence a-day.

Another Woman, Witnefs, fworn.

LdCh. J. What can you fay?

Witn. My Lord, I can fay nothing but that

he is a very ho'neft Man.

John Sharpeliffe, Prifoner at the Bar.

His indictment read.

Counf. Gentlemen, he at the Bar (lands in-

dicted for High-Treafon, and ftirring up Rebel-

lion in Poplar at the Head of Five hundred Per-

fons, and pulling down Houfes in Ratclijf-High-

way, which we fhall endeavour to prove.

John Harding, Owen Maxum, WitnefTes call'd,

but came not in againft the Prifoner.

LdCh.J. Genrlemen of the Jury, you know
for Matter of Fact you are Judges : if you are

not
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not fatisfied in the Evidence, then you cannot

iind them guilty. Conlider who thofe Perfons

are, where the Evidence have not given fuffi-

cient Satisfaction.

lhe Sum of the Jury's VerdiSf.

TH E Jury being difmifs'd to confider of

their Verdict, after a fhort flay they re-

turn'd, and found as to Mejfenger, jfppletree, Bea-

jley, and Green, that according to the Time in

the Indictment mention'd, they were met toge-

ther in a riotous manner in Eaft- Smithfield in

Middlefex, and about Moorfields, under colour to

pull down the Bawdy-Houfes. That their Cap-

tain was Beaftey, who led them on with his Sword
drawn, and that they had their Enfign carry 'd

by Mefj'enger, which was an Apron carry'd upon
a Pole, and fo they march'd with their Con-
ductor. That they refilled the Conflable who
charg'd them in the King's Name to keep the

Peace, and (truck him, and took away his

Staff; and that thefe feveral Perfons were Abet-

ters in that Tumult.

And as to Bedle and Latimer, they found that

a great Number of People were met together

arm'd with Swords, Clubs, and Staves, &c. at

Clerkenwel-green, to break New- Prifon there; and

had their Commander, who had a Pike in his

Hand, and came to New- Prifon, and releas'dthe

Prifoners, fome whereof were committed for

Felony; and that when they were commanded
to be gone, they cry'd out that they had been

Servants, but now they would be Matters; and

that thefe Perfons were (cen acting in the Tu-
mult, and there taken

As for Cotton, they found, that the riotous

Perfons were met together upon the 24th of

March with a great Number of People arm'd

with their Swords, and fuch-like warlike Wea-
pons, for pulling down Bawdy-houfes : that

when Sir Philip Hoivard with the King's Guards
came up to them, and commanded them to de-

part, they refus'd; and when it was given out

that Sir Philip Howard was the Duke of York,

thinking theieby they would be appeas'd, they

were enrag'd the more, and declar'd, that if the

King would not give them Liberty of Confer-

ence, they would make May-day a bloody May-
day » threatning to pull down Whitehall; and

very contemptuoufly flighted the King's Guards,

becaufe they were butafmall Number: and this

Cotton was prov'd to be one of them in the

Action, and all along acting in the Riot.

And further, as to Limerick, he was met with

the fime Pretence of pulling down of Bawdy-
houfes, being arm'd as the reft were, and was
own'd by the Rabble to be the Captain of their

Company: That he with his Companions pull'd

down the Houfe of Peter Burlingham, and ltole

his Goods. The reft were found Nor guilty.

The Jury having thus found it Specially, my
Lord Chief Juftice commanded the Prifoners again

to the Bar, to whom he fpoke to this Effect

:

That we all now fee what great Caufe we have

to blefs God, that we live under fo merciful a

Prince, and fo good a Law as we now find we
do live under; and that not only one Prince

hath been fo merciful, but fuch has been the

Gracioufnefs of other former Kings of England,

that we fhall rarely find any Severity us'd in the

execution of Penal Statutes, where any fair

means (which conftantly hath been us'd) could
have any Effect at all. That our Juftice is not
privately but publickly adminifired in the fight

of all People, like a Beacon that gives warning
to all ; fo that all might take notice thereof,

and avoid- the like Danger that others have fal-

len into. That the Prifoners more cfpeciaily

ought to blefs God, and ferioufly to reflect with-
in themfc Ives this great Mercifulnefs ofour King,
and Law : for here by they fee they have not
,been ferv'd fo as they have ferv'd others (for

then upon the very apprehending of them they
might have receiv'd their Execution) but con-
trariwife, they have had a fair Trial, not by
Strangers, but by their own Country and
Neighbours, having had the Liberty to fpeak
what they could for themfelves, and Witneffes
for them, fo that if it were poflible all might
have been found innocent; and he heartily

wifh'd ail could have been fo found ; and that
fome, bleffed be God, are not found Guilty, and
to them he hop'd this would be a fufficient

Warning, &c.
Now as to all thefe Eight, againfl whom the

Verdict was fpecially found, the Court took fur-

ther time (becaufe they would advife thereof)
before they would give their Judgment whether
High-Treafon or no, it being declar'd by my
Lord Chief Juftice to be Matter of Law ; and i n
the mean time thefe Perfons are to remain in

fafe Cuflody in his Majefty's Goal at Newgate.
And for the other Six, viz.

John Earls,

William JVilks,

Richard Woodward,

Richard Farrel,

John Richardfon,

William Ford;

The Jury found them Not guilty, and fo ac-
quitted them of the Offence whereof they flood
charg'd, who after feveral Admonitions by the
Court for their future good Behaviour, were
difcharg'd.

The Lord Chief Juftice KelyngV
Report ofthe Judgment ofthe Judges
in relation to the aforefaid Trial.

\JlEmorandum, That at the Sef-

IVl fions at the Old Baily, after
Ke]yn

-- ?°-

Eajler, in the Twentieth Year of K. Charles II.

feveral diffolute Perfons having on Eafter Tuefday
and Wednefday next before affembled together,

and led by Perfons whom they call'd Captains,
and having Colours, viz. Aprons, &V. on Staves,

went to feveral Places on pretence to pull down
Bawdy-Houfes, and break open Prifons and fee

Prifoners at Liberty ; and having actually pull'd

down fome Houfes, and broke up the Prilon at

Clerkenwell, and let out four Prifoners there,

were by the Direction of the King's Counfel,

viz. Mr. Attorney, Sir Jeffery Palmer, having
Order to proceed againfl them, he directed four

Indictments to be preferr'd againfl them who
were taken, viz. one Indictment againfl Peter

Mejfenger, Richard Beaftey, William Green, and

Thomas Jppletree, and another Indictment agiinft

Edward Cotton, and a third againfl Edward Be-

dle and Richard Latimer, and a fourth againfl

Thomas Limerick. All the Indictments were, that

they with other Perfons to the Number of yoo,

unknown
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unknown to the Jurors, being arm'd in a war-

like manner with Swords, Half-pikes, Halberts,

long Staves, and other Arms offenfive and defen-

sive with Force and Arms, unlawfully and trai-

teroufly affembled themfelves together, and le-

vied War againft the King, &c. And firft I told

them they had not done well to make fo many
feveral Indictments, for by that means the

King's Evidence would be broken ; whereas if

all had been put into one Indictment, the Evi-

dence as to the main Defign would have beeri

intire againft all: and then the affembling in

feveral Places to the fame Intent had made the

Matter more foul, and would have been aptly

given in Evidence againft: them all to the fame

Jury, and the feveral Acts which each of them
did, would have come in better. But however

we proceeded upon the Indictments as they

were; and after the Evidence given againft the

four in the firft Indictment, when I came to

give Directions to the Jury, I told them that

altho' I was well fatisfy'd in my own Judgment,
that fuch affembling together as was prov'd, and

the pulling down Houfes on pretence they were

Bawdy-houfes, was High-Treafon, becaufethey

took upon them Regal Power, to reform that

which belong'd to the King by his Law and

Juftices to correct and reform j and it would be

a ftrange Way and mifchievous to all People to

have fuch a rude Rabble without an Indictment

to proceed in that manner againft all Perfons

Houfes, which they would call Bawdy-houfes,

for then no Man were fafe ; therefore as that

way tore the Government out of the King's

Hands, fo it deftroy'd the great Privilege of the

People, which is not to be proceeded againft,

but upon an Indictment firft found by a Grand-

Jury, and after upon a legal Trial by another

Jury, where the Party accus'd was heard to

make his Defence ; yet I told them, becaufe the

Kings of this Nation had oftentimes been fo

merciful, as when fuch Outrages had been here-

tofore done, not to proceed capitally againft the

Offenders, but to proceed againft the Offenders

in the Stir-Chamber, being willing to reduce

their People by mi!der Ways if it were poffible

to their Duty and Obedience} yet that Lenity

of the King in fome Cafes did not hinder the

King when he faw there was need to proceed in

a feverer way, to take thac Courfe which was
warranted by Law, and to make greater Exam-
ples, that the People may know the Law is not

wanting fo far to the Safety of the King and his

People, as to let fuch Outrages go without ca-

pital Punifliment, which is at this time abfo-

lutely neceflary, becaufe we our felves have feen

a Rebellion rais'd by gathering People together

upon fairer Pretences than this was : For no
fuch Perfons ufe at firft to declare their wicked-
eft Defign ; but when they fee that they may
effect their Defign, then they will not flick to

go further, and give the Law themfelves, and
deftroy all that oppofe them. But yet becaufe

there was no body of the Long Robe there but

my Brother Wilde, then Recorder of London,

and my felf, and that this Example might have

the greater Authority, I did refolve that the

Jury fhould find the Matter Specially, and then

I would procure a Meeting of all the Judges of

England, and what was done fhould be by their

Opinion, that fo this Queftion might have fuch

a Refolution as no Perion afterwards mould have

reafon to doubt the Law, and all Perfons might
be warn'd how they for the time to come mingle
themfelves with fuch Rabble on any kind of fuch
Pretences: and thereupon the Jury as to the

firft four in the firft Indictment gave a fpecial

Verdict to this Effect, viz.

They find that the 2.4th of

March laft, a great Number of / st'"*1%*
Perfons, to the Number mention'd £?." pptaS*
in the Indictment, were affem- Beafley, and

'

bled in Eajl- Smithfield and Moor* Green.

fields, in the County of Middle-

[ex, with Arms mention'd in the Indictment, on
pretenee of pulling down Bawdy-houfes; thac

Beafley led them, and was called their Captain,

and had in his Hand a naked Sword which he
brandiih'd over his Head j and that Mejfenger
had a piece of green Apron on a Staff, which he
flouriuYd as Colours in the Head of the Com-
pany j and that Beafley and he led the Company
as their Leaders; that they did the like on Wed-
nefday the 2fth of March, and were breaking

down Houfes. That Pevercll, one of the Con-
stables of jWddlefex, having a Conftable's Staff

in his Hand, came to them with other Perfons

to aid him, and charged them to depart and
keep the Peace, and thereupon Beafley with his

Sword ftruck him, and wounded him 5 and fe-

veral Perfons aflembled with him, ftruck him
down, and took away his Conftable's Staff. That
the faid William Green was among them, calling

up his Cap, and hollowing, with a Staff in his

Hand ; and that whilft he was amongft them he

was knock'd down by a Party of the King's Sol-

diers that came to fupprefs them, and was then

taken. That Beafley ftruck at the Enfign thac

led thofe Soldiers. That the faid Appletree was

amongft them both Days, and was the firft that

ftruck at Peverell the Conftable, and was a-

mongft them at Burlingham's Houfe on Saffron-

hill in the County of Middlefex, and pull'd part

of the Houfe down, and the next Houfe to it,

and ftruck at one that admonifh'd him to be
quiet. And if upon the whole Matter, it fhall

feem to the Court that they are Guilty of the

Offence mention'd in the Indictment, then they

find them Guilty, &c.

On the Second Indictment as to

Cotton alone, the Jury did find that s
/
ea

'

al Veriia
1 rr<- j r»i • ,1 alio as to Lot-

at the Time and Place mention d
t0„

in the Indictment, a great Number
of Perfons, to the Number mention'd in the In-

dictment, met together arm'd with Swords,

Clubs, Staves, and other Weapons, under pre-

tence of pulling down Bawdy-houfes, and had

a Cloth on a Staff for an Enfign carry'd before

them. And that Sir Philip Howard, with a

Troop of the King's Guards, found them arm'd

in fuch a feditious Manner, and commanded
them to difperfe; that they refus'd fo to do, and

threw Stones at him ; that fome of them en-

quir'd who it was that led thofe Guards, whe-

ther it was the Duke of York? and being told it

was, they prefently threw Stones at Sir Philip

Howard who led the Horfe; and fome of them

faid, that unlefs the King would give them Li-

berty of Confcience, May-day fhould be a bloo-

dy Day ; others bid kill the Guards, and others

faid, that they would come and pull down
Whitehall, and others faid, they would be with

them
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Special Verdict

en the third In-

diclment, Bedle

and Latimer.

them at Whitehall, (the King's Capital Palace)

!
and that they card not. for. the Guards, for they

\ were but two or three Hundred, and they could

eafily knock them on the Head ; that they con-

tinu'd many Hours, till they were difpers'd by

the Guards. That Cotton, who was indicted,

was one of them afTembled in this manner, and

i

that Cotton was amongft them the next Day when

; they were afTembled in the fame Manner, and

: was pulling down a Houfe in the Parifti of St.

I
Leonard Shoreditch, in the County of Middlefex;

, and if on the whole Matter, &c

On the third Indictment againfl

Bedle and Latimer, the Jury find

that, the Day and Place mention'd

in the Indictment, a great Num-
ber of Perfons, to the Num-

ber mention'd in the Indictment, armed as

in the indictment, did meet together on Clerken~

ivell-Green, in the County of Middie[ex, on pre-

tence of breaking open Prifons, and releafing

Pnfoners } that one of them who had a Hair-

pike in his Hand, own'd himfelf to be their

Captain j that they came (o afTembled together

to a Place there call'd the New- Prifon, being a

publick Prifon of the County of Middlefex, and
then and there faid, that they came to fearch

for Prifoners } and brake open the Prifon- Doors,

and let out four Prifoners, two whereof were
committed thither for Felony, and two for

other Offences} and that they being charg'd to

depart, reply'd, they had been Servants long,

but now they would be Matters •, that fome be-

ing taken, they cry'd, One die, and all die.

That Latimer was amongft them, and active in

breaking of the Prifon, and was with the reft in

the Prifon after it was broken open } and that

Bedle was there, and being purfu'd by one of
the King's Soldiers, call'd out to the reft of the

Company to face about, and not to leave him

:

And if on the whole, {3c

Special VerdiB On the fourth Indictment a-

to Limerick." gainft Limerick the Jury find, that

the Day, Year and Place in the

Indictment mention'd, a great Number of Per-

fons, to the Number, {3 c. affembled together on

pretence of pulling down of Bawdy-houfes } and

being arm'd prout in the Indictment, they march-

ed in warlike Manner, and the faid Limerick led

them as their Captain with a Club in his Hand,
and was own'd by the Company to be their

Captain: That the faid Limerick had the faid

Perfons to the Houfe of Peter Burlingham, and

they pull'd down the faid Houfe, and deftroy'd

and took away divers Goods of the faid Burling-

bam's, to the Value of 30 /. And if on the whole

Matter, (3c

And in Eafter Term following, all the Judges

met at my Chamber, there being then but Ele-

ven. My Lord Bridgeman, who was Chief Ju-

ftice of the Common Pleas, being then Lord
Keeper, the Judges were my ft If, Chief Juftice

of the King's Bench, Sir M. Hale the Chief Baron,

and my Brother Atkins, Brother Iwifden, Bro-

ther Tyrell, Brother Turner, Brother Wyndham,
Brother Archer, Brother Rainsford, Brother Mor-
row, and Brother Wyldc.
And on the whole Matter the Chief Baron

Hale deliver'd his Opinion, that there was no
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Treafon in the Cafe, becaufe he faid that the
Stat. 1 Q^Mary, cap. i z. is, That if any Perfons,
to the Number of Twelve, or more, afTemble
to the Intent to pull down Inclofures, {3c. with
force, and continue together an Hour after Pro-
clamation made for their Departure, it fhall be
Felony} and if thofe Actions had been Treafon
at Common-Law, it had been to no purpofe to
make it Felony.

But all the other Judges anfwer'd, That this

was the Objection made by fome Judges in the
Cafe of Bradfljaw and Burton, which is reported
by Popham in his Reports, /wg. izt, and there ic

was refolv'd, that if any Perfons afTembled with
Force to alter the Laws, or to let a Price on
Victuals, or to lay violent Hands on the Magi-
firate, as on the Mayor of London, and the like,

and with Force attempt to put the fame in Ex-
ecution, this is Rebellion and Treafon at the
Common-Law ; and they there refolv'd, that

that Statute of i Mary was to be intended, where
Perfons, to the Number of Twelve, or more,
pretending any or all of them to be injur'd in

particular, as by reafon of their Common, or

other Intereft in the Land inclos'd, and the like^

afTemble to pull it down forcibly in Cafes where
they have an Intereft, or where in particular

they are annoy'd or griev'd, that is not Trea-
fon : But in cafe their Act goeth generally to

pull down Inclofures, in which they, or any of

them, are not particularly concern'd, this Act,
if it be put in Execution by Force, is Treafon
at Common-Law. And it was agreed by us all,

that the Statute of 13 Eliz. which maketh the

Intention in many Cafes Treafon, extends to

nothing, but where if the Act had been done, it

had been Treafon at the Common-Law.
And therefore all the reft of the Judges did

unanimoufly agree, that this Rifing, with Intent

to pull down Bavydy-houfes in general, or to

break open Prifons in general, and let out Pri-

foners, and putting their Intention in Execu-
tion by Force, any of thefe Pittances was a le-

vying War againft the King, and High-Treafon
at Common-Law, within the Declaration of the

Statute of ty Edw. 3. and for that, befides the

Refolution in Popham\ Reports before cited, we
conlider'd the Cafe of the Apprentices, reported

in the fecond Part of Anderfon's Reports, p. 4, f

.

where it was refolv'd, that by the Statute of

1 3 Eliz. if any intend to levy War for any

thing, which the Queen by her Laws and Juf-

tice ought to do, and reform in Government
as Queen, this fhall be an Intendment to levy

War againft the Queen within that Statute of

1 3 Eliz. And as we faid before, nothing can

be Treafon by the Intention within the Statute,

which had not been Treafon by the Common-
Law, if it had been actually put in Execution.

And fee the fame Book of Anderfon, Part W.pag.

66. and by the Cafe of feveral Perfons in O.v-

fordfhire rifing to pulldown Inclofures in general,

refolv'd accordingly; in which Cafe it was alfo

refolv'd, that if any Perfons rife and afTemble to-

gether, with intent to levy War, the Juflices of

the Peace and Sheriffs may ul'e Force to fupprefs

fuch Rebels, without any fpecial Commiijion or

Warrant, and this by the Common-Law. And
fee Popham's Reports, p.m. and a Refolution of

all the Tudges, 39 Eliz. that any Juftice of the

Peace, Sheriff, or other Magiftrate, or any o-

ther Subjea of the King, may, by the Common-

Gggg Law »
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Law, arm themfelves, to fupprefs Riots, Rebel- found that they were aiding and affifting. But

lions, or refill Enemies, and endeavour them- my fclf, Brother 'Turner, Twtfden, Archer, Rayns-

felves to fupprefs fuch Diflmbers of the Peace: ford, and Moreton, thought the Verdict, as it

But they faid the mod difcrcet way was for eve- was found againft them, to be as full and plain

ry one to attend and affift the Juftices in fuch as any of the relt. For firft, as to Jppletree, the

Cafe, or oiher Minifters of the King in doing Verdict firff. finds in general, that the Number
it: And Cook, PI. Cor . o. If any levy War to ex- in the Indictment were alfemblcd, as in the In-

pulfe Strangers, to deliver Men out of Prifon, di&ment, with an Intent to pull down Bawdy-
to remove Counfcllors, or to any other End Houfes : That Beafley led thfm as their Captain;

pretending Reformation on their own Heads that Meflenger had a green Apron upon a Staff,

without Warrant, this is a levying of War a- which he flourifh'd as Colours; and then that

gainft the King, becaufe they took upon them Appletree, the Perfon now in qucftion, was a-

Royal Authority. And Moor's Reports, pag.6zo, mongft them both the Days, and was the firft

611. in the Cafe of the Earl of Eflex, in wh'ich, that (truck at Peverell the Conftable, and was a-

amongft other things, it was refolv'd, that his mongft them at Burlingham's Hoiife at Saffron-

Attempt with Force to remove the Queen's Hill, and pulPd part of that Houfe down, and
Counfellors was High-Treafon •, and likewife that the next to it, and ftruck at one that admonifh'd

the Earl of Southampton, who adher'd to him, him to be quiet; fo that here are feveral Acts of

altho' he knew of no other Purpofe of the Earl Force found to be actually committed by him in

of Eflex, but a private Quarrel againft fome of purluance of their Defign, and then there is no
the Queen's Servants, yet this was Treafon in need to find him to be Aiding and Affifting: for

him, the Act of the Earl of Eflex being Rebel- that Claufe, we faid, was only necelfary to be

lion and Treafon; and (o it was alio refolv'd, found where the Jury find a Perfon was there a-

that all thofe who went with h:m out of Eflex- mong them, and find no particular Act of Force

Houfe in aid of him, it was Treafon in them, done by him, but only his Prefence, there it is

whether they knew any thing of his Intent or neceffary that they find he was prefent Aiding

not. And Cro. Part I. f8$, in BenfteacTs Cafe, and Affifting. And for the fame Reafons we held

it was refolv'd by all the Judges, That going to the Verdict to be full alfo againft Latimer, bc-

Lambeth- Houfe in warlike Manner with Drums, caufe it was firft found that the Multitude was
and a Multitude, as in the Indictment, to the affembled, as in the Indictment, on pretence of

Number of Three hundred, &c. to furprize the breaking Prifons and releafing Prifoners ingene-

Archbifhop, who was a Privy Counfellor, was ral, which is agreed by all (except the Chief Ba-

Treafon. And, idly, It was refolv'd that the ron) to be Treafon $ and then they find that La-

Juftices of Oyer and Terminer may fit, enquire timer w-is amongft them, and active in breaking

and try Prifoners all in one Day. ^dly, It was open the Piifon at Clerkenivell (where Prifoners,

refolv'd, that the breaking of a Prifon, wherein fome for Felony, and others were let loofej and

Traitors were in durance, and caufing them to that he was with the reft in the Prifon after ic

efcape, was Treafon, altho' the Parties did not was broken open, and foanAct fix'd upon him,

know that Traitors were there. And fo to But altho' fix of us were well fatisfy'd in ourJudg-
break a Prifon whereby Felons efcape, this is ments as to them, >et when I waited on the King,
Felony, tho' they do not know them to be in I acquainted him there was fome Difference in

Prifon for fuch Offence. Note, That Refolution Opinion as to thofe two, upon finding of the

as to breaking a Prifon where Felony, &c. are, Special Verdict ; and altho' the greater Number
muft (as I think) be intended only where the of us were of Opinion, that the Verdict was
Intent was only to break open one Prifon, and well found as to thofe alfo, yet I intreated his

no more ; for if the Defign was to break open Majefty to make ufe of that Difference in Opi-
Prifons in general, and they put that in Execu- nion to fhew his Mercy towards them, the ra-

tion as to one Prifon, that is High-Treafon ac- ther becaufe we had agreed, that as to four of

cording to the Books before cited ; but then on them the Verdict was clearly good as to proceed

the Evidence it muft be prov'd that their Intent to Judgment againft them, and that I hop'd

was fuch, and by fuch Proof as fatisfieth the Jury, would be Example enough to deter others from
After this Refolution in general, we went to the like Practices ; and befides it would appear an

confider the particular Cafes as they were found Inftance of his M.ijefty's great Mercy, that he

upon the feveral Special Verdicts ; and thereupon would not proceed to the laft Extremity againft

it was agreed by all of us, except the Chief Ba- any, where there was not a full Concurrence of

ron, who faid he doubted on the main; That as all hisJudges: which his Majefty was pleas'd to

to Meflenger and Beafley in the firft Verdict, and take very gracioufly, and order'd me to proceed

to Cotton in the fecor.d Special Verdict, and as to accordingly, and fo they two were fpar'd. But

Limerick in the fourth Special Verdict, that the as to Green in the firft Special Verdict, and Be-

Matter, as it was found againft thefe four, was die in the third Special Verdict, we all agreed

High-Treafon in them all, and accordingly they that the Verdict was not full enough as to them,

had Judgment, and were Executed : But as to for us to judge it Treafon in them, becaufe the

Appletree in the firft Special Verdict, and as to Verdict only finds that they were prefent, and

Latimer in the third Special Verdict, there was finds no particular Act of Force committed by

Difference in Opinion amongft us, whether the them, and doth not find that they were Aiding

Verdict was fufficiently found againft them to and Affifting to the reft; and it is poflible one

judge it High-Treafon or not. For befides the may be prefent amongft fuch a Rabble only out

Chief Baron, who was againft all, my Brother of Curiofity to fee : and whether they were Aid-

Atkins, Tyrell, Windham, and JVylde, held that ing and Affifting is Matter of Fact which ought

the Verdict was not fufficient againft thofe two, to be exprefly found by the Jury, and not be lefc

for to give Judgment that they were guilty of to us upon any colourable implication ; and ac-

Treafon ; becaufe, they fiid, it was not exprefly cording' v thefe two were difcharg'd.
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LXIX. The Trial c/Robert Hawkins, Clerk late

'MinifterofChilton^ at theAffizes at A ilesbury,/^r Felony,

ii March, 1688. 20 Car. II. Wrote by himfelf.

PON Tuefday, being the oth of

March, 1668, I went to Ailesbury,

and got thither about Four of the

Clock in the Afternoon, and about

the fame time came in the Reverend

Judges, viz.

Sir Matthew Hale, Knt. (then Lord Chief Ba-

ron of his Majefty's Court of Exchequer, but

now) Lord Chief Juftice of England $ and Hugh
Windham, Serjeant at Law. And upon Wednef-

day the 10th of March the Aflizes began, and in

the Afternoon of the fame Day, Larimore (by the

Advice of Sir John Croke, who had then got

Leave to come to the Aflizes) carried his Bill of

Indidment againft me, to the Grand Jury : Their

Names were as followeth,

John Hill, Gent. Jonathan Tomlins, Gent.

Samuel Grange, Gent. William Barret, Gent.

Richard Cokeman, Gent. John Butterfield, Gent.

Jacob Sale, Gent. William Pedcler, Gent.

Thomas Redding, Gent. John Fosket, Gent.

Thomas Berringer, Gent. John Sare, Gent.

Clement Summerford,Gent.J ohn Merydale, Gent.

John Winter, Gent. Robert Worrel, Gent.

John Burnham, Gent. George Wells, Gent.

Ralph Rice, Gent. In all Nineteen.

Thefe were the Gentlemen of the Grand In-

queft for the Body of the County of Buckingham,

and unto them the forefaid Larimore exhibited his

Bill of Felony againft me; the Sum and Sub-
ftance of it, was as followeth :

The Grand Inqueft for our Sovereign Lord the King

upon their Sacred Oaths prefent, that Robert
Hawkins, late of Chilton, in the County a-

forefaid, Clerk, did upon the 1 Sth of Septem-
ber, in the 2.0th Tear of the Reign of our So-

vereign Lord Charles the Second, by the Grace

of God, of England, Scotland, France, and

Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, &c.
with Force, and Arms, &c. at Chilton afore-

faid, in the County aforefaid, two Gold Rings,

each of them at the Value of Ten Shillings

;

one white Holland Apron, of the Value of One
Shilling Six Pence ; two pieces of Gold, each of

them at the Value of Ten Shillings, and Nine-

teen Shillings in Silver, of the Goods and Chat-

tels of Henry Larimore, in the Parifh and

County aforefaid, then and there being found,

then and there Felonioufly he didftcal, take, and

. carry away, contrary to the Peace, £cc.

Hale, who then fat on the Crown's fide, (or up-
on Life and Death) about Six of the Clock at

Night.

Upon Tluirfday the 1 ith of March, 1668, my
Lord Chief Baron came to the Hall about Eight
of the Clock in the Morning, and the Court
being fct, I rendred my felf willing to be tried

according to the Laws of this Kingdom. And
when the Clerk of the Aflizes faw me bow to

the Court, he then inform'd my Lord, and find,

This is Mr. Hawkins, who (lands indifted for Fe-
lony ; and then the Clerk of the Arraignments
read the Bill, which was fign'd and return'd, as

aforefaid j and then I was let to the Bar, with-

out any other Prifoners.

Clerk of the Arraignments faid, Robert Haw-
kins, hold up thy Hand, which I then did, and
then the Clerk read the Indictment againft me
as followeth.

YO U ftand indibled in Ailesbury, in the County

of Bucks, by the Name of Robert Hawkins,
late of Chilton, in the County aforefaid, Clerk, for

that you the faid Robert Hawkins (not having the

Fear of God before your Eyes) upon the i$th of Sep-

tember, in the 10th Tear of the Reign of our Sove-

reign Lord Charles the Second, by the Grace of God,

of England, Scotland, France, and Ireland, King,

Defender of the Faith, &Cc. with Force and Armst

8cc. at Chilton aforefaid, in the County aforefaid,

into the Dwelling- Houfe of one Henry Larimore

Felonioufly did enter, and two Gold Rings at' the Va-
lue of Ten Shillings each of them; one white Hol-

land Apron, of the Value of One Shilling and Six

Pence j tzvo pieces of Gold, each of them at the Va-
lue of Ten Shillings, and Nineteen Shillings in Sil-

ver, of the Goods and Chattels of him, the faid

Henry Larimore, then and there being found, then

and there Felonioufly you did fteal, take, and car-

ry away, contrary to the Peace of our faid Sove-

reign Lord the King, his Royal Crown and Dig-

nity, &c.

Flow fay' ft thou, Robert Flawkins, art thou

Guilty of the Felony whereof thou ftandeft in-

dicted, or Not Guilty?
Robert Hawkins. Not Guilty, my Lord.

Clerk. How wilt thou be tried ?

Rob. Hawk. By God and my Country.

Clerk. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Court.' Call the Jury, {which the Clerk did]

Crier, Call thefe
}
viz.

This Bill was Signed by the Grand Jury, Billa

Vera, and returned to my Lord Chief Baron
.. Vol.11.

Richard Lambourne,

James Reynolds,-Jun.

Pggg 1 •• Robert
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Robert Hoare, I challeng'd him.

L. C. B. Set him by.

Edward Butler.

Tho. Coles, I challeng'd him.

L. C. B. Set him by.

Richard Heartieft.

Thomas Sanders of Chilton was challeng'd by

Larimore, contrary to Cuftom.

Edward Carter.

John Gopdwyn.

William Porter.

John Ringham.

William Cannon, Jun.

William Welch.

Edward Cope.

Francis Rujhell.

All thefc being in Number Fifteen, but three

of them were challeng'd, two of them by me
(I being inform'd they were no Friends to the

Church of England) and for the third, viz.

Mr. Tho. Sanders, he was challeng'd by Larimore

contrary to Cuftom, without ihewipg any Rea-

son, he being a Neighbour that knew us both,

and the Bufinefs, better than any of the reft of

the Jurors.
r
!L he oUier Twelve were fworn as

followeth,

Clerk. Rob. Hawkins, Bold up thy Hand ; which

1 did.

Marflml. Richard Lambourne, Lay thy Hand
upon the Book •> look upon the Prifoner.

' O U 'fhall well and truly Try, and true Deliver'

ance make between our Sovereign Lord the King,

and the Prifoner at the Bar, whom you fhall have

in Charge according to your Evidence, So help you

God : Kifs the Book. And fo were all the reft

fworn.

Clerk. Crier, count thefe, Richard Lambourm,

James Reynolds, two, &V. Twelve good Men,

and true, ftand together, and hear your Evi-

dence.

Clerk. Crier, make a Proclamation.

O Yes, tfc.

IF any Man can inform my Lords, the King's Juf-

tices, the King's Serjeant, or the King's Attor-

ney, of any Murders, Felonies, or Treafons, done, or

committed by the Prifoner at the Bar, before this

Jnquejl be taken, between our Sovereign Lord the

King, and the Prifner at the Bar, let them come

forth and they pall be heard, for now the Prifmer

at the Bar fiands upon his Deliverance. And all

others bound by Recognizance to give in Evidence a-

gainft the Prijoner at the Bar, come forth and give

your Evidence, or elfe you will forfeit your Re-

cognizances.

Clerk, Crier, call the Witnefles.

Henry Larimore, Sen. the Profecutor.

Richard Mayne, Jun. Conftable.

Tho. Beam/ley, Tithingman
v
Brother in Law to

the fuid Larimore.)

jjodfworth Croke, Efqj (Sir John Crake's eldeft

Son.)

John Cox.

Henry Larimore, Jun. (Son to the faid Lari-

more, near Twenty Years old, and not Bap-

tized.)

Mary Keen.

Joan Beamjly (Sifter to the faid Larimore.)

Margaret Larimore (Wife to the faid Larimore,)

John Chilton.

WilliamCroke, Gent. (Son to Sir John Crake.)

John Boyfi.

Thomas Welch.
Samuel Salter.

John Stop, (Sir John Crake's Man.)
Francis Luce.

William Mantill, alias Miles (Nephew to the

faid Larimore.)

Richard Mantill, alias Miles (Brother-in-Law
to the faid Larimore.)

Tho. Croxton, of Wejlon on the Green, in the
County of Oxon, Yeoman.

Nicholas Sanders.

Chrifiopher Bethum.

Ed-ward Good, of Long Crendon, Clerk, (a Per-

fcn that committed a Riot and forcible En-
try upon my Qiurcb. at Chilton.)

AH thefe (being in Number zz) were Wit-
nefTes procur'd (by Sir John Croke and Larimore)

and fworn againft me.

Clerk. Rob. Hawkins,
[Which 1 did,]

Hold up thy Hand.

Here the Indictment was again Read.

The Clerk fpeaks to the Jury thus. Look up-

on the Prifoner, you that be fworn. You fhall

underftand that the Prifoner at the Bar hath

been Arraign'd upon this Indictment, and there-

unto hath pleaded Not Guilty, and for his Trial

hath put himfelf upon God and the Country,
which Country you are. Your Charge is, to en-

quire whether the faid Robert Hawkins be guilty

of this Felony (in Manner and Form as he ftands

indicted) or Not Guilty •, if you find him Guil-

ty, you fhall enquire what Goods and Chattels,

Lands and Tenements he had at the Time ofcom-
mitting this Felony, or at any time fince ; if you
do find him Not Guilty, you (hall enquire if he

fled for the fame; if you do find that he fled for

the fame, you (hall enquire what Goods and

Chattels, as if you had found him Guilty : If

you find him Not Guilty, and that he did not

flee for the fame, you fhall fay fo, and no more >

and hear the Evidence.

Henry Larimore, the Profecutor, was fworn as

followeth. Mr. Larimore, lay your Hand upon

the Book, look upon the Prifoner.

THE Evidence that youpallgive unto the Court*

and to the Jury, between our Sovereign Lord

the King, and the Prifoner at the Bar, Jhall be the

Truth, the whole Truth, and nothing but the Truth,

So help you God. Kifs the Book.

Here I took Pen, Ink and Paper, to take

Notes at the Bar.

Larimore fad, May itpleafe your Honour, my
Lord, upon Friday the 18th of Sept. in the Year

of our Lord 1668, between Twelve and One o*

Clock at Noon, 1 lock'd my Doors faft, and left

no body in my Houfe, putting the Keys in my
Pocket. I went to a Hemp-plot, about two

Furlongs from my Houfe, to pluck Hemp j where

J, and the reft of my Family, continued till an

Hour
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Hour and halfof Sun-fet, and then coming home*

found my Doors wide open : So I went in, and

run up the Stairs into my Chamber (or upper

Loft, over my inward Chamber where I lie.) t

then hearing a Noife in the Chamber where J lie*

iuft under me, I peeped down through fome of

the Chinks of the Loft-boards, there I faw this

Mr, Hawkins (pointing with his left Hand to-

wards me, but having his Face all that time to-

wards the Judge) ranfackingand rifling of a Box,

in which Box was then, amongft other Goods,

one white Holhni Apron, a Purfe, and in that

Purfe was, at that time, two Gold Rings, each

of them of the Value of 10 s. two Ten-Shilling

Pieces of Gold, and Nineteen Shillings in Silver,

all the which faid Gold Rings, Gold and Silver

(except one fmall Piece of Silver or two) I then

faw this Mr. Hawkins, that is now the Prifoner

at the Bar, take and turn out of this very Purfe,

which 1 do now fhew unto your Honour ; and

he did then fteal and carry away all the forefaid

Rings and Money, with the faid Holland Apron.

All thefe things, my Lord, I faw him take out

of my Box and Purfe, for I was all that time

looking through the Chinks of the Board. And
when Mr. Hawkins heard fome Noife above, I

further faw the Prifoner now at the Bar go out

of my faid Lower Room where my Box was, tnd

glanc'd by the Stair-foot Door, and fo run out of

my Houfe, with a great Bunch of Keys in his

Hand, down my Yard, and hid himfelf inaClofe

where there were fome Beans and Weeds. All

this, my Lord, 1 fawwich my own Eye. More-
over, my Lord, I having a Warrant from Sir

Richard Pigott to fearch for the faid Rings and

Money, &c. I did upon the next Day (it being

Saturday, and the ipth of September) after Mr.
Hawkins had robbed me, call Richard Mayne, Jun.

the Conftablc, and Mr. 1"ho. Beamjly, Tithing-

man, with fome others of our Town, to fearch

Mr. Hawkins's Houfe for my faid Money and

Goods, which the Day before I faw him fteal

from me : But he refuting to open his Doors,

or to let us fearch ; when we faw that, theCon-
ftable broke open his Doors, and then we went
in, and fearching his Houfe, I did then find in

an inward Room below Stairs, in a Basket hang-

ing on a Pin (put amongft Papers and Rags, and

other Trumpery) this Gold Ring, and this Five-

Shilling Piece of Silver. And I do fwear, that

this Ring and Piece of Silver is one of the fame

Rings and Pieces of Silver which the Day be-

fore I faw the Pnfoner now at the Bar take out

of this very Purfe, it being Friday the 1 8th of

September, and an Hour and half before Sun-fet.

This was the Sum and Subftance of Larimore'slL-

vidence, whereupon my Lord Chief B.iron ask-

ed Larimore thefe Qiieftions.

Lord Chief Baron Hale. Are you fure, Lari-

more, that you left your Doors lock'd, when you
went out to pluck Hemp ?

Larimore. Yes, my Lord, I am fure I did.

L. C.B. When?
Lar. Between Twelve and One of the Clock

at Noon, my Lord.

L. C. B. Upon what Day was it ?

Lar. It was upon the 1 8th ofSeptemberhR. paft,

my Lord.

L. C. B. Upon what Day of the Week was

it?

Lar. It was upon Friday^ my Lord.

L. C. B. In what Year was it ?

Lar. It was in the Yearofour Lord i66$, mf
Lord.

L. C. B. Are you fure that your Chamber-
Door where your Box ftood was lock'd at that

time ?

Lar. I cannot certainly tell, my Lord.
L. C. B. Was the Box lock'd at that time?
Larimore to thisQueftion paus'd a while, and

gave no Anfwer.
Marjhal. My Lord defires to know whether

your Box was lock'd at that time when you loft

your Money and Goods out of ir.

Lar. It was lock'd, my Lord.

Clerk. Was it at that time lock'd, by the Oath
you have taken?

Lar. It was lock'd, if itfhall pleafe your Ho-
nour.

L. C. B. Were the Locks of the Doors and
Box broken ?

Lar. My Lord, I cannot certainly tell, but I

do believe that they were pick'd open with fome
Pick- lock or falfe Key.

L. C. B. Did you fee him, that is now the

Prifoner at the Bar, in your Houfe at that time,

and in that Pofture, by the Oath you have ta-

ken ?

Lar. 1 did then fee him that is now the Prifo-

ner at the Bat in my Houfe, my Lord, as I faid

before.

L. C. B. At what time of the Day was it that

you faw him in your Houfe ?

Lar. It was an Hour and half before Sun-fet.

L. C. B. faid to me, Sir, will you ask Lari-

more any Queftions before we call more Wit*
nefles ?

Hawkins. Yes, my Lord, if I may have

Leave.

L. C. B. Sir, you may proceed to youf Que-
ftions.

Hawkins. I humbly thank your Honour.
Hawkins. I pray, my Lord, ask Larimore if

he be fure that I am the Perfon that robb'd

him.

L. C B. Larimore, anfwer to the Queftion.

Lar. Yes, my Lord, I am fure he is the Per-

fon that robb'd me, for I know him very well.

Hawk. Why did you fay before Sir John Croke,

when I was before him, that you could not fay

that I had ftolen them ?

Lar. 1 faid no fuch thing, this all that were
there can juftify.

Hawk. My Lord, I defire to know of Lari-

more if he be fure that it was upon a Friday, and

the i8th of September 1668, and in an Hour and

half before Sun-fet, when he faw me in his Houfe
robbing him.

Lar. replied, that it was upon that Day and

Time, as near as he could guefs.

Hawk. Why (when Larimore found his Doors

open, which he expected to have found lock'd)

did not he call fome of his Neighbours to aflift

him in fearching his Houfe, and to fecure me,

or any other Perfon which he might find rob-

bing him, rather than to run up Stairs by him-

felf to alarm any Perfon that was in his Houfe,

and thereby giving them Opportunity to efcape?

Larimore faid, He did not then fo Well confi-

der of it as now ; but being willing, feeing his

Doors open, ran up the Stairs to know what the

Matter was, and looking through the Chinks of

the Loft, faw rac in his Houfe, as aforefaid.

Hawk.
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Hawk. Larimore, did you fpeak to me when
you faw me, or endeavoured to ftay me ?

Lar. replied, That he was for that time fo a-

mazcd, that he could not fpeak to me.

Hawk. My Lord, I think he is dill in great

Amazement.
Hawk. Was my Houfe the firft, or the only

Houfe you fearched ?

Lar. replied, No.
Hawk. If you faw me commit the Robbery in

your Houfe, why then did you fearch other

Houfes for the Goods which you faw me fleal ?

Lar. replied to this, That he had been robbed

at feveral other times.

Hawk. Why did not you then rather fend out

Hue and Cries to apprehend my Perfon, than

to fearch my "Houfe j and why did not you

charge me with flat Felony before Sir Richard

Pigott, of whom you had your Warrant, if you

faw me rob you.

Lar. to thefe Queftions made no direct An-
fwer.

L. C. B. Mr. Hawkins, will you ask Larimore

any more Queftions?

Hawk. No, my Lord, not at prefent ; but

when I come to my Defence, I hope I lhall be

heard.

L. C. B. You (hall be heard at large, and fo

fhall they.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour.

Clerk. AfT. Larimore, who fhall be next cal-

led?

Lar. Call Henry Larimore the younger.

Clerk. Crier, call Henry Larimore the youn-

ger : who anfwered, Here, Sir.

Marjhal. Lay your Hand upon the Book, look

upon the Prifoner.

Hawk. My Lord, may I be heard a Word ?

L. C. B. Yes Sir, you may go on.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour.
Hawk. My Lord, is it ufual to admit Perfons

that are not Baptized to give Evidence upon a

Trial of Life and Death? for that Perfon which
is now about to be fworn (I fuppofe) is not Bap-

tized.

L. C. B. Sir, a Perfon that is not Baptized

may be fworn, and give Evidences, in Cafes of
Felony.

Hawk. My Lord, I fubmir, but am not fully

fatisfied in it, and if occafion be I (hall crave

Counfei in that Point, it being Matter of Law,
and not of Fa£t.

L. C. B. The Jury may confider of it.

Hawk, My L<->rd, I doubt not but they will

weigh of what Validity the Oath and Evidence
offuch a Perfon is.

Mar. Larimore the younger, Lay your Hand
upon the Book, look upon the Prifoner.

the Evidence that youJhall give to the Court, be~

tween our Sovereign Lord the King and the Prifoner

at the Bar, flmll be the truth, the whole truth;

and nothing but the Zruth. So help you God.
Kifs the Book.

Larimore Jun. My Lord, upon the 18th of Sep-

tember, I came home a little after my Father,

and coming in the Yard, I faw this Mr. Hawkins
(that is now at the Bar) run out of my Father's

Houfe, with a great Bunch of Keys in his Hand,
and run down my Father's Yard, and hid him-

felf in a Clofe with Beans and Weeds •, and when
I came into my Father's Houfe, I asked him
what Mr. Hawkins did there : He anfwer'd me,
that he had done too much there, for he had
robbed him.

L. C. B. What Day of the Week was it ?

Lar. Jun. It was upon z. Friday.

L. C. B. In what Year was it ?

Lar. It was this laft September, my Lord.
L. C. B. Will you ask him any Queftions?
Hawk. Yes, my Lord, if I may be permitted.

L. C. B. You may proceed to your Queftions.
Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour.
Hawk. Larimore, are you fure that I am the

Perfon which you faw runout of your Father's
Houfe ?

Lar. Yes, I am fure that you are the fame
Perfon that 1 then faw run down my Father's
.Yard.

Hawk. What time of the Day was it wher
you faw me ?

Lar. It was an Hour and an half before the
Sun was down.
Hawk. Was your Father within when you

came there ?

Lar. He was within when I came there, and
I asked him as aforefaid.

Hawk. Did your Father fay no more to you,
than what you have related ? and did not he
enquire which way I ran, or went?

Lar. He faid no more, but that you had rob-

bed him.

Hawk. My Lord, and you of the Jury, Is it

likely, that when the Father had feen me com-
mit a Robbery in his Houfe, and the Son com-
ing in immediately upon it, that the Father
would not ask of him which way I went ?

Hawk. My Lord, I have done with him at

prefent.

Lar. Sen. My Lord, pray let Joan Beamjly,

be called next.

Clerk. Crier, call Joan Beamjly.

Crier. Joan Beamjly. She anfwer'd, Here, Sir.

Joan Beamjly, Lay your Hand upon the Book,
look upon the Prifoner, the Evidence that you
Jhall give Jhall be the truth, &c.

Joan Beamjley. May it pleafe your Honour, my
Lord, upon Friday the 1 8th of September laft paft,

about an Hour and half before Sun-fet, as I was
going to Milking in the Street (near Larimore's
Houie) I met Henry Larimore the younger, and
being at that time much troubled with the
Tooth-ach, I told him of it, defiring him to

help me to fome hot Water, for I believed that

might give me Eafe; Larimore reply'd, that if I

would go with him to his Father's Houfe, he
would help me to fome : So going both toge-
ther, we faw this Mr. Hawkins (that is now the

Prifoner at the BarJ run out of Larimore's Houfe,
with a great Bunch of Keys in his Hand, and
run down Larimore's Yard into a Clofe of Beans
and Weeds, and there hid himfelf; and when
we came into Larimore's Houfe, I there heard
young Larimore ask his Father what Mr. Hawkins
did there j Larimore told his Son that he had
done too much there, for he had robbed him.

[When ray Lord Chief Bason Hale heard how,
thefe three WitnefTes agreed in their Evidence,
he faid, Here is enough fworn (if believed) to

hang twenty Men]
Hawk.
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Hawk. 1 doubt not but to clear ray felf, not-

withstanding their Evidence, if I may be heard.

L. C. B. You {hall be heard.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour.

L. C. B. Larimore, have you any more Wit-
neffes

?

Lar. Yes, if it may p!eafe your Honour, a

great many more.

L. C. B. Who are they ? call them.

Lar. Call Richard Mayne, Con (table.

Clerk. Crier, call Richard Mayne, Con (table 5

who anfwer'd, Here, Sir. And being (worn, ("aid

as followed!.

Mayne. My Lord, upon Saturday the 19th of

September lalt pafl, came Henry Larimore Sen. to

me, and giving me a Warrant from Sir Richard

Pigott to fearch, commanded me (amongft o-

thers) to feavch Mr. Hawkins for fome Money
and Goods, which he had loft; and when I faw

his Warrant, 1 went to Tho. Beamfly, Tithing-

min, and charged him, with three or four o-

thers, toaffillme; and coming to Mr. Hawkins's

Houfe, he denying to open his Doors, I broke

them open, and 1 went into his Hou!e, and

Henry Larimore Sen. did find in a Basket this Gold
Ring, and Five-fhilling-piece of Silver (Mr.

Hawains him felf being by whilft he found them)

fo we had him before Sir John Croke, who com-
mitted him to Prifon, and fo on Sunday Morning
we brought him to Ailesbury. This alio was

fworn by Dodfworth Crake, Efqj Tho. Bcamfly,

and young Larimore.

L. C. B. faid to me, Will you ask thefe Wit-
nelfes any Queftions ?

Hawk. Yes, my Lord, if I may be permit-

ted.

L- C. B. You may go on to your Quellicns.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour.

Hawk. Mayne Conftable, did Larimore defire

you to fearch my Houte a'one, and did he then

tell you, that he faw me rob him the Day be-

fore ?

Conftable. Larimore did defire me to fearch fe-

veral Houfes, but did not fiy to me that he faw

you rob him.

Hawk. Where is the Warrant upon which you
broke upon my Houfe? I defire to fee it.

Confl. Here it is.

Hawk. Was it Larimore himfelf that found the

Ring and Five-fhilling-piece ?

Confl. It was Henry Larimore the elder that

found it.

Hawk. Was I in the fame Room when he

found them ?

Confl. You were in the fame Room when he

found them.

Llawk. This was proved falfe, by Mr. Charles

Wilcox and Nicholas Faulkner, which Ferfons kept

me in the Hall, whillt they pretended to find

them in the Buttery.

Hawk. Con(table, why did you compel me
to go before Sir John Croke, which you knew
was my Adverfary ?

Confl. We did not force you before him.

Hawk. This I proved to be fo, by Michael

Reed, Gent. Mr. Tho. Saunders, Mr. Wilcox, Mr.
Goulder, Robert Cafemofe, and many others that

faw it.

Hawk. Conftable, why did you f.dvife the

Jaylor, Mr. Butch, to load me well with Irons ?

Confl. I did not advife him to do fo.

59.
Hawk. Pray, my Lord, as!c the Jaylor, Mr.

Burch, what the Conftable faid to him when he

brought me thither.

Clerk. Mr. Burch, inform the Court what the

Conftable faid to you, when he brought Mr.
Hawkins to you as a Piifoner.

Jaylor. My Lord, when the Conftable deli-

vered Mr. Hawkins to me on Sunday Morning,
he faid, that Mr. Hawkins was a notorious Pick-

lock, and that he was confident he could pick

every Lock about the Prifon, and therefore he

adviied me to watch him narrowly, and load

him well with Irons.

Thomas Beamfly being fworn, his Evidence be-

ing the fame in Effedt with the Conftable's, for

Brevity fake I omit } but I craved leave to ask

him a Queftion or two, which being granted,

were as followeth.

Hawk. Beamfly, Pray what Difcourfe had you
with Mr. Wilcox upon the ipth of September, pre-

fently after my Houfe was broken up, concern-

ing the time when (as your Rrother pretended

to you) he loft the King and Five-fhilling-piece

of Silver ?

Beamfly. He did not remember that he had

any Difcourfe with Mr. Wilcox about that.

Hawk. Did you not fay to Mr. Wilcox, that

your Brother Larimore told you that he had loft

the Stone Ring, and Five-fhilling-piece of Sil-

ver, which (as he pretended was found in my
Houfe) before the difference began betwixt me
and your Brother ; and moreover that your Bro-

ther faid he had an intent to fearch for the fame

a Month before ?

Beamfly replied, that he did not remember any

fuch Difcourfe.

Hawk. My Lord, may I be heard a Word or

two ?

L. C. B. You may go on.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour.
Hawk. My Lord, 1 fuppofe that I can prove,

thefe Particulars.

I. That Larimore toM Beamfly that he had loft

this Gold Ring and Five lhilling-piece of Silver

now in Queftion, before there was any diffe-

rence between Larimore and my felf, which be-

gan in MichaelmasTerm i66j. This was proved

by Mr. Wilcox.

z. And that Larimore confefs'd upon his Oath

before Sir John Croke (upon the ipth of Sept.)

when I was committed, that he loft the faid

Ring and Piece of Silver about a Month before,

which muft be about Aug. 10. This was proved

by Mr. Brown, Faulkner, and others.

3. I can prove that Larimore told Sir Richard

Piggot, when he went for his Warrant to fearch,

that he did fufpect feveral Perfons for robbing

him of th+s Gold Ring and Five-fhilling-piece,

and that I was only one of the fufpected Per-

fons. This Sir Richard Piggot did acknowledge to

be true.

Cut now he fwears that he faw me fteal the

Gold Ring and Five-fhilling-piece out of his

Houfe on Friday the 1 8th of September, an Hour
and half before Sun-fer, 1668.

Hawk. I pray, my Lord, and you that are of

this Jury, take notice of this, and compare the

times out of his own Mouth i but more of this

when I come to make my Defence.

L. C. B. Larimore, have you any more Wit-

neffes ?

Lar.
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Lar. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. B. Call them, who are they ?

JLar. Call Margaret Larimore.

Clerk. Crier, call Margaret Larimore, the Wife
of Henry Larimore.

Crier. Margaret, the Wife of /7<?»r}' Larimore.

She being fworn faid, that, when fhe was a Ser-

vant to Larimore, which now is her Husband,
fhe had feen Mr. Hawkins, at feveral unfeafona-

ble Hours in the Night (when her Mafterwasin
bed) lying lurking in and about her Mailer's

Houfe, Yard, Windows, and Doors, and faid,

that fhe believed he lay there for no good In-

tent.

Hawk. My Lord, may- I ask this Woman a

Queftion or two ?

L. C. B. You may do lb, if you pleafe.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour, I'll pro-
mife you to be brief.

Hawk. At what time was it, Margaret Lari-

more, that you faw me lurking in your Mailer's

Yard as you have faid?

Marg. Lar. It w.ts in the Night-time.
Hawk. But how long may it be fince?

Here Larimore Mar&- Lar -
I can

'

C tclH " mighc
prompts bis Wife, be about the time that my Ma-
•vibuh I told my fler was robbed.
Lord, for ™hicb Hawk. Did you fpeak, or call
he checked him. .

J
r « »

to me, when you law me there ?

Marg. Lar. No, for I was affrighted at it.

This fame was alfo fworn by Richard Mantill, a-

lias Miles, Son-in-Law to the faid Larimore, and
alfo by PJ/illiam his Son, which for brevity fake

I omit farther to relate.

L.C. B. Larimore, have you any more ?

Lar. Yes, my Lord, to prove that this Ring
and Five-fhilling- piece is mine.

L. C. B. Call them, who are they ?

Lar. Efqj Dodfworth, Sir John Croke's eldefl

Son, and Mr. Good, Minifter of Long Creadon,

ray LokI.

Clerk. Crier, call Dodfworth Croke, Efq-j and

Edward Good of Long Creadon, Clerk : both an-

fwer'd, Here, Sir. They both beingfworn, Mr.
Dodfworth Croke laid as followeth, (taking the

Ring in his Hand, turned it up and down, arid

looked very narrowly upon it within and with-

out, and put it upon his Finger, and pulling

it off feveral times in the Face of the Court and

Country, he then inform'd my Lord) That he

was confident, that this was Larimore's Ring ;

and for his Proof and Credit, tells the Court
that he had pawned it to Larimore.

Mr. Good took the Five-ihilling-piece into his

Hand, and fwore, that he being at Buckingham
Seffions lall, about fome Trouble which 1 had
put him to, he then wanting fome Money, did

pawn a Five-fhilling-piece to this ^Larimore for

other Money •, and he deliring of him to take

care that he had the fame Piece again, Larimore

told him that he put a Mark upon it : So feeing

a Mark upon this Five-fhilling-piece, he fwore

that he did verily believe that this was the fame
Five-lhilling-piece which he had pawned to La-
rimore at the Seffions before.

L. C. B. faid to me, Sir, if you will ask the

WitnefTes any Quellions, you may.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour for that

Freedom ; but I do humbly conceive that the

proving of the lall point, viz. that the Ring
and Five-lhilling-piece was either Lirimore\ own

Goods, or pawned to him, is not much material

to my Cafe 5 for I am free to confefs (as much
as 1 can have ground to believe) which is, that

Larimore might have the Ring and Five-fhilling-

piece of Silver in his PofTeffion ; but the Charge
againftmeis, that I Hole them from him, which
1 do flatly deny, and do not doubt of clearing

my felf when I come to my Defence, if I may
be heard.

L. C. B. Sir, you need not queflion but you
fhall be heard.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour, and
crave leave to be heard a Word or two (if it be
not unfeafcnablc.)

L. C. B. You may go on.

Hawk. May it pleafe your Honour, and the
Jury, to take notice that Mr. GW fwears he be-
lieves this to be the Five-fhilling-piece that he
pawned to Larimore lall Seffions at Buckingham*
but I delire to know if Larimore fwears that this

is that Piece which Mr. Good pawned then to
him, for he bell knows.

L. C. B. Larimore, what fay you to that?
Lar. My Lord, I do fwear that this is the

fame Five-lhilling-piece which Mr. Good pawned
to me, the lall Seffions at Buckingham.
Hawk. Then, my Lord, and t!.e Jury, be plea-

fed to obferver That Seffions was held upon the
pth and loihofjuly, i<568, but the Difference
between me and Larimore (for Tithes) was b gun
in Michaelmas-Term, i£'6j, which is near nine
Months before that Seffions j and notwithlland-
ing Larimore did fay to his Brother Beamjly, upon
the icth of September, that he had loft this very
Ring and Five-fhilling-piece of Silver before the
(Difference began, which is impoffible, my Lord,.
as appears by the Oaths of Larimore and Mr.
Good ', for how could he be robbed of that Five-
fhilling-piece nine Months before he had it ?

And that he did fay the very Words to his Bro-
ther Beamjly we have already proved, by the
Teflimony of Mr. Wilcox.

L. C. B. faid, Mr. Hawkins, was this Suit for

Tithes begun by you againfl this Larimore be-
fore the time that Larimore fwears this Felony
was committed ?

Hawk. Yes, my Lord, for I began that Suit

for Tithes in Michaelmas-Term, i66j, and Lari-

more fwears that I robb'd him upon the 1 8th of
September, 1668, which is, my Lord, about a
Year after. My Lord, it is an eafy way thus
fortheFanaticks to pay Tithes ; if they can but
hang up the Clergy, they may ceafe all their

future Pleading for Liberty of Confcience.

Now Larimore began to flumble, andfhew his

Malice in profecuting me unjuflly, by his mul-
tiplying of feigned Felonies, wherewith he did

then endeavour to load me, of which I appeared
innocent.

L. C. B. Larimore, have you any more?"

Lar. Yes, my Lord, Pray c&]\ John Chilton.

Clerk. Crier, call John Chilton.

Crier. John Chilton : who anfwered, Here, Sir %

and beingfworn, my L. C.B. faid to him, Come
Chilton, what can you fay to this Bufinefs ?

John Chilton faid, My Lord, I can fay no-

thing but that I am paid for my Boots.

L. C. B. What Boots ?

Chilt. My Lord, I am paid for my Boots.

L C.B. Our Bufinefs is not nowabout Boots,

but however, come and tell me what thou

meanelt by them ?

Chilt.
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Chil. My Lord, Mr. Hawkins brought me a

pair of Tops, to put new Legs to them, which

I did ; and he coming by my Shop, told me he

wanted his Boots.* I rep'y'd, they were done:

But I being then about to go out, did promife

Mr. Hawkins to lay them in my Window, fo that

he might take them as he went home, which ac-

cordingly he did; and when I came home, I

went to Mr. Hawkins, who at that time was at

Sir John Croke's Houfe, where he contented me
for my Work before we parted : And this is all

that I can fay, my Lord.

L.C.B. What is this to thepurpofe ? Can you

fay any more, Chilton ? If you can, go on.

Chil. My Lord, Mr. Hawkins paid me honeftly

for the Boots : But as foon as he began to de-

mand the Tithes of Chilton, and did fue for them,

then they lay at me Night and Day to have

me charge Mr. Hawkins with flat Felony, for

Healing the faid Boots out of my Shop ; but

I told them, that 1 laid them in my Shop-
Window for him, and did bid him take them
as he came back j and he paid me for my
Work, and therefore I cannot fay he Hole

them.

L. C. B. Who were they that defired you to

charge Mr. Hawkins with the Healing of your

Boots ?

Chil, This Larimore, Mr. Dodfworth Croke^

Richard Mayne the Conftable, Miles and John
Sanders (who is fince dead, my Lord.) La-
rimore here interrupted Chilton, and faid, My
Lord, 1 have five or fix Wicnefles that can

prove that all this is falle which Chilton hath

fworn.

L. C. B. Call them, for I'll hear all, if I fit 'till

Night.
Then Larimore call'd Dodfworth Croke, William

Croke, John Stop, Thomas Welch, Samuel Salter,

and William Sanders ; all thefe being fworn, the

Sum and Subflance of their Evidence was to this

EffecL

That they had heard John Chilton fay that I

had ftolen a pair of Boots from him, to which
Chilton (being then upon Oath) faid, that Mr.
Hawkins did no otherwife than what before I have
fworn •, and he further added, that he never

faid that I had ftolen any thing from him, for

he had no reafon for it.

L. C. B. Did this Larimore deCue you to charge

this Mr. Hawkins with Felony ? And when did he

defire you to do fo ?

Chilton. My Lord, Larimore, and ttft reft that

I have named, defired me to charge Mr. Hawkins
with flat Felony, for ftealing the faid Boots, as

foon as he demanded the Tithes of Chilton; and
they would have forced me to fetch a Warrant
from a Juftice of Peace to fearch for them, and
did further threaten me, in cafe I would not do
it, that Sir John Croke would indift me at the

Aflizes, as one accefiary to the ftealing of my own
Goods.

L. C. B. Was Larimore one of them ?

Chilton. Yes, my Lord, and he faid, that he
would make me fwear that Mr. Hawkins had ftole

my Boots, and for that End did ferve me with a

Subpoena to be here. -Here Larimore the fecond

time interrupted Chilton, and faid, My Lord, this

Fellow (pointing at John Chilton) is hired by Mr.
Hawkins to fwear this.

Chilton reply'd, No, my Lord, lam not hired

by Mr. Hawkins to fwear, but I might have
Vol. II.
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been hired, or borne our, if I would but fwear
that Mr. Hawkins ftole my Boot*, by one Crox-
fione.

L.C. B. How! what is that! hired, or borne
out to fwear ? By whom, and how ? Tell me the
Story.

Chilton. My Lord, lam not hired to fwear by
Mr. Hawkins, but if I would fwear that he ftole

my Boots out of my Shop, I might have been
borne out in fo doing. For Tho. Croxftone, of We-
ftone on the Green, in the County of Oxon, told me
upon Monday laft, it being the 8th ofMarch 1668,
that if I would but fwear what he would have
me againft Mr. Hawkins (viz. that he ftole my
Boots) he would bear me harmlefs; but I repli-

ed, that it went againft my Confcicnce to do it.

I aided farther, that if I fhould be fo wicked as

to fwear it, Mr. Hawkins can prove the contrary
by Mr. William Croke and others; to which La-
rimore replied, that I need not fear what Mr. Croke
knew in that cafe, for he is one of us, and will
not juftify any thing that may tend to our Pre-
judice. I farther told him that I durft not do it

;

for if I fhould, Mr. Hawkins might make me fly

the Country, as Smart did Wheeler : To which
Croxftone replied, that if I would fwear it, he
would bearme out againft the faid Mr. Hawkins
as far as an Hundred Pound would go, and ifthat
would not do, as far as Five Hundred Pound
would go.

L. C. B. How! bear you out to fwear! What
Croxftone is this that would do fo? This is not
likely to be true.

Tho. Croxftone faid, My Lord, I faid no fuch
thing.

L. C. B. I do not believe it to be true.

Chilton run in, and faid, As I live and breathe,
my Lord, Croxftone did fay, if I would fwear that

Mr. Hawkins had ftole my Boots, he would bear
me out, as I faid before, and if I made any doubt
of it he would give me Bond to make good his

Promife.

L. C. B. faid, This is ftrange.

Croxftone. My Lord, I faid 1 would bear him
out in fpeaking the Truth, and no otherwife.

Hawk. My Lord, may I be heard ?

L. C. B. Yes, you may goon.
Hawk. I thank your Honour. My Lord,

pray let me ask Mr. Croxftone two or three Que-
ftions.

L. C B. So you may, go on.

Hawk. Mr. Croxftone, do you confefs that you
did promife to bear out Chilton (as you faid be-
fore,) in fwearing the Truth ?

Croxftone. Yes, Sir, I did, and no otherwife.

Hawk. Was it not about the Boots?

Croxftone. Yes, Sir, it was fo.

Hawk. Did not you defire Chilton to fwear
that I had ftolen his Boots, after that he had
told you I had paid him for them, and thereupon
promife to bear him out againft me, in loo or

fool.

Croxftone. I think you cannot prove it againft

me.
Hawk. I pray, my Lord, and you of this Jury,

confider that this Chilton is one of Larimore's

WitnefTes, and fwears for the King, yet hefwears

that he had given me Orders to take thofe Boots,

and that I then paid him for Legging of them,

and that he had repeated this to Larimore and

Croxftone feveral times; and after all this, Lari-

more and Croxftone, with others, us'd their utmoft

H h h h En-
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rEndeavours to perfuade Chilton to charge me with

.Felony for ftealing them, ^and Cruxftone promifed

him to bear him out in fo doing, as far as roo-/.

;
.Would go, and if that would not do, as far as

tfool. and giye him Bond for his Security, cjtV.

My Lord, if this amounts not to a Subordination,

.I-am,miftaken. But, my Lord, I have two Wit-

iiieflTesjmore to prove the fame againft Mr. Crox-

ftone, and 1 pray that they may be heard.

<L.C.£. Who are they ?

flmyk. Ann Scoly, and John, the Sen of- Mr.

fiho. Sanders. Both thefe being called, juft-fied

,in iCouiFt .what Chilton had fworn againft Mr.

,C.roxfione: Upon which my Lord Chief Baron
Laid to Crcxfione, Come, you did ill to folicite

Perfons to fwear thefe things which you knew
^wei;e .falfe ; and 'tis farther added, that this made
not for the King, but rather for the Prifoner at

the Bar. After all this, a rude Fellow Ethernets

Welch) came in, and faid, My Lord, I did hear

\Chilton fay, that Mr. Hawkins had ftole a pair cC

Boots from him.

L. C. B. What, more Boots foil? Come, Lari-

more, have you any more?
Larimore faid, Yes, my Lord, one Mr. Boyce $

who being fworn, faid, That at a certain time,

he coming into a Houfe at Chilton^ found this

Mr. Hawkins, now the Prifoner at the Bar, and

one James Noble (which Noble was then drunk,

and afleep upon a Bed) and I faw Mr. Hawkins

have his Hand in Noble's Pocket, and the faid

Noble told me, that at that time he loft a Gold
Ring and a piece of Gold out of his Pocket.

L C. B. faid to me, Sir, what fay you to

that ?

Hawk. My Lord, Idefire to know if there be

any Bill or Indictment againft me for it.

Clerk. There is none, my Lord, that I do

know of.

Hawk. I deftre, my Lord, that Noble may be

fworn, if he be here.

Lar. He is not here, my Lord.

L. C. B. Why was not that Noble here himfelf

to profecute?

Lar. I could not find him, my Lord.

Hawk. I defire to know whether Boyce came
hither of his own. Accord, or if he be Subpoena''d

to be here* (if fo) by whom, and who bears his

Charges ?

Boyce. I was Subpoenaed by Larimore^ and he

bears my Charges, my Lord.

Hawk. How long was it fince, Mr. Boyce, that

you faw my Hand in Noble's Pocket, as you faid

before ?

Boyce. It may be near two Years- ago, my
Lord.
Hawk. Did you fee me pick (or take) out of

the. faid' Noble's Pocket, the faid Ring, or piece

of Gold, orany thing elfc ?

Bqyce. I faw your Hand in Noble's Pocket, but

did not-fee you take any thing out of it.

Hawk. Did Noble ever tell you, that I had

pick'd>his Pocket of the faid Ring, or piece of

Gold, or any thing elfe?

Boyce. Noj but faid, he loft them at that

time.

Hawki Btt$ you fay that Noble was drunk at

that time, and if fo, it's poflible- he might be-

raiftaken*

Boyce, So he was-drunk, and aQeep likewife.

L. C. B>. I think you were all drunk.

Hawk. 'Boyce, you might have done well, to
; have tokf Mr. 'Noble' of this, when' he told' you
thathe had loft his Ring and' piece of Gold ; bdt
can you' fay any thing touching LariinOre's bein'u-

robb'd, or do you know that I am the Perfoh
that robb'd 1 him ?

Boyce. No, not I, my Lord, I cannot charge
!him.

Hawk. But 'you fay that 'Larimore Subpoenaed

you to be hei>, and that he bears your Charges? ;

Boyce. Yes, my Lord, arid fo he ddes.

Hawk. Mr. Boyce, if this be'all you can fay
:for Larimore. you will hardly requite his 'Char-

ges.

Hawk. My Lord, may I be heard, as to the
Evidence of Boyce ?

L. C. B. You may go on.

Hawk. I humbly thank your 'Honour.
Hawk. This Boyce faezrs, my Lord, that about

two Years laft paft he faw my Hand in 'Nobl's

Pocket, and that Noble told him, he then loft a

Gold Ring and a piece of Gold. My Lord, I

think (with Submiffion to your Honour and the

Court) I am not bound to anfwer to this Charge,
becaufe there is no Indictment exhibited againft

me for it, nor is Noble himfelf hire to profecute,

or can Boyce fwear that I pick'd Noble's Pocket,
or that Noble ever told Boyce I did (as he himfelf

fwears.) But, my Lord, I obferve in this the Malice
of Larimore 's Heart, as well as in that of the Boots

;

for Boyce fwears that he can fay nothing to Lari-

more' s Bill of Robbery, and yet he forces himj

to come from London hither, to ftart a fenfelefi

Story about Noble's Ring and Gold, which is of
near two Years (landing. My Lord, if there

had been any Truth in it, why was hot Noble
himfelf here to profecute it? And why did he lei

it reft fo long ? I fay again, my Lord, if it had I

been true that I had pick'd Noble's Pocket, and
if Larimore had known it, I pray, my Lord, and"

you of the Jury, what had that concern'd La-
rimorel But, my Lord, 1 am as clear of pick-

ing Noble's Pocket, as I am of dealing Chilton's

Boots, and as clear of both thefe, as I am o£
robbing this Fellow Larimore, that now calls my
Life in queftion: Nay, if he can fairly prove
me guilty of one, I am willing to fufter as guil-

ty of all.

My Lord, I am bold to appeal to your Ho-
nour whether it be a fair Profecution in Lari-

more^ to ftir up Chilton falfly to charge me with
Felony in dealing his Bootsj when I had not

only a Right in them, but alfo Leave from him to

take themi and paid him for his Work, which"

Larimore himfelf knows. Nay, my Lord, if I

had never paid Chilton for his Legs, the Tops be-'

ing mine, by Law it had not been Felony, but

a Trefpafs, b-ecaufe I had Leave from him to'

take them, and a Right in them, the Tops be-

ing mine. And again, my Lord, I appeal to

your Honour, whether it be fair in Larimore lot

him to ride up and down City and Country, to'

bring a Multitude of WitnefTes together that

can lay nothing to his Bill (as Boyce fwears he

cannot:,) If this doth not difcover Malice in a"

Profecutor's Heart, I know not what doth ; and

if that appears to your' Honour and the Jury, to

be in him, how far that ought (as well by Law
as Equity) to fruftrate his Evidence, I am wil-,

ling to leave to your Honour and the Jury, and
'

fo 1 have done as to Boyce 's Evidence.

L. C. B.
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L. C. B. Larimore, have you any more ?

(

Larimore. Yes, my Lord, John Cox, and Francis

)Lucy. They being both fworn :

John Cox faid, My Lord, I being in Mr. Haiv-

kins's Company not long fince, one asked him,

'how he thought to come off at the Affizes: Mr.

[Hawkins reply'd, he cared not much for this Plot

(tho' he fhould be Convicted) for they could but

burn him in the Hand for it, and that he could

bite out.

I

Lucy being fworn, faid, that he heard Mr.

Hawkins confefs, that he owed Larimore if s. but

becaufe he had dealt fo unjuftly with him, he

,would make it coft Larimore fifteen times if s.

before he would pay him.

L. C. B. faid, This makes little to the pur-

pofe.

; Come, Larimore, Have you any more ?

Lar. I think not, my Lord.

X. C. B. If you have any more WitnefTes, call

them, and they fhall be heard, and do not fay,

When I am gone, that your WitnefTes could not

pe heard.

! Lar. My Lord, I confefs they have been fully

!heard, and I have no more to fay.

, L. C. B. faid to me, Sir, you have heard the

Indictment againft you, and the Evidence to

prove if, you have heard the Charge, now fay

what you can for your own Defence, and you

jfhall be heard.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour ; and I

hope, my Lord, becaufe the Evidence is large,

tl fhall have the more time allowed me to make

my Defence > and if fo, I doubt not but fully to

open this Confpiracy.

L. C. B. Do not fear that; for as they have

been heard at large, fo fhall you likewife (God

forbid elle.j

Hawk. 1 humbly thank your Honour, and do

promife to be as brief as conveniently I can :

And as I intend to offer nothing but the naked

Truth, fo I will fay no more (\f I am not mif-

inform'd) than J can prove to be true. And,

my Lord, becaufe ic may feem neceffary for me

;to offer many Things by way of Defence, in

anfwer to fo great a Charge j to fave time, I

pray that it may not be expected by your Ho-

nour, or the Jury, that I mould call WitnefTes

to prove every Particular: But when 1 offer

: fuch Things as are moft material, if either your

Honour, or the Jury, be not fully fatisfied touch-

ing the Truth of fuch material Points, I do

humbly pray, that I may be called upon to prove

them •, lor when I am not called upon for Proof,

I fhall, under Favour, my Lord, take it for granted

that I am believed. And for Method herein, if

I may have leave, I do intend this.

i. In General, to fhew how improbable it is,

I

that I fhould be guilty of this Robbery, and alfo

deliver fome Hints to move the Court and Jury

to queftion whether this Profccutor (Larimore) fuetb for Tithes,

nerah but more particularly, he is moft envious
and malicious againft myfelf, becaufe I fued him
for Tithes, and caufed him to be indicted for not
coming to Church, or Baptizing his Children:
For which Reafon his Malice againft me hath
appeared notorious feveral Ways, as, amongffc
others,

I. By difluadingall that owed me any Money,
not to pay me.

z. By his inducing thofe to whom I owed
Money, to Arreib and trouble me.

3. By diffuading thofe that I fued for Tithes,
not to agree with me; he promifing them,
that Sir John Croke and himfelf would force

me to run the Country, ere-long.

4. By his continual tormenting, and vexing
me with his falfe Arrefts, and illegal indict-

ments.

f. By his conftant Endeavour to difTuade my
Friends from any ways relieving mc, or
mine, in my greateft Wants and Neceffitics,

advifing them to ftane us.

My Lord, and this Jury, if your are not fully

fatisfied in any of thefe Particulars that I have
alledged, I am ready to prove them ; but if this

be granted, they are no doubt fuffkient Argu-
ments to prove the Malice of his Heart. Again,
1 fay, that it is no ways poiTible that Larimore
was robbed at all j and of this Opinion are moft
of his Neighbours round about him, as may ap-
pear by this Certificate, which followeth.

E do humbly Certify, That Henry Larimore

of Chilton, in the County of Bucks, La-
bourer, is a notorious Anabaptift, an Enemy to the

Church of England, and a perfecl Hater of all Mi-
nifiers of the fame, but in particular, moft Invete-

rate and Malicious againft Robert Hawkins, Clerk,

late Minifter of the Church of Chilton afotefaid;

for that he doth not only feek and defign utterly to

ruin the faid Mr. Hawkins himfelf, but makes it

his Bufiinefis, and daily Prablice, to inftigate others

to do the like, and for no other Caufe, as he hath

often confeffed himfelf, but for that the faid Mr.
Hawkins hath caufed him to be Inditled for not

coming to Church, and fued him for Tithes : Anil

we do verily believe, and are fully fatisfied in our

Confidences, that the faid Mr. Hawkins is not at

all guilty of the pretended Felony, in filealing the

Ring, and piece of Silver, which the fiaid Larimore

hath charged him with, but that it is meer Contri-

vance inchoated, and fiet on foot by the fiaid Lari-

more, Sir John Croke, and others, on purpofie to

revenge themfielves. And we do alfio believe, that

the fiaid Mr. Hawkins is a very honeft Man, and

that he is a very able Minifter, and a true and faith-

ful Labourer in God's Word, and never heard that

he was ever fufipeclcd in the leaf of Felony, "till this

Malicious Profiecution, which is by the fiaid Lari-

more, and others, whom the fiaid Mr. Hawkins

was robbed at all, or no.

And idly, More particularly to examine the

Evidence, as to Matter of Fact.

L. C. B. Go on, Sir, to your Defence.

Hawk. May it pleafe your Honour, and you

of this Jury, I begin with the firft part of my
Defence, which is to hint how unlikely it is*

that I fhould be guilty of robbing this Larimore.

1. Larimore is generally known to be a noto-

rious Anabaptill, and an Enemy to the Church

of England, and a Hater of the Miniflry in ge-

VOL. II.

Witnefs our Hands, March 8, 1668.

Michael Read, Gent.

William Read, Gent.

Mrs. Bulftrode, Widow.
Mr. John Bulftrode

John Turner

Jofcph Parfions

Nicholas Faulkner

Mr. William Bulftrode

John Chilton

H h h h

The Widow Pavcrell

Robert Sanders

Chriftopher Hinton

John Mortimer, fen.

Mr. John Daniel

Mr. John Clarke

The Widow Clare

William Landfdell

William Bouden

£ John
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John Newman
Thomas Coles

The Widow Newman
Robert Barlow
Theophilus Sanders

John Sanders

'John Mortimore, jun.

Mr. Henry Golder

Mr. Thomas Sanders

Mr. Henry Lovell

Mrs. Lovell, Widow.
Owen Gibfon

Mr. Tho. Sanders, fen.

Robert Cafemore

Edward Jarvice

Thomas Green

Edward Barker

John Grace

John Freeman

Richard Carr

John Carr

John Acreman
Thomas Whyte
Thomas Ludet

The Widow Meade

s

Richard Toms

Jofeph Nero
Richard Low
John Cu t'ledge

Richard Waude
Theophilus Hinton

Edward Clarke

Jeffery Hart

Richard Budd
John Budd
Thomas Higgs

Roger Gye

Robert Coxhead

William Hitchcock

John Powel
Luke Turner

Richard Badger

John Golder

John Newton
William Collet

John Beckley

Richard Kemp
The Widow Acreman
Robert Flint

William Beckly

Robert Hicks

John Barney

Robert Steele

Stephen Toms
Robert Willet

William Neighbour

Will. Chittle

Henry Parker

William Afh
John Golder, jun.

William Golder

William Tipping

Richard Goodwyn

John Bojley

Mofes Collings

Roger Carr

John Calo

William Hayward
Edward Hollyman

Abraham Quelch

John Pymm
John Carter

William Toms
Robert Budd
William King

Cadwalider Crawton
William Afi
Thomas Whyte, fen.

Thomas Whyte, jun.

David Turner

Jonathan Hand
John Toung

John Bedford

John Norcutt.

By this Certificate, which you fee fubferibed

with above an Hundred Names, wherein many
others (for brevity fake) arc omitted, altho' I

made no ufe of it upon my Trial j yet the World
may fee what an Opinion Larimore's Neigh-
bours had concerning him, and his (pretended)

Robbery ; which Certificate I have for that

Purpofe here inferted.

2. It is not likely that Larimore was robb'd,

becaufe he did not declare it to his Neighbours

immediately, which doubtlefs he would have

done, had any fuch thing befallen him.

3. Nor is he certain (as to the time,) when he

was Robbed.
For 1. He told his Brother Beamfly, that he

had loft the Ring and Five-fhilling-piece (in

Queftion) before there was any difference be-

tween him and I: As may appear by this Certi-

ficate, under Mr. Wilcox's own Hand, which is

as folioweth.

THESE are to Certify all whom it may con-

cern, that Thomas Beamfly of Chilton, Ti-

thingman,toldme, Charles Wilcox, of Long Cre-

don {upon September 19, in the 10th Year of his

Majefty's Reign, An. Dom. 166E) that the Five-

fhilling-piece of Silver, and the Stone-ring, which

Larimore pretended he found in Mr. Hawkins'.?

Houfe, were both loft before there was any difference

between the faid Larimore and the faid Mr. Hawk-
kins } and he further added, that his Brother La-
rimore told him, that he had an intent to fearch

for the fame Ring and Five-fhilling-piece, above a
Month before he did. This I can, and will depofe,

whenfoever I
'

/hall be thereunto required.

Witnefs my Hand
Oclob. 1, 1668. Charles Wilcox.

By this Certificate, it appears (by Larimore's

own Confeffion to his Brother Beamfly) that he

had loft this Ring, and Five-fhilling-piece, be-

fore there was any difference between him and
I ; and feeing I began my Suit for Tithes in Mi-
chaelmas Term, 1667, againft him and others,

as it is well known to the Inhabitants of Chilton,

(and alfo may appear by the Records of the Ex-
chequer.)

This is the firft time, that Larimore faid he
had loft the Ring, and Five-fhilling-piece.

And that this is falfe, muft needs appear, by
what Mr. Good and Larimore have already fwom
in open Court, viz. that Mr. Good pawned the

Five-fhilling-piece to Larimore at Buckingham
Seffions laft, (which Seffions were held upon the

9th and 10th of July, 1668.) which is near nine

Months after the difference began.

And moreover, Larimore confeffed upon his

Examination before Sir John Croke, when I was

Committed, (which was upon the ipth of Sep-

tember, 1668) that he had loft the Ring and

Five-fhilling-piece a Month before, which muft
(confequently) be about the rpth of Augufl,

16*68. And if fo, how is it poffible that he

could have loft them before the difference began
betwixt us, which was above ten Months be-

fore?

3. He now fwears in open Court, that he

faw me fteal the faid Gold Ring, and Five-fhil-

ling-piece of Silver, out of his Houfe, upon Fri-

day the 1 8th of Sept. 166%, (precifely) an Hour
and half before Sun-fet j all which times being
compared together, can no ways be poffible ;

for which, I dare appeal to all that hear it. Nor
is it likely, in cafe he could prove that he was
robb'd (which I am confident, he never can)

that I am the Perfon that robbed him j as may'
appear upon thefe confiderations, amongft o-

thers.

1. Is it likely that I fhould commit a Robbery
in my own Parifh, (in the day time) where all

that faw me muft needs know me, and at the

Houfe of fuch a Perfon as this Larimore is, that

had folemnly fwore (but a little before) that he
would take away my Life, as may appear, by
what his Son faid to Anne Scholy?

z. Is it probable, that if I were Guilty, I

would not have made my Efcape, having twenty
four Hours time, and four or five Hours notice

after they firft attempted to fearch my Houfe?
Or that in all that time, I could find no better

place, to conceal a Ring, and Five-fhilling-

piece, than in a little Basket with two or three

Eggs» (which all that time was hanging upon
a Pin.)

Again, if Larimore faw me rob him upon the

1 8th Day of Sept. 1668, (as he fwears he did)

why did he not then fecure me? He fwears I

ran away, why did not he fend out Hue and
Cries, to difcover, and apprehend me ? But the

faid Larimore was fo far from doing it, that he

never
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never declared it to any of his Neighbours, nor

to the Conftable, when he commanded him to

fearch, as may appear as well by the Search it

felf, (in that they fearched other Houfes before

they fearched mine) as by the Conftable's Oath,

who fwears, that Larimore faid not any thing to

him, that he had ken me rob him, nor did the

faid Larimore declare it to Sir John Croke, for if

he had, Sir John (no doubt) would have infert-

ed it in the Mittimus, which he hath not donej

Nor did he declare it to Sir Richard Pigott, from

whom he fetch'd his Warrant to fearch, as may
appear by the Contents of it. Whereupon, my
Lord Chief Baron Hale calling to the Conftable

for the Warrant, (which being deliver'd) the

Judge (himfelf) immediately efpied, that the

find Warrant bore date a Day before the Rob-
ber}' was committed ; which when my Lord
obferved, he asked Larimore if he fetched this

Warrant to fearch for this Ring and Five-fhil-

ling-piece; to which Larimore replied, he did ;

and then my Lord asked Larimore upon what
Day he was Robbed, he replied, upon Friday,

the 18th of September, 1668.

L. C. B. How comes it then to pafs, Larimore,

that the Warrant bears date the 17th Day, and

you fwear, that the Prifoner at the Bar did not

Rob you till the 18th Day ? This is likely to be

true.

Larimore to this replied, that he was robbed

at feveral other times.

Hawk. (My Lord) may I be heard a word ?

L. C. B. You may go on.

Haivk. I humbly thank your Honour. And
I hope the Jury will take notice how Larimore

hath enfnarcd himfelf, by the date of the War-
rant, which my Lord firft difcovered. And where-

as Larimore replies, that he was Robbed at feve-

ral other times, he may have credit, (but by thofe

only that can believe all that he hath faid and

lworn For he faith that he was robbed be-

fore he and I differed, which mud be before

Oclober, 1667, and he told Sir John Croke like-

wife (when 1 was committed) that he was rob-

bed of the forefaid Goods but a Month before,

which muft needs be about the icth of Augufi',

1668, but now he fwears in Court, that he faw

me ileal thefe Goods on Friday, the 18th of Sep-

tember 1668, which muft needs be impoffible,

that I fhould rob him at three feveral times of

the fame Ring and Five-fhilling-piece; and be-

sides this, it is improbable, that he fhould be

robbed before, Oclober 1 667, and again in Aug.

1668, becaufe he never declared any of thefe

Robberies to any Perfon, before the 16th of

Sept. 1668, upon which Day, he and Sir John
Croke concluded upon this Confpiracy, as here-

after we fhall make appear; And moreover La-
rimore (himfelf) confeffed even now, that he

fetch'd this Warrant to fearch for this very Ring
and Five-fhilling-piece (which now he denies.)

By this, all may fee, how notorioufiy he con-

tradicts himfelf.

L.C. B. faid to Larimore, Thou art very cun-

ning, to be provided with a Warrant, a day be-

fore you was robbed. It feems you knew upon
the 17th day, that you fhould be robbed on the

1 8th day, and alfo, that this Perfon (now at

the Bar) fhould Rob you. Surely, you can Di-

vine. Here the People began to cry out fhame
on Larimore.

L, C. B. faid to me, Sir, but if you were in-

nocent of this Robbery, why did you refufe to
open your Doors, or to have your Houfe
Search'd ?

Haivk. My Lord, I had feveral Reafons,, that
moved me fo to do.

1. In Genera], moft of thofe Perfons, that
were prefent, were my inveterate Enemies, and
feveral of them had threatned to ruin me, and
my Family ; and therefore, I had reafon to fu-
fpect, that they came to injure me, either in

my Poffeffion, or Goods ; For the firft, Sir John
Croke, and Larimore, had often threatned to pull
down my Houfe, and for that end, had hired
feveral Perfons to make a Forcible Entry upon
it, and particularly, they had lately hired Jaires

the Son of Leonard Styres of Thame, (in the Coun-
ty of Oxon) by a Ladder to climb up, and run
down my Chimney, and open my Doors, when
we were all Abroad : And about the fame time
they alfo contracted with one Chriftopher Tyler
of Chilton for the fame purpofe. And z. I feared
the feizing of my Goods by the faid Perfons, be°
caufe they had then a Writ of Levary (or Exe-
cution) to feize them, which Larimore'?, Son had
a few days before in part executed, and he was
then prefent ; And if thefe reafons are not fuffi-

cient, I have more to juliify my act, in refu-
fing to have them fearch my Houfe, which was
all (my Lord) I ever denied, for I then declared
my felf willing that Mr. Sanders the other Con-
ftable, (he being then at the next Door) might
charge whom he pleafed, and fearch as narrowly
as he could.

L.C. B. faid, Mr. Hawkins, can you prove
what you have faid ?

Hawk. Yes, my Lordj which Particular fhall

I prove?

L. C. B. Prove that about the Ladder, if you
can.

Hawk. I pray, my Lord, call John Acreman

:

He being called, did fully juftify what I faid

concerning their intended Forcible Entry, and
added farther, that he did help to fet up the Lad-
der for that purpofe, being called by Sir John
Crake's own Sons, they and Larimore ftanding by
all that time to watch. And touching the fe-

cond Particular, concerning the feizing of my
Goods, Mr. Sheriff himfelf can juftify, that
they had then in their Hands fuch a Writ : (my
Lord) he is in Court, if your Honour pleafe to

call him.

And for the 3d particular, that I fhewed my
felf willing that Mr. Sanders fhould fearch, I can
prove (my Lord) by thefe Witneffes following,

viz. Michael Reed, Gent. Mr. Thomas Sanders, Mr.
Henry Golder, Robert Cafemore, Mr. Charles Wih
cox, and feveral others that were prefent. My
Lord Chief Baron hearing thefe Reafons fully

proved, commended my Difcretion, in not open-
ing my Doors ; and he added further, that he
fhould have done as much himfelf, faying it was
a foul bufinefs ; and the Judge (then looking to-

wards Sir John Croke with an angry Counte-
nance,) faid to me, Sir, is this Sir John Croke

concerned in this bufinefs ?

Hawk. If it may pleafe your Honour (my
Lord) with permiffion, I fuppofe that Sir John
Croke is deeply concerned in this Confpiracy,

and I doubt not but to make it appear to the

World, (if I may be heard.)

L. C. B. You need not fear that, for you fhall

have time j go on.

Hawk,
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Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour j and I

crave leave to call two Witneffes, viz. Mr. Charles

Wilcox, and Mr. Samuel Brown ; both thefe be-

ing called, Mr. Wilcox faid, If it may pleafe your

Honour, my Lord, upon Friday the i 8th of Sep-

tember, 1668, I was at Larimore's Houfe in

Chilton, (from Noon till it was near Night) with

Larimore, a driving of fome bargain about Tiles,

and other things ; and, my Lord, Mr. Hawkins

was not at Larimore's Houfe all that Afternoon,

nor did I hear any thing at all then, that Lari-

more, was robb'd, which (my Lord) I muft needs

have done, if he had been robbed that After-

noon, for I was there.

L. C. B. At what time came you to Lari-

more's Houfe, Mr. Wilcox? take heed what you

fay.

Wilcox, Before Noon, my Lord.

L. C. B. Mr. Wilcox, how long did you (lay

there ?

Mr. Wilcox. Until it was near Night, my
Lord.

L. C. B. Was Larimore with you all that

time?

Mr. Wilcox. Yes, my Lord, for we were a-

bout to bargain for fome Tiles, and other

things.

L. C. B. Are you fure that it was upon the

i8ch of September that you was at Larimore's

Houfe ?

Mr. Wilcox I am fure, my Lord, that it was
upon the 18th of September that 1 was there, and
the Day before Mr. Hawkins's -Houfe was broke
open.

L. C. B. What Day of the Week was it

upon ?

Mr. Wilcox, It was upon a Friday, my Lord,

and Mr. Hawkins's Houfe was broken open on
the next Day, it being Saturday.

Lar. It was upon Tburfday, my Lord, that

Mr. Wilcox was at my Houfe, it was not upon
that Day that my Houfe was robb'd, but the

Day before.

Sir Ralph Verney replied, No, no, Larimore, it

could not be on the Thurfday, that Mr. Wilcox

and you were together at your Houfe, for that

was the 17th Day of'September, and that was the

Day you was bufied in fetching your Warrant
from Sir Richard Pigott.

L. C. B. It is well obferved, Sir, and fo he
was, and therefore it could not be on the Thurf-

day that Mr. Wilcox was with him at his Houfe.

Sir Richard Pigott replied, I am fure (my
Lord) that Larimore, and that Fellow the Con-
ilable, were both at my Houfe upon the 17th of
September, as my Warrant teftifieth.

L. C. B. At what time was it, Mr. Wilcox,

when you came that Day from Larimore's

Houfe ?

Mr. Wilcox. It was about Sunfet, my Lord,
for it was dark by that time I got to my Houfe
at Crendon.

L. C. B. How far is it from your Houfe at

Crendon, to Larimore's Houfe ?

Mr. Wilcox. It is about a Mile and half, my
Lord.

L. C. B. Were not the ways bad at that time?

Mr. Wilcox. No, my Lord, the ways were ve-

ry good.

L. C. B. Did not you ftop, or ftay, or meet
with fome body by the way that might hinder

you?

Mr. Wilcox. No, my Lord, I went a good
pace, it being near Night, my Lord, I was a-

{raid of being benighted, and yet it was dark
by that time I got home.

L. C. B. You that are of the Jury, do you
know this Mr. Wilcox, of what credit is he?

Jury. We have known him a long time, and
we know no harm by him.

L. C. B. He looks with an honeft Face, and
you Larimore, do you know what that honeft
Man, Mr. Wilcox, fays ? do you know him ; and
did you ever fee him at your Houfe?

Lar. Yes, my Lord, I know him well.

L. C. B. Larimore, do not you remember that

he was at your Houfe on Friday the 1 8th of Sep~

tember, 1658?
Larimore replied, No, my Lord, fure it was

not upon that Day that I was robbed.

My L. C. B. Hale replied, Larimore, No, in

my Conscience thou fay'ft well, for it feems you
were not robbed upon the fame Day, that you
have fworn you faw the Prifoner at the Bar
commit this Robbery.

Hawk. My Lord, or upon any other Day, (as

I do verily believe.) And here many of the

People cried out, that they believed as much.
L. C. B. If that Man Mr. Wilcox fpeaks true,

then all is falfe that Larimore, his Son and Si-

fter, hath fworn, &c.
Come Mr. Hawkins, faid my Lord Chief Ba-

ron, have you any more to fay ?

Hawk. I have one Witnefs more, that I de-

fire may be called, viz. Mr. Samuel Brown.
L. C. B. Yes, yes, call him j come Mr. Brown,

what can you fay ?

Mr. Brown faid, My Lord, I can fay fome-
thing, but I dare not fpeak.

L. C. B. Why dare you not ? Come, fpeak
the Truth, and fpare not, and fay no more.

Mr. Brown faid, I dare not fpeak, for Sir

John Croke and this Larimore have threatned
me, that if I came down to this Affizes, to te-

ftify what I heard about this Plot, Sir John
Croke faid, he would fling me in the Goal, and
load me with Action upon Action of 1000/. and
ruin me and my Family.

When the Judge and the Juftices heard Mr.
Brown relate this, every Eye began to be fixt -

upon Sir John Croke, and the People asked which
was that Sir John Croke ? Then my Lord Chief
Baron Hale commanded the Clerk of the Affizes

to give Mr. Brown a Writ of Privilege, to

protect him home again ; which being imme-
diately done in Court, my L. C. B. faid. Come
Mr. Brown, let us now hear what you can fay

to this bufinefs.

Mr. Brown faid ; If it may pleafe your Honour,
(my Lord) upon Wcdnefday, the 16th of Septemb.

laft paft, (early in the Morning) as I lay in my
Bed at Sir John Croke's Houfe in Chilton, hearing

a great Noife, (I being then intruded by Sir

John Lentall as Keeper to Sir John Croke, which
is a Prifoner at the King's Bench,) I fearing

that they were contriving fome way for him to

efcape, I ftarted fuddenly out of Bed, (having
nothing on but my Shirt,) and flood at the

Dining-Room Door behind the Hangings, and
then, my Lord, I heard this Larimore tell Sir

John Croke that he had undone him, by caufing

him to contend with the Parfon. Sir John
Croke asked him why ? Larimore replied, be-

caufe this Hawkins will undo me, for he hath

entered



entered me into mod Courts of England^ and fum-

moned me into the Crown-Office and Chancery,

and I cannot maintain To many Suits : Sir John

"Crake replied, Is that all ? Come, Brother La-

rimore, be contented, we will have one Trick

more for Hawkins yet, which fhall do his Work.
'Larimore replied, Sir John., you have put me up-

on too many Tricks already, more than I can

manage, and the Parfon is too hard for us ftill.

^fr;%5»Vepfiqd,. [If thou wilt but Act, I will

hatch enough to hang Hawkins.'] Larimore repli-

ed, but how fhall we bring this to pafs ? Sir

'John Croke mnde Arifwer, [Can'ft not thou con-

vey fome Gold or Silver into Mr, Hawkins his

Houfe, and have a Warrant ready to fearch his

Houfe, and then our Work is done.] Larimore

replied, Sir, if we could but bring this to pafs,

it might do well, but I know not how. Sir John
Croke faid to Larimore, Do you but go to Sir Pi-

"chard. Pigott, and inform him, that you have loft

fome Money and Goods, and defire his Warrant
to fearch for them, (which Sir Richard neither

can nor will deny you) and then take Dick Mayne
the Conftable, (who is one of us, and will do
whatever we defire him,) and go and fearch

Mr. Hawkins's Houfe, and there you will find

r.hefe things ; and then charge him with flat Fe-
lony, and force him before me, and no other Ju-

ftice, and I'll fend him to Goal without Bail,

£And we will hang him at the next Affizes.]

Come, (faid Six John Croke) Brother Larimore

let us go and drink our Morning's Draught,
and we will confult more about this Bufinefs.

And fo, my Loid, I heard no more for that time.

But.
L. C. B. That was enough, and too much too,

but however, Mr. Brown, go on.

Mr. Brown. So upon Saturday next, (being the

ipth of Sept. 1668.) I having been abroad (and

towards Night) coming up the Town, I was in-

formed that Mr. Hawkins (as Larimore pretend-

ed) had robbed him : I then began to think

more ferioufly upon what I had heard pafs the

Wednefday before, between Sir John Croke and
1 this Larimore, and coming to Sir John's Houfe,

I law a Paper lying upon the Hall-Table full of

Writing, and Larimore with the Conftable, and

I feveral others, bid brought Mr. Hawkins before

Sit' John Croke, who committing Mr. Hawkins
for Robbing Larimore, as he pretended, took up
the faid Paper and read it to the Conftable, and
f^id, that it was Mr. Hawkins's Mittimus-, which
faid Mittimus was written before Mr. Hawkins
came to Sir John Croke, as all that were there

can juftify. And on Sunday Morning I went to

an Alehoufe, where they had kept Mr. Hawkins
all Night, and there I faw Mr. Hawkins go to the

Goal, and then my Heart began to tremble, and
jet I durft not difcover any thing of what I had
heard -, but coming home, I faid to Sir John
Croke, Sir, What, they have carried the poor
Parfon to the Goal ? Sir John Croke: replied,

[Yes, let him go, and the Devil go with him,

and more fhall follow after ;] have I not often

told you, that if my Brother Larimore and I did

but lay our Heads together, none are able to ftand

againft us? I replied, Yes, Sir John, I have of-

ten heard you fay (o, but I never believed it un-
til now.

L. C. B. Mr. Brozvn, is all this true which you
' have related ?

for Felony. 6cj
Mr. Brown. Yes, my Lord, all that I have

faid is true,, and there fits Sir John Croke (point-

ing to him with his Finger) who knows, that e-

very Word that, I have laid is true.

L. C. B. If bqt ever a Word that Mr, Brown
fays be true, it is as foul a Confpiracy as ever

was heard, of. , ..,
:

.
.•

.
About this time Sir John Croke Hole. .away

from the Bench, without taking his Leave of
my Lord Chief Baron, or any of the Juftices.

1

My L. C. B. faid, Is this Sir John Croke a Gen-
tleman, and contrives fuch Plots as this? I ner
,ver in all my Days heard of the like: But I

think once in this Place, I met with one fomer
thing like it, but this far, exceeds that, if this

be true that Mr. Brown hath faid.

But you of this Jury, there is an honeft Man,
(faid my Lord, pointing to Mr. Wilcox) he over-

throws all i if that be true which he laid, , then

all that is falfe which Larimore, his Son, and Si-

fter hath fworn. 1; ;. r>
, !

'%

Larimore faid„ My Lord, what I have fwcrn,

as to Mr. Hawkins, is. true..
•-•.

. . ;

My L-Cr B. reply 'd, Come, Larimore, thou art

a very Villain.
, M .<

Larimore faid, I wiih that the Ground may
open, and fwa'dow me, if any thing that I have

fworn againft Mr. Hawkins is falfe.

L. C. B. replied, Come, come, Larimore,xho]i
art a very Villain ; nay, I think thou art a De-
vil.

Hawk. I hope your Honour, and this Jury,

are by this time fully iConvinc'-d, that Sir John
Croke is concerned in this Plot* for, my Lord,

he hath appeared all along to be the Grand
Contriver of it, as appears by Mr- Brown's Te*
ftimony, and by what he faid to Larimore before

me and others. See their Charge in thole

Words, ; ;
.

, 2 -0.) , .

- !.',: :. . -: .

.£. C, B. Hale replied, I am fully fatisfied, and

fo (I think) are all that heard it •, And he faid to

the Juftices,. Gentlemen, where, is this Sir John

Croke? They reply!d, He is gone.

L. C. B. Is Sir John Croke gone ? he faid, Gen-
tlemen, I mult not forget to acquaint you (for

I thought that Sir John Croke had been here ftill)

that this Sir John Croke fent me this Morning
two Sugar-Loaves for a Prefenr, praying me to

excufe his Abfence Yefterday. I did not then

know, fo well as now, what he meant by them,

but to fave his Credit, I fent his Sugar-Loaves

back again. Mr. Harvey, did you not fend Sir

John his Sugar-Loaves back again?

Clerk of the Affize. Yes, my Lord, they were

fent back again.

L.C.B. I cannot think that Sir John Croke

believes that the King's Juftices come into the

Country to take Bribes, I rather think, that fome

other Perfon (having a Defign to put a Trick

upon him) fent them in his Name. And fo ta->

king the Letter out of his Bofom, {hewing. it to

the Juftices, faid, Gentlemen, do you know this

Hand? To which fome of them replied, theyibe-

lieved it might be Sir John Crake's own Hand j

which Letter being compared with his Mitti*

mus (for he ;
had no Clerk) and fome other 0$

his Writings there, it plainly appeared to be bis

own Hand. So my L. C. B-. feeing that, (pur-1

ting up the Letter again into his Bofom) laid,

he intended to carry that to London ; and he

added farther, that he would relate the Fou>-

nefs
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nefs of the Bufinefs, as he found Occafions fit fol-

ic.

L. C. B. faid, Mr. Hawkins, have you any

more ?

Hawk. My Lord, I hope that the Jury, and

your Lordihip is fully fatisfied as to my Innocen-

cy, iffo, my Lord j but if not, I humbly defiie

to know wherein I have not given full Satisfa-

ction, and if any thing elfe fhall be alledged a-

gainft me, I humbly crave Time and Leave to

anfwer it ; for, my Lord, I am confident, I can

give a fuller Satisfaction, if what I have laid al-

ready be too fliortJ

L. C. B. You of the Jury, what do you think?

the Prifoner at the Bar defires to know whether

you are fatisfied as to the Indictment; if not,

you may do we'd to declare wherein you are

nat fatisfied.

Jury. It is a very plain Cafe, my Lord.

L. C. B. And I think fo too, but it is a very

foul one.

L. C. B. faid to me, Sir, have you any more?

Hawk. My Lord, I humbly thank your Ho-
nour and the Court, for that great Patience,

and Liberty I have had, and intend to fay no

more, but with Quintilian I conclude, Innocentia

mdior eft quam Eloquentia, Innocence is better

than Eloquence.

My Lord Chief Baron Hale'* Directions to the Jury

were to this Effect.

L. C. B. faid, You that are of the Jurv, the

Prifoner at the Bar Hands indi&ed for Robbing

this Larimore, and you have heard at large both

the Profecutor's Evidence to prove him Guilty

(which if you do believe) I never heard a fuller.

And zdly, You have alio heard the Prifoner's

Defence, wherein (as I think) he hath as fully

anfwered the fame Charge. I fhall, Firfl, repeat

the Evidence againft him, which confifts of two
Branches ; the firft is the Profecutor's Proof of

this Indictment ; and fecondly, his charging him

with other Crimes of the like Nature, as the

flealing of Chilton's Boots, and the picking of

Noble's Pocket.

1. For to prove him guilty of Robbing him,

he obferves this Method :

Firft, He himfelf fwears that he faw the Pri-

foner at the Bar commit the Robbery.

Secondly, His Son and Sifter fwears that they

faw him run out of the Houfe at the fame

time.

thirdly, He brings in four or five Perfons that

fwear the Gold Ring, and the Five-Shilling

Piece, was found in the Houfe of him that is

now the Prifoner at the Bar.

Fourthly and Laftly, He proves by two Wit-
nefles, that the Gold Ring and the Five-Shilling

Piece was pawned to him.

And for the Firft of thefe, Larimore fwears

that upon Friday the 1 8th of September laft paft,

he lockt his Doors, between Twelve and One
of the Clock ac Noon, and went out, (leaving

no body at home) to pluck Hemp, about two
Furlongs from his Houfe, where he ftay'd with

the reft of his Family till within an Hour and a

half of Sunfet j at which time, he coming home,

found his Doors open, and ran up into his

Chamber, and there through the Chinks of the

Loft-boards, he fwears that he faw the Prifoner,

now at the Bar, ranfacking, and rifling of a Box,
in the which was at that time a Holland Apron,
and a Purfe, in which Purfe was two Gold Rings,
two Pieces of Gold, and nineteen Shillings in

Silver, all which faid Rings, Gold, and Silver,

with the faid Apron, he fwears that he did fee

the Prifoner now at the Bar turn out of the faid

Purfe, take, and Felonioufly carry away, except
one Piece or two of the Silver, and fhews the

very Purfe out of which he faw him take them.
If you compare the Evidence with the Indict-

ment, you may fee the Policy of the Profecutor,

For, he would gladly feem a moderate Profecu-
tor, by Indicting him for Felony only, as the
flealing of Rings and Money, fjv. But by his

Evidence, he would as gladly charge him with
Burglary alfo, for he fwears, he broke open or
pick'd the Locks of his Doors, and Box, which
by Law is the fame.

And Seconly, To corroborate this his Evi-
dence, he brings in two Witnefles more, viz.

his Son, and Sifter Beamfly, and they fwear that

they did, at the lame time, fee the Prifoner that

is now at the Bar, run out of Larimore 's Houfe,
with a great bunch of Keys in his Hand, and he
hid himfelf amongft Beans and Weeds : And
note the Keys, to intimate that, by the help of
thofe, he pick'd Larimore's Locks.

Thirdly, He brings in his Son, Dodfworth,
Croke, the Conftable, and Tithing-man, which
all fwear that they found this Gold Ring and
Five-Shilling Piece of Silver in a Basket hang-
ing upon a Pin, in the Houfe of the Prifoner

at the Bar, with a few Eggs, which the Pri-

foner at the Bar the Day before had ftolen

from him.

And Fourthly and Laftly, He brings in one
of Sir John Crake's Sons, and Mr. Good, who
fwear, that the one pawn'd the Ring, the other

the Five-Shilling Piece to Larimore.

Thus Larimiore fwears he faw the Prifoner rob

him, his Son and Sifter fwear that they faw him
run out of the Houfe, the fame time four more
fwear, that they found the Ring and Five-
Shilling Piece in his Houfe upon fearch ; And
Laftly, two fwe.ir that the Ring and Five-Shil-

ling Piece was pawned to him. If all this be
true, he muft needs be guilty, and iffo, altho',

I have a great RefpecT: for his Calling, yet that

fhall no ways txcufe him, but rather aggravate
his Crime.

And thus much touching the Indictment.

And Secondly, He feems to charge him with
other A&s of the like Nature} as.

I. He brings in one Chilton to fwear that the

Prifoner at the Bar did fteal a pair of Boots from
him, and four or five Perfons fwear, that they

did hear Chilton fay he did.

z. He brings in one Boyce from London, a Perfon,

I think, of no great Credit, he fwears, that he

faw the Prifoner at the Bar, about two Years
ago, have his Hand in the Pocket of one James
Noble, and that Noble faid, that he loft a Gold
Ring, and Piece of Gold at the fame time. This,

(if tiue) would render the Prifoner now at the

Bar obnoxious to any Jury. Thus far the Evi-

dence againft the Prifoner at the Bar.

Now we come to the Prifoner's Defence,

which becaufe it is fo full, I fhall be the briefer

in it. The Parts of his Defence were two, as

himfvlf obferved.

i. He
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1. He (hews how too improbable it is.

And z. How impoffible that he fhould be

guilty of this Charge.

Firft, That it is not likely that Larimorc was

robbed at all, becaufe he did not declare it to

any of his Neighbours, as foon as he faw the

Robbery committed j again, he varies as to the

time when it was done, for that he told his Bro-

ther Beamjly, that he had loft the Ring and Five-

Shilling Piece, before there was any Difference

between him and the Prifoner at the Bar, as ap-

pears by Mr. Wilcox, and that Difference began

in Michaelmas Term, 1667: And before Six John

Croke he contended that he had loft this a Month

before the Prifoner (viz. Mr. Hawkins) was com-

mitted, which muft be about the ipth ofAuguft,

1668. And in Court he fwears that he faw the

Prifoner at the Bar rob him of the fame Gold

Ring, and Five-Shilling Piece of Silver, upon

Friday the 18th of September 1668, an Hour and

half before Sunfet j all this cannot be true; and

for the Warrant, that bears Date a Day before

the Robbery was committed : Whereupon the

Judge faid to Larimore, Come, thou art a cun-

ning Fellow, for thou went'ft to Sir Richard Pi-

gott for a Warrant on the 17th Day, and was

not robb'd until the 18th Day, Larimore, thou

Jtneweft, itfeems, upon the 17th Day, thai chou

{hould'ft be robbed on the 18th Day, that the

iPiifoner now at the Bar ihould rob thee: Sure-

ty, thou can'ft Divine, if all this be true. A-
gam, it is likely, that when the Prifoner at the

B*r was charged with flat Felony at his own
|Doors,theConltablelikewife threatning to break

open his Houfeto fearch, if he had been guilty,

Ihis Wife and himfelf having the Opportunity of

going abroad after they had fo Charged him,

while they were gone to confult with Sir John

Croke, as the Prifoner at the Bar fufficiently pro-

ved they did, by the Teftimony of feveral Wit-

nefles, (as Mr. Read, Mr. Sanders, and others)

chat in all that Time he would not have made
his Efcape, or at Icaft found a more convenient

Place to convey a Ring, and Five-Shilling Piece,

:han to let it remain all that time in a little Bas-

ket with a few Eggs, hanging on a Pin? Again,

Who came firft into the Room where this Egg-
,3asket hung ? why Larimore ; and who took

lown the Basket? Larimore; who turn'd out

:he Eggs ? Larimore ; and who had the dreffing

>f the Eggs ? Larimore. He is a fpecial Cook •,

,'ou Gentlemen of the Jury, it is an eafy thing

ox Larimore to juggle a Ring and Five-Shilling

?iece into a Basket, he being the firft that came
nto the Roomj as he put up his Hand to take

lown the Basket, he might with eafe enough
:onvey fuch things as thole were into it. All

his, and many more, are probable Circumftances
10 move you and me to believe, that it is not

aoflible that the Prifoner at the Bar is guilty of

his Robbery; but that I muft leave to you to

:onfider of.

Again, The Prifoner at the Bar proves the

vhole Bufinefs to be but a meer Contrivance of

>ir John Croke's and this Larimore" %, on purpofe

ruin him, as is fully made manifeft by theTe-
timony of Mr. Brown, who juftifics, that upon
Vednefday the 16th of September laft paft, and
ut two Days before this pretended Robbery, he
e.ird Sir John Croke advife this Larimore to fetch

Warrant to fearch the Houfe of the Prifoner

;t the Bar, and then to convey Gold and Silver

Vol. II.

into it ; which having done, charge him with
flat Felony, and bring him before the faid Sir

John Croke, and no other Juftice, he then pro-
mifing to the faid Larimore to commit him to

the Goal without Bail, and hang him at the next
Afllzes, which is now: And, as I take it, they
do aim at it. You of this Jury, if you do be-

lieve what Mr. Brown faith, it is as foul a Con-
fpiray as ever was heard of : And I am apt to

think it may be probable, becaufe that Sir John
Croke and Larimore did threaten to call this

Mr. Brown into Prifon, and fo ruin him, if he
came down and teftified his Knowledge about
this Bufinefs, which thing is of a very ill Confe-
quence. Again, it feems likely that Mr. Brown
may be credited, if you compare their Actions
with the Times ; for upon Tuefday Sir John Ar-
retted the Prifoner upon a feign'd Action of an
100/. Upon Wednesday the Plot was concluded
upon by Six John Croke and Larimore, as may ap-
pear by Mr. Browns Tcftimony. On Thurfday
they procured of Sir Richard Pigott the Warrant
to fearch. On Friday, Larimore pretends that he
was robbed (tho' in Truth there appears no fuch
thing.) Upon Saturday the Prifoner's Houfe was
broke open, and he apprehended j and upon Sun-
day he was carried to the Goal : Ic was a good
Week's Work. But there is an honeft Man, faid

my Lord Chief Baron (pointing at Mr. Wilcox)

he knocks down all; for he juflifies, that he
came to Larimorc's Houfe upon Friday the 18th
of September laft paft (it being the fame Day that

he fwears he faw the Prifoner at the Bar robbing
him, and an Hour and half before Sunfet) and
there continued till it was near Night •, and he

further faith, that Larimore was with him all that

Afternoon. And he faid, that Larimore was not

robbed that Afternoon, nor was Mr. Haivkins

there at that time. If this that Mr. Wilcox faith

be true, then all that Larimore, his Son, and Si-

fter hath fworn muft need be falfe.

And as touching the Boots, Chilton fwears that

he had legg'd a pair of Boots for the Prifoner at

the Bar, and laid them in his Shop-window, for

him to take along with him as he went by,

which he did, and paid him for his Work ; and

yet this Larimore, Sir John Croke, Croxftone, and
others, did ule their utmoft Endeavours, to ftir

up this Chilton to indict the Prifoner at the Bar

for ftealing of them (Croxftone promifing him to

bear him out in it.) This can argue nothing elfe

but Malice in thofe Perfons? And for that

which Boyce fwears, is a Story that can argue

nothing elfe ; for neither is Noble here to profe-

cute, nor can Boyce fwear that the Prifoner at

the Bar did pick his Pocket, or that Noble ever

faid he did.

Thus I have repeated the Evidence to prove

him Guilty, and have not I think omitted any

thing in it that is material. Which ifyou do be-

lieve, he muft needs be Guilty. And alfo the

Prifoner's Defence, which I think is fufficienr.

It is a plain Cafe, and I fuppofe you need not go
from the Bar, but that I leave to you.

And fo the Jury not ftirring from the Bar,

which the Clerk obferving, he called the Jury,

who feverally anfwered to their Names; which

being done, the Clerk of the Arraignments ask-

ed whether they were all agreed upon their Ver-

did.

Jury. Yes, we are all agreed.

Clerk. Who ihall fpeak for you?

I i i i J^y,
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Jury. Our Fore-man.
Clerk. Robert Hawkins, Hold up thy Hand.

Which I did.

Jury, look upon the Prifoner at the Bar, How
fay you ? Is he Guilty of the Felony whereof he

ftands indicted, or Not Guilty?

Fore-man of the Jury faid, Not Guilty my
Lord.

L. C. B. Hale faid to the Jury, You have found

like Honeft Men : I do believe, that he is Not
Guilty. And he faid to Larimore, Thou art a

very Villain.

Jaylor faid, Is Mr. Hawkins, my Lord, dif-

charged of his Imprifonment?

L. C. B. replied, Yes, yes, he is difcharged,

paying his Fees.

Hawk. May it pleafe your Honour, my Lord,

I am poor ; and this, with other Troubles, which
they have unjuftly occafion'd, hath coft me a

great deal of Money already.

L. C. B. I cannot help that, nor can I give a-

way other Mens Rights j if they will not remit

their Fees, you mud pay them.

Hawk. I humbly thank your Honour, and

fhall obferve your Lordfhip's Commands.
And fo the Court arofe, there being no other

Bufinefs but my Trial the whole Morning,
which lafted from Eight until One. Soasfoon
as my Trial was over, Sir John Croke, Larimore%
and the reft of that Crew, fled privately out of

Ailesbury, and duift not ftay.

LXX. The Trial 0/ William Penn and William
Mead, at the Old-Baily, for a Tumultuous Aflembly,

the iff, %d
9 dfih-i and $th of September, 1670. 22 Car. II.

Wrote by themfehes.

PRESENT
Sam. Starling, Mayor.

Tho. Howel, Recorder
,

Tho. Bludworth, Alderm.

William Peak, Alderm.

John Robinfon, Alderm.

><

Cryer.

Yes ! Thomas Veer, —Bujhel, John
Hammond, Charles Mil/on, Gregory

Walklet, John Brightman, William

Plumfied, Henry Henley, Thomas Da-
mask, Henry Michel, William Lever,

John Baily.

The Form of the A T H
" You fhall well and truly Try, and trueDe-

" liverance make betwixt our Sovereign Lord
*' the King, and the Prifoners at the Bar, ac-

" cording to your Evidence. So help you God.

The Indictment fets forth, That William Penn,

Gent, and William Mead, late of London, Lin-
nen-Draper, with divers other Perfons to the

Jurors unknown, to the Number of 300, the

14th Day of Augufl in the zzd Year of the

King, about Eleven of the Clock in the Fore-

noon, the fame Day, with Force and Arms, &c.
in the Parifh of St. Bennet Grace- Church in Bridge-

Ward, London, in the Street called Grace-Church

Street, unlawfully and tumultuoufly did Aflem-

ble and Congregate themfelves together, to the

Difturbance of the Peace of the faid Lord the

King : And the aforefaid William Penn and Wil-
liam Mead, together with other Perfons to the

Richard Ford, Alderman.

Jofeph Shelden, Alderman.

I°
hn S

VA
K

A \Sberiff''
James Ldwards, } M

Richard Browne.

Jurors aforefaid unknown, then and there fo Af-

fembled and Congregated together j the aforefaid

William Penn, by Agreement between him and

William Mead before made, and by Abetment of

the aforefaid William Mead, then and there, in

the open Street, did take upon himfelf to Preach

and Speak, and then and there did Preach and

Speak unto the aforefaid William Mead, and other

Perfons there, in the Street aforefaid, being Af-

fembled and Congregated together, by Reafon

whereof a great Concourfe and Tumult of Peo- )

pie in the Street aforefaid, then and there, 2

long time did remain and continue, in contempt

of the faid Lord the King, and of his Law, to

the great Difturbance of his Peace ; to the great .

Terror and Difturbance of many of his Liege

People and Subjects, to the ill Example of all

others in the like Cafe Offenders, and againft \

the Peace of the faid Lord the King, his Crown j

and Dignity.

What fay you, William Penn and Willie

Mead, are you Guilty, as you ftand Indicted,

in Manner and Form, as aforefaid, or Not

Guilty.

Pen. It is impoflible, that we mould be able

to remember the Indictment verbatim, and there-

fore we defire a Copy of it, as is cuftomary in %

the like Occafions. 14
j

"I!

Recorder? /ut
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Recorder. You mud firft plead to the Indidt-

ment, before you can have a Copy of it.

Pen. I am unacquainted with the Formality

of the Law, and therefore, before I {hall anfwer

direclly, I requeft two Things of the Court.

Firft, that no Advantage may be taken againft

me, nor I deprived of any Benefit, which I

mioht otherwise have received. Secondly, that

you will promife me a fair hearing, and liberty

of making my Defence.

Court. No Advantage {hall be taken againft

you ; you (hall have Liberty 3
you (hall be

heird.

Pen. Then I plead Not Guilty in Manner and

Form.
Clerk. What fayeft thou, William Mead, arc

thou Guilty in Manner and Form, as thou ftand-

eft indittcd, or Not Guilty ?

Mead. I {hall defire the fame Liberty as is

promifed William Penn.

Court. You {hall have it.

Mead. Then I plead Not Guilty in Manner

iand Form.

The Court adjourn'd until the Afternoon.

Crier. O Yes, &V.

Clerk. Bring William Penn and William Mead

|to the Bar.
1

Obfer. The [aid Prifoners were brought, but

\were jet afide, and other Bufinefs profecuted. Where

we cannot choofe but obferve, thati it was the con- pall be the Truth, and the whole Truth, and no-

Hant and unkind Practices of the Court to the Pri- thing but the Truth. So help you God.

\oners to make them wait upon the Trials of Felons

md Murderers, thereby defigning, in all probability, Cook. I was fent for, from the Exchange, to go

hath to affront and tire them. and difperfe a Meeting in Gracechurch-Streetj
.

I After "five Hours Attendance, the Court broke where I faw Mr. Penn fpeaking to the People,

but I could not hear what he faid, becaufe of
the Noife : I endeavoured to make way to take

him, but I could not get to him for the Crowd
of People ; upon which Capt. Mead came to me,
about the Kennel of the Street, and defired me

for when he had done, he

Mead. I have a Queftion to ask the Recorder,
Am 1 fined alio ?

Record. Yes.
Mead. I defire the Jury, and all People to take

notice of this Injuftice' of the Recorder ; who
fpake to me to pull off my Hat ? and yet hath
he put a Fine upon my Head. O fear the Lord,
and dread his Power, and yield to the Guidance
of his Holy Spirit, for he is not far from every
one of you.

The Jury fworn again.

Obfer. J. Robinfon, Lieutenant of the Tower,
difi.igenuoufly objected againft Buihel, as if he
had not kifs'd the Book, and therefore would have
him pworn again j thd' indeed it was on purpofe to

have made ufe of his Tendernefs of Confcience in

avoiding reiterated Oaths, to have put him by his

being a Jury-man, apprehending him to be a Perfori
not fit to anfwer their Arbitrary Ends.

The Clerk read the Indictment, as aforefaid.

_
Clerk. Crier, Call James Cook into the Court,

give him his Oath.
Clerk. James Cook, lay your Hand upon the

Book.

'The Evidence you Jlmll give to the Court, betwixt
our Sovereign the King, and the Prifoners at the Bar,

jp and adjourned to the third Inftant.

The third of September, 1670, the Court fat.

Crier. O Yes, 13c.

Clerk. Bring William Pen and William Mead to let him go on

:o the Bar.

Mayor. Sirrah, who bid you put off their

Hats ? Put on their Hats again.

1 Obfer. Whereupon one of the Officers putting

he Prifoners Hats upon their Heads (purfuant

\ the Order of the Court) brought them to the

bar.

Record. Do you know where you are ?

Pen. Yes.

Record. Do not you know it is the King's

Court ?

Pen. I l<now it to be a Court, and I fuppofe

I
to bo the King's Court.

Record. Do you not know there is Refpcct

iue to the Court ?

Pen. Yes.

Record. Why do you not pay it then?

I
Pen. I do fo.

Record. Why do you not pull off your Hat
hen?

Pen. Becaufe I do not believe that to be any

iefpeft.

\
Record. Well, the Court fets forty Marks a

would bring Mr. Penn to me.
Court. What Number do you think might be

there ?

Cook. About three or four Hundred People.

Court. Call Richard Read, give him his Oath.
Read being fworn was ask'd, What do you

know concerning the Prifoners at the Bar?
Read. My Lord, I went to Gracechurch-Street,

where i found a great Crowd of People, and I

heard Mr. Penn preach to them •, and I faw
Capt. Mead fpeaking to Lieutenant Cook, but
what he faid, I could not tell.

Mead. What did William Penn fay ?

Read. There was fuch a great Noife, that I

could not tell what he faid.

Mead. Jury, obferve this Evidence, He faith

he heard him Preach, and yet faith, he doth not

know what he faid.

Jury, take notice, he fwears new a clean con-

trary thing to what he fwore before the Mayor
when we were committed : For now he fwears

that he faw me in Gracechurch-Street, and yet

fwore before the Mayor, when I was commit-

iece upon your Heads, as a Fine for your Con- ted, that he did not fee me there. I appeal to

:mpt of the Court. the Viavnr himfelf. if this be not true. But no

\ Pen. 1 defire it might be obferved, that we
kme into the Court with our Hats off (that is,

iken off) and if they have been put on fince,

j
was by Order from the Bench ; and therefore

ptwe, but the Bench fhould be fined,

Vol. II. I i i i 2 Pen.

the Mayor himfelf, if this be not true.

Anfwer was given.

Court. What Number do you think might be

there ?

Read. About four. or five hundred.
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Pen. I defire to know of him what Day it

was ?

Read. The 14th Day of duguft.

Pen. Did he (peak to me, or let me know he

was there •, for I am very lure I never faw him.

Cler. Crier, call —into the Court.

Court. Give him his Oath.

My Lord, I faw a great Number of Peo-

ple, and Mr. Penn I fuppofe was fpeaking; I faw

him make a Motion with his Hands, and heard

fome Noife, bur could not underftand what he

faid. But for Capt. Mead, I did not fee him
there.

Rec. What fay you, Mr. Mead, were you

there ?

Mead. It is a Maxim in your own Law, Nemo
tenetur accufare feipfum, which if it be not true

Latin, I am fure it is true Englifh, That no Man
is bound to accufe himfelf : And why doit thou

offer to infnare me with fuch a Queftion? Doth
not this fhew thy Malice ? Is this like unto a

Judge, that ought to be Counfel for the Prifo-

ner at the Bar?

Rec. Sir, hold your Tongue, I did not go a-

bout to infnare you.

Pen. I defire we may come more clofe to the

Point, and that Silence be commanded in the

Court.

Crier. O yes, All manner of Perfons keep Si-

lence upon Pain of Imprifonment Silence in

the Court.

Pen. We confefs our felves to be fo far from

recanting, or declining to vindicate the AfTem-

bling of our felves to Preach, Pray, or Worfhip
the Eternal, Holy, Juft God, that we declaieto

all the World, that we do believe it to be our

indifpenfable Duty, to meet inceffantly upon fo

good an Account i
nor fhall all the Powers up-

on Earth be able to diverc us from reverencing

and adoring our God who made us.

Brown. You are not here for worshipping

God, but for breaking the Law j you do your

felves a great deal of Wrong in going on in that

Difcoure.

Pen. I affirm I have broken no Law, nor am
I Guilty of the Indictment that is laid to my
Charge > and to the End the Bench, the Jury,

and my felf, with thefe that hear us, may have

a more direct Underftanding of this Procedure,

I defire you would let me know by what Law
it is you profecute me, and upon what Law you
ground my Indictment.

Rec. Upon the Common-Law.
Pen. Where is that Common-Law ?

Rec. You muft not think that I am able to run

up fo many Years, and over fo many adjudged

Cafes, which we call Common-Law, to anfwer

your Curiofity.

Pen. This Anfwer I am fure is very fhort of

my Queftion, for if it be Common, it fhould

not be fo hard to produce.

Rec. Sir, will you plead to your Indictment?

Pen. Shall I plead to an Indictment that hath

no Foundation in Law? If it conain that Law
you fay I have broken, why fhould you decline

to produce that Law, fince it will be impofllbie

for the Jury to determine, or agree to bring in

their Verdict, who have not the Law produced,

by which they fhould meafure the Truth of this

Indictment, and the Guilt, or contrary of my
Faa?

Rec. You are a faucy Fellow, fpeak to the

Indictment.

Obfer. At this time

Several upon the Bench
urged hard upon the

Prifoner to bear him
down.

Pen. I fay, it is my place to fpeak to Matter
of Law j I am arraign'd a Prifoner ; my Liber-
ty, which is next to Life it

felf, is now concern'd : You
are many Mouths and Ears
againft me, and if I muft not

be allowed to make the b; ft

of my Cafe, it is hard. I fay again, unlefs you
fhew me, and the People, the Law you ground
your Indictment upon, I fhall take it for grant-
ed your Proceedings are meerly Arbitrary.

Rec. The Queftion is, whether you are Guilty
of this Indictment?

Pen. The Queftion is not whether I am Guilty
of this Indictment, but whether this Indictment
be legal. It is too general and imperfect an 1

Anfwer, to fay it is the Common-Law, unlefs

we knew both where, and what it is: For where
there is no Law, there is no TranfgrcfTion ; and I

that Law which is not in being, is fo far from 1

being Common, that it is no Law at all.

Rec. You are an impertinent Fellow, will you 1

teach the Court what Law is ? It's Lex non «

fcripta, that which many have ftudied thirty or >•

forty Years to know, and would you have me c

to tell you in a Moment?
Pen. Certainly, if the Common Law be fo 1

hard to be underltood, it's far from being very

Common; but if the Lord Cake in his Injiitutes

be of any Conflderation, he tells us, That Com-
mon-Law is Common Right, and that Common

|

Right is the Great Charter- Privileges : Con-
firmed 9 Hen. 5. 29. 2y Edw. 1. 1. 2. Edw. 3. 8.

Coke Injilt. 2. p. y<5.

Rec. Sir, you are a troublefome Fellow, and

it is not for the Honour of the Court to iuffer

you to go on.

Pen. I have asked but one Queftion, and you
have not anfwer'd me ; tho' the Rights and Pri-

vileges of every Englijlman be concern'd in it.

Rec. If I fhould Iuffer you to ask Queftions
till to Morrow Morning, you would be never

the wifer. .

Pen. That is according as the Anfwers are.

Rec. Sir, we muft not ftand to hear you talk

all Night.

Pen. I defign no Affront to the Court, but to

be heard in my juft Plea: And I muft plainly

tell you, that if you will deny me Oyer of that

Law, which you fuggeft I have broken, you do

at once deny me an acknowledged Right, and

evidence to the whole World your Refolution

to facrifice the Privileges of Englifimen to your

finifter and Arbitrary Defigns.

Rec. Take him away. My Lord, if you take!

not fome Courfe with this peftilent Fellow, to 1

flop his Mouth, we fhall not be able to do anyi

thing to Night.

Mayor. Take him away, take him away, turn

him into the Bale-dock.

Pen. Thefe are but fo many vain Exclamati-

ons; Is this Juftice or true Judgment ? Muft I

therefore be taken away becaufe I plead for the

Fundamental Laws of England? However, this

I leave upon your Cortfciences, who are of the

Jury (and my fole Judges) that if thefe Ancient

Fundamental Laws, which relate to Liberty and

Property, (and are not limited to particular Per-

fuafions in Matters of Religion) muft not be in-

difpenfably maintained and obferved, Who car

fay he hath Right to the Coat upon his Back I

Certainly our Liberties are openly to be inva-

ded
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ded, our Wives to be ravifhed, our Children fla-

vcd, our Families ruined, and our Eitates led a-

way in Triumph, by every fturdy Beggar and

malicious Informer, as their Trophies, but our

(pretended) Forfeits for Confcience fake. The
Lord of Heaven and Earth will be Judge be-

tween us in this Matter.

Rec. Be filent there.

Pen. I am not to be filent in a Cafe wherein I

am lb much concerned, and not only my felf,

but many ten thoufand Families befides.

Obfcr. They having rudely haled him into the from the Bench, /pake

or four Witneffes that have proved rhis, that he
did preach there; that Mr. Mead did allow of
it: after this, you have heard by fubilantial Wit-
neffes what is faid againlt them: Now we are
upon the Matter of Fact, which you are to

keep to, and obfcrve, as what hath been fully

fworn, at your Peril.

Obfer. The Prifoners 110ere put out of the Court
into the Bale-dock, and the Charge given to the

Jury in their Abfence, at which W . P. with a
very raifed Voice, it being a confiderable difiance

Bale-dock, William Mead they left in Court, who
fpake asfollowcth.

Mead. You Men of the Jury, here I do now
ftand, to anfwer to an Indictment againlt me,

which is a Bundle of Stuff, full of Lies and Falf-

hoods; for therein I am accufed, that 1 met Vi

rj? armis, illicite & tumultuofe : Time was when
I had Freedom to ufea carnal Weapon, and then

1 thought I feared no Man ; but now I fear the

Living God, and dare not make ufe thereof nor

hurt any Man ; nor do I know I demeaned my
felf as a tumultuous Ferfon : I fay, 1 am a

I
peaceable Man, therefore it is a very proper

Queftion what William Penn demanded in this

Cafe, An Oyer of the Law, on which our Indict-

ment is grounded.

Rec. 1 have made Anfwer to that already.

Mead, turning his Face to the Jury, faith,

Pen. I appeal to the Jury, who are my Judges,
and this great Affembly, whether the Proceed-
ings of the Court are not molt Arbitrary, and
void of all Law, in offering to give the Jury
their Charge in the Abfence of the Prifoners ; f

fay, it is directly oppofite to, and deftructive of
the undoubted Right of every Englifh Prifoner,

as Coke in the 2, fnfiit. zp. on the Chap, of Mag-
na Chart::., fpeaks.

Obfer. The Recorder being thus unrxpetledly

lafh'd for his extra-judicial Procedure, faid, with
an enraged Smile,

Rec. Why, ye arc prefent, you do hear, do.
you not ?

Pen. No thanks to the Court, that command-
ed me into the BaLe-dock ; and you of the Jury,
take notice, that I have not been heard, neither

can you legally depart the Court, before 1 have

You Men of the Jury, who are my Judges, if been fully heard, having at leaft ten or twelve

material Points to offer, in order to invalidate

their Indictment.

Rec. Pull that Fellow down, pull him down.
Mead. Are thefe according to the Rights and

Privileges of Englifhmen, that we fhould not be

heard, but turned into the Bale-dock, for mak-
ing our Defence, and the Jury to have their

Charge given them in our Abfence? I fay thefe

are barbarous and unjuft Proceedings.

Rsc. Take them away into the Hole : To hear

them talk all Night, as they would,- that I

think doth not become the Honour of the Court;

and I think you (i. e. the Jury) your felves would

be tired out, and not have Patience to hear

them.
Obfer. 'The Jury were commanded up to e.gree

upon their Verdibl, the Prifoners remaining in the

ftinking Hole. After an Hour and half's time eight

came down agreed, but four remained above ; the

Court fent an Officerfor them, and they accordingly

came down. The Bench ufed many unworthy Threats

to the four that diffiented ; and the Recorder, ad-

dreffing him/elf to Buihtl, faid, Sir, You are

the Caufe of this Dilturbance, and manifeftly

fhew your felf an Abbettor of Faction; I fhall

fet a Mark upon you, Sir.

J. Robinfon, Mr. Bufhel. I have known you
near this fourteen Years; you have thruft your
felf upon this Jury, becaufe you think there is

fome Service for you : I tell you, you deferve to

be indicted more, than any Man that hath been

brought to the Bar this Day.
Bufhel. No, Sir John, there were threefcore

before me, and I would willingly have got off,

'the Recorder will not tell you what makes a

iRiot, a Rout, or an unlawful Affembly, Coke,

he that once they called the Lord Coke, tells us

iiwhat makes a Riot, a Rout, and an unlawful
Affembly A Riot is when three, or more,
are met together to beat a Man, or to enter for-

cibly into another Man's Land, to cut down his

Errafs,
his Wood, or break down his Pales.

Obfer. Here the Recorder interrupted him, and
lid, I thank you, Sir, that you will tell me what

the Law is •, fcornfully pulling off his Hat.
Mead. Thou may'ft put on thy Hat, I have

never a Fee for thee now.
Brown. He talks at random, one while an In-

lependent, another while fome other Religion,

nd now a Quaker, and next a Papift.

Mead. Turpe eft docJori cum culpa redarguit ip-

um.

May. You deferve to have your Tongue cut
out.

i Rec. If vou difcourfe on this Manner, I fhall

:ake Occafion againlt you.
Mead. Thou didil promife me, I fhould have

fair Liberty to be heard •, Why may 1 not have
he Privilege of an Englifhman ? I am an Englifh-

nan, and you might be afhamed of this deal-

ng-

1. Rec. I look upon you to be an Enemy to the
^aws of England, which ought to be obferved
;nd kept, nor are you worthy of fuch Privileges,

.s others have.

Mead. The Lord is Judge between me and
hee in this Matter.

I
Obfcr. Upon which they took him away into the

Bale-dock, and the Recorder proceeded to give the but could not.

hiry their Charge, as folioweth.

Rec. You have heard what the Indictment is,

t is for preaching to the People, and drawing
tumultuous Company after them, and Mr.

Venn was fpeaking-, if they fhould not be dif-

urbed, you fee they will go on ; there are three

Bloodw. I faid, when I faw Mr. Bufhel, what

I fee is come to pafs, for I knew he would never

yield. Mr. Bufhel, we know what you are.

May. Sirrah, you are an impudent Fellow, I

will put a Mark upon you.

Obferv,
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Obfer. 'They ufed much menacing Language, and

behaved them/elves very imperioujly to the Jury, as

Perfons not more void of Jujiice than fober Educa-

tion : After this barbarous Ufage, they fent them

ta confider of bringing in their Verdicl, and after

fome confiderable time they returned to the Court.

Silence was call'dfor, and the Jury caWd by their

Names.
Cler. Arc you agreed upon your Verdict?

Jury. Yes.

Cler. Wh'i fhall fpeak for you?
Jury. Our Foreman.

Cler. Look upon the Prifoners at the Bar ; how
fay you? Is William Penn Guilty of the Matter

whereof he Hands indicted in Manner and Form,

or Not guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty of Speaking in Gracechurch-

Jlreet.

Court. Is that all?

Foreman. That is all I have in CommifHon.
Rec. You had as good fay nothing.

May. Was it not an unlawful Affembly? you
mean he was fpeaking to a Tumult of People
there ?

Foreman. My Lord, This is all I had in Com-
mifiion.

Obfer. Here fome of the Jury feemed to buckle

to the Queflions of the Court ; upon which, Bufhel,

Hammond, and fome others, oppofed themjelvts,

andfaid, they allowed of no fuch Word, as an

unlawful Affembly in their Verdict ; at which the

Recorder, Mayor, Robinfon and Bioodworth took,

great occafion to vilify them with mofl opprobrious

Language ; and this Verdict not ferving their Turns,

the Recorder exprefs'd him j elf thus:

Rec. The Law of England will not allow you
to part till you have given in your Verdict.

Jury. We have given in our Verdict, and we
can give in no o^her.

Rec. Gentlfmen, you have not given in your

Verdict, and you had as good lay nothing ;

therefore go and confider it once more, that we
may make an end or this troublefome Bufinefs.

Jury. We defire we may have Pen, Ink and
Paper.

Obfer. The Court adjourn'd for half an Hour

;

which being expired, the Court returns, and the

Jury not long after.

The Prifoners were brought to the Bar, and
the Jury's Names called over.

Cler. Are you agreed of your Verdict?

Jury. Yes.

Cler. Who (hall fpeak for you?
Jury. Our Foreman.
Cler. What fry you? look upon the Prifoners

:

Is William Penn Guilty in Manner and Form, as

he ftands indicted, or Not guilty ?

Foreman. Here is our Verdict; holding forth a

piece of Paper to the Clerk of the Peace, which
follows

;

E the Jurors, hereafter named, do find Wil-
liam Penn to be Guilty of Speaking or

Preaching to an Affembly, met together in Grace-
church- Itieet, the i^th of Auguft laft, 1670.

And that William Mead is Not guilty of the J"aid

Jndiclment.

Henry Michel,

John Brightman,

James Damask,
Wil. Plumfted.

Forem. Thomas Veer,

Edward Bufliel,

John Hammond,
Henry Henley,

Charles Milfon,

Gregory Walklet,

John Baily,

William Lever,

Obfer. This both Mayor and Recorder refented at

fo high a rate, that they exceeded the Bounds of all

Reafon and Civility.

May. What, will you be led by fuch a filly

Fellow as Bufljel? an impudent canting Fellow?
I warrant you, you fhall come no more upon
Juries in hafte: You are a Foreman indeed, ad-
dreffing himfelf to the Foreman, I thought you
had underfbood your Place better.

Rec. Gentlemen, you fhall not be difmift till

we have a Verdict, that the Court will accept}
and you fhall be lock'd up, without Meat,
Drink, Fire, and Tobacco; you fhall not think
thus to abufe the Court ; we will have a Ver-
dict, by the help of God, or you fhall ftarve for
it.

Pen. My Jury, who are my Judges, ought not
to be thus menaced ; their Verdict fhould be
free, and not compelled; the Bench ought to
wait upon them, but not foreftal them. I do
defire that Juftice may be done me, and that

the Arbitrary Refolves of the Bench may not
be made the Meafure of my Jury's Verdict.

Rec. Stop that prating Fellow's Mouth, or
put him out of the Court.

May. You have heard that he preach'd, that
he gathered a Company of tumultuous People,

and that they do not only difobey the Martial
Power, but Civil alfo.

Pen. It is a great Miftake; we did not make
the Tumult, but they that interrupted us: The
Jury cannot be lo ignorant, as to think, that

wc met there, with a Defign to difturb the Ci-

vil Peace, fince (ill) we weie by. Force of

Arms kept out of our lawful Houfe, and met as

near it in the Street, as their Soldiers would
give us leave; and (idly) becaufe it was no new
thing (oor wich the Circum fiances exprefs'd in

the indictment) but what was ufual and cufto-

mary with us ; 'tis very well known that we
are a peaceable People, and cannot offer Vio-
lence to any Man.

Obfer. The Court being ready to break up, and

willing to huddle the Prifoners 10 their Goal, and

the Jury to their Chamber, Penn fpoke as follows.

Pen. The Agreement of Twelve Men is a

Verdict in Law, and fuch a one being given by

the Jury, I require the Clerk of the Peace to

record it, as he will aofwer it at his Peril. And
if the Jury bring in another Verdict contradicto-

ry to this, I affirm they are perjur'd Men in

Law: And looking upon the Jury, faid, You
are Englifhmen, mind your Privilege, give not

away your Right.

Bufh. &c. Nor will we ever do it.

Obfer. One of the Jury-men pleaded Indifpofi-

tion of Body, and therefore defired to be difmift.

May. You are as ftrongas any of them ; ftarve

them ; and hold your Principles.

Rec. Gentlemen, You mult be contented with

your hard Fate, let your Patience overcome it;

for the Court is refolved to have a Verdict, and

that before you can be difmift.

Jury. We are agreed, we are agreed, we_are

agreed.

Obfer. The Court fwore feveral Perfons, to keep

the jury U Night without Meat, Drink, Fire, or

any other Accommodation; they had not fo much as

a Chamber-pot^ tho' defired.

Cry.
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Cry. O Yes, &c.

Obfer. the Court adjourns till Seven ofthe Clock

next Morning {being the qth Injlant, vulgarly calVd

Sunday) at which time the Prifoners were brought

to the Bar : the Court fat, and the Jury called to

bring in their Verdicl.

Cry. O Yes, &c. Silence in the Court,

upon pain of Imprifonment.

The Jury's Names called over.

Cler. Are you agreed upon your Verdid?

Jury. Yes.

Cler. Who {hall fpeak for you?

Jury. Our Fore-man.

Cler. What fay you ? Look upon the Prifoners

at the Bar -, is William Penn Guilty of the Matter

whereof he ftands indided, in Manner and Form
asaforefaid, or Not guilty?

Fore-m. William Penn is guilty of Speaking

in Gracechurch-fireet.

May. To an unlawful Affembly ?

Bujh. No, my Lord, we give no other Ver-

dicl: than what we gave lafl Night ; we have no

other Verdicl: to give.

May. You are a fadious Fellow, I'll take a

Courfe with you.

Blood. I knew Mr. Bujhel would not yield.

Bujh. Sir thomas, I have done according to

my Confcience.

May. That Confcience of yours would cut

my Throat.

Bujh. No, my Lord, it never {hall.

May. But I will cut yours fo foon as I can.

Rec. He has infpired the Jury ; he has the Spi-

rit of Divination, methinks I feel him \ I will

have a pofitive Verdicl:, or you {hall llarve for

it.

Penn. I defire to ask the Recorder one Que-

ftion, Do you allow of the Verdicl: given of

William Mead ?

Rec. It cannot be a Verdicl, becaufe you were

indicted for a Confpiracy, and one being found

Not guilty, and not the other, it could not be a

Verdid
Penn. If Not guilty be not a Verdict, then

you make of the Jury and Magna Charta but a

meer Nofe of Wax.
Mead. How ! is Not guilty no Verdicl: ?

Rec. No, 'tis no Verdicl.

Penn. I affirm, that the Confent of a Jury is a

Verdicl in Law ; and if William Mead be Not
guilty, it confequently follows, that I am clear,

fince you have indided us of a Confpiracy, and

I could not poffibly confpire alone.

Obfer. there were many Paffages, that could not

be taken, which pafi between the Jury and the

Court, the Jury went up again, having received

a frejl) Charge from the Bench, if poffible to extort

an unjuft Verdicl.

Cry. O Yes, &c. Silence in the Court.

Cour. Call over the Jury. Which was done.

Cler. What fay you? Is William Penn Guilty

i of the Matter whereof he {lands indicled, in

I Manner and Form aforefud, or Not guilty ?

Fore-m. Guilty of fpeaking in Gracechurch-

I flreet.

Rec. What is this to the Purpofe ? I fay, I will

j
have a Verdicl. And fpeaking to Edw. Bufloel,

faid, You are a fadious Fellow j I will fet a

Mark upon you j and whilft I have any thing to

do in the City, I will have an Eye upon you.

May. Have you no more Wit than to be led

by fuch a pitiful Fellow ? I will cut his Nofe.

Penn. It is intolerable that my Jury lhould be
thus menaced : Is this according to the Funda-
mental Laws ? Are not they my proper Judges
by the great Charter of England? What hope is

there of ever having Juftice done, when Juries
are threatned, and their Verdicls rejeded ? I am
concerned to fpeak, and grieved to fee fuch Ar-
bitrary Proceedings. Did not the Lieutenant of
the tower render one of them worfe than a Fe-
lon? And do you not plainly feem to condemn
fuch for fadious Fellows, who anfwer not your
Ends? Unhappy are thofe Juries, who aie
threatned to be fined, and ftarved, and ruined,
if they give not in Verdids contrary to their
Confciences.

Rec. My Lord, you muff take a Courfe with
that fame Fellow.

May. Stop his Mouth ; Jaylor, bring Fetters,
and flake him to the Ground.

Penn. Do your Plealure, I matter not your
Fetters.

Rec. Till now I never underftood the Reafon
of the Policy and Prudence of the Spaniards, in
fuffering the Inquifition among them: And cer-
tainly it will never be weil with us, till fome-
thing like unto the Spanifh inquifition be in En-
gland.

Obfer. the Jury being required to go together

to find another Verdicl, and fledfaflly refufing it

(faying they could give no other Verdicl than what
was already given) the Recorder in great Pafjion was
running off the Bench, with thefe Words in his

Mouth, I proteft I will fie here no longer to hear
thefe Things; at which the Mayor- calling, Stay,
flay, he returned, and diretied him/elf unto the Jury,
and [poke as followeth

:

Rec. Gentlemen, we {hall not be at this trade

always with you j you will find the next Seflions

of Parliament there will be a Law made, thac

thofe that will not conform {hall not have the
Protedionof the Law. Mr. Lee, draw up ano-
ther Verdid, that they may bring it in Special.

Lee. I cannot tell how to do it.

Jur. We ought not to be return'd, having all

agreed, and fet our Hands to the Verdid
Rec. Your Verdid is nothing, you play upon

the Court j I fay you {hall go together, and
bring in another Verdid, or you {hall {larvej

and I will have you carted about the City, as

in Edward the Third's time.

Fore-m. We have given in our Verdid, and all

agreed to it ; and if we give in another, it will

be a Force upon us to fave our Lives.

May. Take them up.

Offic. My Lord, they will not go up.

Obfer. the Mayor fpoke to the Sheriff, and he

came off of his Seat, and faid,

Sher. Come, Gentlemen, you muff, go up -,

you fee I am commanded to make you go.

Obfer. Upon which the Jury went up; andfe-
veral[worn to keep them without any Accommoda-

tion, as aforefaid, till they brought in their Verdicl.

Cry. O yes, &c. The Court adjourns till to

Morrow Morning, at feven of the Clock.

Obfer. the Prifoners were remanded to New*
gate, where they remained till next Morning, and

then were brought unto the Court, which being fat*

theyproceeded as followeth.

Cry. O yes, cjjV. Silence in the Court, upon

pain of Imprifonment.

Cler. Set William Penn and William Mead to

the Bar. Gentlemen of the Jury, anfwer to

your
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your Names j Tho. Veer, Edw. Bufhel, John Ham-
mond, Henry Henly, Henry Mitchell, John Bright-

man, Charles Mil/on, Gregory Walklet, John Baity,

William Leaver, James Damask, William Plum-

ftead. Are you all agreed of your Verdict ?

Yes.

Who (hall fpeak for you?
Our Foreman.
Look upon the Prifoners.

Is William Penn Guilty of

Jur.
Cler.

Jur.

Cler.

you
in

What fay

the Matter
Manner andwhereof he ftands indicted,

Form, 13c. or Not guilty?

Foreman. Here is our Verdict in Writing, and

our Hands fubfcribed.

Obfer. The Clerk took the Paper, but was Jlopt

by the Recorder from reading of it; and he com-

manded to ask for a pofitive Verditl.

Foreman. That is our Verdict ; we have fub-

fcribed to it.

Cler. How fay you ? is William Penn Guilty,

(3c. or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Not guilty.

Cler. How fay you ? is William Mead Guilty,

13c. or Not guilty.

Foreman. Not guilty.

Cler. Then hearken to your Verdict ; you fay

that William Penn is Not guilty in Manner and

Form as he ftands indi&ed ; you fay that Wil-

liam Mead is Not guilty in Manner and Form
as he ftands indicted, and foyou fay all?

Jur. Yes, we do fo.

Obfer. The Bench being unfatisfied with the

Verdict;, commanded that every Perfonjhould diftintl-

ly anfwer to their Names, and give in their Ver-

dicl, which they unanimoufly did, in faying, Not
Guilty, to the great Satisfaction of the Ajembly.

Rec. I am forry, Gentlemen, you have fol-

lowed your own Judgments and Opinions, ra-

ther than the good and wholefome Advice,which
was given youj God keep my Life out of your

Hands j but for this * the Court Fines you for-

ty Marks a Manj and Imprifonment till paid.

At which Penn ftept up towards the Bench, and

faid:

Penn. I demand my Liberty, being freed by
the Jury.

May. No, you are in for your Fines.

Penn. Fines, for what?
May. For Contempt of the Court.

Penn. I ask, if it be according to the Funda-
mental Laws of England, that any Englifh-Man
fhould be Fined or Amerced, but by the Judg-
ment of his Peers or Jury i fince it exprefly con-

tradicts the fourteenth and twenty-ninth Chap,
of the great Charter of England, which fay, No
Free-man ought to be amerced, but by the Oath
of good and Lawful Men of the Vicinage.

Rec. Take him away, take him away, take him
out of the Court.

Penn. I can never urge the Fundamental Laws
of England, but you cry, Take him away, take

him away. But it it is no wonder, Since the Spa-
nifh Inquifition hath fo great a place in the Recor-
der'* Heart. God Almighty, who is jult, will

judge you all for thefe things.

Obfer. They haled the Prifoners into the Bale-

dock, and from thence fent them to Newgate, for

Non-payment of their Fines ; and fo were their

Jury. But the Jury were afterwards difcharged

upon an Habeas Corpus, returnable in the Com-
mon-Pleas, where their Commitment was adjudged

illegal. Vaugh. Rep. 1
35-— 15-8.

LXXL Proceedings in the CASE o/Anthony Earl of

Shaftsbury, f at the KingV-Bench? the 2jth and

29th of'June, 1677. Trin. 29 Car. II.

Philip Lord Wharton, Members of this Houfe,and
keep them in fafe Cufiody, within the faid Tower,

during His Majefly's Pleafure, and the Pleafure of

this Houfe j for High Contempts committed againfi

this Houfe : And this floall be a fufficient Warrant

on that Behalf.

To the Conflable of the Tower, &c.

J. Browne Cler. Pari.

The Earl of Shaftsbury^ Council prayed that

the Return might be Filed, and it was fo, and

Friday following appointed for debating the Suf-

ficiency of the Return, and in the mean time

directions were given to his Council to attend

the Judges and Attorney-General, with their

Exceptions to the Return, and my Lord was re-

* See Yclv. 23. Hardr. 409. Kelyng 51, 58. Noy. 48. Throgmorton'/ Cafe, Trial V. Vol. I. p. 78.

f He tvith others had been committed to the Tower by the Houfe of Lords during the King's Pleafure, or the Pleafure of tie

Houfe, for moving a Queflion in Parliament about the Legality of a Prorogation. Burn. Hi/I. own times, Vol. I. p. 401. See his

Character, ibid. 96.

manded

HIS Day the Earl of Shaftsbury was

brought to the Bar upon the Return
of an Alias Hab. Corp. directed to

the Conftable of the Tower ofLon-

don \ the Effect of the Return was,

that Anthony Earl of Shaftsbury, in the Writ
mentioned, was Committed to the Tower of

London, 16 Feb. Anno Dom. 1676, by Virtue of

an Order from the Lords Spiritual and Tempo-
ral then in Parliament afTembled : the Tenor of

which Order followeth in hac verba.

Ordered, by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in

Parliament affembled, That the Conftable of His

Majefly's Tower of London, his Deputy, or De-
puties, ftjall receive the Bodies of James Earl of

Salisbury, Anthony Earl of Shaftsbury, and
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manded 'till that Day ; and it was faid, that tho5

the Return was filed, the Court could remand

or Commit him to the Marjhalfea at their Ele-

ction.

On Friday the Earl was brought into Court
again, and his Council argued the lnfufficiency

of the Return.

Williams faid, That the Caufe was of great

Confequence, in regard that the King was touch-

ed in his Prerogative; the Subject was touched

in his Liberty, and this Court in its Jurifdicti-

on.

ift> The Caufe of Commitment which is re-

turned, is not fufficient, for the general Allega-

tions of high Contempts is too uncertain, for

the Court cannot judge of the Contempt, if it

doth not appear in what Act it confilts.

idly. It is not known where the Contempts
were committed, and in favour of Liberty, it

(hall be intended they were committed out of

(the Houfe of Peers.

$dly. The time is uncertain, fo that, perad-

yenture, it was before the hit Act of General

Pardon.

;
qthly. It does not appear whether the Com-

mitment were on a Conviction or Accufation

plljy.

;
It cannot be denied, but that the Return of

iich a Commitment, by any other Court, would
i>e too general and uncertain, More. §95. Afi-
\pijh was Bailed on a Return, quod commijfus fuit

ter mandatum. N. Milit. Dni. Cufiod. Magn.

Jigil. Angl'ne virtute cujufdem contemptus in curia

peJi, and in that Book, that divers other Per-

:>ns were bailed on fuch general Returns, and

he Cafes have been lately affirmed in Bujhel's

"afe, reported by the late Lord Chief Juftice

'augban, where it is exprefly faid that fuch Com-
litment and Return being too general and un-

ertain, the Court can't believe in an implicit

tanner, that in truth the Commitment was for

iaufes particular and fufficient.

Vaughan'% Reports, 140. Accord. 2 Infl. fl. f$.

§ ff. and the 1 Rolls. 118. and though the

•ommitment of the Jurors was for acquitting

lenn and Mead, contra plenam & manifeflam evi-

tntiam: It was refolved to be too general, for

ie Evidence ought to appear as certainly to the

jidge of the Return, as it appears before the

;idge authorized to commit. Rufi. Cafe. 1 37.

Now this Commitment being by the Houfe of

bers will make no difference ; for in all Cafes

^here a Matter comes in Judgment before this

(Durt, let the queftion be of what nature it will,

te Court is obliged to declare the Law, and

tat without distinction, whether the queftion

tgan in Parliament or no. In the Cafe of Geo.

inion in C. B. there was a long Debate, Whe-
Ur an Original Writ might be Hied againft a

lember of Parliament, during the time of Privi-

le\ and it was urg^d, that it being during the

hfion of Parliament, the termination of the Que-

fim did belong to the Parliament : But it was re-

fved that an Original might be filed ; and

lidgman, then Chief Juftice, faid, thar the Court
v.s obliged to declare the Law in all Cafes that

cue in Judgment before them. H. 4. Ed. 4.

ht. 4. 7. 10. in Scacc. In Debt by River verfus

Cifm, the Defendant pleads that he was Servant

o| a Member of Parliament, & Idco Capi Jeu

a-jlari non debet, and the Plaintiff prays Judg-
nnr, and afterwards by Advice of all the

ol. H.

Judges the Judgment was entered. Videtur Baro-
nibus, quod tale habetur Privilegium, quod Mag-
nates, die. Et eorum familiares capi feu arejtari

non debent, fed nullum habetur Privikgium, quod
non debent Implacitari, ideo refpondeat oufier. So
in Triviniard's Cafe;, a queftion of Privilege was
determined in this Court. Dyer 60. in 14 Ed.

5. in the Cafe of Sir John and Sir Jeoffry Stan-
ton, which was cited in the Cafe of the Earl of
ClarendoHyZnd is entred in the Lords Journal.
An Action for Wafte depended between them

in the Common-Pleas, and the Court was divi-

ded, and the Record was Certified into the
Houfe of Lords, and they gave direction that
the Judgment fhould be Entred for the Plain-

tiff; afterwards on a Writ of Error brought in

this Court that Judgment was Reverfed, not-
withftanding the Objection, that is was given
by Order of the Houfe of Lords ; for the Courc
was obliged to proceed according to the Law in

a matter that was before them in point of Judg-
ment. Not long fince the Earl of Briftol Exhi*
bited an Acculation againft the Earl of Claren~
don to the Houfe of Lords, and it contained
divers matters, whereof fome did arife out of
Parliament, and it was referred to the Judges
to confider whether that Procedure was Parlia-

mentary; and the 4th of July 1663, it was re-

folved by the Judges, that the Lords ought not
to proceed only upon an Impeachment by the

Commons, when the matters arife out of the
Houfe.
The Conftruction of all Acts of Parliament

are given to the Courts of Wejlminfer, and ac-

cordingly they are Judges of the Validity of
Acts of Parliament, they have fearched the Rolls

of Parliament, Hub. iop. Lord Hunfdon's Cafe,

they have determined, whether the Journal be a

Record, Hub. 1 10. When a point comes before

them in Judgment, they are not foreclofed by
any Act of the Lords, but ought to Judge ac-

cording to the Law, by which the Realm is go-
verned, and not by the Lords : If it appears that

an Act of Parliament be made by the King and

Lords without the Commons, that Act is Felo-

de-fe, and the Courts of Weflminfler ought to

judge it void, 4 H. 7. 18. Hub. in. and ac-

cordingly they ought to do, if this Return con-

tain in it that which is fatal to itfelf. It hath
been a queftion often refolved in this Court
when a Writ of Error in Parliament, fhall be a

Superfedeas, and this Court hath determined what
fhall be faid to be a Seffion of Parliament, 1 Rolls.

29. and if the Law were otherwife there would
be a failure of Juftice. If the Parliament were
diffolved, there would be no queftion but the

Prifoner fhould be difcharged on a Habeas Corpus ,

and yet then the Court muft examine the Caufe

of Commitment, and by Confequence a matter

Parliamentary, and the Court may now have

Cognizance of the matter, as clearly as when
the Parliament is diffolved. The Party would
be without remedy for his Liberty, if he could

not find it here, for it is not fufficient for him to

procure the Lords to determine their Pleafure

for his Impiifontnent, for before his Enlarge-

ment he muft have the Pleafure of the King to

be determined, and that ought to be in this Court,

and therefore the Prifoner ought firft to refort

hither.

Let us fuppofe (for it does not appear in the Re-

turn, and the Court tight not to enquire of any

K k k k matter
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matter out of it,) that the fuppofed Contempt

was a thing done out of the Houfe j it would

be hard for this Court to remand him : Suppofe

he were removed to a Foreign Prifon, during the

Pleafure of the Lords: No doubt, but that

would have been an Illegal Commitment againft

Magna Charta and the Petition -, there the Com-
mitment would have been exprefly Illegal, and

it may. be this Commitment may be no lefs j

for if it had been exprefly fhewn, and if he be

remanded, he is Committed by this Court, who

are to anfwer for his Imprifonment.

But 1. The limitation of the Imprifonment.

during thePleafures of the King and the Houfe

is Illegal and uncertain > for fince it ought to

determine in two Courts, it can have no certain

Period, a Commitment until he fhdl be Dif-

charged by King's Bench and Common Pleas is

Illegal j for the Prifoner can't apply himfelf in

fuch a manner as to obtain his Dilcharge. If a

Man be committed to further order, Coke faith,

he is Bailable prefently, for that Imports 'till he

fhall be delivered in good courfe of Law, and

if this Commitment have not that Senfe, it is

Illegal, for the Pleafure of the King is that,

which {hall be determined according to Law
in his Courts, as where the Stat, of lVeftminftery

1 Chap. if. declares that he is nor. replevifable,

who is taken by Command of the King, this

does not extend to an Extra-judicial Command,
but in his Courts of Juftice, to which all mat-

ters of Judicature are delegated and diftributed.

ilnft. i86\ and 187.

Wallop, to the fame purpofe, cited BuJhePs

Cafe, Vaughan, 1 37. that the Return for high

Contempts was not fufHcient, and the Court

that made the Commitment in this Cafe makes

no difference in the Cafe, for otherwife one may
be Imprifoned by the Houfe of Peers Unjuftly,

for a matter relievable here, and yet fhall be

without any manner of relief, by fuch a Return;

for on Supposition that this Court ought not to

meddle where the Perfon is Committed by the

Peers, any Perfon at any Time and for any Caufe

may be fubject to a perpetual Imprifonment at

the Pleafure ofthe Lords.

And the Law is otherwife, for the Houfe of

Lords is the Supreme Court, yet their Jurifdi-

ction is limited by the Common and Statute-

Law, and their Excifes are examinable in this

Court, for there is a great difference between

the Errors and Excife in and of a Court between
an Erroneous Proceeding with Jurildiction,

which is void and a meer Nullity, 4. H.J. 18. 6.

in the Parliament the King would have one at-

tainted of Treafon, and lofe his Lands, and the

Lords aflented, but nothing was faid ofthe Com-
mons, wherefore all the Juftices held clearly that

it was no Act, and he was reftored to his Land,
and without doubt in the fame Cafe if the Parry

had been Imprifoned, the Juftices might have

made the like Refolution that he ought to have

been difcharged.

It is a Solecifm that a Man fhall be Impri-

foned by a limited Jurisdiction, and it fhall not

be examinable, whether the Caufe were within

thejurifdi&ion or not. If the Lords without the

Commons fhould grant a Tax, and one that re-

fufed to pay it fhould be Imprifoned, the Tax is

void •, but by a general Commitment the Party

fhali be remedyleis if fo be the Lords fhould

award a Capias for Treafon or Felony,

By thefe Inftances it appears that their Jurif-

diction was reftrained by the CommdrKLaw, and

it is alfo reftrained by divers Acts of Parliament,

1 Hen. 4. Chap. 14. no Appeals fhall be made,
or any ways purfued, or where a Statute is made
a Power is Implicitly given to this Courr, by
the Fundamental Inftitution, which makes the

Judges Expofitors of Act of Parliament > and
peradventure if all this Cafe appeared upon the
Return, this might be a Cafe in which they
were reftrained by the Stat. 4. Hen. 8. Chap. 8.

That all the Suits, Ufements, and Condemna-
tions, &$i many time from henceforth, at any
time to be put or had upon any Members for

any Bill fpeaking or reasoning of any matters
concerning the Parliament to be Communed ot
Treated of, fhall be utterly void and ofno effect >
r.ow it does not appear, but this is a Correction
and Puniihment Impofed upon the Earl, con-
trary to the Statute. There is no queftion now
made of the Power of the Lords, but it is only
urged that it is neceflary for them to declare by
Virtue of what Power they proceed, otherwife

the Liberty of every Englijh Man fhall be fub-

ject to the Lords, whereof they may deprive

any of them againft an Act of Parliamenr, buE

no ufage can juftify fuch a proceeding. Elfemor?$
Cafe of the Poft Nati. 19. The Duke of Suf-

folk was Impeached by the Commons of High*
Treafon, and Mifdemeanors, the Lords were in

doubt whether they fhould proceed upon fuch

a general Impeachment to imprifon the Duke,
and the Advice of the Judges being demanded*
and their Refolution given in the Negative
the Lords were fatisfied- This Cafe is men-
tioned with defign to fhew the refpect given t<J

the Judges, and that the Judges have determined

the higher! matters in Parliament. At a Con*
ference held between the Lords and the Conn
mons, 3d April, 4 Car. concerning the Right

and Privilege of the Subject, it was declared

and agreed, that no Freeman ought to be Com*
rfiitted or reftrained by Commitment of the

King or Privy-Council, or any other (in which

the Houfe of Peers is included) unlefs feme

Caufe of Commitment, Reftraint, or Detainor

be fet forth, for which by Law he ought to b,e

Committed, &c.
Now if the King, who is the Head of the Paf-

liament, nor the Privy-Council, which is aCourt
of State, co which Secrecy is fo neceffary, may
not Imprifon without, fhewing Caufe, a fortiori)

the Lords in Parliament can'r, which are a

Court of Law as well as a Court of State, and

therefore ought not to proceed in an Illegal 1

manner. ' lis true in r Rolls, ioz. Rufo-wortVi

Cafe, Coke is of Opinion that the Privy Council

may Commit without fhewing Caufe, but in bis

more Mature Age he was of another Opinion,

and accordingly the Law is declared in the Peti-

tion of Right.

Smith argued to the fame Purpofe, and faid, A
Judge cannot make a Judgment unlefs the Fail

appears to him, and on an Habeas Corpus, th«

Judge can only take notice of the Fact return-

ed , it is lawful for any Subject that finds him-

felf agrieved by any Sentence or Judgment W
Petition the King in an humble manner for re,

drefs, and where the Subject is reftrained of h'R

Liberty, the proper place for him to apply hifl*«|

fel-f unto is this Court, which hath the Suprem<

Power as to this purpofe, over all Courts, ant

01
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on an Habeas Corpus ifluing hence, the King

ought to have an Account of his Subject, Rolls.

Hab. Corp. 64. Witherly\ Cafe ; and though the

Commitment be by the Lords, yet if it be Ille-

gal, this Court is obliged to difcharge thePrifo-

ner, as well as if he had been Illegally Jmpri-

foned by any other Court ; the Houfe of Peers

is a high Court, but the King's-Bench hath ever

been Intruded with the Liberty of the Subject,

and if it were otherwife in cafe of Imprifonment

by the Peers, the Power of the King was lets

ablolute than the Power of the Lords.

It does not appear but that this Commitment
was for Breach of the Privilege, but neverthe-

lefs if it were, this Court might give relief, as

appears in Sir George Bigmore's Cafe before cited,

and Mich. iz. Ed. 4. Rut. zo- for the Court
which has Power to judge what is Privilege,

has alfo Power to judge what is Contempt of

1 Privilege j if the Judges may judge of an Act

of Parliament, a fortiori, they may judge of an

;
Order of the Lords, 20 Ed. Butcher's Cafe, where

I

he in Reverfion brought an Action of Waft, and

1 died before Judgment, and his Heirs brought

an Action for the fame Waft, and the King and

j the Lords determined that it did lie, and corn-

jmanded the Judges to giveJudgment according-

ly for the time to come; but by Ryley. 39. it ap-

pears that it is only an order of the King and

rthe Lords, and that was the Caufe the Judges

(conceived that they were not bound by it, but

159. 5. 15. and ever fince have judged the con-

trary if it be admitted. For that for Breach

(of Privilege may Commit, yet it ought to ap-

pear on the Commitment that that was the Caufe,

for otherwife they may be called a Breach,

which is only a refufal to anfwer to a matter

iwhereof the Houfe of Lords is reflrained to hold

Plea by the Stat, of the ill of Hen. 4. and for

jji Contempt committed out of the Houfe they

cannot Commit, for the Word Appeal in the

Statute extends to all Mifdemeanors, as it was
efolved by the Judges in the Earl of Clarendon's

^afe, July, 1665. If the Imprifonment be not

lawful, the Court cannot remand him to his

(vrongful Imprifonment, for that would be an
\£t of Injuftice, to Imprifon him, De novo,
raughan. if6. it does not appear whether the

Contempt was a Voluntary Act, or an Opinion,
j>r an Inadvertency, and he has now fuffcred

ive Months Imprifonment already ; falfe 1m-
rifonment is not only where the Commitment
i unjuft, but where the Imprifonment is too

ong. z Inft. 53. In this Cafe if this Court can-

ot give Remedy, peradventure the Imprifon-
lent fhall be perpetual ; for the King, as the

Law is now taken, may Adjourn the Parliament
pr 10 or zo Years.

I But all this is faid on Suppofition that this

eflion has continuance, I conceive that by the
.ing's giving his Royal AfTent to feveral Laws
inch have been Ena&ed, the Seflion is deter-

;ined, and then their Order for the Imprifon-
ment is alfo determined, Brook Parliament. 86.

.very Seflion in which the King Signs Bills is a

lay of itfelf, a Seflion of itfelf, 1 Car. 1. 7.

A Special Act is made, that the giving the Royal
jfTent to feveral Bills, fhall not determine the
J:flion. ('Tis true, 'tis there faid to be made
Jr the avoiding all Doubts.) In the Stat. 16.

dr. 1 . there is a Provifo to the fame purpofe,

jd alfo iz. Car. z. 1. and 22 and 23 Car. 2. z.

n. Ro. z. No. 12,

Vol. II.

1

1

By the Opinion of Coke, 4. Inft. 27. the Royal
AfTent does not determine; but the Authority
on which he relics, don't warrant his Opinion -,

for firft in the Parliament, Roll. 1. H. 7. it

appears that the Royal AfTent was given to the

Act, for the reverial of the Attainder of the
Members of Parliament, the fame Day it was
given to the other Bills; and the fame Year the
fame Parliament AfTembled again, and then 'tis

Probable, that the Members which had been
attainted were prefenr, and not before. 8. R. z.

No. 13. is only a Judgment in Cafe of Treafon,
by Virtue of a Power relerved to them on the

Statute, 2f Ed. 3. Rot. Parliament. 7 #.4. No.
29. is not an Act of Parliament, 14 Ed. 3. N.
789- The Act is firft entred on the Roll, but
on Condition the King will grant their other
Petitions, the Inference my Lord Cook makes,
that the Act for the Attainder of Queen Catha-
rine, 33 //. 8. was pafled before the determina-
tion of the Seffion, yet it was on a Judgment gi-

ven againft her by the Commiflions of Oyer and
Terminer, and the fubfequent Act is only an Act
of Confirmation; but Cook ought to be excufed,
for all his Notes and Papers were taken from
him, fo that this Book did not receive his laft

Hand, but 'tis obfervable he was one of the
Members of the Parliament, 1 Car 1. when
the fpecial AcT before mentioned w~s made -,

and no Inftance can be given where an Act was
pafled, and afterwards the Parliament did pro-

ceed in that Seflion, only where there was a pre-

cedent Agreement between the King and the

Houfes; fo I conclude that the Order is deter-

mined with the Seflion, and the Earl of Shafts-

bury ought to be Difcharged.

Eyres argued to the fame effect ; That the

Warrant is not fufficient, for it does not appear

that it was made by the Jurifdiclion is defired in

the Houfe of Peers; for that is coram Rege in Par-
liamento, fo that the King and the Commons are

prcfent in fuppofition of Law, and the Writ of

Error in Parliament is Injpetlo Recordo nos conflict

&? advifamento Spiritualium (3 Temporalium, {3

Communitatum in Parliamento pradicT exi(lent\

&c. it would not be difficult to prove thac an-

ciently the Commons did aflift there, and now
it fhall be intended that thty were piefent; for

there can be no Averment againft the Record.
The Lords do feveral Acts as a diftincl: Houfe,
as the Debating Bills, the Enquiring of Breaches

of Privileges, and the Warrant in this Cafe be-

ing by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, cannot
be intended otherwife, but that it was done by
them in their diftinct Capacity, and then the

Commitment being during the Pleafure of the

King and the Houfe of Peers, it is manifeft thac

the King is Principal, and his Pleafure ought to

be determined in this Court.

If the Lords fhould commit a great Minifter

of State, whofe Advice is neceflary for the King
and the Realm, it cannot be imagined that the

King fhall be without remedy for his Subject,

but that he may have him Difcharged by his

Writ out of this Court.

This prefent Recefs is not ordinary Adjourn-

ment; for it is entred in the Journal that the

Parliament fhall not be affembled at the Day of

Adjournment, but Adjourned or Prorogued to

another Day, if the King do not fignify his

Pleafure by Proclamation.

Some other Exceptions were made to the

Return.
Kkkki i. That
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1. That no Commitment is returned, but only

a Warrant to the Conftable to receive him.

2. The Return does not anfvver the Mandate

of the Writ; for that is to have the Body of

A. E. of S. and the Return of the Warrant is

for the Imprifonment of A. Ajhley E. of S.

Serjeant Maynard, argued to maintain the Re-
turn ; The Houfe of Lords is the Supreme Court of

the Realm ; 'tis true this Court is fuptrior to all

Courts of ordinary Jurifdiclion. If this Commit-

ment had been by any Inferior Court, it could not

have been maintained: But the Commitment is by a

Court that is not under the Controul of this Court •,

and that Court is in Law fitting at this time, and

therefore the expreffmg the Contempt particularly, is

a Matter that continues in the Deliberation of that

Court : 'Tis true, this Court ought to determine

what the Law is in every Cafe that comes before

them, and in this Cafe the Queftion is only whether

this Court can judge of a Contempt committed in

Parliament during the fame Sejfion of Parliament,

and difcharge one committed for fuch Contempt.

When a Queftion of Privilege arifeth in an Ablion

depending in this Court, the Court may determine

it j but now the Queftion is, Whether the Lords

have Capacity to determine their own Privileges,

and whether this Court can controul their Determi-

nation, and difcharge during their Seffion a Peer

committed for Contempt. 'The Judges have often

demanded what the Law is, and how a Statute

fhould be expounded of the Lords in Parliament, as

on the Statute of Amendments, 40 Ed. 5. 34.

6. 8. Co. ify. and if8. a fortiori. The Court

ought to demand their Opinion, when a Doubt a-

rifeth on an Order made by ths-Ploufe of Lords now
fitting.

As to the Determination of the Imprifonment,

doubtlefs the Pleafure of the King is to be de-

termined in the fame Court where the Judgment
was given.

As to the Determination of the Seffion, the

Opinion of Coke is good Law, and the Addition

of Provifoes in many Acts is only in Majorem
cautelam.

Sir Will. Jones, Att. Gen. To the fameEffea,
as to the Uncertainty of the Commitment, it is

to be confidered that this Cafe differs from all

other Cafes in two Circumftances : 1. ThePer-
fon which is committed is a Member of the

Houfe by which he is committed (I do not take

upon me to fay that the Cafe would be different

if the Perfon committed were not a Peer.) 2.. The
Court that does commit is Superior to this Court,

and therefore if the Contempt had been particu-

larly (hewn, of what Judgment foever this Court
fhould have been as to the Contempt, yet they

would not have difcharged the Earl, and there-

by take upon them a Jurifdictionover the Houfe
of Peers.

The Judges in no Age have taken upon them
the Judgment of what is Lex & confuetudo Par-

liament ; but here the Attempt is to engage the

Judges to give their Opinion in a Matter where-

of they might have refufed to have given it, if

it had been demanded in Parliament. 'Tis true,

if a Writ be brought where Privilege is pleaded,

the Court ought to judge of it as an Incident to

the Suit whereof the Court was poffefs'd ; but

this will be no Warrant for this Court to afTume

a Judgment of an Original Matter arifing in Par-

liament, and that which is faid of the Judges

Power to expound Statutes, cannot be denied.

But it is not applicable to this Cafe •, by the
fame Reafon that this Commitment is queftion'd,

every Commitment of the Houfe of Commons
may be likewife queftion'd in this Court. It is

objected, that there would be a Failure ofjuftice
if the Earl fhould not be difcharged -, but the
contrary is true ; for, ifhe be difcharged, there
would be a Failure of Juftice for Offences in

Parliament, and therefore the Earl would be
difcharged from all Manner of Punifhment for
his Offence, if he be difcharged (for he muft be
difcharged or remanded ; for the Court cannot
Bail but where they have Jurifdiction of the
Matter) and fo deliver'd out of the Hands of
the Lords, who only have Power to puniih
him.

It is objected, that the Contempt is not faid

to be committed in the Houfe of Peers, but it

may well be intended to be committed there ; |

for it appears he is a Member of that Houfe,
,

and that the Contempt was againft the Houfe ; ,

and befides, there are Contempts whereof they <

have Cognizance, tho' they are committed out 1

of the Houfe. It is objected, that 'tis poffiblc ;

this Contempt was committed before the General I

Pardon 5 but furely fuch Injuftice fhall not be

fuppofed in the Supreme Court, and it may
,

well be fuppofed to be committed, during the

Seffion in which the Commitment to Prifon

was.

It would be great Difficulty for the Lords to

make their Commitments fo exact and particular,

when they are employ'd in the arduous Affiirsof

the Realm ; and it has been adjudged on a Re-
turn out of Chancery, of a Commitment for a

Contempt againft a Decree, that it was good,

and yet the Decree was not ffiown.

The Limitation of the Imprifonment is well,

for if the King or the Houfe determine their

Pleafure, he fhall be difcharged, for then 'tis not

the Pleafure of both that he fhould be detained,

and the Addition of thofc Words during the Plea-

fure, is no more than was before implied by the

Law ; for if thofe Words had been omitted,

yet the King might have pardon'd the Contempt,
if he had but exprefs'd his Pleafure under the

Broad Seal. If a Judgment be given in this

Court, that one fhall be Imprifon'd during the

King's Pleafure ; his Pleafure ought to be deter-

mined by Pardon, and not by any Act of this

Court, fo that the King would have no Prejudice

by the Imprifonment of a great Minifter, becaufe

he could difcharge him by a Pardon. The dou-

ble Limitation is for the Benefit of the Prifo-

ner, who ought not to complain of the Duration

of his Imprifonment, fince he has neglected to

make Application for his Difcharge in an order-.

,ly way.
I confefs by the Determination of the Seffion,

the Orders made the fame Seffion are difcharged,

but I fhall not affirm whether this prefent Order

will be difcharged or no, becaufe it is a Judg-

ment. But this is not the prefent Cafe, for the

Seffion continues notwithstanding the Royal Af-

fent given to feveral Bills, according to the Opi-

nion of Coke, and all the Judges. Hutton 61,62.

Every Provifo in an Act of Parliament is not a

Determination of what was the Law before; for

they are often added for the Satisfaction of thofe

that are ignorant of the Law.
Turner, Solicitor Gen. To the fame Effect, in

the great Cafe ofMr. Selden, j Car. 1 . the War-

ran*:
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rant was for notable Contempt committed a-

oainft us and our Government, and flirring up

Sedition ; and altho' that be almoff. as general as

that in our Cafe, yet no Objection was made to

it for that Claufe in any of the Arguments, Rujb-

wortlfs CollccJions, 18, and 10, in the Appendix.

But I agree that this Return could not have

been maintained if it were out of an Inferior '

Court, but during the Seffion this Court can

take no Cognizance of the Matter, and the In- '

convenience would be great if the Law were

taken otherwife ; for this Court might judge (

one way, and the Houfe of Peers another :

which doubtlefs would not be for the Advan- '

tage and Benefit of the Subject. For the avoid- '

ing of this Mifchief, it was agreed by the whole

Court in the Cafe of Barnardifton and Somes, that

the Accord for the double Return could not be

brought in this Court until the Parliament had

determined the Right of Election, left there

ihould be a Difference between the Judgments of

the Courts.

When a Judgment of the Lords comes to this

Court, tho' it be of a Reverfal of a Judgment of

this Court, the Court is obliged to execute it

;

but their Judgment was never examined or cor-

rected here. In the Cafe of the Lord Hollis, it

was refolved that this Court had no Jurifdiction

of a Mifdemeanor committed in Parliament ;

when the Parliament is determined, the Judges

are the Expofitors of the Acts, and are intruded

with the Lives, Liberties and Fortunes of the

Subject, and if the Seffion were determined, the

Earl mipht apply himfelf to this Court, for the

Subject {hall not be without a Place where he

may refort for the Recovery of his Liberty, but

this Seffion is not determined : For the moffc

part the Royal AfTent is given the laff. Day, as

I,
faith Plozvden, Partridge's Cafe j yet the giving

I
the Royal Ailent does not make it the lalt Day
of Parliament without a fubfequent Refolution

or Prerogative, and the Court judicially takes

1 notice of Prorogation and Adjournments of Par-

I
liament. Cro. Jac. in. Ford verfus Hunten, and

by Confequence no Order is difcontinued, but

remains as if the Parliament were actually Af-

fembled. Cro. Jac. 314. Sir Chr. Hauden's Cafe,

fo that the Earl ought to apply himfelf to the

Lords, who are his proper Judges.

It ought to be obferved, That this Attempt

is Prima Impreffionis, and though Imprifonment

j

upon Contempt hath been frequent by the one

and the other Houfe, till now no Perfon ever

fought Inlargement here : The Court was ob-

liged in Juftice to grant the Habeas Corpus, but

upon the whole Matter being difclofed, it ap-

pears upon the Return, that the Caufe belongs

ad aliud examen j they ought to remand the

Party.

As to the Limitation of the Imprifonment

the King may determine his Pleafure by a Par-

|
don under the Great Seal of England, as in the

I
Cafe of Reinger and Flagojfa, Plowden 20.

As to the Exception that no Commitment is

! returned, the Conftable can only fhew what con-

\ cerns himfelf, which is the Warrant to him di-

! reefed •, and the Writ does not require him to

return any thing elfe.

As to your Exception, that he is otherwife

mined in the Commitment than in the Writ

:

'; The Writ requires to have the Body of A. Earl

of S. Quocunque nomine Cenfeatur in the Commit-
ment.

After this, my Lord Shaftshury made a Speech j

the Subftance thereof followeth.

My Lords,

ID I D not intend to have fpoke one Word
in this Bufinefs, but fomething hath been

objected and laid to my Charge by the King's
Counfel, Mr. Attorney and Mr. Solicitor, that

enforceth me to fay fomething for your better

Satisfaction. They have told you that my
Counfel in their Arguments faid, That this

Court was greater than the Houfe of Peers,

which ! dare to appeal to your Lordlhips and
the whole Court, that it was never fpoken by
them, I am fure was net by any Directions of
mine. What is done by my Counfel, and by
me, is, That this is the moil: proper Court to

refort unto, where the Liberty of the Subject
is concerned. The Lords Houfe is the Sup: erne

Houfe ofJudicature in the Kingdom ; but yet

there is a Jurifdidtion that the L >rds Houfe
does not meddle with. The King's Counfel
hath mentioned, as a Wonder, That a Mem-

4 ber of the Lords Houfe fhould come hither to
4 diminifh the Jurifdiction of the Lords. I ac-
« knowledge them to be Superior to this, or any
4 other Court, to whom all Appeals and Writs
4 of Error are brought; and yet there are Jurif-
t dictions that they do not challenge, and which
* are not natural to them, or proper for them.
' They Claim not to meddle in Original Caufes,
« and fo I might mention in other things; and I

« do not think it a Kindnefs to aiiy Power or Bo-
4 dy of Men,to give them fuch Powers that are not
4 natural or proper to their Conflitution. I do
4 not think it a Kindnefs to the Lords to make
4 them abfolute and above the Law, for fo I hum-
' bly conceive this muff, do, if it be adjudged
1 that they by a general Warrant, or without a-

* ny particular Caufe affigned, do commit me, or
4 any other Man, to a perpetual and indefinite

4 Imprifonment : And, my Lords, I am not fo

4 inconfiderable a Perfon, but what you do in

4 my Cafe, muff be Law for every Man in Eng-
4 land.

4 Mr. Attorney is pleafed to fay, I am a Mem-
4 ber of the Lords Houfe, and to lay weight on
4 the Word Member, ft is very true, I am cne
* of them, and no Man hath a greater Reve-
4 rence or Efteem for the Lords, than my felf

:

4 bur, my Lords, I hope my being a Peer, or a

4 Member of either Houfe, fhall not lofe my
' being an Englifhman, or make me to have lefs

* Title to Magna Charta and the other Laws of

' EngUJJ) Liberty.
* My Opinion is not with one of my Coun-

c fel, who argued very learnedly, That the paf-

4 flng an Act by the King's Royal AfTent can

' make a Seffions, becaufe the uiual Provifo Was

* not in it. It was without any Inftruction of

' mine to mention that Point.

* The King's Counfel tells your Lordfhips of

* the Laws and Cufloms of Parliament; and if

4 this was fo, I fhould fubmit : But this Cafe

* of mine is Prima Imprejfionis, and is a new way,

« fuch as neither Mr. Attorney nor Mr. Solicitor

4 can fhew any Precedent of, and I have no other

4 Remedy nor Place to apply to than the Way I

4 take.
Mr '
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* Mr. Attorney confeffeth that the King's Plea-

' fure may releafe me without the Lords. If fo,

4 this Court is Coram Rege. This Court is the

' proper Place to determine the King's Pleafure.

s This Court will and ought to judge of an Act
* of Parliament void, if it be againft Magna Char-
4

ta, much more may judge an Order of the

' Houfe, that is put in Execution to deprive any
4 Subject of his Liberty. And if this Order of
4 Commitment be a Judgment, as the King's
* Counfel affirms, then it is out of the Lords
4 Hands, and properly before your Lordfhips,
4 as much as the Acts which were lately palled,

* which I prefume you will not refufe to judge
* of, notwithstanding that the King's Attorney-
4 General faith that this Parliament is ftill in Be-
* ing. I rake it fomcthing ill that Mr. Attorney

* tells me I might have applied elfewhere.

* My Lords, I have not omitted what became
e my Duty towards the King ; for befides the

' Oath of iUlegiance I took as a Peer, or an
4 Englijhman, there is fomething in my Bread
4 that will never fuffer me to depart from the

' Duty and Refpect that 1 owe him ; but I am
* here before him, he is always fuppofed to be
4 here prefent, and he alloweth his Subjects the

* Law.
' My Lords, they fpeak much of the Cu-

* ftom of Parliament ; but I do affirm to you,
* there is no Cuftom of Parliament that ever

* their Members were put out of their own
4 Power j and the Inconveniences of it will be
* endlefs.

4 Mr. Attorney was pleafed eafily to anfwerthe
* Objection of one of my Counfel j If a great
* Minifter fhould be fo committed, he hath the

* Cure of a Pardon, a Prorogation, or a Diflblu-
4 tion : But if the Cafe fhould be put, why for-

* ty Members, or a greater Number, may not
' as well be taken away without Remedy in any
' of the King's Courts, he will not fo eafily
4 anfwer ; and if in this Cafe there can be no
* Relief, no Man can forefee what will be here-
4 after.

4
I deflre your Lordfhips well to confider what

4 Rule you make in my Cafe, for it will be a
4 Precedent that in future Ages may concern e-
4 very Man in England.

4 My Lords, Mr. Attorney faith you muft ei-
4 ther releafe or remand me > I differ from him
4 in that Opinion. 1 do not infift upon a Releafe

:

* I have been a Prifoner above five Months al-

4 ready, and come hither of Neceffity, having
4 no other way to get my Liberty, and there-
* fore am very willing to tender your Lordfhips
4 Bail, which are in or near the Court, good as
e any are in England, either for their Quality
4 or Eftate, and I am ready to give any Sum or
* Number.

* My Lords, this Court being pofTefs'd of this
4 Bufinefs, I am now your Prifoner.

The Court deliver'd their Opinion Seriatim.

Sir Tho. Jones, Juftice. Such a Commitment
by an ordinary Court of Juftice, would have

been ill and uncertain ; but the Caufe is different

when it comes before this High Court, to which
fo much Refpect has been paid by our Predecef-

fors, that they have deferred the Determination

of Doubts conceived on an Act of Parliament,

until they have received the Advice of the Lords :

and now, inftead thereof, it is demanded of us

to control the Judgment of all the Peers, given
on a Member of their own Houfe, and during
the Continuance of the fame Seffion. The Cafes

where the Courts of IVeftminfter have taken Cog-
nizance of Privilege, differ from this Cafe : for

in thofe it was only an Incident to the Cafe be-

fore them, which was of their Cognizance ; but
the direct Point of the Matter is now the Judg-
ment of the Lords.

The Courfe of all Courts ought to be confi-

der'd, for that is the Law of the Court, Lane's

Cafe, z Rejl. and it has not been affirmed, That
the Ufage of the Houfe of Lords has ufed to ex-
prefs the Matter more particularly on Commit-
ments for Contempts, and therefore I fhall take
it to be according to the Courfe of Parliament.

4 Inft. 50. It is faid that the Judges are Affiftants

to the Lords, to inform them of Common Law >

but they ought not to judge of any Law, Cu-
ftom, or Uiage of Parliament.

The Objection as to the Continuance of the
Imprifonment, has received a plain Anfwer, for it

fhall be determined by the Pleafure of the King,
or of the Lords : and if it were otherwife, yet

the King could pardon the Contempt under the

Great Seal, or difcharge the Imprifonment under
the Privy- Sea).

I fhall not fay what would be the Confequence
(as to this Imprifonment) if the Seffion were de-

termined #
, for that is not the prefent Cafe: but

as the Cafe is, the Court can neither Bail nor
Difcharge the Earl.

Wild, Juftice. The Return, no doubt, is il-

legal ; but the Queftion is of a Point of Jurif-

diction, Whether it may be examined here ?

This Court can't meddle with the Tranfactions

of the moft High Court of Peers in Parliament

during the Seffion, which is not determined ;

and therefore the Certainty or Uncertainty of
the Return is not material, for it is not exami-
nable here: but if the Seffion had been determi-

ned, my Opinion would be, that he ought to be

difcharged.

Rainsford, Chief Juftice. This Court has no

Jurifdiction of the Caufe, and therefore the Form
of the Return is not confiderable. We ought
not to extend our Jurifdicton beyond it's due Li-

mits, and the Actions of our Anceftors will not

warrant us in fuch an Attempt.

The Confequence would be very mifchievous

if this Court fhould deliver a Member of the

Houfe of Peers and Commons who are commit-
ted, for thereby the Bufinefs of Parliament may
be retarded j for it may be the Commitment was

for evil Behaviour, or indecent Reflections on o-

ther Members, to the Difturbance of the Affairs

of Parliament.

The Coirjmitrnent in this Cafe is not for fafe

Cuftody, but he is in Execution of the Judg-
ment given by the Lords for the Contempt j

and therefore if he fhould be Bailed, he would
be delivered out of Execution ; for a Contempt
in facie Curia there is no other Judgment or Exe-

cution.

This Court has no Jurifdiction, and therefore

This was the Cafe afterwards ofthe Earl of Danby, N p 78;

he
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he ought to be remanded. I deliver no Opi-

nion whether it would be otherwife in Cafe of

a Prorogation.

Twifden, Juftice, was abfent, but he defired

Juftictf Jones to declare that his Opinion was,

That the Party ought to be Remanded.

So the Earl was remanded to Prifon, and flaid

there 'till another Seffion of Parliament j when
his Application to an infetior Court was Voted

a Breach of Privilege by the Lords, for Which

the Earl was to artfwer his Contempt at the Bar

of the Houfe.

On the nd of February he was accordingly

brought to the Bar, where he offered to acknow-

ledge his aflerting the Diffolucion of the Parlia-

ment to be an unadvifed Action, and to beg their

Lordfliips Pardon for his Offence in bringing an
Habeas Corpus.

Upon which the Houfe proceeded to a Refo-
lution, That the Lord Shaftsbury mould make
his Submiffion and Acknowledgment in a Form
prefcrib'd by that Houfe j and accordingly a De-
claration was prepar'd for that purpofe. The
Lord Chancellor read the Words to him, and the

Lord Shaftsbury, kneeling, repeated them at the

Bar, and then withdrew. So the Houfe order-

ed the Lords with white Staves to acquaint his

Majefty, That they had received Satisfaction

from the Earl of Shaftsbury, in the Matter of
the Habeas Corpus, and the other Contempt, and
pray'd him to difcharge the Earl from his Con-
finement, which was done.

LXXIL The Trial 0/ J a m e s M 1 t ch £ L *, in Scotland, for

attempting the Murder of Dr. James Sharp, Arch-

bifhop of St. Andrews t? and Wounding the Bifhop of
Orkney, the jth 0/January, 167^. £9 Car. II.

'3 AMES Mitchel being indicted for

„Jk pj£ an Attempt to murder the Archbi-

:< fhop of St. Andrew** in July 1668,

U , I was committed 1674 Prifoner to the
aSsS^Si^

foifoQtjj at Edinburgh ; whereupon the

Lord Commiffioffer and the Lords of the Privy-

Council appointed a Committee to examine him,

viz. Lord Linlithgow, PfefeS (Prefident) ; Hatton,

Treafurer Depute $ Dundonald, Rofs, and Murray,

Judiciaries} Craigy, Collmgton, &c. When he was

brought before the Committee, he was purfua-

ded to make Acknowledgment of the Fa£tj a

Relation whereof is thus given by himfelf.

« My Indi&ment I take up in thefe two Parti-

* culars : Firft, As they term it Rebellion and

' Treafon, anent which I anfwered to My Lord
« Chancellor in Committee, that it was no Re-
« bellion, but a Duty which every one was bound

!
* to have performed in joining with that Party,

!
< and I : In the Year 16 f6, Mr. Robert Lighton

being then Primar in the College of Edinburgh,

before our Laureation, tendered to us the Natio-

nal Covenant, and Solemn League and Covenant •>

upon mature Deliberation, i found nothing in

them, but a fhort Compend of the Moral Law,

only binding us to our Duty towards God and

towards Men in their feveral Stations ; and I

finding, that our banifhed King's Intereft lay

wholly included therein, and both Coronation

and Allegiance Oaths, t§c. and they being the

Subftance of all Loyalty •, and my Lord, it was

well known, that then many were taking the

Tender, and forfw earing Charles Stuart, Parlu-

' ment and Houfe of Lords, I then Subfcribed
e both, the doing of which My Lord Chancellor

Would have flood at no lefs Rate, if as well

known, than this my prefent adhering and pro-

fecuting the Ends thereof doth now ; and when
I was queftioned what then I called Rebellion,

I anfwered, it is in Ezra vii. 16. And whome-
ver will not do the Law of Cod and of the King-,

&c But being queftioned before the Commif-
fioner and the Council thereanent, I anfwered as

I faid to My Lord Chancellor before : In the Year

i6f6, Mr. Robert Lighton being then Primar
in the College of Edinburgh, before our Laure-

ation, he tendered to us the National and So-

lemn League and Covenant : He ftopt me, fay-

ing, Pie wad ye are come here to give a Te-
ftimony : And then being demanded whar I cal-

led Rebellion, if it was not Rebellion to op-
pofe his Majefty's Forces in the Face: To the

which I anfwered, viz. My Lord Chancellor,

if it pleafe your Grace, I humbly conceive they
fhould have been with us$ meaning, that it was
the Duty of thefe Forces to have joined with
us, according to the National and Solemn
League and Covenant ; at which Anfwer I per-

ceived him to ftorm : Bur, faith he, I heard ye
have been over Seas, with whom did ye con-
verfe there? Anfwer, With my Merchant. Bur,

faith he, With whom in particular ? Anfwer,
With one John Mitchel, a Coufin of mine own.

Saith he, I have heard of him, he is a Factor
; in Rotterdam) to which I conceded. But, faith

: he, did ye not converfe with Mr. Livingfion,
1 and fuch as he ? to which I anfwered, I conver-

* Burnet' j Eift- of his *&•/* Times, Vol. I. p. 4< 3 416.

\ About two Tears afterwards, in 1679, be --was atlually murder dbj the Mob, as be v,-as goiiig heme in his Coach. Ibid. 470

fed
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fed with all our banifhed Minifters. To which
he replied, Banifhed Traitors j ye will fpeak

Treafon at the Bar. Then he anfwered himfelf,

faying, But they would call the Shooting at

the Bifliop an Heroick Act. To which I an-

fwered, That I never told them any fuch thing.

But where did you fee James Wallace laft ? An-
fwer, Towards the Borders of Germany, fome

Years ago. But what ailed you at my Lord
St. Andrews ? (pointing at him with his Finger)

Anfwer, My Lord Commiflioner, the grievous

Oppreflion and horrid Blood-fhed of my Bre-

thren, and the eager Purfue after my own, as

it appeareth this Day to your Grace^, and to all

his Majefty's honourable Privy-Council. After

which he commanded to take me awayr that

they might fee what to do next with me.
' The Second is, the Shooting of the Shot

intended againft the Bifhop of St. Andrews,

whereby the Bifhop of Orkney was hurt ; to

which I anfwered My Lord Chancellor in pri-

vate, viz. That I looked on him to be the

main Inftigator of all the Oppreflion and Blood-

fhed of my Brethren that followed thereupon,

and the continual purfuing after my own j and,

my Lord, as it was creditably reported to us

(the Truth of which your Lordfhip knows bet-

ter than we) that he kept up his Majefty's Let-

ter inhibiting any more Blood upon that Ac-

count, until the laft Six were Execute: And I

being a Soldier, not having laid down Arms,

but being ftill upon my own Defence, and ha-

ving no other End nor Quarrel at any Man
(but according to my Apprehenfion of him)

that as I hope in Sincerity, with fixing either

my Senfe or Action upon the Covenant it felf,

as it may be underftood by the many Thoufands

of the Faithful, befides the ProfecUtion of the

Ends of the fame Covenant, which was, and in

that Point the Overthrow of Prelates and Pre-

lacy, and I being a declared Enemy to him on

that Account, and he to me in like manner. So
I never found my felf obliged, either by the

Law of God, or Nature, to fet a Centry at his

Door for his Safety, but as he was always to

take his Advantage, as it appeareth, fo I of him,

to take any Opportunity offered. Moreover

we being in no Terms of Capitulation, but on

the contrair, I, by his Inftigation, being exclu-

ded from all Grace and Favour, thought it my
Duty to purfue him at all Occafions : Alfo, my
Lord, Sir William Sharp making his Apology,

anent his unhandfome and cheating way taken,

he took me under the Pretence to have fpoken

with me about fome other Matters. I not

knowing him until five or fix of his Brothers

and his Servants were laying faft hold on me,

they being armed of purpofe, defired I would

exenfe him, feeing what he had done was up-

on his Brother's Account, which Excufe I ea-

fily admitted, feeing that he thought himfelf

* obliged to do what he did to me without Law or

* Order, in the behalf of his Brother ; much more
* was I obliged to do what I did, in the behalf

* of many Brethren, whofe Oppreflion was fo

« great, and whofe Blood he caufed to be flied in

« fuch Abundance. Moreover, he perfilling in

' his bloody Murders, as witnefleth the wound-
s ing of Mr. Bruce at his Taking, by his Emifla-

* ries, fome few Days before that fell out con-

« cerning himfelf, I wasdefirous, if by any means
» in taking him away I could, to have put a Stop

4 to the then currant Perfecution. Thus far I

* have truly refumed what pafTed. My Confef-
* fion was made upon Oath and Promife made to
* me upon Life and Safety, and indeed the Pro-
4 mife made to me by my Lord Chancellor was
* in thefe Words \ Upon my great Oath and Re-
1 putation, if I be Chancellor, ijhall faveyour Lifev
* and if ye 'will not confefs^ the Council will take a~
4 nother way to make it out, which I took for the
' Boots, as I found afterwards.

After two Years Imprifonment, upon the
|

1 8 th of Jan. 1676, he was unawares, at Six a

Clock of the Night (about the time of the in-

clofing of the Wards) called forth before the
Committee.
At his Appearance, the Lords Jufticiaries ob-

juring themfelves by putting their Hands upon
their Faces, and leaning upon their Elbows upon
the Table : My Lord Prefes faid, Sir, Ye are

brought here before the Committee, to fee ifyou
will adhere to your former Confeflion, or not.

To which he anfwered, My Lord, it is not un
known to your Lordfhip, and others here pre-

fent, that by the Council's Order I was remitted

to the Lords Jufticiaries, before whom I received

an Incitement, at my Lord Advocat's Inftance,

wherein I was indited both of Life and Fortune*
although, my Lord, Fortune have I none. To
which Inditement I anfwered at three feveral Dy-
ets, being deferted by my Lord Advocat. I hum-
bly conceive, that both by the Law of the Na-
tion, and the Practice of the Houfe at that time,

I ought to have been fet ac Liberty, yet notwith-
standing I was, contrary both to Law, Juftice,

and Equity, returned to Prifon. And upon what
Account 1 am brought this Night before your
Lordfhip, I know not. To the which my Lord
Prefes anfwered, Ye are not accufed here, neither

upon Life nor Fortune, but to fee whether you
will adhere to your former Confeflion. To
which it was anfwered, I am not convinced of

any Crime, therefore I know not any fuch Con-
feflion as your Lordfhip alledges. To which my
Lord Treafurer Depute replyed, He is one of the

moft arrogant Rogues, Cheats, Liars, and what
not. To which he replyed, My Lord, if there

were fewer of fuch Pcrfons of whom your Lord-
fhip have been fpeaking, in the Nation, I would'
not be ftanding this Night at your Bar : But my
Lord Advocat knows, that what hath been al-

ledged againft me, is not my Confeflion. To
which he replyed, Do you not remember that

before the Lord Commiflioner and the Council
ye faid fuch and fuch thing ? To which it was
replyed, That my Lord Commiflioner never en-

quired about any fuch thing ; only he faid, he
heard that I had been abroad, and over Seas, and
enquired with whom I did converfe there; to
which it was replyed, With my Merchant, my
Lord; But with whom in particular? to which
1 anfwered, With one John Mitchel, a Coufin
of mine own; fo that there was no fuch Difcourfe

before the Council. But, fays my Lord Prefes,

we will make a (harper thing make you to con-

fefs. To which it was replied by the Pannel, I

hope your Lordfliips are Chriftians and not Pa-

gans. To which the Treafurer Depute added,

faying, Thar, the Pannel was no Chriftian. To
which the Pannel replyed, My Lord, you know
the old Proverb, Turpe eft Dotlori &c. And fo he

was returned to Prifon for that Night.

Upoa



i6jj. to Murder the Archbljhop ofSt. Andrews. 625

1 ;

Upon the nd Day, he being called before the

faid Committee who fate in the Town's Coun-

cil- Houle, at which time my Lord Prefes faid to

him : Sir, ye are called here again to fee if ye

will adhere to your former Confeffion, (opening

a Paper to the Pannel, and alledged it to be fub-

fcribed by him.) To which it was anfwered, My
Lord, I acknowledge no fuch Thing. Then he

replyed, Sir, ye fee what is upon the Table be-

fore you •, I fhall fee if that can caufe you do it.

To which ic was anfwered, By that Torture you

may caufe meblafpheme God, as Saul did com-

pel the Saints ; you may by that Torture caufe

me to fpeak amifs of your Lordlhip j to call my
felf a Thief, a Murtherer, or Warlock, and what

nor, and then pannel me upon it: But if ye fhall,

my Lords, put me to it, I here proteft before

God and your Lordfhip, that nothing extorred

from me by Torture fhall be made ufe of againft

me in Judgment, nor have any force againft me
in Law, or any other Perfon whomfoever ; but

to be plain with your Lordfhip, I am fo much a

Chriftian, that whatever your Lordfhip fhall le-

gally prove againft me, if it be a Truth, I will

not deny it. But, my Lord, on the contrary, I

am fo much a Man, yea, and a Scots Man, that

1 never held my felf obliged, either by the Law
of God or Nature, or by the Law of Nations,

to become my own Accufer. Then faid my
Lord Depute Treafurer to the Prefes, He hath the

1 Devil's Logick, and fophifticats like him. Ask
• at him whether or not that be his Subfcription?

•To which he anfwered, he acknowledged no fuch

thing. To which HMoun anfwered, Bid him

fay, Yea, or Not. Then my Lord Prefes faid,

(pointing his Hand to the Boot) You fee what is

before you, fay either Yea, or Not. He anfwered,

] fay Not-, and fo he was returned to clofe Pri-

fon as before.

Upon the 24th Day they folemnly afTembled,

to wit, with their Robes in the Parliament-

Houfe, where the Lords of the Seflion fit, at

which time the Executioner was prefent with the

Boots, and the Pannel being brought as before

to the Bar, the Lord Prefes faid, You are now
brought here to fee if you will yet confefs before

you be put to Torture. But the Pannel know-
ing, according to the rate of the Spanijlo Inqui-

fition, that always the more he confefTed, either

concerning himfelf, or any other Perfon, the

more feverely the Torture would be made ufe of,

to make him confefs more ; therefore he anfwer-

ed after this manner: My Lord, I fhall ftudy

Brevity by fpeaking a few Words what I have to

fay, to wit, That I have been now thefe two
lull Years in Prifon, and more than one of them

1 in Bolts and Fetters, and upward of thirty Weeks
in clofe Prifon, fo that my Imprifonment hath

'been more intolerable to me than the Pains of

|
many Deaths, if I had been capable thereof

:

Yea, and it is well known, that within a fhorter

Time in regard of my Imprifonment, feveral have

made away themfelves rather than endured the

Affliction of a Prifon-, bur, my Lord, an Obe-
dience to the exprefs Commandment of God
hath made me to undergo all Hardfhips I have

hitherto met with, and to undergo this prefent

Torture, to wit, the Prefervation of my Life,

and the Lives ofothers, as far as it is in my Po wer,

and to keep off innocent Blood from your Lord-
fhip, and your Families and Relations, which by
fhedding of mine, doubtlefs you would bring

Vol. II,

upon your felves, Pofterity, and Relations, Wrath
from the Lord, to the confuming thereof, until

there fhould be no Remnant nor Efcaping. And
now, my Lords, I do again proteft before God
and your Lordfhips, that whatever may be ex-
torted from me by Torture, may not be made
ufe of againft me, nor any other Perfon inJudg-
ment, nor have any force in Law. And fo, my
Lords, I have done : You may call the Men
whom you have appointed to your Work. After

which they caufed the Macer to call upon the
Executioner, and two Officers appointed for that

effect, who tyed him in an armed Chair, and
brought the Boots, and enquired which of his

Legs they fhould take j but they, after fpeaking
amongft themfelves, commanded the Executioner
to take any of them, upon which he laid the left

Leg upon the Boot, but the Pannel lifted it ouc
again, faying, Seeing ye Judges have not deter-

mined it, take the beft of the two, for I freely

beftow it in the Caufe j and laid his right Leg in-

to the Torturej after which the King's Advo-
cate faid, I fhall fpeak but one Word or two,
but notwithftanding continued his Difcourfe for

a confiderable time ; fo when he had made an
end, the Pannel anfwered thus ; My Lord Pre-

fes, the Advocat's one Word or two hath multi-

plied to fo many, that my Memory cannot ferve

me, in the Condition wherein I am, to refume
them fo as to anfwer them in particular : But I

fhall anfwer to the Scope of his Difcourfe. Firft,

Whereas he hath been fpeaking to the Sovereign-

ty of the Magiftrat, I fhall fay fomewhat more
than he hath faid, to wit, that the Magiftrac

whom God hath appointed, is God's Deputy,
and that both the Throne and the Judgment is

the Lord's, while he judgeth for God, and ac-

cording to the Law of God, and that a great

part of his Office is to deliver the Oppreffed out

of the Hand of the OpprefTor, and to fried no

innocent Blood, according to the Commandment
of God to Zedekiah by the Prophet Jeremiah,

Chap. xxii. 3. And, my Lords, Difobedience

to his Commandment brought the Wrath of

God upon him, his Princes, and the whole Na-
tion of the Jews, Chap, xxxvii. Secondly, My
Lord Advocat hath been hinting at the Sinful-

nefs of Lying upon any Account: It is anfwer-

ed, my Lords, that not only Lying is finful, but

alfo a pernicious fpeaking of the Truth is a hor-

rid Sin before God, while it tendeth to the fhed-

ding of innocent Blood, as witneffeth that of

Doeg, PfAii. compared with 1 Sam. xxii. zp.

But what my Lord Advocat hath forged againft

me is falfe, fo that I am ftanding upon my for-

mer Ground, viz. the Prefervation of my Life

and the Lives of others, as far as it lies in my
Power, the which I am exprefly commanded to

do by the Lord of Holts. After which, the

Clerk's Servant being called by the Advocat, they

interrogate him of many Queftions, upward to

the Number of Thirty, only to fee if they could

catch him in a Contradiction, or to fee if they

could find out any Perfon to wicnefs againft him ;

but he underftanding their Drift, anfwered as fol-

loweth: My Lords (not knowing that I fhall

efcape this Torture with my Life) therefore I

befeech you to remember what Solomon fays, He

ivbofiewetb no Mercy, pall have Judgment with-

out Mercy. And if there be any here prefent,

as I hope there are few or none, yet if there be

any fuch here, whofe Difpofuion is fo eager m
LI H Pur

"
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purfuing after innocent Blood, that nothing lefs

than a full Draught will fatisfy them, I fay, let

fuch remember what is fpoken, Rev. xix. f, 6.

Thou art righteons, O Lord, which was, and art,

and fhalt be, becaufethou haft judged thus, for they

havejhed the Blood of the Saints and Prophets, and

thou haft given them Blood to drink, for they are

ivorthy, 6cc. And now, my Lords, I do freely

from my Heart forgive you who are Judges fit-

ting upon the Bench, and the Men who are ap-

pointed to be about this Piece of horrid Work,
and alfo thefe who are vitiating their Eyes be-

holding the fame. And I do intreat, that God
may never lay it to the Charge of any of you,

as I beg that God may be pleafed for his Son
Chrift's fake to blot out my Sins and Iniquities,

and never lay them to my Charge here nor here-

after.

Queft. Are you that Mr.James Mitchelwho was

excepted out of the King's A6t of Grace and Fa-

vour, or not? Anfw. I never committed any fuch

Crime deferving me to be excluded, but rather

to be included, protected and defended. 4>. Know
you any more of that Name ? A. Yes, there are

two within Midlouthian ; and what know I, but

there may be more elfewhere ? J^. When knew
you of the Rifing iri Arms, Anno 1666? A. My
Lords, I knew of it when the reft of the Citizens

knew of it. j!^ When was that? A. When
there came a Meffenger to the Council for that

effect, and when Dalzel and his Soldiers march-

ed out at the Weft Port in order thereto.

9. Went not you out of the Town with Cap-

tain Amot? A. No. j£. Where did you meet

with James Wallace? A. I did not know him

at that time. Q. Was you at Air? or did you

join with the Rebels there, or any where elfe ?

A. I never joined with any fuch. To which

my Lord Hattoun, Treafurer Depute, replied,

faying, My Lord, he never acknowledges thefe

Men to be Rebels. To which the Pannel an-

fwered, My Lord, I fhall in anfwer to what is

fpoken follow Solomon's Advice, in that he fays,

at fome times even a Fool by holding his Peace,

will be reputed Wife. Whether or not Hattoun

took it to be fpoken of him, I cannot tell, but

there was nothing replied thereto by any of

them. J2>. Where was you at the time of Pent-

land? A. In Edinburgh. £>. Where was you
before it? A. In Edinburgh. gK Where was

you after it? A. In Edinburgh. j£. Where did

you lodge before that time ? A. In one Girfell

Whitefurd's. Q. Where did you ftay at that

time, and was you flill in the Town, or not ?

A. My Lord Advocate, I do not know what

you mean by being ftill in the Town, for you
may call it out of the Town, if I was at the

Wind-mill, or at Leith. j£>. What, was you no
where further abroad, than at fuch Places ? A. My
Memory cannot ferve me now, after ten Years

Space, to determine where I was ; neither do I

keep a Diurnal of times paft, nor is it my Duty
foto doj neither do I think any Man's Memory
here prefent can ferve him for fo long a time :

But this I judge, that it is my Duty every Day
to be about my lawful Employment and Calling,

according as God hath commanded, and there-

with to reft fatisfied. j£. What took you out

of the Town at that time? A. I was making

my felf ready to go over to Flanders. 6K With
whom went you? A. With one John Forrefter,

an Offender. <£>• How long was it after Pent*

land before you went? A. I cannot tell. jj>.Can
you not give it a guefs? A. About a Month or
fix Weeks. j£>. What was you doing all that

time? A. I was making my felf ready, and
thereafter there came a contrary Wind. &K Who
was Merchant in the Ship? A. I enquired not.

j^ But went not the Merchant along with you?
A. No. 6). What was the Reafon of that?
A. It was the time of the Dutch War againft

the Englifh, and at fuch times Merchants of Ships
do not hazard their Perfons with their Goods
but commits their Affairs to Factors abroad.

J2>. How long flayed you there? A. About
three Quarters of a Year. ^. Why flayed you
fo long there? A. It was a Space before 1 was
ready to return, and thereafter the Report of
Peace came, which thereafter followed, and I

thought it better to wait a little time than ha-
zard in War. j£. With whom came you home
again? A. With Dutchmen, who were Amfter-
damers. £K Was there no Scotfman with you ?

A. I have told you, my Lords, I came home
with Dutchmen. gK Who was the Skipper of
the Ship ? A. I cannot remember, but he came
to Lime Kills for a Loadning of Coals from Sir

James Hacket. J^. What Goods fetcht you
home? A. I cannot now remember the Parti-

culars. gK Where did you enter them? A. I

made the beft fhift I could to fhun the Cuftom-
ers. At which Sir William Parvas rifeth to caufe
call the Excife-men ; to which the Pannel re-

plied, O Sir William, it was out of your time
and theirs. J£. Did you know Pentry ? A. Yes.

j£. Is he living ? A. No. j|>. Did you know
Sir James Stirlin, and Mr. Robert Fergufon ? Are
they alive ? A. They are both dead, the one in

this Town, and the other in the Indies, being
called by the Indian Merchants to be a Minifter

in one of their Plantations. «<£. Knew you Wil-
liam Toung, and whofe Tenant he was ? A. Yes,
I both knew him, and that he was a Tenant of
Sir John Gibfon's. j£. Bought you aHorfe from
him at that time? A. I never bought a Horfe
from him. j£>. From whom had you a Horfe,
when you went out of the Town ? A. There was
none in the City who had a Horfe to lend for

Hire, who would have refufed me for my Mtv
ney. Q. But of whom had you a Horfe?
A. Where I could have none, I took me to my
Feet.

Which Examination being ended, the Execu-
tioner being commanded thereto, took down his

Leg from off a Cheft upon which it had been

lying the whole time in the Boot, and it being

fet upon the Ground, he began to thruft in the

Shafts, and drive the Wedge. And at every 1

Stroak they enquired, if I had any more to fay.
•

To which it was anfwered, No more, my Lords;
and thus it continued to the Number of Nine
Stroaks, upon the Head of the Wedge, at the

end of which he fell by into a little Swarfe thro'

the Extremity of Pain, at which the Executio-
der cried out, Ahs ! my Lords, he is gone, he

is gone. Then they commanded to leave off

the Torture, and rifing from their Seats went
away. After which he was returned to the Tot-

booth, being carried by his Friends in the Chair

in which he was tied during the time of his Tor-
ture.

He ftill continued Prifoner in the Tolbooth till

the 7th of Jan. 1678, when they proceeded a-

gainfl; him before theJuftices, as follows

:

XXXIX.



1677* to Murder the Archbifhop ofSt. Andrews. 627

xxix Car. II. 1678.

Curia Jujliciaricz. S. D. N. Regis tenia in
cPratorio Burgi de Edenburgi, Septimo

die Menfis Januarii, 1678. Ter hono-

rabilesviros Dominos Archibaldum Prim-

rofe de Caringtoun Jujiiciarium Gene-

raleniy Jacobum Fouclis de Colintoun,

Robcrtum Nairn de Strathurd, Joannem
Lockhart de Caftlehill, Davidem Bal-

four de Ferret, & Thomam Murray de

Glendoick, CommiJJionarios Jujliciaria

ditti S. D. N. Regis.

Curia legitime ajfirmata.

Intrar? Mr. James Mitch el, Prifoner.

IN D Y T E D and Accufed, forafmuch as be

the Common- Law and Law of Nations, and

the Law of this Kingdom, Murder and the Af-

faulting and Attempting upon any Perfon or

Perfons be way of Forethought Fellonie £3? per,

.infidias & indufiriam, of purpofe and deflgn to

Kill, are moft atrocious and deteftable Crimes,

!deft< uctive to and againft the Being of Humane
[Society, and is feverly punifhable, but efpecially

When the famen are committed upon the Per-

fons of Counfellors and other Officers who doe

reprefent Authoritie, and are liable to the Mif-

itakes and Malice of wicked Perfons for doing
!;heir Duty, or when the famen are committed

upon the Perfons of Churchmen, Bithops or

Minifters, who are of the Sacred Function •, who
oe the Laws of all Nations are priviledged and

ecured, as much as can be, from the Malice

:nd facrilegious Attempts of wicked Perfons.

\nd particularly, it is Statute be the fourth Act

>f the fixteenth Parliament of King James the

iixth, That whatfoever Perfon invades or per-

ues any of the Lords of Seffion, fecret Council,

any of his Majefty's Officers, for doing of

is Majefty's Service, fliall be punifhed with

Death. And be the feventh Act of the firfl

'arliament of his Majefty's Royal Father in

inno 1633, intitulat, Anent the invading of Mi*

ifters, it is Statute that the fame fhall be ex-

uded to all Archbiftiops, Bifhops, and Mini-

:ers whatfoever. And be the fourth Act of his

/lajeftv's fecond Parliament, and fecond Sef-

lon of the fame, it is Statute, That whatfo-

ver Perfons fhall be guilty of the AfTaulting the

,ives of Minifters, that they fhall be puniihed

nth the pain of Death and Confiscation of their

loveables. And be the Laws and Acts of Par-

ament of this Kingdom, the Mutilation and

Hfmembration of any of his Majefty's Subjects,

eway of Forethought Felonie, is ane high and

ipital Crime, and punifhable with the pain of

•eath. Nevertheless, it is of Veritie, That ye

iving ftuken off all Fear of God and Confci-

ice, Refpect and Regard to his Majefty's Au-

loritie and Laws, and conceiving a deadly

[atred and Malice againft a Reverend Father

1 God, James Archbifhop of St. Andrews (a

erfon who had never known or feen you, lo as

i> take notice of you, and much lefs had gi-
r:n you any Offence) without any Ground or

(juarrell, and upon Account only that he was

'Vol. II.

advanced and promoted to be Archbifhop, and
to be of his Majefty's Privie Council.) and did
ferve God and his Majefty faith fullie in the
faids Stations and Offices ; you did dayly con-
trive, refolve and deflgn the Murder and Afla-

fination of the faid Archbifhop : And in order
thereto, having provyded yourfelf with a pair
of long Scots IronPiftols near Musket bore, you
did upon the Nynth Day of July 1688, or ane or
other of the Days of the faid Moneth, proceed
and take the Opportunity to execute and goe
about your horrid and cruel Deflgn, when the
faid Archbifhop in the Afternoon of the faid

Day did come down his own Stair, and was go-
ing to his Coach, being to go abroad upon his

Occafionswith a Reverend Father in God, An-
drew Bifhop of Orkney. And you having a char-
ged Piftol with Powder and Ball, did moft cru-
ellie and fellonioufly AfTkult the faids Biihops,
and did fire, difcharge, and fhot the faid Piftol

upon them, being within the faid Coach > and
God of his Goodnefs having preferved the Arch-
bifhop whom you intended to Murder, you did
by the faid Shot grievouflie Wound the Bifhop
of Orkney, to the great hazard and danger of his

Life ; fo that having for a long tyme, and with
great Pain, Torture, and expence of Blood,
languifhed of the faid Wound, being in a moft
dangerous Place in the joyning of the Hand and
Arm, where there is a Confluence of Nerves
and Fibres, he never did recover his Health to

that meafure and vigour that he had, or might
have had if he had not gotten the faid Wound.
And he was mutilat and difmembred as to his

Arm and Hand, fo that he could make no ufe of
the fame, but languifhed thereof until he dyed.
And after you had attempted and committed
the faid Aflafination and Villanie tanquam infidi-

ator y per induftriam y
and be way of Fore-

thought Fellonie, ye did goe away and efcape

throw the Multitude and Throng that had ga-
thered upon the Noife of the faid Shot, having

another charged and bended Piftol in your
Hands, of purpofe and defign to have killed any
Perfon who fhould have offered to take and ap-

prehend you. The forefaid Attempt and Villa-

nie being without any Parallel, the Circumftan-

ces being confidered, viz. That it was commit-
ted by one who profefied to be of the Reformed
Religion, and who did pretend to be and ferve

as a Chaplain in feveral'Families ; that it was com-
mitted to the great Scandal and Difadvantage

of Chriftian Religion, and efpecially of the

Proteftant Reformed Religion, the ProfefTors

and Preachers of the fame having fo much de-

clared againft, and be their Preaching and

Wrytting having expreft their Deteftation of

fuch Attempts and Practices committed by Per-

fons, and ouned by Wrytters of the Roman Pro-

feffion : And that it cannot be inftanced that

any of the Proteftant Religion was guilty of any

Attempt upon the Account of Religion: And
that the worft of Men being afhamed to com-
mit fuch Villanies ; for covering of the fame,

and for their Security, doth take the Opportu-

nity of Darknefs and Solitude, in Corners and

folitary Places; Your- Malice was fo implaca-

ble, that you was prodigal of your own Lyfe to

be Mailer of the Lyfe of the faid Archbifhop j

and in the High Street of Edinburgh, and in the

Day-light, and in the face of the Sun, and be-

fore many WitneiTes, near or at a little diftance

L 1 1 1 i fr0»
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from the faid Coach, where you could not but

expect to be prefentiy feaied upon, you did de-

vote your felf and did adventure to commit the

faid moft villanous and wicked Attempt. Yet
notwithstanding of all the faids Aggravations

and Circumftanccs of Horror and Rcmorfe, you
did continue in your implacable Malice, and

did converfe and keep Gorrefpondence with Ro-

bert Cannon of Mondrogatt, and. with —— JVelfh

of Comlie, and -—i Mac Ckland of Bar/cop,

declared and excepted Rebels and Traitors;

had divers Meetings with them, and upon Dif-

courfe concerning the (aid Attempt, every one

of the f.ids Perfons putting it upon one another,

when it was put to you, you faid and uttered

thefe or the like Speeches, Shame fall the miffe,

and that ye Jhould make the Fire hotter : And after

the tyme and Attempt forftid in the Year 1 668,

and fubfequent Years, Moneths, and Days of

the faids refpective Years, and in ane or other

of them, your guilty Confcience difquieting

and perfuing you, you did rove and go abroad

feveral tymes to Holland, England and Ireland,

until Divine Juftice did drive and bring you back

to this Kingdom, that Juftice might be fatisfied

and vindicat in fome meafure where you had
committed fo great Villanies. After your Re-
turn you did proceed to that height of Boldnefs

and Confidence, or rather Impudence, that you
did repair to and live in Edinburgh, and was mar-
ried there with your Wyt'e, who is yet living,

by Mr. JohnWelfh, who is a declared and ex-

cepted Traitor, and Forefault for his Accefllon

to the Rebellion 1666. And your Boldnes
was fo great in out-daring both God and
Authoritie, that for a long tyme ye have been
lodged and has kept a Shop near that Place

where the Archbifhop doth and is in ufe to

lodge when he is in Edinburgh, until at length

ye was difcovered and apprehended, having up-
on you when you was taken the fame Piftol

which ye fhot when ye committed the faid At-
tempt, which v/as found under your Coat charg-
ed with Powder and three Ball, of purpofe to
attempt again and execute your bloodie Defign
againft the faid Archbifhop, at lead againft any
Perfon who fhould offer to take you. From all

which Premifes, it is evident that ye are guilty
of the faids atrocious Crymes of Murder and
AfTafinat be way of forethought Fellonie, and
is a Pcrcujfor & fucarius, and of Mutilation, and
of the other Crymes above-mention'd : And
therefore the faids Pains ought to be inflicted

upon you as ane Murderer and AfTafinat, and as

guilty of the Crymes forfaids, in ane exemplarie
manner to the Terror of others.

Perfuer, Proctors in Defence.

Sir George Mac Kenzie of Sir George Lockhart.
Rofehaugh, our Sove-

: raign Lord's Advo- Mr. 'John Eleis.

cate.

,

His Majefty's Advocate produced ane War-
rand from his Majefty's Privy Council for per-
fueing the faid Mr. James Mitchel, whereof the
Tenor follows. Edinburgh, the (ixth Day of De-
cember i6jj, The Lord's of hi? Majefty's Privie
Council do hereby grant, order, and warrand to
Sir George Mac Kenzie of Rofehaugh, his Majefty's

Advocate, to raife and perfue a Criminal Pro-

cefs before the Lords Commiffioners ofjufticiary

againft Mr. James Mitchel for the Alfafinauon

attempted by him upon the Archbifhop of Sainc

Andrews and the Bifhbp of Orkney. Extract be

mejic fubferibitur, Al. Gibfone.

Mailer John Eleis Advocate produced are Act
of his Majefty's Privy Council impowering Sir

George Lockhart and him to appear for the Pan-

nals Defence, whereof the Tenor follows. Edin-

burgh the third Day of January, 1678, the

Lords of his Majefty's Privie Council, having

confidered a Petition prefented in behalf of Mr.
James Mitchel Prifoner, reprefenting y that he is

upon Munday next to undergo a Trial before the

Juftices at the inftance of his Majefty's Advo-
cate, as the alledged Ferfon who fhot a Piftol ac

the Archbifhop of St. Andrews : Yet no Advocat
will undertake to appear for him, without they

be fpeciallie commanded fo to do. And there-

fore fupplicating, that Sir George Lockhart and

Mr. John Eleis, Advocates, may be ordered t6

that Effect, the faids Lords do hereby order

and recommend the faid Sir George Lockhart and

Mr. John Eleis to appear and plead for the Sup-

plicant before the Juftices, in the Caufe abovemen-
tioned, upon Munday next, and other Dyets of

that Procefs, and appoints Intimation to be made
hereof to the faid Sir George Lockhart and Mr.

John Eleis, and to the Petitioner. Extract be

me, fufubferibitur, Al. Gibfone.

His Majefty's Advocate declares he paffes

from my Lord Juftice General as a Witnes in

this Caufe.

Mr. John Eleis, Advocate, as Proctor for the

Pannal, declares, that they fuftain my Loidjuf-
tice General to be a Judge in this Caufe not-

withftanding of his being cited as a Witnes both

by Perfuer and Defender.
Mr. James Mitchel Pannal denyes the Dittay,

and any pretended Confeflion alledged emmitted
be him.

Mr. John Eleis for the Pannal alledges, that ht
cannot pafs to the Knowledge of any AfTyfe:

And the Conclufion that the Pannal has com-
mitted Murder, cannot be inferred from the

Subfumption of the Lybell, becaufe be the Laws'

of this Kingdom, the Civil Law, the commort
Opinion of Docfors, the Law and general Cuf-

tom of all Nations, Nudus conatus & affeclm fine

effeclu, even in the moft attrocious Crymes, ex-

cept Treafon, Parricide, and other excepted

Crymes, is not puniihable by Death. And it

were againft all Reafon, feeing Punifhment9
ought to be proportional to the Crymes, that a

naked and fimple Defign of Murder fhould be

punifhed as Murder that had taken Effect. Et

in criminibus gravioribus & gravijjimis, viz. Jdul-

terium, Furtum, Sodomie, &c. the naked Defign

is not punifhed poena ordinaria, even by the Civil

Law. And tho* Lex Cornelia de ftccariis by ane

extraordinary ftretch does declare/ quis cum tela

ambulaverit, yet it is but a Statutory Law, and

deregot to by the Law of Nations, and the fpe-

cialLaws of our Nation, in fua far as Murder in

our Law is defined to be, and has only place in

Interfetlis perfelloniam, and thefe who were killed

upon forethought Fellonie. (ulo) In fua far

as the Lybell concludes him guilty of Affafi-

nation, the fame is no ways relevant, it being

both a Term and a Cryme unknown in our

Law. And be the Laws and Acts of Parliament

of
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of this Nation, the Subjects of Scotland are to be
governed by the Laws of Scotland. And tho'

the Cryme of Affafination were a Point of Dit-

tay by our Law, as it is not 5 yet it is not, nor

cannot be pretended he was hired for that Ef-

fect, nor is it lybelled. (pio.) In fua far as the

Lybell concludes the Pain of Death for Mutila-

tion of the Bilhop of Orkney, it is anfwered, that

the fame is' no ways relevant. And the faid

Conclufion cannot be inferred from the Subfum-
ption, beeaufe the Act of Parliament does only

decline Demembration to be punifhed as Slaugh-

ter, (ida.) The faid Act declares Demeinbra- .

tion to be only punifhed as Slaughter when it

proceeds upon forethought: Fellonie. {pio.)

The faid Act requires another Qualification,

viz- That it be perfued be the I'artie: None
of. which can be fubfumed upon in this Cafe,

beeaufe it is not lybelled that the Bifhop was

difmembred, or had his Hand cut off", but

only bad a Wound in the Hand. And the Ly-
bell does exprefslie bear, That the Bifhop of

Orkney got the Shot in the Hand aceidentallie,

when the Defign was againft theBifhop of Saint

Andrews, and fo was not upon forethought Fel-

l&hie as to him And laiflie, the Bifhop' s neareft

of Kine does not concurr nor perfue, which is

a fpecial Requifite in the faid Act of Parliament.

Like as the laid A£t is exolet, and in no Regifter

can it be made appear that any Perfon was capi-

tallie punifhed for Difmembration : But upon
i the contrary, many accufed and condemned in

jArbitrarie Punifhments. So that the Lybell is

irto ways relevant as to that Article, for the Rea-

sons forefaids ; fpeciallie feeing Difmembration

'is not io much here as lybelled or pretended.

And whereas it is infinuat, that the Bilhop did

languifh and die of the faid Wound : It is an-

fwered, that the Lybell is no ways relevant, he

conceived, beeaufe it is not lybelled that the

Wound was ex fua natura lethal or mortal. And
it is offered to be proven, that the Bifhop did

(live feveral Years thereafter, and go about his'

lordinary Function as a Bifhop, by Preaching,

f$c. which is a fufficient Ground of Exfculpa-

ition and Defence.

4/0. In fua far as the Lybell is founded upon
he Act of Parliament anent invading of Coun-
fellors, it is anfwered, That this prefent Cafe

(does not fall under the Compafs of the faid Act

of Parliament, beeaufe it is not lybelled that

the Caufe of the pretended Invafionof the Arch-

bifhop was upon the account he was in the Pro-

secution of his Majefty's Service ; but upon the

eontrar it may appear firange to any rational

Man Quorfum £5? cui bono he could have done

f/<?. As tonhe Acts anent invading of Mini-

fies, they import no capital Puniihment, but

only Confiscation of Moveables. And as to

which the faids Acts are opponed, and as to

the Act 1670, it is pofterior to the Fact lybelled.

In fua far as the Lybell feems to be founded

on a Confeffion ; and in fua far as the Confeffi-

on may be made ufe of as a fole or conjunct

Probation, the Pannal does object againft the

famen upon the Grounds and Reafons follow-

ing. Primo, If any (uch Confeffion was em-
muted by the Pannal, which he has abfolutlie

denyed in Prefer.ce of your Lordfhip (no ways

acknowledging the Lybell) no refpect can be

jhad thereto : And it is not probatorie, beeaufe

the famen is extrajudicial & extra Bancam, in re-

gard it is not made in Prefence of the Affyfe,

who are Judges to the Probation, which is ex-
prefslie eontrar to the po Act, 7. Parliament,

fing James <5, which requires the hail Proba-
tion to be led in Prefence of the Affyfe and Par-
tie. And which Act of Parliament was not on-
ly made for Secuntie of Pannals, as to a juft

and legal Procedure againfl them •, but alfo that

the Affyfers to whom the Truth of the Lives of
the Subjects of this Kingdom is committed, as to
the Point of Probation, might not proceed up-
on Fame and Report, but upon a clear Proba-
tion before them. For if that were not, the Af-

fyfe would be altogether deprived to know how
the Confeffion was emmitted, if fpontaneoufly
or ex confiantia veltrepidatione y or fpe Venice. And
the moft that ever was fu Mained in this Cafe,
was, that the AfTyfe did find a Partie guilty up-
on a Confeffion emmitted before a Quorum of
the Juftices in a fenced Court. Efto the faid pre-

tended Confeffion fhould be fuftained proba-
tive, as for the Reafons above-reprefented (the

Pannal with all Submiffion to your Lordfhips
humbly conceaves) it cannot: Yet, if any fuch

Confeffion was, it is null beeaufe it was elicete fpe
rcenice & immunitatis. And for proving thereof,

the Pannal does repeat his Exculpation, which
he conceaves is relevant in Law; and craves

the Witneffes therein to be examined upon the

Contents thereof, (ido.) The faid Confeffion

being emmitted extra Judicium & fpe Venice, as

faid is, eft in Je nulla, and cannot be confirmed
or validitat by the TeMimonie of any Witneffes

whatfomever. And to evidence that the Pan-
nal's Lyfe was never intended to be taken upon
the laid pretended Confeffion : The fame (if a-

ny was) is opponed ; by which it evidenely ap-

pears that he was examined upon Oath, as to

the moft material part of the Cryme, viz. his

Complices, which makes it more than evident,

that it being in materia criminale & capitale, in

which Oaths cannot be taken by Law, renders

the Confeffion null and invalidar, at lead makes
it evident that the Lybell has been reftricted ad

civile* effeclus.

My Lord Advocat infifts in the firft Place up-

on the fourth Act of the fixteent Parliament,

James 6. By which nudus conatus attempting

and invading, tho' nothing follow, is found re-

levant to inferr the pain of Death. But fo it is

that the faid Mr. James Mitchel did attempt the

killing the Archbifhop of Saint Andrews, a Privy

Councellour; which Attempt devenit ad attum

proximum, the faid Mr. James having done all

that was in his Power. And as to the Quality

adjected in the Act, infinuating tne Defence,

that it mult be proven that it was for doing of

his Majefty's Service; it is replyed, That this

Qualitie is inferred, and cannot, nor requires

not to be otherways proven, than by a prefu-

med Inference. For the Defign of the Aitemp-

ter being ane Act of the Mind and the Secret of

the Heart, it cannot be otherways proven, but

fimplieby the attempting a Secret Counct;llour,

or any of his Majefty's Officers, againft whom
the Pannal Could have no Quarrel, but for doing

of his Duty, and therefore the Law (till con-

cludes the fame, except the Pannal will offer

to condefcend upon another relevant Reafon,

viz. any private Fead j for if it were other-

ways,
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ways, the Act would be abfolutelie ufelefs, fince

any Perfon might attempt or kill a Privie Coun-

fellour, it being impoflible to prove what was

the Defigne. And this Act was defigned roeer-

]y to make all Attempts againft Privie Coun-

fellors punifhable by Death; for otherwife it

could be no Fence nor Protection for Privie

Counfellours, if it were onlie granted to them

under a Qualitic which were impoflible to be

proven. Nor can this feem hard, fince the Sub-

jects have only themfelves to blame, who at-

tempt againft the Lives of Privie Counfellours.

And it were very ridiculous to think, that if the

Brother of a Pannal fhould attempt to kill the

Judge or King's Advocate immediatlie after a

Procefs, that it were neceflar to prove the De-

figne otherways than by the natural Contingen-

cie which obvioufly aryfes from the Qualitie

and Circumftances of the Perpetration : But in

this Cafe as Mr. James Mitchel is a Perfon who
can condefcend upon no private Offence be-

twixt the Archbifhop and him, they being ab-

folute Strangers to one another ; fo befides the

Prefumprion of Law above- fpecifled, it is offer-

ed in Fortification of the Acl, Thar, Primo, the

faid Mr. James ownes himfelf to be of a Pro-

feffion who hates and execrates that Hyerar-

chie, and of which Sect the unhallowed Pen-

man of Nephtalie declares it lawful to Kill thole

of that Character, xdo. It is notour and of-

fered to be proven, that Mr. James himfelf de-

fended that it was lawful to kill fuch, and in-

deavoured by wrefted Places of Scripture to de-

fend himfelf, and gain Profelytes thereby. And
if need were, as there is none, it is fpecificklie

and diltinctly offered to be proven, that he ac-

knowledged that the Reafon why he ihot at

the Archbifhop, was, becaufe he thought him
a Perfecuter of the nefarious and execrable Re-
bels who appeared on Pentland-Hills : Nor can
Defigns nor Acts of the Mind be otherways pro-
ven than by fuch emmitted Declarations, Argu-
ments and Acknowledgments. Likeas in the
whole Courfe of our Law, the invading or at-

tempting any of that Sacred Function is Hill de-
clared equivalent to Killing : And tho' the lafl

Act be pofterior, yet it is fufficient to demon-
ftrate and clear. And, pio. By the Common
Law conatus and indeavour is in criminibus atro-

cijjimis punifhable by Death, ubi reus devenit ad
aclum proximum £5? omne quod in fe erat ferity which
is in it felf moft reafonable, fince the Atroci-
tie of the Cry me fhould put the fame even be-
yond ane Attempt. And there can be nothing
more juft than that the Extraordinarynefs of a
Cryme fhould have ane extraordinarie Allow-
ance. And , Guilt attempted in atrocious
Crymes, fuch as facrilegious AfTafination, is in

the Eye of the Law as great and greater than
the flealing ane Horfe or Cowe, fpeciallie

where Securitic from the Effect proceeded from
no Innocencie in the Committer, who did all

he could ; But from the fpecial Providence of
God difappointing the Effect of a Caufe he fo

much hated. And Carpfovius requires only three
Qualifications to make Indeavour punifhable by
Death : Primo, Quod eventum erat ad aclum morti
proximum. (ido.) Quod non ftetit per AJfafimm
quin confummaretur delictum, (jtio.) Quod occiden-

dus fortuito cafu tantum Evaferit; all which con-
curr but too well here. And that in omnibus cri-

minibus atrocijfimis Conatus is punifhable, is clear

from Gothofred. tit. de Conatu, from Covarivius in

Clementina, Sifuriofus, num. 6. And particulate

in the Cryme of AfTafination totidem verbis, by
Matheus de Siccariis, num.%. djfafmus tamen nihil

prodejfe debet folufque conatus capite puniendus, a

great Inftance whereof is given inaDccifion by
Gothofred in the Senate of Savoy, where Death
was inflicted upon a Perfon who but ftruck with

a Batton. And whereas it is pretended that AfTa-

fination is no Cryme in our Law, and that it is

only inferred where the defigne of Murdering
proceeds from the Committers taking Money :

It is anfwered, that this part of the Defence is

moft groundlefs : And our Nation would be
more barbarous than thofe of Lapland'or the 'Tar-

tars, if the lying in wait with a conftant defigne

to Kill clandeftinely fj? per infidias any Perfon

who had never offended us, fhould notberaifed

to a higher Degree of Deteftation than ordinar

Murder. For, though the Law does not al-

ways punifh a meer Indeavour when defigned

againft fuch as have offended us, when Nature
pleads fome Excufe from the greatnes of Paffion

and Refentment, or where the Partie killed

gave fome Occafion by doing the Wrong, or
j

where the fuddennefs of the Defign allowed no
tyme to confider or repent ; yet where a Perfon

after mature Deliberation ryppens his own Vil-

,

lanie, and refills the Motions of Reafon and the

Infpirations of God Almighty, by lying in wait

to kill a Perfon who never offended, the Law
thinks the Common Wealth can never be fecu-

red as long as fuch a Viper is alive, who wants
nothing but Opportunitie to kill Mankind one
by one. And the Specialitie of taking Money

|

is only demonftrative, and not reftrictive, fince

the Guilt in this, and fuch like Cafes, is greater

and more dangerous than that of taking Money.
For, he who takes Money will not kill but in,

Darknes, and where he may efcape ; but the

Sun, and theCrofs, and the Confluenceofall the;

World, cannot fecure againft Murder?, where
the Partie imagines that the Cryme deferves

Heaven, or at leaft where he thinks that thefe

of his Perfuafion will rife in a Tumult upon
the Streets for his Defence. Likeas fince the

Law has inferred Death ob conatum in the Crymesj

of Raptus robbrie, &c. much more fhould it in-

ferr Death in this unparalleled and execrable

Cryme.
As to what is alledged againft the Acts of in-

vading Minifters; it is anfwered, That the firft

Act appoints that it fhall be punifhed with all

Rigor. And the 7 Act, King Charles 1. and;

the laft Act is fufficient, tho' pofterior to the'

Cryme, to declare what was the meaning of

that General of punifhed with all Rigor. And
fince our Law makes the Attempting of fuch as

are doing his Majefty's Service Capital, that

General ought to be extended to Death, fince

lefTer Crymes and other Crymes are for the

fame Reafons which are applicable to this, pu-
;

nifhable by Death : Nor can there be any Ha-
zard in this, fince there is a Law for the future.

And no Man lhall ever dye for fo great a

Cryme in our Nation.
Whereas it is alledged, that here the Pannal

did only confefs upon hopes of Lyfe: It is reply-

ed, that Primo, The Promife of Lyfe from a

Judge, who could not grant the fame, cannot

defend, efpeciallie where no threatning pre-

ceeded; and where it is clear that what was con-

fed,
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1

feft was founded on" other Prefumptions £s? in-

dicia- Nor is this relevant, except the Pannal

could offer to prove, Firft, Threatning, to the

Fear whereof he yeelded } zdo. That he exprefs-

lie psctioned that this Confefllon fhould not ope-

rate againft him, which is very clear from Bof-

f.as, tit. Be confeftis per torturam, Num. 12. where

he dates the Cafe, and concludes, that a fponta-

neous Confeffion, though Lyfe were promifed,

does not defend : Nor is the Guilt lefs, nor the

Truth lefs, that a Judge promife. And if this

were fufficient, every Judge might make him-

felf King, and grant Remiffions at his Pleafure.

And though this might weigh with the Judge
who promifed ; yet the Law confiders the Par-

tie confeffing ftill guiltie, and fo does never fe-
1

cure him. Et quod poteft condemnari teitent, Cinus

' Cod. deiis qui ad Eccleftam effugiant, Alciad. lege

de •verborum fignificatione ; and CJarus himfelf fayes,

1 That Ego fiifpicor opinionem Ceni efte majus commit*

1 nem\ but giving his own Opinion rather as a

, private Man than as a Lawyer, he fayes, Ego ta-

i men non condemnarem ad mortem nifi ahis indiciis

'• fuerit gravatus, Ergo reus indiciis gravatus eft morte
1 pleilandus, which is moft juft and reafonable.

1 For, though the Law be jealous where a meer
: iillie Innocent confefles to a Judge, who may
terrifie him, or have ane Intereft in caufing him

1 confefs to lay the blame off his Friends, yet

where the Confeffion proceeded from a Perfon

fufpect by all the World, by a Perfon who pub-
1 lictly in all Places fince has owned the Deed }

who fled upon that Account} who was taken

with unlawful Weapons, unfit for his Profeffion,

;and the fpecifick Weapons which committed the

I Attempt j who condefcended upon all the Cir-
i cumftances, and declared that he gloried in be-

ing a Martyr upon that Account : In being feen

run away immediatly upon doing of the Deed
with a Piftol in his Hand} in being found out

!in a thoufend Lies and Prevarications when he

was examined} in having renewed his Confef-

fion publidtly : It were but to fcom the Law
1 and Maflacre Mankind, to think that a Con-
feffion fo adminiculat fhould not bind the Con-
feflbr, who can alledge nothing of any Threat-

ning ufed againft him by the Judge to whom he

confeffed. And Lawyers do in that Cafe confi-

der. the qualicie of the Judge as fevere, unjuft,

rigid or partial : but the Confeffion is alledged

to be made here upon Promife of Lyfe given by
my Lord Chancellor, whofe benign, gentle

I Temper frees him from all Sufpition. And the

proponing of Exculpation acknowledges the

,Deed to be done by Mr. James Mitcbel the Pan-

jnal, againft which the Proteftation denying

the Lybell cannot be fuftained, being Contraria

fafto, as is evident to any rational Man } and
1 that the Pannal cannot either pretend alibi, nor
any other pretence of Error, for excufeing his

Retractation : fo his Majefty's Advocate op-
pones his Confeffion, bearing no Qualification.

And though he is very fecure that the Exculpa-
tion cannot be proven, yet fince it is notorly

known that he is the Committer, and that this

may be a Preparative to other Pannals, againft

whom no Probation is ordinarlie had, but Con-
feffions elicite by Judges, with fair and gentle

Promifes, he mordicus adheres to theRelevancie.
For, as Boftius fays, Et ft Judex dixerit nihil mali

e-jeniet tibi iel etiam promittat ut liberabitur Majus
ur,,ien communis eft opinio Confeftionem valere quia

Judex etiam poterat ita fingere ad veritatem inve~

ntendam. And as this is moft advantagious to the

Common Wealth and Mankind, fo there can

be no Hazard to a private Pannal, fince if he can

but aftruct his own Innocencie, or the reafon

of his Error, by alledging that he was alibi, or

that there was fevere Threatnings or Torture

ufed, the fame will ftill be allowed to qualifie

his Confeffion. But the general Prefumption

lies, that a Judge will not damn his own Soul,

ftain his Function, ruin his Fame, expofe him-
felf to the Terrors of God Almightie, by allu-

ring a Confeffion from a poor Innocent.

As to what is objected againft the Confeffion

as extrajudicial and before ane incompetent

Judge : It is replyed, That Confeffions are of

all Probations the moft infallible, fince Witnef-

fes may, but it cannot be prefumed a Man will

wrong himfelf: And the Rife of that Maxime,
That extrajudicial Confeffions are not relevant,

was only to exclude Probation upon Confeffions

emmitted where there was no Judge nor no de-

fign of Inquirie. But the Confeflor being loufe

and inconfiderate, and under no Reafon of Ad-
vertance, did at random own a Deed of which
they were moft innocent, either for Oftentation,

or to pleafe theCompanie, or in Raillerie : But,

to fay that a Man fhould not be judged by what
he deliberatlie confefles, where he knows the

Defigne is to inquire into the Cryme, and that

the Event muft be a Criminal Trial, is without
all Foundation or Probability of Reafon : Nor
can Judges or Affyfers be fo much convinced by
what Witneffes will fay, who may have Malice,

or be brybed, or miftaken} as what proceeds

from a Man's own Breaft deliberatlie and in cold

Blood, which in Effect is oft tymes the Infpira-

tion and Influence of Almightie God, who to

fhow his Love to Juftice and Kindnefs to Man-
kind, draws even from the greateft of Malefac-

tors the cleareft Confeffions. And fince Men do
not ufe to bring Witneffes when they commit
Crymes, nor can the Nature of the Thing allow

Probation by Wrytt, to cut off Confeffions in

thefe Cafes were to make Crymes for ever pafs

unpuniflied, and to make Law, which is found-

ed upon Principles of Reafon, and the good of

the Common Wealth, evanifh in meer 1 erms of

Art and hard Words, contrar to the Defigne of

Lawyers and the folid Principles of finctre

Truth.
That this Confeffion is then Judicial is clear,

being taken by Authoritie uf the Privie Coun-
cil, the Supream Judicatorie of the Nation, and
where the Defign was to expifcate this Truth.
And the Pannal knew that he wis upon a Tri-
al for his Life: Nor can the Incompetencie of
that Judicatorie be here alledged, fince as the

Seffion is a Judicatorie meerly Civil, fo the
Council is a Judicatorie above both, compre-
hending the Power of both. And being fo

far competent in the Cognition of Crymes, that

they take Precognitions in criminal Caufes ;

they modifie and qualifie the Sentences of the

criminal Court} they determine intricate Ca-
fes remitted to them be the Juftices in Point

of Law. And the King, and the greateft part

of the Criminal Court being there} it were ab-

furd to think, that a Confeffion emitted before

them fliould not prove. And if in a Precogni-

tion a Partie fhould confefs, and fo the Trial

there ceafe, what could be more abfurd than to

think
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think that this Confeffion fhould not bind, efpe-

ciallie feeing Confeflions emitted before the

Lords of Seffion in Cafes of Improbation, and

Decreets following thereupon, 1 are a fole, a final,

and plenarie Probation before the Jufticc Court?
Likeas that Principle in Law, That ConfeJJio co-

ram Judice incompetente does not hold, is, where,

Judex eft incompetens tarn ad Inquifitionem quam ad

accufatiGnem, as, inforum penitentiat fuchasKirk
Seflions, ox forum mere civile. Neither of which
can be faid in this Cafe where the Judge be-

fore whom the Confeffion was emitted is the

ordinary Judge of Inquifition, and Trial in Cri-

minal Caufes & Judex nonfolum JurifdicJionis pre-

rogabilis ; but a Judge who originallie and gene-

rally examines all the Pannals of Scotland. Like-

as this Confeffion was made in Prefence of his

Majefty's Privie Council and the King's Com-
miffioner, in whom all the Judicatories of the

Kingdom doe eminentlie refide. And who
might have fent thePannal to the Scaffold with-

out any AfTyfe, feeing/?/ confitentem nullafuntpartes

Judicis.

Whatever favour may be allowed to Retracta-

tion of Confeflions facia ex Incontinentia ubipoteft

docere de errore; yet what Reafon can there be

where a Pannal denies without fhewing of Proofs

of his Innocencie ? And therefore Boftius, tit. de

Confers, Num. 64. concludes, Eft etiam necejfari-

um allegare errorem caterum ft fimpliciter revocave-

rit Confeffus non eft audiendus. And Num. 70.

he adds, Quia fateor quod quis non auditur fimpli-

citer dicendo poft confefjionem : Non eft verum quod

confeffus fui, tamen fi per teftes conftare potefi de

innocentia majus attenditur Veritas quam confeffio.

And fince Minors in Law are oblieged docere de

errore, when they revock, it were abfurd to

think that the Law would be fo ridiculous, that

a Man confeffing before a grave Judicatorie

fhould have Libertie to retract without fhewing

any Reafon of his Retractation : And the Guilt

rather grows per inficiationem, and by that impu-
dent Lye, than is leflened by the Retractation.

In the Cafe likeways where Debates are con-

cerning the Validity of a Confeffion, Lawyers
confider whether what was confeft was or can

be adminiculat by other collateral Probation,

Argumenta & indicia, and whether the Probation

be veri fimilis ; whereas here this Confeffion is

adminiculat by many other Circumflances, fuch

as Perfons who faw him run away, by his own-
ing of the Principle fince, by his fleeing, &c.
So that here neither can he inftruct why he re-

tracts, and the thing confeft is adminiculate& cir-

cumftantiis £5? indiciis. As to the Objection

founded upon the Act of Parliament, that the

Probation muft be in Prefence of the Affyfe

:

It is replyed, that the whole Frame of that Act
is grofslie miftaken ; for the Defign of that Act
was to correct a barbarous Cuftom, whereby
Accufers were allowed to folift and to produce
to them fuch Wrytt and WicnefTes as they plea-

fed for Probation of the Cryme, to preclude the

Pannal of what he could fay againft the fame,

fince falfe Papers might be thrown in as Confef-

fions and Proofs : But that cannot reach in this

Cafe, where a Confeffion is produced before a

Pannal and his Proctors, and they heard to ob-

ject againft the fame. Nor can it be urged

from this Act that no Paper can be relevant but

what is owned by the Pannal in Prefence of the

AfTyfe j for we daylie fee that Letters produced

under the Pannal's Hand, though he fhould de-

ny his Subfcription, will be fuftained : And it

will be fufficient to prove by Witneffes, that he

did fubferyve, or by comparifon of Letters.

Likeas this Act of Parliament does not exclude

that Confeflions before the Lords of Seffion in

Matters of Fahhood, and Decrees following

thereupon, may not probative before the Jul-

tices. Like as Confeflions taken before the Juf-

tices, tho' no AfTyfe be prefent, do without all

Controverfie and Debate prove the Cryme : Yet
neither can the Juftices condemn without ane

AfTyfe, nor does that Act of Parliament mili-

tate more againft that Cafe than againft this.

And in the Cafe of Finlay Mac Gibbon, a Confef-

fion taken in the Tolbootb without a fenced Court,
and before one Judge, was found fufficient to

inferr the pain of Death both by the Council
and Juftices. And it is admired how it can be
thought that Preemptions can be fuftained as

the Foundation of a criminal Sentence, as we
dayly fee} and that Witnefles which in effect

are but prefumptive, and a Man's own Confef-

fion emitted feriouflie and in cold Blood, fhould

not be fufficient. And as there could be no-

thing more dangerous to the Common-wealth,
than that Crymes fhould be thus rendered un-

fearchable •, fo what Hazard can there be to the

People on the other hand, or the Pannal, when
they are made their own Judge?. And to take off

all poffibilitie of Danger, it fhall be allowed to

them to prove Error, Force, Innocence, or Mif-

take. And this Probation has been in all Ages
and Nations fuftained as uncontraverted, as, Da-
vid ordained the Perfon who faid he had killed

Saul immediatlie to be excecute without further

Inquiric, giving as the undoubted Reafon that

he had condemned himfelf out of his own
Mouth; and which is regiftrate in Scripture, to

fecure the Image of God againft thofe who would
deface it. And if fuch Confeflions fhould be fuf-

tained in any Cafe, much more in this, where
the Nature of the Cryme is atrocious, and the

manner of theDifcovery extraordinary difficult.

And if either Atrocitie or Difficultie prevails

with Lawyers to remitt fomething of its ordi-

nate Rigor in exacting clear Probation, as we
,

fee in criminibus exceptis & criminibus domefticis,

much more where both thefe concur, oughta
Man's own Confeffion to be admitted. And
whereas ordinarily Pannals are penitent firft

when examined, the Horror of the Crymes foft-

ning their Hearts j that their Confeflions then
fhould not prove, ii very ftrange : And it were
impoffible and fruitlefs to expect, that after they

are imprifoned amongft a Company of other Ma-
lefactors, and after they have a kind of Men to-

wards the Law to teach them the Art of Re-
tractation, and that their Confcience turns

Callus, and acquainted with the Idea of their

own Cryme, a fincere Confeffion may be then

expected from them.

My Lord Advocat declares, he does not infift

againft the Pannal for converfing with Rebels at

this tyme, and upon the fhooting at a Bifhop
or Minifter before the late Act of Parliament,

Anno 1670, to inferre ane Arbitary Punifhment:
And infifts upon Mutilation as Capital upon the

Act of Parliament anent Demembration, which
is reddere membrum inutile. And a Man is as much
difmembred v-hen he has ane ufelefs Hand, as if

he had no Hand j and infifts upon the 28 Act

Pari.
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Pari. 5
James 4. wherein Slaughter and Muti-

lation upon forethought Fellonie are equiparate,

and the Pannal declared to be punifhed by

Death in both thefe Cafes, but refers the Pu-

nifhment of Mutilation to be qualified by the

ijuftices, according to what fhall be found here

proven, and to what has been the Cuftorae of

the Juftice Court formerlie in fuch Caies.

; Sir George Lockhart duplyes, That the Lybeli

lis no ways relevant, as founded upon the fourth

Aft 16. Pari. King Ja. 6. And the Defence is

ao ways eleided by the Alleadgances, contained

in the Reply. For, Primo, The Lords of Ju-

Hiciarie would be pleafed to take notice, that

:here is no Specialitie in the Cafe of this Aft of

Parliament, as to Privie Counfellours ; but that

t extends to all his Majefties Officers, and con-

sequently the meanft Officer being invaded in

he Terms and under the Qualification contain-

ed in the Aft of Parliament, might plead the

Iknefite thereof. And if the Lybeli fhould be

uttained in general Terms without the exprefs

Qualification in the Aft of Parliament, the fim-

>le Aft of Invafion of a Lyon Herauld, though

neither Death nor Wound followed on it, would

aferr the pain of Death •, but that no fuch thing

5 the meaning, nor can fubfilt with the Aft of

'arliament, is fo clear and evident, as it was

impoffible for the Witt of Man to exprefs the

i^ualification to be lybelled and pofitively pro-

en in more plain and direct Terms than is feet

jown in the laid Aft. In fua far as the Aft of

Parliament requires be way of Provifion and

:ondition in the Statutory part thereof in thir

Cermes ; it being verifyed and proven, that a-

y of the faids Counfellours, Seflioners, and Of-

ers, was purfued and invaded for doing of his

lighnefs Service, fhall be punifhed to the Death.

t.nd there is great Reafon and Neceffitie for

his Qualification, becaufe the Aft of Parlia-

lent intending contrary to the general Cuftom

if Nations, and of this Kingdom, in all other

rymes that Conatus (3 attentaturn, which is on-
'9 relevant in the Cryme of Treafon, fhould be

imputed Crimen confummatum in cafe of Invafion

f any of his Majefty's Officers. Therefore the

,aw requires this Qualification in Matter of

aft, That it be verified that the Perfon inva-

ed was doing his Majefty's Services in which

iafe the Cryme had a refpeft in the Conftru-

:ion of Law, as done againft his Majefty's

LUthoritie, which he was then executing. And
lis Qualification in Matter of Faft, that it was

>r doing of his Majefty's Service, is not here fo

luch as lybelled. And in the common Opinion

f all Lawyers, as may appear by Julius Clarus,

Affafwum, Num. Z. Ubi agitur de imponenda

ftia alicujus Conjlitutionis fpecialis requiritur quod

mcurrent omnes qualificationes de quibus in ipfa

onflitutione. And §>ueft. 8f. Num. 9. he has

le fame Words, Ubi agitur ad imponenda poena

Hcujus fpecialis Conjlitutionis opportet quod in eo

\fu verificentur omnes qualitates in ipfa Conflitutione

:prejfas, alias poena non committitur^ £5? hac (fays

h) eft doclrina communiter ab omnibus recepta, and

ioft efpeciallie when it is not ane intrinfick

lyalitie and Aggravation, but where it is a Qua-
fication required by Law it felf as intrigans de-

m, and as Gomef. fayes, it is alterativum poene,

ad therefore it muft be totidem verbis lybelled

nd pofitivly proven.
Vol. II.

And as to that Pretence that it is prefumed
and inferred from the Circumftances, and the

Way and Manner of the committing of the

Faft it felf, and that Propofitum and Defign can-

not be otherways proven nifi per indicias £5? con-

jecluras : It is duplyed, That the Qualification

required by the Aft of Parliament is toto ccelo dif-

ferent from the Defign: For, if a Perfon did

invade any of his Majefty's Officers in doing of

his Majefty's Service, and would pretend that

he had no Defign to invade, certainly the Pre-

tence were abfurd. And in that Cafe the De-
fign prefumitur ex natura attentat!: But the dif-

charging of his Majefty's Service is not a De-

fign, but a Matter of Faft, which conilfts in ane

extrinfick Aftion, and muft be proven, and may
and does often occur. As for Inftance, If a

Magiftrat fhould be invaded in the aftual Exe-
cution of his Majefty's Authoritie, or if the In-

vader fhould be fo tranfported with Rage, as

when he invades a Judge, to tell him, that it was
becaufe he has unjuftlie decerned. Thefe and
the like Cafes are indeed the Terms of the Aft
of Parliament. And there fimple Invafion, though
no Wounds followed, being direftlie levelled a-

gainft his Majefty's Authority, Nudus conatus rj?

effeclus delinquendi reputatur pro effeclu. And as

this is clear from the exprefs Words of the Aft
of Parliament, and which being in materia cor-

reSloria &? criminale, is ftriftly to be interpret 5

fo it is unanfwerable evidenced from the Aft of

Pari. K. Ch. 1. of bleffed Memorie, by which it

is provyded, that the Invafion and Violence done
to Minifters is punifhable, conform to the Aft of

Parliament 1 f87, to which it relates, which is

Confifcation ofMoveables, and declares that the

faid Aft is to be extended to Archbiftiops and
Bifhops, from which thePannal's Proftors argue

thus, If by the pofterior Act of Parliament in

Anno 1635, trie Invafion and Violence done to

Archbifhops and Bifhops is not punifhable with

the Pain of Death, but only ane Arbitrary Pu-
nifhment, how is it poflible that the 4 Aft Pari.

16 Ja. 6. fhould inferr the pain of Death upon
the Invafion, as it is circumftantiat and lybelled,

wherein nothing is lybelled, but that the Arch-
bifhop was invaded, who was a Privie Counfel-

lour, and not the Qualification that is required

by the Aft of Parliament, that it was for doing

of his Majefty's Service.

As to that Alleadgance, That the Pannal can-

not condefcend upon any private Ground of

Quarrel or other Reafon why he did invade the

Archbifhop: It is anfwered, if this Alleadgance

were fuftained, it were contrar to the Aft of

Parliament lybelled upon, which does not re-

quire the Pannal to prove, but fays that it muft

be tryed and verified, that the Invafion was for

doing of his Majefties Service; and fo his Maje-

fties Advocate muft prove the fimen by a clear and

pofitive Probation, as a Point in Matter of Faft.

As to that Pretence that the Pannal did glorie

that he had committed the Faft and Invafion

lybelled, and indeavoured to juftifie the fame,

and perfwade others that it was lawful: It is

duplyed, That as the faids Qualifications are al-

together difowned, fo they are no ways the Qua-

lifications in Matter of Faft required by the Aft

of Parliament, viz. That the Invafion and Vio-

lence was for doing of his Majefties Service,

which is indifpenfibly required upon the Rea-

fons abovementioned, otherways the Aft of

M m m m Parliament
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Parliament fhould have faid no more, But that

all Invafions of his Majefties Privie Counfellours,

or other Officers, mould be punifhed with the

pain of Death ; whereas the Act of Parliament

thought it fit, necefTar and juft for all Mens Se-

curitie, that a fingle Aft of Invafion of any of

his Majefties Officers, however it might be pu-

nifhed poena arbitraria, yet fhould not import or

inferr the pain of Death.

In fua far as the Dittay is founded upon the

Common Law, and that it is dffafinium, in

which Conatus & attentatum habentur pro crimine

confummato : It is anfwered, the Dittay is noways
relevant, becaufe it is not founded upon any

Law or Aft of Parliamant of this Kingdom.
And the Common Roman Law cannot be the

Foundation of criminal Dittays, whereby to

draw in Hazard the Lives of any of his Maje-

fties Subjefts. Likeas there is clear, exprefs and

pofitive Afts of Parliament to the contrar, as

the 48 Aft of Pari. 3 Ja. Aft 79 Pari. vja. 4.

Declaring that the Laws of no other Realm are

to be regarded, efpeciallie whereupon to found

Criminal Indytments. And albeit by the Com-
mon Law Conatus in homicidio efpeciallie where
it was homlcidium dolofum, and defigned to be

committed proditorie & per infidias was punifhed

as crimen Confummatum ; yet all Lawyers agree,

as may appear by Julius Clarus, Queft. 102.

Farm. Queft. 80. and by the Authorities by

them cited, That by the general Cuftom of all

Nations, in omnigenere homuidii affeclus conatus fj?

attentatum is not punifhablepoena ordinaria delitli,

and fo cannot inferr a capital Punifhment or

pain of Death, as is concluded in this Indyt-

ment. As to that Pretence that the Cryme ly-

belled is the Cryme of AfTafination, in which
Nudus conatus is fufficient, efpeciallie Ji devenerit

ad aclum proximum : It is anfwered, Primo, That
all Lawyers agree in this, that crimen AJfafinii is

only where a Perfon does hyre or conduce ano-

ther to commit the fame interveniente pretio. And
for which Julius Clarus, § rfftfafinium, where he

fo defcryves the Cryme. And Matheus deCrimini-

bus does fo defcryve the fame, and does exprefs-

lie aflert that unlefs Money or Reward inter-

veen, the Cryme of AfTafination cannot be com-
mitted, where the Words are, Credideram tamen
niji merce certa £5? fceleri propofita & conftituta fue-

rit five in fpecie feu corpore five in pecunia numerata

non pojfe enim videri affafinium. And there is no
Lawyer extant did ever otherways defcryve the

Cryme ; and there is great Reafon why Money
or Reward fhould be confidered in the Conftitu-

tion of this Cryme, becaufe the Law did confider

the Cryme with Refpeft to the Hazard j and the

Hazard lay where Perfons were hyred or con-
duced by Infidels giving Money or other Re-
ward to kill Chriftians. And albeit even in the
proper Cryme of AfTafination it felf in fome
paticular Nations, where the faid Cryme was
too frequent, as in Italie, Conatus is punifhable

:

Yet Julius Clarus in the fame §. and others does
mantaine, that by the general Cuftome of moft
Nations, in the precife Cryme of AfTafination,

Conatus feu attentatum is not punifhable with the

Pain of Death. But the Pannal has no Reafon
to infift upon this ; the Matter of Faft lybelled

being no ways the Cryme of AfTafination, but
only that which Lawyers call aDefigne to com-
mit Murder proditorie £s? per infidias. In which
all agree, that by the Cuftom, of all Nations
Conatus faciendi non reputatur pro faclo.

As to that Point of the Dittay founded upoi

the Mutilation of the deceaft Bifhop of Orkney

conform to the z8 Aft Pari.
3 James 4. It i

anfwered, that denying that the deceaft Bifho]

of Orkney was mutilate fo, albeit it could bi

proven, it cannot inferr the pain of Death

Firft, becaufe it is clear by the faid Aft of Par
liament, that it is not in the Cafe of Mutilation,

but Demembration. And it were a ftrange I

magination to think that if a Partie were muti-.

late, or loft a Finger, that the pain of Death
could be inferred. And there is a great differ-'

ence betwixt Mutilation and Demembration:
Mutilation being onlie ane Inabilitie or Priva-

tion of the Ufe
-, whereas Demembration is the'

intire Lofs of the Member. And it is a Princi-[

pie in Law, that Afts of Parliament, efpeciallie*

in cafu criminale & capitate, cannot be extended
de cafu in cafum etiam ex veritate vel paritate ratio-*

niS'i and that Cortici verborum adherendum eft &
Cafus omiJJ'us habetur pro omiffa. And here therei

is no Paritic of Reafon, both the Prejudice and
Deformitie being far greater in Demembration'
than Mutilation.

And whereas it is pretended, That though
the Pannal's Confeffion had been elicite fib fpe
impunitatisy that yet it is not fufficient whereup-
on to liberate from capital Punifhment, becaufe

a Judge cannot remitt a Cryme : And that Bof*

fius and others are clear, That notwithftand-

ing of any fuch Confeffion upon Promife of Im-
punitie, yet a Judge might and ought to con-

demn adpcenam ordinariam delicti

'

t it is anfwered,

The Pretence does not eleid the Defence, be-:

caufe, fuppofing it fhould be proven that the

Confeffion was elicitefub fpe venia, and upon Af-

furance of Lyfe. Such a Confeffion fo elicite,

cannot be a Ground whereupon to violate the

Faith and Impunity given 5 and far lefs can fuch

a Confeffion (though any could be proven) be-<

ing retracted be confidered as a Confeffion: And
as to which Law and Lawyers are very clear and

pofitive. The Law is, Lex. 3. Cod. de Cujlode

reorum, and Lawyers, as may appear by Matheus

de Criminibus, ^uefl. io\ where his exprefs Words
are, §)uerunt an Confeffio promiffa Impunitate rj?

fpe venia elicita fujfeiet ad condemnandum? Re-

fpondendum, Non fufficere, tametfi enim in Judicis

poteftate non fit promittere impunitatem adeoque ex

promiffione non obligatur, tamen dolo extorta eft, &
per banc fraudem etiam Innocentes illaqueari poffunt.

And Boffius in that Title DeConfeffis, after he has

ftated the Cafe, refolves it thus, T'utius tamen eft

ut dicamus requirere perfeverantiam fj? eft ex mente

Doclorum cj? cum ratione quin negari non poteft quift

talis Confeffio fit obumbrata, and fays, it were a- 1

gainft Humanitieit felf to condemn adpcenam or-

dinariam delitli in fuch a Cafe. And Julius Cla-
'

rus, cited be his Majefties Advocate, fayes, Ezo

non condemnarem ad mortem, and which is indeed

the conftant and irrefragable Opinion of all

Lawyers, and Practice of all Criminal Tribu-

nals. And whereas it is pretended, that Julius

Clarus fubjoins thefe Words, Nifi aliis indiciis fit

gravatus, and his Majefties Advocat condefcends

upon feveral Prefumptions : It is anfwered, that

if his Majefties Advocat will lay afide the Con-

feffion, and adduce fuch a prefumptive Proba-

tion, whereupon the Pannal may be condemn-

ed, then he may plead the Benefite of that Qua-

lification : But the Prefumptions condefcended

upon any remote Conjeftures, and no ways con-

cluding?
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eluding ; and the Pannal after the alleadged

committing of the Fact, did return and live

peaceabhe For feveral Years, and denys the Fact,

and cannot otherways be convict thereof. And

if any pretended Confeffion fhould be made ufe

of, either per fe, or in modum-adminiculi, it can-

not be divided from the Qualitie under which it

was granted, which the i
Jannal offers to prove,

was upon exprefs A durance. And whereas it is

pretended, that the granting of ane Affurance

and Impunitie is upon the Matter a Remidion

which no Inferiorjudge can grant, but that not-

withstanding he may and ought to condemn; it

is anfwered, Prima, it will appear by the Pro-

bation of what Character and Qualitie theGran-

ter of the Affurance was.

zdo. Lawyers do not condder whether a

Judge poteft veniam concedere, or remitt aCryme:

But a Confedion being elicite fub fpe venia, is not

ja full and abfolute Confeffion, but a qualified,

land cannot be made ufe of, and the Qualitie not

performed and made good. And it were a Pre-

judice to Publick lntereft, and a way to preclude

the ingenuitie of all Confedbrs, if notwuhftand-

jng of the Interpodtion of Publick Faith and

ithe granting of Affurances, and the eliciting of

Confeflions /a^ype venia, theleConfeffions might

be made ufe of, and the Qualitie and Condition

ipon which it was emitted altogether neglected,

Which is downright inconfiftent with the Opi-

nion of Lawyers and the Practices and Cuftoms

?f Criminal Judicatories.

j As to what is pretended, that though this

ponfeffion be not emitted before the Lords of

jufticiarie, yet it was not extrajudicial or revo-

cable, becaufe it was deliberatlie given, and be-

fore a Committee, who had Authoritie from

ihe Lords of his Majeftics Privie Council : It is

infwered, this Point is of extraordinarie Impor-

Sance and Confequence, as to the Lives and

'ortunes of his Majefties Subjects, and as to the

Lords of Jufticiarie and the Procedure of the

Inqueft, who are Judges to the Probation 5 and

herefore it is reprefented in behalf of the Pan-

al, That admitting any pretended Confeffion

hould be produced, yet if it was not emmitted

iefore the Lords of Jufticiarie, it is not a judi-

cal, but ane extrajudicial Confeffion, fj? fidem

on facit, as to the Probation of the Cry me. As

which, Primo, There is an univerfal Concord

jn the Opinion of all Lawyers, and in the Pra-

tifeand Cuftoms of Criminal Judicatories, and

js to which the Lords of Jufticiare are defyred

o caft their Eye upon all who have wrytten up-

n this Point. And as Clams fays, Non invenies

iffentientem in Mundo; and it is ftrange that all

.awyers and the Cuftom of all Nations fhould

uve hallucinat in this Point. For which the

fannal's Proctors cites Julius Clarus, Queft. ff.

Jarin. Queft.Si. and many others.

zdo. Lawyers are likeways clear, that Confeffi-

ins emitted Coram Judice competence fed non fedente

fo Tribunali is but ane extrajudicial Confedion,

hd muci more where it is Confefjio emiffa coram

'udice incompetente. And when the Queftion is,

/ho is to be repute Judex incompetens ; it is pofi-

ivelie refolved, That omnis Judex is incompetens

/ho could not proceed ad Condemnandum, as to

ne Cryme anent which the Confeffion is em-

itted. And certainly though any Confeffion

Vere produced emmitted before a Committee
f the Lords of Privie Council, they have no
Vol. II.

criminal Jurifdiction fo as to proceed ad condem-
nandum in crimine capitale; that being clear by
Craig. dieg.S. that ex eorum Statutis nee periculum
vita, hareditatis aut omniumfortunarumfubire pofii:
And whereas it is urged that the Lords of Privie
Council have a mixed Jurifdiction, and may
proceed be way of Precognition fj? per modum
Inquijitionis, and may refolve doubtful Cafes and
qualifie Sentences : It is anfwered, That it is

not denyed but the Lords of Privie Council
have and doe very well deferve that Jurifdiction j

but as to criminal Jurifdiction in capital Crymes,
it is only competent to the Lords of Jufticiary :

And the Precognitions, or previous Inquiiitions,
tend not ad Condemnationem, but only us to this,

whether to ftop or remit to the Lords of Jufti-
ciarie. And nothing is confidered as a judicial
Confeffion, but where there is formatus procejfus,

and w here a Partie is called coram Judice competente,
and is fub inftante peticulo vita, and knows that
the infallible Import of his Confeffion is to that
very Effect for his Condemnation, none of which
can be pretended where the Confeffion is em-
mitted coramJudice incompetente ad Condemnandum.
And whereas it is alleadged, That a Confef-

fion in the Opinion of Lawyers cannot be re-

tracted, unkfs the Party could docere de errore, and
purge his Innocencie, and did it ex incontinento :

Ic is anfwered, the Alleadgance is groundlefs;
for though Confeffion were emmitted coram Ju-
dice competente pro 'Tribunali, it might be retracted

ex incontinent! if he were able docere de er-

rore : And there is no Lawyer ever required it in

other Terms. But where the Confedion is em-
mitted coram Judice incompetente fidem non facit

quoad probationem delitli, and may be retracted ei-

ther ex incontinenti or ex intervallo, and withouc
fhowing of any Error or purging of Innocence,

fuch Confefiions in Law amount not to any Pro-
bation, no more than as Lawyers argue if the

Depofitions of VVitneffes taken in uno Judicio

would fidem facere either in Cafu civile aut crimi-

nale in alio Judicio. And certainly there is lefs

Reafon for Confeffions where Parties difown
the fame, and retracts them if emmitred ; and
much more here where the pretended Confef-

on was elicite fub fpe venia, fo far was the Pannal

from thinking that the emmitting of this Con-
feffion was in order to Condemnation, fpeciallie

feeing it neither is, nor can be proven, that the

laid pretended Confeffion was fo much as judi-

ciallie given in face of Privie Council, where his

Grace the Duke of Lauderdale^ being then his

Majefties Commiffioner, was prefent : And
though it were, the Pannal's Proctors will not

debate the Import of his Grace's Commiffion,

but remitts the fame to the Commiffion it felf,

in Cafe it be offered to be proven, that the Con-
feffion was emmitted before him and the Lords

of Privie Council.

And whereas it is alleadged that the Act,

9 Pari. King James 6. ordaining all Probation

to be led in Prefence of the Affyfe does not

concern the Cafe, and is mifunderftood, feeing

here the Confeffion will be produced in Pre-

fence of the Affyfe: It is anfwered, The Act

of Parliament is clear to the contrar, and can

admit of fuch Interpretation. For albeit the

Narrative of the Act of Parliament was onlie

caufa impulfiva, and the Statutorie Part of the

Act of Parliament is clear and podtive, that all

Probation fhould be adduced in prefence of the

M m m m 2, Affyfe,
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AfTyfe, who are Judges of the Probation. And
of all other Probation tfure is the greateft Rea-

lon that the verie A£t of Confeffion ihould be in

prefence of the AfTyfe, who are Judges to the

Probation, and who are to proceed upon Oath,

and whofe Confciences arc to be fatisfied and

inftru&ed as to the Way, Manner, Conditions

and Terms whereupon fuch Confeflions were

elicite-, all which are concealed where there is

nothing produced to them but a Confeffion ta-

ken without their Prefence, efpeciallie feeing

the Pannal alleadges and offers to prove that

feveral Points of Fad and other Particulars,

were condefcended upon and declared, none of

which are mentioned in this pretended Confef-

fion; all which fhould have been infert, and

could not be divided, as being in Articulo con-

nexo.

And whereas it is pretended that Decreets

pronounced before Lords of Seffion, is Probatib

probata i whereupon Aflyfers may and ought to

condemn: It is anfwered, the Argument is in

materia difparata ^ and does not concern the Mat-

ter of Confeflion, and is only in the fpecial

Cafe of Falfhood, and that upon a fpecial Rea-

fon, becaufe the inveftigation of Fa!fhood de-

pended upon a Tryall and Concourfe of many

and violent Preemptions, which may require

a long Tract of Tyme and Examination of Par-

ties and WitnefTes. It were impoffible that fuch

Tryalls could be adduced before ane Inqueft;

thefe depending feveral Years many tymes be-

fore the Seffion before they can be brought to

a clofe: And therefore Law and Cuftom in

that Cafe has fuftained a Decreet of the Lords

of Seffion as a Probation in Judicio criminak j

but it is abfofutlie denyed that it would in any

other Cryme. And certainlie if the Cryme of

Theft were perfued civillie before the Lords of

Seffion ad damnum & iniereffe, though the Theft

fliould be proven or confeft before the Lords of

Seffion, it would not fidem facers in Judicio cri-

mnale, as is evident by the Authoritie of Law-
yers who agree, that acla probatoria in uno pro-

cejfufidem non facit in alio: Nay, which is more,

fitja prbatoria in uno proceffu fidem non facit in alio

proceffu coram eodem Judice. And as to the In-

stance of the Pracliq; of Mac Nabb, the Pannal

ftppones the fame, wherein there were Depofi-

itons of WitnefTes } and though many tymes in

the Adjournal-Bookes, the Cafes of Confeffions

emitted has been obtruded, yet it cahrtot be in-

stanced that ever the Lords of Jufticiarie did by
Interloquitor fuftafne the fame as Probation ; but

on the contrar it does appear in the Cale of

Frafer, in the Year 1641, That Sir Thomas Hope

being then his Majefty's Advocate, declared,

that a Confeffion emitted before a Shirref De-
pute, who has a Criminal Jurifdiction in fome
Cafes in the Terms allowed by Law, and who
beyond all doubt is Judge competent per modum
lnquifitionis ; yet fo convinced was he, that it

was ane extrajudicial Confeffion, that he only

infifted therein in modum adminiculi, and joyned

it with the other Probation mentioned in that

PrabJiq* which was per fe convincing and Effici-

ent : As alfo fince his Majefty's happy Reftau-

ration in the Cafe of one Robertfone, allthough

the Confeffion was emitted before one of the

Lords of Jufticiarie and his Majefty's Advocate

for the tymej yet he was fo convinced of the

Infafficiencie of the fame, that after it was pro-

duced per modum probationis^ he took up the fa-

men even in that btate of the Procefs when the

AfTyfe was fworn. And as to the Inftance of

Divinitie in David's Praciice, it does not con-

cern the Point of Law, and cannot be made ap-

pear that the Partie retracted his Confeffion;

and it is a PracJiq; that either nimium or nihil

prubat. In refpect whereof, i$c.

The Lords Commiffioners of Jufticiarie con-

tinue the advyfingof this Debate till the Nynth
Day of this Inflant, at two a Clock in the Af-
ternoon > and ordaines Aflyfers and WitnefTes to

attend ilk Perfon under the Pain of ane hun-
dredth Merks.
The faid Day John Grahame Poft-mafter, Pa~

trick Grahame his Brother,—— Keith of Ludgu~
harne, Matthew Colvill Writer in Edinburgh , Aiex*

ander Levtngfloane Enfigne to Captain ff'ynrhame,

Walter Kennoway Merchant in Edinbnrgb, James
Fletcher of New Cranfteun, John Achmoutie En-
figne to the Caftle of Edinburgh, being ofctymes

called to have compeared before the Lords Com-
miffioners of Jufticiarie this Day and Place in the

Hour cf Caule to have paft upon Mr. James
MitcheTs AfT)fe, as they who were lawfully ci-

ted to ha^ e made their Appearance for the Ef-

fect forfaid, lawfull tyme of Day bidden, and they

nor none of them enterand nor appeirand ; The
Lords Commiffioners of Jufticiarie therefore, be

the Mouth of Gibert Mair, Macerof Court, de-

cerned and adjudged, the forenamed Perfons,

and ilk ane of them,- to be in ane Unlaw and

Amerciament of ane hundreth Merks Scots,

which was pronounced for Doom.

Curia 'Jufliciarice S. D. N. Regis tenia

in 'Pratorio Burgi de Edenburgi,

Nona die Menfis Januarii, 1678, Per

honorabiles vivos
i
Dominos Archibal-

dum Primrofe de Caringtoun Ju*
Jiiciavium GenevaIem,]&cobum Fou-
clis de Colintoun, Robertum Nairn

de Strathurd, Joannem Lockhart

de Caftlehill, Davidem Balfour de

Ferret, & Thomam Murray de

Glendoick, CommiJJionavios JuJ?tci~

avice ditti S. D. N. Regis.

Curia legittime affirmata.

Intvar? Mr. James Mitch el Prifoner.

jNDYTED and Accufed for the Cryraes

i of AfTafination, invading of Privy Coan-

fellours, Minillers and others, ut in die prece-

dente.

Purfuer,

Sir George Mac Kenzie of

Rofehaugh, our Sove-

reign Lord's Advo-
cate.

Proctors in Defence.

Sir George Lockhart,

Mr. John Eleis.

Mr. John Stewart.

.trie ha-The Lords Commiffioners of Jufticiarie na*

ving confidered the Dittay and Debate retiring

thereto, find that Article of the Dittay founded

upon the fourth Act, 16 Pari. King James 6.

baring
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bearing the Pannal's invading by fhooting and
fyiing of a Piftol at his Grace the Archbifhop of

St. Andrews, a Privie Counfellour, for doing of

his Majefty's Service, relevantlie lybelled, his

Majefty's Advocate proveing the Prefumption

in his Replye, viz. That the Pannal raid that

he did make the fame Attempt and Invafionbe-

caufe of the Archbifhop his perfecuting thole

that were in the Rebellion at Pentland, or fome
Words to that purpofe, relevant to inferr the

Paine contained in the forfaid Act of Parlia-

ment, and remitt the fame to the Knowledge of

ane Affyfe.

And likewife find that part of the Dittay a-

nent the invading of Bifhops and Minillers, re-

levant to inferr ane arbitrary Punifhment, and

rem it t the famen to the Knowledge of an Af-

fyfe.

And ficlike that Article of the Dittay anent
1 the invading, wounding and mutilating of the

Bifhop of Orkney, relevant to inferr any arbitra-

ry Punifhment, and remitt the famen to the

: Knowledge of ane Affyfe.

And alfo having confidered rhnt part of the

Debate anent the Pannal's Confeffion made and

emitted before ane Committee appointed be

Authoiitie of Council to receive it, and there-

after adhered to anJ renewed in Pretence of his

(Majefty's high Commiffi >ner and Lords of Pri*

|vie Council convened in Council, find it is Ju-
dicial and cannot be retracted.

And alfo having confidered the Debate and

(Defence againft the faid Confeffion, viz. That
the fame was emitted upon Promife or AfTu-

irance of Impuniue of Lyfe and Limb, find the

famen relevant to fecure the Pannal as to Lyfe
and Limb, referving to the Commiffioners of

Judiciary to inflict fuch arbitrary Punifhment as

hey fhall think fit, in cafe the Defence fhall be

proven, and remitts the famen to the Know-
.edge of ane Affyfe.

ASSISE.

Gordon of Cairneborrowe.

David Burnet^ Merchant in Edinburgh.

James Wood zx. the Colledge Port, Chan.
David Forfyth, Taylor.

Robert Cdmpb'el, Apothecary.
Captain Andrew Dick.

David Bruce, Gentleman.
John Hay of Baro.

Thomas Comlie, Vintner,

Mr. Alexander Achmoutie, Enfigne.

Capt. John Binning, Vintner.

Alexander Levingflone, Enfigne.

William Stein/on younger, Merchant.
Charles Scot of Bonnietoun.

Peter Wipart, Lieutenant.

The AfT)fe lawfullie fworn, no Objection in

be contrar.

j

His Majefty's Advocate for Probation addu-
,ed the Pannal's own Confeffion, with the Wit-
pFes after deponing j of the whilk Confeffion,

le Tenor foliowes.

Edinburgh, io February 1674. In Prefence of
be Lord Chancellor, Lord Regifier, Lord Advocate,
md Thefaurer Depute, ,Mr. James Mitchel, Pri-
yaer, being called, did freelie confefs he was the Per-

j« who Jim the Piftol at the Archbifhop of St. An-

drews, when the Bifhop of Orkney was hurt theve-

by, in the Tear 1668, and depones upon Oath, that
no living Creature did per/wade him to it, or was
upon the Knowledge of it. Sic fubferibitur,

James Mitchel.

Rothes.

A. Primrofe.

John Nisbet.

Ch. Maitland.

Mafter William Paterfort, Advocate, purged
of partial Counfel, and folemnly fworn, depon's,
he met a Man with a Piftol in his Hand in

Black-frier Wynd, immediatlie after the Piftol
was fhot at the Archbifhop, but knows not the
Pannal, nor if he was the Perfon that fhot. Aid
this is the Truth, as he fhall anfwer to God.

Will. Paterfon, A. Primrofe, J. p. d.

Patrick Vanfe, Keeper of the Tolbuith of Edin-
burgh, purged of partial Gounfel. and folemnly
fworn, depon's, That a Day or two before or
afcer the Pannal was examined be the Council,
he confeft to the Deponent tVia't he fhot a Pi-

ftol at the Archbifhop ofSu Int. Andrews, and e-

fcaped down Black-frier Wynfa and went up the
Cowe-gate and into Mr. Robert Fergufon's Houfe,
and patt on a Pirivick, and then came to the
Street and fearched for the Man that fhot the
Piftol. Being demanded if he heard Mr. James
Mitchel juftify the Deed ; he depon's, he re-

members it not. Sic fubferibitur,

P. Vanfe. A. Primrofe, J. p. d.

Mr. John Vanfe, Son t ) the Keeper ofthe Tol-

buith, purged and fworn: Being interrogate,' if.

he heard the Pannal acknowledge the Deed of
fhooting at the Bifhop, or defend it, depon's,

That being in Conference with the Pannal in

the Prifon-houfe, he inquired at him how he or

any Man could be accefforie to fo impious ane

Aft, as to kill a Man in cold Blood who had not

wronged him ; he laid it was not in cold Blood,

for the Blood of the Saints was reiking at the

Crofs of Edinburgh. Sic fubferibitur,

John Vunfe, A. Primrofe, J. p. d. Com.

John Bifhop of* Galloway, being purged of
partial Counfel, fworn and examined, depon's,

That the firft tyme he ftw the Pannal was in Sir

William Sharp's outrer Roume, where he faw a

Piftol, which was faid to be taken from him,

out of which fas he fuppofes) there were three

Balls taken; and that the Piftol was like to the

Piftol produced. Depon's, that at that tyme
the Pannal did not confefs any Guilt, but feem-

ed to be in a great Condernation, and fell a

trembling. And that the Deponer hearing that

he had made a Confeffion, went to Prilon to

fpeak to him about it, who acknowledged to

the Deponent, that he had made Confeffion of

that Attempt againft the Archbifhop before the

Chancellor, an.J fome others of the Council;

and that he had hopes of Lyfe, and defired the

Deponent to interceed for him. And the De-

poner having asked him how he could do fuch

a Deed againft ane innocent Man: He anfwer-

ed, that he thought him ane Enemy to the God-

lie, and that they could not be in Securitie fo

long as he was alive. And the Deponer having

inquired of him if he was forry for it; he did

not fay he was forry for it, but if it were to doe
again
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again he would not do it. And this is the

Truth, as he fhall anfwer to God. Sic fubferi-

bitur,

Jo. Gallovidien, A. Primrofe, J. p. d.

Do&or Chriftopher Irvin, purged of partial

Counfel, and folemnly fworn, depon's, that he

was the firft Chirurgeon that came to the Bi-

fhop of Orkney after he receaved the Shot, and

that he did fee a Ball fall out of his Sleeve, fo

that he knew that it was with a Shot, and that

the Bones were fractured, and that they cured

him fo as he was able to lift his Hand towards

his Head ; but there was ftill Scales coming out

of the Orifice of the Wound. Depon's, the Bi-

fhop faid he got the Wound when he was laying

his Hand upon the Archbifhop's Coach. Sic

fubferibitur,

Irvin, A. Primrofe, J. p. d.

John Joffie, Chirurgeon, purged, fworn and

examined, dtpon's, That he was called to the

Bifhop of Orkney's Cure, and that he had a

Wound betwixt the Wreft and the Elbow, which
did caft out f veial fmall Bones at the two fmall

Orifices; and that the Bifhop was not able to

lift his Hand towards his Head Sic. fubferibitur,

Joffie, A. Primrofe, J. p. d.

William Borthwick, Chirurgeon, purged of par-

tial Counfel, folemnly fworn and examined,

depon's, conformis to John JoJJie in all things.

Sic fubferibitur,

Will. Brothwick.

John Earle of Rothes, Lord High Chancellor

of Scotland, being fworn, and the Confeffion

under Mafter James MitcheVs Hand being fhown
to him, depon's, he was prefent and law Mr.
James Mitchel fubferyve that Paper j and de-

pones that he heard him make the Confeffion

contained therein, and that he thereafter heard

him ratify the fame at the Council-Bar, in pre-

fence of the King's Commiffioner and Lords of
Privie Council fitting in Council, and that his

Lordfhip fubferyved the faid Confeffion. De-
pones, That his Lordfhip the Advocate, and
Thefaurer Depute, were appointed by the Pri-

vie Council to examine Mr. James Mitchel. And
being interrogate, if after they had removed
the Pannal to the Council-Chamber, whether
or not his Lordfhip did offer to the Pannal upon
his Confeffion to fecure his Lyfe in thefe Words,
Upon his Lordfhip's Lyfe, Honour and Repu-
tation: Depones, that he did not at all give any
Affurance to the Pannal for his Lyfe; and that

the Pannal never fought any fuch Affurance
from him: And his Lordfhip does not remem-
ber that there was any Warrand given be the

Council to his Lordfhip for that effect; and if

there be any Expreffions in any Paper which
may feem to inferr any thing to the contrary,

his Lordfhip conceaves it has been infert upon
fome Miftake. Sicfubferibitur,

Rothes, A. Primrofe, J. p. d.

* Charles Maitland of Hatton, Lord Thefaurer

Depute, being fworn, and the Confeffion under

Mr. James Mitchel's Hand being fhewen unto

his Lordfhip, depon's he was prefent when Mr.
James Mitchel made that Confeffion, and his

Lordfhip firft heard him make it vcrballie, and

* $it Stale Trials, Vol. VIII. p. 430.

then he faw him fubferyve it; and that his Lord-

fhip fubferyved it alio, and at that tyme there

was nothing fpoken of any Affurance : But whin
the Pannal was asked by fome of the Committee,

upon what Account he committed that Fact;

he feemed at firft unwilling to anfwer, but there-

after faid, it was becaufe the Archbifhnp is ane
Enemie to the good People or Godlie People in

the Weft. Depon's, that within few Days there-

after, at a Meeting of the Council, where the

Duke Lauderdale then his Majefty's Commif-
fioner was prefent, the Pannal being brought to

the Bar, and the Confeffion produced being
fhewen to him, he acknowledged the fame to

be his Hand Wrytt; adhered unto and renewed
the fame in prefence of his Majefty's Commif-
fioner and Council : And depones that he did

not hear the Pannal either feek Affurance of his

Lyfe, or any other Perfon offer the fame to him.
Sicfubfcribitur,

Ch. Maitland, A.Primrofc, J. p.d.

John Duke ofLauderdale, being fworn, depon's^

That his Grace was prefent, as the King's Com-
miffioner in Council, when Mr. James Mitchel,

was brought to the Bar. Depon's his Grace faw
the Pannal's former Confeffion made at the

Committee of Council fhewen to him, and he

acknowledged it to be his Confeffion, and that

he did adhere thereto and renew the famen in

prefence of his Grace and the Council. His
Grace heard no Affurance given to him, and

that his Grace did not give him any Affurance,

nor gave Commiffion to any others to give him
any Affurance, and could not do it, having no 1

parucular Warrand from his Majefty for that

effecl. Sic fubferibitur,

Laudtrdale, A. Primrofe, J. p. d.

James Archbifhop of Saint Andrews, being

fworn, depon's, That that Day that the Pannal

did fire a Piftol at his Grace, he had a View of

him paffing from the Coach and croffing the

Street, which had fuch Impreffion upon his

Grace, that upon the firft fight he faw of him
after he was taken, he knew him to be the Per-

fon who fhot the Shot. Depon's, his Grace faw

him at the Council-Bar in prefence of his M^
jefty's Commiffioner and the Council acknow-
ledge his Confeffion made before the Commit-
tee, and heard him adhere thereto and renew

the famen; and that there was no Affurance of

Lyfe given him, nor any fought be him there.

Depon's, that his Grace himfelf did never give

him any Affurance, nor gave Warrand to any 1

others to do it ; only he promifed at his firft !

taking, that if he would freelie confefs the Fault,
;

and exprefs his Repentance for the fame at that 1

tyme, without farder troubling Judicatories 1

therein, his Grace would ufe his beft Indeavour

to favour him, or elfc leave him to Juftice : But

that he either gave him Affurance, orgave War-
rand to any to give it, it is a falfeand malicious

Calumny ; and that his Grace made no Promife

to Nicoll Somerset other than that it was beft to

make a free Confeffion. And this is the Truth*

as he fhall anfwer to G^d. Sic fubferibitur,

St. Andrews, A. Primrofe, J. p. d. Com.

The Pannal, Mr. James Mitchel, after fwear-

ing of the Affyfe, produced ane Copie of ane

pretended Act of Council, and craved that the.

Regifter
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Regifter of Council containing the (aid Act

might be produced. And after the Examina-

tion and Depofitions of the WitnefTes upon the

Dittay and Exculpation, the Pannal and his

Proctors farder urged, that the Regifter ofCoun-

cil might be produced. Seeing the Pannal pro-

duced ane Inftrument againft Mr. 'Thomas Hay,

one of the Clerks of Council, for giving ane

Extract thereof; and the Pannal and his Pro-

ctors alledged, that the Regifter of Council

containing the faid Act was produced in Court

the Day before, and that the faid Act was read

be feveral Members of Court ; and being once

produced, and ane Inftrument taken againft one

of the Clerks of Council, who with the other

Clerk were cited as WitnefTes be his Majefty's

Advocate, the Clerks ought to be ordained

either to give ane Extract or produce the Regi-

fter containing the forfaid Act; and the Pannal

and his Proctors defyre to be heard in Wrytc

upon the faid Ad of Council.

His Majefty's Advocate anfwers, That he

was not obleidged to produce a Regifter for

the Pannal ; and if any fuch pretended Act was,

he mould have ufed a Diligence and cited the

Clerks of Council for producing of the Regi-

sters, or giving ane Extract ; which the Pannal

not having done, he cannot be allowed a Dili-

gence in this State of the Procefs. And if any

iuch Act of Council was, it was unwarrantable

and could not be made ufe of, after the Lord

Chancellor, the Duke of Lauderdale, the Lord

Thefauier Depute, and Other Lords of Council

had deponed that there was no fuch AfTurance

given, as is either pretended by the Exculpa-

tion, or infinuate by the pretended Act of

Council. And be the Copie produced it is e-

vident, That the Defigne thereof is to lake

from the Pannal any pretended Favour he

pleads; and if the Act be founded one, it can-

not ibe divided } fo that ane meer Narrative

muft prove, and the Statutorie Words fhould

not prove; efpeciallie feeing there is nothing

more notour and ordinary, than for the Coun-
cil not to conflder a Narrative if the Statutory

Words be Right. And as the Pannal pretends

that his Confeffion cannot be divided from the

AfTurance given, but that it muft be taken with

the Qualitiej fo much lefs muft this Act be

divided. And the pretended Act is long po-

fterior to the Pannal's Confeffion, and even po-

fterior to a former Dyet in the Juftice Court
appointed for the Pannal's Trial for the faid

Cryme. And farder, no fuch AlTurance could

have been granted, feeing none but his Majefty

can grant Remiffions.

The Pannal and his Proctors defyred the Co-
pie produced to be read.

His Majefty's Advocate confents to the Read-
ing of the pretended Copie of the Act of Coun-
cil, and which being publictlie read, is of the

Tenor following.

Edinburgh, iz March, 1674.
* "TTHE Lord Commiffioner his Grace, and
* A the Lords of his Majefty's Privie Coun-
4

cil having appointed a Committee of Coun-
* cil to examine Mr. James Mitchel, Prifoner in
4 the Tolbuith of Edinburgh 5 the faid Mr. James
' being brought before the faid Committee, did

39
;

make a free and voluntarie Confeffion of his
'

Acceffion to the Rebellion, and rifing in Arms
in the Weftj and that after he had Notice of

\

the fame, he went from Edinburgh with Col-
;

lonel Wallace and others, and joyned with the

;

Rebels there, and from thence came along,
' and was with them until the Night before

;

the Fight at Pentland-hills } and that at the

;

Defyre of Captain Arnot, he came then to E~
• dinburgh to fpeak to fome Perfons there con-

;

cerning them. And being examined upon
;

the Attempt made upon the Perfon of the
'

Archbifliop of St. Andrews, and who mot the
'

Piftol at the faid Archbifhop, when the Bi-
mop of Orkney was hurt in the Moneth of Ju-
ly 1668, he did declare that at that tyme, and

' the Day that the faid Attempt was made he
was in the Town of Edinburgh j and that he

• had bought the Piftol, which was about him,
;

charged with three Balls when he was appre-
1 hended, about that tyme when the Billiop
• was fhot, from Alexander Logan, Dager- maker
; in Leithwynd: But refufed that he was the Per-

J

fon that made the faid Attempt, until having
; retired a pace with one of the faid Commit-
; tee, he did confefs upon his Knees that he
; was the Perfon, upon AiTurance given him by
; one of the Committee, as to his Lyfe, who
; had Warrand from the Lord Commiffioner
; and the Council to grant the fame. And did
thereafter confefs freelie, before all the Lords

; that was upon the faid Committee, That he
; fhot the forfaid Piftol at the faid Archbifhop,
and did fubferyve his Confeffion in Prefence

; of the faid Committee, which is alio fubfery-
; ved by them. And thereafter the faid Mr.
1 James in prefence of the Commiffioner his
; Grace and Council, did renew and adhere
' to the faid Confeffion, both as to the Acceffion
1 to the Rebellion and the Attempt forfaid

j

6 and acknowledged he made the faid Attempt
' becaufe he thought that the faid Archbifliop
4 had ane Hand in troubling and perfecutmg
1 thefe that were in the Rebellion. And never-
4 thelefs, being brought before the Lords Com-
4 miffioners of the Jufticiarie, and asked if he
' did own the Confeffion forfaid, he did altnge-
4 ther refufe to anfwer and adhere to his (aids

• Confeffions, notwithftanding he was told by
4 the Lords Commiffioners of Jufticiarie and his

• Majefty's Advocate, that if he would adhere
4 to his faids Confeffions, he fhould have the
' Benefite of the faid AfTurance ; and if other-
4 ways, that he fhould lofe the fame. There-
4 fore the Lord Commiffioner his Grace, and
4 the Lords of his Majefty's Privie Council, do
* declare, That they are free, and that the faid

4 Mr. James ought not to have the Benefite of
' any fuch Promife or AfTurance., and that the
4 fame is altogether void ; and that the Lords
* of the Jufticiarie and the AiTy'e ought to pro-

4 ceed without any Refpect to the fame. And
4 farder do declare, That the faid Mr. James
4 Mitchel is the Perfon intended and meaned in

4 the Proclamation in the Years 1666, and 1667,
4 difcharging any Intercomoning with the Re-
4 bels therein mentioned, and excepting the

4 faid Mr. James, and the other Perfons therein,

* from his Majefty's Favour and Indempnitie,

4 and no other under the Name of Mr. James
4 Mitchel, though there had been any other of

4 that. Name involved in the faid Rebellion.
The
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The Pannal and his Proctors renew their De-

fyre, and crave to be heard to debate upon the

Act of Council in Wrytt.

The Lords Commiflioners of Jufticiarie con-

lidering that the Copic of the pretended Act of

Council produced was never urged, nor made
ufe of, nor any Diligence craved for producing

the Regifters of Council, until this Afternoon

that the Aflyfe was fworne, after which no Di-

ligence can be allowed nor granted in this State

of the Procefs be the Law of the Kingdom, and

Practique of this Court ; efpeciallie, feeing it

appears be the faid Copie, that the Defigne

was to take away any Aflurance that the Pan-

nal could have pleaded ; and that the Truth of

the Narrative of the Copie founded upon infi-

nuating that there was ane Aflurance, is can-

cel'd be the Depofitions of the Duke of Lauder-

dale, then his Majefty's Commiflioner, the Lord
Chancellor, and other Members of the Com-
mittee and Council : The faids Lords therefore

ordaine the Aflyfe to inclofe and return their

Verdict to Morrow at Two a Clock in the Af-

ternoon.

Curia Jufticiaria S. D. N. Regis tenia

in Pratorio Burgi de Edenburgo,

Decimo die Men/is Januarii, 1678, Per
honorabiles viros T>ominos Archibal-

dum Primrofe de Caringtoun Ju-
jliciarium GeneraIem,]a.cobum Fou-
lis de Colintoun, Robertum Nairn

de Strathurd, Joannem Lockhart

de Cattle-hill, Davidem Balfour de

Ferret, & Thomam Murray de

Glendoick, CommiJJionarios Juftici-

ar'uz difli S. D. N. Regis.

Curia legittime affirmata.

The faid Day the Perfons who paft upon the

Affyfe of Maft'er James Mitchel, returned their

Verdict in prefence of the faids Lords : Whereof
the Tenor followes.

As to the firft part of the Lybell, founded up-

on the 4 Aft, 16 Pari. King James 6. The Chan-
cellor and whole Aflyfe, with one Voice, find

it proven conform to the Lords Interloquitor.

As to the Invading of Bifhops and Minifters,

and Wounding the Bifhop of Orkney, ficlike

proven with one Voice.

As to the third part of the Lords Interloqui-

tor concerning his Confeflion, firft before a

Committee^ and thereafter before his Majefty's

High Commiflioner and Council, the whole

Aflyfe with one Voice find it proven conform

to the Lords Interloquitor.

As to the fourth and laft part of the Interlo-

quitor concerning the Exculpation, the whole
Aflyfe with one Voice find it no ways proven.

And furder concerning the Exculpation, when
the Pannal was prefling it flronglie upon my
Lord Chancellor, the whole Aflyfe heard his

own Confeflion and Acknowledgment of the

Fact. Sic fubferibitur,

Jo. Hay, Chancellour.

After opening and reading of the whilk Ver-

dict of Aflyfe, the Lords Commiflioners of Ju-
fticiarie, by the Mouth of Adam Auld, Demp-
fter of Court, Decerned and Adjudged the faid

Mr. James Mitchel to be taken to the Grafs Mer-
cat of Edinburgh, upon Fryday the Eighteenth
Day of January Inftant, betwixt Two and Four
Aclock in the Afternoon, and there to be Hang-
ed on ane Gibbet till he be Dead, and all his

Moveable Goods and Gear to be Efcheat and
inbrought to his Majefty's Ufe* which was
pronounced for Doom. Upon which Day he
was Executed according to the Sentence.

He had prepared a Speech, which he intended
to have delivered, but being interrupted by the
beating of Drums he threw it over the Scaffold j

it was as follows.

Chriftian People,

IT being rumoured abroad immediately after I
had received my Sentence, that I would not

get liberty to fpeak in this Place, therefore I
have not prepared a formal Difcourfe and ac-
count of thefe pretended crimes, for which I
was accufed and fentenced, neither did I think
it very neceffary, the fame of your procefs hav-
ing gone fo much abroad, what by a former
enditement given me near four Years fince, the
dyet whereof was fuffered to defert in refpect
the late Advocat could not find a juft way to
reach me, with that extrajudicial confeflion they
opponed unto me. All know he was zealous in
it, yet my charity is fuch unto him, that he
would not fuffcr unwarrantable zeal fo far to
blind him, as to overftretch all Lawes of the
Land beyond their due limits, in prejudice of
the life of any natural Subject, and next by an
extreame enquiry of torture, and then by exiling
me to the Bafs, and after all, giving me a new
enditement at the inftance of the new Advocat,
who before was one of mine, when I received
the firft enditement, to which new enditement
and debate in that procefs I remit you, and par-
ticularly to thefe two defences of extrajudicial

confeflion, and to the promife of Life given to

me thereupon by my Lord Chancellor, upon his

own, and the publick faith of the Kingdome,-
upon the verity whereof I am ready to die, and
confent to lay down my Life. And I hope,
your Charity will be fuch to me (a dying Man)
as not to mifconftruct me therein, efpecially

when it is fo notourly adminiculat by an Act of
the fecret Council, and yet denyed upon Oath
by the Principal Officers of State, prefent in

Council at the making of the faid A£t, and which
the Act bears to have been prefent thereat ; the

Duke of Lauderdale being then his Majefty's
Commiflioner, and which Acl: of Council was
by the Lords of Jufticiary their Interloquitor

moft illegally repelled, but I fliall have charity

to fome of thefe Lords, whom I knew would
have given Law and Juftice place, even as to my
juft abfolution, if they had not been overpower-
ed by the plurality of Votes of thofe who were
over-awed and dared by the Lords of the Secret

Council. But that will not abfolve their Con-
fciences at the laft day. As to my Advocats
and Lawyers, I ingenuoufly acknowledge their

Care, Fidelity and Zeal in my Defence, and

which, I hope, fliall be fome ftaading Fame to

them for this, and ail future Generations. So

thus



1677- to Murder the Archbifhop of St. Andrews 641
thus much as a fhort account of that Affair, for

which I am brought unjuftly to this Place. But

I acknowledge my particular and private Sins

have been fuch, as have merited a worfe death

unto me : But I die in the hope of the Merits of

Jefus Chrift to be freed from thofe eternal Punifh-

ments due to me for Sin> yet I am confident,

God doth not plead with me in this for my
private and particular Sins ; but I am brought

here, that the work of God may be made mani-

feft, and for the trial of Faith, Job. ix. ver. J-
and

I. Pet. i. ver. 7. and that I may be a witnefs for

his defpifed Truth and Intereft in this Land,
who am called to feal the fame with my Blood.

And I wifh heartily that this my poor Life may
put an end to the Perfecution of the true Mem-

bers of Chrift in this Kingdom, fo much cheat-
ed by thefc perfidious Prelates, and in oppo-
fition to whom, and in teftimony of the caufe
of Chrift, I at this time willingly lay down my
Life. And I thank God, that he hath thought
me fo worthy as to do the fame for his glory
and Intereft. Finally, conceiving it a Chnftian
Duty in a Angular and extraordinary cafe anent
myparticular judgment concerning both Church
and State, it is evidently declared and manii'efted

more fully elfewhere. So farewel all earthly en-
joyments, and welcome Father, Son and Holy
Spirit, into whofe Hands I commit my Spirit.

JAMES MITCHEL.
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LXXIII. The Trial ^Philip £^r/ ^/Pembroke and
Montgomery, at Weftminfter, for the Murder of
Nathan a el Cony, the \th of April, 1678.

30 Car. II.

Kg BOUT Nine of the Clock the Pri-

foner with his Guard came from the

Tower, with the Ax before him,
and went into the Room appointed

for him. Between the Hours of Ele-

ven and Twelve at Noon, the Lords, Judges,
and Afliftants of the Houfe, came in Order, two
and two, from the Houfe of Lords, to the Court
creeled in JVeflminfter-WA\, with four Maces be-

fore them, and before the Lord High- Steward
four more, befides his own Serjeant and Purfe-

bearer, with Garter King at Arms, and the De-
puty Black-rod bearing the White Staff. After

Obcifance made to the Throne, each Lord, and
the others, took their places, the Serjeants, with
their Maces erect, kneeling, four on each fide

of the Throne.
Then the Clerk of the Crown in Chancery on

the right hand, and the Clerk of the Crown in

theKmg's-Bench on the left hand, making three

Reverences to the Lord High-Steward, came up
to his Seat, and there both kneeling, the Clerk
of the Crown in Chancery delivered the Commif-
fion for the Office of High-Steward (pro hac vice)

|to his Grace, who delivered it to the Clerk of
the Crown in theKing's-Bench to read, and then

they both in the fame manner went back to

their S=ats at the Table.

Then the Clerk of the Crown in the King's

Bench faidas followeth.

I
Clerk of the Crown. Serjeant at Arms, make

'Proclamation.

Serjeant at Arms. O yes, O yes, O yes : My
Lord High- Steward of England ftraitly chargeth

and commandeth all manner of Perfons here af-

fembled, to keep filence, and give ear to his Ma-
jefty's Commiflion, unco my Lord High-Steward
his Grace directed, upon pain of Imprifon-
ment.

Vol. II.

Then all the Peers and Afliftants (landing up,
and uncovered, he read the Commiifion in h<ec

verba.

Clerk of the Crown. Carolas, &c.
Serjeant. God fave the King.

Then Garter and the Ufher that held the Staff,

making three Reverences to his Grace, Garter on
his Knees prefented him the white >taff, which
his Grace delivered to the Ufher, who like wife

kneeled to hold the fame, during the reft of the

Ceremony.
Clerk of the Crown. Serjeant at Arms, make

Proclamation.

Serjeant. My Lord High-Steward of England

his Grace ftraitly chargeth and commandeth all

manner of Peifons here prefent, to be uncover-

ed, upon pain and peril fhall fall thereon.

Then the Clerk read the Certiorari to the

Commiffioners, before whom the Indictment was
found, to return the fame into the Houfe of
Lords with the Return in hac verba.

Clerk of the Crown. Caro/us, &c. Firtute^ &c.
Serjeant at Arms, make Proclamation.

Serjeant. O yes : Conftable of the Tower of
London return thy Precept and Writ to thee di-

rected, and bring forth thy Prifoner Philip Earl

of Pembroke and Montgomery^ on pain and peril

fhall fall thereon.

The Conftable of the Tower of London being

a Peer, by Sir John Robinfon his Lieutenant re-

turned his Precept, and with the Ax borne on

his left hand, the edge from him, the Earl of

Pembroke was brought to the Bar, the Lord
High-Steward of England having then ordered

the Judges to be covered, ipake to the Prifoner

as followeth.

f Lord High Steward. My Lord

of Pembroke, Your Lordfhip is now f Earhf Not-

brought before this Great Affcm- tmSham-

N. n n n bly
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bly in order to yotir Trial, wherein you have to

maintain all that can concern you in this World,
your Eftate, your Honour and your Life itfelf.

There is no lefs a Crime charged on you, than

the Murder of one of the King's Subjects, and

this is not charged on you by common Voice and

Fame, nor by the growing Rumour of the mul-

titude, but by the grand lnqueft of this County,

which was made up of Gentlemen ofgood Qua-

lity and Consideration. Though all this amount

to no more than a bare Accufation, (for God
forbid that they who neither did nor could hear

the Evidence on both fides, mould any way pre-

judge your Trial by their partial Examination)

yet hath produced the Prefentment of fuch a

Crime, as is attended with extraordinary and un-

ufual Circumftances.

And now for this Fact your Lordfhip is to be

tried in full Parliament, and your Arraignment is

to be made as full and as folemnly as is poffible.

The King (who will have a ftridt account of the

Blood of the mraneft of his Subjects, by whom-
foever it is fhed) hath for this purpofe appoint-

ed an High-Steward : And now your Lordfhip

is. to be tried not by a felect number of Lords,

but by the whole Houfe of Peers, who are met

together to make Inquifition for this Blood.

Doubtlefs the fhame of'being made a Specta-

cle to fuch an Affembly as this, and the having

a Man's faults and weakneffes expofed to the no-

tice and obfervation of fuch a Prefence as this is,

to a generous Mind muft needs be a penance

worfe than Death itfelf ; for he that outlives

his own Honour, can have very little joy in

whatfoever elfe he lives to pofTefs.

In fuch a Mate and condicion as this is, it will

be very fit for your Lordfhip to recollect your

felf with all the care and caution you can 5 it will

be neceffary for you to make ufe of the bcft tem-

per, aftd the belt thoughts you have, when you

come to make your defence ; let not the difgrace

of ftanding as a Felon at the Bar, too much de-

ject you j no man's credit can fall fo low, but

that if he bear his Shame as he fhould do, and pro-

fit by it as he ought to do, it is in his own
power to redeem his reputation. Therefore let

no mandefpair, thatdefires and endeavours to re-

cover himfelf again, much lefs let the terrors of

Juftice affright you j for though your Lordfhip

have great caufe to fear, yet whatever may be

lawfully hoped for, your Lordfhip may expect

from the Peers.

It is indeed juft caufe of dreadful appehenfi-

ons, when you confider how flrict and impartial

the Judicature is which you ftand before, and

how impoffible it is that any Confideration of

your Lordlhip's Relation or Family, fhall have

any kind of Ingredience into their Lordfhips

Judgment} nay you have caufe to fear all this

will make againft you, when you confider how
the Quality of the Offender doth aggravate the

Crime.
You have reafon to fear and be difmayed a-

gain, when you confider how fevere, and how
inexorable the Rule of Law is, in the Cafe of

Blood ; and how certain it is that the Lords will

make that Rule ofLaw the mcafure of your Life

or Death : But yet, my Lord, there are other

Confiderations that may fupport you.

Your Lordfhip may be lure that they will re-

ceive no proof againft you, but direct and pofi-

tive Evidence j it will not be left to any proof,

but fuch proof, as by the manifeft plainnefs of

it, deferves to be called Evidence. In the next
place, your Lordfhip fhall fuffer no prejudice

for want of Counfel, for where there are any ad-

vantages that the Law can give you, this Court
takes itfelf obliged in Honour to put you in mind
of it ; nor can your Lordfhip fuffer an Inconve-
nience, by having Counfel to plead againft you, •

for no Arguments nor Skill can pervert their

Lordfhips Juftice j you fhall not fall by the

charms of Eloquence j nothing fhall load or piefs

you but your own Crime, and even that burden
may be alleviated, if there be any room for an
Abatement, fo far as it doth not contradict what
they owe to the King, to themfelves, to the Law,
and to the Juftice of the Kingdom.

Hearken therefore (my Lord) to your Indict-

ment with patience and attention, give no Inter-

ruption to the Counfel or Witneffes that fpeak
againft you, and referve what you have to fay

for yourfclf 'till the time come, when your
Witneffes fhall be examined, and you make
your Defence, of which I will give you notice.

And this you may rely upon, that when you
do come to fpeak for yourfelf, you fhall be
heard with as much favour and candor as the

matter will bearj and when my Lords have
heard all that can be faid on both fides, doubt-
lefs their Lordfhips will give fuch a Judgment
in the Cafe, as is fit for you to receive, fuch a

Judgment as becomes this great Court, and fuch

a Judgment as is fuitable to that known Equity,

which their Lordfhips do always obferve in all

their Proceedings.

Lord High-Steward. Read the Indictment to

my Lord.

Clerk of the Crown. Philip Earl of Pembroke
and Montgomery, hold up your Hand.
Which he obeyed by holding up his Rieht

Hand.
CI. of Cr. You ftand indicted by the Name of

Philip Earl of Pembroke and Montgomery, late

of the Pariflo of St. Martins in the Fields, in the

County of Middlcfex, for that you not having the

Fear of God before your Eyes, but being moved and

[educed by the Inftigation of the Devil, the q.th of

February, in the $oth Tear of the Reign of our So-

vereign Lord Charles the Second, by the Grace of

God, of England, Scotland, France and Ireland^

King, Defender of the Faith, &c. with Force and

Arms, at the Parifh aforefaid, in the County afore-

faid, in and upon one Nathanael Cony, Gent, in

the Peace of God, and of our faid Sovereign Lord

the King, then and there being, felonioufly, volun-

tarily, and ofyour Malice forethought, did make an

uiffault; and that you the faid Philip Earl of'Pem-

broke and Montgomery, with the Right Fiji of

you the faid Philip, 6cc. thefaid Nathanael Cony,

in and upon the Left part of the Head of the faid

Nathanael Cony, then and there felonioufly, •wil-

fully, and of your Malice aforethought, did ftrike

andbruife, and him thefaid Nathanael Cony,w/'/^

your Right Fiji aforefaid, did beat and throw down

to the Ground } and that you the faid Philip, $V.

the faid Nathanael Cony fo lying upon the Ground,

in and upon the Head, Neck, Breaft, Belly, Sides

and Back, of him the faid Nathanael Cony, then

and there felonioufly, wilfully, and of your Malice

before-thought did ftrike and kick, by reafon ofwhich

faid kicking and bruifing of the faid Nathanael

Cony on the faid Left part of the Head of the faid

Nathanael Cony with the faid Fift ofyou the faid

Ph'iJip,
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Philip, &c. and of the heating and throwing him

to the Ground afore/aid ; and aifo by reafon of kick-

ing of the faid Nathanael Cony with the faid Feet

of you the faid Philip, &V, on the Head, Neck,

Breaft, Belly, Sides and Back of the faid Natha-
nael, he the faid Nathanael Cony, from the afore-

faid \th Day of February in the aforefaid Tear, to

the 1 oth of the fame Month of February, in the

Parifi aforefaid, did languifh, and languiflnng did

live ; on which faid xoth Day of February in the

Tear aforefaid, he thefaid Nathanael Cony, of the

flriking and bruifing, beating and kicking died ; and

fo you the faid Philip, &c. the faid Nathanael

Cony, at the Parifi aforefaid, in the County afore-

faid, in manner and form aforefaid, felonioufly, vo-

luntarily, and of your Malice forethought, did Kill

and Murder, againjl the Peace of our faid Sove-

reign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity. How
fay you, Philip Earl of Pembroke and Mont-
gomery, Are you guilty of this Felony and Murder

whereof you fland inditled, or Not Guilty ?

E, o/Pemb. Not Guilty.

CI. of Cr. Culprit, How will you be tried?

E. 0/Pemb. By my Peers.

CI. of Cr. God fend you a good Deliverance.

Serjeant at Arms, make Proclamation.

Serj. O yes, if any one will give Evidence for

our Sovereign Lord the King, againft Philip Earl

of Pembroke and Montgomery, the Prifoner at the

Bar, let them come forth and they lhall be heard,

for the Prifoner {lands at the Bar upon his Deli-

verance.

Then Sir William Dolben, Knt. the King's

Serjeant at Law, Recorder of the City of Lon-

don, opened the Indictment thus :

Sir William Dolben. May it pleafe your Grace

my Lord High-Steward of England, and the reft

of my Noble Lords.

Philip Earl of Pembroke and Montgomery ftands

indicted, for that he, the 4th Day of February

laft, in the Parifh of St. Mirtins in the Fields, in the

County of Middlefex, of his malice forethought
' did make an AiTault upon one Nathanael Cony, in

;
God and the King's peace there being ; and that

; he the faid Philip Earl, &c. with his right Fift,

!on the left pare of the Head of the faid Nathanael,

then and there felonioufly did ftrike and bruife,

and with his right Fiit aforefaid him did caft

and throw down to the Ground, and being fo

' on the Ground, with his Feet did kick and ftrike,

of which faid ftriking, bruifing and kicking, the

faid Nathanael Cony, from the faid 4th ofFebruary,

! to the 1 oth of February following, did languifh

and then died } and fo the Jurors do upon their

' Oaths fay, That the faid Philip Earl of Pembroke,

\ &c. the faid Nathanael Cony, at the Parifli and

County aforefaid, felonioufly, wilfully, and of

his malice forethought, did murder, againft the

{ King's peace, his Crown and Dignity. To
. this Indictment the Earl of Pembroke hath pleaded

; Not Guilty, and put himfelf upon his Peers for

'his Trial: We who are of Counfel for the

King, fhall produce our Evidence to confirm

, this Accufation, with what it is, and of what

J nature, his Majefly's Attorney-General will ac~

\
quaint your Grace, and the reft of you my No-

i ble Lords.

Then Sir William Jones, Attorney-General,

(who being called by Writ, as AfTiftant to the

Houfe, was within the Bar) opened the Evi-

dence to this effect.

Att. Gen. May it pleafe your Grace my Lord
Vol, II.

High Steward of England, and the reft of my
Noble Lordsj Philip Earl of Pembroke and Mont-
gomery ftands here lndided for the Murder of

Nathanael Cony : That my Lord of Pembroke was
the caufe of his death, 1 humbly conceive, will
need very little queftion before your Lordlhips,
for we have fuch proof that it was his hand threw
him down, and his feet that trod upon him and
kicked him, which was the caufe of his death,
that it cannot be denied : But whether or no th is

killing amount to Murder, may be a matter of
further controverfie ; and I hold it my duty to
acquaint your Grace and my Lords, what the
proof is, and then what we have to offer to prove
it to be an offence even of this nature
My Lords, I know to maintain an Indictment

of Murder, there muft be a proof of Malice

j

but the Law is plain (yourLordfhips know, and
my Lords the Judges will tell it you) that there
are two forts of Malice, the one is Malice ex-
prefs'd, and that is when a Man can be proved
to have born before-hand an ill-will and hatred
to the perfon he killed } this fort of Malice we
pretend not to be in this cafe : But there is ano-
ther fort of Malice, which alfo in Law gives the
denomination of Murder to the killing of a man,
which is Malice implied, when any one fhall

without any provocation given by the party
flain, bring another by violence to his Death

:

For our Law fuppofeth, and that upon good
Ground, that no man without a provocation
would kill his Brother, unlefs he had Malice to
him before-hand} and that is the Malice that
falls out to be the Ingredient cf this cafe, for the
poor unfortunate Gentleman that was killed, did
not for ought that did appear to me, (and I have
had all the proof given at the Coroner's Inqueft
under my Examination) give the leaft provoca-
tion to this noble Lord. Some have thought
that a perfon might be guilty of malicious Mur-
der, though the party killed had given the Mur-
derer a blow } but I lhall not contend for lo

ft net a construction of a Provocation, for there

was not in this cafe a blow (truck, no nor an an-

gry word given : All that I can find came from
Mr. Cony was, to complain that a Friend of his

that came into the Company with him, was tur-

ned out of doors ; and fure fuch a thing will ne-

ver be taken to be a Provocation, at leaftwife

fuch a one as will take away Malice implied. I

fhall now (my Lord) give your Lordlhips an ac-

count of the nature of our Evidence, as to the

Fact, and that (my Lords) in ihort ; for as I

lhall not ufe any aggravation above what the

Caufe requires, fo I fhall not tire your Grace, and
my Lords, with any long Speech, but barely open
the Evidence, and tell you in ihort what will

come in proof before you.

It was on Sunday the $d of February, that my
Lord of Pembroke and his Company were drink-

ing at the Houfe of one Long in the Hay- Market,

(1 am forry to hear the Day was no better employ-

ed by them) and it was the misfortune of this

poor Gentleman, together with one Mr. Goring,

to come into this Houfe to drink a Bottle of

Wine} my Lord of Pembroke faw them coming

in, and knowing Mr. Cony, was very importunate

with him to join Company: Heat firft refufed,

becaufe of his Friend, and told his Lordfhipthey

had Bufinefs together-, but no denial he would

take, and fo at laft they did go into my Lord's

Room. After fome diftance of time, when it was

N n n n 2, near
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near twelve of the Clock at Night, there fell

out a difference between my Lord, and Mr. Go-

ring, (the Gentleman that came in with Mr. Co-

ny) who (it feems) gave my Lord of Pembroke

fome Words, which provoked him to exprefs his

diftafte of them, by throwing a Glafs of Wine in

his Face j which injury Mr. Goring fo farrefented,

as that he was about to draw his Sword, but was
prevented by fome of the Company, and put out

of the Room to avoid further mifchief. This
Gentleman Mr. Cony that was killed, was not at

all concerned in the matter of the difference, but

only defired to go out of the Room, that he

might look after his Friend who was thruft out

of doors. He knew not why, (without any Pro-

vocation, as you will hear by and by) my Lord
of Pembroke falls upon him, ftrikeshim with one

blow to the ground, and when he was there trod

upon him on his Back, on his Belly, on his Side,

and kicked him fo that the poor Gentleman fell

into a Swoon, and was after fome time with
dome difficulty brought to himfelf again : After

they had perceived there was Life in him, they

lifted him up, and laid him down on fome Chairs

that were in the Room, and thinking too much
had been done by them already, they take their

leaves of him, and commit him to the care of

the Drawer. He was not (as it fhould feem) fo

carefully attended by the Drawer, whofe igno-

rance could not look after him as his condition

required, and fo fell down off the Chairs again

divers times. After fome time, early in the

morning he was carried away in a Sedan to his

own Lodging, and being there put to Bed, as he

grew a little more and more recovered out of his

itupefa&ion, fo he grew more and more in pain,

and fent for Doctors and Chirurgeons to confult

with, by whom he had all the means ufed that

was poffible to have faved his Life j but it pro-

ved there was fo much Blood forced out of his

Veins, and gathered into one Place of his Body,

by thofe Blows and Bruifes, that he could not be

recovered, and fo after a Weak's time paffed in

intolerable pain, died: But yet all the time of his

dying, and even conftantly to his death, he did

complain that it was my Lord's Bruifes brought
him into that condition. It will alfo be prov'd,

that after his death, upon View of the Body by
the Coroner and his Jury, there was the appea-

rances of thofe Blows and Abufes, by broad Brui-

fes in feveral parts of the Body, and this fome of

the Jury will teftify. This in fhort is the matter

of the Evidence, which we fhall briefly prove,

and then fubmit it all to your Lordmips Judg-
ment.

L. H. St. Call the Witneffes together, and

fpeak out, Mr. Attorney.

At. Gen. Thofe we fhall call fir ft are Mr. Henry

Goring, Mr. Richard Savage , Mr. John Shelly,

and Capt. Fitz-Patrick.

CI. of Cr. The Evidence which you and every

one of you fhall give for our Sovereign Lord
the Kirig, againft Philip Earl of Pembroke arid

Montgomery, the Prifoner at the Bar, fhall be

the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but

the truth : So help you God.
L. H. St. Mr. Attorney, whom do you begin

with?
At. Gen. Mr. Henry Goring.

L. H. St. Stand forward, Goring.

At. Gen. Pray Sir acquaint my Lords of the

manner of your coming with Mr. Cony to Mr.

Long's, and what happened there.

L. H. St. Sir, you muft fpeak fo loud that I

may hear.

Goring. May it pleafe your Grace, Mr. Cony
and I did on Sunday, the 3d of February laft, dine

in the City, we ftaid very late there, and I

muft ingenuoufly confefs, we had drank more
than was fit for us to have done; after that (if it

pleafe your Grace) I offered to fet down Mr.
Cony at his Lodgings, but he was fo very cere-

monious, that he would fee me at home ; it

feems Long's Houfe, the Tavern in the Hay-mar-
ket, was in the way, and Mr. Cony would needs
have us drink another Bottle of Wine ere we
parted : It was late, and the door fhut, but we
knocking pretty hard for admittance, did get it

opened, and as foon as the door was opened,
Mr. Cony went towards the Bar, and made fome
noife, being in drink } my Lord ofPembroke was
then in a low room in the Houfe, and knowing
Mr. Coney, (as I thought) came and asked him,
if he wou;d come in and drink with him ; here-
plied, My Lord, I am with a Friend, and we
have fome Bufinefs together: At length my Lord
asked me veiy civilly to come in, and we did

after fome time come in, and when we
were in, my Lord drank to me, as I remember,
and we flood round the Table a while, and at laft

fat down in fome Chairs, for we were not fo

much our felves as to be able to ftand all the

while j then there was, it feems, fome Difpute
between my Lord of Pembroke and me, wherein

my Lord did conceive I had done him fome in-

jury, and threw a glafs of Wine in my Face.

Att. Gen. What kind of Difcourfe was that,

pray Sir?

Goring. Truly (may it pleafe your Grace) I

cannot remember all the Difcourfe, becaufe I

was fo much in drink at that time 5 they fay,

it was about Families and Play, I cannot pofi-

tivcly fay what it was j but after my Lord of
Pembroke rofe up to draw his Sword, and 1 laid

my hand on mine.

Att. Gen- Well Sir; and what followed then?
Goring. Captain Savage ftept in between my

Lord and me, and the Drawer came buttling a-

bout, and took me and fhoved me out of the

room j while I was thrufting out I heard a noife

behind me, and I faw my Lord make fomewhat
towards Mr. Cony ; but more I cannot fay what
was done, becaufe Mr. Savage was between my
Lord and me. When I was out of the room, I

found my Sword gone, and my Hat and Peri-

wig ; I then made a noife at the door, and

would not go away 'till I had recovered my
things ; the Man of the Houfe (who was in bed,

it feems, for he was then undreft and in his

Night-gown) came and asked me what was the

matter ? I told him, I had been in that room
with my Lord of Pembroke, where I had received

fome ill ufage, and had loft my Hat and Peri-

wig ; and they had broken a piece of my Sword,
and taken it from me, which I defired to have

again j and (faid \) Mr. Cony, 1 doubt, is in dan-

ger, for there is quarelling within, and I defired

to come in to fee what they did with him.
Att. Gen. Well Sir, when you came in, what

then?

Goring. Upon this, the Matter of the Houfe

did defire me to go into a room, and a Gen-

tlewoman (his Sifter, as I after underftood)

did alfo prefs me to go into another room, and

promifed they would bring Mr. Cony to me; up-

on
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on which I went into a room there by, but it

was foraething long before I heard from them j

and being under fome Impatience, they at laft

came and told me, Now, Sir, you may go in, if

you pleafe : when I came in, I found a Gentle-

man lying along upon the Chairs, and no body

elfe in the room; I began to be fufpicious (for I

Vfras then, as I thought, fomewhat foberer) that

he had fome Wound, and took the Candle and

walked about him, and would fain have awaken-

ed him, but could not by all my Endeavours j

the Drawer told me, he was only dead-drunk,

and would in a little time come to himfelf ; up-

on which I delired them to lay fome Blankets

upon him, and fome Pillows under him, and fet

fome more Chairs, to make the Place broader,

that he might not fall down j and I ordered the

Drawer to be fure to watch with him till he

awaked, and make a good Fire, which he pro-

mifed to do.

The next Day Mr. Cony fent to my Lodging
to come and fee him, but I did not that Day,

becaufe I did go ouc early, and did not return

till late > but the very next Day after, (being

Tuefday) when I came to him, Harry, (faid he)

I was very much abufed the other Night in my
Lord's Company j I am forry for that (faid I)

with all my Heart j and I asked him, how he

came to be abufed j My Lord of Pembroke (faid

he) threw me down, and there fome body trod

upon me and kicked me, and he fhall know that

he has abufed me, and that I expecl: Satisfaction

for it, I hope you will let him know fo much,
and cany him a Challenge from me : Mr. Cony,

(faid I) who did tread upon you ? I know not,

(faid he) for I was in a Swoon, either my Lord
of Pembroke, or fome of his Creatures for him.

I never had the Honour to know my Lord of

Pembroke before, nor above one or two of the

Gentlemen that were with him then in the

company.
Att. Gen. Sir, had you any Difcourfe with him

afterwards ?

Goring. Yes, every Day till Thurfday at Night.
Att. Gen. Did he complain of much Pain?

Goring. Yes, conftantly in his Belly, his Sides,

and his Shoulders.

Att. Gen. What did he tell you was the Cauf;
of his Death ?

Goring. He faid it was my Lord of Pembroke

that had done him the Injury in throwing him
down ; who trod on him, or kicked him, he

cou'd not tell, but faid, my Lord mould anfwer

for it to him.

Att. Gen. Do you remember what Part he

complained of moft ?

Goring. His Belly.

Att. Gen. And what clfe ?

Goring. I think his Sides and Shoulders.

An. Gen. What Diftance of Time was it be-

tween your being thruft out of the Room, and
your coming in, and finding him upon the
Chairs ?

Goring. About half an Hour.
L. H. St. Mr. Goring, you fay you faw no

Stroke given by my Lord of Pembroke to Mr.
Cony.

Goring. No truly, may it pleafe your Grace,
I faw my Lord make towards him, but Mr. Sa-
vage was between my Lord and me, and I was
put out of the room.

L. H. St. You did not hear Mr. Cony charge

my Lord with kicking him, or ftamping on
him ?

Goring. He did not in my hearing charge him
with ftamping on him, but that he threw him
down, and that then fome one did kick him.

Att. Gen. My Lords, We have done with this
Witnefs.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, Will your
Lordfhip pleafe to ask that Witnefs that fpoke
laft, any Qiieftions, for now is your time ?

E. of P. No, my Lord.
AtU Gen. Then we defire Mr. Savage may be

examined : Mr. Savage, pray do you acquaint
his Grace and my Lords what you know of this
Bufinefs.

Savage. May it pleafe your Grace, I was in
company with my Lord of Pembroke at Mr.
Long's

^
Houfe in the Hay-Market, when Mr. Cony

came in, and making a great Noife at the Bar,
my Lord of Pembroke being in a lower Room,
looked out at the Door, and feeing who it was,
my Lord faluted him very kindly, and told him
he was glad to fee him, and defired him to walk
into his Room. Mr. Cony told him he had a
Friend at Door, and defired his Lordfhip to ad-
mit him, which my Lord embraced very kindly :

And then Mr. Cony goes to the Door and calls

Mr. Goring, defiring him to come in, and they
came together into the Room -

y my Lord defir-
ed them to fit down and drink a Glafs of Wine,
which they did, and after fome time falling into
Dilcourfe, Mr. Goring began to make ufe of fome
impertinent Language to my Lord, and amongft
the reft told him he was as good, or a better
Gentleman than he was.

Att. Gen. Goring did ?

Savage. Yes, Goring did ; upon which my
Lord threw a Glafs of Wine in his Face, and im-
mediately (lept back and drew his Sword : Mr.
Goring was going to draw, but I came up to
him, and took his Sword from him, and broke
a Piece of it, and upon my Perfuafion my Lord
put up his Sword again j but for fear there might
be more Words, I took Mr. Goring in my Arms,
and fhoved him out of the Room : And whilft I

was thrufting him out of Doors, I heard a Noife
of a Bufile behind me, and leaving the Drawer
to keep Mr. Goring out, I faw my Lord of Pem-
broke ftrike Cony with his right Hand, who im-
mediately fell down, and then gave him a kicks
and fo upon that, finding him not ftir, I took
Mr. Cony, being on the Ground, (I and my Lord
together, for I was not ftrong enough to do it

my felf) and laid him on the Chairs, and cover-

ed him up warm, and fo left him.

Att. Gen. You fay, my Lord ftruck him a

Blow.

Savage. Yes, he did ftrike him.

Att. Gen. On what Part?

Savage. I fuppofe on the Face.

Att. Gen. You fay, Sir, my Lord of Pembroke

did kick him when he was upon the Ground.

Savage. Yes.

Att. Gen. Did he kick him once, or oftner ?

Savage. But once, that I faw.

Att. Gen. Pray, Sir, on what Part was it ?

Savage. Somewhere on the Body, but I can-

not tell what Part.

Att. Gen. With what Force did his Leg move?

Savage. Not with a very great Force.

Att, Gen. How high was his Leg lifted up?

Savage.
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Savage. He pufhed his Leg with a quick mo- Shelly. May it pleafe your Grace, I was in theSavage. He pufhed his Leg with a quick mo
tion forward.

Att. Gen. When you took him up he was
fenfelefs, you fay ; pray, Sir, how long was it

ere he was brought to Life again?

Savage. Two or three Minutes.

Att. Gen. What Means did you ufe to bring

him to himfelf ?

Savage. We chafed him over the Temples,

and fuch things.

Att. Gen. When he came to Life again, did he

fpeak ?

Savage. He did open his Eyes, but did not

fpeak.

Att. Gen. What followed then?

Savage. We laid him upon fome Chairs gent-

ly, for his Pulfe was almoft gone, that we could

feel.

Att. Gen. Did his Eyes continue open after he

was revived?

Savage. Not long; for I asked him if he knew

me, he feemed to {hake his Head, as if he did,

and then clofed his Eyes again.

Att. Gen. Before that Accident, what Condi-

tion was he in? Was he able to talk?

Savage. He was very drunk, but he did fay

fomething.

Att. Gen. What Difcourfe had he before he

was (truck down ?

Savage. I cannot well remember, but I think

he propofed Play to my Lord.

Ait. Gen. Why did my Lord ftrike Cony?

Savage. I cannot tell, I was then putting Go-

ring out of the Room, and hearing the Noife of

my Lord's Motion towards Cony, I looked back

and faw my Lord ftrike him.

Att. Gen. What Language did he ufe to my
Lord, to provoke him to it ?

Savage. I cannot tell any at all.

Att. Gen. Did you fee Mr. Cony after that

time, and what did he then fay to you ?

Savage. I went two Days afterwards to fee

Mr. Cony, who told me he was then in a pretty

good Condition. He asked me whether my
Lord had ftruck him ? I told him, Yes. Tru-
ly, faid he, I did not know that my Lord had
ftruck me, but finding my felf fo much in pain,

I thought I had fain, partly through my Drink,
and partly through my Fits I ufed to have.

Att. Gen. We (my Lord) have now done with

this Witnefs.

L. B. St. My Lord of Pembroke, will you ask

Mr. Savage any Queftions ?

E. of P. No, my Lord.

L. H. St. Mr. Savage, I think you fay you faw

my Lord of Pembroke kick him once ; in your
Judgment, was that Kick of fuch Force as to give

any great Bruife ?

Savage. I did (my Lord) fee him kick him
once, but not with any great Force, as I con-

ceive.

L. H. St. You did not hear Mr. Cony com-
plain my Lord had kick'd him ?

Savage. No ; for, as I told your Lordfhip
when I was to fee him two Days after, he asked

me the Queftion, and faid he did not know it

before.

L. H. St. Mr. Attorney, pray go on with your

WitnefTes.

Att. Gen. We fhall next call Mr. John Shelly :

Mr. Shelly, pray tell his Grace and my Lords
your Knowledge in this untoward Accident.

Shelly. May it pleafe your Grace, I was in the

Room at Long's, when Mr. Cony and Mr. Goring

came in ; they were both very far in Drink, in

fo much that Goring could hardly fland, but de-

fired he might have leave to fit down, which he
had : Mr. Goring in a little time propofeth Play
to my Lord, and my Lord told him he would
throw with him for yoo/. and was fending away
for the Money j but then Mr. Goring would not
Play : I believe (faid my Lord to him) you are

an idle Fellow, that you will propofe thefe

things and not purfue them : Upon that Mr.
Goring tells my Lord, his Name was a better
Name than his Lordfhip's, and he a better Gen-
tleman than my Lord : Then my Lord takes
fome Wine, and threw in his Face j hereupon

\

Mr. Goring fteps back, and drew his Sword, and
my Lord did the fame : Captain Savage fteps in

between them, and keeps my Lord, while Go-
ring was put out of the room : my Lord then I

defired Mr. Cony to go out with his Friend : Said I

he, I do not know upon what Account my
Friend is fent out} whereupon my Lord hit Cony i

a Box on the Ear, and that threw him down.
Att. Gen. Pray, Sir, before my Lord ftruck

him, did not Cony give my Lord fome ill Lan-
guage ?

Shelly. He only faid as I told you before, I

know not upon what Account my Friend is

turned out ot Doors.

Att. Gen. Did you fee my Lord ftrike him ?

Shelly. Yes.

Att. Gen. Where-abouts?
Shelly. On the Head, with his Fift, or his

Hand.
Att. Gen. Did he fall at the firft Blow ?

Shelly. Yes.

Att. Gen. Did he afterwards fay any thing ?

Shelly. No.
Att. Gen. Did you fee my Lord kick him ?

Shelly. No.
Att. Gen. Did you fee my Lord hold up his

Foot to do it ?

Shelly. Yes.

Att. Gen. How high ?

Shelly. A pretty Height.

Att. Gen. Pray what became of the Gentle-

man afterwards ?

Shelly. They took him up in their Arms, and

laid him upon fome Chairs.

Att. Gen. Did you fee him laid there?

Shelly. Yes.

Att. Gen. Was he fenfelefs when he was ta-

ken up ?

Shelly. Yes.

Att. Gen. What was the Reafon do you think

that he did not open his Eyes, and keep them
open ?

Shelly. Truly, I believe his Drink, as well as

the Blows.
Att. Gen. The one as well as the other.

Shelly. Yes.

Att. Gen. What then did they do with him?
Shelly. They laid Blankets upon him, and Pil-

lows under him, and laid him upon the Chairs.

Att. Gen. How many Chairs ?

Shelly. As many as reach'd his length.

Att. Gen. Who did you leave him in charge

withal ?

Shelly. With the Drawer.
Att. Gen. Did he fpeak between the time of

his firft Fall, and your going away ?

Shelly,
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Shelly. No.
Att. Gen. Did you fee him after ?

Shelly. Yes, three Days after.

Att. Gen. What did he then fay to you?

Shelly. That he had a Fit, but was pretty well

recovered.

Att. Gen. When was it you faw him after that ?

Shelly. On the Saturday after, and then he told

me the fame again.

L. H. St. Did he impute any thing to my Lord

of Pembroke ?

Shelly. He faid nothing at all to me of the

Ground of his Illnefs, but that which I have

told your Grace.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, will your

Lordfhip ask this Witnefs any Queftions ?

E. of P. No, my Lord.

Att. Gen. Then We for the King deflre to ex-

amine Mr, Fitz- Patrick. Captain Fitz-Patrick,

pray tell my Lord High-Steward, and my Lords

the Peers, what you know.
Fitz-Pat. My Lord, I was in the Room at

Long's with my Lord of Pembroke, and my Lord

was walking about the Room, and he hears a

Noife without, and fleps to the Door, where

opening the Door half, he faw Mr. Cony at the

Bar, who was juft come in, and feeing my Lord,

comes to falute him ; my Lord returning into

the Room, faid to him, Will you come in and

join Company ? Mr. Cony anfwered, I have my
Friend here, my Lord j and brings Mr. Goring to

my Lord, who faluted him kindly, and defired

them both to walk in: Upon which all we that

were in the Room flood up, and the Drawer

and after we had laid him on the Chairs, and
wrapt him up warm, we left him.

Att. Gen. How was he after he was taken up ?

Fitz-Pat. He open'd his Eyes, but being very
drunk before, could not keep them open, but
fhut them again j and we made a Bed for him
on the Chairs, and having wrap'd him up warm,
we left him, and ordered the Drawer to make
him a Fire.

L.H.St. Did you hear him fpeak after he
was up ?

Fitz-Pat. No, my Lord : Mr. Savage fpoke
to him, and asked him, if he knew him ; he on-
ly lookt on him, and by a turn of his Head feem-
ed to anfwer him Yes.

L. H. St. On the Oath you have taken, did

you hear him fpeak to my Lord of Pembroke at

any time before he was (truck ?

Fitz-Pat. Yes, my Lord, he had fpoken before,

and I faw his Lips make a Motion towards my
Lord, but what he faid, I know no otherwise

than as I faid before.

L. H. St, My Lord of Pembroke, Will your
Lordfhip ask this Witnefs any Queftions?

E. of P. No, my Lord.
Att. Gen. We have now, my Lord, done with

the WitnefTes that were by when the Facl: was
committed j by all whom ycur Lordfhips hear,

the Blows were all given by my Lord of Pern-

broke, and in their Company j they are all

Gentlemen of Quality, and therefore, I believe,

fpeak the Truth : We will now call fome Wit-
neffes that were with the unfortunate Gentle-

man in his Sicknefs, whereof one was his Phy-

gave them Chairs ; after the drinking about of fician, another his Nurfe, and others, who were

a Glafs or two, Mr. Goring (both being drunk)

faid, amongft other Difcourie, I will drink, I

will play, 1 will fight with any Man. Who is

this Gentleman, faid my Lord of Pembroke, that

I (hould never hear of, or know him ? How,
faid Goring, ('Sblood) not hear of me ? My Name
is Goring, a Name and Family as good as any

Gentleman's in England. There is no body

doubts it, faid my Lord. Your Betters, faid Go-

ring } and then my Lord threw the Wine in his

Face ; and Goring going to draw, was put out

of the Room by Mr. Savage, and my Lord, up-

on fome Words from Cony, (truck him down
with his Hand.

Att. Gen. What Words were thofe ?

Fitz-Pat. When I asked my Lord the Reafon

why he ftruck Cony, he told me, it was becaufe

Cony had told him Goring fhould not go out of

the Room till he knew the Reafon of it.

L. H. St. Did you hear him fay fo ?

Fitz-Pat. No, not I, but my Lord upon my
asking, gave that for the Reafon.

/,. H. St. What was the Reafon?

Fitz-Pat. Becaufe Mr. Cony told him, Goring

fhould not go out of the Room, till he knew
fome Reafon for it : After my Lord had ftruck

him, I was on the other Side of the Table, and

could not fee whether my Lord did ftamp on

him, or kick hira ; but I faw my Lord's Knee
ftir, and if he did kick him, he kickt him but

once, for we ran in and took him up to lay him
upon the Chairs, and taking his Handkerchief

out of his Pocket to wipe his Face, we pluckt

out of his Pocket with it fome falfe Dice, which
we afterwards put into the Hands of Mr. Long,

to prove that they intended and propofed Play ;

often with him, and after his Death had a View
of the Body. Thefe will give your Grace and

my Lords an Account, that he died of thofe

Wounds, and Bruiies he then received ; they are

thefe four, Dr. David Bruce, Mr. Thomas Hemes,

Mr. Charles Jack/on, and Alice Avery.

CI. ofCr. Hearken to me, you four. The E-
vidence that you and every of you fhall give

for our Sovereign Lord the King, againft Phi-

lip Earl of Pembroke, fhall be the Truth, the

whole Truth, and nothing but the Truth : So
help you God.

L. H. St. Whom do you call firft, Mr. At-

torney ?

Att. Gen. Dr. Bruce, my Lord : Pray, Sir, ac-

quaint my Lord High-Steward his Grace, and

my Lords the Peers, what you know of Mr. Co-

ny's Sicknefs, and the Caufe of his Death, as you

apprehend.

Dr. Bruce. May it pleafe your Grace, all that

I can evidence in particular of Mr. Cony's Sick-

nefs is this : On Monday Morning after his be;

ing in company of the Earl of Pembroke, I was
fent for to come to Mr. Cony's Lodgings, and

about Ten of the Clock I came ; he was then

in Extremity of Pain in both Shoulders, fo that

he could not move, and his Pains were fo acute,

that he could not admit of touching: Upon the

abating of thofe Pains by my Application the

next Day, he then began to complain of Pains

in his Belly, but thofe not fo extreme as thofe in

his Shoulders * after fome Applications thereto,

he complain'd of both, but in a little time was

fo eafed, that he kept well all Night, and till

Nine or Ten the next Morning. The next

Day, which was tVtdnefday, when I came to

fee
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ice him* I told him of the common Report of

his being kickt ; he feemed difpleafed that fuch

H thing ihould be reported, and throwing down
the Bed-clothes, fhewed me his Belly, but I

could not fee any Blemifh upon it then, cither

by difcolouring orbruifingj I found him indeed

very backward in receiving Remedies, but left

him then in a hopeful way of Recovery, but I

faw him not after, becaufe being fick my felf, 1

could not attend him.

Att. Gen. Did he complain of any Hurt about

him then ?

Bruce. Only in his Belly.

Att. Gen. Did you then fee his Belly ?

Bruce. Yes, Sir, for he threw away the

Clothes.

Att. Gen. Did you fee upon his Breaft, or any

where elfe?

Bruce. He did not complain of any Ail there,

fo 1 lookt not for any thing.

Att. Gen. What did he complain of when you
came firft to him ?

Bruce. Only his Shoulders.

Att. Gen. And after his Belly ?

Bruce. Yes.

L. H. St. Hark you, Do£tor, what Day was
that you came to look on his Belly, whether he

had any Biuifes or no?
Bruce. Wednefday Morning, my Lord.

L. H. St. And then you fay upon your Oath,

you faw there no Swelling or Difcolouring?

Bruce. None at all, my Lord. I gave it in up-

on my Oath before the Coroner, and the fame

I fay now.

Att. Gen. We have done with the Do&or, my
Lord.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, will your
Lordfhip examine him to any thing?

E. of P. No, my Lord.

Att. Gen. Then there is Mr. Hemes-, pray, Sir,

acquaint my Lords what you know of this Gen-
tleman, Mr. Cony, and firft pray you tell his

Grace when you came to him firft.

Hemes. It was on Monday Morning after this

Accidcnr, about Eight of the Clock.

Att. Gen. Did he fend for you ?

Hemes. Yes, Sir.

Att. Gen. How did you find him when you
came ?

Hemes. In great Extremity of Pain, and very

fore, complaining of Pains over all his Body,
efpecially on his Shoulders and Buttocks. Then
the Doctor, who came in foon after, did apply

Plaifters to him, and when he anointed him he

was fo fore, that he could not endure any one to

touch him, nor could we tell how to turn him
in his Bed, or how to place him fo as to apply

the Ointment, but were fain to get a Sheep-skin

to wrap him in, and by Pillows, and a broad

Joint-ftool, raife him up by degrees : I did then

look upon his Body, but faw no Swelling or

Bruife there.

L. H. St. Did you fee his Belly ?

Hemes. No, my Lord, but he did complain of

an inward Grief there.

Att. Gen. When did he firft complain of

that?

Hemes. The firft Morning when I came.

Att. Gen. What Words did he then ufe? tell

the very Words he ufed, if you can remember
them.

Hemes. No, Sir, I cannot ; but he complained

of a great Sorenefs in his Belly, and an inward

Sorenefs.

Att. Gen. Where, in what part of his Body ?

Hemes. In his Belly, I fay.

Att. Gen. Well, now go on ; How long did

you continue with him ? How many Days did

you come to him ?

Hemes. I came to him every Day all along.

Att. Gen. Were you with him till the Day he
died ?

Hemes. Yes ; there was indeed a new Phyfi*

cian fent for, but I faw him all along ufually once
a Day.

Att. Gen. Did he complain more than once of
his Belly ? .

Hemes. Yes, all along from the firft Morn-
ing.

L. H. St. Did you fee him opened after he
was dead ?

Hemes. Yes, my Lord.

L. H. St. What can you fay as to what you
faw on him then ?

Hemes. When he was opened, in the lower part
of his Belly there was a great deal of Blood ga-
thered together on both the Hypocondria's, which
is not ufual ; I cannot tell the Meaning of it,

the Phyfician knows that beft.

Att. Gen. Was it congealed black Blood ?

Hemes. It was of an ugly Colour.
Att. Gen. What Colour ?

Hemes. Of a blackifti livid Colour.

Att. Gen. Have you obferved it often fo in o-
thers ? Have you ufed to fee People opened at

other times?

Hemes. No indeed, not I, but very feldom.

Att. Gen. Well then, ftand down you, for we
have done with you.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, have you any
thing to fay to him ?

E. of P. No, my Lord.

L. H. S. Then call your next Witnefs.
Att. Gen. That is Mr. Jackfon. Pray you, Sir,

tell my Lords what you know of this Bufinefs

:

When were you fent for to Mr. Cony ?

Jackfon. On Wednefday.

Att. Gen. What Acquaintance had you with
him ?

Jackfon. I had a very particular Acquaintance
with him, and I lookt upon him as a Perfon of a

ftrong, healthy Conftitution, and not fubjecl: to

any Dangerous Diftemper ; my Acquaintance
with him was of twelve Years (landing, and
therefore I muft needs know him pretty well.

Upon the Wednefday, after this Accident, hear-

ing he was very weak, I went to vifit him, and
when I came, he told me, he had been troubled

with very unufual Swooning, and then fell into

one of them, but with fome Cordials we revi-

ved him again, when we thought all of us he
had been dead. The Friday and Saturday be-

fore he died, I was with him all Day, he com-
plained of great Griefs in his Belly, he faid, he
had great Torment there, and believed he had
received fome ill Ufage lately, which occafioned

thefe Pains.

Att. Gen. From whom had he received it ?

Jackfon. He was very fparing in telling whom
it came from.

Att. Gen. Who did he name ?

Jackfon. He faid, he was a drinking with my
Lord
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Lord of Pembroke ; but he was in fuch Pains, that

1 could not ask him many Queftions which he

would an Twer.

Att. Gen. Where were his Pains?

Jack/on. In his lower Belly, and he had fome-

times ftrange fainting Fits.

Att. Gen. When did he firft complain of his

Fits to you ?

Jackfon. On the Wednefday.

Att. Gen. When did he die? *

Jackfon. On Monday following.

Att. Gen. Did he complain on Saturday of his

Belly ?

Jackfon. Yes.

L. H. St. What difcourfe had you further

with him?
Jackfon. None but what I tell your Lordfhip,

that I can remember.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, have you

any thing to fay to him ?

E. of P. No, my Lord.

L. H. St. Who's next then, Mr. Attorney?

Att. Gen. Alice Avery', my Lord, who was his

Nurfe—Were you attending upon Mr. Cony in

the time of his Sicknefs ?

Avery. Yes, I was.

Att. Gen. Pray tell my Lord your whole

knowledge.
Avery. When he came in on the Monday

Morning, I found he was very ill, and could

not well ftand : Sir, faid I to him, lure you are

very much in Beer* No, faid he, I am very

fore, and full of pain: Sir, faid I, I believe you

have been in fome bad Company: Yes, faid he,

I have been in fome Company, where I have re-

ceived a greal deal of wrong, I am not able to

go nor ltand, I have been beaten and kickt

more than ordinary, I was never fo abufed in all

my Lifej and upon his dying-Bed he wifhcd to

God, he had never been in my Lord of Pent'

hroke's Company, for he did think in his Con-
fciencemy Lord had been the death of him.

Att. Gen. Speak that again.

Avery. He wifhed to God he had never been

in my Lord of Pembroke's Company, for he did

think in his Confcience that he had been the

death of him.

L. H. St. How long before he died was
that?

Avery. About two or three Hours before he
died.

Att. Gen. Did he continue fenfible to the time
that he died?

Avery. Yes, to the laft Minute.

Att. Gen. How often did he complain of his

Pain?
Avery. All along from the time he came out

of my Lord of Pembroke's Company.
Att. Gen. What time did he come home?
Avery. About feven or eight of the Clock on

Monday Morning.
Att. Gen. W here and what part did he com-

plain of then ?

Avery. His Sides and all parts about him.
Att. Gen. How often did you difcourfe with

him about his pain?

Avery. Every day divers times, from the time
he came home till he died.

Att. Gen. And he fpoke thofe Words a little

before he died ?

Avery. Yes, and often complained of his being
abufed.

Vol. II.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, will you ask
this Woman any Queftions ?

E. of P. Noj my Lord.
L. H. St. Have you any more Witncfles, Mr.

Attorney ?

Att. Gen. Now, my Lord, we fhall call three
more that had a view of the Body after his
death, upon the Coroner's Inqueft, who will give
your Grace an Account what appearings of Mur-
der were there vifiblej and they are, Richard
Wheeler, William Brown, Thomas Roberts.

CI. of Cr. Lay your Hands on the Book: The
Evidence, £jV.

Att. Gen. Which is Mr. Brown? Did you fee

the Body of Mr. Cony after he was dead ?

Brown. Yes, my Lord, I was one of the Co-
roner's Inqueft, which after view of the Body
went into another Houfe; but fome of us feeing
the Body fwelled at that rate as ic was, and be-
ing unfatisfied of the Caufe, went back again to
look upon it, and there I faw upon his right
Bread a great black Bruife j and I looked upon
the Caul, which was all waited away 9 and on
his left Side again a great black Spot, and in the
bottom of his Belly a quantity of very ill-lookc
Blood. .

';
. \i

'

Att. Gen. When was this you faw it? what
day ? how long after his death ?

Brown. The day after he died.

Att. Gen. Where did you obferve any Hurt and
Bruifeupon him befides?

Brown. As he lay before he was opened, we
faw him all over fwelled at a prodigious rate,

and black and blue in divers places ; fo that I

was unfatisfied till I had feen the inward part?,

and therefore went up and faw what I faid

before.

L.H.St. Did you know the Gentleman be-
fore ?

Brown. No, my Lord.
L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, do you de-

fire to ask him any thing ?

E.of P. No, my Lord.
L. H. St. Then go on, Sir.

Att. Gen. Richard Wheeler, pray tell my Lord
what you know.

Wheeler. My Lord, I was fummoned upon the

Jury by the Coroner, and according to my
duty I made fuch an infpection as 1 could into

the Body j I did obferve upon his right B re a ft a

very black and great Bruife, and on the left fide

of his Belly a very black and great Bruife, which
was indeed of another-guife colour than that of
fettled Blood, for I have of my own knowledge
had a fad experience of that kind.

Att. Gen. Did you know the Gentleman be-

fore ?

Wheeler. Yes, I knew the Gentleman very

well, and I had not known him to be the fame
perfon then, but by their defcription that were
about him, for all the parts of his Body were
molt violently fwelled.

Att. Gen. Did you fee the fettled Blood at the

bottom of his Belly ?

Wheeler. Yes-, and as I was informed, that was

occafioned by his being forced to lie on his Back
continually, becaufe his pain would not fuffer

him to move: that on the Side, and Ribs, was a

perfecl Bruife.

Att. Gen. Where is Mr. Roberts? Did you fee

this Gentleman's Body after his Death?

O o o o Roberts*
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Roberts. I faw the Body after it was opened,

and viewed the inward lower parts of the Belly,

where there was a quantity of Blood gathered

together.

Att. Gen. Was it more black in that part than

in others?

Roberts. It was black congealed Blood.

Att. Gen. How broad were the Spots ?

Roberts. About the breadth of my hand.

L. H. St. Mr. Roberts* did you fee the left

fiJe of the Belly bruifed ?

Roberts. Yes, my Lord •, and (as I faid) in the

lower inward parts black congealed Blood.

L. H. St. Was there any fwelling ?

Roberts. Yes, my Lord, very much.

L. H. St. The Dodtor that was examined be-

fore, faid there was no fwelling nor difcolour-

ing.

Att. Gen. He did fo, my Lord; but this was

feveral days after that.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, will you exa-

mine thefe Men ?

E. of P. No, my Lord.

Att. Gen. My Lord, we have but one Witnefs

more for the King, and that is Mr. Charles Cony,

who is Brother of the Gentleman that died, who
will give you an account what he faid in his fick-

nefs j and the Sayings of a dying Man in fuch

circumftances are remarkable.

CI. of Cr. Charles Cony, hearken to your Oath.

The Evidence, 13c.

Att. Gen. Now Mr. Cony, tell his Grace and

my Lords the occafion of your Brother's Sicknefs

and Death.

Cony. May it pleafe your Grace, on Monday
the 4th of February I was fent for by my Brother,

about nine of the Clock in the morning, to

come to fpeak with him, but not believing his

bufintfs to be urgent, deferred my going j the

Meffenger immediately comes back again, and

tells me my Brother was exceeding ill : As foon

as I came, I found him almoft dying, his Eyes

fet, and he extremely ill, but we recovered

him in a little time : whilft he complained of

great pain, I examined what might bethecaufe,

and where he had been laft night (for 1 under-

flood he came not home till morning) and in

what company. And when I was told of my
Lord of Pembroke"'* company, who had ftruck

him down with a box of the Ear, both he and I

quickly concluded how his 111 came : But to be

fatisfied, (he telling me he could not remember
what he did) we fent for the Drawer, to know
the truth of the matter: but in the mean time,

to comfort him, I told him I hoped it was only

a fainting Fit, which would be over again in a

while. The Drawer came, and did allure me
that my Lord did never ftrike him ; which up-

on aflurance I did believe, efpecially when he

came again in the Afternoon, and told me the

fame (lory. All the while he was in the horrid-

eft pain that could be, and could not be touch-

ed, but was forced to lie upon his Back. The
Doctor told us, for application to eafe his pain,

the beft thing to wrap him in was a whole Wea-
ther's Skin ; which we did at two of the Clock
in the Afternoon, by the help of a Chirurgeon,

raife him up, and put on him. On fuefday

Morning I lent to know how he did, being ne-

ceflltated to go another way j he fent word
back, he was pretty well at eafe, and had reft-

ed pretty well. On Wednefday he rofe, and fat

up> on Thurfday he was fo well, that he would
have fome Friends to Dine with him in his

Chamber j on Friday he was a little ill again,

but on Saturday he was fo well, that he would
have gone abroad, and truly we did never ("I'm

fure I did not) believe he would have died, till

about two hours before he died. One day when
Dr. Conqueft came out of his Chamber, he feem-

ed to be in a Huff, and faid, he was only kept

there to do the Drudgery ; and when I asked

him what he thought of my Brother? he an-

fwered me lhort, Icannot tell whether it be a Pem-
bxokt-kick or no. And when I, upon the report

of my Lord's having abufed him, (which yet up-

on the Drawer's anfwer I believed not) fpoke to

him about it, he would feem difpleafed any
fhould mention it: He once indeed told me, he
had fomething elfe to reveal to the Doctor, but
what it was 1 cannot tell.

Att. Gen. Did you apprehend him to be fo ill

as he was ?

Cony. No, I never believed it, till an hour
before he died ; and this is all that I can fay,

my Lord.

L. H. St. Will you, my Lord of Pembroke,

ask Mr. Cony any queftion ?

E. of P. I defire your Grace to ask him what
Chirurgeons they were that did view the Body
after dead.

L.H.St. Mr. Cony, come forward. My Lord
of Pembroke defires to know what Chirurgeons
viewed the Body.

Cony. Mr. Snell the Chirurgeon, I think, my
Lord.

E. of P. I defire your Grace he may be ex-

amined.

L.H.St. If the King's Counfel have done,

then your Lordfhip may examine whom you
pleafe: What would your Lordfhip examine
into ?

E. of P. To give your Grace an account what
might be the caufe of the Blood found in Mr.
Cony's Body.

Att. Gen. Becaufe we did omit to examine
Jack/on to that matter, we defire for the King
we may call him to that ppint now.

L. H. St. You fhould have examined all your,

WitnefTes fully at firft.

Att. Gen. We acknowledge it, my Lord; but

fince we did forget it, we humbly crave leave to

do it now.
L. H. S. Here is Mr. Jackfon, what do you

ask him?
Att. Gen. Mr. Jack/on, were you prefent at the

opening of Mr. Cony's Body ?

Jack/on. Yes, Sir.

Att. Gen. What did you fee there ?

Jackfon. There was an extraordinary quantity

of extravafated Blood in the lower part of his

Belly.

L. H. St. Extravafated Blood ?

Jackfon. Yes, my Lord.
Att. Gen. How might that come ? might it

not proceed from a natural caufe ?

Jackfon. I believe it came from fome Bruifes

given him, and from fome Violences that were

done to him.

Att. Gen. In the Belly was it ?

Jackfon. Yes, in the Belly.

Att. Gen. You faw then: Did you fee any

Swelling there ?

Jackfon. Yes, and the Diapbragma bruifed, &V.

Att.
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Att. Gen. Now, my Lord, We have done

with our Evidence for the King.

L.H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, if your Lord-

fhip have any Witnefs to call, or will fay any

thing for your felf, now is the time.

E. of P. I defire your Grace that Dr. Lower,

and Dr. Conqueft, and one Mr. Raven, may be

examined for me.

L. H. St. Call Dr. Lower, Dr. Conqueft, and

Mr. Raven.

CI. of Cr. Here they are, make room for them.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, who will

your Lordfhip begin with ?

E. of P. Dr. Conqueft, my Lord.

L. H. St. Doctor, you are not upon your

Oath, but you muft have a ftricl care what you

fay, for there will be a good account to be taken

of it at another Place, and it being a Teftimony

before a Court of Judicatuie, the Obligation up-

on you to fpeak the Truth is as great, as if you

did fwear.

Yi^. Conqueft. The Account I now give, my
Lord, is that Account which I gave upon my
Oath before the Coroner.

L.H.St. You muft give it again viva voce',

we muft not read your Examination before the

Court.

Conqueft. The firft occafion I had to fee Mr.

Cony as aPhyfician, was about three Months be-

fore this unhappy Accident ; he was then in a

fainting Fit at the Rofe-Tzvcrn, &c. where I

was fent for to him : He had for half an Hour
lain quite dead, as they thought, but with their

rubbing him, and giving him fome mull'd Sack,

he was come to himfelf juft as I came, but he

had no Pulfe, and was relapfing into his Fit : I

gave him fome Drops and Cordials, and fent

him home pretty well again. We went from

thence, and the next Morning his Man came to

call me, and told me his Mafter was dying,

which was (as I take it) the 6th of December faii:

When I came thither, I found his Man fitting

by the Fire ; and asking for his Mafter, he told

me he was aileep ; I was fomething vext at the

Fellow for troubling of me fo, and while I was

fpeaking to him, Mr. Cony at laft heard my
Voice, and calling me to him, defired me I

would come again in the Afternoon, for he had

a mind to reft this Morning : I came at One of
'< the Clock again, where I found him very ill,

and very melancholy ; he wept, and fent his

Man down flairs, and when the Man was gone,

I asked him what was'the occafion? He told me,

he found fo great an Oppreffion at his Heart,

that he could hardly fpeak : I defired he would
,
take fome advice, and fend for another Phyfici-

an; but he would have none elfe, but would

1
needs go abroad that Afternoon : I defired him

I
all I could j but net prevailing with him, I

< gave him fome Cordial Drops, and defired him
; to return home betimes ; but he did not, but, as

! I heard, drank very hard, and returned not till

very late. Infhort, in thefpace of two Months,

I have been called out or my Bed above twenty

J times, to give him advice, and to recover him
out of his Fitsj buthcwculd take no advice, do

' whatever 1 could. After this was his meeting

with my Lord of Pembroke, which he thus gave

me Relation of: He told me, he had been with

Mr. Goring in the City that day drinking hard,

and when he came to Long's, he was fo extreme-

ly drunk, that he could not remember any thing

Vol. II.

that was done there, but finding himfelf much
in pain the next day ; he was fo ignorant of the

Tranfactions there, that he only thought he had
had ieveral Falls off the Chairs near the Fire}

he faid indeed, he afterwards fent to enquire

what had pafied in his Company that Night, and
he heard my Lord of Pembroke fhould give him
a Box on the Ear, but he remembred it not.

Two or three days after he fent for me, and
told me, now he would take advice of me, and
enter into a courfe of Phyfick ; but knowing his

condition to be fo bad, I would not venture up-
on it alone, and defired that he would join fome
one elfe with me in confultation: He asked me,
what Phyfician he fhould fend for ? I defired him
to name any one whom he had a mind to* he
faid, he knew none, and therefore would have
me take whom I would, and then named Dr.
Lower, and obtained his confent to have his ad-

vice, whom I brought with me to his Lodgings.
And the Saturday before he died, as we were
coming in the Coach, I told Dr. Lower what I

had known of his Diflemper before, and what
might be the occafion of it, which (when we
came thither) I repeated again in Mr. Cony's

prefence, who did confefs the whole to be as I

faid, that he had been a very hard Drinker of
Wine, and ftrong Waters upon it, which had
(he believed) caufed a Stagnation of Blood in

his Body, which might be the occafion of his

fainting Fits. We confultcd the whole caufej

he owned no Blow or Kick that he had receiv-

ed, neither did I believe his Intrails had receiv-

ed any fuch prejudice, becaufe I faw him my
felf take two or three Glifters, as particularly

that Evening : Yet he would not be regular,

but that Night drank three whole Tankards of
cold fmall Beer, which did put him into a very
violent Fit of the Gripes. He fent for me, and
having left him pretty well I wondered what
alteration could caufe fo violent £t Diflemper in

him fo fuddenly : He fell a vomiting, and vo-

mited all Night; and when I came ^nd found
him in a dying Fit, I gave him fome Drjps I

had about me, and fetcht him to Life again i

but ftill he was very bad, and he had a Glitter

for the Gripes; he would fain have had fome
more fmall Beer, which I diffuaded him from,

and adviled him rather to White- Wine-Poffet-
drink, but he fwore a great Oath he would have
fmall Beer. Dr. Lower, I fuppofe, faw him that

Morning. An hour before he died I came
again, and thought fit to Blood, and fo he was;

he bled about eight Ounces, and was a little

better, fo I left him: An hour after 1 came
again, and found he was dead; but for his com-
plaining of any Bruife or Hurt that way re-

ceived, I remember not.

L. H. St. Did you fee him after he was dead,

and when he was opened ?

Conquefl. Yes, my Lord, I did fee him o-

pened.

L. H. St. What was your Judgment then ?

Conqueft. My Lord, There was clotted Blood

among the Bowels, that was extravafated. My
Lord, . The breaking out of which, I did attri-

bute to the great quantity of fmall Beer he had

drank, and the Gripings that followed upon it;

but the Bowels weie none of them touched,

and he himfelf attributed his Fits to that.

L. H. St. Mr. Attorney, Will you ask him

any crefs Queftion ?

Alt.

O o o o 1
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Att. Gen. No, my Lord.

L.H.St. Then Dr. Lower pray fpeak your
Knowledge.

Lower. All the Account, my Lord, that I can

give is, That the Day before Mr. Cony died,

Dr. Conquefi did come to me to defire me to go
with him, and by the way (as he related) told

me the manner of his Fits, and what he thought

was the Occafion of them ; and in that Dif-

courfe we continued till we came to his Lodg-
ings, where we found him in his Bed ; and when
he was up Dr. Conquefi repeated what he had

told me before, and he acknowledged all that

to be true : 1 my felf asked him many Quef-

tions how he found himfelfj he faid, thofe Fits

came upon him fuddenly by Sicknefs upon his

Stomach j but there was not any Difcourfe in my
Hearing, of any Bruife or Hurt that way, nor

had I any reafon to fufpect any fuch thing mould
be the Caufe of his lllnefs, for he had no Symp-
tom of a Fever upon him, either in Tongue,
Pulfe, or Urine, which would have been, had

he owed his Diftemper to any thing of that kind.

The next Day I was Sent for to him early, but

my neceffary Attendance on other Patients

would not let me come quickly to him: When
I came I found him dying, and feeing no Hopes
of his Recovery, left him} I was dcfired to be

prefent at the Diffedlion, but becaufe of the Ru-
mour of this Bufinefs, I faid it would be a trou-

blefime Matter, and therefore would purpofely

avoid it.

. L. H. St. So you did not fee him diffecled ?

Lower. No, my Lord, I did fear being trou-

bled, and would have avoided it, but could not,

it feems, for I am come here to teftify this.

L. H. St. Did he ufe any Words to you whilft

he was fick, complaining of any Abufe or Wrong
offered him by beating or kicking ?

Lower. No, my Lord.

L. H. St. How long was it before he died that

you faw him ?

Lower. It was on Saturday at Four of the

Clock in the Afternoon, and he died on Sunday

at Noon. i

L. H.St. And when you came to fee him a-

gain, you found him dying ?

Lower. Yes, my Lord.

L.H St. But you fay, all the time you were
with him, you faw no Symptom of a Fever on

him ?

Lower. No, none at all, my Lord.

L. H. St. I then ask you this Queftion, Doc-
tor, Can any Man be mortally hurt and bruifed,

whereof he may languifh, and not have a Fe-

ver

Lower. According to my Knowledge and Ex-
perience, my Lord, ufually and moll commonly
upon a Mortal Bruife, an Inflammation follows,

and that Inflammation caufes a Fever, which will

be evident in the Patient's Pulfe, or Tongue, or

Water •, but none of thefe I found fo affected

with Mr. Cony.

L. H.St. Have you any thing to fay to this

Gentleman, Mr. Attorney ?

Att, Gen. No, my Lord.

L.LI. St. Where then are the reft of your

Witneffes? My Lord of Pembroke, Will you call

any more Evidence?

E. of Ph Yes, my Lord, Mr. Raven.

L. H. St. Dr. Conquefi, pray, before you go ;

you fay you told Dr. Lower of Mr. Cony's Fits

before, were they the fame with thofe he had in

his laft Sicknefs ?

Conquefi. Yes, my Lord, the fame Fainting

Fits.

L. H. St. And you imputed them to the fame
Caufe ?

Conquefi. Yes, my Lord, to his hard drinking

Wine and Strong-waters, and then great Quan-
tities of Small-Beer i I told his Landlady often it

would kill him, but I could never get him to be
regular, nor take any Advice.

L.H. St. Hath your Lordfhip any more Wit-
neffes ?

E. of P. Mr. Raven, my Lord.
L. H. St. Come forward, Mr. Raven, and

fpeak out.

Raven. I viewed the Body (my Lord) before

and when it was opened, and it was reported to

me that there was a Bruife in each Side of the
Belly, of which thereupon I took a ftridter View,
and could find no Blacknefs nor Bluenefs, nor
Marks of Bruifesj upon which the Body was
opened, and there iffued thence clotted Blood j

then Hooked upon the Caul, which was wither-
ed and confumed, and the Heart was as loofe as

a Rag, and his Lungs fluck to each fide of his

Ribs j and as to the Matter of the Blood, thac

was not an extraordinary thing, for it is known
to Phyficians, that in all Natural Deaths there

muft be extravafated Blood in the lower Belly.

L. H St. How did you think there came to

be that Quantity of Blood there?

Raven. This Blood, 1 think (my Lord) muft
be extravafated by the Violence of his Gripes, for

it is proved he drank a great Quantity of Claret,

and afterwards of Small Beer, which fet the

Blood upon a Fermentation, that fet him a Vo-
miting, by the Violence thereby ufed to Nature
this Blood was thrown down into the Belly ; but
in all Natural Deaths, if there be not fo great a
Confumption of the Blood that there is none
left, there muft be fome extravafated j it is a

clear Cafe.

L. H.St. My Lord of Pembroke, hath your
Lordfhip any more Witneffes?

E. of P. Yes, my Lord, two more, Benjamin

Long and William Viner.

L.H.St. Who does your Lordfhip begin'

with ?

E. of P. Long.

L. H. St. Do you hear, Long, you muft have

as great a Care what you fay, as if you were up-

on your Oath.

Long. A little before this Bufinefs happen'd,

Mr. Cony comes into my Houfe at Covent-Garden,

and faid he was very ill 3 he was juft going to

fit down, and mifs'd the Chair, and had like to

have fallen down, being almoft in a Swoonj
whereupon he faid, fend for Dr. Conquefi pre-

fently, or elfe I fhall die: fo 1 fent my Servant *

to call him, who found him at the Coffee-houfe:

When he came in, faid he, Sir, how do you?
I am glad you are come, faid Mr. Cony, for I

am very ill ; and there were two Gentlemen
came in with the Doctor, that were then going
to the Play-houfe: faid Mr. Cony, I am taken

with the Fainting Fits, and fear they will kill

me; upon that Dr. Conquefi bid him have a care

of Drinking, for it would ruin him.

L. H. St. When was this?

Long. A little before Chrifimas, my Lord.
L. H, St. How long before he died ?

Long.
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Long. It was before he was hurt.

L. H. St. How long ?,

Long. Five or fix Weeks, my Lord, as I re-

member ; I cannot tell exa&ly.

L. H. St. Well, and what followed ?

Long. Dr. Conquefi would have him go home
to Bed, which I know not whether he did or

no, but he went away from our Houfe, and the

Doctor faid he would fend him a Glifter, and

fome other things the next Morning : And this

is all I can fay.

L. H. St. Is that all you can fay ?

Long. Yes, my Lord.

L. H. St. Why, was not this Accident done
at your Houfe ?

Long. No, my Lord, it was at my Brother's

in the Hay-Market.

L.H. St. Then call next Finer ; what fay you?
Finer. May it pleafe your Grace, I am Draw-

er at Mr. Long's in the Hay-Market, I did fee my
Lord ftrike him with his Hand, and that is all j

I came in juft as he ftruck the Blow, and Cap-
tain Savage bid me keep out Mr. Goring 5 which
while I was doing I knew not what was done
more} but after they had laid him upon the

Chairs, they charged me to make a Fire, and
look after him, and left him : He fell down di-

vers times off the Chairs •, and when he came
to himfelf a little, I asked him how he did ? he

told me he was very fick, and I got him ftill up

again upon the Chairs: And then he had feve-

ral Fainting Fits in the Room ; and about Seven
of the Clock in the Morning, we fent him
Home in a Chair to his Lodging. The fame

Day at One of the Clock he fent for me, to know
what had happen'd, for his own Memory would
Hot ferve him to tell : I did not think fit then

to tell him my Lord had ftruck him, but told

him he had had many Falls in the Room : 'Tis

Fits, faid he, that I have had not long fince, and

it comes with my hard drinking, and not look-

ing to my felf.

L. H. St. He fuppofed it to be fo ?

Finer. Yes, my Lord, he himfelf did.

L. H. St. Did you fee my Lord of Pembroke

tread upon him ?

Finer. No, my Lord, I only faw the Blow of

his Hand, for I was getting Mr. Goring out of

the Room.
L. H. St. Did he fay my Lord of Pembroke did

tread upon him?
Finer. No, he could not tell any thing that

my Lord had done to him ; he was drunk that

Night, and therefore fent for me to know how
it was.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke^ hath your
1

Lordfhip any more Witnefies ?

E. of P. No, my Lord.
L. H. St. Did not your Lordfhip fpeak of one

Snell, my Lord, a Chirurgeon, at firft ?

E. of P. I did expect, my Lord, they mould
have brought the Perfonyour Grace fpeaks of.

L.H.St. Why, my Lord?
E. of P. Becaufe he was their Chirurgeon.

1, L. H. St. What lay you now of the King's

[ Counfel, to my Lord's Defence ?

Sol. Gen. If my Loid hath done, we arc ready

to go on for the King.

L.H.St. Will your Lordfhip fay any thing

move for your felf?

E. of P. I have nothing more to fay, my Lord.

Mr. * Sol. Gen. May it pleafe your Grace my
Lord High-Steward of England, and my Noble
Lords, that are now Judges of this Caufe of Blood j

I fhall with all Faithiulnefs endeavour to dif-

charge my Duty in this great Court, and con-

fine my felf folely to the Evidence that hath

been given, and 1 hope I fhall not do this Noble
Lord, thePrifonerat the Bar, any Injury by Mil-

repetition. The Evidence, my Lords, that hath

been produced for the King, to make it our, that

thePrifonerat the Bar is guilty of Murder, doth

(may it pleafe your Grace) confift of three Parts.

1. In the firft are contained thofe Matters of

Fact, which did arife at the time when the poor

unfortunate Gentleman came into my Lord
Pembroke's Company, and what happen'd before

my Lord of Pembroke did depart from that Place.

2. The fecond Part of the Evidence confifts of

Matters that did arife by Confeflion of the Par-

ty, and his difcourfing with Perfons who came
tovifit him, or were with him during the time

of his Sicknefs.

3. The third Part doth confift of Matters ari-

fing after his Death, upon the View of the Body.
Under thefe three Heads are comprehended all

the King's Evidence, and with humble Submifli-

on, 1 humbly conceive, that the Evidence doth

reach the Indictment, which is for the Crime
ofwilful Murder. But when I have humbly Ha-

ted the Facl, I muft fubmit it to the Judgment
of my Noble Lords and Peers.

But to take a due Method, I fhall begin with

a Word or two of what Mr. Attorney-General
was pleafed to hint, when he opened the Caufe,

that is, to fhew what Murder is, and where-
in we conceive the Evidence comes up to the In-

dictment. Murder in our Law is, when one

Man kills another upon Malice fore-thought ;

now that Malice is comprehended under two
Particulars: The one is expreft a former Grudge,
Difcontent, and Hatred to a Man, to lye in w*it

to flay him: the other is Malice imply'd, and

that is when a Perfon will come and fall upon
another, and kill him with Violence, without any

Provocation ; and that I take to be the Cafe

now before your Grace, and thefe Noble Lords j

whether this Noble Lord, the Prifoner at the

Bar, be guilty ofMurder, under the Head ofMa-
lice imply'd, having killed a Man, without any

Provocation given; for if it fhould be made ap-

pear, as 1 humbly conceive it hath, with Sub-

miffion, that Mr. Cony did receive his Wound,
whereby his Death came, from the Earl of Pem-
broke, it is with our Law Murder.

That my Lord of Pembroke did invite him into

his Company, is fworn by four WitncfTes j for

when they came into the Houfe, they did not

fo much as enquire whether my Lord was there

or no ; and when my Lord asked him to come
into the Room, Mr. Cony did excufe it, in a

manner, by having his Friend with him •, Pray

bring your Friend in with you, faid my Lord :

After a little while it was faid, there were feve-

ral Difcourfes pafs'd between my Lord and

Mr. Goring concerning Play, and their Families *

but the third Witnefs doth fwear, that when

they were fpeaking of playing for foo/. Mr.

Goring declined } my Lord of Pembroke firft cal-

led him idle Fellow, and that occafioned Mr.
Goring to give that Language, which was not fo

fit for him to give to a Noble Lord of his Qua-
lity.

Sir Francis Winnington.
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lity. But, may it pleafe your Grace, let the

Difcourfe between Mr. Goring and my Lord of

Pembroke be what it will, the Queftion will be,

Whether or no the Party that was killed gave

my Lord of Pembroke any Provocation, or caufe

of Difcontent, which might make him give him

that Blow ? or whether or no the Striking or

Kicking was the Caufe of his Death? That comes

in the laft place, for I am now under that Head $

there was no Provocation given by Mr. Cony to

my Lord to ftrike him, and four WitnefTes there

were to that, the Perfons by at the Time when

it was given, who all, as to the Subftance, fwear

the fame thing, only one or two Circumftanccs

come from fome of them, that do not come
from all. Mr. Savage, a Man of Quality, and an

Honourable Family, fwears, That at the time

when Mr. Goring was put out of the Room, he

faw the Earl of Pembroke (turning his Face) give

Cony a Blow on the Head, and one Kick when
he was down ; the Queftion was asked him,

"Whether he kick'd him upon the Belly ; but that

he could not anfwer to : He likewiie doth par-

ticularly fay, after. the Blow was given by the

Earl of Pembroke, that ftruck him down to the

Ground, he faw his Knee lifted up to kick him,

higher than the Motion of ufual walking, fo

that fome Violence was ufed as to that. Mr. Fitz-

Patrick, though they all agree in Subftance, yet

he hath one Particular differing from the reft i

he faith, That when my Lord of Pembroke was

asked why he ftruck Mr. Cony, he anfwered, Be-

caufe he faid Mr. Goring fhould not go out of the

Room, without his knowing fome Rcafon for

it ; this he fwears the Earl did fay, but whe-

ther it wasfo or no is the Queftion. Shelly fays,

No fuch Word pafs'd, nor doth Savage lpeak of

it : But be that Circumftance true or not, (for

all the WitnefTes agree in Subftance, and may
not be able to agree in all Orcumftances) yet

under Submiffion, I mull leave it to the Judg-
ment of my Lords the Peers, whether that be

Provocation fufficient to lay violent Hands on a

Man. Shelly, indeed, fays the Words were, I

know not why my Friend is turn'd out of Doors ;

now whether thefe are a Provocation, fuch as

in Judgment of Law can be deemed fufficient to

lay violent Hands on a Man to kill him, is the

Queftion ; we fuppofe it is not, but fuch a

Stroke is given without a Provocation, in which

the Law implies Malice. This (may it pleafe

your Grace) is the Sum of that which I humbly
take the Boldnefs to remember your Lordfhip of,

as to the firft Part of the Evidence.

idly. The fecond Part is upon what arifeth

after the Blow was given. My Lord of Pem-
broke at that time was certainly apprehenfive he

had done the Gentleman fome Wrong, and that

is evident by his Care of him after i for his own
Witnefs, Finer, doth fay, that my Lord bid

him make a Fire and watch with him; furely if

my Lord had not been confeious to him'elf, that

he had done fomething extraordinary to thePer-

fon of that Gentleman, that Caution had not

been given to the Man: But befides (my Lord)

there are little Circumftances, which are al-

ways allowed for Evidence in fuch Ca'es, where

Men receive any Wounds to ask them Que-
flions while they are ill, about it, who hurt them.

Now as to this there are four WitnefTes alfo,

Dr. Bruce, Mr. Hemes, Mr. Jack/on, and Alice

Avery.

Dr. Bruce fwears, That when he came on the

Monday to enquire of Mr. Cony what his ; linefs

was, he did complain of Sorenefs about his Shoul-

ders, but did not make mention of the lower Part

of his Belly, or any difcolouring there.

But Hemes the Apothecary fays, He not only

complained of extreme Pains in bis Shoulders,

but alfo of extreme inward Sorenefs in the low-
er Part of his Belly, and this Perfon was fre-

quently with him, and the fame Complaints came
from him, till he expired his laft Breath.

Jackfin, He did know him for a long time
before j he faid indeed, He had about two or

three Months before a fainting Fit or two, but
to this time he look'd upon him as a healthy

Man, and he continued with him off and on
till he died, and to him he did declare he had
received Injury from the Earl of Pembroke^
though he was very loth to fay what : And he
alfo tells your Lordfhips, that he faw the Blood
in his Belly after the DifTe&ion, which he im-
puted to fome Hurt he had received. Indeed,

there is a Chirurgeon that tells ^our Lordfhips,

that it is an ordinary thing, and that it is fo in

all natural Deaths, and it might be oCcafioned by
his drinking the Beer, which made him Vomit,
and concluded with thefe Words, (I noted them)

'Tis a clear Cafe ; but the Man not being upon
his Oath, and giving it in as his fingle Opinion,

I hope will not bear fo much weight with your

Lordfhips.

The Nurfe that was continually with him to

the laft Moment, fwears, He did continually

complain after he came into the Houfe, of Pains

all over his Body, and (as fhe faith) continued in

his Senfes, and the right Ufe of his Underrtand-

ing, till the laft Breath, but principally com-
plained of Sorenefs in his Shoulder, his Side, and

his Belly, and did hkewife often mention my
Lord of Pembroke's Unkindnefs to him, declar-

ing about two Hours before he died, that he

thought in his Confcience the Earl of Pembroke

was the Caufe of his Death.
Thefe four WitnefTes fwear what I have truly

repeated, for I would be very unwilling in a

Caufe ofBlood, to mifrepeat the Evidence, either

to the prejudice of a juft Caufe for the Dead, or,

to prefs for unjuft Vengeance upon the Living,

it being my Duty only to recollect what isfworn,

and leave it all to your Lordfhips Judgment.
?dly. We have that which is Evidence in Law,

upon the View of the Body after his Death. 1c

was viewed legally by a Jury of indifferent per-

fons, fummoned by the Coroner, three of them
being produced do fwear, that there were a

great many vilible Bruifes upon the Body, and

Swellings all about : And for the Difcolouring

of the Parts bruifed, Roberts fwears, the Patch

was about the breadth of his Hand : Brownhke-
wife fwears, that he was black and blue up and

down the Body in broad Patches : Thefe are

Jury-men, difinterefted Perfons. It is true, Mr.

Cony's Brother, the laft Witnefs for the King,

faith, He knew nothing of the Bufinefs, for his

Brother would never acknowledge any thing to

him ; but fomething that he fpeaks is very ma-

terial, That Dr. Conquejl, my Lord's Witnefs,

coming out of the Chamber one Day, feemed

angry, and to have taken fome Diftafte, as if

he were neglected, and ufed an Exprefllon,

which your Lordfhip may remember, up»n

Mr.
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Mr. Cony's asking him what ailed his Brother,

he could not tell, he faid, it might be A Pem-
broke-Kick. And this is the Sum of the Evidence

for the King.

For the Evidence on the other Side, I think

the Subftance of it is only, That this Gentleman

was ufed to have fainting Fits, and thofe occa-

fioned, as they think, by his hard Drinking, and

that might bring his Death upon him j but they

offer no Counter-proof to the Fact.

But the Queftion is now, Whether or no this

Man came to his Death by other Means } for it

is no Argument to fay, becaufe a Man is fick, it

is lawful to kill him : But we are to enquire,

whether he came to his Death by thofe Blows

given him by the Prifoner at the Bar ? If then

it be admitted that the Blow was the Caufe of

his Death, and the Kicks withal, I humbly then

fubmit to your Lordfhips Confederation, whe-
ther the King's Evidence hath not reach'd up

to the Indictment : Here is Murder with Ma-
lice implied by the Law, for there is no Co-

lour of pleading a Provocation of the Blow, to

be the Caufe of his Death. Now whether or

no it be fo, I humbly offer thefe Reafonsforthe

Affirmation j this Man was not look'd upon to

be a Man in that Condition as to be a dying

Man, before the Blow.

Obj. But he was a great Drinker, that brought

him to thofe Fits, and that haftned his End.

Anfw. Though he was fo, yet from the In-

ftant that he did receive the Blow, he never had

any Eafe till he died, infomuch that Mr. Savage

tells your Lordfhips, he took him up immedi-

ately after my Lord kicked him, and he wasfome
Minutes before he could get him to Life again,

and then he could not keep himfelf from faint-

ing again : So that upon the Circumftances of

what the Witnefles for the Prifoner have faid,

and the Evidence offered in behalf of the King,
if this were the Caufe of his Death, we leave it

to your Lordfhips Confideration, whether it be

not Murder in this Noble Lord the Prifoner at

the Bar : To that Determination we fubmit

the Caufe, and whatever Opinion your Lord-
fhips fhall be of in the Caufe, I have no more
to fay, but that the King's Juftice, inthisProfe-

cution, was fuitable to the Law given by the

Almighty in the Infancy of the World, That

whofoever Jheddeth Man's Blood, by Man /ball his

Blood be fhed.

L.H. St. Will your Lordfhips pleafe to with-

draw to confider of the Evidence ?

Then the Lords went back in the fame Order they

came in, and went into the Houfc of Lords }

and from thence, after two Hours Debate, they

returned into the Court, and Proclamation was
made as followetb.

CI. of Cr. Serjeant at Arms, make Proclama-

tion.

Ser']. O Yes ! my Lord High Steward of Eng-
land his Grace ftraitly chargeth and command-
eth\ all manner of Perfons here prefent, to keep

Silence, upon pain of Imprifonment.

Then his Grace [pake to the Peers.

L. H.St. Your Lordfhips have heard the Evi-

dence againft the Prifoner, and for him, on both
i Sides j and the Solemnity in this Cafe is, that

your Opinions are to be delivered feverally, in

the Abfence of the Prifoner, who is to hear all

that is by the Witnefs or Counfel faid againft
him, but is to have his Judgment from the High
Steward.

Upon the whole Matter the Queftion is this ;

Whether my Lord of Pembroke be guilty of the
Felony whereof he Hands indicted, for the Mur-
der of Mr. Cony, or Not guilty ?

The Order of your Opinions being delivered,

is to begin with the Puifne Baron, and fo up-
wards.

I defire Time to take your Lordfhips Judg-
ments diftinctly, and I dehre each of your Lord-
fhips to fpeak out, that I may hear it.

L. H. St. My Lord Butler, what is your Opi-
nion? Is Philip Earl of Pembroke and Montgomery
Guilty of the Felony and Murder whereof he
ftands Indicted, or Not guilty ?

L. Butler. Not Guilty of Murder, but Guil-
ty of Manflaughter.

The fame ghieflionto the reft.

The Lord High Steward counted their Numbers.

L. H. St. Six of my Lords find him Guilty

:

Eighteen find him Not Guilty: Forty find him
Guilty of Manflaughter. Call for the Prifoner

to the Bar.

Cl.ofCr. Serjeant at Arms, make Proclama-
tion.

Serf. O yes ! Conftable of the Tower of Lon-
don, bring forth the Body of thy Prifoner Philip

Earl of Pembroke and Montgomery^ on Pain and
Peril fhall fall thereon.

Then the Prifoner came in, with the Edge of the

Axfill from him, and his Grace fpake to him
as followetb.

L. H. St. My Lord of Pembroke, You have

been Indicted for the Murder of Nathanael Co-

ny, and upon your Arraignment you have plead-

ed Not Guilty, and have put your felf upon the

Judgment of your Peers ; and your Peers have

confidered what hath been faid for you, and a-

gainft you, and the Judgment of my Lords is

this, That you are Guilty of Manflaughter for

killing of Nathanael Cony : What can you fay

for your felf, why Judgment fhould notpafs up-

on you to die according to the Law ?

E. of P. I claim the Privilege of the Statute

made in that Cafe, my Lord.

L. H. St. Yon mult have it, my Lord, it can-

not be denied you ; for by the Act of Parlia-

ment, where Clergy is allowed to a Common
Perfon, by Reading, and Burning in the Hand,

a Peer convitled of fuch Felony, is to be deliver-

ed without either, therefore we cannot deny ic

you : But your Lordfhip muft give me leave to

tell you, that no Man can have the Benefit of

that Statute but once, and fo I would have your

Lordfhip take notice of it, as a Caution to you

for the future.

Your Lordfhip is now to be difcharged, pay-

ing your Fees.

Then the Prifoner went from the Bar, and his

Grace by Proclamation thus dij/'ulved his Com-

miffim.
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CI. of Cr. Serjeant at Arms, make Procla-

mation.

Serj. O yes, O yes, O yes! My Lord High

Steward of England willeth and commandeth

all Perfons here afTembled, to depart in God's

Peace and the King's from this Place, for his

Grace doth now diflblve his Commiffion.

God fave the King.

Then his Grace concluded the Ceremony, by
breaking his Staff.
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LXIV The Trial a/William Stayley*, Goldfrnith,

at the Kings-Bench^ for High-Treafon, November 21,

1678. Mich. 30 Car. II.

R. STJTLET being accufed of

High-Treafon, was on the 20th Day
of November, 1678, brought from

Newgate, and arraigned at the King's

Bench Bar, and the next Day was

brought to the fame Place to receive his Trial

;

where being come, and the Jury Impannelled,

the Court told the Prifoner, that if he would

Challenge any of the Jury, he mult fpeak unto

them as they came to the Book to be fworn, and

before they were fworn ; the Prifoner Challeng-

ing none, the Jury were fworn, viz.

JURY.

Sir Philip Matthews.

Sir Reginald Fo/ler.

Sir John Kirke.

Sir John Cutler.

Sir Richard Blake.

John Bifield, Efq;

Simon Middleton, Efq*

Thomas Crofs, Efq*

Henry John/on, Efq;

Charles Umfrevil, Efq;

'Thomas Egglesfield, Efq;

William Bohee, Efq;

The Indictment Read.

Ton ftand Indicled by the Name of William

Stayley, &c.

Crier. If any can give Evidence on the behalf

of our Sovereign Lord the King, againft William

Stayley, let him come forth and he fhall be

heard.

Sir Crefivell Levinz. The Prifoner flands Indict-

ed as not having the Fear of God before his Eyes,

being led by the Inftigation of the Devil, not

minding his Allegiance, but Traiteroufiy endea-

vouring the Death and Deftruction of our So-

vereign Lord the King, he did on November the

14th, in the Thirtieth Year of the King, falfly,

wickedly, and traiteroufiy Compafs, Imagine,De-

vife, and Invent the Killing the King ; that he

did malicioufly contrive (I fay) the Death ofour

Lord, the King of England.

To this he hath pleaded Not Guilty. You are

to Try whether he be Guilty or not.

King's Serjeant, Maynard. The Offence is as

great as can be, and will be proved as clear as

can be. Call the Witneffes to prove the Of-

fence.

Sir William Jones, An. Gen. It would be fit-

ting, before we enter upon the Evidence, to give

fome Account, why (among fo many Offenders,

fome of them of greater Quality than William
Stayley) we chofe firft to bring this Man to Trial.

It is not unknown to any Man that lives in Eng-
land, what Difcoveries there have been of hor-

rid and damnable Defigns againft the King's Per-

fon, and the Proteftant Religion. There are a

fort of Men in the World, that endeavour what
they can to cry down this Difcovery, as that it

was altogether Suppofititious, and a Fable. It

is true, fome are fo charitable as to think the

Roman Catholicks in England do promote the Ro-

man Catholick Religion, but the Defign againft

the King's Perfon is a Fiction. But they fhall

do well to take warning by the Trial of this

Man, and Imprifonment of fo many Offenders,

as that even fince this Difcovery made, fome
have had this Treafonable Mind, and Traiterous

Attempt againft the King, and laid thofe Words
for which in the Indictment he is charged with.

This Prifoner, by Religion, is a Roman Catholick,

he calls himfelf fo 5 in plain Englifh he is a Pa-
pijl j and finding that fince this Plot was difco-

vered, his Trading decay'd, (being one that dealt

in Monies) he was one of their Party, he grew
enraged their Money was called fo faft for, be-

ing in the Company of one Fromante, a Fo-

reigner, at a Cook's Shop, and were confidering

of Matters of Trade, this Man was complaining

his Money was fo faft called in for. Taking no-

tice of the Difcovery of the Plot, (being a very

great Well-wifher to it) entred into a great Paf-

fion, and fpake thefe Words of the King : That

he was the greatefi Heretick in the World, that

he was a great Rogue ; for his Part, holding up

his Hand, clap'd it then upon his Heart, and

faid, / will with this Hand kill him. Thefe

Words were heard by the Gentlemen that were

prefent fpoken in French.

William Caflarsy a Witncfs.

Att. Gen. Acquaint the Court and Jury what

you know of any Words fpoken by the Prifoner

about killing the King.
Witnefs. So far as 1 know, or can give an Ac-

count, it was about Eleven of the Clock in the

Day, on the Fourteenth Day of this Month;
he

* Burnet'/ Htft. own Times, Vol. I. p. 433.
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he call'd for a Pot of Ale, and a Slice of Road
Beef, which when it was called for, his Land-

lord faid it fhould be brought him ; there was

another Frenchman with Stayley, a Stranger to

jme: they difcourfed together in French, and Stay-

\Jey then faid twice over, The King was a grand

Heretick, making this Demonftration, with his

Hand upon his Breaft, and flampt five or fix

limes with his Foot in great Fury. The old

JMan Fromante, his Friend, faid, That the King of

(England was a Tormenter of the People of God,

and he anfwered again in a great Fury. He is a

•great Heretick, and the greateft Rogue in the World ;

there's the Heart, and here's the Hand that would

kill him , and the King and Parliament think all is

Iver, but the Rogues are miftaken.

Sir William Scroggs, L. C. J. Did you know
Stayley ?

\
JVitnefs. No, my Lord, I had never feen him

before.

L. C J. What did you do upon this?

JVitnefs. I did not know what to do, being ig-

lorant of the Laws of the Country, I thought

t was a great Matter, and being fenfible that

\tayley was gone out, I caufed one to attend him,

nd came to his Father's Shop, and looked up

nd down, and the next Day I apprehended

im.

L. C. J. Are you fure (looking upon the Pri-

nerj that was the Man?
Witnefs. Yes.

L.C.f. Did you fee him when he fpake the

Vords?

JVitnefs. Yes, I faw him •, there was no more
)iltance betwixt the two Doors, but juft as far

5 that Gentleman and me; his Face wasftraight

swards us.

L. C. y. Were you in the fame Room ?

Witnefs. No, but juft over-againft it ; the

oors were open.

L. C. y. How near were you to him?

Witnef. Seven or Eight Foot from the Place

here I was and where he was. He was ftanding

one Door, and I at the other. In French the

ords were fpoken, he making a Demonftrati-

L (lamping with his Foot, I would kill him my

jf, (which the Prifoner would have evaded by

ying, the Words fignify I would kill my felf.)

he Prifoner farther faid, that the King and

larliament thought all was over, but the Rogues
ere beguiled and deceived.

Alexander Southerland, Witnefs.

Mr. Southerland, tell what you heard the Pri-

mer at the Bar fay. Were you there ?

\ Witnefs. Yes.

J£.
C. y. Which was neareft to him, he or

ju ?

Witnefs. He was neareft to him, and I juft by
e Gentleman. He faid afterwards when a
rord or two paft betwixt them, the Rogues are

cceived, they think the Bufinefs is done, but they

<w deceived. The old Man faid, That the King

i England was a Tormenter of the People of God;
t,e Prifoner anfwered, the King of England is the

geateft Heretick, andthe greateft Rogue in the World,
id the King and Parliament think their Bufinefs
i done, but the Rogues are miftaken.

Prifoner. I faid (replied the Prifoner) I would
Mil my felf.

\L.C.y. Would you kill your felf becaufe
Vol. II.

'

you faid the King was a Heretick? You ac-
knowledge your felf to be a Roman Catholick.

Prif. And in that Faith I intend to die.

An. Gen. Here the Prifoner doth not deny but
he faid, the King of England was a great Here-
tick y and can we imagine him to be in fuch a
Paffion, that he would *;// himfelf? Whether
that be a natural Conclufion from the Premifes,
I muft fubmit to—

-

L. C. y. Did you fee Mr. Stay ley perfectly ?

Was the Door open ? #•

Witnefs. I faw him perfectly.
L. C.y. Did you know him before? <

Wit. I never faw his Face before.
L. C.y. Did you write the Words prefently ?

Wit. I writ them down prefently, as God
fhall be my Witnefs.

L. C. J. Look upon the Writing, is it your
Hand ?

Wit. It is ; and it was written the 14th of No-
vember, 1678. About Eleven o'Clock they came
to the Black-Lion in King-Street, and call'd for
a Quart of Ale, and a Slice of Roaft Beef, and it

was anfwered, it fhould prefently be had. JVil-
liam Stayley faid, having ftruck on his Breaft, and
ftamping with his Foot five or fix times, / my
felf would do it.

L. C.y. Did you write all that is in the Paper
at that time?

Wit. I writ the Words in French, as I heard
them from him, then formed it as to the Perfon
and Time, afterwards, when I was gone.

L.C.y. Who told you it was Stayley the
Goldfmith?

Wit. We asked the Man of the Houfe; and
we found he went to his Father's Houfe in Co-

vent- Garden , we asked his Father's Name, and
his Name; and that's the very Man.

L. C. y. He confeffeth he was in this Place

at that time with the old Mm. He acknow-
ledged that he fpoke fome Words, but denied he

fpake thole: That he was the Man he doth not

deny.

Att. Gen. The third Man is a Gentleman than

doth not underftand the French Tongue, he was

in the Company of thofe two Men at that time*

we do not call him to prove the Words, becaufe

he doth not underftand the Language.
L. C. y. There is no Miftnke of the Perfon,

the Prifoner doth not deny he was there, Call

the third Perfon to know what he hath to fay.

Philip Garret, third Witnefs.

Wit. All that I can fay is this 5 My Captain,

William Caftars, came to me in a great Paffion,

and faid, I cannot fuffer this, I will run upon
him, I cannot be quiet.

L. C. y. What are thofe Words he charged

upon him ?

Wit. That he would kill the King himfelf:

It is impoffible to fuffer it, I will run out for a

Conftable prefently, this cannot be fuffered. I

went to enquire for his Name ; the Anfwer was,

he was a Goldfmith, and that his Name was Stay-

ley. That's the very Man (looking upon him)

I faw there, and heard him fpcak.

L. C. y. What were the firft Words?
Wit. [The French Words were fpoken twice,

in Englifh thus] The King is a grand Heretick.

[French again] Here's the Hand, here's the Heart,

£ would kill him my felf.

Pppp L.c.y.
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L. C. J. What can you fay to this ?

Prifoner. My Lord, the matter of Fa£t hap-

pened thus: This Gentleman, Mr. Southerland,

comes over to me in the Morning when I was in

the Shop, and faid, Sir, I would have a red

Button like this, I faid I had none of that na-

ture, you had better go to the Exchange. I

would have one of a true Stone •, You muft (I

reply'd) go to the Jewellers, I have none of

thefe. Upon that I difmifs'd himj he went

over, and prefently comes, in a quarter of an

Hour after, and tells me, that an Honourable

Perfon Would fpeak with me : I went over

;

this Gentleman makes a great many Ceremonies

to me, and reads me this Paper j he tells me,

you fee what the Gentleman reads, I would ad-

vife you to look to it, then taking me afide by

the Window. I faid, I do not underltand you,

I am innocent, you muft not put any bubble up-

on me-, wiih that the Captain runs out in a fu-

ry, and feccheth a Conftable, and carrieth me
to the Gate-Houfe. I was in my Shop the Day be-

fore, which very Day I did intend to go out

with a Friend into the Country, and prepared

my felf accordingly •, and Mr. Fromante, the old

Man that was the Friend of mine, comes, fay-

ing to me, the Conftable would have fome-

thing, I know not what it is, come and affift

me ; I went to the place, the Conftable told me,

that I was to appear by Ten of the Clock j with

that comes the old Man out. I owed him a lit-

tle Money, I went and paid him the Money
which I owed him. 1 came back, and fat

down by the Window out of fight, the old Man
fat at the right Hand, fo we fat and difcourfed

as innocently, as I thought, and (before God)
as ever I fpake in my Life.

L. C. J. What Difcourfe had you?

Prif. Our chief Difcourfe was about the Ma-
terials of our bufinefs, and it was about the

King of France his Ufurpation over his Subjects,

and the happinefs of our little People, the Com-
monalty ox England, that was indeed ufually our

Difcourfe when we met together.

L. C. J. Did you fay you would kill the

King of France? and that he was a great Here-

tick? Do you believe the King of France is an

Heretick?
Prifoner. I know not what his Opinion is,

that's to his own Confciencc.

L. C. y. Did you name the word Heretick ?

Prifoner. Not to my Knowledge, upon my
Soul, not of the King of England; we might
have difcourfed of the happinefs and of the dif-

ference of their Governments. I have been

thought a Perfon of fome Intelligence, and of

fome Underftanding in the World, and not to

expofe my felf to fpeak in a publick large Room,
the Door being open, with fo high a Voice that

thefe Gentlemen being in the next Room mould
hear me in French, and in a Street where almoft

all are French-men, to fpeak thefe blafphemous

Words, Words that I abhor. I have been a

great admirer of my Prince.

Court. Read the Statute of Decimo tertio, &c.
L. C. y. Speak the words in Englijh about

killing the King, fpeak them all.

Witnefs. That the Prifoner's Companion did

fay, I'he King was a tormenter and Perfecutor of

the People of God. The Prifoners words were

again, I'he King of England is the greatefi Here-

tick, and the greateft Rogue in the •world; here's

the Heart, and here's the Hand that would kill him ;

/ my felf.

Prif. Here's the Hand, and here's the Heart
which would kill my felf: Not, would kill Him
my felf.

L.C.y. What Jefuit taught you this Trick?
It is like one of them. It is the Art and Intereft

of a Jefuit fo to do.

I'he Statute read.

\

L. C. y. Have you any thing more to fay for

your felf than what you have already faid?

Court. Sir yohn Kirk, do you underftand French?
One of the 'fury. I do, my Lord ; the words

have been interpreted all right.

L. C. y. Let me ask you one Queflion;
When you faid the King was a great Heretick and

,

a Rogue, and here's the Heart, and here's the Arm
that would kill him my felf"j was it not the King (

you would kill?

Prifoner. I have this to fay in Juftificationof

my felf, and Allegiance to my Prince and King,;
that I never thought, nor imagined or contriv-

ed any way, but have been a true Subject to the

King upon all occafionsj I am forry it proves

fo, God's will be done, my Soul depends upon
it ; I am a dying Man by the Statute, never

with Intention, or any Thought or Ill-will,

fpake any word about this matter.

L.C.y. Out of the abundance of the Heart
the Mouth fpeaks •, the Statute hath been read,

which hath made it criminal.

Call a Witnefs for the Prifoner.

Witnefs for the Prifoner. One Anfelm fpake.

They came to my Houfe, where I live at the

Crofs-keys in Covent-Garden-, about Eight o'Clock

in the Morning, thefe two Gentlemen, the Day
they took him away, was the Day after thefe

words were fpoke, and he was kept Prifoner

from Eight till Eleven of the Clock without any

Conftable, they had five Bottles of Wine, and

befpake Meat, but they did not flay to eat the

Meat.
L.C.y. How came you to flay fo long?

Wit. I was two Hours in looking for a Con-

ftable, they would not come with me, without a

Warrant from a Jufticc of Peace.

L.C.y. Who told you you had befl take it

up ?

Prif. The middlemoft Man, the flrft Witnefs.

Wit. We were about three long Hours, I lent

out this Gentleman for a Conftable, in the mean

time the Prifoner's Father fent his Maid for him

to come Home, I told him he mould not go, if,

he defired to eat we would eat there. I fent to

White-Hall and defired a Guard, the Officer of

the Guard told the MefTenger it was a Confta-

ble's part.

Court. Call another Witnefs for the Prifoner.

Witnefs for the Prifoner.

I have heard him often declare as much Loy-

alty to his Prince as any Perfon. One Day we

fell into a difcourfe of thefe affairs, the bufinefs of

the Jefuits, which are a People he did as much

condemn as any ; for in Padua he faw fo many

Cheats that he forfook the Jefuitical Religion,

and if he knew any of the Perfons concerned in

wis
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this Plot, he would be the Executioner himfelf,

and whoever comes to Reign afterwards, they

fhall never enjoy fo much Peace as now •, and I

heard him often fay he would lofe his Blood for

the King, and heard him fpeak as Loyally as I

ever heard any Man fpeak in my Life.

L.C.J. That is when he fpoke to a Prote-

ctant.

Court. Have you any thing elfe to fay for your

felf, or have you any more Witneffes, that you

would have examined on your behalf?

Prifoner. No.

Lord Chief Juflice's Speech.

c '-pHE Statute hath been read, which was
« 1 made fince the King came in, for the

* prefervation of his Perfon, and during his Life:

* The Parliament thought it reafonable, even

* to make defperate words to be Treafon, al-

* though there was no other thing but words,

* that is, fuch words, as if the thing had been

« done would be Treafon, the fpeaking it is

4 Treafon. When we come to obferve the man-
< ner of this fpeaking, methinks there is no great

* difficulty to fatisfy the Jury that they were

« fpoke advifedly and mahcoufly. They were
* in a Publick Houfe, and by accident heard :

* They concealed them not a Moment, and not

* from the Man that did not underftand French.

« To hear a Man fay in a great Paffion, that his

* King was a Heretick, and the greateft Rogue
[' in the World, and that he would kill him, to

* write down the words prefently, they Slept

f not upon it, they found out who he was, the

f
next Day they came to attach him ; they kept

f
him, for what ? till they could get a Confta-

ble. So that here is nothing doubtful either

in the Circumftance or Subftance of his Cafe:

So that you cannot have a plainer proof in the

World than there is in this. For my own part,

when it is in the Cafe of a Man's Life, I

• would not have any Compliance with the ru-

mors or diforder of times that fhould bean E-
' vidence againft him, but would have a Ver-

dict depend upon the Witneffes that fwear the

Fact downright upon him. You and we all

are fenfible of the great difficulties and hazards

that is now both againft the King's Perfon,

j

and againft all Proteitants, and our Religion

too, which will hardly maintain it felf, when
they have deftroyed the Men; but let 'em

|
know, that many Thoufands will lofe their

Religion with their Lives, for we will not be

Papifts, let the Jefuits prefs what they will

(who are the foundations of all this Mifchief)

.in making Profelytes, by telling them, do what

jwickednefs you will it's no fin, but we can

jfave you, and if you omit what we Command,
we can damn you. This they will not own
when it comes to be an objection and penal

upon them, but they will never get the Pope

of Rome to declare he hath not a power to Ex-
communicate what he calls a heretick King,

knd if he does, that the Subject is not difcharg-

ed from his Obedience, they would do great

fervice to their Papiit Friends, if they could

'obtain fuch an Edict. They Print, Preach,

'Difpute, and Maintain otherwife, and there-

by lead People to their own destruction and

'the deftruction of others. Excufe me if I am
\ little warm, when Perils are fo many, their
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Murders fo fecret, that we cannot difcover

the Murder of that Gentleman, whom we all

knew fo well, when things are tranfacted fo

clofely, and our King in fo great danger, and
Religion at itake. 'Tis better to be warm heie

than in Smithfield. But that the Man might
have juftice done him, he hath had his Wit-
neffes, and might have had this old Man, if

he had named him to Mr. Richard/on: and to

fhew what fair play he has had, Mr. Attorney
tells you the old Man hath been examined up-
on Oath, and offers him the Copy of his Exa-
mination to ufe, but he thinks not fit to ufe it

for his defence, therefore nothing is Smother-

ed. The Offence you have heard in words
plain enough, tinlefs the fenfe is perverted by
jefuitical cunning and equivocation, the belt

part of their learning and honefty. They
fwear it exprefly, That the King was a Heretick^

and the greateft Rogue in the World, and berets the

Heart and Hand, that be would kill him himfelf';

and hath and can have no other Signification.

The Statute faith Jdvifedly and Malicioufly. The
manner of fpeaking, and the words fpoke,

prove both. When a Papift once hath made
a Man a Heretick, there is no fcruple to mur-
der him. Whoever is not of their Perfuafion

are Hereticks, and whoever are Hereticks

may be murdered, if the Pope commands it,

for which they may become Saints in Heaven ;

this is that they have pra£tifed. If there had

been nothing of this in this Kingdom, or other

parts of the World, it would be a hard thing

to impofe it upon them, but they ought nor.

to complain, when fo many Inftances are a-

gainft them. Therefore dilcharge your Con-
fciences as you ought to do* if guilty let him
take the Reward of his Crime, and you (hall

do well to begin with this Man, for perchance

it may be a Terrour to the reit. Unlefs they

think they can be laved by dying in the Ro-
man Faith, tho' with fuch pernicious and trai-

terous words and defigns as thefe are; let inch.

go to Heaven by themfelves. 1 hope, I Shall

never go to that Heaven, where Men are made
Saints for killing Kings.'

William Stayley, Hold up your Hand.

CI. ofCr. Is William Stayley guilty of the High
Treafon whereof he hath been Indi&ed?

Jury. Guilty.

Cl.ofCr. What Goods, Chattels, Lands or

Tenements ?

Jury. None.
L. C.J. Now you may die a Roman Catho-

lick, and when you come to die, I doubt you

will be found a Prieft too.

K. Conn. I pray Judgment according to the

Verdict.

CI. ofCr. You have been Indi&ed of High-

Treafon, you have put your felf upon your Coun-

try, which Country have found you guilty,

what have you to fay for your felf, wherefore

the Court Should not proceed to Judgment a-

gainSt you?

Prif. I have nothing to fay.

L. C. J. 1 pronounce Judgment upon you.

You are here found guilty by the Jury of High-

Treafon, for faying you would kill the King,

with other irreverent words; but the matter

which makes you a Traitor is proved upon you

by moft apparent Evidence. The matter, man-

ner, and all the circumftances of it make it plain 5

P p p p 2. y°u
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you may liarden your Heart as much as you will,

and lift up your Eyes, but you feem inftead of

being forrowful, to be obftinate, between God
and your Confcience be it, I have nothing to

do with it, my duty is to pronounce Judgment
upon you according to Law, which is this

:

The S E N T E N C E.

You Jhall return to the Prifon, from thence Jhall

he drawn to the place of Execution, where youJhall

be hanged by the Neck, cut down alhe
t
your Quar*

ters fiall be fevered and be difpofed of as the King
jhall think fit, and your Bowels burnt, and fo the

Lord have mercy upon your Soul.

November the 26"th, he was executed at Tyburn,

according to the Sentence.

See the Account of the Digging up of the Quarters

of William Stayley, in State Trials, Pol. 8.
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LXXV. The Trial of Edward Coleman, * at the

Kings-Bench, for High-Treafon5 the ijth of November,
1678. Mich. 30 Car. II.

N Wednefday the Twenty Seventh

day of November, 1678, Mr. Cole-

man (having been Arraigned the Sa-

turday before for High-Treafon) was

brought to the King's-Bench Bar, to

receive his Trial, and the Court proceeded there-

upon, as folioweth.

CI. of Cr. Crier, make Proclamation.

Proclamation for Silence.

Crier. O yes ! Our Sovereign Lord the King

does ftri&ly Charge and Command all manner

of Perfons to keep Silence, upon pain of Impri-

fonment.

If any one can inform our Sovereign Lord

the King, the King's Serjeant, or the King's

Attorney-General, or this Inqueft now to be

taken, of any Treafon, Murder, Felony, or any

other Mifdemeanour committed or done by the

Prifoner at the Bar, let them come forth, and

they mall be heard, for the Prifoner Hands at

the Bar upon his Deliverance.
'

CI. ofCr. Crier, make an O yes.

Crier. O yes ! You Good Men that are im-

pannelled to enquire between our Sovereign

Lord the King, and Edward Coleman Prifoner at

the Bar, anfwer to your Names.
CI ofCr. Edward Coleman, Hold up thy Hand.

Thefe Good men that are now called, and here

appear, are thofe which are to pafs between

you and our Sovereign Lord the King, upon

your Life or Death ; if you challenge any of

them, you muft fpeak as they come to the Book
to be fworn, and before they are fworn.

The Prifoner Challenging none, the Court

proceeded, and the Jury were fworn, viz.

JURY.

Sir Reginald Forfter, Bart. Simon Middleton, Efq;

Sir Charles Lee.

Edward Wilford, Efq;

John Bathurfi, Efq;

Jojhua Galliard, Efq;

John Bifield, Efq*

Henry John/on, Efq;

Charles Umfrevile^Xo^
Thomas Johnfon, Efq;

ThomasEaglesfield,JLtqi

William Bohee, Efq;

CI. of Cr. Crier, make an O yes.

Crier. O yes ! Our Sovereign Lord the King
does ftrictly charge and command all manner of

Perfons to keep Silence upon pain of Imprifon-
ment.

CI. of Cr. Edward Coleman, Hold up thy

Hand.
You Gentlemen of the Jury that are now

fworn, look upon the Prifoner, and hearken to

his Charge.

You mail underftand, that the Prifoner Hands
Indicted by the Name of Edward Coleman late of

the Parifti of St. Margaret's Weftminfier in the

County of Middlefex, Gent, for that he as a falfe

Traitor againft our moft Illuftrious, Serene,

and moft Excellent Prince Charles, by the Grace
of God of England, Scotland, France, and Ireland

King, Defender of the Faith, &c. and his Na-
tural Lord ; having not the Fear of God in his

Heart, nor duly weighing his Allegiance, but

being moved and feduced by the Inftigation of

the Devil, his cordial Love and true Duty, and

natural Obedience, (which true and lawful Sub-

jects of our faid Lord the King ought to bear

towards him, and by Law ought to have) alto-

gether withdrawing, and deviling, and with all

his ftrength intending, the Peace and common
Tranquillity of this Kingdom at England to Dif-

turb, and the true Worlhip of God within the

Kingdom of England practifed, and by Law Efta-

bliihed, to overthrow, and Sedition and Rebel-

lion within this Realm of England to move, ftir

up, and procure, and the cordial Love and true

Duty and Allegiance, which true and lawful

Subjects of our Sovereign Lord the King to-

ward their Sovereign bear, and by Law ought

to have, altogether to Withdraw, Forfake, and

Extinguish ; and our faid Sovereign Lord the

King to Death and final Deftruction to bring

and put, the Twenty Ninth Day of September in

the Seven and Twentieth Year of the Reign of

our faid Sovereign Lord Charles the Second, of

England, Scotland, France and Ireland King, De-

fender of the Faith, &c. at the Parilh of Sr.

Margaret's Weftminfier aforefaid, in the County

aforefaid, Falfly, Malicioufly, and Traiteroufly

* Burn. WJ1, oivn timts, Vol. I. p 368. 394. 4Z6. 436.
Propofed,
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Propofed, Comparted, Imagined and Intended,

to ftir up> and raife Sedition and Rebellion

within the Kingdom of England, and to procure

and caufe a miferable Deftruction among the

Subjects of our faid Lord the King, and wholly

to Deprive, Depofe, Deje£t, and Difinherit our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, of his Royal

State, Title, Power, and Rule of his Kingdom

of England, and to bring and put our faid Sove*

rei^n Lord the King to final Death and Deftru-

cYion, and to overthrow and change the Govern-

ment of the Kingdom of England, and to alter

the fincere and true Religion of God, in this

Kingdom by Law eftabhfhed ; and wholly to

fubvert and deftroy the ftate of the whole King-

dom, being in the univerfal parts thereof well

Eftabliihed and Ordained, and to levy Wara-
gainft our faid Sovereign Lord the King, within

his Realm of England : And to accomplish and

fulfil thefe his moft wicked Treafons, and

Traiterous Defigns and Imaginations aforefaid,

one of the faid Letters fir ft mentioned, and
written by him the faid Edward Coleman, to the
faid Monfieur le Chaife, which faid Letter in An-
fwer as aforefaid, Falfly, Malicioufly, and
Traiteroufly received, the Day and~Year afore-
faid, at the Parifh of St. Margaret's Weftminfter
aforefaid, the faid Edward Coleman did falfly,
traiteroufly, and malicioufly read over and
perufe ; And that the faid Edward Coleman, the
Letter fo as aforefaid, by him in Anfwer to the
faid Letter received into his Cuftody and Pof-
feffion, the Day and Year laft mentioned, at
the Parifh of St. Margaret's Weftminfter aforefaid,
in the County of Middlefex aforefaid, did Falfly,
Malicioufly, and Traiteroufly Detain, Conceal,
and Keep. By which Letter the faid Monfieur
le Ghaife, the Day and Year laft mentioned, at
the Parifh of St. Margaret's Weftminfter in the
County of Middlefex aforefaid, did fignify and
promife to the faid Edward Coleman, to obtain
for the faid Edward Coleman, and other falfe

the faid £^wjr^Ce/c;^K afterwards, that is to fay, Traitors againft our Sovereign Lcrd the King,
the Nine and twentieth Day of September in the

Twenty feventh Year of the Reign of our faid

Lord the King, at the Pariih of St. Margaret's

'Weftminfter aforefaid, in the County of Middlefex,

aforefaid, Falfly, Deceitfully, and Traiterouf-

ly Compofed, Contrived, and Writ two Let-

ters, to be fent to one Monfieur le Chaife, then

Servant and Confeffor of Lewis the French King,

to Defire, Procure, and Obtain, for the faid Ed-

ward Coleman, and other Falfe Traitors againft

jour faid Sovereign Lord the King, the Aid,

I Affiftance, and Adherence of the faid French

iKing, to alter the true Reiigion in this Kingdom
lEftablifhed, to the Superftition of the Church
', of Rome, and to fubvert the Government of this

Kingdom of England: And afterwards, (that is

Sto fay) the faid Nine and twentieth Day of Sep-

tember in the Year aforefaid, at the Parifh of St.

Margaret's M^eftminftcr in the County ofMiddlefex

aforefaid, the laid Edward Coleman Falfly, Trai-

teroufly, and Malicioufly Compofed and Writ
(two other Letters, to be fent to the faid Mon-

\fieur le Chaife, then Servant and Confeffor to the

[faid French King, to the Intent that he the faid

Monfieur le Chaife fhould Intreat, Procure, and

(Obtain for the faid Edward Coleman and other

Falfe Traitors againft our Sovereign Lord the

King, Aid, Affiftance, and Adherence of the

faid French King, to alter the true Religion in

this Kingdom of England Eftablifhed, to the

Superftition of the Church of Rome, and to fub-

ivert the Government of this Kingdom of Eng-

land: And that the faid Edward Coleman, in fur-

ther Profecution of his Treafon and Traiterous

Imaginations and Intentions, as aforefaid, after-

Wards, viz. the Twenty Ninth Day of Septem-

ber, in the Seven and twentieth Year of the Reign
of our faid Sovereign Lord King Charles, of

England, &c. the faid feveral Letters, from

the faid Pariih of St. Margaret's Weftminfter, in

the County of Middlefex aforefaid, Falfly, Ma-
licioufly and Traiteroufly, did fend to the faid

Monfieur le Chaife, into Parts beyond the Seas,

Acre to be delivered to him : And that the faid

Edward Coleman, afterward, viz. the Firft Day of

December, in the Seven and twentieth Year of

iur faid Sovereign Lord the King, at the faid

Parifh of St. Margaret's Weftminfter, \n the Coun-
v of Middlefex aforefaid, did receive from the

aid Monfieur le Chaife one Letter, in Anfwer to

Aid, Affiftance and Adherence from the faid
French King : And that the faid Edward Coleman
afterward, viz. the tenth day of December in

the feven and twentieth Year of the Reign of
our faid Sovereign Lord the King, at the Parifh
of St. Margaret's Weftminfter, in the County of
Middlefex aforefaid, his wicked Treafons and
Traiterous Defigns and Propofals as aforefaid

did tell and declare to one Monfieur Ravigm^
Envoy-extraordinary from the French King to
our moft Serene and Sovereign Lord King
Charles, &c. in the County aforefaid refiding,

and did falfly, malicioufly and traiteroufly move
and excite the faid Envoy-extraordinary to par-

take in his Treafon ; and the fooner to fulfil

and compleat his Traiterous Defigns, and wick-
ed Imaginations and Intention, the (aid Ed-
ward Coleman afterward, viz. the tenth day of
December in the feven and twentieth year of the

Reign of our Sovereign Lord King Charles the

Second of F.ngland, &c. aforefaid, at the Parifh

of St. Margaret's Weftminfter, in the County of
Middlefex aforefaid, did advifedly, malicioufly,

deceitfully, and traiteroufly compofe and write

three other Letters to be fent to one Sir William

Throckmorton Kt. then a Subject of our faid So-

vereign Lord the King of this Kingdom of Eng-

land, and refiding in France, in parts beyond the

Seas, viz. at the Parifh of St. Margaret's Weft-
minfter, in the County of Middlefex aforefaid, to

folicite the faid Monfieur le Chaife to procure and

obtain of the faid F'ench King, Aid, Affiftance,

and Adherence, as aforefaid, and the faid Let-

ters laft mentioned, afterward, viz. the day and

year laft named as aforefaid from the faid Pa-

riih of St. Margaret's Wcflminflcr, in the Coun-

ty of Middlefex aforefaid, did falfly and traite-

roufly fend, and caufe to be delivered to the

faid Sir William Throckmorton in France aforefaid,

againft his true Allegiance, and againft the

Peace of our Sovereign Lord the King that

now is, his Crown and Dignity, and againft the

Form of the Statute in that Cafe made and

provided.

CI. of Cr. Upon this Indictment he hath been

arraigned, and hath pleaded thereunto Not

guilty > and for his Trial he puts himfelf upon

God and his Country ; Which Country you

are.
Your
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Your Charge is to enquire, whether he be

guilty of the High-Treafon whereof he ftands

indicted, or not guilty. If you find him guilty,

you are to enquire what Goods and Chattels,

Lands and Tenements he had at the time when
the High-Treafon was committed, or at any

time fince; If you find him not guilty, you are

to fay fo, and no more, and hear your Evi-

dence.

Crier. If any one will give Evidence on the

behalf of our Sovereign Lord the King, againft

Edward Coleman the Prifoner at the Bar, lee him

come forth, and he fhall be heard ; for the Pri-

foner now ftands at the Bar upon his Delive-

rance.

Mr. Recorder, Sir George J efferies. May it pleafe

you my Lord, and you Gentlemen of the Ju-

ry ; Mr. Edward Coleman, now the Prifoner at

the Bar, ftands indicted for High-Treafon, and

the Indictment fets forth, that the faid Edward
Coleman, endeavouring to fubvert the Proteftant

Religion, and to change and alter the fame;

And likewife to ftir up Rebellion and Sedition

amongft the King's Liege People, and alfo to

kill the King; did on the 2pth of September in

the twenty feventh year of the Reign of our

Sovereign Lord the King, at the Parifh of St.

Margaret's Wejlminfler in this County, compofe

and write two feveral Letters to one Monfieur

le Chaife, that was then Servant and Confeffor

to the French King, and this was to procure the

French King's aid and affiftance to him and other

Traitors, to alter the Religion practifed, and by
Law eftablifhed here in England, to the Romifh,

Superftition. The Indictment fets forth likewife

that on the fame day he did write and compofe

two other Letters to the fame Gentleman, that

was Servant and Confeffor to the faid King, to

prevail with him to procure the French King's

affiftance to alter the Religion in this Kingdom
eftablifhed to the Romifh Religion. The Indict-

ment fets further forth, that he caufed thefe

two Letters to be fent beyond the Seas. And it

alfo fets forth that on the tenth of December, the

fame Month, he did receive a Letter from the

Gentleman that was the Confeffor, in anfwer

to one of the former Letters, and in that Letter

aid and affiftance from the French King was pro-

mifed ; and that he did traiteroufly conceal that

Letter. My Lord, the Indictment fets out

further, that on the tenth day of the fame
Month, he did reveal his Treafons and Traite-

rous Confpiracies to one Monfieur Ravigni,

who was Envoy from the French King to his Ma-
jefty of Great Britain. And his Indictment de-

clares, he afterwards did write three Letters

more to Sir William Throckmorton, then redding

in France, to procure the French King's affiftance

to the alteration of the Religion practifed here

in England. Of thefe feveral Offences he ftands

here indicted.

To this he hath pleaded Not guilty. If we
prove thefe, or either of them in the Indict-

ment, you ought to find him guilty.

Serj. Maynard. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,

and you Gentlemen of the Juryj This is a

Caufe of great Concernment. Gentlemen, the

Prifoner at the Bar ftands indicted for no lefs

than for an intention and endeavour to Mur-
der the King; For an endeavour and attempt
to change the Government of the Nation, fo

well fettled and inftituted, and to bring us all

to ruin and {laughter of one another, and for

an endeavour to alter the Proteftant Religion,

and to introduce inftead of it the Romifh Su-
perftition, and Popery.

This is the Charge (in general) of the Indict-

ment. We will proceed unto Particulars,

whereby it may appear, and whereupon he en-
deavoureth to accomplifh his ends. One or
two Letters written to Monfieur le Chaife (he
is a Foreigner, and we have nothing to fay to
him, being Confeffor lothe. French King) itwas
to excite and ftir him up to procure Aid and Af-
fiftance (and you know what Aid and Affiftance

means) from a Foreign Prince, Arms, and o-
ther Levies. We charge him with it, that he
did receive this Letter, ay, and received an an-
fwer with a promife, that he fhould have Affift-

ance. He writ other Letters to Sir William
Throckmorton, who traiteroufly confpired with
him, and had intelligence from time to time
from him. This is the Charge in the Indict-

ment} To which he hath pleaded, Not guilty.

We will go on in our Evidence : I fhall, buc
more generally, open our method, that we in-

tend to take. For it may feem ftrange, and is

not reafonably to be imagined, that a private

Gentleman, as the Prifoner at the Ban's, fhould
have fuch vaft and great defigns as this, to alter

Religion, deftroy the Government, ay, and de-

ftroy the Subjects too in a great meafure. But
'tis not himfelf alone, but he employs himfelf

for Foreign Affiftance, great Confederacies and
Combinations with the Subjects of that King,
many of whom he did pervert.

In the courfe of the Evidence I fhall not o-

pen the particulars, (Mr. Attorney, I think,

will do that by and by) thofe that we have oc-

cafion tofpeak of, and fhall in proof mention to

you, will be thefe.

Le Chaife,the French King's prefent Confeffor,

we have mentioned : before him there was one
Father Ferryer, with whom he held Correfpon-
dence. That Ferryer being removed by death,

the Prifoner had an employment here amongft
us, by which he gave to Le Chaife inftructions

how to proceed. This Gentleman is the great

Contriver and Plotter, which gives him inftru-

ctions how to proceed. He doth give him an

account by way of Narrative, how all things

had flood upon former Treaties and Negotia-
tions, how bufineffes were contrived, and how
far they were gone ; this he diligently and ac-

curately gives an account of. This (my Lord)
doth difcover and delineate what had been done

before until 1674. My Lord, there was like-

wife Sir William Throckmorton and fome others,

that are Englijlomen too, there are none of

them but what were firft Proteftants, but

when they once renounced their Religion, no

wonder they fhould renounce their Nation, and

their Prince too. He was gone beyond the

Seas, feveral Letters paft between them, and

all to promote, and encourage, and accomplifh
this Defign. My Lord, there is likewife a con-

fult of Jefuits ufed too, where, in exprefs words,

they defigned to murder the King, or contri-

ved and advifed upon it.

My Lord, there were four Irijh Men (I open

but the Heads of things) fent to Windfor to

murder the King : This Gentleman received

and disburfed Money about this bufinefs, and

one JJhby a Jefuit here had Inftructions from

him
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him to profecute the Defign, and to treat with

a Phyfician to poifon the King. This the Pri-

foner approved of, and contributed to it. There

were Commiflions (as I take it) delivered from

Ferrier, or by his Hand, that came from Fo-

reign Powers. Sir Henry T'itchbourne was another

that received and delivered Commiflions. Pom-

pone the French Gentleman, he maintains Intel-

ligence with him about this bufinefs, the Titular

Archbifhop of Dublin.

There's Cardinal Norfolk, by him he had ac-

ceflion to the Pope.

There was likewife the Pope's Nuncio (I do

not open the Tranfactions of thefe Inftructions)

thefe particulars will be made out, not only

by Witnefs Viva Voce, and not fingle only, but

by Letters of this Mr. Colemans own writing.

But 1 offer that to the confederation cf the

Jury.
Mr. Oates was the firfl Man, that we hear of,

that difcovered this Treafon $ he was the fingle

Man that difcovered fo many active Agents in

fo great a Treafon as this was, and it needed

to be well feconded > but he being found to be

but fingle, the Boldnefs and Courage of thefe

Complotters in it grew great thereupon. We
know what followed j the Damnable Murder

of that Gentleman, in Execution of his Office,

fo Hellifhly contrived, and the Endeavours that

were u fed to hid it, every body knows: How
many Stories were told to hide that abominable

Murder, how many Lies there were about it,

but it could not be luppreft. The Nation is a-

waken'd out of deep, and it concerns us now to

look about us. But all this while, Mr. Coleman

thought himfelf fafe, walked in the Fields, goes

abroad, Jealoufy increafing, and he himfelf flill

fccure.

The Letters that are produced go but to fome

part of the Year jf : from jf unto 78 all lies in

the dark, we have no certain Proof of it; but

we apprehend he had Intelligence until 78

;

That there were the fame Pcrfons continuing

here, and his Company increafing here: But
' this I fpeak but as probable, (but very exceed-

ing probable) that there was other paflages of

Intelligence between this Perfon and other Con-
federates.

It feems (my Lord) that this Coleman was

aware that he was concerned : but God blinded

and infatuated him, and took away his Rea-

fon. It's no queftion but he carried away fome

of thofe Papers} thofe that were left behind;

and are produced, he forgot and neglected j

and by that (my Lord) thofe which are pro-

duced, are Evidence againft him at this time.

Surely he thoughc we were in fuch a condition,

that had Eyes and could not fee, and Ears that

could not hear, and Underftandings without

underftanding : for he was bold, and walked A-
broad, and that until this Profecution was made
upon him, he endeavoured to murder the King,

change the Government, make an alteration of

Religion, and deftrucl ion of Protcftants, as well

as the Proteflant Religion ; and it will be pro-

ved by fome Letters, when they were rejected

by the Duke, that he fent them in the Duke's

Name. And by this no Man will doubt but he

is a great Traitor.

Attorn. Gen. Sir William Jones. May it pleafe

your Lordfhip, and you Gentlemen of the Ju-
ry, The King's Serjeant hath opened the gene-

66%
ral parts of our Evidence ; and we have reafon
to forefee that our Evidence will be very long,
and will take up much of your time; and there-
fore I fhall fpend no more time in opening of it

than is juft neceffary. And indeed (my Lord)
Mr. Coleman himfelf hath fayed me much of the
labour, which otherwife I fhould have bellow-
ed ; for he hath left fuch elegant and copious
Narratives of the whole Defign under his own
Hand, that the reading of them will be better
than any new one I can make.
But (my Lord) fome fhort Account I fhall

give you, fuch as may fhew you the courfe of
our Evidence, and will make our Evidence,
when it comes to be given, to be more intelli-

gible.

My Lord, It will appear, that there hath
been for many Years laft pail a more than or-
dinary Defign and Induftry to bring in the Po-
pifh, and extirpate the Proteflant Religion.

I doubt not but this Defign, in f-memeafure,
hath been contriving ever lince the Reforma-
tion, by the Jefuits, or fome of their EmifTaries,
but hath often received interruption ; fo that
they have proceeded fometimes more coldly,
fometimes more hotly : And I do think, at no
time fince the Reformation, that ever this De-
fign was carried on with greater Induftry, nor
with fairer hopes of Succefs, than for thefe laft

Years.

My Lord, You will hear from our Witneffb,
that the firft Onfet, which was to be made up-
on us, was by whole Troops of Jefuits and
Priefts, who were fent hither from the Semina-
ries Abroad, where they had been tiained up in

all the Subtdty and Skill that was fit to work
upon the People.

My Lord, you will hear how active they

have been, and what Infinuations they ufed for

the perverting of particular ferfons. After

fome time fpent in fuch Attempts, they quickly

grew weary of that courfe j though they got

fome Profelytes, they were but few. Some Bo-
dies, in whom there was a predifpofition of hu-

mors, were infected, but their Numbers were
not great. They at laft refolve to take a more
expeditious way j for in truth, (my Lord) they

could not far prevail by the former. And I wifh

with all my heart, that the Bodies of Proteft ants

may be as much out of danger of the Vio-

lence of their Hands, as their Underftandings

will be of the force of their Arguments. But

(my Lord) when this way would not take, they

began then to confider they mufl throw at all

at once. No doubt but they would have been

glad, that the People of England had had but

one Neck ; but they knew the People of Eng-

land had but one Head, and therefore they were

refolved to ftrike at that.

My Lord, you will find, that there was a

Summons of the principal Jkfuits, of the moft

able Head-pieces, who were to meet in April or

May laft, to conlult of very great things, of a

moft Diabolical Nature, no lefs than how to take

away the Life of the King our Sovereign.

My Lord, you will find (as is ufually practif-

ed in fuch horrid Confpiracies) to make all fe-

cure, that there was an Oath of Secrecy taken,

and that upon the Sacrament. You will find

Agreements made, that this moft Wicked and

Horrible Defign fhould be attempted. You will

find two Villains were found among them, who
undertook
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undertook to do this execrable work •, and you

will hear of the Rewards they were to have :

Money in cafe they did fucceed, and Maffes good

(tore in cafe rhey perifhed ; fo that their Bodies

were provided for in cafe they furvived, and

their Souls if they died. My Lord, What was

the reafon they did not effect their Defign, but

either that thefe Villains wanted Opportunity,

or their Hearts failed them, when they came to

put in execution this Wicked Defign ? or, per-

haps (which is moft probable) it was the Pro-

vidence of God, which over-rul'd them, that

this Bloody Defign did not take its effect.

But thefe Gentlemen were not content with

one Effay, they quickly thought of another $

and there were four Irijh-Men prepared (Men of

very mean Fortunes, and defperate Conditions)

and they were to make the Attempt no longer

fince, than when the King was laft at IVindfor.

My Lord, I perceive by the Proofs, that

thele laft Aff'.ffinates went down thither; but

it came to pafs (for fome of the Reafons afore-

faid) that that attempt failed likewife.

My Lord, Thefe Gentlemen, thofe wife

Heads, who had met here in Confultation, did

then, and long before, confider with themlelves,

that fo great a Caufe as this was not to be put

upon the hazard of fome few Hands ; they

therefore propofed Forces, Aids, and Affiftan-

ces, both at Home and Abroad, to fecond this

Wicked Defign, if it had fucceeded as to the

Perfon of the King; and if that fail'd, then by

their Foreign and Domeftick Aids and Afriftan-

ces, to begin and accompliih the who'e Work
of fubverting our Government and Religion.

And here we muft needs confefs, as to the for-

mer part of this Plot, which we have mention-

ed, I mean the attempt upon the King's Per-

fon, Mr. Coleman was not the Contriver, nor

to be the Executioner: But yet your Lordfhip

knows, in all Treafons there is no Acceffory,

but every Man is a Principal. And thus much
we have againft him, even as to this part of the

Defign, which will involve him in the whole
guilt of it, that Mr. Coleman confented to it,

though his Hand were not to do it. Mr. Cole-

man encouraged a MefTenger to carry Money
down as a Reward of thefe Murderers, that

were at Windfor; of this we have proof againft

him, which is fufficient. My Lord, Mr. Cole-

man, as a Man of greater Abilities, is referved

for greater Employments, and fuch wherein, I

confefs, all his Abilities were little enough.
There were Negotiations to be made with Men
Abroad, Money to be procured, partly at home
from Friends here, and partly abroad from
thofe that wifh'd them well: And in all thefe

Negotiations Mr. Coleman had a mighty Hand;
and you will perceive by and by what a great

progrefs he made in them. This Confpiracy
went fo far, as you will hear it proved, Thac
there were general Officers named and appoint-

ed, that fhodld Command their new Catholick
Army, and many were Engaged, if not Lifted.

There were not only in England, but in Ireland

likewife, where Arms and all other Neceflaries

were provided, and whither great Sums of Mo-
ney were returned to ferve upon occafion. But
one thing there is, my Lord, that comes neareft

Mr. Cole-man ; As there were Military Officers

named, fo likewife the great Civil Places and
Offices of the Kingdom were to be difpofed of 5

I will not name to whom at this time, more
than what is pertinent to the prefent bufinefs.

This Gentlemen, fuch were his great Abili-

ties, the truft and reliance that his Party had
upon him, that no lefs an Office would ferve his

turn than that of Principal Secretary of State;

and he had a Commiffion, that came to him
from the Superiors of the Jefuits, to enable

him to execute that great Office. My Lord, it

feems ftrange, that fo great an Office fhould be
conferred by no greater a Man than the Superi-

or of the Jefuit?. But if the Pope can depofe
Kings, and difpofe of Kingdoms, no wonder
if the Superior of the Jefuits can by a power
delegated from him, make Secretaries. Jt is

not certain what the Date of this Commiffion
was, nor the very time when he received it:

but I believe he was fo eaYneft and forward in

this Plot, that he began to execute his Office
long before he had his Commiffion for it; for I

find by his Letters, which are of a more early

Date, that he had proceeded fo far as to treat

with Father Ferrier, who was the French King's
Confeffor, before he had actually received this

Commiffion. You will underftand by the
Letters, which we fhall produce, what he
had to do with him, and what with the other
Confeffor that fucceeded, Father Le Chaife.

There were two fmall matters they treated o f
,

no lefs than the Diffolving the Parliament;
and the Extirpation of the Lroteftant Religion.
Nay, you will find, and you will hear enough,
when the Letters come to be read, that Mr.
Coleman made many ftrokes at the Parliament,
he had no good opinion of them. And we can-
not blame him ; for without all peradventure
they had made, and I hope ever will make,
ftrong refiftance againft fuch Defigns as thefe.

But a great mind he had to be rid of them ; and
he had hopes of great Sums of Money from a-

broad, if it had been to be done that way. And
it is very remarkable (and fhews the Vanity of
the Man) he had fuch an opinion of the fuccefs

of thefe Negotiations, that he had penn'd a

Declaration prepared by him, and writ with
his own hand, to be publifhed in Print, upon
the Diffolution of the Parliament, to juftify

that Action with many fpecious and plaufible'

Reafons. As he did this without any Directi-

on, fo he takes upon hm to write a Declara-

tion, as in the Name of the King, without the

leaft fhadow of any command to do it, fo he

prepares a Letter alfo in the Name of the Duke

;

and I would not affirm, unlefs I could prove it,

and that from his own Confeffion, (being ex-

amined before the Lords upon Oath) that he

had no manner of Authority from the Duke to

prepare fuch a Letter ; and when it was writ-

ten and brought to the Duke, it was rejected,

and the Writer juftly blamed for his prefump-
tion. By this you will perceive the forwardnefs

of this Man. And you muft of neceffity take

notice, that in his Letters he took upon himfelf.

to manage Affairs, as authorized by the greateft

Perfons in the Kingdom,, yet without the leaft

fhadow of proof that he was by them impower-
ed to do ir.

My Lord, you fhall find, Mr. Coleman thought
himfelf above all ; and fuch was his own over-

weening opinion of his Wit and Police, thai he

thoughc himfelf the fole and fupreme Dire-

ctor of all the Affairs of the Catholicks. You
will
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will likewife perceive that he held Imelligence and ftrength of Memory, which he had upon
with Cardinal Norfolk, with Father Sheldon, and other Occafions.

the Pope's Internuntio at BruJfeU. And 1 cannot My Lord, I {hall no longer detain you from
but obferve out of the Proofs, that as we {hall reading the Papers themfclves. But I cannot
find Mr. Coleman very ambitious and forward in but account this Kingdom happy, that thefe

all great Affairs, fo he had a little too much
Eye to the Reward j he looked too much a-

fquint upon the matter of Money: His great

endeavours were not fo much out of Consci-

ence, or out of Zeal to his Religion, as out

of temporal Intereft. ; to him Gain was inftead

of Godlinefs. And by his Letters to the French

ConfelTor Monfieur Le Cbaife, it will be pro-

ved, that he got much Money from the Catho-

licks here, and fome from abroad, but {till he

wanted Money. What to do? (I do not mean
the greater fum of two hundred thoufand

Pounds to procure the DilTolution of the Parlia-

ment, but fome twenty thoufand Pounds only)

To be expended by him in fecret Service. I

do not know what account he wou'd have gi-

ven of it, if he had been intrufted with it. But

that he earneftly thirfted after Money, appear-

eth by mod of his Letters.

My Lord, you will obferve, befides his In-

telligences, that he had with Father Le Cbaife,

and feveral others, one that deferves to be

named, and that is his Negotiation with Sir

William Frogmorton, who was lent over into

France, and there reiided a long time to promote

thefe Defigns. He is dead ; therefore I will

not fay fo much of him, as I would fay againft

him, if he was here to be tried. But, my Lord,

I find in his Letters fuch Treafonable, fuch Im-
pious Expreffions againft the King, fuch undu-

tiful Characters of him, that no good Subject

would write, and no good Subject would re-

ceive and conceal, as Mr. Coleman hath done.

My Lord, it may pafs for a wonder, how we
come to be Mailers of all thefe Papers ; it has in

part been told you already.

There was an Information given of the gene-

ral Defign, nay of fome of the particulars a-

gainft the King's Life. And without ail perad-

venture, Mr. Coleman knew of this Difcovery ;

and he knew that he had Papers that could

!fpeak too much, and he had time and opportu-

nity enough to have made them away, and I

make no Queftion but he did make many a-

way. We are not able to prove the continu-

ance of his Correfpondence, fo as to make it

clearly out ; but we fuppole that continued un-

til the day he was feized. And there is this to

be proved, that Letters came for him, though
' we cannot fay any were delivered to him, after

he was in Piiibn. But without all peradventure,

:
the Man had too much to do, too many Papers

jto conceal: Then, you'll fay, he might have
I burnt them all, (for many would burn as well as

' a few : ) But then he had loft much of the Ho-
nour of a great States-man -, many a fine Sen-
tence, and many a deep Intrigue had been loft

J

to all Pofterity. ! believe that we owe this Dif-

^covery to fomething of Mr. Coleman's Vanity:
he would not lofe the Glory of managing thefe

jimpoitant Negotiations about fo great a Dc-
|fi&n: He thought 'twas no fmall Reputation to

be intruited with the Secrets of Foreign Mini-
fters. If -his was not his reafon, God (1 believej

took away irom him that clearnefs of judgment,

* See the Character of this Chief J'uftice in Burn. Hill. OV/n Times, Vol. I.

mons had of him by their Votes, Dec. 25, 1680.
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Papers are preferved. For (my"Lord) We are
to deal with a' fort of Men, that have that pro-
digious confidence, that their Words and Deei s

(though proved by never fo unfufpected Tefti-
monyj they will ftill deny. But (my Lord) no
denial of this Plot will prevail, for Mr. Cole-

man himfelf hath, with his own hand, record-
ed this Confpiracy j and we can prove his hand,
not only by his own Servants, and Relations,
but by his own Confeffion. So that (my Lord)
I doubt not, that if there be any of their own
Party that hear this Trial, they themfelves will
be fatisfy'd with the truth of thefe things. And
I believe we have an advantage in this cafe,

which they will not allow us, in another mat-
ter > namely, that we {hall be for this once
permitted to believe our own Senfes. Our E-
vidence confifteth of two parts > one is, Wit-
nefles Viva voce, which we defire (with the fa-

vour of the Court) to begin with ; and when
that is done, we {hall read feveral Letters, or
Negotiations, in writing, and fo fubmit the

whole to yourLordlhip's diiecKon.

Prif. I beg leave that a poor ignorant Man,
that is fo heavily charged, that it feems a little

unequal to confider the reafon, why a Prifoner,

in luch a cafe as this is, is not allowed Counfel ;

but your Lordlhip is fuppofed to be Counlel for

him. But I think it very hard I cannot be ad-

mitted Counfel; and I humbly hope your Lord-
lhip will not fufFer me to be loft by things that

my felf cannot anfwer. I deny the Conclusion,

but the Premiffes are too ftrong and artificial.

Sir William Scroggs, * L. C.J. You cannot

deny the Premifles, but that you have done thefe

things; but you deny the Conclufion, that you
are a Traitor.

Prif. 1 can fafely and honeftly.

L. C. J. You would make a better Secretary

of State, than a Logician ; for they never deny
the Conclufion.

Prif I grant it your Lorcfhip : You fee the

advantage great Men have of me, that do not
pretend to Logick.

L. C. J. The labour lies upon their Hands j

the Proof belongs to them to make out thefe In-

trigues of yours; therefore you need not have

Counfel, becaufe the Proof muft be plain upon
you, and then it will be in vain to deny the

Conclufion.

Prif. 1 hope (my Lord) if there be any Point

of Law that I am not skill'd in, that your Lord-

fhip will be pleafed not to take the advantage

over me. Another thing feems moft dreadful,

that is, the violent Prejudice that feems to be

againft every Man in England, that is confefs'd

to be a Roman Catholick. It is pofhble that a

Roman Catholick may be very innocent of

thefe Crimes. If one of thofe Innocent Roman
Catholicks fhould come to this Bar, he lies un-

der fuch Diludvansages already, and his Prejudi-

ces fo greatly biafTeth humane Nature, that un-

kfs your Lordfhip will lean extremely much on

the 01 her fidi, Juilice w ill hardly fland upright,

and lie upon a Level. But to fatisfy your Lord-

p. 448. Jlnd njihat Opinion the Hcufe of Com-

fhif,
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{hip, I do not think it any fervice to deftroy a-

ny of the King's Subjects, unlefs it be in a very

plain cafe.

L. J. C. You need not make any preparations

for us in this matter, you (hall have a fair, juft,

and legal Trial ; if Condemned, it will be ap-

parent you ought to be fo ; and without a fair

Proof, there fhall be no Condemnation. There-
fore you fhall find, we will not do to you, as

you do to us, blow up at adventure,, kill people

becaufe they are not of your perfuafion •, our
Religion teacheth us another Doctrine, and you
{hall find it e'early to your advantage. We feek

no Man's Blood, but our own Safety. But you
are broughc here from the neceffity of things,

which your felves have made; and from your
own Actions you fhall be condemned, or ac-

quitted.

Prif. It is fuppofed upon Evidence, that the

Examinations that have been of me in Prifon,

are like to be Evidence againft me now ; I have

nothing to fay againft it : But give me leave to

fay at this time, that when I was in Prifon, I

was upon my Ingenuity charged ; I promifed I

would conf.fs all I knew. And I only fay thi5,

That what I faid in Prifon is true, and am rea-

dy at any time to Swear and Evidence, that that

is all the Truth.

L.C.J. It is all true that you fay; but did

you tell all that was true ?

Prif. I know no more, than what I declared

to the Two Houfes.

L C. J. Mr. Coleman, I'll tell you when you
will be apt to gain credit in this matter: You
fay, that you told all things that you knew, the

Truth, and the whole Truth. Can Mankind
be perfuaded, that you, thac had this Negotia-
tion in 74 and 75, left off juft then, at that time

when your Letters were found according to

their Dates? Do you believe, there was no Ne-
gotiation after jf, becaufe we have not found

them ? Have you fpoke one Word to that ?

Have you confefied, or produced thofe Papers
and Weekly Intelligence? When you anfwer
that, you may have credit j without that, it is

impoffible : For I cannot give credit to one
Word you fay, unlefs you give an account of
the fubfequent Negotiation.

Prif. After that time (as I faid to the Houfe of
Commons) I did give over Correfponding. I

did offer to take all Oaths and Tefts in the
World, that I never had one Letter for at leaft

two Years; yea, (that I may keep my felf with-

in compafs) I think it was for three or four.

Now I have acknowledged to the Houfe of Com-
mons, I have had a curfory Correfpondence,
which I never regarded or valued ; but as the

Letters came, I burnt them, or made ufe of them
as common Paper. I fay, that for the general

Correfpondence I have had for two or three

Years, they have had every one of them Letters,

that I know of.

Att. Gen. Whether you had or no, you {hall

have the faireft Trial that can be. And we can-

not blame the Gentleman, for he is more ufed

to greater Affairs, than thefe Matters or Forms
of Law. But (my Lord) I defire to go unto Evi-

dence, and when that is done, he fhall be heard,

as long as he pleafeth, without any Interruption.

If he defire it, before I give my Evidence, let

him have Pen, Ink and Paper (with yourLord-
{hip's leave.)

L. G< J. Help him to Pen, Ink, and Paper.

Record. Then we defire to go on in our Evi-

dence. We defire that Mr. Oates may not be

interrupted.

Court. He {hall not be interrupted.

Att. Gen. The firft thing we will inquire, what
account he can give of the Prifoner at the Bar*

whether he was any way privy to the Murder
of the King?

L. C. J. Mr Oates, we leave it to your felf

to take your own way, and your own method:
Only this we fay, here's a Gentleman ftands at

'

the Bar for his Life ; and on the other fide, the

King is concerned for his Life : You are to {peak

the Truth and the whole Truth; for there is

no reafon in the World that you mould add any
one thing that is falfe, I would not have a tittle

added for any advantage, or confequences that

may fall, when a Man's Blood and Life lieth

at flake : Let him be Condemned by truth ; You
have taken an Oath, and you being a Minifter,

know the great regard you ought to have of the

Sacrednefs of an Oath ; and that to take a Man's
Life away by a falfe Oath is Murder, I need not

teach you that. But that Mr. Coleman may be fatis-

fied in the Trial, and all People elfe be fatisfied,

there is nothing required or expected, but down-
right plain truth, and without any arts either to

conceal, or expatiate, to make things larger than

in truth they are ; he muft be condemned by

plain Evidence of Fact.

Mr. Oates. My Lord, Mr. Coleman, in the

Month of November laft, did entertain in his own
Houfe John Keins, which John Keins was a Fa-

ther-Confeffor to certain Perfons that were Con-
verted, amongft which I was one. My Lord,

I went and vifited this John Keins at Mr. Cde-

man\ Houfe then in Stable-yard. Mr. Coleman

inquiring of John Keins who I was? He faid, I

was one that defigned to go over upon bufinefs

to St Omers. My Lord, Mr. Coleman told me
then he fhould trouble me with a Letter or two
to St. Omers, but he told me he would leave

them with one Fenivick, that was Procurator for

the Society of Jefuitsin London. I went on Mon-
day Morning and took Coach, went to Dover,

and had his Pacquet with me, which Pacquet

when I came to St. Omers I opened. The out-

fide Sheet of this Paper was a Letter of News
which was called Mr. Coleman's Letter, and at

the b -ittom of this Letter there was this Recom-
mendation, Pray recommend me to my Kinf-

man Playford. In this Letter of News there

were expreflions of the King, calling him Ty-
rant, and that the Marriage between the Prince

of Orange and the Lady Mary the Duke of Tork's

Eldeft Daughter would prove the Traitor's and

Tyrant's ruin.

L. C J. I n what Language was it written ?

Mr. Oates. In plain Englijh words at length.

L. C. J. Directed to whom?
Mr. Oates. Id was directed to the Rector of

St. Omers, to give him Intelligence how affairs

went in England.

L.C.J. Did you break it open?
Mr. Oates. I was at the opening of it, and

faw it and read it. There was a Letter to Father

Lechees, which was fuperfcribed by the fame

hand that the treafonable Letter of News was

written, and the fame hand that the recommen-
dation to Playford was written in. When this

Letter was open there was a Seal fixt, a flying

Seal, and no Man's Name to it.

L.C.J.
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L. C. J. What was the Contents of that Let*

ter to Le Cbaife?

. Mr. Gates, My Lord, to give you an account

of the import of this Letter, it was writ in La-
tin, and in it there were thanks given to Fa-
ther Lecbees for the Ten Thoufand Pounds which
was given for the propagation of the Catholick
Religion, and that it fhould be employed for no
other intent and purpofe but that for which it

was fent, now that was to cut off the King of
England; thofe Words were noc in that Letter,

but Lecbees Letter, to which this was an Anfwer,

I fawand read. It was dated the Month o$Au-
guft, and as near as I remember there was this

Inllruction in ir, That the Ten Thoufand Pound
fhould be employed for no other intent and pur-

pofe but to cut ofF the King of England. 1 do
not fwear the Word?, but that's the fenfe and
fubflance ; I believe I may fwear the Words.

L. C. J. To whom was that directed ?

Mr. Oates. To one Strange, that was then Pro-

vincial or the Society in London, which Mr. Cole-

man anfwered.

L-C.Jufl How came Mr. Coleman toanfwerit?

Mr. Oates. Strange having run a Reed into his

Finger, had wounded his Hand, a>id Secretary

Mico was ill, fo he got Mr. Coleman to write an

Anfwer unto it.

L C. J. Did he write it as from himfelf?

M'~. Oates. Yes, by order of the Provincial.

L.C.J. What was the fubflance of that An-
Ifwer?

Mr. Oates. That thanks was given to him in

jthe Name of the whole Society for the Ten
i Thoufand Pound which was paid and received

here, and that it fhould be employed to the in-

tent for which it was received. It was fuper-

ifcribed from Mr. Coleman.

L. C. J. Was it fubfcribed Coleman ?

Mr Oates. It was not fubfcribed ; I did not

fee him write it, but I really believe it was by the

fame hand. I went and delivered this Letter.

L. C. J. I underflood you becaufe of the acci-

dent of his Hand he had employed M r. Coleman to

write this for him.

Mr. Oates. He did write this Letter then, the

Body of the Letter was written by Mr. Coleman.

I did not fee him write it, but I fhall give an

account how I can prove he wrote it. I deli-

vered this Letter to Le Cbaife his own Hand.
When I opened the Letter he asked me how a

Gentleman (naming a French name) did do.

L.C.J. When you carried this Letter, you
carried it to Lecbees, and delivered it to him j

then he asked you of the Gentleman of the

French name, whom meant he by that name ?

. Mr. Oates. I underflood it to be Mr. Coleman.

L. C. J. Did he know him by fome French
,name? What faid you ?

I Mr. Oztes. I could fay little to this.

j
L. C. J. Could you guefs whom he meant?

j

Mr. Oates. He told me he was fomenme Se-

cretary to the Dutchefs of York, which I under-

ftood to be Mr. Coleman. I fluck at ir, and

when he faid he was fometime Secretary to the

.Dutchefs of York, I fpoke in Latin to him, and

asked whether he meant Mr. Coleman, and his

Anfwer I cannot remember. He fends an An-
fwer to this Letter. I brought it to St.Omers,

and there it was inclofed in the Letter from the

Socety to Coleman', wherein the Society ex-

preQy told him this Letter was delivered and ac-
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knowledged. I faw the Letter at St. Omers, and
the Letter was fent to him. Mr. Coleman d\d ac-
knowledge the Receipt of thisLetter from Lecbees

in the fame hand with that of the News Letter,
and fo it was underflood by all. I faw it.

L. C. J. How came you to fee it ?

Mr. Oates. I by a Patent from them was of
the Confult.

L. C. J. You faw the Letter of the fame
hand which the News Letter was of with Mr.
Coleman's Name fubfcribed ?

Mr. Oates. The Contents of the Letter did
own the Letter from Lecbees was received j this
Letter was prefumed to be the Hand-writing of
Mr. Coleman, and it was underflood to be Mr.
Coleman's Letter.

L C.J. You fay the Letter was thanks for
the Ten Thouland Pound ; what was the other
Contents ?

Mr. Oates. That all Endeavours fhould be
ufed to cut off the Proteflant Religion Root and
Branch.

L. C. J. You fay you delivered this Letter,
from whom had you it ?

Mr. Oates. From Femvick, it was left in his

Hand, and he accompanied me from Groves to

the Coach, and gave it to me.
L. C. J. Did you hear him fpeak to Mr. Cole~

man to write for him ?

Mr. Oates. Strange told me he had fpoke to him.

L.C.J. He doth fuppofe it was Mr. Coleman's

hand becaufe it was jufl the fame hand that the

News Letter was. Are you fure the Letter was
of his hand?
Mr. Oates. It was taken for his hand.

Jufl. Wild. Had he fuch a Kinfman there ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, he hath confefled it.

Att. Gen. We defire your Lordfhip he may
give an account of the Confult here in May lafl,

and how far Mr. Coleman was privy to the mur-
dering of the King.

Mr. Oates. In the Month of April Old- Stile,

in the Month of May New-Stile, there was a

Confult held, it was begun at the Wbite-Horfe

Tavern, it did not continue there. After that

there they had confulted to fend one Father

Cary to be Agent and Procurator to Rome, they

did adjourn themielves to feveral Clubs in

Companies; fome met at Wild-Houfe, and fome
at Harcourt's Lodging in Duke- Street; fome met
at Ireland's Lodging in RuJ/el-Street ; and fome in

Fenwick's Lodging in Drury-Lane. They were

ordered to meet by virtue of a Brief from Romey

fent by the Father General of the Society:

Thev went on to thefe Refolves, That Pickering

and Groves fhould go on and continue in attempt-

ing to AfTaflinate the King's Perfon by Shoot-

ing, or other means. Groves was to have Fif-

teen Hundred Pounds. Pickering being a Reli-

gious Man was to have Thirty Thoufand MafTes,

which at Twelve Pence a Mafs amounted much
what to that Money. This Refolve of the Je-

fuits was communicated to Mr. Coleman in my
hearing ar Wild-Houfe. My Lord, this was not

only fo, but in feveral Letters he did mention

it* and in one Letter (I think I was gone a few

Miles out of London) he fent tome by a Meflen-

ger, and did defire the Duke might be trepan'd

into this Piot to Murder the King.

L.C.J. How did he defire it?

Mr. Oates. In a Letter, that all means fhould

be uf.d for the drawing in the Duke. This

Q^qqq Z Letter
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Letter was written to one Ireland. I faw the

Letter and read it.

L. C.J. How do you know it was his Letter?

Mr. Oates. Becaufeof the Inftruc~tions, which
I faw Mr. Coleman take a Copy of and write,

which was the fame Hand with the News Let-

ter, and what elfe I have mentioned, the Sub-
fcription was, Recommend me to Father Lechees>

and it was the fame Hand whereof I now fpeak.

L. C.J. What was the fubftance of the Letter?

Mr. Oates. Nothing but Compliment, and

Recommendation, and that all means might be

ufed for the trepanning the Duke of Totk (as

near as I can remember that was the word.)

Juft. Wild. You did fay positively that Mr.
Coleman did conlent and agree to tvhat was con-

fulted by the Jefuits, which was to kill the

King, and Pickering and Groves were the two
Peifons defigned to do it. Did you hear him
content to it ?

Mr. Oates. I heard him fay at Wild-Houfe^ he

thought it was well contrived.

Record. Do the Gentlemen of the Jury hear

what he faith ?

L. C.J. Gentlemen of the Jury, do you hear

what he faith?

Jury. Yes.

Att. Gen. What do you know ofany Rebellion

to have been raifed in Ireland? and what was to

be done with the Duke of Ormond?
Mr. Oates. In the Month of Auguft there was

a Confult with the Jefuits, and with the Bene-

dictine Monks at the Savoy. In this Month of

Auguft there was a Letter writ from Archbi-

fhip 'Talbot, the Titular Archbifhop of Dublin;

wherein he gave an account of a Legate from

the Pope, an Itali-m Bifhop, (the Bifhop of Caf-

Jay I think) who aiferted the Pope's Right to the

Kingdom of Ireland. In this Letter (to mention

in fpecial) there were Four Jefuits had contri-

ved to difpatch the Duke of Ormond (thefe were

his words) To find the moft expedient way for

his Death, and Fogarthy was to be fent to do it

by Poifon, if thefe Four good Fathers did not

hit of their Defign. My Lord, Fothargy was
prefent. And when the Confult was almolr. at

a period, Mr. Coleman came to the Savoy to the

Confult, and was mighty forward to have Fa-

ther Fothergay fent to Ireland to difparch the Duke
by Poifon. This Letter did fpecify they were
there ready to rife in Rebellion againft the King
for the Pope.

Att. Gen. Do you know any thing of Arms?
Mr. Oates. There were 40000 Black Bills, I

am not fo skilful in Arms to know what they

meant (Military Men know what they are) that

were provided to be fent into Ireland; but they

were ready for the ufe of the Catholick Party.

L. C. J. Who were they provided by ?

Mr. Oates. I do not know.

L C.J. How do you know they were provided ?

Mr. Oates. That Letter doth not mention who
they were provided by, but another Letter men-
tioned they were provided by thofe that were
Commiifion Officers for the aid ind help of the

Pope j the Popifh Commiffioners they were pro-

vided by, and they had them ready in Ireland.

L. C. J. Who wrote this Letter?

Mr. Oates. It came from Talbot, I might for*

get the day of the Month becaufe my Infor-

mation is fo large, but it was the former part of

the Year, I think either January or February*,

(77) (78) lad January or February.

L. C. J. Was this Confult but mAugufthft?
Mr. Oates. I am forced to run back from that

Confult to this •, Mr. Coleman was privy, and !

was the main Agent, and did in the Month of

Auguft laft paft lay to Fenwick, he had found a 1

way to tranfmit the loooco/. for the carrying
on of this Rebellion in Ireland.

L. C. J. Did you hear him fay fo?

Mr. Oates. I did, a Week before.

L. C. J. You fay he was very forward to fend
Fogarthy into Ireland to kill the Duke of Ormond.

Mr. Oates. Yes that I fay > and that he had
found a way to tranfmit 100000/. to carry oh
the Rebellion in Ireland.

Court. Who was by befides Fenwick?
Mr. Oates. My felf and no Body elfe.

Court. Where was it faid?

Mr. Oates. In FenwicfCs Chamber in Drury-lane.
Att. Gen. Do you know any thing of traof-

mitting the Money to IVindfor, or perfuading
any to be fent thither, and the time when ?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of Auguft there were
four Ruffians procured by Dr. Fogarthy. Thefe
Four were not nominated in the Confult with
the Benedi&ine Convent, but (my Lord) thefe

four Ruffians without Names Were accepted of
by them.

Court. Who propofed them ?

Mr. Oates. Fogctrthy. Thefe f^ur Irijh-Men were
fent that Night to Windfor. How they went I

know not, but the next Day thefe was a pro-
vision of 80/. o/oered to them by the Re&or
of London, which is a Jefuit, one JVM. Harcourt
in the Name of the Provincial, becaufe he afted

in his Name and Authority, the Provincial be-

ing then beyond the Seas, villting his Colleges
in Flanders.

L. C.J. Did he order the 80 / ?

Mr. Oates. Mr. Coleman came to this Harcourt'%
Houfe, then lying in Duke-Street, and Harcourt
was not Within j but he was directed to come to

Wild-Houfe, and at PFild- Houfe he found Harcourt.
L. C. J. How do you know that?
Mr. Oates. He faid he had been at his Houfe,

and was not within ; finding him at Wild-Houfe,
he asked what care was taken for thofe four

Gentlemen that went laft Night to Windfor?
He faid there was 80 /. ordered.

L. C J. Who faid fo ?

Mr. Oates. Harcourt. And there was the Mef-
fenger that was to carry it. I think the moft
part of this 80 /. was in Guineas : Mr. Coleman
gave the Metfenger a Guinea to be nimble, and

to expedite his Journey.
L- C.J. How know you they were Guineas?
Mr. Oates. I faw the Money upon the Table

before Harcourt, not in his Hand.
L. C. J. Were the four Irijh-Men there ?

Mr. Oates. No, they were gone before I came.

L.C.J. Who was to carry it after them, what
was his Name?

Mr. Oates. I never faw him before or fince.

The Money was upon the Table : When Mr. Cole-

man came in, he gave theMeffenger a Guinea to

expedite the Btifinefs.

Recorckr. You fay Mr.' Coleman inquired what
Care was taken for thofe Ruffians that were to

AfTaffinate the King* pray, Mr. Oates, tell my
Lord, and the Jury, what you can fay concern-

ing Mr. Coleman's Difcourfe with one Ajhby.

Mr. Oates. In the Month of July, one JJhby,

who was fometime Reftor of St. Omers, being

ill
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ill of the Gout was ordered to go to the Bath -,

this Ajloly being \n London, Mr. Coleman came to

attend him ; this yjjhby brought with him Trea-

fonabie Inftiuctions, in order to difpatch the

King by Poifon, provided Pickering and Groves

did not do the Work : Ten thoufand Pound iheuld

be propoled to Sir George Wakeman to Poifon the

King, incaf Piitol and Stab did not take effect,

and 0\ portunity was to be taken at the King's

taking Phylick. I could give other Evidence,

but will not, becauie or other things which are

not fit to be known yet.

L. C. J. Who wrote this Letter?

Mr. O.ites. It was under the Hand of White
the Provincial beyond the Seas, whom Afhby

left ; it was in the Name of Memorials to im-

power .Ajhby and the reft of the Confulters at

•London to propound ten thoufand P und to Sir

George IVakeman to take the Opportunity to Poi-

fon the King. Thefc lnfhuctions were feen and

read by M.. Colman, by him copied out, and

tranfmitted 1.0 iiever.il Confpirator of the King's

Death, in this Kingdom of England, that were
privy to this Plot.

Recr'er Know you of any Commiflion ? We
have hitherto poken altogether of the Woikof
others } now we come to his own Work a little

nearer.

L C.J. Who faw Mr. Coleman read thefe In-

ftructions ? What laid he ?

Mr, Gates. He laid he thought it was too little,

I hea d h m fay fo.

L. C. J. Did you fee him take a Copy of

i thefe Inftrudtinns ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, and he faid he did believe

i Sir George IVakeman -would fcarce take it, and

thought it necefTary the other Five thoufand

Pound mould be added to it, that they might be

fure to have it done.

L. C J. Where was it he faid this ?

Mr. Oates. It Was in the Provincial's Chamber,
which Afiby had taken For his Convenience at

London, until he went down ro the Bath ; it was

at Wild-Houfe, at Mr. Sanderfon's H^ufe.

L.C.J. Ajhby was employed by his Inftructi-

10ns t> acquaint the Confult of thejefuits, that

there fhoulJ be Ten thoufand Pound advanced, if

Dr. Wakeman would Poifon the King, now Ajhby

comes and acquaints him with it. Why fhould

Coleman take Copies ?

Mr Oates. Becaufe he was to fend Copies to

feveral Confpirators in the Kingdom of Eng-

land.

L. C J. To what purpofe fhould Mr. Coleman

take a Copy of thefe Inft ructions ?

Mr Oates. The Reafon is plain, th^y were
then agatheringa Contribution about the King-

dom, and thefe Inftructions were lent that they

might be encouraged, becaufe they faw there was
Encouragement from bevond Seas to afliflthem.

And ano r her Reafon was. becaufe now they

were afTured by this, their Rufmefs would quick-

ly be difpatched, and by this means fome th.^u-

fands of Pounds were gathered in the Kingdom
of England.

L C. J. To whom was Mr. Coleman to fend

:hem ?

;

Mr. Oates. I know not any of the Perfons, but
VJr. Coleman did fay he had fent his Suffrages

'which was a Canting Word for Infhuctions)

:o the Principal Gentry of the Catholicksof the

Kingdom of England.

L. C. J. How know you thif, that Mr. Cole-
man did take a Copy of thefe Inflections for that
purpofe as you fay ?

Mr. Oates. Becaufe he faid fo.

L. C. J. Did any Body ask him why he took
them ?

Mr. Oates. Saith Ajhby, you had belt, make
hafle and communicate thefe things. Mr. Cole-
man anfwered, I will make hafte with my Copies,
that I may difpatch them away this Night.

Recorder. Was he not to be one of the Princi-
pal Secretaries of State ?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of May lad New
Stile, April Old Stile, I think within a Day af-

ter our Confult, 1 was at Mr. Langhorn'S Cham-
ber, he had feveral CommilTions, which he cal-
led Patents: Among his Commiflions 1 faw one
from the General of the Society of Jefus, Joannes
Paulas D'Oliva, by virtue of a Brief from the
Pope, by whom he was enabled.

L. C. J. Did you know his Hand ?

Mr Oates. I believe I have feen it Forty times,
I have feen Forty things under his Hand, and
this agreed with them, but I never did fee him
write in my Life; we all took it to be his Hand,
and we all knew the Hand and Seal.

L. C. J. What Infcription was upon the Seal ?

Mr. Oates. I. H. 2. with a Crofs, in Eaghjb
it had the Characters of I. H. S. This Commif-
fipn to Mr. Coleman in the Month of July, I faw
in Fenwick's Prefence, and at his Chamber in

Drury-Lane, where then Mr. Coleman did ac-
knowledge the Receipt of this Patent, opened
it, and faid, It was a very good Exchange.

L. C. J. What was the Commiflion for?
Mr. Oates. It was to be Secretary of State. I

faw the Commiflion, and heard him own the
Receipt of it.'

Jujlice Wild. What other CommilTions were
thereat Mr. Ltnghom's Chamber ?

Mr. Oates. A great many, I cannot remember,
there was a Commiflion for my Lord Arundel of
Warder, the Lord Fowls, and feveral other Per-

fons. But this belongs not to thePrifoner at the

Bar: I mention his Commiflion.,

L. C. J. Were you acquainted with Mr. Lang-
horn f

Mr. Oates. Yes, I'll tell your Lordfhip how I

was acquainted. I was in Spain, he had there

two Sons ; to fhew them fpecial Favour and
Kindneft (being meer Strangers at the College)

I did ufeto to tranfmitfome Letters for them to

the Kingdom of England'in my Pacquet. When
1 came out of Spain, I did receive Recommen-
dations from them to their Father, and in great

Civility he received me. This was in November
that I came to his Houfe. He lived in Shear-

Lane, ortheieabouts. I undertfood that his Wife
was a zealous Proteftxnt ; therefore he defircd

me not to come any more to his Houfe, but for

the future to come to his Chamber in the 'Tem-

ple.

L. C. J. Had you ever feen Mr. Langhorn in

London before ?

Mr. Oates. I never faw him till Nov. (77.) to

my Knowledge. I was feveral times in his Com-
pany at his Chamber, and he brought me there

to fhew me fome Kindnefs upon the Account of

his Sons. It was at the 'Temple, for his Wife be-

ing a Proteftant, wasnot willing any Jeiuits fhould

come to the Houfe. I was 'to carry him a fum-

mary of all the Refults and Particulars of the

Confult



670 j^.Tloe Trial of Edward Coleman Mich. 30 Car. II.

Confult at the Wbite-Horfe and Wild-Houfe. The
Provincial ordered me to doit, he knowing me,

being in that Affair often employed.

L. C. J. Was it the fecondtime you faw him,

that you faw the Commiflions ?

Mr. Oates. I faw him feveral times in the

Month of November.

L. C. J. When did you fee the Commiflions ?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of April, Old Stile;

May, New Stile.

L. C. y. How came he to fhew you the Com-
miflions ?

Mr. Oates. I hearing of their being come,

had a Curiofity to fee them, and he knew me to

be privy to the Concerns.

L. C. y. How did you know he had the Com-
miflions ?

Mr. Oates. By Letters.

L. C. y. From whom?
Mr. Oates. From thofe of the Society at Rome,

wherein one Harcourt, one of the Fathers, was

certified, that the Commiflions were come to

Langhorn, and were in his Hand. I faw the Let-

ters at St. Omers, before they came to Harcourt,

we read the Letters there before they came to

England. 1 had Power to open them.

L. C. y. Did you open the Letters ?

Mr. Oates. Yes.

L C. y. When faw you the Letters at St. 0-

viers ?

Mr. Oates. I faw the Letters at St. Omers in

the Month of yanuary ; then they came from

Rome, and after I received Summons to be at this

Confult in the Month of April j and accordingly

we came over.

L. C. y. What time did you come over ?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of April.

L. C. y. What time went you to Langborn's

Chamber? I cannot reconcile the Months toge-

ther.

yufl. Dolben. Did you not fay you came to

Langhorn in November ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, before I went to St. 0-

mers.

yuft. Wild. How many came over with you ?

Mr. Oates. I cannot tell how many came over

together; there were Nine of us, all Jefuits.

L. C. y. Did not you fay you went to Lang-

horn in November ?

Mr. Oates. That was before I went to St. O-
mers.

Att. Gen. Tell how many Priefts or Jefuits

were lately in England, that you know of, at

one time ?

Mr. Oates. There was, and have been to my
Knowledge in the Kingdom of England, Secular

Priefts Eightfcore, and Jefuits Fourfcore, and

by Name in the Catalogue, I think Three hun-

dred and odd.

L. C. y. How long had you been in England

before you were at Mr. Langborn's Chamber?
Mr. Oates. Not long •, becaufe I had Letters

in my Pacquet from his Sons, aflbon as I had

reftcd a little, I went to him.

L C. y. What faid Mr. Langhorn to you a-

bout the Commiflions in his Chamber ?

Mr. Oates. Not a Word ; but feem'd glad.

L. C. y. Did you fee them open upon his Ta-

ble? or did you ask to fee them ?

Mr. Oates. They did not lie open upon the

Table, but the Commiflions were before him ;

1 asked to fee them. Mr. Langhorn (faid I) I hear

you have received the Commiflions from Rome ;

he faid, he had. Shall I have the Honour to

fee fome of them ? He faid I might; he

thought he might truft me ; and lb he might,

becaufe that very Day I gave him an Account
of the Confult.

L. C.y. When was it you gave him an Ac-
count of the Confult ?

Mr. Oates. In the Morning.
L. C. y. You fay vou were twice there that

Day.
Mr. Oates I was there the whole Forenoon.
L.C. y. That Day you faw the Commiflions?
Mr. Oates. I had been there feveral times the

fame Day, and meeting him at laft, he asked me
how often I was there before, I faid twice or
thrice ; but that Day was the laft time I ever
faw him; I havenotfeen him fince, to my Know*
ledge.

L. C.y. Was that the firft time that you faw
him after you came from Spain?

Mr. Oates. I faw him thrice in November, then
I went to St.Omers, the firft time I faw him af-

ter I came from thence, I faw the Commiflions.
Att. Gen. What were the Names of thofe Men

that came over from St. Omers befides your
felf?

Mr. Oates. As near as I can remember, the

Rector of Liege was one ; Father Warren ; Sir

Thomas Prefion; the Re«5tor ofWatton; one Fran-
cis Williams; Sir yohn Warner Baronet; one Fa-
ther Charges; one Pool, a Monk; I think I made
the Ninth.

Alt. Gen. If the Prifoner at the Bar be minded,
he may ask him any Queftion.

Prif. I am mighty glad to fee that Gentleman
Sir Thomas Dolman in the Court, for I think he
was upon my Examination before the Council,
and this Man that gives now in Evidence againft

me, there told the King, he never faw me be-

fore ; and he is extremely well acquainted with
me now, and hath a World of Intimacy. Mr.
Oates at that time gave fuch an Account of my
Concern in this Matter, that I had Orders to go
to Newgate, I never faw Mr. Oates fince 1 was
born, but at that time.

L. C. y. You fhall have as fair a Search and

Examination in this Matter for your Life as can
be, therefore Mr. Oates anfwer to what Mr. Cole-

man faith.

Mr. Oates. My Lord, when Mr. Coleman was
upon his Examination before the Council-board,

he faith, I faid there that I never faw him be-

fore in my Life : I then faid I would not fwear

that I had feen him before in my Life, becaufe

my Sight was bad by Candle-light, and Candle-

light alters the Sight much, but when I heard

him fpeak I could have fworn it was he, but it

was not then my Bufinefs. I cannot fee a great

way by Candle-light.

L. C. y. The Screfs of the Objeftion lieth

not upon feeing fo much, but how come you

that you laid no more to Mr. Coleman's Charge
at that time ?

Air. Oates. I did defign to lay no more to his

Charge then, than was Matter for Information.

For Prifoners may fupplant Evidence whenthey
know it, and bring ferfons to fuch Circum-
ftances, as Time and Place. My Lord, I was

not bound to give in more than a general In-

formation againft Mr. Cole-man; Mr. Coleman did

deny he had Correfpondence with Father Le
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Chaife at any time, I did then fay he had given

him an Account of feveral Tranfa&ions. And
(my Lord) then was I fo weak, being up two

Nights, and having been taking Prifoners, upon

my Salvation, I could fcarce itand upon my
Legs.

L. C. J. What was the Information you gave

at that time to the Council againft Mr. Cole-

man ?

Mr. Oates. The Information I gave at that

time (as near as I can remember, but I would
not truft to my Memory) was for writing of

Mews- Letters, in which I did then excufe the

Treafonable Reflections, and called them Bafe

Reflections at the Council-board ; the King was

fenfible, and fo was the Council. I was fo

wearied and tired (being all that Afternoon be-

fore the Council, and Sunday Night, and fitting

up'Night after Night) that the King was willing

to difcharge me. But if I had been urged I

fhould have made a larger Information.

L. C. J. The thing you accufed him of was

his own Letter.

Prif. He doth not believe it was my Letter.

L. C. J. You here charge Mr. Coleman to be

the Man that gave a Guinea to expedite the

Bufinefs at Wind/or, &c. at the time when you

were Examined at the Council- Fable, you gave

a particular Account of attempting to take a-

way the King's Life at Windfor, and railing

Twenty thoufand Pounds, and all thofe great

TranfacYions ; why did you not charge Mr. Cole-

man to be the Man that gave the Guinea to

the Meffenger to expedite the Bufinefs, when
the 80 Pounds was lent ? That he found out

a way of Tranfmitting zcoooo Pounds, to carry

on the Defign ? He confulted the ki ling the

King, and approved of it very well. And of

the InftrucTions for joooo Pounds, and laid it

was too little for to Poifon the King. When
you were to give an Account to the Council of

the particular Contrivance of the Murder of

the King at Wind]or, with a Reward, you did

mention one Reward, of 10000 Pounds to Dr.

Wakeman, and would you omit the Guinea to

expedite the Meffenger, and that he faid that

10000 Pounds was too little -, would you omit
all this ?

Mr. Oates. I being fo tired and weak that I

was not able to ftand upon my Legs, and I

remember the Council apprehended me to be

fo weak that one of the Lords of the Council
faid, that if there were any Occafion further to

examine Mr. Coleman, that Mr. Oates fhould be

ready again, and bid me retire.

L. C. J. You was by when the Council were

ready to let Mr. Coleman go almoft at Urge?

Mr. Oates. No j I never apprehendtd that,

I

for if I did, I fhould have given a further A c-

1
count.

L. C. y. What was done to Mr. Coleman at

that rime ? Was he fent away Prifoner ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, at that time to the MefTen-

gcr's Houfe, and within two Days after he was

fent to Newgate, and his Papers were feized.

L. C. y. Why did you not name Coleman at

that time ?

Mr. Oates. Becaufe I had fpent a great deal of

time in accufing other Jefuits.

yufi. IVild. What time was there betwixt the

firft time you were at the Council, before you
told of this Matter concerning the King ?

Mr. Oates. When I was firfl: at the Board
(which was on Saturday Night) I made Informa-
tion, which began between Six and Seven, and
lafted almoft to Ten. I did then give a general

Account of the Affairs to the Council without
the King. Then I went and took Prifoners, and
before Sunday Night, I faid, I thought if Mr.
Coleman's Papers were fearched into, they would
find Matter enough againft. him in thofe Papers

to hang him : I fpake thofe Words, or Words
to the like Purpofe. After that Mr. Coleman's

Papers were fearched, Mr. Coleman was nor to

be found ; but he furrendred himfelf the n xt

Day. So that on Sunday I was commanded to

give his Majefty a general Information, as I had
given to the Council on Saturday 3 and the next

Day again, I took Prifoners that Night five,

and next Night four.

yuft.fi
r
ild. How long was it betwixt thetime

that you were examined, and fpoke only as to

the Letters, to that time you told to the King
and Council, or both of them, concerning this

Matier you fwcar now ?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, I never told it to the
King and Council, but I told it to the Houfes
of Parliament.

L. C. y. How long was it between the one
and the other?

Mr. Oates. I cannot tell exaftly the time* it

was when the Pailiament firft fat.

L. C. y. How came you (Mr. Coleman being

fo defperate a Man as he was, endeavouring the

killing of the King) to omit vour< Information of

it to the Council and to the King at both times?

Mr. Oates. I fpoke little of the Perfons till the

Perfons came Face to Face.

L. C. y. Why did you not accufe all thofe Je-
fuits by Name?
Mr'Oates. We took a Catalogue of their

Names, but thofe I did accufe pofitively and

exprefly we took up.

L. C. y. Did you not accufe Sir George Wake-
man by Name, and that he accepted his Re-
ward ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, then I did accufe him by
Name.

L. C. y. Why did you not accufe Mr. Coleman

by Name ?

Mr. Oates. For want of Memory} being dis-

turbed and wearied in fitting up two Nights, I

could not give that good Account of Mr. Cole-

man, which I did afterwards, when I confulted

my Papers ; and when 1 fiw Mr. Coleman was fe-

cured, I had no need to give a farther Account.

L. C.y. How long was it between the firft

charging Mr. Coleman, and your acquainting the

Parliament with it ?

Mr. Oates. From Monday the 50th of Septem-

ber, until the Parliament fat.

L. C. y. Mr. Coleman, will you ask him any

thing ?

Prif. Pray ask Mr. Oates, whether he was not

as near to me as this Gentleman is, becaufe he

fpeaks of his Eyes being bad ?

Mr. Oates. I had the Difadvantnge of a Can-

dle upon my Eyes ; Mr. Coleman flood more in

the Dark.

Prif. He names feveral times that he met with

me in this Place and that Place, a third and

fourth Place about Bufinefs.

Mr. Oates. He was altered much by his Peri-

wig in feveral Meetings, and had feveral Peri-

wigs,
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wigs, and a Periwig doth difguife a Man very

much ; but when I heard him fpeak, then I

knew him to be*Mr. Coleman.

L C. J. Did you hear him fpeak ? How were

the Questions asked? Were they thus? Was that

the Perfon? Or, how often had you feen Mr.

Coleman ?

Mr. Oates. When the Queftion was asked by

my Lord Chancellor, Mr. Coleman, when were

you lad in France? He faid at fuch a time. Did

you fee Father le Chaife ? He faid he gave him

an accidental Vifit. My Lord Chancellor asked

him whether or no he had a Pafs ? He faid, No.
Then he told him, that was a Fault for going out

of the Kingdom without a Pafs. Have you a

Kinfman whofe Name is.Playford, at St. Omers?

He faid he had one Ten Years old, (who is in

troth Sixteen) That Queftion I defired might be

asked. Then the King bade me go on.

L. C. J. Did the King, or Council, or Lord

Chancellor ask you whether you knew Mr. Cole-

man, or no ?

Mr. Oates. They did not ask me.

L. C. J. Mr. Oates, anfwer the Queftion in

fhort, and without confounding it with length.

Were you demanded if you knew Mr. Coleman?

Mr. Oates Not to my Knowledge.

L. C. y. Did you ever fee him ? or how of-

ten ?

Prif. He faid, he did not know me.

L. C. y. You feeraed, when I asked you be-

fore, to admit, as if you had been asked this

Queftion, how often you had feen him, and

gave me no Anfwer, becaufe you were doubtful

whether it was the Man, by reafon of the In-

conveniency of the Light, and your bad Sight.

Mr. Oates. I muft leave it to the King what

Anfwer I made Mr. Coleman •, he wonders I

mould give an Account of fo many Intimacies,

when I faid I did not know him at the Council-

Table.

Prif. It is very ftrange Mr. Oates mould fwear

now, that he was fo well acquainted with me,

and had been fo often in my Company, when
upon his Accufation at the Council-Table, he

faid nothing of me more than the fending of one

Letrer, which he thought was my Hand.

Mr. Oates. I did not fay that.

Prif. And he did feem to fay there, he never

faw me before in his Life.

L. C. J. Was he asked whether he was ac-

quainted with you ? (for thofe Words are to the

lame purpofe.)

Prif. I cannot anfwer dire&ly, I do not fay

he was asked if he was acquainted with me, but

I fay this, that he did declare he did not know
me.

L. C. y. Can you prove that ?

Prif. I appeal to Sir Thomas Dolman, who is

now in Court, and was then prefent at the

Council-Table.

L. C. y. Sir Thomas, you are not upon your

Oath, but are to fpeak on the behalf of the Pri-

foner : What did he fay?

Sir Tho. Dolman. That he did not well know
him.

L. C. y. Did he add, that he did not well

know him by the Candle-light ? But Mr. Oates,

when you heard his Voice, you faid you knew
him i why did you not come then, and fay you

did well know him ?

Mr. Oates. Becaufe I was not asked.

L. C. y. But, Sir Thomas, did he fay he did
not well know him after Mr. Coleman fpake ?

Was Mr. Coleman examined before Mr. Oates
fpake ?

Sir Tho. Dolman. Yes.
L. C. y. Mr. Oates, you fay you were with

him at the Savoy and Wild-Houfe, pray, Sir Tho-
mas, did he fay he did not know him, or had
feen Mr. Coleman there ?

Sir Tho. Dolman. He did not know him as he
flood there.

L. C. y. Knowing, or not knowing is not the
prefent Queftion ; but did he make an Anfwer
to the knuwing or not knowing him ?

yuft. Dolbin. Did he fay he did not well know
Mr. Coleman, or that he did not well know that
Man ?

Sir Tho. Dolman. He faid he had no Acquain-
tance with that Man (to the beft of my Remem-
brance.)

L. C. y Sir Robert Southwell, you were pre-
fent at Mr. Oates his Examination before the
Council j in what manner did he accufe Mr. Cole-

man then?

Sir Robert Southwell. The Queftion is fo par-

ticular, I cannot give the Court Satisfaction
j

but other material things then faid are now o-

mitted by Mr. Oates ; for he did declare againft

Sir George Wakeman, that Five thoufand Pounds
was added, in all Fifteen thoufand Pounds, and
that Mr. Coleman paid Five of the Fifteen to Sir

George in Hand.
L.C. y. This anfwers much of the Objection

upon him. The Court has asked Mr. Oates how
he fhould come now to charge you with all thefe

Matters of Poifoning and Killing the King, and
yet he mentioned you fo {lightly at the Council-

Table ; but it is faid by Sir Robert Southwell he

did charge you with Five thoufand Pounds (for

poifoning the King) to be added to the Ten
thoufand Pounds, and he charged you exprefly

with it at the Council-Table.

Prif. The Charge was fo flight againft me by
Mr. Oates, that the Council were not of his O-
pinion : For the flrft Order was to go to New-
gate, and Sir Robert Southwell came with Directi-

ons to the TVIeflenger not to execute the Order.,

I humbly ask whether it was a reafonable thing

to conceive that the Council fhould extenuate

the Punifhment, if Mr. Oates came with fuch an

amazing Account to the Council.

Sir Rob. South. Mr. Oates gave fo large and ge-

neral an Information to the Council, that it

could noteafily be fixed. Mr. Coleman came vo-

luntarily in upon Monday Morning. The War-
rant was fent out on Sunday Night for Mr. Cole-

man and his Papers: His Papers were found and

feized, but Mr. Coleman was not found at that

time, nor all Night, but came on Monday Morn-
ing voluntarily, and offered himfelf at Sir yo-

feph Williamfon'% Houfe, hearing there was a War-
rant againft him : By reafon of fo many Prifo-

ners that were then under Examination, he was

not heard till the Afternoon, and then he did

with great Indignation and Contempt hear thefc

vile things, as thinking himfelf innocent.

Prif. if I thought my felf Guilty, I fhould have

charged my felf: I hope his Majefty upon what
hath been faid, will be fo far fatisfied as to dis-

charge me.
Sir
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Sir Rob. South. Mr. Coleman then made fo

good a difcourfe for himfelf, that though the

Lords had filled up a blank Warrant to fend him

to Newgate, that was refpited, and he was only

committed to a Meffenger. I did fay to the

Meffenger, be very civil to Mr. Coleman, for

things are under Examination, but you mull

keep him fafely. Saith the MefTenger, pray let

me have a fpecial Warrant, that doth difpenfe

with the Warrant I had to carry him to New
''

gate, and fuch a Warrant he had. The King

went away on Tuefday Morning to New-market,

and appointed a particular Committee to exa-

mine the Papers brought of Mr. Coleman and

others.

His Papers were found in a Deal Box, and fe-

veral of thefe Papers and Declarations founded

fo llrange to the Lords, that they were amazed j

and prefently they figned a Warrant for Mr.

Coleman's going to Newgate.

L. C.J. Did Mr. Oates give a round Charge

againft Mr. Coleman?

Sir Rob. South. He had a great deal to do, he

was to repeat in the Afternoon on Sunday when

the King was prefent, all he had faid to the

Lords on Saturday.

He did fay of Mr. Coleman, that he had cor-

refponded very wickedly and bafely with the

French King's ConfefTor, and did believe if Mr.

Coleman's Papers were fearched, there would be

found in them that which would cod him his

Neck. And did declare that the Fifteen thou-

fand Pounds was accepted for the Murder of

the King, and that Five thoufand Pounds was

actually paid by Mr. Coleman to Sir George IFake-

man. But Mr. Oates at the fame time did alfo

declare that he did not fee the Money paid, he

did not fee this particular action of Sir George

IVakeman, becaufe at that time he had the Stone

and could not be prefent.

M. Oates. I was not prefent at that Confult,

where the Fifteen thoufand Pounds was accept-

ed, but I had an account of it from thofe that

were prefent.

L. C. J. It appears plainly by this Teftimo-

ny, that he did charge you Mr. Coleman home,

that Fifteen thoufand Pounds was to be paid for

poifoning the King-, and that it was generally

: faid among them (though he did not fee it paid)

that it came by your hands, viz. Five thoufand

Pounds of it, which anfwers your objection as

if he had not charged you, when you fee he did

charge you home then for being one of the

Confpirators, in having a Hand in paying of

Money for poifoning the King : He charges

you now no otherwife than in that manner : He
doth not charge you now as if there were new
things darted, but with the very Confpiracy of

having a hand in paying the Money for mur-
dering the King.

What Confutation was that you had at the

Savoy, in the Month of Augufi ?

Mr. Oates. It was about the bufinefs of the

i

four Irijh Ruffians propofed to the Confult.

'The End of Mr. Oates'* Examination.

Mr. Bedlow.

Sir Francis Winnington, Sol. Gen. We will call

him to give an account what he knows of the

Vol. II.

J
J

Prifoner's being privy to the Confpiracy of mur-
dering the King, (particularly to that). Mr. Bed-
low, pray acquaint my Lord and the Jury what
you know, I delire to know particulary as it

concerns Mr. Coleman, and nothing but Mr,
Coleman.

L. C. J. Mr. Attorney, pray keep to that

Queftion clofe.

Att. Gen. I have two fhort Queftions to ask
him : The firfb is what he hath feen or heard
touching any Commiflion to Mr. Coleman, what
fay you?

Mr. Bedlow. In particular I know not of any
Commiflion directed to Mr. Coleman, I do not
know any thing of it but what Sir Henry Titch-

bourn told me, that he had a Commiflion, and he
brought a Commiflion for Mr. Coleman and the

reft of the Lords, from the principal Jeiuits at

Rome, by Order of the Pope.

Att. Gen. A Commiflion for what?
Mr. Bedlow. To be Principal Secretary of

State : The Title of it I do not know becaufe I

did not fee it, but to be Principal Secretary of
State, that was the Effect.

Att. Gen. 1 defire to know what Difcourfe you
had with Mr. Coleman about that Defign.

Mr. Bedlow. If your Lordfhip pleafe, I fhall

be fhort in the Narrative.

L. C.J. Make ufe of your Notes to help your
Memory, but let not your Teilimonybe meiely
to read them.

Mr. Bedlow. I carried over to Monfieur Le
Chaife (the French King's ConfefTor) a large

Pacquet of Letters, April (7f) from Mr. Cole-

man, which Letters I faw Mr. Coleman deliver

to Father Harcourt, at his Houfe in Duke-
Street.

Council. And Harcourt gave them to you ?

Mr. Bedlow. Yes ; which Letters were direct-

ed to be delivered to Monfieur le Chaife, and I

did carry them to le Chaife, and brought him an
Anfwcr from le Chaife, and ether Englifh Monks
at Paris : I did not understand what was in it,

becaufe it was a Language I do not well under-

stand ; it was about carrying on the Plot ; at a

Confutation there were prefent two French Ab-
bots and feveral Englifh Monks at Paris; what F

heard them fay, was about carrying on the Plot

to fubvert the Government of England, to de-

flroy the King and the Lords of the Council.

The King was principally to be destroyed, and

the Government fubverted as well as the Prote-

flant Religion.

Court. When was this? when you were to re-

ceive the Anfwer ?

Mr. Bedlow. It was upon the Confultation

:

There was a Pacquet of Letters from Mr, Cole-

man, they did not know I understood French, or

if they did, they had tried me fo long I believe

they would have trufted me.

L. C. J. The Letter that le Chaife wrote, to

whom was it directed?

Mr. Bedlow. It was directed to Mr. Coleman,

the Pacquet was directed to Harcourt, and with-

in that le Chaife wrote an Anfwer and directed it

to Mr. Coleman, particularly to Mr. Coleman.

L. C. J. How do you know?
Mr. Bedlow. The Superfcription was this [in

French, A Monfieur Coleman] to Mr. Coleman j

with other Letters directed to Father Harcourt.

L. C. y. He faith plainly the Letter was

yours. You gave Harcourt a Pacquet of Letters

Rrrr to
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to be delivered to le Chaife, Harcourt delivered

them to him, and he did carry them to le Chaife,

and heard them talk about this Plot : That le

Chaife wrote a Letter to you (particularly by

Name) inclofed in a Letter to Harcourt, that

Anlwer he brought back.

Recorder. Do ) ou know any thing concerning

any Money Mr. Coleman faid he had received ?

the Sums, and for what?
Mr. Bedlow. It was to carry on the Defign to

fubvert the Government of England', o free Eng-

land from Damnation and Ig iorance, and free

all Catholicks from hard Tyranny ana Oppreffi-

on of Hereticks.

Att. Gen. What words did you hear Mr. Cole-

man exprefs, what he would do for the Catho-

lick Caufe ?

Mr. Bedlow. May 24, or if, (77) I was at

Mr. Coleman's with Mr. Harcourt, and received

another Pacquet from Mr. Harcourt, and he had

it from Mr. Coleman.

L.C.J. You fay Mr. Coleman did give this

Pacquet to Harcourt ?

Mr. Bedlow Yes, and Harcourt delivered ic to

me to carry it to Paris to the Eng.ifh \\anks. I

was to go by Doway to fee if they were not gone

to Paris before me.

L. C.J. And what did theyliv when you de-

livered the Letters to the hngufl-j Monks?
Mr. Bedlow. They told me how much Re-

ward I deferved from the Pope an f the Church,
both here and in the Wond to come. I over-

took three, and that Night I went to Paris with
them; and upon the Confutation (i6jj) ] be-

lieve they fent the Bifhop of Tomes the fubllance

of thofe Letters, and noL having a final Anf* er

what affiftance the Catholick Party in England

might expe£t from them, they were refolved to

neglect their Defign no longer than that Sum-
mer, having all things ready to begin in Eng-
land.

Recorder. What did you hear Mr. Coleman

fay?
Mr. Bedlow. That he would adventure any

thing to bring in the Popiih Religion: After

the Confulration, I delivered the Letters to le

Faire, and he brought them to Harcourt, he de-

livered the Pacquet of Letters to Harcourt, who
was not well, but yet went and delivered them to

Mr. Coleman, and I went as far as Mr. Coleman's

Houfe, but did not go in, but flayed over the

way •, but Harcourt went in, and after he had
fpoke with Mr. Coleman, he gave me a beck to

come to him ; and 1 heard Mr. Coleman fay, if

he had a hundred Lives, and a Sea of Blood to

carry on the Caufe, he would fpend it all to

further the Caufe of the Church of Rome, and to

eftablith the Church of Rome in England: And
if there was an hundred Heretical Kings to be
depofed, he would fee them all deflroyed.

L.C. J. Where was this?

Mr. Bedlow. At his own Houfe.

L. C. J. Where ?

Mr. Bedlow. Behind iVefiminfter Abby.
LC.J. In what Room ?

Mr. Bedlow. At the Foot of the Stair-cafe.

L. C. J. Where were you then ?

Mr. Bedlow. There, I was called in by Har-
court, and was as near to him, as to my Lord
Duras. \_My Lord being hard by Mr. Bedlow

} in

Court.~]

Prif. Did I ever fee you in my Life ?

Mr. Bedlow. You may ask that Queflion ; but
in the Stone-Gallery in Somerfet-Houfe, whenyou
came from a Conlult, where were great Per-
fons, which I am not to Name here? that would
make the bottom of your Plot tremble: You
faw me then.

Att. Gen. We did before acquaint you with
fomething of the Subflance or the Letters j wc
fhall now acquaint you with fomething of the
manner of finding them. Your Lordfhip hath
heard Mr. Oates hath been examined before the
Council, and there it was faid, Mr. Coleman's
Papers would make fuch a difcovery (if they
were looked into) as would be enough to hang
him. I remember he faid the Lords of the
Council were pleafed to order the Papers to be
feized ; the ex. cution of their Warrant they
committed to one Bradly, who was a MelTenger
that attended the King and Council j and I de-
fire he may be called : He did find and feize as

many Papers as Mr. Coleman was pleafed to leave,

and they are thole Papers which we now bring
b'ef< .re you. i he Papers feized he had put in a
Deal Box, and four or five feveral Bags, and
brin s toem to the Council; the Clerks of the
Council are here attending the Court: They
wil tell ou thefe Papers now produced were
Pa pen, fou,id in rhofe Bags : Mr. Bradly will tell

y>.-u the Papers feiz< d in the Bags and Box were
brought to them, and they will fwear they were
the r.<pers and bags that were brought.

Aecord. Mr. Bradly, give my Lord and the

Jury an Account whether ynu went to Mr. Cole-

man, whether you feized his Papers, and what
Papers you faw, and how you diipofed of them
alter they were feized.

Mr. Bradly. The 2prh of September being Sun-
day Evening at Six of the Clock, I received aW .rrant from the Councd- Board to apprehend
Mr. Coleman, and to feize his Papers, and to bring
them to the Council-Board • He being not at

home, I fpoke with his Wife, and told her I

came to learch her Houfe, I had a Warrant fo

to do. She told me I was welcome ; I defired

her to fend for her Husband : I found in feveral

parts of the Houfe a great many Papers} I put
them up in feveral Bags : I found fome in a

private corner in a Deal Box.
L. C. J. What kind of Corner ?

Mr. Bradly. In Mr. Coleman's Chamber, not
in his own Study, but in another place behind
the Chimney j the Box was tack'd together
with a Nail : I lifted it up, and faw they were
Letters, I put it down again as it was, and gave
it into the cuftody of one that was with me, to

look into it : Then I came to his own Study,
where his 'Scrutore was, and put up all I could

find in feveral Bags, and Sealed them, and

brought them to the Council-Chamber.
Att. Gen. Did you put up any other Papers

among them than what you found at Mr. Cole-

man's Houfe?
Mr. Bradly. I did not, (upon my Oath) I had

them all at Mr. Coleman's Houfe.
Att. Gen. Did you bring them all to the

Clerks of the Council ?

Mr. Bradly. Yes. Before I came out I tied

them all up, and fealed them with my own Seal,

and was conftantly with them.
Att. Gen. Now we will give your Lordfhip an

account how thefe things were received, that

were there found. Sir Robert Southwell, \ook up-

on
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'ant

vril

! on the large Letter, and tell my Lord and the

jury whether that were among the Papers

brought by this Meffenger.

Sir Robert Southwell. My Lord, I did not fee

this Letter in feveral days after the Papers

brought me from Bradly ; when he came in with

Three great Bags, and a Box of Letters on Sun-

day Night; faidl, which are Mr. Coleman's prin-

cipal Papers? Said he, thofe that are in the

(large fpeckled Cloth-Bag •, for thefe we took

firft inthe'Scrutore: Thefe I took, and medled

not with the other. 1 prefume other Clerks of

the Council can give a particular Account where

this Paper was found.

Att. Gen. Sir Thomas Dolman, look upon the

Letter whether you can remember any thing of it.

Sir 'Thomas Dolman. I remember I found it

n a Deal Box among Mr. Coleman's Papers,

;hofe that Bradly brought.

i Court. That':, plain enough.

Att. Gen. That we may not often prove what

ve lhall often make ufe of, 1 would pr< <ve it

ully once for all, that ;.ll hele Papers were of

us Hand-writing j this we can prove by two

"oris of Evidences ; his own Conlefhon, and the

Witnefs of Two Perfons ; one that was his Sv r-

ant; and th'other a Sub-Secretary, that did

rite very many things for him. Mr Boatman,

ook upon thefe Papers-, Tell my Lord and the

mry whofe Hand it is : Are you acquainted

Vith Mr. Coleman's Hand? What relation had

ou to him ?

Boatman. I was his G< ntleman that waited on

im in his Chamber Five Years: This is very

ke his Hand.

L C J. Do you believe it is his Hand?
Boatman. I believe it is.

L.C.J. Lntle proof will ferve the turn, be-

aufe they were taken in his p ffeffion.

Att. Gen. I defire to prove it fully ; look upon

U the Papers, turn all the Leaves, fee if they

e not all one Hand, and whether you believe

111 to be Mr. Coleman's Hand- writing or not ?

Boatman. \ believe it to be all his Hand.

L.C J. Do you know when the lad Pac-

ket of Letters came up, that were lent to Mr.

iolcman, from beyond the Seas ?

Boatman. Two or three days after he was ta-

;en Prifoner.

L- C. J. Do you know where they are beftow-

d? Did you receive Monfieur leChaife's Letters

or Mr. Coleman ?

I

Boatman. Yes.

L. C. 7. Did you ever write any for him to

-Chafe?
1 Boatman. No.
Att. Gen. Inform the Court whether he kept

my Book to make Entry of Letters he fent or

eceived ?

I Boatman. Yes, there was a large Book my
Vlatter did enter his Letters in, and his News.

Att. Gen. What is become of that Book?

j
Boitman. I know not.

Ait. Gen. When did you fee that Book laft,

ipon your Oath ?

Boatman. On Saturday.

; Att. Gen. How long before he was fent to

mfon?
Boatman. Two Days, becaufe the next Day

vas Sunday, when he did not make ufe of it:

)n Monday my Matter was in Pnion, and I did

lot mind the Book.
Vol. II.

L.C.J. Were there any Entries of Letters
in that Book within Two Years laft paft?

Boatman. I cannot be pofitive.

Att. Gen. Did he not ufually write and receive
Letters from beyond Sea? 'Till that time had
he not Negotiation as ufually ?

Boatman. He had ufually News every Poll
from beyond the Seas.

^
Prif. There's Letters from the Hague, Bruffels,

France and Rome; they are all with the Council,
which were all the Letters I received.

Att. Gen. We have another Witnefs : Cattaway\
are you acquainted with Mr. Coleman's Hand-
writing? Do you believe it to be his Hand-
writing?

Witnefs. I believe it is, they are his Hand-
writing.

Att. Gen. It will appear, if there were no
other Proof in this Caufe, h's own Papers are as

g ;od as an hundred Witnefles to condemn him ;

Therefore I defire to prove them fully by his

own ConfefTion.

Sir Phil Lloyd a Witnefs. Thefe arc the Pa-
pers 1 received from Sir Thomas Dolman ; I found
them (as he iaith) in a Deal B >x : Among his

Papers I found this Letter. Mr. Coleman hath
owned this was his Hand-writing •, it's all one
Letter.

Att. Gen. 'Tis all the fame Hand, and he ac-

knowledged it to be his.

Mr. Recorder. I defire Mr. Ajlrey may read ic

fo that the Jury may hear it.

Mr. Aftrey Clerk of the Crotvn reads the Letter.

The zyth of September (r 67f .) It is fubferibed

thus ; Your mofi humble and mojl obedient Servants

but no Name.

Mr. C IE MAN's Long Letter.

Since Father St German has been fo kind to

me, as to recommend me to your Reverence
fo advantageoufly, as to encourage you to ac-

cept of my Correfpondency ; 1 will own to

him, that he has done me a Favour without Con-
fulting me, greater than I could have been ca-

pable of if he had advifed with me; becaufe I

could not then have had the Confidence to have

permitted him to ask it on my behalf. And I

am fo fenfible of the Honour you are pleafed to

do me, that though I cannot deferve it ; yet to

fhew at lead the fenfe I have of it, I will deal

as freely and openly with you this firtt time,

as if I had had the honour of your Acquain-

tance all my Life; and fhall make no Apology
for fo doing, but only tell you that 1 know
your Character perfectly well, though I am
not fo happy as to know your Perfon ; and that

I have an Opportunity of putting this Letter

into the hands of Father St. German's Nephew
(for whole Integrity and Prudence he has under-

taken) without any fort of hazard.

In order then, Sir, to the Plainnefs I profefs,

I will tell you what has formerly pafTed between

your Reverence's PredecefTor, Father Ferrier^

and my felf. About three Years ago, when the

King my Matter fent a Troop of Horfe-Guards

into his moft Chriftian Majefty's Service, under

the Command of my Lord Durafs, he fent with

it an Officer called Sir William Throckmorton^

with whom I had a particular Intimacv, and

who had then very newly embrae'd the Catho-

R r r r 2, lick
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lick Religion: To him did I constantly write,

and by him addrefs my felf to Father Terrier.

The firft thing of great Importance 1 prefumed

to offer him (not to trouble you with lefTer

matters, or what patted here before, and imme-
diately after the Fatal Revocation of the King's

Declaration for Liberty of Confcience, to which
we owe all our Miferies and Hazards,) was

in July, Auguft, and September 1673, when I

conftantly inculcated the great danger Catho-

lick Religion, and bis moft Chriftian Majefty's

Intereft would be in at our next Seflions of Par-

liament, which was then to be in Oclober fol-

lowing ; at which I plainly forefaw that the

King my Maflcr would be forced to fomething

in prejudice to his Alliance with France, which
1 faw fo evidently and particularly that we
Should make Peace with Holland-, that I urged

all the Arguments I could, which to me were
Demonstrations, to convince your Court of that

mifchief j and prefs'd all I could to perfuade his

moft Chriftian Majefly to ufe his utmoft endea-

vour to prevent that Seffion of our Parliament,

and propofed Expedients how to do it : But I

was anfwered fo often and fo pofitively, that his

moft Chriftian Majefly was fo well allured by
his ArnbafTador here, our AmbafTador there, the

Lord Arlington, and even the King himfelf;

that he had no fuch apprehenfions at all, but

was fully fatisfied of the contrary, and lookt

upon what I offered as a very zealous Mif-

take, that I was forced to give over arguing,

though not believing as I did j but confidently

appealed to time and fuccefs to prove who took

their meafures righteft. When it happened
what I forefaw came to pafs, the good Father

was a little furprized, to fee all the great Men
miftaken, and a little one in the right; and was
pleafed by Sir William Throckmorton to defire

the continuance of my Correspondence, which
I was mighty willing to comply with, knowing
the Intereft of our King, and in a more parti-

cular manner of my more immediate Maftcr the

Duke, and his moft Chriftian Majefty, to be fo

infeparably united, that it was impoffible to di-

vide them, without deftroying them all: Upon
this I fhewed that our Parliament in the circum-
stances it was managed, by the timorous Coun-
felsofour Minillers, who then govern'd, would
never be ufeful either to England, France, or Ca-
tholick Religion, but that we Should as certain-

ly be forced from our Neutrality at their next

meeting, as we had been from our Active Alli-

ance with France the luft Year : That a Peace
in the Circumflances we were in, was much
more to be deSIred than the continuance of the

War ; and that the DifTolution of our Parlia-

ment would certainly procure a Peace ; for

that the Confederates did more depend upon
the Power they had in our Parliament, than

upon any thing eKe in the World; and were
more encouraged from them to the continuing

of the War; fo that if they were DifTolved,

their meafures would be all broken, and they

confequently in a manner neceffitated to a Peace.

The good Father minding this Difcourfe

fomewhat more than the Court of France

thought fit to do my former j urg'd it fo Home
to the King, that his Majefty was pleafed to

give him Orders to Signify to his R. H. my
MaSter, that his Majefty was fully fatisfied of

his R. H's good intention towards him, and

that he efteemed both their Interefts but as one

and the fame; that my Lord Arlington and the

Parliament were both to be lookt upon as very

unufeful to their Intereft: That if his R. H.

would endeavour to difTolve this Parliament, his

moft Chriftian Majefty would afliSt him with

his Power and Purfe, to have a new one as

Should be for their Purpofe. This, and a great

many more expreSfions of kindnefs and confi-

dence Father Ferrier was pleafed to communi-
cate to Sir William 'Throckmorton, and Command-
ed him to fend them to his R.H. and withal to

beg his R. H. to propofe to his moft Chriftian

Majefty, what he thought necefTary for his own
concern, and the advantage of Religion, and

his Majefty would certainly do all he could to '

advance both or either of them. This Sir Wil-
liam Throckmorton fent to me by an Exprefs, who
left Paris the zd of June 1674, Stilo novo: I

no fooner had it, but I communicated it to his 1

R. H. To which his R. H. commanded me
to anfwer, as I did on the 20th of the famei

Month: That his R. H. was very fenfible ofj

his moft Chriftian Majefty's Friendship, and that i

he would labour to cultivate it with all the good
1

Offices he was capable of doing for his Majefty j

that he was fully convinced that their Interefts

were both one, that my Lord Arlington and the

Parliament were not only unufeful, but very

dangerous both to England and France ; That
therefore it was necefTary that they Should do
all they could to DifTolve ir. And that his R.
H's opinion was, that if his moft Chriftian Ma-
jefty would write his Thoughts freely to the

King of England upon this Subject, and make
the fame Proffer to his Majefty of his Purfe to

DifTolve this Parliament, which he had made
to his R. H. to cail another, he did believe

it very poffible for him to fucceed with the

aSfiflance we Should be able to give him herej

and that if this Parliament were DifTolved, there

would be no great difficulty of getting a new
one, which would be more ufeful : The Confti-

tutions of our Parliaments being fuch, that a

new one can never hurt the Crown, nor an old

one do it good.

His R. H. being pleafed to own thefe Pro-

positions, which were but only general, I

thought it reafonable to be more particular, and

come clofer to the point, that we might go the

fafter about the work, and come to fome resolu-

tion before the time was too far fpent.

I laid this for my Maxim: The DifTolution

of our Parliament will certainly procure a Peace

;

which Proposition was granted by every body I I

converfed withal, even by Monfieur Rouvigny ;

himfelf, with whom I took liberty of difcour-

fing fo far, but durft not fay any thing of the 1

Intelligence I had with Father Ferrier. Next*
that a fum of Money certain, would certainly

procure a DifTolution j this fome doubted, but

I am fure I never did ; for I knew perfectly well

that the King had frequent Difputes with him-

felf at that time, whether he Should diSTolve or

continue them; and he fcveral times declared

that the Arguments were fo Strong on both fides,

that he could not tell to which to incline, but

was carried at laft to the continuance of them by

this one Argument : If I try them once more,

they may pofTibly give me Money ; if they do,

I have gain'd my point : if they do not, J can

diSTolve them then, and be where I am now; fo

that
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that I have a poflibility at leaft of getting Money
for their Continuance, againll nothing on the

other fide : But if we could have turn'd this Ar-

gument, and faid; Sir, their Diflblution will

certainly procure you Money, when you have

only a bare poflibility of getting any by their

Continuance, and have fhewn how far that

bare poflibility was from being a foundation to

build any reafonable hope upon, which I am
fure his Majefty was fenfible of; and how much
200000 /. Sterl. certain (which was the Sum we
propos'd) was better than a bare poflibility

(without any reafon to hope that that could e-

ver be compafTed) of having half fo much more
(which was the mod he defigned to ask) upon
fome vile difhonourable terms, and a thoufand

other hazards, which he had great reafon to be

afraid of: If, I fay, we had power to have argu-

ed this, I am molt confidently affured we could

have compafTed it, for Logick in our Court

built upon Money, has more powerful Charms
than any other fort of reafoning. But to fecure

his moft Chriftian Majefty from any hazard, as

to that point, I propos'd his Majefty fhould offer

that fum upon that condition, and if the condi

tion were not performed, the Money fhould ne-

ver be due ; if it were, and that a Peace would
certainly follow thereupon, (which no body

doubted) his Majefty would gain his Ends, and

fave all the vaft Expences of the next Campaign,

by which he could not hope to better his Con-
dition, or put himl'elf into m >re advantagious

Circumftances of Treaty than he was then in ;

but might very probably be in a much worfe,

confidering the mights oppofition he was like to

meet with, and die uncertain C hances of War.
But admitting that his Majefty could by his

great Strength and Conduct maintain himfelf in

as good a Condition to Treat the next year as

Ihe
was then in ; (which was as much as could

then reafonably be hoped for) he fhould have

faved by this Propofail ns much as all the Men
he muft needs lofe, and all the charges he fhould

I

be at in a year, would be valued to amount to

more than 500000/. Sterl. and fo much more in

cafe his Condition fhould decay, as it fhould be

I worfe than it was when this was made ; and the

Condition of his R H. and of the Catholick Re-
I ligion here (which depends very much upon
the fuccefs of His moft Chriftian Majefty,J de-

livered from a great many frights and real hazards.

F. Ferrier feetn'd to be very fenfible of the Be-

nefit all parties would gain by this Propofal;

But yet it was unfortunately delay'd by an un-

happy and tedious fit of ficknefs, which kept
' him fo long from the King in the Franche Compte,

and made him fo unable to wait on his Majefty

I

after he did return to Paris : But fo foon as he

1 could compafs it, he waspleafed to acquaint his

Majefty with it, and wrote to the Duke him-
felf; and did me the Honour to write unto me
alfo on the ifthof September 1674, and fent his

Letter by Sir William 'Throckmorton, who came
exprefs upon that Errand; In thefe Letters he
gave his R. H. frefh aflurance of his moft Chri-

ftian Majefty's fnendfhip, and of his Zeal and

Readinefs to comply with every thing His R. H.
had, or fhould think fit to propofe in favour of

Religion, or the bulinefs of Money; And that he

had commanded Monjieur Rowvigny as to the lat-

ter, to Treat and deal with his R. H. and to

receive and obferve his Orders and Directions,

but defired that he might not at all be concerned
as to the former, but that his R. H. would caufe

what Propofition he fhould think fit to be made
about Religion, to be offered either to Father
Ferrier, or Monfieur Pompom.

Thefe Letters came to us about the middle of
September, and his R. H. expected daily when
Monfieur Rowvigny fhould fpeak to him about
the Subject of that Letter; but he took no no-
tice at all of any thing till the 29th of September,
the evening before the King and Duke went to

Newmarket for a fortnight, and then only faid,

that he had Commands from his Mafter to give

his R. H. the moft firm aflurance of his Friend-
fhip imaginable, or fomething to that purpofe,
making his R. H. a general Complimenr, but
made no mention of any particular Orders rela-

ting to Father Ferrier's Letter. The Duke
wondering at this proceeding, and being ob-
liged to ftay a good part of Oclobcrat Ncivmar-
ketj and foon after his coming back, hearing
of the Death of Father Ferrier, he gave over all

further prefecuting of the former Project. But
I believe I faw Monfieur Rouvigny's policy all a-

long, who was willing to fave his Matter's Mo-
ney, upon aflurance that we would do all we
could to ttave off the Parliament for our own
fakes, that we would ftruggle as hard without
money as with it; and we having by that time,
upon our own Intereft, prevailed to get the
Parliament prorogued to the 13th of April, he
thought thar Prorogation being to a Dayfo high
in the Spring, would put the Confederates fo

far beyond their Meafures, as that it might pro-
cure a Peace, and be as ufeful to France, as a

Diflblution: upon thefe Reafons 1 fuppofe he
went. 1 had feveral difcourfes with him ; and
did open my felf fo far to him as to fay, I could

wifh his Mafter would give us leave to offer to our
Matter 300000/. for the Difiblucion of the Par-

liament ; and fhewed him that a Peace would moft
certainly follow a Diflblution (which he agreed

with me in) and that we defir'd not the Money
from his Matter to excite our wills, or to make
us more induftrious to ufe our urmott powers to

procure a Diflblution, but to ftrcngthen our
Power and Credit with the King, and to render

us more capable to fucceed with his Majefty, as

molt certainly we fhould have done, had we been

fortified with fuch an Argument.
To this Purpofe I preis'd Monfieur Pompone

frequently by Sir William Throckmorton, who re-

turned hence again into France on the 10th of

November, the day our Parliament fhould have

met, but was Prorogued. Monfieur Pompone
(as I was informed by Sir William) did feem to

approve the thing; but yet had Two Objecti-

ons againft it : Firft, That the Sum we propo-

fed, was Great ; and could be very ill fpared in

the circumftances his Moft Chriftian Majefty was

in. To which we Anfwered, That if by his

Expending that Sum, he could procure a Diflb-

lution of our Parliament, and thereby a Peace,

which every Body agreed would neceflarily fol-

low ; his Moft Chriftian Majefty would gain his

Ends, and lave Five or 1 en Times a greater

Sum, and fo be a good Husband by his Ex-

pence; and if we did not procure a Diflblution,

he ihould not be at that Expence at all; for

that we defired him only to promife upon that

Condition, which we were content to be Ob-
liged to perform firft. The Second Objection

was,
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was, The Duke did not move, nor appear in it

himfelf. To that we Anfwered, That he did

not indeed to Monfieur Pompone, becaufe he had

found fo ill an effect of the Negotiation with Fa-

ther Ferrier, when it came into Monfieur Rou-

vigny's hands j but that he had concerned him-

felf in it, to Father Ferrier.

-Yet I continued to profecute and prefs the

Diffolution of the Parliament, detefling all Pro-

rogations as only fo much lofs of time, and a

means of ftrengthning all thofe who depend up-

on it in Oppofition to the Crown, the Intereft

of France and Catbolick Religion, in the Opinion

they had taken. That our King durft not part

with his Parliament ; apprehending that another

would be much Worfe. Secondly, That he could

not live long without a Parliament, therefore

they mull fuddenly meet; and the longer he
kept them off, the greater his NecefJity would
grow -, and confequently their Power to make
him do what they lifted, would increafe accor-

dingly : And therefore, if they could but main-

tain themfelves a while, the day would certainly

come in a fhort time, in which they fhould be

able to work their Wills. Such Difcourfes as

thefe kept the Confederates and our Male- Contents

in Heart, and made them weather on the War
in fpite of all our Prorogations : Therefore I

prefs'd (as I have faid) a Diffolution until Fe-

bruary laft, when our Circumfiances were fo to-

tally Changed., that we were forced to change

our Counfels too, and be as much for the Parlia-

ment's Sitting, as we were before againft it.

Our Change was thus , Before that time, the

Lord Arlington was the only Minifter in Credit,

who thought himfelf out of all danger of the

Parliament ; he having been Accufed before them
and Juilified, and therefore was Zealous for their

fitting; and to increafe his Reputation with

them, and to become a perfe£t Favourite, he
fets himfelf all he could to perfecute the Ca-

tbolick Religion, and to oppoie the French : To
{hew his Zeal againft the firft, he revived fome
old dormant Orders for prohibiting Roman Ca-

tholicks to appear before the King, and put them
in Execution at his firft. coming into his Office

of Lord Chamberlain : And to make fure work
with the fecond, as he thought ; prevailed with

the King to give him and the Earl of Offory,

(who married two Sifters of Myne Heere Odyke's)

leave to go over into Holland v ith the faid Heere.,

to make a Vifit, as they pretended, to their Re-
lations ; But indeed, and in truth, to propofe

the Lady Mary (Eideft Daughter of his R. H.)

as a Match tor the Prince of Orange ; not only

without the confent, but againft the good liking

of his R. H: Infomuch, that the Lord Arling-

ton\ Creatures were forced to excufe him, with

a DiftincTrion, that the faid Lady was not to be

looked upon as the Duke's Daughter, but as the

King's, and a Child of the State was, and fo the

Duke's Confent not much to be confidered in

the difpofal of her, but only the Intereft of State.

By this he intended to render himfelf the Dar-

ling of Parliament and Pro teHants, who look'd

upon themfelves as fecured in their Religion by

fuch an Alliance, and defigned further to draw

us imo a clofe Conjunction with Holland, and

the Enemies of France. The Lord Arlington fet

forth upon this Errand the ioth of November

1674, and returned not till the 6th of January

following-, During his abfence, the L.Treafu-

rer, L. Keeper, and the Duke of Lauderdale, who
were the only Mimflers of any confiderable Credit

with the King, and who all pretended to be en-

tirely United to the Duke, declaimed Loudly,
and with great Violence, againft the faid Lord,
and his Actions in Holland; and did hope, in his

abfence, to have totally fupplanted him, and to

have routed him out of the King's Favour; and
after that, thought they might eafily enough
have dealt with the Parliament. But none of
them had Courage enough to fpeak againft the

Parliament, till they could get rid of him; for

fear they fhould not fucceed, and that the Par-

liament would Sit in fpite of them, and come
to hear that they had ufed their endeavours a-

gainft it; which would have been fo Unpardo-
nable a Crime with our Omnipotent Parliament,

that no Power could have been able to have faved

them from Punijhment : But they finding at his

Return, that they could not prevail againft him,
by fuch Means and Arts as they had then tried,

refoived upon New Counfels; which were to out-

run him in his own Courfe ; which accordingly

they undertook, and became as fierce Apoftles,

and as zealous for Proteflant Religion, and againft

Popery, as ever my L. Arlington had been before

them ; and in pursuance thereof, perfuaded the

King to iffue out thofe fevere Ordtrs and Procla-

mations againft Catholicks, which came out in Fe-

bruary laft ; by which, they did as much as in

them lay, to extirpate all Catholicks, and Catho-

lick Religion, out of the Kingdom ; which Coun-
fels were in my poor opinion fo Deteftable, be-

ing levelled (as they muft needs be) fo dire&ly

againft the Duke, by People which he had Ad-

vanced, and who had profeffed fo much Duty
and Service to him, that we were put upon new
Thoughts how to fave his R.H. now from the

Deceits and Snares of thofe Men, upon whom
we formerly depended. We faw well enough,

that their defign was to make themfelves as

grateful as they could to the Parliament, if it

muft Sit; they thinking nothing fo acceptable

to them, as the perfecution of Popery ; and yet

they were fo obnoxious to the Parliament's dif-

pleafure in general, that they would have been

glad of any Expedient to have kept it off} -

though they durft not engage againft it openly

themfelves, but thought this Device of theirs

might ferve for their purpofes, hoping the Duke
would be fo alarm'd at their proceedings, and

by his being left by every Body, that he would

be much more afraid of the Parliament than

ever, and would ufe his utmoft Power to pre-

vent its Sitting: which they doubted not but

he would endeavour; and they were ready e-

nough to work underhand too for him (for their

own fakes, not his) in order thereunto, but

durft not appeir openly; and to encourage the

Duke the more to endeavour the Diffolution of

the Parliament, their Creatures ufed to fay up

and down, That this .Rigour againft the Catho-

licks was in favour of the Duke, and to make

a Diffolution of the Parliament more eafy, (which

they knew he covetedj by obviating one great

Objeclion which was commonly made againft it,

which was, That if the Parliament fhould be

Diffolved, it would be faid, That it was done in

favour of Popery; which Clamour they had pre-

vented beforehand by the Severity they had uled

againft it.

As foon as we faw thefe Tricks put upon us,

we
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we plainly faw what Men we had to deal withal,

and what we had to trult to, if we were

wholly at their Mercy : But yet durft not feern

fo diffatisficd as we really were, but rather mag-

nified the Contrivance, as a Device of great

Cunning and Skill : All this we did purely ro

hold them in a belief, that we would endeavour

to Diflblve the Parliament, and that they might

jrely upon his R H for that which we knew
ithey long'd for, and were afraid they might do

•fome other way, if they difcovered that we were

refolved we w^uld not: At length when we
faw the Sefiions f. cured, we declared, that we
jwere for the Parliament's meeting ; as indeed we

were/rom ihe moment we law our felves handled

by all the King's Minillers at fuch a rate that we
had Reafon to believe they would facrifice France,

'Religion, and his R. II. too, to their own Inte-

feft, if occafion ferved •, and that they were led

to believe, that that was the only way they had

;to favethemfelves at that time: For we faw no

Expedient fit to Hop them in their Career of

oeriecution, and thole other deftructi< eCountels,

but the Parliament} which had fet it felf a Is ng

:ime to diflike every thing the Minifters had

lone, and had appeared violently againft Popery,

whilft the Court f.emed to favour it ; and there-

fore we were confident, that the Minifters hav-

ing turn'd their Faces, the Parliament would

ilo f > too, and ftill be againft them ; and be as

ittle for Persecution then, as they hud been for

'Popery before. This I undertook to manage for

'he Duke and the King of France's Intereft; and

[fibred Monfieur Rouvigny (which 1 am lure he

jvill teftify, if occafion ferves) that that Sefiions

hould do neither of them any hurt; for that I

vas fure I had Power enough to prevent mif-

hief, though I durft not engage for any good

hey w >uid do ; becaufe I had but very few t\(-

iftances to crry on the work, and wanted thofe

>elps, which others had, of making Friends:

The Dutch and Spaniard fpared no pains or ex-

ence of Money to animate as many as they could

gainft France ; Our Lord Treafurer, Lord Keep-

f,
all the Bijhnps, and fuch as call'd themielves

)ld Cavaliers, (who were all then as one Man)
irere not lefs induftrious againft Popery, and had

he Purfe at their Girdle too; which is an Ex-
cellent Inftrument to gain Friends with ; and all

Jnited againft the Duke, as Patron both of

hance and Catholick Religion. To deal with all

his Force, we had no Money, but what came
om a few private Hands ; and thofe fo mean
nes too, thar 1 dare venture to fay, that I fpent

lore my particular felf out of my own Fortune,

nd upon my (ingle Credit, than all the whole
ody of Cathoticks in England befides ; which
[as fo inconfiderab'e, in comparifon of what

ur Adversaries commanded, and we verily be-

>eve did bellow in making their Party, that it

: not worth mentioning: Yet notwithftanding

1 this, we faw that by the help of the Non-
mformifts, as Presbyterians, Independents, and

ther Seels, (who were as much afraid of Per-

cution as our felves) and of the Enemies of

le Minifters, and particularly of the Treafurer;

'ho by that time had fupplan ed the Earl ofAr-

fgton, and was grown fole Manager of all Af-

irs hitnfelf, we fhould be very able to prevent

'ihat they defigned againft us, and fo render the

Jpflions ineffectual to their Ends, though we
ijight not be able to compafs our own; which

were, to make fome brisk ftep in Favour of his

R. H. to fhew the King, that his Majefty's Af-
fairs in Parliament were not Obftructed, by
reafon of any Averfion they had to his R. H's
Perfon, or Apprehenfions they had of him, or

his Religion ; but from Faction and Ambition in

fome, and from a real Diffatisfaclion in others,

that we have not h'd fuch fruits and good Ef-
fects of thofe great fums of Money which have
been formerly given as was expected. If we
could then have made but one fuch ftep, the King
would certainly have reftored his R. II. to all his

Commiffions j up n which he would have been

much greater than ever yet he was in his whole
Life, or could probably ever have been by any
other Courfe in the World, than what he had
taken of becoming Catholick, &c. And we were
fo very near gaining this Poim, that I did hum-
bly beg his R. PL to give me leave to put the

Parliament upon maku.g an Addrefs to the King*
that his Majefty would be pleufed to put the

Fleet into th Hands of his R. II. as the only

Perfon likely to have a good Account of fo im«

portant a Charge as that wa> to the Kingdom %

and ihewed \\\,R.H. fuch Keafons to peifuide

him that we could carry it, that he agreed with
me in it, that he believed we could. Yet others

telling him how great a Damage it would be to

him, if he mould mifs in fuc% an Undertaking
(which for m\ part I cou^d not then fee, nor do

I yet) he was prevailed upon not to venture,

though he wa p< riuaded he could carry it. I

did cotnmunica e this Defign of mine to Mon-
fieur Rouvigny, who agreed with me, that it

would be the greateft . dvantage, imaginable to

his Mailer, to have the Duke's Power and Cre-

dit fo far advanced as this would certainly do, if

we could compafs it: I fhewed him all the Dif-

ficulty we weie like to meet with, and what

helps we fhould have; but that we fhoulJ wane

one very material one, Money, to carry on the

Work as we ought ; and therefore I do confefs,

I did fhamefully beg hs Mailer's Help, and

would wi lingly have been in everlailing Dif-

grace with all the World, if I had not with that

Aflittance of twenty 1 houfand Pound Sterling,

(which perhaps is not the tenth part of whan

was fpent on the other fide) made it evident to

the Duke, that r.e could not have miffed ir.

Monfieur Rouvigny uled to tell me, Th;t if he

couid be fure of fucceeding in that Defign, his

Mailer would give a very much larger Sum ; bun

thar he was not m a Condition to throw away

Money upon Uncertainties. lanfwered, That no-

thing of that nature could be fo infallibly fure,

as not to be fubject to fome Poflibil.ties of fail-

ing ; but that I durft venture to undertake to

make it evident, that there was as great an af-

furance of fucceeding in it, as any Husbandman

can have of a Crop in Harvefl, who fows his

Ground in its due Seafon ; and yet it would be

counted a very imprudent piece of warinefs in

any body, ro feruple ^he venturing fo much Seed

in its proper time, becauie it is poflible it may

be totally loft, and no benefit of it found in

Harveftj he that minds the Winds and the

Rams at that rate, fhall neither Sow nor Reap.

I take our Cafe to be much the fame as it was

thelaft SeiTims: If we can advance the Duke's

Intercft on. ftep forward, we fhall put him out

ot the roach ot Chance for ever* for he makes

fuch a Figure aheady, that Cautious Men do
not
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not care to a£t againft him, nor always without

him, becaufe they do not fee that he is much
outpowered by his Enemies } yet is he not at

fuch a Pitch, as to be quite out of danger, or

free from Oppofition : But if he could gain any

confiderable new addition of Power, all would

come over to him as to the only fteddy Center

of our Government, and no Body would con-

tend with him further. Then would Catholicks

be at Reft, and his Mofi Chnfiian Majefifs In-

tereft fecured with us in England beyond all

apprehenfions whatfoever.

In order to this, we have two great Defigns

to Attempt this next Seffions. Firft, that

which we were about before, viz. To put

the Parliament upon making it their humble

Requeft to the King, that the Fleet may be

put into his R. H's Care. Secondly, to get an

A6t for general Liberty of Confcience. If we
carry thefe two, or either of them, we ftiall

in effecl do what we lift afterwards ; and truly,

we think we do not undertake thefe great

Points very unreafonably, but that we have

good Cards for our Game •, Not but that we
expe£t great Oppofition, and have great rea-

fon to beg all the Afliftance we can pofribly get

;

and therefore, if his Mofi Chrijlian Majefiy

would ftund by us a little in this Conjuncture,

and help us with*fuch a fum as 20000 Pound

Sterling (which is no very great matter to ven-

ture upon fuch an undertaking as this) I would

be content to be Sacrificed to the utmoft Ma-

lice of my Enemies, if I did not Succeed. I

have propofed This feveral times to Mon-
fieur Rouvigny, who feemed always of my O-
pinion ; and has often told me, that he has

writ into France upon this Subject, and has

defired me to do the like: But I know not

whether he will be as Zealous in that point

as a Catholick would be ; becaufe our prevailing

in thefe things would give the greateft Blow

to the Protefiant Religion here, that ever it re-

ceived fince its Birth; which perhaps he would

not be very glad to fee; efpecially when he

believes there is another way of doing his Ma-
iler's Bufinefs well enough without it* which is

by a Difibluiion of the Parliament j upon which

I know he mightily depends, and concludes,

that if that comes to be Diffolvcd, it will be as

much as he needs care for ; proceeding perhaps'

upon the fame manner of Difcourfe which we
had this time twelve Months. But with fub-

miflion to his better Judgment, I do think

that our Cafe is extremely much altered to

what it was, in Relation to a Dijfolution ; for

then the Body of our Governing Minifters (all

but the Earl of Arlington) were entirely United

to the Duke-, and would have Governed his

Way, if they had been free from all Fear and

Controul, as they had been, if the Parliament

had been Removed. But they having fince

that time Engaged in quite different Counfels,

and Embarked themfelves and Interefts upon
other Bottoms, having declared themfelves a-

gainft Popery, &c. To Diflblve the Parliament

limply, and without any other ftep made, will

be to leave them to Govern what way they lift,

which we have Reafon to fufpecT: will be to

the prejudice of France and Catholick Religion.

And their late Declarations and Actions have De-
monftrated to us, that they take that for the

molt Popular way for themfelves, and likelieft

to keep them in abfolute Power} whereas, if

the Duke mould once get above them (after the

Tricks they have plaid with him) they are not

fure he will Totally forget the Ufage he has

had at their hands: Therefore it Imports us

now to Advance our Intereft a little further,

by fome fuch Project as I have named, before

we Dijfolve the Parliament ; Or elfe perhaps,

we fhall but Change Mafters (a Parliament for

Minifters) and continue ftill in the fame Slavery

and Bondage as before. But one fuch ftep as I

have propofed, being well made, we may
fafely fee them Dijfolved, and not fear the Mini-
fters ; but (hall be Eftablifhed, and ftand Firm
without any Oppofition j for every Body will

then come over to us, and worlhip the Riling
Sun.

I have here given you the Hiftory of three
Years, as fhort as I could, though I am afraid

it will feem very long and troublefome to your
Reverence^ among the multitude of Affairs you
are concern'd in : I have alfo fhewn you the

prefent State of our Cafe, which may (by God's
Providence, and good Conduct) be made ot

fuch advantage to God's Church •, that for my
part, I can fcarce believe my fclf awake, or

the thing real, when I think on a Prince in fuch

an age as we live in, converted to fuch a De-
gree of Zeal and Piety, as not to regard any

thing in the World in Comparifon of God Al-

mighty's Glory, the Salvation of his own Soul,

and the Converfion of our poor Kingdom;
which has been a long time oppreft, and mi-

ferably harrafs'd with Herefy and Schifm. I doubt

not but your Reverence will conflder our Cafe,

and take it to heart, and afford us what help

you can ; both with the King of Heaven, by
your holy Prayers, and with his Moft Chrijlian

Majefiy, by that great Credit which you moft

juftly have with him. And if ever his Ma-
jefty's affairs (or your own) can want the

Service of fo inconfiderable a Creature as my
felf, you fhall never find any Body readier to

obey your Commands, or faithfuller in the

Execution of them, to the bell of his Power,

than

Tour mofi Humhle and

Obedient Servant.

Att. Gen. That I may make things clear, as

much as pofliblej you fee, Here's a Letter pre-

pared to be fent, writ with Mr. Colemarfs own
hand, to Monfieur Le Chaife: This Letter bears

date the twenty ninth of September. We have

an Anfwcr to it from Paris, October twenty third,

whereby Monfieur Le Chaife owns the receipt

of this; And in this Anfwer is expreft Thanks
to Mr. Coleman for his long Letter. Sir Robert^

Pray tell how you came by this Letter.

%\r Rob. Southwell. I found this Letter in Mr.

Coleman's Canvas Bag } after we had once look-

ed over the Letters, we found it: Sir Philip

Lloyd Examined it ; And we looked over thole

Papers very cxa£lly : Becaufe the Houfe ofCom-
mons were very much concern'd, and thought

thofe Papers were not thoroughly Examined, I

reviewed them again. This Letter was found

on Sunday following after the Papers were

feized.

Att.
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Att. Gen. Sir Rob. Southwell, I pray read the

Letter in French firft to the Court. Sir Rob.
having read the Letter in French, Mr. Attorney
defired him to read it in Englijh. Sir Rob. read

it in Englijh ; The Letter was dated Paris, twen-
ty third Oclober 167f. And fubfcribed, Tour mofl
humble and obedient Servant, D. L. C. at the bot-

tom.

The LETTER.
From PARIS, 23 Oclober i6jf.

S I R,

TH E Letter which yougave your/elf the trouble

to write to me, came to my Hands but the lafi

Night. I read it with great fatisfaction \ and I of-

ftire you, that its length did not make it feem tedious.

JJhould be very glad on my part to ajffift in feconding

your good Intentions j / will confider of the Means to

effecl it } and when I am better informed than I am
as yet, I will give you an Account : To the end 1

may hold Intelligence with you, as you did with my
Predecejfor. I defire you to believe that I will never

fail as to my good Will, for the fervice of your Ma'
\fter, whom 1 honour as much as he deferves j and

ithat it is with great truth that I am

Your mofl Humble and

mofl Obedient Servant

D. L. C.

Att. Gen. We made mention of a Declarati-

on : By his long Narrative it plainly appeats,

hat Mr. Coleman would have had another Parlia-

ment. And the reafon why he was pleafed to

publifh a Declaration, was, thereby to fhew the

Reafons for its Diflblution. Sir Philip Lloyd,

did you find this Writing among Mr. Coleman's

^apers ?

Sir P. L. I did find it among his Papers.

Att. Gen. Pray read the Declaration.

Clerk of the Crown reads the Declaration.

The Declaration which Mr. Coleman

prepared, thereby Jhewing his Rea-

fons for the Dijfolution of the Par-

liament.

WE having taken into our Serious Confide-

ration the heats and animofities which
have of late appeared among many of our very

Loyal and Loving Subjects of this Kingdom,
and the many fears and jealoufies which fome of

them feem to lie under, of having their Liber-

ties and Properties invaded, or their Religion

altered ; and withal, carefully reflecting upon
our own Government fince our happy Reftau-

ration, and the end and aim of it, which has

always been the eafe and fecurity of our People

in all their Rights, and Advancement of the

Beauty and Splendour of the true Proteftant Re-
ligion eftablifhed in the Church of England',

of both which we have given moft fignal Te-
stimonies, even to the ftripping our Self of ma-
ny Royal Prerogatives which our Predeceflbrs

Vol. II.
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enjoyed, and were our undoubted due ; as the
Court of Wards, Purveyances, and other things
of great value ; and denying to our felf many
advantages, which we might reafonably and le-
gally have taken by the Forfeitures made in the
times of Rebellion, and the grear Revenues due
to the Church at our Return, which no parti-
cular Perfon had any right to: Inftead of
which, we confented to an Act of Oblivion of
all thofe Barbarous Ufages which our Royal Fa-
ther and our Self had met withal, much more
full and gracious than almoft any of our Sub-
jects, who were generally become in fome
meafure or other obnoxious to the Laws, had
confidence to ask ; and freely renounced all
our Title to the Profit which we might have
made by the Church-Lands, in favour of our
Biftiops and other Ecclefiaftical Minifters, out
of our Zeal to the Glory of our Proteftant
Churchj which Clemency towards all, and
fome even high Offenders, and Zeal for Religi-
on, we have to this Day conftantly continued
to exercife. Confidering all this, we cannot
but be fenfibly afflicted to fee, that the fro-
wardnefs of fome few Tumultuous heads ihould
be able to infect our Loyal and Good People
with apprehenfions deftructive of their own,
and the general quiet of our Kingdom -, and
more efpecially, their perverfenefs fhould be
powerful enough to diitract our very Parlia-
ment, and fuch a Parliament, as has given us
fuch Teftimonies of its Loyalty, Wifdom, and
Bounty, and to which we have given as many
Marks of our Affection and Efteem, fo as to
make them mis-conftrue all our endeavours for

to preferve our People in eafe and profperity,

and againft all reafon and evidence to reprefent

them to our Subjects as Arguments of fear and
difquiet ; and under thefe fpecicus pretences of
fecuring Property and Religion, to demand un-
reasonable things, manifeftly deftructive of what
they would be thought to aim at ; and from our
frequent Condefcenfions, out of our meer Grace,
to grant them what we conceived might give
them fatisfaction, though to the actual prejudice

of our Royal Prerogative, to make them pre-

fume to propofe to advance fuch extravagancies

into Laws, as they themfelves have formerly de-

clared deteflable j of which we cannot forbear

to give our truly Loyal Subjects fome inftances,

to undeceive our innocent and well-minded
People, who have many of them of late been
too eafily mis-led, by the factious endeavours of

fome turbulent Spirits. For example, we hav-

ing judged it necefTary to declare War againft the

States of Holland, during a recefs of Parliament,

which we could not defer longer, without lofing

an advantage which then prefented itfelf, nor

have done fooner, without expofing our Ho-
nour to a potent Enemy without due prepa-

ration, we thought it prudent to unite all our

Subjects at home, and did believe a gene-

ral Indulgence of tender Confciences the moft

proper expedient to effect it ; and therefore

did by our Authority in Ecclefiafticks, which
we thought fufficient to warrant what we did,

fufpend penal Laws againft DifTenters in Reli-

gion, upon Conditions exprefled in our De-
claration, out of Reafon of State, as well as

to gratify our own nature, which always, we
confefs, abhorr'd rigour, efpecially in Religion,

when tendernefs might be as ufefuh After we
S s s s had
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had engaged in the War, we Prorogued our Par-

liament from April to Oclober, being confident

we fhould be able by that time to fhew our Peo-

ple fuch Succefs of our Arms, as fhould make

them cheerfully contribute to our Charge. At

O&ober we could have Shewn them Succefs even

beyond our own Hopes, or what they could

poffibly expect ; our Enemies having loft by that

time, near 100 ftrong Towns and Forts, taken

in effect by us, we holding them bufy at Sea,

whilft our Allies poffeSTed themfelves of their

Lands, with little or no Refiftance; and of

which, the great Advantage would moft vifibly

have been ours, had not the Feuds we now
complain of, which have been flnce unhappily

ftarted, and factiouSly improved by fome few,

dif-united our People, diftracted our Councils,

and render'd our late Endeavours vain and fruit-

lefs j fo that we had no reafon to doubt of our

People's ready and liberal Concurrence to our Af-

fiftance in that Conjuncture. Yet our Enemies

proposing to us at that time a Treaty for Peace,

which we were always ready to accept upon Ho-
nourable Terms j and considering with ourfelf,

that in cafe that Treaty fucceeded, a far lefs Sum
of Money would ferve our Occafions, than o-

therwife would be neceffary : We, out ofour ten-

der Regard to the Eafe of our People, prorogued

our Parliament again to February, to attend the

Succefs of our Treaty, rather than to demand
fo much Money in OElober^ as would be fit to

carry on the War. But we foon finding that

our Enemies did not intend us any juft Satisfa-

ction, faw a Neceffity of profecuting the War,
which we defignedtodo moft vigorously; and

in order to ir, refolv'd to prefs our Parliament to

fupply us as Speedily as may be, to enable us to put

our Fleet to Sea early in the Spring, which would

after their meeting grow on apace. And being

informed that many Members were dead during

the long Recefs, we IfTued out our Writs for

new Elections, that our Houfe of Commons
might be full at the firft Opening of the SeSfions,

to prevent any Delay in our Publick Affairs, or

Diflike in our People, as might poffibly have
rifen from the want of fo great a Number of
their Reprefentatives, if any thing of Moment
fhould be concluded before it had been fupplied.

Having govern'd our Actions all along with
fuch careful Refpectto the Eafe of our Subjects,

we at the Meeting ofour Parliament in February^

1672, expected from them fome fuitable Expref-

fions of their Senfe of our Favours ; but quite

contrary, found our Self alarm'd with clamorous
Complaints from feveral Cabals againft all our
Proceedings, frighting many of our good Sub-
jects into ftrange Conceits of what they muft
look for, by their feditiousand falfe Constructions

of what we had fo candidly and fincerely done
for their Good ; and furprifed with a Vote of
our Houfe of Commons, againft our Writs of
Elections, which we intended for their Satisfa-

ctions, againft many Precedents ofours, or with-

out any colour of Law of their Side, denying
our Power to Iflue out fuch Writs, Addreffing

to us to IlTue out others : Which wc confenttd

to do at their Requeft, choofing rather to yield

to our Subjects in that Point, than to be forced

to fubmitto our Enemies in others} hoping that

our Parliament being fenfibly touched with that

our extraordinary Condefcenfion, would go on
fo confider the Publick Concern of the King-

dom, without any further to do: But we found
another Ufe made of our fo eafy Compliance,
which ferv'd to encourage them to ask more ; fo

that foon afrer we found our Declaration for In-

dulging tender Confciences Arraigned, Voted Il-

legal > though we cannot to this Day underftand
the Confiftencies of that Vote, with our un-
doubted Supremacy in all Ecclefiafticks, recog-
nized by fo many Acts of Parliament, and requi-

red to be Sworn to by all our Subjects, and Ad-
dreffes made to us one after another to recal it,

which we condefcended to alfo j from hence they
proceeded to Us to weaken our Self in an Actu-
al War, and to render many of our Subjects, o?
whofe Loyalty and Ability we were well Satisfied,

incapable to ferve Us, when we wanted Officers
and Soldiers, and had reafon to invite as many
experienced Men as we could to engage in our
Arms, rather than to incapacitate or difcourage
any ; yet this alfo we gratified them in, to gain
their Affiftance againft our Enemies, who grew
high by thefe our Differences, rather than expofc
our Country to their Power and Fury ; hoping
that in time our People would be confounded to

fee our Conceffions, and be afhamed of their Er-
rors in making fuch Demands. But finding the

unfortunate Effects of our Divifions the follow-

ing Summer, We found our Parliament more
extravagant at the next Meeting than ever, ad-

dreffing to us to hinder the Confummation ofour
Dear Brother's Marriage, contrary to the Law
of God, which forbiddeth any to feparate any

whom he hath joined, againft our Faith and

Honour engag'd in the Solemn Treaty, obsti-

nately perfifting in that AdcTrefV,. after we had

acquainted them, That the Marriage was then

actually ratified, and that wc had acted in it by

our Ambaffadori fo that we were forced to fe-

parate them for a while, hoping they would be-

think themfelves better at their meeting in Ja-
nuary. Inftead of being more moderate, or rea-

dy to confider our Wants towards the War;
they Voted, as they had done before, not to af-

fift us ftill, 'till their Religion were effectually

fecur'd againg Popery, Aggrievances redrefled,

and all obnoxious Men removed from us ; which
we had reafon to take for an abfolute Denial of

all Aid ; considering the Indefinitenefs of what
was to proceed, and the moral Impossibility of

effecting it in their Senfes : For when will they

fay their Religion is effectually fecured from Po-

pery, if it were in danger then, by reafon of the

Infolency ofPapifts. When our Houfe ofCom-
mons, which is made up of Members from every

Corner of our Kingdom, with Invitations pub-

licity Polled up to all Men to accufe them, has

not yet in fo many Years as they have complained
of them, been able to charge one Single Member
of that Communion, with fo much as a Misde-

meanour. Or what Security could they poffi-

bly expect againft that Body of Men, or their

Religion, more than we had given them ? Or
how can we hope to live fo perfectly, that Study

and Pains may not make a Collection of Grie-

vances, as considerable as that which was lately

prefented to us, than which, we could not have

wifh'd for a better Vindication of our Govern-
ment ? Or when Shall we be fure that all obnoxi-

ous Men are removed from us, when Common
Fame thinks fit to call them foj which is to e-

very Body, without any Proof, fufficient to ren-

der any Man obnoxious, who is Popifhly affect-

ed,
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cd, or any thing elfe that is ill, though they have

never fo often or lately complied with their own
Tefts, and Marks of Diftinction and Dilcrimi-

nations. Finding our People thus unhappily dif-

ordered, we faw it impoffible to profecute the

War any longer ; and therefore did by their Ad-
vice make a Peace upon fuch Conditions as we
could get; hoping that being gratified in that

Darling Point, they would at leaft have paid

our Debts, and enabled us to have built fome
Ships for the future Security of our Honour,
and their own Properties; but they being tranf-

ported with their Succefs in Asking, were re-

iolved to go on ftill that way, and would needs

have us put upon the removing of our Judges
from thofe Charges, which they have always hi-

therto held at the Will and Pleafure of the

Crown, out of our Power to alter the ancient

Laws of trying of Peers, and to make it a Pre-

munire in our Subjects (in a Cafe fuppofedj not

to fight againft our Self j nay fome had the Heart

to ask, that the Hereditary Succeflion of our

Crown (which is the Foundation of all our Laws)
fhould be changed into a fort of Eleclion, they

requiring the Heir to be qualified with certain

Conditions, to make him capable of Succeeding ;

and out-doing that Popilh Doctrine, which we
have fo long and fo loudly with good reafon de-

cried, That Herefy incapacitates Kings to Reign.

They would have had, that the Heir of the

Crown, marrying a Papift, though he continued

; never fo Orthodox himfelf, fhould forfeit his

Right of Inheritance; not underftanding this

Paradoxical way offecuring Religion by deft rov-

ing it, as this would have done that of the

Church of England', which always taught Obe-
dience to their Natural Kings, as an indifpenfa-

ble Duty in all good Chriftians, let the Religion

or Deportment of their Prince be what it will;

and not knowing how foon that Impediment,

which was fuppoled as fufficient to keep out an

Heir, might be thought as fit to remove a Pof-

feffor : And comparing that Bill which would
have it a Premunire in a Sheriff not to raife the

Pojfe Comitates, againft our Commiffion in a Cafe

there fuppofed, though we our Self fhould affiffc

that our Commiffion in ourPerfon: For not be-

ing excepted, is implied with the other made
by this very Parliament in the 14th Year of our

Reign, which all our Subjects, or at leaft many
of them, were obliged to Swear (viz. That the

.. Doctrine of taking up Arms by the King'sAu-
thority, againft his Perfon, was deteftable ;) and

we foon found that the Defign was levelled a-

gainft the good Proteftant Religion of our good
Church, which its Enemies had a mind to ble-

mifh,by Aiding in flily thofe damnable Doctrines,

by fuch an Authority as that of our Parliament,

into the Profeffion of our Faith or Practices, and

fo expofe our whole Religion to the Scorn and

Reproach of themfelves, and all the World : We
therefore thought it our Duty to be fo watchful

as to prevent the Enemies fowing fuch mifchie-

vous Tares as thefe, in the wholfom Field of

our Church of England, and to guard the un-

fpotted Spoufe of our bleffed Lord, from that

foul Accufition, with which fhe juftly charges

other Churches, of teaching their Children Loy-
alty, with fo many Referves and Conditions,

that they fhall never want a Diftinction to jufti-

fy Rebellion ; nor a Text of Scripture, as good
as Curfeye Meroz, to encourage them to be Trai-
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tors: Whereas our truly Reformed Church
knows no fuch Subtilties ; but teaches according
to the Simplicity of Chriftianity, To fubmit to
every Ordinance of Man for God's fake, record-
ing to the natural Signification of the Words,
without Equivocation or Artificial Turns. In
order to which, having thought todiffolve that
Body, which we have thefe many Years fo ten-
derly cherifhed, and which we are fure confifts ge-
nerally of moft dutiful and loyal Members, we
were fore'd to Prorogue our Parliament 'till No-
vember next, hoping thereby to cure thofe Difor-
ders, which have been fown among the beft and
Loyallift Subjects, by a few malicious Incendiaries.
But underftanding fince, that fuch who have lowed
that Seditious Seed, are as induftrioufly careful to
water it by their Cabals, and Emiffanes, inftruct-
ed on purpofe to poifon our People with Dif-
courfes in publick Places, in hopes of a great
Crop of Confufion, their beloved Fruit, the next
Seffions ; we have found it abfolutely necefiary
to Diffolve our Parliament, though with greac
Reluctancy and Violence to our Inclination :

But remembring the Days of our Royal Father,
and the Progrels of Affairs then, how from a
Cry againlt Popery, the People went onto com-
plain of Grievances, and againft Evil Counfel-
lors, and lis Majefty's Prerogative; until they
advane'dinto a formal Rebellion, which brought
forth the moft direful and fatal Effects, that ever
were yet heard of amongft any Men, Chriftians

or others ; and withal, finding fo great a Re-
femblance between the Proceedings then and
now, that they feem both Broth of the fame
Brains: And being confirm'd in that Conceit,
by obferving the Actions of many now, who
had a great Share in the Management of the for-

mer Rebellion, and their Zeal for Religion, who
by their Lives give us too much reafon to fufpect

they have none at all ; we thought it not fafe

to dally too long; as our Royal Father did, with
Submiffions and Condefccnfions, endeavouring
to cure Men infected, without removing them
from the Air where they got the Difeafe, and
in which it ftill rages and increafes daily. For
fear of meeting with no better Succefs than he
found, in fuffering his Parliament to challenge

Power they had nothing to do with, 'till they

had bewitch'd the People into fond Defires of
fuch things as quickly deftroyed both King and
Country, which in us would be an intolerable

Error, having been warn'd fo lately by the moft

Execrable Murder of our Royal Father, and

the inhumane Ufage which we our Self in our

Royal Perfon and Family have fuffered, and our

Loyal Subjects have endured, by fuch Practices ;

And left this our great Cure of this our King-

dom's Quiet, and our own Honour and Safety

fhould, as our beft Actions hitherto have been,

be wrefted to fome finifter Senfe, and Argu-
ments be made from it to fcare our good People

into any Apprehenfions of an Arbitrary Govern-

ment, either in Church or State; We do here-

by folemnly declare and faithfully engage our

Royal Word, That we will in no Cale, either

Ecclefiaftical or Civil, violate or alter the known
Laws of our Kingdom, or invade any Man's

Property or Liberty, without due courfc of

Law. But that we will with our utmoft En-

deavours preferve the true Proteftant Religion,

and redrefs all fuch things as fhall indifferently,

and without Paffion, bejudg'd Grievances by our

S s s s 2. next
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next Parliament 5 which we do by God's Blef-

fing intend to Call before the End of February

next. In the mean time, we do ftrictly charge

and command all manner of Perfons whatfoever,

to forbear to talk feditioufly, {lightly or irre-

verently of our Diffolving of the Parliament, of

this our Declaration, or of our Perfon or Go-

vernment, as they will anfwer it at their Perils $

we being refolv'd to profecute all Offenders in

that kind with the utmoft Rigour and Severity

of the Law. And to the end that fuch licen-

tious Perfons, if any (hall be fo impudent and

obftinateas to difobey this our Royal Command,

may be detected, and brought to due Punifhment,

we have ordered our Lord Treafurer to make

fpeedy Payment of Twenty Pounds to any Per-

fon or Perfons who fhall difcover or bring any

fuch feditious, flight or irreverent Talker before

any of our Principal Secretaries of State.

Record. I would have the Jury mould know «

the Declaration ends, To one of his Majefty'

s

'

Principal Secretaries of State j whereof he hoped «

to be one.
c

An. Gen. This is written in the Name of the c

Kings for Mr. Coleman thought himfelf now Se- «

cretary of State, and he pens the Declaration, <

for the King to give an Account why the Par- *

liament was Diffolved.

Serf Maynard. The long Letter, it appears, '

was to Diffolve the Parliament •, and to make it «

cock-fure, he provides a Declaration to (hew the c

Reafon of it : It was done in order to bring in «

Popery > that may appear by the fubfequent «

Proof.
*

Ait. Gen. I have other Evidence to offer to '

your Lordfhip, which is, That Mr. Coleman was «

not only fo bold as to prepare a Declaration for «

the King, but alfo out of his own further In- «

genuity, prepares a Letter (contrary to the Duke's '

Knowledge) for the Duke, which before feveral «

Lords he confeffed 5 and Sir Philip Floyd is here *

ready to juftify it.
*

Sir Philip Floyd. I did attend a Committee of

the Houfe of Lords to Newgate, who examined «

Mr. Coleman, and told him of the Letter Mr. At- '

torney mentioneth ; he then confeffed, That it l

was prepared without the Order and Privity of e

the Duke* and when he was fo bold as to fhew *

it the Duke, the Duke was very Angry, and re- *

jected it.
'

L. C. J. He hath been a very forward Un- c

dertaker on the behalf of the Duke. '

Mr. Att. Gen. I defire the Letter may be read. {

<

the Copy of the Letter written to Monfieur Le '

Chaiie, the French Kings Confeffor, which Mr. '

Coleman confeffed he himfelf wrote and counter- i

felted in the Duke's Name. *

Clerk of the Crown reads the Letter.
,

H E 2d oijune laft paft, his moft Chrif- <

tian Majefty offered me moft generoufly '

6 his Friendship, and the Ufe of his Purfe, to the '

fc Affiftance agunft the Defigns of my Enemies '

' and his 3 and protefted unto me, That his In- '

' tereft and mine were fo clearly link'd together, '

6 that thofe that oppofed the one, fhould be look'd '

e upon as Enemies to the other ; and told me
\

* moreover his Opinion of my Lord Arlington, '

* aud the Parliament ; which is, That he is of '

* Opinion that neither the one nor the other is
'

in his Intereft or mine : And thereupon he de-

fired me to make fuch Propofitions as I fhould
think fit in this Conjuncture.
' All was Tranfacted by the Means of Father
Ferrier, who made ufe of Sir William Throck-

morion, who is an honefl Man, and of Truth
who was then at Paris, and bad held Corre-
fpondence with Coleman, one of my Family, in

whom I have great Confidence.
' I was much fatisfied to fee his moft Chriftian

Majefty altogether of my Opinion, fo I made
him Anfwer the 29th of June, by the fame
Means he made ufe of to write to me, that is,

by Coleman, who addrefs'd himfelfto Father Fer-
rier, (by the forementioned Knight) and en-
tirely agreed to his moft Chriftian Majefty, as

well to what had refpect to the Union of our
Interefts, as the Unufefulnefs of my Lord Ar-
lington, and the Parliament, in order to the
Service of the King my Brother, and his moft
Chriftian Majefty j and that is was neceffaryto

make ufe of our joint and utmoft Credits, to

prevent the Succefs of thofe evil Defigns, re-

iblved on by the Lord Arlington and the Par-
liament, againft his moft Chriftian Majefty and
my Self j which, of my Side, I promife really

to perform j of which, fince that time, I have
given reafonable good Proof.
' Moreover I made fome Propofals, which I

thought neceffary to bring to pafs what we
were obliged to undertake, affuring him, That
nothing could fo firmly eftablifh our Intereft

with the King my Brother, as that very fame
Offer of the Help of his Purfe, by which

; means I had much reafon to hope I fhould

be enabled to perfuade to the Diffolving of the

Parliament, and to make void the Defigns of
c my Lord Arlington, who works inceffantly to
; advance the Intereft of the Prince of Orange
' and the Hollanders, and to leffen that of the
: King yourMafter, notwithstanding all the Pro-
: teftationshe hath made to this Hour, to render
' him Service.

* But as that, which was propofed, was at a

Stand by reafon of the Sicknefs of Father Fer-

rier, fo our Affairs fucceeded not according to

our Defigns, only Father Ferrier wrote to me,

,

the 1 5th of the laft Month, That he had com-
municated thofe Propofitions to his moft Chri-

ftian Majefty, and that they had been very well

lik'd of; but as they contained things that had

regard to the Catholick Religion, and to the

Offer and Ufe of his Purfe, he gave me to un-

derftand he did not defire I fhould treat with

M. Rouvigny upon the Firft, but as totheLaft,

and had the fame time acquainted me, that

M. Rouvigny had order to grant me whatfoever

the Conjuncture of our Affairs did require ; and

have expected the Effects of it to this very

Hour : But nothing being done in it, and fee-

ing on the other hand that my Lord Arlington

and feveral others endeavoured by a thoufand

Deceits to break the good Intelligence, which
is between the King my Brother, his moft

Chriftian Majefty, and my Self, to the end they

might deceive us all Three, I have thought fit

to advert ife you of all that is paft, and defire of

you your Affiftance and Friendship to prevent

the Rogueries of thofe, who have no other De-

fign than to betray the Concerns of France, zn&

England alfo, and who by their pretended Ser-

vice, are the occafion they fucceed not.
c As
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' As to any thing more, I refer you to Sir

William Throckmorton, and Coleman, whom I

have commanded to give an Account of the

whole State of our Affair, and of the true

Condition of England^ with many others,

and principally my Lord Arlington's Endea-
vours, to reprefent to you quit otherwife than

it is.

' The Two firft I mentioned to you are firm
6 to my Intereft, fo that you may treat with them
* without any Apprehenfion.

Serj. Maynard. Gentlemen of the Jury, pray

obferve that he takes upon him to prepare a Let-

ter, and that in the Duke's Name, but contrary

to the Duke's Knowledge or Privacy •, for when
be had fo much Boldnefs as to tell him of it, the

Duke was angry, and rejected it. But in it we
may fee what kind of Paffages there are, he takes

very much upon him in this Matter. And Mr.
Coleman muft keep the Secret too.

Att. Gen. My Lord, I have but one Paper

more to read, and I have kept it till the laft

;

becaufe if we had proved nothing by Witnefs,

or not read any thing but this, this one Letter

is fufficient to maintain the Charge againft him :

It plainly appears to whom it was directed, and

at what time. It begins thus, (/fent your Reve-

rence a tedious long Letter on our zpth of Septem-

ber.) I only mention this, to fhew abouc what
time it was fent. There are fome Claufes in it

will fpeak better than I can. Sir Tho. Doleman

and Sir Philip Floyd fwear he hath confeffed and

owned it to be his Hand-writing. I defire the

Letter may be read.
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Clerk of the Crown reads the Letter.

SIR,
Sent your Reverence a tedious long Letter on
our zoth of September, to inform you of the

Progrefs of Affairs for thefe two or three laft

Years ; 1 having now again the Opportunity of

a very fure Hand to convey this by, I have fent

you a Cypher, becaufe our Parliament now
drawing on, J may poffibly have occafion'to fend

you fomething which you may be willing e-

nough to know, and may be neceffary lor us

that you fhould, when we may want the Con-
veniency of a Meffenger. When any thing oc-

curs of more Concern other than which may
not be fit to be trufted even to a Cypher alone,

I will, to make fuch a thing more fecure,

write in Lemmon between the Lines of a Let-

ter, which fhall have nothing in it vifible, but

what I care not who fees, but dried by a warm
Fire, fhall difcover what is written , fo that if

the Letter comes to your Hands, and upon dry-

ing it, any thing appears more than did before,

you may be fure no Body has feen it by the

way. I will not trouble you with that way of

Writing, but upon fpecial Occafions, and then

I will give you a Hint to direct you to look for

it, by concluding my vifible Letter with fome-

thing of Fire, or Burning, by which Mark you
may pleafe to know, that there is fomething un-

derneath, and how my Letter is to be ufed to

find it out.

We have here a mighty. Work upon our Hands

:

no Jefs than the Converfion of three Kingdoms, and
i by that perhaps the utter fubduing of a Pefiilent

i Ilerefy, which has domineered over great Part of

this Northern World a long time ; there were never
fuch Hopes of Succefs fince the Death of our <%ueen
Mary, as now in our Days. When God has gi-
ven us a Prince, who is become (may I fay a
Miracle) zealous of being the Author and In-
strument of fo glorious a Work ; but the Op-
position we are fure to meet with, is alfo like to
be great

: So that it imports us to get all the
Aid and Affiftance we can, for the Harveft is

great, and the Labourers but few. That which
we rely upon moft, next to Goc Almighty's Pro-
vidence, and the Favour of my Mafter the Duke,
is the mighty Mind of his moft Chriftian Ma-
jefty, whofe generous Soul inclines him to great
Undertakings, which being managed by your
Reverence's exemplary Piety and Prudence, will
certainly make him look upon this as moft
fuitable to himfelf, and beft becoming his Power
and Thoughts ; fo that I hope you will pardon
me, if I be very troublefome to you upon this
Occafion, from whom I expect the greateft Help
we can hope for. I m uft confefs I think His
Chriftian Majefty's Temporal Intereft is fo much
attraftcd to that of his R. H. (which can never
be confiderable, but upon the Growth and Ad-
vancement of the Catholick Religion) that his

Minifters cannot give him better Advice, e-

ven in a Politick Senfe, abftra&ing from the
Confiderations of the next World, that of .our

Bleffed Lord, to feek firft the Kingdom of Heaven,
and the Righteoufnefs thereof, that all ether Things
may be added unto him. That I know his moft
Chriftian Majefty has more powerful Motives
fuggeftcd to him by his own Devotion, and your
Reverence's Zeal for God's Glory, to engage
him to afford us the beft Flelp he can in our
prefent Circumftances. But we are a little un-
happy in this, that we cannot prefs his Majefty
by his prefent Minifter here upon thefe fatter

Arguments (which are moft ftrong) but only
upon the Firft, Mr. Rouvignfs Senfe and ours

differing very much upon them, though we a-

gree perfectly upon the reft : And, indeed,

though he be a very able Man, as to his Matter's

Service, in things where Religion is not con-

cerned -, yet I believe it were much more happy,
(confidering the Pofture he is now in) that his

Temper were of fuch a fort, that we might deal

clearly with him throughout, and not be fore'd

to ftop fhort in a Difcourfe of Confluence, and

leave the moft material Part out, becaufe we
know it will fbock his particular Opinion, and

fo perhaps meet with Diflike and Opposition,

though never fo neceffary to the main Concern.

I am afraid we fhall find too much Rcafon for

this Complaint in this next Seffion of Parliament

:

For had we had one here from his moft Chriftian

Majefty, who had taken the whole Bufinefs to

Heart, and who would have reprefented the

State of our Cafe truly, as it is, to his Mafter,

1 do not doubt but his moft Chriftian Majefty

would have engaged himfelf further in the Af-

fair than at prefent I fear he has done, and by

his Approbation have given fuch Counfels as

have been offered to his R. H. by thofe few

Catholicks who have Accel's to him, and who
are bent to ferve him and advance the Catholick

Religion with all their Might, and might have

more Credit with his R. H. than I fear they

have found, and have affifted them alfo with his

Purfe as far as 10000 Crowns, or fome fuch Sum
(which to him is very inconfiderable, but would

hayc
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have been to them of greater Ufe than can be

imagined) towards gaining others to help them,

or at leaft not to oppofe them. If we had been

fo happy as to have had his moil Chriftian Ma-
jefty with us to this degree, I would have an-

fwered with my Life for fuch Succefs this Sef-

fions, as would have put the Intereft of the Ca-

tholick Religion, his R. H. and his moft Chri-

ftian Majefty, out of all Danger for the time to

come. But wanting thofe Helps of recommend-
ing thofe neceffary Counfels, which have been

given his R. H. in fuch manner as to make him
think them worth his accepting, and fit to go-

vern himfelf by, and of thofe Advantages, which
a little Money, well managed, would have gain-

ed us ; I am afraid we fhall not be much better

at the end of this Seffions than we are now. I

pray God we do not lofe Ground. By my next,

which will be ere-long, I fhall be able to tell

your Reverence more particularly, what wc are

like to expect. In the mean time I moft: hum-
bly beg your Holy Prayers for all our Underta-

kings, and that you will be pleafed to honour me
fo far as to efteem me what I am entirely, and
without any Referve,

Mon tres Reverend Pere, k voire R.

Le plus humble plus obeifant Serviteur.

[Several other Letters were read, but becaufe of

Prolixity they are omitted, tbefe being moft material.']

Att. Gen. I have done with my Evidence} we
need no more Proof againfl him.

Prif. My Lord, I would, if your Lordfhip
pleafe, very fain ask of Mr. Oates (becaufe he

was pleafed to fay he was prefent with me in May
or April) whether he knows the particular Days
of the Months.

[Here Mr. Oates (who being tired, withdrew to

reft himfelf) was called, and the Prifoner was ask-

ed, whether he would fpeak with Bedloe, but he

defired not to fpeak with him.]

Mr. Oates. The Confult that was held in May
New-ftile, is April Old-ftile, it was within a

Day, or two, or three of the Confulr.

Prif. Where was the Confult ?

Mr. Oates. It was begun at the White-Horfe
Tavern, then they did adjourn it to feveral

Clubs and Companies, and you came two or
three Days after the Confult to the Provin-
cial's Chamber, we then defiring to go out of
Town.

Prif. Was you there, and who elfe ?

Mr. Oates. There was the Provincial, and
Micho, and Strange the old Provincial, and Keins

your Companion.

Prif. W hat Day of Augufi was that at the
Savoy ?

Mr. Oates. I ennnot fwear the particular Day

Mr. Oates. No, my Lord, but two or three

Days after the Confultation, he was at Wild'
Houfe, and there he exprefled that he approved
of it.

L. C. J. Did he confent to it ?

Mr. Oates. Pie did confent to it.

Juft. Wild. Did he ufe no Words about it?

Mr. Oates. He did fhew his Approbation of
it. But in thofe Inflections that were brought
to AJhby, he did fay it was a very good Propofi-
tion, but he thought the Reward was too little.

L. C. J. Did he ufe any Words to declare
his AtTent?

Mr. Oates. Two Things lie couched in the
Queftion, whether your Lordfhip means the
Confulr, or the Inftructions, he did approve of.

L. C. J. How long after the Confultation
was it that he approved of it? <

Mr. Oates. It was two or three Days before he
did give his Approbation.

Juft. Wild. What Words did he fay ?

Mr. Oates. He did exprefs his Confent, but to
fay the very Words, I cannot tell.

L.C.J. Will you ask him any more?
Prif. I would know the Day in Augufi ?

L. C. J. He faith he doth not remember the
Day.
Mr. Oates. I believe, I will not be pofitive in

it, it was about the 2.1ft Day of Augufi.

Juft. Wild, and Juft. Jones. Was it "in Auzutl
Old-ftile ?

Oates. Yes.

Prif. I can prove I was in Warwick/hire at

that time. That Day he gueffeth, the zift of
Auguft, I can make it appear I was Fourfcorc
Miles off.

L. C. J. You will do well to prove you was
there when the Guinea was given. Will you
ask him any more ?

Prif. No.
L. C. J. You may fay as you will, but Mr.

Oates doth charge, that exprefly in Augufi (ac-

cording to the Englifb Stile) you were at this

JVild-Houfe, and that he faw Fourfcore Pounds
prepared. You, Mr. Coleman, asked the Quefti-
on, what Preparations were made for the Men
going to Windfor ? It was anfwered, Fourfcore -

Pounds are prepared : And your felf gave a

Guinea for Expedition. It is a hard Matter to
prefs a Man to tell the precife Day of the Month,
but pofitively he doth fay it was in Augufi.

Prif. I was Two and Twenty or Three and
Twenty Days in Augufi, in Warwickfhire

.

L. C. J. What have you now more to fay ?

Prif My Lord, I never faw Mr. Oates but in
the Council-Chamber, I never faw him in Rome,
in other Parts 1 never faw the Face of him, or
knew him in my whole Life; nor did I fee the
other till now in Court, as I hope to be faved.
And then, my Lord, as to their Teflimony, nei-
ther of them fwear the felf-fame FacL

L. C.J. No Man fhall be guilty, if Denial
fhall make him innocent ; They fwear to the

of the Month, I cannot fo far charge my Me- Fa£f. of killing the King both of them, and
mory.
The Refult at the Confult in May was, that

Pickering and Groves fhould go on in their At-
tempt to Affaffinate the Perfon of His Majefty
by Shooting, or otherwife. Mr. Coleman knew
of this, and faid, it was a good Defign.

L. C. J. Who was there? Was Mr. Coleman
with them at the Confultation?

that's enough. If one faith you have a Plot to
Poifon, that is killing the King j and the othei
fwears a Plot to fhoor, or flab him, that is to
the killing of the King alfo : Then there's your
own Undertaking, in your Letter, under your
Hand.

Prif For Treafon (with Submiffion to your
Lordfhip) 1 hope there's none in that, though

there
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there are very extravagant Expreffions in it. I

hope fome Expreffions explain it, that it was

not my Defign to kill the King.

L. C. J. No, your Defign was for the Con-
version of three Kingdoms, and fubduing of

that Herefy that had reigned fo long in this

Northern part of the World : And for effect-

ing whereof, there were never more hopes fince our

Queen Mary's time till now, and therefore pref-

{Ing the King of France to ufe his Power, Aid,

and Affiftance } and does this fignify nothing ?

Prif. Doth Aid and Affiftance fignify more
than Money ? The word Aid in French is Power j

they are promifcuous words.

L. C. J. You are Charged to have had a

Correfpondency and Agency with Foreign

Power to fubvert our Religion, and bring in

Foreign Authority and Power upon us, which
mult be the neceffary Confequence : How can

this be proved plainer than by your Letters,

to prefs the French King that he would ufe his

Power ?

Prif. Confider the Contexture and Conne-
xion of things, whether the whole feries be

not to make the King and the Duke (as far

as I thought in my power) as great as could

be.

L. C. J. How well or ill you excufe the fault,

that's not the Queftion ; they relate to the Duke
mod of them, little to the King. You were
carrying on fuch a Defign, that you intended to

put the Duke in the Head of, in fuch method
and ways as the Duke himfelf would not ap-

prove, but rejected.

Prif. Do not think I would throw any thing

upon the Duke. Though I might (in the begin-

ning of it) poffibly make ufe of the Duke's
Name, it is poffible (they fay I did) but can
any imagine the People will lay down Money
200000/. or 20000/. with me upon the Duke's
Name, and not know whether the Duke be in

it ; and confequently no Body will imagine the

Duke would ever employ any fum to this King's
prejudice or differvicc while he lived. I take

it for granted (which fure none in the World
will deny) that the Law was ever made imme-
diately fubject to the King or Duke, and con-
fequently to the Duke, I cannot think this will

ever be expounded by the Law of England, or

the Jury, to be Treafon.

L. C.y. What a kind of way and talking is

this? You have fuch a fwimming way of melt-

ing words, that it is a troublefome thing for a

Man to collect matter out of them. You give
your felf up to be a great Negotiator in the

altering of Kingdoms, you would be great with
mighty Men for that purpofe > and your long
Difcourfes and great Abilities might have been
Spared. The thing thefe Letters do feem to

import, is this, That your Defign was to bring
in Popery into England, and to promote the in-

tereft of the French King in this place, for which
you hoped to have a Penfion (that's plain.) The
Duke's Name is often mentioned, that's true -,

Sometimes it appears it is againft his will, and
fometimes he might know of it, and be told

that the confequence was not great. Now fay

you thefe Sums of Money and all that was done,
it did relate to the King or Duke, and it was
to advance their Intereib, and you thought it

was the way to do it. How can this advance
them, unlefs it were done to do them fervice?
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and if they do not confent to it, and how can
this be Treafon, what kind of Huff is this ?

You do feem to be a mighty Agent, might not
you for a colour ufe the Duke of fork's Name
to drive on the Catholick Caufe, which you
was driven to by the Priefts mightily, and think
to get 200000/. advance Money, and a Penfion
for your felf, and make your felf fomebody for

the prefent, and Secretary of State for the fu-

ture ? If you will make any defence for your
felf, or call in Witneffes, we will hear them I

fay what you can ; for thefe vain inconfequen-
tial difcourfes fignify nothing.

Prif. I have Witneffes to prove I was in

Warwick/hire.

L. C. y. (to Boatman a JVitncfs.) Where was
Mr. Coleman in Augufi laft ?

Boatm. In Warwickflnre.

L. C. y. How long ?

Boatm. All Augufi, to my bed remembrance,
L. C. y. Can you fay that he was in IVar-

wickjhire all Augufi ? that he was not at London?
Boatm. 1 am not certain what time of the

Month he was in London.

L. C. y. That he was there in Augufi, may
be very true j I do not ask how long he was
in IVarwickJhire, but was he no where elfe ?

(To which the Witnefs could make no pofitive

anfwer.)

Prif. I was at the Lord Denby's, and at

Mr. Francis Fifijer's ; I was there at leaft twenty
days.

L. C. y. Have you any more Witneffes ?

Prif. Anf. None.
L.C. y. If you have a mind to fay any thing

more, fay what you can.

Prif I can fay nothing more than what I

have laid. Pofitively I fay (and upon my Sal-

vation ) I never faw thefe Witneffes, Oates but
once, and Bedlow never before.

Mr. *SoI. Gen Sir Franca Wilmington.

May it pleafe Tour Lordjhip, and you Gentlemen

of the Jury,

HE Caufe before you (I dare adventure to

fay) is a Caufe of as great a Nature, and
includes as great Crimes, as ever came to this

Bar.

It is not a Caufe of a particular Treafon, but

'tis a Treafon that runs to the whole; the King,

the Government, and the Proteftant Religion,

all are comprehended in it.

The Defence the Prifoner has made is fo very

fhort, and of fo flight a Nature, that I fhall

contract my felf very much in what I had to

fay, and only ftate to the Court, and Jury, the

principal things I rely upon.

The firft Crime laid in the Indictment, is the

defign of killing and deftroying the Royal Per-

fon of his Majefty. The fecond, the Subverting

of the Government, and in doing that, the de-

struction of the Proteftant Religon.

And thefe Treafons have been punctually

proved, as well by two Witneffb, as by Letters

under Mr. Coleman's own Hand, whereby he

correfponded with Monfieur le Chaife, the French

King's Confeffor, as alfo by the Anfwers which

were fent by Monfieur le Chaife to Mr.

Coleman.

As to the Proofs made by the Witneffes, the

Subftance of them is this. Mr. Oates fwears,

that
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that in April laft: Old Stile, and May New Stile,

there was a General Confult or Meeting of the

Jefuits, at the White-Horfe-Tavern in the

Strand ; and afterwards they divided themfelves

into feveral Companies, or Clubs ; and in thofe

Confults they confpired the Death of the King ;

and contrived how to effect it. The manner of

it was thus, (as Mr. Oates pofitively fwears)

That Grove and Pickering were employed to

Murder the King ; and their Defign was to

Piftol him in St. James's Park. Grove was to

have Fifteen Hundred Pounds in Money, and

Pickering (being a Prieft) was to have Thirty

Thoufand Maffes, which was computed to be

of equal value to Fifteen Hundred Pounds, ac-

cording to the ufual price in the Church of

Rome. And this Confpiracy and Contrivance

Mr. Coleman was privy to, and did well approve

of the fame, as Mr. Oates affirmeth upon his

Oath. So that here is a plain Treafon proved

upon the Prifoner, by his affenting to the Fact

to be done, the Law not allowing any Accef-

faries in Treafon. And this in Law makes the

Prifoner as guilty as any of the Affaflinates,

who defigned to kill the King with their own
Hands.

If this Defign ihould fail, Mr. Oates fwears,

that the Confpirators intended a further at-

tempt upon the Royal Perfon of the King,

when he Ihould be at Wind/or ; and four Irijh Af-

Lflinates were provided by Doctor Fogarthy,

whole Names he would not tell, and fourfcore

Guineas were provided by Father Harcourt (a

Jefuit) to maintain the Affaflinates at Windfor,

till they mould have effected their wicked defign.

While the Confpiracy was thus in agitation,

Mr. Coleman, the Prifoner, went to vific Harcourt

the Jefuit at his Houfe in Town j but finding

him not at home, and being informed that he

was at Wild-Houfe, Mr. Coleman went thither

and found him there j and Mr. Coleman asking

what Provifion Harcourt had made for the Gen-
tlemen at Windfor ; Harcourt replied, that there

were fourfcore Guineas, which then lay upon
the Table, which were to be fent to them ;

and faid, that the Perfon who was in the

Room was to carry them. To which Mr. Cole-

man replied, he liked it very well ; and gave

a Guinea out of his own Pocket to the Mefien-

ger who was to carry the Money to Windfor, to

encourage him to expedite the Bufinefs. But
in cafe the defign of killing his Majefty at Wind-

for mould be any ways prevented, then there

was a further Confpiracy, to deftioy the King
by Poifon. Mr. Oates fwears, that in July laft,

Afliby (a Jefuit) brought inftructions to London

from Flanders, that in cafe Pickering and Grove

could not kill the King at London, nor the four

Jrifo Affaflinates at Windfor, then Ten Thoufand
Pounds was to be propoled to Sir George Wake-
man to Poifon the King. But it did appear

by the Letters that paffed between White the

Provincial (here in London) and Afhby, that Mr.
Coleman faid, he thought Ten Thoufand Pounds
was too little j and therefore thought it ne-

ceffary to offer five Thoufand Pounds more,

which afterwards was affented to by the Jefuits

abroad. And Mr. Oates fwears, he faw Letters

from the Provincial at London, to the Jefuits at

St. Omers, Sgnifying, that Sir George Wakeman
had accepted of the Propofition, and received

five Thoufand Pounds of the Money. By which

Teftimony of Mr. Oates, it plainly appears,

that Mr. Coleman, the Prifoner at the Bar, was
privy to the Confpiracy, and aiding and abetting

to the wicked and damnable defign of murder-
ing the King.

The fecond Witnefs is Mr. Bedlow, who
fwears that he was employed by Harcourt, the

Jefuit, to carry Pacquets of Letters to Mon-
fieur le Chaife, the French King's Confeflbr •, and

further fays, he was at a Confult in France,

where the Plot was difcourfed on for killing

the King ; and did bring back an anfwer from
le Chaife to Harcourt in London, and fwears parti-'

cularly, that on the 14th or zfth of May, 1677,
he was at Coleman's Houfe with Father Harcourt,

and fome other Perfons, where Mr. Coleman,

difcourfing of the great defign in Hand, faid

thefe Words following, 'That if he had a Sea of
Blood, and an hundred Lives, he would lofe them all

to carry on the defign 5 and if to effecl this, it were

neceffary to dejlroy an hundred Heretick Kings, he

would do it. So that here is another pofitive

Oath to an Act of Treafon committed by
Mr. Coleman, in relation to the murdering the

King.
The other part of the Evidence confifts of

Papers and Letters, which generally relate to

prove the latter part of the Indictment j to wir,

The Extirpation of the Proteftant Religion, and

introducing of Popery, and the fubverting of

the Government. And this appears by a Letter

written by Mr. Coleman, dated 2p Septem. jf
and fent to Monfieur le Chaife, the French King's

Confeflbr; wherein he gives him an account of

the Tranfactions of feveral Years before, and

of the Correfpondence between Mr. Coleman

and Monfieur Turner, Predeceflbr to le Chaife ;

wherein he does alfo affert, that the true way
to carry on the Intereft of France, and the pro-

moting of the Popifh Religion here in England,

was to get this Parliament diflblvcd ; which
(fays he) had been long fince effected, if three

Hundred Thoufand Pounds could have been ob-

tained from the French King ; and that things

yet were in fuch a pofture, that if he had buc

Twenty Thoufand Pounds fent him from France,

he would be content to be a Sacrifice to the

utmoft malice of his Enemies, if the Proteftant

Religion did not receive fuch a Blow as it could

not fubfift. And the receipt of this Letter was
acknowledged by Monfieur le Chaife, in an an-

fwer which he wrote to Mr. Coleman, dated from

Paris Oclober 23. 7f. in which he gives him
thanks for his good Service, in order to the pro-

moting the Popilh Religion.

Several others Letters have been produced and

read, which were written by Mr. Coleman to

Monfieur Ferrier and others, and more particu-

larly one Letter dated Augufl z\. 74. written by

Coleman to the Pope's Internuncio at Brujfels,

wherein he fays the Defign profpered fo well,

that he doubted not but in a little time the Bu-

finefs would be managed, to the utter ruin of

the Proteftant Party.

And by other Letters he writes to the French

King's Confeflbr that the afliftance of his molt
Chriftian Majefty is neceffary, and defires Mo-
ney from the French King to carry on the De-
fign.

But there is one Letter, without Date, more
Bloody than all the reft, which was written to

Monfieur le Chaife in fome fhorc time after the

long



1678. B.R. w High-Treafon.

long Letter of September ip, i(57f, wherein, a-

mongft many other things, Coleman exprefTes

himfelf thus : We have a mighty Work upon our

Hands, no lefs than the Converfion of three King-

doms, and the utter fubduing of a Peftilent Herefy,

•which hath for fome time domineer'd over this Nor-

thern part of the World ; and we never had fo great

hopes of it fince our Queen Mary'* Days. And in

the Conclufion of the Letter he implores Mon-
fieur le Chaife to get all the Aid and AfTiftance

he can from France* and that next to God Al-

mighty, they did rely upon the mighty mind

of 'his moft Chriftian Majefty, and therefore

did hope le Chaife would procure Money and

AfTiftance from him.

Now any Man that confiders the Contents

of thefe Letters, muft needs agree that the

latter part of the Indictment, to wit, the Trea-

son of endeavouring the Subverting the Go-
vernment and the Proteftant Religion, is fully

proved upon Mr. Coleman, the Prifoner at the

Bar; and that thefe Letters were written by

him, and the Anfwers received, he does not

deny. But all he has to fay for himfelf, is,

that it was to make the King of England great

;

whereas the contrary is moft manifeft, becaufe

the Jefuits, who love Force and Tyranny, ai-

rways adhere to thofe Princes that are greateft

I in Strength and Power. For it appears in Hif-

tory, that when the Houfe of Auftria were in

their Greatnefs, and like to arrive to the Uni-

versal Monarchy in thefe parts of the World,

the Jefuits all adhered to that Houfe : But fince

the French King hath grown more mighty in

SPower and Greatnefs, they declined the Intereft

of the Auflrian Family, and do now promote

the Counfels of France, thinking that now that

King will become the Univerfal Monarch.

I (hall therefore now conclude the Evidence,

only obferving to the Jury, that the feveral

,Treafons in the Indictment are fully proved.

The firft, as to the Deftruction of the Royal Per-

:fon of the King, by two Witndfes, Mr. Oates,

and Mr. Bedlow; the other part of it, viz. the

Subverfion of the Government, and Extirpation

of the Proteftant Religion, by the feveral Let-

ters which have been before remembred, which

I
have not been denied by the Prifoner to be

ihis. Therefore I hope, Gentlemen, when you

meet with Offenders that are guilty, of fuch

ftupendous Crimes, you will do Juftice upon

them, which will be great Comfort and Satis-

faction to the King and all his good Proteftant

Subjects.

Serj. Pembert. Gentlemen, you hear the Crime
i is of the higheft Nature, it's the Subverfion of

1 three Kingdoms, and the fubduing of that Re-
' ligion which he defames by the Name of Peftilent

' Herefy. It concerns us all to look about us,

; and all the Kingdom, when there fhall be a De-
; fign managed in this manner, to deftroy our
King, and to take away our Religion, and to

\
enflave us all to the Pope, and make us all truckle

]
to the Priefts.

It is wonderful it is capable (at this Day) of

fo great Evidence, there is Digitus Dei in it, or

I

elfe it would be impoffible fuch a thing fhould

I

be made fo manifeft : All the reft that is faid

in the Indictment are but Circumftances that

declare it : There is a ftrong Evidence of many
Matters of Fact in this Defign, which declare

the Intention hatched in his Breaft for many
Vol. II.

Years together : Here hath been a Defign to
kill the King, and he doth not only confent to
it, but commend it ; what can be faid to his

giving the Money to him that was to pay the
fourfcore pieces of Gold to thofe Ruffians fent

co JVindfor? and adding fooo/. to the 10000/.
for the Doctor that was to poifon the King ?

He denies all.)

No queftion but a Man that hath had a Heart
to defign fuch Contrivances, will have the Face
to deny it publickly : It's a thing to be acted in
the dark : But there's both Mr. Oates and Mr.
Bedlow, plainly prove it upon him that he con-
fented to the acting the King's Death. What's
theSenfeof his Letters, but to fhew his defign,

and to beg the AfTiftance of France to them in

their necefiities? the whole Current is to de-
ftroy our Religion. I think you Gentlemen of
the Jury have had fuch Evidence as will fatisfy

any Man.
Prif. I deny all Mr. Oates his Teftimony, for

his faying to the Council he did not know me
becaufe he could not fee me, when I was as

near as the next Gentleman but one, but knew
me when I fpake, and I fpoke to almoft all the
matters asked. He accufeth me of a thing in

Auguft, but names not the Day : Now if there

be one Error in his Teftimony it weakens all the

reft. I went out of Town the 10th of Auguft,

it was the latter end I came home, about che

middle of Bartholomew Fair, the laft Day of Au-

guft.

L. C.J. Have you any Witnefs to prove
that ?

Prif. I cannot fay I have a Witnefs.

L. C. J. Then you fay nothing.

Prif People cannot fpeak to a day, to a

thing they neither imagined or thought of.

L. C. J. I ask your Servant, do you know
when Mr. Coleman went out of Town ?

Coleman's Serv. In Auguft, I cannot fay parti»

cularly the day.

X. C. J. Do you know when he came home ?

Serv. I cannot remember.

Juft. Wild. Where was you the laft Barthok-

mew-day ?

Serv. I was in Town.

Juft. Wyld. Where was your Mafter?

Serv. I do not remember.

L. C. J. You fay you went out of Town the

10th, and came home the laft of Auguft ; you

fay it is impoffible that he fhould fay right, but

yet you do not prove it.

Prif. I have no more to fay, but I entered

down all my Expences every day in a Book,

which Book will fhew where I was.

L. C. J. Where is your Book ?

Prif. At my Lodgings in Fere-Street by Covent-

Garden; in a Trunk that came by the Carrier,

that will fhew when they were fent.

L. C. J. If the Caufe did turn upon that mat-

ter, I would be well content to fit until the Book

was brought, but I doubt the Caufe will not

ftand upon that Foot, but if that were the Cafe

it would do you little good.

Obferve what I fay to the Jury.

My Lord Chief Juftice his Speech to the Jury

upon his fumming up of the Evidence.

Gentlemen of the Jury; My Care at this

time fhall be to contraft this very long Evi-

dence, and to bring it within a ftiort compafs,

that you may have nothing before you to confi-

Tttt der
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der of, as near as I can, but what is really ma-
terial to the Acquitting or Condemning ot Mr.
Coleman.

The things he is Accufed of are of two forts

;

the one is, to fubvert the Proteftant Religion

and to introduce Popery : the other was to

deftroy and kill the King. The Evidence like-

wife was of two forts j The one by Letters of

his own hand-writing, and the other by Wit-

neiTes Viva voce. The former he feems to con-

fefs, the other totally to deny.

For that he confeiTeth, he does not feem to

infift upon it, that the Letters were not his,

he feems to admit they were ; And he rather

makes his Defence by expounding what the

meaning of thefe Letters were, than by denying

himfelf to be the Author.

I would have you take me right, when I fay

he doth admit j he doth not admit the Conftruc-

rion, that the King's Council here makes upon
them •, but he admits that thefe Letters were his.

He admits it fo far, that he does not deny them.

So that you are to Examine what thefe Letters

import in themfelves, and what Confequences

are naturally to be deduced from them.

That which is plainly intended, is to bring in

the Roman Catholick, and to fubvert the Protef-

tant Religion. That which is by Confequence

intended, was the Killing the King, as being

the mod likely means to introduce 'That, which,
as 'tis apparent by his Letters, was defigned to

be brought in.

For the Firft part of the Evidence. All his

Great long Letter that he wrote, was to give

the prefent Confeflbr of the French King an

Account of what had paffed between him and
his Predeceffor; By which Agency, you may
fee that Mr. Coleman was In with the former
ConfeiTor.

And when he comes to give an Account of

the three Years Tranfactions to this prefent Con-
feiTor, and to begin a Correfpondence with him,
About what is it? Why, the fubftance of the

Heads of the long Letter comes to this. It was

to bring in the Catholick as he call'd it, (that is)

the Romijh Catholick Religion, and to eftablifh

that here; and to advance an Intereft for the

French King, be that Intereft what it will.

It's true his Letters do not exprefs what fort

of Intereft, neither will I determine : but they

fay it was to promote the French King's Inte-

reft, which Mr. Coleman would expound in

fome fuch fort, as may confift with the King of
England's, and the Duke of York's Intereft. But
this is certain, it was to fubvert our Religion,

as it is now by Law eftablifhed. This was the

great end thereof, it cannot be denied : To pro-

mote the Intereft (I fay) of the French King,
and to gain to himfelf a Penfion as a reward of
his Service, is the Contents of his Firft long
Letter, and one or two more concerning that

Penfion.

His laft Letters expound more plainly what
was meant by the French King's Intereft. We
are (faith he) about a great work, no lefs than the

Converfion of three Kingdoms, and the total and ut-

ter fubverfion and fubduing of that pejlilent Herefy

(that is the Proteftant Religion) which hath reigned

fo long in this Northern part of the World ; and for
the doing of which, there never was fuch great hopes

fince our §)ueen Mary 's Days, as at this time.

Now this plainly fhews, that our Religion

was to be fubverted, Popery eftablifhed, and the

three Kingdoms to be converted j that is indeed,

to be brought to confufion.

For I fay, that when our Religion is to be
fubverted, the Nation is to be fubverted and de-

ftroyed, that is moft apparent : For there could

be no hope of fubverting or deftroying the Pro-
teftant Religion, but by a Subverfion not Conver-

fion of the three Kingdoms.
How was it to be done otherwife? Why, I

would have brought this Religion in (fays he)

by diffolving of the Parliament. I would have
brought it in by an Edict and Proclamation of
Liberty of Confcience. In thefe ways I would
have brought it in.

Mr. Coleman knows ic is not fit for him to own
the introducing of his Religion by the Murder
of the King, or by a Foreign Force. The one
was too black and the other too bloody, to be own-
ed. And few People (efpecially the Englijh) will

be brought to fave their Lives (as he may do
his) by confeffion of fo bloody and barbarous a

thing, as an intention to Kill the King, or ot

Levying a Warj which, though it be not a

Particular, is a General Murder. I fay, it was not

convenient for Mr. Coleman, when he feems to

fpeak fomething for himfelf, to give fuch an

Account, how he would have done it> There-
fore he tells us, he would have done it by the

diffolving of the Parliament and by Toleration

of Religion. Now I would very fain know of

any Man in the World, whether this was not a

very fine and artificial covering of his defign

for the Subverfion of our Religion?
Pray, how can any Man think, that the Dif-

folving of the Parliament could have fuch a

mighty influence to that purpofe ? It is true,

he might imagine it might in fome fort con-

tribute towards it : Yet it is fo doubtful, that

he himfelf miftrufts it. For he is fometimes for

the Diflblving of the Parliament, and other

times not, as appears by his own Papers : For
which we are not beholden to him, fo much as

for any one, more than what were found by

accident, and produced to the King and Council.

But in truth, why fhould Mr. Coleman believe

that another Parliament (if this Parliament were,

DilTolved) fhould comply with Popery? That is

to fay, That there fhould be great hopes of

bringing in of Popery by a new Parliament ?

Unlefs he can give me a good reafon for this, I

fhall hold it as infignificant and as unlikely to

have that effect, as his other way by a General

Toleration.

And therefore next, Upon what ground does

he prefume this? I do affure you, that Man
does not underftand the Inclinations of the Eng-

///# People, or knows their Tempers, that thinks,

if they were left to themfelves and had their Li-

berty, they would turn Papifts.

It's true, there are fome amongft us that have

fo little Wit as to turn Fanaticks, but there is

hardly any, but have much more Wit than to

turn Papifts. Thefe are therefore the Counter-

feit pretentions of Mr. Coleman.

Now if not by thefe means, In what way
truly did he intend to bring in Popery ? Why
his own Letters plainly convict him of one ftep

towards it, in endeavouring with Foreign Pow-
ers to bring in that Religion, and to Subvert

ours. And for the 'other way of doing it, by

killing the Kings I leave it to you whether

there
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there were any more probable way than that in-

deed to do it.

And could he think, that the French King
would not have thought hirnfelf cozened of his

Money, if he had not given him hopes that he

would ufe the molt probable Methods that he
could, to effect hisDefign?

Therefore there muSt be more in it; for he

that was fo earned for that Religion, would not

have Stuck at any Violence to bring it in; he

would not have (tuck at Blood. For we know
their Doctrines and their Practices, and we know
well, with what Zeal the Priefts pulh them for-

ward to venture their own Lives, and to take

away other Mens, that differ from them, to

bring in their Religion, and to fet up them-
felves. For indeed in the Kingdoms and Coun-
tries where Popery reigns, the Priefts have Do-
minion over Mens Conferences, and Power o-

ver their Purfes. And they ufe all Arts imagi-

nable of making Profelytes, and take fpecial

Care, that thofe in their Communion fhall

: know no more than the Priefts fhall give them
leave to understand. And for this Reafon they

prohibit the ufe of all Books without their Li-

cence. This blind Obedience begets blind Ig-

norance, and this is a great fubtiky of theirs to

keep them in it, that they may perfectly fubmit

i to them.

What cannot they Command, when they

have made others (laves in their Understandings,

and that they mult know no more, than what

they give them leave to know? But in England

it is not fo, Mr. Coleman; and therein you would

jhave found a great difappointment. For if Li-

berty of Confcience had been tolerated here,

that the Confequence of it would have been

Popery, I deny.

Nothing is more unlikely ; for though in the

fhort Reign of Queen Mary, Popery came in

for fome time, which was but for a little time,

,and then the People were not fo well grounded

in the Proteltant Religion, nor in the Principles

>of it : But now they are, Infomuch, that fcarce

ja Cobler but is able to baffle any Roman Prieft

that ever I faw or met with.

And Thanks be to God we have a Preaching

Miniftry, and the free ufe of the Scriptures al-

lowed amonglt us, which they are not permitted

to have.

And after this I wonder, that a Man, who
hath been bred up in the Proteltant Religion (as

I have Reafon to believe that you Mr. Coleman

have been) for (if I am not misinformed) your

Father was a Minister in Suffolk; For fuch an

one to depart from it, is an Evidence againSt

you, to prove the Indictment. I mutt make a

i Difference between Us, and Thofe who have

jbeen always educatd that way, and fo are under

the prepoSTefflon of their Education, which is a

:
difficult thing to be overcome.

And I do allure you, there are but two things,

that I know of, can make one do it, Interest, or

,
grofs Ignorance.

No Man of Understanding, but for By-ends,

would have left his Religion to be a Papift.

And for you, Mr. Coleman, who are a Man of

Reafon and bubtilty, I mult tell you (to bring

this to your felf ) upon this account, that it

could not be Confcience, I cannot think it to be

Confcience. Your PcnSion was your Confcience,
: and your Secretary's place your Bait.

Vol.11.

reafon. 6 c i

For fuch Men (I fay) as have been bred up in

the Proteltant Religion, and left it, I can hardly

prefume that rhey do it out of Confcience, un-
lefs they do it upon a mighty feaich, not leaning

upon their own understanding and abilities, not
hearing of one Side alone.

Concience is a tender thing, Confcience will

tremble when it leaves the Religion it has been
bred in, and its Sincerity is Shown by being fear-

ful, left :t Should be in the wrong. No Man
may pretend to Confcience truly, that takes nac
all Courfes imaginable to know the Right, be-

fore he lets his Religion flip from him.

Have we fo foon forgot our Reverence to the
late King, and the pious Advice he left us ? A
King that was truly A DEFENDER of the

FAITH, not only by his Title, but by his Abi-
lities and Writings. A King, who understood
the Proteftant Religion fo well, that he' was
able to defend it againlt any of the Cardin ,1s of
Rome. A: d when he knew it fo throughly and
died fo eminently for it, I will leave this Cha-
racteriftical Note, That whofoever a^ter that

departs from His Judgment, had need have a

very good one of his own, to bear him out.

I do acknowledge, Many of the Popifh Priefts

formerly, were learned Men, and may be fo Still,

beyond the Seas : but I could never yet meet

with any here, that had other L< aiming or

Abdity but Artificial only, to delude weak Wo-
men, and weaker Men.

They have, indeed, ways of Conversion, and

Conviction, by Enlightning our Understandings

with a Faggot, and by the powerful and irre-

fiftible Arguments of a Dagger : But thefe are

fuch wicked Solecifms in their Religion, that

they feem to have left them neither Natural

Senfe, nor Natural Confcience'. Not Natural

Senfe by their Abfurdity, in fo an unreafonable a

belief, as of the Wine turned into Blood: Not
Natural Confcience, by their Cruelty, who make
the Proteftants Blood as Wine, and thefe Priefts

thirft after it.

fantam Religio potuit fuadere malorum ?

Mr. Coleman, in one of his Letters, fpeaks of

routing out our Religion, and our Party ; And he

is in the Right, for they can never root out the

Proteltant Religion, but they muft kill the

Proteltants. But let him and them know, if

ever they Shall endeavour to bring Popery in,

by destroying of the King, they Shall find, that

the Papilts will thereby bring destruction up^n

themfclves, fo that not a Man of them would

efcape.

Ne Catulus quidem relinquendus.

Our Execution Shall be as quick as their Gun-
powder, but more effectual. And lb, Gentle-

men, I Shall leave it to you, to confider, what

his Letters prove him guilty of directly, and

what by Confequence ; What he plainly would

have done, and then, how he would have done

it •, And whether you think his Fiery Zeal had fo

much Cold Blood in it, as to fpare any others?
_

For the other part of the Evidence, which is

by the Teftimony of the prefent Wicneffes, You

T t t t i ' have
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have heard them.- 1 will not detain you
longer now, the Day is going out.

Mr. J. Jones. You muft find the Prifoner

Guilty, or bring in two Perfons Perjured.

L C. J. Gentlemen, If your Confukation

{hall be long, then you muft lie by it all Night,

and we'll take your Verdict to-morrow Morn-
ing. If it will not be long, I am content to ilay

a while.

Jury. My Lord, we {hall be fhort.

J. Wyld. We do not fpeak to you to make
more hade, or lefs, but to take a full Confuka-

tion, and your own time; There is the Death

of a Man at the Stake, and make not too much
hade. We do not fpeak it on that Account.

The Jury went from the Bar, and returned.

Court. Are you all agreed of your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Court. Who fhall fpeak for you?

Jury. The Foreman.
Court. Edward Coleman, hold up thy Hand.

Court. Is Edward Coleman Guilty of the High
Treafon, whereof he {lands Indicted, or Not
Guilty ?

Jury. Guilty, my Lord.

Court. What Goods, Chattels, &c.
Prifoner. You were pleafed to fay to the Jury,

that they muff, either bring me in Guilty, or

two Perfons Perjured : I am a Dying Man, and

upon my Death, and expectation of Salvation,

declare, That I never faw thefe two Gentlemen,

excepting Mr. Oates, but once in all my Life,

and that was at the Council Table.

L. C. J. Mr. Coleman, Your own Papers are

enough to condemn you.

Court. Capt. Ri'chard'Jon, You muft bring Mr.
Coleman hither again to-morrow Morning to re-

ceive his Sentence.

The Day following, being November the iSth,

Mr. Coleman was brought to the Bar, to receive

his Sentence, and the Court proceeded thereupon,

as followetb.

L. C.J. A S K him what he can fay for him-
l\ felfj Make Silence, Crier.

CI. of Cr. Edward Coleman, Hold up thy

Hand. Thou haft been Indicted of High Trea-
fon, thou haft thereunto Pleaded Not Guilty >

thou haft put thy Self upon God and thy Coun-
try, which Country hath found thee Guilty j

What canft thou fay for thy Self, wherefore

Judgment of Death fhould not be given againft

thee, and an Execution Awarded according to

Law?
Mr. Coleman. May it pleafe you, my Lord, I

have this to fay for my felf ; As for my Papers,

I humbly hope, (letting afide Oral Teftimony)
that I fhould not have been found Guilty of any

Crime in them, but what the Act of Grace
would have pardoned, and I hope I fhall have

the Benefit of that : The Evidence againft me,
namely Oral, I do humbly beg that you would

be pleafed to give me a little time to fhew you,

how impofiible it is that thofe Teftimonies

fhould be true ; For that Teftimony of Mr.
Oatcs in Auguft, my Man, that is now cither in

the Court or Hal!, hath gotten a Book that is

able to make it appear, that I was out of Town
from the 1 j-th of Auguft to the jilt of Auguft late

at Night.

L. C. J. That will not do, Mr. Coleman.

Coleman. I do humbly offer this, for this Rea-
fonj becaufe Mr. Oates, in all his other Eviden-
ces, was fo punctual, as to diftinguifh between
Old Stile and New, he never milt the Month,
hardly the Week, and oftentimes put the very
Day i for his Teftimony that he gave againft me,
was, that it was the zift of Auguft.

L. C. J. He thought fo, but he was not pofi-

tive, but only as to the Month.
Coleman. He was certain it was the latter end

of Auguft, and that about Bartholomewtide.

L. C. J. He conceived (o, he thought fo.

Coleman. Now if I was always out of Town
from the ifthDay of Auguft, to the 51ft late at

Night, it is then impofiible, My Lord, That
fhould be a true Teftimony. Your Lordfhip was
pleafed to obferve, that it would much enervate
any Man's Teftimony, if to the whole he could
be proved falfe in any one thing. I have fur-

ther in this matter to fay, befides my Man's Te-
ftimony, the King hath, fincc I have been fciz-

ed on, feized on my Papers and my Book of

Accounts, where I ufed punctually to fet down
where Ifpentmy Money j and if it doth not ap-

pear by that Book that I was all thofe Days and

Times, and feveral other Days in Auguft, to be

out of Town, I defire no favour. You cannot

fuppofe, my Lord, nor the World believe, that I

prepared that
r, ook for this purpofe in this mat-

ter ; and I can make it appear by others, if [

had timej but I only offer this to your Lord-

fhip, that feeing Mr. Oates did name fo many
Particulars and Circumftances, it's very ftrange,

that he fhould fail in a particular of fuch Im-
portance as about killing the King; and no

Man living of common Senfe would think orbe-

lieve that I ihould fpeak about fuch a thing in

Company that I did not well know, and this to

be done frequently and oftentimes, as he afTerts itj

when Oates feem'd to the King and Council (and

I believe the King himfelf remembers it) when
I was examined, that he did not know me, that

he knew nothing of me, fo that here is two
things againft this Witnefs that can hardly hap-

pen again.

My Circumftances are extraordinary, and it
-

is a great Providence, and I think your Lord-

fhip and the whole World will look upon it as

fuch, if for any Crimes that arc in my Papers,

if there be any Mercy to be fhowed me by the

King's Gracious Act of Pardon, I humbly beg

that I may have it.

L. C. J. None.
Colem. If none, I do humbly fubmit j butldo

humbly hope with fubmifflon, that thofe Pa-

pers would not have been found Treafonable

Papers.

L. C. J. Thofe Letters of yours, Mr. Coleman,

were fince the Act of Pardon \ your Papers bear

date 1674, i6"7f, and there hath been no Aft

fince. But as for what you fay concerning Mr.

Oates, you fay it in vain now, Mr. Coleman, for

the Jury hath given in their Verdict, and it is

not now to be faid, for after that Rate we fhall

have no End of any Man's Trial j but for your

fatisfadtion, Mr. Coleman, to the beft of my re-

membrance, Mr. Oates was pofitive only as to

the Month of Auguft, he thought it might be

about the 21ft Day, or about Bartholomew-Fan'

time-, but he was abfolute in nothing but tne

Month.
Coleman.
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Coleman. He was punctual in all his other E-
vidences, but in this he was not ; and when I

was examined at the Council Table, he laid he

knew iitrJe of me.

L. C. J, He charged you pofitively for hav-

ing held Confpiracy to poifon the King •, and

that there was Ten Thoufand Pound to be paid

for it, and afterwards there was Five Thoufand
Pound more to be added; and he pofitively

charges you to be the Perfon that amongft all

the Confpirators was reputed to pay the Five

Thoufand Pound.

Col. He faid it after fuch a fafhion.

L. C. J. He faid it after fuch a fafhion that

Sir Robert Southwell and Sir Thomas Doleman (itis-

ficd us that he did the thing, and that plainly to

his underftanding ; and what fay you he faid?

Col. That he did not know me.

L. C. J. Neither of them fay fo, that he faid

he did not know you, they deny it.

Col. He faid fo, upon my Death.

L. C. J. 'Tis in vain to dilpute it further,

there mult be an End.

Crier, m?<kt yes, Our Sovereign Lord the

King doth ftraitly Charge and Command all

Pcrfons to keep Silence while Judgment is given

upon the Prifoner Convict, upon pain of Impri-

;
fonment.

L- C J. You are found Guilty, Mr. Coleman, of
' High-Treafon, and the Crimes are feveral that

you are found Guilty of. You are found Guilty

of Confpiring the Death of the King; you are

likewife found Guilty of endeavouring to fub-

vert the Proteftant Religion as it is by Law E-
ftablifhed, and to bring in Popery, and this by
the aid and affiftance of Foreign Powers. And
I would not have you, Mr. Coleman, inyourlaft

apprehenfion of things, to go out of the World
with a Mi flake, if I could help it; That is, I

,
would not have you think, that though you on-

: ly feem to difivow the matter of the Death of

the King, that therefore you mould think your

felf an Innocent Man. You are not Innocent, I

am fure ; for it is apparent by that which can-

not deceive, that you are guilty of Contriving

and Confpiring the Dellru&ion of the Pro-

teftant Religion, and to bring in Popery, and

that by the aid and afliftancc of foreign Pow-
ers, and this no Man can free you in the leaft

from. And know, that if it fhould be true, that

: you would difavow, that you had not an actual

;
hand in the Contrivance of the King's Death
(which two Witneffes have fworn pofitively

againft you : ) Yet he that will fubvert the Pro-

: teftant Religion here, and bring in confequent-

ly a Foreign Authority, does an Act in deroga-

tion of the Crown, and in Diminution of the

i
King's Title and Sovenign Power, and end.a-

1 vours to bring a Foreign Dominion both ^ver

i our Confciences and Eltates. And if any Man
i ihall endeavour to fubvert our Religion to bi ing

:in that, though he did not actually contrive to

do it by the Death of the King, or it may be
: not by the Death of any one Man, yet whatfo-

. ever follows upon that Contrivance, he is Guilty

jof; Inf>much, it is greatly to be fear'd, that

though vou meant only to bring it in by the

way of Diffolving of Parliaments, or by Liberty

of Coniciencc, and fuch kind of innocent ways
.as you thought, v t if fo be thofe Means fhouli

j

not have proved Effectual, and worfe fhould

have been taken (though by others of your Con-
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federates) for to go through with the work, as
we have great reafon to believe there would, you
are Guilty of all that Blood that would have fol-

lowed. But ftill you fay you did not defign that
thing

} but to tell you, he that doth a finful and un-
lawful Act, muft anfwer, and is liable both to God
and Man, for all the Confequences that attend it,

therefore I fay )ou ought not to think your felf

innocent. 'Tis poffible you may be penitent*
and nothing remains but that. And as I think
in your Church you allow of a thing called At-
trition, if you cannot with our Church have
Contrition, which is a Sorrow proceeding from
Love, Pray make ufe of Attrition, which is a
Sorrow arifing from Fear. For you may affure
your felf, there are but a few Moments betwixt
you and a vail Eternity, where will be no dal-
lying, no arts to be ufed, therefore think on all

the good you can do in this little fpace of time
that is left you ; all is little enough to wipe off
(befides your p^vate and fecret offences) even
your publick ones. I do know that Confeffion
is very much owned in your Church, and you
do >vell in it; but as your Offence is publick, fo

fhould your Confeffion be; and it will do you
more fervice than all your Auricular Confeffi-.

ons. Were I in your cafe, there fhould be no-
thing at the bottom of my Heart that I would
not dilclofe. Perchance you may be deluded
with the fond hopes of having your Sentence
relpited. Truft not to it, Mr. Coleman. You may
be flatter'd to flop your Mouth, till they have
ftopt your Breath, and I doubt you will find

that to be the event. I think it becomes you as

a Man, and as a Chriflian, to do all that is now
in your Power, fince you cannot be white, to

make your felf as clean as you can, and to fit

your felf for another World, where you will fee

how vain all refolutions of obftinacy of con-

cealment, and all that fort of bravery which
perhaps may be inftill'd by fome Men, will

prove. They will not then ferve to leffen, but
they will add to your fault. It concerns Us no
farther than for your own good, and do as God
fhall direct you, for the truth is, there are per-

fuafions and inducements in your Church to

fuch kind of Refolutions and fuch kind of Acti-

ons, which you are led into by falfe Principles

and falfe Doctrines (and fo you will find when
you come once to experiment it, as fhortly you
will) that hardly the Religion of a Turk would
own. But when Chnftians by any violent bloody

Act: attempt to propagate Religion, they abufe

both their Difciples and Religion too, and

change that way that Chritt Himielf taught us

to follow him by. 'Twas not by Blood or Vio-

lence ; by no fingle Man's undertaking to dif-

turb and to alter Governments; To mike hur-

ly-burlies, and all the mifchiefs that attend fuch

things as thefe are.

For a Church to perfuade Men even to the

Committing of the higheit Violences, under a

pretence of doing God good fervice, looks not

(in my Opinion; like Religion, but Defign j

like an Engine, not a Holy Inflitution; Artifi-

cial as a Clock, which follows not the Sun but

the Setter; goes not according to the Bible but

the Prieft, whole Interpretations ferve their

particular ends, an! thofe private advantages

which True Religion would fcorn, and Natural

Religion it felf would not endure. I have, Mr.

Coleman, faid thus much to you as you are a Chri-

flian,
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ftian, and as I am one, and I do it out of

greac Charity and Companion, and with great

fenfe and forrow that you fhould be mif-led to

thefe great offences under pretence of Religion.

But feeing you have but a little time, I would

bave you make ufe of it to your bed advantage ;

for I tell you, that though Death may be talk'd

of at a diftance in a brave Heroick way, yet

when a Man once comes to the Minute, Death
is a very ferious thing ; then you will confider

how trifling all Plots and Contrivances are, and

to how little purpofe is all your Concealments.

I only offer thefe things to your thoughts, and

perhaps they may better go down at fuch a time

as this is than at another j and if they have no

effect upon you, I hope they will have fome as

to my own particular, in that I have done my
good-will. I do remember you once more, that

in this matter you be not deluded with any fan-

taflick h pes and expectations of a Pardon, for

the Truth is, Mr. Coleman, you will be deceived $

therefore fet your Heart at Reft, for we are at

this time in fuch Diforders, and the People fo

continually a'arm'd either with fecret Mur-
ders, or fome Outrages and Violences that are

this day on foot, that though the King, who is

full of Mercy almoft to a fault, yet it he fhould

be inclined that way, I verily believe both Hou-
fes would interpofe between that and you. I

fpeak this to fhake off all vain hopes from you ;

for I tell you I verily believe they would not

you fhould have any Twig to hold by to de-

ceive you : fo that now you may look upon ir,

there is nothing will fave you, for you will af-

furedly die as now you live, and that very fud-

denly. In which I having difcharged my Con-

fcience to you as a Chriftian, I will now pro-

ceed to pronounce Sentence againft you, and do

my Duty as a Judge.

Ton Jhall return to Prifon, from thence to he

drawn to the place of Execution, whereyou ftoall be

hanged by the Neck, and be cut dozvn alive, your

Bowels burnt before your Face, and your Quarters

fevered) and your Body difpofed of as the King thinks

fit -, and fo the Lord have Mercy upon your Soul.

Coleman. My Lord, I humbly thank your

Lordfhip, and I do admire your Charity, that

you would be pleafed to give me this admirable

Counfel, and I will follow it as well as I can,

and I beg your Lordfhip, to hear me what I am
going to fay. Your Lordfhip, moft Chriftian like,

hath obferved wifely, that Gonfeffion is extreme-

ly necefTary to a dying Man, and I do fo tooi

but that Confeflion your Lordfhip I fuppofe

means, is of a guilty evil Confcience in any of

thefe points that I am condemn'd for, Of mali-

cioufly contriving, Sec. If I thought I had any fuch

Guilt, I fhould affuredly think my felf damn'd
now I am going out of the World by conceal-

ing them, in fpite of all Pardons or Indulgen-

ces, or any Aft that the Pope or the Church of

Rome could do for me, as I believe any one Ar-
ticle of Faith. Therefore pray hear the words

of a dying Man, I have made a Resolution, I

thank God, not to tell a Lye, no not a fingle

Lye, not to fave my Life. I hope God will not

fo far leave me as to let me do it } and I do re-

nounce all manner of Mercy that God can fhew

me, if 1 have not told the Houfe of Commons,
or offer'd it to the Houfe of Commons, ail that

I know in my whole Heart toward this bufinefs 5

and 1 never in all my Life either made any Pro-

portion, or received any Propofition, or knew
or heard directly or indirectly of any Propofition

towards the fupplanting or invading the King's

Life, Crown or Dignity, or to make any in-

vafion or Difturbance to introduce any New
Government, or to bring in Popery by any Vio-
lence or Force in the World 3 if I have, my Lord,
been miftaken in my method, as I will not fay

but I might have been ; for if two Men differ, one
muft be miftaken ; therefore poffibly I might be
of an Opinion, that Popery might come in if Li-
berty of Confcience had been granted ; and per-

haps all Chriftians are bound to wifh all People
of that Religion that they profefs themfelves, if

they are in earneft : I will not difpute thofe Ills

that your Lordfhip may imagine to be in the
Church of Rome ; if I thought there was any in

them I would be fure to be none of it. I have
.no defign, my Lord, at all in Religion but to

be S ived j and I had no manner of Invitation

to invite me to the Church of Rome, no notone^
but to be Saved ; if I am out of the way, I am
out of the way, as to the next World as well as

this i I have nothing but a fincere Confcience,

and I defire to follow it as I ought. I doconfefs

I am guilty of many Crimes, and I am afraid all

of us are guilty in fome meafure, of fome Fail-

ings and Infirmities $ but in matters of this na-

ture that I now ftand condemn'd for, though I

do not at all complain of the Court j for i do
confefs I have had all the fair play imaginable,

and I have nothing at all to fay againft itj buc
I fay as to any one Aft of mine, io far as Acts

require Intention to make them Afts, as all hu-
mane Acts do, I am as Innocent of any Crime
that I now ftand charg'd as guilty of, as when I

was fir ft born.

L. C. J. That is not poffible.

Coleman. With fubmiflion, I do not fAy Inno-
cent as to any Crime in going againft any Aft
of Parliament, then it is a Crime to hear Mafs,
or to do any Aft that they prohibit } but for In-

tending and Endeavouring to bring in that Re-
ligion by the Aid and AfMance of the King of
France, I never intended nor meant by that Aid -

and Aftiftance, any Force in the World, but
fuch Aids and Affiftances as might procure us

Liberty of Confcience. My Lord, if in what I

have fuid no body believes me, I muft be con-
tent j if any do believe me, then I have wip'd
off thofe fcandalous Thoughts and abominable
Crimes, that, rjiV. and then I have paid a little

Debt to Truth.

L. C. J. One word more and I have done. I am
firry, Mr. Coleman, that I have not Charity enough

to believe the words of a dying Man ; for I will tell

you what flicks with me very much : I cannot be per-

fuaded, and no body can, but that your Correfpon-

dence and Negotiations did continue longer than the

Letter s that we havefound, that is after i6jf. Now
if you had come and ftjown us your Books and Let-

ters, which would havefipokefor themfelves, Jfhould
have thought then that you had dealt plainly and fen~

cerely, and it would have been a mighty Motive to

have believed the reft ; for certainly your Correfpon-

dence held even to the time ofyour Apprehenfion, and

you have not difcoveredfo much as one Paper, but

what was found unknown to you, and againft your

will.

Coleman. Upon the words of a dying Man,
and
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and upon the expedition I have of Salvation, I

tell your Lordfhip, that there is not a Book nor

Paper in the World that I have laid afide vo-

luntarily.

L. C. J. No, perhaps you have burnt them.

Coleman. Not, by the Living God.

L. C.J. I hope, Mr. Coleman, you will not fay

1 fig manner of way.

Coleman. For my Correfpondence thefe two
! lafl years pad, I have given an account of every

\
Letter ; but thofe that were common Letters,

, and thofe Books that were in my Houfe, what
became of them I know not ; they were com-
mon Letters that I ufed to write every Day, a

Common Journal what paft at Home and A-
broad. My Men they writ 'em out of that Book.

L. C. J. What became of thofe Letters?

Coleman. I had no Letters about this bufinefs,

but what I have declared to the Houfe of Com-
mons, that is, Letters from St. Germans, which

; I owned to the Houfe of Commons ; and I had

no methodical Correfpondence, and I never va-

lued them nor regarded them, but as they came,

I deftroyed them.

L. C. J. I remember the laft Letter that is given

in Evidence againft you, difcovers what mighty Hopes

there was, that the time was now come wherein that

peftilent Herefy, that hath domineered in this Nor-

1
them part of the World, fhould be Extirpated j and

I that there never was greater hopes of itfince OUR
Ghieen Mary'; Reign. Pray, Mr. Coleman, was
that the concluding Letter in this Affair?

Coleman. Give me leave to fay it upon the

wordof adying Man, I have not one Letter, &c.

L. C. J. What though you burnt your Letters,

you may recolkcl the Contents.

Coleman. I had none fince,

L. C. J. Betzveen God and your Confcicnce be it,

I have other dpprehenfions j and you deferve your

Sentence upon you for your Offences, that vifibly ap-

pear out ofyour own Papers, that you do not, and

cannot deny.

Coleman. I am fatisfied. But feeing my Time
is but fhort, may I not be permitted to have fome

immediate Friends, and my poor Wife to have

her freedom to fpeak with me, and (lay with me
, that little time that I have, that I might fpeak

fomething to her in order to her living and my
dying ?

L. C. J. Tou fay well, and it is a hard Cafe to

deny it ; but I tellyou what hardens my Heart, the

Infolencies of your Party, (the Roman Catholicks I
mean) that they every Day offer, which is indeed a

froof of their Plot, that they are fo bold and im-

pudent, and fuchfecret Murders Committed by them,

as would harden any Man's Heart to do the common

favours of Juftice and Charity, that to Mankind are
ufually done : "they are fo bold and infolent, that I
think it is not to be endured in a Proteftant King-
dom j but for my own particular, Ithink it is a very
hard thing for to deny a Man the company of his

Wife, and his Friends, fo it be done with Caution
and Prudence. Remember that the Plot is on foot,
and I do not know what Arts the Prlefts have, and
what Tricks they ufe ; and therefore have a care that
no Papers, nor any fuch thing, be fent from him.

Coleman. I do not defign it, I am fure.

L. C. J. But for the Company of his Wife and
his near Friends, or any thing in that kind, that
may be for his Eternal Good, and as much for his

prefent Satisfaction that he can receive now in the
condition that he is in, let him have it $ but do it

with Care and Caution.

Capt. Richardfon. What, for them to be pri-

vate alone ?

L. C. J. His Wife, only Jhe, God forbid elfe.

Norfhallyou not be denfd any Proteftant Mini
fter.

Coleman. But mail not my Coufin Coleman have
Liberty to come to me ?

L. C. J. Tes, with Mr. Richardfon.
Coleman. Or his Servant ; becaufe it. is a great:

Trouble for him to attend always.

L. C. J. If it be his Servant, or any he Jhall ap-
point, ^tis all one. Mr. Richardfon, ufe him as

Reafonably as may be, confidering the Condition he

is in.

Cler. Cr. Have a care of your Prifoner.

On Tueftlay the 3d of December following,

Edward Coleman was drawn on a Sledge from
Newgate to Tyburn ; and being come thither, he
declared that he had been a Roman Catholick
for many years, and that he thanked God he
died in that Religion, and he did not think

that Religion at all prejudicial to the King and
Government.
The Sheriff told him, if he had any thing to

fay by way of Confeffion or Contrition, he

might proceed, otherwife it was not feafonable

for him to go on with fuch like Expreffions. Be-
ing asked if he knew any thing of the Murder
of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, he declared upon
the Words of a dying Man, he knew not any

thing of it, for that he was a Prifoner at that

time. Then after fome private Prayers and Eja-

culations to himfelf, the Sentence was executed.

He had been made to believe, that he fhould

have a Pardon, which he depended on with fo

much AfTurance, that a little before he was turn'd

off, finding himfelf deceived, he was heard to

fay, There is no Faith in Man.

LXXVL Tbi
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LXXVI. The Trial of William Ireland, Thomas
Pickering, ^JohnGrove^, at the Old-Baily,

for High-Treafon, December 17, 1678. 30 Car. II.

1 N Tuefday the Seventeenth day ofDe-
cember, OneThoufand Six Hundred
Seventy and Eight, Thomas White
a\hsWhitebread,William Ireland,John

Fenwick, Thomas Pickering, and John
Grove were brought from his Majefty's Goal of

Newgate, to the Seflions-houfe at Juftice-Hall in

the Old-Baily, being there Indicted for High-
Treafon, for contriving and confpiring to Mur~
der the King, to receive their Trial $ and the

Court proceeded thereupon as followeth.

The Court being Set, Proclamation was made for
Attendance, Thus

:

Clerk of Crown. Crier make Proclamation.

Crier. O yes, O yes, O yes ! All manner of

Perfons that have any thing to do at this Gene-
ral Seflions of the Peace, Seflions of Oyer and

Terminer holden for the City of London, and

Goal Delivery of Newgate, holden for the City

of London and County of Middle/ex, draw near and

give your Attendance, for now the Court will

proceed to the Pleas of the Crown for the fame

City and County. God fave the King.

Clerk of Crown. Crier make Proclamation.
1

Crier. O yes! All manner of Perfons are com-
manded to keep Silence upon pain of Imprifon-

ment. Peace about the Court.

Clerk of Crown. Crier make Proclamation.

Crier. O yes ! You Good Men of the County

of Middle/ex; that are Summoned to appear here

this Day, to Enquire between our Sovereign

Lord the King, and the Prifoners that are and

fhall be at the Bar, Anfwer to your Names as

you fhall be called every one at the firft Call, and

fave your Iflues.

The Jurors being called and the Defaulters

recorded, the Clerk of the Crown called for the

Prifoners to the Bar, viz. Thomas White alias

Whitebread, William Ireland, JohnFenwick, Tho-

mas Pickering, and John Grove, and Arraigned

them thus.

Clerk of Crown. Thomas White alias Whitebread,

hold up thy hand: Which he did.

William Ireland, hold up thy hand. Which
he did.

John Fenwick, hold up thy hand. Which he
did.

Thomas Pickering, hold up thy hand. Which
he did.

John Grove, hold up thy hand. Which he did.

You Hand Indicted by the Names of Thomas
White alias Whitebread, late of the Parifh of St.

Giles in the Fields in the County of Middle/ex,

Clerk : William Ireland, late of the fame Parifh

and County, Clerk : John Fenwick, late of the

* Burn. Hijl, Own Times. Vel. I. p. 443.

fame Parifh and County, Clerk : Thomas Pick-
ering, late of the fame Parifh and County, Clerk:
and John Grove,hte ofthe fame Parifh and County,
Gent. For that you Five, as falfe Traitors, &V.
againft the Peace of our Sovereign Lord the
King, his Crown and Dignity, and againft the
Form of the Statute in that Cafe made and pro-
vided. How fay'ft thou Thomas White alias White-
head, art thou Guilty of this High-Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Indi&ed or not Guilty ?

Whitebread. Not Guilty.

Clerk of Crown. Culprit how wilt thou be
Tried ?

Whitebread. By God and my Country. /
Clerk of Crown. God fend thee a good delive-

rance. How fay' ft thou William Ireland, art thou
Guilty of the fame High-Treafon or not Guilty ?

Ireland: Not Guilty.

Clerk ofCrown. Culprit how wilt thou be Tried ?

Ireland. By God and my Country.
Clerk of Crown. God fend thee a good Delive-

rance. How fay'ft thou John Fenwick, art thou
Guilty of the fame High-Treafon or not Guilty?

Fenwick. Not Guilty.

CI. of Cr. Culp. how wilt thou be Tried ?

Fenwick. By God and my Country.
CI. of Cr. God fend the a good Deliverance.

How fay'ft thou Thomas Pickering, art thou Guilty
of the fame High-Treafon or not Guilty ?

Pickering. Not Guilty.

CI. of Cr. Culp. how wilt thou be Tried?
Pickering. By God and my Country.
CI. ofCr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

How fayft thou John Grove, art thou Guilty of
the fame High-Treafon or not Guilty ?

Grove. Not Guilty.

CI. of Cr. Culp. how wilt thou be Tried ?

Grove. By God and my Country.
CI. of Cr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

You the Prifoners at the Bar, thofe Men that

you fhall hear called and do Perfonally appear,
are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King
and you, upon Trial of your feveral Lives and
Deaths j if therefore you or any of you will

Challenge them or any of them, your time is to

fpeak unto them as they come to the Book to be

Sworn, before they be Sworn. Sir Philip

Matthews to the Book.
Sir Philip Matthews. I defire Sir William Ro-

berts may be called firft. Which was granted.

CI. of Cr. Sir William Roberts to the Book.
Look upon r,he Prifoners. You fhall well and
truly Try and true Deliverance make between
our Sovereign Lord the King, and the Prifo-

ners at the Bar, whom you fhall have in your
Charge, according to your Evidence. So help

you God.

The
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The fame Oarh was adminiftred to the reft,

the Prifoners challenging none, and their Names
iii order were thus,

JURY.
Sir fVilliam Roberts, Bart. John i?)yz?W, Efquire.

Sir Philip Matthews, Bart. Thomas Eglesfield, Efq;

Sir Charles Lee, Knight. Thomas Johnfon, Ffq-,

j

Edward Wilford, E 1 q \

John Fofler, Efq;

Jofhua Galliard, Efq-,

John Pulford, Efq;

Thomas Earnesby, Efq;

Richard Wheeler,Gem.

CI. ofCr. Crier count thefe. Sir William Roberts.

Crier. One, &c.

CI. of Cr. Richard JVhecler.

Crier. Twelve, Good Men and True, (land

together nnd hear your Evidence.

CI. of Cr. Crier make Proclamation.

Crier. O yes! Ifany one can inform my Lords

the King'sjuftices,t,he King's Serjeant,the King's

Attorney, or this Inqueil now to be taken, be-

tween our Sovereign Lord the King and the Pri-

foners at the Bar, let them come forth and they

ihall be heard, for now the Prifoners (land at the

Bar upon their Deliverance: and all others that

are bound by Recognizance to give Evidence

againft any of the Prifoners at the Bar, let them

come forth and give their Evidence, or elfe they

forfeit their Recognizance. And all Jury-men
;of Middlefex that have been Summoned and have

'appeared and are not Sworn, may depart the

Court and take their Eafe.

CI. of Cr. Make Proclamation of Silence.

Crier. O yes ! All manner of Perfons are com-
manded to keep Silence upon pain of Imprifon-

ment.

CI. ofCr. Thomas White alias Whitebread, hold

up thy Hand : Which he did, and fo of the reft.

You that are Sworn look upon the Prifoners,

and hearken to their Caufe :

You fhall underftand, that they {land Indict-

ed by the Names of Thomas White, otherwife

Whitebread,\zie of theParifh of St. Giles in theFields

in the Coumy of Middlefex, Clerk •, William Ire-

land^ late of the fame Parifh in the County a-

forefaid, Clerk ; John Fenwick, late of the fame
Parifh in the County aforefaid, Clerk ; Thomas
Pickering, late of the ftme Parifh in the County
iforefaid, Clerk; and John Grove, late of the

"ame Parifh in the County aforefaid, Gentle-

nan: For that they as falfe Traitors of the moffc

Uluftrious, Serene, and moft Excellent Priuce,

our Sovereign Lord Charles II. by the Grace
)f God of England, Scotland, France, and Ireland,

•Cing, Defender of the Faith, fjfV. their fupreme
nd natural Lord, not having the Fear of God
n their hearts, nor the duty of their Allegiance

f

ny ways weighing, but being moved and fedu-

ced by the Inftigation of the Devil, the cordial

i,ove, and true, due, and natural Obedience,
vhich true and faithful Subjects of our faid So-
ereign Lord the King, towards our faid Sove-
eign Lord the King, fhould and of right ought
o bear, altogether withdrawing, and endea-
vouring, and with their whole ftrength intend-

ag, the peace and common tranquillity of this

kingdom of England to dilhirb, and the true

Vorfhip of God within this Kingdom of Eng-

md ufed, and by Law eftablifhed, to overthrow,
nd to move, itir up, and procure Rebellion
/ithin this Kingdom of England, and the cordi-

jl Love, and true and due Obedience, which
Vol. II.

true and faithful Subjecis of our faid Sovereign
Lord the King, toward our faid Sovereign Lo°d
the King fhould and of right ought to bear,
wholly to withdraw, vanquifh, and extinguifh,
and our laid Sovereign Lord the King to Death
and final Dellruftion to bring and put, the four
and twentieth Day of April, in the Year of the
Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord Charles II. by
the Grace ofGod of'England, Scotland, France and
Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, &c. the thir-
tieth, at the Parifh of St. Giles in theFields afore-
faid, in the County of Middlefex aforefaid, falfly,

malicioufly, deceitfully, advifedly, and traite-
roufly, they did propofe, compafs, imagine, and
intend, to llir up, move, and procure Sedition
and Rebellion within this Kingdom of England,
and to procure and caufe a miferable flaughter
among the Subjects of our faid Sovereign Lord
the King, and wholly to d.-prive, depofe, throw
down, and difinherit our faid Sovereign Lord the
King from his Royal State, Title, Power and
Government of this his Kingdom of England, and
him our faid Sovereign Lord the King to put to
Death, and utterly to dellroy, and the Govern-
ment of this Kingdom ofEngland, and thefincere
Religion and Worfhipof God in the fame King-
dom, rightly and by the Laws of the fame King-
dom eftablifhed, for their will and pleafure to
change and alter, and wholly to fubvert and de-
ftroy the (late of the whole Kingdom, being in

all parts thereof well iriflituted, and ordered,
and to levy War againft our faid Sovereign Lord
the King within this his Realm of England. And
to fulfil and bring to pafs thefe their moft wick-
ed Treafons and Traiterous defigns and purpo-
fes aforefaid, they the faid Thomas White other-
wife Whttebread, William Ireland, John Fenwick,
Thomas Pickering, and John Grove, and other falle

Traitors unknown, the faid four and twentieth
Day of April, in the faid thirtieth Year of the
Reign of our faid Lord the King, with force and
arms, &c. at the Parifh of St. Giles in the Fields

aforefaid, in the County of Middlefex aforefaid,

falfly, malicioufly, deceitfully, advifedly, de-
vilifbly, and traitcroufly d d affembie, unite,

and gather themfelves together, and then and
there falfly, malicioufly, deceitfully, advifedly,

dcvilifhly, and traiteroufly they did confult and
agree to put and bring our faid Soverign Lord
the King to Death and final Deftruction, and to

alter and change the Religion rightly and by
the Laws of the fame Kingdom eftablifhed, to

the fuperftition of the Church of Rome ; and the

fooner to bring to pafs and accomplifh the fame
their moft wicked Treafons and Traiterous ima-
ginations and purpofes aforefaid, they the faid

Thomas White otherwife Whitebread, William Ire-

land, John Fenwick, Thomas Pickering, John Grove,

and other falfe Traitors of our faid Sovereign

Lord the King unknown, afterwards (to wit,)

the faid four and twentieth Day of April, in the

faid thirtieth Year of the Reign of our faid So-

vereign Loid the King, at the faid Parifh of St.

Giles in the Fields, in the County of Middlefex a-

forefiiid, falfly, deceitfully, advifedly, malici-

oufly, devilifhly , and traiteroufly they did

confult and agree that they the faid Thomas

Pickering and John Grove fhould kill and murder

our faid Sovereign Lord the King: And that

they the h\d Thomas White othcrw'iie Whitebread,

William Ireland, John Fenivick, and other falle

Traitors unknown, fhould therefore fay, rele-

U u u u brat',
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bratc, and perform a certain number of Maffes,

(then and there agreed on among them) for the

good of the Soul of the faid Ihomas Pickering,

and ihould therefore pay to the faid John Grove

a certain fum of Money, (then and there alio

agreed on among them :) And further, that the

faid 'Thomas Pickering and 'John Grove upon the

Agreement aforefaid, then and there fallly, de-

ceitfully, advifedly, rnalicioufly, devilifhly, and

traiteroufJy did undertake, and to the faid Tho-

mas White otherwife Whitebread, William Ire-

land, John Fenwick, and other falfe Traitors of

our laid Sovereign Lord the King unknown,

then and there fallly, deceitfully, advifedly, rna-

licioufly, devilifhly, and trait eroufly they did

then and there promife, that they the faid Tho-

mas Pickering and John Grove our faid Sovereign

Lord the King would kill and murder : And
further, that they the faid Thomas White other-

wife Whitebread, William Ireland, John Fen-

ivick, Thomas Pickering, and John Grove, and o-

ther fdfe Traitors of our faid Sovereign Lord

the King unknown, afterwards (to wit) the faid

four and twentieth Day of April, in the faid

thirtieth Year of the Re'gn of our faid Sove-

reign Lord the King, at thefaidParifhof St. Giles

in the Fields in the County of Middiejcx aforefaid,

falfly, deceitfully, advifedly, rnalicioufly, de-

vilifhly, and traiteroufJy, did feverally plight

their Faith every one to other of them, and did

then and there fwear and promife upon the Sa-

crament, to conceal and not to divulge their

faid molt wicked Treafons, and traiterous com-

paffings, confultations, and purpofes afnrelaid,

fo among them had, traiteroufly to kill and mur-

der our faid Sovereign Lord the King, and to

introduce the Roman Religion, to be uled within

this Kingdom of England, and toalter and change

the true Reformed Religion, rightly and by the

Laws of this Kingdom of England, in this fame

Kingdom of England eftablifhed: And further,

that they the faid Thomas Pickering and John

Grove, in execution of their faid traiterous A-
greement, afterwards (to wit) the fame 24th

Day cf April, in the faid 30th Year of the Reign

of our laid Sovereign Lord the King, and divers

other Days and Times afterwards at the faid Pa-

rifh of Sc Giles in the Fields, in the faid County
of Middle/ex, falfly, deceitfully, advifedly, rna-

licioufly, devilifhly, and traiteroufly they did

prepare and obtain to themfelves, and had and

did keep Mufquets, Piftols, Swords, Daggers,

and other often five and cruel weapons and in-

rlruments, to kill and murder our faid Sovereign

Lord the King : And that they the faid Thomas

Pickering and John Grove afterwards, to wit the

faid four and twentieth Day of April, in the faid

thirtieth Year of the Reign of our faid Sove-

reign Lord the King, and divers days and times

afterwards with Force and Arms, &c at the faid

Parifh of St. Giles in the Fields in the County of

Middle/ex aforefaid, and in other places within

.the faid County of Middle/ex, fallly, deceitfully,

advifedly, rnalicioufly, and traiteroufly, did lie

in wait, and endeavour to kill and murder our

faid Sovereign Lord the King ; and further, that

they the faid Thomas White otherwife White-

bread, William Ireland, John Fenivick, and other

falfe Traitors unknown, afterwards (to wit) the

faid 14th day of April in the faid thirtieth Year
of the Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord the

King, at the faid Parifh of St. Giles in the Fields,

in the County of Middlefex aforefaid, falfly, de-

ceitfully, advifedly, malicioufly, devilifhly, and
traiteroufly, did prepare, perfuade, excite, abet,

comfort, and counfel four other Perfons un-
known, and Subjects of our faid Sovereign
Lord the King, traiteroufly to kill and murdet
our faid Sovereign Lord the King, againft the

duty of their Allegiance, againft the peace of
our faid Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown
and Dignity, and againft the form of the Sta-

tute in that behalf made and provided.

Upon this Indictment they have been arraign-
ed, and thereunto have feverally pleaded, Not
Guilty, and for their Trial have put themfelves
upon God and their Country, which Country
you are.

Your Charge therefore is to enquire, whether
they or any of them be guilty of the High-Trea-
fon, whereof they Hand indicted, or not guilty.

If you find them or any of them guilty, you are

to enquire what Goods or Chattels, Lands or
Tenements, thofe you find guilty had at the

time of the High-Treafon committed, or at any
time fince. If you find them, or any of them
not guilty, you are to enquire whether they did
fly for it, if you find that they or any of them
fled for it, you are to enquire of their Goods
and Chattels, as if you had found them guilty.

If you find them or any of them not guilty, nor
that they, nor any of them fled for it, fay fo,

and no more, and hear your Evidence.

Make Proclamation of Silence, on both fides. 1
^

Which was done.

Then Sir Crefivell Levinz, one of the King's P
Learned Counfel in the Law, opened the In-

"' c

dictment, thus

:

to

Sir Cref. Levinz. May it pleafe your Lord-
fhip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury : Thefe
Prifoners at the Bar, Thomas White alias White-
bread, William Ireland, John Fenwick, Thomas
Pickering, and John Grove, do all fland indicted

of High-Treafon ; for that whereas they, as falfe

Traitors, meaning and defigning to diiturb the

Peace of the Kingdom, to levy War within the

Kingdom, to make miferable flaughter againft

the King's Subjects, to fubvert the Religion e-

ftablifhed by the Law of the Land, to introduce

the Superftitinn of the Church of Rome, and to

bring to death and final destruction, and to mur-
der and affkfiinute our Sovereign Lord the King,
they did, to effect thefe things, the four and

twentieth of April laft affemble themfelves toge*

ther, with many other falfe Traitors yet un-

known, in the Parifh of St. Giles in the Fields in

the County of Middlefex, and there, being fo al-

fembled, the better to effect thefe defigns did

make agreements and confpire together} firft,

that Pickering and Grove fhould kill the King, and

that White and the reft of the Perfons that Hand

indicted, with many other Traitors, fhould fay

a great number of Maffes for the Soul of the faid

Pickering, I think thirty thoufand, and they did

further agree there th«t Grove fhould have »

great Sum of Money, and upon this Agreement
Grove and Pickering did undertake and promife

they would do this Fact, and did then and there

take the Sacrament and an Oath to one another

upon the Sacrament, that they would conceal

thefe
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, thefe their Treafons, that they might the bet-

i

ter effect them } and that in purfuance of this,

[Grove and Pickering did divers times lie in wait

to murder the King, and did provide arms to

do it •, and the Indictment further fets forth,

'that White, and Ireland, and Fenwick, and many
other Traitors yet unknown, did procure four

other Perfons yet alfo unknown, for to kill the

;

King, againft the peace of our Sovereign Lord

the King, his Crown and Dignity, and againft

ithe fonn of the Statute. Thefe are the heads of

thole Facts for which they ftand indicted : They
;have all pleaded Not guilty, if we prove them

or any of them guilty of thefe Or any of thefe

iFacts according to the Evidence you fhall have,

we hope you will find it.

Sir Samuel Baldwin, one of his Majefty's Ser-

jeants at Law, opened the Charge as followeth.

Sir Samuel Baldwin. May it pleafe your Lord-

(hip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, the Per-

sons here before you ftand indicted of High-

Treafon, they are five in number, three of them

are Jefuits, one is a Priefl, the fifth is a Lay-man,

jPerfons fitly prepared for the work in hand.

Gentlemen, it is not unknown to molt Per-

ifons, nay to every one amongft us, that hath

(the leaft obferved the former times, how that

Kvcr fince the Reformation there hath been a

Defion carried on to fubvert the Government,

and deftroy the Proteftant Religion eftablifhed

(here in England; for during all the Reign of

Queen Elizabeth feveral attempts were made by

feveral Priefts and Jefuits, that came from be-

yond the Seas, (though the Laws were then fe-

vere againft them) to deftroy the Queen, and

alter the Religion eftablifhed here in England,

and fo introduce Popery and the Superftition of

the Church of Rome.

But the Confpirators from time to time, du-

ring all the Queen's Reign, were difappointed,

as Edmond Campion and feveral other Jefuits, who
came over in that time, and were executed, and

did fuffer for their Treafons according to Law ;

At length, about the latter end of the Queen's

, time, a Seminary for the Englifb Jefuits was round-

ed at Valledolid in Spain., and you know the Em-
ployment fuch Perfons have.

i

And foon after the Queen's death, in the be-

ginning of the Reign of King James feveral Per-

sons came over into England from this very Semi-

nary, who together with one Henry Garnet^ Supe-

rior of the Jefuits then in England, and divers o-

,her Englijh Papifts, hatched that hellifh Gunpow-
ler-Plot j whereby what was defigned you all

;now ; but as it fell out, thefe Perfons, as well

is thofe in Queen Elizabeth's time, were likewife

Jifappointed, and for their execrable Treafons,

n the third Year of King James, were executed

t Tyburn and other places.

\
This is evident by the very Act of Parliament

n if.Jucobi, in the preamble whereof mention is

<nade that Crefwell and Tefmond Jefuits, came
rom Valledolid in Spain to execute this Gun-
owder-Treafon with the Popifh party here in

England.

And, Gentlemen, after this Treafon, fo mira-

uloufly difcovered, was punifhed, one would
jOt have thought that any future Age would
jave been guilty of the like Confpiracyj but
c fo falls out that the Myftery of Iniquity and
Vol. II.

Jefuitifm ftill worketh, for there hath of late
been a fort of cruel and bloody-minded Perfons,
who, in hopes to have better fuccefs, than they
had in former times, during the Reigns ofQueen
Elizabeth and King James, have fet on foot as

horrid a Defign as that of the Gunpowder Trea-
fon •, I can refemble it to no other Plot, or De-

or Treafon in any other time, and truly in

refemble that in many particulars: I may
it doth at the leaft equal it, if not exceed

fign

docs

fay,

it.

I fhall mention two or three particulars in
which this Plot doth refemble that.

Firft 1 That horrid Defign was to take away
the Life of the then King, to fubvert the Go-
vernment, to introduce the Popifh Religion,
and to deftroy the eftablifhed Proteftant Religi-
on in England, and fo, Gentlemen, we think
our Proofs will make it out, that in each of thefe
particulars this Defign is the fame that that was.

Secondly, The great Actors in that Defign
were Priefts and Jefuits that came from Valledo-
lid in Spain and other places beyond the Seas.
And the great Actors in this Plot are Priefts

and Jefuits, that are come from St. Omers, and
other places beyond the Seas nearer home than
Spain.

Thirdly, That Plot was chiefly guided and ma-
naged by Henry Garnet, Superior and Provincial
of the Jefuits then in England, and the great
Actor in this Defign is Mr. tVhitebread, Superior
and Provincial of the Jefuits now in England; fo

that I fay in thefe feveral Particulars it does re-
femble the GUNP O fVD E R-P LOT.

Gentlemen, In this Plot, of which the Prifoners
now ftand indicted, feveral Perfons have Several

Parts : Some of thefe Perfons are employed to
keep Correfpondence beyond the Seas, (of
which more hath been faid in another place, and
fo I fhall not fpeak of it here :) Others were to

procure and prepare Aid and Affiftance here in

England, who were to be ready when there

fhould be occafion to ufe it. But the great
part that Thefe Perfons (the Prifoners at the
Bar) were to Act in this Confpiracy, was, To take

away the Life of our Sovereign Lord the KING,
on whofe Prefervation the fafety and welfare of
Three Nations (and Millions of Men) doth de-

pend. Now the Facts for which the Five Prifo-

ners ftand indicted, I fhall open thus

:

Firft, They are here Indicted for Confpiring

the Death of his Sacred Majefty : They did A-
gree to take away the K I N G 's Life ; and en-

tering into fuch an Agreement, They Hired
fome Perfons amongft them to do it} and this

Agreement was made the 24th of April laft,

1678.

Secondly, There is another Fact they likewife

ftand Indicted for : That they did Endeavour and
Contrive to Change and Alter the Religion Eftablifo-

ed in the Nation, and introduce Popery in the Room

of it. The Manner how to effect this, was thus,

ifmy Information be right; you fhall hear thac

from the Evidence. Mr. Whitebread being Refi-

dent here in England, and Superior of the Je-

fuits, did in February laft think fit, (being im-

powered by Authority from Rome) to give Sum-
mons to the Jefuits abroad, at St. Omers, and

other places beyond the Seas, that they fhould

come over here into England, to be ready at

London, on the Four and Twentieth of April,

U u u u 2, the
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the day laid in the Indictment, and which is the

day after St. George's dayj and their defign was
(as will appear by the Proof) to Contrive how
thev may 'take away the Life of the KING: For
if that were once done, they thought, in all

other Things, their Defign would eafily be ac-

complifhed. After the Summons were out, they

were lb officious for the accomplilhing of this

Great End, that between Forty and Fifty Jefuits

did appear here at London at the time, (for thi-

ther they were Summoned) and there the Meet-
ing was appointed to be. At the White-Hotfe

Tavern in the Strand they were to meet firft ',

but being fo great a Number, that they were
likely to be taken notice of, if they came all

together, it was fo Ordered, they fhould come
but a few at a time, and go off in fmall Num-
bers j and others (hould fucceed them, till the

whole Number had been there. And these were
Directions given, and a Courfe taken, that

there fhould be fome Perfon to tell them whi-
ther they mould go from thence. After they

had met there at feveral times in the fame day,

they were appointed, and adjourned to be at

feveral other Places 5 fome of them were ap-

pointed to be at Mr. fVhitebread's Lodging, and

that was in Wildfireet,%\. one Mr. Sanders's Houfe :

Others were appointed to go to Mr. Ireland's

Lodging, which was in Rujfel-Street, (and this

Mr. Ireland was Treafurer of the Society :) And
others were to meet at Mr. Fen-wick's Chamber
in D'rury-Lane-t and he was at that time Procu-

rator and Agent for that Society. Otheis were

appointed to meet at Harcourt's Lodging ; and
others at other Places.

When they came there, they all agreed to the

general Defign of the firft meeting, which was,

to kill the King Tnen there was a Paper, or

fome Inftrument to be Subfcribed. This was

done, and the Saciam^nt was taken for the Con-
cealment of it. After that, Whitebread, Ireland,

Fenwick, and others, did agree that Mr. Grove
and Mr. Pickering fhould be employed to Af-
fajfindie the King. One of them {Nix. Grove) be-

>ug a Lay-Brother, was to have Fifteen Hun-
dred Pound, a great Sum ; the other, as a more
fuitable Reward for his Pains, was to have Thir-

ty Thoufand Mafles faid for his Soul. Mr. White-
bread, Mr. Ireland, and Mr. Fenwick, were all

privy to this Defign ; and this was the Twen-
ty fourth of April. In Auguft after (they being

appointed to Kill the King, but it not taking Ef-

fect, either their Hearts mifgave them, or they

wanted Opportunity) there was another Meet-
ing at the Savoy, where the WitnefTes will tell

you, four Irijh Perfons were hired for to Kill the

King. And this was ordered, in cafe the other

Defign took not Effect. There was fourfcore

Pounds fent down to them to Wind/or, where
they were to have done the Fact. After this,

other Perfons were appointed to do the Execu-
tion, and they were to take the King at his

Morning Walk at New-market.

Thefe Perfons were all difappointed in their

Defign. But you itiall hear what was the Agree-

ment, how it was carried on, and what Re-
wards were given to carry it on. We fhall ac-

quaint you likewife, that for the bottom of this

Defign (when fo many Jefuits fhould come over,

when they fhould have fo many Confultations,

and when they fhould refolve to Kill the King)

there could be no lefs than the Altering of Reli-

gion, and Introduction ofPopery here in England.
And that time, at the firft Meeting, they had
Ordered, That Mr. Cary a Jefuit, as their Pro-
curator and Agent, fhould go to Rome, to aft

their Concerns there. All which things, and
more, will be made out to you by WitnefTes
produced. There are likewife fome other Cir-
cumftances that will be material to confirm thofe
WitnefTes. We fhall produce to you a Letter
written in February laft, about that time that
Mr. Whetebread fent over his Summons for the
Jefuits, to appear here. This Letter was writ-
ten by one Mr. Peters, a Jefuit nowinCuftody;
and 'tis written to one tunfial a Jefuit, to give
him notice, That he fhould be in London about
the twenty firft of April, and be ready on the
twenty fouith of April', That he knew what
the Bufinefs was; but he did advife him, that
he fhould conceal himfelf, left the Plot (by Ob-
fervationj fhould be difcover'd. We fhall like-
wife produce feveral other Evidences, to
Strengthen and Confirm the WitnefTes : We fhall

firft call our WitnefTes, and enter upon the Proof.

Mr. Finch open'd the Evidence thus :

Mr. Finch. May it pleafe your Lofdfhip, and
you Gentlemen of the Jury,

Before we call our WitnefTes, I would beg
Leave once more to Remind you, of what hath
already been open'd unto youj The Quality of
the Offenders themfelves, and the Nature of the
Offence they ftand Indicted of.

For the Offenders, they are moft of them
Priefts and Jefuits j three of them at the leaft

are foj the other Two, are the Accurfed In-

ftruments of this Defign : For the Offence it

felf, 'tis High-Treafon.
And though it be High-Treafon by the Sta-

tute of Twenty Seven Eliz. for Men of that

Profeffion to come into England; yet thefe Men
are not Indicted upon that Law, nor for that

Treafon : This I take notice of to you, for the
Prifoners fake, that they fhould not fancy to

themfelves they fuffered Martyrdom for their Re-
ligion, as fome of them have vainly Imagin'd in

their cafe; and for your fakes too, that as at firft,

it was Treafon, repeated Acts ofTreafon, in thefe

Men; and thofe proceeding from a Principle of

Religion too, that juftly occafioned the making
that Law : So here you might obferve a preg-

nant Inftance of it in the Prifoners at the Bar,

That whenever they had an Opportunity, as

now they thought they had, they have never

failed to put thofe Principles into Practice.

So now, Gentlemen, As they are not Indit-

ed for being Priefts, I muft defire you to lay that

quite out of the Cafe, and only confider, that

they ftand here Accufed for Treafon ; fuch

Treafon, as were they Lay-men only, they

ought to Die for it ; though I cannot but ob-

ferve, they were the fooner Traitors for being

Priefts.

The Treafon therefore they ftand Indicted of,

is of the higheft Nature : It is a Confpiracy to

Kill the King, and that too with Cicumitances fo

Aggravating (if any thing can aggravate that

Offence which is the Higheft) that nothing lefs

than the Total Subverfion of the Government,
and utter Deftruction of the Proteftant Religi-

on, would ferve their Turns. And really, when
you confider the Root from whence this Trea-

fon
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fon fprings, you will ceafe wondring that all this

fhould be Attempted, and rather wonder that it

was not done.

Mifchiefs have often mifcarried for want of

Wickednefs enough ; the Horror ofConfcience,

[orelfe the Malice of the AggrefTor not being

equal to the Attempt, has fometimes prevented

the Execution of it. Here is no Room for any

thing of this kind: ThisTreafon proceeds from

la Principle of Religion, from a Senfe that it is

i
Lawful; Nay, that they ought to do thefe

'things i and every Neglect here, is lookt on as a

piece of Irreligion, a want of Zeal 5 for which

one of the Prifoners did Penance, as in the

Courfe of our Evidence we ih.aH prove unto

you.

And when we confider too, that this is carri-

ed on, not by the fury of two or three bufy Men
jover-zealous in the Caufe, but by the deliberate

and fteddy Counfels of the whole Order, and

ithat too under the Obligations of Secrecy as

high as Chriftian Religion can lay on them ;

You have great reafon to wonder that it did not

fucceed. And yet after all this they have not

been able to prevail. Not that we can bragg of

any human Policy that did prevent it; No> all

jthat the Wit of Man could do, thefe Men had

done: But 'twas the Providence of God, 'twas

ihis Revelation; That Providence that fir ft en-

ilighten'd his Church, and has preferv'd it againll

all Oppofition heretofore, has once more difap-

ipointed their Counfels, and preferved the King
,and this Nation in the Profeffion of that True
(Religion thefe Men have vainly attempted to

deftroy.

Gentlemen. I will not open to you the Parti-

culars of our Evidence, that I had rather fhould

come from the WitnefTes themfelves : I fhall

only in general tell you what will be the courfe

of it. We fhall prove unto you, That there was

a Summons for a Confutation to be held by
thefe Men the 24th of April laft, from the Pro-

vincial Mr. Whitehead; That they had a Cauti-

on given them, Not to come too foon, nor ap-

pear much about Town, till the Confukation

were over, left occafion fhould be given to Suf-

peff the Defign: That accordingly a Confukation
' was held, as they fay, to fend Cary, their Pro-

curator, to Rome ; Though we fhall prove to

you, it was for other purpofes : That they ad-

ijourned from their General AfTembly into lefler

Companies j where feveral Perfons did attend

ithem to carry Intelligence of their feveral Re lo-

cutions: That at thele feveral Confuks, they did

refolve, The King was to be Killed. That
Pickeringznd Grove fhould do it ; for which the

one was to have joooo Maffes faid for his Soul

:

The other was to have ifool. That in Piofe-

jcution of this Defign, they made feveral At-
tempts to execute ic ; That they lay in Wait for

the King feveral times in St. James's Park and
other places j And that once in particular, it

had been done by Pickerings if it had not pleaf-

ed God to have prevented it by an Accident un-

forefeen; The Flint of his Piftol being loofe, he

durft not then attempt it, though he had an op-

portunity : For which neglect, we fhall prove
to yeu, he underwent the Penance of zo or 30
ftrokes. That when thefe Men had failed, we
fhall prove to you they hired four Ruffians to

iMurder the King at Windfor, and after that at

New-Market. Thus they Way-laid him in all

7OI
his Privacies and Retirements, wherever they
could think it moft convenient to execute their

Defign.

And this we fhall prove by two WitnefTes

;

who though they fhould not fpeak to the fame
Confukations, nor the fame Times j yet they

are ftill two WitnefTes in Law. For feveral Wit-
nefTes of feveral Overt- Acts, are fo many Wit-
nefTes to the Treafon. Becaufe the Treafon con=
fifts in the Intention of the Man, in the Com-
paffing and Imagining the Death of the King,
The feveral Overt-Acts which declare that In-

tention, are but as fo many Evidences of the

Treafon. We will call our WitnefTes, and make
out what has been open'd to you.

CI. of Cr. Mr. Oates, Lay your Hand upon
the Book. The Evidence you fhall give for our
Sovereign Lord the King againft Thomas White
alias Whitehead, William Ireland, John Fenwick,

Thomas Pickering, and John Grove, the Prifoners

at the Bar, fhall be the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth. So helpyou God.

Mr. Serj. Baldwyn. Pray, Mr. dates, will you
declare to the Court and the Jury, what Defign
there was for the Killing of His Majefty,andby
whom.
Mr. Oates. My Lord, In the Mont h of Decem-

ber laft, Mr. Thomas Whitebread did receive a Pa-
tent from the General of the Jefuits at Rome to

be Provincial of the Order-, after he had re-

ceived this Patent, he fent Order to one George

Conyers a Jefuit at St. Omers to Preach upon St.

Thomas of Canterbury's Day ; and by virtue of this

Order, George Conyers did Preach againft Oaths
of Allegiance and Supremacy, and did in his

Doctrine call them Anti- Chriftian and Devil-

lifh. My Lord, in the Month of January, this

Mr. Whitebread did fend feveral Letters to St.

Omers; in which Letters there was contained

intimation of his intent to proceed againft the

King's Perfon to AfTafTinate him, which Let-

ters were written to Richard Afloby. My Lord,

in the Month of February, there comes an Order
from him as Provincial, for feveral of the Je-
fuits to make their appearance at London, to be

there at a Confult to be held the 24th of April

Old Stile.

Sir William Scroggs L.C.J. Where was White-

bread then ?

Mr. Oates. He was then in London, my Lord,

as I fuppofe by the dating of his Letters. My
Lord, from Mr. Whitebread after this Summons,
we received a fecond Summons, which came
the fth of April, New Stile, and upon the Sum-
mons there were Nine did appear at London, the

Rector of Liege, Sir Thomas Prefion, the Rector

of Ghent, whole name is Marfh, the Rector of

Wotton, whofe name is Williams, and one Sir

John Warner, and two or three more from St. O-

mers ; and there was a fpecial Order given us,

my Lord, to keep our felves clofe, left we

fhould be fufpected, and fo our Defign difclofed.

My Lord, upon the four and twentieth of April,

Old Stile, we did appear in the Confult. The
Confult was begun at the White- Horfe Tavern in

the Strand, and there they met in feveral Rooms,

they came in by degrees, and as the new ones

came on, the old ones, thofe that had been there

before them, fell off. And there was one John

Cary appointed to go Procurator for Rome, and

he was fo appointed by the Suffrages of the

three
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three Prifoners at the Bar, Whitebread, Ireland,

and Fenivick. It was afterwards adjourned into

feveral Colloquies, or little Meetings j one Meet-

ing was at Mrs. Sanders's Houfe, that butts up-

on Wild- Houfe ; a Second was at Mr. Ireland's;

a third was at Mr. Harcourt's; a Fourth was at

Mr. Grove's; and other Meeting or Meetings

there were, but I cannot give a good Account
of them. My Lord, after they had thus met,

and debated the State of Religion, and the Life

of the King, they drew up this Refolve ; it was
drawn up by one Mico, who was Secretary to

the Society, and Socius, or Companion to the

Provincial.

L. C. J. When was that done ?

Mr. Oates. That Day, my Lord. The Refolve,

my Lord, was this, as near as I can remember
the Words. It is refolved, That 'Thomas Picker-

ings and John Grove, fhall go on in their At-

tempt to Affaffinate the King (whether they u-

fed the Word Affaffinate, I can't remember, but

the Meaning was, they fhould make an Attempt
upon his Perfon) and that the Reward of the

one, that is Grove's, fhould be Fifteen Hundred
Pounds, and that Pickering's Reward fhould be

Thirty Thoufand MafTes. My Lord, after this

Refolurion was Signed by Whitebread, it was
Signed ,by Fenivick and Ireland, and by all the

four Clubs: I faw them Sign it, for I carried

the Instrument from one to another.

L. C J. What was it they Signed?

Mr. Oates. The Refolve of the Confulr.

L. C. J. What, that which was drawn up by
Mico?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, that which was

drawn up by Mico.

Whitebread. Doth he fay that he faw them

Sign it?

Mr. Oates. Yes, I did fee them Sign it.

Jury. We defire he may be asked, where he

faw them Sign it.

Mr. Oates. Mr. Whitebread Signed it at that

Part of the Confult that was at his Chamber,
Ireland did Sign it at that Part of the Confult

that was at his Chamber, Fenivick Signed it at

that Part of the Confult that was at his Cham-
ber.

Whitebread. Were you at all thefe Places ?

Mr. Oates. I went with it from Place to

Place ; but I mention no more now, but only

thefe.

Whitebread. You were not at all thefe Places,

and faw them Sign it there, were you?
Mr. Oates. Yes, I did fee them Sign it at all

thofe Places. My Lord, in the Month ofMay,
Mr. Whitebread came over as Provincial from
England to St. Omers, to begin his Provincial Vi-

fitation, and with him came Gary, and his Com-
panion Mico. Cary left St. Omers to begin his

Journey to Rome ; Whitebread, after he had gi-

ven an Accompt of what Proceedings the Ca-
tholicks of England had made in order to difturb

the Peace of the Kingdom, what Moneys had

been gathered, what Suffrages difpers'd, what
Means had beenufed, what Noblemen had join-

ed in this execrable Plot* he did then (my Lord)
order me to come for England.

L. C. J. Whitebread did ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, Whitebread did.

And, my Lord, the Bufinefs I was to come into

England for, was to murder one Dr. tongue, a

Doctor in Divinity, who had written a Book

called the Jefuits Morals } that is to fay, Tranf-
lated them out of French into Englijh. My Lord
I came over into England on the 2$d of June
New Stile 5 I came out of St. Omers, that is*

the 15th in the Stile of England; on the 24th
New Stile, I took the Packet-Boat at Calais-
the 2fth New Stile, I met with Mr. Fenivick at

Dover, he was comedown with certain Youths
to fend them to St. Omers, and had ordered their
Paffage.

My Lord, with Mr. Fenivick, and fome other
Perfons, we came to London in a Coach, and fix

Miles (as near as I remember it) on this fide Can-
terbury, at a Place called Bolton^ our Coach was
ftopt by the Searchers, and there they did exa-
mine a Box that was in the Coach directed for
the Honourable Richard Blundell Efq; This Box
when they open'd it, they found full of Beads,'
Crucifixes, Images, and other forts of Trumpe-
ry, that I cannot give a good Account of

} it's

he can give the belt : Mr. Fen-wick went by the
Name of one thompfon, and did Perfonate one
thompfon, as living near the Fountain-tavern at
Charing-Crofs; and did order the Searchers to
write to him there, as by the Name of thompfon.
When the Box was feiz'd, they being Prohibited
Goods, Mr. Fenivick did fay, that if they had
fearch'd his Pockets, they had found fuch Let-
ters about him, as might have coff. him his Life;
but his Letters did efcape Searching. We came
that Night to Sittenburgh, and lay there on Sun-
day the 26th New Stile, as near as I remember;
and I think we flayed there till the Afternoon:
We took Coach in the Afternoon, and came as
far as Dartford. On Monday Morning we came
into London j and (my LordJ when we came in-

to London, and had continued there fome Days.
(I now return to Mr. Whitebread.) There came
one Jfhby to Town, he had been fome time Re-
ctor of St. Omers, and was come to England fick

of the Gout, and was to go to the Bath to be
Cured, And he brought lnftru&ions with him
from Whitebread; and the Inftructions contained
in them thefe Particulars: Inftru&ions or Me-
morials, or what elfe they called them. Firft,

That Ten Thoufand Pounds fhould be propofed
to Sir George Wakeman for the Killing of the.

King. Secondly, That Care fhould be taken
for the Murder of the Bifhop of Hereford. Third-
ly, 1 hat Care fhould be taken for the Murder of
Dr. Stillingfleet. Fourthly, That though this

Propofal was made to Sir George Wakeman of
1 0000 / yet Pickering and Grove mould go on ftill

in their Attempts. My Lord, afterwards thefe

were taken and copied out, and difpers'd to the

feveral Confpirators in the Kingdom, whofe
Names I cannot call to mind. But Coleman made
feveral Copies and difpers'd them about : Then
the 1 0000/. was propofed to Sir George Wake-
man, but it was refufed.

L. C. J. What, it was too little?

Mr. Oates. Yes, (my Lord) it was too little.

Then Whitebread he writ from St. Omers, that

in cafe 10000/. would not do, Fifteen fhould be

propofed, and after that he had that propofed,

he accepted of that.

L. C. J. Were you by when he accepted

it?

Mr. Oates. No, (my Lord) I was not: But it

appeared upon their Entry-Books, and it appear-

ed by a Letter from this Gentleman Mr. While-

bread, wherein he did fhew a great deal of Joy
for
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for Sir Gcerge Wakeman's accepting ofthe Fifteen

Thoufand Pounds. (My Lord) After this was

! agreed upon, that Sir George Wake-man fhould

I have Fifteen Thoufand Pounds, and Five Thou-
sand of it was paid by Coleman or his Order.

[Thus the State of Affairs flood till Auguft. Then
one Fogarthy, who is dead, came to a Confuk of

'the Jefuits with the Beaedictins : Now at this

Confult the Prifoner at the Bar Fenwick was, he

'was one and Harcourt was another. And in this

Confult there were Four Ruffians recommended
•to them.

L.C.J. By whom?
Mr. Oates. By Fogarthy they were recommen-

'ded, but accepted of by thefe Confultors, and

confented to by Fenwick. They were fentaway,

and the next Day afcer Fourfcore Pounds was
fent them, the mofl Part of it was Gold, and

^Coleman was there and gave the MefTenger a

'Guinea to expedite his Errand. (My Lord) In

iithe Month of Auguft there came other Letters

from Whitebread., wherein he did give an Ac-
count of what care he had taken of the Scotch

ftufinefs ; and he ordered one Moor and one San-

ders, alias Brown, to go down to Scotland, and

he did order the Rector of London, then Wil-

liam Harcourt, to fend them ; and he did fo fend

them the <5th of Auguft, in the Name of the

Provincial.

I

Whitebread. From whence, I pray?

! Mr. Oates. From London, and they went to

brofecute and carry on the Defign which Fen-

wick and Ireland had plotted, of a Rebellion a-

mongft the difaffected Scots again ft the Gover-
nors appointed them by the King, and they

'ent down Minifters to preach under the Notion
jf Presbyterian Minifters, in order to get the

difaffecTted Scots to rife, by infinuating the fad

Condition they were likely to be in, by reafon

sf Epifcopal Tyranny (as they termed it.) And
that they were refolved to difpofe of the King,

md they did intend to difpofe of the Duke too,

in cafe he did not appear vigorous in promoting

:he Catholick Religion ; (I fpeak their own
Words.)

! L. C. J. Have you done with your Evidence?

What do you know of the Prifoners at the Btr?

Name them all.

Mr. Oates. There is Whitebread, Ireland, Fen-

wick, Pickering, and Grove.
1 L. C.J. Are you fure Pickering and Grove ac-

:epted of the Terms ?

;
Mr. Oates. Yes, (my Lord) I was there.

]
L.C.J. Where was it?

; Mr. Oates. At Mr. Whitebread' s Lodgings, at

Mrs. Sanders's Houfe. As for Grove, indeed he

did attend at that time upon Fenwick at his

Chamber ; but after the Confult was over, he

:ame to Whitebread' s Lodgings, and did take the

Sacrament and the Oaths of Secrecy upon it,

ind did accept it, and agree to it.

L. C. J. Were you there when he took the

Sacrament?

I

Mr. Oates. Yes (my Lord) I was.
1 L. C. J. Who gave you the Sacrament?

Mr. Oates. It was a jefuit, that goes by the

Name of one Barton.

Whitebread. My Lord, before I forget it, I

defire to fay this. He fays that at fuch and fuch

Confults in April and May he was prefent, and

carried the Refolutions frond one to another.

(There are above a hundred and a hundred, that
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can teflify he was all that while at St. Omers.
Pray tell me when I received the Sacrament ?

Mr. Oates. At the fame time.

Whitebread. What Day was that ?

Mr. Oates. The 24th of April.

Whitebread. Was I there?

Mr. Oates. You were there.

Whitebread. I take God to witnefs I was not.

L. C. J. Mr. Whitebread, you fhall have time
to make your Anfwer. But Mr. Oates, pray Mr.
Oates, when was Mr. Gary difpatch'd away to

Rome, and what was his Errand?
Mr. Oates. My Lord, I'll tell you; he was ap-

proved of to go to Rome the 24th of April; in

the Month of May or June, Whitebread brings

Cary over to St. Omcrs, and one Mica his Secre-

tary or Companion with him.

L. C. J. W hen was it ?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of May or June, he
was brought over by the Provincial ; then he

went away on his Journey, and at Paris received

zol. to bear his Charges.

Mr. Finch. What do you know of any At-
tempts to kill the King at St. James's Park?
Mr. Oates. I faw Pickering and Grove feveral

time* walking in the Park together with their

fcrew'd Piftols, which were longer than or-

dinary Piftois, and fhorter than fome Carbines.

They had Silver Bullets to fhoot with, and Grove

wouid have had the Bullets to be champt, for

fear that if he fhould fhoot, if the Bullets were

round, the Wound that might be given might
be cured.

L C.j. Did Grove intend to champ them ?

Mr. Oates. He did fay fo.

L. C. J. Did he fhew you the Bullets ?

Mr. Oates. I did fee them.
Grove. When was this?

Mr. Oates. I faw the Bullets in the Month of

May, and in the Month of June.

Whitebread. Pray, where did you fee them ?

Mr. Oates. In Grove's PofTeffion.

Whitebread. Atwhattime?
Air. Oates. In the Month of May.
Whitebread. Then was he actually himfelf at

St. Omers. Was it in May, or June?

Mr. Oates. The latter end of May and June. I

faw them then twice, if not thrice. But Picker-

ing's I faw in Auguft.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Do you know any thing of

Pickering's doing Penance, and for what?

Mr. Oates. Yes, (my Lord.) In the Month of

March laft, (for thefe Perfons have followed the

King feveral Years) but he at that time had noc

look'd to the Flint of his Piftol, but it was loofe,

and he durft not venture to give Fire. He had

a fair Opportunity, as Whitebread faid j and be-

caufe he milt it through his own Negligence, he

underwent Penance, and had 20 or 30 Strokes

of Difcipline, and Grove was Chidden for his

Carelefnefs.

L. C. J. That was in March laft ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. How do you know that ?

Mr. Oates. By Letters that i have fcen from

Mr. Whitebread, thefe 1 faw, and read, and I

know Whitebread's Hand.

Mr. Serj. Baldwyn. What do you know of the

Ruffians that went down to Windfor? What Sue-

cefs had they ?

Mr. Oates. I can give no Account of that, be-

caufe in the beginning of September this Gentle-

man
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man that had been in England fome time before,

was come to London, and the Bufinefs had rak.n

Air, and one Beddingfield had written to him,

that the thing was difcovered, and that none but

fuch a one could do it, naming me by a Name
that he knew I went by.

Whitebread. When was that, Sir?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of September laft.

I came to the Provincial's Chamber the third of

September, when I came I could not fpeak with

him, for he was at Supper; but when he had

fupp'd I was admitted in, and there he fhewed

me the Letter that he had received from Bed-

ding field.

Whitebread. Where did you fee it?

Mr. Oates. You read it to me when you chid

me, and beat me, and abufed me.

L. C. J. What did he chide you for ?

Mr. Oates. He did charge me with very high

Language of being with the King, and with a

Mini'fter, and difcovering the Matter. I was

fo unfortunate that the Gentleman who was with

the King, did wear the fame colour'd Clothes

that I did then wear: And he having given

an Account that the Party wore fuch Cloches,

the Sufpicion was laid upon me: Now, my
Lord, 1 had not then been with the King, but

another Gentleman had been with him from me
with the Draughts of fome Papers concerning

this Bufinefs, which I had drawn up, and I was
ready to appear when I fhould be called to juftify

them, only I did not think fit to appear imme-
diately ; And, my Lord, this Beddingfield, he had

gotten into it that it was difcovered, and writ

the Provincial word he thought it was by me;
for, faid he, he hath been drawn in by fome of his

old Acquaintance : When he had received this

Letrer, he asked me with what Face I could

look upon him, fince 1 had betrayed them : So,

my Lord, I did profefsa greatdealof Innocency,

becaufe 1 had not then been with the King; but

he gave me very ill Language, and abufed me,
and I was afraid of a worfe Mifchieffrom them,
for I could not but conclude, that if they dealt

fo cruelly with thole that only writ again ft them,
I could fcarce efcape, of whom they had that

Jealoufy, that I had betrayed them : And, my
Lord, though they could not prove that I had
difcovered it, yet upon the bare Sufpicion, I was
beaten, and affronted, and reviled, and comman-
ded to go beyond Sea again; nay, my Lord, I

had my Lodging aflaulted to have murdered me
if they could.

Whitebread. By whom ?

Mr. Oates. By Mr. Whitebread, and fome of
them.

Whitebread. Who beat you?
Mr. Ones. Mr. Whitebread did.

Mr. Serj. Baldwyn. Was it Pickering or Grove
that had the Flint of his Piftolloofe?

Mr. Oates. Pickering.

Pickering. My Lord, I never fliot off a Piftol

in all my Life.

L. C. J. What fay you as to the ^Fourfcore

Pounds ?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, I will fpeak to that, that

was given to the four Ruffians that were to kill

the King at Windfor : Now, my Lord, that

Money 1 faw
L. C. J. Where did you fee it ?

Mr. Oates. At Harcourfs Chamber.
L.C.J. Where is that?

Mr. Oates. In Duke- Street, near the Arch.

L. C. J. Who was it given by?

Mr. Oates. William Harceurt.

L.C.J. Did you fee the four Fellows?

Mr. Oates. No, my Lord, I never did, nor

never knew their Names.
L. C. J. Who was the Money given to ?

Mr. Oates. A MefTenger that was to carry it

down to them.

L. C.J. Who was that MefTenger?

Mr. Oates. One of theirs that I do not know,
and I durft not be too inquifitive, my Lord, for

fear of being fufpected.

L.C.J. Who was by when the Money was
paid?

Mr. Oates. Coleman, that is executed j and

my Lord, there was this Mr. Fenwick by, that

is the Prifoner at the Bar.

Fenwick. When was this?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of Attguft.

Fenwick . W h ere ?

Mr. Oates. At Harcourt'% Chamber.
Fenwick. I never faw you therein all my Life:

Are you fure I was by when the Money was
there?

Mr. Oates. Yes, you were.

L. C. J. Mr. Fenwick, you fhall have your
time by and by to ask him any Queftion : Mr.
Oates, let me ask you once again ; when there

was the Appointment made for Grove and Picke-

ring to kill the King, v/ho Signed it?

Mr. Oates. At leaft Forty Signed it.

L.CJ. Did the other Three Sign it?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, all of them.

L.C.J. Name them.

Mr. Oates. There was Whitebread, Fenwick,

and Ireland.

L. C. J. And you fay you went from Place to

Place and faw it Signed ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C.J. Were you Attendant upon them?
Mr. Oates. My Lord, I ever was fince the

Year 1666.

L. C. J. At whofe Lodgings did you ufe to

attend upon the Confultation?

Mr. Oates. At the Provincial's Chamber, Mr.
Whitebread.

L. C.J. Where was it firft Signed?
Mr. Oates. At the Provincial's Chamber.
Sir Cr. Levinz. Who carried it from Lodging

to Lodging?
Mr. Oates. I did.

L.C J. When was it?

Mr. Oates. The 24th of April.

Mr.Jufi. Bertue. You fay you carried the Re*
fult from Place to Place, pray tell us what that

Refult was ?

Mr. Oates. They knew what it was, for they

read it before they Signed it.

Mr. Jujl. Atkins. But tell us the Contents of

it.

Mr. Oates. The Contents of that Refolve was
this, (I'll tell you the Subftance, though I can-

not tell you exactly the Words) that Pickering

and Grove fhould go on in their Attempts to Af-

faflinate the Perfon of the King, as near as I can

remember it was fo, that the former fhould have

50000 MafTes and the latter if00 Pounds, and

the whole Confult did confent to it and Signed

the Agreement that was made with them, and

did relolve upon the King's Death all in one

Refolve.

L. C. J.
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L. C. J. Where was this agreed upon ? at

the White-Horfe Tavern ?

Mr.Oztes. No, my Lord. After they had a-

greed at the White-Horfe, that Mr. Gary fhould

go Procurator to Rome, and fome other fmall

Particulars, which I cannot now remember, they

did adjourn from the White-Horfe Tavern, and

met at feveral Chambers, fome at one Place, and

fome at another.

L. C. J. But you fay Mico did draw up the

Refolution, where was that?

Mr. Oates. At Mr. Whitehead's Chamber,
for he was Socius, and Secretary to the Provin-

cial.

L. C. J. Were Ireland and Fenwick prefent

,when Mico drew it up?
Mr. Oates. No, my Lord, but they were at

their own Chambers ; after it was drawn up
there, and figned by Mr. Whitebread, and thofe

of the Confult in his Chamber, it was carried

to the feveral Confults.

L. C.J. What, all the fame Day?
Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. And you went along with it?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, 1 did.

Mr. Jufi- Bertue. I only ask you, were all the

(five ;
Jrifoners privy to it? or do you diftinguifh

|any of them, and which ?

Mr. Oaies. They were all privy to it.

Whitehead, My Lord, we can prove

L. C.J. You fhall have time fufficient to make
srhat Defence you can. you (hull be fure to have

a fair Trial, and be ftopt of nothing that you
fwrill think fit to fay for your felves. Mr. Oates,

were Pickering and Grove prefent ?

j Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, Grove at Fen-wick's

Chamber, and Pickering at the Provincial's Cham-
ber.

L. C. J But they were not required to fign

this, were they ?

Mr. Oates. After that the whole Confult had

figned it, and Mafs was preparing to be faid for

t, before Mafs, they did fign and accept of it.

L. C.J. Where did they two do it?

Mr. Oates At the Provincial's Chamber,

i L. C. J. W hat Day was it ?

'. Mr. Oates. That Day, for they met all toge-

, :her at the Provincial's Chamber to receive the

Sacrament, and when Mafs was going to be faid,

jane faid it was too late, for it was after twelve

Vclock j but Mr. Whitebread faid it was not Af-

ternoon till we had din'd; and you know, Mr.
Whitebread, that Maffes have been faid at one or

two of the Clock in the Afternoon.

Mr. Jufi. Atkins. How many Perfons did meet

it that Confult?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, there were about Forty

pr Fifty, and after they had adjourn'd into fe-

deral leffer Companies, they met all together at

Mr. Whitehead's Chamber,
i L. C.J. Where was that, and when?
I Mr. Oates. That Day, at Wild-Houfe.

L. C. J. Where was it that they gave the Sa-

crament ?

Mr. Oates. At a little Chapel at Wild-Houfe,

Mrs. Sanders's.

L. C.J. Did they accept it before they took

the Sacrament?
Mr. Oates. Yes, Pickering and Grove did fign

it before they took the Sacrament.

Mr. Jufi. Atkins. You tell us of an Oath of

Secrecy that was taken, what was that Oath?
Vol. II.
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Mr. Oates. I cannot give an account of the

Form of the Oath, but ic was an Obligation of
Secrecy.

Mr. Jufi. Atkins. Did you fee the Oath adrni-
niflred?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C. J. Who adminiftred it ?

Mr. Oates. Mr. Whitebread, he did give it un-
to me, and to all the reft thac were there, and
Mico held the Book, it was a Mafs-Book, but
they were Words of his own Liven; ion, I be-
lieve, they were not written down.

L. C. J. Cannot you tell what they were?
Mr. Oates. No, my Lord, I cannot tell, be-

caufe I did not fee them written down.
L.C. J. If you will ask this Gentleman any

thing more, you may.
Whitebread, My Lord, I am in a very weak

and doubtful Condition as to my Health, and
therefore I fhould be very loth to fpeak any thing
but what is true: We are to prove a Negative,
and I know 'tis much harder to prove a Nega-
tive, than to affert an Affirmative; 'tis not a ve-
ry hard thing for a Man to fwear any thing, if

he will venture his Soul for it; but truly, I may
boldly fay, in the Sight of Almighty God before
whom I am to appear, there have not been three
true Words fpoken by this Witnefs.

L. C. J. Do you hear, if you could but fatif-

fy us, that you have no Difpenfation to call God
to witnefs a Lye

Whitehead. My Lord, I do affirm it with all

the Proteftations imaginable.

L. C. J. But if you have a Religion that can
give a Difpenfation for Oaths, Sacraments, Pro-
teftations, and Falfhoods that are in the World,
how can you expect: we fhould believe you ?

Whitebread. I know no fuch thing.

L. C. J. We fhall fee that prefently, before
we have done.

Mr. Oates. I have one thing more to fay, my
Lord, that comes into my Mind. This White-
bread received Power from the See of Rome to

grant out Commiffions to Officers Military. And,
my Lord, here are the Seals of the Office in Court,

which he hath fealed fome Hundreds of Com-
miffions with, which they call Patents.

L. C. J. What were thofe Commiffions for?

For an Army ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, for an Army.
Whitebread. When were thofe Com millions

Signed ?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, feveral of them were

Signed in the former Provincial's time.

L. C.J. What, I warrant you, you are not

Provincial of the Jefuits, are you?
Whitebread. I cannot deny that, my Lord.

L. C.J. Then there are more than three Words
he hath fpoken are true.

Mr. Jufi. Atkins. I believe, Mr. Oates, thac

that Army was intended for fomething, pray

what was it for?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, they were to rife upon

the Death of the King, and let the French King

in upon us, and they had made it their Bufinefs

to prepare Ireland and Scotland for the receiving

of a foreign Invafion.

L. C.J. Who were thofe Commiffions Sealed

by ?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, the Commiffions of the

Great Officers were fealed with the General's

Seal. M
Xxxx L.C.J.
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L.C. J. Who was that?

Mr. Oaks. His Name is Johannes Paulus de

Oliva : His Seal fealed the Commiffions for the

Generals, Major-Generals, and great Perfonsj

but thofe Seals that fealed the feveral Commif-
fions to feveral inferior Officers, were in the

Cuftody of the Provincial.

L. C.J. Can you name any one Perfon that he

hath Sealed a Commiffion to ?

Mr. Oates. I can name one : To Sir John Gage,

which Commiffion I delivered my felf.

L.C.J. What, of Sujfex?

Mr. Oates. Yes, of Suffix.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Who did you receive the

Commiffion from ?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, when he went over, he

left a great many blank Patents to be filled up,

and he left one ready Sealed for a Commiffion

to Sir John Gage. This was delivered into my
Hands when he was abfent, but it was Signed

by him, and delivered to me while he was in

his Vifitation beyond the Seas, but I dare fvvear

it was his Hand, as I fhall anfwer it before God
and the King.

Mr.Jufi. Atkins. Who had ic you from?

Mr. Oates. From Mr./Z/ft^butby Whitebread's

Appointment in hislnftru&ions, which I faw and

read.

L. C. J. What was the Commiffion for ?

Mr. Oates. To be an Officer in the Army.
L. C.J. Did you fee the Inftruclions left for

Ajhby ?

Mr. Oates. I did fee them, and read them, and

I did then, as I always did, give it as my Judg-
ment, that it was more fafe to Poifon the King,

than to Piflol or Stab him.

Mr. Juft. Bertue. Was the Commiffion which
you delivered to Sir John Gage, from Ajhby, or

from Whitehead?
Mr. Oates. 1 had it from Ajhby-, but White-

bread, who was then beyond Sea, had Signed this

Commiffion before he went. My Lord, I have

fomething more yet to fay, and that is as to

Mr. Grove, That he did go about with one Smith

to gather Peter-pence, which was either to carry

on the Defign, or to fend them to Rome. I faw
the Book wherein it was entred, and I heard

him fay that he had been gathering of it.

Grove. Where was this?

Mr. Oates. In Cock-fit Ally, where you know
I lodged.

Grove. Did I ever fee you at your Lodging?
Mr. Oates. You faw me at my own Door.

L. C.J. Why, don't you know Mr. Oates?

Grove. My Lord, I have feen him before.

L. C. J. Why, this 'tis, ask a Papift a Queftion,

and youihall have a Jefuitical Anfwer.

Mr. Oates. I will convince the Court that he

does know me by fome Circumftances. My Lord,
in the Month of December laft, by the Provincial's

Order
L. C. J. I would ask him fir ft whether he does

know you or no. Do you know Mr. Oates?

Grove. I have feen him before.

L. C. J. Have you been often in his Com-
pany ?

Grove. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. What do you call often ? Have you
been in his Company (even or eight times? (for

we muft deal fubtilly with fuch as you are)

have you been in his Company ten times?

Grove. No.

L. C. J. What fay you to three times?

Grove. Yes, I believe 1 have feen him twice

or thrice.

L.C.J. Where? Did you never fee him at

Whitebread"% ?

Grove. As I hope to be faved, and before the

Eternal God, I did never.

Mr. Oates. I will convince him and the Court,

that he does know me, and is well acquainted

with me : In the Month of December laft I went

to St. Omers, 1 went firit to the then Provincial's

Houfe, to take my leave cf him, and there I

met with Mr. Grove, and he appointed to come
to my Lodging the next Morning, near the

Red Lion in Drury-Lane, at one Grigfon's Houfe,
and he was fo well acquainted with me then,

that he had lent me eight Shillings to hire the

Coach.
L. C. J. Did you lend him eight Shillings?

Grove. I did, my Lord, I do not deny it.

L. C. J. How came you to do it, when it

feems, if you fay true, he was a Stranger to

you ?

Grove. I thought I fhould have it again.

L. C. J. What, of him ?

Grove. Yes.

L. C. J. Did he defire you to lend him the

eight Shillings?

Grove. Yes, he did, my Lord.

Mr. Oates. Then there is one time that he

confefTes he faw me.

L.C.J. Did you not know him before?

Grove. I had no Acquaintance with him, I had

feen him.

L.C.J. How came you then to lend Mo-
ney to one you had no more Acquaintance

with ?

Grove. I knew I fhould go along with him to

the Coach, and then I thought I fhould have ic

again.

L. C. J. Mr. Oates, were you going beyond

Sea then ?

Mr. Oates. Yes, my Lord, I was.

L. C. J. Mr. Oates, did you pay him that

Money ?

Mr. Oates. No, my Lord, I did not.

L. C. J. Did you ask him for the Money, and

had you it ?

Grove. He did not pay it me.

L. C. J. How then were you fureyou fhould

have it ?

Grove. He did order me to go to fuch a one

for it.

L.C.J. Who was that?

Grove. Mr. Fenwick, I think.

LC. J. Then Mr. Oates was known to jdu

all, he was no fuch Stranger to you as you would

make us believe.

Mr. Oates. Thus he confefTes three times he

had feen me, once before he lent me the Money,

another time when he lent it, and the third time

the next Day. And I will put him in mind of

another time, when he and I were in Company,

where one brought us a Note of what was done

in the Houfe of Commons, turned into Bur-

lefque, for they ufed to turn all that was done

at the Council, or at the Parliament, or at the

Courts in Wefiminjler-Hall, into Burlefque, and

then tranflated it into French, and lent it to the

French King, for him to laugh at too. But that

by the way. Twice more he drank in my Com-

pany, at the Red Pofts in Wild-Street, and once

more
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more when he owned to me, that he fired South-

L. C. J. Now by the Oath that you have

taken, did he own to you that he had fired South-

tvark ?

Mr. Oates. My Lord, he did tell me that he

with three Irijhmen did fire Southwark, and that

they had a thoufand Pounds given them for it,

whereof he had four Hundred Pounds, and the

other two Hundred Pounds a-piece.

L.C. J. Now for Mr.Fenwick. Do you know
\
Mr. Oates ?

Fenwick. Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C. J. Were you well acquainted with him ?

fpcak plain.

Mr. Oates. He was my Father-Confeflbr, my
Lord.

L. C. y. Was he fo ? Were you his Con-
feflbr ?

Fenw. I believe he never made any Confeffion

in his Life.

L. C. 'J.
Yes, he hath made a very good one

now. Were you of his Acquaintance, Mr.Fen-

wick. ? Speak home, and don't mince the Matter.

Ferny. My Lord, I have feen him.

L.C.y. I wonder what you are made of:

Ask a Proteftant, an Englijh one, a plain Queftion,

and he will fcorn to come dallying with aneva-

live Anfwer.

I

Fenw. My Lord, I have been feveral times in

his Company.
L. C. f. Did you pay eight Shillings for him ?

Fenw. Yes, I believe I did.

1 L.C.y. How came you to do it ?

Fenw. He was going to St. Omers.

L C. y. Why, were you Treafurer for the

Society ?

Fenw. No, my Lord, I was not.

L. C. y. You never had your eight Shillings

gain, had you?
Fenw. It is upon my Book, my Lord, if I

:ver had it.

L. C. y. Did Mr. Oates ever pay it again ?

Fenw. No fure, he was never fo honeft.

L. C. y. Who had you it of then ?

Fenw. I am certain I had it not from him j he

id not pay it.

L C. y. How can you tell you had it then?

Fenw. I do fuppofe I had it again, but not of

Mr. Oates.

I L. C. y. Had you it of Ireland ?

Fenw. I do not know who I had it of, my
.ord, nor certainly whether I had it.

L.C.y. Why did you not ask Mr. Oates for

Fenw. He was not able to pay it.

L. C.y. Why did you then lay it down for

im ?

j
Fenw. Becaufe I was a Fool.

J

L.C.y. That muft be the Conclufion al-

ways: when you can't evade being prov'd Knaves

;y anfwering directly, you will rather fuffer your
:lves to be call'd Fools.

t> Fenw. My Lord, I have done more for him
;.ian that comes to j for he came once to me in

"imilerable poor Condition, and faid, I mud
iirn again, and betake my felf to the Miniftry

) get Bread, for I have eaten nothing thefe two
)ays : And I then gave him five Shillings to re-

eve his prefentNeceffity.

Mr. Oates. My Lord, I will anfwer to that j

;was never in any fuch Straits, I was ordered
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by the Provincial to be taken care of by the Pro-
curator.

Fenw. You brought no fuch Order to me.
Mr. Oates. Yes, Mr. Fenwick, you know there

was fuch an Order, and I never received fo little

in my Life as Five Shillings from you : I have
received Twenty, and Thirty, and Forty Shil-

lings at a time, but never fo little as Five.

L. C. y. You are more charitable than you
thought for.

Feme. He told me he had not eaten a bit in two
Days.

Mr. Oates. I have indeed gone a whole Day
without eating, when I have been hurried about
yourTrafh ; but I allure you, my Lord, I never
wanted for any thing among them.

L. C. y. Perhaps it was Fafting-Day.
L. C. Baron. My Lord, their Fatting-Days

are none of the worft.

Mr. Oates. No, we commonly eat bed; of
thofe Days.

L. C.y. Have you any thing to ask him, any
of you?

Whitehead. My Lord, will you be pleafed to

give me leave to fpeak for my felf?

Tuft. Atkins. It is not your time yet to make
your full Defence, but if you will ask him any
Queftions, you may.

Whitehead. I crave your Mercy, my Lord.
L. C. y. Will you ask him any Queftions ?

Fenw. Did not you fay that you were at my
Chamber the 24th of April, with the Refolve of
the Confult ?

Mr. Oates. That Refolve I did then carry to

your Chamber.
Fenw. Then was he himfelf at St. Omers.

L. C.y. The difference of old Stile and new
Stile may perhaps make fome Alteration in that

Circumftance.

Whitehread. But, my Lord, he hath fworn he

was prefent at feveral Confultations in April and

May, but from November till June he was con-

ftantly at St. Omers.

L. C. y. If you can make it out that he was
at St. Omers all Aprilznd May, then what he hath

faid cannot be true.

Ireland. He himfelf hath confeiTed it that he

was at St. Omers.

L.C.y. If you mean by Confeffion, what
ftands upon the Evidence he hath given, I'll re-

member you what that was. He fays he came to

St . Omers

Mr. Oates. Will your Lordfhip give me leave

to fatisfy the Court : In the Month of Decem-

ber or November, I went to St. Omers: I remain-

ed there all yanuary, February, March, and fome
part of April: Then I came over with the Fa-

thers to the Confult that was appointed the 24th

of that Month.
Fenw. Did you go back again ?

Mr. Oates. Yes.

Fenw. When was that ?

Mr. Oates. In the Month of May, prefently

after the Confults were over.

Fenw. And we can prove by abundance of

WitnefTes that he went not from St. Omers all

that Month.
L C. y. You (hall have what time you will to

prove what you can j and if you can prove what

you fay, you were beft fix it upon him ; for he

faith he was here at the Confults in April and May j

if you can prove otherwife, pray do.

X X X x Fenw,
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Fenw.We can bring an Authentick Writing (if

there be any fuch,) from St. Omers, under the

Seal of the College, and teftified by all in the

College, that he was there all the while.

L, C. J. Mr. Fenwick, that will not doj for

firft, if it were in any other Cafe befides this, it

would be no Evidence, but I know not what
you cannot get from St. Omers, or what you will

not call Authentick.

Fenw. Does your Lordfhip think there is no

Juftice out of England ?

L. C. J. It is not, nor cannot be Evidence

here.

Fenw. It fhall be Signed by the Magi ftrates of

the Town.
L.C.J. What, there?

Fenw. Yes, there.

L. C. J. You mull be tried by the Laws of

England^ which fends no Piece of Fact out of the

Country to be Tried.

Fenw. But the Evidence of it may be brought

hither.

L C. J. Then you fhould have brought it.

You fhall have a fair Trial ; but we muft not

depart from the Law or the way of Trial, to

ferve yourpurpofes. You muft be Tried accord-

ing to the Law of the Land.

Juft. Atkins. Such Evidences as you fpeak of

we would not allow againft you; and therefore

we muft not allow it for you.

Whitehead. May this Gentleman be put to this,

to produce any two Witnefles that faw him in

Town at that time.

Mr. Oates. I'll give fome Circumftances and

what Tokens I have to prove my being here:

Father Warner, Sir Tho. Pre/Ion, Father Williams,

and Sir John Warner, they came hither with me
from St. Omers, there was one Nevil, &c. I can-

not reckon them all.

L. C.J. You have named enough.

Mr. Oates. But to convince them, there was

a Lad in the Houfe that was got to the end of

his Rhetorickj this Lad was Whipt and turned

out of the Houfe, and had loft all his Money:

Father Williams did Re-imburfe this Lad in order

to his bringing home, I think the Lad's Name
was Hiljlsy, or fome fuch Name. And we came
up to London together.

L. C. J. What fay you to thisCircumftance?

Whitehead. My Lord, he knew that two fuch

came toTown, but he was not with them.

L. C. J. You are now very good at a Nega-
tive I fee, how can you tell that ?

Whitehead. My Lord, he could not come.

L. C. J. How can you tell he could not come ?

Whitehead. I can tell it very well, for he had

no Order to come, nor did come.

L. C. J. How can you undertake to fay that

he did not come?
Whitehead. Becaufe he had no Order to come.

L. C. J. Is that all your reafon? Where were

you then ?

Whitehead. I was here.

L. C. J. How do you know he was not here?

Whitehead. He had no Orders to come.

L. C. J. Have you any other Circumftance,

Mr. Oates, to prove that you were here then ?

Oates. My Lord, when I came to London, I

was ordered to keep very clofe, and I lay at

Grove's Houfe j let him deny it if he can, I'll

tell you who lay there then

Grove. Did you ever lie at my Houfe ?

! C

Oates. There lay a Flaxen-Hair'd Gentleman,
I forgot his Name: But I'll tell you who lay

there befides 5 that is Strange, that was the late

Provincial.

L. C. J. Did Strange ever lie at your Houfe?
Grove. Yes, my Lord, he did.

L. C. J. Did he lie there in April or May ?

Grove. No, he did not in either of them.
L. C. J. You will make that appear.

Grove. Yes, that I can by all the Houfe.

L. C. J. Have you any more Queftions to ask

him? If you have, do : If you can prove this up-

on him, that he was abfent, and not in England

in April or May, you have made a great Defence
for your felves, and it fhall be remembred for

your advantage when it comes to your turn: In

the mean time, if you have no more to fay to

him, call another Witnefs. Lee Mr. Oates fit

down again, and have fome Refrefhment.

Mr. Serj. Baldwin. We will now call Mr.
Bedlow, my Lord.

then Mr. Bedlow w.is fwom.

Mr. Serj . Baldwin. Mr. Bedlow, Pray do you

tell my Lord and the Jury, what you know of

any defign of killing the King, and by whom.
Mr. Bedlow. My Lord, I have been five Years

almoft employed by the Society of Je/uits and

the Englifh Monks in Paris to cany and bring

Letters between them from England and to Eng-

land, for the promoting of a Defign tending to

the Subverfion of the Government, and the extir-

pating of the Proteftant Religion, to that degree

(which was always concluded on in all their Con-

iults wherein I was) that they would not leave

any Member of any Heretick in England, that

fhould furvive to tell in the Kingdom hereafter,

that there ever was any fuch Religion in Eng-

land as the Proteftant Religion' -

Here Whitebread would have interrupted him. ud

My Lord, I am fo well fatisfied in their Deni-

als, that I cannot but believe they who can give

a Difpenfation, and have received the Sacra-

ment to kill a King and deftroy a whole King-

dom, do notfcruple to give a Difpenfation for a

little Lye to promote fuch a Defign, for fo much
as this expiates any Lye or greater Crime.

Sir Cr. Levin-z. Pray, Sir, will you be pleafed

to tell your whole Knowledge concerning the

Prifoners at the Bar.

Mr. Bedlow. The firft Letter I carried was from

Mr. Harcourt, at his Houfe next Door to the

Arch in Duke-ftreet. He hath been Procurator

for the Jefuits about fix Years. He employed

me firft, and fent for me over, for I was then

Lieutenant in Flanders, and coming home to re-

ceive my Pay that was due to me- •

L. C. J. How long is it ago ?

Mr. Bedlow. Michaelmas laft was four Years?

when I came to Dunkirk I went to vifit the Eng'

lijh Nunnery there, and the Lady Abbefs finding

me very pliable and inclinable, made very

much of me, and I did adhere to her. She kept

me fix Weeks in the Convent, and afterwards

when I went away, recommended me to Sir

John Warner, as an Inftrument fit to be employ-

ed in the carrying of Letters, or doing any

thing that would promote the defign zg&xnft. Eng-

land. He kept me at St. Omers a Fortnight, and

after
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after fent me to Father Harcourt to be inftru&ed

in my employment : It was then Winter} the

next Spring he fends me into England with divers

Letters, where by Mr. Harcourt I was employed

to carry feveral Letters to Morton and Doway,

and other places: That Summer I was fent into

England without an Anfwer : But afterwards in

(76,) which was the next Summer, I was to

carry another Pacquet of Letters to the Monks

at Paris, who fent it to other Englifh Monks in

France

L. C. J. Who fent that Pacquet of Letters

in 76 ?

Bedlow. I had it from Mr. Harcourt, and it

was written by Harcourt, Pritchard and Cary.

L. C. J. To whom ?

Bedlow. To the Englifh Monks in France, and

in it there was a Letter to LeChaife. Upon the

receipt of thefe Letters at Paris, LeChaife had a

Confutation with the Monks and a French Bi-

fhop or two about them : I did not then fpeak

French enough to under(land what it was they

faid, but it was interpreted to me by Mr. Sta-

pleton an Englifh Monk, who told me, that it was

a Letter from my Lord Bella/is and others of the

Catholick Religion, Englilh Gentlemen that

were Contrivers of the Plot here, to fatisfy

them in what ftate things Hood in England as to

Popery . I was fent back again with a Pacquet of

Letters directed to Mr. Vaughan of Courtfield in

Monmouth-Jhire.

L. C. J. From whom was that ?

Bedlow. From the Englifh Monks at Paris. From
that Confultation I went to Pontbois, I there re-

ceiv'd other Letters to carry into England. I had

a courfe to open their Letters, and read what

was in them ; and in thofe Letters was contain-

ed, That the Prayers of that Houfe were for the

profperity of that Defign, and they would not

fail to be at the Confultation at of

Warwick-fhire Gentlemen. I fell lick at Monmouth,

and Mr. Vaughan fent to me a Jefuit to Confeis

me ; but I was well before he came, and fo was

not Confefs'd by him. 1 now come to the latter

times.

L. C. J. You mull: fpeak it over to the Jury,

that they and the Prifoners may hear you.

Bedlow. The z^th oi May, 77, which was lad

Year, I was fent over with another Pacquet of

Letters. I had no Letters of confequence for-

ward, and therefore did not call then at Wotton,

but I called upon the Lady Abbefs at Dunkirk,

and I went thence to Bruges and to Ghent, where

I had fome Letters for the Englifh Nuns, which
I delivered to them. When I came to Doway,
I found there that the Monks were gone, that

i was Sheldon, Stapleton, and Latham, but the

< Letters were dire&ed to Paris, and therefore I

'made hafte, and at Cambray I overtook them.

And the Letters were to give an account of the
' Confultation held in the Gallery at Somerfet-

\ Houfe : All tending to the deftru&ion of the Pro-

Iteftant Religion, and killing the King > but I do

not think fit to declare here who were the Per-

fons that were prefent at that Confultation. At
Cambray they were very joyful that there was fo

good a Proceeding in England. At Paris when
the Letters were fhewed, there was a Letter

written in a Language which I did not under-

ftand, but, as I was told, in that Letter they

were charged in Paris by my Lord Bellafis, that

they did not proceed according to their promife

to them in England; but, faid Stapleton, to m=,
My Lord Bellafis nor the Society in England
need not to write thus to Us, for we are not (o
backward, but that we can lend Men, and Mo-
ney, and Arms too, and will upon occafion.
From thence they fent meto Spain with aLetter
to an Irifl) Father : I did overtake him at Sa Mora.
From thence I went with another Letter to the
Rector of a College of Irijh Jefuits in Salamanca.
By their contrivance I was fent to St. Jago in

Spain, where was another College of Prijh Jefu-
its : there I ftayed till I had an Anfwer to Sir

William Godolphin ; and when I had the Anfwer
to that Letter, I went for the Letter from the
Rector at Salamanca. The Jefuits there told me,
they would take care to fend their own Anfwer
another way: And when they had made me that
promife, I came away for England, and landed at

Milford- Haven : All this reaches to none of thefe
Perfons in particular: But what I now fhall fay

ihall be about them, only it was neceflary I Ihoul'd

fpeak of what I have faid.

L. C. J. The meaning of all this is only to

fhew the Jury and fatisfy them, that he was an
Agent for thefe Men, and hath been employed
by them for five Years together, and he names
you the particular Places whither he hath been
fent, to fhew you the Reafons of his Knowledge
in this Matter, and upon what account he comes
to be informed of this Defign.

Bedlow. Having receiv'd the News of that

Country, I did there take Water, and landed a-

gain at Penfans, and when 1 came to London I

gave the Letter to Harcourt: what was in than

Pacquet I cannot particularly tell, for I was not

fo inquifitive as to look into the Contents of it,

but I know it was tending (as all the reft did) to

the carrying on of this Plot: Afterwards I was
employed by Harcourt and Coleman to go to fome
parts of England to communicate the Letters to

fome of the Popifh Party.

L. C. J. Now turn to the Jury.

Bedlow. The Summer was paft in the doing of

that : In the beginning of Augufi hli there was
a Confultation and a clofe one at Harcourt's

Chamber, fo as that they did not permit me to

know any thing of it. I went out of Town for a

Fortnight, and when I returned, I understood

there had been fuch a Meeting ; 1 charged them
with their Privacy in it, and asked what was the

private defign of that Confultation 3 they faid it

was fomething I fhould know in time : That it

did not fignify much at prefent, but in time I

fhould know it : But then I underftood by Prit"

chard, who was more my Confident than any of

the reft, That it was a Defign to kill the King :

That Pickering and Grove had undertaken it a

great while, and that they had been endeavour-

ing a long while to bring it to pafs.

Femvick. Where was this Meeting and when ?

Bedlow. Laft Auguft, at Harcourfs. Chamber.

Fenwick. Who were prefent there ?

Bedlow. Be pleafed to give me leave to go on,

I'll tell you by and by : Then I underftood, as I

faid, that it was to kill the King, but that Picker-

ing and Grove failing of it, they had hired four

Ruffians that were to go to Windfor, and do it

there, and that if I would come the next day, I

fhould hear from Coleman the efFect: When I

came there I found Coleman was gone, but Prit-

chard faid there were fome fent to Windfor, and

that
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that Coleman was going after them, and that he
had given a MefTenger a Guinea that was to carry

the Money to them. And he would prefently be
after them, for fear they fhould want Opportu-
nity to effect their Defign. Then I difcours'd

them, why they kept their Defign fo long hid

from me ? They faid, It was a Refolve of the

Society, and an Order of my Lord Bella/is, that

none fhould know it but the Society, and thofe

that were Actors in it. I feem'd fatisfy'd with
that Anfwer at prefent. About the latter End of

Augufi, or the Beginning of September, (but 1 be-

lieve, it was the latter End of Augufi) I came to

Harcourt's Chamber and there was Ireland, and
Pritchard, and Pickering, and Grove.

L. C. J. What Part of Augufi was it?

Bedlow. The latter End.
L. C. J. Do you fay it Pofitively, That it was

the latter End of Augufi ?

Bedlow. My Lord, It was in Augufi; I do not
fwear Pofitively to a Day.

L. C. J. But you fay, it was in Augufi.

Ireland. And that we were there prefent ?

Bedlow. You were there, and Grove, and Pic
kering.

Ireland. Did you ever fee me before ?

Bedlow. You were prefent there, and Grove,

and Pickering, and Pritchard, and Fogarthy, and
Harcourt, and I.

L. C. y. What did you talk of there ?

Bedlow. That the Ruffians miffing of Killing

the KING at Wind/or, Pickering and Grove
fhould go on, and that Conyers fhould be joined
with them ; and that was to AffafTinate the

KING in his Morning-Walks at New-Market:
And they had taken it fo ftrongly upon them,
that they were very eager upon it : And Grove

was more forward than the Reft: And faid,

Since it could not be done Clandeftinely, it

fhould be attempted Openly. And that thofe

that do Fall, had the Glory to die in a Good
Caufe. But (faid he) if it be difcovered, the Dif-

covery can never come to that Height, but

their Party would be ftrong enough to bring it

to pafs.

L. C.y. And you fwear, Ireland was there?

Bedlow. He was there, my Lord.

L. C. j. And heard all this ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord ; and fo did Grove, and

Pickering, and the Reft.

Ireland. My Lord, I never faw him before in

my Life.

L. C. y. What was the Reward that you were

to have for your pains in this Bufinefs ?

Bedlow. My Lord, the Reward that I was to

have (as it was told me by Harcourt) was very

confiderable : I belong'd to one particular Part

of the Society. There are others ; and I prefume,

they each kept their particular Meffengers.

L. C. y. What was Grove to have ?

Bedlow. Grove was to have Fifteen Hundred
Pound, if he Efcaped, and to be a continual Fa-

vourite, and Refpected as a great Perfon, by all

the Church.
L. C. y. What was Pickering to have?

Bedlow. He was to have fo many MaJJes, I

cannot prefume to tell the Number j but they

were to be as many, as at Twelve Pence a Mafs
fhould come to that Money : Thefe Majfes were

to be Communicated to all the yefuits beyond
the Seas, that when he had done it, he might be

fcnt away immediately.

L. C.y. What can you fay ofany of the Reft?
Bedlow. My Lord, I do not Charge any more

but them Three.

L. C. y. What fay you to Whitehead ?

Bedlow. They have laid, that he was very Ac-
tive in the Plot ; but I know it not.

L. C. y. That is not any Evidence againft

him. What can you fay, as to Fenwick F

Bedlow. No more than I have faid, as to Mr*
Whitebread : I only know him by Sight.

L. C y. Then he Charges only thefe Three
upon Oath, Ireland, Pickering, and Grove.

Ireland. Do you know Sir John Warner ?

Bedlow. I know Father Warner at St. Q?ners
and Sir yohn Warner at Wotton by St. Omers.

Ireland. He named Sir John Warner to be at
Paris.

Bedlow. It was Sheldon, I fpoke of (my Lord)
at Paris.

Ireland. At leaft you are certain, that I was
prefent at that Confultation ?

Bedlow. Yes : I am certain, you were there.

Ireland. Can you produce any Witnefs, that
you ever fpoke to me before in your Life?

Mr. Serj. Baldwyn. Do you know any thing
of Mr. Whitebread's being prefent at any of the
Confults ?

Bedlow. I do know, that Whitebread, and Fen-

wick both, have been feveral times at Confulta-
tions } but I do not know what the Particular

Refolves of thofe Confultations were.

L. C. J. D,d you ever hear them fpeak any
thing in particular?

Bedlow. No, I have never heard them fpeak
any thing in particular.

L. C. y. Where have you feen Fenwick ?
Bedlow. I have feen Fenwick at Harcourfs

Chamber, and I have often heard him talk'd ofi
and it hath been told me, That nothing was
done, without Fenwick.

Whitebread. Are you fure you know us?
Bedlow. I do not fay, You are the Man that

employed me : You are the Man I was leaft ac-

quainted with, of all the Society ; but I have
feen you there.

Ireland. Can you bring any one, that can Te-
ftify it ?

L. C. y. He muft then have brought one of

-

your felves ; and it may be, he cannot produce
any fuch one.

Ireland. Nor no one elfe, except fuch a Knight
of the Pofi, as Mr. Oates.

L. C. J. You muftbe Corrected for that, Mr.
Ireland : You fhall not come here to Abufe the

KING'S Evidence. Nothing appears to us, that

Reflects upon Mr. Oates's Teftimony; and we
muft not fuffer any fuch fort of Language.
Mr. Juft. Atk. Take off his Credit as much as

you can by Proof, but you muft not Abufe him
by ill Language.

Mr. Finch. Can you tell the Court and the

Jury, when it was, that by Agreement Grove
fhould have the Fifteen Hundred Pound ?

Bedlow. He was to have it put into a Friend's

Hands.

L. C. y. Do you know that Friend's Name?
Bedlow. No, my Lord, I do not.

Mr. Finch. Do you know, when that was to

be delivered out to him ?

Bedlow. As to the particular Time of their A-
greement, I do not know it.

Mr.
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Mr. Finch. But this he fays, That when the

Agreement was made, he was to have Fifteen

Hundred Pound.

L- C. J. And he fays this, That Ireland was

in Augujl laft, with Pickering and Grove, and o-

thers, at a Confult > where he was alfo.

Ireland. But what if I prove I was not in Lon-

don all Augujl laft, from the Beginning to the

End?
L. C. J. You heard them talk of this Matter

; in Augujl, at Harcourt's Chamber, you fay : What,
t did they talk of it, as a Matter they had agreed ?

Bediow. My Lord, they brought it in, as be-

ing balked in their Defign of Killing the KING
at Windfor; and becaufe that had not taken the

j
Effect they intended it, they fhould have Conyers

joined to them, to do it at New-Market.

Mr. Finch. Did they tell you when, and where

the Agreement was made?

L. C. J. No, hefpeaks not of that} but they

talk'd of the Failure at Windfor : And therefore

ithey did conclude, that Conyers fhould be joined

to them, to do it at New-Market.

Bediow. Yes, my Lord.

jL. C. J. Have you any more to fay ?

Bediow. My Lord, I would only fay this -

t If

had any to prove what I fay, they mult be

arties as well as thefe Perfons.

Ireland. My Lord, I will prove, That I was

not in Town in Augujl all the Month, by twenty

tWitneffes : Pll bring thofe that faw me in Staf-

ford/hire, and fpoke with me all Augujl.

\ L. C. J. Have you any more to ask him ?

! Whitebread. No.
Serj. Baldwin. Swear Mr. James Bediow. And

he was fworn.

) Ireland. He does fay, That he was Familiar

,vith me, and feveral other Perfons here ; and

herefore, I delire he may fpecify the Place, and

he Company.
William Bediow. I do not fay, there was a Fa-

niliarity ; for I was a Stranger to that Part of the

Society.

L. C. J. You mull take him right, Mr. Ire-

land; he hath not faid, that he was of your Fa-

niliar Acquaintance.

Bediow. I have feen you often, Sir.

I Ireland. Where?
Bediow. At Monfieur Le Faire' s.

\ Ireland. Where was that?

Bediow. At Somerfet-Houfe.

Ireland. Was there any one prefent befides ?

I Bediow. Yes, feveral other Priefs and Jefuits

bf Somerfet-Houfe.

Ireland. Name one.

Bediow. Signior Perrare.

Ireland. You fay, you faw me and Perrare to*

jether at Somerfet-Houfe, I fuppofe, if Signior

Yerrare may be brought hither —•——

•

< Bediow. My Lord, Perrare is a Priejl in Or-

ders ; and without doubt, is in this Bufinefs.
! L. C. J. If he did fee you, he mull fee you in

luch Company as you keep, they were Priefts and

"fefuits, and ofyour own Religion; and we know
very well what Anfwers we are like to be put off

Vith by Men of your own Pcrfuafion at this time

>fday.

Ireland. My Lord, ifno body's Oath can be ta-

en that is of another Perfuafion than the Church

jf England^ it is hard.

L. C. J. Pray mind, you do not object ingenu-

ufly : for you fay, This Witnefs fwears he faw

me in fuch Company, why does he not produce
them to teftify it? Why? He does not come
prepared to produce them ; if he fhould, we
know well how you are concerned one for another
at this time ; and we can hardly expect they
ihould make true Anfwers. But notwithfhnd-
ing, if you will produce this Father Perrare, (he
cannot be Sworn becaufe 'tis againft the Law,
but) his Teltimony fhall be heard, and lee it go
as far as it can.

Bediow. If yourLordfhippleafes, my Lord, I

would convince him that he does know me.
Have you not been, Sir, at Somerfet-Houfe?

Ireland. Yes, 1 have.

Bediow. Do you know le Faire and Perrare ?

Ireland. Yes, but I never faw you in their
Company in Somerfet-Houfe in my Life, above
once or twice.

Bediow. Yes, you have twice at le Faire's.

L. C. J. Where is that le Faire ? you would do
well to produce him ?

Bediow. My Lord, he is gone away, and is

one againft whom the King's Proclamation is

out.

L. C. J. You keep fuch Company as run away,
and then you require him to produce them, whora
the King's Proclamation cannot bring in.

Ireland. I keep none but honeft Company.
Bediow. If your Lordfhip pleafes, 1 have one

thing more that is very material to fpeak ; at the

fame time that there was a difcourfe about thefe

Three Gentlemen's being to deftroy the King at

New-Market, at the fame time there was a dif-

courfe of a defign to kill feveral Nob'e Perfons,

and the particular Parts affigned to every one.

Knight was to kill the Earl of Shaftesbury, Prit-

chard the Duke of Buckingham, Oneile the Earl
of OJfory, Obrian the Duke of Ormond.

L. C.J. Well, will you have anv more of this?

Mr. Finch. You fay, you faw Mr. Ireland fay

Mafs, where did you fee him ?

Bediow. Not Mr. Ireland, but Mr. Fenwick, t

have feen him fay Mafs, and at Wild-Houfe.

Oates. My Lord, I did omit a Confult where-
in there was a defign laid of taking away the

Duke of Ormondes Life, and of a Rebellion that

was to be raifed in Ireland.

My Lord, in the Month of January laft, there

came Letters from Archbifhop Talbot to London,

which Letters were perufed by- Fenwick, and Ire-

land, and Whitebread, and when they were peru-

fed, they were fent and communicated to the Fa-

thers at St. Omers. The Contents of thofe Let-

ters were thus, That the Catholicks had a fair

profpect of effecting their Defigns in the King-

dom of Ireland. And this Letter was inclofed in

a Letter figned by Whitebread, Ireland, Fenwick,

and others (I name no Man's Name that is not

here.)

L. C. J. You faw the Letter ?

Oates. Yes, I did fee it, and read it, wherein

they did give thanks unto God, that he was

pleafed to profper their defigns fo fairly in he-

land -, and withal they did fay, That they would

not leave a (tone unturned to root out that abo-

minable Herefy out of that Kingdom. Now
what that abominable Herefy was, I have no-

thing but a Conjecture.

L. C. J. We all know what that is well e~

nough, there needs no Proof of that.

Oates. In the Month of Augujl, Fenwick, a

little before he went to St. Omers, oh the One
and
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and Twentieth of Auguft, (as I think it was) that

Week that Bartholomew- Fair begun on (as 1 take

it) he was then going to fetch home the Pro-

vincial, and to carry fome Students with him, and

he went unto St. Omers the Monday following ;

but then there was a Confult, and at that Confult

Fenwick did confent to the contrivance of the

Death of the Duke of Ormond, and for the Rebel-

lion that was to be raifed in Ireland after his

Death. And he did approve of the Four yefuits

that were to kill my Lord of Ormond, and did con-

fent to fend Fogarthy down to the Archbilhop of

Dublin, in cafe the Four good Fathers did not

hitthebufinefs. Mr. Whitehead, my Lord, did

confent when he came over, as appears by their

Entry- Books. For there came a Letter from

him dated as from St. Omen, but I concluded it

did not come from thence, becaufc it paid but

Two-pence.
IVhitcbread. Who was it that writ that Letter ?

Oates. My Lord, this Letter was dated as the

latter part of Augujl, and dared as from St. Omers,

but the Poft-mark upon it was but Two-pence,
to be paid for it j fo that I do conclude thence

Mr. Whitebread was then at Efquirc jLst^'s Houfe
in But in that

Letter he did like the Propofal that was made a-

bout killing the Duke of Ormond in that Confult,

and the Letter was figned with his own hand.-

L. C. J. I would gladly fee that Letter.

Oates. If I could fee it, I could know it.

L. C. J. You have not that Letter?

Oates. No, but they kept a Book wherein they

Regiftred all their Resolutions, and there it was
entred.

L. C. J. You upon your Oath fay, That he

as Superior of them did keep a Book, wherein

they Regiftred all their Confults.

Oates. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. You would do well to {hew us your

Book, Mr. JVhitebread.

Whitcbread. We never kept any.

Oates. The Confult did; for tho' the Superior

have an abfolute power over the Subject, yet

they never do any thing of Confequencc without

the Confult. And this Book was kept by the

Superior, and never opened but at the Confult,

and therein all the PafTages were Regiftred.

L. C. y. Produce your Book, and we fhallfee

whether you cannot catch Mr. Oates in fome-

thing or other.

Bedlow. My Lord, that Book I have feen, and
therein all their Confults are Regiftred.

L. C. y. Was there Books kept by them ?

Bedloiv. Yes, my Lord, all the Confults did

keep Books, and Mr. Langhorn was the Perfon

that Regiftred all into one.

L. C. y. Ifa Hundred WitnefTesfwearit, they

will deny it. Well, will you have any more?
Mr. S. Baldwyn. My Lord, we will now call

Mr. yantes Bedlow, this Gentleman's Brother, to

fhew you, That thefe fort of Perfons did refort

to him frequently.

L. C. y. Are you fworn, Sir ?

J. Bedloiv. Yes, my Lord, I am.

L. C. y. Then let me ask you one fhort Quc-
ftion. Do you know Mr. Ireland ?

y. Bedlow. No.
L. C. y. Do you know Pickering or Grove?

J. Bedlow. I have heard of them.
L. C. y. Did your Brother know any thing

of them ?

y. Bedlow, AsforthcConfpiracy of killing the

King, I know nothing of it j but about his know-
ledge of Priefts and Jefuits, and the Converfe he

had beyond Sea, that I can fpeak to. And I

have very often heard thefe mens names named.

L. C y. In what nature did he talk of them?

y. Bedlow. I know nothing of the Plot, and
as for any Defign I knew not what my Brother

knew, but I have heard him talk of them.

L. C. y. How did he talk of them ?

y . Bedlow. He mentioned them as his Ac-
quaintance, the yefuits there did ask him Que-
ftions about them.

L. C. y. And did it appear to you they were
of his Acquaintance ?

J. Bedlow. But I underftood nothing of the

Plot or Defign, by the Oath I have taken.

L. C. J. But did he fpeak as if he knew any
of them ?

y. Bedlow. For any certain knowledge that

my Brother had of them I cannoc fpeak, but I

have often heard him talk of them as people I

thought he knew.
Mr. Finch. Do you know, that when he came

over from beyond Sea, that his Lodging was fre-

quented by any, and by whom?
y. Bedlow. Yes, there were many Priefts and

yefuits came to him.

Mr. Finch. Did your Brother receive any Mo-
ney from them?

y. Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, I havefetch'd many
fcore of Pounds for my Brother from them.

L. C. J. The Ufe, Gentlemen, that the

King's Council make of this Evidence, is only

to fhew, That his Brother Mr. Bedlow was con-

verfant in their affairs, in that he hath received

many a fcore of Pounds in the managing of their

bufinefs.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray, from whom had your
Brother that Money ?

y. Bedlow. I have proved that from the Gold-
fmiths themfelves that paid it, before the Duke
of Monmouth, my Lord Chancellor, and Lord
Treafurer.

Mr. Finch. Have you received any confiderable

fum at a time ?

y. Bedlow. Yes, I have.

Mr. Finch. How much ?

J. Bedlow. Fifty or Thrcefcore Pounds a t a

time.

Finch. Of whom ?

y. Bedlow. Of Priefts and Jefuits.

Finch. For whom ?

J. Bedlow. For my Brother.

L. C. y. Will you have any more Evidence?
Mr. Serj. Baldwyn. Yes my Lord, the next

Evidence we produce, is concerning a Letter

}

there was a Letter written by one Mr. Peters, that

is now a Prifoner, to one T'onflall a Jefuit ; and

this Letter does mention, That there was a

meeting appointed by order of IVhitebread to be

at London.

L. C. y. What is that to them, and how come
you by it ?

Serj. Baldwyn. Peters is now in Prifon for

things of this nature ; and you have heard of one

Harcourt, and out of his Study this Letter was

taken.

W. Bedlow. My Lord, may I not have liberty

to withdraw ? my Head akes fo extremely, I

cannot endure it.

L.Q. %
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L. C. J. Mr. Bedlow, you may fit down, but

we can't part with you yet.

Ireland. I defire, my Lord, that his Brother

ay be asked, how long he had known me.

L. C. J. Can you recollect by the diicourfes

ou have heard, how long he might have known
Ireland ?

J. Bedlow. No, my Lord, it was out of my
ivay.

L. C. J. But did he talk of Ireland?

J. Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, he did.

Ireland. As being where, in what place ?

J. Bedlow. I cannot tell.

Ireland. He named one place Three Years

>g° it was at Paris.

L. C. y. But he does not fay that you were

713
3d of April. It was written From London, and
it mentions, that Mr. Whitehead did fix the meet-
ing at that time. We'll tell you how we came
by the Letter. Mr. Harcourt, who is one of the
principal Perfons here, and at whofe Houfe was
the meeting you heard of, hehimfelfisfled away,
when they came to look after him upon thedif-
covery that was made : And Mr. Bradley, who
was the Meffenger to feize upon him, did accord-
ing to direction fearch his Study, and did there
find this Letter, which we conceive, my Lord, to
be very good Evidence ; this Harcourt being a
party, and one at whofe Houfe the laft meeting
was, and others was. We do conceive a Letter
from one of that party, bearing date about the
fame time, concerning Mr . Whitehead's Sum-

here, but that you were familiarly talk'd of mons, who was Mailer of the Company, is very
here ; fo that the meaning is, they were acquain- good Evidence againlt them
ed with you: And this is only brought to

jhew, that it is not a new-taken-'up thing by

Bedlow, though you feemed never to have known
my fuch Man ;

yet he fwears, faith he, I have

jieard fuch Perfons talkt of as my Brother's ac-
" uaintance.

Ireland, If his Brother had talkt of me three

ears ago, why then he mull have known me
hrc-e years ago.

L. C. y. I'll ask him that quell ion : How
jong is it fince you knew him?

W. Bedlow. I have known him but fince Au-

aft this fame laft Summer} but, my Lord, I

lalkt five, and four years ago of feveral EngliJJ)

jvlonks and Jefuits that were then at Rome, that

I
never knew in my Life.

L. C. y. His anfwer then is this, faith his

brother, I have heard him talk of them three

ears ago ; I then asked Bedlow, how long he

ad known them ? faith he, I did not know
hem three years ago; though I did talk of them
hree years ago; for we have talkt of many that

vc never faw in our Lives : So it feems he had

iccafion to make ufe of your names frequently,

nd join them with thofe of fome he knew bet-

er : But he never knew you 'till Augufi laft ; but

ed;d difcourfe ofyou three years ago,as known
or fuch fort of Perfons.

Ireland. He muft hear fome body fpeak of us,

' s being in fome place or another.

, W. Bedlow. I will fatisfy you in that. We talk

•f fome now in England, that are to be fent a

ear hence.

L. C. y. Ifyou can produce but Harcourt and

'js Faire, they will do you great fervice now.
W. Bedlow. My Lord, as for example, Father

fritchard is Confeffor to fuch a Gentleman in

Ingland now this year, a year hence we muft

;nd fuch a one hither, and he muft go back,

iknd we may talk of that Perfon as in England,

ro
years before.

L. C. y. You need not trouble yourfelves a-

out that. Mr. Ireland, you fhall have a fair

"rial, but you will not have cunning or art e-

ough to deceive the Jury, nor will Mr. White"
read have Learning enough to bafHe the Court.

"hen Mr. W. Bedlow and his Brother withdrew.

Serj. Baldwyn. My Lord, The next Evidence
hat we fhall give, as I faid, is a Letter from one
*eters to one Tonjiall, and this we will bring home
3 Mr. Whitehead, for it is an invitation to be at

he Confult held at London the Z4th of April ; and

I was written about that very time, to wit, the

(Vol. II.

L. C. y. If you had found it in Mr. White-
head's cuiiody, you fay fomething.

Jufl. Bertie. My Brother puts it fo : We find

a Letter directed to Mr. Whitehead, let the mat-
ter of it be what it will, it is found among Har-
court's Papers.

Serj. Baldwyn. No, my Lord, we find a Letter
from one Mr. Peters now a Prifoner directed to

Mr. c
tonftall concerning the Confult furnmoned

by Whitehead, and this we find in Harcourt''s

poffeffion.

L. C. y. I can't underftand how this may af-

fect Mr. Whitehead.
Mr. Finch. Pray my Lord, if your Lordfhip

pleafe, this is the ufe we make of this Letter ; we
do not produce it a«. another Evidence of this de-

fign, but to fortify that part of the Evidence
which hath already been given, That there was

a Confult furnmoned at chat time, and to be held

with al! the privacy that could be, to prevent dif-

covery. And this is the paper, that we find in

the Cuftody ofHarcourt, one of the Confpirators,

who is fled for it.

L. C. y. Look you, Mr. Finch, if you ufe it

not againfx any particular Perfon, but as an Evi-

dence in general that there was a Plot amongft
them, you fay right enough j but it cannot be

Evidence againlt any one particular Perfon of the

Prifoners at the Bar.

Mr. Finch. My Lord, it can affect no particu-.

lar Perfon } but we only ufe it in the general, and

we pray it may be read.

L. C. y. Gentlemen of the Jury, before you
hear the Letter read, I would fay this to you.

Let them have fair play ; whatfoevef they mete

unto others, we will fhew them Jultice. They
fhall have as fair play upon their Trials as any

Perfons whatsoever. The thing that is offered

to be given in Evidence, is a Letter written by
one Peters a Prifoner for this Plot, and directed

to one Tonjlall a yefuit, and this is found in Har-

court's Chamber, a Prieft that is fled, and one

whom the King hath Commanded to render

himfelf by his Proclamation; but he does not.

Now in that Letter there is a difcourfe of a De-

fign and Plot on foot. This cannot be Evidence

to charge any one particular Perfon of thefe;

but only to fatisfy you and all the world, that

thofe Letters and Papers that are found amongft

their own Priells, do fortify the Teltimony of

Mr. Oates, that there is a general Plot: 'Tis not

applied to any particular Perfon.

Oates. The day before the Confult met, Mr,

Whitehead did ask Mr. Peters whether he had

furnmoned the Confult according to his directi-

Yyyy on -
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on. Mr. Peters told him yes, he had writ into

Warwickjhire and Worcefterfhire.

Whitebread. When was this ?

Oates. The day before the Confult met.

Whitebread. Did you hear me ask Mr. Peters?

Oates. Yes, I did hear you* and I did hear

him fay he had done it. Now, my Lord, this

Letter that is found in Harcourt's Study ihews,

that Mr. Whitebread had directed Mr. Peters in

this Confult.

Serj. Baldwyn. Pray fwear Sir tho. Dokman to

ihew how he came by it. Which was done.

Serj. Baldwyn. Sir tho. Doleman, What do
you know of this Letter?

Sir tho. Doleman. This Letter in my hand was
taken amongft Harcourf% Papers, in a great Bag
of Paper j and fearching them I did find this

Letter amongft the reft.

Then the Letter was (hewn to IV r. Oxtes.

L. C. J. Is that Mr. Peters's hand?
Oates. Yes, my Lord, it is.

L. C. J. Were you acquainted with his hand ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, I have often read it in

Letters.

L. C. J. Do you know tonfiall?

Oates. My Lord, I do not know him by that

name j If I did fee him perhaps I might : I

knew Men better by their Faces.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray read it.

CI. of the Cr. This is Dated February i]. (77,)

And fuperfcribed thus (Thefe for his Honoured
Friend Mr. William tonfiall at Burton.)

Honoured dear Sir,

I Have but time to convey thefe following particu-

lars to you. Firft, I am to give you notice, that

it hath feem'd fitting to our Mafier Confult, Prov.

t$c. to fix the zijl day of April next Stylo veteri,

for the meeting at London of our Congregation, on

which day all thofe that have a fuffrage are to be

prefent there, that they may be ready to give a be-

ginning to the fame on the i\th, which is the next

after St. George's-day. Tou are warned to have,

jus fuffragii, and therefore if your occafions fhould

not permit you to be prefent, you are to fignify as

much, to the end others in their ranks be ordered to

fupply your abfence : Every one is minded alfo, not

to hajlen to London long before, the time appointed,

nor to appear much about the town 'till the meeting

be over, left occafion fhould be given to fufpebl the

defign. Finally, Secrecy, as to the time and place,

is much recommended to all thofe that receive Sum-
mons, as it will appear of its own nature neceffary

.

L. C. J. So it was very neceffary indeed.

CI. of Cr. There is more of it, my Lord.

tertio pro Domino folono difco.

Benefafl. Prov. Lunienfis.

Jamfiraitnedfor time, that I can only ajfure you,

I Jhall be much glad of obliging you any ways, Sir,

Your Servant

Edward Petre.

Pray my Service where due, &c.

L. C. J. You know nothing of this Letter,

Mr. Whitebread?.

Whitebread. No, my Lord, nothing at all.

L. C. J. Nor you, Mr. Ireland?

Ireland. 'Tis none of my Letter, my Lord.

L. C. J. Did you never hear of it before?

Ireland. Not that I know of in particular.

L. C. J. Well, have you done with the Evi-

dence for the King ?

Serj. Baldwyn. Pray Sir tho. Doleman, will you
tell my Lord, Did Mr. Oates give in this Tefti-

mony of the Confult, to be the 24th of A[>ril%
before this Letter was found ?

Sir Tho. Doleman. Mr. Oates gave in his Infor-

mation about this matter, to the King and Coun-
cil, four or five Days before we found this Let-'

ter.

Serj. Baldwyn. You were fpeaking of 1 he Seals

that were made ufe of to Sign Comniilfions, have
you them in the Court ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, they are in the Court,
and they were takenout of the Provincial's Cham-
ber.

Whitebread. I confefs they had the Seals out of
my Chamber} but the taking of them was more,
than they had Power to do.

then the Seah were fhewn to the Court and the Jury.
Air. Finch. It hath been told you already, Gen-

tlemen, what ufe thefe Seals were put untoj to

Seal Commifnons to raife an Army. And we
have now done with our Evidence for the King,
'till we hear what the Prifoners fay.

L. C. J. Before you come to make your De-
fence, I willdo that which 1 think injufticeand

Honefty, and according to the duty of my Place

and my Oach, 1 ought to do; That is, to fay

fomething to the Jury, before the Prifoners

make their own Defence. Here are Five that

ftand indifted of High-Treafon: I muft tell you
this, That as to three ot them, that is to fay,

Ireland, Pickering and Grove, both Mr. Oates and

Mr. Bedlow have ("worn the thing flat upon them :

Mr. Gtf^.s his Teftimony is full againft them all;

but Mr. Bedlow does only agree with him to

charge Three, and that in this particular: Saith

he, 1 was prefent at Harcourt's Chamber when
Ireland was there, and Pickering and Grove,

where they difcourfed of their defeat about their

defign againft the King at Windfor; and there

they came to a new agreement, to do it at New-
Market. So that here is now, as the King's

Counlel did open it to you at the firft, as there

ought to be, two WitnefTes * fo here are Two
which though they fpeak as to a different cir-

cumftance of time, yet they prove one Trea-

fonable Fa£t at feveral times : For if killing the.

King be the Facl in queftion, and one proves

they would do it by one thing, and another by

another; and one in one place, and another in

another j yet thefe are two WitnefTes to prove

one facl, that is the fubftance, which is, the

killing of the King. So that there are two Wit-

nefTes againft them three, exprefly proving a

Confederacy to kill the King : For Ireland's being

by, and confenting, was the fame thing, and as

much, as if he had been to do it with Grove and

Pickering; for there are no Acceflaries in Trea-

fon. I do acknowledge, that Mr. Oates hath

given a very full and ample Teftimony, accom-

panied with all the circumftances of time and

place, againft them all, that may go far to

weigh with you, all things confidered, to be-

lieve there is a Plot j yet I do not think that

they have proved it againft Whitebread and Fen-

wick by two WitnefTes: Sothatthough the Te-

ftimony be fo full, as to fatisfy a private Con-

fcience, yet we muft go according to Law too.

It will be convenient, from what is already prov-

ed, to have them ftay 'till more proof may come

in :
JTis a great Evidence that is againft them ;

but it not being fufficient in point of Law, we

difcharge
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difcharge you of them j 'tis not a legal proof

to convict them by, whatfoever it may be to

fatisfy your Conferences. Therefore remove

Mi'. Fen-wick and Mr. Whitebread from the Bar,

and let the other three fay what they will for

themfelves f

.

* L. C. B. (Speaking to the

Goaler) You muffc underftand

they are no way acquitted; the

(Evidence is fo full againft them by Mr. Oates's

fTeftimony, that there is no reafon to acquit them.

It is as flat, as by one Witnefs can be -, and the

King hath lent forth a Proclamation for further

difcovery •, before the time therein prefixt be

but, no queftion there will come in more Evi-

dence: Therefore keep them as Uriel: as you

an.

Then Whitebread and Fenwick were taken back

to the Goal by the Keeper.

L. C. J. Now Gentlemen, you fhall have li-

erty to make your full defence.

Ireland. Firft I mail endeavour to prove there

re not two WitneiTes againft me: For that

yhich he fays, of my being at Harcourfs Cham-
ber in Auguft, is falfe ; for I will prove I was all

auguft long out of Town, for I was then in

\taffordjhlre.

L. C. J. Call your Witnefies.

Ireland. If there be any of them here.

L. C y. Whoever comes to give Evidence for

ou, fhall go and come in fafety ; they fhall not

e Trepan'd for any thing of that, but they

hall be heard.

Ireland. My Lord, We are kept fo ftricl, that

ye are not permitted to fend for any body.

I L. C. y. As foon as your Sifter came to me,

(ordered fhe fhould have accefs to you, and that

ou fhould have Pen, Ink and Paper, in order

j> your defence ; therefore call thofe Witneffes

ou have, to prove what you fay.

Ireland. I can only fay this, That laft Auguft
ron the 3d day I went down to Staffordftoire

fith my Lo; d Afton^ and his Lady, and his Son,

fid Sir yohn Southcot and his Lady, and all thefe

jjm teftify that I went down with them. Here

I
Mr.yohn Afton in Town, if he may be found,

, .-ho was in my Company all Auguft in Stafford'

Jre.

L. C. y. Will you call that Gentleman? Cri-

f, call him.

Crier. Mr. yohn Afton.

Ireland. It is an hundred to one if he be here ;

ir I have not been permitted fo much as to fend

;fcrap of Paper.

L. C. y. Your Sifter had leave to go to whom
t>u thought fit, in your behalf. You faid you
ould prove it, Why don't you ?

Ireland. I do as much as I on do.

L. C.y. What, by faying fo ?

! Ireland. Why, I do name them that can teftify.

L. C. y. If naming them fhould ferve, you muft
Ave a Law made on purpofe for you.

I Ireland. Then there is no help for Innocence.

I Rocorder. Tofave him that labour, the King's

Ividence will prove, th,<t he was in Town at

Vat time.
1 Serj. Bald-wyn. Swear Sarah Paine. Which
'as done.

Serj. Baldivyn. My Lord, this Perfon was Mr.
rove's Maid.
L. C. y. I believe you know your Maid, Mr.
ove, don't you? look upon her, fhe was your
rvant.

Vol. IT.
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Grove. Yes, my Lord, fhe was fo, fhe is not

fo now.
L. C. y. Do you know Mr. Ireland ?

Sarah Paine. Yes, my Lord.
L.C.y. Do you know whether Mr. Ireland

was in fown in Auguft laft, or no?
iS", Paine. I faw him at his own Houfe about

a Week before I went with my Lord Arlington
to IVindfor.

L. C. y. When was that?
S. Paine. That was about a Week after the

King was gone thither.

L. C y. Sir Tho. Doleman, what day was it

the King was gone thither?

Sir Tho. Doleman. About the thirteenth of

Auguft.

L. C y. Thirteen and feven is twenty ; then

you went to Windjor about the twentieth it feems,

and you fay that eight days before you faw Mr.
Ireland at his own Houfe.

S. Paine. Yes, my Lord, about eight or nine
days before that, I did fee him at the door of his

own Houfe, which was a Scrivener's in Fetter-

Lane He was going into his own Lodging.
L C. y. How long had you known him before

that tme?
S. Paine. My Lord, I knew him, for he came

often to our Houfe, when 1 lived at Mr. Grove's j

he was the Man that broke open the Racquet of
Letters that my Mailer carried about afterwards,

and he Sealed all the Pacquets that went beyond
the Seas. And he opened them ftill when the

Anfwers returned back again.

Ireland. Now muft all the people ofmy Lodg-
ing come and witnefs that I was out of my
Lodging all Auguft.

L.C.y. Call them.

Ireland. There is one Anne Ireland.

L. C. y. Crier, call her.

Cryer. Anne Ireland: Here fhe is.

L. C. y. Come Miitrefs, what can you fay

concerning your Brother's being out of Town
in Auguft ?

A. Ireland. My Lord, on Saturday the third

of Auguft, he fet out to go into Staffordftoire.

L.C.y. How long did he continue there?

A. Ireland. Till it was a fortnight before Mi-
chaelmas.

L. C.y. How can you remember that it was

juft the third of Auguft?
A. Ireland. I remember it by a very good Cir-

cumftance, becaufe on the Wednefday before, my
Brother, and my Mother and 1, were invited

out to Dinner; we ftay'd there all night, and

all Thurfday night, and Friday night my Brother

came home, and on Saturday he fet out for Staf-

fordjhire.

L. C. y. Where was it, Maid, that you faw him ?

S. Fame. 1 faw him going in at the door of

their own Houfe.

X. C. y. When was that ?

S. Paine. About a Week before I went with

my Lord Chamberlain to Windfor^ which was a

Week after the King went thither.

L. C. y. That mult be about the 1 2th or 1 5th.

Are you fure you faw him ?

S. Paine. Yes, my Lord, lam furel faw him.

L. C. y. Do you know this Maid, Mr. Ireland ?

Ireland. I do not know her, my Lord.

L.C.y. She knowsyou by a very good token.

You ufed to break open the Letters at her

Mailer's Houfe, and to leal them.

Y y y y 1 S. Pawt.
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S. Paine. He knows me very well, for I have

carried feveral Letters to him, that came from

the Carrier, as well as thofe that came from be-

yond Sea.

L.C.J. They will deny any thing in the

World.
Ireland. I profefs, I do not know her. Twen-

ty People may come to me, and yet I not know
them •, and (he having been Mr. (drove's Servant,

may have brought me Letters, and yet I not

remember her. But, my Lord, here is my Mo-
ther Eleanor Ireland, that can teftify the fame.

L.C.J. Gall her then.

Crisr. Eleanor Ireland.

E. Ireland. Here.

L C. J. Can you tell when your Son went out

of Town?
E. Ireland. He went out ofTown the third of

Augufi, towards Staffordjhire.

Ireland. My Lord, there is Mr. Charles af-
ford will prove that I was a Week after the be-

ginning of September, and the latter end of Au-

guff in Staffordjhire.

L. C. J. That will not do: for fhe fays that fhe

faw you in London about the 10th or izth of Au-

gufi; and fhe makes it out by a Circumflance,

which is better Evidence than if fhe had come
and fworn the precife day wherein fhe faw him :

for I mould not have been fatisfy'd, unlefs fhe

had given me a good account why fhe did know
it to be fuch a day. She does it by Circum-

ftarces, bv which we mull calculate that fhe

faw you about the 12th or 1 3th day. She went

to my Lord Arlington's at fuch a day, a Week
after the King went to Windfor, and that was a-

bout the 13th, and fhe faw you a Week before

fhe went to my Lord Arlington's, which muft be

the izth or 1.3th. You fay you went out of

Town the third of Augufi; who can fwear you

did not come back again ?

Ireland. All the houfe can teftify I did not

come to my Lodging.

E. Ireland. He went out of Town the third

of Augufi, and did not return till a fortnight be-

fore Michaelmas.

L C.J Did you lie at his houfe?

E. Ireland. I did then, my Lord.

L. C. J. What, all that while?

E. Ireland. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. So did your Daughter too, did fhe ?

E. Ireland. Yes, fhe did.

Ireland. There are others that did fee me the

latter end of Augufi in Staffordjhire.

L. C. J. And you would fain have crampt

him up, between the 20th and 31ft; and then,

'tis poffible, you might be in Staffordjhire.

Ireland. If I might have been permitted to

fend in for fuch Witnefs as I would have had, I

could have brought them.

Recorder. Why, have you not a Note of what
WitnefTes you are to cull? why don't you call

them according to that Note?
Ireland. I had that but this Morning.

L.C.J. Why did you not fend for them be-

fore, to have them ready ?

Recorder. 'Tis his Sifter that brings that Note
of the WitnefTes that he fhould call, and now
they are not here.

A. Ireland. There was one Engletrap, and one

Harrifon had promifed to be here, that went

with him into Staffordjhire.

Mr. Oates. My Lord, when ever we had a mind

to come to Town, we commonly writ our Let-

ters, and let them come to Town two days after

us. So that we might prove by the writing of

fuch Letters, if any Queftion did arifc, that we
could not be at fuch a place at fuch a time. And
when we pretended to go into the Country, wc
have gone and taken a Chamber in the City,

and have had frequent Cabals at our Chambers
there. Mr. Ireland writ a Letter as dated from
St. Omers, when I took my leave of him at his

own Chamber, which was betwixt the 1 2th and
24th in London. He was there ; and afterwards

when I went to Fenwick's Chamber he came thi-

ther i a fortnight or ten days at leaft I am fure

it was in Augujl.

L. C. J. Here are three WitnefTes upon Oath
about this one thing: here is Mr. Bedlow that

Swears the fact, upon which the Queftion arifes,

to be in Augujl; that you deny, and fay you
were out of Town then : he produces a Maid
here, and fhefwears, that about that time, which
by calculation muft be about the nth or 12th,

fhe faw you going into your own Houfe. And
here is a third Witnefs, who fwears he knows
nothing of this matter of fact, but he knows you
were in Town then, and that he took his leave

of you as going to St. Omers.

Oates. Whereas he fays, that the beginning of

September he was in Staffordjhire, he was in Town
the fir ft of September, or fecond, for then I had

of him twenty Shillings.

Ireland. This is a moft falfelye j for I was then

in Staffordjhire. And the WitnefTes contradict

themfelves; for the one faith, he took his leave

of me, as going to St. Omers the 1 2th j the other

faith, it was the latter end of Augufi I was at

Harcourt's Chamber.
L. C. J. He does not fay you went, but you

pretended to go.

A. Ireland. Here is one Harrifon, that was a

Coachman that went with them.
L. C. J. Well, what fay you, Friend? Do you

know Mr. Ireland?

Harrifon. I never faw the Man before that

time in my life, but I met with him at St. Albans.

L.C.J. When?
Harrifon. The fifth of Augufi. There I met

with him, and was in a Journey with him to the

fixteenth.

L. C. J. What day of the w ek was it?

Harrifon. Of a Monday.
L. C. J. Did he come from London on that

day ?

Har. I cannot tell that. But there I met him

L.C.J. What time?
Har. In the Evening.
L. C.J. Whereabouts in Saint Albans?
Har. At the Bull-Inn, where we lodged.

L. C. J. Mr. Ireland, you fay you went on Sa-

turday out of Town, did you ftay at Saint Albans

till Monday?
Ireland. No, I went to Standon that day, and

lay there on Saturday and Sunday Night, on Mon-
day I went to Saint Albans.

L. C. J. What, from thence?
Ireland. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. J. Why did you go thither? was that in

your way ?

Ireland. I went thither for the company of Sir

John Southcot and his Lady.
L. C. J. How did you know that they went

thither.

Ireland.
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Ireland. I underflood they were to meet my
Lord Afton, and Lady, there.

L. C. J. What, on Monday Night?

Ireland. Yes, my Lord.

Har. From thence I went with him to I'ixivel,

to my Lord Afton's Houfe, there we were all with

him.

L C. J Were you my Lord Afton's Coach-

man ?

Har. No, my Lord, I was Servant to Sir John

Southcot.

L. C. J. How came you to go with them ?

Har. Becaufe my Lord Afton is my Lady South-

I
cot's Brother.

L. C. J. How long was you in his Company?

Har. From the Fifth of Auguft to the fix-

teenth, and then I was with him at Weft-Chefter.

Mr. Jufi. Atkins. You have not yet talk'd of

being at Weft-Chefter all this while.

Ireland. My Lord, I muft talk of my Journey

by degrees.

L. C. J. Before, you faid you were all Auguft

in Stafford/hire ; come, you muft find out fome

Evafion for that.

Ireland. In Staffordjhire, and thereabouts.

L.C. J. You Witnefs, who do you live with?

Har. With Sir John Southcot.

L. C. J. Who brought your hither?

Har. I came only by a Meflenger lair. Night.

L. C. J. Was not Sir John Southcot in that

Tourney himfelf ?

Har. Yes, my Lord, he was.

L C. J. Then you might as well have fent to

l
Sir John Southcot himfelf to come.

A. Ireland. I did it of my felf, I never did fuch

a thing before, and did not underftand the way

of it.

Ireland. It was meer Chance {he did fend for

thofe fhe did.

L. C. J. But why fhould Hie not fend for Sir

John himfelf?

Ireland. She did not know that Sir John was

there.

L. C. J. You were not denied to fend for any

, Witnefles, were you ?

Ireland. I was expredy denied, they would not

let me have one bit of i
Japer.

L. C. J. Fellow, what Town was that in Staf-

fordshire ? Tell me quickly.

Har. It was Tix-wel, by my Lord Afion's, there

we made a Stay for three or four Days, then we
went to Nantivich, and fo to Weft-Chefter.

L. C. J. Were not you at Wolverhampton with

him?
Har. No, my Lord, I was not there, I left

him at Weft-Chefter.

Ireland. My Lord, I was at Wolverhampton with
• Mr. Charles Gifford, and here he is to atteft it.

L. C. J. Well, Sir, what fay you ?

Gifford. My Lord, I faw him there a Day or

: two after St. Bartholomew's Day, there he conti-

nued till the 9th of September -, the 7th of Sep-

tember I faw him there, and I can bring twenty

, and twenty more, that faw him there. Then,

as he faid, he was to go towards London. I came

again thither on the ninth, and there I found

him. And this is all I have to fay.

Oates. My Lord, I do know that Day in Sep-

tember I fpeak of by a particular Circumftance.

Ireland. My Lord, there is one William Bow-

; dreU that will teftify the fame, if I might fend

for him.

L. C. J. Why han't you him have ?

Ireland. She hath done what (he can to bring
as many as fhe could.

L. C. J. Have you any more Witnefles to call ?

Ireland. I can't tell whether there be any more
here or no.

L. C. J. Mr. Grove, what fay you for your
felf?

Grove. Mr. Oates fays he lay at my Houfe; my
Lord, I have not been able to fend for any Wit-
nefles, and therefore I know not whether there

be any here. They could prove that he did not
lie there. He fays he faw me receive the Sacra-

ment at Wild-Houfe, but he never did } and if I

had any Witnefles here, I could prove it.

L. C. J. He tells it you with fuch and fuch Cir-

cumftanccs, who lay there at that time.

Grove. He did never lie there.

L.C.J. Why, you make as if you never knew
Mr. Oates.

Grove. My Lord, I have feen him, but he ne-

ver lav at my H ufe.

L. C. J. Mr. Pickerings what fay you for your
felf? you relie upon your Mafles.

Pickering. I never faw Mr. Oates, as I know
of, in my Life.

L. C. J, What fay you to Bedlam)? he tells you
he was with you in Harcottrfs Chamber fuch a

Dav.
Pickering. I will take my Oath I was never in

Mr. Bed/ow's Company in all my Life.

L. C. J. I make no Queftion but you will ; and
have a Difpenfation for it when you have done.

Well, have you any Witnefles to call?

Pickering. I have not had time to fend for any.

L. C. J. You might have moved the Court,

when you came at firft, and they would have gi-

ven you an Order to fend for any.

Ireland. Methinks there fhould be fome Wit-
nefles brought that know Mr. Oates, to atteft his

Reputation, for I am told, there are thofe that

can prove very ill things againft him, they fay

he broke Prifon at Dover.

L. C.J. Why have you not your Witnefles

here to prove it?

Ireland. Wc could have had them, if we had

Time.
L. C. J. See what you ask now, you would

have time, and the Jury are ready to go together

about their Verdict.

Ireland. Why, we defire but a little Time to

make out our Proof.

L. C. J. Only you muft tye up the Jury, and

they muft neither eat nor drink till they give in

a Verdid.
Ireland. Then we muft confefs, there is no Ju-

ftice for Innocence.

L. C. J. Well, if you have any more to fay,

fay it.

Ireland. My Lord, I have produced Witnefles,

that prove what I have faid.

L. C. J. I'll tell you what you have proved :

you have produced your Sifter and your Mother,

and the Servant of Southcot, they fay you went

out the third of Auguft, and he gives an account

you came to St. Albans on the fifth ; and then

there is another Gentleman, Mr. Gifford, who
fays he faw you at Wolverhampton till about a

Week in September. Mr. Oates hath gainfaid

him in that, fo you have one Witnefs againft

Mr. Oates for that Circum (lance. It cannot be

true what Mr. Oates fays, if you were there all

that
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that time, and it cannot be true what Mr. Gif-

ford fays, if you were in London then. And a-

gainil your two Witnefles, and the Coachman,

there are three Witnefles, that fwear the con-

trary, Mr. Oates, Mr. Bedlow, and the Maid, fo

that if ihe and the other two be to be believed,

here are three upon Oath, againfl your three up-

on bare Affirmation.

Ireland. I do defire time, that we may bring

in more Witnefles.

L. C. J. Come, you are better prepared thin

you Teem to be. Call whom you have to call.

Can you prove that againfl Mr. Oates, which you

fpeak of? If you can, call your Witnefles on

God's Name. But only to atperfe tho' it be the

way of your Church, it fhall not be the way of

Triil amongft us. We know you can call He-

reticb, and ill Names, fail enough.

IrcLmd. That Hilfley that he names can prove,

if he were here, that Mr. Oates was all the while

at Sc. Omers.

L.C. J. Will you have any more Witneffes

call'd? if you will, do it, and don't let us fpend

the Time of the Court thus.

Grove. Here is Mrs. York, that is my Sifter,

will your Lordfhip pleafe to ask her, whether

fhe faw that Gentleman at my Houfe ?

L C. J. What fay you, Miftrefs?

York. No, my Lord, not I.

Mr.Jujl Atk. Nor I neither; might not he

be there -or all that ?

X)aies\ To fatisfy the Court, my Lord, I was

in another Habit, and went by another Name.

L. C.J. Look you, he did as you all do, dif-

guife your fclves.

Ireland. Though we have no more Witneffes,

yet we have Witnefles that there are more Wit-

nefles.

L.C.J. I know what your way of Arguing

is, that is very pretty, you have Witnefles that

can prove you have Witnefles, and tiioie Wit-

nefles can prove you have more Witnefles, and

fo in infinitum. And thus you argue in every

thing you do.

Ireland. We can go no further than we can

go, and can give no Anfvver to what we did not

know would be proved againfl: us.

L. C. J. Then look you, Gentlemen-

A. Ireland. My Lord, Sir Denny Ajhburnham

promifed to be here to teftify what he can fay

conceining Mr. Oates.

L C.J. Call him.

Ctier. Six Denny Ajhburnham. Here he

is, my Lord.

L. C. J. Sir Denny, what can you fay con-

cerning Mr. Oates ?

Sir D. Ajhburnham, My Lord, I received a

Letter this Morning, which I tranfmitted to

Mr. Attorney, and this Letter was only to fend

to me a Copy of an Indictment againfl Mr. Oates

of Perjury : 1 did fend it accordingly with my
Letter to Mr. Attorney. He hathfeen the Let-

ter, and what the Town fays to me in it.

* Att. Gen. I have feen it, there is nothing

in it.

L. C. J. Do you know any thing of your own
Knowledge?

Sir D. Ajhburnham. I do know Mr. Oates,

and have known him a great while, I have

known him from his Cradle, and I do know that

when he was a Child, he was not a Perfon of

f Sir William Jones.

that Credit that we could depend upon what he
1

faid.

L.C.J. What fignifies that?

Sir D. Ajlobumham. Will you pleafe to hear
me out, my Lord. I have been alfo folicited by
fome of the Prifoners who fent to me, hoping £

could fay fomethingthat would help them in this

Matter : Particularly lafl Night one iMiftiefs Ire-

land, Sifter, to the Prifoner at the Bar, a Gen-
tlewoman I never faw before in my Life, fhe
came to me, and was prefling me hard, that I
would appear here voluntarily to give Evidence
for the Prifoner. I told her no, I would not
by any means in the World, nor could I fay
any thing, as I thought, that would advantage
them j fori toid her, though perhaps, upon my
Knowledge of Mr. Oates in his Youth, had
this Difcovery come only upon Mr. Oates's Te-
ftimony, I might have had fome little Doubt of
it, but it was fo corroborated with other Cir-
cumftances that had convinced me, and I would
not ipe^k any tiling againfl the King's Witnefles,
when I my felf was fatisfied with the Truth of"

the thing: And I do think truly that nothing
can be faid againfl Mr. Oates to take offhis Cre-
dibility ; but what I tranfmitted to Mr. Attorney,
1 had from the Town of Hajlings, for which I

ferve.

L. C.J. What was in that Indictment ?

Sir D. Ajhburnham. Icisfet forth, that he did

fwear the Peace againfl a Man, and at his ta-

king his Oath did fay, there were fome Wit-
nefles that would evidence fuch a Point of Fad,
which, when they came, would not teftify fo

much, and fo was forfworn.

L. C .J. What was done upon that Indict-

ment ?

Sir D. Ajhburnham. They did not proceed up-
on it ; hue here is the Letter, and the Copy of
the Indictment.

Mr. Serj. Baldwyn. My Lord, we defire it

may be read, and fee what it is.

Mr. Att. Gen. It is only a Certificate, pray let

it be read.

L. C. J. I do not think it Authentick Evi-

dence.

Mr. Att. Gen. But if I confent to it, it may be-

read.

L. C. J. If you will read it for the Prifoners

you may, you fhan't read it againfl them. If

there be any Strain, it fhall be in favour of the

Prifoners, and not againfl them.
Mr. Att. Gen. It is nothing againfl the Prifo-

ners, nor for them ; but however if your Lord-
fhip be not fatisfied it fhould be read, let it a-

lone.

L. C. J. Truly, I do not think it is fuflicient

Evidence, or fit to be read.

A. Ireland. I went to another, one Colonel

Shakesby, who was fick, and could not come, but

could have attefted much as to this.

L.C.J. Have you any more Witnefles?
Ireland. I have none, nor I have not time to

bring them in.

L. C. J. If you have none, what time could

have brought them in? But you have called a

Gentleman that does come in, and truly he

hath done you very great Service} you would

have had him teftified againfl Mr. Oates, he faith

he hath known him ever fince he was a Child,

and that then he had not fo much Credit as now
he
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he hath : And had it been upon his fingle Tefli-

mony that the Difcovery of the Plot had de-

pended, he fhould have doubted of it ; but Mr.
Oates his Evidence, with the Teflimony of the

Fact it felf, and all the concurring Evidences

. which he produces to back his Teflimony, hath

convinced him that he is true in his Narrative.

Sir L>. AJbburnham. Your Lordfhip is right in

what I have fpoken.

L. C.J- Have you any more WitnefTes, or

any thing more to fay for your felves?

Ireland. If I may produce on my own behalf

Pledges of my own Loyalty, and that of my Fa-

mily——
L. C. J. Produce whom you will.

Ireland. Here is my Sifter and my Mother can

tell how our Relations were plundered for fiding

with the King.

L.C.J. No, [ will tell you why it was, it

was for being Papifts, and you went to the King
for Shelter.

Ireland. I had an Uncle that was killed in the

King's Service j befides, the Pendreh and the

Giffards that were inftrumental for faving the

King, after the Fight at fVorcefter., are my near

Relations.

L. C. J. Why, all thofe are Papifts.

Pickering. My Father, my Lord, was killed in

the King's Party.

L. C. J. Why then do you fall off from your
Father's Virtue?

Pickering. 1 have not time to produce WitnefTes

on my own behalf.

Ireland. 1 do defire time to bring more Wit-
nefTes.

Grove. As I have a Soul to fave, I know no-

thing of this Matter charged upon me.

L. C. J. Well, have you any thing more to

fay?

Ireland. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. You of the King's Counfel, will you
fum up the Evidence?

Mr. Serj. Baldwyn. No, my Lord, we leave

it to your Lordfhip.

Cl. of Cr. Crier, Make Proclamation of Si-

lence.

Crier. O Yes! All manner of Perfons are com-
manded to keep Silence upon pain of Imprifon-

,
ment.

I then the Lord Chief Juftice dirtiled the Jury thus

:

L.C.J. Gentlemen, you of the Jury ! As to

thefe three Perfons, Ireland, Pickering, Grove,

(the other two you are difcharged of) One of
them, Ireland, it feems is a Prielt. I know not
whether Pickering be or no, Grove is none, but
thefe are the two Men that fhould kill the King,
and Ireland is a Confpirator in that Plot. They
are all indicted for confpiring the King's Death,
and endeavouring to fubvert the Government,
and deftroy the Proteflant Religion, and bring in

Popery. The main of the Evidence hath gone
upon that foul and black Offence, Endeavouring

to kill the King. The utmoft end was, without
all queftion, to bring in Popery, and fubvert the

Proteftant Religion j and they thought this a

good means to do it, by killing the King. That
is the thing you have had the greateft Evidence
of, I will lum up the Particulars, and leave them
with you.

'Tis fworn by Mr. Oates exprefly, That on the

14th of April laft, there was a Confultation held,
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of Priefts and Jefuits. They are the Men fit only
for fuch a Mifchief, for I know there are abun-
dance of honeft Gentlemen of that Perfuafion,
who could never be drawn to do any of thefe
things, u-defs they were (educed by their Priefts,
that flick at nothing for their own end : He
fwears exprefly that the Confult was begun at
the White-Horfe Tavern in the Strand ; That
they there agreed to murder the King ; That
Pickering and Grove were the Men that were to
do it, who went afterwards and fubferibed this
Holy League of theirs, and figned it every one
at his own Lodging, Whitehead at his, Ireland
at his, and Fenwick at his, two of which are out
of the Cafe, but they are repeated to you only
to fhew you the Order of the Confpiracy. That
afterwards Pickering and Grove did agree to the
fame, and they received the Sacrament upon it

as an Oath, to make all Sacred, and a Seal, to
make all Secret.

Mr. Bedlow hath fworn as to that particular
time of killing the King by Pickering and Grove,
though they were not to give over the Defign,
but there were Four that were fent to kill the
King at Wind/or. Mr. Oates fwears there was
an Attempt by Pickering in March laft, but, the
Flint of the Piftol happening to be loofe, he durffc

not proceed, for which he was rewarded with
Penance. He fwears there were Four hired to
do it } that Fourfcore Pounds was provided for
them. He faw the Money ; and fwears he faw
it delivered to the MefTenger to carry it down.

Ireland. At what time was that ?

L. C. J. In Augujt there was an Attempt firft

by Pickering and Grove. They then not doing of
it, four other Perfons (Irijh Men) were hired to
do it, and ten thoufand Pounds proffered to Sir
George Wakeman to Poifon the King. Thus ftill

they go on in their Attempts, and, That being
too little, five thoufand Pounds more was add-
ed. This is to fhew you the Grofs of the Plot
in general $ and alfo the particular Tranfactions
of thefe two Murderers, Grove and Pickering
with the Confpiracy of Ireland. Bedkiv fwears
directly, that in Augufl laft, thefe three and Har-
courty and Pritchard, and Le Faire, being all to-
gether in a Room, did difcourfe of the Difap-
pointment the Four had met with, in not killing

the King at Windfor -, and there the Refolution
was, the old Stagers fhould go on ftill, but they
had one Conyers joined to them, and they were
to kill the King then at New-Market. He fwears

they did agree to do it % that Ireland was at it 5
and that all three did confent to that Refolve.
So that here are two WitnefTes that fpeak pofi-

tively, with all the Circumftances of this Attempt,
of the Two to kill the King, and the Confede-
racy of Ireland, all along with them. Now, I

muft tell you, there are no Acceffaries, but all

Principals, in Treafon. It may feem hard, per-

haps, to convict Men upon the Teflimony of
their Fellow-Offenders, and if it had been poffi-

ble to have brought other WitnefTes, it had been
well : but, in things of this Nature, you cannot
expect that the WitnefTes fhould be abfolurely

fpotlefs. You muft take fuch Evidence as the

Nature of the thing will afford, or you may
have the King deftroyed, and our Religion too.

For Jefuits are too fubtle to fubject themfelves

to too plain a Proof, fuch as they cannot evade

by Equivocation, or a flat Denial.

There
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There is alio a Letter produced, which, fpeak-

ing of the Conftilt that was to be the 24th of

April, proves that there was a Confpiracy among
them : And, although it is not Evidence to con-

vict any one Man of them, yet it is Evidence
upon Mr. Gates's Teftimony to prove the gene-

ral Defign. It is from one Petre to one of the

Confederates, and taken amongft Harcourt's Pa-

pers, after Mr. Oates had given in his Teftimo-
ny 5 and therein it is mentioned, That the Supe-

rior had taken care, that there ihould be a Meet-
ting the 24th of April, the Day after Saint George's

Day, which is the' very time Oates fpeaks of; and

that they were not to come to Town too foon,

that the Defign might not be difcovered. I would

fain know what the Signification of that Claufe

nny be. And then it goes farther, That it was

to be kept fecret, as the Nature of the thing

doth require 5 which fhews plainly there was
fo'ehi a Tranfaction on foot. But the Reafon I

urge it for is, to fhew you that 'tis a concurrent

Evidence with Mr. Oates, who had never feen

this Paper till three or four Days after his Infor-

mation was given in, wherein he fwears the

Time when this Agitation was to be, and when
they came to look upon the Paper, it agrees with
the Time precifely. Nov/ they do not write in

this Letter, that they intend to kill the King,

but they write to caution them to keep the De-
fign undiscovered, and by that you may guefs

what they mean.

What is faid to all this by the Prifoners, but
Denial ? Ireland cannot der^y but that he knew
Mr. Oates, and had been in his Company fome
times ; five times, by Circumftances, Mr. Oates

hath proved, fo that they were Acquaintance j

and it appears plainly, there was a Familiarity

between them. Ireland objects, that Bedlow
charges him in Auguft, when he was out of

Town all that time, and that therefore the Te-
ftimony of one of the WitnefTes cannot be true.

And, to prove this, he calls his Mother, his Si-

fter, and Sir John Southcofs Man, and Mr. Gif-

ford. His Mother and Sifter fay exprefly, that

he went out of Town the third of Auguft, and

the Servant fay?, that he faw him at St. Albans

the fifth of Auguft, and continued in his Com-
pany to the fixteenth j (fo that as to that, there

is a Teftimony both againft Mr. Bedlow and a-

gainft Mr. Gates ;) and Giffcrd comes and fays,

he faw him at the latter end of Auguft and be-

ginning of September at Wolverhampton, whereas

Mr. Oates hath fworn, he faw him the twelfth

of Auguft^ and the firft or fecond of September,

and tells it by a particular Circumftance, where-

in, I mull tell you, it is impoflible that both Sides

ihould be true. But if it fhould be a Miftake

only in point of Time, it deftroys not the Evi-

dence, unlefs you think it necefTary to the Sub-

ftance of the thing. If you charge one in the

Month of Auguft to have done fuch a Fact, if

he deny that he was in that Place at that time,

and proves it by WitnefTes, it may go to invali-

date the Credibility of a Man's Teftimony, but

it does not invalidate the Truth of the thing it

felf, which may be true in Subftance, though
the Circumftance of Time differ. And the Que-
ftion is, whether the Thing be true?

Againft this, the Counfel for the King have

three that fwear it pofitively and exprefly, That
Ireland was here. Here is a young Maid that

knew him very well, and was acquainted with

him, and with his breaking up of Letters j and
£he is one that was Grove's Servant : She comes
and tells you dire&ly, That about that time,
which, by Computation, was about the twelfth
of Auguft, fhe faw him go into his own Houfe»
which cannot be true, if that be true which is

faid on the other Side} and (he does fwear it up-
on better Circumftances than if me had barely
pitch'd upon a Day ; for fhe muft have fatisfied

me well, for what Reafon fhe could remember
the Day fo pofitively, ere I fhould have believed
her : But fhe does it remembring her going to
my Lord Arlington's Service, which was a Week
after the King went to Windfor ; which is fworn
to be about the thirteenth of Auguft, and a Week
before her going it was, that ihe law Ireland at
his own Door. What Arts they have of eva-
ding this, I know not, for as they have turn'd
their Learning into Subtlety, fo they have their
Integrity too. The Study of Politicks is their
Bufinefs and Art, which they make ufe of upon
all Occasions ; and I find them Learned chiefly
in Cunning, and very fubtle in their Evafions. So
that you fee, without great Difficulty, a Man
cannot have from them a plain Anfwer to a plain
Queftion. But the Fact againft them is here ex-
prefly fworn by two WitnefTes ; if you have any
reafon to disbelieve them, I muft leave that to
you. Sir D. Ajhburnham, who is produced to
difcredit Mr. Oates, fays, that when he was a
Child, there was little or no Credit to be given
to him, and if the Matter had depended folely

upon his Teftimony, thofe Irregularities of his,

when a Boy, would have ftaggered his Belief.

But when the Matter is fo accompanied with fo

many other Circumftances, which are material
things, and cannot be evaded or deny'd, it is

almoft impoflible for any Man, either to make
fuch a Story, or not to believe it when it is told.

I know not whether they can frame fuch a one;
I am fure never a Proteftant ever did, and, I be-
lieve, never would invent fuch a one to take a-

way their Lives : Therefore it is left to your
Confideration what is fworn. The Circumftan-
ces of fwearing it by two WitnefTes, and what
Reafons you have to disbelieve them.

It is moft plain the Plot is difcovered, and,
that by thefe Men j and that it is a Plot, and a

villanous one, nothing is plainer. No Man of
common Underftanding, but muft fee there was
a Confpiracy to bring in Popery, and to deftroy

the Proteftant Religion j and we know their Do-
ctrines and Practices too well, to believe they

will ftick at any thing, that may effect thofe

Ends. They muft excufe me, if I be plain with
them ; I would not afperfe a Profeflion of Meny

as the Priefts are, with hard Words, if they were

not very true, and if at this time it were not

very necefTary. If they had not murdered Kings,
I would not fay they would have done ours. But
when it hath been thefr Practice fo to do ; when
they have debauched Men's Underftandings, o-

verturned all Morals, and deftroy'd all Divinity,

What fhall I fay of them? When their Humility
is fuch, that they tread upon the Necks of Em-
perors j their Charity fuch, as to kill Princes j

and their Vow of Poverty fuch, as to covet King-
doms, What fhall I judge of them? When they

have Licences to lye, and Indulgences for Falf-

hnods; Nay, when they can make him a Saint

that dies in one, and then pray to him } as the

Carpenter firft makes an Image, and after wor-
fliipsj



1678. O. B. and Grove5 for High-Treafon.

Clips it; and can then think to bring in that

wooden Religion of theirs amongll us in

this Nation,., What fhall I think of them?
What (hall I fay to them ? What fhall I do with

them ?

Credence, which our Principles and Practices
call for.

They are not to wonder if they keep no Faith,
that they have none from others; and let them
fay what they will, that they do not own any

If there can be a Difpenfation for the taking fuch things as we charge upon them, and are
of any Oath (and diverfe Inftances may be given like to go hard with them ; For we can fhew

them out of their own Writings and Councils,
that they do juftify the Power of the Pope in.

Excommunicating Kings, in Depofing them for
Herefy, and Abfolving their Subjects from their
Allegiance. And the Claim of Authority boih
of Pope and Council, is the fureft Foundation
they build upon.

I have faid fo much the more in this Mat-
ter, becaufe their Actions are fo very plain and
open, and yet fo pernicious ; and 'tis a very
great Providencr, that we, and our Religion,
are delivered from Blood and Oppreffion. 1 be-
lieve our Religion would hive flood, notwith-
ftanding their Attempts, and I would have them
to know we are not afraid of them ; nay, I think
we fhould have maintained it, by deftroying of
them. We fhould have been all in Blood, 'tis

true, but the greater! Effufion would have been
on their Side; and without it, How did they
hope it fhould have been done? There are ho-
neft Gentlemen, I believe Hundreds of that

Communion, who could, not be openly won up-
on to engage in fuch a Defign. They will not
tell them that the King mill be killed; but
they will infinuate unto them, that he is but one
Man, and if he fhould die it were fit they were

wife, they print otherwife, and their Councils in readinefs to promote the Catholick Religion

of it, that their Church does Licenfe them to do

fo) it is a Cheat upon Men's Souls, it perverts

and breaks ofF all Converfation amongft Man-
kind ; for how can we deal or converfe in the

World, when there is no Sin, but can be indulg-

ed; no Offence fo big, but they can pardon it,

and fome of the blacker!: be accounted meritori-

ous ? What is there left for Mankind to lean

upon, if a Sacrament will not bind them (un-

lefs it be to conceal their Wickednefs?) If they

ihall take Tefls and Sacraments, and all this un-

der colour of Religion be avoided, and fignify

nothing, what is become of all Converfe ? How
can we think Obligations and Promifes between

Man and Man fhould hold, if a Covenant be-

tween God and Man will not?

We have no fuch Principles nor Doctrines in

our Church, we thank God. To ufe any Pre-

varication in declaring of the Truth, is abomi-

nable to natural Reafon, much more to true Re-
ligion; and 'tis a ftrange Church that will allow

a Man to be a Knave. 'Tis poffible fome of that

Communion may be laved, but they can never

hope to be fo in fuch a Courfe as this. I know
they will fay, That thefe are not their Principles,

nor thefe their Practices, but they preach other

and when it comes to that, they know what to

do. When they have got them to give Money
to provide Arms, and be in Readinefs on their

fpecious Pretence, then the Jefuits will quickly

find them Work. One Blow fhall put 'em to

exercife their Arms ; and when they have killed

the King, the Catholick Caufe muft be main-

tained.

But they have done themfelves the Mifchief,

and have brought Mifery upon their whole Par*

ty, whom they have enfnared into the Defign,

upon other Pretences than what was really at

the bottom. A Popifh Prieft. is a certain Sedu-

cer, and nothing fatisfies him; not the Bloid

of Kings, if it ftands in the way of his Ambi-

tion. And I hope they have not only unde-

ceived fome Pioteftants, whofe Charity might

incline them to think them not fo bad as they

are; but I believe they have fhaken their Reli-

gion in their own Party here, who will be a-

fhamed in time that fuch Actions fhould be put

upon the Score of Religion.

I return now to the Fact, which is proved by

two WitnefTes, and by the concurrent Evidence

of the Letter and the Maid ; and the Marter is

as plain and notorious as can be, That there was

an Intention of bringing in Popery by a cruel

and bloody Way ; for 1 believe they could never

have Prayed us into their Religion. I leave it

therefore to you to confider, whether yon have

not as much Evidence from thefe two Men, as

can be ex-petted in a Cafe of this Nature ;
and

whether Mr. Gates be not rather juftificd by the

propagate his Religion, which in truth is but his Tcftimony offered againft him, than difcredited.

Intercft. Let Prudence and Confcience dired your Vcr-

They have not the Principles that we have, die!:, and you will be too hard for their Art and

therefore they are not to have that common Cunning.

Vol. II. Zzzz Gent]e"

do determine otherwile

Some hold, that the Pope in Council is Infal-

lible, and ask any Popifh jefu.it of them all, and

he will fay the Pope is Infallible himfelf in Ca-

thedra, or he is no right Jefuit. And if fo.

whatever they command, is to be juftified by
their Authority j fo that if they give a Difpen-

farion to kill a King, that King is well killed.

This is a Religion that quite unhinges all Piety,

all Morality, and all Converfation, and to be a-

bominated by all Mankind.

They have fome Parts of the Foundation, 'tis

truej but they are adulterated, and mixt with

horrid Principles, and impious Practices. They
eat their God, they kill their King, and Saint

the Murderer. They indulge all forts of Sins,

and no human Bonds can hold them.

They muff pardon me if I feem fharp, for a

Papift in England is not to be treated as a Protef-

<tant ought to be in Spain : And if ye ask me
why? I'll give you this Reafon, We have no
fuch Principles nor Practices as they have. If

I were in Spain, I fhould think my fclf a very

(ill Chriflian, fhould I offer to difturb the Go-
•vernment of the Place where I lived, that I

jmay bring in my Religion there. What
jhave I to do to undermine the Tranquillity

jand Peace of a Kingdom, becaufe all that

dwell in it are not of my particular Perfua-

ifion ?

They do not do fo here, there is nothing can

iquench the Thirft of a Prieft and a Jefuit, not

the Blood of Men, not of Any, if he can but



722 j6.Tbe7rial of Ireland, Pickering, 30 Car. II.

Gentlemen, If you think you fhall be long,

we will Adjourn the Court till the Afternoon,

and take your Verdict then.

Jury. No, my Lord, we fhall not be long.

'Then an Officer "was Sworn to keep the Jury

fafe, according to Law, and they withdrew

to confider of their Verditl.

After a very fhort Recefs, the Jury returned.,

and the Clerk of the Crown [pake to them

thus

:

Cl. of Cr. Gentlemen, Anfwcr to your Names.
Sir William Roberts.

Sir W. Roberts. Here. And fo of the reft.

Cl. of Cr. Gentlemen, Arc you all agreed in

your Verdict?

Omnes. Yes.

Cl. of Cr. Who fhall fay for you?
Omnes. The Foreman.

Cl. of Cr. Set William Ireland to the Bar.

William Ireland, hold up thy Hand. Look upon
the Prifoner, How fay you, is he Guilty of the

High-Treafon whereof he ftands Indicted, or

Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. What Goods and Chattels, Lands

or Tenements ?

Foreman. None to our knowledge.

Cl. of Cr. Set Thomas Pickering to the Bar. Tho.

Pickering, hold up thy Hand. Look upon the

Prifoner. How fay you, is he Guilty of the

fame High-Treafon, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. ofCr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands or

Tenements ?

Foreman. None to our knowledge.

Cl. of Cr. Set John Grove to the Bar. John

Grove, hold up thy Hand. Look upon the

Prifoner. How fay you, is he Guilty of the

fame High-Treafon, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands or

Tenements ?

Foreman. None to our knowledge.

Cl. of Cr. Hearken to your Verdict as the

Court hath recorded it. You fay that William

Ireland is Guilty of the High-Treafon whereef

he ftands indicted. You fay that Thomas Pic-

kering is Guilty of the fame High-Treafon. You
fay that John Grove is Guilty of the fame High-
Treafon. And for them you have found Guilty,

you fay, That they, nor any of them, had any

Goods or Chattels, Lands or Tenements, at the

time of the High-Treafon committed, or at any

time fince, to your knowledge. And fo you fay

all*

Omnes. Yes.

L. C. J. You have done, Gentlemen, like very

good Subjects, and very good Chriftians, that is to

fay, like very good Proteftants : And now much
good may their Thirty Thoufand MafTes do them.

Then the Court adjourned by Proclamation

till Four in the Afternoon.

In the Afternoon the fame Day.

About Five of the Clock Mr.Recorder and a fufficient

Number of the Jufiices, returned into the Court,

thf. Judges being departed home ; and Proclamation

was madefor Attendance, as in the Morning.

Then the Clerk of the Crown called for the

Prifoners Convicted of High-Treafon, and fpokc

to each of them thus

:

Cl. of Cr. Set William Ireland to the Bar.

William Ireland, hold up thy Hand, thou ftandeft

Convicted of High-Treafon ; what canft thou

fay for thy felf, why the Court fhould not give

thee Judgment to die according to Law ?

Ireland. My Lord, I reprefented all along from
the beginning, that we had not time to call in

our Witneffes to juftify our Innocence.

Recorder. If you have any thing to fay in ftay

of Judgment, you have all free liberty to fay it.

Ireland. We had no time allowed us to bring

in our Witneffes, fo that we could have none,

but only thofe that came in by chance-, and
thofe things they have declared, though true,

were not believed.

Mr. Recorder. Thefe things, Mr. Ireland, you
did not object before the Jury gave their Verdict,

now they have given their Verdict, and found

you Guilty j if you have any thing to fay to the

Court why they fhould not proceed toJudgment
according to that Verdict, you may fpeak it ; but
for thefe things it is too late.

Ireland. My Lord, I only have this to fay, I

defire more time to be heard again, and to call

in my Witneffes.

Recorder. Call the Executioner to do his Office.

Ireland. There are Teftimonies, my Lord,

that I could produce of my Loyalty, and my
Relations Fidelity to the King.

Mr. Recorder. I believe, Mr. Ireland, it will be

a Shame to all your Relations that have been

Loyal to the King, that you fhould be privy to

the Murder of that good King whom your Rela-

tions fo well ferved ; and therefore if that be all

that you have to fay it will fignify nothing.

The Executioner not appearing, the Sheriffof

Middlefex was called to come into Court, and

give his Attendance, upon Pain of 40/. But the

Executioner coming in, was, with a Reproof
from the Recorder for his Negligence, command-
ed to tie him up, which he did.

Cl. of Cr. Set Thomas Pickering to the Bar.

Thomas Pickering, hold up thy Hand, Thou art

in the fame cafe with the Prifoner laft before

thee, what canft thou fay for thy felf, why the

Court fhould not give thee Judgment to die ac-

cording to Law ?

Mr. Recorder. What does he fay for himfelf?

Capt. Richardfon. He has nothing to fay.

Mr. Recorder. Then tie him up.

Cl. of Cr. Set John Grove to the Bar.

JohnGrove, hold up thy Hand, Thou art in the

fame cafe with the Prifoner laft before thee,

what canft thou fay for thy felf, why the Court

fhould not give thee Judgment to die according

to Law ?

Grove. I am as innocent as the Child unborn.

Cl. of Cr. Tie him up. Which was done.

Cl. of Cr. Criers on both fides make Procla-

mations.

Criers. O yes ! All manner of Perfons are com-

manded to keep filence whilft Judgment is giv-

ing upon Pain of Imprifonment ; Peace about

the Court.

Mr. Recorder. Where is the Keeper? fhewme

the Prifoners, William Ireland, Thomas Pickering*.

and John Grove.

Czpt.Richardfon. Thofe are the three.

Mr.
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Mr. Recorder. You the Prifoncrs at the Bar.

You have been Arraigned for a very gre.it Of-
fence, thegreateft that can be committed againft

any Authority upon Earth, for High-Treafon
againft your King, with ail the Aggravations

that poffibly can attend fi great a Crime as

that is; for you did not only ftrike at the Life

of the belt of Kings, but you intended the Sub-
version of the heft of Religions. Whatever you

I may apprehend, yet all Men that will lay their

t

hopes of Salvation upon any thing that is fit for

a Man to lay his hopes upon, which is upon the

Merits of a crucified Saviour, and not upon
your MafTes, Tricks or Trumperies, do abhor
the thoughts of promoting their Religion by
mafTacring King?, and murdering their Sub-
jects. And though we whom you call Here-
ticks, abhor to own any fuch Religion

5 yet

we are not afraid to tell you, and all others who
are enfnared into your Principles, we will main-
tain the Religion and the Government as it is

Eftablifhed, with our Lives and Fortunes. And
;it is fit that it fhould be known, that we who
live under the Government of fo mild and pious

a Prince, and in a Country where fo good, fo

moderate a Religion is Eftablifht by Law, will

not be affrighted by all your Murders, Confpi-

racies and Defigns, from declaring, that they

who dare kill Kings, and maflacre their Subjects,

are the higheft Violators, not only of the Laws
of the Land, but of that great Law which all

goodChriftians and Proteftants think themfelves

obliged to pay great Reverence and Obedience
to, 1 mean the Law of God Almighty himfelf. .

Thus I fpeak to you, Gentlemen, not vaunt-

ingly, 'tis againft my Nature to infult upon Per-

fons in your fad Condition ; God forgive you
for what you have done, and I do heartily beg
it, though you don't defire I fhould 5 for, poor
Men, you may believe that your In t ere ft in the

World to come is fecured to you by your Maf-
fes, but do not well confider that vaft Eternity

you muft ere long enter into, and that great Tri-

bunal you muft appear before, where his MafTes

(fpeaking to Pickering) will not fignify fo many
Groats to him, no not one Farthing. And I

muft fay it for the fake of thole filly People

whom you have impofed upon with fuch Falia-

:ies, That the MafTes can no more favethee from

a future Damnation, than they do from a prefent

Condemnation.
I do not fpeak this to you, as intending there-

by to inveigh againft all Perfons that profefs

the Romijh Religion; for there are many that

ire of that Perfuafion, that do abhor thofe bafe

Principles of murdering Kings and fubverting

Governments. There are many honeft Gentle-

en in England, I dare fay, of that Communion,
ivhom none of the moft impudent Jefuits durft

indertake to tempt into fuch Defigns ; thefeare

only to be impofed upon filly Men, not upon
Men of Confcience and Underftanding. And
I pray God, as was faid lately by a Learned

Gentleman whom we all know, that all Pro-

teftants may be as fafe from the force of your

Daggers, as they are from thofe of your Argu-
nents ; for I dare fay, that you could fooner

Vlurder any Man that underfhnds the Proteftann

leligion, than perfuade him to fuch Villanies.

^nd among thofe many things which prevailed

vith the honeft Gentlemen of the Jury to con-

ic!: you of this horrid Crime, they could noc
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but take notice, that you (fpeaking to Ireland)
that do pretend to Learning, did lend into Fo-
reign Pares, that your Fellow-Jefuirs fhould take
care publickly to Preach, That the Oaths of
Allegiance and Supremacy, by which the Com-
mon Juftice of the Nation is preferved, ficnified
nothing ; which is a ftrong Evidence of your
Defign, not only to Murder the King, but fub-
.vert the Government; for furely the moft pro-
bable way to do that, is to afperfe thofe Oaths
by which all Proteftant Subjects, thofe whom
you call Hereticks, lie under an Obligation of
Obedience to their Prince. And 1 think it noc
unfit to tell you, that you had a great Favour
fhewed to you to be tried only for the Matters
contained in this Indictment ; for you that are
Priefts muft know, that there is a Law in the
Land, that would have hang'd you for your very
Refidence here; for if any Subject born in

England, (hall take Orders fio'm the See of Rome,
and afterwards come into England, and remain
there 40 Days, fuch, for that Offence alone, are
made Traitors by Act of Parliament. But you
are fo far from being under any Awe of that
Law, orSubmifJion to it, that you dare not on-
ly come to live here in defpite thereof, but en-
deavour what you can, to overthrow both it,

and the Government it felf. You dare confpi.re

to Murder the King -, nay, not only fo, but you
dare make your Confults thereof publick. You
dare write your Names to thofe Confults. You
dare folicit all your Party to do the like, and
make all the Ties of Religion and Confcience
(that to Confidering Chriftians are Obligations

to Piety and Charity) as Engagements either to

act your Viilanies, or to conceal them. We
think no Power can difpenfe with us whom you
call Flereticks, to falfify our Oaths, much lefs

to break cur Covenant with God in the holy

Sacrament. But you, inftead of making that a

Tie and Obligation to engage you to the Re-
membrance of our Saviour, make it a Snare and
a Gin to oblige your Profelytes to the Affaffi-

nating Kings, and murdering their Subjects.

I am forry with all my Soul, that Men who
have had their Education here, and the benefic

of the good Examples of others, fhould;not on-

ly be led into fuch mifchievous Principles them-
felves, but to be of that confidence in their Per-

fuafion, as to dare to debauch others alfo. I

am forry alfo to hear a Lay-man fhould with fo

much Malice declare, That a Bullet, if round

and fmooth, was not fafe enough for him to

execute his Villanies by. But he muft be fure,

not only to fet his Poifonous Invention on work
about it, but he muft add thereto his Poifonous

Teeth ; for fear if the Bullet were fmooth, it

might light in fome Part where the Wound
might be cured. But fuch is the height of fome

Mens Malice, that they will put all the Venom
and Malice they can into their Actions. J am
fure this was fo horrid a Defign, that nothing but

a Conclave of Devils in Hell, or a College of

fuch Jefuits as yours on Earth, could have

thought upon.

This I remember to you for the fake of them

that are to live, and for the Charity I have for

you who are to die: for the fake of them that

are to live; for I hope when they hear, that Men
• of your Perfuafion dare commit thofe outragious

Crimes, and juftify them by a Principle of Re-

ligion, they will not eafily be feduced into your

Zz z z 2 Opinion:
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'

ia^ ^/Ireland, Pickering, $£c. 30 Car. IL

Opinion : And out of Charity to you that are to

die, to perfuade you to hearty Repentance ; for

otherwife, I mud tell you, thy 1500/. (fpeak-

ing to Grove) nor thy 50000 Mafies ((peaking

to Pickering) will avail but little. And I thought

fit to fay this alfo, that it may be known that

you have had the full Benefit of the Laws Efta-

blifhed in England, and thofe the Belt of Laws j

for fuch is not the Law of other Nations, for if

any Proteftant in any Place where the P^omifh

Religion is profeft, had been but thought Guilty

of fuch Crimes, he had never come to the For-

mality andjuftice of an Arraignment, and to be

tried by his Peers, permitted to make his De-

fence, and hear what could be faid again ft him
;

but he had been hang'd immediately, or perhaps

Aifrer'd a worfe Death. But you are- not only be-

holden to the happy Conltitution of our Laws,

but to the more happy Conltitution of our Reli-

gion. For fuch are the admirable Documents
of that Religion we in England profefs, That we
dare noc requite Maflacre for Mafia ere, Blood

for Blood. We difown and abhor all Stabbing;

and wc are fo far from reckoning that he fhall

be a Saint in Heaven for Aflaflinating a Prince,

and bepray'd to in another World, that the Pro-

teftant is required to believe, that fuch that be-

gin with Murder, mult end with Damnation,

if our blefted Lord and Saviour do not inter-

pofe •, nothing that Man can do, Papift or Protef-

tant, can five any Man in fuch a cafe. We dare

not lay that our Religion will permit us to Murder
Difienters, much lefs to Aflaffinate our King
And having thus laid, let me once more as a

Chriftian, in the name of the great God of Hea-
ven, beg of you for your own Souls fake, be

rot fatitfied or over-perfuaded with any Doctrine

that you have Preached to others, or imbibed

from others $ but believe, that no one can con-

trive the Death of the King, or the Overthrow
of the Government, but the great God of Hea-
ven and Eaith will have an account of it. And
all Pardons, Abfolutions, and the Difpenfations

that y^u who are Priefts can give to your Lay-
Brother, or that any of your Superiors may
give to you, wdl not ferve the turn.

1 know not, but as 1 faid, you may think I

fpeak this to infult, I take the great God ofHea-
ven to Witnefs, that I fpeak it with Charity to

your Souls, and with great Sorrow and Grief in

my own Heart, to fee Men that might have

made themlelves happy, draw upon themfelves

fo great a Ruin. But fince you have been (o

fairly Heard, fo fairly Tried and Convicted,

there is but little more to be faid ; for I muft
tell you, becaufe it may not be thought that you
had not free Liberty to make your full Defence,

though that Gentleman (fpeaking to Ireland)

feemed to be furpriz'd, he had a kind Sifter that

took care for to bring his Witnefles ; I am fo far

from blaming her for it, that I do commend
her, it was the effect: of her Good- nature, and
deferves Commendation-, but fpeak tothisPur-
pofe, to fhew that there was no Surprize upon
him, nor his Life taken awav by any fuch thing ;

for he had a greater Favour fhew'd to him than is

ufually fhewn to fuch Offenders.

And having thus faid to you my felf, we do
alfo require him whofe Duty it is to attend in

fuch Cafes, nay, I do Command him in the

Name of the Court, that he attend upon you to

.give you all the comfortable Affiftance that he

can for the advantage of your future State : And
not only fo, but we will certainly take care,

that if you will have any others come to you,
they fhall. I would not be miftaken, I do not
mean any of your Priefts andjefuitsj but if you
will have the Afliftance of any Proteftant Divines,

they fhall not be deny'd you. And I hope God
Almighty will pleafe to give you Pardon in ano«
ther World, though you have offended beyond
hopes of any in this. I once more afiure you,

j

all I have faid is in perfect Charity. I pray God
forgive you for what you have done. And fo

there remains now only for me to pronounce that

Sentence which by the Law of the Land the
Court is required to do againft Perfons Convicted
oF'that Offence which you are Convicted of.

This Court doth therefore Award, That you
the Prifoners at the Bar, be conveyed from hence to

the Place from whence you came, and from thence

that you be drawn to the Place of Execution upon
Hurdles, that there you be feverally hanged by thei

Neck, that you be cut down alive, that your Privy,

Members be cut off, and your Bowels taken out, and
burnt in your view, that your Heads be feveredfrom
your Bodies, that your Bodies be divided into Quar-

\

ters, and thofe Quarters be difpofed at the King's

pleafure : And the God of infinite Mercy be merciful

to your Souls.

Then the Prifoners were conveyed back to the
Goal by the Keeper of the Goal, according to

Cuftom j and the Commifiion was called over,

and the Prifoners taken Order for according to

Law. And the Court Adjourned by Proclama-
tion, thus :

CI. of Cr. Crier, make Proclamation.
Crier. O yes, Oyes, O yes ! All manner of Per-

fons that have any thing more to do at this general

Seffons of the Peace holden for the City of London,
may depart hence for this time, and give their At-
tendance at //^Guildhall, London, on Friday tht

10th Day of January next, at Seven of the Clock it

the. Morning And all manner of Perfons at this Sef
/tons of Oyer and Terminer, and Goal-delivery oj

Newgate, holden for the City of London am
County of Middlefex, may depart hence for thi.

time, and give their Attendance here again on Wed-
nefday the ifth Day of January, at Seven of th

Clock in the Morning.

God Save the King

And then the Court broke up.

On Friday the 24th of January following
William Ireland and John Grove were drawi
from Newgate on an Hurdle to Tyburn, when
they were Executed according to their Sentence 1

but the Execution of Thomas Pickering was re

fpited for fo long a time, that it occaflon'd ai

Addrefs of the Houfe of Commons, April 17

167P, " That his Majefty would be pleafcd t<

" order the Execution of one Pickering a Prifone
" in Newgate, and of divers Priefts and Jefuits
" who had been Condemn'd by the Judges a

" the Old Baily and in the feveral Circuits, bu
" did remain as yet unexecuted, to the grea
" emboldening of fuch Offenders, in cafe the
*' fhould efcape without due Punifhment." T
which the King returned this Anfwer. " Gen
" tlemen, I have always been Tender in Mai
" ters of Blood, which my Subjects have n

" Reafon to take Exceptions at : but this is

"Matrr
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» Matter of great Weight, I {hall therefore Pickering, and that the Law fhould pafs upon
" confider of it, and return you an Anfwer," him.
frAIayz?, The King fent a Meffage ro the He was accordingly Executed in purfuance of

Houfe, by Lord Ruffel, to let them know, that his Sentence.

he would comply with their Requett concerning

LXXVII. 7*he Trial ofthe Lord Cornwallls before the

Lords at Weftminderfor the Murder o£RobertClerk 5

1678. 30 Car. II.

FTER my Lord High Steward *

was afcended to the High Chair of
State, and fat down therein, the

Ccmmiffion was delivered by the

Clerk of the Crown in the Chancery,

to my Lord, on his Knees, who delivered it to

S\r Thomas Fanfhaw, Clerk of the Crown in the

King's-Bench- Office, and he received it kneel-

ing.

Then Proclamation was made by the Serjeant

at Arms, who was Crier for the Day.

Serjeant. O Yes, O Yes, O Yes ! My Lord
High Steward of England llrictly chargeth and

commandeth all manner of Perfons here prefent,

upon Pain of Imprifonment, to keep Silence, and

give Ear to his Majefly's Commiffion, To my
Lord High Steward of England, to his Grace
directed.

The Clerk of the Crown with his Face to my
Lord High Steward reads it thus :

Clerk of the Crown. Charles Rex Carolus Secun-

dus, &c.
All which time my Lord and the Peers flood

up bare.

Serjeant. God fave the King.

Cl. Cr. Make Proclamation.

Serjeant. O Yes! The King at Arms, and the

Ufher of the Black Rod, on their Knees deliver

the White Staff to my Lord, who re-delivered

it to the Ufher of the Black Rod, who held it

up all the time before him.

Cl. Cr. Make Proclamation.

Serjeant. O Yes ! My Lord High Steward of

England flrictly chargeth and commandeth all

Juilices and Commiffioners, and all and every

Perfon and Perfons to whom any Writ or Pre-

cept have been directed for the certifying of any

Indictment, or of any other Record before my
Lord High Steward of England, to certify and

bring the fame immediately according to the

Tenor of the laid Writs and Precepts unto them,

or any of them directed, on Pain and Peril as fhall

fall thereon.

The Lord Chief Juflice of the King's-Bench

return'd his Certiorari, and the Record of the In-

dictment by the Grand Jury of Middlefex, which

,

was read by the Clerk of the Crown, in hjsc verba.

Cl. Cr. Virtute, &c.

L. H. Stew. Call the Conflable of the Tower

\ return his Precept and his Prifoner.

Cl. Cr. Make Proclamation.

Serjeant. O Yes? Conflable of the Tower of

London, return the Precept to thee di reeled, and

* Ear! 0/ Nottingham.

bring forth the Prifoner Charles Lard Cornwallis,

on Pain and Peril as will fall thereon.

The Lord Lieutenant of the Tower brought in

the Prifoner, on his left Hand, with the Ax be-

fore him, born by the Deputy Lieutenant, which
he held with the Edge from him, and returned

his Precept in hac verba.

Cl. Cr. Virtute, &c.
L. H. Stew. Call the Serjeant at Arms to re-

turn his Precept.

Cl. Cr. Make Proclamation.

Serjeant. O Yes I Roger Harfnet Efq; Serjeant

at Arms to our Sovereign Lord the King, return

the Precept to thee directed, with the Names of
all the Lords and Noblemen of this Realm, Peers

of Charles Lord Cornwallls, by thee fu.nmoned,

to be heard this Day, on Pain and Peril as will

fall thereon.

He delivered his Precept return'd with a Sche-

dule annexed thus

;

Cl. Cr. Virtute, fjjV. Make Proclamation.

Serjeant. O Yes ! All MarquefTes, Earls, Vif-

counts, and Barons of this Realm of England,

Peers of Charles Lord Cornwallls, which by Com-
mandment of the Lord High Steward atEngland,

are fummoned to appear this Day, and to be pre-

fent in Court, anfwer to your Names, as you are

called, every one upon Pain and Peril as will fall

thereon.

Then the Pannel was called over, the number
of Peers fummoned were 35% in order as follow-

eth.

Thomas Earl of Danby, Lord High Treafurer

of England, Sec.

All that appeared, anfwered to the Call, land-

ing up bare.

Then my Lord High Steward made a Speech
to the Prifoner at the Bar thus 3

Lord High Steward. My Lord Cornwallis,77;£

Violation of the King's Peace^ in the chief Sanctuary

ofit, his own Royal Palace, and in fo high a manner,

as by the Death of one of his Subjects, is a Matter

that mufi be accounted for. And that it may be fo,

It hath pieafeel the King to command this High and

Honourable Court to Affemble, in order to a flricl

and impartial Enquiry.

The Wifdom of the Law hath thereforeftyled it

the King's Peace, becaufe it is his Authority that com-

mands it, it is his Juflice that fecures it, it is he on

whom Men do rely for the Safety of their Liberties,

and their Lives ; in him they truft that a fevere Ac-

count fjall be taken of all the Violences and Injuries

that
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that are ofend to them, and they that trufi in the

King can never be deceived.

It is your Lord/hip's great Unbappinefs at this time

to ftand Prifener at the Bar, under the weight of no

le/s a Charge than an Indictment of Murder ; and it

is not to be wondered at, iffo great a Misfortune as

this be attended with fome kind of confujion of Face ;

when a Man fees himfelf become a Spectacle of Mifery

in fo great a Prefence, and before fo Noble and fo

llluflrious an Affembly. But be not yet difmafd,

my Lord) for all this ; let not the Fears and Terrors

of Juflice fo amaze and furprize you, fo as to be-
' tray thofe Succours that your Reafon would afford

you, or to difarm you of thofe Flelps which good Dif-

cretion may adminifier, and which are now ex-

tremely necejfary.

It is indeed a dreadful thing to fall into the hands

of Jufiice, where the haw is the Rule, and a fever

e

and inflexible meafure both of Life and Death. But

yet it ought to befome Comfort to your Lordfioip, that

you are now to be tried by my Lords your Peers ; and

that now you fee the Scales of Juflice are held by fuch

Noble hands, you may be confident they will put in-

to them all the Grains of allowance, either Juflice

or Honour will bear.

Hearken therefore to your Indictment with Quiet-

ncfs and Attention, obferve what the Witneffes fay

againfl you without Interruption ; and referve what

you have to fay for your felf, till it foallcome toyour

turn to make your Defence, of which I fillall befure

to give you Notice ; and when the time comes, afjure

yourfelf you fhall be heard, not only with Patience,

but with Candor too.

And then what Judgment foever my Lords will

give you, your felf will (and all the World) before 'd

to acknowledge the Juflice and Equity of their Judg-

ment, and the Righteoufnefs of all their Lordfhips

Proceedings.

Read the Indictment.

Cl.Cr. Charles Lord Cornwallis, Thou Jlandefi
Indicted in the County of Middlefex, by the Name
of, Sec. How fayeft thou Charles Lord Cornwal-

lis, Art thou Guilty of this Felony and Murder
whereof thou ftandeit Indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Lord Com. Not Guilty.

CI. Cr. How wilt thou be try'd ?

Ld. Corn. By God and my Peers.

Then my Lord High Steward addrcfTed him-
felf to the Lords thus j

L. H. Stew. My Lords, Tour Lord/hips have here

a Member before you of your Noble Body, expofed

to the fhame of a publick Arraignment, and [which

to a Man of Honour is much lefs) to the hazard
both of his Life and Eftate. All that he hath and
ever hopes to have, his Wealth, his Fame, his Po-
flerity ; All that is valuable to him in this World
intirely depends on your Lordjhips Judicature, who
are now his Peers, and on whom he doth freely put

himfelf.

My Lords, The Privilege of this kind of Trial

and Judicature is a Part of the true Greatnefs of the

Englifh Nobility: It is an eminent and an illuftrious

Privilege. It is afolid Point ofofHonour and Dignity.

It is a Privilege that no Neighbour Nation ever had,

and a Privilege this Nation never was without.

It is not a Privilege created by the Great Charter,

but confeft and acknowledged by it. They look but a
little way that find this in the fleps of the Norman
Conqueft, for it is to be found even in the footfieps

of the Saxon Monarchy, when Godwin Earl of

Kent was Tried by Earls and Barons. And it is

no improbable Conjecture of theirs, who do think the

Wifdom of this Confutation was taken from that

Law amongfl the Romans, whereby it was made

unlawful for any Man to fit upon a Senator, that

was not himfelf of thefame Order ; a Privilege, that

(as learned Civilians tell us) continued with them

during the Reign of many of the Roman Emperors.

But, my Lords, as this is a Privilege as Ancient as

Monarchy, fo we have found by many old Expt-

riences, that it cannot be taken away without tlx
j

Diffolution ofthat Government : Therefore this is orx

of thofe many Ties by which the Interefl of the No-
bility, as well as their Duty, have obliged them /<j.

the Service of the King.

In the exercifc of this Privilege at this time ; A
know your Lordfhips will weigh the Fact with alt

the Circumflances, whereby it is to receive its true:

and its proper Doom. Tour Lordfloips are too jufi :

to let Pity make any Abatement fur the Crime, ana

too wife to let Rhctorick make any Improvement oj

it : This only will be necejfary to be obferved by alt

your Lordfhips, that the fouler the Crime is, the

clearer and the plainer ought the Proof of it to beJ

There is no other good Reafon can be given, why the

Law refu/eth to allow the Prifoner at the Bar Coun-

fel in matter of Fact, when his Life is concerned, but

only this, becaufe the Evidence by which he is con-

demned, ought to be fo very evident andfoplain, thai

all the Council in the World Jhould not be able tt

anfwer it : upon thisground it is, that the Law hath

trufied your Lordfhips with the Trial ofyour Fellou

Peers', no Trufi can be more nobly lodged, nor no Ju-

dicature had ever more true SubmiJJion made to it

.

Therefore it would be in mefome want ofRefpect to thi.

Augufl and Noble Affembly, Jhould I go about to pu\

your Lordjhips in mind of your Duty : no doubt yoi

will obferve the Evidence carefully, weigh it diligent

ly, and when that is done, it is impofftble but th

Judgment you willgive, mufi be Right and Honour

able, and worthy of fo wife and Jo great a Body

Therefore I will not detainyour Lordfhips any longer

from hearing the Evidence that is ready to be ojjere*

unto you.

CI. of Cr. Make Proclamation.

Serj. O Yes ! if any will give Evidence fo

our Sovereign Lord the King, againft Chdrlc

Lord Cornwallis, Prifoner at the .Bar, let hin

come forth, and he fhall be heard ; for the Pri

foner ftands at the Bar upon his Deliverance.

The Indictment was again read to the Peers.

Serjeant Maynard. May it pleafe your Grace

my Lord High Steward of England, and thi

Great and Noble Affembly ; The i'rifoner a

the Bar, Charles Lord Cornwallis, ftandeth In

dieted of a great Crime, that he together wit!

Charles Gerrard and Edward Bourne, not having

in his Heart the fear of God, but inftigated by thii

Suggeftions of the Devil, the i8ch of May hll

did Felonioufly and of his Malice forethought

affault one Robert Clerk in Whitehall, and tha

Mr. Gerrard took him up in his Arms, filing

him down, and broke his Neck, of which h
inftantly died. To this he hath pleaded No
guilty. It lies upon us who are Counfel for th
King, in this cafe to profecute it, and prove i

to you.
* Mr. Attorney General.

May it pleafe your Grace, my * Sir William Jene

Lord High Steward of England, and my Lord
fummoned for the Trial ot the Prifoner at tri

Bai
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: This Noble Lord ftands Indi&ed for Mur-

der j an Offence, my Lord, which is the firft

nd greatefl that is forbidden by the fecond Ta-

le, and an Offence of that nature, that the Law
f God hath by a mofl peremptory Sentence

ondemned and decreed, that whofe fheddeth

an's Blood, by Man fhall his Blood be fhed.

hether this Noble Lord be guilty of it, re-

mains upon your Lordfhips to try, and I fhall

ery fhortly flate the Matter of Fad, which

e fhall prove, and then let the Evidence be

ffered to you. We do not pretend, my Lords,

either doth the Indictment lay ir, that this

reat Offence was commited by the Hand of

y Lord Cornwallis.

For I know your Lordfhips have obfervedthe

Indictment, by which it is alledged, that the

Hand of Mr. Gerrard did the Fad : But, my
Lords, if we fhall make it out that my Lord

Cornwallis did concur to this Act, and had in hirn-

ielf at that time an Intent to be a Murderer ; then

it will be declared by his Grace, my Lord High

Steward, and my Lords the Judges, that tho' his

Hand did it not, yet he is equally guilty as if it had.

Now, to make out the Charge agaiuft him, our

Evidence will be fhortly thus :

On the 1 8 th ofMy laft, early in the Morning,

between the Hours of One and Two, came

down two Gentlemen with three Footmen be-

hind them, out of the Gallery at Whitehall, by

the Stairs that lead down to the Park : I call

them two Gentlemen, becaufe it was not then

difcovered who they were, or of what Quality -,

but your Lordfhips will perceive, by the courfe

of the Evidence, they were my Lord Cornwal-

lis and Mr. Gerrard, coming down at that un-

feafonable Hour ; the firfl Queflion they ask'd

the Centinel (who watch'd at the Foot of the

Stairs,) was the Hour of the Night ; and from

him had account that it was lb much.
The Prifoner and Mr. Gerrard were fomewhat

diftemper'd with Drink, and made him a Reply,

that he Lyed, with great Oaths accompanying

it. At that time they did no more but go by

him into the Park, where, after they had con-

tinued by the fpace of an Hour, back they re-

turn'd to the Stairs, and the Centinel demand-

ing, according to his Duty, who came there?

They anfwered him in very obfeene and uncivil

Language, and threatned they would kill the

Centinel, who only did his Duty in enquiring

who came by him at that time of Night. And
we fhall make it appear, they were in a kind of

Contention among themfelves who fhould kill

him •, for, as I am inform'd, (I know if it be

not prov'd, your Lordfhips will obferve it) one

defired, Pray let me kill him; and the other de-

fired, Pray let me kill him ; and threatned no lefs

than to run him through.

My Lords, the Centinel being of good Refo-
lution, was not affrighted from his Place, but
kept them off ; and when they faw they could

not win upon the Centinel that way, one of

them delivered away his Sword, which he held

in his hand not drawn, and then was pleafed to

come to the Centinel, and defired to kifs him,

and fwore he would do that : but that the Cen-
tinel did equally refufe ; and then they did ufe

the fame Threatnings again, and feemed to be
in a Contention who fhould run him through.
My Lords, after fome time, being now come
to the top of the Stairs, and there flaying, ithap-

7-^7

pen'd there came to the Stair-foot two Youths,
and thefe young Men, were it feems, going to

Bed in their Lodging, which was very near,

and did make it their Requeft to the Centinel
("one of them did) to call him up very early the

next Morning, becaufe he was to go of a Mef-
fage out of the Town. My Lord Cornwallis

and Mr. Gerrard remaining on the top of the

Stair-Cafe, being (as we faid) in diforder (which
is the ftrength of the King's Evidence, if

proved) both of them faid, before they went
thence they would kill fome or other, which E-
vidence will go a great way to mew the Concern
that Noble Lord the Prifoner at the Bar had in

the Bufinefs.

It happen'd as thefe Boys were making their

Requelt to the Centinel, my Lord and Mr. Gcr-
rardtook notice of it, and feem'd to be concern'd
that they fhould command the King's Soldiers,

and bid the Centinel fhoot him, who told them
heconceiv'd the Boy had done him no wrong in

asking a civil Kindnefs from him 5 they again
call'd to fhoot him, and they would bear him our 5

which he Hill re fu fed to do, finding no reafon for

it : then one of the two took occafion to fweara
great Oath, he would kick his Arfe to Hell ; to

which the Boy that ask'd the Centinel made fome
reply ; wherein the word Arfe was repeated : now
(whether they underftood it as an Interrogation,

Why kick my Arfe to Hell? as he intended it ; or in

a worfe fenfe, Kifs my Arfe) one of the Gentlemen
in a Rage came running down the Stairs, and
that Boy that in truth fpoke th? Word ran away,
and the other poor Innocent Boy, trufting in his

ownlnnocency, remained there, until the Perfon
came to him, and did on his Knees (in a manner)
defirenot to be miflaken, he was not the Perfon
that ufed any ill Words, and cry'd out, O my Lord
it was not 7, indeed my Lord it was not I ; but fuch,

at that time, was the Intemperance and Wrath of
the Perfon, who in fuch a Fury defcending the

Stairs, that (whether with the Blow or the Fall)

the Boy receiv'd his Death. We find by our In-

formation of the Evidence, that he who did the

Thing was, in Truth, Mr. Gerrard, who is not yet
taken j but whether my Lord, the Prifoner ac

the Bar, did not concur in it, and had not an
Intention to kill fomebody, is the Queflion left

for your Grace and thefe Noble Peers to decide ?

This is the nature of the Fact ; only I defire to

obferve, that it is true here was fome diftance

between the Place where my Lord Cornwallis

flood, and the Place where the Boy was killed.

Of what confequence that may be, I leiveto
your Grace's and thefe Noble Lords Confidera-

tion : It was the diflance of the Stairs; but, I

think, as every one knows, they are not fo ma-
ny, what but is done below may be eafily feen

at the top.

We fhall now, without detaining your Lord-
fhips any longer, call the Witneffes, and prove
what hath been opened.

The Soldier prov'd the Fact, as it was open'd

by Mr. Attorney General, except that part about
both fwearing they would kill one or other,

which Paffage was heard but by one of them,
and was fpokenbut by one of the Gentlemen.

They could notfwear, who were the Perfons,

becaufe of the darknefs of the time.

The Boy who was the Companion of him that

was (lain, and that ufed the Words that cauied

the Perfon to come down, fwore them to be a

Repe*
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Repetition only, by way of Interrogation, Why
kick my Arfe to Hell?

Then Mr. Attorney defired to call my Lord Corn-

wallis's own two Footmen, who had been Indicted

and acquitted at the King's-Bench Bar.

Lord High Steward. My Lords the Judges, is

there any Queftion, whether a Perfon acquitted of

an Offence be a good Witnefs againft another char-

ged with the fame Offence ?

Judges. None at all: when he is acquitted he

ought to be admitted.

Then the Copy of the Acquittal (proved by a

Clerk in the Crown-Office) was read, and then were

Sworn ; who fixed it upon the Perfon of Mr. Ger-

rard, and fwore that my Lord Cornwallis was all the

while upon the top of the Stairs, but after the Fact

committed, haded away for fear of being knock'd

down by the Soldiers : And there ended the King's

Evidence.

L. High Slew. Now, my Lord, is the time come

for your Defence. You hear what is charg'd on

you. Pray fpeak what you have to fay for your

felf.

Lord Cornwallis. Then the Prifoner at the Bar

confefled himfelf to have been in the Company
that Night, when this Accident happen'd, which

he hop'd would be a Warning to him to fhun

fuch Diforders hereafter ; but that he had no

evil Intention, and but one Witnefs fwore that

both of them would have kill'd the Centinel

;

that he was not confcious to himfelf to have had

a hand in it, and therefore withdrew not him-

felf, but yielded himfelf to the Coroner the next

Day, (which he prov'd by the Coroner himfelf)

and did therefore, in truft of his Innocency, fub-

mit himfelf to the Judgment of His Grace and his

Peers.

Which being done, Sir Francis Wilmington, the

King's Sollicitor-General, fumm'd up the Evidence

in this manner

:

May it pleafe your Grace, my Lord High
Steward of England, and my Noble Lords the

Peers of the Prifoner at the Bar; According

to the Duty of my Place I am to repeat the

King's Evidence, and ftate it to your Grace and

thefe Noble Lords, and fubmit it to your great

Judgments, how far it will go for the Proof of

this Crime-, wherein I fhall obferve the Duty
of all honeft Men, which is to do nothing

either to wreft any thing in Difadvantage of the

Prifoner out of the King's Evidence, to go far-

ther than it ought, nor fhall omit any thing

that fhall require your Grace and the Noble
Lords Juftice; for we come to feek out the

Truth, and we queftion not but by this Honour-

able Trial it will be brought to light. But I

befeech your Favour, to take notice, in the firft

place, what Crime this Noble Lord flands ac-

cufed of, and it is for Murder ; wherein our Law
takes notice, that Murder is where a Man un-

lawfully kills another under the King's Peace,

with Malice forethought. Now that here is a

Murder committed, I dare with all Humility

aver. By whom ? that is the Queftion : For this

Robert Clerk, the Perfon killed, doth appear, by
the Courfe of the Evidence, to have been doing

his Duty, attending the Place his Employment
required ; gave no Offence to any whatfoever

;

but when the Perfon came down and fell upon

him, the poor Youth cried, Indeed, my Lord, it

was not I; yet, my Lords, the Hands of Vio-

lence feiz'd him and kill'd him. Let us then fee

how the Evidence brings it home to the Nobk
Lord the Prifoner at the Bar; wherein I mud
confefs we have no exprefs Evidence (nay, we

have Evidence to the contrary) that it was not

his Hand that did the Fact actually ; for it is by

two WitnefTes, the Footmen, fworn that it was

Mr. Gerrard who came down and gave the un-

fortunate Blow: But we have that which we
think, with humble Submiffion, may reach this

Noble Lord : For I know your Grace and my
Lords remember, that after they had been and

Hour in the Park, both returning, did with hor-j

rid Oaths fwear they would kill the Centinel

;

there the Evidence fixeth it, not upon one only,:

but upon both : it was at that time fo dark they!

could not be diftinguifhed, but by the Voice:!
The Centinel hath given you an Account how he
perform'd his Duty, and in what Strait he was,

he had much ado to fave his own Life, or to pre-

vent killing them : But when they came upon the

Stairs, thefe two Boys came there in order to de-

fire the Centinel to call one of them the next

Morning. Then one on the Stairs (no Man can

tell who it was) with horrid Execrations, ask'd,

Will you command the King's Soldiers ? Shoot him,

Centinel, we'll bearyou out. But all this while it

was Dusk, no diftinction of Perfons could be made;
whereupon it will fall out to come to this Cafe, If

feveral Perfons intend to kill one, and happen to

kill another, whether this be not Murder in them?
For the urging of this, as to the Matter in Law,
I leave to him that comes after me. The Centinel

fwears one of them did fwear he would kill one or

other ; who it was took up that cruel Refolution, is

left to you to judge : But at that time they were

both together upon the top of the Stairs ; and

my Lord doth not feem to give one Tittle of

Evidence, that fhews any Endeavours of the Pri-

foner at the Bar to prevent the other, or difprove

of his Actions: If he had given an Account of

that, he had filenced Juftice ; but when they were

all together, he not endeavouring to ftop his

Hand, it is as much in Law as if he had ftruck the

Stroke.

The other Soldiers give you a particular Account

to the fame purpofe.

The two laft WitnefTes do bring it to the Perfon

of my Lord, the Prifoner at the Bar, and Mr. Ger-

rard, who, they fwore, came down the Stairs, and

his Man followed him to the bottom, and there

ftaid at fome diftance, till the Fact was done, and

they all fled.

This I take to be the matter of Fact faithfully

proved, before your Grace, and the Lords the

Peers ; and I would not trouble your Grace long-

er, becaufe I would not mifreport any thing,

whereby I might do wrong, either to the Prifonen

or the King's Caufe; and becaufe I know your

Grace and the Noble Lords will diftinguifh and

find out where the Truth is. I muft fay it is a

great Comfort to all the Subjects of England, that

Crimes of this Nature are fo carefully prefented,

that whatfoever Honours and Dignities our Gra-

cious Sovereign doth confer on any Perfon, it;

doth not exempt him from the Juftice of the'

Law : It is not only a Comfort to this Affembly,

but to the whole Nation, to fee the King tender

of his Subjects Perfons and Lives, in that he hath!

caufed this ftrict Courfe to be taken, where the

Enquiry hath gone from the Grand Jury of the

County, 'till the Bill came to this great Tribunal

;

where I doubt not but your Grace, and thefe

}
Noble-
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Noble Lords, will give a righteous and juft Judg-

ment.

Serjeant Maynard. May it pleafe your Grace, my
Lord High Steward of England, and my Noble

Lords the Peers

:

I, according to the Duty of my Place, come

now to conclude the Charge on the King's be-

half; fbme things are fit to be obferved upon the

Evidence, that may produce a Queftion for the

decifion of the Fact, of what Nature it is. That

a Murder is committed, is upon Evidence with-

out all Queftion ; and not only the Death of a

Man, here is a Child flain without any Provo-

cation in the world given by him to that Perfon

that did it ; and that did it too, notwithilanding

the Deprecations of the Boy, affirming his own
Innocency, and that with as full Circumftances

as a Chriftian almoft could a thing : thefe came

from the King's Palace-walk in the Park ; call

the Centinel Rogue, and when he doth his Duty,

fwear to murder him ; with Oaths that a Chrifti-

an would blufh at, and be afraid to hear : God

damme oftentimes reiterated ; and he that faith

that Word, doth beg of God to hate him, and

affirm that he doth hate God. The Obfcenity

that they ufed I fhall not mention again ; thefe

are Circumftances of the Cafe ; that all were

guilty of much, is no doubt; but who of the

Murder, is the Queftion. And I humbly con-

ceive, it is manifeft, that this Noble Lord was

concern'd in it. For it is not requifite to make
a Murder, that he who kills a Man hath con-

ceiv'd a Malice againft him ; for if I have a

Malice againft any Man, and the Effect of that fall

upon another, it is Murder.

I apply it thus ; If it be a Murder in Mr. Ger-

rard, if this Noble Lord partake with him in the

Defign which made it lb ; to wit, the Malice a-

gainft the Centinel ; he is as guilty, as if his Hand
had been as much upon him as was Mr. Gerrard's ;

as in that known Cafe of the Man
that poifon'd an Apple with an In-

tent to kill his Wife, and ihe not

knowing of the Poifon, gave fome
of it to her Child, of which it died ; tho' he had
no defign to kill the Child, yet the Malice he

conceiv'd againft his Wife fupply'd the Defect of
an expreis Malice to make it Murder ; and he
was hang'd therefore. So if a Man affault a

Mafter, in the prefence of his Servant, who de-

fends his Mafter, and is (lain, tho' the other had
no purpofe to kill him, yet it is Felony in him,
for which he fhall die; the Law implying a Ma-
lice. Then here was clearly a Malice to the Cen-
tinel ; how near it comes to the Boy will come in

Queftion afterwards. I find the Objection made
in my Lord's Cafe, that at the particular Time
where the Fact was committed, my Lord, was
not with Mr. Gerrard : But that will be no Ob-
jection in the Cafe ; for if he did partake in the

Defign of the other, I will anfwer it with the

Cafe of my Lord Dacres of the

South, who, with fome others,

went unlawfully to fteal Deer, and
the Keeper coming, fome fled, a-

mong whom my Lord was one: the Keeper
was kill'd, my Lord Dacres being at that time
without the Pales, a Mile off from the Place,
and yet was found guilty of the Murder, and
left both his Lands and Life for it. But here,
my Lord Cornwallis was prefent, for the Witnefs
VO L. II.
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fwears the diftance was not (b great but it might
be difcern'd. Now whether he was aiding or

afllfting, is the next thing in queftion. What
occafion had they of Malice, Revenge, or In-

jury to the Centinel ? They both fvvore they

would kill him : Had there been any Excufe for

the other, if one of them had killed the Centi-

nel ? that could not be. Well, they did not

kill the Centinel, but at the fame time take up
a caufelels Offence againft another, and kill him.

I argue, that the Malice againft the Soldier was
diffuffive to the Boy ; and one of the Witnef-
fes proves, that one of them fwore he would
kill lome Body : now, no one fpeaks to any
thing of my Lord's reproving Mr. Gerrard. Thus
ftands the Cafe before your Grace and my Lords :

It is a Cafe of Blood, and it cries loud : How
far this Noble Lord and Prifoner at the Bar is

guilty thereof, you are to enquire, and without all

doubt will give a clear Verdict, according to Juf-

tice and Honour.

LordHigh Stew. My Lords, you have heard the
Evidence ; if your Lordfhips pleafe to go and
confider of it, you may.
Then the Prifoner withdrew into his own A-

partment, with the Lieutenant of the Tower. The
Lords went into a Room behind the Court of
Chancery, and after a ftay of two Hours retum'd,
and being all fat; the Earl of Danby, Lord High
Treafurer of England, who was the firft of the

Jury,addreffed himfelf to my Lord High Steward,
and faid ;

Earl of Danby My Lord High Steward, there
is a Queftion in Law, of which fome of my Lords
defire to receive Satisfaction before they can give
in their full Verdict : and we defire to know of
your Grace, whether it be proper here to ask the

Queftion of your Grace, or to propofe it to the

Judges.

Lord H. Stew. If your Lordfhips doubt of any
thing, whereon a Queftion in Law anfeth, the

latter Opinion, and the better for the Prifoner is,

that it muft be ftated in the prefence of the Prifo-

ner, that he may know whether

the Queftion be truly put. It

hath iometimes been practifed o-

therwife ; and the Peers have fent

for the Judges, and have asked

their Opinion in private, and have

come back, and given their Verdict, according to

that Opinion; and. there is fcarce a Precedent of

its being otherwiie done, but there is a latter Au-
thority in Print, that doth fettle the Point fo as

I tell you ; and I do conceive it ought to be

followed ; and it being fafer for the Prifoner,

my humble Opinion to your Lordfhip is, that

he ought to be prelent at the ftating of the Que-
ftion.

Call the Prifoner to the Bar. Who being come,

my Lord fpake thus to him •

Lord High Steward. My Lord Cornwallis, My
Lords the Peers, fince they have withdrawn,

have conceived a Doubt, in fome Matter of Law
arifing upon the Matter of Fact in your Cafe

;

and they have that tender Regard of a Prifoner

at the Bar, that they will not fuffer a Cafe to be

put up in his Abfence, left it fhould chance to

prejudice him, by being wrong ftated ; therefore,

your Lordfhip will do well to attend the Queftion

that is railed ; and, my Lords, will you pleafe to

propound your Doubts?

5 A Earl

3 C <ke' 5 Inft.

fit. 429.
Fafch. 26 Hen.

3 Lord Da-
cres' j Cafe.
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Earl of Danby. It was taken notice of here,

that by opening the Matter by Mr. Solicitor,

the Matter of Murder was explained to be meant

by having a prepenfed Malice, and in that Cafe

it was opened to us, that any Perfons then pre-

fent, and that had in any Sort contributed to the

Diforders, they were as equally guilty, as they

whofe Hand had fhed the Blood of the Perfon

killed.

Now the Doubt of fome of my Lords is, whe-

ther if it be found but Man-flaughter, thofe are

equally guilty, (that are prefent, and have proved

to contribute to the Difturbance) of that Crime,

as they are in Murder > becaufe fome of them have

not the Satisfaction that they are the fame.

Lord High Steward. My Lords the Judges, I

take it, the Doubt propofed to you, is this ; whe-

ther or no, thofe that are prefent, and have contri-

buted to the Diforders, whereby fuch an Accident

doth enfue, as proves to be Man-flaughter, be as

culpable, as he that doth the immediate Fadt, as it

is in the Cafe of Murder ?

After a little Paufe and Conference, the Judges

returned this Anfwer.

Judges. We have had Conference of this Cafe,

and our humble Opinion is, If fundry Perfons be

together, aiding and aflifting to an Action, where-

in a Man-flaughter doth enfue, as in cafe of a fud-

den Bufinefs without Malice prepenfed, they are

equally guilty of the Man-flaughter, as they are in

the Cafe of Murder prepenfed.

Earl of Danby. The Lords defire to withdraw

once more. Which they did, and after a fhort

Space returned •, and being called over, anfwered

to their Names, and all appearing, my Lord High

Steward took their Verdict feriatim, beginning at

the Puifne Lord in the following Orders, they an-

fwering, (landing bare with their Hands on their

Breafts.

Lord High Steward. My Lord Duras, Is Charles

Lord Cornwallis guilty of the Felony and Murder,

whereof he ftands indicted, or not guilty ?

Lord Duras. Not guilty.

The fame Queflion he demanded of each ; who
anfwered thus:

r
Butler, Not guilty.

Not guilty.

Maynard, Not guilty of Murder, but guilty

•^ of Man-flaughter.

Paget, Not guilty. «.

I Berkly, Not guilty of Murder, but guilty of

^ Man-flaughter.

13
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" Newport, Not guilty.

Hallifax, Not guilty.

Vifcount Cambden, Not guilty.

Guilford, Not guilty.

Ailsbury, Not guilty of Murder, but guilty

of Man-flaughter.

Craven, Not guilty.

Bath, Not guilty.

Clarendon, Not guilty.

Sunderland, Not guilty.

Peterborough, Not guilty.

Devon/hire, Not guilty.

Northampton, Not guilty.

^ Bridgwater, Not guilty.

o <( Dorfet, Not guilty.
|
-

1 Suffolk, Not guilty.

Bedford, Not guilty.

Derby, Not guilty.

Kent, Not guilty.

Oxford, Not guilty.

Arlington, Not guilty.

Brereton, Not guilty.

Lindfey, Not guilty of Murder, but of Man-
flaughter.

Dorchefter, Not guilty.

Anglefey, Not guilty of Murder, but of Man-
flaughter.

Danby, Not guilty of Murder, but of Man-
flaughter.

Lord High Steward. Call the Prilbner to the

Bar.

Then the Prifoner came to the Bar, and the De-

puty Lieutenant of the Tower held the Edge of the

Ax towards him, while my Lord High Steward

fpake thus unto him

;

Lord High Steward. My Lord Cornwallis, you

have been indicted for Murder, pleaded Not guilty,

put yourfelf upon your Peers; and your Peers up-

on Confideration of the whole Matter have acquit-

ted you, and found you Not guilty, fo you are to

be difcharged.

CI. Cr. Make Proclamation.

Serjeant. O Yes ! my Lord High Steward of

England willeth and commandeth all Peribns to de-

part hence, in God's Peace and the King's ; for

my Lord High Steward of England His Grace doth

diflblve this Commifiion.

Godfave the King.

At which Words my Lord High Steward hold-

ing the white Staff" (which was delivered him by

the Ufher of the Black Rod on his Knees) in both

Hands over his Head, fnapt it in two and the

Afiembly broke up.

LXXVII. Proceedings
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LXXVIII. Proceedingsm Parliament againjiTh om a s Earl

o/D anby,^ LordHigh Treafurer o/England, upon

anImpeachment/#rX^igh-Treafon5 and'otZ^rHigh-Crimes

lemeanors, December^ &c. 1678. 30 Car. II.

P^tfPiHE PaPers of Mr. Montague, the

~::M£^§ Kina'Q AmH^fTCirlnr in France, beins
H King's Ambaffador in France, being

I? feized by the King's Order, upon
;^1 Sufpicion of his intriguing with the

French Court, Mr. Montague (in his

own Defence) acquainted the Houfe of Commons,

that he had in his Cuftody feveral Papers, which

he conceived might tend very much to the Safety

of his Majefty's Perfon, and the Prefervation of

his Kingdom ; whereupon two Letters were pro-

duced and read in the Houfe, fubfcribed Danby :

which are as follow.

My Lord, Jan. 17, 1677.

YEJlerday Monfieur Rouigny came to me with

Monfieur Barillon (having given me his Fa-

ther's Letters the Day before) and difcourfed much

upon the Confidence his King hath of the Firmnefs

of ours to him, of the good Opinion his Mafter hath

of me, and of his King's Refolution to condefcend to

any thing that is not infamous to him, for the Sa-

tisfaction of cur King, how certainly our King may

depend upon all Sorts of Affiftances and Supplies

from his Mafter, in cafe the Friendship be preserv-

ed.- The main of their Drift was to engage me
to prevail with the King to prevail with the Prince

of Orange. The King mufi come to fome Decla-

ration of his Mind to the Parliament when it meets ;

That zvhich makes the Hopes of Peace yet lefs proba-

ble is, that the Duke grows every Day lefs inclined

to it, and has created a greater Indifferency in the

King than I could have imagined; which being ad-

ded to the French King's Refolution not to part with

Tournay, do, I confefs, make me defpair of any

Accommodation : Neverthelefs, I am affured, that

one principal Caufe of the Adjournment for thirteen

Days, has been to fee if any Expedient for the Peace

could have been found in that Time; and the Effeil

of the Adjournment hath hitherto been, that no body

will now believe other than that the Peace is already

concluded between Us and France.

March 25, 1678.
N Cafe the Conditions of the Peace fhall be ac-

cepted, the King expecls to have fix Millions of
Livres Yearly for three Tears from the Time that

this Agreement fhall be figned betwixt his Majefty
and the King of France, becaufe it will be two or

three Tears before he can hope to find his Parlia-
ment in an Humour to give him Supplies after the

having made any Peace with France ; and the Am-
baffador here has agreed to that Sum, but not for
fo long a Time. Ifyou find the Peace will not be ac-

cepted, you are not to mention the Money at all;

and all poffible Care muft be taken to have this whole
Negotiation as private as is poffible,for fear ofgiving
Offence at home, where for the mod tart we hear it

Vol. II.

r

ten Days after any thing that is communicated to the

French Mnifters.

Upon reading thefe Letters, it was immediate-

ly refolv'd that there was fufficient Matter of

Impeachment againft Thomas Earl of Danby, Lord
High Treafurer of England; and on December 21,

1678, Articles of Impeachment were drawn up
and agreed to, and on December 2 5 were carried up
by Sir Henry Capel to the Lords, where they were

read, as follow.

I.

That he hath traiteroufly encroach'd to him-

felf Regal Power, by treating in Matters of Peace

and War with Foreign Minifters and Ambafladors,

and giving Inftruftions to his Majefty's Am-
bafladors Abroad, without communicating the

fame to the Secretaries of State, and the reft of

his Majefty's Council, againft the exprefs De-
claration of his Majefty and his Parliament;

thereby intending to defeat and overthrow the

Provifion that has been deliberately made by his

Majefty and his Parliament for the Safety and

Prefervation of his Majefty's Kingdoms and Do-
minions.

II.

That he hath traiteroufly endeavoured to fub-

vert the ancient and well eftablifhed Form of

Government in this Kingdom, and inftead there-

of to introduce an arbitrary and tyrannical Way
of Government ; and the better to effect this his

Purpofe, he did defign the raifing of an Army,
upon Pretence of a War againft the French King,

and to continue the fame as a ftanding Army
within this Kingdom : And an Army being fo

raifed, and no War enfuing, an Aft of Parlia-

ment having pafs'd to pay and disband the fame,

and a great Sum of Money being granted for that

End, he did continue the Army contrary to the faid

Aft, and mifemploy'd the faid Money given for

the disbanding, to the Continuance thereof; and
iffued out of his Majefty's Revenues divers great

Sums of Money for the faid Purpofe, and wil-

fully neglefted to take Security of the Pay-

mafters of the Army, as the faid Aft required ;

whereby the faid Law is eluded, and the Army
is yet continued, to the great Danger and unne-

cessary Charge of his Majefty and the whole

Kingdom.

III.

That he traiteroufly intending and defigning

to alienate the Hearts and Affeftions of his Ma-
jefty's good Subjefts from his Royal Perfon and
Government, and to hinder the Meetings of Par-

5 A 2 liaments,

* Burnett Hift. Own Times, Vol. 1. p, 439. 453,460.
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liamentsj and to deprive his Sacred Majefty of

their fafe and wholfom Counfel, and thereby

to alter the Conftitution of the Government of

this Kingdom, did propofe and negotiate a Peace

for the French King, upon Terms difadvanta-

geous to the Intereft of his Majefty and his King-

doms ; for the doing whereof, he did endeavour

to procure a great Sum of Money from the

French King, for enabling him to maintain and

carry on his faid traiterous Defigns and Purpofes,

to the Hazard of his Majefty's Perfon and Go-

vernment.

IV.

That he is Popifhly affected and hath traite-

roufly concealed (after he had Notice) the late hor-

rid and bloody Plot and Confpiracy, contrived by

the Papifts, againft his Majefty's Perfon and Go-

vernment ; and hath fuppfeffed the Evidence, and

reproachfully difcountenanced the King's Witnef-

fes in the Difcovery of it in Favour of Popery,

immediately tending to the Deftruftiori of the

King's Sacred Perfon, and the Subverfion of the

Proteftant Religion.

V.

That he hath wafted the King's Treafure, by

ifiuing out of his Majefty's Exchequer feveral

Branches of his Revenue for unnecefTary Penfions

and fecret Services, to the "Value of 231602 /.

within two Years ; and that he hath wholly di-

verted out of the known Method and Govern-

ment of the Exchequer one whole Branch of his

Majefty's Revenue to private Ufes, without any

Accompt to be made of it to his Majefty in his

Exchequer ; contrary to the exprefs Aft of Par-

liament, which granted the fame ; and he hath

removed two of his Majefty's Cbmmiflioners of

that Part . of the Revenue, for refufing to con-

fent to fuch his unwarrantable Aftings therein,

and to advance Money upon that Branch of the

Revenue for private Ufes.

vT.

That he hath by indireft Means procured from

his Majefty to himfelf divers confiderable Gifts

and Grants of Inheritance, of the ancient Reve-

nue of the Grown, even contrary to Afts of

Parliament.

For which Matters and Things the Knights,

Citizens and Burgeffes of the Commons in Par-

liament, do, in the Name of themfelves, and of

all the Commons of England, impeach the faid

'Thomas Earl of Danby, Lord High Treafurer of

England, of High-Treafon, andXother High
Crimes, Mifdemeanors and OfFences,\in the faid

Articles contain'd : And the faid Commons by Pro-

teftation, faving to themfelves the Liberty of ex-

hibiting at any Time hereafter, any other Accu-

fation or Impeachment againft the faid Earl, and

alfo of replying to the Anfwers which the faid

Thomas Earl of Danby fhall make to the Premi-

fts, or any of them, or any Impeachment or

Accufation that fhall be by them exhibited, as

the Caufe (according to the Courfe and Proceedings

of Parliament) fhall require ; do pray, That the

faid Thomas TLarl of Danby may be put toanfwer

all and every the Premifes; that fuch Proceedings,

Trial, Examinations and Judgments, may be up-

on them, and every one of them had and ufed,

as fhall be agreeable to Law and Juftice ; and

that he may be fequeftred from Parliament, and

forthwith committed to fafe Cuftody.

As foon as the Articles were read, the Earl of

Danby fpake as follows.

My Lords,

IHope you will not enter upon any other Bu-
finefs, before you have given that Liberty to

me, which is the Privilege of every Peer, to be
heard upon any Accufation that is brought againft

him, tho' of far lefs Moment than what hath been

newly read againft my felf.

I confefs I fhould have heard this Charge with

Horror, if the Matter of it had been true ; but

I thank God, I know my Innocency to be fo

great, that it protefts me from all forts of Fear,

but that of lying under fo black a Character, as
j

may be believed by thofe that cannot hear my 1

Defence; tho' I have the Confidence to think,

that it is not truly believed in the Hearts of the

greateft Part of thofe that have been informed

againft me.

I muft needs confefs, that I thought my felf the

laft Man in this Kingdom that fhould ever have

been in Danger of being accufed for Treafbn, be-

caufe I know no Man that abhors it more, and

that would purfue it more vigoroufly than my felf,

againft any that fhould be guilty of it. Nay,
to fuch a Degree is my Deteftation of that

Crime, that were I fure the deareft Child I have

were guilty of it, I would willingly be his Exe-

cutioner.

My Lords, I know this is not the Time for

me to enter regularly upon my Defence, becaufe

I know your Lordfhips will firft order me a Co-

py of my Charge, and appoint me a Time for

my Vindication ; when I doubt not but to do it

to the full Satisfaction of your Lordfhips and all

the World. In the mean time I will only beg

leave to obferve to your Lordfhips, That thofe

Articles in this Charge which can feem to have

any thing of Treafon in them, have their An-
fwer fo obvious, that there is very little in them

which may not be anfwered by many others as

Well as my felf, and fome of them by every Man
in the Kingdom.
The firft, which is the affuming Regal Power,

I confefs I do not underftand ; having never in

my Life done any thing of great Moment, either

at Home, or relating to foreign Matters, for

which I have not always had his Majefty's Com-

mand. And altho' I am far from having been

the moft cautious Man in taking care of my own

Security, (which perhaps my great Innocence

hath been the Caufe of) yet 1 have not beer

fo wanting of common Prudence, as in the moil

material Things not to have had his Majefty':

Orders and Directions under his own Hand, anci

particulary for the Letters now made ufe of a-

gainft me.

The fecond, I think, doth fcarce need my giv-

ing any Anfwer to it ; it being obvious, that th<

Army was no more raifed by me, than by ever)

Lord in this Houfe : And whoever is in thai

Station which I hold, muft certainly be a Fool

to defire any thing which creates a want of Mo
ney, efpecially fo great a one, as the Charge

j

an Army muft neceflarily and immediately pro

duce. And for one Part of the Article concern

.

ing thePay-mafter of the Army, it is in Fact

therwife ; for Security from the Pay-mafter ha

been taken in the Sum of four hundred thoufant

Pounds.

Th
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The third is of the fame Nature with the firft,

and comes from the fame Foundation, which is,

what a Gentleman hath thought fit to produce

to the Houfe of Commons. I will not now cen-

fure his Action, I think it will do enough for it

felf; I will only fay, That altho' I take it for

one of the greateft Misfortunes which can befal

a Man, to lie under fuch a Charge of the Houfe

of Commons, yet I would much fooner chufe to

be under that Unhappinefs, than under his Cir-

cumftances.

The fourth Article is not only falfe in every

Part of it, but it is not poffible to believe it true,

Without my being the greateft Fool on Earth,

as well as the blacked Villain. For were I ca-

pable of fuch a Wickednefs, yet the more wick-

ed any Man is, the more he is carried to his own

Intereft ; and is it poffible any thing under Hea-

ven can agree lefs with my Intereft, than the

Deftruclion of this King ? Can I poffibly hope to

be better than I am ? And is it not apparent, that

there is not one Man living, whofe Happinefs de-

pends fo much as mine upon the Prefervation of

his Perfon ?

My Lords, I know there is not a Man in the

World, that can in his Heart think me guilty

of that Part of the Article, if I fhould fay no-

thing to it. But befides, I was fo far from con-

cealing this hellifh Plot, that it is notorioufiy

known, his Majefty fent me the firft Notice of

it, together with forty-three Heads of the In-

formation, before I knew a Syllable of it from

any Body elfe: And it hath been own'd at. the

Bar of the Houfe of Commons by him (from

whom only I had the Intelligence) that he had

all the Encouragement and Difpatch from me
that I could give him. Befides, when it was

difclofed to the Council-board, he told fome of

the Clerks of the Council, (as he had done me
divers times before) that it would have been

much better, and more would have been difco-

ver'd, if it had been longer kept private. Befides

this, I had the Fortune to be particularly inftru-

mental in feizing Mr. Coleman* s, Papers, without

which Care there had not one of them appear'd,

and confequently, the beft and moil material Evi-

dence which is yet of the Plot, had been wholly

wanting. And certainly this, is the firft Time that

any Man was accufed to be the Concealer of that

Plot, whereof he hath been a principal Means of

procuring the Difcovery.

For that Part of the Article that lays, I am
Popifhly affected, I thank God, that the con-

trary is fo known to all the World, that even

fome of thofe that voted againft me, did own
their Knowledge of the Falfity of that Allega-

tion; and I hope I have through my whole Life

given fo good Teftimony of my Religion, both

in my own Family, and by my Services to the

Church, (whenever it hath lain in my Power)
that I fhall not need much Vindication in that

Particular : And I hope your Lordlhips will for-

give me my Weaknefs, in telling you, that I have
a younger Son in the Houfe of Commons, whom
I lhall love the better as long as I live, for moving
to have that Part of the Article to ftand againft

me, that by that Pattern it might appear, with
what fort of Zeal the whole hath been carried to

my Prejudice.

The fifth Article will, upon Examination, ap-
pear to be as ill-grounded as any of the reft

;

and I am forry I am able to give one Reafon,

which is, That I have known no Treafure in my
Time to wafte, having enter'd upon an empty
Treafury, and never feen one Farthing given to

his Majefty (in almoft fix Years) that hath not been
appropriated to particular Ufes, and ftrictly fo ap-
plied by me, as the Acts have directed. And
there hath not been one of thofe Aids, which, in

-

ftead of giving the King Money, hath not coft

him more out of his own Purfe, to the fame Ufes,

as doth appear by the larger Dimenfions of the new
Ships, and fo in other things : Infomuch that I

take upon me the Vanity to fay, That by the Pay-
ments I have made to the Navy and Seamen, be-

yond former Times ; the paying off the greateft

Part of the Debt which was ftop'd in the Exche-
quer before my Time; by my own Punctuality in

the Courfe of Payments, and by other Things,
which I am able to fhew, I doubt not but to appear
meritorious, inftead of being criminal, upon that

Article.

As to the fixth Article, which mentions my
great Gettings, I cannot deny, but that I ferve

a Mafter, whofe Goodnefs and Bounty hath been
a great deal more to me than I have deferved,

and to whom I can never pay Gratitude enough
by all the Services of my Life. But when the

Particulars of thofe Gettings fhall appear, it v/ill

be found very contrary to what is fuggefted a-

broad ; and that in near fix Years time in this

great Place, I have not got half that, which many
others have got in leffer Places in half that time.

And from the Examination of this, which I defire

may be feen, there will arife Matter to accufe my
Prudence, in not having done for my Family what
juftly I might, but nothing to arraign either my
Honour, my Confcience, or my faithful Service to

the Crown.

My Lords, If my Obedience to the King fhall

hot be my Crime, I think nothing elfe will ftick

upon me from thefe Articles : For my own Heart
flatters me to believe, that I have done nothing
but as a true Proteftant, and a faithful Servant
both to my King and Country. Nay, I am as

confident, as that now I fpeak, that had I either

been a Papift, or Friend to the French, I had
not been now accufed. For I have Reafon to

believe, that the principal Informer of the Houfe
of Commons hath been affifted by French Advice
to this Accufation; and if the m . , „,
~ r^ , , . j,

* Mr. Mountavue.
* Gentleman were as juft to pro-

duce all he knows for me, as he hath been ma-
licious to fhew what may be liable to Mifcon-

ftruction againft me, or rather againft the King,

(as indeed it is) no Man could vindicate me more
than himfelf : Under whofe Hand I have it to

fhew, how great an Enemy to France I am
thought, how much I might have had to have

been otherwife, and what he himfelf might have

had for getting me to take it. But I do not

wonder this Gentleman will do me no Right,

when he does not think fit to do it to his Ma-
jefty (upon whom chiefly this Matter muft re-

flect.) Although he knows, as will appear un-

der his Hand, that the greateft Invitations to his

Majefty, for having Money from France, have

been made by himfelf ; that if his Majefty would
have been tempted for Money, he might have

fold Towns for as much as if they had been his

own, and the Money have been convey'd as pri-

vately as he pleafed : That his Majefty might

have made Matches with France, if he would

have confented to give them Towns j and yet,

that
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that the King hath always fcorn'd to yield the

meaneft Village that was not agreed to by [the

Spaniard and Hollander. That Gentleman hath

often pretended how much his own Intereft in

France was diminifh'd, only by being thought

my Friend. And befides divers other Instances,

I have under his Hand, to fhew the Malice of

the French Court againft me, I fent two of his

Letters to the Houie of Commons, which fhew

how Monfieur Ruvigny was fent hither on pur-

pofe to ruin me; which I am well allured at this

Time they would rather fee, than of any one

Man in England. Befides what that Gentleman

could fay of this kind (if he pleas'd) I hope his

Majefty will give me leave (in my Defence) to

lay in his Prefence, and in the Hearing of divers

Lords, with whom I have the Honour to fit in

the Committee of Foreign Affairs, that, which

were it not true, his Majefty muft think me the im-

pudenteft and worft of Men to affirm before him,

That ever fince I had the Honour to ferve his

Majefty to this Day, I have deliver'd it as my
conftant Opinion, That France was the worft

Intereft his Majefty could embrace, and that they

were the Nation in the World from whom I

did believe he ought to apprehend the greateft

Danger ; and who have both his Perfon and Go-

vernment under the laft Degree of Contempt:

For which Reafon alone (were there no other) I

would never advife his Majefty to truft to their

Friendfhip.

My Lords, 'tis my greateft Happinefs, that

your Lordfhips are my Judges; whofe Wifdom
and Juftice are fo great, that you will both dii-

cern the Truth of the Evidence when it fhall

come before you, and in the mean time diftin-

guifh truly what the Crimes are (if they could

be proved) and not what they are call'd. For
this Reafon this Houfe hath wifely provided to

have the fpecial Matter before them, to the end

they may be fatisfied whether the Charge have

its right Denomination; for otherwife it were to

no purpofe to defire fpecial Matter, unlefs it

were to fee whether the fpecial Matter alledg'd

be what it is call'd. As for Example, if a Man
were accufed of having traiteroufly pafs'd the

River in a Pair of Oars, this is fpecial Matter,

and ftyled Treafon, by inferting the Word trai-

teroufly; yet your Lordfhips would not there-

fore proceed as taking it for Treafon. So in this

Cafe, I beg for all your Lordfhips Sakes, as well

as my own, that you will pleafe to ufe that Cau-

tion which will be neceffary for all your Lord-
fhips Safety and Seats in this Houfe : For I be-

feech your Lordfhips to confider, whither fuch

a Precedent may go hereafter ? What the Houfe
of Commons may do in fuch a Cafe, there is no
Queftion but his Majefty may do the fame by
his Attorney ; and what either of them may do
againft one Lord, they may do againft more

;

(and we have feen it done in our Days againft

all the Bifhops at once.) Were it not very pre-

carioufly then that your Lordfhips hold your

Seats here, when by either of thefe Ways as ma-
ny of your Lordfhips, as for a Time it might be
convenient to remove, fhould be at the Mercy
of having a Thing call'd Treafon, whether it be

fo or no.

Truly, my Lords, I have Reafon to believe,

that in the Houfe of Commons the Matter of

my Charge (if proved) was not thought to a-

mount to Treafon, either by Statute or Common

Law ; and I hope your Lordfhips have too fad an

Example in your Memory, ever to affift the mak-
ing of Treafon by Accumulation.

I fhould therefore not only wrong my own In-

nocence, but the Right of the Peers, to fubmit to

anfwer Matters of Mifdemeanor, as a Criminal in

Treafon.

My Lords, I wonder not at the malicious Pro-

fecution of thofe who would have me taken for

what they truly are. For I am well afiur'd, that

neither the French take me to be of their Intereft,

nor the Papifts to be of their Religion : But I am
troubled to fall under fo fevere a Cenfure of the

Houfe of Commons, altho' I cannot blame them,

but my Accufers, who have fo wrongfully inform'd

them.

My Lords, I will conclude with this Comfort,
That I do not in the leaft apprehend the Matter of
my Charge, under the Security of your Lordfhips

Juftice ; and will therefore trouble your Lordfhips

no longer at this Time, but only to pray your Di-
rections whether I am to withdraw, which I fhall

readily obey.

Upon this there was a great Debate, whether he
fhould be committed ; but the Majority were a-

gainft committing him.

All further Proceedings were prevented by the

Prorogation of the Parliament, December 30.

However, the King difmifs'd him from his Poft

of Lord Treafurer. This Parliament was after-

wards diffolv'd January 24, and a new one met on
March 15.

On March the 20th, the Houfe of Commons re-

fumed the Affair relating to the Earl of Danby's Im-
peachment, when, among others, Mr. Powle de-

liver'd himfelf as follows.

Mr. Speaker,

I
Should have been pleafed to have heard, what
was needful to have been fpoken unto, from

fome other Member of this Houfe, rather than

myfelf ; it is concerning the Earl of Danby, who
ftands impeached by the Commons of England of

High-Treafon.

The Perfon, to whom we owe the Dangers and

Fears of the French King againft us.

The Perfon, to whom we owe the Threats and

fevere Anfwers to thofe humble Addreffes we made
the laft Seffions of Parliament.

The Perfon, to whom we owe the Ruins of

this Nation, and exhaufting the King's Reve-

nue.

The Perfon, to whom we owe the Expence

of 200000/. and upwards, within a Year, unac-

counted for.

The Perfon, to whom we owe the many Pro-

rogations that happen'd in the laft Parliament,

when many profitable Bills were ready for pat-

ftng.

The Perfon, to whom we owe the Raifing of 3

Standing Army, to be kept up by the Receipt of

fix Millions of Livres yearly, for three Years to-

gether, to enflave us and our Religion.

The Perfon, to whom we owe the late Bone

that was thrown in the Sitting of the laft

Parliament, to hinder the good Iflue that might

have come by their Proceedings; who is now
laying down his Staff, and making up his Ac-

'

compts in the Treafury as he pleafeth, to enrich

himfelf out of the Spoils of the People, and fo

depart.

My
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My humble Motion is, That a Meffage be fent

immediately to the Lords from the Commons of

England, to defire their Lordfhips, That Thomas

Earl of Danby be immediately committed to fafe

Cuftody, he being impeach'd by the Commons of

England of High-Treafon.

Upon the Debate the Houfe came to this Re-

folution.

Refolved, Nemine Contradicente, ' That a Met
* fage be fent to the Lords, to put them in

« mind of the Impeachment of High-Treafon, ex-

* hibited again ft Thomas Earl of Danby, in the

* Names of the Commons of England; and to de-

* fire that he may be committed to fafe Cuftody :

' Refolving again, That it be referred to the Com-
4 mittee of Secrecy to draw up further Articles

* againft him.

On Saturday, March 22, the Commons being

commanded to attend his Majefty in the Houfe

of Peers, the King fpoke to them in Favour of

the Earl of Danby : But returning to their

Houfe, they Refolved, ' That a Meffage be im-

' mediately fent to the Lords to remind their

* Lordfhips of the lait Meffage fent them from
« this Houfe, relating to Thomas Earl of Danby,
« and to demand that he might be forthwith fe-

' queftered from Parliament, and committed to

* fafe Cuftody.' Upon which the Lords de-

fired a prefent Conference with the Commons,
where the Duke of Monmouth fpake thus •, / am
commanded by the Lords to acquaintyou, That their

Lordjhips having taken into Confideration Matters

relating to the Earl of Danby, together with what

his Majefty was pleafed to fay upon that Subjecl

;

have ordered that a Bill be brought in, by which

Thomas Earl of Danby may be made for ever in-

capable of coming to his Majefty's Prefence, and of

all Offices and Employments, and of receiving, any

Grants or Gifts from the Crown, and of fitting in

the Houfe of Peers. In the mean time, the Com-
mons hearing that the King had figned a Pardon

for the Earl, they appointed a Committee to re-

pair to the Lord Chancellor, to enquire into the

Manner of fuing forth that Pardon. The
Lord Chancellor did inform the Committee,
' That the Pardon was paffed with all Privacy,

' the King commanding him to bring the Seal

* to Whitehall; and being there, he laid it upon

\ the Table; whereupon his Majefty command-
* ed the Seal to be taken out of the Bag, which
' his Lordfhip was obliged to fubmit unto, it

' not being in his Power to hinder it ; and the

* King writ his Name upon the Top of the
* Parchment, and then directed to have it fealed

;

' whereupon the Perfon that ufually carried the

* Purie affixed the Seal to it.' Upon this Re-
port from his Lordfhip, the Commons Refolved,

* That an humble Addrefs be made to his Majefty,
* toreprefent the Irregularity and Illegality of the
' Pardon mention 'd by his Majefty to be granted
* to the Earl of Danby, and the dangerous Confe-
* quence of granting Pardons to any Perfons that
* lie under an Impeachment of the Commons of
* England.' The fame Day the Earl thought fit

to withdraw himfelf.

On Tuefday, March 25, the Lords fent a Mef-
fage, by Baron Littleton and Baron Thurland, to

acquaint the Houfe of Commons, That /hey had
fent to apprehend Thomas Earl of Danby, both to

his Houfe here in Town, and to his Houfe at Wim-
bleton •, and that the GmMmad-Ujher of the Black-

Rod returned their Lordfhips Anfwer, That he could

not be found. Whereupon the Commons order-

edy * That a Bill be brought in to fummon Tho-
* mas Earl of Danby to render himfelf to Juftice
4 by a certain Day therein limited, or in default

* thereof to attaint him.' On Thurfday, March
27, the Lords fent down a Bill, entitled, An
Atl for banifhing and difabling Thomas Earl of
Danby, &c. which the Commons immediately

took into Confideration ; upon which Occafion

Sir Francis Winnington (who had been lately remov'd

from being Solicitor-General) made the following

Speech.

Mr. Speaker,

TH E King cannot pardon Treafon againft

the Government, for then the Government
cannot be free from evil Counfellors. Could a
King have done it, would not Belknap, Treji-

lian *, and the two Spencers have been

pardon'd ? A King ought to be the
/- *'

Sanctuary of his People from the Oppreffion of
evil Minifters, but not the Refuge of the Ene-
mies of the Government, and the Protector of
fuch Arch-Traitors as Danby. If Danby be par-

don'd, then the Popifh Lords in the Tower may
be, and the Jefuits in Newgate likewife.

Is this the way to fecure the Laws, and the

Proteftant Religion ? The King hath a Limited
Power, or elfe it is not Legal ; his Limitation

then is for the Good and Benefit of the People.

But is Shrouding an open and notorious Traitor,

the Minifter of the prefent Mifchief, and the

common Centre, in which all the Lines of Con-
fufion do meet ; is that, I fay, for the Good of

the People? Prerogative is to abate rigorous

Juftice, not to evade and deftroy it. If Mini-
fters may be pardon'd at the Prince's Pleafure

for all the Wrongs they do the People (tho' the

Prince be fworn to protect the People from thofe

Wrongs, and is therefore Trufted and Paid) there

is no Security, and our pretended Freedom and
Legal Government is a mere Cheat, and we are

all arrant Slaves. And I fay, he that fpeaks one
Word for Danby, fpeaks two for himfelf. Befides,

this is Treafon Impeach'd in Parliament, therefore

not pardonable but in Parliament ; this is a Nati-

onal and Catholick Treafon ; the Life, the Root of

Government is invaded : A Pardon here is fo un-

fufferable a thing, that it ought to be placed to

his Account that dares plead it, and ranked a-

mongft the reft of his evil Counfels. The Bill

fent from the Houfe of Lords is not his Punifh-

ment, but his Pardon, a Salvation by Act of Par-

liament. Who will be deterred by that Act, that

can plead fuch a Precedent to efcape unpunifhed,

and can carry away Honour and Wealth, the Re-
ward of Treafon, and the poor People's Spoils -,

and that at fuch a Time as this, circumftantiated

with Plots and Confpiracies, and he tardy too ?

If this muft be, it is good, yea, meritorious, to

invade Property, to betray the Kingdom, fell the

People, encourage Popery, fuborn Witneffes,

and ftrangle and murder the Difcoverers of the

Plot.

Remember how you us'd to proceed ; make
him an Example for the reft ; if he muft live,

let him furvive his Glory •, at leaft degrade him
and fequefter him ; that is, reduce him to as

fmall a thing as Sir Thomas Osborn, and as lean

and indigent ; leave him nothing he has got by

his monftrous Actions againft the Kingdom. I

am
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am bold to fay, That thofe Lords "and Commons
that agree not in this, would do the fame thing,

to end in the fame Security.

It is a Licence to cheat the King for Five

Years; if this muft be, pray let there be a

Claufe in this Bill to pardon all Villanies and

Treafon againft, the Government whatfoever, and

for Poor as well as Rich. Let not the great

Rogues only efcape and go unpuniih'd. Was
Green, Berry, and Hill, hang'd for killing Sir

Edmund-Bury Godfrey ? and muft he efcape, that

fo vehemently difcourag'd and bitterly menaced

him ? What Reafon was there that Groves and

Ireland mould die for being in the Plot, while

he is rewarded that concealed and would have

ftifled it, and afterwards have father'd it upon

others ?

To conclude, If after all this Difcovery made

and proceeded in by us, this Point fhall be de-

livered up, they will not however efcape un-

punifhed, but God will bring Deliverance ano-

ther way.

The Refult was, that the Houfe came to this

Refolution ;

• Refoked, That the Bill be rejected.'

On April i, the Commons pafs'd a Bill for the

Attainder of Thomas Earl of Danby of High-Trea-

fon, unlefs he fhould furrender himfelf within a

Time fixt, which was fent up to the Lords by Sir

Robert Peyton.

On April 4, there was a Conference between

the two Houfes relating to the Bill of Attain-

der, where the Lord Privy- Seal managed the

Conference for their Lordfhips, and deliver'd him-

felf to this effect, * That the Lords chofe to deli-

* ver back by Conference, rather than Meffage,
' to preferve a good Understanding, and to pre-

* vent Debate or Controverfy between them: The
' Lords obferve, That the great Affairs of this

4 Nation are at a ftand, at a time of greateft

? Danger and Difficulty that this Kingdom ever
* laboured under : That the King hath always in
1

his Reign inclined to Mercy and Clemency to

' all his Subjects : Therefore to a King fo merci-
' ful and companionate, the firft Interruption of
I his Clemency they did defire fhould not proceed
* from the two Houfes, prefling the King to an
' Act of the greateft Seventy ; therefore have pat

f fed the Bill, with fome Amendments, which he
* deliver'd.' The Commons difagreed to the A-
mendments made by the Lords, and drew up Rea-

fons to be offered in another Conference, implying,

That their Lordfhips Amendments had wholly al-

tered the Nature of their Bill, and from a Bill of

Attainder had converted it into a Bill of Banifh-

ment: And at the fame time ' Refolved, That an
* humble Addrefs be made to his Majefty, to de-
4 fire his Majefty to iffue out his Royal Proclama-
* tion for the apprehending Thomas Earl of Danby ;

' with the ufual Penalties upon fuch as fhall con-
* ceal him: And that his Majefty will be fur-

' ther pleafed to give Order to the Officers of

? his Majefty's Houfhold, That they take care

* that the faid Earl of Danby be not permitted
' to refide within either of his Majefty's Palaces

* of White-Hall, Somerfet-Houfe, and St. James.
* And it is referred to Mr. Powle, &c. to prc-

* pare and draw up the fame, and prefent it to

' the Houfe to Morrow Morning,' which was
done accordingly the next Day, and prefented to

the King.

The fame Day the Commons had another

Conference with the Lords upon the Earl of

Danby*sCdSe, where the Lord Huntington mana-
ged the Conference, and what he delivered was

to this effect ; * The Lords have defired this

Conference with the Commons, not fo much
to argue and difpute, as to mitigate and recon-

cile : They have already obferved, that the

Debate of this Bill hath given fo long and fo

great an Obftruction to publick Bufinefs, and
therefore they defire you to believe, that that

is the Reafon which hath chiefly prevailed with

their Lordfhips in a Matter of this Nature;
and upon this Ground it is, that if a Way may
be found to fatisfy and fecure the publick Fears,

by growing lefs than the Bill you have propo-

fed, the Lords do not think it advifeable to in-

fift upon the utmoft and moft rigorous Satisfac-

tion, to prevent Juftice, which might be de-

nied. To induce you to this Compliance, the'

Lords do acknowledge, that Banifhment is fo

far from being the legal Judgment in Cafe of
High-Treafon, that it is not the legal Judg-
ment in any Cafe whatfoever, fince it can ne-

ver be inflicted but by the Legiflatrve Autho-

rity : But they fee no Reafon why the Legifla-

tive Authority fhould always be found to act to

the utmoft Extent of its Power ; for there may
be a prudential Neceffity fometimes of making
Abatements, and it might be of fatal Confe-

quence if it fhould not be fb. And the Lords,

to remove all Jealoufies of the Precedents of

this kind, do declare, That nothing which

hath been done in the Earl of Danby's Cafe

fhall be ever drawn into Example for the time

to come, and will fo enter it upon their Jour-

nal. And thereupon their Lordfhips infift up-

on their Amendments fo far, as to exclude all

Attainders; and do promife themfelves the

Commons will in this Point comply with

their Lordfhips, who do again affure them,

That their Refolutions are grounded only upon

their Tendernefs and Confideration of the Pub-

lick.' There was another Conference on this

Subject-Matter, April i 2 ; upon which the Com-
mons again refolved to adhere to their Bill, and

to difagree to the Amendments made by the

Lords : Upon which the Bill of Attainder did

at laft pafs both Houfes. Upon this the Earl of

Danby furrendred himfelf, and Sir Edward Car-

teret, Ufher of the BJack-Rod, on April 16,

gave the Houfe of Lords an Account that the

Earl of Danby had the laft Night render'd him-

felf to him, and was in his Cuftody. ' Their
* Lordfhips ordered him to be brought to their

' Bar, where kneeling, and then (landing up, the
1 Lord Chancellor let him know, that he flood

\ impeached by the Commons, and that, upon
' his withdrawing himfelf, a Bill of Attainder

' had paffed the two Houfes ; by which, howe-
1 ver, he had Time given him to come in, and
' make his Defence. The Earl of Danby ex-

' cufed his not appearing fboner, declared his In-

c nocency, and made feveral Petitions to the

' Houfe, and then was ordered to withdraw.

' And being called in, and brought to the Bar

' again, the Lord Chancellor acquainted him,

' that their Lordfhips would allow him Time to

' give in his Anfwer to the Articles of his Im-
* peachment, till the firft Day of the Sitting of
* the Houfe after Eafter ; That if any further

' Charge be put in againft him, he fhall have
' further
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further Time to anfwer; That he (hall have
*
Counfel affigned him, and fhall have Liberty to

* make ufe of Records, and that his Witneffes

*
fhall be fummoned.—Upon which he withdrew,

and by Order of the Houie was committed to the

Tower.

On April 25, the Earl was brought from the

tower to the Bar of the Lords Houfe, where he

delivered in Writing his Plea to the Articles of his

Impeachment, which was as follows.

The Plea of the Earl of Dan by,

late Lord High-Treafurer of Eng-

land, to the Articles of Im-

peachment, and other High

Crimes and Mifdemea?iours, and

Offences, exhibited againfl him by

the Name of T h o m a s Earl of

Danby, Lord High -Treafurer

of England.

THE faid Earl for Plea, faith, and humbly

offereth to your Lordfhips, as to all and every

the Treafons, Crimes, Mifdemeanours and Of-

I fences, contained or mentioned in the faid Arti-

cles, That after the faid Articles exhibiced, name-
', ly, the Firft of March, now lad paft, the King's

1 moft Excellent Majeily, by his molt Gracious Let-

:
ters-Patents of Pardon, under his Great Seal of

i England, bearing Date at Weftminjier the faid Firft

Day of March, in the One and Thirtieth Year of

his Majefty's Reign; and here, into this moft

High and Honourable Court, produced under the

faid Great-Seal

:

Of His fpecial Grace, certain Knowledge, and

meer Motion, hath Pardoned, Remifed and Re-

leafed to him, the faid thomas Earl of Danby, all,

and all manner of Treafons, Mifprifions of Trea-

fons, Inlurreftions, Rebellions, Felonies, Exactions,

Oppreffions, Publications of Words, Mifprifions,

Confederacies, Concealments, Negligences, Omif-

fions, Offences, Crimes, Contempts, Mifdemea-

nors and Trefpaffes whatfoever, by himfelf alone,

[
or with any other Perfon or Perfons, or by any

other, by the Command, Advice, Affent, Confent,

or Procurement of him the faid Thomas Earl of

Danby, advifed, committed, attempted, made, per-

petrated, concealed, committed, or omitted, be-

fore the 27th Day of February then and now laft

paft, being alfo after the Time of the faid Arti-

cles exhibited, altho' the faid Premifes, or any of

them did, or fhould touch or concern the Perfon of

his faid Majefty, or any of his Publick Negotia-

tions whatfoever; and alfo his Majefty's Affairs

with Foreign Ambaffadors fent to his laid Majefty,

or by not nghriy profecuting his Majefty's Induc-
tions and Commands to his Ambaffadors, rcfiding

on his Majefty's behalf in Foreign Parts.

And as to all and lingular Acceffaries to the

faid Premifes, and every of them, akho' he the

faid thomas Earl of Danby were, or were not

of the faid Premifes, or any of them, Indict-

ed, Impeached, Appealed, Accufed, Convicted,

Adjudged, Out-law'd, Condemned, or Attaint-

ed ; and all and fingular Indictments, Impeach-

ments, Inquifuions, Informations, Exigents,
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Judgments, Attainders, Out-law ties, Convicti-

ons, Pains of Death, Corporal Punifhments, Im-

prisonments, Forfeitures, Punifhments, and all

other Pains and Penalties whatfoever, for the

fame, or any of them; and all, and all manner

of Suits, Complaints, Impeachments and De-

mands whatfoever, which his faid Majefty, by

reafon of the Premifes, or any of them, then had,

or for the future fhould have, or his Heirs, or

Succeffors, any ways could have afterwards a-

gainft him the faid thomas Earl of Danby : And
alfo Suit of his Majefty's Peace, and whatfoever

to his Majefty, his Heirs, or Succeffors, againft

him the faid Earl of Danby, did, or could be -

long, by Reafon or Occafion of the Premifes,

or any of them. And his Majefty hath thereby

given and granted his firm Peace to the faid

thomas Earl of Danby. And further, his Ma-
jefty willed and granted, that the faid Letters^

Patents, and the laid Pardon and Releafe therein

contained, as to all the things therein pardoned

and releafed, fhould be good and effectual in the

Law, altho' the Treafons, Mifprifions of Trea-

fon, Infurrections, Rebellions, Felonies, Ex-

actions, Oppreffions, Publications of Words,
Mifprifions of Confederacies, Concealments, Neg-
ligences, Omiffions, Offences, Crimes, Con-

tempts, Mifdemeanors and Trefpaffes were not

certainly fpecified. And notwithftanding the

Statute in the Parliament of the Lord Richard

the Second, late King of England, in the 13 th

Year of his Reign, made and provided. And
notwithftanding the Statute in the Parliament

of the Lord Edward the Third, in the Four-

teenth Year of his Reign, made and provi-

ded, or any other Statute, Act, or Ordinance to

the contrary thereof made and provided. And
moreover, his faid now Majefty, by his faid

Letters- Patents, of his further Grace, did firmly

command all and fingular Judges, Juftices, Of-

ficers, and others whomfoever, That the faid free

and general Pardon of his faid Majefty, and the

general Words, Claufes, and Sentences above-

laid, fhould be conftrued, expounded, and ad-

judged in all his faid Majefty's Courts, and elfe-

where, in the moft beneficial, ample and benign

Senfe.

And for the better and more firm Difcharge of

the faid Earl, of and from the Crimes and Offences,

aforefaid, according to the true Intents of his Ma-
jefty, and in fuch beneficial Manner and Form to

al llntents and Purpofes whatfoever, as if the laid

Teafons, Crimes, Offences, Concealments, Neg-
ligences, Omiffions, Contempts and Trefpaffes a-

forefaid, and other the faid Premifes, by apt, ex-

prefs and fpecial Words had been remitted, relea-

fed and pardoned. And that the faid Letters-

Patents of Pardon, and the Releafe and Pardon
therein contained, fhall be pleaded and allowed in

all and every his Majefty's Courts, and before all

his Juftices whatfoever, without any Writ of Al-

lowance, any Matter, Caufe, or Thing whatfoever

in any ways notwithftanding, as by the laid Let-

ters-Patents themfelves more at large appear-

eth; which faid Letters-Patents follow in thefe

Words.

C A R O L U S Secundus, Dei Gratia Angliae,

Scotije, Francias, & Hibernian Rex, Fidei De-

fensor, &c. Omnibus ad quos -prafentes liters noftne

pervenerint, Sahrtem, Sciatis, quod Nos fro diver-

5 B Jis
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fis bonis Caujis (3 Confiderationibus nos ad hoc fpeci-

aliter movent, de Gratia noftra fpeciali, ac ex certa

fcientia (3 tnero motu noftris, Pardonavimus & Re-

laxavimus, (3c.

And the faid Earl doth averr, That he the faid

Thomas Earl of Danby, in the faid Articles named,

is the faid 'Thomas Earl of Danby in the faid Let-

ters-Patents of Pardon here produc'd, likewife

named. Which Pardon the faid Earl doth rely

upon, and pleaded the fame in Bar of the faid Im-
peachment, and in Difcharge of all the Treafons,

Crimes, Mifciemeanors and Offences contain'd, or

mention'd in the faid Articles of Impeachment,

and every of them ; and this die faid Earl is ready

to averr.

Whereupon he humbly prays the Judgments
of your Lordfhips, and that his Majefty's molt

Gracious Pardon aforefaid may be allowed : And
that he the faid Earl, by vertue hereof, may
be (from all the faid Articles of Impeachment,
and all and every of the Treafons and Crimes
therein alledg'd againft him) acquitted and dif-

charged.

A Copy of the Pardon of Thomas
Earl of Danby.

CA R O LU S Secundus, Dei Gratia Anglis,
Scoriae, Franciae, (3 Hiberniae Rex, Fidei

Defenfor, (3c. Omnibus ad quos prafentes litera

noftra, Pervenerint, Salutem. Sciatis, quod Nos
pro diver/is bonis Caujis (3 Confiderationibus Nos
ad hoc fpecialiter moventibus, de Gratia Noftra
fpeciali ac ex certa fcientia (3 mero motu noftris,

Pardonavimus, Remiff.mus (3 Relaxavimus, ac

per prafentes pro Nobis, Heredibus (3 Succejfori-

bus noftris, Pardonamus, Remiltimus (3 Relaxa-
mus pradileElo, (3 perquam fideli Confanguineo (3
Conftliario noftro Thomas Comiti Danbii, omnts

(3 omnimodas Proditiones, Crimina lafa Maje-
ftatis, Mifprifiones, Proditionum, Infurrecliones,

Verborum Propalationes, Mifprifiones, Confederatio-

ns, Concelamcnta, Negligentias, Omiffiones, Of-
fenfas, Crimina Contemptus, Malefatla (3 Tranf-
grejfiones quacunque, per fe folum feu cum aliqua

alia perfona, vel aliquibus aliis perfonis, aut per
aliquem alium, five aliquos alios, ex pracepto, ad-

vifamento, afjenfu, confenfu, feu procuratione ejuf-

dem Thomas Comitis Danbii, advifata, pracepta,

attempta, facia, perpetrata, concelata, commiffa, feu
omijja, ante 27 diem Februarii jam ultim. prate-
ritum, licet prcemiffa, vel eorum aliqua, vel ali-

quod, tangunt vel tangat perfonam vel negatiationes

Noftras Publicas quclefcunque, necnon tranfatliones

noftras cum Forenfecis Legatis ad nos miffs, vel non
rite profequendo Inftrutliones (3 Mandata Noftra
Legatis Noftris, in partibus extra marinis, ex parte

Noftra reftdent. ac etiam omnia (3 fingula acceffa-

ria pramijforum (3 cujuftibet eorum, licet idem
Thomas Comes Danbii de pramiffis vel aliqua pra-
mijforum inditlatus, impetitus, appellatus, reftatus,

convitlus, adjudicatus, utlegatus, condemnatus vel

attinftus, Exiftit vel non Exiftit, ac omnia (3 Jin-
gula Inditlamenta, Impetitiones, Inquifttiones, In-
formationes, exigenda judicia, attintla, utlegaria,

Conviflianes, Executiones, Pctnas mortis, Poenas
corporaks, Imprifonamenla, forts faBura, Punitio-

nes, (3 omnes alias Pcena, (3 Pcenalitates quafcun-

que, pro eifdem vel eorum aliquo, ac omnia (3 om-

nimoda, Settas, Querelas, Impetitiones, (3 Deman-
da quacunque, qua Nos verfus ipfum Thomam Co-

mitem Danbii, ratione pramijforum vel eorum alicu-

jus, habuimus, habemus, feu in futurum habere po-

terimus, aut Heredes, feu Succejfores Noftri, ullo

modo habere poterint, in futuro, fetlamque pacts

Noftra, ac qua ad Nos Heredes £3 SucceJJores Noftros

verfus ipfum Thomam Comitem Danbii pertinet, feu

pertinere poterit, ratione feu occafione pramifforum

feu eorum aliquorum vel alicujus, ac firmam pacem

Noftram. Et inde damus (3 concedimus per prafentes

(3 ulterius volumus, 13 concedimus, Quod ha litera

noftra, ac hac noftra Pardonatio, Remijjio, Relaxatio

in eifdem contenta, quoad omnia (3 fingula fuperius

pardonata, remijfa, (3 relaxata, bona £3 effecluales

in lege fint, (3 erint, licet Proditiones, Crimina lafa

Majeftatis, Mifprifiones Proditionum, Infurrecliones,

Rebelliones, Fellonia, Exatliones, Opprejfiones, ver-

borum Propalationes, Mifprifiones, Confederationes,

Concelamenta , Negligentia, Omiffiones, Offenfa,

Crimina Contemptus, Malefacla (3 Tranjgreffiones

anteditla, Minus certe fpecificat, exiftunt. Et non

obftante Statuto Parliament Dom. Ricardi Secundi,

nuper Regis Angliae, Anno 13 Regni fui edito (3

provifo. Et non obftante Statuto in Parliamento Dom.

Edwardi Tertii, nuper Regis Angliae, Anno Regni

fui 14 edito (3 provifo ; Aut aliquo alio Statuto, ABu
vel Ordinatione, in contrarium inde editis (3 provifis.

Et ulterius de uberiori Gratia Noftra firmiter Pra-

cipimus omnibus (3 fingulis Judicibus, Jufticiarih,

vel aliis quibufcunque, Quod hac prafens Litera (3

Generalis Pardonatio noftra (3 generalia Verba, C'au-

fula (3 Sententia fupradicla, conftruentur, exponentur

(3 adjudicentur in omnibus curiis noftris (3 alibi, in

beneficentiffimo, ampliffimo, (3 benignifftmo fenfu, &?

pro maxima (3 firmiori exoneratione pradicli Thomx
Comitis Danbii de & a criminibus (3 offenfis pr<s-

ditlis fecundum veram intentionem noftram, (3 in tarn

beneficiali modo & forma (3 ad omnes intsntionis 13

propofita, prout fi pradibla Proditiones, Crimina

lafa Majeftates, Mifprifiones, Proditionum, crimi-

na Offenfa, Mifprifiones, Concelamenta, Negligen-

tia, Omiffiones, Contemptus, (3 Tranfgreffiones pra-

ditla ac cetera pramiffa per apta exprejja, (3

fpecialia verba Pardonata, Remiffa, 13 Relaxata

fuiffent. Et quod ha Litera Patentes, Remiffto,

Relaxatio, (3 Pardonatio, omnia in eifdetn contenta,

in quibufcunque curiis & coram quibufcunq; Jufii-

ciariis noftris, placitentur 13 allocenter, fine aliquo

Breve de allocatione, aliqua re, caufa vel materia

quacunq; in aliquo non obftante. In cujus rei Tefti-

monium has literas noftras fieri fecimus Patentes.

Tefte meipfo apud Weftmonafterium 1 die Martii,

Anno Regni noftri 3 1

.

CHARLES.,

CHARLES the Second, by the Grace of

God of England, Scotland, France and Ireland,

King, Defender of the Faith, (3c. To all to

whom thefe our Letters- Patents mail come,

fendeth Greeting. Know ye, that we for di-

vers good Caufes and Confederations, Us here-

unto efpecially moving, have out of our fpecial

Favour, certain Knowledge and meer Motion

of our own, pardoned, remitted and releafed,

and by thefe Prefents for Us, our Heirs and

SuccefTbrs, do pardon, remit and releafe to

our Well-beloved and Right Trufty Coufin and

Counsellor, Thomas Earl of Danby, all, and all

manner

'
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manner of Treafons, as well High-Treafon, as

Mifprifions of Treafon, Infurreftions, Reveal-

in» of Councils, Mifprifions, Confederations,

Concealments, Neglefts, Omiflions, Offences,

Crimes, Contempts, Mifdeeds and Tranfgref-

fions whatfoever, by himfelf alone, or with

any other Perfon, or Perfons, or by any other,

or others, by the Command, Advice, AfTent,

Confent, or Procurement of the faid Thomas

Earl of Banby, advifed, commanded, attempted,

done, performed, concealed, committed, or

omitted, before the 27th Day of February, now

lad pad". Although the Premifes, or any of

them, touch, or may touch Our Perfon, or our

publick Negotiations whatfoever, or our Tranf-

aftions with Foreign Ambaffadors unto Us fent,

or for not right following our Inftruftions and

Mandates to our own Ambaffadors refident on

Our Behalf in Foreign Parts beyond the Seas;

And alfo all and fingular Acceffaries to the Pre-

mifes, or any of them, altho' the faid Thomas

Earl of Banby be indifted, impeached, appealed,

arrefted, convift, adjudged, or as Ambaffador

condemned, or be, or be not attainted of the

Premifes, or any of them •, and all and every In-

dictments, Impeachments, Inquifitions, Infor-

mations, Judgments to be required, Attainders,

Outlawries, Convictions, Penalties of Death,

Corporal Punifhments, Imprifonments, Forfei-

tures, Sufferings, together with all other Pains

and Penalties whatfoever, for the fame, or any

of them, and all, and all manner of Suits, Com-
plaints, Impeachments and Demands whatfoever,

which We, againft the faid Thomas Earl of Ban-

by, by reafon of the Premifes, or any of them,

have had, now have, or hereafter may have, or

which our Pleirs or Succeffors in any manner

may have hereafter, together with any Suit for

Ereach of our Peace, which to Us, our Heirs,

or Succeffors, againft the faid Thomas Earl of

Banby doth, or may belong, by Reafon or Oc-

cafion of the Premifes, of iome, or any of them

;

We do for ever indemnify him. Moreover we
give and grant by thefe Prefents, and it is our

further Will and Pleafure, that thefe our Let-

ters, and this our Pardon, RemifTion and Re-
leafe therein contained, as to all and fingular the

things above pardoned, remitted and releafed, be

and fhall be good and effectual in Law, altho'

the Treafons, High-Treafons, Mifprifions of

Treafons, Infurreclions, Rebellions, Felonies,

Extortions, Oppreflions, Betraying of Councils,

Confederacies, Concealments, Negligencies, O-
miffions, Offences, Crimes, Contempts, Mifde-

meanours and TranfgrefTions aforefaid, be not

fully fpecified. And notwithftanding the Sta-

tute of Richard the Second, late of England King,
in the 13th Year of his Reign made and provi-

ded. And notwithftanding the Statute by the

I

Parliament of Edward the Third, late King of
1

England, in the 14th Year of his Reign made
and provided, or any other Statute, Aft, or Or-
dinance to the contrary heretofore publifh'd and
provided. And moreover of our abundant Grace,
We do ftriftly command all Judges, Juftices, or
others whatfoever, that this prefent Letter, with
our General Pardon, and General Words, Clau-
fes, and Sentences abovefaid, fhall be conftrued,

expounded and adjudged in all our Courts, and
elfewhere, in the moft beneficial, moft ample,
and moft favourable Senfe, and for the greater!:

and firmeft Difcharge of the aforefaid Thomas
Vol. II.
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Earl of Banby, of and from the Crimes and Of-
fences aforefaid, according to our true Inten-

tion, and in fo beneficial a Manner and Form,
and to all Intents and Purpofes, fo as if the faid

Treafons, High-Treafons, Mifprifions of Trea-
fon, Crimes, Offences, Orniffions, Contempts,
Concealments, Negligence and Tranfgreffion a-

forefaid, and other the Premifes^ had been by
apt, exprefs and fpecial Words, pardon'd, remit-

ted and releas'd. And that thefe Letters-Pa-

tents, Remiflion, Releafe and Pardon, with all

things therein contain'd, in whatfoever Courts,

and before whatfoever Our Juftices, fhall be
pleaded and allowed, without any Writ of Al-
lowance, any Thing, Caufe, or Matter what-
foever in any wife notwithftanding. In Wit-
nefs whereof We have caufed thefe Our Letters-

Patents to be made. Witnefs Myfelf, at Weftmin-

fter, the Firft Day of March, in the 31ft Year of
Our Reign.

When the Plea and Pardon were read, the

Earl withdrew, and was carried back to the

Tower.

On April the 25th a Meffage was brought from
the Lords, ' That Thomas Earl of Danby had
' this Day appeared in Perfon at the Bar of the
' Houfe of Lords, and had put in his Plea, which
' the Lords have fent down, defiring it may be
' returned with all convenient Speed.' Hereupon
the Houfe of Commons appointed a Commitee
to examine and perufe the Plea of the Earl of
Banby.

On April the 28th, the Committee made this

Report, ' 1. We find no Precedent that ever

any Pardon was granted to any Perfon Impeach-
ed by the Commons of High-Treafon, or other

High Crimes, the Impeachment depending.

2. As to the Manner of the parting the Earl of

Banby's Pardon, it hath been formerly reported

to the Houfe, and the Committee refer them-
felves to that Report. 3. That by what Means
it was obtained, the Time allowed the Commit-
tee hath been fo fhort, that we cannot as yet

difcover the Advifers or Promoters thereof, any
farther than what is mentioned in the faid Re-
port relating to the Lord Chancellor. Refolv-

ed, That a Meffage be fent to the Lords, to

defire their Lordfhips to demand of the Earl

of Banby, Whether he will rely upon, and abide

by the Plea of his Pardon ? ' Accordingly the

next Day the Earl was again brought to the

Bar of the Lords Houfe, where kneeling, and
then ftanding up, the Lord Chancellor acquaint-

ed him, That the Commons had returned to their

Lordfhips the Plea delivered by him at the Bar

of their Houfe on the 25th Inftant, with a De-
fire that their Lordfhips would ask him, Whe-
ther he will rely upon, and abide by his faid Plea ?

The Earl praying Time to anfwer, their Lord-
fhips allow'd him 'till Saturday next, and then he
withdrew, and was conducted back to the Tower.

He afterwards returned Anfwer, That he relied

on his Pardon. To which Plea the Commons
put in a Replication; and on May the Fifth Re-
folved, ' That it was the Opinion of that Houfe,
1 That the Pardon pleaded by the Earl of Ban-
' by was illegal and void, and ought not to be
' allow'd in Bar of an Impeachment.' Where-
upon the Speaker with the Houfe went up to

the Lords Bar, and demanded Judgment againft

the Earl.

5 B 2 After
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After this, the Commons underftanding that

the Lords would admit the Earl of Danby to

have the Validity of his Pardon pleaded at their

Bar, they Refolved, ' That no Commoner what-
' foever mould prefume to maintain the Validity

* of the Pardon pleaded by the Earl of Danby,
* without the Leave of this Houfe firfl had ; and
* that the Perfons fo doing fhould be accounted

* Betrayers of the Liberties of the Commons of
' England.

Afterwards a Difference arifing between the two

Houfes, about the Bilhops Right of Voting in any

Part (tho' preliminary) of a Trial for Treafon, the

Commons refus'd to proceed in the Affair ; the

Narrative and Reafons whereof they deliver'd to

the Lords at a Conference on Monday, May 26,

which were as follow.

The Commons have always defir'd, that a good
Correfpondence may be preierv'd between the two
Houfes.

There is now depending between your Lord-

fhips and the Commons a Matter of the greateft

Weight ; in the Tranfactions of which, your Lord-

fhips feem to apprehend fomc Difficulty, in the

Matters propofed by the Commons.
To clear this, the Commons have defir'd this

Conference; and do readily acknowledge, That

any Change in Judicature in Parliament, made
without Confcnt in full Parliament, to be of

pernicious Confequence, both to his Majefty and

his Subjects; and conceive themielves oblig'd to

tranfmit to their Pofterity, all the Rights which

of this kind they have received from their An-
ceftors, by putting your Lordfhips in mind of

the Progrefs that has already been between the

two Houfes, in relation to Propofitions made by
the Commons, and the Reaibflablenefs of the

Propofitions themielves; they doubt not to make
it appear, that their Aim has been no other,

than to avoid fuch Confequences, and preferve

that Right ; and that there is no Delay of Juftice

on their Part. And to that End, do offer to

your Lordfhips the enfuing Reafons and Narra-

tive: That the Commons in bringing the Earl of

Danby to Juftice, and in Difcovery of that exe-

crable and traiterous Confpiracy, have labour'd

under many great Difficulties, is not unknown to

your Lordfhips.

Nor is it lefs known to your Lordfhips, that

upon the Impeachment of the Houfe of Com-
mons againft the Earl of Danby for High-Trea-

fon, and other high Crimes, Mifdemeanours and

Offences, even the common Juftice of Seque-

ftnng him from Parliament, and forthwith com-
mitting him to fafe Cuftody, was then requir'd

by the Commons, and denied by the Houfe of

Peers, though he then fat in dieir Houfe; of

which your Lordfhips have been fo fcnfible, that

at a free Conference the 10th of April laft, your

Lordfhips declared, That it was the Right of

the Commons, and well warranted by Precedents

of former Ages, That upon an Impeachment of

the Commons, a Peer fo impeach'd ought of

right to be order'd to withdraw, and then to be

committed. And had not that Juftice been de-

nied to the Commons, a great Part of this Sef-

fion of Parliament, which hath been fpent in

framing and adjufting a Bill, for caufing the Earl

of Danby to appear, and to anfwer that Juftice

from which he was fled, had been faved, and

had been employed for the Prefervation of his

Majefty 's Perfon, and the Security of the Nation ;

neither had he had the Opportunity of procuring
for himfelf that illegal Pardon, which bears Date
the Firft of March laft paft, and which he hath
now pleaded in Bar of his Impeachment : Nor of
wafting fo great a Proportion of the Treafure of
the Kingdom, as he hath done fince the Commons
exhibited their Articles of Impeachment againft
him.

After which Time thus loft, by reafon of the
Denial of that Juftice, which of Right belong'd
to the Commons upon their Impeachment, thefaid
Bill being ready for the Royal Allen t, the faid Earl
then rendred himfelf; and by your Lordfhips Or-
der of the Sixteenth of April hii, was committed
to the Tower. After which he pleads the faid

Pardon; and being prefs'd, did at length declare,

He would rely upon, and abide by that Plea;
which Pardon pleaded, being illegal and void,!

ought not to bar or preclude the Commons from!
having Juftice upon the Impeachment; They did-

thereupon, with their Speaker, on the Fifth of

May Inftant, in the Name of themfelves and all

the Commons of England, demand Judgment !

againft the faid Earl, upon their Impeachment;
not doubting, but that your Lordfhips did intend
in all your Proceedings upon the Impeachment
to follow the ufual Courie and Method of Parlia-

ment.

But the Commons were not a little furpriz'd by
the MefTage from your Lordfhips, deliver'd them
on the Seventh of May ; thereby acquainting them,
That as well the Lords Spiritual as Temporal had

order'd, That the Tenth of May Inftant fhould be

the Day for hearing the Earl of Danby, to make
good his Plea of Pardon. And that your Lord-
fhips had addrefTed to his Majefty for naming of a

Lord High Steward in the Cafe of the Earl oi

Danby.

Upon Confideration of this Meffage, the Com-
mons found, that the admitting of the Lords Spi-

ritual to exercife Junfdiction in thefe Cafes, was ar

Alteration of the Judicature in Parliament •, anc

that if a Lord High Steward fhould be neceffarj

upon Trial on Impeaciiments of the Commons
the Power of Judicature in Parliament, upon Im-

peachments, might be defeated, by fufpending 0:

denying a Commiffion to conftitute a Lord Higl
Steward.

And that the faid Day of Trial appointed b
your Lordfhips, was fb near to the Tme of you

laid MefTage, that thele Matters, and the \ e

thod of proceeding upon the Trial, could not b

adjufted by Conference betwixt the two Houles

before the Day lb nominated. And confequenti

ly, the Commons could not then proceed ti

Trial, unlels the Zeal which they have for lpec

dy Judgment againft the Earl of Danby fhod<

induce them at this Juncture, both to admit th

Enlargement of your Lordfhips Jurifdiction, an<

to fit down under thefe or any Hardfhips, thoug

with the Hazard of all the Commons Power c

Impeaching for time to come, rather than th,

Trial fhou'd be deferr'd for fome fhort time

whilft thefe Matters might be agreed on and fe;

tied.

For reconciling Differences in this great an

weighty Matter, and for faving that Tirrn

which would neceffanly have been fpent in D<

bates and Conferences betwixt the two Houfe

an-
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and for expediting the Trial, without giving up

the Power of Impeachment, or rendering it in-

effectual.

The Commons thought fit to propofe to your

Lordfhips, that a Committee of both Houfes might

be appointed for this Purpofe. At which Com-

mittee (when agreed to by your Lordfhips) it was

then agreed, that the Propofition as to the Time

of the Trial, mould be*the laft thing confider'd.

A id the Effect of this Agreement Hands reported

upon your Lordfhips Books.

After which, the Commons communicated to

your Lordfhips, by your Committee, a Vote of

theirs, (viz.) That the Committee of the Com-

mons mould infill upon their former Vote of

their Houfe, That the Lords Spiritual ought

not to have any Vote in any Proceedings againft

the Lords in the Tower, and that when that Mat-

ters would be fettled, and the Method of Pro-

ceedings adjufted, the Commons fhould then be

ready to proceed upon the Trial of the Pardon of

the Earl of Danby, againft whom they had before

demanded Judgment ; but the Commons as yet

received nothing from your Lordfhips towards

an Anfwer of that Vote, fave that your Lord-

fhips have acquainted them, that the Bifhops have

ask'd Leave of the Houfe of Peers, that they

mio'ht withdraw themfelves from the Trial of the

Five Lords, with Liberty of entring their ufual

Proteftation.

Andtho' the Commons Committee have almofl

daily declared to your Lordfhips Committee, that

that was a necefiary Point of Right to be fettled

before the Trial, and offered to debate the fame ;

your Committee always anfwered, That they had

not any Power from your Lordfhips, either to con-

fer upon, or to give any Anfwer concerning that

Matter.

And yet your Lordfhips, without having given

the Commons any fatisfaclory Anfwer to the faid

Vote, or permitting any Conference or Debate

thereupon, and contrary to the faid Agreement,

did, on Thurfday the 2 2d ofMay, fend a Meflage

to the Commons, declaring, That the Lords Spi-

ritual as well as Temporal, had order'd, that the

27th of this inftant May be appointed for the

Trial of the Five Lords.

So that the Commons cannot but apprehend

that your Lordfhips have not only departed from

what was agreed on, and in effect laid afide that

Committee which was conftituted for preferving

a good Underftanding betwixt the two Houfes,

and better Difpatch of the weighty Affairs now
depending in Parliament, but muft alfo needs

conclude from the Meffage, and the Votes ' of

your Lordfhips on the 14th of May, that the

i ords Spiritual have a Right to ftay and fit in

Court, till the Court proceeds to the Vote of

Guilty, or Not Guilty. And from the Bifhops

asking Leave (as appears by your Lordfhips Books
two Days after your faid Vote) that they might
withdraw themfelves from the Trial of the faid

Lords, with Liberty of entering their ufual Pro-

teftation, and by their perfifting ftill to go on
and give in their Votes Proceedi-g upon the

Impeachment ; that their Defire of Leave to

withdraw at the faid Trial, is only an evafive

Anfwer to the before-mention'd Vote of the

Commons, and chiefly intended as an Argument
for a Right of Judicature in Proceedings upon
Impeachments, and as a Referve to Judge upon
the Earl of -Danly's Plea of Pardon, and upon

thefe and other like Impeachments, although

no fuch Power was ever claimed by their Prede-

cefTors, but is utterly denied by the Commons.
And the Commons are the rather induced to

believe it fo intended, becaufe the very asking

Leave to withdraw, feems to imply a Right to

be there, and that they cannot be abfent with-

out it.

And becaufe by this way they fhould have

it in their Power, whether or no for the Fu-
ture, either in the Earl of Danby's Cafe, or any

other, they will ever ask leave to be abfent

;

and the Temporal Lords a like Power of de-

nying Leave, if that fhould once be admitted

necefiary.

The Commons therefore are obliged not to proceed

to the Trial of the Lords on the 2yth of this

Inftant May, but to adhere to their afore-

faid Vote : And for their fo doing, bejides

what hath been now and formerly by them faid

to your Lordfhips, do offer you thefe Reafons

following :

REASONS.

BEcaufe your Lordfhips have received the

Earl of Danby's Plea of Pardon with a very

long and unufual Proteftation, wherein he hath

afperfed his Majefty by falfe Suggeftions, as if

his Majefty had commanded or countenanced the

Crimes he ftands charg'd with ; and particularly

fuppreffing and difcouraging the Difcovery of the

Plot, and endeavouring to introduce an arbitrary

and tyrannical Way of Government; which re-

mains as a Scandal upon Record againft his Ma-
jefty, tending to render his Perfon and his Govern-
ment odious to his People ; againft which it ought

to be the firft and principal Care of both Houfes

to vindicate his Majefty, by doing Juftice upon
the faid Earl.

II.

The fetting up a Pardon to be a Bar of an

Impeachment, defeats the whole Ufe and Effect

of Impeachments ; and fhould this Point be a-

mitted, or ftand doubted, it would totally dis-

courage the exhibiting any for the future :

Whereby the chief Inftitution for the Preferva-

tion of the Government (and confequently the

Government it felf) would be deftroy'd. And
therefore the Cafe of the faid Earl (which in

confequence concerns all Impeachments whatfo-

ever) ought to be determined before that of the

faid Five Lords, which is but their particular

Cafe.

And without reforting to many Authorities of

greater Antiquity, the Commons defire your

Lordfhips to take notice (with the fame Regard
they do) of the Declaration which that Excel-

lent Prince, King Charles the Firft of bleffed

Memory, made in this Behalf, in his Anfwer to

the Nineteen Propofitions of both Houfes of

Parliament : Wherein, ftating the feveral Parts

of this regulated Monarchy, he lays; The King,

the Houfe of Lords, and the Houfe of Commons,

have each particular Privileges : And among thofe

which belong to the King, he reckons Power of

Pardoning. After the enumerating of which,

and other his Prerogatives, his faid Majefty adds

thus

:
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thus : 'Again, float the Prince may not make ufe of

this high and perpetual Power, to the Hurt of thofe

for whofe Good he hath it, and make ufe of the

Name of Publick Necefjity, for the Gain of his Pri-

vate Favourites and Followers, to the Detriment of

his People ; The Houfe of Commons (an excellent

Conferver of Liberty, &c.) is folely intrufled with

the firfi Propofitions concerning the Levies of Mo-

nies, and the Impeaching of thofe who for their own

Ends, though countenanced by any furreptitioufly-

gotten Command of the King, have violated the

Law, which he is bound (when He knows it) to

protecl, and to the Proteclion of which they were

bound to advife Him, at leaft not to ferve Him in

the contrary. And the Lords being trujied with

a Judicatory Power, are an excellent Screen and Bank

between the Prince and People, to affift each againft

any Incroachments of the other; and by juji Judg-

ments to preferve that Law which ought to be the

Rule of every one of the Three, &c. Therefore

the Power legally placed in both Houfes, is more

than fufficient to prevent and refirain the Power

of Tyranny, &c.

III.

Until the Commons of England have Right

done them againft this Plea of Pardon, they may

iuftly apprehend, that the whole Juftice of the

Kingdom, in the Cafe of the Five Lords, may

be obftrucled and defeated by Pardons of like

Nature.

IV.

An Impeachment is virtually the Voice of every

particular Subje£t of this Kingdom, crying out

againft an Oppreflion, by which every Member of

that Body is equally wounded ; And it will prove

a Matter of ill Confequence, That the Univerfali-

ty of the People fhould have Occafion miniftred

and continued to them, to be apprehenfive of

utmoft Danger from the Crown, from whence they

of Right expecl: Proteclion.

V.

The Commons exhibited Articles of Impeach-

ment againft the faid Earl, before any againft the

Five other Lords, and demanded Judgment upon

thofe Articles : Whereupon, your Lordfhips

have appointed the Trial of the faid Earl to be

before that of the other Five Lords ; Now your

Lordfhips having fince inverted that Order,

gives a great Caufe of Doubt to the Houfe of

Commons, and faifes a Jealoufy in the Hearts of

all the Commons of England, that, if they

fhould procceed to the Trial of the faid Five

Lords in the firft Place, not only Juftice will be

obftrucled in the Cafe of thofe Lords, but that

they fhould never have right done them in the

Matter of this Plea of Pardon, which is of fo

fatal Confequence to the whole Kingdom, and a

new Device to fruftrate publick Juftice in Parlia-

ment.

Which Reafons and Matters being duly weigh-

ed by your Lordfhips, the Commons doubt not

but your Lordfhips will receive Satisfaction con-

cerning their Propofitions and Proceedings ; and
will agree, That the Commons ought not, nor

can, without deferting their Truft, depart from
their former Vote communicated to your Lord-
fhips ; That the Lords Spiritual ought not to have

any Vote in any Proceedings againft the Lords in the

Tower-, and when that Matterfhall be fettled, and

the Methods of Proceedings adjufted, the Commons

fhall then be ready to proceed upon the Trial of the

Earl of Danby.

May 27, 1679.

The Narrative and Reafons delivered at the

ConferenceYefterday with the Houfe ot Commons
were again read, and after a long Debate, the I

Vote ot this Houfe, dated the 1 3 th of May Inftant,

,

and the Explanation thereupon, dated the 14th

Inftant, were read, and the Queftion was put,

Whether to infill upon thefe Votes concerning

the Lords Spiritual, and it was refolv'd in the

Affirmative.

DISSENTERS Prefent.

Buckingham.

Hutingdon.

Kent.

Shaftsbury, P. R.

Bedford.

Winchefter.

Rochefter.

North and Grey.

Suffolk,

J. Lovelace.

Townjhend.

Herbert.

Gray.

Stamford.

Newport.

Say and Seal.

P. Wharton.

Leicefler.

Scarfdale.

Strafford.

Derby.

Delamer.

Howard.
Paget.

Clare.

Salisbury.

Falconberg.

Windfor.

The fame Day the King came to the Houfe and

prorogued the Parliament, and foon after diflblv'd

it, and a new one call'd, which was not fuffer'd

to fit.

Proceedings in the King'sBench, upon

the Earl of Danby'j Motion for Bail.

THE Earl of Danby having been confin'd for

above three Years, and no Parliament fitting,

to which he could apply for his Liberty, brought

an Habeas Corpus in the King's-Bench, in order to

be Bail'd; which came to be argued May 27,

1682, Eafter Term. 34. Car. II.

Immediately after his Lordfhip was in Court,

the Return of the Habeas Corpus was read, and

Mr. Saunders (of Council for his Lordfhip) did

move the Court, That whereas in Eafler-Term,

168 1, the Court had difmifs'd his Lordfhip with

a Declaration, that they would take into their

Confideration, till the Term following, what An-

fwer they would make~ to what had then been

faid to them by his Lordfhip and his Council % he

there-
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therefore moved, That they might now accord-

ingly know the Pleafure of the Court, and that

they would be pleated to grant Bail to the Earl

of Danby.

But before the faid Mr. Saunders could well

have pronounced the foregoing Words, the Lord

Chief Juftice Pemberton did reprimand the faid

Mr. Saunders, for having offer'd to impofe upon

the Court what had never been faid by them •,

faying, That there was no fuch thing as their

having faid, at any time, that they would take

the Earl of Danby's Cafe into farther confidera-

tion ; for that they had told my Lord of Danby

the laft time, That it was not in their Power to

give him any Relief at all •, and that he therefore

wonder'd, and muft exteamely blame Mr. Soun-

dersy for moving the Court again in a Matter to

which they had already given fuch a pofuive

Anfwer; and could not but admire, that he

fhould fo mifinform his Client, as to give him

any fuch Advice, which could only be to the

giving both him and the Court an unneceffary

Trouble.

To all which Mr. Saunders replied, That he

humbly begg'd his Lordfhip's Pardon, if he had

miffaken Kim ; for that truly he did underftand,

that his Lordlhip had declar'd that he would take

time to confider of my Lord of Danby's Cafe till

the following Term •, but that if it was a Mitt

take, he muft beg his Lordfhip's Pardon; and did

believe the reft of his Brethren took it fo, as well

as himfelf.

The Earl of Danby then fpoke himfelf for about

two Hours, and faid to the Lord Chief Juftice,

That he met with an Objection, which he did

not expect ; and that he muft beg his Lordfhip's

Pardon, not to let that pais for a Miftake which

his Council had affirm'd, of the Court's having

taken Time to confider of his Cafe, till the next

Term after that of his Lordfhip's being laft there;

for that his Lordfhip did therein appeal both to

the reit of the Judges, which were upon the

Bench with him, and to all other Perfons what-

foever, who were then in Court, whether his

Lordfhip had not faid, that if he (meaning the

Earl of Danby) pleafed, they would take time to

confider of his Cafe till the next Term ; and he

did declare upon his Honour, that thofe Words
had been pronounced to him by my Lord Chief

Juftice himfelf, and that he did then accept it as

a Favour from the Court, and did return his hum-
ble Thanks to them for it : Infomuch, that his

Lordlhip faid, That he confefled he was very

much furprized to meet with fuch an Introducti-

on at the firft entrance into a Matter which he

conceived to be of lb great Weight, as he doubt-

ed not but he fhould make this Cafe of his appear

to be.

But yet, that it did give him Rcafon to be-

lieve, that he came with fome Prejudice before

his Lordfhip, and that they were lb much pre-

pofferTed in this Matter, that if he did not think

every Man in England would find that he might
be concern'd in what Refolution fnould be given

in this Cafe, as well as himfelf,. he fhould fcarcely

have ventured upon it, though he had lain fb

long under fo unreafonable a Confinement, as he
took himfelf to do ; and therefore he muft defire

their Lordfhip's Patience and Attention to what
he had to offer in his own Behalf, and (as he be-

lieved) in the Behalf of the Liberty of the- Subjecl

in general

His Lordfhip, directing himfelf to the Lord
Chief Juftice, faid, It was juft now a Year fince

he was before his Lordfhip in this Court ; and that

he was affured, that his Lordfhip did then pleafe

to tell him, That they would take Time to the

following Term to confider of what they fhould

think fit to do in his Lordfhip's Cafe : But he faid,

that Care was then taken the firft Day of that

following Term to prevent his coming there, by
an Indiclment which was brought againft him
{ready cut and dry'd, as he had been told) for his

being privy to the Murder of Sir Edmund-Bury
Godfrey.

He faid he did not wonder at it, becaufe there

was nothing fo black, which had not been In-

vented to be faid againft him ; but, he confeffed,

he did wonder to hear, that fuch an Evidence of

an Irifh Papifl (who was upon Trial for his own
Life, and upon an Hear-fay only) fhould be be-

lieved againft an Englijh Proteftani, by a Jury of

Englifh-Men, and fbme of them Gentlemen ; but

yet that Wonder hath been much abated, when he

heard that the fame Fore-man had been as favour-

able in the Cafe of a Notorious Murder, as he had
been ready to find that Murder againft him, which

had not the leaft Probability in it, and which no
Man could think of with more Deteftation both

of the Fail, and of any Man that could have an

hand in it, than himfelf.

However, this prevented him from coming
there again, till after Notice had been given to

Sir Edmund-Bury Godfrey's Brothers, to know if

they had any thing further to fay againft him on

that Matter, and that he could get himfelf dif-

charg'd from that Indiclment ; and as to the Wretch
himfelf, Fitz Harris, (who had accufed him) he

did Two Days before his Death fend the Mini/ler

of the Tower to his Lordlhip to beg of him thar,

before he died, his Lordlhip would forgive him
his having fworn falfly againft him ; and he did

confefs, that he was put upon it to Save his own
Life ; and did fay by whom he was prompted to

it. And whether it proceeded from thoie Men,
who might think their Villanies difcovered, and

fo might fear they could no way be fafe but by
putting that Matter yet farther againift him, or

from what other Caufe, his Lordfhip could not

tell ; but (if his Lordfhip was not mifinformed)

he did hear that Some Men were ftill endea-

vouring to get fomething more of the fame Na-
ture to be fworn againft him, if they can contrive

how to make their forg'd Teftimonies to agree

about it.

He faid he thought that Time would have

tired out the Malice of fuch Blood-Suckers before

now, whom he had found fo bufy, for the firft

Year and half after his Imprifonment ; that he

^was not a Week without Endeavours ufed by
ftrange People to get to (peak with him, and

fuch as he had Reafon often to fufpect to be

Knights of the Pofi ; amongft whom the Story ot

one Magrath, (another Irifh-Man) he faid, was no-

tably remarkable, in his Endeavour (under Pre-

tence of Kindnefs) to have made him their Tool,

to prove, that Sir Edmund-Bury Godfrey had kil-

led himfelf: But he faid, he had the good For-

tune immediately to deteil that Villany, as he

hoped yet to live to do of fome others ; but that

in the mean time he forefaw, that he was always

to be a particular Object of the Malice of fuch

Men, fo long as he was left under this Confinement^.

from which he faw no Hopes to be- relieved, but

by
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by that Court, where the Law directs every Eng-

lifhman to come for Juftice that is oppreffed in his

Liberty.

He faid, he hoped his Lordfhip would forgive

him for having been a little tedious on that Sub-

ject of Sir Edmund-Bury Godfrey, becaufe his Re-

putation had been fo much expofed in that Par-

ticular, and before that Court.

After his Difcharge from that Indictment, he

faid, there feem'd to be a Probability of the Call

of a Parliament in fome fhort time ; and when-

ever he could give himfelf the leafl Hopes of

that, he refolved to trouble no other Place : But

that now he had not the lead Profpect of that

kind; and that he had been a Prifoner above

Three Years, and yet could fafely fwear, he was

without the Knowledge to that Day, for what

real Crimes he was committed ; only he knew

that the Name of Treafon had been laid to his

Charge, without faying wherein the Treafon con-

futed.

He faid he came, therefore, now to that Court

(as the only proper Place for all Perfons to refort

to for their Liberty) and he was forry, that he

was put to the great Difadvantage of fpeaking in

his own Caufe. But becaufe he faw the laft time

he was there, that fome Fault feemed to be found

with his Council, for urging things which feem'd

to relate to Matters of Parliament (altho' upon a

due Confideration of his Requeft, there is nothing

in it which does touch their Jurifdiction) he had

chofen rather to rely upon the Court's Pardoning

his Defefts, than put any further Hardfhips upon

thofe Gentlemen, who had been his Counfel, to

whom he had been more beholden, than they

had been to him, for that they had undergone

fome unheard-of .K^«£« already in another Place,

for offering to be of Counfel with him, (though

in Matters of Law) which he believed had never

been heard of, but in his Cafe ; and he hoped,

that (when all his Circumftances fhall have been

well confidered) he fhall be the laft Englifhman

that will ever have fo many Hardfhips put upon

him ; as will appear to be thro' every Part of his

Cafe.

In the firft Place he faid, That he had been

both Accufed and Committed, without any Oath

or Affidavit made againfl him, for any Crime

whatever : Which had been in the Cafe of no

other Lord but himfelf, and he did believe of no

other Man.
Secondly, That there was no particular Treafon

mention'd in the Articles againft him, only the

"Word Traiterously had been applied to

things which were not Treafon, if they had been

true (as was then declared by Sir William Jones,

the King's Attorney) and he faid, there were

good ftore of WitnefTes to prove, that when it

could not be maintained byArgument in the Houfe

of Commons, that any of the Crimes mentioned

againft him were Treafon ; It was anfwered by one

of the long Robe there, (who would not have fpared

to have affigned the Treafon, had there been any)

that however they ought to give the Title ofHigh-

Treafon to the Articles, for that otherwife they

would dwindle to nothing when they came into the

Houfe of Peers. Now in the Impeachments of

other Lords (not to meddle with the Truth or Fal-

fity of their Accufers) they were charg'd with the

higheft Treafons in Name, and upon Oaths made
againft them.

Thirdly, When a fhort Day was fet by the

Lords for his being heard ; and that he appeared

that Day accordingly, his Counfel was then threat-

ned if they did dare to plead Matter of Law for

him : Which he faid was never heard of before in

any Man's Cafe whatfoever, nor in the worft of

Times.

Fourthly, He faid if all the Articles had been

true againft him, and had been Treafon ; he had
his Majefty's Pardon (which he then fhewed to the

Court, and demanded the Benefit of it) faying,

That that did pardon both his Crimes (if he were

Guilty of any) and his Imprifonment ; and yet,

that both that Pardon and He had been Prifoners

together for above three Years (of which he faid

he durft confidently affirm, that his was the firft

Precedent fince the Conqueft.)

Fifthly, He fet forth, That he had not only his

Majefty's Pardon, but that there had been his Ma-
jefty's Declaration of it in his Speech to his two
Houfes of Parliament, together with a Declaration

of his Innocency, and a Declaration that he would
give him his Pardon Ten times over, if that were

defective either in Matter or Form. And in this

alfo he faid, that his Cafe was not only particular

from any others, but that fuch Declarations of the

King's Intentions to Pardon, (altho' the formal
Pardons have not been obtained) have heretofore

been alone a Ground to procure Bail at leaft, when
the Party has been the King's Prifoner, and at the

King's Suit ; which he fuppofed was not doubted
in his Cafe.

Sixthly, He faid that he had not only been thus

Committed, and thus Detained for above forty

Months, but he had been kept a Prifoner with-

out any Profecution for the greateft part of that

time ; which is another fufficient Ground by the

Law for Bail : But inftead of a Reftraint Ad Cu-

flodiam, he faid he had undergone Punifhments
greater than the Crimes alledged againft him
could have deferved if they had been true; both

by the length of his Imprifonment, which was
agreed to be a fufficient Ground for Bail, both by
the King's Council and the Prifoner's, in the Ar-
guments on the Grand Habeas Corpus, 3 Car. as

alfo in Melvin's Cafe, i Car. and in Sir Thomas

Darnell's and other Cafes.

By the Inconvenience of his Accommodations
in the Prifon, for above two Years and an half of

the time.

By Two moft dangerous SicknefTes in the Pri-

fon. And
By the Lofs of Divers of his Family fince his

being in Prifon, who would fome of them moft
certainly not have been in thofe Places where they

have been loft, had he been at Liberty.

He faid he was informed, That his Majefty had

been again pleafed to give his Directions to Mr.
Attorney, to give his Confent a fecond time to his

Bail, and he did beg leave to ask Mr. Attorney if

it were fo? Whereupon Mr. Attorney did ftand

up, and fay, that he had his Majefty's Directions

to give his Majefty's Confent again to his Lord-
fhip's being Bailed.

His Lordfhip did thereupon fay, That this alfo

was Particular in his Cafe ; and he did believe,

there was fcarce a Precedent in the World, of the

King's Prifoner, and at the King's Suit, not being

Bailed when there hath been the King's Confent

to it; unlefs where the Prifoner hath not been

able to find fufficient Security for his Appearance

to abide his Trial. For that the two only jufti-

fiable Grounds for the continuance of Reftraint

by :
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by the Law are, either for keeping the Party

from being able to do any harm by his being at

Liberty, (of which the King is the beft Judge)

or for fecuring the Party to abide the Judgment
"'"

of the Law, (in which the Court ought to have

o-ood Satisfaction) and fo they might have fuffi-

ciently in his Cafe.

He faid, That the Precedent would be no lefs

, {trance and new againft the King, than againft

himfelf, if they mould not permit him to be
'

Bail'd under luch Circumftances : For he had

' heard, that the Law did admit of no Abfurdity :

Now he did defire to know, how any thing

could in Reafon be more Abfurd on behalf of the

King, than if the'King's Priloner, and at the King's

Suit, mould be kept in Prifon by any of the King's

Courts, againft the King's Will ?

,
Or how, laid he, can any thing be more dan-

gerous to the Subject, or be a plainer failure of

-Juftice (whatever may be pretended to the con-

trary) than to fay, That there can be any fuch

i
Reftraint of Englifh Liberty, as cannot obtain fo

much as Bail, but by the leave of the Houfe of

Lords? When that Houfe can neither meet but

when the King pleafes, nor can never fit longer

than he pleafes : So that to lay a Man fhall be a

clofe Prifoner (I mean by that a Priloner without

Bail, for Bail itfelf is Imprifonment in the Eye of

the Law) till he fhall be difcharged by the Houfe

of Lords ; is to fay, that a Man fhall be a Pri-

foner during the King's Pleafure ; which was the

Great Grievance complained of, when the Peti-

tion of Right was granted, and that was thought

to have fully and for ever RedrefTed that Grie-

vance.

But if after fo many Heats and Difputes which

S our Anceftors have had with the Crown about

their Liberties, this Doctrine mould now be ad-
1 mitted for Law •, We would feem to endeavour,

(as much as in us lies) to bring it to this Conclu-

sion, and be our own Felo's de fe ; That the King
]

fhall have a way found out by ourfelves, and with-
'

out his feeking, how he may Imprifon any Man, or

number of Men, wk n he pleafes, in a Parliamentary

way ; and by Difjolving that Parliament he may keep

em as long as he pleafes in a Prifon without Re-

medy : Bd that he ft.hall neither have Power to Re-
lieve us himfelf by his own Authority, nor by his

Courts of Juftice. So as in fhort, by this Doc-
trine, the King fliould only have Power to hurt

his Subjects as much and as Jong as he pleafes,

but fliould not be able to do them any Right if

he would ; and then we fhall have Magna Charta

and the Petition of Right revers'd, initead of re-

ceiving that Benefit by them, which the Kings

of England have been fo Gracious as to give us,

and all the Learned Writers upon thofe happy
Laws of Liberty have told us, we are fecure un-

der, at all Times, and againft all Accidents what-
ever.

He then beg'd leave to obferve to his Lordfhip
what he found in my Lord Chief Juftice Coke's

Comments upon Magna Charta ; who faid, That
the Words Nulli Vendemus, Nulli Negabimus, aut

Differemus Juftitiam vel Rcclum, are fpoken in

the Perlbn of the King, who (in Judgment of
Law) is always prefent, and repeating the faid

Words in all his Courts of Juftice.

And therefore (lays ne) every Subject in the

Realm may, at all times, have Remedy by the

Courfe of the Law ; and may have Juftice done
:

freely, fully, and fpeedily, without Delay ; for

that Delay is a fort of Denial.

Vol. II.

The faid Lord Coke obferves farther, That thofe

Words of Magna Charta are fully expounded by
latter Statutes, viz. 20 Eliz. 2, &c. which do di-

rect, That there fhall be no Delay nor Hindrance

of fpeedy Juftice to any Man, neither by any

Seal, nor by any Order, nor any Writ whatfb-

ever ; neither from the King, nor from any other,

nor by any other Caufe.

Now, whatever may be faid out of other Con-
fiderations, he faid, No Man can deny, but that

there is great Delay of Juftice (to fay no worfe of
it) to any Man who (through no Neglect of his

own) can neither get Trial nor Bail in above
three Years, altho' his Crimes were never fo

great. And he faid, he durft be confident, that

the Makers of Magna Charta did believe they

had fecured all Englifhmen from ever being under

the Poflibility of fuch a Danger; and that he
made no Queftion at •all, but that by Law we
are fo.

He faid, That the faid Lord Coke does fay in

his Comment upon the 15 W. 1. (where he

fpeaks of what Things are Bailable, and what
are not ; and names Treafon amongft the Things
not Bailable) that is (fays he) fuch Offences fhall

not be Replevied by the Sheriff; but all or any
of thefe, he faith, may be Bailed in the King's-

Bench.

And he faid, he had alfo fome of the prefent

Judges Opinions to fhew, in this Point, which

he defired to read out of a Copy of the Lords
Journal, (viz.) 23d Decemb. 1678. The Queftion

being put, Whether the Lord Treafurerfpould with-

draw ? 'Twas carried in the Negative. And on the

2.7th of the faid December, The Queftion beingput,

Whether the Earl of Danby, Lord High Treafurer,

(who ftands Impeached by the Houfe of Commons)

fhould be commuted ? It was Refolved in the Nega-

tive.

And it was the fame Day propofed to the

Judges, Whether the Judges can Bail any Per-

lon, in Cafe of Mifprijion of Treafon, wherein the

King's Life is cohcern'd ?

To which Sir William Scroggs (Lord Chief Juf-

tice of the King's-Bench,) Sir Francis North (Lord
Chief Juftice of the Court of Common-Pleas,) Juf-

tice Windham, Juftice Jones, and other of the

Judges then prefent, gave feverally their Opini-

ons ; That the Court of King's-Bench may take

Bail for High-Treafon of any kind, if they fee

Caufe.

He cited the Lord Coke alfo in his Comment
on the 24 W. II. where he fays, That it is a

Rule in Law, Quod Curia Regis non debet Dftcere
Cunquerentibus in Juftitia Exhibenda. And the

Reafon of this is, that a Failure of Juftice may
be prevented ; which, he frequently fays, is Ab-
horred by the Law : So as it appears, That the

Law abhors all Failure of Juftice ; and he faid,

That if fuch Failure do appear in his Cafe, or

any Man's elfe, no Order can licenfe fuch Failure

;

nor no Court can Juftify the not giving Relief a-

gainff it : And he laid, he fhould either make
luch Failure appear, or his Lordfhip (meaning

the Lord Chief Juftice) would be able to tell him
where he might repair for Juftice ; which both

Magna Charta and the Petition of Right are un-

derstood to have provided at all times for the Sub-

jects Liberty : Bat if his Lordfhip could not in-

form him where he might appeal forthwith for

his Liberty ; in that Cale, he laid, That for that

Reafon alone (were there no other) he ought of

5C Right
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Right to be admitted to Bail by that Court ; till

he could be brought before fuch a Judicature, as

had Power to ditcharge him.

He obferved alio, That the Lord Coke (in a

Chapter on the King*s-Bench) did lay, That that

Court might Bail for any Offence whatfoever

:

And that in the faid Chapter it was particularly

obferved, That there had been fuch Care taken

by the Law to avoid Failure of Juftice, (even in

fmall Matters, in companion of Liberty) that he

gives there an Example concerning a Clerk or

Officer of that Court : For he takes notice of

what Things, and againft whom that Court hath

Tower to hold Plea by Bill. And amongft thofe,

he names againft any Officer or Clerk of that

Court; and gives the Reafon : Bccaufe if they

mould be Sued in any other Court, they would

have the Privilege of that Court, which might

be the Caufe of a Failure of Juftice. And from

this his Lordfhip faid it did appear, That the

Law intended that there mould be no Failure of

Juftice by the Privilege of any Court, how great

foever it was •, for that (as was faid before) the

Law did abhor all Failure of Juftice. And he

faid, if fuch Care had been taken againft a Fai-

lure, in fuch fmall Matters, and not in what

concern our Liberties ; all Englijhmen ought juft-

ly to break out into the like Exclamations, as

the fame Lord Coke and many others did, in

their Speeches in Parliament, and in their Plead-

ings, 3 & 5 Car. upon the Argument of the

Habeas Corpus at that time : Where the Lord

Coke breaks forth into this Expreflion ; Shall I

have an Eftate of Inheritance for Life, orfor Tears,

in my Land? And fhall I be tenant at Will for

my Liberty ? Shall I have Property in my Goods by

the Laws ; and not Liberty in my Perfon ? And

thereupon he tells us, That Perfpicue vera non

funt probanda ; As taking for granted, That our

Liberties were not to be doubted, where our

Properties were fo fecured : And the King (fays

he) had diftributed his Judicial Power to Courts,

and to his Minifters of Juftice; Who are to fee

Right done.

And he faid, The Lord Coke gave the Rea-

fons of thofe Laws which are againft undue Im-

prifonments ; and that one of thofe is, For the

Indefinitenefs of time; which, he fays, may be

perpetual during Life : And that his Words are,

that it is unreafonable to think, that a Man has a

Remedy for his Horfe or Cattle, (if detained) and

none for his Body indefinitely Imprifoned: For that

a Prifon without any prefixed time is a kind of Hell.

And here his Lordfhip faid, That he hoped the

Court would either allow him Bail, or tell him

a prefixed Time, when he mould be Tried or

Difcharged. He did then alfo quote the Cafe

of the Duke of Suffolk, 26 H. VI. and the Opi-

nions of Prefcot and Fortefcue, (who were emi-

nent Judges) who faid, That he ought not to be

Committed, (tho' for Treafon) without Efpecial

Caufe of the Treafon fhevved ; which had not

been in his Cafe.

He further faid, That many other Principal

Gentlemen of that Parliament had fpoke molt

Senfibly on the fame Subjed: of Liberty ; and a-

mongft the reft, Sir Robert Philips had faid,

to have our Liberties (which are the Souls of

our Lives) taken from us, and to be pent up in

Goals without Remedy by Law ; and this to be

fo adjudged (for fo that Court had then thought

fit 'to deny Bail, for Reafons which were at that

time alfo beft known to themfelves) he cries Out

Improvident Anceftors ! Unwife Fore-Fathers

.

to be fo curious in providing for the quiet Pojfeffior

of our Lands, and to neglecl our Perfons and Be- \

''<

"

dies ! And to let them lie in Prifon ! And without
'

Remedy, durante bene placito ! If this be Law
what do we talk of our Liberties ? this (fays he

is Summa Totalis of all Miferies,

He faid alio, That. Mr. Selden did in the fam<

Parliament argue, at a Conference with the Lordj.

That in all Cafes where any Right or Liberty be-

longs to the Subjecl, by any Pofitive Law, writ-

ten or unwritten, if there were not alfo a Re-

medy by Law, for enjoying or regaining of thi<

Right of Liberty, when it is violated or taker

from him, the Pofitive Law were moft vain, anc

to no purpofe ; and it were to no purpofe, foi

any Man to have any Right in Land, Liberty.

or other Inheritance, if there were not a knowi

Remedy, by which, in fome Court of O r d t«

na ry Justice he might recover it ; and'

in this Cafe of Right and Liberty of Perfon, il

there were not a Remedy in the Law for regaiu-i jo

ing it, when it is reftrain'd, it were to no purpofe

to fpeak of Laws.

Here he defired leave to fhew his Lordfhip

what Sir Nicholas Hide (when fitting as Lord
Chief Juftice in that CourtJ did fay on this Oc-

cafion, viz. That the King's Pleafure is, his

Law fhould take place and be executed j and for

that do we fit here : And whether the Commit* i

ment be by the King, or others, this Court is

the Place where the King doth Jit in Perfon to do

Right, if Injury be done ; and if it appear that any

Man hath Wrong done to him by his Imprifon-

ment, we have Power to deliver or difcharge him.

And he farther faid, That the fame Lord Chief

Juftice Doderidge, Jones, and Whitlocke, (anfwer-

ing the Prifoner's Counfel at that time) did fayj

the Attorney-General had told them, That the

King had done it ; and that they (the Judges) do

ever truft him in great Matters. And here he

took occafion to fay, That he hoped that the

King's Confent to his Bail, and his Declaration

of his Innocency, would be now as much trufttd

in this Court.

He cited alfo the Arguments of Mr. Calthorpe

for Sir John Corbet, on the fame Occafion, who
faid, That, admit the Commitment were lawful,

yet when a Man hath continued in Prifon a rea*

ibnable time, he ought to be brought to Anfwer,

and not to be continued ftill in Prifon : For that

it appears by the Books of our Laws, that Li-

berty is a thing fo favour'd by the Law, that the

Law will not luffer the Continuance of any Man
in Prifon, longer than of neceffity muft.

He cited alfo Mr. Hackwell; who faid, upon i

the fame Occafion, That the Law admits not

the Power of detaining in Prifon at Pleafure,

when the Imprifonment is but pro Cuftodia: For

a Man, by long Imprifonment, might otherwife

be punified before his Offence. And he mention'd

an Expreflion of his, That long Imprifonment

was, Vita pejor Morte.

He mentioned how the Commons, at the End
of the Parliament 3 Car. did defire, That the

Judges might declare themfelves upon the Mat-
;

ter, why thofe Gentlemen had not been Bailed,

when {by the Judges Arguments) it was poffible

they might have been kept Prifoners all their days,

To which, he faid, Whitlocke anfwer'd, Firft,

Not fo ; but they did Remand them, that they
,
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might better advife of the Matter ; and that the

Gentlemen, if they had pleafed, might have had

a new Writ of Habeas Corpus, when they thought

fit. And Secondly, That he had fpent much

time in this Court ; and that in fuch great Cafes,

he never knew any Man Bailed without the King

firft
(onfulted in it : And the fame, he faid, was

then faid by the reft of the Judges of that Court.

Hereupon he made two Remarks : Firft, that

by this it did appear, that upon Confideration,

That Court had altered their Opinions in the

Cafe of Bail, juft contrary to what their firft

Opinions had been pofitive in : And, Secondly,

That the confuking of the King was ever ne-

ceffiry in fuch great Cafes. And he faid, he did

believe, that there was not a Precedent, where

the King had agreed to the Bail, that ever it had

been denied.

He faid, That thofe Men whom he had

quoted, were Men of no Ordinary Underftand-

jng in the Laws : And as the Judges then did at

hit acknowledge their Senfe of them to be rights

fo he faid, he hoped our Laws were neither

changed nor diniinifhed, in what related to the

Subjects Liberties; and he hoped

that no Order of one Houfe, nor Ordinance of

both Houfes, nor King alone, nor King and

either Houfe alone, could alter them : And he

refted affured, that a King and Parliament would

never alter them to the Prejudice of Liberty.

He proceeded, That if the Law were ftill the

fame it was heretofore, it was plain that that

Law did both give a Power to that Court to

Bail for all Offences whatfoever (and for Trea-

fon particularly) and did require;, that the Sub-

ject fhould at all Times find Remedy in it, when
his Liberty was Reftrained, By any Cause
WHATEVER.
The Chief Reafons* he faid, why fuch large

Powers had been given to that Court, were

principally for avoiding all Failure of Juflice ; and

to die End, Firft, That the King may both have

a Means of giving Right to his Subjects at all

times, according to his Oath at his Coronation,

and according to the Intent of Magna Charta,

and the Petition of Right. And Secondly, That
there might be a conftant Place for the Subject

to refort unto for Remedy at all times, whenfo-

ever he was opprefs'd in his Liberty : And he hoped

we were not now to learn a new Law, That
the King could neither keep his Oath, nor main-

tain Magna Charta, nor the Petition of Right,

without the affiftance of an Extraordinary Court,

which he may both chufe, whether he will call,

or when he will call it, and how long it fhall

fit ; which (as he had faid) would put all under
the King's abfolute Will.

He then faid, he took for granted, that there

would be no Difpute made in this Matter, but

that there was an Order of the Lords which was
fuppofed to (land in the way : But he faid, if

his Lordfhip would give him Leave, he would
firft fay fomething to the Order itfeif, and then

he hoped to fhow his Lordfhip, that it ftocd

not at alj in the way, as to his Requeft of Bail •,

and that it mould neither be interfered with in

the leafr, nor the Jurifdiction of the Lords, nor

their Proceedings meddled with in any kind, by
his being Bailed ; but rather owned and fubmit-

ted to, by his bemg Bailed to the Parliament.

And firft for the Order itfeif, he defired the

Court to obferve, that it was dated the 19th of
March 1678, and worded as followed), viz.

Vol. II.

Die Mercurii, i9 n0 Martii, 167I.

THE Houfe this Day taking into Conftderalion

the Report made from the Lords Committeefor
Privileges, that in parfuance of the Order of the

1 yth Infant to them directed, for confidering whe-
ther Petitions of appeal, which were prejhited to

this Houfe in the laft Parliament^ be ftill in force

to be proceeded on -, andfor confidering of the State

of Impeachments brought up from the Houfe of Com-
mons the laft Parliament ; and all the Incidents re-

lating- thereto ; upon which the Lords Committees

were of Opinion, That in all Cafes of Appeals,

and Writs of Errors, they continue, and are to be

proceeded on in Statu quo, as they flood at the Diffo-

lution of the laft Parliament, without beginning De
Novo. And that the Diffolution of the laft Par-

liament cloth not alter the State of the Impeach-
ments brought up by the Commons in that Parlia-

ment.

Now upon this Order, he obferved, That it

related as well to Appeals and Writs of Error,

as to Impeachments; and feemed to be more
fully worded to them, than to Impeachments;
the Words Statu Qjj o, and without begin-

ning DeNovo, being annex'd in the Order
more particularly to the Appeals and Writs of
Error; whereas all that was laid as to the Im-
peachments, he obferved to be, that the Diffo-

lution of That Last Parliament
doth not alter the State of Impeachments brought

up by the Commons in That Parlia-
ment, and are not Words which (ftrictly

taken) can bind after the Diffolution of any o-

ther than that Parliament.

But he faid, If the Order fhould be Expound-
ed otherwife, yet that both the Law, and the

Practice of the Inferior Courts, were undoubt-

edly contrary, In the Cafes of Appeals and Writs

of Error. And, he hoped, no Court would
take upon them to Expound the Order fo,

as if they were at Liberty to flip the Order,

and to judge, which Part of the fame Order

Jhould be binding, and which not ; for that would
be to meddle, in a more extraordinary Manner,
with the Proceedings of the Lords, than he had
defired.

Now, as to Writs of Error, he faid, there

were full Refolutions of the Judges in the Cafe,

tho' in times of Prorogations only, when a Day
is fet for the fitting of the Lords Houfe ; and
he cited the Cafe of Heydon and Godfahe, in

Croke's Reports ; as alfb the Lord Chief Juftice

Hale,, who did not only grant Execution upon a

Writ of Error (depending in Parliament) but

did alfo anfwer the Defendant's Counfel (who
would have pleaded the Lords Order in Bar of

the Execution) that he fhould always pay all due

Refpect to that Superior Court of the Lords

;

but that he muft act according to Law ; and,

that he knew, that the Lords did not intend o-

therwife. And of this Lord Chief Juftice Pem-
bcrton himfelf, who he faid had denied Reftitu-

tion upon an Execution lately taken out, in Cafe

where a Writ of Error was, and is ftill depend-

ing in Parliament. And in Cafes of Appeals, he

laid, he was inform'd, that the Court of Chan-

cery did not take any Notice of the Appeal be-

ing in Parliament after a Diffolution, but did

notwkhftanding proceed to Sequeftration. And
he faid, that there was a late Precedent in the

5 C 2 Court
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Court of Exchequer, in the Cafe of one Faun-

tame, where an Appeal was brought from a De-

cree in the Exchequer, and Recognizance entred

into by the faid Fountaine, to abide the Order of

the Houfe of Lords: and after the Parliament

was diffolved, the Counfel of the faid Fountaine,

did infill on the faid Order before the Barons,

That the Houfe being pofTeft of Mr. Fountaineh

Caufe and Security having been given by him to

abide the Order of the Houfe, that no Proceed-

ings ought to be had in the Exchequer upon the

faid Decree, until the Matter on the Appeal was

determined before the Lords. Notwithstanding

which, and that Mr. Fountaine produced the

Lords Order in Court, and produced the Secu-

rity allow'd ; yet the now Barons declared and

ordered, That the Decree by them made fhould

be proceeded on, againft the faid Fountaine, in the

Court of Exchequer : And a Proceeding hath been

had accordingly.

By all which he obferved, That the Inferior

Courts did proceed upon Matters, forbid as much

by the Houfe of Lords, in the Matters of Appeals

and Writs of Error, as it was upon Impeach-

ments ; and yet that the Reafon was plain why
they did fo, for that the Parliament might pro-

ceed again upon the fame Appeals, and Writs of

Errors, notwithstanding thofe Proceedings in

the Inferior Courts, in the Interval of Parlia-

ments ; for that none of thofe Acts of the Infe-

rior Courts do fo hinder the Proceedings of the

Superior, but that the Plaintiff in Parliament

may revive the fame Matter there again, by Scire

Facias, or by Refummons, &c. But he faid, it

was never heard of, that the Lords themfelves

did proceed again Ex Officio, without the Peti-

tion of the Party to revive the Caufe. And fo

he faid in the Cafe of Impeachments, that the

Lords would no more proceed Ex Officio upon

that neither, unlefs they were called upon by
the Profecutors •, and then their Lord/hips Pro-

ceedings upon the Impeachment, would be no more

hinder'd by the Bailing of him in the Inferior Court,

than they were in the other Cafes by the Executions

and Sequeflrations, which are granted in the Inter-

vals of Parliament, which were for the Preven-

tion both of Delay and of Failure of

Justice.
Befides, he faid, If this fhould not be done,

how could it be known whether the Profecu-

tors of an Impeachment from the Houfe of Com-
mons (who are never the fame Men in a new
Parliament) will proceed any more upon a For-

mer Impeachment ? For, he faid, it had many
times fallen out otherwife ; and he cited a late

Cafe of the Lord Mordant, who was Jmpeach'd

upon Articles in one SefTion : and having taken

out a Pardon during the Prorogation, was never

more called upon, nor never queftion'd upon the

former Impeachment ; altho' the very fame Par-

liament fat again, which had Impeach'd him :

And therefore, he faid, that the Cafe might
more probably happen to fall out fo, when a new
Parliament fhould meet again, which would con-

lift of new Men.
He faid, It was likewife to be obferved, that

altho' the Tranfcript of the Record in a Writ of

Error might have days of Continuance, yet no

Superfedeas is grantable ; and he faid, that if the

Lords Order be no Ground for a Superjedeas on

a Writ of Error, why the lying of an Impeach-

ment fhould be a Ground for confining a Man

within the 'Tower Walls all his Life, he was fure

muff, be both lefs reafonable and lefs juft, as Li-

berty was more valuable than Property, and
without which, Property could be of no Com-
fort.

In the next Place he obferved, That if the

Order fhould be continued literally to mean, that

the Impeachments, as well as the Appeals and
Writs of Error, (and the Incidents relating to

all of them) fhould remain in the fame State

they were at the DifTolution of That Parli-
ament mentioned in the faid Order, his Cafe
thereupon, he faid, would be quite different

from any others ; for that, he was not under any
Commitment at the Diffolution of That Par-
liament, nor at the time when That Or-
der was made, but was then at Liberty to be a
Sitting Member of that Houfe, and by a Vote of
the Houfe had Leave to continue fo ; for that (as

he had already obferved) the Date of the Order
was the 19th of March 1678, and the Warrant
of his Commitment did appear by the Return
before the Court, to be the i6rh of April follow-

ing: Infomuch, that hedefired the Court to take

notice, that the ftridt Letter of the Words Statu

Quo in the Order (compar'd with the time when
the faid Order was made) would be an Ar-
gument to fet him in a ftate of Liberty, as he

then was.

He then told the Court, That by what he

had faid, he hoped he had made appear, that the

Order did not afford the leaft fhadow for the

hindering of his being Bailed ; but that on the

contrary, the Reafons were much ftronger for

the doing of that, (as it related not only to him,

but to the Liberty of the Subjecl in general) than

for the Proceedings which the Inferior Courts

do daily practife upon Appeals and Writs of

Error (which are but for Property) and are com-

prized in the fame Order ; and therefore he faid,

that he hoped he fhould at leaft find the fame

Favour in a Cafe of Liberty, which is allow'd

every Day in Cafes of leffer Moment.
He then faid, That altho' it did not concern

his particular Cafe, yet for the fake of Englijh

Liberty it felf, he could not but fay fomething

farther upon this Point : For he could not but

be of Opinion, That if the Order had directly

forbid Bail ; which it was far from doing ; and

befides, the Lords own Practice had fhew'd their

Meaning to the contrary, by the Bailing of a

Commoner, whofe Crimes were declared to be

greater than his ; and in which Cafe they made
no Non Objlante to their Order, but take that

to be ftill in the fame Force towards him, as

towards any others, who are in Cuftody : Yet

he faid, in that Cafe, if fuch an Order fhould be

found to be againft Magna Charta, and the Fun-

damental Right of the Liberty of the Subject,

(as any thing muft be, which does fubjetl any

Man to an Indefinite Imprisonment;)
he conceived, that of Right that Court ought

to free any Man from fuch a Slavery •, for he

faid, he could give it no better a Name. And
he then cited an Argument of the Earl of Shafts-

bury's upon that Point, which that Lord argued

in that Court upon an Habeas Corpus ; when the

Court agreed they would have Bailed him, had

it not been in a time of Adjournment only of the

Parliament. His Words, he faid, were, That

this Court will and ought to judge An Act of
Parliament Void, if it be againft

Magna

1



1682.B.R. for High-Treafon. ?

Magna Charta; and more might it judge

of An Order of the House of
Lords, that is put in Execution to deprive any

Subjecl of bis Liberty. And, as he laid, this

could not be denied to be Law ; fo he was con-

fident the Earl of Shaftsbury was ftill of the fame

Mind, and fo muft every Lord in England be,

or (when they confider their own Cafes) they

would make their Liberties to be very precari-

ous.

He proceeded to fay, That the Earl of Shafts-

bury being allow'd to be a knowing Man, both

in the Laws, Orders, and Confutations of Par-

liaments, he would beg leave to quote another

Part of the fame Speech, viz. That Mr. Attor-

ney (which was then Sir William Jones) %vas

pleafed to anfwer the Inftance of one of his Lord-

flip's Counfel, That if a great Minifter fhould be

committed, he hath the Cure of a Pardon, a Proro-

gation, or a Difjolution : But (fays the Earl) if the

Cafe fhould be put, why Forty Members, or a greater

Number, may not as well be taken without any

Remedy of any of the King's Courts ? His Lord-

fhip faid, That Mr. Attorney could not very eafily

anfwer. And if in this Cafe (fays he) there can be

no Relief, no Man can forefee what may be here-

after. And in another place of the fame Speech

he fays, he does not think it a Kindnefs to the

Lords to make them Abfolute, and above the Law

;

for fo it muft be, if it be adjudged, that they may

Commit a Man to an Indefinite Impri-
sonment.
He faid, he took thefe Men whom he had na-

med, for no fmall Authorities in this Age : And
the Earl of Shaftsbury, he faid, was a Man ftill

as much for the maintaining of this Order as

ever ; but that his Lordfhip did fhew himfelf,

at the fame time, to be for Englifh Liberty. And
he plainly fhew'd his own Senfe, both of this

and of all Orders whatever, which concern'd the

Liberty of the Subject ; and declared, That he

took that Court to be the proper Judge of all

fuch Orders.

He faid, It thereby appear'd how fenfible that

Lord was, that fuch Cafes might concern Forty,

as well as One, and Members of either Houfe, as

well as other Men ; and without Relief, if it

mould be admitted, that OrdinaryCourts
could not Relieve. And the Earl of Danby faid,

That there was no anfwering of thefe Argu-

ments of the Earl of Shaftsbury ; unlefs it could

be denied, That the King can Impeach as well as

the Commons ; or that the King cannot Call and

Difjolve Parliaments at his own Will and Plea-

fure : For if he may (as was not to be doubted)

he faid, he was fure every Man in England was

in the fame Danger when the King pleafed; and

then he faw nothing whereby he had any Secu-

rity •, but that we lived under a King who
would not exercife this Power over us, which

we will needs put into his Hands, altho* he does

not defire it himfelf. As if we were fo wsary

of cur Liberties, that we would be Induftrious

in contriving how we might infenfibly Aide into

thole Slaveries, which our Anceftors have been

fome Ages taking pains to fecure us from -, and

our Kings have been fo Gracious as to grant

and confirm to us, fo many times over as they

have done -, and which other Kings may be as

ready to reaffume hereafter, as we are to give

them away.

He concluded his Observations upon that

Speech of the Earl of Shaft'sbury's, with taking

notice, that his Lordfhip had mewed he was
one of thofe Peers who would take it for no
Kindnefs to be made Abfolute, and above the

Law, by fuch Orders of theirs being conftrued

to extend to I n d e f i n i t e Imprison-
ment.
He then repeated Sir William Jones's Decla-

ration in that Court ; That either a Pardon, a
Prorogation, or a Diffolutiov, zvas a Cure agaivft

fuch Imprifonments. And he obferved thereupon,

That if that Doctrine were true, That any one

of thofe was a Cure againft fuch Imprifcnment,

(and he could not doubt of its being good Law)
then certainly he ought to find Relief from his

Imprilbnment, who had every one of thefe Cures

on his Side.

He then defired to put the Court in mind,
How in the worlt of Times, Juftice had taken
place fo far, as to ley afide the Force of Orders
made in Parliaments, after the Diffolutions of thofe

Parliaments which made them ; altho' it was to the
Prejudice of the Intereft of thofe Ufurpers them-
ielves.

He cited an Inftance of one Sir John Stowel,
who, by the Articles of Exeter, was to have been
admitted to Compofition for his Eftate ; but yet,

contrary tq thofe Articles, the Parliament did af-

terwards order his Eftate to be fold. After the

Diffolution of which Parliament Sir John Stowel

pleaded by his Counfel (which were Serjeant

Maynard and Mr. Latch,) That that Order was
Dijjolved by the Diffolution of that Parliament ; and
that therefore the Articles were again in Force :

And that the Plea was admitted to be good, and
Sir John reftored to the Benefit of the Articles

upon that Plea, even by Bradfhaw himfelf. But
he faid, he was forry, that he could neither have
Sir William Jones, to argue thofe Points for him
which he had ufed againft my Lord Shaftsbury \

nor Serjeant Maynard, to make good the Inva-

lidity of Parliamentary Orders after Diffolutions :

But he faid, That it was not his Fault, and he
doubted not but that he was before more juft

Judges than there were in thofe ill Times ; and
that he hoped, That the Liberty of the Subjecl was
not now more precarious than it was in thofe Days.

He added, That if uponfuch Orders Men could

not be Bailed in the Interval of Parliaments, they

would become Grievances equal to the Multipli-

cations of Treafons in former Days ; which have
fometimes been greedily made heretofore by Par-

liaments in diftemper'd Times ; but the Com-
mons had never been quiet, till they could get

their Bear chain'd up, and their Laws reduced

to the old Standard of Treafon again : But yet

thofe things had been done by Acts, and not by
Orders of Parliament.

He defired them likewife to remember, That
it had been one of the chief Grounds of the late

War betwixt the King and his Parliament, (in

which fo much Blood had been fhed) That an
Ordinance of Parliament fhould not be held

equal to an Act of Parliament ; and yet thofe

were Orders of both Houfes. And now, faid

he, fhall we be Defending, that an Order of
One Houfe only fhall be Equivalent to a Law ?

and fhall be in Force againft our greateft and
moft Sacred Laws of Liberty, which have been
fo confirmed to us ? This, faid he, I am not able

to
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tp underftand the Reafon of •, nor will any Man
who fhall give himfeif the lead leifure to think

upon it.

He then faid, he dented to ask any Man that

then heard him, or any Commoner of England,

who would but take Time to confider this Cafe,

(which may be any Man's in England,) Whether

they would be contented to inveft the Lords

with fuch an Inherent Power over their Liber-

ties, which they can no more be exempted from

than the Peers themfelves ?

And he faid, That the Lords had already made

it appear, that they would not have any fuch

Arbitrary Power placed in them, for that they

had refufed to pais a Favourite All (which was for

their own Trials) only by realbn of a Claufe which

was inferted therein, To have Enabled the Sub/lance

of this prefent Order into a Law.

And he faid, That the Houfe of Commons
defiring that fuch a Power might have been Enact-

ed into a Law, {tho' themfelves would have been

the firft who would have repented fuch a Law,) did

fufficiently denote, That the Commons did not think

the Order would be binding in haw after their Dif-

folution ; for otherwife what need was there of a

Law, if the Order was in force after Diffolution,

without a Law.
Upon the whole he faid, he thought the D:f-

temper of that time had given more weight to

the Order, than any thing elfe ; and fome of

their Lordfhips on that Bench did know, both

in what an Heat it had been made, and how it

had been fmce blown upon by the Lords them-

felves ; who he was confident would no more

endure to have it conftrued in that Senfe which

now feems to be put upon it, (offubjecling Men to

be under Ind-efin ite Imprisonment)
than they will endure themfelves to be every Day
put in the Stocks.

As he had faid thus much to the Order it felf,

fo he faid, he hoped to make appear, That the

Court's Bailing of him would not at all intrench

upon the Order, nor meddle with the Jurif-

diftion of the Lords nor their Proceedings in any

kind.

For that he took it for granted, That what

is done by that Court, and the Courts of Chan-

cery and Exchequer, on Appeals and Writs of

Error, was underftood not to meddle at all with

the Jurifdiction nor Proceedings of the Lords

in thofe Cafes ; and that this was jujl the fame,

all being alike fubjeel to the final Determination of

the Lords, whatever they pleafed to call the Appeal,

Writ of Error, or Impeachment, before them, and

without any Prejudice to their Lordjhips Proceedings

by any of thofe Acls done by that or the other Courts

in the Interval of Parliaments.

Befides, he faid, it had been ufual to Bail in

that Court to the Juftice Seat in Eyre, and yet

that that Court could not proceed further.

He inftanced alfo, That Court's allowing of

the Pardons of Peers, (when pleaded there) and
yet that they had no Power to proceed to the Trial

of a Peer.

And fo he faid, There were divers other la-

flances of that Court's proceeding to fuch and fuch

Degrees of exercifing their Power to avoid De-
lays, &c. where the Court had no Jurifdiction to

determine the Matter.

Precedents, he faid, were not to be expected,

which were exactly fitted to his Cafe, becaufe

he durft be -bold to fay, there never was fuch a

Cafe before, (when well conndered in all its

Circumftances,) nor he hoped never would be

again : But he faid, that therefore both the

King's Power and the People's Liberties would

be the more concern'd in what Refolution fhould

be given by the Court in this Cafe of his.

He faid, there were Precedents of Difcharging

of Men Impeach'd in Parliament upon the King's

Writ to that Court, commanding) the Proceed-

ings to ceafe, and they have been"; difcharged ac-

cordingly by that Court, without Any other Rea-
fon given in the Writ, but becaufe the King held

the Parties to be Innocent and Free from the

Crimes charg'd againft them. As in the Cafes

of Melton Archbifhop of York, and Gravefend

Bifhop of London, 7 E. 3.

He mentioned alio Hugh Spencer, and Sir Tho-

mas Berkley's, being Mainprifed to Parliament,

and yet that the latter was upon Sufpicion for

the Murder of a King (viz.) Edward the Se-

cond.

He faid, Inferior Courts had Bailed to Par-

liament about the Pope's Bull, &fc. Reg. V/rits,

274.
He faid, a fingle Judge, (viz. Sir Robert

Atkins) had lately "Bailed one for Treafon, and

another for Murder ; and that he did himielf

hear his Juftification of both allow'd (as to the

legal part) before the King and Council.

Pie faid, that Kings had formerly abolifh'd

Accufations of Treafon, and inftanced a Cafe of

Talbot againft Ormond in the time of H. 6.

And to fhew how powerful the bare Inten-

tion of Kings to Pardon hath been heretofore,

he inftanced the Cafe of a Man Indicted of Fe-

lony, who (without any Counfel) fhew'd forth

a Charter of Pardon to the Court, which was

difcordant to the Indictment, and alfo to his

Name j and yet becaufe the Court perceived that

it was the King's Intention he fhould be par-

doned, he was remanded to get a better Pardon,

26 Aft. p. 46.

And he did thereupon fay, That he hoped

the King's Intention of Pardon as to him, had

been fufficiently declared to the whole King-

dom.
And in fliort, he faid, That if the Matter

was proper for the Jurifdiction of that Court,

before it was in Parliament ; its having been

there, did not take away the Jurifdiction from a

Competent Court, when the Extraordinary Ju-
rifdiction fails ; which was not to be fuppofed

could lay all other Jurifdictions afleep, when it

felf was not in being ; and efpecially when that

Competent Court fhould do nothing in Con-
tradiction to the Proceedings of the Extraordi-

nary Court, as he hoped he had made appear,

that that Court would not do by the Bailing of

him.

Whereas on the contrary, he faid it was moffc

evident, that Juftice did fail in the higheft Con-

cern, (which is that of Mens Liberties) unlefs he

could be informed when and where he might

certainly be either Tried or Difcharged ; for that

(as he had faid before) it' was agreed both by the

Counfel for the King, and the Counfel for the

Prifoners, in the Arguments on the Grand Ha-
beas Corpus, that Indefinite Imprison-
ment was held to be Perpetual Im-
risonme nt, which the Law did admit in

no Cafe where the Imprifonment was only A d>

Custodiam. And altho' his had been in-

tended
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tended but Ad Custodial, yet it could not

be denied, but it had already been ad Gravem

Poenam, and without any particular Caufe yet

Jhew'dfor which he ought not be Bailed by Law.

He then faid, That Littleton had declared in

his Arguments, 5 Car. That if Treafon in gene*

ral fhould be held to be a fufficient Return, yet

that the King's-Bench might Bail : And the faid

Littleton, and the King's Attorney in their Argu-

ments (one for the King, and the other for

Mr. Selden) did agree, That where the Party could

not avoid the Judgment of the Law^ nor that there

was no Danger by his being at Liberty, He ought

to be Bailed after long Imprifonment ; and at that

time, Six Months was taken to be long Impri-

fonment.

. He faid he had read a PafTage in the Lord

Coke's Inftitutes, where he fpoke of fuch Im-

prifonments as he compared to the Imprifon-

ment of St. Paul, by the Centurion, who firft put

him in Chains, and then enquired who he was,

and what he had done.

He faid he would not compare his Cafe to

that •* but that there was fo much of refemblance

in it, that he had been in Chains, or what was

there meant by Chains (which was a Prifon) for

above Three Years, on a pretence of Treafon,

without being told to that day what kind of

Treafon he had committed -, which had been done

in no-body's Cafe but his, and by fo much the

greater was his Hardihip.

He had alfo both been Accufed and Commit-

ted without any Oath made againft him.

When a Day had been appointed for his Hear-

ing, his Counfel had been forbid to plead Mat-

ter of Law for him.

It had been acknowledged, that there was no

Treafon contained in any of the Articles againft

him, if they were all true*

And if they had been true^ and had amounted

to Treafon, he had there fhewed the King's Par-

don* which did releafe both the Crimes and the

Imprifonment.

That befides that Pardon, he had had his Maje-

fty's Declaration in full Parliament, both of his

Innocence, and that he would grant him his Par-

don ten times over, if this were defective.

That he had now had his Majefty's Confent

to his Bail, a fecond time, declared to that Court

by the Attorney-General by the King's Direc-

tion.

That in all thefe foregoing Particulars, his Cafe

was Angular, and different from all others, who
are or have been made Prifoners fince the begin-

ing of the late Plot, or (as he believed) at any

other time.

Befides thefe Things, which are peculiar to his

own Cafe, he faid that there was alfo what was

common to other Cafes as well as his.

The Length of his Imprifonment, which had

been above 40 Months.

The being confin'd fo long under pretence (as

he conceived) of an Order of the Houfe of

Lords, which neither direcls nor implies any thing

toforbid Bail. But in that alfo he had what was

particular to himielf (which he had already faid,

and defired leave to repeat, becaufe it would

deferve their Confideration,) viz. That he was

at Liberty, and had leave to be a fitting Member in

the Houfe of Lords, at the time vjhen that Or-

der did declare that the Impeachments, Appeals,

&c, and the Incidents belonging to them floould ftand

7S 1

in STATU QUO; fo that (as is already ob-

ferved) the STATUS £>JJO (as to him) he again

faid, was to put him into a State of Liberty.

Laftly, he faid, That he had no Profpect now
when any Parliament would fit, and by the Ex-
amples of paft Parliaments, he might reafbnably

fear, whether, when they did meet, they might
fit fo long as to give him Relief; for that his

Petition had been read the firft Day that the

laft Parliament entered upon any publick Bu-
finefs ; or whether greater Bufinefs of the King-
dom might not (as it had done already,) lb

take up their Time, as not to give them leifure

to confider the Cafe of a fingle Perfon: And
fince this had already fallen out to be his Mis-'

fortune in three Parliaments fucceffively, he took
it to be but too plain a Demonjlration of his lying

under an indefinite Imprifonment, unlefs he fhould

find Relief in that Court, for that there was no

other to appeal unto.

He faid, That in thofe great and eminent
Cafes which fell out 3^5 Car. about the bailing

of Perfons committed to indefinite Imprifonment ,

the Judges were then very pofitive againft their

Bail, and yet changed thofe Opinions afterwards

;

and fo he hoped that Court might do upon a
due Confideration of his Cafe and Circumftances j

or elie he hoped that his Lordfhip would con-

vince him, that his Imprifonment was not indefi-

nite, by letting him know at what prefixed Time
and where he might refort for Remedy, which
the Law does, without Queftion, allow to all Men,
and at all Times.

He faid he was a very reafonable Man, and
when he was convinced by Reafon (upon which
he was fure all Laws were founded) he could be
content to fuller ftill, tho' his Imprifonment had
been fo long already •, for that however he may
have been mifreprefented, for an arbitrary Man,.

he would rather perifh in his Prifon, than have any
thing done for him which the Law would not

warrant : But, on the other fide, he Ihould be

forry, that his Cafe fhould be made a Precedent

againft Law and againft Englifh Liberty, which
he was furc it would be, if he fhould be con-

tinued to lie under an indefinite Imprifonment with-

out being bailed ; and he faid he was not afhamed
to fay, in the Behalf of all Englifbtnens Liber-

ties, as well as of his own Cafe ; That it was a

Cafe which did concern every Man to take care

of in the Confequences of it, and which did cry

loudly for Relief.

He then told the Court, That he had troubled

them long, but that he hoped it would be ex-

cufed in a Cafe of that Moment : And in the

firft place, he faid, he hoped it was plain, that

That Court had it in their Power to grant him
Relief, if they pleafed.

That it was as plain, that there was nothing

in the Lords Order againft it, and that the Prac-

tice of the Lords had been otherwiie, even in

the Behalf of Commoners.
That it was apparent, that both that Court,

and the Courts of Chancery and Exchequer, do re-

lieve upon Appeals and Writs of Error, which are

in the fame Order with the Impeachments, and yet

do in no fort meddle with the Judicature or Pro-

ceedings of the Houfe of Lords.

That it was manifeft, that let the Order be

conftrued as any Man pleafes, yet that bailing

could be no fort of judging of any Proceedings

in the fuperior Court, but would have the Judg-
':

•' mens
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msnl entirely to the Parliament, and would continue

him a Prifoner in Law, bound to appear before

that extraordinary Court, whenever his Majefty

ihall be pleafed to call it ; and he faid it was

more evident, that otherwife he was an indefinite

Prifoner, and at the King's Will only for his Li-

berty, the Confequences of which every Man
ought to lay to his Heart, with a Dread of it,

whenever they mould live under a Prince that

might not be fo merciful as our prefent King ; and

he hoped the Court would duly confider it.

Befides all this, he faid, he durft confidently

affirm, That there was not a Precedent fince the

Conquejl, of any Man's being refufed Bail under

fuch Circumflances as his were : Whereas, he faid,

the detaining of Men under long Imprifonment,

ought either to have exprefs Law for it, or a good

Number of Precedents, and in good Times to jujlify

it, and not any fingle Inftance or two (if they

could be producedj which he thought they could

not.

And he hoped that Precedent which he had

already mentioned on his Majefty's Behalf, would

be very well confidered, which was, How the

King's Court fhould keep the King's Prifoner, and

at the King's Suit, in the King's Prifon, with the

King's Pardon, and againft the King's Will, twice

declared in that Court by his Attorney-General.

He faid, he fhould conclude with letting his

Lordfhip know, that as the King himfelf had

fufficiently declared that there was no Danger in

the letting him have his Liberty, fo he had fuch

Bail to offer to his Lordfhip, as would fufficient-

ly fatisfy the World, that he fhould be forth-

coming to anfwer" when and where that Court

fhould appoint ; and then, he hoped, the two
chief Grounds for Detenfion in a Prifon (viz.

The Danger of a Man's having his Liberty, and the

Danger of his not appearing to abide his Trial)

would be fully anfwered.

And if it might not feem too great a Vanity

to fay (altho' the true Reafon does take away
the Vanity of it, becaufe it would not be for his

but for their own Sakes, as what may happen
to be their own Cafes) he faid, he doth believe,

he could have the major Part of the Houfe of
Lords to be his Bail in this Cafe, and fome of
rhofe very Lords who were for the making of
this Order, altho' not in that Senfe which would
feem to be put upon it. Infomuch, that there

would be no more to fear in the granting him
Bail, than, he hoped there was either Reafon

or Juftice to deny it. And he doubted not, but

he was there before very juft Judges, who would
duly confider what he had faid.

The Lord Chief Juftice then fpeaking, did

fay, That the Earl of Danby had ieemed to re-

flect upon the Court, as if they had denied him
Juftice in not hearing his Counfel.

Then the Earl of Danby defired Leave to in-

terrupt his Lordfhip, faying, That his Lordfhip

had miftaken him, for that he had faid no fuch

Thing of that Court, nor did he mean of that

Court ; but faid, it was very well known, that

his Counfel had been forbid to plead for him in

another Place; which was then acknowledged

by Juftice Jones to be very true.

The Lord Chief Juftice then proceeded, and
faid, That for his Lordfhip's faying they needed

not to fear, becaufe he did believe the greater!

Part of the Lords would be his Bail : That
if was not the Fear of another Court that had

any kind of Influence upon them, or that they

fhould do fuch Things as they feared to be called

to an Account for ; but that they were to govern,

themfelves by the doing of Juftice.

That they had heard his Lordfhip with a

great deal of Patience •, and that he had faid

many material Things, and with much Acutenefs;

and that they were not fenfelefs of the Hardfhip

of his Lordfhip's Cafe, and of the Greatnefs of
his Sufferings.

That they were likewife fenfible of the King's
Defires, that his Lordfhip fhould have no longer

Imprifonment than the Law requires. And he
confeffed, Thai the King had done as much as. lay in

his Power.

That it was not denied, becaufe that Court
could not bail for Treafon ; for that they had a
Power to bail in all Cafes whatfoever, if the Court
faw Caufe. Neither would the Indictment which
was found againft him about Sir Edmundbury God-

frey, have hindred ; nor was it the Order of the

Houfe of Lords which hindred them : But that

they were to act there according to Law ; and he
pray'd his Lordfhip to confider, that they could

not relieve him according to Law.
That he did agree to fome Things mentioned

by his Lordfhip ; and that it was a very hard

Cafe he fhould lie fo long in Prifon : But here

was the Mifery ; they could only companionate

him ; for that his Lordfhip was imprifoned by
an higher Hand, and where they had no Power
to intermeddle.

He inftanced in Indictments for Treafbns, and
feveral other great Crimes, in which they could

bail Men ; but in this Cafe, the fupreme Jurif-

diclion of the Nation had laid their Hands upon it,

which was attended by the Houfe of Commons with

an Impeachment

.

Whether their Lordfhips had Caufe, or not

Caufe, to commit his Lordfhip, they could not

infpeel •, but that they ought to believe that his

Lordfhip was juftly committed ; and that their

Lordfhips, in their mature Deliberation, would
do nothing unjuftly.

He faid, That they had a Jurifdidlion over all

the Courts in the Kingdom, (that only excepted.)

And as it would be very incongruous for an in-

ferior Court to bail whom they had committed, or

to call their Proceffes in aueftion ; fo would it be

in like manner for them to do in this Cafe, becaufe

the Lords exceed their Jurifdiclion, and were

above them. He faid alio, That the Opinion
of all the Judges in England had been taken

therein, and had delivered their Opinions, that

he could not be bailed : and that the Truth
was, his Lordfhip was imprifoned by too high a

Court for them to bail him : For that his Lord-,

fhip was not indefinitely imprifoned, as he had ai-

ledged ; For whenever his Majefty is phafed to call

a ' Parliament, his Lordfhip would have Remedy.

That the King has Power to do it when he pleafes;

and for his People's Good, no doubt he will,

when he fees fit: But that at fome time the Circum-

ftances of State differ from other times, and that

it may not for fome Space of Time be thought

convenient: And though this may prove mif-

chievous to a fingle Perfon, or to two or three

Perfons, yet fuch Things muft be endured for

the Good of the Pubiick. He faid alfo, That if

that Court fhould commit a Man for High-Treafon,

and the King fhould adjourn them from Time to

'lime, that Man could not- be bailed until they fat
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afain: So that he rauft confefs, (as his Lordfhip

had faid) that as his Cafe did happen, he was under

a temporary indefinite Imprifonment.

He concluded, with telling his Lordfhip, That

he muft be contented to wait the Kings Pkafurewhen

be would call a Parliament.

That, for his Part, he was before of Opinion,

that they could not bail his Lordfhip, and he was

fo ftill.

The Earl of Banby to all this anfwered, that he

muft confefs, his Ears did tingle to hear his Lord-

Ihip fay, That the King had done as much as lay in

his Power ; when his Majefty is bound both by his

Coronation Oath, and by the Laws, to fee Right

done at all Times to his Subjects ; and he defired to

know, Whether this was not the King's Court, and

whether he had not deputed a Power to them to fee

Right done to all accordingly ?

He faid alfo, That he was now under greater

Amazement than before ; fince his Lordfhip had

both granted, That this Court could bail any Trea-

fon, and that the Order of the Houfe of Lords did

not hinder it; which, till now, he confeft, he

had taken to be the only Obftruction to his Li-

berty.

That he had hoped, he had fatisfied his Lord-

fhip, that altho' he was imprifon'd by an higher

Hand, yet that the bailing of him did not intermed-

dle with the Jurifditlion of that higher Judicature,

and he had yet heard nothing to fhew him that it

did.

That For what his Lordfhip had faid of the

Opinion of all the Judges of England, being taken

in his Cafe, he muft needs inform his Lordfhip,

That that was a Miftake ; for that the Opinion

of the Judges had never been asked in this par-

ticular Cafe, faving once, upon petitioning the

King for Liberty to go to his Country-Houfe at

Wimbleton, with a Guard, or otherwife, as his

Majefty fhould think fit-, which Petition was

referred by his Majefty to the Judges : And they

(according to their wonted Prudence and Cau-

tion) did only report, That they thought his

Majefty could not legally grant the Petitioner's

Requeft.

That whereas his Lordfhip faid, That he was

not indefinitely imprifoned, for that whenever his

Majefty is pleafed to call a Parliament, he will have

Remedy ; and that he muft be content to await the

King's Pleafure when he will call a Parliament ; He
took thofe to be fuller Arguments than any him-

felf had made, to prove, That his Imprifonment

was indefinite, and at the King's Pleafure ; fo that he

was now more fully confirm
1d than ever to be of that

Opinion, andwifh'd that every Man, that heard that

Doclrine givenfor Law, might fully conjider the Con-

fequences of it.

He faid further, That his Lordfhip had miftaken

him, in thinking that he had faid he was under a

temporary indefinite Imprifonment ; for that he had

faid he was under an abfolute indefinite Imprifonment

:

And that his Lordfhip had rather proved him to

be fo, than fhewed any thing to the contrary ;

nor did he know what temporary indefinite did

[
mean.

The Lord Chief Juftice then faid, That he was

not a Judge at that Time when the Judges Opini-

ons were asked, but defired his Brother Jones to

relate how it was.

Mr. Juftice Jones then faid, That he remem-
bred the Cafe had been put to the Judges, Whe-
ther the Lords in the Tower might be bailed, and
Vol. II.

that it was then the Opinion of the Judges that"

they might not : But he faid, he did think the

Earl of Danby was not particularly concerned in

the Queftion at that Time, but that it related to

the Popifh Lords only, and that there was much
Difference betwixt his Lordfhip's Cafe and theirs

;

befides, he did think, that was at aTime when there

was a Day appointed for the Meeting of a Parlia-

ment.

The Earl of Banby then faid, that the Queftiorr

which was put at that Time to the Judges, about

the Popifh Lords, did not concern his Cafe at all

;

for that it differed from theirs in very many Parti-

culars, which he had already mentioned, viz. Of
no Oath againft him ; No fpecial Treafon alledg-

ed, &c. which he was loth to trouble them with

repeating again ; but he fuppofed, that the then

Opinion of the Judges ought not to be made any
Argument againft him.

He faid alfo that the Lord Chief Juftice had
argued very ftrongly for him : For that it was
true, Thai the King might call a Parliament when
he pleafed; but if therefore a Man muft ftay in Pri-

fon till the King did pleafe to do fo, he may (by that

very Argument) lie there all his Life-time, if the

King pleafes ; which confirms what he had been

a great Part of his Time labouring to prove:

And, he faid, he muft confefs, he did expect to

have heard ftronger and more powerful Arguments

to have convinc'd him, that he was in the Wrong
in what he had faid ; but that now he was more
encourag'd than before, not to give over a

Caufe which did fo much concern every Man in

England.

The Lord Chief Juftice then faid, That his Lord-
fhip was miftaken in believing that that Court did

keep him in Prifon ; for that he was not kept in

Prifon by them, but by a fuperior Court, which

was too big for them to meddle with, or to examine

what they did.

To this his Lordfhip anfwered, That he had
Wrong done him, which muft be done by fome-

body, and that it was a Maxim of the Law, That

the King could do no Man Wrong, (being advifed by
his Courts) befides, that his Majefty had twice

fhew'd his Confent in that Court to have him bail'd.

Neither could he fay, that the Lords did him
Wrong, becaufe there was nothing in their Order
to hinder his being bailed, (befides their own Prac-

tice to the contrary^) and it feemed now to be
faid, that it was by the Law, and not by the Or-
der, that he was kept a Prifoner. He faid, he
would not fay, that That Court did keep him a

Prifoner, but by fomebody he was fure he wa^ kept

Prifoner; but perhaps it might be by the Stars,

fince he could not find who it was upon Earth that

did it.

He concluded, That if he were legally impri-

fon'd, yet by Magna Charta and the Petition of
Right, &c. it was impoffible for an Englifhman

to be without fome certain Profpect of Relief in

a reafonable Time, they being to have Juftice'

done them by the Law at all Times, and with-

out Delay ; and that he was now in the King's

proper Court for Juftice ; wherefore, as his Lord-
fhip had given his own Opinion, fb he did defire

that every Judge would be pleafed to deliver theirs

feverally.

Then Mr. Juftice Jones faid, That he was not

ready to give any prefent Opinion, there having

been fb much, and fbme Things fo materially

faid by his Lordfhip : But that for his better Sa-

5 D tisfaction s
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tisfaction, he did defire to ask his Lordfhip a

Queftion, in a Point which did much Hick with

him, and would go a great way in guiding his

Judgment ; and he was confident, that his Lord-

fhip was as able to give him an Anfwer to it, as

any Man ; which was this : His Lordfhip (he

faid) had been charged with Treafon by an Im-
peachment, and had pleaded a Pardon to the Im-

peachment before the Lords ; He faid he took

that Plea to be a tacit Confejfion of Guilt in Law,
(tho' the Party were never fo innocent) and then

it had been a tacit Pleading of Guilty ; infbmuch,

that he did believe, there could be no Admit-
tance of any fecond Plea ; and if fo ; he did con-

fefs, he did not fee how that Court could then

have any thing to do with his Lordfhip in that

Cafe ; but it was what he had not well con-

fidered (tho' at prefent he took the Law to be fo)

and he did defire to hear what his Lordfhip did fay

to that?

His Lordfhip anfwered, That he gave him
great Thanks for letting him clear any Objecti-

ons, and giving him Liberty to anfwer them as

well as he could. That this indeed was a Que-
ftion of Law, which he was but little vers'd in,

but that he was at prefent able to fay, That he

had read the Opinions of fbme great Men of the

Law, to be otherwife ; and inftanced what the

Lord Coke had faid upon the Cafe of Gravefend,

Bifhop of London, y E. 3. who did get a Writ
of Difcharge to the King's-Bench, and did not

take a Pardon ; upon which he obferved the faid

Lord Coke to have faid, That it may be he thought

that the taking of a Pardon would have implied a
ConfeJJion of the Fault, and therefore went a new
Way ; but that was a Mi/lake, for that no Man that

is wife and well advifed, will refufe God and the

King's Pardon, how oftenfoever he may have it ; for
there is no Man but offendeth God and the King aU

mqfi every Day, and the Pardon is the fafeft andfureft
Way.
And tho' at prefent, he faid, he was not pro-

vided of Precedents in the Cafe, yet he remembred
there was a Cafe of a Coiner tried at Durham upon
a Pardon, where the Pardon proved defective, and
yet) he was allowed to plead over.

And he told him, That the fame Queftion had
been moved in the Houfe of Lords upon his own
Cafe, where divers Lords had declared themfelves,

That they hoped it fhould never pafs for Law amongft
them, that a Man fhould not have one Plea for his

Life ; andgave for Reafon, that if a Pardon was
pleaded, and not admitted to be good, then the Pri-

foner had depended upon what he thought had been a
good Plea, but was adjudged by the Court not to

be fo, and then, if hefhould not be admitted to plead
over, it would be to enfnare a Man's Life, without
giving him any Plea at all for it. And he con-
cluded, faying, He thought that this Queftion
was rather going into the Merits of his Caufe,
than to what he only demanded, which was but
Bail.

Mr. Juftice Dolben then faid, He muft acknow-
ledge there was a vaft Difference betwixt his

Lordfhip's Cafe, and the Cafe of the Popifh
Lords in the Tower, in many material Particulars,

which his Lordfhip had mentioned ; and he muft
confefs he thought it one of the hardefl Cafes in Eng-
land. He faid alfb, that he could not but differ

from what his Brother Jones had faid, as to the not
having Liberty to plead over ; for that he was of
Opinion, his Lordfhip ought not to be debarr'd

from having a fecond Plea, if the Pardon fhould be
over-ruled ; and (if I did not miftake him) he cited

the Inftance of one Hetley's Cafe, (or fuchaName)
and he faid, that his Lordfhip had faid fo many
Things of great Confequence, that he thought it

did very well deferve further Confideration ; but if

he fhould be put to give any prefent Anfwer, he
muft then fay (as myLord Chief Juftice had done)
that he thought they could not bail his Lordfhip

;

but he thought it might well deferve further Con-
fideration.

Mr. Juftice Raymond then faid, That his Lord-
fhip's Cafe had fb many weighty Circumftances
in it, as ought to make it to be very well confi-

dered, before any Opinion could be delivered in
it. That for what had been faid by his Brother
Jones, about the Pleading over or not, he thought
that did not properly lie before them in that Place:
That his Lordfhip had faid fame Things, to which
he thought full Anfwers might be given ; but that

he had alfb faid fome things, to which he thought it

would not be fo eafy to anfwer. That for his Part,

he thought it was a Cafe which might well de-
ferve the Confideration of more of the Judges, be-

twixt this and the next Term 5 and that he muft
acknowledge he muft further confider it, be.

fore he would prefume to give any Opinion at all

upon it.

A Counfel at the Bar then moved, That a
Rule of Court might be made to bring his

Lordfhip thither again, the firft Day of the next i

Term.
The Lord Chief Juftice feemed difpleafed with

the Forwardnefs of that Counfel ; and the )EarI

of Danby excufed it, faying, It was not moved
by his Defire or Directions ; but faid, That was
all alike to him, whether there were any Rule of

Court or no ; for that they were like to be troubled

with him again, and that he fhould not eafily give

over a Caufe, wherein he took the Liberty of
the Subject in general to be as deeply concern'd

as himfelf, and wherein he had found fo little

to be faid againft him, that he did believe he
fhould be as troublefbme to them as ever Judge
Jenkins had been heretofore in the Defence of Eng"

lifh Liberty.

The Lord Chief Juftice then ftanding up, faid,

My Lord, your Lordfhip muft for the prefent be

content to be remanded ; and fpeaking to the Lieu-

tenant of the Tower's Officer, told him, he muft

take back his Prifbner.

And then the Lord Chief Juftice immediately

left the Court.

June 29, 1682. Trin. 34 Car. II.

THE Earl moved the Court again to be bail-

ed j when he fpake as follows :

My Lord,

HEN I laft attended your Lordfhips, and

this Court, the Judges (or moft of them)

were of Opinion, That what I then faid to your

Lordfhip might deferve further Confideration;

and therefore, my Lord, I doubt not, but that

your Lordfhip has been pleafed to confider further

thereof.

At that Time, my Lord, none of the Judges

but your Lordfhip, I think, made any very par-

ticular Objections againft my being bailed ; and

if I am able to offer any thing to your Lordfhip

that may give a fufficient Anfwer to thofe Ob-

jections, I do not doubt but that your Lordfhip

is



1682. B.R. "or High-Treafon. 7.

is fo juft, that you will not adhere to any Opi-

nion, only becaufe you have been once of that

Opinion, if any thing can be fhewed to con-

vince you to change it. In Confidence there-

fore, that I am before a Court, which is not to

be influenced by any Body (how great foever,)

nor by any Thing but by the Laws of England,

and by your Oaths to do Juftice according to

thofe Laws •, and being well aflured of the Care

which your Lordfhip will always have to main-

tain the Englijh Liberties, with which your Lord-

fhip is intrufted by the King, and by the Laws,

and invefted with Power enough by both to de-

fend them at all Times, and againft all Opinions

whatfoever : My Lord, I fay, prefuming, and

not doubting of all this, I fhall take upon me
to add fomething to what I have faid already to

the Objections which were then made by your

Lordfhip, and I hope I fhall have Liberty to

anfwer any new Objections that may be now
made.

My Lord, I take it for granted in the firft

Place, that the Order of the Houfe of Lords is

no Objection againft my Bail, becaufe your Lord-

fhip was pleafed to tell me fo the laft Time I

was here ; and then I do reckon that thofe Ob-
jections which have been made againft my being

bailed, may be fummed up under thefe three

Heads.

The firft, my Lord, as well as my Memory
will ferve me, was, That as it was incongruous

for a Court which was inferior to this, to bail

any Man that was committed by this Court, or

to call in queftion the Procefs of this Court ; fo

it would likewife be for this Court to do in my
Cafe ; for that if a Man were committed by this

Court, no inferior Court could bail that Man,
(in cafe his Majefty fhould think fit to adjourn this

Court from Time to Time) until this Court fhould

fit again.

The fecond Objection was, That I am not in-

definitely imprifoned, for that when his Majefty

fhall pleafe to call a Parliament, I would have Re-

medy ; and therefore I muft wait till his Majefty

fhould pleafe to call a Parliament.

The third was, That this Caufe of mine was
depending in a fuperior Court, which was too big

for this Court, and that the fupreme Court having

laid its Hands upon me,, therefore this Court could

not intermeddle in that Matter ; my Lord, thefe,

to the beft of my Remembrance, are the Sub-

ftance of the Objections then made.
The firft of thefe, I have been told without

Doors, is taken to be one of the weightieft Objec-

i

tions againft me, and truly I fhould be very glad

it fhould prove fo, becaufe I think it may be fo ea-

fily anfwered.

For in the firft Place, As to the calling in que-

ftion the Procefs, I conceive that Bail is no calling

in queftion any Procefs, and this Court did truly

;

think fp, when in the Cafe of the Earl o{ Shaftsbury
[they did declare, that had he not come to them
.in the Time of an Adjournment of Parliament,
; they would have bailed him-, and, my Lord, as

jnothing is more evident, than that this Court
and other Courts do meddle with the Proceed-
ings of that fuperior Court, fo I do not doubt
but to make appear, that they do meddle in a much
greaser degree than what I defire of Bail ; and
that the Confequences of what they do every
.pay practife, may be far more dangerous to the
"ubject, than the bailing of me can be.
Vol. II.

For that Part of the Objection that compares a

Commitment of this Court, to a Commitment of

the Houfe of Lords, and doth from thence con-

clude, that becaufe an inferior Court to this cannot

bail a Man who is committed by this Court, there-

fore this Court cannot bail a Man who is commit-

ted by a fuperior Court :

This feems fo very unequal a Companion, and
the Inequality of it fo obvious, that truly I

thought it had not needed any Anfwer ; for I

would defire no other Anfwer from your Lord-*

fhip, (if you can give it me,) than what an in-

ferior Court may give to any Perfon that fhall

come before them with the like Requeft : For
they may give him good and fufficient Reafons

why they do not bail him ; they may not only

tell the Party that he is committed by the iuperi-

or Court of the King's-Bencb, and that he muft
go thither for his Relief; but they can give him
good Reafons why he muft do fo ; for they can

tell him that the Court of King's-Bencb will fit

next Term, they can tell him when that Term
will begin, and they can tell him how long that

Term will laft, and they can tell him that the

Court of King's-Bencb cannot be difTolved as the

Parliament may be : And, my Lord, this takes

away all that Prifoner's Pretences, to fay that he

is an indefinite Prifoner ; and if your Lordfhip

can give me any fuch Anfwers as thefe, I fhall

be as well fatisfied as that Man ought to be;

but if no fuch certain Anfwers as thefe can be

given, then I muft beg Pardon, to tell your Lord-
fhips, that it cannot be denied, but that my Im-
prifonment is indefinite, and if it be fo, I do as an
Englijhman affirm, that no Law in England can

fupport it.

For the faying that if the King fhould adjourn

this Court from Time to Time, the Party could

not be bailed till fuch Time as this Court fhould

fit again ; my Lord, If this fhould be admitted

as a reafonable Suppofition (which under Fa-

vour, I do not think your Lordfhip your felf

does take it to be) yet it is but an Adjournment
that is objected, and if the Parliament were but

under an Adjournment, I would not have trou-

bled your Lordfhip : But this is not the Cafe •,

for though fometimes the King may adjourn this

or any other Court of Weftminfter, by reafon of
fome extraordinary Occafion, as m Cafe of a Pe-

ftilence or fomething of that Nature, (and I

know there have been Precedents of it) yet, my
Lord, thefe are upon extraordinary Occafions,

and it is not to be thought, nay i am very cer-

tain, that his Majefty will never do any thing

that fhall deprive his Subjects of any of thole

Rights the Law allows them j fo that in one

Cafe the Law obliges that the Terms fhould be

kept four Times a Year, and that then the Court

fhall fit if there be not extraordinary Occafions

to hinder it •, but in the other Cafe of a Par-

liament, the King lies under no Obligation, nor

Reftraint, whether he fhall call, or whether he

will call it; and therefore the Inequality of the

Comparifbn is fufficiently apparent : And, be tide's

this, it is as unknown how long a Parliament

fhall fit, as when it is to fit; Infomuch that I

take all this but to have offered additional Ar-

guments on my Side, and fhews how little the

Arguments are that can be brought againft me";

and I think it makes out to me and to all Englijh-

men, that no Man ought to lie under fuch an in-

definite Reftraint as I do : And truly, "my Lord,

5 D 2 I thought
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I thought I fhewed more Refpect to the Court,

in giving a more general Anfwer to this Objection

(as I did before) than I can do now by being fo

particular.

For the fecond Objection, viz. That I am not

indefinitely imprifoned, for that when the King

will pleafe to call a Parliament, I would have a Re-

medy there, and therefore I muft wait till the King

will call a Parliament.

Truly, my Lord, perhaps your Lordihip may
know the Mind of the King or his Minifters

better than I do ; but if you do not, I am fure

no Man but the King can tell whether I fhall

have Remedy then or no •, for by the Experience

of three Parliaments that have been called fince

I was a Prifoner, it hath appeared that I have

had no Remedy: Therefore I fhould be very

glad to fee this Matter any better proved, than it

hath been, that I am not indefinitely imprifoned ;

but if this cannot be proved neither, but that I

muft wait till the King fhall pleafe to call a Par-

liament ; and when he fhall call a Parliament, I

fhall be ho more certain of my Remedy than hi-

therto I have been, truly then I fhall need no

other Council but your Lordfhip to prove I am
under an indefinite Imprisonment; and that any

Man in England may be fo, when the King pleafes

;

and how any Doctrine can be more arbitrary than

that, or lefs to be defended by Law, when ever

that Matter fhall be brought into queftion, others

than either your Lordfhip or I muft be Judges,

and thofe who will be Parties fo much concern-

ed in this Queftion for their own Sakes, as well as

the Publick, that I believe there is fmall Doubt
to be made how they will then decide this Que-

ftion.

My Lord, If it fhould then be found that this

would hold Water, and fhould be maintained

for good Doctrine ; truly, I think, there would

need no other arbitrary Power to be fet up to

make Men quit this Country: For as to any Man's
Liberty, it might be equal to him whether he

lived under the French Government, or under the

Grand Signior's Government, as under a Govern-
ment fo arbitrary as this Doctrine alone would
make ours ; and therefore I make no doubt, my
Lord, but that you will be very careful how you
give it us for Law.
As I fhould be very forry that there fhould be

any fuch arbitrary Doctrine taught to fet the King's

Prerogative higher or greater than it ought to be

by Law, or than this King defires, fo I fhould be

as forry that the King fhould not have that Right
which duly belongs to him, which is a Right and
Power at all Times to adminifter Juftice to his

Subjects, and which I never heard denied to the

Kings of England, nor I hope I never fhall ;

And, my Lord, I muft fay, that the Preferva-

tion of that Right to the King, would take away
all Pretences for any of thefe dangerous and
new Doctrines, for if the King may adminifter

Juftice at all Times to his Subjects, (as it hath

been the Care of Parliaments, and by Magna
Charta it felf that he fhould) there is no Reafon
left for any of thofe Things to be ftarted or put
upon us.

'Tis true, indeed, that the King cannot make
Laws without a Parliament; but I did never hear

in my whole Life, but that he could adminifter

Juftice without his Parliament ; and if he could

not, his Subjects would be in a miferable Con-
dition ; for furely it would be a very hard Cafe,

if his Subjects could have no Hopes of being

righted by their Sovereign's Authority, either by
himfelf, or in his Courts, in all Cafes, and at all

Times.

The Houfe of Peers in Parliament ('tis true) is

his greateft Court, but they fit only by Virtue
of the King's Writ, and if the King fhould die

(which I hope I fhall never live to fee) they
would not then be a Court of Juftice, nor any
Court at all ; and therefore, my Lord, in this

Queftion, the Royal Authority and the Subjects

Liberties are fo involved, that what Judgment fo-

ever fhall be given, muft pafs upon the one, as

well as upon the other, and cannot poflibly be
divided.

The third Objection that was made, is, That this

Caufe of mine is depending in Parliament, which
is a fuperior Court to this ; and that the fupreme
Court having laid its Hands upon me, therefore

this Court cannot intermeddle.

My Lord, There is no Man living that hath

a greater Reverence for that fupreme Court, than

I have, or that will go further than I will, to

defend it, in all the Rights and Privileges that

belong to it by Law : Nay, my Lord, I have

fo much a greater efteem for that Court, be-

caufe I am fure it will never fuffer me, nor any

Man living to go unpunifh'd, that fhall tranf-

grefs the Law, or that fhall go about any way
to make them Tranfgreffors of the Law, or to

make them fuch as would be Reftrainers of the

Englijh Liberties, beyond what the Law permits.

They have fhewed the contrary, when it was

offered to them by a Bill from the Houfe of

Commons, that they would have no fuch abfo-

lute Authority put into their Hands over the

Liberties of the Subject, but did then refufe it

;

fo that to fay, that fupreme Court hath laid its

Hands upon any Man's Liberty in England, fur-

ther than the Law permits, would be to put an

unjuft Odium upon the Houfe of Lords to the

Nation, inftead of doing them Right ; and there-

fore I muft needs fay, that in this particular Cafe

of my own, I find only the Word and Name of

fuperior Court to be made ufe of againft me, but

nothing in Reality ; juft as they were pleafed in

the Houfe of Commons to ufe the Word traiter-

oufiy, in the Articles againft me, when there was

not a Tittle of Treafon in them, only that by

calling it Treafon, it might ferve to lay me where

I am.
But, my Lord, I know no Court that is fu-

perior at this Time to this Court where I am
now, and how any thing can be faid to be de-

pending in a Court that hath no Being, I think

will not very eafily be defended from Nonfenfe,'

without having the Matter extremely well ex-

plained ; and whenever that fuperior Court fhall

have a Being, my Caufe will then be before it,

by my being bailed to appear there. And foi

faying, it has laid its Hand upon this Cafe ol

mine, it ought to be fhewn in what the fuperioi

Court hath laid its Hand upon me, fo as to keej

me from Bail, when neither that fuperior Coun

it felf (though it were willing fo to do) is abh

'

to give me any Relief, nor that I can get t<|

be Tried or Difcharged eliewhere, nor have an;

Time prefixed when that fuperior Court fha

Sit ; as if there were no Juftice left in En£

land.

But if it be fo, that I fhall neither be Bailee

nor have it fhewed, what Hand the fuperic

Cou:

0!
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Court has laid upon me to hinder it, then truly

any Man may be fo concluded, and the Argu-

ment may be decided, by the Will and Plealure

of thofe who have Men in their Power; but the

Shadows of Things, when there is no Subftance

in the Argument, will not fatisfy reafonable Men
for an Anfwer, why fo publick a Grievance ihall

not be remedied; and I am confident, that the

Superior Court it felf will never fuffer its Name
to be made ufe of, nor themfelves to be made
Properties, to fupport fuch a Grievance as may
concern not only themfelves, but the whole Na-

tion, both in this Age, and to all Pofterities;

and by which, not only Magna Charta, and the

Petition of Right, would be evaded, but the late

Act of Habeas Corpus may alfo be eluded by this

Device; and the Parliament (when it lhall meet

again) will find, that inftead of fecuring their

Liberties, they have only been hedging in the

Cuckow; for that there is now a new way

found out, by which all Acts for our Liberties

may be made of no Effect : And this cannot be

contradicted, unlefs (as fome would fancy) the

King could not Impeach as well as the Com-
mons; but there are fo many Evidences to the

contrary of that, as there is no room left for the

Difpute : And amongft the Precedents of that

kind, there is one (becaufe it hath a double Con-

fequence) that I do defire to put your Lordfhip

in mind of.

It is in the 5 H. 4th, in the Records of the

Tower. There you will find, that the Commons
came to petition the King, that his Majefty would
be pleafed, not to Impeach the Archbifhop of

Canterbury , the Earl of Northumberland, and fome
others that were at that time accufed for being in

the Confederacy of Sir Henry Piercy, and the King
grants their Requeft, and does agree he would not

Impeach them.

I have quoted this the rather, becaufe of the

double Precedent that is in this Cafe ; for as:ain

the fame Day the Commons came (after his Ma-
jetty had granted their former Requeft) and did

further Petition his Majefty, that he would be
pleafed to affirm thofe Lords (whom he had pro-

mifed he would not Impeach) to be his true

Liege-men; and the King did grant that alfo;

by which it was then taken for granted, that he
had fet them Refti in Curia, (even though they

were in that Confpiracy with Sir Henry Piercy)

and, my Lord, I give you this Inftance, that

you may obferve two things by it : Firft, That
the Commons did Petition the King not to Im-
peach ; and when he had granted that, it appears

alfo, that by the King's declaring them to be
his true Liege-men, it was by the Commons con-

ceived, that the King did fet them Rettiin Curia;
by which it does appear, what great Regard the

Houfe of Commons had to the King's bare Af-
firmation, of their being his true Liege-men ;

and I hope, that neither this King's Power nor
Credit fhall be lefs with his own Court, than that

King's was with his Houfe of Commons; and I

am lure, no King's Affirmation can be greater,

nor more publick, both to his Parliament and
Kingdom, of any Man's being a true Liege-man,
(to ufe that old Word) than the King's hath been
concerning me.
My Lord, there are fome Men, very unable to

diftinguifh (tho' they would) between Sound and
good Senfe, and there are a great many, that are as

willing to let Men remain under their Miftakes

;
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but fince it weighs a great deal with fome who do
not very rightly diftinguifh, it will be of abfolute

Necefilty for me to explain what it is, that is meant
by a Cafe depending in Parliament, when there is

no Parliament : This will be beft fhewn by an In-

ftance in a Writ of Error depending in Parlia-

ment, in which Cafe, when the Parliament is fit-

ting, and fo the Writ is really and truly depend-
ing in the Court that is in Being, there can (du-
ring fuch Sitting) be no Execution fued upon the

Judgment. But, my Lord, no fooner is the Par-
liament diffolved but Experience fhews, that Exe-
cution may be fued, and Goods levied, and the
Properties of Mens Eftates changed ; and there-

fore it is by this fufficiently plain, that Depending
is not then meant in the fame Senfe, or in the
fame Manner, as it was meant when the Parliament
was actually fitting ; for then there could have been
no Execution fued.

Now, my Lord, when a Parliament fhall meet
again, what does it meet with ? It meets, it is

true, with the fame Caufe again, (as to the Merits)
but it meets it quite altered as to other Circum-
ftances, viz. as to the Execution that hath been
granted by an inferior Court, in the Interval of
Parliament. And, as to the Change of Property,
for a Man's Eftate (and perhaps of great Value)
may happen to be in another Man's Hands at the
fame Time by the Execution ; fo that when a Par-

liament doth meet again, it doth meet, it is true,

with the fame Caufe (as to the Merits) but indeed
as to nothing; elfe.

And therefore, by this, it is clear, that a Par-
liament does only expect, when it meets again,

to meet with the Caufe in the fame Stare (as to

the Merits of the CaufeJ and doth not at all

meddle or concern it felf to find Fault with thofe

fuppletory Acts that have been done by an in-

ferior Court in the Interval, which was only to

prevent Failure of Juftice, but it commends them
for not having delayed Juftice, and that Men
fhould not be kept too long out of their Rights,

(even tho' there may have been prodigious Wrong
done to the Parties, if the Judgment have been
erroneous) for that the fuperior Court will at Jaft

fee to the Error, if any have been committed by
the Judgment of the inferior Court, and will

enter upon all as entire again, (as to its Merits)

as if nothing had been done by the inferior

Court; fo that in Reality, that which can only
reconcile the Senfe of being Depending in Par-

liament, when the Parliament is diffolved, is this

laft Order of the Houfe of Lords, which de-

clares Impeachments, &c. to be continued, nor-

withftanding Diffolution. For by Virtue of this

laft Order, the Lords do proceed upon the Caufe,

without beginning De novo, or having any new
Writ or new Impeachment brought up to them :

But this is new Doctrine, and never practifed

till of late; however, fince they have done fo,

in this Senfe, and in this only, a Caufe may be

faid to be depending; and fo it was adjudged,

in that fingle Inftance of the Trial and Con-
demnation of my Lord Stafford; but there they

proceeded to the Merits of the Caufe, and they

tried and condemned my Lord Stafford; and there

is no manner of Doubt, but by Virtue of their

late Order, they may proceed upon me when
they fhall meet, as they ihall think fit, notwith-

ftanding my having been bailed ; for I defire not

to have the Merits of my Caufe removed from

before the Lords, if I might, but that they may
do
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do with me as they pleafe, even to Condemnation,

if they fhall have Caufe, which I hope in God
they never fhall. \

Therefore, I fay, my Lord, in this Senfe only

which I have explained, a Caufe may be faid to

be depending, though a Parliament is not in be-

ing-, but I will challenge the ableft Lawyer, with

all the Sophiftry he can ufe, together with his

Law, to (hew me how he can poffibly diftinguifh

the Cafe of Writs of Error, from the Cafe of

Impeachment, or wherein they differ, as to their

depending, in the Intervals of Parliament ; and I

likewife challenge him to make appear, how
Bail is any other than fuch a fuppletory Ad, to

relieve a Man from being kept too long from his

Liberty, as the granting of Execution in the In-

terval, is to relieve a Man from being too long

kept out of his Money or Eflate ; for that the Me-
rits of the Caufe, both in the one Cafe and the

other, remains entire for the Parliament to recom-

mit upon (if they fee Caufe) as well as to reverie the

Judgment, and all the Proceedings, upon the

Writ of Error.

Where is then the Difference, my Lord? if

there be any Difference, I think it lies only in

this, that in one Cafe there may be an erroneous

Judgment, and a Man may be almoft undone and

ruined, by being wrongfully difpofTefs'd of his

Eftate (be it never fo great ;
) but in this Cafe, the

fuppletory Ail: which is done to admit to Bail, can

only be to eafe a Man from his too long or per-

haps perpetual Imprifonment, and can hurt no Bo-

dy, nor take no Man's Liberty from him, to grant

him his ; but yet this mud be thought an hard Cafe,

and the other a very eafy one, and fit to be prafti-

fed every Day.

My Lord, if the Law has taken care, and

made fuch Provifion, that a Man fhall not be

kept too long out of 10/. in Money, or out of

40/. a Year in Land, then it would be ftrange,

that the Law fhould not have made Provifion,

that a Man fhould not be kept too long out of

his Liberty, and when there is no Profpeft of his

having it.

Befides, in a Writ of Error the Judgment given

is controverted, and the Power of awarding Exe-

cution is fufpended upon that very account, becaufe

the Judgment of the Court is in queftion, and the

Juftice of it is brought in difpute, whether they

have judged right or wrong.

Now, my Lord, if the Diffolution of a Parlia-

ment can reflore the Judges Power in the Interval

of Parliament, fb as to award an Execution upon
a Man's Eftate, where the Property fhall be chang-

ed and altered, and notwithstanding their Juftice

was brought in queftion, and that they may have

done great Wrong to the Party by theirJudgment,
and yet we are to believe, that the fame Diffolution

cannot reflore the Power of the Judges fo as to

give a Man a little Eafe from a Confinement with-

in four Walls, where the Juftice of no Court is

queftion'd nor arraigned, nor no Wrong can have

been done to any body ; But on the contrary, does

Right to the King, who by his Confent fhews his

Will to have a Man Bailed ; and great Right to the

Subject, who ought to be delivered from the Dan-
ger of an indefinite Imprifonment which is fo con-

trary to Law : Then indeed there muft be fome

Infallibility fuppofed in that Chair, which fhall

maintain fuch Doctrine, and muft be fubmitted to,

with the fame Implicite Faith, which they do who
can believe Infallibility.

Put for my Part (who can believe Infallibility

in ho kind upon Earth) I confefs I muft have my
Reafon better fatisfied, before I can any more
believe this Expofition of the Law, than I can
believe thofe infallible Mens Expofitions of the

Gofpel.

My Lord, I hope I have made plain to your
Lordfhip, what it is that is meant, or can be
underftood, by a Caufe depending in Parliament
when there is none, and how and in what Senfe
only it can be underftood to be fo depending;

j

and it is as plain, that the Bailing of me is no in- ;

termeddling with the Merits of the Caufe in Par-
liament, but on the contrary, an evident Affirma-
tiori of the Jurifdiftion of that Supreme Court;
and if I cannot be admitted to Bail in fome other

i

Court than the Houfe of Lords, it is contrary to

what my Warrant of Commitment implies, by
which I am committed only till I am difcharged by
due Courfe of Law, for which I am properly in

this Place.

My Lord, it cannot be meant that Bail can i

be any more than a fuppletory Aft (propter rei ne- -

cejjitatem) and for the Eafe of the Subject ; and it I

is impofiible for that old Rule, of Salus Populi

Suprema Lex efto, to be more aptly applied in any
Cafe in the World than in this, that concerns every

Man in England in his Liberty : For fhould it be
otherwife, pray fee what the Confequence of this

Doctrine would be ; that becaufe a Superior Court
which is not now in being (nor hath it in its own
Power to be fo) hath committed a Man, therefore

he cannot be admitted to Bail ; what fhould be-

come of Men, if after the Diflblution of a Par-

liament, there can be no Poffibility of having Ju-
ftice done them ?

Nay farther, if it fhould be granted that this

Court cannot intermeddle, becaufe the Superior

Court has committed, by that Doctrine it would
not matter whether the Commitment were for i

Treafon, or for the fmalleft Quarrel or Mifde-

meanor, for which a Man might happen to be

in Prifon at the time of a Diffolution of a Parlia-

ment ; nor would it be any matter, whether the

Order of the Houfe of Lords were revoked or

not.

For it is an Order of a Superior Court, which

will ftill be a Superior Court though the Order

were burnt, and yet that muft be enough to keep

one in Prifon by this Rule, for that there would

ftill be no other Remedy, though the Order were

repealed.

But, my Lord, the Warrant of Commitment
fhews the Lords Direftions to be contrary to

this Opinion, for I can fhew feveral Inftances of

Warrants which run, fome to be kept 'till fur- 1

ther Order of that Houfe, others to be kept '//'//
f

they Jhall be difcharged by the Houfe, and others i

to be kept 'till the Pleafure of the Houfe be further

fignified, and others during the Pleafure of that

Houfe , But my Warrant is, 'till I am difcharged

by due Courfe of Law : Now I doubt not, but if

the Lords had thought thofe Words had not

given a Latitude for Relief elfewhere, they would

have worded the Warrant otherwife, and inftead

of faying by due Courfe of Law, would have faid,

'till I were difcharged by that Houfe, if the Lords

had thought there had been no other Remedy by

Law, but by that Houfe. But, my Lord, the

Lords will not aft any thing above the Law,
they will keep every thing within the compafs

of the Law j and I am fure that there cannot be
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a better Example to follow, than the Example

of thofe wife and great Men of that great Court,

and I defire it may be followed, and not contra-

dided.

For by this Doctrine, truly, my Lord, Li-

berty itfelf would not only be utterly loft; but

to make the Riddle the greater, and the Manner

more ridiculous, it would be loft, and yet no

Body invade it : For the King he confents to my
Bail (if he hath any Power) fo he does not in-

tend to deprive me of my Liberty ; The Lords

would for their own Sakes and Juftice Sake (if it

were in their Power to meet, and have Time to

fit fo long as to take the Cafe of a fingle Perfon

into Confideration) do me Juftice, either in dis-

charging or trying me ; So that in my Cafe,

here is a Subject of England imprifoned by no

Body, and yet no Power upon Earth can relieve

me. Shew me an Example of this in any Nation

under the Sun, but this, that there wants a Power

in the Government to relieve a Prifoner at all

times (if it would) and I will be fatisfied ; Nay
my Lord, the very Spanijh Inquifition is more rca-

fonable than this, for though the Caufe may be

unjuft that they commit a Man for, and their

Uiage of him may be very fevere while he is there,

yet the Inquifitors (if they pleafe) can deliver him ;

there is no Prifoner in the World but can be deli-

vered by fome Power or other, but me ; and my
Lord, this is a Rule that muft be for every Man
in England as well as me, and I am not fo inconfi-

derable but that my Fate may be made a Prece-

dent of Note.

The Opinions, my Lord, that were given by the

Judges in the Cafe of Ship-money, appear far more

tolerable, in my Opinion, than this ; for I know
there is no Man but had rather have a Sentence

pafs'd againft his Eftate (which he may recover

again) than have it patted againft his Liberty,

which he may never have, and which is more va-

luable than any Eftate.

Befides, where is the Juftice of the Nation ? and

what a Shame would it be to our Laws and to our

Government; that it could be faid of this Coun-

try, that a Man might be punifhed by Imprifon-

ment in England (where the Government is not Ar-

bitrary) for feven Years or more, and at laft be

found Guilty of no Offence ? and what Satisfaction

could be in Nature given to that Man ? I fay, if

that Man could have a Crown given him, it could

not make him Satisfaction for the Lofs of his Li-

berty all his Life, which may be the Confequence

of this Doctrine ; and, my Lord, there are Pre-

cedents good ftore where Men have fuffered fuffi-

ciently for their Judgments againft the Liberty and

Property of the SubjeB, but I never found one that

fuffered in the Defence either of the one or the

other.

I have fhewn, I think, fufficiently what can be
meant either in my Cafe or any other, by a Caufe
depending in Parliament, when there is no Parlia-

ment , as alfo how much Inferior Courts do meddle
with things of much an higher Nature, than Bail

will be ; infomuch that truly I fhould think it

might be fufficient to fay no more than I have faid :

But I do not know what may be fufficient in my
Cafe ; and therefore, my Lord, you muft pardon
me, if I do put you in mind of a Cafe wherein
you have gone to the Merits of the Caufe it felf,

when Depending in Parliament.

It is Fitz-Hai ris his Cafe ; and I know very well
what Anlwers will be given me ; as that that was
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a Cafe rejected by the Lords, and that it was not
the fame Treafon for which he was Impeached,,

and other things that I could mention ; but I know
your Lordlhip will fpeak by the Record of the

Court (of which I have here a Copy) and the

Record is that which muft fatisfy the World art

hundred Years hence, by which it will appear to

them, that he was Impeached, and Tried, and
Condemned, depending that Impeachment; for

he made that his Plea, and Mr. Attorney Ge-
neral demurring to it, the Court muft take the
Matter pleaded, as confeffed and allow'd ; and
this being To, I fhould think there fhould be no
Scruple made in the Point of Bail; or if there

fhould, there muft certainly be very great Hard-
fhip in one Cafe or the other, and muft be very dif-

ficult to be anfwered.

But to conclude, Befides all this, I am the
King's Prifoner, and I have the King's Pardon

;

and if I cannot get to be Bailed, there is not on-
ly a Defect of Jurifdiction in this Court, but a
Defect of the Regal Authority and Power of the
Kings of England to adminifter Juftice to their

Subjects ; which was never heard of, I think, and
I hope I fhall never live to hear of it (efpecially

from the King's Supreme Ordinary Court of Ju-
ftice.) And that, my Lord, that muft make this

Cafe the more unhappy at this time is, that we
live in Days wherein his Majefty's Prerogatives

are fo much brought in queftion : For what Pre-

rogative hath He which is more undoubted than

his Power of Pardoning ? and yet you fee that

brought in Queftion to the .utmoft, and thole

that are the ableft Men that fpeak againft that

Power, do laugh at the little fmall Triflers who
object, that the King may Pardon before Impeach-
ment, and after the Sentence be given, but not

betwixt thofe Times ; They laugh at this, and
tell you that he cannot Pardon at all ; and it is ea-

fily perceived that if they could reach their De-
fign, they would have it underftood, That Treafon

may be committed againft the People, and by that

Doctrine another High Court of Juftice may be
fet up, and the King may be Tried by his Peoples
as well as he can Try them. My Lord, there are

a great many Confequences attending upon that

Doctrine, which I am fure will ne'er be counte-

nanced by the King's Courts ; but I fhall not won-
der that fuch Men as thefe be trying their Pro-

jects, and think themfelves in the Right to do fos

if they find his Majefty cannot do fo much as a

leffer Act of Grace for his Prifoner, which is but

to give him Eafe from too long or perhaps a per-

petual Imprifonment ; for if he hath not Power lb

much as to Bail his own Prifoner, I fhall not won-
der if others queftion whether he hath Power to

Pardon him.

My Lord, I have feen fuch Keepers of our

Liberties, from whom I fhould expect fuch Doc-
trines; but I thank God that by our Laws the

King is the Keeper of our Liberties, and there-

fore I hope I fhall not hear any fuch Doctrine

by which he can only be the Keeper of us in

Prifons, but fhall have no more Power th?.n

another Man, to (ct his Prifoner at Liberty, al-

though his Will be only to give his Prifoner

Eafe (as the Law intends) againft Indefinite Im-

prifonment.

Laftly, My Lord, If I fhould die in Pr.ifon

with this Pardon by me, which I have fhew'd

your Lordlhip; or fuppofe that the Houfe of

Commons (if it were but with a Defign to de~

ftroy
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ftroy the Pardon) would give fome other Reafon

than the Pardon (as being better fatisfied con-

cerning me, or any thing elfe) why they would

profecute me no more (of which there be divers

Precedents.) What a Wound would thereby be

given to the King's Prerogative ? and pray how

is it poffible almoft to give it a greater Blow than

this would be ?

What a Precedent would it be to Pofterity to

lay, that a Man had lain three, four or five Years

or more in Prilbn notwithftanding a Pardon, that

fignified nothing all that time ? for that the King

would have Eafed him if he could, and hath mew-

ed his Court that he would do fo, but was not able

fo much as to have him Bailed ? would not this

put that Prerogative in great hazard ? I confefs I

do wonder that fome others befides your Lordfhip

have not taken more care of the Prerogative of the

King, for their own Sakes as well as the King's,

;

For it would be very convenient it fhould be ufe-

ful, if ever it fhould become necefiary ; And it is

not improbable, but if the King fhould hereafter

find fuch a Prerogative diminifh'd, he would not

only reflect upon his Loft, but upon thofe who
might have advifed better, or might have better

defended this Prerogative of the King-, And for

the Subjects Liberties, there will never be Eyes

wanting to inquire after any Invafion which fhall

be made of that kind.

Upon the whole, I have troubled your Lord-

ihip too longi but it hath been upon a Subject

of the greateft Concern to Englijhmen: I have

fuch Bail to offer to your Lordihip, as I am fure

cannot be denied, and I am in my own Con-

fidence fufficiently fatisfied, that I am detained a

Prilbner from Bail, neither by the King, by the

Lords, nor by the Laws ; and therefore, my Lord
I do humbly pray your Lordihip you would pleafe

to accept my Bail, and as I here offer your Lord-
ihip my Pardon again, fo I again pray the Bene-
fit of it, and I defire your Lordfhip it may be
read in Court.

The Lord Chief Juflice then fpoke, and fb did
all the reft of the Judges, (upon the Earl's defiring

that they would ieverally deliver their Opinions}
And the Lord Chief Juftice, and Mr. Juftice Do!-'
ben, did deliver their Opinions, that the Earl could'
not be relieved by that Court. Mr. Juftice Jones
concluded his Difcourfe with faying, that he could
not give his Judgment that the Earl fhould be
Bailed AT THAT TIME. Mr. Juftice Rajl
mond did fay, he could not fee but that there would
be a. failure of Juftice if fo be his Lordfhip fhould
not have Liberty upon Bail; but that he had not
time to view Precedents, and therefore it would
be very unfit for him at prefent to be pofitive in

what he did fay.

And then the Lord Chief Juftice did tell thel

Earl, he muft be contented to be Remanded.

But afterwards, on the laft Day of Hilary Term,
1683, the Judges delivered their Opinions feveral-

ly, and were Unanimous, that the Earl
-J- ought

to be Bail'd. And accordingly Bail was taken in

40000/. his Lordihip in a Recognizance of

20000 /. and the Dukes of Somerfet and Albemarle,

and the Earls of Oxford and Chejlerfield in 5000 /.

a piece ; upon condition, that the Earl of Danby
do appear in the Houfe of Lords the next Sefiion

of Parliament, and not depart withoutJeave of

that Court.

LXXIX. The Trial ^Robert Green, Henry
Berry, and Lawrence Hill, * at the Kings-

Bench, for the Murder of Sir Edmund bury God-
frey, Feb. 10, 1678. Hil. 31 Car. II.

jO Wednefday the 5th of February, 1678,
Robert Green, Henry Berry, and Law-
rence Hill, were brought from His Ma-
jefty's Goal of Newgate, to the Bar of

the Court of King's-Bench, to be Ar-

raigned for the Murder of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,

upon an Indictment found by the Grand Jury for

the County of Middlefex, on Monday the Morrow
of the Purification of the Bleffed Virgin Mary

;

and the Court proceeded thus

:

Mr. Juftice Wild Arraign'd the Prifoners.

Clerk of the Crown. Robert Green, hold up thy

Hand* Henry Berry, hold up thy Hand; Law-

rence Hill, hold up thy Hand. Which they Ieve-

rally did.

You ftand Inditled by the Names of Robert:

Green, late of the Parijh of St. Mary le Strand,-

in the County of Middlefex, Labourer; Henry

Berry, late of the fame Parijh and County, La-

bourer; And Lawrence Hill, late of the fame

Parijh and County, Labourer ; for that you three,

together with «- - - Girald, late of the fame Pa-

rijh and County, Clerk; Dominick Kelly, late of

the fame Parijh and County, Clerk ; and Phillibert <

Vernatt, late of the fame Parifl? and County, La-

bourer, who are withdrawn : Not having the Fear

of God before your Eyes, but being moved andfeduced

by the Injligation of the Devil, the izth Day of

f This was now done onpurfofe to be a Precedentfor thefour Popijbhords, who were BaiPd tut thatfame Day.

* Burn. Hifi. own Timet. Vol. I. p. 445-

0&ober,
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October, in the Thirtieth Tear of the Rign of our

Sovereign Lord Charles the Second, by the Grace of

God, of England, Scotland, France and Ireland*

King, Defender of the Faith, &c. at the Parift) of

t. Mary le Strand aforefaid, in and upon Sir Ed-

nundbury Godfrey, Knight, in the Peace of God,

and of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, then and

'here being, felonioufly, voluntarily and of your Ma-

'rce aforethought, did make and affault; and that

thou the aforefaid Robert Green, a certain Linen

Handkerchief of the Value of Six-pence, about the

Neck of the faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, then

nd there felonioufly, wilfully, and of thy Malice

forethought, did/} fold and foften ; and that thou

he faid Robert Green, with the Handkerchief

iforefaid, by thee the faid Robert Green, in and

'about the Neck of the faid Sir Edmundbury God-

frey, in manner and form aforefaid, folded andfaften-

'fd, then and there him the faid Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey didft choke and ftrangle, of which faid

choking andftrangling of him the faid Sir Edmund-

bury Godfrey, in manner and form aforefaid, he

the faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey then and there

inftanty died : And that you the faid Henry Berry

tend Lawrence Hill, together with the faid

fsirald, Dominick Kelly, and Phillibert Vernatt,

'then and there felonioufly, voluntarily, and of your

Malice aforethought, were prefent, aiding, abetting,

Comforting and maintaining the aforefaid Robert

Green, the aforefaid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey

in manner and form aforefaid, felonioufly, volun-

tarily, and of his Malice aforethought, to Kill and
T

urder; and fo you the faid Robert Green, Henry

erry, and Lawrence Hill, together with the faid

— Girald, Dominick Kelly, and Phillibert

ernatt, in manner and form aforefaid, the afore-

faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, felonioufly, wilfully,

and of your Malice aforethought, did Kill and Mur-

der, againft the Peace of our Sovereign Lord the King,

his Crown and Dignity.

How fay'ft thou, Robert Green, art thou Guilty

of this Felony and Murder whereof thou ftandeft

ndicted, and haft been now Arraigned, or Not
Guilty?

Green. Not Guilty.

CI of the Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be

Tried ?

Green. By God and my Country.

CI. of the Cr. God fend thee a good Delive-

rance. How fay'ft thou, Henry Berry, art thou

Guilty of the Felony and Murder whereof thou

ftandeft Indicted, and haft been now Arraigned,

or Not Guilty ?

Berry. Not Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be

Tried ?

Berry. By God and my Country.

CI. of the Cr. God lend thee a good Delive-

rance. How fay'ft thou, Lawrence Hill, art thou

Guilty of the Felony and Murder whereof thou

ftandeft Indicted, and naft been Arraign'd, or

Not Guilty ?

Hill. Not Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be

Tried?

Hill. By God and my Country.

CI. of the Cr. God lend thee a good Delive-

rance.

Capt. Richarafon. I defire to know when they

muft be brought up to be Tried ?

Mr. Juft. Wild. Upon Friday next.

CI. of the Cr. You fhall have a Rule to bring

them up on Friday.

Vol. II.

£«/.<?« Thuffday, the 6th of February, Mr. At-

torney-General mov'd the Court that it might

be defer'd till Monday, that the King's Evi-

dence might be the more ready ; which was

granted accordingly.

On Monday the ioth of February, i6j$, the faid

Robert Green, Henry Berry, and Lawrence Hill,

were brought again to the Bar for their Trial 5

which proceeded as followeth.

CI. of the Cr. Make Proclamation.

Crier. O Yes.

CI. of the Cr. Again, Again.

Crier. O Yes, O Yes ! Our Sovereign Lord the

King doth ftraightly Charge and Command all

manner of Perions to keep Silence upon pain of

Imprifonment.

Cl. of the Cr. Make an O Yes!

Crier. O Yes ! If any one can inform our So-

vereign Lord the King, the King's Serjeant at

Law, the King's Attorney-General, or this In-

queft now to be taken of the Felony and Mur-
der whereof Robert Green, Henry Berry, and Law-
rence Hill, the Prifoners at the Bar, ftand In-

dicted, let them come forth and they i"hall be
heard, for now the Prifoners ftand at the Bar
upon their Delivery. And all others that are

bound by Recognizance to give Evidence againft

the Priibners at the Bar, let them come forth and
give their Evidence, or die they forfeit their Re-
cognizance.

Cl. of the Cr. Robert Green, hold up thy Hand

;

Henry Berry, hold up thy Hand ; Lawrence Hill,

hold up thy Hand. Which they feverally did.

Thofe good Men that you mall hear call'd, and
perfonally appear, are to pafs between our Sove-
reign Lord the King and You, upon Trial of your
feveral Lives and Deaths : If therefore you, or any
of you, will challenge them, or any of them, your
Time is to fpeak unto them when they come to

the Book to be fworn, and before they are fvvorn.

Crier, make an O Yes.

Crier. O Yes ! You good Men that are Impan-
nel'd to enquire between our Sovereign Lord the

King, and Robert Green, Henry Berry, and Law-
rence Hill, the Prifoners at the Bar, aniwer to your
Names, and lave your lfTues.

Cl. of the Cr. Sir William Roberts.

Crier. Vouz avez, Sir William Roberts.

Cl. of the Cr. Sir William Roberts, to the Book.
Crier. Sir William Roberts, look upon the Pri-

foners : You Prifoners look upon the Jury. You
fhall well and truly Try, and true Deliverance

. make, between our Sovereign Lord the King and
the Prifoners at the Bar, whom you fhall have in

Charge, and a true Verdict give according to your

Evidence. So help you God.

And the fame Oath was adminiftred to the reft,

and their Names were as follow :

Sir William Roberts, Baronet.

Sir Richard Fifher, Baronet.

Sir Michael Hsneage, Knight.

Sir Thomas Bridges, Knight.

William Avery, Efq;

Charles Humphrevile, Efq;

"John Bathurft, Eiq;

Richard Gozvre, Efq;

Thomas Henjlowe, Eiq;

John Sharpe, Efq;

John Haynes, Efq; and

Walter Moyle, Eiq;

5 E a.
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Cl. of the Cr. Crier, count thefe. Sir William
'

Roberts.

Crier. One, &c.

Cl. of the Cr. Walter Moyle.

Crier. Twelve, good Men and true, ftand toge-

ther, and hear your Evidence. Gentlemen, are

you all Sworn ? And you that are not Sworn, pray

withdraw.

The Standing-place for the Jury being fo throng*d,

that thofe who were fworn had not room to

ftand together; the Clerk of the Crown was or-

der'd to make Proclamation thus

:

Cl. of the Cr. Crier, make Proclamation.

Crier O Yes ! My Lords the King's Juftices do

ftraitly charge and command all Pcrfons that are

not of the Jury, to withdraw forthwith, upon Pain

of one hundred Pounds a Man.
Cl. of the Cr. Robert Green, hold up thy Hand -,

Henry Berry, hold up thy Hand ; / awrence Hill,

hold up thy Pland Which they federally did.

Gentlemen, You that are fworn look upon the

Prifoners, and hearken to their Charge : You fhall

underftand, that they ftand indicted by the Names
of Robert Green, late of the Parifh of St. Mary le

Strand in the County of Middlefex, Labourer ; Hen-

ry Berry late of the fame Parifh and County, La-

bourer ; and Lawrence Hill late of the fame Parifh

and County, Labourer ; for that they, together

with, &c. (as before) againft the Peace of our So-

vereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.

Upon this Indictment they have been Arraigned,

they have thereunto feverally pleaded Not Guilty,

and for their Trials have feverally put themfelves

upon God and their Country, which Country you

are. Your Charge is to enquire, whether the Pri-

foners at the Bar, Robert Green, Henry Berry, and

Lawrence Hill, or any of them, are Guilty of the

Felony and Murder, whereof they ftand Indicted,

or Not Guilty; and for them which you fhall

find Guilty, you fhall enquire what Goods or

Chattels, Lands or Tenements, they had at the

time of the Felony committed, or at any time

fince, If you find them, or any of them, Not
Guilty, you fhall enquire, whether they, or any

of them, that you find fo Not Guilty, fled for the

fame ; if you find that they or any of them fled for

the fame, you fhall enquire of their Goods and Chat-

tels, as if you had found them Guilty : But,

if you find them, nor any of them, Not Guilty,

nor that they did fly for it, fay fo and no more,

and hear your Evidence. Crier, make Procla-

mation.

( rier. O Yes ! If any one will give Evidence on
behalf of our Sovereign Lord the King, againft

Robert Green, Henry Berry, and Lawrence Hill, the

Prifoners at the Bar, let them come forth, and
they fhall be heard.

Mr. Serjeant Stringer. May it pleafe your Lord-
fhip, and you Gentlemen of this Jury, The Pri-

foners at the Bar, Robert Green, Henry Berry,

and Lawrence Hill, ftand Indicted, for that they,

with one Girald a Prieff, one Kelly, and one Ver-

natt, did the twelfth of Otlobcr laft, at the Pa-

rifh of St. Mary le Strand in this County, felo-

nioufly, wilfully, and of their Malice afore-

thought, affault the Perfon of Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey, Kt. and that the Priibner, Robert Green,

did put about the Neck of the faid Sir Edmund-
bury a twifted Handkerchief, and did with that

twiftcd Handkerchief fo choke and flrangle the

faid Sir Edmundbury,, that he immediately died,

and that the other Prifoners, Henry Berry, and
Lawrence Hill, with the other Perfons, Girald

Kelly, and Vernatt, were aiding and afiifting the

fud Robert Green to Murder the faid Sir Edmund-
bury ; and fo the Prifoners at the B.ir, with the

faid other Perfons, the faid Sir Edmundbury God-

frey did kill and murder, againft the King's Peace,

his Crown and Dignity. To this they have plead-

ed not Guilty, and for their Trial have put them-
felves upon their Country, which Country you
are. If we prove them, or any of them Guilty,

you are to find it fo.

* Mr. Attorney General. May it * s
- w -,..

pleafe your Lordfhip, and you Gen- Jones,

tlemen of this Jury, the Prifoners

who ftand now at the Bar, are Indicted for Mur-
der. Murder, as it is the firft, fo it is the great-

eft Crime, that is prohibited in the Second Table.
It is a Crime of fo deep a Stain, that nothino-

can wafh it away but the Blood of the Offender,

and unlefs that be done, the Land in which it is

fhed, will continue polluted. My Lord, as Mur-
der is always a very great Crime, fo the Mur-
der which is now to be try'd before your Lord-
fhip, is, it may be, the moft heinous and moft
barbarous that ever was committed. The Mur-
der was committed upon a Gentleman, and upon
a Magiftrate, and I wifh he had not therefore

been murdered, becaufe he was a Proteftant Ma-
giftrate.

'

My Lord, I will not fpend much of your

Time in making my Obfervations before-hand,

becaufe I muft in this Cafe crave leave to do it

in the Conclufion of the Evidence. For I, that

have made a ftricl Examination into this matter,

do find, that I fhall better fpend my Time in

making Obfervations, and fhewing how the Wit-
neffes do agree, after the Evidence given, than

before. Therefore, my Lord, I fhall at prefent

only make a fhort Narrative of the Fad, to

fhew you the Courfe of our Evidence, that ic may
be the better underftood and remembred by the

Jury-

My Lord, Upon the Difcovery of the late hor-

rid Plot
* Lord Chief Juftice. And prefent * Sir William

Plot too, Mr. Attorney : But pray Scroggs.

go on.

Mr. Attorney General. If your Lordfhip pleafe,

you may call itfo, for 'tis to be feared they have

not yet given it over: But upon the Difcovery of

that Plot (call it late or prefent) Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey (whom I fuppofe the Jury all knew, and

every Man that lived thereabouts, muft needs

remember to have been a very ufeful and active

Juftice of the Peace) had taken feveral Examina-

tions about this Matter, and perhaps fome more

than now are extant : (but we have proof he had i

fome) and was very induftrious in finding out the

principal Actors in this Plot, among whom, fome

Priefts and Jefuits forefeeing their own danger,

and likewife the overthrow of a Defign which

they had been fo long in contriving, they had

feveral Confultations how to prevent the Difco-

very. And as they are Men who never ftiek
,

at Blood, but rather account it meritorious to <

fhed it, though never fo unjuftly, when their In-

tereft may be profited by it, they did refolve to
;

fecure themfelves and their Defign by taking a-

1

way the Life of this Gentleman. In order there-

unto they had feveral Meetings, and the Place

of their Meeting, you will find by the Evidence,
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to be at the P/W-Alehoufe, and there they did

confult how to take away the Life of Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey. And they made feveral At-

tempts to do it : One while they dogg'd him into

the Fields, another while they fent People to

ipy when he came abroad, that they might fol-

low him into fome dark Alley, or other obfeure

or unfrequented Place, and there difpatch him ;

and at laft, after many Attempts, they fucceeded

in that wicked one, when the Murder was com-

mitted.

My Lord, There are contained in this In-

dictment fix Offenders, ail Principals ; three of

them, I think, are Priefts, or at leaft two of

them are fo, that is, Father Girald an Irifhman,

Father Kelly likewife of the fame Nation, and

one Vernatt, whether a Prieft or Layman I know
not. Thefe Priefts (as they are always the firft

that contrive Mifchief, fo they are always the

firft that fly Punifhment) have taken care for

themfelves, and run away, and left their blind

Followers, the Prifoners at the Bar, whom they

had drawn into this bloody Ad, alone to anfwer

for it.

The Day, when this Murder was committed

was Saturday the 12th of October laft; and I muft

defire your Lordfhip to take notice of the Day,

for upon that much of the Evidence will depend.

And we (hall prove, that as they did before fend

feveral times to Sir Edmundbury Godfrey's Houfe
to get Intelligence of his going abroad, fo this

very Day in the Morning, Hill, one of the Pri-

foners at the Bar, came to his Houfe upon pre-

tence of Bufinefs with him •, and, as we guefs,

and have reafon to believe, to learn whither he

went that Day : Green (another of the Prifoners)

had been there before on the fame Errand. And
fb much we fhall prove to you by the People of

the Houfe. Sir Edmundbury Godfrey happened a-

bout Noon, or fome time in the Afternoon of the

fame Day (as we have it by the confeffion of one

of the Parties) to be at an Houfe near St. Cle-

ment's, Church, where thefe Murderers had No-
tice he was, and had prepared a Trap for him as

he came back. They had appointed Men to

watch him, and give them Notice when he did

come back, and whatever his Bufinefs was at the

Houfe that he was in (for it can not yet be known)
he ftaid there till about kven or eight o'clock

at Night : And your Lordfhip knows that at that

time of the Year it is then dark. He comin^
from about St. Clement's Church towards his own
Houfe near Charing-Crefs, Notice was given to

the Murderers of his approach near to Somerfet-

Houfe. And thus they had laid their bloody Con-
trivance: Some of them were Appointed to meet
him at the Back-Gate of Somerfet-Houfe, and to

inform him that there was a Quarrel in the Yard,

!
and he being a Man always careful to keep the

I Peace and punifh them that broke it, they

;,
thought it a very apt means to train him into

!
the Yard. And when he came near the Back-
Gate they did accordingly acquaint him that

J
Two of the Queen's Servants were fighting in

', the Yard, and that they needed his Prefence to

Ji

part and quiet them. He, at firft, thought it

i
might be but fome ordinary idle Scuffle, and was
not willing to go down, but being very much
importun'd by them, down he went, thro' the

Back-Gate into the Yard, where were indeed
tv/o Men fcuffling together, but counterfeitly ;

1
the one was Berry, the Prifoner here ; the other
Vol. II.

was Kelly, the Prieft that is run away. And when
Sir Edmundbury Godfrey was come, and within

their reach, then, as it was before contrived, the

Fray of it felf ended, and Barry goes to the lower

Water-Gate, and Mr. Praunce (who was in that

foul fact, but hath fince repented, and hath made
this difcovery) to the Upper-Gate, to keep back
any cafual Paffengers for a little while, till fuch

time as the Murder was over.

My Lord, things being thus prepared, whilft

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ftood ftill, or was return-

ing, having no more to do there, after the Scuffle

was thus appeafed, Green, one of the Prifoners,

coming behind him, puts a Cravat, or a Twifted

Linen Cloth, (which he had ready for the purpofe)

about his Neck. And he, Hill, and thole Holy
Fathers Girald and Kelly (with great veneration

be it fpoken, for Men of their Order to' ftain

their Hands with the Blood of an Innocent Gen-
tleman, and that in fo treacherous a manner) All

fet upon him, and very manfully, being four upon
one, and he altogether furprized, threw him
down and ftrangled him. And this was done
(as it is eafy to imagine) without much Noife j

fo that I doubt not but many that were near

the Place might be ignorant of it, and did not

hear it.

My Lord, Tho* the thing was done with a great

Zeal, and a very good Will to difpatch him, yet

it fo happened, that when Mr. Praunce came back
from keeping Sentinel at the Gate, there was fome
Life left in Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, he did ftir his

Feet, and thereby they perceived that he was not

quite Dead. But to make thorough Work with
him, Green (who begun, and was to give an Ac-
complifhment to this bloody Fact) takes hold of
his Head and twifts his Neck round, and (tamps

upon his Breaft, the Marks of which outrageous

Cruelty did plainly appear in his Body after it was
found.

My Lord, After they had thus kill'd him,

Girald the Prieft thought he was not yet Dead
enough, and was very willing to run him through
with Sir Edmundbury's own Sword ; but that was
not liked by the reft, left it might be difco-

vercd by a great effufion of Blood in that Place

;

and fo they forbore it for that Time. Having
thus difpatch'd him, they removed him to the

Chamber of Hill, where they kept him fome
time, and after that to another Chamber. I will

not be particular herein, becaufe the Witnefs will

give the beft account of it. But after fome time,

(I defire it may be obferved, 'twas on Monday
Night, two Nights after the Fact was commit-
ted) they brought him into another Room and
laid him there, with a Cloke thrown over him.

And I mention this laft fo particularly, becaufe

he then happened to be feen by another Witnefs

here prefent, who concurs as to his lying there

Dead, and that he faw him by the help of a
Dark-Lanthron, of which, and other Circum-

ftances, I fhall have occafion to make ule here-

after.

My Lord, After he had lain in Somerfet-Houfe

fome Days, they thought it was high time to re-

move him, or rather to expofe him : lor having

now kill'd him, they did endeavour to kill his

Reputation, and lay the blame of this foul Mur-
der upon this Innocent Gentleman, as if he had

killed himfelf: And on Wednefday Night, which

by computation was the 16th of Oclober, they

carried him out of Somerfet-Houfe in this manner :

'

5 E 2 Hilt
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II'm having late in the Night procured a Sedan,

they made a fhift, by bending the Body to a fit

Pofture, to crowd him into it ; and Berry, one of

the Murderers, and Porter of Somerfet-Houfe, was

of all Men mod proper to help them out with

Privacy ; and therefore it was agreed between

them, that whenever a Man mould come before

and make an Hem, it mould be a Sign to Berry

to open the Gate. And, my Lord, having put

him into the Sedan, Mr. Praunce, and GiraldRrQ:

carried him out in it to Covert-Garden, and there

they relied, (being fomething wearied with their

Burden) and two more fupplied their rooms,

and carried him to Long-Acre. Then Girald and

Praunce took him up again, and carried him to

the Grecian Church near Soho: And when they

had him there, they got an Horfe ready and

mounted him upon it, and Hill was fet behind

him to hold him up; by which means they car-

ried him to the Place where he was found ; and
there, to accomplifh the laft Part of their De-
fign, which was to murder his Reputation, after

they had killed his Body, they tx>k his own
Sword and run him thro', and left him in fuch a

manner, as that (according to the Weaknefs of

their Underflanding) the World fhould conclude

he had killed himlelf. In that Condition was

the Gentleman found. I have but little mere
at prefent to trouble you with, and that fhall be

to Ihew you what the Murderers did after they

had committed this Fact. They gave an Ac-

Lord the King, againfl Robert Green, Henry Berry
and Lawrence Hill^ the Prifoners at the Bar, fhall
be the Truth, the whole Truth, and nothing but
the Truth. So help you God.

_

* Mr. Sol. Gen. Pray, Mr. Oates,
will you give my Lord and the Jury * Sir F^»cis
an Account what Tranfadtions there

Winninim-

were between you and Sir Edmunbury Godfrey,
and that, my Lord, is all we call him for.

Mr. Alt. Gen. My Lord, I call this Gentleman
to prove, what Examinations Sir Edmundbury
Godfrey had taken, and what was his own Opinion
of himfelf about them.

L. C. J. Mr. Attorney, I fuppofe the Ufe you
make of it is this, to fhew, that that micxht be
one of the Motives to thefe Perfons to do this
Adj becaufe he was forward in the Difcovery of
their Plot.

}

Mr. Alt. Gen. It is fo, my Lord ; and that it
was his Opinion himfelf that he fhould have fome
Milchief from them for it.

L. C. J. Come, Mr. Oates, pray tell your
Knowledge.

Oates. My Lord, upon the 6th of September
laft I did go before Sir Edmundbury Godfrey^
and there upon Oath gave in feveral Depofi-
tions, and after that I had made Oath of thofe
Depofitions, we took the Record along with us
home again. And on the 28th of September, af-
ter we had taken two or three Copies of this
Record, we went before Sir Edmundbury God-

count of it the next Morning to Mr. Praunce, frey again, and fwore all the Copies we had taken,
and lo made them Records. My Lord, after
that, the Bufinefs was made known to the Coun*
cil by my felt, and upon Monday Mr. Godfrey
came to me, which was, I think, the 30th of
September, and did tell me, what Affronts he
had received from fome great Perfons, (whofe
Names I name not now) for being fo zealous in
this Bufinefs. And, my Lord, he told me, That
others, who were well inclin'd to have the Dif-
covery made, did think that he had not been,
quick enough in the Profecution, but had been
too remifs, and did threaten him, that they
would complain to the Parliament, which was
to fit the 2 1 ft of Oclober following. My Lord,
that Week before Sir Edmundbury Godfrey was
miffing, he catne to me, and told me, that feve-
ral ropifh Lords, fome of whom are now in the
Tower, had threatned him, and asked him what
he had to do with it. My Lord, I fhall name
their Names when time mail come. My Lord,,
this is all I can fay, He was in a great Fright,
and told me, he went in fear of his Life, by the
Popifh Party, and that he had been dogg'd feveral
Days.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Did he tell you that he was
dogg'd ?

Oates. Yes, he did ; and I did then ask him,
why he did not take his Man with him ; he faid,

he wa3 a poor weak Fellow : I then ask'd him
why he did not get a good brisk Fellow to at-

tend him ? but he made no great Matter of it,

he faid, he did not fear them, if they came
fairly to work ; but yet he was often threatned,
and came fbmetimes to me to give him fome
Encouragement, and I did give him what En-
couragement I could, That he would fuffer in a

juft Caufe, and the like; but he would often

tell me, he was in continual Danger of being
hurt by them.

who went no further than the Sedan went,

which was to the Grecian Church : and the

Priefts were fb far from any Remorfe, and had

fb little Humanity, (I believe there is none can

think they had much of Divinity) that they did,

in a Paper, ibt down a Narrative of this heroick

Act : And I doubt not, but by this time it is

fent to Rome, where it finds as great Approbation,

and caufes as great Joy, as their other Acts of a

like Nature have heretofore done. Some Days af-

ter the Fact was done, and, to their everlafting

Honour, thus by themfelves recorded, fome of

thefe Priefts had a meeting at the Queen's Head at

Bow, and there was the Paper produced and read ;

at which they were very merry, and were fo loud,

that fome of the Houfe overheard them ; and do

yet remember, that they read, and were merry

at, a Paper which concern'd Sir Edmundbury God-

frey.

My Lord, This will be the Courfe of our Evi-

dence, and tho' your Lordfhip and the Jury will

cafily believe that mod of thefe Particulars muft
arife from one who was Party to the Fact, yet, my
Lord, I will undertake, before I have done, fb to

fortify almoft every Particular he delivers, with a

concurrent Proof of other Teftimony, and the

Things will fo depend upon one another, and
have fuch a Connexion, that little doubt will re-

main in any Man's Mind, that is come hither

without Prepoffeffion, but that Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey was murdered, at Somerfet- Houfe, and that

the Perfons who ftand now Indicted for it were the

Murderers.
* Mr. Recorder. My Lord, if your

* Sir George Lordfhip pleafes, according as Mr.
•jejferm.

Attorney hath opened it, we defire

we may call our Witnefies ; and firft we will call

Mr. Oates.

Crier. Mr. Oates, lay your Hand on the Book.

The Evidence you fhall give for our Sovereign

Mr.
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Mr. Att. Gen. We defire Mr. Robinfon may be

fworn. Which was done accordingly;

Mr. Recorder. Pray, Sir, will you tell the Court

and the Jury, what Difcourfe you had with Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey, and what Apprehenfions he had

concerning this Bufinefs.

Tbo. Robinfon, Eiq; (Chief Prothonotary of

the Court of" Common-Pleas.) My Lord, Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey and I were of a very an-

cient Acquaintance for above forty Years ; we

were bred up together at Weftmirfier - School,

and continued in thac Acquaintance all along*

except in the Times of the War, and were for

many Years together in Commiftion for the Peace,

both for this County, and this. City; We met

at the Quarter- Seflions for IVcflminfler, the 7th

of October, which was Monday, as I take it, and

meeting there, we went, after the Court was

up, and Dined with the Head- Bailiff, as the Cu-

ftom is; where Sir Edmundbury Godfrey and I

did difcourfe feveral things about this Plot; I

laid to Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, I underftand you

have taken feveral Examina Lions about this Plot,

that is now made publick : Truly, faid he, I

have; but I think I mall have little Thanks for

my Pains, or feme fuch Words : Saith he, 1 did it

very unwillingly, and would fain have had it done

by others. Why, faid I, you did but what was

your Duty to do, and it was a very good Act

:

Pray* Sir, have you the Examinations about

you* will you pleafe to let me fee them? No, I

have them not, faid he ; I delivered them to a

Perfon of Quality, but as foon as I have them,

you lhall fee them. Bat, faid I, I fhould be very

glad to underftand* Sir Edmundbury, that the

Depth of the Matter were found out. I am afraid,

faid he, of that, that it is not ; but difcourfing

further, he faid to me, Upon my Confcience, I believe -

Jfhall be the firft Martyr. Why fo, faid I, are you

afraid ? No, faid he, I do not fear them, if they

come fairly, and I fhall not part with my Life

tamely. Why do not you go with a Man, faid I,

if you have that Fear upon you ? Why, faid he,

I do not love it, 'tis a Clog to a Man. But, faid

I, you fhould do well to keep a Man ; I obferve

you never go with one.

Mr. Att. Gen. But did he tell you, Sir, that he

I did believe he mould be the firtt Martyr ?

~ Mr. Robinfon. Yes, he did fay, Upon his Con-

: fcience, he did believe, he fhould be the firft

Martyr: and this is all I can fay of this Bufi-

nefs.

Mr. Att. Gen. Then, if your Lordfhip pleafe,

we will, in the next place, call Mr. Praunce, who
was drawn in to be prefent at this Bufinefs, and

who knew of all the Faft, and will give you an

Account of the whole Matter.

Then Mr. Praunce was Sworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray, Sir, begin at the very be-

ginning; the Meetings you had at the Plow-Ale-

houfe, and the fending to Sir Edmundbury's Houfe,

and all the Story.

L. C. J. Mr. Praunce, Pray tell us the firft Mo-
tives that were ufed to you to do this Thing, and
the firft Time it was mentioned ; who they were

that firft mentioned it, and where.

Praunce. My Lord, it was about a Fortnight or

three Weeks before he was murdered, we met fe-

veral times at the Plow-Alehoufe.

L. C. J. With whom?
Praunce. With Mr. Girald, Mr. Green> and

Mr. Kelly. Girald and Kelly did intice me in, and
told me it was no Sin.

Mr. Recorder. Girald and Kelly did ?

Praunce. Yes, Girald and Kelly.

Mr. Recorder. What are they ?

Praunce. Two Priefts i And they faid, it was
no Sin, it was a charitable Aft: They faid he
was a bufy Man, and had done and would do
a great deal of Mifchief, and it was a Deed of
Charity to do it ; and fo they told the reft be-

fides.

Mr. Att. Gen. Where was it they faid thus ?

Praunce. They faid it at the Plow, and by the

Water-fide.

Mr. Recorder. Well faid. How long was it be-

fore he died ?

Praunce. A Week or a Fortnight before he was
murdered, and Green, Hill, and Girald met there

together.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Difcourfe had you then?

Praunce. There they refolved, that the firft that

could meet with him fhould give notice to the reft

to be ready, and fo in the Morning, when they

went out on Saturday .

Mr. Att. Gen. But before you come to that,

do you know of any dogging of him into the

Fields ?

Praunce. Yes, it Was before that, I heard them
fay, they would, and had dogged him into the

Fields.

L. C. J. Who did you hear fay lb ?

Praunce. Girald, Kelly, and Green.

Mr. Att. Gen. That Green is one of the Prifo-

ners.

Mr. Recorder. Which way did they dog him ?

what Fields ?

Praunce. Red-Lion-Fields, and thofe by Hol-

born.

Mr. Att. Gen. Why did they not kill him
there?

Praunce. Becaufe they had not Opportunity.

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know of any fending to

his Houfe, or going to it ?

Praunce. One time I do know of, and that was
Saturday Morning, Mr. Kelly came to give me no-

tice, that they were gone abroad to dog him ; and
afterwards they told me, that Hill ox Green did go
to his Houfe and ask for him, but the Maid told

him, he was not up, and then went away, and
faid he would call by and by.

Hill. What time was that in the Morning ?

Praunce. It was about nine or ten o' clock in

the Morning.

Hill. And had we been there before or after ?

Praunce. You had been there before.

Mr. Recorder. Pray ftay till fuch time as we have
done with out Evidence, you fhall have all free

Liberty to ask him any Queftion ; but you muft
ftay till we have done.

Praunce. As foon as they heard he was within,

they came out and ftaid for his coming out, and
dogg'd him.

L. C. J. Did all three of them go to his

Houfe ?

Praunce. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. Who was it did go ?

Praunce. Only one, either Hill or Green.

L. C. J. How do you know that?

Praunce. They told me fo themfelves, for they

came to give me Notice.

L. C. y. Who told you fo ?

Praunce. It was Girald and Green both.

l.C. J,
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L. C. J. Did Green tell you that he had been

there ?

Praunee. He told me one of them, but I am
not certain which. And fo, my Lord, after that,

when he came out they dogg'd him that Day up

and down.

Mr. Juftice Jones. Who dogg'd him ?

Praunee. Girald, Green and Hill dogg'd him
into St. Clements ; and about feven o' clock, Green

came and gave me notice, that he was at St. Cle-

ments, and I came to Somerfet-Houfe as fad as I

could.

L. C. J. Where were you ?

Praunee. At my own Houfe.

L. C. J. How far did you live from Somerfet-

Houfe ?

Praunee. I lived in Prihces-Jlreet, not far from

Somerfet-Houfe.

Mr. Recorder. Who was it gave you notice ?

Praunee. It was Green. He told me, that Girald

and Kelly were watching him, and that he was at

St. Clements.

L. C.J. Where was he ?

Praunee. At St. Clements, my Lord.

L. C. J. Where there ?

Praunee. I was not there, they told me fo,

and ho more; and about eight or nine o' clock,

/////came before, up the Street, and gave us notice

that we mull be ready. And fo, my Lord, as foon

as Hill had given us notice, he went up to the Gate,

and ftaid there till Sir Edmundbury Godfrey came
by, and then told him, there were two Men a quar-

relling, and defired him to come and try whether

he could pacify them •, he was very unwilling. But
pray, Sir, faith Hill, you being a Juftice of the

Peace, may qualify them ; and fo he went down till

he came to the bottom of the Rails ; and when
he came to the bottom of the Rails, Green twift-

ed his Handkerchief, and threw it about his

Neck, and threw him behind the Rails, and
there throttled him, and punched him, and then

Girald would have thruft his Sword through him,
but the reft would not permit him, for fear it

fhould difcover them by the Blood. And a-

bout a quarter of an Hour after, I came down,
and found he was not quite dead ; for I laid

my Hand upon him, and his Legs tottered and
ihook, and then Green wrung his Neck quite

round.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who was it that took him by
the Neck ?

Praunee. It was Green, my Lord.
L. C. J. Did you fee him ?

Praunee. No, but he did tell me afterwards that

he did it ?

L. C. J. Who, Green himfelf?

Praunee. Yes, my Lord, for he boafted of it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray what did he do to him be-

fides ?

Praunee. He punch'd him with his Knee.
L. C. J. Did you fee him do this ? how do you

know he did it ?

Praunee. He and the reft told me fo it after-

wards.

L. C. J. Where were you, at that time that the

Handerchiefwas twifted about his Neck?
Praunee. As foon as I came down I went towards

she Gate.

L. C, J Who ordered you to ftand at the

Praunee. It was Hill.

Mr, Serj. Stringer. You watqh'd the Water-
Gate^wlio watch'd the Stairs ?

Praunee. That was Berry.

Mr. Recorder. Pray give an Account what they

did afterwards.

Praunee. Why afterwards- -

Mr. Att. Gen. Who told you that Green twifted

his Neck ?

Praunee. All fpoke of it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did Hill ?

Praunee. Ygs, he and the reft.

Mr. Att. Gen. How came you to underftand

that he punch'd his Breaft ?

Praunee. Green fpoke of it himfelf, and fo did

the others.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Who were about his Body when
you came down to the Gate ?

Praunee, All Four.

Mr. Att. Gen. Name them.

Praunee. Hill, Green, Girald and Kelly.

Mr. Att. Gen. Was Berry there?

Praunee. He came to them a while after.

Mr. Att. Gen. When ?

Praunee. Before they carried him into the

Houle.

Mr. Alt. Gen. How can you tell that?

Praunee. Becaufe he help'd them to carry them

in.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Where was Berry before they car-

ried him into the Houfe?

Praunee. He was about the Stairs.

Mr. Recorder. Who was it that carried him up
into the Room ?

Praunee. We all did.

Mr. Recorder. Pray name all that were in the

Company.
Praunee. There was Girald, Green, Hill, Kelly,

Berry, and I.

Mr. Alt. Gen Who fet their Hands to it?

Praunee. We all did help; Hill went before and

opened the Door, and we carried him into the

Room.
Mr. Att. Gen. Whole Room was that ?

Praunee. It was a Chamber of Hill's, in Dr.

Godwin's Houfe.

Mr. Recorder. Was Hill Godwin's Man ?

Praunee. Yes, he had been.

Mr. Juftice Jones. Did Berry help to carry him
in?

Praunee. Yes, Berry did.

Mr. Serj. Stringer. Was there any Difcourfe of

a Sword to be thruft through him at that time ?

Praunee. Yes, Girald faid he would thruft a

Sword through him, but they would not let him,

for fear of Difcovery.

Mr. Att. Gen. What became of the Body ?

Praunee. It lay there till Monday Night, and on

Monday it was removed into Somerfet-Houfe, and

upon Monday Night Hill did Ihew me it with a

Dark-Lanthron.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who were in the Room then ?

Praunee. Girald, and Hill, and Kelly, and all

were there. And on 'Tuefday Night it was brought

back again : Mr. Hill would have carried him into

his own Lodging.

L. C. J. Whither did they carry him on Mon-
day Night?

Praunee. Into Somerfet-Houfe.

Mr. Juft Wild. Is not Hill's Chamber in Somer-

fet-Houfe?

Mr. Serj. Stringer. Defcribe the Room Mr.
Praunee, as well as you can.

Praunee. I am not certain of theRocm, and fo

cannot defcribe it.

Mr.
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Bat was not Hill's Chamber in Praunce. Aftride ; his Legs were forced open

3Mr. Juft. Wild.

So?nerfel-Houfe ?

Praunce. 'Tis in the lower part of the Houfe, in

a Court.

Mr. Att. Gen. When you faw him in this Room,

pray, what was thrown over him ?

Praunce. There was fomething, I cannot tell

what ; for I durft not ftay long there.

Mr. Juft. ~Dolben. What Light was there ?

Praunce: Only a Dark-Lanthorn.

. Mr. Ait. Gen. Who carried it ?

Praunce. Hill carried it.

Mr. Tuft. Doiben. Are you fare you faw the body

there ?

Praunce. Yes, I am certain of it.

Mr. Att. Gen. What became of it after that ?

Praunce. On Tuefday Night it was carried to

Hill's, the Chamber where he was firft brought

after 'he was murdered ; but there was fome body

there, and fo they could not carry it into the Room,

but they carried him into a Room juft over againft,

I think they were Sir John Arundell's Lodgings, I

can't tell. There it lay till Wednejclay Night, and

about nine o' clock on IVednejday Night they were

removing the Body into the Room where it firft

lay ; and I happen'd to come as they were re-^

moving it, and they were affrighted, and run a-

way : But I fpoke, and Berry came back again,

and o-ot the Body up into the Room, and a-

bout Twelve o'clock they carried it away in the

Sedan.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Who brought the Sedan ?

Praunce. Hill did.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who put him into it ?

Praunce. We all fet our Hands to it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who carried him out firft ?

Praunce. I and Girald.

Mr. Att. Gen. Out of which Gate ?

Praunce. The Upper-Gate of the Upper-

Court.

Mr. Alt. Gen. How came you to have the Gate

opened ?

Praunce. Berry opened it.

Mr. Att. Gen. How came he to open it ?

Praunce. Somebody hem'd, and that was the

Sign.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Who was it that carried the Sedan

firft ?

Praunce. I and Girald.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who went before ?

Praunce. Green and Kelly.

Mr. Recorder. How far did you carry him ?

Praunce. Into Cogent-Garden, and there we
re tied.

Mr. Alt. Gen. And who took him up then?

Praunce. Green and Kelly.

Mr. Att. Gen. How far did they carry him.

Praunce. They carried him to Long-Acre. Then
we took him up, and carried him to Soho Church,

and there Hill met us with an Horfe, and we help'd

the Body up.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who was it that rid behind

him?
Praunce.

Mr. Att.

Sedan ?

Praunce.

back again.

L. C. J.

back ?

Praunce.

and Hill held him up.

Hill. Did I hold him ?

Praunce. Yes, you did.

L. C. J. Did the others go with him ?

Praunce. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Who did go with him ?

Praunce. Green, Hill, Girald and Kelly.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray, will you tell my Lord and
the Jury, what Account they gave you the next

Morning, concerning the Body, and how they had
difpofed of it.

Praunce. They told me
L. C. J. Who told you ?

Praunce. Hill, Kelly, and Girald.

L. C.J. What did they tell you?
Praunce. Firft, that they had run him thro*

with his own Sword •, then thrown him into a

Ditch, and laid his Gioves and other things upon
the Bank.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray tell now the Story of your
meeting at Boiv. What was the Houfe called you
met at ?

Praunce. It was the Sign of the Queen*s-

Head.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Who was it that did meet
there ?

Praunce. They were Priefts, I can't fo vtell

remember their Names, they are written down in

this Paper.

Mr. Recorder. Look on the Paper your felf,

you can read, I fuppofe.

Praunce. There was on Lufon a Prieft, I

think.

Mr. Att. Gen. Where did he live ?

Praunce. He was with Vernatt.

Mr. Att. Gen. What was the Occafion of your

meeting there ?

Praunce. Vernatt told me only it was to be mer-

ry there.

Mr. Att. Gen. What was the Man of the Houfe
his Name ?

Praunce. One Cafshes.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you dine there ?

Praunce. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. What had you for Dinner ?

Praunce. We had a Barrel of Oyfters, and a

Difn of Fifh : I bought the Fifh my felf.

L. C. J. What Day was it ?

Praunce. The Friday after the Proclamation,

That all the Papifts were to be gone out of

Town.
Mr. Recorder. Tell what Company you had

there, and what Difcourfe.

Praunce. There was Mr. Vernatt, and I, and

Mr. Girald, and that other Prieft, and one Mr. Ds-
thicke.

Gen. Who fent for him ?

Mr. Vernatt fent a Note for him by a

Mr. Att.

Praunce.

Cobler.

Mr. Att

Praunce.

It was Hill.

Gen. What did you do with your

We fet it in a new Houfe till we came

You fay you faw him on Horfe-

Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C. J. How, in what Pofture ?

Gen. Did he come upon that Note ?

He came preiently. And when he

was come, then they read all the Writing of the

Murder; for Mr. Vernatt fliould have been one

at the doing of it, but fomething happen'd he

could not.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Vernatt was very forrowful

at the reading of it, was he not ?

Praunce. If he was, 'twas becaufe he was not

there.

Mr. Att. Gen. How did he behave himfelf?

Did he read it with any Pleafure and Delight ?

Praunce,
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Praunce. We were all very merry.

Mr. Alt. Gen. What can you fay about any bo^

dy's over-hearing you ?

Praunce. There was a Drawer came and liften-

ed at the Door, and 1 hearing the Door a little

ruffle, went to the Door, and catch'd him listen-

ing, and faid I to him, Sirrah, I could find in my
Heart to kick you down Stairs \ and away he

went.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Was Vernatt with you there

that Night he was murdered, the Saturday

Night ?

Praunce. No ; there was only the Six I have

named.

Mr. Juft. Jones. You fay that you met at the

Plow the firft Night ?

Praunce. Yes.

Mr. Juft. Jones. And there you were told, That

it was a very charitable Aft to kill Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey ?

Praunce. Yes, I was fo.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Was it agreed there that he

mould be kili'd ?

Praunce. It was agreed there ; and the firft that

met him were to give notice to the reft.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Who were there ?

Praunce. Girald, Kelly, Green, and I.

L. C. J. When came Hill and Berry into this

Caufe ? How came they acquainted with it ?

Praunce. They were in it before I.

L. C. J. Who told you they were in it?

Praunce. Mr. Girald, my Lord, told me fo.

Mr. Juft, Jones. Hill and Berry were not at

the Ploiv, where did you firft hear them fpeak

of it?

Praunce. Girald and I have been at Berry's Houfe

divers times.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But there were two Meetings

at the Plow, were there not ?

Praunce. Yes, there were.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. And Hill was at the laft Meet-

ing, was he not ?

Praunce. Yes, he was, my Lord.

Mr. Att. Gen. Now I would ask you this Que-

ftion, by the Favour of the Court-, was there any

Reward propofed by thefe Priefts for the doing

of it?

Praunce. Girald and Vernatt did fpeak of a great

Reward that was to be given for it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray, how much ?

Praunce. I do not remember what.

Mr. Att. Gen. Cannot you tell how much ?

Praunce. There was to be a good Reward from

my Lord Bella/is, as they faid.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. You had feveral Meetings,

you fay : Did you there refolve what fhould be

the way of doing it ?

Praunce. Girald was refolv'd to kill him that

Night ; and if he could not get him into a more
convenient Place, he would kill him with his

own Sword, in the Street that leads to his own
Houfe.

Mr. Record. Who was that, that refolved fo ?

Praunce. 1 1 was Girald.

Mr. Record. The Prieft, rather than fail, was

refolved to do that Aft of Charity himfelf.

Mr. Att. Gen. I would now ask you a Queftion,

which though it does not prove the Perfons guilty,

yet it gives a great Strength to the Evidence. Do
you know Mr. Bedlow, Mr. Praunce ?

Praunce. I do now know him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Had you ever any Conference

with him before you was committed to Pri-
fon?

Praunce. Never, in all my Life'.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Were you ever in his Company
in your Life before, that you know of?

Praunce. No, not that I remember.
Mr. Ait. Gen. Well, you fhall fee how far he

will agree with you.

Mr, Record. Now they may ask him any Que-
ftions, if they pleafe, for we have done with
him.

L. C. J. Let them if they will.

Mill. My Lord, in the firft place I humbly pray
that Mr. Praunce's Evidence may not ftand o- od|

againft me, as being perjured by his own Confef-
fion.

L. C. J. How ?

Hill. I fuppofe, my Lord, it is not unknown to
you that he made fuch an open Confeffion before
the King.

L. C. J. Look you, Sir, I will tell you for
that, I do not know that ever he made a Con-
feffion to contradift what he had faid upon his
Oath.

r

Hill. He was upon his Oath before.

L. C. J. Yes, he had accufed you upon Oath,
but afterwards, you fay, he confeffed that it was
not true : but that Confeffion that it was not true,

was_ not upon Oath : How is he then guilty of
Perjury ?

Hill. My Lord, if a Man can fwear a thing,

and after deny it, he is certainly perjured.

L. C.J. If a Man hath great Horrors of Con-
fcience upon him, and is full of Fears, and the

Guilt of fuch a thing diforders his Mind, fo as to

make him go back from what he had before dif-

covered upon Oath, you can't fay that Man is per-

jured, if he don't forfwear it : But I believe no
Body did believe his Denial, becaufe his firft Dif-

covery was fo particular, that every Man did think

his general Denial did only proceed from the Dif-

turbance of his Mind. But have you any mind
to ask him any Queftions ?

Mr. Record. We can prove, that immediately
after he retrafted his Recantation.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Try if you can trap him in

any Queftion.

Hill. Pray, what Hour was it that I went to

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey's}

Praunce. About nine or ten o' clock, I am not

certain in the Hour.

L. C. J. No, no, a Man cannot be precife to

an Hour ; but prove you what you can.

Hill. I have a great many Witnelfes befides the

Juftice of my Cauie, that I was not out of my
Houfe that Day.

L.C.J. You fhall be heard for that, but the

prefent Matter is, Whether you will ask him any
Queftions or no ?

Hill. My Lord, 'tis all falfe that he fays, and I

deny every Word of it, and I hope it fhall not be

good againft me.

L. C. J. Well, Mr. Berry, will you ask him
any Queftions ?

Berry. Mr. Praunce, who was in my Houfe at

that Time you fpeak of ?

Praunce. There was your Wife there, and feve-

ral other Perfons befides.

Berry. Who were they ?

Praunce. There were divers People; it is an

Alehoule.

Berry.
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Berry. But who ? Can you name any of them ?

Praunce. There was Girald, and Kelly, and j.

L. C. J. Why, did you not all know Mr,
Praunce ?

Berry. My Lord, I knew him as he pafs'd up
and down in the Houfe.

L. C. J. Why, what an Anfwer is that? What
do you mean by his pafiing up and down in the

Houfe? Did you never drink with him ?

Berry. Drink with him, my Lord ? Yes.

L. C. J. Yes ; why People don't ufe to drink

as they go along.

Berry. It was in other Company that came to

my Houfe, no Acquaintance of mine.

L. C. J. Was not Mr. Praunce known by you
all three ? Which of you can deny it ? What fay

you, Hill ?

Hill. My Lord, I did know him.

L. C. J. What fay you, Green ?

Green. Yes, I did know him.

Mr. Att. Gen. But yet, my Lord, we fhall

prove in the Courfe of our Evidence, that upon
their Examinations, they did deny they ever

knew him ; but becaufe the Prifoners give us

this Occafion, I defire Mr. Praunce may give an
Account of one thing. He was concerned in

this very Fact, and there was no other way to

get any Proof of it, than by the Difcovery of
one among themfelves. He was once of that Re-
ligion, or elfe he had never been concerned in

this thing. And your Lordfhip will find, that

Mr. Praunce, while he Was of that Religion, and
not fure of his Pardon, Was under fome Diftur-

bances and Fears, which prevailed with him to

come before the King, and deny what he had
Sworn. But, my Lord, which is very obferva-

ble, this Gentleman that had made that Denial

before the King, was fo far convine'd that he

had done amifs in it, and fo troubled that he had
done it, that he defired Capt. Richardfon (as foon

as he returned back to Prifon) to carry him back
to the King again ; for he mud go back, and
make good that Confeffion which he at firft had
made •, for it was every Word true. And being

for the King, we defire Capt. Richardfon may be

Sworn.

Mr. Juft. mid. Can you tell where Sir Ed-
mundbury Godfrey was dogg'd ?

Praunce. No, my Lord, I cannot.

Mr. Juft. Wild. You fay they did tell you,

that they dogg'd him up and down ; Did not

they tell you from whence they dogg'd him,
when they kill'd him ?

Praunce. No, they did not.

L. C. J. Mr. Richardfon, were you by, when
Mr.Praunce denied all that he had confeffed ?

Capt. Richardfon. My Lord, upon the Sunday

Night before the Prorogation of the lad Parlia-

ment, I received a Letter from one of the Lords
of the Council, to bring up Mr. Praunce before

the Lords of the Committee for his Examination.

When I brought him thither, I found Mr. Praunce

Was difturbed, and defired to fpeak with the

King j and I carried him into the King's Clofet,

where he fell down on his Knees, and faid, He
was Innocent, and they were all Innocent -, and that

was the Subftance of all he faid. I then had
him up to the Council, where he faid the fame
thing. The Lords asked him, Whether any bo-

dy had been tampering with him ; he anfwered,

No. My Lord, when I came home, I was no
fooner got within the Doors, but he begg'd of
Vol. II.

me (for God's Sake) to go back to the King, and
to acquaint him, not only that what he had now
faid, wasfalfe -, but that all which he had fworn

before, was Truth. And if his Majefty would
fend him a Pardon, he would make a great Dif-

covery. And, my Lord, more than that, he

faid, It was Fear, that made him recant ; and he

gave a full Satisfaction, that it was only out of

an Apprehenfion that his Life was not fecure,

that his Trade would be loft among the Roman
Catholicks ; and in cafe he had his Pardon, and
were Saved, he fliould have been in danger of be-

ing murdered by them.

L. C. J. Now you have an Account, Mr. Hill,

how he came to deny, and how foon he recant-

ed his Denial.

Mr. Juft. Jones. You are upon your Oath, Mr,
Praunce ; Is this all true that he hath faid ?

Praunce. Yes, my Lord, it is.

Mr. Recorder. How hath he behaved himfelf

fince that time }

Capt. Richardfon. As fbberly as can be, fince he

had his Pardon.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray, fince that time, have you

had any Difcourfe with him ? And how did he

carry himfelf?

Capt. Richardfon. Very foberly.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did he exprefs any Abhorrence
of the Practice of that Church ?

Capt. Richardfon. Yes, my Lord, he did fo.

Mr. Att. Gen. I hope it will make all People

abhor and forfake them in time, if thefe be their

Practices. In the next Place, my Lord, we will

call Mr. Bedlow, who, tho' he was not prefent

at the Murder, yet he faw the Body after it was
dead in Somerfet-Houfe, which goes to the Mat-
ter as to the Place ; and he will give you fome
Circumftances which will very much corroborate

the Teftimony of Mr. Praunce.

Mr. Juft. Wild. What time was it before they

carried him in, after they had kill'd him ?

L. C. J. Brother, I think they fay, between

eight and nine they decoy'd him down thro* the

Water-Gate. Was it not fo ?

Praunce. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Juft. Wild. How long had they kill'd him
before they carried him into the Room ?

Praunce. About a Quarter of an Hour.
Mr. Juft. Wild. Had he his Sword about him >

Praunce. Yes, it was found run thro' him.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Did Sir Edmundbury Godfrey

himfelf draw his Sword ?

Praunce. No, he was ftrangled by Surprife, by
getting a Thing about his Neck, and prevented

him of drawing his Sword.

L. C. J. They were Perfons that were ready

prepared for him, they would not permit him to

defend himfelf.

Mr. Serj. Stringer. My Lord, Before Mr. Bed-

low be Sworn, I defire a little to open what we
call him to. My Lord, there were four Priefts

that did defign this Murder ; Le Fairs and Welfh,

and Girald, and Kelly, befides the other Priefts j

and they treated with Mr. Bedlow for Four Thou-
fand Pounds, to undertake to kill a Gentleman.

My Lord, he did promife to undertake it, but

failing of his Promife, afterwards Le Faire met
him, and told him it was done ; and told him he

fhould have half that Reward to help to carry

him off j and withal, carried him into the Room
where the Body was. And he will tell you

that Praunce was in the Room when he faw

5 F him i
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him •, jtri'd tho' he never knew Praunce before,

yet When he met him in the Lobby of the

Ldrd's Hdufe, he knew hifri again, and charged

him a§ the Man that committed this Fact. And
he will dcquairit your Lordfhip, that Le Paire

fiw
1

tlie Body likewife, and gave IVlr. Bedlow ah

Accbuht Of the Murder, with the fame Circum-

Itahces that Trounce now relates it.

Then Mr. Bedlow was Sworn.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Bedlow, Pray do you direiEr,

your Diicburfe to the Jury.

L. C. J. Mr. Attorney, Pray do you ask him
your Qhcftibns, that you may put him in that

MethotT you would have him take, to give his

Evidence.

Mr. Aft. Gen. My Lord, t would firft ask him
this Queftibn : What Conference he had with

any Perfons, Priefts or others, about murdering

any Body ?

Bedlow. My Lord, and the Jury, I have at o-

ther 'Times, and in other Places, proved what
Familiarity I have had with the Priefts and Je-

fiiits; and if I have not fatisfied the Court, and

others, about it, yet I have done my Duty in

endeavouring fo to do. My Lord, I have been

feveral times treated with, not only about the

Plot, but by feveral Perfons about murdering of

a Gentleman. They never told me who it was

that was to be murdered ; but if I would under-

take it, they, that is, Le Faire and Pritchard, and

Mr. Kdihe's, and feveral other Priefts, who dif-

cotorfed with me about it, would find out fome
to affi'ft me, and my Reward fhould be very con-

fidefable.

L. C. J. When was this ?
/

Bedlow. It was in October laft, about the be-

ginning, or latter end of September.

L. C. J. Well, Sir, go on.

Bedlow. I did adhere to them all along, for I

had a mind to difcover two Years ago, but was
prevented ; and I only drill'd them on, to know
the Party, that I might prevent them. But they

would never difcover the Party.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Pr'ythee come to this particular

part of the Story.

Bedlow. Afterwards they fet me to infinuate

myfelf into the Acquaintance of Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey, not telling me they had a Defign upon
him.

L.C. J. Who did?

Bedlow. Le Faire, and Pritchard, and Weljh.

L. C. J. Girald was not one, was he ?

Bedlozv. No, my Lord : But they told me,
that afterwards they would have me introduce

them into his Acquaintance: And I had been, I

think, fix or feven Days together with Sir Ed-
mundbury Godfrey, at his Houfe j and had got

much into his Acquaintance.

Mr. Juft. iVild. By what Means did you get

into his Acquaintance ?

Bedlow, Why, I pretended to get Warrants
for the Good Behaviour againft Perfons, that

there were none fuch.

L. C. J. Well, and what then ?

Bedlow. This was the Week before the Sa-

turday that he was kill'd ; and I was there every

Day but Saturday : On the Friday I went to

the Greyhound Tavern, and 1 fent my Boy to fee

if .Sir EdmunSury Godfrey were at home: Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey was not at home then.

L. C. J. When was that ?

Bedlow. The very Day before he was kill'd :

If he had been at home, I would have gone over

to him, arid would have defired him to go over

to them.

L. C. y. Were the Priefts there ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, there was Pritchard,

arid Le Faire, arid ffieljh, and Raines, and ano-

ther ; five Jefuits : And, as I faid, I fent my
Boy to fee if he were at home, and he brought

me word he was riot •, and if he had, I was to '

have gone to him, to have fetch'd him thither,
j

that they might infinuate themfelves into his Ac- ,

quairitance: And indeed, they had Tongue c-

nough to wheedle themfelves into any one's Ac- ,

quaintance : So he not being at home, we came •

into the City, two of the Jefuits and j.

Mr. Att. Gen. Which two?
Bedlow. Le Faire and Welfh. The next Morn-

ing Le Faire came to ifry Chamber, and I was
not then within ; but by accident, 1 met him,
about Four of the Clock, in Lincoln*s-lnn-Fields

;

We went to the Palfgrave's-Head Tavern ; where i

falling into Difcourfe, he told me there was a i

Gentleman that was to be put out of the way j ,

that was the Phrafe he ufed, he did not really

fay Murder him ; for they don't count it Mur-
der.

L. C. J. ,Nb, no, they put it into fofter

Terms.

Bedlow. They told me it was to be done to-

night. I asked who it was, they faid it was a i

very material Man : For he had all the Informa-

tions that Mr. Gates and Dr. Tongue had given

iri •, that feveral had been employed in the doing

of it, that feveral Attempts had been made, and

that they had mifs'd feveral Opportunities, and

had not done it till then ; but if he ihould not

be taken but of the way, and the Papers taken

frorri him, the Bufineis would be fo obftruded,

and go near to be difcovered, to that Degree,

that they would not be able to bring this Defign

to pafs, but muft ftay till another Age before

they Ihould effect it. I asked him again, who
it was, he faid he would not tell me, but it was

a very friaterial Man. I told him, that accord-

ing to my Promife, I would aflift ; but in fuch

a Cafe, 1 ihould need a great many Meri to be

with me, he being fb confiderable a Perfbn, I

asked him then, where the Money was, that

was formerly promifed ? he told me no worfe a

Man was engaged for it, than my Lord Bella/is,

arid Mr. Coleman had Order to pay it.

Mr. Juft. Jones. What was that Reward ?

Bedlow. Four Thoufand Pounds.

L. G. J. Who was it that firft named this

Gentleman to you to be Sir Edmundbury God-

frey ?

Bedlow. They never named him to me at all.

L. C. J. Let us know when you firft knew it i

to be Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ?

Bedlow. I parted with him then, but camfc

not according to my Promife. I was to meet him

at the Cloifters at Somerfet-Houfe that Night ; but

I knew their Defign was to murder fome Body,

and 1 would not come. I faw him no more till
j

Monday Night, then I met him in Red-Lion-

Court, where he put up his Cane to his Nofe, as

who Ihould fay, I was to blame in not keeping

my Promife. And we went together to the

Greyhound Tavern in Fleetftreet, where he char-

ged me with my Breach of Promife. I told

him I was taken up by other Company, arid
run-

lefs
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lefs they would tell me who it was I was to kill,

I would have no Hand in it : For I did not know

but that it might be my own particular Friend.

And 1 would not murder any private Perfon, un-

Jcfs I knew who it was, and for what Reafon.

Well, fays he, we will tell you more anon if you

meet me to-night at Somerfet-Houfe, at Nine o'

clock. I did meet him exactly at that time in

the Cloifters, where we walk'd, and talk'd a

great while. And then he took me into the

middle of the Court, and told me, You have

done ill, that you did not help in this Bufinefs ;

but if you will help to carry him off, you fhall

have half the Reward. Why, faid I, Is he Mur-

dered? Tes, faid he. May I not fee him, faid I ?

Tes, you may, faid he ; and fo took me by the

Hand, and led me into the Room through a dark

Entry. In the Room were a great many, I can't

tell who they all were.

Mr. Att. Gen. How many were there ?

Bedlow. There might ftand a great many be-

hind one another. 1 faw Four or Five.

Mr. Juft. Jones. What kind of Light had they,

Mr. Praunce ?

Praunce. It was a middle-fized Lanthorn.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Was it a fmall Light, or a

great Light ?

Bedlow. It was a fmall Light.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Had they no Light but that

Lanthorn ?

Bedlow. No : And they did not open it till I

had had a turn about the Room.

L.C.J. Did they difcourfe of carrying him
away then ?

Bedlow. Yes, they did.

L. C. J. Did you know him, when he lay

dead there ?

Bedlow. Yes, your Lordfhip fhall hear how I

came to know him : One flep'd to the Body,

and threw off the thing that lay upon him, and

I went and look'd upon him ; and he had got

about his Neck fuch a kind of a fafhion'd Cra-

vat as this about my Neck; and I went to

try, and could not get my Finger in betwixt :

So I faw him, his Bofom was all open, and I

knew him prefently •, for thofe Jefuits that were

there, were not thofe who had employed me to

infinuate myfelf into his Acquaintance; and fo

they thought I had not known him. I asked

who it was, they faid it was a Man that belong'd

to a Perfon of Quality. I was mightily ftruck

and daunted when I knew him : I would fain

have perfuaded them to have tied Weights at

his Head and Feet, and thrown him into the

River; and afterwards I would have dragg'd for

him, and took him up there. But they did not

think that fo fafe : No (faid they) we will put it

upon himfelf, there are none but Friends concerned.

I asked Le Faire how they fhould get him out ?

They faid, In a Chair. Then 1 asked them,

which way they would get him into the Chair,

and out of the Gate ? They faid the Porter was

to fit up to let them out.

Mr. Recorder. What Porter ?

Bedlow. The Porter of the Houfe.

Mr. Recorder. Who, Berry ?

Bedlow. Yes. As for that Hill, or the Old
Man, I do not know that I ever had any parti-

cular Knowledge of them ; but only I looked

upon them as ill-defigning Men, feeing them in

the Chapel.

L. C J. Did you fee e'er a one of the three

Prifoners there at that Time ?

Vol. II.

Bedlow. No, my Lord : But I have fuch a

Remembrance of Faces, that I could tell, if I law

them again, any that I did fee there, tho' the

Light was but fmall. They told me, They had

ftrangled him ; but how, I did not know. When
they prefs'd me to help to carry him out, I then

excufed myfelf, and faid, It was too early to

carry him out yet ; but about Eleven or Twelve
o 'clock would be a better Time. And I affured

them I would come again. Said he Faire to me,
Upon the Sacrament you took on Thurfday, you will

be at the carrying off of this Man at Night ? I

promifed him I would. And he went away, and
left me there. I made what Speed away I could,

for I was very unfatisfied in myfelf; having fo

great a Charge upon me, as the Sacrament of
the Altar, which, after the Difcovery of the

Plot, was adminiftred to me twice a Week to

conceal it. I could not tell how to difcover : I

went then to Briftol, but very reftlefs and dif-

turbed in my Mind ; and being perfuaded by
what God was pleafed to put into my Mind,
calling to Remembrance that fome Murders
had been already committed, and greater ones
were daily intended, I was at laft convine'd, and
could no longer forbear Difcovery. I wrote to

the Secretary of it, and went to the Parliament
and gave in my Information. And one D.iy I

met with Mr. Praunce in the Lobby, and knew
him, and apprehended him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I will ask you one Queftion„

Had you any Difcourfe with Mr. Praunce be-

tween the Time you faw him with the Body, and
the Day he was apprehended ?

Bedlow. No ; I never faw him to this Day,
to have any Converfe with him.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Did not you fee Hill that

Night, when you were to have carried him a-

way ?

Bedlow. No, my Lord.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Nor Green, nor Berry ?

Bedlow. Green I did fee about the Court, and
Berry, I was told, was to open the Gate that

Monday Night. But, my Lord, when they

found I did not come again, they defifted that

Night, and kept it off longer, for fear I fhould

come again to ftop them.

Mr. Att. Gen. He did not refufe to help them,
but promifed to do it, and failed : And they

finding that he had failed them, would not Jet

the Body lie where it was for fear of Difcovery,

but removed it back again.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. What did Praunce fay, when
you firft took notice of him ?

Bedlow. I underftood afterwards that he was
taken upon Sufpicion, becaufe at that Time his

Maid had made a Difcovery, that he was about

that Time out of his Lodgings. And while he
was there in the Conftable's Hands, Mr. Oates

came by, and he defired to fee him ; and pre-

fently after I came thither, and the Conftable

asked him, Mr. Praunce, will you fee Mr. Bed-

low ? No, he faid, he would not : Then he

put his Hat over his Eyes, that I might not fee

his Face, and kept it fo. The Prefs being great,

and being defirous to be private myfelf, I fpoke

to the Guard to put out all that had no Bufinefs

there, and they cried out, that all fhould avoid

the Room, but Mr. Bedlow and his Friends. And
when he was going out with the reft, he lift up
his Hat, to fee his way ; and tho' before I did

not mind him, yet I happened at his palling by

5 F 2 me,
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me, to caft my Eyes upon his Face, and prefent-

ly knew him, and cried, Oh ! pray, Sir, ftay •,

you are one of my Friends that muft ftay here.

And I prefently charged my Guards to take

Charge of him. Saith the Conftable, He is my
Prifoner: Is he fo, faid T, then you have a ve-

ry good Prifoner, and pray look fafe to him.

And then when I went into the Houfe of Lords,

I made out my Charge againft him.

Mr. Recorder. Now if the Prifoners have any

Queftions to ask Mr. Bedlow, they may have free

Liberty to do it.

Hill. I never faw him before in my Life.

L.C.J. Do you know any of them ?

Bedlow. I know Mr. Berry and Green very

well.

L. C. J. Pray, Mr. Praunce, was the Dark-

Lanthorn at Hill's Lodgings, or at the other

Place ?

Praunce. At the other Place.

L. C. J. Look you here, Mr. Praunce, they

carried him to Hill's on Saturday Night, and he

lay there till Monday Night : What time on Mon-
day Night was it that they removed him into

Somerfet-Houfe ?

Praunce. I was not there when they did re-

move him.

L. C. J. What Time did you fee him there ?

Praunce. About Nine or Ten o'clock.

L. C. J. What Time was it that you fawirim

there, Mr. Bedlow ?

Bedlow. It was after Nine, my Lord.

Praunce. They had then removed him to So-

merfet-Houfe, and Mr. Hill asked what they in-

tended to do with the Body ? They faid, They
would carry it out that Night; but they did

not. But there the Dark-Lanthorn was, and on

fuefday Night they removed him back again.

Mr. Att. Gen. Now, my Lord, if you pleafe,

we fhall go on to call fome Witneffes that were

not prefent at the Murder ; for direcl Evidence,

as to that, can come only out of the Mouth of

fome that were concerned in it ; but to corrobo-

rate, by concurrent Circumftances, the Tefti-

mony which hath been already given. And firft

we fhall call the Conftable, to prove that he

found Sir Edmundbury Godfrey in the Fields, in

the fame manner which Mr. Praunce lays they

told him they left him.

L. C. J. Mr. Attorney, you promifed you would
prove, that when thefe Perfons were examined,

they did deny before the Houfe of Lords that they

knew Praunce.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, in that we were mif-

taken, I underftand now, it was only Berry de-

nied that he did know Girald.

L. C. J. Why, did you never know Mr. Gi-

rald ?

Berry. Never in my Life.

L. C. J. Mr. Praunce, have not you feen Gi-

rald with Berry ?

Praunce. Yes, I have, but they ufually went

by feveral Names.

L. C. J. Did you ever fee Girald in Hill's Com-
pany ?

Praunce. Yes, that I have.

L. C. J. Was there no Centinel Cet that Mon-
day Night, that Saturday Night, and that TVed-

nefday Night?
Praunce. My Lord, I am not certain, I took no-

tice of none ; if there were any, they were at

Berry's Houfe, and he opened the Gate, when we
came out with the Sedan.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Berry, I fuppofe, could take

Order with the Centinel, and give them fome
Entertainment in his own Lodge.

Then Mr. Brown the Conftable was Sworn.

Mr. Recorder. Pray, in what Pofture did you
find Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ?

Brown. I found him, my Lord, in a Ditch,

with his Sword through him, and the end of it

was two Handfulls out of his Back.

L. C. J. Was he bloody ?

Brown. There was no Blood at all, there was
'

no Blood in the Ditch.

L. C. J. Was the Sword flicking in his Body ?

Brown. Yes, my Lord, but there was no Blood
at all when it was taken out ; they had run it in- '

to another Place, but that happened to be againft

a Rib, and fo it could not go thro' ; but there

was no Blood there.

Mr. Jufi. Jones. Were there any Bruifes on his

Breaft ?

Brown. He did look black about the Breaft.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I would ask, whe-
ther his Neck were broken ?

Brown. Yes, 1 fuppofe it was.

L. C. J. How do you know it ?

Brown. It was very weak, and one might turn

his Head from one Shoulder to the other.

L. C. J. Where was his Stick and Gloves ?

Brown. They were on the Bank -fide.

L. C. J. Whofe Sword was it ?

Brown. His Servants faid it was his own.
Mr. Att. Gen. Pray, had he any Money in his

Pocket ?

Brown. Yes ; a great deal of Gold and Sil-

ver.

L. C. J. Ay, ay, for they count Theft Sin,

but not Murder.

Mr. Juft. Wild. They left that, to let Men
think he murdered himfelf.

L. C. J. Well, will you ask this Witnefs any
Queftions before he goes ?

Capt. Richardfon. They fay they will ask him
none.

Mr. Att. Gen. Then we defirc to call the Chi-

rurgeons that view'd and opened the Body, Mr.
Skillard, and Mr. Cambridge; both whom were

fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. We begin with Mr. Skillard;

Pray, Sir, inform my Lord and the Jury, Did

you fee the Body of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ?

Skillard. Yes, I did view the Body.

Mr. Att. Gen. When ? What Time did you

fee it ?

Skillard. About Twelve of the Clock.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Day of the Week was it *

Skillard. On Friday, "the next Day after he was i

found.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you obferve his Breaft ?

how was it ?

Skillard. His Breaft was all beaten with fome

obtufc Weapon, either with the Feet, or Hands,

or fomething.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you obferve his Neck ?

Skillard. Yes ; it was diftorted.

Mr. Att. Gen. How far ?

Skillard. You might have taken the Chin and

have fet it upon either Shoulder.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you obferve the Wound ?

Skillard. Yes, I did : it went in at one Place,

and ftopp'd. at a Rib, the other Place it was quite

thro' the Body ?

Mr.
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Mr. Att. Gen. Do you think he was killed by

that Wound ?

Skillard. No ; for then there would have been

fome Evacuation of Blood, which there was not.

And befides, his Bofom was open, and he had a

Flannel Waftecoat and a Shirt on ; and neither

thofe, nor any of his Clothes were penetrated.

Mr. Att. Gen. But are you fure his Neck had

been broken ?

Skillard. Yes, I am fure.

Mr. Att. Gen. Becaufe fome have been of Opi-

nion, that he hanged himfelf ; and his Relations,

to fave his Eftate, run him through ; I would

defire to ask the Chirurgeon what he thinks of if.

Skillard. There was more done to his Neck
than an ordinary Suffocation j the Wound went

thro' his very Heart, and there would have ap-

peared fome Blood, if it had been done quickly

after his Death.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did it appear by the View of

the Body that he was ftrangled or hanged ?

Skillard. He was a lean Man, and his Muf-

cles, if he had died of the Wound, would have

been turgid : And then again, all ftrangled Peo-

ple never fvvell, becaufe there is a fudden Depri-

vation of all the Spirits, and a hindring of the

Circulation of the Blood.

Mr. Att. Gen. How long do you believe he

might be dead before you faw him ?

Skillard. I believe four or five Days. And
they might have kept him a Week, and he ne-

ver fwell'd at all, being a lean Man. And when
we ripp'd him up, he began for to putrify ; we
made two Incifions to give it vent, and the Li-

quor that was in his Body did a little fmell. The
very lean Flefh was fo near turned into Putre-

faction, that it ftuck to the Inftrument when we
cut it.

Mr. Recorder. My Lord, here is another Chi-

rurgeon, Mr. Cambridge. Pray, Sir, are you

fworn ?

Cambridge. Yes, I am.

Mr. Recorder. When did you fee the Body of

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ?

Cambridge. Upon Friday, the very fame Day
the Gentleman did. I found his Neck diflocated,

and his Bread very much beaten and bruifed.

And I found two Punctures under his left Pap,
the one went againft the Rib, the other quite

through the Body, under the left Pap.

Mr. Att. Gen Do you believe that Wound was
the Occafion of his Death ?

Cambridge. No, I believe it was given him af-

ter his Death.

L. C. J. And his Neck was broke ?

Cambridge. His Neck was diflocated, Sir.

Mr. Att. Gen. Why, that is broken. Now,
my Lord, we fhall call Sir Edmundbury Godfrey's

Maid, Elizabeth Curtis. Swear her, Which was
done.

Mr. Recorder. Your Lordfhip knows, that Mr.
Praunce did fay in the Beginning, that they had
been feveral Times at his Houie, enquiring for

him : Now we call this Perfon to tell you what
ihe knows about that.

Mr. Att. Gen. Elizabeth Curtis, look upon the

Prifoners, and tell my Lord and the Jury whe-
ther you know any of them or no.

Elizabeth Curtis. This Man, that I now hear
called Green, my Lord, was at my Mafter's about
a Fortnight before he died.

L.C.J. What to do?

Eliz. Curtis. I don't know, but he asked for

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey.

L. C. J. What Time of the Day was it ?

Eliz. Curtis. It was in the Morning.

Mr. Att. Gen. What did he fay ?

Eliz. Curtis. He asked for Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey, and when he came to him, he laid, Good
Morrow, Sir, in Englifh, and afterwards fpoke to

him in French, I could not underftand him.

Mr. Recorder. I defire fhe may confider well,,

look upon him.

Eliz. Curtis. That is the Man.
Green. Upon my Soul I never faw him in all

my Life.

Eliz. Curtis. He had a darker-coloured Peri-

wig when he was there, and was about a Quar-

ter of an Hour talking with my Mafter.

Mr. Att. Gen. Are you fure this was the Man.
Eliz. Curtis. Yes, I am ; and that other Man,

Hill
y
was there that Saturday Morning, and did

fpeak with him before he went out.

L. C. J. That you will deny too ?

Hill. Yes, I do.

L. C. J. How do you know he was there ?

Eliz. Curtis. I was in the Parlour at that Time,
making up the Fire.

L. C. J. Had you ever feen him before that

Time ?

Eliz. Curtis. No, never before that Time. I

went into the Parlour to carry my Mafter's Break-

faft, and brought a Bunch of Keys with me in,

and there Hill was with him. And I went up
Stairs about fome Bufinefs, and came down again,

wanting the Keys, which I had left upon the

Table; and Hill was all that Time with my'

Mafter.

Mr. Sol. Gen. How do you know he was there ?

Eliz. Curtis. I was in the Parlour, and ftirred

up the Fire, and he was there a good while.

Mr. Juji. Jones. How long after did you feer

him again ?

Eliz. Curtis. Not till I faw him in Newgate.

Mr. Juft. Jones. How long was that afterwards?

Eliz. Curtis. A Month ago. But it is not the

Man that brought the Note to my Mafter.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Note ?

Eliz. Curtis. A Note that a Man brought to

my Mafter that Night before.

Mr. Att. Gen. What is become of that Note ?

Eliz. Curtis. My Lord, I cannot tell, my Ma-*

iter had it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pr'ythee tell us the Story of it.

Eliz. Curtis. There was a Man came to my
Mafter's Houfe, and asked if Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey were within. He faid he had a Lettef

for him ; and fhewed it me, it was tied up in a

Knot. I told him my Mafter was within, but

bufy ; but, faid I, if you pleafe I will carry it

in to him : He did fo, and 1 gave it to my Maf-

ter ; when I went out again, the Man ftaid and

asked for an Anfwer : I went in again, and told

my Mafter, that the Man required an Anfwer.

Pr'ythee, faid he, tell him I don't know what to

make of it.

Mr. Juft. Wild. When was that ?

Eliz. Curtis. On Friday Night.

Mr. Juft. Wild. When ? The Friday Nighe

before he was murdered ?

Eliz. Curtis. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. But you fwear that Hill was thtre

the Saturday Morning ?

Eliz. Curtis. Yes, he was,*

Mr',
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Mr. Sol. Gen. In what Clothes was he then ?

Eliz. Curtis. The fame Clothes that he hath

now.

Mr. Jufi. Wild. Are you fure they are the fame

Clothes ?

Eliz. Curtis. Yes.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Here is a great Circumftance,

my Lord . I asked her what Clothes he was in,

when he came to Sir Edmundbury Godfrey*;, ? and

fhe faith, the fame that he hath now.

L. C. J. Have you ever fhifted your Clothes ?

Hill. No indeed, I have not.

Eliz. Curtis. But for the Man that brought the

Note, I cannot fwear it is he.

Hill. But Ihe did fay, when fhe came to fee me
in Newgate, that fhe never faw me in my Life-,

and, my Lord, I hope I have fufficient WitnefTes

to prove where I was that Morning.

L. C. J. She fays, fhe cannot fwear you were

the Man that brought the Note.

Hill. My Lord, I defire fhe will tell me about

what Time it was I was there.

Eliz. Curtis. It was about nine or ten o'clock.

Mr. Att. Gen. That agrees with Mr. Praunce's

exactly in point of Time. Now, if your Lordfhip

pleafe, we will proceed, and call Mr. Lancellot

Stringer, and Mr. Vincent.

Mr. Recorder. My Lord, we do call thefe Wit-

nefTes to prove, that thefe Men had Meetings

with Mr. Praunce at the Plow.

Then was Lancellot Stringer /worn.

Mr. Recorder. Pray tell my Lord and the Jury,

whether you know Mr. Praunce.

L. Stringer. Yes, Sir, 1 do.

Mr. Recorder. Have you feen him at the Plow

at any Time ?

L. Stringer. Yes, Sir, I have.

Mr. Recorder. In what Company there ? Was
Mr. Green there ?

L. Stringer. Yes, he was.

Mr.Recorder. Which was he ? [Hepoints to him.'}

Mr. Recorder. And who elfe ?

L. Stringer. There was that Hill.

Mr. Att. Gen. How often ?

L. Stringer. Several Times.

L. C. J. How long before Sir Edmundbury God-

frey was murdered ?

L. Stringer. I cannot tell, my Lord.

L. C. J. Do you remember any other Com-
pany was with him ?

L. Stringer. Yes, there were feveral other Com-
pany.

Mr. Recorder. Name them.

L. Stringer. There was Mr. Fitz-Girald and

Mr. Hill.

Mr. Att. Gen. And yet Hill faith he never faw

Girald.

L. Stringer. And there was Kelly, he was ano-

ther of them, and Praunce.

L. C. J. Did you know Vernatt ?

L. Stringer. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. How now ? What fay you to it,

Mr. Hill, and Mr. Green? Were you never at

the Plow, drinking with Mr. Praunce ?

Hill. Yes, my Lord, feveral Times.

L. C. J. What fay you, Mr. Green ?

Green. I have drank with him there.

L. C. J. Do you know Girald ?

Hill. I know one Girald.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Now, will your Lordfhip pleafe

to let me prove, that at the Council he owned

he knew Girald and Kelly, and now 'tis proved
he hath been in Kelly's Company, he fays, he does

not know Girald.

Hill. My Lord, that was a Miftake, for I do
know Kelly by fight, that is, I knew two Men
that ufed the Chapel very much, and he was one
of them.

L. C. J. But you, Witnefs, fay you have feen

Girald and them together ?

L. Stringer. Yes, I have.

L. C. J. How many Times ?

L. Stringer. I cannot tell, how many, my Lore
feveral times.

L. C. y. Have you feen them twice together ?

L. Stringer. Yes, I have.

Mr. Recorder. Now to fettle it, I would asi

him, with your Lordfhip's Favour, when he came
to live with his Mafter. You, young Man, when
did you come to live with your Mafter at the

Plow ?

L. Stringer. Why, I have been with him two
Years.

Mr. Recorder. But when was it you came laft

to live at the Plow ?

L. Stringer. In Bartholomew-Tide laft.

Mr. Recorder. It was but five Weeks before

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey was murdered.

L. C. y. Do you, Green, know Mr. Girald ?

Green. Yes, I do.

Mr. Recorder. Then pray fwear Mr. Vincent.

Which was done.

Mr. Recorder. Come, pray Sir, do you live at

the Plow?
Vincent. Yes, Sir, I do.

Mr. Recorder. Then pray, do you tell my Lord

and the Jury, if you know any of the Prifoners.

at the Bar, and which of them ?

Vincent. I know Mr. Green.

Mr. Recorder. Do you know any body eJfe ?

Vincent. Yes, I know Hill, and I know Berry.

Mr. Recorder. Have you feen thefe Perfons at

your Houfe ?

Vincent. Yes, I have.

L. C. y. With whom ?

Vincent. I can't tell every body with whom they

were.

L. C. y. Were they there with Praunce ?

Vincent. Yes, Sir.

L. C. y. Did you know one Girald?

Vincent. Yes, Sir.

L C. y. Hath he been at your Houfe ?

Vincent. Yes, Sir, he hath.

L. C. y. Who was with him ?

Vincent. I can't telljuflly.

L. C. y. Did you know Kelly ?

Vincent. Yes, I did.

L. C. y. Hath he been there ?

Vincent. Yes, he hath.

L. C. y. In what Company ?

Vincent. With Praunce.

L. C. y. And with any of the Prifoners ?

Vincent. Yes, but I can't tell particularly with

whom.
Mr. Att. Gen. Now, my Lord, as thefe were

Meetings before the Fac"t was committed, to

confult how to do it ; fo we at the Beginning told

you of a Meeting after it was done, and that

was at Bow. We fhall therefore call fome Wit-

nefTes as to that ; and they are Richard Cary, and

William Evans. Firfl fwear Richard Cary.

{Which was done.

Mr.
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Mr. Recorder, Do you remember you were fent

,f a MefFag'e from the Queers-Head at Bow, and

vhither? Pray tell my Lord and the Jury.

Cary. I remember it very well ; there were

hree Gentlemen that fent for me to the Queen's-

lead , and I being fent for did come ; and when

came up Stairs, they asked me if I knew Pop-

nr , I laid, I knew it very well. Then, they

sked me, if I knew Mr. Dethick ; I told them,

thought 1 did. Then faid they, you mufl car-

y this Letter to George Dethick, Elq; at Poplar;

,nd deliver it to his own Hands, and to no body

lie. Accordingly, away I went, and carried the

^etter : I went to the Door, and asked if he

vere within •, his Man faid he was above Stairs,

BUt they would call him to me •, and calling him

o me, Sir, faid I, there are fome Gentlemen at

he Queen's-Head at Bow, that have fent me with

i Letter to you. So he looked upon the Let-

ter, and, faith he, go and tell them I will be

vith them prefently. So, may it pleafe you, my
Lord, I came again, and when I came, the Gen-

tlemen were there ftill. Well, faid they, go and

irink a Glais of Claret, which flood upon the

i

Table, and they gave me Six-pence, and I went

way.

Mr. Recorder. Pray look upon Mr. Praunce, can

ou remember whether that Man was there ?

Cary. There were three of them, and he looks

ke ohe.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Praunce, do you remember

this was the Man you fent ?

Praunce. Yes, my Lord, this was the fame Man
that was fent.

L. C. J. Well, call the other.

Then William Evans, the Boy of the Houfe at the

Queen's-Head, was /worn.

Mr. Recorder. Hark you, do you remember

any Company that was at your Mailer's Houfe
two or three Months agone ?

W. Evans. Yes, I do.

Mr. Recorder. Do you remember that you

heard them talk any thing there ?

W. Evans. They pull'd out a Paper and read

it.

L. C. J. You Boy, do you know Mr. De-
thick.

W. Evans. Yes, I do.

•jL. C. J. Was he there ?

TV. Evans. He did come to them, my Lord.
Mr. Recorder. What had they to Dinner there ?

W. Evans. They had Flounders.

Mr. Recorder. Who bought them ?

W. Evans. One of them, I can't tell who.
Mr. Recorder. What had they elle ?

W. Evans. A Barrel of Oyfters.

Mr. Recorder. Pray give my Lord an Account
what you obferved and heard.

W. Evans. Sir, I know nothing but that they

pull'd out a Paper, and read it, .and named Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey's Name. And while I was at

the Door, fome body came and threatned to kick
me down Stairs.

L. C. J. He faith juft as Mr. Praunce faid in

every Particular.

Mr. Att. Gen. Now if it pleafe your Lordfhip,
we defire to call Sir Robert Southwell, to prove
what Mr. Praunce faid before the Council, and
how particular he was ; and did, to fome of-the
Lords who were fent with him to Somerfet-Houfe,
point out the Places.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We call him to fhew, that when

Praunce was examined before the King, he was

fent with fome of the Lords, and Sir Robert

Southwell, to Somerfet-Houfe, where he pointed

with his Finger, and fhewed the Places where

all was done ; fo we fhall fhew your Lord-

fnip and the Jury, how exact he was in every

Thing.

Then Sir Robert Southwell was fmorn.

Mr. Recorder. Pray, Sir Robert, will you tell

your Knowledge?
Sir Robert Southwell. My Lord, I was upon

the 24th of December waiting upon his Majelly

in Council, and Mr. Praunce was fent for, to

fpeak his Knowledge concerning this Murder,

and he then gave a general Account of Tilings,

which, becaufe it did relate to that Bench, and

this Corner, and that Room, and that Paftage,

and that Gallery, it was not underftood by the

Board, and thereupon his Majefty thought fit to

appoint my Lord Duke of Monmouth, and the

Earl of Offory, and Mr. Vice-Chamberlain to the

Queen, to go thither, and take the Examination
upon the Place, and report it to the Board : And
I, being Clerk of the Council, tho' not in wait-

ing at that Time, and having taken notice of

what Mr. Praunce had there depofed, I did wait

upon thofe Lords, and took the Examination

upon the Place. And what I did take upon the

Place, This was done here, and that there, I

drew up into a Report, and the Report is figned

by thofe two Noble Lords, and was read that

Afternoon at the Board •, and to that I refer my
felf.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Pray, Sir Robert, Did he fhew

the particular Places to thofe Lords ?

Sir Robert Southwell. Yes, he did. Fir ft, the

Bench whereon they were fitting when Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey was coming down ; then the

Corner into which they drew him when they

had flrangled him; then the Place where one

Berry went to flay, which was at the Stairs that

lead to the upper Court, then a little Door at

the End of the Stables, which lead up a Pair of

Stairs, and at the Head of the Stairs, a long

dark Entry, and at the Top of thofe Stairs, a Door
on the left Hand, which being opened, fhew'd

us eight Steps, which lead up to the Lodgings

that were Dr. Godwin's i in which Hill was faid

to be Inhabitant for feven Years before. And
afibon as we were gone two Steps, there was a

little Clofet or Cabinet on the right Hand, in

which there was a Bed, and riiere he fhewed my
Lords, This is the Place where we handed him
up firft, and here we left him, faid he, in the

Care of Hill for two Nights.

Mr. Juft. Wild. You were there, Sir Robert

Southwell, upon the Place, when he fhew'd them
thefe Things.

Sir Robert Southwell. Yes, Sir, I was there.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Was it anfwerable to what he

had declared to the King and Council ?

Sir Robert Southwell. Yes it was anfwerable to

all Things he had faid in the Morning.

Mr. Juft. Jones. And fuitable to what he fays

now ?

Sir Robert Southwell. Yes, fuitable to what
he fays now, but only now he fays more than he

faid then. And as to what he . fays about the

Chambers of Sir John Arundel, they could not

•be
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be Sir John's Lodgings, for they were not capable

of receiving a Perfon of that Quality.

Praunce. I faid, I did believe they did belong

to Sir John Arundel.

L. C. J. They were Lodgings perhaps that be-

long'd to his Servants, tho' not to him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Sir Robert, I defire to know,

whether Mr. Praunce, when he fhew'd thefe

Places, and made thefe Defcriptions, did he do

jt with any Hefitancy, or did he do it readily ?

Sir Robert Southwell. Hitherto, my Lord, he

went directly and pofitivcly, as if any body fhould

walk to Weftmmfter-hall Door. But afterwards,

when the Lords did defire to know whither the

Body was carried, he faid, it was into fome Room
of the Houfe by the Garden •, for this is an outer

Part of the Houfe, which any body may do any

thing in, without their Knowledge that . are with-

in. And he undertook to lead them to the Place

as well as he could ; and fo away we went thro'

the long dark Entry that leads into the outer

Court of the great Houfe ; and croffing the Qua-

drangle, he leads us to the Piazza, and down a

Pair of Stairs, and fo far, faid he, I am furc I

went; then, aflbon as we were down Stairs,

there is a great Square Court, then he began to

ftagger, as if he did not know his way, but

there was no way but to go on however, and on

we went, and coming crofs the Court, we came

into feveral Rooms, and going thro' them, we

came up Stairs again, and fo into feveral other

Rooms again. Sure, faid he, we were here, but

I can't tell, and he was in a Diffraction what

Room he faw the Body in ; but, faid he, thus

far 1 am certain I am right ; which was accord-

ing to the Paper, and I refer my felf to that.

Mr. Juft. Wild. But, you fay, that what he

had faid to the Lords in the Council, was the fame

that he faid when you were by upon the Place ?

Sir Robert Southwell. Yes.

L. C. J. His doubtfulnefs of the Room does

affert and give credit to his Teftimony, and con-

firms it to any honeft Man in England. Here,

faith he, I will not be pofitive, but having fworn

the other Things which he well remembred, po-

fitively, he is made the more credible for his

Doubtfulnefs of a thing which he does not re-

member, which a Man that could fwear any tiling

would not ftick at.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Befides, he was not there but

by Night, and all the Light he had was a Dark-
Lanthorn.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Now, Sir Robert, I would ask

you one Queftion, if you pleafe, Do you remem-
ber that Hill was examined at the Council about

this Matter ?

Sir Robert Southwell. My Lord, thefe are the

Notes that I took upon thefe Mens Examinations,

if your Lordfhip pleafes they may be read.

Mr. Recorder. Sir Robert. We ask you but as

to one particular thing, therefore if you pleafe to

look upon it, and refrefh your Memory, you may
read it to your felf, and tell us only the Subftance.

"Which he did.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Now, Sir, if you pleafe, Do you

remember that Hill was there ?

Sir Robert Southwell. Yes, I find he was exa-

mined.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Did not he deny there that he

knew Kelly, but that he knew Girald?

Sir Robert Southwell. Yes, I do find it here fet

down that he did deny he knew Kelly, but that he

knew Girald.

Hill. 1 faid I knew one Girald, but not that.

Mr. Recorder. But before the Council he faid

he knew Girald, not one Girald.

L. C. J. This way of anfwering is like the Ex-
amination that was taken lately amongft fome of

them. A Perfon was asked when he faw fuch a

Prieft ? He denied that he had feen him in four-

teen Days. But then comes one and proves to

his Face, that he was with him in Company all

Night, within a Week and lefs. Ay, fays he, that's ;

true, but I faid I had not feen him in fourteen

Days. And fo they may take Oaths to ferve the

King faithfully all the Days of their Lives, but

in the Nights they may murder him, and keep
their Oaths for all that.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. I would know, whether the i

Girald you know be a Prieft or no ?

Hill. He is not.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Then you do not know Gi-

rald the Prieft ?

Hill. No, I do not.

Mr. Recorder. Call Mr. Thomas Stringer. And
he was fworn.

Mr. Recorder. Pray, Mr. Stringer, will you tell

my Lord and the Jury what it was that Mr. Berry <

faid about any Directions he had to keep all Per-

fons out of Somerfet-Houfe, about the twelfth or

fourteenth of Oclober laft ?

T. Stringer. My Lord, upon his Examination

before the Lords of the Committee, Berry did

fay he had Orders from the Queen, or in the

Name of the Queen, That he fhould fuffer no
Strangers nor any Perfons of Quality to come in-

to Somerfet-Houfe.

Mr. Alt. Gen. When was it he was to keep

them out ?

T. Stringer. The twelfth, thirteenth and four-

teenth of October.

Mr. Alt. Gen. What, three Days.
7*. Stringer. Two or three Days. And he faid

that the Prince did come, and he did refufe him,

and fent him back again.

Mr. Recorder. Did he fay he ever had any fuch

Directions before ?

T. Stringer. No : He faid he never before had

any.

L. C. J. It was a very unlucky thing that he

had it then.

Berry. The Prince might have gone in if he

would.

<T. Stringer. You faid you did refufe him, you

had Order to let none come in.

L. C. J. Had you any fuch Order ?

Berry. Yes, my Lord, I had fuch an Order

from the Queen's Gendeman-Ufher.

L. C. J. Had you never had fuch before ?

Berry. Yes, I have had before, fince the Queen

came to Somerfet-Houfe.

L. C. J. Mr. Stringer fwears you faid you had

not any before.

Berry. Yes, I had.

L. C. J. Why did you deny it then ?

Berry. I did not deny it ; befides, there were

feveral went in.

Mr. Recorder. We have proved indeed five or

fix did go in.

L.C.J. For how many Days had you that

Order ?

Berry. Two Days.

L. C. J. Which two Days ?

Berry. The eleventh and twelfth, I think there-

abouts.

Mr.
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Mr. Recorder. Did you fay before the Lords,

that you never had fuch Orders before ?

Berry. No, I did not.

L. C. J. Mr. Berry, When you were examined

before the Lords, did you not fay you never had

fuch Orders before ?

Berry. No, I did not fay fo, my Lord, as I

know of; for they did not examine me about

that.

L. C. J. You faid you would prove it under his

own Hand. Prove that.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Stringer, Did he write his

Name to his Examination ?

T. Stringer. Yes, he did to one Examination.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray look upon that : Is that his

Hand ?

T. Stringer. This was read to him before he

figned it, and then he did fign it.

Mr. Att. Gen. I would fain fhew it to him, to

fee whether he would own it or no.

Berry. Yes, that is my Hand.

Then the Clerk of the Crown read it.

Cl. of the Or. This is fubferibed by Henry Ber-

ry. The Information of Henry Berry, Porter at

the Gate of Somerfet-Houfe ; taken before the Right

Honourable the Marquis of Winchester : This Depo-

nent faith, That about the twelfth, thirteenth and

fourteenth of October lafi, he had Order to tell all

Perfons of Quality, that the Queen was private, and

that they were not to come in : And this Deponent

faith, The Queen continuedfo private for two Days.

L. C. J. Where is that Part of the Examina-

tion wherein he faid, he never had any fuch Order

before ?

T. Stringer. He did fay fo, but it is not in that

that hath his Hand to it.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Pray, my Lord, obferve this

is a kind of reflecting Evidence, and I would have

no more made of it than the Thing will bear.

L. C. J. They only bring it, and make ufe of

it againft Berry as a Pretence of his.

Mr. Juft. Wild. But it is a very reflecling Evi-

dence.

Mr. Att. Gen. Surely there is no body here that

offers it as fuch : We ufe it only to this Purpofe,

to fhew that Berry, who was a Party to this Mur-
der, did ufe all the means that he could to keep it

private; and endeavoured to prevent Strangers

coming in that Night to difcover it ; and therefore

pretended thefe Orders.

If he had any fuch Orders, I fuppofe he will

prove them, we do not fay he had them ; but 'tis

a great Evidence, when he pretended to fuch Pri-

vacy, that he and his Fellows had fomething to do
that was not fit to be known by every body.

Mr. Recorder. He may make ufe of any body's

Name, and pretend what he will ; but I fuppofe

he will prove it from the Gcntleman-Ufher, if it

be- true.

Mr. Att. Gen. We have one Witnefs more to

call, my Lord, and that is one Farr. Call Stephen

Farr. Which was done, and he fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. He is a Neighbour to Berry, and
will give your Lordlhip an Account what Appli-
cations have been made to him, to tamper with
him for Money, to keep away, and not give Evi-
dence in this Caufe. Pray, Sir, are you Mr. Ber-
ry's Neighbour ?

Farr. Yes, Sir, I am.
Vol. II.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray then tell what you know.
' Farr.. I know him very well, his Wife hath been

with me lafi; Week, and asked me if I knew what

time he was with me on Wedmfday, the 1 6th of

October. I defired time to recollect- my felf : And
fhe called four or five times after, and I did recol-

lect my Memory and told her, that I was not with

him all that Wedneflay.

L. C. J. Why, this was reafonable, and fair

enough to do.

Mr. A;t. Gen. It was fo, my Lord ; but pray

had you no Money offered you ?

Farr. No. Sir, none at ail; and I told her I

could not remember that I was with him that

Day.

Berry. But you may remember it very well,

when I came from the Queen I came to you.

Farr. My Lord, I was out of Town that Wed-
neflay, from Two o' clock in the Afternoon, till

Nine at Night.

L.C.J. Well, well, this is nothing-: The
Woman was willing, if fhe could, to have coun-

terproved the Evidence, and what fhe did was fair

;

fhe offered no Money, nor did it in an indirect

way.

Mr. Att.Gen. My Lord, We have now done with

our Evidence for the King, and leave it till we
hear what they fay.

L. C. J. What do you fay for your felves ? You
mall have all the free Liberty you will defire.

Hill. In the firft Place, I take God to be my
Witnefs, that I am wholly innocent, as to the

Matter that is charged upon me: And as to what
is faid that I dogg'd Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, I

can prove that I went into my Lodging at Eight
q' clock, and did not ftir out.

A^rC. J. Come, call your Witnefies.

Hill. Alary Tilden, Catharine Lee, Mrs. Broad-

ftreet, and Daniel Gray.

L. C. J. Let them come in there.

Then Mary Tilden was firft examined.

Mr. Att. Gen. This is Doctor Godwin's Neice,

and his Houfekeeper.

L. C. J. Well, what do you ask her ?

Hill. I defire to know what you can fay

about my being in my Lodging, and not going

out.

Mary Tilden. He hath lived in our Family Se-

ven or Eight Years.

L. C. J. Your Family, what is your Family ?

Mary Tilden. With my Uncle.

L. C. J. Who is your Uncle?

Mary Tilden. Doctor Godwin : v/e left him in

the Houfe always, when we were abfent from

it •, he was always a trufty Servant, never kept ill

Hours, always came home by Eight o' clock at

Night.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Alway, For how long ?

Mary Tilden. Ever fince we came over laft into

England.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. When was that?

Mary Tilden. In April laft.

L. C. J. Were you there that Night Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey was kill'd ?

Mary Tilden. I was.

L C.J. What Night was that ?

Mary Tilden. I don't know, my Lord, I heard

of it in the Town.
L. C. J. When did you firft hear of it ?

Mary Tilden. The Thurfday that he was found.

5 G L.C.J.
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J. Did you not hear of it on the Wed-L.C
ncfday ?

Mary Tilden. Yes, I did.

L. C. J. Who could tell you the Wednefday be-

fore ?

Mary Tilden. Why, my Lord, in the Town it

was faid he was miffing from Saturday, and a

Tburfday he was found.

L. C. j. What can you fay concerning Hill,

that he was not out after Eight o' clock that

Night ?

Mary Tilden. He was a very good Servant to

my Uncle, and never kept ill Hours, but always

came in by Eight o' clock, or before.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Were you not out your felf

that Night ?

Mary Tilden. No not I, never out after that

Hour.

L. C. J. Pray how can you give fuch an Ac-

count of Mr. Hill3 as if he was always in your

Company ?

Mary Tilden. He came in to wait at Table, and

did not ftir out afterwards.

L. C. J. Pray, what Religion are you of ? are

you a Papift ?

Mary Tilden. I know not whether I came here

to make a Profeffion of my Faith.

L. C. J. Are you a Roman Catholick ?

Mary Tilden. Yes.

L. C. J. Have you a Difpenfation to eat Sup-

pers on Saturday Nights ?

Mr. Recorder. I hope you did not keep him
Company, alter Supper, all Night.

Mary Tilden. No, I did not, but he came in to

wait at Table at Supper.

L. C. J. I thought you had kept failing on Sa-

turday Nights.

Mary Tilden. No, my Lord, not on Saturday

Nights.

Mr. Juft. Jones. How many Dimes of Meat had

you to Supper ?

Mary -Tilden. We had no Meat, though we did

not faft.

L. C. J. Can you fpeak pofitively as to this

Night, the Saturday that he was kill'd ?

Mary Tilden. He was at home that Night.

L. C. j. And where was he the Sunday ?

Mary Tilden. He was at home.

L. C. J. And you are fure he was at home every

Night ?

Mary Tilden. Yes, while we were in Town.
L. C. y. Where was you all that Wednefday

Night you fpeak of?

Mary Tilden. I was at home in my Lodging.

Mr. Juft. Wild. How is it poffible for you to

fay, that Hill, who was not your conftant Compa-
nion, did not go out afterwards ?

Mary Tilden. No, he was not my conftant Com-
panion.

Mr. Juft. Wild. How then can you charge your

Memory that he was at home ?

L. C. y. Come, you are to fpeak truth, tho' you

Mr. Recorder. Why, you did not watch him
till he went to Bed, did you ?

Mary Tilden. We were always up till Eleven
o' clock at Night.

Mr. Att. Gen. Was he in your Company all that

while ?

Mary Tilden. I beg your Pardon; if your
Lordfhip faw the Lodgings you would fay it

were impoflible for any to go in or out, but that

they muft know it within. We were conftant

in our Hours of going to Supper; our Doors
were never open'd after he came in to wait at

Supper.

L. C. y. You may fay any thing to a Heretick,

for a Papift.

Mr. Juft. Dolkn. This is a mighty improbable
Bufinefs.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Where was he a Wednefday
Night ?

Mary Tilden. At home.

L. C. y. They have a general Anfwer for all

Queftions.

Mr. Juft. yones. Who kept the Key of your
Lodgings ?

Mary Tilden. The Maid.

Mr. Juft. yones. Hath Hill never kept the

Key?
Mary Tilden. No, my Lord, the Maid.
Mr. Juft. yones. How do you know but that

the Maid might let him out?

Praunce. My Lord, Mrs. Broadjlreet faid at

firft there was but one Key; but before the

Duke of Monmouth ihe faid there were fix or feven

Keys.

L. C. y. Look you what Tricks you put upon
us to blind us: You come and tell us that he was

every Night at home by Eight o' clock, and did

not ftir out, for there was but one Lock, and the

Maid kept the Key ; and yet there were three or

four Keys to it.

Mary Tilden. There was but one Key to that

which kept the Door faft.

L. C. jf. Praunce, how many Keys were there ?

Praunce. She confefled there were four or five.

Mr. Juft. Wild. What time was it that you

carried him out of Somerfet-Houfe on Wednefday

Night?
Praunce. It was about Ten or Eleven of the

Clock. Hill went to fetch the Horfe.

Mary Tilden. We had never been out of our

Lodgings after Eight o' clock, fince we came to

Town.
Mr. Juft. yones. When were you out of Town ?

Mary Tilden. In Oclober.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Nay, now Miftrcfs, you

have fpoiled all ; for in Oclober this Bufinefs was

done.

Mr. Juft. Jones. You have undone the Man,
inftead of faving him.

Mary Tilden. Why, my Lord, I only miftook

the Month.
L. C. y. You Woman [fpeaking to Mrs. Broad-

are not upon your Oath. Can you charge your Jlreet] what Month was it you were out of Town ?

Memory to fay that he came in conftantly at Eight

o' clock at Night ?

Mary Tilden. Yes, I can, becaufe I faw him
come in conftantly; and when he came in, I al-

ways lent my Maid to bar the Door.

L. C. y. Maid, can you fay that he was always

at home at Night ?

Mary Tilden. I can fay he never was abroad af-

ter Eight at Night.

Broadjlreet. In September.

L. C. y. 'Tis apparent you confider not what

you fay, or you come hither to fay any thing will

ferve the turn.

Mary Tilden. No, I do not, for I was out of

Town in September, came to Town the latter end

of September.

L. C. y. You muft remember what you faid,

that you came to England in April laft, and from

that
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that time he was always within at Eight o' clock

at Night,

Mary Tilden. Except that time that we were

out of Town, which was in September, the Sum-

mer-time. And it is impoflible but if the Body

was in the Houfe* as Praunce faid it was, but I

muft fee him, or fome of us muft. I ufed to

o-o every Dav into that little Room for fomething

or other, and I mull needs iee him if he were

there.

L. C. J. You told me juft now you were not

upon Confeffion ; and I tell you now fo, you are

not. Then Mrs. Broadjlreet was examined.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Well, Woman, what fay you?

Broadjlreet. We came to Town upon a Monday,

Michaelmas Day was the Sunday following ; and

from that time neither he nor the Maid ufed to

be abroad after Eight o' clock : we kept very good

Hours, and he always waited at Supper, and ne-

ver went abroad after he came in to wait at Sup-

per : and the Lodging was fo little, that nothing

could be brought in, but they muft know that

were within.

L. C. J. This is a lower Room than the Cham-

ber, is it not ?

Praunce. 'Tis even with the Dining-Room, my
Lord.

L. C. y. What fay you, Sir Robert Southwell?

Sir Robert Southwell. My Lord, it is an extraor-

dinary little Place ; as foon as you get up eight

Steps, there is a little fquare Entry, and there is

this Room on the one Hand, and the Dining-

Room on the other. I think there is a Pair of

Stairs to go down at one corner of the Entry, as

I think, but the Body was laid in a little fquare

Room at the Head of the Steps.

L. C. J. And muft you go into the Room to

go to the Dining-Room ?

Broadjlreet. No, 'tis a diftinct Room ; but the

Key was always in the Door, and every Day
fome Body went into it for fomething or ano-

ther.

L. C. y. Will you undertake to fay it was al-

ways in the Door ?

Broadjlreet. Yes, it conftantly was.

Mr. Juft. Wild. For my own Part I will not

judge you : but that his Body mould be carried

there about Nine o' clock at Night a Saturday

Night, and remain there 'till Monday Night, 'tis

very fufpicious, that if you were in the Houfe,

as you fay you were, and ufed to go into that

Room every Day, you muft either hear it brought

in, or fee it.

Broadjlreet. But we did neither, my Lord.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. It is well you are not In-

didled.

Broadjlreet. Mr. Praunce, you know all thefe

Things to be falfe, Mr. Praunce.

Praunce. I lay nothing to your Charge; but

you faid before the Duke of Monmouth, that

Hill )was gone from his Lodgings before that

Time.
L. C y. What fay you, Sir Robert Southwell?

Sir Robert Southwell. There arofe a little Quar-

rel between them, about the Time that Mr. Hill

did leave thofe Lodgings. Praunce faid it was a

Fortnight after ; Hill faid, when he was upon his

Examination, that the fame Saturday Night that

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey was miffing, he was treat-

ing with his Landlord, and from that time, to the

time he went to his new Houfe, it was about a

Week or a Fortnight.

Vol. II.

L. C. J. But he did pretend he was gone be-

fore ?

Broadjlreet. No, my Lord, I did not.

L. C. y. Two Witneffes upon Oath fware it,

and you faid it your felf, and gave it under your

Hand.
Broadjlreet. My Lord ?- —>
L. C. J. Nay, you will not hear, but you will

talk ; you fay one thing now, and you fet another

under your Hand.
Air . Alt. Gen. Have you not a Brother that is

in the Proclamation, one Broadjlreet a Pried ?

Broadjlreet, I have a Brother, whofe Name is

Broadjlreet.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Is he not a Prieft, and in the

Proclamation ?

Broadjlreet. I hope I muft not impeach my Bro-

ther here. I faid upon my Oath, he came to Town
on Monday, and Michaelmas Day was the Sunday
following, and Lawrence Hill went away a Fort-

night after.

Sir Robert Southwell. She fwore then, two or

three Days after Michaelmas Day.

L. C. y. You muft know we can underftand

you through all your Arts. It was not convenient

for you at that time to fay, that Mr. Hill went
away about a Fortnight after Michaelmas, for then

the thing that was charged to be done, part of it

in your Houfe, would have been within the Fort-

night, for it was the 12th of Otlober, but then

you faid only two or three Days.

Sir Robert Southwell. She did fay, my Lord,

that about Michaelmas two or three or four Days
after he went away.

Broadjlreet. I beg your Pardon, I only faid, I

could not tell the Time exactly.

L. C. y. Well, have you any more to fay ?

Mary 'Tilden. There was never a Day but I went

into that Room for fomething or other, and if any

Body came to fee me, there was fo little Space that

the Footmen were always forced to be in that

Room.
Mr. Juft. Dolben. Were you there upon Sun-

day?

Mary Tilden. Yes, my Lord, I was.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Well, I will fay no more

;

call another Witnefs.

Hill. Catharine Lee.

L. C. y. What can you fay, Maid?
Lee. My Lord, I did never mifs him out of

the Houfe at thofe Hours.

L. C. J. May be you did not look for him.

Lee. I did go down every Night to the Door,

to fee if it were lock'd, and I went into the Par-

lour to fee that things were fafe there.

L. C. y. You are a Roman Catholick, are you
not?

Lee. Yes, I am.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Might not he go out of the

Houfe, and you never the wifer ?

Lee. Yes, for I did rot watch him continually.

Capt. Richard/on. All that fhe fays may be true

by the Place. The Servants keep down a Pair of

Stairs in the Kitchen, and any one may come in,

or go out, having fo many Keys, and they not

know it that are below.

Lee. I went into the Chamber every Morning,

as I went to Market.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Have a care what you fay, and

mind the Queftion I ask you : Were you there on

the Sunday, in that Room where they fay Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey's Body was kid ?

5 G 2 Lee,
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Lee. I cannot fay, that I was in that Room,
but I called in at the Door every Day, and I was

the laft up every Night.

Mr. Juft. Wild. I'll fay that for thee, thou haft

fpoke with more care than any of them all.

'Then Daniel Gray was Examined.

L. C. J. What can you fay ? What Queftions

do you ask him ?

Hill. I defire him to fpeak what he can fay,

where I was thofe five Days that Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey was miffing.

Gray. I kept my Brother Hill Company, from

the 8 th of October, till he took hisHoufe, which

was about the 22d or 23d.

L. C. J. What Time did you ufe to go to

Bed?
Gray. About Nine or Ten o' clock at Night.

L. C. J. What Time did he go

?

Gray. When I did, but I did not fee him go

to Bed.

L. C. J. Where did you lie ?

Gray. At my own Houfe.

L.C.J. And you went home about Eight or

Nine o' clock at Night to go to Bed ?

Gray. Yes, I did.

Mr. Juft. Jones. You fay he took his Houfe the

8 th of Otlober, when did he go thither ?

Gray. Yes, he took his Houfe the 8 th of Octo-

ber, but he did not go thither till the one or two

and twentieth.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But you cannot tell what he

did at Night.

Gray. No, not I.

Mr Juft. Dolben. But you were in his Company

till Eight or Nine o' clock at Night?

Gray. Yes, my Lord, I was.

L. C. J. How far did you live off of him ?

Gray. About a Bow's lhoot.

L. C. J. Look you, Mr. Hill, he does you no

Service at all, for he fays he left you about

Eight or Nine o' clock at Night, and he does

not know what you did afterwards. Have you any

more ?

Hill. Robert How.

L. C. J. Come, what fay you ?

How. My Lord, I met with Mr. Hill the 5th

of October, he asked me whither I was going? I

told him, Home. I wifti, faid he, you would go

a little back with me; I am about taking of an

Houfe, and 1 would have you view the Repairs

;

accordingly we did go, and treated in the Houfe

about an Agreement-, for, faid he, I will not agree

with you (to the Landlord) till we know what

muft be repaired. On Tuefday Morning we met

again, about Eight o' clock.

L. C. J. What Day of the Month was that ?

How. The 8 th. And a Wednefday about Noon
we began to work for him, to repair his Houfe,

and we wrought that Week every Day, and for

twelve Days and an half in all, and he was every

Day with us, looking after Coals, or Beer,

or fomething. On Saturday the 12th of Octo-

ber, we dined together, and parted with him

about One or Two o'clock, and about Two
o' clock I went back again to my Work,

and he faid he was going towards Covent-Gar-

den in St. James's, but he came back again, and

I was gone firft; I asked my Man whether he

was gone, or no ; he faid, he was there, but did

not ftay.

L. C. J. What Time was that ?

How. A little before Night.

L. C J. What Hour did your Man fay that he
was there ?

How. About an Hour before they left Work,
L C.J. What Time was that ?

How. About Four o' clock, I think it was.

L. C. J. Can you fay where he was that

Night?
How. No, I cannot.

L. C. J. What Religion are you of, are you not
a Proteftant ?

How. Yes, my Lord, I think fo.

Mr. Recorder. My Lord asks you, are you a
Proteftant ?

How. I was never bred up in the Proteftant Re-
ligion.

Praunce. He is a Catholick, my Lord, he "was
the Queen's Carpenter.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Nay, now you Ipoil all ; you
muft do Penance for this; what! deny your
Church ?

Hill. What Time was it on Saturday Morning I

was with you ?

How. About Nine o' clock.

L. C. J. How long did he ftay ?

How. From Nine to Two.
L. C. J. Are you fure 'twas Nine ?

How. No Man can fwear punctually to an
Hour

L. C. J. What think you of Ten ?

How. It was thereabouts.

Mr. Recorder. If I am rightly informed by the
Clerks, he is Outlawed for Recufancy.

L. C. J. Is he fo? Pray let us know that.

Harcourt. (One of the Clerks of the Crown-

Office.) My Lord, I have made out feveral Writs
againft him, for feveral Years together, and could

never get any of them Returned.

Hill. He tells you, that I was with him from
Nine o' clock on Saturday Morning, till One.

Mr. Juft. Jones. But that is but as true as

he is a Proteftant, and how true that is, you
know.

Hill. Here is another Witnefs ; Mr. Cutler.

Tho. Cutler. Upon the 12 th of Oclober^ Law-
rence Hill did come into my Houfe, about Four
or Five o' clock in the Evening, and he ftaid

there till between Seven or Eight, and then his

Wife came for him and laid fome Gentlewoman
was ready for her Supper, and fo he went home

;

and I faw him no more, till the Day after he

was taken.

L. C: J. Look you here, he fpeaks only about

Seven or Eight o' clock. Well, have you any

thing more to fay ?

Hill. There is one Richard Lazinby.

Lazinby. My Lord, I was with him on Satur»

day the 12 th of Oclober, at the Door, about Twelve
o' clock.

L. C. J. And you dined with him and How ?

Lazinby. Yes, Sir.

L. C. J. But you did not fee him afterwards ?

Lazinby. Yes, I did fee him on Wednefday Night,

From Five to Seven at Night.

L. C J. What Time was he carried out of

Somerfet-Houfe ?

Mr. Att. Gen. About Eleven or Twelve o' clock

at Night.

Lazinby. That is the laft Time I was with him.

L. C. J. Well, have you any more ?

Hill. Here is one Mr. Archbold, my Lord.

Archbold.
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Archbold. My Lord, I had occafion for a Tay-

lor, and I came to this Man's Houfe to feek for

one Mr. Gray, that had formerly wrought for

And
found

me.

L C. J.
When was that ?

Archbold. That was on Monday Night,

he having formerly wrought for me, I

[him at this Man's Houfe ; fo Mr. Gray asked me,

what News? I told him, Very good News; for

\p-raunce was taken for the Murder of Sir Ed-

\ mundbury Godfrey. Says Hill I am glad of that -,

! I wilh they were all taken. I came the next

Day after, and they told me he was taken out

of his Bed, for the Murder of Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey.
,

L. C. J. Was it that very Night that you came,

that he was taken ?

Archbold. Yes, it was.

L. C. J. You faid he fpoke of it before you at

Seven o' clock, and you left him about Nine, and

he was taken that Night •, what then ?

Hill. Why, then I had Time enough to make

my Efcape, if I had thought my felf Guilty.

L. C. J. As no doubt you would if you had

thought they would have been fo nimble with

you.

Archbold. He knew it the Day before.

L. C. L. Well, have you any more to fay ?

Mrs. Hill. There is Mr. Ravenfcroft, my Lord.

L C.J. What, that Ravenfcroft that was fent

away ?

Mrs. Hill. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Then the Marfhal muft fend for

him, if he be a Witnefs for the Pnfoner. In

the mean time, what can you fay for your felf,

Mr. Green ?

Green. My Lord, I would call my Landlord and

his Wife.

L. C. J. What are their Names ?

Green. James Warrier, and his Wife.

L. C. J. Call in Green's Wife, and all her Wit-

nefies.

Then Mrs. Hill, the Prifoner's Wife, offered a

Paper to the Court, containing Observations up-

on the Indiclment, which jhe deftred them to

read; but it was refufed, and Jhe bid to give it

her Husband,

then James Warrier was Examined.

L. C. J What fay you to your Landlord ?

Green. I ask him no QueHions at all, but defire

him to tell what he knows.

JVarrier. I will fay, that the 12 th of Oclober,

he was at my Houfe, half an Hour after Seven,

and he was not out of my Houfe till after Ten,

L. C. J. How can you remember that Day ?

What Day of the Week was it ?

Warrier. It was a Saturday.

L C. J. How do you remember it was fo ?

Warrier. I have recolleded my Memory.
L C. J. By what?

Warner. By my Work, and every thing ex-

actly.

L. C. J. When did you begin to recoiled: your-
1 felf?

Warrier, A pretty while ago.

L C. J. How long after Sir Edmundbury Godfrey

was murdered ?

Warrier. A ' .;onth after.

L. C. J. What made you recoiled your felf a

Month after.

Warrier. Becaufe he was in Prifon in the Gate-

houfe.

L. C. J. When was he taken up ?

Warrier. He was taken up in Somerfet- Houfe,

and not in my Houfe.

L. C. J. But when did you recoiled: your felf?

Warrier. When he was in Prifon.

L. C. J. But I pray remember the Time when

you did recoiled: your felf, and the Occafion that

made you recoiled your felf when he was taken up.

Warrier. I remember it very well, for he had

been in my Houfe but fourteen Days, before he was

taken up.

Sir Thomas Stringer. He was not taken up for

the Murder of SirEdmundbury Godfrey,xx\\ the 24th

of December.

Mr. Ju/i. Wild. Pray, did you never think of

this, till he was in Prifon ?

Warrier. It was when he was taken up.

L. C.J. But, pray, when you came to recoiled

your felf, how did you come to do it ?

Wdrrier. I recolleded it by my Work.
L. C. J. Bat what gave you occafion to recoiled

your felf fince he was in Goal ?

Sir 'Tho. Stringer. My Lord, he was put into

Goal for refufing to take the Oaths ; but he was

not at all charged with the Death of Sir Edmund-

bury Godfrey, at that Time.

L. C. J. When was he put in for the Death of

Sir Edmundbury ?

Sir Tho. Stringer. The 24th of December.

L. C. J. Then there is all the remaining part of

Oclober, all November, and the former part of De-

cember, was paft, how could you recoiled your felf

of the particular Day ?

Warrier. I call'd it to mind by my Work.
Copt. Richardfon. My Lord, I will redify this

Miftake : Since their Arraignment, I went to them,

to know what WitnefTes they had, and Green told

me of his Landlord and Landlady ; I then asked

them, if they could fay any thing as to this parti-

cular Day ? and they faid they could not do him
any good at all.

Warrier. I did not then call it to Memory.
L. C. J. When did you call it to Memory ?

Warrier. I did fay I could not do it then prefent-

ly, as I have done fince, in five or fix Days.

L. C. J. How could you recoiled it then ?

Warrier. By the Time he came into my Houfe,

which was a Week before, and by the Work that

was done.

L. C. J. What could the Work do as to this ?

Can you tell by that any Thing that is done at

any Time? Where were you the $th of November

laft?

Warrier. Truly, I can't tell.

L. C. J. Why, how came you then to recoiled

what you did the 12th of Oclober, when you did

not know where you were the 9 th of Novem-
ber ?

Warrier. I can tell a great many Tokens, he was

but fourteen or fifteen Days in our Houfe.

L. C. J. What did he do the twelfth of Oclober,

that you remember fo particularly that Day ?

Warrier. Sir, I remember ether Days befides

that; but I fay, I never knew the Man out after

Nine o' clock, in my Life.

L. C. J. Have you any body elfe ? for this Man,
I can't tell what to make on't.

Green. Here is the Man's Wife to give Evi-

dence.

L. C. J. Firft confider what you fay.

Mrs.
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Mrs. Warner. To tell you the Truth, I thought

the Man was fo clear of this Fad, that I never

troubled my Head with it ; but when Captain

Richard/on came to my Houfe, I told him, that

he was never in our houfe by Day-time, except

being Cufhion-layer in the Chapel, he ufed to

come at half an Hour after Eleven, and many
times he did defire me, becaufe we were Frote-

flants, to put in a little Flefh Meat with ours

;

fometimes he would fit down and eat his Meat
in the Kitchen, and his Wife with him -, and his

Wife would fay to him, 'tis a troublefome Time,

pray fee that you come home betimes. I did

not at all remember the Day of the Month at

the firft, nor the Action j but my Husband and

I have fince remembred. We were defiled by
them once to eat a Fowl with themj and my
Husband did command me the Sunday after to in-

vite them to Dinner with us, and I went in the

Morning very early, I think, and bought a do-

zen of Pigeons, and put them in a Pye, and
we had a Loin of Pork rolled ; and when he

was gone to the Chapel on Saturday in the after-

noon, his Wife came to me, and faid, my
Husband is not well, and when he comes home
will ask for fomething of Broth ; and away fhe

went to Market, to buy fomething to make
Broth of. While fhe was at Market, her Hus-
band came home, and asked where his Wife was ?

Why, Mr. Green, faid I, fhe is gone to Mar-
ket : What an old Fool, faid he, is this, to go,

out fo late, fuch a Night as this is ? But, faid he,

again, I will go to the Coffee-houfe, and drink

a Dim of Coffee, and pray tell my Wife fo. In

the mean time fhe returned, and by that time

fhe had been above a little while, he came in a-

gain. And Mr. Green being there, my Husband
came in, and called to me, Pr'ythee, Sweetheart,

what haft thou got for my Supper ? Pr'ythee,

faid I, Sweetheart, thou art always calling for

thy Victuals when thou corned in. Then Mr.
Green goes to the Stairs, and calls to his Wife,

and bids her bring him down fome Victuals, and
fhe brings down the Bread and Cheefe, and he
flayed there till it was Nine o' clock ; and then

faith Mr. Green to his Wife, let us go up, for

there is a Fire.

L. C.J. What Day was this, all this while ?

Mrs. Warrier. Why it was the Saturday Fort-

night after Michaelmas Day.

L. C. J. Why might it not be that Day three

Weeks ?

Mrs. Warrier. It was that Day he was miffing.

Mr. Att. Gen. Why there was no Alarum taken

of it a Sunday.

L. C. J. When did you begin to recollect what
Day it was, that they faid he was miffing ?

Mrs. Warrier. On Friday Morning our Milk-

man came and told us that one Mr. Godfrey was

found murdered ; now I knew one of the Exchange

of that Name, and thought it might be he. And
when we went up with him to his Chamber, we
fat there till the Tattoo beat.

L. C. J. All the Thing is, how do you know it

was this Saturday ?

Mrs. Warrier. It was the Saturday Fortnight

after Michaelmas Day

.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Are you fure it was the Satur-

day Fortnight after Michaelmas Day ?

Mrs. Warrier. Yes, we did look upon the Al-

manack, and reckon it fo

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Then that was the 19th of

October.

L. C. J. Why you told him, you could do him
no Good, and indeed you do not.

Mr. Juft. Jones. You and your Wife fpeak of
the fame Time, don't you ?

Warrier. Yes.

L. C. J. Have you any more, Green ?

Copt. Richardfon. There is the Maid, let her

come in.

L. C. J. What fay you, Maid ?

Maid. I can fay, that he came in the Saturday
Fortnight after Quarter-Day, pretty betimes.

L. C. J. Can you fpeak of any other Time be-

fides that Saturday Fortnight.

Maid. I can tell he came in every Night before
Nine o* clock.

Green. I can take my Oath, I was never out of
my Lodging after nine o' clock.

Hill. My Lord, here is Mr. Raven/croft now.
L. C. J. Mr. Ravenfcroft, what can you

fay ?

Mr. Raven/croft. What I can fay, my Lord,
is this ; This Lawrence Hill, I have known him
Thirteen or Fourteen Years, and he ferved my
elder Brother fb long, very faithfully. Afterwards

he lived with Dr. Godwin, towards the latter end
of the two laft Years, and he married my Mother's
Maid.

L. C. J. What Religion are you of?
Mr. Raven/croft. My Father and Mother were

Proteflants.

L. C. J. But you are a Papift, are you not ?

Mr. Raven/croft. I have not faid I am a Papift,

yet.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. In the mean time, I fay you

are one.

Mr. Raven/croft. Do you fo ? then pray go to

Southwark, and fee.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I think he hath taken

the Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy.

L. C. J. Well, pray, Sir, go on with your

Story.

Mr. Raven/croft. If it pleafe you, upon a Sa-

turday, a little before Chriftmas, there was fome-

body taken, I think it was one Mr. Praunce, for

I never law the Man, neither do I know him at

all : And it was reported that he was taken up

on the Death of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, and I

was glad to hear it. My Houfe was in the Sa- 1

voy, and my Father's Houfe is in Holbourn ; and

I ufed often to go and fee my Father, and com-
ing home again, I went to fee the Maid at her

new Houfe, fhe had not been long there, and

fhe was Handing at the Door of the Houfe. I

asked her what News? Says fhe, Here hath

been a Man here that tells us, that Praunce

hath difcovered feveral of the Murderers of I

Sir 'Edmundbury Godfrey ; and they talk up
|

and down ftrangely of it, and ask me whether i

my Husband be acquainted with him ? Then 1

faid I to her, Is he ? She anfwered me, Very

well, they have been often together ; and fo fhe

told me the People did mutter, and talk of her

Husband. But, faid I, what fays your Husband

to it ? Says fhe, He defies Praunce and all his

Works. Said I, Where is your Husband ? Said

fhe, He is within. I was very glad to hear it

;

for, faid I, he living in Somerfet-Houfe, and be-

ing acquainted with Praunce, I am glad to hear

that your Husband can be fo couragious ; fo I

went away, and came again thither the next

Morning, and found he was taken the Night be-

fore. All that I fay then, is, that it was a good

Evidence
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Evidence of his Innocency, that when he had

Notice of it, he did not fly.

L. C J. So then, your Difcourfe was after

Archbold had been there.

Mr. Ravenfcroft. Archbold'was there before me,

and had fpoken this in their Company. I fpake

with her that Night, and the next Morning too ;

and all that I fay is, if Flight be a Sign of Guilt,

as no doubt it is, Adam ubi es ? and Courageouf-

nefs is a Sign of Innocency, then this Man is

innocent.

L C. J. But you fay, fhe told you they were

acquainted ?

Mr. Ravenfcroft. My Lord, I have one thing

more to fay. Upon the Occafion of thefe Things,

this Woman hath been often with me, and hatn

defired to know of me what defence fhe mould

make, for I faw Hill's Wife and Berry's Wife were

all fimple People, without Defence for themfelves,

and they did defire that I would examine and fee

fome of the WitnefTes, and fee how it was, and

fhe had gotten me fome Papers, and I conferred

,

them together, there are WitnefTes that will atteft

, the Copy.

Mr. Att. Gen. What is all this to the Purpofe ?

\
Only this Gentleman hath a mind to fhew that he

can fpeak Latin.

Mr. Ravenfcroft. I thank God I can fpeak La-

, tin as well as any Man in the Court.

L. C. J. Well, all this is nothing.

Mr. Ravenfcroft. I declare it my felf, if this

Man were guilty, rather than I would fpeak for

him, if there wanted a Hangman, I would do it

my felf.

L. C. J. Well, Berry, what have you to fay ?

Berry. I defire Nicholas 'Trollop, and Nicholas

Wright, and Gabriel Hasket, and Elizabeth Wilkes,

and Corporal Collet may be called.

Corporal William Collet firfl Examined.

Berry. Did not you place a Centinel on Wednef-

day Night ?

Collet. What Wednefday do you fpeak of, Sir ?

Berry. That Night the Qjeen went from So-

merfet-Houfe to Whitehall.

Collet. Yes, this Nicholas Trollop I placed there

firfl, the 1 6th of October.

L. C. J. How do you remember that ?

Collet. Becaufe I have been called to an Account

before, and have given good Reafons for it. Our

Company was at Somerfet-Houfe when the King

came from New-Market, and the Queen went to

Whitehall. Afterwards we were bid to fetch our

Centinels off about three or four of the Clock in

the Afternoon.

L. C. J. Did you leave any Soldiers there ?

Collet. No, we did not, all our Company went

to Whitehall.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Are you fure there were no

,
Soldiers that Night there ?

Collet. Yes, we were commanded with a Party

i

to go thither again that Night.

L. C. J. What did you do then ?

Collet. I placed the Centinels by the Porter's

, Order.

L. C. J. Who was that, Berry ?

Collet. No, it was one that ufed to go about, and

give Orders where we fhould fet them.

L. C. J. How did you place them ?

Collet. This Man 1 placed from Seven to Ten,
then Nicholas Wright relieved him at Ten, and
ftay'd till One.

L. C. J. At what Place ?

Collet. To the Strand-ward.

Mr. Juft. Wild. That was the Gate they carried

him out at.

L. C. J. Do you hear ; whereabouts did you fet

the Centinels? within the Gate ?

Collet. Yes, within the Wicket.

L. C. J. That way he was carried out.

Nicholas Wright. There was no Sedan came out

in my Time.
Trollop. There was one came in, in my Time,

while- 1 flood there.

L. C. J. Was it an empty Sedan ?

Trollop. I luppofe it was, but we had no Order
to keep any out.

Mr. Juft. Wild. But you might know whether
it was an empty Sedan or no, by the going of it

through the Wicket.

Collet. There is an empty Sedan that flands there

every Night.

Trollop. It was fet down within the Gate.

Mr. Juft. Jones. If any Sedan had gone out,

you would not have flaid them, would you ?

Collet. No, my Lord, we had no Order to flop

any.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. How can you then be pofitive,

that no one did go out?

Trollop. None did go out again in my Time.
Mr. Juft. Dolben. Could not the Porter open the

Gate, as well as you ?

Collet. Yes, my Lord, he could, but I fhould

have feen him then : He did not open it in my
Time.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Let me ask you but one Que-
flion ; Did not you go to drink nor tipple all

that time ?

Trollop. No, nor walk a Pike's Length off the

Place of Centry.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Has not Berry an Houfe there

hard by ?

Trollop. Yes, but I did not drink one Drop.

Mr.Juft. Dolben. How can you remember fo par-

ticularly, fo long ago ?

Trollop. Why, 1 was twice before the Com-
mittee.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But how long was it ago that

you were queflioned about this thing, after this

Night ?

Trollop. A matter of a Month or fix Weeks.
Collet. For we were examined before Praunce

was taken up.

L. C. J. You, Trollop, can you fay whether it

was the Sedan that ufed to be within ?

Trollop. No, I cannot, but it was brought in,

in my Time, and did not go out again.

Then Gabriel Hasket was examined.

Berry. You flood there, Sir, from One to

Four.

Hasket. Yes, after the Clock flruck One, I was

put Centinel, and flood till Four.

L.C.J. What Night?
Hasket. That Night the King came from New-

Market, and the Queen went from Somerfet-

Houfe.

L. C. J. What Day of the Month was that ?

Hasket. The Sixteenth.

L. C. J. What Day of the Week ?

Hasket. Wednefday.

L. C. J. Did you not drink at Berry's then?

Hasket. No, I did not.

L. C. J. Did you fee Berry then ?

Hasket.
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Hasket. No, I did not.

L. C. J. He was' gone before you came.

Berry. I was fad enough a-bed at that Time.

L. C. J. Well, what lay you more ?

Berry. Here is my Maid, Elizabeth Minjhaw,

to give her Evidence where I was that Night the

Queen went from Somerjet-Houje.

Mr. Juji. Jones. What can you fay ?

Minjhaw. May it pleafe you my Lord, my Maf-

ter was within Doors and about the Gate, when the

Queen went away.

L. C. J. Who is your Matter.

Minjhaw. Mr. Berry. He was about the Gates

all the Forenoon.

L. C. J. When was that ?

Minjhaw. The 16th of Oilober, Wednejday.

And as foon as the Queen was gone, My Mailer

went out to Bowls ; and when he came home again,

he faid he had been at Bowls.

L C. J. What time did he come home ?

Minjhaw. It was dusky, and he was not abfent

all Night an Hour, till he went to Bed.

Mr. Juji. Wild. When did he go to Bed ?

Mivfcaw. My Lord, I fuppofe he went to Bed
about Twelve o'clock.

Mr. Juji. Wild. They do not charge him
with any thing, but what was done about the

Gate.

Mr. Juji. Bolben. What time did you go to Bed

that Night ?

Minjhaw. Why, I went to Bed about Twelve
o'clock.

Mr Juft. Bolben. And you faw him no more
that Night ?

Minjhaw. No, my Lord, but he muft go thro'

my Room to go to Bed at Night, and therefore I

fuppofe he was a-bed.

Mrs. Hill. I defire Mr. Praunce may fwear why
he did deny all this?

L. C. y. Stand up Mr. Praunce ; that Gentle-

woman does defire to know, what induced you to

deny what you had faid.

Praunce. It was becaufe of my Trade, my
Lord ; and for fear of lofing my Employment
from the Queen, and the Catholicks, which was

the moil oi my Bufinefs, and becaufe I had not

my Pardon.

Mrs. Hill. I defire he may fwear whether he

were not tortured ?

Mr. Juji Bolben. Anfwer her ; were you tor-

tured to make this ConfeiTion ?

Praunce. No, my Lord, Captain Richardjon

hath ufed me as civilly as any Man in England ;

aJl that Time that I have been there, I have want-

ed for nothing.

L. C. J. See what he fays ; that he did not make
this ConfeiTion by any Torture, but he made
his Recantation thro' Fear, and the Thoughts
of Death, becaufe he had no Pardon •, and Fear

that he might live in Want, by the Lofs of the

Trade, prevailed with him to deny what he had
confeffed

.

Mrs. Hill. It was reported about Town, that

he was tortured.

Mr. Juji. yones. No, it was no fiich Thing ; it

was only the Tortures of his Confcience, for being

an Actor in fo great a Sin.

Mrs. Hill. There are feveral about the Court,

that heard him cry out : And he knows all thefe

Things to be as falfe, as God is true ; and you
will fee it declared hereafter, when 'tis too

late.

L. C. y. Do you think he would fwear three

Men out of their Lives for nothing ?

Mrs. Hill. I defire he may be fworn to that par-

ticular Thing.

Mr. Juji. Jones. He is upon his Oath already,

and fwears all this upon his Oath.

Mrs. Hill. Well, I am diifatisfied ; my Wit-
neifes were not rightly examined, they were mo-:

deft, and the Court laugh'd at them.

Berry. The Centinels that were at the Gate all

Night, let nothing out.

L. C. J. Why, you could open the Gate your

felf.

Berry. He fays, he could have feen if the Gate

had been open •, and that, as he faw, the Gates

were never open'd.

Mr. Juji. Bolben. Well, the Jury have heard all,

and will confider of it.

Mrs. Hill. Here is another Witnefs, my Lord,

Mr. Chevins.

L. C. J. Well, Sir, What fay you ?

Chevins. I have nothing to fay, but that I heard

Mr. Praunce deny all.

L. C. J. Why he dees not deny that now. Well,

have you any more ?

Chevins. We have no more.

Mr. Alt. Gen. My Lord, I muft crave leave

to fpeak a Word or two •, and the Evidence hav-

ing been fo very long, I fhall be exceeding fhort.

I intended (when I began to open the Evidence)

to have made fome Obfervations after the Evi-

dence ended ; to fhew how each part of it did

agree, and how the main was ftrengthened by

concurrent Circumftances. But, in truth, the

King's Evidence did fall out much better than I

could expect, aad the Defence of the Prifoners

much weaker than I could forefee. So that, I

think, the Proof againft the Prifoners is fo

ftrong, and fo little hath been alledged by them
in their Defence, that it would be but lofs of

Time, to do what I at firfl intended. Only I

will obferve, That Mr. Bedlow doth agree with

Mr. Praunce as far forth as is poffible ; that is,

in thofe parts of the Fact, of which he pretends

to have any Knowledge. Yet had they never a-

ny Communication one with another, as both

have fworn. And your Lordfbip will obferve

in how many Particulars they do agree •, namely,

as to the Dark-Lanthorn, as to the covering of

the Body in the Room ; how they intended to

carry the Body out in a Sedan, and the refl. So

that if they had laid their Heads together to

contrive a Story, they could hardly have agreed

in fo many Circumftances ; and yet this they do,

without difcourfing with each other before-

hand.

My Lord, I muft likewife obferve to you, that i

the Servants of the P/cw-AIehoufe concur as to (

Meetings there : The Maid agrees as to the Pri-

foners coming to Sir Edmundbury Godjrey's

Houfe, and to the Time, viz. that Saturday

Morning; nay, to the very Hours of Nine or

Ten o' clock ; That the Conftable's Relation of

the Pofture in which the Body was found in the

Field, doth perfectly agree with the Account that

the Murderers gave thereof to Mr. Praunce the i

next Morning. The Chirurgeons do agree with

Mr. Praunce, as to the manner of Sir Edmund-

bury Godfrey's being killed, the Strangling, the
I

bruifing of his Stomach, the twilling of his :

Neck. And the Witnefles from Bow make it

out, that Bethick was fent for; that they had a

Dinner
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Dinner there. The Boy proves that he over-

heard them reading fomething about Sir Edmund-

bury Godfrey, and that they were very merry ;

and that for his liftning, he was threatned to be

kick'd down Stairs.

So that, I think, there never was an Evidence

that was better fortified with Circumftances than

this : My Lord, I mall be bold to fay, here is

certainly as much Evidence as the Matter is ca-

pable of. It is not to be expected, that they

fhould call Witneffes to be by, when they do

fuch foul Facts ; fo that none can fwear directly

the very Fact, but fuch a one as was an Actor

in it. All Circumftances relating to the Fact,

both before, and after, are made out by concur-

rent Teftimony. And, my Lord, I muft ob-

ferve, that this was a Murder committed thro'

Zeal to a falfe Religion, and that Religion was a

Bond of Secrecy. We all know, his Majefty

hath been gracioufly pleafed, by his Proclama-

tion, to propofe a Pardon, and a Reward to the

Difcoverers. And yet almoft without Effect:

Their Zeal to their falfe Religion was a greater

Obftacle, than the Proclamation was an Incite-

ment to the Difcovery. And I do believe, if

Mr. Praunce had not had fome Inclination to

change his Religion, you had ftill been without

fo clear a Difcovery of this Work of Darknefs,

as now you have. I fhall fay no more, but con-

clude to the Jury with that Saying, that I re-

member in the Book of Judges, (in the Cafe of

a Murder too, tho' of another Nature) Judges

xix. 30. The People /aid there was no fuch Deed

done, nor feen, from the Day that the Children of

Ijrael came out of Egypt : And I may fay there

was never fuch a barbarous Murder committed

in England, fince the People of England were

freed from the Yoke of the Pope's Tyranny ;

and, as 'tis faid there, lb fay I now, Corjider of
it, take Advice, andfpeak your Minds.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, I would only make
one Obfervation to your Lordfhip, which is this;

I do not find they do in the leaft pretend to tax

Mr. Praunce, that any Perfon hath bribed him
to give this Evidence ; nor, that there was the

kail Reward ever propofed to him to bear Wit-
nefs againft them, not fo much as the Hopes of

that Reward contained in the King's Proclama-

tion ; yet Mr. Praunce, if he had had a mind to

bear falfe Witnefs, might have laid hold of that

Opportunity ; but fo far was he from pretending

to difcover any thing, that he denied all when
he was firft apprehended. But after he was in

Hold, and likely to be brought to Juftice,

and lying under the Conviction of a guilty

Confcience, then, and not till then, does he dif-

cover it.

There is no Objection in the World to be

made, but that fince this Difcovery, Mr. Praunce

hath retracted what he faid before, but he gives

you a very good Account of it •, the Terrors of
Confcience he then lay under, the Fears that he

fhould not be pardoned, and the Apprehenfions

he had from the Threats on their Side, and the

Danger of his utter Ruin, put him upon that

Denial.

But, my Lord, he tells you likewife, That as

foon as ever he was brought back to the Prifon,

he owned all he had laid at firft, and defired he
might be carried back again to teftify the Truth
of what he had firft fworn to. This, my Lord,
he gives you an Account of, and the fame Ac-
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count does the Keeper of the Prifon give too.

I have nothing to fay more, but only juit to ob-

ferve the many Circumftances whereby Mr.
Praunce's Teftimony is fortified. Mr. Bedlo-zv

does agree with him in every Circumftance, as

far as his Knowledge went: The Maid of the

Houfe agrees with his Teftimony •, that fays, fhe

faw Green at Sir Edmundbury Godfrey's leveral

Times, tho' here he denies he knew him. That
fhe faw Hill there that very Morning her M after

was miffed ; That he talked with her Mafter a

Quarter of an Hour ; That fhe knew him by a

very good Token ; not only by his Face, but al-

io that he had the fame Clothes on then he hath

now.

Mr. Praunce hath likewife told you of ano-

ther Circumftance, the meeting at the P/ow-Ale-

houfe, where they laid the whole Defign of In-

trapping Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ; and herein

he is Fortified by the concurrent Teftimony of

the Mafter of the Houfe, and the Servant too,

tho' they now deny that ever they had been in

his Company there; or that they fo much as

knew Girald; tho' when they were Examined at

the Council-Board, they faid they knew Girald,

but not Kelly ; and now they are preft with it

here, Hill retreats to this, That he knows one Gi-

rald, but not Girald the Prieft.

My Lord, I think the Matter is fo. fully, and
fb plainly proved beyond Exception, that there

needs no Repetition in the Cafe : It is impof-

fible that Mr. Praunce, a Man of that mean Ca-

pacity, fhould invent a Story with fo many Cir-

cumftances, all fo confiftent, if there were not

Truth at the Bottom of it. He fhews you the

particular Places, from Place to Place, where

they decoy'd him in, and how they diipofed of

him, to the Time they carried him our. And
in each of thefe Circumftances there is not the

leaft Improbability or Caufe to disbelieve him.

It hath been already fo fully repeated, and the

Plainnefs of the Evidence is fo convincing, that

I need not make more Obfervations upon it

;

but fubmit it to your Lordfhip and the Jury.

Then the Lord Chief Juftice direcled the Jury

in this manner :

Look you, Gentlemen of the Jury, This is an

Inquifition for Innocent Blood that hath been

fhed, and your Bufinefs is to fee if you can find

out the Murderers.

We would not add Innocent Blood to Innocent

Blood : But, on the other Side, if you have re-

ceived Satisfaction fo much as the Nature of the

Thing can bear, then the Land is defiled, unlefs

this be fatisfied.

Now for that I will urge the Witnefs and Te-

ftimony no further than it does appear ; for you

and We are all upon our Oaths to do uprightly,

neither to Spare Murderers, nor Condemn the

Innocent.

In the firft Place, We began with Mr. Oates,

and he told you, that he had fome Converfe with

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, and that he was threat-

en'd by fome, and had no good Will for his

Pains, in taking thofe Examinations he had ta-

ken, and he was afraid his Life was in Danger.

This he tells you was the Difcourfe before-hand,

and this is produced to lead you to confider

what fort of Perfons they were, of whom he

5 H was
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was likely to have thefe Fears •, for his Fears did

arife from his having done his part, as a Juftice

of Peace, in taking the Examinations upon Oath.

For the Teftimony of the Fact they produce

firft Mr. Praunce, wherein you will do well to

obferve all the Degrees that he goes by, before

the Fad:, and all the Circumftances in the Trans-

action of that Affair, and the Parties by whom
it was to be Acted : Firft he tells you, how long it

was before they could entice him to confent to

fuch a Villany as this was, To Murder a Man ; he

tells you by whom he was thus enticed, which

makes the Story more probable ; that is, by Girald

and Kelly (two Prieffs) and he tells it you ftill

more probably by their Doctrine, that it was no

Sin ; but it was rather an Act of Charity to kill a

Man that had done, and was like to do them

milchief : So that if you confider the Perfons

that Preached to him, and the Doctrine they

taught, it carries a great mew and prefumption

of Truth in itfelf. When they had met toge-

ther at the Plow feveral times, (which was deny'd

by fome of them, but is moft manifeftly proved

by the Mafter of the Houfe and the Boy) and

the wihYd-for time was come ; for they were to

watch the Opportunity, and Mr. Praunce was to

be at home, and they would call him to give his

helping Hand ; he tells you, That Mr. Hill did

go that Morning ; for tho' he talks of an Errand

befcre, yet to keep to that which is moft pref-

fing in the Evidence, he went to Sir Edmund-

bury's Houfe. This he feems to deny ; but the

Maid does Swear it exprefly upon him ; and fays,

She came firft to him, and went up Stairs, and

then came back again, and ftill he was there.

And fhe fwears positively fhe knows him by his

Face, and by the Clothes he then had on, which

are the fame Clothes he hath on now, and that

that is the Man that was with her Mafter; and

this, which they cannot difprove, half proves the

Matter.

What had he to do at Sir Edmundbury God-

frey's Houfe ? But that would be an hard puzzling

Queftion to be put to him ; What did you there ?

And therefore he is to deny it; but the Maid
proves it upon him, as well as Praunce. So that I

would have you confider how many WitnefTes

you have to one thing or another, all conducing

to this Point.

You have firft Mr. Oates, that tells you the

Difcourle that pafTed between Sir Edmundbury
Godfrey and him ; the Maid tells you, that both

thefe Men were there, one at one time, and the

other at another ; and you have Mr. Praunce that

knew the whole Affair, who tells you fo like-

wife, and that they were refolved to do the

Work that Day, in fb much that if they could

not do it, as they had before contrived it (and

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey was fenfible that he was
Dogg'd up and down) Girald did refolve to dogg
him to his own Door, and kill him in the Lane
that leads to his Houfe, he would have run him
thro' himfelF, and this Girald is one of thofe

Priefts, whofe Church counts it no Sin, but an
A£t of Charity, to murder a Chriftian, to pro-

pagate Chriftianity.

When they had way-laid him and watch'd
his coming, from what Place Mr. Praunce can-

not tell ; for he knows nothing but what they

told him, and they only- named in general, that

he was Lodged in St. Clement's ; and thereupon

one comes to acquaint him, that they would in-

tice him in at the Water-gate by Smfterfet-Houfe,

and they would do it with Art enough, for they

never want a contrivance for fo charitable an
Act; and it was upon this pretence that there-

were two Men a wrangling and fighting, and
then he being a Juftice of the Peace, was a Per-

fon that would part the Fray eafily.

And it was a probable Invention : for Sir Ed-
mundbury Godfrey was a Man that was as willing

to do all Acts of Juftice as any one, and as little

afraid to do it ; for the Witnefs tells you before,

that he faid, if they did do him a mifchief, they

muft do it bafely, for he did not fear the beft of
them upon fair Play. Then when he was defired

to get himfelf a Man to follow him, he flio-hted

the Advice : And we all know, that he was 2
Man of Angular Courage, and therefore it was
the eafier today a trap for him. Then, faith

Praunce, when he was got in, Berry and I were
to have feveral Pofts, which we were to go to,

I to one Place, and Berry to another ; and I ftaid,

faith he, till Green threw the Cravat about his

Neck, and was aflifted by Girald and the reft

that were there. And then, as foon as we could

imagine the thing to be done, Berry comes in,

and Praunce comes back from his ftanding, and

by fome Motions finds that he was alive, and
that till Green twifted his Neck round ; which
the Chirurgeons fay was plainly a Broken Neck,
and nothing of the Wounds which were in his

Body were given him while he was alive.

When they had done this, he tells you, they

carried him to Mr. Hill's Chamber : Berry, Girald,

Kelly and the reft, all help'd him in, and there

they leave him. Then Praunce goes away. This

was on Saturday Night. Then Praunce comes
again on Monday Night, and finds him removed
to another Chamber hard by, where he faw him
by the light of a Dark-Lanthorn, with fomething

thrown over his Face ; and afterwards on T'uef-

day Night following they did remove him back
to Hill's Lodgings, and there lie lay till Wednef
day Night, when they carried him out.

Saith Praunce, I faw him that Night ; I was
the Man that help'd to carry him out, for it was

Praunce and Girald that carried him firft, and it

was Green and Kelly who went before, and took

him up afterward. He tells you, they fet him
upon an Horfeback, and Hill behind him. They
carried him out in a Chair, which was a thing

that ufed to come in and go out there, and fo

the lefs Notice would be taken of it. I will ob-

ferve to you afterwards, on the Prifoners behalf,

what is faid for them to all this.

But as to Praunce, you fee he hath given you

an Account from the top to the bottom, from

the firft Tranlaction between them, from the

Time of his being called by them to help in the

Murder, and from his feeing the Handkerchief

twifted about his Neck, his Neck twifted round

;

how they difpofed of his Body at firft, what re-

moves they made, and when they carried him

out, who were in Company, who relieved them,

and what became of him at laft.

He fays, he faw him fet up before Hill on

Horfeback, and they told him, they had thrown

him in a Ditch, and Girald had run him through

with his own Sword ; and in that Pofture, and

in that Place the Conftable found him : The

Chirurgeons tell you, that it was by the twilling

of his Neck, and the Strangling, that he was

kill'd, and not by the Wounds ; and the very

Bruifings
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Bruifings which Praunce fpeaks of, were found

upon the view of the Body. So that here is not

any one Thing, that is not back'd either in fome

particular Circumftance or other ; befides Mr.
Praunce's Teftimony, who (alone) could give the

Narrative of the Fact.

And it is no Argument againft Mr. Praunce in

the World, that he fhould not be believed, be-

caufe he was a Party, or becaufe he after denied

what he firft faid : Fir ft, Becaufe you can have

no Body to difcover fuch a Fact, but only one

that was privy to it ; So that we can have no

Evidence, but what arifes from a Party to the

Crime. And, in the next place, his Denial after

he had confeffed it, to me, does not at all found

as an Act of Falfhood, but Fear. It is not a good

Argument to fay, that he is not to be believed,

becaufe he denied what he once faid ; for he tells

you he had not his Pardon, he was in great

Confternation ; the Horror of the Facl itfelf,

and the Lofs of his Trade and Livelihood was

enough to do it. But how fhort was his Denial,

and how quick was his Recantation ! for he denied

it before the King, not upon Oath : He fwore it

upon Oath, but he denies it upon his Word
only ; but by that time he got home to Newgate,

with Captain Ricbardfon, he fell down on his

Knees, and begg'd him for God's fake to carry

him back to the King, for what I did lay at firft,

faid he, is true, and this Denial is falfe. And
here could be no Tampering, no Contrivance

made ufe of; no, 'tis plain there could be no

Art ufed to make him retract from his firft Te-

ftimony. And thefe are the Particulars, as to

Praunce's Evidence.

Then comes Mr. Bedlow, and tells you, that

he was commanded by Le Faire, and the Priefts

he was acquainted with, to infmuate himfelf in-

to the Acquaintance of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ;

they did not tell him why ; they themfelves

knew privately wherefore, and they did intend

him as an Inftrument to do it, as appears after-

ward. He tells you, he got into his Acquain-

tance, by pretending to go for Warrants for the

good Behaviour and the Peace, as he knew Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey was willing to have the

Peace kept ; and he was with him every Day
almoft, for a Week or more.

Then the Priefts come a little nearer, and tam-

per'd with him to kill a Man, an ill Man for

their turn, and that Mr. Bedlow fhould be very

well rewarded, he fhould have Four Thoufand
Pounds to kill that Gentleman ; but ftill they

kept the Name fecret. He prom ii'ed them fair,

but broke his Word. Afterwards he meets this

Companion that he had moft Confidence in, and

being tax'd with his Breach of Promife, faid he,

I had Bufinefs, I could not come. Well, faid his

Companion, you fhould have been as good as

your Word ; but the Thing is done, the Perfon

is killed, and I would have you help to carry

him away. He promifes to do it, and to meet

him at Somerfet-Houfe ; accordingly he comes up

on Monday in the Evening, and about Nine or

Ten of the Clock at Night Mr. Bedlow iwears,

that in this Chamber that Praunce fays he was

laid in, he did fee the Body by the Help of a

Dark-Lanthorn ; and his Face was covered with

a Cloke or Mantle, or fome fuch thing thrown

over him.

And thefe two Men, viz. Mr. Praunce and
Mr. Bedlow^ as the Council have oblerved, had
Vol. II.

not any Confederacy together, for they both

fwear, that they never had any Converfe at all j

and if it be fo, then it is impoffible for two Men
fo to agree in a Tale, with all Circumftances, if

they never converfed together, but it muft be

true.

It is hardly poffible for any Man to invent

fuch a S:ory ; for Praunce it is, i believe. I find

it is no hard thing for the Priefts to contrive

fuch an Action ; but for two Witneffes to agree

in fo many material Circumftances with one ano-

ther, that had never converfed together, is im-

poiTible.

If all this had been a Chimera, and not really

fo, then Praunce muft be one of the notableft In-

ventors in the World : And there muft have been

the mightieft Chance in the World, that Mr.
Bedlow and he fhould agree fo in all Things ; and
that the Maid fhould fwear, that Hill was there

that [Vlorning ; and that the Conftable fhould

find the Body, juft as they told Praunce they had
left him.

So that upon the Matter, you have two Wit-
neffes almoft in every Thing ; for Mr. Bedlow^

feeing him in the Place murdered, is a plain Evi-
dence that the Thing was done ; and all the o-

ther Witneffes, fpeaking to Circumftances both
before and after, make the Evidence plain, that

thefe were the Perfons who did it. And 1 fee no-

thing incoherent in all Mr. Praunce's Teftimony.
I would not urge this fo, if I was not fatished

in my own Confcience that the Relation is true.

In the Prifoners Defence, there is but one Thing,
that hath any fort of Weight; for the young
Gentlewoman talking of his being conftantly at

home at Eight of the Clock, is nothing; for fhe

fays they always go to Bed about Nine o'Clock,

and they give no Anfwer to this, but that it

could not be done in their Houfe but they muft
know of it ; but do not fhew how that muft
needs be; fo that all their Evidence is flight, and
anfwers itfelf, or elfe not poffible to be true.

All the Teftimony that is confiderable in this

Matter, is that which Berry produces; and that

is concerning the Centinels who kept the Guard
that Wednefday Night the Body was carried out

;

and he fays, there was no Sedan carried out.

And altho* this Evidence be produced but by
one of them, yet 'tis to the Benefit of them all

three ; for if it were certain and infallibly true,

that the Centinels did fo watch at the Gate, that

no Mortal could go out of the Place, and if the

Darknefs of the Night might not hinder him
from feeing what might go out, or that Mr.
Berry's Voice being known to him, he might
not call to him, and fo Mr. Berry might open
the Gate without any great Caution, or more
particular Obfervarion by the Centinel, fo that

this might efcape his Obfervation or Remem-
brance, and yet that the Centinel be an honeft

Man, and fpeak true, as he thinks, to his beft

Remembrance, which I leave to your Confidera-

tion. But there is one Thing the other Centi-

nel tells you, that about Eight or Nine o'clock

(for he went off at Ten) there was a Sedan
brought in, and he did not fee it go out ; and
fo fays he that watched from Ten to One ; and
this is the only thing which hath any Colour in

it, in Behalf of the Prifoners. But he that fays

there was no Body went out, fays alfo, that he
never faw the Sedan ; but the Centinel that was
relieved, fays, that he faw it go in. Now how

5H2 far
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far that fingle Teftimony of Nicholas Wright the

Centinel will weigh, who fays that none went

out, I leave with you, which may be miftaken,

either by reafon of the Darknefs of the Night,

or thofe other Particulars I have obferved to you.

But this is all that can overthrow the whole

Series of the Evidence that hath been given by

Mr. Praunce, upon whom I find not the leaft

Reflection, except you will call that one, which

to me, as it is circumftanced, is rather an Argu-

ment for him, than againft him, viz. his going

off from what he faid. And what Sir Robert

Southwell fays is regardable, that when he fhewed

them the Place where he was ftrangled, the

Houfe to which he was firft carried, he did it

very readily and confidently, but was puzzled to

find out the Room where he was removed, when

he faw him by the Dark-Lanthorn, and would

not pofitively affert where it was ; which fnews

the Integrity of the Man, who would elfe have

gone thro' without boggling; for if all were a

Lye, why fhould he flick at one Thing more

than another, but have ihewn fome Room or

other? but when he was confident he appeared

fo, and when he was doubtful he appeared fo,

and fo fhewed himfelf an honeft Man.
Thefe are the particular Matters, and, as near

as I can remember, all that hath been materially

offered for the Prifoners, againft the King's Evi-

dence. For the Teftimony of the Landlord,

Warrier, and his Wife, it is plainly fpoken of

another Time, for it was the Saturday after the

I'hurfday he was found, the 19 th of Oclober. So

that they fpeak nothing but what is true, and

yet nothing to the Purpofe ; for the Queftion

is, of that which was done the 12th, but they

fpeak of a Time when the Tragedy was paffed, lo

that there is only the firgle Evidence of one

"Witnefs, the Centinel, which mult be oppofed

to all the concurring Evidence given againft

them.

Berry. There was Centinels placed at every

one of the Gates.

L. C. J. That is nothing, for we fpeak only

of this Gate, the great Gate ; but I will tell you

what there is that does not arife from thefe Wit-
nefTes, but from the Nature of the Thing they

were about, and the Perfons that tranfacted it,

that gives Credit to the Teftimonies of the Wit-
nefies, fo as to incline any one to believe them,

as Things ffand at this Day, in reference to the

known Defign of the Priefts to fubvert our Re-

ligion, for they mult juftify one 111 by another,

and the Mifchiefs they have done will not be fafe,

unlefs they do more.

And for the Priefts being the Preachers of

Murder, and your Sin, that 'tis Charity to kill

any Man that ftands in their Way ; their Doc-

trine will make you eafily believe their Practice,

and their Practice proves their Doctrine. Such

Courfes as thefe we have not known in England,

till it was brought out of their Catholick Coun-

tries •, what belongs to fecret Stranglings and

Poifonings, are ftrange to us, tho' common in

Italy. But now your Priefts are come hither to

be the Pope's Bravo's, and to murder Men for the

Honour of his Holinefs : And as they are Inhu-

mane, fo they are Unmanly too •, for Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey had not been afraid of two or

three of your Priefts, if they would have dealt

fairly with him.

Berry. He was a Gentleman that I never fpoke

with in all my Life.

L. C. J. You muft fay and believe, as your
Prieft will have you, and in fuch Actions as thefe,;

1

,

as your Priefts fuggeft to you, fo does the DeviE!

to your Priefts-, if you are upon the Matter ne-:

ceflkated to what they will have you think ; for,

tho' your Priefts preach up Freedom of Will '

yet they allow none to the Underftanding. They-j

hold you may do Good or Evil, but will notq

fuffer you to underftand Right and Wrong, fon!-

you cannot be perfectly theirs, if you have anyf
thing of your own to guide yourfelves by.

I know that every Body of that Party is apt tof

fay their Priefts own no fuch thing, but it is no-

1

torioufiy known to all the World, that they

both Print it, and practife it. What, Jhall any of
you difpute the Power of a Pope ? faith a Jefuit

:

Or, of a Pope and Council? fay the moft mode-
rate Priefts. Have you Power to fay how far

you will be a Papift, and how far not ? You may
as well bound the Sea, and bid it go thus far,

and no farther, as limit the Pope's Authority. I
wonder any Man fhould be of that Perfuafion>
and yet keep his Reafon ; much lefs turn from our

Religion to theirs, if he confiders how they

impofe, and what Mifchiefs and Blood you are

involved in by your Priefts, that have alarmed

the Nation. For I will affirm, the greateft

Mifchief the Papifts have received, come from
their Priefts, who have fuch unworthy and un-

manly Ways of fetting up their Religion : What

!

do they think it an Act of Charity to kill Men;
or is the Chriftian Religion, or yours, to be pro-

moted by fuch Means as thefe ? No, Gentle-

men, 'tis the Fault of your Doctrine, and 'tis a

monftrous Miftake in you, if you think that

you have any Power of your own whilft you
continue in their Perfuafion.

I know fome will afcribe all to Confcience that

guides them, and that even thefe Mifchiefs are

but the Effects of their Religious Obedience

;

but they are indeed the Confequences of the

Blindnefs of their Obedience. I wonder how
any Man can have the Face, thus to diforder a

whole Nation, and yet pretend Confcience for it.

Let no Man tell me, O, Sir, we defire none of

thefe Mifchiefs you talk of: What, not if Re-

ligion requires it, or if the Pope fays it does ?

Hath not the Council of Lateran decreed, That

every Popifh Prince ought to root out Herefy

upon Pain of Damnation ? You muft : Can you

go and tell the Pope how far you will believe,

or what you ought to do ? You may as well tell

me, that if he were once with us, and had the

Power he once had, he would leave us to our-

felves, and that if he had the fame Ability, he

would not have the fame Tyranny.
And therefore all the Roman Catholick Gentle-

men in England would do very well to confider,

how much it concerns Chriftianity not to give

Offence ; and if they cannot at this Time live

in a Proteftant Kingdom with Security to their

Neighbours, but caufe fuch Fears and Dangers,

and that for Confcience fake, let them keep their

Conlciences, but leave the Kingdom. If they

fay, why fhould not we ftay here, while we do

no Mifchief? alas, that's not in your Power.

You cannot be quiet in your own Religion, un-

lefs you difturb ours ;" and therefore, if to fhew

your Confciences you acquit the Country, and

let the Inconveniencies light on yourielves only,

I fhould then think you had Zeal, though not

according to Knowledge ; and not afcribe it

to
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to any Plot, but to the Simplicities of Under-
ftanding.

But, in fhort, there is a monftrous Evidence

of the whole Plot itfelf by this Fact ; for we
can afcribe it to none, but fuch Ends as thefe,

that fuch a Man muft be kill'd ; for it mud be

either becaufe he knew fomething the Priefts

would not have him tell, or they muft do it in

Defiance of juftice, and in Terror to all them that

dare execute it upon them •, which carries a great

Evidence in itfelf, and which I leave to your

Confideration ; having remembred, as well as I

could, the Proofs againft them, and all that is

considerable for them. Add to this, the Condi-

tion that we are in at this Time, and the Eager-

nefs of the Purfuit that thefe Priefts make, to

gain the Kingdom, that, for my own Part, I

muft put it into my Litany, That God would de-

liver me from the Qelufion of Popery, and the Ty-

ranny of the Pope : For it is a Yoke, which we,

who have known Freedom, cannot endure, and

a Burden, which none but that Beaft who was

made for Burden, will bear. So I leave it to

your Confideration upon the whole Matter, whe-

ther the Evidence of the Fact does not fatisfy

your Confciences, that thefe Men are guilty. And
I know you will do like honeft Men on both

Sides.

Then the Jury withdrew^ to confider of their

Vtrdicl, and after a fhort Space returned

CI. of the Or. Gentlemen, anfwer to your

Names. Sir William Roberts.

Sir Will. Roberts. Here. Andfo the reft.

CI. of the Cr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed of

your Verdict ?

Omnes. Yes.

CI. of the Cr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Omnes. Our Foreman.

CI. of the Cr. Robert Green, hold up thy Hand,
(which he did.) Look upon the Pnfoner ; how
fay you, is Robert Green guilty of the Felony and

Murder whereof he ftands indicted, or not guil-

ty?

Foreman. Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands
or Tenements?

Foreman. None, to our Knowledge.

CI. of the Cr. Henry Berry, hold up thy Hand,
(which he did.) Look upon the Prifoner. How
fay you, is Henry Berry guilty of the Felony and
Murder whereof he ftands indicted, or not guil-

ty?

Foreman. Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands
or Tenements ?

Foreman. None, to our Knowledge.

CI. of the Cr. Lawrence Hill, holdup thy Hand,
(which he did.) How fay you, is Lawrence Hill

guilty of the Felony and Murder whereof he

ftands indicted, or not guilty?

Foreman. Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands
or Tenements ?

Foreman. None, to our Knowldge.
CI. of the Cr. Hearken to your Verdict, as the

Court hath recorded it. You fay that Robert

Green is guilty of the Felony and Murder where-

of he ftands indicted. You fay that Henry Ber-

ry is guilty of the Felony and Murder where-

of he ftands indicted. You fay that Lawrence

Hill is guilty of the Felony and Murder whereof

he ftands indicted ; and that neither they, nor
any of them, had any Goods or Chattels, Lands
or Tenements, at the Time of the Felony com-
mitted, or at any Time fince, to your Know-
ledge. And fo you fay all.

Omnes. Yes.

L. C. f. Gentlemen, You have found the fame

Verdict, that I would have found if I had been

one with you ; and if it were the laft Word I

were to fpeak in this World, I fhould have pro-

nounced them guilty.

At which Words the whole Affembly gave a
great Shout of Applaufe.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Will your Lordfhip pleafe to

give Judgment this Evening ? I know it is not

ufual the fame Day.
Mr. Juft. Wild. My Lord, I am ready.

L. C. J. No, Brother, I am to fit at Nifi pri-

us this Afternoon, and 'tis time we broke up the

Court.

CI. of the Cr. Captain Richardfon, you fhall

have a Rule to bring them to-morrow. And
then the Court broke up.

On Tuefday the eleventh of February, the

Prifoners were brought again to the Bar,
in order to receive their Sentence; and
the Court proceeded thus

:

Mr. Recorder. "& M Y Lord, as I was directed by
IVI Mr. Attorney, thefe Prifo-

ners being convicted of Murder, I do, for the

King, pray Judgment upon them ; but I muft
firft acquaint your Lordfhip, that immediately

after their Conviction, one of the Officers, a Tip-

ftaff pretending it was his Fee, took their Clothes

off their Backs.

L. C. J. Who is that Officer ?

Mr. Recorder. One Afhby.

L. C. J. Call him. Why do you offer to med-
dle with thefe Mens Clothes ?

Aftoby. It hath been an ancient Cuftom this

forty Years, fome of us have known it, that the

Marfhal hath the upper Garment of all Prifoners

Tried at this Bar.

L. C. y. Is there any fuch Speaking to a Clerk

Cuftom, Mr. Waterhoufe? of the Crown- Office.

Waterhoufe. No, my Lord, not that I know of.

L. C.y. Here is Mr. Waterhoufe, that hath

known the Practice of the Court this threefcore

Years, fays there is no fuch thing. Either re-

ftore them their Clothes, or we will take fome

other Courfe with you. Are they in your Cufto-

dy, pray ?

Mr. yuft. Dolben. I do not know that, my
Lord, I think they always plead in Cuftody of

the Marfhal.

Mr. yuft. Wild. Bat this feems a very barbarous

Thing, to take their Clothes off their Backs.

Mr. yuft. Dolben. It doth fo, Brother, and they

muft be reftored.

L. C. y. Yes, yes, you muft reftore them.

Afhby. They fhall be, my Lord.

Mr. Recorder. I pray your Judgment.

L. C. y. Ask them what they can fay to hin-

der Judgment.
CI. of the Cr. Robert Green, hold up thy Hand,

(which he did.) Thou haft been indicted of Fe-

lony and Murder, thou haft been thereupon ar-

raigned,
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raigncd, thou haft pleaded thereunto Not guilty,

and for thy Trial thou haft put thy fclf upon

God and thy Country, which Country hath found

thee guilty ; what haft thou to fay for thy felf,

why the Court fhould not proceed to give Judg-

ment of Death upon thee, and award Execution

according to the Law ?

Capt. Richardfon. What have you to fay for

yourfelf ?

Green. I declare to all the World, that I am

as innocent of the Thing charged upon me, as

the Child that is in the Mother's Womb. I die

innocent, I do not care for Death, I go to my
Saviour, and I defire all that hear me to pray for

me. I never faw the Man to my Knowledge,

alive or dead.

CI. of the Cr. Henry Berry, hold up thy Hand,

(which he did.) Thou haft been indicted of Fe-

lony and Murder, &c. What canft thou fay ?

fcff.

Berry. I do declare, I am not guilty of any

thing in the World of this.

L. C.J. We do not expect much from you,

and it is no great matter ; for your Confeflion

will do us little good, but only for your felves.

We regard it not otherwife, becaufe the Evi-

dence was fo plain, that all Mankind is fatisfied,

there is no Scruple in the Thing •, and we know

you have either downright Denials, or Evafions,

or equivocating Terms for every Thing ; yet, in

plain-dealing, every one that heard your Trial

hath great Satisfaction ; and for my own parti-

cular, I have great Satifaction that you are every

one of you guilty.

CI. of the Cr. Lawrence Hill, hold up thy Hand,

(which he did.) Thou haft been indicted of Fe-

lony and Murder, &c. What canft thou fay r

&c.
Hill I have nothing to fay for my felf, but that

God Almighty knows my Innocence.

CI. of the Cr. Crier, make an O yes.

Crier. O Yes! Our Sovereign Lord the King

doth ftraitly charge and command all manner

of Perfons to keep filence whilft Judgment is

giving upon the Prifoners convicted, upon pain

of Imprifonment ; Peace about the Court.

Then Mr. Juftice Wild, who, as fecond Judge in

that Court, fronounceth the Sentence in all cri-

minal Matters, (except High-Treafon) fpoke to the

Prifoners thus

:

Mr. Juft. Wild. You that are the Prifoners at

the Bar, you have all three been indicted for a

deteftable Murder, and thereunto have pleaded

Not guilty, and put your felves, for your Trial,

upon your Country ; and your Country, upon a

clear and pregnant Evidence, I believe to the

Satisfaction of all good Men, that were indiffe-

rent, have found you Guilty. I have little Com-
fort to fay any thing to you, becaufe I obferve

your Obftinacy at the Bar ; but it is fo generally

among you all, you will confefs nothing to the

Death.

Green. God forbid, Sir.

Mr. Juft. Wild. But tho' I am of another Per-

fusion than you, and know you have no Chari-

ty for me, yet I have Charity for you. And if

I fhall fay any thing, it is out of a zealous Af-

fection I have for your Souls; God knows, I

fpeak it upon no other Grounds ; tho' the Of-

fence be horrid, yet I commiferate your Per-

fons.

For the Nature of your Offence, it is Mur-
der : He that Jheds Man's Blood, by Man fhall his

Blood be fhed ; for in the Image of God created he

him. So faith God to Noah, intimating and de-

claring thereby, That the Intention of God Al-

mighty, in the making of that Law, was the

Preservation of Mankind ; and that he will not

admit or fuffer his Image to be defaced or de-

ftroyed. If it fhall be accounted Treafon againft

Earthly Princes to deface their Images, is it not

much more Treafon againft the great God of

Heaven and Earth, to deface his Image, who is

the King of Kings, and Lord of Lords? The Great-

nefs of this Sin ftruck fuch a Damp and Horror
upon the Soul of Cain, that it made him cry out,

His Punifhment -was greater than he could bear ; or,

as our Bibles have it in the Margin, His Iniquity

was greater than could be forgiven ; and it fhall

come to pafs, that whofoever meeteth me, fball flay

me : Being confcious to himfelf, that it was juft

and lawful, that whofoever did meet with him
fhould flay him. And God himfelf doth fet forth .

the Heinoufnefs of this Offence, when he tells i

him, His Brother's Blood cry'd to him ; that is,

cry'd unto God from the Earth for Vengeance.

Blood, it is of a crying Nature, and will never

ceafe crying, till it find out the Man-flayer.

It is an Offence fo heinous in the Eye of God,
,

that he will not endure it in a Beaft ; God faith,

he will require it of a Beaft. And doth God re-

quire Blood of a Beaft, a brutifh Creature void

of all Reafon, and will he not require it much
more of Man, whom he hath endued with thofe

two great Faculties of Reafon and Underftand-

ing ? And certainly, if Murder in general be en-

quired after, I may well fay this of yours, there

hath not been committed a more impudent and

barbarous Murder in this civiliz'd Nation, by

one Subject upon another. And obferve how
you did effect this Murder, with Bafenefs enough.

See the Bafenefs of it ; as the Devil was the Fa-

ther of Lies, fo he was a Murderer from the

Beginning; and you firft begun your Murder
with an hellifh, ftudied, and premeditated Lye.

Knowing that this Gentleman was a Perfon ve-

ry vigorous in the Execution of his Place, that

would omit no Opportunity of doing his Office

;

you pretend you have Occafion for him, and by

this means draw him into your Snare; where

what you do, you do cowardly and bafely, firft

difarm him, then fall upon him and murder him

;

as the Prophet David faith of the ungodly Man,

firft gets the righteous Man in his Net, and then ra-

vifheth him.

Had fuch a Thing as this been acled by us

Proteftants in any Popifh Country in the World,

I doubt there would fcarce have been one of us

left alive. They would not have taken this

Courfe that hath been taken with you, to admit

us to a fair Trial ; no, they would have made

their own Hands their Avengers : But, God be

praifed, we are of another Religion, and of ano-

ther Perfuafion. We leave Vengeance to God,

and, under him, to the Magiftrate, who beareth

not the Sword in vain, as you now find.

If I could abftract Folly from Wickednefs,

certainly it was one of the greateft Pieces of Fol-

ly and Sottifhnefs in the World : For what could

be your End in it ? Did you think that all the

Magiflrates in England were lodged in Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey? That, if he were taken out

of the way, there were not Men of Spirit and

Courage,
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Courage, as faithful and diligent as he was ?

Trouble not your felves, nor let thofe of your

Pcrfuafion trouble themfelves, there are a nume-

rous Company of Magiftrates in this Kingdom,

that will do the fame thing, and act in, and exe-

cute their Offices with the fame Courage.

And as to- the Manner of the Murder: Whom
have you deftroyed? A Magiftrate: For what?

For the Execution of his Office. One that was a

a Confervator of the Peace ; and whofe Study it

was to preferve you in Peace, on him you have

violated the Peace, and nothing lefs would fa-

tisfy you than his precious Life : An Affront to

the Law, to the Magiftrate, to the King, to

the Nation ;
yea, to God himfelf, upon whom an

higher Affront could hardly have been put. For

the Magiftrate is God's Ordinance, God hath fet

him up to avenge himfelf upon the Wicked, and

to reward the Good ; and he doth not bear, as it

is a Sign by you he hath not born, the Sword in

vain.

I might fay much more concerning the Hei-

noufnefs of this Offence ; but had I the Tongue

of Men and Angels, I could not fay enough to

fet out the Horror of it. And now let me tell

you, I do not fpeak this to infult and domineer

over you ; I praife God I am of another Spirit

;

he knows I have another End in what I fay, and

my End is meerly this, to perfuade you from the

Foulnefs of your Fact, to make a good Ufe of it

;

that the Horridnefs of your Sin may make the

greater and deeper Impreffions on your Spirits

;

and fo make your Repentance more fevere and

efficacious. Had you as many Years to live as

you have Hours, it were little enough to bewail

this horrid Offence. But on the other Side,

as that will be little enough, yet let me give you

this Comfort, you have Time enough, if you

make a good Ufe of it, to make your Peace with

God.

Pray let me dehort you from one Thing ; and

. that is this, Do not be of the Opinion of thofe

wicked Mifcreants the Jefuits, that have put you

upon this Matter ; for I have fo much Charity

for you as to believe, they made it a Matter of

Religion to you, and juftifiable upon that Ac-
count. Do not think fo, for the Law of God is

indilpenfible, and no Power under Heaven can

licenle to murder. So that though the Offence

in them is abominable, yet in you 'tis an Of-

fence too, and an horrid one. And when you

have confider'd it as fuch, I then defire you to

take a right Courfe to make your Peace with

God : For you muft pafs under another Judgment
than that of Man, and that fhortly you muft

ftand before the Judge of Heaven and Earth.

And therefore, if by this means you can prevent

I

that future Judgment, you will have juft Caufe

j
to thank God that you had your Punifhment

1 here on Earth. Therefore let me advife you to

;
fpend every Minute you have left, in a free Ac-

knowledgment of all your Offences : For cer-

tainly fome Sin went before, or this had never,

come after. One Sin doggs another, and makes,
way for the Commiffion of another.

And what muft you rely upon ? not upon any
Trafh or Trumpery, not upon any Merit of your
own ; there is but one Saviour and Mediator, the

Lord Jefus Chrift. And I would advife yon, in

the Words of that great Cardinal, one that was
one of the greateft Men of your Religion, Bel-

larmine I mean, who having made a Scrutiny,

which was the fafeft Way for fecuring Heaven,
made the Conclulion thus, To Truft only, upon the

Lord Jefus Chrift for Life and Salvation. Which I

advife you to do.

I have now done what I intended to fay to

you ; and what I have faid, I fpoke to deliver

my own Soul, and upon no other Account. I

now pronounce the Judgment which the Law
hath appointed to pafs upon fuch Malefactors;
and that is this :

"That you gofrom hence to the Placefrom whence
you came, and from thencs to, the Place of Execu-
tion, where you fhall be feverally hanged by the Neck,
tillyou are feverally dead ; and the Lord have Mer-
cy upon your Souls.

Hill. I humbly beg one Favour, that I may
have the Privilege to fee my Wife and Children,

and my Brother, before 1 die, fome times.

L. C. J. God forbid elfe.

Hill. Any Day I hope, my Lord.
L. C. J. Captain Richardfon, let them have

the Liberty of leeng their Friends, but do it with
Care and Caution.

Mr. Juft. Wild. And I will fay this more to

you, if you will have any Religious Proteftant

Divines to come to you, they fhall be fent you ;

but none of your Priefts.

Hill. I defire only my Relations.

Mr. Juft. Wild. You fhall have them, and we
offer you the others.

Green. I have no Relations that are Catholicks,

but two, and they are not Priefts. God bleis

the King : And I defire all good People to pray
for us.

L. C. J. Mr. Aftry, let the Rule be entred for

their Execution on Monday next.

CI. of the Cr. Captain Richardfon, you fhall have
the Rule for their Execution on Monday next.

Then the Keeper carried away the Prifoners to the

Goal, to be referved till their Execution.

On Friday the 2 1 ft of February the Prifoners,

Robert Green, Henry Berry, and Lawrence Hill,

were executed, according to the Sentence pro-

nounced againft them ; they all perfifted to the

laft in denying the Fad, for which they fuffer'd.

See the Account of Hill and Berry's Behaviour.,

State Trials, Vol. 8. p. 435, 436.

XXX. The
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LXXX. The Trialof Tkfr.Samuel Atkins at the King's-

Bench, for being accejfary to the Murder of Sir Ed-
mundbury Godfrey February 8, 10, and 11,

1675. 31 Car. II.

^jpH!|p£ N Saturday the eighth of February',

WtJ^M^M 1 6y 8, Mr. SamuelAtkins was brought

OJ^S fr°m Newgate to the Bar of the Court
^2sAil||| of King's- Bench ztWeftminfter, to be

arraigned, as accefTary to the Mur-
der of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,

which was done in this Manner.

CI. of the Cr. Samuel Atkins, hold up thy Hand
{which he did). Thou ftandeft indicted by the Name
of Samuel Atkins, late of the Parifh of St. Mary
le Strand in the County of Middle/ex, Gent, for

that whereas on the Morrow of the Purification

of the the BlefTed Virgin Mary, before our Sovereign

Lord the King at Weftminfter, by the Oath of

twelve Jurors, good and lawful Men of the faid

County, tried, fworn, and charged to enquire for

our Sovereign Lord the King, and the Body of

the faid County, Robert Green, late of the Parifh

aforefaid, in the County aforefaid, Labourer ;

Henry Berry, late of the fame Parifh and County,

Labourer •, Lawrence Hill, late of the fame Pa-

rifh and County, Labourer ; Girald, late

of the fame Parifh and County, Clerk ; Dominick

Kelly, late of the fame Parifh and County, Clerk ;

and Philibert Vernatt, late of the fame Parifh and

County, Labourer, are indicted, for that they

not having the Fear of God before their Eyes,

but being moved and feduced by the Inftigation

of the Devil, the twelfth Day of Oclober, in the

thirtieth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign

Lord Charles II. by the Grace of God of Eng-

land, Scotland, France, and Ireland, King, Defen-

der of the Faith, &c. at the Parifh of St. Mary
le Strand aforefaid, in the County of Middlesex

aforefaid, in and upon Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,

Knt. in the Peace of God and of our faid Sove-

reign Lord the King, then and there being, fe-

lon ioufly, voluntarily, and of their Malice afore-

thought, did make an Aflault ; and that he the

aforeiaid Robert Green, a certain Linen Handker-
chief, of the Value of Six-pence, about the Neck
of the faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, then and

there felonioufly, voluntarily, and of his Ma-
lice aforethought, did fold and faften, and that

he the faid Robert Green, with the Handkerchief
aforefaid, by him the faid Robert Green on and

about the Neck of the faid Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey, in Manner and Form aforefaid folded

and faftened, then and there him the faid Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey did choke and ftrangle, of

which faid choking and flrangling of him, the

faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, in Manner and

Form aforefaid, he the faid Sir Edmundbury God-

frey then and there inftantly died; and that the

faid Henry Berry, Lawrence Hill, Girald,

Dominick Kelly, and Philibert Vernatt, then and

there felonioufly, voluntarily, and of their Ma-

lice aforethought, were prefent, aiding, abettino-,

comforting and maintaining the aforefaid Robert
Green, the aforefaid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,
in Manner and Form aforefaid, felonioufly, vo-
luntarily, and of his Malice aforethought, to kill

and murder ; and fo they the faid Robert Green,

Henry Berry, Lawrence Hill, Girald, Do-
minick Kelly, and Philibert Vernatt, in Manner
and Form aforefaid, the aforefaid Sir Edmund-
bury Godfrey, felonioufly, wilfully, and of their

Malice aforethought, did kill and murder, againft

the Peace of our Sovereign Lord the King, his

Crown and Dignity. And that thou the faid

Samuel Atkins, at or upon the faid twelfth Day
of Oclober, and divers Days and Times before

the faid Robert Green, Henry Berry, Lawrence
Hill, Girald, Dominick Kelly, and Philibert

Vernatt, the Felony and Murder aforefaid, at

the Parifh aforefaid, in the County aforefaid, to

commit felonioufly, wilfully, and of thy Malice

aforethought, didfl command, counfel and abet,

and knowing the faid Robert Green, Henry Berry,

Lawrence Hill, Girald, Dominick Kelly,

and Philibert Vernatt, the Felony and Murder
aforefaid, in Manner and Form aforefaid, felo-

nioufly to have done and committed, at or up-

on the faid twelfth Day of Oclober, and divers

Days and Times after, at the Parifh aforefaid in

the County aforefaid, felonioufly the faid Robert

Green, Henry Berry, Lazvrence Hill,— Girald,

Dominick Kelly, and Philibert Vernatt, didfl har-

bour, comfort and maintain, againft the Peace

of our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and

Dignity. How fayft thou, Samuel Atkins, art thou

guilty as AccefTary to the faid Felony and Mur-
der, whereof thou ftandeft indicted, and haft been

now arraigned, or not guilty ?

Sam. Atkins. Not guilty.

CI. of the Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be tried ?

Sam. Atkins. By God and my Country.

CI. of the Cr. God fend thee a good Delive-

rance.

Sam. Atkins. My Lord, I do humbly defire,

that the feveral Examinations taken concerning i

this Bufinefs, may at my Trial be brought into

the Court.

L.C.J. This is to be left to
5/r Wiuiam Scrogg,

Mr. Attorney to do in it as he

pleafeth ; for he is to take care of the King's

Evidence.

Sam. Atkins. I only defire, my Lord, that they

may be brought in. Mr. Recorder had fome of

them taken before him.

Mr. Recorder. To fatisfy this ^ G Jefferies .

Gentleman, my Lord, whatever

Examinations were taken before me fhall be

brought.

L. c. 7.
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Z. C. J. Why, Mr. Atkins, do you know no-

thing of this Bufmefs, that you are ib willing to

have all the Evidence brought in againft you ?

Sam. Atkins. My Lord, I know nothing of ic

at all.

L. C J. Are you a Papift, Mr. Atkins ?

Sam. Atkins. No, my Lord, I am not.

L. C. J. Were you never one ?

Sam. Atkins- No. I never was one, nor I hope

never fhall be. When is it, that your Lordfhip

pleafeth to have me tried, for I have lain theie

fixteen Weeks in Prifon, and do earneftly defire

my Trial.

L. C. J. You fhall be tried as foon as we can,

when Mr. Attorney thinketh fit. We muft try

the others on Monday, and if there be Time after-

wards, you may be tried then : However, Captain

Richardfon fhall have a Rule to bring you up

then.

Sam. Atkins. I humbly thank your Lordfhip.

Ihen he was carried back by the Keeper, and

accordingly on Monday following he was
brought up ; and after the Trials of Green,

Berry and Hill were over, he was fent for to

the Bar.

Lun<s 10 Februarii, i6y^.

C. J. Mr. Atkins, have you any Bail rea-L.

dy?
Sam. Atkins. No, my Lord, I am prepared for

my Trial, if your Lordfhip pleafeth, but not with

Bail.

L. C. f. Ay, but Mr. Atkins, 'tis the latter

End of the Term, and many Peoples Livelihoods

lie at Stake. We can't lay afide all Bufmefs for

yours.

Sam. Atkins. My Lord, my Life lies at Stake,

and I have been under fevere imprifonment a long

Time. 1 humbly pray I may be tried •, befides I

have many Witneffes, who have remained in Town
on purpoie to give Evidence for me ever fince the

laft Term. I hope my Trial will not take up much
Time.
Mr. fuft. Dolben. If you have fo many Wit-

neffes it cannot be foon over.

Sam. Atkins. I have many ready, but hope I

fhall have Occafion to ufe only a few.

L. C. f. Mr. Atkins, we cannot do it, you muft
be content

; you fhall be tried at the Seffions. Pray
how long is it to it ?

Mr. Recorder. It is about three Weeks, my
Lord.

L. C. J. That indeed will be too long, but in

the mean time you fhall be bailed.

Sam. Atkins. I muft fubmit, my Lord ; I think

I have Bail here. [Mr. Atkins was here calling

his Bail.']

L. C. y. Come then, name them.
Capt. Lloyd. My Lord, I am a Witnefs on Be-

half of this Gentleman, and cannot poiiibiy be in

England a Fortnight hence.

Sam. Atkins. !V]y Lord, this is a Captain of one
of the King's Ships, and his Occafions will indif-

penfibly call him away, and this is the Cafe of fe-

veral others of my Witneffes.

L. C. y. Well, I don't know ; if it be fo, you
fhall be tried to-morrow ; and fo bring him up very
early. [Speaking to Captain Richardion.]

And fo Mr. Atkins went from the Bar, and
was brought up thither again on the Morrow,
being Tueiday, when his Trial proceeded

thus.

Vol. II.

Martis ii Februarii, i6y8.

CI. of the Cr. Crier, make Proclamation.

Crier. Oyes ! If any one can inform our Sove-^

reign Lord the King, the King's Serjeant atLaw^
the King's Attorney General, or this Inqueft, now
to be taken of Samuel Atkins the Prifoner at the

Bar, his being Acceffary to the Felony and Mur-
der whereof Robert Green, Henry Berry, Lawrence
Hill, and others, ftand indicted, and as Acceffary

of which faid Felony and Murder the faid Samuel
Atkins ftands indicted, and hath been arraigned,

let them come forth, and they mall be heard, for

now the Prifoner ftands at the Bar upon his De-
liverance.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I

muft inform your Lordfhip, Slr William Jones,

that there is another Indictment againft Mr. Atkins

as Principal, which was preferred heretofore, but
we have fince thought fit to prefer another as

Acceffary. Now to difcharge him of the firth.

I defire he may be arraigned on that before his

Trial.

CI. of the Cr. I did fo intend to do, Mr. Attor-

ney. Samuel Atkins, hold up thy Hand, {which

he did) thou ftandeit indicted by the Name of
Samuel Atkins, late of the Parilh of St. Clements

Banes, in the County of Middlefex, Gentleman,
for that thou, together with Welch, and

Le Faire, of the faid Parifh and County,
Gentlemen, not having the Fear of God before

your Eyes, but being moved and feduced by the

Inftigation of the Devil, the twelfth Day of
Otlober, in the thirtieth Year of the Reign of
our Sovereign Lord Charles If. by the Grace of
God of England, Scotland, France and Ireland

King, Defender of the Faith, csV. with Force

and Arms at the Parifh aforefaid, in the County
aforfaid, in and upon Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,

Knight, in the Peace of God and of our faid So-

vereign Lord the King, then and there being, fe-

lonioufly, wilfully, and of your Malice afore-

thought, did make an Affaulr, and that thou the

faid Samuel Atkins, a certain Linen Cravat, of
the Value of one Penny, about the Neck of the

faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, then and there fe-

lonioufiy, wilfully, and of thy Malice afore-

thought, did fold and fatten, and that thou the

faid Samuel Atkins, with the faid Cravat, fo by
thee the faid Samuel Atkins, about the Neck of

the faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey fattened and
folded as aforefaid, then and there the faid Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey, felonioufly, wilfully, and
of thy Malice aforethought, didft choke and
ftrangle, of which faid choking and ftrangling

of the faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey by thee the

faid Samuel Atkins, in Manner and Form afore-

faid done and committed, the faid Sir Edmund-
bury Godfrey, in the Parifh aforefaid, in the County
aforefaid, inftantly died, and that the aforefaid—
Welch, Le Faire, felonioufly, wilfully, of their

Malice aforethought, were then and th?re preient,

aiding, affifting, abetting, comforting and main-
taining thee the faid Samuel Atkins, the Felony and
Murder aforefaid, in Manner and Form aforefaid,

to do and commit. And that fo thou the faid

Samuel Atkins, with the aforefaid Welch and
• -Le Faire, the laid twelfth- Day of Otlober, at

the Parifh aforefaid, in the County aforefaid,

the faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, felonioufly,

wilfully, and of your Malice aforethought, did

kill and murder, againft the Peace of our Sove-

5 I reigQ
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reign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.

How fay'ft thou Samuel Atkins, art thou guilty of

the Felony and Murder whereof thou Handed

indicted, and haft been now arraigned, or not

Guilty ?

Sam. Atkins. Not guilty.

Cl. of the Cr. Culprit, how wilt thou be tried ?

Sam. Atkins. By God and my Country.

CI. of the Cr. God fend thee a good Delive-

rance. Samuel Atkins, hold up thy Hand (which

he did) thofe Men that you fhall hear called and

fhall perfonally appear are to pals between our

Sovereign Lord the King, and you, upon the Trial

of your Life and your Death. If therefore you

will challenge them, or any of them, your time is

to fpeak unto them as they come to the Book to

be fworn, and, before they be fworn. Call the

Jury, Crier, and make an O yes,

Crier. O yes! you good Men that are impannel-

led to enquire between our Sovereign Lord the

King, and Samuel Atkins the Prifoner at the Bar,

anfwer to your Names.

CI. of the Cr. Sir John Cutler.

Crier. Vous avez. Sir John Culler, look upon

the Prifoner. You fhall well and truly try, and

true Deliverance make between our Sovereign

Lord the King, and the Prifoner at the Bar,whom

you fhall have in your Charge, and a true Verdict

give according to your Evidence. So help you

God. And fo the reft were fworn. The Names
of the twelve were thefe,

Sir John Cutler,

Michael Arnold,

James Partridge,

'Thomas Coffee,

Thomas Goftwick,

John Wells,

Ambrofe Arnold,

Rainsford Waterhoufe,

John Searle,

Richard Pagett,

William JVaite,

Arthur Blyth.

CI. ofthe Cr. Crier, count thefe. Sir John Cutler.

Crier. One, &c.

CI. of the Cr. Arthur Blyth.

Crier. Twelve good Men and true, ftand to-

gether and hear your Evidence ; you that are fworn

hearken to the Record, you that are not fworn

ftand down.

CI. of the Cr. Samuel Atkins, hold up thy

hand (which he did.) You that are fworn, look

upon the Prifoner and hearken to his Caufe. You
fhall underftand that he ftands indicted by the

Name of Samuel Atkins, late of the Parifh of

St. Clement Dane in the County of Middlefex,

Gentleman ; for that he, together with

Welfh, he Faire, &c. (prout in the Second

Indictment mutatis mutandis) againft the Peace

of our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown
and Dignity. Upon this Indictment he hath been

arraigned, and rhereunto hath pleaded not

Guilty, and for his Trial hath put himfelf upon

God and the Country, which Country you are.

Your Charge is to enquire whether he be guilty

of this Felony and Murder whereof he ltands

indicted, or not guilty. If you find him guilty,

you are to enquire what Goods and Chattels

Lands or Tenements he had at the time of the

Felony and Murder committed, or at any time

fince. If you find him not guilty, you are to

enquire whether he did fly for the fame ; and if

you find that he fled for it, you are to enquire

of his Goods and Chattels, as if you had found

him guilty ; if you find him not guilty, nor that

he did fly for it, fay fo and no more, and hear

your Evidence.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I am informed by
Mr. Ward of the Crown Office, the Profecutor's

Clerk, that they have not fued forth a venire

facias upon this Indictment as Principal ; and there-

fore the Jury cannot enquire of that at all, but ;

muft be difcharged of it. Our Writ is only for i

the Indictment for being Acceflary.

CI. of the Cr. If you make the Writ de quibufdam

feloniis cff accefjariis, and Seal it a-new (which may
be done prefently, the Seal being in the Flail) it

will do for both.

L. C. J. Do fo then, Mr. Ward, that both
may be difpatched. {Which was done accord-

ingly.}

CI. of the Cr. Samuel Atkins, hold up thy Hand
again {which he did.) You of the Jury, look upon
the Prifoner and hearken to his Caufe. You
fhall further underftand, that he ftands indicted by .

the Name of Samuel Atkins, late of the Parifh of

St. Mary le Strand, &c. (prout in the firft Indict- •

ment mutatis mutandis) againft the Peace of our ij

Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.

Upon this Indictment he hath been arraigned,
I

and thereupon pleaded Not guilty, and for his

Trial hath put himfelf upon God and his Country,

which Country you are. Your Charge is to en-

quire whether he be guilty of this Felony as Ac-
ceflary to the faid Robert Green, &c. or not guilty,

If you find him guilty, &c. (ficut antea.) Crier,

make Proclamation.

Crier. O yes ! if any Man will give Evidence

on the behalf of our Sovereign Lord the King a-

gainft Samuel Atkins, the Prifoner at the Bar, let

them come forth, and they fhall be heard, for the

Prifoner ftands at the Bar upon his Deliverance ; and

all others that are bound by Recognizance to give

Evidence againft the Prifoner at the Bar, let them

come forth and give their Evidence, or elfe they

forfeit their Recognizance.

Mr. Serj. Stringer. May it pleafe your Lord-

fhip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, Samuel

Atkins the Prifoner at the Bar ftands indicted here

of two Facts by two Indictments ; the one as Prin-

cipal in this Murder, the other as Acceflary. The
firft of which we fhall lay afide, and of his being

the Murderer give no Evidence ; and fo, Gentle-

men, you muft find him not guilty of that.

But as to the Indictment as Acceflary, that fets

forth, that whereas Robert Green, Henry Berry^

Lawrence Hill, and others, on the 12 th of Octo-

ber laft, at the Parifh of St. Mary le Strand, in

your County, did make an Afiault on the Per-

fon of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, and that Robert

Green did throw about the Neck of Sir Edmund'

bury a Linen Handkerchief, and twifted and

folded it about his Neck, by which twilling

and folding the faid Green did ftrangle the jaidi

Sir Edmundbury, of which ftrangling he intrant-'

ly died : and we fay, Gentlemen, that the Pri-

foner at the Bar is indicted as one that was privy,

knowing, confulting, and abetting to the Com-

miflion of this Murder, and that after the Mur-

der committed (for the Acts are connected) he did

receive, harbour, comfort, and maintain the Mur-,

derers. To this he hath pleaded Not guilty, if

we prove him Guilty, we doubt not you will find

him fo.

Mr. Att. Gen. May it pleafe your Lordfhips,

and you Gentlemen of this Jury, Mr. Atkins the

Prifoner is ind idled upon two Indictments, the

one is for being a Principal in this Murder, bui

upon that we can give no Evidence, for that was I

preferred
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ferred before we had that full and plain Evidence,

which now we have of this Fact by the Testi-

mony of Mr. Praunce. And I muft fay thus much

to Mr. Atkins, that he hath caufe to blefs God,

that ever Mr. Praunce made this Difcovery ; for

I afTure you, without that, there are thofe Circum-

ftances, Probabilities, and Preemptions, that he

mi^ht have gone in great danger of being account-

ed a Principal in the Murder. But now, my Lord,

that Matter being fully and plainly difcovered by

Mr. Praunce's, Teftimony, that no Man may bear

a greater Burden than he deferves, we acquit him

as to that Indictment, and now charge him only

as Acceflary. And in that you will find the Evi-

dence to be fuch, as might give us juft Caufe to

prefer the firft Indictment.

For, my Lord, wc lhall make it out, that

Mr. Samuel Atkins did come to a Gentleman of

his own Sirname, one Mr. Charles Atkins ("who I

think was of kin to him, but whether he was, or

not, is not material) and to him he did complain

of the Proceedings of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,

that he was a Man too active, and that he was in

no fort to be permitted to live ; for if he were, he

would be very prejudicial to fome he was concern-

ed for. And at the fame time he did enquire after

fome bold Man, I think one Child particularly,

who had been with that Charles Atkins aboard the

Fleet, whether he had behaved himfelf ftoutly

there ; and finding him to be a refolute Perfon, he

defired Mr. Charles Atkins to fend for him, and

fend him to him, and he would employ him; and

afterwards Child owned to Mr. Atkins, that he had

been there.

L.C.J. To which Mr. Atkins? to the Pri-

foner ?

Mr. Att. Gen. To Mr. Charles Atkins, who is

the Witnefs, Samuel Atkins is the Prifoner. It was

Samuel that complained to Charles of Sir Edmund-
bury Godfrey, enquired after the Courage and Re-
folution of Child, and ordered Charles to lend him
thither, and afterwards Child, as he faid, went
thither-, and when he came back he did difcourfe

with Charles Atkins, defiring him to join with him
in the killing of a Man, and did propofe a great

l Reward to him fo to do.

This, my Lord, was the Difcourfe precedent

to the Fact. But now to fhew to your Lordfhip

;
and the Jury, that as the Prifoner Samuel Atkins

' and he did defign, the thing fliould be done, fb

he did purfue that Defign, and bear a Part in it,

and was privy to it, and knew of it ; we mail

prove, that Mr. Bedlow, when he faw the Body
; after it was murdered, which happened, as was
: proved to you Yeiterday, on the 12 th of Oclober

kit, found it removed from the Place, where by
the Teftimony of Mr. Praunce he was firft car-

i ried, into another Room, and there by the help
' ot a Dark-Lanthorn feveral People then in the

Room faw him : Amongft whom, I fay, Mr.
Bedlow was one, and Mr. Praunce fpeaks to the

lame Matter, and this was on the Monday Night
following. And I think we have a fufficient

.
Proof, that Mr. Samuel Atkins was one in the

1 Room, that did fee the Body, and was confult-

|
ing with them, how to difpofe of it : For we

* have this Proof againft him. Bedlow finding a

1

young Man there, whom he did not know, he
went up to him, defiring to know his Name;
he tells him who he was, one Atkins, and de-
fcribes himfelf by a particular Circumftance to

' whom he had relation, and Mr. Bedlow will tell

Vol. II.

you fo much, that though the Light was not very

great, yet it was enough to let him fee the Faces

of thofe he took notice of, and that this Prifoner

was there. And if this be true, it will have die

effect of proving him guilty as Acceffary, either

before or after the Fact.

This will be the courfe of our Evidence, our

Witneffes are not many, and therefore our Proof

will not be long. We lhall now call them, and

when they have done, fubmit it to your Lord-
fhip and the Jury ; and firft we call Mr. Charles

Atkins.

Crier. Mr. Charles Atkins, lay your Hand upon
the Book. The Evidence which you lhall give

for our Sovereign Lord the King againft Samuel

Atkins, the Prifoner at the Bar, lhall be the Truth,

the whole Truth, and nothing but the Truth ; fo

help you God.

Mr. Recorder. My Lord, this is Charles At-

kins, whom we defire to begin withal. It was

he that had the Difcourfe firft with Samuel At-

kins about Ghild, and afterwards with Child a-

bout the Murder. Pray, Sir, tell the Difcourfe

you had with the Prifoner at the Bar, and what
Difcourfe you had with Child, and the Time
when.

Cha. Atkins. My Lord, it was much about the

time that his Majefty went to Newmarket

.

L. C. J. That was in September, I think.

Cha. Atkins. No, my Lord, it was in the be-

ginning of Oclober. I cannot fpeak to a Day, I

cannot very well tell that, but it was much
about that Time. I had been with Sir John Wil-
liams about the fame Bufinefs that I came to fpeak

with Mr. Atkins about (this Gentleman whom I am
forced to be Witnefs againft on the King's Ac-
count; but otherwife I have a great Regard for

him) and coming there I asked the Porter below

Stairs whether Mr. Atkins were in the Houfe.

L. C. J. At what Houfe was it?

Cha. Atkins. At Derby Houfe in Channel-Row.

He faid, Yes. So I went up Stairs, and found

him there all alone in the Study, where he ge-

nerally writes near another Study, where was
the Clerk, that ufually wrote with him, but he

was alone ; it was in the Afternoon : And after I

had fpoken to him, I defired him that he would
walk out into the other Room. And at the

Window, which is next the Door that is to

the Office, he and I flood talking together.

After we had difcourfed a little about the Plot,

he told me, that Sir Edmundbury Godfrey had

very much injured his Mafter; and if he lived

would be the Ruin of him. And thereupon I

having heard that his Mafter was queftioned in

the Houfe of Commons, asked him whether he

were a Parliament Man, thinking that might be

the Occafion of their queftioning him ; No, faid

he. But then he went off from what we were

then difcourfing, and he defired me to be fe-

cret, and went on upon that Account in feveral

Particulars, that I cannot now exactly remem-
ber. And as we were talking he broke off his

Difcourfe fhort, and asked me if I knew Mr.
Child; what Child? faid I. He that I ufed to

meet at the three Tobacco- Pipes? Said he, It is that

Child that you recommended to me : for I had re-

commended fuch a one to him to be Purler of a

Ship, by the means of one Owen. Said he, is he

a Man that is ftout, or to be trufted with a Secret?

Said I, As to his Valour I know nothing of it, but

he has a very good Character; then faid he, when
5 I 2 you



796 8o. The Trial of Samuel Atkins, Hil. 3 1 Car.II.

you fee him, fend him to my Matter ; but as for my
felf, I defire not to have him ask for me when he

comes thither. I could not meet Child that Night,

but I did the next Night ; and fo he faid he would

go thither. And afterwards I met him again, and

he faid he had been there, and falling into Dif-

courfe, he would have engaged me to join in the

Murder of a Man.
L. C. J. What did Child fay to you ? What is

Mr. Atkins's, Matter's Name ?

Cha. Atkins. Mr. Pepys.

L. C. J. What, Mr. Pepys of the Navy ?

Cha. Atkins. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Had Child been with him ?

Cha. Atkins. My Lord, he told me fo.

L. C. J. What did he fay when he came from

Mr. Pepys ?

Cha. Atkins. He told me nothing of Mr. Pe-

pys, but he would have engaged me to join in

the Murder of a Man. I was then juft coming

from walking, and met him in Holbourn Fields

near the three Tobacco- Pipes, and he* defired me
to walk with him, which I was unwilling to do.

He told me he had fomething private to fay to

me-, I told him there was a Shed in the back

psrt of the Houfe that was private enough ; and

thither we went, and I fate with my Back to

the Houfe, and he with his to the Garden. And
as foon as the Matter of the Houfe had brought

a Pot of Ale, he fell into Difcourfe, and told me
he believed, that by reafon of the Neceflity of

my Fortune, and the Troubles I lay under, and

my want of Money, I would undertake a Bu fi-

ne's that might relieve my Wants. I replied, any

thing that was honourable I would undertake,

or that became a Gentleman, but to rob on the

Highway, or any thing of that Nature, that

was bafe, I would not do it. He anfwered me, that

it was a thing of greater moment than that, he

told me it was the killing of a Man. I imme-
diately utterly denied to join with him in it; he

gave me eight or nine Days to confider of it,

and I fhould have a great Reward, if I would

join with them. I heard of him no more for a

considerable while, and then I met him at the

three Cans or the^ Cans in Holbourn, and renew-

ing his Difcourfe, he told me, if I would not agree

with them to help to murder him, yet if I would

conceal it, I Ihould have ioo/. brought to my
Chamber ; but if I did reveal it, I ihould not out-

live it.

L. C.J. This Child faid?

Cha. Atkins. Yes, my Lord.

L. C J. Who were them were to be with you,

Captain Atkins, do you know ?

Cha. Atkins. I do not know, my Lord, he did

not tell me who they were.

L. C. J. Pray tell us again : What was the firft

Difcourfe you had with Mr. Samuel Atkins.

Cha. Atkins. I came to borrow a little Money of

him, and it was at the great Window in the great

Room above Stairs, the very Window next the

Office where the Prifoner writes, and there he be-

gan his Difcourfe. We were talking of this Plot

that was difcovered, and fomething about Cole-

man, but the Particulars I cannot remember, and

then he fell into Difcourfe about Sir Edmundbury

Godfrey.

L. C. J. What Difcourfe was it ?

Cha. Atkins. That he had injured his Matter,

and if he lived, he would ruin him. I asked him
whether he was a Member of the Houfe of

Commons, becaufe I knew his Matter had been

there queftioned for his Religion. No, faid he •

but then he went off from that, which he was
then talking of, which was concerning the Plot
and Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, and asked, if I knew
where there was a ftout Man, and particularly en-
quired about Child, and bid me fend him to his
Matter.

L. C J. Did he fear Sir Edmundbury Godfrey
would ruin his Matter by difcovering fomethin*
about the Plot ?

Cha. Atkins. I underftood fb.

L. C. J. Why, he did not fay that his Mafler
knew of it, did he?

Cha. Atkins. No, not to me.
L. C. J. And what did he talk of killing anv

body ?
& y

Cha. Atkins. No, he did not mention it to
me.

L. C. J. Then all that he faid to you was, that
Sir Edmundbury Godfrey had very much injured his

Matter, and if he Jived would ruin him, and then
asked, if you knew a Man that would be ftout and
fecret, and bid you fend him to his Matter, but
not ask for him.

Sam. Atkins. Pray, Mr. Atkins, will you tell

what time that Difcourfe was ?

Cha. Atkins. I cannot tell that exactly. It was
two Days before Sir John Williams went into the

Country, h was about the time of the Dutchefs
her going beyond Sea.

Sam. Atkins. Was there no body by when we
had that Difcourfe ?

Cha. Atkins. There was another in a Study hard

by, I cannot tell exactly who.
Sam. Atkins. Do you know his Name, when

you hear it ? Was it Mr. Lewis?
Cha. Atkins. I think it was fo, I cannot exactly

tell.

L. C. J. What Day was it, as near as you
can?

Cha. Atkins. I cannot fay what Day it was, it

was about {even or eight Days in October, as I can

remember.
L. C. J. You fay it was about the time of the

Duchefs her going over into Holland.

Cha. Atkins. I think fo. I cannot pofitively re-

member.
Mr. Sol. Gen. Had you any Reward offer'd to

you for killing of a Man ?

Cha. Atkins. Yes, I had by Child.

Sain. Atkins. By whom was that Reward to be

paid ?

Cha. Atkins. He did not tell me.
Mr. Att. Gen. Now, my Lord, becaufe it

feems a ftrange thing, that Mr. Atkins, who fays

he is a Proteftant, fhould be engaged in this Bu-

1

finefs, we have a Witnefs here to prove, that he I

hath been often feen at Somerfet-Houfe at Maft, and

fo he is a Party concerned ; for thofe that are of

that Party, it was their Intereft to cut him off.

And that is this Boy. {Pointing to a Boy that was

then brought in.~]

L. C J. How old are you, Child ?

Boy. About Seventeen.

Mr,. Juft. Wild. Do you know what, if you.

fwear falfe, will become of you ?

Boy. I will not fwear falfe.

Mr. Juft. Wild. What, if you do fwear falfe,

will become of you ?

Boy. I fhall be damned.
Mr. Att. Gen. He is as like to fpeak Truth, a;

another.

Sam. Atkins. What Religion are you of, Boy I

Bo
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Boy. A Proteftant.

Sam. Atkins. Do you know me ?

Boy. No.

Mr. J. Wild. Sir, you arc too bold with the

Witneffes.

L.C J Swear him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray hold. My Lord, this is a

Witnefs that Mr. Ward brings from below. I

have him not in my Brief. I defire, before they

fwear him, that he would give an Account whe-

ther he knows the Prifoner or no.

Boy. No, I do not. \_Andfo the Boy was carried

off, with fame Expreffions of Mr. Attorney'^ Dif-

pleafure to Mr. Ward for bringing him in]

Mr. Recorder. My Lord, I perceive it was a

Miftake •, it was fomebody elfe. We will proceed

to other Evidence.
* Mr. Sol. Gen, We have hitherto

* Sir Francis gone upon the Evidence to prove,
Winnington.

tfat jvir. Atkins fought out foj a ftout

Man, and when he had found one, he thought

was for his purpofe, he bid him fend him to his

Matter. This ftout Man, Child, would have en-

gaged the other Witnefs in a Murder •, and it is

very probable what that Murder was, to wit, the

Murder of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, for we fhall

prove that the Prifoner was aiding and affifting

to carry off the Body. And for this we call Mr.

Bedloiv.

Then Mr. Bedloiv was fworn.

Mr. Recorder. Pray, Sir, will you tell my Lord,

and the Jury, whether you were in the Room
where the Body lay, and in what Company you

faw it?

Bedloiv. Your Lordfhip had an account Yefter-

day, how Le Faire came to acquaint me, that fuch

an one was murdered, and that they intended fo

and fo to difpofe of the Body. When I came to

meet him at Somerfet-Houfe, I asked him who were

to be concern'd in carrying him off. He told

me it was a Gentleman, one Mr. Atkins. I

thought, it might have been this Gentleman,

[pointing to Captain Atkins] whom I had known
ieveral Years fince, and fo I enquired no further,

but remember'd he told me fo ; and when I came

into the Room, there was a great many there,

and fome of them their Peaces I did fee. I asked

a young Gentleman whether his Name was not

Atkins, and he faid yes •, then I asked him, if he

were Mr. Pepys's Clerk. He anfwer'd yes, and

added 1 have feen you often at my Mafter's Houfe.

There was a very little Light, and the Man was one

I was not acquainted with, though I had been

often at the Houfe, but could never meet with

him, and yet the Man faid, he had feen me often

there : fo that 'tis hard for me to fwear that this

is he. And now I am upon one Gentleman's Life,

1 would not be guilty of a Falfhood to take away
another's. I do not remember that he was fuch

a Perfon as the Prifoner is, as far as I can remem-
ber he had a more manly Face than he hath, and a

Beard.

L. C. J. You do well be cautious, Mr. Bed-

low.

Mr. J. Wild. Pray, what ftore of People were

there ?

Bedlow. I believe there were feven or eight.

Some there were that I knew.

L. C. J. Who were thofe ?

Bedlow. Le Faire and Praunce. I remember very

well, I asked Mr. Atkins this Queftion, Are you

Mr. Pepys's Clerk ? He faid Yes : I have feen you

often at my Matter's Houfe.

L. C: J. And that was all the Difcourfe you

had with him ?

Bedlow. Yes, for I was but a very little while

there.

L. C. J. But you cannot charge the Prifoner to

be him ?

Bedlow. I do think he had a more manly Face,

than the Prilbner has, and a Beard.

L. C. y. So you think it rather was not he, than

it was he ?

Bedlow. I can't fay it was he, nor I could not at

firft. I did not know, but it might be fome one

that did affume his Perfon to put me off.

Mr. y. Wild. Mr. Bedlow, pray let me ask you

one Queftion. Did you never know of any Defign

to murder Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, till Le Faire

fpoke to you to carry him off.

Bedlow. I knew not, till I faw him murder'd.

They told me I fhould help to carry off the Body
of one that was murder'd, but I could not imagine

whom.
L. C. y. But you knew that they were to murder

a Man ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, but I knew not

whom.
Mr. y. Wild. But you were appointed to insi-

nuate your felf into Sir Edmundbury Godfrey's Ac-
quaintance ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. y. Wild. And upon what Errands were you
Lent?

Bedlow. To take out Warrants for the Peace,

Mr. y. Wild. And did you take out any ?

Bedlow. Yes, againft fome Perfons, and there

were none fuch.

Mr. Recorder. Now if your Lordfhip pleafes, I

defire Mr. Bedlow to let us know whether he did

ask the Perfon, that faid he was Mr. Atkins, any
other Queftions ?

Bedlow. No, I did not,

Mr. Record. How came you to ask him no other

Queftions, but only whether he were Mr. Pepys's

Clerk ?

Bedlow. Becaufe I never heard of any of that

Name, but he and this Gentleman [pointing to

Captain Atkins] whomT know very well, and I

could not tell but it might be he.

L. C. y. Here is the thing. Le Faire told him
one Atkins fhould help him to carry the Body
off; and when he came into the Room, that

Perfon told him his Name was Mr. Atkins ; and
then he asked, if he were Mr. Pepys's Clerk,

for he could not tell but that it was Charles At-

kins.

Mr. Recorder. We have another Reafon, my
Lord, for the asking that Queftion. Pray, what
Difcourfe had you about any Commifnon ?

Bedlow. I had often been with Captain Ford at

Mr. Pepys's about his Commiflion, and I had often

defired to fpeak with* Mr. Pepys or Mr. Atkins his

Clerk, but I could never find either of them at

home ; and therefore when I met that young Gen-
tleman there, I asked him whether he were Pepys's.

Man, and he faid Yes. I asked him if he knew
me, and he told me Yes. I had been often at his

Mafter's Houfe with Captain Ford, but I had ne-

ver feen Mr. Atkins.

Mr. Record. What did he tell you befides ?

Bedlow. That was all the Difcourfe we had.

Mr.
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Mr. Sol. Gen. Did you ever hear of any other

Atkins, that lived with Mr. Pepys ?

Bedlow. No, none at all. And the fame Tes-

timony I give now, I gave at the firft. And,
my Lord, I could not be pofitive before the

Lords of the Committee, and 1 cannot be pofitive

now.
Mr. Att. Gen. Indeed he was never pofitive at

the firft. Now, my Lord, if you pleafe, we will

call a Witnefs to prove, that that Day, when this

was fuppofed to be done, Mr. Samuel Atkins had

befpoke a Dinner at Mount Horeb, but he had

fome other Bufinefs, and did not come, and loft the

Price of a good Dinner. Pray fwear Thomas

Walton. [Which was done.]

Mr. Recorder. Pray, Sir, what can you fay ?

Walton. As to the Body of the Caufe, I have

nothing to fay. I have not feen Mr. Atkins thefe

two Years j but there having been fome Friend

-

fhip between us, I had a mind to fee him, and

fent a particular Friend to defirc him to appoint a

Meeting.

L. C. J. When ?

Walton. At Mount Horeh.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord doth not ask Where,
but When, at what Time ?

Walton. At Two of the Clock.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Day ?

Walton. The Twelfth of October.

Z, C. J. How come you to remember the Day ?

Walton. I will tell you my Reafon, my Lord.

When I heard that this Gentleman was in this un-

happy Affair, I faid, How much better had it

been for him to have been in my Company, that

I might have vouched for him. But you [Point-

ing to the Prifoner.] did appoint, you know, Sir, to

meet me. And 1 took Cognizance of this Affair,

Ipeaking to a particular Friend.

L. C. J. How long after was this ?

Walton. When the Tidings were, he was taken

Prifoner.

Air. Att. Gen. A great while agone, my Lord.

L. C. J. How long after Sir Edmundbury Godfrey

was murdered ?

Mr. Att. Gen. About a Fortnight.

L. C. J. Was there a Dinner befpoke ?

Walton. I befpoke one for him ; he knew no-

thing of it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did he appoint to be there that

Day?
Walton. Yes, he did. I think he will not de-

ny it ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you fend a Meffenger to

him ?

Walton. Yes, I did.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Anfwer had you ?

Walton. He brought me Word, he would come
at two of the Clock to me.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you befpeak the Dinner for

him, and did you pay for it?

Walton. I never gave him any Account what
was to be for Dinner.

Mr. Att. Gen. But let this Evidence go as far as

it will. This Gentleman had a mind to meet him

;

fent a Meffenger to him to meet him > he appoint-

ed at Two of the Clock -, and he befpoke a Din-

ner for him, but he came not. Now we ufe it

thus. I defire to know of him, when was the

Meffage fent ? How long before that Day ? Or
was it the Day before?

Walton. It was a Week before.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Day before ?

Walton. It was a Week before.

Mr. Att. Gen. Can you remember what Day ?

Walton. I do not, for I had no Diffatisfacrion

becaufe he did not come.

Sam. Atkins. Will your Lordfhip give me leave

to ask him one Queftion ? I own, Sir, you fent to

me by a School-fellow, about a Week before, and
defired me to appoint a Day to meet you, and I

appointed this Day, and that for this Reafon, I

knew my Mafter would be then out of Town, and
fo I thought I could conveniently meet you ; but
it being Ten Days before, I entirely forgot it ; but
can prove by feveral Witneffes, where I did dine
that Day, which I defire may be called. But
now, my Lord, this Gentleman is upon his Oath
who is a Proteftant, and was my Schoolmafter, I

defire him to declare whether I was bred a Pro-
teftant, or no ; and whether my Friends were fo

or no ?

L. C. y. How was he bred, Sir ?

Walton. He was bred up in the Proteftant Re-
ligion, my Lord.

L. C. y. Were his Father and Mother Pro-

teftants ?

Walton. Yes, my Lord, they were fo, and I

know them very well.

Sam. Atkins. Pray, Sir, declare whether I was
not only bred a Proteftant, but whether I was not

fo alfo when I left your School ?

Walton. Yes, my Lord, he was always a Pro-

teftant, and a very zealous one too.

L. C. y. There is very much in that.

Mr. yujl. Wild. Where is this Mount Horeb ?

Mr. Recorder. It is in Pudding-Lane, at one Mr.
Appleby's.

L. C. y. Well, have you any thing more, Mr.
Attorney ?

Mr. Att. Gen. No, my Lord, I have no more
to fay, till I hear what Defence the Prifoner

makes.

L. C. y. Then, Mr. Atkins, you have Liberty

to defend your felf.

Sam. Atkins. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, I hope I fhall in my Defence proceed very

inoffenfively towards God, and towards this

Court. Firft, towards God (before whom I am,

in whofe Prefence I muft appear, and before

whom I can proteft my Innocence as to what is

charged upon me) in that I fhall declare nothing

but what is true : And towards this Court in the

next Place, becaufe I intend to deliver my felf

with all the Refpecl and Submiffion to it, that

becomes a Prifoner. My Lord, this Gentleman,

Mr. Atkins, who hath brought this Accufation

againft me, is a Man whom I have kept from
Perifhing, I fuppofe he will own it himfelf •, I

Petitioned, Solicited for him, and was inftru-

mental in getting him out of Prifon for a FacT,

which I fhall by and by tell you. And though

this, my Lord, may feem againft me, yet by
and by.

L. C. y. Hold, you miftake, Mr. Atkins, he

does you no Mifchief at all, for he faith no more
than, that he hath been difcourftng withyou about the

Plot, and you faid Sir Edmundbury Godfrey had

very much injured your Mafter ; and that you de-

fired to know, if he were acquainted with a flout

Man ; and asked particularly of Mr. Child, and

bid him fend him to your Mafter ; and he faid after-

wards, he had been there, and would have engaged

him tojoin in a Murder. All which is nothing to

the Purpofe.

Sam.
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Sam. Atkins. But I never had any fiich Difcourfe

with him, my Lord.

L. C. J.
If you had, or had not, it is no matter,

you need not labour your Defence as to any thing

he fays.

Sam. Atkins. I proteft before God Almighty, I

know nothing of it.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But what fay you to Mr. Bed-

low's Teftimony ? Did you fee the Body of Sir

Edmundbtiry Godfrey at Somcrfet-Houfe ?

Sam. Atkins. No, my Lord ; I am fo far from

that, that in all my Lite I was never in the

Houfe.

L. C. J. Then call a couple of WitnefFes to

prove where you were that Monday Night, the

14th of OSlober, and you need not trouble yourfelf

any further.

Sam. Atkins. There is Captain Vittles, and his

whole Company.

L. C. J. Can any of thefe fay where you were

the 14th of Ottober ; if they can, a couple of them

is enough. Who is this ?

Sam. Atkins. This is the Captain, my Lord.

L. C. J. What is your Name ?

1 Copt. Vittles. My Name is Fifties.

L.C.J. Do you know Mr. Atkins the Pri-

foner ?

Copt. Vittles. Yes, very well.

L. C. J. How long have you known him ?

Capt. Vittles. Thefe Fourteen Years.

L. C. J. Can you tell where he was the 14th of

OEi'obcr ?

Capt. Vittles. I can tell you by feveral Circum-

fiances, that your. Lordftup fhall underftand, that

I do remember the Day.

L. C. J. Why, you cannot tell what Day of

the Week it was.

Capt. Vittles. Yes, I can, it was of a Mon-

day.

L. C. J. Where was he on Monday ?

Capt. Vittles. The King was pleafed to com-

mand me to go to Antwerp^ to carry over fome

Officers of the King's to the Garriibn ; I re-

turned back the 6th of Oofuber, which was Sun*

day.

Mr. Juft. Jones. How come you to remember

the Days fo exactly ?

L. C. J. Mariners are very exact and punctual;

they keep Accounts of every Day, and have Jour-

nals of all Pafiages.

Capt. Vittles. Ay, my Lord, and I have it here

in my Pocket : The 6tn Day I arrived at Green-

wick, which was Sabbath- Day, and that Day I

would not come a-fhore^ but I let it alone while

Monday, which was the 7th Day ; then, my
Lord, I went and appeared, and gave an Ac-

count to the Secretary of what I had done, ac-

cording to my In ft ructions, to fee whether he

had any further Service to command me. At
prefent, the Secretary told me, No ; lb I told him
I would go down to the Yatch, and wait His

Majefty's Commands; and there I flayed till

Thurfday, and on Friday the Secretary, 1 think,

v/as going out of Town to Newmarket, and fo

] could receive no Orders from him, but was to

ftay till he came back. On the Monday follow-

ing I came up about Eleven of the Clock, and

I met with Mr. Atkins at the Office he had at

his Mailer's the Secretary's; faid I, I am glad

you are at home ; and, faid he, I am glad you
are not gone, for there are a couple of Gentle-

women that defire to fee a Yatch, and if you

will go down, 1 will come down too., and bring

down my Friends by and by : Said I, I am glad

I am in a way to ferve you, and you fhall be

welcome to what I have. So I difappointed two
or three Friends that I had appointed to meet at

Billingsgate, that I might get my Boat ready;

When I came a-board, I order'd my Men to

clean it, and I got ready fome Provifions, fuch

as I had : But in the mean time my young Lord
Berkely and his Men came to fee the Yatch in

the Afternoon, where lhe lay then at Greenwich,

over-againit the College; and I being glad of
fuch a Gentleman's Company, entertained him
with a Bottle or two of Wine, and what the

Ship would afford, and when he went away, I

fired five Guns. And when he was gone, I was
walking upon the Deck ; and I wonder, faid I

to my Men who were with me, that Mr. At-
kins doth not come; he told me he would be

here with fome Friends; I will go a-fhore if he
does not come quickly. And fo, if it fhall

like your Honour, I ftay'd an Hour longer

;

and, faid I, if he doth not come in half an Hour,
I will go a-fhore; and I was ready to go, when
I faw a Boat at a diftance, and then faid I, I

will ftay, for I believe that is the Boat; and it

proved fo. It was Two of the Clock when my
Lord went away, and it was then half an Hour
paft Four, or thereabouts. So when he came:

a-board, his two Friends came a-board with him,
and went down into the Cabbin, and drank a

Glais of Wine, fuch as we had ; and the Wine
being good, and juft come from beyond Seas,-

we drank till Seven of the Clock, and I would
not let them go. Then, faid he, I will not

keep the Boat upon Charge here; No, you need

not, faid I, my Boat fhall fee you a-fhore. So
he difcharged the B0.1t, which was, I fay, about

Seven o' clock, and fo about Eight or Nine
o' clock we had drunk till we were a little warm ;

and the Wine drinking pretty frefh, and being

with our Friends, we did drink freely, till it was
indeed unfeafonable : I muft beg your Lord-
fhip's Pardon, but fb it was; and at half an Flour

pair Ten, I ordered my Men to go off with the

Boat of four Oars, that belonged to the Yatch,

and that would go much fwiftcr than any other

Boats, and I put him into the Boat very much
fuddled. Now, my Lord, away goes he, with
four of my Men (they are here) and I ordered

them, Pray, faid I, put a-fhore Mr. Atkins and
his Friends where they will go a-fhore. So I

went to fleep when he was gone; and the next

Day in the Morning, when the Boat came a-

board, faid I, Where did you put a-fhore Mr.
Atkins and the two Gentlewomen? At Billings-

gatey faid they. Why fo, laid I ? Which way
would they get home ? for I knew Mr. Atkins

was very much in drink. Why, faid they, the

Tide was fo ftrong at the Bridge, that we could

not get thro' with our Boat. Now it flowed

that lame Night till twelve Minutes paft Ten 5

fo that it muft be near half an Flour paft Ten
when they went away.

Mr. Juft. Wild. What, it flowed there at paft

Ten ?

Capt. Vittles. Yes it did.

L. C. J. Mr. Bedlow, what Time of the Night-

was it, that you were at Somerfet-Houfe ?

Bedlow. It was betwixt Nine and Ten.

L. C. J. He was on Shipboard then.

Mr.
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Mr. Juft. Wild. He was very fober, that you

fpoke withal, was not he ?

Bedlow. Yes, very fober, my Lord.

L. C. J. Then call another Witnefs, one of

your Men, and we have done.

Capt. Vittles. Give the Word for the Boatfwain

Tribbett.

L. C. J. Did the Women pledge you, Cap-

tain ?

Capt. Vitiles. Pledge me, my Lord

!

L. C. J. Ay, did they drink with you ?

Capt. Vittles. Ay, and drink to us too, my
Lord.

L. C. J. Thofe be your Men that (land there ?

[He, and feveral other of the Ship's Company were

there.'] Whither did you carry Mr. Atkins when-

your Captain commanded you to fet him a-

fhore ?

tribbett. To Billingsgate.

L. C. J. What Time of Night came you

there ?

Tribbett. At half an Hour pad Eleven.

L. C. J. What Time &A you carry him from

the Yatch ?

Tribbett. It was about half an Flour paft Ten
o' clock.

L. C. J. What Day of the Week was it ?

Tribbett. It was on a Monday.

L. C J. Well, you need not trouble your

felves any more.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, in this Matter, it is

in vain to contend in a Fact that is plain. But I

would defire (becaufe fome perhaps will make an ill

Ufe of it) that they would pleale to take notice,

here is no difproving the King's Evidence. For
Mr. Bedlow did not at firft, nor doth he now,

charge him directly to be the Man : So that who-
ever reports, That the King's Evidence is difprov-

ed, will raife a very falfe Rumour.
L C. J. No, no ; it is fo much otherwife, that

for all he hath laid herein, he is the more to be

credited in his Teftimcny ; and Mr. Atkins need-

ed not to make any Defence, but muft have come
off without any, upon what Mr. Bedlow fays for

him.

Mr. Att. Gen. So likewife for the firft Man,
all that he fays confifts together, and may be true,

and yet Mr. Atkins innocent.

L. C. J. So it may.

Mr. Att. Gen. I defire the Company may not go
away with a Miftake, as if the King's Evidence
were disproved.

L. C. J. Not in a Tittle.

Mr. sltt. Gen. Then I have done, my Lord.
L. C. J. No, I will tell you how it did arife.

It aroie from the Jealoufy of the Murder of
Sir Edmnndbury Godfrey, and Perfons were wil-

ling to lay hold on any Opportunity to find it

out. And Mr. Bedlow was told fuch a Man
fhould be his Fellow to help him to carry away
the Body; and hearing of fuch a N-ime, thought

it pofiible it might be fuch a one-, and he own-
ing himfelf to bear that Name, and to be

Mr. Pepys's Clerk, when he gave in his Infor-

mation, the People, who were put into fuch

Alarms as thefe, were very ready to catch at it.

Therefore no Body was to blame for purfuing'

Bedlow's Evidence. He faid nothing then, but

what he fays now, and that is nothing at all po-

fitive, which is all true, and yet Mr. Atkins doth

appear to be a very innocent Man in this Mat-
ter.

Then the Jury confulted together at the Bar,

agreed.

and

CI. of the Cr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed of !

your Verdict ?

Omnes. Yes.

CI. of the Cr. Who fhall fpeak for you ?

Omnes. Our Foreman.
CI. of the Cr. Samuel Atkins, hold up thy Hand.

[Which he did.~\ Look upon him. How lay you,

is he Guilty of the Felony and Murder whereof f

he Hands Indiiled, or Not Guilty?

Foreman. Not Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. Did he fly for it ?

Foreman. Not that we know of.

Sam. Atkins. God blefs the King, and this Ho-
nourable Bench. [On his Knees.]

CI. of the Cr. Samuel Atkins, hold up thy Hand.
[Which he did.] Look upon the Prifoner. How
lay you, is he Guilty of the Felony, as Acceflary

to the Murder, as he Hands Indicted, or Not
Guilty ?

Foreman. Not Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. Did he fly for it ?

Foreman. Not that we know of.

Sam. Atkins. God blefs the King, and this Ho-
nourable Bench. [On his Knees.]

CI. of the Cr. Then hearken to your Verdict, as

the Court hath recorded it. You fay, that Samuel

Atkins is not Guilty of the Felony and Murder,

whereof he ftands Indicted •, nor that he did fly

for it. And you fay, that he is not Guilty, as Ac-

ceflary to the Felony and Murder whereof he ftands

Indicted, nor that he did fly for the fame; and fo

you fay all ?

Omnes. Yes.

L. C. J. Mr. Atkins, I fhould have been very

glad thai the reft, who have been condemned, had

been as innocent as you are ; and I do aflure you,

I wifh all Mankind had been innocent. For, if

any Proteftant had been guilty of fuch a thing as

this, it would have grieved me to the very Heart,

that any Proteftant fhould do fuch things, as

thofe Pnefts provoke their Profelytes to at this

Day.
Capt. Vittles. My Lord, here is his School-

mafter will give your Lordfhip an Account how

he was bred and brought up, and what a good-

condition'd young Man he was.

L. C. J. Well, well, Captain, go you and drink

a Bottle with him.

Then Mr. Atkins went from the Bar.

LXXXI. TM
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l|il§|IjHE 28 th of March, 1679, theAf-
^H^pi^|

£zes t,egan at Monmouth, 5ir i?^r/

f|f!>[T||?j$ ^f^'»J being fole Judge. A Grand

Ww*j^$0r
p\ Jury of Gentlemen was returned by

W^M&§k2i the Sheriff, and called, againft feveral

of whom Mr. Arnold and Mr. Price

excepted, and fo put by, as fuch they conceived

might befriend me; a Challenge not known be-

fore •, for in the Cafe between the Marquis ofWor-

cefier, and the Tenants of Wentwood, upon a

Riot, Henry Williams, Eiq; and others would have

excepted againft fome of that Grand-Jury, the

fame Judge Atkins then pofitively laid, It was

ridiculous and not ufual to challenge out of a

Grand-Jury. At laft a Jury was fwofn, and an

Indictment drawn up againft me, upon the Sta-^

tute of the 27th Eliz. and preferred to the

Grand-Jury. That Evening, being Friday, I was
arraigned upon that Bill, to which I pleaded,

Not guilty. The next Day, about ten of the

Clock in the Morning, the Judge came from the

Niji prius Side, and fat at the Crown Side, and

I at the fame Time being brought to the Bar,

the Crier made Proclamation for Silence, that a

Jury for Life and Death might be impannelled,

and I made my Challenges •, prefently a Jury
from the other Bar was called, which was not

ufual, and 1 to challenge, the Judge telling me,

I might challenge without Hindrance ; by guefs

I challenged three 3 but out of that Nifi prius

Jury called to the Crown Bar, and that by
Mr. Arnola's own Suggeftion, who had a ftrong

Influence upon the Judge as being his Kinfman,
and fitting at his right Hand, divers were ex-

cepted by Mr. Arnold; whereupon^ to make up
the July, the Judge commanded the High-She-
riff to call in iome, and he called many, and of
thofe, ftill Mr. Arnold excepted, as either being
of my Neighbourhood, or Acquaintance, for

there being many in the Country ; the Sheriff

feeing fo many of his calling excepted, he de-

fired Mr. Arnold himfelf • mould call whom he
plealed ; whereat the Judge checked the Sheriff,'

and he faid he was faucy : At laft, with much
Difficulty, a Jury was impannelled, a Jury now
contriv'd, of none but fuch as pleafed Mr. Arnold,-

principal Profecutof againft me, which was very
hard, and an ignorant Jury it was withal

:'

The Jury being impannell'd, it was fworn,
the Indictment read, and Witnefies called*

thus :

Clerk of the AJJlzes. David Lewis, hold up thy
Hand.

Here thou ftandeft indicted of High-Treafon,
Vo L. II.

by the Name ofDavid Lewis, for that thou, be-

ing a natural Subject of the King of England,

haft pafs'd beyond Seas, and haft taken Orders

from the Church and See of Rome, and haft re-

turned back again into England, and continued

upwards of forty Days, contrary to the Statute

27 Eliz. in that Cafe made and provided, which

by the faid Statute is High-Treafon. What haft

thou to fay for thy felf ? Art thou Guilty, or Not
guilty ?

Prifoner. Not Guilty.

Clerk. By whom wilt thou be try'd ?

Prifoner. By God and my Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Clerk. Crier, call William Price, Dorothy James,

Maney Trott, John James, Catharine Thomas. He
calls them, and they all appear. Then fays the

Clerk to the Crier, fwear them * And he fware

them all.

Judge. (Sir Robert Atkins.) William Price, Look
on the Prifoner, do you know him ?

Price. Yes, my Lord, I do know him.

Judge. "What have you to fay of him ?

Price. My Lord, about a Year and a half ago
I faw him at Mrs. Bartlet's Houfe, at a Place cal-

led Cajlle-Morton in Worcefierfhire, and there I

heard him read Mafs, I was at ConfefTion with him,
and I received the Sacrament from him, according

to that Way.
Judge. Was there any Altar, or any Crucifixes

or Copes ?

Yes, my Lord, that there were.

How many Times did you fee him ?

But that once, my Lord.

Were you of that Way then ?

Yes, my Lord, upwards of Eighteen

Price.

Judge,

Price.

Judge.

Price.

Years.

Judge.

Price.

Judge.

What are you now ?

A Proteftant, my Lord.

Well, Mr. Lewis, what have you to fay

to this ?

Prifoner. With your Lordfhip's Leave, I will

anfwer all together.

Judge. Very good, you do well, if will be fo

much the fhorter. Dorothy James, look on the

Prifoner, do you know him ?

Dorothy. Yes, my Lord.

Judge. What have you to fay of him ?

Dorothy. My Lord, I faw him fay Mafs, take

Confeflions, give the Sacrament, Marry, Chri-

ften, and heard him Preach in the Englifh and
Welch.

Judge. Were there Altar and Crucifixes ?

Dorothy. Yes, my Lord 3 Altars, Crucifixes^

5 K Chalicesj,



8o2 81. The Trial of David Lewis a Jefuit, 3 1 Car.IL

Chalices, and fuch other Things belonging to that

Way.
Arnold. Did you fee him give that they call Ex-

treme Untlion ?

Dorothy. Yes, that I did, to my Uncle, my
Father's Brother.

Judge. Do you know what Extreme Unction

is?

Dorothy. Yes, that I do, it is anointing fick

People with Oil, when they are dying.

Judge. It's right ; that's another Sacrament of

their Church, grounding themfelves upon thefe

Words of St. James, as I take it, Ifany beftck among

you, let him be anointed: Bat that was in the Times

of Miracles only.

Arnold. Did he take upon him to free Souls from

Purgatory ?

Dorothy. Yes, that he did, and he had of me
eight Pounds in Silver, and one Piece of Gold, to

free my Father's Soul.

Prifoner. God is my Witnefs, to my beft Know-
ledge, i never had one fingle Piece of any Money
from her, or her Husband, upon any/Account

whatfoever.

Judges Have you anymore to fay ?

Dorothy. No, my Lord. [And with that Jhe

laughed at the Bar.~\

Judge
1

. How now, Woman ! do you make a

Laughing-game of it?- Carry your felf more mo-
deft, for the Gentleman is for his Life, and it is

no jelling matter. Well, William James, look up-

on the Prifoner. Do you know the Prifoner ? and

what have you to fay of him ?

William Jamis. Yes, my Lord, I do know him,

and I have feen him read Mafs many Times, and

take Confeffions, and give the Sacrament, and

Chriften, and Marry.

Judge. Have you any more to fay ?

William James. No, my Lord.

Judge. Mr. Trott, what have you to fay of the

Prifoner? did you ever hear him read Mafs?

Was he reputed commonly a Jefuit, or Popifh

Prieft?

Trott. Yes, my Lord, he was commonly re-

puted fo, and I heard him often read Mafs; and

1 faw him marry Mr. Gunter's Daughter to Mr.
Body.

Judge. Were you then of that Religion ?

Trott. My Lord, I was deluded by my Wife
out of the Proteftant Religion, and was a Papift

during her Life-time.

Judge. Are you of that Religion ftill
?-'

Trott. No, my Lord. When I faw their wicked

Defigns to kill my Gracious King, I abhorr'd their

Traiterous Proceedings, and left them, and am
now a Proteftant, in which I fhall continue.

Judge. You do well.

Arnold. My Lord, there is Mr. Roger Sayes, a

very material Witnefs.

_Judge. Crier, fwear him. Mr. Sayes, what

have you to fay againft the Prifoner ?

Sayes. My Lord, I was employed with others,

on the 1 6th of November laft, to go and fearch

for him, and we found him, and took him,

with feveral Popifh Things, which we carried

away, &c.

Judge. Did you fee him at Mafs.

Sayes. No, my Lord.

Judge. Then fit down. What have you to fay,

John James ? What, are you dead, or afraid to be

whipt ? Look upon me, and fpeak out.

John James. He married me and my Wife.

Judge. Is that all you know ? Did you fee him
at Mafs.

John James. I know no more.

Judge. Catharine Thomas, did you fee him at

Mafs ? Why do not you fpeak, Woman ? Speak,.

Woman.
Catharine Thomas. Yes. I have no more to fay,

do what you pleafe with me,
Arnold. My Lord, there is one Cornelius irx>

Court, I fee him, who was Clerk.

Judge. Crier, call him, fwear him. Well,..

Cornelius, did you ever fee the Prifoner at Mafs ?~

Cornelius. I am an ignorant Fellow, -I know not
what Mafs is.

William James. My Lord,- he was his Clerk.

Cornelius. No, I was his Servant.

Judge. Well, fit down. Mr. Lewis, now what
have you to fay to all thefe WitnefTes, for your
felf?

Prifoner. My Lord, my Indictment was, That
being a Natural SubjecT: of the King of England,.

I was Ordained beyond the Seas, by a Jurifdicti-

on derived from the See of Rome, and return-

ed back again into England, &c. contrary tO'*

the Statute in that Cafe made and provided, 27
Eliz. Under your Lordfhip's Favour, I conceive

that there has not been here any one Witnefs,

who hath proved the Indictment, or any Part

thereof.

Judge. What then ? Do you expect that we
fhould fearch the Records at Rome, or mould bring

Perfons to prove, that they faw you ordained

there ? No, Sir ; it is enough that you have ex-

ercifed the Function of a Prieft, in Copes and
Veftments ufed in your Church, and that you have
read Mafs, taken Confeffions, given Abfolutions,

Married, and Chriftened ; if all this will not make
you a Prieft, what will? I have tried feveral

Popifh Priefts, but never met with fo full a Proof

as this now.

Prifoner. All thefe Things fuppofed proved,

will not make me a Prieft, unlefs proved to be

performed by me, as one Ordained beyond the

Seas, by the Jurifdiction derived from the See.

of Rome; for the very Miniftry of the Church
of England take fpecial Confeffions, and give

formal Abfolutions; many, in cafe of Neceffity,,

Chriften, tho' no Priefts; and lately, the Coun-
try knows it, one, no Popifh Prieft, folemnly

married a Couple ; neither can one prove to

have feen me read Mafs,. unlefs it be proved firft,

That I was Ordained beyond the Seas, by a

Jurifdiction derived from the See of Rome ; for,,

no fuch Ordination, no Prieft ; and, no Prieft,

no Mafs.

Judge. To difprove all thefe Witnefles, by fay-

ing, it cannot be proved you were Ordained be-

yond the Seas, by a Jurifdiclion derived from the

See of Rome.,, is as much as that faying, Bellarm'me^.

thou lyeft.

Prifoner. My Lord, were it proved that I read

Mafs, that were not Treafon in me, for I am in-

formed, that it were but the Forfeiture of 200

Marks, by a Statute of 23 Eliz.

Judge. 'Tis true, who hears Mafs, forfeits one

Hundred Marks, But he that ufes to read it, commits

Treafon : But thefe are the Tricks of you all,

yet all will not do : Have you any thing elfe to

Prifoner. With your Lordfhip's Leave, now I

defire to fpeak fomething to the Evidence of every

particular Witnefs.

Judge.
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He ivas a Divarf.

Judge. Speak then.

Prifoner. My Lord, as to the firft Witnefs,

price ; as I hope to be faved, to the beft of my
Memory, I never law him, till this very Day, be-

fore. 1 never knew or heard before now of that

Mrs. Bartlet, or of that Place Cqftle-Morton; I ne-

ver was in that Place all my Life-time ; nay, I

never was in Worcefierfhire, or in any Houfe in

Worccfterjhire, but twice, the laft Time whereof

•was about five Years ago -, and that was but at my
Inn in Worcefter Town, where, with a Servant, I

alighted, befpoke my Supper, went to the Coffee-

houfe, drank two Dimes of Coffee, read the

Gazette, returned to my Inn again, Supped, went

to Bed, next Morning bought fome few Books at

the Stationers, Dined, took Horfe, returned home

again : This is all the being I ever was in Wor-

cefterfhire.

Judge. Look upon him, do you know him ?

Price. Yes, my Lord, he is the Man.

Judge. Have you any more to fay ?

Prifoner. Yes, my Lord. Mr. Trot was married

to a Kinfwoman of mine, and fhe was a confide-

derable Fortune to him, which he having fpent

very idly, and Ihe dying, he went to London,

where finding an Employment at Court, and

there having done fome unhandfom Things, he

was banifhed the Court, and now lives upon

the Charity of Gentlemen and Friends for his

Bread ; fo that with good Reafon it may be be-

lieved, it is rather Poverty and hope of Gain,

than any thing elfe, that brings him here to ac-

cufe me.
Judge. Paupertas ad Turpia

Cogit. Little Gentleman, what

can you fay to this?

Trot. My Lord, I was over with the King, and

he commanded me to attend him at Whitehall

on his Reftoration, where I came when I returned,

and I was received into his Service, but was

never banifhed the Court, only I came away upon
Difcontent, and ftill I may go there when I pleafe :

My Lord, I am defirous to do my King and
Country good Service, but I am in danger of
my Life amongft them, and muft look to my
felf.

Judge. Ay, Mr. Trot, have a care of yourfelf,

you do well. Mr. Lewis, have you any more to

fay for yourfelf?

Prifoner. My Lord, Dorothy James, and William

James her Husband, their Evidence is grounded
upon plain Malice, and that Malice thus ground-
ed •, They pretending I owed them Money, they

fued me in Chancery ; but after a considerable

Charge at Law, finding themfelves not like fo to

prevail, then they fell to threatning me, that they

would have me in Hand, that they would make
me repent, that fhe would never give over to

profecute againft me, till fhe had wafhed her

Hands in my Heart's Blood, and made Potage
of my Head.

Judge. Can you prove that ?

Prifoner. Yes, my Lord, that I can.

Judge. Call your Witneffes then.

Prifoner. Crier, call Richard Jones, Anne Wil-
liams, Anne James, and Catharine Cornelius.

Judge. What can you fay, Richard Jones?
Richard Jones. I heard William James fay, he

would make Mr. Lewis repent.

Judge. Anne Williams, what can you fay ?

Anne Williams. I heard from feveral Perfons,
tnat Dorothy James faid to feveral Perfons, in and
Vol. II.

about Carlion, that fhe would wafh her Hands
in Mr. Lewis his Blood, and that fhe would

have his Head to make Potage of, as of a Sheep's

Head.

Catharine Cornelius. My Lord, and I heard the

fame.

Judge. Anne James, what can you fay ?

Anne James. I heard Dorothy James fwear, that

fhe would warn her Hands in Mr. Lewis's Heart's

Blood.

Judge. Where did you hear her fay fo ?

Anne James. I heard her fay fo in her own
Houfe, at the Fire-fide, when I lived with her.

Judge. Well, Mr. Lewis, all this will not do,

all will not excufe you from being a Prieft j or

were you a Hypocrite ?

Prifoner. My Lord, I am a Native of this

Country.

Judge. What, of this Country ?

Prifoner. Yes, my Lord, of this Country ; and
thofe Years I lived in this Country, I lived with

the Reputation of an honeft Man, amongft all

honeft Gentlemen and Neighbours.

Judge. Well, Mr. Lewis, have you any more
to fay ?

Prifoner. My Lord, Mr. Sayes was fworn

Witnefs againft me, I defire to ask him one
Qucftion.

Judge. Do fo.

Prifoner. Mr. Sayes, when you took me, was
there a Juftice of Peace with you, at taking of

me?
Sayes. No.
Prifoner. My Lord, with this Opportunity I

humbly beg leave to clear my felf from a foul

Afperfion, wherewith I am calumniated over the

whole Nation, in a Printed Pamphlet, which

Pamphlet I can here produce-, and wherein there

is not one Line of Truth. For it fays at the

End of it, that I was taken by a Juftice of Peace,

and others, in a Place cunningly contriv'd, un-

der a Clay-Floor, which Mr. Sayes knows to be

untrue, and whereas it alledges, That I cheated a

Poor Woman of Thirty Pounds, to redeem her

father's Soul out of Purgatory, the Pamphlet
names neither the Woman nor her Husband, nor

her Father, nor the Place nor Time, when nor

where.

Judge. Does it not ?

Prifoner. No, my Lord ; fo that the whole
Pamphlet is one entire Lye, deviled by fome foolifh

Malice.

Judge. Mr. Lewis, I, for my part, do not be-

lieve it to be true. Have you any more to fay ?

Prifoner. No more, my Lord.

Judge. Then withdraw and repofe. Gentle-

men of the Jury, Here he ftands indicted, &c.
[And fumm'd up the whole Evidence.] if you be-

lieve what the Witneffes fwore, you muft find

the Prifoner guilty of High-Treafon ; you have

heard what was proved againft him, therefore go
together.

Prifoner. My Lord, before the Jury go, I de-

fire to fpeak fomething, which now occurs unto

me, and is material againft the Evidence of

Price.

Judge. Jury, ftay.

Prifoner. This very Morning that Price came

to my Chamber, with the Goaler (it feems it was

to view me) he took a Turn about the Room,
all the Time eying me ; at his going out, he

was ask'd by the Goaler, whether I was the

5 K 2 Man
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Man he meant ? and he anfwered, If I was he,

I was much changed, and if I was he, I had black

fhort curled Hair ?

Judge. Can you prove that ?

Prifoner. Yes, my Lord

Judge. Where are your WitnefTes ?

Prifoner. Crier, call Elizabeth J'ones; and Charles

Edwards.

Judge. Woman, what can you fay to this?

Eliz. Jones. My Lord, Price this Morning,

after he had view'd the Gentleman in his Cham-
ber, as he was going out he faid, If he be the

Man, he is much changed, and hath black curled

fhort Hair ; which is not fo.

Judge. Charles Edwards, what can you fay ?

Edwards, I heard Price fay the fame Words
fhe relates.

Judge. Where is Price ? Crier, call him. But

he was not be found, being gone out of the Hall.

(This was the Trick of Coleman, to afperfe die

WitnefTes.)

Here the Jury went out, and immediately returned

again.

Clerk. Are you agreed of your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fpeak for you ?

Jury. Foreman.

Clerk. David Lewis, hold up thy Hand. .Do

you find the Prifoner Guilty, or not Guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

Judge. Have you anv more to fay ?

Prifoner. No more, my Lord.

Clerk. David Lewis, hold up thy Hand.

Judge. Give me my Cap. David Lewis, thou

fhalt be led from this Place, to the Place from

whence thou cameft, c5c. [As ufual in Cafes of

High-Treafon.] fo the Lord have Mercy on thy

foul.

Then I made a Bow to the Judge, and the

Court arofe.

Afterwards, Aug. 27, 1679, he was executed

according to the Sentence, at Uske in Monmouth-

fhire, where he fpake as follows.

ERE is a numerous AfTembly, I fee •, the

geat Saviour of the World fave every Soul

of you all •, I believe you are here met not only

to fee a Fellow-Native die, but alfo with Expec-

tation to hear a dying Fellow-Native fpeak. If

you expected it not, at leaft I intended it, I hope

the Favour will not be denied me, it being a

Favour fo freely granted to feveral late dying Per-

fons in London it felf. I fhall endeavour to fpeak

inofFenfively ; I hope the fame Favour will not be

denied me.

Let none ofyou fuffer as a Murderer or a Thief,

but if as Chrijlian, let him not be afloamed : St.

i^r'sWords, 1 Pet. iv. 15, 16. I hope by God's

Holy Spirit now whifper'd to my Memory,
and that to my abundant Confolation ; for I fufFer

not as a Murderer, Thief, or fuch like Male-

factor, but as a Chriftian, and therefore am not

afhamed. /

I diftinguifh two forts of Life on Earth, Life-

moral, and Life-natural ; Life-moral is that by

which we live with good Repute in the Efteem

of other Men of Integrity; Life-natural is that

by which we breathe ; in the firft fort or kind, I

thank God I have fufFer'd lately, and exceeding-

ly, when malicioufiy, falfly, and mod injurioufly*

I was branded lor a publick Cheat, in Pamphlet,
in Ballad, on Stage, and that in the Head City of
the Kingdom, yea, and over the whole Nation,

to the huge and great Detriment of my good
Name, which I always was as tender of, as the o*

ther I am now quitting.

The Pamphletical Story (believe my dying
Words) had no Truth in it, neither to Subftance,

nor Circumftance of the Thing ; a Story fo falfe,

that I could have eafily defied the Face that had
attempted to juftify it to my Face ; fb fordid a
Bufinefs, a Story lb ridiculous, that I wonder
how any fober Chriftian, at leaft who knew me,
could as much as incline to believe fo open an
Improbability ; who that Proteftant young Man
there mention'd was, I know not; who that

Popifh young Woman ; who the Father dead a
Year and a half before ; in what County, what
Parifh, were all tranfacted, I know not, none of
all thefe there particularized; and when in the

Face of the Country at laft Lent-AiTues, I vin-

dicated my Innocency herein, to the Satisfaction

of the then Judge himfelf, why appear'd not
there then fome one to make good the Charge,
and difable my Defence ? But none of this of-

fer'd ; a plain Demonftration to all candid Minds,
the Whole was a meer Fiction of fome malici-

ous Perfon againft me : God forgive them or
him, I heartily do. How forward my Endea-
vours always have been to my Power to relieve

the Poor, and not directly to defraud them, im-
partial Neighbours that know me can tell you >

befides this, during my nine Months Imprifon-

ment, feveral foul and falfe Afperfions were caft

out againft me, and that by thole unto whom,
for full thirty Years, I had been charitably fer-

viceable: God forgive them, I heartily do.

Yet notwithstanding all thefe Calumniations, I

hope I ftill retain the Character of an honeft Man
amongft Gendemen of Worth, with whom I con-

verfed, and with all Neighbours of Honcfty, with

and amongft whom I lived.

And now I am parting with the other Life by
which I breathe, behold that within thefe few

Moments of Time is to unbreathe me ; but why
thus fledg'd to this Country-23^ar« -

? Why this

fo untimely Death of mine ? Have Patience, and

I'll tell you ; not for any Plotting, I aflure you ;

and what I fhall now fay, as to that, God is my
Witnefs, I fhall fpeak without any Equivocation,

mental Refervation, or Palliation of Truth whac-

fbever.

By all that is facred in Heaven and Earth, I

here folemnly proteft, that I am as innocent from
any Plot whatever againft his Majefty's Perfon or

Government, as the Infant that left the Mother's

Womb but Yefterday ; neither did I ever hear or

know any thing directly or indirectly of any fuch

Plot, 'till publick Fame had fpread it over the

Country between Michaelmas and All-Saints Day
laft : This is true, as God fhall judge and fave

my Soul ; neither was there any Guilt of any

fuch black Crime found in me by Mr. Oates,

Mr. Bedlow, Mr. Dugdale, and Mr. Praunce,

when by them I was ftrictly examin'd on that

Point, laft May, in Newgate, London ; nay, had

I had the leaft knowledge or hint of fuch Plot,

I had been as zealoufiy nimble in the Difcovery

of it, as any the moft loyal Subject his Majefty

hath in his Three Kingdoms ; wherefore, when

I am dead and gone, if fome Malevolent give

our,
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our, I lofe my Life for Plotting, by Charity ftrive

to difengage him of his Miftake ; do that Right

to my dead Afbes.

I was never taught that Doctrine of King-kill-

incr, from my Soul I detefl and abhor it as exe-

crable, and directly oppofite to the Principles of

the Religion I profefs; what that is, you (hall

know by-and-by *, it being the pofitive Defini-

tion of the Council of Conjlance, That it is dam-

nable for any Subject, or private Perfon, or any

iSubjects in Council joined, to murder his or

'their lawful King or Prince, or ufe any publick

lor clandestine Confpiration againft him, tho' the

|faid King or Prince were a Turk, Apoftate, Per-

jiecutor, yea, or a Tyrant in Government: Ne-

iver tell me of Clement the Murderer of Henry the

Third of France; never tell me of Ravilliac,

Murderer of Henry the Fourth of France ; they

did fo, but wickedly they did fo, and for it

they were punifh'd to Severity, as Malefactors

;

and for it, to this very Day, are ftigmatiz'd by

all Roman Catholicks for very Mifcreants and Vil-

lains. I hope you will not charge the whole Ro-

man Catholick Body with the Villanies of fome

few Defperadoes: By that Rule, all Chriftiani-

ty mult be anfwerable for the Treafon of Judas ;

for my part, I always lov'd my King, I always

'honour'd his Perfon, and I daily pray'd for his

Profperity; and now, with all unfeign'd Cordi-

ality, I fay it, God blefs my gracious King and

lawful Prince, Charles II. King of England, and

Prince of Wales, God blefs him temporally and

.eternally, God preferve him from all his real

Enemies, God direct him in all his Counfels, that

may tend to the greater Glory of the fame great
1

God ; and whatever late Plot hath been, or is,

the Father of Lights bring it to Light, the Con-

trivers of it, and the Actors in it, that fuch may
be brought to their condign Punimment, and In-

nocence preferved.

But why again this untimely Death ? My Reli-

gion is the Roman Catholick Religion, in it I have

liv'd above thefe Forty Years, in it I now die, and
fo fixedly die, that if all the good things in this

"World were offered me to renounce it, all fhould

not move me one Hair's Breadth from my Roman
Catholick Faith ; a Roman Catholick I am, a Ro-
man Catholick Prieft I am, a Roman Catholick

Prieft of that religious Order call'd The Society of

Jefus I am ; and I blefs God who firfl call'd me

;

and I blefs the Hour in which I was firfl called

both unto Faith and Function.

Pleafe now to obferve, I was condemn'd for

reading Mafs, hearing Confeffions, adminiftring

the Sacraments, anointing the Sick, Chriftning,

Marrying, Preaching: As for reading the Mais,

it was the old, and ftill is, the accuftomed and
laudable Liturgy of the Holy Church ; and all

the other Acts, which are Acts of Religion, tend-

ing to the Worfhip of God •, and for this dying,

I die for Religion : Moreover know, that when
laft May I was in London, under Examination
concerning the Plot, a prime Examinant told

me, that to fave my Life and increafe my For-
tunes, I muft make fome Difcovery of the Plot,

or conform ; difcover Plot I could not, for

I knew of none; conform I would not, becaufe

it was againft my Confcience; then by confe-

quence I muft die, and fo now dying, I die for

Confcience and Religion; and dying upon fuch

good Scores, as far as humane Fraiky permits, I

die with Alacrity interior and exterior ; from the
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abundance of the Heart, Jet not only Mouths, but

Faces alfo fpeak.

Here, methinks, I feel Flefh and Blood ready

to burft into loud Cries, Tooth for Tooth, Eye
for Eye, Blood for Blood, Life for Life ; No,
crieth holy Gofpel, Forgive, and youjhall be for-

given ; pray for thofe that perfecute you ; love your

Enemies ; and I profefs myieif a Child of the Gof-

pel, and the Gofpel I obey.

Whomever, prefent or abfent, I have ever of-

fended, I humbly defire them to forgive me ; as

for my Enemies, had I as many Hearts as I have

Fingers, with all thofe Hearts would I forgive my
Enemies, at leaftwife, with all that fingle Heart I

have, I freely forgive them all, my Neighbours
that betray'd me, the Perfons that took me, the

Juitiors that committed me, the WitnefTes that

,

prov'd againft me, the Jury that found me, the

Judge that condemn'd me, and others whoever,

that out of Malice or Zeal, covertly or openly,

have been con tributive to my Condemnation; but

fingularly and efpecially, I forgive my capital Per-

fecutor, who hath been fo long thirfting after my
Blood ; from my Soul I forgive him, and wifh his

Soul fo well, that were it in my Power, I would
feat him a Seraphim in Heaven, and I pray for

them in the Language of glorious St. Stephen the

Protomartyr; Lord, lay not this Sin unto them-, or

better yet, in the Style of our great Mafter, Chrift

himfelf, Fatherforgive them, they know not what
they do.

And with Reafbn I love them alfo ; for though
they have done themfelves a vaft Soul-prejudice,

yet they have done me an incomparable Favour,

which I mail eternally acknowledge ; but chief-

ly I love them for his fake, who laid, Love your
Enemies ; and in Teftimony of my Love, I wifh

them, and it is the beft of Wifhcs, from the

Center of my Soul, I wifh them a good Eter-

nity. O Eternity, Eternity ! How momenta-
nean are the Glories, Riches, and Pleafures of
this World ? and how defirable art thou, endlefs

Eternity ?

And for my faid Enemies attaining thereunto,

I humbly befeech God to give them the Grace

of true Repentance, before they and this World
part.

Next to my Enemies, give me leave to lift up
my Eyes, Hands, and Heart to Heaven, and drop
fome few Words of Advice unto, and for my
Friends, as well thofe prefent as abfent. Friends,

Fear God, Honour your King, be firm in your Faith,

avoid mortal Sin, by frequenting the Sacraments

of holy Church, patiently bear your Perfections

and Afflictions, forgive your Enemies, your Suf-

ferings are great ; I fay, be firm in your Faith to

the End, yea, even to Death, then fball ye heap
unto yourfelves Celeftial Treaiures in the heavenly

Jerufalem, where no Thief robbeth, no Moth eat-

eth, and no Ruft confumeth ; and have that blef-

fed Saying of the bleffed St. Peter, Prince of the

Apoftles, always in your Memory, which I hear-

tily recommend unto you, viz. Let none of you

fuffer as a Murderer or a Thief, but if as a Chri-

fiian let him not be afhamed, but glorify God in his

Name.
Now it is high time I make my Addrefles to

Heaven, and fupplicate the Divine Goodnefs m
my own Behalf, by fome few fhort and cordial.

Ejaculations of Prayers.

His Prayers being ended, he was turn'd off.

LXXXII. Zbe
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LXXXIL 7/V Tra/ a/Nathan a el Readin g*, /%;
y&r 1 Trefpafs #/^/ Mifdemeanour, April 14, 1679.

31 Car. II.

N Wednefday the 16th of April, 1679,

J His Majefty's Commiffioners of Oyer

j§ and Terminer did meet at Weftminfter-

f|§ /&//, in the Court of King's-Bench, when

and where the Commillion was read

;

and Proclamation for Attendance being made, and

the Grand-Jury fworn, Six James Butler, Her Ma-
jefty's Attorney General, and Chief Commiflioner

that then appeared, gave them their Charge thus :

Gentlemen,

His Majefty, upon the Addrefs of the Honour-

able Houfe of Commons, hath been pleafed to give

Order for this Commiflion of Oyer and Terminer

that hath been read, to ifTue out j and the Court

thereby hath Authority to inquire of, hear and de-

termine feveral other Offences: Yet, at this pre-

fent, you fhall have no other in Charge than the

particular Oifence recited in the Indictment in my
Hand. It is a Crime of an unufual and rare Na-
ture: The Indictment is againft Nathanael Reading;

it fets forth the Plot againft the King, the Go-
vernment, and the Religion eftabliflied here by

Law, the horrid and pernicious Mi fchiefs and Con-

fequences of it: It fets forth likewife, that feveral

Perfons, (and names them) as Coleman, Ireland and

Grove were Tried, Condemned, and Executed for

the fame: That feveral Lords in the Tower do
ftand Impeached in Parliament, of the faid High-
Treafon, and other High Crimes and Mifdemea-

nours ; and this was well known to Mr. Redding,

and that notwithftanding he hath fo misbehaved

himfelf, in endeavouring to lefTen and ftifle (as

much as in him lay) the King's Evidence, that if

it had not been happily prevented, might have

been of moft mifchievous Confequence. I fhall

not take upon me to recite the whole Indictment

to you, being very long, and not feen or perufed

by me till now ; but you fhall have the fame along

with you, it fhall be read to you. Your Duty is,

to examine and confider of the Evidence to be of-

fered you, on the Behalf of the King, for the

Proof of the Charge againft the Offender : If you
find it amount to a Proof of what is laid therein,

nay, I muft tell you, if you have but probable

Evidence, you ought to find the Bill, becaufe your

Prefentment and Verdict is not a Conviction, but

in the Nature of an Accufation, in order to bring

the Prifoner to a fair Trial : And if you do not

find the Bill, he fhall never be brought to his

Trial ; but if you (having probable Evidence) find

it, he fhall receive his Trial by the petty Jury \

and upon the Merits, be either Acquitted or Con-
victed. This is as much as I think is fit for me to

fay to you at this Time, upon this Occafion. You
may pleafe to go together, and take the Witneffes

along with you.

Then the Witneffes were fworn, and the Grand-

Jury withdrew, and after the Space of about

half an Hour, returned, finding it Billa Vera.

jjfter which, the Court adjourned to Thurs-

day, the 24-th Day of April, at Eight 0* clock

in the Morning, in the fame Place.

On which Day the Commiffioners here-under-

named being met, viz.

Sir Francis North, Knight, Lord Chief Juftice of
His Majefty's Court of Common-Pleas.

William Mountague, Efq; Lord Chief Baron of
His Majefty's Court of Exchequer.

Sir William Wylde, Kt. and Bart, one of His Ma-
jefty's Juftices of the King's-Bench.

Sir Hugh Wyndham, Kt. one of His Majefty's

Juftices of the Common-Pleas.

Sir Robert Atkins, Knight of the Bath, another of

the Juftices of the Common-Pleas.

Sir Edward Thurland, Kt. one of the Barons of

the Exchequer.

Vere Bertie, Efq; another of the Juftices of the

Common-Pleas.

Sir Thomas Jones, Kt. another of the Juftices of

the King's-Bench.

Sir Francis Bramfton. Kt. another of the Barons

of the Exchequer.

Sir William Dolben, Kt. another of the Juftices of,

the King's-Bench.

Sir William Jones, Kt. His Majefty's Attorney-

General.

Sir James Butler, Kt. one of the King's Council,

and the Queen's Attorney.

Sir Philip Mathews, Bart.

Sir Thomas Orby, Kt. and Bart.

Sir Thomas Byde, Kt.

Sir William Bowles, Kt.

Sir Thomas Stringer, Serjeant at Law.
Sir Charles Pitfield, Kt.

Thomas Robinfon, "S

Humphrey Wyrley, (-cr •

Thomas Haryot, and^ °

Richard Gower, j

Proclamation was made for Attendance, and the

Grand Inqueft being called, Sir Francis North,

Lord Chief Juftice of the Common- Pleas,

(the Lord Chief Juftice being out of Town)

fpoke to them thus :

Lord Chief Juftice North. You of the Grand

Jury, This Seffion is upon a particular Occafion,

He had been Secretary to Maflhnello, at the Infurreilion at Naples, abiut Thirty Tears before.

and
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and that which lay upon you was to find the Bill,

md that you have done, and we do not fee any

rhino- further for you to do, and therefore the Court

difcharges you from any further Attendance this

iSeffion.

Then Mr. Reading wasfent for, and brought to the

Bar, by Captain Richardfon, the Keeper of

Newgate ; and Silence being Proclaimed, the

Clerk of the Crown read the Indictment to him.

\ CI. of the Cr. Mr. Reading, hearken to your In-

liclment.

\
You ftand Indicted, by the Name of Nathanael

Reading, late of the Parifh of St. Margaret Weft-

ninfter, in the County of Middlefex, Efa; That

whereas Edward Coieman, William Ireland, and

ohn Grove, and other (unknown) falfe Traitors

ainft our moft Serene Lord King Charles II. the

\th Day of April in the Thirtieth Tear of his Reign,

the Parifh of St. Margaret'j Weftminfter, in the

bounty of Middlefex, had Traiteroufly, among them-

selves, Confpired, Confulted, and Agreed, our faid

noft Serene Lord the King to bring and put to Death

\nd final Deftrutlicn ; and to move War againft him

\uf Lord the King, within this Realm of England,

ind the Religion in the fame Kingdom rightly and by

'he Laws of the fame Realm EJlabli/hed to Change

hd Alter to the Superftition of the Romifh Church,

\nd the Government of the fame Kingdom to Subvert

;

br which certain moft wicked Treafons, and Traite-

ous Confpiracies, Confutations, and Agreements a-

orefaid, Theyi
the faid Coleman, Ireland and

jrove, in due Manner, and according to the Laws of

bis Kingdom of England afterwards were Attaint-

1, and had therefore undergone the Pains of Death

:

ind whereas William Earl of Powis, William Vif-

count Stafford * John Lord Belafis, Henry Lord

Xrundel of Warder, William Lord Petre, and

\ir Henry Tichburn, Bart, the opth Day of No-
vember in the abovefaid 30th Year of the Reign of

i

r faid Lord the King, at the faid Parifh of St. Mar-

iret'j Weftminfter, in the County aforefaid, were
' the aforefaid Treafons in a lawful manner Accufed,

id thereupon, according to the due Form of Law, to

e Tower of London (being the Prifon of our faid

ord the King) were Committed^ there fafely to be

ept, to Anfwer the aforefaid Treafons, whereof the

Hme William Earl of Powis, William Vifcount

itafford, John Lord Belafis, Henry Lord Arundel,

nd William Lord Petre in Parliament, by the Corn-

tons in the fame Parliament affembled^ are Impeached:

3utyou, the faid Nathanael Reading, the aforefaid

°remifes fufficiently knowing, and being Devilifhly af-

filed againft our moft Serene Lord the King, your Su-

preme and Natural Lord, and devifing, and with all

our Might intending, to difturb the Peace and com-

mon Tranquillity of this Realm, and the Government

\f the fame Kingdom, and thefincere Religion of God
n the fame, rightly and by the I,aws of the faid

Zealm Eftablifhed, at your Will and Pleafure to

Change and Alter ; and the State of this Kingdom,

hro' all its Parts well Inftituted and Ordained, whol-

\ to Subvert ; and to obftruCt, hinder and flifle the

Oifcovery of the faid Treafons, and, as much as in

ou lay, the due Courfe of Law in that Part to fhift

ff, and retard in the Profecution of Juftice againft

he faid William Earl of Powis, William Vifcount

Stafford, William Lord Petre, and Sir Henry
Tichburn : fYou\ the faid Nathanael Reading, the

'.gth Day of March, in the -3,1ft
Year of our faid

Lord the King, at the faid Parifh of St. Margaret'i

Weftminfter, in the County aforefaid, on the Part of
the aforefaid William Earl of Powis, William Vif-

count Stafford, William Lord Petre, and Sit Henry
Tichburn, fal/ly, advifedly, corruptly, and againft

the Duty of your Allegiance, did unlawfully folicit,

fuborn, and endeavour to perfuade, one William Bed-
low, (who, on the 29th Day of March, in the faid

3 ift Year, in due Manner did give Information of the

faid Treafons ; and whom You, the faid Readings
the Day and Year laft abovefaid, did well know the

Information of the faid Treafons as aforefaid to have
given, on the Part of our Lord the King) upon the

Trial of the aforefaid William Earl of Powis, Wil-
liam Vifcount Stafford, William Lord Petre, and
Sir Henry Tichburn, for the Treafons aforefaid, to

be had, to lefifen andftifie, and to omit to give in Evi-
dence the full Truth, according to his Knowledge, of
the aforefaid Treafons, againft Them, the faid Wil-
liam Earl of Powis, William Vifcount Stafford,,

William Lord Petre, and Sir Henry Tichburn,
and to give fuch Evidence, as You, the faid Natha-
nael Reading, floould direel : And You, thefaidNz-
thanael Reading, fooner and more effectually to

perfuade the aforefaid William Bedlow to leffen

and ftifie, and to omit to ,give in Evidence thefull
Truth, according to his Knowledge, againft the faid
William Earl of Powis, William Vifcount Staf-

ford, William Lord Petre, and Sir Henry Tich-
burn, upon their Trials, and to give fuch Evidence

as You, the aforefaid Nathanael Reading, would
direel : You, the faid Nathanael Reading, after-

wards, on the faid iqth Day of March, in the 3 ift

Year abovefaid, at the aforefaid Parifo of St. Mar-
garet'j Weftminfter, in the faid County\ falfly,

advifedly, corruptly, and againft the Duty of your

Allegiance, unlawfully did give to the fame William
Bedlow Fiftyfix Pieces of coined Gold of this King-

dom, called Guineas : And alfo fal/ly, advifedly,

corruptly, unlawfully, and againft the Duty of your
Allegiance, the Day and Year abovefaid, at the a-

forefaid Parifh of St. Margaret's Weftminfter, in

the faid County of Middlefex, did promife to the

faid Bedlow, that He, the faid Bedlow, within a
certain Time, by You, the aforefaid Nathanael
Reading, to the faid Bedlow propofed, fi?ould have
and receive divers other great Sums of Money, and
other great Rewards, for leffening and ftifling and
omitting to give in Evidence the full Truth, accord-

ing to his Knowledge, of the aforefaid Treafons againft

the faid William Earl of Powis, William Vifcount

Stafford, William Lord Petre, and Sir Henry Tich-
burn, andfor giving fuch Evidence, as You, the faid

Nathanael Reading, to the faid William Bedlow
fhould direel, to the great Hindrance, Obftruclion^

and Supprejfion of Juftice, in manifeft Contempt of
the Laws of this Realm, to the evil o.nd pernicious

Example of all others in the like Cafe offending % and

againft the Peace of our Lord the King, his Crown
and Dignity, &c.

How fay you, Mr. Reading, are you Guilty of

this Trefpafs and Mifdemeanor, or Not guilty ?

Reading. Not Guilty, in Thought, Word or

Deed.

L. C. J. Not Guilty, is your Plea ?

Reading. Yes, my Lord.

CI. of the Cr. Crier, make Proclamation. You
good Men of this County of Middlefex, fummoned
to appear here this Day, to try the Iflue joined be-

tween our Sovereign Lord the King, and Natha-

nael Readings anfwer to your Names, and fave

your Iffues.

Then
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Then the Panne! was called over, and Procla-

mation for Information in ufual Form was

made.

CI. of the Cr. Mr. Reading, look to your Chal-

lenges. Will your Lordfhip pleafe to have Sir

John Cutler to be Foreman ?

L. C. J. Yes.

Reading. My Lord, I have a very great Honour
for this worthy Perlbn, Sir John Cutler ; he is in

Commiffion of the Peace, 1 do therefore humbly
defire he may be excuied at this Time.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, you cannot challenge

him peremptorily in this Cafe, it not being for

your Life; and therefore you muft fhew Caufe if

you have any. He is not in this Commiffion at all

;

and for his being in Commiffion of the Peace, that

Qgnifies nothing, for we oftentimes in the Circuits

take them off the Bench to be Jurymen ; but if

you can fhew any Caufe of Challenge, it muft be

allowed you.

Reading. My Lord, I look upon my felf In-

dicted for Treafon ; (I defire God to give me
Strength, and I am fure of your Lordfhip's Pa-

tience,) and I look upon the Indictment which

hath been read to me, 'and upon which I have

been arraigned, to be exprefly Treafon •,. and I

do humbly pray your Lordfhip's Judgment in

it, whether it be fo or not : For, my Lord, (if

your Lordfhip pleafe) if it be fo, as I underftand

my own Innocency, fo your Lordfhip underftands

my Charge better than I do. And God knows I

have neither flrength of Body, nor prefence of

Mind to manage my own Defence; but my
Happinefs is, that I am alive at this Day, and am
to be tried here before fo Honourable a Bench,

My Lord, I have not had the Advantage of any

Counfel to affift me, nor the Benefit of any Com-
mon Friend, no not my Wife to come to me. I

have not been able to help my felf thro' the great

Indifpofition which I have been under, reduced

to it by that barbarous and illegal Ufage which

I have had : For (my Lord) I fiope I may fay I

am the ntft Englijhman that in my Circumftances

hath ever been ufed as I have been ; and my
Hopes' are,- whatfoever becomes of me, (the

Lord's Will be done,) I fhall be the laft that ever

mail be fo ufed. My Lord, upon the Weaknefs of

my own Apprehenfion, I do take it, that 'tis as

high a Treafon, nay a greater Treafon, and that

in the Words of the Indictment,, than ever Mr,
Coleman, or any of the others that have been Exe-

cuted, died for ; or the Lords now in the Tower
ftund Charged with ; and therefore,, my Lord, I

pray your Direction in it, if it is but a Mifdemca-
nor, (for truly what the Crime is I know not,) but

in conftruction of Law, admitting the Indictment

true, the whole does contain in it the blacken:

Treafon that ever Villain was guilty of. If it is fo

in your Lordfhip's Judgment, whatever mould be-

come of it now, I may be Indicted for it again

;

and fhould this Indictment be found upon me, I

am as certainly in the Eye of the Law a dead Man,
as thro' the Mercy of God i am now alive : And
(my Lord) if it be fo, I defire your Lordfhip's

Judgment, whether I may not be allowed a pe-

remptory Challenge.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, You fpeak in due time,

for 'tis pertinent to the Matter of peremptory

Challenge;; to confider whether this be an In-

dictment of Treafon; for if it be, the Law does

allow in favour of your Life a peremptory Chair

lenge to fuch a Number; and I will tell you, your

Apprehenfions have fomething in them : That
the Fact as 'tis laid in the Indictment, might have

been laid fo as to have made it an Indictment of

Treafon; and if you are Guilty of this Fact, and
not Indicted for Treafon, but only for a Mifde-

meanor, 'tis a Favour to you, and that of which,

you cannot take Advantage or complain of. I'll

now fhew you that this Indictment is not an In-

dictment of Treafon, nor can the Judgment of
Treafon be given upon you for it ; and fo there-

by your Life is not in danger. Firft, here is not

the Word Proditorie, which is neceffary in all In-

dictments of Treafon : Next,- you muft: obferve

that all Treafons are exprefly particularized in the

Statute of 25 Ed. 3. And nothing is Treafon but
what is contained in that Act, as Comparing the

Death of the King, Levying War againft the King,

,

and other Facts mentioned in that Statute. Now
if this Fact had been here laid as an Overt-Act for

the Evidencing of the Imagination of your Heart
1

in Compaffing the Death of the King, and the
\

Deftruction of the Realm, there it had been an In-

dictment of Treafon : But being there is no Trei-

fon formally laid, nor the Word (Proditorie) which Ij

is neceffary in all Indictments of Treafon, 'tis on- •

ly a Mifdemeanor you ftand Charged with ; which
I muft tell you is a great Eafe and Favour to you
in fuch Circumftances as we are now ; and if it

be fo, you muft fhew Caufe if you challenge any

Juror.

Reading. If I may (with your Lordfhip's Fa-

vour) I am very highly difpofed for the taking of
the leaft of Favours that can be fhew'd me, with

the deepeft Acknowledgment that an Innocent

Man and one in Diftrefs can make : But (my Lord)
among the greateft of Misfortunes, this I own as 1

my Happinefs, that I am now on my Trial before

your Lordfhip. But pray (my Lord) may not I

(having this- Favour fhew'd to me, and fhould it

be only found a Mifdemeanor) afterwards be In-

dicted for Treafon? And pray (my Lord) does

there want any one Circumftance of the Formality

of an indictment for Treafon in this againft me,

but that one of Proditorie ?

L. C. J. No, it is not laid that you did Compafs

the Death of the King.

Reading. Then (with Your Lordfhip's Par-

don) I do not underftand it : for the Indictment ,

does fet forth, That Coleman and others did Con-

fpire the Death of the King, Levying War, the Al-

tering of Religion and Subverfion of the Government

-

r

for which they jujlly fiiffered Death. And further,

as to the feveral Lords in the Indictment men-

tioned, they are accufed for the fame Treafon

;

And jujlly, and according to Law fent to the Tower, 1

to Anfwer what theyfiandjujlly impeached of by the

Commons : And it fets forth further, that I pra- •

miffa pradicla fatis fciens, did fo and fo : Were
there no other Expreffion, that, my Lord, is ex-

prefly Treafon, or no doubt Mifprifion of Trea-

fon ; for, my Lord, it does charge me that I am
fatis fciens particularly, fufficiently well apprized

of thofe Treafons they were Executed for, thefe

Accufed. And that I did not this out of the
,

Weaknefs of my own Apprehenfion, but falfly,
;

advifedly and malicioufly. My Happinefs is, I fhall

have your great Judgments to determine this Mat-

tef for me.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, you exercife great Elo-

cution and Eloquence ; but if I do apprehend

you aright, what you fay is this: That the In-

dictment
,
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dictment fets forth, that you fatis fciens ofthofe

Treafons did fo and fo, which will amount to

a Mifprifion of Treafon. 1 muft tell you, there is

a difference between the Knowledge of a Treafon

that is fecret, for the concealing of that, and en-

deavouring to ftifle the Evidence, is Mifprifion of

Treafon •, but tile knowing of a Treafon that is

revealed and^ difcovered is knowing no more than

all the World knows ; and not laid as a Fault,

but to aggravate the Fault afterwards charged.

'This Dilcourfe is nothing to the matter ; if you

(

would have our Opinion, whether you may af-

terwards be queftioned for Treafon, 'tis that we

are not to give you v anfwer the Indictment as

now it is ; You have favour enough that it is laid

this way, and not the other. An Indictment of

Treafon or Mifprifion muft not be laid fo as that

the Crime muft be collected out of the Matter of

Fad only, but it muft be formally laid. How
you fhall be profecuted hereafter, muft depend up-

on the Juftice of the Kingdom. We fit here now

to determine upon what Matter lies before us, and

fo we cannot grant you a peremptory Challenge

.in this Cafe, which is only allowed in Matters

Capital in favour of Life.

Reading. My Lord, I do defire to know whe-

ther tins be Treafon or no, that being devilifhly

affecled to the King my Supreme and Natural Lord,

and intending to levy War in the Kingdom, and to

change the Government, and to alter the Religion,

andfubvert the Peace of England ; whether that be

not Treafon ?

L. C. J. Mr. Reading* We will anfwer none

of thofe Queftions : But this I will fay to you, no

Judgment of Treafon can be given upon you up-

on this Indictment ; and tho' thefe Acts ("if for-

mally laid) might have been Treafon, yet it not

being fo, we muft proceed as it lies before us

:

And therefore if you have any particular Caufe to

challenge Sir John Cutler, fhew it, and we will

hear you.

Reading. My Lord, I have this Caufe, I have

been but a little time acquainted with this worthy

Gentleman •, but, my Lord, I have feen him in

Company with Mr. Bedlow, mine Accufer, I

know there is not a common Intimacy and

Friendfhip between them : I am very certain, my
Lord, that Sir John hath too much Honour to do

me wrong •, but I do humbly defire that he may
have his Eafe, and be excufed at this time : not

that I do diftruft his Juftice, but for the Reafons

I have humbly offered.

L. C. J. Look you, Mr. Reading, your Accu-
fers are Witneffes for the King, and are neither to

gain nor lofe by your Trial ; and therefore can-

not be prefumed to make any Party for your Con-
viction. And do you challenge a Juryman be-

caufe he is fuppofed to know fomething of the

Matter ? for that reafon the Juries are called from

the Neighbourhood, becaufe they mould not be

wholly Strangers to the Fact. If you can fhew
that he hath already given his Verdict by his

Difcourfe, and that you are already condemn'd in

his Opinion, that may be fome Caufe of Chal-
lenge •, but that he hath difcourfed with Neigh-
bours as others do, it may be he believes it, and
may be does not believe it, he is now to give his

Verdict upon what he hears upon Oath.

Reading. My Lord, ! am very glad to fee Sir

John Cutler here, for I did intend to have his Evi-

dence for me.

L. C. J. That you may have, tho' he be fworn.

Vol. II.

then the Jury werefworn, and their Names were
as followeth, viz.

Sir John Cutler, 1 Thomas Caffe, Efq;

Jo/huah Galliard, Efq;' RainsfordWaterhoufejaSty
' Matthew Bateman, Efq;

Walter Moyle, Efq;

Richard Paget, and

John Haynes, Efq;

•j / — "7 —*"i<

Edward Wilford, Efq;

Thomas Henflow, Efq;

Thomas Earsby, Efq;

John- Erie, Efq;

L. C. J. If Sir John Cutler defires Pen, Ink
and Paper, or any other Convenience, let him
have it.

CI. ofthe Cr. Gentlemen of the Jury, hearken
to the Indictment. He ftands indicted by the

Name of Nathanael Reading" •

L. C. J. You need not open the Indictments,

let the Counfel do that.

Then Edward Ward, Efq; being of Counfelfor the

King in this Caufe, opened the Indiclment.

May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and you Gentle-

men of this Jury, Nathanael Readings Efq; ftands

indicted for this Offence : That whereas Edward
Coleman, William Ireland, and John Grove, and
other unknown Perfons, (Traitors againft our
Sovereign Lord the King) the 24th Day ofApril,
in the Thirtieth Year of the King, did traiteroufly

contrive the King's Death, the Subverfion of the

Government of the Kingdom, and the Religion

in the fame Kingdom by Law eftablifhed, to al-

ter and change to the Superftition of the Ro-
mifh-Church ; for which Treafons they have
been in due manner attainted and executed :

And it farther lays, That whereas William Earl

of Powis, William Lord Vifcount Stafford, John
Lord Bellafis, Henry Lord Arundel of Wardour$
William Lord Petre, and Sir Henry Titchburn,

Baronet, were the 30th of November laft, in a

lawful manner, accufed of thofe Treafons, and
for them committed to the Tower ; and thereof

the faid Lords were and ftand impeached by
the Commons in Parliament : The faid Mr.
Reading well knowing of thefe Things, and

being devilifhly affected to the King, his Su-

preme and Natural Lord, and devifing to dis-

turb the Peace of the Kingdom, and the Go-
vernment and Religion thereof rightly eftablifh'd,

to change and alter ; the State of the Kingdom
well inftituted, to fubvert ; and to obftruct and
ftifle the Difcovery of thefe Treafons, and as

much as in him lay to fhift off and retard the

Courfeof Law and Profecution of Juftice againft

the faid Lord Powis, Lord Stafford, Lord Petre,

and Sir Henry Titchburn ; the faid Mr. Reading,

the 29th of March laft paft, at St. Margaret's

Weftminfler, on the part of thefe three laft men-
tioned Lords, and Sir Henry Titchburn, did falfly,

corruptly, advifedly, and againft his Allegiance,

unlawfully follicit, fuborn, and endeavour to

perfuade one Mr. William Bedlow (who before

had given Information of thefe Treafons againft

the, faid Perfons, and whom Mr. Reading knew
fo to have done) to leflen, ftifle, and omit to

give in Evidence the full Truth according to his

Knowledge of the faid Treafons againft the-

faid three Lords, and Sir Henry Titchburn, upon
their Trial to be had, and to give fuch Evidence

as he the faid Mr. Reading mould direct ; and to

that purpofe, falfly, corruptly, advifedly, and

againft the Duty of his Allegiance, unlawfully

did give to Mr. Bedlow fifty fix Guineas, and

5 L promifed
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promifed him, that within a certain Time (by

the faid Reading propofed) he fhould have and

receive divers other great Sums or' Money and

Rewards, for leffening, ftifling, and omitting to

give in Evidence the full Truth, according to

his Knowledge of thofe Treafons againft the

faid three Lords and Sir Henry Titcbburn ; and for

giving fuch Evidence as he fhould direct. : And
this is laid to be to the hindrance and fuppref-

fion of Juftice, in manifeft Contempt of the Laws
of this Realm, to the evil Example of others in

the like Cafe offending, and againft the Peace of

our Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.

To this Indictment Mr. Reading hath pleaded

Not Guilty. If we prove the Offences afore-

faid againft him, we doubt not but you will

find him Guilty.

Sir Crefwel Levinz, one of the King's Learned

Counfel in the Law, thus opened the Charge.

May it pleafe your Lordfhips, and you Gen-

tlemen of the Jury, I am of Counfel for the

King in this Cafe : Gentlemen, This Indictment

is not an Indictment of High-Treafon, nor of

Mifprifion cf Treafon; and truly the Gentleman

at the Bar hath fomething wondred at the King's

Lenity to him ; the Fact in the Indictment does

indeed found of another Nature, than what it

bears the Name of; it does in this Indictment

carry the moft moderate Character that the Fact

will bear : It is only an Indictment of Trefpals

and Mifdemeanor, but 'tis a very high Miide-

meanor ; 'tis to ftifle the King's Evidence, and

that not in an ordinary Cafe, but where it is at-

tended with the greateft Aggravations that can

be in any Cafe whatibever. If a Man mould en-

deavour to ftifle the Evidence in an Action be-

twixt Party and Party, in the Courts of Weft'

minfter-Hall, for a Bufinefs of about 40 s. thofe

Courts of Juftice would find a ready way to

punifh him. This is a Crime of another Nature,

for it is fet forth in the Indictment, That Cole-

man, Ireland, and Grove had a Traiterous Defign

in hand, for the which they were Executed, that

is, the Plot ; and when I have faid that, I have

faid all, That implies all ; you all know what

was thereby defigned. 'Tis fet forth in the In-

dictment, That fuch Lords, and Sir Henry Titcb-

burn, were privy to the Plot, and accufed for it,

and to prevent the Evidence to be given againft

thefe Lords, three of them, (for the Bargain was

only made for three, viz. my Lord Stafford, my
Lord Powis, and my Lord Petre ; the reft were

out of the Bargain, and had not, it feems, found

out the Way of Commerce now ufed by thefe

Perfons ) was this Gentleman, Mr. Reading's

Bufinefs. It was to diminifh and leffen the Evi-

dence that was to be given againft them, who
were charged and accufed to be as highly Guilty

of the Plot as any that were Executed for it.

And when I have told you this, you will furely

conclude 'tis an high Offence, and an high Mif-

demeanor : For if the Life of the King, if the

Law of the Land, if the Religion Eftablifhed, if

the fettled Government be valuable ; if your

own Lives, your own Liberties, and your own
Fortunes, have any Confideration with you, this

is a very high Mifdemeanor ; for you muft look

upon thefe as all at Stake : This Plot, as it was
laid, did reach to all ; fb that an Endeavour to

conceal the Evidence that fhould difcover, and
thereby prevent the Execution of fb horrid a

Confpiracy, is a very heinous Mifdemeanor; and
you will eafily believe, that the Gentleman at

the Bar, the Prifoner whom you are to Try, had
reafon to doubt within himfelf, why it fhould

be called fo fmall an Offence as an high Mifde-

meanor : But I will not, I need not aggravate

this Offence, and the rather becaufe the Gentle-

man that ftands accufed for it, is of a Profeffion

(for which I am forry) which obliges him to

know and underftand all the Aggravations of his

own Crime. I will not open the Evidence, nor
tell you what the Witneffes will fay, I had rather

you fhould have it from themfelves ; but, if I am
rightly informed, you will have the Matter fully

proved ; and therefore we will call the Wit-
neffes, and let them tell you what it is they have
to fay.

Mr. Ward. There are fome Things laid in this

Indictment, that are to be previoufiy proved, in

Order to the Charging of the Prifoner ; as the

Execution of Coleman, and the reft ; and the \

Impeachment of the Lords. If Mr. Reading
;

ftands upon it, we have thofe here that will

prove it.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, Thofe Publick Paffages

that are laid in the Preamble of the Indictment,

do you infift they fhould be proved firft ?

Reading. My Lord, I am very willing to fave

your Lordfhip's Time.
L. C. J. Do you admit that Coleman aad Irt'

land, &c. were Executed for Treafon ?

Reading. Yes, my Lord, and very juftly.

L. C. J. Do you admit that the Lords in the

Tower are Accufed and Impeached in Parliament

for this Plot ?

Reading. Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C. J. Then you eafe them of the reading

thofe Records.

Reading. And, my Lord, I do further fay,

I do verily believe there never was a greater Plot

laid in Hell than this. I have abhorr'd it in my
Thoughts, and have not only endeavoured to en-

courage the Difcovery, but always gave it as my
Counfel, that nothing that was true fhould be

left out in the Evidence. And I do, and will,

fave your Lordfhip's Time as much as I can.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Then, if your Lordfhip pleafe,

we will call our Witnefles, and prove the Fact.;

and if there be any thing that Mr. Reading doubts

of, we will prove it afterwards. Swear Mr. Bed-

low. Which was done.

Mr. Ward. Mr. Bedlow, I mail only ask you

the general Queftion. Will you be pleafed to

tell my Lords and the Jury, what you know of

this Bufinefs ? Tell the whole Story, what Dif-

courfe and Bargainings there have been between

you and Mr. Reading, for the diminishing and

leffening of your Evidence.

Bedlow. My Lord, Mr. Reading was altoge-

ther a Stranger to me, till Sir Trevor Williams

brought me acquainted with him ; he was always

very juft to me in whatfoever he did for me,

and wherein he was employed by me. I found

him very honeft, in reference to my own Con-

cerns. And tho' Mr. Reading will bring a great

many People, perhaps, that he hath prefs'd me
to difcover the whole of the Plot ; I do confefs,

he did it in a very high meafure, in all publick

Company, and that I would not be be balk'd in

any Point : And for the Difcovery and Convict-

ing, and Executing, of thofe that had died about

this Plot, he never deny'd but they fuffered juftly

and
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and lawfully enough : But in private Counfels

where we have been together, he hath fpoken

to me to be cautious. Indeed he hath never en-

deavoured to have me ftifle the whole Plot, but

only for fome particular People that he folicited

for; not but that he believed them guilty, as

well as the reft •, but he deiired me that I would

not be fo hot againft them. And after he had

made me Eafy, (that was his Word that he him-

ielf ufed) he would have had me made Mr. Dug-

dak Eafy too. At feveral Times, when we have

been together, his very Expreflions have been

to me, Mr. Bedlow, Tho' there has been fo

damn'd a Defign on foot, and fo terrible a one,

yet it is not for your Safety nor Credit to run at

the whole Herd of Men: For I was this Day,

or Yefterday, he faid, with my Lord Chief Ju-

ftice, and he told me, That at. this Rate that

Mr. Bedlow accufes Men, none are fafe, for he

runs at the whole Herd •, and feemed to me to

intimate, that my Lord Chief Juftice was not

pleafed with my Forwardnefs. And he told me
likewife, You gain your Point with the Parlia-

ment, and with the King, and with the King-

dom, if fome fuffer, as I believe you can do it,

and not run at the whole Flerd, and 'tis an in-

different Thing to you, fo you make the Parlia-

ment your Friend, by proving there is a Plot,

and the King your Friend, in not charging all

thefe Lords, and you'll make all the Lords your

Friends, by your Kindncfs to them. You fhall

take my Inftruclions, I will never advife you any

thing that is ill, but Pll tell you how far you

fhall proceed. If you can fix any thing for them,

you fhall be fare to be well gratified.

L. C.J Did he name any Lords to you ?

Bedlow. This was the Beginning of the Dif-

courfe, my Lord •, and I anfwered him, Mr. Read-

ing, This is a very nice Point, and I know them

to be guilty of all the Things I charge them

with, and I can prove it. If your Advice be fo,

Pll confider of it. I think it was after the Pro-

rogation of the laft Parliament, and then my En-

couragement for Difcovery was not fo great. But

faid I, if any of them deny it to you, that they

are guilty, then they muft expect no Kindneis

from me at all, for 1 will fwear all that I can

againft them ; but if they acknowledge that I

do them a Piece of Service in not fwearing too

feverely againft them, then I will be ready to

take your Advice and Inftruclions. He told me
many Times, that Sir Henry Tichburn did think

he had feen me in Paris, but he did not ufe this

Expreffion to me, That I charged him with

bringing Commiflions over from Rome. I an-

fwered again, you may tell Sir Henry Tichburn,

if he denies any thing of the Fact that I have

fworn againft him, he does me and himfelf a

great Injury. And to take him off as an innocent

Man, I cannot do it, I will never do it. But

upon Acknowledgment, 1 may do them fome
Kindnefs. So likewife my Lord Powis and Ca-

rytt. The Gentlemen that he moft folicited for,

were, my Lord Powis, my Lord Petre, my Lord
Stafford, Sir Henry Ticbburn, Mr. Roper, Mr.
Caryll, and one Mr. Corker a Jefuit. And like-

wife he made me eafy, upon that Day that

Mr. Whitehead and Mr. Fenwick were upon
their Trial ; for 1 have enough againft them,

becaufe I could be no Stranger to Wbitebread

and Fenwick, two fuch confiderable Men, being

fo much concerned as I was in their Affairs. 1

1
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was impofTible I fhould be fo much a Stranger

to them, as I faid I was, but it was becaufe

Mr. Reading had then made me eafy, and I in-

tended to carry on the Intrigue with him, till

it could be handfomly difcovered. But my Lord
Chief Juftice asked me whether that was all I

could lay ? And I told him, My Lord, I have

fomething more to fay, when Time and Place

require it, and when I can be fafe in telling it ;

that is, when I had found out all that Mr. Read-
ing intended to do, how far he would go, and
then I thought it would be a proper Time, when
I could make out fome fuch Information as I

now do , but I would not ftifle that Treaty that

was between him and me, about the Lords in

the Tower, which I knew was of greater Con-
fluence than two old Priefts. After the Diffo-

lution of the Parliament, he told me, We muft
fee other Times and other Changes, and that die

Lords did not think themfelves. in ib much Dan-
ger as when the Parliament was fitting. But
at feveral Places, the Pal/grave-Head Tavern,
and others, we have had Difcourfe to the like

Effect. He would very frequently come to me,
and talk with me about it. Now I asked Coun-
fel of no Man, for I have no need of it in my
Matter ; 'tis not Matter of Law, but Matter of
Fact, that I am to make out, therefore I had no
need of his Advice, but he would be at my Bed-
fide very often in a Morning, and before I was
dreffed, and then we ufed to difcourfe together

about this Bufinefs, and the Manner and Form
how it fhould be done, and how well I fhould

be rewarded if I got off thofe Lords, that is, my
Lord Petre, my Lord Powis, my Lord Stafford,

and Sir Henry Tichburn ; thefe were the Four
that made the Promifes : But Mr. Reading foli-

cited for the other Lords too •, they did promife

a noble Reward, but I could never fettle or fix

what it fhould be, but I fhould have Acknow-
ledgments both in Money and Eftate, from the

Lords, for fnortning the Evidence, and bringing

them off from the Charge of High-Treafon. We
had feveral Confultations about this. The Monday
that my Lord Danby was fent for by the Black

Rod, Mr. Reading came to me in the Speaker's

Chamber, and told me, Mr. Bedlow here is a

great Turn, my Lord Treafurer is fent for by
the Black Rod, and Things are like to go quite

another way. Well, faid I, when were you
with the Lords in the Tower ? Said he, I have

not been there thefe two or three Days, but faid

he, I intend to go to-morrow, and then I'll

bring you word what they fay. And the next

Day, or the Day following, he came to me, and
told me, That the Lords did think, that I was

in a great meafure capable of ferving them now

;

and they would have an Account of what I

could fay againft them, that fo they might view

it and correct it. Accordingly he did go, and •

appointed to meet the 28 th of March. I omit

feveral other Times that we had Confultations,

and now come homeward to the Bufinefs. I had

then a Command from the Lords to infpecl: the

Papers of the Spani/b Ambaffador at TVild-Houfe,

and I could not meet Mr. Reading according to

Promife, and I think the other Witnefles will

give you Reafons better than I. This Appoint-

ment was on Friday Night ; on Saturday Morn-
ing, he, having mifs'd of me the Night before,

came to my Lodging, where I had placed Mr.
Speke and my Man ready againft he came. None
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of all thefe Conferences did I conceal, but re-

vealed them to feme of the Members of the Pri-

vy Council, to the Prince, and to my Lord of

Ejjex. As foon as ever I had difcourfed with

Mr. Reading about this Matter, I did write it in

the very Words, as near as 1 could, and gave it

to the Prince, and my Lord of Effex, and J think

your Lordlhips are very well fatisfied that the

Prince and my Lord knew it. And I told it to

feveral others, as Counfellor Smith, Mr. Kirby,

and feveral others, who I was certain would be

true to the Secret, fearing that Mr. Reading had

laid a Trap to catch me with, and therefore I

was very cautious, that no Particular of the Confe-

quence fhould be unknown to them. Indeed, my
Lord, I was very forry to fee Mr. Reading fhould

do fo, for I had a very great Refpect for him •,

and he did ufe to give me publick Advice in ge-

neral, for the Diicovery of the Plot ; only for

fome particular People he did folicit me that I

would be a little Eafy, thofe he did folicit for.

Upon the 29th of March, which was Saturday

Morning, when he came into the Room, he

asked me, is there no Body here that can over-

hear us ? I told him, no, there was not. Now
I had planted that Gentleman, Mr. Speke, behind

my Hangings, and made an hollow place in my
Bed, and therein laid my Man, and covered him
with the Ru^ fo fmooth, that it did appear as

if it were but newly made, and he could not

perceive there was any Body there ; he would

have fpoke to me in the Dining-Room, but I

excufed it, telling him, That Madam Greves,

who lay in the next Room, had over-heard feve-

ral Dilcourfes that I had with fome Perfons there,

and therefore it would not be lafe, but he had

better go into my Chamber, (not that fhe could

hear thro' the Wall, but it was to bring him in-

to my Chamber •,) he commended my Caution,

and came in with me thither ; and his firft Word,
as I laid, was, Is there no Body that can over-

hear ? No, faid I, 'tis my Concern to look to

that, that all be private : But, faid I, what fay

the Lords in the Tower ? What fays my Lord
Stafford, what do they intend to do? I mult

know ipeedily, for I am to give in my Informa-

tion to the fecret Committee of what I can fay

againft them this Night. And I can ftay no
longer, but muft have their final Anfwer, that

I may know what to fay when I come to the

fecret Committee. Saith he I will go and get

their final Anfwer, but pray put it off till Wed-
nefday, if you can. Saith I, I cannot do that, put

it off fo long, but I'll do what I can to put it off

till Monday. Well, faid he, on Monday you fhall

be fure to hear from me then, and I will have

all Things ready, as to what you have to fay,

and you fhall have it from me. Accordingly I

did ftay till Monday, but the Committee of Se-

crecy knew it all this Time ; and when I met
him on Monday, I had ordered the Witneffes

that were by to over-hear us, to be prefent at

the Delivery of the Paper ; accordingly they

were there, and Mr. Reading did bring it in his

own Hand-writing.

Reading. What Room was it you were in, pray,

Sir?

Bedlow. In the Painted-Chamber. And as he

gave me the Paper, pretending to put my Hand
in my Pocket, i clapp'd it with my Hand pri-

vately behind me thus, and Mr. 'Speke took it out

of m) Hand, and he and my Man went into my

Lord Privy-Seal's Chamber, and there they read

it, and had it three Hours before I ever faw it.

Well, faid I, uhat will the Lords do? Why,
faith he, tho' I have not a full Anfwer as to what
they will do, yet you may expect a noble Re-
ward •, and I have Order to draw up blank

Deeds.

Reading. Who did you give that Paper too,

Sir?

Bedlow. To Mr. Speke, the reft will juftify it,

'tis your own Hand-writing. But faith he, I
'

have Order to draw blank Deeds to be figned in

ten Days after their Difcharge. And you may
be fure that they fhall be figned. Mr. Reading,

faid I, this is but a verbal Promife, and they may
perhaps hereafter charge me, for all my bringing

them off, and do me a great deal of Injury.

That cannot be, faith he, my Soul and my Life

for it, I have taken their Words, and, if there

be any Faith, Honour and Confcience in Men,
it fhall be done : I dare anfwer for them. And,
Mr. Bedlow, your Safety doth moft confift in

it -, for as they muft never be falfe with you, fo

they muft never be at Enmity with you ; for at

laft, if you charge them with corrupting of you,

you will be able to ruin them, and it will not

look ill upon you, fo much as upon them. Bur,

take my Word for it, you fhall have a noble and
worthy Acknowledgment. I have Authority to

draw blank Deeds, both for Sums and Eftates,

which they will fettle upon you, and likewife a

fpeedy Supply of Money, as foon as they can

get it in ; for my Lord Stafford faid, He is now
cutting down Wood and felling it, and when he

hath raifed the Money, you fhall have it ; but

he protefts, at prefent he hath not now Mo-
ney to defray the Charges of his Family ; but

I have Order at any time to give you what you

need for prefent Occafions. And indeed accord*

ingly I have had a great deal of Money from

him, feveral Guineas. I had all I asked for, and

many times Gold I did not ask for •, upon what

Terms, other Witneffes will prove better than

I hereafter. When we had done, faid he, Let

me fee what Papers you have, the Copy of what

you have accufed the Queen about, and the

Lords, that I may carry them to the Lords, and

have their Anfwer. Said 1 , they are at my Mo-'

ther's. I muft needs have them, faid he. So,

that I might give the Witneffes leave to come

out, I went with him to my Mother's Lodg-
ings, and pretended to look for them, but found

them not, for none but the fecret Committee

knows what is in them. But when I had look'd

over my Papers, laid I, my Brother, perhaps,

hath got them away with him, I'll go back to

my Lodgings and fee. Oh ! faid he, you fhould

make fure of fuch Copies as you have, in fome

Friend's Hands, to lecure them as well as the

Original. I told him, I fhould be fure of them

at Night ; fo he was fatisfied : Tho' I never in-

tended he fhould have them, becaufe there was

Bufinefs of fo great Confequence in them. When
we came back again, we found Mr. Speke and

my Man in the Chamber, writing. I asked

Mr. Speke how long they had been there? he

told me, as foon as 1 went out. Then faid I to

Mr. Speke, Pray withdraw, for now I am to have

Mr. Reading's Instructions ; if youMl go before

by W^ater, I'll meet you at Weftminfier by and

by. Then I lock'd up the Street Door, and

came back to Mr. Reading, and then to work we
fell
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fell to write out thofe Things that he and I did

conclude upon.

Reading. You fay that you and I were then

alone, and your Man gone away.

Bedlow. I faid, that then you and I concluded

upon what I fhould fay, and what I fhould pitch

upon they were to correct, according to what

they thought would raoft conduce to their own
Safety. And when there were any Words that

feemed to urge any thing home upon them, then

he would tell me what was Law, and that, perhaps,

would reach them, and then altered it. And the

Monday after brought a Copy to me, of his own
Hand-writing, far from the Words that were

fet down in tat Paper that he and I concluded

of together, and delivered it to me privately,

and I delivered it to this Gentleman, carrying it

behind me thus, and he came after me and took

it from me.

Sir. C. Levinz. Mr. Bedlow., This, you fay,

was for the fhortning of the Evidence ; how was

k to be fhortned ?

Bedlow. To take off the whole Charge of

Guilt, that I had fworn againft them.

Sir C Levinz. Did that, which you agreed

upon to ihorten, take off from the Treafon ?

Bedlow. That which the Witneifes had in

^writing did take off the Charge of Treaibn

wholly.

Sir C. Levinz. Was it Jefs than the Informa-

tion you had given in againft them ?

Bedlow. I told him, that it was not delivered

into the fecret Committee, but indeed I had a

great while before

L. C. J. I'll tell you what I apprehend he did

fay ; if J miftake, he will fet it right. He faith,

When he came back with Mr. Reading, he found

Mr. Speke and his Man in the Chamber toge-

ther, he asked Mr. Speke how long he had been

there, and how chanced he was up ib loon ?

Mr. Speke faid to him, I have been here ever

fince you went away. That, upon Mr. Bedlow's

Defire, he went away before him to Weftmin-

ftcr, and they went together to confult, and

great Care was ufed, that they might not be

hindered or furprized. Then Mr. Bedlow was

to pen his Teftimony, and it was to be carried

to the Lords in the Tower, and they were to

confider how to have it minced, that they might

be out of Danger. And Mr. Reading under-

Handing the Law, whenever Mr. Bedlow fpoke

plain, or dictated any thing that would come
home to them, would tell him of it, and that

Mr. Bedlow might correct and mitigate it him-

felf. I underftand you fo, Mr. Bedlow.

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, it was fo. And that

Paper, which he brought me back, was ten times

fhorter than that he had of mine, which was for-

ty times fhorter than what I had given in to the

fecret Committee.

Ward. Mr. Bedlow hath fully proved the Dif-

courfe and Bargain between him and Mr. Read-

ing, for the leffening of his Evidence.

Bedlow. All Mr. Reading's, Words were, That
I would fo Ihorten and leffen the Charge againft

them, that they might come off.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, if you have a mind to

it, you have Liberty to ask him any Queftions.

Reading. My Lord, I humbly defire I may do
it, when the Evidence for the King is all given.

L. C. J. It is moft proper to do it now.

Reading. With your Lordihip's Favour, I have

iiuciiieanour. 013
this Reafon for it, I do defire that the Witneffes

may be examined apart.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Mr. Bedlow, Pray let me ask

you one Queftion. I am upon the Indictment,

for the Jury is charged upon that, and we muft

judge upon that, Was the Agreement between

you and him, that you fhould fwear what he

fhould direct you ?

Bedlow. It was, to what he and the Lords

would direct.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Did the Lords correct your

Paper ?

Bedlow. As he faid, they had done it.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Did he acknowledge it?

Bedlow. Yes, he did.

L. C. J. Mr. Bedlow, I don't underftand that

you were to have any Conference with the Lords,

but you were to be fhy of that, left it fhould be

difcovered, but what Conference you were to

have was with Mr. Reading.

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, and he was to give

me an Account what they would have me fay.

Mr. Juft. yones. Shew him the Paper, I fup-

pofe he will own his own Hand.
L. C. y. Is that your Hand, Sir ?

Reading. My Lord, this is my Hand, and this

is that Paper that I did deliver to Mr. Bedlow

before Mr. Speke in the Painted-Chamber.

Ward. We defire it may be read, if your

Lordfhip think fit.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Methinks it fhould be mate-

rial to read the Paper that he gave to Reading

firft.

L. C. y. Have you it here, Mr. Bedlow ?

Bedlow. No ; he carried that Paper to the

Lords, and brought me this again.

L. C. J. But had you never that other Paper
again ?

Bedlow. .No, I had not.

L. C. J. Did you ever take a Copy of it ?

Bedlow. No, I did not. But this is that cor-

rected Paper that I was to give in to the fecret

Committee, and corrected by the Lords.

Sir C. Levinz. We do prove it in Fact, that

he had before given further Evidence, and by
this Agreement he did contract to give leis.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, what do you fay to

Mr. Bedlow ?

Reading. My Lord, if I have your Lordihip's

Direction that I may not examine my Witneffes

apart, I'll go on.

L. C. J. But what fay you to the Paper?

Reading. I do own, the Paper that was (hewn

to me, is my Hand, and that I delivered it to

Mr. Bedlow.

L. C. J. Then it muft be read.

Sir C. Levinz. My Lord, we don't defire it

fhould be read, for we cannot fhew the former

Paper, that did contain more, and therefore what
will the reading of the latter, which contains

lefs, fignify ?

L. C. J. If you do not defire to have it

read, we won't read it.

Sir C. Levinz. Mr. Bedlow's Evidence is, That
there was a Paper much more large than this,

and yet both thofe fhort of the Information he

had given in; now v/hat will the reading of the

one iignify, without the other ?

L. C. J. Do you confent to the reading of it ?

Reading. My Lord, 1 would fave your Time
and make it plain.

L.C.J. Mr. Reading, You muft not come to

make
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make your fence yet, till the King's Evidence is

over.

Reading. My Lord, I do it to open his Evi-

dence, and for your Information. My Lord,

Mr. Bedlow charges me, That I did write in his

Chamber, when his Man and Mr. Speke were

gone, a Paper that was much larger than the

Paper your Lordfhips have before you ; he does

lay, that he did defire me to go with that to the

Lords, and that they did correct it in feveral

Places, and being fo corrected, I did bring him

this Paper back, and delivered it to him in the

Painted-Chamber, before Mr. Speke. My Lord,

I do pray your Lordfhip's Favour in it •, when I

had the King's Directions for giving in to the

fecret Committee what Information I had to

give, I did deliver it into the Chamber, where

were Mr. Sacheverell and others, that very Pa-

per, which was written at his Chamber. My
Lord, I have fent to him feveral Times, that he

would deliver that to me in order to my own
Juftification at my Trial. I did defire hkewife,

that feme other Papers which I did receive from

Mr. Bedlow under his own Hand, and which

would be very material to my Defence, might

be brought to me, but I have not had the Fa-

vour of an Anfwer from Mr. Sacheverell, to this

very Hour. I do humbly defire that he may be

fent to, for the Delivery of them.

L. C. J. I do not know how we can fend for

them, if the Committee will not deliver them.

Reading. Will your Lordfhip give me leave to

fend to him ?

L. C, J. But not by our Direction, to bring

them as by our Command.
Reading. No, My Lord, but by my own Intreaty.

L. C. J. Do what you will, as from your felf.

Mr. Reading, your Wife was with me Yefter-

day, and faid, you could not get Subpoena's for

your Witneffes; and I fent for the Clerk about

it, and he told me, there never was any Subpoena's

denied you, but you might have had them at

any Time. But what fay you to this Paper, you

of the King's Counfel ?

Sir C. Levinz. My Lord, we do not defire to

have it read without the other.

L. C. J. Look you here, this Paper muft be

read, for we would fee whether there was a Pa-

per under your Hand, expreffing what Evidence

Mr. Bedlow was to give in this Matter, and whe-
ther you did one way or other put any thing in

writing which he fhould fwear, to leffen his Evi-

dence. As for the other Matter of tampering,

we fhall hear from others concerning it •, but let

us have this read, not for comparing it with the

other Paper, to fhew the Teftimony is lefs in this

than in the other, but as an Evidence of the Fact

in it felf, for we will expect a good Account from

you, Mr. Reading, what you had to do to prefcribe

him his Evidence in writing j therefore pray read

the Paper.

Then the Paper was read in hjec verba.

Lord STAFFORD.
On Difcovery of the Plot, to me, I asked

Harcourt and Le Faire how things were to be

managed, they told me that his Lordfhip was to

be Treafurer, and he, and Ireland, and Coleman,

had Money to defray all Charges ; I then faid,

I never heard that his Lordfhip was engaged be-

fore ; they faid he had not been long concerned,

nor was he acquainted with the Affair much 5

but that the Money which was lodged with him
was to be difpofed of by him for the Uie of the

Church and the Catholicks, and they had bound
his Lordfhip up by Sacraments not to difcover

what the Money lodged with him was to do till

the time of ufing it, and then his Lordfhip fhould

know what great Truft he had upon him for

them ; and tiii Things were ripe he was not to

be acquainted with the Depth of the Plot, for

they knew he would never confent to the King's
Death till it was done. His Lordfhip always
promifed to be ready to ferve the Church with
his Life and Fortune.

Lord TOW IS.
That the Lady Abbefs of Panthois told me,

That his Lordfhip had fent his Daughters over
to be educated in the Monaftery, but that his-

Lordfhip's Lady had declared to her by Letter,
that fhe meant them as Pledges according to her
Promife, to afTure her that her Lord was real to 1

carry on what he had promifed concerning the -

introducing the Roman Cathohck Religion into

England. I brought over a Letter from the

Monks in Paris, directed to his Lordfhip, with
feveral other Letters to other Popifh Gentle-

men, tending to the Death of the King, and
fubverting of the Government •, but what was
in that Letter to his Lordfhip I know not, for

that I did not open it, as I had done the others,

it being directed to a Peer, but I believed it

might be to the fame Effect, the Monks having
informed me fo at the delivering them to me

;

feveral other Letters to the fame Effect (as the

Priefts told me) I faw in the Priefts Hands, di-

rected to his Lordfhip •, but I never did read any
of them, nor can I fay that his Lordfhip ever

received any of them ; but I faw them put into

the Poft-houfe to fend forwards, and I never faw
his Lordfhip at any Confultation, neither did

I ever hear his Lordfhip named at any Con-
fultation where the killing of the King was men-
tioned or debated of: But I verily believe that

his Lordfhip was acquainted with the Defign of
introducing Popery, for that the Lady Abbefs
and the Priefts have feveral Times told me fo,

or to that Effect.

Lord PETRE.
Mr. Tyrrel a Prieft, affif Madam Thimbleby his

Lordfhip's Sifter, told me, that Mr. Thimbleby

was gone to my Lord Petre's Houfe to confult

with him how to proceed in the managing of

their Bufinefs. Mr. Thimbleby having received

Letters from beyond Sea in order to the intro-

ducing the Roman Catholick Religion into Eng-
land, and that his Lordfhip would not in any
fort be perfuaded to bring it in by Force, but

rather by Policy ; and tho' his Lordfhip had truly

engaged himfelf never to quit the Defign, yet

fhe was fure he would not do it by foul Means.

I told her at her Husband's Houfe at Ernly, that

where a Defign was to be carried on for fb gene-

ral a Good, no particular Way was to be pitched

upon, but any Thing, and all Means was to be

ufed to bring it to pafs, rather than lofe the Defign;

To which fhe replied, that fhe believed and ap-

proved the fame, but that fhe well knew his

Lordfhip's Mind, that he would never agree to

do it by Force, but as he would not hinder it,

fhould it go on by Force, fb he would further

it by any other means whatfoever.

L. C. J.
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L.C.J. Here is an Evidence indeed, but To
minced, chat it would have fignified nothing as

to the Charge again ft them.

Bedlow. ;n the Information that I gave into

the fecret Committee, there is ten Sheets of Pa-

per in every Evidence againft every Lord.

L. C. J. Now go to the other Witneffes.

Ward. Pray fwear Mr. Speke. Which was

done.

Ward. Come, Mr. Speke, declare your Evidence,

and pray come over on this Side.

L. C. J. I would have him ftand on the other

Side, becaufe Mr. Reading defires to examine them

apart.

Speke. My Lords, and you Gentlemen of the

Jury, I mould have been very loth and unwil-

ling to have made my felf fo publick as to have

appeared here as a Witnefs again 11 Mr. Reading

the Pnfoner at the Bar, upon any other Account

than this : But at fuch a Time as this, and in

fuch an Intrigue as this was, in which both the

King and Kingdom was concerned, I bought

my felf bound both in Duty and Allegiance to

appear in what I have done, and to teftify the

Truth of what I know, for the Prefervation and

Defence of both ; and therefore fhall declare to

you the Treaty that was in my hearing the 29th of

March Jail, between Mr. Bedlow and Mr. Read-

ing now at the Bar, and I fhall not for the World
atteft any thing but what I heard difcourfed be-

tween them, but will relate it to you in their

own Expreffions, as near as poffibly I can remem-
ber ; and as to the Matter and Subftance of what

I fhall declare to you to be difcourfed between

them, I will and can both pofitively fwear.

But before I acquaint you thereof, I muft beg

leave to tell you, that I knew almoft daily from

Mr. Bedlow, for fome confiderable Time before,

what was in the Treaty between him and Mr.
Reading, and how they proceeded in this Affair,

and therefore could the better charge my Me-
mory with their Difcourfe, and with the Paf-

fages which paffed between them ; and Mr. Bed-

low having himfelf told you that he acquainted

two or three Perfons likewife of very great Qua-
lity all along with this Treaty between him and

Mr. Reading, and with Mr. Reading's conftant

and almoft daily Confultation and Advice to him
upon this Account, and with his large Pror#5fes

to him from thefe Popifh Lords and other Gen-
tlemen accufed and in Cuftody upon the Account
of this horrid Plot.

I fhall not now tire your Patience fo much as

to acquaint you with what I had from Mr. Bed-

low from Time to Time, after Mr. Reading had

been with him difcourfing of this Affair ; but I

fhall be as fhort as I can in coming clofe to the

Point, and therefore fhall only acquaint you with

the Matter and Subftance of what I my felf

heard difcourfed between Mr. Reading and Mr.
Bedlow the 29th of March laft.

The 2.8th of March laft, I met with Mr. Bed-

low here at Weftminfier, who privately told me,

that Mr. Reading had appointed to be with him
in the Evening about the old Affair, and there-

fore defired me to come to his Lodgings about

feven o'clock, and there fhould be fome private

Place found out for me advantageoufiy to hear

their Difcourfe : I went to Mr. Bedlow's Lodg-
ings at Whitehall about the Time he defired me
to come ; where I met with Mr. Reading, who
was then juft come, and asking Henry Wiggins

whether his Mafter was at home, who told him,

that he was not ; upon which Mr. Reading went
away, and left Word with this young Man that

he would come again prefently, and defired him
to acquaint his Mafter with it as foon as he came
home : I ftaid there with this young Man a fhort

Time after Mr. Reading was gone, asking him
whether he could tell where his Mafter was,

who told me he could not, but told me that

there was fome Company at the King's-Head Ta-
vern at Charing-Crofs which ftaid there for him,

and that his Mafter would call there before he

came home ; upon which 1 immediately went to

the King's-Head Tavern, and asked whether Mr.
Bedlow was there ; but I underftood that there was

fome Company flaying there, expecting to fpeak

with Mr. Bedlow, but that he was not then come
to them ; upon which I went then to Man's
Coffee- houfe, and ftaid there a while, but had
ordered one of the Boys of the Tavern to come
and acquaint me as foon as Mr. Bedlow came ;

but rinding that no one came from the Tavern,
after fome time I went thither again, and under-

ftood that he had not been there,, and that the

Company was gone which ftaid for him, and
then I went back again to Mr. Bedlow's Lodg-
ings, where as foon as I came, this young Man
came out and told me, Mr. Reading was above,

and ftaid there to fpeak with his M after •, on
which I call'd him out to me, and told him I

was defired by his Mafter to come to be hid in

fome private Place conveniently to hear the Dif-

courfe between them, and therefore I contrived

fome way to get Mr. Reading out, that I might in

the mean time convey my felf into fome private

Place, where I might be able to hear their Dif-

courfe ; whereupon I ordered this young Man
(whilft I was walking without at fome Diftance)

to go up and tell Mr. Reading that there was
one which came from the King's-head Tavern at

Charing-Crofs to acquaint him that his Mafter

was there with fome Company, and to tell

Mr. Reading, that his Mafter would not be able

to get away from them, if he did not go to

him ; whereupon this young Man went imme-
diately to Mr. Reading, and acquainted him with

it according to my Defire and " Direction, and

then Mr. Reading went prefently to the Tavern,

and in the mean time 1 got . up into the Bed-

chamber, and placed my felf between the Hang-
ings of the Bed and the Wall ; but Mr. Reading

finding not Mr. Bedlow at the Tavern, went

away home, and left Word with this young
Man that he would be with his Mafter by kven
o'clock in the Morning, and ordered him to

acquaint his Mafter with it, that he might be

up when he came ; and as foon as Henry Wig-
gins returned back and acquainted me that Mr.
Reading was gone home, and had left Word with

him that he would be with his Mafter by feven

o'clock in the Morning, I went home, but left

Word with this young Man, that I would be

with his Mafter by five or fix o'clock in the

Morning, and defired him to acquaint his Ma-
fter with it. I got up the next Morning by five

o'clock, and went immediately down to Mr.
Bedlow'?, Lodgings.

Reading. Sir, You are pleafed to fay, that the

twenty-eighth of March you was told, that I

would be there about feven of the clock in the

Morning, and that you at firft met me there,

and that the Appointment failing, then you
came
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came the next Morning, which was the twenty-

ninth.

L. C> J. I'll tell you how I apprehend him :

The firft Appointment was the twenty-eighth of

March, which was on Friday, and then failing,

the other was the next Morning, which was the

twenty-ninth.

Speke. As foon as I came to Mr. Bedlow's

Lodgings, I caufed the Centinel to knock hard

at the Door to raife them up , and in the mean

time I went into King-ftrect, expecting to have

o-ot into fome CofFee-houfe or other for to drink

a Difli of Coffee, whilft they were rifing, but it

was fo early that there was no CofFee-houfe open ;

upon which I was forced to return back again to

Mr. Bedlow's Lodgings, and then this young

Man and Maid were both got up, and did let me

in, and I went up immediately to Mr. Bedlow,

and raifed him out of his Bed ; and fomewhat

before feven o'clock we plac'd this young Man

upon the Bed, with the Rug only on him, and

prepar'd a Place for me on the Infide of the

Bed, between the Hangings of the Bed and the

Wall.

L C.J. You fay he was on the Bed, and you

between the Bed and the Wall.

Speke. Yes, my Lord, between the Bed and

the Wall I was, and he on the Bed, and as foon

as ever I heard fome body knock at the Door

(the Door being lock'd by Mr. Bedlow's Order,

to give me Notice of his coming) I ran imme-

diately into my Station before he came up, and

prefently after the Door was open, I heard

Mr. Reading's Voice as he was coming up Stairs,

(which I know almoft as well as his Perfon) as

he was fpeaking to the Maid, and afterwards to

Mr. Bedlow, who met him either in the Paffage

or at the Stair-Head, and then they came both

into the Bed -Chamber, (where, I believe,

Mr. Reading little thought any body was) tho*

he was fo cautious as to ask whether there was

no body there that could over-hear him ; to

which Mr. Bedlow reply'd, No, no, or fome

"Words to that Effect. And then Mr. Bedlow

began, and faid to Mr. Readings What Jay the

Lords in the Tower now ? and what fays my Lord

Stafford as to the Eftate in Gloucefterfhrre ? To
which Mr. Reading then reply'd, and faid, My
Lord has faithfully promifed me to fettle that Eftale

upon you, and I have Orders from my Lord to draw

up a Blank Deed in order to fettle it onyou ; which

Deed my Lord hath engaged me to Sign and Seal

ten Days after he fhall be difcharged, you bringing

him offrom this Charge of High- Treafon, by fhort-

ning and contracting of your Evidence, And Mr.

Reading faid, my Lord Powis, my Lord Petre,

and Sir Henry Tichburn, have faithfully engaged

and promifed me, that they will every one of them

give you a very large and noble Reward, which

fhall be fuitable to the Service you [hall do them, by

Jhortning and contracting of your Evidence again]}

them, and in bringing them off likewife from this

Charge of High-Treafon. To which Mr. Bedlow

reply'd and faid, I will not rely upon their Promifes

only, but do expetl to have fomething under their

Hands. To which Mr. Reading then reply'd and

faid, They do not think it fit and convenient for them

to do that as yet, but you may fafely andfecurely take

my Word, as L have done theirs, they having all fo

faithfully promifed me to perform all I have told you

from them. And Mr. Reading finding that Mr.

Bedlow doubted their Performances, according to

their Words, did moreover ufe thefe very Ex-
preffions, and faid, Vll engage my Life for it. To
which Mr. Bedlow then reply'd, Til then taki

your Word, as you have done theirs. And alfo told

him, The Committee do prefs upon me to deliver

in what I have to fay againft the Lords, and there'

fore I defire I may have their Anfwer fpeedily, that

L may know what they intend to do, and what they

do refolve upon, becaufe I cannot well defer deliver-

ing in what I have to fay againft them any longer

than this Night, becaufe 1 hear they come very fpee-
dily upon their Trials. To which Mr. Reading
then reply'd, That he was fure they could not
be brought to their Trials before Eafter, telling

Mr. Bedlow what the Parliament muft do firft,

and how they were to proceed in this Cafe :

That they muft come down to be arraigned, and
after that, they muft have Time to give in their

Anfwer, and after that they muft have Time to

prepare for their Trials ; and told him, that he
might very well defer it till Wednefday ; but Mr.
Bedlow told him, that he could not defer it till

Wednefday, but he would put it off till Monday^
and longer he could not : And then Mr. Reading
faid, that he would go prefently to the Lords and
acquaint them with what he faid, and that he
fhould not fail of having their Anfwer by him on
Monday, and that it fhould be ready for him to

deliver it into the Committee that Night. And
after this Dialogue was over between Mr. Reading
and Mr. Bedlow, they went out into the Drning-

Room, and there Mr. Reading ftay'd till Mr. Bed-

low had quite drefs'd himfelf, and afterwards went
out both together, and ftay'd away about half

an Hour ; and when they return'd, I and this

young Man were both together in the Dining-

Room, and then Mr. Bedlow fpoke to me as if I

were but juft come, asking me how long I had
been there -, I told him I juft call'd on him as I

was going to Weftminfter, or fomewhat to that

Purpofe, fo that Mr. Reading might not any ways
fufpeft my being there before-hand, to hear the

Dialogue which pafled between them. Mr.
Reading then call'd for a Sheet of Paper and Pen
and Ink, and went into the Bed-Chamber, fpeak-

ing and defiring Mr. Bedlow to follow him ; but

after Mr. Reading was gone into the Bed-Cham-
ber, Mr. Bedlow'came to me, as 1 was ftanding by.

theXhimney, and whifpered to me, that they were

then juft going to draw up what they had conclud-

ed on, that the Lords might fee it and correct it,

as they thought fit, and that they might fend

him on Monday, in writing, what he fhould de-

liver into the Committee to fwear againft them ;

which I faw deliver'd by Mr. Reading, accord-

ing to his Promife to Mr. Bedlow, on the Mon-
day Morning following, in the Painted-Chamber

at Weftminfter, which Paper was writ by Mr.
Reading's own Hand, Mr. Bedlow delivering it

to me as foon as ever Mr. Reading left him ; and

then I and another Gentleman of Quality went

up immediately into the Room they call the Lord
Privy- Seal's Room, where the Committee of Lords

ufe to fit, and there Mr. Wharton and I read the

Paper fo delivered, being writ by Mr. Readings

own Hand.

Jury. Did you fee Mr. Reading's Face?

Mr. Speke. Ay, between the Door and the

Wicket, but not in the Room. On the Monday
Morning following, Mr. Bedlow defired that 1

would be here at Weftminfter before-hand, and

he. would, come thither. And he told me they

were
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were to correft the Paper, and he was to bring

it corrected, and, faid he, pray follow me, and fee

the Paper delivered.

Reading. What Day was that he dented you ?

Speke. It was upon Saturday, the 29 th of

March, that I over-heard what was faid, and it

was upon the Monday morning following that I

met with Mr. Bedlow, and he bid me go to

Weftminfter before. And I did fo, and when we

met at Weftminfier I went after Mr. Bedlow at a

diftance: And in the middle of the Court of

Requefts he met with Mr. Reading, and they

went together into the Painted Chamber, and I

followed them at a diftance, my Eye was very

much upon them, but I faw Mr. Reading was

very cautious that I fhould not fee the Paper de-

livered ; and indeed I was as fhy as he, that he

mould not fee that I took notice of it, but I

did direct my Eye fomewhat carelefly that way,

and at laft I faw the Paper delivered by Mr.

Reading to Mr. Bedlow, and as Mr. Bedlow told

you, I and another Gentleman of Quality went

away to the Lord Privy-Seal's Lodgings, where

we opened the Paper, and faw what was deliver-

ed to him, and read it : and this is all I have to

fay.

L. C. J. Shew him the Paper. Is this that

Paper, that you faw him deliver to Mr. Bedlow ?

Sir Crefwel Levinz. Look upon it, Sir, is that

the Paper ?

Speke. Yes, my Lord, certainly I take it fo to be.

ix r. Juft. Atkins. He hath owned it.

L C. J. Mr. Reading, if you would ask this

Gentleman any Queftions, this is your proper time.

Reading, i hope yourLordfhip will give me the

favour to examine them apart.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Mr. Reading., you do confeis

what Mr. Speke fays to be true?

Reading. My Lord, I did deliver that very Pa-

per to Mr. Bedlow in the Painted Chamber in

the Court of Requefts before Mr. Speke, and 'tis

every word of it of my own Hand-writing.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Did you fee Mr. Reading in

the Room ?

Speke. I did not fee him, till he was between

the Wicket and the Door.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Mr. Speke, let me ask you one

Queftion ; did not you know his Voice ?

Speke. I knew his Voice almoft as well as his

Perion.

L. C. Baron. You are fure it was he ?

Speke. Yes, I am very confident it was he.

L. C. J. And the Difcourfe was, that he would
have it put off till Wednefday, but Mr. Bedlow

"

would not, but only put it ofF.till Monday, and
then they agreed upon a Paper, an Account of
which Mr. Reading promifed to give on the Mon-
day following.

Speke. Yes, my Lord, it was fo.

L. C. J. So that the Fact does anfwer the Dif-

courfe, for on the Monday following the Paper was
delivered.

Mr. Ward. Here is only one other Evidence,
and that is Mr. Bedlow's Servant, that was put in

the Bed, as Mr. Bedlow tells you. Pray fwear Hen-
ry Wiggins. Which was done.

Sir C. Levinz. Come on, Young-man, fpeak
your Knowledge of this matter.

Wiggins. My Lord, what 1 have to fay is this.

LCJ. Speak out.

Wiggins. What I have to fay, is only what
Mr. Speke hath faid before ; and indeed he hath
Vol. II.

been fo very plain, and fb exact in all Particulars,

that I need fay but little, and therefore fhall be

very fhort. My Lord, on Saturday the 29th of

March laft, Mr. Reading came to my Matter's

Lodging between Seven and Eight in the Morn-
ing. I was placed on the Bed, with the Rug
only on me -, and Mr. Speke was behind the Bed,

between the Hangings of the Bed and the Wall.
As foon as Mr. Reading came into the Room, he
asked my Mafter, if there were no Body there

that could hear them ? My Mafter faid, No,
Then my Mafter asked, What fay >.tbe Lords in

the Tower now ? And, Whatfays my Lord Staf-

ford, as to' the Eftate in Gloucefterfhire ? Saith.

he, My Lord hath promifed faithfully to fettle it

upon you ; and has given me Order to draw up

Blank Deeds, which, in Ten Days after his Dis-

charge, he will Sign : And this was for the leffen-

ing the Evidence. I think thofe were the Words.
And juft then the Rug troubling me, that I could

not hear well, I put it off my Head ; and, my
Lord, I faw Mr. Reading ftand by my Mafter in

the Chamber. Saith he, my Lord Powis, my
Lord Petre, and Sir Henry Tichburn, have all

promifed you a fuitable Reward to the good Service

you fhall do them, in bringing them off from their

Charge. Saith my Mafter, I don't think fit to rely

upon their Promifes only, but do expstlfomethivg under

their Hands. No, laid he, they don't think it conve-

nient for them to do that, as yet; but you may fafely

take my Word, as well as I have done theirs : And
I will engage my Life for it. (Which were the

Words Mr. Reading ufed.) Saith my Mafter,

7he Committee do prefs upon me to give in my Evi-

dence, and I cannot defer it any longer than this

Night. Saith Mr. Reading, they cannot come Vo

their Trial till Eafter ; becaufe fiuch andfinch Things

are to be done, (as Mr. Speke hath told you) before

they can come to their Trials which cannot be dotie

till then : Andyou may very well defer it till Wed-
nefday. No, faid my Mafter, I cannot ; but I will

do what I can to defer it till Monday. Saith Mr.
Rjading, I will then go to the Lords, and acquaint

them with what you fay, and bring you an Anfwer

from them on Monday Morning.

And that Day, when he came to the Painted

Chamber, I faw him deliver that Paper to my
Mafter, and my Mafter carrying it behind him ;

and I faw Mr. Speke take it from him ; and Mr.

Speke and another Gentleman went afterwards

together, up into my Lord Privy-Seal's Room
to read it.

Jury. How long was it ere you faw Mr. Read-

ing, after the Difcourfe in the Room ?

Wiggins. I got up grefently after they were gone

out, and I faw them together at the Door ; and

as foon as they were gone, (as I told you) we both

went out into the Dining-Room, and went to

write down what was faid : And within half an

Hour, they came back again into the Room. And
faith my Mafter to Mr. Speke, What makes you fib

early here? How long have you been here ? Said he,

I calledupon you as Iwas going to Weftminfter. And
then my Mafter defired Mr. Speke to go before to

Weftminfter: And Mr. Reading called for Pen, Ink,

and Paper ; and went into the Bed-Chamber,

fpeaking to my Mafter to follow him : And fo we

went away.

Jury. You fay, That you faw him there? and

not only heard him talk, but faw him ?

Wiggins. When he came into the Room, the

Rug was over my Head, and they fpoke fo

5 M foftly,
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foftly, that I could not hear him very well •, but

I put it off, without his perceiving me, and faw

him then, and heard him plain : And when they

went out again, I faw them both.

Speke. We open'd the Hangings, my Lord, a

little at the Bottom, that he might not fufpect

any thing, and the Curtains were but half drawn,

or a little more : So that, when he put off the

Rug, he might eafily fee him.

L. C. J. Have you any further Evidence for

the King ?

Sir C. Levinz. My Lord, if your Lordfhip pleafe,

we fhall trouble you with no further Evidence : We
have proved it by three WitnefTes.

L. C J. Then, Mr. Reading, now is the time

for your to make your Defence: They have con-

cluded, that are for the King.

Reading. My Lord, I am very unwilling to

fpend any of your Lordfhip's time in vain. There

is one Part of the Indictment, which I do humbly
take notice of to your Lordfhip before-hand

;

they are ib far from Charging me to be of the

Plot, or knowing of the Plot, that Mr. Bedlow

hath declared the Preffingnefs of my Perfuafions

to him, from time, to time, that he would be

very full and pofitive, in Charging any Man
according to his Knowledge. Therefore, I fhall

not fpend any time, my Lord, in fpeaking to that.

i am obliged to Mr. Bedlow, that he hath done

me fo much Right, in faying what he hath faid

of me about that : But I fhall apply my felf

fingly to what he hath given in Evidence againft

me ; and what hath been fpoken to, by Mr. Speke,

and his Servant.

My Lord, the Indictment is, That I fhould

endeavour to perfuade to lefTen his Evidence a-

gainft thole Lords, and Sir Henry Tichburn ; that

is to fay, my Lord Powis, my Lord Stafford, and

my Lord Petre : They prove nothing againft

me, as to the other. And, my Lord* becaufe

the Indictment doth likewife fet forth, that this

was done on the Behalf of thefe Lords, and on

their Account, as it fays, I fhall humbly (before

I go on to ceniure the Evidence) give your Lord-

fhip an Account, upon what Occafion it was, and

how I went to fee any of thefe Lords, and Sir

Henry Tichburn, here mentioned.

My Lord, within a few Days after the Lords

were fent to the "Tower, Mr. Bulfirode, a Gentleman

of the Privy-Chamber to his Majefty, did come
to me, from my Lord Stafford; telling me, That
my Lord Stafford defircd to be remembred to me,

and to pray me to come to him.

My Lord, I did tell that Gentleman, That
tho' I had a very great Reverence for my Lord,*

having known him long, and having been my
Client for feveral Years ; yet, confidering how
his Circumftances then were, I fhould not venture

to go to him, till I had acquainted fome of the

Lords of the clofe Committee with it, and had

their Leave.

Mr. Bulfirode faid, I acted very prudently in it

:

And accordingly I did go, and acquainted the

Prince, my Lord Trealurer, the Marquis of

Worcefter, and fome other Lords with it : And
they told me, That my Profefllon did privilege

me to go ; and God forbid, but that Refpecl

fhould be fhewn him, and the reft of the Lords.

Hereupon, my Lord, I did go ; and when I was

there, I acquainted the Lieutenant of the Tower
with it ; who invited me to Dinner with him :

I did fo, my Lord, and my Lord Stafford was

there : And afterwards he did defire me to go to

his Quarters with him : And being there, he told

me, That I was not ignorant of what he was
Charged with, and upon what account he was
there : And he was pleafed to fay much concern-

ing his own Innocency. I told his Lordfhip, I

heartily wifhed, it might appear he was as innocent

as he faid he was.

Then he defired me to move for his Habeas
Corpus. I told him I thought it not feaibnable

yet to do it:. I alfo told him, I would not at all

admit my felf to be of Counfel for him, but for

his Innocency, and as an innocent Man ; with this

that I did fo exprefly abhor and deteft the Crime
that he was charged with, that tho' I were of
Counfel with him, or in the very higheft Depree of
Friendfhip imaginable,, fhould I difcover he was
guilty of it, I would be fo far from continuino- of
Counfel for him, that I would come in as a Wit-
nefs againft him.

My Lord, upon thefe Terms it was, that my
Lord took my Advice, and he gave me my Fee,

which was two Guineas.

My Lord, afterwards I was defired by feveral

of the Lords, to fpeak with Sir Henry Goring
and Sir John Gage, then Prifoners in the Tower

:

And, my Lord, they did defire me, that I would
move for their Habeas Corpufs -, and, my Lord,
I did fo. I was then fent to by my Lord Brudnel,

and feveral other Gentlemen in the King''s-Bench,

Prifoners upon this Account : And, my Lord, I

did, at this Bar, move for feveral of their Habeas
Corpus's. And having the Direction of the Court,

that tho' they did not deny the granting of the

Writ ; yet notwithftanding, no Benefit fhould be

had of that Writ, unlefs Mr. Attorney being at-

tended in it,, fhould give Confent to their being

Bailed. Accordingly, my Lord, Mr. Attorney
did attend in it, and he was pleafed to fay, That he

would not do any thing for the Bailing of any,

for all that the Writ was granted, till he knew
what their Accufers charged them with. I then

knew it was in vain to bring them up, till Mr. At-

torney was fatisfied. _,_

Mr. Scroggs and I.did go from Mr. Attorney
to Mr. Bedlow and Mr. Oates : And the feve;al

Perfons for whom we were of Counfel, being

fet down in a Lift, we did alfo fet down our Di-

rections from Mr. Attorney about them ; and

did pray them to let us know what they had to

charge any of them with. And if they were

eafy in their Confenting to their being Bailed,

then we did go to Mr. Attorney, to let him
5 know it •, and he being fatisfied from their own
Mouths, did confent to the Bailing of feveral of

them.

My Lord, this did occafion my difcourfing

feveral times, with Mr. Bedlow, and Mr. Oates,

concerning the Nature of the feveral Charges,

againft the Gentlemen they had accufed. My
Lord, during the whole time of my being con-

verfant with Mr. Bedlow, (and he hath given your

Lordfhip an Account how I came acquainted with

him) tho' I did defire Sir Trevor Williams might

be here, and did fend him a Subpcetta, becaufe I

knew he was unwilling to come, unlefs he were

Summon'd; and I fhould be glad to fee him

here.

Bedlow. My Lord, Sir Trevor Williams is in

the Houfe of Commons ; and ordered me to fend for

him, if there were Occafion.

L. C. J.
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L. C J. Then pray fend for him, becaufe

Mr. Reading defires it. (Which was done.) In the

mean time, pray, Mr. Reading, will you go on

in your Defence. But all that hath been fpoken,

is not much to the Furpofe. I would have you

apply your felf to the Fair, fworn, which is com-
preheniive of all the Indictment; and that is,

what happened in the Chamber, the 19th of March

laft: Anfwerthat Fad.

Reading. I (hall, my Lord ; but I defire

Mr. Bulfirode may be Examined to thofe Points I

have fpoken to.

Bulftrode. My Lord, I defire you would hear

me, for he is very much miftaken in what he hath

faid concerning me : For he feems to fay, I came

to him, which I did not do ; but accidentally met

him at Whitehall.

L. C. J. Look you, unlefs he calls you, you

are not to be called by us, as a Witnefs for the

King.

Bulfirode. My Lord, he ferved me with a Sub*

poena,

L. C. y. Mr. Reading, Would you have

Mr. Bulfirode examined ?

Reading. Yes, my Lord, if you pleafe; I did

pray him to be here to that End.

L. C. y. In this Cafe, tho' he be a Witnefs

for Mr. Reading, he muft be Sworn : Therefore

fwear Mr. Bulfirode. (Which was done.) Well,

what do you ask him ?

Revding. My Lord, all I do humbly defire is,

That he will give yourLordfhipan Account whe-

ther he did not come unto me in the Name of my
Lord Stafford?

Bulftrode. My Lord, I happened, one Day,

to go fee Sir William Goring, who was my Neigh-

bour in the Country: And as I was going out,

I faw my Lord Stafford walking : And filuting

him, he asked me, Do you know one Mr. Read-
ing, a Lawyer? I asked him, What Reading?

He anfwered, That ufed to be at the Parliament

Houfe. I faid, / did. Then faid he, Pray tell

him, when you fee him, 1 would [peak with him,

and fhould be glad tofee him : And in two or three

Days after, I met with him •, and faid I, Mr. Read-
ding, my Lord Stafford asked me, If I knew
you ; and defired me to tell you, He would be glad

to fee you. My Lord Stafford ! faid he ; and feem-

ed furprized at the Name ; and I repeated it to

him : And this was all that paft between me and
him. And this was fome time in Michaelmas
Term laft.

L. C. y. Look you, Mr. Reading, we know
that the Acquaintance you had with Bedlcw,

and your going to the Lords, was in Michaelmas
Term : The Habeas Corpus''s, and the matter of
Bailing was in Hillary Term, which ended the

nth of February ; and therefore, the Bufinefs be-

tween Mr. Attorney and you, muft be during

Hillary Term. But this Fact charged upon you
in the Indictment, and fworn by the Witneffes,

being on the 28th, 29th, and 31ft of March,
that is a quite other thing : And therefore, I would
have you apply your felf to that.

Reading. My Lord, I fhall humbly obferve

your Lordfhip's Directions in that : But I defire

to be heard in this other Thing alfo, which was
jn Michaelmas Term. I fay, my Lord, they
were defiring of me to advife them, whether
they fhould move in the Houfe of Lords, whence
moft of the Commitments were iffued. For as

to fome, the Charge was againft them in the

Vol. II.

Houfe of Commons, fome in the Houfe of Lords,

fome were generally Committed by my Lord
Chief Juftice Scroggs ; and according to the Na-
ture of the Cafes, fo they did defire me, that

I would advife them, how to addrefs themfelves,

by one way or other, for procuring their Liber-

ty by Bail, or otherwife. And as to the Writs

obtained, and the Bailing of feveral of them, it

was in tlillary Term, which was before the Fact
charged upon me. But I did give your Lord-
fhip an Account how it was, in order to have it

appear naked before you ; and then I fnould be
in your Lordfhip's Judgment, which, I am fure,

will be right, And I do fay, my Lord, that af-

terwards I met feveral times with my Lord Powis,
and my Lord Petre, at the Lieutenant of the

Tower's Houfe.
L. C. y. Here is now Sir Trevor Williams 1

do you defire he fhould be Sworn ?

Reading. I do, my Lord.
L. C. y. Then give him his Oath. Which was

done.

Reading. My Lord, with your Lordfhip's Fa-
vour, that which I defire Sir Trevor Williams to

give your Lordfhipan Account of, is this, Whe-
ther he was not pleafed to bring Mr. Bedlow to

my Chamber, and to recommend me to him about
his Pardon ?

Sir Tr. Williams. My Lord, Mr. Reading was
an Acquaintance of mine ; and upon what [

knew, I had a great Opinion of his Knowledge
in the Law ; and Mr. Bedlow was a Country-

man of mine, and I was very deiirous he fhould

have his Pardon as perfect as could be: And. in

order to that, I recommended him to Mr. Read'
ing, and defired him to be careful about it. And
that is all that I can fay.

L.C.y. What further Queftions would you
ask him?

Reading. My Lord, I defire to know of him,

What Advice he hath heard me give Mr. Bedlow
in order to his dealing ingenuoufly, and my pref-

fing of him to a full Difcovery of the Plot.

L. C. y. Mr. Reading, as to that, Mr. Bedlow
hath already clear'd it himfelf, that in all publick

Difcourfes between you and him, you did carry

it very plaufibly ; yet we will not preclude you
from having your Witneffes fpeak to that, if you
will have them examined to it.

Reading. My Lord, I will trouble Sir Trevor

Williams with no more Queftions.

L. C. y. You need not, as to this Point

;

Mr. Bedlow hath teftified, that publickly you
did advife him to make full Difcoveries, and fpare

no Perfon.

Bedlow. I did fay fo at firft, and I will do him
Juftice, he did really, and honeftly, 1 believe,

give me that Advice, as to all in publick, and

only fpoke about thofe Men he was concerned for,

towards whom he would make me eafy.

L.C.y. Pray, Mr. Reading, will you come to

the Fact ?

Reading. My Lord, at the time of my being

examined before the Committee, I did deliver

fome Papers, which I had from Mr. Bedlow, and

under his Hand, and which do concern the Evi-

dence I am to give in my own Defence: Thefe

I do beg the Favour may be fent to me, to make
ufe of them for my felf, and I fhall, as foon as

the Court hath looked upon them, return them
again.

5M1 Bedlcw.



820 82. The Trial of Nathanael Reading, 3 1 Car. II.

Bedlow. There was a Propofition about it, in

the Houfe of Commons ; and the main Paper, which,

I fuppofe, Mr. Reading defires to produce, is in

Mr. C7tfri?'sHand, to be produced, when called for,

if the Court think fit.

L. C. J. Have you it there, Mr. Clare ?

Clare. Yes, my Lord, 1 have.

L. C. J. Mr. Attorney, when the Prifoner calls

for a Paper, which he himfelfdelivered in, I think

it is but fair it fhould be produced.

Mr. Att. Gen. [Sir William Jones. ~\ Yes, my
Lord, I do not oppofe it.

Sir C. Levinz. My Lord, Mr. Reading muft un-

derfland, that this is no Hinge from us, but he de-

fires fuch a Paper, which let him make what Ufe

of it he can.

Bedlow. I fuppofe it is about the Protection for

Prickman.

Reading. Mr. Bedlow, if you pleafe to anfwcr

it by and by, when it is read, and let me open it

my felf.

L. C. J. Here is now Mr. Sacheverel; what have

you to fay to him ?

Mr. Sacheverel. My Lord, in the Houfe ofCom-

mons we have received a Letter from Mr. Readings

by which he doth defire, for his own Juftification,

. to have fome Papers fent him, which were deliver-

ed to the Secret Committee •, I fuppofe he means

a Paper about Mr. Prickman, and a Letter concern-

ing him, and likewife a Paper that contained a

State of the Evidence againft the Lords, which he

pretended Mr. Bedlow had dictated to him : That,

I fuppofe, Mr. Clare hath ; for the other two, the

Houfe of Commons hath ordered me to bring

them here, that if he can ufe them, or any other,

in his own Defence, he may have free Liberty fo

to do.

L. C. J. Is there any other thing you would

have with Mr. Sacheverel?

Reading. Nothing, my Lord •, I humbly thank

him for this Favour, and the Houfe too.

L. C. J. Mr. Sacheverel, thefe Papers you have

brought, (hall be put into the Hands of Mr. Clare,

to carry to the Secret Committee, when the Trial

is over.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Mr. Reading, pray fpare me
one Word •, You are a Lawyer, and you know
how to make your Defence, fpeak ad idem, the

Thing you are charged with, the tampering with

Bedlow to take off his Evidence againft thole

Lords, or elfe you do nothing ; for we are not a-

bout the Plot in general, nor are you charged

with it.

Reading. My Lord, I mail do nothing elfe, I

ihall not give you the Trouble of fpeaking to a-

ny thing elfe ; my Lord, Mr. Bedlow will give

your Lordfhip an Account of the Difcourfe that

I had with him, at the Time that I had been to

wait upon my Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs ; I

went to him upon this Occafion, Mr. Bedlow

defired me to go wait upon my Lord Chief Ju-

ftice, to give him an Account about the parti-

cular Evidence he had given ; I think it was a-

gainft Mr. Coleman, and that he being with my
Lord Chief Juftice, my Lord was pleafed to

treat him, not as he expected from him ; where-

upon he fell into great Exprefiions of Paflion,

and went down Stairs, and laid, It would never

be well in England, till there was an honefter

Man than the Lord Chief Juftice. When he

had told me this, I told him, at what rate his

Lordfhip had endear'd himfelf to the whole Na-

tion, by his Zeal againft the Plot ; however,
faith he, do me the Kindnefs to beg my Lord's
Pardon, and pray him to accept of this Paper.

My Lord, I was extremely forry, that Mr. Bed-

low had fo misbehaved himfelf; I had a great

Kindnefs for Mr. Bedlow, I have fufficiently to-

ftify'd it, and now fufficiently fufier for it : And
in Kindnefs to him, I went to wait upon my
Lord, and deliver him the Paper; I told his

Lordfhip, that I was heartily forry, that he had
carried himfelf in fuch a manner towards his

Lordihip, but I did defire his Lordfhip to pafs

it by, for I did believe Mr. Bedlow was very
forry for it. My Lord faid, It was fufficiendy

known that he was not a Man of Paffion, but
that he pitied Mr. Bedlow, and defired he would
be more careful and difcreet for the time to come,
for his own fake, and for the Kindgom's; I re-

turned to him, and gave him this Account, and
what was my Lord's Advice to him. My Lord,
when he had his Pardon a drawing, and when he
was asked by the King and my Lord Chancellor,

Who was his Friend ? Who was his Counfel ? he
was pleafed to fay, that I was his Counfel, and
his Friend, recommended by Sir Trevor Wil-

liams, as hath been proved; and when his Ma-
jefty was pleafed to ask him, What advice I had
given him ? he returned the King this Anfwer

;

That I had bid him fpeak the Truth with Cou-
rage; to fpare no Man, where he could juflly

charge any Man ; and to truft God and his Ma-
jefty for a Reward. The King was pleafed to

fay, the Advice was honeft ; and bade him fol-

low it. What I did in this matter, I did in

Friendfhip to him, becaufe I had a great Kind-

nefs for him : I have fupply'd him with feveral

Guineas, with a Guinea or two, when he told

me he has not had Bread. He was pleafed to

tell me, that he was very fenfible of the Service

I had done him. I appeal to him, whether ever

I faw a Penny of Money from him in my Life ;

he was pleafed to tell me, that upon the receiv-

ing of the 500 /. in the Proclamation, he would

give me a Third Part, for that Service I had

done him, and would certainly repay me what-

fbever I had lent him, and the Fees that were
due to me. And, my Lord, upon this I did

likewife tell him, That he had not carried him-
felf well, that he had been a very great Scandal,

Abroad and at Home, and that he would not do

himfelf Right, till he had advifed with Dr. Stil-

lingfieet, Dr. Tillotfon, and Dr. Lloyd. I did ad-

vife him to go to the Chapel, and, upon Con-
ference with thofe worthy Men, I defired him
ferioufly to confider, how he could digeft fo

many as Thirty Sacraments, which he had taken

as Obligations of Secrecy ; my Lord, Mr. Whar-
ton was at that time by, and he hath often heard

me give him Advice to this Effect. Mr. Whar-
ton undertook to go to Dr. Stillingfleet, but he

defired to be excufed ; I did then pray him to go
to Dr. Tillotfon, Mr. Bedlow told me, it was no

great matter, and fo likewife for Dr. Lloyd. He
told me, they were all mercenary Men, that va-

lued 10/. above any Man's Soul : And at this

rate he was pleafed to treat them. I told him, I

was very forry, and difpleafed to hear him to

fpeak fo ill of Men of fo great Eminency in the

World for Learning and Piety. My Lord, in

further difcourfing with Mr. Bedlow, he told me
he was overjoyed, that his Majefty had been

pleafed to take off the Confinement they were

under,
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under, for they had not Liberty to fpeak to one

another; he, and Mr. Oates, and Mr. Dugdale%

but when it was fo granted, that they might now

fpeak together, he told me, with exceeding

Rejoicing, that they could now lay their Stories

together. He did further tell me, that he had

now by him feveral Witnefles, that whatfoever

he bid them fwear, they would fwear ; and he

did confefs he had not done well in fome things,

particularly in charging Mr. Griffith. Now,
my Lord, that Mr. Griffith was Steward to Mr.
Sheldon.

L. C. J. Before you go on in this kind, Mr.

Reading., I muft tell you, 'tis not fair : Here is

Oath made of fuch and fuch Fads againft you,

and you talk of Difcourfes between you and

Mr. Bedlow % either produce Mr. Bedlow to fay

upon his Oath what he hath told you, or elfe pro-

duce fome other Witnefles to prove it, if you

think it material : Do you think your Word fhall

pais for Truth, by telling this Story ? All this

matter will be nothing in the Cafe, unlefs you ap-

ply it to difcredit the Witnefles, therefore pray

produce fome Proof, and we will hear it ; if you'll

ask Mr. Bedlow any Queftions, whereby you may
entrap him, and make him contradict himfelf ; or

if you will produce any other Witnefles againft

him, do it ; but you muft not be fuffered to go in

fuch Difcourfes as thefe, and fpend Time to no

purpofe.

Bedlow. My Lord, if your Lordfhip pleafe to

give me leave, I will anfwer him.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, I muft tell you, I have

as much Patience as another Man, and when you

are charged with a Crime, which you your felf

know, and at firft faid, cannot be aggravated, I

thought it fit you fhould have all fair Liberty of

fpeaking to defend your felf; I have had a great

deal of Patience to hear you already, and fo have

my Brothers : I cannot fay you have fpoke un-

skilfully ; I confefs your Defence is Artificial,

becaufe 'tis nothing to the purpofe : But, we
muft hold you to the Point ; if you can fay any

thing to difprove the Fact of the 28th, 29th,

and 31ft of March, that's the whole matter that

lies upon you ; as to all other Things, they fignify

nothing.

Reading. My Lord, if I underfland any thing

in my own Defence, I did look upon this as fo

material, as nothing more. My Lord, when I

did find this, I appeal to Mr. Bedlow', and ask

him this Queftion upon his Oath, Whether I

did not defire him, as I had defired him before,

to fpeak home, in what he knew for Truth

;

that he would do well to remember, that this

Land groaned for the fhedding of innocent

Blood ; and whether I did not tell him, That if

he fhould go on to add Sin to Sin, and charge

any Man unjuftly, to take away his Life, whether,

inftead of preferving the Nation, by which he

thought he might well deferve of it, he might not

ruin it ?

L. C. J. Do you defire that he fhould be asked

that Queftion ?

Reading. My Lord, I do.

L. C. J. Mr. Bedlow, you hear the Queftion,

pray anfwer it.

Bedlow. My Lord, I do not deny, but that

he hath publickly given me fuch Advice, and
hath charged me with doing of Wrong, in par-

ticular, to Mr. Griffith ; and I do acknowledge,

that Mr. Griffith had a great deal of Wrong ; bur,

How was it ? It was by the Miftake of them that

took him ; the Uncle was taken for the Nephew,
who was really concerned in the Plot, and that oc-

cafioned his Trouble: And I told him I was very

forry for that.

Reading. Pray, Sir, did he give you a Gold
Watch ?

Bedlow. Yes, he did, and I told the Committee
and the Prince of it prefently.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Mr. Bedlow, you received feve-

ral Sums of Money from Mr. Reading* by the

Oath you have taken, were thofe lent to you, or

did you take them to be given ?

Bedlow. Whereas he fays, That I told him I

wanted Bread, it was an unreafonable Thing for

me to fay fo, for I have five Difhes of Meat every

Day allowed me, and, How could I then want
Bread ?

Mr. Juft. Atkins. And you had good Sums of

Money too given to you.

Mr. Juft Wild. But, as I underftood you, you
faid, whenever you wanted Money, he fupplied you.

Bedlow. And fometimes gave me Money when
I did not ask it.

Mr. Juft. Wild. But anfwer my Queftion. Did
he give you that Money for the Intent that you
fhould leffen your Evidence againft the Lords in

the Tower?
Bedlow. This Money that I received of Mr.

Reading, he told me, that he had received Orders

from the Lords, that I fhould have what Money
I came for; that at prefent I could not have any
great Sum, becaufe they could not have Money,
for my Lord Stafford, faith he, is felling his Wood,
and 'till that be come in, he hath not wherewithal

to provide for his Family, but I have Order to lee

you have what you want.

Mr. Juft. Wild. And he gave you Money after

that?

Bedlow. Yes, he did.

Mr. Juft. Wild. And upon that Occafion ?

Bedlow. Yes, I thought fo. And whereas he

fays, my Lord, that I was to pay him the Mo-
ney again, I muft confefs he was to have 100 /.

a Year out of every 1000/. a Year of my Re-
ward.

Reading. By the Oath you have taken, was that

the Reward?
Bedlow. Yes, by the Oath I have taken, fb it

was agreed.

L. C. J. I never knew any Man go about fuch

a Bufinefs as this without fome Invention to pal-

liate it with ; they don't ufe to go downright in

fuborning Witnefles, and fay, here is fo much Mo-
ney for you, pray forfwear your felf, or pray be a

Knave; but, pray remember that you fpeak no-

thing but the Truth, and be cautious that you
don't fwear too much ; and fo 'tis all gilded with

Pretence of the Defire of Truth, but then they

add, You fhall have a very good Reward for your

Care in it; but if this way fhould be allowed, to

Bribe Witnefles to fpeak the Truth, or upon colour

of fpeaking nothing but the Truth, I cannot tell

what will be Subornation. For it is always done

upon this Pretence.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Mr. Reading, there fell fome-

thing from your own Mouth that was Difcourage-

ment enough; you asked him how he could di-

geft 30 Sacraments, which he received as Obli-

gations of Secrecy, and advifed him to go to Di-

vines
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vines to receive Satisfaction about it. That was a

Difcouragement.

Reading. My Lord, I did not mean it fo ; I did

as a Chriflian, and a Loyal Subject, advife him
not to fhed Innocent Blood. Mr. Bedlow, you

have brought me here to this Bar, pray remember

you and I muft be at a Greater.

Bedlow. I always remember it.

Reading. Pray, Sir, anfwer this Queftion upon

your Oath. Did I ever directly or indirectly de-

fire you to lefTen any one Syllable of your Evi-

dence you knew to be true ?

Bedlow. I fuppofe there is no need to prove that,

for there are two other WitnefTes have prov'd it

already.

Reading. But, pray Sir, anfwer my Queftion

upon your Oath.

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, I do upon my Oath

declare, That upon my bringing the Lords off

from the Charge that was upon them, I was to

have fuch a Reward, and you told me, you had

order to draw up blank Deeds.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Mr. Reading, pray hear me;
he hath gone farther than that, and hath Sworn
that he did leflen his Evidence againft Whitebread

and Fenwick upon your Inftigation, which is not

indeed in the Indictment.

Bedlow. I did then fay at the Old-Baily (becaufe

I woirid not fpoil the Defign I had upon him,

when my Lord Chief Juftice asked me, if that

were all I could fay) I told him, it was all I could

fay at prefent, but in Time and Place convenient

I could fay more.

L. C. J. That is not the Matter in queftion

now here, but the other WitnefTes have fworn it

fufficiently. The young Lad fwears exprefly,

that he remembers his Mafter asked about the

Land in Gloucejlerjhire, and you anfvvered you

had Order to draw up a Blank Deed for the Set-

tlement: and as for the other Lords, you told

him, he fhould have a gocd Reward fuitable to

the Service he fhould do them. And you, as to

that, make no kfind of Defence, but think we
fhould forget it by your long Difcourfe to other

purpofe.

Reading. I would not defire to fpend your

Lordfhip's Time in vain Difcourfcs. It lie's purely

on my Negation, and his Affirmation.

Mr. Juft. Wild. No, no, it is not; here are

two more, Mr. Speke and his Man, that fwear the

fame.

Reading. My Lord, I come to that; and I

take it for granted the Law is this, That in Ca-

fes of this Nature, nay, of a much lefs Nature,

no Man fhall be accufed but by lawful WitnefTes

;

And, my Lord, I do infift upon it as Law ; So
is my Lord Lovelace*% Cafe, and i & 5 Ed. 6.

If mine is not Treafon, yet it is a very heinous

Crime ; and I am in your Lordfhip's Judgment,
whether there is a Poffibility of having thefe,

Mr. Bedlow, and the others, to be lawful Wit-
nefTei. Mr. Speke, how worthy a Gentleman
foever he is, is one to whom I have done parti-

cular Service, I have lent him Money, and to this

Day have it not. That he fhould go, my Lord,
and place himfelf behind an Hanging, and put a

Servant on a Bed, to over-hear, and to Eves-drop,

which is the Term of a Crime in Law. That
fuch fhould pals for lawful Witnefles, my Lord,

I hope it was never pretended to before, nor will

be admitted againft me : But, my Lord, all my

Comfort is, that when I went to him, I did

never propound fuch a thing to Mr. Bedlow

fince I was born. And God deal with me here,

and in the next World, according to the Inte-

grity of my Heart, and the Truth of what 1

fpeak now. Yefterday Sevennight, when I did

not hope to fee another Sunday, fo fpent I was
with the barbarous Ufage I have received, I did
defire Dr. Tillotfon to give me the Sacrament,

for I did not expect to live till the next Morning.
And I did pray him to remember, againft the

Time when he and I were to meet before the

great God, that what I was charged with in this

Indictment, is as exprefly falfe, as ever any thine

that was fworn againft an Innocent Man. I can
but fay this now, come Life, come Death, the

Will of his Majejly and of your Lordfhips be
done. There never flood a more Innocent Man
at this Bar than I am of this Fact I am charged
with. And I do fay, my Lord, that having faid

this, I muft, with your Favour, proceed to tell

you, that I defire Mr. Bedlow will be pleafed but

to give an Anfwer to thefe two Queftions, and
I have done. Pray, Sir, by the Oarh you have
taken, did you lay in Provifions of Fire, Coal,

and Billets behind the Pal/grave's-Hezd Tavern,
and hard by Charing-Crofs, to burn the City of

Wefiminjier ?

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, we muft fee Juftice done
on all fides : if you offer to ask him any Queftion

upon his Oath, to make him accufe himfelf, we
muft oppofe it.

Mr. Juft. Bolben. He hath his Pardon, my
Lord, and it ought not to be objected againft him,
if fo.

Reading. The Pardon of the King doth remit

the Punifhment, but it doth not hinder its being

objected to invalidate his Teftimony.

L. C. J. It doth fb far fet him right, that you
fhall not make him calumniate himfelf.

Mr. Juft. Wild. No, you fhall never object it

againft him to accufe himfelf.

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, we are in a Court of

Law, and you are skilled in the Law ; you have
no Evidence to defend your felf by, and fo you
think your Proteftarions muft ferve for Evidence

;

When that will not ferve your turn, you ftrive

to lead us out of the way. Upon this Queftion-

to Mr. Bedlow there lies this Dilemma againft

you: Either he hath his Pardon for what you
object againft him, or he hath not : If he hath

not his Pardon, then he is in danger of Death
for the Crime, and muft not accufe himfelf;

if he hath his Pardon, it doth take away as well

all Calumny as Liablenefs to Punifhment, and fets

him right againft all Objection. So, you know,
after an Act of general Pardon, 'tis a Scandal

to reproach a Man for that which he is thereby

pardoned for. So that if he have not his Pardon,

his Life is in danger ; if he hath, neither his Life

nor Name muft fuffer, and therefore fuch Que-
ftions muft not be asked him. But if you have
any other Queftions that are pertinent to the Bufi-

nefs, propound them, and they fhall be heard and
anfwered.

Reading. My Lord, I took the Law to be, that

no Man fhould be accufed but by lawful WitnefTes,

which I took him not to be, tho' he hath his Par-

don.

L. C. J. I underftand Lawful WitnefTes, or

Accufers, to be fuch whofe Teftimony is not

taken
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taken away by the Law ; if a Man (lands fo in

Court that he cannot be received to give Evi-

dence, he is no lawful Witnefs : As if a Man
be convicted of Perjury, he is not a lawful Wit-

nefs, becaufe he cannot be heard at all. But

every thing that leffens the Credit of his Tefti-

mony doth not make but that he is a lawful

Witnefs ; for I take him to be a lawful Witnefs

as long as he can be heard at all. And as for the

Eves-dropping which you from the Term of Law
would infer a Scandal upon Mr. Speke; I take

it to be a thing that makes much for the Credit

of the Gentleman. For he was not the Man
that did firft detect you, you were detected be-

fore by Mr. Bedlow, and as it flood only upon

his Teftimony, fhould you deny it, it was but

your Negation and his Affirmation, and there-

fore it concerned him (being a deed of Dark-

nefs in its own Nature, when he engaged himfelf

by his Difcourfe as much as you) to have fome

of unqueeftionable Integrity and Credit to detect

you further in it, and for his own Vindication.

And it is therefore a Credit to Mr. Speke that he

was thought fuch a Perfon, whofe Credit was not

to be fufpected, and fo was fet to convict you. So

that it is fo far from detracting from his Credit,

that it fhews him a Man reputed to be of un-

doubted Integrity.

Bedlow. I fay this, my Lord, we did defign to

propofe it to another Gentleman of Quality, who
had been before acquainted with the Defign in ge-

neral, but we could not find him out to acquaint

him with it.

Speke. As for what he fays of Money he lent

me, I will acquaint your Lordfhip how it was.

There was a Double- Return in the Cafe of my
Brother's Election for this Parliament, and he

and the other Gentleman that flood with him

(for there were four returned) had gotten Order

for the hearing of their Caufe, and I had taken

a Copy out before, and paid Six Shillings and

Eight Pence for it, or thereabouts, and after-

wards Mr. Reading comes to my Chamber and

brings me another Order, and I told him I had

one already, and asked him what he paid for it,

he told me Ten Shillings. Now 1 knew it was

but Six Shillings and Eight Pence, for I had

paid fo before : faid I, what need I have ano-

ther? but 1 fuppofe my Brother will pay you. I

had before recommended him to my Brother, to

manage his Bufinefs in Parliament, and I did de-

fire he might be of Counfel for him. I knew
what paff"ed concerning the Treaty between Mr.
Bedlow and him daily •, but becaufe he fhould not

fufpect me, I did carry my felf very fairly and

friendly to him, and, as I faid, I defired my Bro-

ther to employ him, and let him be of his Coun-
fel, but my Brother reiufed, and told me he

would have nothing to do with him, for, faid

he, I hear an ill Character of him. And the

Ten Shillings for the Order is the Money he

fpeaks of.

L. C. J. Is that all the Money he lent you ?

Speke. Yes, that is all.

Mr. Jufl. Atkins. Mr. Reading, this I mufl fay

to you, your Afperfion of thefe Perfons with be-

ing Eves-droppers, is no Afperfion at all. For
it was neceffary for Mr. Bidlow to take this Courfe,

and it was prudent for him to make ufe of un-

fufpected Perfons, to have it underftood by the

Mouth of more than one Witnefs what your Prac-

tices were. For if he had not done it, and it had

been otherwife difcovered, he had been in the

fame danger that you are in now.

Reading. My Lord, 1 have done. Since Mr.
Speke hath been pleafed to give you an account of

this Matter, I defire I may ask him one Queftion

:

Whether he did not come to me to be of the

Counfel with his Brother?

L. C J. Fie hath faid fo already.

Reading. Did not you bring this Gentleman,

your Brother, to my Chamber ?

Speke. Yes, I did.

Reading. Did not you defire me to draw up his

Cafe?

Speke. Yes, I think I did.

Reading. I fpent moft of a whole morning in

it: Pray did I ever receive a Penny of Money of

you?
Speke. No. I fpoke to my Brother to employ

you, but he faid he had heard an ill Character of

you, and he would have nothing to do with

you. And you asked Ten Shillings for an Order
which I had before for Six Shillings and Eight
Pence.

Reading. Here is this Gentleman, Mr. Hayes,

who had been a Clerk there, and knows it to be

Ten Shillings every Order.

L. C. J. It is not at all pertinent to the Bufi-

nefs we are upon.

Reading. He hinder'd me from receiving a
Fee from the other Side, and I am Twenty
Shillings out of Pocket, and yet am thus treated

for my Kindnefs. There were three Orders I

paid for.

Speke. There were more concern'd than my
Brother: You deliver'd but one to me, I know
not how many you deliver'd to the reft.

Mr. Jufl. Wild. I am forry you difgrace your

Profeffion by making fo weak a Defence. What
fay you to that which pad on Saturday morning
at Mr. Bedlow's ?

Reading. Mr. Bedlow did defire me to go to

the Lords in the 'Tower, to tell them that he was
called upon to give in his Evidence againft them,

and that he could delay it no longer ; and he bid

me tell them, that is to fay, my Lord Stafford,

my Lord Pcwis
y

and my Lord Pelre, that it

they did not afiure him of a good Reward he

would give in fuch an Evidence againft them as

fhould take away their Lives, and he had Wit-
neffes to do it, as well as he himfelf j but he bid

me tell them, if they would give him a Reward,
he would put in fuch an Evidence as would do
them no hurt at all.

Mr. Jufl. Wild This is directly againft you,

and within the Words of the Indictment, 'tis a

Contracting with him for a Reward to leffen his

Evidence againft the four Lords. He told you,

as you fay, thus, and thus, and you agreed to do
as he faid.

Mr. Dolben. You do fpeak the Truth plainly

now.

Reading. My Lord, I do fay this, that what I

have faid is true ; in the Prefence of God I

fpeak it. The Lords do know this, and the

Lord of Heaven doth know it, he propofed it

firft to me.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. It is to no purpofe to talk,

unlefs you can prove it.

L. C. J. Call your Witnefles, and we will hear

them. Will the Jury give in their Verdict upon
your bare AfTertion? We have heard you a great

while, if you will call any Witnefles, do.

Sir
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Sir James Butler. My Lord, I defire Mr. Read-

ing may be asked, whether $6 Guineas were

not brought by him to Mr. Bedlow, and paid

to him for to leffen his Evidence againft the

Lords ?

Bedhw. I had fometimes Two Guineas,- fome-

times more, but not any fuch great Sum at once,

but I believe more, at feveral times, and he told

me that he had order to fupply me at any time

with what I wanted.

L. C. J. Come, where are your Witneffes,

Mr. Reading?

Reading. Here is Mr. Palmer, my Lord. [Who

was Sworn.] My Lord, I defire this Gentle-

man may give you an Accouht what Mr. Bedlow

did fay to me concerning the borrowing of any

Money, upon the Tuefday Morning before I was-

clap'd up. The 30th of March^ as I take it, in

the Morning.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. That was Sunday.

Reading. It was on Tuefday, my Lords, the Day
before he received the 500 Pounds. I believe it

was the firft or fecond of April. My Lord, this

Gentleman was there in the Room.
Palmer. My Lord, Mr. Bedlow at that time

had Twenty Shillings in his Hand of his Mother's,

as he faid : Mr. Reading came in, faid he, Mr.
Reading, all my Money is gone, and I have no

more than this, and this I borrowed of my Mo-
ther: with that Mr. Reading clap'd his Hand in his

Pocket, and gave him Two Guineas. God-a-mercy,

faith Mr. Bedlow, you are an honeft Man, and my

chief Fountain.

Sir Cr. Levinz. When was this Money deli-

vered ?

Palmer. It was about three Weeks ago.

Mr. Juft. Wild. But he tells you, you were to

have a Sup out of this Fountain.

L. C. J. He doth prove this (what Ufe you

will make of it I know not) that on Tuefday three

Weeks ago, which we find to be the Firft of April,

he faw Twenty Shillings in Mr. Bedlow's Hand,
and he faid, This is all the Money I have ; and you
clap'd your Fland into your Pocket, and gave him
Two Guineas, and he laid, God-a-mercy, you are

my chief Fountain.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. This was after you faw

Mr. Bedlow was for your turn. This makes againft

VOH. \

Reading. I defire he may be asked, whe-

ther he hath not heard Mr. Bedlow confefs

that he hath had Money feveral times from
me.

L. C. J. Mr. Bedlow hath confeffed it.

Reading. I defire him to tell,, whether Mr.
Bedlow did not confefs, that he did lay Fuel

behind the Paljgrave-Head-Ta.vern to burn Weft-

minfter.

Bedlow. I acknowledge it ; that was part of the

Treafon I was guilty of, and for which the King
pardon'd me.

Reading. I defire to ask Mr. Bedlow's, Man one
Queftion, whether your Mafter, when I went a-

long with him to fetch the Privy-Seal for the 500
Pounds, did not defire me to lend him Money for

the Privy-Seal ?

Wiggins. He faid he had no Money about him,
and asked you if you had any, and defired you
would lend him fome; and then I faid I had fome,

and fo he faid no more.

Reading. Was there any thing of the Confeder-

ation fpoken of?

Wiggins. I don't know that, I could not hear

it. He fpoke it in the open Court, where there

were a great many by.

Reading. I have feveral other Witneffes, that

will give you an Account, that when he hath
not had any Money to pay a Reckoning, he
hath had it from me at feveral times ; and the very
Day when he had got this Money, the 500 Pounds,
and it was laid upon the Table in the Room,
in the Tavern where he was, he did then defire

me to let him have a Guinea for to pay the

Reckoning ; and he would pay me in the After-
noon.

Bedlow. I do not deny it, but that I have receiv-

ed feveral Sums of Money, for he always told

me, I muft trouble no Body elfe when I wanted
Money, but him.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. They who have to deal with
Men of fuch Art as you are of, muft ufe fame Art
with you.

Mr. Juft. Wild. Did you ever promife to pay
him back the Money again ?

Bedlow. No, my Lord, but he was to have
a Hundred Pounds a Year out of every Thou-
fand Pounds a Year that I fhould have from them
Lords.

Reading. My Lord, I do here declare, that I

never had any more from the Lords in the Tower,
than thus: I had from my Lord Stafford fix

Guineas, and I do not know I had one more;
I had never from my Lord Bella/is more than two
Guineas; nor from my Lord Petre than five,

and that was at the time when I carried him the

Paper, which I'll give your Lordfhip an Account
of, by and by. I never fpoke to my Lord Arundel?

tho' I met him often; nor with my Lord Powis,
than upon this Account : Mr. Bedlow did defire me
to go and tell the Lords in the Tower, that if they

did well Reward him, he would make the Charge
he had againft them very eafy. My Lord, I did tell

him, This is an Affair which I cannot in prudence

deal in, for, faid I, you are a defigning Man, and hew
you will deal with me afterwards I don't know. Said

he, 'Tis inyour Power, Mr. Reading, by this thai I
have faid, to do me- a Mifchiefy becaufe ifyou do dif-

cover what 1 have faid to ycu, you will he believed*

but if l fhould offer this againft you, Ifhall never be

believed: And with all the Imprecations in the

World I do curfe my felf, if I did direclly or in-

directly offer to perfuade him to diminifh his Evi-

dence, but he propofed it to me. But, faid I, here is

one Mr. Dugdale, and he may give Evidence againft

my Lord Stafford, tho' you don't, and what willyou

do as to him ? Believe me, faid he, that I deal en-

tirely with you, by this Token : Did not Dugdale
come to you to defire you to draw up his Evidence .?

And fo he did, my Lord, and told me he would

be relponfible for it. I told him I was unwil-

ling to meddle with fuch an Affair, but if he

would come to my Chamber I would give him
what Leifure I had, in order to the drawing up
of his Evidence into a Method ; but he never

came. Mr. Bedlow told me, faid he, believe me

in all the reft by this Token, have a care of him, he

is fet on purpofe to infnare you. Siith he, Tell

from me, he fhall do him no harm, for he hath pro'

mifed to fay nothing againft my Lord Stafford, but

what I will have him to fay. I defire Mr. Bedlow

will anfwer this upon his Oath : Did I ever know
one Nicholas Jordan' till you acquainted me with

him ? Had not he fome Eftate in Gloucejlerftire ?

Bedlow.
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Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, I did tell Mr. Read-

ing, that I would have fuch an Eftate fettled up-

on me, of my Lords, in Gloucefterjhire, and his

Words to me were thefe : That he had Order to

draw blank Deeds for the conveying of that E-

ftate, which my Lord would fign in Ten Days

after his Difcharge.

Reading. He told me, that for the other Wit-

neffes, he would do well enough with them, and

defired me to tell my Lord Stafford, that he

would do fo and fo, let him have but a Reward;

and, believing of it, I went to the Tower, I ask-

ed my Lord Stafford if he knew one Nicholas

Jordan ; he told me he did, he had been a Te-

nant of fome Eftate of his. Mr. Bedlow bid me
ask him, whether he fhould not have a Provi-

fion of Money fecured to him out of that Farm.

My Lord, I told him I would acquaint his Lord-

fhip with it. I did fo, and my Lord Stafford

was pleafed to tell me, that he would not give

him Six -pence j that he did value himfelf upon

his own Innocency, and the Infamy of his Accu-

fers ; that if he fhould offer to give him any

thing, he fhould look upon it as the greateft part

of his Guilt. But, faid he to me, Mr. Reading,

this I mitft confefs, you have been often with me, I
am much indebted to you for Fees for coming to me,

if you will but write a Letter to vie, that you are

not able to attend my Bufinefs, and neglebl other

Mens, at this rate of being paid ; and that there-

fore Ifhould not take it ill that you do not come to

me any more, unlefs you may have an Affurance of

being (atisfied and re-warded for it. And, faith he,

thereupon Pll write you this in Anfwer, That I'll

giveyou the Sum ofTwo Hundred Rounds, to bepaid
to you within Ten Days after my Acquittal ; and,

faith he, I will give you this Affurance too, that you

ffall have this Two Hundred Pounds fecured toyou,

as foon as ever youfhall defire it. My Lord, this

being the Sum ; But withal remember, faith he at

the fame time, / do here declare, and fray do not

fail of remembring it, that I will not, direclly nor

indiretlly, promife Mr. Bedlow Six-pence. I went
to my Lord Powis, from whom i never faw Six-

pence in my Life, and he did declare to me, that

he would not for any thing in the World be
guilty of the making him a Promife of one Six-

pence, (and this is certainly fo) ; neverthelefs, if

Mr. Bedlow will not go on to do me a Mifchicf, as

hitherto he hath done, andffall not go on to charge

me unjufly, when Iam acqidttcd, hefiall find that

I will do what fhall be like a Gentleman ; but I
won't promife one Farthing.

L. C. J. You have faid enough, Mr. Reading.

Reading. My Lord Petre faid he would give
never a Farthing.

Mr. Juft. Wild. This is againft your felf.

Reading. I can't help it, I did it to five inno-

cent Blood, God's Will be done with mine, I

think I was bound to do this, and I had finned

againft God Almighty and my Country if I had
not done it. My Lord, I did come back to Mr.
Bedlow, and he did ask me if I had been with
the Lords in the Tower ; J did tell him, Yes ;

and I did ask him whether there was any body in

the Bed by him. He asked me, What fay the

Lords ? I think I did tell him in very little dif-

ferent Terms from what 1 have now told you,
be it of what Conftruction it will. And whereas
he fays, that there was a Thoufand Pounds and
Writings to be drawn, I never opened my Mouth
to him of fuch a Thing.
Vol. II.
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L. C. J> What fay you to the Eftate in Glou-

cejlerffire ?

Reading. That was only to fecufe the Two
Hundred Pounds to me, pro Confilio impenfo &

;

impendendo. My Lord, when that was done,

Mr. Bedlow was pleafed to tell me, for I mult

confefs, he did defire me to give him an Account,,

and 1 did come very late, as Mr. Speke fays. I

was in his Chamber about an Hour ; it feems it

was that time that this Gentleman, as he fays, was

there, but Mr. Bedlow not being at home, I went

away 5 and being to give him an Account next

morning, it feems this Gentleman was there al-

io, for he hath fworn it ; when I came 1 gave
him this Account, and God knows it was no o-

ther j nor did i ever hear talk of any Deeds draw-
ing.

Speke. Did not you fay, that the Deed was to

be figned in Ten Days ?

Reading. I did tell him, that my Lord would
give me a Letter, wherein he would promife me
to fecure the Payment of Two Hundred Pounds
within Ten Days after his Acquittal.

Speke. I fay what you faid. You had Orders
to draw up a Deed, from my Lord of Stafford -,

which my Lord had promifed faithfully to feal

within Ten Days after he was difcharged.

Reading. It was only a Deed for zoo/, to be
paid to me pro Confilio impenfo & impendendo \

and to be fecured upon that Eftate in Gloucefler-

floire.

Speke. Nay, I don't know ; I heard no Latin

there.

L. C. J. But what is that to Mr. Bedlow ?

Mr. Juft. Wdd. Why fhould you difcourfe

with Mr. Bedlow about your Penfion ?

Reading. My Lord Stafford did fay, When you
have the Money, the 200 /. do you difpofe of it

as you think fit ?

L. C. J. This is nothing to the purpofe, but

an Endeavour, by multiplicity of Words, to make
us forget what has been fworn. Anfwer the

Matter of the Paper whereby the Evidence was
leffened.

Reading. My Lord,, upon this Mr. Bedlow

was pleafed to tell me thus in Anfwer : That he

would take their Lordfhips Words ; and bid

me go along with him, and he would go fetch

that Evidence that he had, and would put in fuch

and fuch Evidence, I fhould write, and hefhould

dictate. I went along with him to Tork-build-

ings, where he fiid his Mother lay : And there

he faid he had left his Papers ; but when he

came there, they were not there, but he told me
his Memory mould ferve ; and we went back

to the Chamber. And, my Lord, it feems thefe

Gentlemen were there before, and Mr. Bedlow
fent them away ; and when they were gone, we
went into a Room together, where he did dictate

to me every Syllable 1 wrote. And when he had

dictated, and I had writ it, I read it, and he

read it again himfelf. And having perufed it,

he faid, This is that which, I think, is kind to

them ; and this is that ! can come off with well

enough in faying it 5 for I can make it out after-

wards, that it was by Plearfay. And this, faith

he, do you take along with you, and carry it to

the Lords, and let me have their Anfwer. And
this is that very P.iper that I did write in Mr.
Bedlow^ Chamber by his Directions, and dictated

from his Mouth.

N Mr.
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Mr. Jujl. Atkins. And you did carry it to the

Lords ?

Reading. Yes, I did. And, my Lord, when
I had done this, I did ask him this Qneftion, (I

did not direct him any one Syllable ; but as he

dictated, fo I wrote :) What he had to fay a-

gainft my Lord Bella/is , and my Lord Arundel?

He told me, that tho' he was refolved to be kind

to thofe Lords, yet he was refolved the other

mould die. And he told me, That the 4000 /.

and the 1500/. that was to be paid to Sir George

Wakeman, was to be paid by my Lord Bella/is.
'

And, my Lord, ! began to write, and did write

five or fix Lines here in this Paper, and then left

off. My Lord, when I had done this, I went

to the Tower the firft Opportunity-, I did come
to my Lord Stafford, and I fhewed him this.

He told me, That he did find that Mr. Bedlow
would now begin to be an honeft Man. My
Lord, afterwards I went to my Lord Petre, and
fhewed it to him ; and he did, at that time, my
Lord, give me five Guineas -, and before that I

never faw a Penny of his Money in my Life. I

went to my Lord Powis, and when I came, I

found Sir Henry Tichburn in the Chamber ; and
it being late at Night, and it being Parliament-

time, and I having Perfons that (laid for me, I

did defire to be excufed : Tho' Sir Henry was
pleafed to walk out upon the Leads, leaving my
Lord and me together, yet did not I fhew him
any one Syllable of this Paper, nor did I fay any

thing to him concerning it. My Lord, I think

it was upon the Monday Morning that I came to

Mr. Bedlow's : He was not within ; I then came
to the Painted Chamber, and I was going up to

Houfe of Lords, and Mr. Bedlow met me in the

Court of Requejls, or the Painted Chamber, one

of them, and this Gentleman was with him.

And there he asked me for a Paper : I had writ

it out before, and 'tis this very Paper that is now
with Mr. Clare. He did defire me, after I had
been with the Lords, to deliver a Copy of this

to them to write it out : And I did fo ; and this

is writ in the Third Perfon, the other was writ

in the Firft Perfon. And, I think, there is no
other Alteration in it. My Lord, that which I

did deliver to this Gentleman Mr. Bedlow, be-

fore Mr. Speke, was in the Firft Perfon, the o-

ther was in the Third. What they did with it

afterwards, I cannot tell. My Lord, after this the

500 /. was received, and he promifed to pay me
all the next Morning, and pray'd me that 1 would
come to his Chamber. But when I came I mif-

fed of him. His Clerk told me, he was gone
abroad. I came here to Wejltninjler ; and when
I came there, I went up to the Speaker's Cham-
ber, to fpeak with my Clients there : But when
I came up, the Door was faftned, and I was ar-

retted. My Lord, I have done; and, let it be

with me, or againft me, this is what I faid to

the Committee of Secrecy ; and I fpeak to your

Lordfhip under the greateft Tie and Obligation

to fpeak Truth, in the World, that this is all I

know. And whereas Mr. Bedlow did tell your

Lordfhip, that this Writing that I have drawn
was not as he directed, but that 1 had carried it

to the Lords, and their Lordfhips did correct

it, and 1 brought it back again ; that I did

bring him another Paper : That very Copy which

I writ out, in the Chamber, in the Third Per-

fon, I have ; and this that is produced againft

me, is in the Firft Perfon, and I defire your

Lordfhips to look upon it, and judge whether

there be any Correction, more than the Altera-

tion of the Perfon.

[Then both the Papers were Jhewn to Mr. Bedlow.]

Bedlow. Your Lordfhips may fee both thefe

Papers are fair written, without interlining : But

there were above forty Interlineations in that Pa-

per that was written in my Chamber.

L. C. J. This agrees with what you faid be-

fore, that when you did put in any thing that

was home, he would correct it, and fay, This

is Treafon, and this will charge them ; and fo

mended it. And it was natural there fhould be

two Papers : That which was to be kept for

the Lords, was in the Third Perfon, importing,

That He faith fo and fo -, and the other was in

the Firft Perfon, which was to be kept by Mr.
Bedlow, for the helping of his Memory, I heard

fo and fo •, that he might know how to obferve

his Contract. But what fay you to this, that the

firft Paper was, as Mr. Bedlow fays, correc-

ted, and had many Interlineations, and can-

not, therefore, be the fame with that you

produced.

Reading. My Lord, I hear it ; I have but this

Thing to anfwer, let it avail me any thing or no-

thing. I fpeak it in the Prefence of God, (pray

favour me) this Paper is the very Paper that I did

write out •, there is no other Interlineation in it

than what you fee. It never went out of my
hand, from the time of my writing it in Mr.

Bedlow's Chamber, till the time that I fhew'd it

them in the Tower, and I did deliver it to Mr.

Sachtverel.

Mr. Jujl. Wild. Ay, but there was another

Paper, there was a Paper corrected according to

your Intention ; and then you caufed this Paper

to be writ out, and it was never feen fince.

Reading. No other, upon my Word.
Mr. Jujl. Wild. But he fwears it, and it is ob-

vious to the leaft Underftanding here.

Reading. My Lord, I have only this to fay,

That 'tis not true.

L C. J. But it is very probable, and it is fworn

to be true.

Reading. I can only fay, 'Tis not true.

Mr. Jujl. Wild. I have one thing to fay to

you: With what Colour could you juftify w hat-

you did, to carry the King's Evidence to the Pri-

foners, if it were no more than that ?

Reading. I have but this to anfwer for that, I

did not know it was a Crime.

Mr. Jujl. Wild. There is no mean Capacity,

but what knows that is a Crime.

Reading. I did look upon it as a Crime if I

had not done it, and Confcientia errans ligat ; it

was a Point of Confcience to me to do it. I did

think it a Duty I owed to God, to prevent

Perjury ; and a Duty I owed to my Country, to

prevent innocent Blood.

L. C. J. Will you impeach the Juftice of the

Kingdom in that manner ? You are a Man of

the Law, don't you know, that no Man ought

to be of Council for a Prifoner in Felony or Trea-

fon, till they are affigned.? and for you to carry

the King's Evidence to the Prifoner, as you your

felf confefs, how can youexcufe it? and here are

Witneffes that heard you contract with him to

leffen his Evidence, and cui bono? Was not this

out of Favour to the Lords in the Tower, to get

them off? Now you by multiplying your Dif-

courfc, inftead of vindicating your felf, have

fpoiled
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fpoiled the Matter, and confeffed that which a-

mounts to the whole Charge.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. And you confefs you were

to have two Hundred Pounds from my Lord

Stafford, which you were to diftribute as you

thought fit.

Mr. Juft. Jones. And you have confeffed, Mr.

Reading, that not only you have endeavoured to

take off Mr. Bedlow, but Mr. Dugdale too ; for

it was you firft ftarted that point.

.Reading. My Lord, 1 have no more. I did

never defire him to fpeak one Word Jefs than the

Truth, and the whole Truth ; but I did my En-

deavour to prevent Perjury, and the fhedding of

innocent Blood ; and this 1 did as a good Chri-

ftian. My Lord, I did defire alfo to fhew you

this Paper, but you were pleafed to over -rule it,

that it fhould not be read.

L. C. J. We think it not material ; we over-

rule it not, but by way ofAdmittance that you fay

true.

Reading. Pray, will you fee, is there any Va-

riance between the two Papers ?

• L. C. J. There is only the Addition of the

Words concerning my Lord Bella/is, and that was

to ftrike Terror in him, to make him come into

the Bargain too.

Reading. I defire Mr. Bedlow would look up-

on this Paper alfo : Is this your Writing, Sir ?

Bedlow. Yes, it is.

• Reading. Since your giving me this Paper in

your Chamber, have you ever feen it till to-

day ?

Bedlow. No, I have not.

Reading. Then, my Lord, I pray this ; there

is. one Prickman a Merchant in Town, that is

broke, he wrote to me for a Protection, and I

defired Mr. Bedlow that he would help him to

a Protection •, he faid he would, and fpoke to

the Prince, and others of the Lords, but could

not get one, for I called upon him to know his

Anfwerj but withal, told me, he had a better

Contrivance than any Protection could be given

him from a fingle Lord, and that is this, That

he would fay, he was one of his Witneffes, and

that upon that Account he would get him a Pro-

tection from the Committee of Secrecy, and they

would believe whatever he faid to them. I

told him I did not know of what Signification

that might be to my Friend -, he told me, Yes,

for he had given it to feveral already. 1 ask'd

him, how he could juftify if, if it were queftion-

cd ? Oh, faid he, let him lay any thing, That

he hath heard fome body or other, in a Coffee-

houfe, call me Rogue. My Lord, I never faw

Mr. Prickman fince •, but faith; Here, I'll give

you this Bufinefs for the protecting of him ; and

he under-writ this, as from Mr. Treby : Pray, do

not fail to come to me every Hour, to receive what

Orders the Committee (Joall fend to you by me, that

we may not neglecl his Majefifs fpecial Bufinefs ;

and ifyou do receive any Let or Hindrance, by any

Perfon wbatfoever, fend to ?ne, and I will caufe

thofe People to be fo feverely punifhed, as fo great a

Contempt does merit. This was, my Lord, before

my Treating with the Lords, in Time, the 25th

oi March. My Lord, when I did find he had

got fuch Tricks and Ways, I did apprehend and

refolve (pray give me your Favour in theExpref-

fion) not to do any prejudice to the King's Evi-

dence ; for, my Lord, 1 do think he is not an

Evidence for the King, that does go about, by

Vol. Ik
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any indirect means, to commit a Crime. Bat,

my Lord, I think he is a Servant to the Nati-

on, and does a very good piece of iervice to the

King, that goes about the taking away the Guilt

ol innocent Blood.

L. Ci J. Indeed, Mr. Reading, we muft not

fuffer this : I told you before, that by fuch Dif-

.

courfe you impeached the Juftice of the King-
dom. If you had fufpected Mr. Bedlcw's Ho-
nefty or Truth, you mould have gone to the

King or Council, or the Secret. Committee (they

are Men of Honour, and would have been as

tender of Mens Lives, as you or any other

Man) but for you to do it of yourfeif, in this

Way, fhews it is but for a plaufible Excufe to

colour your corrupt Dealing.

Bedlow. This Protection was given us by the

Secret Committee, for Mr. Prickman.

L. C. J. St does not appear but thxt Prickman
might be a Witnefs.

Reading. My Lord, I have but this, and I

have done. At the time wheh I was taken, I

have feveral Witneffes to prove it, that I was re-

folded to give his Majefty,- or the Secretaries, an
Account of it ; and I did ask Mr. Bedlow for an
Account he had given againft the Queen ; and I

had the Paper by me, at the fame time when I

was taken : and I have feveral Witneffes by me,
to prove that at that time—

—

L. C. J. Mr. Reading, this is nothing to the

purpofe : Will you have done ? unlefs you can
fpeak to the Fact ycu are charged with. The
Court hath had a great deal of Patience with you '

already.

Reading. I have done, my Lord.
L. C. J. Gentlemen of the Jury, Your Pati-

ence hath been very much exercifed already, by
the long Difcourfes Mr. Reading hath made ; [

fhall therefore be fhort in my Directions. He
(lands indicted for fuborning Mr. Bedlow, in the

Evidence that he was to give, concerning the

Lords in the Tower,that were impeached of-Trea-

fon by the Houfe of Commons and Sir Henry
Tichbum. This is the Subfhnce of the Indict-

ment. There is an Inducement in it concerning
this horrid Confpiracy, and the Perfons that have
been executed for it, Coleman, Grove, and Ire-

land \ but as to that, it is admitted by Mr. Read'
ing, and it lies fo much in every one's Know-
ledge, that it fhould hardly need to be proved.
So then the Queftion remains only a Quefiion of
Fact, concerning Subornation of Perjury •, which
hath been fully proved to you, not only by Mr. i

Bedlow, who hath related the whole Tranfaction,

but alfo by Mr. Speke, who tells you that Mr.
Bedlow did inform him how it went on from
Time to Time : And thereupon, to make the

Matter plain, and to fupprefs fo abominable a
practice, it was thought there was no better way
to difcover this Deed of .Darknefs, and to catch

a Knave, but. to bring him into a Secret Place,

where he might fpeak freely, thinking there'

were no Witneffes to teitify againtt him ; which
was intended to have been done the Evening of

the 28th of March, which was Friday : Bur
Mr. Reading and Mr. Bedlovs not then meeting,

the next Morning at Seven o'Clock was appoint-

ed, when Mr. Reading did come, and asked if

no body were there ; of which being affured,

he thought himfeif fecure and fecret. Then
Mr. Bedlow asked him, What fay the Lords in

the Tower ? What fays my Lord Stafford ?

§ N 2. Mr. Reading
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Mr. Reading told him,That as to myLord Stafford,

he fhould be fure of the Eftate inGloucefterfhire, for

my Lord Stafford had ordered him to prepare a

Blank Deed, which, within ten Days after his

Difcharge, fhould be perfected. And the reft of

the Lords did affure him, That after they were

acquitted in proportion to the Service he did

them, in leffening of his Evidence, he fhould

have a very plentiful Reward. Thereupon, there

arofe farther Difcourfe. Saith Mr. Bedlow, I

won't rely upon their Promife, I will have fome-

thing under their Hands. No, faith Mr. Read-

ing, that they think not convenient. Saith Mr.

Bedlow, I muft go and deliver in my Tcftimony

to the Secret Committee immediately, and there-

fore, Mr. Reading, the Writing muft be made

prefently, or nothing can be done. Why, faith

Mr. Reading, can't you put it off till Wednef-

day ? No, I cannot, fays he. Well then, faith

Mr. Reading, I will go fpeak with the Lords in

the Tower, and I'll bring you their Anfwer, and

be with you on Monday Morning. Afterwards

when they went out of the Houfe, Mr. Speke,

and the other Witnefs, came from the Places

where they were privately put, and they faw Mr.

Reading going out. Mr. Reading and Mr._M
low, within half an Hour came back again to

the Houfe, and were private together. Upon
Monday Morning, Mr. Speke was to watch, and

fee the Delivery of this Paper, and he gives you

a very rational and diftinct Account, (and he is

not a Man that the Prifoner can any way im-

peach in his Credit) he tells you, He faw him

deliver the Paper out of his Hand to Mr. Bed-

low, and Mr. Bedlow put it towards his Pocket,

but afterwards put it behind him, and he followed

him, and took it out of his Hand. And this

Paper is here, which contains the Purport of the

Evidence to be given againft the Lords in the

Tower; but fo minced, that it is all but Hear-'

fay, and nothing wi'l touch them, as to the

Matters for which they are charged : Here you

have the Pap'.r under his own Hand.

Now he comes to make his Defence ; and

what hath he done ? He hath made a very long

Difcourfe, but no Defence at all to the Matter

of the Indictment. He fays nothing againft the

^ Credit of the Witneffes, but hath confeffed, in

effect, the whole Matter that he was charged

with ; for what hath he to do, to carry the Evi-

dence to the Lords in the Tower, and to go from

one to another, to tell them thus and thus, and

to receive Promifes from them of Rewards, either

in genera! or particular ? He hath made Confef-

fion of the whole of his Charge in the Indict-

ment ; and without it, there is fuch undoubted

Teftimony, nothing impeaching the Witneffes,

that I fhall need to trouble you no further.

Do you go together, and confider of it, and we
will receive your Verdict.

L. C. Baron. Gentlemen of the Jury, It hath

been fo fully repeated by my Lord, that I fhall

not need to do any thing of that; but there is

one little Piece of the Evidence, which I defire

you would take notice of : Mr. Bedlow fays, the

Paper given him upon Monday, in the Painted

Chamber, which he carried behind him, and

Mrt Speke took away, and which Mr. R-eading

brought him from the Lords, did contain ten

times much milder Evidence than the Paper dic-

tated by him on the Saturday ; and that Paper

<evas forty times lefs than that which he had given

in to the Secret Committee.

Mr. Ju(i. Wild. [To Sir John Cutler.] Sir

John, What Paper is that you have in your

Hand?
Sir John Cutler. 'Tis only the Names of the

Jury, my Lord.

L. C. J. You do well to take the Names of

the Jury with you, if you withdraw, that you
may know one another : But I fuppofe you won't

be long out.

Mr. Juft.
Wild. I fpoke it, becaufe you are to

have no Papers with you, but what are under

Seal.

Then the Jury withdrew, and after a Jbort Re-
cefs, return again to the Bar ; and being

called by their Names, feverally anfwered.

CI. of the Cr. Gentlemen, Are you all agreed
of your Verdict ?

Omnes. Yes.

Cl. of the Cr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Omnes. Our Foreman.
Cl. of the Cr. How fay you, Is NathanaelRead-

ing Guilty of the Offence whereof he ftands In-

dicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

CL of the Cr. This is your Verdict ; you fay,

that Nathanael Reading is Guilty of the Offence

whereof he ftands indicted, and fo you fay all.

Mr. Juft. Wild. 'Tis a very good Verdift.

L. C. J. h is a very good Verdict, the Matter
lay in a fmall Room, and I wonder how Mr.
Reading could make it fo long.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. He was the greateft Witnefs
againft himfelf.

L. C. J. You of the Jury may take your Eafe.

Ihen the Court adjourned till Two of the Clock,

being then half an Hour paft One.

Jbout half an Hour after, the Court returned a-

gain ; and Proclamation being made for Atten-

dance, the Lord Chief Juflicefpoke to the Prifo-

ner Convitled, then Jlanding at the Bar, thus

:

L.C.J. Mr. Reading, You have been here

upon your Trial to-day, and you are convicted

of a very great and heinous Crime; there re--

mains nothing now, but to receive the Judgment
of the Law : And the Rule of Law is, That in

all Cafes the Court fhould confider quantitatem de-

litli, fc? qualitatem perfonce, and accordingly pro-

nounce their Judgment.
As to the Quantity of the Offence, you your

felf did admit in the Beginning of your Defence,

that it was not capable of Aggravation, but looks

rather like Treafon than a Mifdemeanour ; and fo

I fhall not fpeak to that, for any Flourifhes would
but found in Diminution of it.

Then we have nothing to confider, but the

Quality of the Perfon ; and of that there might

be a great deal faid, if we confider your Perfon

as a Lawyer, one that fhould be a Man ofKnow-
ledge, to be able to advife, a Minifter of Juftice,

to affift the Court wherein he pleads ; and ought

to be a Perfon of untainted Fidelity, that he may
keep his Client's Secrets ; and for a Lawyer to be

convicted for fuch an Oifence, is that which ag-

gravates it beyond all Expreffion ; and I think

we can do no lefs to evidence the Care we have

of the King's People, than to fhew that there

fhall be greater Severity ufed againft fuch per-

fons offending ; and 'tis a great Credit and Be-

nefit
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nefit to the Profeftion, that the Members of it for

fuch Offences fhall be dealt with more feverely,

than we mould deal in any other Cafe : So far

will we be from leffening it in this Refpecl. For

I would have no Man of the Profeffion of the

Law, that mould do thus, be able afterwards to

draw People to him to truft him with their Bufi-

nefs ; but his Offence mould be publickly known
to all the World, that Men might know him,

and not employ him. In one Senfe, 'tis true, he

may be trufted with a Secret, by the fame Rea-

fon that a known Lyar may be, becaufe his Word
is never to be believed*

There is another Thing that we regard in your

Perfon too •, if you were a Man of a great For-

tune, or a large Eftate, I do not fee but we
fhould fet that, which might be called a Ran-

fom, rather than a Fine, in this Cafe ; but it not

being fo, we have taken it into our Confideration

to do it with Meafure 5 but we will fupply that

Defect, by a Punifhment of another Nature, ac-

cording to the Old Saying, i%? non habet in cru-

mena luat in corpore.

Therefore the Judgment of the Court is this •,

"That you be Fined 1000 1. That you be tmprifoned

for the Space of one Tear ; And that upon Monday
next, between the Hours of Eleven and Twelve,

you be fet . in the Pillory, for the Space of one Hour^

in Palace -Yard in We ftmin Iter.

And I will tell you, Your Offence is fo great*

and hath fuch a Relation to that which the whole

Nation is concerned in, becaufe it was an Attempt
to baffle the Evidence of that Confpiracy, which

if it had not been, by the Mercy of God, detect-

ed, God knows what might have befallen us all

by this Time-, and ftill the Parliament have it

under their Confideration, how to prevent any

further Mifchief by it ; and for youj in fuch a

Way as this, to do what you can to fupprefs the

Evidence, is fuch a Crime, that we have Reafon
to fufpecl, that the Rage of the People will be

fo great againft you, that it might endanger your

Life. Therefore we have taken care to give a

Charge to the Sheriff, and the Juftices, that the

Peace might be kept, and that no ill Confequen-

ces may happen to you, but only the Shame and
Infamy, to which you are condemned ; and which
you do deferve as well as any Man, that ever w&s
Convicted.

'then the Court adjourned to HicksVHall, upon

Wednefday, the 30/& of April : And tht

Keeper went away with his Prifoner.

On the Monday following, the Prifoner was fefc

in the Pillory, according to the Judgment
of the Court.

%ffst\ g \£2& &a»^«*y ^*jHfly Lefe tga^y ^jygy\>iyof v*~ \£&p

LXXXIII. The Trial ofTh oma s Wh i t e, aliasWh ite-
bread, Provincial of the Jefuits in England, Wi l-

liam HarcourT) pretended ReBor of London,
John Fenwick 5 Procurator for the Jefuits in Eng-
land, John Gavan, alias Gawen, and An-
thony Turner * ? all Jefuits and Priefts, at
the Old-Baily, for High -Treafon , June 13, 1679.

31 Car. II.

«k»N Friday the 13th of June, 1679, at

0.WS, the Seffwns-Houfe in the Old- Baily,

mS§M t 'ie Court being met, at which all

U the Judges of England were prefentj
^m£mm Proclamation was made of Silence

and Attention, whilft the King's Commifllon of

Oyer and Terminer, and of Goal- Delivery were

openly read •, and after the ufual Proclamation of

Attendance upon the Sefiions, the Court pro-

ceeded to call the Juries impanelled, and to the

Trials of the Prifoners, thus

:

Clerk of the Crown. Sat 'Thomas JVhitebread,

John Fenwick, William Harcourt, John Gavan,
Anthony Turner, and James Corker, to the Bar.

Capt. Richardfon. They are all on.

CI. of the Cr. Thomas White, alias Whitebread,

hold up thy Hand ; John Fenwick, hold up thy

Hand ; William hlarcourt, alias Harrifon, hold up
thy Hand ; John Gavan, hold up thy Hand ; An-

thony Turner, hold Up thy Hand ; James Corker*

hold up thy Hand. Which they all feverally

did.

And James Corker prefented a Petition to

the Court, to this Effecl*

1 That about Eight Months fince, the Peti-

* tioner was Committed for refufing to take the
* Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy, that he had
'

lately received Notice to prepare himfelf for

* his Trial, againft this prefent Day, but that the
* fame was afterwards contradicted ; and that Yg-
* fterday a Gentleman informed him from the
* Attorney-General, that a Bill was found againft
* him of High -Treafon, and that he was to pre*

* pare himfelf for his Trial thereupon according-
4 ly ; and forafmuch as the Petitioner is altQger
1 ther ignorant of the Matters charged upon him
* in the fame, and by reafon thereof is abfolutely

* fur--

Burnef's Hijlt own Times, Vol. I. p.
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4 furprized, and unprepared for his Defence, and
4 divers Goal- Deliveries having been held fince

4 his firft Commitment, and he never called to his

4 Trial ; he doth humbly befeech their Honours,
4 that he may not be Tried till the next Seffions,

4 and that in the mean time he may have Co-
4 pies of fuch Informations as are given in againft
4 him.'

Lord ChiefJ'ufi'ice
*. Mr. Corker, have you re-

ally anyWitneffes, without whom you cannot make ers, and faid there were fome Witneffes that (lie

L. C J. You (hull hear the Indi&ment read,

and there you will know what fort of Treafotf

it is ^ou are charged with, and alter that you will

make your Anfwer, whether you have any Wit-

neiTes.

Mr. Recorder |{, My Lord, it will be neceffiry

that 1 give your Lordfhip an Account of one

thing. On Saturday Night there came a Gen-
tlewoman to me, on the Behalf of all the Prifon-

was under Apprehenfion would not appear /or the

Prifoners, unlefs they had fome Order ; her Name,
fhe told me, was Ireland, and me came in the

Name of all the Prifoners, fhe faid. 1 told her,

if fhe would bring me a Note of the Witneflts

Names they did defire, they fhould have all the

Affiftance the Court could give them for the get-

ting of their Witneffes this Day ; but fince that

Time ! never heard of the Gentlewoman, or from
the Prifoners.

L. C. J. Mr. Corker, you will do well to take

notice what you are charged withal, and after-

wards tell us, if there are any Witneffes that caa

fay any thing tor your Defence, at your Trial for

thofe Matters.

CI. of Cr. You fiand Indicted by the Names of
Thomas White in the Parifh of St Giles in the

Fields in the County of Middlelex, Clerk, otherwije

called Thomas White bread, of thefame Panf)j and
County, Clerk; John Fen wick of the fame Parifh

it is never granted to any Pcrfons, and therefore and County, Clerk; William Hai court of the jame
muffc not be to you. Parifh and County, Clerk, othcrwife called William

L. C. J. North. You muff; give us clear Satis- Harrifon of the fame Parifh and County, Clerk ;

faction, that you are real in your Pretences ; and John Gavan of the fame Parifh and County, Clcrk\

muft give us the Names of your Witneffes, where Anthony. Turner of the fame Parifh and County,

they live, and let us know what they can fay for Cle.k; and James Corker of the fame Parifh and
you, that we may be fatisfied, for fuch a general County, Clerk : For that you, as falfe Traitors a-

Allegation as this, any Man living may make. gainfl the meft Illuflriuus, mojl Serene, and ?noft Ex-
Mr. Recorder. He was one of the Ten that was cellent Prince, Charles the Second, by the Grace of

appointed by the Council to be tried. God, of England, Scotland, France, and Freland,

L. C. J. Why, you had Notice a Week a- King, Defender of the Faith, Sec, your Supreme and

your Defence?

Corker. No, my Lord, I have none.

L. C. J. Ycu do not underftand my Queftion ?

Do you want any Witneffes now, that you may
have another Time ?

Corker. I am a Stranger to the Things charged

upon me.

L. C. J. Can you not tell, whether you have

any Witneffes or no ? The Matter is this, both

for you and all the reft of you, that there may
be no Exception ; you are upon the Trial of your
Lives, and we upon our Oaths, and therefore I

fpeak it, if fo be you have any Witneffes, be-

caufe you pretend you are furprized, if you have
really any, whereby you can make a better De-
fence for yourfelves, than now, the Court will

incline to your Requeft •, but if you have not,

then 'tis in vain to tarry.

Corker. My Lord, I verily believe I fhall have

Witneffes.

L. C. J. As for the Copy of the Indictment

go.

Corker. But it was contradicted the next Day.
Cap. Richardfon. I heard Mr. Clare fay that

he fhould be tried then.

Mr. Attorney General -f\ He had Notice toge-

ther with the reft, but he was not in the firft

Order of Council for the Trial of thefe Perfons

;

he fent to the Clerk to know who were to be

Tried, and his Name was left out; and fo under-

ftood he was not to be Tried. On Tuefday Ja ft I

moved that he might be put into the Order, and
fo he was, and now there is an Order of Council

for it ; but he had Notice a Week ago, as well

as the reft.

Capt. Richardfon. I gave them Notice that all

were to prepare for their Trial as this Day, and
in order to that, I went to the Council, to fee

what Order was taken about it, and the Clerk
fhewed me their Names, amongft which Corker

•was left out •, and 1 told him Corker had Notice

of Trial, and therefore I defired I might have an

Order for him too ; they told me, that there was
no Order taken about him.
- Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I would have all the

Gentlemen have all the fair Play in the World,
therefore if he can fatisfy your Lordfhip, that

he can have any Witneffes that he hath not now,
I am content the Trial fhould ftay to another

•Time.

Natural Lord ; net having the Fear of God in your

Hearts, nor "weighing the Duty of your Allegiance,

but being moved andfeduced by the Infiigation ofthe

Devil, the cordial Love, true, due, and natural O-
bedience, which true and faithful Subjects of ourfaid

Sovereign Lord the King, towards him fhould, and'

of right ought to beaf, wholly withdrawing ; and

devifing, and with all your Strength, intending the

Peace and common Tranquillity of this Realm to dif-

tutb, and the true Worjbip of God within this King*

dom of England ufed, and by the Law Eflablifhed,

to overthrow, and the Govcnrment of this Realm
to (ubvert, and Sedition and Rebellion within this

Kingdom of England to move, ftir up and procure -,

and the cordial Love, and true and due Obedience,

which true and faithful Subjects of our faid Sove-

reign Lord the King, towards him fhould, and of

right ought to bear, utterly to withdraw, put out,

and extinguifh, and our faid Sovereign Lord the King

to Death and final Defruclion to bring, and puL on

the Four and Twentieth Day of April, in the Thir-

tieth Tear of the Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord

King Charles the Second, at the Parifh of St. Giles'

in the Fields, in the County of Middlefex aftre-

faid; 2iu the faid Thomas W7
hite othcrwife

VVhitebread, John Fenwick, William Harcourc

othcrwife Harrifon, John Gavan, Anthony Tur-
ner, and James Corker, with diverfe other fife

"Traitors, Subjccls of our faid Sovereign Lord the

King*

•j- Sit William Jones. George JcfFciies.
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King, to the Jurors unknown, falfly, fubtilly, ad-

vifedly, malicioufiy, and traiteroufly, did purpofe,

compafs, imagine, and intend Sedition and Rebellion

within this Kingdom of England to move, ftir up,

and procure, and a miferable Slaughter among the

Subjetls of our /aid Sovereign Lord the King to pro-

cure and caufe, and our faid Sovereign Lord the

King, of his Kingly State, Title, Power, and Go-

vernment of his jaid Kingdom of England, utterly to

deprive, depofe, caft down and difinherit, and him

cur faid Sovereign Lord the King, to Death and

final Deflrutlion to bring and put, and the Govern-

ment of this Kingdom of England, and the fincere

Relificn of God within the fame, rightly, and by the

Laws of the fame Eftablifted; at your will and plea-

fure to change and alter, and the State of this

whole Kingdom of England, thro
1

all its parts, well

inftiluted and ordained, wholly to fubvert and de-

ft roy,
and War, within this Kingdom of England,

againjl our faid Sovereign Lord the King, to levy :

And to accomplijh and fulfil your faid moji wicked

Treafons and Traiterous Imaginations and Purpofes,

Ton the faid ThomasWhite otherwife Whitebread,

John Fenwick, William Harcourc otherwife Har-

rifon, John Gavan, Anthony Turner, and James

Corker, and other Falfe Traitors againjl ourfaid So-

vereign Lord the King, to the Jurors unknown, the

faid four and twentieth Day of April, with Force and

Arms, Sec. in the Parifh aforefaid, and County a-

forefaid, falfly, malicioufiy, fubtilly, advifedly, de-

vilifjly, and traiteroufly, did ajfemble, unite, and

gather your[elves together, and then and there, falfly,

malicioufiy, fubtilly, advifedlv, devilifhly, and trai-

teroufly, did confult, confent, and agree, our faid

Sovereign Lord the King, to Death and final De-

firuclion to bring and put, and the Religion of this

Kingdom of England, rightly, and by the Laws of

the fame Eflablifoed, to the Superftition of the Ro-

mifh Church to change and alter, and the Govern-

ment of this Kingdom of England, to Subvert •. and

that one Thomas Pickering, and one John Grove,

fhould kill and murder our faid Sovereign Lord the

King ; and that you thefaid Thomas White other-

wife Whitebread, John Fenvvick, William Har-

court otherwife Harriibn, John Gavan, Anthony-

Turner, James Corker, and other Falfe Traitors

againjl our faid Sovereign Lord the King, to the Ju-
rors unknown, fhould therefore fay, celebrate, and

perform, a certain number of Maffes, then and there

amongft yourfelvcs agreed on, for the Soul of the

faid I'homas Pickering, and for that Caufe fhould

pay to the faid John Grove a certain Sum of Mo-
ney, then and there amongft yourfelves agreed on ;

and that you the faid Thomas White otherwife

Whitebread, John Fenwick, William Harcourt

otherwife Harrifon, John Gavan, Anthony Tur-

ner", and James Corker, and other Falfe Traitors

to the Jurors unknown, in further profecution of the

Treafons and Traitorous Co?ifultations and Agree-

ments aforefaid,, afterwards the faid Four and twen-

tieth day of April, at the Parifh aforefaid, in the

County aforefaid, falfly, fubtilly, advifedly, mali-

cioufiy, devilifhly, and traiteroufly, did federally

each to the other engage yourfelves , and upon the

Sacrament Traiteroufly fwear and promife, to con-

ceal, and not to divulge the faid moft wicked Trea-

fons, and traiterous Ccmpaffmgs, Confutations, and

Purpofes, aforefaid amongft; yourfelves had, Traite-

roufly to kill and murder cur faid Sovereign Lord
the King, and to introduce the Romifh Religion

within this Kingdom of England, and the true Re-

formed Religion within this- Realm, rightly, and by

the Laws of the fame Eftablifhed, to alter and
change : and that you thefaid Thomas White other-

wife Whitebread, John Fenwick, William Har-
court alias Harrifon, John Gavan, AnthonyTur-
ner, and James Corker, and other Falfe Traitors

to the Jurors unknown, in further profecution ofyour

faid Treafons and Traiterous Intentions and Agree-

ments aforefaid, afterwards the faid Four and twen-

tieth day of April, at the Parifi aforefaid, in the

County aforefaid, falfly, fubtilly, advifedly, malici-

oufiy, devili/hly, and traiteroufly, did prepare, per-

fuade, excite, abet, comfort, and counfel, four o-

ther Perfons to the Jurors unknown, Subjebls of our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, Traiteroufly our faid

Sovereign Lord the King to kill and murder, againji

the Duty of your Allegiance, agamft the Peace of out

Sovereign Lord the King, His Crown and Dignity^

and againjl the form of the Statute in that Cafe
made and provided.

Howfay'ft thou Thomas White alias Whitebread,

art thou Guilty or" this High-Treafon whereof
thou ftandeft indicted, or Not guilty ?

Whitebread. My Lord, I defire to fpeak one
word; I am advifed by Council, and I may, and
ought to reprefent it to this Court, for not only

my own Life, but the Lives of others of His Ma*-

jetty's Subjects are concerned in it, That upon
the 17th of December laft I was Tried upon the

fame Indictment, the Jury was impannell'd and
called, I put myfelf into the hands of the Jury,
and the Evidence was brought in and examin'd,

particularly againft me, and was found ineffici-

ent, (6 that the Jury was difmiffed without any

Verdict *. I humbly fubmit myfelf to your Lord-
mips and this noble Court, whether I may not

have Council in this point of Law, to advife me,
whether I may and ought to plead again the fe-

cond time ; for according to Law, I am inform-

ed no Man can be put in jeopardy of his Life the

fecond time, for the fame Caufe.

L. C. J. You fay well, Mr. Whitebread.

Whitebread. I fpeak it not for my fake only,

but the fake of the whole Nation, no Man
fhould be tried twice for the fame Caufe ; by the

fame Reafon, a Man may be tried 20 or 100
times.

L. C. J. You fay well, it is obferved, Mr.
Whitebread; but you muft know, that you were
not put in jeopardy of your Life for the fame
thing, for firft the Jury were diicharged of you ;

it is true, it was fuppofed when you were In-

dicted, that there would be two Witneffes a-

gainft you, but that fell out otherwife, and the

Law of the Land requiring two Witneffes to

prove you guilty of Treafon, it was thought rea-

sonable, that you fhould not be put upon the Jury
at all, but you were difcharged, and then you
were in no jeopardy of your Life.

Whitebread. Under favour, my Lord, I was in

Jeopardy ; for I was given in charge to the Jury %

and 'tis the Cafe of Seyer, in 31 Eliz. he was In-

dicted for a Burglary committed the firft of Au-
guft, and pleaded to it ; and afterwards another

indictment was preferr'd, and all the Judges did

declare, that he could not be Indicted a fecond

time for the fame Fact, becaufe he was in Jeo-
pardy of his Life again.

L. C. J. Surely, you were not in Jeopardy,
and I'll fhew you how you were net; fup^ole

you had pleaded, and the Jury were fworn.

Whitebread. They were fo in my Cafe.

* See Trial. 75. of Ireland, &c.
L. C, J,
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L. C. J. 'Tis true they were ; but fuppofing

that prefently upon that fome Accident falls out,,

a Witnefs is taken fick, and be feign'd to be car-

ried away ; or for any reafonable Caufe, it fhould

be thought fit by the Court to difcharge the Jury

of it, that they fhould not pafs upon your Life,

are you in Jeopardy then ?

L. C. J. North. 1 would have you be fatisfied

with Reafon, and the courfe of Law, that other

Mens Lives are under, as well as yours. The
Oath the Jury take, is that they fhall well and

truly try, and true deliverance make, of fuch Pri-

foners as they fhall have in Charge ; the Charge

of the Jury is not full, 'till the Court give them

a Charge at the laft, after Evidence had -, and be-

caufe there was a Miftake in your Cafe, that the

Evidence was not fo full as might be, the Jury,

before ever they confidered concerning you at all,

they were difcharged, and fo you were not in

Teopardy ; and I in my experience know it to

be often done, and 'tis the courfe of Law, the

Clerks will tell you 'tis frequently done here and

at other places ; and this is not the fame Indict-

ment, and it contains further matter, than that

you pleaded to before. And then if you will

make this Plea good that you go upon, you muft

alledge a Record, and fhew fome Record to

make it good, and that cannot be, becaufe there

is none, and foit will fignify nothing to you, as

you have pleaded it.

Whitehead. I defire the Record may be view-

ed, it remains with you. I do only prefent this

to your Lordfhip and the Court, and defire I

may have Council.

L. C. J. No, not at all, there is no Entry

made of it.

Whitehead. I defire that Council may advife

me ; for I am advifed, that according to the Law
of the Land, I ought not to plead again, and I

hope your Lordfhips will be of Council for me.

L. C. J. Look you, Mr. Whitehead, there is

no Entry made upon it ; and the reafon is, becaufe

there was no Trial -, and there was no Trial, be-

caufe there was no Condemnation or Acquittal

:

if there had been, then you had faid fomething.

Whitehead, That which I ask is, whether I

ought not to be condemned or acquitted.

L. C. J. No, it is only in the difcretion of the

Court. For if a Man be Indicted for Murder,

and fome accident fhould happen, (when theWit-

nefs come to prove itj that he fhould be taken

ill, and fo be carried away, fhould the Murderer

efc&pe ?

Whitehead. That is not my Cafe ; you may do

as you pleafe.

L. C. J. But we fhew, that it is in the dif-

cretion of the Court to difcharge the Jury upon

fuch Accidents, and then the Party is not in Jeo-

pardy.

Whitehead. I have only pray'd your Lord-

fhip's Difcretion in this.

L. C. y. You ought to plead, and muft plead.

L. C. y. North. J fuppofe if any of my Bre-

thren are of another Opinion, than what we have

expreffed, they would fay fo.

Court. We are all of your Opinion.

L.C.y. All the Judges of England are of the

fame Opinion.

Mr. Record. 'Tis the conftant Practice.

L. C. y. 'Tis frequent in all Places, it is no

new thing.

Whitehead. My Lord, I am fatisfied.

CI. of Cr. Thomas White alias Whitehead, art

thou Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof thou

ftandeft Indicted, or Not guilty ?

Whitehead. Not guilty.

CI. of Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be tried ?

Whitehead. By God and my Country.

CI. of Cr. God fend thee a good deliverance,

yohn Fenwick, art thou Guilty of the fame High-
Treafon, or Not guilty ?

Fenwick. Not guilty.

CI. of Cr. Culprit, Plow wilt thou be tried ?

Fenwick. By God and my Country.

CI. of Cr. God fend thee a good deliverance.

Fenwick. I was tried before with Mr. White-
bread, our Cafe is the fame ; the only reafon why
( I prefumej we were not proceeded againft, was,
becaufe the fecond Witnefs declared he had no-
thing to fay againft us, that was Mr. Bedlow, who
faid, as to Mr. Whitehead and Mr. Fenwick, I

have nothing to fay againft them ; if he had given
the fame Evidence againft us, as he had done a-

gainft the reft, we had been condemned, and had
fuffered, and fo I fuppofe we ought to have been

difcharged.

L. C. y. No, it was not reafonable you fhould

be difcharged ; it remains in the difcretion of the

Court, not to let a Man, that is accufed of a

great and capital Crime efcape, if there be one

Witnefs that fwears exprefly : do you think it

reafonable fuch a Man fhould go fcotfree, tho*

there wanted two that the Lav/ requires ? You
were not in danger, your Lives were not in Jeo-

pardy.

Fenwick. My Lord, we were in the fame Dan-
ger with thofe Three that fuffered.

L. C. y. No, we never let the Jury go toge-

ther to confider whether you were Guilty, or

Not guilty, we did prevent your making your

Defence, becaufe we thought it not a fufficier.t

Charge.

Cl. ofCr. William Harcourt alias Harrifon, how
fay'ft thou, art thou guilty of the High-Treafon
whereof thou ftandeft Indicted, or Not guilty ?

Harcourt. Not guilty.

Cl. of Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be Tried ?

Harcourt. By God and my Country.

Cl. of Cr. God fend thee a good deliverance.

How fay'ft thou yohn Gavan alias Gawen, art

thou Guilty of the fame High-Treafon, or Not
guilty ?

Gavan. Not guilty.

Cl. of Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be Tried ?

Gavan. By God and my Country.

Cl. of Cr. God fend thee a good deliverance.

How fay'ft thou Anthony Turner, art thou Guilty

of the fame High-Treafon, or Not guilty ?

Turner. Not guilty.

Cl. of Cr. Culprit, How wilt thou be Tried ?

Turner. By God and my Country.

Cl. of Cr. God fend thee a good deliverance.

L. C. y. Mr. Corker^ you have heard the In-

dictment read, and what it confifts of, a Traite-

rous Endeavour to fubvert the Government, to

murder the King, to change the Proteftant Re-
ligion into Popery ; if you have any Witneffes

that can be ferviceable to you, as to thefe mat-

ters, name who they are, and where they live;

if you cannot, you had as good take your Trial

now, as at another time.

Corker. I not only have no Witneffes ready,

but there are fubftantial Circumftances, which

perad venture may arife, which may induce your

Lord-
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Lordftiip to believe me innocent, and therefore I

humbly beg, I maty ftay fome fhort time to

confult with thofe that are better skill'd in the

Law than I am.

,L<CJ. What do you mean to have Council

;
affigned you ?

Corker, My Friends, my Lord.

L.C. J. Every Man knows his own Cafe beft,

you have been bred a Scholar, and- fo you can^

hot be fo ignorant as other Men. are : you can tell

whether you have any Witneffes that you think

-are material for your Defence.

Corker. That Day of the 24th of Aprils fpoken

©f in the Indictment, I truly and really believe I

was not in Town that Day ; but I cannot pofi-

tively prove it* becaufe I heard not of it before.

i L. C.J. Is there any body that can teftify

where you were that Day ? Can you name any

one ? ...
'

'

s ''
;

1 ;
;1 ft' } ' ^

: -

:

.•

Corker. Yes^ I believe I can name one, and

that is one Alice- Gaton, that is now thirty Miles

out of Town at funbridge, who can prove where

I did go about that time. •'-

L. C. J. I'll tell; you what, if my Brothers

will, this Woman you fuppofe can fay fomething

for you, we will refpite your Trial for to-day,

fend fomebody for her, and we will TryJyou to-

liiorrovv.-

L. C. J. North. Or any other Witneffes •, for

as to this 24th Day of April it is known to all the

World to have been the Day of the Confult, But

becaufe you pretend a Surprife, I muff tell you,

that Mr. Attorney fent you notice with the reft

;

but becaufe you might be led into another Opini-

on, that the Council did not order it, you have the

Favour to be put off till to-morrow : Get your

Witneffes ready if you can. l

L. C. J. If you have any other Witneffes, or

defire any Order for their appearance, let us know
it.

Corker. I defire I may have liberty to have

my Trial put off till Monday.

L. C.J. North. No, it cannot be. Monday is

the Efibign Day, and the Commiffion will be

out.

L. C. J. Call the Jury.

CI. ofCr, Thomas White alias Whitebredd, hold

up thy Hand, (and fo as to the reft.) You the

Prifoners at the Bar, thofe Men that you fhall

: hear called and perfonally appear, are to pafs be-

tween our Sovereign ; Lord the King and you,

upon Trial of your feveral Lives and Deaths ; if

therefore you or any of you will challenge them,

or any of them, your Time is to fpeak unto them

as they come to the Book to be fworn, and before

they be fworri. Call Sir. Philip Matthews.

Whitebread.- We challenge him. My Lord,

that there may not be any further Trouble, it is

,©ur general Petition, that none of thofe that were

for any of the former Trials may be of this Ju-
ry, they having already paffed their Judgment
upon the Evidence they have heard,.

. L. C. J. You may challenge them. And there-

fore (fpeaking to. the Clerk of the Crown) don't

take any that were Upon the laft -Jury for this

Caufe.

Gavan. Nor any of the former Juries ; we do
': this that we may avoid giving) your Lordfhip any
^further trouble, becaufe if we mould ftay upon
-Particulars we ihould too much trouble the Court.

L. C. J. North. Look you, I will tell you by
the way, you hayetlie liberty to challenge perem-
h Vol. II." .

"

ptorily fo many. All we can do, is to give di-

rection to the Clerk, if he do not purfue it; we' do"

not know them, we can't tell, you muft look
after that.

;

;

, " : -' J -

v: 'Mr. Record, You have the Books, wherein

are Notes of all their Names, by you. ':

Thdri the Jtiry' that were fworn were thefe Twelve*

Thomas Harriott.

William Gulfon*
Allen, Garraway.

Richard Cheyney.

Johfi. .Roberts,,,,,

Thomas Cajh.

Rainsford Waterhoufe-, ,.<

Matthew -Bateman.

John Kaine. ,.. g 3.; j

Richard PVhite,
.,

Richard Rullj and
Thomas Cox.

•
• '

''^

j

{Cl.,ojpr, .

Crier,. ..count thefe : Thomas •tfarrich

I

,
Crier,. One,.0cr .

CI ofCr. Thomas Cotf. <":/-_

Crier. Twelve good Men and true, ftafldjto/-

gether and hear your Evidence.

Then the ufual Proclamation for Information :was
made, and- the Jurymen of Middlefe^ fum*
moned and not fworn, were dijmijfed till next

Morning Eight of the Clock.

CI. ofCr, Thomas White, alias Whitebread, hold
up thy Hand •, (and fo to the reft.) You Gentle-
men that are fworn, look upon the Prifoners, and
hearken to their Caufe; they (land indicted

by 'the Names oi Thomas White, &c. {put in ilk

IndiclmentMutatisMutandis) and againft the Form
of the, Statute in that Cafe made and providedj.

Upon this Indidbment they have been Arraigned,
and thereunto have feverally pleaded Not Guilty,

and for their Trials have put themfelves upon God
and their Country, which Country you are. Your
Charge is to enquire, whether they or any of
them are Guilty ofJhe High-Treafon whereof
they ftand indicted, ; or "Not Guilty. If you find

them, or any of them, Guilty, you are to^ en-

quire what Goods' or Chattels, Lands, or Tene-
ments they had at, the time of the High-Treafoh
committed, or

l

a,t any time fince. If you fincl

therh, oi any ofthem, 'Not Guilty, you are, jp
eriquWwhether they fed for it ; if,you find that

they^fted. for it,, you afe to enquire of their Goods
and Chattels, as if you had found them Guilty":

if you find them Nor Guilty, nor that they .nor

any of them fled for' it, fay fo and no more, and
r - diss c ifU

..'''
.

..

bear your Evidence.

Then- "Mr. Bejwood, . of Council for the King in .this

3i
. -. Caufe, opened-the Indiclment thus :_-

•

-t^May irpleafe your Lordmipv arid you GentlS-

men of the Jury-,

« "The Priibners- ;at the Ear-' Thfonds White- z\\i%

Whitebread,-JohH Fenhbick, William Heircourt al ;fds

Harr.ifon,-Jehh Gavan,r-r&p& Anthony Turner, 'tcj-

^gether wkH ij James -Corkerf:

ftarid' indicted i5ef

-High-Treafon ;-•'-ti3-
: charged-'in the.lndictmenf,

-That the--24th of April, in the Thirtieth Year, df

nthe^King that now- is,-fhefe Perfons, 'with 6-

ther Traitors unknown, did ;purpofe and cbnfpire

Itoftir up Sedition -and Rebellion ; to caufe a mi-

^erable Slaughter Lof the King's Subjects •, to de-

pofe the King of^Ms1 Government, and bring him
to Death ; and to":change the' Government and

"Religion by Laws eftabKftied, and to Levy War
againft the King. Arid tis further charged in

the Indictment, that ! purfuarit to this Intention

of r theirs, and the belcter- to bring it to pafs,

iThey\did Affe-mble, Coriulti and Agree, Brtt, to

5 O bring
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bring his Majefty to death, to murder the King,

and thereupon to change the Religion eftablifhed

by Law, to the Superttition of the Romijh

Church, and to fubvert the whole Government

»

and it was agreed, that Pickering and Grove

mould murder the King ; and that therefore

Whitebread, and the reft of the Perfons indicted,

fhould fay a number of MafTes for the Soul of

Pickering : and Grove, for this Piece of Service,

was to have a Sum of Money. And the Indict-

ment fays further, That thefe Perfons did take

the Sacrament, to commit this Treafon with more

Secrecy ; and that they did likewife prepare,

excite, abet, and counfel four other unknown
Perfons to kill the King at Windfor. All thefe

Fads are faid to be done advifedly, malicioufly,

traiteroufly, and devilifhly, and againft their Al-

legiance to the King. To this they have pleaded

Not Guilty ; if the King's Evidence prove it,

you are to find it fo.

And then Sir Crefwel Levinz, one of the King's

Learned Council in the Law, open'd the Charge

thus :

May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and you Gen-

tlemen of the Jury ;

Thefe Prifoners at the Bar, are by Perfuafion

Papifts, by Order and Degree they are all Priefts.

By the Law of the Land, viz. by a Statute made
the 27th of Eliz they are all Guilty of Treafon,

for being Priefts, and they might be tried as fuch,

and ought to die for it ; but that is not the Fact

they are charged with, nor will they have the Satis-

faction to fay that they fuffer for their Religion :

No, they are charged with a Treafon of a black-

er and darker Nature. And though I muft tell

you, that it is now almoft an hundred Years ago

fince that Statute was made againft Priefts com-

ing into England, yet Examples have been very

rare, that any of- this fort of Men have died for

their Religion, within that Queen's Time, or

any of her Succeflbrs ; yet they have died upon

worfe Accounts, and upon fuch Accounts as they

are now brought to this Bar for. Such is the

Difference between their Religion and Ours,

they have been fufFered to live here under a

Law by which they ought to die. They kill

the Proteftants by Thousands, without Law or

Juftice, witnefs their bloody Doings at Miren-

dol, their MafTacre at Paris, their barbarous

Cruelty in Ireland, fince the Year 1640, and

thofe in Piedmont, fince 1650. But thefe are

not the Crimes they are charged with, they are

not accufed for their Religion, but for the black-

eft and darkeft Treafon that Men can be charged

with. They are charged with an Endeavour to

murder the King, under whofe Protection

they lived. This Murder of the King hath

been carried on in the Defign of it, with all

the Malice and Refolution that can be, from

the firft Time that we can give you an Account

of it, which was the 24th of April, 1678, when
thefe Perfons, and feveral others, did firft afTem-

ble about other Matters of their own, and among
the reft to murder the King : There they came to

a Refolution that it fhould be done, and Perfons

were appointed to do it, thefe were Grove and

Pickering, who have been executed for it ; they

were to kill the King in St. James's Park, but

it pleafed God, that the Flint of the Piftol fail-

ed, to which we are more beholden, than to

them, that he efcaped that time. They were

not fatisfied with that, but they fend down four

Butchers to murder him at Windfor, who being

difappointed, they fent down others after that to

murder him at New-Market ; and when all thefe

failed, they had Recourfe to that Treacherous

and Unmanly Way, of poifoning him, and hired

one fo to do ; and they did not only intend to

murder the King, but to make it good by Force

when they had done. They intended to raife an

Army; they had got Commiffions to feveral

Perfons in the Kingdom, to command thefe

Forces. They defign'd to raife 50000 Men, to

maintain the Injuftice, when they had done it.

And that was not all, they had Recourfe to Fo-
reign Affiftance, and depended upon Foreign Suc-
cours, if they were not made good at home.
Gentlemen, they have been difappointed in all

thefe things ; they had an Intention further (as

I find it in my Brief) to make a general Maf-
facreof all Proteftants here. A thing that they

have done, and we have heard of it abroad, but

Thanks be to God, we never knew it experimen-

tally at home. And I hope God that hath pre-

ferved us hitherto, will preferve us (till.

The Mercy thefe Men have met with, in b?-

ing fufFered to live under the Danger o\ the Sta-

tute, by which they might have^juftly died,

hath not prevailed upon or bettered them at all,

but been turned into monftrous Ingratitude, and

made them more defperate than other People

would have been. Gentlemen, when all this is

opened, I muft tell you, if thefe Perfons be

innocent, God forbid they fhould fuffer, but if

they be guilty, furely they are not fit to live a-

mong Men : And truly if they be guilty, they

do not only deferve to die, but to die a more cru-

el and miferable Death, than either the Mercy of

our Prince, or the Moderation of our Laws hath

provided for fuch Offenders. I (hall detain you

no longer, but will call the WitnefTes, and then

you (hall judge whether they be guilty or

not. And we begin with Mr. Oates. Who was
[worn.

Sir Cr. Levinz- Pray what can you fay to thefe

Gentlemen? Begin with Mr. Whitebread firft ?

L. C. J. Mr. Oates, apply your Evidence as

diftinctly as you can to one Perfbn at firft, unlefs

where the matter will take in all, or more than

one of them.

Oates. My Lord, I have Evidence I defirc

may be called in, I fhall have occafion to ufe

them.

Gavan. It may be inconvenient. He may in-

ftruct his Witnefies.

L. C. J. North. No, he fhall not, for we will

take care of that : But name your WitnefTes.

Oates. There is Sir Richard Barker, Mr. WaU
ter a Minifter, Mrs Mayo, Philip Page, Mr.
William Smith, and one Mr. Clay, Mr. Butler,

Mrs. Sarah Ives.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Take a Note of their Names,
and fend for them.

L. C. J. Now, Mr. Oates, go on with your

Evidence ; and when there is Occafion to make
ufe of thefe Perfons they fhall be called.

Oates. The Prifoner at the Bar, Mr. White-

bread, was made and conftituted Provincial, f > as

it was publickly known to us, in the Month of

December laft was Twelvemonth ; and he did

order, by Virtue of his Authority, one Father

George Conyers to preach in the Sodality of the

Engiijh Seminary, on the Holy-day which they

call
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call St. Thomas of Canterbury, i. e. Thomas of

Bucket's Day, in which there was Order given

that Mr. Conyers fhould preach and affert this

Doctrine ; That the Oaths of Allegiance and Su-

premacy were Heretical, Antichriltian, and De-

vilifh: Accordingly, this Order was Executed,

and the Sermon preached. Mr. Whitehead, in

the Month of January, wrote Letters (or, at leaft-

wife, in the beginning of February, I will not be

pcfitive as to the Time, becaufe it does not occur

to my Memory,) to St. Omers, concerning the

State of Ireland\ of which he had an Account

from Archbifhop Talbot, who wrote him Word,

that there were feveral Thoufands of Irljh that

were ready to Rife, when the Blow fhould be given

in England.

L. C. J. Was that in Whitebread's Letter?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, and Mr. Whitebread did

fay, He did hope it would not be long ere it

was given. Now, my Lord, by the Word Blow,

we did ufe to underftand, and had Inftruclions to

underfhnd the Death and Murder of the King

;

and in the Month of January, I think it was,

that he fent over two Jefuits into Ireland, to fee

how the State of Affairs flood there : In the be-

ginning of April they return'd, of which we had

an Account from Mr. Whitebread, by Letters,

wherein there was mention of a Confult to be

held in the Month of April, Old Stile, and May,

New Stile; and according to the Order there

given, there met at that Confult, the Prifoners

at the Bar, Whitebread, Fenwick, Harcourt, and

Turner, and if it pleafe your Lordfnip, all thefe

at that Confult did fign a Refolve, Mr. White-

bread at his Chamber, which was at Wild-Houfe,

Mr. Fenwick at his Lodgings in Drvry-Lane, and

Mr. Harcourt? who had fome at his Chamber in

Duke-Street. But, my Lord, I am to premife

this, before I go any further, That the Confult

was begun at the White-Horfe Tavern in the Strand,

and there they did agree to fend Father Cary to

be their Procurator at Rome; and after fome fuch

Things were done, they adjourned into feveral

Clubs or Colloquies, or what you pleafe to call

them. One was at Mr. Whitebread's Chamber,

another at Ireland's Chamber, that is Executed,

another at Harcourt's, and another at Fenwick's ;

now here was a Refolve Signed by thefe Prifoners

at the Bar, in which !

L. C. J. That is four of them, Whitebread^ Fen-

wick, Harcourt and Turner.

Oates. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Was Gavan there ?

Oates. I dare not, my Lord, affect him with

that, becaufe I cannot be pofitive, but I'll give

you my Evidence againfl him by and by. My
Lord thefe four Gentlemen, with the reft of

their Accomplices, did fign a Refolve, which was

this, That Pickering and Grove Jfjould go on in

their Attempt to difpatch the King ; and this they

did refolve upon, and gave it as their Judgment,

as a very excellent Expedient. My Lord, after

this Confult we did return, (we were Eight or

Ten that came over) and may it pleafe your Lord-

fhips, in the Month of June, (I think it was

June) he came to Flanders, in order to vifit his

Colleges, being Provincial of the Jefuits of Eng-

land: He did flay there (as near as I can remem-
ber) till the 10th of June, and enquiring of the

Fathers how Squares went in Town, among other

Expreffions he ufed, this was one, That he hoped

to fee the black Fool's Head at Whitehall laid fafi

Vol. II.

enough ; and that if his Brother Jhould appear to

follow in his Footfleps, his Pajfport Jhould be made
too, (or to that - Purpofe) he Jhould be difpatch' d.

Upon the 13th of June, Old Stile, the 23d
New Stile, 1 had Orders to come for England

;

according to which Order I came, and did take

the Pacquet-Boat, as near as I can remember,

the 24th, which was the 14th Old Stile, and we
landed at Dover the 25th, very early in the Morn-
ing -, and when I was at Dover, I met with the

Prifoner at the Bar, Mr. Fenwick, and he, my
felf, and fome others, did take Coach, and come
as far as Canterbury ; after we had eaten and drunk
there, we came fix Miles further, where there was
a Box feized by the Searchers of the Town of
Borton, and this Box was brought up by Mr. Fen*

wick, and directed to one Blundel, and the Super-

fcription was, as near as I can remember, in thefe

Words, To the Honourable Richard Blundel, Efq ;

at London. And this Prifoner at the Bar, Mr.
Fenwick, did defire that the Searchers would fend

it to him, (it was full of Beads and Crucifixes,

and fuch Things) to the Fountain-Tavern near

Charing- Crofs, and write a Letter to him, by the

Name of Mr. Ihompfon, as that was the Name
he ufually went by, when he came to Dover, and
he had then brought fome Students there, to fend

over to St. Omers.

L.C.J. When went Fenwick?

Oates. When I came to Dover, I met Fenwick,

by the Name of Thompfon, going to fend over the

Students, and Fenwick did fay, If they had fearched

his Pockets, as they had fearched his Box, they

had found fuch Letters, as would have coft him
his Life ; for, faith he, they were about our Con-
cern in hand. Then we came up to London,

and arrived at London the 17th of June, Old
Stile, for we lay a part of the way at Sittenburn,

in the Morning, and in the Afternoon we came
to Dartford) and came to London, Monday Noon,
the 17th, Old Stile. And in the Month of July,

there was one Richard AJhby, whofe right Name
indeed is Thimbleby, but he went by the Name
of AJhby, and this Gentleman did bring over In-

ftruftions from the Prifoner at the Bar, Mr. White-

bread, who was abroad in Flanders, wherein he

was to propofe 10000/. to Sir George Wakeman,
to poifon the King; and feveral other Inftruc-

tions there were, of which I cannot now give

you an Account ; and withal, that a blank Com-
miffion fhould be fill'd up, and order'd for Sir

JohnGage, to be a Military Officer in the Army,
and by that Gentleman's own Order I delivered

that Commiffion into Sir John Gage's own Hand,
on a Sunday.

L. C. J. Where had you that Commiffion,

from Whitebread?

Oates. It was Signed and Sealed by him, but it

was a Blank, and was to be fill'd up.

L. C.J. Where?
Oates. It was at Wild-Houfe.

L. C. J. How was it fill'd up?
Oates. It was fill'd up by Mr. Whitebread'%

Order, it was Signed and Sealed blank, and he

ordered it to be fill'd up, and me to take that

Commiffion, and carry it to Sir John Gage.

Whitebread. Did I order you?

Gates. You ordered Afhby ; I faw the Letter,

and knew it to be Whitebread's Hand.

L.C J. Was it before he went to St. Omers?
Oates. It was while he was at St. Omers.

Whitebread. What Day was it? what Hour?
5 i Oates.
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Oates. It was in July.

Whitebread. What time of the Month ?

Oates. The beginning, or middle,

Whitebread. Are you fure it was \v\July?

Oates. I cannot be pofitive, but I think it to

be in July, for Ajhby went to the Bath the latter

end of July, or the beginning of Auguft, and

it was before he went.

Whitebread. Who was prefent at the Signing

of this Commi (lion?

Oates. There was prefent at the filling up of

this Commiffion, Mr. Harcourt, Mr. Ajhby, and

Mr. Ireland.

Fenwick. Was not I there ?

Oates. I think 1 fill'd it up. I'll tell you wl«en

you were there prefently. My Lord, when Afi-

by went away, Fenwick went out of Town, but

returned again prefently, to give an Account how
Squares went, and really I cannot remember
where he had been, but as near as 1 can, it was

in Effex, I will not be pofitive in it ; but my
Lord, this fame Gentleman, Mr. Fenwick, with

Mr. Harccurt, didadvife Mr. Ajhby, that asfoon

as he had been at the Bath, he fhould go and give

an Account to the People in Somerfeijhire, and

there-away, his Circuit would be fhort and very

eafy, and he did not queftion, but before he came
up to Town again, to have the Gentleman at

Whitehall difpatched, whom they calPd the Black

Baftard; now I leave that to the Jury, to ex-

pound whom they meant by it.

Fenwick. What Time was that, Sir, pray?

You muft time Things, or you do nothing at

all.

Oates. It was the latter end of July, or the be-

ginning of Auguft, it was about the Time of

Ajhbfs going to the Bath.

Fenwick. Juft now he faid, it was the begin-

ning or middle of July.

Oates. I'll tell your Lordfhip what I faid, that

this Ajhby, or Thitnbleby, came from St. Omers
with thofe Orders or Inftructions, either the be-

ginning of July, or the middle of July.

Fenwick. I would not interrupt you, Mr. Oates,

this was fome time before Mr. Ajhy went to the

Bath, was it not ?

Oates. It was about a Day before.

X,. C. J. He fays a Thing that is plain enough

:

Ajhby came over about the beginning or middle
of July, with Inftructions about the Commif-
fion ; and about the latter end of July, or begin-

ning of Auguft, as he remembers, this Advice
was given.

Oates. And fo we are arrived at the Affairs in

Auguft, which reflects upon thefe Gentlemen

;

but now I muft fpeak a Word to this Gentleman,
Mr. Gavan, the Prifoner at the Bar, whom when
I faw come into the Lobby, he had gotten on a

Periwig ; fo there was one asked me, whether I

knew him? I know him now, but truly then

I did not well know him, becaufe he was under
that Mask, and I could not fay any thing againft

him then, becaufe he being under an ill-favoured

Periwig, and being a Man that I knew had a

good Head of Hair of his own, I did not well

underftand the Myftery of it, and fo fpared my
Evidence at that Time, from informing the

Council againft him; but the Prifoner at the Bar
came by the Name of Gavan, and we ufed to

call him by the Name of Father Gavan : And
this Gentleman did in the Month of June write

Letters——

Gavan. What Year?

Oates. In the Year 1678, and did give the Fa-

thers at London an Account how Affairs ftood in

Staffordjloire and Shrojjhire, and how diligent one

Father Evers was to manage Affairs in thofe

Countries.

Gavan. From whence were thofe Letters fent ?

Oates. There was only the Day of the Month,
you know it is not the Cuftom to date the Place.

When I faw the Letter firft, I did not know it

was his Hand, I took it upon Report ; but I

will tell the Jury, by and by, how I came to

know it was his Hand: As near as I can re-

member, it was in the Month of July, (it was

July or Auguft) this Gentleman came to Town,
and I faw this Gentleman at Mr. Ireland's, Cam-
ber.

Gavan. What Time of the Month ?

Oates. It was in July 1678, as near as I can
guefs.

Gavan. Upon my Salvation, I am as innocent

as a Child unborn.

L. C. J. North. By this means you may put

out any Witnefs in the World, by interrupting

of them. When the Witnefs hath done his Tef-

timony, you may ask him any Queftions, to as-

certain the Time, or any thing, but you muft not

interrupt him till he hath done.

Oates. In the latter part of July, I think it r

was, but it was, as I remember, while Mr. Ajhby

was in Town, I met him at Mr. Ireland's Cham-
ber, for he was a faying he would go fee Father

Ajhby before he went out of Town, and he gave

fuch an Account to Father Ireland, of the Affairs

in Stafford/hire and Shropjhire, as he had given in

the Letters before; but to prove his Hand, he

did draw a Bill upon one Sir William Andrews in

Effex, for the Payment of fome Money, of fome

little fucking Priefts, that were ftroling up and

down the Country. I faw him write it, and it

was the fame Hand with that Letter.

Gavan. What did I write?

L. C. J. You drew a Bill upon fuch a Perfon,

and he names him.

Oates. We are now come to Auguft.

L. C. J. But you fay he difcourfed about the

fame Things with Ireland, that he had wrote in

the Letter.

Oates. Yes, my Lord.

Gavan. And what were thofe fame Things?

Oates. Why, how the Affairs ftood in Staf-

fordjhire and Shrojjhire, how my Lord Stafford

was very diligent. I defire to be excufed as to

that, becaufe it will diminifh my Evidence in ano-

ther Part of it: I'U tell you part of what was

then difcourfed of.

Gavan. My Lord, he is fworn to fpeak all the <

Truth.

L. G. J. You muft fpeak the whole Truth, as

far as it concerns any of thefe Perfons.

Oates. He gave an Account how profperous

Things were in thofe Countries, and did fay, that

there was at leaft Two or Three Thoufand Pounds

that would be ready in that Country, for the

carrying on the Defign, I think it was Three,

but it was betwixt Two and Three. Now, my
Lord, we are arrived to our Bufinefs in Auguft

;

about the 12th of Auguft, as near as I remem-
ber, but it was between the 8th and the 12th,

therein I am pofitive, Ireland, which is Execu-

ted, took his Leave of us, as if he were to go to

St. Omers.

L, C. J.
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£,. C. J. Where did he take his Leave ?

Oates. Ac h>s Chamber in Rujjel-Street. Ireland

went out of Town, and Fenwick, by that means,

was to be Treafurer and Procurator to the So-

ciety altogether. He had that Employ after-

ward upon him during his Abfence, let Mr. Ire-

land o-o whither he would. And the 21ft of Au-

guft, which, as near as I remember, fell upon a

Wsdmfday, Mr. Fenwick and Mr. Harcourt were

met together at Wild-Houfe, and fome other Fa-

thers, as Father Katies, and one Father Blundell,

and fome other Fathers, whom I cannot remem-

ber.

Gavan. Was I there, pray, Sir?

Oates. No, no, Sir •, 1 am not to talk to you

{till, I am to fpeak to the Court.

L. C. J. North. We would recommend this to

you, to namePerfons when you fpeak of them.

Oates. Where I have Occafion I will name

them, my Lord. Mr. Fenwick and Harcourt were

together at Wild-Houfe, and Mr. Katies, and

Mr. Blundell, and, as near as I remember, Mr.

Lang-worth was there, but I won't be pofitive.

And there lay before them at Wild-FIoufe Four-

fcore Pounds, the mod: of that Money was Gui-

neas, which was to be paid to the four lri/h Ruf-

fians that were to murder the King at Windfor.

After it was agreed that they mould do it, and

Coleman, who was executed, came thither, and

gave the Meffenger a Guinea to expedite the

Journey, we drew off from Wild-Houfe, and

went to Mr. Harcourfs Chamber ; and becaufe

Mr. Harcourt had there left his Papers that were

to be fent down to Windfor, there he paid the

Meffenger the Money. And that Gentleman

Was prefent there, Mr. Fenwick, and this is ano-

ther Pare of Augufi's Bufinefs. No fooner was

this Meffenger difpatched, but within a Day af-

ter, or a Day before ; but it was a Day after, as

near as I can remember, there was a Confult held

at the BenedicJtie's Convent, at which Mr. Fen-

wick was prefent, and Mr. Harcourt, and there they

had fome more Irijh News from the Irijh Arch*

bifhop Talbot, who did give an Account of the

Irijh Affairs, how they did confpire the Death

of the Duke of- Ormond ; and defired to know
how Affairs went in England, and defired fome

Commiffions might be fent over to fome parti-

cular Perfons, there to raife Forces for the car-

rying on of the Defign, and fome Money to be

tranfrnitted to them. And Mr. Fenwick did

bring the Commiffions from Wild-Houfe (as near

as I rememberj but he did bring them with him,

and fent them down by a fpecial Meffenger to

Chejier, and fome Letters by the Poft. That of

the Poft I know of my own Knowledge, but that

of the fpecial Meffenger I had only from his own
Mouth. My Lord, from the 24th o£Auguft,as

near as I remember it fell of a Saturday, Bartho-

'iomew-Day it was, but whether it fell of a Satur-
' day, I cannot be pofitive, 'but if the Court pleafe

ito inform themfelves of it by their Almanacks,

they may.

L. C. J. There is no great matter in that, I

fuppofe.

Oates. But this Gentleman, Mr. Fenwick, did

deliver me fome Money for my neceffary inci-

dent Charges, but did admonifh me to procure

lome Maffes to be faid for a profperous Succefs

upon the Defign. Upon the 25th Day, I faw

Mr. Fenwick in the Afternoon at his Chamber,

and he was to go on the z6th Day, the next Day,

to St. Omers, and to carry eight or ten Students

to go there to ftudy Humanity : And this is the

Account I have to give of Mr. Fenwick. For af-

ter 1 took my Leave of him here, I faw him no
more till he was apprehended.

L. C.J. This was about the 26th of Augufi,
was it not ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, it was the 26th of Au-
gujt.

L. C. J. Well, go on, Sir.

Oates. The 1 ft or 2d of September, we receiv'd

a Letter (in the Beginning it was) from Mr. White-
bread, and this Letter they did fay was a Foreigri

Letter, and yet it paid but Two-pence, by which
I did conclude that Mr. IVhitebread was come in-

to England, and lay fomewhere privately, or was
not yet come to Town. On the 3d of September
I went to Mr. Whitehead's Chamber, at Night,
but he being at Supper, was not to be fpoken
with ; but when he faw me the next Morning,
he did revile me, and ftrike me, and asked me
with what Face I could look upon him, feeing I

had dealt fo treacheroufly with them ? Now af-

ter that I had enquired in what Refpect P He
anfwered, In the difcovering of the Bufinefs, for

there was a Gentleman that went to the King in

this Bufinefs, to whom I had communicated much
of my Information by Dr. Tongue. This Gentle-

man had the fame coloured Clothes that I had,

and fo they not being able to give an Account of
the Name of the Perfon, gave only an Account
of the Habit he was in, and therefore they char-

ged me with it. After I had juftified my Cdf as

well as I could, Mr. Whitebread did fhew me a

Letter, which came from one Beddmgfield, alias

Benningfield, which did fhew the Plot was difco-

vered, and they were like to be undone, if it

had not been for the five Letters that were fent

down to Windfor and intercepted, which made
all to be looked upon as Counterfeit ; after that,

I juftified my felf as well as I could. He told

me he would be Friends with me, provided I

would give an Account of the Party, and of the

Minifter that went with him. And this is what
1 have to fay againft Mr. Whitebread, and the Pri-

foners at the Bar ; but only this, becaufe Sir

George Wakeman did not accept of 10,000/. that

was propofed to him to poifon the King, this

Gentleman offered that 5000 /. more fhould be
added.

L. C. J. Which Gentleman ?

Oates. Mr. Whitebread. And 15000 /. was
accepted, and when it was accepted, Whitebread

did greatly rejoice that the Money was accepted to

poifon the King.

Whitebread. Did I tell you fo ?

Oates. No, there was a Letter told me fo, but

you were in Flanders then.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What have you to fay againft

Mr. Turner?

Oates. I fpeak as to his being at the Confult in

April, and figning the Refolve of the Death -of

the King.

L. C. y. Was Mr. Gavan at that Confult the

24th of April t

Oates. Mr. Gavan was fummoned to that Con-
fult, but among Forty Men I cannot particularly

fay he was there, but I faw his Name figned as

to the King's Death, but I cannot fay I faw his

Perfon.

L. C. y. Can you- fay you faw his Hand-
writing

Oates,

.,



838 83 TrialofWhitebread, Harcourt, Fenwick, 3 1 Car.II.

Oates. I do believe it was his.

L. C. J. Did you ever fee any Writing of his,

but when he Signed the Bill of Exchange ?

Oates. My Lord, I never faw him write but

that Time. It was an ill Pen, as it feemed, that

he writ his Name with to the Confult, and I did

not take fo particular Notice of the being of his

Name there, till we faw the Infractions in July,

and then I did look over the Confult particular-

ly.

L. C. J. But I fay,. Did you ever fee his Hand-

writing, before he writ the Bill ?

Oates. My Lord, I never faw his Hand but

that Time.

L. C. y. And That by your comparing, was

like the Hand of the Letter about Stafford/hire ?

Oates. By that I proved the Letter to be writ"

ten from him. It was like it, and was all as

one.

L. C. y. Was it like the Hand that was to the

Confult ?

Oates. That I cannot fay.

L. C. y. 1 thought you had faid he confefs'd

the Contents of the Letter, when he came out of

Stafford/hire ?

Oates. I do fay this of Mr. Gavan, that he

wrote fuch a Letter, and when he came to Town,
he did give an Account of all the Paffages that

the Letter did contain, which was concerning

the raifingof Money in Stafford/hire, and the Parts

he was concerned in : And this was the Account

he gave.

L. C. y. Dr. Oates, you pofitively fay, that

Whitebread, Fenwick, and Harcourt were there ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, for Mr. Whitebread was

Provincial and Prefident of the Affembly.

Sir Cr. Levinz. And Turner was there?

Oates. Yes, he was.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Dr. Oates, what was that Mo-
ney rais'd for ?

Oates. They faid it was for the carrying on of

the Defign.

L. C. y. And what Defign was that?

Oates. Our Defign. And that was, the Sub-

verfion of the Government, and Destruction of

the King.

L. C. y. Now, if you pleafe, you may ask

him any Queftion.

Gavan. Mr. Oates, you fay you faw my Name
to a Letter for the taking up of Money : To
whom was that Letter writ ?

Oates. There was a Letter from you, to Mr. Ire-

land. And he did receive it by the Hands of

Grove.

Gavan. Where was that Money to be taken

up ?

Oates. My Lord, I fay, that Letter was recei-

ved by Grove, who is out of the way, and can't

prove it, and was delivered to Ireland.

L C.y. I perceive your Memory is not good.

Gavan. I perceive his Memory is very good.

Oates. This Letter did give an Account of the

Bufinefs of Stafford/hire, and the Particulars of

that Mr. Gavan did afterwards give an Account of

by Word of Mouth, and fome other Things not

fit to be named.

Gavan. Pray, where was it, Sir, that I gave

an Account of it ; in London^ or in the Coun-

try ?

Oates. In London.

Gavan. In what Month?
Oates. luyuly it was.

Gavan. What Part of ydy?
Oates. It was when Mr. AJhby was in Town,

the Beginning or Middle.

Gavan. Juft now, you faid it was in the latter

End.
Oates. My Lord, I beg this Favour, that if

the Prifoners at the Bar ask any Queftions, they

may be propofed to the Court, for they are nim-
ble in their Queftions, and do a little abufe the

Evidence. They put 'Things upon them that

they never fay.

Mr. yuftice Pcmbertsn. Propofe your Queftions

to the Bench, that you would have asked.

Gavan. I will do fo, my Lord, in whofe Ho-
nour I have more Confidence, than in whatfoever
Mr. Oates fays or fwears.

L. C. y. But he tells you who you drew your
Bill of Exchange upon, and that was Sir William
Andrews.

L. C. y. North. Don't give the King's Wit-
neffes ill Words.

L. C. y. Have you any more to ask, any of
you ?

Whitebread. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. See if you can catch him, he gives

you a long and exact Account as can be given by
any Man in England ; and pray direct yourfelf,

Mr. Whitebread, to the Court.

Whitebread. He fays he was here in April,

and at the Confult ; now I defire to know, how
long before that Time were you and I acquaint-

ed?

Oates. Why, before that Time I never faw
Mr. Whitebread's Face.

Whitebread. What Employment were you to

have, and what Reward?
Oates. When I came away from St. Omers, I

was to attend the Motion of the Fathers at your

Chamber, and to carry the Refolve from Cham-
ber to Chamber, where the Fathers wererefpec-

tively met.

Fenwick. Was not you at the White- Horfe Ta-
vern ?

Oates. Yes, I was there.

Fenwick. Did you dine there?

Oates. No, our Stay was fhort there.

Fenwick. How long did you flay in Town ?

Oates. Truly, I can't tell you exactly, but

from the Time I came into England, to the Time
I went out again, was under Twenty Days.

Fenwick. Who were they that came over with

you ? Name the Parties.

Oates. I will tell you who they were ; but it's

fo long fince, I can't exactly remember.
Fenwick. You need not trouble your Memory,

you have them in your Narrative.

Oates. My Lord, there was Father Williams,

the Rector of Wotton, the Rector of Liege, Sir

yohn Warner, Sir Thomas Prejlon, and fome o-

thers.

Whitebread. Was not Mr. Nevil there ?

Oates. I believe he was, it is like he might be

there.

Whitebread. Was not Sir Robert Brett there ?

Oates. I believe he might.

Whitebread. You have faid fo in your Narra-

tive.

L. C. y. Perhaps a Man will venture to Write
more than he will Swear ; not that he does Write
what he does not believe, but that he knows he

ought to be more cautious in his Oath, than in

his Affirmation.

Fenwick.
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Fenwick. My Lord, with your Lordfhip's Fa-

vour, it is upon Oath.

L. C. J. North. Fenwick, you are in a Court

of Law, and we muft go according to the Law •,

if you will prove any Contradiction in him to his

Oath, you muft bring the Perfons here that faw

him take the Oath ; and you muft not think to

take a Pamphlet for Evidence.

Fenwick. It was fworn before a Juftice of Peace,

and will not, 1 fuppofe, be denied, and therefore

he muft make his Evidence agree with it, being

part of his Narrative.

Gavan. You fpeak of one Thing in Augujl,

and of another in July \ which Month faw you

me in ?

Oates. I told you, I faw you in Town in Ju-
ly, and when Father Ajhby, or Thimbleby, was

in Town. And you faid you would go and fee

him.

Juft. Pemberton. He fays it was in July, and

that's enough.

Gavan. What Time in July ?

Oates. It was towards the Middle or latter

End.
Gavan. Was it before Mr. Ajhby went to the

Bath ?

Oates. It was fo.

L. C. J. He fays he faw you in Town, when
Ajhby was in Town, which was towards the lat-

ter End of July, or Beginning of Augujl. He can-

not tell exactly whether, but pofitively he fays

before Mr. Ajhby went to the Bath.

L C. J. North. Well, to fatisfy you, we will

ask Mr. Oates the Queftion again. Can you re-

coiled whether it was the Middle or latter End of

July ?

Oates. My Lord, as near as I can remember,

it was about the Middle of July that Ajhby came
to Town, and he did not ftay in Town above a

Fortnight : And it was whilft he was in Town,
and defigned to go down to the Bath, that this

Gentleman came to Town, and gave Account of

the Particulars of that Letter.

L. C. J. North. You may ask him any Que-
ftions, but I would have you obferve what Ac-
count he gives, That about the Middle of July,

Ajhby came to Town, that he ftay'd in Town
about a Fortnight, as he believes, that during that

Time, you came to Town, and then was this

Difcourfe.

Oates. During that Time I faw him in Town 9

but I know not exactly when it was.

Gavan. My Lord, I would ask him one Que-
ftion ; the Thing that is brought againft me is

this i He fays, Mr. Ajhby came to Town in the

middle of July, that he (laid in Town a Fort-

night, that while he was there I came to Town,
and had fuch Difcourfe : Now, my Lord, I de-

fire to know, whether it was the firft Week, or
lait Week that Ajhby was in Town, that he faw
me.

L. C. J. If he can anfwer it, let him.
Oates. My Lord, I cannot.

L.C.J. He tells you, he cannot charge his

Memory with it.

Oates. No, my Lord, nor will not.

L. C. J. Really, I believe there is fcarce one
in all this Company, able to give an Account of
a particular Time of a Paffage fo long ago.

Gavan. No doubt he hath an excellent Me-
mory.

L.C.J. And if he had not fome Memorials of

this, he could not do it. And tho' he hath Me-
morials of the moft eminent Paffages, yet we
can't fuppofe he hath of all Circumftances.

Gavan. But this is the Subftance ; and your

Lordfhip may conceive, that not without Rea-

fon I urge it ; for if Mr. Ajhby came to Town
the Beginning of July, and ftay'd but a Fort-

night in Town, and I came to Town while he

was here, it muft be in one of the two laft

Weeks. Now I would have it afcertain'd, be-

cause I may difprove it in one Week or in the

other.

L. C. J. 'Tis true, you did not amifs in ask-

ing the Queftion, if he were able to anfwer it

;

but if it be either, 'tis enough to prove you
Guilty.

Gavan. Pray, was it only one Time, or diverfe,

that you faw me in London ?

Oates. It was but one Day, but, as near as I

remember, I faw you twice that Day •, and I'll

tell it you by a particular Circumftance, That I

faw you in the Afternoon when you were a little

Ulifh, and there was a Cordial brought to you by

an Apothecary, that went by the Name of Wal-
poole.

L. C. J. Here is Memory refrefh'd by a Cir-

cumftance, you fee. Whither was it brought to

him ?

Oates. To Ireland's Chamber.
Gavan. Who brought it, Sir ?

L. C. J. An Apothecary, he fays, whofe Name
was Walpoole.

Gavan. My Lord, I never faw Walpoole in all

my Life.

L. C. J. I believe he is known well enough,
fuch an one as Walpoole the Apothecary. But

ask what Queftions you will.

Oates. I cannot lay whether it was Walpoole

himfelf, or his Man, that brought it.

Gavan. I do as truly believe there is a God,
and Heaven, and an Hell, as any one here does,

as I hope for Salvation, as I hope to fee God in

Heaven, I never faw Mr. Oates before the Dayjn
January, when he fays I had the Periwig on,

and he did not know me : And as for July, I

call God to witnefs, I never faw him then.

L. C. J. You were in Town in July ?

Gavan. Upon my Salvation I was not in Lon-
don.

L. C. J. You'll prove that by and by.

Fenwick. I hope, my Lord, we may ask him
any Queftions in the Court, of our Evidence, to

make Things clear ?

L. C. J. Yes, you may.
Turner. Did you ever fee me in all your Life,

before you law me at Whitehall ?

Oates. You were then in a difguifed Habit*
and a nafty Periwig, and I did not know you fo

well.

Turner. You, at Whitehall, was pleafed to tell

me, 1 went by another Name.
Oates. I don't value Names, but your Perfons

You are the Man.
L. C. J. You are the Man, he fays.

Turner. Did you fee me at the Confult ?

Oates. I faw the Man that fpeaks to me.
Turner. Who were there ? and how many were

prefent ?

Oates. There were about Forty or Fifty.

L. C. J. When you have but one Name apiece,

then he can hit it right ; but when you have fo

many Names» then you are too hard for him.

Turner,
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Turner. Did you fee me at the White-Horfe ?

Oates. That I will not fay ; far when they

were in leffer Clubs or Colloquies, I was fure of

better Acquaintance with them.

Turner. Where was it you faw me ?

Oates. At Mr. Fenwick's Chamber.
Turner. At Whitehall, you faid it was at Wild-

Houfe.

Oates. My Lord, becaufe the chiefeft part of
the Confult fat at Wild-Houfe, we called it all,

The Confult at V/ild-HouJe.

L. C. J. I fee your Defence will be little elfe

but Captioufnefs, to difprove him in Circumftan-

ces of Time, Place, Perfons, or Numbers ; now
all thefe are but little Matters to the Subftance :

'Tis true, Mr. Whitebread, if you can prove you
were not at that Place at that Time, it will do you
great Service. Have you any thing more to fay

to him ?

L. C. J. 'North. I hope your Witneffes are in

readinefs that you were fpeaking of, to fortify

your Teftimony.

Gates. Yes, my Lord, they are, I defire they

may be heard.

L. C. J. By and by, when occafion is.

Jury. My Lord, I defire he may be ask'd one

Queftion.

L. C. J. Mr. Garraway, what Queftion would
you ask him ?

Jury. Where it was that he faw Mr. Turner

at the Confult.

Oates. I faw him at FenwicPs Chamber, where

he was a Member of the Confult ; and being fo,

I faw him fign the Refolve of the King's

Death.

L. C. J. Did you fee him ?

Oates. Yes, I did.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Then we defire Mr. Dugdale
may be fworn, {which was done.) Come, Mr.
Dugdale^ pray will you tell my Lord and the

Jury, what you know concerning Whitebread and
Harcourt ? Firft about Whitebread.

Dugdale. My Lord, I have very little Acquain-

tance with the Man, I have feen him at Tixall,

with my old YjzAy Aflon.

L. C. J. When ?

Dugdale. I dare not fpeak the time, but appeal

to him himfelf about the truth of it.

I L. C. J. Is it Years ago ?

Dugdale. It is two or three Years ago.

L. C. J. Well, what can you fay againfl

him ?

Dugdale. Mr. Whitebread did write a Letter

that i faw under his own Hand, inclofed in a

Letter from Mr. Grove to Mr. Ewers, wherein

he gave Mr. Ewers a caution, to be fure to

choofe thofe that were very trufty, it was no
matter whether they were Gentlemen or no, fo

they- would be but flout and couragious : This

was the purport of the Letter, I cannot fay the

Words exactly, but that he fhould choofe thofe

that were hardy and defperate, or to that pur-

pofe.

L. C. J. Pray where was it you faw that Let-

ter ?

Dugdale. At Tixall.

L. C. J. How came you to fee it ?

Dugdale. Becaufe all the Letters were directed

to me, that came to Mr. Ewers . inclofed in Mr.
Grove's Letters : and fo I intercepted the Letter#

and read it.

L. C. J. What was Mr. Ewers ?

Dugdale. A Jefuit, my Confeffor ; for I was
entertained by Mr. Gavan to be in the Cqnfpiracy,

of the King's Death, and fo i was by feveralo-

thers.

L. C. y. You were not acquainted with Mr.
Whitebread's Hand, were you ?

Dugdale. My Lord, I only came acquainted

with Mr. Whitebread's Hand, by feeing him write

a Letter at Tixall, which he delivered to me to

fend.

L. C. y. I pray let them underftand you : You
fay that Mr. Whitebread did write a Letter tp-

Mr. Ewers, inclofed in one from Mr. Grove,'

wherein he advifed that he fhould entertain lufty

ftout Fellows, and no matter whether they were
Gentlemen, or to that effect: Now I ask you,
how you do know that was Whitebread's Hand?
or was it his Name only that was to it.

Dugdale. My Lord, I faw his Name at it.

L. C. y. When. you faw that Letter, had you
feen his Hand before ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, I faw it to. another

Letter which I faw him write.

L. C. y. And that was like the Hand in the

Letter to Ewers, was it ?

Dugdale. Yes, I do almoft pofitively fwear it

was the fame Hand. .

L.C.y. But what fay you to Gavan and
Ewers ?

Dugdale, There were feveral Confutations in

Mr. Ewers's Chamber, my own, and at Bofcobfl,

and feveral other Places. Mi". Gavan might, be

fo ingenuous as to confefs it.

* L. C. Baron. What were * William Mon-

thofe Confultations for ?
' iaSue'

E(V
Dugdale. For confpiring the King's Death, and

introducing of Popery. Mn Gavan was chiefly

made ufe of as a good Orator and learned Man,
and a good Scholar, to perfuade People into -the

Defign ; this I fpeak as to thefe Perfons.

L. C. y. Pray go on, Sir, for you fhall have

a full Scope, /for you never were a Witnefs in

any of the Trials before : and you may take your
own Way, and you fhall be heard, you fhall not

be interrupted ; for what you fay is very confide-

rable.

Dugdale. One meeting I think was in Septem-
%

berhft, it was at Tixall, and there was my Lord
Stafford, and feveral others.

L. C. y. Was Gavan there ?

Dugdale. Yes, Mr. Gavan was there; I fup-

pofe he will not deny it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Don't rely upon that, he

will deny it, you may be fure ;, go on. You fay

he was there ?

Dugdale. Yes, and that was to carry on the

Defign : And I was by to hear. I think Mr.
Ireland was in the Country then, there was you
(fpeaking to Mr. Gavan) Mr. Peters, Mr.Lew/on,
and Mr. Ewers, at this Confult, and there was
another, my Lord Stafford, and others that I

cannot now name.

Gavan. What time?

Dugdale. It was in September, 1678.
Gavan. What Day ?

Dugdale. I think it was the 21ft oi^September.

L.C.y. What was that Confult and Confpi-

racy about, in fhort ?

Dugdale. It was for the introducing of Po-
pery, and taking away the Life of the King, I
being a Perfon chofen out for that purpofe, and

was
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was to be fent to London by Mr. Harcourt to be

under the Tuition of Mr. Parfons.

L. C. J. Pray who mentioned this ? was that

the firft. time that ever they difcourfed of the

Death of the King ?

Dugdale. No, my Lord, it was two Years a-

go, but I fpeak of a fhorter time.

L. C. J. Who began the Difcourfe ?

Dugdale. Mr. Gavan often difcourfed of it, and

encouraged me to it.

L. C. J. Who broke it firft to you ? who
feemed the principal Man ?

Dugdale. Ewers and Gavan.

L. C. J. By the Oath that you have taken, Re-

peat it once more, for this is new to us.

Gavan. 'Tis fo to me too upon my Soul, for

upon my Confcience I never heard of it before.

L C. y. 'Tis a mighty Confirmation of what

was before difcovered.

Dugdale. But I fpeak to Mr Gavan, and ap-

peal to him himfelf.

Gavan. Look upon me with Confidence, if

you oan.

Lord Juft. Pemberton. You muft not threaten

the King's WitnefTes.

Dugdale. Mr. Gavan, I defire you to inform

the Lords and all here prefent, whether I was
not under your Tuition ? And whether you

knew any unjuft Action by me ?

Gavan. You were never under my Tuition.

L. C. y. Did you ever know him ?

Gavan. Yes, my Lord, he ufed to come fome-

times where I was, and fo we were acquainted ;

and I lived within eleven Mile of Tixall, my Lord
si/Ion's, and having Acquaintance in that Family,

Mr. Ewers, whom I know very well, I ufed to

come there fometimes, but I never was in his

Chamber in my Life. In what Room of my
Lord Afloris Houfe was this Difcourfe ?

Dugdale. Some of it was in the little Parlour,

and fome in Mr. Ewers's Chamber.

Gavan. Were any prefent there ? And who
were they ?

Dugdale. I have told you there w&sMr. Ewers,
and Mr. Lew/on, and Mr. Petres, and fome o-

thers ; and for a further Confirmation of this,

That Mr. Gavan may know that I had a great

Zea~i for him, and that they did love me well, I

gave them an Eftate, or elfe 1 believe they would
not have trufled me fo well as they did. I gave

them 400 /. to pray for my Soul, and for the

carrying on of this Defign; and when they told

me they doubted they mould want Money, I

promifed them 100/. more for the carrying on the

Work. Upon which Mr. Gavan promifed me
that" I mould be canonized for a Saint.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Gavan himfelf?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Belwood. What do you know of any Fo-
reign Affiftance ?

L.C.y. I would fain have all the World
hear this ; pray what was difcourfed in the Par-

lour in my Lord Aftoris Houfe, and in Ewers\
Chamber ?

Dugdale. It was about taking away the King's
Life, and introducing the PopiJJj Religion.

L. C. y. By the Oath you have taken, was
that their Difcourfe ? .

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, They were con-

triving how to kill the King and introduce Po-
pery.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray, have you heard any
Vol. II.

Difcourfe of an Army, or about making a Maf-
facre ?

Dugdale. It was fpoken in my hearing, and
there was fome Difcourfe why they mould expect

Forces from Beyond Sea, and this Gentleman
faid (meaning Mr. Gavan) tho* they Beyond the

Seas had Troubles enough upon themfelves, yet

-if we could effect it, Men and Money would
not be wanting. I will add nothing more than

the Truth in what I fay.

L. C. y. You deliver your Teftimony like a

fober modefl Man, upon my word.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What fay you as to a MafTacre ?

Dugdale. My Lord, I have at fome Confuta-
tions heard fpeak of it, but the chief thing that

they aimed at was firft, there was a Letter that

came out of Paris, and came through Mr. Har-
court*s Hands, and fo came down into the Coun-
try, to prove that it was the Opinion of them at

Paris, and St. Omers, to fling all this upon the

Presbyterians, that is, the Death of the King ;

That if any thing of that nature mould happen,
theylhould be ready to give the firft Alarm, and
give out, That it was thofe Still King-Killing

Presbyterians, that had done the Fact : And fo

they thought they mould eafily have brought in

the Epifcopal Party into their Company, to re-

venge themfelves of the Presbyterians.

L. C. y. It was pretty Advice indeed, to have
it firft laid £>n the Presbyterians, that they might
get Proteflants to join and cut them off, and then

their own Throats (hould be cut.

Dugdale. And then, my Lord, there was to be

a Maffacre ; and if any did efcape, that they

could not be fure of were Papijis, they were to

have an Army to cut them off.

Mr. Belwood. Did he ever ufe any Arguments
to you, to prove the Lawfulnefs of the Defign ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, he hath, and (hewed
me feveral Examples for confirming me in it.

L.C.y. What, for killing the King?
Dugdale. For the killing of any, to introduce

their own Religion.

Mr. Belwood. Pray, will you name fome.

Dugdale. He endeavoured to prove it by
Scripture, I can't now call the Text to mind

;

but it was to fhew, how it was lawful and good
to deftroy any for the Advantage of their Reli-

gion, and then he fhewed the Example of Fa-
ther Garnett. How feveral of his Reliques be-

ing Beyond Sea, Great Miracles had been done
by them.

L. C. y. And fo now there is by St. Cohman
too.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What Letters have you re-

ceived from Mr. Harcourt ?

Dugdale. I have received feveral Pacquets of
Letters from feveral Perfons Beyond Seas, which
were, by his Inftruction, communicated by Mr.
Grove to Mr. Ewers, which Letters did contain

Treafon in them, for the introducing of Popery,

and killing and deftroyir.g the King.

L. C. y. How can you tell that ?

Dugdale. Mr. Harcourt hath given it under

his own Hand, and I have intercepted the Let-

ters, and read them.

L. C.y. You were acquainted with the Hand ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. You read the Letters ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C. y. How many Letters have you inter-

cepted ? Have you intercepted Twenty ?

5 P Dugdale.
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Dugdale. Yes, a hundred, my Lord. Mr. Har-
ccurt was the firft that gave intelligence into the

Country (as I know of) of the Death of Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Tell when it was given, and
how.

Dugdale. I have made it out already upon
Oath, and I have Witneffes to prove it.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray, Sir, tell it now.
Dugdale. It was directed to Mr. Ewers, and it

was three Days before he was found, for it was
received on the Monday, and he, as it is proved,

was killed on the Saturday. The Words were thefe,

This very Night Sir Edmundbury Godfrey is

difpatched. And I very much rejected Mr. Ewers
for this Action, and then told him, This will over-

throw the Deiign, or I will be hanged.

L. C. J. What Day did you receive the Let-

ter ?

Dugdale. I have proved I received it on a Mon-
day.

L. C. j. But pray what Date did it bear ?

Dugdale. That Letter muft come by Saturday

Port, for it faid, This Night Sir Edmundbury
Godfrey is difpatched.

L. C. J. Hedid not name anybody, by whom?
Dugdale. No, but it faid he was killed, and we

knew by whom.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And are you fure that

was Mr. Harcuurt*s Letter ?

Dugdale. Yes ; for he did ufually fign his Let-

ters with two Letters W. H. which flood either

for Harcourt, or Harrifon.

Mr. Belwood. Did you acquaint any body with

this, or did you conceal it ?

Dugdale. I did go to an Alehoufe that is hard

by my Lord's the next day, which was Tuefday,

and there I asked, If they did not hear fome
News of a Knight's being killed at London ? And
I have an Evidence here, if yourLordfhippleafe,

I will call him, who, I defire, may teftify the

fame thing.

L. C. J. Yes
?
by all means.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Mr. Dugdale, Pray, will you
give us fome more account of the Letter that

came from Mr. Whitebread to Mr. Ewers.
Dugdale. I remember one particularly, but I

cannot tell what number I have feen.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Did you fee more than that

one ?

Dugdale. I particularly remember that.

L. C. J. What was that one particularly ?

Harcourt. My Lord, I defire to ask him one
Queftion, When was the laft time that you re-

ceived any Letters from me ?

Dugdale. The laft I received from you (to my
beft remembrance) was that about Sir Edmundbury
Godfrey, and it was in Oclober.

Harcourt. I have not writ to that Perfon this

Year and half.

L. C. J. Let that Man be called that proves
this bufinefs of the Death of Sir Edmundbury,
and the talk of it.

Dugdale. Mr. Harcourt', you know very well,

that when Mr. Ireland was laft in the Country
laft Year, you were to fend him the Anfwers
that came by Letters from St. Omers, and thofe

were fent down to my Lord Afton's, and I faw
them, eight of thofe Letters, I am fure. And I

can prove it by one Circumftance ; two of them
came relating to Mr. Edward HJlon's Death,

from Paris ; I intercepted them, and talking of

it, that I could Conjure, and tell of the Death of

Mr. Edward Afton, before any of his Friends

knew of it. And Mr. Ireland writ a chiding

Letter about it, that he had not heard it fooner,

and you fent down word, That you did write

thofe Letters, and yet you fay you have not writ-

ten to me of a Twelve-month, or more.

Harcourt. This Gentleman does pretend to

know my Hand, and 'tis true, I have writ feve-

ral Letters for Mr. Ewers, and directed to him j

but as to this time he fpeaks of, I have left -off

Writing for divers Years. He pretends to know
me, and yet this Gentleman before the Committee
of Commons in Parliament, which was yefterday

was five Weeks, as well as he knew my Hand,
came and faid I was a Gentleman he did not

know. He came alfo to entrap me at the Gate-

boufe before thofe Gentlemen of the Committee
of the Houfe of Commons ; but becaufe he faid

he knew my Hand fo very well, and teftifies

thofe Expreffions in the Letter, 1 muft fay this,

I never did write any fuch Letter, nor did I ever

in my Life feem to approve of any Man's Death

or Murder. But the thing is this, he pretends to

know my Hand and to prove it, the Gentlemen
defired me to write my own Hand and my Name,
and he in the mean time did withdraw, and three

of them did write their Names, and afterwards

they called him in again, and asked him which

was Harcourt's Hand, and he was not able to

fay which it was.

L. C. J. You write more Hands, as well as

have more Names, and can counterfeit your

Hands, as well as change your Names.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You fpeak before your

time, and your bare Word goes for nothing.

L. C. J. But, Mr. Dugdale, where is your

Witnefs ?

Harcourt. I don't know any thing of this.

L. C. J. But if he calls up a Witnefs, ofwhom
you can have no Sufpicion, that can teftify, that at

this time Mr. Dugdale fpoke about the Death of
Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, what will you fay to

that ?

Harcourt. I believe there is no fuch thing at

all.

Sir Cr. Levinz. My Lord, here is Mr. Chet-

win, pray fwear him. (Which was done.)

L. C. J. Mr. Chetwin, Do you remember that

Mr. Dugdale came to you any time laft Summer,
and what time, and what Difcourfe had you ?-

Chetwin. My Lord, if your Lordfhip pleafe,

I was moft part of the Summer in the Country,

1 came into Stafford/hire about the 29th of Augufi.

My Lord, there is a Gentleman, one Mr. San-

bidge, that is a Kinfman of my Lord Afton's, that

was very well acquainted with the Family where

I was, which was half a Mile off my Lord's,

and ufed to come and play with me at Tables.

My Lord, at that very time in Oclober he came
to me, and there fays he, Do you hear nothing of

a Juftice of Peace in Weftminfter, where you
live, that is killed ? or to that effect. No, faid

I, and 1 had Letters yefterday, and heard nothing

of it. Saith he, I was this morning at Elds,

and there a Girl of the Houfe told me, Mr.
Dugdale had been there, and reported that there

was a Juftice of Peace of Weftminfter wa.s killed ;

but who he fhould be I never heard named, and

on Saturday following my Letters brought it

down to me.

L.C.J. :
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L. C. J. When was it that this was fpoken?

Chetwin. It was Tuefday Morning, (as I remem-

ber) and that by a very good circumftance, I

went that day for Litchfield, and the Saturday after

the News came to me to Litchfield, that Sir Ed-

mundbury was found murdered.

L. C. J. The Jury would do well to obferve

this in point of Time. Sir Edmundbury Godfrey

was kill'd, as it was fince proved, on Saturday,

but on Monday he was mifs'd, on Thurfday he

was found, and on Saturday the News was fpread

all over the Country. Now, faid he, the Tuefday

before the News came down, which mud be the

Tuefday after the Saturday he was kill'd, one comes

from the Alehoufe and asks, Do you not hear

of a Juftice of Peace at Weftminfter that is kill'd j

for the Wench at yonder Alehoufe fays, Mr. Bug-

dale was here this Morning and reported fuch an

one was kill'd. So that it is moft notorious, as

any thing in the World can be, that this thing

was known to them, before any of us knew what

was become of him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. How do you further know

it to be upon Tuefday?

Chetwin, I know it to be that Tuefday, my
Lord, very well, for we all went about fuch a

time to my Coufin's Mother, to ftay a Week
there, and after I returned back, and on Tuefday

the 15th of Otlober I went to the Race to

Litchfield, and ftay'd till Saturday there, and came

thence to London, and was here the Wednefday,

being the firft Day of the Term. But I remem-

ber particularly the firft Information Mr. Dug-

;
dale gave in the Country, came to my Coufin's

Hands from the Mayor of Stafford, and I hap-

pen'd to fee him, I think it was Chrijlmas-Dzy.

It came inclofed in a Letter. Upon the Appre-

henfion of Mr. Dugdale, I remember I met him,

and he told me of it, and faid he, the Parlia-

ment did not fit that Day : So he went to ac-

quaint the Lord Lieutenant of the County,

that is, the Duke of Monmouth with it, who
carried it to the King. But when Mr. Dug-

dale was fent for, my Coufin went down, and

writ me a good Character of him. As foon as

ever Dugdale came to Town, before he went to

be examined by the Council, as I remember, I

went with fome Gentlemen to fpeak with him,

and faid I to him, Can you fay any thing about

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey'* Death? Said he, /
rememberfuch a Letter came at fuch a Time from

Father Harcourt, to Father Ewers, wherein were

thefe words; This Night Sir Edmundbury God-
frey is difpatched. And faid he, / remember 1

asked the ^ueftion of Ewers, Is not this likely to

fpoil all the Defign? No, faid he, he was a Man
< that profecuted Perfons that went to debauctid Hou~

fes, and it will be faid to be fome of them that did

i revenge themfelves of him; or words to the fame
"'

effect. This made me recoiled the Time I had

\
the Difcourfe with the Gentlemen in the Coun-

|
try. I happened to be out of Town when the

Murderers of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey were

Tried ; as foon as I came to Town, and found

j
that the Murderers of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey

I were Condemned, I was at a Coffee-houfe en-

quiring how it was managed •, fome I found

flighted it, others did not know what to make
i

of it. Was not Mr. Dugdale there ? faid I . No,
faid they. Then I -prefume, faid I, that a very

material Evidence was omitted. Upon this I went

to Mr. Dugdale\ Chamber, and there, faid I to

Vol.11.

him, What was the Reafon you were not pro-

duced as an Evidence, at the Trial of Sir Edmund-
bury Godfrey'* Murderers? Said I, Ton told

fuch a thing, and I hope you told Truth, for I don't

hear that you have ever centraditled it, that you

faw a Letter about the Monday after he was mur-
dered. In my judgment it is very material, if you

have fworn it ; if your Depofition be true, or elfe

you did ill to report it. Said I, Pray let me fee
the Copy ofyour Depofitionfworn before the Council.

He Ihew'd it me, and there was not a Syllable

of it, that I could fee, but afterwards appear'd to

be there.

L. C. J. That is not very material , if the thing

it felf be true.

Chetwin. But its not being there, made me re-

member it.

Mr. Recorder. Pray fet up Mr. Dugdale again.

Now pray tell the Contents of Mr. Whitebread's

Letter.

Dugdale. The Contents of it was, to encou-

rage Mr. Ewers to go on to be careful whom he

did intruft, that they fhould be fuch Fellows as

were defperate, hardy, courageous and ftout, or

to that purpofe j it was no matter whether they

were Gentlemen or no, fo they were but courageous

and defperate.

Mr. Juft. Atkins, What were they to do?
Dugdale. For the killing of the King,

L.C.J. Was that in Whitebread's Letter ?

Dugdale. Mr. Whitehead did write thofe words,

they were in the Letter.

Whitebread. Was that very word in the Letter,

for killing the King ?

Dngdale. It was, that they fhould be ftout and
courageous Perfons.

L. C. J. For what End ?

Dugdale. It was for taking away the King's

Life.

L. C. J , I ask you, recollect your felf, was it

by way of defcription of fome Defign or Plot,

that thofe Perfons were to be chofen out ? or was
it in downright words, for killing the King ?

Dugdale. To the beft of my remembrance they

were thofe very words.

L.C.J. It was much he would write fuch

words in a Letter.

Dugdale. I was one that was made choice of
about it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Were you to be one ?

Dugdale. Yes, I was.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Gavan, you know
who it was you entertain'd for this Bufinefs, and
you could truft them.

L. C. Ji How were thefe Letters conveyed ?

Were they fent by the Ordinary Poft ?

Dugdale. Yes, they were, and they trufted me
with them, becaufe being directed to me, if they

were intercepted, I fhould be hang'd, and they faved*

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Upon thefe Letters, what
were you entertained to do ?

Dugdale. My Lord, I was entertained before

by my Lord Stafford, and Mr. Ewers.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What to do?
Dugdale. To kill the King.

Whitebread Pray, Sir, how came you to fee

thefe Letters ? Did you intercept them, and read

them your felf ?

Dugdale. I did intercept them, and open them
of my own felf.

Whitebread. Pray take notice of what he fays.

Gentlemen,

5P 2 Mr,
V
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Mr. Recorder. The Jury do take notice.

L. C. Baron. Do you know any thing againft

Mr. Turner and Mr. Fenwick?

Dugdale. Mr. Ewers hath told me by Word of

Mouth, that he was to carry on the Defign in

Worcefter/hire, but I faw him with Mr. Ewers

and Lew/on, and others, when he was going to

his Brother Turner's, then in Nottingham/hire., and

they did confult and agree there, in my Hearing,

to all that I have faid before.

Turner. What did I afient to?

Dugdale. Why this Defign, you and Mr. Ewers

and Lew/on, and others, agreed to what I faid

before.

Turner. Where was this ?

Dugdale. At Tixall and other Places.

Turner. In what Month?
Dugdale. It was about two Years ago, about

the beginning of the Bufinefs.

Turner. Where was it?

Dugdale. It was at Mr. Ewers's Chamber. You
know me very well,

Turner. I have not been in Stafford/hire thefe

four Years.

L.C. J. Why, don't you know him, Mr.
Turner

?

Turner. I do know I have been there a matter

of three or four times in my whole Life, but have

not been there thefe four Years.

Mr. Juft. Windham. Have you any thing to fay

againft Fenwick?

Dugdale. I don't know that I ever faw him

before.

Mr. Recorder. But he fpeaks fully as to the

other four.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Call Mr. Prance, and fwear him.

Which was done.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Come on, Mr. Prance. What
can you fay to Mr. Fenwick, or any of the others?

PranCe. Mr. Harcourt, I made him an Image

of our Lady about a Year ago, and when 1 was

receiving Money for it, ( it was to be fent into

Maryland) you told me then that there was a

Defign of killing the King.

L. C. J. Who told you ?

Prance. Mr. Harcourt, that very time.

Sir Cr. Levinz. When was it?

Prance. It was when it was fent to Maryland,

in the Portugal's Country; you know it well,

Mr. Harcourt.

Harcourt. I know nothing of it.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray let him alone, till we have
done with him.

Harcourt. I defire but to know when it was.

Prance. When I received the Money for the

Picture , it was a Year ago.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What fay you to Mr. Fenwick ?

Prance. I was in Mr. Ireland^ Chamber in

RuJJ'el-Street, and there was Ireland, Fenwick, and
Grove, and they were talking of 50000 Men
that fhould be raifed, and be in readinefs to carry

on the Catholick Caufe, and fettle the Catholick
Religion. I asked who fhould govern them?
They told me, my Lord Bella/is, my Lord Powis,
and my Lord Arundel.

L. C.y. Who told you fo?

Prance. Mr. Fenwick.

L. C. y. How long ago ?

Prance. About a Fortnight Michaelmas laft.

Mr. Grove came to me two or three Days after-

ward, to buy two or three Silver Spoons to give
away at a Chriftning, and then I asked him,

What Office he fhould be in? He told me, He
could not tell : But he told me, my Lord Arun-

del, my Lord Bellafis, my Lord Petre, and my
Lord Powis, had Commiffions for thefe Things

to give.

L. C. y. This Grove told you ?

Prance. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. But what did Fenwick tell you ?

Prance. He told me who were to govern the

Army, my Lord Bella/is, my Lord Powis, and

my Lord Arundel of Wardour.
Sir Cr. Levinz. Had he any Difcourfe with you

about Trade?
Prance. He faid, I mould not fear Trade, I

fhould have Church-work enough.

Mr. Belwood. Pray fpeak that again.

Prance. I asked him, What fhall we poor
Tradefmen do, if we have Civil Wars in England?
O, faid he, you need not fear having Trade
enough, you mail have Church-work enough, to
make Images, Chalices, and Crucifixes, andVafes,
and fuch like Things.

Mr. Belwood. If you will ask Mr. Prance any
Queftions, pray do.

Fenwick. My Lord, I am certain of this, that

he never faw me at Mr. Ireland's Chamber, in

that Company, nor did I ever fpeak of any fuch
Thing before him.

Prance. Mr. Ireland and he have been fitting

together whole Hours, and confulting about fome
Concern or other, Mifchief, no doubt. My Lord,
I went to Mr. Fenwick's Chamber, after my
Ghoftly Father was dead.

L. C. y. What was his Name?
Prance. Father J'antes. And he importuned me

to come to Confeffion to him ; I told him, I was
not yet very well fatisfied who I fhould go to,

to be my Ghoftly Father.

Fenwick. When was this, Mr. Prance?
Prance. Before Michaelmas, about a Week or

Eight Days.

L. C. y. Did not you know him, Mr. Fenwick ?

Fenwick. Who, Father yames ? yes, very well,

and I know Mr. Prance, but not upon that Ac-
count.

Prance. And I brought you a Bell home, for

the Altar, at the fame time.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Who was it importuned
you to have him for your Confeflbr ?

Prance. It was Mr. Fenwick ; and I told him,
when I did come to Confeffion, I would come to

him. And he enjoined me, once or twice, to

fay nothing of what I heard faid.

L. C y. If Harcourt have any Queftions to ask

him, let him.

Harcourt. Can you fay that ever I fpoke to

you about any fuch Bufinefs ?

Prance. Yes, as fure as I ftand in this Place,

and you in that. And one Thotnpfon came with

you, when you paid me for four Candlefticks.

L. C. y. Do you know Mr. Thompfon ?

Harcourt. Yes, I do.

L. C. y. Had you any Candlefticks from Mr,
Prance ?

Harcourt. I had, a great while ago.

Prance. He paid me 44J. that Time for them.

Mr. Recorder. Call Mr. Bedlow. Who was
/worn.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What can you fay to any of the

Prifoners at the Bar ?

L. C.y. What can you fay, as to Mr. White-

bread and Mr. Fenwick ?

Bedlow.
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Bedlow. My Lord, I do not queftion, but

Mr. Whitebread and Mr. Fenwick will objeft a-

cra'in'ft me, my refilling to give in Evidence a-

aainft them at the former Trial •, but I think that

there are fome upon your Honourable Bench,

that can make my Apology for not giving in all

my Evidence againft them then ; for it was not

convenient, becaufe it would have ftopt a De-

fio-n I was then upon, and could not get off from,

that was about Mr. Reading, whom I was then

treating with, for Mr. Whitebread and Mr. Fen-

wick, as well as the Lords in the Tower, and he

told me, that he would depend upon my Confi-

dence and Juftice as to the Lords, according as I

did deal with thefe Men •, if I brought them off,

he would believe, and the Lords in the Tower

would believe, that I would bring them off too.

So that 1 did make an Apology then in the Court,

that i could not fafely fay all that I had to fay

at that Time. Some of the Juftices, I believe, do

remember it, and irt that which I did give in a-

gainft them, 1 did not fay all, nor half, that I

could have faid.

Whitebread. Did you fay any thing of that at

the laft Trial?

Bedlow. I will anfwer that Matter to the Court,

but 'tis the meafure they always take to intrap the

Witneffes •, for now 1 am out of a Country that

will <>ive me an Indulgence and Difpenfation

to fpeak exactly to a Day, or an Hour, as their

St. Oiner'%W itneffes have.

L. C. J. But what fay you now to them ?

Bedlow. I did then fay, that I did fee Mr. White-

bread, and he hath been in feveral Confutations

for the carrying on of the Plot ; but then I did

it with a Caution, that 1 never heard of Mr.

Whitebread, that he was fo very much concern-

ed -, and indeed I had no Reafon to fay fo, be-

caufe I heard him my felf, and could not wejl

fpeak from the Hear-fay of another. And as

for Mr. Fenwick, I never heard him give in any

Anfwer, but I have feen Fenwick at the Confult

there.

L. C J. Have they ever told you any thing

concerning the killing of the King?

Bedlow. Whitebread told Coleman, at Mr. Har-

court's Chamber, the manner of fending the four

Ruffians to Windfor, about September.

Harcourt. I never faw him twice in all my Life,

before.

Mr. Belwood. Do you know of any Reward

thofe Ruffians were to have ?

Bedlow. Yes, I faw Harcourt take the Money

out Of a Cabinet, I think it was Fourfcore, Or

One Hundred Pounds ; the Sum I don't well re-

member. Harcourt paid them the Money, by

Mr. Coleman's Order, and gave the Meffenger a

Guinea from Mr. Coleman, to drink his Health.

Mr. Coleman was gone a little before I came in,

and fo I could not know that Coleman gave it,

but he faid fo.

Sir Cr. Le'vinz. What was Pickering and Grove

to have ?

Bedlow. Grove was to have 1 500 /. and a Pro-

mife of the Favour of the Lords: 1500/. was

the Sum appointed at Mr. Harcourt's Chamber,

and doubtle'fs in feveral other Places, but there I

heard it from Mr. Whitebread, and Pritchard,

and Le Faire, and Raines; and Pickering was

to have a Number of Maffes, I can't tell exact-

ly how many, but they were fo many, as at

i2d. a Mafs would amount to be equal to Mr,
Grove.

Mr. Belwood. Pray, Sir, what was that for?

Bedlow. For killing the King. But Pickering

had been difciplined before, and received a

Check from the Superiors, becaufe he had been
negligent and flipt many Opportunities. One
Time the Flint of his Piftol was loofe, another

Time there was no Powder in the Pan, another

Time, he had Charged with all Bullets, and no
Powder.

L. C. J. Did you fee Harcourt deliver the

Guinea, for the Expedition of the Windfor Bufi-

nefs ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, as from Coleman, to

drink his Health.

Mr. Belwood. Pray, was either Whitebread or

Fenwick knowing of the Agreement, when it was
fpoken of?

Bedlow. I have feen Fenwick at Harcourt's and
Whitebread's Chamber, when it was fpoken of;
they were all of one Opinion, they had decreed

it. I never faw Whitebread but twice at Har-
court's Chamber, where one Time was Harcourt

himfelf, at another Time was Pritchard, and Le
Fake, and others; at which Time Sir George

Wakeman's Bufinefs was fpoken of, and becaufe he
would not accept the 10000/. 15000/. was agreed

to be given him ; and upon Sir George's Trial,

I fhall let you know where he had the Money
too, but I defire to be excufed at prefent. I fhall

fpeak it to-morrow.

L. C. J. What did they confult there ?

Bedlow. They were confulting how it fhould
be done ; and what fhould be done, if they did
not do it. Then Ireland propofed, that the moft
certain way was to do it at his Morning-Walks
in New-Market ; Fenwick was to go, and with
him went Conyers ; I heard Stven or Eight of
them were to go.

L. C. Baron Montague. What fay you to Tur-
ner?

Bedlow. Of Mr. Turner, I know nothing, but
what I have heard others fay.

L. C. Bar. What fay you to Gavan ?

Bedlow. I know nothing of him, but only I

have heard Mr. Harcourt fay he hath been a great

Manager of this Bufinefs.

L. C. J. This is nothing to the Purpofe, what
others fay.

Bedlow. Mr. Harcourt is no Stranger to my
bringing of Pacquets and Portmantles over to

him, from Beyond the Seas.

Harcourt. He never brought but one in all his

Life-time.

Bedlow. What, Did I never bring but one
Pacquet ? Have not I brought divers, and divers

Portmantles ?

Harcourt. You never brought a Portmantle in

your Life.

Bedlow. I have brought divers.

Harcourt. You know I never faw you but twice

in my Life, before to-day, and when I met with.

you at the Privy-Council.

Bedlow. My Lord, the Trials have been fo put

off, that I could never get all my Witneffes to-

gether, but I have Seven or Eight of my Wit-
neffes that are out of Town, that would make
this very clear. My Lord, there was never a

Pacquet of Letters that I brought over to Mr.,

Harcourt, but did contain in it a Dcfign of the

Subver-
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Subverfion of the Government ; and it mud be

more than two Pacquets that I have brought

over ; for I have brought Letters from Watton,

and Letters from St. Omers, and Letters from

Bruges, and from Paris, and from Valledolid and

Sallamanca; and all thefe Letters contained in

them the Management of this Plot, how far they

had proceeded beyond Sea, and Anfwers how far

they had proceeded in England^ from him, and

to them, to and again, from Time to Time, in

carrying on the Defign of Subverting the Go-

vernment, and altering the Religion ; wherein

was given an Account of the Army and Forces

that were to be raifed, both Here, and Beyond

Sea ; what Contributions were made, or expect-

ed, at Home, or Abroad, all was lodged in

Mr. Harcourt's Hand, at leaftwife an Account of

the greateft Part. And I have been fcnt to Mr.

Langhorne with Papers from Harcourt, about

this Affair, to Regifter them ; and of that I

fhall give you an Account, upon Mr. Langhorne's

Trial.

L. C. J. Well, now ask him what you will.

Whitebread. Sir, I defirc to ask you one Quefti-

on.

Bedlow. I defire it may be asked the Court.

Whitebread. I defire to ask him whether he was

a Lieutenant in Flanders, or no ?

Bedlow. Yes, I was.

Whitebread. OfHorfe, or Foot?

Bedlow. Of Foot.

Whitebread. Take notice, there is no fuch Of-

ficer of Foot in all Flanders.

Bedlow. I was then in the Regiment of the

Prince of Freizland.

Whitebread. There are no Lieutenants in all

the Flanders Companies, only Captains and Al-

fara's.

Bedlow. My Lord, I had a Commiffion, and

I have a Commiflion to be fo, and I defire I may
fend for it.

L.C.J. It is no very material Thing; as

foon as it comes, they fhall fee your Commifli-

on.

Harcourt. You fay you have had Papers from

me, and been very familiar with me ; Pray, how
can this be, when, as I did declare before the

Lords in Council, that was the third Time I e-

ver faw your Face ? The firft Time he came to

me, he brought Letters from Dunkirk, five Years

ago ; when I opened them I found them direct-

ed to other Perfons, and to them I fent them,

my Name being only ufed in the outfide Cover ;

and it feems upon that Confidence that he had in

me at that Time, not long after, he came to

my Chamber, and told me, He had lately become

a Roman Catholick, and by that means had loft

his Friends, and that he then was in Want, and,

unlefs I did aflift him, it would be very hard

with him; tho' his Father deferted him, yet

he had fome Friends, whom he expected would
do fomething for him, and then 1 will repay

you.

L.C.J. When was this?

Harcourt. The fecond Time that I ever faw

him in my Life, and this is four Years fince.

Then faid I, What will ferve your Turn ? He
told me, 20 s. which I lent to him ; and I never

faw his Face afterwards, till I met him at the

Privy-Council; and therefore, how fhould a

Man believe a Word he fays?

L. C. J. But how fhall a Man know, that

what you fay is true ?

Bedlow. I will make it appear, at the Trial of
the Lords, that I fent to him for 10/. and had
it. I cannot now prove it, without bringing fome
Witnefles that I have behind a Curtain, and I will

not difcover them till then, they fhall not know
who they are.

Mr. Jufi. Windham. Will you ask him any
Queftions ?

Bedlow. My Lord, I have not faid the One
hundredth Part of what I can fay, honeflly, and
like a Chriflian, of Mr. Harcourt.

Harcourt. You may* fay what you will, but
you won't fpeak Truth.

Bedlow. Mr. Harcourt went with me to Mr. Cole-

man's, when I carried over the Confult. There
was the greateft Part of the Defign, in that which
I was to carry over to St. Omers, and that Confult
did I fetch from Mr. Coleman, and Mr. Harcourt
was with me, and I had Thanks from Mr Cole"

man for my Fidelity in the Bufinefs, and Expe-
dition in bringing and carrying the Pacquets.

I was recommended to my Lord Arundel by
Mr. Harcourt, and was promifed, by his Lord-
fhip, all the Friendfhip and Favour imaginable,

when the Times were turned.

L. C. J. Why here, you fee, he names feveral

Places and Times, wherein he met with you.

Harcourt. Not one Word of all this is true.

Bedlow. I defire you to ask Mr. Harcourt, my
Lord, Whether he was not in Auguft, or Sep-

tember laft, in Company with me and Lb Faire?

Harcourt. Le Faire! 1 know no Le Faire.

Bedlow. Le Fevre, then.

Harcourt. Le Fevre, I believe I did fee at that

Time, but not fince.

Bedlow. Pritchard did recommend the Care of

me to him.

L.C.J. There, he names another Time, when
you and Pritchard were there together.

Bedlow. Pritchard was my Confident, and my
great Friend, and told them, This is a Perfon

whofe Fidelity you have tried, in carrying over

fuch and fuch Letters, and therefore you may ve-

ry well truft him, and take care of him : And fo

he recommended me, as one that was really fit

to underftand the Bottom of the Defign. And
Pritchard did tell me, before them, that the King's

Death was intended as a Part of it ; and he fcnt

again another time to Mr. Harcourt, but it was

about no material Bufinefs ; and Harcourt gave a

Bill of Exchange to carry to what Citizen I

don't know, but to Sir George Wakeman, to have

2000/. by whofe Orders, as they faid, yourLord-
fhip fhall know upon his Trial, but I faw Har-
court give him the Bill of Exchange.

Mr. Jufi. Dolben. Who gave the Bill ?

Bedlow. It was Harcourt, my Lord.

Harcourt. Who was by, when this Bill was

given ?

Bedlow. Kaines, and Sir William Anderfon .

Harcourt. How was this Bill drawn ?

Bedlow. It was drawn upon a Citizen, and left

in your Hands.
Harcourt. I defire he may name the Citizen,

and, if he can, make it out ; if he do, it will

appear upon the Merchant's Books.

Bedlow. Sir George Wakeman received a Bill of

Exchange from Mr. Harcourt, and he was told,

Here is a Bill of Exchange for 1000/. as part

of
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of n greater Sum ; to which Sir George Wakeman

anfwered, That 15000/. was a fmall Reward for

the fettling of Religion, and prefcrving of the

Three Kingdoms from Ruin ; but if it were not

for fuch a Woman, he would never undertake ft,

but for her he would do any thing. And after he

had given Sir George Wakeman the Bill, Sir George

Wakeman opened it, and read it, but I did not

read the Name that was to it.

Fenwick. My Lord, it feems not fufficient Proof,

that he fays, he law a Bill of Exchange, unlefs he

fays from whom, and to whom, that it. may be

proved by the Books, or otherwife.

L. C. J. You fay well, Mr. Fenwick, if fo be

he had been the Perfon concerned in the Bill,

that he were either one that drew it, or was to

receive the Money, then it was ftrange that he

fhould not know the Parties to it ; but I muft

tell you, where he was not one nor the other,

it was a collateral matter. Do People take no-

tice of every particular Bill of Exchange that

they fee, which they are neither to pay nor re-

reive ?

Fenwick. But what Reafon does he give your

Lordfhip, or the Jury, to believe that there was

.fuch a Bill, unlefs he does produce either the Bill,

or the Perfon that paid it ?

Bedlow. I did only fee the Bill out of Mr. Bar-

court^ Hand, but it was read there only by Sir

George Wakeman.

L. C. J. Is it a Pin matter, whether there was

fuch a Bill or no, or whether he had mentioned

it or no ?

Fenwick. But feeing he hath mentioned it, I

fay there is nothing of Proof of it, but only his

bare Word.
L. C. J. Yes, there is his Oath.

Sir Cr. Levinz. And I defire theJury to take

notice how unreafonable a Thing it is that you

ask. You would have Mr. Bedlow produce the

Bill of Exchange, that was given to Sir George

Wakeman to receive the Money.

Bedlow. I have only one Word more. Sir George

Wakeman received the Bill of Exchange from Mr.

Harcourt, read it himfelf, folded it up, and went

and received the Money ; and that the Court will

be pleafed to fee my Commiffion, for now I have

,it here.

Which was read by my Lord Chief Juflice

North, and feveral others.

Sir Cr. Levinz. We have only this one Matter

to trouble your Lordfhip and the Jury with. You
perceive by the Evidence that hath been given,

that the main Matter begins at the Confultof the

24th of April, when the Confult was ; now to

fortify this Evidence, we are now to produce a

Letter, that was written from one Petre, at St.

Omers, a Jefuit, wherein is mention made, that he

was to give notice, Mr. Whitebread had appointed

a general Meeting, juft at that Time, in London,

at which they were to confult of very great Mat-

ters •, and they were to be very private in their

coming to, and appearing about the Town. And
this Letter was taken amongft Mr. Harcourt's

Papers, and to prove it, we call Sir Thomas Dole-

man. [Who was /worn.]

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray, what can you fay where

this Letter was found ?

Sir Thomas Doleman. It was found amongft

Mr. Harcourt's Papers, in a Bag of. his Papers that

was committed to my Care to fearch.

L. C. J. Can you tell what Day you found

it?

Sir Thomas Doleman. It was a matter of fix or

feven Days after Mr. Oates had given his Infor-

mation of this Plot to the Council.

Harcourt. What Paper is it ?

Mr. Juft. Atkins, Hear it firft.

L. C. J. It is a Letter found amongft your Pa-

pers.

Harcourt. Who is it from ?

L. C. J. It is from one Mr. Petre, do you

know fuch a one ?

CI. of the Cr. It is fubferibed, E. P.

Harcourt. Yes, my Lord, I do ; I will deny
nothing of the Truth.

Then the Letter was read, in hac verba.

Honoured Dear Sir,

I
Have but Time to convey thefe following Particu-

lars to you. Firft I am to give you Notice, that

it hath feem''d fitting to our Mafter Confult, Prov.

&c. to fix the 21ft of April next, Stilo veteri, for
the Meeting, at London, of our Congregation ; on

which Day, all thofe that have a Suffrage, are to

be prefent there, that they may be ready to give a

Beginning to the fame on the 24th, which is the next

Day after St. GeorgeV Day : Tou are warned to

have jus fuffragii, and therefore, if your Occafions

floould not -permit you to be prefent, you are to fignijy

as much, to the end, others, in their Ranks, be or-

dered to fupply your Abfence. Every one is minded

alfo, not to haften to London long before the Time

appointed, nor to appear much about the Town, till

the Meeting be over, left Occafionfloould be given, to

fufpeel the Defign. Finally, Secrecy, as to the Time

and Place, is much recommended to all thofe that

receive Summons, as it will appear of its own Na-
ture neceffary.

Tertio pro Domino Solono Difco.

BenefacL Prov. Lunienfis.

/ am ftraitned for Time, that I can only affure

you, Ifhall be much glad of obliging you any ways.

S 1 R,
Your Servant,

Edward Petre.

L. C. J. Come, now, Mr. Harcourt, will you

expound this Letter to me, that fpeaks of this

Meeting and Privacy ?

Harcourt. Yes, my Lord ; tho' it was not my
Letter, yet I will tell you what the Meaning of

it was. That Letter was writ to one, who had

yus Suffragii, a Right to come and Vote in our

Congregation, which, according to the Conftitu-

tion and Orders of our Society, is within the

Compafs of three Years, where they meet about

the particular Affairs of the Society.

L. C. y. What was it about ?

Harcourt. It was about choofing an Officer ;

choofing a Procurator to fend to Rome ; that was

the chief Point : And Secrecy was a Thing that

was recommended to every one, as it was fit it

fhould be, we living in a Country where every

one's Eye was upon us, and we were an Eye- fore

to them, we ought to be cautious of meeting in

fuch Numbers, as might give an Offence ; and

this was the only Thing, indeed.

L. C. y. Look you, Mr. Harcourt, you fay

well, but we are not to be altogether Difciples

of
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of yours, fo as to have no Senfe of our own,

and to be impos'd upon fo weakly as this. Here

is the Thing, fays the Letter, I would not have

you come too foon to London, nor appear too much

in publick, for fear of difcovering a Defign, which

requires Secrecy in its own Nature. What, was

that your Defign, of choofing a Procurator ?

Tell me but one Thing that can bear the Name
of a Defign, which muff have that Secrecy in

it, that People muft not appear much about

Town, and that in its own Nature requires fuch

a Thing.
Whitebread. My Lord, the Thing itfelf is evi-

dent, what was the Defign.

L. C. J. Come, Mr. Whitebread, you will do

it better.

Whitehead. It is evident it was a Defign to

choofe an Officer.

L. C. J. Why, good Mr. Whitebread, do any

write after that manner ? Were you to write to

any one, or ask the Jury, if they were to choofe

fome Collector for the Receipt of fome charita-

ble Money that fhould be employed for the Re-

lief of Proteftants in France : Do you think any

Man would fay, Do not appear much in ,London

before-hand, nor come too foon, for fear of difcover-

ing the Defign, which in its own Nature requires

Secrecy : Will this endure the Name of a De-

fign ?

Whitebread. Firft, it is a very hard Thing to

bring fo many Mens Lives in Danger, meerly up-

on the Interpretation of a Word, which may as

properly fignify one thing as another. Is it not

proper for me to fay, I have a Defign to Dine with

fuch a Man to-morrow, or the like ?

L. C. J. 'Tis true now, but hearken

Whitebread. But that was the Thing defigned,

to have a Congregation for the choofing of an

Officer, and it was, I think, very properly faid,

and that it fhould be kept fecret, was as pruden-

tial a Thing as poffibly could be. WT
as it not

proper here, becaufe our Profeffion was not pub-

lickly permitted in this Kingdom •, and therefore

that was the Reafon why Secrecy was injoin'd ?

And this, upon my Salvation, was all that ever

was intended or thought.

L C. J. North. This now is the Interpretation

you put upon the Letter, but we understand by

the Witnefies what was done at that Meeting.

L. C J. Look you, Mr. Whitebread, this Let-

ter, without Queftion, hath been well fludied by

you all ; and it requires it mightily.

Whitebread. It needs none.

L.C.J. This is not the natural Expofition of

the Words of the Letter, that you give, but a

forced one ; for firft, there is a Difference be-

tween faying, I do defign to Dine to-day, tho'

it be a ufual matter, but it is another thing,

when I call a Thing by the Name of a Defign,

accompanied with a requiring of Secrecy in its

own Nature, and when I give Advice, that they

muft not appear in Town too foon, nor too

much about the Town, for fear of difcovering

the Defign, which in its own Nature requires Se-

crecy : Muft all this amount but to the choofing

of an Officer ? You'll never make one Papift of

all this Company, if you make no better Work
of it.

Whitebread. My Lord, I humbly defire- your

Lordfhip would not ftrain a Word which may be

well enough faid, whether it be properly laid or

no.

L. C. J. 'Tis not one Word alone, but 'tis the
whole Senfe.

Whitebread. 'Tis evident, there was juft Caufe
of Secrecy, becaufe of our Profeffion.

L. C. J. Mr. Whitebread, 'Tis not one Word
that is relied upon, for the Bufinefs is purfued.

'Tis not faid, Pray meet at fuch a 'Time, but, Be
careful you do not difcover the Defign ; if it had
been only faid fo, it would have been a Strain,
to have made this Conftruction of a fingle Word,
to make this that Defign ; but as it is here, we
make no fuch Conftruction ; it had been hard in-

deed to put that Meaning upon it as you do,
even then, for 'tis feldom fo ufed, for no Man
writes after that manner ; but when it follows
in a continued Senfe of fo many Lines, befure you
meet on the i^th of April, theDay after St. George'*
Day, but come not too foon to Town, nor appear
too much about the Town, for fear of difcovering the

Defign, which you know in its own Nature does re~

quire Secrecy : Can we make any fuch Interpre-

tation of it ? If you have no better Arguments
than thefe, you muft have People lofe their Un-
derftandings, or have a very blind Obedience
to yours, or it will never down, Ay, Come,
Mr. Gavan, how do you fay is the Meaning of
this ?

Gavan. For my part, I'll affure your Lordfhip,
I was not there; but this is known to all the

Chriftian World, that there is fuch a Meeting in

Spain, France, Germany, &c. that wherever the

Jefuits are, once in three Years they have a Meet-
ing among themfelves, for the fettling of their

Affairs. Indeed the Words have given your Lord-
fhip an Occafion to raife a Difficulty, what the

Word Defign fhould mean ? Which I do give this

Anfwer to : Your Lordfhip's Difficulty is, That
the Word Defign, here, fhould not be made ufe

of to fend one poor Jefuit to Rome. My Lord,
do but mark the End of the Congregation, and
you will fay to us, that we might well ufe that

Word, becaufe the Word may import fome great

Bufinefs of Concernment ; now what Bufinefs of
greater Concernment for poor religious Men to

meet together about, than thofe Things that may
promote their better State in another World, and
the Regulation of what is amifs in their Order. -

My Lord, upon my Confcience and Salvation,

this was the End of the Congregation, to meet,

and fee what is amifs in their Order, who do their

Duties, and who not, who are irregular in their

Offices, and whofe Office is vacant, and to be

fupplied.

L. C. J But muft no Body come to Town, nor

appear too much about the Town, for this?

Gavan. Therefore, my Lord, as to the Word
Defign, it concerning the whole fpiritual Good of
the whole Body of the Englijh Jefuits, it might
well be ufed for the Confultation of that Body,
about all their Good, Temporal and Spiritual,

which was all concerned in it.

L. C. J. Thefe are a many Words, but to no
Purpofe.

Gavan. Now, my Lord, for the Second Thing
that you object, your Lordfhip remembers very

.
well, that the Continuation of the Senfe in fo

many Lines, made the Thing the more fufpicious,

that more was intended ,by it than fo : Now to

this I fhall be able to anfwer, if there can be gi-

ven a particular Reafon why we fhould add that

Word of Secrecy, to the other of Defign; having

anfwered to the one Part, we now give an An-
fwer>
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fwer to the other, and fo to the Whole. Now,

my Lord, becaufe of the Time, the Parliament

was then fitting, and that we might not offend

the King and all Civil Magiftrates (whom we ho-

nour from our Hearts and Souls) that Word was

ufed that it might be kept fecret.

L. C. J. It was not out of Love to the Par-

liament, it was the Nature of the Thing required it,

nor was it out of Fear you had of them. I did

never find, tho' you are as good at it as ever any

I met with (for I never met with a Prieft that

had much more Underftanding) but really you do

not anfwer me. You are fo far from Scholars,

and arguing like fuch, that you do not maintain

the Matter with common and rational Underftand-

ing, but only heap up fo many vain Words, (like

a Rope of Sand put together) which hath no na-

tural Coherence; for you cannot poffibly make

this reafonable, that People fhould have fo much

Caution, that they fhould not come too long to

Town before-hand.

Gavan. Not to be taken notice of.

L. C. J. Not to appear in Town when they

come.

Gavan. Not to be taken notice of.

L. C. J. I fay fo, you cannot tell why all thefe

Cautions fhould be ufed, merely for choofing an

Officer.

Gavan. My Lord, our Lives depended upon

it, if we were taken, being fuch Men as we are.

L. C. J. You can make nothing of it, and you

will find it an hard Task to anfwer it ; for if

half the Evidence that hath been given, were not

given, yet this Letter of your own, which can-

not be denied, is an unanfwerable Proof. It does

monftroufly confirm Mr. Oates's Teftimony to be

undeniable, as to the meeting at the Confult

;

for he, four or five Days before-hand, comes and

tells the Council, the very Day which, five or

fix Days after, this Letter makes good, which

is found in Harcourt's Cuftody. Then there was

a Confutation upon the Day, the very Day that

Mr. Oates fays, and what he calls a Confultation,

your own Letter fays is a Defign.

Gavan. It was a Defign of a Congregation.

L. C. J. What Senfe is there in that ? Will

any Man in England, or did any Man in Eng-

land ever fay, Take heed of difcovering our De-

fign of going to Church, or choofing a Col-

lector ?

Gavan,

fon for the other too.

L. C. J. I would appeal to your felves,and all

here prefent, what the natural Import of fuch a

Letter is, whether it does not carry a Matter more

than ordinary, whether its natural Intendment

doth not look at that ? And the next thing is

this ; Does any Man write plainer than this, when

they write of a thing that is of fuch a Nature ?

Is not the Danger too great to hazard that Fa£t,

which they call the Nature of the Thing, to in-

truft it in a Letter ? Is it not vain to put that in a

Letter, in Words at length, which they, to whom
it is writ, know what the Thing means ? And if

it fhould be further known than they would have

it, the Thing could never be done : And if you

confider the Perfon that writes, a Jefuit, or a

Prieft ; Are Priefcs ever plain ? And will you
expect Plainnefs here, when, in Things of ten

thoufand times lefs Moment, they don't write

plainer ? Is it not known, you have not a Profe-

lyte, that you do not keep under Obligations as
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There is Reafon for the one, and Rea-

clofe as your Confefllons are ? Have you not ta-

ken here, as it is fworn, a Sacrament of Secrecy ?

Is there a Woman that you convert, but in the

dark ? Or a Papift made, out of a Prieft's Hole ?

Are not all your Deeds under-ground ? and do
you work with any Light, but that of a Dark-
Lanthorn ? This is plain, unlefs you give a bet-

ter Anfwer to this Letter, the Letter will hang
about your Necks.

L C. J. North. Mr. Oates will tell you what
the Defign was.

Mr. Jufi. Ellis. He can tell you what it was.

L. C. j. The Leter fpeaks itfelf.

Oates. Mr. Gavan, and they, now, tell your
Lordfhip what this Confult was for, but they de-

nied this Confult at firft, when there was but one

Man to juftify it. I juftified it before Mr. Fen-
wick, who denied it at the Council- Board, tho'

now they pawn their Salvation upon the Juftifi-

cation of it.

Fenwick. I never denied that there.

L. C.J. Come, have they any thing to fay

for them fe Ives ?

Bedlow. My Lord, Whereas, as Mr. Gavan
fays, that in obedience to the King and Parlia-

ment they would have their Confutations fecret,

and that they always defired to conceal them-
felves then ; the Time of Sefiions of Parliament

was the only time that I and others have been

employed to fetch over more Jefuits than at any
other particular time.

Oates. And there are more of them then in the

Court of Requejls, and in the Lobbies, bare-faced,

and threatning the Proteftants, than at any other

Time.
Bedlow. We ufed to fetch them againft the

Parliament always; they were in lefs danger then,

than at other Times.

L. C. J- You could give a very good Inter-

pretation of the Letter, I fuppofe, that Mr. Dug-
dale fpeaks of, that came from Whitebread, That
he fhould be fure to entertain fuch as were hardy,

flout Fellows : I fuppofe you can make all this

to fignify nothing morethan a Defign for a Game
at Cudgels.

Sir Cr. Levinz. If your Lordfhip pleafe, we
muft defire thai one Letter more may be read.

Your Lordfhip hath been told of CommifTions for

raifing an Army, here is a Touch of them men-
tioned in this Letter, found amongtt Mr. Har-
coutt's Letters too.

L. C.J Look you, Mr. Harcourt, you had

beft attend ; here is another Letter found amongft

your Papers, concerning fome Commiflions. You
look ill to your Letters ; you are to blame, in-

deed, Mr. Harcourt.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray, Sir Thomas Doleman,

look upon that Paper, and tell us how you came
by it.

Sir Tho. Doleman. This Letter in my Hand I

found amongft Mr. Harcourt's Papers, about fome

two Days after I found that other that was read

before. Having heard Mr. Oates give in his In-

formation to the Council, That there were feve-

ral Commiflions given out to feveral Perfons, and

finding fome doubtful Claufes and Expreflions in

the Letter, I did prefent this Letter to the Coun-

cil, and made a Mark upon it, Enquire what is

meant by the Word Patents.

L. C. J. Pray let it be read, becaufe we fhall

defire a little more of their Interpretation.

5 a Cl of theCn
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Cl. of the Cr. It is figned Chriftopher Anderton,

Hilton, February the 5th 167-^.

Oates. Hilton, that is Rome.

L. C. J. Mr. Harcourt, you understand, that

by Hilton, is meant Rome ?

Harcourt. Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C.J. Well, then go on, and read it.

Cl. of the Cr. Worthy Sir, 1 know not from

whence it proceeds, but I perceive that both your

Letters and mine have bad Fortune by the way, for

my Correfpondents with you complain, they hear not

from me ; whereas 1write conjlantly intirePacquets

;

and finee the Bills I receivedfrom yourfelf, for Sir

William Goring, and for Mr. Ireland, from Mr.

Shelly, / have not had one Letter, but what I re-

ceived this Week, which, in part, made recompence

for theformer, for it brought me three ofyours, and

one of Mr. Ireland'.?, for which 1 render you many

humble thanks, and acknowledge the Fifteen Pounds

from my Lord Caftlemain, tho* Mr. Ireland made

no mention of it in his. We are all here very glad of

the Pro7notion of Mr. Thomas Harcourt. When

Iwrit that the Patents werefent, altho' Iguejs for

•whom they were, yet 1 knew notfor certain, becaufe

our Patrons do not ufe to difcover things or refac-

tions till they know they have effecl. And therefore

in thefe kind of matters Idare not be too hafly, left

fome might fay, A Fool's Bolt is foon fhot.

L. C. J. What is the meaning of thefe Patents?

Fenwick. This Gentleman will tell you, my
Lord.

Whitebread. My Lord, they were the Patent

for my being Provincial.

L. C. J. How many Patents had you ?

Whitehead. But one, my Lord.

L. C. J. Is that Patents ?

Whitebread. Litem Patentes.

L. C. J. Is it Patent or Patents ?

Cl. ofCr. Patents.

L. C. J. Read thofe Words again.

Cl. of Cr. We are all here very glad at thepro-

motion of Mr. Thomas Harcourt. When I writ

that the Patents werefent, altho' I guefs for whom
they were, yet I knew not for certain, becaufe cur

Patrons do not ufe to difcover things or refoiutions,

till they know they have effecl.

L. C. J. Now you have not interpreted well

this neither.

Sir Cr. Levinz. It is faid, I knew not for cer-

tain who (they) werefor ; but to make it clear, I

would defire Mr. Whitebread to anfwer me one

Queftion, How long is it, Sir, fince you were

made Provincial ?

Whitebread. The 14th ofJanuary was Twelve-

month.

Sir Cr. Levinz. And this was dated the 5th of

February , which was after your Commiffion.

Whitebread. That may be, and they not know
till then.

L. C. J. And fo you expound thofe latter

Words of the Letter, That the Refolution of

making you Provincial was not difcovered till the

Effecl was known.
Whitebread. Becaufe it is not known, whether

the Perfon that is nominated might not be excep-

ted againft : and it is Liters Patentes.

L. C. J. But here is but one Perfon to anfwer

the Word Patents* and there fhould be more than

one Man.
Whitebread. Every Patent is called Liters Pa-

tentes, tho' it be but for one Perfon.

Mr: Recorder. They were in great doubt that

you would refufe the Place, I warrant.

Oates. He is bound on pain of Damnation not

to difobey his Superiors ; it they choofe him to a
Place, he muft take it upon him.

Whitebread. It is not the firft, fecond, or hun-

dredth time that one hath been appointed by the

Superior to a Place, and hath refufed it ; and if I

had known the hundredth part of what I do now,
of the Trouble of the Place, I would never have
accepted it.

Mr. Recorder. Ay, if you had known the dif-

ficulty of this Defign, you would never have en-

gaged in it, efpecially if you had known what
is come to pafs.

Whitebread. No, Sir, I never had a hand in

any fuch thing in all my Life : this is coram Leo
that I now fpeak, and as I am to appear before

the great Tribunal at the Day of Judgment, I

know nothing of all this Matter.

Oates. My Lord, thefe Patents, of which this

Letter makes mention, a great many of them
came down in the Months of April and May be-

fore.

L. C. J. Methinks he interprets them plainer

than you do.

L. C. Baron. Now what have you to fay every

one of you for yourfelves ? Make your Defence.

L. C. J. Mr. Whitebread, do you begin.

Oates. While the Prifoner's Evidence is calling

in, I defire that my Witneffes may be fworn.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Oates, be quiet, there

is no need of it yet, till they have made their De-
fence.

L. C: J. But fend for them, that they may be

ready.

Whitebread. My Lord, that which I have to

fay for myfelf is this : I thank God, my Lord, I

am not afraid of Death ; but I fhould be very

loth to die unjuftly, and I hope your Lordlhip

will confider, that every Man's Blood is dear to

him, and is concerned for his own Life to pre-

ferve it, he ought to be allowed Liberty and
Freedom to preferve himfelf as much as he can.

Life is a thing not to be thrown away, but cha-

rily to be lookt after, and that there is fuch a

thing as taking away Mens Lives by Perjury, as

well as by a Knife or Piftol, is without contra-

diction. Now whoever comes againft a Man for

his Life, I fuppofe he is to be look'd upon not

only by the Frifoner, but alfo by the Jury and

the Court, that he ought to be Probus Teflis, and

a Man fit to be admitted to be a Witnefs. Now
I have fomething to offer, That Mr. Oates is

not any fuch Perfon. Your Lordlhip was plea-

fed to fay, That he was the Perfon who proved

the Defign mentioned in the Letter that was

read. Now I hope your Lordfhip will give me
leave (and I hope I may do it without offence to

this Court) to fay that he is perjured in what he

fays.

L. C. J. You mean that his Evidence is faife,

you may do it if you can.

Whitebread. He fays he came over hither, and

was here prefent the 24th of April with me, and

that I did appoint him to do fuch and fuch things,

and difcovered the whole Bufinefs to him. Now
I defire your Lordfhip would be pleafed to con-

fider whether this were probable, and whether I

had not been a very much miftaken Man all this

while, to truft a Man with fuch a Bufinefs, and

whether I ought not rather to be fent to Bedlam

than Newgate, for trufting fuch a Man as he,

whom by his own Confeffion I never faw till

that
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that time. ' Pis not rational that a Man would

truft him •, and then, my Lord, that this Bufi-

nefs mould be difcovered to him, a Man that de-

pended wholly upon us to live, and had no Live-

lihood but what he had from us, who maintained

him at St. Omen long, as well as the bed Man
in the Houfe.

L. C. J. Did you do it ?

Whitebread. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L C. J. You mould confider how in that you

,

anfwer your felf.

Whitebread. I, that is, when I came to the

Office, and I and my Predeceffors. When I

, was Superior I found him not a Man fit for that

Purpofe and Defign he pretended to. He was

very zealous to be entertained amongft us, and

therefore I defired him to abfent himfelf.

L. C. J. Why was he not fit to be employed

among you ?

Whitebread. For feveral Reafons of our own

:

Firft of all it was doubtful, whether he was a

good Catholick : for he had oftentimes maintain-

ed feveral Propofitions that were not foundly Ca-

tholick : and then, fecondly, he led a very idle

Life, and he was not found a Man we were obli-

ged to accept of, and therefore we defired him

to retire. And to that purpofe we furnifhed

him, gave him a good Suit of Clothes, and a

Periwig, and four Pounds in his Purfe, and he

promifed me to pay me again when he had fold

his Library, which he faid he had a very good

one in London ; but he never did. But that I

fhould be fo ftrangely overfeen and mad, as at

the firft fight of fuch a Man as this, to truft him

with fuch a great Intrigue as this was, and to

write in fuch a plain ftrange manner, and fend

by Poll to Mr. Dugdale, as your Lordfhip did

and juftly might wonder at, had been a Madnefs.

It was much that any Man would write fo plain

of fuch a Thing. But then, my Lord, the chief

thing is this, That I hope your Lordfhip will

give us leave to produce our Witneffes to prove,

that he was not from St. Omen from the ioth

of December till the 23d of June following, and

never lay out of the Houfe but one Night from

December till June.

L. C. J. Name your Witneffes.

Whitebread. I defire firft Mr. Hiljley may be

called.

L. C. J. Call him ; but I'll tell you what is

ftrange, You fay it is wonderful that you fnould

truft a Man you had fo little Opinion of his Abi-

lities or Fidelity ; but I wonder that you fhould

maintain him after that.

Whitebread. No, my Lord, we did not.

L. C. J. You fay you did.

Whitebread. No, my Lord, he pretends he was

! here in England fent over by us, but we will

prove he was not.

L. C. J. But you maintained him abroad ?

Whitebread. That was before.

L. C. J. Is it fo great a wonder that you

fhould take into your Confidence and Confulta-

i
tion that Man, whom for a confiderable time

before you had maintained abroad ?

JVloitebread. But, my Lord, I fuppofe there is

fome difference between charitable Acts to a Man
in Want and a Scholar, and trufting him with

fuch an Intrigue as this.

Fenwick. Pray my Lord, be pleafed to take

notice, that this Man's Evidence all along is,

that he faw fuch and fuch Letters from fuch and

Vol.11.

fuch Perfons. They have no Evidence butjuft

that they faw fuch and fuch Letters, and how is

it poflible that a Man who was turned away
from St. Omers for his Mifdemeanors, that I

fhould fhew him all my Letters ? Now, my
Lord, I have had a Thoufand Letters taken from
me, not any of thefe Letters had any thing of
Treafon in them, or folliciting of Perfons to

come into England; let the Letters be produced,

and then your Lordfhip will fee what is in them.
All the Evidence that is given, comes but to

this •, there is but faying and fwearing. I defy

them all to give one probable Reafon to fatisfy

any reafonable uninterefted Man's Judgment how
this could be.

L. C. Baron. There can be no Reafon given

why you fhould fign an Inftrument to kill the

King.

L. C. J. You fay there is nothing but faying

and fwearing, but you do not confider what you
fay in that Matter. All the Evidence and all the

Teftimony in all Trials is by fwearing. A Man
comes and fwears that he faw fuch a Bond fealed,

or heard fuch Words fpoken, this is faying and
fwearing, but it is that Proof that we go by, and
by which all Mens Lives and Fortunes are to be
determined. But then fay you, 'tis wonderful,

that fince they fay they faw fuch and fuch Let-
ters, they fhould not produce them ; why ? they

did not belong to them : Ay, but then lay you,
'tis ftrange they fhould not find one Letter in all

thofe numerous Papers that were taken that con-

tains any Traiterous Matter; but, I fay, 'tis for-

ty times more a wonder that one fhould be taken,

than for all the reft to be undifcovered. I fup-

pofe Mr. Harcourt, amongft thofe Papers that he
let be furprifed, did not think that Letter that

hath been read to have been of fuch Confequence,

nor the Senfe of it to be fo bad.

Fenwick. I dreamt no more of my Apprehen-
fion, when I was taken, than the Day of my
Death, it was fo unexpected ; nor what I fhould

be accufed of: I had no fear of it, no thought
of it, fo that I took nothing out of the way.
They took five or fix thoufand Pound Bonds and
Bills, befides Letters-, methinks fomething of the

Effects of thofe Letters might be produced, and
fome of the Defign appear. For God's fake,

where are the Commiflions figned, and Moneys
paid ?

L. C. J. They talk of a Patent. Mr. White-
bread conftrues it, that it is his Commiffion ; if

fo, does it lie in Oates or Bedlow's Power to fhew
that Commiffion ? (this is juft like that of the

Bill of Exchange) neither does it in any of the

Letters.

Fenwick. Here is Mr. Hiljley, my Lord.
Whitebread. My Lord, we pray we may have

the favour that they may be Sworn.

L. C. J. North. By Law they cannot.

L. C. J. In no Capital Cafe againft the Kino-

can the Witneffes for the Prifoner be Sworn ;

but I will fay this to the Jury, That they are

not Sworn, is, becaufe they cannot, but theJury
is to take great heed of what they fay, and to be

governed by it according to the Credibility of the

Perfon and of the Matter.

Gavan. My Lord, if you pleafe to give me
leave, my Lord Coke in his Injlitutes faysexprefly,

That there is no pofitive Law againft ir, his

Words are, there is not fo much as Scintilla Juris
againft it.

5 0,2 L.cy.
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L. C J. North. We know that the conftant

Ufage and Practice is fo, and you cannot produce

any Man, that in any Capital Cafe had his Wk-
nc'ffes fworn againft the King.

L. C. J. My Lord Coke fays otherwife, That

the Evidence fhould be fo plain that nothing could

be anfwered to it; and therefore no Evidence

fhould be fworn againft the King.

Go-van. My Lord, thofe are the Words of my
Lord Coke.

L. C. J. You argue againft the known Prac-

tice of all Ages.

L. C. J. North. There was never any Man, in

a Capital Caufe, fworn againft the King. The

Common Law is the Cuftom of the Kingdom,

and we are bound to know it, and muft be all

governed by it.

Whitebread. In Mr. Ireland'* Trial, pag. 35, 36,

he fays, he came over with Sir John Warner, Fa-

ther Williams, and Mr. Hilpy, from St. Omers.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Nay, you muft not refort

to the frinted Trials for Evidence.

Fenwick. If we can prove him Perjured at any

time, I hope we may.

L. C. J. Suppofe upon the taking of thofe

printed Trials they miftakc, lhall Mr. Qates

therefore be thought Guilty of Perjury ? If you

have any thing to ask of your Witneffes which

you can apply to the Evidence given now, you

may.
Fenwick. Mr. Oates, did not you your fclf own

then you came over with Mr. Hiljley f

Oates. Ask me any Queftion about what \ have

given to-day, and if the Bench think it reafonable,

I will anfwer it.

Fenwick. My Lord, he did then affirm, that

he came over with thefe Perfons, in which he is

forfworn.

L. C. J. He is not convicted of Perjury, and

therefore that muft not be urged.

Fenwick. My Lord, we will prove by Wit-

neffes that were at the Trial, that he did affirm

fo : And I do defire now to know of you,

Mr. Oates, whether ever you came over with

Mr. Hiljley?

Qates. That which I faid then, and that which

I fay now, is, (becaufe you fhould not puzzle

your felves) that one Mr. Hiljley did come over

with us when we did.

Hilfley. My Lord, I did not.

L. C. J. How can you tell ?

Hiljley. I left him at St. Omers.

L. C. J. What fay you, Mr. Oates ?

Oates. 'Tis true, Mr. Hiljley did leave me at

St. Omers, becaufe he went out a Sunday Morn-

ing, and I came out of the Monday Morning, but

I overtook him at Calais.

Hilfley. My Lord, that is falfe, and I hayp a

great many here that can prove it.

L. C. J. What Religion are you of?

Hilfley. I am only to' fcrve His Majefty.

L. C. J. Are you not to ferve God too?

Hiljley. I am firft to ferve God, and then His
Majefty.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Arc you a Catholic?

JLf. C. J. Are you a Roman Catholic ?

Hiljley. Yes, my Lord, I am.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Be not afhamed of your

Religion, do not deny that; your Provincial here

can give you a Difpenfation for what you, fay.

Hilfley. I hope a Roman Catholic rrjay be % law-

ful Witnefs?

L.C. J. Yes, I deny it not. This is that you

fay, you left him at St. Omers; you muft call

more Witneffes to back him : Mafter Oates fays

'tis true, you left him at St. Omers, but he

overtook you at Calais.

Oates. This Gentleman loft his Money at Calais^

and Father Williams did relieve him by my
means.

L.C. J. What fay you to that ?

Hiljley. Why, my Lord, yes, it is true, I did

lofe my Money there, but it is nothing to the

purpofe, for I will affirm, I was never in the Ship

with him in my Life.

Oates. I defire he may be asked, whether he

be in the Degree of a Prieft, or not ?

L. C. J. That would be a hard Queftion to

put to him, to make him accufe himfelf. It

would bring him into danger of Treafon.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He is a Boy very fit to

make a Jefuit of.

L. C. y. How could he then come to know
this ?

Hiljley. I confefs 'tis true, that Mr. Oates did

never come over with me. And I have Wit-

neffes to prove, that they faw him there next

Pay at St. Omers, and two or three fevera] Weeks
after.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Mr. Oates hath another Cir-

cumftance to prove it by.

Oates. He went from us by the way, and did,

not come up with us to London.

Hiljley. I know how he undcrftood this : There

was a Gentleman that the Witneffes will prove he

was very familiar with, the fecond of May, that

told him.

L. C. y. Is that Gentleman here ?

Hiljley. Here is one here to prove it.

L.C.J. And did he tell them how you loft

your Money?
Hilfley. Yes, my Lord, I fuppofe fo.

L. C. y. I fpeak ferioufly, 1 do not underftand

how he could come by thefe Things.

Parry. My Lord, I can teftify, if it were law-r

ful for us to fwear, and prove that he was at

St. Omers that Day, when he fays he came over.

L. C. y. What is your Name ?

Parry. My Name is William Parry.

L. C y. What Countryman are you?
Parry. I am a Flint/hire Man.
L. C y. When was he at St. Omers ?

Parry. He was there that 25th Day, that Day
he fays he cams over.

ls C.y. Was he there all Day?
Parry. He did not ftir thence all the Day.

L. Q. y. How can you tell that ?

Parry. I din'd with him ; that Day he went

into the Infirmary, he did not go out of the

College, he was fick.

Fenwick. Mr. Parry, How long did Mr. Oates

ftay there at St. Omers ?

Parry. He ftaid till after the 20th of yum, I

am fure ; for on the 20th ofyune I know he was

prefect, by a very good Circumftance, he was at

an Action of ours, a Latin Play.

Oates. My Lord, as to this going into the In*

firmary at that time* I deny it. My Lord, (if

your Lordlhip pleafe) I will fhew that this Gen-

tleman is not only a Vorary of the Jefuits, but

hath been one of the Sodality feveral Years. And
they have Difpenfations, and are bound by an im-

plicit Obedience to fay what the Jefuits bid them,

who are their Superiors.

L. C. J.
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L. C. J. What fay you to the 20th of June,

the time he fays you were there at the feeing of

the Play?

Oates. My Lord, as to that twentieth of June,

I was there, and there was an Action at that

time, for I was then returned thither from Lon-

don.

Parry. I deny all that, for he never ftirr'd out

of the College.

L. C. J. Young Man, in what Quality were

you there.?

Parry. I was a Student there, a Poet.

L.C.J. How can you fay he did not ftir

thence all the while ?

Parry. I know by a particular thing ; I din'd

and fupp'd with him there, but when he was in

the Infirmary ; but the particular paffage was this,

He did there fall out with a Gentleman that was

in the Infirmary too.

L. C.J. When was that?

Parry. It was at the time that he fays he came

away.

L. C. J. When went he in ?

Parry. The 25th of April, Old Stile, and ftaid

a matter of three or four Days.

Oates. Will you be pleafed to take notice of

this? he fays that Hiljley'left me at St. Omers

when he came away, and that the next Day he

dined with me, and that I went into the Infir-

mary, which, he fays, was the 25th of April,

Old Stile. Now we will run to argue ad homi-

nem ; If this were the Z5th of April, Old Stile,

how did Mr. Williams meet with Mr. Hiljley at

Calais, and reftore him his Money, when the

24th Old Stile Mr. Williams was at the Con-

fult in London ?

L.C. J. When was it that you fay Mr. Hiljley

was at St. Omers ?

Femvick. Anfwer my Lord's Qyeftion.

Parry. He went away the Z4th of April, as I

remember.

L.C.J. What, Old Stile?

Parry. Yes, Old Stile according to the reckon-

ing there.

Oates. But, my Lord, upon the Oath that I

have taken ; if he mean New Stile, all that this

Gentleman hath faid about this is falfe, except that

1 was there the 20th of June.

L. C J. Was it New Stile or Old Stile that

you fay Mr. Hiljley went away ?

Mr. Recorder. He does not know New Stile

from Old Stile.

Parry. He went the 24th, that is the Old Stile

beyond Sea.

Whitehead. I do defire he may anfwer, whe-

ther he does know that Mr. Oates was ever out

of the Houfe from the time he came in December

till June, but one N ight.

Parry. No, he never was out but one Night

at WatIon.

L. C. J. From what time to what time?

Parry. It was but two Days and one Night.

L, C.J. What time was it that he was there

firft?

Parry. He came thither in 'December.

L. C. J. And did he flay there all the while?

Parry. He did not ftir from the College till the

end of Jt{ne \ and never went out but a Day or

two, as I know of.

L. C J. Not as you know of; but might not

he go, and you not know of It

}

Parrv. I amfure of it.

L. C. J. How can you tell ?

Parry. Not a Scholar goes from thence to

England, but the whole College rings of it?

Gavan. And then, my Lord, when they go
out they go in fecular Clothes, that none mult
know when any Perfon leaves the College.

Oates. My Lord, in fuch cafes, tho' 'tis true

in a general Senfe, yet it is but a general Rule,

and every general Rule admits of its Exceptions,

and my Cafe was a particular Exception. I put

on the Habit of the Houfe as foon as I did return

from London, and did not appear as if I had gone
out of the Houfe, nor did I know that it was
known that I had been out ; for I did never ap-

pear in the College in a fecular Habit.

Wbitebread. What his Clothes were, does not

change the Place he fat in ; he being Ancienter

than the Boys, had a privilege to fit in a parti-

cular Place, which muff, be known to all the

Houfe at Dinner and Supper. He was vifible

every Day there.

L. C. J. I do believe it ; and therefore he fays,

not only that he was reported to be there, but that

he faw him there almoft every Day.
Then another Witnefs for the Prifonerjlood up.

L. C. J. What fay you, Young Lad ?

Doddington. I fay, my Lord- >

L. C.J. What is your Name?
Doddington. Doddington.

Oates. Pray, my Lord, ask him if he went by

that Name at St. Omers.

Mr. Jujt. Pemberton. What was your Name at

St. Omers ?

Doddington. My Name was Hollis there.

L. C. J. How old are you ?

Doddington. Eighteen Years and an half.

L. C. J. What can you fay ? Where was Mr.
Oates ?

Doddington. He never went out of the Col-

lege, but one Night to Watton, till the end of

June.

L. C. J. When came he into the College ?

Doddington. A fortnight before Chrijlmas, I

did not mind the Day, he fays himfelf it was the

1 oth of December.

L. C. J. Was he there till June ? '

Doddington. Yes, he never went out till June

but one Night.

L. C. J. Where was that ? At Watton ?

Doddington. Yes, my Lord.

L- C. J. How do you know that ?

Doddington. I only know that by what all the

Houfe faid.

L. C. J. Did you fee him every Day, except

that Day ?

Doddington. I cannot fay I faw him every Day,

becaufe he was in the Infirmary once, and he

was there that very Day after Mr. Hiljley went

away.

L. C. J. What Day was it that Mr. Hiljley

went away ?

Doddington. The 24th of April New Stile ;

and that Day he fell fick, and went into the In-

firmary the next.

L. C. J. What Day of the Week was that?

Doddington. It was of a Sunday.

L. C. J. And when did you fee Mr. Oates?

Doddington. On Monday or Tuejday, I am not

certain.

L. C. J. How often did you fee him from the

24th of April to June? Did you fee him every

other Day?
Doddington.
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Doddington. Yes, that I am fure of for every

other Day, I am not certain every Day.

L. C. J. Are you pofitive ?

Jury. We defire to know what time of the

Year he was in the Infirmary.

Doddington. I difcourfed with him in the Infir-

mary two or three Days after Mr. Hiljley went

away.

L. C. J. But what time of the Year was it ?

Doddington. He was there firft in Winter, and

then afterwards he was in at this time, which was

in April.

L. C. J. Have you any more to fay?

Doddington. I can fay more, that I faw Mr.

Oates the fecond of May with one Blood or Bur-

naby, and I am fure I faw him in his Company.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him ?

Doddington. I faw him walking in the Garden

with Mr. Burnaby.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. When did you come in-

to England ?

Doddington. I came over the 24th of April.

L. C. J. How long have you been in England?

Doddington. About two Months.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Why did you come over ?

were you fent for over upon this occafion ?

Doddington. No, I was not.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Why did you come

over?

Doddington. 1 came over partly upon the King's

Proclamation.

L C. J. What Proclamation was that ?

L. C. J. North. That thofe that were in the

Seminaries mould come over again.

Doddington. And partly becaufe I had not my
Health.

Fenwick. Mr. Gifford, what do you know
about Mr. Oates's coming from St. Omen ?

L. C. J. When came you from St. Omers ?

Gifford. I came over about a Month ago.

L. C.J. Upon what occafion ?

Gifford. To juftify that Mr. Oates was there all

the while that he fays he was here.

L. C. J. You fpeak like an honeft Man, there

is no hurt in that.

Fenwick. We did fend for him over.

L. C. J. When did you fee Mr. Oates there ?

Gifford. I faw him the firft of May wasTwelve-

month with us, and the 21ft of April.

L. C. J. And how long after that ?

Gifford. I was in his Company for a whole

Week after, I am fure.

L. C.J. You fay the firft of May he was there,

how can you tell ?

Gifford. The firft of May there came one Mr.
Burnaby to the College, and he fell into Acquain-

tance with him, and I faw him with him: He
was with us an whole Week at leaft every Day
after Dinner : We have an hour always after

Dinner to recreate in, and this Gentleman was

there with us, and Mr. Burnaby ; for Mr. Oates

feeing us in the Garden at firft, put himfelf into

our Company, and kept with us.

L. C J. Was he not in the Infirmary ?

Gifford. Not at that time, my Lord.

L. C. J. When was he in the Infirmary ?

Gifford. The Day after Hiljley went away.

L. C. J. Do you remember that?

Gifford. Yes, I do.

L. C. J. North. How long did he ftay in the

Infirmary ?

Parry. About three Days.

L. C. J. And for how long together did you

fee him after Mr. Hiljley's Departure?

Gifford. I can fwear that I faw him at leaft till

June, if I can believe my own Eyes.

L. C. J. Your Religion does not allow you

to believe your own Eyes.

Gifford. I can in my Confcience fay, I believe

I did fee him every Day, or every other Day.

L. C. J. Which do you fay, Did you fee him
every other Day, or every Day.

Gifford. If I fay, I faw him every other Day,

that is fuffkient.

L. C. J. Do you know that he went out of the

College at anytime?

Gifford. Yes, he went for one Night.

L. C.J. Whither?

Gifford. To a place called Wation.

L. C. J. What did he go thither for?

Gifjord. For his Relaxation.

L. C. J. How came you to take fuch particu-

lar notice of him, that he was there ?

Gifford. It is impofiible but we fhould fee him,

and take notice of him, for we Dine all together

in one Room, and we could not but take notice

of him, for he was at a diftind: Table by him-
felf.

L. C. J. How many are there that Dine in one

Room ?

Gifford. One hundred and fifty.

L. C. J. How could you know him, when
there were fo many ?

Gifford. He was at a diftindt. Table by himfelf,

between the Boys and the Religious.

Ihen flood up another, one Palmer.

L. C. J. Well, what do you ask him ?

Fenwick. The fame Queftion as the reft.

L. C. J. When came you from St. Omers ?

Palmer. I came two or three Months ago.

L. C. J. Why did you come over ?

Palmer. I had no mind to ftay any longer.

L. C. J. Where does your Father live ?

Palmer. By Wind/or.

L. C.J. When did you fee Mafter Oates?

Palmer. 1 faw him the firft Day of May, New
Stile, and I know it for a particular Reafon;
there were Strangers dined at the College that

Day, whereupon Mafter Oates, and feveral other

Boys played at Nine-Pins, in the Afternoon, I

faw them.

L.C.J. Why, you do not count all Boys
there, do you ?

Palmer. All but thofe that are the Religious.

L. C. J. Why, you did not count Mafter Oates

a Boy, did you ?

Palmer. He was none of the Religious: He
fat indeed at a Table by himfelf, but he went to

School with the Boys, and we called all the Scho-

lars Boys.

L. C. J. How often did you fee him ?

Palmer. I'll tell your Lordfhip, I faw him the

firft of May, for that Reafon ; the fecond of May
I faw him with Mafter Burnaby, a Man that he

had never feen in all his Life before, and we
wondred that he had fo much impudence to infi-

nuate himfelf into his Company.
L. C.J. What is he?
Palmer. He is a Gentleman that is now in

Flanders.

L. C. J. How do you know that Mr. Oates

had no Acquaintance with him before ?

Palmer.
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Palmer. Becaufe I know he was in England,

and came over while Mafter Oates was actually

at St. Omers.

L. C. J. But he might be of his Acquaintance

in England.

Palmer. I heard Mafter Burnaby fay, he never

faw Mafter Oates in all his life before. The fe-

cond of May I faw him at the Action, the fifth

of May Mafter Killinbeck went away, and I faw

Mafter Oates actually there then, and one Mafter

Poole went away ; and I remember Oates was

there for a particular Reafon -, he was a kind of

a weak Man, fomething foft, not over- wife, and

we were asking him, why he would go away by

himfelf} and talking of it afterwards, fays Mafter

Oates, (1 will not fay pofitively thofe were the

words, but that was the fenfe) He does not go a-

lone, for there goes Efquire Poole and Efquire Fool

together. The eleventh Day we had an Action,

a Play alfo, whereupon there was a particular

place for the Muficians to play in, where no one

elfe was to fit ; Mafter Oates would fit there,

and thereupon there was one Mafter Watfon quar-

rell'd with him, and they had like to have

fought.

L. C. J. This was the i ith of May f

Palmer. Yesy my Lord, New Stile, and the

other was the 5th.

L. C. J. But you faw him betwixt that Time ?

Palmer. Yes, my Lord, I did.

i. C. J. And fo for how long ?

Palmer. I faw him at four o'clock in a Morn-

ing, reading Father Worjley's Controverfies, and

fo for feveral Days together.

Fenwick. Did he go away before June ?

Palmer. No, he did never ftir till June.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Did not you go fometime by

the Name of Sanders or Hill ?

Palmer. No, only by the Name of fbomas

Palmer.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Hark you, Sir, who maintained

you at St. Omers ? Do not you know one Mr.

Caryl ?

Palmer. No, my Father maintained mc.

L. C. J. Who is your Father ?

Palmer. Sir Philip Palmer.

L. C. J. What Country Gentleman is he ?

Palmer. Buckingham/hire.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He is Cup-bearer to the

King.
'then flood up one Mafter Cox.

L.C.J. How long have you been from Saint

Omers ?

Cox. Two Months.

L C. J. What Country-man are you ?

Cox. I was born at Brujfels, to ferve you.

L. C. J. Do you know Mafter Oates f

Cox. Yes, I did, very well.

L. C. J. Where ?

Cox. At St. Omers.

L. C. J. When ?

Cox. I left St. Omers Seven Months ago, and

I came away in the Month of November, after

Mafter Oates. My Lord, I can prove that he was

there in April and May. I went from St. Omers

to Brujfels, and from Brujfels I came ftraight to

London.

L. C. J. But when did you fee Mafter Oates

there ?

Cox. I can prove I faw him at St. Omers, when
he fays he was in England, and that by this Cir*

cumftance s Mafter Pool, who was my Mufick-

Mafter, was fick there* and Mafter Oates was
often with him.

L. C. J, Were you there all the Time he was
there ?

Cox. Yes, I was, till he went away.
L. C. J. When did he go away ?

Cox. Mafter Oates went away in the Month of
July.

L. C. J. Are you fure of that ?

Cox. Yes, my Lord, lam.
L. C. J. Not in June ?

Cox. No, my Lord, July,
L. C. J. Why he differs from all the reft.

Cox. My Lord, I can prove he was at St. 0-
mers when he lays he was in England.

L. C J. Why, what Month did he go away ?

Cox. My Lord, I can prove that Mr. Oates
was never abfent from St. Omers, till he went a-
way for good and all.

L. C. J. When was that ?

Cox. He went after the Confult of the Jefuits,

which he fays was in England in April.

L. C. J. Come, come, anfwer me plainly, if

you can, in what Month Mr. Oates left St.

Omers ?

Cox. I fay, Mr. Oates was never abfent from
St. Omers, till the Confult of the Jefuits was over,
which he hath confefled himfelf to be at.

L. C. J. When was that ?

Cox. Why it was after May, 'tis no matter
what the Month was, whether June or July.
(At which the People laughed,)

Cox, What do you laugh at, Sirs ? why, fup-
pofe I miftake the Month, it is no matter.

£., C. J. Look you, we are now upon a Que-
ftion of Time, and you cannot tell that a Man
is there at a certain Time, unlefs you can prove
the certain Time when he came away.

Cox. I can prove, that he was there till after

the Confult of the Jefuits. {And then the People
laughed again.)

L. Q. J, Ay, I believe you there, 'tis enough
for you, but you have done a very great Preju-
dice to thofe Perfons that you came for, for you
come to prove the Conclufion, but do not take
notice of what Mediums you are to ufe. Say you,
if I can but prove that he was there till after the

Confult of the Jefuits, that is the Thing in Que-
ftion, and I need no more ; but this is ferving a
Turn only : Pray can you tell me what Month
he came to St. Omers ?

Cox. Yes, he came thither in the Month of
December.

L. C. J. And when did he go away again ?

Cox. He was never abfent from St. Omers, out
of the View of the Scholars, except one Night,
that he went to Watton, and one Day, when he
was in the Infirmary, but even at that Time he
was feen by fome of the Scholars.

L. C. J. Yet you cannot tell the Time that he
went away ?

Cox. He was never abfent all the while,

Mr. Juft. Windham, Do you know when the

Confult of the Jefuits was ? upon what Day ?

Cox. He fays he went away with Mr. Hil/ley,

but he did not, I can prove the contrary.

L. C. J. No, no, he fays he followed him }

and overtook him at Calais.

Cox. That is falfe, and I can prove it by this

Circumftance : One Mr. Conquefl was to go for

England that Day, and he came into the Refe-

ctory, and told us a Story of this Mr. Conquers
. being
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being unwilling to rife in the Morning to go for

England,

L. C. J. When did he tell that Story ?

Cox. That Day that he was to go for England.

L. C. J. How long was that after Mr. Hiljtey

went away ?

Cox. The Day after.

Gavan. When was the Time that Mr. Conqueft

went for England ?

Cox. In the Month of May, as we count.

L. C. J. What time in the Month of May ?

Cox. It was the 5th : And he fays, that Mr.
Pool and Mr. Nevil were in England with him,

but I can teftify that they were not abfent, for one

of them was my Mufick-mafter.

L. C. J. Was he there all May?
Cox. Yes, that I can teftify upon my Oath.

L. C. J. And all June ?

Cox. Yes, my Lord, but if 1 prove he was not

in May in England it is fufficient.

L. C. J. Upon my word, you deferve a fharp

Penance, for running into that Fault two or three

times : You have done them no Kindnefs in this

matter.

Gavan. If your Lordfhip will take Advantage
of every Circumftance, young Men may not re-

member the particular Day of his going away.

L. C. J. But you hear how he delivers his E-
vidence, 'tis as if he had been inftru&ed, You
mud come and prove that Oates was not in Eng-

land in April ami May, and that will do our Bu-

finefs •, for he tells you, it is fufficient ; but we
will have it proved to fatisfy us.

Cox. But why mould I fay more than I know ?

L C. J. You mean, more than you are inftru-

fted about. I only ask you one fnort Queftion,

Do you know when Mr. Oates left St. Omers ?

Name the Month.
Gavan. If you don't remember the Time, fay fo»

Cox. My Lord, I cannot remember it.

L. C.J. Then call another. Who flood up.

Oates. My Lord, I defire they may be examined

apart.

L. C. J. You need not trouble yourfelf about

that. What is your Name ?

Billing. My Name is 'Thomas Billing.

L. C. J. When came you from St. Omers ?

Billing. I came three Months ago, I think, my
Lord.

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Oates ?

Billing. Yes, my Lord, very well.

L. C. J. When did you fee him at St. Omers ?

Billing. My Lord, I faw him when he came,

the fame Day, or the Day after.

L. C. J. When was that?

Billing. In December , my Lord, the 10th of
December.

L. C. J. And he ftaid there, how long?

Billing. Till the latter end of June.

L. C. J. Was he never abfent ?

Billing. I can very well remember that he went
to Watton in the Chriftmas. I was then in the In-

firmary myfelf, and he and his Companion came
in there to fee us, and faid he had been at Watton.

L. C. J. But he was twice in the Infirmary,

was he not ?

Billing. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. J. When was the fecond tim? ?

Billing. The fecond time was in A -7, 1 went
in the Week before Chriftmas : On St. Thomas of

Canterbury's Day I came out again;

L. C. J. But you fay the fecond time was in

April?

Billing. Yes.

L. C. J. How long was he there then ?

Billing. Truly I was not with him then, but I

think three or four Days.

L. C. J. Were you in the College then ?

Billing. Yes, my Lord, I was.

L. C. J. Did you fee him in the College from
Time to Time ?

Billing. Yes, I did.

L. C. J. How long?

Billing. For all the Time that he ftaid.

L. C. J. How long was that ?

Billing. That was from December, till the latter

end of June.

L. C. J. Was he there all May?
Billing. Yes, my Lord. He fays he was eight

Days in England, but he could not be fo, for he
entred himfelf into the Sodality the 25th of
March, and not long after his Admiffion, he was
put to read every Sunday morning at Six o'clock.

And after that he began once to read, he never

was abfent from that Time till the Time he went
away.

L. C. J. Why, did he read when he was fick?

Billing. He was not fick upon the Sunday.

L. C. J. You fay he was fick in April ?

Billing. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. But he was not fick of a Sunday, in

April ?

Billing. He was only a little indifpofed, and
frequented tlie Infirmary in the Day-time for a

matter of three or four Days.

L. C. J. Did he read, at the Time he was fick

in the Infirmary ?

Billing. He was not fick a whole Week.
L. C. J. Did it reach to a Sunday ?

Billing. No, my Lord, that I remember.

L. C. J. How long did he continue there?

Billing. Till towards the latter end of June.

L. C. J. Did you fee him once in two or three

Days ?

Billing. Yes, my Lord, I did, conftantly. And
upon the 2d of May, I very particularly remem-
ber, looking out into the Garden, I faw Mr. Blunt

walking in the Garden, and Mr. Oates with him

:

And obferving him to be very intimately fami-

liar with him, I asked fome that were with me,
Does this Samp/on, for he went by that Name in

the College, fays I, does Samp/on know Dick

Blunt ? No, faid they ; and we wondred at his

Confidence, having no greater Acquaintance ; I

faw him that Day, walking in the Garden with

that Blunt.

L. C. J. That was the 2d of May ?

Billing. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. And he was conftantly in this Gentle-

man's Company that Day ?

Billing. Yes ; and moreover the fame Day this

Sampfon was walking with one John Rujhton in

the Garden, and feeing me walk alone, Thomas,

fays he, have you never a Companion ? No,
Sampfon, faid I : Well, faid he, pr'ythee come to

us. So 1 was with him walking a little while,

and then this Blunt, and one Henry Howard,

were playing one with another, throwing Stones

at one another's Shins. At which he was dif-

pleafed, and faid, if they would not be quiet, he

would go tell the Rector. Howard was hafty,

and fpoke angrily to him, and faid, if he would

not be quiet, he would beat him : But Mr. Oates

perfifting, and daring of him, fays he, What, do

you dare me ? and comes up to him, and throws

up
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up Mr. Oates his Heels. With that Mr. Oates

look'd very fretfully upon him, and withdrew

himfelf into the Infirmary, as we thought, to

fpeak to the Reftor. And by thefc Particulars,

and fuch as thefe, I remember to have feen him

every Day, one Day with another, or every other

Day, at St. Omers, till he went away, which was

in June.

Then flood up another, one Tovrnky.

L. C. J. Come, Mr. Townley, do you know

Mr. Oates ?

Townley. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. When came you from St. Omers ?

townley. I came a Week before Eafter.

L. C. J. When faw you this fame Mr. Oates

at St. Omers ?

townley, I faw him in June.

L.C. J. Whenelfe?

Townley. In May.

L. C. J. When elfe ?

Townley. In April.

L. C. J. Was he there in all April, all May,

and all June ?

Townley. No, not all June. He went away, as

I take it, about the iothof June.

L. C. J. Pray, how often did you fee him ?

Did you fee him every Day ?

Townley. I converfed with him every Day.

He was partly a Scholar, and partly a Father ;

and fat at a Table by himfelf. He went to School

as a Scholar ; 'tis true, indeed, he did not learn,

as the reft of the Boys did, but he went to School,

as the Boys did, and was at a Table from the Fa-

thers, as the Boys were, but apart and alone.

L. C. J. But how often did you fee him ? was

it every other Day ?

Townley. Yes, I believe I did.

L. C. J. What, for all April, and all May ?

Townley. Yes.

L. C J. How came you to take fuch parti-

cular Notice of it, that you can fay, you faw

him every other Day ?

Townley. If I conftantly dine with one, or if

he be at a fingle Table alone, he cannot be abfent,

but I muft take notice of it : And he was neither

as a Father nor as a Scholar, but betwixt both,

and therefore the more to be taken notice of.

L. C. J. This then you fay, He fitting by
himfelf, and being diftinct from all the others,

you might more eafily obferve his Abfence, than

any others. This is that you fay ?

Townley. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. You fay well. Call another.

Then flood up one Fall.

L. C. J. When came you from St. Omers ?

Fall. About Two Months ago.

L C. J. When did you fee Mr. Oates ?

Fall. 1 faw him when I was in my Syntax, and
now lam in Poetry.

L. C. J. What Month did you fee him in ?

Fall. When he came firft, as I remember, it

was at Chriflmas.

L. C. J. Chriflmas laft ?

Fall. No, it was Chriflmas was Twelve-month,
Chriflmas ibyj.

L. C. J. How long did you fee him there ?

Fall. I faw him therefrom that time till June,
only when he was zxV/atton.

L. C. J. Was he never fick ?

Vol. II.

Fall. I faw him in the Infirmary my felf.

L. C. J. How can you tell when a Man is

fick ?

Fall. I do not pretend to that, but he was in

the Infirmary as a fick Man.
L. C. J. How came you to take particular

notice of it ?

Fall. I took no particular notice, but I have

recollected my Memory.
L. C. J. Upon what Occafion ?

Fall. Upon this Occafion.

L. C. J. How often did you fee him ?

Fall. I faw him every Day.

L. C. J. How long have you been in the Con<=

vent?

Fall. My Lord, I have been there two Years

and an half.

Then flood up John Hall.

L. C. J. When came you from St. Omers ?

Hall. In July, my Lord.

L. C. J. How long have you been there?

Hall. Seven Years, and upwards.

L. C. J. How long is it fince you came from

thence ?

Hall In July, in the Year 1678.

L. C. J. And did you fee Mr. Oates there

then ?

Hall. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. When did you fee him there, then?

Hall. I faw him there in April, May, and June.

L. C. J. What, all June ?

Hall. No, my Lord,

L.C.J. How long mjune?
Hall. He went away about the 23d oFJme.
L. C. J. How came you to take fuch particu-

lar notice Mr. Oates was there all this while ?

Hall. I was a Servant there.

L. C. J. In what Way ?

Hall. A Refa&orian, a Butler.

L. C. J. Did you keep Books of what Meat
and Drink they had ?

Hall. No j I laid their Table, drew their

Beer, and laid the Bread.

L. C. J. And did you ferve Mr. Oates with

Bread and Beer every Day ?

Hall. Yes, my Lord, moil Days.

L. C. J. Did you fcrve the Infirmary ?

Hall. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. But you fay you ferved him every

Day?
Hall. Yes, my Lord, the moft of the Time he

remained there ; I acknowledge he was in the In-

firmary.

L. C. J. How long ?

Flail. Four or five Days, or thereabouts.

L. C. J. Was he in the College in April ?

Hall. Yes, my Lord, all along.

L. C. J. And all May ?

Hall. Yes, my Lord, I faw him all May, I

laid his Table near the Door, at a particular

Place where he always fat.

Jury. My Lord, we defire to know what Em-
ploy ment he is of now ?

L. C. J. Hall, what made you come into Eng-

land ?

Hati. My Lord, I had not my Health there.

L. C. J. How long had you lived there?

Hall. Seven Years, and upwards.

L. C. J. And when began you to be fick ?

Hall. I had not my Health at Chriflmas, in

December 1677.

5 R X. C. J,
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L. C. J. What Employment have you here,

for you had a good Place there ?

Hall. I live at home,' with my Father and my
Friends.

L. C. J. What is your Father, where lives he?

Hall. He is a Gentleman ; he lives in Radnor-

Jhire.

L. C. J. When came you to London ?

Hall. I came to England in July 1678.

L. C. J. But you fay your Father is in Rad-

nor/hire, when came you here to London ?

Hall. I have been here about a Month. I was

fummoned up as a Witnefs*

Then one Dallifon was called, who did not ap-

pear, and one Maufhel appearing, but /peak-

ing French, and no Engliih, and an Jnter-

prefer not being ready, be was for the prefentt

by the Confent of the Prifoners,fet ajide. And
then food up one Cooke.

L. C. J. When came you from St. Omers ?

Cooke. In January laft.

L. C. y. And where have you been ever fince ?

Cooke. Here in Town, my Lord.

L. C. y. Does your Father live here in Town?
Cooke. No, my Lord.

L. C. J- Do your Friends live here ?

Cooke. No, my Lord.

L. C. y. You came over upon this Occaflon,

did you ?

Cooke. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. When did you fee Mr. Oates there ?

Cooke. I faw him in laft yune.

L. C. y. And was he there in yuly ?

Cooke. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. What time did he go away ?

Cooke. The 23d, the Eve of the Feaft of St.

John Baptift.

L. C.y. How do you know?
Cooke. I made him fome Clothes.

L. C. y. Are you a Taylor ?

Cooke. Yes.

L. C. y. How often did you fee him?

Cooke. Every Day.

L. C. y. How came he to keep you Company ?

Cooke. I could not choofe but fee him, fometimes

I faw him twenty times a Day.

L. C. y. Where was he in April ?

Cooke. He was there all April.

L. C. y. He might be abfent one Day, or fo,

and you fee him not.

Cooke. He ufed to come twice a Week to my
Shop for things.

L. C. y. Was he there all May?
Cooke. Yes.

L. C. y. You fay you faw him every other

Day?
Cooke. Yes, my Lord.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Why, Sir, there are 150 Scho-

lars there, how can you tell he was there fo

well ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Can you tell every one

that was there all that time ?

Cooke. No, I can't tell every one that was there,

but he was particular enough.

L. C. J. Did you live in Town as a Taylor,

or in the College ?

Cooke. In the College.

Mr. Belwood. Was Mr. Oates at Watton any

part of the time ?

Cooke: Yes, he was.

Mr. Belwood. What Day ? what Month ?

Cooke. I cannot juftly fay the Day, but it was
in April.

L. C y. How long was he abfent ?

Cooke. Only one Night, as it mall pleafe you;
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Hark you, how came you

to take notice that he was at Watton one Night ?

Cooke. It was talked ofamong all the Scholars:

L. C. y. How can you remember what was
faid a Year ago of one Man ?

Cooke. It was reported all over the Houfe.
Gavan. In one Place of his Narrative, he fays

he came over with Sir yohn Warner and Sir Tho-
mas Pre/Ion.

L. C. y. North. That is nothing to the Pur-
pofe. If you can contradict him in any thing
that hath been fworn here, do.

Gavan. If we can prove him a Perjured Man
at any time, we do our bufinefs.

L.C.y. You fhould have proved him a Per-
jured Man before. How can we prove one Caufe
in another ? and then too he had been provided
to make his Defence. Can he come prepared to

make good every thing that he hath faid in his

Life?

Oates. Can I come to make good my Evi-
dence againft all I have done in my Life ?

L. C. J. Look you, if fo be he hath forfworn

himfelf in any former Trial, if that would appear,

you have all the Reafon to make ufe of it ; but

you have not taken the right way, you fhould

have indicted him and tried him for Perjury in the

former Trial, and then he could not have been

heard at all in this*

Whitehead. We were all Prifoners clofe fhut

up.

L. C. y. We know you have a Party ftrong

enough, and willing enough to convict him of
Perjury, if they could ; but look you, Gentlemen,

here is the thing, if you can give fuch Evidence

as will fatisfy the Jury that he was abfent all A-
pril and all May, you have faid a great thing.

His Evidence will be quite contradicted.

WhitebreacL He fays he came over with Sir

Thomas Prefton and Sir yohn Warner, and others.

L: C. y: He fays nothing of it now.
Oates. May it pleafe you, my Lord, I will

anfwer it, if you pleafe.

L. C.y. They defire to know who came over

with you when you came over in April.

Oates. I will tell you, and to convince the

Court, that in neither of the Trials I did contra-

dict my felf, I fay, I did name fome Perfons at one

time that I did not name at another, becaufe fome

Mens Names did occur to my mind at one time

than did at another. There came over with me
the Rector of Liege, Sir yohn Warner, Father

Williams, Father Marfi, Father Warnert Sir

Thomas Prejlon, and others.

L. C. y. This is dealing plainly with you.

Then food up one Bartlett;

L. C. y. What Countryman are you ?

Bartlett. I am a Dutchman.

L. C. y. Can you fpeak Englijh ?

Bartlett. Yes, a little.

L. C. y. When came you from St. Omers ?

Bartlett. I came from St. Omers the 23d of

May, in the Year 1678, New Stile.

Gavan. My Lord, this Man is come over to

teftify, that Oates is perjured in a Circumftance

about Sir John Warner.

L.C.J.
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L. C. J. He is to contradict Mr. Oates's Te-

stimony, for he fays he came over with Sir John

Warner, and you fay Sir John did not come at

that time.

Gavan. Yes.

L. C. J. Well, when did Sir John Warner come

over from St. Omers ?

Bartlett. Whither ?

L. C. J. Into England.

Bartlett. Sir John Warner hath not been xnEng-

land all May, and all the Month of April.

L. C J. Where was he ?

Bartlett. He was at Watton. I did fee him

there.

L. C. J. Were you there all that time ?

Bartlett. Yes, I was.

L.C.J. North. Were you there all May ?

Bartlett. Yes, I was.

L. C. J. When did you come over into Eng-

land laft ?

Bartlett. The 23d of May.

L. C. J. How long have you been in Eng-

land ?

Bartlett.

L. C. J
Bartlett.

L.C.J.
23d of May,

Bartlett. I did not come over till the latter

end of June.

L. C. J. Juft now you faid, you came over the

23d of May.
Bartlett. No, my Lord, I thought you had

;
asked the Queftion when Mr. Oates came over.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He fays fo, asyourLord-

,
ihip fays before.

L. C. J. How do you know when Mr. Oates

came over ?

Bartlett. I heard fo beyond Sea.

About five or fix Weeks.
What is your Name ?

Mv Name is Bartlett.

But you fay that you came over the

Sir John Warner, and where he was April and
May was Twelvemonth.

Tiffer. He fays, my Lord, that he was at Wat-
ton all April and May, and continued there till

September.

L. C. J. Pny ask this Man what Quality he

is of there.

Tijfer. He goes along with a Veflel between

St. Omers and Watton, and that he knows it to

be true.

L. C. J. Ask him if he did fee him every

Day.

Tiffer. He fays, generally, my Lord, daily.

L. C. J. Ask him what Religion he is of.

Tiffer. He fays he is of the Roman Religion.

Then flood up one Baillee.

L. C. J. Ask him, Mr. Tiffer, if he knows Sir

John Warner ; and where he was all April and

May was Twelvemonth:

Tiffer. He fays the fame, that he was at Wat-
ton all April and May.

L. C. J. Ask him, how he can tell.

Tiffer. He fays he is a Servant of the Houfe.

L. C. J. And did he fee him there daily ?

Tijfer. My Lord, he fays that he gave him Di-

rections to make a Baftyment, that he is a Ma-
fon, and that he did give him Directions daily

about it, and that hefaw him every Day.
L. C. J. Look you, Gentlemen of the Jury, he

fpeaks to the fame purpofe that the three Witnef-
fes before fpoke to ; he fays he is a Mafon, and
that he built a Baftyment there by Direction from
Sir John Warner, and that Sir John Warner
came daily to give Directions about it.

Predrejton

Then one Carlier, a Foreigner, appearing, and

not being able to /peak Englifh, Mr. Tiffer

the Under- Sheriff of Middlefex ivisfwom
truly to interpret his Teftimony.

L. C. J. Mr. Tijfer, you are only to tell us

xvhat he fays : Ask him when he came into Eng-

land laft.

Tijfer. He fays, my Lord, it was between feven

and eight Weeks ago.

L. C. J. Ask him if he knows where Sir John
Warner was, laft Summer was a Year ago.

Tijfer. He fays, my Lord, he was in Watton for

two Years laft paft.

L. C. J. Ask him where he was all April was

Twelvemonth, and all May.
Tijfer. My Lord, he fays, that the laft Sun-

day in April Sir John Warner was at his Houfe at

Watton.

L. C. J. And where was he all May ?

Tiffer. In the fame Houfe.

L. C. J. Ask him how he does know.
Tijfer. My Lord, he faith, that he was a Gar-

dener there.

L. C. J. It feems he fays to the fame effect as

the laft Witnefs did. Call another. Who did

ftand up.

L.C.J. What is this Man's Name ?

Gavan. His Name is Charles Ferron.

L. C. J. Does he fpeak any Englijh ?

Gavan. No, he does not.

L. C. J. Then, Mv.TiJfer^ ask him if heknows
Vol. II.

Then flood up John Jofeph.

L. C. J. Do you know Sir Thomas

Jofeph. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. When did you fee him ?

Jofeph. In the Months of April, May, and
June.

L. C. J. Where was he then ?

Jofeph. He was 1

at the Englijh Houfe at Liege.

L. C. J. Did you fee him there ? How often

did you fee him there ?

Jofeph. I faw him there every Day almoft.

L. C. J. What Occafion had you to fee him ?

What were you there?

Jofeph. I was Porter of the Gate.

L. C. J. And did you fee him all the Month of
April ?

Jofeph. Every Day, moft commonly.
L- C. J. Did you fee him once in a Day or

two ?

Jofeph. I did fee him in April, May, and June.
L. C. J. That you might do ; but did

fee him every Day ?

Jofeph. Every Day, moft commonly, I can-

not abfolutely fay, but two or three Days in a
Week.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray do you know of any time

that Sir Thomas Preflon was abfent from Liege?

Jofeph. He was in the Time of Vacancy.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Was he not abfent in April or

May ?

Jofeph. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. When are the Vacancies ?

Jofeph. In Auguft, my Lord.

Then flood up one Peter Carpenteer.

L. C J. Do you know Sir Tho. Preflon ?

5 R 2 Carpenteer.,

you
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Carpenteer. Yes, my Lord, very well.

L. C. J. Where did you know him ?

Carpenteer. I knew him ax. Liege.

L. C. J. How often did you fee him there in

April and May ?

Carpenteer. Every Day I faw him there, all A-
pril and May.

L.C.J. What Office had you there?

Carpenteer. I was Caterer.

Gavan. My Lord, we have no more Witneffes

as to this Point. But, my Lord, my Ctfe is dif-

ferent from the others : Mr. Oates fays he did not

fee me in the Congregation, but he fays, he after-

wards faw my Hand to the Confult : Now, my
Lord, I have a Witnefs to prove that I was at

that time at Wolverhampton in Stafford/hire. No
body hath a Right to fit in the Congregation till

he become a profeffed Jefuit, which at that time I

was not.

L. C. J. He does not charge you to have been

there, tho' he fays he faw your Hand to it.

Gavan. My Lord, I was then in the Country.

L. C- J. North. That will do you fome, and

yet but little Service, if you can prove your fclf

at Wolverhampton at that time ; but call your Wit-

neffes.

L C.J. Mr. Gavan, he fays he faw a Letter

of yours, giving an Account how Affairs flood

in Stafford/hire and Shropjhire* and that afterwards

in July* and before that Gentleman, Mr. Ajhby,

went to the Bath* he heard you difcourfe of the

fame Matter : And though he cannot charge his

Memory to fay he faw you the 14th of April* yet,

fays he, I did fee his Hand to the Confult ; and

being asked how he knew your Hand, he fays he

knew it by your writing a Bill of Exchange in

his Prefence.

Gavan. I could not fign the Confult at London*

and not be at London.

L. C. J. North. I believe in fuch a Bufinefs

you care not h6w many Hands you have ; but we
will not prevent you calling your Witneffes : You
are upon your Life, don't fpend the Time, call

them quickly.

L. C. J. What do you call them to prove ?

Gavan. To prove that I was at Wolverha?npton

the 24th and 15th ofApril.

L. C. J. Pray hear what he fays himfelf. You
fay, Sir, you faw his Hand to the Confult that

was in April ; pray, when was it that you faw
it ?

Oates. h was in June or July.

L. C. J. North. You might fet your Hand af-

terwards to it, if you were not there then.

L. C. J. You fay you were then in Staffordjhire.

and might not you fet your Hand afterwards when
you came to Town? I will tell you, Mr. Gavan*
in April they met, and had fuch a Refolution

;

you were then in Staffordjhire •* might not you
come to Town in July following, and fet your
Hand to what was agreed in April before ? And
you cannot contradicl him, but by fhewing that

all June and July you were not here : For if you
prove your felf never fo much to have been at

Wolverhampton in April* that will not ferve the
Turn. You feem to make a very great Defence
of this : All that Mr. Oates fays is, that the 24th
ofApril he was prefent where there was a Confult
had about the Death of the King, and divers Per-
fons fet their Hands to the Refolve. Mr. Gavan
afterwards was in Town, and then, fays he, I
faw his Hand fet to the Confult : I will not charge

my Memory to fay he was prefent, but I wilt

tell you why I believe it was his Hand, becaufe

I faw him draw a Bill of Exchange, and that

was juft like the fame Hand.
Gavan. Ay but, my Lord, I was not here in

April.

L. C. J. But this proves, in effecl, that you fet

your Hand to the thing afterwards. And now
if you fhould prove your felf never fo plainly not

to have been there in April, you do not come to

the thing : it is ftill a Non liquet, whether you
were here July* or no. And Mr. Oates does not

pofitively charge you as to April. Well, call your
Witneffes, and prove what you will.

Catharine Winford was called* and appeared.

Gavan. I defire you would be pleafed to ask
her, where I was the 23d of July?

Winford. My Lord, I am very fure he was a
Sojourner at our Houfe the moft part of the

Summer, in June and July both : In July the

23d he went away from my Houfe, and took a-

nother Lodging more convenient for that which
he had to do.

L. C.J. Where? In what Town was this ?

Winford. At Wolverhampton in Staffordjhire.

L. C.J. Was he never away from you all that

Time ?

Winford. No ; and then he went to another

Lodging in the Town.
L. C. J. Do you fay that he fojourned with

you all June and July till the 23d ?

Winford. He fojourned with me longer ; but I

only name thofe Months, becaufe they are only

in Queftion.

L. C. J. Where did he go when he went from
you?

Winford. He took another Lodging in the

Town.
L. C. J. And did you fee him then ?

Windford. 1 faw him then every Day, or every

other Day.

L. C. J. Are you a Roman Catholick ?

Winford. Yes, my Lord, I am fo.

L. C. J. Call another.

Gavan. CM Mary Poole. [Who flood up.]

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Gavan ?

Poole. Yes, my Lord.

L C.J. How long have you known him?
Poole. This Six or Seven Years.
L. C. J. Pray do you know where he was this

time Twelvemonth ?

Poole. He was at Mrs. Winford's Houfe at

Wolverhampton.

L. C. J. How do you know ?

Poole. I was a Servant there in the Houfe.
L. C. J. And where was he in April ?

Poole. He was at my Miftrefs's Houfe.
L. C. J. And where was he in May ?
Poole. My Lord, I believe he was there.

L. C. J. And why do you believe he was
there ?

Poole. Becaufe I don't remember his going
forth, till the latter end of July* and he was there

in June too.

L. C. J. You anfwer readily, as to June and
July, why did you flick at the Month of May*
more than the other Months ? for you know,
when I asked you where he was in April* then
you faid he was at home ; why do you doubt
whether he was there in May, or no ? pray tell

us why it is not as certain to you that he was

not
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hot there in May, as that he was there in June ?

Why do you doubt more of it ?

Poole. I do not doubt but that he was there.

L. C. J. But why did you not anfwer then as

readily to the one, as to the other ?

Poke. My Lord, any one may miftake.

L. C. J. This you were not prepared for, and

it was a Queftion you did not come ready to an-

fwer : Are you a Roman Catholick ?

Poole. Yes, my Lord. [Here the People laugh''i.]

L. C. J. Look you, you muft know there is

no other Ufe to be made of it, but only to fhew,

that Proteftants are fo averfe to Popery in Eng-

land, that they will not endure a Roman Catho-

lick in England : But they are good Evidence,

and competent WitnefTes, I muft tell you that,

and no Man muft deny it ; for tho' you deny

Heaven to us, yet we will not deny Heaven to

you, nor Witneffes •, tho' you fay Hereticks will

be damn'd, yet we hope they will never, while

they do not follow your Practices. [At which

the People gave a great Shout.
~]

L. C. J. You muft pardon the People's Shout-

ing; for you have turned their Hearts fo, that

there is no Living for a Papift in England, I will

maintain it. [And then the People Jhouted again.]

You fhall have all the Juftice that can be, and

all the Favour the Law will allow.

Gavan. If there be but a Place for us in Hea-

ven, I am contented : My Lord, I defire you

will be pleafed to ask this Mrs. Catharine Winford,

whether (lie does not remember that I came from

my Lord AJlon's the Monday before.

L. C J. Mrs Winford, what fay you? do you

remember any Paffages about the Time he left

your Houfe ?

Winford. My Lord, I did not know directly

and poficively what I fhould come to anfwer, and

therefore I cannot recollect myfelf.

L C. J. Do you know that he went to any

Gentleman's Houfe fome time before he left your

Houfe?
'Winford. Yes, my Lord, he went often a-

broad.

L. C. J. To whofe ?

Winford. To my Lord Afton's.

L. C. J. How long before ?

Winford. I cannot tell.

. L. C. J. How long did he flay at my Lord's?

Did he ever ftay Five or Six Days ?

Winford. I cannot tell.

L. C. J. My Meaning is this, in plain Eng-

lijh, to ask you plainly, and you ought in Con-

fcience to fpeak the Truth as much as if you were

upon your Oath ; for you are in the Prefence of

God, who will judge you as feverely for a Falf-

hood in this Cafe, as in the other : I would ask

you whether he could not poffibly be abfent, and

make a Step to London, and you be never the

wifer ?

Winford. My Lord, I am as confident as I can

be of anything in the World, of the contrary.

L. C. J. Might not he be in London the latter

end of June or 'July, and you not know it, when
he pretended to go to my Lord Afton's ?

Winford. I do not know, but I am very con-

fident he did not.

L. C y. But was he abfent long enough to

have done it ? Can you charge your Memory
with that ?

Winford. It was poffible it might be fo, but I

am confident it was not, becaufe I ufed to order

my Maid to get him his Linen ready upon any

Journey, and he had none now.
Oates. My Lord, he took a Chamber to go

into the Exercife ; now, my Lord, he taking a

Chamber on purpofe for this very thing, he might

pretend that, and cometo London the while, and

they not know it, becaufe he was fhut up ; for

none are to come at them.

Winford. My Lord, I know not any fuch Thing
of him ; but this is a Rule amongft them, that

when they are fo fhut up, if there be a neceffafry

Occafion to come to them about any particular

Bufinefs, as fending them Linen, or fo, they have

Admittance to them.

L. C. y. Were you employ'd upon any fuch

extraordinary Matter ?

Winford. My Lord, I ufed to go and fee him,

and carry him his Linen.

L. C. J. And can you charge your Memory
with that ?

Winford: Yes, my Lord, I can.

L. C J. When ? the latter end of July?
Winford. Yes, my Lord, I often went to fee

him then, when he was gone from my Houfe.

L. C. J. Where was he for all the former part

of July, till thofe eight Days ?

Winford. He was at my own Houfe.

L. C. y. When went he firft into this reclufe

Way?
Winford. He went from my Houfe the 23d of

July.

L. C. y. Was he not clofe, when he vvas with
you ?

Winford. No, my Lord.

L. C. jf. And the laft eight Days you had Ac-
cefs to him ?

Winford. Yes, I had.

L. C. y. I ask you, Are thefe People fhut uo
at a certain Time, and there is no coming to

them, upon any Occafion ?

Winford. My Lord, mod of thofe Days I did
fee him, indeed he was fhut up, but upon any
kind ot Bufinefs, as the carrying of Linen, and
fometimes a pair of Gloves, and other Things of
his own, or fometimes to fpeak with him about
Bufinefs, we were admitted.

L. C. y. I fee your Confinements are not fo

great as you would make them to be, or he Would
have us think : I ask you once more, whether
you can fay, that during the Months of June and
July it was not poffible for him to make a Step
to London, and you never the wifer ?

Winford. I am very confident he did not, he
was not abfent long enough to do it.

Sir Cr. Levinz. You faid juft now, you could
not fay pofitively, but he might be abfent for five

or fix Days.

Winford. I do not believe he did ; for he had
no Linen with him, which he ufed to have
when he went to London.

L- C. y. But, fuppofing he had no Linen,
might he not go to London, and you not know
it?

Winford. I can't tell whether he was abfent,

or no, long enough to do it.

Gavan, Pray, my Lord, let me fpeak ; as I

live, an innocent Man will be loft elfe. He fays

exprefly, I was in Town in "July ; and gives this

Argument for it, That Mr. Afhby was in Town,
and he met me with him.

L.Cy. No, no ; Mr. Oates was not fo posi-

tive : He fays, k was either in June or July ; but

he
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he rather thinks it was July. But, Miftrefs,

might not he, in the beginning of July, be ab-

fent fo long, as a Man might go to London, and
return again -, in the firft three Weeks of July, I

mean?
Winford. My Lord, I cannot charge my Me-

mory, becaufe 1 did not know what I fhould be

asked, and fo could not recoiled myfelf. I only

fay I am confident of it, becaufe he always told

me, when he went fuch a Journey, that 1 might
make Provifion of Linen to fit him for it.

L. C. J. Your Reafons are weak ; Becaufe he

ufcd to tell you, that you might get him Lin-

en : Men, upon extraordinary Occafions, do
extraordinary things ; fo that you are not to go-

vern yourfelf by what he ufed to do, in his ac-

quainting you, or you in providing his Linen.

This was no 'ordinary Errand, and therefore I

don't ask you whether he had Linen from you,

or no ; but you are only to charge yourfelf with

remembring whether he could not be abfent long

enough out of your Sight, to have been fuch a

Journey ?

'Gavan. Pray, my Lord, give me fair Play. He
does charge it exprefly, and is precife to a Day :

He faith, I was here in July, after that AJhby was
come to Town, and before that he went out of
Town : And he fays, That AJhby came to Town
in the middle of July, and went out of Town
about the latter end of July, or beginning of
Augujl. Now, my Lord, I fay this, he faying

that AJhby came to Town the middle of July,
and ftaid there a Fortnight, and then went to the

Bath, and that I came to Town while that he

was there ; if I prove that I was in Stafford/hire

from the 15th or 16th of July, to the. end of the

Month, then I fhall clear myfelf evidently ; for

he does, in effect, charge me to be here, fome
Time in that Fortnight's Time, and I prove,

that all the latter Part of July I was in the

Country.

L. C. J. He does not charge it to a Day, but

he fays it was about a Fortnight.

Oates. Mr. AJhby came to Town in the begin-

ning or middle of July ; I rather think it was
the middle, but I dare not, upon my Oath, be

pofitive, as to the Time ; and in that Time
that Mr. AJhby ftaid in Town, Mr. Gavan came
to London : For I remember, he faid he would
go and fee Father AJhby, who was then at Wild-

Houfe.

L. C. J. Prove where you were now, all Ju-
ly. Call your Witneffes.

Gavan. I prove that I was at Wolverhampton,

from the 23d, to the end of the Month.

L. C. J. Call your Witneffes to prove where

you were the beginning, that can fpeak exprefly

to it.

Gavan. My Lord, I have them not here.

L. C. J. Why then would you make us lofe

all this Time ?

Gavan. My Lord, I will tell you ; hear the

Words of an ingenuous Man : Being, as I was,

innocent, not knowing what they intended to

charge me with, J, in my Mind, run over all

that I could imagine I had at any time done,

that they could lay hold on. If I had been guilty

of any Thing, my own Confcience would have

told me of it ; and I fhould have provided to

have given fome Anfwer to it : But being inno-

cent, 1 was to ranfack my Memory, to fum up all

the Paffages of my Life j where 1 had been, what

I had faid, what I had done, that would give

them any Occafion of accufing me. And becaufe

I did imagine they might think I was here the

24th of April, I brought Witneffes for that ; and
becaufe 1 did imagine that they might fpeak of

fome Confults in April, I fent up for fuch Wit-
neffes, at my own Charge, as could teftify where
I was then.

L. C. J. But you have not one Proteftant, that

teftifies for you.

Gavan. And now, my Lord, I humbly caft

myfelf upon the Honour and Juftice of this Ho-
nourable and Juft Court ; to which I fubmit my
felf, with all my Heart and Soul, having ufed all

the Remedies 1 can. I have cleared myielf, as

to the main Day, the 24th of April, whereon all

the pretended Plot lies : And I'll bring Wit-
neffes that fhall fwear, I was not in London in

Augujl ; and if my eternal Salvation lay upon it,

I could aver, I was not in London : And I wifh
I may be made an Example of Juftice before all

the World ( in the Sight of God I fpeak it) if

I be not the moft innocent Perfon in the World.
And, my Lord, feeing there is only his Oath
for it, and my Denial, I have only one De-
mand ; I don't know, whether it be an extrava-

gant one or no ; if it be, I don't defire to have it

granted.

L. C. J. What is that Demand ?

Gavan. You know, that in the beginning of
the Church (this learned and juft Court muft
needs know that) that for One Thoufand Years

together, it was a Cuftom, and grew to a con-

ftant Law, for the Trial of Perfons accufed of
any Capita! Offence, where there was only the

Accufer's Oath, and the Accufed's Denial, for

the Prifoner to put himfelf upon the Trial of Or-
deal, to evidence his own Innocency.

L. C. J. North. We have no fuch Law now.

L. C. J. You are very fanciful, Mr. Gavan ;

you believe that your Cunning in asking fuch a

Thing, will take much with the Auditory •, but

this is only an artificial Varnifh : You may do
this with Hopes of having it take with thofe

that are Roman Catholicks, who are fo fuperfti-

tious as to believe Innocency upon fuch Defires

;

but we have a plain Way of underftanding here

in England, and that help'd very much by the

Proteftant Religion : So that there is fcarce any
Artifice big enough to impofe upon us. You
ask a Thing that founds much of a Pretence to

Innocency, and that it would be a mighty Suf-

fering, if you fhould mifcarry, becaufe you ask

that you know you can't have. Our Eyes and
our Underftandings are kk us, tho* you do not

leave their Underftandings to your Profclytes :

But you are miftaken, if you think to impofe

that upon us that you do upon them ; and you

do fo impofe upon them. But I'll tell you,

there is fcarce any Man with us that can be a

Papift : For you cannot deceive and gull us, as

you have done all that you have perverted to

your Way.
Gavan. Is it any Harm, my Lord, to ask

whether I might not be fo Tried ?

L. C. J. North. Look you here, Mr. Gavan,
the Time is far fpent ; if you have any thing to

fay, we will hear you ; if you have any Witnef-

fes, call them, and we will examine them : But

if not, the other Prifoners muft be admitted to

make their Defence, as well as you.

Gavan.
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Gavan. All thefe Six can prove, that I was at

Wolverhampon the laft Week in July.

then another Witnefs flood up for him.

Gavan. Where was I in July ?

Witnefs. I cannot fpeak to all July, but, my
Lord, I can declare, that Mr. Gavan was in

Stafford/hire the laft Week of July, every Day,

I am confident.

L. C. J. Where was he, the firft three Weeks

rn July ?

Witnefs. I cannot fpeak as to that •, but in the

laft Week in July, he came to an Apartment of

an Houfe that I lived in.

L. C. J. Look you, Mr. Gavan, you fee what

this Evidence is ; fhe fays, that you were in Staf-

ford/hire the laft Week in July, for you had an

Apartment in the Houfe fhe lived in. Call ano-

ther. [ Who flood up.~]

L. C J. Where was Mr, Gavan in July laft ?

2 Witnefs. My Lord, I law him myfelf, at the

latter end of July, for very many Days ; for he

was in a Room of the Houfe that I lived in, I

am fure, moft of the laft Week.

L. C J. Where was he the laft Fortnight ?

2 Witnefs. I am confident I faw him all the laft

Fortnight, but I cannot be pofitive.

L. C. J. Call another. SJVho flood up.]

L. C. J. Where was Mr. Gavan in July ?

3 Witnefs. My Lord, I lived in the fame Town
with him, and I don't remember that he was

out all July, but the laft Week he was in our

Houfe.

X. C. J. Well, call another. [ Who flood up.']

L. C. J. Where was Mr. Gavan in July laft ?

4 Witnefs. He was, in July laft, the laft Week,

in a part of our Houfe.

L. C. J. So then he came home, from London,

the 23d or 24th of July. Well, Mr. Gavan, have

you any more Witneffes, to any other Purpofe ?

For here are enough to this.

Gavan. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. Mr. Whitebread, have you any Wit-

neffes to call ?

Whitebread. My Lord, I have only this, and I

defire to be heard in this Point, to prove that

Mr. Oatesw?-s miftaken in his Evidence that he

gave at the laft Trial, againft Mr. Ireland.

L. C. J. Look you, I muft break in upon

you ; you have been told fo often, all of you have

been told it, and yet you are upon the former

Trials again. You are now upon your Trial for

your Life, if you could have difproved any thing

that he faid at a former Trial, you fhould have

taken a Legal Way, and convicted him of Per-

jury •, but now to charge him with a Printed Pa-

per, is not fair. You muft fpeak to what he

fays now.

Whitebread. He fays the fame now. But all

that I fay is this, If he be not honeft, he can be

Witnefs in no Cafe. I fuppofe if any one can

prove him not Probus Teftis, his Teftimony is not

to be received in any Cafe.

L. C. J. But how will you prove that? Come
on, I'll teach you a little Logick ; if you will

come to contradict a Witnefs, you ought to do

it in a Matter which is the prefent Debate here ;

for if you would convict him of any thing that

he faid in Ireland's Trial, wc muft Try Ireland's

Caufe over again. But if you will fay any thing

againft what he fays now, do.

Wloitebread. That which I would alledge is this,

If he be convicted of Perjury in one Cafe, he is

not to be believed in another.

L C. J. You fay right, if he be convicted.

Whitebread. He is not only then an incompe-
tent Witnefs, for he cannot be faid to be probus

teftis, but he is improbus. Now this is that I can
prove.

Mr. Jnfl. Pemberton. Nay, you muft fhew it

by a Record.

L. C. J. You cannot have fo Jittle Under-
ftanding ; you that have been, and were to be, fo

great a Man among them ; had been Provincial,

and was to have been fomewhat elfe. I have told

you already, that to prove him to be a Man that

hath no Faith in him, he muft be Convicted. You
muft have Indicted him, and Convicted him, of
the Thing wherein he did commit Perjury, and
then he had been prepared to juftify himfelf. But
[hall you come now, and at this your Trial, and
prove what he faid ztStaley's Trial, and Coleman's
Trial, and Ireland's Trial ? And muft We examine
what Matters have received a Verdict and a Judg-
ment there? For, confider what will be the Con-
fequence of it ; if it fhould be falfe, you there

Arraign a Verdict. You fhould have convicted
him of the Falfhood firft.

Whitebread. I defire the Jury to take notice,

that he does not ftick to the Teftimony that he
gave then, for if he does, it was falfe.

L. C.J. They muft not take notice of any
thing that was done at a former Trial, unlefs it

be fpoken of now.

L. C. J. North. Do not call any Witneffes to
prove what he faid then, but to difprove what he
hath faid now.
L C. J. 'Tis a pretty hard matter to make a

Prieft underftand one, for what I fee. If the
Witnefs fhall not gain Credit with the Jury, that
he came over with Sir Thomas Preflon, Sir John
Warner ; if they are fatisfied by thofe many Wit-
neffes, Ten or Twelve, at leaft, that it is falfe,

they ought not to believe him ; but as to that
Teftimony, they ought to believe your Wit-
neffes ; but he is not prefently guilty of Perjury :

For if they fhould not give Credit to Mr. bates,
you muft indict him, and another Jury muft pafs
upon him, before he is convicted : For it is one
Thing to be Forfworn and Perjured, and ano-
ther Thing to be proved fo, and he is not pro-
ved to be fo, but by a Record for that Fur-
pofe.

Harcourt. If fo be ourWitneffes can't be look'd
upon as good Witneffes, then there can be no
Commerce abroad in any other Country.

L. C. J. They are, no doubt, good Witneffes,
till they be proved other wife; and they are left

to the Jury to believe as they think fit.

Harcourt. Now here are divers Things that are
brought againft myfelf, by Mr. Bedlow, Mr.
Prance, Mr. Gates, and Mr. Dugdale ; if the
Witneffes that I bring, becaufe they are Roman
Catholicks, are not good Witneffes, then I am
in a hard Cafe.

L. C. J. North. Look then, you miftake the
Thing ; thofe that are not Witneffes, we don't
hear at all ; but our hearing them at all, proves
that we look upon them as good Witneffes. But
when a Man is a Witnefs, he is either of more
Credit, or of lefs Credit, according to theCircum-
ftances j and 'cis a proper Queftion to ask them

whe-
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whether they are Roman Catholicks ? But they are

Witneffes, without all Queftion.

Harcourt. I lay, my Lord, thefe Perfons are

known to be every one of them very bad and fla-

gitious Perfons, and that every one of them have

undertaken this Courfe, meerly to get a Liveli-

hood : They are Men of defperate Fortunes, they

get a Living by fwearing faft, they find that the

bed Trade.

L. C. J. North. If you have any other Wit-

neffes, we will hear them : If you have no other

Witneffes, then we mult hear what the King's

Counfel reply, and then it will be your Turn to

fay what you can in your Defence.

Gavan. I have Witneffes here : It is not in-

deed a Pofitive Evidence, but a Negative Evi-

dence; and I have a Brother and a Sifter in

Town, and upon my Salvation I never came to

Town, but I came to their Houfe.

L C J. That will fignify nothing. Mr. Har-

court, have you any more Witneffes? If you have

them, pray call them.

Harcourt. 'Tis in vain to call them, if they be

not to be believed, becaufe they are Roman Ca-

tholicks.

Sir Cr. Levinz. 'Tis a Miftake, we do not re-

fufe any Witneffes, becaufe they are Roman Ca-

tholicks.

L. C. J. No, we have not refufed any one

Point yet.

L. C. J. North. If you have any more, pray

call them, and don't fpend the Time.

L. C. J. Call a Prieft or two, if you will, we
will hear them.

Harcourt. Mr. Oates did accufe me of paying

Fourfcore Pounds at my Chamber, and he did fay

afterwards it was at Wild- Houfe. I have Perfons

to juftify what was done at my own Chamber ;

and he fays Mr. Ireland was by, now here are

Witneffes to prove, that Mr. Ireland was in Staf-

ford/hire all the Month of Auguft, therefore he

could not be prefent.

L. C. J. Does he fay any fuch thing now ?

Mr. yufi, Pemberton. That was urged before
•,

pray do not infift upon that, it hath receiv'd a

Trial.

L. C. y. I'll tell you what he fays, and I'll ask

him the Queftion : Dr. Oates, it is fuppofed by

your Teftimony, that Mr. Ireland and Mr. Har-
court were together, when this Fourfcore Pounds

was paid, for the Villains that went to Wind/or to

murder the King ?

Oates. I never faid fuch a Word.
Harcourt. Here it is in the Trial.

L. C. y. I ftand not by the printed Trial, it is

no Record in Law. In fhort, Were Mr. Ireland

and Mr. Harcourt together at that Time ?

Oates. No, they were not.

Gavan. He did then fay, that he did receive

of Mr. Ireland, the 2d of September•, 20 s. that

he borrowed of him ; now the 2d of September

he was at Bofcobel.

Oates. My Lord, I was not pofitive as to the

Day ; but as near as I remember, (thofe were the

Words I faid ) it was the zd of September ; but

whether it was the ift, 2d, 7th, 8th or 9th, I

would not be pofitive in it.

fthen the Prifoners called Pendrel and his Wife,

and Gifford and his Wife ; and Gifford

flood up.

Gifford. My Lordj> 1 was here the laft Seffions,

where I did teftify the feeing of Mr. Ireland in

Staffordfhire, on the 24th o{Auguft, Bartholomew-

Day, and the next Day after ; at which Time
Mr. Oates faid that he faw him here in Town.
But Mr. Oates could not be particular in every
Thing ; but at laft he came to a Circumftance,
and averred, that the ift or 2d of September he
did receive 20 s. of Mr. Ireland, in Harcourt's
Chamber ; he faid it was about the Faft-Day.

Oates. That was as near as I remembred.
Gifford. Here is in Court at leaft fix People

that know it ; ! faw him feveral other of thofe
Days there ; but thefe fix People converfed with
him every Day.
Mr. yufi. Pemberton. How do you know all

that ?

L.C. y. North. Come, come, you muft not
fpeak, as to what he faid in Ireland's Trial.

L. C. y. What Time was it that Mr. Harcourt
and Mr. Ireland conferred together about this

fame Bufinefs ?

Oates My Lord, I do not charge Ireland, but
I charge Harcourt with being at Wild-Houfe, and
that there Coleman met him, and that there was
the greateft Part of the Money, which was carried

back to Harcourfs Chamber, and given to the
Perfon that was to carry it down to Windfor \ but
Mr. Cole?nan was gone away before, and had left

a Guinea behind him, which was given to the

Meffenger for Expedition.

L. C. y. I am miftaken, if you have nottefti-

fied that Ireland was in Town in Auguft and Sep-
tember with Harcourt.

Oates. Ireland took his Leave of London be-

twixt the 8th and the 1 2th of'Auguft, as to go to

St. Omers.

L. C. y. Here is the Matter, they muft have
Right, tho' there be never fo much Time loft,

and Patience fpent. Say they, We muft prove
and contradict Men by fuch Matters as we can ;

People may fwear downright Things, and 'tis

impoffible to contradict them ; but we will call

Witneffes to prove thofe Particulars that can
be proved : Say where Mr. Ireland was in Au-
guft.

Oates. He took his Leave of us in Town in

Auguft, and that was between the 8th and 12th,

at Harcourt's Chamber.

L. C. y. What do you infer from Ireland's be-

ing there then ?

Oates. I'll tell you what I defign in it : Your
Lordfhip may perceive that I did methodize my
Evidence according to the Time ; for I faid, this

was our Bufinefs in April, this in yuly, and now
we come to the Bufinefs of Auguft, faid I, we
took our Leaves of Mr. Ireland between the 8th

and 12th. I faid, in yuly Mr. Fenwick was out

of Town, but then, if your Lordfhip remembers,

I faid, he was in Town, and took his Leave of

Mr. Ireland, between the 8th and the 12th of

Auguft.

L. C.y. Was Mr. Ireland in Fenwick''s Com-
pany at that Time in Auguft ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, he, was, when he took

his Leave.

L. C. y. Did they talk then of this Bufinefs?

Oates. They took their Leaves of one another,

but as to what particular Things of the Plot they

fpoke about, I don't remember.

L. C. y. Look you now, mind what he fays,

Ireland and Fenwick were together in Auguft, be-

tween the 8th and the 12th; but being asked,

Whe-
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Whether they were met on purpofe to talk of

the Plot? He fays, he does not remember the

Particulars.

Here the Lady Southcott, her Son, and her

Daughter, were called.

L. C. J. Did you fay, that Fenwick, there at

the Bar, had Converfe with Ireland in Auguft, for

the carrying on of the Plot ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. My Rule is this, in doubtful Cafes,

when Men are upon their Lives, I had rather

hear what is impertinent, than not let them make

a full Defence.

L. C. J. North. I had rather hear Things at

a Venture, than forbid Things at a Venture.

Lady Southcott flood up.

L. C. J. How long were you in Mr. Ireland's

Company ?

Lady Southcott. From the 5th of Auguft to the

16th.

L. C. J. What, every Day ?

Lady Southcott. Yes, every Day.

Oates. My Lords, here is Sarah Pain, who be-

fore hath teftified what fhe hath known in this

Matter. If your Lordfhip pleafe, I defire Ihe

may be called, in readinefs to fpeak to it.

L. C.J. Are you fure it was the 5th ?

Lady Southcott. Yes, as fure as I can be of any

thing-

Mr. Recorder. Dr. Oates, you had beft keep

your Evidence entire till the laft.

'then Sir John Southcott was called, and ap-

peared.

L. C.J. Did you know Mr. Ireland?

Sir John Southcott. Yes, I did know him by
Face.

L. C. J: Where did you fee him ?

Sir John Southcott. 1 faw him the 5th of Au-

guft, at St. Albans.

L. C. J. And did he travel along with you ?

Sir John Southcott. Yes, he did travel along

with us the 6th, 7th, Sth, and 9th.

L. C. J. How many Days did he travel along

with you ?

Sir John Southcott. He travelled along with us

four Days together, I am fure.

L. C. J. What, from the 5th to the 9th ?

Sir John Southcott. Yes, Sir.

L. C. J. Is this all that you can fay ?

Sir John Southcott. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. But we would know where he was
afterwards. Did you fee him after the 9th ?

Sir John Southcott. My Lord, 1 faw him at St.

Albans, and he went from thence to Northampton,

and from thence to Coventry, and from thence to

my Lord Afton's,, that is four Days •, and I faw
him Thurfday, I faw him Friday, Saturday, and
Monday following. Tuefday I had occafion to go
further into the Country, and he went along with

us ; fo I faw him Tuefday, Wednefday, Thurfday,
and Friday afterwards.

L. C. J. Why then you faw him at leaft twelve
Days ?

Sir John Southcott. Yes.

L. C. J. Flave you any more ?

Then Mr. Edward Southcott flood up,

L. C. J. Were you here when Ireland was
Tried ?
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Sir John Southoott. No.
L. C. J. Did you fee Mr. Ireland in Auguft

laft?

Mr. Southcott. The 3d ofAuguft he came down
to my Lord Afton's at Stanmore, they faid fo •, but I

cannot fwear he came that Night ; but I faw him
very early the next Morning •, the 5th we went to

St. Albans, and we kept on till we came to Tix-

all •, and I was in his Company from the 4th to

the 1 6th.

L. C. J. Why, you hear what he fays, He
was in company with him every Day from the

4th to the 1 6th.

Gavan. Call Mrs. Harewell, and her Daughter
Mrs. Gifford and Mrs. Pendrel.

Then Mrs. Harewell flood up,

L. C. J. Did you fee Mr. Ireland in Auguft
laft?

Harewell I faw Ireland in Auguft laft, the 1 7th

Day : He came then to my Houfe at Wolver-

hampton, and there he continued every Day, and
lay in my Houfe every Night, till the 26th Day.

Then young Mrs. Harewell flood up.

Harewell. Mr. Ireland came to our Houfe in

Staffordjhire the 17th of Auguft, and ftaid there till"

the 26th ; I faw him every Day, unlefs it

was Friday, the Day before Bartholomew-Day,
when he went to Litchfield and returned again.

. Gavan. My Lord, there is a Prifoner now in

Newgate that can teftify the fame.

L. C. J. North. Would you ask your Fellow
if you be a Thief ? he is in for the fame Of-
fence.

Gavan. My Lord, I defire to know, if a Man
be not convicted of the fame Offence, whether he
be not a good Witnefs ?

L. C.J. North. If he ftand charged of the

fame Plot, his Evidence is of little weight.

Then Elizabeth Keiling flood up.

L. C. J. Did you fee Mr. Ireland in Auguft ?

Keiling. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him ?

Keiling. I faw him at Wolverhampton, there he

was from Saturday the 17th, to Monday, and then

I went to fee my Mother, and came back again

on Thurfday, and found him there, and there he

was till the 26th.

Gavan. Call Mr. Pendrell and his Wife.

Then Pendrell fiood up.

L C. J. When did you fee Mr. Ireland?
Pendrell. I faw him the Second and Third of

September.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him ?

Pendrell. At Boficobel.

L. C. J. And what, did you fee him in Au-
guft?

Pendrell. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. How do you know you faw him
then?

Pendrell. My Wife being paid for his Diet, fet

down the Day.

L. C. J. What, he came to fojourn with you,

did he ?

Pendrell. They were with me for their Meals,

and fo my Wife fet it down.

L. C J. Why, do you fet down the Day of

the Month when any one comes to you ?

5 S Pendrell
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Pendrell. Yes, my Lord, when we are paid for

their Diet, we do.

X. C. y. What, do you keep a pubhck Home

?

Pendrell. I keep the Royal-Oak.

L C. J. Methinks, you mould have a great

deafof'Company, if you live there ; and 'tis hard

you mould charge yourfelf to remember a parti-

cular Perfon you did not know before.

Pendrell. My Lord, he told me his Name was

Ireland, and feveral others did fo too.

L. C. J. You had as good have let fuch trivial

Evidences as this alone. But go on.

Then Mrs. Pendrell flood up.

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Ireland ?

Mrs'. Pendrell. I did know by Report it was he.

L. C. 7. Where did you fee him in Augufl or

September ?

Mrs. Pendrell. At Bofcobel, my Lord.

L. C. 7. Did you ever fee him before that

time ?

Mrs. Pendrell. No, my Lord.

L. C. 7. Do you know it was the fame Man

that fuffered ?

Mrs. Pendrell. I will take my Oath of it.

L. C. 7. How ! when you never faw him be-

fore that time ?

Mrs. Pendrell. I was in Town when he died.

Then flood up Mrs. GifFord.

L. C. 7. When did you fee Mr. Ireland?

Gifford. My Lord, Mr. Ireland came to Wol-

verhampton the 17th of Augufl, and he flayed

there till the 26th, it was of a Monday, I remem-

ber it by feveral Circumftances.

L. C. 7. Did you know Mr. Ireland ?

Gifford. I never faw him before.

L. C. 7. Do you know it was the fame that

died'?
, .

Gifford. My Lord, here was my Brother in

Town, who faw him executed, and he didaffure

me he was the fame : And I faw him again the

fecond of September, and the feventh of Septem-

ber again, and the tenth and eleventh : My Lord,

he was the fame Man, I believe, becaufe my Bro-

ther told me fo.

Mr. Gifford. I faw him in the Country, and I

faw him executed.

Then another Mrs. GifFord flood up.

Mrs. Gifford. I faw him at Pancrafs Fair in

Stafford/hire.

L. C. 7- Was it the fame Man that was Exe-

cuted ?

Mrs. Gifford. My Lord, I cannot fay that, I

did not fee him fuffer ; but my Sifter and I were

at the Window, and fhe fhew'd him to me, and

faid that was Mr. Ireland, and told me how long

he had been in England.

L. C. 7' How do you know that was the Man
that was Executed ? did you fee him tried here ?

Mrs. Gifford. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C. 7- And that was the fame Man ?

Mrs. Gifford. Yes, it was, my Lord.

L. C. 7' When was it your Sifter fhew'd you

him?
Mrs. Gifford. I faw him upon the feventh of

September.

'Then flood up one Mr. Bedle.

L. C. 7. When did you fee Mr. Ireland?

Bedle. I faw him at a Place called Millage in

Staffordjhire, the fecond of September.

L. C. 7- Are you a Roman Catholick ?

Bedle. If I muft make a confeffion ofmy Faith,

I will. But I faw him there, and they faid it

was Mr. Ireland the Jefuit.

L C. 7- Had you no Acquaintance with him

before ?

Bedle. No.
L. C. 7' How do you know it is the fame

Man that fuffered ?

Bedle. I do not know that, but I fuppofe it

was the fame.

Turner. I am accufed for being at Tixall at a

Confult in September, I defire to know who faw

me there, for I have not been there thefe Four

Years.

L. C. 7- Mr. Dugdale faw you there.

Turner. What WitnefTes befides ?

L. C. 7- None but he for that.

Mr. Recorder. Hath Mr. Fenwick any more

WitnefTes to call ?

Fenwick. My Lord, I have not any.

Then was Captain Hill called.

Fenwick. My Lord, he can prove fomething

againft Mr. Bedlow : He fays, he lived in good
repute •, but the Captain will tell you, he was in

the Marjhalfea, and lived a poor mean Life, and

all the time fed upon the Basket.

L. C. 7- North. He was Guilty of the fame

Treafons that you are Guilty of, there is his

fault.

L. C. 7- No doubt he was a Naughty Man,
he was with you in this Plot.

Fenwick. I can prove by Sir 7ames Butler's

Clerk, that he cheated a Cutler of a Silver hiked

Sword.

Then Sir James Butler'.? Clerk was called; but

he having more than one, and the Perfon

meant not being there, there could nothing be

examined about that.

L. C. 7. North. He hath had the King's Par-

don for all that.

Fenwick. He was forced to run the Country for

a many Cheats, and was forced to borrow 4 or

'

5 s. to redeem his Boots. My Lord, does his

Pardon make him a good Witnefs? Then we will

prove fomething fince his Pardon.

L. C J. No doubt he was bad enough while

he was with you.

Whitebread: My Lord, I think I have a plain

Demonftration againft Mr. Bedlow lince his Par-

don ; he did at my laft Trial fay, that he had no-

thing to fay againft me, and now he comes and

gives frefh Evidence againft me.

L. C. 7- North. That is an Objection that will

not take away his Evidence, but only goes to the

leffening of the credit of it. He fays he was in

Treaty with Mr. Reading about you, and the

Lords in the Tower ; and to beget a Confidence

in him that the Lords in the Tower fhould receive

favour from him, and come off by his means, he

was to be eafy to you too, which made him lef-

fen his Evidence at that time. This is that he

fays, the weight of it muft be left to the Jury.

And he faid at that time he had more to fay at

Time and Place convenient.

Whitebread. There is no fuch thing in the

Trial. He hath alledged great Matters againft

me, therefore it is Evident he did falfify his

Oath ;
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Oath ; for if he were to fwear the truth, the

whole truth, and nothing but the truth, and he

did not fay the whole truth, he is perjured ; if

he did, he can fay nothing againft me now.

L. C. J. North. Mr. Whitebread, you have

your Objection, and it muft be obferved to the

Jury. Your repeating of things fignifies nothing.

Then Captain WxWJlood up.

Fenwick. Pray Sir, what do you know of

Mr. Bedlow?

Mr. Juft. Pembcrton. But don't ask any thing

before the Pardon.

Hill. I knew him in the Mar/halfea.

Fenwick. In what condition was he there, Sir ?

Hill. He was a poor Man, as I be, and lived

upon the Basket.

Harcourt. How long ago is it fince you knew

him there ?

Hill. In May was Twelve-month.

L. C. J. That was long before his Pardon.

But he might be an honeft Man for all that, tho'

he were as poor as you. Are you an honeft Man ?

Hill. Yes, I think fo.

L. C. J. And fo might he be. Well, have

you any more ?

Prifoners. No.
Sir Cr. Levinz. Gentlemen of the Jury, you

have heard the Prifoners, and they have had a

great deal of time to make their Defence ; but

the greateft part of their Defence hath been to

invalidate the Teftimony of Mr. Oates ; and what

is the Evidence they have brought againft him ?

they tell you firft, That he did not come over in

that Company that he fays he came over with.

And whereas he hath fworn he was here the

24th of April, they have taken a great deal of

Pains by fifteen or fixteen Witneffes to prove

that he was all the time at St. Omers ; and that

Sir John Warner, and Sir Thomas Prefton, whom
he tells you came over in Company with him,

never ftir'd from the Places of their Refidence,

that is Liege and Watton all that time: But this,

Gentlemen, you muft obferve, that if Mr. Oates

were out of the Cafe, all thefe Perfons, except

Mr. Turner, are proved Guilty of the Treafon

they are charged with ; and yet 1 fhall fet up his

Teftimony, and make him clear, notwithftand-

ing whatloever hath been alledged againft him.

Gentlemen, to take them in order, Mr. Whitebread

hath Mr. Dugdale, Mr. Bedlow, and Mr. Prance,

to prove him Guilty, let what will come of

Mr. Oates, all of them fpeak to him.

L. C. J. Prance, do you fpeak any thing

againft Mr. Whitebread?

Mr. Prance. No.

Mr. Recorder. It was Fenwick and Harcourt.

Sir Cr. Levinz. But there is Bedlow and Dug-

dale againft Mr. Whitebread, and therefore, Gen-

tlemen, there are two have fworn againft him,

befides Oates ; and there is two againft Mr. Fen-

wick at leaft ; nay, there are three, for befides

Oates there is Bedlow and Prance; as to Mr.

Harcourt, there is Bedlow, Dugdale, and Prance,

befides Mr. Oates ; as to Mr. Gavan, there is

Oates and Dugdale; indeed there is none but

Oates and Dugdale againft Turner ; fo that as to

the three firft however there are two WitnelTes

befides Mr. Oates, that is, againft Mr. White-

bread, Mr. Fenwick, and Mr. Harcourt. Now
as for Mr. Oates\ Teftimony, and what they

have to fay to him ; in the firft Place, they have
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brought a young Gentleman, Mr. Hiljley, and he

fays he did not come over with him, and there

'tis one againft one, but Dr. Oates hath fworn
it, and hath given you fuch convincing Cir-

cumftances how he loft his Money, C5V. fo that

I leave it to you which of the two is in the

Right, and ought to be believed. But then, rfly

Lord, as to the reft of the WitnelTes, here are

a great many brought over to prove that Mr.
Oates was all the while at St. Omers; but I fhall

bring you a confiderable Number of WitnelTes to

prove that Dr. Oates was then in London, and
that all thefe Perfons are miftaken. They do all

pitch upon the firft of May to fix it upon a time
wherein he fays he was here in Town : But Gen-
tlemen, I hope you did obferve, that as to other

Things and Time that were not fo neceffary as to

this Matter, there they were pleafed to miftake,

and to differ one from another, to contradict one
another ; for fome of them faid he went away
and left St. Omers the ioth Day of June, others

the 2gd, others, which was the fame Flemijh Gar-
diner, that he ftaid till July. Truly half that va-

riance in the time which is neceflary would ferve

our Turn, we are but for eight Days time, that is,

he was not above eight or ten Days here, truly

thefe Gentlemen will be fure to fpeak punctually

to all thofe eight Days that hurt the Prifoners,

but they will vary thirty Days at another time

that hurts them not. Why may they not be
miftaken as well with that portion of time, as

they were in the other, wherein they fo much
differed one from another?

But I fhall give you moft infallible proof by
and by, that Mr. Oates was in England at that

time that he faid he was in England. My Lord,
as to that of Sir John Warner, truly we have fent

for a Witnefs, but we did not know of the Ob-
jection before ; they have now brought you the

Gardiner, and he did fay pofitively at firft that

Sir John Warner was there all that while, but

being asked again how he knew it, he faid it was
the talk of the Country, and fo fome of the Wit-
neffes did fpeak to Sir Thomas Prefton. But then

I did defire to know of thefe WitnelTes, whether
thefe Perfons were never abfent from thefe Places

or not, they told me they were abfent for fbrhe

time in the Vacancy.

Gavan. That was in Augufl.

Sii Cr. Levinz. You are very good at expound-

ing I know, but what thofe Vacancies were I

am not certain ; but being apt to miftake a little,

they might miftake the Time too, and they

might extend their Journey beyond their Vacancy.

Mr. Gavan he hath made a mighty Defence I

muft confefs, endeavouring to prove that he was

out of Town all June and July, and in April and

May before, and truly he hath brought fome Wit-
nelTes that have fpoken very far for him as to thofe

Months, but I will defire you to obferve,
v
as I

know you did, that the three laft WitnelTes that

knew him very well did affirm pofitively that he

was there the laft Week in July, but being asked

to the Week before that, and the Week before

that, they could not be pofitive. And, under

favour, by that Evidence you will believe rather

that he was not there, for if fo be they could fo

pofitively Remember for the laft Week, why
fhould they not be as pofitive for the two Weeks
before ? why, thefe two Weeks were enough to

ferve our Turn, for it was towards the latter

end of July that which Mr. Oates hath fworn

5 S 2 upon
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upon Mr. Gavan, that he was in Town, and

talked of the fame Matters which he had writ-

ten the Letter about. And therefore it is much

to be prefumed, that becaufe the Witneffes will

take upon them as to the laft Week, they are

fure he was at Wolverhampton, but as to the two

other Weeks they could not be fure, that they

fpeak with fome Confcience, and therefore it may
be true that he was here. And the Woman faid

fhe could not fay but poflibly he might make
fuch a Journey and me never the wifer. So that

under favour, Gentlemen, all that which Mr.
Gavan hath fo induftrioufly endeavoured to lay

upon Mr. Oates, does fhrink into a very (lender

Evidence, and that it might well be he was at

London at the Time that Gates fays, the three laft

Witneffes fpeaking pofitively only to the laft

Week in July.

Then truly, my Lord, they are fixed upon

another great Matter to blemifh Mr. Oates as to

Mr. Ireland, a Perfon that is dead and out of the

way. Mr. Ireland hath been hanged upon that

Evidence, fo far it was believed ; but now after

all this, will thefe Gentlemen come to queftion

the Evidence that was given againft Mr. Ireland.

They have likewife, my Lord, brought my Lady
Southcott, and fome other Perfons, who give you

an Evidence concerning Mr. Ireland, that he

fhould not be here at this Time ; but, Gentle-

men, under favour, Mr. Oates hath fworn be-

fore, and he hath now fworn it again, that

Mr. Ireland was at that Time in London, and,

Gentlemen, I will confirm him in that by ano-

ther Witnefs that did fee him here in Town at

that Time. And when you have two Witneffes

for the King upon their Oaths come and teftify

it, I hope you will believe them, rather than

other Perfons that teftify only by hearfay. It

was the Matter then in iffue, and had faved his

Life if it had been true; but tho' it be now
fettled, and none could think it would be again

ftarted, they would make that an Objection, but

by chance we have a Witnefs ftill to give you
Satisfaction, that Mr. Ireland was in London at

that Time that Mr. Oates did fwear him to be.

We will begin with that Witnefs about Ireland.

And then we will call our Witneffes to prove

that Mr. Oates was in England, and did come
over when he faid he did. Call Sarah Paine.

Who was fworn.
Sir Cr. Levinz. What time did you fee Mr. Ire-

land in London ? did you fee him in Auguft \zft.l

S. Paine. I faw him about feven or eight Days
before I came to my Lord Chamberlain , and that

was about a Week before the King went to Wind-
for.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him ?

S. Paine. At his own Door in Ruffel-Street.

L. C. J. Did you fpeak to him ?

S. Paine. No, I knew him very well, and faw
him as I came by.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Had not you carried many Let-
ters to him ?

S. Paine. Yes, feveral Letters.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Where did you live before ?

S. Paine. I lived at Mr. Grove's.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Did not Mr. Ireland ufe to come
there too ?

S. Paine. Yes, he did often.

L. C. J. Was any one talking with Ireland
then ?

S. Paine. No.

Sir Cr. Levinz. How long did you look upon
him ? Did you fee him go in ? did you fee his

Face or his Back ?

S. Paine. I faw his Face and made him a

Curtefy.

L. C. J. This fhe faid to Ireland's Face.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Your Evidence is, that Mr.
Ireland went out of Town the 5th of Auguftt and
fhe fays fhe faw him about that time which muft
be the 12th or 14th of Auguft.

Gavan. How does fhe prove it ? fhe does not
fay fhe fpoke with him.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. She fwears it.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Now we mull prove what
time the King went to Wind/or.

L. C. J. Sir Thomas Doleman, what time in

Auguft did the King go to Wind/or laft Summer?
Sir 'Tho. Doleman. I believe ( I cannot charge

my Memory fo well) it was the 13th, it was
about the 12th or 13th.

L. C. J. Was my Lord Chamberlain there
then?

S. Paine. My Lord Chamberlain went after

the King.

L. C.J. And when do you fay you faw Ire-

land?

S. Paine. I faw him feven or eight Days be-
fore I went to my Lord Chamberlain's, which
was before my Lord went to Windfor, and that

was a Week after the King went thither.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Now I'll tell you what fhe
fays; fhe fays fhe faw Ireland a. Week before fhe
went to my Lord Chamberlain's, and fhe faw
him go into Grove's Houfe, where he did ufually
go for Letters ; fhe fays fhe faw his Face, and
made him a Curtefy ; and that this was a Week
before fhe went to my Lord Chamberlain's, and
that was a Week after the King went to Wind/or.
Now the time that Mr. Oates pitches upon is be-
tween the eighth and the twelfth of Auguft which
by computation is the time fhe fpeaks of.

Gavan. And our Witneffes go from the third
of Auguft to the fourteenth of September.

_
Sir Cr. Levinz. Call Sir Richard Barker, Wil-

liam Walker, Sarah Ives, &c.

William Walker was firft fworn, and
ftand up.

to.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray, Sir, do you know that

Mr. Oates was in England the beginning of laft

Summer? Pray tell your whole knowledge.
Walker. Yes, my Lord, I will. I have known

Mr. Titus Oates thefe feven Years ; and had not
feen him above five Years ; but about two Years
ago I did meet him in Newgate-market, and then
again in the latter end of the Month of March
1678, or the beginning of April, I did fee Mr.
Oates in a difguife in a gray Serge Coat, and I
think a gray Hat, but 1 did not underftand it,

nor did I know him to be the Man ; and I was very
much troubled that I could not recoiled: my felf

who he was, and I went to Bed, and could not
recoiled* who he was ; but before I rofe in the
Morning I did draw him within the Scheme of
my knowledge, that it was Titus Oates, and to

confirm my Judgment in that, I did go to a Gen-
tlewoman, whofe Name I did not know, but I

went thither becaufe it was the fame place that

I had feen him at a Year before, to enquire what
became of Mr. Oates, and how he did : And
when I came to her (in the Morning early, it

was the next Day after I had feen him in Dif-

guife)
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guife) I enquired of the Gentlewoman how Mr.
Oates did, and fhe clapped her Hand upon her

Counter, being a Tradeswoman, O, Said fhe, He
is an undone Man ! Why fo ? faid I. Said fhe, He
is turned to the Church of Rome, and he abfconds

and hides himfelf, I know not where he is. Then, in

flain Terms i faid I, Ifaw him later than you, for

I Jaw him Tejlerday, between Nine and Ten of the

Clock, it was at the upper-end of St. Martin'j-Lane,

near Leicefter-Houfe.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What time was this?

Walker. This was in April or March lafl was

a Twelve-month.

L. C. J. Did you never fee him more than then ?

Walker. No, I knew his Face fo well, as I

looked back upon him, and he looked back upon

me, but it was with fome kind of Terror, and

he did feem to abfcond and hide himfelf.

L. C. J. When was this ?

Walker. It was fome time from the latter end

of March to the middle of April.

L. C. J. Why did you skip the beginning of

April ?

Walker. I am not able to remember exactly the

Time ; for why, I did never think to be called as

a Witnefs about it.

L. C. J. Did you fpeak to him?

Walker. No, my Lord, I did not.

L. C. J. How long before had you fpoke to him ?

Walker. A Year before, but in his Canonical

Habit, and not before of five Years.

L. C J- North. You will not fure catch him

upon a Day.

L. C. J. But I'll tell you what it does, it con-

tradicts all that your Boys, all your WitncfTes fay

:

Tho" it does not go home exactly to the 24th of

April, yet, if it be true, and we have no Reafon

to believe it otherwife, it difproves all their Evi-

dence •, for they charge him to have been at St.

Omers all March, April, and May.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Swear Sarah Ives.
f_
Which

was done.]

Oates. My Lord, we bring Sarah Ives to prove

that this fame Gentleman went to her to enquire

of her about me.

L. C. J. Pray Mrs. what did that Minifter fay

to you, and when, concerning Mr. Oates ?

Ives. Mr. Walker came to my Shop, and asked

me when I fawMr. Oates; faid I, I have not feen

bim fince he went beyond Sea. Then, faid he, I have

feen him later than you, for I was going to Leicefter-

Fields, and at the end of St. Martin'5 Lane Ifaw
him in a Difguife, and he looked wijlly back upon

me, and I upon him, and, faid he, lam certain, it

was ike Man.
L. C. y. What time was this?

Ives. It was April was a Twelve-month.

L. C. y. What time in April do you think?

Ives. I cannot fay the Day.

L. C. y. But what time of the Month was it ?

Ives. I don't juftly know, I think it was the

middle of April, or thereabouts.

L. C. J. Call another Witnefs.

:. Sir Cr. Levinz. Call Mrs. Mayo. [Who was

fworn.]

SirCr. Levinz. Well, what fay you, when did

you fee Mr. Oates in England?

Mayo. I never faw his Face till a Week be-

fore Whitfontide, or a little after-, there was a

Young Man, a Servant of Sir Richard Barker's^

that knew him a long time before ; he came to

me and faid, Tonder is Mr. Oates hath changed his

Coat from a black to a white ; what is he ! faid J,

be was a Minifter, but he is either turned Quaker
or Catholick ; but, faid I, he is not turned Quaker,

for he wears a Periwig, and he fell a laughing

and jeering at him } faid I, Why do you deride

this Gentleman, when he is a Friend of Sir Richard
Barker'.?.

L. C. y. Where was Mr. Oates then ?

Mayo. He was in the Court-yard, and I was
in the Kitchen.

L. C. J. When was this?

Mayo. The Week before Whitfontide.

L. C. y. In what Month ?

Mayo. It was in May.
L. C. y. Did you know him before then ?

Mayo. No, I did not, but I had heard much
of him in the Family.

L.C.y. How foon did you fee him again after

that ?

Mayo. About a Week after he came and brought
another with him, and walked into the Garden,
and feemed to be difcontented that they did not
fhew fuch a Countenance to him as they ufed to

do in the Houfe, for the Gentlewomen had heard
he was turned Jefutt, and therefore v/ere very
fhy ; that is, Sir Richard's Kinfwomen, my Lady's
Sifters Daughters.

L. C. y. Do you know Dr. Oates now ?

Mayo. Very well, Sir. Afterwards he came
again and walked into the Garden, and the Young
Man I fpoke of before, that is now dead, came
again and took notice of him, of the ftrange

Garb he was in; he was in a Room that looked
into the Garden, I faw him walking there, and
faid he, Tonder is Oates again, and hath brought

another with him -, he looked out of the Window,
and faid he, Pr'ythee look here, does not he look

like a Jefuit? and he that was with him looked
back, and if it had not been for that, and the

Young Man's Importunity, I had never taken
notice of Mr. Oates. After, when I heard he was
come over and gave in his Teftimony about the

Plot, I would needs go fee him ; but he fpoke
veryflightingly to me, and feemed to be offended

with the Family becaufe they did fcorn him. Said

I, They had no reafon to countenance you, becaufe

we all undcrflood you were turned Catholick. They
did, faid he, look very fhy upon me. Why, faid

I, you mujl not be offended, for you know all the

Family are no Friends to Jefuits, and I hope never

will be fo ; but I hope, Air. Oates, you will not for-

get eaten Bread, becaufe he ufed to be made 'very

much of at Sir Richard Barker's.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Is that the Man that you faw
there ?

Mayo. This is the Man, if you will put me
to my Oath again I will fwear it.

Sir Cr. Levinz. When was this?

Mayo. It was the Week before Whitfontide, it

was in May, for Whitfontide fell in May.
Sir Cr. Levinz. Then call Philip Page. Who

was Jworn.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Do you know Dr. Oates ?

Page. Yes, Sir.

Sir Cr. Levinz. How long have you known him ?

Page. I have known him four or five Years.

L. C. y. Pray did you fee him in the Year 1678,
laft Year.

Page. Yes, I did.

L. C. y. At what Time ?

Page. About the beginning of May.
L.C. y. Where?

Page*
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Page. At Sir Richard Barker's.

L. C. J. Were you acquainted with him be-

fore?

Page. I had fpoke with him before.

L. C. J. How do you know it was he? did

you fpeak with him then ?

Page. Yes, I did.

L. C. J. What Habit was he in ?

Page. He had a light-coloured Campaign Coat.

I ask'd him, where he had been fo long a Time,

that we had not feen him, but he turned away

from me, and gave me no Account, but, after he

had been irvthe Houfe, made back again, and away

he went, after he enquired for Sir Richard.

L. C. J. How do you know it was in May ?

why might it not be in April ?

Page. It was in the beginning of May, to the

beft of my Knowledge.

L. C. J. By what material Circumftances do

you remember it was in the beginning of May ?

Is there any thing that puts it into your Mind

more particularly ?

Page. My Matter had a Patient at that Time,

that was fick of a Fever.

L. C. J. Where ? at Sir Richard Barker's

Houfe.
Page. At IJlington it was.

Jury. We defire to know what the Patient's

Name was, for fome of us know IJlington very

well.

Page. I have forgot the Name.

Sir Richard Barker. It was Aldram Milver's

Daughter.

L. C. J. It was about that Time in May that

you faw him?
Page. I did upon my Oath, and I fpoke with

him, and took much Notice of him, he had an

old black Hat on, that fiapp'd, and a pair of

Spanijh-Leather Shoes.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Call Sir Richard Barker. Wloo

was Jworn.

L. C. J. Do you know Dr. Oates?

Sir Richard Barker. Yes, my Lord, I have

known his Father and him ever fince he hath been

a Child ; I faw him the laft Summer.

L. C. J. About what time ?

Sir Richard Barker. At that Time that they

have given in Evidence, I have only this to fay,

I was abroad, as my Bufinefs leads me often

abroad into the Country, but they told me, Mr.

Oates came to my Houfe in a Difguife, and that

they believed he was turned either Quaker or

Papift.

L. C. J. When was this ?

Sir Richard Barker. It was, my Lord, to the

beft of my Remembrance, after Whitjontide that

they told me, but they told me a Story of him,

how that he was in two feveral Difguifes, the

one was a fhort Hair, and then they thought he

was turned Quaker, another Time he had a long

Periwig, and then they thought he was turned

Papift ; and the firft that told me, was this Fel-

low here, that is a Coachman of mine, who was

mending fomething of his Coach. It happen'd,

my Lord, upon the vifiting of a Gentleman, that

I was very ill, in which Time Mr. Oates was

gone, and afterwards, when I was recovered again,

he came to my Houfe, to enquire concerning

Dr. Tongue.

L. C. J. When did you fee him firft ?

Sir Richard Barker. It was, my Lord, to the

beft of my Remembrance, the latter end of

June, or beginning of July, upon my Reco-

very.

L. C. J. By the Oath that you have taken, I

would ask you one Queftion, Did not you fee

him till June ?

Sir Richard Barker. No, my Lord •, but my
Servants told me, they had feen him in May, be-

fore Whitjontide.

L. C J. Did you fee him in June?
Sir Richard Barker. To the beft of my Re-

membrance, 'twas in June.

Then one Butler was Jworn.

L. C. J. Come, do you know Dr. Oates?

Butler. Yes, very well.

L. C. J. How long have you known him?
Butler. I have known him thefe three Years,

before he went beyond Sea.

L. C. J. Come, you are upon your Oath,
when did you fee Dr. Oates, and where, the be-

ginning of laft Summer?
Butler. I faw him the beginning of laft May,

at my Matter's Houfe in Barbican.

L. C. J. Upon what Occafion ? what are you ?

Butler. I am Sir Richard Barker's Coachman.
And I was making clean my Coach in the Gate-

houfe, and in comes Dr. Oates, in May laft was
a Twelvemonth, the beginning of May ; with

his Hair cut off clofe cropt to his Ears, in Gray
Clothes, a Gray Coat like a Shepherd's Coat, a

Torkjhire-Gray, he asked me whether Dr. Tongue

was within? I told him, No: Neverthelefs he

went into the Houfe, and immediately came out

again, and feerned to be very much difcontented,

but faid nothing at all to me, but patted by me,
and went away.

L. C. J. And did you know him at that Time
he fpoke to you firft ?

Butler. Yes, my Lord, becaufe I knew him
three Years before.

L. C. J. Could you have then call'd him by
his Name ?

Butler. Yes, my Lord, I could.

L. C. J. You fay he came to enquire for Dr.

Tongue, and was difcontented that he could not

fee him?
Butler. He faid nothing to me when he came

out, but pafs'd away as one that was troubled.

L. C J. Did you fee him afterwards ?

Butler. Six Weeks after I faw him ; and then

he had a long black Coat and a Periwig on.

L. C.J. But are you fure it was the fame

Man?
Butler. I am, upon my Oath.

Mr. Juft. Dolhen. Did you tell your Mafter of
his being there the firft time ?

Butler. 1 did tell Sir Richard Barker of him, as

foon as I faw him.

L. C. J. Sir Richard, how foon did he tell you

Oates was firft there?

Sir Richard Barker. It was foon after, my
Lord.

L. C. J. Was it in May that he told you he

had feen him ?

Sir Richard Barker. He told me as foon as ever

I came home, in May, as I remember.

L. C. J. Did he tell you Mr. Oates was there

by Name?
Sir Richard Barker. Yes, my Lord, he did:

And when he told me what Habit he was in, I

wondred at it.

Oates.
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Gates. There are feveral, my Lord, that did

lee me at that Time ; but they are gone into the

Country •, and I cannot have them now ready :

If you pleafe now to call Mr. Smith the School-

mafter of IJlington. Who was [worn.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Do you know Dr. Oaks ?

Smith. Yes, very well.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Pray, Sir, how long have you

known him?
Smith. He was my Scholar at Merchant-Tay-

/on-School, where I was Ufher.

Sir Cr. Levinz. When did you fee him, the

beginning of laft Summer ?

Smith. 1 faw him in the beginning of laft May,

that is, 1678.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him ?

Smith. He dined with me at my Houfe in

IJlington.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. What, the Boys at St. O-

mers now are gone ?

L.C.J. Recollect your felf well: By the Oath

you have taken, did Dr. Oates inMay was Twelve-

month dine with you ?

Smith. Yes, my Lord, he did ; and it was the

firft Monday in May, as I remember.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. And this you fwear, directly

and pofitively ?

Smith. Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C. J. How long did he ftay there?

Smith. He ftaid three or four Hours after :

And, may it pleafe you, my Lord, he was in a

Summer-fuit, and a coloured Ribbon, a green

Knot upon his Shoulder.

L. C. J. What did you difcourfe about ?

Smith. About his being in Spain and Flanders,

and his Travels.

L. C. J. Had you a long Difcourfe with him ?

Smith. Yes, I had.

L. C. J. Had you nothing about the Times ?

Smith. No, my Lord, not a Word.

L. C. J. Did you underftand he had been

turned Roman Catholick ?

Smith. I did know it.

Jury. My Lord, Did Mr. Smith fee him any

other time after that ?

Smith. No, my Lord, not in two Months ; to

my Remembrance, about the middle of Augufl.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Call one Clay. Who was[worn.

L. C. J. Do you know Dr. Oates ?

Clay. Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C. y. How long have you known him ?

Clay. Ever fince April laft was Twelvemonth.

L. C. y. Was that the firft Time of your

Acquaintance with him ?

Clay. Yes, at Mr. Charles Howard's ?

L. C. y. Where were you there with him ?

Clay. He lived in one Corner of old Arundel-

Houfe.

L. C. y. How came you acquainted with

him ?

Clay. Truly I met him accidentally, at Mr.

Howard's Houfe.

L. C. y. How came you to come there ?

Clay. I was there to vifit Mr. Howard, as a

Friend.

L. C. y. Were you acquainted with him ?

Clay. Yes, I was with Mr. Howard, and there

1 faw Dr. Oates.

L. C. y. When did you fee him the fecond

Time ?

Clay. The fecond Time I think I faw him

there too.

L. C. y. When was that ?

Clay. That was in May.
L. C. y. North. How long was that after ?

Clay. I think the other was in April.

L. C. y. And did you fee him in May?
Clay. I faw himin May too.

L. C. J. What Time of the Month was it ?

Clay. I cannot exactly fpeak to that, but it

was in that Month as I remember, I am morally

certain of it.

L. C. y. And when did you fee him after

May ?

Clay. I can't tell whether I faw him after May
or not.

L. C. y. Is that the fame Man that you faw at

Mr. Howard's, either in April or May ?

Clay. Yes, my Lord, it is the fame Man.
Sir Cr. Levinz. Then we have done with our

Evidence.

L. C. y. Come, Gentlemen, now what can

you fay to this ? They have given you now their

full Charge.

Oates. My Lord, I have one thing more, I

defire your Lordfhip to take notice, this Gentle-

man, Mr. Clay, is a Prieft in Orders, as they fay.

L. C. y. I will not ask him that Queftion,

but, Mr. Clay, are you a Papift ?

Clay. Yes, my Lord, I am fo.

L. C. y. North. Come, what fay you now, Mr.
Whitebread, to this ?

Whitebread. I have this to fay •, firft, That at

my laft Trial, when I preiTed him to declare who
had feen him, when he faid he was here in

Town, he could name no body, not one. I

know afterwards he was examined at the Com-
mittee, and then he could name no body neither.

He faid he was there privately at Mr. Grove's, and

we can prove, that he never did lie there in his

Life. And then he faid abfolutely, he had not

feen much Company, he ftaid but fix Days. Now
this good Doctor that does fay he faw him here in

the latter end of March, or the middle of April,

whereas he himfelf fays he came over with Hiljley,

the 24th of April.

L. C. y. He was landed here the 1 7th of April,

and the WitnefTes fay, it was the latter end of A-
pril, or beginning of May.

Whitebread. Mr. Oates exprefly faid, he ftaid

here but fix Days, when he came over to the

Confult.

L. C. y. Why, does not all this ftand toge-

ther ?

Whitebread. No, my Lord, how could this

ftand together ? his coming over the 1 7th, and

his being here a great part in May, whereas he

fays he was but fix Days ?

L.C.y. Perchance Dr. Oates may not be pre-

cife enough ; but look you here, thefe WitnefTes

do not fpeak fo exactly to a Day or two, or three,

or four, or five, but to the latter end of April

:

Now, why might they not fee him the latter end

of April, and the beginning of May, and yet

ftand very well with Mr. Oates's Teftimony,

who fays he was landed here about the 17th

of April, and ftaid here about fix or feven Days ?

How nice would you have them be in that

Cafe ? which, becaufe they are honeft, they will

not be.

L. C. y. North. You make your Defences to

depend upon an Uncertainty of Time, which no

mortal Man can ever remember ; befides, pray

obferve
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obferve this, That Mr. Oates ftands a good Wit-
nefs, till you impeach him by a Fry out of your

own Schools, and they go to the whole Months
of June, and April, and May, now thefe all fpeak

in contradiction to other Witneffes, and fo Mr.
Oates is ftill an upright and good Witnefs.

Whitebread. They fay they did fee him there

every Day, or every other Day.
L. C. J. But fure I can as well tell, who faw

him but once in fuch a Month, and dined with

him then, as any that faw him never fo often :

but here are five Witneffes upon you in this Point.

Whitebread. The one was told by his Man,
the other by his Boy.

L. C. J. The Coachman, and the Boy, and
the Maid, and Mr. Smith did fee him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. The Divine did fee him,

and went and told the Woman that he had feen

him, pray remember that.

L. C. J. North. Now the Evidence is conclud-

ed, fay what you will for your felves ; and then

we will obferve what you object, upon our Di-
rection to the Jury, according to our Confciences.

Gavan. My Lord, then I fay this for my felf.

We commit our felves to God Almighty. We
muft compare the Number, tho' ours were not

fworn, yet there were fixteen of them, Boys,

Young -men, that converfed with him every Day,
and thefe Witneffes fpeak but of one or two par-

ticular Days : One fays he dined with him, and
another faw him in a Difguife ; but, my Lord,

in thefe very Witneffes there is an apparent Con-
tradiction, becaufe out of his own Mouth (ex ore

tuo te judico) they are contradicted. He fays he

came over upon Sunday, with Hiljley, which was
the 20th of April, as I think, and ftaid here only

a matter of fix Days. One of the Witneffes fays

he faw him the firft Monday in May. What
fignify the Witneffes, though upon Oath, that

fay they faw him in May? How can he come
over the 20th of April, and ftay but fix Days,
and be feen here in May ? Before thefe can be

reconciled, one of them muft be falfe ; and then,

my Lord, befides that which I firft faid, there is

the Number of Witneffes, they are nothing in

Comparifon with the Number of ours. And
then, my Lord, Secondly, if we fhould grant,

that a leffer Number fhould ferve the Turn, be-

caufe they are fworn for the King, becaufe they

fwear for the Safety of the King, (whom God
preferve, vvhatfoever becomes of me) and the o-

ther fpeak not upon their Oaths, yet, my Lord,
this does not deftroy nor touch at all that Evi-
dence that is brought againft him, about the

Rector of Liege, Sir John Warner, and Sir Tho.

Prejlon. And though it be granted, that all the

others that fpoke about Mr. Oates being at St.

Omers be miftaken, and muft not be believed,

yet we have him ftill, by thofe fix others, who
have proved that he hath fworn falfe ; and I hope
we fhall have fair Play in the Law, to make the

beft Defence we can for our Lives ; and I hum-
bly conceive, no body muft be convicted of
High-Treafon by the Law, but upon the Evi-

dence of two fufficient Witneffes. Now I leave

it to the Confcience and Honour of the Court,

whether he fhall be believed, and counted a fuf-

ficient Witnefs, when there are fo many that

have proved him falfe in that one Point? And
then, befides all this, my Lord, we have here

fixteen, at leaft, Stafford/hire Witneffes, who
give you an Account of Mr. Ireland's being out

of London, from the 3d of Auguft till the 14th of

September; fo that in thefe two Things he hath

been contradicted without any Anfwer, for he fays,

the 1 2th of Auguft he was with him, when they

fay he was in Stafford/hire.

L. C. J. You have forgot the Maid that faw

him in London the 12th or 13th.

Gavan. No, my Lord, I have not. And this

is it 1 anfwer to it, She is a Witnefs that only

fays, fhe juft faw him, but did not fpeak to him.

L. C. J. She made a Courtefy to him.

Gavan. We are now talking of feeing Ireland

in Auguft, and we prove by Sir John Southcott,

and all his Family, who fay they began their

Journey with him the 5th of Auguft, and ftaid

with him till the 19th, after the particular Day
that fhe fpeaks of, you find feven or eight of

them fwear that they faw him all the Time.
And therefore I would fain know, whether poor

Mens Lives fhall be caft away upon fuch Evi-

dence as this ? And then, my Lord, for the other

Thing, I hope I have made a very good Plea

for my felf concerning the Matter of July, my
Witneffes could be pofitive as to the laft Week,
but for the other Weeks, tho' they could not

be pofitive, they rather believed J was there,

than not : But when it is urged, Why might

not they give as good a Teftimony for the for-

mer Weeks as for that ? To this 1 anfwer fully,

that there is a great and predominant Reafon

why they fhould have a particular Reafon to

fwear, why I fhould be there the laft Week,
rather than the other Weeks, becaufe I was then

fhut up in the Spiritual Exercife, and they had a

particular Reafon to take notice of that. Then,
my Lord, I hope you will be pleafed to mind
this, by which I have made my Plea good, that

is, my Lord, that Mr. Oates*& Teftimony againft

me is this, Mr. Ajhby came to Town about the

middle of July, and that he ftaid thereabout a

Fortnight, and that in the Time of that Fort-

night I came to Town, and faid I would go fee

Father Ajhby, and had that Difcourfe he fpeaks

of ; and fo much for that. And then, my Lord,

I befeech you ftill to bear it in your mind, that I

have been proved not to be in Town at the time

of the great Confult about the Plot ; and indeed I

was not capable of it, for I was not then Profef-

fed, and there could none be of that Congrega-

tion about the Plot, but thofe that were Profeffed.

I could not be there in the Congregation, by rea-

fon of my Age, Mr. Harcourt here, and the

reft, if you will ask them, will tell you it, they

were there, but, upon the Word of a dying Man
I was not there.

L. C. J. 'Tis not pofitively faid by Mr. Oates

that you were.

Gavan. But then, my Lord, he fays my Name
was to it, which he faw in July ; now 1 prove,

that I was in Stafford/hire, the laft Week of Ju-
ly, and feeing I have Witneffes to prove, that I

was there till the 14th, and the laft Week, and it

was after the 14th, that he faw me, I hope my
Plea is good. Then, my Lord, I ground my
Plea upon this, I have ftudied Fhilofophy, and

other Things, but I never ftudied the Law, and

fo am very ignorant of it ; but this is my Cafe, I

am accufed by one Witnefs, concerning one Fact,

and by another concerning another ; the one

committed here at London, the other in Stafford'

/hire ; I defire, therefore, to know, whether

the Witnefs that fwears the Thing done in

Staffordjhire,
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Stafford/hire, in another County, being joined to

the other Witnefs, that fvvears what was done in

London, can be efteemed two WitnefTes, accord-

ing to the Law, to convict me of Treafon ?

L. C. J. North. Yes, I'll tell you, if it were a

Matter of Doubt, it might be found fpecially,

and be argued, but it is a Matter that hath been

already relblved in the Cafe of Sir Henry Vane at

the King* s-Bench Bar, who was indicted for levy-

ing of War againft the King, and there one

Witnefs proved the levying of War in one Coun-

ty, and the other proved the levying of War in a-

nother County, and fo, though they were but

fingle Witneffes of fingle Facts, yet being both

came up to the Indictment, they were adjudged

fufficientto maintain it. So it is in your Cafe,

here is one Witnefs for the proving your hand to

the Paper, which was for the Murder of the

King, and there is another Witnefs of your Dif-

courfe to the fame purpofe ; the Fact is your

joining and confpiring todeftroy the King, and to

levy War againft him, and both thefe are

proved to the full of the Indictment by thefe

Witneffes ; and though they are to feveral parti-

cular Facts, yet they are all Overt Acts of the

fame Treafon.

Gavan. My Lord, I have a contrary Opinion

to that in Serjeant Rolls.

L. C. J. North. But this is a known Cafe, and

the Law is fettled therein.

L. C. J. I'll tell you what you miflake in

what ycu fay, for there are two Witneffes, Gates

and Dugdale, who fwear to the fame Fact, which

is killing the King, altering the Government,

and bringing in Popery : Dates fays he faw your

Hand to the Confult, for the Murder of the

King, for the raifing the Army, and for the in-

troducing of Popery, which is a neceffary Con-

fequence of Change of Government ; Dugdale

fays he was with you in the Parlour of my Lord

Afton* s., where the Difcourfe was between him and

you, and others, about killing the King, and al-

tering Religion. Are not thefe two Witneffes to

one and the fame Treafon ?

Gavan. No, my Lord, I conceive not.

L. C, J. If I confult a way to kill the King

here, and then ! go into the Country, and there

I confult of it with another Perfon, are not thefe

two Witneffes to the fame Treafon ? fure they

are.

Gavan. Then, my Lord, my fecond Plea is

this, If there be two Witneffes, you will grant

me this Ground, that no Man muft be convicted

but upon the Evidence of two legal and credi-

ble Witneffes, and upon clear Evidence, as the

Statute fince His Majefty's happy Reftauration

does declare. Now two Things are required cer-

tainly to make a credible Witnefs, and a clear

Evidence; as the Witnefs mud be credible, fo it

is as agreeable to Reafon that the Evidence muft

be plain and clear, yea, as clear as the Light of

the Sun at Mid-day. Now therefore if I prove,

that neither the Witnefs is credible, fuch as the

Law requires, nor the Evidence clear, fuch as

the Law looks upon as fuch, then I ought not to

be convicted by this Witnefs upon this Evi-

dence.

L. C. J. The Jury are Judges of that, and

therefore there I leave it.

L. C. y. North. You argue mighty fubtilly,

but I'll give you this Anfwer ; there muft be two

lawful Witneffes, that is the Law i a Man can-
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not be impeached of Treafon but by two lawful

Witneffes j now if they be not convicted of Per-

jury, and their Teftimony be not taken away,
but they may be heard in a Court of Juftice, they

are lawful Witneffes ; now for the being credi-

ble Witneffes, that is a matter that is left to the

Jury, but we muft receive them as lawful Wit-

nefTes till they be convict of a Crime that takes a-

way their Teftimony.

Gavan. Therefore becaufe they are left to the

Jury, I am fatisfied, and I turn my fell to you,

Gentlemen. You are to fit upon my Life and my
Death, as for my own part I can truly profefs I

am as innocent as the Child unborn, and this

Gentleman Mr. Whitebread knows I was not ca-

pable of being at the Confult, being not of Age.
Now I muft leave my felf to the Jury, and will

leave it to their Judgments whether thefe two
Witneffes can be efteemed credible Witneffes ;

for to make credible Witneffes there is re-

quired Honefty of Life, and Truth in their

Teftimony, for no Man can be a good Witnefs

that is not an honeft Man, nor that hath carried

himfelf fo that he is not to be believed. As to

the Honefty of Mr. Oates his Life, you have

heard that he was difgufted by the Jefuits, efteem-

ed not a Perfon of that diligence or fidelity to be

intruded by them ; he was turned out of St.

Omers.

L. C. y. Does that prove any Difhonefly in

Mr. Oates ?

Gavan. No, but I fpeak to his Credibility.

L. C. y. Speak plain, how does it impeach
Mr. Oates his Evidence, that the Jefuits did not

like him?
Gavan. It might be a Ground of Hatred and

Malice in him againft them •, and then, Gentlemen,

I defire you to confider that other Thing, That
we have proved him to fpeak falfe in his Tefti-

mony about Sir yohn Warner and Sir Thomas

Prefton ; and all che Bufinefs of the 12th of Au-

guft, concerning Mr. Ireland's being here the 12th

of Auguft % who, by Sixteen Witneffes, is proved

to have been all the while in Stafford/hire : And
tho' he was not convicted of Perjury before,

which might have eafily been done, as I have

fhewn to the whole World now, I appeal to the

Honour and Confcience of the Jury, whether all

thefe Proofs ought not to make this Witnefs to

be deemed an incredible Witnefs. And pray,

Gentlemen, hear me this, and carry this away
with you, as to the Bufinefs of Ireland, between

the 8th and 1 2th of Auguft, how many do fwear

that he was in Stafford/hire, I defire you but to

compare that one Woman that only faw him,

and made a Courtefy to him, as (lie fays, with

thofe Sixteen Witneffes that converfed with him
daily. Then as for the fecond Teftimony of the

St. Omers Witneffes, which you fee is thwarted

by fome that do fwear in the King's Name to

the contrary : Still I defire you to compare
Number with Number : The others, tho' they

do not fwear, are ready to fwear, and there are

only three or four againft fixteen of them, and

there is an evident Contradiction in what they fay,

and that proved out of his own Mouth ; for he

fays he came over the 20th of April with Mr.
Hiljley, and ftaid only fix Days ; they fay he was

here in May, and I defire thefe may be compared :

for how could it be that he fhould be here in

May, if he ftaid but fix Days? And then to

make your Verdict, and take their Credit away,

5 T I
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I would defire you to confider thofe WitnefTes.

that I have brought for my felf, not being here,

but in Wolverhampton ; for being in Stafford/hire

as long as till the laft Week of July, it muft fall

within the time of his Teftimony. I have

brought "WitnefTes to prove upon Oath, that from
the 2 2d upward they faw me in Wolverhampton,

and they do remember the particular Inftance

that I was then at my Spiritual Exercife : And
this is that I have to fay as to Mr. Oates. As
for Mr. Dugdale, I would defire you to refleft

upon the whole Story of his coming to difcover

this Plot, and his being an Informer about it. The
Truth is, I confefs I have known him five or fix

Years, whilft he lived at my Lord AJlon's, and

I have divers times difcourfed with him there in

Mr. Ewers'* Chamber ; but, as I hope to be

faved, never any thing ofTreafon in all my Life.

Now, 'tis well known, and there are thofe that

can teftify it, that in truth Dugdale run away
from my Lord Jjlon's after he had loft 300 /. of

my Lord's Money.
L. C. J. If you can fay any thing againft Mr.

Dugdale by WitnefTes that you can prove it,

then you fay well ; but if you will tell a Story

out of one Lord's Mouth, and another Lord's
Mouth, that is never to be endured ; you fhall

never take away a Man's Teftimony by hear-fay,

you muft prove it.

Gavan. 'Tis well known, if I prove Dug-
dale no credible Witnefs, I play my own Game.
You know I have been a Prifoner twenty Weeks,
and could not feek out WitnefTes, I asked it as

foon as I knew of my Trial, but it was denied

me to fend for Witnefies to prove that Dugdale
was in Goal for Debt. If I had the Recorder's

Warrant, or the Authority of this Bench, I

could fend for them.

L. C. J. You muft not fall upon Perfons

without Evidence, if you have WitnefTes to

prove any thing, whom the Jury will believe, call

them.

Gavan. I do afTure your Lordfhip, as I hope
to fee the Face of God, I am innocent of what is

charged upon me. And God blefs the King and
this Honourable Court.

L. C. J. Tho' you do an hundred times blefs

the King and Court and all, you muft prove
things if you will be believed. What fay you,

Mr. Whitebread?

Whitebread. My Lord, I have but one thing

to fay, and 'tis but a word : Your Lordfhip- was

pleafed to make an Obfervation, and a good one

it was, a Letter which Mr. Dugdale fays was
written by me to Mr. Ewers, which he fays he

intercepted ; he was, in the mean time, a trufty

Correfpondent for his Friend. In that Letter he

fwears, there was exprefly contained pofitive

Words of entertaining Perfons to kill the King,

that only fuch as were hardy, defperate, and

ftout -, but as your Lordfhip well obferved, that

it was an improbable thing that a Man who had
his Wics about him fhould write fuch plain Ex-
preffions about fuch a Matter ; and upon that

Improbability I leave it to the Jury.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Have you any thing to

fay, Mr. Fcnwick ?

Fenwick. I defire, my Lord, your Lordfhip

and the Jury to confider and obferve the nature

both of our WitnefTes, and of them that are

brought againft us. The one fpeak for the whole
Time, that they faw him every Day, or every

other Day ; they daily converfed with him, and
eat and drank with him in the fame Houfej the

others, they fay only, they faw him one particu-

lar Day, another, another-, and one of them
fays he faw him but in a Difguife. Now, my
Lord, whether it be likely that fo many innocent

Children, brought up in a good virtuous Life,

fhould come here to forfwear themfelves, to con-

tradict People that we know not what they are ;

and then, befides, we know that thefe People
are of a poor, mean, beggarly Condition, that in-

tend to mend that Condition by fuch a Pretence

of Difcovery, and hope thereby to advance
themfelves. It is probable fuch People might be
drawn in. Then alfo we fhall prove that Sir

John Warner did not come over with him,- nor
Mr. Williams, nor Sir Thomas Prefton: Then
all his Witnefs, as to them, is falfe, and he
does not fay he went back with thefe People ;

and this for the WitnefTes. Now fuppofe the

WitnefTes were all equal, what does he prove a-

gainft us Three ? Or what Reafon doth he give
of his Evidence ? He fays he faw fuch and fuch

Letters from Mr. Whitebread. Now is it pofiible

that a Man that had no Credit at all with us,

that we fhould be fuch Fools to trull him
with fuch Letters as thofe, then your Lordfhips
muft hang us twice, once for Fools, and then

for Knaves. Or is it poffible that we fhould be

fuch egregious Fools that we fhould truft a Man
that was never efteem'd of, was expelled the

College? And for all his Talk of Commiflions
and Letters, there is not one of thofe found, let

him fhew any one Commiflion, any Money paid,

or any Order brought him, or any Arms that

were found •, there are three Quarters of a Year
now paired fince the firft difcovery ; certainly all

this time could produce fomething : Thoufands of
Letters have been taken from us, fome of thofe

Letters would have difcovered this Thing : cer-

tainly therefore we have better Evidence than he
hath, fuppofing them to be equal as to Credi-

bility in their Original. Is it credible we fhould

be fo great Rogues to contrive the King's

Death ? though he fpeaks of the Writing being

carried from Chamber to Chamber concerning

this Matter, he can never produce one Paper
figned by any one Man's Hand, nor can he

produce any thing to atteft his Teftimony. I

leave this to your Lordfhips Judgment, whether

this Evidence be good, there is nothing appears

in fo much time, of any Effect that is produced

:

Where were the Armies ? Where were the Mo-
nies paid ? Where the Commiflions ? Is it pof-

fible fuch a thing fhould be, and no fign of it

for a whole Year almoft ? there is no Reafon

brought, amongft them all, but Saying and Swear^

ing, and that I will ftand by.

Whitebread. I thank God I don't look like a

fighting Man, nor I never did ; but who can

think that I fhould be fo mad, when I had com-
mitted fuch a Secret to him, to beat him, as he

fays ? 'Tis ftrange that fuch a Plot fhould be

difcovered wherein fo many Perfons of Quality,.

Honour and Reputation, are faid to be concerned,

and yet no Footfteps of it appear ; and none of

them, as my Lord Arundel, my Lord Bella/is,

fhould never divulge fuch a Plot ; I would fain

know whether fuch a thing be probable, but I

commend my felf to God Almighty, and the Jury.

Harcourt. My Lord, I have only this to fay, I

have lived to this Age, which is 70 Years, and I

never



679- O- B. Gavan ^W Turner? for High-Treafon. 875
never knew any Man that could fay I was accu-

fed of the thing in the World, for which I

fhould be brought before any Magiftrate ; and

'tis ftrange that after fo many Years 1 mould

come to be Arraigned and Condemned for a Crime

of the higheft Nature; and there's no Reafon

brought againft me, nor any of the reft, for the

Proof of what is alledged, nor do they, who
are the Witneffes again ft us, deferve at all any

Credit. They only affirm fuch and fuch things

without any Reafon, to perfuade you to believe

them, and 'tis eafy to fay, and fo 'tis to fwear it.

So that all I have to fay is this, fince a Negative

cannot be proved, I hope Innocency will find

fome that fnall defend it. I leave my felf to the

Bench, for the Law is the Defence of Innocency.

If they did bring any Evidence befides that,

which is downright pofitive Swearing without any

Reafon or concurrent Reafon to confirm it, it

were fomething.

Fenwick. And befides all this, to think how
thefe Men have lived before time is worth Re-

flection and Confidering. As for Bedlow, he

hath been a very ill Man, the World knows it.

L. C. J. Have you proved it ? Can you Ihew

any Record of it ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Turner, have you any

thing to fay? You have had your Time.

Fenwick. You will find that Nemo repente fit

tiequijjimus, No Man arrives at the higheft De-

grees of Impiety at firft: Men grow extremely

wicked by Degrees. But let us fee if they can

blame our Lives, or any thing that we have done

at any time before ; we prove, and all the World

knows what they have been, and how fcanda-

loufly they have lived.

Gavan. Our Witneffes are to be regarded for

their Number and for their Innocency, efpecially

fince they give no Reafon nor convincing Argu-

ments for what they do affirm.

L. C. J. We would hear you, and we have

heard you very long, but it muft not be permit-

ted you to go over the fame things again and

again.

L. C. Baron. H ith Turner any thing to fay ?

Turner. All that I have to fay, my Lord, is

this, to ask whether it be reafonable that Bedlow

and Oates fhould be looked upon as good W it-

neffes, that thefe Perfons who have been fuch

fcandalous People fhould be admitted to an Oath,

who were debarred from the Sacrament ; for ac-

cording to the Church of England, no Man that

is publickly fcandalous can be admitted to the

Sacrament.

L. C. J. But you prove nothing.

Turner. I can prove it firft by Evidence of one

Haftins.

L. C. J. Call him. [But he appeared not.~\

L. C. J. Gentlemen of the Jury ; Here hath

been a very long Evidence, and a very confufed

one; and you cannot ex peel, that it fhould be

wholly repeated to you: For it is almoft impoffi-

ble for any one to remember it; neither would I

if I could, becaufe a great deal of it is imperti-

nent, and vainly to be repeated : And befides ma-
ny things have been faid over and over again,

to no purpofe. But I will obferve to you, as well

as I can, what Teftimonies there are againft each

particular Man of them ; and that 1 do look upon,

to be very material. And I leave it to you, to

judge and confider, how far the Evidence is Cre-

dible, and how far it is Subftantial.

Vol. II.

Againft Mr. JVbitebread, you have the Tefti-

mony of three, Oates, Dugdale, and Beflow:.

Againft Mr. Fenwick, you have the Teftimony of
Oates, Bedlow and Praunce : Againft Harcourt, you
have Oates, Dugdale, Bedlow, and Praunce. You
have againft Gavan, Dugdale, and Oates; and
againft Turner, Dugdale, and Oates: So that, to

the two laft, you have two, three to the two firft.,

and four to Harcourt.

Now, the Matter that they have fworn, hath

been all tending to one thing ; the Murder of

the King, the Advancing of Popery, and Sup-

preffion of the Proteflant Religion: That is the

Thing, that all the Evidence does drive at.

For Dugdale, for ought we can perceive, he

hath been upon the matter a Stranger to Oates

and Bedlow ; and I do not find, that he had any

Corrcfpondence with, or Knowledge of them, at

the time he charges Mr. Harcourt, and Mr. Ga-
van. And he charges them with the very felf-

fame Things, viz. the Confuking the Death of

the King, and Advancement of Popery. And
they have feveral Inftances of the Fads, as their

feveral Confultations ; how they met together, and
where, or at what Place. And Dugdale tells you
of a Letter, that he found ; wherein Wbitebread

gave Charge, for the Entertainment of good
ftout Fellows; No matter for Gentlemen, fo they

were Refolute. And fo they have feveral Medi-

ums to prove one and the fame Thing.

Mr. Fenwick fays to all this, Here is nothing

againft us, but talking and fwearing : But for that,

he hath been told, (if it were poffible for him to

learn) that all Teftimony is but talking and fwear-

ing : For all Things, all Mens Lives and Fortunes,

are determined by an Oath ; and an Oath is by
talking, by kiffing the Book, and calling God to

witnefs to the Truth of what is faid. That is

the Effence of an Oath, and thofe are the Cere-

monies: The Kiffing the Book, and Speaking,

is the accidental Form ; the Subflance is, calling

God to Witnefs. Therefore what a vain thing

is it in Mr. Fenwick, to feem to triumph, by fay-

ing, There is nothing againft us, but talking and
fwearing. There is nothing againft them, but

Evidence and Proof of Men upon Oath: And
their Reafons, the Truth is, are very Trifles.

They defend their Lives as they do their Reli-

gion, with weak Arguments, and fallacious Rea-
fons.

For that long Bufinefs, that Mr. Gavan hath

undertaken to fay againft Mr. Oates, and what
they all infill upon, viz. the Number of their

Witneffes, which were Sixteen, amounts to this,

to difprove Mr. Oates that it could not be true

what he fays, That he fhould be prefent here at

a Confult, the Twenty- fourth of April, becaufe

they have brought Sixteen from St. Omers to

prove, That he was there all April and. May.
'Tis very true now, if that be fo, it is impof-

fible Oates can fwear any Truth : But whether

that is to be believ'd, or no, is the Queftion.

Methinks they did not do well for themfelves,

when they bid you remember the Nature of the

Evidence. They did well enough, to bid you
remember the Number : For the Number is more
than what Oates is back'd with on t'other Side

;

but the Nature is of much lefs Weight: Not
only becaufe they are not upon their Oaths, for

by Law they may not be upon their Oaths ; (and

that muft not be charged on them as a Defect,

feeing they would fwear, I doubt not, if they

5 T 2 might)
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might) but becaufe their Teftimony is really to be

believed much alike without an Oath, as with one ;

becaufe they are of a Religion that can difpenfe

with Oaths, though falfe, for the fake of a good

Caufe.

But, feeing they defire the Nature of the Men
may be confidered, you are to obferve, that they

are Profelytes, and Young Striplings of their

Church ; which does indeed, in one Refpect or

other, abufe all her Difciples, and keeps them in

a blind Obedience, to purfue and effect all Her
Commands.

If the Doctrines of that Church were better

;

if fuch which are allowed by their Chief Authors,

were but lefs bloody and inhumane ; If they had

ever put thofe that are fo, into an Index Expur-

gatorius, that they might have been publickly

difowned and declared as the particular Opinions

of fome ill Men, which they did difavow ; thefe

Men might have been then more worthy to be re-

garded. But when none of their Popes have

done this (who muft have very ftrange Foreheads,

if they fay they have) and fuch Doctrines are ftill

owned, there is much indeed to be obferved from

the Nature of the Evidence, the Nature of the

Men, and their Profeffion.

I muft confefs, I believe that they would deny

their Principles to be bloody, or to be defended

and allowed by any of their beft Authors, if at

this Time, the Fear of apparent Falfhood did not

deter them : But if to M urder Kings, or to

Depofe them, and Abfolve their Subjects from

their Allegiance, for the Advancement of Religi-

on, be a Thing mod impious, and void of Religi-

on, and makes Religion worfe than none ; which

Doctrine yet they have owned, and their Councils

have owned, and we have proved it upon them,

and out of them : I cannot tell what to fay to

thefe Men, or their Teftimony ; the Nature of

whom they defire to be confidered.

But they were Young Boys, fent for hither on

purpofe to give this Teftimony; and it was not,

indeed, a Fault in the Prifoners at the Bar, to

fend for what Evidence they could, for themfelves

:

But it is very doubtful and fufpicious, to have fuch

green and flexible Minds thus employ'd, and I

muft leave it to you, to confider how far thefe

Young Men, train'd in fuch Principles, may be

prevail'd on to fpeak what is not true.

And now, if the King's Evidence, after this,

flood alone, it were yet fomething: But when
you have Mr. Oates's Teftimony, as to this great

Matter of his appearing in Aprils confirmed by
Seven or Eight Witneffes, that fpeak fo expref-

ly to it, how will they anfwer it ! Do they make
Sir Richard Barker a Perfon of no Value? Do
they fo little efteem the Minifter, that fays I

knew him though he was in Difguife ; and went

and faid it prefently to a Woman, that he knew
was acquainted with Oates. And asking her,

when fhe faw Mr. Oates? And fhe faying, Not a

great while •, he faid, I faw him later than you

;

and fays, he did know him : And this is con-

firmed ftill by Sir Richard Barker, who tells you,

That his Men told him that he had been there.

"What fhould make them to acquaint their Mafter

fo, if it were not fo? Or do you think it a thing

malicioufly prepared or invented, to take away

the Lives of thefe Men, that his Men fhould tell

him a Story fo long ago ? If it be not true, to

what Purpofe fhould they tell him fo ? and if it

be true, it confirms the Matter fwornagainft them.

There is he that was his Companion, the

Schoolmafter, that fays, in the beginning of.

May was Twelvemonth, Mr. Oates dined with

him at his Houfe, fat with him four Hours, dif-

courfed of his Travels into Spain and St. Omers:
And there is the Man that is a Papift, if not a

Prieft, that fwears he faw him twice, about the
middle of April, at Mr. Charles Haward's Lodg-
ings in Arundel Houfe; fo that here are Seven
Witneffes, direct or circumftantial, to prove
Mr. Oates to have been in London, in April and
May, 1678.

But fay they, This is but 'talking and Swearing.
Very fine ! and the St. Omers Youths is Talking,

but not Swearing. Ay ! but then their Numbers
are not fo many. That, Gentlemen, I leave to

you, for both cannot be true. The Teftimony
of Mr. Oates, and the Witnefies that he had to
back himfelf withal, and to prove himfelf to be
here, is inconfiftent with what the young Men fay,

that he was at St. Omers.

Now, if you obferve, all thefe Mens Defence
is in the circumftantial Part of the Evidence, in

watching and catching at what Day, what Hour,
and what Month ? how Mr. Oates reckoned falfe,

fo and fo : If he came here about the 20th of
April, how could they fee him the ift of May?
and they think then, they have got fuch a migh-
ty Victory, but it is not fo weighty an Argument
with Proteftants, after all their Conceit, that it

is unanfwerable; for here is the Point, The Mat-
ter of Time is a Thing that no Man can fo pre-

cifely charge his Memory with, as that it fhould

be too ftrictly the Meafure of your Judgment*
about Truth or Falfhood, by the miftake of feven

or eight Days. Examine your felves, how often

every Day you do miftake things that have been

transacted half a Year ago, and err in Point of
Time, taking one Week for another, and one
Month for another; and tho' I muft fay, it is

confiderable, yet too great Weight is not to be
laid upon that.

As for that they infift upon fo much, the com*
ing over of Sir Thomas Prefton, and Sir John
Warner, with Mr. Oates ; it is true, three or four

Witneffes fpeak, as to Sir John Warner, and fome
to Sir Thomas Pre/Ion; and they fay, they were

both beyond Sea when Mr. Oates came over;

but if the Sixteen be not to be believed in the

firft Matter, and if Mr. Oates does fay true, not-

withftanding all their Evidence, that he was here

fuch a Time in April and May, then I'll tell you

what Inference may naturally be; to wit, That

they can't want a Witnefs to prove what they

pleafe: For I believe there is none of them all

will make any Bones of it.

I fay, Gentlemen, if you are fatisfied in your

Confciences, that the Evidence on Mr. Oates his

Part, to that Point, (that is to fay, feven Wit-

neffes) ought to prevail with you, to believe he

was here in thofe Months, (notwithftanding the

fixteen Witneffes, who fay they faw him every Day
beyond Sea, in April and May,) their other Evi-

dence about his coming over with Prefton and

Warner, will have no great Weight ; becaufe the

other is the Great Matter^ by which they make
the Subftanceof their Defence.

I am glad indeed to fee a Gentleman here, whofe

Face I never faw before, and that is Mr. Dug-
dale. Upon my Word, he hath efcaped well,

for I find little faid againft him, very little,

either as to the Matter or the Manner of his

• Evidence.
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Evidence. They would have made Reflection on

him for his Poverty, but I hope that they, whofe

Religion is to vow Poverty, will never infill on

that for any great Objection againft any.

L. C. J. North. Your Lordfhip hath forgot that

he faid he gave away Three or Four Hundred

Pounds to them.

L. C. J. But I will challenge all the Papifts in

England, to fatisfy any Man that hears me this

Day of one piece of Evidence, which will turn

every Proteftant's Heart againft the Papifts. If

fo be they murdered Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, the

Plot even by that, is in a great meafure proved

upon them, by that bafe Murder. And what can

be a plainer Proof of it, than the Evidence of

this Day, which Mr. Dugdale produces? We
had notice, faith he, on Monday Night, that on

the Saturday before it, Sir Edmundbury Godfrey

was kill'd ; (which falls out to be that very Sa-

turday he was firft miffing ;) which Notice was

given in a Letter writ by Harcourt to Ewers,

another Prieft, that fame Saturday Night, where-

in were thefe Words, This Night Sir Edmunbu-
ry Godfrey is difpatch'd ; and I am fure, if this

be true, then no Man can fay, but They murdered

him.

Whitebread. It is not alledged againft any of

us.

L. C. J. It is an Evidence of the Plot in gene-

ral, and to Harcourt in particular.

Harcourt. He never fhevvs the Letter that he

lays I writ.

L. C. J. He fays that he ufed to perufe the

Letters, and that Ewers had this again, after he

had perufed it ; he fays alfo he has received, at

Times, a hundred Letters from you, and this

among the reft. Now the Queftion is, Whe-
ther it be true, or no ? To make it out he pro-

duces Mr. Chetwynd, whom I hope you will not

deny to be a Gentleman of one of the beft Fa-

milies of his Country, and of honeft Reputation ;

who fays, That on the Tuefday following that Sa-

turday Sir Edmundbury Godfrey was mifs'd, he

and another were talking together in Stafford/hire,

and that the other Perfon asked him, if he knew
of the Death of any Juftice of the Peace at Weft-

minfter, and when he told him, he had heard of

no fuch thing ; No! faid he, that is ftrange, you
living fometimes about Weftminfler ; for, faid he,

The Wench at the Alehoufe fays, That this

Morning Mr. Dugdale faid to two other Gentle-

men, There was a Juftice of Peace of Weft-

minfter kill'd , and Mr. Dugdale fwears, that was

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey. Now, if Dugdale be fit

to be believed, that he faw fuch a Letter, as he

muft be if he be not a very great Prophet, to

be able to foretel this ; or if the Maid that faid

this, did not invent it (a Thing then impoffible

to be done) or Mr. Chetwynd feigned, that he

heard the Man make his Report from the Maid •,

this Thing could not come pafs, but by thefe

Men. Nay, if Mr. Dugdale could not do as

great a Miracle as any are in the Popijh Legends,

how could he tell, that it was done on the fame
Night when it was done at London? Or fpeak

of it, on the Monday Night after, when it was
not known in London till the Thurfday following?

This will flick, I affure you, Sirs, upon all your
Party.

For my own part, this Evidence of Mr. Dug-
dale's gives me the greateft Satisfaction of any

thing in the World in this Matter •, and whilft

we reft fatisfied in the Murder of that Man, and
are morally certain you muft do it, knowing of
what Principles you are, you cannot blame us,

if, upon fuch manifeft Reafons, we lay it upon
you.

And this is Occafional Evidence, which I, for

my part never heard before this Day ; nor can

I be more, or better fatisfied, than I am upon
this Point, viz. The Teftimony that I have re-

ceived this Afternoon, concerning the Murder of

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey. As to the Defences

they have made, they are Exceptions in Point of
Time, but do not affect Mr. Dugdale; for they

have hardly the Confidence to deny the Things
he fays, to be true againft them.

They fall foul, indeed, upon Mr. Oates: He
appears to have been their Agent; and whilft fo,

bad enough : But if he had not had a Mind to

have become a good Man, he would not likely

have done us that Good that he hath done, in

difcovering the Defign you had engaged him in.

Let any Man judge, by your Principles and
Practices, what you will not do, for the pro-

moting of the fame.

For while this Gentleman's Blood lies upon
you ( and fome have been Executed for it, ) it

muft be yet farther told you, that in what you
Did do, you have given us a Specimen of what
you Would do. We have a Teftimony, that for

promoting your Caufe, you would not flick at

the Proteftants Blood. You Began with Sir Ed-
mundbury Godfrey^ but who knows where you
would have made an End! It was this One Man
you kill'd in his Perfon, but in Effigy the Whole
Nation. It was in one Man's Blood your Hands
are Imbrued; but your Souls were Dipt in the

Blood of us all. This was a Handfel only of
what was to follow ; and fo long as we are con-

vinced you kill'd him, we cannot but believe you
would alfo kill the King. We cannot bat believe,

you would make All of Us away, that ftand in

the Way of your Religion ; A Religion, which,

according to what it is, you would bring in upon
us ; by a Converfwn of us with Blood ; and by a,

Baptifm with Fire. God keep our Land from
the one, and our City from the other.

To return : The Letter that is found in Har-
court's Papers, does further confirm Mr. Oates in

all the great and confiderable Matters that he fays ;

That there was a Plot ; That that Plot was call-

ed by the Name of a Design, which was to be
kept Clofe and Secret: And this is an Evidence
that cannot lye. For that Letter will never be
got off, no more than the other Letter, that

Mr. Dugdale fpeaks of about Sir Edmundbury
Godfrey.

And thus I leave it to you Gentlemen : You
have heard how many Witneffes they have had
for them, about Twenty-four or Twenty-five,

of one fort or another. You have heard what
they apply their Teftimony unto, to convict

Mr. Oates of Falfhood in matter of Time; which
was their principal Defence: That he was not

here in April and May, and that he came not

over with Sir Thomas Prefton, and Sir John War-
ner, and that Ireland was not here all Auguft.

You have heard what Witneffes Oates is back'd

withal, as to the Time of his being here: And
the Maid fays, fhe faw Ireland here in Auguft.

However, though their Defence depends but

upon a Point of Time, I muft tell you, it ought

to be well confidered, for 'tis indeed very confider-

able
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able towards their Defence ; and God forbid but

we fhould be equal to all Men.
And fo I have remembred, as well as I can, in

this long and perplexed Evidence, that which

feems to me mod material, as to their Charge or

Difcharge ; and that which they have made their

greateft Defence by the Youths from St. Omers,

to difprove Mr. Oates his being here, and Mr.
Ireland's not being in London in Augujl, which in

Truth is not the proper Bufinefs of this Day ;

but hath received a former Verdict before ; for

if fo be the Jury before had not been fatisfied of

the Truth of that, they could never have found

Ireland Guilty. So I leave it to you, upon the

whole Matter. I can remember nothing befides.

Go together, and confider of your Verdict, ac-

cording to your Evidence.

L. C. J. North. Gentlemen, my Lord hath re-

peated it fo fully to you, that I mall not need to

add any thing to it.

Then an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury,

who withdrew, and the Judges alfo went

off from the Bench, leaving Mr. Recorder,

and a competent Number of Commissioners

there, to take the Verditl ; and about the

fpace of a Quarter of an Hour, the Jury
returned, and anfwered to their Names, and

gave in their Verdicl thus.

CI. of the Cr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed

of your Verdict?

Omnes. Yes.

CI. of the Cr. Who mail fay for you?
Omnes. Foreman.

CI. of the Cr. Thomas White, alias Whitebread,

hold up thy Hand. You of the Jury look upon
the Prifoner: How fay you? Is he Guilty of
the High-Treafon whereof he {lands Indicted, or

Not Guilty?

Foreman. Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. What Goods or Chattels?

Foreman. None, to our Knowledge. [And fo
feverally of the reft.']

Which Verdicl being Recorded, in ufual Form,
Mr. Recorder fpoke to the Jury thus

:

Gentlemen, you of the Jury, There hath been
a long Evidence given againft the Prifoners at
the Bar: They were all Indicted, Arraigned,
fairly Tried, and fully Heard, for High-Treafon,
depending upon feveral Circumftances. They can
none of them pretend to fay, (and 1 take the
Liberty to take notice of it, for the Satisfaction
of them, and all that are here prefent, and all the
World,) That not a Perfon among the Prifoners
at the Bar, were either wanting to themfelves to
Offer, or the Court to them, to Hear any thing
that they could fay for themfelves. But, upon
a long Evidence, a full difcuffing the Objections
made againft it, and a patient hearing of the De-
fence they made, they are found Guilty : And I
do think, that every honeft Man will fay, That
they are unexceptionably found foj and that 'tis

a juft Verdict you have given.

And then the Prifoners were carried back to

Newgate, and the Court adjourned till Eight
next Morning: When the Court proceeded

to the Trial of Richard Langhorn.

€-2*9
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LXXXIV. The Trial of Rich Ard * Langhorn, Efq;
at the Old-Baily, for High-Treafon, June 14, 1679,

31 Car. II.

PON Saturday the 14th of June,

1679, at the Seflions-Houfe in the

Old-Baily, London, the Court (accord-

ing to their Adjournment the pre-
ss ceeding Day) met, and proceeded to

the Trial of Richard Langhorn, Efq j in this

manner

:

Clerk of the Crown. Set Richard Langhorn to

the Bar. Richard Langhorn, hold up thy Hand.
\_Which he did.]

Thouftandeft Indicted in London, by the Name
of Richard Langhorn, late of London, Efq

;

For that you Richard Langhorn the Elder, as a

falfe Traitor of the mojl Illuftrious, Serene, and Ex-
cellent Prince, Charles the Second, by the Grace of

God, King of England, Scotland, France, and

Ireland, Defender of the Faith, your fupreme and

Natural Lord, not having the Fear of God in your

Heart, nor weighing the Duty of your Allegiance,

hut being moved and feduced by the Infligation of the

Devil, the cordial Love, and true, due, and natu-

ral Obedience, which true andfaithful Subjetls of our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, towards him do and

ought to bear, altogether withdrawing, and devifing,

and with all your Strength, intending the Peace

and common Tranquillity of this Kingdom to difiurb,

and the true Worfhip of God within this Kingdom

ufed, and by Law ejlablifhed, to overthrow, and

Sedition and Rebellion within this Kingdom to fir up

and procure, and the true Love, Duty and Obedience,

which true and faithful Subjetls of our faid Lord
the King, towards him do and of right ought to

bear, to withdraw, relinquifo, and extinguijh, on the

30th Day of September, in the 2,0th Tear of His

Majefty's Reign, at London, in the Parifh of St.

Dunftan'i in the Weft, in the Ward of Farringdon

without London, aforefaid, falfly, malicioufly, fub-

tilly, and traiteroufly, with many other falje Trai-

tors of our Sovereign Lord the King unknown, did

purpofe, compafs, imagine, intend, confult and agree>

to

* Burn. Hijl. Own Times, Vol. I. p. 465,
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fo _/?zr up Sedition and Rebellion within this Kingdom mijjions in Writing, made by Authority derivedfrom

of England, againfi our [aid Sovereign Lord the the See of Rome, for conftituting Military Officers,

Kim and a miferable Slaughter amongft the Sub- ' for leading the Forces to be levied in this Kingdom

ieblVof ourfaid Lord the King, of his Kingdoms of againft our faid Sovereign Lord the King, for the

Eneland, to procure and caufe, and our faid Sove- altering the Proteftant Refonned Religion,

reign Lord the King, from his Kingly State, 'Title,

Power, and Government of his Kingdom of England,

totally to deprive, depofe, and difinherit, and ourfaid

Sovereign Lord the King to Death and final Deftruc-

tion to bring and put, and the Government of this

Kingdom to fubvert and change, and the true Wor-

flripof God in this Kingdom by Law eftablijhed and

ufed to alter, and the State of this Kingdom in all the Purpofes and Compafling aforefaid were fulfilled and

Parts thereof well inftituted, totally to fubvert and accomplifhed, then and there traiteroufty you did

deflroy, and JVar within this Kingdom of England receive. And that you the faid Langhorn, after*

to procure and levy, and the fame moft wicked Trea- wards, to wit, the Day and Tear aforefaid, at

fons, traiterous Imaginations, Purpofes, Compajfings, London, &c. the faid feveral Commiffions fo re-

and Agreements aforefaid, and to perfecl and fulfil: ceived, to divers falfe Traitors of our Sovereign

Tou the faid Richard Langhorn afterwards, to wit, Lord the King unknown, falfly, knowingly, and

to the

Ufe and Superftition of the Church of Rome, and
for fubveriing the Government of this Kingdom of

England, Traiteroufly you did receive, and five

other Commiffions in Writing, made by Authority

derived from the See of Rome, for conftituting Ci*

vil Officers for Governing this Kingdom after the

moft wicked Treafons and traiterous Imaginations^

the 20th Day of September in the 30th Tear aforefaid,

and diverfe other Times before at London, &c. falfly,

advifedly, malicioufty, fubtilly, and traiteroufly, did

compafs, contrive, and write two Letters, to befent

to certain Perfons unknown at Rome, and at St. O-

mers in Parts beyond the Seas, to procure the Ad-

herence, Aid and AJfifiance of the Pope, and of the

French King, and others, to you the faid Richard

traiteroufly did diftribute, give and difpofe for con-

ftituting Officers, as well Military as Civil, to the

traiterous Purpofes aforefaid. And that you the

faid Richard Langhorn, afterwards on the Day
and Tear aforefaid, at London, &c. a Commiffion
to conftitute and authorize you to be Advocate-Ge-
neral of the Army, to be levied in this Kingdom,
to War againft our faid Sovereign Lord the King,

Langhorn, and other falfe Traitors unknown, the faljly, traiteroufly, and againft the Duty of your

true Worfhip of God within this Kingdom ^England, Allegiance,from a eertainPerfon unknown, did receivi

by Law eftablijhed and ufed, to the Superftition of the and had; and the fame Commiffion then and there

Church ofRome to alter, and the Government of this falfly, advifedly, and traiteroufly, did infpecl and

Kingdom of England to fubvert, and our faid Sove- read, and in your Cuftody keep ; and to the fame

reign Lord the King to Death andfinal Deftrutlion to

bring and put ; and that you thefaid Richard Lang-

horn, in further Profecution ofthefaid Treafon, trai-

terous Imaginations, Intentions, and Agreements afore-

Commiffion traiteroufly did give your Confent, to the

Intent that you the faid Richard Langhorn fhould
have and execute the Place and Office of Advocate-
General of the Army aforefaid, after the Army a-

faid on the Day and Tear aforefaid, and thefaid other forefaid fhould be raised againft our faid Sovereign

Days and Times before at London, &c. did compafs,

contrive, and write two other Letters to be fent to

Rome, in Parts beyond the Seas, to one Chriftopher

Anderton, thenReclor oftbeEngliih College atRome

aforefaid, and two other Letters to be fent to St. O-

mers, in Parts beyond the Seas, to diverfe Perfons un-

known there refiding, and by the faid refpeclive Let-

ters traiterouflyyou did advife thefaid Pope, andC\\v\-

flopher Anderton, and other Perfons unknown refi-

ding beyond the Seas, of the ways and manner to be

taken for accomplifhing the faid moft wicked Treafons,

for altering the true Worfhip of God in this Kingdom

eftablijhed and ufed, to the Superftition of the Church

c/Rome, and for fubverting the Government of this

Kingdom, and for the Death and Deftrutlion of our

faid Lord the King, and to the Intent that the faid

Lord the King, by you thefaid Richard Langhorn,
and other falfe Traitors unknown, in Execution of

the faid traiterous Compajfings, Imaginations, and
Agreements aforefaid. And that whereas William
Ireland, John Grove, and Thomas Pickering,

and other falfe Traitors of our Sovereign Lord the

King, unknown, on the i\th Day of April, in the

gotb Tear aforefaid, in the County of Middlefex,

did confult to bring and put our faid Sovereign Lord
the King to Death and final Deftrutlion, and to

change and alter Religion in this Kingdom of Eng-
land, rightly and by Law eftabliftjed, to the Super-

ftition of the Church of Rome, at London, &c,
had Notice of that Confultation ; and thefame Con-

fultation for the Deftrutlion of the King, and for the

Alteration ef Religion in this Kingdom, rightly E-

Chriftopher Anderton, and others unknown, fhould ftablifhed, to the Superftition of the Church of Rome,

give their Aid, Affiftance, and Adherence, andfhould and the Treafonable Agreements had in that Conful-

procure other Aid, Affiftance, and Adherence, to you tation, on the faid 30th Day of September, in the

the faid Richard Langhorn, and otherfalfe Traitors

unknown, to alter the true Worfhip of God aforefaid,

to the Superftition of the Church of' Rome, and to

fubvert the Government of this Kingdom of Eng-

land, and to put our faid Sovereign Lord the King

to Death, and that you the faid Richard Langhorn

afterwards, to wit, the Day and Tear aforefaid at

London, 13c. Traiteroufly did deliver the Letters

aforefaid, to be fent to the faid Chriftopher Ander-

ton, and others, Perfons beyond the Seas, to perfeci

the Traiterous Purpofes aforefaid, and that you the

faid Richard Langhorn, further to fulfil and ac-

complifh the fame moft wicked Treafons, traiterous

Imaginations, Purpofes, and Compaffings aforefaid,

afterwards the faid 30th Day of September, in the

Thirtieth Tear aforefaid, at London, &c.five Com-

$otb Tear aforefaid, from our faid Sovereign Lord
the King, advifedly and traiteroufly did conceal, and
to that Confultation traiteroufly you did confent. And
the faid William Ireland, John Grove, andTho-
mas Pickering, on the Day and Tear laft aforefaid,

at London, the Treafons aforefaid to perpetrate and
perfecl, malicioufty, fubtilly, and traiteroufly, you
did abet, counfel, maintain and comfort ; and that

you the faid Richard Langhorn, afterwards fto

wit) the faid 2,0th Day of September, in the 30th

Tear aforefaid, at London, &c. falfly, fubtilly, and
traiteroufly, you did move and folicit the Benedictine

Monks, (unknown) to expend and pay the Sum of Six

Thoufand Pounds, to procure a Perftm traiteroufiy to

kill andmurder ourfaidSovereign Lord the King. And
whereas Edward Coleman, and otherfalfe Traitors
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of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, unknown, on

the 29th of September, in the 2,0th Tear aforefaid^

in the County of Middlefex, traiteroufly had.con-

fpired and confulted to procure Rebellion and Sedi-

tion, within this Kingdom of England, againfi our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, and himfrom his King-

ly State and Government of this his Kingdom of Eng-
land to deprive and difinherit, and to bring and

put him to final Death and Deft ruction, and the Go-

vernment of this Kingdom of England to alter, and

the true Religion in this Kingdom of England, by

Law Eftablifhed, to alter and change. And whereas

he the jaid Edward Coleman had traiteroufly written

four Letters to Monfieur Le Chaife, then Counfel-

lor of the French King, to procure the Aid, Afjif-

tance, and Adherence of the French King, to -perfett

and accomplijh the traiterous Imaginations aforefaid,

you the faid Richard Langhorn afterwards, to

wit, the faid Thirtieth Day of September, in the

Thirtieth Tear aforefaid, at London, &c. well know-

ing the treafonable Matters in the fame Letters con-

tained, to thefame Letters didconfent, and then and

there faljly,fubtilly, advifedly, malicioujly, and trai-

teroufly did abet, counfel, maintain, and comfort the

faid Edward Coleman, to perpetrate and accomplifh

the Ireafon aforefaid, againfi the Duty of your Alle-

giance, againft the Peace of our Sovereign Lord the

King, his Crown and Dignity, and againft the Form

cf the Statute in this Cafe made and provided.

Clerk of the Crown. How fay'ft thou, Richard

Langhorn, art thou Guilty of this High-Trea-

ibn whereof thou ftandeft Indi&ed, or Not
Guilty ?

Langhorn. Not Guilty.

Cl. of the Cr. Culprit, how wilt thou be

Tried ?

Langhorn. By God and my Country.

Cl of the Cr. God fend thee a good Delive-

rance.

Then the Petty Jury impannelled for this Trial

was called, the Prifoner put to his Challenges,

but challenging none, the Twelve fworn were

thefe.

Arthur Tong,

Edward Beeker,

Robert Twyford,

William Tapp,

John Kirkham,

Peter Pickering,

Thomas Barnes,

Francis Neeve,

John Flail,

George Sitwell,

James Wood, and

Richard Cawthorne.

After which, Proclamation for Information was
made in the ufual manner.

Cl. of the Cr. Richard Langhorn, hold up thy

Hand. [ Which he did.] You of the Jury, look

upon the Prifoner, and hearken to his Caufe :

He ftands Indicted in London by the Name of Ri-

chard Langhorn, late of London, Efq; for that as

a falfe Traitor, &c. [put in the Indiclment Muta-

tis Mutandis] and againft the Form of the Sta-

tute in that Cafe made and provided. Upon this

Indiclment he hath been Arraigned, and there-

unto hath pleaded Not Guilty ; your Charge is

to enquire whether he be Guilty of the High-

Treafon whereof he ftands Indicted, or Not
Guilty ; if you find him Guilty, then you are

to enquire what Goods or Chattels, Lands or

Tenements he had at the Time of the High-

Treafon committed, or at any Time fince ; if

you find him Not Guilty, you fhall enquire whe-

ther he fled for it, if you find that he fled for it,

you are to enquire of his Goods and Chattels, as

if you had found him Guilty : If you find him
Not Guilty, nor that he did fly for it, fay fo and
no more, and hear your Evidence.

Then Roger Belwood, Efq; of Council for the

King in this Caufe, opeii'd the Indiclment thus

:

May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and you
Gentlemen of the Jury ;

The Prifoner at the Bar, Mr. Langhorn, ftands

Indicted of High-Treafon, and it is for confpi-

ring the Murder of the King, and endeavouring
an Alteration in the Government in Church and
State. And the Indictment fets forth, that the
30th of Auguft, in the 30th Year of the King, he
and other falfe Traitors did agree to ftir up Sedi-

tion and Rebellion in the Kingdom, and to caufe

a great Slaughter of his Majefly's Subjects ; To
introduce the Superftition of the Church of Rome,
and depofe and murder the King, and to alter the

Government in Church and State. And 'tis there

faid, that to accomplifh thefe evil Dcfigns, he
writ two Letters to be fent to Rome, and St. 0-
mers, the Effect of which Letters was to procure

the Afliftance of the Pope and the French King,
to alter the Religion Eftablifhed by Law in this

Kingdom, to Romifh Superftition, to fubvert the

Government, and to put the King to Death ; and
that in further Profecution of thefe traiterous

Defigns, he writ two other Letters to be fent to

Rome to one Chriftopher Anderton, Rector of the

Englijh College, and a Jefuit ; and two others to

be fent to St. Omers ; and in thefe Letters he
took upon him to advife the Way and Means
by which thefe Treafons might be effected, and
that thefe feveral Letters were fent and delivered

by him, and received. The Indictment further

fets forth, that in further Profecution of thefe

traiterous Imaginations of his, he did receive

five feveral Commiffions in Writing, by Autho-
rity derived from the See of Rome ; and thofe

were for the making of Military Officers, to exe-

cute thefe Treafons by Force of Arms, and that

he did likewife receive five other Commifiions for

conftituting Civil Officers in this Realm, after

the Treafon was committed. And that amongft
the reft he did receive for himfelf one Commif-
fion to be Advocate-General of the Army that

was to be rais'd. And the Indictment further

charges upon the Prifoner, that to accomplifh

thefe Treafons, whereas Ireland, Pickerings and

Grove, and other falfe Traitors, had confulted

thefe Treafons, which I before mentioned, Mr.
Langhorn had Notice of the Treafons, and did

confent to them, and abet them, and that he did

folicit the Benedicline Monks to advance 6000 /.

for the Murder of the King, for the Alteration

of Religion, and for the Subverfion of the Go-
vernment in Church and State. And further,

whereas Mr. Coleman, (who was executed for

Treafon) had (with others) confpired the. Death
of the King, and the introducing of Popery, and

has writ a Letter to the French Confeflbr Le Chaife,

for Aid and Afliftance, that the Prifoner at the

Bar had Notice of this, and that he did confent

to it, and did abet it. This, Gentlemen, is

charged to be Traiteroufly and Devilifhly done,

againft the Prifoner's Allegiance, and the form of

the
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the Statute. To this he hath pleaded Not guilty,

but if we prove thefe Treafons, or any of them,

you are to find him Guilty.

Then Sir Crefwel Levins, me of His Majeftfs

Learned Cowfel in the Law opened the Charge

thus : Prout

May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and you Gentle-

men of the Jury ;

Mr. Langhom is indicted forTreafon, for hav-

ing a Part in that general Treafon that you have

heard feveral times before of, and fome Perfons

there were indicted, tried, and convicted yefter-

day, for that Treafon that Mr. Langhom had an

Hand in : for the Indictment does let forth, that

there were Letters written by him to Rome to the

fame purpofe, of which, Gentlemen, you have

heard fo often, and will hear again.

This Treafon was no lefs than to murder the

King, to alter the Religion, to overturn the

Law, to raife an Army by Force to effect all

this, and in fhort to do all the mifchief that

Men f if it be lawful to call fuch Creatures Men)

could do. That there was, in order to this, Con-

fultations held the 24th of April among the Je-

fuits -, and there it was refolved that the King

fhould be killed, there were Perfons appointed

to do it, that was Pickering and Grove, but they

failed therein, and they profecuted it at Windfor,

but happening to fail there alfo, they followed

him to Newmarket, and ordered that it fhould

be done there : And when all this failed, they

took another Courfe, His Majefty was to be poi-

foned •, and as I faid before, to make all this good,

an Army was to be raifed of 50,000 Men in

England, to perfect this Work ; but if that

would not do, they were to have Forces from

beyond Sea to join with them : and Mr. Langhom

he writ Letters to procure thefe Forces, and he not

only did fo, but he found the effect of his Let-

ters, and received Commiffions from beyond Sea,

whereof one was for himfelf, to be Advocate-

General of the Army. All thefe things are laid

to Mr. Langhom's Charge.

But I'll begin firft, and fhew you, before I

come to the particular Evidence againft Mr.

Langhom, fome Evidence of the general Defign •,

and therefore we will call fome Witneffes to do

that in the firft Place, and then bring it down to

Mr. Langhom himfelf.

Call Mr. Dugdale, and Mr. Praunce, (who were

both fworn, and Mr. Dugdale firft flood up.)

Sir Cr. Levinz. Come, Sir, what do you know
of any Defign to murder the King ? fpeak what

you know concerning the Plot and Confpiracy.

Dugdale. 1 was in feveral Confultations for

Alteration of this prefent Government, and for

the introducing of Popery, and for the Murder

of the King. I was a Perfon in mod of the

Confultations to the fame purpofe, and heard the

very Words ufed, and was hired to be inftrumen-

tal in it, and was to have a Sum of Money to

be one of them that fhould do it. I was to be an

Actor in it, and was to have a Place appointed

to do it.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. What were you hired to do ?

Dugdale. I was to kill the King.

Sir Cr. Levinz. And who were the Perfons that

put you upon it ?

Dugdale. There was Mr. Ewers, Mr. Gavan,

Mr. Lufon, and Mr. Vavafur.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What were thefe Men ?
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Dugdale. They are all Jefuits.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Do you know any thing of art

Army that was to be raifed to effect it?

Dugdale. They always did fpeak of an Army
that was to be raifed, but it was not actually to

be done till the King was killed ; that was the

laft Conclufion : It was indeed at firft concluded

on to raife an Army, but the laft Confultation

was, that there fhould no Arms appear, till the

King was killed.

Sir Cr. Levinz. You do not know any thing

of Mr. Langhom in particular, do you ?

Dugdale. No, I do not know any thing parti-

cular, 1 have heard of him.

L. C. J. North. Why, you brought him only

to prove the general Defign.

Dugdale. There was a MafTacre to be, and
then there fhould be an Army^ a pretty good
confiderable Army, there was no certain Number
that I could hear of ; but thofe that did

efcape the MafTacre, fhould be cut off by the

Army.
L. C.J. North. Where were thefe Confulta-

tions ?

Dugdale. One was at fixall, another was at

Bofcobel, at my Lord Jjlon's, and Mr. Ger-
rard's.

L. C; J. North. Where were thefe Places ?

Dugdale. In Stafford/hire.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Pray, who were to be maf>

facred in the firft place ?

Dugdale. All Proteftants, and thofe we could

not be fure to be Papifts.

Mr. Belwood. Pray, Sir, what do you know
of any Letter to be writ to Mr. Ewers, concern-

ing Sir Edmundbury Godfrey's Death ?

Dugdale. I do remember a Letter that came to

Mr. Ewers, from Mr. Harcourt, which did ex-

prefs, and begin thus, This very Night Sir Ed-
mundbury Godfrey is difpatched ; with fome other

Words of like Import ; and then I fent to Mr.
Ewers about it : And do you think this will car-

ry on the Defign ? I will be hang'd if it don't

fpoil it : No, faid he, he was a Perfon that ufed

to be very fevere againft debauch'd lewd Perfonsj

and fo it will be laid, as if they had done it out of

Revenge.

L. C. J. North. What Day of theWeek was
that Letter dated ?

Dugdale. It was, as I can very well make it

out, on Saturday.

L. C. J. North. And when was it received ?

Dugdale. It was received on Monday Night.

L. C. J. North. What were the Contents of

it, do you fay ?

Dugdale. I began thus. This very Night Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey is difpatched.

L. C. J. North. Who did it come from?
Dugdale. It came from Mr. Harcourt.

Sir Cr. Levinz. They themfelves know that

he was not found here in London, till Thurfday.

Dugdale. I could not hold, it run fo much in

my Mind, but the next Morning going to an

Alehoufe hard by, I there fpoke of it, and im-

mediately it was carried to Mr. Chetwin, and he

was here Yefterday to make it out, that I fo

did.

L. C. J. North. But why did they kill him f

was it exprefTed why ?

Dugdale. I had feveral Times heard, he was too

much privy to their Confultations.

$v L. C. J,



88 a 84. The Trial of Richard Langhorn, 3 1 Car. II.

L. C. J. North. That is, you mean, he had

too much difcovered to him.

Dugdalc. And fo they were afraid of Mr. Cole-

man too, that he carried Things too high ; and

he was out of their Favour for two Years.

Sir Cr. Levinz Then call Mr. Praunce. Pray,

Sir, what can you fay.

Praunce. There was one Mr. Meffenger, a Gen-

tleman of the Horfeto my Lord Arundel 6{ V/ar-
dour, who was employed by my Lord Arundel of

Wardotir, and my Lord Powis, and he was to

kill the King, and to have a very good Reward

for the doing of it •, and I was told fo by my
Lord Butler : I afterwards mec with this Meffen-

ger, and asked him, what his Reafon was that

he would kill the King. He told me, he was off

of it now.
Sir Cr. Levinz. But what was to be done after

they fhould kill the King ?

Praunce. Prefently there fhould bean Army of

50,000 Men raifed, to be governed by my Lord

Arundel, and my Lord Powis, and them : I have

heard Mr. Fenwick, and Mr. Ireland, and Grove,

to fpeak of this at the fame time together.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What was that Army to be

raifed for ?

Praunce. To fettle the Catholick Religion.

L. C. f. North. What was to become of other

Perfons ?

Praunce.They were to be killed and ruined all:

So Fen-wick told me.

L.C.J. North. Look you, Mr. Langhorn, thefe

Witneffcs fpeak nothing to you in particular, but

only that there was a Confpiracy in general, to

kill the King, and introduce Popery : If you will

"* ask them any Queflion, you may.

Langhorn. No, my Lord, they not accufingme,

I have nothing to fay to them.

Praunce. I heard one Mr. Harcourt fay, that

the King was to be killed by feveral, before one

Mr. Thompfon, twice in his own Chamber in

Duke-Street. And I heard Fenwick fay, that Mr.

Langhorn was to have a great hand in it.

Langhorn. Is that all you have to fay as to

me?
Praunce. It is all that I know of.

Then the Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs came in.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Now, my Lord, we will call

the Evidence, that fhall prove the particular

Matters of the Indictment, as of writing the Let-

ters beyond Sea, of his receiving Commiffions,

of his diftributing them here to the feveral Per-

fons to whom they were directed ; of his folicit-

ing for the Money, the 6000 /. to be raifed by

the Beneditline Monks, which was either for a

particular Purpofe to poifon the King, or to carry

on the Defign in general. And firft we call Dr.

Oates. Who was fworn and food up.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Sir, you hear what the Matter

is, as to Mr. Langhorn, be pleafed to tell the

Court, whether you knew he writ any Letters,

and received any Commiffions ; fpeak your whole

Knowledge.
Oates. I hope your Lordfhip will be pleafed

to give me leave to ufe my own method.

L. C. J. Ay, ay, take your own Way, Mr.
Oates.

Oates. Then I begin thus. In the Month of

April 1677, I went into the Kingdom of Spain:

In the Month of September following, the Sons

of"Mr

.

Langhorn came into the Kingdom of Spain;

It was September, or fooner, but I will not be po-

firi've as to the Time of their coming ; the one

was a Scholar of the Enghfh College at Madrid,

the other was a Scholar of the Englifh College at

Valledolid. They came there to ftudy Philofo-

phy, in order to their receiving of the Fried

-

hood. My Lord, my Occafions called me in-

to England, in the Month of November follow-

ing •, and coming into England, Mr. Langborn's

Sons did give me fome Letters/to Mr. Langhorn
their Father ; and as foon as I had refced myfelf
for a Day or two, after my journey, 1 came to

Mr. Langborn's Houfe in Sheer-lane. Now Mr.
Langborn's Wife being a zealous Proteflant, I did

whifper his Foot-Boy, or his Servant-Boy, in the

Ear, that he fhould go and whifper his Matter,

Mr. Langhorn, and tell him there was one would
fpeak with him from his Sons. Mr. Langhorn,

by his Son, did defire me to meet him at his

Chamber in the Temple, ( in the Inner-Temple-

lane, it was, I think) I know the Chamber,
however ; and accordingly I did meet Mr:
L anghorn that Night, by the means of his Half-

Brother, who is Brother, 1 think, by the Mo-
ther, and not by the Father, his Name is Smith-

foil ; and when 1 came into Mr. Langborn's Cham-
ber, their Chambers being directly oppefite one
to another, I was treated by Mr. Langhorn with

a great deal of Civility, and I delivered Mr.
Langhorn the Letters from his Sons, and I told

him, that I thought his Sons would enter into

the Society : Mr. Langhorn was mightily pleafed

with the News, being himfelf a great Votary for

the Society, that his Sons would enter into it.

Now may it pleafe your Lordfhip, Mr. Lang-
horn did fay, He thought if they did continue in.

the World, that is Secular Priefls, they would
fuddenly have very great Promotion in England ;

for he faid, Things would not laff. long in this

Poiture •, that is, at that Time he then fpoke ; I

fpeak the Words now, that he faid then. And
now, my Lord, I was with Mr. Langhorn ano-

ther Time, while I was in England; but in the

latter end of November, Old Stile, in the begin-

ning of December New Stile, I went to St. Omers,

and there were Letters that he delivered me
(looking upon the Prifoner) a Pacquet to carry to

St. Omers. And when the Pacquet was opened,

there was a Letter, ligned Richard Langhorn^

in which he gave the Fathers at St. Omers great

Thanks, for the great Care had of, and Kind-
nefs they fhewed to, his Sons, and that what they

had been out of Pocket for their Viaticumr, in or-

der to their Journey into Spain, which was 20 /.

he promifed them they fhould be repaid it ; an

in this Letter he did exprefly fay, that he. ha

written to Father Le Chaife in order to our Con-
cerns ; thofe were his Words. Now, my Lord,
the Letter that he writ to Father Le Chaife I faw
not, but only this Letter I faw, which gave an

Account of that Letter he had writ to Father

Le Chaife ; and he faid, Mr. Coleman had been

very large with him, and therefore it would not

be necefiary for him to trouble his Reverence

with any large Epiftles at that Time. My
Lord, there was another Letter, and I think

that was in the Month of March or April, I

cannot be pofitive as to the particular Time,
but it was upon this remarkable Circumflance :

Mr. Langhorn had a Son, that had been in Re-
bellion, and had turned Soldier, or fome fuch

Thing in France, and this Young Gentleman

came to St. Omers, being the Place where he hSd

been



I for High -Treafon. 883
been Educated •, and Mr. Langhom, by the In-

terceffion of the Fathers there, did order him

Five Pounds, to bring him over, into England,

upon Promife of his Son's Submifilon, who had

been very extravagant in feveral refpedfcs. In this

Letter, my Lord, Mr. Langhom did exprefs his

great Care for the carrying on of the Defign of

the Catholicks, and feveral other Expreffions

there were in it bad enough, which I cannot now
call to mind, but they were to this Effect ; The
Parliament began to flag in promoting the Pro-

teftant Religion, and now they had a fair Op-
portunity to begin and give the Blow ; what that

Blow was, I leave to the Court and to the Jury
to expound.

L. C. J. But was that an Expreffion in the

Letter ?

Oates. It was, my Lord : But it was a very

large Letter, I can't give a particular Account

of every Thing in it. My Lord, in the Month
of April, or the beginning of May, your Lord-

fhip remembers there was a Confult that hath

been fworn here in this Court, to which Con-

fult.

L. C. J. Pray fpeak it out.

Oates. There were feveral of us came over

from St. Omers, and from other Parts beyond the

Seas, to this Confult, at which Confult Mr.
Langhom was not prefent ; but I had Orders from

the Provincial, to give Mr. Langhom an Account

of what Refolutions, and Paffages, and Minutes

pafs'd at this Confult ; and this i did as well as I

could, and when I did fo, Mr. Langhom lift up
his Hands and his Eyes, and pray'd to God to

give it good Succefs. My Lord, while I was at

Mr. Langhom*s Chamber, giving this Account,

I faw feveral Parchments lying upon the Table

in his Study.

L. C. J. You had beft tell the Effect of the

Account you gave Mr. Langhom in his Chamber,
that you fpeak of.

Oates. My Lord, I told him who went Pro-

curator to Rome, that was one Father Cary, I told

him what was the Refolve of the Confult con-

cerning the Death of the King.

L. C. J. Did you fo?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, I did : I told Mr.
Langhom that feveral of the Fathers were to be

admonifhed for their irregular Living, as they

termed it : And to this Mr. Langhom did reply,

as near as I can remember, that he found fome
of them did not live up to the Rules of the So-

ciety.

L. C. J. Pray tell us more particularly, what
you told him. And tell us as near as you can,

as you told it him then, the Bufinefs of the Plot

upon the King.

Oates. I told him the Refolve of the Society,

and of that Confult, and what was that which

was refolved, that Pickering and Grove fhould go
on to attempt to affaffinate the King's Perfon,

and what was to be their Reward, the one was
to have, that is Grove, j 500 /. and the other,

that is Pickering, was to have 30,000 Maffes :

He lift up his Hands and Eyes when I told him
this (and I told him more particularly than I can

now remember) and he lift up his Hands and
Eyes, and prayed God that it might have good
Succefs.

L: C. J. Did ycu tell him they had Signed

to this Agreement ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, I told him, that they

had all Signed it.

Vol. II.

Langhom. When was this ?

Oates. It was the latter end of April, or begin-

ning of May.
Langhom. How long after they had Signed the

Confult ?

Oates. A Day or two after.

Langhom. Dr. Oates, Do you know the Day
of the Month ? You have afferted the Day of the

Month formerly, pray do it now.

Mr. yufl. Pemberton. Let him go on ; you fhall

ask him what Queftions you will, by and by.

Oates. My Lord, I faw there aCommiffion for

my Lord Arundel of Wardour, and another to my
Lord Powis ; the one was to be Lord High Chan-
cellor, and the other to be Lord High Treafurer j

there was a Commiffion for my Lord Bella/is, to

be Genera], another for my Lord Petre, to be

Lieutenant- General, and there were other Com-
miffions, of which I cannot remember the parti-

cular Names, but there was a Commiffion for

Coleman to be Secretary of State, and there was a

Commiffion for the Prifoner at the Bar to be Ad-
vocate of the Army.

L. C. y. By what Authority were thofe Com-
millions ?

Oates. They were by Authority derived from
the See of Rome, by Virtue of a Breve from the

Pope, directed to the General of the Society, and

they were Signed IHS, and with the Mark of the

Crofs thro' the 1HS, and they were Signed Jo-
hannes Paulus de Oliva.

L. C. y. North. That is the Jefuits Mark?
Oates. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. y. North. Where did you fee thofe Com-

miffions ?

Oates. In Mr. Langhom*s Study of his Cham-
ber, in the Temple.

L. C y. Where ? Did they lie open, that any
one might fee them ?

Oates. They Jay upon a Corner of his Desk,
folded up.

L. C. y. How came you to fee them ?

Oates. My Lord, if your Lordfhip pleafe, I

will tell your Lordfhip how I came to fee them.

We had Notice they were come, by a Letter

from one Father Anderton, and he called thefe

Commiffions Patents, and, if it pleafe your Lord-
fhip, I did ask Mr. Langhom, whether he had
received them ? He told me, Yes : Then I asked

him, whether he would do me the Favour to let

me fee them ? and becaufe I had been privy to the

Confults, and came to wait upon him by Order
of the Provincial, he did let me fee them.

L. C. y. And you faw them in his Study, up-

on his Desk ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, I did. And particu-

larly one more I can tell of, which his Son was
to deliver to a Son of my Lord Arundel of War-
dour,

L. C. y. How many Commiffions were there?

Oates. I cannot fay, about Seven or Eight, I

think, I did fee, and looked over.

Mr. yufi. Atkins. And you knew what they

were ?

Oates. Yes, for thofe that I faw, that I can

remember.

L. C. y. What was my Lord Powis to be ?

Oates. Lord High Treafurer.

L. C. y. And what my Lord Arundel?

Oates. Lord High Chancellor of England.

L. C. y. And what my Lord Stafford f

5 U 2 Oates,
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Oaks. As to my Lord Stafford, I cannot give

fo crood an Account •, but as I remember, he was

to be a Pay-mafter in the Army, or fome fuch

Office relating to the Army.

L. C. J. North. What was the Prifoner at the

Bar to be ?

Oates. A Judge in the Army, or an Advocate-

General, fo they called toim.

L. C. J. You law mod of thefe?

Gates.' I fa \v feveral of them, mofl of them in

his Cuftody, I cannot fay all : There was more

than for thefe Lords, for other inferior Officers.

L C. J. How many might there be of them,

as near as you can guefs ?

Oates. I think he told me they were about Fifty.

L. C. J. What Number did you fee ?

Oates. I faw about Half a dozen or Eight.

L. C. J. Well, Sir, go on.

Oates. My Lord, I am now to fpeak to your

Lordfhip concerning fome Letters that he wrote

to Rome, and there was

L. C. J. Had you any Difcourfe with him con-

cerning the Matters of any of the Commiffions of

my Lord Bella/is and my Lord Pcwis ?

Oates. No, my Lord •, I had but little Skill

in Military Affairs, and therefore I faid but little,

and I cannot give you an Account, Word for

Word, what the Difcourfe was, for it was out

of my Way. My Lord, there were feveral Letters

which Mr. Langhorn writ to Father Le Chaife,

the Anfwers to which I faw in April and May

;

whereupon the Fathers did defire they might

have the Originals of thofe Copies : He gave

me the Originals to carry to the Fathers, I

think it was that very Day I had been with him

in the Afternoon ; for I was with him in the

Morning ; the Fathers did read the Letters.

L. C. J. From whom came they ?

Oates. From Father Le Chaife, and from Fa-

ther Anderton. And Le Chaife, in his Letter, did

aflure him of his Stedfaftnefs and Conftancy, to

affift the Society for the carrying on the Caufe :

And that they fhould not need doubt, but the

French King would ftand by them, or to that

Purpofe. 1 cannot remember exactly the Words,

but it was to that Effect.

L. C. J. But they were directed to Mr. Lang-

horn ?

Oates. I cannot fwear that directly, but he

gave them me.

L. C. J. Who were Le Chaife and Anderton ?

Oates. The one was Confeffor to the French

King, and the other Rector of the College at

Rome.
Mr. Jufl. Atkins. But you faw thofe in the

Prifoner's Cuftody, you fay ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, 1 did.

L. C. J. He gave them you to deliver to the

Fathers, to Whitebread and the reft of them?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, but I cannot fay who
they were directed to.

L. C. J. But pray repeat what was the Sub-

ftance of that Letter ?

Oates. My Lord, as to the Words of them,

I dare not charge my Memory, but it was to

this Purpofe, that Le Chaife would ftand by the

Englijh Society, and affift them, and that they

fhould not need to doubt the. French King, or to

that Effect.

Mr. Belwood. Do you remember any Letters

that were writ by Mr. Coleman to Le Chaife ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, I remember feveral Let-

ters that Coleman writ, but Mr. Larghorn was not

affected in them.

Mr. Belwood. Did he know of them ?

Oates. He gave an Account, in his Letter to

the Society, That Coleman had writ Letters to

Le Chaife, and was very large, and therefore he
fhould not trouble his Reverence with any long
Epiftles.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What do you know of any
Money that was to be raifed by the Beneditline

Monks?
Oates. I had forgot that.

L. C. J. You fay, that he faid, they fhould
not need to doubt the French, but he would ftand

by them with Men and Money ; For what Pur-
pofe, pray ?

Oates. I'll tell you for what Purpofe it was,
the Words of the Letter did alledge it to be for

carrying on of the Caufe.

Mr. Jufl. Pemberton. You mean the Catholick
Caufe ?

Oates. So it was generally underftood.

L. C. J. But for the other Money, what fay

you ?

Oates. Mr. Langhorn was employed as Solici-

tor for the Jefuits, and did accompany fome of
the Society, Father Harcourt, Father Fenwick,
Father Kaines, and Father Langworth, and they

went and did communicate the Secret to the Be-
nedicline Monks, defiring them to ftand by them
with a Sum of Money for the carrying on the

Defign i. Now, upon Mr. Langhorn's foliciting

them, and appearing for them, as I have heard,

6000 /. was promifed and paid.

L. C. J. By whom promifed and paid?
Oates. By the Benedictine Monks.
L. C.J. To whom ?

Oates. To the Society.

L. C. J. To what Perfon ?

Oates. That I cannot fay ; but it was faid,

Mr. Langhorn was to receive it.

L. C. J. Did you fee the Money paid ?

Oates. No, I did not.

L. C. J. Did you hear Mr. Langhorn confefs

it was paid?

Oates. Mr. Langhorn did fay in the Month of

"July or Augufl, I cannot be pofitive which, but

thereabouts, when he was fpoke to about it, that

he would ftir in it, and do to the utmoft of his

Power for the procuring of it. And another

Thing, I am fure Mr. Langhorn was very much
difgufted, that Sir George TVakeman was not con-

tented with the io,ooo7.

Sir Cr. Levinz. What was the 6000 /. for ?

Oates. It was for the general Caufe.

Sir Cr. Levinz. For the Murder of the King ?

Oates. Yes, and the Alteration of Religion.

L. C. J. North. How did it appear that Mr.
Langhorn was difgufted, that Sir George Wakeman
would not take the 1 0,000 1? And, What was it

for?

Oates. It was to poifon the King. And he faid,

He was a covetous Man ; that was in a publick

Concern ; and that, being it was to carry on the

Caufe, it was no matter if he did it for nothing

:

But he faid he was a Narrow- Spirited, and a

Narrow-Soul'd Phyfician.

L C.J. When was it that he faid he would
ftir for the Money ?

Oates. It was in July, or in Augufl.

Langhorn. My Lord, may I ask him any Que-
ftions ?

Mr.
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Mr. Juft.

Pembe'rion. Yes, yes, Mr. Langhom,

you may.

L. C. J. North. Pray, Mr. Oales, you faw fuch

and fuch Commiffions from the Superior of the

Jefuits, that were figned Johannes Paulus de

Oliva ;
pray will you look upon this, and fee

whether you know it ? {And a Writing under the

Jefuits Seal wasjhewed him.)

Oates. This is the Hand, the very Hand, that

was to the others, and they had put fuch a Seal ;

and that is for Mr. Stapleton, to be Rector of St.

Omers.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Now, my Lord, if you pleafe,

this was not one of thofe Commiffions that Mr.

Langhom did diftribute to the Perfons that were

to have them, no, he would let us have none of

thofe, but it is a Commiffion of another nature,

'tis neither for an Office Civil nor Military, but

Ecclefiaflical, and yet it is under the fame Hand
and Seal.

Langhom. You fay, you came to me, the firft

Time, in November ; and you went to St. Omers,

when, Sir?

Oates. The latter end of November.

Langhom. When arrived you at St. Omers ?

Oates. 1 think it was the 10th of December

New Stile, I will not be pofitive.

L. C. J. All their Defence lies in Catches up-

on a Point of Time, in which no Man living

is able to be pofitive.

Oates. My Lord, if the 26th of November fell

upon a Monday, then it was on the 26th Day that

I fet out for Dover in the Coach, as near as 1 can

remember, and I got to St. Omers a Friday Morn-
ing following.

Langhom. A Friday after, you fay, you got

to St. Omers.

Oates. About that Time.
Langhom. How long did you fray there?

Oates. 'Till April following I ftaid.

Langhom. Without any moving from thence ?

Oates. Only went to Paris, and after that, a

Night or two at Watton, and then came away
in April. My Lord, I defire, if your Lordfhip

pleafe, that Mr. Langhom may ask the Court,

and the Court ask me ; for 1 know the Court

will be fo kind, as to task me fuch Queftions as

are reafonable, and proper for me to anfwer.

Mr. Ju/l. Atkins. That indeed is the regular

Way, for Prifoners fhould not ask the Queftion,

but the Court.

Langhom. Very well, I mall obfervethe Me-
thod, if your Lordfhip pleafe. I defire to know
what Time in April he came back for England.

Oates. I came about the middle of April,

or latter end, I will not be fo pofitive in that, and
I was in England under twenty Days.

Langhom. Can you tell what Day you came in-

to England?
Oates. No, I cannot exactly, but I came in

April, the middle or the latter End.
Langhom. I defire to know who came with

him?
Oates. My Lord, there came a matter of Nine

or Ten of us in all.

L C. J. Name them.

Oates. There was Father Williams, and Father
Mar Jo, the Rector of Lz>£<?, and Sir'John Warner.

Langhom. What is the Rector of Liege's

Name ?

Oates. Warren^ I think ; I cannot tell Names
fo exa&Iy.

Langhom. Go on, Sir, pray*

Oates. I cannot name any more;

Langhom. You have named them all in the

Records of the Lords Houfe.

Oates. Tis like I have. I refer you to than

Langhom. Did Sir 'Thomas Prefton come over

with you ?

Oates. Yes, he did.

Langhom. Did Poole come over with you ?

Oates. Yes.

L. C. J. Look you, Mr. Langhom, we had
all this Matter fpoken of Yefterday, and there

were W itneffes that prove that Sir John Warner,
and Sir Thomas Prefton, were there.

Langhom. I humbly conceive, that was upon
an Iffue tried in another County, by another Ju-
ry, and therefore I hope I do not amifs in urging
what I can fay for my feif to this Jury*

L. C. J. You are not debarred, I only told

you of it. Was Sir Robert Brett there?

Oates. Yes, J think he was, I am hot confi-

dent of that. My Lord, I own what Mr. Lang-
hom can bring to the Court upon Record.

Langhom. 1 only ask it, becaufe he fays fo in

the Houfe of Lords.

Oates. If you can fhew the Record of what I

faid there, do.

Langhom. I do not defire him to name them
now, but to know whether he does now affirm

the truth of what he fwore in the Houfe of
Lords ?

L. C. J. If you can produce, as you may, if

you have been diligent, a Copy of the Record in

the Houfe of Lords, and have it fworn to be a
true Copy of the Records, it will be Evidence for

you, and fhall be read ; but to put him to remem-
ber a Record without Book, muit not be, it would
be hard for him to undertake that.

Langhorm I defire to know how lie came from
Dover ; whether in a Coach, or on Horfeback,
to London ?

Oates. Indeed the Queftion is fo fudden, that I

cannot be pofitive, but as near as I remember, I

came by Coach.

Langhom. I will give my Reafon why I ask
this ; becaufe he hath formerly, upon a Trial in

the King's-Bench, affirmed he came by Coach, inn

the company of Mr. Hiljley.

Oates. No, I did never fay fo ; but I came
over in the Pacquet-Boat, in the company ofMr.
Hiljley ; but when we were come over, Mr. Hil-

jley went out of the Way from us.

Langhom. I defire to know where he lodged,

when he came to Town ?

L. C. J. Where did you lodge the firft Night ?

Oates. I did lie at Mr. Grove's Houfe, when
I came to London in April.

L. C. J. But the firft Night when you came
from Dover, when you came into London in April?

Oates. My Lord, I cannot fay, I lay there the

firft Night ; but my Lodging was provided for

me there.

L. C. J. You are to anfwer as well as you can ;

if you cannot remember it, fay fo. Do you fay

the firft abfolutely, or not?

Oates. My Lord, I cannot remember the

firft Night, but I lay feveral Nights at Mr.
Grove's.

Langhom. Then I ask whether he did gene-

rally lie there, during his Stay ?

Oates. I did lie there fome Nights.

L. C.J.
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L. C. J. How many times did you lie there?

Oates. I believe three or four Nights. I won't

be pollrive as to the Number.
Langhorn. What Day was the Confuk ?

Oates. It was the 24th of April.

Langhorn. What Day did you acquaint me
with it ?

Oates. A Day or two after.

Langhorn. When did he return back to St.

Omers ?

L. C. J. When did you go back ? about what
time ?

Oates. My Lord, I think it was a Week in

May, I cannot be pofitive, but I think that was
the outfide.

L C. J. They faid, Yefterday you affirmed

you (laid but fix Days.

Oates. I do not fay fo, but I fay under 20.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Come, have you any thing

elfe to ask him?
Langhorn. Thofe Letters that he fpeaks of, I

defire to know whether he faw me write them ?

L. C. J. Thofe Letters you fpeak of, did you
fee him write them ?

Oates. I did not fee him write them, but I am
fure they were his Letters, becaufe I know his

Hand.
L. C. J. How did you come to know his

Hand, fince you did not fee him write them ?

Oates. 1 faw the Letter whereby he ordered

Money to be paid, 5 /. to his Son. And I faw

the Money paid to his Son, by that Order.

Langhorn. Do you know that le Chaife, and
Anderton, writ to me ?

Oates. I do not fay that they writ to him, but

he had Letters fubfcribed by their Names, and
they were faid by him to come from them, and
thev were to be communicated to the Priefts and
Jefuits ; and he delivered them to me to that

end.

Langhorn. When you returned to St. Omers,
how long did you flay there ?

Oates. Till 23d June, New Stile, which is the

13th Old Stile.

Langhorn. I remember he profefied himfelf a

Roman Catholick, I fee he is a Minifter : I de-

fire to know of him when he left the Proteftant

Religion, and became a Convert, as he called

himfelf; call it what you will, when he left being

a Proteftant, and became a Papift, that is it I

mean ?

Oates. He does it for nothing but to quarrel.

L. C. J. When did you leave the Church of

England ?

Oates. My Lord, if it be the Pleafure of the

Bench to ask me this Queftion

L. C. J. You ought to anfwer it, though it be

nothing to the purpofe.

Oates. Then I anfwer it was either in February

ox March, 16 y^-.

Langhorn. My Lord, I defire to know whe-
ther he had any Benefice ?

Oates. Yes, I was fometime Vicar of Bobbing
> in Kent : But I fuppofe this is to make mc
accufe my felf of fomething, whereby I might
forfeit my Living : for, my Lord, I have a Right
in a point of Equity ftill to that Living, but only

for going beyond Sea without leave of my Ordi-

nary, I am not now Vicar of

langhorn. When did you come to your Vica-

rage ?

Oates. In 16*7 2.

Langhorn. You became a Papift: in 1677. I

ask this Queftion, Whether he did leave his Liv-

ing before he turned Papift ?

Oates. My Lord, I am not willing to anfwer

that Queftion.

L.C.J, When did you leave your Living ?

Did you leave it before you went away ?

Oates; It was not very long before ; but the

Reafon why I am not willing to tell, is, When
I left the Parifh, I left it in the Charge of Mr.
Thomas Turner, Vicar of Milton, and I did go
near about Chichejler, and ferved a Sequeftration

there. The Air was not a good Air in that part

of Kent, and I had not my Health ; and that was

one Reafon, and for other Reafons beft known to

my felf.

Langhorn. After he became a Papift, I defire

to know whether he became a Jefuit ? Were you
in any Order there ?

L. C. J. Mr. Langhorn, it is not a proper

Queftion, we ought not to ask it him : You are

a Man of the Law, and therefore you know it

is not fair to ask any Perfon a Queftion about a

criminal Matter that may bring himfelf in danger.

Langhorn. I take him to be out of danger, he

hath his Pardon.

L. C. J. I don't know what his Pardon is, nor

how far it reaches, nor whether this be contained

in it-, but if Mr. Oates pleafes to anfwer that

Queftion, he may.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Tho' he hath his Pardon, he

may be in danger of Ecclefiaftical Cenfure;

L. C. J. He fays, he will not.

Langhorn. I'll give you another Reafon why I

ask it, becaufe in one of his Narratives he feems

to call himfelf fo ; he fays, There came over Nine

of us, all Jefuits, I fuppofe him to be ore ofthat

Order ; this I took to be a Ground why I might
properly call him fo.

L. C. J. Narratives are no Evidence at all.

Langhorn. But that gave me an Occafion to

ask the Queftion.

Oates. I cannot anfwer it, becaufe it tends ra-

ther to raife a Debate in the Court, than conduces

to the Queftion, to acquit or condemn the Prifo-

ner.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You are not bound to

anfwer it.

L. C. J. He tells you, he is not bound by Law
to anfwer, and he refufes to anfwer.

Langhorn. I defire to know, whether he ever

faw me, or converfed with me, from the time he

acquainted me with the Confult, and faw the

Commiffions in my Chamber ?

L. C. J. How often did you converfe with

Mr. Langhorn ?

Oates. After I returned again in July and Au-

guft, once or twice.

L. C. J. How often in April and May ?

Oates. Twice, I think, about the time of the

Confult.

L. C. J. And when you came over again, how
often ?

Oates. Twice more, I think ; twice or thrice.

L. C. J. So then, he hath been four or five

times in your Company.
Oates. He would not let me come to his

Houfe, for he ufed to fay, his Wife was but

Aums-ace turned from a Devil •, and therefore he

would not have me come thither.

Langhorn. I hope he will not go out of the

Court.

L. C. J.
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L. C. J. No, he will ftay here, but you have

done with him at prefent, have you not?

Langhom. Yes, my Lord, I have.

SirCr, Levinz. Swear Mr. Bedlow. \_l-Vhich

was done.l

L. C. J. Mr. Bedlow, I ask you but one fhort

Queftion', becaufe I would not interrupt you af-

terwards, That Paper that you faw Signed by the

Superior of the Jefuits, where had you it?

•Bedlow. I had it at Mr. Daniel Arthur's.

Langhom. What is that ?

L. C. J. It is an Inftrument Signed and Sealed,

juft as the things were, which Mr. Oates fays he

faw in your Chamber.

L. C. y. North. And befides you muft take

notice, that this was found a long time after

Mr. Oates hid given hisTeftimony publickly, for

his Clofet was not fearched till a great while

after.

L. C. y. It is to fhew you what Seals they ufed

to have to their Commiffions. Mr. Oates defcribes

feveral Commiffions that he faw in your Study,

fo Sealed and Subfcribed ; and after the fearching

-Mr. Arthur's Study, being a Papift, that Com-
miffion is found there. Now tho' it be a thing

of a private Concern, a Church matter, not re-

lating to the Matters in Queftion, yet this very

'CommhTion is fo fubferibed, and fo figncd and

fealed, as Mr. Oates had defcribed thofe to be be-

fore in your Chamber.

•Bedlow. Becaufe it was exactly the Hand and

Seal that I faw to the Commiffions in Paris, I

did take particular notice of the Paper, and

brought it to the Council.

L. C. y. Well Sir, now go on with your Evi-

dence.

Bedlow. Firft, my Lord, I'll only ask this

Queftion of the Court, whether a known Roman
Catholick may take Notes of the Evidence in fuch

a Caufe ?

L. C. y. Truly no, 1 think not.

Bedlow. There is an Honourable Lady in that

Gallery, the Lady Marchionefs of IVinchefler, that

hath took Notes all this Trial.

L. C. y. She will do herfclf, nor no body elfe

'any great hurt, by what fhe writes.

Bedlow. I only fpeak it for the Information of

the Court.

L. C. y. A Woman's Notes will not fignify

much truly, no more than her Tongue.
Bedlow. My Lord, about three Years fince, I

was fent by Mr. Harcourt, and Mr. Coleman, to

Le Chaife, with fome Letters for the carrying on

of this Defign: With thefe Letters, Mr. Cole-

man asked me, if I could go with him as far as

the 'Temple. 1 have no particular Acquaintance

with Mr. Langhom, I was but twice at his

Chamber, once with Mr. Harcourt, and once

with Mr. Coleman. I waited upon Mr. Coleman

to Mr. Langhom's Chamber in the Temple : There

did he Regifter fuch Letters as Mr. Coleman

brought to him, and afterwards Mr. Coleman

fealed them up, and gave them me to carry to Le
Chaife.

L. C. y. How do
.
you fay ? when you went

with Mr. Coleman to *Mr. -Langhom's Chamber,
were the Letters there ?

Bedlow. The Letters were writ firft at Cole-

'mail's Houfe, and brought Open by Coleman to

Mr. Langhom, and he read them and Regiftred

them, and then Coleman fealed them up, and

gave them me to carry away.

Langhom. What Letters were thefe ?

L. C. y. Do you know what the Effect of
thofe Letters were ?

Bedlow. The Letters were read fome of them
at the Kings-Bench Bar, at Coleman's Trial : There
was one of them writ by Mr. Harcourt, another
by Mr. Coleman, to Le Chaife.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What was the Effect of
them ?

Bedlow. Only to let Le Chaife know, that they
waited only now for his Anfwer, how far he had
proceeded with the French King, for the fending
of Money; for they only wanted Money, all

other things were in readinefs. That the Gatho-
licks of England were in Mtty, had made all

Places, and all Offices, to be difpofed of to Ca-
tholicks, or fuch as they thought would be fo';

that all Garrifons Were either in their own Hands,
or ready to be put into them ; that they had fo

fair an Opportunity, (as I remember that was one
of the Expreffions in the Letter to Father Staple-
ton) that they had fo fair an Opportunity, having
a King fo eafy to believe what is dictated to him
by our Party, that if we flip this Opportunity,
we muft defpair of ever introducing Popery into
England ; for having a King of England fo eafy,

and the French King fo powerful, they muft not
mifs fuch an Opportunity.

L. C. y. For what ?

Bedlow. To fend over Money for the carrying
on of the Caufe, for they only wanted that, all

elfe was in readinefs : And the other Letters were
to the fame Effect, tho' in other Words. That
Letter was in Englijh, but the Letters to Le Chaife,

and the Nuncio, were both in French.

L. C. y. But you underftand French, don't
you ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C. y. Did he Copy them out, while you
were there by ?

Bedlow. He Regiftred them before me.
L. C.y. Did he write them into a Book? and

were you there all that time?
Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, 1 and Coleman walked

in the Chamber, whiift he went in and writ,

as he did other things ; for he Regiftred all their

Accompts : There was not a Penny of Money
either received or laid out, nor any thing 'done

almoft in relation to this Concern, but he did
keep a Regifter of it : I cannot fay, that ever he
did talk any thing before me of the King's Death
particularly, but talked of the whole Defign. A-
bout a Year and a half fince, Mr, Harcourt fent

another Pacquet of'Letters by me to Mr. Langhom
to be Regiftred ; he looked ftrangely upon me,
and received the Letter, and fent an Anfwer to

Mr. Harcourt, that Mr. Williams ( for I went then

under the Name of Captain PF'iflidms) had deli-

vered him fuch Letters, and that he lhoui'd have
them again to-morrow, after he had Copied
them, and Regiftred them. Mr. Harcourt read

the Letter of Anfwer to me, and in the Let-

ter it was Mr. JVilliams. Said I to Mr. Har-
court, I thought I might have been Regiftred by
my right Name, becaufe when any thing mould
take effect and occafion ferve, I refolved to bear

my own Name. Alas, fays he, this does not

fignify any thing at all, for as for this Regifter,

it is not fo confiderable : there Jfha.Il be a New
Regifter made, of things of weight and mo-
ment, this is only a blind Regifter amongft our

felves. The two Letters that I brought from
Har-
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Harcourt, there was one of them from Sir Wil-

liam Godoiphin, that I had brought before from

Spain.

L. C. J. Who was that directed to ?

Becllcw. To my Lord Bella/is ; and about three

Weeks after it was that I was fent to Mr. Lang-

hern to have it Regiftred ; the other was from

the Irifli College of Jefuits in Salamanca. The
Letter from the Rector did fpecify, that they

would have my Lord Bellafis, and the reft of the

Lords that were concerned, and the reft of the

Party in England, to be in Readinefs, and to have

this communicated with all Expedition ; for now
they had provided in Spain, under the Notion of

Pilgrims for St. Jago, fome Irifh cafhier'd Sol-

diers, that had left their Country, fome for Reli-

gion, and fome for their Crimes, and a great

many Lay-Brothers, whom they procured and

gathered together under the Notion of Pilgrims,

to be ready to take Shipping at the Groine, to

land at Milford-Haven, there to meet my Lord
Powis, and an Army that he was to raife in Wales

to further this Delign. And thefe Letters faid

they had almoft brought it to a Period, that they

did only expect a Return from England, to (hew

in what Readinefs they were here, that accordingly

they might proceed.

L. C. J. Did Mr. Langhorn fee thefe Letters ?

Bedlow. He took thefe Letters from me, and

told me Mr. Harcourt fhould have them again,

when he had tranferibed them •, and writ a Letter

to Mr. Harcourt, that Mr. Williams had brought

him fuch Letters.

L. C. J. And he did tranferibe them ?

Bedlow. I fuppofe fo, for he afterwards fent

them back to Mr. Harcourt.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Was it a good large Book
that he regiftred them in ?

Bedlow. I know not what Book he regiftred

them in, not thofe Letters.

Langhorn. It is a proper Queftion, becaufe he

faid I regiftred thole Letters before him.

Bedlow. I fay, 1 faw him in his Study tran-

feribe Coleman's Letter, whilft Coleman and I walk-

ed in his Chamber.

L. C. J. Into what kind of Book did he Re-
gifter that ? Had he more Books than one,

pray ?

Bedlow. My Lord, I cannot tell that, I judge

it might be the fame Book. I faw the Book then,

it was a large Parchment Book ; but I did not fee

it when Harcourt's Letters were Regiftred. When
Coleman and I came thither, he went into his

Study, and left us in the Chamber, I faw him
tranferibing the Papers that lay before him : but

when I brought thofe Letters from Mr. Harcourt,

I only delivered them fealed up, and his An-
fwer to Father Harcourt was, that Mr. Williams

had brought him fo many Letters, and he fhould

have them again as foon as he had tranferibed

them.

L. C. y. Mr. Langhorn, you would do well to

fhew us the Book, and that would make the

Matter plain.

L. C.y. North. Could you fee how far he had

gone in the Book, and what Room there was left

to write other Letters ?

Bedlow. It was a Book at leaft three Inches

thick, and as near as I could guefs, he had gotten

through two Thirds of the Book.
L C. y. But you fhould fhew us your Book,

Mr. Langhorn.

Langhorn. I fay, my Lord, if I had fuch a Book,

it muft needs be found in my Study ; if I had it,

it muft be there, for I never removed it.

L. C. y. That was not a Book fit to be left

there.

Bedlow. My Lord, Pritchard did tell me, that

the Commiffions were come, and that Mr, Lang-

horn had them, and things, fays he, are now in

a Readinefs. Then faid I, When fhall I have

my Commiffion ? Said he, thofe that Mr. Lang-

horn hath are only for the General Officers

;

you muft have yours, faid he, from my Lord Bel-

lafis.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Do you know any thing of any

Money that was to be railed by the Beneditline

Monks ; 6000 /. or what other Sum ?

Bedlow. My Lord, in May 1676, among the

Letters I carried to Le Chaife, one of them was
directed to Stapleton a Beneditline Monk, to raife

the Money for England.

L. C. f. The Money, what Money ?

Bedlow. The Money they had promifed to re-

mit into England.

L. C. y. But did they name no Sum ?

Bedlow. No, my Lord, for they had no pap-

ticular Promife, but only that they did make it

their Bufinefs to raife what they could.

L. C. y. And what was it ? Do you know
of any Sum of Money that was railed, and by
whom ?

Bedlow. Le Chaife told me himfelf, that they

had no Reafon to fufpect him or his Intereft with,

the French King, for he had laid that fure enough.

And that when he found a fit Opportunity, the

Money was ready to be remitted into England,

and that he had remitted fome of it already to

Mr. Coleman and Ireland.

L. C. y. You know not but by whati> Chaife

told you?
Bedlow. No.
L. C. y. He fpeaks what Le Chaife told him,

that he would raife Money, and that he had fent

fome to Mr. Coleman and Ireland.

Bedlow. Yes, and that the reft fhould follow

when he found there was abfolute Occafion ; but

he would not part with his Money till they had

Affurance of their being in readinefs here, and

likely to further and carry on the Defign.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Mr. Bedlow, had you any

Difcourfe with the Prifoner about any Comifr

fions ?

Bedlow. No, my Lord, 'tis at leaft a Year and

a half fince I faw him.

L. C. J. Did he ever own any Commiffions

he had ?

Bedlow. No, Pritchard told me he had fome.

L. C. y. You have feen the Commiffions, have

you not ?

Bedlow. No, I never faw any in Mr. Lang-
horn's Hand.

L. C. y. Where did you fee them then ?

Bedlow. Sir Henry 'Tichbourne did fhew me three

Commiffions in Paris, Signed by the General of

the Order, and Sealed with the Jefuits Seal,

which made me take up this Paper, which hath

been fhewn, tho' it were a thing indifferent, yet

becaufe it was written with the fame Hand, and

Sealed with the fame Seal that the Commiffions

were that I faw at Paris.

Mr. Belwood. Did Mr. Langhorn know any
thing of the Treafon to murder the King, by

Pickering and Grove ?

Bedlow.
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Bedlow. That I do know only by Report; but

when Grove, Pickering, and Conyers were going to

New-Market, I was at Harcourfs, Chamber, and

I had a Defign to go to Windfor, to obferve what

they did ; and I did ask Father Harcourt to give

me leave to go fee a Friend of mine take Shipping

at Plymouth, to fend fome Commendations by him

to my Friends in Italy ; then fays Father Harcourt,

you cannot be fpared, you muft not go now, for

we don't know what Return thefe Gentlemen will

make of their Journey, and what Occafion there

may be for you, if there fhould be any good Ef-

fect of it : Then, faid I, I will go and write, and

fend it by a Friend down to be fcnt into Italy : But,

faid he, you muft ftay a while till I come back a-

gain ; / a?n going to Mr. LanghornV Chamber in

the Temple, to take the Minutes of what they have

done this Morning. That was the Contrivance of

fending down thofe People to New-Market to

Affaffwate the King.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. That is no Evidence againft

the Prifoner, becaufe it is by Hear-fay.

L. C. J. It is right, and the Jury ought to take

notice, That what another Man faid is no Evi-

dence againft the Prifoner, for nothing will be

Evidence againft him, but what is of his own
Knowledge. But I defire, Mr. Bedlow, as well

as you can, you would repeat the Effect of one

of the moft material Letters Mr. Langhorn did

tranfcribe.

Bedlozv. Tho' I was not fo exact a Frenchman,

in the Nicety of the Tongue, yet I underftood e-

nough to learn the Senfe of thofe Letters. The
Englifh Letter from Stapleton, which he tranferi-

bed, was to this Effect ; That Coleman and Har-
court, naming themlelves We, (that is, We and
the Jefuits, and it was to the Rector of the Englifh

Monks in particular, but 1 miffed of the Rector,

and Mr. Stapleton receiv'd it
;
) I fay, the Effect

of that Letter was, they would have a certain

Anfwer from them
Langhorn, When was it ?

Bedlow. It was in 76.

L. C. J. What was the Effect, fay you ?

Bedlow. The Effect was, that they would have

a final Anfwer from thofe Religious at Doway and
Paris, to know how far they had proceeded with

the Englifh Religious, and all their Friends be-

yond Sea, in making Collections, and remitting

of Money, for there was only Money wanting

;

for the Arms of the Catholicks were all ready,

and they had all a good Mind to the Bufinefs,

their Arms and Hearts were ready, and the Ea-
finefs of the King of England, and the Strength

of the Power of France, made it an Opportunity
not to be neglected : That the Garrifons were
ready to be put into fuch Hands as they could

truft.

L. C. J. Was there fuch an Expreffion in the

Letter, upon your Oath, that they had fuch Arms,
and that the Garrifons were ready to be put into

their Hands, and whofe Hands they were ready to

be put into ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, there were fuch Ex-
preffions, and they would have the Garrifons on-
ly in fuch Hands as they could truft.

L. C. J. And did he tranfcribe thofe Letters ?

Bedlow. He did tranfcribe thofe three while we
were in his Chamber.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. Was there any mention
of exciting the French King, by Power, to In-
vade this Kingdom?
Vol. II.

Bedlow. There was in the French Letter to

Monfieur Le Chaife, which he tranferibed too.

Langhorn. That was in French^ he fays.

L. C. y. I fuppofe you underftand French too,

or elfe you could not do what you did.

Langhorn. I underftand Law French.

L. C. y. Mr. Bedlow, did you never hear him
difcourfe in French ?

Bedlow. No, my Lord.

Oates. I cannot write nor read French, but I

can tranflate it.

Mr. Recorder. If you have any Queftions to

ask him, you may ask him.

Langhorn. How many were the Letters that

then I tranferibed ?

Bedlow. There were three, my Lord, one was
to the Englifh Monks at Paris, another was to

Monfieur Le Chaife, another to the Pope's Nun-
cio.

Langhorn. Were they long or fhort ones ? I

ask for this Reafon, becaufe I obferve that in the

Narrative, Coleman's Letters are very long ; of
what Length might they be ?

Bedlow They were the beft part of Half a

Sheet of Paper, for Mr. Coleman writ a curious

fine fmall Hand, and would put a great deal of
Bufinefs into a little Paper ; the Pope's Nuncio's
Letter was very fhort.

L. C. y. Did he tranfcribe them all before you
went away ?

Bedlow. Whilft we walked in his Chamber, he
Regiftred them : We took a great many Turns
about in the Chamber, and I faw the Papers be-

fore him, and his Book.

Langhorn. Did thofe Letters exprefs what the

Money was to be raifed for, or did they leave it

to be underftood? My Meaning, my Lord, of
my Queftion, is this, whether Mr. Coleman writ
to him to haften the Money, and faid it was for

fuch a particular Ufe, or only in general.

L. C. y. He hath anfwered it already, but he
will do it again.

Bedlow. My Lord, tho' it was not expreffed

in the Letter, but only we want nothing elfe

from beyond Sea, but your Affiftance ; tho' it

was not expreffed in the Letter to deftroy the

King and the Proteftant Religion, yet the full

of the Difcourfe betwixt Mr. Coleman and Mr.
Langhorn, was to this Effect : We only ftay for

Money, when we have got that, we will put our
felves into a Pofture.

L. C. y. If you obferved it, he faid fo before,

when we asked him what the Effect of thofe Let-
ters was, that all Things were ready, it is a good
Opportunity now for the effecting of our Defign,
having fo eafy a King to deal with, and your
King having fo powerful a Treafury ; do you
but get the Money of him, and we fhall do well

enough.

Bedlow. Tho' it was not fpecified in the Let-
ters, what the Money was for, yet in the Dif-

courfe between Mr. Coleman and Mr. Langhorn,

it was Worded fo, that it was plain it was
to deftroy the Government, and introduce Po-
pery.

Langhorn. My Lord, ask whether this be all

that he charges upon me ?

Bedlow. 1 cannot fay that, my Lord, that this

is all I have to fay againft him •, Things may
occur to my Memory hereafter, which do not

now.

5 X L. C. 7,
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L. C. J. But at this Time you remember no

more, do you?
Bedlow. No.
Mr. Jujl. Atkins. But, to my Apprehenfion,

what you faid laft was moft material, that is, the

Difcourfe between him and Mr. Coleman, for

that rivets the whole. When he faid, that if we

had but a Return of this Money, then we have

made ourfelves fafe, or Words to that Effect ; but

it was to the full meaning of this, that the Pro-

teftant Religion could not ftand any longer here,

having Affiftance from France.

L. C. J. So they confulted together after the

Letters were tranfcribed, did they ?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord.

Oates. My Lord, I omitted one Thing that

was very material in my Evidence, which comes

in my Mind fince. The Congregation at Rome
did contribute 800000 Crowns, to be fent into

England, and Mr. Langhorn did enquire concern-

ing that Money, and had Knowledge of the Re-

ceipt of it in France, as Mr. Langhorn did fay,

in the Month of July, or Jugufi.

L.C.J. Did he fay it to you ?

Oates. He did to Father Harcourt, Father Kaines,

and Father Fenwick, that were there, 800000

Crowns come to France.

L. C.J. What faid he then concerning the

800000 Crowns ?

Oates. He gave an Account of the Money's

being lodg'd at Paris.

L. C. J. You hear what he fays, that you

gave an Account of 800000 Crowns that were

raifed abroad, that it was lodg'd and receiv'd at

Paris.

Bedlow. I recollect fomething more now, tho'

I was not in Mr. Langborn's Chamber. I met with

Father Kaines, one Day, and faid he, I muft go

and fpeak with one Mr. Langhorn, prefently ; and

when he came out again, he brought a Letter

in his Hand, and afterwards we went to a To-
bacco-Shop in Wild- Street, and there Father

Kaines told me the Effect of the Letter. He
told me, it was a Chiding Letter from the Se-

cretary de propaganda fde9 Cardinal Barbarino,

who had fent a Chiding Letter to Mr. Lang-

horn, and the reft of the Confpirators, for going

on no fafter, when they had fo fair an Opportu-

nity.

L. C. J. Did you fee the Letter directed to

Mr. Langhorn ?

Bedlow. Father Kaines told me the Effects of it,

and he had the Letter from Mr. Langhorn.

L. C. J. He told you fo ; well, but this Evi-

dence is as to the Plot in general, but not to

Mr. Langhorn in particular. But that which he

charges you particularly with, is this, Your
Tranfcribing the Letters, wherein there was an

Expreffion made, of your being all in Readinefs,

as for Arms and the Garrifons ; and your Dif-

courfe afterwards with Mr. Coleman, in what a

Pofture all Things were for the Deftruction of

the Government, and the bringing in Popery,

and there wanted nothing but Money, for

the effecting the whole Defign. This is that he

fays.

Langhorn. My Lord, I fuppofe he won't go
out of the Court neither ?

L. C. J. No, no, he will ftay here.

Sir Cr. Levinz. My Lord, there is one Wit-

nefs that he had not ready here, when we began

to give fome Account of the General Plot, I

pray he may be Examined ; his Name is Bufs.

[ Who was Sworn.']

L. C.J. What can you fay of any Defign up-
on the King's Life? What is your Name ?

Bufs. My Name is Thomas Bufs.

L. C. J. What Profeffion are you of?

Bufs. I ferve the Duke of Monmouth.

L. C. J. In what Capacity do you ferve him ?

Bufs, I am his Cook.
L. C. J. How long have you ferved him ?

Bufs. Thirteen Years I have lived with him.
L. C. J. Well, what is it you have to fay ?

Bufs. Being at Windfor, my Lord, with an
old Acquaintance of mine, one Handkinfon that
was then newly come from Italy ,

L. C. J. When was this ?

Bufs. In September laft, within a Week after

the Duke came from Flanders, and we were drink-
ing together, for I had not feen him for many
Years before, and there was one Anthony was in

the Company, and faid he, I am newly come
from Italy, and I am going again, and I am come
to take my Leave of my Friends. When do you
go away, faid I ? I believe I go to-morrow, faid

he ; but pray, faid he to Anthony, have a fpecial

Care of thofe four worthy Gentlemen. What
Gentlemen, faid I ? Four worthy Gentlemen,
faid he, that I brought over with me. What,
faid I, from Italy ? No, faid he, they are four
worthy Irifh Gentlemen : They are very worthy
Perfons, faid he, have a fpecial Care of them,
for they will do our Bufinefs.

L. C. J. What faid you to that?

Bufs. Nothing ; for I knew nothing of it, til!

I faw Coleman1

% Trial, where it fpeaks of the four

Irifh Men that were to kill the King at Wind/or,

then I bethought me of it.

L. C. J. Would you not ask him what that

Bufinefs was, or fo ?

Bufs. No, I did not know at that Time.
L. C. J. But no Man in England but would

have asked fuch a Queftion.

Bufs. No, he faid they were four Strangers :

But faid I, did you bring them out of Italy ? No,
faith he, they are four Irifh Gentlemen, that I

brought over with me, worthy Perfons.

L. C. J. North. And what Religion was he of
that faid fo ?

Bufs. He was a Catholick, one that bought
all into a College, that did fo here before he
went.

Praunce. He belonged to the BeneditJineMonks,

my Lord, in the Savoy.

L. C. J, And what was he that he fpoke to ?

Bufs. He was a Catholick too, he was Servant

to one that belongs to the Queen's Chapel.

L. C. J. North. Did you underftand what the

Bufinefs was they faid they were to do ?

Bufs. Not till I read Mr. Coleman's Trial, and
then I did guefs thefe were the Perfons that were

to have killed the King at Windfor.

L. C. J. You faw them not, did you ?

Bufs. No ; they were in charge of this An-
thony, that is now in fome Place in the Queen's

Chapel.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Did he fpeak to Anthony to

have a Care of them, or to you ?

Bufs. To Anthony, he was the Perfon that was
to take care of them.

L. C. J. Is Anthony a Papift ?

Bufs. Yes, a very ftrong Papift, and we ufed

to be often together •, but now he is jealous, and

will
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will not come near me, to talk with me, as we

ufed to do.

L. C. J. Now I underftand the Reafdn of it,

why he did not ask the Queftion ; it was not like-

ly he fhould, for it was not Ipoken to him, but

he flood by, all the while the Difcourfe was to

Anthony, another Man, and it was to him that

he fpoke, to have a care of the four Irijh Men,

for they would do their Bufinefs. What did An-

thony fay ?

Bufs. He promifed he would have as much

care of them , as ot his own Lite.

L. C. J. Where is this Anthony to be found?

Bedlow. My Lord, Anthony is a Portuguefe, and

the Queen's Confeflbr's Man.

L. C. J. When did you fee him ?

Bedlow. He was feen this iVlorning, they call

him Signior Antonio.

L. C. J. North. You mould have an Order

to take this fame Anthony into Cuftody, but in

order to the finding of him, Jet him go to my
Lord Offory.

L. C. J. Mr. tijfer, we give you an Order for

the taking of this Signior Antonio, you will find

him at Somerfet-Houfe; for the doing ot thi«, we

do advife you to wait upon m\ Lord OJfory, and

tell him, that you have fuch an Order, but that

out of Reverence to the Queen, we have alfo or-

dered you to wait upon him, to defire him to

fend him.

L. C. y. North. What is become of this Han-

Mnfon ?

Bufs. He is abroad, beyond the Seas, my Lord,

for he faid he was come thither to take leave of his

Friends, and was to go the next Morning into

Surrey, and fo away.

L. C. y. Well, what have you now to fay,

Mr. Langhorn ?

Langhom. I conceive this laft Witnefs fays no»

thing to me.

L. C. y. North. He fpeaks only to the Plot in

general, as the firft Witneffes did ; but that which

is upon you, is as to Mr. Oates, who fpeaks to

every Article of the Indictment exprefly ; and

Mr. Bedlow fays, he did not only fee you Tran-

fcribe and Copy out that Treafonable Letter, but

he carried other Letters to you, which you pro-

mifed to Tranfcribe ; and thefe are Overt-acts, that

make you a Party to the Treafon.

L. C. y. Befides your Difcourfe with Coleman,

after the Letters were Tranfcribed.

Langhorn. Thefe two Gentlemen were Parties

in this fuppofed Crime ; the two Witneffes which

do concern me, are Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow,

and they both of them clearly appear to have been

in the fame Treafon that I fuppofe they charge me
with; I defire to know whether they have had

their Pardon, or no ?

L. C. y. I believe they have. Mr. Oates, and

Mr. Bedlow, have you your Pardons?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord, I have three.

Oates. I have two Pardons under the Broad-

Seal, but I don't know what is in them.

L. C. y North. But make your Objection how
you will ; whether they had, or whether they had

not, they are Witneffes.

Bedlow. I never gave any Evidence, till I had

my Pardon.

Langhorn. I ask for this Reafon ; I look upon

your Lordfhip and the Court as my Counfel, to

advife me in Matters of Law, whether thefe be

good Witneffes, or not?

Vol, II.

L. C. J. We do tell you, That if we had not

judged them to be Witneffes, we would not have
heard them.

Langhorn. They come under the fame Reafon
of Law with an Approver, having had their Par-
don ; I don't fay they are directly Approvers,
but I conceive they come under the fame Rea-
fon of Law with them ; and then if the Appro-
ver be pardoned, by the Law the Appellee ought
to be difcharged ; and methinks by the fame Rea-
fon, thefe Men having been participes Crimints,

and having got their Pardons, ought not to be
fuch fubftantial Witneffes againft the Prifoner at

the Bar. But, my Lord, I have one Thing yet
further to ask, I defire to know whether they
have not received any Rewards or Gratifications;,

for the Difcovery they have made, and the Ser-

vice they have done? And whether they do noc
expect further Rewards ?

L. C. y. Is there any Allowance to be made to

you?
Oates. I have received a Reward, by disbuf-

fing 6 or 700/. out of my Pocket, and 1 don'£

know when I fhall fee it again.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Langhorn does fup-

pofe that the Witneffes are corrupted and bribed ;

Do vou think, Mr. Lmghorn, that the King will

Bribe his Witneffes?

Langhorn. My Lord, I only propofe it as a
Queftion.

L. C. J. Would you anfwer that Queftion your
felt?

L. C. y. North. If you can fuppofe there Was
a'ny Subornation or Corruption, call your Wit-
neffes, and prove it; but for their receiving

Suftenance and Maintenance from the King, that

is but reafonable, andean be no Objection. And
you your felt know, that an Approver, while he

is in that Service, hath a Penny a Day, Which

in ancient Times was a great Matter for Live-

lihood and Suftenance; fo that any Reward
that they have, if you cannot prove it by Con-
tract or Subornation, you cannot make an Ob-
jection.

Langhorn. My Lord, I am informed by a

Prifoner in the Goal, that Mr. Bedlow hath re-

ceived 500/.

L. C. y. If you can prove any thing do, prove
what you can.

Mr. Recorder. That 500 /. was about a parti-

cular Fact.

L. C. y. But pray, what is his Name?
Langhorn. His Name is Mr. Reading.

L. C. J. North. He is an infamous Perfon, he
hath flood in the Pillory, we can't take him for

1

a Witnefs; but now I'll tell you, for the 500/.
'tis a Thing we all know of. It was a Reward
for a particular Bufinefs, not relating to the Plot,

but it was for the Difcovery of the Murderers of
Sir Edmundbury Godfrey.

Mr Juft. Atkins. I think Mr. Praunce is here,

that will give an Account of that, for Bedlow dif-

covered him.

Bedlow. I am fo far from having any Bene-

fit by this Difcovery, that I am 700/. out of

Pocket.

Mr. Juft. Lilys. You fhall have the Liberty to

make what good Defence you can for your felf,

and prove what you can j you muft not go this

way to work.

L. C. 7- 'Tis pretty reafonable for us to give

a publick Satisfaction to all the World, that we
5X2 do
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do nothing under- hand, but that we do in this

Cafe, as in all other Cafes ; any thing that is fit

to be anfwered, they fhall anfwer, and perchance

in this Cafe ibmething more than can be ftrictly

required of us. 'Tis notorious enough, that

Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow have been fed at the

King's Charge, and it cannot be objected againft

them, and need not be winked at, for they were

Parties in the Plot. And when they come to

make the Difcovery, without which we mould
never have known the Plot, for you know 'tis

hard to difcover any Crime, Forgery, or the

Jike, but by one that hath been privy to it, and

a guilty Perfon *, yet thefe Men always have been,

and are in Law, WitnefTes, and 'tis juft they

fhould have a Competency to maintain them,

fince they came for the Publick Good to make fuch

Difcoveries,

L. C. J. North. And that particular Sum of

Money was paid to Mr. Bedlow, in purfuance of

the King's Proclamation, which we all know,
which was all publickly done.

Langhorn. The Reafon why I prefs this, was,

becaufe of the Proclamation, which was to in-

vite Perfons to come, touching the Difcovery of

this Plot ; and to encourage them to it by a Pro-

mife of Reward. I think it may be reafonable

enough, where any Perfon that is charged with

a Crime doth abfent, to propofe a Reward for

the bringing him in. But I think it is hard, that

when a Prifoner is in Cuftody, Witnefles fhould

be brought in againft him by fueh Means.

L. C. J. North. You do artificially go offfrom

the Point : Anfwer the Evidence that hath been

given againft you, and you fhall be heard ; but

you labour very much, and trouble your felf to

make Anfwer to another Matter that is not perti-

nent.

L. C. J. Does your Defence confift wholly of

this Sort of Matter, objecting the Incompetency

of the WitnefTes? Can you make no Anfwer to

the Fact ?

Langhorn. I muft tell your Lordfhip, my whole
Defence muft run to difable the WitnefTes ; for,

my Lord, I was committed to Newgate the 17th

of October, and I have been kept there a clofe

Prifoner till this Day was Sennight, or Friday the

Jaft Week ; I never converfed with any Friend,

or any Relation, nor knew any thing of News,
but only with fome few Perfons, fent by Authori-

ty of the Houfe of Commons, or the Council.

And I was never examined by any fince I was

committed. I never heard what was charged

againft me, and I could not forefee what thefe

Men could teftify, becaufe I was not confident

whereupon they would proceed ; therefore I can

have no Defence, unlefs it be by lefTening their

Credit •, 'tis impofiible I fhould.

L. C. J. Do, leffen it, if you can. If you

have any WitnefTes to take off their Credit, or

contradict: them, call them.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. But I would Tay one Thing
to you. Mr. Langhorn \ You feem to put a very

ill Conftruction upon the King's Proclamation,

as if it were to invite and encourage Perfons to

come and fwear about a Plot, where there was

none; it was to invite People to make a fur-

ther Difcovery of a Plot that lay clofe, and

we could not fully difcover, for the Preferva-

tion of the King and Kingdom, without fuch a

Means.
Langhorn. He did propofe a Reward.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Ay, in order to a further
Difcovery of that Plot which we had Evidence
of before.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And fo you would be
clofe in all your Accounts, and none fhould be
rewarded that could make us any Difcovery of
them, but prefently their Teftimony muft be
gone. 'Tis very fine! but the Court over-rules
it.

L. C. J. Mr. Langhorn, whatfoever you object
of this Kind, does fly in the Face, and reflect
upon the Integrity and Wifdom, of King, Lords
and Commons.

L. C. J. North. For it was done by the Advice
of all Three.

L. C. J. If you'll go on, and prove any thing,
but pray don't fpend our Time to no purpofe.

_

Langhorn. Call Parrey, and Townley, and Dod-
dington, and the reft.

Oates. My Lord, here are Papifts come into
the Court with their Swords on.

L. C. y. They will not draw them here.
Lord Mayor. 'Tis well enough, 'tis well enough,

Dr. Oates, you are fafe enough here.

L. C. jf. Who will you have firft?

Langhorn. I would have Hiljley fet up. [Which
was done."]

L. C. y. What would you ask him ?

Langhorn. Your Lordfhip hath heard Dr. Oates
affirm he came over, fuch a Time, in the Pacquet-
boat with Mr. Hiljley j I defire to know whether
that be true, or no ?

Z. C. y. I can help you in that, for we had him
and his Companions here yefterday -, but however
we will hear them again, if you will have them.
Do you know Mr. Oates ?

Hil/ley. I do, my Lord, very well.

L. C. y. When did you come over from
St. Omers ?

Hiljley. I came over the 24th of April, New
Stile.

L. C. y. Did Mr. Oates come with you ?

Hiljley. No, he did not.

Oates. No, my Lord, he did leave me there,
but I overtook him at Calais.

L. C. y. Look you there now, you did leave
him there, but he overtook you at Calais. Did
you leave him there ?

Hiljley. I did leave him there.

L. C. y. Ay, but he overtook you then, did
he not ?

Hiljley. No, he did not.

L.C.y. He anfwersashe did yefterday, that
he did not come over with him. You loft your
Money, did you not ?

Hiljley. Yes, I did.

L. C. y. How did you lofe it ? Did vou Iofe it

at Play?
'

Hiljley. 'Tis no Matter how I loft it ; I did not
lofe it at Play.

Oates. I'll tell the Court, if your Lordfhip
pleafe, how he loft it; he lent a great deal
of Money to a Gentleman, who went away
with his Money, and left him to pay the Rec-
koning.

L. C. y. What fay you to that ?

Hiljley. That is very true, and I confefs it ; but
what is all this? nothing to the Matter. He
was told this by fome Bodyelfe. I never faw
him, nor ever any Man in the Ship faw him come
over with me.

L. C. y. I'll tell you what then ; firft, here is

fomething
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fomething now that you would not confefs yefter-

day, nor indeed would you confefs it now. I

asked you how you loft your Money ; you fee

Mr. Oates can tell you how it was, tho' you won't

tell us ; fo that, tho' this be a Secret, he knows

it ; and how could he know this Secret, unlefs he

were there ?

Hiljley. There is one that I met by the Way,
that did tell him this Story.

then one Gifford flood up.

L. C. J. Did you fee Mr. Oates?

Gifford. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. What Difcourfe had you with him

concerning Hiljley ?

Gifford. Why he told us of his Departure,

L.C. J. When?
Gifford. After he was gone away,

L. C. J. How long after ?

Giffot d. Three or four Days.

L.C.J. What faid he to vou?

Gifford. He only told us he was gone*

L. C. J. What elfe faid you of him ?

Gifford. He only faid he departed out of the

College then.

L. C. J. What did you fay to Mr. Oates about

it?

Gifford. I don't remember what I faid in par-

ticular.

L. C. J. Hiljley, Call up the other Perfon that

you fay told Mr. Oates.

Hiljley. He is not here, my Lord, but here is

one that was in the Company when he told it.

L. C. J< Who was by?

Gifford. Mr. Bumaby
i
who came thither the ifl

of May.
L. C y Hearken to me; When you talked

with Mr. Oates, concerning Mr. Hiljlefs being

gone from the College, was there any body by ?

Gifford. i cannot tell.

L. C. y. Was Mr. Burnaly by, when Mr. Oates

and you talked about Mr. Hiljley ?

then another Witnejs ftarted up.

third Witnejs. Yes, my Lord, there was Mr.
Oates with me, and Mr. Burnaby put himfelf into

our Company in the Garden, and he acquainted

me with this Story.

L.C.y. What faid he?

third Witnejs. He faid he met this Gentleman,

and that this Gentleman was cheated of his

Money.
L. C. J. How did he tell you he was cheated?

third Witnejs. I don't know the Occafion, but

he faid a Fellow cheated him of the Money.
L. C. y. Was that all he faid ?

third Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, but I do not

remember upon what Occafion ; he faid he was

cheated by a fhirking Fellow.

L. C. J. Did he name the Place he met him
at?

third Witnejs. I don't know, my Lord, whe-

ther he mentioned it or no.

L. C. y. So that Mr. Oates names the Place,

which he was never told ; and unlefs he was there,

how could he then tell it?

third Witnejs. But this does not prove that I

fpeak againft my Confcience, that does not argue.

L. C. y. Look you, the Anfwer is this, Mr.
Langhorn. You would charge Mr. Oates with

Falfity in faying he came over in the Pacquet-

boat with Hiljley, and you call up him, and he
fays, he did not come, but he left him at St. Omers ;

Mr. Oates comes and fays, 'tis true, he left me
there, but I overtook him at Calais, by this very
Token, faid he, you were cheated of your Mo-
ney, by a Perfon that you lent it to, who went
away, and Mt you to pay the Reckoning. When
I asked Mr. Hiljley, how he could tell if it were
true that he was not with him, he anfwered, he
was told it by another; but when I come to
know what that other Perfon faid, it was no
more than this, he faid, in Mr. Oates' s, Hearing.,
Mr. Hiljley was Cozen'd of his Money, but did
not fay how, nor by whom, nor where.

Langhorn. Now, to prove that what Mr. Hiljley

faid is true, and that therefore Mr. Oates his

Knowledge muft come by another Hand, I de-
fire that the Witneffes may be asked, how Jong
Mr. Oates was at St. Omers ?

L. C.y. How long was Mr. Oates at Sl
Omers ?

third Witnejs. From December till yune, he was
there, except one particular Day that he went to
Watton.

L. C. y. And you favv him almoft every Day $

third Witnefs. Yes, I did.

L. C. y. You have fifteen or fixteen Witnef-
fes that will fay all this; but yet, if you will we
will call them.

L. C. y. When went he away, do you know
that?

third Witnefs. He went in yune, I can*£ cer=»

tainly fay the Day.

L. C. y. Well, call another.

third Witnefs, Pray, my Lord, let me fpeak
if your Lordfhip pleafe to kt me give you my
Reafon, why I might fee him ; I faw him in

the Refettory; he had a little Table by himfelf,

diftinft from the reft, and dining together in a
publick Place, it was impoffibie but we fhould
fee his Place empty, if he were gone; and I

know the Number of my own School, and can
tell whether any one be abfent.

L. C. y. What, becaufe he fat at a Table by
himfelf, therefore you think he was there all the

while ?

third Witnefs. Certainly, if f may believe mine
own Eyes, I faw him there every Day.

L. C. Baron. Were you there every Day your
felf?

third Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, I was, I did not
mifs one Day, I had no Infirmity.

Langhorn. My Lord, Mr. Oates hath affirmed

that there was with him, when he came over in

April, Sir Robert Brett.

L. C. y. He fays only he believes fo ; he fays

pofitively, he came over in the Company of Sir

Jtrhn Warner, Sir thomas Preflon, and he thinks

alfo Sir Robert Brett, but is not pofitive.

Langhorn. This he affirmed both in his Nar»
rative, and upon Oath in the Lords Houfe.

L. C. y. Shew any thing that he was fworn

to here.

Mr. Juft. Atkins But what fays this Lad more?
let him fpeak, for he is very full of it.

third Witnejs. The ift Day of May I faw him
in the Garden, with a Lay -Brother, at Kittle-pins,

in the View of all the College.

Langhorn, Let us examine him as to Perfons 2

and then refer it to the Lords Regifter.

l, c. y.



894 84- ^be ttd °f R^hard Langhorn, 3 1 Car. II.

L. C. J. Why, if you will prove fomething

Mr. Oates hath fworn there, that you can contra-

dict, firft prove what he fwore, and then contra-

dict it.

Mr. J lift. Pemberton. Pray take notice, you

muft not go to oppofe him in any thing of that

Oath, unlefs he hath fworn it here; whatfoever

there be there, except he hath fworn the fame

here, 'tis in vain to object it, for he cannot be

intended to have Witnefs to make good what he

fwore there.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Let us hear what he does offer.

Langhorn. Under Favour, Mr. Oates hath ac-

knowledged what he fwore there was true.

L. C. J. You are miftaken, Mr. Langhorn

;

indeed when you asked him that Queftion, he faid

as far as what concerned what he fwore here, was

true, and he is bound at this Time to anfwer no

more.

Langhorn. Then as to Sir John Warner, I de-

fire my Witnefles may be examined.

L. C. J. I fuppofe they may be here, and fay

the fame they did Yefterday ; that he did not ftir

from his Houfe at Watton^ all April and May.

Fourth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, he lived there

all that while.

L.C.J. What Year?

Fourth Witnefs. In Year 1678.

L. C. J. That is the Time that Mr. Oates

fays he came over with him. You faw him al-

moft every Day, did not you ?

Fourth Witnefs. Yes, I did, only four Days

that I was abfent, being fent by him to St. Omers,

at a great Feaft.

L. C. J. And when you came back, you found

him there ?

Fourth Witnefs. Yes, I did.

L. C. J. You are his Gard'ner, are you not?

Fourth Witnefs. Yes, I am.

L. C. J. Did you ftay all thofe four Days at

St. Omers ?

Fourth Witnefs. I was fent to the high Kirk,

and carried fome Inftruments for the Mufick,

and there I ftaid four Days, and the laft Day
of April, and the firft, and fecond, and third of

May. And I faw Mr. Oates there in the Houfe,

and I faw him going into the Refectory to Din-

ner.

L. C. J. He fays, that Sir John Warner was

at home all April and May, that he himfelf was

abfent but four Days, that he left him there, and

when he came back found him there ; and that in

the four Days he was at St. Omers, he faw Mr.Oates,
which was the laft of April, the firft, fecond and

third of May. You don't know when Mr. Oates

went away ?

Fourth Witnefs. No, my Lord, not I.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Was Sir John Warner
there all yune ?

Fourth Witnefs. My Lord, I can't tell that, I

only fpeak to April and May.
L. C. J. Thofe are the two Months that fit

him.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Why how come you not

to remember that, as well as the other two, for

that is fince ?

Fourth Witnefs. Becaufe I took not fo much
Notice of him in thofe Times.

L. C. y. How came you to take more fpecial

Notice of them two Months, than of the

other ?

Fourth Witnefs. Becaufe our Rector did then

come into England, and he took the Charge of

the Houfe upon Him in the Rector's Abfence.

L. C. y. When did he come ?

Fourth Witnejs. He came the 24th of April.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Pray who is your Rector?

What is his Name ?

Fourth Witnefs. Sir Francis Williams.

L.C.y. Where was Sir John Warner in yune
and yuly ?

Fourth Witnefs. I cannot tell.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And where was he in Au-
guft and September ?

Fourth Witnefs. He went out of Town, but
where I am not certain.

L. C. y. You were Gard'ner there then ?

Fourth Witnefs. Yes, I was.

L. C. J. Why can't you as well tell me then,
where he was in June and July, as in April and
May ? Anfwer me plainly.

Fourth Witnefs. 1 think he was there all that
Time, but I can't be certain.

L. C. J. Why not fo certain, for thofe two
Months, as you are for the other.

Fourth Witnefs. Becaufe I did not take fo much
Notice.

L. C. J. How came you to take more Notice
of the one, than the other? that he was there in

April and May, rather than that he was there in

July ?

Fourth Witnefs. Becaufe the Queftion, my
Lord, that 1 came for, did not fall upon that

Time.

L. C. J. Now he hath anfwered plainly

;

when I asked the Queftion, Why he did not take

fo much Notice of thofe Months, as he did of
April and May ? he anfwered me, Becaufe the

Queftion did not fall upon thofe Months; and
that, without all Queftion, is a plain and an
honeft Anfwer.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Indeed he hath forgot his

Lefion ; you fhould have given him better ln-
ftructions.

L. C. J. Look you, Mr. Langhorn, if he be
to be believed, and that he doth not fpeak falfly,

or more than he knows, it is impoffible that

Oates's Teftimony and his can ftand together;
for he directly affirms, he faw Mr. Oates the laft

of April, the ift, 2d, and 3d of May. Now
Mr. Oates fays he was here then ; fo that thefe

two cannot ftand together. The Queftion then is,

Whether he be to be believed ? and, Whether he
does not come wilfully, or prepared ? The Jury
have heard what a kind of Teftimony he gives,

when the Queftion was asked him, How he
came to take notice of the Months of April and
May, more than of June and July ? and why he
was more fure Sir John Warner was there at the

one Time, than at the other ? Why, faid he, be-

caufe the Queftion falls upon thofe former Months,
and not upon thofe of June or July. Now that

does ftiake all that was faid before, and looks as

if he came on purpofe, and prepared for thofe

Months; and now this, I am afraid will go
thro' all your St. Omers Men.

L. C. J. North. Indeed I doubt it will go a

great way, to fhake all their Teftimony.

Sir Cr. Levinz. You, Gard'ner, what do you
fay was your Rector's Name?

Fourth Witnefs. Sir Francis Williams.

Sir Cr. Levinz. And he came over in April or

May, did he ?

Fourth
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Fourth Witnefs. He came over the 24th of A~

pril.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Why, that is the Time that

Mr. Oata came over, and he was one of the Per-

form that he faid came over with him.

Fourth Witnefs. No, he came alone, only with

a certain Officer of the College.

Langhorn. Pray let Gifford be asked the fame

Queftion about Sir John Warner ; for if he did

W come, as he faith, from Watton to St. Omers, at

that Time, he muft fee him at St. Omgrs, for he

was at St. Omers then. The Queftion is about

Sir John Warner, if he were at Watton, or St.

Omers, then he could not come over with Mr.
Oates.

L. C. J. When did you fee Sir John Warner ?

Gifford. I faw him about June, or thereabouts.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him ?

Gifford. I faw him there in St. Omers Houfe.

L.C.J. When?
Gifford. I n June or July, when he invited me

over to Watton:

L. C. J. This Man does not ferve the Turn,

he does not know the Month upon which the

Queftion runs.

Fifth Witnefs. The firft Day of March there

was a great Feaft, St. Fortunatus and Gordianus,

and then I faw Mr. Oates four Days, and he was

there all the Month of May.
L. C. J. W here was Sir John Warner then ?

Fifth Witnefs. I cannot tell ; but at St. Omers

I faw Mr. Poole, and Sir Robert Brett at that

Time.

L. C. J. Did Mr. Poole come over with you ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, he did.

L. C. J. Witnefs, when did Mr. Poole come
over from St. Omers ?

Fifth Witnefs. He came firft to St. Omers with

Mr. Whitehead, he was my Mafter of Mufick,

and he taught me, and it was impofTiblehe ftiould

be miffing without my Knowledge.

L. C. J. But he was gone to England long be-

fore that •, and he could not be at England and at

St. Omers at the fame time.

Fifth Witnefs. You fay right, he could not.

L C. J. When came he from St. Omers ?

Fifth Witnefs. In the Month of June, or May.
L.C.J. Or April.

Fifth Witnefs. No, it was the Month of June.

L. C. J. Thefe are but Collateral Matters,

Mr. Langhorn, for you to ftand upon this, it

fpends Time to no purpofe ; but the great Que-

ftion is, Friend, Whether you don't miftake the

Month ?

Fifth Witnefs. Yes, yes, (at which the People

laugh'd) no, no, I don't miftake the Month, I

only fpeak the Truth according to my Know-
ledge.

L. C. J. How can you fo precifely remember,

the Month of May he was there ; for when I

asked you when he went away, you could hardly

tell the Month.

Fifth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, Mr. Oates fays,

in the Month of May he was in England, but I fay

I faw Mr. Poole then at St. Omers.

L.C.J. But the great Queftion is, Whether
you are to be believed ? We know you anfwer

the Queftion pofitively, but my Reafon why I

fear you are not to be believed, is, becaufe you
are fo precife that Mr. Poole taught you all May ;

but I ask you once more, Was it in June, or was
it in May ?

Fifth Witnefs. It was about June.
L. C. J. May is about June. Why then you

cannot tell. Was it in June ?

Fifth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, jt was ; it was
about June. And this is nothing but what I

know, for I actually faw Mr. Oates there at that
Time.

L. C. J. I'll tell you what, Mr. Langhorn, ufe
your Difcretion, call whom you will, and we
will hear them as long as you will ; but we had
Sixteen of them Yefterday, that did all fpeak to
the fame purpofe ; but in Anfwer to thefe fixteen
WitnefTes, Mr. Oates did produce, and he will
produce again, fix or feven WitnefTes, and one of
them a Papift, if not a Prieft, who do fwear,
that Mr. Oates was here in April and May ; I'll

tell you beforehand, do as you will.

Then one Bailie flood up, and being a Foreigner'

an Interpreter was called:

L. C. J. Where did you fee Sir John Warner
in April and May ?

Interpreter. He fays he faw him actually at St,

Omers.

L.C.J. What, all the Month of May ?

Interpreter. Yes, he fays heconverfed with him
all the Month of May.

L. C. J. And was he there all April, and con-
verfed with him then ?

Interpreter. Yes, he fays every Day, of both
Months. He fays he faw him from the firft

Sunday in April to the 14th of May, and con-
verfed with him.

L. C. J. Where did Sir John Warner go the
1 4th of May ?

Interpreter. My Lord, he fays he went for one
Day only to St. Omers, and came back again.

L. C. J. Ask him how he knows this?

Interpreter. He fays he was employ'd about a
Building by Sir John Warner.

Then Carpenteir flood up.

L. C. J. When did you fee Mr. Oates, and
where ?

Carpenteir. I fpeak as to Sir Thomas Prefton.
L. C. J. What fay you as to Sir Thomas Pre*

fton?
Carpenteir. I faw him at Liege.

L. C. J. When ?

Carpenteir. All the Months of March, April,
May, and June, he was ftill there.

L. C. J. When went he away ?

Carpentier. In the Time of the Vacancies
L. C. J. When is that ?

Carpenteir. That is from the beginning ofAu-
gufl, till the end of September.

L. C. J. When came he again ?

Carpenteir. When they came to School again
?

and that was on the fecond or third of Oclober.
Mr. Juft. Dolben. Were you with him all that

time ?

Carpenteir. Yes, I was: He hath not been in

England thefe three Years.

L. C. J. How longwave you been there ?

Carpenteir. I have been there four Years, and
I never knew that he was abfent, but in the time
of the Vacancies.

Mr. Juft. Pemberion. Call another Witnefs,

Then flood up another Witnefs, who being a
Dutchman, and not fpeaking Englifh, an
Interpreter was called for him alfo.

L.CJ.
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L. C. J. Well, what comes he for ?

Interpreter. He fays he comes to teftify, That

Sir John Warner was at Watton in April ; and he

fays he faw him there from the 14th of April to

the 25th of April ?

L. C. J. And then to what time ?

Interpreter. He fays he was there till the 1 6th

of May.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Ask him where he was

the beginning of April ?

Interpreter. He fays he was Superior there in

the Houfe, and did govern.

L. C. J. Ask him where he was the latter end

of May ?

Interpreter. He fays he was likewife in the

Houfe, fave only one Day, when he went to St.

Omen.
L. C. J. Then he might have faid, in fhort, he

was there all April and May.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Call another Witnefs.

Langhorn. Call Johnjofeph. Who flood up.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What do you ask him,

Mr. Langhorn ?

Jofeph. That which I fay is this, That Sir

Thomas Preflon was at Liege in March, April, May,
and June, in the Year 1678.

L. C. J. Did you fee him every Day in thofe

Months ?

Jofeph. That I cannot well tell.

L. C. J. Did you fee him every other Day ?

Jofeph. Yes, my Lord, I believe I did once in

two or three Days.

L. C. J. Where was he in July ?

Jofeph. He was at Liege too : He was obliged

to be fo ; but in the time of the Vacancies in Au-

gufi, he was abfent.

L. C. J. Then you fay he was all thofe Months,
March, April, May, June and July there.

Jofeph. Yes, my Lord, thofe four Months I

am fure of it.

L. C. J. What became of him in Auguft, when
he went, during the Vacancies abroad ? Do you

know whither he went ?

Sir Cr. Levinz. Do you know whether he went

into England ?

Jofeph. I never heard that he was in England ?

L. C. J. When did he return again ?

Jofeph. When they began School, and that is

in the beginning of Otlober.

Then another Witnefs food up.

L. C. J. Well, what fay you ?

Tenth Witnefs. I can fay that Mr. (Dates never

ftirred out of the College at that time when he fays

he came to England, that is, he fays he came up-

on Monday the 25th of April, but he did not, for

that Day he went into the Infirmary, and he flay-

ed at St. Omers all April and May.
L. C J. And how much longer ?

Tenth Witnefs. A great part of June.

L. C- J. Was he there the 20th of June?
Tenth Witnefs. I am fure he was, but how much

longer I cannot tell.

L C.JWhere was he in February and March ?

Tenth Witnefs. He was there too •, in January

he lay out one Night, and that was at Watton,

but I am fure he did not come over the 24th of

April, New Stile, as he fays.

Mr. Recorder. Now he fays, it is New Stile,

not Old Stile, as he faid Yefterday.

Then another Witnefs food up.

L.C.J. Well, what do you fay ?

Eleventh Witnefs. Mr. Poole was fick, and I

can remember when his Nephew went to him
into the Infirmary, before he went away from the

College, and he gave him good Counfel, as he
faid, and I remember that Mr. Brett was fick at

Watton, and did come home again on Horfe-
back, and I believe he did not ftir out ; and Mr.
Poole was at St. Omers, I am fure I faw him once
in two or three Days all April and May. He went
by the Name of Killingbeck.

L. C. J. But he does not pofitively fay he faw
Sir Robert Brett every Day there, he fays he be-

lieves he did.

Eleventh Witnefs. He came into the School and
gave the Boys Queftions to difpute of.

Mr. Recorder. Call the reft of your Witneffes.

Then another Witnefs was called andflood up.

L. C. J. North. When did you fee Mr, Oates

at St. Omers ?

Twelfth Witnefs. I faw him almoft every other

Day from the Time he came till he went away.

L. C. J. When was the firft time you faw him ?

Twelfth Witnefs. The beginning of December.

L. C. J. Did you fee him in April there?

Twelfth Witnefs. Yes, I faw him in April there

at an Aftion.

L. C. J. And did you fee him in May there ?

Twelfth Witnefs. Yes, I can teftify I faw him
the firft Day of May in the Garden.

L. C. J. How long ftay'd he there ?

Twelfth Witnefs. Till June.

L.C.J. How came you to take fuch precife

Notice?

Twelfth Witnefs. By his very Place I could not

but take notice if he were miffing.

L. C. J. How can you fay you faw him in

the Garden the firft of May?
Twelfth Wituefs. I'll tell your Lordfhip why,

becaufe there was a great Feaft, and he plaid at

Nine-pins in the Garden, and I can tell what they

play'd for.

L. C. J. What fay you as to Mr. Nevil, and Sir

Robert Brett's being at St. Omers ?

Twelfth Witnefs. I did not take fo much no-

tice of Sir Robert Brett ; as for Nevil, I think I

faw him once in three Days.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And there is nothing faid

of him here.

Then another Witnefs flood up.

L. C. J. When did you fee Mr. Oates firft at

St. Omers ?

Thirteenth Witnefs. I firft faw him in the Month
of December.

L. C. J. Did you fee him in April and May?
Thirteenth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C. J. Was he there all thofe Months ?

Thirteenth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, he was.

L. C. J. North. Was he there all the Month
of June ?

Thirteenth Witnefs. He went away towards the

latter end of June.

L. C. J. North. Yefterday you faid the latter

end of July. Call another Witnefs.

Then another Witnefs flood up.

L.C.J. North, Come, you hear the Queftion,

Did
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Did you fee Mr. Oates ztSt.Omers, in the Month

of April ?

Fourteenth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, he was

there all the Month of April.

L. C. J. Was he there all the Month of May ?

Fourteenth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, he was.

Mr. Juft. Pejnberton. And a good part of June.

Fourteenth Witnefs. Yes, my Lord.

Langhorn. What do you fay as to Mr. Poole ?

Fourteenth Witnefs. I faw Mr. Poole in the In-

firmary the third Day of May.

L. C. J. North. How came you to take notice

of it, fo well as to remember it, that it was the

third of May ?

Fourteenth Witnefs. It was a Feflival Day. And
the Feaft we kept was the Invention of the Holy
Crofs. We had the Action the Day before, and

fome that were in the Infirmary would have it ac-

ted over again to them, and we did fo. My
Lord, within one or two Days after, Mr. Hil-

Jley went away, I difcourfed with Mr. Oates about

half an Hour •, he came out within a Day or two

after out of the Infirmary, and I faw him walk-

ing in the Gallery. And again, the zd of May
I law him walking with one Mr. Burnaby, who
arrived the Day before, the firft of May, and then

I faw him the 3d, 4th, and 5th, in this Burnaby's

Company -, I faw him again the 26th of May,
with a Band about his Head in order to Confir-

mation, tor they always have a Linen Cloth

bound about their Head at fuch a time.

L. C. J. Call another. Who flood up, his

Name was ****

L. C. J. "What can you fay ?

**** All that I can fay is this, that between

the faid Month of December 1 6yy, and Juhe 1678,

which is the time in Queftion, Mr. Oates was
never out of the College above one Night, when
he went to Watton in January ; and this is cer-

tain, that from the time that I faw him firft, till

the time he went away for altogether, there were

not two Days that pafTed away, wherein I did

not fee him, except in the Month of March, and

when he was in the Infirmary the 24th of April,

but then I heard that he was there-—
L. C. J. Who did tell you fo ?

**** The Man that keeps that part of the

Houfe ; and coming into my Office after my Re-

covery out of a Fit of Sicknefs a Week before

I Chriftmas or thereabouts, I faw Mr. Oates by this

Circumftance, The Servitors of the Houfe faid

they were glad to fee me, and Mv. Oates being in
1

the Place at the Refectory that was affigned to

him, I asked who he was, and they told me fuch

. a one ; but I had heard of his Admiflion a few

\ Days before. Likewife Mr. Oates was there when

I

Mr. Hiljley came for England, which was about

> the 24th of April, by this Circumftance, that he
1 was prefent in the Refectory with fome of the
1

Scholars. Mr. Richard Burnaby came to the

College about a Week after Mr. HUfley went a-

< way, and Mr. Gates was actually there then, and

we did very much wonder that he became acquain-

:
ted with him fo quickly after his Arrival. I fay

Mr. Oates was actually there when Mr. Killenbeck

and Mr. Conaueft came for England about the 3d

of May, by this Circumftance, that I had fome

Difcourfe with Mr. Oates, and fome others of the

J

Scholars, that Mr. Conqueft would by no means
i get out of his Bed betimes that Day he was to go
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away, being unwilling to leave the College. He
was there the 26th of May by this Gircumftances
that the Bifhop dined there that Day> and Mr.
Oates was there confirmed that Day, Mr. Oates

was there alfo in June, my Lord. .

L. C. J. Yes, he was there in June? he does

not deny it.

Mr.Juft. Pemberton. And was he there all May?
**** Yes, my Lord, he was, and all April, ex-

cept the time he was in the Infirmary, which was

three or four Days.

Langhorn. What do you fay as to Poole and Ne-
vil ?

**** They were there all the whole time in

queftion, and they were never abfent any compe-
tent time to come to England, as he fays.

L. C. J. North. We muft not allow that, you
muft tell us what time they were there, that we
may know it.

**** They were there in Marcht April, May^,

June and July.

L. C. J. But did you fee him every Day from

the beginning of Chriftmas, to the time he went

away in June ?

**** Yes, except the time he was at Watton,

and when he was in the Infirmary.

Mr. Recorder, But was not Mr. Oates twice in

the Infirmary ?

**** He was I remember there on St. 'Thomas

of Canterbury's Day, and I remember he was there

in April.

SirCr.Levinz. I did hear you fay fomething of

fomebody that was abfent five or fix Days, was it

you?
**** I was fick in the Month of March, and

I was in the Infirmary till about the twelfth or

fourteenth Day. , .

Sir Cr. Levinz. And did you fee him there all

that time?
**** I excepted that time, but I heard his

Voice once in that time, in the next Room to

the Infirmary, where I was, by this Circumftance,

he ufed to come to a Table by himfelf, and it was

near the Door, and Nevil and Poole were there,

as I faid before.

Mr. Recorder. He fpeaks much more to the

Purpofe to-day, Mr. Langhorn, than he did yef-

terday.

L. C. J. North. And much louder.

Langhorn. I hope your Lordfhipwill take no-

tice that he fpeaks likewife of the Refidence of

Mr. Poole, Sir Robert Brett, and Mr. Nevil.

L. C. J. Yes, I do. Call another Witnefs.

Who flood up, and being a Foreigner, his Evi-

dence was likewife interpreted.

L. C. J. Ask him what he fays.

Interpreter. He fays he faw Mr. Oates, he was

there, and he remembers it till about the 2 5th of

June.

L. C. J. Where did he fee him ?

Interpreter. He fays it was either in the Houfe 3

or in the Garden.

L. C.J. North. When was that, that he was

in the Infirmary ?

Interpreter. He fays, he was in the Infirmary

towards the latter end of December, or the begin-

ning of January

.

L. C. J. Ask him what he fays about Nevil

and Poole.

Interpreter. He fays they were there all June?

and that Mr. Poole went away in the Month of

5 Y July,
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July •, and he further fays, that he being a Wa-
terman, he carried this fame Williams and March

in his Boat the laft Sunday in April.

L. C. J. North. Who is your next, Mr. Lang-

horn ? let him ftand up. (Which he did.) When
did you fee Mr. Oates at St. Omers ?

Sixteenth Witnefs. In the Month of Aprils

1-678.

L. C. J. And in May too was he ?

Sixteenth Witnefs. Yes he was.

L. C. J. Was Mr. Poole there all that time?

Sixteenth Witnefs. Yes, he was j and fo was

Mr. Nevil and Mr. Brett.

L.C.J. Where is Nevil now ?

Sixteenth Witnefs. I believe I left him there.

L. C. J. What are thefe Perfons ?

Sixteenth Witnefs. The one is a Prefect, and I

believe he is there ftill. In the Month ofMay I

made Mr. Killinbeck a Suit of Clothes, and Mr.

Oates came into the Shop, and asked me whofe

Clothes they were ? I faid Mr. Killinbeck** : faid

he, how can that be ? they are black : faid I,

they muft be black, for he is in Mourning.

Langhorn. Here is Mr. Grove's Wife and- his

Maid.

then Mrs. Grove flood up.

L. C. J. What Queftion would you ask of

her?
Langhorn. Mr. Oates hath fwom, and given us

feveral Circumftances of his coming over, and

being here at that which he calls the Confult, and

that he lay at Mr. Grove's three or four Nights ;

I defire the may be asked that Queftion, whether

he did fo or no ?

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Oates, Mrs.

Grove ?

Grove. No, I never faw him.

L. C J. Were there any Lodgers lay at your

Houfe in April was Twelvemonth.

Grove. Yes, my Lord, there were.

L. C. J. Do you ufe to have Lodgers that

you do not know ?

Grove. My Houfe was full of Lodgers at that

time. I did not know them till they lay there.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Why then, Mr. Oates might

be there, and you not know him.

Grove. If he lay there, I muft needs know him,

L. C. J. Why might not a Man lie with any

of your Lodgers three or four Nights, and you not

know him ?

Grove. Who fhould he lie withal, my Lord ?

Oates. I had a Bed to my felf when 1 lay

there.

L.C.J. Mr. Oates, defcribe the Chamber as

well as you can.

Oates. It was a Place taken out of another

Room, where two Men were taken out that were

committed to Prifon.

L. C. J. Were there any Perfons taken out of

your Houfe, and fent to Prifon ?

Grove. Yes, my Lord, there were.

L. C. J. In that very Room he lay out of

which thofe Perfons were taken.

Grove. He did not.

Oates. Upon my Oath I did lie there three or

four Nights, more or lefs.

Sir Cr. Levinz. You were in a Difguife, Sir,

at that time, were you not, and went by another

Name, and fo the Woman might not know you.''"

Oates, Yes, I did fo.

L. C. J. You cannot make any great matter

of this ; fhe had fome Lodgers, and me knew
them, but he went by a wrong Name, and was
in a Difguife.

Langhorn. Mrs. Grove fays, fhe knew all the

Lodgers that then lay there ; pray ask her if fhe

did not ?

L. C. J. Do you remember who lodged in;

your Houfe in April was a Twelvemonths
Grove. Yes, I do.

L. C. J. Name them.

Grove. Why, there was one Pair of Stairs, one
Mr. Strange by Name, and one Mrs, Fitzherbert*

and above there lay my Sifter.

L. C. J. What, all the Months ofMay and A-
pril ?

Grove. Yes.

L. C. J. And not in June ?
]

Grove. I am not demanded of June.

L. C. J. She anfwers exactly to them two
Months, what fay you to March ?

Grove. They were there in March.

L. C. J- Who lay in the Room from whence
the Men were taken that were carried to Prifon ?

Grove. There was one Matter Crupper, and a-

nother Youngman that lay with him.

L. C. J. Why might not that be Mr. Oates?
Grove. He was one that was a Prifoner by Mr.

Oates's Order. And Mrs. Fitzherbert lay there.

L. C. J. What, in that Room whence the
Youngmen were taken out in April or May ?

Grove. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Well, what fay you to the other

Months, March, and June and July ?

Grove. I was not to be examined further than

the two Months I fpoke of before.

L. C J. Look you, fhe fays, that for April

and May two Gentlemen had the Lodging that

Mr. Oates fays he lay in ; but for any other Time
fhe was not to be examined. Well, have you any
more Witneffes ?

Langhorn. Here is Mrs. Grove's Maid. [Who-

food up.]

L. C. J. Maid, Can you tell who lay in Grove'%

Houfe, in April and May was Twelvemonth?
Maid. Yes, my Lord, I can.

L. C. J. Who were they ?

Maid. There was my Miftrefs's Brother and

Sifter lay there.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Do you know them all ?

What Men lay there ?

Maid. None but Matter Strange, my Lord.

L. C. J. Miftrefs Grove faid, that her Houfe
was full.

Maid. Indeed^ my Lord, there was her Brother,,

Mr. York, and his Wife.

L. C. J. But who is that Fitzherbert?

Maid. She is a Gentlewoman.

L. C. J. Who lay there in March ? and who*

lay there in July ?

Maid. Matter Strange and Mrs. Fitzherbert.

L. C. J. How long did they lie there ?

Maid. In April, May, June, July and Augujl.

L. C. J. She fays they lay there in March,
April, May, June, July and Augiift, and her Mi-
ftrefs faid, they were there but a Quarter of a
Year, only fhe faid fhe was to be examined no

further.

Langhorn: My Lord, I defire to prove a Copy
of the Record in the Lords Houfe.

L. C. J. That is not to be given in Evidence

here.

Mr,
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Mr. Recorder. You know how far fuch a Thing

will be Evidence, manage your own Evidence

well.

Langhorn. It is an Extract out of the Journal

of the Houfe of Lords.

L. C. J. What Particular do you pitch upon ?

Langhorn. About thofe Perfons who, he fays,

came over with him from St. Omen.
L. C. J. North. Do you think it reafonable,

that any Man fhould come to anfwer now, all

that ever he hath fworn in his Life? If you can

fhew any Record to contradict what he hath

fworn here, (hew it. Do you think he can come

prepared to juftify all he hath fworn in any other

place ?

Langhorn. He referred to that himfelf.

L. C. J. No, he does not.

Langhorn. But he hath laid over and over, that

Sir John Warner came over with him, Sir Thomas

Prefton, and Poole.

L. C. J. What fhould you urge that Book for?

Can you make any other Proof?

Langhorn. I would have the Perfons called that

took the Narrative of Ireland's Trial.

L. C. J. Ifyou have any more WitnefTes, call

them.

Langhorn. Won't your Lordfhip allow me to

prove by WitnefTes, what he affirmed, in rela-

tion to me, at another Trial?

L. C. J. By no means, you mud not meddle

with that.

Langhorn. Pray, my Lord, why not? I will

prove the Words fpoken by a Witnefs.

L. C.J. North. Youmuftnot; that is no Evi-

dence againft you, nor can it be an Evidence for

you.

Langhorn. Then you take off the Defence that

I have, and make it as if I had never any.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. That is not Evidence in a

civil Caufe, and therefore mull not be Evidence

here.

Tthen came in my Lord of Caftlemain.

L. C. J. What do you come for, Sir? What
is your Name?

E. Caftlemain. My Name is Caftlemain.

L. C. J. Are you my Lord of Caftlemain ?

E. Caftlemain. Yes, my Lord, I am.

L. C. J. Does your Lordfhip come as a Wit-

nefs for Mr. Langhorn ? Mr. Langhorn, do you

call my Lord of Caftlemain ?

Langhorn. My Lord, I don't know what he

comes for, whether he comes as a Witnefs for

me, or not -, perhaps he may.

E. Caftlemain. My Lord, I come to wait upon

your Lordfhip and the Court, to give you an Ac-

count, that fome of the WitnefTes that were fum-

moned here for the Prifoners, are fo beaten and

abufed without, that they dare not come to give

their Evidence, for fear of being killed.

L. C. J. That is a Thing that is not to be fuf-

fered ; let us but fee any Perfon that dares but

offer to meddle with them, and I'll affure you

we will take care to fee them punifhed, according

as they do deferve.

L C. J. North. 'Tis a very unjuflifiable Thing,

a Thing that we will very feverely punifh, if they

be hindred of free Ingrefs and Regrefs.

Mr. Juft. Jtkins. Indeed it is a very horrid

Thing that they fhould be fo abufed ; they ought

i to have their Liberty of coming and giving their

Evidence here, without any Moleftation.
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E. Caftlemain. I can affure your Lordfhip, that

one of them was fo beaten and bruifed, that we
can't tell but it may coft him his Life.

L. C. J. Nay, we mult look to fuch a Thing
as that ; for it is by no means to be allowed of.

If your Lordfhip will but tell us who they are •,

let us but know them, and we will take care for

the Punifhment of them ; for we will fhew our

felves juft and fair, and give them all the fair

Play that can be.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Langhorn, have you
any more WitnefTes?

Langhorn. Call the Woman that kept the

White- Horfe Tavern. {Who flood up ]
L. C.J. To what Purpofe do you call this

Woman ?

Langhorn. I defire, my Lord, to ask one
Queftion of Mr. Oates, touching the Coniult at

the White-Horfe Tavern in the Strand ; How ma-
ny Perfons met there ?

Oates. Before that Queftion be asked, I pray
your Lordfhip would ask her, When fhe came to

the White-Horfe Tavern, to keep it.

Witnefs. 1 don't keep it now.

L. C.J. When did you keep it?

Witnefs. I kept it in June, and I left it the be-

ginning of July.

Oates. She does not come to the Time.
L. C. J. Did you keep it all the Year before

that ?

Witnefs. I kept it Seven Years before, till July
laft.

Langhorn. I would know of him, how many
might be there at that Time.

L. C. J. What Number of Perfons do you fay

met at that Confult ?

Oates. That Queftion, if it pleafe your Lord-
fhip, hath no Reference to this Trial, neither

is it at all material •, but becaufe I have given the

Prifoners fo much Freedom, they impofe upon
me with Queftions.

L. C. J. 'Tis a Queftion they can't expect a

precife Anfwer to from you ; but yet 1 would
have you give them as fatisfactory an Anfwer as

you can, what Number there might be there at

a Time.
Oates. My Lord, I think there might be at

the White-Horfe Tavern, at a Time, about Eighteen

or Twenty.
L. C. J. Were they in one Room, or in feveral

Rooms ?

Oates. They were in two or three Rooms.
Witnefs. Is this Mr. Oates, my Lord ?

L. C. J. Yes, that he is.

Witnefs. I never faw him in my Houfe in my
Life.

L. C. J. Was there no body never in your
Tavern, but who you knew? What! can you
tell all the People that were ever in your Tavern?

Witnefs. The moft of my Company were Peo-
ple that I knew.

L.C.J. What is your Company ?

Witnefs. Thofe that frequented my Houfe.

L. C. J. Can you fay who was in your Houfe,
April 24, 1678?

Witnefs. No, my Lord, I will not undertake

that, but I will give you as true an Account as I

can.

Langhorn. I'll tell you why I ask this Quefti-

on. Mr. Oates did fay, in his Depofuions be-

fore the Lords, there met fifty.

L. C. J, At feveral Times in the Day.

5 Y 2. Langhorn.
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Langhorn. But this muft all be in the Morning.

L. C. J. Why fo? fuppofe there met,. of that

Company, Twenty, in the Morning, and then

fome went away, and others came in their room,

and fo they did for divers Times in the Day, is

not this properly faidofme, that there might be

about Fifty at that Confult?

Langhorn. He faith, in Coleman's Trial, there

met Fifty, upon the 24th of April, and afterwards

they adjourned into leffer Colloquies.

Oates. I fay, they met there the 24th Day, but

the Confult was not diffolved till the 26th Day at

Night.

L. C.J. North. You muft go only upon what

is fworn now. And we ask the Queftion, upon

your Propofal, How many were there at a time?

and he fays about Eighteen or Twenty at a Time.

Now if he proves there were Eighteen at one

Time, Twenty at another Time, and Ten at

another, that makes about Fifty.

L. C.J. Good Woman, is your Houfe a little

Houfe ?

Witnefs. 'Tisa fmall inconfiderableHoufe, there

is not a Room in it that will hold above a dozen,

I never remembred fo great a Company was in my
Houfe at one Time, but once, in all my Seven

Years, and that was a Jury of the Parifh, and

they could not be together, but were divided into

three Rooms.

Then there flood up a Stranger ; who was fworn.

L. C. J. Well, Sir, do you know the White-

Horfe Tavern in the Strand ?

Firft Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, I do, very well.

L. C. J. Do you know the biggeft Room in

the Houfe ?

Firft Witnefs. Yes, I do, my Lord.

L. C. J. How many may Dine there?

Firft Witnefs. It may be Twenty People. I

have feen a Dozen, or Sixteen there often.

L. C. J. Did you know the Tavern a Year ago?

Firft Witnefs. Yes, my Lord, this was a Year

ago.

Then a Second Witnefs flood up in the Court,

and [aid, That Twenty-five, or Thirty might

Dine in one Room that was backward, and

another that was forward. And a Third

attefted, That he was at a Wedding, and

there did Dine above Twenty, in one Room
next the Street.

Mr. Recorder. If (he make a Jury to be in three

Rooms, that is but four in a Room.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Thofe Juries are Sixteen,

generally, or more.

Langhorn. My Lord, I don't know this Ta-

vern my felf ; but I thought it very confiderable,

if they had not a Room that would hold fuch a

Number as he fpoke of, Fifty.

L. C. J. But you fee how unfortunately it hap-

pens. The matter had not been much, if it had

been proved ; but it is very unlucky, that thefe

Perfons fhould be here in Court, by whom the

other is contradicted. It had been better it were

never meddled with. That fhe fhould be fo per-

emptory, in what Standers-by know to be falfe,

makes this Contradiction in one Thing to give a

Sufpicion that all your Witneffes may be falfe in

all the reft.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Here is a Gentleman of good

Quality, that faith, there have been Fifty in a
Room.

Langhorn. My Lord, I hope neither the Court
nor the Jury will reflect upon me for this.

L. C. J. No, it can't do that ; but it reflects

upon your Evidence, efpecially this Woman.
Langhorn. I have been a Prifoner fo long, and

I know nothing but what Friends and Relations
inform me.

L. C. J. The Thing was reafonably offered,

but it proves fo unfortunate it will not hold.

Have you any more Witneffes to call?

Langhorn. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. J. I pray call them.
Langhorn. My Lord, I defire I may examine

them after the King's Counfel have done.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You may fay what you

will for your Defence, but you muft examine
no new Witneffes then, Mr. Langhorn.

Langhorn. I muft ask this Gentleman a Quefti-
on or two, if the Court think fit.

L.C.J. Propofe them to the Court ; what is

it you would have?

Langhorn. My Lord, it is in relation to a mat-
ter that happen'd at Ireland's Trial, I know not
whether it be proper, but the Queftion I would
ask is, Whether Ireland were here in Auguft, or
no?

L. C. J. He hath given you no Occafion to

ask this Queftion at this Trial : And is there any
Reafon that we fhould examine him to fuch a
Thing? Do you think it reafonable, or according
to Law, that Mr. Oates fhould be examined, in

your Trial, concerning what he then faid, of
Ireland's being here in Auguft, or not being here,

when 'tis no part of his Accufation that he brings

againft you? Can he be imagined to be prepared
for fuch a Juftification, fince he does not at all

give any Evidence of it here?

L. C.J. North. Since he gave not any Occa-
fion or Ufe for fuch a Proof now at this Time,
'tis not fit he fhould be examined about it : In-

deed Yefterday he gave it in Evidence, becaufe

it concerned a Circumftance of Time that related

to the Prifoners then to be tried.

L. C. J. 'Tis true, as my Lord fays, that ic

was Yefterday proper, becaufe he gave Evidence
that Fenwick and Ireland were here in Auguft to-

gether. Now that did fome way concern him,
but you have no Concern at all in it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. That brought it in at that

Time, but this is a foreign Matter, it cannot be

here.

L. C. J. Have you any more Witneffes, Ma-
tter Langhorn ?

Langhorn. My Lord, Mr. Oates hath affirmed,

when 1 asked him touching his receiving a Re-
ward, he faid, he had his Reward, for he had
been out of Purfc Six or Seven Hundred Pounds

;

and it is my Defire to examine a couple of Wit-
neffes touching the Probability of that} for he

was fo very poor, before this happened, that it is

impoffible, without a Purfe being made for him,

to lay out Six or Seven Hundred Pounds.

L. C. J. Look you, here is the Thing, he

gives you an Anfwer, to which he was not in

the lead bound, nor is it to be charged by you

;

he fays he is out Seven Hundred Pounds, but that

is not any Evidence, nor is the Jury to take no-

tice of it, nor is it to affect him. And would you

have him give us an Account how he came by

that Money ?

Langhorn.
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Langhorn. My Lord, I'll tell you how far it

concerns me ; the proving of his Indigency be-

fore this Thing happened, will concern me thus

far-

L. C. J. If you fhould prove this Man in an

indigent Condition, what is that to the prefent

Purpofe? it goes to no part of the Evidence.

Langhorn. My Lord, I ask the Queftion for

this Reafon, for certainly if he were fo very indi-

gent, it cannot be imagined in probability that

any Man would truft him with fuch a great Sum,
unlefs it were to give this Evidence.

L. C. J. If you have any more Witneffes, call

them, and make an end of them; if not, then

you may obferve what you will to the Court and

Jury, after the King's Counfel hath done.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But all your Witneffes

you muft call now.

Langhorn. Doth your Lordfhip debar me from

ufing this Copy of the Record of the Houfe of

Lords ?

L. C. J. To what purpofe would you have it

read ?

Langhorn. Becaufe Bedlow therein fays, that

he had no Perfon more to charge, either in the

Houfe or out of the Houfe, than what he then

charged.

L.C.J. What then?

Langhorn. I was not one of thofe Perfons, then

he knew nothing againft me.

L.C.J. 'Tis but a Memorial taken by a Clerk,

and do you think that his Omiffion fhall be con-

clufive to us ?

Langhorn. 'Tis the Journal of the Lords Houfe,

my Lord.

L. C. J. North. But can you think that can be

ufed as Evidence here? If you had an Affidavit

figned by the Party, and had Witneffes to prove

that he did make fuch an Oath, you fay fome-

thing.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You can't read that

againft his Teftimony, you underftand that, be-

ing a Lawyer. If you have any Witneffes, call

them, but you pick out collateral Matters, and

fpend our Time to no purpofe.

L. C. J. Really, if it were a Thing conducing

tO' the Point, I would very much ftretch ; but it

being fuch a kind of thing as this is, he fays he

had nothing to fay againft any Body elfe, and I

was not named then: What is this to the Fact

you are charged with ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Why, it may be, he did

not remember it then, will you conclude him,

that he fhould never remember it, or fpeak oi it ?

L. C. J. You fee that now at thefe Trials, he

fays fometimes, this is all I can remember at pre-

fent, but by and by he recollects himfelf ; would

you hinder him from faying then what he remem-

bers?

L. C. J. North. Befides, upon an Affidavit, or

an'AnAver in Chancery, we never allow it, un-

lefs we have the Party to prove that he took the

Oath.

Langhorn. I defire to know of Mr. Oates, whe-

ther he did diftribute any of thefe Commiffions,

and to whom ? for he hath faid I did.

Oates. That which 1 fay, is this, thofe Com-
miffions that I named, they werediftributed, but

the Perfons I do not know ; I know the Com-
miffions were for thofe five Perfons, and in July
or Auguft he did fay he had diftributed them, but

he faid not to whom, only one, indeed, he fent
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by his Son, to the eldeft Son of my Lord Arun-
del of Wardour, to be Commifiary General ; and
he came back, and faid, ic was delivered.

Langhorn. You do not fpeak of any other?

Oates. I do not recollect that I know of any
other.

Langhorn. I ask for this Reafon, becaufe, in

the Lords Houfe, he hath charged me, that I

fent my Lord Arundel's Commiffion, and that I

fent it by my Son, and that he faw a Letter in

my Chamber, of the receipt of it.

Oates. My Lord, there is fome part of the

Evidence, that does reflect upon the Lords, which
I charge not upon Mr. Langhorn, becaufe I would
not diicover my Evidence againft the Lords. He
goes now to expatiate upon the Informations, but

1 hope the Court will excufe me, becaufe I re-

ferve it for another Trial.

Langhorn. I defire Mr. Lydcot may be asked,

whether be did not hear Matter Oates, at a for-

mer Trial, fay, (for fo I find it in the Narrative)

(it was at Coleman's Trial) that he came to me
the next Day after the Confult, and communi-
cated it to me, and that he never faw me after-

wards.

L. C. J. Do you know any Teftimony,- Mailer

Oates gave concerning Mafter Langhorn ?

Langhorn. You are . not the Perfon that took
the Trial, are you ?

Lydcot. I know nothing of the Bufinefs, at all.

I was at the Trial, but I cannot particularly

fpeak what was faid there.

Langhorn. The Perfons that took the Trial

were fummoned to be here. Call Mrs. Sylliard-.

{But /Joe appeared not.) Call Mr. Blayney.

L. C. J. Here is Mr. Blayney, what would you
ask him ?

Langhorn. I would know of him, what

Mr. Oates hath teftified concerning me?
L. C. J. Do you know what Mr. Oates faid

concerning Mr. Langhorn ?

Blayney. When, my Lord?
L. C. J. Nay, I can't tell.

Langhorn. At Coleman's Trial, Sir.

Blayney. My Lord, I was prefent at Coleman's

Trial, and I remember Mr. Oates did fay fome-

thing about Mr. Langhorn, but I have not my
Book here, I can't tell what it was.

Langhorn. Here is the Book, Sir, here is the

Narrative.

Blayney. That was not printed by my Copy, Sir.

Langhorn. Who were they that did take ic?

Blayney. Of my own Knowledge I don't know
whofe Copy it was, but by hearfay.

L. C. J. It was taken as well as it could be

taken, but you muft not urge that which is but

an Hiftorical Narrative againft him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Langhorn, do you

think to convict a Man by an Hiftory ? To fay

a Man is forfworn becaufe he does not fwear as

that Hiftory fays he did fwear?

L. C. J. We will do you all the Right, and

give you all the fair Play we can ; but we are of

Opinion that it fignifics nothing, that you can

make no ufe of it.

Langhorn. If I can have no Light, how can I

imagine what they will charge me with?

L. C J. Have you in any other Cafe obferved

it? If a Man be indicted of Felony or Treafon,

any Capital Crime, he is clap'd up, and is not

permitted to have a Copy of the Indictment, nor

he cannot by Law.
Langhorn,
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Langhorn. They know fomething of what they

are accufed for, they are confronted before a Juftice

of Peace.

Mr. Juft. Pember4on. Why, I'll fuppofe you

had been examined, do you think your Examina-

tion would have been Evidence for you here?

Then one Elizabeth Sylliard was called, but

affirming, Thatjhe durji not /peak unlefs the

Court would promife her Protection againjl

the Rabble, becaufe fome of the Witneffes had

been abufed ; which the Court not being able

to do, otherwife than by promifing to punijh

thofe that offered to meddle with her, if fhe

brought them before them, jhe was, by Mr.

Langhorn'J conjent, Jet afide, and not exa-

mined.

Langhorn. She comes in relation to a Point

that happened at Reading's Trial, where Mr. Bed-

low did depofe, That he did not fay all he could

have fai'd againft Mr. Whitebread and Mr. Fenwick^

but that he did know more againft them than he

gave in Evidence at their firft Trial.

' Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What is that to you?

Langhorn. That 1 take to be a kind of Perjury

in him ; for they are fworn, To [peak the Truth,

the whole Truth, and nothing but the Truth..

L. C. J. Is this material in your Cafe what he

faid about Whitebread and Fenwick ?

Langhorn. It makes it material to make him
uncreditable.

L. C. J. Mr. Whitebread made that Objection,

but he was anfvvered ; for he was told, That he

could not tell all that he knew at that time, be-

caufe he was in treaty with Mr. Reading about

the leffening of his Evidence againft them, and

the Lords in the Tower, and the Lords were to

judge what meafure they fhould have from him,

by his kindnefs to Whitebread and Fenwick. If

you have no more, the King's Counfel will go
on.

Sir Cr. Levinz. My Lord and Gentlemen of

the Jury, you have heard the Evidence that Mr.
Langhorn hath given for the making of his De-
fence, which hath been principally to reflect up-

on Mr. Oates; and he firft calls Mr. Hiljley to

prove, that whereas Mr. Oates did fwear he came
over with him, he affirms he did not ; but it falls

out, that Mr. Oates hath counterproved him by

fuch a Circumftance as does contradict him in

what he fays ; for fpeaking of the lofs of his

Money, Hiljley faid fomebody elfe had told him
of it ; but producing his Witnefs for that, he

only affirms, that Mr. Oates, in his Company
was told, that Mr. Hiljley had loft his Money, but

not how nor where ; but Mr. Oates gives you a

particular Circumftance, that he was cheated by

a Perfon he lent his Money to, and that left him
to pay the Reckoning, which Mr. Hiljley does

confefs was true, and which he could not hear

from the others, for the others did never know
it. Gentlemen, they have brought you a great

many other Witneffes to prove, that Mr. Oates

was not in England on the 24th of April, the time

he fays he was, and they all agree as to that time,

tho' as to other times they are not fo exact ; but

we fhal! give you as plain and as full an Evi-

dence that he was here at that time, as that you

are there now, and fhall very fully fatisfy you

in it. For that Sir John Warner, and Sir Tho-

mas PreJlon> they are Matters that were tranfacted

beyond Sea, to be fure they did not come over

by thofe Names, no more did Mr. Oates him-
felf ; therefore it would be hard to find out thefe

Perfons, or to give you fo particular an account

of them that were thus in Difguifes, and had
changed their Names; but truly if that were a
matter done in England, it were far more eafy

for us to confront their Teftimony in that ; for

Matters that are done here lie more ready for

our proof, than thofe that are done beyond Sea

;

for the laft Woman that he called, which was the

Woman about the White- Horje Tavern, her Evi-
dence would have gone as punctually for truth,

if it had been a Matter done in Flanders, as

any thing could be in the World ; but it hap-
pening to be near Home, it hath the ill fortune

to meet with a very fudden Anfwer, which is a
manifeft proof how they ftretch to help themfelves,

and in my Opinion this Contradiction overthrows
all their Evidence. Gentlemen, we will call our
Witneffes, and prove it as plainly as any thing
can be in the World, that Mr. Oates was here at

that time. Firft fwear William Walker.

\Which was done.]

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Oates?

Walker. Yes, Sir, I have known him Seven
or Eight Years.

L. C. J. When did you fee him in England
laft Year?

Walker. I faw him the latter end of Marcht

1678, or towards the middle of April following,

I faw him then in a Difguife, infomuch as that I

knowing what he was, and what he had been,

1 could not a great while recollect the Face of
the Man, and it was a great Trouble to me, that

having known him fo many Years, I fhould not
then know him. I went home, but could not
recollect my felf that Night -, but before I rofc

again the next Morning, I did recollect my felf

that it was Titus Oates, and I prefently turned my
felf out of my Bed, and went to a Gentlewoman
whofe Name I did not then well know, to enquire

of her about it. After the Salutation, faid I,

How does Mr. Oates? faid fhe, knocking her

Hand upon the Counter, He is an undone Man

:

Why, what is the Matter, faid I? He is turned,

faid fhe, to the Church of Rome: Do you know
where he is, faid I? No, faid fhe, but he is

lurking up and down the Town, and only dares

appear in the Evenings. Well then, faid I, I

faw him later than you did ; for I faw him be-

tween St.Martin's-Lane andLeiceJler-HouJe Yefter-

day, but he was in a Difguife: and I told her

what Habit he was in.

L. C. J. What time was that ?

Walker. It was about Ten of the Clock in the

Morning.
L. C. J. But what time of the Year was it ?

Walker. It was the latter end of March, or the

middle of April.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. It was before the end of

April?

Walker. Ay, ay, my Lord.

L. C. J. And that contradicts all your Wit-
neffes ; for they fay, that he was there all March,
and all April, and all May, nay from December to

June.

Langhorn. He hath faid, the latter end ofMarch,
or the middle of April. I would have him be as

certain as he can.

L.C.J. He cannot be certain ; for thofe things

in point of time, you know, and all Mankind
mult
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jnuft agree, that a thing done a Year ago that

was of no greater importance at that time, can-

not fo eafily be remembred, or that he mould

take fuch fpecial notice of the critical Day.

What Man in the World does remember or take

notice fo as to charge himfelf in what Week or

what Month fuch an accidental thing as this

happened ? but to fatisfy Mr. Langhorn I ask you,

Can you fpeak any more particularly than you

have done ?

Walker. Becaufe I would not be miftaken, or

do any one any wrong, I do rather take an un-

certain time than a certain, but I do think it was

in the Month of April, and towards the middle

of the Month ; that is all I can fay.

Langborn. But how is he fure, fince he is fo

uncertain in his Memory, that this was 1678, and

not 1677 ?

Walker. Becaufe, my Lord, it was but a little

more than a Year fince, and I am able to judge of

the Year as well as another.

L. C. J. Do you remember what you went a-

bout ?

Walker. I was wont, about that time of the

Year, to receive Money of my Lord Thomas

Howard, and upon that Errand I came to Town
then.

L. C. J. But are you fure it was Mr. Oates that

you faw ?

Walker. Yes, my Lord ; for according to my
apprehenfion I did know the Face when I firft faw

it, but I could not recollect who it Was till I had

refrefh'd my Memory, and the next morning I

did fo, and then concluded it was he.

Mr- Jufi. Dolben. How came you hither ?

Walker. I was brought here for a Witnefs.

Mr. Jufi. Dolben. Did you difcover this to Mr.

Oates, or did Mr. Oates firft come to you, to put

you in mind of it?

Walker. I had difcourfed with fome Perfons a-

bout it a while after the Plot was difcovered, and

fo I fuppofe it came by accident to him.

Then Mrs. Ives was/worn andflood up.

L. C. J. Well, Miftrefs, what fay you?
Ives. This is the Gentleman that told me this

Bufinefs.

L. C. J. What did he tell you ?

Ives. He asked me when I faw Titus Oates ? I

told him I had not feen him a long time, that he
was gone beyond Sea : he asked me, if I never

faw nor heard from him fince ? 1 told him, No ;

but of lace fome of his Friends had told me, that

he was about the Town, and that they had feen

him, but they did not know the Place where he
lodged. Then, faid he, I have feen him fince

you; for I was Yefterday going in Leicefler-

Fields, and going along I faw him, for he was
in coloured Clothes, and very much altered from
what he had been.

L. C. J. When was this? How long was this

ago?
Ives. It was about the middle of April was

Twelvemonth, and I remember it by a very good
Token ; for his Father Mr. Oates came then to

my Houfe to fee mc, and that is the firft Month
that our new thin Cheefes come in, and I did then
ask him, if he would not come in and eat fome
new thin Cheefe ; and when he was come in and
fat down eating ofCheefe, and drinking a Draught
of Drink, I was a faying to him, Pray, Sir,

when did you fee your Son I Said he, I have not
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feen him of late, I heard frdm him a little while

ago, but I have not feen him : Then faid I , I can

tell you News of him. Here was fuch a Gentle-

man in my Shop that fays he met him in Leicefter-

Fields, but in a Difguife, and he told me what
Habit he was in.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Set up Butler. [Who wasfwornJ\
L. C. J. How long have you known Mr.

Oates ?

Butler. I have known him two or three Years
before he went to Sea.

L. C. J. When did you fee him laft Year ?

Butler. When he came back, he came to my
Matter's Houfe the beginning of May laft was
Twelvemonth.

L. C. J. Who is your Mafter ?

Butler. Sir Richard Barker, my Lord.-

L. C. J. What did he come there for ?

Butler. He came to enquire for Doctor
Tongue.

L. C. J. Did you know him ?

Butler. Yes, I did*

L. C. J. Are you fure that's he ?

Butler. This is the Gentleman.

L.CJ. And what faid he?
Butler. I was in the Gate about my Coach, and

he comes in and asked me if Dr. Tongue was
within. I told him, No j at prefent 1 did not
know him, becaufe he was in fuch a difguifed

Habit ; I knew him very well before, becaufe
he went in fuch a Habit as he does now ; But this;

is the Man, and Titus Oates is his Name. Said I,

Mr. Oates, you are welcome into England again :

But he took no notice but went forward into the
Houfe, but he made but a little Stay there, and
came out again i it feems fomebody had affron-

ted him, and laugh'd at him, becaufe he was more
like a Shepherd than a Minifter : His Hair was
cut, and he had a gray Coat on, and plain Shoes,
and a flopping Hat j and fo he went out of the

Gate, and would not take any notice of me, or
what I faid.

Langhorn. How does he know it was in 1 6y8 9

and not in 1677 ? He fays it was in the Month
of May was Twelvemonth.

Butler. 1 know it by this Circumftance : In Fe-
bruary I went down into Lincoln/hire, and I came
up again the fame Month : Sir Richard Barker
was then fick and in the Country, and there he was
a great while •, and when he came to Town I did
acquaint my Mafter that Dr. Oates was there to

enquire for Dr. Tongue, in the ftrangeft Habit that

ever I faw Man in my Life.

L. C. J. How long after he had been there

was it that you did tell your Mafter ?

Butler. It was as foon as my Mafter came back,

as foon as I faw him, it might be a Week.
L. C. J. Was it about a Week or a Fortnight?

Butler. I do not know exactly.

Mr. Belwood. Then fwear Cicily Mayo. [Which
was done.']

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Oates ?

Mayo. I never faw his Face before that time,

nor had I taken notice of him then, but that

there was a Youngman that lived with Sir Richard

Barker, who had a great acquaintance with him,

and feeing him in that Garb he called me to the

Window, and faid, Mr. Oates is furely turned

Quaker or Jefuit by the Change of his Habit :

JSfo, faid I, be is no Quaker ; for he hath got a

Periwig on.

L. Q. 7. Maid, When was this?

Mayo.
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Mayo. This was before Whitfuntide.

L C. J. Which Whitfuntide ?
Mayo. Whitfuntide was Twelvemonth.
L. C. J. How long before that was it ?

Mayo. It was a matter of., a Fortnight before,

as I remember.

L- C. J. Are you fure you know him now ?

Mayo. Yes, this is the Man.

L.C.J. North. Did you tell your Matter of

it?

Mayo. I was not fo well acquainted with him
as to fpeak to S\r)Richard Barker about k, but the

other Servants they told him.

Mr. Belwood. Set up Philip Page. [Who was
Sworn.'] Do you know Mr. Oates?

Page. Yes, my Lord, I have known him
thefe five Years.

L. C. J. When did you fee him?
Page. About May was Twelvemonth.

L. C. J. Where ?

Page. In Sir Richard Barker's Houfe.

L. C. J. Are you fure this was the Man ?

Page. Yes, I am fure it was he.

Langhorn. What time in May was it ?

Page. About the beginning of May.
, L. C. J. And you take it upon your Oath
that you faw Mr. Oates the beginning of

May was Twelvemonth in Sir Richard Barker's

Houfe?
Page. Yes, my Lord, I do.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. What is become of the Boy
that fpoke to the Woman about him ?

Mayo. He is dead, my Lord.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Then fwear Sir Richard Bar-
ker. \_Which was donef\

L. C. J. Do you know Dr. Oates, Sir ?

Sir Richard Barker. I have known him thefe

many Years, I have known him from a Child.

L.C.J. Did you fee him about a Year a-

go?
Sir Rich. Barker. My Lord, I did not fee him

then •, I was out of Town j but as the Servants tell

your Lordfhip, fo they told me, when I came
Home, that Mr. Oates had been there in a ftrange

kind of Habit, that he was either turned Quaker,
or Jefuit. I did very much admire at it, for I had
feen his Father but a little while before, and he

told me nothing of it. I had a mind to have gi-

ven him a Living while he was in our Church.

L. C. J. When did your Servants tell you they

faw him ?

Sir Rich. Barker. They told me when I came
home, which was in the latter end of Whitfun-
Week, or the beginning, as 1 remember.

L. C.J. Was it in Whitfuntide?

Sir Rich. Barker. It was about that time ; they

told me the odd kind of Pofture he was in, and
that young Fellow that they fpeak of, told me
feveral PafTages of Mr. Oates. (He is now
dead.)

L. C. J. But when did they fpeak of it to

you ?

Sir Rich. Barker. My Lord,when I came home,
two or three ofthem told me of it with great Ad-
miration, as they have told your Lordfhip and
the Court ; and I faid to one of them, What

!

did he leave no Meffage ? They told me he en-

quired for Dr. Tongue, and asked for me, but that

was all they told me.

L. C. J. Come, was it in May ?

Sir Rich. Barker. Yes, my Lord, it was in

May was Twelvemonth.

L. C. J. How do you know it was May was

Twelvemonth ?

Sir Rich. Barker, It was laft Year about the

beginning ofMay.

L. J. C. North. Nay, he tells you this, when
you asked him the Queftion, Whether he knew
Mr. Oates ? Yes, faid he, I did know him for-

merly ; and when he was of our Church I did in-

tend to have given him a Benefice.

Langhorn. Certainly his Change, that is, his

becoming a Roman Catholick, could not be a

thing fo ftrange that he fhould intend then to give

him a Benefice,

Mr. Juft. Atkins. But hark you, Sir, I fuppofe

you remember it by your own Sicknefs very

well ?

Sir Rich. Barker. Yes, my Lord, very well ; I

had a little Diftemper upon me, and Dr. Need-

ham of the Charter-Houfe came to fee me ; and I

lay fick a matter of fix or feven Weeks, and the

latter end of my Sicknefs I continued taking of

Phyfick till I came to Town.
L. C. J. But you are fure of the Year by

that ?

Sir Rich. Barker. Yes, my Lord ; and yefter-

day I fhould have acquainted your Lordfhip and

the Court, that there are fome Perfons not un-

known to fome of the Bench, if not near allied

to them, and that is Sir William Tyrril's Family,

of Lincoln/hire, his Grandfon, who had been at

Cambridge, and then came to vifit me, though I

happened not to be at home (they being my Wife's

Relations) and it was before Whitfuntide, becaufe

he came to take the Advantage of that Seaibn of

the Year : and he had converfed with Mr. Oates,

but ,he is not in Town at prefent ; and there arc

two or three of theUniverfity that converfed with

M r. Oates at that time.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Are they here ?

Sir Rich. Barker. I only tell it you for a Cir-

cumftance.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Then fet up Mr. Clay. [Who
was fworn.~\

L C. J. Do you know Mr. Oates ?

Clay. Yes, I know him very well.

L. C. J. How long have you known him ?

Clay. Since laft April was a Twelvemonth.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him then ?

Clay. 1 faw him at Mr. Howard's, my Lord.

L. C. J. What Howard ? one of my Lord of

Norfolk's Brothers ?

Clay. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. What is his Chriftian Name?
Clay. His Name is Mr. Charles Howard, my

Lord.

L. C. J. Where was it ?

Clay. In his Houfe.

L. C. J. Where was his Houfe ?

Clay. It was part of Arundel-Houfe, 'tis now

made a new Street.

L. C. J. Did you fpeak with him there?

Clay. Yes, we faluted one another, and he faid,

Tour Servant, Sir. I am fure I faw him there.

L. C. J. How often did you fee him in that

Houfe ?

Clay. Twice.

L. C. J. In JpriUnd May?
Clay. Yes, in April, and. in the beginning of

May.
Langhorn. I ask you if you do remember any

Circumftance of it, to bring this to your Me-

mory
L.CvJt
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L. C. J. By what Token do you remember

it, that it was April and May ?

Clay. By this Token, that Mr. Charles How-

ard told me he was one that was come from be-

yond the Seas, from St. Omers ; and, faid he, he

hath fome Thoughts of being a Jefuit, but I think

Ifhall divert him from that.

L. C. J. How do you know that it was that

Month ?

Clay. It was in the latter end ofApril, and the

beginning of May.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Are you fure it was laft

Year?
Clay. Yes, I am, it was in the Year 1678.

Langhorn. Was it at Dinner, or no ?

Clay. No, no.

Langhorn. Did he dine there that Day ?

Clay. I did not fee him at Dinner, but I faw

him there twice.

L. C.J. Are you a Roman Catholick ?

Clay. Yes, I am of the Church of Rome, but

not of the Court of Rome.

L. C J. That is no new Distinction.

L. C. J. North. No, they have the Court of

Rome diftinct from the Church, and particular

Favourites of it, as other Princes have, and there

are thofe that profefs themfelves of that Religion,

that won't acknowledge the exorbitant Power

that the Pope claims.

Langhorn. Will your Lordfhip pleafe to ask

him, whether he does remember that Mr. Oates

did at that time play with Mr. Howard's Son, and

inftruct him, and talk to him about his Learning,

and put Queftions to him ?

L. C. J. Did he talk or put any Queftions to

Mr. Howard's Son about learning his Book ?

Clay. Not any thing that I heard.

Langhorn. Was Mr. Howard's Son there ?

Clay. No, not in the Room, as I think, I

cannot tell certainly, my Memory is frail.

Then Mr. Smith was called andfworn.

L. C. J. How long have you known Dr.Oates ?

Smith. I knew him before the Fire, he was my
Scholar at the School where I was Ufher.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What time did you fee

him laft Year ?

Smith. The beginning of May.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. How do you know that ?

Smith. He came to fee me, and dined with

me.

L.C.J. Where?
Smith. At Iftington, at my Houfe there.

L. C. J. How long was he with you ?

Smith. Three or four Hours.

L. C. J. What time was it ?

Smith. It was, as I take it, the firft Monday
in May, and I gave this Reafon for my remem-
brance why it was in May, becaufe we dined by

the Fire-fide, being a little cold, of which we
took particular Notice.

L. C. J. And you wondered that you fhould

dine by the Fire-fide in May.
Langhorn. Was it on a Monday in May ?

Smith. It was on the firft Monday in May, to

the belt of my Remembrance.
L. C. J. Was there none of the Family there

befides ?

Smith. Yes, there was my Wife there.

L. C. J. Why did you not bring her to teftifie

the fame ?

Oates. He cannot find his Wife.
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L. C. Juft. North. How long do you fay was

he with you ?

Oates. Three or four Hours.
L. C. J. What did you talk of?
Smith. We talked about his Travels, about his

Journey into Spain, and to Valledolid, and Sola"

manea.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Was he in aPrieft's Ha-

bit, or in another Habit ?

Smith. My Lord, he was in a Cinnamon-co-
loured Suit, trim'd with green Ribbons.

Sir Cr. Levinz. We have done with our Evi-
dence, my Lord.

L. C. J. Now, Mr. Langhorn, the King's

Council have done with their Witneffes.

Langhorn. Pray call Mr. Charles Howard and
his Wife.

L. C. J. I do not think Mr. Charles Howard
will appear.

L. C. J. North. I believe he does not think

it fafe to come here ; we know upon what Ac-
count.

Bat upon calling, after a while, he did appear-

and flood up.

L. C. J. Well, what have you to fay to Mr.
Howard ?

Langhorn. The Queftion that I would ask him
is this ; it hath been affirmed here by Mr. Clay,

that old Gentleman, that about the end of April,

or beginning ofMayhft was a Twelvemonth, he

did meet Mr. Oates at Mr. Howard's Houfe •, I

would know the Truth of it.

L. C. J. Mr. Howard, you have heard the

Queftion, do you know Mr. Oates ?

Howard. Yes, my Lord, very well.

L. C. J. How long have you known him ?

Howard. Above two Years.

L. C. J. When was he at your Houfe ?

Howard. My Lord, he hath been at Arundel"

Houfe about two Years ago, and feveral times

fince.

L. C. J. Was he there about a Year ago ?

Howard, Thereabouts he was.

L. C. J. Do you think he was there about May
was Twelvemonth ?

Howard. My Lord, after July I remember he

was there.

L. C. J. Was he there in May ?

Howard. No, my Lord, not to my Remem-
brance.

Langhorn. Pray, Sir, when did your Son die ?

Howard. The Fifth of May was two Year,

1677.
L. C. J. Why, how does that appear to be

any thing in this Cafe? he did not fay that Mr.
Howard's Son was there.

Langhorn. He faid he was in the Houfe, but

he could not tell whether he was in the Room or

no.

L. C. J. You asked him whether he talked

any Latin, or asked him any Queftions; and he

fays, he cannot tell whether the bon were there in

the Room or no.

L. C. J. North. He fays, About two Tear ago J
remember he was at my Houfe, and about a Tear

ago ; which contradicts all your Witnefies.

Langhorn. No, he fays, About two Tear ago I

remember he was there, and about a Twelvemonth

ago, after July; but he cannot remember whether

he was here in April and May was a Twelve-

month.

5 Z Howard.
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Howard. Mr. Oates was in my Lodging in A-

pril 1677, and then my Child was alive, and di-

ned together with him and Mr. Clay.

L. C. J. That is two Years ago ?

Howard. Yes, my Lord, two Years ago

Mr. Oates was there with Mr. Clay, but not

fince.

L. C. J. Call Mr. Clay again to confront him
in that.

Oates. I did not know Mr. Clay two Years

ago.

L. C. J. You are miftaken, I believe, for Mr.
Clay does pretend that he did but juft begin to

know Mr. Oates in April was a Twelvemonth,

and fo Oates fwears too.

Mr, Jujlice Pemberton. And he fays nothing

whether you had a Child died or no.

L. C. J. When was the time that you firft

knew Mr. Oates ?

Clay. The latter end ofApril, laft Year.

L. C. J. Did you ever know him before that

time ?

Clay. I never did.

L. C. J. Do you remember that ever you din-

ed with him?
Clay. I do not remember the Day exactly, and

I do not remember that e'er 1 dined with

him.

Mr. Jujlice Pemberton. But he is pofitive that

he did not know him but a Year ago.

L. C. J. Do you remember whether Mr.
Howard's Son was alive ?

Clay. He had a Son alive at that time.

Oates. He had one Son indeed that died a

Year before Mr. Clay and I met there.

Howard. I fpeak of my eldeft Son, who died

two Years ago.

Clay. I never knew him.

L. C. J. Well, 'tis plain there was a Mif-

take in it, he fpokeof a Son that was then, and

is now alive, and you fpeak of your eldeft Son
that died two Years ago. Have you any more
Witnefles, Mr. Langhorn?

Langhorn. No, my Lord, I have no more
Witnefles.

L. C. J. Well, would you fay any thing ? If

you would, fay what you have a mind to fay.

Langhorn. My Lord, I am charged here by

two Witnefles, the firft is Mr. Oates ; if I can

prove any one Point (in anfwer to that which he

hath given in Evidence) not to be true, then I

conceive, my Lord, he ought to be fet afide: And
I think it hath been clearly proved, That where-

as he faid Sir Thomas Prejton came over with him
in April, it hath been clearly proved he was then

at Liege \ and whereas he hath affirmed, Sir John
Warner, Mr. Poole, and two or three more that

were at St. Omers, came over with him, I had

proved that not to be true, beyond any Contra-

diction : Then, as the Witnefles about his own not

coming over in April, Mr. Hiljley fays he came
not over with him in the Pacquet-Boat ; and the

others fay that he was fick in the Infirmary after

Mr. Hiljley came away : Thefe Points being thus

proved, I think there can be no Credit given to

what he fays ; for I can fay, and I know it to be

Truth, that from November 1 677, to this very

Day, I never faw him. I have been a clofePri-

foner fo long, and have had but one Week's
Time to provide, and therefore muft be fain to

take fuch Information as my Friends and Rela-

tions could pick ups to anfwer what he hath faid

in his Narratives, fuppofing he would have faid

the fame here •, therefore I am not abie to make
any better Defence.

L. C. J. Did you never know Mr. Oates ?

Langhorn. I have feen him once or twice.

L. C. J. When was that ?

Langhorn. In Michaelmas-Term, 1677.
L. C. J. Upon what Occafion ?

Langhorn. He brought me a Letter from one
of my Sons, my younger Son in Spain, and then
he told me he was going to St. Omers : He faid

he could not be fettled in any of the Colleges in

Spain, and therefore he would go to St. Omers ;

and from that day I never faw him till I faw him
in the Court : I hope, truly, I have well proved that

he was not here in England when he fays he
was, but that I muft leave to the Jury : But
furely thefe Boys cannot be fuppofed to have
any Defign, or to be bribed by any Reward,
for I never faw the Face of any of them, till

now.
L. C. J. North. They are all Papifts, and fpeak

in a general Caufe.

Langhorn. If that be an Objection againft

them, I think it is hard if they are not to be be-

lieved becaufethey are Papifts and Friends ; then

the other, on the contrary, are not to be believed

becaufe they are Enemies : I think it is clear that

he did not lodge at Grove's Houfe •, and I think

it is clear that he did not come over in the Pac-

quet-Boat with Mr. Hit/ley, and that Sir Thomas
Prejton did not come over with him, nor Warner,
nor Poole ; arid if any of thefe Points be clear for

me, I think his Teftimony ought to be fet afide.

Now, as to what Bedlow fays, in truth it is im-
poffible for me to examine any Witnefles, and
that I think will be your Lord (hip's Opinion j

it will not feem probable that one that was in

my way of Practice fhould become a Clerk to

regifler Letters, and to keep Accounts of any
particular Religious Order, as he makes me to

do ; or, if I were, that I fhould admit Mr. Bed-

low to be privy to thofe Accounts ; but that I

muft leave to the Court ; my Lord, 'tis impoffi-

ble to prove a Negative : Mr. Bedlow is a Perfon

that 1 have no Acquaintance with ; truly 1 do
not know that ever I faw him before this time

in all my Life ; tho' it is poflible I may have

feen him, but I do not know that ever 1 did :

Now, that I fhould admit fuch a Perfon to fuch

a Privacy in Accounts of this Nature, (if I were

guilty of them) feems very improbable ; but yet,

as I laid, it is impoflible to prove a Negative. If

I had known what he would have charged upon
me before, perhaps I might have made a better

Defence ; and for thofe Witnefles that 1 have had,

they were prepared by fuch Friends as thought

they would be ufeful for me. Thefe Men have

had time to get their Witnefles together : I never

faw one of mine till they came into the Court. I

hope, my Lord, I fhall find no Difadvantage in

my coming here upon the Account of my Reli-

ligion, for that would feem as if you condemned

me merely for that : I difclaim all Principles of

Difloyalty ; and I do aflbre your Lordfhip, I do

believe it is Damnation to any one that fhall go

about to kill the King, or deprive him of his Go-
vernment •, 1 fhall leave the reft to your Lord-

fhip and the Jury.

L. C J. Look you, Gentlemen, you have had

an Account, in the firft Part of the Evidence, in

general, That there was a general Defign of

bringing
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bringing in Popery ; and in order to that, as the

belt and quickeft means to accomplifh it, to de-

ftroy the King. And without doubt they were

in the right, for that matter : To deftroy the

King, was the moll effectual Courfe to introduce

Popery they could take. Whether they would

do it, or no, is not now any Queftion ; but, How
much Mr. Langhorn, the Prifoner at the Bar, is

concerned in it ? And that depends upon the

Teftimony of Witneffes.

The Teftimony that Mr. Oates gives againft

him, amounts but to thus much : 1 cannot af-

firm, fays he, that Mr. Langhorn was at the

Confult, on the z^th of April, at the White-

Horfe tavern, where they Signed the Agreement to

deftroy the King : But this I can fay, 'that the next

Day, or within a Day or two, I went, by Order

from the Fathers, Whitebread and Harcourt, to

Langhorn' .f Chamber, and acquainted him with

what they had agreed upon. And he fwears,

That Mr. Langhorn did lift up his Hands and

Eyes, and pray to God to give them good Suc-

cefs. He tells you further, That after fome

Talk with him, about bringing in of Popery,

and deftroying of the King, he had alfo Dif-

courfe concerning feveral Commiffions ; that he

faw about feven ar eight of them, and that he

told him, he had more : One for my Lord

Bellafis, to be General, and one for himfelf to

be Advocate-General, with others ; but thofe,

he fays, he faw and perufed them : And tho 5 he

does not know of the Delivery of thofe feveral

Commiffions, yet he does know of the Delivery

of one to his Son, to be carried to my Lord of

Arundel's eldeft Son : And he does fay, That

Mr. Langhorn did tell him, he had fent it ;

and fwears, that he had fome Difcourfe with

him, concerning Killing the King.

Bedlow, he comes, and fwears, That he was

there twice, and that he faw him Tranfcribe

Letters-, and that the Effect of one of them

was, That they were prepared with Arms, and

all things, but Money. That the Garrifons al-

fo were ready to be delivered up to them, but

they ftaid only for this, and Six Thoufand

Pounds would do it, which the Benediclines were

to raife. If that came, then there was nothing

wanting. They had an eafy King, whom they

could deftroy as they pleafed ; an Army in Rea-

dinefs, every thing in good Pofture, and no

Time like this, to bring in Popery : Which
Difcourfe, he fays, was before Mr. Coleman.

Here is the Effect then of thofe Letters which by

him were written into a Book, and in which

this Plot and this Contrivance was mentioned.

Thefe were Tranfcribed by Mr. Langhorn, fays

he, while Mr. Coleman and I walked in his

Chamber. I faw him write them. And he fwears

i
it.

Now the Matter is this j If thefe two Wit-
neffes do fwear true, then is this Indictment of

Treafon highly proved. For the contriving, To

; bring in Popery, To levy War, and, to kilt the

King, (which, when he was acquainted withal, he

! lift up his Hands and Eyes, and begged of God
1

to give it good Succefs •, and which Bedlow fays,

was the Effect of the Letters that he Tranfcribed

into the BookJ Mr. Langhorn himfelf will not

deny to be High-Treafon : And when this is

fworn here by two Witneffes, he muft either

invalidate their Teftimony, or acknowledge it

juft, if you find him guilty of the Indictment
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with which he is charged. Now the Que-
ftion is, What Defence there is againft it ?

Mr. Langhorn fays, If I can difprove a Wit-
nefs in any one material Thing that he fays,

then will it take off from his Credit in every

thing he fays. And firft as to Mr. Oates •»

Saith he, I did know him, I muft confefs, but

I never faw him fince the Year 1677. The
thing that Mr. Oates charges him with, is in

April or May 1678, or thereabouts. And Mr.
Langhorn fays, he never faw him fince 77, Why
Mr. Oates, faith he, was not here in England ;

and produces a great many Witneffes, that came
from beyond Sea, to teftify, That Mr. Oates

was there in April and May, and longer. And
whereas Mr. Oates fays, That there came over
in his Company with him, Sir John Warner, Sir

Thomas Prefton, Mr. Poole, and others ; He proves
by fome Witneffes, That Mr. Oates was there

both Months •, and by others, That Sir John War-
ner was at IVotton, and Sir Thomas Prefton at

Liege, and Poole at St. Omers, at the Time that

Mr. Oates fays they came over with him : And
this, fays he, I hope will be plain Evidence
why you fliould not believe Mr Oates ; and
the rather, becaufe thefe Witneffes are fuch,

fays he, as that I do not fo much as know
their Faces; and you will not prefume, that

People to whom I am wholly a Stranger, fhould

come hither from St. Omers, to teftify a Lye for

me.

In Anfwer to this, I fay, 'Tis no good Ar-
gument for all that ; for though I believe they

are Strangers to him, they are not Strangers to

the Errand they came about. They came to

defend all the Roman Catholicks, whom we
would hang here for a Plot ; and they are fent

over for that purpofe, as far as their Teftimony
can go. How tar that is, though they are not

upon their Oaths, (for the Law will not permit

it) I muft fay to you, in Favour of the Prifoner

at the Bar, as I did to the Jury yefterday.

You muft not take it, therefore, as if it

were mcer Talk, and no more ; nor reject

them too much becaufe they do not fwear

:

They would fwear, 'tis likely, if the Law
would allow it. Only one Remark I muft
obferve to you upon their own Evidence :

The St. Omers Gard'ner (which is one of
them) takes upon him to give a very exact.

Account of Mr. Oates, in the Months of April

and May ; but when I came to enquire, what
he knew of him in the Months of June and

July; he tells you, Thofe were not the Months
in Queftion.

But on the other Side, did not the Principles

of their Religion fo teach, and make us to

know, that they will not ftick at any Wicked-
nefs to propagate it : Did not the beft and
chiefeft Doctors of their Church preach and
print it : Did not his Holinefs, the Pope, al-

low it ; and never condemn any one Book in the

World that hath afferted the Lawfulnefs of
Deposing and Killing Kings, for fepa-

rating from their Religion ? Did not they

Teach and Practife all forts of Equivocations,

and that a Lye does God good Service, if it be

for the Propagation of the Faith : Were not

thefe young Boys capable of having this Do-
ctrine inftilled into them ; and, Were not they

bred up in Colleges chiefly to ferve that End j

Then Mr. Langhorn had faid fomething. Nei-
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ther are thefe Things artificially objected againft

them, for the Doctrines of their Church are fo

falfe and pernicious, fo deftructive and fo

bloody •, and the Way they take to come off

from all Vows, Oaths, and Sacraments, by Dif-

penfations before-hand, or Indulgence and Par-

dons afterwards, is a thing ftill fo much worfe,

that they are really unfit for Human Society.

They fhould get their Pope, if they would not

have it thrown into their Difh, and have it be-

lieved by us ; I fay, they fhould get the Pope

of Rome to decry and anathematize fuch Do-
ctrines of depofing and killing Kings, and dis-

charging Subjects from their Allegiance : But

that will never be ; for his Holinefs, the Pope,

will keep himfelf where he is, and will part

with Nothing that he hath of Advantage over

any.

Look you, Gentlemen, thus much I cannot o-

mit, with a good Confcience, to fay, The Pro-

feffion, the Doctrines, and the Difcipline of the

Church of Rome is fuch, that it does take away

a great part of the Faith that fhould be given

to thefe WitnefTes ; neverthelefs, we mufl be

fair, and fhould hear them, if we could not an-

fwer what they al ledge, by Evidence to the

contrary. Mr. Oates, therefore, to juftify him-

felf, hath produced, I think, feven or eight

WitnefTes, that do prove, that he was here in

the latter end of -April, and beginning of May,
•which does contradict all their Teftimony, who
do fay, he was abroad all along, from Decem-

ber to June, and that they faw him every other

Day.
'Tis true, if we were certain that what thefe

Young Men fpake, were indeed fo as they fay,

it is impoMible for Mr. Oates's Teftimony to be

believed. If I were fatisfied, that really and

truly Mr. Oates was not here, but was fix

Months together there, and that he hath in-

vented this Story, and made this himfelf ; I

could no longer confide in the Man, nor find

Mr. Langhorn guilty : Yet is not the Time re-

ally the Subftance of the Thing, tho' he hath

made it fo now, becaufe the Confult was the

24th of April, at which he was prefent ; and he

did go, he fays, to Mr. Langhorn, within a

Day or two after, to acquaint him with the Re-

folution of it.

To this end hath Mr. Oates produced feven

or eight WitnefTes that faw him, as they fwear.

He hath produced a Minifter, that fays he faw

him in a Difguife, but having known him be-

fore, recollected him to be the Man. He hath

produced a Woman that agrees with that Sto-

ry •, for fhe fays, that he came and talk'd with

her about it, and told her then, that he had feen

Mr. Oates the Day before, and gives you a To-
ken why it was about that time of the Year.

Now, if this be not a new Matter, and new

found out, this Woman (if fhe fwears true) does

juftify the other in what he did fay a Year ago,

when they could never imagine that any great

Weight and Moment fhould be laid upon that

Accident of his feeing Oates in the Street. He
hath produced to you the Coachman of Sir Ri-

chard Barker, that fays, he knew him well, when

he came to his Matter's Houfe. There he called

him by his Name, That asking for Dr. Tongue,

but not finding him within, he went away pre-

fently ; That he was in Difguife ; That they

acquainted their Matter with it, as foon as he

came home -, and their Mafter fays, That fo

they did. And the Perfon that then lived in

the Houfe, and now is dead, faid to the Maid,
Yonder is Mr. Oates, I think he is either turned

Quaker, or Prieft ; What a kind of Habit
he is got into ! No, faid the Maid, he can't

be a Quaker, becaufe he wears a Periwig ; but
fhe fays, he named him to her, Oates, and that

this is the Man, fhe knew him fince. 'Tis the

fame Man that the young Man fpoke to her a-

bout.

He hath produced farther one of their own
Religion, one that is a Papift ftill, and he fays,

he faw him twice at Mr. Charles Howard's in

Arundel-Houfe. There was indeed fome Per-
plexity they would have put upon it, by rea-

fon of Mr. Howard's Son being dead a Year
before ; but the Witnefs fays he did not know
the Son. A Papift he confefTes himfelf exprefly
to be, if not a Prieft ; and I would not ask
him the Qutftion, becaufe 'tis not fair to make
him accufe himfelf: But he does fwear exprefly,

he faw Mr. Oates at Mr. Charles Howard's, in

April or May, which contradicts all their Wit-
nefTes. He alfo produces a Schoolmafter, that

tells that he dined with him the beginning of
May: And I remember it, fays he, very well,

for we dined by the Fire-fide, which gave me
Occafion to wonder at it, in May, and remember
it. He fays, moreover, that he ftaid three or
four Hours with him, and talk'd or all his

Travels in Spain. Now muft all thefe People
be downright perjured ; it can be no miftake,

but they are all falfly forfworn, if there be not
Truth in it. And when here are feven or eight

WitnefTes pofitively fwearing againft the Affir-

mation of fo many others, we leave the Credit

of both Sides to you, who are the Judges of
the Fact.

There is indeed, (and I will repeat it for

you, for I would not mifs any thing, as near as

I can, that would make for the Prifoner's Ad-
vantage) ; there is a Proof concerning Sir John
Warner, and Prejlon, and Poole, that they were
there at the Time, and there hath been no
Anfwer given to it : But I fay ftill, 'tis the fame
thing •, for if you do not believe thofe Witnef-

fes to fpeak true, that affirm that Oates was there

all the time, but rather believe that he was
here, by feven or eight People that teftify it :

I fay, if you cannot believe he was there,

you will never change your Mind for one Cir-

cumftance, whether he came over with Sir John
Warner and others, or not ; for it is but a Cir-

cumftance.

Langhorn, They are not the fame WitnefTes.

L. C. J. 'Tis true, they are not ; you have

four or five WitnefTes that fpeak apart, but two
of them do fay, that they knew Oates alfo was
there at the fame time that they fpeak that Sir

John Warner was at home.

Langhorn. Not thofe two of Liege, my Lord,

about Sir Thomas Prejlon.

L. C. J. No, they do not, for I leave it to you
of the Jury, upon the whole Matter ; there is

little more to be faid by me. If fo be Credit is

to be given to thefe WitnefTes of Oates, more
than to the others, then you muft find him
Guilty, and the rather, becaufe I do a little fuf-

pect, they come over inftructed, to fay what

they do. You find they apply themfelves to the

Thing they came for j and not only the Gard'ner,

but
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but another could tell you (which hath a very-

great Influence upon me, as to their Credit) that

the Months of April and May were the Months

in Quejlion, and they were not to be examined

any tarther. So that it looks as if thefe Young-

Men were fent of an Errand, and tho' you do

not know them, Mr. Langhorn, and are innocent

as to any tampering with them, yet I am afraid

they are come to ferve the Catholick Caufe, as

they call it. For they are very well taught, and

they keep to thofe Months of April and May, of

all the Months in the Year. Then they bring

the Woman of the Wbite-Horfe-Ta.vzm, where

the Confult of the 24th of April was •, and what

is the Ufe they would make of her ? why, it is,

that Mr. Oates mould make a Story of Fifty Fa-

thers being in her Tavern at one Time ( but he

infifts now there was a matter of Twenty) when

there was not a Room in her Houfe, that would

hold Ten : But you hear how fhe was anfwered,

from Teftimony rifing up in the Court of them-

felves, that were acquainted with her Houfe,

and know, that Forty people may Dine in two

of her Rooms : And the King's Council ob-

ferved well, how Chance itfelf hath put to Si-

lence this Evidence. So that when Matters are

alledged to be done at Home, there is not fo great

a Difficulty as in proving Things that are done

Abroad.

I leave it to you, Sirs. Here is a Gentleman

that ftands at the Bar, upon his Life, on the one

Hand ; but if Mr. Oates fays true, all our Lives,

and Liberties, our King, and Religion, are at the

Stake, on the other Hand. God defend that in-

nocent Blood fhould be fhed, and God defend

us alfo from Popery, and from all Popifh Plots,

and from all the bloody Principles of Papifts,

which are very Cruel, as we know by Expe-

rience ; and you cannot blame us to look to our

felves. For I muft tell you, the Plot is proved

as plain as the Day, and that by Oates ; and far-

ther, Oates'* Teftimony is confirrn'd by that

which can never be anfwered. For when he

comes at his firft Teftimony, and fays, that upon

the 24th of April, fuch a Confult was Summon-
ed, and Held, it falls out, that five Days after a

Letter is found amongft Harcourt's Papers, (a

principal Perfon in the Defign,) which does or-

der the Meeting upon the 24th of April, being

the Day after St. George's Feaft, and gives them
a Caution that they fhould not come too foon to

Town ; that they fhould not appear too much
in London, for fear of difcovering the Defign, and

of difclofing That, the Nature of which requires

Secrecy. Plainer than this is hardly to be writ

from a Jefuit, efpecially in fo dangerous a Mat-
ter. And what can be anfwered to this Letter,

that is found in a Prieft's Hands, four Days af-

ter Mr. Oates had given in his Information about

it?

Put all this together, and if you be fatisfy'd

herein, you may judge the better, as to the par-

ticular Bufinefs of Mr. Langhorn^ how far the

Teftimony of Oates and Bedlow affect him. You
know what you do. And for Bedlow, 'tis true,

what he fays, that there is nothing to be faid to

his Evidence, becaufe no Man can prove a Ne-
gative ; and he fwears exprefly, that he had this

Difcourfe with him, of thefe Treafonable Mat-
ters, killing the King, and altering Religion. If

this be fo, and you are fatisfy'd in that particu-

lar, (and that a Man may very well be, as to the

Subftance,) I do not fee any confiderable Anfwer
that is given. I fay once more, there is the Life

of a Gentleman at Stake, and there are all our

Lives at the Stake : Follow you your Confer-

ences ; do Wifely, do Floneftly, and confider

what is to be done.

L. C. J. North. With my Lord's Leave, be-

caufe there hath been mention made of this Let-

ter, which goes much in Confirmation of Mr.
Oates's Teftimony ; it is in Court, but it hath not

been produe'd at the Bar, I defire it may, if your
Lordfhip pleafe.

Sir Cr. Levinz. It is here in Court, my Lord,
we will give your Lordfhip an Account how we
came by it. Swear Sir Thomas Doleman. Which
was done.

Sir Cr. Levinz. Sir Thomas, did you find the

Paper amongft Mr. Harcourt's Papers ?

Sir Thomas Doleman. I found this Letter among
the Papers of Mr. Harcourt, that were committed
to my Search.

L C. J. When did you find it, Sir?

Sir Thomas Doleman. It was fome five or fix

Days after Mr. Oates had given in his Informa-
tion to the King and Council.

L. C. J. Do you mark it, Gentlemen ? After
Mr. Oates had told the Council of the Confult in

the 24th of April, is this Letter found.

L. C. J. North. 'Tis in Confirmation of Mr.
Oales's Teftimony.

Then the Letter was read, being the Jame with

that in Page 847, in the Trial of White-
bread, Harcourt, &c

L. C. J. This Letter is only as to the Plot in

general, and not to be applied to Mr. Langhorn
in particular.

Langhorn. Mr. Oates might very well be able

to fpeak of this Meeting of this Congregation, as

they call it, before this Letter was taken, 'tis eafy

to believe, becaufe Mr. Oates being at St. Omers,

I fuppofe the like Letters of Summons might
come over to St. Omers, to fetch fome of them
over hither.

L. C. J. You fay well, but if you have but

the Luck to give me an Anfwer to a Thing or

two, you'll have better Fortune, and more Skill

than the Priefls. 'Tis true, he might, perchance,

know of the Confult, if he were at St. Omers

:

But will you tell us what that Defign was ? And
what is the meaning of the putting thofe Words
into the Letter, That they fhould not come too foon

to London, nor appear too much about Town, for

fear of difcovering that Defign, which they knew
required Secrecy in its own Nature ?

Langhorn. My Lord, I will tell you what I

take to be the Meaning of that Letter. The De-
fign, was the holding of a Congregation : There
were divers of them, and it was like the Meeting
of a Dean and Chapter in a College, and he bids

them not to come too long before the Time, for

they were certainly in very great Danger to be

Taken.

L. C. y. What ! at that Time ? What Danger
were they in then ?

Langhorn. Yes, my Lord, the Parliament was
then fitting.

L. C. y. But you know what Indulgence there

was to all Papifts at that Time, if they would
be but quiet. Well s but put it all together, they
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were to come to London, not too foon, nor to ap-

pear too much, becaufe the Parliament was Sit-

ting, for fear of di/covering the Defign. What,

was that only for Mr. Whitebread, and his Fel-

lows, to make an Officer ! Can it be anfwered

by that?

Langhorn. Certainly, their holding of a Con-

gregation in England does require Secrecy.

L. C. J. Gentlemen, here is the Thing, this

is only an Evidence to the Plot in general, that

there is a Plot, and you may make what reafo-

nable Ufe you think fit of it. It is not a parti-

cular Evidence againft Mr. Langhorn's particular

Perfon, only it fhews there was a Plot, and you

have heard what they fay to him in particular

about it. And I'll tell you one Thing more,

which, if Oates fwears true, concerns you very

much. He faith, they were a talking of the

Ten Thoufand Pounds that Sir George Wakeman
was to have for poifoning the King, when their

other Attempts had failed, and that he would not

take under Fifteen Thoufand Pounds : You, Mr.
Langhorn, was very angry, and faid it was a bafe,

covetous Thing in him ; and it being fuch a pub-

lick Caufe, it would have been no matter if he

had done it for nothing. I have repeated as much
as I can well remember, without any Prejudice

to Mr. Langhorn's Teftimony. And fo I leave it

with you.

Then an Officer was fworn to keep the "Jury,

who 'withdrew to confider of their VerdiEt

;

and the fudges alfo went offfrom the Bench,

the Lord Chief Juftice telling the Auditory,

that the Day being fo far fpent, and the

Commijfion determining that Nighty becaufe

of the Term, Sir Geo. Wakeman, and the

reft, could not be Tried till next Seffions.

And after a Jhorf fpace the Jury returned^

and anfwering to their Na?nest delivered in

their Verditl.

Clerk of the Crown. Gentlemen, Are you all

agreed of your Verdict ?

Omnes. Yes.

CI. ofCr. Who mall fay for you?
Omnes. Foreman.

Cl.ofCr. Richard Langhorn, hold up thy Hand.
Look upon the Prifoner : You of the Jury, How
fay you? Is he Guilty of the High-Treafon
whereof he {lands Indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl.ofCr. What Goods or Chattels ?

Foreman. None, to our Knowledge.
CI. ofCr. Hearken to the Verdict, as the Court

hath Recorded it : You fay that Richard Langhorn

is Guilty of the High -Treafon whereof he ftands

Indicted : But you fay that he had no Goods or

Chattels, Lands or Tenements, at the Time of

the High Treafon committed, or at any Time
fince, to your Knowledge. And fo you fay all ?

Omnes. Yes.

Mr. Recorder. It is a Verdict according to the

Juftice of the Evidence.

Upon which there was a very great Shout.

Then Mr. Recorder fentforthe Prifoners Con-

vifled before, to receive their Judgment

;

and they were brought to the Bar, and the

Court proceeded thus

:

CI. ofCr. Richard Langhorn^ hold up thy Hand:

Thou ftandeft Convicted of High-Treafon
What canft thou fay for thyfelf, why the Court

fhould not give Judgment on thee to Die, accor-

ding to Law ?

Langhorn. I have nothing to fay.

CI. of Cr. Thomas White, otherwife Whitebread,

hold up thy Hand : Thou ftandefl Convicted, in

Middlefex, of High -Treafon ; What canft thou

fay for thyfelf, why the Court fhould not give

Judgment on thee to Die, according to Law ?

Whitebread. I can fay nothing.

CI. of Cr. John Fenwick, hold up thy Hand

:

Thou art in the fame Cafe with him that went
laft before thee •, What canft thou fay, &c ?

Fenwick. I have nothing more to fay.

Cl.ofCr. William Harcourt, hold up thy Hand:
Thou art in the fame Cafe with the Two that

went laft before thee ; What canft thou fay, &c ?

Harcourt. I have nothing at all to fay.

CI. of Cr. John Gavan, hold up thy Hand :

Thou art in the fame Cafe with the Three that

went laft before thee ; What canft thou fay, &V ?

Gavan. I have nothing more to fay, than I

did fay. God blefs the King, and the Kingdom.

Cl. of Cr. Anthony Turner, hold up thy Hand :

Thou art in the fame Cafe with the Four that

went laft before thee? What canft thou fay.

Turner. I have nothing to fay.

Cl. of Cr. Then, Crier, make Proclamation

of Silence while Judgment is given, upon pain of
Imprifonment. Which was done on both fides of
the Court.

* Mr. Recorder. You the Prifoners * s
-

r George
at the Bar : You have been feverally jeiFeries.

Arraigned,and now are feverallyCon-

victed of High-Treafon : And that attended with
all the ill Circumflances, that can be poffible to

aggravate fo high a Crime. You attempted the

Life of the beft of Kings, who was full of Mercy
and Companion, even to You, under whom you
might ftill have lived peaceably and quietly, had
not your own Malice and Mifchiefs prevented it.

Nor were you fatisfied with that alone ; for you
intended thereby to make way for the Deflructi-

on of the greateft part of the Kingdom, by a

publick Maflacre, by cutting the Throats of all

Proteftants ; for that alfo appears to be your De-
fign : To effect which, the nearefl Way, and
the beft Means you could think of, was firft to

kill the King. And this was to be done, for the

introducing of another Religion, as you call it;

which, as we think, we more properly call Su-
perftition ; and fo root out the beft Religion

that is Eftablifhed among us by Law. And I

therefore call it the Beft of Religions, even for

your fakes ; for had it not been for the fake of

our Religion, that teaches us net to make fuch

Requitals, as yours feems to teach you, you had
not had that fair formal Way of Trial, and ofbe-
ing Heard, as you now have been ; but Murder
would have been returned to you, for the Mur-
der you intended to commit, both upon the

King, and moft of his People. What a ftrange

fort of Religion is that, whofe Doctrine feems

to
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to allow them to be the greateft Saints in another

World, that can be the rhoft impudent Sinners in

This ? Murder, and the Blackeft of Crimes here,

are the beft Means, among you, to get a Man to

be Canonized a Saint hereafter. Is it not ftrange,

that Men profeffed in Religion, that ufe all En-

deavours to gain Profelytes for Heaven, mould

fo pervert the Scripture, (as I perceive fome of

you have done) and make That juftify your im-

pious Defigns, of Affaffinating Kings, and Mur-

dering their Subjects ? What can be faid to fuch a

fort of People, the very Foundation of whofe Re-

ligion is laid in Blood ? Nay, left you mould not

be able fo eafily to perfuade them fo cleverly to

imbibe thofe Bloody Principles, you do Abfolve

thern from all the Obligations that they remain

under, of Obedience to their Sovereign •, you do

therefore from the Pulpits publickly teach, That

the Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy fignify

nothing. It's a ftrange Religion, that applies

every thing to thefe wicked and deteftable Pur-

pofes.

There is one Gentleman that (land's at the Bar,

whom I am very forry to fee, with all my Heart,

in this Condition, becaufe of fome Acquaintance

1 have had with him heretofore : To lee a Man
who hath Underftanding in the Law, and who
hath arrived to fo great an Eminency in that

Profeffion, as that Gentleman hath done, mould

not remember, that 'tis not only againft the

Rules of all Chriftianky, but even againft the

Rules of his Profeffion, to attempt any Injury

againft the Perfon of the King. He knows, that

it is againft all the Rules of Law, to endeavour

to introduce any Foreign Power into this Land.

So that you finned both againft your Confcience,

and your own certain Knowledge. But your

feveral Crimes have been fo fully proved againft

you, that truly, I think no Perfon that Hands

by, can be in any Doubt of the Guilt : Nor is

there the leaft room for the moft fcrupulous Man
to doubt of the Credibility of the Witneffes^ that

have been examined againft you i And fure I am,
you have been fully Heard, and ftand fairly Con-

victed of thofe Crimes you have been Indicted

for.

I rather mention thefe things to you, becaufe

I know not whether you will think it necefTary

to have any Affiftance, ( I mean fuch Affiftance

as by the Law of the Land is to be allowed to

Perfons in your Condition, of any Proteftant Di-

vines, or of any other Proteftants) to prepare you
for another World. And tho* what hath been

faid proceeds from a Lay-man, to you that are

Profeffed in Religion •, yet I hope, it will not be

thought amifs, it being intended for your Ad-
vantage. Let that vaft Eternity, that you are

ere long to enter into, you are now on the Brink

of it •, I fay, let that prevail with you to con-

fider, that there is a God in Heaven, who will

call you to an Account for every one of thofe

private Confultations, of which we can never

come to any certain Knowledge. Tho' you have

put all thofe Obligations of Secrecy upon your
Party, which Religion could tye them by ; tho'

you give them the Sacrament, not only to oblige

them to do wicked Acts, but to conceal them
when they are done ; yet remember there is a

God in Heaven, from whom you cannot keep
them fecret. All your Ties and Obligations, all

the Difpenfations that you can give to your Infe-
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riors, or your Superiors to you, will never dif-

penfe with that Account you are to give to the

Great God of Heaven.
Gentlemen, with great Charity to your Im-

mortal Souls, I defire you, for the Love of God,
and in the Name of his Son Jefus Chrift, con-

fider thefe Things ; for it will not be long ere

you be fummoned before another Tribunal about
them : And Great and Dreadful is the Day of

Judgment, at which You and all Men muft ap-
pear.

And I hope all Perfons that ftand by, will take
notice, that it is not the Principles of the Pro-
teftant Religion, to Murder any, f let it be upon
their own Heads that profefs it) for we abhor
thefe Things. And we hope thefe publick Tefti-

monies of our Religion, and this fair fort of Trial,

will not only confirm thofe that are Proteftants

now, but will prevail upon thofe whom they have
inveigled into their Perfuafion, to defert fuch a
Religion, till fuch time as they alter their Prin-
ciples, from the Bloodinefs and Inhumanity they
are ftained with, and which thefe Men have in-

ftilled into all their Profelytes. And this I thought
fit to premife to you in great Compaffion and
Charity. And I pray God it may have that

Effect which I defigned ; that is, that it may put
you in mind of that Great Immortality that you
are to enter upon ere long. And thus, having
given you this Hint, and the Law having had
its Courfe upon you, you have been fairly Tried,
fully Heard, and have nothing to fay, why that

Judgment mould not be pronounced, which the

Law hath defigned againft fuch Offenders : I am,
therefore, in the Name of the Court, to do the
Duty which the Law requires of the Court ; and
I do, in the Name of the Courtj pronounce this

to be your Sentence :

That you be conveyedfrom hence to the Placefrom
whence you came, andfrom thenceyou be drawn
to the Place of Execution, upon Hurdles \ That
you be therefeverally hang'd by the Neck ; That
you be cut down Alive ; That your Privy
Members be cut off; That your Bowels be taken

out, and burnt in your View ; That your Heads
be fever'd from your Bodies ; That your Bodies

be divided into four Quarters, and your Quar-
ters to be at the King's Difpofe. And the God
of infinite Mercy be merciful to your Souls.

After which there was a very great Accla-

mation.

Whitehread. My Lord, fince we have not long

to live, we defire we may have the Benefit of
the Company of our Friends, that they may be
permitted to come at us.

Mr. Recorder. Yea, 'tis fit they mould have the

Comfort of their Friends and Relations; and
God forbid, but we mould do all we can to make
their Paffage as comfortable as may be. You
muft keep that Decorum that becomes fuch as

are in your Condition. You know you are un-

der the publick Notice of the World, therefore

you muft ufe the Liberty that is granted to you

with that Moderation and Prudence, that 'tis fit

to ufe fuch a Privilege with ; for 1 (hall not deny
you any lawful Favour.

Langborn. Sir, there will be more People

come to me than ordinary, in Regard of

their Bufinefs, that I have had in my Hands ;

I defire
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I defire they may have the Liberty to come to

me.
Mr. Recorder. I would not deny Mr. Langhorn

any thing that I could grant him : If it be any

Bufinefs that any Perfon would have an Accompt
of, which you have been concern'd in for them,

they may be permitted to come to you.

Capt. Richardfon. There is no Body to be in

private with him, to fay any Thing but what I

fhall hear ?

Langhorn. Yes, my Lord, I hope my Wife
and Children may.
Mr. Recorder. Yes, God forbid but he mould

have his Wife and Children with him.

Langhorn. Or any others, that come about Bu-
finefs ?

Mr. Recorder. Yes, Captain, with the Caution

I have given you.

Then the Court adjourned for London, to

Guild- Hall, the 14th of July, and for
London and Middlefex, to the Old-
Baily, the 1 6th of July next. And the

Prifoners were carried hack to the Goal.

On Friday, June to, the five Jefuits were

drawn upon three Hurdles to the place of Exe-
cution.

In the firfh Hurdle went Thomas Whitebread

and William Harcourt ; in the fecond, Anthony
Turner and John Gavail ; and in the third, John
Fen-wick. And being come to the Place of Exe-
cution they were all put into one Cart.

Then Gavan faid, If God give us his Grace
it's no Matter where we die, at the Gallows, or
elfewhere. The Executioner faftning the Halters,

Gavan faid, I hope you will be civil to dying
Men.

Executioner. I will be civil to you.

Gavan. 1 hope they will give us leave to fpeak.

The laft Speech ofT h o m a s Wh itebread.

I fuppofe it is expected I mould fpeak fome-
thing to the Matter I am condemn'd for, and
brought hither to fuffer; it is no lefs than the

contriving and plotting his Majefty's Death, and
the Alteration of the Government of the Church
and State. You all either know, or ought to know,
I am to make my Appearance before the Face of

Almighty God, and with all imaginable Certainty

and Evidence to receive a final Judgment for all

the Thoughts, Words, and Actions of my whole

Life. So that I am not now upon Terms to

ipeak other than the Truth ; and therefore, in

his moft holy Prefence, and as I hope for Mercy
from his divine Majefty, I do declare to you
here prefent, and to the whole World, that 1 go
out of the World as innocent and as free from
any Guilt of thefe Things, laid to my Charge in

this Matter, as I came into the World from my
Mother's Womb : And that 1 do renounce from
my Heart, all manner of Pardons, Abfolutions,

Difpenfations for Swearing, as Occafions or In-

tereft may feem to require, which fome have been

pleas'd to lay to our Charge, as Matter of our

•Practice and Doctrine ; but is a thing fo unjufti-

fiable and unlawful, that I believe, and ever did,

that no Power on Earth can authorize me, or

any Body, fo to do. As for thofe who have moft

falfly accus'd me (as Time, either in this World

or in the next, will make appear) I do heartily

forgive them, and beg of God to grant them his

holy Grace, that they may repent their unjuft Pro-
ceedings againft me; otherwife they will, in

Conclufion, find they have done themfelves more
Wrong than I have fuffer'd from them, though
that has been a great deal. I pray God blefs his

Majefty both temporally and eternally, which has
been my daily Prayer for him, and is all the
Harm that I ever intended or imagined againft

him. And I do, with this my laft Breath, in

the Sight of God declare, that I never did learn,

or teach, nor believe, nor can, as a Catholick»

believe, that it is lawful, upon any Occafion or
Pretence whatfoever, to defign or contrive- the
Death of his Majefty, or any Hurt to his Per-
fon ; but on the contrary, all are bound to obey,
defend, and preferve his facred Perfon, to the
utmoft of their Power. And I do moreover de-
clare, that this is the true and plain Senfe of my
Soul, in the fight of him who knows the Secrets

of my Heart, and as I hope to fee his bleffed

Face, without any Equivocation, or mental Re-
fervation. This is all I have to fay concerning
the Matter of my Condemnation ; that which re-

mains for me now to do, is to recommend my
Soul into the Hands of my bleffed Redeemer, by
whofe only Merits and Paflion I hope for Salva-
tion.

The laft Speech of Wi l l 1 am Harcou rt.

The Words of dying Perfons have been always
efteem'd as of greateft Authority ; becaufe ut-
ter'd then, when fhortly after they are to be cited

before the high Tribunal of Almighty God. This
gives me hopes that mine may be look'd upon as
fuch ; therefore I do here declare, in the Pre-
fence of Almighty God, the whole Court ofHea-
ven, and this numerous Affembly, that as lever
hope, by the Merits and Paffion of my Lord and
fweet Saviour Jefus Chrift, for eternal Blifs, I am
as innocent as the Child unborn of any thing
laid to my Charge, and for which I am here to

die.

Sheriff How. Or Sir Edmund-bury Godfrey's

Death?
Harcourt. Or Sir Edmund-bury Godfrey's Death.

Sheriff How. Did not you write that Letter

concerning the Difpatch of Sir Edmund-bury God-

frey ?

Harcourt. No, Sir ; thefe are the Words of a

dying Man, I would not do it for a thoufand

Worlds.

Sheriff How. How have you liv'd ?

Harcourt. I have liv'd like a Man of Repute
all my Life, and never was before the Face of a

Judge till my Trial : No Man can accufe me.
I have, from my Youth, been bred up in the E-
ducation of my Duty towards God and Man.

Harcourt. And I do utterly abhor and deteft

that abominable falfe Doctrine laid to our Charge,

that we can have Licences to commit Perjury,

or any Sin to advantage our Caufe, being exprefly

againft the Doctrine of St. Paul, faying, Nonfunt
facienda mala, ut eveniant bona •, Evil is not to be

done that Good may come thereof. And there-

fore we hold it in all Cafes unlawful, to kill or

murder any Perfon whatfoever, much more our

lawful King, now reigning, whofe perfonaJ and

temporal Dominions we are ready to defend

with
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with our Lives and Fortunes, againft any Oppo-
nent whatfoever, none excepted. I forgive all

that have contriv'd my Death, and humbly beg

Pardon of Almighty God for them. And I ask

Pardon of all the World. I pray God bkfs his

Majefty, and grant him a proiperous Reign. The
like 1 wilh to his Royal Confort, the beft of

Queens. I humbly beg the Prayers of all thole

who are in the Communion of the Roman Church,

if any fuch be prefent.

the laft Speech j/Anthony Turner.

Being now, good People, very near my End,

and fummon'd, by aviolcnt Death, to appear be-

fore God's Tribunal, there to render an Account

©fall my Thoughts, Words, and Actions, be-

fore a juft Judge, I conceive S am bound in Con-

fcience to do myfelf that juftice, as to declare

upon Oath my Innocence from the horrid Crime

of Treafon, with which I am falfly accufed :

Arfd lefteem it a Duty I owe toChriftian Cha-

rity, to publifh to the World before my Death,

all that I know in this Point, concerning thofe

Catholicks I have converfed with fince the fir ft:

Noife of the Plot, defiring from the Bottom of

my Heart that the whole Truth may appear,

that Innocence may be clear'd, to the great

Glory of God, and the Peace and Welfare of the

King and Country. As to myfelf, I call God to

witnefs, that 1 was never in my whole Life pre-

fent at any Confult or Meeting of the Jefuits,

where any Oath of Secrecry was taken, or the

Sacrament, as a Bond of Secrey, either by me,

or any one of them, to conceal any Plot againft

his Sacred Majefty ; nor was I ever prefent at

any Meeting or Confult of theirs, where any

Propolal was made, or Refolve taken or figned,

either by me or any of them, for taking away
the Life of our dread Sovereign j an Impiety of

fuch a Narure, that had 1 been prefent at any

fuch Meeting, i fhould have been bound by the

Laws of God, and by the Principles of my Reli-

gion (and by God's Grace would have adfced ac-

cordingly) to have difcovered fuch a devilifh

Treafon to the Civil Magiftrate", to the end they

might have been brought to condign Punifhment.

1 was fo far, good People, from being in Septem-

ber laft at a Confult of the Jefuits at
c
tixall

i in

Mr. Ewers's Chamber, that I vow to God, as I

hope for Salvation, I never was fo much as once

that Year at 'Tixall, my Lord Jfton's Houfe.

'Tis true, I was afthe Congregation of the Je-

fuits, held on the 24th of April was twelve-

I month •, but in that Meeting, as I hope to be
''

fav'd, we meddled not with State-Affairs, but
only treated about the Concerns ofour Province,

which is ufually done by us, without Offence to

temporal Princes, every third Year, all the World
over.

Sheriff Hoiv. You do only juftify yourfelves

here. We will not believe a Word that you fay.

Spend your time in Prayer, and we will not think

your time too long.

Tur. lam, good People, as free from the Trea-

fon I am accufed of, as the Child that is unborn ;

and being innocent,! never accu^'d myfelf in Con-
feftion of any thing that 1 am charg'd with. Cer-

tainly, if I had been confeious to myfelf of any

Guilt in this kind, I fhould not fo frankly and
freely, as I did, ofmy own Accord, haveprefent-

ed myfelf before the King's molt honourable
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Privy Council. As for thofe Catholicks which I

have converfed with fince the Noife cf the Plot,

I proteft before God, in the Words of a dying

Man, that I never heard any one of them, either

Prieft or Lay-man, exprefs to me the leaft Know-
ledge of any Plot, that was then on foot amongit
the Catholicks, againft the King's moll excellent

Majefty, for the advancing the Catiiolick Reli-

gion. 1 die a Roman Cathohck, and humbly beg
the Prayers of fuch, for my happy Paffage into

a better Life. I have been of that Religion above
thirty Years, and now give God Almighty infi-

nite Thanks for calling me by his holy Grace to

the Knowledge of this Truth, notwithstanding

the Prejudice of my former Education. God of

his infinite Goodnefs blefs the King, and all the

Royal Family, and grant his Majelty a profpe-

rous Reign here, and a Crown of Glory here-

after. God in his Mercy forgive all thofe which
have falfly accufed me, and .have had any Hand
in my Death : I forgive them from the Bottom
of my Heart, as I hope myfelf for Forgivenels

at the Hands of God.

The laft Speech of John G ava n.

Dearly beloved Countrymen,

I am corne now to the laft Scene of Mortality,

to the Hour of my Death, an Hour which is the

Horizon between Time and Eternity, an Hour
which mult either make me a Star to fhinefor
ever in the Empire above, era Firebrand txrburn

everlaftingly amongft the damned Souls in Hell
below ; an Hour in w hich, if I deal fincerely, and
with a hearty Sorrow acknowledge my Crimes,
I may hope for Mercy •, but if I falfly deny
them, I mull expect; nothing but eternal Damna-
tion j and therefore, what 1 fhall fay in this great

Hour, I hope you will believe. And now in this

Hour I do folemnly fwear, proteft and vow, by
all that is facred in Heaven and on Earth, and as

I hope to fee the Face of God in Glory, that I

am as innocent as the Child unborn of thofe

treafonahle Crimes, which Mr. Oates, and Mr.
Dugdale have fworn againft me in my Trial, and
for which Sentence of Death was pronounced
againft me the Day after my Trial. And that

you may be afTur'd that what I fay is true, I do
in the like manner proteft, vow, and fwear, as I

hope to fee the Face ofGod in Glory, that I do
not, in what I fay unto you, make ufe of any
Equivocation, or mental Refervation, or mate-
rial Prolccution, or any fuch like way to palliate

Truth. Neither do 1 make ufe of any Difpen-
fations from the Pope, or any Body elfej or of
any Oath of Secrecy, or any Abfolution in Con-
feffion, or out of Ccnfefiion, to deny the Truth :

but I fpeak in the plain Senfe which the Words
bear; and if I do fpeak in any other Senfe, to

palliate or hide the Truth, I wifh with all my
Soul that God may exclude me from his heavenly
Glory, and condemn me to the loweft Place of
Hell- Fire: And fo much to that Point.

And now, dear Country-men, in the fecond
place, I do confefsand ownco the whole World,
that I am a Roman Catiiolick, and a Prieft, and
one of that fort of Priefts called Jefuits ; and
now becaufe they are fo falfly charged for hold-

ing King-killing Doctrine, I think it my Duty
to proteft to you with my laft dying Words, that

neither I. in particular, nor the Jefuits in general,

hold any fuch Opinion, but utterly abhor and
6 A deteft
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deteft it : And I allure you, that amongft the

vaft Numbers of Authors, which among the

Jefuits have printed Phiiofophy, Divinity, Cafe^,

or Sermoiv, there is not one, to the bed of my
Knowledge, that allows of King-killing Do-
ctrine, or holds this Pofition, That it is lawful

for a private Perfon to kill a King, although an

Heretick, although a Pagan, although a Tyrant:

There is, I fay, not one Jefuit that holds this,

except Mariana the Spanijh Jefuit, and he de-

fends it not abfolutely, but only problematically,

for which his Book was called in, and that Opi-

nion expunged and cenfur'd. And is it not a fid

thing, that for the Ralhnefs of one lingle Man,
while the reft cry out againft him, and hold the

contrary, that a whole Religious Order mould be

fentenc'd ? But I have not Time to difcufs this

Point at large, and therefore I refer you all to a

Royal Author, I mean the wife and victorious

King Henry the Fourth of France, the Royal
Grandfather of our prefent gracious King, in a

publick Oration which he pronounced, in De-

fence of the Jefuits, amongft other things, de-

claring, that he was very well fathfied with the

Jefuits Doctrine concerning Kings, as being con-

form.ible to the beft Doctors on the Church. But

why do I relate the Teftimony of one fingle

Prince, when the whole Catholick World is the

Jefuits Advocate ? Therein chiefly Germany,

France, Italy, Spain, and Flanders, trull the Edu-
cation of their Youth to 'cm in a very great

meafure ; they truft their own Souls to be go-

vern'd by 'em, in the Adminiftration of the Sa-

craments. And can you imagine fo many great

Kings and Princes, and fo many wife States

Ihould do, or permit this to be done in their

Kingdoms, if the Jefuits were Men of fuch dam-
nable Principles as they are now taken for in

England ?

\\\ the third place, dear Country-men, I do
proteft, that as I never in my Life did machine,

or contrive either the Depolition or Death of

the King, fo now at my Death, I do heartily

defire ot God to grant him a quiet and happy
Reign upon Earth, and an everlafting Crown in

Heaven. For the Judges, alfo, and the Jury, and

all thofe that were any ways concern'd either in

my Trial, Accufation, or Condemnation, I do
humbly ask Pardon of God, to grant them both
temporal and eternal Happinefs. And as for Mr.
Gates and Mr. Dugdale, I call God Co witnefs,

they by falfe Oaths have brought me to this un-

timely End. I heartily forgive them, becaufe

God commands me fo to do ; and I beg of God
for his infinite Mercy to grant them true Sorrow
and Repentance in this World, that they may
be capable of eternal Happinefs in the next. And
having difcharged my Duty towards my felf, and

my own Innocence towards my Order, and its

Doctrine to my Neighbour, and the World, I

have nothing elfe to do now, my Great God,
but to caft my felf into the Arms of your Mercy.

I believe you are One divine Eflence and Three
divine Pcrfons j I believe the Second Perfon of

the Trinity became Man to redeem me : and I

believe you are an eternal Rewarder of the Good,
and an eternal Chaftifer of the Bad. In, fine, I

believe all you have reveal'd for your own infi-

nite Veracity •, I hope in you above all things

for your infinite Fidelity j and I love you above

all things for your infinite Beauty and Goodnefs j

and I am heartily forry that ever I offended fo

great a God, with my whole Heart; I am con-
tented to undergo an ignominious Death for the
Love of you, my dear Jefu, feeing you have been
pleafed to undergo an ignominious Death for the
Love of me.

'the laji Speech of John Fenwick.

Good People, I fuppofe you expect I Ihould
fay fomething as to the Crime I am condemn'd
for, and either acknowledge my Guilt, or affert

my Innocency. I do therefore declare before
God and the whole World, and call God to wit-
nefs, that what I fay is true, that I am innocent
ofwhat is laid to my Charge of Plotting the King's
Death, and endeavouring to fubverc the Govern-
ment, and bring in a Foreign Power, as the Child
unborn ; and that I know nothing of it, but
what 1 have learnt from Mr. Oates and his Com-
panions, and what comes originally from them.

Sheriff How. If you can make a good Conclu-
lion to your own Life, it will do well ; confider
if your Letters did not agree with the Evidence,
that's another matter.

Fenwick. I allure you, I do renounce all Trea-
fon from my very Heart. I have always, and e-

ver lhall difown the Opinion of fuch devilifli

Practices as thefe are of King-killing, [f I (peak

not the whole Frame of my Heart, I wilh God
may exclude me from his Glory.

Sher. How. Thofe that murdered Sir Edmund-
bury Godfrey faid as you do.

Fenwick. As for Sir Edmundbury Godfrey, I

proteft before God, I know nothing of it : [

never faw the Man in my Life.

Sher. How. For my part, I am of Opinion
you had a Hand in it.

Fenwick. Now that I am a dying Man, do you
think I would go and damn my Soul ?

Sher. How. I wilh you all the Good I can, but
I'll allure you, I believe never a Word you lay.

Fenwick. I pray for his Majefty every Day,
and wilh him all Happinefs with all my Heart.

Alfo I do with all my Soul pardon all my Ac-
cufers. If the Judge or Jury did any thing amifs,

I pardon them with all my Soul, and all Perfons

directly or indirectly. 1 am very willing and

ready to fuffer this Death. I pray God pardon
me my Sins, and fave my Soul.

And as to what is faid, and commonly believ'd,

of Roman Catholicks, that they are not to be be-

liev'd or trufted, becaufe they can have Difpen-

fations for Lying, Perjury, killing Kings, and o-

ther the molt enormous Crimes •, I do utterly re-

nounce all fuch Pardons and Difpenfitions, and

withal declare, That it is a moft wicked and ma-
licious Calumny caft upon Catholicks, who do
All, with all their Hearts and Souls, hate and de-

teft all fuch wicked and damnable Practices ; and

in the Words of a dying Man, and as I hope for

Mercy at the Hands of God, before whom I

muft Ihortly appear and give an Account of all

my Actions, I do again declare, That what I

have faid is true ; and I hope Chriftian Charity

will not let you think, that by the laft Act of

my Life, I would caft away my Soul, by fealing

up my laft Breath with a damnable Lye.

Then they were at their private Devotions for

about an Hour.
And Mr. Sheriff How fpake to then*} Pray 3r

loud Gentlemen, that we may join wich> you*
wc
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we (hall do you no hurt, if we do you no good.

Are youafham'd of your Prayers? Then hefpake

to Mr. Gavan, and (aid, It is reported >ou did

preach at the -Quakers Meeting.

Gavan. To which he made anfwer, No, Sir,

I never preach'd there in my Life.

After they had ended their Devotions, the

Executioner pulled their Caps over their Faces,

and went down and drew away the Cart, and

they were all hanged together 'till they were

dead, and then cut down and quarter'd, and their

Bodies difpofed of according to his Majefty 's

Command.

July 14, was appointed for the Execution of

Richard Langhorn.

When he came down from his Chamber to be

put in the Sledge, he had a writ;en Speech with

him, but the Sheriff (telling him that he mull

ufe no Papers at the Gallows) took it away, fo

that he repeated there only fo much of it as he

could remember.

When the Hangman was putting the Rope
about his Neck he took it and kiffed it ; after-

wards he faid, I do not know, whether you will

allow me liberty of Speech or no ; beiides the

Noife of the People is fp great, that 1 believe it

is importable to be heard.

I would gladly fpeak to Mr. Sheriff How, [who

coming to him, he fpaks to him thus,] Mr. Sheriff,

I having fome doubt whether 1 mould be fuf-

fer'd to Speak in relaton to my Innocence and

Royalty, I did for that Reafon prepare what I

had to fay in writing and it is dchver'd into your

Hands, and therefore for the particular and pre-

cife Words and Exprefliins I do refer my felf to

that, and hope you will be fo juft to my Memory
that you will permit it to be feen.

I fhall therefors make only a fhort Pref.ce,

and I do declare in the pretence of the Eternal

God, and as I hope to be fav'd by the Merits

and Death ofmy dear Jefus, that I am not Guilty

directly nor indirectly of any Crime that was

iworn againft me: ] do not ipeak this to arraign

the Court ofjultice, either Judges or Jury, but

thofe Men, who did fw< ar it j and the Jury
were at liberty to believe or not believe, as they

pleafed ; and I do like wife fay with the fime

averment, that I did never in my Life fee any

CommifTion, or Patent, or any Writing, or any

other thing under the hand of 'Johannes Paulas

di Oliva.

Sheriff. Nor under no other Hand ?

Langhorn. No, nor under any or her Hand, of

any Comrniffion or Patent for the railing of an

Army, or any thing elfe againft the King.

Sheriff; What was the Patent for? nothing?

Langhorn. 1 never faw any, nor do I believe

there was any: And whereas I have read in a

Narrative that I fent a Comrniffion by my Son,

to the Lord Arundel of Warder, and that I dcli-

ver'd another to the Lo d Petre (or Peters) with

my own hands, I take -God to witnefs, that I

never faw him in my Life, or ever to my know-
ledge faw the Face of that Lord ; nor did I fend

or know of any thing, that was fent to my Lord
Arundel of Hoarder of that nature.

Sheriff. Shorten your Bufinefs Mr. Langhorn,

you and your Party h::ve fo many ways to equi-

vocate, and after Abfol'ution you may fay any

tlnng.
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Langhorn. I refer my felf to that Paper I gave

you, Mr. Sheriff.

Sheriff. I think it is not fit to be Printed, but
I will do you no wrong

Langhorn. I do not think you will.

Sheriff. You have already printed a Paper, or
fome Body for you.

Langhorn. Sir, I did not Print it, it was
done without any Direction or Permifiion of
mine.

Then he fpake fo much of the Speech as he
could remember ; the whole was as follows.

N regard I could not forefee whether I fhould
be permitted to fpeak at my Death, fo as to

make apubiick Declaration of my Innocency and
Loyalty, as aChrillian ought to do ; conlidering

likewife, that if it fhould be permitted unto me,
it would be more advifable for me rather to pre-

pare beforehand, and fet down in Writing the

very Words in which I ihould make my Decla-
ration, than to truft my Memory with them 5

to the end that the fame may be well confider'd

of, and digefted by me, and that ail Mi (lakes

might be prevented, as far as may be: I fay, in

regard of this, I have in the prefent Paper re-

duced what I have to declare, as to my Inno-
cence and Loyalty. And 'tis in thefe following

Words

:

I do folemnly and fincerely, in the Prefence of
Almighty God, profefs, teftify, and declare, as

followeth ; that is to fay,

1. That I do, with my Heart and Soul, be-
lieve and own my molt gracious Sovereign Lord,
the King's Majefty, King Charles the Second, to

be my true and lawful Sovereign, Prince, and
King, in the fame Senfe and Latitude, to all In-

tents and Purpofes, as in the Oath commonly
called 'The Oath of Allegiance, His faid Majefty is

exprefied to be King of this Realm of Eng-
land.

1. That I do in my Soul believe, that neither

the Pope, nor any Prince, Potentate, or Foreign

Authority, nor the People of England, nor any
Authority out of this Kingdom, or within the

fame, hath or have any Right to difpoffefs his

faid Majefty of the Crown or Government of
England, or to depofe him therefrom, for any
Caufe or pretended Caufe whatfoever, or to

give Licence to me, or to any other of his faid Ma-
jefty's Subjects whatfoever, to bear Arms againft:

his faid Majefty, or to take away his Life, or to do

him any bodily Harm, or to difturb the Govern-
ment of this Kingdom, as the fame is now efta-

blifhed by Law, or to alter, or go about to alter

the faid Government, or the Religion now efta-

blifhed in England, by any way of Force.

3. That I neither am, nor ever was at any

time or times, Guilty, fo much as in my molt

fecret Thoughts, of any Treafon, or Mifprifion

of Treafon whatfoever.

4. That I did not in the Month of November,

or at any other time or times whatfoever, fay un-

to Mr. Oates, or unto any other Perfon or Per-

fons whatfoever, in relation to my Sons in Spain,

or either of them, or in relation to any other

Perfon or Pcrfons whatfoever, that if they did

continue in the World,
; as Secular Priefts, or

otherwiie) they fhould fuddtnly have gieat Pro-

motions in England, for that things would not

laft long in the Pofture wherein they then were-,

6 A 1 nor
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nor did I ever fay any Words to that or the like

effect to any Perfon or Perfons whatioever.

f . That I did never in all my Life-time write

any Letter, or other thing whatfoever, unto, or

receive any Letter or other thing, from Father

tie Chaife, or any Freneh Jefuit whatfoever; or

from Father /inderton, or Cardinal Barbafino, or

any other Cardinal-, nor did 1 ever fee any Let-

ter, or the Copy of any Letter or other Paper,

or other thing, written or purporting to re-

written unto the faid Le Chaife, or unto the faid

Father Anderton, or to the faid Cardinal Barba~

rino, by any Perfon or Perfons whatfoever, other

than the printed Letters printed in the Narrative

ef the Trial of Mr. Edward Coleman, lately Exe-

cuted, which I never faw otherwife than in the

faid printed Narrative; nor did I ever hear any

mention made by any Perfon whatfoever of the

Name of Le Chaife, or Father Le Chaife, before

I read the faid printed Narrative.

6. That I did never in all my Life-time make

any Entry or Entries, into any Book or Books,

or take, or make, or Write, or caufe to be writ-

ten into any Book or Books, or otherwife, any

Letter or Letters, or any Copy or Copies of any

Letter or Letters, written by the faid Edward
Coleman, to any Perfon or Perfons whatfoever.

7. That I did never in all my Life-time enter or

regifter into any Book or Books, Paper or Papers

whatfoever, or take, or make, or write, or caufe

to be written any Copy or Copies of any Act or

Acts, Confult or Confults, Determination or De-
terminations, Order or Orders, Refolve or Re-
folves, or other Matter or Thing, at any time

made, determined, refolved, parted, decreed or

agitated, at any Congregation or Congregations,

Confult or Confults, Chapter or Chap ; ers, Af-

fembly or Aflembhes, of the Society or Order of

the Jefuit s, or of any other religious Order what-

foever ; nor did I ever fee, read, or heard read,

nor did any Perfon or Perfons at any time what-

ibver, ever communicate unto me any fuch Act,

Confult, Determination, Order, Refolve, Mat-

ter or Thing whatfoever.

8. That I did never in all my Life-time, to

my Knowledge, Belief, or Remembrance, fee or

fpeak with Mr. Bedlow, who gave Evidence a-

gainft me at my Trial) until I faw him in that

Court wherein he gave Evidence againfl me.

p. That after the Month of November, which
was in the Year of our Lord 1677, I did never

fee or fpeak with Mr. Titus Oates before-named,

until I faw him in the fame Court where he gave

Evidence againft me at my Trial.

10. That I did never ice, in all my Life-time,

to my Knowledge, Belief, or Remembrance, any

Commiffion or Commiflions, Patent or Patents,

Grant or Grants, Order or Orders, Inftrument

Or Inftruments, Writing or Writings, or other

Matter or Thing whatfoever, under, or pretend-

ed to be under the Hand and Seal, or the Hand
or the Seal of Johannes Paulus de Oiiva, or any

other General of the Jefuits whatfoever, other

than the Paper or Inftrument produced and

ihewed unto me in the faid Court at my Trial,

which whether it was h*gn'd or feal'd by the faid

de'Oliva, I do not know.

11. That! did never in all my Life- time write,

or caufe or procure to be written, any Treafona-

ble Letter or Letters whatf ever, or any thing

>which was or is Treafon or treafonable, in any

Letter or Letters, Book or Books, Paper or
Papers, or otherwife howfoever.

it. That 1 believe, that if I did know, or
fhould know of any Treafon or treafonable Dc-
fign, that was or is intended, or ihould be in-

tended againfl his faid Majefty, or the Govern-
ment of this his Majefty's Kingdom, or for the
Alteration by Force, Advice, or otherwife, of
the faid Government, or of the Religion now
eftablifhed in this Kingdom, and mould conceal
and not difcover the fame unto his faid Majefty,
or his faid Majefty's Council or Minifters, or
fomeofthem; that fuch Concealment would be
in me a Sin unto Death, and eternal Damnation.

13. That I do believe, that it is no ways law-
ful for me to lye, or fpeak any thing which I

know to be untrue •, or to commit any Sin, or
do any Evil, that Good may come of it. And
that it is not the Power of any Prieft, or of the
Pope, or ofGod himfelf, to give me a Licence
to lye, or to fpeak any thing which I know to
be untrue; becaufe every fuch Lye would be a
Sin againft Truth: And Almighty God, who is

perfect Truth, cannot give me a Licence to com-
mit a Sin againft his own ErTence.

And I do folemnly, in the Prefence of God,
profefs, teftify, and declare, That as I hope for
Salvation, and expect any Benefit by the Blood
and Faflion of my deareft Saviour Jefus Chrift, I

do make this Declaration and Proteftation, and
every part thereof, in the plain and ordinary
Senfe of the Words, wherein the fame ftands

written, as they are commonly underftood by
Englijh Proteftants, and the Courts ofJuftice of
England, without any Evafion or Equivocation)
or Deliiiion, or mental Relervation whatfoever:
And without any Difpenfation, or Pardon, or
Abfolution already granted tome, for this or any
other Purpofe,by the Pope, or any other Power,
Authority, or Perfon whatfoever j or, without
any Hope, Expectation or Defire of any fuch.

Difpenfation; and without thinking or believing

that I am or can be acquitted before God or
Man, or abfolved of this Declaration, or any
part thereof, although the Pope, or any other
Perfon or Perfons, or Power or Authority what-
foever mould difpenfe with, or take upon him or
them to difpenfe with, or annul the fame, or de-
clare that it was, or is, or ought to be null or
void in part, or in the whole, from the Begin-
ning, or otherwife howfoever.

Having made this Declaration and Protefta-

tion in the moft plain Terms that I can poffibly

imagine, to exprefs my fincere Loyalty and In-

nocency, and the clear Intention of my Soul, 1

leave ic to the Judgments of all good and chari-

table Perfons whether they will believe what is

here in this manner affirm'd and fworn by me in

myprefentCircumftances, or what is fworn by
my Accufers.

I do now farther declare, That 1 die a Mem-
ber (tho' an unworthy one) of that holy Catho-
lick and Apoftolick Church of Chrift, mention'd
in the Three holy and publick Creeds, of which
Church our Lord Jefus Chrift is the invifible

Head of Influence, to illuminate, guide, protect,

and govern it by his holy Spirit and Grace; and
of which Church the Bifhop of Rome, as the

Succeftor of St. Peter, the Prince of the A-
poftles, is the vifible Head of Government and
Unity.

I
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I take it to be clear, that my Religion is the

fole Caufe which moved mv Accufers to charge

me with the Crime, for which, upon their Evi-

dence, I am adjudged to die ; and that my being

of that Religion, which I here profefs, was the

only Ground which could give them any Hope
to be believed, or which could move my Jury

to believe the Evidence of fuch Men.
I have had not only a Pardon, but alfo great

Advantages, as to Preferments, and Eftates, of-

fer'd unto me, fince this Judgment was againft

me, in cafe I would have forfdeen my Rtligion,

and own'd myfelf Guilty of the Ciime charged

againft me, and charged the fame Crimes upon
others: But bleffcd be my God, who by his

Grace hath preferv'd me from yielding to thofe

Temptations, and ftrengthen'd me rather to

choofe this Death, than to (tain my Soul with

Sin, and to charge others, againft Truth, with

Crimes, of which I do not know that any Per-

fon is Guilty.

Having faid what concerns me to fay as to my
felf, I now humbly befeech God to blefs the

King's Majefty with all temporal and eternal

Bltflings, and to preferve him and his Govern-
ment from all Treafons and Traitors whatfoever j

and that his Majefty may never fall into fuch

Hands as his Royal Father, of glorious Memory,
fell into.

. I alfo humbly befeech thee (O God) to give

true Repentance and Pardon to all my Enemies,

and moft particularly to the faid Mr. Oates and

Mr. Bedlow, and to all who have been any ways

acceffary to the taking away of my Life, and the

fhedding of my innocent Blood, or to the pre-

venting the King's Mercy from being extended
unto me; and likewife to all thofe who rejoiced

at the Judgment given againft me, or at the Exe-
cution of the faid Judgment; and to all thofe

who are or fhall be lb unchriftianly uncharitable,

as to disbelieve, and to refufe to give credit unto
my now Proteftations.

And I befeech thee (O my God) to blefs this

whole Nation, and not to lay the Guilt of my
Blood unto the Charge of this Nation, or of any
other particular Pcrfon or Perions of this Na-
tion. Unite all (O my God) unto thee and thy
Church, by true Faith, Hope, and Charity, for

thy Mercy's fake.

And for all thofe who havefhew'd Charity to

me, I humbly beg (O my Jefus) that thou wilt
reward them with all Bleffings both temporal
and eternal.

'3 7"(y>
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After which he asked the Executioner, whe-
ther the Rope was right or no : He faid, yes : Then
the Executioner asked him whether he didforgive
him: To which Langhom faid, 1 freely do. I
pall now recommend my felf to God in private.

Sheriff. You may have liberty.

Then he Crofs'd himfelf, and pray'd again, Blef-

fed Jefus, into thy Hands I recommend my Soul and
Spirit, now at this Inftant take me into Paradife

:

I am defirous to be with Jefus. I am ready, you
need fay no longer,for me. Upon which he was
turn'd off.
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LXXXV. Zfe Trial of Sir George Wakeman * B'rt -

William Marshal, William Rumley, and
James Corker5 Benedictine Monks, at the

Baily, for High-Treaion, July i8> 1679. 31 Car. II.

B«P§gf PON Friday the 18th of July, 1679,

W.Pi at the Seffions-Houfe in the Old- Baily,

i|| |;^p^ London, the Court being met, and

^vN^^I Proclamation made for Attendance,
&z&£&£g£s^ tne Trials proceeded thus :

Clerk of the Crown. Set Sir George Wakeman^
William Marjhal and William Rumley to the Bar.

Sir George Wakeman, hold up thy Hand. Which
he did. And fo of the other Two.
You ftand indi£ted,by the Names of Sir George

Wakeman, late of the Pari Hi o^ St.. Giles in the

Fields, in the County of Middlefex, Bart. Wil-

liam Marjhal, of the fame Parifh and County,
Gentleman, and William Rumley, of the fame

Parifh and County, Gentleman.

For that you as falfe Traitors againfi the moft

llluftrious, Serene, and moft Excellent Prince,

Charles the Second, by the Grace of God, e/Eng-

* Burn. Hijl. Own Times, Vol. I. p. 467.

land, Scotland, Fiance, and Ireland, King, De-
fender of the Faith, &c. your Supreme and Natural
Lard ; the Fear of God in your Hearts not havings

nor weighing the Duty of your Allegiance, hut being

moved and /educed, by the Inftigation of the Devil;

and the cordial Love, true, due, and natural Obe-

dience, which true and faithful Subjects of our faid

Sovereign Lord the King do, and of Right ought

to bear towards Him, our faid Sovereign Lord the

King, utterly withdrawing, and endeavouring and
intending, with all your Strength, the Peace and
common Tranquillity of this Kingdom of England to

difturb, and the true Worfloip of God within this

Kingdom of England ufed, and by the Laws of the

fame Eftabliflied, to Overthrow, and the Govern-

ment of this Realm to Subvert, and Sedition and
Rebellion, within this Kingdom of England, to

Move, Stir up, and Procure, and the cordial Love,

true, due, and natural Obedience, which true and

faithful
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faithful Subjetls of our faicl Sovereign Lord the King,

ought, and of Right are bound, to bear towards Him,

mr [aid Sovereign Lord the King, wholly to With-

draw, Put out., and Extinguifh, and Him, ourfaid

Sovereign Lord the King, to Death and Final De-

ftrublion to Bring and Put, Ton, t1:e [aid Sir

George Wakeman, William Marfhal, end Wil-

liam Rumley, the yAh Day of Auguft, in the

thirtieth Tear of the Reign of our faid Sovereign

Lord King Charles the Second, at the Pariflo of St.

Giles in the Fields, aforefaid, in the County afore-

faid, falfly, malicioufly, fubtilly, advifedly, and tral-

teroufly did purpofe, compafs, imagine and intend,

Sedition and Rebellion, within this Kingdom of Eng-

land, to move, fir up, and procure, and mifirable

Slaughter amorg the Subjebls of oar faid Sovereign

Lord the King to caufe and procure, and our faid

Sovereign Lord the King, from his Royal State, Ti-

tle, Power and Government of his faid Kingdom of

England, wholly to deprive, depofe, caft down, and

difmherit, and Him, our faicl Sovereign Lord the

King, to Death, and final Deftrublion to bring and

put, and the Government of this Kingdom of Eng-

land, and the fincere Religion of God, within the

fame rightly and by the Laws of the fame eftablifhed,

at your Will and Pleafure to change and alter; and

the State of this whole Kingdom of England,

through all its Parts well inftituted and ordained,

wholly to fubvert anddeftroy, and War againft our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, within this Kingdom

of England, to levy ; and to accomplift) and fulfil

thofe your moft wicked Treafons, and traiterous Ima-

ginations and Purpofes, Ton, the faid Sir George
Wakeman, Willi am Marfhal, and William Rum-
ley, and other falfe Traitors unknown, the aforefaid

0,0th Day of Auguft, with Force and Arms at the

Parifh aforefaid, in the County aforefaid, maliciouf-

ly, fubtilly, advifedly, and traiteroufly did affemble,

unite, and gather your felves together ; and then and

there, falfly, malicioufly, fubtilly, advifedly, devilifh-

ly and tralteroufly did confnlt, confent and agree, our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, to Death and final

Deftrublion to bring and put ; and the Religion with-

in this Kingdom of England rightly, and by the

Laws of the fame eftablifhed, to change and alter to

the Superftition of the Church of Rome ; and to

move, procure, and perfuade them, the faid Wil-

liam M.u'fhal, William Rumley, and other falfe

Traitors unknown, the Agreement aforefaid to fulfil

and accomplift, You, the faid Sir George Wake-
man, after, to wit, the faid 7,0th Day 0/" Auguft,

in the Parifh aforefaid, in the County aforefaid, to

them the faid William Marfhal, William Rum-
ley, and other falfe Traitors unknown, did traite-

roitfly promife to give your Affiflance, the Govern-

?nent of this Kingdom to fubvert, and the true Wor-

Jhip of God, in this Realm rightly and by the Laws
thereof eftablifljed and ufed, to the Superftition of

the Church of Rome to alter : And that You, the

faid Sir George Wakeman, then and there, falfly,

"malicioufly, fubtilly, advifedly, deviiifhly and trai-

teroufty, did undertake to kill and murder our fiaid

Sovereign Lord the King : And in further Preten-

tion of the Treafons, traiterous Confpiracies, Inten-

tions and Agreements aforefaid, You, the faid Sir

George Wakeman, the faid \oth Day of Au-
guft, at the Parifh aforefaid, in the County a-

forefaid, falfly, traiteroufly, and agalnfl the Duty

of your Allegiance, did receive and had (from a cer-

tain Perfon unknown, pretending to be Provincial of

the Jefuits in England, and claiming Authority for

the Granting Commiffions in that Part from the See

of Rome,] one Commit/ion to inflitute and authorize

you the faid Sir George "Wakeman to be Phyjician-

General of the Army, to be ratfed for the waging

War againjl our /aid Sovereign Lord the King with-

in this Kingdom of England, and the fame dm-
miffion then and there, falfly, advifedly, malicioufly

and traiteroufly did infpetl and read over, and trai-

teroufly did keep in your Pofjeffion, and to the fame

falfly, knowingly, advifedly and traiteroufly did con-

fent and agree, with that Intention, that you the

faid Sir George Wakeman fhould have, receive

and exercife the Place and Qffice of Phyfician-Gene-

ral of the Army aforefaid, when you the faid Sir

George Wakeman, William Marihal, William
Rumley, and the faid other falfe Traitors unknown,

fijould have performed and accomplifhed your Trea-

fons, Corapafjings, Imaginations, Purpofes, and trai-

terous Agreements aforefaid. And that you the faid

William Marfhal and William Rumley, in fur-

ther profecution of your Treafons, traiter<<us Confpi-

racies, Intentions and Agreements aforefaid, the /aid

$oth Day of Auguft, in the Parifl) aforefaid, in the

County aforefaid, did falfly, fubtilly and traiterouf-

ly confult, conclude, confent and agree, that ycu the

faid William Marfhal, William Rumley, and 0-

therfalfe Traitors unknown, fhould pay the Sum of
6000 1. towards furthering, and confummating the

traiterous Agreements aforefaid, amongft the faid

fafte Traitors had, ozir faid Sovereign Lord the King

to kill and murder, the true Worfhip of God within

this Realm rightly and by the Laws of the fame e-

ftabUjhed, to the Superflltion of the Church of Rome
to alter, and the Government of this Kingdom of
England to fubvert, againfi the Duty of your Al-
legiance, againft the Peace of our faid Sovereign

Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, and againft

the Form of the Statute in this Cafe made and pro-
vided.

ClofCr. How fay' ft thou, Sir George Wake-
man,zn thou Guilty of this High-Treafon where-
of thou ftandeft Indicted, or Not Guilty?

Sir George Wakeman. Not Guilty.

CI. ofCr. Culprit, How wilt thou be Tried ?

Sir George Wakeman. By God and my Coun-
try.

CI. ofCr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

\_/Jnd fio the other two.']

Cl.ofCr. Set James Corker to the Bar, (who
was Arraigned, and Pleaded the laft Seffions.)

James Corker, hold up thy Hand. You the Pri-

soners at the Bar, Sir George Wakeman, William

Rumley, William Marfljal, and James Corker,

Thole Men that you fhall hear called and perfo-

nally appear, are to pais between our Sovereign

Lord the King and you, upon Trial of your te-

veral Lives and Deaths; If therefore you or a-

ny of you will challenge them, or anv of them,

your Time is to fpeak unto them as they come
to the Book to be fvvorn, and before they be

fworn. Call Ralph Hawtrey, Efa; who appeared,

and there being no Challenges the Twelve thac

were Sworn are as follows.

JURY.
Ralph Hawtrey of Riflipp, Efquire.

Henry Hawley of New- Brentford, Efq;

Henry Hodges of Hanwell, Efq;

Richard Downton of Ifteworth, Efq;

John Bathurfl of Edmonton, Efq;

Robert Hampton of Greenford, hfq;

William
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William Heydon of Greenford, Efq;

John Baldwyn of Hillingdon, Efqj
Richard Dobbins of Harvile, Efqj
William Avery of Enfield, Efq;

William Wayte of St. Clement Danes, Gent.
Richard White of Cripplegate, Gent.

C/. 0/ Cr. Crier, Count thefe. ifo//>£ /£jw-

CnVir, One, &?<;.

G/. 0/ C/\ Richard White.

Cirer. Twelve good Men and True, ftand to-

gether and hear your Evidence.

'Then the ufual Proclamation for Information

•was made, and the Prifoners being bid to

hold up their Hands, the Clerk of the Crown
charged the Jury with them thus.

down, and difinherit, and him ourfaid Sovereign Lord
the King to Death andfinal Deftruclion to bring and

put, and the Government of this Kingdom of Eng-
land, and the finccre Religion of God within the

fame, rightly, and by the Laws of thefame eftablifh-

ed, at his Will and Pleafure, to change and alter,

and the State of this whole Kingdom of England,
thro' all its Parts well inflituted and ordained,

wholly to fubvert and deflroy ; and War, within this

Kingdom vf England, againfi ourfaid Sovereign Lord
the King, to levy : And to accomphjh and fulfil their

faid moft wicked Treafons, and traiterous Imagina-

tions and Purpofes, He the faid James Corker, to-

gether with the faid Thomas White, John Fen-
wick, William Harcouit, J< hn Gavan, and An-
thony Turner, and other falfe -Traitors againfi our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, to the Jurors unknown,

the faid Four and Twentieth Day of April, with

CI. of Cr. You of the Jury, look upon the Pri-

foners, and hearken to their Caufe. They ftand

Indided by the Names of (prout in the Indict-

ment mutatis mutandis) and againfi the Form of

the Statute in that Cafe made and provided

:

And he the faid James Corker, (lands Indicled by

the Name of James Corker of the Parifli of St.

Giles in the Fields, in the Counry of Middlefex,

Clerk ;

For that he with Thomas White, John Fen-

wick, William Harcourt, John Gavan, and An-

thony Turner, as a falfe Traitor againfi the mofi

Illuftrious, moft Serene, and moft Excellent Prince,

Charles the Second, by the Grace of God, of Eng-

land, Scotland, France, and Ireland, King, De-

fender of the Faith, &c. his Supreme and Natural

Lord, not having the Fear of God in bis Heart,

nor weighing the Duty of his Allegiance, but being

moved and feduced by the Inftigation of the Devil,

the cordial Love, true, due, and natural Obedience,

which true andfaithful Subjecls of ourfaid Sovereign

Lord the King, towards him fljould, and of right

ought to bear, wholly withdrawing ; and adviflng,

and with all his Strength, intending the Peace and

common Tranquillity ofthis Realm to difturb, and the

true Worflnp ofGod within this Kingdom o/England

ufed, and by the Law EJlabliJhed, to overthrow, and

the Government of this Realm to Subvert, and Se-

dition and Rebellion within this Kingdom of Eng-

land to move, flir up and procure, and the cordial

Love, and true and due Obedience which true and

faithful Subjecls of ourfaid Sovereign Lord the King, forefaid, falfly, fubtilly, advifedly, malicioufly, de

Force and Arms, 8cc. in the Parifli afore/aid, and
County aforefaid, falfly, malicioufly , fubtilly, advifed-

ly, devilifhly, and traiteroufly did aflemble, unite and
gather together, and then and there, falfly, maliciouf-

ly, fubtilly', advifedly, devilifljly, and t> aiteroufly did

confult, confent, and agree, our faid Sovereign Lord
the King to Death and final De'flruciion to bring and
put, and the Religion of this Kingdom of England,
rightly, and by the Laws of the fame eftablijhed, to

the Superftition of the Romifh Church to change and
alter, and the Government of this Kingdom of Eng-
land to fubvert; and that one Thomas Pickering,

and one John Grove, fliould Kill and Murder our

faul Sovereign Lord the King ; and that he the faid

James Corker, together with the faid Thomas
White, JohnFenwick, William Harcourt,John
Gavan, and Anthony Turner, and other Falfe

Traitors, againfi our faid Sovereign Lord the King,

to the Jurors unknown, fhould therefore fay, cele-

brate, and perform, a certain Number of Maffes,

then and there amongft themfelves agreed on, for the

Soul of the faid Thomas Pickering, and for that

Caufe fhould pay to the faid John Grove a certain

Sum of Money, then and there amongft themfelves

agreed on\ and that he the faid James Corker, to-

gether with the faid Thomas White, John Fen-
wick, William Harcourt, John Gavan, and An-
thony Turner, and other Falfe Traitors to the Ju-
rors unknown, in further profecution of the Treafons

and traiterous Confutations and Agreements afore-

faid., afterwards, the faid Four and Twentieth Day
of April, at the Parijh aforefaid, in the County a-

towards him flwuld, and of right ought to bear, ut

terly ts withdraw, put out, and extinguifh, and our

faid Sovereign Lord the King to Death andfinal De-

firuclion to bring,, and put, on the Four and Twen-

tieth Day of April, in the Thirtieth Year of the

Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord, King Charles the

Second, at the Parijh of St. Giles in the Fields,

in the County of Middlefex aforefaid j He the faid

James Corker, together with the faid Thomas
White, John Fenwick, William Harcourt, John
Gavan, and Anthony Turner, with diverfe other

falfe Traitors, Subjecls of our faid Sovereign Lord

the King, to the Jurors unknown, falfly, fubtilly,

advifedly, malicioufly, and traiteroufly, did purpofe,

compafs, imagine, and intend Sedition and Rebellion

within this Kingdom of England to move, flir up,

and procure, and a miferable Slaughter among the Sub-

jecls of our faid Sovereign Lord the King to procure

and caufe, and our faid Sovereign Lord the King, of

his Kingly State, Title, Power, and Government ofhis

Kingdom ^/England, utterly to deprive, depofe, cafl

vilifhly, and traiteroufly, did feverally each to the

other engage themfelves, and upon the Sacrament

traiteroufly did fwear and promife, to conceal, and
not to divulge the faid moft wicked Treafons, and
traiterous Compafflngs, Confutations, and Purpofes

aforefaid amongft themfelves had, traiteroufly to kill

and murder our faid Sovereign Lord the King, and
to introduce the Romifh Religi on within this King-

dom of England, and the true reformed Religion

within this Realm, rightly, and by the Laws of the

fame eflablifljed, to alter and change. And that he

the faid James Corker, together with the faid Tho-
mas White, John Fenwick, William Harcouit,

John Gavan, and Anthony Turner, and other

fi
:dfe Traitors to the Jurors unknown, in further pro-

fecution of theirJaid Treafons and traiterous Inten-

tions and Agreements aforefaid, afterwards, the faid

Four and Twentieth Day of April, at the Parijh

aforefaid, in the County aforefaid, falfly^ fubtilly, ad-

vifedly, malicioufly, deviliflily, and traiteroufly, did

prepare, perfuade, excite, abet, comfort and counfel

four



92o 85. The TrialofSir G.Wakeman, W. Marfhal;, 3 1 Car. II.

four other Pcrfons to the Jurors unknown, Subjects

of our faid Sovereign Lord the King-, traiteroujly

our [aid Sovereign Lord the King to kill and mur-

der , againji the Duty of his Allegiance, againft the

Peace of our Sovereign the King, his Crown unci Dig-

nity, and againft the Form of the Statute in that

Cafe made and provided.

Upon thefefeveral Indictments they have been

Arraigned, and thereunto have feverally pleaded

Not Guilty, and for their Trial put themfelves

on God and their Country, which Country you
are. Your Charge is to enquire, whether they

be Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof they

Hand Indicted, in Manner and Form as they (land

Indicted, or Not Guilty, £jV.

Mr. Edward Ward, May it pleafe your Lord-,

fhip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury $ Sir George

Wakeman, Bar. William Marfhal, and William

Rumley, the Prifoners at the Bar, (land Indicted j

for that they as falfe Traitors againit our Sove-

reign Lord King Charles the Second, their Su-

preme and Natural Lord, not having the Fear

of God before their Eyes, did traiteroufly en-

deavour and intend, with all their Strength, the

Peace and Tranquillity of this Kingdom of Eng-

land to disturb, and the Worfhip of God in

the fame rightly, and by the Laws of the fame

established, and the Government of the King-
dom in all its Parts well instituted and ordered,

to fubvert and overthrow, and Sedition and Re-

bellion within the fame to move and procure,

and to bring and put the King to Death and fi-

nal Destruction 5 and to that Purpofe the 30th of

Augaft, in the 30th Year of the King that now
is, they did falily, maliciouSly, fubtilly, advifed-

ly,and traiteroufly compafs, imagine, intend, and

devife, thofe things that 1 have enumerated to

you ; that is, Sedition and Rebellion in the King-
dom to move, the Peace and Tranquillity of the

fame to difturb, the Worfhip of God to over-

throw, and the King from his Royal State, Ti-

tle, Power and Government wholly to depofe,

and to put the King to Death and final Destru-

ction, and the Religion at their Wills and Plea-

iures to alter, and to introduce the Romifa Su-
perstition, and War within the Kingdom to Le-
vy againft our Sovereign Lord the King. And
to accomplish thefe Treafons and Puipofes, they

the Prifoners at the Bar, with other falfe Trai-

tors unknown, the Day and Year beforemention-

ed, did afTemble and meet together, and did then

and there confent and agree to put the King to

Death and final Destruction. And to perfuade

Marfhal and Rumley to thefe Treafons, the faid

Sir George Wakeman promifed his Affiftance ; fir ft,

to fubvert the Government, and then to alter the

Religion to the Romifl) Supcrftition, and traite-

roufly undertook to kill the King : And he did

receive for that Purpofe, from the pretended Pro-

vincial of the Jefuits in England, (who claimed

an Authority from the See of Rome, of granting

out Commirlions) a Commission which constitu-

ted him Phyfician-General of the Army} which
Army was to be raifed for the levying of War a-

gainlt the King, and the Subversion of the Go-
vernment and Religion : That he read this Com-
mission, that he kept it in his Poflesfion, that he

confented to it, accepted it, and intended to ex-

ecute the Employment, when their Designs were

accomplished. The Indictment further fets forth,

that Marfial and Rumleyt and other falfe Trai-

tors, agreed to pay the Sum of 6000I. for the

carrying on and effecting of this Treafon ; and
this is laid, to be ag;iinit the Duty of their Alle-

giance, against the Kind's Peace, Crown and Dig-
nity, and againit the Form of the Statute. To
this Indictment they have pleaded Net Guilty ;

if we make out thefe Crimes againft them, or any
of them, you are to find them Guilty.

There is alfo another indicted, that is James
Corker ; For that he is a falfe Traitor againit the

King, and withdrawing his Allegiance, and due
and natural Obedience, which he owed to him,
as his Sovereign,together with other Perfons there

mention'd, White, Fenwick, Harcourt, Gavan, and
'Turner, did intend to overthrow the Rdigion,to
fubvert the Government,and to do all thole Trea-
fons that I have here enumerated, and that they
did the 24th of April, in the 30th Year of this

King, at the Paiiih of St. Giles in the Fields, in

your County, compafs arid imagine the King's
Death, levying of War, and thofe other Things

;

and in order thereunto, they did contrive that

Pickering and Grove Should kill the King, and that

Corker and the others Should fay MaSles for the

Soul of Pickering, and Should pay Grove a Sum
of Money. That to this they plighted their

Faith, and received the Sacrament upon it : And
that Corker and the others, the Day and Year a-

forefaid, traiteroufly perfuaded, excited and a-

betted four other Perfons to murder the King.
To this he hath pleaded Not Guilty $ if we prove
him Guilty of any of thefe things, we hope you
will find it fo.

Sir Robert Sayer. My Lord, and you Gentle-
men of the Jury, The Prifoners at the Bar with
whom you are charged, Stand Indicted as princi-

pal Actors and Instruments of that late moftCa-
tholick and Bloody Plot fome time Since difcover-

edj and I hope, by the Bleffing of Almighty
God, in a great meafure prevented. The Design,

Gentlemen,was againft the King and the Church j

both Church and State were too little a Sacrifice

to be offered up to the univerfal Supremacy of
Rome. They well Jcnew, Gentlemen, that fo

long as God Should preferve the Life of our
Prince, and as long as thofe Legal Pales, where-

with the Church of England is encompafled,

did but continue firm, neither the Gates of

Hell nor Rome could prevail againft it. And
I wiSh that all Proteitants were of the fame
Mind.

I Shall not enter now into any large Difcourfe

of it, no trace the Several Steps of this Plot,

which is fo well known, to all Men of this Na-
tion at this Day, but only touch upon thofe Parts

of it that do concern the Prifoners now at the Bar,

unless they Shall give me occasion to recur to any

former PaiTages. Gentlemen, we Shall make Proof

to you, that the 24th of April, 1678, there was

a very great Ccnfult of a numerous Company of

Jefuits here in London $ and there was the Foun-
dation laid, or aE lead the Execution was then

determined of bringing this Plot to its Accom-
plishment. To this Confult we Shall make it ap-

pear, that the Gentlemen at the Bar were privy

and contenting to it. The King must die, that

is refolved on, and you have heard formerly of

the Several Ways that it was to be acted } fome
Perfons were designed to Shoot him, thefe have

received their Trial and condign PuniShment j

then there was another Set, and they were to

Stab him, and fome of thefe have been brought
to
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tojufticetooj but then there was a third Sort,

(for they did invent all the imaginable Ways of

Death) and that was Poifoning •, and that will

come principally before you at this Time. And
they had chofen out a very proper Inflrumentfor

it, a Gentleman whofe Experience rendred him
able, and whofe near Relation to and Depen-
dance upon the Royal Family, gave him a great

Opportunity to commit that horrid Crime. But,

Gentlemen, tho' hisPerfuafion might go a great

way, yet he would not do it Gratis, and there-

upon he mud be hired for a great Sum of Mo-
ney, not under irooo/. and then he undertook
that great Employment.
We fhall prove to you, that this was his Bar-

gain, that part of his Wages he had received,

Jor he would be fure of fomething in Hand be-

fore the Work were done. We fhall make it

appear, Gentlemen, that he was privy alfo to the

Confult (for I apply my felf at prefent peculiarly

to him) and approved of it. And as a further

Reward, betides that of Money, he was to be

preferred to be Phyflcian- General of the Army
that was then to be raifed, that Employment
was defigned for him ; nay, he accepted of the

Commifiion, as we fhall endeavour to prove to

you.

We fhall alfo prove, that the other Gentlemen
at the Bar, the other Malefactors that ftand there,

were privy to the great Confult of the Death of

the King. That there was 6000/. which was to

be furniihed by the Benedicline Monks ; for tho'

the Jefuits were the great Engineers, yet all the

other Orders were to contribute, and 6000 J. was

to be furniihed by them. And in the courfe of

our Evidence we fhall give you feveral Inrtances

which will concern all thefe particular Prifoners

now at the Bar; and one truly that there was

fuch a Defign of Poifoning, which is very re-

markable, and that was from a very great Engi-

neer that hath fuffered already, and that was
Mr. Ireland; and wherein I mult defire that you
would obferve another thing that falls out very

materially, that tho' Mr. Ireland, at the time of

his Death, and all along, difowned that he was
here in London in Auguft, and with great AlTeve-

rations did affirm it, it will appear by the courfe

of our Evidence that he was here in London then,

and had frequently Difcourfes that it was an
cafy Matter to take off the King by Poifon : And
for that purpofe do I mention it to you as an In-

flance that Poifon was one of the great Ways
that they intended to murder the King by. And,
Gentlemen, you will collect from that Evidence,
what Credit is fit to be given to the Words of
fuch dying Men, and whether living Witneffes

that are upon their Oaths, are not rather to be
believed, than thofe whofe concern it is for more
Reafons than one to perfuade the People that

they are innocent. And you will likewife collect

that thofe who have lived in the Sin of commit-
ting fuch horrid Crimes as thefe are, will not

flick to protect that fame Church (which they

would propagate by thofe Crimes) by denying the

plaineft Truth.
We will not trouble you any further with the

Opening of the Evidence, becaufe the Witneffes

are many, and their Teilimony various; but we
fhall call our Witneffes, and let them tell it you
themfelves.

Mr. Ward. Call Dr. Oates, Mr. Bedlow, Mr.

Dugdale, Mr. Jennifon, and Mr. Praunce, (who
were all fworn, and Mr. Dugdale fet up )

Sir Robert Sawyer. Gentlemen, we call firft

Mr. Dugdale to give you a general Account of
the Plot, not fo much for the Proof of the things

here charged particularly on the Prifoners, as the
general Defign.

Mr. Ward. Pray, Sir, fpeak your Knowledge
of what you know concerning the Plot in ge-
neral.

Dugdale. I have for this feven Years known
fomething of it, but nothing particularly till

within thefe two Years. About two Years fince

it was communicated to me by Mr. Ewers, Mr.
Gavan, Mr. Peters, Mr. Lew/on, and fome other
Priefts, which I cannot now remember their

Names, and they did perfuade me to be of the
Management of the Bufinefs, for the carrying
on of the Defign, for the introducing their Re-
ligion, and for the killing of the King and the
Duke of Monmouth 5 both thofe two things were
communicated to me, upon my Oath, by Mr. Ga-
van, Mr. Ewers, Mr. Peters, Mr. Lewfon, and
my Lord Stafford.

Mr. Juflice Atkins. What, Mr. Gavan that was
executed, do you mean?

Dugdale. Yes, he was the Man : I have had
feveral Pacquets of Letters which concerned the
Plot: All the Letters that came from Mr. Har-
court, or from any others concerning the Plot,

were directed to me: I have had fometimes
eight, fometimes nine, fometimes more Letters

at a time, but I never faw any, almoif:, but
they all tended to the carrying on of this De-
fign.

Lord Chief Juftice*. Did they fliew you thefe

Letters, or did you open them?
Dugdale. I did open feveral of them, a great

many, and fome of them that I could not hand-
fomly feal up again, I kept.

L. C. J. They did not know you opened
them ?

Dugdale. No, they did not all the time.

L. C. J. To what purpofe did they write?

Dugdale. My Lord, they were to give Inftruc-

tions to Mr. Ewers how he fhould manage the
Affairs for carrying on the Defign, how hemuft
go about for the railing of Money, and for the
engaging the Gentlemen in the Country, as par-
ticularly Mr. Gerard of Htlderfon, and Mr.Hozv-
ard of Horecrofs, and Sir James Simons, and one
Gentleman that is dead, one Captain Atherley,

and feveral other Gentlemen were engaged in it,

to be Officers when they had accomplished their

Bufinefs of Killing the King.
Sir Robert Sawyer. You fay they were to be

Officers ; what, were they to be Military Officers.,

or what?
Dugdale. Yes, they were to be Military Offi-

cers.

Sir Robert Sawyer. Was there an Army to be
raifed ?

Dugdale. Yes, there was an Army fpoken of
to be raifed.

Sir Robert Sawyer. By whom ?

Dugdale. There was Money ready in July lafl,

for I faw Acquittances that came from St. O-
mers that the Money was paid. But then there

was Caution given to be fure not to make any
Rumour of Arms or any thing, till the King was
difpatched.

Vol. II,

Sir William Scroggs.
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L. C. J. Did they write that in a Letter?

Dugdale. They writ that in a Letter directed

to me ?

L.C.J. To you?
Dugdale. Yes, to me.

L. C. J. Who writ that Letter ?

Dugdale. My Lord, truly I cannot be certain

at prefent who it was ; but upon recollection I

can, may be, remember who it was : but it con-

tained that there mould be Caution given to all,

to be fure that none mould mention Arms, or a-

ny thing, till the King wasdifpatched.

Sir Robert Sawyer. From whence did that Let-

ter come, Mr. Dugdale ?

Dugdale. It came from Mr. Harcourt, I am
certain, and in Mr. Grove's Pacqueti but I am
not certain of the Perfon that writ the Let-

ter, but I can recoiled!: hereafter, perhaps, who
it was.

L.C.J. Did it come from beyond Sea, or

London ?

Dugdale. It came from London, but I fuppofe

it came thither from beyond Sea.

L. C. J. The Letter came to you, you fay •, was

it dated from any Place, and what?
Dugdale. I am not certain whether it was dated

from any Place ; there were feveral Letters that

came from all Parts, fome from St. Omers, fome

from Paris, fome from Rome.

Sir Robert Sawyer. Pray what do you know of

any Correfpondence that was between your prin-

cipal Agents in Staffordjloire, and thofe Conspira-

tors here at London?
Dugdale. Yes, there was a Correfpondence be-

tween them?

L.C.J. Between whom? Name them.

Dugdale. Betwixt Mr Ewers, Mr. Gavan, and

Mr. Vavafor, thefe were in Stafford/hire j and

betwixt Mr. Ireland, Mr. Harcourt, Mr. Fenwick

and Mr. Grove, thefe I know.
L. C. J. Where were thefe lad ?

Dugdale, In London thefe Perfons were, they

did write conftantly three times a Week Letters

into Staffordjhire about this Bufinefs.

L. C. J. But pray was there any thing men-
tioned in any of thefe Letters concerning Killing

the King?
Dugdale. Yes there was.

L C.J. Was there any thing plain of that in

thofe Letters?

Dugdale. There was in one from Mr. White*

bread.

L. C. J. What did that Letter fay ?

Dugdale. There was one from him that did

give a Caution to Mr. Ewers, that he mould be

fure to choofe no Perfons but fuch as were flout

and hardy, or to that Effect.

L. C.J. To do what?
Dugdale. To kill the King.

L. C. J. Was that exprefled in the Letter?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, it was.

L. C. J. And did they write that they fhould

choofe hardy Perfons to kill the King ? Was that

the Subject of it ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, it was.

L. C. J. Did it come by the common Poft ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, it did ; but they had

devifed it fo, that there was care taken they

fhould not be difcovered, they would fet but two
Letters of their Names to them, and they were

directed all to me, fo that I was to bear all the

Danger.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. How was the Direction ? Was
it directed plainly to you on the out- fide ?

Dugdale.Yes, it was ; and if it were difcovered,

1 was fworn by Mr. Ewers to deny ir, and then
they could not be difcovered.

Mr. Jufi. Atkins. Did they give you any Oath
to that Purpofe ?

Dugdale. Yes, I was fworn Ten times at leaft

to Secrecy, and promifed it on the Sacrament.
Sir Robert Sawyer. Befides what came in thofe

Letters, had you any Difcourfe with any touch-
ing Killing the King?

Dugdale. Yes.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. With whom ?

Dugdale. With Mr. Gavan, Mr. Ewers, Mr.
Lewfon, and my Lord Stafford.

L. C. J. And would they have perfuaded you
to have done it ?

Dugdale. Yes, I was to have been employed
as an Actor in it, either to have taken his Life
away, by Shooting, or by Stabbing, or fome
Way.

L. C. J. Did they propofe it to you, and how,
in what manner would they have you do it?

Dugdale. No, my Lord, I was not told ab-
folutely in what manner; but I was directed to
come to London, and I fhould have Inftructions

about it there.

L. C. J. Tell us again who they were that did
folicit you ?

Dugdale. Mr. Ewers, Mr. Gavan, Mr. Peters,

Mr. Lew/on, and my Lord Stafford.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. My Lord Stafford you fay ?

Dugdale. Yes, I faid fo before, my Lord.
L. C. J. They engaged you in the Bufinefs in

general, you fay, and you were to have Directions
about it at London, that is that you fay?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, Mr. Ireland was to
take care of me there.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Pray, Sir, had you Difcourfe
of the feveral Ways, what Ways were to be ta-

ken?
Dugdale. I had no particular Way mentioned,

but I was told that it was eafy to be done by
Shooting or Stabbing.

L. C. J. Did you ever come to London upon
that Errand ?

Dugdale. No, never.

L.C.J. When they had engaged you to do
the Thing, why did not they fend you about
it?

Dugdale. I was not to come till Oclober.

L. C. J. When was it that you were engaged
firft?

Dugdale. I had particular Intimation of the

Matter of the Plot about two Years before, but

I was not to come up till Oclober.

L.C.J. Which Oclober?

Dugdale. Laft Oclober.

L. C. J. Why, you were engaged a great while
before, how chanced you were not to come up
till Oclober?

Dugdale. I was engaged a Year and a half be-

fore, but it was not pofitively then faid to me,
that I was to beinftrumentalin Killing the King,
till that time, which was about July, when my
Lord Stafford came down, and I was to come
up in Oclober.

L. C. J. I thought you had faid that you were
engaged in it a Year and half before.

Dugdale. That was only in the Plot in ge-
neral.

L. C.J.
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L. C. J. Was there no Time appointed for

the killing the King then? When was it that

you were fir it engaged to be an Inflrument to

take away the King's Life ?

Dugdale. Two Years ago I was fpoke to about

the Plot, but I was not particularly affigned till

the laft Summer, and then I was appointed to

come to London in Oclcber.

L. C J. What faid they then to you ?

Dugdale. My Lord Stafford did offer me foo /.

he told me I fho-rld have that for a Reward at

prefent, and if Things did go on, I fhould have

a better Reward v/hen the Thing was accom-

pliihed, but this was for my prefent Encourage-

ment.

L. C. J. When wereyou to have the Money?

Dugdale. 'When I came to London.

L. C. J. And why did not you come to London

then ?

Du7d.de. I was to come to London, and the

Plot was broke out and difcovered firft.

Mr. Ward. Pray, do you know of any Letters

about the Death of Sir Edmundbury Godfrey ?

Dugdale. Yes, there was a Letter came down

to my Lord Jftorfs, it was directed to Mr. Ew-

ers, and it contained in it, this very Night Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey is difpatched: thofe were

the Words of the Letter.

L. C. J. What Night was that?

Dugdale. I have well remembred it fince, and

it was Saturday Night, which was about the

twelfth of Otlober, or thereabouts, as I remem-

ber: it had thofe Words, 'This very Night Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey is difpatched; and it went

on with more things relating to the Plot, which

1 cannot particularly now remembers and I

catched Mr. Ewers at the reading of it, and faid

J to him, Do you think this is the way to have the

Defign fucceed? if this do not overthrow the Plot, I

will be hang'd. Not fo, faid he, be patient^ and

do not miliruft it, he was a Man that was ufed to

fuhijh debauch'd Perfons, and it will rather reflect

upon them than us.

L. C. J. Did that Letter come to your

Hands?
Dugdale. Yes, it did, but it was writ to Mr.

Ewers.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. What Day did it come to

you?
Dugdale. Upon Monday Morning.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. When was it writ-r^

Dugdale. it was writ the Saturday Night be-

fore.

L. C. J. Did Mr. Ewers fhew it you ? or did

you break open the Letter?

Dugdale. Mr. Ewers fhewed it me for an En-

couragement, that one of our Enemies was taken

out of the way.

Mr. Juft. Wyndham. Did you report it to any

Body ?

Dugdale. Yes, to the Parfon of the Town, and

a Relation of my Lord Aftons.

L. C. J. What was his Name ?

Dugdale. One Mr. Sandwich and Mr. Philips ;

faid I, Do you not hear of a Knight, a Jufiice of

Weftminfter, that is killed? No, faid they, we hear

nothing of it : but it feems Mr. Sandwich went to

Dinner to and there he did report

L. C. J. Why did they look upon Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey as fuch an Enemy to them ?

Vol. II.

Dugdale. They had intruded him before, but

he began to be ftrict with Dr. Oates, fearching

and prying into all the whole Concern, as

Mr. Ewers told me (for I knew no more than he

informed me of) fo they thought good to take

him off.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Gentlemen, will you ask him
any Queflions?

Corker. I would have been glad to have heard

what he faid, but I could not hear the tenth

Part.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Gentlemen, there is nothing

that does particularly reflect, upon you at the Bar,

but is only to prove the general Defign of the

Plot.

Sir Georze Wakeman. 'Tis the worft made out

that ever I think was Trial.

Dugdale. If there be any more Queflions, that

your Lordfhip or the Court will be pleafed to

ask mc, I will be fure to anfwer them.
L. C. J. I will tell you the Effect of what he

fays, and that is this-, he fpeaks in general, thac

there was a Plot to bring in Popery, and in or-

der to that, the bed way was to kill the King j

and to that purpofe, there were feveral Letters

fent Weekly into Stafford/hire, and very often di-

rected by the Cover to him, wherein were feven

or eight feveral Letters, as from Ireland, and Har-
court, and Grove, to People that were in Staf-

fordftrire; that is, to Ewers, and Lezvfon, and Va-
vafor ; and many times they did write concern-

ing the going on with this Plot of Killing the

King, that they muft ufe great Secrecy in it,

and makes mention what Officers they fhould

have for an Army to fupport that Matter, when
they had done ; they engaged him particularly

firft, about two Years ago, to be one in it, but
more precifely in June or July laft was Twelve-
month, and he fhould have gone, he fays, in Oclo-

ber after, up to London, in order to it ; and there

he fhould have Directions from Ireland, how he
fhould manage himfelf. And he gives you an Ac-
count, that my Lord Stafford promifed him he

fhould have foo/. as part of his Reward, and when
the Work was done, he fhould be better grati-

fied ; and he fays, he did intend to have gone
up in Otlober to this Purpofe, but the Plot broke
out, and he was prevented.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Pray, Mr. Dugdale, you have
been formerly Examined, did you hear anything
of a Maffacre ? or of any particular Perfons to be
murdered, befides the King and Duke of Mon-
mouth ?

Dugdale. I do not remember any in particular,

but they two 5 but in general, all Proteftants they

intended to cut off.

Mr. Ward. All Proteftants ?

Dugdale. Yes.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Pray, Sir, what did induce

them to have fo much Confidence in you ? Had
you any fuch Zeal for their Religion?

Dugdale. Yes, infomuch that they thought I

was a Prieft in the Country.

Mr
« Juft. Atkins. Had you been free of your

Purfe? did you give them any Money?
Dugdale. Yes, I gave them for this, and for

the Praying for my Soul, the Sum of 400 /.

which was iecured upon a Deed of Land; and I

promifed them another 100 1. when they made
moan for the Want of Money; and when Mr„
Peters hid if they did not make more Haftewith

6 B 1 their



924 85. The Trial of Sir G. Wakeman, W. Marflial3 3 1 Car II.

their Contributions, they fhould be at a great

Lofs : And Mr. Gavan promifed me, I fhould be

Canonized for a Saint.

L. C. J. When had you given the 400/. ?

Dugdale. I had given it them in Money, it was

upon a Deed of Land, which was conveyed to

Mr. Gerrard, and was to be fold for the railing

of that Money.
Corker. Mr. Dugdale, you make mention of a

certain Letter fent from London here, from Mr.

Harcotirt ; but not Mr. Harcourfs Letter,in which

Letter you fay it was mentioned that the King

fhould be killed, and that an Army fhould be rai-

led, and fome fuch Matters of grand Defign.

Sir, don't you know from whom that Letter

came, I ask you?
Dugdale. I cannot direcfly at prefent call to

mind the Perfon's Name, 1 may by and by, per-

haps.

Corker. Then, my Lord, I appeal to the

Court, and beg the Judgment of the Court, whe-

ther a Letter of that vaft Concernment, about

killing the King, the Deftruftion of the Na-

tion, and the railing of all Army, fhould be fent

from a Man that he himfelf does nor, nor can

tell his Name, nor the Place this Letter came

from. That a Man fhuuld be fo mad to fend

by the common Polt a Letter of fuch vail Con-

cern, and yet neither the Party to whom, nor

the Party from whom it came, be remembred.

Dugdale. I can give you Satisfaction, as to

fome Letters I have received, and I can tell you

in particular from whence they came. One came

from Paris toSt. Omers, and fo from St. Omers to

London, and from thence by a fpecial Meffenger

to ftxall in Staffordjbire ; and my Lord Afton and

Mr. Ewers read it one Night, in my fight, in

the Parlour.

Corker. Juft now he faid it was by a fpecial

Meffenger j before he faid, the Letters came by

a common Pod.
Dugdale. 1 fpeak of another Letter now, than

thofe 1 fpake of before.

L. C. J. He did, indeed, fay before, that there

was a Letter as you repeat it, that had the Im-
portance of killing the King, but he could not

particularly charge himfelf with the Perfon that

writ it, but, faith he, I can now remember ano-

ther Letter, that was fent by a fpecial Meffen-

ger, and he will tell you who that Letter was

writ by, and who it came from. From whom
came it ?

Corker. That was only to correct a former

Lye.

Dugdale. There was J. W. writ to it, and I

fuppofe it was from Sir John Warner.

L. C. J. Where was it dated? Whence did

it come?
Dugdale. There was one from Paris, it was

firft begun at Paris, where Advice was firft to

be had, and Affiftance was promifed, how it

fhould be carried on, and they thought it was

the beft Way, after they had killed the King,

for the Papifts to give the firft Alarm, that it

was thofe ltill King-killing Presbyterians that

had done that A£t, and that then the Church of

England Men would be willinger to join with

the Papifts to cut them off.

L. C. J. This was the Subftance of the Let-

ter?

Dugdale. Yes, this was the Subftance of the

Letter. And the Letters from London faid, they

thought it good Advice, and there were feveral

Lords in England fet their Hands to it, acknow-
ledging it as good Advice: And in that very
Letter there was an Army mentioned, that there

fhould be an Army ready to cut off thofe that

fhould efcape having their Throats cut.

L.C.J. Who brought that Letter?

Dugdale. I do not know who brought it

from London to Bofcobel, but there was a fpecial

Meffenger brought it thence to Tixall, and his

Name was —-— Carrington.

L. C. J. You fay there were feveral Lords fee

their Hands to it j what Lords were they?
Dugdale. I have formerly mentioned them,

there was my Lord Stafford, my Lord Bella/is,

and my Lord Arundel.

L. C. J. To what Purpofe did they fet their

Hands to it?

Dugdale. That they approved it as good Ad-
vice.

L. C. y. Then, Gentlemen, this is that he fay?.

Here is a Letter that was brought by one
Carrington, to my Lord Aft on' s, and the Subftance
of the Letter was to juttify the Killing of the

King, by the railing of an Army, and that this

Letter came from St. Omers, and that it had the
Letters y. W . Subfcribed to it, which was fup-
pofed to be Sir yohn Warner, and that this Let-
ter was looked upon by fome at London, and that

they, as approving of it, fet their Hands to it

as good Advice, and then fent it down into the

Country.

Corker. Was the Letter dated from St. Omers?
Was St. Omers writ in the Infide, what fay you?
Speak.

Dugdak. There were three Letters, I fay, that

came in that Pacquet from St. Omers; one came
from Paris, another from St. Omers, and another

from London.

L. C.y. And all thefe in one Cover?
Dugdale. Yes.
Sir George Wakeman. How could the fame Co-

ver cover all thofe Letters?

Dugdale. All the Letters were cover'd in

'

Grove's Pacquet.

L. C. y Here is the Matter j hefuppofes there

was a Letter writ, firft at Paris, and that is then

fent to St. Omers; and then there was a Letter

writ there, by Sir yohn Warner, or fome of

them, and fent to London, and perufed in England,

by the Lords, and all fent in one Cover into

Staffordfljire.

Corker. Your Lordfhip makes Senfe of it, but

he made none but Contradictions, and faid he did

not know whence it came, nor who writ it.

You fay, Sir, you were one of thofe to kill the

King ; pray when were you to kill the King?
Dugdale. In October, I was to have done it,

when I came up.

Corker. My Lord, here is a Plot and a Defign

driven on feveral Ways, to murder the Ki-ig.

Dr. Oates in his Narrative, as I perceive, gives

us a Defcription of feveral Contrivances that

were made ufe of to commit this Murder. He,

in all his Defcriptions, tells us only, as J take it,

of three Ways of killing the King, the one by
Grove and Pickering, another by the Ruffians, 1

know not whom, a third was by Pnifonj now
Dr. Oates, in all his Relations, makes not any

mention of a fourth Defign to kill the King, or

of any other Plot or Defign at London to kill the

Kingi but he fays, if Grove and Pickering mif-

carried,
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carried, it was to be done by the four Ruffians,

and they mifcarrying, it was to be done by Poi-

fon, now comes he with a Thing that never was

thought of before, that Oates never gives any

Relation of

LC. J. What then ?

Corker. He, my Lord, tells us, that this was

to be done in QBober\ when all the other Things

that were to be done were pad ; and what, fhould

they deiign to kill the King in Oclober, when it

/was to be done before in July or Aaguf ?

L. C. J. Look you, the firft part of your Ob-
jection, wherein you lay he names but three Ways
of killing the King, what do you infer from

that ? that becaufe this Gentleman fays there

was a fourth, there was not. Dr. Oates told you

as much as he knew of the matter, but he does

not undertake to give you an account of all the

Plot or Plotters in this Affair. If you make any

reafonable Objection againlt Mr. Dugdale's Te-

itimony, I will allow it, but thefe Inferences I

mult not. That this is a Grange Story of Mr.

jDugdale's, becaufe 'tis not part of Oates's Diico-

very, is that a reafonable Objection ? But then

for the latter Part, that Dr Oates fays the King
was to have been killed \njuly or Augufl, there-

fore what fhould they think of killing him in

Oclober, he tells you, that in June and July they

did engage him in the general Plot, and firft

then to be inltrumental in killing the King, but

he was not to be gone till Oclober to London to

do it.

• Corker. When the Thing was done.

Mr«Juft PVyndham. No, no, becaufe the Thing
was not done, or becaufe it might mifcarry by
otlvrs, therefore he was to come then.

L. C. J. They could not tell when it' would

be done, or by what Hand it would be done j

therefore they were engaging as many as they

could, provided the Thing were not done.

Marjbal. Amongfl: other Things that feem to

render his Teftimony fufpected, there is one which
is taken from the common Practice of all Men,
in Cafes of like Nature, for where there is Dan-
ger in Matters of Concernment, Men ufe to be

very circumfpect who they choofe, and make
choice of as few as poffibie ; but now here is

Perfon after Perfon, Confpiring without End,

and Letters to this Perfon, and to that Perfon,

and nothing is proved to be done upon it, fo

that here is the greateft Confufion imaginable,

an Hundred of Men, nay, almoita whole Naiion

are acquainted with it, when a few might ferve

the Turn.
Sir Rob. Sawyer. Why do you fay 'twas known

to the whole Nation, when it was fo clofe a

Confpiracy ?

L. C J. North. You that are at the Bar; We
do not object to what you fay, as to the Way of

it, but as to the Time that you deliver it in ; it

is the Courfe, that you deliver your Objections

when the King's Evidence is done ; indeed when
the King's Counfel have done what Queftions

th^y have to ask of the Witneffes, then you

may ask them what Queftions you will, but for

the Obfervations that you would make by way
of Objection to the Evidence, and as to then-

Credit, you mould referve that to the kit, when
the King's Evidence is done.

Prifiners. My Lord, we defire we may be al-

lowed Pen, Ink and Paper.

Corker,for High-
* Mr. Recorder. Let them have

it.

925

* Sir George
Jefferies.L. C. J. Indeed there is one Thing

very considerable on your fide, and 'tis fit there

fhould be an Account given of it. 'Tis very

itrange, that a Thing of that Nature fhould be
writ lb plain, I mean the killing of the King, in

a Letter that fhould be fent by the Common
Polt j what fay you to that ?

Dugdale. Mr. Ewers did it for no other End
in the World, but that they intended, if it fhould

be difcovered, all fhould be flung upon me, and
I was fworn to deny it, and they were to go
free.

L. C. y. What were the Words of the Let-
ter? *

Dugdale. In that of Mr. Wbitcbread's, it was
contained downright plainly, he fhould choofe fucb
as were hardy, for the killing of the King.

L. C. J. And how did that Letter come?
Dugdale. By the common Poft.

Sir George Wakcman. No Man living can be-

lieve it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. There was no mention
of Ewers, on the Out- fide, nor no Name to it,

was there ?

Dugdale. No, none at all, my Lord.
Mr. Jult. Pemberton. No Name to the Let-

ters ?

Dugdale. Only the two firft Letters of their

Names.
Marjhal. Would they, in fuch Cafe, can any

Man think, be fo mad as to venture their Lives,

and all, for they knew not what ? Would the

Lords, whofe Names, he fays, were fubferibed

to one of the Letters, engage their Lives and
Fortunes in the Signing of a Letter, wherein
both were fo much endangered, and commit it

to fuch an Hazard ?

Rumley. Would they fet their Hands to fuch
a Letter, as they could not be certain into whofe
Hands it might come? and he fays, he does not
know who it came from.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Dugdale, was that

Letter by a common Poft, that the Lords fet

their Hands to?

Dugdale. No, it was by a fpecial MefTenger.

L. C. y. Look you, Gentlemen, the Anfwer
that he gives to your Objection is this ; You fay

it is itrange, and indeed it is Co^ that inch a De-
fign fhould be writ fo plain in Englijh, in a Let^

ter ; but he fays there was no Body in Danger
by it, but himfelf, for there was no Body could

tell from whence it came, becaufe only two Let-

ters of the Name were fubferibed ; and, fays he,,

it was directed to me only, and fo I might have

fuffered, but Ewers's Name was not mentioned,

to whom it was intended to go.

Rumley. Yet he fays he does not certainly know
who it came from.

Mr. Recorder. Gentlemen, you have your pro-

per Time for that, if you will make any Re-
marks.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Will you ask him any more
Queiiions ? As for your Arguments, you muft

not ufe them now.
L. C. y. North. But they have defired Pen*

Ink, and Paper ; is it given to them ?

Mr. Recorder. You muft allow the Prifonerp

Pen, Ink, and Paper, if they defire it.

L. C. y. Ay, all of them, if they would have

it. [Which was done.~]

l. c. y.
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L. C. J. Mr. Dugdale, this Letter that came

from Whitehead, it came with others, did it

not ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, it did.

L. C. J. The Cover was directed to you, was

it not ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, it was.

L. C. J. Had the other Letters particular Di-

rections to particular Perfons ?

Dugdale. Every Letter was directed to me/
L. C. J. What, befides the Cover ?

Dugdale. Yes, befides the Cover.

L. C.y. Who were you to communicate them
to ?

Dugdale, They had a particular Mark that

they were known by, there was always a- black

Crofs upon them. I was to give them to Mr.
Ewers, and he was to communicate them to o-

thcrs concerned.

L. C.y. What was upon the other Letters?

Dugdale. I had no Letters but what I delive-

red to Ewers.

L. C. y. Was he the only Man that they were
delivered to ?

Dugdale. Ye?, my Lord.

L. C. y. And he distributed them as he pleafed,

did he ?

Dugdale. Yes.

L. C. y. Had you more Mirks than one?

Dugdale. No, my Lord, no more Marks than

one.

L. C. y. So you were only Agent between
Mr. Ewers and them, and none elfe ?

Mr. Juft. Wyndbam. They were all directed to

you, how did he know who they were to go
to ?

Dugdale. I was to deliver them to him, and

he difperfed them to the feveral Perfons, and he

rid conftantly abroad about it.

L. C. y. Were there feveral Marks to know
who they were to ?

Dugdale. My Lord, he knew, by converfing

with them, their feveral Hands, aid fo could

tell, by what was written, what was intended,

and what the Bufinefs was, and for whom.
Corker. There mud have been feveral Tranf-

actions, and a Man muft have received feveral

Letters, before he knows another's Hand.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Will you ask him any

Queftions? you muft not argue upon it yet.

Rumley. How many Letters came to you, pray,

from beyond Sea ?

Dugdale. An hundred, I believe, in two Years
Time.

Rumley. From how many feveral Perfons ?

Methinks you fhould produce fome of thofe Let-
ters.

Dugdale. There were Letters from Sir yohn
Warner very often. I cannot remember all.

Rumley. Methinks you might be more ready
in your Evidence, than upon every Turn to fay,

You can't remember. Have you none of thofe

Letters ?

Dugdale. I burnt thofe Letters which I kept,

before I intended to difcover the Plot ; but in a

multitude of Letters, 'tis hard to tell Particulars,

I fell you what I remember of them.
Corker. You make mention of killing the King,

andraifing an Army, and thefe were fpecifiedin

two Letters. In thofe Matters which concern-

ed the railing of an Army, were there only

Letters, no Commiffions fent, for the fairm 1? of
Forces? Did you never fee any of the Officers ?

Did you never communicate with any of them ?

L.C.y. Did you fee any CommiffiMns firft?

Dugdale. No, I never did fee any of them.
L. C. y. Did you ever talk with any. that

were intended to be Officers ?

Dugdale. Yes, I have.

L. C. y. Name them.

Dugdale. There was Sir yames Syrnons, and
Mr. Howard, I have talked with them.
L.C.y. With them two?
Dugdale. And with one Captain Adderley, that

is dead.

Corker. Why, there are three Officers towards
the raiting of feveral Thoufands of Men.

Mr. Juft Pemberton. Look you, Mr. Corker
you muft direct your fclf to the Court, and pro-
pofe your Queftions here.

Corker. Mr. Dugdale tells us, that for the pro-
moting of this Defign, that he gave 400 /. and
with the fame Breath fays, he \va> to receive

f00 /. Methinks this is to do and undo.
Mr. Juft. Dolben. Pray keep this arguing of

yours till the laft.

L.C.y. North. The Court hath told you al-
ready, this is- not proper for you. 'Tis true, you
muft have Liberty to ask Queftions becaufe
there are fome Queftions that elfe may be for-
gotten, and the Opportunity will be (oft .- Bur.
when you have asked thofe Queftions, makeycur
own Obfervations upon them in private to ycur
felves, and afterwards it will be time for you to
argue upon it to the Jury, when the King's
Counfel ihall have done their Evidence : But
nowto make thefe Inferences will do you little
Service, and can't be permitted.

Dugdale. My Lord, I defire to anfwer it now.
It was my Lord Stafford that promifed me the
Money, and I went prelently to know of Mr.
Ewers what it meant, becaufe I had given my
Money before, and my Lord Stafford did not, I
fuppofe, know any thing of it.

L. C. J. How long was it before that you wave
the Money? '

&

Dugdale. It was two or three Years before-
at the Beginning, when the Plot was firft dif-
covered to me, for the introducing of their Re-
ligion.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. He was a great Zealot, but
my Lord Stafford did fuppofe the Money might
quicken him.

Dugdale. It was for my Encouragement, and
I fhould have a greater Reward after.

Corker. He received the Money, I fuppofe,
when he was in Prifon for Debt, rather than for
any thing elfe.

L. C. y. North. You mayobferve that by and
by.

L. C. y. Look you, this is what he hath faid,
it is all but in general, and he does not name
any of you Four: But here was a general Con-
nivance, he fays, to bring in Popery j I am afraid
that is too true 5 and as the beft way to effect
that, they refolved to kill the King ;' and I am
afraid that is too true too, for it was indeed the
likelieft way.

77jm flood up Mr. Praunce.

Mr Ward. Mr. Praunce, pray will you give the

Court an Account, only in general, of what
you
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you know of any Defign that was at this time?

Praunce. It was a Fortnight or Three Weeks
bef >re Michaelmas, I went to one Mr. Ireland's

Chamber, in Rujfel- Street, where was Mr. Fen-

wick and Mr. Grovey and there they were dif-

courfing of foooo Men that were to be raifed,

for the iettling of the Roman Catholick Religi-

on ; and I asked Mr. Fenwick, how that could be

done? And he faid, Veryeafily, in a fhorttime.

Then I asked him, What poor Tradefmen fhould

do ? And he faid, I need not fear, for I mould
have Church- Work enough, to make Crucifixes,

Bafons and Candleflicks.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. You are a Working-Gold-

fmith ?

Praunce. Yes. Then I asked, who mould go-

vern them ? And he faid, my Lord Powis, my
IjordStafford, my Lord Arundel, my Lord Bella/is,

and my Lord Petre. Two or three Days after

that, Grove came to my Shop to buy fome Spoons

for a Chriftning; and then I did ask him, what

Office he was to have ? He faid, he did not

know, but he faid, that my Lord Bella/is, my
Lord Powis, and my Lord Petre, had Commif-

fions to govern the Army. And after that, there

was one Mr. Pafion in Duke-Street, I went to

him, to know how I could direft a Letter; and

after a little Time, we fell into Difcourfe con-

cerning the Affairs of the Times. He told me,

The Lords had given out Commiffions, one was

to Sir Henry Bennyfield in Norfolk, another was

to Mr. Stoner in Oxfordfhire, and another was to

Mr. Talbot of Longford. He faid that they had

given Commiffions for to raife an Army.

Mr. Ward. What was that Army to do?

Praunce. It was to fettle the Catholick Reli-

gion.

Mr. Ward. Did you hear any thing mentioned

of killing the King ?

Praunce. Yes, I did.

L. C. J. Who told you this that you fpeak of

about the Commiffions ?

Praunce. Mr. Pa/Ion, my Lord, in Duke-Street.

L C. J. Was he a Prieft ?

Praunce. No, but he kept fome in his Houfe,

and they faid Mafs every Morning.

L. C. J. Is he of any Profeffion ?

Praunce. He was a Counfellor, but doth not

pra&ile now, he hath an Eftate of 5- or 600 a

Year.

L. C. J. Now go on, and fay what he told

you.

Praunce. He faid, there were Commiffions given

out to Sir Henry Bennyfield, and one Talbot of

Longford.

L. C. J. When was it he told you this?

Praunce. It was in Auguft laft.

L. C. J. And did he fay they had Commiffions

fent to them ?

Praunce. Yes, they had them in the Coun-

try, where they were to raife their Troops : I

heard of more, but I only remembred thofe

Three.

Mr. Ward. Do you know one Mejfenger .
?

Praunce. Yes.

Mr. Ward. What Difcourfe had you with

him ?

Praunce. My Lord's Butler told me -
'

L. C. J. Who told you?
Praunce. My Lord's Butler.

L. C. J. What Lord ?

Praunce. My Lord Arundel. He waited then

7

on one Sheldon, that was Almoner to the Dutchefs -

of York. He told me, That Mr. Mejfenger was
to kill the King, and he was to have a good Re-
ward for the fame. Soon after, I was going

over Lincoln's-Inn-Fields , and met with Mr. Mej-

fenger, and asked him, Why he would kill the

King ? He feemed to be furprized, and ftarting

back faid, Who told you that? Said I, Your
Butler told me. Oh, -(aid he, we are quite off

of that now: But then I was going away, and
he called me back, and asked ine, if I would go
and drink with him? No, faid I, I cannot Hay
at this Time. However, pray, faid he, keep
Counfel, for we are off that now.
Mr. Ward. Will you ask the Witnefs any

Queftions ?

Corker. Yes, my Lord. Thofe Commiffions
you fpeak of, when were they fent ? in Auguft?

Praunce. No, I do not fay fo | but that Mr.
Pafton told me of them in Auguft. I cannot tell

the Day.
Sir Rob. Sawyer. If you obferve it, Gentlemen,

he only tells you what fome of the Priefts and
Perfons of your Religion acquainted him with 5

not any thing particularly againft you.

Mr. Ward. Then next we call Mr. Jennifon.

Who flood up.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Mr. Jennifon, pray give the

Court an Account of what you know of any
Defign in Hand, or what Difcourfe you had
with any Perfon about fuch a Thing.

"Jennifon. Sir, in the Month of June 16785
I was at Mr. Ireland's Chamber.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Where, Sir?

Jennifon. In Ruffel-Sireet, next the White-
Hart. And there arofe a Difcourfe about Reli-

gion, and fome hopes there were, he faid, that

the Romifh Religion fhould be publickly owned
again in England ; and when I came in, 1 remem-
ber Mr. Ireland did fay, There was only One in

the Way, that ftop'd the Gap, and htndred the

Catholick Religion from flourifhing in England
again ; and faid, it was an eafy matter to poifon

the King.

L. C. J. Who was by pray when he faid fo ?

Jennifon. His Sifter was by.

L. C. J. Name her, Sir.

Jennifon. Mrs. Anne Ireland.

L.C.J. Whoelfe?
Jennifon. None elfe.

L. C. J. Then there was only you, and Ireland^

and his Sifter. And you fay, That there were
difcourfing concerning their Hopes of bringing

in Religion, and Ireland faid, there was but One
in the Way, and that it was not an hard matter

to poifon the King.

Jennifon. Yes, my Lord ; and fo I not know-
ing any thing at all of the Plot, or imagining
the Defign, did anfwer, Perhaps it may be done,
but it would be a very horrid thing if it fhould.

Then Mrs. Ireland did rebuke her Brother, and
asked him, Why he talk'd fo ? And then he an-

fwered with fome Salvo or other, That he did

not think it ought to be done. Then I purfucd
the Difcourfe about Religion, and told him, I

thought it would never come in by Violence,

and that it was a great fcandal to Religion for

the Profeflbrs of it to propagate and promote ic

by any fuch Ways : And then I put him in mind
of the Gunpowder-Treafon, of the III Succefs

it had, and the great Injury it did to the Caufe,

Pig
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Heanfwcred, That was only a State Trick, and

an Invention of my Lord Cecil's.

L. C. J. Ay, they do fay fo, I knowj were

you a Papift then ?

Jennifon. Yes, my Lord, I was.

L. C.J. Are you one ftill?

Jennifon. No, my Lord.

Ward. Mr. Jennifon, were you with him a-

gain at any time? And what time was it that

you met him, as you remember?
Jennifon. The 19th of Auguft, after I came

from Windfor.

L. C. J. Where did you fee him?
Jennifon. At his own Chamber in Ruffel-

Street.

L. C. J. How do you fo precifely remember
the Day, that it was the ipth of Auguft ?

Jennifon. I remember it by this j the beginning

of Auguft I went to Tunbridge with Mr. Tonftall

and another Gentleman, and there I ftaid till the

14th, when I came to Town, and ftaid two or

three Days, and on Saturday in the Afternoon I

went to Windfor to take my leave of Mr. Bowes,

being to go down into the North \ and there I

ftaid all Sunday, and came back again on Monday
Morning, and came to Town about Twelve o'

clock the ioth Day, as Ihaveconfidereditfince

it was, and a Monday.

L. C. J. And then you want to Ireland's Cham-
ber, did you ?

Jennifon. Yes, then I went to Mr. Ireland's

Chamber.
L. C J. By the Oath you have taken, becaufe

it is very material, not to your Caule, but it

fhews how fit it is that the World mould know
with what Truth or Falfhood thefe Men dare

die, and this Man did in particular. It was af-

firmed by him to the very laft of his Breath,

that he was never here in London after the third

of Auguft, till fome time in September, but was
all the while in Stafford/hire ; and they did at the

laft Trial produce Sir John Southcot, and his

Coachman, and his Lady, and 1 know not how
many other WitnefTes, to give an Account where
he was from the third of Auguft, all along till

the middle of September; and they teftified that

they kept Sixteen Days together in his Compa-
. ny j and then they produced People in Chejhire

to fay, that they faw him there. Therefore I

do now ask you upon your Oath, Are you fure

that you faw Ireland here the 19th of Auguft?

Jennifon. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Do you fwear that pofitively ?

Jennifon. Yes, my Lord, I do.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. He will tell you the Difcourfe

he had with him then.

Jennifon. After that I came to Mr. Ireland's

Chamber, I underftood he was newly come out

of Staffordjhire. And he pull'd off his Boots

while 1 was there upon the Frame of a Table,

or elfe upon aJack, I cannot pofitively tell which,

but I believe it was on a Frame of a Table. I

asked him, how all our Friends did in Stafford-

Jhire? He told me, very well, and that they

would be glad to fee me there. Then he asked

me, whence I came, and where I had been? I

told him, I had been at Windfor. He asked me,

what News? How the Court diverted them-

felves? I told him, I underftood his Majefty

took great Delight in Hawking, and Fifhing,

and chiefly in Fifhing, and ufed to go out very

early in the Morning, accompanied only with

three or four Perfons of Quality.

L. C. J. Did he ask you what Company he

had ? Or did you tell him of your own accord ?

Jennifon. No, I think I told him of my own
accord, that the King went out very early, and
had but little Company with him. Lord, faid

he, I wonder the King fliould go fo thinly

Guarded, he were eafily taken off, I wonder he
fhould go fo open. Said I, God forbid, fure no
body would be fo wicked j and then he qualified

it by fome Expreffion ; fo that at that time I
made no ill Reflection upon it, till after the
Plot broke out, and then difcourfing of it to

my Father and my Sifters, I faid, I wifti it be
not true, pray God there be nothing in this

Plot, becaufe of the Difcourfe that happened
between Mr. Ireland and me. 'Tis very fufpici-

ous, faid I

Sir Rob. Sawyer. At that time had you any
Difcourfe whence he came, and about hisweari-
nefs?

Jennifon. He faid he came out of Staffordjhire,

and came Poft. I underftood he came very
early that Morning. I told him that Scholars,
fuch as he, would rather choofe to come
upon an Ambling Horfe, and that I was weary
my felf.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Were you very well acquaint-
ed with Mr. Ireland that fuffered ?

Jennifon. Yes, very well.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Are you fure he was in Lon-
don the Nineteenth of Auguft?

Jennifon. Yes, and I talked with him then.

L. C. J. How long had you known him be-

fore ?

Jennifon. A Year and a half.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Pray when did you go out
of London to the North? What time did you go
away?

Jennifon. I went the fourth of September, as

the Coach-Book will make it appear.

L. C. J. The Evidence they gave was, that

he did not come to Town till the 13th of Sep-

tember, but he was gone the 4th it feems to the

North, and that is before that time. Well, will

you ask him any Queftions ?

Corker. Mr. Ireland had been in Staffordjhire ?

Had not he ? for the 19th you fay he came to

Town, I do not well remember, but the Defign
of the Ruffians of killing the King, about which
Oates fpeaks, was before the 10th, at the

Confult of which Ireland was fo grand an Inftru-

ment. \

L. C. J. That was in May, was it not?

Corker. No, that of the Ruffians was in Au-

guft, as he fays.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Will you ask him any Que-
ftions? Look upon him 5 you fee how creditable

a Witnefs he is.

Corker. Did you, pray Sir, leave your Reli-

gion, and make this Difcovery before the pre-

tended Plot came out ? When did you leave your
Religion ?

Jennifon. About three Months ago.

L. C. J. He told you that as foon as the Plot

broke out, faid he, I told my Sifters and my Fa-
ther of it, and faid, J pray God this Plot have
not more in it than we arc aware of, for I had
fome Difcourfe with Mr. Ireland, which I took
no notice of then, becaufe he qualified it at that

time, and faid it was not lawful, and did make
nothing of it then, but now it runs much in

my Mind.

Corker.
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Corker. This, he fays, but this Man did not

leave his Religion, nor make this Difcovery till

it appeared advantageous to him fo to do.

Mr. Recorder. It is an Obfcrvation you make,

but it had been well if you, and all of that Per-

fuafion, would have left it when you law what it

led to.

L.C.J. I know not what Advantage you

mean, nor do 1 fee any colour you have to fay

fo, for they fay this Gentleman's Father is one

of iooo a Year, and he is his eldeft Son.

Corker. Are you your Father's Eldeft Son.

Mr. Recorder. There is an Elder Brother, my
Lord, but he is a Prieft.

L. C. J. Is your Elder Brother a Prieft?

Jennifon. My Lord, I do not know that, he

is in Newgate about it.

L. C. J. It is reported that he is fo?

Jennifon. My Lord, I don't know it of my
own knowledge.

Corker. He does not know it, and therefore

he is not the Heir, and therefore the Advantage

of his Eftate is not fuch, but that he might lay

hold of this Difcovery.

Sir Robert Sawyer. 1 hope by and by, Gentle-

men, you will make a better Defence than this.

Mr .Juft- Pemberton. What you fay mould be

by Way of Queftion propofed to the Court.

Mr. Recorder. But you take it upon your Oath

that you faw Ireland the 19th o\ Auguft? Was
that after you met with Mr. Bowes?

Jennifon. I did not meet with Mr. Bowes.

Mr. Recorder. How long after you had left

him was it?

Jennifon. I did not fee him there, I went to

fee him, but he was not there.

L.C.J. But he fays precifely that the ipth

of Auguft he went to Mr. Ireland''% Chamber,

where he faw him pluck off his Boots, and talk-

ing, as if he had come cut of Staffordjhire, Poft,

fo that indeed he was in Staffordjhire, but not all

that time he faid he was.

Air. Ward. Then pray call Mr. Bowes. Who
ivasfwom:

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Pray, Sir, will you give the

Court an Account, when you faw this Gentle-

man, and about what time he went out of

Town.
Bowes. My Lord, I faw him in Auguft, the

beginning, or about the middle of Auguft, in

1'unbridge, before my coming to Town.
Sir Rob. Sawyer. Pray when did he leave this

Town ? when did he go out of Town ?

Bowes. I cannot point blank tell the time,

but I could recollect my felf, I believe, in a lit-

tle time.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Do you know of his going
to Windfor ?

Bowes. I did not fee him there, but he writ a

Letter to me that he went thither to meet me
there, but I faw him not till he came to Town
again.

L.C.J. Who is't you fpeak of?

Bowes. Mr. Jennifon.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. What did he write you in

that Letter?

Bowes. Sir, the Letter is here in Court, I

don't remember the particulars.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Is it here in Court ?

Bowes. Yes, it is, I think.

Mr. Recorder. Shew it him, for it may refrefh

his Memory about the time. [Which was done.']

Vol. II.

L.C.J. Is that the Letter?
Bowes. This is the Letter.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Pray, when did you receive
it?

Bowes. It was in December before Chrijlmas,
here is a Gentleman that then faw it.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Pray, Sir, will you pleafe to
look up;,n it, and then acquaint the Court with
fome of tfie Contents.

L. C. J. North. You are fure, Mr. Bows, that
Mr. Jennifon was in I'own in Auguft}

Bowes. He came then from 1'unbridge.

L. C. J. That is all, we can make no more of
it : Did he meet you at Windfor ?

Bowes. No, my Lord, I was gone to Wind-
for before, and when he came 1 was gone out
of the Town.

L. C. J. What time went you to Windfor?
Bowes. The twelfth or thirteenth of Auguft j

it was on a Monday or a Tuefday after I came
from 1'unbridge.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Then we fhall call one Wit- '

nefs more, and we ihall prove by him (that is

one Mr. Burnet) that the feventeenth of Auguft
he did meet Mr. Jennifon going to Windfor. Pray
call Mr. Burnet. [Who wasfworn.']

L. C. J. Pray, Sir, do you know Mr. Jen-
nifon ?

Burnet. I met him as I was coming from
Windfor that Day Dotchefs Horfe-Race was.

L. C. J. What Day was that ?

Burnet. I cannot exactly remember the Day.
L. C. J. What Month was it?

Burnet. In Auguft.

L. C. J. Was it the middle of Auguft, or the
latter end?

Burnet. It was about the middle of Au-
guft.

L. C. J. This does not fo much relate to you,
but it is to give fatisfaclion to all the World, that

what was aliened by Mr. Ireland all along, and
at his Death, and feems to be juftified by fo ma-
ny WitneiTes as were produced on that account,
to prove that he was not here in Auguft, is ut-
terly untrue; for this Gentleman, Mr. Jennifon,

fwcars he faw him here in Town the 19th of
Auguft; and to prove that Mr. Jennifon was
here, here is Mr. Bowes and this other Gentle-
man that come to fortify his Tellimony, who
fwears precifely, that the 19th of Auguft he

was at Mr. Ireland's Chamber, where he faw
him pluck off his Boots, and talk'd as if he
came Poll then from Staffordjhire.

Corker. I fuppofe it will not be permitted us

to make any Argument upon this neither as yet.

L-C.J. No, no.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. But, now, Gentlemen, it

will behove you to take Notes, for we fhall

come home to you, and we begin with Dr. Oates.

[Who flood up .]

Mr. Ward. Pray, Sir, will you tell your whole
knowledge of this matter, and apply your felf

as near as you can to every one of the Prifoners

at the Bar.

Oates. My Lord, in the Month of July

Mr. Ajhby came to Town fick, and being fick,

and one of the Society, the Prifoner at the Bar,

Sir George Wakeman, was his Phyfician, and be-

ing his Phyfician he did write him fome In-

structions how he fliould order himfelf before he

6 C went,
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went, and at the Bath; That he fhould, in the

firft place, rake a Pint of Milk in the Morning,

and a Pint of Milk at Night, and fhould drink

no Morning's Draughts but Milk, and that he

fhould have one hundred Strokes at the Bath, at

the Pump ; I do not fo well underftand what

that means, but I fuppofe the Court doth ; but

thefe were the words of the Inftru&ions : In

this Letter Sir George Wakeman did write, that

the Queen would affifl him to poifon the King,

and this Letter was brought by a MefTenger to

Mr. Ajhby. Within a Day or two after J faw

Mr. Ajhby and Sir George Wakeman, the Prifoner

at the Bar (he was fo called, but I had no ac-

quaintance with him, but juft the fight of him)

1 faw him fit in a writing Pofture, I faw him

lay by his Pen, rife up and go away, and the

fame Hand that he left behind him in a Paper

where the Ink was not dry, was the fame Hand
that writ the Letter to Mr. Ajhby. And, my
Lord, in that time of converfe, while he was

writing this, Mr. Ajhby did give him fome In-

ftruetions concerning the Commiffion he had re-

ceived of being Phyfician to the Army. Now,
my Lord, in fome few Days after there came a

Gentleman for fome of the Fathers from Wild-

Houfe, that had the Title either of Sir Richard

or Sir Robert, but he was a middle- ftatu-red Man,
and a brisk Man, about the Age of four or five

and forty, and he came with Commands from

the Queen for the Fathers to wait upon her at

Somerfet-Houfe, and I did wait upon thefe Fa-

thers, there was Father Harcourt, Father Kaines,

Father Langworth, and Father Fenwick, and ano-

ther Father, I cannot remember his Name. And,
may it pleafe your Lordfhip, we did attend at

Somerfet-Houfe, and the Fathers went in to the

Queen, into a Chamber where me was, and I

waited in an Anti-Chamber, and I did hear a

Woman's Voice which did fay, that fhe would

affiit them in the propagation of the Catholick

Religion with her Fflate, and that fhe would
not endure thefe Violations of her Bed any lon-

ger, and that fhe would affiff. Sir Geo. Wakeman
in the poifoning of the King. Now, my Lord,,

when they came out I defired that I might fee

the Queen, and fo when J came in I had, as I

believe, from her a gracious Smile. Now, if it

pleafe your Lordfhip, while that I was within I

heard the fame Voice fpeak thus to Father Har-
court, and asked him, whether he had received

the laft 1000 /. and it was the fame Tongue, as

I can pofiibly guefs, the fame Voice which I

heard when 1 was without ; and I faw no other

Woman there but the Queen, and there were

thefe Fathers. My Lord, in that very Month
ofJuly Sir George Wakeman was propofed i cooo /.

in the prefence of Father Harcourt, and Father

Fenwick, I think was there, and Father Ireland.

L. C. J. Were you there ?

Oates. I was there.

L. C.J. Was this Propofal made to Sir George

Wakeman after this Difcourfe you heard at Somer-

fet-Houfe ?

Oates. My Lord, I will not be pofitive whe-
ther it was before or after, but it was near that

time, this ioooo/. he did refufe.

L.C.J. But you fay you heard the ioooo/.
was proffer'd him ; pray, who did propofe it to

him?
Oates. Ajhby was to do it.

L,C. J. But who did it?

Oates. It was Ajhby in the name of the Pro-
vincial, from whom he had received Inftrudions
fo to do.

L.C.J. But you fay, in your hearing ioooo/.
was offered him by Ajhby.

Oates. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. J. What faid he ?

Oates. He refufed it.

L. C.J. What words did he ufe?.

Oates. He faid it was too little.

L.C.J. What was the ioooo/. to be Rivenr

for?

Oates. To poifon the King.
L. C. J. Were thofe the words?
Oates. Yes, they were.

L. C. J. How did the Difcourfe begin?"

Oates. I will tell your Lordfhip how: There
was a Meeting of the Fathers for this very Pur-
pofe to treat with Sir GeorgeWakeman before Ajhby
went to the Bath, and there being a Meeting,
they did break this bufinefs to him; but what
preamble they made to it I cannot remember.
My Lord, as for the other Prifoners at the Bar,
Mr. Corker.

L. C. J. But before you go from this Matter,
you fay you know not how they brought it in,

but they brought it in fome Way, he was to
meet them to that Purpofe, and there Ajhby did
tell him he fhould have ioooo/. What Anfwer
made he to it?

Oates. He faid it was too little for fo great a
Work.

L. C. J. Is that all ?

Oates. That is all that I remember.
L. C. J. Did he fay what he would have ?

Oates. I can't remember that, but he faid that

was too little.

L. C. J. Did he fay he would have five more,
or any other Sum ?

Oates. No, that was not then mentioned

j

but there were Letters prefently difpatched to

Whitebread to tell him, that Sir Geo. Wakeman
had refufed ioooo/. and then this fame White-
bread did order the Fathers in London to propofe
five more, which propofal was made to Sir Geo.

Wakeman. This 1 fpeak but by hear-fay, and
it was accepted, and fooo /. of it received in

Part, and Sir George Wakematfs Name was fub-

fcribed to the Entry-Book.
L. C. J. Did you fee his Name fubferibed ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L.C.J. Where?
Oates. To the Entry-Book.

L. C.J. Where was that Book kept?
Oates. It was the Book that the Jefuits kept:

it was then in our Cuflody.

L.C.J. Whofe Cuftody?
Oates. The Fathers Cuftody.

L. C. J. Whofe particularly? And at whofo
Chamber was it kept ?

Oates. At Wild-Houfe.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Do you know who was the

Keeper of it ?

Oates. I cannot pofitively fay that, I fuppofe

the Secretary and the Fathers.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. And what did you fee writ

in that Book ?

Oates. That fuch a Day (which Day I cannot

remember) but fuch a Day in Augu.fi fo much
was propofed to Sir Geo Wakeman and he ac-

cepted it, and received it : thofe were the

Words, or to that Purpofe.

- L. C. J.
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L. C. J. Were thofe the Words writ in the

Book ?

Gates. Yes, or to that Purpofe.

L.C.J. Do you know whofe Hand writ that?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, I can tell whofe Hand,

it was Father Harcourt writ thofe Words.

L. C. J. Sir Geo. Wakemans Hand was not to

it, was it?
.

Oates. Yes, it was juft underneath : Received

fo much Money of Father Harcourt by the Or-

der of Edward Coleman: now there was the

Goldfmith's Name to it, I cannot undertake to

fay who it was, but in my Confcience I think

it was Staley.

L. C. J. How much was the Money ?

Oates. Five Thoufand Pounds.

L.C.J. Was Sir Geo. Wakeman's Hand fub-

fcribed to that Receipt ?

Oates. Yes, it was.

L. C. J. Once more, what were the Words

in the Book ?

Oates. Memorandum. Such a Day ifooo/. was

propofed to Sir Geo. Wakeman which he accept-

ed. I tell you the Purport, and the Words as

near as I can.

L. C. J. Was it faid for what the Money was

propofed ?

Oates. I will not be pofitive in that, I fuppofe

it was.

L. C. J. But you fay it was written fuch a Day

1 f000 /. was propofed to Sir George IVakeman, and

by him accepted ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, and then underneath it

the Receipt was written, and this Receipt was

written thus, Received in Part of this ifooo/.

foool. of Father Harcourt by Order of Edward
Coleman. Geo. IVakeman.

L. C. J. Was the Receipt, which is faid fuch

a Day, the fame Day with the other?

Oates. There was no other Date to it.

L.C.J. Hadthefirfta Date to it?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, it had.

L.C. J. What Day was it?

Oates. It was in Augufl,

Corker. What Day in Augufi?

Oates. I cannot tell.

Corker. About what time in Augufl?

Oates. It might be betwixt the beginning and

the middle.

L.C.J. But we will fuppofe for the prefent

Queftion a Day: Suppoie it was written the

10th of Augufl, There was propofed i fooo /. to Sir

G. W. and by him accepted; and then comes after-

wards this Note, Received then fooo /. in Part of

this ifooo /. with his Name to it. Was there

any other Date to that ?

Oates. No, that was fet down as the fame

Day, Received 5000 I. in Part by the Order of Ed-

ward Coleman.

L. C. J. And 'then Sir Geo. Wakeman's Name
was fet to it at length, was it ?

Oates. Yes, it was.

Sir Geo. IVakeman. Where was that Received ?

In whofe Chamber?
Oates. I cannot fay that.

L. C. J. Was there any Place mentioned in

the Note where it fhould be Received?

Oates. No, my Lord. I was then fick of the

Stone, and was not at the Payment of the Mo-
ney.

L. C. J. But did the Note mention any Name ?

Received of any Body ?

Vol. II.

Oates. It was by Order of Mr. Edward Cole-
man fooo/. in part of this ifooo/.

Sir Geo. IVakeman. Does he fay this was in the
Entry- Book ?

Oates. Yes, it was.

Sir Geo. IVakeman. Where was that kept ?

Oates. Sometimes at Wild-Houfe, fometimes
Mr. Langhorn had the Cuftody of it.

Sir Geo. IVakeman. I humbly beg of the Court
that Mr. Staley may be fent for.

L. C. J. He only fays he believes Mr. Staley
paid it.

Sir Geo. IVakeman. Does he mention no Place
where it was Received ?

L.C.J. No.
SirGeo. IVakeman. Nor no Perfon it was naid

to?
V

L. C.J. No, he fays, All I faw is this, that
in the Entry-Book fometimes kept at Wild-Houfe,
fometimes by Mr. Langhorn, there was written,
This Day (which was fome Day in Auguft) was
propofed to Sir G. W. ifooo/. and by him ac-
cepted, and under that a Line or two more,
which contained, Then Received fooo/. by Order
of Edward Coleman, being Part of this ifooo/.

Geo. IVakeman.
SirGeo. IVakeman. Will your Lordihip pleafe

to give me leave to fpeak fomething now, I may
forget it hereafter ?

Mr. fVard. We have not done yet.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Sir George, they have not
yet done with this Witnefs for the King.

L.C.J. North. Take a Memorandum of it in

your Paper.

Sir Robert Sawyer. Pray, what do you know
more of thePrifoner at the Bar, Sir George IVake-
man?

Oates. This is all I can recollect at prefent.

Sir Robert Sawyer. Do you know any thing of
any Commiffion that he had?

Oates. 1 did urge that he received a Commif-
fion to be Phyfican-General of the Army.
L.C.J. Did you fee that Commiffion?
Oates. Yes, I faw it in Sir George Wakemans

Hands.
L. C. J. Had you feen it before ?

Oates. Yes, I had.

L. C. J. Where did you fee it in his Hand ?

Oates. When he was writing at Mr. Ajhby's.

L. C. J. What Note was that he left behind

him there?

Oates. It was an Apothecary's Bill, as I fup-

pofe.

L. C. J. What Month was it that you faw
the Commiffion ?

Oates. It was in July.

Mr. Ward. What do you know of his being

privy to the Confult in April?

Oates. I cannot fpeak any thing to that.

L. C. J. Did he write his Name to that

Bill?

Oates. I cannot fay that, my Lord, it was fi-

nifhed, but I cannot be pofitive about the Name.
L. C. J. But you fay, that you believe that

the Name of George IVakeman was the fame Hand
with that you faw when he writ the Apotheca-

ry's Bill ?

Oates. It was, as near as I can guefs, the fame

with that Letter that was writ to AJhby, where-

in he does direct him to take a Pine of Milk in

the Morning, and a Pint of Milk in the Even-
ing, and that he fhould have an hundred Strokes
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at the Bath: And this Hand was the fame with

that of the Apothecary's Bill.

L. C. J. You never faw Sir George Wakeman
write in your Life, did you?

Oates. I faw him in a writing Pofture, and I

faw him lay by the Pen.

L. C.J. But you did not fee him write?

Oates. No, my Lord ; but the Gentleman that

fat by him was lame of both his Hands and

could not write : And I faw him lay by the Pen,

and when he was gone away the Ink was not

dry.

L.C.J. You fpeak of that only to fhew the

Likenefs of the Hand.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Have you not faid that you

do not know my Hand ?

Oates. I have told the Court before how far

I have known your Hand. I faw a Letter, that

I fay was figned and fubfcribed George Wakeman,

and that was the fame Hand that was to the Re-

ceipt, and to the Apothecary's Bill.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Have you not faid pofi-

tively that you do not know it, and is not that

Matter on Record ?

Oates. I did fee a Letter fubfcribed George

Wakeman, 'tis a fine genteel Hand, and after I

law him in a writing Pofture, I faw him lay by

the Pen, the Ink and Paper was wet j I did not

indeed fee him write, but there was no body in

the Room that could write, or in a writing Po-

fture but he, for the other Gentleman was lame

of both Hands.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. But I pray give a pofitive

Anfwer to what I ask you; have you not faid

you do not know my Hand?
Oates. I do not remember I have faid fo.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But he fays now he be-

lieves that Hand that writ the Letter to

Ajhby, and the Bill that he faw green, when no

Body was by that could write but you, were the

fame.

Sir George Wakeman. Have not you faid, be-

fore the King and Council, that you never faw

me in all your Life, and that you did not know
me?

Oates. My Lord, you may be pleafed to know,
when I faw Sir George Wakeman at the Council I

had been up two Nights together, and the King
was willing once to excufe me from flaying any

further Examination, and being fo ill and indif-

pofed for want of Reft, in relpect both of my
Intellectuals, and every thing elfe, I might not

charge him fo home-, but now I have a proper

Light whereby I may fee a Man's Face, I can

fay more to him.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. This is juft: Coleman's Cafe,

the Light was in your Eyes.

Oates. This is the fame Gentleman : I defire

he may propofe his Queftions to the Court.

L. C.J. This is his Queftion, whether you did

fay before the King and Council, you did not

know Sir George Wakeman ?

Oates. I do not remember whether I did or

did not. I faw one called Sir George Wakeman,
and this is that Man j but I will not fay, this was

the Man that was before the Council when I

was there.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Did you fee the Com-
miflion in this Man's Hand?

Oates. Yes, I did.

L. C.J. Did you know this Gentleman before

he was at the Council ?

Oates. I faw this Gentleman with Mr. Aftiby,
and he can't deny it.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Can't deny it! Yes. I
hope you will be able to prove it. You faid you
never faw me in your Life, before you faw meat
the Council.

L. C. J. Did you ever fee him more th:m
once?

Oates. Yes, twice in Mr. Ajhbfs Chamber.
L.C. J. What, two fcveral Days?
Oates. Yes, two feveral Days.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Where was it that you
faw him when the Writing you fay was green
that he left behind him ?

Oates. It was at Mr. Ajhby\ Chamber.
L. C. J. You never faw him before that, did

you ?

Oates. No.
L. C. J. How often after?

Oates. But once after that.

L. C. J. Was that at the Council?
Oates. No.
L.C.J. Look you what he fays, he never

faw you but twice before he faw you at the
Council.

Oates. I faw you when the 1 0000/. was pro-
pofed to you.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Where was that ?

Oates. At Wiid-Houfe.
Sir Geo. Wakeman. Did Mr.AJhby lie there?
Oates. He did lie there, becaufe the Provin-

cial was beyond Sea, and he came up to London
in order to go to the Bath.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. What Day was that Pro-
pofal made to me ?

Oates. It was before Mr. AJhby went to the
Bath.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. In what Month ?

Oates. In the Month of" July.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. By whom? By Mr. AJh-
by?

Oates. Yes.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. In the Prefence of whom ?

Oates. Father Harcourt, Father Ireland, and
Father Fenivick.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. You will be fure to name
thofe that can be neither Witnefles for me nor
againft me.

L.C.J. Who can help that?

Oates. I reckon up fuch as you did keep Com-
pany with.

L. C. J. Do you know when Mr. AJhby went
to the Bath ?

Oates. The latter end of July, or the begin-
ning of Auguft, as I remember. And this was
before he went : he ftayed but fourteen or fix-

teen Days, as I remember, in Town.
L.C.J. He fays he faw you but twice, once

when you writ that Note, and the fecond time
when the Propofal was made to you.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. And you knew all thefe

Things, at that Time when I was examined be-

fore the King and Council? Turn this way and
anfwer me.

Oates. I am not bound to anfwer that Que-
ftion.

L. C. J. But you muft anfwer his Queftions,
if they be lawful.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I fay, I ask him, Whe-
ther he knew all thefe Things before that Time
I was examined before the King and Council?

L.C.J.
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L. C. J. That mufl needs be,for all thefe Things

Were done before.

Sir Geo. fVakeman. Then I ask him this Que-

ftion, Why did you fay before the King and

Council, that you knew nothing of me, but con-

cerning one Letter that was writ from Mv.AJh-

by to Mr. Fenwick? I fhall prove this upon you ;

but, my Lord, let me obferve this, Can any one

believe, that if fuch Evidence had been given in

to the King and Council, againft me, as he now
fpeaks of, that I fhould n;>t have been immedi-

ately taken into Cuftody, but that I fhould have

my Liberty fo long as I had ?

L C. J. I will tell you, Sir George, you will do

very well and properly to call up your Witneffes

by and by, when you come to make your De-

fence, and to prove what hefaidat the Council-

Table. Pray, Dr. Oates, what was the Reafon

you did not give the fame Evidence then you do

now?
Oaies. I can, by and by, give an Anfwer to

it, when it is proved by him what I did fay. As
to Mr. Corker, I fay this, He had a Patent from

the See of Rome, to be Bifhop of London, and

Mr. Corker was privy and contented to a Propo-

fal that was made by Langhorn to the Benedicline

Monks, whereof he is one. And thefe Benedicline

Monks did contribute 6000/. to the Society of

the Jefuits, in order to the carrying on of this

Defign. And Mr. Corker, tho' he did deny be-

fore iome Juftices of the Peace, that he did go
out of the Kingdom, yet he did go over to

Lampfprlng in Germany, and ftaid there fome fhort

Time, and he did write a Letter, but whether it

was dated from Lampfpring in Germany, or no, I

cannot tell, becaufe there was only the Date of

the Month, but not of the Place from whence
it came, but the latter end of Augufl, it was, and

therein he wrote, that he did confent to the Pro-

pofal, for the raifing of the faid 6000 1, for he is

Prefident of the Beneditline Monks, and there-

fore it was neceffary that he fhould give the Suf-

frage, and he had been with Father Le Chajfe and
the EngUJh Monks in Paris, and had given an Ac-
count what Profpecl" of Affairs he had in England,

and how the Defign went on.

L. C. J. Was this in a Letter?

Oates. Yes, it was.

L. C. J. To whom was that Letter directed ?

Oates. It was directed either to Father Hitch-

cot, or to Father Howard, then in London.

L. C. J. You faw the Letter ?

Oates. Yes, I faw the Letter.

L.C. J. Were you acquainted with his Hand-
writing ?

Oates. I will fhew you how far I might be ac-

quainted with his Hand. My Lord, this Gen-
tleman, as I think, went away in yuly, as near

as I can remember, I won't be pofitive in the

Time he went over ; but in the Month of yum
I faw this Gentleman with Mr. Fenwick, and he

had given him an Account either of fome Friend

or Kinfman of his, at St. Orners, that had not
had his Penfion paid, and Mr. Corker did give a

Note under his Hand, to Mr. Fenwick, where
to take up fo much Money, and the Money was
to be received of Mr. Langhorn.

L. C. y. How much was that Money ?

Oates. It was about 20 or zf I. and hefubferi-

bed his Name to it, yames Corker ; for that is his

Name, tho' he is Indicted, I know not how, by

the Name of Anthony: And I have a Summons
to give Evidence againft Anthony Corker.

L. C. y. He is Indicted by the Name of

yames.

Oates. And then I faw his Name to an Exami-
nation that was taken by Sir Charles Harbord, and

fome other Juftices that were of the Houfe of

Commons that took the Examination of this

Corker, and it was the very fame Hand he ufu-

ally writ, only it was not fo fair, nor fo well,

in his Examination. This is that I fay againft:

Mr. Corker.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Shew him that Hand there:

Pray, Sir, look upon it.

[_Then a Paper was/hezvn to him.']

Oates. This is the fame Hand.
Corker. Is that a Copy of my Examination

before the Juftices ?

L. C. y. It is the Original.

Corker. I am glad it is there.

L. C. y. Shew it the Prifoner.

Oates. Mr. Corker did ufe to bellow the Queen's

Charity

L. C. y. Is that your Hand ?

Corker. Yes, my Lord,

L. C. y. Shew him the other.

Corker. Thefe are both my Hand, as far as I

can fee.

Oates. That Note he gave to Fenwick, for the

receiving this Money, was the fame Hand with

this, and fo was the Letter that came, as we fup-

pofe, from Lampfpring in Germany ; but I cannot

fay it did fo, wherein he did give Confent to the

raifing and giving this 6000 /. for the carrying on

of the Defign.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. What was that you had more
recollected ?

Oates. He did difpofe of the Queen's Charity

(as it was fo called) but Mr. Corker did fay, it

was to carry on the Defign; and this he did fay

in the Month of yune, when he was with Mr.

Fenwick. Now, what he meant by that Defign, I

leave to the Jury to judge, only fome Parcels he

had diftributed, Two or Three Shillings to

fome, and Forty Shillings to another, to fome

more, to others lefs: But a great Part of it-

he did ufe for the carrying on of this Defign,

and he faid the Queen had given him Orders fo

to do.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. What do you know of his

being privy to the Confult of the Z4th of A-
pril ?

Oates. He did know of it, and I will tell your

Lordfhip how I know he knew of it. He did

except againft Pickering being chofem

L.C.y. To do what?

Oates. To do that wicked Thing to kill the

King, for faid he, Pickering is commonly atten-

dant upon the Altar, and he thought it not fo

convenient, that he fhould be employed about

that Bufinefs becaufe he might mifs an Oppor*
tunity, by being at High Mafs, whereas another,

a Lay-man, might do it.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Were you prefent when the

Exception was made?
Oates. Yes, it was when the Order was given

about the Money, to Fenwick.

L. C. y. At whofe Houfe was it ?

Oates, At the Benedicline Convent in the Sa-

voy.

Sir



934 85. 72tf TrialofSir G. Wakeman, W. Marfhal, 3 1 Car. II.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Was it expreffed at that Time
what Pickering was to do ?

Oates. His being privy to the Confult m April,

1 had it only from his own Mouth, for he won-
dered that the Jefuits fhould employ Pickering in

that Bufinefs, when they might have a Lay-man,
who was more fit ; he being a Religious-man^

and attending upon the Altar, it was not fo con-

venient.

L. C. J. Where was that 6000 /. to be raifed ?

Oates. Out of the Benediclines Eftates.

L.C. J. Was he their Prefident ?

Oates. Yes, he was.

Mr. Jufi. Ellys. Dr. Oates, was he againft the

Thing, the doing of it at all, or againft Picker-

ing's doing of it only?

Oates. He was only againft Pickering's doing

of it He would have had a Lay-man employed
in it.

Mr. Jufi. Pemberton. That is plain, for he did

give Confent that the 6000 1, fhould be raifed

tor the carrying on the whole Defign.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Do you know any thing be-

fides that Letter you have mentioned, which he

writ to give his Confent?
Oates. Nothing, but that becaufe he had given

his Confent, the Money was paid.

L, C. J. Do you know it was afterwards paid?

Oates. I believe that the Money was paid, for

our Fathers faid that they had received it.

Mr. Recorder. What fay you to the reft of the

Prifoners?

Oates. Mr. Marjbal I do charge with the fame,

that is, that he was actually prefent at the Bene-
dicline Convent, when the 6000/. was agreed to

be contributed, but it was not to be paid till

they had an Anfwer from Mr. Corker.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. That Letter you fpeak of,

was an Anfwer to ir, I fuppofe?

Oates. Yes, my Lord, it was fo.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. What do you know of the

Confult, was he privy to that ?

Oates. 1 will not be pofitive as to Mr. Mar-
Jbal's being privy to the Confult, I know that he

was privy to Pickering's undertaking to kill the

King.
Sir Rob Sawyer. How do you know that ?

Oates. Becaufe he was of Corker's Opinion,
that they had better take a Layman.
Mr. Recorder. What fay you to Rumley?
Oates. He is a Benedicline Monk, or at leaft-

wife a Lay-Brother. And he was privy to this

Confult, in which the 6000/. was agreed to be
paid and given, and I do judge he did confent to

it, for he did pray God that it might have good
Succefs and that the Catholick Caufe might once
again flourifh in England.

L. C. J. North. He was there then, was he

not?

Oates. Yes, he was there, but only as a Ser-

vant, a Lay-Brother of that Order.

L.C.J. North. Why, is he profeffed ?

Oates. Yes, I think he is.

L.C.J. North. What Time was this, Mr.
Oates ?

Oates. In Auguft.

L. C. J. North. Was it the former part of

Auguft ?

Oates. I cannot be pofitive, but I think it

was.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Can you fay any thing more
againft the reft of the Prifoners ?

Oates. I do not recollect any thing more, at

prefent.

Mr. Ward. Now, Gentlemen, if you pleafe to

ask him any Queftions, you may.
Rumley. Were you there prefent ?

Oates. Yes, I was.

Rumley.Was it in the Month of Auguft?
Oates. Yes, it was.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Will any of you ask him any
more Queftions?

Corker. He fays I went in June to Lampfpring,
now I would ask Mr. Oates where Lampfpring is?

Oates. We fuppofe it to be in Germany.
Corker. 'Tis almoft at the furtheft end of Weft'

phalia, and he fays, that being there, I had Dif-
courfe with le Chaife, and the Englijh Monks at

Paris, about this Defign, I would fain make
Senfe of this, if I could.

Oates. To fatisfy Mr. Corker, I cannot fay that
he went to Lampfpring, but only as he faid him-
felf ; and they ufed to fay they go to one Place,
when they go to another: As Ireland faid he
went to St. Omers, when he went into Stafford-
shire.

Corker. Where, and when, did I give my
Confent to the Defign about murdering of the
King, for you named the 24th of April?

Oates. This is that I fay to the Court, that
the Privity that Mr. Corker had of the Confult
of the 24th of April, was that I had out of his

own Mouth, in which he did declare, that he
did think the Jefuits had not done well to make
Choice of one of their Order to do that Bufinefs,

fince he was to attend upon the Altar, but it

would have been well if they had made Choice
of fome other Lay-man to match Grove.

Corker. You tell me, I had a Patent to be Bi-
fhop of London.

Oates. 1 faw it in your own Hand.
Corker. Who gave me that Patent.

Oates. I did not enquire into that.

Corker. Did you hear me fay, I accepted of it,

and fhould be Bifhop of London?
Oates. I heard you fay this, you hoped it

would not be long ere you fhould exercife your
Epifcopal Function.

\_At which the People laughed.
~\

Oates. I now recollect fomething more. I re-

member Mr. Marjhal was prefent when Father
Hitchcot and Father Howard, and Conyers the Be-
nedicline Monk, were there prefent, about the
laying of a Wager, whether, or no, the King
fhould eat any more Chriftmas-Yies, and this Be-
nedicline Monk, Conyers, did lay he fhould nor,

and another Gentleman lay'd that he would, and
this Gentleman, Marjhal, did go halves with
Conyers, that he would not.

Marftoal. I defire you would tell my Lords the

Judges how long you have known me, and
where you have feen me.

Oates. I have feen this Gentleman feveral

times, but had never any Familiarity with him,
but I have feen him officiate at the Altar.

Marjhal. How long have you known me?
Oates. Firft and lait, two Years; but thefirft

time that I knew you, to hear you fpeak, was
when Father Hitchcot and the reft were there.

Marjhal. He fays he hath known me thefe

two Years, and yet never fpake to me.
Oates. I knew him by fight.

Marjhal. He looked upon me as a Prieft, it

feems, he knew me to be engaged in this Bufi-

nefs,
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nefs, as he fays, I wonder he fhould never con-

verfe with me.

Oates. There are a great many that I know
by fight, whom I never did converfe with.

L. C. J. What do you infer from that ? It may
be, you know fome of the Bench by fight, that

you never fpake to before, nor they to you.

Marjhal. What Day of the Month was this

Confult ?

Oates. It was in Augufi.

Marjhal. But what Day of Augufi ?

Oates. 'Tis a great Privilege that I tell you the

Month. It was between the fir ft and the mid-

dle of Augufi.

L. C. J. He tells you it was the former part,

but it lies in his Bread, whether he will or no,

to tell you the exact Day.

Marjhal. My Lord, 'tis impoflible to make a

Defence, if Circum fiances of Time and Place be

not mentioned.

L. C. J. 'Tis fit he fhould anfwer, if he can

tell the Time, but if he cannot, we can't help it.

Marfltal. But if he does not name the very Day
he may name the Place.

L. C. J. He does name the Place, it was at the

BenediUine Convent.

Marjhal. Why can't he as well remember the

Day?
Oates. If they will tell me when the Feaft of

the Aflumption is, which is, a Feaft of their ma-
king, then I will give them a pretty near Ac-

count when it was.

Marjhal. The Feaft of the Aflumption is the

if th of Augufi.

Oates. My Lord* it was either the Day be-

fore, or the Day after.

Marjhal. Now he hath avouched this posi-

tively.

Oates. Nay, I will not be pofitive.

Marjhal But you were fo, that it was the Day
before, or the Day after.

Oates. I appeal to the Judges of the Court.

L.C.J. If he will fay it, let him, but People

are not to be fnap'd up thus. Mr. Oates, you
are upon your Oath, and pray anfwer the Que-
ftion that is asked by the Priioner as pofitsve'y as

you can. If you can, fay fo, if you cannot, fay

fo.

Oates. My Lord, I do believe verily it was

either the Day before, or the Day after.

L. C. J. Are you fure it was?

Oates. My Lord, I do verily believe it.

Marjhal. But what Accufation is it of a Thief
or a Murderer upon the High- way, unlefs you
tell the Time exadlly ?

L.C.J. You fee he will not anfwer pofi-

tively.

Marjhal. Mr. Oates, was I at any other Con-
fult befides this one?

Oates. Yes, you were, upon the lift day of

Augufi, if it fell upon a H'edvejday.

Marjhal. Whac matter is it what Day it fell

on ?

Oates. If it were a Wednejday, then the lift

of Awuft you were at a Confult, when we had

Letters from Archbifhop Talbot, wherein we had

an Account of the State of Ireland, how the Irifa

Affairs did (land, but it did not pay an Jrijh Let-

ter's Price, and therefore I fuppofe it came from

this fide of the Water, tho' it was directed as if

it came from Dublin. And this was read there,

and there was in it a Prayer, that a Commiflion

might befent down, and there were fome Jefuits

and fome Benedictines, amongft whom Marjhal

was one, and he did give his Confent that the

Commiflion fhould be fent down.
L. C. J. What Commifllons were they ?

Oates. For Officers in the Army that was to

be raifed there.

Marjhal. Where was that Letter read ?

Oates. At the Benedictine Convent.
Marjhal. And this, you fay, was the lift of

Augufi ?

L. C.J. And that was on a Wednefday, as the

Almanack fays.

Oates. There he agreed to fend the Commif-
llons into Ireland for the appointing of Officers,

and did confent to the poifoning of the Duke
of Ormond.

Rumley. When was Pickering taken?
Oates. He was taken the Night before, or

Michaelmas-day in the Morning?
Rumley. Were not you there, Mr. Oates ?

Oates. Yes, I Was.

L.C.J. Were you at all the Confults?
Oates. No, I wai flcfe, when Sir George W"ake~

man was offered the ifdoal. and received the
Five.

L. C.J. What Confults were you at ?

Oates. I will anfwer to thofe Confults that

thefe Perfons are affected in ; there was one Con-
fult about the beginning or miJdle of Augufi,
there was another the 21ft of Augufi, and then
there was another Conlulr Wherein the foooL
was paid, or ordered to be paid, to JVakeman^,
and I was not there.

Rumley. Who was the Meffenger that took
Pickering ?

Oates. I do not know him.
L. C J. Was the Confult of Sir George Wake°

man after the 11ft of Augufi ?

Oates. No, my Lord.

Mr. Ward. Will you ask him any more.Que=
ftions ?

Oates. My Lord, I defire I may have leave to

retire, becaufe 1 am not well.

L.C.J. You mult flay, Dr. Oates, till after

their Defence be over.

Mr. Recorder. If you defire to have any Re-
frefhment, you fhall have it got for you.

Sir Rob Sawyer. Then we call Mr. Bedlow
next. {Who flood up.~\ Pray, Sir, fpeak your
Knowledge concerning the Prifoners at the Bar.

Bedlow. My Lord, before I fpeak any thing
to the Prifoners, I defire there may be a Dif-
ference between the Clerks of the Counfel and
me decided, they have miftaken a Word in my
Evidence, and put in New-Market, for JVindfor.

L. C. J. What does that fignify to the prefent

BufineG ?

Bedlow. I defire it may not be brought a-

gainft me in my Evidence.

L C. J. Then 'tis only for a Caution before-

hand.

Bedlow. The latter part of the laft Summer, it

was, I think, about the beginning of Augufi, Sir

George Wakeman was at Harcourfs Chamber, I my
felf was there firft, and when he came in, he
fetch'd a Turn or two about the Room, feem-

ing angry and difcontcnted, and asked Harcouri

if he had any thing for him ? Then Harcourt

asked him, How he did proceed ? Said he, I

don't know whether I fhall or no; for what
Reafon am I drill'd on, in fuch a Concern as this?
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Says Mr. Harcourt, Stay, Sir George, you need

not be fo hafty as to blame us, for we are better

provided for you than you think for. With that

Harcourt went to his Cabinet, and took out five

or fix Papers, and brought a fmall Bill, and asked

Sir George Wakeman; faid he, Sir George, how
are you provided? Said Sir George, 1 have been-

ready long fince, but you have not been fo pun-

ctual with me: But what have you there? Said

Harcourt, I have a Bill of zooo /. From whom ?

faid Sir George Wakeman. Then he named a Gen-
tleman,but I don't know him, nor can't remem-
ber him. And faid he, I came now from White-

hall, and receiv'd it from fuch an one, which he

fa
: d was by the Queen's Order, and that he had

it from her. This Bill is charged upon fuch a

Goldfmith, and named him, he dwelt fome

where about St. Dunfians Church, but I can't

remember his Name, I'll tell you by and by why
I think he dwelt there. As foon as Sir George

had read it, 'tis well, faid he, if it be accepted,

1 find more Encouragement from my good Lady
and Mifhefs, than from any of you ail. They
had fome little m-ore Difcourfe, and Sir George

asked of Harcourt, who I was? Said he, ;
'tis a

Friend that hath been long engaged in our Bufi-

nefs, and is to do the next great Work to yours.

Well, faid Sir George, I will go and fee if the Bill

be accepted, and you fhall hear of me to-night y

and accordingly he did go. I did not ftay but a

very little time after him, and therefore 1 collect

he could not go far to get the Bill accepted j for

I did crofs Lincolns- Inn- Fields., and came down a

Lane by Temple-Bar, and between the ghieen's-

Head and Chancery- Lane end I met with Sir

George Wakeman : Said I, Have you been with

your Bill already, and is it accepted ? Yes, faid

he, 'tis accepted. And when is it to be paid?

I am to go
3

laid he, in the Afternoon, to receive

ir.

L.C.J. Who faid fo ?

Bedlow. Sir George Wakeman.
L. C. J. To whom ?

Bedlow. To me. And feeing of him return

from the City-ward again, I concluded it was

not far off", and fpoke to him as I tell you. Sir

George and I were not very well acquainted, but

I had known him five Years, and upon that

Character Mr. Harcourt had given of me, I

thought I might make bold with him, and when
I asked him and accofted him with that fhort

Qneftion, Is your Bill accepted? he made me
Anfwcr it was, and he was to receive it in the

Afternoon, and thought it not fit to difpute any

thing with me.

L.C. J. You don't know what Goldfmith it

was upon ?

Bedlow. It muft be one that lives about St.

Dunftan's- Church, or Fleet- Street,, for he could

not go far in that time.

L. C. J. Where was Harcourfs Chamber ?

Bedlow. In Duke-flreet, next the Arch. Now
I asked Harcourt afterwards, whether this was
part of the ifooo I? Said he, We have not ad-

jutted that Matter yet, but he receiv'd this only

as a prefent Supply. And he did in a fhort time

after receive as much as made it up 5*000/. But
I asked, whether it were for the old Bufinefs?

Yes, faid he, 'tis for the fame Defign, if wc
fhould fail of it by other Means. (And fo was
the Difcourfe to Sir George Wakeman) if we
fhould fail of it at Windfor, then this Way is to

be taken; and if this fail too, we will make fure

of it at New-market.
L.C. J. What do you know of the other Pri-

foners ?

Bedlow. Mr. Corker I have feen with Kaines

and Le Fevre, but never in their Company but
once, where being in the great Court at Somer-

fet-Houfe, we walked out of the Court into the

Piazza, and there we were fpeakingof our Bufi-
nefs. Kaines was faying to me, You brought fuch

a Letter, fuch a Time, for me, and I have loft

it: I do not know what to do for it. Said I,

Do you remember the Contents of it? Yes, faid

he, I do. Said I, You fhould take fuch Let-
ters in fuch a Character as none could read but
your felf, and then burn the Letters themfelves.

Said he, I hope it will not come to Light,
for none will meddle with my Papers, that can
do me any Hurt. I heard nothing from Mr.
Corker, that did relate positively to the Murder
of the King, but Corker and Le Levre were fpeak-

ing in general, about the Bufinefs, what Letters

they had received from beyond Sea how to ma-
nage their Affairs.

L. C. J. About what Matter?
Bedlow. About the Plot, what Letters they

had received from beyond Sea, and how forward

they were in their Proceedings here.

Corker. What did we talk about?
L. C. J. What was it about ftill ?

Bedlow. It was about railing the Army, and
what Intereft he had with the People. It was in

general, I come not to Particulars.

Corker. Did Kaines, or I, or any of us, name
any fuch thing as Plot, Defign, or the like?

Bedlow. We were difcourfing of the Bufinefs

in general* I don't take upon me to fpeak to

Particulars.

L. C. J. What was it about, fay you ?

Bedlow. About raifing an Army, what Intereft

he had in the People, who had been fent into

the Country, what they had done, and the like.

Corker. Did you hear any Word of Killing,

Army, or Defign?

Bedlow. Yes, every one of thofe words were
ufed. I don't take upon me to tell how the

words were placed.

Mr. Ward. What fay you to the reft ?

L.C.J. When was this Difcourfe?

Bedlow. July was Twelvemonth.
Mr. Ward. What fay you to Mr. MarjhalT
Bedlow. Mr. Marjhal hath reafon to know

me, and I fuppofe will not pretend to the con-
trary, for he cannot but remember that I knew7

him when I went to the Gatehoufe. He hath car-

ried feveral Letters that have been brought from
beyond Sea, and others that have been writ ia

England, into the Country, and I have been with

him in Latham's Chamber in the Savoy, and So-

merfet-houfe, fo long fince as Latham was one of
the Queen's Monks. He hath carried the fame
Letters that I have brought from beyond the

Sea, three or four, or more at a time, to com-
municate to the Country Gentlemen of the Ca-
tholick Party, that were Afliftants to us, par-

ticularly to Sir Francis Ratcliffe and others, 1 am
fure he hath carried, and he knew what was the

Effect of thole Letters, and what were the An-
fwers to them j he read them as well as any of

them, for I think he is of the fame Order, to the

beft of my knowledge, tho' I never law him in

his Habit.

L. C J.
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L. C. J. What was the Import o? the Let-

ters

Bedlow. I never brought any one Letter to the with you ?

Bedlow. You did read it aloud.

Str Geo. Wakeman. Had I any Acquaintance

Religious Fathers (and I have bro' ght a great

many) but what did import what I have now
given in Evidence, and did relate to the lull lub-

ftance of what I fay now.

Sir Rob Sawyer. Can you mention the Parti-

culars of any one Letter that he knew the Con-
tents of?

Bedlow. I do mention one which I very well

remember, and that was to Sir Francis Radcliff,

and I remember it tho' it be long fince, becaufe

I was well acquainted with Sir Francis Radcliffs

Son, and I brought Commendations from his

Son to England.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Well, Sir, What was the bring fume Sir-Names, why can't you remem-
Contentsof that Letter ? ber this Name as well ?

Bedlow. It was a Copy of the Letter from Le Bedlow. I can remember Names that do relate

Chaife in Paris to the Monks and Jefuit^ in Eng- to any bufinefs, but only hearing this Name by

land, in Anfwer to the fir ft Letters that 1 brought the by, I cannot remember it, lor I did not

over to them relating to the management of then think itoffuch Confequence.

the Defign. Sir Geo. Wakeman. You do not know me ?

L. C. J. Was it mentioned in that Letter what Bedlow. Yes, I do.

the Defign was? Sir Geo. Wakeman. I call God to Witnefs I

Bedlow. No, but Mr. Harcourt told you who
I was.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. And would I upon the

firft fight of a Man difcover to him what would
endanger my Life ?

Bedlow. Ay, and a hundred times more, if

Mr. Harcourt did but tell you I was his Confi-

dent.

L. C. J. What were the Contents of that

Note?
Bedlow. It was directed toaGoldfmith, whofe

Name I tell you I cannot remember.
Sir George Wake?nan. You are good at remem-

Bedlow. In that which I carried over to Le

Chaife, it was, that all things were in readinefs

and the time now drawing near, for they cud

hope in a Year or two, or in a little time they

fhould be in a Capacity to put this in practice,

and they did not queftion but to fubvert the Op-

never law you before in my Life, that I know
of. You have a very remarkable Face, and if a

Man had once feen you he mult know you a-

gain.

L. C. J. Who fubferibed that Note ?

Bedlow. I don't know, it was one of the

preffion and Tyranny the Catholicks were un- Queen's Gentlemen that Harcourt had it from.

der in England,

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Was Mr. Marjhal acquainted

with the Contents ?

Bedlow. He was one of them that ufed to ex-

amine the Anfwers. It was written to him partly,

for if he were not a Member of their Order, as

I think he is, he was one of the Club and Con-

fult that faw the Contents t f all Letters. I have

not feen him fo often as I have done the others,

but I believe he hath been there as often, but

he hath received to my lemembrance twice Let-

ters to communicate into the Country concern-

ing the Subverfion of the Government, and the

Introducing of Popery.

Mr. Ward. What fay you to Mr. Rumley?

Bedlow. I cannot be pofi lve as to my own
knowledge, buc what Mr. Harcourt has (aid.

L. C. J. Do you know any thing of your

own know'edge by him ?

Bedlow. I have been told he hath communi-

cated Letters of this bufiniX into the Country.

And that he was one employed when any Secret

Letters were fent.

L. C. J. So you cannot declare upon your

Oath, that you know that Mr. Rumley knew the

Contents of any Letters relating to the Plot?

Bedlow. No, my Lord, 1 cio not. I have a

good remembrance of Faces, but I do not re-

member his.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. What Day was it that

I had the Difcourfe with Harcourt^ and received

the Bill from him as you fay ?

Bedlow. You ask me a Queftion as if Iwere

in the ftate I was formerly in, when I might

have an Indulgence for telling a Lye. No, I

have no Delight to Damn my Soul, to make you

a Martyr -, but to fatufy you as well as I can, I

fay, it was the beginning of Augufl^ or part of

the beginning. I do not (peak to a Day.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. How do you know it was
, a Bill of Exchange for this Money ?

Vol. II.

And whereas Sir George Wakeman fays he does not

know me, I did take Phyfick of him at the

Bath.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. "When was I at the Bath ?

Bedlow. It was fome Years fince.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I never was there but

once, and that was a Year and a half ago.

Bedlow. No, Sir, it is more than that, for you
were there when the Queen was there.

L. C. J. How long is it ago that you were
there, Sir George ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. It was about two Years

ago.

Bedlow. It is three Years this Summer.
L. C. J. Then that is well enough ; for that

is fome Years (inee.

Bedlow. I had acquaintance enough with him
while he was there.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I fay this, my Lord, if I

had been acquainted with Mr. Bedlow, I fhould

have known him to be agicat Rogue, which is

but what he hath faid of himfelf; and then I

fhould not have thought it fie to have trufted

fuch an one with fuch a great Secret as this.

L. C. J. Jt may be he calls himfelf great

Rogue for that which you would have applauded

him for, and canoniz'd him too. It may be he

thinks he was a Rogue for going fo far as he did;

but perhaps you are of another Opinion.

Bedlow. My Lord, 1 could not count myfelf

an Honeft Man, that had confented to the Death

of the King and Sir Edmundbury Godfrey.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. But tho' he gives you an

Account of fuch a Bill delivered to me, yet nei-

ther he tells you the Time, nor mentions the

Man upon whom it was drawn : Here are all

the Marks of Falfhood that can poffibly be.

L. C. J. No, he does not mention the Man
upon whom it was drawn, nor from whom •, nor

can he fay that ever you received it , but you
were to receive ir.

6 D Sir
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Sir Geo. Wakeman. How came he to omit

that ? but becaufe I mould have no Plea for my
fclf when I came to be accufed of it.

Bedlow. Pray, Sir George, don't prefs me to fay

more than I know. I do tell you all that I can

fay of myfelf.

Mr. Recorder. Have you any more Queftions

to ask him?
Marjhal. I ask you this Queftion -, Firft, Why

will you Damn your Soul to fend me to Heaven ?

Lay your Hand upon your Heart, and in the

Prefence of God declare whether ever you faw

me in your Life, before you came to the Gate-

houfe? Whether ever you faw me in any Part of

the World whatfoever? And whereas you fay

now that I owned that I knew you there ; it

was fo far from ir, that all the Company that

were there, will fay that you did not know me,

and declared yourfelf a Stranger to me.

Bedlow. No, Sir, pardon me; you did not de-

ny but that youhadfeen my Face.

MarJJjal. No, all the Company that were there

will fay that you owned yourfelf a Stranger to

me 5 you told me, Mr. Marfhal, be not afraid; I
•will doyou no hurt. But Mr. Bedlow, Where have

you feen me?
Bedlow. At the Benedictine Convent in the

Savoy. And, my Lord, the firft Word that 1

faid, when I law him, was, that this Man's Name
is Marjhal, and he carried fuch and fuch Letters

into the Country, and feir William Waller can

teftify the fame. [Who fianding upon the Bench,

was/worn"]

Mr. Recorder. Mr. MarJJjal, you had beft to

hearken to what Sir William Waller fays.

Sir William Waller. My Lord, I went to the

Prifon to fee Mr. Marfhal, and Mr. Bedlow was
there with me, Mr. Bedlow asked him if he did

not know him, and called him by his Name j

he declared he had feen him before, but faid he
did not know him.

L. C. J. Did he call him by his Name as if

he knew him ?

Sir William Waller, Yes, my Lord, he did.

L. C. J* Look you, Mr. Mar/hall, he fays that

you yourfelf owned that you had ken him before,

tho' you were not of his Acquaintance.

Marjhal. What Sir William Waller fays I muft
oppofe, tho' 1 am extremely forry fo to do. Sir

William, you may pleafe to remember that you
came to me afcer Mr. Bedlow was gone.

Sir William Waller. No, I was there with you
before he came in.

Marjhal. I believe thofe of the Gatehoufe do
remember that I fpoke with Mr. Bedlow in pri-

vate in an interior Room; what you fpoke was
in the open Hall there. You asked me whecher
Mr. Bedlow had not been there ? I told you,
Yes-, that was in the publick place; whereas
Mr. Bedlow talked with me only in a private

Room.
Sir William Waller. My Lord, what I have

faid is upon my Oath, and 'tis nothing but the

Truth.

MarJJjal. And I am upon my Life, therefore I

am very forry I muff for the Truth fake, and
Defence of my Life, contradict what you fay.

What your Worfhip and I fpoke was in the

publick Room; but what Difcourfe Mr. Bed'

tow and I had, was in another private Room.
L. C. J. Look you, Sir William Waller, was

you there when Mr. Bedlow was with him ?

Sir William Waller. I was, my Lord.
L. C. J. Where?
Sir William Waller. In the common Room.
L. C. J. What did he fay concerning Mr.

Bedlow in the common Room ?

Sir William Waller. Mr. Bedlow called him
by his Name, and asked if he knew him ? He
faid he had feen his Face, but did not knqw
him.

L. C. J. Do you hear that, Mr. Marjhal?
MarJJjal. Truly, my Lord, it goes againft my

Heart to fpeak any thing in oppoiition to what
Sir William WaHer fays, for I would not for all

the World reflect or fay any thing that fhould
glance upon Sir William Waller, as if he ha4
taken a falfe Oath ; but all in the Gatehoufe, nay
Mr. Bedlow himfelf knows, that he had difcourfe

with me in a private Room before Sir William
Waller came.

L, C. y. Mr. Bedlow, fpeak yourfelf ; was Sir

William Waller there when you came to th,e

Gatehoufe ?

Bedlow. My Lord, I had an Order from the

Council-Board to go and fee the Prifoner, there

was no Body that told me his Name, nor chat I

knew, knew it; but I would not do it, 1 was
fo cautious, but in the hearing and company of
a Juftice of the Peace, and therefore I went a-

way before they had called him down, and I

went to fee if the Houfe of Commons were fit-

ting ; and when I came back, Sir William Wal-
ler was jufr. coming thither, and fo I went in

with him, for I met him at the bottom of jthe

Stairs. We came into the common Room, and
there was Mr. Marjhal with the Keeper, and I

was in no other Room, but the common Room.
And Sir William Waller withdrew to the end of

the Room while I asked him fome Queftions *

and pray will you pleafe to ask Sir William Wah
ler whether I did not call him by his Name as

foon as I faw him ?

Sir William Waller. Yes, my Lord, he did

:

He asked him if his Name was not MarJJjal: And
whether he did not know him: And he faid he

had feen his Face, but had no Acquaintance with

him.

MarJJjal. Were not you with me firft in that

Room which turns in on the right-hand from

the common Room ?

Bedlow. I do not know any fuch Room in the

Gatehoufe.

Marjhal. There were your Guards, Mr. Bed-

low, and there were feveral others in the Gate-

houfe j they cannot but remember what Room I

was brought into: They cannot poflibly but re-

member, that when Sir William Waller came to

me, he asked me whether Mr. Bedlow had been

with me.

L. C. J. Look you, Gentlemen, they have

done, call what WitnefTes you will, and make
your Defence as well as you can.

Marjhal. My Lord, I did not think or ima-

gine any fuch thing would be fpoke of; or that

there would need any Atteftation for it.

L. C. y. Look you, they have done; we will

hear what your WitnefTes will fay as long as you

will.

MarJJjal. My Lord, Mr. Bedlow feem'd a per-

fect Stranger to me when he came to the Gap?
houfe ; and to encourage me, told me, My. Mar-
fhal (fays he) do notfear, I will do you np .hurt at

all : Did not you fend (faid he) tp facjj .W ope* tg

hjve
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have Mr. Bedlow queftioned about Juch and Juch

things? Which I denied, and he did not feem by

any word that he fpoke, to have feen me before

in his life.

L. C. J. He told Sir William Waller your

Name was Marjhal, tho' you went by a wrong

Name, the Name of Marjh.

Marjhal. He might eafily know my Name, by

thofe that took me.

L. C. J. But I tell you, you went by a wrong

Name then, Marjh.

Marjhal. My Lord, I am called promifcuoufly

Marjh and Marjhal But Matjlial is the Name l

own.
L. C. J. And that is the Name he knew

you by.

Marjhal. I did not call myfelf Marjh when I

was taken, but told my true Name.
Bedlow. My Lord, I did not hear of any

Name at all, but 1 laid, This is Marjhal, one of

the Benedictine Monks, as foonas I came in.

Marjhal. Mr. Bedlow feem'd to encourage me
to hope, and bid me not fear; faid he, You will

have an honourable Bench, and a good Jury.

And this, they that were there can teltify.

L. C. J. Call them: Call your Witnefles.

Marjhal. But my Lord, I did not know any

thine of this. And Sir William Waller's Que-

ftion that he asked me was, if Mr. Bedlow was

with me?
L. C. J. You hear what he fays.

Marjhal. I am infinitely loth to fay it, becaufe

he fwears it t and you well know, Mr. Bedlow^

you talked with your Guards a while, and then

turned at laft to me.

Bedlow. Yes, I did talk with my Guards,

but Sir William Waller was in the Room as well

as I.

L. C. J. By what Name were you commit-

ted ?

Marjhal. I had Letters about me, writ to me
by that Name ; and 1 thought it my Duty to

anfwer to that Name that the Letters did call

me by.

L. C. J. Well, have you any Witnefles?

Marjhal. This is a Surprize, I did not know
of any fuch thing.

L. C. J. Have you any Witnefles, Sir George

Wakeman ?

Sir George Wakeman. Yes, my Lord, I have fe-

veral.

Marjhal. But, Mr. Bedlow, can you fay you

have feen me any where before you faw me at

the Gatehoufe?

Bedlow. Yes.

Marjhal. Where?
Bedlow. At the Savoy.

Marjhal. And any where elfe?

Bedlow. Yes, and at other Places.

Marjhal. Name one other Place in the whole

World, and I will be contented to die.

Bedlow. I will tell you why I cannot name

any other Place politively. I did carry the Let-

ters thither, there were the Confults about them,

and there I ufed to converfe with you moil.

Marjhal. Can you prove that ever you were in

the Savoy in your Life? And I will be hang'd

without any more to do. If you can prove it

either by Man, Woman, or Child, I will go to

the Gallows, and will not fay one Word more.

Bedlow. My Lord, I have other Witnefles,

but at prefenc I cannot produce them: There are

Vol. If.

fome in Kent, they are fotrie of them in one Coun-
try, and fome in another, I referve them for a-

nother time, but there is Oath made of it before

the fecret Committees of the Lords and Com-
mons.

L. C. J. How can he imagine that this fhould

be put upon him ? Therefore you may well be-

lieve that he hath never a Witnefs prefent. Ic

may be he hath none can prove he ever was at

Wejlminjler-Hall in his Life, for who could ima-
gine fuch a Queftion lhould be put to him ?

Marjhal. Having been there feveral times, I

fuppofe he did not ufe to go alone ; 'tis impof-

fible, but if they had been with him often there,,

he might prove itj if he fay true, fure fome
fliould atteft it.

L. C. J. *Tis likely it mould be to, but he
hath them not here.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Why, do you think he
can bring Witnefles for every Act that he did in

his Life?

Marjhal. If he have them not here, let him
have time to produce them.

L. C. J. He hath a Witnefs in Kent, would
you have us keep up the Jury 'till he fends for

his Witnefs out of Kent.

Bedlow. There is my Landlord, at vvhofe

Houfe I lay fo long, can teftify it.

Marjhal. Who is that?

Bedlow. Mr. Cott a Belt-maker in the New
Exchange. He hath gone often with me when
I have gone into the Convent, and he hath gone
round about, and his Maid that ufed to carry the

Portmantle, wherein I brought over the Letters

from beyond Sea.

L. C. J. Can you name any one body that

ever faw you in the Savoy?
Bedlow. I do name one ; and befides, my

Lord, I lay in the Savoy half a Year at or.c

Woodrojf's.

Marjhal. Was that the Place you faw me in ?

Bedlozv. No, no body came there but Monks
and Mcflengers.

Marjhal. Was you there at the time when the
Savoy was fearched?

Bedlow. No, but I gave Sir William Waller
directions to fearch in the moil material Places
of it.

Mr. Recorder. He fays a material thing, if he
be in the right, that he did give Directions to Sir

William Waller to fearch in the moil material
Places of the Savoy. We will ask that Queftion
of Sir William whether he did or no.

Sir William Waller. Both Mr. Oates and Mr„
Bedlow did give me Directions to fearch in the
Savoy ; they told me of fuch a particular Room
where Pickering lay, and where fuch a Clofet was,,

and miany other things ; and it was by their Di-
rections that I made the Search.

L. C. J. Look you what Sir William Waller
fays ; he fays that both Mr. Oates and Mr. Bed-
low did defcribe feveral Rooms to him in the
Savoy, which it was impoflible for them to make
fuch a Defcription, if they had not been there

before.

Marjhal. I defire to know when that Defcrip-

tion was given ?

Sir William Waller. Two or three Days be-

fore I took Mr. Marjhal.

Marjhal. Mr. Oates made Searches there be=

fore.

L. C. J. But we fpeak of Bedlow now.
6 D 2. * Marjhal
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Marjhal. But Mr. Bedlow might have know-

ledge from him and others that were there.

L. C. J. Do you think he muft needs go of-

ficioufly to inform Bedlow of what he found,

upon an imagination that fuch aQueftion fhould

fall out hereon? And if he receiv'd no Informa-

tion, how then could he defcribe the Rooms
without he knew them ?

Marfhal. May there not be feveral Houfes that

I may give a description of, upon the hearfay of

others, tho' I were never in them myfelf ?

L. C. J. No, I know not very well how ; and

there is no reafon you fhould imagine he receiv'd

information from Oates.

Marjhal. My Lord, there is reafon enough}

becaufe both do combine in the fame Accufation.

Bedlow. My Lord, I gave Sir William Waller

Directions to feareh in luch a Place, under fuch

a Bench in Pickerings Apartment, where he found

the Gun that was to kill the King.

L. C. J. Well, call your Witneffes, Sir George.

Sir George IVakeman. Call Mr. Chapman.

L. C. J. But before they begin, Sir Robert

Sawyer, we mull do all the Right to every one

we can. 1 do not find, by the itricteft Obierva-

tion that I have made, that Mr. Bedlow, who is

the fecond Witnefs, does lay any great thing,

any material thing againft any one of them j but

as for Rumley he fays nothing at all. He fays,

in effect, againlt Sir George Wakeman, no more
than this, That he faw Harcourt give him a

Note for zooo/. which he faid was from the

Queen ; upon which Sir George faid he was more
beholden to his good Lady and Miftrefs, than

to any of them all. The Note he does not

know who drew it, nor upon whom it was

drawn ; nor does he fay what it was for, more
than what Harcourt told him, which was in

doubtful Words, That it was about the old bufi-

nefs j but Harcourt did not tell him this in the

prefence of Sir George IVakeman, but he fpoke

to Harcourt about it. It is no more, than Sir

George Wakeman receiv'd from Harcourt the Bill

of Exchange, he does not know upon whom,
nor for what.

Sir Robert Sawyer. My Lord, he fays more,

with Submiflion ; for he fays this further, That
there was adifcourfe about the bufinefsj and he

did tell you, That Sir George Wakeman fhould

complain, that they had not done well with

him, and asked why he was drill'd onj but when
the Note was produced, he faid, My Matters are

already prepared, but you are not fo ready to

perform your Promifes. Then faid Harcourt, If
you are ready for us, we are ready for you : And
told him, If he did not do it, they would do it at

New-Market.
L. C. J. What is all this? Pray Mr. Bedlow

Hand up again : We are now in the Cafe of Mens
Lives, and pray have a care that you fay no more
than what is true upon any Man whatever. I

would be loth to keep out Popery by that way
they would bring it in, that is by Blood or Vio-
lence: 1 would have all things go very fair;

Pray what, upon your Oath, was the firft part

of Sir George Wakeman's Difcourfe with Harcourt

when they met ?

L. C. J. North. Relate again your whole
knowledge concerning Sir George Wakemm, and

the Bill of Exchange, and the Diicourfe after

it, becaufe we are now upon the confideration of

it, what effect it will have upon him.

Bedlow. My Lord, I was with Harcourt in

the Chamber, and Sir George Wakeman came in,

and walked a turn or two about the Room, and
feem'd to be difcontented. How do you, Sir

George? Said Harcourt. Says Sir George, For
what am I drill'd on thus in a Concern of this Im-
portance ? What is the matter with you, Sir George ?

faid Harcourt. Why, is this a bufinefs to be flighted,

faid Sir George, as I am ? For I have no performance

of your Promifes. Why, faid Harcourt, what
would you have? we are ready for you. Then, faid

he, / am ready for you. And then Harcourt
fpoke merrily to him, Why are you fo angry, Sir

George? And upon that he goes to his Cabinet,
and fearching among his Bags he found a little

Note among them, and gave it to Sir George;

faith he, There is a Bill for you: I have been to-

day at Whitehall, and receiv'd it by the Queen's

Order, from fuch a Gentleman: [whole Nam; I

cannot now remember] ; and 'tis upon fuch a Man
for zooo I. [but I cannot remember the Gold-
fmith's Name neither.] Well, faid Sir George,

'tis wellfomebody gives me Encouragement ; I have
more Encouragementfrom my good Latiy and Miftrefsy
than from any of you. Nay, faid Harcourt, for

Encouragement, that you fjall not want ; for the

reft Jhall be paid in due time.

Sir George Wakeman, If the Queen had given
me 2000 /. for the Service I had done her, was
that any harm ? I have deferved it, I am fure,

for nine Years Service.

Sir Robert Sawyer. What other Difcourfe had
they then?

Bedlow. Said Harcourt, But Sir George, this

muft be well followed, and clofely obferved, becaufe

fo much depends upon it; rffoi- it toe u)oulo nufs to

feilt Inm at Windfor, or £ou mifs in four toau, toe

totll CO ii at New-Market.

L. C. J. Who faid fo?

Bedlow. Harcourt.

L. C. J. Did Harcourt fay, before Sir George's

Face, Ifwe mifs killing him at Windfor, and you

mifs your way, we will do it at New- Market ?

Bedlow. Yes, he did fay, If we mifs killing him
at Windfor, and you mifs in your way {which we
hope you will not) we will do it at New-Market.

L. C. J. He fays now quite another thing

than he faid before.

L. C. J. North.

Mr. Recorder.

Sir Rob. Sawyer.

L. C. J. What Anfwer made Sir George Wake-
man ?

Bedlow. Sir George Wakeman faid, If I find

you ready, I will be ready in all things.

L. C. J. Was the Word fpoke of Poifining?

Bedlow. I have fpoken that already. If we
mifs at Windfor, and you mifs in your Way; I do
not remember whether the Word Poifon was
ufed } but I knew by what Mr. Harcourt and o-

thes had told me that Poifon was meant by it.

L. C. J. Was all this one intire Difcourfe?

Bedlow. Yes, my Lord.

Then Sir Georgefaid privately to his Fellow-Pri-

foners,

Crjerc is mp buflnefs Done.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Here is a pofitive Proof of

the Receipt of Yoney which coupled with

what Oates fays, and the Difcourfe that Mr. Bed-

low tells you of, make? it out what it was for.

This was paid in Part, was it not, bir ?

Bedlow,

No, he faid the fame before.
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Bedlow. The Anfwer that Mr. Harcourt gave

to Sir George, was, That he fhould have the reft

in due time.

L. C. J. But what fay you to Marffal, but that

he carried Letters ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Was there no body prefent

but you?
Bedloiv. There was only Harcourt, You, and I.

L.C.J. But what fay you to Corker?

Bedlow. Corker hath been in the Company
with Le Faire, talking of News, what Encou-

ragement they had by Letters from beyond Sea,

as thofe they had from France ; fuch and fuch

Letters fpeak that they are in readinefs of Mo-
ney, Men and Arms ; and if we are ready here,

they are ready for us. This was ufually the Dif-

courfe, and all upon the fame Defign. Now
when we talked of this bufinefs, we did not fay

the Word Plot, but we all know what was in-

tended by it, that is the Plot.

L C. J. And what faid Corker?

Bedlow. He faid it was well. He did know
what readinefs fuch and fuch Perfons were in,

when the Defign was likely to take Effect. I

know not their Names ; we were talking of fe-

veral Perfons feveral Times, feme in England,

and fome beyond Sea. <.

L. C. J. What can you fay to Marjhal?

Bedloiv. I do fay, that he hath been to con-

fult of the return of Letters which were the

Anfwers to thof; I brought from beyond Sea.

L C.J. Did he know the Contents of thofe

Letters ?

Bcdlow. Yes, my Lord, he hath been in Con-

futation what Anlwer to make again.

L. C. J. And was all this about the Plot ?

Bedlow. Yes, for the fubverting the Prote-

ftant Religion, and bringing in Popery, and

railing of an Army.
Marjloal. Can you prove I knew any of thofe

Gentlemen the Letters were carried to ?

Bcdioiv. I name one, that was to Sir Francis

Radcliff.

Marjloal. How does he know that I know Sir

Francis Radcliff?
L. C. J. Well, Sir George, will you call your

Wit ne fie s ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Call Mr. Chapman. \_Which

ivas done.] My Lord, there was a Letter or Note

of Directions from me to Mr. AJhby, and 'tis

affirmed by Mr. Oates, that in that Letter I

fhould let Mr. AJhby know I did approve well

of the Propofals that were made to me to poi-

fon the King, and that the Queen would aflift

me in it j and that in the fame Letter there were

directions given what he fhould take, and how
many Strokes of the Pump he fhould make ufe

of, and feveral other things fit for a Phyfician

to direct his Patient in. Now, my Lord, 1 will

prove by this Gentleman Mr. Chapman, who is

Mayor of Bath, that he received this very Note
from Mr. AJhby, that he read it from the begin-

ning to the end of it ; that there was no Word
in it, or mention of the King or Queen in the

whole Letter, unlefs it be of the King or Queen's

Bath. And, my Lord, I think he hath a piece

of this Letter ftill, that Part that was the Phy-

fical Part he tore off, and kept himfelf. Now
'tis none of my Hand, I never writ a Letter to

AJhby upon any occafion whatsoever ; and I will

tell your Lordfhip how it came to pafs I did

not write that Letter, I hope by a Providence,

for I never but ufed to write my Phyfical Di-
rections with my own Hand. It happened that

I came home late, and I was very ill; Afloby fent

to me for his Note, becaufe he was to go out
of Town the next Morning j being weary and
indifpofed, I laid me down on the Couch, and
fent for my Man, who is an Apothecary now,
and is better able to write fuch a Letter j I di-

ctated the Letter to him, all my Family, and all

that were by, can teftify the lame j he knows
very well my Hand, and hath Part of it to pro-

duce j for when the Queen was there, I made
ufe of him for my Apothecary, and thofe Phyfi-

cal Directions I fent down for the Bath, I fent

always to him. He is a very good Witnefs as to

my Hand.
L. C. J. But you may fpeak of one Letter,

and Mr. Oates of another.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Why, did I write two Let-
ters of Directions ? what need that? He fays he

faw a Letter with my Name fubferib d to it.

L.C.J. Yes, it was fo, and that you fhould

be affifted by the Queen to poifon the King ;

and being asked how he did know that was your
Hand ? he faid, I did not fee him write, but I

faw him in the Pofture of writing •, and when
he went away, there was left on the Table, and
the Ink was not dry, a Phyfical Bill, which was
the fame Hand with that the Letter was.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Ay, my Lord, but he does

not call that a Letter, but it was a Phyfical Bill 5

and not a Letter j fo that there was but one Let-
ter.

L. C. J. But there was a Note of Phyfical di-

rections in the Letter.

Oates. That Letter was at leaft half a Sheet
of a fide, clofe written, wherein were thofe paf-

fages that I mentioned j but I cannot give an
account of all contained in it} but this, my Lord,
I remember, that he fhould take a Pint of Milk
in the Morning, and a Pint of Milk in the E-
vening, and fhould have fo many Strokes at the

Bath > but this was feveral Days before AJhby
went to the Bath, I believe at leait ten. Prefent-

ly after he came to Town. And I fay* that

this Letter that the Court asks me how I prove

it to be his Hand, I prove it thus : I faw him
write a Bill to an Apothecary for Mr. AJhby to

take fomething when he was in Town.
L. C. J. But was that bufinefs of being affifled

to kill the King in the fame Letter that the Phy-
fical Directions were in ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Then 'tis the fame Letter.

L. C. J. How does that follow ? might there

not be two ?

Sir George Wakeman. There is only that part of

it which is the Phyfical Prefcriptions, he hath

torn off the other part.

then Mr. Chapman was Examined.

Chapman. My Lord, the 17th of July laffc

Mr. 'Thimbleby came to the Bath.

L.C.J. Who?
Chapman. Mr. thimbleby % a Man of about

Fourfcore Years of Age, a very feeble and infirm

Man. Affoon as he came to me, he told me that

Sir George Wakeman recommended me to him,

and defired me that I would provide a Lodging
for him as near the King and Queen's Bath as I

could : I did fo > and then he fhewed me a Let-

ter from Sir George^ whereof this was the lower
part
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part of Half a Sheet of Paper ; there was full

Directions how to take the Phyfick, and after

the taking the Bolus, to drink the Waters fo ma-
ny Days, and then to ufe the Bath, and after that

the Pump, and after that he was to take a Dofe
of Pills after his Bathing. I took off this Latin

Bill that concerns me, my Lord, and gave him
the Englijh Part.

L C. J. Did you read the Englijb part ?

Chapman.- My Lord, my Son read it, as well

as I, who fhould have come up, and teftified the

fame, but that it is impoflible for both my Son
and me to leave the Shop and come together,

becaufeofmy Employment.
L. C. J. But in that Letter there was nothing

mentioned of killing the King, was there ? nor

of the Queen ?

Chapman. No, my Lord, not upon the Word
of a Chriftian, except it were the King and

Queen's Bath.

Then the Paper was J/jewn him.

L. C. J. Whofe Hand is that? do you believe

it is Sir George's Hand ?

Chapman. No, my Lord : I have brought fomc

of Sir George Wakeman's Bills here.

L. C. J. Do you know whofe Hand it is ?

Chapman. No, my Lord.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. What Name was fubfcribed

to that Letter?

Chapman. There is none fubfcribed to this Pa-

per.

L. C. J. Was there no Name to it ?

Chapman. I did not take notice of that.

L. C. J. But look you, this cannot be that

Letter, becaufe that Letter Mr. Oates fpeaks

of was of Sir George's own Hand, as he

thinks by Comparifon, and his Name fubfcribed

to it.

Sir Geo. Wakeman.- 1 never writ any other Let-

ter, but what was dictated to my Man, and fent

by Aftoby to the Bath. My Lord, he hath own-
ed it himlelf before the Houfe of Lords, that I

writ but one Letter, and I had my Liberty be-

fore. Now it was told him there, that if he

had mentioned that Letter when I was examined

before the Council, I had been certainly taken

into Cuftody then, and mould never have had

my Liberty fo long. I had my Liberty from the

laft of September, and could have gone to Con-

fiantinople in the Time I had my Liberty 5 and

certainly I mould have provided for my felf, if I

had known my felf guilty, feeing fo many caft

into Prifon upon that Account.

Mr. Recorder. 'Tis not probable that Mr. Afto-

by would communicate fuch a Letter to this Gen-
tleman, that had fuch a Defign in it.

Sir Geo- Wakeman. But if any one can, let him
prove that I hadany other Bufinefs with him, than

meerly the Bufinefs of a Phyfician with his Pa-

tient. My Lord, I have a Phyfician in Town,
that will teftify, that I was to meet him in Con-
futations about Aft)by.

L. C. J. The Anfwer is no more than this, That
you did write a Letter, or there was a Letter

writ by your Directions, to Aftoby, which hath

not any fuch Matter in it as Oates fpeaks of j but

this anfwers not Mr. Oates's Teftimony j 'tis true,

the Queftion will be upon Mr. Oates's Credit, how
far the Jury will believe him : If Mr. Oates fwear

true, then you did write another Letter, and this

is not the Letter, and there is no Contradiction

in your Anfwer, to what he fays, but Mr. Oates

Hands with the Jury how far they will believe
him.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Gentlemen of the Jury, take
notice, I never writ any Letter but that.

L. C. J. How does that appear ? if Mr. Oates
fwears true, you did write another Letter.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Mr. Chapman, was there any
mention of Milk in that Letter?

Chapman. No, my Lord. It is ridiculous to
drink Milk with the Waters, it will make it cur-
dle.

Oates. That is not the Hand the Letter I {aw
was in.

L. C. J. He fays 'tis not the fame Hand.
Oates. Jt was another, a genteel Hand.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And there was no men-

tion made of Milk in it, the Contents are not
the fame.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. The Contents were the
fame : But as for the Milk, it is fo ridiculous a
thing, that never a Phyfician in England, but will

fay 'tis perfect Poifon. I appeal to Mr. Chapman,
who hath fo long known the Way there ufed, if

any one prefcribed Milk to any one that took
the Waters.

L. C. J. Mr. Oates, was there, in the Letter you
faw, where mention is made of the Strokes thaii

were to be received from the Pump, any mention
of the Milk to be taken?

Oates. The Direction of the Milk was for the
Time he (laid in Town.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. The Milk was to be ufed
while he ftayed here, was it ?

Oates. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. J. Look you, there were two Things

that he mould do, the one of them was to be
done while he was here, that was the Milk •, the

other was to be done when at the Bath, and that

was the Strokes.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. No, 'tis no fuch Thing;
for he went away two Days after that Letter
was written.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Chapman, is this part

of the Body of the Letter ?

Chapman. Yes, my Lord, upon the Word of
a Chriftian } I tore it off my felf.

Mr. Juft. Ellys. If Dr. Oates fwears true, it

cannot be the fame Letter.

L. C. J. Your Anfwer to it, which fhould

make it probable, is, That it is ridiculous to

prefcribe Milk. Now he fays thofe were Dire-

ctions what he was to do before he went to the

Bath.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Why fhould I repeat the

Number of the Strokes twice, and write two
Letters about one Thing ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Is there any Date upon
that Letter?

Chapman. No ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Off of what part of the

Letter did you tear it ?

Chapman. Off the bottom of it.

L. C. J. North. What, it was writ crofs, was
it?

Chapman. Yes, I believe fo.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. The Truth of it is, This is

no Evidence, and ought not to be offered as fuch,

for 'tis but a Part of a Thing, which we do not

know what it was in the Whole.
Chapman. I can give it upon my Oath that

there was nothing in it of the King or Queen,

except the King or Queen's Bath.

L C.J.
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L. C. % Mr. Oates, if I remember right, you

fay the Directions that you faw were at the be-

ginning of the Letter.

Oates. He was very weak when he came to

Town, and his Directions to him then were. That
he mould take a Pint of Milk in the Morning,

• and that when he went to the Bath he fhould

have a hundred Strokes, or thereabouts.

L. C. J. Was this in the beginning of the

Letter ?

Oates. It was after a Line or two that was
Compliments.

L. C. J. Was there any Receipt for Phyfkk,
in Latin, in it?

Oates. No, my Lord, there was not : No,
my Lord, it was half a Sheet of Pa,per ; it was
full of it felf to the bottom } this is not the Let-

ter, my Lord.

Mr. Juft. Pemherton. He fays, this is neither

the Hand, nor the Name fubferibed, nor the

Contents of the Letter ; all thefe differ.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I'll tell you the Reafon why
my Name was not fubferibed, I was fick, my
Man is here to witnefs, that he carried it himfelf,

and delivered it to Aftoby.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But, Sir George, you do
not obferve, that to the Letter which he faw, your
Name was fubferibed.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. This then is that I defire

may be taken notice of; 'tis not probable thai I

fhould write two Letters tor the fame 1 hing, and
I never writ any other Letter in my Life.

L. C. J. This is that you fay, and let it be ta-

ken notice of, That it is not probable that you
ijiou'd write two Letters for the fame Directions

)iow he migNt ufe the Bath.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. This might be writ to

ferve a Turn very well.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Then I'll tell you the Rea-
fon why my iS|ame is not to it, and fo I fatibfy

you about it as much as I can ; I was very ill

after I h d dictated that Letter to him, and went
immediately to Bed. It was not writ very fair,

or fomething was lefc out, which he interlined,

and (o he tranferibed it again in his own Cham-
ber, and I was then afleep, and fj did not put

my Name to it, and he went away two Hours in

tf^e Morning before I awoke.
Mr. Juft. Aikws. Who wrote the Letter? Was

the Letter you tore off in the Man's Name, or

in Sir %$$$'.$ Name?
Chapman. 1 know not who wrote it.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Was it faid to be, By my Ma-
ster's pirecliorrs ? What were the Contents of

the Letrer ?

Chapman. It was only thus, As foon as you come

to thje Barb, ,after refling a Day, in the firft place

itfjzeypur Bolus, and after drink the Waters. W hich

|ie 4'^ for ux Davs together.

Qatfs.My Lord, I would anfwer to this: This
$caji not the Letter, for therein he only told him
yhat he fhould do before be went to the Bath,

piQ how many Strokes he mould receive : Be-

lies, my Lord, there was not one Syllable of

||ie Bolus in the Letter, or what Bath he was to

go into ; but when he came there, he was to re-

ceive fo many Strokes of the Pump.
Sir Geo. JVakeman. Nor one Syllable of the

Milk in it neither ?

Qfitcs. Yes, there was ; he did tajce Milk,
^:ght j$d Morning, io,x I attended upon
him.

Sir Geo Wakeman. My Lord, you fee this Wit-
nefs is a Proteflant.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton Mr. Oates, you fiy that

the Letter that you faw was written ten Days be-

fore he went to the Bath?
Oates. Yes, if not more.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Why fhould I tell him of
an hundred Strokes fo long before he went to the

Bath ?

L. C. J. You might mention it to give him
Satisfaction. Well, have you any more?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Ye?, my Lord. Call Hunt.
\_Who flood up.~\

L. C. J. What do you call him to, Sir George?
Sir Geo Wakermn. This is my Man. What

do you know concerning a Letter of Directions,

that was fent to Mr. AJhby ? Give an Account
of it.

Hunt. If it pleafe your Honour, my Mafter
was out lare, and coming home, 1 told him.,

Mr. AJhby had fent for forne Directions for the

Bath ; and being weary and indifpoled, (for it

was late, and he was not well) faid he, / cannot

write my felf, do you take my Pen and Ink, and
write. I did take the Pen and Ink, and write j

and when I had written, fomething was falfe in

it; Pray, faid he, correel that : I did fo, and in-

terlined it, and when my Mafter was in Bed
|

writ it over again, and the next Morning, be-

fore he was awakp, I carried it to Mr. AJhby my
felf, and there were only Directions in it what to

do at the Bath.

L C.J. When was Mr. AJhby to go to the

Bath ? How foon after ?

Hunt. He was to go the next Morning.
L. C.J. If what Mr. Oates fwears, be true,

this Letter that he faw was ten Days before, fo

what he fpeaks is quite another Thing.
Sir Geo. Wakeman. I never writ any fuch Let-

ter in my Life, and I hope the Jury will take

notice of it.

Mr. Juft Atkins. Do you know any thing of
Mr. AJhby's drinking Milk while he was here?

Hunt. No, but he was faying he was advifed

by a Friend of his to drink Milk.

L. C. J. When, at the Bath ?

Hunt. No, when he was in Town.
L. C. J. When he was in Town? that is con-

fiflent with Mr. Oates'* Teflimony.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. My Lord, there is a Phyfl-

cian that was in Couiultation with me about

Mr. AJhby, 1 think it of great Confequence to

fhew that I came to him about no Treafonable

Affair, I vow to Almighty God I did not.

L. C. J. If you have any more Witnefles, call

them.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Call Elizabeth Henningham.

[Who flood up.~]

L. C. J. Sir Goorge, What do you ask her?

Henningham I was prefent, my Lord, at the

writing of the Letter. His Servant writ, and he

dictated to him, every Word of the Letter I faw,

but there was no fuch thing in it.

L. C. J. I am very confident that this it true

that you fay, but it is no,t to the thing that Mr.
Oates fpe-iks of, and charges you withal : that

you did write fuch a Letter as thele People men-

tion, and there was nothing in it, but like a Phy-

lician's Directions to his Patient, I do believe,

and this was juft when he was going to the Bath ?

but Mr. Oates tells you (if he fays true) that this

Letter he fpeaks of, to w.hicfr Sir George Wake-
man
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man was fubfcribed, was ten Days before he

went to the Bath ; and that there was no men-

tion of any Bolus in that, but the Direction was

in the flrft Part how he was to ufe himfelf, while

he flaid in Town to drink Milk, and when he

came to the Bath, to ufe to Pump ; fo that this

your WitnefTes fay, and }0U urge, is true, but

not pertinent.

Sir Geo. Wakcman. 1 fiy, my Lord, it is not

probable that I mould write Directions fo long

before he went.

Henningham. My Lord, hefaid himfelf he want-

ed Directions to go to the Bath, in my own Hear-

ing.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Yes, he might, and in-

deed he did fo, for the firft contained none, but

how he ihould behave himfelf while he was

here.

L. C. J. Have you any more WitnefTes ? Pray

call them.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. My Lord, I have this to

fay, as I told you before^ that I had my Liberty

for twenty-four Days after my Examination be-

fore the Council. Mr. Gates call'd at the Bar of

the Houfe of Commons, and there gave an Ac-

count of this very Letter that he mentions now,

I fay it was at the Bar of the Houfe of Com-
mons. And thereupon the Commons fent an

Addrefs to the Houfe of Lords, with Aftonifh-

ment that I was not under Confinement j and

thereupon Mr. Oates was called to the Bar of

the Houfe of Lords, and was commanded to give

an Account what it was he knew concerning me,

that ihould create fuch an Aftonifhment in the

Houfe of Commons : He told them of this Let-

ter, and my Lord Chancellor faid to him, Do
you know it was Sir George Wakeman'j Hand?
No, faid he : How do you know it was his Letter

then ? I know it only by this, faid he, it was fub-

fcribed, George Wakeman. If he had fuch Proof

as he fays he hath now, if he had feen me wri-

ting, and came into the Room where the Paper

I writ was yet wet, whether he would not have

mentioned it there when he was examined about

the Knowledge of my Hand.

L.C.J. Call your WitnefTes: But what fay

you, Mr. Oates, your felf to it ?

Oates. My Lord, Sir George Wakeman had his

Liberty becaufe I was fo weak, by reafon of be-

ing up two Nights together, one whereof was

fo very wet, and being hot, wet, and cold, all

in a few H'jurs time, fo that I thought it would

have cofl me my Life ; not being ufed to fuch

hard Services, I did not charge Sir George fo

fully : Tho' it may be objected to this Court,

that I was bound to fpeak the whole Truth j and

fo I did, as Opportunity and Health would give

me leave. And as to the Letter, and what I faid

about it in the Lords Houfe, Sir George is mifta-

ken. He fays here that I faid I knew his Hand
no otherwife, but by feeing Sir George Wakeman
fubfcribed to it.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I will prove it by the Re-
cord.

Oates. Now, my Lord, I humbly defire that

, he may propofe his Queftions to the Court : And
I defire to know, whether J did fay, I did not

know it any other ways but by its being figned

George Wakeman.
Sir Geo. Wakeman. Pray, my Lord, be pleafed

to give me leave——
L. C. J. Mr. Oates, did you mention in the

Houfe of Lords, whether you knew his Hand
or no ?

Oates. My Lord, I cannot call to mind what

I then faid, I did fay, I faw fuch a Letter, fign-

ed George Wakeman ; but if he will bring the Re-
cord, and one that mail fwear thofe were the

Words, I will leave it to the Jury. But this

my Lord," I would add, if you will give me
leave ; the Words I did fay, as near as 1 can re-

member, were thefe, when they asked me, how
I knew Sir Geo. Wakeman's Hand ? 1 fiid, I

faw fuch a Letter figned George fVakeman. Now,
my Lord, upon this Information, they did think
fit to take Sir George Wakeman up and fecure

him j and now I come Face to Face, and am not
only to fatisfy Judges, but a Jury, I fhew you
what Reafons I have to believe it, and what they

may have, that it was his Hand : For I fay,

I faw him in a writing Pofture, I faw him lay

by the Pen, I faw him withdraw from the Pa-
per, I faw none but another Gentleman there,

that was lame of both his Hands, and the Ink
was not dry, and it was the fame Hand with the
Letter.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Was my Name to that

Note ?

Oates. No, I will not fwear that ; but the
Character of the Hand was the fame, if I may
judge of Writing.

L. C. J. North. Look you, Sir George, you
fpoke of WitnefTes you would call to prove what
he Twore in the Houfe of Lords j if you can call

any WitnefTes for that, do.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Call Sir Philip Lloyd : I

hope your Lordfhip will pleafe to allow me, at

leail, this Advantage (I know not whether it be
an Advantage) that the Record of the Houfe of

Lords may be made ufe of as a Record here. If

I prove it by the Record, it will be a good Evi-

dence.

L C.J. Have you that Record here ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I have a Copy of that Re-
cord, and a Witnefs that will fwear it.

'Then Sir Philip Lloyd appeared, and food up.

L. C. J. What do you ask Sir Philip Lloyd?

Sir George Wakeman. I defire to know ofSir Phi-

lip Lloyd, what Mr. Oates faid of me before his

Majelly and the Council, the lafl Day of Septem-

ber ; Sir, you were there prefent, and fent by the

King to me, and commanded to bring me in to

the Council.

Sir Philip Lloyd. I will, my Lord, as well as

I can, recollect: and tell you, as near as I can,

what Mr. Oates did then accufe him of. It was
upon the One and Thirtieth Day of September,

Mr. Oates did then fay he had feen a Letter, to

the befl of his Remembrance, from Mr. White
to Mr. Fenwick at St. Omers, in which Letter

he writ word, that Sir George Wakeman had un-
dertaken the Poifoning of the King, and was
to have ifooo/. for it j of which, fooo /. had
been paid him by the Hands of Coleman. Sir

George Wakeman, upon this, was called in, and
told of this Accufation ; he utterly denied all,

and did indeed carry himfelf as if he were not
concerned at the Accufation, but did tell the King
and Council, he hoped he mould have Repara-
tion and Satisfaction, for the Injury done to his

Honour, His Carriage was not well liked of by
the King and Council, and being a Matter of

fuch
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fuch Confequence as this was, they were willing

to know further of itj and becaufe they thought

this Evidence was not Proof enough to give them

occafion to commit him, being only out of the

Letter of a third Perfon, thereupon they called

in Mr. Oates again, and my Lord Chancellor de-

fired Mr. Oates to tell him, if he knew nothing

perfonally of Sir George Wakeman, becaufe they

were in a Matter of Moment, and defired fuffi-

cient Proof, whereupon ro ground a Commit-
ment ; Mr. Oates, when he did come in again,

and was asked the Quefhon, did lift up his

Hands ( for I muff, tell the Truth, let it be what
it will) and faid, No, God forbid that I mould
fay any thing againfl Sir George Wakeman, for I

know nothing more againfb him. And I refer

my felf to the whole Council, whether it was

not fo.

Oates. I remember not one Word of all

this.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. My Lord, this is a Protec-

tant Witnefs too.

Oates. My Lord, give me leave to make an

Anfwer : When I did report this Letter, the

Council did ask me whether or no Sir George

was anyways concerned in this Letter? I replied,

I had it by Report, that Sir George had received

5-000/. of this Money. My Lord, the Council

did not prefs me, to my Knowledge; I will not

be pofitive; but if the Council did prefs me, and

I did make that Anfwer, I do appeal to the whole
Board, whether or no I was in a Condition to make
any Anfwer at all, when, by reafon of my being

hurried up and down, and fitting up, I wasfcarce

Compos mentis.

L.C.J. What, mud we be amufed with I

know not what, for being up but two Nights?
You were not able to give an Anfwer ; that when
they call and fend for Mr. Oates again to give a

pofitive Charge, and then you tell us a Story fo

remote: What, was Mr. Oates jud fo fpent, that

he could not fay, I have feen a Letter under Sir

George Wakeman'.? own Hand.
Oates. My Lord, I did, to the befl of my Re-

membrance, make mention of that Letter, that

Sir George Wakeman writ, before the Board. I

fay, to the beft of my Skill and Knowledge* but

I will not be pofitive in it.

L. C. J. You have heard what Sir Philip Lloyd

fays.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. What f;y you, did Mr. Oates

make any mention of this Letter?

Sir Philip Lloyd. Truly, my Lord, I can't re-

member that there was any fuch Letter mention-

ed. 1 tell you what I do remember* and after-

wards becaufe he came and gave this Depofition

before the Lords and Commons, that he found

fuch a Letter upon the Table from Sir George to

Jfoby, indeed I did very much wonder at it,

and it made me reflccT: upon that other PafTage

at the Council, of his denying to accufe Sir

George further, and it hath been in my Mind ever

fince.

L. C. J. And you do declare, that when the

Lords of the Council asked him, whether he

knew any thing more particularly againfl: Sir

George Wakeman, he did lift up his Hands and
faid, No, God forbid 1Jhould charge him any fur-
ther, I know no more againft him.

Sir Philip Lloyd. Yes, my Lord, fo it was.

Oates. My Lord, I believe Sir Philip Lloyd is

miftaken* but however I was fo weak, and the
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King and Council were fo fenfibleof it, that the
King himfelf had like to havefent me away once
or twice before, becaufe he found I was fo

weak.

L. C. J. It did not require fuch a deal of
Strength to fay, Ifazv a Letter under Sir George's
own Hand.

L.C.J. North. Well, it muft be left to the

Jury: If you have any more WitnefTes call

them.

L. C. J. Mr. Oates, Sir George Wakeman urged
it right, that he fhould not have been permitted
to have his Liberty fo long, if you had charged
him home then.

Sir George Wakeman. Call Mr. Lydcot.

Oates. To fpeak the Truth, they were fuch a
Council as would commit no Body.
Mr. Recorder. That was not well faid.

Sir George Wakeman. He reflects on the King,
and all the Council.

L. C. J. You have taken a great Confidence,
I know not by what Authority, to fay any thing
of any Body. But this is naturally true, Thac
when the Council were offended at the Carriage
of Sir George Wakeman at the Board, and there-
fore fent for Mr. Oates again, doubting in them-
felves, whether what they had would be fufficienc

to commit him ; for indeed it was only a wild
thing, of what was mentioned in a Letter of a
third Perfon's, that Sir George had accepted of
Fifteen thoufand Pounds, and received the Five;
therefore, faid they, we will know of Mr. Oates
fome more Particulars, and fent for him in again,

and asked him, Doyou know any thing ofyour own
Knowledge ? If he had come in then and faid,

Tes, I havefeen a Letterfubferibed under Sir George
Wakeman'* Hand, would not they have commit-
ted him ? furely they would. And now the
Council's not committing him, is an Argument
that they had not fufficient Evidence, and Oates
did omit at that time to charge him with this

Letter.

Then Mr. Lydcot flood up.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Mr. Lydcot, have you a Copy
of the Lords Records?

Lydcot. Yes, it is.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Pray, what did Mr. Oates
fay to my Lord Chancellor in the Houfe of
Lords ?

L. C.J. You mull have that which is proper
Evidence : You fhall have all the fair Dealing that

can be, and all that can be admitted for your De-
fence fhall be.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. My Lord, I humbly thank
you, I find it.

L. C. J. Ay, but this is now what the Clerk
writes down as Minutes. 'Tisan hardConilruc-
tion to make this Evidence. Were you prefent

when Mr. Oates was there and faid this?

Lydcot. No, my Lord, All I fay, is this, This is

a Copy of the Record in the Lords Houfe.

L. C. J. Did Mr. Oates fet his Hand to that

Record ?

Lydcot. Yes, in fome Places. 'Tis Titus Oates

fet in diverfe Places as his Hand to Examina-
tions.

L. C. J. But is Mr. Oates* s own Hand fet t6

the Record?
Lydcot. I know nothing of that.

L.C.J. This is the Objection. It will be hard*

6 E- that
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that if a Clerk takes the Depofitions of Oates or

any one elfe, and takes them as near as he can,

but he never fubfcribes it, and you prove only

'tis a Copy of what the Clerk wrote, That can-

not be allowed as Evidence.

Lydcot. 'Tis a Copy in raoft Places of what is

under Mr. Relf's own Hand.

L. C. J. But you can't Swear the Clerk writ

true?

Lydcot. No, that I can't.

L. C J. It maybe an Entry of what the Houfe
of Lords did upon the Examination 3 That is not

Evidence here.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. If you can produce any

one that heard Mr. Oates give in his Information,

you fay well.

Sir Geo. TVakemm. I believe there is a Differ-

ence between the Entry-Book, and the Book of

Records, and I hope you will look upon the

Book of the Houfe of Lords as the higheil Evi-

dence, beyond any Verbal Averment. My Life

is in your Hands, I ask you whether it be not fo,

or no?
L. C. J. North. If there be a Record in any

Court of Record, that fuch a Man appear'd in

Court, 'tis an Evidence that he was in Court, and

a Record for it ; but when there is an Examina-
tion in a Court of Record, thefe not paffing

the Examination of that Court, but being ta-

ken by the Clerks, we always in Evidence ex-

pect there lhould be fome body to prove, that

fuch an Examination was fworn, and fubfcribed

to.

L. C. J. Have you any WitnefTes here, that

were by, and heard what Mr. Oates did then de-

pofe, and can teftify what Mr. Oates faid when
he was called in, and particularly what Anfwer
he made to that fingle Queftion of my Lord
Chancellor's, how he came to know it was your

Hand?
Sir Geo. Wahman. I can bring none but thefe

Records, or the Lords themfelves, and I can't

expect it from them. And that which they call

a Record, I am not able to judge whether it be

a Record or no.

L. C. 'J. Were there not others called with him
into the Lords Houfe?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. No, there were noue but

the Lords themfelves.

L. C. y. You fhould have had the Clerks here

that made the Entry, orfaw him fet his Hand to

the Examination.

L. C. y. North. This is nothing, but, as he fays,

a Tranfcript out of the Journal.

Lydcot. i believe it is written mod: under

Mr. Relf's own Hand. There is a great deal of

it that contains the whole Narrative that Gates

gave in.

L. C. y. North. You defire to give in Evidence
what Mr. Oates faid at the Bar of the Houfe of

Lords to what my Lord Chancellor asked him ;

if you have any WitnefTes that can prove it, they

fhall be heard.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. My Lord, I have no Wit-
nefTes, only the Record.

L. C. y. This is only a Copy of a Narrative.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. If you will not allow it to

be a R' cord, I can't help it.

Mr. Recorder. This is no Part of the Record
of the Houfe of Lords, it can't be allow'd./

L. C. y. Well, have you any other WitnefTes

to any thing elfe ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I defire you would examine
Sir Philip Lloyd once more. [Who was called, but
anfwered not.~]

Mr. Recorder. He is gone out of the Court.
L. C.y. Well, what fay the reft? Mr. Corker,

have you any WitnefTes in the firft Place ?

Corker. No, my Lord.
L. C. y. Mr. Marjhal, have you any WitnefTes

Anfwer that firft, before you enter upon your
Defence ; you fhall be heard afterwards.

Then Sir Philip Lloyd came into Court again.

Mr. Recorder. Sir George, here is Sir Philip Lloyd
here now, what would you ask him ? i

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Sir Philip Lloyd, I defire to
know concerning the laft Examination of Mr.
Oates and Mr.Eealow, before the Council; (you
were there prefent, as I am informed) pray will
you tell what you know.

Sir Philip Lloyd. To what Point, Sir ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. To their whole Evi-
dence.

Sir Philip Lloyd. I fuppofe what they have gi-
ven in lately, they have acquainted the Bench
with already. It was fome Day this very Month,
but I would know what it is Sir George would have
me fpeak to ?

L. C. y. What was there relating to Sir George
Wakeman ?

L C. y. North. But pray confider, whether it
be a Queftion fit to be asked of the Clerk of the
Council, what was done in Council without leave
of the Board. I don't think he is bound to An-
fwer the Queftion.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. Sir George, if you would
ask him to any one particular Queftion, it were
fomething.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I Live done with him ; I
hope he will excufe me, I have put him to this
Trouble.

L. C. y. Then Mr. MarJJjal, have you any Wit-
nefTes ?

Marjhal. I cannot fay I have any direct posi-
tive WitnefTes.

L.C.y. Think not that you fhall be concluded,
we are not in hafte, you (hall have time to fay
what you will ; but if you would ufe any Wit-
nefTes, call them.

MarJJml. For the prefent I fhall have no ufe of
any.

L. C.y. Well, Mr. Rumley, have vou anv
WitnefTes ?

J

Rumley. I think I have.
L. C. y. I can't tell of any need you have of

any, for there is but one Witnefs againft you.
Corker. But he defires that his WitnefTes may

be heard, 'tis but fhort.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. There is no need of it, Mr.
Rumley, we can't infift on it againft you, you
muft be acquitted.

Mr. Recorder. Will he have his WitnefTes cal-

led ? If he will, he fhall, tho' there is no need
of it.

Rumley. No, my Lord.
L. C. y. Then, Sir Robert Sawyer, would you

fay' any thing more for the King, before the Pri-
foners make their Defence?

Sir Rob. Sawyer. My Lord, there is one thing
which I would have anfwered, that is, the vari-

ance between what Mr. Oates faid before the
Council, and what he fays now, upon the Tefti-

mony
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mony of Sir Philip Lloyd, who fays, that he gave

no Teftimony of this Letter, under Sir George

Wakemari% Hand ; but being asked, whether he

knew anything of his own Knowledge, he faid,

he had only met with a Letter from White to Fen-

wick, wherein it was faid, So much was propofed

to, and accepted by Sir George Wakeman: And
that he fhould then declare that he could fay no

more} and lifting up his Hands, affirm with a

Protettation he knew no more. Gentlemen, We
hope to give you Satisfaction in this Matter, for

it was after along and tedious Examination j and

we (hall prove to you that he was in great Con-
fufion, being almoft tired out with Examination,

which is not impoffible to happen to any Man,
tho' of the ftrongeft Conftitution and Memory,
•after two Nights waking, and continual hurry-

ing up and down. We (hall call Sir Thomas Dole-

man to prove, that he was under great Confu-

fion, and that the King and Council were fo

fenfiblc of it, that fome of them would have had

him gone away a great while before he did go a-

way. Swear Sir thomas Doleman. [Which was

done-~]

Sir Robert Sawyer. You hear what hath been

objected and faid by Sir Philip Lloyd, will you

tell your Knowledge of this Matter ?

Sir 'tho. Doleman. My Lord, Mr. Oates did ap-

pear before the King and Council, I think on the

Saturday, before which was Michaelmas Eve.

The Council fat long that Morning, the Coun-

cil fat again in the Afternoon, and Mr. Oates was

employed that Night, I think, to fearch after

fonKjefuits, who were then taken, and that was

the Work ofthat Night. The Council, I think,

fat again Sunday in the Afternoon, Mr. Oates was

then examined, the Council fat long, and at

Night he was fent abroad again to fearch the

Lodgings of feveral Priefb, and to find out their

Papers, which he did feize upon, and one of the

Nights in that Seafon was a very wet Night ; he

went either with a Meffenger, or with a Guard

upon him. On Monday Morning the Council

fat again, and he was further examined, and went

abroad ; and Monday Night Mr. Oates was in as

feeble and weak a Condition as ever I faw Man
in my Life* and was very willing to have been

difmifTed for that time} for he feem'd to be

in very great Weaknefs and Diforder, fo that I

believe he was fcarce able to give a good An-
fwer.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Was that the time Six Philip

Lloyd fpeaks of ?

Sir 'tho. Doleman. I think he was call'd in on

Monday Night.
Sir Geo. Wakeman. I receiv'd the Summons on

Saturday, by a Letter from Sir Rob. Southwell.

Sir tho. Doleman. You were call'd in on Mon-
day Night, the Night before the King went to

New-Market.
Sir Geo. Wakeman. I appeared upon Sunday,

and was difmifTed by Sir Philip Lloyd, who came
out and let me know that the King faid, he

would have the Hearing of it himfelf, the next

Day.
Sir tho. Doleman. Then, Sir, you were call'd

in, and you gave your Anfwerj and the whole

Council was amazed at the Manner of it : For

you did not, in my Opinion, or in the Opinion

cf feveral others, deny it fo pofitively as one that

was Innocent could, but ufed many great Expref-

fions of your own great Fidelity and Loyalty to
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the King, and of your Family, and the Services

they had paid the Crown, and did require Sa-
tisfaction and Reparation for the Injury done to

your Honour.
Sir Geo. Wakeman. My Lord, I will give you

a brief Account of it ; I leave it to you, whe-
ther I behaved my felfill or no j I confefs, I

think I might have behaved my ielf more fub-

miffively ; there was nothing of Duty wanting in

my Mind, but I will give you an Account of
what I faid, verbatim. My Lord Chancellor told

me, that I was accufed of the blackeft of Crimes j

that I had undertaken to poifon the King. I

asked him who was my Accufer, he pointed to

Mr. Oates, and told me Mr. Oates was my Ac-
cufer. Says I, Mr. Oates, do you know me?
Did you ever fee me before? Mr. Oates faid,

No. Why then, fud J, how come you to be
my Accufer? Said he, I will tell you: I was at

St. Omers, where there was a Confult of theje-
fuits, at which Mr. JjJoby the Rector of the
College at St. Omers did prefide-, and in that

Confult it was debated who was the fkteft Per-
fon for that horrid Undertaking of Poifoning the
King, and unanimoufly it was agreed upon an

that Confult, that you were, Sir George Wake-
man by Name: And now he fays it was debated

here in England. Then, my Lord, (laid I to

my Lord Chancellor) Here is no Proof, there-

fore I hope there is no need of any Defence.

Said he, There is no Smoke, but there is fome
Fire. My Lord, faid I, if you underfland by
that, there can he no Accufation without fome
Guilt, I fhould be forry \ fhould not uaderftand

both Sacred and Prophane Hiitory better than
to think fo. Then he prefTed me to know what
I could fay for my felt. Said I, my Lord, I

come of a Loyal Family, my Father had fuffer'd

very much, to the Value of eighteen Thoufand
Pounds and more for the Royal Family. My
Brother raifed a Troop of Horfe for the King,
and ferved him from the beginning of the War
to the end. He was Major to the Marquifs of

Worcefier, at Worcefter Fight, and loft his Life

by the Wounds he received in the King's Ser-

vice. As for my ovn Part, faid I, I travelled

very young, and came over when Ireton was Lord
Mayor, and both by my Religion and my Name,
was fufpected to be a Favourer of the Royal Par-

ty, and therefore was imprifoncd, and did not
come out till I had given great Security : and the

fecond time I was committed, was, when I en-

tred into a Plot, the only Plot I was guilty of,

I confpired with Captain Lucy, and feveral others

to attempt fomething for his Majefty's Reftau-

ration, when few durft appear for him. I was
feized on in my Bed; there were feveral Arms
found in my Apothecary's Cellar, and we were
both committed to Prifon j and we fhould both
have fuffered Death certainly, if his Majefty's

happy Reftauration had not prevented it. When
my Lord prelt me it ill to fay what I could fay

for my felf, as to what was charged on me* £

told him, my Lord, I am under the ranft foul

and falfe Accufation that ever innocent Gentle-

man was, and I expect Reparation ; and upon
that they were offended, and I was bid to with-

draw. And 1 added this befide, my Lord, that

there was not a Family in England that was Co

much infrrumental in his Majefty's Reftauration

as that Family was; that Colonel Charles Gifford

was my near Kinfman, fo was Colonel Carlos *

6 E i and
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and that the Pendrels were Menial Servants to

the Family j and I hope they deferve fome Fa-

vour.

L. C. J. What have you to fay, Sir George, in

your prefent Defence here ? Make what Obfer-

vations you will now, upon the Teftimony hath

been given againft you.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. My Lord, I fay this, if it

had been allowed me to make ufc of the Re-

cords of the Houfe of Lords, it would have made

all things fo evident and clear, as nothing can

be more ; for then, when he was called to that

Bar, to give an Account what he had declared to

the Houfe of Commons concerning me, he gave

an Account of this Letter. \

Mr. Juft.
Pemberton. Sir George, you muft not

make mention any more of thefe things, that

could not be given in Evidence.

Sir Geo. Wakeman. Then, my Lord, I have

no more to fay.

L. C. J. What fay you, Mr. Corker?

Corker. My Lord, I hope the Court will not

require that I fhould bring any particular Evi-

dence in Confutation of what is here alledged a-

gainft me $ for, before I came to this Bar, I did

not know any particular Accufation that was a-

gainllmej and therefore I could not be ready to

anfwer it, and make my Defence, or bring par-

ticular Witnedes to evidence and (hew my In-

nocency. Befides, my Lord, it is a known ge-

neral IVLxim, That a pofitive Aflertioa is as

eafy to be made, as to prove a Negative, is oft-

times hard, if not impoffible. Men may eafily

devife Crimes, and frame Accufations againft in-

nocent Men in fuch a manner, that the contrary

cannot poffibly be demonftrated. No mortal

Man can tell where he was, and what he did

and faid every Day and Hour of his whole Life.

Therefore, I think, 'tis not only Pofitive bare

Swearing, but 'tis Probable Swearing, that muft
render a Man guilty of a Crime. Otherwife, my
Lord, it would be lawful, and in the power of

OateS) and his Companions here, to hang, by
turns, upon bare Oath, all the Innocent Men in

the whole Nation, tho' never fo Innocent, and

that for Crimes never fo ridiculous and abfurd.

And I fay this further, he that Swears againft

another, firft, ought to be himfelf a Credible

Witnefs; and then, fecondly, ftrengthned by
Probable Circumftances} Circumftances that

bring along with them fome {Probable Evidence

diftinfl from the Witnefles themfelves: Other-

wife, I think, that the Party accufed, without

any Proof of his fide, ought to remain in the

Poffeffionof his ownlnnocency. Now, I think,

my Lord, there will be never any one of thefe

two neceflary Conditions to be found in the

Evidence againft mej for, Firft, the Witnefles

againft me, are Perfons that are, or at leaft for-

merly have been, of fcandalous Lives.

L. C. J. You fhould Prove it, before you Say

it. You (hall have all things allow'd you that

are fit-, but you muft not heap up Contumelies

upon Men unproved, or call Men Names, when
you have proved nothing againft them. If you
can prove any thing, of God's Name do it ; prove

them as fully as you can.

Corker. I do only fay this, They have been re-

ported, and owned by themfelves, as Men that

have been of fcandalous Lives.

L. C. J. If the Jury know it of their own
Knowledge, I leave it to them ; but you have
proved nothing.

Corker. Well, my Lord, but then, in the next
place, neither will the pofitive Oaths of Men for-

merly Infamous, be any convincing Arguments
of our Guilt : And then next, as to the other
Circumftances that fhould render me Guilty,
Mr. Oates does not here make me Guilty alone
of this Grand Confpiracy j but he involves the
Nobility, Gentry, and the whole Body of the

Catholicks, in this Treafon. Now, my Lord, I

refer it to the Judgment of the Court, whether
fo many Perfons as he names, and thofe of fuch
eminent Quality, and of fuch confiderable Eftates

in their Countries, Perfons fettled under fo good
a King, in fo peaceable a Kingdom

i fo Quiet in

Condition -, Men of Good and Virtuous Lives,

and Unblemifhed Conventions, before this

Hour, fhould hazard their Honours, their Lives,

their Families, their Bodies, their Souls, their

All in fuch a Defign!

L. C. J. What is this to your Cafe?
Corker. My Lord, if this be not probable, I

hope I am free of the Plot.

L. C.y. But what is this to your Cafe? Pray
hear j you are now making a Speech againft Mr.
Oates and Mr. Bedloiv, Th-Jt they do accufe Peo-
ple of great Honour and Quality ; he hath given
no Accufation againft any as yet, that you are to

take notice of. You ought to make ufe of no-
thing as an Argument to the Jury, but of the

Evidence that hath been given to the Jury. If

you can make ufe of any thing that Mr. Oates

or Mr. Bedh'W hath faid here to contradict them,
or invalidate their Teftimony, you have faid well.

But to talk of fuch a Story, of accufing Noble-
men, and fuch like, when there is nothing of

that before you * you muft firft prove what you
will infer from.

Corker. My Lord, this I take to be of very
great Concern to my felf, that fince the Truth
of this Evidence does depend upon the Certainty

of the Plot, and this pretended Confpiracy a-

gainft his Sacred Majeftyj if there be.no fuch.

Plot and Confpiracy, and if, by Circumftances;

I can render it improbable, I hope the Jury will

take it into Consideration.

L.C.y. Ay, ay, I am of that Opinion, if

thou canft but fatisfy Us and the Jury, that there

is no Plot, thou fhalt be quitted by my Confent:

Corker. I will, my Lord, fhew you the Impro-
bability of it.

L. C. y. Ay, do but give us one probable Ar-

gument, (you being a Learned Man, and a Prieft)

why we fhould believe, there is no Plot.

Corker. My Lord, I would have endeavoured
to have fhewn you the Improbability of it, but

yet I would not urge it, becaufe it may not be

fo grateful to your Lordfhip. But to me, 'tis

not probable, that fo many Honourable and
Virtuous Perfons fhould be involved in a Plot fo

Dangerous, fo Horrid and Deteftable in it felf

;

wherein, my Lord, as he fays, fo many Thou-
fands of People, and even a whole Nation, were
to be overwhelmed : of which, if a Difcovery

had been made by any Perfon, it would have

prevented the utter Ruin of fo many Millions.

'Tis not Rational or Probable, that fuch vaft

whole Armies fhould be raifed, and Foreign Na-
tions concerned in the Plot. All which, not-

with-
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withstanding all the Evidence that can be made

out of this Plot, is but only their pofitive Swear-

ing.

L. C. J. Juft now you made your Objection,

that it was a ftrange thing that fuch a Defign

fhould be communicated to fo many* now you

make it a Wonder why To few mould know it,

only Oates and Bediow. Your Argument before

was, that it was a wonderful thing, that fo great

a Concern mould be communicated to any one,

and now you wonder more, that none mould
know it but they two.

Corker. Therefore, my Lord, I from thence

argue thus, that fince there is no other Evidence,

nor further Proof of it, than from Mr. Oates,

and Mr. Bedlow, I infer there is no fuch thing

at all.

L. C. J. Yes, as for your Army, there is more

than fo : Do you remember what Mr. Dugdale

and what Mr. Praunce fay ?

Corker. Yes, my Lord, confidering thefe Per-

sons, what they are, their vile Oaths, and the

Encouragement they have met with, by fuch

Endearments and CarefTes, as they have found,

their Credit is not much to be weighed. Now,
my Lord, I apply to the Accufation that is a-

gainft my felf.

L. C J. Ay, ay, that is your beft way, for it

would have been an hard Task for you to prove,

that there was no Plot. We were in great Ex-

pectation what Arguments you would bring us

for it.

Sir Geo. TFakcman. My Lord, will you give

me leave to obferve one Thing more to your

Lordfhip and the Court? Mr. Oates does men-

tion in his Narrative, of at leaft Thirty or Forty

Pages, and all this upon Oath, (fo he faith in

the end of his Narrative) but I would obferve,

that there is not a Letter dated in France, or in

the Low-Countries, or received here, but he

fwears positively as to the Date of it, and Re-
ception of it •, but now, when he comes to men-

tion any Thing wherein a Man's Life is con-

cern'd, he will not tie up himfelf to a Month.

L. C J. Yes, he does, and to part of a Month.

He tells you, it was the beginning, or middle,

or latter end ; and he fpeaks punctually as to the

Twenty firft of Augufi.

Sir Geo.lVakeman. But in all his whole Nar-
rative, he fpeaks to a Day.
Mr. Recorder. As my Lord fays, he fpeaks

punctually to the Twenty firft of Augufi. And
as to the Letters, he took the Date of them in

his Memorial.

Corker. My Lord, I would only take notice,

that at the firft, Mr. Oates thought to take Ad-
vantage of fome Words of mine, at my Exami-
nation j he told you, that I had gone into France,

but that I denied it when I was Examined be-

fore the Juftice of Peace. My Lord, I deny all

this-, for the Juftice of Peace Examined me
where I had lived

L. C. J. We have nothing of this Matter here

before us.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You are to anfwer what

he fays now.
Corker. 'Tis what Mr. Oates fays now, for I

knew nothing of it till now. Now, my Lord, as

to that, I fay, I did not deny it before the Juf-

tice of Peace that Examined me-, for I told

him, I lived with a certain Lady Twelve Years,

till fhe diedj and during that time, I never was

beyond the Sea but once, which was five Years
fince, for the Cure of a Qyartane Ague that I

had, and I went over to France; otherwife, dur-

ing all that Time that I was with my Lady, I

did not go beyond Sea. Upon this, the Juftice

began to ask me other Queftions ; whereupon,
my Lord, I recollected my felf, and faid, Sir, I

told you I had not been beyond Sea during the

Time I had been with my Lady, but that Time,
five Years fince; but my Lady being Dead, I

went over laft Summer in Augufi to perfect: the

Cure of that Ague; for I had it feven Years,

Spring and Fall. And this I told him of my felf,

without asking. The laft Summer I went over*

and there I itaid till two Days before September;

therefore I did commit no Miltakes in what I

faid, or ufed any Cloke to cover it. Now, my
Lord, he fays, I went to Lampfpring, which is

in the farther End of Germany.

L. C. J. He fays, you faid fo.

Corker. Pray ask him how he knows it? he
fays, by my Letters : Sure if this Man were privy

to thole great Confpiracies which he charges me
to be a Partner in, it is not probable but that [

fhould tell him where I went J and then, if I did

tell him fo, I muft go thither and back again in

fix Weeks Time, which was morally impoflibJe

to do, to go thither, and to return ; for I was
but fix Weeks out of Town.

L. C. J. How you argue, Sir ! He fays, you
told him, you went to Lampfpring : Say you,
Certainly I would tell him true, becaufe he was
engaged with me in Confpiracies •, but this can't

be true, becaufe of the length of the Way. Is

this a way of Arguing? May not you tell him,

you go to one Place, and indeed go to another ?

Corker. What Reafon or Motive had I to tell

him a Lye?
L. C. J. It is a hard matter for us to give an

Account of Jcfuits Anfwers, even one to ano-

ther.

Corker. \ am not a Jefuit, I won't fay the leaft

Untruth to fave my Life. Then as to my being

Prefidcnt, as he calls it, of the Congregation;

all the Congregation, and all that know us,

know that Stapleton (formerly Chaplain to the

Queen) is and hath been for Twelve Years, Pre-

lident of that Order. And I am confident that

all Catholicks, and molt of the Court, do Jike-

wife know it to be true, and by Confequence, it

is likewife untrue, that there was an Agreement
made by the Jefuits and Benedicline Monks, when
I was at Paris, to which I was not privy, but
could not go on till I was acquainted with it,

and confented to it. Now, my Lord, if I be

not Prefident of that Order, that muft be a Flam
and a Story.

L. C. J. You fay that, Prove who is.

Corker. Mr. Stapleton was, as 'tis well known.
L. C. J. Call who you will to prove it, if you

can.

Corker. Here is one of the Lay-Brothers of

the Order.

L. C.J. Who is that?

Corker. Mr. Rumley here.

L. C. J. He cannot be a Witnefs for you, or

againft you, at this Trial.

Corker. My Lord, fince I did not know of it

before, I could not bring any Body.

L. C. J. You put it upon your Selves.

Corker. My Lord, I fay then I never was at

any Confult where any fuch Sum of Money was

propofe^
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propofed or agreed, nor was it requifite or ne-

ceflary that I fhould be fo much privy to it, for

I was not Superior of the Order, nor Prefident

of it, by reafon of which my Confent fhould be

neceffary, or any fuch Letter be writ to me, or

any fuch received from me. And then, my Lord,

Secondly, I mult take notice again, he accufes

me of being Bifhop of London, and that I did

confent to this Agreement of paying fo many
Thoufand Pounds j if I were Guilty of this, and

likewife of contriving the King's Death, and

efpecially confenting to Pickering's Murder of

the King, when that Pickering was taken, I fhould

have been taken too, or I knowing my felf Guil-

ty, fhould have fled.

L. C. J. You excepted againft Pickering, and

thought him not a convenient Man, becaufe he

was one of your Order.

Corker. I hope he does not pofitively fay I

confented to the King's Death; he fays indeed

I knew fomething of it ; now I 1 was near him
when he was taken. All the Officers that came
to take Mr. Pickering, came to my Chamber.
Mr. Oates fays he was there at the taking of

Pickering 5 if I were Guilty of all thefe Things,

being Superior and Matter to this Pickering, 'tis

a flrange thing that he fhould neither know me,

nor own me, nor accufe me, nor take me, nor

apprehend me, until almoft a Month after ; all

which Time I had my Liberty ; but then taking

notice of my going down there, and having

further Information of me that I had lodged

there, he took me into his Catalogue of Bifhops,

and he came to take me. But if I had been

Guilty of thefe heinous Things, there is no Rea-

fon but they fhould have apprehended and taken

me when Pickering, and Grove, and Ireland, and

Sir George M/akeman were taken.

L. C. J. I will tell you what for that: If you
were now arraigned for being a Prieft, you
might well make ufe of that Argument, That
when they took Pickering and Grove, if they

knew you have been a Prieft:, they fhould

have taken you too, and yet for all that you
were a Prieft, you could not have denied it. But
would it have been an Argument, becaufe you
were not then taken, you were not fo ? So you
might be in the Plot, and not be taken, and 'tis

no Argument from your not being taken, that

you were not.

Corker. I fay, my Lord, if he came to difcover

the Plotters, it had been his Duty to have taken

me before, if I had been one in the Plot.

L. C. J. So it had been his Duty to have taken

you as a Prieft.

Corker. But I was, as he fays, equal in the

fame Crime with Pickering, and therefore he

ihould have taken me, when he took him.

L. C. J. Have you any thing more ?

Corker. Befides, my Lord, 1 find he undertook

to tell the Names of all thofe that were en-

gaged in this Confpiracy, but among them all,

my Name is not, therefore 'tis a new Invention

of his.

L. C. J. That is not faid here, you go off

from what is faid here.

L. C. J. North. Can you prove that? then firft

do it, and then make yourObfervations upon it,

if you can prove what he faid before the Lords

by Witneffesj but otherwife you muft not dif-

courfe upon what you have not proved.

L. C. J. Here is nothing of that before this

Jury.

Corker. I cannot prove it otherwife than by
the Record. I defire it may be looked upon, and
I refer it to the Confiderationof the Jury, whe--
ther if he did fay he did not know any thing elfe

of any Man whatfoever, but what he had then
declared, and I am not there accufed ; whether
this Accufation be now to be believed?

L. C. J. That hath been anfwered already.

Mr. Juft. Dolbcn. But it is not proved by them.
Corker. I leave it to the Jury, whether they

will believe it or no.

L. C. J- You fay well, if you refer it to the
Jury, let them confider it.

Corker. I fay, they ought to take it into their

Confideration, they are not rafhly to give a Ver-
dict againft me; and, Gentlemen, 1 believe I
may refer it to your Confciences, whether you
do not know what I fay to be true in this Bufi-
nefs ?

L. C. J. Mr. Marfial, what fay you to it ?

Marjbal. Truly, my Lord, what I have to fay

for my felf is this. About a Month ago I was
told the Time of my Trial was at hand, and be-
ing then full of good Hope, I did endeavour to
provide for it, and I had a great Confidence, my
Lord, that it would fucceed ; but truly, upon
the ill Succefs of the late Trials, either my Hope
or my Heart failed me, and I did refoive to cafl

my felf upon God and his Providence, and how-
ever my Silence might have been interpreted, I

did refoive, with Silence and Submifiion, to re-

fignup my felf to whatfoever your Lordfhip and
the worthy Jury fhould be pleafcd to decree

upon me. But, my Lord, fince your Lordfhip
is pleafed to fling forth fome Encouragement,
and to hangout the White Flag of Hope, for

your Lordfhip hath been pleaied to ufe many
gracious Expreflions, and fo, my Lord, upon
this, I fhall, contrary to my former Determina-
tion, now endeavour to make Defence for my
Life as well as I c^n : But, my Lord, not being
fo well able to do it, or of fo quick Capacity as

that Learned and Wife Counfel which we have
here of Counfel for us, to wit, the Honourable
Bench of Judges ; for, upon Enquiry, why, by
Law, we were allowed no Counfel ? I was told,

that the whole Bench of Judges were always of
Counfel for the Prifoner j and indeed they look
upon it as an Obligation upon them, as far as

Truth and Juftice will permit them, to plead for

us. Now, my Lord, with an humble Heart, I

would fuggeft fome Heads of Defence to this

Learned, Wife, and Honourable Counfel, and
leave it to them to manage my Caufe for me,
according to Truth and Juftice, which they are

better able to do for me than I for my felf. My
Lord, I have, I thank God, no Spleen nor Ha-
tred in my Heart againft the worfl of my Ene-
mies, nor fhall be defiious of Revenge, 1 leave

them and their Proceedings to God j neither am
I willing to charge Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow

with worfe than the Neceffity of my Defence
will occafion me to fay of them. Now, my
Lord, the belt of Men may be miftaken in a Per-

fon, and if I prove Mr. Oates is miftaken in the

Perfon in me, then I charge Mr. Oates with no
great Crime, and yet make my own Defence.

Now, my Lord, I offer thefe Things for that

Defence, and I hope your Lordfhip will appear

my great Advocate, and what I fuggeft in a few
Hi ads, you will, 1 hope, put it into a Method,
and manage it better than I can my felf. My

Lord-
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Lord, when I was firft brought before Mr. Oates

(as truly all that were with me do know) I car-

ried my felf with a great deal of Courage and
Confidence, for I was certain that he didmot
know me, and I did believe it would be only

my Trouble of going thither and coming back
again v

L. C. J. To go whither ?

Marjhal. To* Wejlminjler. And pray take no-

tice of this : When I was firll apprehended, I

was never fought for, nor named as a Traitor in

this Bufinefs-, but coming accidentally into an

Houfe to ask for one, where they were actually

Searching, tho' I faw theConftable at the Door,
and Lights in the Houfe, yet I went in and

asked, if fuch an one was within ? I think this

Confidence will not rationally fuppofe me Guilty,

the Houfe being under Sufpicion.

L. C. J. Here is no Proof of all this.

Marjhal. All that were there know it : Sir

William Waller^ which took me, knows it.

L. C. J. Sir William Waller, is this fo ?

Sir William Waller. My Lord, when I came
to fearch the Houfe, I placed one at the Door,

and him I ordered to let whoever would come
in, but no Perfon what foever go out. When I

was fearching, this Perfon comes and knocks at

the Door, but did not know, I fuppofe, of any

Perfon fearching in the Houfe ; for when the

Door was opened, and he let in, and underftood

it, he prefently endeavoured to get away again.

Marjhal. By your Favour, my Lord, I am wry
loth to contradict what Sir William Waller fays

in any thing, I would willingly believe him a

iuft Perfon, that would fay nothing but the

"Truth ; but God Almighty is my W itnefs that I

never knocked, the Door was open, and I came
in of my own Accord, both in at the firft; and

the fecond Door. This the Conftable will te-

ftify.

L. C. J. And you would not have gone away
again if you could, would you ?

Marjhal. I will give >ou better Proof of it:

While they were fearching in an interior Room
(and this is well known by them all that were

there) I was in an outward Room by my felf,

this Sir William Waller knows, and when they

came back and found me there, the Conftable

and the reft wondered I was not gone. I was

left alone by the Door, by my felf 3 the outward

Door I found open, and there is another Door
which leads out into an Alley, which any Man
can open in thr e Minutes time, and I know
how to do it. Now I could not learn it fince I

was taken, for I have not been permitted to go

abroad, but been under dole Confinement. But

if it be worth the while, and you will give me
leave to go there, 1 can fbew you how 'tis

opened in lefs Time than I can fpeak Three
Words.

L. C. J. Would you have the Jury flay here

while you go and mew us the Door ? If you have

any Witneffes to prove it, call them. Come, to

the Purpofe, Man.
MarJJjal. My Lord, I fay, if it were worth

the while, that it might be made appear, that

if I would go away, I could, but I did not get

away, but Hayed with a great deal of Confidence,

my Lord ; therefore 1 urge this to the Point,

that Mr. Oates is miftaken. After I had been

there a while before Mr. Oates, Sir William

Waller wifhed me to withdraw, and after I had

been abfent a while and came back again, Sir

William Waller wiftied me to pluck off my Pe-
riwig, and turn my Back to him and Mr. Oates %

I did not then well underftand the Meaning of
it. But afterwards Sir William Waller, out of

his great Civility, came to fee me at the Gate-

houje, and brought with him two very worthy
Perfons, Sir Philip Matthews and Sir John Cutler.

Sir Philip Matthews upon Difcourfe. hearing me
declare that Mr. Oates was a perfect Stranger to

me, faid, That Mr. Oates, in Teftimony that

he knew me, had given fuch a certain Mark be-

hind in my Head. I told Sir Philip Matthews, if

he pleafed to pluck off my Periwig, he ftiould

fee whether there was any fuch Mark or no ;

but he being an extraordinary civil Perfon, told

me, he would not give me the Trouble. I de-

fire Mr. Oates to declare now beforehand, what:

that Mark was behind my Head, and if there be
fuch a Mark, 'tis fome Evidence that his Tefti-

mony is true j but if there be no fuch, then it

will appear to this honourable Court and the

Jury, that he did not know me, but was mif-

taken in the Man.
L. C. J. I fuppofe he does not know you fo

much by the Mark behind your Head, as by that

in your Forehead.

Marjlial. But why did he then fpeak of the

Mark behind my Head ?

Mr. Recorder. How does that appear, that he
did give fuch a Mark ?

Sir William Waller. I fhall give yourLordfhip
a fhort Account what was done : When I

brought him to Mr. Oates, I did defire indeed to

lee his Periwig off, to fee if there were any Ap-
pearance of a fhaven Crown. After- that I had

done that, 1 caufed him to withdraw till I had

taken Mr. Oates's Examination upon Oath, and
after 1 had taken that, I defired him to come in

again, and I read it to him, and taxed him with
it, to which he gave a general Denial to every

Particular, and thereupon I committed him to

the Gate-houfe.

L. C. J. What is this to the Bufinefs of the

Mark?
Sir William Waller. I do not know of any

Mark ; but rhis I do know, that as foon as ever

he came in, Mr. Oates called him by his Name.
Marjloal. I defire Sir Philip Matthews may be

called.

Mr. Recorder. He is not here : What would
you have with him ?

Marjhal. To ask, if he did not know in parti-

cular, that the Mark was fuch a Spot behind my
Head? Hath he not been here to-day?

Mr. Recorder. I can't tell that.

L. C. J. But he called you by your Name, be-

fore ever you plucked off your Periwig j fo faith

Sir William Waller.

Marjhal. That which I was to mew, if I

could, and truly all my Defence lies upon it, is,

that Mr. Oates is a perfect Stranger to me, and

confequently hath nothing againft me. Now if

Mr. Oates did give a falfe Mark to know me by,

and there is no fuch Mark, I think 'tis a Proof

that he is miftaken.

L. C. J. Sir William Waller fays the contrary,

he called you by your Name, and there was no
Mark mentioned ; but if you will fuppofe what
you pleafe, you may conclude what you lift.

Marjhal. Sir William Waller plucked off my
Periwig* and bid me turn my Back to him.

l. c. y.
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L. C. J. That was to fee whether you were

fhaven, or no.

Marjhal. Sir William Waller had not fo little

Knowledge, as to think that the Priefts go fhaven

here in England, where 'tis Death for them, if

they be difcovered. Befides, my Lord, it was

put in the Common News-Books which were

difperfed abroad in the Country, that it was a

white Lock behind. Well, if there be any thing

of Favour or Inclination to Mercy in the Court,

I fhall find it ; but if there be none, it will not

fucceed, tho' I fpoke ten thoufand times over ;

nay, tho' it were fpoken by the Tongue of Men
or Angels it would do me no good ; therefore I

inforce it again to the Jury to take notice of,

that there was a particular Mark given.

L. C. J. That you have not proved.

Marjhal. My Lord, I would befeech you to

take notice of what every Man knows, and 'tis

agiinft Reafon to believe, that Sir William

Waller, knowing the World fo well as he is

fuppnfed to do, fhould think we went with

fhaven Crowns in England.

L. C. J. And therefore Dr. Oates mud look for

another Mark, mult hej how does that appear?

Marjhal. All England know, that thofe who
go over to any Seminary or Cloifter, never come
over again to England till their Hair be grown
out, that it may be no Mark or Teltimony that

they are fuch Perfons.

L.C.J. Do you think all Mankind knows that?

Marjhal. All that is rational does.

L. C. J. Well, you hear what Sir William

Waller fays.

Marjhal. I always looked upon Sir William

Waller as a very learned upright Perfon, and did

rely upon what he fhould teftify for my Defence,

and he knows when Dr. Oates brought in his firft

Teftimony againft me, I did beg that what he

faid ihould be written down by him. Said Sir

William Waller, it fhall not be written down,
but 1 wdl promifeyou to remember what he fays.

Now I hope Sir William Waller, as an honefl

and worthy Gentlemen, will keep his Word, and

I defire him to do it, as he will anfwer it before

God at the Great Tribunal.

L.C.J. Ask him what you will. You adjure

him, and yet you won't ask him.

Marjhal. Now, my Lord, I'll tell you how
Mr. Oates came to know my Name (which is

another Proof that he is a Stranger to me.)

When I came firft in, I asked Mr. Oates if he

knew me ? and looking ferioufly upon me, he

asked me what my Name was ? Now we know-
ing no more of a Man's Thoughts but what his

Words difcover, it may feem by that very Que-
flion that Mr. Oates was a perfect ftranger to

me. Now when I told him my Name was Mar-
jhal, he was pleafed to anfwer, You are Culled

Marjh. But my Lord, I fhould confider that

which hath been before offered to your Lord-

fhip, but that I do not much infift upon, that if

Mr. Oates had a Commiffion to fearch for Priefts

and Traitors, he was as well bound to tell you I

was a Prieft as a Traitor > that is an Argument
for me, I fay. If he had a Commifli on to ap-

prehend Priefts, I conceive, if he knew us to be

Priefts, he fhould by Force of fuch a Commif-
fion have feized upon us.

L. C. J. He needed no Commiffion to do that,

he did fearch to find out Traitors.

Marjhal. He heard us particularly named,

looks upon us, goes away, denies that he knows
us, gives us leave to fleep out our Sleep, and if

we would to be gone. Therefore 'tis without
any Likelihood or Probability that he had any
thing to fay againft us.

L. C. J. You have not proved one Word of
all this.

Marjhal. He owned it himfelf, that he had
fearehed the Savoy for Traitors, and did not take
us. I fpeak this out of his own Mouth, there-

fore it is incredible, and I hope the Jury will

take notice of it : He was fearching for Trai-
tors, and knowing me to be a Notorious Traitor,

as he would have me to be, that he fhould find

me in Bed, have his Majefty's Officers with him,
and not feize upon me.
Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. It does not appear to us>

you have not proved it.

L. C. J. Sir William Waller, did he fay firft,

Do you know me? and then Oates ask his Name?
Sir William Waller. I fpeak folemnly, as in the

Prefence of God, there was not one Word of all

this.

Corker. 1 befeech you, may I fpeak one Word?
L. C. J. Have you done, Mr. Marjlml ?

Marjhal. Truly my Lord, I am aftonifhed, I

proteft and contefs before God I am aftonifhed.

There is Mr. Gill the Conftable who owned
this, and promifed to be here to atteft it, for

there was ra difpute about it between Dr. Oates

and me: for faid I prefently, if you took me in

Bed and knew me to be a Traitor, why did you
not feize me ? he anlwered me again exprefly,

before Sir William Waller, I had no Com-
miffion then to feize you : but faid I, you ac-

knowledge I was then a Confpirator, and fuch

your Commiffion was to feize. You might have
declared to the Officers you knew me to be a

Traitor, and have bid them take charge of me:
'tis impoffible that you fhould fo well know it

and not do it, fure.

L. C. J. Was there any fuch thing as this,

Sir William Waller ?

Sir William Waller. Really my Lord, I do not

remember any thing of it.

L. C. J. Mr. Marjhal, call your WitnefTes.

Marjhal. Is Mr. Gill the Conftable here, he

owned it. I think I had as good make an end,

I may leave it here, for what I fhall fay I find

will be to little Purpofe.

L. C. J. You do not prove what you affirm.

Marjhal. My Lord, 1 do not go as Mr. Oates

and Mr. Bedloxv do, who bring no Circumftance

of Probability or Likelihood j they only fay they

were fuch a time amor.gft fuch and fuch Perfons,

and fuch and fuch things were agreed, but fhew
no Probability of it. But I inftance in fuch

things as do carry a Probability in themfclves,

and I name thofe that were by.

L. C. J. And have no Proofof it in the World.
And what you call Sir William Waller for, he

fays the contrary, there was no fuch thing.

Marjhal. I fay, my Lord, what he fays is to

my great aftonifhment. Do you remember, Sir

William Waller, this, that Mr. Oates faid there,

when he was asked if he faw me laft Summer, I

faw you not only in Auguft, but in June in& July ?

Sir William Waller. I remember fomething of

that.

Marjhal. I humbly thank you, Sir, for ac-

knowledging that.

L. C. J. What ufe do you make of that?

Marjhal
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Marjbal. I fliall make ufe of that. The Dif-

pute was fo eminent betwixt us that it was im-

poffible to forget it.

L. C.J. Weil, have you done* Mr. Marjbal?

Mr. Marjbal. No, my Lord, tho' I had as good

hold my i'eace. I could not have Witneffes to

difprove Mr. Oates in particulars of Time and

thing you have offered.

Marjbal. If your Lordfhip believe what I fay

is true, you thro w away my Life unlefs you grant

me this time. 1 fhould be a very infamous Man
if I did not prove it then.

L. C J. If the Jury believe it, I am fatisfied.

Marjbal. My L< rd, I ihould then come full of

Place, becaufe I could not forefee what Time or Shame, if J did not prove what I fay ; therefore

Place he would name. My Lord, I had Wit-

neffes here at the time of my laft Trial to prove

and fwear, if they might be admitted, that I

was here neither in June, nor July, or Augujl,

but fpent fome Months at a Place called Farn-

borougb in fVarivickJhire.

L. C.J. Can yi>u prove this?

Marjbal- I can prove that I had fuch as would

have proved it then. Now, my Lord, this is

that I fay, if the Court be inclined to any Fa-

vour or Mercy: Life being a thing offuch con-

I hope the Court will allow me time to prove
what I affirm, that that particular Day, and the

Day before, and the Day after I was in the Coun-
try, and llirred nor. And then as to the Day be-
fore the Ajfumption which he charges upon me,
and the Day after, I can bring Witneffes to prove
I was thofe three Days at another Houfe almoft
j*o Miles off London j fo there is nothing in all

that is faid againft me by Mr. Oates which comes
to be determinative and pofitivc in his Teftimo-
ny, but I can difprove it if time be allowed me,

cern, I hope fome little Oop may be allowed to but if that cannot, I can bring fuch Proof as can
have fome time to bring fuch People; but if there teftify, that I had before thofe that could Evi
be no Inclination to Mercy, it would be the fame dence it

thing if the Proof were here.

L.C.J. The Court will do you all Juftice

here, and that is their Mercy.

Marjbal. I am confident I ffiall have great Ju-
Jftice done me, I would not have faid one Word
in my Defence if 1 did not believe fo. I took

heart by what your Lordfhip had faid, and I

have already done that which I thought moft

material for it. I have urged firft the falfe Mark
that he gave to know me by. And then his tak-

ing me in Bed and difowning to know me. Betides

Mr. Oates hath been pofitive in his Teftimony

about the lift of Augujl, 1 could not now have

Witneffes to difprove that, becaufe I knew it

not before, but I can have feveral Witneffes to

prove, that I had then Witneffes to prove it,

lufficienc Witneffes from Farnborough, who were

fure and certain that I was that very Day there,

and would mftance in fome particular Reafons

why I was there that Day. And then thefe Wit-
neffes will fwear that I was never from thence

for three Months at any diftance, but twice at a

Neighbour's Houfe, and they can tell the Places

where I was then.

L.C.J You come and tell us what other

Folks could tell, why have you not them here?

Can the Jury take notice of this ?

Marjbal. I hope you will not throw away my

Corker. I told your Lordfhip, I think, that the
Conftables and other Perfons that came there to
take Pickering, faid they knew nothing of me,
and had nothing to fay to me. Your Lordfhip
tells me, this I ought to prove. I muft confefs I

could not expert that, when there were fo ma-
ny, an hundred People at leaft, that all thofe
People coming in 1 fhould be put to prove ic.

But here is a Servant that was in the Houfe
then, that will tell you the fame, that will attcft

they faid they had nothing to fay to me.
Mr.JuJl. Pemberton. Call any ofyour Witneffes

that you have.

Mr. Jujl. Dolben. Mr. Corker, you remember
that the laft time you were here at the Bar, you
defired time beeaufe you had not your Witneffes >

it is now above a Month ago, and therefore you
have no Reafon to fay your Witneffes are noc
ready. Let us fee them, that we may fee you
did not abufe us.

Mr. Recorder. Who were the Perfons that were
then at "Tunbridge ?

Corker. I tell you fincerely, my Lord, I did not
know what they would fay, but then I did take
notice when my Accufation was read againft me,
That there was a time mentioned of the i^xh of
April, that I confpired the Killing of the King.
Now I could prove the contrary ofthat 1 thoughr,

Life, when in three Days time 1 could bring for I did remember, and fo my Friends know very
Witneffes to prove it.

L.C. J. Then we tnuft throw away the Lives

of the Jury, for they muff be kept faffing all

thofe Days till they give in their Verdicl ; for

they muft be fhut up till then.

Marjbal. My Lord, with your leave, there

have been thofe that have been upon their Trials,

and fent back to Prifon before the Jury have

given a Verdidl, and after tried again.

L C. J. North. Ay, if they be difcharged quite

of you.

L. C.J. I tell you the Jury muft be kept to-

gether clofe, till they give their VerdicL

Marjbal. The Jury was not kept up when
Mr. Whitehead and Mr. Fenwick were Tried,

and they were afterwards Tried again.

well, that always in the Spring-time I go once
or twice, moft commonly about Thirty Miles
out of Town, to take the Air. So my Lord,
from that Obfervation I did really believe I was
actually there at that time; and from this belief

I did then 'ell your Lordfhip, that I thought I

could bring Witneffes that would prove I was at

that Place then. According to your Lordfhip's

Order I fent for the Gentlewoman that kept the

Houfe, and the coming up I asked her, Miftrefs,

faid I, can you tell when I was at Tunbridge,

faid fhe, I believe you were there about or near

April; but that is not the thing, faid I, I ask you,

can you pofitively fay that it was either before

or after the 24th, can you give me any deter-

minate Circumftance of it. She could not fwear,

L. C. J. The Jury were wholly difcharged of nor durft, what Day I was there exadtly ; then

them. faid I, go back again ; for I refolved to die in my
Marjbal If you have any regard of my Life Innocency without Proof, rather than my Wit-

you may difcharge them of me. neffes fhould fpeak what was falfe or doubtful.

L. C. J. Truly this is as reafonable as any Marjbal. I defire that one Thomas Sumner may
Vol. II. 6 F be
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be called. He was the Man that went down to

fetch up the WitnefTes from Farnborough.

Mr. Recorder. What is your Witnefs, Mr.
Corker ?

Corker. My Witnefs's- Name is Ellen Rigby

[Who flood up.~]

L. C. J. W hat is it you ask her ?

Corker. I delire fhe may be asked, whether me
knows that I was in the Houfe when the Search

was in the Savoy, when Mr Pickering was taken?

and whether then they charged me, or faid I

was a Perfon that they had nothing at all to do
with.

Marjhal. And me the fame.
<* L. C. J. Do you hear the Queftion ?

Corker. Was not I in the Savoy when Pickering

was taken?

Marjhal. And I ?

Rigby. Yes, you were both in Bed then.

Corker. Are you ready to fwear ir, ifmy Lord
will permit you?

Rigby. Yes. And the Company that came in

never asked for you, but when they faw you,

faid they had nothing to do with you.

L.C.J. Who faid fo?

Rigby. The Company that came and fearched

the Houfe for Pickering.

L.C.J. Was Mr. Oates there?

Rigby. Yes, my Lord, Mr. Oates was there.

L. C. J. Did he fay that he had nothing to

fay to them ?

Rigby. Several of them did fay fo, and he a-

mong them. They asked me who were in she

Houfe, I told them feveral. They faid they had

nothing to do with any but Mr. Pickering.

L. C. J. North. Who did you tell were in the

Houfe?
Rigby. I told them there was Pickering, Marjh,

Heskett, Corker, Smaydon the Porter and his Wife,

two Children, &c.

Corker. Now 'tis incredible he fhould fearch

for Traitors, and, as he fays, knew us to be fuch,

and mould not ask for us : Nay, when he faw

us, leave us there, and never bid the Officer fe-

cure us.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Who did ask you the

Queftion ?

Rigby. There were five or fix, Mr. Oates and

Mr. Bedloiv.

Corker. I defire to know this of you, Have
you not heard all along that Mr. Stapleton is Pre-

iident of the Benediblines, and how long he hath

been fo, for fhe was Houfekeeper ?

Marjhal. Who is Prefident oi the Benediclines ?

Rigby. Mr. Stapleton.

Corker. How long hath he been fo ?

Rigby. Four Years and a quarter, for anything
I know to the contrary.

L.C.J. In his abfence, who was?
Rigby. I know not who.

L.C.J. Did not Corker officiate?

Rigby. Never in his life.

L- C. J. Do you know who did ?

Rigby. I can tell he did not.

Corker. Pray ask her if fhe knows of any
Confult of the Jefuits in the Beneditline Con-
vent ?

L. C. J. How fhould fhe know that? was fhe

one ?

^Corker. Becaufe there can none come to the

Houfe, but fhe muft entertain them} there was
no other Servant at all but me.

Marjhal. Now, my Lord, fince fhe is here,

let her fee Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow ; ask her
whether ever fhe law them in the Houfe in her
life./

Rigby. I faw Mr. Oates in the Houfe; he came
a begging to Mr Pickering for Charity.

L.C.J. What was ihe time?
Rigby. This Summer was Twelvemonth: And

Mr. Pickering bid me fhur the Door, and never
let that Man come in again.

Marjhal. That was in the very heat of the Plot,
the very nick of time when he was employed
to carry on the Confpiracy, as he fays; and that
then we fhould luffer him to be in fuch Necef-
fity; and fent away with a Flea in his Ear, when
he could gain fuch Advantages by difcoveringus:
Is it likely that we would truft him with the
whole Plot, and yet fufF r him to wan, ? I ap-
peal to yourLordfhip and theJury whether that
be probable ?

Then Sumner appeared and flood up.

L. C. J. What fay you to him ?

Marjhal. I defire he may be aked, whether
he does not know that here vere WitnefTes to
teftify I was then at Farnborough.

L. C. J. This is not a Queftion to be asked,
what another Body can Swear.

Marjhal. He was lent down, my Lord, to fetch
the WitnefTes up.

L. C. J. Well, to fatisfy you we will ask the
Queftion, tho' it be improper: W ere you lent
down for WitnefTes ?

Sumner. Yes, my Lord.
L.C.J. Why did not they come?
Sumner. They did come?
L.C.J. Why are they not here? The laft

Seflions was adjourned particularly to a crrain
Day, and you knew when you were to be tried.

Mr. Recorder. For this very Reafon, That all

might take notice of it, it was aojourn'd to the
1 6th Day at this place.

Marjhal. Your Lordfhip does fuppofewe have
a better Purle than we have: Would you have
them leave their Employments, and come up,
and be at great Charges; 'tis not in the Capacity
of every one to endure it ?

L. C. J. What would you have us do in this

cafe?

Marjhal. What is but Reafonable, Give me
but three or four Days time, and I can have my
WitnefTes up.

Mr. Jufl. Dolben. I pray ask them whether
they were not told of the time of their Trial?

L. C. J. Why did not you fend for them be-
fore, when you knew what Day it was to be?

Mr. Juft. Dolben. You knew as much before as

you do now. If you did not, what did fou fend
for them up for then, more than now?

Corker. There was no Certainty at all of the
Time when we fhould be tried. We were told

it was near, but not the very Day ; fome faid

the 1 2th, fome the 14th, fome the 16th, fome
not at all.

Mr. Recorder. You muft not fay fo ; for notice

was publickly given here that it fhould not be
till the 16th, and the Seflions was adjourned till

then.

Marjhal. I was told it would be two or three

Days after laft Term. I confefs God Almighty
hath been pleafed to give me a long Imprifon-

ment to prepare for my laft Clofe, I do not fear

Death,
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Death, tho' it fhould appear in far more frightful

Shapes, than that we may be like to fuffer. So,

my Lord, it is not fo much a Concernednefs for

my own Life, as for the Honour and Juftice of

the Court, that I plead for a Refpite to have

WitnefTes that may pofitively and particularly

difprove the Teftimony of Mr. Oates. And all

the World will think it an hard Cafe when

I do atteft and call to Witnefs fuch as have

a great Probability to prove what I fay to be

true •, when I can have fuch a numerous Train

of WitnefTes to prove that I was that particular

Day thrcefcore Miles out of London^ and would

pofitively fvvear it, if permitted. It will be

hard, and will, I fear, draw an heavy cenfure

upon this Honourable Court, if fome time be

not allowed.

L. C. J. It cannot be allow'd you, for then

we mull tie up the Jury, and make them fall all

the time.

Marjloal. You may difcharge them of me.

L. C. J. We cannot do it now.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. There is no reafon for it

now, lor you had time for your WitnefTes be-

fore. What do you come here to make a great

Harangue about WitnefTes which you had, and

did not bring them ?

L. C. J. Did you know they would come to

prove, to any Day ?

Marjhal. I know they could prove fuch a Day.

L. C. J. Why then were they not here ?

. Marjloal Pray, my Lord, give me leave. I

hope I ihall not fpeak more than is reafonable

and juft, and then I care not how it fucceeds.

Every Judge is as much obliged to follow his

Confcience, as any Formality in Law.

LC.J. Pray teach your own Difci pies, don't

teach us : You come and talk here what regard

we are to have to our own Confciences, as if

we did not know that better than any Papift or

Prieft in the World.

Marjloal. I fuppofe that, and 'tis rational too.

And I do fuppofe that this Bench is infinitely jult

and merciful, and upon that fuppofuion I plead.

Then if there be great reafon to believe that I

can difprove Mr. Oates in his pofitive Teftimony,

then there is great reafon to believe that i can

iave my Life. And if there be reafon to believe

that I can fave my Life, I fuppofe there will be

more regard to this than to any Formality of

Law. Be pleafed to ask him, whether he were

not to fetch WitnefTes that could atteft this.

L. C. J. What can you fay ?

Sumner. I went down into the Country for

WitnefTes.

L.C.J. Why did you not bring them up a-

gainft this time ?

Sumner. I had no Order for this time.

Marjhal. We did not know when we fhould

be tried.

CI. ofthe Peace. My Lord, I did tell the Mef-

fenger when the Seffions was ?

L. C. J. Did the Officers here acquaint you

when the Seffions was ?

Sumner. I had order from Captain Richardjon

at firft, I did ask leave to go down to fetch his

WitnefTes ; fays Captain Richard/on, you have

order to do what he fhall direct, to provide him

his WitnefTes j that was for the laft, not for

this.

L.C.J. How far were the WitnefTes off?

Sumner. Threefcore Miles.

Vol. II.

L. C.J. Why, you have had notice long e-

nough of your Trials, to get up WitnefTes three-

fcore Miles.

Mr. Recorder. Capt. Richardfon^ Did not you
tell the Prifoners when their Trials would be?
Mr. Jujl. Dolben. They had all notice of the

Seffions by the Adjournment, and fhould have

provided for it.

Capt. Richard/on. Ever fince the laft Seffions

they have all of them had the Permiffion of any
People to come to them in order to the prepa-
ring for their Trials.

L. C. J. As when?
Capt. Richardfon. As for this Seffions.

L. C. J. Firft you did know that the Seffions

did begin on Wednejday ; if you had prepared
your felves againft JVednefday, you had been de-
layed but for two Days.

Marjhal. But how could I prepare WitnefTes
for that which I did not know would be teftified

againft me?
L. C.J. Why did you prepare them for the

laft Trial? why had you not the fame WitnefTes
you had then ?

Marjloal. Becaufe it was upon fomewhat he
had faid upon my taking, that he faw me in

June and July, I did provide WitnefTes for it.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. He holds to the very Day
he faid firft, and this is but plain trifling.

L.C.J. Truly, if the Merit of your Caufe be
no better than fuch weak AfTsrtions, your De-
fence is but very poor.

Marjhal- But that I humbly offer, is this, whe-
ther you will believe I can have fuch WitnefTes,

and therefore flay till they be fent for.

Mr. Jujl. Dolben. We have no Reafon to believe

you.

Mr. Jujl. Wyndham. We have no Reafon to

believe you, when you have had time to prove
it, and have not got them.

L. C.J. Why were they not here now?
Marjhal. My Lord, I do give you a double

Reafon. Then, my Lord, I offer this, that my
Name is in no Lift, Paper, nor Narrative that

ever was put forth ; and if I had been Guilty,

as he fays, would not he have named me amongft
the other Confpirators ?

L.C.J. No, I think he fhould not, it would
have given you Notice, and too much Oppor-
tunity to have gone away.

Marjloal. He gave me leave, when he left me
in my Bed.

L. C. J. But yet for all that it does not prove
your Innocency. All People that are Guilty,

don't run away for it, for you have abundance

of Prieft-holes, and hiding. holes. Well, have

you any more WitnefTes? if you have, Call

them.
Corker. Call Alice Broadhead [but She did not

prejently appear •,] then I defire Mrs. Eliz. Shel-

don may be called j [Who being in the Gallery^ an-

jivered and came down.']

Marjloal. 1 do defire to know whether fhe

knows who is Prefident of the Benedicline Monks ?

L. C J. Who is Prefident of the Benediblines^

Miftrefs? Sheldon. Mr. Stapleton.

L.C.J. How many Years hath he been?

Sheldon. A great many Years, my Lord, Corny

Knowledge.
L. C. J. How many ?

Sheldon. Four or five Years.

Mr. Recorder. Where is Dr. Oates ? call him.

6 F * L.C.J,
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L. C.J. But if he were abfent did nor Mr.
Corker officiate in his place ?

Sheldon. Never, my Lord.

Corker. Mr. Stapleton was actually at Paris

when I was there, and therefore I could not of-

ficiate in his fteadi there is another that can

teftify the fame, that is Alice Broadhead, [Who
appeared then.~\ Pray ask her the fame Qyeftion.

L. C.J. Who is Prefident of the Benediclines ?

Broadhead. Mr. Stapleton, I have known him
For many Years, and there hath not been for a

great many Years any other.

Corker. Then I do defire that I may obferve

this, That Mr. Oates doxh feem to accufe me po-

fitively of nothing, but only of confenting to

the Benediclines Contribution of 6000 /. which
he fays they could not do without my leave, be-

caufe I was their Prefident ; but I have brought
three Witneffes which fay, and are ready to fwear,

that Mr. Stapleton is Prefident, was fo thefe ma-
ny Years, and I never was fo in my Life.

Mr. Recorder. Here is Dr. Oates again now.
[But he was not Examined.]

L. C J. Have you done now, all Three ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. I fay, my Lord, I find that

it was imputed to me, at leaft as a fin of Omif-
fion, that when 1 was before the Council, I did

not fufficiently deteft, and abominate, and abhor

this Crime that is laid to my Charge. I now de-

teft, abhor, and abominate the Fact charged on
me. I call God to Witnefs, I never was in any
Confukation about it in my Life, I never re-

ceived any Bill for any Money upon this account,

nor did ever receive any Money.
L. C. J. Had not you Two Thoufand Pounds ?

Sir Geo. Wakeman. No, my Lord,T wifli I may
never enter into the Kingdom of Heaven, if I

received one Farthing for any fuch thing.

Corker. He fays, that I was employed in dif-

tributing Moneys} and I profefs before God, I

never distributed any Money upon fuch Account

;

all that I had was an Annual Annuity which I

gave amongft the Poor. I proteft before God,
I never in my Life did deliver or hold it as a mat-

ter of Faith or commendable Doctrine, That it

was lawful for the promoting of the Catholick

Religion, to Murder the King, or deftroy my
Country. And I renounce and deteft it from

the bottom of my Soul. And this is all can be
expected from a good Chriftian upon that ac-

count; and 1 hope the Jury will have no preju-

dice againft me for that} and neither Pope or

any breathing upon Earth can difpenfe with me
from that Obligation.

Marjbal. And if no Door can be opened for a

merciful Sentence upon any Confideration offered

by the Living} at the loud Cries of the dying} I

hope there may } and all the earneft Vows, and
all thofe folemn Proteftations of Innocency by
fuch as were lately Executed for the Crimes we
itand here charg'd with, left, behind them as fa-

cred Tefti monies of their Loyalty and unviolated

Faith to the King. And I beg leave to put be-

fore the Eyes of this Honourable Court, and
this whole Affembly, this Landskip of Horror,
wherein may be feen thofe Caves of Darknefs,

thofe Baths ofglowing Sulphur, fuch Men mud
be eternally judged to be condemned unto, if

what they then fpoke had not the Characters of
the fai reft Truth found inftamped upon it. Now
if a right Survey be taken of this Landskip, and

it be well obferved what thefe M en fo folemnly

figned and fealed to with their laft Breath, it

muft be confefled they either confpired finally to
damn their own Souls, or were not Confpirators
againft the King, nor were they Guilty ofwhat
was charged upon them. Prefent Content, where
the Enjoyment is like to continue, works with
a ftrong Influence upon humane Nature, and
chains it faft to the prefent World. But, my
Lord, with the approach of Death, Reformati-
on of Confcience does offer to advance, and we
do obferve thofe who have lived a very ill Life,

frequently to make a good End } but, my Lord,
it is a thing fcarce ever heard of or known, that

thofe who have lived all their Lives well, mould
die ill. Nor can fuch as were looked upon while
they lived as Perfons of much Integrity, great
candor of Spirit, and unqueftionable truth in all

their Attestations, Dying, mould become Pro-
phane to Blafphemy, become Irreligious even to

Sacrilege, and falfe even to the worft of A-
theifm. My Lord, this cannot readily be be-
lieved, or eafily imagined ; nor will be, tho' it

be poffible; and yet all that will not believe this,

muft own an Innocency where Guilt is fo ftrongly

fuppofed. And if there be great Caufe to doubt
whether thofe that were lately executed, and
were fuppofed to be Leaders in this Confpiracy,
were Guilty upon the Confideration of thofe fo-

lemn dying Proteftations they have made to the

contrary } I humbly conceive it may be much
more rationally doubted, whether others brought
in only by the by, as I am, as a Letter- Carrier,

and only as Marginal-Notes to the great Con-
fpirators, may not wholly be innocent. Now,
my Lord, if no Credit be to be given to the Pro-
teftations of Men dying, that have ever been
judged fober and juft} how can Faith be repo-

fed in the Teftimony of fuch Living Perfons as

know no God nor Goodnefs? And if the repu-
ted juft Man at the very point of Death can be
judged rationally falfe in his Proteftations, tho*

Death be in his Eyes, and Hell threatning to in-

gulph him ; may not he, my Lord, who hath

owned himfelf a Villain in print, be thought
falfe in his Teftimony, while Preferment tickles

him, Rewards march before him, and Ambition
beckons to him, which he greedily follows, tho'

God and Confcience tell him 'tis unjuft.

England is become now a mournful Theatre,
upon which fuch a Tragedy is acted, as turns the

Eyes of all Europe toward it ; and the Blood
which hath been already fpilt, hath found a

Channel to convey it even to the remoteft Parts

of the World. And tho' it infpires different

Breads with different Refentments, yet it may
fpeak a Language that none who are Friends of

England will be willing to underftand. Our pre-

fent Tranfactions here, are the prefent Difcourfe

and Entertainment of foreign Nations } and
without all doubt will be chronicled and fubject-

ed to the Cenfure of enfuing Ages. Now my
Lord, I have great Reafon to believe, That not

any one of thofe Honourable Perfons that now
fit Judges over us, would be willing to have their

Names writ in any Characters, but thofe of a

juft Moderation, of a profound Intgerity, of an

impartial Juftice, and of a gracious Clemency.
And tho' we would not be all thought to be well-

wifhers to the Roman Catholick Religion, yet

we would be all thought Friends to Religion;

and tho' we exclaim againft Idolatry and new
Principles of Faith, yet we all ftand up for old

Chriftianity ;
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Chriftianity; whereas if the Teftimony of Liv-

ing Impiety be applauded and admitted of, and

the Cries of Dying-honefty fcoffed at and reject-

ed, what will become of old Chriftianity ? And
if any Voice, Cry, or Proteftationof Dying Men
may pafs for Truth, and obtain Belief, where is

now our new Confpiracy ? The Queftion now
feems to come to this, the belief of Chriftianity

now in Roman Catholicks, and the Appearance

of their Innocency, arc fo fad linked together

by thofe folemn Vows and Proteftations of their

Innocency, made by the late Executed Perfons,

that no Man can take up Arms againft the Lat-

ter, but muft proclaim War againft the Former.

Nor can our Innocency bleed, but our Chriltiani-

ty muft needs by the fame Dart be wounded. Nor
can any Tutelar Hand ftretch it (elf forth

L. C.J. North. You fpeak ad faciendum popu-

hm, and fhould not be interrupted, but only I

think you lafh out a little too much.

Marfial. I fpeak this to add the Teftimony
and folemn Vows of the Dying, to what we
fay Living for our own Defence. And I defired

they may be put in both together, and weighed

in the Scales of an impartial Judgment. Now,
my Lord, I fay, the Queftion feems not fo much
whether Roman Catholicks are Confpirators, as

whether indeed they be Chriftians. Nor is it

the great Doubt now whether they defigned to

kill the King, but whether they believe there is

a God. For whoever grants this laft, the belief

of a God, of a Heaven, and an Hell, and confi-

ders what Aflevcraiions they made at their Death,

what folemn Proteftations they infilled upon,

does with the felf-fame breath proclaim them In-

nocent.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But Mr. Marjhal, will you
go on to affront the Court in this manner, to

vouch for the Truth of their Speeches, which
they made ar the Gallows, and affirm them Inno-

cent after they have been found Guilty, and exe-

cuted according to Law ?

Marjhal My Lord, I do not avouch them In-

nocent, I only defire there may be confideration

had, and that the Words of fuch Dying Men
may be thought of. If they did believe a God
and a Judgment-Seat that they were going to,

could they be Innocent and Chriftians too ?

L. C. J. I was loth to interrupt you becaufe

you are upon your Lives, and becaufe 'tis fit you
fhould have as much Indulgence as can be allow-

ed. Your Defence hath been very mean, I tell

you beforehand ; your Caufe looked much bet-

ter before you fpoke a Word in your own De-
fence, fo wifely have you managed it.

Mr. Recorder. But really for your particular

Part, Mr. Marjhal, you abound too much in your
Flowers of Rhetorick, which are all to no Pur-

pofe.

Marjhal. I hope it would be no Offence to

infift.

L. C. J. But I will tell you, and I'll be heard

as well as you, Sir; Becaufe of the Proteftations

of thefe Men, which you make fo much a ftir

about. If you had a Religion that deferved the

Name of a Religion, it you were not made up
of Equivocation and Lying, if you had not In-

dulgences and Difpcnfations for it, if to kill Kings

might not be meritorious, if this were not print-

ed and owned, if your Popes and all your Great

Men had not avowed this, you had laid fome-

ihing j but if you can have Abfolutions either

for Money, or becaufe you have advanced the
Catholick Caufe as you call it, and can be made
Saints as Coleman is fuppofed to be, there is an
end of all your Arguments. There is a God,
you fay, and you think we fhall go to that God
becaufe he hath given us the Power, we can let
our felves in and turn the Key upon Hereticks.
So that if they kill a King, and do all the W ick-
ednefs they can devife, they fhall go to Heaven
at laft j for you have a Trick, either you can di-
rectly pardon the killing of a King, or if you
excommunicate him he is no King, and fo you
may kill him if it be for the Advancement of
Religion. But it will be in vain for you or any
Prieft in England to deny this, becaufe we know
you Print it and publickly own it, and no body
was ever yet puniihed for any fuch Doctrine as
this. Therefore all your Doings being accom-
panied with fuch Equivocations and Arts as your
Religion is made up of, 'tis not any of your
Rhetorick can make you be believed. I do be-
lieve it is poflible for an Atheift to be a Papift,
but 'tis hardly poflible for a knowing Chriftian
to be a Chriftian and a Papift. 'Tis hardlypof-
fibleforany Man of underftanding, letting afide
the Prejudices of Education, to be a Papift and a

true Chriftian, becaufe your Doctrines do con-
tradict the Foundations of Chriftianity. Your
Doctrine is a Doctrine of Blood and Cruelty,
Chrilt's Doctrine is a Law of Mercy, Simplicity,
Gentlenefs, Meeknef, and Obedience ; but you
have nothing but all the Pride that ever a Pope
can ufurp over Princes : and you are fill'd with
Pride, and mad till you come again into the Pof-
feflion of the Tyranny which you onceexercifed
here: infomuch that 'tis ftrange to me, but
that Princes abroad think you more conducing
to their politick Intereft, elfe fure they could
not endure fuch Spiritual 1 yranny to Lord it

over their Souls and their Dominions. There-
fore never brag of your Religion, for it is a foul
one, and fo contrary to Chrift ; that 'tis eafier

to believe any thing, than to believe an under-
ftanding Man may be a Papift. Weil, Sir, if

you have any more to fay fpeak it. You have
provoked me to this: and indeed I ought to do
it, becaufe you have fo much reflected on the
Juftice of the Court: but if you have any thincr

to fay in your Defence ; fpeak it, or to your own
particular Cafe. As for your Religion, we know
what it is, and what merciful Men you are: and
if we look into the bottom of you, we know
what you were ever fince Queen Mary's Days

:

and if we look into the Gunpowder-Treafon,
we know how honeftyou are in your Oaths, and
what Truth there is in your Words, and that

to blow up, King, Lords and Commons, is with
you a merciful Act, and a fign of a candid Reli-

gion •, but that is all a Story with you : for it is

eafier for you to believe, that a Saint, after her
Head is cut off, did go three Miles with her
Head in her Hand, to the Place where ihe would
be buried, than that there was a Gunpowder-
Treafon. [At ivhich the People gave a Shout.']

L.C.J. North. You muft not meddle any

more with the Speeches of thofe that died.

Marjhal. I did not intend, my Lord, to call

any thing of Juftice in queftion.

L. C.J. What, do you think we will be im-

pofed upon in this manner? Perhaps you have

Tricks enough to gull your own Party, but you
have not to deceive Proteftams j they can look

thro
5
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thro' all your Arts ; nay, 1 never faw fuch Men
of weak Parts, as your Priefts generally are; fo

that I wonder you fhould have any difciples, but

filly Women, or Men without Learning.

Marjhal. If we were guilty of this Confpiracy,

we fhould gull only our felves.

L. C. J. Go you on with one Harangue, I war-

rant you I will give you another -

t you fhall not

be hindered to fay any thing that is pertinent j

but this is not at all fo. We have a Bench of

Aldermen have more Wit than your Conclave,

and a Lord- Mayor that is as infallible as your

Pope. Have you any thing more to fay for your

felves ?

Marjhal. 'Tis not proper to contradict your

Lordfhip, but 'tis a Wonder you fhould know
our Religion better than our felves } for I know
not of any fuch Doctrines owned amongft us.

L.C J. No! then I believe you have not

read your own Books ; Ifuppofe that your Bufi-

nefs is not now to read, but to feduce filly Wo-
men, or weaker Men. What, don't you publifh

them all over the World? Is there any Index ex-

purgatcrius, into which you have put thefe Do-
ctrines ? Surely you know not any thing, if you

know not this.

L.C. J. North. If you have any thing more

to fay in the proper Defence of your Trial, pray

fpeak it now.
Corker. As to thofe damnable Doctrines, we

profe rs our felves innocent of them. I defire

that the Jury may not go upon fuch a Prejudice,

that I entertain fuch Principles of Religion, as

Matters of my Faith. They are horrid Crimes,

I proteft againft them, and own them not. I

defire the Jury to take notice of it.

Marjhal. 1 have this further to offer to your

Lordfhip, that Mr. Bedlow owned before the

Lords that he knew no more to be guilty-than

he had declared, and among all thole I am not

named ; and this was a Month or fix Weeks be-

fore I was taken.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. There is no fuch thing

at all proved here, or given in Evidence, and

therefore why do you infift upon it?

Marjhal. In this I appeal to the Knowledge of

your Lordfhip : and if you know it, I hope you
will be pleafed to acquaint the Jury with it.

L. C. J. I do not know for my own particular,

what Anfwer was made j I was not in the Houfe,

nor do I know it.

Judges. None of us know it.

Marjhal. I defire the worthy Jury to take no-

tice, that among all the Perfons named, there is

no fuch Name mentioned as mine.

Mr. JuJl. Pemberton. There is no fuch Thing
proved here.

Marjhal. They deny all the Lords Records.

L.C.J. Well, have you done? Look you,

Gentlemen of the Jury

Marjhal. I defire but one Word : Thefe Things

I have infifted upon as far as I can for my felfj

but the main Matter I rely'd upon was, that

Mr. Oates did not know me, neither as to my
Calling, Converfation, Words nor Actions. He
can bring no Perfon, Man nor Woman, that e-

ver faw him in my Company, nor took notice

of our meeting together, nor Bedlow neither} he

can name no Place where he faw me, none but

the Savoy, againft which no Proof can be found.

And then at the Searching of the Houfe, I de-

fire the Jury to take notice, that at that Time

he difowned us, and faid he did not know us.

A fufficienc rational Caufe cannot be given why,
he fhould fay now he knows me, and did not

then take me.

Mr. JuJl. Pemberton. You have faid all this

before.

Marjhal. Then, my Lord, for a Conclufion, I

have been told, and I will only defire the Jury to

take notice of it, that every Jury that findsa Man
guilty of Death, upon the Teftimony of Wit-
neffes that come in againft him, do take it fo-

lemnly upon their Conferences, that what fuch
Witneffes fwear is true.

L.C.J. That they believe they fwear true:

For we have no Infallibility with us : 'Tis one
thing to fay 'tis true, and another thing to fay we
believe it is true. Look you, the Jury may give
a Verdict that is falfe, and yet go according to

their Confciences. Do you underftand that,

Prieft ?

Mr. JuJl. Pemberton. You need not teach the

Jury what they are to do.

Marjhal. But confidering in cafe an Oath be
falfe, and the Jury have reafon to doubt what the
Prifoners fay in their own Defence, upon what
they hear or have learnt of their own Knowledge,
if they find fuch Doubt grounded upon that dou-
ble Matter, then they are in great Danger to

bring the Fault to their own Doors, and make
the Crime of Perjury their own.

Mr. JuJl. Pemberton. What, do you go over
Things again and again ?

L.C.J. All this fignifies but little j if you had
Popery here, you would get but little by it. Wc
fhould hardly part with our Peter Pence for all

your Speeches. We all know what Things are,

'tis not a Parcel of Words patch'd thus toge-
ther, will do your Bufinefs.

Marjhal. 1 wifh all Thoughts were as open-
fae'd as ours are.

L.C.J. Look you, Gentlemen of the Jury,
here are four Prifoners ; as to one of them, that
is Rumley, the Truth of it is, there is but one
Witnefs againft him, and by the Law there ought
to be two } fo I cannot fay, but you ought to dis-

charge him : We do not find, that there is Te-
ftimony Sufficient, according to the Law,to con-
demn him, and therefore you ought to acquit

him. As to the reft, here is Sir George Wake-
man, Mr. Corker, and Mr. Marjhal; there hath
been two forts of Evidences given, I will repeat
them as well as I can, and as fhort as I can.

There hath been a general Evidence, and a par-
ticular Evidence: There was a general Evidence
given by Mr. Dugdale, of the Plot in general,

and by Mr. Praunce^znd fomcthing of Intimation

by Mr. Jennifon. Thefe of Dugdale, Praunce, and
Jennljon, do not mention fo much as the Names
of the three Gentlemen that are upon their

Lives -, but I'll tell you why it was neceffary, and
anfwersagreat Objection that they feem to make:
for you are to believe Men, fay they, and to be-
lieve Men upon probable Circumftances, fome-
thing to guide you befides the Pofitivenefs of an
Oath ; and that is well enough faid. Now here
is fomething befides, and that is the Plot j that

there was a Confpiracy to introduce Popery,by
the likelieft Means, which was to kill the King

;

and that fuch People as thefe Men were to do it.

Now that there was fuch a general Defign to do
it, is a circumftantial Evidence, (as to thefe Men
I call itfo.) And thefe are Circumftances which

may
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may anfwer the Objection they make, \yhen they

fay, You are not to give Credit to pofitive Oaths

without any thing to govern you by j for you

have this to govern you by, befides the Oath,

that there was a Plot.

The Testimony of Mr Jennifon does go more

particularly to the Bufmefs of Inland, which I

•would obferve, by the way, for the fake of that

Gentleman that llands fo much upon the Inno-

cency of thofe Men, and would have them to be

believed upon their own Afiertions, becaufe he

fays they dare not die with a Lye in their Mouths.

I believe it is notorious enough, Mr. Jennifon

that comes here is a Man of Quality, and one a-

gainft whom there is no Objection, and he is ju-

ilified by one or two more. He fays, he faw

Mr. Ireland the ioth of Augufi, when he, to his

Death, took upon him to aver he was then in

Stafford(Jnre, and brought feveral of his own Re-

ligion, who would outface it to the Court, that

he kept them Company fo many Days, and was

in the Country all the while. There was a

Maid, before this, that came and teftified that

ihe faw Ireland^ and faw him at his own Door,

in Auguft, bur this Gentleman comes and proves

it upon him more particularly,and tells you when,

the Day of the Week, and of the Month, that

he was with him at his own Lodging,that Night

he came from Windfor, that he was pulling off

his Boots, and pretended to come Poll from Staf-

ford/hire, and fo that he was in Staffordjhire is

true, becaufe he came thence Poft, but he hath

always conftantly deny'd that he was here, and

shat may fervc for the Integrity even of their dy-

ing Oaths. And you are not going, according

to your own Doctrine, fo immediarely to Hell,

I hope you fuppofe a Purgatory, where you may
be purged from fuch Peccadillo's as this of dying

with a Lye in your Mouths.

As for the Teltimony of the particular Evi-

dence, firft, againft Sir George Wakeman, Mr.
Oates fays, he faw a Letter iubferibed, George

Wakeman; and it was writ to Mr. Afhby, and

therein, among other Expreffions, was this Par-

ticular, That the Queen would affift him to kill

the King. He was asked, How he knew it

was his Hand? He faid, He had never fecn his

Hand before, but afterwards he faw him writing,

fas he thinks, writing,) in a writing Pofture, and

there he looked upon that Paper when he was

gone from it, while it was wet, and that Cha-
racter, to his thinking, was juft the Character of

the Letter. Now I muff, obferve this to you :

Firft, Suppofing it to be true, yet it is fome-

what hard, for a Man that had never known a

Man's Hand in his Life, to fee a Hand to-day,

and fome time after to come and fee his Hand to

a Bill of Phyfick, and to recollect the Character

fo much backward, as to know, this is that, or

that Man's Hand, that I faw before. 'Tis one

thing to know Hands we are ufed to, but 'tis a-

nother thing, if we fee a Hand that we never

faw before in our Lives, and then by Reflection

at another Time, and by comparifon of Hands
£0 fay this is the fame, that is hard} but that is

fuppofing it to be true. Sir George Wake-man, as

all People will that are accufed, does deny the

Fact, and fays there was no fuch thing. Againft

him befides, he fays he faw, in a Book that the

Jefuit Priefts kept among them of their Tranf-

actions and Affairs, he faw, in Harcourfs Cham-
ber, a Book, wherein was written, This Day,

(and there was a certain Day in Augujl named,
but he cannot tell what Day,) This Day agreed
with Sir G. W. for ifooo/. to which he confent-

ed. And under was written, Receiv'd yoool.
part of tyoool. by Order of Mr. Coleman.
George Wakeman. This he fays he faw, and
he believes that to be the very fame Hand that .he

faw before, fo it is by a Comparifon of Hands,
He does not charge Sir George Wakeman, to the
beft of my Memory, with any pofitive Thing of
his own Knowledge, more than as I tell you of
this Matter.

Sir Rob. Sawyer. Yes, my Lord, he fays he
faw his Commiffion.

L. C. J. Indeed he does fay, he faw a Com-
miilion in his Hands, to be Phyfician-General of
the Army that was ro be raifed. And that he
denied 10000/. and would have if. TheTruth
I leave with you, Gentlemen. Look you, Gen-
tlemen, we will fhew our felves what we ought
to do, let them be as they will 5 we would not,
to prevent all their Plots, (let them be as big as

they can make them) fhed one Drop of innocent
Blood, therefore I would have you, in all thefe
Gentlemens Cafes, co fider ferioufiy, and vcigh
truly the Circumftances, and the Probability of
Things charged upon them. There is an addi-
tional Evidence againft Sir George Wakeman, by
Bedlovj : He fays he faw him h.ive a Note for
2000/. which was faid came from the Queen,
there were Difcourfes of doubtful Words, but
whether they be plain enough to fatisfy your
Confciences, when Men are upon their Lives, I

leave to you. That Sir George Wakeman fhould
fay, Are you ready for me? Why am I drill'd on
thus, in a Matter of this Concern ? This he would
have to imply the poifoning of the King

} but
there is but one Thing that founds an, thing
plain to the Matter, and that was this, faid he.

If they mifs (fpeakingof killing the King) if they

mifs at Wind lor, and you mijs your Way , then it

/hall be done at New- Market. I his he did fwear
directly, and then Sir George Wakeman reply'd,

He would be ready. Now if you believe thif,

then there are two Witneffes againit Sir George
Wakeman, for the Matter of the Bill alone would
do nothing, but when he fays he faw fuch a Bill,

it mull be for fomcthing; and if he did fay fo,

If they mifs killing him at Windfor, and you mifs
your Way, we will do it at New-Market ; and he
reply'd, / will be ready, the Thing is made plain ;

I leave it to you j and this is all the Evidence a-

gainft Sir George Wakeman, as 1 remember: I

hope my Brothers, if they remember more, will

repeat it to you. I cannot undertake to repeat

every Word ; I remember fo much as is material^

and my Brothers I hope will help me out, in

what they have better obferved.

As to Mr. Corker, Oates fays, that he faw a

Letter under his Hand, that is, his Name, I fup-

pofe, was to it, wherein be confented to the

railing the 6000/. which was to be raifed out of
the Benedicline Effaces, and was in order to the

carrying on of this Plot. I do not find that he
does prove that he did know Mr. Corker's Hand.
And he fays of him further, he was their Prefi-

dent, and fo it was neceffary to have his Confenc
for the railing the 6000/. and particularly he
fays, that he did except againft Pickering's being

defigned for the Murdering of the King ; for,

faid he, He is a Main that waits at the Altar, and-

methinks youjhould choofe fome fitter Perfon. For
that.
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that, fays Mr. Corker, which he fay s, that I was

Prefident; 1 was not Prejident ; and he makes it

neceffary for me to fet my Hand, becaufe I being

Prefident, it was fuppofed it could not be done with-

out me; and Dr. Oates does intend fuch a Thing

by his enforcing of it too : But he does produce

to you two or three WitnefTes, that do fay,

Mr. Stapleton hath been Prefident for four or five

Years } and faid he, If I were not Prefident,

what needs all this ado about my Confent ? So he

contradicts him in that Particular, that he was

not Prefident, and it is not only a bare immate-

rial J hing, becaufe his being Prefident made his

Hand more neceffary to the railing the 6000 1.

And for that Matter of his faying, that he did

except againft Pickering, and they might have

chofe another, he does not charge him to be a-

equally at the Confutation, but he fays he knew
of it, becaufe he faid Pickering was not a fit Man
to do it. And he faid, they had better choofea

Layman. He proves no Fact, but only thefe

Words. And Mr. Bedlowhe fpeaks againft him,

and what he fays is rather lefs than what Oates

fays. For 'tis, that he talked with Le Fevre the

Pried about the Plot in general Words. It may
be, he was talking with fome body elfe, and yet

he could hear that they talked together in gene-

ral about it. That is all againft him.

Againft Mr. Marfhal, 'tis rather lefs than a-

gainll Corker, that is, that he did confent to the

6000/. that fhould be raifed among the Bene-

dictines, he being a Benedictine too, and that he

took Exceptions againft Pickering, as Corker did,

that it was not convenient to employ him in Kil-

ling the King. And this is that Oates fays, and

that he was a Carrier of Letters up and down,
and a Factor that Way. And Bedlow fays, that

he knew that he carried Letters, and was at the

Confult where they were read and anfwered,

and when they asked him, Where? He faid,

At the Benedictine Convent in the Savoy. And
names in particular, a Letter to Sir Francis Rad-

cliff, and that there was a Difcourfe concerning

the Plot, in his hearing.

They fay for themfelves, they cannot anfwer

any more than by Circumftances, 'Tis a very

ftrange thing, if Dr. Oates knew this of us, why
did not he take us before? And fays Sir George

Wakeman, Why did not he accufe me of this

Lester that he talks of, before the King and

Council? He makes an Anfwer (which to me
indeed is a very faint one) as if he were fo weak
and tired, that he could not fpeak any Word
farther. When the Council asked Sir George

Wakeman what he had to fay for himfelf, and he

behaved himfelf ruggedly, they call for Oates a-

gain, What, faid they, do you know any thing of

your own Knowledge? No, faid he, God forbid; 1

know nothing more; as Sir Philip Lloyd fays, and as

the Matter fpeaks: For if he had charged him
that he had fcen that Letter, the Lords would
infallibly have committed him. If he had but

faid, Ifaw a Letter with his Name to it, which by

the Character 1 believe was his, becaufe Ifaw his

Writing elfewhere. And 'tis wonderful to me

;

I don't know, if a Man be never fo faint, could

not he fay, Ifaw a Letter under his Hand, as well

as, / knew nothing more of him ? There are as

few Words in one, as in the other. If he had

faid, I beg your Lord/hips or His Majeffs Pardon,

I am Jo weak I. cannot recollect my felf, it had been

fomething > but to make a great Proteftation that

he knew nothing of him. This is that that is

faid by Sir Philip Lloyd, on his Behalf.
Thefe other Gentlemen fay, that Oatodidnot

know them, and the Woman does fay, that fhe
did cell them, when they came to fearch, that
Corker and Marfhal were there, and Dr. Oates
and they faid, they had nothing to do with any
but Pickering. They make Anfwer now and fay,
that they had no Commiffion to take any but
him. But 'tis ftrange indeed, if they were there
and they did fee them, that they did not appre-
hend them. For what Defence they make about
what Talk was had at the Gate-houfe, 'tis all con-
tradicted by Sir William Waller. And indeed, if
it were poffible, they have almoft undone them-
felves in their own Defences, by making weak
Obfervations, and infifting upon trivial Things

5improper for the Court to hear, and impertinent
for them to urge. But I deal faithfully with
you, I will difcharge my own Confcience to you
It lies upon the Oaths of thefe two Men. Tho'
there was a Plot in general proved, yet that does
not affect thefe Men in particular, but was only
ufed to anfwer that Objection, that it fhould not
be believed upon pofitive Swearing, Hand over
Head, without fomething elfe. Here was fome-
thing elfe, the Plot in general, and their being
Pnefts, is another Circumffance to me, who are
mad to bring in Popery, and would do any thin?
to get their Tyranny again eftablifiied amonglt
us. And there is more than probable Evidence
of that I aflure you.

Sir tho. Doleman did indeed fay Mr. Oates was
very weak, fo that he was in great Confufion,
and fcarce able to ftand

} weigh it with you how
it will, but to me 'ris no Anfwer. I tell you
plainly, I think a Man could not be fo weak
but he could have faid, he faw a Letter under
his Hand. It was as fhort as he could make an
Anfwer, and 'tis ftrange that he fhould go and
make Proteftation that he knew nothing. And
fo I pray you weigh it well. Let us nor be fo a-
mazed and frighted with the Noife of Plots, as
to take away any Man's Life without any reafo-
nable Evidence. If you are fatisfied with the
Oaths of thefe two Men, fo$ I have obferved to
you whatObjections they make for themfelves,and
thofe Objections are material : What Sir George
Wakeman fays about his not accufing him before
the Council, and what thefe Men fay that he did
not apprehend them. And 'tis very ftrange, they
fhould have fo little Knowledge, and fo little Ac-
quaintance with Oates and Bedlow, and fo great a
Matter as they fpeak mould be true. And 'tis well
enough obferved, that he was a begging there 5 'tis

very much that fuch a Man fhould know of fuch
a great Defign on Foot, and they mould ufe him
in that manner. Thefe are the things that I

remember, worthy of your Confideration. Thefe
Men's Bloods are at ftake, and your Souls and
mine, and our Oaths and Confciences are at
ftake; and therefore never care what the World
fays, follow your Confciences ; if you are fa-

tisfied thefe Men fwear true, you will do well
to find them Guilty, and they deferve to die for
it : If you are unfatisfied, upon thefe Things put
together, and they do weigh wf h you, that they
have not faid true, you will do well to acquit
them.

Bedlow. My Lord, my Evidence is not right
fumm'd up.

L. C. 7.
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L. C J. I know not by what Authority this

Man fpeaks.

CI. of Cr. Make way for the Jury there; who
keeps the jury?

"Then an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury

:

'The Judges went off the Bench, leaving Mr.
Recorder andfame Jliftices to take the VerdiSt.

And after about an Hour's Space the Jury re-

turned, and the Foreman coming up to the Ta-

ble, [poke thus to Mr. Recorder.

Foreman. Sir, the Gentlemen of the Jury de-

fire to know, whether they may not find the

Prifoners Guilty of Mifprifon of Treafon ?

Mr. Recorder. No, you muft either convict

them of High-Treafon, or acquit them.

Foreman. Then take a Verdict.

CI. of Cr. Gentlemen, anfwer to your Names,
Ralph Hawtrey.

Hawtrey. Here, &c.

CI. of Cr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed of
your Verdict?

Qmnes. Yes.
CI. of Cr. Who (hall fay for you?
Omnes. Our Foreman.
CI. of Cr. -ir George IVakeman, hold up thy

Hand. {Which he did.'} Look upon the Pri-
foner. How fay you, is he Guilty of the High-
Treafon whereof he ftands Indicted, or Not
Guilty ?

Foreman. Not Guilty.
Capt. Richard/on. Down on your Knees.
Sir George IVakeman. God blefs the King and

the Honourable Benchl

And in like manner wen the other Three ac-
quitted,

-f

After the Ferdicl was Recorded, the Court ad-
journed 'till f in the Afternoon.

•!&• J&, $$, Cffit i®, *& J3S, t»

LXXXVI. 1 he Trial of Charles Kerne, at Here-
ford Aflizes, for High-Treafon, being a Romifh Prieft.

4, 1679. 31 Car. II.Aug.

§1011

N Monday the Fourth Day of Au-

guft, Charles Kerne was brought to the

Bar, and being Arraigned, he pleaded

Not Guilty to the Indictment : Then
the Court (after the ufual Formalities

performed) proceeded to the Trial as followeth.

CI. of Atr. Gentlemen of the Jury, Look up-

on the Prifoner, and hearken to his Caufe. You
{hall understand that he Hands Indicted by the

Name of Charles Kerne, late of the Pariih of

fFeobly in the County of Hereford, Gent. For

that he being born within the Kingdom of Eng-

land, the Twenty Ninth Day of April, in the

Thirty Firft Year of the Reign of our Sove-

reign Lord King Charles the Second, by the

Grace of God, of England, Scotland, France, and

Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, &c.

Then being a Seminary Priell, made, profefTed,

and ordained by the Authority and Jurisdiction

challenged, pretended, and derived from the See

of Rome, the faid Twenty Ninth Day of April,

in the Year aforefaid, within this Kingdom of

England (viz.) at IVeobly aforefaid, in the Coun-
ty aforefaid, Traiteroufly did come, was, and did

remain, againft the Form of the S r atute in that

Cafe made and provided ; and againitthe Peace

of our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and

Dignity.

Upon this Indictment he hath been Arraigned,

and thereunto pleaded Not Guilty; and for his

Trial hath put himfelf upon God and his Coun-
try, which Country you are. Your Charge is

to enquire whether he be Guilty of the High-
Treafon whereof he Hands Indicted, or Not
Guilty : If you find him Guilty, you are to

V O L. II.

enquire what Lands, Goods or Tenements he
had at the Time of the Treafon committed, or
at any Time fince; if you find him Not Guilty
you are to enquire whether he did flee for the
fame : If you find he did flee for the fame, you
are to enquire what Lands, Tenements or Goods
he had at the Time of fuch Flight, or at any
Time fince; if you find him Noc Guilty, nor
that he did flee for the fame, you are to fay f0j
and no more ; and hear your Evidence.

CI. of Arr. Call Edward Biddolph. [Who was
Sworn.}

L. C. J. * Give the Jury Pen, Ink, and Pa-
per.

L. C. J. Biddolph, do you know Mr. Kerne ?
Biddolph. I do not know him now : I did

know fuch a Man about fix Years ago } I have
feen him once or twice at Mr. Scmerfet's at Bol-
lingham, about fix Years ago.

L. C. J. How long is it ago fince you faw
him laft ?

Biddolph. About aYear.
L. C. J. Had you any Difcourfe with him?
Biddolph. No, I never had any.

L. C. J. Look on the Prifoner, can you &v
that is the Man ?

y

Biddolph. No, my Lord, I cannot.
L. C. J. Can you fay you ever faw or knew

him ?

Biddolph. I cannot.

L. C. J. Set him down. Call another Wir-
nefs.

CI. of Arr. Sweat Margaret Edwards. [Which
was done.}

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Kerne ?
6 G Edwards,

f See Obfer'vations on thefe Trials, in State Trials, Vol. 8. p. 437. * Sir William Scroggf
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Edwards, Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C. J. How long have you known him?

Edwards. Five or fix Years.

X. C. J. Where did you know him ?

Edwards. At Samsfield, at Mrs. Monington's.

L. C. J. Were you a Servant there?

Edwards. No, I went thither about Rufi-

nefs.

L. C. J. Where did you firft fee him?
Edwards. At Mr. Wigmore's of Luclon.

L. C. J. Had you any Difcourfe with him

there?

Edwards. No.
L. C. J. How came you to fee him at Mrs.

Monington's ?

Edwards. My Lord, one yantes Harris's Wife

being very fide, 1 was defired by him to go to

Mis. Anne Monington to feek fome Remedy for

her : He defired me the rather, for that fhe be-

ing a Papift, and I ofthe fame Religion, he be-

lieved for that Reafon fhe would be the more

kind to her.

L. C. y. Were you a Papift then?

Edwards. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Well, what faid Mrs. Monington to

you?
Edwards. My Lord, fhe told me fhe was glad

that they had fent me, for that fhe did not care

to difcourfe the Diftempers of a Woman to a

Man.
L. C. y. Well, go on.

Edwards. My Lord, after fhe had difcourfed

to me concerning the fick Woman, fhe defired

me to go with her, which I did} and fhe brought

me into the Chapel, where I faw Mr. Kerne in

his Robes.

L C. y. Were there any more in the Room
befides him ?

Edwards. Yes, my Lord, four or five : He
was in his Robes and Surplice, and was at the

Altar, and gave the Sacrament to the reft, but I

did not receive ir.

L. C. y. What did you fee him do?

Edwards. 1 faw him give the Sacrament.

L. C. y* What did he fay?

Edwards. He faid Corpus Chrifii, orfomefuch
Words.

L. C. y. Did you fee him deliver the Wafers?
Edwards. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. To how many ?

Edwards. To Four.

L. C. y. You fwear pofitively to Four: Did
they confefs to him?

Edwards. Yes, I believe they did.

L. C. y. Did you ever fee him fince?

Edwards. No, my Lord, I never faw him be-

tween that and this.

L. C. y. Did you ever receive the Sacrament

before, and of whom ?

. Edwards. Yes, I received feveral times : The
firft time was of Mr. Duffres, next of Mr. Kem-
ble, then of Mr. Rowenhill, Mr. Standi/!}, Mr.
Morgan, Mr. Irindal; I have received from Mr.
Draycot at Mr. Berrington's j I have received at

Mr. Blount's ; but the laft time was from Mr.
yennings at Mr. Wigmore's Houfe.

Prif. My Lord, Idefirefhemay beask'd whe-
ther fhe came to Mrs. Monington's ofher own ac-

cord, or was fent for Phyfick?

Edwards. I was fent.

Prif. Did the Man fend you, or his Wife?
Edwards. The Man.

Prif. Have a care what you fay, Harris's Wife
is here to trepan you.

L. C. y. Give good Words; you begin to tri-

umph too foon. Woman, was it Harris or his

Wife fent you?
Edwards. It was Harris himfelfthat defired me

to go, becaufel might have more Favour, being
a Papift.

Prif. Where did that Harris live?

Edwards. At Lempfter.

Prif. 1 am fatisfied, 'twas a Miftake, I thought
it had been Harris of Lawton fhe had meant.

L. C. y. Will you ask her any thing elfe ?

Prif 1 defire to know the Time when flie

faw me at Mrs. Monington's?

Edwards. It was in laft May was Twelve-
month, the twenty ninth Day, to thebeftof my
Memory.

L. C. y. Do you take it to be certain, or do
you believe it only that it was that Day ?

Edwards. My Lord, 1 am certain it was that
very Day; for the Woman died that Day, and
that Day is writ on the Grave Stone.

Prif. I defire to know of her whether fhe was
ever ask'd upon her Oath, whether fhe was ever
at Mrs. Monington's fince that Time ?

Edwards. I was not there fince, norever ask'd
the Queftion, to the beft of my Knowledge.

L. C. y. What a Queftion is that?

Prif. 'Tis very remarkable, for fhe was ask'd
by a Juryman laft Affizes, ir was not upon the
Trial, but before the Grand Jury, and fhe denied
then that fhe was ever at Mrs. Monington's in her
Life.

Edwards. I have been there above Twenty
times.

Prif. Call Roger Hyet.

L. C. y By and by your Defence will be pro-
per, in the mean time, what will you ask her
more ?

Prif. I defire to ask her what Difcourfe fhe
had with Mary Jones, the other Witnels, for fhe

has been inftrucling her whac to fay j and that

they may be examined afunder. \j>Vhich was
granted.^

L. C. J. What Difcourfe had you with the
other Woman?

Edwards. My Lord, fhe told me that fhe had
never in all her Life been before a Judge or Ju-
ftice of Peace; and that fhe was afraid or coming
before one, for fhe did not know how to behave
herfelf.

L. C. 7. Did you tell her what fhe fhould
fay?

Edwards. No, my Lord.

L. C. y. What did you fay to her?

Edwards. I told her, that fhe would hear her

Name call'd, and then fhe muft anfwer: And I

bid her have a care that fhe fpoke what fhe knew,
and no more orlefsthanthe Truth.

L. C. y. Did fhe tell you what fhe could fay?

Edwards. She did.

l. c. y. what ?

Edwards. That fhe liv'd at Mr. Somerfet's,

where Mr. Kerne ufually was, and that feveral

People ufed to come thither, and go up Stairs

into the Chamber ; and fhe went once to hear-

ken, and fhe heard Mr. Kerne fay fomething in

Latin, which fhe faid was Mafs.

Prif. Here is a material Queftion to ask this

Witnefs. I defire to know where this Woman
faw me firft ?

Edwards.
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Edwards. At Mr. Wigmore's of LucJon, as

they told me it was him, for I did not know his

Name.
Prif. I would know if the Man fhe faw at

Mrs. Monington's, was the fame Perfon {he faw at

Luclon ?

Edwards. To the bed ofmy Knowledge it was.

Prif. I never was at LuSion in all my life.

L. C. J. Call the other Woman : You (hall

now fee how thefe Women agree.

CI. of Arr. Call Mary Jone!,. Crier, fwear her.

\fVhich was done^]

Prif. I defire they may be examined apart.

L. C. J. Let the other Woman go out.

L. C. J. When was the fait time you faw

Margaret Edwards ?

Jones. Yetlerday, and again to-day.

L. C. J. Did ihe tell you and inllrud you what

you fhould fay againfl the Pnioner ?

Jones. No, my Lord.

L. C J. Did you tell her what you could fay

againfl: him ?

Jones. No.
L. C. J. Did not you tell her that you liv'd

at Mr. Somerfefs,znd that feveral People ufedto

come thither and go up flairs into the Chamber,

and that once you went up io hearken, ano heard

Mi\ Kerne fay Mafs?

Jones. She did fay fo to me, but I did notanfwer

her any thing.

L. C. J. Did fhe ask where you faw Mr. Kerne ?

Jones. Yes.

L. C. J. Where, at Bollingham?

Jones. I did tell her that I faw him at Boiling-

ham, and that I heard him lay fomewhat aloud,

I think it was Latin.

L. C. J. How you anfwer : I asked you but

jult now, whether you told her that you faw

Mr. Kerne at Mr. Somerfefs Houle, and th it you

went up to hearken, and heard him lay fome-

what in Latin? And you then faid you did not,

and now you fay you did.

Jones. She fpoke to me firfl about it, and I did

but anfwer.

L. C. J. What, did fhe ask you what you
could fay againfl Mr. Kerne?

Jones. Yes.

L. C. J. And what did you tell her you could

fay?

Jones. I told her, that one Sunday Morning
feveral People came to Bollingham, out of the

Town and out of the Countiy, and went up af-

ter him, and he faid fomewhat aloud that I did

not underfland.

L. C. J. Did you not tell Margaret Edwards
that you heard him fay Mafs?

Jones. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. Call Margaret Edwards again. Mar-
garet Edwards, Did Mary Jones tell you that fhe

heard Mr. Kerne fay Mafs ?

Edwards. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. J. Now, Mary Jones, what fay you?

Did not you tell her that you heard the Prifoner

fay Mafs?

Jones. No, I am fure I did not; for I never

heard the Word before, nor do not know what
it means.

L. C. J. The one Witnefs fays fhe did not name
Mafs, for fhe did not underfland what it was j

the other fays fhe did -, fo they contradict one
another in that.

L. C. J. Mary Jones, when did you fee Mr.
Kerne ?

Vol. II.

James. Seven or eight Years ago.

L. C. J. Where?
Jones. At Mr. Somerfet's at Bollingham, he lived

there half a Year.

L. C. J. What did you fee him do ?

Jones. One Sunday Morning I was bufy a
wafhing the Rooms, and I faw feveral People
follow him into the Chamber.

L. C. J. Did you fee him do any thing ?

Jones. No, I heard him fay fomewhat aloud
which I did not underfland.

L C. J. How near were you to him?
Jones. There was only a Wall between.
L. C. J, Did you ever fee him give a Wafer

5

Marry, or Chrilten?

Jones. No, my Lord : There was a Child Chri-
ilened in the Houfe.

L. C.J. Who Chriflened it?

Jones. I cannot tell : There was no one there
but my Matter and Miflrefs, Mr. lachet and his

Wife, and Mr. Kerne: I was in the next Room,
and I heard words fpoken by the Voice of. Mr.
Kerne.

L. C. J. What can you fay more?
Jones. I waih'd a Surplice.

L C. J. VVhofe was it, the Prifoner's ?

Jones. I cannot tell, becaufe I did not fee it

on his Back.

Prif. How could you know a Voice?
Jones. Very eallly, there was but a Wall be-

tween.

Prif. Was there no Room between ?

Jones. No, there was not.

L. C. J. The Woman fpeaks fenfibly : If you
have done asking Quellions, you had belt call

your Witneffes.

Prif Call Mr. Hyet.

L. C. J. Mr. Hyet, you cannot be fworn, but
you muft fpeak the Truth as much as if you
were : Well, what can you fay ?

Hyet. I ask'd Margaret Edwards if fhe had been
at Mrs. Monington's ; fhe faid fhe had : I ask'd

her if fhe knew Mr. Kerne? She faid, fhedid not.

L. C. J. Was fhe upon her Oath when you
ask'd her this?

Hyet. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. Have you any more Witneffes?

Prif. Call Mr. Wefion's Maid.
L. C. J. What can you fay ?

Weft. M. I fawthofe two Women talking to-

gether, and that Woman inflructed the other

what fhe fhould fay.

L. C. J. What fay you to this?

Edwards and Jones. My Lord, we did not.

L. C. J. Look you, they both deny it on their

Oaths.

L. C. J. How often between the firfl time
and the twenty ninth of May was Twelves-

month, did you fee Mr. Kerne ?

Edwards. Twice or thrice in Weobly.

L. C. J. What can you fay for yourfelf?

Prif. My Lord, I am very happy that I re-

ceive my Trial before your Lordfhip.

L. C- J. Come, fetting afide your Apologies,

tell what you have to fay ; if you have any more
Witneffes, call them.

Prif. My Lord, here are feveral Witneffes who
will prove that that Woman was never at Mrs.
Monington

,

s.

L. C. J. That's very improbable j but call

whom you will.

Prif. My Lord, here's Mrs. Monington, the

6 G % Perfon
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Perfon {he pretends fhew'd her up, will fwear

{he never faw the Woman in her life ; and upon
my Salvation I never faw cither of them before.

L. C. J. Mrs. Monington, the Law will not al-

low you to be fworn, but 1 prefume that a Per-

fon of your Quality will fpeak the Truth, as

much as if you were upon your Oath. Do you
know Margaret Edwards?
Mon. My Lord, I do not.

L. C. J. Woman, tell Mrs. Momngton from
whom you came.

Edwards. I came from James Harris of Lemp-

fier.

L. C. J. Mrs. Monington, do you know James
Harris of Lempfier ?

Mon. My Lord, I do not.

L. C. J. Do you remember that about May
was Twelvemonth this Woman came to you for

Phyfick for a Woman that was fick?

Mon. A great many People come to me on
that Errand, fo that it is impoffible for me to

remember any particular Perfon.

L. C. J. Did you ever take up that Woman
to hear Mafs ?

Mon. That I am fure I did not, for I never

took up any Stranger in my Life.

L. C. J. Did Mrs. Monington know you by
Face, or by Name ?

Edwards. I had been at the Houfe feveral times,

but this time I was carried up to Mrs. Monington

by Mary Lewis her Maid : Mrs. Monington told

me that fhe was very glad that I was fent, for

fhe faid fhe would not give the Man fo jufl an

Account, becaufe he was a Man.
L. C. J. Mrs. Monington, do you remember

this?

Mon. This is frequent.

Edwards. Then fhe told me that I mufl put a

Plaifler of Diapalma to the Woman's Back, and

give her a Drink with Malt with Raifins, &V.
Mon. As for the Plaifler, 'tis poffible I may

prefcribe it, but the Drink is no Receipt of

mine.

Edwards. My Lord, the Maid when I came
in was making a Cheefe in the Dairy, and Iask'd

for Mrs. Monington, and fhe told me fhe was

within, and flraightway brought me up to her:

Mrs. Monington in a little time fell into difcourfe

with me about Religion ; and underflanding

what I was, defired me to go into the Chamber
with her.

L. C. J, What kind of Chapel was it?

Edwards. I will give an Account of it as well

as I can remember. When we came up flairs, we
turn'd in at a Door on the right Hand ; the Al-

tar flood juft before the Door* it was richly a-

dorned, the Altar-Cloth was white, and a fine

Crucifix on the Altar.

Mon. What were the Cufhions of?

Edwards. As I remember they were Needle-

work.
L. C. J. What was the Chapel adorn'd with?
Edwards. With abundance of Pictures: I think

the Window was on the left hand of the Altar.

Mon. She has fail'd in the firft defcription,

for we go not off the Stairs into the Chapel, as

ihe fays ; neither is it adorn'd in the manner as

Ihe fays it is, nor is there any Needlework.
Here is a Maid that I deliver all my Medicines

to, that perhaps can give a better Account whe-
ther this Woman were at my Houfe, than I

can.

L. C. J. Call the Maid. You wait on Mrs.
Monington: Did you ever fee that Woman?

Maid. No.
L. C. J. I'll fhew you how you fhall remem-

ber her j fhe came to Mrs. Monington on the be-
half of one Harris's Wife, and ask'd if fhe were
within, and you carried her to your Miflrefs.

Edwards. My Lord, I was there feveral times
befides this, for I carried the Child, Mr. Thomas
Monington, thither feveral times.

L. C. J. Do you remember this ?

Mon. I do not remember that fhe ever brought
the Child to me, but another.

Edwards. My Lord, I always lay with him,
and tended him, and carried him Abroad.

L. C. J. If you have any thing more to fay,

fpeak. What fay you for yourfelf ?

Prif. I hope your Lordfhip will fum up the
Evidence.

L. C. J. That I will: I will tell the Jury all

I can remember on both fides ; I will not fhed
innocent Blood, neither will I help the Guilty;
for I, by the Duty of my Place, am Counfel for
the Prifoner in all things fit and legd.

Prif. I defire the Statute may be read.

L. C. J. Let it be read. What Statute do you
mean, that of 27 Eliz?

Prif. Yes, my Lord . [Then the Statute was read.

Prif. Now Gentlemen, I defire you to take
into confederation, whether my Blood fhall be
drawn by the Evidence of a Woman that fays

fhe faw me give a Wafer; or on that Evidence
of the other, who fiys fhe heard me read fhe

knows not what through a Wall : My Lord, in

is an Oppreflion that Statutes fhould be conflrued
otherwife than they are intended. 1 hope, my
Lord, that the Statute will not take hold of a
Man for faying Mafs, for many fay MafTes that
are not in Orders.

L. C. J. It is one of the greatefl Evidences to
prove a Man to be a Priefl that can be; for we
cannot think of bringing Witnefles who faw
you take Orders; Do any fay Mafs but Priefls?

is it lawful for any one but a Priefl to fay Mafs?
Prif. That of Bread and Wine they do not,

but the other they do.

L. C. J. Do any Bury or Chriflen but Priefls?

Prif. Yes they do in extremis; and, my Lord,
I do acknowledge that I read Prayers fometimes,
and fometimes others did* And I defire your
Lordfhip and the Jury will take notice, that I

have taken the Oaths of Allegiance and Supre-
macy.

L. C. J. Is that all you have fay ?

Prif. Yes, my Lord.
L, C. J. Then Gentlemen of the Jury, The

Matter you are to try is, whether Charles Kerne,

the Prifoner at the Bar, be a Popifb Priefl : An
Englifhman I fuppofe he does not deny himfelf to

be; the Queflion is then if he be a Romifh
Priefl ? If fo, he is guilty of High-Treafon by
the Statute of 27 Eliz. This was a Law made
for the Prefervation of the Queen, for the Pre-

fervationofour Religion, and for the Prefervati-

on of all Proteflants. The Witncffes are Marga-
ret Edwards and Mary Jones. Margaret fays, the

firfl time that fhe faw the Prifoner was at Mr.
Wigmore's, who told her it was Mr. Kerne ; and

Ihe fays that fhe hath feen him feveral times

fince ; twice or thrice at Weobly, and the laft

time was the twenty ninth of May was Twelve-
month, at Mrs, Monington's, where fhe faw him

deliver
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deliver the Wafer, which is the Sacrament, to

four Perfons that were there, but (he herfelf did

not receive it ; and then fhe gives you an ac-

count of the reafon of her coming then to Mrs.

Monington's, which was at the requeft of one

Harris, whofe Wife was fick, to feek fome Re-

medy from Mrs. Monington for the fick Woman :

She tells you how the Maid brought her up to

her Miftrefs, how fhe acquainted her with her

Errand, what Advice Mrs. Monington gave her

for the fick Woman, and how that Mrs. Mo-
nington underftanding what Religion (he was of,

took her into the Chapel, whereof fhe gives

you a Defcription. 'Tis very probable fhe may

go on fuch an Errand, and yet Mrs. Monington

not know her j but Mrs. Monington cannot pofi-

tively fay, but believes fhe was never there :

Mr. Kerne, I fuppofe, will not deny but that he

who gives the Wafer is a Prieft.

Prif. There is bleflld Bread which others may

give.

L. C. J. When you give fuch Bread, do you

not fay, Accipe Corpus Cbrijii ?

Prif. We ufe no fuch words. \But it appeared,

upon his own repeating of the Latin words they ufsd

upon the giving the Sacrament , that thofe were part

ofthe Words.~\

L. C. J. The Prifoner made an offer to prove

fome Difagreement between the WitnefTes j 'tis

true, they did differ in fome fmall things, as the

faying the word Mafs, but from hence can no

great matter be inferr'd againft the Evidence}

lb here is one pofitive Evidence.

There muft indeed be two WitnefTes ; now
the Queftion will be about the fecond Woman's
Teftimony: She fays fhe knew Mr. Kerne abouc

eight Years ago, when fhe lived at Mr. Somer-

fet's, and that Mr. Kerne lived in the Houfe about

half a Year: She tells you that fhe hath feen fe-

veral Perfons come thither j and among ft the

reft, fhe fays, that one Sunday Morning feve-

ral Perfons came thither ; and went up with

Mr. Kerne, and that fhe was fo curious as to

hearken, and did hear Mr. Kerne fay fomething

in an unknown Tongue : Kerne objects that fhe
could not know it was his Voice j but for that,

I think Men are eafily diftinguifhed by their

Voices j but that 1 muft leave to your confide-
ration.

But now the main Queftion will be, what it

was fhe heard him fay ? Mr. Kerne fays, that in

Times of ftraitnefs, Perfons that are not Priefts

may read Prayers, and fo perhaps he may be then
reading the Collects.

But then again : She fays there was a Child
Chi lftened in the HouL, and no one there but
Mr. Somerfet and his Wife, Mr. Latchet and his

Wife, and Mr. Kerne, to do it : She did not fee

him Chriften it, and 'tis true likewife what he
fays, that in their Church they allow others, as

Midwives, to Cbriften in extremis; not that he
confeffes he did Chriften.

L. C. J. Call Mary Jones again. Mary Jones*
was it a fickly Child ?

Junes. No, My Lord.
L. C. J. Then that is anfwered : So that if

you believe that he did Chriften the Child, there
are two WitnefTes againft him: I muft leave it

with you as a tender Point on both fides ; I
would not fhed innocent Blood, neither would
I willingly let a Popifh Prieft efcape. There is

one pofitive Witnefs, and if you believe upon the
Woman's hearing his Voice, that he did fay

Mafs, or did Chriften, for I muft confefs fhe

fays (he did nnt fee him Chriften, then you muft
find him Guilty : So I leave it to you upon the

whole matter.

'The Jury returned, and were call'd over.

William Barret, &c.
CI. of Arr. Jaylor, fet up Charles Kerne.

Gentlemen, Are you agreed of your Virdict ?

Jury. Yes.

CL Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. The Foreman.
CI. Look upon the Prifoner : What fay you,

is Charles Kerne Guilty of the High-Treafon
whereof he ftands indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Not Guilty.

t^wsmmm mssmi

LXXXVII. "The Trial 0/Andrew Brommich^ Staf-

ford /IJfizes for High-Treafon, being a Romifli Priefts

Aug. 135 1679. 31 Car. II.

The Court beingfat, they proceeded to the Trial thus.

H E Lord Chief Juftice having the

Night before charged the Sheriff to

Return a good Jury, and the Court

being fat, he enquired of him if he

had obferveci his Directions ; The
Sheriff acquainted his Lordfhip, that fince he

had impanell'd the faid Jury, he had heard that

one Allen, of in the faid County,

being then returned to ferve on the faid Jury, had

faid in Difcourfe with fome of his Fellows, that

nothing was done againft the Popifh Priefts a-

bove, and therefore he Would do nothing againft

them here, nor find them guilty j whereupon
his Lordfhip called for the faid Allen and one
Randal Calclough, one of his Fellow Jurymen,
and another Witnefs upon Oath, who proving
the words againft him, his Lordfhip difcharged

him of the Jury, and committed him to Prifon

till he found Sureties for his good Behaviour %

and likewife three more of the Jury were dif-

charged upon fufpicion of being Popifhly affect-

ed, his Lordfhip commanding the Sheriff to re-

turn good Men in their places > which was ac-

cordingly done, and the Jury Sworn, viz.

Thomas
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'Thomas Higgin,

John Webb,
Edward Ward,
Thomas Marfhall,

"John Beech,

Randal Calclough,

>Jw'<

^-Richard Trindall,

j
James Beckett,

William Smyth,

William Pin/on,

I

Daniel Buxton, and

VRichard Cartwright.

CI. of Arr. Jaylor, fet up Andrew Brommich to

the Bar : Crier, make Proclamation.

Crier. O yes! If any one can inform my Lords
the King's Juftices, the King's Serjeant, the

King's Attorney or this Inqueft now to be taken,

of any Treafon?, Murders, Felonies, or other

Mifdemeanors, committed or done by the Prifo-

ner at the Ear, let them come forth and they

fb.aU be heard.

CI. of Arr. Andrew Brommich, hold up thy

Hind. Thefe good Men that were lately called,

and have now appeared, are thofe which muft
pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King and
you upon your Life or Death : If you will chal-

lenge any of ihem you muft fpeak as they come
to the Book to be fworn, and before they be

fworn.

The Prifoner challenging none, the Jury was
fworn, ut ante.

CI. of Arr. Gentlemen of the Jury, look upon
the Prifoner and hearken to his Caufe. You mail

undeiftand that he ftands Indicted by the Name
of Andrew Brommich, late of Perry Barr in the

County of Stafford, Gent, for that he being born
within the Kingdom of England, the Thirteenth

Day of January, in the Thirtieth Year of the

Reign of our Sovereign Lord King Charles lid,

by the Grace ofGod of England, Scotland, France,

and Ireland King, Defender of the Faith, &c.
then being a Seminary Prieft made, profefled and
ordained by the Authority and Juridiction chal-

lenged, pretended and derived from the See of
Rome, the faid Thirteenth Day of January in

the Year aforefaid, within this Kingdom of
England, viz. at Perry Barr aforefaid, in the

County aforefaid, Traiteroufly did come, was,

and did remain, againft the Form of the Statute

in that Cafe made and provided, and againft

the Peace of our Sovereign Lord the King, his

Crown and Dignity.

Upon this Indictment he hath been Arraign-

ed, and hith pleaded thereunto Not Guilty, and

for his Trial huh put himfelf upon God and his

Country, which Country you are: Your Charge
is to enquire whether he be guilty of the High-
Treifon whereof he ftands indicted, or Not
Guilty : If you find him Guilty, you are to en-

quire what Lands, Goods or Tenements he had

at the Time of the Treafon committed, or at

any rime fince : If you find him Not Guilty,

you are to enquire whether de did fly for the

fame, and what Lands, Goods or Tenements he

had at the fame time of iuch flight, cr at any

time fince; if you find him Not Guilty, nor

that he did fly for the fame, you are to fay fo

and no more, and hear your Evidence.

CI. of Arr. Crier, call A,m Robinfon. \Who
was fworn.~]

"I „,.„. * L.C.J. Ann Robinfon, what can
* Sir William r • n * 1 n 7 o

Semes you *ay againft Andrew Brommich?
A. Rob. My Lord, I can fay that

I received the Sacrament of him according to

the Church of Rome in a Wafer.

L. C. J. When? How long ago ?

A. Rob. About Chriflmas laft.

L. C. J. What Company was there ? How
many were there in Company ?

A. Rob. My Lord, I cannot positively tell how
many, but I believe there were about feven or

eight.

L. C. J. Did they all receive at the fame time ?

A. Rob. Yes, my Lord, they did all receive at

that time.

L. C. J. Are you a Papift ?

A. Rob. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. How long were you a Papift ?

A. Rob. Several Years.

L. C. J. Who firft feduced you ?

A. Rob. My Lord, I cannot tell his Name.
L. C. J. Did you ever receive the Sacrament,

according to their way, of Mr, Brommich, before

the time you fpeak of ?

A. Rob. Yes.

L. C. J. How often?

A. Rob. Four times, my Lord ; twice at Mr.
Birch's, and twice at Mr. Purfal's.

L. C. J. How came you to give her the Sa-

crament ? [To the Prifoner.'}

Prif. My Lord, I never did.

L. C. J. Why, fhe has fworn you gave it her

feveral times, once in particular at Chriflmas laft,

and four times more, twice at Mr. Birch's, and
twice at Mr. Purfal's.

Prif'My Lord, I cannot help it. I defire your
Lordfhip will take notice of one thing, that I

have taken the Oaths of Allegiance and Supre-

macy, and have not refufed any thing which
might teftify my Loyalty.

L. C. J. That will not ferve your turn, you
Priefts have Tricks to evade that.

Prif. Befides, my Lord, I never abfeonded.

L. C. J. You never abfeonded ; what is thai:

to giving the Woman the Sacrament feveral

times ?

Prif. My Lord, I defire fhe may prove it.

L. C. J She does fo.

Prif. My Lord, I humbly conceive it was no
Sacrament unlefs I were a Prieft.

L. C. J. What an Argument is that? You ex-

pect we mould prove you a Prieft by Witneffes

which faw you take Orders •, but we know fo

much of your Religion, that none undertake to

give the Sacrament in a Wafer, or fay Mafs, but

a Prieft •, and you give the Sacrament to that

Woman in a Wafer, therefore you are a Prieft.

CI. of Arr. Crier, call another Witnefs; fwear

Jeoffery Robinfon.

L. C, J. What can you fay to Mr. Brommich ?

Jeof. Rob. I can fay nothing againft him.

L. C. J. Did you ever hear him fay Mafs ?

Jeof. Rob. I cannot tell, I have heard him fay

fomething in an unknown Tongue 5 but I know
not what it was.

L. C. J. Was it Latin that he faid ?

Jeof. Rob. I cannot tell : I am no Scholar.

L. C. J. Had he a Surplice on ?

Jeof. Yes, my Lord, he had.

L. C. J. Robinfon, are you a Papift?

Jeof. Rob. Yes, my Lord.

L.C. J. I thought fo, it is fo hard to get the

Truth out of you.

CI. of Arr. Crier, fwear Jane Robinfon.

L. C. J. Come, what can you fay ? Did you

ever fee Brommich give the Sacrament ?

Jane Rob. Not to my Knowledge.
L. CJ. Did you ever hear him fay Mafs ?

Jane
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7#»0 ^e^. I never faw hirn do any thing ; for

I only went up and faid my Prayers, I took no

notice of any thing.

L. C. J. Did you not fee Brommich there?

Jane Rob. I cannot tell.

X. C. J. Why, don't you know him?

Jane Rob. No, my Lord

MtWim Ut ^igjiteife SuujeSg front

t&efc one ottUmct to fjer ^a|eftie, but ah
fo to fife up mm mooe feottion, rebellion

ano open fjoffiiitp iuitfjtn tije fame tier

ing&ttefg Eealni0 ano Dotmmottis, to tfie

great inoangetingoftbe fafetp offjet m&a
L. C.y. Your Husband knows him. You Eopal Petfott, ailO tO tl)t UttZt rtttlte, HefO

Jeoffery Rvbinfon, do not you know Mr. i?m#

^0/. i?o£. Not I, my Lord.

L. C. J. That's right like a Papift. Did you

not but juft now fay you heard him fay fome-

thing in an unknown Tongue, and faw him in

a Surplice, and yet now you do not know him?

ration ano wmfym of t&e Mjole malm,
if tfje fame he not tl)z foonet 0? fome po$
means forefeen ano p?ebentet?>

jfo? reformation thereof be ft oroatnetfs
eaa&Iileo ano mffim hp tlje fl&tteenai moff
excellent ^ajeffte, ano t&e 101*00 Spiritual

9utijo?itpoftrje fame parliament, t£&at all
ant ebcrp 3|eftn't0, Sentinarp p?iefl0, mm
otfjer p?teftg Mjatfoeoer, raaoe 01 £>|oato*

"lealnt Of England, a? otfjzt

You have no more Confcience than what your anO CeOIpOtaf, ailO tl)t Commons HI tfjfe
Priefts allow you. But though your Priefts can '

perfuade you to take falfe Oaths, I would not

have you think they can protect you from the

Puniftiment due to them here or hereafter.

An. Rob. My Lord, they both took the Sacra-

ment with me at the fame time from him.

L. C J. Look you there, was ever the like V& WDttefg £)Olt1!i!SOI10, 0? MtfjHl aw Of
Impudence feen ? Come Friend, confider you are &CT ®$UfZMZ8 Ecafll10 0? 1)011111110110, bp m\P
upon your Oath, and do not bring your felf into 9tttf|0tfQ>, POloer 0? 37UCT0HtSEtOlt, Betf'OeO*
the Snare of a Pillory. Come Robinfon, I ask you

by the Oath you have taken, did you receive

the Sacrament with Ann Robin/on at the time the

fpeaks of at Mr. Purfal's ?

Jeof, Rob. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. How hard is the Truth to be gotten

out of you! But within this County, which a-

bounds fo with Priefts and fwarms with Papifts,

that you get Popery here like the Itch j it they

but rub upon you, you catch it.

Jane Rob. My Lord, he's a weak Man:;

L. C. J. Who gave it you ?

Jeof. Rob. I do not know.

L. C. J, He'll fay no more than his Wife and

Prieft will give him leave.

L. C. J. Look you Gentlemen of the Jury,

here are two Papifts that are Witnefles ; you

are to confider how far they tell the Truth, and

how far they conceal it, how they tell their

Talc fo as to ferve a Turn : For here you fee the

Man faid at firft he heard him fay fomewhat in

an unknown Tongue, and that he faw him in a

Surplice ; after that he denies he knows him,

but now you fee by this Woman the Truth is

come out •, he hath confefs'd and own'd he re-

c&auengexr, 0? pietettoeo from ttjz %ze of
Rome Knee tfje feaff of tfje JSattbitp of %u
John Baptift, rit t&e firff pat of tm m$&
nefs Eeiftn, ftjall MtUn forty I3ap0 nek a$
ter tlje zm of tijfe p?efent BzMon cf par*
U'ament depart out of tfjtg Eeaim of Eng-
land, am out of all otljer fjer ^nj&nefg
JKealm? asio Dommiong, if tlje tutnu, mca-
tfjer, am parage ujali ferue fo? tije fame,
bi elfe fo foon after tije zm of t|je faid fo?tp
Mp$ as tfje toutti, toeatfjec ano pi

"

9nn fie it fcirtljer enageo op tfje atmjo^itg
aforefat'D, CDat it fljall not hz imm to,

02 fo? an? 3!efw't, @>emt'narp prieff, o?
ot^er tutl) priefr, Deacon, o? Kcligioo^
o? €cclefiaf!ical perfon toljatfoelier, bzinij

bo?n aatfjin trjt'0 Eealtn,^ o? anp. otoer Ijer

3i)iff5nef0 Dottiinioii^r-ano heretofore fince

tfje fafti feaff of tfje jQatioitp of %t. John
Baptift m tU fi'rff pear of fjer ^ajefftejs
" eign mane, o?oaineo o? p?ofe0eo, o?

"

ceived the Sacrament at Purfal's with her,-. We aft^ tO 00 maOe, 0?&aftteH~ 0| p?bfe!TeD
cannot expea more poficiye Evidence from fuch

a|tp ^UtIjO?ftp 0? 3inri0O!'aiOSl UtiU% tMh
People. Come read the Statute. ^^ fl| p|emffia km m %u Qf Romc>

op, o? of to&at name, title o? Begtee foeuer
Anno 27 £/&. cap. z. t|e fame fljall oe caiieo o? fenoion, to come

into, oe o? remain in anp part of tfjfg

|>erea0 tiiuew perfon^, calleU or Eealm 0? anp otfjer Ijer ^"ig&nefg Donif-
pcofeifeo 3lefuit, @>erainarp p?ieff0, niorns, after tfyz zm of tfje fame fo?tp trap0,

ants otfjer p?ieil0, Mjicfj ijaoe been, ano ot^er tfjan in fncfj fpeeia! cafes, am upon
from time to time are maoe in tlje parts* fuel) fpecial oceafians onlp, ano fo? fuel

liepoiio tlje 8>ea0, ijp 0? accojoing to tlje time onlp a0 10 etpieffeo in tW 98* Ssi^

©iner ann Eite^ of tlje Eomiflj Cfjinxij, if Ije oo 5 tfiat tljen euerp fcicfj offence iljall

Ijaoe of fate comen ano seen fent, ants oailp oe taken astts a^iuBgeo to be ^)ig!j Creafon,

uo come ano are fent into tfyi$ Eealm of ana euerp perfon fo offending 0)ail fo? fife

England, aito otfjer tfje flxuzzm (^afeffieg offence be anjunpn a CraptoMn&ftjallfuffec

^)omi!iton0, of purpofe (ag it fjatb appear* loife, ano fo?feit a& in cafe of fyisf) Crea^
tV) ag toell bp fanBrp of tljeir oten €ra-- fom
mutatfonis anti ConfelTion^, a0 oifter0 otijer 9nn euerp perfon fufjicfj after t^e eno of

niantfefi mean0 ano proofs, not onlp to tfje fame fortp oap& ano after fucfj time of

ftepartur?
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nepartute ag to before limtteo ano appoint-

ed, fijall uiittinglp ano foiUinglp teceiue,

relieve. comfort, aio ot maintain anp fucf)

3iefuit, ©etmnarp p?ieff, 01 ot&eu Crieff,

beacon 01 Eefujious, o? CccleOaflicai petfon

00 te aforefaio, being at Itbectp, 0? out of

fjoio, ftttotDine; &tm to be a 3!efttit, eeminatp

p?ieff, 0? ot&et fuel) l?tieK, Deacon oe

Eeligiouis, 01 Ccciefiattical petfon ag is

afo?efaio, fljall alfo fo? fuel) offence Ije au*

juogeo a felon foitfjout benefit of Cletgp,

ano fuffet oeatf), lofle, ano forfeit, a* in

cafe of one attainted of jfeloiun

L. C. J. Come, what have you more to fay?

PriJ. I defire that there may be notice taken

what Robinfon and his Wife faid upon their Exa-

minations before the Juftice of Peace.

L. C. J. We are to take notice only of what

they fay here.

Prif. My Lord, they faid here they did not

know me.

L. C. J. No : Did not Robinfon fay he heard

you fay fomething in an unknown Tongue j that

he then faw you in a Surplice ? Did we talk of

any one but you? Come Jefuit, with your Lear-

ning, you fh all not think to baffle us : I have of

late tad occafion to converfe with your moft

learned Priefts, and never yet faw one that had

either Learning or Honefty.

L. C. J. Have you any Witnefles ? Have you

any more to fay ?

Prif. No.
L. C. J. Then Gentlemen of the Jury, the

Queftion you are to try, is, Whether Andrew

Brommich be a Popifh Prieft or not : To prove

that he is, here is a Woman, one Ann Robinfon,

that fwears fhe received the Sicrament of him

in a Wafer once at Chriftmas laft, and twice at

Mr. Birch's, and twice at Mr. Purfafs, and that

he gave it to feveral others at the fame time.

There needs not much to perfuade you that he

who gives the Sacrament is a Prieft, for in their

Church they allow no one but a Prieft to give

the Sacrament, fo there is one exprefs Evidence

againft him : And now I rauft fatisfy you in one

thing, that you are to give a Verdicl: not that

he is a Prieft, but that you believe him in your

Confcience upon the whole Evidence, to be a

Prieft. To make you do this, here is one pofi-

tive Evidence.

The other Man, when I came to examine

him whether he ever heard the Prifoner fay

Mais ; he anfwered, that he heard him fay fome-

thing in an unknown Tongue, and that he was

in a Surplice. This is as much as we could ex-

pect from one of their own Religion, who dare

fay no more than their Priefts will give them
leave to do. So Gentlemen I muft leave it to

you, whether or no you will not believe the

Teftimony of this real pofitive Witnefs, and the

circumftantial Evidence of the other Man : For
you fee in what Dangers we are •, I leave it up-

on your Confciences, whether you will let

Priefts efcape, who are the very Pefts and Dan-
gers of Church and State ; You had better be

rid of one Prieft than three Felons j fo Gentle-

men, I leave it to you.

the Jury having ftaid fome time, returned t$

the Court to give their Verdicl.

Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen of the Jury, have you
agreed on your Verdicl ?

Jury. Yes.

CI. of Arr. Who fhall fay it for you ?

Jury. The Foreman.
CI. of Arr. Jaylor, fet up Andrew Brommich to

the Bar.

Gentlemen, do you find Andrew Brommich
Guilty of the High Treafon he hath been Ar-
reigned of, or Not Guilty ?

Jury. Guilty.

L. C. J. Gentlemen, you have found a good
Verdicl:, and if I had been one of you, I fhouid

have found the fame my felf.

Afterwards he received the ufual Sentence as in

High- Treafon.

LXXXVIII. The Trial of William Atkins, at Staf-

ford Aftizes for High-Treafon, being a Romifii Prieft,

Auguft 13, 1679. 3 1 Car. II.

Cl. of Arr. f^^^f AY LO R, fet up William
Atkins to the Bar : Crier,

Make Proclamation.

the Jury were called and
Sworn.

Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen of
the Jury, Look on the Prifoner and hearken to

his Caufe. You fhall underftand that he ftands

Indicted by the Name of William Atkins, late

of'Wolverhampton in the County of Stafford, Gent,

for that he being born within the Kingdom of

England.) the Fifth Day of December; in the Thir-

tieth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord
King Charles the Second, by the Grace of God
of England, Scotland, France and Ireland King,
Defender of the Faith, &V. Then being a Se-
minary Prieft, made, profefled, and ordained by
the Authority and Jurifdiction challenged, pre-
tended, and derived from the See of Rome ; the
faid Fifth day of December in the Year aforefaid,

within this Kingdom of England, viz. at Wol-
verhampton aforefaid in the County aforefaid,

Traiteroufly did come, was, and did remain, a-

gainft the Form of the Statute in that Cafe made
and
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and provided ; and againft the Peace of our Sove-

reign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.

Upon this Indictment he hath been Arraign-

ed, and thereunto pleaded Not Guilry j and for

his Trial he hath put himfelf upon God and his

Country, which Country you are. Your Charge
is, to enquire whether he be Guilty of the High-
Treafon whereof he ftands Indicted, or Not Guil-

ty : If you find him Guilty, you are to enquire

what Lands, Goods or Tenements he had at

the time of the riigh-Treafon committed, or at

any time fince •, if you find him Not Guilty, you
are to enquire whether he did fly for the fame;

if you find he did fly for the fame, you are to

enquire what Lands, Goods or Tenements he

had at the time of fuch flight, or at any time

fince j if you find him Not Guilty, nor that he

did fly for the fame, you are to fay fo and no
more, and hear your Evidence.

ChofArr. Crier, call the Witneflesj call

William Jackfon, Francis Wilden, Jo. Jarvis, &c.
Swear Jackfun. [Which was done.}

L. C. J. Come, Friend, what can you fay con-

cerning Atkins the Prifoner being a Pried ?

Jack/on. My Lord, lean fay nothing at all, I

was there when he was apprehended, and bound
over to profecute him.

CI. of Arr. Crier, Swear Francis Wilden.

[Which was done.]

*Sir William L. C. J*. What can you fay con-
Scroggs. cerning Atkins being a Pried ?

Wilden. My Lord, I have feen him at Prayers.

L.C.J. Was he in a Surplice then?

Wilden. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Did you ever hear him fay Mafs ?

Wilden. I cannot tell.

L C. J. In what Language were his Prayers ?

Wilden. In an unknown Tongue.

L. C. J. Were they in Latin?

Wilden. I cannot tell, my Lord; I am riot a

Scholar good enough to know.

L. C J. Are you a Papift?

Wilden. I have been a Protectant fince Chriftmas.

L.C.J. 'Tis the Principle of a Proteftant to

tell downright Truth, and the Principle of a

Papift is to equivocate ; come fpeak Truth, and

your Confcience will be lighter: Did you ever

fee Atkins deliver the Sacrament in a Wafer, ac-

cording to the manner and way of the Church
of Rome.

Wilden. My Lord, I never received it of him

my felf, but I have feen him give it to others.

L. C. J. Where?
Wilden. At Mrs. Stanford's, at Wolverhampton.

L.C.J. To how many?
Wilden. To feven or eight at a time.

L. C. J. Was he in a Surplice then ?

Wilden. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. I do not know whether the Prifoner

can hear what the Witnefs faysj 'tis fit hcfhould

know. [The Prifoner being told, he reply'd, he

knew not the Witnefs. ]

CI. of Arr. Swear John Jarvis.

Crier. My Lord, he refufeth to befworn.

L. C.J. Jarvis, why will you not be fworn?

Jarvis. My Lord, I was troubled with a Vifion

the laft Night.

L C J. You miftake, Friend, old Men dream

Dreams, 'tis young Men fee V ifions, and you

are an old Man: Speak the Truth, and I'll war-

rant you, you will not be troubled with Vifions
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any more ; this is a Trick of the Priefts. Swear
him, Crier. [Which was done.]

L. C. J. Come, Jarvis, what can you fay?

Jarvis. My Lord, he is a Man that hath relie-

ved me and my Children oftentimes when I was
in want.

L. C. J. Did you ever hear him fay Mafs ?

Jarvis. My Lord, I am an ignorant Man ; I

cannot tell; I have heard him fay fomewhat in

an unknown Tongue.
L. C. J. Did you ever confefs to him ?

Jarvis. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L. C.J. Did you ever receive the Sacrament
of him according to the manner of the Church
of Rome f

Jarvis. Yes, my Lord, I havej I muft fpeak
the Truth.

L. C. J. How often ?

Jarvis. A great many times.

L. C. J. And had he not his Prieft's Habit on
when he gave it you ?

Jarvis. Yes, my Lord, he had.

CI. of Arr. Crier, call Joan Wright. \JVho was
called, but did not appear .]

Call Henry Brozvn. [Who appeared and was
/worn.]

L.C.J. Come, Mr. Brown, what canyon fay

againft the Prifoner ? Did you ever receive the

Sacrament of him, or hear him fay Mafs?
Brown. My Lord, I was almoft turned from

the Proteftant Religion to that of the Church
of Rome; but I never went further than ConfeP
fion, and that was to this Man, and then I left

them.

L. C. J. Indeed you were the wifer.

CI. of Arr. Crier, call Tho. Dudley. [Who was
fworn."]

L.C. J. What can you fay againft the Prifoner?

Dudley. I was a little given that way, and
have been at Confeffion with one Atkins, and
have feen him perform feveral Rites of the

Church of Rome, at Well-head, at Ham.
L. C. J. Do you believe this to be the Man?
Dudley. Yes, my Lord, I do.

L. C. J. Have you any more to fay ?

Dudley. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. Read the Statute. [Which was done.']

Have you' WitnefTes, Atkins, or any thing to fay

for your felf ?

Prif. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. Look you Gentlemen of the Jury,

Here is as full and as pofitive an Evidence as can

be againft the Prifoner : The two firft Witnefles,

Wilden and Jarvis, are pofitive. Wilden fwears

he heard him fay his Prayers in an unknown
Tongue ; and further fays, that he gave the Sa-

crament to feven or eight according to the man-

ner of the Church of Rome in a Wafer, at Mrs.

Stamford's Houfe in Wolverhampton. Jarvis, the

other Witnefs, fwears that he hath been at Con-
fefiion with him, and hath oftentimes received

the Sacrament of him. Here are two other ho-

neft Men, that fpeak very full as to Circum--

ftances ; fo that in the whole you cannot have a

more clear Evidence : And, Gentlemen, I muft

tell you, it is to thefe forts of Men we owe all

the Troubles and Hazards we are in, the Fear

of the King's Life, the Subverfion of our Go=
vernment, and the Lofs of our Religion. It is

notorious by what they have done, that they are

departed from the Meeknefs and Simplicity of

Ghrift's Dodrine, and would bring an a Religi-

6 H on
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on of Blood and Tyranny amongft. us. As if

God Almighty were fome Omnipotent Mifchief,

that delighted and would be ferved with the Sa-

crifices of human Blood. I need not fay more to

you, the Matter's plain j I think you need not

ilir from the Bar, but do as you will.

The Jury having confidered of the Evidence

fome Time,, gave in their Verdicl.

CI. of Arr. Gentlemen of the Jury, are you
agreed of your Verdicl: ?

Jury. Yes.

CI. of Arr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. The Foreman.

CI. of Arr. Jailor, fet up William Atkins,

XjVhich was done.~] Gentlemen of the Jury look
on the Prifoner. What fay you, Is he Guilty of
the High-Treafon whereof he ilands Indicted,

or Not Guilty?

Jury. Guilty.

CI. of Arr. What Lands, Goods or Tenements
had he?

Jury. None to our knowledge.
CI. of Arr. Look to him, Jailor, he is found

Guilty of High-Treafon.

He received the Sentence ufual in Cafes of High*
Treafon.
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LXXXIX. The Trial of Thomas Knox and John
Lane, at the Kings-Bench, for a Mifdemeanor, Nov.
25> 1679. Mich. 31 Car. II.

N Tuefday the Twenty-fifth Day of

November, 1679, at the Kings-Bench

Bar at Wejlminfier, Thomas Knox and

John Lane were tried for the Mif-

demeanor and Offence herein after

in the Indictment expreffed j which Trial was in

manner following.

Proclamation being made in ufual manner for

Information, and the Defendants called to their

Challenges, the Jury were fworn, whofe Names

follow,

Sir John Kirke,

Thomas Harriot,

Henry John[on,

Simon Middleton,

Hugh Squire

~) (John Roberts,

I I Rainsford Waterhoufe,

!
T ,\ Thomas Earsby,

f
JUr

} Jofeph Radcliffe,

James Supple,

Francis Dorrington,} l^Richard Cooper.

Who being numbred, the Clerk of the Crown

charged them with the Indictment thus

:

CI. of Cr. Gentlemen, You of the Jury that

are fworn, hearken to your Charge; you mail

underfland that the Defendants Hand Indicted

by the Oaths of Twelve honeft and lawful Men
of the County of Middlefex, by the Names of

Thomas Knox of the Parifh of St. Margaret's, Wejl-

minfier, in the County of Middlefex, Labourer, and

John Lane of the fame Parifh and County, La-

bourer, for that whereas Edward Coleman, Wil-

liam Ireland, and John Grove, and other falfe

Tractors againlt our Sovereign Lord Charlesll.

by the Grace of God, of England, Scotland,

France, and Ireland, King, Defender of the

Faith, tffc. to the Jurors aforefaid unknown,

the 14th Day of April, in the 50th Year of the

Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, at

the Parifh of St. Margaret's, Wefiminfter, in the

County of Middlefex, rraiteroufly amongft them-

felves had confpired, confulted, and agreed, to

bring and put to Death and Deftruction our faid

Sovereign Lord the King, and War againft our

faid Sovereign Lord the King within this King-
dom of England to ftir up, and the Religion in

the faid Kingdom of England, rightly and by the
Laws of the faid Kingdom eftablifhed, to the
Supeiftition of the Romifh Church to change
and alter, and the Government of the faid King-
dom of England to fubvert ; for which their (aid

moft wicked Treafons, and traiterous Conspira-
cies, Confultations, and Agreements, the faid Ed'
ward Coleman, William Ireland, and John Grove,
in due Manner, and according to the Laws of
thij Kingdom of England, were afterwards attaint-

ed, and underwent the Pain of Death for the
fame. And whereas William Earl of Powis, Wil-
liam Vifcount Stafford, John Lord Bellajis, Henry
Lord Arundel of Wardor, William Lord Pctre,

and Sir Henry Titchbourn, Bart, the 30th Day of
November, in the 30th Year of the Reignofour
faid Sovereign Lord the King aforefaid, at the
Parifh of St. Margaret's Weflminfler, aforefaid, in

the County of Middlefex aforefaid, of the Trea-
fons aforefaid were lawfully accufed, and there-

upon, according to due Form of Law, were com-
mitted to the Tower of London, being the Prifon

of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, there fafe-

ly to be kept to anfwer for the Treafons afore-

faid, whereupon they the faid William Earl of
Powis, William Vifcount Stafford, John Lord
Bellafis, Henry Lord Arundel of Wardor, and
William Lord Petre, were in Parliament im-
peached by the Commons in the fame Parliament

affembled. And whereas Thomas Earl of Danby,
afterwards to wit the faid Thirtieth Day of No-
vember, in the Thirtieth Year aforefaid, at the

Parifh aforefaid, in the County aforefiid, of cer-

tain Treafons and other Mifdemeanors u as law-
fully accufed, and thereupon, according to due
Form of Law, was committed to the faid Twer
of London, there to be fafely kept to anfwer for

the Treafons and Mifdemeanors aforefaid, of
which faid Treafons and Mifdemeanors he the

faid Thomas Earl of Danby is impeached in Par-

liament, by the Commons in the fame Parlia-

ment
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ment affembled, that they the faid Thomas Knox
and John Lane, well knowing the faid William

Earl of Powis, William Vifcount Stafford, John
Lord Bella/is, Henry Lord Arundel of Wardor,

William Lord Petre, and Thomas Earl of Danby,

to be accufed of the Treafons and Mifdemeanors

aforefaid ; and they the laid Thomas Knox and

John Lane, being devilifhly affected towards our

faid Sovereign Lord the King, their Supreme and

Natural Lord, and devifing, and with all their

Strength intending the Peace and Tranquillity of

this Kingdom of England to difturb, and to hin-

der and flifle the Difcovery of the faid Trea-

fons, by the faid William Earl of Powis, Wil-

liam Vifcount Stafford, John Lord Bella/is,

Henry Lord Arundel, and William Lord Petre, as

aforefaid, fuppofed to be committed, and, as

much as in them lay, to elude the due Courfeof

L'iw, and the Profecution of Juftice againft the

faid William Earl of Powis, William Vifcount

Stafford, William Lord Petre, John Lord Bella-

fis, Sir Henry Tichbourn, and 'Thomas Earl of Dan-

by, to retard, they the faid Thomas Knox and John

Lane, afterwards, to wit, the Thirtieth Day of

April, in the Thirty Firfl Year of the Reign of

our faid Sovereign Lord the King, at the Pariih

aforefaid, in the County aforefaid, falfly, mali-

cioufly and unlawfully did confult and agree a-

mong themfelves, Titus Oates Clerk, and William

Bedlow Gentleman, who Informations of the

Treafons aforefaid had gi^en, and whom they

the faid Thomas Knox and John Lane, the Day and

Year aforefaid, well knew to have given Infor-

mation of the Treafons aforefaid againft them,

the faid William Earl of Powis, William Vifcount

Stafford, John Lord Bella/is, Henry Lord Arun-

del, and William Lord Petre, to fcandalize, and

upon the Trial of the faid William Earl of Povjis,

William Vifcount Stafford, John Lord Bella/is,

Henry Lord Arundel, and William Lord Petre,

to reprefent them to be Perfons of evil Conver-

fation, and Witneffes not deferving Credit. And
that he the faid Thomas Knox afterwards, to wit,

the faid Thirtieth Day of April, in the Thirty

Firft Year aforefaid, at the Pariih aforefaid, in

the County aforefaid, in the Names, and with

the Confent and Agreement of the faid John

Lane, and one William Oshorn, to difgrace the

Information of the faid Titus Oates and William

Bedlow, againft them the faid William Earl of

Powis, William Vifcount Stafford, William Lord

Petre, John Lord Bella/is, and Henry Lord Arun-

del, for our faid Sovereign Lord the King, to be

given, falfly, malicioufly, fubtilly, and advifedly,

did write and caufe to be written three Letters.;

and thofe Letters, fo written, falfly, craftily, un-

lawfully, and advifedly, did direct and caufe to

be delivered to himfelf the faid Thomas Knox, by

which faid Letters falfly, craftily, and deceitful-

ly, it was declared, That they the faid John Lane

and William Osborn were greatly troubled in their

Confciences by reafon of certain things which
they well knew, and had concealed concerning

the unjuft Contrivances of the faid Titus Oates and

William Bedlow, in accufing the faid Thomas Earl

of Danby, to be guilty of the Treafons and other

Mifdemeanors aforefaid, and that the faid Titus

Oates was aPerfonof a wicked and vicious Life,

and made an Aflault upon the faid John Lane, and

with the faid John Lane to commit that detefta-

ble Sin called Sodomy before that time had en-

deavoured. And that he the faid Thomas Knox,
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the fooner and more effectually to perfuade the
faid John Lane and William Osborn falfly to ac-
cufe the faid Titus Oates and William Bedlow?
that they the faid Titus Oates and William Bedlow
unjuftly, and againft all Truth, had accufed the
faid Thomas Earl of Danby, of the Treafons and
other Mifdemeanors aforefaid, and fo to affirm

againft the Evidence of our faid Sovereign Lord
the King, upon the Trial of the faid Thomas
Earl of Danby, for the Treafons and other Mif-
demeanors aforefaid, to be had afterwards, to
wit, the laid Thirtieth Day of April, in the Thir-
ty firft Year of the Reign of our faid Sovereign
Lord the King aforefaid, at the Pariih aforefaid,

in the County aforefaid, falfly, advifedly, corrupt*
ly, and againft the Duty of his Allegiance, un-
lawfully gave to the faid John Lane and William
Osborn, divers great Sums of Money, and alfo

further falfly, advifedly, corruptly, and againft

the Duty of his Allegiance, the Day and Year
aforefaid, at the Pariih aforefaid, in the County
aforefaid, did promife unto the faid John Lane
and William Osborn^ that they the faid John Lane
and William Osborn, within a certain Time, by
the faid Thomas Knox to the faid John Lane and
William Osborn propounded, divers other great

Sums of Money, and other great Rewards there-

fore fhould have and receive, againft the Duty
of their Allegiance, to the great retarding, ob-
ftructing and fuppreffing of Juftice, in manifeft

Contempt of the Laws of this Kingdom of Eng-
land, to the evil and pernicious Example of all

others in the like Cafe offending, and againft the

Peace of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, his

Crown and Dignity. To this Indictment, the faid

Thomas Knox and John Lane, by their Attorney
,

pleaded that they are Not Guilty, nor either of
them is Guilty of the Offence aforefaid, and fur-

ther withal put themfelves upon the Country,
and the King's Attorney hkewife. And your
Charge is to enquire if they are Guilty or Noc
Guilty, &c.

CI. of Cr. Make an O Yes.

Crier. O yes! if any one will give Evidence
on the Behalf of our Sovereign Lord the King,
againft Thomas Knox and John Lane, of the Mif-

demeanors and Offence whereof they ftand In-

dicted, let them come forth and give their Evi-

dence.

Mr.Trenchard. May it pleafe your Lordihip,

and you Gentlemen of the Jury, Thomas Knox
and John Lam ftand Indicted for a great and
high Mifdemeanor, and the Indictment fets forth,

that whereas Coleman, Ireland, Pickering, and
Grove, and other falfe Traitors did confpire to

deftroy the King, and change the Religion efta-

blifhed by Law, to levy War againft our Sove-

reign Lord the King, and to introduce Popery,

and for thefe Treafons were convicted, attainted,

and executed j and further fets forth, that the

Lord Powis, Lord Arundel of Wardor, and
others, were accufed of the faid Treafons,- and

were committed to the Town, and afterwards

were impeached for the fame by the Commons
in Parliament affembled ; as alfo that Thomas Earl

of Danby was impeached of High-Treafon and
other Mifdemeanors ; that the Defendants know-
ing Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow had given Infor-

mation of thefe Treafons, to ftifle the Evidence,

and to fcandalize them, did falfly confpire to re-

prefent them as wicked Perfons, and Men of no

Credit. And the Indictment further fets forth,

6 H a chat
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that the Defendant Knox, with the Agreement

of Lane, and one Osborn, did caufc feveral Let-

ters to be writ, in which it was contrived to ac-

cufe the faid Oates and Bedlow, that they had con-

fpired falfly toaccufe the faid Earl of Danby, and

that Oates was a Perfon ofa vicious Converfaiion,

and had a Dcfign to attempt an Affault upon the

Perfon of the faid Lane, with an Intention to

commit that deteftable Sin of Sodomy ; the bet-

ter to effect which wicked Defigns, the faid Knox
gave feveral Sums of Money to Osborn and Lane.,

and had offered great Rewards unto them. To
this Indictment they have pleaded Not Guilty,

and you are to try whether they are Guilty or

Not, of this Mifdemeanor.

ffhen Sir John Maynard, the King's eldeji Ser-

jeant at Law, furJlied the Charge thus.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. May it pleafe your Lord-

ihip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury > thisCaufe

is of great Confequence ; and, my Lord, I de-

fire the Jury to obferve, that their Queftion this

Day is not to enquire whether the Lords or the

other Perfons accufed and impeached in Parlia-

ment are Gudty or Not ; but the Queftion be-

fore them, is, Whether the Perfons that Hand

here indicted, are guilty of wicked and vile En-
deavours to difcountenance and fupprefs the Evi-

dence, and fcandalize their Perfons, who were to

give Evidence againft thefe Lords $ we are not

to give Evidence againft the Lords, but againft

thele Perfons.

L.C.J. * You are right, Brother.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Gentlemen, fomething I

mull obferve to you, that is an Inducement to

this Matter: That there hath been an horrid and

abominable Confpiracy againft the King, the Na-
tion, the Religion, and the Law, appears (my
Lord) by the Proceedings in Parliament, where-

in the Lords and the Commons have feveral

times jointly declared fo, and, I think, 'tis fo

publick that no Body will doubt there is fuch

a thing j who is guilty, that is another Mat-
ter.

L. C.J. This Court muft take notice of that,

becaufe fome have been tried, convicted, and

condemned for it by this Court.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Your Lordfhip fays right.

But, my Lord, the firft Difcovery of this Con-
fpiracy came from a fingle Perfon, one that Mood
fingle anddifcouraged a long time, and that there

were Endeavours to difcourage his further Dif-

covery, that will appear. My Lord, when it

itood fo, it happen'd that Sir Edmundbury God-

frey had taken his Examination, and thefe things

will be material in the End of the Caufe. Sir

Edmundbury Godfrey having taken the Examina-
tion of Oates, then the Endeavour was to fup-

prefs this Examination that he had taken, and that

by no lefsa Wickednefs than the barbarous Mur-
der of that honeft Gentleman, whom you all

knew ; and they not only took away his Life,

but they did ftrive to baffle and defame him,

when he was dead, and that will appear too, and

is publick and known. My Lord, all this while

itood Oates fingle; it fell out by the Mercy of
God, that a further Difcovery was made by
Bedlow, he was examined, and it is publickly

known, and publick Juftice hath gone upon
it.

The next Attempt was to corrupt the Tefti-

mony of Bedlow with Bribes and Rewards, and
by other Ways } and the Perfon that transacted

it, Reading, is attainted of it, Scelere tutandumeft
jcelus, when Men have invented and den>ned
any great Wickednefs, they are forced to enter

upon others to cover and conceal the former.
My Lord, it proceeded now, and comes to that

which will be the Queftion this Day. Having
gone all thefe ways, now they return again, to

fee if they can difgrace and baffle the Evidence
Oates and Bedlowh&d given, and the way to that

is by difparaging and fcandalizing them with foul

Offences, efpecially Dr. Oates -, and that was
thus, (as we fhall prove to your Lordfhip) Lane
had been a Servant with Oates, and the other

was one of the like Condition, and he was tam-
pered with to accufe Dr. Oates of that horrid Sin

of Sodomy, and I think if he were fuch an one,

little Credit were to be given to fuch a Man.
This was the Defign they were to accomplifh.
And we mall prove to you, in order to it, there

were Letters (written and contrived by Knox in-

deed) written by Osborn who is not now before

you, but a Contrivance of them all. And, my
Lord, there muft be a Pretence •, for in truth,
thefe Perfons had been examined, and had char-

ged him with this Offence, but upon further

Examination they had renounced their Disco-
very.

L. C. J. Had they all given Evidence ? Or
who did?

Mr. Serj. Maynard. No, my Lord, pardon me,
I am not fpeaking of their Evidence, but only
of their Examination before the Lords.

L. C. J. What was it that was there wit-
neffed ?

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Then they pretended this

Matter, That they were touch'd in Confcience,
and now they repent, and muft difcover the

Truth for the Truth's fake, that them (elves were
falfc in making of the Charge, and this, my
Lord, muft be furthered with Bribes and Re-
wards, as we fhall prove to you. We mail make
out the Particulars by Witneffes, and then we
think we may leave it to your Lordfhip and the

Jury to determine. In truth, my Lord, it hap-
pens in this Cafe as it did long ago, when the

firft Difcovery was of a like Defign, and as is

told by the Hiftorian; Multi ob flultitiam nonpu-
tabant, multi ob Ignorantiam non videbant, multi ob

pravitatem non credebant, £s? non credendo conjura-

tionem adjuvabant.

Mr. Att. General, "j" May it pleafe your Lord-
fhip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury : I am of
Counfel for the King in this Caufe, whofe Suit

it is. The Evidence hath been opened fully by
Mr. Serjeant. I fhall only fay this, that this is

a Counter-part of Mr. Reading's Cafe, only it

feems in this to differ, that the Counter-part ex-
ceeds the Original ; for, I think, that it is of a

further Extent than his was. It hath been told

you by Mr. Serjeant, and, I know, the Court
will tell you, that it matters not whether thofe

Perfons that are accufed of the Plot, and impeach-
ed for it, were Guilty or Not, it is fufficient that

they are accufed, and that by thefe Perfons. For
any body to endeavour to fupprefs and withdraw
the King's Evidence, or to difgrace the King's
Evidence, that is not lawful, be the Crime what
it vvillj but it is a much greater Crime in a Cafe

* Sir William Scroggs. f Sir Crefwell Levinz.

Of
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of this Nature of High-Treafon, wheretheLife

of the King, the Government of the Kingdom,
the Religion, and the* true Worfhip of God e-

itabliihed in it, and the Laws of the Nation are

in danger : Some of thefePerfons -are guilty, for

Mr. Coleman, and feveral others, have been found

Guilty, and have been executed for it.

The Defign in this Cafe that lies before you,

Gentlemen, to try, was to throw a Difparage-

ment upon the Teftimony of thofe Perfons by

whofe Evidence thofe Traitors were principally

attainted and executed. This is, Gentlemen, to

affront the Juflice of the Nation, and indeed to

call a Difparagement upon it} and that fureis as

great an Offence as czn bej the Matter of the

Evidence hath been open'd to you, I fhall only

acquaint your Lordfhip and the Jury, that it hath

beendefign'd a great while, and fo long deiign'd,

that one of the Perfons here accufed, Mr. Lane,

one of Oates's Servants, had the Opportunity to

get into his Matter's Secrets, thereby the more
effectually to betray him, and, as it will appear

by Witnefles, did carry on the Defign till it was

difcovered, and by that Difcovery prevented, as

to any Succefs.

Mr. Recorder j . Your Lordfhip is pleafed to

obferve in the Indictment that is now to be tried,

there are but two Perfons that ftand Indicted,

that is, Lane and Knox. I prefume the Gentle-

men that are on the other fide for each of the

Prifoners (for I perceive thofe that are for the

one, are not for the other) may expect that there

fhould be Proof made of what is laid as Induce-

ment in the Indictment, and will not tend im-

mediately to that which will be the Queftion in

this Cafe : for there is recited in the Indictment

the Conviction of Coleman in this Place, and 0=

thers in other Places, for the High-Treafon the

Evidence whereof thefe Perfons are Indicted for

fcandalizing, we have here the Records ready to

prove it.

L. C.J. Ifuppofe they will admit that.

Mr. Recorder. If they will not, we have that

which will prove it.

Mr. ffiiihins. My Lord, we fhall not (land up-

on that.

Mr. Sollicitor General #
. We are ready, if you

do.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. And you will admit that

Doctor Oates and Mr. Bedlsw were Witncffes

upon thofe Trials ?

Mr. IVithins. Yes, and gave Evidence very

confiderable.

Mr. Recorder. Then my Lord, we muff hint

to you, that Lane, who is one of the Perfons ta-

ken notice of in the Indictment, was a Servant

to Dr. Oates ; Knox was not in his Service, but
Knox is a Man that made ufe of Lane as a Han-
dle to the*Matter he had defign'd; therefore Let-

ters are prepared, but by whom? That we fhali

give you an Account of was by the Direction

of Knox, tho' the Letters that will be produe'd,

are directed to Knox himfelf.

L. C J. Your Indictment fays fo.

Mr. Recorder. But we fhall give you an Ac-
count, that he was Director of thofe Letters

himfelf j but as your Lordfhip may obferve, there

arc not only Letters, but fome Accufations or

Informations. We (hall prove to your Lordfhip

whofe Hand-writing they were, and who dicta-

ted thofe Informations : For I think that Mr. Knox

f Sir George Jtfferies.

97?
is pretended to have the mofc Brains 3 and I be-

lieve Mr. Knox, in the Confequencc, will appear
to have the molt Malice. And we fhall prove
in the next Place, that inafmuch as it would be
natural in the courfe of Juflice to a^k whether
thefePerfons fhould not have Money for the Re-
ward of fuch a Bufinefs j we fhall prove that there

were Treaties with Mr. Lane, and one Mr. Os-
born who is not Indicted, (but was like wife a

Servant to Dr. Oates, and had thereby an Op-
portunity of deceiving him) that they had Meet-
ings } how Guineas have been cunningly dropt
down, which was to prevent, as I was acquaint-

ing your Lordfhip, any fuch Queftion that ihould
be ask'd, what Monies and Rewards they were
to have for this great Difcovery of any Wicked-
nefs that Mr. Oates fhould be guilty of. Mr. Knox,
he prepares them in this manner. At every Meet-
ing, when they were difcourfing and purfuing
this Bufinefs, then by fome unlucky Accident or

other, Mr. Knox he is to drop a Guinea or two,
according as Mr. Lane and the other Perfon had
occafion, oraDefire to have it 5 but none were
to be given, but as by Accident, as if Knox hold-

ing his Guineas in his Hand, or in fome other
accidental way, fhould drop them j and then Os-
bom and Lane were to pick them up in a kind
of a Jefl only, as if Knox had accidentally let

them fall, and they had as accidentally taken them
up. How this came to be difcover'd, we mull
give you an Account. Matters being thus pre-
paid by the Infligation of Knox, and tranfacted

io far by Lane and Qsborn, they thought it then
fit to put their Defign in Execution. Accordingly
their Informations are produced before a Jufhce
of Peice, who finding the Matters were impro-
bable, (f"r I think they had fome Scrutiny be-
fore the Juflice of Peace, and before the Lords
Committees of the Lords Houfe) one of them,
Gentlemen, tho' now he is pleafed to fay he is

Not Guilty, yet at that Time had a little more
Ingenuity, and did confefs the whole Matter,
and how he was drawn in, and how far he was
concern'd, and how Mr. Knox had directed him,
and the Money and Rewards he had received,

and that befides, divers other Sums of Money
had been promifed, and great Rewards offered in

cafe this Defign had taken effect. Wc fhall call

our Witnefles before your Lordfhip, and give in

Evidence the Informations that they had inten-

ded to offer ; and if we fhall prove the Matters
that have been open'd to you, I believe the

Confequence of this Cafe will appear as much to

concern the Government, as any that hath come
to this Bar.

Sir Fr. Winnington. My Lord, if your Lord-
fhip pleafe, we fhall now go to prove our Cafe ;

the Queftion was ask'd whether they would ad-

mit the feveral Attainders of thofe Perfons that

have been Executed for this Plot. I now ask

them, whether they will admit the feveral Im-
peachments that are alfo mentioned in the Indict-

ment, both of the five Lords in the Tower, and

alfo of the Lord Danby.

Mr. Witbins and Mr. Scroggs. Yes we do.

Mr. Juft. Pemlerton. All that they will allow.

Mr. Recorder. Then we begin with Mr. Rad°

ford. \JVbo was fworn7\

Mr. Att. Gen. What is your Name, Sir?

Radford. Robert Radford.

* Sir Francis Winnington.

Me* Att. Geu.
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Mr An. Gen. Come on, Mr. Radford, tell my
Lord and the Jury what you know concerning

this Bufinefs, about Lane and Knox.

Radford. Sir, if it pleafe your Honour, R. Lane,

Father of John Lane, was a Yeoman of the Guard

extraordinary, and I am one of his Majefty's

Yeomen of the Guard. As he was in waiting,

he was telling me a Story

L. C J. Richard was ?

Radford. Yes, Richard the Father was telling

me that Dr. Oates did attempt his Son many times

to do fuch and fuch things to him, that was in

the way of Buggery ; faid I, Richard, I am a-

fhamed of you,' that you fhould cherifh your Son

in fuch things as thefe are > fo I went away in

Anger, and told him, That if he were my Son,

I would correct him feverely for it ; and laid no

more, knowing him to be a lying Fellow •, and

all the whole Guard know him to be a lying

Fellow, and that there is no Truth in him.

L.C.J. All who?
Radford. All the Guard > and that is all I can

fay.

Mr. Jufl. Jones. When was this ?

Radford. Above a Twelvemonth ago. And I

knew that he was a lying Man, and I durft not

fpeak of it, becaufe I knew he was fo,- and was

Afraid he would have put it upon me.

L. C. J. What,- he told you that his Son told

him fo ?

Radford. No, he told me only that his Son was

weary of Dr. Oates's Service •, and I told him that

he was come away once before, and why did

he go again ? He faid his Son could not be

quiet.

L. C.J. Did he fay his Son told him? The
Queftion is plain : Did he fpeak it of himfelf,

and not that his Son told him ?
,

Radford. He faid only, that he had attempted

his Son.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we will call Thomas

Allen. {Who was Jwom.~]

L. C. J. What is this Man's Name ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Allen, my Lord. What da
you know of any Application to bring this Lane

into Oates's Service? Tell your whole Knowledge
of the Matter..

Allen. My Lord, about the Month of De-

cember laft, when he was gone out of Dr. Oates"*

Service •

L. C. J. Who was gone out of Dr. Oatts's Ser-

vice ?

Allen. Lane -, he defired me to intercede for him

again and again, and accordingly he was admit-

ted into his Service again.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you hear any Difcourfe be-

fore this, of any Attempt upon him?
Allen. How Attempt ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you ever hear of any Com-
plaints made by Lane againft Dr. Oates ?

L. C. J. Did you ever hear Lane complain that

his Mailer would be uncivil with him ?

Allen. No, I remember nothing of that.

Mr. Recorder. Now, if your Lordfhip pleafe,

we fhill give your Lordfhip an Account, that

when he was admitted again, he bragg'd he fhoukl

get a great Sum of Money ; and for that we call

Mr. Samuel Oates. {Who was pworn.~]

L. C. J. Are you Brother to Mr. Oates ?

Mr. S. Oates. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Att. Gen. What do you know of any Sum
that this Mr. Lane did pretend to get, and on

what Account ?

Mr. S. Oates. My Lord, about a matter of a
Fortnight before he went away from my Bro-
ther, 1 was in the Withdrawing Room-

L. C. J. How long is it ago fince he went a-
way ?

Mr. S. Oates. It was in April laft, as near as L
can remember.

L. C. J. Well, go on, Sir.

Mr. S. Oates. So there werefeveral Servants is

the Room, and they were talking and laughing
together} and he was wifhing, faid he, I vvifh I

had a Thoufand Pounds} faid fome of them to

him, What would you do with it? Said he, I

would take it and fling it upon the Ground, and
tumble in it 5 fays one of them, You may with
long enough before you have it j I queftion not,

fays he, but ere long to find a way to get a Thou-
fand Pounds.

Mr. Recorder. Do you hear him, Gentlemen ?

This was a Fortnight before he went away.
Mr. S. Oates. I can only fpeak as to Osborny

as to the Thing it felf.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you ever hear him fay
which way he did intend to get this Thoufand
Pounds ?

Mr. S. Oates. No, I do not remember that %

but upon thefe fcandalous things coming out, I
was confidcring what he had (aid, and how he
behaved himfelf in his Service, and upon Recol-
lection, I did think of this Saying of his.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Ay, he recollected it af-

terwards.

Mr. Williams. Speak thofe Words over again,
as near as you can remember.

Then Mr. S. Oates repeated his Evidence to the

fame Effect.

Sir Fr. Winnington. What is that of Osbom that
you can fay ?

L. C. J. What does that fignify to thefe De-
fendants ?

Sir Fr. Winnington. Although he is not a Party
that does defend this Matter $ yet it is all one
entire Aft that they three were in Combination
to corrupt the King's Evidence, and to ftifleit^

and tho' fo far as it does relate to Osbom, it will

not convict him being abfentj yet it will en-

lighten the King's Evidence about the Confpi-
racy, for he is mentioned in the Indictment.

L. C. J. Well, if you think it material, you
may ask what Queftions you will about it.

Mr. S. Oates. I was asking Osbom, a little af-

ter he was let out of the Gate^Houfe, how he
came to repent himfelf

L. C. J. Who had repented himfelf?

Mr. S. Oates. Osbom.

L. C. J. Had Osbom repented himfelf, of
what ?

Mr. S. Oates. Of what he had given an Ac-
count of before the Committee.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Do you know any thing

of that ?

Mr. S. Oates. I know nothing but what they

did fay upon their Examination.

L. C. J. Were you by and prefent at their

Examination ?

Mr. S. Oates. I heard nothing but what they
faid for themfelves j I was at fome part of their

Examination.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. 'What did Knox and Lane
fay?

Mr. S. Oates. Osbom was a faying, That as

we walked, faid he, in the Cloifters of the

Abbey,

N
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Abbey, where he did dictate what we were to

do.

L. C. J. This is no Evidence. Shall what

Oiborn lays atone time, and apart from the reft,

be any Evidence here !

Mr. Recorder. No, my Lord, we offer it only

as an Evidence of the general Confpiracy.

L. C. J. Osbom is a telling how Knox and

Lane and he did confpire and contrive this Bufi-

nefs j is this Evidence againft thefe Defendants?

I ask my Brother Maynard.

Mr. Serj. Maynard My Lord, if this were fin-

ale clearly, it were no Evidence ; but if it fall

Sue in the Evidence, that we (hall prove Osbom,

Knox and Lane were all in the Confpiracy, tho*

it is not direct Evidence to Convict the other,

yet it will enlighten that Evidence we give a-

gainft them.

L. C. J. Why did you not make Osbom a

Party ?

Mr. Serj. Maynard. He is laid in the Indict-

ment to join with them, but he is run away.

Mr Juft. Pcmberton My Brother intends it

thus, that the Bufinefs is fo interwoven between

them all, that to make it be underftood, it is

neceffary to bring in fomething about Osborn.^

Mr. Sanders. 1 pray they may bring fomething

againft them firlt.

L. C. J. Ay, the Counfel fay very well on the

other fide; firft prove fome Fact againft Knox

and Law, and then prove what you will after-

wards.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. It is an Inducement to it :

But I befecch y. u, in all Cafes that are Capital,

are not the King's Counfel at liberty to prove

Ci*cumftances as well as the Subftance ?

L. C. J. The Court will dired it is no Evi-

dence agai ;ft the now Defendants, unlefs you

prove the Fad: upon them.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Unlefs we do bring it

down to Knox and Lane afterwards, that they

were guilty, it will not be any Evidence, I know.

Mr. Holt. If it be not Evidence, we conceive,

with fub million to your Lordfhip, it ought not

to be heard.

L. C. J. Prove fomething firft, Brother, a-

gainli the Defendants, and then urge this.

Mr. Recorder. They need not labour it on the

other fide. We agree it is no Evidence againft

the Defendants, but only circumftantial as of the

general Confpiracy.

L. C. J. But pray how can it be circumftan-

tial Evidence, and yet no Evidence? Prove the

Confpiracy, or it fi?nifies nothing.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. If it be circumftantial to

make good the Evidence of the Fact, it will be

material for us to urge it.

L. C. J But firft prove the Faft.

Mr. Recorder. We fhall now prove, if your

Lordfhip plea-fe, that Knox, who is one of the

Perfons indicted, hath made his Applications to

others that had relation to Dr. Oates, to endea-

vour to perfuade them to pick out fomething or

other againft Dr. Oates. Call Thurfton and Ray.

Mr. Ser}. Maynard. My Lord, we fhall firft go

to the Subftance of the Evidence, and then the

circumftantial things will be material, which be-

fore were not material.

L C. J. Now you go right, Brother.

Mr. Serj, Maynard. We fhall go this way, to

{hew that Lane and Osbom did accufe Dr. Oates ;

and after they had accufed him, they were con-

victed in their own Confciences, and did con-
fefs they had falfly accufed him, and afterward
did repent of that Repentance j and that Knox
had an Hand in all this.

L. C. J. I think you have not opened that

clear enough ; before whom was that Accufa-
tion?

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Before the Lords, and be-
fore Sir William Waller.

Mr. Recorder. For they were in the Gatebonfe,
and there they fent for Sir W. Waller to come to
them, and there did confefs the matter to him 5

whom we defire may be fworn.
[Which was done accordingly .]

_
Sir W. Waller. My Lord, upon the Twenty

ninth of April, during the Sefiions of Parliament,
there was a Committee of Lords appointed for

the taking Inftructions about this Plot : Being
there attending upon the Lords, this Complaint
of Mr. Oates was brought before them, of the
horrid Abufe of two of his Servants. And the
Lords were pleafed to order Mr. Warcupzwd my
felf to take their Examinations.

L. C. J. What two Sqrvants were they ?

Sir W. Waller. They did belong to Dr. Oates.

L. C. J. What were their Names ?

Sir W. Waller. Osbom and Lane

.

L. C. J. What found you upon their Exami-
nation ?

Sir W. Waller. Upon the Examination of Os-
bom and Line, I did find they did agree toge-
ther to a Tittle.

L. C. J. Then tell us Lane's Evidence firft.

If they agreed in a Tittle, tell it us what ic

was.

Sir W. Waller. My Lord, Mr, Lane did con-
fefs this.

L. C. y. What, upon his Oath?
Sir W. Waller. Yes, upon his Oath, my Lord.
L. C. J. To you ?

Sir W.Waller. Yes, my Lord, that he had been
induced by Mr. Knox to betray his Mafter, and
for to fwear feveral things againft him which
Knox had drawn up and dictated to him. He
did not write them himfelf, but Osbom writ
them, and he did fign them. There were four

Letters that were brought before us ; there were
three or four Memorials, as they called them,
three or four Informations, which were thofe

Papers that they carried to Mr. CheyneytoChelfey.

L. C. y. Who carried them ?

Sir W. Waller. Knox took Osbom and Lane
with him, and carried them thither, as Lane (wore.

And when they came thither, and he was ac-

quainted with the Bufinefs, he looked upon it

as fo foul and notorious a thing, that he would
not meddle with it ; but he advifed them that

they fhould go (becaufe Knox pretended the

Lord of Danby was much concerned in it) to

fome other Juftice of Peace, or fome of the

Privy-Council that were Friends of my Lord of

Danby.

L. C. y. Knox advifed this, did he ?

Sir W. Waller. No, they faid Mr. Cheyney did.

They went afterwards (and they did all confefs

it) to Mr. Dewy, and Mr. Dewy gave them the

fame Anfwer, that he could not meddle with it.

And after this, Mr. Knox went and took feveral

Lodgings for them, fearing that Dr. Oates would
hunt after them} and one Lodging, amongft o-

thers, was, I think, the Three Flower-de-luces in

White-Friers. And afterwards they removed to
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a place in the paved Alley betwixt Lincolns-Inn

Fields and Chancery-Lane. During which time,

Knox did bid them Hand firm to what they were

to do, and they fhould not want for a confide-

rable Reward, and have wherewithal to main-

tain them with their Footmen, and live very

well. And, my Lord, Lane did confefs this, that he

brought Mr. Osborn to Knox firft intorhe Painted

Chamber, and made them acquainted there. And,
my Lord, there is one thing that I omitted -,

Mr. Lane did confefs to me, that Mr. Knox did,

at the One Tun Tavern I think it was, drop a

Guinea upon the Table, and faid, I will not

give it you, becaufe now 1 can fafely fwear that

I never gave you any Money ; but be fure you
ftand faft to thefe Informations, and to what I

have dictated to you, and you may be fure you

fhall be well rewarded for your pains. And he

told them this more, My Lord-Treafurer would

never have furrendred himfelf to the Black-Rod,

unlefs you had promifed to fiand faft to this Evi-

dence ; that was, to fwear to what Evidence he

had dictated to them.

L. C. J. Did Lane produce the Informations,

and thofe things that Knox tempted him to

fwear ?

Sir W. Waller. My Lord, they were produced

before us.

L. C. J. What were they ? What was the Sub-

fiance of them?
Sir W. Waller. One part was to fwear that

Mr. Bedlow fhould come to Mr. Oates, and fay

to him, That my Lord of Danby fhould offer

him a confiderable Sum of Money to go beyond

Sea.

L. C. y. To whom ?

Sir W. Waller. To Bedlow. And that was only

confiderable as relating to Mr. Bedlow in any part

of the Examination: But as to Mr. Oates, they

were to accufe him of having a defign of abufing

his Body j for he fent to me
L.C.y. Who did ?

Sir W. Waller. Lane fent twice. Upon his firft

Examination he did feem to be very fhy ; but
upon the fecond, he fent one Rix to me, one of
the Yeomen of the Guard, to let me know, that

he was troubled in his Confcience at what he

had unjuftly done in charging Mr. Oates, and
that he was defirous to difcharge his Confcience
of the burden that lay on it, and to wave his

own Reputation, that he might acquit the In-

nocent.

L. C. y. Why, where was the Villany done
that he repented of?

Sir W.Waller. My Lord, it was in reference

to his fwearing againft Dr. Oates.

L. C.y. Where, before the Lords?
SirW. Waller. He was brought that very

morning before the Lords j but notice being

come that the King was come in, and the Houie
was fitting, he was remanded, and afterwards

fent Rix to me, to tell me, he was fenfible of
the Injury he had done to Dr. Oates, and would
make a Confeflion of all.

L. C. y. Where had he done him Injury?

Sir W. Waller. In reference to thofe Abufes
that he had offered to fwear, and I think had
fworn, but before whom I don't know j I fup-

pofe you will have an Account of that by and

by.

L. C.y. So then this is the Subftanceof what
you fay as to Mr. Oates : That Lane fent to you,

and fhewed you feveral Papers and Informations

againft the Credit of Oates and Bedlow, and

told you that Knox did tempt him to juftify

this, and fwear it} and that he went with them
to a Ju ft ice of Peace in order to do it, but he
did not care to meddle with it, and bid them
apply themfelves eifewhere, and afterwards they

came to youj and whether it was fworn or no,

you cannot tell, but you fay he did confefs he
had wrong'd Mr. Oates in thofe Scandals that he

would have put upon him ; and that this was by
Knox's Advice and Direction.

Sir W. Waller. But there is this thing further:

He faid truly that Mr. Oates would be fomething

hafty and paffionate, but that he was very reli-

gious, and was very conftant in fending his Ser-

vants to Prayers } and that what he had accufed

him of, it was an abominable Falfhood, and was
done by the Inftigation of Knox, who had en-

couraged him to it by the Promifes of a great

Reward.

Mr.Juft. Pemberton. And it was he that told

you of the dropping of the Guinea, was it not ?

Sir W.Waller. My Lord, he did confefs that

himfelf, but he faid he lent it.

Sir P. Winnington. Pray did Lane confefs to

you from whom this Money and Reward was to

be had? For he was not a Perfon that was likely

to beftow fo much Money of his own. Was it

from any of the Confpirators ? Or from whom,
that the Rewards, and this Money fhould come,
upon your Oath ?

Sir W. Waller. I have examined them many
times as to that, but could never learn any thing.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Sir W.Waller, was Knox
ever before you ?

Sir W. Waller. Yes, my Lord, I took his Exa-
mination, and it was only to excufe himfelf,

that he received the Lettes from them, which
they faid they writ out of trouble of Confcience,
and would have him to take their Examinations
and to go along with them before a Juftice of
Peace.

L. C. y. That was Knox's Defence ? Said he,

they came to me, and I d:d not go to them, but
they defired me to go along with them to a Ju-
ftice of Peace.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Did you let him know
what they had faid to you ?

Sir W.Waller. No, my Lord, I kept that

private: But there is one thing very material.

That Morning we took Knox's Examination, we
were fo long about it, that we could not dif-

patch it in the Forenoon, and therefore ordered

Lane to be brought before us in the Afternoon 3

and then did Knox write a Note, and fent it up
by a Woman that was a Nurfe there in the Pri-

fon, and there was a Paper convey'd thro' the

Door to him to this purpofe, We paid our—
L. C. y. Who writ that Note ?

Sir W. Waller. Knox did, and confeffed it to

me.
L. C. y. To whom was it convey'd ?

Sir W. Waller. To Mr. Osborn from Knox;
and it was, We always paid our Club- »

Mr. Sanders. How do you know it was from
Knox ?

Sir W. Waller. He confeffed it.

Mr. Sanders. Did he fhew it you ?

Sir W. Waller. No, I did not fee the Note,
but he confeffed it.

Mr.
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Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Pray Mr. Sanders don't

interrupt them, they arc in their Evidence.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. They mull do that, for

that is the beft part of their Defence, for ought I

know.
Sir W. Waller. The Words, my Lord, were

thefe, We always cluVd, and you paid two Shil-

lings at the Sugar-loaf. Tear this.

L. C. J. Why, what could this be ?

Sir W. Waller.Why, I will tell you, my Lord,

it was upon this Account, that he mould not gain-

fay what he had confefied and agreed to, that fo

they might not be in two Stories.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. My Lord, Osborne and

Lane had formerly accufed, and given fome In-

formations againft Dr. Oates ; afterwards you fee

what happened before Sir W. Waller^ they re-

nounce what they had done, and then, my Lord,

was Knox imprifoned, and thereupon he writes

this Note, We always club'd together, and you

faid two Shillings at fuch a Place : The Circum-

flances will come out by and by. They met at

feveral Places, and we fhall prove that Knox bore

their Charges, and paid for them, though by this

Note he would make it, that they bore their own
Charges.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. The fucceeding Evidence

will open it.

Sir W. Waller. My Lord, here is one thing

more that I had forgot : Lane did confefs, that

for the preventing of any Difcovery of this hor-

rid Fact, it was agreed amongft them, that if any

one mould make a Difcovery of it, the other two

mould murder him.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We defire that the Jury may
obferve that.

Sir W. Waller. He did likewife declare, that

the Lords in the Tower would not be wanting to

acknowledge the Kindnefs in difparaging the

King's Evidence.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. That was Lane and Os-

borne did confefs that ?

Sir W. Waller. Yes, both Lane and Osborne

fwore it poficively.

Sir Fr. Winnington. Ifyou have done as to Lane,

pray acquaint my Lord and the Jury what you
know of the Confeffion of Knox upon his Exami-
nation.

Sir W. Waller. Knox confeffed not any thing,

but flood fliff to it, that the Papers and Letters

were written by them, and contrived by them.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And that what he did was

at their Requeft ?

Sir W. Waller. Yes, but the rell did both con-

fefs, that what was done was wholly by the Con-
trivance of Knox.

L. C. J. Did you ask Knox if he had dropp'd

a Guinea ?

Sir W. Waller. My Lord, he confefs'd he had

dropp'd a Guinea, but it was only to lend them,

and they promifed to repay him ; and that one

morning he dropp'd ten Shillings upon the Bed,

and they took ic up.

L. C. J. Knox faid he only lent it ?

Sir W. Waller. Yes, but they pofitively fwore

both the one and the other.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What faid Knox to that ?

Sir W. Waller. He lent them only.

L. C. J. Well, go on, Sir.

Sir W. Waller. And Lane did pofitively con-

fefs, that at all the Places, and the feveral Lodg-

ings, and the Treats and Entertainments they
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had been at, they were all at Knox's Charge, ex-

cept twice, which might amount to about eighteen

Pence, and that he paid.

L. C. J. What faid Knox to it ?

Sir W. Waller. He deny'd all.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. As to the manner of it,

what faid Knox to the dropping of it ?

Sir W. Waller. He confefs'd he dropp'd it, but

only lent it them.

Sir Fr. Winnington. You fay Lane was a Ser-

vant to Dr. Oates, pray whofe Servant was
Knox ?

Sir W. Waller. He did belong to my Lord
Dunblane. And moreover, Mr. Knox did confefs

to me, that the Papers fo drawn up and deliver'd

into his Hands, had been in the Cuftody of my
Lord Latimer for a long time.

Sir Fr. Winnington. Did he fo, I hope the Jury
will believe him then.

L. C. J. Sir W. Waller does fwear, that Knox
confeffed that all thofe Scandals railed againft

Dr. Oates, had been by his Hands deliver'd into

the Hands of my Lord Latimer, and were there

for fome time.

Sir W. Waller. Yes, my Lord.

Sir Fr. Winnington. I did not well hear you,

Sir, one thing you were faying in the beginning

of your Evidence, that thefe Gentlemen fpoke of

my Lord of Danby's not furrendring himfclf, pray

let us hear that over again.

Sir W. Waller. Mr. Lane faid this, that my
Lord of'Ddnby would not have furrendred himfclf

to the Black-Rod, but that he did depend upon
their Handing to what Informations they had given

in.

L. C. J. Upon your Oath Lane did fay this ?

Sir W. Waller. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. My Lord, now we will

call another Jullice of Peace, that took their

Examinations, and we fhaLl then particularly

apply ourfelves to Mr. Knox, that feems to make
thefe Excufes for himfeJf. Call Mr. Juftice War-
cup. [Who was fwcm.~\

Mr. Warcup. I mull beg the Favour of the

Court, becaufe my Memory is bad, that I may
refer to the Informations that were taken before

me.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You may look upon them
for the Refrefhment of your Memory.
Mr. Warcup. I anfwer to every Part of this that

hath my Hand to it, I delire it may be read.

Mr. Recorder. No, that can't be, you muft not

read them, but only refrelh your Memory by
them.

Mr. Warcup. This John Lane did confefs he

liv'd with Dr. Oates, and about the Seventh of

April he left him, and while he liv'd with him, he

faid, he fent his Servants daily to Prayer in the

morning to the Chapel, and left but one at home
to drefs him, and whilft he was with Dr. Oates,

he was never charged by his Mailer with the

opening of any Letters, and that the Informati-

ons marked i, 2, 3, 4 and 5

Mr. Williams. Pray, Sir, acquaint the Court as

far as you can by your Memory.
Mr. Warcup. Lane, my Lord, before me de-

nied all that he had faid, that is, that what he had

faid before the Lords was true, but that particular

Examination before Sir W. Waller was by him
alone.

Sir Fr. Winnington. Was he upon Oath before

you ?

6 I Mr:
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Mr. Warcup. Yes, I find he was.

L. C. J. Did you examine him after Sir Wil-

liam Waller, or before ?

Mr. Warcup. To the beft of my Remembrance

it was before.

Mr. Juft. Jones. He was upon his Oath there

too ?

Mr. Warcup. Yes, and I mud acquaint you I

find it at the bottom to be (Jurat.) He was

brought before the Lords of the Committee for

Examinations, and did there likewife at firft fwear

the things in thefe Notes contained, and did after-

wards come to the faid Committee, and beg their

Pardon, and God's Pardon for what he had (worn,

for it was falfe.

L. C. J. Who did?

Mr. Warcup. Lane did.

L. C. J. Did you hear him ?

Mr. Warcup. Yes.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Was he upon his Oath the

laft time, when he faid this to the Committee ?

Sir W. Waller. Yes, my Lord, I was by too,

I heard him.

L. C. J. So he fwears backwards and for-

wards.

Sir Fr. Winningtcn. Such People us'd to do fo.

Mr. Warcup. That particular of the Note, that

Mr. Knox fent up by the Nurfe, I was by and did

hear him confefs it.

Sir W. Waller. But he did declare there to the

Committee, that it was his Voluntary Repen-

tance, and that he was exceeding fenfible of the

Abufes he had offered to Dr. Oates, in this De-

fign of accufing him in fuch a manner.

Mr. Juft. Jones. What, before the Lords ?

Sir W. Waller. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Warcup. Mr. Knox did fay he fent fuch a

Note up to Osborne, and the Words were, as I

remember, We always club'd, and you paid two

Shillings at the Sugar- Loaf, Tear this.

L. C. J. Look you, the ufe I fee that would

be made of this, is, that Knox in a fecret way
mould give Intimation to this Osborne, that he

ihould not own that he had been treated by him,

or any Money fpent upon him, and this Note is

the cunning way of infinuating that Matter, as I

underftand it.

Mr. Warcup. I fhall humbly acquaint your

Lordfhip with one thing further •, Knox did con-

fefs that he had lain with thefe People in feveral

private Places, for there were Warrants out for

the apprehending them, upon the Information

given by Dr. Oates of this Contrivance, that he

had lain with them at White-Friers, and Charing-

Crofs, and at other Places.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. That he had obfcured

them when they were in danger.

Mr. Warcup. That he had lain with them at

that time.

Sir Fr. Winnington. Pray, upon your Oath,

when he had told you he had lain with them in

any private Lodging
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Did he fay he had ad-

vifed them where to lie ?

Mr. Warcup. He faid he had been with them,
and advifed them where to lie.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Did he fay he had taken

Lodgings for them ?

Mr. Warcup. Yes, he did.

Sir Fr. Winnington. Your Queftion, Sir, hath

prevented mine ; but I would ask him a Queftion

further. Did he confefs to you he pajd for thofe

Lodgings ?

Mr. Warcup. Truly, my Lord, unlefs I read
the Information, I cannot tell.

Sir W. Waller. My Lord, I perfectly remem-
ber this, That Knox did confefs he had paid for

their Lodgings, but they were to pay him again ;

but both Osborne and Lane did pofitively fwear
he did pay for all, and feveral times at feveral

Taverns where he treated them, he bid them
call for what they would, and they Ihould have
it.

Mr. Sol. Gen. What do you know of being at

the Sugar-Loaf at any time ?

Mr. Warcup. I tell you what I find here he
confefs'd, that they complaining they knew not
where conveniently to lodge, this Examinant
told them he would endeavour to find them a
Lodging, and the very felf-fame Day, he went
by the Direction of one of my Lord Dunblane's,

Servants, a Coachman, to the Sugar-Loaf in

White-Friers, and took Lodgings as for himfelf

and two of his Friends, and lay there with them
to the time of his going from the fame Lodging,
which was five or fix Days.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And he did it by the

Direction of my Lord Dunblane's Coachman?
Mr. Warcup. Yes, my Lord, it is fo in the In-

formation.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Is that Information true ?

Mr. Warcup. Yes, my Lord, I am fure he
faid it, or I mould not have writ it down.

L. C. J. Mr. Warcup, Had Lane recanted

what he had faid againft Mr. Oates at that time

when the Lodgings were taken ?

Mr. Warcup. My Lord, it was before they came
to the Lords that they took thefe Lodgings.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Ay, that's clear, it was

before all came out.

Mr. Warcup. I was commanded by the Houfe
of Peers to give my Warrant for the apprehend-
ing of them.

L. C. J. The Lords fent to apprehend them
upon the Slander of Mr. Oates, and then he con-

cealed them.

Mr. Recorder. My Lord, Sir W. Waller fpeaks

of one Rix that was fent by Lane to him to make
a Difcovery, this is the Gentleman. [ Who was
/worn.

]

Rix. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, There was
one Osborne that was concern'd with this Lane,
who is fince run away : Osborne came firft upon
the Guard to me, and defir'd me to get him into

Service. He defir'd to come into my Lord-Trea-
furer's Service, and what he defir'd of me was
to frame him a Petition to my Lord-Treafurer.

We had no Anfwer till two Days after, and I

being upon the Guard with Dr. Oates, I did fup-

pofe I might get him into his Service, I fpoke to

Dr. Oates, and he entertain'd him -, and after he

had entertain'd him a while, this Lane then be-

ing a Servant with him, they both told me they

were going off now from Mr. Oates.

L. C. J. Who told you ?

Rix. Lane and Osborne, and that they mould
get Preferment •, they were fworn Brothers to-

gether, if one did go, the other would go. I

ask'd them why they would go away? Oh, faid

he, I fhall keep my Man myfelf. . Say you fo,

faid I, I have been in Town fo long, and I could

get no fuch Preferment. Then they told me
they ihould have ioo/. a Year, and 500/. in

Money.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Who told you fo?

Rix.
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Rix. Osborne and Lane both.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What, ioo /. a Year,

and 500/. a-piece.

Rix. Yes : So I asked them how, but they

would not tell me, but faid Osborne to me, for

your preferring me to Mr. Oates, you (hall be no

Lofer. I met him another time, for Osborne came

to defire me to lend him a Cravat. Said he, I

mud come down to your Houfe to-morrow

Morning to get a Cravat, I defire I may have a

good one, for I am to go before one of the

greateft Peers of the Realm to dine with him:

Where, faid I, to which end of the Town ? The
other end of the Town, faid he to me: But,

faid I, why do you leave Mr. Oates ? Oh, faid

he, let Mr. Oates look to himfelf, for I have e-

nough againft him. Then I fmelt fomething of

fome Defign againft Dr. Oates, and brought it

before Juftice Warcup, and gave in my Teftimo-

ny, and upon further Inquiry into it, the Lords

ordered him to fend out his Warrant for the

taking of thofe Fellows, Knox, Lane, and Os-

borne, which he affigned over to me; in a fhort

time after they were taken, firft Lane was taken,

and in a Day or two Osborne and Knox, and were

examined and taxed with it. Osborne he made

a Confeffion before JufticeWarcup, and they de-

fired me to fee Knox and Lane in Prifon, and I

did fee them in Prifon, and when they did come

there, Knox faid, where is Osborne, why don't he

come to Prifon as well as I ? I am a better

Gentleman than he. Oh, faid I, he hath con-

feffed j fo he was turned up into the Prifon.

Said I to Mr. Lane, will you drink a Pot of Beer?

faid he, I don't much care if I do ; and faid he,

Mr. Rix, if 1 have not gone too far againft my
felf, if you will ftand my Friend, I will make an

honeft Confeffion. Said I, I am glad there is fo

much Grace in you, I will then do you all the

good I can. Pray, faid he, will you pleafe to go

and call Sir William Waller : Why not Juftice

Warcup, faid I, who was firft concerned in this

Difcovery? No, he would have only Sir Wil-

liam Waller. I came and found him in the Court

of.Requefts, fo I went with him to Smith's the

Tobacconift near the Gate, and fent for Lane ;

the Keeper brought him : I think this was about

nine or ten in the Morning, and from that time

till about Six at Night he was in Examination.

I then went to Mr. Oates, and told him Lane

had made an honeft Confeffion. I waited on Sir

William Waller till the Afternoon, and then he

made an Order, that he having made an honeft

Confeffion, fhould have the Enlargement of the

Prifon, and not be confined, as others were, which

he had. Lane fent for me the next Day, 1 came

down in a Day or two after, and his Sifter was

there with him, they were eating Butter and Ra-

difhes, and when I would have paid for the Drink,

Lane cried No, by no means •, for Knox hath fent

me in Three and twenty Shillings the other Day,

and that will ferve me, I hope, till I come out :

But now, faid he, I have made a Confeffion, I be-

lieve I fhall have no more Money from him ; and

I defire you would fpeak for my Enlargement.

I came down to him another time, and he told me
he had received a Note, which Note was put up

from a Gentlewoman in the Street,

That if he would [landfirm to his Text, heJhoald

lave Five hundred Pounds ; nay hejhould not

want One thoufand Pounds ; but in cafe they
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would not ftand firm to their Text, the Lord
Treafurer would never have come in ; and if

yet they did not ftand firm, he would lofe his

Head.

L. C. J. Who came that Note from ?

Sir W. Waller. He told me this, That there

was fuch Word brought to him by the Nurfe,

and fhe told him, That a Gentlewoman very

well clad came to her, and defired her to fpeak

to him to ftand faft, and that Osborne and Knox
would be fure to ftand faft, and that they two
fhould be too ftrong for the other, he being but

a fingle Evidence ; and more than that, he fhould

not want a Thoufand Pounds, if he had occafion

for it. I asked the Nurfe what the Gentlewo-
man's Name was, fhe told me, fhe had asked,

but fhe would not tell her.

L. C. J. Where is this Woman, this Nurfe ?

Sir W. Waller. She was Nurfe to the Goal,
and was turned out upon this Difcovery by the

Goaler.

Mr. Juft. Pe?nberton. You had this from Lane,

Sir William Waller?

Sir W. Waller. Yes:

Rix. My Lord, after this was done, Lane's Fa-
ther and Mother told me this at my own Houfe,
That had it not been upon their Son's Account,

my Lord Treafurer would never have come in ;

and they told me that one Heft fhould come and
tell them fo : And Lane himfelf told me, he

thank'd God that now he had made an honeft

Confeffion, that now his Heart was very light

;

he had a Burden upon him before, but now he

had confeffed, and his Heart was light.

L. C. J. What did he confefs?

Rix. He did confefs, That my Lord Treafurer

would never have furrendered himfelf if he had
thought they would not have flood firm, and if

they did not ftand firm he fhould lofe his Head.

Mr. Williams. You fay Lane confeffed this as

of himfelf.

Rix. Yes, and afterwards his Father and Mo-
ther told me fo, and he did fay as of himfelf,

that he had a Note put under rhe Door.

L. C. J. But from whom had he that Note ?

Rix. From a Gentlewoman in the Street, he

told me fo.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. What did he fay as toKncx ?

Rix. He told me he was fet on by Knox, and

he drew up all the Writings for him; and Knox

told him, if you come to be examined at fuch or

fuch a thing, make a flop, and turn this way and
that way.

Mr. Williams. Pray acquaint the Court and the

Jury, Did Lane tell you how he was drawn into

this, and who drew him in?

Rix. Knox was the Man that drew up the Wri-
tings, and promifed him thofe Rewards, he faid.

. Mr. yuft. Pemberton. You fay he told you that

Knox promifed them ? How far Knox will be

concerned in this Evidence, will be confidered af-

terwards.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Now we come to Knox's

own particular Actings. What hath been faid

already, hath been out of other People's Mouths,
now we come to him himfelf, and we call Richard

Slightam. [Who was fworn.']

Mr.Att. Gen. Pray, Mr. Slightam, will you tell

my Lord and the Jury what you know of this

Knox, what Offers have been made you, by whom,
and when, and for what?

6 I 2 Slight >
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SUghtam-. I was offered Money to carry Notes

from the one to the other.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Why, what Office had you

there ?

SUghtam. I was a Prifoner there my fclf, and

Under-goaler too, and I was offered Money to

carry Notes between the one and the other, that

they might not betray one another.

Mr. Recorder. By whom ?

SUghtam. By Knox.

L. C. J. What did they offer you ?

SUghtam. I had three Half-Crowns given me
atone time by Knox, and he promifed me he

would give me a confiderable Sum.

L. C. J. But he did not name the Sum ?

SUghtam. No.
L. C. y. What did he defire you to do for that

Money ?

SUghtam: He defired me to carry Notes from

the one to the other, that they might not betray

one another.

Mr. Att. Gen. Between whom ? Name them.

SUghtam. Knox, Lane, and Osborne.

L. C. y. What did you fay, that they might

not betray one another ? Why ?

SUghtam. Yes, that they might not betray one

another, for they were fearful that they fhould,

becaufe they could not fpeak together, to lay their

Stories together.

Mr. Att. Gen. And hark you, Sir. What Mef-

fages did you carry between them ?

SUghtam. None, I never carried any.

L. C. y. No, what had you your Money for?

SUghtam. I told them of it below, and they

would not let me carry any.

L. C. y. But you got your Money ?

SUghtam. Yes, I got fome Money.
Mr. Att. Gen. Knox you fay gave you the three

Half-Crowns. Did you fpeak with Lane and

Osborne ?

SUghtam. Lane I fpoke with every day, and

Lane faid, he hoped that the Lords would not put

him in the Pillory, for all he had fworn falfly.

L. C. y. What Lords ?

SUghtam. My Lord Shaftsbury, and my Lord
Privy Seal.

Mr. Smith. What did Knox fay to you after

Osborne had confeffed ?

SUghtam. That is nothing, faid he, if we do
but ftand firm together, what Osborne hath given

in Evidence will fignify nothing.

Mr. Smith. Why ?

SUghtam. For two, he faid, were better than

one.

Sir Fr. Winnington. I think you fay you had

three Half-Crowns given you by Knox, pray who
was the firfl that offered you Money to carry the

Notes ?

SUghtam. It was Knox.

Sir Fr. Winnington. Ay, he carried the Purfe.

SUghtam. Yes, I fuppofe he did.

Mr. y.uft. yones. They were both in the Gate-

houfe Prifoners at that time.

SUghtam. Yes, fo was I. But they were lock'd

in feveral Rooms, and none could come at them.

L. C. y. But you carried noNote nor Meffages,

upon your Oath ?

SUghtam. No.
Mr. Williams. Pray call Mr. Dewy. [Who was

/worn.] Pray, Mr; Dewy, will you acquaint the

Court and the Jury, what Difcourfe you had with

Knox, who he came from, what he came about,

and what Recommendations he brought with him,

and from whom ?

Dewy. My Lord, fome time in the fitting of

the laft Parliament that began in March, about

Ten o'Clock at Night a Meffage was fent in to

me that one would fpeak with me from my Lord
Latimer : I was either in bed, or going to bed ;

and I did not think there was really any fuch

Meffage, becaufe my Lord Latimer did not know
me, nor I him. They were very preffing to

come in, infomuch as my Man could hardly keep
them out. I told them there was nothing fure of
fo much hafte, but what might be done to-mor-
row, or fome other time : So J fpoke not with
them that Night. Either the next Day, or fome
fhort time after, as I remember, Mr. Knox came
to me with another Gentleman, and he brought
Papers in his Hands ready written •, he told me
that they were Informations of one Lane and Os-
borne (as I remember thofe were the Names he
mentioned then) and they were againft Mr. Oates.

Then I began to look upon it as fomething extra-

ordinary, the Parliament being then fitting, and the

Committee of each Houfe having the Examina-
tion of this Bufinefs. Said I, Mr. Knox, you have
been a Juftice of Peace's Clerk (for I knew him
fo) and you know it is very unufual to take In-

formations againft a Perfon without the Party's

being prefent, if he may be had, to crofs-examine

the Witneffes upon Interrogatories, as the Cafe
may be : And befides this looks as if it were to

take Informations againft the King ; which we
never do upon Oath. So I difmiffed them, and
directed them to the Committee of Secrecy of the

Houfe of Commons, for whom it was mod pro-

per. This is all I know of this Bufinefs.

Mr. Williams. Did Mr. Knox tell you any
thing that was contained in thofe Examinations ?

Dewy. Yes, he did give me fome Information,

that Osborne and Lane did repent of fomething,

but I can't give you Information particularly.

Mr. Williams. Pray tell the Subftance of it.

Dewy. I can't remember what the Particulars

were, but Lane and Osborne were the Parties to

be examined, and I fhifted them off as well as I

could.

L. C. y. Did they come along with Knox ?

Dewy. They were not in my Room, but they

were without, I believe.

L. C. y. And did he tell you at the fame time

that they had recanted ?

Dewy. Truly, my Lord, I can't well remem-
ber •, but he faid they repented of what they had
falfly accufed my Lord Treafurer of.

L. C. y. Did they fay they had falfly accufed

Mr. Oates ?

Dewy. No, they did charge Mr. Oates with fome
Crime ; and they did fpeak fomething of falfe ac-

cufing, I can't remember what.

L. C. y. Did not they fay, Mr. Oates ?

Dewy. I remember it now ; it was as if Mr.
Bedlow and Mr. Oates had made a Confpiracy

againft my Lord of Danby.

Sir Fr. Winnington. I think you fay, you knew
Mr. Knox, a Juftice of Peace's Clerk : Pray, Sir»

you are an ingenuous Man, from whom did he
pretend to come to you ?

Dewy. He came to mc from my Lord Latimer,

as he faid.

Sir
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Sir Fr. Winnington. Did he fay fo, that the

Lord Latimer wifhed him to go to you ?

Dewy. Yes ; and I wondered at it, becaufe I

did not know my Lord, nor my Lord me.

Mr. Withins. When was this?

Dewy. It was the latter end of April, or the

beginning of May, as I take it ; I do not very

well remember : But the Subftance of it I re»

member was, that they had over-heard Mr. Oates

and Mr. Bedlow confpiring againft my Lord of

Danby.

L. C.J. Mr. Dewy, can you remember whe-

ther they did come to give you Information a-

gainft Mr. Oates for abufing their Bodies, or

Oates and Bedlow's Confpiracy againft the Earl of

Danby ?

Dewy. Truly, my Lord, I can't be pofitive in

it ; for the Parliament was then fitting, and I

fhifced them off.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. You never looked into

the Information at all ?

Dewy. No, I did not, I thought it not proper

for me.

Mr. Recorder. Call Henry Wiggins and his Mo-
ther. [Who were both Sworn.~\

Mr. Att. Gen. Come on Mr. Wiggins, what do

you know of any Endeavours of Knox or Lane,

or any of thefe Perfons, to take off or fcandalize

Mr. Oates's or Mr. Bedlow's Teftimony ?

L. C. J. What is this Man's Name ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Henry Wiggins.

Wiggins. About the latter end of February laft,

Mr. Knox and I met at Charing-Crofs, and we
went in and drank together ; and he propofed fe-

veral things to me ; firft he defired that I would

get for him a Copy of the Papers my Mafter

had.

Z, C. J. Who is your Matter?

Wiggins. Mr. Bedlow. And efpecially what
concerned my Lord-Treafurer ; as alfo to take a

Journal of all my Matter's Actions ; and the

Names of the Perfons that came to him j for,

faid he, my Lord hears that my Lord of Shafts-

bury and the Duke of Buckingham do cabal with

him againft my Lord. But if my Lord could

but find out his Enemies, he would oppofe them,

and ftrive to baffle them. My Lord, to encou-

rage me to this, he told me he would carry me
to his Lord, tho' it were at Midnight, to dif-

courfe with him.

L. C. J. What Lord ?

Wiggins. My Lord-Treafurer : And he faid he

fhould give me Encouragement to go on. Said

I, Does my Lord know of this? Yes, faid he,

I told my Lord I had a Friend lived with Mr.
Bedlow, and he gave me Encouragement to go

on and treat with him. And he faid moreover,

my Lord, Mr. Oates and Bedlow were two great

Rogues-, that the King believed not a Word
they faid ; and as foon as he had heard all they

could fay, they mould be hanged.

Mr. Williams. Pray did he propofe any Re-

ward to you?

Wiggins. He told me his Lord fhould give me
Encouragement.

L.C.J. WT
hat mould you do ?

Wiggins. Pie defired mc to give my Lord the

Papers, and then my Lord fhould tell me what

1 mould do about my Mafter.

Sir Fr. Winnington. What did he fay of Oates

and Bedlow, Sir ?

Wiggins. He faid, That Oates and Bedloiv were

great Rogues, and that the King knew them to

be fo ; and when he had heard what they could

fay, he would hang them.
Mr. Williams. Pray upon your Oath, did he

offer you any Money, or any Reward?
Wiggins. He offered me not any particular

Sum, but he told me I fhould have Satisfaction

and Reward, or any Place in my Lord's Dif-

pofal I fhould be entertained into, if I went away
upon this Bufinefs.

Mr. Williams. Did he fay any thing to you, to

invite you, or encourage you to fwear againft

your Mafter ?

Wiggins. No, But he told me my Lord fhould

give me Directions how to go on.

Mr. Recorder. What fay you as to Lane and
Osborne ?

Wiggins. I did not know them at that time.

Mr. Recorder. What time after was it that you
did know them ?

Wiggins. I met with them a little while after,

and they were difcourfing all together, but I had
no Difcourfe with them.

Mr. Recorder. Did Knox at any time fpeak to

you, to bring him into the Company of Lane
and Osborne ?

Wiggins. No, Sin

Mr. Recorder. This was the firft time you met
with him about this Matter ?

Wiggins. Yes, it was.

L. C. J. What did you promife Knox you
would do?

Wiggins. I told him I would do him any Ser-

vice that lay in my Power, but nothing that

would be to my Matter's Prejudice ; and I was
appointed by him to meet him at my Lord-Trea-
furer's.

L. C. J. And what other Meetings had you
befides ?

Wiggins. I was but twice with him.

L. C. J. You never agreed to any thing ?

Wiggins. I told it my Mafter, and it was dif-

covered foon after, fo that the Lords came to

hear it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Where is Mrs. Wiggins ? What
do you know of any Endeavours to corrupt this

Evidence?

Mrs. Wiggins: I know no more than what my
Son knows ; he firft came to my Houfe.

L.C.J. Who?
Mrs. Wiggins. Mr. Knox ; and asking me

where my Son was, I told him he lived with

Mr. Bedlow : And he faid, he very much re-

joiced at it, and defired to fpeak with him. I

told him, No, he could not, for his Mafter had
fo much Employment for him, that it was very

feldom I myfelf could get a fight of him. Said

he, 1 have a little Concern with him ; and he

living with Mr. Bedlow, may do my Lord-Trea-
furer great Service, and doing my Lord-Trea-
furer Service, he does his iViajefty Service ; for

his Majefty loves my Lord-Treafurer above all

things in the World. And he would not be con-

tradicted, but he would fee him. Then the next

day I told him he fhould come, and we appoint-

ed to go to him, but he fhould not fee him a-

lone without me, I told him ; he told me he

defired it not. He came according to the Ap-
pointment, and I carried him to Cbaring-Crofs

to an Alehoufe, and there fent a Porter for my
Son, and he came : And the firft thing he faid

to him was, I am mighty joyful to know you
live
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live with Mr. Bedlow, you may do my Lord

great Service : In what ? fays my Son. In letting

my Lord know what Company your Mailer

keeps, and what Lords they are that daily and

hourly keep Company with your Matter, and ca-

bal againft my Lord. Said I, Mr. Knox, that is

the way to bring my Son's Neck to the Stake ;

that he mall never do. But, fays he, I will tell

him a way how he fhall do himfelf no harm at

all : And then he up and told him, he defired

him to write him Letters when he found any

thing of Secrecy, and fet no Name to it ; and if

he came at Twelve o'clock at Night, he would

let him into my Lord Treafurer's, and no-body

fhould take notice of it : And he would have

had him taken a Coach to have gone to my Lady

Danby prefently, to have an Affurance from her

Mouth of Encouragement, and that he fhould

have any Place in her Lord's Difpofal.

L. C. J. Were you ever with my Lady Danby?

Mrs. Wiggins. No, we deny'd it ; and it was

difcover'd. And befides, my Lord, I told him,

if he would lay down my Son a Thoufand Pounds

he fhould not do it ; he fhould not betray his

Truft. And then he faid, that the King knew

Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow to be two great

Rogues ; and when he had got what he could

out of them, he would hang them.

Mr Williams. Have you had any Offers of late

not to come here as a Witnefs in this Cafe ?

Mrs. Wiggins. No, my Lord, but there have

been Perfons three times at my Houfe to know

whether I were Subpoena'd, yea or no, as from

Mr. Knox.

Mr. Williams. Did ever any body perfuade

you not to come to give Evidence ?

Mrs. Wiggins. No.
L. C. J. When was this you fpeak of?

Mrs. Wiggins. In February, the latter end.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Mr. Dewy, who came in

company with Mr. Knox to you?

Dewy. One Mr. Blayden.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Who is that ?

Dewy. Steward to my Lord of Danby, I

think.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Here is Slightam again,

my Lord.

Mr. Att. Gen. What have you to fay more ?

Slightam. Mr. Lane told me they had many
Treats, and had fo much Money, a Guinea, as

I think he told me, to fwear againft Mr. Oates.

L. C. J. Who gave it him ?

Slightam. Mr. Osborne, or Mr. Knox, I can't

tell which.

L. C. J. Where did Lane tell you fo?

Slightam. In Prifon.

L.C.J. In what Prifon?

Slightam. In the Gate-houfe.

Mr. Williams. Call Mr. Palmer. [Who was
/worn.'] We call him to corroborate what that

young Man Wiggins hath faid.

Palmer. What he hath told here, he difco-

vered firft to me, and I difcovered to his Ma-
iler, that Mr. Knox would have had him to take

a Journal of his Matter's Actions, and to give it

him every Day. My Lord, I am one of the

Yeomen of the Guard, and I waited upon Mr.
Bedlow, and he defired me to help him to a
Clerk : and I helped him to Wiggins, this young
Man. He had not been there three Weeks, or a

very little time, when Knox came to him to tempt

him i and being a Stranger to his Matter, he

knew not how to difcover it to him, and told

me, Such a thing is offered to me, but I am a
Stranger to my Matter, and I know not how to

break it to him.

L. C. J. The ufe you make of this, is no more,
but only to corroborate what he hath faid, that

he told it him while it was frefh, and that it is

no new Matter of his Invention now.
Mr. Recorder. It is very right, my Lord, that

is the ufe we make of it. Call Thomas Danger-
field. [Who was fivorn.7\

Mr. Williams. Pray, Sir, give an Account
what you know concerning Mr. Knox and Mr.
Lane, and what Defigns they have had againft
Mr. Oates, and who fupported them and main-
tained them in it.

Dangerfield. My Lord, all that I have to fay
in this Cafe, is this : I do think it was in the
Month of June I was at my Lord Cajllemain's,

and he asked me, if I had been employed in a
Bufinefs of Knox and Lane, that were Prifoners

at the Gate-Houfe : I told him, Not. His Lord-
fhip then wrote a Letter to my Lady Powis, and
defired I might be employed in it : And fhe did
tell me that it was a thing of material Confe-
quence, and that I fhould be furnifhed with Mo-
ney for the getting of Knox and Lane out. I

took all Opportunities for the doing of it that

were neceffary. I went to the Gate-houfe, made
Enquiry after Lane, and took care with his Mo-
ther to relieve him, for I heard he was in an in-

digent Condition at that time.

L. C. J. Did you give his Mother the Money ?

Dangerfield. Yes, my Lord, Twenty Shillings,

and I had that Money from Mrs. Cellier by my
Lady Powis's Order. After that time there was
one Mrs. Airy, who ufed to carry Money to the

Catholicks in Prifon, fhe faid that it was poffible,

as fhe had been informed from fome of the

Priefts in the Gate-houfe, that fome things might
be had under the Hands of Knox and Lane that

would be very material againft Mr. Oates : She
faid, fhe had been informed fo. I then defired

that Mrs. Airy, that Pen and Ink might be con-

veyed to them, that they might have the Conve-
nience of giving it under their Hands, which fhe

promifed, and they did convey Pen and Ink un-
der the Door to this Mr. Lane.

L. C. J. How do you know that ?

Dangerfield. As Mrs. Airy told me. Then fhe

came again, and withal told me, that it was Mr.
Knox's Defire that Lane fhould do fomething to

fignify to him, or fatisfy him that he did ftand

faft ; then Lane wrote a little Note, and that

Note was to this effect. / will die before 1 will

comply with that Villain Oates ; and if any good

People will do me the Kindnefs to get me my Li-

berty, I will do the Catholicks the greatejl Service

imaginable in difcovering what I know about Mr.
Oates. This I write from the bottom of my heart,

and fhall die in it. So help me God.

L. C. J. How came you by the Note?
Dangerfield. This Note was written by Lane's

own Hand, and given from under the Door to

one Mr. Parfons a Prieft in the Gate-houfe. This

Parfons gave the Note to Mrs. Airy, and fhe

gave it to me.

L. C. J. Do you know Lane's Hand ?

Dangerfield. Yes, very well, as I fhall fhew
you anon.

L.C.J. What became of the Note ?

Danger-
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Dangerfield. My Lord, I don't know what

became of the Note, for the Countefs of Powis

had it afterwards.

L. C.J. Do you believe it was of Lane's own
writing ?

Dangerfield. I am very well fatisfied of it, my
Lord, according to the Judgment I am capable

to give of Hands •, indeed I was not acquainted

with his Hand then, but that was the firft, to my
Knowledge, that ever I favv of it ; but after I

having parted with the Note, and feeing fome

of his Hand-writing, upon Recollection I can

fay I believe it was his own Hand.

L C. J. Did you ever fee the Note again ?

Dangerfield. Never afterwards. And then, my
Lord, my Lady Powis was exceeding glad upon

the hearing of it, and, as I was informed of it

afterwards, fhe was the greateft part of the fol-

lowing Day upon her Knees giving God Thanks
for the great Advantage and Strength that was
come to their Caufe.

L. C. J. What! for having a Villain to come
over to her fide that fwore backwards and for-

wards ?

Dangerfield. Afterwards I received Money fe-

veral times, and gave his Mother more to fur-

nifh and relieve him. And feveral times after-

wards I received Money from Mrs. Celier by
Order of my Lady Powis, for the doing of Lane's

Bufinefs, that is, for his Liberty ; and I had the

Papers from one I.awfon an Attorney that had

been employed in the fame Bufinefs before ; and,

as I was informed by him, a Motion or two was

made at this Bar for their Liberty, but however

he began to defpair of it, and I was to undertake

it •, but withal he faid, he was glad he was rid

of it, for he had been often employ'd in the Bu-

finefs of the Catholicks, and it had impair'd his

Credit very much, and very freely deliver'd the

Papers to me, which indeed were not many.

After that, my Lord, I retained Mr. Sanders, as

I think it was he, but there was a Motion about

it, and with great Difficulty I did get Lane out

upon Common Bail ; and when I had done fo,

according to my Lady Powis's Order, I brought

him to Powis-Houfc; and then my Lady Powis

ordered, that he fhould go by the Name of

John/on ; becaufe if any of the Servants fhould

talk of one Lane being in the Houfe, it might

come to Oates'sEar, the Houfe might be fearch'd,

and if he were found there, it might be prejudicial

to the Lords, and all their Bufinefs. And then,

my Lord, Mr. Wood came a little after with the

fame Command from his Lord, and he had fome

Order

L. C. J. Who is Wood ?

Dangerfield. That Wood is my Lady Powis's

Gentleman : And he came and ordered that my
Lady Powis gave particular Command to the

Porter of the Houfe, in my hearing, that he

fhould give order to all the Servants, to have a

particular Eye and Care that he did not go from

the Houfe, for they were very dubious of him,

having made fo many Equivocations before ;

for they feared Mr. Oates might find him, or he

might go voluntarily and make a Difcovery of

himfelf, and fo contradict all he had given an

Account of there. For, my Lord, before this,

as foon as ever Lane was gone out, they were

very defirous to have what he had to fay put in

Writing ; but they had not opportunity then,

but we let it alone to fome other time. Then,

my Lofd, foon after, about three Weeks or a

Month after; I cannot be pofitive in the time,

becaufe I had a great deal of Bufinefs upon my
Hands ; but I fuppofe it was about three Weeks
or a Month after, my Lord Powis fent for me
to the Tower, and told me, he was informed that

Mr. Oates was then making fearch after Lane, and
if he found him at his Houfe, it would be very

prejudicial to their Bufinefs ; and he defired me
to take care, and to fend him out of the way,

that Mr. Oates might not find him , which I did •,

and thinking of feveral Places, I could not find

any fo convenient as Grays in EJfex, by the Wa-
terfide. I came to Lane, and told him that he

fhould be furnifhed with Money and Neceffa-

ries for his Journey, and, in order to ir, that

very day I took him and gave him a Pair of

Shoes and Ten Shillings in his Pocket, and
fent him to Grays. I received two Letters af-

terwards from this Lane, by which Letters I am
very well fatisfied, that that Note that he wrote

before, that was given under the Door, was his

Hand. So then I received a third Letter (

I

think ) my Lord, and in the Letter he told me
that fome Perfon of Mr. OateSs Acquaintance had

been in that Town and feen him, and he thought

it was not material that he ftaid any longer

there, and defired to be removed. So then I

fhewed my Lady Powis the Letter, and I fup-

pofe my Lord Powis had an Account of it alio ;

but I cannot be pofitive in that, but I had order

to remove Lane, and by my Lady Powis's means

I fent down one on Horfeback, and he difchar-

ged fome Debts Lane had contracted in the

Houfe, and fent him away to London ; and after

his return to London he continued three days

more at my Lord Powis's Houfe •, at which time,

he fays, he was forced to lie upon the Chairs,

for at that time were the St.Omers's WitnefTes re-

moved from Mrs. Celier's, becaufe they were

afraid of being taken up by Sir William Waller,

who was in fearch for them. So having fome

other Bufinefs, I did not fend him away prefent-

ly, but I had particular order to fend Lane into

fome other place ; and I did advifewith Mrs Ce-

lier where to fend him, and fhe faid, I think in

will be neceffary to fend him to Pcierley, at one

Mr. Waite's Houfe in Buckinghamfeire ; tor, faid

fhe, they are Catholicks, and will be lure to

take a particular care of him : But I told her it

v/ould be too far, and I would think of fome

place nearer ; and then I thought it would be

neceffary to fend him to Tottenham, to the White-

Hart ; and there he ftay'd, I fuppofe, four or five

Days, or a Week. This was after the Trial

of the five Jefuits, as I remember. My Lord
Powis fent to me, and told me ; fays he, I am
in feveral Doubts about this Lane, and if it fhould

be known that he is countenanced by me, or

any of our People, it would not be well •, fo I

leave him wholly to you, do what you will

with him ; but I advife you to fend for him up

to Town, and give him Ten Shillings a Week
to live upon. So when I was at leifure I fent

for him again from Tottenham, and I told him ;

Mr. Lane, it will be very neceffary that you do

take fome care for a Livelihood about Town ;

it is not fafe nor advifeable for you to be about

Powis- Houfe; and at that time I took care he

fhould come there no more, and that if my
Lord Powii's Servants fhould meet him, they

fhould take no Notice of him ; which they did

per-
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perform, I fuppofe, and as I was told. But be-

fore this, and before I fent Lane into the Coun-
try the fecond time, as near as I can remem-
ber, Knox was at Liberty. I had been endea-

vouring, as foon as I had got Lane out of the

Gate-Houfie, to get Knox out alfo; but I found

I could not, and I left that. But I have been

informed by Mr. Knox himfelf, that one Mr.
Nevil, alias Paine, was furnifhed with Money
from the Lords in the 'tower, for the getting of

Knox's Liberty ; and this Nevil himfelf did

fay, as Mr. Knox told me, that he did it by
their Order •, and from this Knox, by Mrs. Ce-

lier's Perfuafion , I received feveral Papers,

which were Informations againft Oates; or at

leaft, thofe Papers that they had drawn up be-

fore they were in Cuftody. Thefe Papers were

fent by me to the Tower, and from thence to

Mr. Nevil to enlarge upon, I fuppofe, as he

thought fit ; and after to my Lord Cafilemain,

and afterwards they were re-fent to me by
Mrs. Celier, who order'd me to draw up an

Affidavit according to thofe Directions, and
get Lane fworn to the fame ; which I did,

and took Lane, and asked him, faid I, Mr.
Lane, here is an Affidavit, can you fvvear it ?

Yes, faid he, I can fwear it, before I read it to

him.

L. C. J. I believe fo.

Dangerfield. Nay, faid I, you know not what
it is 9 fo I read it to him ; faid I, Do you know
this to be a Truth? Yes, faid he, I do know
it to be all true : Said 1, I will read it again to

you, becaufe you are to make Oath of it, and
I would not have you do any thing but what
is fafe ; and then we went to Sir James But-
ler, but he was not at home then, to have it

fworn

.

L. C. J. What was the Purport of that Affi-

davit ?

Dangerfield. My Lord, I cannot well remember
the Words, but it was about accufing Mr. Oates

of Sodomy.
L. C.J. On whom ?

Dangerfield. It was for attempting Buggery on
the Body of this Lane.

L: C. J. That was the Subftance of it?

Dangerfield. Yes, my Lord : And I did take

this Lane to Sir James Butler, and he did make
Affidavit that it was true : And it was left there

before Sir James Butler. I fuppofe the Affidavit

may be in Court, or a Copy of it. So, my
Lord, after that Lane being gone from Powis-
Houfe, and I having no manner of Converfe with

him more ; but only that every Saturday I took

care he fhould have his Money ; fometimes I"

went to his Mother's Lodgings, and left it there

for him ; fometimes he would come to me for it.

After this we were removed from Powis-Houic
to Mrs. Celier

1

?,, but he was always certain of

Ten Shillings a Week. Sometimes he would
pretend that it was too little for him to live

upon ; and fometimes I would give him Two,
or Three, or Four Shillings more of myfelf; but

I had no Order to do that from any body. This
is all, my Lord, I do know of Lane, as I remem-
ber.

Mr. Juft. Jones. What do you know of

Knox ?

Mr. Dangerfield. Knox firft delivered to me
thofe Papers that were fent firft to the Tower,

and afterwards to Nevil, and afterwards to my

Lord Cafilemain , and re-delivered to me ; and I

did deliver them again to Knox, after they were
enlarged upon : And I believe, after that, Knox
had prevailed with Lane to write them in his own
Hand.

L. C. J. Why do you believe fo ?

Dangerfield. Becaufe being writ in a fair Hand,
Knox told me when the Papers were delivered,

Thefe are the main things that I am to work by,
and thefe muft be produced againft Oates, and be
writ over in a fairer Hand ; and by that, 1 be-

lieve he prevailed with Lane to write it in his

own Hand.
L. C. J. Whofe Hand were they in ?

Dangerfield. It was a ftrange Hand I knew not,

and I do not believe it was Knox's Hand, tho*

indeed I can't tell, I know it not.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Did Knox ask you who had
the Perufal of thofe Papers ? And who had made
Additions to them ?

Dangerfield. No; he took the Papers, and
took no Notice of any Addition or Enlarge-
ment.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Pray, Sir, tell the man-
ner of the delivering of thofe Papers.

Dangerfield. Firft, by Mrs. Celier's Perfuafion,

Knox delivered to me the Papers, which im-
ported the whole Matter of the Charge againft

Mr. Oates. Thefe I fent to the Tower by Mr?.
Celier's Hands ; from thence they were fent to

Nevil to be enlarged upon ; from thence to my
Lord Cafilemain, who was alfo to enlarge upon
them ; and from thence they were fent to Mrs.
Celier again, and from her delivered to me, and
I delivered them to Knox again. I found by his

Difcourfe, and every thing elfe, that Mr. Knox
was defirous of my Correfpondence, but yet

feemed as if he were fhy of any body's taking

notice of it. Said I to Mr. Knox, there is one
Mrs. Downing that lives at Lambeth over the Wa-
ter, where Mr. Oates and Dr. Tongue, and feve-

ral other Perfons ufed to meet, where I had been
informed by fome of the Catholicks, by Parfions,

my LadyPowi;, and feveral others, thztMv.Oates,
Dr. Tongue, my Lord of Danby, and others, did

meet at the Alms-Houfes there, where the Plot

was contrived and formed, for they pretended to

me there was no fucb thing really. So, faid I,

if you will go with me, we will difcourfe with

her about the Matter, for I heard fhe talked

very freely in feveral Matters nearly concerning

Mr. Oates, and my Lord of Danby t and other

Perfons. So, as I faid, I told him, if you will

go along with me, I have not been there yet, I

will go and difcourfe with her, and put down
what fhe fays in Writing. Then Mr. Knox, my
Brother, and myfelf, did go over to this Mrs.
Downing, and had much Difcourfe with her,

where lhe did repeat many Tranfaclions that were

very agreeable to the Story that I had received

from my Lady Powis, and feveral other Perfons

before. Knox did feem to be very well fatisfied

about it, and promifed to take cognizance of it,

and faid, it was very material •, but we did not

put it down in Writing. I did not, I know not

what he did afterwards. We promifed to come
again another time, but I do not remember we
did ever go afterwards. But Mr. Knox folicited

me to go with him, and fome Bufinefs or other

did ftill intervene. That is all that is remark-

able of Mr. Knox, which I do remember at that

time. But I do remember that after we were
removed
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removed from Fowls Houfe, when I was at

Mrs. Celier's, nay, I think both before and af-

ter, he was often treating with Mrs. Celier ; but

I know not what was their Difcourfe, nor was

I defirous to know. But Mr. Knox came then

to me, and began to renew his Correfpondence ;

and withal told me, that he had fome Likeli-

hood of bringing Osborne over to their Party.

Said he, 1 find he is gone again to his Mafter,

but he fhaU do his Bufinefs (meaning, as I fup-

pofe, Mr. Oates) for he had, as I underftood by

him at that time, been tampering with Osborne^,

but he did tell me it was Osborne''s voluntary Act,

that he did own it, and that he did go to Mr.
Oates again only to do Mr. Knox Service. My
Lord, fome time after this, Knox came to me
at Mrs. Celier's, and told me he had done the

Bufinefs ; expreiling the greateft Joy that could

be. What Bufinefs, faid J ? Osborne is come
over, faid he, and I have had an Account from

•the Beginning to the End of all the Tranfactions

of his Mafter Oates ; and 1 have not only an

Account of.it, but it is put into Writing ; and I

took Osborne before a Juftice of Peace, and he

has made Affidavit of it. When I heard this, I

thought it would give great Satisfaction to the

Lords in the Tower, and defired Mr. Knox to let

me have a Copy of that Affidavit. He told me,
No, he thought it would not be material to let

me have a Copy, for by that means it might be-

come publick, and be difcovered. And;, faid he,

I have fome further Defign in this ; Mr. Oates is

going down to my Lord Lovelace's in Oxford-

Jhire, and Osborne is going with him, and he

hath promifed me to be a Spy upon his Mailer's

Actions, and to give me an Account of all. And
this will be material j but I do not think fit to

let you have a Copy of the Affidavit at prefent.

Some time after this, I told Mrs. Celier the Sto-

ry, who I fuppofe went to the Tower, and gave

the Lords an Account of it. And the next time

I had the Honour to fee my Lady Powis, fhe

was pleafed to fay, fhe liked it very well, but

did not, as I remember, fay any thing of the

Copy ; but being defirous to fee what Osborne

had fvvorn, and whether it were agreeable to

Lane's Affidavit, that I fpake of before, I did

defire Knox to let me fee it, but he had it not a-

bout him at that time. Some time after that, as

near as I can remember, I was at Proclor's Cof-

fee-Houfe at Charing-Crofs, and Mr. Knox came
thither, whether by my Appointment or his, I

can't well tell ; but there we met, and one Bed-

ford was with me. At that fame time Mr. Knox
defired we would go into a Back-Room ; and

now, faid he, I will give you Satisfaction, and

drew out of his Pocket an Affidavit ; it was a

Sheet of Paper, if not written of every fide, I

believe of three fides; it was very long •, and he

read it, my Lord, and I did find by the Con-

tents of it, that it did imply the fame thing that

Lane had fworn before Sir James Butler ; that is,

That Mr. Oates fhould attempt upon Lane's Bo-

dy, to commit Sodomy, or fomething very a-

greeable to it. I told him, Mr. Knox, faid I,

this is very material, this will do you a great

deal of Service. The Term is coming on, you

would do well to get an Indictment drawn up

againft Mr. Oates, Said he, I will do his Bufi-

nefs, and will advife with Perfons able to inftruct

me in it ; and I don't doubt but to carry on the
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Bufinefs effectually. And to that purpofe I de-

fired him to let me have a Copy of the Affida-

vit •, he promifed me 1 fhould, and faid he would
bring it leveral times ; and he came feveral times

to my Lodging, but did not bring it ; but I hav-
ing it read to me, and remembring the Con-
tents of it, the next time 1 faw my Lady Powis,
I gave her an Account of it. Said fhe, this Man
is very diligent, and deferves to be encouraged i

and, as I believe, gave the Lords in the Tower zn
Account of it too ; for then fhe was lodged at

the Tower with her Lord, and fo her Ladyfhip
told me. And, faid fhe, do you know whether
this Man be in a Condition to profecute this Bufi-

nefs againft Mr. Oates? Said fhe, I believe he
is put upon this by my Lord of Danby, and he,

I believe, takes care of him to furnifh him with
Money. Said I, I have endeavoured to trace him
out in that thing, and by all his Correfpondents
I could never find, but only by one, that Mr.
Knox was ever acquainted, or held Correfpon-
dence with my Lord of Dariby, and that Perfon
is Mr. Nettervile, who is a worthy Gentleman
of my Acquaintance in the Pall-Mall : And be-
ing in his Chamber, Knox came in, and fpeaking
merrily after his manner to him, faid he, Knox,
when were you at the Tower with my Lord of
Danby f Said he, I hold no Correfpondence with
him. Yes, faid Mr. Ntttervile, 'tis plain you
do ; and I believe a Friend of mine faw you go
in the other Day : But Knox did pofitively deny
it ; that was all that ever I heard of his Corre-

fpondence with my Lord of Danby. After this,

when her Ladyfhip came to me to ask me what
Condition he was in to profecute the Trial ; I

told her, I believed his Condition was very

mean, and it would be very acceptable, if he
might or could be furnifhed with Money. Well,
faid fhe, I will take care of it, and give an Ac-
count of it to my Lord, and he fhall be furnifh-

ed. And in the mean time, if Mr. Knox wants
Money, be fure you take care and furnifh him ;

but you need not Jet it be very confiderabie, till

you fee what is raifed. Some time after this, Mr;
Knox came to Mrs. Celier' s Houfe to ask for

me, I was then in my Chamber, but not ready ;

he came up to me, and told me, faid he, Really

1 am very poor, I am going to pawn my Sword

;

or fomething to that purpofe ; Can you lend me
Five Pounds ? Really, Mr. Knox, faid I, J will

tell you, the Affidavit that you read to me, I

have given an Account of it to my Lady Powis, ..

and 1 fuppofe fome other Perfons of Honour have
had an Account of it alfo •, I am fatisfied they

are ; and that the Lords in the T~ower will take

care that Money fhall be raifed for your profecu-

ting of Mr. Oates. He feemed to fmile at this -,

But, faid he, if this fhould be known, it would
be very prejudicial to the Bufinefs, and fpoil it ;

but yet however if you can furnifh me with Mo-
ney at this time, you will do me a great Kind-

nefs, for I have very great Occafion. I told

him, faid I, I have not fo much Money by me

;

you come at an unfeafonable Time ; though in-

deed I told him a Lye ; but 1 thought it not fafe

to part with Money without further Order. Mr.
Knox went away, and I gave an Account of it

to Mrs. Celier, who went either every Day, or

every other Day to the Tower. I told her what

Mr. Knox faid, and I do believe (as fhe told me
afterwards) fhe told my Lady Powis of it, and

6 K Mrs,
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Mrs. Celier feem'd to be angry that I did not let

him have the Money, and order'd me that at

what time foever after that Mr. Knox mould come

to me, I mould let him have what Money he

wanted. Some time after this, Mr. Knux did

come to me, and faid his Condition was very

mean, and you told me, faid he, that Care mould

be taken by the Lords in the Tower to furnifh

me with Money. Said I, Mr. Knox, I can let you

have 30 or 40 s. if that will do you any Kind-

nefs. I have no Order for any Sum at prefent

;

but as foon as it comes, it mud come to you

through my Hands ; and it muft pafs as if I lent

it you j and you mail give me a Note for it to

repay it, left any thing fhould come to be difco-

vered, and coming to Mr. Oates's Hearing, fhould

prejudice the Bufinefs •, though I had been too

forward before in giving Mr. Knox an Account

that the Lords in the Tower would contribute to

this Bufincfs. At that Time, I went up Stairs

and fetch'd down 40;. and gave it him. He came

afterwards, and would have borrow'd more of

me at other times, once or twice after that, but

I did not furnim him, for I had received no Or-

der to furnim him any further. And this, my
Lord, is all the Correfpondence I had with him,

and, as near as I can remember, I have given no-

thing in but what is a very true Account of the

Tranfaclion.

Sir Fr. Winnington. My Lord I crave one

Queftion of him, if he have done. After the

Papers were corrected and written fair, and en-

larged upon by the feveral Perfons, did you

read them ? And what were the Contents of

them ?

Danger-field. My Lord, I did not read them,

nor did I draw them, but I do believe that the

Contents were the fame for Subftance with the

Affidavit that Lane made before Sir James

Butler.

Mr Williams. Sir, you mention feveral Sums

of Money that you paid to Knox, and paid to

Lane; pray where had you this Money?
Dangerfield. The 40 s. that I gave to Knox, it

was my own Money •, but if I muft give an Ac-

count where I had it, I believe it came originally

from the Tower.

Mr. Williams. The Ten Shillings a Week,
whence came that?

Dangerfield. Sometimes from the Hands of my
Lady Powis; at other times from Mrs. Celier;

fometimes from Mr. Wood; and fometimes from

my felf, and I placed it to Accompt.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. If your Lordfhip pleafe,

we will now proceed to another Part of qur

Evidence.

Mr. Williams. About what time were they

to Indict Mr. Oates ? Was not this Project

on foot when the Presbyterian Plot was on

foot?

Dangerfield. My Lord, I don't know what
time ; but it was by my Advice to be done this

Term, and fo did Nevil advife too.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. My Lord, I would read

fome of the Memorials or Informations, that they

were to fwear againft Dr. Oates concerning the

Bufinefs that you have heard.

L. C. J. Wou'd you have them read, Bro-

ther ?

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Yes, my Lord.

L.C.J. Who proves them?

Then the Juftices of Peace [wore them.

Mr. Juft.
Pemberton. Sir William Waller, Did

he confefs he left them with my Lord Lati-

mer?
Sir William Waller. Thefe are the Papers

that were confeffed to be carry*d to my Lord
Latimer.

Mr. Warcup. Osborne did fwear, that the In-

formations marked 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, were all

of his own Hand-writing, and were dictated by

the faid Knox.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And he did cOnfefs, That
thefe were the Informations that he had deliver'd

to my Lord Latimer.

Mr. Warcup. Yes, he did fo.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. It will lie on his Part, to

prove that they were true.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Which will you have read,

one, or all of them ?

Mr. Serj. Maynard. One, or Two, take Knox's

firft.

[Which was delivered to the Clerk of the Crown,
who read it in hasc Verba.]

[Numb. 1.] The Information of Thomas Knox,

fworn before me this Day
of 1 ^79-

HIS Informant doth upon his Oath declare,

A That on the firft of this prefent April, there

came one William Osborne, to the Informant in the

Painted Chamber in Weftminfter, and told to

him the faid Informant, that he had fomething of
Moment to reveal to him ; and did alfio defire the

Informant to go with him into the Abby, and he

would reveal it to him : Upon which the faid Os-
borne and the Informant being together, the faid

Osborne did tell the Informant, that his Confidence

was mightily troubled, for that he found the Lord-
Treafurer was malicioufly profecuted by Mr. Oates

and Mr. Bedlow ; for that be having been a Ser-

vant to Mr. Oates, and had often heard Mr. Oates

and Mr. Bedlow conjult together, in Mr. Oates'i

Chamber in Whitehall, and refolve how they might

contrive a Way whereby to dejiroy my Lord-Trea-

furer : And that he had chofen to reveal this Secret^

and eafie his Confidence to the Informant, rather than

to any one elfe, becaufe he thought he would keep it

fecret, for his own fake, becaufe he had already fiuf-

fiered by endeavouring to ferve the faid Lord-Trea-

furer ; and thereupon the faid Osborne fihewed to

the Informant fome Papers written, as he told the

Informant, all in his own Hand, and which were

relating to the faid Lord-Treafurer. Upon which

the faid Informant told the faid Osborne, that he

was no Servant of the faid Lord-Treafurer'.*, and
did not therefore defire to meddle in it; and that

particularly, becaufe he had never fpoke zvith the

faid Osborne before, and defired to be excufed ; up-

on which the find Osborne did prefis the Informant ;

and withal did tell him, that if he did not afifift him

in this Affair, it was refiolved both by him, and one

Mr. Lane, that they would come in on the Day of

the faid Lord-Treafurer'.* Trial, and declare the

Truth concerning what they knew, concerning the

malicious Defign of the faid Mr. Oates and Mr.
Bedlow, againft the faid Lord-Treafurer ; for

that they could not reft for fear he fhould fiufifer

innocently, whift they could, with fo good a Con-

fcience3
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fcience, as they thought, fave him. And the faid

Osborne did withal declare, that the afore/aid

Air. Lane was refolifd to /peak to the Informant

upon the aforefaid Matter : And the /aid Lane did

accordingly, upon the/aid Firfi of April in the Even-

ing, meet the Informant, and/hewed him feme Pa-

pers, wherein he had takenfeveral Memorials rela-

ting to His Majefty, the Queen, my Lord-Treafurer,

and feveral other Perfons : And did withal declare

to the Informant, that his Conference was fo trou-

bled to fee the malicious Proceedings of the faid

Mr. Oates and Bedlow againft the faid Lord-

Treafurer, that he could not reft in his Bed, until

he had disburdened it, by telling the Truth ; and if

he had not met with this Informant, he was refol-

ved to declare it fpeedily to fome one elfe ; or come

himfelf at the Day of the faid Lord- I'reafurer's

Trial, and there declare all that he knew relating to

that Ajfair. And did withal conjure the Informant*

as alfo the faid Osborne, to keep all they had told

himfecret ; for if it jloould come to the Ears of the

faid Mr. Oates and Bedlow, they would endea-

vour to poifon or murder them, the faid Os-

borne and Lane, the firfi tune they fhould fee

them.

Tho. Knox.

Then a Second was offered to be read ; but

there appearing fcandalous Matter to be in it, re-

flecting on the King, the Court thought not fit to

fufTer the fame to be read through.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. My Lord, I think it ap-

pears by the Evidence fufficiently, how they did

defign to accufe Mr. Oates.

L. C. J. Ay, Brother, come let us hear what

they can fay to it on the other fide.

Mr. Withins. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,

and you Gentlemen of the Jury ; I am of Coun-

fel for the Defendant Knox, and for Knox on-

Mr. Williams. Pray, Sir, hold ; my Lord, we
have here two Witneffes more, that will fortify

Mr. Dangerfield in what he hath faid. Call Sufan

Edwards, and Mrs. Blake.

Then Mrs. Blake appeared and was fwom.

Mr. Williams. Pray, Mrs. Blake, what can

you fay of any Reward Lane was to have, for

accufing Mr. Oates? Or any Promifes were made

to him ?

Blake. All that I can fay of Lane, is this

;

That Lane did fay once to me, I am here •, and

I was Dr.Oates's Man, and he would have bug-

gered me : And he did make Complaint for want

of Linen •, and fpoke to me to wafh him fome

Linen. Said he, Here I have no Linen, nei-

ther will they let me have any ; and his Boy

here will not ftir to look for any, unlefs Wil-

loughby fpeak to him. Then the Boy was fpoke

to.

L. C. J. What is all this ? What fays the

other Woman?
Mr. Williams. He is called Willoughby fome-

times, and fometimes Dangerfield ; for he went

by both Names : But I ask you what Money you

know was given to him ?

Blake. He told me, he was to be allowed Ten
Shillings a Week.

L. C. J. This is only to ftrcngthen his Evi-

dence.
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Blake. He never faid to me, from whom it

was.

Then Mrs. Edwards vjasfwom.

Mr. Serjeant Maynard. What do you fay,

Miftrefs ?

Edwards. May it pleafe you, I don't know
Lane; I never law him in my Life, but only
when he was fent for by Mrs. Celier, to get an
Habeas Corpus for Willoughby, who was then in

Newgate; and he did come the next Day, and
gave his Anfwer to me.

L. C. J. She fays nothing, but only he was
defired to get an Habeas Corpus for Willough-
by.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Yes, my Lord, fhe is called to

fhew you, whether Lane had not Money from
Mrs. Celier.

Edwards. That was the firfi time I faw him,
and the next Morning I faw him again: And
when he came to the Door,

. he told his Errand to
me. He faid, he could get no Habeas Corpus;
for he was fuch a Rogue, no body would meddle
nor make with him.

Dangerfield. I would fain have her ask'd this

Queftion, my Lord, if you pleafe: Did you ever
fee Mr. Knox at Mrs. Celier's Houfe?

Edwards. If I fee him, I can tell.

Then the Defendant, Knox, was fhewn to her.

Edwards. I cannot fay, this is the Man: I

have heard much talk of Mr. Knox, and that

he hath been there; but I cannot fwear this is

he.

Dangerfield. My Lord, if your Lordfhip plea-

fes, when Lane was fir ft brought to me to the

Countefs of Powis's Houfe, he was very mean-
ly equipaged, and the Countefs of Pcwis was
informed of it, and did defire me to take fome
particular care to clothe him, and that I fhould

put him into a Difguifej but at that time I had
a Suit of Clothes that were lined with blue,

which I gave to him ; and I alfo advifed him
to cut off his Hair, and to put on a Peruke,
which he did, and hath worn it ever iince, as I

believe.

L. C. J. Well, let us hear what they fay to

it.

Mr. Withins. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, I

am of Counfel in this Cafe for Mr. Knox; there

are two Perfons here made Defendants: As
for Mr. Lane, I have nothing to do with him,
nor to fay for him ; and his Cafe hath made him
appear to be a very evil Man. But, my Lord,
I do obferve that the Indidment confifts of two
Parts: The firft is, That thefe two Defen-
dants did confpire together ; and this was the

Thirtieth of April (and the Proof comes to that

Time, for it will be material in our Cafe) that

they did malicioufiy and deceitfully combine
and confpire again ft Titus Oates, Clerk, and
William Bedlozv, Gentleman, who had difcover-

ed this horrid Popifh Plot, and whom they
knew to have given Informations of it, to take

away their Reputation, and make them Wit-
neffes of no Belief, or Credit ; that is one pare

of the Indictment. The other Part is, That
to further the fame, Mr. Knox did caufe two or
three Letters to be written, as from Osborne

and Lane to him, purporting thofe Afperfions

to be laid upon Oates and Bedlcw: For the laft

6 K 2 parc
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Part of the Indictment, the Counfel for the

King have not thought fit to proceed upon it,

and they have not given an Account of the Let-

ters : But for the firft Part, their confpiring

to take off the Reputation of Oates and Bed-

low, is the only thing they fflfcve proceeded upon,

as I conceive. I muit needs fay, my Lord, that

Mr. Knox, us well as Dr. Oates and Bedlow, have

had a very great Misfortune to meet with thefe

Men.
L. C. J. To meet with whom?
Mr. IVithins. To meet with Osborne and Lane-,

for I do not here pretend to Jay any Afperfion,

or make any Reflections upon the Credit or

Reputation of Dr. Oates or Mr. Bedlow. I

think they have ferved the Nation too well to

be vilified here. But I fhall fay this, that as

Osborne and Lane had a great Defign to Dif-

grace and Difcredit Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow,

fo they had a Defign to draw my Client Mr. Knox
in, to purfue their Malice. I did fhew you,

that they did begin their Evidence, as to Time,
in April, and they have laid it fo in the Indict-

ment : We fhall prove to your Lordfhip, and

fhew you, that before this, and before that

Mr. Knox knew either Osborne or Lane, that they

had drawn up this Accufation againft Mr. Oates,

and read it to feveral Witneffes, which we
fhall produce. And afterwards, when they

came to advife how they fhould profecute the

fame, they were advifed firA to go to Mr. T'hsw-

er : He told them that it was a dangerous thing

to meddle about, and he would not involve

himfelf, but bid them take care what they did

in it. Upon this they apply themfelves to my
Client Mr. Knox, he told them the fame thing •,

it is a Matter of great Confequence, I defire

not to meddle with it. Said they, will you not

affift us in this Bufinefs, when we only difcover

this to acquit our own Confciences, who knew
thefe things to be treating and contriving againft

the King and my Lord of Danby ? For my
part, fays one of them, I cannot leave the Town
till 1 have difcovered it. Notwithftanding this,

Mr. Knox would not undertake to meddle

with it, but left them. They come to him
the fecond Time, and Mr. Knox being a young

Man, and it feems being a Servant in the Fa-

mily, entered into a Correfpondence with

them, to profecute what they had defigned to

do. There is nothing appears (and this I

would obferve, if your Lordfhip pleafe ) in

the whole Evidence, that Mr. Knox was to

fwear any thing againft Dr. Oates or Mr. Bed-

low (as I remember) but he was indeed engaged to

carry on the Profecution, thefe Witneffes in-

forming him of it •, and that it was a Truth, I

muft obferve to your Lordfhip upon their Evi-

dence, they did infinuate, as if Mr. Knox had

been at the Charge of mantaining Lane: But I

think, that Mr. Dangerfield hath pretty well

cleared whence that Maintenance came that he

gave to Mr. Lane-, that it came thro' none of the

Hands of my Client, Mr. Knox.

L C. J. No, Mr. Withlns, he is not accufed

for giving him a conftant Maintenance, but for

the Money, the Guineas and Ten Shillings. 'Tis

true, it was faid, it was to be paid again •, but

from him they had the Money: And it appears,

that he provided Lodgings for them, and paid

for their Lodgings.

D
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And pray obferve this,

That what Mr. Dangerfield fpeaks of, is of a
Time afterwards, after they had been taken and
imprifoned, and confefTed the Matter.

Mr. Withins. But this you obferve, 1 hope, my
Lord, from Mr. Dangerfield's Evidence; That
Knox was very poor, had not any thing to main-
tain himfelf with.

L. C. J. The Sums indeed do not feem to
be very great ; a Guinea, and Ten Shillings in

•Silver: But whatever it was, he gave it them,
and took Lodgings for them, and paid for
them.

Mr. Witkins. I did intend to obferve to your
Lordfhip, That it is a pretty ftrange thing, that
there fhould be a Defign to corrupt Perfons to
commit this foul and horrid Offence ; and no-
thing of a Reward or Corruption proved, but
two Guineas and ten Shillings.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What fay you to the
Promifes of 500/. and 100/. a Year a-piece ?

Mr. V/ithins. That was Lane's own Evidence.
Lane and Osborne might brag what they would
of what they were to have, and from whom;
but I believe not one in the Court be'Jeved a
Word they faid For it does appear, that Lane
did forfwear himfelf backwards and forwards, as
the Wind blew. So that, as for what Lane
hath faid, it weighs not: But we fhall call two
Witneffes, to whom Lane declared this Matter
in February and March, before the Time that
Knox was concerned : So that if we make it

appear, that the Contrivance was theirs, and there
was only a great deal of Weaknefs and Indifcre-
tion in Mr. Knox to believe fuoh idle Perfons,
againft Perfons that had fhewed themfelves fo
confiderable in this Difcovery ; I hope it will not
be thought fuch a Crime in us, feeing there is

nothing in it, but that a young Man was lead
away

; and only his Folly and his Indifcretion
drew him in, not any Malice or ill Defio-n .

Sir W. Waller. My Lord, Mr. Knox°d\d con-
fefs to me, that he did throw down a Guinea,
and then Lane and Osborne took it up ; but they
both pofitively fwore, that he threw it down for
this Reafon,*that he might fafely fwear he never
gave them it.

Mr. Saunders. All that they fwear is not
agreed to be true: My Lord, if your Lordfhip
pleafe, I am of Counfel for the Defendant Knox,
and as to that part of the Indictment that charges
him with writing the Letters, they do not pro-
ceed upon.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Yes, we do, we proceed
upon the whole

L. C. J. They proceed upon the whole, but
you may fay, if you will, they give no Proof of
it.

Saunders. Then, as to that, with Submiffion to
your Lordfhip's Judgment, the Defendant is to be
found Not Guilty.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You muft obferve, thefe
are not feveral Crimes, but one continued Crime,
and therefore the Evidence muft go to the
whole.

L. C. J. You do well to obferve it for your
Client ; but if you require it of the Counfel on
the other fide, it may be they will give you an
Anfwer, if you will undertake to affirm, that
they have given no Evidence as to that part of

the
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the Indictment wherein it fays, Mr, KjtQX con-

trived three Lexers to fcandalize Mr. Oates.

Mr. Saunders. We fubmit it to the Court whe-

ther they have or no. For the other part of the

Indictment^ wherein it is charged, that he fhould

©\alicioufiy contrive with Lane to lay a Calumny

and Scandal upon Mr. Oates and Mr. Bedlow, the

very Point we are to aniwer to is this, Whether

this were a malicious Contrivance or no, and for

that we fhall give your Lordfhip this Evidence :

That Knox was a young ignorant Man, and

drawn in by Lane arid Osborne to patronize their

Mifchief they intended againft Oates and Bedlow;

for, my Lord, Mr. Knox was not acquainted with

them, or had any thing to do with them, till

that they had contrived this matter among them-

felves: For, my Lord, we fhall call you Wit-

nefies to prove, that before Knox had to do with

them, they would have had another Perfon to

profecute this Bufinefs for them. And if we fatis-

ty you that he. was drawn in, I hope it will acquit

us ; notwithstanding I will obferve to your Lord-

fhip and the Jury, whether Lane be guilty or not

guilty does not affect us, if we were only drawn

into the Contrivance.

L. C. J. Wherever Lane's Teftimony ftands

fingly againft Knox, it is no Evidence.

Mr. J aft. Jones. But if he was not in the Plot

at the beginning, but was drawn in, and did after

proceed with them, as Dangerfield proves, I doubt

it will not acquit him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberlon. Confider a little your

Cafe ; you fay here was a Contrivance of two,

that Knox was not in the beginning, but they of-

fered it to ethers with whom it would not take.

Why, let Knox come in when he will, if he does

come into the Contrivance, and takes the Papers,

and manages the bufinefs to fix thefe Scandals,

and encourage them to carry them on, Knox is as

guilty as all the reft.

Mr. Saunders. But if thefe Men come and tell

him thefe things are true, and we can fwear them,

and fo is drawn in, it takes away the Malice of

the Contrivance.

L. C. J. This is the Ufe the Defendant Knox

his Counfel make of it: Ac firft Knox was not

acquainted with the matter ; and when he did

come to underftand it, he thought it to be true,

as they affirmed it was true, and, faid they, we
will go before a juftice of Peace and fwear it:

He was willing, there being a Difcovery of fe-

veral Confpiracies againft his Lord's Life, as they

faid, he being his Servant, he was willing to

profecute the Bufinefs ; and this is the Ufe they

make of it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Come, let us hear your

Witnefles.

Mr. Scroggs. Call Frances Lane and Mary Lane.

L. C. J. But I'll tell you what; it will be ne-

ceffary to clear your felves, as well as you can,

of thofe Papers that were delivered by Knox to

Dangerfield, and went about to the Lords in the

'fower, and afterward to Nevil, and by him a-

mended, and after delivered to Knox again by

Dangerfield : This does ftiew as if you were con-

cerned in the whole Affair, and in all the matter

of the Information, before it was cook'd and after

it was drefs'd. You mult give fome Account of

that, for that fticks ftrongly upon you.

\ [Then Mrs. Frances Lane, and her Daughter

Mary Lane, were Sworn.]

Mr. Scroggs. Mrs, Lane, are not you Mother
to Lane the Defendant?

Frances Lane. Yes.

Mr. Withins. Pray will you gi>e an Account
what your Son faid to, you in February laft ?

Mr. Serj. Maynard. We pray they may ask
their Queftions in general.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Don't you point her to a
Time.

L. C. J. Anfwer me : What hath your Son
faid to you at any time concerning Oates ?

Frances Lane. He fpoke it about March.
L.C.J. What did he fay?

Frances Lane. He ufed him uncivilly, he had
no mind to ftay with him.

L. C. J. What faid you ?

Frances Lane. I defired him to ftay longer.

L. C.J. How often did he tell you this?

Frances Lane. Several times.

L. C. J. He had left his Service once, had he
not ?

Frances Lane. Yes.

L. C. J. Was it before or after he left his Ser-
vice :

Francis Lane. Before and after too.

L. C. J. If he complained he had fo ufed him
before, why would he go to him again ?

Frances Lane. Becaufe the Times were hard,
and I perfuaded him,

L. C. J. Ay, but would you perfuade him af-

ter fuch an Abufe of your Son as that?

Frances Lane. I thought then he would not do
fo again.

Mr. Juft. Jones. When was the firft time he
complained to you?

Frances Lane. It was about Chriftmas.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Was it before Cbriftmasf
Frances Lane. It was after.

Mr. Juft Pemberton. Confider here you bring
Lane's, Mother to accufe him to excufe your felf.

L. C. J. But is this material ?

Mr. Scroggs. It is material to our Client Mr.
Knox, who was drawn in here by a couple of
Rafcals. We prove, that before this time which
Juftice Warcup and Sir William Waller have in

their Informations, they offered the fame Difco-
very to others.

L. C. J. Call them and prove it, but you will

never have the better Name for calling them ill

ones.

Mr. Scroggs. We lay all uponl,^ and Osborne,
who inveigled Knox.

Mr. Saunders. Pray, Mrs. Lane, tell the Court
and Jury how and when your Son came acquainted
with Mr. Knox.

Frances Lane. May it pleafe you, my Lord,
Osborne brings a Paper to our Houfe, and would
have had my Son have read it, but he could not,

fo he read it himfelf; and there were fome de-

fperate things in it.

L. C.J. What were they?

Frances Lane. I can't tell, they were concerning

the King and the Queen and my Lord Treafurer.

L. C. J. When was this?

Frances Lane. In March laft, at our Houfe, and

I defired them they would not meddle with fuch

things, for I faid they were things beyond them.

My Son promifed me he would not meddle with

it, but let Osborne alone with it; but faid I, pray

go to one Captain Thewer, he is a good civil

Man, and a Man of Underftanding. So they did

go as I directed them.

Mr.
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Mr.Juft. Pemberten. Who went?

Frances Lane. Osborne did.

Mr.Juft:. Pemberton. Who went with him ? for

y^u fay They.
Frances Lane. John Lane; my Son.

L. C. J. Was there any thing particular in

thofe Papers concerning Mr. Oates being guilty

of Sodomy ?

Frances Lane. I cannot fay in particular, it is a

great while ago, but he went to Captain Tbezver,

and he wifh'd him, after he had read it, faid he,

don't meddle with any of thefe things, for it will

be the worfe for you.

L. C. J. As your Son told you, you were not

by.

Frances Lane. Yes, they both told me fo. With

that fays Mr. Osborne, I'll find out one Mr. Knox,

who had been fome Acquaintance of Mr. Wig-

gins, Mr. Bedlozv's Clerk; and fo, faid he, I will

*» ask Mr. Wiggins if he be acquainted with Mr.

Knox.

L. C. J. Did you Son at that time know
Knox ?

Frances Lane. No, my Lord, he had never

feen him at that time ; fo my Son went, and they

found Mr. Wiggins and Mr. Knox walking in the

Abbey.

L. C. J. Was Lane with him then ?

Frances Lane. He went with Osborne, and came

and told me, Knox would not meddle with them.

L. C.J. Who came and told you fo?

Frances Lane. Osborne came and told me fo, and

my Son.

L. C. J. You were not by ?

Frances Lane. No, not I; but, faid he, as he

told me, I will go to him again •, and afterwards

he did meet him again, as he faid, and delivered

them to him.

Mr. Withins. Did you ever fee Knox in your

life?

Frances Lane. 1 had never feen him then.

Mr. Withins. Did you ever hear your Son fay,

he did know Knox before that time?

Frances Lane. Never in my life.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But you do not prove that

they were not acquainted.

L. C. J. Do you believe Osborne faid true,

Mr. Saunders ?

Mr. Saunders. Not when he fpoke to Sir-William

Waller to accufe my Client of the Contrivance.

L. C. J. In that cafe, when 'tis againft your

Client he did not, but in other cafes he might

;

well, go on.

Mr. Withins. Which is Mary Lane ?

Mary Lane. I am fhe, Sir, I can fay no more

than my Mother hath faid, I was by at the fame

time.

Mr. Saunders. Do you know when John Lane

came acquainted with Knox? was it before April

laft, or after?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. How is it poffible that

any one can fwear a Negative?

Mr. Saunders. If we can't prove the Negative,

nor they the Affirmative, it will be prefumed they

were not, becaufe it is not known.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Nor do you prove any

Informations before given to any one.

Mr. Saunders. Yes, To Tbezver.

Mr. Withins. We will ask the Daughter about

that.

Frances Lane. She can only prove it by hearing

it, for fhe was fick.

Mr.' Withins. Young Mr. Lane, what was
there in that Paper that Osborne brought to your
Houfe ?

Mary Lane. There was concerning the King,
and the Queen, and my Lord-Treafurer.'

L. C, J. Was there any thing in it concerning
Mr. Oates ?

Mary Lane. Yes, there was concerning his Beaft-

linefs.

Mr. Juft. Pe?nberton. Who read it ?

Mary Lane. Osborne I did hear read it.

Mr. Saunders. Your Brother was not acquainted
with Knox then?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. How can they tell that?

'tis impoflible.

L. C. J. The Nature of the thing is fuch,

that it can be proved no otherwiie. But it

feemed to them that they were of no Acquain-
tance •, it is hard to prove when an Acquaintance
begins.

Mr. Saunders. And further than this we can-
not go in fuch a Cafe ; for that thing of the
great Sums of Money, certainly it was as little

a thing as could be; there was no more in the
cafe than a Guinea, and ten Shillings, and three

half Crowns, as proved, and he was cheated of
them, it feems, for they would not do the

Work.
Mr. Scroggs. 'Tis an improbable thing that he

mould be fo poor as to fell the Handle of his

Sword, and yet be engaged in the Management
of fuch a Plot, and not have Money for it.

L. C. J. There is no great (lore of Money ap-
pears to be given to Lane, but he was kept upon
a mean Maintenance.

Mr.Juft. Jones. But it was not without Expec-
tation of a Reward.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He tells you the Wages
was to be paid when the Work was done.

L. C. J. And when the Roguery was difco-

vered, they had no more Money then.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. When the Bufinefs came
to be controverted thus, they had no reafon to

give it.

Mr. Saunders. Though Lane had Maintenance,
yet our Client Knox was not taken fuch care of;
ftill there was Provifion made for him, but none
for us, becaufe we were drawn in and did not

contrive it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But remember, Mr. Saun-
ders, by the fame Hand there were forty Shillings

given at one time.

Mr. Withins. Well, my Lord, we have done:
We fay, that we had no part in the Malice of
the Contrivance, and therefore ought not to be
punifhed with them.

L. C. J. Well, Mr. Holt, what fay you for

Lane?
Mr. Holt. My Lord, I am affign'd of Counfel

for the Defendant Lane. I have no Witneftes at

all to examine, but only fhall make fome little

Obfervations upon the Evidence that is given for

the King. As for the Indicfment it fell-, though
it is not feveral Crimes, but one complicated
Crime ; yet the Evidence that is given is only to
one part thereof; and therefore I fubmit it to

your LordfTiip, if the Proof be proportionable
to the Charge, and whether the Defendant
ought not to be found Not Guilty. There hath
been great mention made of the writing Letters,
yet it would be hard that the Defendant mould
be found Guilty of fuch an Offence, when the

Proof
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Proof does not come up fo high ; that would in-

troduce a leverer i'unifhment than the Crime pro-

ved would juftify.

Mr. Juft. Pemberlon. Pray, Mr. Holt, don't go

away with that ; I muft fet you right a little there

:

The Crime, that is laid is, To diicountenance the

King's Evidence, and to make them that they

fhould not be believed. The Means are feveral,

partly by calling or" Crimes upon them, partly

by writing Letters ; that Crime is another thing,

and therefore if they do not find them Guilty of

every one of the particular means, yet the Crime

mult be found.

L. C. J. You are in the right thus far

Mr. Holt; they have Jaid the Indictment, That
they endeavouring to difparage the Credit of Oates

znd Bedlow, have, for Money's fake, and by Pro-

miles and Contrivances, and writing of Letters,

wherein was fcandalous matter againft Oates and

Bedlow ; they thereby did attempt to difcredit

them. Now fay yen, if this matter be not pro-

ved, that there was any fcandalous matter con-

cerning Oates and Bedlow, then the Contrivance is

not proved : But what though all the Fads in

the Indictment are not proved, yet if there be

enough to prove your Contrivance to Difcredit

them ; and if you fuppofe the Evidence true that

is given, it refts, I think, plainly upon your

Client, and you cannot get off from it: But if

there be not fufficient Proof to maintain the In-

dictment for the Crime of endeavouring to dif-

credit Oates and Bedlow, unlefs they prove the

Letters alfo, you fay lomething ; but there is the

Bufinefs that fticks on you, they have proved

enough without that.

Mr. Holt. If the Jury do not find them Not
Guilty generally, may they not find them Not
Guilty of writing the Letters ?

L. C. J. No : For if the other part of the Evi-

dence did not amount to a Proof of a Defign of

Difparaging their Teftimony, you had a very

ftrong Objection of it: But if they lay five things,

and they prove but one of them upon you ; if

that one ferves to the Difparaging of Oates and

Bedlow, which is the Subftance of the Indictment,

that maintains the indictment.

Mr. Holt. It does fo, my Lord; but not the

Aggravations.

L. C. J. All that you fay then is in mitigation

of a Fine ; but if all be true that is proved upon

your Client, as I fee no reafon to doubt it, you

will fave but litttle by this Defence.

Mr. Holt. My Lord, as to the Matter, it all

depends upon the Credit of the Witneffes, and

Credibility of the Circumftances in themfelves,

and one with another. Some of the Evidence is

but very flight, and fure were but produced to

fpend Time.

L. C. J. Indeed there was a great deal of it

to little purpofe : for ought I fee, this Trial need-

ed not to have been above an Hour.

Mr. Holt. As for his faying he fhould have a

100/. a Year, and the bettering of his Fortune,

it was but his Vanity and Extravagance.

L. C. J. Mr. Holt lioes argue as much for his

Client as the Cafe will bear.

Mr. Holt. They have endeavoured to lay all

upon us ; now" if fo be we are affected with any

fevere Evidence, I think the fame Evidence (to

requite them) does affect them.

L. C. J. This is a kind of Battle-Royal, where

every one hath two Enemies to oppofe.

Mr. Holt. Here is Mr. Dangerfield, he comes,
and in his Evidence tells you, That my Lady
Powis was fo long upon her Knees to thank God
that her Party was fo much ftrengthen'd by the

Acceflion of Lane: My Lord, I defire the Qua-
lity of Mr. Lane may be taken notice of; a
Footman and a young rafh Fellow, one that both
for Age and Quality could not be very confider-

able.

L. C. J. But two WitnefTes are better than
one, Mr. Holt; do you remember that? Knox
ufed that Expreftion, If Lane do but keep firm,

we (hall be too hard for Osborne alone, for two
Witneffes are better than one ; but by that he
counted Lane worth fomething.

Mr. Holt. You mull confider, what he was to

fwear, they could fcarce get an Evidence fo pro-
per for what they would have him fwear.

L. C J. Mr. Williams, what Anfwer can you
give to all the Tranfactions that Mr. Dangerfield
tells you of about Knox ? Btfides, take notice of
this ; you would have this to be a Contrivance by
Lane and Osborne, to be between themfelves, and
that your Client muft be a Stranger to it ; and
when he comes to know it, he knows it only as

a Remorfe of Confcience that they tell him they

have, and defire him to go with them before a
Juftice of Peace to fwear it, and he hearing

fomething that might affect his Mafter the Earl
of Danby, and believing that all was true, did
encourage that matter only for his Matter's

Service, and thought he did a good Act in it.

But your fubfequent Behaviour fhews it was a
Confpiracy rather; for, firft, your fecret ways
of fending your cunning Notes, We all clutfd to-

gether, and you paid two Shillings at the Sugar-

loaf; tear this; which fhews, and does to my
apprehenfion fignify, as if he would never own
that he fpent any thing upon them, and that he
was bountiful to them. And then the giving of

Money to the Man to convey Notes, that they

might not betray one another ; do not all chefe

fubfequent Actions, efpecially thofe Dangerfield

tells you of, and receiving the Papers after they

were enlarged upon, fpeak it a Confpiracy ? What
can you fay to all this ?

Mr. Williams. My Lord
Mr. Juit. Pemberton. Stay a little, and anfwer

all together. Do but confider with your felf,

thofe Informations your Client Mr. Knox did own
he took, and before they were fworn, and car-

ried them to my Lord Lafaner's Lodgings, and
he himfelf owns, that he took Lodgings for them,

and lay with them, and when the Lords were in

purfuit of them.

L. C. J. And then does he fteal them from

place to place, and takes Lodgings for them,

and pays for them.

Mr. Juft. Jones. He brings one of them to

make Affidavit, and will keep it by him, is fhy

of fhewing it : afterwards does fhew it, this

makes him a Contriver too, as well as an Exe-
cutor.

Mr. Saunders. If your Lordfhip pleafe

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Confider too the Papers

that were put in too of Caution, that Knox and

they fhould not be found in feveral Tales ; for

Knox had been examined before they were : what

was the meaning of thofe Inftructions?

L. C. J. If you have any Witneffes to wipe

your felves clean from the matter of receiving

the Papers from Dangerfield, and taking Lodgings
for
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for them when they were under that Accufation, true, fo might Mr. Knox as well, when he fawfor them when they were under that Accufation,

do.

Mr. Saunders. I have a word to anfwer upon

the Teftimony of Mr. Dangerfield.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Confider this, that he at-

tempted another Man upon the fame Account

;

your Client did tempt Wiggins to do the fame

thing to his Mailer.

Mr. Saunders. That was in February before,

and all that he faid was, that he would have had

out of Mr. Bedlow's Servant, what Company his

Mafter kept, and what he did.

L. C. J. You do obferve right.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And to have betrayed his

Papers to him.

L. C. J. That does not reach this Indictment

indeed •, but that thing that he would have tempt-

ed him to, was to have difcovered, and to have

a Tranfcript of all the Papers that concern'd my
Lord of Danby •, that he mould watch his Com-
pany, and know what Lords were with him,

that he might make his pppofition as well as he

could, and that he mould have what Place he

did defire under my Lord. It does not affect the

Cafe of the Indictment, but it mews you are a

Tempter of Men, and that you are a Cautioner,

that you would hire a Man to betray his Mafter's

Papers, which is not fair, let the Mafter be who
he will.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. It facilitates the belief of

this.

L. C. J. Yes;, Ay, ay, it is to make the Jury
more apt to credit what the Evidence of this par-

ticular Fact is.

Mr. Saunders. My Lord, let me offer this

Word, and I fubmit : Mr. Dangerfield himfelf

does fwear, that Lane brought him a Paper con-

taining the fame matter that he did falfly accufe

Mr. Oates of, and he read it over three times to

him, and then he fwore it before Sir James But-

ler. My Lord, I will put my Caufe upon that

Point, Whether Mr. Dangerfield did not believe

it to be true at that time.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Your Client is the more mif-

chievous Man, to contrive it fo, as to make the

thing to be believed when it was falfe.

L. C. J. The ufe of the Argument he makes
is this-, That as Mr. Dangerfield might be de-

ceived into a belief that the Information was

true, fo might Mr. Knox as well, when he faw

one ready to fwear it : But hath Dangerfield

done thofe fubfequent Acts which he hath done

in the Confederacy, for which he is now In-

dicted ?

Mr. Saunders. He fwears in his Information,

that" they came to his Hands from Lane and Of-
borne.

L. C. J. Well Gentlemen, you of the King's

Council and of the Jury, you need not any fum-
ming up of the Evidence, I thin kthe thing is evi-

dent.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Gentlemen, it is a very

clear Cafe, as clear as the Day •, I think you need

not go from the Bar ; but do as you will.

[ "Then the Jury laying their Heads together,

agreed without delay, and without moving

from the Bar.~]

CI. of Cr. Gentlemen, Are you all agreed of
your Verdict.

Omnes. Yes.

CI. of Cr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Omnes. Foreman.
CI. of Cr. How fay you, are the Defendants

Guilty of the Offence and Mifdemeanor where-
of they ftand Indicted, or not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

[dt which the Peoplegave a great Shout.']

Mr. Serj. Maynard. My Lord, I pray the

Verdid may be Recorded.
Mr. Juft. Jones. Let it be fo. Come, where

are thefe two young Fellows ? Let us fee if they
can (hew their Faces now.
[And they were brought into the middle of the Court .]

Knox. Will your Lordfhip give mc leave to
fpeak one Word for my felf ?

Mr. Juft. Jones. No, no, there's no fpeaking
now ; take them into your Cuftody, Marfhal.

[Which was done
t
and the Court broke up.]

They were afterwards fentenced : 'Thomas Knox
to a Fine of 200 Marks, a Year's Imprifonment,
and to find Sureties for his good Behaviour for

three Years. John Lane to a Fine of 100 Marks,
to ftand in the Pillory for an Hour, and to be
Imprifoned for one Year.

XC. The



i6'

^3QQgQOQQOgQQ'gQOgOOgQQJQQggpQQQQQQQQQQQgQQQaQQ^^
WWWipr^
XC. T'fe Tr/W; o/Lionel Anderson, aliasMunson^
William Russel, alias Napper, Charles
Parris, alias Parry, Henry Starkey, James
Corker, William Marshal, and Alex-
ander Lumsden, with the Arraignment of'Joseph
Kemish, at the Old-Baily, for High -Treafon, being

Romifh PrieftS) Jan. 17, 1679. 31 Car. II.

EEPER, fet David Jofeph

Kemljh to the Bar.

[Which was done7\

David Jofeph Kemifh, hold

up thy Hand. [Which he did. ]

Thou ftandefi Inditled by the Name of David Jo-

feph Kemifh, of the Parifh of St. Giles'* in the

Fields, in the County of Middlefcx, Clerk ; for

that thou being born within the Dominions of our

Sovereign Lord the King, and being a Priejl, made

and ordained by Authority derived from the See of

Rome, after the Feajl of the Nativity of St. John

Baptift, in the firft Year of the Reign of Queen

Elizabeth, and before the Fifteenth of November,

In the Thirtieth Tear of the Reign of our Sovereign

Lord the King that now is, The Laws and Statutes

of this Kingdom of England not regarding, nor the

Penalties in the fame contained any ways fearing,

the faid 15th day of November, in the %otb Tear

of the King aforefaid at the Parifh of St. Giles'*

in the Fields, in the County of Middlefex afore-

faid, traiteroufly, and as a falfe traitor of our So-

vereign Lord the King, thou waft and didft remain

and abide, againft the Form of the Statute in this

Cafe made and provided, and againft the Peace of

our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dig-

nity. How fayeft thou, David Jofeph Kemifh, Art

thou Guilty of this High-Treafon whereof thou

ftandefi Inditled, or Not Guilty ?

Kemifh. Not Guilty.

CI. ofCr. Culprit i How wilt thou be Tried?

Kemifh. By God and my Country.

CI. of Cr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Kemifh. I cannot fpeak, I am not able to Hand

upon my Legs a quarter of an Hour;
* L. C. J. What does he fay ?

Capt. Richardfon. He fays he is fo ill

and weak he is not able to ftand.

L. C. J. Then he mufl have a Stool.

Kemifh. I am not able to fpeak in my own De-

Fence, and I have had no Time to prepare my
fclf.

L. C. J. Captain, He mail fpeak foftly to you,

and you fhall report it to the Court again.

Capt. Richardfon. You may fpeak foftly to me*

and I will give an Account what you fay.

L. C. J. How will he be Tried? Ask him.

Kemifh. I would defire my Trial might be de-

ferr'd till I be in a Condition to anfwer for my
felf.

Vol. II.

* Sir William

Scroggs.

L. C. J. What fay you, Brothers, I think his
Requeft is very reafonable •, he appears not to be
in a Condition of taking his Trial now, and
Mr. Attorney is willing he fhould be fet afide till

next Scffions.

* Mr. Att. Gen. »Tis, I think, very * Sir Cnfatl
fit, if your Lordfhips pleafe. Lvainx.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. He mufl Plead firft. Have
you recorded his Plea?

Cl.ofCr. Yes, 'tis recorded.

L. C. J. Why then look you, Capt. Richardfon^
you muft take him back ; the Court does think
fit, and Mr. Attorney does think fit, by reafon
of his extraordinary Infirmity, that it is not fea-

fonable to Try him now. And that the World
may not fay we are grown Barbarous and Inhu-
mane, we are all contented he fhould be fet by.
Therefore let him be returned back, and in the
mean time you muft take care that he have that

reafonable looking to as is fit for a Man in his

Condition to have.

L. C. Baron. Acquaint him with what the Court
fays to you.

Capt. Richardfon. I will, my Lord.
Air. Att. Gen. My Lord, I defire that the Judges

may declare their Opinion in it.

L. C. J. They have done fo already, we do
all confent to it ; therefore take him, and go get

him a Bed.

CI. of Cr. Set William Ritjfel, alias Napper, to

the Bar. Who was Arraigned upon an Indict-

ment of the fame Form, only the Day of the Fact
differing, which was laid to be the 27th of Novem-
ber, in 30 Car. 2. To which he hkewife pleaded
Not Guilty, and put himfelf upon the Country.

CI. of Cr. Set Henry Starkey to the Bar. Whofe
Indictment was the fame, only the Time differ-

ing, which was the 26th of January 30 Car 2.

And he alfo pleaded Not Guilty, and put him-
felf upon the Country.

CI. ofCr. Set William Marfhal to the Bar. Who
being Arraigned upon a like Indictment, and the

Time mentioned to be the 15th of January 30
Car 2. And being asked, Whether Guilty, or

Not Guilty, anfwered thus

:

Marfhal. My Lord, I do find by this Indictment,

That 1 am Arraigned for the fame Crime for

which I was Tried before: I do humbly defire to

know, Whether^ according to Law, I can be tried

twice for the fame Fact ?

6 L L.C. %
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L. C. J. No, according to the Law you can-

not be tried twice for the fame Fact, nor are you

;

for before you were Indicted for having an Hand
in the great Confpiracy, for being a Confpirator

in the Plot, and now you are tried for being a

Pried, and abiding in England.

Marjhal. 1 was tried before your Lordfhip as

a Traitor.

L. C. J. You were fo.

Marjhal. Now I am tried for a Prieft.

L. C. J. Which is another Treafon.

Marjhal. If I am tried for a Prieft, I conceive

I cannot be tried unlefs as a Criminal Prieft : And
I conceive I cannot be tried as a Criminal Prieft,

unlefs it be as a Prieft that hath had fome Attempt

or Defign againft the Government.

L.C. J. Nay, you miftake there: There may
be Priefts that have had no Hand in the Plot ; if

you were acquitted for the Plot, yet you remain

a Prieft ftill. Do you fuppofe then that every

Prieft had a Hand in the Plot?

Marjhal. My Lord, I humbly conceive, that

Priefthood, as Priefthood, is no Crime at all.

L. C. J. That is no Crime at all.

Mr. Jnjl. Dolben. Come, you muft plead with-

out more ado y and you muft not ufe any more

Speeches.

L. C. J. You muft be governed in all things

by the Direction of the Court.

Marjhal. I do fubmit to the Direction of this

Honourable Bench : But, my Lord, give me
leave to fay, I fuppofe I am Indicted upon 27

Eliz. Now if it be made appear, that according

to that Statute Priefthood alone is not Trea-

fon

Mr. Jujl. T>olbcn. Then you muft fpeak k af-

terwards, but now you muft plead.

Marjhal. But if it be at leaft made doubtful,

then it becomes matter of Law ; and I have juft

occafion to infift upon it, and pray Counfel.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. You muft plead to the In-

dictment firft.

Marjhal. Why, can I ask Counfel after Plea

pleaded ?

L. C. J. Yes, you may, if matter ofLaw arife,

and you may have Counfel as to that matter.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. The Court is of Counfel for

you in fuch a Cafe.

L. C. Baron. But you muft plead firft.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. You cannot be heard at

all till you have pleaded to the Indictment.

L. C. J. Pray take the Directions of the Court.

Marjhal. I have a great deal of reafon to fub-

mit to this Honourable Court that hath been fo

full of Mercy and Clemency, and therefore I do

anfwer, That I am Not Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. How wilt thou be Tried ?

Marjhal. By the King and my Country.

L. C. J. No, no, that will not do.

Marjhal. By God and my Country.

Cl. of Cr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Set Alexander Lumjden to the Bar. Whofe In-

dictment being of the fame Nature, only reciting

the Fact to be 11 Man 3 1 Car. idi, he pleaded

Not Guilty, and put himfeif upon the Country.

Cl. of Cr. Set James Corker to the Bar ; who
was alifo Arraigned for the fame Treafon, done

upon the 24 Otlobr. 30 Car. 2di. And being

asked, Whether Guilty or Not Guilty, anfwered

in thefe Words.
Corker. My Lord, I humbly beg the Judgment

of the Court; I humbly conceive, my Lord, I
have been already tried and acquitted for this.

Crime.

L. C. J. Look you, that hath been over-rul'd

already in the Cafe of Marjhal juft now, who is

in the fame Condition : You are not now tried

for the fame Fact for which you were tried be-

fore.

Corker. My Lord, I fuppofe there is fomething
particular in my Cafe ; I was exprefly Indicted

as Clerk, one that received Orders from the See

of Rome.
Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. His Addition was Clerk,

that is all.

L. C. J. But you were not charged in that

Indictment for this Fact.

Corker. My Lord, I pleaded to that Indict-

ment under that Qualification of Clerk,

L. C. J. So Men do when they fay in the In-

dictment Labourer, plead to it in that Qualifi-

cation ; but if a Man plead by the Name of
Gent, the Queftion is not whether he be a Gent.
or no, but whether he be Guilty of the Fact he
is Indicted for : And the Queftion in your Cafe
was not whether you were Clerk or were not
Clerk, but whether you had a Hand in the Plot

or no.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. If the Jury had found you a
Prieft at that time, it had been a void Finding,

more than they were to enquire of.

Mr. Belwood. He was told fo at that time, he
was not tried for a Prieft.

Mr. Jujl. Ellis. After you have pleaded, then

you may urge what you have to fay.

Corker. Then I fay, I am not Guilty. And he

put himjelj upon the Country.

Cl. oj Cr. Set Lionel Anderjon, alias Munjon, to

the Bar. Whofe Indictment was for being a

Prieft, and abiding here the 2%th. Jan. 30 Car. 2.

And he pleaded Not Guilty, and put himfeif up-

on the Country.

Cl. oj Cr. Set Charles Parris^ alias Parry, to

the Bar. Whofe Indictment was of the fame
nature, for abiding here 30 Mail 31 Car 2. And
he alfo pleaded Not Guilty, and put himfeif up-

on the Country.

Cl. of Cr. Set all the Prifoners to the Bar that

are to be Tried. William Rujfel, Henry Starkey,

William Marjhal, Alexander Lumjden, James Cor-

ker, Lionel Anderjon, and Charles Parry.

Capt. Richardfon. They are all on.

Rujfel. My Lord, I have been confin'd, I have

not had my Liberty till within thefe two or three

days.

L. C. J. What then ?

Rujfel. I have not had my Friends to come to

me, to advife me upon what Account I was to

be Tried.

Capt. Richardjon. He fays, he wanted his Friends

to advife for what he was to be Tried.

L. C. J. Why, he knows he is to be Tried for

a Popifti Prieft.

Capt. Richardjon. Here is one fays he is fick.

L.C.J. Who is that?

Capt. Richardjon. 'Tis Anderjon.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Then he muft have a

Chair to fit down on.

L. C. J. We will try him firft that is fick.

Then the Prifoners were called to their Chal-

lenges, and the Jury of Middlefex appearing upon
their
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their Summons, and none of them being excep-

ted againft, the Twelve that were firft called and

fworn, were the Gentlemen following:

John Bradfhaw,
Lawrence Wood,

"1 {'Anthony Hall,

Samuel Jewel,

Matthew Batcman, I j ,J Richard Sealing,

John Vyner,

Francis Mayo,
Martin James,

'Ihornas Hall,

Richard Bromfield,

Samuel Lynne.

Then they were number'd, and Proclamation

for Information in ufual manner was made.

L. C. J. Come, begin with the fick Man An-

derfon ; and ict away the reft.

Cl. of Cr. Lionel Anderfon, hold up thy Hand.
You that are fworn, look upon the Prifoner and

hearken to hisCaufe. Pie ftands indicted by the

Name of Lionel Anderfon, &c. Upon this Indict-

ment he hath been Arraigned, and thereunto hath

pleaded Not guilty ; and for his Trial hath put

himfelf upon God and his Country, which Coun-

try you are Your Charge is to enquire, whether

he be guilty, &c
Mr.Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury ; the Prifoner at the

Bar, Lionel Anderfon, alias Manfon, ftands Indict-

ed for High-Treafon •, and it is alledged in the In-

dictment, That he being born within the King's

Dominions, and made a Prieft, and having re-

ceived Orders by pretended Authority from the

See of Rome, he did the 28th Day ok January

laft come into the Kingdom of England, that is,

as 'tis laid, in the Parifh of St. Giles in the Fields,

in this County ; and there he did abide contrary

to the Form of the Statute. And this is laid to be

Traiteroufly done. To this he hath pleaded

Not Guilty, and we are to prove it upon him

by the King's Evidence, whom we are now to

call.

Anderfon. My Lord, for my flaying in the

Kingdom, I had the King's exprefs Command,
and an Order from the Council-Board : In the

Year 7 1 , they ordered Mr. Peter Welfh, and my
felf, with four or five others, who had in Writ-

ing afferted his Majefty's juft Rights over all his

Subjects, whether Proteftant or Papift, againft

thofe fo frequently imputed Ufurpations of the

Court of Rome. After this Plot was difcovered

1 came to the King, being afraid of being in-

volved in the general Calamity, and faid to him,

Sir, I defire to know what to do ?

L.C.J. Do, Why?
Anderfon. Good my Lord hear me out. My

Lord Privy-Seal brought me an Order from the

Council-board, and fo 'tis Recorded ; and I think

Dr. Oates will be fo juft to me, as to acknowledge

that he hath feen it, and this is all that 1 have to

fay.

L. C. J. If you have an Order from the Coun-
cil to protect you, you mull apply your felf elfe-

where -, our Bufinefs is to trv the fingle IfTue, whe-

ther you have offended againft the Law.
Anderfon. My Lord, I that am but a poor lit-

tle Individuum, who am born with an innate and

implicit Obedience to my King, pray judge whe-

ther it lie in my power to difpute with him and

his Council, whether they can legally do this or

no ? Or that I ought to obey the King's Com-
mand. My Lord, I am put upon a hard Di-

lemma ; if I (notwithftanding his Majeftv's Com-
mand to the contrary) go out of tiie Kingdom,
Vol. II.

then the fevere Imputation upon us is urged a-

gainft me, That 1 have, with my Religion, re-

nounced my Natural Allegiance: And if I ftay,

then by the Law (as you tell me) 1 forfeit my
Life.

Mr. Belwood. This is not a Time for him now
to infift on this matter.

L. C. J. Referve your felf till the King's Ccun-
fel have done, and the Evidence given.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Let him fave his Speech till

fuch time as he comes to anfwer for himfelf.

L. C. J. Give him a Chair if he be not able to

Hand.

Sir J. Keiling. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,
and you Gentlemen of the Jury, Lionel Anderjon,
otherwife Munfon, the Prifoner at the Bar, ftands

indicted here, for that, he being a Subject born
within the Dominions of the King, hath taken
Orders from the See of Rome, and hath contrary
to the Lav/ come into England, and ftaid here as

a Traitor : For this Treafon he is Indicted, and
the Indidtment is grounded upon the Statute of
the iyth Eliz. a Statute made almoft an hundred
Years fince, and it was upon great occafion :

For it tells you plainly, That thefe Priefts that

had taken Orders from the See of Rone, were not
only bufy in feducing and perverting the King's
Subjects to the Romifb Superftkion ; but they had
made many Attempts upon the Government,
raifing Sedition and Rebellion, and levying War
againft their Sovereign ; which is evident from
the Preamble of the Statute it feJf. And it is

true, the Lenity and Mildnefs of our Princes hath
in a great meafure let this Statute lie afleep ; they

have not been willing to execute the Severity of
the Law upon all occafions at all times : But the

occafion being renewed at this time, for the re-

medying of which this Statute was principally

made (that is to fay, raifing Seditions and Com-
motions, and Rebellion againft the King, the

Particulars of which I fhall not enlarge upon, it

hath been notorious in this place) that is the-Rea-

fon of the prefent Profecution of thefe Perfons :

Who have not been contented to enjoy the Indul-

gence of our Princes, fwhich hath been extended

to them, notwithftanding all their former nume-
rous Affronts that they have given) but have raif-

ed new Commotions, and made Attempts upon
the Perfon of our King, and of our Govern-
ment, and that is the Occafion upon which
thefe Perfons come to be tried. It is not pure-

ly (though that is a main Ingredient^ that they

are tried quatenus Priefts, but as ordained by
the See of Rome, and coming into England and
abiding here. For a Prieft, if he be ordained

by the See of Rome, if he comes not here, can

do no hurt ; but it is his coming and abiding

here, that makes him the Subject of this Punifh-

ment, and hath occafioned this Man's Profecu-

tion. Now, my Lord, we fhall prove that this

Anderfon alias Munfon hath taken Orders from

the See of Rome, whofe Authority conftituted

him a Prieft, and this we fhall prove by feveral

Inftances and Steps ; and then we doubt not but

you will take that Care for the Prefervation of

the Government, and for. the Peace and Quiet

of the Nation, which becomes you, and give a

Verdict according as your Evidence fhall lead

you.

Mr. Serj. Strode. My Lord, we fhall call our

Evidence. The Fact is this, That this Perfon

being a Subject of the King's, and having re-

6 L 2 ceived
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ceived Orders from the See of Rome, that is, be-

ing a Romijh Prieft, did come and abide here

contrary to the Statute-, not that his Priefthood

is the Crime, no 'tis his being a Subject of the

King's, and owning an Authority from Abroad,

and -thereby denying the Authority of his own
Sovereign. To prove this, we fhall call Dr.

Oates, Mr. Bedlow, Mr, Bangerfield, and Mr.
Praunce. \Who were allfworn.'\ Set up Mr. Dan-
gerfield firft. Mr. Dangerfield, tell my Lord and

the Jury what you know of the Prifoner at the

Bar, M r. Anderfon.

Dangerfield. What I do know againft him ?

L. C. J. Yes, for being a Prieft.

Dangerfield. What, that particularly ?

L. C. J. Yes, that particularly.

Dangerfield. My Lord, about the latter end of

May, or beginning of June, when 1 was a Pri-

foner for Debt in the King's- Bench, this Perfon

took occafion to fpeak privately to me, and de-

fired me to go into his Room : Pie told me he

had received a Letter from my Lady Powis, and
that Letter was burnt. But the next Letter that

came from my Lady Pcwis, he would fhew it .

me. And he did fo ; and the Contents of the

Letter was, as near as I can remember, jufl thus :

Sir, You muPc defire Willoughby to fcour his Ket-

tle j which was to confefs, and receive the Sa-

crament, to be true to the Caufe. A little after,

that was Saturday, and I think it was the next

Day, being Sunday, I went into Mr. Anderfotfs,

alias Munfons Chamber, and there I went to Con-
feflion, and received Abfolution. And he fent me
to another Perfon to receive the Sacrament, who
was faying Mafs at that time. And when 1 had
received the Sacrament and return'd to him again,

he did tell me, That he, as a Prieft, did give

me free Toleration to go and be drunk, and
drink with one Stroude : and I asked him, being

fomething fcrupulous in the matter, Whether I

might lawfully do it, having but juft received

the Sacrament ? he told me, Yes, he gave me
Authority fo to do, being for the good of the

Caufe.

L. C. J. Were you a Papift then ?

Dangerfield. Yes, I was.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. You went to Confeffion to

him, and received Abfolution ?

Mr. Belwocd. What was the good of the Caufe
that he meant ?

Mr. Serj. Strode. If you pleafe, give an Ac-
count of the whole Thing.

Dangerfield. That was, as I was employed in

a general Affair for the Catholicks: For I was to

ufe my Endeavour to bring over Stroude to be a
Witnefs for the Lords in the Tower, concerning
the Plot, and to invalidate Mr. Bedlow'% Tefti-

mony.

Anderfon. Here I am upon my Life and Death ;

all the World knows me, that hath heard of my
Name'
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Pray make no Speeches,

ifyou will ask any Queftions you may.
Anderfon. No, I won't. Pray do not interrupt

me •, I perceive vou have a Pique againft my Life,

and it may be I am as ready to give it, as you
are to defire it; I wifli that all the Punifhments
of Hell and Damnation may come upon me, if

ever I open'd my Mouth to this Rogue for one
Farthing, or about any fuch Bufinefs in the
World.

/.< C. J. You mud not call him Rogue in open

Court. Let us have that Refpect fliewn us that

is fitting,- and fo fhall you have ; but this Lan-

guage we muft not fuffer.

Anderfon. In the firft place, I will bring all the

Prifoners in the King's-Bench Prifon to teftify,

That I defired to be removed to Newgate, for

here was the greateft Rogue come in that was in

England.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. This muft not be fuffer'd.

L. C. J. If you will ask him any Queftions,

you may.

Anderfon. Well, come Mr. Dangerfield, in the

firft place, Who ever faw you with me ? 'Tis

impoflible but fome body muft fee you with me, if

we were together, as you fay.

Dangerfield. My Lord, there is one Hill, that

is now a Prifoner in the King's-Bench, that faw

me feveral times go into his Chamber.

L.C.J. Was there any body by when you

confeffed your felf to him ?

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Confeflions ufe to be in fe-

cret.

Dangerfield. No, my Lord, he was not m the

Chamber, neither was it reafonable he fhould, but

he faw me go in often.

Anderfon. Surely, Mr. Dangerfield, you and I

could not be fo well acquainted, but fomebody or

other muft take notice, that we fpoke together

fometimes. Now if you can produce any one

body that will teftify it, 1 will be bound to be

bang'd, and fay no more.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. He is not bound to bring

Witneffes to this purpofe. Lie fwears the Fact

charged upon you pohtively.

Dangerfield. This Hill, my Lord, that is in the

King's-Bench, hath made Oath of it before Mr.
Juftice Fofter.

Anderfon. But, my Lord, this one thing I have

to fay againft this Rogue ; there is a Statute,

made fince his Majefty's happy Reftauration,

which judges what fhall be Treafon during his

Majefty's Life : And after enumerating the

Crimes, and directing that the Offender^// be

convicled by the Oaths of two Lawful, adds, and

Credible Witneffes : As if the Prudence of our

Legiflators, which brings good out of evil, and

meafures the Subjects future Safety by paft Prac-

tices, judges that Claufe neceflary, and credible.

L. C. J. Pray fpeak out, Sir, for I cannot hear

you.

Anderfon. My Lord, I underftand the Meaning
applicable to me thus, That fince the Statute does

ufe the Word (Credible) as well as Legal, it

does judge that both would be very neceflary.

Now that he is not a credible Witnefs I can

prove

L C. J. Why is he not credible ? Certainly if

he be legal he is credible.

Anderfon. No, my Lord, that does not follow.

Firft the

Mr. Recorder. 'Tis not his time to make this

fort of Defence.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. He fhould have done it be-

fore the Witnefs was fworn, if he would except

againft hisTeftimony.

L. C. J. But why is he not a good Witnefs,

pray ?

Anderfon. My Lord, a Man pilloried twice,

that hath broke Prifon once, and committed o~

ther heinous Offences

L. C. J. Where is the Record of any of this?

Anderfon.
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Anderfon. My Lord, I'll tell you how I prove

it. That worthy Gentleman, Colonel Man/el,

whom this Villain would have involved in—
L. C. J. You rnuft not do thus, abufe Perfons

with Words, without Proof.

Anderfon. What, to prove it is Day ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He muft not be fufFer'd

fo to do.

Anderfon. Why, here is Captain Richardfon,

[Taking him at the fame time by the Shoulders.
~\

knows what I fay to be true : Come, fpeak,

you have been familiarly acquainted with that

Rogue, (pointing at Dangerfield.) [Captain Ri-

chardfon laughing, 1 muft not witnefs7\ My Lord,

I will do thus no more •, indulge a little to my
Innocency and Infirmity.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You don't feem to have

fo much Infirmity upon you.

Anderfon. My Lord, I will produce that wor-

thy Gentleman, Colonel Manfel, whofe innocent

Blood was defign'd to be ihed by that Villain

;

who Hood qualified then (as he doth now) with

that magnificent Title of the King's Evidence

;

but as foon as Colonel Manfel urged, that he

was Pillory'd twice, &c. our worfhipful King's

Evidence was clap'd up, and Colonel Manfel left

at Liberty.

L. C. J. Have you that Record here?

Anderfon. 1 have not.

Sir John Keiling. We pray we may go on

then.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Set up Dr. Oates. Dr. Oates,

will you tell what you know of this Matter ?

Oates. My Lord, he is a Prieft. I can in Sin-

cerity fay it ; I have heard him fay Mafs my
felf.

L. C. J. Where ?

Anderfon. 'Tis very true, I did it ; but, my
Lord, I will fhew you, Mafs is no Proof of a

Prieft: For, 1. The Statute makes a Difference

between faying Mafs, and being a Prieft -, in pu-

nifhing Priefts with Death •, but faying of Mafs,

with a pecuniary Mulct of 200 Marks, and a

Year's Imprifonment.

Oates. He does execute the Office of a Prieft,

for I have been at Confeffion with him as a

prieft, and have feen him confecrate the Sacra-

ment, and 1 have feen his Letters of Orders as a

Prieft.

L. C. J. Did he wear the Habit of a Prieft ?

Oates Yes, at Mafs.

Mr. Belwood. Pray, Sir, are you fure you faw
his Orders as a Prieft ?

Oates. Yes, I did.

L. C. J. Of what Order is he ?

Oates. A Dominican Frier he is.

L. C. J. What can you fay to that ?

Anderfon. I can fay enough •, but what can I

fay againft the King's Evidence ? Your Lordfbip

fees this makes a very fine Jingle, but there is no

Proof of it.

L. C. J. We can go no further than the Evi-

dence. He fays, You are a Dominican Frier

:

That he heard you fay Mafs : That he faw you
confecrate the Sacrament. And 1 am fure you
allow none but a Prieft to do that.

Anderfon. I underftand by the Laws of Eng-
land, that I am try'd upon a Statute which makes
Priefthood a Crime. Now I will ask Mr. Oates

a Queftion : Mr. Oates, can you prove, that I

received Orders from the See of Rome ? You
are to prove, by this Statute, three things a-

gainft me, I am tried upon a Penal Statute, which
ought to be confirmed moit in favour of the Pri-

foner.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Ask him any Queftions,

if you will, but this is not your Time for argu-

ing.

L. C. J. Look you, we muft do with you as

we have done with others, and. will do with the
reft. If you mean that this Statute fhould never
have any Effect, that is, that the Priefts fhall not
be convicted as fuch, unlefs we can produce Wit-
neffes that faw them take Orders, then you have
avoided all the Statute ; but if fo be it be plainly

proved, that you have done the A£ta of a Prieft,

thofe that none are allow'd of to do, or under-

take to do, but a Prieft, is not this a Satisfacti-

on, and a plain one too, to yourfelf and all the

World, that this Iffue, Whether you are a Prieft,

or not a Prieft, is well proved in the Affirma-
tive ?

Oates. My Lord, I faw his Letters of Or-
ders.

Anderfon. My Lord Chief Juftice, I would
fpeak a little to what you fay.

Mr Juft. Pemberton. Look you, Sir, you muft
not have fuch Liberty as this granted to you;
You may, if you will, ask Queftions, but it is

not your Time to difpute.

Mr. Juft. Jenes. You muft not invert the Or-
der of Trials. When a Witnefs is cail'd, he
muft give his Evidence. If you will ask him
any Queftions, you may do it. But if you will

obferve any thing, you have time to do it when
the King's Witnefies are all heard.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Dr. Oates, the Prifoner did

not underftand fure what you faid. Did not he
confefs to you he had Orders from Rome ?

Oates. Yes, he did confefs fo.

L C. J. You confeffed it yourfrlf.

Anderfon. My Lord, how comes it to pafs, that

I did not come here in a Yellow Coat, and was
arraigned for a Fool, and not* for a Traitor ? If

I am a Prieft, that I fhould tell him I was fuch

an one.

L. C. J. Nay, I can't tell, becaufe you did

not put it on. If you would ask him any Que-
ftions, do.

Anderfon. Yes, Whether you do know me to

be an Englifhman ? And whether you faw me take

Orders from the See of Rome ?

Oates. You faid you were an Englifhman, and

a Gentleman, and the Son of an Englifh Gentle-

man.

L. C. J. Do you deny you are an Englifh-

man ?

Anderfon. I am not, nor no Man is to be try'd

upon a Prefumption ; 'tis but a Conceit in Law,
and penal Laws are to be taken ftrictly, and in

favour of the Prifoner.

L C. J. Methinks you fpeak very like an

Englifhman.

Mr. Belwood. My Lord, we call now Mr. Bed-

low. You know the Queftion, what it is, Sir,

concerning the Prifoner's being a Prieft.

Bedlow. He is a Prieft, and an Englifhman, if

his Mother was honeft, and he honeftly born

;

for he is Mr. Anderfon*s Son of Oxford/hire, a

Gentleman of 2 or 300 /. a Year ; I know him
and his Father very well.

Anderfon. My Lord, could I but apprehend

that I lay under fo great a Guilt, as to have

been acquainted with fo great a Rogue as this.

Fellow
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Fellow is, I would have been my own Execu-

tioner, and not have expected my Sentence at this

Bar.

L. C. J. Do you know him well ?

Bedlow. Very well, both him and his Father ;

his Father is an Oxford/hire Gentleman.

Anderfon. Now I think I fhall prove the

Rogue perjur'd : Is my Lord Chief Baron in the

Court ?

Court. Yes, he is.

Anderfon. Why then my Father has the Ho-
nour to be well known to his Lordfhip, who

knows this to be falfe.

L. C. Baron *. No, no, Mr. Bedlow, he is a

Gentleman's Son of Quality in Lincolnfhire.

L. C.J. You are miftaken, you are miftaken,

his Father is a Lincolnfhire Gentleman.

Anderfon. And yet this Rogue is upon his

Oath •, but indeed all his Life / is full of fuch

Miftakes.

Bedlow. I don't know, my Lord Privy-Seal's

Nephew told me fo.

L. C. J. But what fay you to him, as to his

being a Pried ?

Bedlow. I have heard him fay Mafs.

L. C. J. Did you ever receive the Sacrament

from him ?

Bedlow. Never. Bat I have feen him admi-

nifter the Sacrament, and he was in a Prieft's

Habit.

L. C. J. Where ?

Bedlow. I think it was at the Venetian Refi-

dent's ; I am fure it was at fome of the Ambaf-

fadors Houfes.

Anderfon. This Matter is fo unlikely, I know
not what to fay to it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Will you ask him any

Queftions ?

Anderfon. Upon my Salvation I never faw him

before.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. It is a ftrange thing, that

you fhould take upon you to fay upon your Sal-

vation you never faw him : How many might

come into a Room, and you not fee them while

are at Mafs ?

Church of Rome, for I heard him fay Mafs at

fuch a Place. He told me, faid he, I have been
in Orders, but I revok'd them, and turned Pro-
teftant.

Mr. Belwood. Set up Mr. Praunce. Pray, Sir,

tell what you know.
Praunce. My Lord, I have heard him fay Mafs

feveral times at Wlld-Houfe ; and he hath given
the Sacrament there, and I have feen him take
Confeffions—

L. C.J. How often?

Praunce. Several times.

L. C. J. Then you know him very well ?

Praunce. Yes, very well.

Anderfon. I never faw him in my Life.

L. C. J. But he hath feen you.

Anderfon. My Lord Chief Juftice, I will bring
Witneffes to prove, That I did never fay Mafs at

Wild- Houfe, nor went to the Chapel : For fome
(forfooth) would needs have me to have been
Excommunicated for writing for the King's
Temporal Jurifdiction over all his Subjects ( in-

dependent of the Pope) as appears by a Letter

of the Bifhop of London on my-belialFto Sir Cle-

ment Armigcr.

L. C. J. How long have you known him ?

Praunce. Seven Years.

L. C. J. How often have you feen him fay

Mafs ?

Praunce. A dozen times.

Anderfon. It may feem ftrange that I fhould
have the Impudence to deny what this worthy
Gentleman fays. Mr. Praunce, dare you fay you
know me ?

L. C. J. Why, were you never there ?

Mr. Juft. Jones. Well, well, will you ask him
any Queftions?

Anderfon. Who did I give the Sacrament to ?

Praunce. A whole Rail-full hath been at the

Sacrament at a time ; feveral People I have feen

receive it from him.

L. C. J. Did he deliver the Sacrament to

you
*

He might come in, and you not fee

you
L. C. J. He might fee you, tho' you did not

fee him
him.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Is that any Argument, or any

thing to the Purpofe, or does that contradict the

Evidence? Does the Minifter, or ought he to

know all his Congregation whilft he is in preach-

ing?

Anderfon. I never faw him, I fay. My Lord,

I'll give you but one Argument, which is call'd

Argumentum congruentia.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Will you ask him any Que-
ftions ?

Anderfon. To what Purpofe will it be for me
to ask him ?

Bedlow. When he was firft taken I was not

ftirring; but while I was making ready they

told me there was one fufpected to be a Prieft.

I heard him fpeak in the next Room, and I

knew his Voice, and faid, That is Mr. Ander-

fon. I prefently knew his Tongue before I faw

him.

L. C. J. You knew him very well then ?

Bedlow. I never had any great Converfe with

the Man : When he was taken they asked me,

If I knew any thing of this Man about the Plot?

I told them, No ; but he was in Orders from the

Praunce. No, he did not, I commonly received

at Somerfet-Houfe.

Mr. Serj. Strode. We have done, my Lord.

Mr. Juft. Jones. The King's Counfe! have

done with their Evidence, and now you may fay

what you will:

Anderfon. My Lord ChiefJuftice, may I fpeak

now?
L. C. J. Yes, you may.

Anderfon. My Lord, all the World knows me,
and I am known to mod of the dignified Clergy

in England : My Lord Bifhop of London, and

Dr. Lloyd, and the Bifhop of Durham fent to me
to tell me, that if they knew of my Trial they

would be here. My Lord, I have lain under an

ill Cenfure for Scribbling and Writing againft

the Temporal Power of the Church of-Rome.

I never faid Mafs in any Popifh Church, I am
confident, thefe ten Years ; that I have faid Mafs,

I won't deny. I would not tell a Lye to fave

my own Life ; nay, nor would I tell a Lye to

take away the Life of the greateft Villain upon

Earth ; no, not that Rogue [Pointing to Danger-

field.] But, my Lord, I proteft there is not one

Word true that hath been fworn againft me, but

what Dr. Oates hath faid concerning my faying

Mafs. Oh ! my Lord, I would not deny it if I

were to be hang'd prefently ; and is not that a

great Evidence of my Innocence and Sincerity ?

But
William Mountague, Efq;
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But this does not prove that I am guilty of what

I am accufed for , for I am indicted upon a Pe-

nal Statute, and three things mult be proved

ftrictly to bring me within that Law : Firft, that

I am an Englijhman

L. C. J. 'Tis proved you are an Oxford/hire

Man.
Anderfon. No, my Father is Lincoln/hire, and

my Lord Chief Baron knows him.

L. C. Baron. I do know a Gentleman of that

Name there.

Bedlow. I Was told he was Oxford/hire.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. He fpeaks himlelf to be an

Englijhman. All the World knows it by your

Speech.

Anderfon. I know my Father is fo.

L. C. J. Why do you deny it your felf?

Anderfon. 'Tis one thing to deny it, and ano-

ther thing to have it proved fo : I am not to

prove it, they are.

L. C. J. He fays you are fo.

Anderfon. He talks like a Parrot: Thefe things

are to be proved ftrictly ; no Man's Life is to be

taken away by Prefumption ; which is but a Con-
ceit in Law, and ought not to overthrow that

Maxim of Law, that Penal Laws oughr to be

taken moft ftrictly in favour of the Prifoner

:

And I ought to be proved, ad lite-ram, within

the Law ; and that according to the Statute made
fince his Majefty's happy Reftoration, by two
lawful Wkneffes-, and not only by two lawful,

but by two credible Witneffes too. I fuppofe

the Gentlemen of the Jury being apprized of

thefe my Exceptions to thefe Witneffes, notwith-

ftanding give Credit to them, whom perhaps

they would not truft for 6d. in their Shops, and

make themfelves their Compurgators ; and, as in

waging Law, do take it upon their Confcience,

that what thefe Rogues fay is true.

L. C. J. So they do.

Mr. Jufi. Dolben. If thefe things are not well

proved nothing will be proved.

Mr. Jufi. Atkins. Have you any Witneffes that

you would call ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. If you will call any, you

may.

Anderfon. How mail I call them, when I did

not know of my Trial ?

Mr. Recorder*. If you will fend

iIff?fes

Georse
for any wicneffes the Court W in ftay»

if they be to any thing material.

Anderfon. My Lord, I have againft this Gen-
tleman, Mr. Dangerfield, almoft all the Prifoners

of the King's Bench for Witneffes.

L. C. J. Call them, and name them.

Anderfon. Mr. Adderly, Mr. Puller, who can

fay that I never drunk a Pot of Ale with this

Man while he was there.

L. C. J. Who would you fend for ?

Anderfon. Thofe Perfons, to prove that I had
a Grudge and Prejudice againft this Man, and
that I defired to be removed to Newgate for that

very Reafon.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But the Queftion is, Whe-
ther you be a Prieft, or no ? And you can't fend

for any one that knows you, but will fay, That
he hath taken you for a Prieft all along.

Anderfon. But (till it is but a Prefumption, not

a Proof.

Mr. Juft. Dolben The Jury is to be Judge of

that, how far that goes.

JL C. J» What do you expect for Proof ?

Do you imagine there fhould be no Proof to con-
vict you upon that Statute, unlefs we produce
fome Witneffes that actually faw you take Or-
ders. ?

Anderfon. Yes, I fuppofe fo, my Lord, be=
caule Penal Statutes are to be taken ftrictly.

L. C.y. Look you then, How vain would
you make a Statute of England, the Laws of your
Country ? How idle a Thing were it to expect
any Poffibility of Proof, fuch as to convict a
Prieft, it this be the Interpretation of the Law,
That no Man mould be convicted by a Jury
upon this Statute, but one againft whom two
Witneffes fhould fwear they faw him take Orders ?

Where can we find fuch a Witnefs?
Anderfon. Admit that this Law were thus eva-

ded, yet there would be no Inconvenience, and
J would prove it to your Lordfhip by Authority :

It was the Opinion of all the Judges, delivered

about nine Years ago to the King and Councils
upon a Queftion about Laws againft the Romifh
Reculants ; they all agreed, That this Law was
only made in terrorem.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Look you, Sir, you mutt
not talk fo, it is not to be permitted.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Will you go to Arraign the

Judges here ?

L. C y. No, no; the King's Counfel did ve-

ry honeitly and prudently upon that Matter;
For faid Sir yohn Keiling, 'Tis very true, our
Kings have not, fince this Law was made, put
the Statute in Execution unto Rigour, 'till you
your felves occafioned it; But ftill the Law was
a good Law, and abfolutely neceffary at its

making, as neceffary as the Prefervation of the

Queen's Life, and the Quiet of her Dominions ;

and now it is become as neceffary for the Prefer-

vation of the Proteftant Religion, which all your
Arts are employed to undermine ; and more ne-

ceffary again, for the Prefervation of our King's

Life, againft which your Contrivances are fo

bent.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Do you think that you
fhall be heard here to difpute againft the Law,
and fay it was no matter for the Law, it is a
void Law ; and fcandalize the Judges, that they

gave it for their Opinion, that it was only in

terrorem ?

Anderfon. No, I difpute for the Law.
Mr. Juft Pemberton. You muft employ your

Time otherwife, if you intend to be heard.

Anderfon. Then this is that I require ; I defire

thefe things may be proved : Firft, That I am
an Englijhman, and then I took Orders from Rome,
and then that I abode here contrary to the Statute,

which Things in this Penal Statute muft be pro-

ved.

L. C. y. You have, upon the Matter, proved

the Firft your felf in your Appeal to my Lord
Chief Baron, that he knew your Father, who is

a Lincoln/hire Man.
Anderfon. I might be bred and born beyond

Sea, tho' my Father was fo.

L. C.y. If you will give no Proof to the

contrary, a little Proof will ferve the Jury's Turn,

hearing you fpeak, and knowing your Father was

a Lincolnfhire Man.
Anderfon. No Negative can be fworn, they

muft prove the Affirmative.

L. C. y. That will turn the Proof upon yets

to the contrary.

Mr. Juft.
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Mr. Juft. Atkins. A reafonable Proof againft

you, with fuch Probability, will put it upon you

todifprove it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Look you, Mr. Anderfon,

if you have any Witneffes to call for, or fend

for, the Court will give you Leave to (land by

a little and fend for them ; but if you continue

to argue in this manner, the Court will give their

Directions to the Jury.

L. C. J. But, Mr. Anderfon, the Court will

do you all the Juftice that can be expected. If

you have any material Witneffes to be fent for,

the Court will have Patience till they come; but

then you muft be fure they are material Witnef-

fes, for we will not go to lofe time upon a bare

Surmife. If it be only to prove this Negative,

that Mr. Dangerfield was never in your Company
in the King's Bench, it will fignify nothing, for

there are three Witneffes without him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Have you any Witneffes

to prove that you were born beyond Sea, or any

thing that is material, we will ftay for them.

Mr. Juft. Ellis. There is nothing now in quefti-

on, but whether you be an Englifhman and a Prieft ;

and if you can prove that you are not fo, you

fay well. But I think you deny not now but that

you are a Prieft, only you would have us prove

that you are an Englijhman. Your Speech betrays

you, and there is fo much Evidence againft you,

that I have not heard in any Cafe as I know of.

And all your Witneffes will be to little Pur-

pofe.

Anderfon. Only this I defire to obferve, That
I have been a Man always countenanced by the

beft of Kings, and his Privy-Council ; and if

the Parliament had not been diffolved, I had been

protected by the Parliament: Now, I fay, if

your Lordfhips think me worthy of any Confi-

deration (as I have been a Man that have given

feveral Teftimonies of my Loyalty, and Obedi-

ence to the Government) I defire your Lordfhips

would pleafe to ftay till you know the King's

Pleafure.

L. C. J. You know where you muft apply

your felf for that •, we are barely upon our Oaths,

and fo is the Jury too, to try the Fact, whether

you be a Prieft; and this 1 will tell you, and I

muft fay to you, I dare appeal to your own Con-
fciences, whether this Iffue, your being a Romiffi

Prieft, is not as plainly and evidently prov'd to

the Satisfaction of all Mankind, as any thing can

be?

Anderfon. But it is all by Prefumption ftill.

L. C. J. Well, Gentlemen of the Jury, the

Matter that he infifts upon, are two things •,

Firft, fays he, You have not prov'd me to be an

Englijhman, and yet at the fame time he appeals

to fuch as knew his Father to be an Englijh

Gentleman ; and his Language, his Tongue be-

trays him. 'Tis true, fome kind of Evidence is

to be given, that he is an Englijhman, he himfelf

tells you, that he is born of Englijh Parents ; but

'tis a foreign Matter, that he fhould be born be-

yond Sea. And if it were fo really, then it comes

on this fide •, if he can produce any Witnefs, he

fays fomething; otherwife we leave it to you,

whether you are not fatisfied in your Confciences,

by hearing him fpeak, and underftanding who
his Father was, that he is an Englijhman. The
,next thing is for his being a Prieft : I do not know,

nor can there be expected a plainer Proof than

this that hath been given, becaufe he doth thofe

Acts which none but a Prieft amongft them does

;

he fays Mafs, he confecrates the Sacrament, he
takes Confeffion, he gives Abfolution, and all this

proved by four Witneffes.

Anderfon. That the Clerk does at Mafs, he
gives Abfolution.

L. C. J. Does or can any but a Prieft Ab-
folve?

Oates. My Lord, the Clerk, he that ferves at

Mafs at that Time, gives pro forma Abfolution
to the Prieft, without which, the Prieft cannot
approach to the Altar ; after he hath made a gene-
ral Confeffion for the whole Congregation, the
Clerk abfolves the Prieft, that he may abfolve
the Congregation.

L. C. J. Well, the Fact is plain upon you

;

we muft never expect to convict a Prieft upon this

Statute, if fuch Proof is not fufficient.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. He does acknowledge that

Dr. Oates hath heard him fay Mafs.

L. C. J. Go on to the next.

Mr. Belwood. The next we will try, fhall be
James Corker, [With whom the Jury was charged,
as with the other.,j

Mr. Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,
and you Gentlemen of the Jury ; James Corker

\

the Prifoner at the Bar, ftands Indicted for High-
Treafon, for that being born within the King's
Dominions, and made a Prieft by Authority
from the See of Rome, did traiteroufly come and
abide in England, contrary to the Law. To this

he hath pleaded Not Guilty.

L. C. J. Well, call your Witneffes.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Dr. Oates, Mr. Bedlow, and
Mr. Praunce. [Who were allfwom.'} Dr. Oates,
pray tell my Lord, and thefe Gentlemen, what
you know of this Mr. Corker's being a Prieft.

Oates. My Lord, he hath faid Mafs at Somer-

fet-Houfe ; and before the Proclamation and De-
claration in 1674, made againft the CathoJicks,
he was one of the Queen's Priefts, he is a Be-
nedicline Monk, and he hath faid Mafs at Somer-

fet-Houfe ; and I have heard him fay Mafs at the

Savoy.

L. C. J. In a PriefTs Habit ?

Oates. Yes, I have feen him in a Monk's Ha-
bit.

Corker. When.
L. C. J. Have you ever feen him give the Sa-

crament ?

Oates. Yes, I received the Sacrament from him
my felf.

L.C.J. Where?
Oates. In the Savoy.

L. C. J. Did he confecrate the Sacrament ?

Oates. Not that that I received ; I cannot fay

whether he did or no.

L. C. J. Do any Adminifter the Sacrament but
Priefts ?

Oates. They are in Orders firft. And 'tis

againft the Laws of the Church for any but Priefts

to do it.

L. C. J. None ufe to do it but Priefts, do
they ?

Oates. I cannot tell; but he that I took it

from, I always took to be a Prieft : Befidcs, I

faw his Patent to be Bifhop of London ; and they

don't ufe to make them Bifhops before they be
Priefts.

L.C.J. Did he fhew it you?
Oates. I faw it.

Mr. Juft.
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Mr. Juft. Atkins. From whom was that Patent?

Oates. It was from the See of Rome.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Under what Seal was it?

Oates. I can't tell that; but I remember that

I faw the Patent.

L C. J. Well, will you ask him anything?

Corker. When was it that you heard me fay

Mafs?
Oates. The firft time that I heard him fay

Mafs is near upon three Years ago ; and then I

heard him fay Mafs about the laft Winter was two

Years.

L C. J. How often have you heard him fay

Mafs?
Oates. Several times •, a dozen times I be-

lieve.

Corker. Was there any body with you when

you heard me fay Mafs.

Oates. I believe there was an whole Church full

at Somerfet-Houfe.

Corker. Can you nominate any in particular ?

Mr. Juft. Atkins. How can he do that? He
/ays there was an whole Church full.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Will you ask him any

more Queftions?

Corker. No.
Mr. Serj. Strode. Then fet up Mr. Bedhw.

Pray, Sir, will you tell my Lord and the Jury,

what you know of Mr. Corker's being a Prieft.

Bedlow. I have feen him. wear the Habit of a

Beneditline Monk, before the fuppreffing of the

Convent in the Savoy ; and I have feen him con-

ferring feveral People in Somerfet-houfe.

L. C. J. And gave them Abfolution ?

Bedlow. Yes.

L. C J. Do they ufe to let them fee when

they confefs ?

Bedhw. They confefs in publick, but they

fpeak fo foftly we cannot hear-, but the whole

Chapel fometimes may be full of people Conftf-

L. C. J. When was this ?

Bedlow. About four or five Years fince, when

Father Lathutn was there.

L. C. J. Did you ever hear him fay Mafs at

Father Latbum's ?

Bedlow. No, I never faw him fay Mafs, but

only confefs.

L. C. J. Did you never fee him deliver the

Sacrament?

Bedlow. No, my Lord.

Corker. When you faw me in my Habit, was

it when you came to Father Lathu?n's ?

Bedlow. I judge fo, it was feveral times, with

feveral of them.

Corker. Can you nominate any one that faw me

at the fame time ?

Bedlow. There were a whole Chapel full of

Catholicks.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. That is no great matter

whether he can or no.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. 'Tis an immaterial Queftion,

Why do you ask it?

Bedlow. My Lord, what I did was done fo

privately, that if I went but from Strand-bridge

to the Monks, I either took a Boat and went by

Water, or a Coach and went round about, to

avoid fufpicion.

Mr. Belwood. Then fet up Mr. Praunce. Pray

Sir tell what you know of this.

Praunce. I have heard him fay Mafs at Mr. Paf-

torts in Duke-Jlreet.
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L. C.J. How often?

Praunce. Never but once.

Corker. When, Sir?

Praunce. It may be two Years ago.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. That is another Place too.

Mr. Corker.

L. C.J. Have you any thing to ask him?
Corker. No, my Lord.

L. C. J. What have you then to fay foryourfelf?

Corker. My Lord, this I have to fay for my
felf, and I do proteft it to be true : I never in my
Life did fay Mafs or hear Confeffions at Somerfet~

houfe.

L. C. J. What fay you to Mr. Pafton's?
Corker. No, nor at Mr. Pajlon's ; nor ever

was in the Company of that Man, nor ever faw
him there in my Life, to my knowledge.
L C. J. That may be.

Corker. I likewife proteft, that I never faid

Mafs in any publick Place fince I was born.

L. C. J. It may be you count not Mr. Pajlon's

a publick Place.

Corker. If it be a private Place, then I fhould
know who were in the Company, and who were
admitted there.

L. C. J. No, you were not two or three Years
ago fo nice and cautious whom you admitted to

fee you in the Exercife of what you call your Re-
ligion ; becaufe the Execution of the Law was
not fo ftrict as now-a-days it is. And therefore

it is very probable, and may very well be, that

you were at Mr. Pa/Ion's Houfe, and yet not
know all the Company.

Corker. But I fay, 1 never did fay Mafs there.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Here are three WitnefTes
againft you, and do you think your bare Word
will be taken againft their three Oaths?

Mr. Recorder. What fay you to the Savoy,
Mr. Corker? I ask you, becaufe I would know
whether you can fpeak Truth in any thing.

Corker. I would not tell a Lye, tho' I mould
thereby fave my Life: And I do again proteft

before God and the Court, I never in my Life
faid Mafs or heard Confeffions at Somerfet-houfe

Chapel, nor at Mr. Pafton's in Duke-Jlreet. And
as to the Savoy, feeing I will be fincere, 1 fhall

only fay, that as my Denial will not clear me, fo

I beg I may not be my own Accufer.

L. C. J. Here is one hath fwore it.

Corker. 'Tis only Oates, my Lord.

L. C. J. Well Gentlemen of the Jury, you
hear what is proved againft him by three Wit-
nefTes, that they heard him fay Mafs and receive

Confeffions, and deliver the Sacrament. They
tell you what Order he was of, and that they faw
him do the Acts of a Prieft.

Corker. I appeal to all the World that ever

came to Somerfet-houfe, whether ever any one heard

me fay Mafs there.

L. C. J. Here is one hath.

Mr. Serj. Strode. We will try William Marfhal
next. {Who was charged upon the Jury as the other.

]

Mr. Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,

and you Gentlemen of the Jury, William Marfhai,

the Prifoner at the Bar, ftands indicted for High-
Treafon. The Offence is not for being a Prieft

barely *, but that he being born an Englifhman,

within the King's Dominions, and having recei-

ved Orders from Rome, did, againft the Laws of

the Kingdom, come and abide here.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Swear Dr. Oates and Mr. Bed-
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hw. [ Which was done. ] Dr. Oates, pray ftand

up.

L. C. J. What can you fay to Mr. Marjhal's

being a Prieft ?

Oates. I have heard him fay Mafs in the Sa-

voy, and I have feen him in that Pofture that the

Priefts are in when they give Abfolution.

L. C. J. Have you feen him in a Prieft's Habit

fay Mafs?
Oates. Yes, in his Habit as a Benedictine Monk.
Mr. Juft. yones. Did you ever fee him give

the Sacrament?

Oates. Yes, and confecrate the Hoft.

Mr. Juft. yones. Well, have you any thing to

ask him ?

Marjhal. When was this ?

Oates. I have known him thefe three Years to

be a Prieft.

Marjhal. That is a Year longer than you knew
me at the Trial.

Oates. It is a great while fince that Trial.

L. C. y. Ay, that is a good while ago.

Marjhal. But where, Mr. Oates, and when ?

Oates. At the Savoy.

Marjhal. When?
Oates. Within the compafs of three Years,

feveral times.

Marjhal. How does that afford me any occa-

fion of Defence? I can make no Plea, unlefs he

afcertains Time.

Mr. Juft. Pemherton. 'Tis good Evidence, with-

out confining himfelf to precife time.

L. C. y. He fays a dozen times within that

compafs.

Marjhal. But why does he not name fome par-

ticular time ; for unlefs he name the time, how
is it poffible for us to difprove him ?

L. C. y. He tells you many times in three

Years.

Marjhal. But when ?

L. C. y. Why, within three Years.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. What if he could tell you
when ?

Marjhal. Let him name the Day, then we could

difprove him ; and let him name the Day, and

if I do not difprove him, Pll be hang'd.

L. C. y. 'Tis an improper Queftion that you

ask.

Mr. Juft. Pemherton. He is not bound to name
the Day.

Oates. Well, I will pitch upon a Day now.

Marjhal. When was it?

Oates. Several times laft Summer was Twelve-

month.

Marjhal. What, before the Plot ?

Oates. Several times in that Summer before the

Plot was difcovered •, and feveral times the Winter
before, when I came over from Spain ?

Marjhal. Did you hear me fay Mafs before

you went over to Spain?

Oates. Yes I did.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Call another Witnefs.

Mr. Belwood. Mr. Bedlow.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Pray will you tell what you

know of Mr. Marjhal.

Bedloiv. I know a great deal of him.

L. C. y. What of his being a Prieft ?

Bedlow. I have feen him in his Habit of a

Benedicline Monk in the Savoy.

L. C. y. Have you heard him fay Mafs ?

Bedlow. No, my Lord, I have not ; But he hath

been preparing to go to take Confeffions.

L. C. y. Did he own himfelf to be a Prieft ?

Bedlow. He was in the Habit of Prieft, but
I never faw him execute any part of the Office
of a Prieft.

Mr. Juft. Pemherton. Did you hear him declare,

that he hath been going at any time to take Con-
feffion ?

Bedlow. The Monks have faid when he hath
been gone, that he went to take Confeffions.

L. C. y. Upon your Oath, Have you ever
heard him own him himfelf to be a Prieft, or ever
fay, that he was going to take Confeffion ?

Bedlow. No, my Lord ; but I have feen him
in a Monk's Habit, and within half an hour
he was in a fecular Habit: For when they went
abroad they took Confeffions in their fecular

Habit.

L.C y. How often have you feen him in a
Monk's Habit ?

Bedlow. I do not know whether it were more
than once ; and I asked then, Where is our Fa-
ther going ?

Mr. Juft. Pemherton. And what faid they to
you?

Bedlow. He was going to take Confeffions.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Have not you your felf been
confeffed by Marjhal?

Bedlow. No, my Lord.

L. C. y. What fay you to him, will you ask
him any Queftions?

Marjhal. 1 do not, I think, need to ask this

Witnefs any Queftions.

L. C. y. That fhall be obferved for you, if it

be to your advantage. If you have any thing to

fay for your felf, pray fpeak it.

Marjhal. If there be but one Witnefs, what
need I make any Defence ?

L. C. y. What fay you to Mr. Oates\ Tefti-

mony ?

Marjhal. As for Mr. Oates, if your Lordfhip
will but promife, that it fhall not prejudice me,
as to the point of having but one Witnefs, I have
much to fay for my felf: But I think I need not

trouble your Lordfhip with it.

Sir yohn Keiling. Were not you here when
Marjhal was tried for the Plot?

Bedlow. Yes.

Mr. Juft. Pemherton. You muft not ask him
any Queftions about that.

Marjhal. My Lord, I fay, if your Lordfhip
will but grant, that the W'itneffes may have free

Accefs, and go away fafe

Bedlow. I believe the Court, upon his Trial,

was fatisfied that he was in Orders, received from
the Church of Rome.

Sir yohn Keiling. Swear Mr. Praunee. \JVhicb

was done.~\ What did you hear him fay at his

laft Trial ?

L. C. y. This is hard Evidence truly.

Mr. Juft. yones. If he would do it voluntarily

of himfelf, he might, we did not ask him the

Queftion.

Praunee. My Lord, I flood juft by him when
he ftood at the Bar, and I heard him fay this to

the other Man, Mr. Corker, Though we are Priejls*

this does not reach us.

L. C. y. But is this good Evidence ?

Praunee. i did hear him fay he was a Prieft.

Mr. Juft. Pemherton. We did all hear him fay

fo, I believe.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. I dare fay none of the Court

asked him the Queftion.

MarJhaU
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Marjhal. My Lord, I was not asked, nor had

any occafion, and certainly I fhould not pick an

occafion to condemn my felf : If I did it, I did

it without occafion. Befides, my Lord, I humb-

ly conceive, that there mull be Proof againft a

Man, or his Confeffion won't make him Guilty.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. I would not have you too

fure of that.

Marftjal. Certainly if a Man do confefs at a-

nother time, without Proof againft him that will

not do.

Mr Juft. Pemberton. I believe the Jury will

take your own Confeffion.

L. C. J. Don't be over-confident of that, for

we have Memories too as well as you.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You are not bely'd by

Mr. Praunce, I believe, Mr. Marjhal.

Mr. Juft. Ellis. If he have confeffed it, that is

fure Proof enough.

Sir John Keiling. Swear Mr. Dugdale. \JVhich

was done7\ You were at the laft Trial, Sir ; I on-

ly ask of you, Can you remember any thing of

this ?

Dugdale. To the beft of my remembrance, I

heard him own that he was a Frieft.

Sir John Keiling. Then fay what you can for

your felf.

Marjhal. My Lord, I have only one material

Witnefs againft me. They fay that I faid fo ; if

] did fay fo, I muft fay it to the Court ; and if it

was to the Court, it muft be upon fome Queftion

asked me.

L. C. J. You muft not fay fo •, I am afraid

if you appeal to the Court, it will do you no

good.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. It is plain that you are fo free

of your Difcourfe, that you might fay things that

were not pertinent.

L. C. J. 'Tis not proper for the Court to give

Evidence ; if we did, we fhould do you little Ser-

vice in this matter.

Marjhal. I do believe I fhall receive all Juftice

from the Court. And I have experienced it fo

already. Now as to the prefent Teftimony a-

gainft me, I conceive that only Mr. Oates is a

material Witnefs ; no one elfe fwears that they

ever faw me officiate or perform the Duty of a

Prieft. As for Mr. Oates, he fays he heard me
fay Mafs feveral times the laft Summer before the

Plot. And Mr. Oates did fay he was prefent in

June, July, and Auguft. Sir William Waller',

tho' he was pleafed to forget other things, yet

did remember that, and did teftify that he faw

me in June, July, and Auguft. Now then I

humbly conceive, if he heard me fay Mafs at

any time in that Summer, it muft be in one of

thofe three Months ? Was it in any one of

them ?

Oates. My Lord, I came over in April from

St. Omers, and I did, as I remember, hear him
fay Mafs onetime before I went again, and heard

him fay it feveral times after, which was about the

middle of June, 1 think.

Marftoal. Now I fay, if this Honourable Court

will but pleafe to promife, that the Witneffes that

come hither fhall come and go fafe, I believe

there are Witneffes that may contradict Dr.

Oates.

L. C. J. What can your Witneffes prove ?

you muft not make Bargains with the Court.

Air. Juft. Pemberton. Why fhould you fufpect

that your Witneffes fhould not go free ?
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Marjhal. Becaufe fome have received great

Abufes.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. It was fo faid, but not made
out.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. There was only one Per-

fon that came here, and affirmed fo, but he did not

prove it.

Mr. Recorder. And the Court did fay that they

fhould be punifhed that did it.

L. C. J. The Witneffes none of them, that I

know of, wereabufed.

Bedlow. It was only the King's Witneffes that

have been abufed.

L. C. J. What can your Witneffes prove ?

Marjhal. He came over the 24th of April, and
I can prove that from the beginning of April, to

the end of July, I was not within threefcore Miles

of London.

Oates. As to his officiating as a Prieft, I cannot

fpeak pofitively as to the Time, but I think in laft

Summer was twelvemonth

Mr. Juft. Dolben. He fays, he thinks he did

once in that time, but he is lure that he did fee you
feveral times that Summer.

Marjhal. But what part of the Summer?
Oates. From the time of my coming over again,

to the time of the Difcovery of the Plot.

L. C. J. When was it that you heard him firft ?

Oates. When I heard him firft was in the Year

1677, before I went into Spain : I went away in

the Vlonth of April, and I am fure he faid

Mafs before I went into Spain ; and when I

came back again in the Winter, I came in JVo-

vember, and lfaid in Town about ten Days, and
then went to the Savoy, and heard him fay

Mafs.

Marjhal. What November ?

Oates. Before the Summer I came out of Flan-

ders.

L. C. J. He fays he went into Spain in Aprils

(77-)
Marjhal. And he heard me fay Mafs before he

went over ?

Oates. Yes.

Marjhal. Pray look, my Lord, Mr. Oates will

confefs himfelf, he was but newly reconciled to

the Church of Rome a little while before he

went.

Oates. I was reconciled to the Church on AJIj-

wednejday, and I went in April following.

Marftoal. Where did you hear me fay Mafs
then ?

Oates. In the Savoy, at that time, before I

went into Spain.

Marjhal. Do you pretend to have known the

Savoy ever before your coming back again ?

Oates. Yes, I do.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He does fvvear it.

Marftoal. So he does, but he can't prove it.

Mr. Oates came over in the Company, as he fays,

of Mr. 1'bimbleby and Mr. Hitchcock, and by his

means he did get to be commended to be received

into the Order of the Benediclines, and he was then

fent to Mr. Pickering in order to it ; Now, my
Lord, is it credible that Mr. Oates having no ac-

quaintance with the Savoy before he had acquain-

tance with Mr. Hitchcock, which was when he

came from Spain, fhould hear me fay Mafs be-

fore he went thither ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. All this is but a Story to

the Court.
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L. C. J. What a wild Inference do you make

from this unintelligible Bufinefs ?

Marjhal. Mr. Oates fays fo himfelf.

Mr. Jujl. Dolben. We all know you faid Mafs

fo openly in the Savoy, that any People whatfo-

cver might come, and you did not know who they

were.

L. C.J. Though he was not one of your Or-

der, yet he might know you.

Marjhal. To my knowledge there were never

three Maffes faid in the World at the Savoy.

Mr. Jujl. Dolben. The World knows the con-

trary.

Marjhal. Let Mr. Oates be pofitive in any thing,

and we will difprove him.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. He hath gone as near it

as is neceffary ; he tells you, after his Reconcili-

ation, before he went over into Spain.

Marjhal. But I fay, he could not be at the Sa-

voy before he was acquainted there, and I can

bring Witneffes to prove, that I was not then at

the Savoy ; but I pray, my Lord, will thefe Wit-

neffes do me any good ?

L. C. J. What will they prove?

Marjhal. That all the Summer, from the be-

ginning of April to the end of the Summer,, I

was in the Country, thrcefcore Miles from Lon-

don.

Oates. I am not fo pofitive in that, my Lord,

but as near as I remember, before I went into

Spain again. Your Lordfhips all know that I

was not fo pofitive as to any one time ; but the

Summer before the Plot broke out, I heard him
fay Mafs feveral times in the Summer.

L. C. J. Now he is pofitive that he faw you
fay Mafs in the Summer before the Plot was disco-

vered. The Subftance of his Depofition was your

faying Mafs, the Time is not material : He tells

of a many times within that Compafs.
Marjhal. How fhall 1 difprove that ?

Mr. Recorder. He hath given you one particu-

lar time from Ajh-wednejday, when he was recon-

ciled to Rome, till he went to Spain in April.

Marjhal. If he names Times, then I am able to

difprove him : And he did name one, but when
he faw me offer to prove by W itneffes, that I was
not then in Town, he goes off from it.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. 'Tis impoffible for Wit-
neffes to be pofitive to a Day, a Week, orfuch a

thing.

Mr. Jujl. Ellis. How is it pofiible to be fo, un-

lefs it be a thing that he had taken fuch particular

notice of, as to intend to fwear to it, and give E-
vidence about it afterwards : Now, I believe Dr.
Oates at that time had no thoughts of giving Evi-
dence as to any fuch matter ; but this he is pofi-

tive in, That he did hear you fay Mafs at the Sa-

voy.

Marjhal. My Lord, if Mr. Oates had faid he
had feen me officiate at Somerfet-houfe or Wild-
houje, it might have been fomething like ; but at

the Savoy it is known, that none are let in but

Friends, nor could Mr. Oates come in, but upon a

particular Acquaintance.

L. C. J. How does that appear fo?

Marjhal. By thofe that live in the Houfe.
Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. You muft not fpend the

Court's time in this manner of Difcourfe : If you
have any Witneffes that you think in yourfelf are

material, the Court will fuffer you to call them,
and pray call them prefently.

Marjhal. Here is the Houfe-keeper her felf

that will witnefs that (he never faw Mr. Oates

there.

L. C.J. If the Great Turk had come there

with a Pair of Beads and a Crucifix, you would
have let him come in : But in the mean time, Mr.
Oates, you have given him a pretty compafs of
time, whereby he hath an Opportunity of difprov-

ing what you fay : And you give him one parti-

cular fhort time •, but can you give any time after-

wards in the Summer you fpeak of, within any
month, or two, or three ; becaufe you fay at feve-

ral times ?

Oates. I cannot be pofitive, but I will tell you,
one time was the Sunday before they held their

Confpiracy, which was, I verily believe, the Sim-
day before the 2 1 ft of Augujl.

L. C. J. Do you believe it was in Augujl ?

Oates. Yes, I do, and confine my felf to the
Month oix Augufl.

Marjhal. Then call Ellen Rigby.

Oates. I was acquainted with Mr. Pickering

foon after my being reconciled ; and being acquain-
ted with him, I went along with him feveral times
to the Savoy.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. What do you talk of one
Hitchcock, and I know not whom ; he was ac-

quainted with Pickering before.

Marjhal. When, my Lord ?

L- C. J. Prefently after he was reconciled.

Marjhal. Well, but you pretend now, that
fince you came over here you were in the Savoy ;

Had you a Key to get in ?

L. C.J. He was reconciled on Ajh-wednefday,
he went in April to Spain.

Marjhal. Here is Ellen Rigby.

L. C. J. Well, what would you have with
her?

Marjhal. I ask, Did fhe ever fee Mr. Oates in

the Summer before laft ?

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. Don't you lead your
Witnefs with fuch Queftions.

L. C. J. Do you know Mr. Oates ?

Rigby. I have feen him when I faw him come
to ask Charity of Mr. Pickering.

L. C. J. How often ?

Rigby. Twice or thrice:

L. C. J. What time in the Summer ?

Rigby. I cannot fay ; but I faw him in Summer
was Twelvemonth.

Oates. Why then did not this Woman, when
{he knew this Evidence that would lay a Blemifh
upon me, come and give it for Pickering, to have
faved him ?

Mr. Jujl. Dolben. Will you give me leave to

ask this Woman this Queftion ; Whether fhe ever

heard you fay Mafs ?

Marjhal. Ay, my Lord, with all my heart 5

and if fhe fays fhe hath, I will be hanged without

any more ado.

Mr. Jujl. Dolben. Then you are fure your Pro-
fclytes will fay any thing you would have them ?

Marjhal. I my felf am a perfecT: Stranger to the

Savoy, in a manner.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. Is he not acquainted with

the Savoy ?

Rigby. Yes, he was there one Month when
Pickering was taken.

Marjhal. Pray ask her whether ever, before

Mr Oates went over, fhe faw him in the Savoy £
L.C J. You fhall have your Queftion ask'd ;

but do you think you can build upon that ; if

fhe did not fee him, he did not fee you ? Did
you
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you ever fee Dr. Oates there betwixt March and

April, before he went over into Spain ?

Rigby. No, there was no body in the Houfe
but Mr. Pickering.

L. C. J. Was there never Mafs faid in the

Houfe ?

Rigby. Yes, while her Majefty's Servants were

in the Houfe.

L. C. J. But was there Mafs never faid fince

in the Houfe ?

Rigby. Never fince I came out of it, which
was a Twelvemonth ago.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Was there not Mafs faid

in three or four Years time there ?

Rigby. Not in our Houfe, I lived but in one

Houfe.

Marjhal. I call her to know, whether Dr.

Oates was there ? And, my Lord, here is that

which I infift upon •, That none is let in there to

hear Mafs, but thofe that have fome particular

Acquaintance and Intimacy in the Houfe.

L. C. J. She only fpeaks to one particular part

of the Houfe •, fhe can't but fay Mafs was faid

in the other parts.

Rigby. There was no Mafs faid there, that I

know of.

L. C. J. Why, was there no Mafs faid but in

that particular Houfe you liv'd in ?

Rigby. I can't fay that.

L. C. J. But the Queftion is, Whether ever

you, Mr. Oates, faw him fay Mafs in this Wo-
man's Houfe ?

Oates. I do not know that I ever faw this

Woman in all my Life, before the Trial.

Marjhal. He came there under a difguifed

Name.
L. C. J. He tells you he went along with

Pickering.

Oates. Pickering ferv'd the Mafs.

L C.J. Well, call your Witneffes, if you have

any other.

Marjhal. I can prove that I was out of Town
the whole Summer, from the beginning of April

to the end of the Summer : But if Mr. Oates

will not ftand to any time, I cannot be able to

difprove him : But then I'll only offer one or two

things more.

L. C. J. When did you come to London ? in

Auguft ?

Matjhal. I will tell you as near as I can to a

Day. I came in the middle of Bartholomew-Fair,

which begins the 24th of Augujl.

L. C J. So it was the latter end.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Well, if you have any

Witneffes, call them, and do not fpend the Court's

time in vain.

MarJJoal. My Lord, I have fomething very

material, I think, to offer : The only material

Witnefs that is now againft me, was a Witnefs

againft me in my laft Trial : Now I do conceive,

that I being found Not Guilty at the laft Trial,

that Witnefs ought to be look'd upon as perjur'd :

And I appeal to the Court, whether it were fo

or no.

Mr. Jujl. Atkins. That's a falfe Collection, Mr.
Marjhal.

L. C. J. 'Tis a ftrange Inference you make

:

Do you think that every Witnefs is perjur'd, be-

caufe the Jury don't find according to what he

fays? He is not perjur'd, for he may fwear true,

and the Jury not believe him.

Marjhal. I ground it, my Lord, upon what

my Lord Jones faid to the Jury that fat upon
Coleman ; who at their going out told them, ei-

ther they were to find him Guilty, or bring in

two Men perjur'd. Thus it was his Opinion,
that the finding of the Jury contrary to the Evi-
dence, did make them perjur'd ; and there was
none of the Court did oppofe him.

Mr. Jujl. Jones. W hat then ?

Marjhal. And if this were the Senfe of the

whole Court, That a Man muft either be found
Guilty, or the Witnefies perjur'd ; that is my
Cafe, and he is not to be believ'd.

L. C. J. See how unconfequentially you talk:

The Court might fay, that you muft believe thefe

Men perjur'd, if they fwear a pofitive thing and
you find it not : But if you make ufe of it thus,

that therefore they are perjur'd, 'tis falfe, for they

are not fo till they be Convicted upon Record

:

And tho' the Jury don't believe them, yet they

may fwear true.

Marjhal. 'Tis true.

L. C. J. Then you make no Inference from
it.

Marjhal. My Lord, I am before the fame
Court that I was try'd by before, and before

the felf-fame Judges, who know that upon my
Trial he was not believed, and therefore is per-

jured.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. You muft confider, that

fometimes the Jury will go againft the Direction

of the Court -, but if the Witnefs be not believed

by them, that does not argue that he does not

fwear Truth, or is perjur'd : I tell you my Bro-
ther Jones might fay, You muft find this Man
Guilty, or think thefe Men perjur'd : Many
times a Judge will fay fo, but the Jury often find

againft the Direction of the Court; fhall thefe

Men be perjur'd then prefently ?

Mr. Jujl. Jones. There were two pofitive Wit-
neffes, as pofitive as could be in the World, and
nothing at all to contradict them.

Mr. Recorder. Will you give the Jury leave to

believe you, Mr. MarJJoal ? For you yourfelf

faid you were a Prieft.

Marjhal. Yes, if 1 faid fo, I humbly defire the

Jury to take notice of it, that they are the felf-

fame Witneffes that brought fuch a pofitive Te-
ftimony the laft time ; which if the Jury had be-

lieved, they muft of neceffky have brought me
in Guilty ; I would not fpend the time of the

Court, but I would obferve this ; it was all fworn

pofitively, That I did confent to the King's

Death, and other things.

L. C. J. You had the better luck.

Marjhal. Then they are not to be believed

now.

L. C. J. This is to no purpofe, neither is it to

be fuffer'd : For you break in contrary to all the

Laws of Practice, if we fuffer this as an Argu-

ment, That becaufe an Evidence was not believed

in one Cafe, therefore he is perjur'd : And the

Jury gave in a Verdict contrary to the Wit-

neffes, that therefore he is perjur'd in another

Cafe.

Marjhal. This does invalidate the Teftimony

fure of fuch a Witnefs.

L. C. J. You have faid it often enough, come
pray conclude.

Mr. Jujl. Pemberton. No, Mr. Marjhal, you

muft not be fuffer'd in thefe Harangues to in>

peach the Witneffes ; if you have any thing ma-

terial againft Dr. Oates, or if you can fhew any

Record
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Record of his Conviction of Perjury, it may be

fomething.

Marjhal. My Lord, it is for my Life, and 'tis

the fecond time that I plead for my Life, much
beyond my expectation ; and therefore I hope I

may have the freedom to fpeak : And though I

confefs this Jury is not obliged to proceed accor-

ding to the Verdict of the former Jury ; yet this

Jury, as well as that, is obliged to proceed ac-

cording to the appearance of Truth : And his

being found falfe in his Teftimony the laft time,

fhould make him of no Credit here.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. It is not fo, they are not to

take notice of it, unlefs you bring them a Record
of Conviction.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He gave a good Evi-

dence then no doubt of it, though they would not

believe it.

Mr. Juft. Atkyns. Upon what Grounds that

Jury went, is unknown to us.

Marjhal. Then, my Lord, another thing is

this : The Law does except againft all Witneffes

who are ftrongly or rationally fuppofed to have
a Spite or Malice againft the Prifoner, much
more where there is a manifeft Sign that he hath

a Malice. Now I will endeavour to (hew how
it comes to my Cafe : Mr. Oates accufed me laft

time of Treafon, and that in the higheft nature ;

if this had been true, he had fhewn himfelf a

good Subject, and me Difloyal : And the Jury
not believing him, I was found the good Sub-
ject : Now he purfues his malice.

L. J. C. You fhall not go on in this manner,

and make fuch notorious falfe Inferences ; that

becaufe it was not found according to his Tefti-

mony, therefore he is perjur'd : The Jury did not

believe it, might not he fpeak true for all that ?

Hath not many a Witnefs fworn true, yet the

Verdict gone againft their Evidence? And there-

fore you don't mind : Ye are all giddy-headed,

if you once get a thing into your Heads, you
can't get it out again.

Mr. Juft. Atkyns. If the Jury did not believe

it, a great many others did.

L. C. J. All you build upon is but a falfe Con-
clusion ; becaufe the Jury found you Not Guilty,

therefore they found him perjur'd.

Marjhal. My Lord
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Pray Sir, if you will

fpeak any thing that is material and modeft, the

Court will admit of it ; but if you only go to

throw Dirt upon the King's Witneffes, Men of
good Reputation, and Men that have fhew'd
themfelves honeft, and that have fpoke Truth all

along ; ne'er a one of their Teftimonies but what
i9 confirm'd by another's ; fo that not one of
them ftands fingle, and for you to fay they are

ill Men.
Marjhal. My Lord, I do not fay they are ill

Men, I fpeak of Matter of Fact.

L. C. J. You conclude falfly ; and if you did

but mind it, you would never repeat it over and
over again : That becaufe the Jury did not believe

his Evidence, therefore he is perjur'd : Do you
fuppofe then that any other Jury fhould never be-

lieve him ?

Marjhal. My Lord, I reckon his Evidence is

not fo good ; and if I am found Not Guilty,

there muft be Malice in him to accufe me.
L. C. J. Look you, Gentlemen, The fingle

Queftion is, Whether he be a Romijh Prieft or

no? It is proved by Mr. Oates, that he hath fe-

veral times heard him fay Mafs, that he hath

feen him deliver the Sacrament, and feen him
Confecrate the Hoft. He infifted upon it how
often ; Mr. Oates fays, ten or a dozen times, in

what time he cannot charge himfelf particularly

with a Month or two ; but at laft he did teli

him pofitively, becaufe Marjhal faid, How is it

poffible I can make my Defence to Generals, un-

lefs you fix fome time? Therefore, fays he, I was
reconciled to the Church of Rome on AJh-Wed-
nejday, and afterwards between that and April,

when I went into Spain, I heard him fay Mafs,

that was once j but I heard him fay in the Sum-
mer feveral times : being asked, What part ? he

fays, 1 cannot fay exactly, but I think in the

Month of Auguft ; if he had faid any thing as to

the particular time between AJh-WedneJday and
his going into Spain, it had been fome-

thing, but againft that he makes no Pretence,

as to his faying Mafs in the Savoy, that can con-

tradict it. If he can ftill he fhall call his Wit-
neffes that can prove he did not fay Mafs between

the AJh-WedneJday and the April he went into

Spain : He does indeed fay, that he was a great

part of the Summer in the Country, in June and

July to Bartholomew-i'air, threefcore Miles off;

but to that Mr. Oates fays it was fome time in

Auguft, and fo he might be in the Country till

then, and yet fay Mafs after ; he might come to

Town the 26th, or 27th, or 28th, and he might
be here in Auguft : So you hear no Evidence that

contradicts, fuppofing it proved true, what he

imagines his Witneffes can fay ; the laft time

that he charges him to have faid it in the Sum-
mer, may be true according to his own Word
and Confefiion when he came to Town. Then
there is Mr. Bedlow, he only tells you he faw
him in a Prieft's Habit, but he did not fee him
execute the Office of a Prieft, but he looked up-

on him as a Prieft, called him Father: and that is

all that he charges him with ; that is concurring

Evidence, and backs Mr. Oates, but alone per-

haps it would be very weak. But they fet up
here Praunce, and he fays directly, that at the

Trial he did confefs himfelf to be a Prieft ; and

he feems to deny it, and would appeal to the

Court ; but his appealing to the Court would
not help him in that Cafe. So I leave this to

you upon this Evidence ; ifyou believe Mr. Oates,

that fwears he faw him before he went into Spain,

and after, fay Mafs, with the concurring Evidence

of Mr. Bedlow, that faw him in his Habit, and

with the fubfequent Evidence of thofe two more
that do fwear that he did fay fo, you muft find

him Guilty ; and a Man's own Confeffion is Evi-

dence againft himfelf; and if Mr. Marjhal will

recollect himfelf, he would not be too pofitive

in that Point. If all thefe Particulars fatisfy your

Confcience, I fay, that he is a Romijh Prieft,

you muft find him Guilty ; if you are unfatisfied,

you muft acquit him.

CI. of Cr. Set William Ruffel to the Bar. Wil-

liam RuJJel, alias Napper, hold up thy Hand :

You that are fworn, look upon the Prifoner, and

hearken to his Caufe, &c.
Mr. Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, \

and you Gentlemen of the Jury, William RuJJel,

alias Napper, ftands Indicted for High-Treafon

:

The Offence charged in the Indictment is, That
being born within the Kingdom of England, and

having received Orders from the See of Rome,
he
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he did come and abide here. To this he hath

pleaded, Not Guilty.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Swear Dr. Oates, and Mr.
Praunce. Dr. Oath, Will you tell my Lord and

the Jury, what you know of Mr. Rujfel's being

a Prieft ?

Oates. My Lord, this Rujfel went by the Name
of Napper, and is a Franrifcan Frier, and 1 heard

him fay Mafs feveral times at Wild-houje.

L. C. J. What, in his Habit ?

Oates. In Priefl's Habit.

L. C. J. When was this ?

Oates: The laft Summer before the Plot ; I have

heard him twenty times fing Mafs.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Did you ever fee him give the

Sacrament ?

Rujfel. Where pray was this?

Oates. At JVild-houfe.

Rujfel. What is his Name?
L.C.J. Oates.

Rujfel. I do not know him, I fay, my Lord.

L. C. J. Did he do it publickly ?

Oates. Yes, in the Chapel.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Did he give the Sacrament ?

Oates. I did receive the Sacrament from him.

Rujfel. Why, firft of all, I fay I do not know
him.

L. C. J. It may be fo, more know Jack Pud-

ding, than Jack Pudding knows.

Rujfel. Well then if one Witnefs muft ftand,

I have no more to fay.

L. C. J. Will you ask him any Queftions?

Rujfel. He fays he heard me a Month ago.

L. C. J. No it was laft Summer was Twelve-

month.

Rujfel. Then he muft prove it.

Cap. Richardfon. He does prove it, he fwears

it.

Rujfel. Well, I can make it appear, laft Sum-
mer was Twelvemonth I was in the Country.

Oates. And I heard him fay Mafs, November,

1677, ^e was then one of the Chaplains of Pftild-

boufe.

Rujfel. Give me leave to recollect my Memory.
Mr. Belwood. Set up Mr. Praunce. You hear

the Queftion : Sir, Is the Prifoner at the Bar a

Prieft ?

Praunce. Yes, I have heard him fay Mafs twen-

ty times in his Habit.

L. C. J. Did he give the Sacrament?

Praunce. Yes, I faw him give the Sacrament to

feveral, and he did hear Confeffions; he had a

great many People about him.

Rujfel. When was this?

Praunce. Two or three Years ago.

Rujfel. Where?
Praume. At the Spanifh Ambaffador's, ai Wild-

boufe.

Mr. At. Gen. My Lord, here is Sir William

Waller, that took him, with his Veftments and
all his Trinkets. [Who was Jwom.']

L. C. J. Come, what fay you, Sir William ?

Sir W. Waller. That Morning 1 took him, as

foon as I came into the Room, I asked him his

Name : He told me his Name was Rujfel : I ask»

cd him, if he ever went by any other Name?
He denied it for fome time, but looking amongft

fome of his Papers, I found fome Letters di-

rected to him by the Name of Napper ; and

then he did confefs his Name was William Rujfel

Napper. Searching among his Clothes, I found

fome Religious Habits , I asked him, if they

were his, and he confeffed and owned 'em to be
his.

Rujfel. It was in my Cuftody ; it was none of
mine.

L. C. J. Why did you fay fo then ?

Rujfel. I kept it for another.

L. C. J. Bur you told him it was your own*
What fay you to that.

Rujfel. I do not remember that.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Well, he fwears it.

L. C. J. Here are two poficive WitnefTes
againft-you, what fay you to it? What fay you
to his faying, He hath heard you fay Mafs twen-
ty times ?

L. C. Baron. What fay you to the faying Mafs
at the time Dr. Oates fpeaks of?

Rujfel. I believe he is miftaken, as to the Time
and Year: I was entred into the Houfe in j8,

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Then you think it was at

another time ?

Rujfel. He could not hear me at that time, for

I was then in the Country.

L. C. J. Have you any thing to fay ? It fhall

be allowed you, it was at another time, but it

feems it is true. Look you Gentlemen, you have
a very plain Bufinefs of it ; here are two Wit-
nefTes that fwear they faw him give Abfolution,

deliver the Sacrament, and heard him fay Mafs,
and one fays twenty times: And Sir W. Waller,
who fays, that he confeft the Priefl's Habit to be
his own.

Rujfel. Confider my Circumftances, and give

me a little time •, I have not had any time to get

my Friends near me, or to prepare my felf.

L. C. J. I do not fee any Good time would
do you: I think the beft ufe you can make of
your time is to repent.

Oates. My Lord, the Court here is peftered

with Papifts ; here are a great many about here.

L C.J. If they be WitnefTes, we cannot keep
them out.

Mr. Bedlow. Some of them may be WitnefTes,

but all are not; and if they be, they come to

catch Advantages.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. I don't underftand why they

mould be turned out.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Let them alone: Be at

quiet.

L. C. J. No, no, they will revile us, that they

had not an open and a fair Hearing ; we won'c

have it faid, that we do any thing in Hugger-
mugger; what we do is done openly and ho=

neftly.

CI. of Cr. Set Charles Parris, alias Parry, to

the Bar. Hold up thy Hand: You that are

fworn, &c.
Mr. Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,

and you Gentlemen of the Jury ; the Offence for

which the Prifoner at the Bar ftands Indicted, is

High-Treafon, the fame Offence for which the

reft have been Indicted «

L. C. J. Then call your WitnefTes.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Dr. Oates, and Mr. Praunce,

[Who werefworn f\

L. C. J. What can you fay againft the Prifo«

ner, as to his being a Prieft ?

Oates. My Lord, he is a reputed Prieft, and

hath faid Mafs feveral times .' I have heard him
fay Mafs at Wild houfe, not in the publick Cha-

pel, butuin another Room.

L. C, J. Where do you fay ?

Oates:
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Oates. Once at WiTd-houfe.

L.C.J. Where elfe?

Oates. At Mr. Pa/ion's.

L. C. J. When was this, Winter or Sum-
mer?

Oates. Within the Compafs of a Year, rec-

koning

—

77 and—78; it was on a Saturday

one time, and twice at Mr. Pajlon's, and once or

twice, I cannot tell which, at the other Place.

L.C.J. And in the Prieft's Habit ?

Oates. Yes, in the Prieft's Habit.

L. C. J. And did you fee him confecrate the

Hoft?
Oates. Yes.

L. C. J. And give the Sacrament?

Oates. Yes.

Parry. My Lord, as to that he fpeaks of

—

77,
or—78, what Month of—78 I defire to know.

Oates. I cannot confine my felf to a Month ;

I knew him to be a Prieft, but I was little ac-

quainted with him, but he was a reputed Prieft.

Mr. Juft. Jones. But you are fure this is the

Man?
Oates. Yes, this is the Man.
Parry. Am I the Man? What is my Name?
Oates. You went by the Name of John/on.

L. C. J. Did you never go by that Name of

Jchnfon ?

Parry No, my Lord, but by this Name of

Parry ; Parry is my Name, and by that Name I

went,, and never by any other Name than Parry,

whatever he fays.

L. C. J. Why by that fame Name you are In-

dicted, and you are the Man that he faw.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Will you ask him ever a

Queftion ?

Parry. I have asked him already what I would
ask him.

Sir John Keiling. Then fet up Mr. Praunce?

L. C. J. What do you fay as to Mr. Parry?
Praunce. I know he is a Prieft, and have heard

him fay Mafs at the Venetian Ambaffador's, and

at Mr. Pajlon's, and he went by the Name of

Johnfon.

Mr. Recorder. Did you go by that Name ?

Parry. No, I never went in my Life but by

my own Name, Parry ; that is my Name, what-

ever he fays, and I am not afhamed of it.

L. C. J. How often ?

Praunce. Once at Pajion's, and two or three

times at the Venetian Ambaffador's. .

L. C. J. And you faw him give the Sacra-

ment ?

Praunce. Yes.

L. C. J. In his Habit ?

Praunce. Yes.

Parry. At what time ?

Praunce. I believe it might be half a Year be-

fore the Plot : And I know you by another Cir-

cumftance : You brought a Chalice to my Houfe,

and it was whole, and you broke it, and told me,

I muft not touch it until it was broke, and fo you
defaced it.

L. C. J. That was an holy Veffel, was it not?

Praunce. Yes; and he told me I muft not touch

it till it was broken in pieces.

L. C.J. If you had not been a Prieft, he had

been as holy as you, and he might have touch'd

it as well as you.

L. C. Baron. His breaking was to defecrate it.

Praunce He bought fome Oil-BoxiSs of me
about that Time.

Parry. I do not know this Man.
Praunce. You were feveral times with me.
L. C. J. Why, have you forgot the Chalice

you brought to his Houfe ?

Parry. I have no reafon to forget my felf, for
I never did any fuch thing, for I never bought
or fold to him any Chalice, or any fuch thing;
and befide, fuppofe I had, that doth not argue
that I am a Prieft.

L. C. J. No, but if he were fo holy as to
touch the Chalice, he would be a Prieft. But
there is no great Strefs laid upon that, but to
fhew you that he knows you, he did not mif-
take the Man. The Strefs of the Evidence lies,

that he heard you fay Mafs at the Venetian Ambaf-
fador's, and at Pajion's, and then Dr. Oates fpeaks
of Wild-houfe.

Parry. I was never in my Life at the Venetian
Ambaffador's, nor at Mr. Pajion's, nor at Wild-
houfe.

L. C. J. Can you fwear that he is the Man ?

Bedlow. No.
L. C. J. Then fet him afide.

Bedlow. I had Order to fend for two Witneffes
out of Monmouthfhire

L. C. J. Here is Proof enough.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What have you to fay

for your felf?

Parry. I have this to fay, and can fhew it evi-
dently, that is, I have Witneffes to prove, that

1 never was at Wild-houfe to Officiate in the Years

77 and 78 before the Plot : And for thefe fix or
feven Months that Mr. Praunce does alledge I
was in London, I was in the Country.

L. C. J. When ?

Parry. Six or feven Months before the Plot ?

L. C. J. He did not confine himfelf precifely

to any fix or feven Months.
Parry. My Lord, I defired him to fix upon a

Month.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He cannot do it.

L. C. J. If he can, let him ; we will ask him
the Queftion ; when was it that you faw him do
thus ?

Praunce. My Lord, I am not certain what time
it was, but about two, or two Years and an half
ago, I am not certain, it is impoffible for me to
remember it.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You muft take him in
what he fays ; this he is fure of, he did hear you
fay Mafs and give the Sacrament, but as to the
Time, he believes it to be about this time, but
he is not pofitive, nor can be in it.

Parry. He only believes it now, becaufe he
knows I have Witneffes for that time: He hath
fworn it pofitively, it was fix or feven Months
before the Plot, and I have Witneffes to produce,
can prove how long before the Plot I was in the
Country.

L. C. J. Call your Witneffes.

Parry. Call Lanfcroon and Jacob.

L. C. J. How long was it before the Plot, as
near as you can tell the Time, Mr. Oates?

Oates. I have heard fo many Priefts, that I
cannot poffibly give an Account of the Day.

Parry. I defire to know of Mr. Oates, who
was Ambaffador at Wild-houfe at that Time when
he fays he heard me.

Mr. Recorder. Were you never at Pajion's ?

Parry. No.
Mr. Recorder. Nor at the Venetian Refident's?
Parry. No.

Mr, Recorder.
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Mr. Recorder. Mr. Parry was not, but Mr.

John/on was.

Parry, I know not Mr. Johnfon, my Name is

/^rry ; I hope it is not juft I fhould be hang'd

for another Perfon.

'Mr. Recorder. I mean Mr. Johnfon, alias

Parry.

L. C. J. Mr. Praunce, you are fure that is the

Man ?

Praunce. Yes, and I heard him confefs himfelf

to be a Prieft.

Parry. 'Tis falfe.

L. C. Baron. And this is the Man that brought

the Chalice to you.

L. C. J. Why, did you never go with a Cha-

lice to this Man, and break it ?

Parry. My Lord, I never bought any thing of

him, nor fold any thing to him, nor had any

Converfe with him.

Sir John Keiling. I do never wonder at their

denying any thing. I would fain know whe-

ther he would not deny the Sun fhines now or

no ?

Parry. And then for the private Room, what
Room of the Houfe was it ?

Praunce. I took him up in the middle of Cheap-

fide,, and therefore I muft fure know him.

Parry. He did not know me, but only took

me on Sufpicion at Random, becaufe I was in

the Company of a Roman Catbolick.

Then the Witnefs Lanfcroon flood up.

L.C.J. What would you have this Man
asked ?

Parry. About the Year 77 and 78, wherein

ftlr. Oates alledges he heard me, let them anfwer

to that, how long I was at TVindfor ? And whe-

ther I did not dwell conftantly there ?

L. C. J. Well, you hear the Qjeftion. How
long was he at Windfor ?

Lanfcroon. From what Time do you ask ?

Mr. Juft; Pemberton. Nay, you muft not be

led into an Anfwer. How long was he at Wind-

fir?
Lanfcroon. From Chriftmas 77, to Allhallantide

78-

Mr. Juft. Ellis. And was he never at London

all that Time?
Lanfcroon. No.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. How can you tell that ?

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Was he always in your Sight

all the Time ?

Lanfcroon. Yes, he was there always.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. Were you there always your-

felf?

Lanfcroon. Yes.

L. C. J. What are you ?

Lanfcroon. A Painter.

L. C. J. And was you and he always together

at that Time ?

Lanfcroon. Yes.

L. C. J. What, in a Room ?

Lanfcroon. Yes.

L. C. J. Can you affirm, that for a Twelve-

month together, you faw him every Day ?

Lanfcroon. Yes.

Mr. Recorder. How many Years ago do you

ipeak or?

Lanfcroon. From 77 to 78.

Mr. Recorder. I don't ask you that, but how
many Years ago 'tis ?

Voi. II.

L. C. J. When came he down to Windfor t

Lanfcroon. Chriftmas (yy.)
L. C. J. The Teftimohy of Mr. Oates goes

to November, and he fpeaks of Chriftmas follow-
ing.

Mr. Recorder. How many Years ago was it, I

ask?

Lanfcroon. A Year ago laft Chriftmas.

Mr. Recorder. That is 78 and yg.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton, Your Witnefs is under-

flood, Mr. Parry.

Thenflood up the other Witnefs Jacob.

L. C. J. What fay you about Mr. Parry's be-
ing at Windfor ?

Jacob. He was a Gentleman that came along
with me in the Coach to Windfor.

L.C.J. When?
Jacob. Before Chriftmas (77.)
L. C. J. How long before ?

Jacob. Ten Days. He came there to take Air
for his Health, he was not well.

L. C. J. How long flaid he there ?

Jacob. He ftaid at Windfor till Allhallantide af-

ter, he ftaid there a Year.

L. C. J. Did you fee him there every Day of
that Year ?

Jacob. Yes.

L. C. J. Why, what Reafon had you to fee

him every Day

;

Jacob. He dined every Day at our Houfe.
L. C. J. Your Houfe ? What Houfe ?

Jacob. The Painter's.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. However, that is but from
Chriftmas, and he fpeaks of November before.

L. C. J. Did he dine there all that Time ?

Jacob. Yes.

L. C. J. Did he dine there every Friday con-

ftantly ?

Jacob. Yes.

L C.J. Did he never keep a Faft in all that

time ?

Jacob. No.
L. C. J. Did he dine a Wednefdays and Fri-

days ?

Jacob. Yes.

L. C. J. There was one Good-Friday in that

Time.
Oates. Pray ask this Witnefs if he never heard

him fay Mafs ?

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Then he muft be fworn, and
may be he will deny it.

L. C. J. Did he dine of AJhwednefday and Good*

Friday ?

Jacob. Yes,- my Lord.

L. C. J. So, he fays you eat of Good-Friday

and AJhwednefday ; the Pope fhall know it.

Mr. Recorder. What fay you ? Did he eat Flefh

upon thofe Days ?

Jacob. Yes, he did.

L. C. J. You can tell what he did eat, can

you ?

Mr. Recorder. Did he eat Beef, or Mutton ?

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Go, you talk like an idle

Boy.

L. C. J. He tells you, that you eat Meat too,

that is more.

Parry. My Lord, we eat Fifh, and fuch things

all Catholicks do.

Mr. Recorder. Ay, the Priefts do, but their

Pupils do not, they will not allow it to them.

6 N L C. J-
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L. G. J. Well, have you done, have you any

more WitnefTes ?

Parry. I would ask Mr. Oates, and defire him

to anfwer me to it, what did he depofe againft

me before my Lord Shaftsbury, viz. That he

heard me fay Mafs in Wild-Ghapel, and there heard

Mr. Collinses ConfefTion, and now he fays, it was

in a Private Room ; now I have it to fhew that

I did not officiate there, nor frequent the

Houfe.

L. C. J. Who is it that will prove that you

did not come to the Houfe ?

Parry. The Ambaffador's ServafitS.

L. C. J. I do not underftand what you mean.

Parry. I am to ask of Mr. Oates, and defire he

mould anfwer to it, What he did depofe before

my Lord Shaftsbury and the Committee of Lords,

touching Mr. Collins'?

L. C. J. He cannot remember, it may be.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. You muft not ask fuch

Queftions as thefe are, it does not refer to this

Matter,

Parry. He did give in, that I heard Mr. Gol-

lim*s Confefiion, I ask, why he does not give

it in now ?

L. d J. That is a foreign Matter, what have

we to do with it now ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. If you will prove any

thing againft him, you may, but you may not

ask iuch Queftions as that.

Parry. 1 have proved that I was in 167^, and

1678, in the Country.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. They tell us of ten Days
before ChrifimaSy and Mr. Oates Ipeaks of No-

vember.

L. C. J. Look you, Gentlemen Of the Jury,

here are two WitnefTes againft him, Mr. Oates

and Mr. Praunce.—

Parry. My Lord, I have one thing I defire to

be taken notice of, that is, this Letter of the

Ambaffador's, who upon the Examination of all

his Family does teftify and declare, that I did

never officiate in any refpect in his Family.

L. C. y. It cannot be read.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. It is not any Evidence;

Parry. How fhall I clear myfelf, if the Tefti-

mony of the Ambaffador and his whole Family

be not admitted ?.'.

Mr. yuft. Atkins. 'Tis a hard thing for you to

clear yourfelf.

L. C. y. Why don't you bring them hither a$

your WitnefTes ?

Mr. Recorder. Where is my Lord Ambaffador,
why does not he come hither?

Parry. He hath left the Kingdom.
Mr. Recorder. Then you may boldly fay any

thing of him, and we cannot difprove you.

. L. C. y. Is all his Family gone with him ?

Parry. There is but one remaining, I think

he is here.

L. C. y. Call him.

Parry. Monfieur Rivier. \Wbv appeared^ end

flood up.]

L. C. y. What do you ask him ?

Parry. Do you know this Hand, Sir ?

L. C. y. It muft not be read if he do.

Parry. He is one of the Servants to my Lord
Pgmond, and he lived in the Houfe, and he
knows that by his Mailer's Order all his Dorne-
fhcks were examined, and all protefted they nei-

ther knew nor fato me ever in Wild-Uoufe ; all

which I have under his Hand and Seal t-e ftiew.

t. G. y. It fignifies nothing.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. Ask him any Queftions

but don't tell him what he knows.

L. G. J. Why don't you ask him fome Qje-
ftions ? Why, you have not Catechifms in youf
Church, you don't know how to ask Queftions.

Parry. Ask him whether he ever heard me fay

Mafs at my Lord Ambaffador's Houfe ?

L. C. J. It is to no purpofe if he did not, here

are fome have.

Parry. Then, my Lord, he knows that there

was a ftrict Examination at Wild-^Houfe by my
Lord's Orders, whether I did frequent the Houfe,
and it was reported by them all I did not -, and
they muft know if ever f did officiate there, for

there is none admitted to fay Mafs there, but by
Order.

Mr't yuft. Pemberton. Look you, Sir, do you
know that Mr. Parry ever faid Mafs at Wild-

Houfe ?

Rivier. No, my Lord, I do not know it.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. It was in a private Room.,
Dr. (Jates fays.

Rivier. I never faw him there.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. If you ask an hundred
here, they would fay the fame thing.

L. C. f. Come, when Matters are plain *tis in

vain to contend ; here is the Bafinefs, Gentle-

men, here are Mr. Oates and Mr. Pratince, two
WitnefTes againft Mr. Parry ; Mr. Oates fays,

he hath heard him fay Mais, one time at one
Place, and twice or thrice at another. Mr. Praunce

hath heard him often, and Mr. Praunce does tell

you plainly, that he cannot err, that he is not

miftaken in the Man, for he came to his Houfe
with a Chalice, and broke it there, and he knew
him fo well, that meeting him by chance, he
took him up in the Streets ; fb if you believe

them, they fwear it pofitively, and you muft
find it fo.

Then the Lord Chief yuftice "Went aivay.

CI. of Cr. Set Henry Starkey to the Bar. Hold
up thy Hand, &c.

Mr. Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and
you Gentlemen of the Jury, Henry Starkey ftands

indicted for the like Oifence with the other Pri->

foners ; that he having received Orders from the

See of Rome, came into England, and this is High-
Treafon ; to this he hath pleaded Not Guilty j

we will prove it upon him. Swear Dr. Oates and

Mr. Praunce. [Which was done.]

Mr. Serj. Strode. Pray, Sir, will you tell my
Lord and the Gentlemen of the jury, what you
do know Of this Starkey's being a Prieft ?

Oates. My Lord, Mr. Starkey is a Prieft, and

I once heard him lay Mafs at Mr. Pafton's.

L. C. Baron. When was that ? How long was

it ago ?

Oates. It is about three Years ago.

L. C. Baron. Did he give the Sacrament then*

or at any other Time ?

Oates. None received but himfelf.

Mr. Belwood. Was he in Prieft's Habit ?

Oates. Yes.

L. C. Baron. Did he receive the Sacrament, and

confecrate the Hoft ?

Oates. Yes, in both Kinds.

L. C. Baron. Will you ask him any Queftions ?

Starkey. He tells me of Prieil's Habits ; what

are they, Sir ?

L, C. Baron. What Habit had he on ?

Oates.
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Oates. A thing about his Neck, and a Sur-

plice, and a thing about his Arm ; he had a

Surplice girt about him.

Starkey. I know you not •, and I perceive you

neither know what a Prieft's Habit is, nor the

Difference between his Habit and his Ornaments.

A Priefts Habit is a Caffock down to the Ground,

and a fide Cloke ; the Ornaments of' a Pneft

are not a Surplice, (as Oates fays) but an Albe

that falls to the Ground, and other things befides

that.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. You are well skill'd in it,

I fee.

Starkey. And how did you know that I faid

Mafs ? Did you know that I took Orders ? For

if I took no Orders, it was no Mafs ; for it is the

Pneft makes the Mafs, and not the Mafs the

Priefl •, and then if I were no Priefl, it could be

no Mafs.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. That is a pretty Argu-

ment indeed ! Do any but Priefts fay Mafs ?

Starkey. I can bring an Inftance of a Gentleman

in this Town, a private Layman, who faid

Mafs about this Town, and he was a Proteftant,

and at laft he ftole the Chalice, (His Name was

Gardener.)

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He did well, did he not ?

Is that your Ufe ?

Starkey. Yes, with fuch Priefts as he.

L. C. Baron. 'Tis a great Evidence this argu-

ing of yours, if he did not fwear it, that you

are a Priefl.

Starkey. I wonder that this Gentleman ihould

fb well remember me, I don't know him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Do you think you know
every one that hath feen you at Mafs ?

Sir John Keling. Set up Mr. Praunce. What fay

you, Sir, to this?

Praunce. My Lord, I heard him fay Mafs at my
Lady Somerfei's in Lincoln's-Inn Fields, and at Mr.
Duncomb's, that taught School in Prince's-Street.

Starkey. As I hope for Mercy from Almighty

God, I was never there in all my Life (except

Pantly) her Houfe in Gloucefterjhire.

Praunce. Did you know one Mr. Duncomb that

is dead ?

Starkey. Yes.

Praunce. Well, I heard you fay Mafs at his

Houfe.

Starkey. My Lord, I was never at Mr. Dun-
comb's in my Life, but at 3 or 4 o'clock in the

Afternoon, and if 1 faid Mafs there, it was over

a Pot of Ale.

Praunce. I have heard him fay he faid Mafs in

the King's Army.
Starkey. I know neither of thefe two Fel-

lows.

Mr. Recorder. Come, I would fain fee whether

you Priefts and Jefuits can fpeak one Word of

Truth or no: Come, Mr. Starkey, did you ever

fay Mafs in the Army ?

Starkey. I never did : But pray give me leave

to fpeak ; I appeared for the King, when he

had not above 500 Men in Appearance for him •,

I am but a younger Brother, (fecond Brother to

John Starkey of Barley in the County of Che-

fter, Efq;) and yet with an Annuity of Seven-

fcore Pounds a Years, which I bought, and o-

ther Monies which I had, I fpent above 4000 /.

in the King's Service, (which I bled for before

I had it) for I got it in another Monarch's Ser-

vice •, I loft my Leg for him by a Cannon-ihot,

Vol. II.

and fo fpent my Eflate to that degree, that that
Day when I received my Sentence of Banilh-
ment, I had but three half Crowns in the World,
which were given me that fame Morning by
two Friends.

L. C. Baron. Mr. Starkey, you may urge this

to the King, for his Mercy and Clemency, 'tis

nothing to the Point here before the Jury to be
try'd. Whatfoever you have merited by your
Services, you mutt apply yourfelf to the King
for his Mercy, it is nothing here.

Starkey. Pray, my Lord, give me leave to add
fomething more : I was banifhed for 14 Years
into France, becaufe I refufed to take an Engage-
ment never to bear Arms again for the King : I
did difcover to this King a Plot defign'd againft

his Life, State, and Government : I fuffer to
this Day for it ; and I delivered (into his own
Hand) eleven Articles of High-Treafon againft

the Plotters and their Abettors.

L. C. Baron. You may be a Priefl for all that.

Starkey. But, my Lord, by the Civil Law it is

a Conclufion, that although a Man be a Traitor,

and in the fame Plot, he is to be indemnified for

difcovering the Confpiracy againft his Pnnce

;

much more for difcovering another, that I was
not a Party in.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. We have nothing to do
with that here, but whether you are a Priefl or
not.

Starkey. That I mutt leave to the Proof.

L. C. Baron. Weil then, I'll tell you, Gentle-

men, this Perfon is indicled for being a Priefl,

and coming into England. For the Point of his

being a Pneft, you have heard two Witneffes de-
pofe ; and they both tell you, that they have
heard him fay Mafs, as great an Evidence of it

as can be, for none fay Mais but Priefts. Dr. Oates

tells you at Mr. Pafton's. Mr. Praunce fays at

Mr. Pafton's, at my Lady Somerfet's, and one
Mr. Duncomb's. If you believe this, you muft find

him Guilty.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. And they fpeak too, to his

receiving the Sacraments in both Kinds.

Starkey. If I was there, fure there was fome
body elfe befides myfelf, I did not fay Mafs a-

lone ; produce but one Witnefs for you, then I'll

fubmit.

CI. of Cr. Set Alexander Lumfden to the Bar.

Hold up thy Eland, &c. Your Charge is to en-

quire of him as of your firfl Prifoner, and hear

your Evidence.

Mr. Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and
you Gentlemen of the Jury, Alexander Lumfden
the Prifoner at the Bar Hands indicted for High-
Treafon, for that he being a Priefl, and receiving

Orders from Rome, did come here into England,

and abide contrary to the Statute.

Sir John Keling. Swear Dr. Oates, Mr. Dug-
dale, and Mr. Praunce. [Which was done.']

L. C. Baron. Come, Dr. Oates, what fay you

to this Man ?

Oates. I heard him fay Mafs, he is a Dominican

Frier, as I remember. I heard him fay Mafs

twenty times at Wild-Houfe.

L. C. Baron. And Confecrate the Hoft ?

Oates. Yes, and I received the Sacrament from

him.

L. C. Baron. And faw him take Confefiion ?

Oates. Yes.

6 N 2 Mr. Juft, Pemberton.
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Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Will you ask him any

Queftions ?

Lumfden. What time was this, if it pleafc you,

Sir?

Oates. That Summer that was before the

Plot broke out. Mr. Lumfden knows me well

enough.

L. C. Baron. Do you know him ?

Lumfden. Truly I do not know that ever I faw

him, or converfed with him in my Life.

L. C. Baron. What fay you, Mr. Dugdale ?

Dngdale. My Lord, I was at Whitehall that

Day Mr. Lumfden was taken ; and by the Impor-

tunity of fome Friends 1 did go to him, but I did

not know him, but by Difcourfe he did confefs

himfelf a Prieft ; I asked if he was a Francifcan,

he faid he was a Dominican.

Oates. He is Procurator-General of the King-

dom of Scotland.

Mr. Recorder. They have fuch a parcel of Peo-

ple, and fuch Names for them.

Mr. Serj .Strcde.Mr .Praunce, what do you know
of Lumfden*s being a Prieft ?

Praunce. I know he is a Prieft, and have heard

him fay Mafs feveral times at Wild-houfe.

L. C. Baron. Was he there in the Habit ?

Praunce. Yes, and confecrated the Hoft.

L. C. Baron. How long fince ?

Praunce. Two Years fince. I heard him twenty

times.

L. C. Baron. Do you know what Countryman

he is ?

Praunce. An Irifhman, I think.

Oates. No, he is a Scotchman, he will not deny

k,

L. C. Baron. What Countryman are you ?

Lumfden. A Scotchman.

L. C. Baron. Of what part of Scotland?

Lumfden. Aberdeen.

L. C. Baron. Were you born there ?

Lumfden. Yes.

L. C. Baron. You have no more to fay, have

you.

Lumfden. My Lord, I am not here, I think, to

be my own Accufer, I humbly conceive fo, and

whatfoever is againft me muft be proved, not

fimply aflerted : They ought to give Proofs and

Reafons ; but fo it is, it is but a fimple AfTertion

what they fay •, I defire they may prove it.

L. C. Baron. No, they need not ; it is fufficient

if they prove it by fuch Circumftances that the

Jury are fatisfied and convinced that it is true »

but it is not to be looked for, that no Proof fhould

be given againft the Prieft, but by them that faw

him receive Orders.

Mr. Juft. Atkins. 'Tis impoflible almoft to

prove that.

L. C. Baron. But if they prove the Circum-
ftances, that you have executed the Office of a

Prieft by faying Mafs, which none does but a

Prieft, 'tis enough to guide them in their Ver-

dict.

Mr. Juft. Ellis. And they have proved that

which is next to a pofitive AfTertion.

L. C. Baron. That need not be.

Mr. Juft. Ellis. But let us not lefTen our Proof
neither.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You muft confider that

the Proof is certain ; for they have fworn an

AiTertive pofitive Thing, which thing is enough

to a Jury to prove you a Prieft, becaufe none

others but Priefts may do fuch things in your

Church, as you have done : Therefore it is a
good Argument and Evidence to conclude you
a Prieft, from this Evidence that hath been
given.

Oates. I have heard him own himfelf a Prieft

twenty times.

Lumfden. The exercife of the Prieftly Functi-

on is but a Penalty of 200 Marks.

L. C. Baron. Ay, that is, if the King will go
no higher : But you are profecuted upon another

Law.
Mr. Juft. Ellis. 'Tis Evidence, and a great

Evidence, that which hath been given ; for we
muft go according to the nature of the thing :

'Tis impoflible the Aft of Parliament fhould be
put in execution, if they muft prove they recei-

ved Orders from the See of Rome : But when
they have proved thofe things done by any man,
which none ought to do but a Prieft, it hath

been in all times allow'd to be a Special Evi-
dence.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. 'Tis a plain and fufficient:

Evidence.

Mr. Juft. Ellis. But if there were any need of
it, and you would have any more, he hath con-

feffcd, upon the Qyeftion asked him, Whether
he was a Francifcan ; No, he was a Dominican.

L. C. Baron. Have you done ? Then Gentle-

men of the Jury, you muft not at this time of
the day be infrared by that Argument, That
there muft be a pofitive Proof of this Reception

of Orders from the Church of Rome, becaufe it

hath been all along accounted, and is an un-

doubted Proof for your Satisfaction, if it appear

he hath exercifed the Offices of the Function

;

thofe Offices that are not done but by Priefts

:

Now this hath been proved by two WitnefTes,

and by the Confefflon of the Prieft himfelf to

Dr. Oates and Mr. Dugdale : So I muft leave it

upon the point of Fact to you, whether it be

not fufficient Proof. But this Cafe will differ

from all the reft, and the Court is very tender in

the cafe of Life, that it fhould be without all

Queftion what is determined ; therefore as to

your Enquiry for him, it muft go only whether

he be a Prieft or no ; for the others you muft
confider them as Englifhmen, and enquire of them
as fuch : He is a Scotchman, as he fays, and they

fay fo too : Now then there are fome Words
in this Statute, whereupon the Court hath con-

ceived a Doubt, whether his Cafe comes within

them ; which are the Words about the King's

Dominions, which now are far more enlarged

than were thofe of the Queen when the Statute

was made ; if then you find him a Prieft, you
muft find the other matter fpecially.

Mr. Juft. Ellis. Look you, Gentlemen, we
are to be of Counfel for the Prifoner* and it

being matter of Law, we fhall take time to ad-

vife upon it before we give our Opinions in it

:

but for the matter of Fact, I doubt not but you
will find that he is a Prieft ; and then the other

matters, that he was born at Aberdeen in Scot-

land, and the other matters you may find fpe-

cially, there needs no more.

Mr. Recorder. Swear an Officer to keep the

Jury.

Who after the Recefs of a quarter of an Hour, re-

turned into the Court, and having anfwered to

their Names, and appointed their Foreman to

give in their Vtrdicl, he delivered it thus :

CI.
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Cl. of Cr. Lionel Anderfon, alias Munfon, hold

up thy hand ; look upon the Prifoner, how fay

you, is he Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof

he ftands Indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. James Corker, hold up thy Hand :

How fay you, is he guilty, &c.
Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. Is William Marjhal guilty, fcJV.

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. Is William Ruffel, alias Napper, guil-

ty, &c.

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. Is Charles Parry guilty, &c.

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Cr. Is Henry Starkey guilty, &V.
Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. ofCr. Alexander Lumfden, hold up thy Hand

;

look upon the Prifoner ; How fay you,, is he

Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof he Hands

indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. We find he is guilty of being a Prieit,

and born at Aberdeen in Scotland.

Mr. Juji. Ellis. Read the Notes to them.

Cl. of Cr. You find that Alexander Lumfden is

a Scotchman, of 58 Years of Age, born at Aber-

deen in the Kingdom of Scotland, being then un-

der the Dominions of King Charles the Firft, and

now under the Dominions of our prefent Sove-

reign ; and in the Reign of the faid King Charles

the Firft, and that at the Time in the Indictment

mentioned, he was a Prieft in Holy Orders, by
Authority derived from the See of Rome, prout

in the Indictment: And that he came and was re-

maining in England, prout in the Indictment. But

whether upon the whole matter he be Guilty of

High-Treafon within this Law or not, you do
not know, and crave the Opinion of the Court.

Foreman. Yes.

Cl. of Cr. Then hearken to your Verdict, as

the Court hath Recorded it : You fay, &c.

Mr. Recorder. Call for the Executioner.

'Then the Judges went off from the Bench', and

the Court proceeded to Judgment.

Cl. of Cr. Set Lionel Anderfon, alias Munfon, to

the Bar : Lionel Anderfon, aims Munfon, thou ftand-

eft Convicted of High-Treafon ? What canft

thou fay for thyfelf, why Judgment fhould not

pafs upon thee to Die accorjing to the Law ?

Anderfon. I can fay this, I would have gone out

of England, but the King kept me here, telling

me, 1 ihould not go ; and I had a Protection

from the Council-board : The Bifhop of London,

when I was taken firft, lent a Letcer to Sir Cle-

ment Armiger, that neither I nor my Books fhould

be meddled with, that I had written for the King
and the Government, for which he conceived I

might be excommunicated at Rome, and that I

was then under a fpecial Protection of his Ma-
jefty and Council ; and when I was again taken

and put in Cuftody of the Horfe-Guard, the

Duke of Monmouth fent Sir Thomas Armftrong to

ha^e me freed again : I begg'd of the King that

I might go, faid I, I won't expofe the King to

the worft of Rabbles •, but he told me, I Ihould

ftay in England, and Mr. Peter Weljh and I had

Orders from the Council, he one and I another,

'to ftay.

Mr. Recorder. For that matter you may be af-

fured, I promife it you faithfully and publickly,

that I will acquaint the King with what you
fay.

Anderfon. I thank you, Sir.

Mr. Recorder. For this Court hath nothing to

do with that ; the King is the proper Judge of
that matter, to determine his own Pleafure as he
thinks fit: Tie him up.

Anderfon. Sir, I had no notice of my Trial

but this morning : I fent to my Lord Bridgwater,

to know when i fhould be Tried, he told me, I

Ihould have Ten Days notice of it •, now I have
Witneffes to difprove Mr. Praunce's Teftimony ;

for Mr. Oates, I own he hath heard me fay Mafs»
but for Mr. Bedlow's Teftimony, as I hope to

fee the Face of Almighty God, I know him not

:

When I was taken, faid he to me, Mr. Anderfon^

let me fee your Protection, and I fhewed it him 3

You have two Names, faid he, I do not know
whether it be you or no. And then befides, thefe

are not legal Witneffes.

Mr. Recorder. Nay, that muft not be allow'd
you to fay : You have been fairly heard and
try'd ; they were upon their Oaths, and the Ju-
ry, twelve men upon their Oaths, without any
Exception made to them, they have Convicted
you ; therefore this is to calumniate the Proceed-
ings of the Court.

Anderfon. I tell you this more 5 they are not
the King's Evidence properly ; for they fwear
for themfelves upon the account of Benefit ; if

any Prieft be Convicted, they are to have fo much
Money.

Mr. Recorder. The Court heard the Evidence
that was given, and if you will have it of the

Court, the Court does really believe them, and
fo did the Jury too.

Anderfon. I am fatisfied.

Mr. Recorder. Tie him up then.

Cl. of Cr. James Corker, hold up thy Hand :

You ftand Convicted of High-Treafon ; What
can fay you for yourfelf, csV.

Corker. Nothing, but that I refer myfelf to

God, my juft Judge and Saviour.

Mr. Recorder. Tie him up.

Cl, of Cr. William Marjhal, hold up thy Hand s

Thou art in the fame Condition, what fay'ft thou

for thyfelf?

Marjhal. I have very little more to fay than

What 1 have faid already : I thought the Law
had not allow'd any Man to- have been condemn-
ed upon the Teftimony of one Witnefs, but

required two : Now there was but one pofitive

Witnefs againft me, the reft only faid, I had
confeffed myfelf to be a Prieft ; two of them
did fwear, they heard me confeis it at my other

Trial ; if it had been at this Trial it had been

another thing, and there had been fome Validity

in the Proof-, but to fay, they heard me con-

fefs it at another time, I humbly conceive, ac-

cording to the Law, bears no force. I have this

further to add, his Majefty, fome Years ago9

put forth a Declaration under the Broad- Seal,

for a Toleration of Religion, and Liberty of

Confcience, whereby the Roman Catholicks had

the ufe of their Religion in their private Hon-
fes. Now I have been informed, that accord-

ing to Law, whatfoever. is put forth under the

Broad-Seal, muft be recalled by fomething un-

der the Broad-Seal, or it remains in force : which

was never done as to this Declaration, and then

I lie under the Protection of that Declaration,

Mr,
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Mr. Recorder. As for the firft part, 'tis plain,

to the Satisfaction of every body, that there hath

been two fufficient WitnelTes, upon whofe Te-

flimony you are convicted : For whether you

were asked the Queftion or nor,, yet if you will

fay you are a Prieft, that Confefiion of yours is

Evidence againft you, tho' you might poffibly

fay fo without being asked the Qaeftion.

Marjhal. Is it credible I fhould do fo I

Mr. Recorder. Yes, the Jury believed it lb.

Dr. Oates. One of the Jury flood by and heard

the Words.
Mr. Recorder. And now, becaufe I will put it

out of all doubt, 'tis not the Bufinefs nor the

Duty of the Court to give any Evidence of any

Fact that they know of their own knowledge,

unlefs they will be fworn for that purpofe : For

tho' they do know it in their own private Con-

ferences to be true ; yet they are obliged to

conceal their own Knowledge, unlefs they will

be fworn as Witneffes. But now you are Con-

victed, I muft take the liberty to tell you, that

at your laft Trial you did own your felf to be a

Prieft ; and I mult put you in mind further of

fomething which you may very well remember :

When I detained you after your Acquittal, and

re-committed you when Sir George Wahman was

difcharged, I did then tell you, you have own'd

your felves to be Priefts, I was bound to take

notice of that Confefiion of yours, and there-

fore obliged to detain you : Such a Token as

that is may perhaps bring it to your memory ;

but as it was hinted to you before, you are a

voluminous Talker, and abundance of things

may drop out of your mouth, that you don't

confider before they are paft.

Marjhal. *Tis for my Life, and therefore I

may be permitted to fpeak fure.

Mr. Recorder. That is as to the firft Point :

And then as to the King's Declaration, which

was the other matter you infilled upon, I pre-

fume it does not flick with any body that knows

the matter •, but left it fhould, I would fay this

to it : 'Tis very well known in the firft place

(I do not go now to determine the Law upon it,

becaufe you know what Opinions and Judg-

ment it received afterwards) yet this I will ad-

venture to fay, That it was never the Intention

of that Declaration that ever Priefts fhould come

and refide here ; but it was only intended for

tender Confciences, as the very Letter of the

Declaration it felf does fhew, not to counte-

nance Priefts and Jefuits, that have caft off all

their Allegiance to the King, and endeavour

both to deftroy him and his Government.

Marjhal. Pray Sir, will ) ou give me leave to

fpeak as to that : If fo be the ufe of their Religi-

on were permitted to Roman Catholicks, that

Religion not being to be practifed without

Priefts, it is to be fuppofed, that the Priefts are

permitted.

Mr. Recorder. But if a Man were to argue with

you now in your own way ; Pray are there not

Priefts in England, befides diofe Priefts that were

born here ? You know, of your own Acquain-

tance there are feveral Roman Catholick Priefts,

not Engli/hmen born, that are conftantly here, who
can perform the Offices.

Marjhal Nay, 1 don't know that; but this I

know, if they be not born in England, or have

lived in England, fo as to kno w the Tongue, Ro-

man Catholicks will be little the better for 'em.

Mr. Recorder. Nay, I don't fay much the bet-

ter, but much the worfe for their coming at

them : and in cafe they would only ufe the Eng-
lijh Truth, I prefume they would not have fo ma-
ny Profelytes, but you gull them with Stuff they
underftand not.

Marjhal. Pray, Sir, give me leave a little, I

have one word more : For all matters of Trea-
fon, and treacherous Confpiracy, I was freed be-
fore in this Court; now 1 would obferve what
the beft Lawyers that ever were in England, have
obferved for me ; That there is no Crime in

Priefthood it felf : For my Lord Coke in his 5th
Report, 39th Leaf, commenting largely upon
the Statute of 2 7 Eliz. and enlarging upon the
Senfe and Meaning of that Statute, and callino-.

to mind who the Men were that were former-
ly executed by force of that Statute, and why,
concludes thus : Hence it appears, that no Man
yet hath or can be executed for his Function of
Priefthood, but becaufe there was annexed to
the Priefthood treacherous Defigns and treache-

rous Attempts. And the fame Lawyer in the ?d
Inftitutes, 2 2d Leaf, fays, That in this Statute

of 27 Eliz. 'twas very wifely and juftly done by
the Statute-makers, to provide, that the Judges
fhould proceed in their Judgments upon that

matter, only according to what is expreffid and
fpecified in that Statute. And thofe Words were
a Sanctuary To the Judges, and put in to pre-

vent the fnedding of guiltleis Blood. Now ifib
be that fo great a Lawyer, in a Difcourfe about
Priefthood and Treachery, does thence conclude,

That Priefthood as Priefthood is no Crime, nor
no Function belonging to it hath any Crime
in it, well may I conclude fo too: And indeed,

if it had, then a great part of the World would
be Traitors ; nay, it would bring in Chrift him-
felf, who was a Prieft, to be a Traitor too

:

Therefore Priefthood, as Priefthood,. hath no
Treafon efTentially link'd to it. And when he
fays, that they muft proceed according to what
is fpecified, he does in the forementioned place

fhew, that it was not fpecified at all, that any
that were Executed, were for Priefthood Exe-
cuted : And I am accufed of nothing elfe in the

World but bare Priefthood as Priefthood, with-

out any Defign or Treachery joined to it : And
if, according to Law, Priefthood be not liable

to Condemnation, then I am not to be Con-
demned.

Mr. Recorder. Now you have been heard.

Marjhal. Yes, Sir, and I thank you for it.

Mr. Recorder. This long Speech of yours will

fignify but little, when you confider the Act of
Parliament upon which you are indicted. 'Tis

true, fet that Act of Parliament out of the Cafe,

and then to be a Prieft is not High-Treafon ;

nay, in cafe a Man be born out of the Kino's

Dominions, and be a Prieft, and remain here,

that is not High-Treafon within this Statute,

becaufe Priefthood it felf does not make the

Crime (God forbid any one fhould affirm it) but
when all that is granted, when an Act of Par-

liament hath taken particular notice of the

great Mifchiefs and Inconveniences that have
attended the Government, and the continual

Danger that the Supreme Head hath been in,

by having Perfons which were born within the

King's Dominions (as you were) to wave their

Allegiance, and to acknowledge a Supremacy
in any Foreign Prince or Prelate, as you all do,

when
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when you take Orders from the See of Rome

:

the Wifdom of the Nation hath thought rea-

fonable that fuch mould be adjudged Trai-

tors : And this Act of Parliament, upon which
you ftand Convicted, does plainly fay, If any
one born within the King's Dominions will

take Orders from the See of Rome, and fhall af-

ter refide here, he is guilty of High-Treafon

:

And this is not only thought fo by us that are

here, but by all my Lords the Judges that were
prefent at your Trial •, for God forbid we mould
condemn you for any thing as High-Treafon, if

you had not been within the compafs of the Act
of Parliament : And what is Treafon, the Act
of Parliament particularly defcribes, which all

hath been proved upon you; and becaufe you
are pleafed to fpeak it to the Court, and lay it

on the Confciences of the Court, I difcharge my
Confcience ; the Jury having Convicted you for

High-Treafon, I am very ready to pafs Judg-
ment upon you according to the Law, and I

will clear my Confcience of that prefently. Tie
him up.

CI. of Cr. William Rujfel, Hold up thy Hand,
Thou art in the fame Cafe, what canft thou fay

for thy felf? &c.

Rujfel. I can fay this, my Lord, that in my
Confcience, I do not acknowledge my felf

Guilty of what they accufe me for, but I mull
fubmit to the Laws as they are made ; but I do
proteft before Almighty God, and this whole

Court, that I am innocent of all that is laid up-

on me.
Mr. Recorder. Why, what were you never at

Wild-houje, and faid Mafs there ? I would fain

hear, whether you, in the State and Condition

you are in (though you Jefuits have a thoufand

Tricks and Evafions) have Confidence enough
to fay you never were, nor faid Mafs there ?

Rujfel. I ought not to accufe my felf.

Mr. Recorder. You are convicted. But every

thing that you fay is but an Evafion, and a Trick

to catch and inlnare the Ignorant, but People of

any fort of Senfe will not be gulPd fo.

Rujfel. For my Witneffes, you are my Witnefs,

I have but one Witnefs upon that Bulinefs.

Mr. Recorder. The Jury have believed them.

Rujfel. 'Tis poffible it may be fo.

Mr. Recorder. Nay, 'tis beyond poffible, 'tis true,

Rujfel. The Witneffes that have depofed againft

me, for my part, I know them not.

Mr. Recorder. You have heard of Dr. Oates,

Mr. Praunce, and of Sir William Waller too. Tic

him up.

CI. of Cr. Charles Parris, alias Parry, hold up

thy Hand. You are in the fame Condition, what

have you to fay ?

Parry. What have I to fay for my felf? I have

this to lay, That thofe that did depofe againft me,

did not fay one Word of Truth as to their Alle-

gations, I take God to witnefs for it ; I am a

dying Man, and thank moft heartily the Court

for what they are to pronounce againft me, and

I am as ready to fuffer, as any Man may be to

have me to fuffer, for it is God's Glory and his

Caufe. Then I infifted upon two Parts, and

complained, Firft, of Sir William Turner, that

being brought before him by Mr. Praunce, and

fhewing him my Protection under an Ambaffador,

and I profeffing my felf a Frenchman, he flighted

it, which I held to be a manifeit Breach againft

the Laws of Nations, Secondly, I was wrong'd

by Sir William Waller, when (in his Examina-
tion of me with Juftice Warcup) in the Prefs-yard,

Newgate, he threaten'd me with Irons, &c. if I

did not take my Oath 1 was not born in France,

and I refufing, (which none could be compell'd

to) for 'twas my Opponent's Part to prove the

contrary •, and who can prove me to be other than

a Frenchman ?

Mr. Recorder. No body can j we believe you
to be an Englijhman.

Parry. If I be a Frenchman, I am not fubject

to the penal Laws.
Mr. Recorder. Why, no body does. We be-

lieve you to be an Englijhman.

Parry. And if it pleafe you, they are to prove
it.

Mr. Recorder. Well, that is over now. Tie
him up.

Parry. I am not a Subject, and as not a Sub-
ject, am not under the penal Laws.

CI. of Cr. Set Henry Starkey to the Bar. Henry
Starkey, hold up thy Hand. Thou art in the fame
Condition with him that went laft before thee5

what canft thou fay for thy felf? &c.
Starkey. In the firft place, Mr. Recorder^ here

is the Man (pointing at Mr. Praunce) hath fworn
two Lies at one Breath.

Mr. Recorder. I muft not hear that, Mr. Starkey.

Starkey. Will you pleafe to hear me, Sir ?

Mr. Recorder. I will give you all the Freedom
you can lawfully defire in the World, but it

muft be that which will confift with my Duty,

and the Reverence you owe the Court. You fhall

not revile the King's Evidence as long as I am
here, by the help of God.

Starkey. If that it were true, that I had faid

Mafs at my Lady Somerfet's and Mr. Dunccmb's,

yet it is not fufficient to prove a Man to be a

Prieft, for any Man may take the Prieft's Gar-

ments, and do the Ceremony and the Office, be-

caufe there are hundreds, perhaps thoufand §j that

have fuffer'd Death for it. And fo to do thefe

Acts, is not Evidence of being a Prieft.

Mr. Recorder. Indeed I don't underftand what

makes a RomiJJj Prieft, nor do I defire it.

Starkey. But you will give me the Letter of

the Law.
Mr* Recorder. And the Jury hath found you a

Tranfgreffor of the Law:
Starkey. The Letter of the Law is this, That

if any one of the Queen's Subjecls fhall tranfport

himfelf beyond the Sea, and/hall in a Seminary take

Orders, by Authority deriv dfrom the See of Rome,
andjhall return into England, andrfhall not prefent

himfelf here to the Ordinary, or elfe to fuch a certain

Number ofjuftices of the Peace within fuch a Termb

but fhallfeducs the King^s Liege People —
Mr. Recorder. No, that is another Act.

Starkey. Then he fhall be adjudged a Traitor,

Now, Mr. Recorder, I come to this , as I told you

before, I had difcovered a Plot to the King that

was defign'd againft his Perfon, State, and Go-;

vernment, and did deliver into his Hands eleven

Articles of Treafon, which I had writ with my
own Hands ; (and this he hath own'd, and will

own.) So, Mr. Recorder, upon this I was threate-

ned my Life and Liberty by the Plotters, That

the King mould not be gone twenty four hours,

but I fhould be imprifoned. When the King
went, what muft I do? Muft I ftay there and

hazard my Life, or truft to the King's Mercy ?

I was forced to come along with the King for

Protection,
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Protection. I came to Whitehall, and the King
role up and gave me his Hand to kifs, and fo

did the Duke of York, and told me I was wel-

come. I went to my Lord Chancellor Hyde, who,

when he law me, embraced me in his Arms, and

faid, thou art welcome, I am glad to fee thee in

England. I had occafion to fpeak with the Bi-

ihop of London, Dr. Sbelden, about another Perfon,

and when I came to him he asked me, What is

your Name ? My Lord, faid I, my Name is

Starkey, with that he catches me fall by the

Hand, and when he had done that, he took me
in his Arms, and told me, You arc welcome.

And Mr. Recorder, I do fuffer to this Day for

the Service I have done the King.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Starkey, I can only fay this

to you, I do promife you faithfully, as I pro-

mised the other Gentleman that went before,

I'll tell the King what you alledge. He is the

bed able to give an Account of it, and is the

fitted Judge of his own Mercy. But I could re-

commend to you, Mr. Starkey, a thing that

would be very acceptable, and then as far forth

as 'tis modeft for me to fpeak, I am pretty well

aflfured, I might fay, I could prevail for Mercy
to you, That is, as you did difcover one Plot

before, fo you would difcover this hellifh Plot

that is now on foot.

Starkey. Mr. Recorder, I have wilhed a hundred

times, and wifh now, that if there were any

Commiffions, as is pretended, the firft that had

delivered one to me, lhould never have deliver'd

a fecond ; for I would either have brought him

to Juftice, where he lhould receive his Reward,

or elfe I would have kill'd him in the place -, tell

the King, Mr, Recorder, that I fay fo.

Mr. Recorder. Well, the King is a Fountain

of Mercy, and he is the belt Judge of the fit

Objects of it, I will, as I laid, tell him what

you fay.

Starkey. If the King does not own what I told

you, then count me the greateft Knave that ever

you fpoke withal.

. Mr. Recorder. You remain now under the Con-

viction of the Law ; what Mercy the King, who
is the Fountain of Mercy as well as of Juftice,

will extend to you, is in his own Power.

Starkey. Mr. Recorder, I have here his Ma-
jefty's Gracious Pardon of the 25th Year of his

Reign.

Mr. Recorder. I allow that, but you have ftaid

here fince.

Starkey. Why then, Mr. Recorder, pray will

you advife me what to have done ? Nature teach-

eth all Men to Ihun Danger ; for I was threat-

ened with Life, G?f. if I ftaid in France : Whe-
ther lhould I ftay there, or return to my native

Country with my King ? Now, Mr. Recorder, I

defire to know what you would have had me
done ?

Mr. Recorder. I lhall acquaint the King, and

will do you all the Kindnefs I can with him.

Tie him up.

Starkey. But how lhall I do then, when I am
lame ? I want a Leg, and I mull ufe my Stick.

Mr. Recorder. Then let him alone.

Starkey. But I pray, good Mr. Recorder, will

you be pleafed before you give Sentence upon

me, to acquaint the King with what I have to

fay for myfelf.

Mr. Recorder. No, I cannot do that, the King's

Pleafure is to be known afterwards. Set Lumjden

afide, and fet all the reft to the Bar.

Hben Proclamation was made for Silence^ wbiljt

Judgment was giving.

Mr. Recorder. You the Prifoners at the Bar

;

you have been feverally Accufed, Arraigned »

Starkey. Mr. Recorder, may I fpeak one Word ?

I have prefented this Year, wherein at the 26th
of this Month I have been a Prifoner, feveral

Petitions by my Friends to the King, and defir'd

to be Tranfported ; for my Age and Infirmities,

and want of a Leg, did not Hand well with my
being in England thefe troublefome Times. The
King, I am told, hath promifed I lhould, but I

fee no Fruits of thofe Petitions. And pray con-
fider this, that I lhould have been imprifoned if

I flayed out of England, and now to be profe-

cuted in England in this manner, and to be drawn,
hang'd, and quartered, is very hard.

Mr. Recorder. Whether it be true or not, God
knows, I lhall acquaint the King with it. It only
remains with me to take notice of it for that

purpofe. And for my part I am forry with all

my Heart to lee fo many Perfons brought to re-

ceive the Sentence of Death by my Mouth. But
I mull fay this, you your felves have been the

occafion of it, and therefore mull blame your
felves for it. You have had the Benefit of the

bell Laws, the Law of England, which gives

every Subject the liberty to make a Defence for

himfelf, when ever he is acculed of any Crime

;

he hath the liberty to hear the Witnefifes what
they fay againft him ; to call any Witnefies for

him, and to make defence for himfelf. And not
only fo, but he hath likewife Twelve Men upon
their Oaths, that are his Peers, againft whom he
hath the liberty to make a Challenge without
fhewing any Reafon, to a certain Number ; and
if it lhall appear that any of them have the lealt

Prejudice or Malice againft any Perfons that are

to be tried for their Lives, to a greater Number.
Such, and fo great is the Benefit of the Laws of
England, beyond all the Laws of any other Na-
tion in the World. But all thefe Forms having
been palled, and a Jury of Men, againft whom
you made no Exception, having found you Guilty

of the Offences for which you were Indicted,

there remains now nothing more with the Court,

but to pals that Judgment of Death upon you,

which the Law requires, and which is the Bufi-

nefs that lies upon me now. But before I do
that, for I know you may think it a Prefumption,

or at leaft a needlefs and unnecelfary thing for me
to take upon me, and give any Directions to you,

the Bufinefs of whofe Profeffion it hath been to

give Precepts : However 1 think it neceffary

for the Satisfaction of fome Perfons that are here

prefent, that I lhould give them fome Account,
why I think this Law, and the putting it in exe-

cution at this time, is not unreafonable. For it is

to be known, that every Subject of this Realm
by his being born within the Dominions of the

King, does owe an immediate Allegiance to the

King, and is to take notice by the Law, that

there is not any Perfon hath any Superiority

over him ; for under God he is the Supreme
Head and Governor. And if any Perfon born
within the Dominions of the King lhall fo far

foget himfelf, and what he owes to the King by
his Birth, and that Supremacy which he lhould

maintain with his Life and Fortune, as to ac-

knowledge any other Foreign Perfon to be Su-
preme, and to have a Power to Depofe the King,

and



i6'jg. O.R Ro&ifh Pricfis? for High-Treafon. 1017

and difpofe of his Dominions (as every one does,

that takes Orders from the See of Rome) he can-

not but be thought defervmg of the greateft Pu-

nilhment. Wherefore the Vvifdom of our Na-

tion, the Parliament, at the Time when they

made the Law, found that the Religion Eftabli-

fhed (that Religion which I hope in God will

remain notwithstanding all the Enemies it ever

had or (hail have) was invaded by fuch Priefts as

you ; they found the Life of the Qaeen at that

time in gre&t danger, by the Attempts of thofe

Perfons whom they had made their Profelytes,

into whom they had infufed Principles, that it

was no Crime for them to depofe their Qjeen,

fince they had the Authority of their Pope to

juftify the Fact. And if once Men ?an preach

fuch Doctrine, and alfo but prevail with their

Hearers to be of fuch a Perfuafion, if Care were

not taken, we ihall foon fee an end of all fort of

Government, and of our Religion too. Bit in

as much as thefe Principals were not fo vifibly

endeavoured to be put in practice till of late

times, though you were not permitted, but con-

nived at •, yet that is no Reafhn but the occafion

of making the Law being revived, the Execu-

tion of the Law mould revive with it. I fuppofe

it is not unknown to any of us, that there hath

been an helliih Plot againft the Life of the King,

and to deflxoy our Religion, I would to God I

could fay the Plot was at an end. For I muff,

fay, fome of you, I fear, had too great a Hand
in it : And what a fort of Pvlonfters were pre-

vailed upon to compafs the fame, by you that

are Prielts and Jefuits, who have wrought them

up to fuch a Belief, that Murder in this World
is a certain Way to Saintlhip in that which is to

come. And though you feem to deny it, your

Practices are a Proof of it beyond a!l Contradic-

tion, which is the Reafon that this Law, which

was a good Law at the time of the making, and

thought fit to be put in Execution then, though

it hath flept fome time fince, fliould now be put

in Execution againft you, who have occafion'd

all thole Mifchiefs to this Nation in thele latter

Times, which occafioned the making of the

Law. And one thing more I fhould lay to that

Man, who pretends to merit by the good Ser-

vices he hath done for the Publick, that he fliould

injoin a Man to icour his Kettle, as he calls it,

to receive the Sacrament, and then give him a

Difpenfation to be drunk, 'and make another fo,

to promote a damnable Defign, is fuch a Power
of Priefthood, fit only for the pope and his Imps
to put in practice.

But fay no more, in Charity I am bound to-

companionate your Condition, which with all my
Soul I do, and heartily can fay to you, I am forry

to fee you in that Milery. It was in your own
power to have prevented it ; but feeing you have

made your felves Obnoxious to the Law, the only

thing required of me, is to pronounce the Sentence

that the Law hath decreed : And therefore in

the Name of the Court 1 do pronounce this to be

your Judgment
Siarkey. Mr. Recorder, give me leave to fpeak

one Word : if any one fhould have held to me that

Pofition, That it is lawful to depofe and murder
Kings, I would have killed him in the place: Tell

the King, Mr. Recorder, I fay fo.

Anderfon. It is my comfort, that no one of com-
mon Scnfe can believe it.

Marfual. May 1 ask one Qaeftion, Mr. Recorder

;

before you pronounce Sentence?

Mr. Recorder. No, Mr. Marjhal, you can't

fpeak now ; but this is your Judgment, and the

Court does award it : That you the feveral Pri-

foners now at the Bar, be conveyed from hence

to the Place from whence you came; and that

you, and every of you, be convey'd from thence

on Hurdles to the place of Execution, where

every one of you are to be feverally hang'd by the

Neck ; That you be feverally cut down alive ;

That your Privy-Members be cut off, your

Bowels taken out and be burnt in your view ;

That your Heads be fevered from your Bodies ;

That your Bodies be divided into four Quarters,

which are to be difpofed at the King's pleafure :

and the God of infinite Mercy have Mercy upon
your Souls.

Parry. Te Deum laudamus ; Te Dominum confite-

mur.

1hen the Prifoners were carried away, and the

Court Adjourned the ScJJions.

XCI. The Trial of J

o

h n Ta sborough and
P r i c e3 at the Kings-Bench, for Subornation oj

February 3, 1679. Hil.g-2Car.il.

NNE
ury,

I R S T, Proclamation was made for

Information in ufual Forrn.^ Then
the Defendants were called, and ap-

pearing, were by the Clerk of the

Crown advifed to look to their Chal-

lenges. Then the Jurors that were,

fummoned to try the Caufe being called, and ap-

pearing, the Twelve that were Sworn, were thefe

Perfons following,

Vol. II.

'Thomas Harriot,

Thomas John/on,

Charles Umphervile,

Thomas Earsby,

Richard Pagett,

John Greene,

1
r Edward Wilford,

Richard Bull,

I J

Richard Cooper,

J

James Supple,

[.George Read.

CI. of Cr. Gentlemen of the Jury, you that are
Sworn, hearken to the Record. The Defen-

6 O dants,
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dants, John Tasborough and Anne Price, (land In-

dicted by the Oaths of Twelve honeft and law-

ful Men of the County of Middle/ex ; which In-

dictment fets forth, That whereas one Thomas

White, alias Whiiebread, William Harcourt, John

Fenwick, John Gavan, alias Gawen, and Anthony

'Turner, being Popifn Recufants, and falfe Trai-

tors againft our Sovereign Lord, Charles the Se-

cond, by the Grace of God, of England, Scot-

land, France and Ireland King, Defender of the

Faith, csv. the Thirteenth Day of June, in the

Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord the

King that now is, the Thirty firft, at the Seflions

of Oyer and Terminer, and Goal-delivery, then

held in the Old-Baily, in the Parifh of St. Se-

pulchres, in the Ward of Faringdon without, Lon-

don, for the City of London and County of Mid-

dlefex, were lawfully indicted for certain High-

Treafons, in the faid Indictment fpecified ; and

afterwards were feverally Tried by a Jury of

the faid County, and then and there were Attain-

ted, as appears by the Record thereof to the Ju-

rors aforefaid in Evidence fhewn. And whereas

alfo one Richard Langhorn, Efq; being a Popifh

Recufan% the 14th Day of June, in the Year of

the Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord the King

that now is the 31ft aforefaid, at the Seflions of

Oyer and Terminer, then held by Adjournment at

the Old-Baily, in the Parifh and Ward aforefaid,

was lawfully Indicted for divers High-Treafons

in the faid Indiclment fpecified ; and being af-

terwards Tried by a Jury of the County, was

then and there thereof Attainted, as appears by

the Record thereof, to the Jurors aforelaid in

Evidence fhewn. And whereas one Stephen Dug-

dale, upon the feveral Trials of the Indictments

aforefaid, was a Witnefs produced and fworn on

behalf of our faid Sovereign Lord the King that

now is, and then and there in lawful manner

did give material Evidence againft the faid Wil-

liam Harcourt, and the faid feveral other Trai-

tors, to prove them guilty of the matters in the

faid Indictment fpecified : The faid Defendants,

John Tasborough and Anne Price, the Premifes a-

forefaid well knowing, and being Perfons de-

vilifhly affected towards our Sovereign Lord
Charles the Second, now King of England, l£c.

their Supreme and Natural Lord, and devifing,

and with all their Strength intending the Peace

and Tranquillity of this Kingdom to difturb, and

to hinder and ftifle the farther difcovery of the

faid Treafons, and as much as in them lay, the

due courfe of Law to elude, and the Profecution

of Juftice in that behalf to retard and obftrucl

;

as alfo to caufe and procure that it fhould be be-

lieved, that the Perfons aforefaid Attainted,

were unjuftly Attainted : The faid Anne Price

before the Trial of the faid William Harcourt, to

wit, the 10th day of June, in the Year of the

Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord the King the

31ft aforefaid, at the Parifh of St. Margaret Weft-

minfter, in the County of Middle/ex, with Force

and Arms, falfly, unlawfully, unjuftly, corrupt-

ly, and againft the Duty of her Allegiance, did

folicit, fuborn, and endeavour to perfuade the

faid Stephen Dugdale, that • he the aforefaid Stephen

Dugdale fhould not be a Witnefs nor give Evi-

dence againft the faid William Harcourt, upon the

Trial of the faid William Harcourt for the Trea-

fons aforefaid : And that the faid John Tasborough

and Anne Price, afterwards, to wit, the 12 th Day
of Oclober, in the Year of the Reign of our faid

Sovereign Lord the King that now is, the 31ft

aforefaid, at the Parifh of St. Margaret Weftminfier
aforefaid, v/ith Force and Arms, falfly, unlaw-
fully, unjuftly, advifedly, corruptly, and againft

the Duty of their Allegiance, did folicit, fub-

orn, and endeavour to perfuade, and either of
them did then and there, falfly, unlawfully, ad-

vifedly, corruptly, and againft the Duty of their

Allegiance, folicit, fuborn, and endeavour to

perfuade the faid Stephen Ditgdd:, that he the faid

Stephen Dugdale fhould retract and deny all the

Evidence and Information which he the faid

Stephen Dugdale, as aforefaid, had given againft

the Traitors and Popifh Recufants aforefaid ;

the faid 'John Tasborough and Anne Price then and
there falfly, unlawfully, unjuftly and advifedly,

corruptly promifing, and either of them promif-
ing to the faid Stephen Dugdale great Sums of
Money and Rewards, if he the faid Stephen Dug-
dale would retract and deny all the Evidence and
Information by the faid Stephen Dugdale, againft

the Traitors and Popifh Recufants aforefaid, as

aforefaid given, and would withdraw and abfent

himfelf the faid Stephen Dugdale, in places un-

known and beyond the Sea : And that the faid

John Tasborough and Anne Price, their wicked De-
vices, Practices and Intentions aforefaid to fu'fil

and accomplifh, afterwards, to wit, the faid 1 2 -h

Day of Oclober, in the Year of the Reign of our
faid Sovereign Lord the King the 31ft aforefaid,

at the Parifh aforefaid, in the County aforefaid,

by Foic. and Arms, falfly, unlawfully, unjuftly,

advifedly and corruptly, and againft the Daty
of their Allegiance, did produce and ihew, and
each of them did then and there produce and
fhew to the faid Stephen Dugdale, a certain Note
in Writing, the Tenour of which Note follows

in thefe Engli/h Words following : Being touched

with a true remorfe of Confcisnce, and hearty So row

for the great III I did in coming in a Witnefs againft

the Cathclicks, and there fpcaking things which in my
own Confcience I knew to be veryfar from the Truth:

I think myfelf bound in Duty both to God and Many

and for the fafety of my own Soul, to make a true

Declaration how I was drawn into tl.is wicked Aclion.

But being very well fatisfied, that I fhall create my

fclf many powerful Enemies upon this account\ I have

retired my felf to a place offafety, where I will with

my own Hand difcover the great Wrong that hath

been done the Catholicks, and hope it may gain Belief.

And likewife Iproteft before Almighty God, that I
have no Motive to induce me to this Confeffvn, but

a true Repentance for the Mifchiefs I have done, and

hope God Almighty will forgive me. And that the

faid John Tasborough and Anne Price, the D .y and

Year aforefaid, in the Parifh aforefaid, in the

County aforefaid, with Force and Arms, falfly,

unlawfully, unjuftly, adviledlv, corruptly, and

againft the Duty of their Allegiance, the faid

Stephen Dugdale the aforefaid Note in Writing,

fo as aforefaid, to the faid Stephen Dugdale pro-

duced and fhewn to fign and fubfcribe, did folicit

and endeavour to perfuade, and each of them did

folicit and endeavour to perfuade, and then and

there falfly, unlawfully, unjuftly, advifedly and

corruptly did promife, and each of them did

prom lie to the faid Stephen Dugdale, that if he

the faid Stephen Dugdale,- the aforefaid Note in

Writing would figh and fubfcribe, that then he

the faid Stephen Dugdale great and vaft Sums of

Money fhould have and receive ; to die evil and

pernicious Example of all Perfons in the like

Cafe
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Cafe offending, and againft the Peace of our faid

Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dig-

nity, and againft the Duty of their Allegiance.

To this indictment they have pleaded Not Guil-

ty, and for their Trial have put themfelves up-

on the Country, and the King's Attorney like-

wife, which Country you are : Your Charge

is to enquire, Whether the Defendants, or ei-

ther of them, be guilty of the Trefpafs and Of-

fence whereof they ftand Indicted, or Not Guil-

ty : If you find them or either of them Guilty,

you are to fay fo ; if you find them Not Guilty,

you are to fay fo, and no more, and hear your

Evidence.

Crier; make an Tes.

Crier. OYes! If any one will give ^Evidence

on behalf of our Sovereign Lord the King, a-

p-ainft the Defendants John Tasborough and Anne

Price, let them come forth and they mall be

heard.

Mr. Belwood. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury, the Defendants,

John 'Tasborough and Anne Price, ftand Indicled

for Subornation of Perjury : And the Indictment

fets forth, That whereas Thomas Whiiebread, Wil-

liam Harcourt, and others, were Indicled, and that

for Treafon, in Confpiring the Death of the King,

and other Treafons, and were legally Try'd, Con-

victed, and Attainted for the fame ; and that Ri-

chard Langhorn was likewife Indicted and Attaint-

ed for the fame Offence : And that upon thefe

Trials Mr. Dugdale was produced and examined

as a Wunefs for the King, and did depofe materi-

ally againft the faid Traitors : And tlie Defendants

knowing this, and contriving and defigning to

ftifie the Difcovery of the Treafons aforefaid, did

before the Trial of the faid Harcourt folicit, fub-

orn, and endeavour to perfuade the faid Mr. Dug-

dale not to be a Witnefs, nor to give Evidence up-

on the Trial : And after the Trial, did farther lb-

licit him to retract and deny all the Evidence he

had given on that behalf, and promifed him large

Rewards and great Sums of Money for it : And
to accomplifh this, they did incite him to with-

draw and retire himfelf, and produced a Note

which he was to fign, and which hath been read to

you, wherein he was to acknowledge that he was in

an Error, and had fworn falfly, and therefore had

retired himfelf; and for this they promifed him

great Rewards : And this Offence is laid to be done

falfly, advifediy, corruptly, and againft the Duty

of their Allegiance. To this the Defendants have

pleaded Not Guilty ; if we fhall prove the Fact

upon them, we hope you will find it.

Mr. Serj. Majnard. My Lord, and you the

Gentlemen of the Jury, I am of Counfel in this

Caufe againft the Defendants. For the Fact that

is laid in the Indictment, it confifts of thefe Par-

ticulars : Firft, An Attempt to prevent the Evi-

dence before it was given. And Secondly, When
it was given, and the Traitors were Convicted and

Condemned, then to Difgrace that Evidence, and

the Proceedings at Law that hath been againft the

Traitors ; and this in favour of the Catholicks.

Thirdly, The Means they ufed to perfuade him,

which was by corrupt Promifes and Engagements

to him. And, Fourchly, That they had prepa-

red a Note which hath been read to the Jury;

whereby he that had fwore the Truth, fhould pub-

licky own to the World that he had fwore a Lye :

Vol. II.

and that the Catholicks had received great Injury

by him, and that he had withdrawn himfelf to

make this Difcovery : And this is the Subftance
ot the Charge upon thefe Perfons. This Practice,

my Lord, is not new, it hath appeared here in fe-

veral other Inftances : We remember what Read-
ing did, and we have not forgotten what Knox and
Lane did ; and this is the third Cau'eof that kind
that hath come before you. Our Evidence will

be this : We fhall produce Mr. Dugdale, the Per-
fon againft whom this Ddign was laid, and he can
teftify all this Matter. Now he was but a fingle

Perfon againft thefe two Tempters; and your
Lordfhip remembers what was faid in the like Cafe,

two might convince one ; and therefore he thought
it fafe to acquaint, and he did acquaint Peribns of
Publick Concern and Authority with this Attempt
upon him ; and he did not only this, but they met
feveral times about it at the Tavern, and there we
fhall prove what they did. Part of this hath been
confeffed, for this hath had another Examination
in another Place: And the Gentlewoman hach
confeffed, that fhe did offer him Sums of Money;
for it we will call our Witneffes. We fhall not now
aggravate the Fault* that will come after the Evi-

dence given; but 1 think it is hellifh enough if it

be proved.

* Mr. An. Gen. My Lord, This Cafe . s Q^
is of the fame nature with thofe that wel Ltvinz"
Mr. Serjeant hath mentioned of Read-

ing, and Knox and Lane; but it goes fomewhat fur-

ther : For this muft be done in Writing, and fub-

fcnb'd by the Party, to be produe'd upon occafion,

to defame all the Evidence that had been given be-

fore : And the Subftance of the Note is to recant

all that he had faid, and aver it to be falfe ; and
fo all that have died upon that Account, muft have
been ifuppofed to have died very unjuftly. This
was the Defign of the Matter : And it was not

only in this Cafe that thefe Perfons had been en-

deavouring things of this nature; for we can

prove, if it be neceffary, by another Witnefs,

that this Gentlewoman hath been tampering to

perfuade him to retract his Evidence againft ano-

ther Perfon, one Mr. Parfons, a Prieft in Cuftody ;

and to bring all about, fhe did prefume upon
Mr. Dugdale's old Acquaintance with her: 1 hey
had been Fellow-Servants in my Lord AJlon's Fa-

mily, and by that means were of ancient Acquain-

tance; and fhe did prefume upon thefe grounds,

that fhe could withdraw him from all his Evi-

dence. And we fhall prove, I think, by another

Witnefs which does fortify this Teftimony, that

both thefe Perfons have already acknowledged this

Fact, and that they perfonated great Perfons in it;

that is, they pretended to come in the Name of

very great Perfons, as you will hear, when they

had nothing to do in the thing. They pretended

to go to Windfor for Pardon and Affurances of Pro-

tection, and they have acknowledg'd it ; and

'tis in Proof that they were never near that Per-

fon : That is, Mrs. Price did pretend fhe fhouid

go down to Windfor and fpeak with the Duke of

2ork, for he was the Perfon nam'd, though 'tis

acknowledg'd, and was in proof by her Com-
panion, that fhe never came near him, that is,

by Mrs. Harris, of whom you will hear anon.

And Mr. Tasborough did pretend the fame thing

to Mr. Dugdale, and did acknowledge it to the

Council, but deny'd that it was true. We fhall

call our Witneffes, and prove the Fact as it hath

been opened.

6 O 2 Mr,
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Mr. Serj. Maynard. We will firft prove the In-

dictments that are recited, and call for the Re-

cords of the Convictions.

* L. C. J. Sure they will admit
* Sir William

Scroggs.
that.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. We muft of-

fer our Proof-, if they will admit it, fo.

L. C. J. What fay the Counfel for the Defen-

dants ? Do you admit the Indictments and Con-

victions ?

Mr. Pollexfen. My Lord, I cannot tell in this

Cafe; If we mould not ftand upon it that all the

Proofs be given, our Client perhaps will take it

ill. I pray therefore the Evidence may be given

according to Law.
L. C. J. Well, if you ftand upon it, they muft

prove it. Produce the Records.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Give Mr. Clare his Oath.

[Who was fworn.~\

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Put in the Copy, Sir.

[Which was done.~\

CI. of the Or. Come, Sir, is that a true Copy ?

Mr. Clare. Yes ; I examin'd it.

L. C. J. Where ?

Mr. Clare. With Mr. Adderley, the Clerk of the

Peace of Middlesex ; and this other with Mr. Tan-

ner, Clerk of the Peace for London.

Then the Copy of the Record of the ConvitJion of

Whitebread, &c. was begun to be read.

L. C. J. Let them fee it that are for the De-

fendants.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Don't read it all; if they have

any Exception to it, let them make it : Give it

over to them.

Mr. Pollexfen. Ay, my Lord, let us fee it. Pray,

Sir, you fay you examined this, is this a true

Copy ?

Mr. Clare. Yes, it is.

Then alfo the ConvitJion of Langhorn in London,
was read.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. That is the Conviction at New-

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Well, go on with the reft

now.

L. C. J. Go on with the Evidence.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. Who do you begin with ?

Who do you call firft ?

Mr. Belwood. Mr. Dugdale, my Lord.

[Who wasfzvorn.~]

Price. Stand nearer me, Mr. Dugdale.

Mr. Att. Gen. He ftands near enough.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. He will be near enough you
by and by, Mrs. Price.

L. C.J. Come, Mr. Dugdale, What fay you
againft Mrs. Price and Mr. Tasborough?

Dugdale. My Lord, Mrs. Price being an ancient

Acquaintance of mine (for fhe was my Fellow-

Servant at my Lord AJton's, may it pleafe your
Lordfhip) I coming to Town as a Witnefs for the

King, I did fend for Mrs. Price as one of my an-

cient Acquaintance ; I think it was in January was
Twelve- month.

L. C. y. Is me a Papift ?

Dugdale. Yes, I think fhe is fo now : We ufed

to go to Mafs together in the Country.

L. C. y. She was one, but is fhe ?

Dugdale. I fuppofe fhe is one ; we had Familia-

rity together, but never 'till yune laft did fhe en-

deavour to take off my Evidence.

L. C. J. When was it fhe firft fet upon you ?

Dugdale. She began to tamper firft the Night
before Harcourt's Trial.

L. C. J. But fhe had been before with you in

London ?

Dugdale. Several times : For I fent to her pre-

fently after I came to Town ; but that was the

firft time fhe offerM to take off my Evidence.
And fhe was then perfuading me to be out of
the way, and not to give any Evidence againft

Mr. Harcourt, becaufe he was her Ghoftly Fa-
ther.

L. C. J. Who was by ?

Dugdale. There was no Body by, but one
that was an Acquaintance of mine that heard
her.

L.C.J. What is his Name ?

Dugdale. Wright.

L. C. J. Then you two and Wright were toge-
ther?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. What faid you to her when fhe made
that Offer to you ?

Dugdale. I told her I could not do it ; for that

I was to appear the next Day, and was to give
my Evidence, or I muft be forfworn : In any
thing elfe I told her I would ferve her ; but that I
could not do, becaufe I fhould forfwear my felf

j

and I was fworn next Morning. It continued two
or three Days, or a pretty while, before I faw her
again.

L. C. J. She was angry for a while with you,
was fhe ?

Dugdale. She was afterwards well reconciled

to me, and after fhe defired me that I would
fpeak to your Lordfhip, on behalf of one Mr.
Parfons, a Prifoner in the Gatehoufe, that he
might be bail'd out; I told her I would ; I know
not whether I did or no certainly, I fuppofe I

did fpeak to fome of your Lordfhip's Servants

;

I do confefs it was not done : But I was to o-o

into the Country, into Stafford/hire, and juft as

I was going to take Coach, fhe fent a Meffen-
ger to me to fpeak with me before I went. I

laid I could not ftay to fpeak with her that Morn-
ing, but I would remember her Bufinefs when
I came to Town again : I fuppofed it to be this

about Mr. Parfons. I went into Stafford/hire, and
continued there about fix or feven Weeks; I
was there at the Affizes with your Lordfhip.

Now fhe had been feveral times at one Mr. Crofs's

(where we ufually met) to enquire when I came
to Town, and did defire fhe might know when
I came, for fhe had important Bufinefs to com-
municate to me. I think this might be about
the nth of September laft, my Lord. When I

came to Town, I came to Mr. Crofs's that very
Night, and they told me of this, That Mrs.
Price had been there feveral times to requeft

them, that whenever I came fhe might have
Notice. I deny'd it that Night; I am very
weary, faid I, and therefore would not have
her fent for. Within two or three Days af-

ter, I came there again, and fhe was fent for:

I cannot tell whether by my Direction, or whe-
ther they fent for her of their own accord, they

can beft teftify that; when fhe came to Mr.
Crofs's, the firft thing after Salutation from my
Journey, fhe asked me if I had fpoken to your
Lordfhip about Mr. Parfons? I told her, No,
not as yet; but I would go ftraight up to your
Lordfhip's Houfe, and fpeak with you about it.

No
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No (faid fhe) you need not now do that, for we
have a greater Work in Hand ; which Work
was this : She told me fhe was come from a great

Perfon, whom fhe did not then name, to tell

me, that if I would retract my Evidence (this

was the fhort of it, there were more Particulars)

and go beyond Seas, I fhould either be in the

D. of TorlCs Court, or I fhould be fupported by

him.

L. C. J. Did fhe name the Duke of Tork then ?

Dugdale. Not the firft time ; fhe faid fhe was

come from a great Perfon, but named him not

:

The fecond time fhe named him, when I defired

to know who the great Perfon was.

L. C. J. But what faid fhe the firft time, ifyou

would retract, what then ?

Dugdale. I was to have a Thoufand Pounds paid

into a Merchant's Hands, to be lecured for me till

J came back to give Evidence for them. I was

to take the Plot off from the Catholicks, and to lay

it wholly upon the Proteftants. I was to fwear a-

gainfl fome Perfons, as Mr. cTasborough told me

;

that after I was got on Ship-board, I was to do a

great deal of more Service, and come to fwear a-

gainft a great Perfon, a Perfon of confiderable

Note, whom yet they did not name.

L. C. J. But before you depart from what Mrs.

Price faid to you, make an end of her Difcourie,

when fhe told you, you fhould have a Thoufand

Pounds depofited into what Merchant's Hand
you thought fit.

Dugdale. I think not that, but into a Merchant's

Hand.
L. C. J. Well, what fhould you do for it ?

Dugdale, I was to retract all my Evidence, and

to be no Witnefs againft them ; but before I

would much. encourage this, I went to my Lord

that was then Prefident of the Council, my Lord

Sbaftsbury.

L. C. J. Who was by when this Difcourfe was?

was the third Perfon by, you fpeak of?

Dugdale. There were others by afterward ;

but there was no Body but we two together, I

think at that time : Bat I went to that Noble

Lord my Lord Sbaftsbury, and acquainted him

and Mr. Hambden and Mr. Charlton with it : For

She threatned, that all the King's Evidence v/ould

in a fhort time be hang'd ; and if I would come
over to them, it fhould all be turned upon the

Proteftants. The Duke had a wife Counfel, and

had contrived it fb, that if I v/ould come over

to them, there would not be a Papift that fhould

fuffer more : but their Religion fhould be efta-

blifhed in half a Year, and all the Witneffes

brought to condign Punilhment. When I ac-

quainted thefe Perfons I named with this, and

communicated it to them, they thought fit I

fhould go on a little with her to trepan her, to

fee v/hat kind of Plot it was they were defin-

ing; and I did give Encouragement; but not

fo far as to fet my Hand to any Paper. But when
it did come out, the Contrivance they fpoke of

did prove Mr. Dangerfield's Plot, as appear'd af-

terwards. So, as 1 was faying, I did encourage

this to Mrs. Price, to fee what I could get out of

her ; for I knew their Plots were dangerous and

barbarous when I was amongfl them •, but I ne-

ver defign'd to profecute them at any Bar, but

only to know the Depth of their Contrivance.

And thefe Gentlemen thought it very fit I fhould

have fome Evidence to teftify for my Innocency,

if they fhould profecute me : And 1 did get two

Perfons, one Dr. Chamberlain and his Clerk, who
were to be in a private place to over-hear what
was the Communication between us ; and when
I had placed them, I asked Mrs. Price, whether
I firft began the Tampering or fhe, fhe anfwer-
ed fhe did, and 1 reckon'd up all the Head> of
our former Treaties^ though not the Particu-
lars. \

L. C. y. When did Mr. Tasborougb firft appear
in this Matter?

Dugdale. My Lord, he never appeared but twice,

and it was about the 12th of QElober, I think,
the firft time. We appointed to meet at the Green
Lettice, that was with Mrs. Price, for I never faw
the Face of Mr. Tasborougb before that time, and
from thence we adjourned to the Pbtafant in Ful-
ler's Rents.

L. C. y. There was the firft time you met with
Mr. Tasborougb, you fay ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

L.C. y. What Difcourfe had you with him
when you firft met him ?

Dugdale. My Lord, when we came there, Mr.
Tasborougb was at firft pleafed to open the Bufinefs

to me, that Mrs. Price had acquainted him that

I would come over to them. I fat a good while
and faid nothing, and when i did fpeak, I did
rather give Encouragement than fpeak againft

it.

L. C. y. What did he tell you ?

Dugdale. He faid, he was brought there to con-

firm what Mrs. Price had promifed me.
L.C. J. Did he fay fo?

Dugdale. Yes, becaufe I would not take it upon
her Word alone, but defired to have fome other

fufficient Perfon •, and fhe told me, he was an ho-

neft fufficient Gentleman, and I might confide in

him, and he faid, what fhe had promifed, fhould

certainly be made good, and that he came likewife

from the Duke of Tork, as he faid, to confirm

thofe Promifes had been made me of his Encoura-

gement and Protection.

L. C. y. Did he exprefs particularly of what

fhould be made good ?

Dugdale. My .Lord, in general.

L. C. y. Did he mention the Money that was

to be paid into the Merchant's Hands ?

Dugdale. In general Words only, all would be

made good.

L. C. y. Then he did not fay, the Money, but

what had been faid to you by her fhould be made
good ?

Dugdale. We had fome Particulars mentioned,

but I cannot pofitively remember which.

Mr. Attorney General. I defire, my Lord, the

Jury may take notice of this, that what fhe had

promifed, was, if he would retract his Evi-

dence.

Mr. yv.ft. Dolben. Did he intimate that ?

Dugdale The iecond time when he came,—

-

L. C. y. But before you come to the fecond

time, let us make an end of the firft : Repeat

what he told you, when he came to you. You
fay, he faid 1 am informed by this Gentlewo-

man, that you intend to come over to us ; what

then ?

Dugdale. He told me a great many things

for my Encouragement ; if I did come, that it

was a very charitable Act, and it was nothing

but what was acted like a Chriftian ; and if I had

done amifs, I might have Pardon for it •, and he

did fay, he was encouraged by more than the

Duke
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Duke of Fork,that had taken my matter into Con-
fideration.

L. C J. What, was it in general Words?
Dugdale. It was, if I would come over and re-

tract whatEvidene I had given. And hefaid what-

ever things had been promifed me mould be fure

to be made good. Then my Lord, the fecond

time, we did adjourn till Tuefday following ; and

then we met (as I think) at the Six Cans in Hol-

bourn, and it was pretty late that time we met; fb

Mr. Tasborough and Mrs. Price did tell me it was
the laft time they were to come.

L. C. J. What, the fecond time of Tasborougb's

ming ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, and they offered me
this Note. I had the Note before left with me to

confider of it.

L. C. J. Who had gaven you the Note ?

Dugdale. Mrs. Price gave me the Note.

L. C. J. Did Mr. Tasborough leave you before

the Note was given you ? For look you, when he

told you about retracting your Evidence, and that

th.'s is nothing but what you may lawfully do, 'tis

a Charitable Act.

Dugdale. That was the firft time, my Lord.

L. C. J. Did he produce the Note then ?

Dugdale. He and fhe together did.

L. C 7. Who was it had it ?

Dugdale. Mrs. Price had it from me, and pro-

duced it before Mr. Tasborougb's Face.

L. C. J. Did fhe give it to him to read ?

Dugdale. Mr. Tasborough did read it, and reading

it faid, this is nothing but what you may lawfully

do ; there is no Hurt in it.

L. C. J. And then he went away and left you

and Mrs. Price together; what became of the

Note ?

Dugdale. Then Mrs. Price, after fome Impor-

tunity, left the Note with me, and I delivered it

to lJr. Chamberlain to copy out. And Mr. Taf-

borougbmd Mrs. Price at the fecond Meeting told

me, that was the laft Time of meeting, and if I

did not then fign it, it would be much to my
Prejudice; and that they fhould not be able to

do any thing for my Advantage, if I did not

fign it before the Duke went into Scotland. He
was then going, and it fhould be much for my
Benefit if I iigned it firft ; but Mr. Tasborough

faid, he could do me no more Service except I

did that.

L. C. y. He faid, that that was the laft time,

and if you would do it, it would be for your Ad-
vantage.

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. What faid you then, did they produce

the Note again ?

Dugdale. M y Lord, the Note was delivered to

Mrs. Price , and fhe brought it thither for me to

fign it, and laid it upon the Table, and preffed me
to fign it.

L. C. y. I thought you had faid fhe had given

you the Note ?

Dugdale. Yes, but I gave it her again before

we met the fecond time.

L. C.y. And who produced it then ?

Dugdale. She again the fecond time. But my
Lord, we have miffed one thing about Mrs. Price.

When fhe was perfuading me, fhe made ufe of

the Duke of York's, Name, and faid, fhe would

go down to Wind/or to perfuade the Duke that

I fhould have my Pardon : Accordingly fhe did

go, as I believe ; for fhe took Coach at Charing-

Crofs, and, as fhe faid, did go to Windfor, and
brought me Word back again, that the Duke did

not fecm to countenance it much, for fear he
fhould be drawn into a Praemunire himfelf ; and
then fhe told me the Duke did wifh her to ac-

quaint the Spanijh Ambaffador with it ; and fhe

did go and acquaint him with it, as fhe told me.
I asked her when I fhould go to fpeak with the

Ambaffador about it ; fhe told me that the Spa-
nijh Ambaffador could not fpeak Englifh, and it

was not fafe to truft an Interpreter that they did
not know ; and fo it was to be deferred a little

longer ; but fhe faid, that he would protect me*
and that all that fhe faid that the Duke had pro-
mifed for my Reward, and for my fafe going be-

yond Sea, he would be ready to do it ; and fhe

told me, that the Spanijh Ambaffador would
write Letters into Flanders. And fo they made
ufe of the Duke of York's Name ; but I could

never find by any thing, nor can fay, though they

made ufe of the Duke of York's Name, that he
did countenance any fuch thing, or ever knew
of it.

L. C. y. How long was this before the Duke
went away ?

Dugdale. It was about the twelfth or fourteenth

of Otlober. The Duke went the beginning of
November from hence.

L. C. y. Sir Thomas Doleman, do you know when
the King came to Town from Wind/or ?

Sir Thomas Doleman. No, I do not know.
Dugdale. It was before the Duke went over in-

to Flanders that the King was -axWindfor. For the

King and the Duke of York came from Windfory
and then the Duke went to Flanders again, and
then fhe went, as fhe faid, to Windfor, and came
home either the Day the Duke came from Wind/or,
or the Day after.

L. C. J. Her Difcourfe when fhe went to

Windfor, was before the Duke went into Flan-

ders ?

Mr. yujl. Pemberton. The fecond Time, you
mean.

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, the fecond Time. For
may it pleafe your Lordfhip, I do remember now,
that the Day when the Duke of York came back
again from Flanders, I think it was the twelfth of
Otlober, that was the Time that I faw Mr. Taf-

borough firft, and that was the Time they produced

the Note, and I fhall produce fome Witneffes to

prove that he had Difcourfe with me then.

L. C. y. I would only know the Time when
fhe told you fhe went to Wind/or, to fpeak with the

Duke of York ?

Dugdale. My Lord, to the beft of my Re-
membrance, and as I think, it was the Day be-

fore the King came from Windfor, that fhe went

down.

Mr. yuji. Pemberton. He cannot fwear to a Day,

'tis hard to put him to that.

L. C y. He is not asked to a Day, but we-

would be at fome Certainty about the Time, as

near as we can.

Dugdale. My Lord, this I dare pofitively fay,

fhe went down of a Tuefday, and that was the

Day before the Duke of York came from Wind-

fir.

Mr. yttft. Pemberton. He does give us the Time
as near as poffibly he can.

Mr. Att. Gen. Have you a Copy of the Note,

Mr. Dugdale ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, I have.

Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Maynard. Now we will prove that

Note.

Mr. Att. Gen. For the Note itfelf, your Lord-

fhip obierves, Mrs. Price had the Original back

again, but your Lordlhip hears Dr. Chamberlain

took a Copy of it, and he will prove it.

'Then Dr. Chamberlain ivasfworn.

L. C. J. Did flie fhew you the Note at the

Time that fhe went to the Duke to Windftor ?

Dugdale. The Note was produc'd when the

Duke came from Flanders., the Day I think he

came, and that was in Oclober.

L. C. J. When did Tasborough and fhe meet

with you?
Dugdale. When the Duke of York came back

from Flanders.

L. C. J. When was that ?

Dugdale. My Lord, 1 think it was the Twelfth

of Oilober. Mrs. Price had appointed Mr. Tasbo-

rough to come to confirm what fhe had laid before,

which was the Time that I law him firft.

L. C. J. When was that ?

Dugdale. The very Day the Duke came from

Flanders, as I think.

L. C. J. Well then, fhe talked to you of the

Duke of York, and going to Wind/or, before ever

you faw Tasborough.

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And fo his Evidence

was.

L. C. J. So then here is the Matter, that the

Jury may underftand the Evidence : She foli-

cited him the firft Day before Eareours's Trial :

Then the next was three or four Days after the

Trial ; and then fhe endeavoured to perfuade

you to retracl your Evidence, and go beyond

Sea.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. No, my Lord, that was

only to get the Man bailed that was in the Gate-

Hoafe.

L. C. y. Did fhe not the fecond Time propofe

that ?

Dugdale. No, my Lord, not till I came forth

out of the Country again.

L. C. y. Then you went into the Country be-

fore the great Matter was ipoken to ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. And then fhe left word at the Houfe,

that flie might know when you came, and when
fhe met with you, flie began to tamper with you,

and laid you mould have iooo/. paid into fome

Merchant's Hand, and be well look'd upon, and

after that fhe faid flie would go down to the Duke
to Windfor.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. But at that Time fhe

told him, he fhould have a Place in the Duke's

Court.

L. C. y. Did flie produce the Note the firft

Time you faw Tasborough ? <

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, the Note was pro-

duced the firft Time.

L. C. y. And Tasborough read it ?

Dugdale. Yes, he read it.

L. C. y. And faid you might lawfully do it ?

Dugdale-. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. y. When was the fecond Time ?

Dugdale. It was within a few Days after, about

two or three Days.

L. C. y. You are not asked to a Day, was the

Note produced a fecond Time ?

Dugdale. Yes.

L. C. y. And then he was upon the fame Mat-
ter full, when you fwear the Note was produc'd
the fecond Time?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. y. And then he faid, this is the laft

Time we muft offer it to you, if you do not do it

now, I can do you no good.
Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.
L. C. y. But her Difcourfe was before all this,

that fhe would go down to Windfor and get your
Pardon ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.
Mr. yuft. yones. Before your Acquaintance with

Tasborough ?

Dugdale. Yes, before ever I faw him.
Mr. yuft. Pemberton. Tasborough was to con-

firm it.

Dugdale. Yes, for I made fome^Scruples about
it, lor they faid before the Duke would believe
me real, I muft fubfcribe the Note, which I
Would not do without further Affurance. She
promifed a Pcribn of good Sufficiency and Qua-
lity fhould engage for the Performance, and one
Mr. Perkins, as fhe faid, was to be fent for, and
was fent for out of the Country, and 3/. 10.r„

expended in fending for him. And I faid to
Mrs. Price when 1000/. was propofed, Lord in
Heaven! that is too much Money, 100/. is

enough to ferve me; faid fhe, We muft have a
care how we manage this Matter ; for flie told
me the Duke of York flood upon a tickle Point,
and if it fhould be known the Duke tampered
with the King's Witneffes, it would ruin him;
but fhe faid 1000/. was prepared for me, if I
would go beyond Sea into Flanders, where I fhould
be maintained and protecled. But I objected my
Fear of the Inquifition in Spain, which I knew
to be fo cruel a thing, therefore I would not go
beyond Sea. Then fhe asked me if j would be
contented with the Protection of a Proteftant Earl's
Houfe ?

L. C. y. Did fhe tell you his Name ?

Dugdale. She asked me if I could not be content
to be in a Proteftant Earl's Houfe, and not go be-
yond Sea? but fhe named no body.

L. C. y. When you laid you were unwillino- to
go beyond Sea, for fear of the Inquifition, flie of-

fered you the Protection of a Proteftant Earl's
Houfe, and you defired to know who it was, but
fhe named no body ?

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. And you fay when
Mr. Tasborough came to you, he told you, if you
would retradt your Evidence, all the Promifes
that had been made you by her fhould be made
good ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, and without I

would fign the Note, the Duke and the reft of
the Gentlemen could not be ierviceable to

me.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. And he prefTed you to do
it before the Duke went into Scotland?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Belwood. Pray, Mr. Dugdale, what Difcourfe

was between you and Mr. iasbcrough concerning
the Trial of Sir George JVakeman ?

Dugdale. The laft Time, the fecond Time we
were together •

L C. y. Tlien you were but twice with Tas-

borough ?

Dugdale. No, my Lord, but that fecond Time,
You may fee, fays he, what a Progrels hath been

made
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made by the acquitting of Sir George Wakeman,

even that the Proteftants themfelves are at a

Stand about their Belief, whether there be a Plot

or no, and if you come/over to us, it will over-

throw all.

L. C. J. Had he any Difcourfe with you about

the Spanifo Ambaflador?

Dugdale. My Lord, I can't tell whether he had

or no, fhe had.

L. C. J. Did (lie fay he would undertake the

making good of the Promifes?

Dugdale. Said I, Mrs. Price, fuppofe I mould

come over to you, what would it advantage you ?

There is Mr. Oaies, and Mr. Bedlow, and Mr.
Prauncc, when I am gone. Said fhe, Hang them

Rogues, fo as we do but get you over, we do not

care, we can quickly do their Bufinefs.

Mr. Sol. Gen. And he laid, this I obferve by the

way, That if he came over, all the King's Evi-

dence mould be hang'd, and the Plot turn'd upon

the Proteftants.

Mr. Jujt. Pcmberton. Yes, he did fay fo, that

he was told by the Gentlewoman, if he would

come over, the Plot mould be turn'd upon the

Proteftants, and the King's Evidence be hang'd.

Mr. Scroggs. Mr. Tasborough did not fay io.

Mr. Att. Gen. Is this a true Copy of the

Note ?

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But Mr. Tasborough per-

fuaded him to fign the Note, and Tasborough did

fay it was a good Act, and confirmed and allured

him, that all fhould be made good to him that fhe

had promifed, and defired him to do it before the

Duke went, that he might be the abler to ferve

him with the Duke.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Dugdale, is this a true Copy
of the Note ?

Dugdale. I have read it fo often, that I do be-

lieve it is a true Copy : And here is the Doctor and

his Clerk, who will fwear it was a true Copy, exa-

mined with the Note.

Mr. Att. Gen. Swear Dr. Chamberlain and Cleave.

[Which was done.] With what did you examine

that Copy ?

Cleave. By the Paper given me by Dr. Chamber-

lain.

Chamberlain. My Lord, I received the Paper

from Mr. Dugdale, my Lord, and gave him Order

to tranferibe it.

L. C. J. And that is a true Copy of the Paper

you had from Dr. Chamberlain ?

Cleave. Yes, my Lord, it is.

L.C.J. Mr. Dugdale, did you deliver that

very Note that Mrs. Price delivered to you, to

Dr. Chamberlain?

Dugdale. Yes, I did, and received it back again

from him.

L. C. J. And you copied it out from that Note
Dr. Chamberlain had ?

Cleave. Yes, I did.

L. C. J. What is your Name, Sir ?

Cleave. Cleave.

L. C. J. Read the Note. [Which was read as in

the Indiclment.]

Mr. Juft. Pcmberton. Was this a Copy of the

Note delivered to you, that you were to lign ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord, it is a true Copy :

And if I may not be too troublefome, there is

one thing more which comes into my Mind that

paffed betwixt Mrs. Price and me: She was in-

ftruding me how I ihould be convey'd beyond

Sea, and me mention'd the way of the Pacquet-

Boat that comes from Dover, and goes every Tues-
day or Wednefday. I made a Shew as if I was wil-

ling to do it, but the next Time fhe came, faid

fhe, We have thought it not to be fo fafe as to o-

in a Merchant-fhip, which was the way we fent all

our Priefts over.

L.C. J. When was this?

Dugdale. My Lord, it was before the Duke
came home the fecond Time, it was while he
was in Flanders. And being defirous to know, I

preffed her to tell me what became of Mr. Ew-
ers, my ghoftly Father in the Country : It was a
long Time ere fhe would tell me; but at Jaft fhe
told me that he was convey'd over in thofe Yachts
that carry 'd the D. of York the firft time over in-
to Flanders.

Mr. Att. Gen. Then fwear Wright. [Which was
done.~] Mr. Dugdale, is this the Man that you
mention'd concerning the Difcourfe about Har-
court ?

Dugdale. He hearken 'd, as he told me after-

wards, but I did not then know it.

L. C. J. Well, what fay you, were you prefent
at any Difcourfe between Mr. Dugdale and Mrs.
Price, before Harcourfs Trial ?

Wright. My Lord, I was walking to and fro
in the Room: Mrs. Price, that Gentlewoman,
was talking with Mr. Dugdale at the Window,
and I was very inquifitive, I did think it was up-
on the Account of Marriage, or fome fuch Bu-
finefs, and fo hearkening, I did hear her fay,

That Father Harcourt haa been very kind to her,
and that fhe had vifited him before he went to

Execution, and he bid her not be troubled, he
dy'd in a good Caufe; and upon this Account I
asked Mr. Dugdale afterwards what her Deficm
was, and he faid it was to withdraw his Evi-
dence.

L. C. J. How often were you in the Company
of Mrs. Price and Mr. Dugdale ? never but that

one Time ?

Wright. Yes, a dozen times, I believe, I have
been with them.

L. C. J. When was the firft Time that you
heard them talk concerning Harcourt ? they were
always very private, were they not ?

Wright. Yes.

L. C. J. Well, what did you hear the firft:

Time ?

Wright. It was at the Horfejhoe Tavern in Chan-
cery-Lane; and then thegreat Matter that fhe did
defire of him was, to be kind to Harcourt, for he
had been her Confeffor : But afterwards I remem-
ber, when he was condemned, fhe faid fhe had
been with him, and he had bid her be of good
Cheer, for he dy'd in a good Caufe.

L. C. J. Was this the Time that you were at

the Horfejhoe Tavern ?

Wright. The firft Time I heard no Difcourfe

of Harcourt then.

L. C. J. When was this ? And what faid fhe

when fhe fpoke of Father Harcourt the firft

Time?
Wright. It was to defire him to be kind to Father

Harcourt, becaufe he was her ConfefTor. They fpoke
ib fbftly I could hardly hear them.

L. C. J. Well, how do you know then ?

Wright. I asked him when he came out, what it

was, and he faid it was to take off his Evidence
againft Harcourt ; and afterwards fhe faid fhe had
been to vifit him.

L. C. J.



I6/9- B.R. andAnne ¥tice,for Subornation ofPerjury. 1025

L. C. J. What more did fhe fay at that Time ?

Wright. I could not hear any more, my
Lord.

L. C. J. Then all that you did hear was, She

faid to him, pray be kind to Mr. Harcourt, for he

is my Confeffor ; and to that Effecl was all their

Whifpering that you heard ?

Wright. That is all I did hear her fay at that

Time.
Mr. Jt'Ji. Pemberton. But what did you hear

Mr. Dugdak fay at that Time ?

Wright. He faid it was upon the Account of

taking oil his Evidence.

L. C. J. Well, what did you hear her fay af-

terwards ?

Wright. After fhe was faying fhe had been with

him.

L. C. J. How long after ?

Wright. I do not know, I cannot fay to the

Time, for I never minded it, they fent for me
fbmetimes at their Pleafure ; but fhe faid fhe had

been to vifit Father Harcourt, who took her in

his Arms and faid, Do not cry for me, for I die

in a good Caufe ; and this I told Mr. Dugdak of

again : And fhe did further fay, If the King
ihould command me to be burnt at a Stake, I

would do it, and fo would any of the Party.

Then faid Mr. Dugdak, while you give thefe

kind ExprefTions, yet you would cut off his

Head if you could : Said fhe, you are a Rogue,
and I am fatisfied.

L. C. J. What, was it before the time that

fhe faid, pray be kind to Harcourt?
Mr. Serj. Maynard. We call this Witnefs only

in Confirmation of Dugdak's Teftimony.

L. C. J. But Brother, here is the matter : He
fays at the time that fhe told Dugdak he was a

Rogue, and fhe was fatisfied ; afterwards fhe

came to tamper with him to do Harcourt a Kind-

nefs.

Wright. She faid many times, there were not

four greater Rogues between this and Hell Gate,

than the King's Evidence.

L. C. J. What, was it before fhe talk'd of
Harcourt ?

Wright. Yes, a great while.

L. C. J. That is the thing, that fhe fhould fay

he was a great Rogue, and yet afterwards tamper

with him.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. There was fome Love be-

twixt them, and they did keep Company toge-

ther.

Mr. Sol. Gen. This is before fhe began to tam-

per with Mr. Dugdak -, but that we call this Wit-
nefs to prove is, that fhe did afterwards tamper

with him, as Mr. Dugdak tells you.

L. C. y. And the thing I fay is, Would fhe

go to tamper with one fhe had that Opinion
of? 'Tis not impoffible to be fo, but it is not

likely.

Mr. Sol. Gen. It is not impoffible nor improba-

ble at all, with fubmiflion ; who fhould fhe tam-

per with but a Rogue, or one that fhe thought

would be fo ?

Mr. yuji. Pemberton. She thought as all the o-

ther Catholicks did, and did defire to withdraw

him from his Evidence againft them.

Mr.yuft. Dolben. And notwithstanding that fhe

called him Rogue ; yet ftill the Witnefs fays, he

thought there was matter of Love between

them.

Mr. Att. Gen. Then we will call you Crofs, the

Man of the Tavern.

Vol. II.

Mr. yufi. Pemberton. It was about a matter that

concerned the whole Catholick Party, and if

you ask them they will call them all Rogues

:

But afterwards they will begin to tamper one
with one, and another with another.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. And they take the fame
method with every one of them.
Mr. Juft. yones. But this is that that is faid in

confirmation of Dugdak's Evidence, that Dugdak
did immediately after tell him, that her Bufinefs

was to get him to retract his Evidence.

Mr. yuji. Pemberton. And he overheard fo

much, that fhe defired of him to be kind to Har-
court, who was her ghoftly Father.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Now, my Lord, as we have
produced one Witnefs to confirm one part of
Mr. Dugdak's Evidence ; now we fhall produce
another Witnefs to prove the fubfequent Dif-

courfes, and her Perfuafion of him to retract and
to fign the Note. And for that we call Dr. Cham-
berlain.

Mr. Att. Gen. We will call Crofs firft to prove
the meetings at the Tavern, he is the Man of the

Tavern. [Who was /worn..]

L. C. y. Come ask your Queftion now ?

Mr. Belwood. Pray what can you fay concern-

ing Mrs. Price's Difcourfes with Mr. Dugdak ?
'

L. C. y. Do you know Mrs. Price here ?

Crofs. Yes, I do know her very well.

L. C. y. What fay you then to her ?

Crofs. I never heard any Difcourfe from them
but what was common.
Mr. yuji. Dolben. But they have been often

there only them two, have they not ?

Mr. yuji. Pemberton. Did fhe ever come to

your Houfe ?

Crofs. She hath been there feveral times.

Mr. Att. Gen. I would ask you this Queftion;

Sir, Whether fhe ufed not to come there and
fend for Mr. Dugdak, when he hath not been
there ?

Crofs. Yes, fhe hath been there often to en-

quire for him.

Mr. Att. Gen. What, frequently ?

Crofs. Yes, a great many times.

Mr. Att. Gen. About what time of the Year ?

Crofs. Laft Summer, in June, yuly, and feveral

Months.

L. C. y. What fay you "to September and Octo-

ber?

Crofs. I can't fay the particular Months, but

fhe hath been there, and defired me to fend for

Mr. Dugdak, for fhe had earneft Bufinefs with
him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Was it prefently after he came
to Town ?

Crofs. My Lord, fhe fent for him before he
went out of Town, and after he came to Town ;

before he went to the Affizes, and fince he came
from the Affizes.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray did you ever hear them
fpeak about a Prieft, one Parfons ?

Crofs. I have heard fomewhat about Mr. Par-

fons, that Mrs. Price did fpeak to Mr. Dugdak,
that he fhould not proceed further againft him
than he had done.

L. C y. Did you hear her talk about Har~
court ?

Crofs. Yes, 1 have heard her fpeak fomething,

but I do not know the Particulars of it.

L. C. y. But you have heard her name Har-

court'% Name ?

6 P Crofs.
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- O0/}. Yes, I have.

L. C. J. You do not pretend this Man was by
at the Agreement ?

Mr. Att. Gen. No, we do not : But only to

prove they had frequent Difcourfes together, and

that fhe fent for him often about Bufinefs.

L. C. J. And 'tis to the fame Purpofe that the

other was called for, only in Confirmation.

Mr. Sanders. My Lord, we pray he may be

asked, Whether Mr. Dugdale did not fometimes

fend for Mrs. Price ?

Crojs. Not upon his own Account, as I know
of; for 1 have told you fhe hath been there,

and left word fhe muft needs fpeak with him,

and when he hath come fhe hath been fent for.

Mr. Sanders. Do you know fhe hath been fent

for at any other time?

Crofs. Not that I know of: But when he was

in the Country, fhe came to our Houfe, and

defired that whenever he came to Town fhe

might fpeak with him about earned Bufinefs,

and fhe was fent for.

Mr. Scroggs. But he does not fay any thing of

Mr. Tasborough.

L. C. J. No ; he came only to the Pheafant,

and that other Place.

Mr. Att. Gen. Now, my Lord, if your Lord-

fhip pleafe, Mr. Dugdale did mention a matter

that fome Perfons were by Direction to fland by

and hear their Difcourfe ; we have thefe Perfons

here, who will tell you how it was, Dr. Chamber-

lain and his Clerk.

Dr. Chamberlain. My Lord, fome time in Septem-

ber^ Mr. Dugdale acquainted me, that there was

a Defign to draw him off from his Evidence,

and he told me that the Duke of York was named
in it. I laid, if it were fo, it were a thing of

great moment, and if it could be confirmed it

were well. He told me, if I would come to his

Chamber fome Morning, Mrs. Price fhould be

there, and 1 fhould hear the Difcourfe •, and ac-

cordingly I did come the 2 2d or 23d of Septem-

ber, and was there about an hour, and went into

the Clofet with my Clerk, and bid Mr. Dugdale

fpeak with an indifferent Voice, to fee if I could

hear what they faid. He did fo, and we did

hear him. At length Mrs. Price came ; the Gen-
tlewoman I had never feen, but he called her by

that Name, and fhe anfwered to it. They had

feveral Difcourfes, I could not overhear all,

but the Sum was, that the Spanijh Ambaffador

was unwilling to treat with him, becaufe it was

dangerous, and he muft make ufe of an Inter-

preter, and that the Duke of York would protect

him, pardon him, and give him a thoufand

Pound to maintain him : You know, fays he,

Mrs. Price, that I began not this Intrigue with

you, but you propofed it to me. She owned it,

that fhe had propofed it to him.

L. C.J. Now how can you tell this is the

Gentlewoman ?

Dr. Chamberlain. Nay, I don't know that, my
Lord.

Mr. Att. Gen. We don't pretend that, but will

prove it by another Witnefs by and by.

Dr. Chamberlain. It was about the 2 2d or 23d

of September, a Monday Morning, as I remem-
ber.

Mr. JuJl. Jones. Was Tasborough there ?

" Dr. Chamberlain. No, my Lord, none but them

two".

L. C. J. Well, go on, Sir.

Dr. Chamberlain. She did prefs Mr. Dugdale very

much to go with her to the Gatehoufe, he would
willingly have excufed it, but fhe preffed him
fo earneftly, telling him fhe would not go with-

out him, that they went together, and he came
up afterwards to me, where I had ftaid all the

time.

L. C. J. Did you hear her fay any thing what
fhe would have him do for that thoufand

Pound ?

Dr. Chamberlain. I cannot tell truly any thing,

but only to be gone.

Mr. JuJl. Pemberton. You could hear that ?

Dr. Chamberlain. Yes, my Lord, I did.

L.C.J. Whither?
Dr. Chamberlain. Nay, I don't remember that.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. This was before the Note,,

my Lord.

Dr. Chamberlain. Yes, my Lord, for that was
brought me afterwards.

Mr. Recorder. Call the other Witnefs, Cleave.

L. C. J. How long was this before Harcourt's

Trial ?

Dr. Chamberlain. I don't know that, my Lord,-

it was in September. "

Mr. JuJl. Pemberton. But the Trial was long
before that, foon after Trinity-Term.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Pray, what did Mr. Dugdale fay

to her when fhe preffed him to be gone, did he

not make any Objection ?

Dr. Chamberlain. PofTibly he might, I did not

hear all that was faid.

Cleave. I was there the 2 2d of September.

L.C. J. In the Clofet with Dr. Chamberlain?

Cleave. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Had you ever feen Mrs. Price?

Cleave. No, never in my Life that I know of.

L. C. J. What did you hear then ?

Cleave. Before that Mrs. Price came, we fhut

up ourfelves in the Clofet, and defired Mr.
Dugdale to make a feigned Difcourfe to fee

whether we could hear him, and he did fo, and
we heard indifferently well. We bid him to

fpeak a little loud that we might be fure to hear

him. We ftaid there almoft half an Hour before

fhe came. Afterwards fhe came up, and Mr. Dug-
dale faluted her by the Name of Mrs. Price, to

which fhe anfwer'd. He ask'd her, When fhall

I go to the Spanijh Ambaffador's ? [This I heard

diftinctly ; for I could fee her Body but not her

Face, fhe flood with her Back to the Door.]

'Tis not convenient at prefent, faid fhe, to go

;

for his Interpreter is out of Town. Then Mrs.
Price was faying, If fo be you will come over

to the Church of Rome, and take off your Evi-

dence, you fhail have 1000/. fecured to you

:

But how, faid he ? Said (he, I will bring to you

in a Week's Time a Perfon of Quality that fhall

fecure and confirm it to you.

Dr. Chamberlain. That I heard too.

Cleave. That will be well, faid Mr. Dugdale ;

I had rather do that way than any other. Said

fhe, you fhall have the Duke of 2
r
ork's, Protec-

tion, and a Pardon not only for your Body,

but for your Soul.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. A large Proffer !

Cleave. And afterwards faid he, If I fhould

come over again to the Church, what fignifies

my going out of the way, when there is Dr.-

Oates and others to go on with the Evidence ?

Said fhe, We do not care fo much for them, for

the Duke's Eye is only upon you.

•Mr.
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Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Did you hear that, Dr.

Chamberlain ?

Dr. Chamberlain. No, my Lord ; the Duke was

named indeed, but I do not remember that Par-

ticular. And fhe feveral times defired him to

fpeak foftly ; and then Mr. Dugdale wasfo honeft,

that he repeated it over again, that if we had

not heard him before, we might underftand

him.

L. C. J. Now prove this Gentlewoman to be

the Perfon.

Cleave. She afterwards preffed him to go

with her to the Gatehoufe, which he feemed un-

willing to do, but went ; and we have a Man
here that flood below the Stairs, that faw her

come in and go out.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Call Holmes, [Who was

/worn.] What can you fay about this Mrs. Price ?

L. C. J. Do you*know Mrs. Price?

Holmes. Yes, That is the Woman.
Mr. Bel-wood. Did you fee her at Dr. Cham-

berlain's ?

Holmes. I faw her at Mr. Dugdale's that Morn-

ino- that my Matter was there.

X. C. J. What Time do you fpeak of?

Holmes. The 2 2d of September I went along

with my Matter.

L. C. J. Who is your Matter ?

Holmes. Dr. Chamberlain ?

L. C. J. What Day of the Week was it ?

Holmes. On a Monday Morning between 8 and

9 o'clock.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. That is the fame time you

fpeak of, is it not ?

Chamberlain, 7 Yes, my Lord, he went along

and Cleave, $ with us.

Holmes. This is the Woman that came down

with Mr. Dugdale ; I took great notice of her,

and know her very well again : There were

fome Words fpoke in the Shop, but I don't know

what they were.

L. C. J. Dr. Chamberlain, fhe went out of the

Chamber with him, did fhe not ?

Chamberlain. Yes, my Lord, fhe did.

L. C. J. How often have you feen her ?

Holmes. I faw her go into the Houfe, come

out with Mr. Dugdale to go to the Gatehoufe, and

when they came back again from Weftminfter,

from the Gatehoufe.

L. C J. How often have you feen her befides ?

You took notice of her when fhe came down

ftairs, and when fhe came back again ?

Holmes. Yes.

L. C. J. And this is the Woman, upon your

Oath ?

Holmes. Yes, Aipon my Oath.

.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. She came down with

Dugdale, and would have him go along with her

to the Gatehoufe.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we fay that Mr. Dug-

dale did acquaint Mr. Hambden, and Mr. Charlton,

and my Lord of Shaftsbury with the Bufinefs ; we

defire Mr. Hambden and Mr. Charlton may be

called, who promiied to be here.

[But they appeared not.]

Mr. Att. Gen. Then, my Lord, here are the

Clerks of the Council, they will all give your

Lordfhip an account, that this Woman and the

Gentleman did acknowledge this macter before

the Council, and there did deny what they had

fworn at firft.

L. C. J. Who do you fwear firft?

Vol. II.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Sir Robert Southwell.

[Which was done.]

L. C. J. Come, Sir Robert, what do you
know ?

Sir Robert Southwell. My Lord, (lie, this Gen-
tlewoman, Mrs. Price, was about the 23d of Oclo-

ber examined before the Council, and being ex-
amined, we were commanded to take Notes,
the feveral Clerks of the Council, and we did
take Notes, which were long, and, my Lord, I

mutt refer to thofe Notes.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Have, you thofe Notes ?

Sir R. Southwell. Yes. 'Tis hard for me to give
my Evidence, unlefs fome particular Quettion
be asked me, becaufe they are very long.

Mr. Att. Gen. Then I ask you, Sir, this parti-

cular Queftion, Whether that Gentlewoman d;d
acknowledge the Paper fhe is charg'd with ?

Sir R. Southwell. My Lord, I do remember
Mrs. Price, when fhe was asked who it was that

framed the Paper for her (becaufe it feemed to

the Lords as if it had been a thing fo very well

framed that it was beyond a Woman's Capacity
to do it) Mrs. Price faid, that fhe ttud :ed it her-

felf, and indicted it herfelf, and one Mrs. Man,
as I think, writ it out for her •, but fhe took it

upon herfelf that fhe had ftudied it (that parti-

cular Word) and contrived it.

Mr. Att. Gen. What did Mr. Tasborough fay ?

Sir R. Southwell. My Lord, I do alfo remem-
ber that Mr. Tasborough was cited before the

Council-Board ; and being asked about this Pa-

per-

L. C. J. Was it fhewn him ?

Sir R. Southwell. I verily believe it was ; it

was read to him. Mr. Tasborough did fpeak very
cautioufly, and as prudently as he could in the

matter : He did not pofitively fay he had prefTed

Mr. Dugdale to fign it; but did tell Mr. Dugdale,

That unlefs he did fign it, he could not proceed

to get him any Favour, for that was to be the

Foundation to teftify that he was a Mar of that

Sorrow that he had expreffed hrmfelf to Mrs.
Price.

L C. J. Did he own that to Mr. Dugdale ?

Sir. R. Southwell. Yes ; and he added, my Lord,

further (to do him juftice in all he faid) in cafe

Mr. Dugdale had fign'd the Paper, he would pre-

fently have carried it before a Magiftrate.

Mr. Att. Gen. I think we need not trouble

your Lordfhip any further at preient; we leave

it here till we hear what they fay.
i

Mr. Sanders. May it pleale your Lordfhip, and

you Gentlemen of the J.iry, I am of Counfel

for Mrs. Price, that is one of the Defendants in

this Indictment ; which, as hath been opened,

does kt forth, That fhe did contrive to iuborn

the King's Evidence before the Trials of thofe

Perfons, and to fupprefs it; and afterwards to

retract the Evidence given, and go off from

what before he had fw orn, to diiparage the Juf-

tice of the Realm, and to make it be believed,

that thofe Perfons who were condemned and. ex-

ecuted for this Confpiracy were innocent, and

had wrong done them by him. Now for that

matter, that which we have to offer for her is

this: Mr. Dugdale and Mrs. Price were FeHovv-

fervants in my Lord Afton's Family, and there

they did contracL a more than ordinary Familia-

rity ; for in truth they did contract a Marriage,

and Mr. Dugdale did promife her Marriage; but

afterwards Mr. Dugdale having fome other De-

6 P 2 fign,
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fign, did defert her, and fhe came to London and

Lved here ; bat afterwards when he came up to

London, he thought fit to renew his Suit, and did

not only fend for her when he firft came to Lon-

don \ but we have it in Proof, that from time to

time he had continually fent for her, and would

not be quiet without her ; and when ihe denied

to come upon his fending in his own Name, he

fent in another Woman's Name, whom he knew
to be an Acquaintance of her's: And thus there

continued all along a great Intimacy between

them, infomuch that feveral Perfons, and among
them one of the King's Witneffes did obferve

they were fpeaking about marrying, and did

think they did intend to be married in a fhort

time ; my Lord, what Difcourfe might pafs be-

tween them I don't know ; for ought I perceive

fhe is prov'd to be a Papift, and 'tis very like

Ihe would folicit one with whom fhe had that

Familiarity, for thofe of her own Party as- much
as fhe could ; but as far as I perceive by this E-

vidence that hath been given, he under colour

of Kindnefs, and pretence that he would marry

her, and lending for her from time to time, at

laft to rid his Hands of her, hath put this upon

her, That fhe fhould folicit to fuborn him a-

gainft his Confcience to withdraw his Evidence.

She is a kind of weak Solicitrix for matter of

Judgment and Reafon ; I know not what other

Prevalency fhe might have with him by any o-

ther thing, but for Judgment I think

L. C. J. If flie penn'd that herfelf, as fhe did

acknowledge and avow fhe did, fhe was a Wo-
man of good Judgment certainly.

Mr. Sanders. I perceive he was of good Judg-
ment, to get rid of one he was weary of, by this

means.

Mr, Juft. Pemberton. Alas ! Alas ! This is fuch

a Defign indeed of counterproving the King's E-
vidence.

Mr. Sanders. Mr. Dugdale hath fworn, That
this was her Intrigue, and fhe firfr. began with

him : If Mrs. Price be admitted to fwear, who
is the Defendant, as well as Mr. Dugdale, who is

the Profecutor, fhe would tell you that Mr. Dug-

dale did contrive this matter himfelf.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. She would deflroy his E-
vidence that way, that's very well.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Dr. Chamberlain and his Clerk

both fwear, That he told her, Tou know it was

not I begun this Intrigue, but you.

Mr. Sanders. And if fhe had had but fo much
Wit to have planted Witneffes to have taken Ad-
vantage of his Words, fhe had counter-worked

him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. They will learn fuch ways

foon enough of themfelves, you need not teach

them.

Mr. Sanders. If you pleafe we will go on with

our Evidence, and call Witneffes to prove, that

Mr. Dugdale had contracted himfelf to her in

Marriage ; and this is a very unkind ill thing in

him to ferve us thus.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Sanders, you ought

to remember, Publica privatis, &c. A Man fhould

prefer the publick Good and Safety of the Nation

before fuch a Miftrefs as this is.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But hitherto the Proof runs,

that fhe fought him, and not he her.

Mr. Sanders. But they were contracted firft.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. And you hear what the Ma-
tter of the Horfejhoe fays about her leaving Meffa-

ges for him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He hath very good reafon

why he fhould not marry her, for what I can

perceive.

L. C.J. 'Tis much they fhould be contracted*

when flie told him he was a great Rogue.

Mr. Sanders. It may be fhe might, t know not

what caufe he hath now to be difpleafed with

her; but it may be fhe might be difpleafed with

him then. But I.befeech your Lordfhip and the

Jury to obferve, that tho' fhe did tell him he
was a Rogue, yet it was afterwards that fhe did

folicit and fuborn him.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And therefore fhe thought

plainly he was fitter for her purpofe, becaufe fhe

took him for a Rogue.
Mr. Sanders. But if fhe had a Purpofe to fub-

orn him, fhe would not call him Rogue to his

Face ; that was not the way to infinuate into him.

I defire Sir John Nicholas may be fworn.

\JVhich was done.~\

L. C. J. What Queftions do you ask Sir

John ?

Mr. Sanders. I defire, my Lord, Sir John would
tell us, whether Mr. Dugdale in his hearing did

not own he was contracled to Mrs. Price ?

Sir John Nicholas. No, truly Sir, that I know
of.

Mr. Sanders. Pray Sir, will you pleafe to re-

collect it ; it was when Mr. Dugdale was before the

Council.

Sir John Nicholas. Mr. Dugdale did then own
fome Propofals of Marriage, but nothing of a

Contract.

L. C. J. 'Tis your Women-witneffes are like

to do that.

Mr. Sanders. That is all, Sir, you remember ?

Sir John Nicholas. Yes.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Have you put the befl foot

forwards, Mr. Sanders ?

Mr. Sanders. Which is Mary Benwell? Swear

Mary Benwell. [Which was done.] We will

now prove he fent for us feveral times -, we did

not go after him fo much. What do you know
concerning Mr. Dugdale's fending for Mrs. Price?

Benwell. He fent for her to my Houfe feveral

times.

L. C. J. Did he lie at your Houfe ?

Benwell. No, my Lord, he did not.

L. C. J. Where is your Houfe ?

Benwell. In Brownlow-ftreet.

L. C. J. What, is it a publick Houfe ?

Benwell. It is an Alehoufe, the Green-Lettice.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. He told you fo himfelf, that

he did meet her at the Green-Lettice.

L. C. J. What was their Difcourfe when they

met ?

Benwell. I know nothing of that, I did not
hear him fay any thing; but only he would
come in and fay, Let your Boy go for Mrs.
Price.

L.C.J. When was this?

Benwell. The laft time was Sunday Seven-

night before fhe was taken.

* Mr. Recorder. She always came * sir Geor«e

when fhe was fent for ? Jefferies.

Benwell. Yes, if fhe was within.

Mr. Sanders. How often did he fend for her?

Benwell. Above 20 times.

L. C. J. What great Inference can you make
from that ? methinks 'tis as much againft you as

it is for you ; for it proves there was a great Fa-

miliarity and frequent Meetings between them ;

and
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nd theand if it be fo, it fhews as if file had that great

Confidence in him, as to attempt upon, and at-

tack him in this affair.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Indeed, Mr. Sanders, if

you would have proved an Inducement to Mr.
Dugdale's, Evidence, you could not have prov'd it

better, that ihe had great Confidence in him ;

ihe had an Opinion, and reckon'd he was fure

to her, and ib had a greater Influence over him
than another.

Mr. Juft. Jones. He fent for her to the Green-

Lettice, fhefent for him to the Horfefhoe ; the Mafter

of the Houfe fweareth that fhe fent for him 20
times, fo they might fend for one another 20
times a-piece.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. And he never came to leek

for her but when fhe had been there, and left

word for him before.

Mr. Sanders. Now, my Lord, if you pleafe,

we will go on to prove, That when fhe refufed

to come, he fent for her in another Body's

Name. #

L. C. J. What will that do ? Or what does

that prove ?

Mr. Sanders. It is not probable then that fhe

fhould folicit him : And juft at the lad here are

fome WitnefTes planted, and fome Words are

taken from her mouth, that ;t was her Intrigue

all along.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Sanders, You do not

fhew the Time when thofe frequent fendings and

comings were.

L. C. J. It fhews that which they have prov'd*

that fhe believed he was fond of her, and fhe was

confident of him.

Mr. Juft. Jones. I fuppofe Mr. Sanders means,

and does drive at this, to fhew that it was to

drive on the Intrigue on his part that thefe fre-

quent Meffages were fent.

Then another Woman Witnefs was called and[worn.

Witnefs. My Lord, at the time that the Pro-

clamation Was for the banifhing of all Papiffs

out of Town, fhe came to me and faid, If Mr.
Dugdale come to ask for me don't offer to tell

him where I am.

L. C. J. When was this r

Witnefs. Long before Eafter-Term, before the

' Papifts were banifhed out of Town.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. 7 This was another part

and Mr. Juft. Jones. S of the Intrigue.

Witnefs. So Mr. Dugdale came to me, and ask'd

me where Mrs. Price was? I told him I could not

tell ; but if you have any Letters I will con-

vey them by a Meffenger or fome Footboy to

her.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Did he fend for her at any

time in September ?

Witnefs. The lafh time he fent for her was the

Sunday was fe'nnight before fhe was taken.

L. C. J. Did he frequently fend for her a

month or fix weeks before that ?

Witnefs. Yes, leveral times.

Mr. Sanders. Then fwear Bridget Lee.

[Which was done.]

Mr. Sanders. Pray, Miftrefs, you that fpoke laft,

did Mrs. Price ever deny herfelf to him, but that

once when fhe left that word with you ?

Witnefs. Never to me, my Lord, but that '

time.

Mr. Sanders. Bridget Lee, Pray tell my Lord.,

Whether Mrs. Price did deny herfelf,

way he ufed to get her to him.

Lee. Mr. Dugdale came into this Gentlewoman's
Houfe, and coming into the Houfe I was in the

Paffage ; he asked me, Sweetheart, let me {peak
with vou ; he defired me to reil him where Mrs.
Price was ; I told him \ could not tell : I wifh,

faid he, you would fetch her to me ; no, faid I,

I would not do it for 5 s. He clapp'd his Hand
in his Pocket, and faid he, I will give you 5 s.

No, faid I, I will not do it if you woul 1 give
me 5 /. Let every Tubftand upon its owyi Bottom.

L. C. J. W hat did you mean by thofe Words
s

Let every 'Tubftand upon its own Bottom ?

Lee. I would not meddle nor make with any
thing but my own Concerns.

L. C. J. How long was this before the Trial

of Harcourt ?

Lee. A Qaarter of a Year before "that:

L. C. J. It was before he went out of Town^
the Circuit.

Lee. Yes, my Lord, fb it "as.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. There had been no tam-
pering tiien, this was before the tampering.

L. C. J. It is no matter when the tampering

was, but when Mr. Dugdale lent for herj and fhe

refufed.

Mr. Sanders. I wonder what they did together

all the time before, if they were not tampering.

L. C. J. They made Love together.

Mr. Sanders. What was the occafion that fhe

refufed ?

Witnefs. I underftand that Mr. Dugdale did

find 1 was fearful of myfelf; you may venture,

faid he, for I would not do her the leaf!" wrong,

nor the leaft Hair of her Head fhould not

perifh.

L. C. J. This was long before he went into

the Country ?

Witnefs Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Before the tampering ?

Witnefs. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Sanders. Where is that other Witnefs,

Mrs. Holland? \Who was fworn.] Wnat do
you know of Mr. Dugdale's fending for Mrs.
Price ? I would know the laft Time, and where
it was.

Holland. My Lord, I do not know what Place

it was he fent for her to, nor the laft Time, but

it was fince Chriftmas.

L. C. J. Since Chriftmas ?

Holland. No, before Chriftmas, but I do not

remember the Day.

L. C. J. How do you know that he fent for

her ?

Holland. I was told by the People fo, That a

Meffenger was come from him for her.

L. C. J. You did not fee him.

Holland. No, I did not.

L. C. J. She fays nothing to the purpofe.

Holland. I know Mr. Dugdale was in her Com-
pany one Sunday laft Lent, and was there two

Hours.

Mr. Juft. Jones. 'Tis agreed of all fides they

were Acquaintance, and had great Familiarity.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Ay, or fhe would never

have had the Confidence to have attempted upon

him in this manner.

L. C. J. Well, have you any more ?

Mr. Sanders. Here is one more, that is Mrs.

Sheldon.

X. C. J. What do you call her for ?

Mr.
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Mr. Sanders. To prove that there was a Note

left to warn her to avoid Mr. Dugdale*s Com-
pany.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Why did you not ?

Mr. Sanders. It had been better for us if we
had.

L. C. J. When was that Note ,3

Mr. Sanders. Lately.

L. C. J. That v/ill do no good.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Come, call her however;

they will fay their Witneffes were not heard

elfe. \_Andfhe was called, but did not appear.,]

L. C. J. Come, fhe is not here.

Mr. Sanders. Then, my Lord, we offer this as

Evidence, That we had no Defign to Suborn him
to retradt what he had faid ; the occafion of our

being with him we have given you an Account

of.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Why did you write your

Note then ?

L. C. J. Mr. Sanders, what you have faid

amounts to nothing to avoid the Evidence that

hath been given for the King ; for all your Te-
ftimony fays little more, than what he faid at

firft ; That we were Fellow-fervants, and well

acquainted ; we made frequent Vifits, and when
I came to Town I went to fee her, and fhe came

to me : They had no Difcourfe of this fame mat-

ter of tampering till the Day before Harcourt's

Trial; but Sir Robert Southwell does fay, She

owned that fhe did ftudy the Note, which is the

great Bufinefs in the Cafe : For if fhe prepared

the Note for him to fign, what can be faid

more ?

Mr. Sanders. We can fay no more but that

Mr. Dugdale might Dictate it.

L. C. J.**No, fhe owned fhe Dictated it, and

got Mrs. Man to write it for her.

Mr. Sanders. I do not know, my Lord

L. C. J. But you may know, if you will ;

for Sir Robert Southwell hath fworn, That fhe

being examined at the Council-Board, the Lords

of the Council had fo good an Opinion of the

Skill of it, that they asked her, who framed it

for her ? And fheanfwered, She did it her felf.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mr. Sanders, if you be

not fatisfied, here is another of the Clerks of the

Council.

Sir John Nicholas. All that Sir Robert South-

well hath faid is true.

Sir Thomas Doleman. All that Sir Robert hath

faid, I can fwear to every particular.

L. C J. Well, What fay you, Mr. Pollex-

fen ?

Mr. Pollexfen. My Lord, if you pleafe to fpare

me a Word for the other Defendant Mr. Tasbo-

rough : There is in the Indictment two Things

charg'd on the Defendants ; One, That they

fhould perfuade Mr. Dugdale not to give Evi-

dence againft Harcourt : For that there is no

manner of Evidence againft Mr. Tasborough, but

he ought to be found Not Guilty for that part.

L. C. J. That is true, of that he muft be ac-

quitted.

Mr. Pollexfen. Then for the other part of the

Charge, That they fhould endeavour to perfuade

Mr. Dugdale to Retract the Evidence he had for-

merly given, for a Sum of Money, and other Re-

wards : We do reckon, That as this Evidence

Hands before your Lordfhips, whatfoever is proved

againft Mrs. Price, will have no influence upon

Mr, Tasborough ; for altho' Dugdale and Price

have had Practices and Defigns amongft them-

felves, unlefs he be a Party to them, if he have

not a part in them they will not affect him :

Then the next thing is, we muft diftinguiih the

Evidence as it ftands, or elfe it may not -be by
the Jury fo well underftood how they are diffe-

renced one from another ; for I would not mince
the Evidence, but let it ftand as it is : And how
far Mr. Tasborough is concern'd in it, and how
far may be done by him as an honeft Man in this

matter, or how far it is an illegal Act, will be
to be determin'd by you. Now there is only

two Meetings that Mr. Dugdale hath had witft.

Mr. Tasborough ; and in the next place, there is

no other Witnefs to prove it but Dugdale himielf,

excepting only what Sir Robert Southwell fays of
the Confeffion at the Council, which, I think,

will not be very much neither, as I fhall fhew
when I come to that particular. Mr. Dugdale

fays, that at the firft Meeting, the 12th of Otto-

ber, at the Green-Lettice in Fuller's, Rents, Mr. Toft-

borough did fay unto him, That Mrs. Price had
told him, Mr. Dugdale would Retract his Evi-

dence, and he was come to confirm what fhe had
faid.

L. C. J. Nay, but what fhe had promifed.

Mr. Pollexfen. Yes, what fhe had promifed

;

and that he came from the Duke, and that it was
charitably done or him to Retradf. ; he goes no
further : And that if he had done amifshe fhould

be forry for it. This is the Evidence, as near as

I can remember to repeat it.

L. C. J. Part of it.

Mr. Pollexfen. As to the firft Meeting—
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Look you, do not mif-

take, Mr. Pollexfen, but obferve this: For Mr.
Dugdale does fwear he told him, If you will Re-
tract the Evidence you have given, tnen all fhe

hath promifed fhall be made good.

Mr. Pollexfen. That he came to confirm what
flie had promifed. 1 would repeat it as right as

I could, becaufe, my Lord, I hope, as this Cafe

ftands, that notwithftanding all that hath been

proved, yet Mr. Tasborough hath done nothing

amifs. Then 1 come to the fecond Meeting.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. At the firft Meeting the

Note was produced.

L. C. J. No, I think not.

Mr. Juft.Dolben. Yes, my Lord, it was.

L. C. J. Was it, Mr. Dugdale?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Pollexfen. Yes, he does fwear fo, and that

he read it, and prefs'd Mr. Dugdale to fign it;

and that this was the laft time, and it muft be

done before the Duke went into Scotland, or

fomething to that purpole. This, my Lord, un-

der favour, may all ftand and be very true, and
yet Mr. Tasborough not criminal, with fubmiffion.

For if fb be Mrs. Price were fo fir in her Inter-

courfe with Mr. Dugdale, that as appears by his

own Evidence he did feem to comply and treat,

as if he were yielding, and to do what they

would have him do, concerning his going be-

yond Seas, or being kept in a Proteftant Lord's

Houfe, and fhe had fuch Confidence as to tell

him how the Priefts were fent away, and how
he might be convey'd away : All this thus far

comes to agree with what Mr. Tasborough fays for

his own Defence: For Mr. Tasborough fays, Mrs.
Price did tell me, that Mr. Dugdale was forry for

what he had fworn, and would Retract all the

Evidence he had formerly given. Thus he

fays

:
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lays: I'll apply it to our Cafe anon ; and this ap-

pears by Mr. Dugdale's own Evidence : For when
he does repeat what Mr. Tasborough told him, he
fays, That he faid Mrs. Price told him of it, and
he hath not told you, that he did contradict it

for falfe.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. Pray confider ; Pie tells

you, that "Tasborough faid, that Mrs. Price had
acquainted him with what Propofitions fhe had

made of iooo /. and that he was the Man that

was come to confirm the Promifes fhe had
made.

L. C. J. That preffes you, that is the truth of

it : If that had not been in the Cafe, perhaps

you don't talk much out of the way. 'Tis true,

your Obfervation is right.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. 'Tis ingenious indeed,

but 'twill not hold out.

L. C. J. When Tasborough comes into the

Company to be acquainted with Mr. Dugdale, at

that time Mr. Dugdale had been advifed to com-
ply, or feem to do fo to find out the Plot and

Defign, and what he could get out by it ; and

without queftion, to purfue that end, he did mew
yieldingnefs, and as you obferve, for ought Tas-

borough knew, he might be fincere : But was it

a good way for him to tell him ; there is the

matter in effect he does tell him fo •, If you will

Retract your Evidence, according to this Note
that was produced by her, and read by him, you

jfhall have iooo/. for your pains: Can you anfwer

that ?

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. Or can you anfwer the

other, That he fhould fay, She hath acquainted

me with what you propofe ; that is, That you
would Retract all, and go out of the way, and

be no more an Evidence ; and if you would do
that, that fhe hath acquainted me with her Pro-

pofuion, which I come to confirm, that fhe

would give you i ooo /. What can be made of

that?

Mr. Juji. Dolben. And withal, formerly there

was a Difcourfe of iome Perfon of Quality that

fhould come to him •, he defired that ibme fuch

one fhould be a Security for the Money, and

afterwards fhe brought Mr. Tasborough, and faid,

That was the Gentleman fhe told him of.

Mr. Jufi. Pemberton. Come, Mr. Pollexfen, take

this too : What had Mr. Tasborough to do to ufe

the Duke of York's Name? and to fay, That

he had Authority from him to propofe thefe

things ; which certainly is a very great wrong to

fo great a Prince.

L. C. J. That needed not to a penitent Perfon,

that was lorry for what he had done.

Mr. Pollexfen. He does indeed fay, That Mr.
Tasborough fhould be the Man that fhould iecure

the Money.
Mr. Sol. Gen. And there is one thing farther,

to take in all that Mr. Tasborough did likewife fay

to Mr. Dugdale ; That there is no harm in doing

this, that it is a very charitable Aft, and that he

would do well in it.

L. C. J. But they anfwer that, by faying, Sup-

pofing it to be true, that Dugdale had Remorfe,

then it would be a very good Action ; but to

talk of 1000/. to be given for it, there is the

Crime.

Mr. Pollexfen. Whether my Anfwer will take

with your Lordfhip or no, I can't tell •, but the

Anfwer I would give is this -, There are feveral

tilings in that Paper, as amongft the reft, That

he fhould fall under great Diflike and Danger,
and therefore was forced to hide and fecurc mm-
felf, for fear of thole whom he fhould make his

Enemies by it, and that was Terror enough to
any Man that fhould run into fuch a Retraction.

Therefore now he muft live when he hath done
this, and fo we fhould apply the other part of
the Difcourfe, whatever Money fhe had promifed
to takeoff his Fears of Want, and ib his coming
there was to make good that part of the Pa-
per, which fays, he muft be protected and main-
tained, and preferved, that he may fee he hath
a Subfiftence and Provifion for him, if he did de-

ferve it. And, my Lord, it will be greatly di-

ftinguifhing in our Cafe, and turn much upon
this Point, with Submiffion, if I give or orfer

Money to any Man to fwear a Falihood or Re-
trad the Truth, 'tis a very great Crime, and if

we are guilty of that, undoubtedly our Crime is

very bad ; but in order to the bringing of
Truth to difcovery, and to have a Retraction,

not of a Truth, but of a Falfhood, and ro pre-

ferve that Witnefs from perifhing, I may pro-

mife him Protection and Subfiftence.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Then you have found out

a better way than the Devil himielf could have
fuggeited to uphold Subornation.

L. C. J. Upon my Word, if that were a way
that were allowable, then woe be to us, we
fhould eafily have all the Witneffes tamper'd with

by the Temptation of iooo /. Reward. Do you
think that is a good thing for a Man to fay, This
thing was rafhly faid, if you will unfay'c, you
fhall have fuch a Reward ? People would be apt

to bite at fuch a Bait, and we do not Jive in fo

virtuous an Age, that iooo/. will not Tempt a
Man to unfay what he hath laid at firit, tho'

what he hath faid then was true.

Mr. Pollexfen. It were an unjuft and unfitting

thing, if it were as you fay.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Nay, Mr. Pollexfen, con-

fider thefe things muft not be done by any one ;

their way, if they had been convinced of the

Truth, had been to have carried the Complaint
to a Magiftrate, and there to detect him by vWiat

he had faid ; not to corrupt him, and perfiit in

it, by telling him, if he would do io and io, he

fhould have iooo/. By this you let in all manner
of Temptations to Witneffes, that we fhall never

know where we are.

L. C. J. Come, Mr. Dugdale, (becaufe I will

fhew you all very fair play , I think very well of

Mr. Dugdale.)

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. He hath carry'd himfelf

always well.

L. C. J. Yes truly, I know nothing to the

contrary : And pray tell upon your Oath, and

tell the Truth : Did Mr. Tasborough, when . he

read the Note, ask of you, Is this true ? Did he

inquire of you, Whether or no you were really

a Convert, and, Whether your Sorrow and Re-

pentance were true ?

Dugdale. No, he never did.

L. C, J. Did he ask you, If you could do it

with a fate Confcience ?

Dugdale. No, nothing of Confcience was ever

nam'd in it.

L. C. J. Did he ask you, Whether it was

true ?

Dugdale. He never nam'd Truth or Falfhood

:

It was only to get me over to Retract what I had

faid.

Mr.
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Mr. Juft. Pemberton. What is a Temptation,

if this be not ?

L. C. J. Truly I ask this Queftion, That the

World may fee, we would find out the Truth

by all the ways we can ; for if he had been feli-

citous with him, and asked him, Whether he

could do this fafely, and with a good Confcience,

and whether the matter of it were true, it would

have gone a great way ; but now I have asked

Mr. Dugdale this upon his Oath, and he fays it

was only to get him over to them.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. And then confider all that

is faid againft Mrs. Price is turn'd upon you, ex-

cept that of the Contrivance to keep him from

giving his Evidence againft Harcourt. A very

fubtle Invention it was; but whether Mr. Tasbo-

rough was in the Bufinefs of the Note, in contri-

ving it, I cannot tell, and it fignifies nothing :

But fhe having contriv'd as ill a Note as can be

penn'd, he is as much guilty ; for he folicits as

well as fhe, and countenances it fo far, as to

undertake farther, that the Money and the

Bribes fhe had offered, fhould be paid and made
good.

L. C. J. Mr. Dugdale, Mr. Tafborough talked

with you of going away ?

Dugdale. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. J. Ad\ ifed you to be gone ?

Dugdale. Yes, he did : He told me I were beft

to abfent my felf for a while beyond Sea, and

fhould have convenient Paflage.

L. C. J. Did he mention the Duke of York ?

What faid he ?

Dugdale. Yes, he faid he had acquainted the

Duke, and the Duke had given him Orders to

prefs that Note home ; for, faid he, the Duke
will not believe you will be true, if you do not

fign this Note.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. 'Tis never to be endured,

that you fhould abufe fo noble" a Prince.

L. C. J. Did you tell Mr. Tasborough then, If

I come over, there is Oates, and Bedlow, and

Praunce ftill left ?

Dugdale. I did fay fo to Mrs. Price, but never

to him.

Mr. yujl. Pemberton. You fee then what he

would have this Note fign'd for, to ftrengthcn

the Catholick Caufe.

Mr. Thompfon. My Lord, Will you pleafe to

fpare me one Word for Mr. Tasborough : I confefs

the Evidence does feem by Mr. Dugdale to prefs

us very hard, and particularly upon that matter

of the Money ; but as Mrs. Price had managed

the Bufinefs, Mr. Tasborough might have been

very innocent: But, my Lord, we muft make
that Defence for our felves that we can in a Cafe

of this nature ; and therefore it will be, I hope,

no Reflexion to fay, We muft counterprove Mr.

Dugdale, and difprove him as far as we can, to

acquit our felves. My Lord, it is a very great

Crime that we are here eharg'd with, and the

Crime being fo heinous, ought to be well proved,

and with unqueftionable Evidence : Mr. Tas-

borough, if he be guilty of what he is here ac-

cufed of, is a very ill Man ; but Men are not

drawn up to great degrees of Illnefs fo foon as

at the firft Aft to attempt fuch heinous Offences :

And 'tis not probable, that at his firft flip he

fhould be guilty of a Fault of fo high a Nature,

and fo very ill as this is. My Lord, we fhall call

fome Perfons that fhall make it appear to your

Lordfhip, that after Mrs. Price had given us In-

formation of this Repentance of Mr. Dugdale 's

we did make application to a Perfon of very
great Honour, no lefs than my Lord Privy Seal
that Mr. Dugdale might receive the Difcourao-e-
ment which it was fitting he fhould in fuch a
matter. My Lord, we muft call our WitnefTes
to prove Mr. Tasborough to be a Man of a very
good Reputation, that he never did any fuch
thing before ; and I hope we fhall give your
Lordfhip fuch an Account of him, that the Jury
will have reafon to believe, that Mr. Tasborough
is not fo guilty as he is reprefented, but was drawn
into this matter, whatever it is. Pray call a Wit-
nefs to fhew that Mr. Tasborough acquainted any
Lord of the Privy-Council.

Then my Lord Chief Juftice went off the Bench, to

fit on Writs of Error in the Exchequer-Chamber.

Mr. yuft. Pemberton. If'Mr.Tasborough be drawn
in, 'tis by Mrs. Price, but not by Mr. Dugdale.

Mr. Thompfon. Is my Lord Privy Seal in
Court ?

Mr. Juft. Jones. You know he is not here.
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You tofs great Names a-

bout, and make great Noife with them, when
you know they are not here.

Mr. Thompfon. ff he had not fallen ill, fure he
would have been here. What fay you, Mr. Taf-
borough ?

Tasborough. My Lord, I was to attend my
Lord Privy Seal Yefterday, and defired him
to do me the Honour to be here to-day, becaufe
I was to come to my Trial : He told me he had
Bufinefs that would hinder him from coming ;

but faid he, if the Attorney-General will inl
form himfelf of me, I am ready to teftify, that
you gave me Information firft of Mr. Dugdale*s
Recantation, before it came before the Coun-
cil.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. We will do your Client
this Right, Mr. Thompfon, as to ask whether my
Lord Privy Seal was at the Council, and faid fo
much then.

Mr. Scroggs. He was not that Day, but we ac-
quainted my Lord Privy Seal before that ; but
Sir Robert Southwell does him this Right, as to fay,

that he did declare, if Mr. Dugdale had fign'd
that Note, he would have gone with it immedi-
ately to a Magiftrate.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. How does that appear he
faid fo ?

™
Sir R. Southwell. My Lord, he did further fay,

after he had faid, that he would have carried it

to a Magiftrate in that cafe, he did fay, he had
been once or twice with my Lord Privy Seal.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Ay, he did fay fo ; but
there was no Evidence but his Allegation.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Was my Lord Privy Seal at
Council at that time ?

Sir R. Southwell. No, I think not, my Lord.
Mr. Scroggs. 'Tis a very ftrange thing we

fhould be fo forward to promife for Mrs. Price
if we had not thought Mr. Dugdale real.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. 'Tis a fign you had a great
Inclination to the Thing : Well, call your Wit-
nefTes.

Mr. Thompfon. Call Sir Richard AJhfield and Al-
derman Barker.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. 'Tis a fine thing this to make
a long Brief with, to no purpofe.

Mr.
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Mr. Scroggs. We have a fwinging Brief here

indeed.

Mr. Juji. ~Dolben. Ay, you come with a great

Brief, but no Witnefles.

Mr. Tloompfon. If we do not call the Witnefles

nam'd in our Brief, our Client will take it ill j if

they do not appear, we can't help it.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. You have forgot what you

moved the Court about Tempeji.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But we have not forgotten,

that about ten Days ago you mov Jd to put off

this Trial, becaufe Mr. Tempeji was your mate-

rial Witnefs ; and being ask'd what he could

prove, you laid it was how you were brought

acquainted with Mr. Dugdale: But becaufe the

Court did not think fit to put off the Trial,

Mr. Attorney did fay, he would fee if he had

been examined, and what he had depofed, and

report it to us ; and afterwards did fo, and

did confent here that at the Trial you fhould

make ufe of his Examination if you pleas'd ; but

we do not fee that you make any ufe at all of

it.

Mr. Thompjon. We that are of Counfel mult

make ufe of our Client's Witnefles as we have

them in our Brief.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. We defire they Ihould call

their Witnefles, and not name Names.

Mr. Scroggs. We defire that Examination may
be read.

Mr. Att. Gen. Produce it then.

Mr. Thompfon. We have it not.

Mr. Recorder. And we for the King do not ufe

it as Evidence.

Mr. Att. Gen. Come, if it be here you fhall have

it read, though I believe Mr. Tempeji fwears little

to your purpofe ; for as I take it he fays he does not

know Mr. Dugdale at all.

Mr. Juji. Dolben. But I told you that Mr. Tas-

bcrough puts you upon Trifles.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. But whatfoever they put

you upon, you mould not trifle with us.

Mr. Thompjon. Do you defire they mould be

read, Mr. Attorney?

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. We can't read them with-

out the Confent of both Parties. Do you confent to

them firft for whom they are produced ?

Tasborough. I only defire to know by them how

I came acquainted with -Mrs. Price.

Mr. Juji. Dolben. Well, you hear what Mr. At-

torney fays is in them; will you have them read ?

Mr. Scroggs. 'Tis to no purpofe then, if that

be all.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. I defire to fpeak but a few

Words, and I am bound to fpeak them.

Mr. Juji. Jones. Brother, they have more Wit-

nefles.

Mr. Pollexjen. Thefe we fhall now call are to

this purpofe, to prove Mr. Tasborougb's Reputa-

tion, that he is a very honeft Man.

Mr. Juji. Dolben. I don't fee but that he may be

a fifir-condition'd Man in all other things.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. Look you, thofe that are

in their Dealings fometimes honeft fair Men, yet

when they come to be of that Religion, there they

are debauched, and there they are brought to do

as wicked things as can be, in favour, and to fup-

port that Religion.

Then Alderman Barker was jworn.

Mr. Thompjon. Do you know Mr, Tasborough ?

Vol. II.

Barker. Yes, I have known him feveral Years,
Mr. Thompjon. How long ?

Barker. Fourteen or Fifteen Years.
Mr. Thompjon. How have you look'd upon

him?
Barker. I have looked upon him as an honeft

peaceable Man.
Mr. Juji. Pemberton. You have known him to

be a Catholick ?

Barker. Yes, that I have.

Price. May I beg the Favour of this Honoura-
ble Court, that I may fpeak for myfelf here ?

Mr. Juji. Dolben. Well, come Mrs. what will
you fay ? But we muft tell the Jury before-hand
it fignifies nothing for Evidence.

Price. I defire to fpeak the Truth.
Mr. Juji. Dolben. But they muft not believe a

Word you fay.

Price. Be pleafed to give me leave to fpeak how-
ever. #

Mr. Juji. Jones. Well, go on.

Price. Sir, Mr. Dugdale does here accufe me of
fuborning him to retract his Evidence. I do pro-
teft 'tis fo far from it, that he importuned me,
and folicited me to go to the Duke of Tork, and he
told me if I would go, he would pay my Coach-
hire. Is it not fo, Mr. Dugdale ?

_
Mr. Juji. Pemberton. You rauft not interrogate

him.

Mr. Juji. Dolben. The very firft thing you have
faid hath difcredited all you would fay, for if

Mr. Dugdale (as you fay) had importuned you
that you would do this thing for him, how comes
it to pais that afterwards you fhould promife him
a Reward of 1000I. and bring a Gentleman to

make it good ?

Price. I afTufe you, my Lord, I never did.

Mr. Juji. Dolben. 'Tis moft apparent, Tasbo-

rough does not deny that.

Price. But that which is the real Truth, that

you fay muft not be believed.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. Did he folicit you to draw
your Note ?

Price. Yes, he did, upon the Word of a Chri-

ftian.

Mr. Jtji. Jones. You did confefs that you did

ftudy it, and draw it yourfelf.

Price. I did fo, but he importun'd me to

do it.

Mr. Juji. Pemberton. How do you prove that ?

Price. I defire to know by what Words I took

off his Evidence at Harcourt's Trial ?

• Mr. Juji. Dolben. You defired him to be kind,

becaufe he was your Confeflbr.

Price. I defire to ask him the Queftion, by
what Words it was.

Mr. Juji. Jones. Well, you may ask him, but

'tis little to the purpofe. Can you remember the

Words, or the Effect of the Words that fhe fpoke

to you in the Behalf of Harcourt? The Night

before his Trial, I think it was.

Dugdale. Yes, it was the Night before, to defire

me I would not be an Evidence againft him, in re-

gard he was her Ghoftly Father.

Price. You know you came to me, Mr. Dug-
dale, and told me you rid Poft to Town.
Mr. Juji. Pemberton. We muft have no more

of thefe interlocutory Difcourfes.

Dugdale. Mrs. Price, I would not do you the

leaft Injury in the World.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Mr. Juftice Jones, I defire

a Word.
6 Q_ Mr.
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Mr. Juft. Jones. If you will produce any Wit-

nefTes, do.

Price. I defire I may fpeak for myfclf.

Mr. juft. Dolben. *Tis but Reafon fhe fhould

fpeak for herfelf.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. But I hope if fhe ask un-

reafonable Queftions fhe is not to be heard.

Price. I only fpeak the Truth.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. But we muft not take your

Evidence of it, produce your WitnefTes.

Mr. Juft. Jones. If you have any to prove what

you fay, call them.

Price. Whether you will take my Evidence or

not, pray let me fpeak for myfelf.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. We cannot believe you, nor

muft the Jury believe you, I'll tell you that before-

hand.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. We tell you, you muft not

be heard. If you have any Queftions to ask, let

your Counfel propofe them.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. If you apply to the Jury, you

are not to tell the Matter of Fact, but to prove

it to them by Witnefies.

Price. I defire, however, I may be heard my
felf.

Air. Juft. Jones. If any thing hath been omitted

by your Counfel, which is material for your De-
fence, and you have WitnefTes to prove it, they

fhall be called.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. Mrs. Price, you muft know
the Courfe of the Court, and the way of Evidence

. is, we are not to hear the Perfons indicted make
long Speeches to the Court, or to the Jury, or

come with great Confidence to deny the thing that

is prov'd againft them ; if you have any thing ma-
terial to fay, we will hear you by your Counfel

;

you muft not trouble us.

Price. My Lord, I have Matter enough to fay,

but it can't be heard.

Mr. Sanders. We defire Wright may be call'd

again.

Mr. Juft. Jones. To what purpofe ?

Price. To prove that you, Mr. Dugdale, would
fuborn him.

Dugdale. Call him, if you will, if you can
prove any Practices upon me.

Price. You have good Practices we know •,

you are a Man of excellent Practices ; you had

need commend your Practices. You know very

well, Mr. Dugdale, that you told me you were
perjured.

Mr. Recorder. 'Tis not Language fit for you to

give.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Is that Liberty of Speech fit

to be given ? She tells Mr. Dugdale that he faid

himfelf he was perjured.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. You are an impudent Wo-
man to talk fo.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Your Mouth muft be flopped,

if .you can ufe your Tongue no better.

Mr. Juft. Jones. What would you ask him when
he does come ?

Price. I have told my Counfel.

Mr. Sanders. She fays fhe would ask him whe-
ther Mr. Dugdale did not offer him Money to

fuborn him in this Cafe. You are fworn already,

Sir, are you not?

Wright. Yes.

Mr. Sanders. Then pray anfwer the Court this

Queftion, Did Mr. Dugdale at any time offer you
any Money to take an Oath, or give Evidence ?

Wright. Offer me Money ?

Mr. Sanders. Yes, you. Anfwer upon your
Oath.

Wright. No, my Lord.

Mr. Sanders. Or any thing elfe did he offer ?

Wright. No, my Lord. He hath often fent to

me to come, and when I did come, hath faid, I

am glad you are come, I'll do you as great a Kind-
nefs ; but he did not know of my coming, becaufe

his Meffengers had not met with me.

Mr. Sanders. Did any one on his Behalf offer

you any thing ?

Wright. No, I think not; if it was, I think it

was in vain.

Mr. Sanders. But did he, or did he not?

Wright. No.
Mr. Recorder. If Mrs Price hath any more fuch

WitnefTes, fhe may call them.

Mr. Serj. Maynard. Sir, under your Favour,
here hath been a ftrange way of Defence. Con-
fider what a Crime we are upon, and in what
Times we are. That there is a Plot of a very
high and tranfeendent Nature under Queftion,

that divers WitnefTes have been fuborned, and
Perfons tried in this Place and convicted for it,

'tis undeniable. Now after Trials for fo high
a Crime in the moft publick Way, here come
Price and Tasborough ; What to do ? She indeed

before, but both Tasborough and fhe afterwards,

by Rewards, and fuch Temptations, endeavours

to diigrace his Evidence; but there is not only
that, but the great thing looked after by their

Party, was, the Iffue of it ; upon this all the

King's Evidence were to be hang'd. What hath
been faid is only to make a Jeft, and make the

Company merry, that there was a Contract of
Marriage between them ; but what will be the

Confequence of that? He that fpoke it, has
unqueftionably proved the Probability of our
Charge, we have made it probable, and he hath
proved it ; and the Inference drawn by them is,

She certainly did not tempt him, becaufe fhe

had an Intereft in him, which concludes very na-

turally. But then for the other, Mr. Tasborough,

Alderman Barker comes in, and fwears the

Gentleman is a very honeft Man ; I hope he
did hear the Evidence, and then I wonder how
he could fwear it; but do we come to prove
whether he be an honeft Man in his Life ? 'Tis

not at all our Queftion ; if we fhould have of-

fered to have dilparaged him in another way,
we had not, I think, done our Duty, and the

Court would juftly have reproved us for it ; but
there is one thing, which if it had not been
fpokeh, I would have held my Peaee : How is

Tasborough concerned in the Cafe ? Divers have
been queftioned and executed for High-Trea-
fon, upon Mr. Dugdale''s Evidence; and after

fuch an Execution, what is Mr. Tasborough3
s Du-

ty ? It hath been reprefented as if he had been
perfuaded by her, and drawn in that way, and
he thinking that it was a Falfity that had been

fworn before, and that Mr. Dugdale repented of
the Injury he had done them, he fhould help to

make this Difcovery. But what was he con-

cerned? Did he go to a Juftice of Peace, or

any juft way? Did he not contrive with the

Devil rather than the Juftice? iooo/. muft be
paid to draw off a Man, and corrupt him, to

make him own himfelf perjur'd, in a Truth that

had been fpoken. And this is not the firft time

that they have done it; for we remember the

Cafe of Reading very well. I fhall fay no more,

but
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but this, under favour, it is not well to fay, That

a Man may perfuade another to deny his Tefti-

mony, that is nothing concerned in the Cafe,

in a Cafe of this publick Nature efpecialiy, and

for Money too, that was never meant by the

Lav/, and I hope is not meant ever to be coun-

tenanced here. 1 hope the Court will give that

Caution to all that hear it, as will difcourage

any Attempts of this Nature for the future. And
that it fhall not be enough to excufe it, for him
to fay he was perfuaded, and thought his Sorrow

was real, and thereby to put the King's Witnef-

fes to prove that thing to be true that they had

proved already. What had Mr. Tasboroughto do,

as if he were a Judge of the Proceedings of the

Court and Witneffes ? Nothing at all, under fa-

vour, but is a very ill Man, and as fuch I hope fhall

be punifhed.

Mr. Jufl. Jones. Gentlemen, you of the Jury;

thefe two Perfons have been Indicted for a very

great Offence. The Indictment fets forth (that

' which we all know to be true) that fVhitebread,

and divers others, have been Tried and Condemn-
ed for a very Execrable, Heliifh, Popifh-Plot

:

That upon thefelndictments, Mr. Dugdale did give

material Evidence ; but that, when fome other of

the Confpirators were to be Tried, and brought

to Punifhment, thefe two Perfons did endeavour

to make Mr. Dugdale abfent himfelf, and retract

his Evidence. And not only fo, when Harcourt

was to be brought to his Trial, (for whom it feems

Mrs. Price had a particular Kindnefs) but likewife

it was endeavoured, he Ihould be gone, and not

give any further Evidence at all, and he ihould

have ioo;/. for a Reward. This is the Indict-

ment.

The Inducement to the Indictment (that is, the

Trials of the Confpirators) is all well known: And
there have been Copies of the Records produc'd,

which have been infpected and perufed by the

Counfel on the Defendants parts ; and they cannot

fay, but that the Records agree with the matter

in that refpect : So that there is nothing at all but

the bare matter of Fact that you are to enquire

into.

I fhall diftinguifh the Perfons : Mrs. Price, ac-

cording to the Evidence, hath gone thro' the

whole Charge of the Indictment, and indeed, hath

committed fome further Crimes than have been

mention'd in the Indictment.

Firfi, It hath been proved to you by Mr. Dugdale,

That fhe did not only defire Kindnefs to Harcourt,

who was her Ghofily Father; but fhe did defign, as

much as in her lay, that he Ihould not come in at

all to give Evidence againft him : Tiiis is prov'd

by Mr. Dugdale, and another Perfon that was by,

that did hear Mrs. Price fey, She would have him
be kind to Mr. Harcourt, becaufe he was her Ghofi-

ly Father: Withal tells you, That immediately

after Dugdale did tell him, that fhe did perfuade

him he mould abfent himfelf, and not give Evi-

dence againft Harcourt.

She is likewife Charg'd (as they are both) that

fhe did treat with Mr. Dugdale for to Retract all

that he had faid, to be gone, and to leave a Pa-

per behind him, which ihould fignify, That
there was trouble of Mind upon him, and that

he had done wrong in his Teftimony given a-

gainft the Catholicks : Therefore he would be

gone, and leave a Teftimony of it in Writing,

when he was gone. And fhe provides for his

VO L. II.

Security abroad, and he Ihould have lOpoL Re-
ward.

Dugdale is the Perfon with 'whom the firft

Treaty was: Bjt becaufe he knew, and it was
obferved, that it was unfafe to deal with Perfons
that wefe tampering with him in. fuch a nature
as this was, and upon a matter of this kind, he
does acquaint Perfons of very great Quality, as

he fwears, my Lord of Shaftsbury, and two other
Perfons : They do advife him that he Ihould get
fome Perfons to be by when they Ihould come
to fome further Treaties concerning this bufinefs ;

and to that purpofe he fliould hold up a Corre-
fpondence, and condefcend to a kind of Agree-
ment and Compliance, that he might be able to

have further Teftimony to confirm his Evidence.
Whereupon Dr. Chamberlain and his Servant are

plac'd in a Clofet in Mr; Dugdak's Chamber, in

fuch a Place, that they might hear what was dill

courfed in the Chamber ; in comes Mrs. Price,

they being in the Clofet. Mr. Dugdale and fhe

difcours'd about the Bufinefs fo loud, that Dr.
Chamberlain and his Servant (as both of them tell

you) heard their Difcourfe upon it: The Quefti-

on was ask'd and put to Mrs. Price: Mrs. Price,

/ hope you know you are the Perfon that firfi mov'd
this Intrigue ; it began from you, and not from me:
And this was confeft by her. So that you have in

confirmation of Mr. Dugdale, the Teftimony both
of Dr. Chamberlain, and of his Servant, to that

part of the Charge againft her. And withal, 'tis

added, not only that he was to go beyond Sea,

to retract what Evidence he had given ; but
likewife it was thought expedient he ihould come
over again, and fwear againft all the reft of the

Evidence that had been given or Ihould be gi-

ven for the King. And when it was laid by Mr.
Dugdale, What will it avail you, if I do retract

my Evidence? There is Mr. Oaten and Mr. Praunce
to teftify the fame ' thing : She faid, No matter

for that ; if we get you on our fide for the Ca-
tholick Caufe, to be our Friend, we fhall be-

fore" to baffle all they can fay or do ; and we
fhall not only fave the Catholicks, but turn the

Plot upon the Heads of the Protefiants, and all

the King's Witneffes fhall be hang'd. That you
may remember was teftified by ibme of the Wit-
nefies.

Mrs. Price deals frequently with Mr. Dugdale to

this purpofe.

Dugdale, that he might know (and 'tis very like

with that honeft intention, and no other, he did it)

and that he might difcover the bottom of this

Bufinefs, tells her, This is a thing of dangerous

Confequence, and it is fit that I have better Se-

curity than your Promife to this iooo/. I will have

fome fubftantiaj Perfon that fhall come and con-

firm what you promife, and thereupon fhe tells

him, He Ihould have a fubftantial Perfon brought,

and he Ihould have Thanks from very great Per-

fons, naming the Duke of York •, for he it was,

as they faid, that would take care to protect him,

and procure a Pardon for him.

Now Gentlemen, this is the Evidence againft

Mrs. Price. In Defence of this what doth fhe of-

fer, but that fhe hath been acquainted with Mr.
Dugdale, and there hath been great Familiarity

between them. It there had not been fuch a Fa-

miliarity, would there have been fuch an In-

trigue? Is this a matter to te communicated to

a Stranger? If there were a Doubt before, whe-

6 Q^ 2 ther
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ther there were th'.s Contrivance, Does not this

give us a better AfTurance that it was fo, becBrafe

there was fuch an Acquaintance between them ?

Then, as to Mr. Tasborougb : He indeed is not

in the beginning of the Defign at all : There is

no Evidence againft him for that part of the

Charge, That be fhould abfent himfelf, and not give

Evidence againft Pin-court. He comes not in at

that time; nor can I perceive by Mr. Dugdale,

that he had any Acquaintance with him at all till

the 1 2th of Oclober ; and he fays he was but twice

in his Company.
Now, Gentlemen, What does Mr. Tasborougb

do? Firft, Dugdale is told by Mrs. Price, That a

Man of Quality mould come to him, and con-

firm all the Promiles fhe had made him. Tas-

borougb does come to him, and tells him, He hath

had feme Difcourfe with Mrs. Price, what fhe

had 'propos'd ; and he is now come to make
good and confirm, That all fhall be effected that

fhe had proposed to him. Ay! but it is fup-

pos'd, that Mr. Tasborougb is a very honeft Man,
and a confeientious Man, and does come for no-

thing in the World, but to perfuade Mr. Dugdale

to do the Office of a Chriftian ; it was a chari-

table thing of him, to take off the Scandal that

was upon the Innocent. But you do not hear

him charge it upon Mr. Dugdale's Confcience,

that he had given a falfe Evidence againft any

of thofe Peribns, nor urge him much to Repent.

But he muft be gone,, he muft give no more Evi-

dence againft the Catholicks: And, What if he

do comply with this Defir.e ? Then he tells him

he fhall have a Reward: What Reward? A
Thoufand Pound ; which was made known before,

and Protection, and Pardon, and Security : And
he comes to him in the Duke of York's Name,
to inforce it the mere ftrongly upon him, and

make him do it : Whereas, indeed, the Duke
of Tork (as he himfelf and Mrs. Price have fince

confefs'd) never knew any thing at all of the Bufi-

nefs.

Now, Gentlemen, to move by honeft Chriftian

means, any one that hath done an Injury of any

fort, to Repentance, and Contrition, and Recan-

tation, that is a very good thing ; but to do it

with promife of a Reward of iooo /. can't be

juftify'd: What way is there to infinuate into any

Perfon an Intention of doing a Mischief, but fuch

a way as this ? Will any one come to another,

and fay, forfweaf your felf ; whereas you know
fuch a thing to be true, fwear it to be folk, or

Retract the Evidence you have given about it, and

I will give you a iooo/. No, but ferve the Ca-

tholick Caufe •, a great many have fuffered, and by

your Teftimony, Retract, be gone, be fecure,

you fhall have a Certainty, that you fhall be fecure

in another Kingdom ; or elfe you fhall have it in

a Proteftant Family; tho' neither that Proteftant,

nor any Proteftant was nam'd.

Is not this a Bait to tempt a Man to all the Vil-

lany in the World ? If iooo/. be offer'd, who can

refift ? Such People as thefe are will not eafily re-

fill fuch a Temptation.

But Mr. Tasborougb is a very honeft Man in his

Life and Converfation ; he produceth thole that

tell you his Reputation is good, and the like:

There is no doubt of it, and if he had produe'd

20 WitnefTes, do you think he would produce

any one that fhould fpeak againft himfelf? He
choofes out thofe certainly as would fpeak as much

in his Favour as they can : But if a Man hath

been an honeft Man in his Converfation, may he
not be intie'd or fedue'd ? Efpecially when it will

be told him, If you do this, you fhall merit Hea-
ven, you fhall be Sainted and Canoniz'd, you do
the greateft Service in the World to the Catholick

Caufe.

Thefe Temptations may work upon a Man, per-

haps, that is morally honeft, when he is infatuated

with this Principle, That any thing may be done
for the Catholick Caufe; as it is a Catholick Doc-
trine too often inftill'd into them, that any thing
is become fanctified when it tends to that End ;

'tis eafy then to prevail upon them in Things of
this Nature.

I fhould have told you (which I omitted before)
one Circumftance concerning Matter of Proof a-

gainft Mrs. Price more than Tasborougb : Two
Witnefirs laid they were in the Clofetj and heard
a Woman difcourfe, but neither of them did fee

her Face ; but afterwards it is proved by a-

nother, that he was defired to obferve who came
into or went out of the Houfe ; and he fwears he
faw Mr. Dugdale and her come out of the Houfe ;

That they went to the Gateboufe, and he faw her
come again from the Gateboufe with Mr. Dugdale,
and he is fure this is the Perfon. And you remem-
ber that part of their Difcourfe was of going to

the Gateboufe.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. They do not deny it nei-

ther.

Mr. Juft. Jones. I don't fee they do.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton'Tis a very ftrong and plain

Evidence as can be given.

Mr. Juft. Jones. There is nothing can be faid

for Mrs. Price, little for Mr. Tasborougb.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. I fee nothing that can do
him any good.

Mr. Juft. Dolben. Come Gentlemen, lay your
Heads together and confider of the Matter.

Which the Jury did at the Bar: And being asked by

the Clerk of the Crown, Whether they were agreed;

they anfwer'd, Tes.

CI. of Cr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Omnes. Foreman.

CI. of Cr. Do you find the Defendants Guilty of
the Trefpafs and Offence whereof they ftand In-

dicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Mr. Pollexfen. As to part only for Mr. Tas-

borougb.

Foreman. Guilty of the Indictment.

Mr. Juft. Jones. We all know he is ndl found
Guilty of one part, and that muft be confider'd

at the fetting of the Fine.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Tasborougb hath been upon
Bail, but I fuppofe he muft not go upon Bail now ;

we pray that he may be committed.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. They muft both be com-
mitted ; take them both.

Mr. Sanders. Mrs. Price is ftill in the Gateboufe.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. We have her here now,
fhe is in our Cuftody.

Mr. Sanders. If you pleafe, Sir, we defire fhe

may be remanded back.

Mr. Juft. Pemberton. No, they fhall go both

into the Mar/bal's Cuftody.

Price. I beg of your Lordfhips I may go back

to the Gateboufe.

Mr.
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Mr. Juft. Pemberion. What! Thefe are- not Then the Prifoners 'were taken into Cuftody by the

things to be trifled with. Marfhal, to be kept till their Judgment.
Mr. Jufi. Dolben. No, we muft not fhew you

any Favour at all. Afterwards John Tasborough was fin'd ioo/. and
Mr. Juft. Pemberton. No, we muft have no Fa- Anne Price 200 /.

vour for you that would deftroy us all.

XCIL The Trial ^/Benjamin Harris, BookfeHer,

at Guild-Hail, for caufiug to he Printed, and Sold,
' a

Libel, Entitled, An Appeal from the Country to the

City, for the Prefervation of His Majefty's Perform

Liberty, Property, and the Proteftant Religion. Febru-

ary 5, 1679. 52 Car. II.

* Mr. Recorder,
,'jHOPE, this being a Matter to be

I tried in the City of London, Perfons

coming ' here in great Multitudes,

I come to blulh, rather than to give

Encouragement to it ; and if we can

give your Lordfhip, and this Jury, Satisfaclion

that this Perfon is gihlty of the Offence, accor-

ding as it is laid in the Information, I hope that

both you and all others that ihail hear it, (for I

perceive there is a great Expectation this Day

from this Caufe) I hope, I fay, you will abomi-

nate any Man that fhall offer at any fuch like

thing. Indeed we live in an Age where all forts

of Faction and Rebellion is countenanced, Ma-
giftrates reviled, and fcandalized by fome Perfons,

who think they have Authority ib to do. It is

juft like fuch another kind of Religion, which

fome have now of late taken up, that rather than

they will be thought to turn Fanaticks, they

will turn plain Atheifts, and others, who fcorn

to be either, downright Rebels. This Book is

as bafe a Piece as ever was contrived in Hell,

either by Fapifts, or the blackeft Rebel that ever

was: It feems to carry with it a fine Character,

and has a Figure of all plaufible Obedience to

the Crown, to wit, An Appeal, &c for the Pre-

fervation of his Majefty's Perfon, Liberty, Property,

and the Proteftant B.eligion. But if any of you

have feen it, I hope you will be fo far from giv-

ing any Countenance to it, as that you will,

with me, think, 'tis fo far from tending well to

the Government, that it is only defign'd to rake

up all Sedition and Rebellion, and the very wcrft

of all Rebellion. I muft confefs, I would rather

have believed that it w as only the fake of Lucre

made him do what he did, for that would have

fomewhat extenuated his Crime, if he had not

read it nrft; but then to go and have it Printed,

and expOied to Sale, be. this is a great Aggra-

vation.

If the fame fort of Infinnation had been ufed

towards any private 1 radefman, as hath been

offered to the King and iY1agiftrar.es, I believe

* Sir George Jcfferies.

there is no Man but would fay, that ere this time

he might have hid his Head.
But DifTemblances of Pretences for the fake of

the Proteftant Religion now-a-days in his Shop
will pafs well enough, and Perfons can tell you
there how far you may go from hence to Rome
with Safety ; and after they have blackened their

Mouths with Tobacco and Smoke, and do not rail

againft the Church and the Government, they are

look'd upon ftraight as no ProteRahts.

But Hill as to this Perfon, the farther to urge

it, by way of Aggravation upon him, he could

vauntingly make his Boafts, when it was put

home to him, Why he would venture to do fuch

things, &c? That he had above a Thoufand
Perfons who Would ftand by him in whatfoever

he did.

* L. C. J. There was hardly ever * Sit William

any Book more pernicious to ict us
ScroSS; -

together by the Ears than this, nor any thing a

greater Incendiary ; one. can hardly write a

worfe

Says he, We in the Country have done our Parts

in Chvfing, for the generality, good Members to feme
in Parliament; but if (as cur 'Iwo loft Parliaments

were) they muft be Diffolved, or Prorogued, whenever

they come to redrefs the Grievances of the Subjecl, we
may be pitied^ but not blamed. If the Plot takes ef-

fect, (as in all probability it will) our Parliaments

are not then to be Condemned, for that their not being

fuffered to Sit occqfiohed it.

So that here is a fly way of calling it upon the

King himfelf. And if k be not downright

Treafon, I am fure it is juft upon the Heels of it.

'Tis a moft abominable Piece.

Then were called the Witneffes, to prove that the Books

were fold in his Shop ; and after they were all

fworn, firft of all Mrs. Grover, a Printer's Wife,

flood up, who confeffed floe had half a Vczcn of
them, but not of him ; for be was either gone out,

or not in the way, but foe had them of his Man.

Then
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'Then flood up one Mary Darby, and/be /aid, fhe had

four of them.

After her, Mr. Benjamin Tooke, at the Ship in

St. Paxil's Churchyard, Bookfeller, was Exa-
' mined, who faid he faw feveral Quires of them in

the Shop. And being asked by Mr. Harris, How
he knew they were all thofe Books ? He anfwered,

7hat he turned over a great many of them, and

found them all the fame.

.

Mr. Recorder. My Lord, he was fa mighty

zealous of this Book, of fo great Importance,

no doubt, to his Party, that for fear he mould
be difappointed in time, he gave fomewhat to

haften it.

Mr. Recorder. Call the Printer's Man, and

fvvear him. \JVho flood up, and was fworn.

Mr. Recorder. What did Mr. Harris give you,

ha?

Printer's Man. He laid me down Six-pence.

L. C.J. And what, that was for haftening the

Book, was it not ?

Printer's Man. I cannot tell, Sir, not I, but he

gave me Six-pence.

Mr. Recorder. And what, did you do it in the

Day-time, was you not at it in the Night ?

Printer's Man. Yes, I was upon it in the

Night.

Mr. Recorder. Ay, it was a Deed of Darknefs,

and fo fit for Night-work.

Mr. Serj. Strode. My Lord, if it can be made
out to your Lordlhip and this Jury, that he de-

figned malicioufly to fcandalize the King and the

Government by it, we muft acquiefce; but

that, my Lord, he abfolutely denies ; but feeing

it running up and down the Town, he gets fome

of them, and fuffers therri to lie up and down
in his Shop, and this only as a common thing

to get Money, fo that we fuppofe it may not lie

within the Information, becaufe it does not in-

tentionally fcandalize the King and the Govern-

ment;

Mr. Williams. He in his Trade fold this Book,
and that we admit ; but, my Lord, it is a mate-

rial Part of the Information, that it was done
with a malicious Defign, c^V. and we do not

take it lb; but for the other Matter we fubmit

to it.

L. C. J. Then you do admit, that he did fell

fome of thefe Books.

Mr. Williams. We do, my Lord, that he did

fell one.

Mr. Ollibear. My Lord, this Book was pub-
licity fold in other Bookfellers Shops before we
had it, and fo we thought in a way of Trade, we
might do the like •, but as foon as ever we heard

there was any thing ill in the Book, we fupprefs'd

the Selling of it.

Mr. Serj. Strode. They fay, my Lord, the Prin-

ter had Six-pence given him by Mr. Harris. •

Friend, does not he come, and give you fome Mo-
ney at other times? Have you never had any of
him before ?

Printer's Man. No, Sir. I never Printed any
thing for him before.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Was not this Printed before

you faw it ?

Printer. Not to my Knowledge.

Mr. Serj. Strode. Pray ask the firil Witneis.

Was not this in Print before you faw it in his

Shop ?

Graver. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Williams. My Lord, he is a Man of other

Principles, than to do fuch things.

L. C. J. There is fcarce any but Smith, that is

fo factious a Seller of Books, as Harris : All your

Domeftick Intelligences are fo; for which, you

know, you have forfeited your Recognizance al-

moft in every Book.

A Neighbour was called by Mr. Williams, to give

an Account of Mr. Harris.

Neighbour. My Lord, I have known him a-

bout a Twelve-month ; and I have always look-

ed upon him, to be a fair-conditioned, quiet,

peaceable Man : He is, and has been fo reputed

among his Neighbours. And I have never feen

any thing from him, but what was very quiet and
peaceable.

Mr. Recorder. A Bookfeller that caufes a Fac-

tious Book to be Printed, or Reprinted, if it was

Printed before, is a factious Fellow.

L. C. J. You fay right.

Mr. Goodhall (another Neighbour of Mr. Har-
ris's) faid, upon his being asked, if he were ac-

quainted with him ? And, if he were wont to

oppofe, or to fcandalize the King or Govern-
ment ? That he never heard fuch a like thing

of him.

Mr. Recorder. I prefume that none of thefe do
ftand by him in any fuch thing : But he, being

advertifed of it, and being asked, Why he would
offer to expofe to Sale fuch a Book as this ? He
anfwered and laid, That he had a Thoufand Per-

fons that would ftand by him.

Call Robert Stevens.

L C J. What can you fay ?

Robert Stevens. My Lord, I have feen this Book
feveral times in his Shop, and others too. And I

have asked him, Why he would fo publickly vend

them ? (I did not indeed buy one of them myfelf,

but I caufed a Man to buy one for me) and he

faid, He had feveral Thoufands to ftand by him :

And he is accounted an Anabaptift. He faid fo

before the Mafter and Wardens of the Company;
who queftion'd him, why he fold fuch fcandalous

things ? And he faid he had feveral Thoufands to

ftand by him.

Then fpake the Lord Chief Jujlice to this purpofe.

Becaufe my Brother mail be fatisfied with the

.

Opinion of all the Judges of England, what this

Oifence is, which they would infinuate, as if the

mere Selling of fuch a Book was no Offence : 'Tis

not long fince, that all the Judges met, by the

King's Command ; as they did fome time before

too : And they both times declared unanimoufly,

That all Perfons that do Write, or Print, or Sell

any Pamphlet, that is either fcandalous toPubiick,

or Private Perfons-, fuch Books may be feiz'd, and
the Perfon punifh'd by Law : That all Books,

which are fcandalous to the Government may be

feiz'd ; and all Perfons fo expofing them, may be

punifh'd. And further, That all Writers of News,
though not fcandalous, feditious, nor reflective up-

on the Government or the State ; yet if they are

'Writers (as there are few others) of falfe News,
they are Indictable and Punifhable upon that Ac-
count.

So
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So that your Hopes of any thing of that kind

will be vain •, for all the Judges have declared this

Offence, at the Common-Law, to be punifhable

in the Seller, though in the way of his Trade :

The Books may be feized, and the Perfon pu-

nifhed.

As for this Book, in particular ; you can hard-

ly read a more bafe, and pernicious Book, to

put us all into a Flame : It gives you fuch In-

citements, and fuch bafe Encouragements, with

fuch Reflections upon all forts of Perfons, (for

I have read it upon this Account) that I think,

there can fcarce be a worfe made. He would

fet up another Man, that has no Title to the

Crown : For (lays he) the greatefi Danger ac-

cruing to your Perfons, as well as to the whole King-

dom, upon the King's untimely Death, will proceed

from a Confufton, and want of fome Eminent and

Interejled Perfon, whom you may trufl to lead you

up againft
' a French and Popifh Army : For

which Purpofe, no Perfon is fitter than his Grace

the Duke of Monmouth ; as well for Quality,

Courage, and CondutJ, as for that his Life and

Fortune depends upon the fame Bottom with yours.

He will ftand by you ; and therefore, you ought to

ftand by him. And remember the old Rule is, He
who hath the worft Title, ever makes the beft

King ; as being conftrained by a Gracious Govern-

ment, to fupply what he wants in Title : That in-

ftead of GOD and my Right ; his Motto may be,

GOD and my People. He fays, Such a one

would make a better King; for, as you fee,jhe

Worfe the Title, the Better the King. A King

with a Bad Title, makes a better King, than he

that hath a Good One ; for he fhall be obliged to

comply with, and will humour the People, for want

of a Title. A Thing, which is of the bafeft

Nature that can be:' And yet this Man mult

give Money to haften the Printing of fuch a

Book ; and he had feveral Quires of them in his

Shop. Except the Writer of it, there cannot be

a worfe Man in the World; who, for trivial

Profit, will neglect the Peace and Quiet of his

Country, and fet us all together by the Ears for

a Groat. And, Mr. Harris, if you expect any

thing in this World, of this kind of Favour,

you mud find out the Author ; for he muft be a

rebellious, and a villainous Traitor : For, though

he feems to inveigh againft Popery, it is only jto

be a Rebel. And certainly, he has rejected all

the Laws of God, and all Obedience that Man
requires ; and prophaned all Holy Writ. He is

fome Body, whofe Fortune does not fuit with

his Condition ; and who, becaufe he is not at

Eafe and Quiet himfelf, will let no body elfe be

fo neither.

[Speaking to the Jury, who prefently withdrew^

You have nothing more to do, but to give your

Verdict

:

If there be any thing in Law, let me know it,

becaufe you go out.

Then one of the Jury asked my Lord, if they

might not have the Book with them, which was

there in the Court, and it was anfwered in the

Negative.

Before the Jury went out, Mr. Harris would

1039
fain have fpoke to them for himfelf, but it was
not permitted him.

Then, after a little while tdrrying, they returned

to the Bar.

And being, as is ufual, asked if they were a-

greed on their Verdict, and who fhould fpeak for
them ; they anfwered, Yes ; and appointed their

Foreman, who faid he was Guilty of Selling the
Book.

At which there was a very great and clamorous
Shout.

Lord Chief Juftice faid, that was not their Bu-
finefs, they were only to determine whether barely
Guilty, or Not Guilty.

The Recorder would have had them given their

Verdict by the Poll, but they all unanimoufly cried
out, they were all agreed, and then the Foreman
gave the Verdift again, Guilty.

Mr. Recorder then prayed, he being for the-
King, that Mr. Harris might ftand Committed

;

Who was thereupon prefently delivered to a Tipftaff,
to be carried to the King's-Bench.

Mr. Harris earneftly befeeched his Lordfhip,
that he might be fent to any other Prifon, and nam-
ed Newgate three or four times, but it was not
granted him: Thereupon he faid, I hope God will

give me patience to go through it.

Then my Lord Chief Juftice fpake to the Jury
. to this Effetl.

I am forry you gave Countenance to this

Caufe fo much, as to ftir from the Bar, when
the Evidence was fo full, and when I told you
plainly, not only my Opinion, but likewife that

of all the Judges of England, that felling this

Book was an Offence at the Common Law,
for which they ought to be puniftied : And yet

with your Scruples, you eive the Party (with

their Hollows, and Shoutmgs) .to take Advan-
tage ; though you did mean upon the Matter
the fame thing then, you do now, yet you fee,

upon every little Occafion, when a thing fhall

feem to thwart the Government, how ready

they are to fend up their loud Hollowings. It

was not fo prudently done as might have been

done.

We had need look about us, for if at fuch a

Time, and for fuch a bafe Book, fuch clamorous

Noifes fhall be made, what fhall become of us ?

Our Lives and Fortunes are at flake. Would I

knew fome of thofe Shouters, I would make
them know, I would punifh them : I am in-

cenfed in £he Behalf of the Government, and of

all our Lives and Fortunes, that fuch fhall go un-

punifhed.

He afterwards received Sentence in the Court
of King"s-Bench, to pay 500 /. Fine -, ftand on the

Pillory an Hour ; and find Sureties for his Good
Behaviour for Three Years j and had it not been

for Mr. Juftice Pemberton, the Chief Juftice

would have added, That he fhould be publiekty

Whipt.

rfo
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XCIII The Trial of Francis Smith?
the Guild -Hall of London, for

February 7, 1679. Hi!. 32 Car. II.

Bookfeller-i at

a Libel,mg

The Jury being Sworn, Mr. Holt opened the

Information.

Mr. Holt. ^^^^^1 AY it pleafe your Lord-

fhip, here is an Informati-

on preferr'd in behalf of

the King againft Francis

Smith, Bookfeller : And it

fets forth, That after Sir

George Wakeman, William Marfhal, William Rum-
ley, and James Corker, were Indicted and Tried on

the 1 8th of July, i6jy, for divers High-Treafons,

at the Seffions-Houfe in the Old-Baily, before Sir

James Edwards, then Lord Mayor of London, and

the Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs, and others ; the

Defendant, Francis Smith, published a fcandalous

Libel relating to the late Trials, which was in-

titled, Some Obfervations upon the late Trial, &c.

the Words are particularly fet forth in the In-

formation; to which the Defendant pleads Not
Guilty : But if we prove it upon him, you of

the Jury are to find for the King ; and if you

find he is Not Guilty, you are to fay fo, and no

more, &7r.

Then Mr. Recorder fpake to this Effecl.

Mr. Recorder*. My Lord, I am of Counfela-

gainft the Defendant for the King, who ftands

inform'd againft for a very great Offence. The
Information particularly fets forth, That where-

as fome certain Perfons were Indicted at the

Seffions-Houfe in the Old-Baily, before the then

Lord-Mayor, Sir James Edwards, and other Per-

fons then in Commiffion of Oyer and Terminer,

and Goal-Delivery for
1

that PJace, and particularly

my Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs ; and after the

Trial was over, and the Perfons thereupon ac-

quitted, there was a Book, which is mentioned

in the Information, printed and publifh'd, and

it is a Book that is known by the Name of Tom
Ticklefoot •, a very abufive thing ; but Perfons

now begin to grow wonderful witty in the be-

ginning of their Books, in hopes to enfnare Peo-

ple to read them, and to prevail upon them fo

far as to make them believe there is fomewhat
extraordinary by the Title. You fee, Malice

finds out all the Ways in the World to enfnare

and gain upon the People, to fo bad an Age are

we come.

But I confefs, it is the fecond Time ever fince

I had the Fortune or Happinefs to know this

City of London, that I have known fuch Ex-
pectations, as have been upon two Caufes in this

Place : The firft was but two Days ago, the

* Sir George Jefferics.

fecond is at this Time ; wherein is truly a fort of
Countenance, I am afraid, too much given by
Perfons that dare pretend to be no other fort of
Proteftants, but can impudently outface all fort

of Governors. Now, as all Perfons ought to

abhor and deteft that damnable Doctrine, That
Men hope to be Saints in another World, be-

caufe they may commit Murders in this; fo this

ought too as much to be condemn'd by all Pro-
teftants as the other, That Men fhall endeavour
to rebel, and be factious in this World, that ib

they may be reckon'd good Subjects ; the one
are as far from being good Saints, as the others

from being good Subjects. I take this Occafion

to fpeak all this before your Lordfhip and this

Court, becaufe I hope the City of London will

never be corrupted by the bafe Infinuations of
fome idle Bufy-Bodies in it ; Men, who cannot,

or will not be pleas'd, becaufe (forfooth) every

thing does not go according to their Mind and
Fancy ; and tho' by no means they will allow

the Pope to be Infallible, yet every factious Fel-

low will expect, that every one fhould pay him
the Tribute of Infallible, as if he were the only

fit Perfon to give Meafures to Government and
Governors.

When we come to have extraordinary Cafes

and Perfons, extraordinary Occafions ought to be

taken to inflict due and juft Punifhments upon
them.

And when they fhall dare to come to difparage

Great Men that act by Supreme Authority, Men
that act by their Confciences ; and becaufe they can-

not be fteer'd by the Humours of thefe fort of

People, therefore they muft be look'd upon as

Papifts, or at leaft as Bribed, becaufe they cannot

comply with that bafe Humour which fome fort of
Perfons have.

I take notice of this to your Lordfhip, be-

caufe one that is intruded in as great a Place for

the Welfare of this Nation, as any whofoever,

is extremely concern'd in the Affair of this Day

;

I mean, the Lord Chief Juftice of the King's-

Bench ; who being affifted with feveral other

Judges, as far forth as it did appear to him, did

deliver the Senfe of the whole Court ; who, for

acting according to his Confcience, and as he

ought to do, hath been Libelled and Reproached

with as bafe a Book as ever was written againft

any Magiftrate whatfoever : If fuch things as

this fhall be permitted, then there will be an

end of your Lordfhip's fitting here, or any where

elfe, or of any other that fhall act as a Magi-
ftrate ought to act, and that fhall not be afraid

to do his Duty. But fuch is the Happinefs of

this
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this City, in this Jury, that, I muft confefs, I

receive fo much the greater Satisfaction that it

comes before them •, for as I know the Men to

be Men of Loyalty and Affection to the Govern-

ment, and will be fo juft to him, that if they do
not find him Guilty of the Matter of the Infor-

mation, they will acquit him : So, on the other

fide, they will not think themfelves to be aw'd

by a Multitude, or inflav'd by private Infinuations,

to debauch their Confciences, either in refpect to

God above, or to the King his Vicegerent here

on Earth ; therefore cbferve your Duty to both,

that you may render to Cafar the Things that be

Gefar's, as well as to God the Things that are

God's.

Now as the King is God's Vicegerent, fo is every

Magiftrate the King's Vicegerent, in that Parti-

cular.

I would not take up fo much of your Lord-

fhip's Time, but that I fee this is a Matter of

great Expectation ; and I know that every

Word is taken in Short-hand, to be comment-
ed upon as Perfons Humours fhall fleer them.

I do think, as being the Mouth of the City of
London, it is my Duty to fpeak thus much, that

I hope, nay, I may dare confidently affirm, that

the Generality of the Cky of London, all good
Men, and Men of Abilities, &c. are for the King,

and the Government as it is now Eftablifh'd by

Law.
\_At which there was a general Hem thro' the

Court,,]

Having faid thus much againft this Perfon,

Mr. Francis Smith, I muft fay, That if the way
of common Report were Evidence enough to

convict a Man, he would be convicted without

any more ado : But fuch is the Happinefs of our

Laws that they expect Teftimony, befides com-
mon Fame.

I would rather a great deal it might be a

Caution to Mr. Smith, if there had not been

many before, and that he could not be convict-

ed, and the Evidence not plain in Proof againft

him.

Well, he printed this Book in the Name of

another Perfon, one Mrs. Brewfter : He fold feve-

ral of them in Quires to feveral People ; and

Brewfter queftioning wherefore he fhould put

her Name to this Book : Truly, he laid, he

intended no Harm to her, for he was refolved to

fave her harmlefs; and this we will prove to

you; and likewife that feveral Books have been

taken in his Shop ; and he juftifying himfelf in

what he had done, and his further Refolution to

expofe them ftill to Sale. And if we fhall prove

this to you, there will be an end of all fort of

Juffice, if in cafe that you, who are the only

Means of bringing Men to Juftice, will not con-

tribute to have Juitice executed where it ought to

be : None can be legally punifhed, unlefs they be

legally convicted ; and I doubt not your Honefty

and Loyalty, but that you will do your Part by

Conviction, and by Juitice too.

Againft all Libellers, I am fure, there is Law
enough, and every honeft Man will endeavour to

have it put in Execution againft them, as far

forth as it lies in his way : I hope the Genera-

lity of thofe that are here, do come to fbew an

Abhorrency againft this Perfon informed againft,

and not to give any Countenance to fuch bafe

Actions.

Vol. II.

1 04I
Mr. Williams* [Counfel for the Defendant.] My

Lord, the Libel is fufficiently infamous, we muft
needs own ; and I do not come to juftify the
Thing, neither Mr. Smith my Client, nor any
body dfe that fhall be guilty of it : The Queftion
is. Whether he be Guilty of, &>V. as it is laid in
the Information.

Mr. Recorder, Sir, do you admit the Record?
Mr. Juft. Jones. If you do not admit it, you

muft call in your Witneffes, and prove what you
can.

J

Whereupon Robert Stevens, Anne Brewfter, and'
Margaret Clark were cali'd into Court, and
flood up behind the Jury.

Mr. Williams. Sir, if you will o-ive me leave,
you fhall hear what we will admit.

°

Mr. Recorder. Come, come, Sir, if you do not
admit the Record, we will have none of your An-
ticipations.

Mr. Williams. What call you your Speech but
Anticipation ?

My Lord, the poor Man, my Client, is a lan-
guiihing, fick and dying Man, and one that is

almoft ruin'd ; if any Submiffion will ferve the
Turn, he will give all the Submiffion that is fit

for a Man to give : All that we fay is this, that
he did not order this to be printed, as it is laid
in the Information. But I think we may ad-
mit •

Mr. Fettiplace faid [Who was Counfel on the fame
Side.] he had no fuch Order given him by his
Client, as to admit the Record.

Then they were juft going on tofwear the Witneffes,
but Mr. Juft. Jones faid, It would be very well

if they would admit, &c. and the Defendant
come to Submiffion.

Mr. Recorder. Ay, that is your beft way ; for
it would be a great means to teftify, that' your
Submiffion is really intended as a Submiffion :

But if it be to prepare us to think, that you are
innocent, then we will not have your Submiffi-
on. And I am for a Sinner's Repentance with
all my Heart.

Mr. Juft. Jones. If your Client be willing to
fubmit, let the King have a Verdict in Law, and
then he will find my Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs
full of Pity and Compaffion ; and if I can fee any
Signs of Repentance, I will promife you to inter-

cede to my Lord for him.

Mr. Williams. One that came from my Client
told me, that if he had offended, he would fub-
mit to any thing : And now here is his Wife
come.

Mr. Juft. Jones. I would five him if I can, if

he will throw himfelf into M.-rcy.

Well, what do you fay, Miftrefs, for your Hus-
band ?

Mrs. Smith. My Lord, my Husband is very

fick and weak, and is not able to come himfelf,

or elfe he would have done it ; but I ask'd

Mr. Williams if it were not beft to fubmit to the

Court.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Are you content to own it

fhall be fo?

Mrs. Smith. I leave it to the Gentlemen, my
Counfel ; I fhall acquiefce in what they think fit-

ting.

6 R Mr. Williams.
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Mr. Williams. Then I prefume to admit the

Record.

Mr. Juji. Jones. Then you are to find for the

King: [Speaking to the Jury..] 'Tis the Caufe of

the King, altho' only my Lord Chief Juftice be

concern'd. 'Tis a high Scandal ; a great Scan-

dal againfl a great Officer and Magiftrate of the

King. I will lay nothing more to aggravate the

Offence at this Time, becaufe I would invite

Repentance in all Perfons that have offended in

this or the like Cafes.

then the Jury being asked, Whether they were a-

greed on their VerdiEl, [aid, Tes ; and chooftng

their Foreman to /peakfor them, he gave the Ver-

dicl, Guilty.

Mr. Juft. Jones. Well, Miftreft, you have done

very well ; if, now you for your Husband came
here to make a publick Acknowledgment of his

Guiltinefs, hereafter he fhall go, and ingenuoufly

make SubmifTion to my Lord ; I know he is a

Perfon of that Pity and Compafllon, that he loves

no Man's Ruin, but delights rather in the univer-

fal Welfare of all People : And I promife this,

that I will be an Interceflbr to my Lord in your

Husband's Behalf.

Mr. Recorder. And as far forth as I can contri-

bute to it, I will do the fame.

He afterwards fubmitted to a fmall Fine.

XCIV. The Trial c/JaneCurtis, at Guild-Hall, for
Publijhing thefame lAho\. 1679. 5 2 Car. II.

Mr. Holt. ^M^M^S A Y it pleafe your Lord-
fhip, and Gentlemen of

the Jury, here is an Infor-

mation brought againfl

Jane Curtis j and it fets

forth, That the Defendant

did publifh and put to fale a feditious Libel againft

my Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs : The Defendant

pleads Not Guilty -, if we prove it upon her,

you are to find for the King ; and if not, you are

to fay fo, and no more.

Mr. Williams faid [Who was a Counfel for the

Defendant,.] he would admit the Record : Where-

upon they proceeded no further to Trial, but the

Woman being call'd, flie faid

:

Mrs. Curtis. I was ignorant in the Matter, and

knew no fuch thing, my Lord; my Husband,

an't pleafe your Lordfhip was in the Country a

.hundred Miles off of me, in Lincolnfoire.

Mr. Juft. Jones, You did it ignorantly and
fimply, without any Malice, and, I fuppofe, you
are heartily forry for it. You fee your Neigh-
bour there, Mrs. Smith, hath fhew'd good Discre-
tion in the Behalf of her Husband ; me has in-

genuoufly declar'd, that he fhall come and make
SubmifTion ; and if I find you as fubmiffive, and
as forry for what you have done, I may do the
like for you.

Mrs. Curtis. In any thing that I have done, I
know not my felf Guilty ; and if I am, I beo-

your Lordfhip's Pardon with all my Heart, my
Lord, or any Body's elfe.

Mr. Juft. Jones. I know you will find Mercy
from my Lord Chief Juftice, and therefore go
and make your SubmifTion.

then the Jury proceeded to give their VerdiSt,

and their Foreman faid, Guilty.

The Endofthe SECOND VOLUME.
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